# PRINCIPLES OF REGENERATIVE NEDDECATION

Edited by Anthony Atala, Robert Lanza, Antonios G. Mikos, and Robert Nerem



PRINCIPLES OF REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

This page intentionally left blank

# PRINCIPLES OF REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

# THIRD EDITION

Edited by

Anthony Atala Robert Lanza Antonios G. Mikos Robert Nerem





Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 125 London Wall, London EC2Y 5AS, United Kingdom 525 B Street, Suite 1650, San Diego, CA 92101, United States 50 Hampshire Street, 5th Floor, Cambridge, MA 02139, United States The Boulevard, Langford Lane, Kidlington, Oxford OX5 1GB, United Kingdom

Copyright © 2019 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher. Details on how to seek permission, further information about the Publisher's permissions policies and our arrangements with organizations such as the Copyright Clearance Center and the Copyright Licensing Agency, can be found at our website: www.elsevier.com/permissions.

This book and the individual contributions contained in it are protected under copyright by the Publisher (other than as may be noted herein).

# Notices

Knowledge and best practice in this field are constantly changing. As new research and experience broaden our understanding, changes in research methods, professional practices, or medical treatment may become necessary.

Practitioners and researchers must always rely on their own experience and knowledge in evaluating and using any information, methods, compounds, or experiments described herein. In using such information or methods they should be mindful of their own safety and the safety of others, including parties for whom they have a professional responsibility.

To the fullest extent of the law, neither the Publisher nor the authors, contributors, or editors, assume any liability for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions, or ideas contained in the material herein.

# Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A catalog record for this book is available from the Library of Congress

## British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN: 978-0-12-809880-6

For information on all Academic Press publications visit our website at https://www.elsevier.com/books-and-journals



www.elsevier.com • www.bookaid.org

Publisher: John Fedor Acquisition Editor: Mica Haley Editorial Project Manager: Timothy Bennett Production Project Manager: Punithavathy Govindaradjane Cover Designer: Miles Hitchen

Typeset by TNQ Technologies

# This book is dedicated to my family: Katherine, Christopher, and Zachary Anthony Atala

To my family: Mary, Georgios, and Lydia Antonios G. Mikos

To my wife, Marilyn, and to my four children, Nancy Black, Christy Maser, Steve Nerem, and Carol Wilcox

# **Robert Nerem**

This page intentionally left blank

# Contents

1 1

4

15 15 16

18

25

# Contributors Preface

# 1. Molecular Organization of Cells JON D. AHLSTROM

Introduction
Molecules That Organize Cells
The Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition
Transcriptional Program
Molecular Control of the Epithelial–Mesenchymal
Transition
Conclusion
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations
Glossary
References

# 2. Cell–Extracellular Matrix Interactions in Repair and Regeneration

MELISSA PETREACA, MANUELA MARTINS-GREEN

Introduction
Composition and Diversity of the Extracellular Matrix
Receptors for Extracellular Matrix Molecules
Signal Transduction Events During Cell–
Extracellular Matrix Interactions
Cell–Extracellular Matrix Interactions During
Healing of Cutaneous Wounds
Cell–Extracellular Matrix Interactions During
Regenerative Fetal Wound Healing
Implications for Regenerative Medicine
Acknowledgments
References

# 3. Mechanisms of Blastema Formation and Growth in Regenerating Urodele Limbs DAVID L. STOCUM

Introduction
Blastema Formation
Blastema Growth
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations
Glossary
Acknowledgments
References

# xix 4. The Molecular Circuitry Underlying xxv Pluripotency in Embryonic and Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells RACHEL H. KLEIN, PAUL S. KNOEPFLER

Introduction	49
Ground State and Primed Embryonic Stem Cells	
Have Unique Signaling Networks Underlying	
Pluripotency	49
Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells	50
Leukemia Inhibitory Factor and Bone Morphogenic	
Protein Signaling Pathways Regulate Mouse	
Embryonic Stem Cell Self-Renewal	50
Transforming Growth Factor β and Fibroblast Growth	
Factor Signaling Pathways Regulate Human	
Embryonic Stem Cell Self-Renewal	52
Wnt Signaling Contributes to Maintenance of	
Pluripotency in Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells and	
to the Naive Human Embryonic Stem Cell State	52
Three Transcription Factors, Octamer Binding	
Protein 4, SRY-Box 2, and Nanog, Form the Core	
Pluripotency Transcriptional Network	53
MYC Links Cell Signaling to Pluripotency Gene	
Regulation	54
A Specific Epigenetic Program Helps Maintain	
Pluripotency	55
MicroRNAs Integrate With Cell Signaling and	
Transcription Factors to Regulate Stem Cell	
Proliferation and Differentiation	57
Chromatin Structure Determines Regulatory Activity	
of Transcription Factor Binding to Pluripotency	
Genes	58
Conclusions	58
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	59
Acknowledgment	59
References	59
5. Scarless Wound Healing: From	

# Experimental Target to Clinical Reality

- ALESSANDRA L. MOORE, CLEMENT D. MARSHALL,
  - ALLISON NAUTA, HERMANN P. LORENZ,
- 42 ALLISON NAUTA, HERMA MICHAEL T. LONGAKER

45	MICHAEL I. LONGARER	
45	Introduction	65
45	Adult Skin	66
45	Fetal Skin	72

73

77

80

85

86 86

Regenerative Healing and Scar Reduction Theory
Current Therapeutic Interventions
Future Therapeutic Interventions
Perspective
List of Abbreviations
References

# 6. Progenitor and Stem Cell Heterogeneity: Using Big Data to Divide and Conquer MELANIE RODRIGUES, PAUL A. MITTERMILLER,

JAGANNATH PADMANABHAN, GEOFFREY C. GURTNER

Introduction	93
Single-Cell Isolation	95
Acquiring Single-Cell Data	96
Analyzing Single-Cell Data	100
Determining Subpopulations	103
Clinical Implications of Cellular Heterogeneity in	
Tissue Repair and Disease	105
Conclusions	108
References	109

# 7. Embryonic Stem Cells: Derivation, Properties, and Challenges IRINA KLIMANSKAYA

Introduction
Derivation of Embryonic Stem Cells
Sources of Human Embryonic Stem Cells
Human Embryonic Stem Cell Maintenance
Naive Embryonic Stem Cells
Human Embryonic Stem Cell Differentiation and
Manufacturing for Clinical Application
Conclusions
References
Further Reading

# 8. Alternative Sources of Human Embryonic Stem Cells

SVETLANA GAVRILOV, VIRGINIA E. PAPAIOANNOU, DONALD W. LANDRY

Introduction	125
Organismically Dead Embryos	127
Conclusion	130
References	130

# 9. Stem Cells From the Amnion

# PAOLO DE COPPI, ANTHONY ATALA

Introduction
Placenta: Function, Origin, and Composition
Amniotic Fluid: Function, Origin, and Composition
Amniotic Epithelial Cells
Amniotic Mesenchymal Stem Cells
Amniotic Fluid Stem Cells

- Conclusions 144 References 144 10. Cord Blood Stem Cells KRISTIN M. PAGE, JESSICA M. SUN, JOANNE KURTZBERG Introduction 149 A Brief History 149 Cord Blood Banking 150
- Public Versus Family (or Private) Banks 150 Public Cord Blood Banking Procedures 151 Clinical Uses of Umbilical Cord Blood 156 Cord Blood Therapies for Inherited and Acquired Brain Diseases 157 Investigations in the Treatment of Acquired Brain Injuries With Umbilical Cord Blood 159 References 162

# 11. Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

- 108 ANDRES M. BRATT-LEAL, AI ZHANG, YANLING WANG,
- 109 JEANNE F. LORING

Introduction	169
Mechanisms of Reprogramming	169
Epigenetic Remodeling	170
Reprogramming Techniques	170
Induced Transdifferentiation	171
Genomic Stability	172
Applications of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells	172
Disease Modeling	172
Challenges and Future Possibilities in Disease	
Modeling	174
Personalized Medicine	174
Cell Therapy	175
Conservation of Endangered Species	176
Conclusions and Future Directions	176
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	177
References	177

# 12. Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells

RANGARAJAN SAMBATHKUMAR, MANOJ KUMAR, CATHERINE M. VERFAILLIE

Stem Cells	181
Adult Stem Cells	181
Isolation of Rodent Multipotent Adult P	rogenitor
Cell	182
Isolation of Human Multipotent Adult P	rogenitor
Cells	183
Differentiation Potential of Rodent and I	Human
Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells In	Vitro 183
Regenerative Capacities of Multipotent A	Adult
Progenitor Cells	183
Conclusion and Future Directions	187
Conflict of Interest Statement	187
References	187

# viii

# 13. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Properties, Markers, and Therapeutics

JOHN D. JACKSON

Introduction	191
Hematopoietic Stem Cell Properties	191
Hematopoietic Stem Cell Therapies	195
Conclusion	199
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	199
References	200

# 14. Mesenchymal Stem Cells

# ZULMA GAZIT, GADI PELLED, DMITRIY SHEYN, DORON C. YAKUBOVICH, DAN GAZIT

Introductory Overview
Definition of Mesenchymal Stem Cells
The Stem Cell Nature of Mesenchymal Stem Cells
Which Tissues Contain Mesenchymal Stem Cells?
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Isolation Techniques
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Exosomes
Immunomodulatory Effects of Mesenchymal Stem
Cells
Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell–Derived
Mesenchymal Stem Cells
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations
Acknowledgments
References

# 15. Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

ARNOLD I. CAPLAN

Introduction and History
New Insight
All Mesenchymal Stem Cells Are Not Created Equal
Clinical Trials
The New Mesenchymal Stem Cells
References

# 16. Cell Therapy of Liver Disease: From Hepatocytes to Stem Cells STEPHEN C. STROM, CARL JORNS

Introduction
Background Studies
Clinical Hepatocyte Transplantation
Hepatocyte Transplantation Novel Uses, Challenges,
and Future Directions
Summary
References

ix

17. Cardiac Stem Cells: Biology and Therapeutic Applications	
KONSTANTINOS E. HATZISTERGOS, SARAH SELEM, WAYNE BALKAN, JOSHUA M. HARE	
Development of the Heart From Cardiac Stem/	
Progenitor Cells	247
Cardiac Stem/Progenitor Cells in the Adult Heart	248
Cell-Based Therapeutics for Heart Disease	252
Mechanisms of Action	254
Clinical I rials	255
Stor Calle	265
Combined Stem Cell Thereneutics	205
Conclusions	265
References	267
	201
18. Skeletal Muscle Stem Cells	
NORA YUCEL, HELEN M. BLAU	
Introduction	273
Satellite Cells Are Muscle Stem Cells	215
The Molecular Characteristics of Muscle Stem Cells	211
During Myogenesis in Regeneration	274
Functional Characteristics of Muscle Stem Cells	276
Isolation of Muscle Stem Cells	277
Tracking Muscle Stem Cell Behavior Through Live	
Imaging (Bioluminescence Imaging and Intravital	
Imaging)	278
Regulation of Muscle Stem Cells by Their Niche	279
Satellite Cell Self-Renewal Mechanisms	281
Muscle Stem Cell-Intrinsic Defects in Aging and	
Disease	283
Challenges in the Use of Satellite Cells in	
Regenerative Medicine	284
Gene Editing Strategies	285
Other Stem Cell Types Within Muscle	285
Conclusions	281
References	201

# 19. Stem Cells Derived From Fat

JAMES C. BROWN, ADAM J. KATZ

Introduction	295
Cellular Fractions	295
Cellular Characterization	296
Clinical Delivery of Adipose-Derived Cells	297
Engineered Neo-Tissue	300
Therapeutic Safety of Adipose-Derived Cells	301
Conclusions	302
References	302

# CONTENTS

20. Peripheral Blood Stem Cells Abritee dahl, graça almeida-porada, christopher d. porada, shay soker		List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Acknowledgments References
<ul> <li>Introduction</li> <li>Types and Source of Stem Cells in the Peripheral Blood</li> <li>Endothelial Progenitor Cells</li> <li>Mesenchymal Stem/Marrow Stroma Cells</li> <li>Therapeutic Applications of Peripheral Blood Stem Cells</li> <li>Conclusions and Future Directions</li> <li>References</li> <li>21. From Adult Pancreatic Islets to Stem Cells: Regenerative Strategies for the Treatment of Diabetes and Its Complications</li> <li>MARTA POKRYWCZYNSKA, GIACOMO LANZONI, CAMILLO RICORDI</li> </ul>	307 307 311 315 317 325 326	<ul> <li>24. Mechanical Determinants of Development</li> <li>VOLHA LIAUDANSKAYA, DISHA SOOD, DAVID L. KAPLAN</li> <li>Introduction</li> <li>Mechanotransduction Mechanisms and Effectors</li> <li>Nucleus as the Central Organelle in Re Mechanotransduction</li> <li>Cellular Mechanotransduction Mechan Conclusions</li> <li>Acknowledgments</li> <li>References</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Introduction</li> <li>From Adult Pancreatic Islets to Stem Cells</li> <li>Strategies for the Generation of β Cells for Replacement Therapy</li> <li>β Cells From Pluripotent Stem Cells (Embryonic Stem Cells and Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells)</li> <li>β Cells From Adult Stem/Progenitor Cells of the Biliary Tree and Pancreas</li> <li>Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Modulate Immunity and Promote Tissue Repair in Diabetes</li> <li>Conclusion</li> <li>References</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>335</li> <li>335</li> <li>336</li> <li>336</li> <li>341</li> <li>344</li> <li>345</li> <li>346</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>25. Morphogenesis, Bone Morph Proteins, and Regeneration of Bo Articular Cartilage</li> <li>A.H. REDDI, KENJIRO IWASA</li> <li>Introduction</li> <li>Bone Morphogenetic Proteins</li> <li>Stem Cells</li> <li>Scaffolds of Extracellular Matrix and Bi Biomaterials</li> <li>Articular Cartilage Regeneration and C Morphogenetic Proteins</li> <li>Regenerative Medicine and Surgery of A Cartilage</li> </ul>
22. Stem Cells for Diseases of the Retina AARON NAGIEL, STEVEN D. SCHWARTZ Introduction Cell-Replacement Therapy Cell-Based Neuroprotection Disease-in-a-Dish Modeling for Retinal Disorders Conclusion References	351 355 361 362 364 365	Regeneration of Articular Cartilage Sur Lubrication List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Acknowledgments References 26. Physical Stress as a Factor in Growth and Remodeling
23. Stem Cells for Traumatic Brain Injury CHRISTOPHER M. SCHNEIDER, MARGARET L. JACKSON, SUPINDER S. BEDI, CHARLES S. COX, JR. Introduction Phases of Brain Injury Current Traumatic Brain Injury Management Strategies	369 370 376	JOEL D. BOERCKEL, CHRISTOPHER V. GEM DEVON E. MASON, YASH M. KOLAMBKAR, BLAISE D. PORTER, ROBERT E. GULDBERG Introduction Describe the Mechanical Environment Understand the Role of Mechanical Stimuli Mechanical Regulation of Vascularized
- tracepter	210	

Strategies Preclinical Data Supporting Stem Cell Therapies for Traumatic Brain Injury **Clinical Trials** 

Conclusion

ENTS	
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Acknowledgments References	386 386 387
24. Mechanical Determinants of Tissue Development VOLHA LIAUDANSKAYA, DISHA SOOD,	
DAVID L. KAPLAN	
Introduction	391
Mechanotransduction Mechanisms and Major	307
Nucleus as the Central Organelle in Regulating	392
Mechanotransduction	396
Cellular Mechanotransduction Mechanisms	397
Conclusions	400
Acknowledgments	401
References	401
25. Morphogenesis, Bone Morphogenetic Proteins, and Regeneration of Bone and Articular Cartilage	
A.H. REDDI, KENJIRO IWASA	
Introduction	405
Bone Morphogenetic Proteins	406
Stem Cells	409
Scaffolds of Extracellular Matrix and Biomimetic	400
Articular Cartilage Regeneration and Cartilage	409
Morphogenetic Proteins	412
Regenerative Medicine and Surgery of Articular	•
Cartilage	412
Regeneration of Articular Cartilage Surface and	
Lubrication	413
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	414

# 6. Physical Stress as a Factor in Tissue browth and Remodeling

EL D. BOERCKEL, CHRISTOPHER V. GEMMITI, EVON E. MASON, YASH M. KOLAMBKAR,

Introduction	417
Describe the Mechanical Environment	418
Understand the Role of Mechanical	
Stimuli	423
Mechanical Regulation of Vascularized Tissue	
Regeneration	427
Evaluate Functional Restoration	432
Conclusions	432
References	433

	CONT	TENTS
27. Cell—Substrate Interactions Muhammad Rizwan, John W. Tse, Aparna nori, kam W. Leong, evelyn k.f. yim		Manufacturability Summary References
Introduction Cell–Extracellular Matrix Interactions Cell–Substrate Interactions Effect of Dimensionality Conclusion Acknowledgments References	437 437 438 451 460 461 461	<ul> <li>31. Proteins Controlled With Precision at Organic, Polymeric, and Biopolymer Interfaces for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine</li> <li>DAVID G. CASTNER, BUDDY D. RATNER</li> <li>Why the Need for Precision Control of Proteins at</li> </ul>
28. Intelligent Surfaces for Cell Sheet Engineering HIRONOBU TAKAHASHI, TATSUYA SHIMIZU, TERUO OKANO	460	<ul><li>Interfaces in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine?</li><li>Surface Analysis and Its Role in the Precision Delivery of Biological Signals</li><li>A Short Review of Key Surface Analysis Methods and Supporting Tools</li></ul>
The Intelligence of Thermoresponsive Polymers for Cell Sheet Engineering Clinical Applications for Cell Sheet Engineering Cell Sheet Engineering Produces Scaffold-Free,	469 469 472	Techniques and Technologies for Precision Immobilization at Surfaces Conclusions References
Combination of Cell Sheet Engineering and Scaffold-Based Engineering Microfabricated Intelligent Surface for Engineering Complex Tissue Constructs	474 477 478 481	32. Natural Origin Materials for Bone Tissue Engineering: Properties, Processing, and Performance F. RAQUEL MAIA, VITOR M. CORRELO, JOAQUIM M. OLIVEIRA, RUI L. REIS
References	482	Introduction
29. Applications of Nanotechnology for Regenerative Medicine; Healing Tissues at the Nanoscale YAFENG YANG, ADITYA CHAWLA, JIN ZHANG, ADAM ESA, HAE LIN JANG, ALI KHADEMHOSSEINI		Natural-Based Polymers Chitosan Collagen Gellan Gum Polyhydroxyalkanoates Silk Fibroin
Introduction Properties of Nanomaterials Nanobiomaterials Nanotechnology-Based Strategies in Regenerative Medicine Nanotechnology-Based Stem Cell Therapy Conclusion References	485 486 491 493 497 499 499	Starch Natural-Based Bioceramics Calcium Phosphates Silicate Ceramics Conclusions List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Acknowledgments References
30. Design Principles in Biomaterials and Scaffolds YANG ZHU, WILLIAM R. WAGNER	1	<b>33.</b> Synthetic Polymers Michael C. Hacker, Jan Krieghoff, Antonios G. Mikos
Function and Application-Oriented Design of Biomaterial Scaffolds Safety and Biocompatibility Requirements for Biomaterial Scaffolds	505 513	Introduction Polymer Synthesis Nondegradable Synthetic Polymers Biodegradable Synthetic Polymers for Regenerative Medicine

xi

xii	CON
Applications of Synthetic Polymers Conclusion/Summary References	580 580 581
34. Calcium Phosphate Bioceramics and Cements NATHAN W. KUCKO, RALF-PETER HERBER, SANDER C.G. LEEUWENBURGH, JOHN A. JANSEN	
Introduction Classes of Calcium Phosphate Cements Physiochemical Properties Strategies to Improve the Mechanical Properties Clinical Applications Conclusion List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Glossary References	591 594 595 601 606 607 608 608 608
35. Biologic Scaffolds Composed of Extracellular Matrix for Regenerative Medicine MICHELLE SCARRITT, MARK MURDOCK, STEPHEN F. BADYLAK	
Introduction Extracellular Matrix: Function and Components Intact and Solubilized Extracellular Matrix as a Scaffold Material Clinical and Commercial Applications Conclusions List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Glossary References	<ul> <li>613</li> <li>613</li> <li>619</li> <li>622</li> <li>622</li> <li>622</li> <li>623</li> <li>623</li> </ul>
36. Hydrogels in Regenerative Medicine DAVID F. WILLIAMS	
Introduction Biomaterials Templates Structure—Property Relationships in Hydrogels Increasing Sophistication of Synthetic Hydrogels for	627 628 631
Tissue Engineering	632

# Tissue Engineering Natural Biopolymers as Extracellular Matrix—Analog Hydrogels Synthetic Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering Templates Conclusions References

# 37. Surface Modification of Biomaterials

RACHIT AGARWAL, ANDRÉS J. GARCÍA

Introduction	651
Physicochemical Surface Modifications	653
Overcoating Technologies	655

#### CONTENTS

Biological Modification of Surfaces	656
Surface Chemical Patterning	659
Conclusion and Future Prospects	659
References	659
38. Histogenesis in Three-Dimensional Scaffolds	
MELISSA K. MCHALE, NICOLE M. BERGMANN, JENNIFER L. WEST	
The Need for Replacement Tissues	661
Tissue Components	661
Regeneration of Diseased Tissues	662
Design Parameters for Histogenesis	663
Synthetic Materials for Histogenesis of New Orga	ns 669
Future Directions in Three-Dimensional Scaffolds	S:
Three-Dimensional Microfabrication	670
Conclusions	670
References	671

# 39. Biocompatibility and Bioresponse to Biomaterials

JAMES M. ANDERSON

Introduction	675
Inflammation (Innate Immunity) and Wound Healing	676
Fibrosis and Fibrous Encapsulation	683
Immunotoxicity (Acquired Immunity)	684
Conclusion	691
References	691
Further Reading	694

# 40. Hybrid Composite Biomaterials

NIRMALYA TRIPATHY, ELUMALAI PERUMAL, RAFIQ AHMAD, JEONG EUN SONG, GILSON KHANG

Introduction	695
Fundamentals of Bone Development and Defects	696
Functions of Scaffolding and Extracellular Matrix	x 696
Scaffolding Approaches in Bone Tissue Engineer	ing 697
Scaffolding Materials	699
Conclusions and Future Prospects	710
Acknowledgments	710
References	710

# 41. Materials-Based Cancer

Immunotherapies

- JARED M. NEWTON, ANDREW G. SIKORA,
- 649 SIMON YOUNG

639

646

Introduction and Overview of Cancer	
Immunotherapy	715
Advantages and Disadvantages of Cancer	
Immunotherapy	717
Nanoparticle Biomaterials for Cancer	
Immunotherapy	718

Macroscale Biomaterial Scaffolds for Cancer	
Immunotherapy	
Conclusion	
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	
Glossary	
Acknowledgments	
References	

# 42. Gene Editing in Regenerative Medicine YUNLAN FANG, XUGUANG CHEN, W.T. GODBEY

Genome Editing Tools	
Delivery Cargo	
Delivery Methods	
Applications of Gene Editing in Regenerative	
Medicine	
Closing Remarks	
References	

# 43. Preclinical Bone Repair Models in Regenerative Medicine

ELVIS L. FRANCOIS, MICHAEL J. YASZEMSKI

Introduction
Biomineralization and Bone Regeneration
Cell Sources
Embryonic Stem Cells
Scaffolds
Preclinical Models of Bone Tissue Regeneration
Conclusions
References

# 44. Body-on-a-Chip: Regenerative Medicine for Personalized Medicine

ALEKSANDER SKARDAL, THOMAS SHUPE, ANTHONY ATALA

Introduction	769
Advance of In Vitro Organoid Development:	
Progression From Two-Dimensional to	
Three-Dimensional Models	770
Organ-on-a-Chip Technologies and Their	
Applications	772
Body-on-a-Chip: Multiorgan Systems and Future	
Applications	77
Conclusions and Perspectives	783
References	783
45. Bioreactors in Regenerative Medicine	

JINHO KIM, KELSEY KENNEDY,

GORDANA VUNJAK-NOVAKOVIC

Introduction	
Design Considerations for Creating Bioreactors	
Lung Bioreactors	

CONTENTS

727

733

734

734

736

736

741

748 749

750 755 755

787 787 788 Bone Bioreactors795Challenges and Future Directions801Acknowledgments801References801

# 46. Bioinks for Three-Dimensional Printing in Regenerative Medicine

JAVIER NAVARRO, GISELE A. CALDERON, JORDAN S.

MILLER, JOHN P. FISHER

Introduction	805
Fundamentals of Three-Dimensional	
Printing	805
Bioinks	808
Conclusion and Future Directions	826
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	827
References	827

# 47. Three-Dimensional Tissue and Organ Printing in Regenerative Medicine

GREGORY J. GILLISPIE, JIHOON PARK, JOSHUA S. COPUS, ANIL KUMAR PALLICKAVEEDU RAJAN ASARI, JAMES J. YOO, ANTHONY ATALA, SANG JIN LEE

Bioprinting Strategy: From Medical Image to Printed
Tissue 83
Bioprinting Mechanisms 83
Biomaterials for Bioprinting: Bioinks 83
Three-Dimensional Bioprinting in Regenerative
Medicine Applications 83
Conclusions and Future Perspectives 84
List of Abbreviations 84
Glossary 84
References 84

48. Biomineralization and Bone

69 Regeneration

KUNAL J. RAMBHIA, PETER X. MA

h	Development and Fracture of Bone	853
0	Principles of Bone Tissue Engineering	854
2	Stem Cells in Bone Tissue Engineering	854
2	Scaffolds for Bone Tissue Engineering	856
5	Growth and Differentiation Factors in Bone Tissue	
3	Engineering	859
3	Immunomodulation in Bone Regeneration	861
,	References	863
	49. Hair Cell Regeneration in the Inner Ear and Lateral Line	
	MATTLEW W KELLEV LACOND MEVEDS	
	MATTER W. KELLET, JASON R. METERS	

Introduction	867
Structure of the Inner Ear	867

# xiii

## xiv

Hair Cell Loss	868
History of Hair Cell Regeneration	869
Spontaneous Hair Cell Regeneration in Mammalian	
Vestibular Organs	870
Road Blocks to Regeneration	871
Insights From Developmental Biology	871
Induction of Hair Cell Regeneration Using	
Transgenic Mice	875
Studies of Hair Cell Regeneration Using the Lateral	
Line	876
Formation of New Neuromasts From Multipotent	
Progenitors	877
Hair Cell Regeneration in the Lateral Line	878
Pathways Coordinating Hair Cell Regeneration in the	
Lateral Line	879
Open Questions About Lateral Line Regeneration	880
Conclusions	881
Clinical Trial	881
References	881

# 50. Craniofacial Regenerative Medicine

BRANDON T. SMITH, EMMA WATSON, ISSA A. HANNA, JAMES C. MELVILLE, ANTONIOS G. MIKOS, MARK E. WONG

Introduction
Understanding the Craniofacial Regenerative
Environment
Current Methods of Maxillofacial Reconstruction
Tissue Engineering Technologies Currently Used
Conclusion
List of Abbreviations
Acknowledgments
References

# 51. Dental Tissue Engineering

NELSON MONTEIRO, PAMELA C. YELICK

# 52. Cell Therapy for Blood Substitutes SHI-JIANG LU, ROBERT LANZA

Introduction
Red Blood Cells
Megakaryocytes and Platelets
Hematopoietic Stem Cells
Perspectives
Financial and Competing Interest Disclosure
References
Further Reading

#### CONTENTS

Transplantation

53. Cartilage Tissue Engineering Heather J. Faust, qiongyu guo, Jennifer H. elisseeff	
Cartilage and Cartilage Repair Tissue Engineering for Cartilage Repair Current and Future Trends in Cartilage Engineering References	937 938 946 947
54. Stem Cell Therapy for Musculoskeletal Diseases Benjamin B. Rothrauff, Alessandro Pirosa, Hang Lin, Jihee Sohn, Mark T. Langhans, Rocky S. Tuan	
Introduction Stem Cell Therapies for Musculoskeletal Diseases Challenges and Prospects List Abbreviations and Acronyms Acknowledgments References	953 954 964 966 966 966
55. Myoblast Transplantation in Skeletal Muscles DANIEL SKUK, JACQUES P. TREMBLAY	
Introduction Satellite Cell–Derived Myoblasts Meet the Properties Needed for Transplantation in Skeletal Muscles Cell Administration Cell-Graft Survival Conclusions List of Abbreviations Glossary References	971 971 976 980 982 983 983 983
<b>56.</b> Islet Cell Transplantation JULIET A. EMAMAULLEE, ANDREW PEPPER, A.M. JAMES SHAPIRO	
Introduction Clinical Islet Transplantation Future Challenges Summary and Conclusions References	987 990 993 1001 1001
57. Prenatal Cell- and Gene-Based Therapies for Regenerative Medicine GRAÇA ALMEIDA-PORADA, CHRISTOPHER D. PORADA	
Introduction Fetal Development and Regenerative	1009
Medicine Preclinical Animal Studies of In Utero Stem Cell	1009

	CONTE
Clinical Experience With In Utero Stem Cell	
Transplantation	1020
Conclusions and Future Directions	1021
References	1021
58. Engineering of Large Diameter Vessels	
HIDEKI MIYACHI, TOSHIHIRO SHOJI, SHINKA MIYAMOTO, TOSHIHARU SHINOKA	
Introduction	1029
Materials for and Approaches to Fabricating Tissue	
Engineered Vascular Grafts	1030
Conclusion	1038
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	1039
References	1039
59. Regenerative Medicine Approaches for Tissue Engineered Heart Valves	
JAMES K. WILLIAMS, JAMES J. YOO, ANTHONY ATALA	
Introduction	1041
Clinical Options	1042
Tissue Engineered Heart Valves	1042
Biomaterials for Tissue Engineered Heart Valves	1046
Conclusions	1053
References	1054
60. Regenerative Medicine of the Respiratory Tract sarah E. Gilpin, philipp T. MOSER, Harald C. OTT	
Lung Development: A Road Map to Regeneration	1059
Kepair and Regeneration in the Native Lung	1060
Novel Cell Populations for Lung Repair	1061
Advances in Polyuilding Eurotional Lung Tissue	1065
Clinical Translation and Euture Considerations	1069
List of A gronyme and A browintions	1068
References	1060
Activities (1997)	1007
61. Cardiac Tissue	
SERENA MANDLA, MILICA RADISIC	
Introduction: From Tissues to Organs: Key Goals	
and Issues	1073
Engineering of Cardiac Patches Using Cells, Scaffolds,	
and Bioreactors	1074
Bioprinting	1078
Cardiac Organoids and Organ-on-a-Chip Engineering	1080
Engineering the Entire Ventricle	1083
Bioreactors and Conditioning	1083
Tissue and Organ Function	1086
In Vivo Studies	1090
Summary	1094
References	1094
Further Reading	1099

62 Diagonating of Liver Tions	
02. Dioengineering of Liver Tissue	
PILAR SAINZ-ARNAL, IRIS PLA-PALACÍN,	
NATALIA SANCHEZ-KOMEKO, MANUEL ALMEIDA,	
TRINIDAD SERRANO-AULLÓ, PEDRO M. BAPTISTA	
Introduction	1101
Hepatic Tissue Engineering	1103
Liver Spheroids, Organoids, and Aggregates: Cancer,	
Bioartificial Liver, Transplantation Research, and	
Toxicology and Drug Development	1106
Conclusions and Final Perspectives	1110
Acknowledgments	1111
References	1111
63. Regenerative Medicine in the Cornea	
FIONA SIMPSON, EMILIO I. ALARCON, JÖNS HILBORN,	
ISABELLE BRUNETTE, MAY GRIFFITH	
Introduction	1115
Regenerative Medicine Applied to Keratoprosthesis	
Development	1116
Regeneration of Corneal Layers	1118
Fully Cell-Based, Self-Assembled Corneal Constructs	1119
Cell-Free Biomaterials	1122
Cell–Biomaterial Composites	1125
Composite Implants Incorporating Specific Bioactive	
Functions	1125
Challenges	1125
Conclusions and Future Perspective	1126
References	1126
64. Alimentary I ract	
RICHARD M. DAY	
Introduction	1131
Esophagus	1131
Stomach	1134

Loophagus	1151
Stomach	1134
Small Intestine	1135
Colon	1141
Anal Canal	1141
In Vitro Models	1142
Conclusion	1143
References	1143

# 65. Extracorporeal Renal Replacement

CHRISTOPHER J. PINO, H. DAVID HUMES

Introduction	1149
Requirements of a Renal Replacement Device	1149
Devices Used in Conventional Renal Replacement	
Therapy	1150
Advancements in Conventional Renal Replacement	
Therapy Devices	1151
Renal Assist Device: A More Complete Renal	
Replacement Therapy	1152

CONTENTS

79

1199

Renal Assist Device Therapy of Acute Kidney Injury	
Caused by Sepsis	1153
Clinical Experience With a Renal Assist Device to	
Treat Acute Kidney Injury	1154
Immunomodulatory Effect of the Renal Assist Device	1154
Selective Cytopheretic Device	1155
Challenge of Cell-Based Device: Robust Cell Source	1156
Challenge: Cost-Effective Storage and Distribution	
for Cell Devices, Bioartificial Renal Epithelial Cell	
System Design	1156
Bioartificial Renal Epithelial Cell System as an	
Extracorporeal Therapy to Treat Acute Kidney	
Injury	1157
Wearable Bioartificial Kidney in Preclinical	
End-Stage Renal Disease Model	1158
Complete Bioartificial Kidney System for Use in	
End-Stage Renal Disease	1159
Future Advancements for Wearable and Ambulatory	
Renal Replacement Therapies	1159
Conclusion	1160
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	1160
Glossary	1161
References	1161

# 66. Regenerative Medicine Approaches for the Kidney

IN KAP KO, JAMES J. YOO, ANTHONY ATALA

Introduction
Cell-Based Therapy
Cell-Free Approach: In Situ Renal Regeneration
Conclusions and Future Perspectives
Acknowledgments
References

# 67. Functional Tissue Engineering of Ligament and Tendon Injuries

SAVIO L-Y. WOO, JONQUIL R. MAU, HUIJUN KANG, RUI LIANG, ALEJANDRO J. ALMARZA, MATTHEW B. FISHER

Introduction	1179
Normal Ligaments and Tendons	1180
Healing of Ligaments and Tendons	1183
Application of Functional Tissue Engineering	1185
Healing of Ligaments and Tendons	1188
Summary and Future Directions	1192
References	1193

# 68. Central Nervous System

SAMANTHA L. PAYNE, BRIAN G. BALLIOS, M. DOUGLAS BAUMANN, MICHAEL J. COOKE, MOLLY S. SHOICHET

# Introduction

Wound Response and Barriers to Regeneration	1200
Therapeutic Strategies in the Central Nervous System	1201
Case Studies in Tissue Therapy in the Central	
Nervous System	1203

#### Conclusions and Outlook 1213 List of Acronyms and Abbreviations 1213 Acknowledgments 1214 References 1214

# 69. Peripheral Nerve Regeneration

MAHESH C. DODLA, MELISSA ALVARADO-VELEZ, VIVEK J. MUKHATYAR, RAVI V. BELLAMKONDA

Problems and Challenges With Peripheral Nerve	
Injuries	1223
Historical Background	1223
Current Strategies for Peripheral Nerve	
Regeneration	1224
Isotropic Scaffolds for Nerve Regeneration	1224
Anisotropic Scaffolds for Nerve	
Regeneration	1229
Natural Nerve Grafts	1231
Animal Models	1232
Conclusion	1232
References	1233

# 70. Regenerative Medicine for the Female **Reproductive System**

RENATA S. MAGALHAES, ANTHONY ATALA

Introduction	1237
Principles of Tissue Engineering	1237
The Vagina	1238
The Uterus	1240
The Ovaries	1242
Other Tissue Engineering Applications in the Female	
Reproductive System	1245
Conclusions and Future Trends	1246
References	1246

# 71. Regenerative Medicine for the Male Reproductive System

HOOMAN SADRI-ARDEKANI, ANTHONY ATALA

1251
1251
1255
1257
1258
1258
1258

# 72. Regenerative Medicine of the Bladder

YUANYUAN ZHANG, ANTHONY ATALA

Introduction	1263
Cell Sources	1264
Biodegradable Biomaterials	1268
Preclinical Models	1271
Clinical Trials	1273
Conclusion	1275
References	1275

73. Therapeutic Applications: Tissue Engineering of Skin FIONA M. WOOD		May We Create an E May We Clone Hum May We Use Human May We Genetically
Introduction Development, Anatomy, and Function of Skin Potential Prerequisite Requirements for Tissue	1281 1283	Are There Special Co of Stem Cells in C Applications?
Engineered Skin Solutions Current Tissue Engineering Skin Technologies Tissue Engineering Skin Solutions in Clinical	1285 1287	Conclusion References
Practice The Future	1289 1290	77. Overview of t Administration R
Conclusion References	1292 1292	CAROLYN YONG, DAV LAURA RICLES, ANNA JUDITH ARCIDIACONO
74. Regenerative Medicine Approaches for Engineering a Human Hair Follicle		REBECCA ROBINSON, I
GAIL K. NAUGHTON		Brief Legislative Hist Drug Administrati
Introduction Use of Autologous Growth Factors in Hair Follicle Regeneration	1297 1298	Laws, Regulations, ar Food and Drug Admi
Use of Adipose-Derived Stem Cells and Their Conditioned Medium for Hair Growth Tissue-Derived Materials for Hair Regeneration	1299 1300	Approval Mechanism Meetings With Indus
Additional Studies on Secreted Growth Factors and Hair Growth	1300	Sponsors Regulations and Guid Regenerative Med
Simulating the Embryonic Environment Bioengineering a Human Hair Follicle	1300 1304	Preclinical Developmen
Summary References Further Reading	1306 1306 1308	Advisory Committee Food and Drug Admi Path Science
75. US Stem Cell Research Policy Josephine Johnston, rachel L. zacharias		Other Coordination Conclusion References
Introduction Sources of Stem Cells United States Federal and State Stem Cell Policy Stem Cell Research Guidelines	1309 1309 1311 1316	78. Regenerative Manufacturing—( Opportunities
International Comparisons Selected Ethical, Legal, Social, and Policy Questions	1318	PAUL COHEN, JOSHUA ANTHONY ATALA
of Stem Cell Research Conclusion List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Acknowledgments	1321 1326 1326 1327	Why Regenerative M Current Challenges a tive Medicine Mar Envisioned Regenera
Keterences	1327	Systems of the Fut Global Landscape for

# 76. Ethical Considerations

#### RONALD M. GREEN

Introduction	1331
Is It Necessary to Use Human Embryos?	1331
Is It Morally Permissible to Destroy a Human Embryo?	1332
May One Benefit From Others' Destruction of	
Embryos?	1333

May We Create an Embryo to Destroy It?	1334
May We Clone Human Embryos?	1334
May We Use Human Stem Cells to Create Chimeras?	1335
May We Genetically Modify Human Embryos?	1336
Are There Special Considerations Governing the Use	
of Stem Cells in Clinical Research and Clinical	
Applications?	1337
Conclusion	1340
References	1340
77. Overview of the US Food and Drug	
Administration Regulatory Process	
CAROLYN YONG, DAVID S. KAPLAN, ANDREA GRAY,	
LAURA RICLES, ANNA KWILAS, SCOTT BRUBAKER,	
JUDITH ARCIDIACONO, LEI XU, CYNTHIA CHANG,	
REBECCA ROBINSON, RICHARD MCFARLAND	
Introduction and Chapter Overview	1345
Brief Legislative History of United States Food and	
Drug Administration	1345
Laws, Regulations, and Guidance	1346
Food and Drug Administration Organization and	
Jurisdictional Issues	1347
Approval Mechanisms and Clinical Studies	1348
Meetings With Industry, Professional Groups, and	
Sponsors	1350
Regulations and Guidance of Special Interest for	
Regenerative Medicine	1350
Preclinical Development Plan	1356
Clinical Development Plan	1356
Advisory Committee Meetings	1358
Food and Drug Administration Research and Critical	
Path Science	1359
Other Coordination Efforts	1361
Conclusion	1362
References	1362
78. Regenerative Medicine	
Manufacturing—Challenges and	
Opportunities	
PAUL COHEN, JOSHUA G. HUNSBERGER,	
Why Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing?	1367

Current Challenges and Opportunities in Regenera-	
tive Medicine Manufacturing	1367
Envisioned Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing	
Systems of the Future	1370
Global Landscape for Regenerative Medicine	
Manufacturing	1373
Summary and Conclusions	1375
References	1375

# Index 1377

This page intentionally left blank

# Contributors

- Rachit Agarwal Centre for BioSystems Science and Engineering, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, India
- Jon D. Ahlstrom PolarityTE, Salt Lake City, UT, United States
- Rafiq Ahmad Chonbuk National University, Jeonju-si, Republic of Korea
- **Emilio I. Alarcon** University of Ottawa Heart Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada
- Alejandro J. Almarza University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- **Graça Almeida-Porada** Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Manuel Almeida Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain
- Melissa Alvarado-Velez Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- James M. Anderson Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States
- Judith Arcidiacono Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- Anthony Atala Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Stephen F. Badylak University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Wayne Balkan University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States
- Brian G. Ballios University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- **Pedro M. Baptista** Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain; Center for Biomedical Research Network Liver and Digestive Diseases (CIBERehd), Zaragoza, Spain; Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de la Fundación Jiménez Díaz, Madrid, Spain; Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Madrid, Spain
- M. Douglas Baumann Syngenta Canada Inc., Guelph, ON, Canada
- Supinder S. Bedi McGovern Medical School at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- Ravi V. Bellamkonda Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- Nicole M. Bergmann Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- Helen M. Blau Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States

- Joel D. Boerckel University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States
- Andres M. Bratt-Leal The Scripps Research Institute, San Diego, CA, United States; Summit for Stem Cell Foundation, San Diego, CA, United States
- James C. Brown University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States
- **Scott Brubaker** Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- Isabelle Brunette Maisonneuve-Rosemont Hospital Research Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada; University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada
- Gisele A. Calderon Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- Arnold I. Caplan Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States
- **David G. Castner** University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States
- **Cynthia Chang** Center for Devices and Radiological Health, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- Aditya Chawla Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States; Harvard University, Boston, MA, United States
- **Xuguang Chen** Salubris Biotherapeutics, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD, United States
- **Paul Cohen** North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States
- Michael J. Cooke University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- Joshua S. Copus Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Vitor M. Correlo 3B's Research Group, I3Bs Research Institute on Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal; ICVS/3B's–PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; The Discoveries Centre for Regenerative and Precision Medicine, Headquarters at University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal
- **Charles S. Cox, Jr.** McGovern Medical School at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- Abritee Dahl Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

- Richard M. Day University College London, London, United Kingdom
- Paolo De Coppi UCL Institute of Child Health and Great Ormond Street Hospital, London, United Kingdom; Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Mahesh C. Dodla Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- Jennifer H. Elisseeff Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States
- Juliet A. Emamaullee Department of Surgery, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada
- Adam Esa Cardiff University, Cardiff Wales, United Kingdom
- Yunlan Fang XenoBiotic Laboratories, Inc., Plainsboro Township, NJ, United States
- Heather J. Faust Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States
- John P. Fisher University of Maryland, College Park, MD, United States; Center for Engineering Complex Tissues, College Park, MD, United States
- Matthew B. Fisher North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States
- Elvis L. Francois Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United States
- Andrés J. García Woodruff School of Mechanical Engineering and Petit Institute for Bioengineering and Bioscience, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States
- Svetlana Gavrilov College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, New York, NY, United States
- Dan Gazit Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States; Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel
- Zulma Gazit Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States; Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel
- Christopher V. Gemmiti Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States
- **Gregory J. Gillispie** Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Sarah E. Gilpin Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States
- W.T. Godbey Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, United States
- Andrea Gray Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- Ronald M. Green Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, United States
- May Griffith Maisonneuve-Rosemont Hospital Research Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada; University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada

- **Robert E. Guldberg** Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States
- **Qiongyu Guo** Lehigh University, Bethlehem, PA, United States
- **Geoffrey C. Gurtner** Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States
- Michael C. Hacker University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany
- Issa A. Hanna University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- Joshua M. Hare University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States
- Konstantinos E. Hatzistergos University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States
- Ralf-Peter Herber Cam Bioceramics BV, Leiden, The Netherlands
- Jöns Hilborn Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden
- H. David Humes Innovative Biotherapies, Ann Arbor, MI, United States; University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States
- Joshua G. Hunsberger Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Kenjiro Iwasa University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States
- John D. Jackson Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Margaret L. Jackson McGovern Medical School at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- Hae Lin Jang Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States; Harvard University, Boston, MA, United States
- John A. Jansen Radboudumc, Nijmegen, The Netherlands
- **Josephine Johnston** The Hastings Center, Garrison, NY, United States
- **Carl Jorns** Department of Transplantation Surgery, Karolinska University Hospital, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden
- **Huijun Kang** University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- David L. Kaplan Tufts University, Medford, MA, United States
- **David S. Kaplan** Center for Devices and Radiological Health, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- Adam J. Katz University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States
- Matthew W. Kelley National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States
- Kelsey Kennedy Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

- Ali Khademhosseini Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States; Harvard University, Boston, MA, United States; Konkuk University, Seoul, Republic of Korea; King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
- **Gilson Khang** Chonbuk National University, Jeonju-si, Republic of Korea
- Jinho Kim Columbia University, New York, NY, United States
- Rachel H. Klein University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States
- Irina Klimanskaya Astellas Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Marlboro, MA, United States
- Paul S. Knoepfler University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States
- In Kap Ko Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Yash M. Kolambkar Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States
- Jan Krieghoff University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany
- Nathan W. Kucko Radboudumc, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; Cam Bioceramics BV, Leiden, The Netherlands
- Manoj Kumar University of KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium
- Joanne Kurtzberg Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- **Anna Kwilas** Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- **Donald W. Landry** College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, New York, NY, United States
- Mark T. Langhans University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- **Robert Lanza** Astellas Institute of Regenerative Medicine, Marlborough, MA, United States
- Giacomo Lanzoni University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States
- Sang Jin Lee Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Sander C.G. Leeuwenburgh Radboudumc, Nijmegen, The Netherlands
- Kam W. Leong Duke University, Durham, NC, United States; Columbia University, New York, NY, United States
- **Rui Liang** University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Volha Liaudanskaya Tufts University, Medford, MA, United States
- Hang Lin University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Michael T. Longaker Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States
- Hermann P. Lorenz Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States

- Jeanne F. Loring The Scripps Research Institute, San Diego, CA, United States
- Shi-Jiang Lu Vcanbio Center for Translational Biotechnology, Natick, MA, United States
- Alberto Lue Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain; Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain
- Peter X. Ma The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States
- **Renata S. Magalhaes** Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- **Serena Mandla** Institute of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering and Applied Chemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- Clement D. Marshall Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States
- Manuela Martins-Green University of California, Riverside, CA, United States
- **Devon E. Mason** University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States
- Jonquil R. Mau University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- **Richard McFarland** Advanced Regenerative Manufacturing Institute, Manchester, NH, United States
- Melissa K. McHale Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- James C. Melville University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- Jason R. Meyers Colgate University, Hamilton, NY, United States
- Antonios G. Mikos Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- Jordan S. Miller Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- Paul A. Mittermiller Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States
- Hideki Miyachi Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States
- Shinka Miyamoto Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States
- **Nelson Monteiro** University of Connecticut Health, Farmington, CT, United States
- Alessandra L. Moore Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States; Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States
- Sara Morini Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain; Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal
- Philipp T. Moser Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States
- Vivek J. Mukhatyar Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

- Mark Murdock University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Aaron Nagiel University of California Los Angeles Geffen School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States
- Gail K. Naughton Histogen, Inc., San Diego, CA, United States
- Allison Nauta Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States; Oregon Health and Sciences University, Portland, OR, United States
- Javier Navarro University of Maryland, College Park, MD, United States; Center for Engineering Complex Tissues, College Park, MD, United States
- Jared M. Newton Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States
- Aparna Nori Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- **Teruo Okano** Institute of Advanced Biomedical Engineering and Science, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Tokyo, Japan
- Joaquim M. Oliveira 3B's Research Group, I3Bs Research Institute on Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal; ICVS/3B's–PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; The Discoveries Centre for Regenerative and Precision Medicine, Headquarters at University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal
- Harald C. Ott Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States
- Jagannath Padmanabhan Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States
- Kristin M. Page Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- Anil Kumar Pallickaveedu Rajan Asari Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- **Virginia E. Papaioannou** College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, New York, NY, United States
- Jihoon Park Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Samantha L. Payne University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- **Gadi Pelled** Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States; Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel
- Andrew Pepper Department of Surgery, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada
- **Elumalai Perumal** The Catholic University of Korea, Seochogu, Republic of Korea
- Melissa Petreaca DePauw University, Greencastle, IN, United States
- Christopher J. Pino Innovative Biotherapies, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

- Alessandro Pirosa University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Iris Pla-Palacín Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain
- Marta Pokrywczynska Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Ludwik Rydygier Medical College in Bydgoszcz, Bydgoszcz, Poland
- Christopher D. Porada Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Blaise D. Porter Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States
- Milica Radisic Institute of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering and Applied Chemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada; Toronto General Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada
- Kunal J. Rambhia The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States
- F. Raquel Maia 3B's Research Group, I3Bs Research Institute on Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal; ICVS/3B's–PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; The Discoveries Centre for Regenerative and Precision Medicine, Headquarters at University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal
- **Buddy D. Ratner** University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States
- A.H. Reddi University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States
- Rui L. Reis 3B's Research Group, I3Bs Research Institute on Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal; ICVS/3B's–PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; The Discoveries Centre for Regenerative and Precision Medicine, Headquarters at University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal
- Laura Ricles Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- Camillo Ricordi University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States
- Muhammad Rizwan University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada
- **Rebecca Robinson** Advanced Regenerative Manufacturing Institute, Manchester, NH, United States
- Melanie Rodrigues Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States
- Benjamin B. Rothrauff University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Hooman Sadri-Ardekani Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- **Pilar Sainz-Arnal** Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain; Instituto Aragonés de Ciencias de la Salud (IACS), Zaragoza, Spain

#### xxii

- Rangarajan Sambathkumar University of KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium
- Natalia Sánchez-Romero Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain
- Michelle Scarritt University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- **Christopher M. Schneider** McGovern Medical School at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- **Steven D. Schwartz** University of California Los Angeles Geffen School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States
- Sarah Selem University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States
- Trinidad Serrano-Aulló Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain; Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain
- **A.M. James Shapiro** Department of Surgery, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada
- **Dmitriy Sheyn** Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States
- **Tatsuya Shimizu** Institute of Advanced Biomedical Engineering and Science, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Tokyo, Japan
- **Toshiharu Shinoka** Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States; Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States
- Molly S. Shoichet University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- Toshihiro Shoji Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States
- **Thomas Shupe** Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Andrew G. Sikora Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States
- Fiona Simpson Maisonneuve-Rosemont Hospital Research Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada
- Aleksander Skardal Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States; Virginia Tech-Wake Forest School of Biomedical Engineering and Sciences, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States; Comprehensive Cancer Center at Wake Forest Baptist Medical, Winston-Salem, NC, United States; Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- **Daniel Skuk** Axe Neurosciences, Research Center of the CHU de Quebec–CHUL, Quebec, QC, Canada
- Brandon T. Smith Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- Jihee Sohn University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Shay Soker Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

- **Estela Solanas** Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain
- Jeong Eun Song Chonbuk National University, Jeonju-si, Republic of Korea
- **Disha Sood** Tufts University, Medford, MA, United States
- David L. Stocum Indiana University-Purdue University, Indianapolis, IN, United States
- Stephen C. Strom Department of Laboratory Medicine, Karolinska Institute and Division of Pathology, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden
- Jessica M. Sun Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- Hironobu Takahashi Institute of Advanced Biomedical Engineering and Science, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Tokyo, Japan
- Jacques P. Tremblay Axe Neurosciences, Research Center of the CHU de Quebec–CHUL, Quebec, QC, Canada
- Nirmalya Tripathy Chonbuk National University, Jeonju-si, Republic of Korea
- John W. Tse University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada
- **Rocky S. Tuan** University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Catherine M. Verfaillie University of KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium
- Gordana Vunjak-Novakovic Columbia University, New York, NY, United States
- William R. Wagner University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Yanling Wang The Scripps Research Institute, San Diego, CA, United States; Summit for Stem Cell Foundation, San Diego, CA, United States
- Emma Watson Rice University, Houston, TX, United States
- Jennifer L. West Duke University, Durham, NC, United States
- **David F. Williams** Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- James K. Williams Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Mark E. Wong University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States
- Savio L-Y. Woo University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States
- Fiona M. Wood University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia
- Lei Xu Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- **Doron C. Yakubovich** Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel
- Yafeng Yang Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States

- Michael J. Yaszemski Departments of Orthopedic Surgery and Biomedical Engineering, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United States
- Pamela C. Yelick Tufts University School of Dental Medicine, Boston, MA, United States
- **Evelyn K.F. Yim** University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada; National University of Singapore, Singapore
- **Carolyn Yong** Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States
- James J. Yoo Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Simon Young The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, School of Dentistry, Houston, TX, United States

- **Nora Yucel** Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States
- Rachel L. Zacharias The Hastings Center, Garrison, NY, United States
- Yuanyuan Zhang Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States
- Ai Zhang The Scripps Research Institute, San Diego, CA, United States
- Jin Zhang Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States
- Yang Zhu University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

#### xxiv

# Preface

The textbook *Principles of Regenerative Medicine* was created as a primary resource for scientists, clinicians, teachers, and students from academia, industry, and government, as well as the public at large. The initial edition was the first comprehensive body of work dedicated entirely to the field and quickly became the most relevant textbook in the arena of regenerative medicine. The first and second editions of the textbook have had broad appeal and are currently ranked as the most distributed textbooks in the field. I am honored to have had the opportunity to continue to edit the textbook, now in its third edition, with our coeditors, Robert Lanza, Tony Mikos, and Robert Nerem. We welcome Tony Mikos as a new editor and would like to thank Jamie Thomson for his contributions to the first two editions. The contributions of the editors cannot be overestimated. We are indebted to their vision and the strong foundation they have created, upon which the current text was built.

The specialty of regenerative medicine continues to grow and change rapidly. There have been major areas of advances in just the past few years. The field encompasses multiple areas of scientific inquiry, each of which is complex, but together they are a powerful combination of technologies, such as stem cells, gene editing, nuclear transfer, proteomics, pharmacology, nanotechnology, tissue engineering, three-dimensional printing, and bio-manufacturing. We are now in an era of translation of bench site discoveries to clinical therapies. We hope that this book will enlighten all of these areas and supply guidance where it is most needed.

The textbook was organized in a manner that builds upon the basic science of the field and goes forward into clinical applications and possible clinical utility. The textbook is organized into seven major areas, starting with chapters that encompass some of the fundamentals of the field. The biologic and molecular bases of regenerative medicine are covered with the molecular, mechanistic, and phenotypic aspects of cells and the extracellular matrix. The second section encompasses cells and tissue development, dealing with the various types of cells and determinants of tissue formation. The third section explores the mechanical, physical, and morphogenetic aspects of regenerative medicine, including nanotechnology applications. The fourth section is dedicated to the area of bio-materials for regenerative medicine. The fifth section covers enabling technologies for regenerative medicine, including infection control, gene editing, preclinical models, bioreactors, bioprinters, and body-on-a-chip applications. The sixth section discusses the topics of therapeutic applications and deals mostly with specific tissue and organ types. The last section of the book is dedicated to the regulatory, manufacturing, policy, and ethical aspects of the field. This area is becoming increasingly more important because the nexus between science, safety, and ethics is constantly changing. The third edition of the *Principles of Regenerative Medicine* builds on the knowledge base of the prior editions; most relevant chapters have been updated and other relevant topics are added with the inclusion of new chapters.

Once again, the leading scientists and physicians in the field have contributed their expertise to this comprehensive collection. We would like to thank all of the authors for their contributions; the publisher, Elsevier, and its staff, including Timothy Bennett, who worked diligently to complete the book; and our commissioning editors, Micah Lewis and Elizabeth Brown, who nurtured this project from its concept to completion.

Anthony Atala (on behalf of the Editors)

This page intentionally left blank

# 1

# Molecular Organization of Cells

Jon D. Ahlstrom PolarityTE, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Multicellular tissues exist in one of two types of cellular arrangements, epithelial or mesenchymal. Epithelial cells adhere tightly to each other at their lateral surfaces and to an organized extracellular matrix (ECM) at their basal domain, thereby producing a sheet of cells resting on a basal lamina with an apical surface. Mesenchymal cells, in contrast, are individual cells with a bipolar morphology that are held together as a tissue within a three-dimensional (3D) ECM (Fig. 1.1). The conversion of epithelial cells into mesenchymal cells, an "epithelial–mesenchymal transition" (EMT), is central to many aspects of embryonic morphogenesis and adult tissue repair, as well as a number of disease states [1–3]. The reverse process whereby mesenchymal cells coalesce into an epithelium is a "mesenchymal–epithelial transition" (MET). Understanding the molecules that regulate this transition between epithelial and mesenchymal states offers important insights into how cells and tissues are organized.

The early embryo is structured as one or more epithelia. An EMT allows the rearrangements of cells to create additional morphological features. Well-studied examples of EMTs during embryonic development include gastrulation in Drosophila [3], the emigration of primary mesenchyme cells (PMCs) in sea urchin embryos [4], and gastrulation in amniotes (reptiles, birds, and mammals) at the primitive streak [2]. EMTs also occur later in vertebrate development, such as during the emigration of neural crest cells from the neural tube [5], the formation of the sclerotome from epithelial somites, and palate fusion [2]. The reverse process of MET is likewise crucial to development; examples include the condensation of mesenchymal cells to form the notochord and somites [6], kidney tubule formation from nephrogenic mesenchyme [7], and the creation of heart valves from cardiac mesenchyme [8]. In the adult organism, EMTs and METs occur during wound healing and tissue remodeling [9]. The conversion of neoplastic epithelial cells into invasive cancer cells has long been considered an EMT process [1,10]. However, there are also examples of tumor cells that have functional cell-cell adhesion junctions yet are still migratory and invasive as a group [11]. This "collective migration" also occurs during development [11]. Hence, there is debate whether an EMT model accurately describes all epithelial metastatic cancers. Similarly, the fibrosis of cardiac, kidney, lens, and liver epithelial tissue has also long been categorized as an EMT event [6,12]. However, research in the kidney in vivo shows that the myofibroblasts induced after kidney injury are derived from mesenchymal pericytes rather than the proximal epithelial cells [13]. Therefore, defining the origin of the cells that contribute to fibrotic tissue scarring (epithelial or otherwise) will require further investigation.

The focus of this chapter is on the molecules that regulate the organization of cells into epithelium or mesenchyme. We will first discuss the cellular changes that occur during an EMT, including changes in cell—cell and cell— ECM adhesions, changes in cell polarity, and the stimulation of invasive cell motility. Then we will consider the molecules and mechanisms that control the EMT or MET, including the structural molecules, transcription factors, and signaling pathways that regulate EMTs.

# MOLECULES THAT ORGANIZE CELLS

The conversion of an epithelial sheet into individual migratory cells and back again requires the coordinated changes of many distinct families of molecules.



FIGURE 1.1 Epithelial versus Mesenchymal. Epithelial cells adhere tightly together by tight junctions and adherens junctions localized near the apical surface. Epithelial cells also have a basal surface that rests on a basal lamina. In contrast, mesenchymal cells do not have well-defined cell–cell adhesion complexes; they have front-end/back-end polarity instead of apicobasal polarity, and mesenchymal cells are characterized by their ability to invade the basal lamina.

# Changes in Cell–Cell Adhesion

Epithelial cells are held together by specialized cell–cell junctions, including adherens junctions, desmosomes, and tight junctions [14]. These junctions are localized in the lateral domain near the apical surface and establish the apical polarity of the epithelium. For an epithelial sheet to produce individual mesenchymal cells, cell–cell adhesions must be disrupted. The principal transmembrane proteins that mediate cell–cell adhesions are members of the cadherin superfamily [15]. E-cadherin and N-cadherin are classical cadherins that interact homotypically through their extracellular immunoglobulin G domains with like-cadherins on adjacent cells. Cadherins are important mediators of cell–cell adhesion. For example, misexpression of E-cadherin is sufficient to promote cell–cell adhesion and assembly of adherens junctions in fibroblasts [16]. In epithelial cancers (carcinomas), E-cadherin acts as a tumor suppressor [10]. In a mouse model for  $\beta$ -cell pancreatic cancer, the loss of E-cadherin is the rate-limiting step for transformed epithelial cells to become invasive [17]. Although the loss of cadherin-mediated cell–cell adhesion is necessary for an EMT, the loss of cadherins is not always sufficient to generate a complete EMT in vivo. For example, the neural tube epithelium in mice expresses N-cadherin, but in the N-cadherin knockout mouse an EMT is not induced in the neural tube [18]. Hence, cadherins are essential for maintaining epithelial integrity, and the loss of cell–cell adhesion caused by the reduction of cadherin function is an important step for an EMT.

One characteristic of an EMT is "cadherin switching." Often, epithelia that express E-cadherin will downregulate E-cadherin expression at the time of the EMT and express different cadherins such as N-cadherin [19]. Cadherin switching may promote motility. For instance, in mammary epithelial cell lines, the misexpression of N-cadherin is sufficient for increased cell motility. However, blocking N-cadherin expression does not result in motility even though the adherens junctions are reduced. Hence, cadherin switching may be necessary for cell motility, but cadherin switching alone is not sufficient to bring about a complete EMT [20].

There are several ways in which cadherin expression and function are regulated. Transcription factors that are central to most EMTs, such as Snail-1, Snail-2, Zinc finger E-box-binding (Zeb)1, Zeb2, Twist, and E2A, all bind to E-boxes on the *E-cadherin* promoter and repress the transcription of *E-cadherin* [21]. Posttranscriptionally, the E-cadherin protein is ubiquitinated by the E3-ligase, Hakai, which targets E-cadherin to the proteasome [22]. E-cadherin turnover at the membrane is regulated by either caveolae-dependent endocytosis or clathrin-dependent endocytosis [23], and p120-catenin prevents endocytosis of E-cadherin at the membrane [24]. E-cadherin function can also be disrupted by matrix metalloproteases, which degrade the extracellular domain of E-cadherin [25]. Some or all of these mechanisms may occur during an EMT to disrupt cell–cell adhesion.

Cell-cell adhesion is maintained principally by cadherins, and changes in cadherin expression are typical of an EMT.

# Changes in Cell–Extracellular Matrix Adhesion

Altering the way in which a cell interacts with the ECM is also important in EMTs. For example, at the time that sea urchin PMCs ingress, the cells have increased adhesiveness for ECM [4]. Cell–ECM adhesion is mediated principally by integrins. Integrins are transmembrane proteins composed of two noncovalently linked subunits,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , that bind to ECM components such as fibronectin, laminin, and collagen. The cytoplasmic domain of integrins links to the cytoskeleton and interacts with signaling molecules. Changes in integrin function are required for many EMTs, including neural crest emigration [26], mouse primitive streak formation [2], and cancer metastasis [27]. However, the misexpression of integrin subunits is not sufficient to bring about a full EMT in vitro [28] or in vivo [29].

The presence and function of integrins are modulated in several ways. For example, the promoter of the *integrin*  $\beta 6$  gene is activated by the transcription factor Ets-1 during colon carcinoma metastasis [30]. Most integrins can also cycle between "on" (high-affinity) or "off" (low-affinity) states. This "inside-out" regulation of integrin adhesion occurs at the integrin cytoplasmic tail [31]. In addition to integrin activation, the "clustering" of integrins on the cell surface affects the overall strength of integrin–ECM interactions. The increased adhesiveness of integrins caused by clustering, known as avidity, can be activated by chemokines and depends on RhoA and phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase (PI3K) activity [31].

Changes in ECM adhesion are required for an EMT. Cell–ECM adhesions are maintained by integrins, which have varying degrees of adhesiveness depending on the presence, activity, or avidity of the integrin subunits.

## Changes in Cell Polarity and Stimulation of Cell Motility

Cellular polarity is defined by the distinct arrangement of cytoskeletal elements and organelles in epithelial versus mesenchymal cells. Epithelial polarity is characterized by cell–cell junctions found near the apicolateral domain (nonadhesive surface), and a basal lamina opposite of the apical surface (adhesive surface). Mesenchymal cells, in contrast, do not have apicobasal polarity, but rather front-end/back-end polarity, with actin-rich lamellipodia and Golgi localized at the leading edge [2]. Molecules that establish cell polarity include Cdc42, PAK1, PI3K, PTEN, Rac, Rho, and the PAR proteins [32,33]. Changes in cell polarity help to promote an EMT. In mammary epithelial cells, the activated transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) receptor II causes Par6 to activate the E3 ubiquitin ligase Smurf1, which then targets RhoA to the proteasome. The loss of RhoA activity results in the loss of cell–cell adhesion and epithelial cell polarity [34].

For mesenchymal cells to leave the epithelium, they must become motile. Many of the same polarity (Crumbs, PAR, and Scribble complexes), structural (actin and microtubules), and regulatory molecules (Cdc42, Rac1, and RhoA) that govern epithelial polarity are also central to cell motility [35]. Cell motility mechanisms also vary depending on whether the environment is two-dimensional or 3D [36]. Many mesenchymal cells express the intermediate filament vimentin, which may be responsible for several aspects of the EMT phenotype [37].

In short, a wide variety of structural, polarity, and regulatory molecules must be reassigned as cells transition between epithelial polarity and mesenchymal migration.

#### Invasion of the Basal Lamina

In most EMTs, the emerging mesenchymal cells must penetrate a basal lamina, which consists of ECM components such as collagen type IV, fibronectin, and laminin. The basal lamina functions to stabilize the epithelium and is a barrier to migratory cells [38]. One mechanism that mesenchymal cells use to breach the basal lamina is to produce enzymes that degrade it. Plasminogen activator is one protease associated with a number of EMTs, including neural crest emigration [38] and the formation of cardiac cushion cells during heart morphogenesis [39]. The type II serine protease TMPRSS4 also promotes an EMT and metastasis when overexpressed in vitro and in vivo [40]. Matrix-metalloprotease (MMPs) are also important for many EMTs. When MMP-2 activity is blocked in the neural crest EMT, neural crest emigration is inhibited, but not neural crest motility [41]. In mouse mammary cells, MMP-3 overexpression is sufficient to induce an EMT in vitro and in vivo [42]. Misexpressing MMP-3 in cultured cells induces an alternatively spliced form of Rac1 (Rac1b), which then causes an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) intracellularly, and Snail-1 expression. Either Rac1b activity or ROS is necessary and sufficient for an MMP-3—induced EMT [43]. Hence, a number of extracellular proteases are important to bring about an EMT. Although epithelial cells undergoing an EMT eventually lose cell—cell adhesion and apicobasal polarity and gain invasive motility, the EMT program is not necessarily ordered or linear. For example, in a study in which neural crest cells were labeled with cell adhesion or polarity markers and individual live cells were observed to undergo the EMT in slice culture, neural crest cells changed epithelial polarity either before or after the complete loss of cell—cell adhesion, or lost cell—cell adhesion either before or after cell migration commenced [44]. Therefore, whereas an EMT consists of several distinct phases, these steps may occur in different orders or combinations, some of which (e.g., the complete loss of cell-cell adhesion) may not always be necessary.

Changes in a wide range of molecules are needed for an EMT because epithelial cells lose cell–cell adhesion, change cellular polarity, and gain invasive cell motility.

# THE EPITHELIAL–MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROGRAM

At the foundation of every EMT or MET program are the transcription factors that regulate the gene expression required for these cellular transitions. Whereas many of the transcription factors that regulate EMTs have been identified, the complex regulatory networks are still incomplete. Here we review the transcription factors that are known to promote the various phases of an EMT. Then we examine how these EMT transcription factors themselves are regulated at the promoter and posttranscriptional levels.

### Transcription Factors That Regulate Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition

The Snail family of zinc-finger transcription factors, including Snail-1 and Snail-2 (formerly Snail and Slug), are direct regulators of cell-cell adhesion and motility during EMTs [21,45]. The knockout of Snail-1 in mice is lethal early in gestation, and the presumptive primitive streak cells that normally undergo an EMT retain apicobasal polarity and adherens junctions, and express *E-cadherin* messenger RNA [46]. Snail-1 misexpression is sufficient for breast cancer recurrence in a mouse model in vivo, and high levels of *Snail-1* predict the relapse of human breast cancer [47]. Snail-2 is necessary for the chicken primitive streak and neural crest EMTs [48]. One way in which Snail-1 or Snail-2 causes decreases in cell–cell adhesion is by repressing the *E-cadherin* promoter [21]. This repression requires the mSin3A co-repressor complex, histone deacetylases, and components of the Polycomb 2 complex [49]. Snail-1 is also a transcriptional repressor of the tight junction genes *Claudin* and *Occludin* [21] and the polarity gene Crumbs3 [50]. The misexpression of Snail-1 and Snail-2 further leads to the transcription of proteins important for cell motility, such as fibronectin, vimentin [51], and RhoB [52]. Moreover, Snail-1 promotes invasion across the basal lamina. In Madin–Darby Canine Kidney (MDCK) cells, the misexpression of Snail-1 represses laminin (basement membrane) production [53] and indirectly upregulates *mmp*-9 transcription [54]. Snail and Twist also make cancer cells more resistant to senescence, chemotherapy, and apoptosis, and endow cancer cells with "stem cell" properties [6]. Hence, Snail-1 or Snail-2 is necessary and sufficient for bringing about many of the steps of an EMT, including loss of cell–cell adhesion, changes in cell polarity, gain of cell motility, invasion of the basal lamina, and increased proliferation and survival.

Other zinc finger transcription factors important for EMTs are Zeb homeobox 1 (Zeb1; also known as  $\delta$ EF1), and Zeb2 (also known as Smad-interacting protein-1; Sip1). Both Zeb1 and Zeb2 bind to the *E-cadherin* promoter and repress transcription [21]. Zeb1 can also bind to and repress the transcription of the polarity proteins Crumbs3, Pals1-associated tight junction proteins, and Lethal giant larvae 2 [55]. Zeb2 is structurally similar to Zeb1, and Zeb2 overexpression is sufficient to downregulate E-cadherin, dissociate adherens junctions, and increase motility in MDCK cells [56].

The lymphoid enhancer-binding factor/T-cell factor (LEF/TCF) transcription factors also have an important role in EMTs. For instance, the misexpression of Lef-1 in cultured colon cancer cells reversibly causes the loss of cell–cell adhesion [57]. LEF/TCF transcription factors directly activate genes that regulate cell motility, such as the L1 adhesion molecule [58], and the *fibronectin* gene [59]. LEF/TCF transcription factors also upregulate genes required for basal lamina invasion, including *mmp-3* and *mmp-7* [60].

Other transcription factors that have a role in promoting EMTs are the class I basic helix-loop-helix factors E2-2A and E2-2B [61], the forkhead box transcription factor FOXC2 [62], the homeobox protein Goosecoid [63], and the homeoprotein Six1 [64,65].

Transcription factors that regulate an EMT often do so by directly repressing cell adhesion and epithelial polarity molecules and by upregulating genes required for cell motility and basal lamina invasion.

# **Regulation at the Promoter Level**

Given the importance of the Snail, Zeb, and LEF/TCF transcription factors in orchestrating the various phases of an EMT, it is essential to understand the upstream events that regulate these EMT-promoting transcription factors.

The activation of *Snail-1* transcription in *Drosophila* requires the transcription factors Dorsal (nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  [NF- $\kappa B$ ]) and Twist [21]. The human *Snail-1* promoter also has functional NF- $\kappa B$  sites [66], and blocking NF- $\kappa B$  reduces *Snail-1* transcription [67]. In addition, a region of the *Snail-1* promoter is responsive to integrin-linked kinase (ILK) [21], and ILK can activate Snail-1 expression via poly-adenosine phosphate-ribose polymerase [68]. In mouse mammary epithelial cells, high-mobility group protein A2 and Smads activate *Snail-1* expression and subsequently *Snail-2*, *Twist*, and *Id2* transcription [69]. For *Snail-2* expression, myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) interact with Smads to induce *Snail-2* [70] and MRTFs may have a role in metastasis [71] and fibrosis [72]. There are also several *Snail-1* transcription of *Snail-1* in combination with the Mi-2/nucleosome remodeling deace-tylase complex [73], as does lysine-specific demethylase [74]. The Ajuba LIM proteins (Ajuba, LIMD1, and WTIP) are additional transcriptional corepressors of the Snail family [75].

The transcription of LEF/TCF genes such as *Lef-1* are activated by Smads [76]. The misexpression of Snail-1 results in the transcription of  $\delta$ *EF-1* and *Lef-1* through a yet unknown mechanism [21].

## Posttranscriptional Regulation of Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition Transcription Factors

The activity of EMT transcription factors is also regulated at the protein level, including translational control, protein stability (targeting to the proteasome), and nuclear localization. Noncoding RNAs are emerging as important regulator EMTs. In a breast cancer model, Myc activates the expression of microRNA-9 (miR-9), and miR-9 directly binds to and represses the *E-cadherin* promoter [77]. Members of the miR-200 family repress the translation of *Zeb1*, and the expression of these miR-200 family members is repressed by Snail-1. In addition, *Zeb2* transcription can be activated by naturally occurring RNA antisense transcripts [78]. It is not yet known whether there are noncoding RNAs that regulate Snail family members. However, the Y-box binding protein-1 is important for the selective activation of *Snail-1* translation [79].

Protein stability is another layer of EMT control. Snail-1 is phosphorylated by glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK- $3\beta$ ) and targeted for destruction [80]. Therefore, the inhibition of GSK- $3\beta$  activity by Wnt signaling may have multiple roles in an EMT, leading to the stabilization of both  $\beta$ -catenin and Snail-1. Some proteins that prevent GSK  $3\beta$ -mediated phosphorylation (and thus promote Snail-1 activation) are lysyl oxidase—like proteins (LOXL)2, LOXL3 [81], and ILK [82]. A Snail 1—specific phosphatase (Snail-1 activator) is C-terminal domain phosphatase [83]. Snail-2 is targeted for degradation by the direct action of p53 and the ubiquitin ligase Mdm2 [84].

In addition to protein translation and stability, the function of Snail-1 depends on nuclear localization mediated by Snail-1's nuclear localization sequence. The phosphorylation of human Snail-1 by p21-activated kinase 1 promotes the nuclear localization of Snail-1 (and therefore Snail-1 activation) in breast cancer cells [85]. In zebrafish, LIV-1 promotes the translocation of Snail-1 into the nucleus [86]. Snail-1 also contains a nuclear export sequence (NES) that depends on the calreticulin nuclear export pathway [87]. This NES sequence is activated by the phosphorylation of the same lysine residues targeted by GSK-3β, which suggests a mechanism whereby phosphorylation of Snail-1 by GSK-3β results in the export of Snail-1 from the nucleus and subsequent degradation.

LEF/TCF activity is also regulated by other proteins. β-Catenin is required as a cofactor for LEF/TCF-mediated activation of transcription, and Lef-1 can also associate with cofactor Smads to activate the transcription of additional EMT genes [88]. In colon cancer cells, thymosin β4 stabilizes ILK activity [89].

EMT transcription factors such as Snail-1, Zeb1, and Lef-1 are regulated by a variety of mechanisms at both the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels by noncoding RNA translation control, protein degradation, nuclear localization, and cofactors such as  $\beta$ -catenin.

# MOLECULAR CONTROL OF THE EPITHELIAL–MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION

The initiation of an EMT or MET is a tightly regulated event during development and tissue repair because deregulation of cellular organization is disastrous to the organism. A variety of external and internal signaling mechanisms coordinate the complex events of the EMT, and these same signaling pathways are often disrupted or reactivated during disease. EMTs or METs can be induced by either diffusible signaling molecules or ECM components. We next discuss the role of signaling molecules and ECM in triggering an EMT, and then present a summary model for EMT induction.

# Ligand-Receptor Signaling

During development, five main ligand-receptor signaling pathways are employed: TGF- $\beta$ , Wnt, receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), Notch, and Hedgehog. These pathways, among others, have a role in triggering EMTs. Although the activation of a single signaling pathway can be sufficient for an EMT, in most cases an EMT or MET is initiated by multiple signaling pathways acting in concert.

#### **Growth Factor-**β **Pathway**

The TGF- $\beta$  superfamily includes the TGF- $\beta$ , activin, and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) families. These ligands operate through receptor serine/threonine kinases to activate a variety of signaling molecules including Smads, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), PI3K, and ILK. Most EMTs studied to date are induced in part, or solely, by TGF- $\beta$  superfamily members [90]. During embryonic heart development, TGF- $\beta$ 2 and TGF- $\beta$ 3 have sequential and necessary roles in activating the endocardium to invade the cardiac jelly and from the endocardial cushions [91]. In the avian neural crest, BMP4 induces *Snail-2* expression [92]. In the EMT that transforms epithelial tissue into metastatic cancer cells, TGF- $\beta$  acts as a tumor suppressor during early stages of tumor development, but as a tumor/EMT inducer at later stages [90,93]. TGF- $\beta$  signaling may combine with other signaling pathways to induce an EMT. For example, in cultured breast cancer cells, activated Ras and TGF- $\beta$  induce an irreversible EMT [94], and in pig thyroid epithelial cells, TGF- $\beta$  and epidermal growth factor (EGF) synergistically stimulate the EMT [95].

One outcome of TGF- $\beta$  signaling is to change epithelial cell polarity immediately. In a TGF  $\beta$ -induced EMT of mammary epithelial cells, TGF- $\beta$ RII directly phosphorylates the polarity protein, Par6, leading to the dissolution of tight junctions [34]. TGF- $\beta$  signaling also regulates gene expression through the phosphorylation and activation of Smads. Smads are important cofactors in the stimulation of an EMT. For example, Smad3 is necessary for a TGF  $\beta$ -induced EMT in lens and kidney tissue in vivo [96]. The Smad3/4 also complex with Snail-1 and co-repress the promoters of cell-cell adhesion molecules [97]. Furthermore, TGF- $\beta$ RI directly binds to and activates PI3K [98], which in turn activates ILK and downstream pathways.

ILK is emerging as an important positive regulator of EMTs [99]. ILK interacts directly with growth factor receptors (TGF- $\beta$ , Wnt, or RTK), integrins, the actin skeleton, PI3K, and focal adhesion complexes. ILK directly phosphorylates Akt and GSK-3 $\beta$ , and results in the subsequent activation of transcription factors such as AP-1, NF- $\kappa$ B, and Lef-1. Overexpression of ILK in cultured cells causes the suppression of GSK-3 $\beta$  activity [82], translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin to the nucleus, activation of Lef-1/ $\beta$ -catenin transcription factors, and the downregulation of E-cadherin [100]. Inhibition of ILK in cultured colon cancer cells leads to the stabilization of GSK-3 $\beta$  activity, decreased nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin localization, the suppression of *Lef-1* and *Snail-1* transcription, and reduced invasive behavior of colon cancer cells [101]. ILK activity also results in Lef 1—mediated transcriptional upregulation of MMPs [60]. Hence, ILK (inducible by TGF- $\beta$  signaling) is capable of orchestrating most of the major events in an EMT, including the loss of cell–cell adhesion and invasion across the basal lamina.

#### Wnt Pathway

Many EMTs or METs are also regulated by Wnt signaling. Wnts signal through seven-pass transmembrane proteins of the Frizzled family, which activates G-proteins and PI3K, inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$ , and promotes nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin signaling. For example, during zebrafish gastrulation, Wnt11 activates the GTPase Rab5c, which results in the endocytosis of E-cadherin [102]. Wnt6 signaling is sufficient for increased transcription of *Snail-2* in the avian neural crest [103]. Snail-1 expression increases Wnt signaling [104], which suggests a positive feedback loop.

One of the downstream signaling molecules activated by Wnt signaling is  $\beta$ -catenin.  $\beta$ -Catenin is a structural component of adherens junctions. Nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin is also a limiting factor for the activation of LEF/TCF transcription factors.  $\beta$ -Catenin is pivotal for regulating most EMTs. Interfering with nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin signaling blocks the ingression of sea urchin PMCs [105], and in  $\beta$ -catenin mouse knockouts, the primitive streak EMT does not occur and no mesoderm is formed [106].  $\beta$ -Catenin is also necessary for the EMT that occurs during cardiac cushion development [107]. In breast cancer,  $\beta$ -catenin expression is highly correlated with metastasis and poor survival [108], and blocking  $\beta$ -catenin function in tumor cells inhibits invasion in vitro [109]. It is unclear whether  $\beta$ -catenin overexpression alone is sufficient for all EMTs. If  $\beta$ -catenin is misexpressed in cultured cells, it causes apoptosis [110]. However,

7

the misexpression of a stabilized from of  $\beta$ -catenin in mouse epithelial cells in vivo results in metastatic skin tumors [111].

### Signaling by Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Ligands

The RTK family of receptors and the growth factors that activate them also regulate EMTs or METs. Ligand binding promotes RTK dimerization and activation of the intracellular kinase domains by autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues. These phosphotyrosines act as docking sites for intracellular signaling molecules, which can activate signaling cascades such as Ras/MAPK, PI3K/Akt, JAK/STAT, or ILK. We will cite a few examples of RTK signaling in EMTs and METs.

Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF; also known as scatter factor) acts through the RTK c-met. HGF is important for the MET in the developing kidney [112]. HGF signaling is required for the EMT that produces myoblasts (limb muscle precursors) from somite tissue in the mouse [10]. In epithelial cells, HGF causes an EMT through MAPK and early growth response factor-1 signaling [113].

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling regulates mouse primitive streak formation [114]. FGF signaling also stimulates cell motility and activates MMPs [115,116].

EGF promotes the endocytosis of E-cadherin [117]. EGF can also increase Snail-1 activity via the inactivation of GSK3- $\beta$  [118], and EGF promotes increased *Twist* expression through a JAK/STAT3 pathway [119].

Insulin growth factor (IGF) signaling induces an EMT in breast cancer cell lines by activating Akt2 and suppressing Akt1 [120]. In prostate cancer cells, IGF-1 promotes Zeb-1 expression [121]. In fibroblast cells, constitutively activated IGF-IR increases NF- $\kappa$ B activity and Snail-1 levels [122]. In several cultured epithelial cell lines, IGFR1 is associated with the complex of E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin, and the ligand IGF-II causes the redistribution of  $\beta$ -catenin from the membrane to the nucleus, activation of the transcription factor TCF-3, and a subsequent EMT [123].

Another RTK known for its role in EMTs is the ErbB2/HER-2/Neu receptor, whose ligand is heregulin/neuregulin. Overexpression of HER-2 occurs in 25% of human breast cancers, and the misexpression of HER-2 in mouse mammary tissue in vivo is sufficient to cause metastatic breast cancer [124]. Herceptin (antibody against the HER-2 receptor) treatment is effective in reducing the recurrence of HER 2–positive metastatic breast cancers. HER-2 signaling activates *Snail-1* expression in breast cancer through an unknown mechanism [47]. The RTK Axl is also required for breast cancer carcinoma invasiveness [125].

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling promotes Snail-1 activity by suppressing GSK3-β [126] and results in increased levels of *Snail-1*, *Snail-2*, and *Twist* [127]. Snail-1 can also activate the expression of VEGF [128]. RTK signaling is important for many EMTs.

#### Notch Pathway

The Notch signaling family also regulates EMTs. When the Notch receptor is activated by its ligand Delta, an intracellular portion of the Notch receptor ligand is cleaved and transported to the nucleus, where it regulates target genes. Notch1 is required for cardiac endothelial cells to undergo an EMT to make cardiac cushions, and the role of Notch may be to make cells competent to respond to TGF- $\beta$ 2 [129]. In the avian neural crest EMT, Notch signaling is required for the induction and/or maintenance of *BMP4* expression [130]. Similarly, Notch signaling is required for the TGF  $\beta$ -induced EMT of epithelial cell lines [131], and Notch promotes *Snail-2* expression in cardiac cushion cells [132] and cultured cells [133].

# **Hedgehog Pathway**

The hedgehog pathway is also involved in EMTs. Metastatic prostate cancer cells express high levels of hedgehog and *Snail-1*. If prostate cancer cell lines are treated with the hedgehog-pathway inhibitor, cyclopamine, levels of *Snail-1* are decreased. If the hedgehog-activated transcription factor, Gli, is misexpressed, *Snail-1* expression increases [134].

## Additional Signaling Pathways

Other signaling pathways that activate EMTs include inflammatory signaling molecules, lipid hormones, ROS species, and hypoxia. Interleukin-6 (inflammatory and immune response) can promote Snail-1 expression in breast cancer cells [135], and Snail-1, in turn, can activate interleukin-6 expression [136], providing a link between inflammation and EMTs [137]. The lipid hormone prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) induces Zeb1 and Snail activity in lung cancer cells [138], and Snail-1 can also induce PGE2 expression [139]. ROS species can also activate EMTs by PKC and



**FIGURE 1.2** Induction of an epithelial–mesenchymal transition (EMT). This figure summarizes some of the important molecular pathways that bring about an EMT. Many of the signaling pathways converge on the activation of Snail-1 and nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin signaling to change gene expression, which results in the loss of epithelial cell polarity, the loss of cell–cell adhesion, and increased invasive cell motility. *BMP*, bone morphogenetic protein; *CalR*, calreticulin; *GSK-3* $\beta$ , glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$ ; *Igl2*, immunoglobulin 2; *ILK*, integrin-linked kinase; *LOX*, lysyl oxidase; *miR-200*, microRNA-200; *mmp*, matrix-metalloprotease; *NF-* $\kappa$ *B*, nuclear factor  $\kappa$ *B*; *RhoA*, Ras homolog gene family, member A; *RTK*, receptor tyrosine kinase; *TGF-* $\beta$ , transforming growth factor- $\beta$ ; *Zeb1*, zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1.

MAPK signaling [140]. Hypoxia is important for initiating EMTs during development [141] and disease [137], often through hypoxia-inducible factor-1, which directly activates *Twist* expression [142]. Hypoxia also activates lysyl oxidases, which stabilize Snail-1 expression [143] by inhibiting GSK-3β activity [144].

In addition to diffusible signaling molecules, ECM molecules regulate EMTs or METs. This was first dramatically demonstrated when lens or thyroid epithelium was embedded in collagen gels, and then promptly underwent an EMT [2]. Integrin signaling appears to be important in this process [145] and involves ILK-mediated activation of NF- $\kappa$ B, Snail-1, and Lef-1 [146]. Other ECM components that regulate EMTs include hyaluronan [147], the  $\gamma$ -2 chain of laminin 5 [148], periostin [149], and podoplanin [150,151]. A variety of diffusible signals and ECM components can stimulate EMTs or METs.

# A Model for Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition Induction

Many experimental studies on EMT mechanisms are piecework, and although great progress has been made in discovering EMT pathways, the entire signaling network is still incomplete. Fig. 1.2 shows many of the various signaling mechanisms, although in actuality only a few of the inductive pathways will be used for individual EMTs. From experimental evidence, it appears that many EMT signaling pathways converge on ILK, the inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$ , and stimulation of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin signaling to activate Snail and LEF/TCF transcription factors. Snail, Zeb, and LEF/TCF transcription factors then act on a variety of targets to suppress cell–cell adhesion, induce changes in cell polarity, stimulate cell motility, and promote invasion of the basal lamina.

## CONCLUSION

Since the term "EMT" was coined [10], important insights have been made in this rapidly expanding field of research. EMT and MET events occur during development, tissue repair, and disease, and many molecules that regulate the various EMTs or METs have been characterized, thanks in large part to the advent of cell culture models. However, the EMT regulatory network as a whole is still incomplete. An improved understanding of EMT and MET pathways will lead to more effective strategies for tissue engineering and novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of disease.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

BMP Bone morphogenetic protein ECM Extracellular matrix EGF Epidermal growth factor EMT Epithelial-mesenchymal transition FGF Fibroblast growth factor **GSK-3** $\beta$  Glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$ HGF Hepatocyte growth factor IGF Insulin growth factor ILK Integrin-linked kinase LEF/TCF Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor/T-cell factor LOXL proteins Lysyl oxidase-like proteins MDCK cells Madin–Darby Canine Kidney cells MET Mesenchymal-epithelial transition MMPs Matrix-metalloproteases MRTFs Myocardin-related transcription factors **NES** Nuclear export sequence PGE2 Prostaglandin E2 PI3K Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase PMC Primary mesenchyme cells ROS Reactive oxygen species RTK Receptor tyrosine kinase **TGF-\beta** Transforming growth factor- $\beta$ VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor Zeb Zinc finger E-box-binding

# Glossary

Apical Surface of the epithelial layer where adherens junctions and tight junctions are located. This is opposite the basal surface.

Basal Surface of the epithelial layer where the basal lamina is found. This is opposite the apical surface.

**Basal Lamina** Consists of extracellular matrix components such as collagen type IV, fibronectin, and laminin. The basal lamina functions to stabilize the epithelium and is a barrier against migratory cells.

**Epithelial** Epithelial cells adhere tightly to each other at their lateral surfaces and to an organized extracellular matrix at their basal domain, thereby producing a sheet of cells resting on a basal lamina with an apical surface.

Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition The conversion of epithelial cells into mesenchymal cells.

Mesenchymal Mesenchymal cells are individual cells with a bipolar morphology that are held together as a tissue within a three-dimensional extracellular matrix.

Mesenchymal-Epithelial Transition The conversion of mesenchymal cells into epithelial cells.

# References

- [1] Nieto MA, Huang RY-J, Jackson RA, Thiery JP. EMT. Cell 2016;166(1):21-45.
- [2] Hay ED. The mesenchymal cell, its role in the embryo, and the remarkable signaling mechanisms that create it. Dev Dyn 2005;233(3):706–20.
- [3] Baum B, Settleman J, Quinlan MP. Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states in development and disease. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2008;19(3):294–308.
- [4] Shook D, Keller R. Mechanisms, mechanics and function of epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in early development. Mech Dev 2003; 120(11):1351–83.
- [5] Sauka-Spengler T, Bronner-Fraser M. A gene regulatory network orchestrates neural crest formation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008;9(7): 557–68.
- [6] Thiery J-P, Acloque H, Huang RYJ, Nieto MA. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. Cell November 2009;139(5): 871–90.
- [7] Schmidt-Ott KM, Lan D, Hirsh BJ, Barasch J. Dissecting stages of mesenchymal-to-epithelial conversion during kidney development. Nephron Physiol 2006;104(1):56–60.
- [8] Nakajima Y, Yamagishi T, Hokari S, Nakamura H. Mechanisms involved in valvuloseptal endocardial cushion formation in early cardiogenesis: roles of transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta; and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP). Anat Rec 2000;258(2):119–27.
- [9] Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 2009;119(6):1420-8.
- [10] Thiery J-P. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2(6):442-54.
- [11] Rørth P. Collective cell migration. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol Ann Rev 2009;25(1):407-29.
- [12] Iwano M, Plieth D, Danoff TM, Xue C, Okada H, Neilson EG. Evidence that fibroblasts derive from epithelium during tissue fibrosis. J Clin Invest 2002;110(3):341-50.
- [13] Humphreys BD, Lin S-L, Kobayashi A, Hudson TE, Nowlin BT, Bonventre JV, et al. Fate tracing reveals the pericyte and not epithelial origin of myofibroblasts in kidney fibrosis. Am J Pathol 2010;176(1):85–97.
- [14] Giepmans BN, van Ijzendoorn SC. Epithelial cell-cell junctions and plasma membrane domains. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1788(4):820-31.
- [15] Stepniak E, Radice GL, Vasioukhin V. Adhesive and signaling functions of cadherins and catenins in vertebrate development. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol November 2009;1(5):a002949.
- [16] Nagafuchi A, Shirayoshi Y, Okazaki K, Yasuda K, Takeichi M. Transformation of cell adhesion properties by exogenously introduced Ecadherin cDNA. Nature 1987;329(6137):341–3.
- [17] Perl A-K, Wilgenbus P, Dahl U, Semb H, Christofori G. A causal role for E-cadherin in the transition from adenoma to carcinoma. Nature 1998;392(6672):190–3.
- [18] Radice GL, Rayburn H, Matsunami H, Knudsen KA, Takeichi M, Hynes RO. Developmental defects in mouse embryos lacking N-cadherin. Dev Biol 1997;181(1):64–78.
- [19] Christofori G. Changing neighbours, changing behaviour: cell adhesion molecule-mediated signalling during tumour progression. EMBO J 2003;22(10):2318–23.
- [20] Maeda M, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ. Cadherin switching: essential for behavioral but not morphological changes during an epithelium-tomesenchyme transition. J Cell Sci 2005;118(5):873–87.
- [21] De Craene B, van Roy F, Berx G. Unraveling signalling cascades for the Snail family of transcription factors. Cell Signal May 2005;17(5):535–47.
- [22] Fujita Y, Krause G, Scheffner M, Zechner D, Leddy HEM, Behrens J, et al. Hakai, a c-Cbl-like protein, ubiquitinates and induces endocytosis of the E-cadherin complex. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4(3):222–31.
- [23] Bryant DM, Stow JL. The ins and outs of E-cadherin trafficking. Trends Cell Biol 2004;14(8):427-34.
- [24] Xiao K, Oas RG, Chiasson CM, Kowalczyk AP. Role of p120-catenin in cadherin trafficking. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773(1):8-16.
- [25] Egeblad M, Werb Z. New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2(3):161–74.
- [26] Delannet M, Duband JL. Transforming growth factor-beta control of cell-substratum adhesion during avian neural crest cell emigration in vitro. Development 1992;116(1):275–87.
- [27] Desgrosellier JS, Cheresh DA. Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer 2010;10(1):9-22.
- [28] Valles AM, Boyer B, Tarone G, Thiery J-P. Alpha 2 beta 1 integrin is required for the collagen and FGF-1 induced cell dispersion in a rat bladder carcinoma cell line. Cell Adhes Commun 1996;4(3):187–99.
- [29] Carroll JM, Luetteke NC, Lee DC, Watt FM. Role of integrins in mouse eyelid development: studies in normal embryos and embryos in which there is a failure of eyelid fusion. Mech Dev 1998;78(1-2):37–45.
- [30] Bates RC. Colorectal cancer progression: integrin alphavbeta6 and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). Cell Cycle 2005;4(10):1350-2.
- [31] Hood JD, Cheresh DA. Role of integrins in cell invasion and migration. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2(2):91–100.
- [32] McCaffrey LM, Macara IG. Widely conserved signaling pathways in the establishment of cell polarity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2009; 1(2):a001370.
- [33] Moreno-Bueno G, Portillo F, Cano A. Transcriptional regulation of cell polarity in EMT and cancer. Oncogene 2008;27(55):6958-69.
- [34] Ozdamar B, Bose R, Barrios-Rodiles M, Wang H-R, Zhang Y, Wrana JL. Regulation of the polarity protein Par6 by TGFß peceptors controls epithelial cell plasticity. Science 2005;307(5715):1603–9.
- [35] Nelson WJ. Remodeling epithelial cell organization: transitions between front-rear and apical-basal polarity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2009;1(1):a000513.
- [36] Friedl P, Wolf K. Plasticity of cell migration: a multiscale tuning model. J Cell Biol 2010;188(1):11-9.
- [37] Mendez MG, Kojima S-I, Goldman RD. Vimentin induces changes in cell shape, motility, and adhesion during the epithelial to mesenchymal transition. FASEB J 2010;24(6):1838–51.
- [38] Erickson CA. Behavior of neural crest cells on embryonic basal laminae. Dev Biol 1987;120(1):38-49.
- [39] McGuire PG, Alexander SM. Inhibition of urokinase synthesis and cell surface binding alters the motile behavior of embryonic endocardialderived mesenchymal cells in vitro. Development 1993;118(3):931–9.
- [40] Jung H, Lee KP, Park SJ, Park JH, Jang YS, Choi SY, et al. TMPRSS4 promotes invasion, migration and metastasis of human tumor cells by facilitating an epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Oncogene 2007;27(18):2635–47.
- [41] Duong TD, Erickson CA. MMP-2 plays an essential role in producing epithelial-mesenchymal transformations in the avian embryo. Dev Dyn 2004;229(1):42–53.
- [42] Sternlicht MD, Lochter A, Sympson CJ, Huey B, Rougier JP, Gray JW, et al. The stromal proteinase MMP3/stromelysin-1 promotes mammary carcinogenesis. Cell 1999;98(2):137–46.
- [43] Radisky DC, Levy DD, Littlepage LE, Liu H, Nelson CM, Fata JE, et al. Rac1b and reactive oxygen species mediate MMP-3-induced EMT and genomic instability. Nature 2005;436(7047):123–7.
- [44] Ahlstrom JD, Erickson CA. The neural crest epithelial-mesenchymal transition in 4D: a "tail" of multiple non-obligatory cellular mechanisms. Development 2009;136(11):1801–12.
- [45] Barrallo-Gimeno A, Nieto MA. The Snail genes as inducers of cell movement and survival: implications in development and cancer. Development 2005;132(14):3151-61.
- [46] Carver EA, Jiang R, Lan Y, Oram KF, Gridley T. The mouse snail gene encodes a key regulator of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21(23):8184–8.
- [47] Moody SE, Perez D, Pan T, Sarkisian CJ, Portocarrero CP, Sterner CJ, et al. The transcriptional repressor Snail promotes mammary tumor recurrence. Cancer Cell 2005;8(3):197–209.
- [48] Nieto MA, Sargent MG, Wilkinson DG, Cooke J. Control of cell behavior during vertebrate development by Slug, a zinc finger gene. Science 1994;264(5160):835–9.
- [49] Herranz N, Pasini D, Diaz VM, Franci C, Gutierrez A, Dave N, et al. Polycomb complex 2 is required for E-cadherin repression by the Snail1 transcription factor. Mol Cell Biol 2008;28(15):4772–81.
- [50] Whiteman EL, Liu CJ, Fearon ER, Margolis B. The transcription factor snail represses Crumbs3 expression and disrupts apico-basal polarity complexes. Oncogene 2008;27(27):3875–9.
- [51] Cano A, Perez-Moreno MA, Rodrigo I, Locascio A, Blanco MJ, del Barrio MG, et al. The transcription factor Snail controls epithelialmesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression. Nat Cell Biol 2000;2(2):76–83.
- [52] Del Barrio MG, Nieto MA. Overexpression of Snail family members highlights their ability to promote chick neural crest formation. Development 2002;129(7):1583–93.

#### REFERENCES

- [53] Haraguchi M, Okubo T, Miyashita Y, Miyamoto Y, Hayashi M, Crotti TN, et al. Snail regulates cell-matrix adhesion by regulation of the expression of integrins and basement membrane proteins. J Biol Chem 2008;283(35):23514–23.
- [54] Jorda M, Olmeda D, Vinyals A, Valero E, Cubillo E, Llorens A, et al. Upregulation of MMP-9 in MDCK epithelial cell line in response to expression of the Snail transcription factor. J Cell Sci 2005;118(15):3371–85.
- [55] Spaderna S, Schmalhofer O, Wahlbuhl M, Dimmler A, Bauer K, Sultan A, et al. The transcriptional repressor ZEB1 promotes metastasis and loss of cell polarity in cancer. Cancer Res 2008;68(2):537–44.
- [56] Comijn J, Berx G, Vermassen P, Verschueren K, van Grunsven L, Bruyneel E, et al. The two-handed E Box binding Zinc Finger protein SIP1 downregulates E-cadherin and induces invasion. Mol Cell 2001;7(6):1267–78.
- [57] Kim K, Lu Z, Hay ED. Direct evidence for a role of B-Catenin/LEF-1 signalling pathway in induction of EMT. Cell Biol Int 2002;26(5):463-76.
- [58] Gavert N, Conacci-Sorrell M, Gast D, Schneider A, Altevogt P, Brabletz T, et al. L1, a novel target of β-catenin signaling, transforms cells and is expressed at the invasive front of colon cancers. J Cell Biol 2005;168(4):633–42.
- [59] Gradl D, Kuhl M, Wedlich D. The Wnt/Wg signal transducer &-catenin controls fibronectin expression. Mol Cell Biol 1999;19(8):5576–87.
- [60] Gustavson MD, Crawford HC, Fingleton B, Matrisian LM. Tcf binding sequence and position determines &-catenin and Lef-1 responsiveness of MMP-7 promoters. Mol Carcinog 2004;41(3):125–39.
- [61] Sobrado VR, Moreno-Bueno G, Cubillo E, Holt LJ, Nieto MA, Portillo F, et al. The class I bHLH factors E2-2A and E2-2B regulate EMT. J Cell Sci 2009;122(7):1014–24.
- [62] Mani SA, Yang J, Brooks M, Schwaninger G, Zhou A, Miura N, et al. Mesenchyme Forkhead 1 (FOXC2) plays a key role in metastasis and is associated with aggressive basal-like breast cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104(24):10069–74.
- [63] Hartwell KA, Muir B, Reinhardt F, Carpenter AE, Sgroi DC, Weinberg RA. The Spemann organizer gene, Goosecoid, promotes tumor metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103(50):18969–74.
- [64] Micalizzi DS, Christensen KL, Jedlicka P, Coletta RD, Barón AE, Harrell JC, et al. The Six1 homeoprotein induces human mammary carcinoma cells to undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in mice through increasing TGF-B signaling. J Clin Invest 2009; 119(9):2678–90.
- [65] McCoy EL, Iwanaga R, Jedlicka P, Abbey N-S, Chodosh LA, Heichman KA, et al. Six1 expands the mouse mammary epithelial stem/progenitor cell pool and induces mammary tumors that undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 2009;119(9):2663–77.
- [66] Barbera MJ, Puig I, Dominguez D, Julien-Grille S, Guaita-Esteruelas S, Peiro S, et al. Regulation of Snail transcription during epithelial to mesenchymal transition of tumor cells. Oncogene 2004;23(44):7345–54.
- [67] Strippoli R, Benedicto I, Perez Lozano ML, Cerezo A, Lopez-Cabrera M, del Pozo MA. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of peritoneal mesothelial cells is regulated by an ERK/NF-kB/Snail1 pathway. Dis Model Mech 2008;1(4–5):264–74.
- [68] Lee JM, Dedhar S, Kalluri R, Thompson EW. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition: new insights in signaling, development, and disease. J Cell Biol 2006;172(7):973–81.
- [69] Thuault S, Tan EJ, Peinado H, Cano A, Heldin C-H, Moustakas A. HMGA2 and Smads co-regulate SNAIL1 expression during Induction of epithelial-to mesenchymal transition. J Biol Chem 2008;283(48):33437–46.
- [70] Morita T, Mayanagi T, Sobue K. Dual roles of myocardin-related transcription factors in epithelial mesenchymal transition via slug induction and actin remodeling. J Cell Biol 2007;179(5):1027–42.
- [71] Medjkane S, Perez-Sanchez C, Gaggioli C, Sahai E, Treisman R. Myocardin-related transcription factors and SRF are required for cytoskeletal dynamics and experimental metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 2009;11(3):257–68. Nature Publishing Group.
- [72] Fan L, Sebe A, Peterfi Z, Masszi A, Thirone ACP, Rotstein OD, et al. Cell contact-dependent regulation of epithelial-myofibroblast transition via the Rho-Rho kinase-phospho-myosin pathway. Mol Biol Cell 2007;18(3). E06–07–0602.
- [73] Fujita N, Jaye DL, Kajita M, Geigerman C, Moreno CS, Wade PA. MTA3, a Mi-2/NuRD complex subunit, regulates an invasive growth pathway in breast cancer. Cell 2003;113(2):207–19.
- [74] Wang Y, Zhang H, Chen Y, Sun Y, Yang F, Yu W, et al. LSD1 is a subunit of the NuRD complex and targets the metastasis programs in breast cancer. Cell 2009;138(4):660–72.
- [75] Langer EM, Feng Y, Zhaoyuan H, Rauscher III FJ, Kroll KL, Longmore GD. Ajuba LIM proteins are Snail/Slug corepressors required for neural crest development in Xenopus. Dev Cell 2008;14(3):424–36.
- [76] Nawshad A, Hay ED. TGFß3 signaling activates transcription of the LEF1 gene to induce epithelial mesenchymal transformation during mouse palate development. J Cell Biol 2003;163(6):1291–301.
- [77] Ma L, Young J, Prabhala H, Pan E, Mestdagh P, Muth D, et al. miR-9, a MYC/MYCN-activated microRNA, regulates E-cadherin and cancer metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 2010;12(3):247–56. Nature Publishing Group.
- [78] Beltran M, Puig I, Peña C, García JM, Álvarez AB, Peña R, et al. A natural antisense transcript regulates Zeb2/Sip1 gene expression during Snail1-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Genes Dev 2008;22(6):756–69.
- [79] Evdokimova V, Tognon C, Ng T, Ruzanov P, Melnyk N, Fink D, et al. Translational activation of Snail1 and other developmentally regulated transcription factors by YB-1 promotes an epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Cell 2009;15(5):402–15.
- [80] Zhou BP, Deng J, Xia W, Xu J, Li YM, Gunduz M, et al. Dual regulation of Snail by GSK-3ß-mediated phosphorylation in control of epithelialmesenchymal transition. Nat Cell Biol 2004;6(10):931–40.
- [81] Peinado H, Olmeda D, Cano A. Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat Rev Cancer 2007;7(6):415–28.
- [82] Delcommenne M, Tan C, Gray V, Rue L, Woodgett J, Dedhar S. Phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase-dependent regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 and protein kinase B/AKT by the integrin-linked kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95(19):11211–6.
- [83] Wu Y, Evers BM, Zhou BP. Small C-terminal domain phosphatase enhances snail activity through dephosphorylation. J Biol Chem January 2, 2009;284(1):640-8.
- [84] Wang S-P, Wang W-L, Chang Y-L, Wu C-T, Chao Y-C, Kao S-H, et al. p53 controls cancer cell invasion by inducing the MDM2-mediated degradation of Slug. Nat Cell Biol 2009;11(6):694–704. Nature Publishing Group.
- [85] Yang Z, Rayala S, Nguyen D, Vadlamudi RK, Chen S, Kumar R. Pak1 phosphorylation of Snail, a master regulator of epithelial-to-mesenchyme transition, modulates Snail's subcellular localization and functions. Cancer Res 2005;65(8):3179–84.

- [86] Yamashita S, Miyagi C, Fukada T, Kagara N, Che Y-S, Hirano T. Zinc transporter LIVI controls epithelial-mesenchymal transition in zebrafish gastrula organizer. Nature 2004;429(6989):298–302.
- [87] Dominguez D, Montserrat-Sentis B, Virgos-Soler A, Guaita S, Grueso J, Porta M, et al. Phosphorylation regulates the subcellular location and activity of the Snail transcriptional repressor. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23(14):5078–89.
- [88] Labbe E, Letamendia A, Attisano L. Association of Smads with lymphoid enhancer binding factor 1/T cell-specific factor mediates cooperative signaling by the transforming growth factor-beta and Wnt pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97(15):8358–63.
- [89] Huang HC, Hu CH, Tang MC, Wang WS, Chen PM, Su Y. Thymosin B4 triggers an epithelial-mesenchymal transition in colorectal carcinoma by upregulating integrin-linked kinase. Oncogene 2006;26(19):2781–90.
- [90] Zavadil J, Bottinger EP. TGF-ß and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. Oncogene 2005;24(37):5764-74.
- [91] Camenisch TD, Molin DGM, Person A, Runyan RB, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, McDonald JA, et al. Temporal and distinct TGFß ligand requirements during mouse and avian endocardial cushion morphogenesis. Dev Biol 2002;248(1):170–81.
- [92] Liem Karel FJ, Tremml G, Roelink H, Jessell TM. Dorsal differentiation of neural plate cells induced by BMP-mediated signals from epidermal ectoderm. Cell 1995;82(6):969–79.
- [93] Cui W, Fowlis DJ, Bryson S, Duffie E, Ireland H, Balmain A, et al. TGFß1 inhibits the formation of benign skin tumors, but enhances progression to invasive spindle carcinomas in transgenic mice. Cell 1996;86(4):531–42.
- [94] Janda E, Lehmann K, Killisch I, Jechlinger M, Herzig M, Downward J, et al. Ras and TGFß cooperatively regulate epithelial cell plasticity and metastasis: dissection of Ras signaling pathways. J Cell Biol 2002;156(2):299–314.
- [95] Grande M, Franzen A, Karlsson JO, Ericson LE, Heldin N-E, Nilsson M. Transforming growth factor-ß and epidermal growth factor synergistically stimulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) through a MEK-dependent mechanism in primary cultured pig thyrocytes. J Cell Sci 2002;115(22):4227–36.
- [96] Roberts AB, Tian F, Byfield SD, Stuelten C, Ooshima A, Saika S, et al. Smad3 is key to TGF-&-mediated epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, fibrosis, tumor suppression and metastasis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2006;17(1–2):19–27.
- [97] Vincent T, Neve EPA, Johnson JR, Kukalev A, Rojo F, Albanell J, et al. A SNAIL1-SMAD3/4 transcriptional repressor complex promotes TGF-beta mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Cell Biol 2009;11(8):943–50.
- [98] Yi JY, Shin I, Arteaga CL. Type I transforming growth factor beta receptor binds to and activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. J Biol Chem 2005;280(11):10870-6.
- [99] Larue L, Bellacosa A. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in development and cancer: role of phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase//AKT pathways. Oncogene 2005;24(50):7443–54.
- [100] Novak A, Hsu S-C, Leung-Hagesteijn C, Radeva G, Papkoff J, Montesano R, et al. Cell adhesion and the integrin-linked kinase regulate the LEF-1 and β-catenin signaling pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95(8):4374–9.
- [101] Tan C, Costello P, Sanghera J, Dominguez D, Baulida J, de Herreros AG, et al. Inhibition of integrin linked kinase (ILK) suppresses betacatenin-Lef/Tcf-dependent transcription and expression of the E-cadherin repressor, snail, in APC-/- human colon carcinoma cells. Oncogene 2001;20(1):133–40.
- [102] Ulrich F, Krieg M, Schotz E-M, Link V, Castanon I, Schnabel V, et al. Wnt11 functions in gastrulation by controlling cell cohesion through Rab5c and E-Cadherin. Dev Cell 2005;9(4):555–64.
- [103] Garcia-Castro MI, Marcelle C, Bronner-Fraser M. Ectodermal Wht function as a neural crest inducer. Science 2002;297(5582):848-51.
- [104] Stemmer V, de Craene B, Berx G, Behrens J. Snail promotes Wnt target gene expression and interacts with beta-catenin. Oncogene 2008; 27(37):5075–80.
- [105] Logan CY, Miller JR, Ferkowicz MJ, McClay DR. Nuclear beta-catenin is required to specify vegetal cell fates in the sea urchin embryo. Development 1999;126(2):345–57.
- [106] Huelsken J, Vogel R, Brinkmann V, Erdmann B, Birchmeier C, Birchmeier W. Requirement for beta-catenin in anterior-posterior axis formation in mice. J Cell Biol 2000;148(3):567–78.
- [107] Liebner S, Cattelino A, Gallini R, Rudini N, Iurlaro M, Piccolo S, et al. &-Catenin is required for endothelial-mesenchymal transformation during heart cushion development in the mouse. J Cell Biol 2004;166(3):359–67.
- [108] Cowin P, Rowlands TM, Hatsell SJ. Cadherins and catenins in breast cancer. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2005;17(5):499-508.
- [109] Wong AST, Gumbiner BM. Adhesion-independent mechanism for suppression of tumor cell invasion by E-cadherin. J Cell Biol 2003;161(6): 1191–203.
- [110] Kim K, Pang KM, Evans M, Hay ED. Overexpression of β-Catenin induces apoptosis independent of its transactivation function with LEF-1 or the involvement of major G1 cell cycle regulators. Mol Biol Cell 2000;11(10):3509–23.
- [111] Gat U, DasGupta R, Degenstein L, Fuchs E. De novo hair follicle morphogenesis and hair tumors in mice expressing a truncated &-Catenin in skin. Cell 1998;95(5):605–14.
- [112] Woolf AS, Kolatsi-Joannou M, Hardman P, Andermarcher E, Moorby C, Fine LG, et al. Roles of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and the met receptor in the early development of the metanephros. J Cell Biol 1995;128(1-2):171-84.
- [113] Grotegut S, von Schweinitz D, Christofori G, Lehembre F. Hepatocyte growth factor induces cell scattering through MAPK/Egr-1-mediated upregulation of Snail. EMBO J 2006;25(15):3534–45.
- [114] Ciruna B, Rossant J. FGF signaling regulates mesoderm cell fate specification and morphogenetic movement at the primitive streak. Dev Cell 2001;1(1):37–49.
- [115] Suyama K, Shapiro I, Guttman M, Hazan RB. A signaling pathway leading to metastasis is controlled by N-cadherin and the FGF receptor. Cancer Cell 2002;2(4):301–14.
- [116] Billottet C, Tuefferd M, Gentien D, Rapinat A, Thiery J-P, Broët P, et al. Modulation of several waves of gene expression during FGF-1 induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition of carcinoma cells. J Cell Biochem 2008;104(3):826–39.
- [117] Lu Z, Ghosh S, Wang Z, Hunter T. Downregulation of caveolin-1 function by EGF leads to the loss of E-cadherin, increased transcriptional activity of β-catenin, and enhanced tumor cell invasion. Cancer Cell 2003;4(6):499–515.
- [118] Lee M-Y, Chou C-Y, Tang M-J, Shen M-R. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cervical cancer: correlation with tumor progression, epidermal growth factor receptor overexpression, and Snail up-regulation. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14(15):4743-50.

- [119] Lo H-W, Hsu S-C, Xia W, Cao X, Shih J-Y, Wei Y, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor cooperates with signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 to induce epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer cells via up-regulation of TWIST gene expression. Cancer Res 2007; 67(19):9066–76.
- [120] Irie HY, Pearline RV, Grueneberg D, Hsia M, Ravichandran P, Kothari N, et al. Distinct roles of Akt1 and Akt2 in regulating cell migration and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Biol 2005;171(6):1023–34.
- [121] Graham TR, Zhau HE, Odero-Marah VA, Osunkoya AO, Kimbro KS, Tighiouart M, et al. Insulin-like growth factor-I-dependent upregulation of ZEB1 drives epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 2008;68(7):2479–88.
- [122] Kim H-J, Litzenburger BC, Cui X, Delgado DA, Grabiner BC, Lin X, et al. Constitutively active type I insulin-like growth factor receptor causes transformation and xenograft growth of immortalized mammary epithelial cells and is accompanied by an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition mediated by NF-kB and Snail. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27(8):3165–75.
- [123] Morali OG, Delmas V, Moore R, Jeanney C, Thiery J-P, Larue L. IGF-II induces rapid beta-catenin relocation to the nucleus during epithelium to mesenchyme transition. Oncogene 2001;20(36):4942–50.
- [124] Muller WJ, Sinn E, Pattengale PK, Wallace R, Leder P. Single-step induction of mammary adenocarcinoma in transgenic mice bearing the activated c-neu oncogene. Cell 1988;54(1):105–15.
- [125] Gjerdrum C, Tiron C, Høiby T, Stefansson I, Haugen H, Sandal T, et al. Axl is an essential epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-induced regulator of breast cancer metastasis and patient survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107(3):1124–9.
- [126] Wanami LS, Chen H-Y, Peiró S. García de Herreros A, Bachelder RE. Vascular endothelial growth factor-A stimulates Snail expression in breast tumor cells: implications for tumor progression. Exp Cell Res 2008;314(13):2448–53.
- [127] Yang AD, Camp ER, Fan F, Shen L, Gray MJ, Liu W, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 activation mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human pancreatic carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 2006;66(1):46–51.
- [128] Peinado H, Marin F, Cubillo E, Stark H-J, Fusenig N, Nieto MA, et al. Snail and E47 repressors of E-cadherin induce distinct invasive and angiogenic properties in vivo. J Cell Sci 2004;117(13):2827–39.
- [129] Timmerman LA, Grego-Bessa J, Raya A, Bertran E, Perez-Pomares JM, Diez J, et al. Notch promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition during cardiac development and oncogenic transformation. Genes Dev 2004;18(1):99–115.
- [130] Endo Y, Osumi N, Wakamatsu Y. Bimodal functions of Notch-mediated signaling are involved in neural crest formation during avian ectoderm development. Development 2002;129(4):863–73.
- [131] Zavadil J, Cermak L, Soto-Nieves N, Bottinger EP. Integration of TGF-B/Smad and Jagged1/Notch signalling in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. EMBO J 2004;23(5):1155–65.
- [132] Niessen K, Fu Y, Chang L, Hoodless PA, McFadden D, Karsan A. Slug is a direct Notch target required for initiation of cardiac cushion cellularization. J Cell Biol 2008;182(2):315–25.
- [133] Leong KG, Niessen K, Kulic I, Raouf A, Eaves C, Pollet I, et al. Jagged1-mediated Notch activation induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition through Slug-induced repression of E-cadherin. J Exp Med 2007;204(12):2935–48.
- [134] Karhadkar SS, Steven Bova G, Abdallah N, Dhara S, Gardner D, Maitra A, et al. Hedgehog signalling in prostate regeneration, neoplasia and metastasis. Nature 2004;431(7009):707–12.
- [135] Sullivan NJ, Sasser AK, Axel AE, Vesuna F, Raman V, Ramirez N, et al. Interleukin-6 induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype in human breast cancer cells. Oncogene 2009;28(33):2940-7.
- [136] Lyons JG, Patel V, Roue NC, Fok SY, Soon LL, Halliday GM, et al. Snail up-regulates proinflammatory mediators and inhibits differentiation in oral keratinocytes. Cancer Res 2008;68(12):4525–30.
- [137] López-Novoa JM, Nieto MA. Inflammation and EMT: an alliance towards organ fibrosis and cancer progression. EMBO Mol Med 2009; 1(6–7):303–14.
- [138] Dohadwala M, Yang S-C, Luo J, Sharma S, Batra RK, Huang M, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2-dependent regulation of E-cadherin: prostaglandin E2 induces transcriptional repressors ZEB1 and Snail in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res 2006;66(10):5338–45.
- [139] Mann JR, Backlund MG, Buchanan FG, Daikoku T, Holla VR, Rosenberg DW, et al. Repression of prostaglandin dehydrogenase by epidermal growth factor and Snail increases prostaglandin E2 and promotes cancer progression. Cancer Res 2006;66(13):6649–56.
- [140] Wu W-S. The signaling mechanism of ROS in tumor progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2006;25(4):695-705.
- [141] Dunwoodie SL. The role of hypoxia in development of the Mammalian embryo. Dev Cell December 2009;17(6):755–73.
- [142] Yang M-H, Wu M-Z, Chiou S-H, Chen P-M, Chang S-Y, Liu C-J, et al. Direct regulation of TWIST by HIF-1alpha promotes metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 2008;10(3):295–305.
- [143] Sahlgren C, Gustafsson MV, Jin S, Poellinger L, Lendahl U. Notch signaling mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration and invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105(17):6392–7.
- [144] Peinado H, Del Carmen Iglesias-de la Cruz M, Olmeda D, Csiszar K, Fong KS, Vega S, et al. A molecular role for lysyl oxidase-like 2 enzyme in Snail regulation and tumor progression. EMBO J 2005;24(19):3446–58.
- [145] Zuk A, Hay ED. Expression of 
  ß1 integrins changes during transformation of avian lens epithelium to mesenchyme in collagen gels. Dev Dyn 1994;201(4):378–93.
- [146] Medici D, Nawshad A. Type I collagen promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition through ILK-dependent activation of NF-kappaB and LEF-1. Matrix Biol April 2010;29(3):161–5.
- [147] Camenisch TD, Schroeder JA, Bradley J, Klewer SE, McDonald JA. Heart-valve mesenchyme formation is dependent on hyaluronanaugmented activation of ErbB2-ErbB3 receptors. Nat Med 2002;8(8):850–5.
- [148] Koshikawa N, Giannelli G, Cirulli V, Miyazaki K, Quaranta V. Role of cell surface metalloprotease MT1-MMP in epithelial cell migration over laminin-5. J Cell Biol 2000;148(3):615–24.
- [149] Ruan K, Bao S, Ouyang G. The multifaceted role of periostin in tumorigenesis. Cell Mol Life Sci 2009;66(14):2219–30.
- [150] Martin-Villar E, Megias D, Castel S, Yurrita MM, Vilaro S, Quintanilla M. Podoplanin binds ERM proteins to activate RhoA and promote epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Sci 2006;119(21):4541-53.
- [151] Wicki A, Lehembre F, Wick N, Hantusch B, Kerjaschki D, Christofori G. Tumor invasion in the absence of epithelial-mesenchymal transition: podoplanin-mediated remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton. Cancer Cell 2006;9(4):261–72.

This page intentionally left blank

# Cell–Extracellular Matrix Interactions in Repair and Regeneration

Melissa Petreaca<sup>1</sup>, Manuela Martins-Green<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>DePauw University, Greencastle, IN, United States; <sup>2</sup>University of California, Riverside, CA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

For many years, the extracellular matrix (ECM) was thought to serve only as a structural support for tissues. Several studies conducted in the latter half of the 20th century dispelled this notion, providing evidence that matrix molecules promote the conversion of myoblasts to myotubes and facilitate the morphogenesis of multiple glands and organs [1]. Data from these and other studies collectively implicated the ECM in embryonic inductions and suggested the presence of matrix binding sites on the surface of cells responding to specific matrix molecules. These ideas opened an entire field of inquiry investigating the detailed mechanisms through which ECM molecules influence cell behavior. Bissell et al. proposed the model of "dynamic reciprocity," in which ECM molecules transmit signals across the cell membrane via cell surface receptors, stimulating signaling pathways that change expression of specific genes whose protein products then affect or alter the ECM [1]. It has become clear that this concept is correct, because cell–ECM interactions activate intracellular signaling, modulate cytokine and growth factor activities, and regulate cell adhesion, migration, growth, differentiation, and programmed cell death.

Much of our current understanding of the molecular basis of cell–ECM interactions in these events comes from in vitro cell or organ cultures and in vivo experiments involving changes in the composition or function of matrix molecules. Here, we will first briefly discuss the composition and diversity of some of the better-known ECM molecules and their receptors, and then discuss selected examples that illustrate the dynamics of cell–ECM interactions during regenerative (scarless) and nonregenerative (scar-forming) wound healing, as well as the potential mechanisms through which matrix-induced signaling affects wound repair. Finally, we will discuss the implications of cell–ECM interactions in regenerative medicine.

# COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY OF THE EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX

The ECM is a molecular complex with many components, including, but not limited to, collagens, hyaluronan, proteoglycans, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), and elastins. These molecules interact with each other and with growth factors, cytokines, and matrix-degrading enzymes and their inhibitors. The distribution and organization of matrix molecules are not static, but rather vary from tissue to tissue and, during development and tissue repair after injury, from stage to stage, conferring distinct properties and functions on the tissue in question [1,2]. For example, mesen-chymal cells are immersed in an interstitial matrix that confers specific biomechanical and functional properties to connective tissue, whereas epithelial and endothelial cells contact the specialized matrix of the basement membrane via only their basal surfaces, conferring mechanical strength and specific physiological properties to the epithelia [3]. The temporal and spatial presence and distribution of specific matrix molecules are critical for the function of both mature tissues and new tissues generated by development or repair, as shown by the impact of mutations in matrix molecules and their associated receptors on these processes [3]. This diversity of composition, organization, and distribution of ECM among different tissues and the same tissue under different conditions results from changes

in gene expression, splicing, and posttranslational modifications of matrix molecules. For example, alternative splicing or proteolytic cleavage may change the binding potential of matrix proteins to their receptors or to other matrix molecules, whereas altered patterns of glycosylation affect cell adhesion and migration [4-6].

Changes in the structure, organization, and components of the ECM also can affect the distribution and function of growth factors and cytokines that interact with the ECM, influencing downstream signaling in multiple ways. Through its binding to growth factors and cytokines, matrix molecules can protect these molecules from degradation, regulate their local concentrations, facilitate their formation of stable gradients within a tissue, and/or present them more effectively to their receptors, all of which increase downstream signaling and thereby alter signaling-induced cell behaviors [4,7–10]. One example of this matrix-facilitated growth factor signaling involves the binding of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to fibronectin or heparin sulfate proteoglycans, which increases endothelial proliferation and migration [9]. However, matrix molecules can also bind and sequester growth factors, thereby preventing ligand—receptor interactions and downstream signaling. Binding of heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) to heparin-binding endothelial growth factor (EGF)-like factor growth factor (HB-EGF) prevents receptor binding and downstream signaling until proteolytic release of the ligand from the HSPGs [11].

Further complicating the impact of matrix molecules on growth factor signaling, some matrix molecules and matricryptins, proteolytic fragments of matrix molecules, can bind directly to growth factor receptors and either activate or inhibit downstream signaling [4]. For example, specific domains of matrix molecules, including the epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeats of laminin-332 and tenascin C, bind and activate the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) [12]. These EGF-like repeats may function as matricryptins after their proteolytic release from their molecules of origin, allowing EGF-like matrix-derived peptides to function as soluble ligands that activate the EGFR, or the EGF-like repeats may function as EGFR ligands in the context of the intact matrix molecule [8,12]. If these EGFlike repeats can induce signaling as part of intact matrix molecules, these repeats could function as persistent, stable inducers of EGFR signaling that could regulate cell function over long periods [8]. In contrast, some matrix molecules and many matricryptins inhibit growth factor receptors, suppressing or antagonizing their downstream effects on cell survival, proliferation, and migration. For example, the proteoglycan decorin binds multiple growth factor receptors and interferes with downstream signaling, whereas fragments of collagen XVIII (endostatin), collagen IV (tumstatin), and the proteoglycan perlecan (endorepellin) bind and inhibit or downregulate VEGF receptors, decreasing endothelial cell survival and migration [10,12].

### **RECEPTORS FOR EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX MOLECULES**

To establish the direct effects of ECM molecules on cell behavior, it was important to identify transmembrane receptors for the specific sequences present on these molecules. Early investigations of salivary gland morphogenesis showed that intracellular microfilaments contracted near the sites of glycosaminoglycan deposition, which suggested that the matrix could regulate microfilament function through the binding of matrix molecules with cell surface receptors [12a]. Later experiments demonstrated that ECM molecules contain specific amino acid motifs enabling their direct binding to cell surface receptors, the best-characterized of which is the tripeptide RGD, first found in fibronectin but later identified in many other matrix molecules [8].

The RGD motifs found in multiple matrix molecules serve as ligands for a subset of receptor proteins called integrins. Integrins, a family of heterodimeric transmembrane proteins composed of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits, were the first ECM receptors to be identified [13]. The 18  $\alpha$  and 8  $\beta$  integrin subunits interact with each other in multiple combinations to generate a diverse family of matrix-binding receptors (Fig. 2.1). Some integrins have restricted ligand specificity; others bind multiple epitopes located on the same or different ECM molecules (Fig. 2.1) [13]. In contrast to the extracellular ligand-binding domains of the integrin heterodimers, the intracellular domains of these receptors are relatively small. Despite the relatively short length of their cytoplasmic domains, integrins interact with an array of intracellular signaling proteins that facilitate integrin-associated, matrix-induced signal transduction [14]. The simultaneous binding of some integrins, including integrins  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  and  $\alpha_5\beta_1$ , to both a matrix ligand and a growth factor receptor attached to its growth factor ligand facilitates growth factor receptor signaling, expanding the role of integrin–matrix binding in the regulation of cell behavior [15].

Although not as extensively studied as the integrins, several proteoglycans, including members of the syndecan family, CD44, and RHAMM (receptor for hyaluronate-mediated motility) also function as ECM receptors [6]. The extracellular domains of syndecans interact with multiple ligands, including growth factors and matrix molecules

RECEPTORS FOR EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX MOLECULES



RGD mediated binding

FIGURE 2.1 Representative members of the integrin family of extracellular matrix (ECM) receptors and their respective ligands. These heterodimeric receptors are composed of one  $\alpha$  and one  $\beta$  subunit and are capable of binding a variety of ligands, including immunoglobulin superfamily cell adhesion molecules, complement factors, and clotting factors, in addition to ECM molecules. Cell–cell adhesion is largely mediated through integrin heterodimers containing the  $\beta_2$  subunits, whereas cell–matrix adhesion is mediated primarily via integrin heterodimers containing the  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_3$  subunits. In general, the  $\beta_1$  integrins interact with ligands found in the connective tissue matrix, including laminin, fibronectin, and collagen, whereas the  $\beta_3$  integrins interact with vascular ligands, including thrombospondin, vitronectin, fibrinogen, and von Willebrand factor. *CO*, collagens; *C3bi*, complement component; *FG*, fibrinogen; *FN*, fibronectin; *FX*, Factor X; *ICAM-1*, intercellular adhesion molecule-2; *ICAM-3*, intercellular adhesion molecule-3; *LN*, laminin; *OSP*, osteopontin; *TN*, tenascin; *TSP*, thrombospondin; *VCAM-1*, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1; *VN*, vitronectin; *vWF*, von Willebrand factor.

such as fibronectin and multiple collagens, via chondroitin- and heparan-sulfate GAGs, whose composition varies based on the specific syndecan family member and the tissue in which it is expressed [16]. In contrast to the variable extracellular domain, the syndecan transmembrane and intracellular domains are small and relatively conserved, interacting with the actin cytoskeleton and several associated signaling molecules, including kinases in the Src and PKC families as well as Tiam1, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for and activator of the Rho GTPases [17]. Although these intracellular signaling molecules are likely responsible for syndecan-mediated cytoskeletal reorganization, syndecan binding to nonmatrix molecules, including growth factors, growth factor receptors, and integrins, makes the identification of matrix-specific, syndecan-mediated signal transduction challenging [16].

Like syndecans, the CD44 receptor carries chondroitin sulfate and heparan sulfate chains on its extracellular domain and undergoes tissue-specific splicing and glycosylation to yield multiple isoforms [6]. Although hyaluronan is its primary ligand, CD44 interacts with other matrix molecules, including fibronectin, laminin, collagen IV, and collagen XIV. Furthermore, the ability of the heparan- and chondroitin-sulfate GAGs on CD44 to bind growth factors, combined with the interactions of CD44 with growth factor receptors, such as EGFR and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ R (TGF $\beta$ R), suggests a role for CD44 in modulating growth factor signaling [6,18]. In contrast to the transmembrane CD44 and syndecan proteoglycans, RHAMM, another proteoglycan able to both bind matrix molecules and induce signaling, is associated with the cell membrane through a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) linkage and not a transmembrane domain. As such, RHAMM located on the cell surface likely activates intracellular signaling through indirect mechanisms, via interactions with transmembrane receptors such as CD44 or growth factor receptors [19]. Interestingly, a variant of RHAMM lacking the GPI anchor resides in the cytoplasm and/or nucleus, where it affects intracellular signaling and cytoskeletal organization through its binding to intracellular signaling molecules and the cytoskeleton, expanding the role of RHAMM as a regulator of cell signaling [19].

Cell surface receptors other than integrins or proteoglycans, including the elastin receptor complex (ERC), CD36, annexin II, Toll-like receptors, and discoidin domain receptors (DDRs) can also serve as receptors for ECM molecules. The ERC is a complex of proteins, including elastin-binding protein (EBP), a splice variant of β-galactosidase, as well as neuraminidase 1 and cathepsin A, that serves as a receptor for elastin, laminin, fibrillin, and peptides derived from these ECM molecules. Signaling activated by this receptor is necessary for elastin deposition and participates in signaling induced by elastin and laminin during mechanotransduction [20]. Another nonintegrin, non-proteoglycan receptor, CD36, better known for its function as a scavenger receptor for long-chain fatty acids and oxidized low-density lipoprotein, binds thrombospondin, collagen I, and collagen IV [21]. CD36-thrombospondin binding activates a variety of signal transduction molecules, ultimately leading to inhibition of angiogenesis via increased endothelial cell apoptosis [22]. Cell surface annexin II, yet another matrix receptor, interacts with alternative splice variants of tenascin-C and facilitates proliferative and migratory effects of these tenascin C splice variants [23]. Although not a matrix receptor per se, Toll-like receptors can function as receptors for fragments of multiple matrix molecules, including fibronectin and low—molecular weight fragments of hyaluronan, which suggests that such fragments may function as danger signals that induce inflammation in response to matrix degradation [18,24].

Receptor tyrosine kinases can also serve as receptors for matrix molecules, as described earlier for EGFR, which binds matrix molecules through their EGF-like domains, as well as the collagen-binding discoidin domain receptors DDR1 and DDR2. Whereas the DDR proteins, like all receptor tyrosine kinases, promote receptor phosphorylation in response to ligand binding, DDRs form constitutive dimers required for ligand binding, unlike most of this receptor family, which dimerize after ligand binding [25]. Also, in contrast to other receptor tyrosine kinase activation, DDR activation by their collagen ligands induces prolonged rather than transient signaling events [26]. The combination of long-lived collagen ligands and the relatively long-term signaling induced by these ligands through the DDRs could provide sustained regulation of cell survival, proliferation, and/or migration in cells expressing these receptors.

In the next section, we will focus on ways in which ECM molecules and their various receptors affect signal transduction, the multiple cell behaviors regulated by this signaling, and the impact of this signaling on wound healing under both nonregenerative and regenerative conditions.

# SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION EVENTS DURING CELL–EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX INTERACTIONS

As a result of interactions between ECM molecules and their receptors, as described previously, signals can be transmitted directly or indirectly to signaling molecules within the cell, activating a cascade of events and the coordinated expression of a variety of genes involved in cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, differentiation, and



FIGURE 2.2 Schematic diagram of cell-extracellular matrix (ECM) interactions present during healing and regenerative responses. Such interactions between the ECM receptors and their respective ligands initiate signal transduction cascades culminating in a variety of cellular events important in repair and regeneration, including changes in cellular adhesion and migration and altered rates of proliferation and apoptosis. The presence and/or extent of such changes may influence the balance of repair and regenerative responses to favor one outcome over another; thus, interventions that alter ECM signaling events may shift this balance to favor tissue regeneration and decrease scarring.

programmed cell death (Fig. 2.2). Some of the increasing evidence that cell–ECM interactions through multiple types of matrix receptors activate a variety of signaling pathways affecting these specific cell outcomes is described subsequently.

### Adhesion and Migration

When considering the importance of cell-matrix interactions in adhesion and migration, it is important to recognize that some receptors for ECM molecules, such as the integrins, can participate in both traditional "outside-in" signaling, leading to the activation of intracellular signaling, and "inside-out" signaling, in which intracellular signaling activates the receptor by increasing its affinity for an ECM molecule. This is further complicated by the fact that receptor activation and ligand binding can also initiate outside-in signaling. In the following section, the signaling events refer to outside-in signaling unless otherwise specified.

The outside-in signaling activated by integrin binding to its ligand requires the indirect interaction of the integrin cytoplasmic domain with the cytoskeleton, through a variable group of proteins that collectively comprise the integrin adhesion complex [14]. Some of the proteins of the integrin adhesion complex facilitate integrin-mediated mechanotransduction, whereas other proteins connect the integrins to other types of downstream signal transduction pathways [14]. Integrin-mediated ECM signaling uses these associated proteins to induce changes in cell shape and lead to proliferation, migration, and/or differentiation [27]. Some of the best-known components of the integrin adhesion complex include the signaling adaptor proteins focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and paxillin, the mechanotransducing proteins vinculin and talin, the actin regulatory proteins zyxin and VASP, and the actin-binding protein  $\alpha$ -actinin [14]. When the integrin heterodimer interacts with its matrix ligand, FAK, which is associated with the

membrane-proximal portion of the integrin cytoplasmic domain, becomes autophosphorylated on tyrosine 397 (Y387) [28]. The Y397 autophosphorylation may be associated with mechanosensation, as shown by the positive correlation between Y397 phosphorylation and adhesion to fibronectin of increasing stiffness [29]. However, the role of mechanosensation in FAK Y397 phosphorylation may depend on both the matrix molecule and the integrin in question, because soluble collagen but not soluble fibronectin can induce FAK autophosphorylation in suspended cells [29]. Upon integrin–matrix binding and FAK activation, the phosphorylated Y397 serves as a binding site for the SH2 domain of the nonreceptor tyrosine kinase c-Src, which then enhances FAK activity by phosphorylating additional tyrosine residues [28,30]. Src-mediated FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine 925 generates a binding site for the Grb2/Sos complex, with subsequent activation of Ras and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade, which may be involved in adhesion/deadhesion and migration [28,31].

In addition to activation of the Ras/MAPK pathway, the FAK/Src complex phosphorylates and regulates the activity of other components of the integrin adhesion complexes, including paxillin, p130Cas, vinculin, and tensin [32]. All of these proteins are associated with cell migration, as shown by the migration defects observed in cells either lacking these molecules altogether and/or expressing mutants affecting their activity or localization [33–36]. For example, paxillin-deficient fibroblasts exhibit both reduced phosphorylation of signaling molecules downstream of integrin ligation and decreased cell motility [33]. The phosphorylation of paxillin by the FAK/Src complex promotes paxillin binding to the SH2 domain of the Crk/DOCK180/ELMO complex. DOCK180, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) for Rac1, then activates Rac1 and promotes cell migration [37]. Similarly, p130Cas phosphorylation by the FAK/Src complex promotes Rac1 activation and migration through Crk/DOCK180/ELMO-mediated Rac activation [28]. Beyond their activation of Rac, phosphorylated integrin adhesion complex components regulate other members of the Rho GTPase family. For example, phospho-paxillin also appears to activate p190RhoGAP, leading to localized inhibition of RhoA activity [37]. Additional regulators of RhoA and Rac activity in migrating cells include members of the tensin family, which, like paxillin and p130Cas, are phosphorylated by FAK/Src complexes. In contrast to the RhoGAP-activating function of phosphorylated paxillin, however, tensin1 increases RhoA activity by inhibiting the RhoGAP activity of DLC1 [34]. The conventional understanding of Rac and RhoA dynamics during cell migration suggests that the combination of enhanced Rac1 activity and decreased RhoA activity at the leading edge of migrating cells decreases cell adhesion and promotes protrusion formation, thereby facilitating cell migration. However, Förster resonance energy transfer-based sensors demonstrate both RhoA and Rac activity at the leading edge of migrating cells, suggesting a more complex relationship between these GTPases and membrane protrusion than previously thought and demonstrating the need for more research in this area [38].

Although FAK and c-Src are best known for their roles in outside-in signaling, as described earlier, these kinases are also involved in inside-out signaling, which promotes integrin–ligand binding. FAK promotes integrin activation, cell adhesion to fibronectin, and strengthening of focal adhesions [39]. These effects appear to require Src binding and/or activity, because a Y397 F mutation that prevents FAK autophosphorylation and Src binding at this site also prevents FAK-mediated adhesion [39]. FAK-induced integrin binding to ECM molecules can then initiate outside-in signaling, leading to more FAK activation, FAK-Src interaction, and downstream signaling that promotes deadhesion and migration. This suggests a cycle of FAK and Src activity, in which they initially promote deadhesion and migration, followed by the formation of new adhesions at the leading edge. In support of this FAK/Src cycle of activity, active Src moves from the focal adhesions to the membrane ruffles at the leading edge during cell migration [39a]. The activation of integrins downstream of FAK/Src signaling may mediated by talins and kindlins, two families of proteins that bind directly to the cytoplasmic domains of  $\beta$  integrins. FAK is necessary for talin recruitment to integrins at newly forming adhesion sites, and cells either lacking specific talin family members or expressing mutants that abolish talin-integrin interactions prevent integrin activation induced by various stimuli, leading to defects in integrin-mediated adhesion [40]. Deficiencies in kindlin expression are associated with similar defects in integrin activation and cell adhesion, which suggests the possibility that talins and kindlins work together, potentially downstream of FAK, to activate integrins and promote cell adhesion [41]. However, kindlin signaling is not limited to inside-out signaling; it also participates in outside-in signaling after integrin engagement with matrix ligands. The interaction of kindlin-2 with Src is not required for inside-out signaling and cell adhesion to fibronectin but is necessary for paxillin phosphorylation downstream of integrin ligation and for platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-induced mesangial cell proliferation and migration [42]. These findings suggest that kindlin-2 may have multiple roles in integrin-mediated signaling, both promoting integrin-mediated adhesion and facilitating integrin-induced signaling after matrix adhesion, underscoring the interplay between inside-out and outside-in integrin signaling.

A separate form of integrin activation occurs downstream of growth factor receptors. VEGF binding to the VEGFR2 in endothelial cells activates c-Src, which directly phosphorylates  $\beta_3$  integrin, increasing endothelial cell

adhesion to the  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  ligand vitronectin [43]. Interestingly, Src is also necessary for integrin  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  interaction with VEGFR2, which is also required for maximal VEGFR2 phosphorylation and VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration in vitro and angiogenesis in vivo [43]. Furthermore, VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration requires FAK activity [44]. These data suggest that the interactions between VEGFR2 and integrin  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  couple integrin activation with VEGFR2 signaling, promoting FAK activation and signaling downstream of FAK (described earlier), thereby linking cell–matrix adhesion with promigratory signaling.

Beyond integrin signaling in cell adhesion and migration, nonintegrin ECM receptors, including proteoglycan receptors such as syndecans, CD44, and RHAMM, as well as the elastin-laminin receptor, the EGFR, and DDR1, also participate in cell adhesion and migration through a variety of mechanisms. For example, syndecans facilitate migration through both activation of signaling through the cytoplasmic domains of the syndecans themselves and syndecan-mediated activation of growth factor receptors and integrins [17]. The PDZ-binding motif, located on syndecan intracellular domains, binds several signaling proteins with PDZ domains, including the Rac1 GEF Tiam1, which suggests a mechanism by which syndecan binding to matrix ligands directly regulates cell migration [17]. Syndecans also collaborate with integrins and growth factor receptors in the induction of cell adhesion and migration. In the case of integrins, syndecan-4 regulates the formation and generation of specific integrin adhesion complexes by promoting the internalization and degradation of some integrin heterodimers while increasing surface levels of different heterodimers [16,45]. These alterations in integrin composition induced by syndecan-4 may affect both cell adhesion and integrin-induced signaling important in cell migration. In support of this idea, syndecan cooperation with integrin heterodimers mediates cell adhesion to vitronectin and laminin and induces cell migration, and syndecan-4 promotes Rac1 activation and localization to the leading edge of migrating cells, facilitating directional cell migration in response to fibronectin [46]. Syndecans also participate in growth factor receptor signaling through a complex web of interactions in which the syndecans bind growth factors and prevent receptor binding until proteolytic release (e.g., HB-EGF) or bind both growth factor and its receptor to promote receptor activation (e.g., fibroblast growth factor [FGF] and VEGF) [16]. These growth factor-proteoglycan interactions may provide a stable growth factor gradient that facilitates directional cell migration [8,9].

Two non-syndecan proteoglycan receptors, CD44 and RHAMM, both bind hyaluronan and collaborate to promote hyaluronan-induced signaling. Hyaluronan is a matrix molecule that is generally produced in a highmolecular weight form that can cross-link its cell surface receptors, promoting cell adhesion and inhibiting cell migration [19]. However, lower–molecular weight hyaluronan fragments found in injured and/or inflamed tissues promote cell migration associated with inflammation and angiogenesis [47]. Some of these differences in function between high- and low-molecular weight hyaluronan likely result from differences in receptor selection, because low-molecular weight forms are more likely to bind Toll-like receptors, which can then promote inflammation through nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B-induced expression of cytokines and chemokines [47]. However, the angiogenesis induced by hyaluronan fragments requires CD44, which suggests that hyaluronan fragments of different sizes may induce different conformational changes in CD44 or selectively bind different CD44 splice or glycosylation variants, in either case inducing different downstream signaling pathways that either promote angiostatic or angiogenic outcomes [47,48]. Some of these CD44 variants can interact with growth factors and/or their receptors, modulating downstream signaling. For example, the splice variant CD44v6 binds both to VEGF isoforms and to VEGFR2, and CD44v6 inhibition decreases VEGF-induced activation of VEGFR2 and downstream phosphorylation of ERK in endothelial cells [49]. Furthermore, CD44v6 inhibition significantly decreases VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration in vitro and angiogenesis in vivo, which underscores the importance of this CD44 variant in promigratory VEGFR2 signaling [49].

Fragments of matrix components, likely generated under proteolytic conditions such as those occurring during wound healing and inflammation, bind multiple matrix receptors in addition to the receptors described earlier, including the EGFR and the elastin receptor, thereby promoting cell adhesion and migration in various cell types. The EGF-like repeats in tenascin-C, laminin 332, thrombospondin, and secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine protein (SPARC) can decrease cell-matrix adhesions and promote cell migration [12]. Although receptor binding and signaling induced by these matrix molecules are complicated by their ability to bind and activate integrins, there is compelling evidence that the EGF-like repeats of tenascin C and laminin 332 promote changes in cell adhesion and motility in an EGFR-dependent manner [12]. Another matrix fragment-binding receptor, the ERC, binds fragments of elastin, laminin, and fibrillin. Although ERC binding to ligands initially promotes cell adhesion by promoting elastin deposition into the ECM, interaction of the EBP component of the ERC with elastin-derived peptides can promote migration of multiple cell types, including monocytes, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, and endothelial cells [50]. The proliferative and migratory effects of elastin-derived peptides may result from the activation of multiple MAPK cascades downstream of the ERC [51].

In contrast to the ERC and EGFR, which can bind matrix fragments, DDR1 and DDR2 bind intact collagen molecules rather than fragments [25]. Signaling induced by collagen through the DDRs seem to have cell type—specific effects, promoting migration in some cell types while repressing it in others [25]. In the case of DDR2, collagen binding promotes the movement of fibroblasts through matrix, likely through induction of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 expression and activation, suggests a role in tissue invasion [26]. Because collagen induces relatively long-term DDR2 activation, DDR2-induced cell behaviors, such as matrix invasion, could be maintained over substantial periods [26].

# **Proliferation and Survival**

ECM interaction with its receptors can promote cell proliferation and survival, as is demonstrated clearly by the anchorage dependence of cell growth. Even in the presence of growth factors, cells will not enter the S phase of the cell cycle without matrix adhesion [52]. In addition, cell detachment from the matrix or expression of matrix receptors in the absence of their intact ligands often promotes apoptosis, a process known as anoikis [15]. Thus, adhesion of cells to ECM molecules has an important role in regulating cell survival and proliferation. Because much of our understanding of matrix-induced proliferation and survival is related to matrix interaction with integrins, we will begin with integrin-associated proliferation and survival.

Multiple studies in which integrins are either inhibited or deficient demonstrate that integrin signaling is critical for cell proliferation [52]. For example, the fibroblasts of mice lacking the  $\alpha_1\beta_1$  integrin, a primary collagen receptor, have reduced proliferation even though they exhibit normal adhesion [53]. The loss of integrin-mediated adhesion inhibits cell survival by inducing the movement of the proapoptotic protein Bax from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria, promoting apoptosis [54]. Integrin-mediated, adhesion-induced cell survival requires FAK activity, as shown by the Bax translocation and apoptosis of cells expressing dominant negative FAK and the survival of detached cancer cells overexpressing FAK [28,54]. Integrin-matrix binding activates the FAK–Src complex, which interacts with and activates PI3K, leading to the downstream activation of Akt [52]. Akt then alters the ratios of proapoptotic and antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members, increasing the levels of the antiapoptotic Bcl-xl and Mcl-1 and decreasing the levels of proapoptotic Bax and Bak, thereby promoting cell survival [55]. Whereas the prosurvival signals downstream of Fak in epithelial cells require Src activity, as described previously, prosurvival signaling in fibroblasts instead involves p130Cas activation, which suggests that the mechanisms involved in FAK-induced survival are cell type specific [56].

Although maintenance of cell survival by integrin-mediated matrix adhesion is necessary for cell division, it is not sufficient. Many signaling pathways induced by integrin-ECM binding, notably the activation of MAPK pathways, promote cell division rather than simply survival [52]. As mentioned in an earlier section, FAK-induced p130Cas activation is upstream of Rac1, and once Rac1 is activated by this pathway, it can promote cell proliferation downstream of multiple effectors [28]. For example, Rac1-induced JNK activity promotes cell division through c-Jun-induced cyclin expression, whereas Rac1-mediated activation of Pak1 induces proliferation through its phosphorylation of Raf and downstream activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) [52]. Integrin ligation also activates ERK1/2 through FAK-mediated recruitment of Shc, an adaptor protein that binds Grb2/Sos and induces the Ras/ERK cascade [57]. Furthermore, cell-ECM binding and Rac activation promote the degradation of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors, which would otherwise block cell proliferation [52].

Matrix molecules can also induce cell proliferation through cooperation with growth factor receptor signaling [8]. Such cooperative effects may occur in a direct manner, because some matrix molecules bind and activate growth factor receptors, leading to cell proliferation, whereas other matrix molecules bind growth factors and regulate their interaction with their receptors [23]. The matrix molecules that bind growth factor receptors directly can promote receptor activation and downstream signaling. For example, laminin and tenascin-C can bind and activate EGFR and associated downstream signaling through their EGF-like domains [12], which suggests the possibility that they or their proteolytic fragments may promote cell division downstream of EGFR. In contrast, decorin binding to EGFR and VEGFR2 inhibits proliferation induced by VEGF and EGF, potentially through internalization or degradation of the receptors, which has been shown for EGFR [12,58].

Although there is some evidence, described earlier, that matrix—growth factor receptor engagement can promote cell proliferation, substantially more evidence demonstrates the importance of growth factor binding to matrix molecules on growth factor receptor activation and induction of cell proliferation. Multiple ECM molecules are able to bind to either growth factors or their receptors to regulate their activity [8]. For example, VEGF binding to vitronectin promotes the formation of a VEGFR2/integrin  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  complex that greatly increases VEGF-induced VEGFR2

### SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION EVENTS DURING CELL-EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX INTERACTIONS

phosphorylation and endothelial cell proliferation, and the binding of VEGF to fibronectin has a similar effect on VEGFR2/integrin  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  complex formation, VEGFR2 activation, and cell proliferation [43,59]. Several growth factors, including FGFs, VEGFs, PDGFs, and TGF $\beta$ , can interact with HSPGs, which can either sequester these factors within the matrix, such that they are released upon matrix degradation, or can present them to their receptors [16]. For example, FGF binding to heparan sulfate moieties on syndecans facilitates FGF binding to and activation of FGFR, increasing the duration of signaling downstream of FGFR and promoting cell proliferation [16,45]. Similarly, VEGF binding to HSPGs increases binding to VEGFR2 and promotes cell proliferation [45].

In addition to matrix binding to growth factor receptors and growth factor binding to matrix, matrix–growth factor cooperation can occur through direct interactions between integrins and growth factors or growth factor receptors. VEGF binds directly to integrin  $\alpha_9\beta_1$ , which is necessary for VEGF-induced angiogenesis in vivo [59]. Other growth factors are also able to bind integrins directly; for example, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 and FGF-2 both interact with integrin  $\alpha_v\beta_3$ , which is necessary for the cell proliferation induced by both factors [57]. Growth factor receptor binding to integrins may also enhance growth factor–induced signaling. Both PDGFR $\beta$  and VEGFR2 physically interact with integrin subunits, and concomitant integrin-mediated cell adhesion further increases both receptor activation and mitogenicity [52,59]. In the case of VEGFR2, integrin binding participates in FAK-induced Ras/ERK activation in endothelial cells, providing a likely mechanism for the role of integrin binding in proliferation [60].

Nonintegrin ECM receptors, including the hyaluronan receptor CD44, the ERC, and the collagen-binding DDRs, have also been implicated in cell proliferation and survival. Whereas high—molecular weight hyaluronan inhibits cell proliferation, the lower—molecular weight forms present in sites of injury and inflammation induce proliferation of multiple cell types, including fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells [19,47]. Hyaluronan-induced proliferation in fibroblasts appears to be mediated, at least in part, by CD44 and its downstream activation of ERK and Akt [61]. Similarly, binding of hyaluronan fragments to CD44 promotes smooth muscle cell proliferation via downstream activation of the Ras—ERK pathway [47]. The binding of elastin-derived peptides to the ERC promotes smooth muscle cell proliferation in duced by growth factor receptors, because the neuraminidase subunit of the ERC desialylates cell surface growth factor receptors, preventing growth factor—receptor binding and downstream signaling, complicating the role that the ERC has in regulating proliferation [63]. Finally, both DDR2, a collagen receptor, and annexin II, a tenascin C receptor, can promote division in some cell types [23,26]. To date, we have few clues regarding signaling activated in matrix-induced proliferation via nonintegrin receptors, which suggests the need for more research in this area.

# Differentiation

Interaction of cells with ECM molecules, hormones, and growth factors is required to activate genes needed for the differentiation of multiple cell types, including keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts. Differentiation of keratinocytes is carefully regulated by multiple cell-matrix and cell-cell interactions. Keratinocytes in contact with the basement membrane proliferate and do not express proteins associated with terminal differentiation, whereas those cells that are not attached to the basement membrane in suprabasal layers begin to express these markers of terminal differentiation. This suggests that keratinocyte differentiation is repressed by adhesion to the basement membrane. In support of this idea, integrin activation in cultured cells inhibits differentiation, whereas impaired adhesion promotes differentiation [64]. In contrast, keratinocytes of mice deficient in various integrins can still differentiate, which suggests that there may be some redundancy in the system [65]. There may be additional cues provided by matrix molecules present within the epidermis itself that regulate differentiation. For example, hyaluronan is present within the epidermis, where it facilitates keratinocyte terminal differentiation in a CD44dependent manner [66]. These results are contradicted by separate studies suggesting that epidermal hyaluronan prevents premature keratinocyte differentiation [18]. One potential explanation for this discrepancy is that enzymatic digestion of hyaluronan may have generated hyaluronan fragments with binding and/or signaling differences from intact hyaluronan. Regardless, it appears that hyaluronan and CD44 are involved in the keratinocyte differentiation process.

Other differentiated phenotypes also require integrin-mediated signaling events. TGF $\beta$ -mediated differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, contractile cells that produce ECM, requires cell integrin-mediated adhesion to extra domain A (EDA) of fibronectin [27]. Integrins  $\alpha_v\beta_5$  and  $\alpha_v\beta_6$  and integrin heterodimers containing the  $\beta_1$  subunit are associated with TGF $\beta$  activation and are thus important in myofibroblast differentiation [27,65]. Because integrin  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  interacts with the EDA of fibronectin and integrin  $\beta_1$ -deficient mice exhibit defective myofibroblast differentiation, the connection between integrin  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  and the fibronectin EDA may be particularly important in myofibroblast differentiation [27]. Pathways downstream of integrin–fibronectin interaction, including FAK and integrin-linked kinase activation, are necessary for TGF $\beta$ -induced myofibroblast differentiation, providing some potential mechanisms for its observed dependence on EDA-containing fibronectin [27]. Myofibroblast differentiation is also associated with matrix stiffness; increasing matrix stiffness is associated with increasing differentiation, which suggests a role for integrin-mediated mechanotransduction, likely involving FAK activation, in this differentiation process [2,5]. However, the roles of hyaluronan and CD44 activation in myofibroblast differentiation remain unclear owing to conflicting evidence in which both decreased hyaluronan production and hyaluronan-induced CD44 activation increase myofibroblast differentiation [18]. This discrepancy may result from differences in the ability of CD44 to engage in cross-talk with the TGF $\beta$  receptor under different circumstances [18].

Differentiation of endothelial cells is more difficult to identify than is differentiation of keratinocytes or myofibroblasts, both of which have specific protein markers of differentiation. In contrast, endothelial cell differentiation occurs when endothelial cells form mature vascular structures, which is challenging to mimic in vitro. Early experiments involving cultured endothelial cells demonstrated growth of endothelial cells on an ECM comparable to the basement membrane, Matrigel, induced the formation of capillary-like tubes whose formation could serve as an in vitro proxy for endothelial cell differentiation [67]. These results suggested that the adhesion of endothelial cells with some component or components of Matrigel could promote their differentiation. The main matrix components of both Matrigel and basement membranes in blood vessels in vivo are laminins, heterotrimeric proteins composed of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  subunits [68]. In Matrigel, the primary laminin is laminin-111 ( $\alpha_1\beta_1\gamma_1$ ), which, in the absence of other matrix components, can promote endothelial tube formation in vitro [69]. The basement membranes of intact vessels in vivo contain laminin-411 ( $\alpha_4\beta_1\gamma_1$ ) primarily, rather than laminin-111, and laminin-411 participates in endothelial tube formation in vitro and angiogenesis in vivo; the latter is shown by the formation of abnormal vessels in laminin  $\alpha_4$ - and  $\gamma_1$ -deficient mice [68]. Peptides derived from laminins  $\alpha_1$  and  $\gamma_1$  promote angiogenesis through integrins  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  and  $\alpha_5\beta_1$ , which suggests the potential role of laminin degradation in new vessel formation [68]. After the formation of these nascent vessels, they must be stabilized and matured by the deposition of new basement membrane and the recruitment and differentiation of pericytes, smooth muscle cells that increase endothelial barrier function and participate in depositing a new basement membrane [9,70]. Fibronectin, laminin-411, collagen IV, and HSPGs are all required for the formation of the new basement membrane, whereas integrin-mediated interactions between the developing matrix and pericytes is necessary for continued deposition of basement membrane matrix molecules [68,71]. As such, matrix-integrin interactions are critical for the deposition of the basement membrane and recruitment of pericytes, which, in turn, are necessary for new vessel maturation.

# Apoptosis

Many cell types undergo apoptosis, or programmed cell death, through well-known signal transduction pathways involving the activation of proteases from the caspase family. Cell-matrix signaling tends to promote cell adhesion and survival, repressing apoptosis. However, even when cells remain attached to some ECM molecules, the inability of some integrins to bind their matrix ligands induces a specific form of apoptosis called integrinmediated death through integrin-mediated recruitment and activation of caspase 8 [72]. In addition to promoting apoptotic signaling, the activation of caspase 3 downstream of caspase 8 may prevent prosurvival integrin signaling from separate matrix-bound integrins by cleaving paxillin and kindlin-3, blocking prosurvival outside-in signaling downstream of these proteins [37,41]. Integrin ligation by soluble, rather than intact, ligands also promotes apoptosis through the recruitment and activation of caspase 8 by the clustered integrins [73]. Such soluble ligands may be created by matrix degradation during tissue remodeling. A fragment of collagen XVIII, endostatin, binds to  $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrin and decreases the expression of Bcl-xl and Bcl-2, prosurvival Bcl family members, promoting endothelial cell apoptosis [10]. Similarly, a fragment of collagen IV, tumstatin, induces apoptosis in endothelial cells via integrin  $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_3$  [74]. Fragments of matrix molecules can also induce apoptosis through nonintegrin receptors. Low-molecular weight fragments of hyaluronan can induce apoptosis in some cells through CD44, likely by interfering with prosurvival signaling downstream of CD44 [19]. Similarly, elastin-derived fragments promote fibroblast and lymphocyte apoptosis through the ERC [22,51]. Taken together, these pieces of evidence suggest that disrupting normal matrixreceptor adhesions can promote apoptosis in various cell types.

# CELL-EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX INTERACTIONS DURING HEALING OF CUTANEOUS WOUNDS

Interactions of cells with ECM molecules have a crucial role during wound healing and regeneration. Continuous cross-talk between cells and the surrounding matrix environment contributes to the processes of clot formation, inflammation, granulation tissue development, and remodeling; during regeneration, matrix interactions are important in restoring damaged tissue. Many lines of experimental evidence demonstrate that the basic cellular mechanisms resulting in wound healing involve cell adhesion—deadhesion, migration, proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (Fig. 2.2).

# Adhesion and Migration

Shortly after tissue damage and during the early stages of wound healing, multiple factors and blood cells enter into the wound area, activating the coagulation cascade when coagulation factors from the blood encounter tissue factor expressed on endothelial cells, tissue factor expressed by nonvascular cells exposed by injury, or collagen, also exposed by injury [75]. This cascade ultimately results in the activation of thrombin, an enzyme that cleaves fibrinogen to generate fibrin, which polymerizes to form a fibrin clot. Injury to the endothelium simultaneously promotes the adhesion of platelets to subendothelial von Willebrand Factor and ECM components, causing platelet aggregation, activation, and adhesion to fibrin, trapping them within the fibrin clot [75]. Activated platelets release additional coagulation factors that promote and stabilize the fibrin clot, which serves as a vascular plug. In addition, to fibrin and platelets, the fibrin clot contains matrix components including plasma fibronectin and a variety of chemokines, cytokines, and growth factors released by activated platelets [7,76]. As such, in addition to its hemostatic function, the fibrin clot facilitates wound healing by serving as a provisional matrix for cell migration and a reservoir of cytokines, thrombin, and growth factors that collectively promote the later phases of inflammation and granulation tissue formation [77].

During the clotting process, platelets and activated mast cells degranulate, releasing vasodilating and chemotactic factors that chemoattract inflammatory leukocytes to the wound site, initiating the inflammatory response. Leukocyte extravasation from blood vessels requires several adhesion and signaling events, including the binding of leukocyte integrins with endothelial intercellular cell adhesion molecules and vascular cell adhesion molecules rather than matrix molecules, and the binding of leukocyte chemokine receptors with chemokines associated with endothelial cell surface HSPGs [27,78]. Some of the first matrix molecules that the leukocytes encounter during emigration from the bloodstream are located within the endothelial basement membrane and the provisional matrix. Neutrophils adhere to and migrate within the basement membrane as they move through the blood vessel, where they encounter laminins-411 and -511, fibronectin, and vitronectin, and subsequently interact with fibrin and fibronectin in the provisional matrix [76,79]. Neutrophils also secrete laminin-411, which likely participates in their extravasation through integrin  $\alpha_M\beta_2$ , because inhibition of this integrin blocks leukocyte extravasation [79].

After leukocyte extravasation from the vasculature, the leukocytes are directed to the site of injury by the chemokines that form relatively stable gradients through interactions with endothelial cell surface proteins and ECM molecules, thereby promoting directional cell migration through the provisional matrix [6]. The fibrin–fibronectin provisional matrix serves as substrate for the migration of leukocytes and later keratinocytes during the early stages of healing when inflammation and reepithelialization occur. Leukocyte interactions with ECM molecules via integrin receptors affect many of the functions of these cells, in particular those associated with cell adhesion, migration, the production of inflammatory mediators, and antimicrobial functions. As mentioned, neutrophils interact with fibronectin in the basement membrane and the provisional matrix, and several types of inflammatory cells interact with fibrinogen, the primary component of the provisional matrix, through integrins  $\alpha_M\beta_2$  and integrin  $\alpha_X\beta_2$  [77,80]. Neutrophil binding to thrombospondin 4, another ligand of integrin  $\alpha_M\beta_2$ , also induces expression of the chemokine CXCL8, whereas monocyte interactions with fibrin in the provisional matrix induces expression of multiple proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, including TNF $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and several CC chemokines [80,81]. Intact ECM molecules then facilitate additional leukocyte chemotaxis into the inflamed area by binding these chemokines, thus creating a stable chemotactic gradient to promote specific directional migration [7,82].

Although intact ECM molecules regulate inflammation in multiple ways, matrix fragments also participate in this process. Inflamed tissues contain many proteases that can cleave matrix molecules, generating fragments with

altered matrix binding, downstream signaling, and effects on inflammatory processes. For example, platelet-derived hyaluronidase cleaves hyaluronan, generating low—molecular weight hyaluronan fragments; neutrophil elastase cleaves elastin, fibronectin, and collagen XVII; and urinary plasminogen activator— and tissue plasminogen activator—induced plasmin activation promote cleavage of collagen XIX, laminin-332, SPARC, and syndecan-4 [4,6,47]. Several of the fragments generated in this manner then promote inflammation in a positive feedback loop. For example, low—molecular weight hyaluronan fragments induce cytokine and chemokine production through CD44, and collagen XVII and elastin fragments generated by neutrophil elastase promote neutrophil chemotaxis [4,19]. Ultimately, the matrix molecules encountered by leukocytes substantially influence the course of inflammation.

The inflammatory phase of wound healing is followed by a proliferative phase. Shortly after wounding, activated platelets secrete a variety of growth factors, including EGF and TGF $\beta$ , that stimulate the keratinocytes at the wound edge to proliferate and migrate to cover the wounded area, a process known as reepithelialization [83]. FGFs and EGFs are produced and/or released from sequestering matrix molecules at later times by neutrophils, macrophages, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts, and may maintain the proliferative and promigratory signals needed for reepithelialization. During reepithelialization, the keratinocytes migrate beneath the provisional ECM, composed primarily of fibrin and fibronectin [27,65]. The lack of keratinocyte migration on top of the fibrin-based clot may result from their lack of integrin  $\alpha_v \beta_3$  expression as well as the ability of fibrin to prevent keratinocyte adhesion to other provisional matrix components, including fibronectin [77]. These cells instead migrate on the nascent, provisional basement membrane composed largely of including laminin-332, fibronectin, and tenascin-C, through the  $\alpha_2\beta_1$ ,  $\alpha_3\beta_1$ ,  $\alpha_5\beta_1, \alpha_6\beta_1, \alpha_9\beta_1, \alpha_2\beta_4, and \alpha_v$  integrins expressed by these cells [27]. That these matrix-receptor interactions are critical for reepithelialization is clear from studies investigating keratinocyte migration and reepithelialization in cultured keratinocytes migrating on specific matrices, in mice lacking these molecules, and in human patients with matrix mutations. Interestingly, keratinocytes at the migration front produce laminin-332, facilitating the migration of keratinocytes behind the migration front on this matrix component [27]. Because the keratinocytes migrate between the fibrin-based clot and the underlying tissue, their migration is also associated with the activity of multiple proteases, including MMPs and plasmin [27,84]. These enzymes may facilitate keratinocyte migration by promoting their deadhesion from matrix molecules that would otherwise promote adhesion over migration and/or through releasing matrix-bound growth factors, or EGF-like domains from matrix molecules themselves, that then induce promigratory signaling [65,84].

At the same time as reepithelialization, granulation tissue, a provisional connective tissue containing nascent blood vessels and multiple types of ECM molecules, including tenascin-C, cellular fibronectin, SPARC, and various collagens, begins to form [7,26,27]. Granulation tissue serves as substrate for the migration of the keratinocytes (see earlier discussion), the endothelial cells that form the vasculature of the wound bed, fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, and leukocytes that are chemoattracted to the wound site by chemokines secreted by multiple cells within the wound [26]. Chemokine-mediated chemoattraction of cells involved in granulated tissue formation, in conjunction with the interaction of these cells with ECM via cell surface receptors, participates in functions during the formation of the granulation tissue. For example, the neutrophil chemoattractant CXCL8, produced by multiple cell types in the wound environment, induces fibroblast recruitment to the granulation tissue and their deposition of tenascin-C, fibronectin, and collagen I [85].

Interactions of both intact matrix molecules and their degradation products with endothelial cells facilitate their migration through the nascent connective tissue to generate new blood vessels during the formation of granulation tissue [27]. As described in more detail previously, fibronectin and vitronectin may promote endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis by enhancing VEGF-induced promigratory signaling through the formation of integrin-VEGFR2–VEGF–matrix molecule complexes [59]. Proteoglycans may promote endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis through their association with angiogenic factors, including VEGF, CXCL8, and FGF-2, generating a stable gradient to promote directional migration and vessel formation [9,22,85]. During angiogenesis, endothelial cells release and activate matrix-degrading enzymes, including MMPs and cathepsins, which can facilitate the migration and invasion of endothelial cells into the surrounding tissue and generate bioactive matrix fragments that provide additional angiogenic stimuli [4]. Complicating the role of matrix fragments in angiogenesis is that some matrix fragments promote angiogenesis whereas others inhibit angiogenesis by inhibiting endothelial cell migration and/or inducing their apoptosis [4]. This raises the possibility that after angiogenic matrix molecules and fragments induce angiogenesis, these molecules could be cleaved further to generate antiangiogenic fragments that then promote vessel stabilization, basement membrane deposition, and maturation [86]. Therefore, the way matrix molecules are locally cleaved and/or factors are locally released could have important consequences for the formation of the granulation tissue.

# Proliferation

During wound reepithelialization, keratinocytes trailing behind those at the front edge of migration replicate to provide a source of cells that cover the wound. Basement membrane-type ECM still present on the basal surface of these keratinocytes may be important in maintaining this less migratory, proliferative state. In a dermal wound model, basement membrane matrices are able to sustain the proliferation of keratinocytes for several days [87]. One component of the basement membrane involved in this proliferation is likely laminin. For example, laminin-511 and -521 can promote keratinocyte proliferation in vitro, and keratinocyte proliferation requires the laminin receptor integrin  $\alpha_6\beta_4$  [52,68]. Integrin  $\alpha_9\beta_1$ , which binds several matrix molecules, is critical for keratinocyte proliferations may prevent excessive proliferation. For example, the keratinocytes of mice deficient in either fibrinogen or emilin-1, a matrix ligand for integrins  $\alpha_4\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_9\beta_1$ , hyperproliferate during reepithelialization, which suggests the importance of these molecules in limiting proliferation during normal reepithelialization [27,52].

As described earlier, granulation tissue forms at the same time as reepithelialization. In the granulation tissue, several types of cells proliferate, including fibroblasts and endothelial cells of the microvasculature. The ECM molecules present in the granulation tissue, in conjunction with growth factors released by the platelets and secreted by the cells present in this tissue, provide signals to promote cell proliferation [8]. ECM molecules themselves, including fibronectin and specific fragments of fibronectin, tenascin-C, laminins, collagen VI, SPARC, and hyaluronan, can stimulate fibroblast and endothelial cell proliferation [2]. For example, fibroblast proliferation requires collagen-induced activation of DDR2, a tyrosine kinase receptor, as shown by the reduced proliferation of DDR2<sup>-</sup> in vitro and decreased numbers in wound granulation tissue in vivo, although the decreased numbers in vivo could result from a combination of decreased proliferation and migration [26]. ECM molecules may cooperate with growth factors to promote fibroblast and endothelial cell proliferation. In fibroblasts, proliferation induced by TGFβ1 requires fibronectin [88]. Angiogenesis requires both endothelial cell migration (described previously) and proliferation, and angiogenic factors such as VEGFs and FGFs associate with ECM molecules, increasing their ability to activate their receptors and thereby stimulate the proliferation of endothelial cells, which then migrate to form the new microvessels [9,59,85]. Some antiangiogenic molecules, including thrombospondin and endostatin, may inhibit angiogenesis by competing with these growth factors for either growth factor receptor binding or matrix binding [9,10]. In contrast, ECM molecules and/or peptides derived from their proteolysis can have inhibitory effects on cell proliferation. Intact decorin and SPARC, as well as peptides derived from decorin, SPARC, collagens XVIII and XV (endostatin), collagen IV (tumstatin), and tenascin-C have antiangiogenic effects owing to their inhibition of endothelial cell proliferation [4,22].

# Differentiation

As healing progresses, the healing wound shifts from granulation tissue formation to matrix remodeling, gradually removing the provisional matrix molecules of the granulation tissue and replacing them with a more mature connective tissue rich in collagen I [2]. This process is associated with the differentiation of some fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, acquiring the morphological and biochemical characteristics of smooth muscle cells by expressing  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin [84]. This differentiation process requires specific growth factors and/or chemokines, including TGF $\beta$  and CXCL8, as well as fibroblast interactions with multiple types of matrix molecules [84,85]. TGFβ1-induced myofibroblast differentiation requires adhesion to the EDA-containing splice variant of fibronectin, likely mediated by integrin  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  [5,89]. However, the combined presence of EDA-containing fibronectin and TGF $\beta_1$ is not sufficient to induce myofibroblast differentiation, which also requires fibroblast adhesion to stiff collagen matrices [2]. After myofibroblast differentiation, these cells secrete copious amounts of matrix molecules, particularly multiple isoforms of collagens, release enzymes that cross-link and thereby stiffen collagen fibrils further, and contract to promote wound closure [26,84]. These myofibroblast activities could cause more fibroblasts to differentiate into myofibroblasts in a positive feedback loop that, if unchecked, could promote excessive fibrosis and abnormal scarring that interferes with normal tissue function [84]. Decorin, a small proteoglycan present in normal wound healing, decreases TGF<sup>β1</sup> and collagen production, providing a possible mechanism that could limit myofibroblast differentiation and function to prevent excessive scarring [84].

Differentiation of keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and pericytes is also regulated by cell-matrix interactions. In keratinocytes, some matrix-integrin interactions seem to inhibit terminal differentiation and promote proliferation of basement membrane-associated cells, whereas hyaluronan-CD44 binding may promote terminal differentiation [64,66]. The differentiation of endothelial cells in mature blood vessels requires physical interactions with basement

membrane components such as laminin-411, as well as interactions with pericytes [68]. Pericyte differentiation, in turn, requires integrin  $\beta_1$ -dependent cell-matrix interactions [90].

### Apoptosis

In healing wounds, many cells that are needed for one specific phase of the healing process undergo apoptosis after completing their respective functions. In fact, the persistence of some cells, including inflammatory cells and myofibroblasts, is detrimental, and apoptosis is needed to prevent chronic inflammation and excessive scarring, respectively [89,91]. ECM molecules regulate some of the inflammatory cell apoptosis after their activation. For example, low–molecular weight hyaluronan promotes neutrophil and macrophage apoptosis, likely through CD44 [19,47]. However, apoptosis in neutrophils is primarily regulated by a constitutive signaling pathway that can be delayed by inflammatory signaling or by fibrinogen binding, but otherwise seems little affected by matrix interactions [91,92].

Apoptosis also participates in the wound remodeling phase, because the granulation tissue evolves into a relatively acellular scar tissue [89]. In this remodeling phase, apoptotic cell death eliminates many types of cells at the same time without causing tissue damage. Within the granulation tissue, the number of cells undergoing apoptosis increases around days 20–25 after injury, dramatically reducing wound cellularity after day 25 [89a]. This coincides with the release of mechanical tension after myofibroblast-mediated wound contraction, which triggers apoptosis of human fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, which suggests the importance of interstitial collagens, their receptors, and mechanotransduction in myofibroblast apoptosis [7]. This myofibroblast apoptosis may be required to both promote wound healing and prevent scarring. Indeed, a type of excessive, abnormal scar called a hypertrophic scar exhibits reduced fibroblast/myofibroblast apoptosis, resulting in excessive fibrosis and scarring [84]. This apoptotic failure in hypertrophic scars likely results from an overexpression of tissue transglutaminase, leading to increased matrix breakdown and decreased collagen contraction [2].

# CELL–EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX INTERACTIONS DURING REGENERATIVE FETAL WOUND HEALING

True tissue regeneration after injury rarely occurs in vertebrate species, but it occurs in specific instances, including fetal cutaneous wound healing, liver regeneration, and urodele amphibian limb regeneration. Unlike wound healing in normal adult animals, which is characterized by scarring, fetal cutaneous wounds heal without fibrosis and scar formation, leading to regeneration of the injured area. The contribution of cell–ECM interactions to regeneration in fetal healing is discussed subsequently (Fig. 2.3).



FIGURE 2.3 Comparison of particular cell–extracellular matrix (ECM) interactions occurring in scar-forming adult healing versus those occurring during regenerative fetal healing. As shown in this diagram, unique subsets of ECM molecules are associated with scarring versus regenerative healing. As such, therapeutic alteration of ECM composition may allow physicians to modulate healing to promote tissue regeneration. Additional therapeutic approaches may be generated upon further investigation into the importance of additional cell–ECM interactions in scarring and regenerative responses. *ED-A*, extra domain A; *TGF-1*, transforming growth factor-1.

### Adhesion and Migration

Fetal wounds, at least these relatively early in fetal development, heal without scarring, in contrast to most adult healing, which heals with at least some scarring [89]. One major difference between scarless fetal healing and adult healing is the lack of an inflammatory response before embryonic day (E)15–16 in mouse development, and the attenuated inflammatory response seen after E18 [7]. Indeed, the onset of scarring in fetal healing at later embryonic stages coincides with the substantial appearance of mast cells and neutrophils in fetal wounds [2,93,94]. Mast cells after E18 have much larger mast cell granules, which contain higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines that may then contribute to the increased inflammatory response after this stage of development [95]. This lack of neutrophils in early fetal wounds is also associated with the low expression of neutrophil adhesion molecules, decreasing extravasation coupled with low levels proinflammatory cytokines chemokines such as TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, and CXCL8, and increased levels of antiinflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 [96]. Experimental increases in IL-10 in adult wounds reduced inflammation and promoted regenerative healing, providing important evidence for the role of inflammation in the neutrophil recruitment and scarring present in adult wounds [89,96].

Scarless fetal wounds also differ from scarring adult wounds in cell–ECM interactions owing to differences in the composition of the ECM molecules, the timing of their appearance after wounding, and their duration in the wound area. One crucial ECM molecule in fetal wound healing is hyaluronan, which appears to be necessary for the regenerative response, because its removal from fetal wounds promotes a healing response more similar to that of adults, and treatment of normally scarring wounds or wound organ cultures with hyaluronan decreases scarring [97–99]. High–molecular weight hyaluronan is more abundant in fetal skin wounds than in adult wounds, where low–molecular weight hyaluronan is more abundant; the latter possibly results from increased hyaluronidase activity in adult wounds [2,83]. Fetal fibroblasts also express higher levels of the hyaluronan receptors CD44 and RHAMM after injury, thus increasing receptor–ligand interactions that promote fibroblast migration [98].

Tenascin C, fibronectin, and collagen levels also differ in adult and fetal wounds. Tenascin C is expressed at higher levels in fetal skin than in adult skin and is induced more rapidly and to a greater extent in fetal wounds, modulating cell adhesion to fibronectin and promoting migration within matrices containing fibronectin [27]. Fibronectin production increases more rapidly in fetal wounds, although the fibronectin produced does not contain the profibrotic EDA domains [2,27]. This increased expression of tenascin and fibronectin is associated with concomitant increases in the expression of integrins that serve as their receptors. In particular,  $\alpha_5$  subunit,  $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_3$ , and  $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_6$ integrins, which bind fibronectin and/or tenascin, are upregulated in the wounded fetal epithelium [100]. The combined rapid increases in fibronectin and tenascin, coupled with increased expression of their respective integrin receptors in epithelial cells, are likely important in facilitating cell migration and reepithelialization in fetal wounds. In contrast to the increased levels and/or rate of tenascin C and fibronectin production in fetal wounds, these wounds contain reduced levels of total collagen compared with adult wounds. However, fetal wounds contain a greater proportion of collagen III compared with collagen I than do their adult counterparts [84]. The observed changes in the collagen I/III ratio in fetal wounds and their relative lack of collagen deposition and fibrosis may result from changes in the deposition, organization, and cross-linking of collagen at the wound site or rapid turnover of these ECM components by protease-mediated degradation [84,98]. Related to increases in matrix turnover, fetal wounds have increased levels and activity of multiple MMPs, with decreased levels of their endogenous inhibitors, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases, ultimately promoting matrix degradation and turnover [84]. Not only does the resulting matrix degradation and turnover prevent fibrosis, it also likely facilitates cell migration by reducing matrix density and increases the generation of proteolytic matrix fragments that modulate various stages of wound repair.

### Proliferation

Increased levels of hyaluronan present during fetal wound healing likely decrease fetal fibroblast proliferation [101]. Fetal fibroblasts also exhibit decreased proliferation in response to growth factors compared with that of adult cells. For example, IGF-1, which induces ERK signaling, proliferation, and matrix synthesis in postnatal fibroblasts, induces proliferation to a much lesser extent and fails to induce significant ERK signaling or matrix synthesis in fetal fibroblasts [102]. Furthermore, whereas TGFβ1 induces proliferation in postnatal fibroblasts, it does not do so in fetal fibroblasts, possibly because of the ability of TGFβ1 to induce hyaluronan synthesis in fetal but not postnatal fibroblasts [103].

# Differentiation

Fetal wounds have a decreased number of myofibroblasts, which appear in the wounded site earlier and remain a shorter time than in adult wounds [89,98]. Fetal fibroblasts produce more type III collagen and less type I collagen than adult cells, and the diameter and organization of the fibrils in the fetal wound are comparable to unwounded skin, whereas those of the adult wound exhibit a disorganization indicative of scarring [98,104]. Adult wound tissue is stiffer than fetal tissue, likely resulting from increased collagen I levels in adult wounds, facilitating myofibroblast differentiation that depends on stiff collagen matrices [2]. In contrast, fetal wounds have a decreased number of myofibroblasts, which appear in the wounded site earlier and are more transient than in adult wounds [89,98]. The low number of myofibroblasts in fetal wounds may result, at least in part, from a lack of collagen matrix stiffness [83]. Because myofibroblasts are themselves responsible for much of the collagen I production and tissue contraction in adult wounds tissue, their relative absence in fetal wounds may be responsible for the reduced collagen I levels and lower contraction in fetal wounds [89].

Increased fetal hyaluronan may also prevent myofibroblast differentiation by increasing expression of TGFβ3, which is antifibrotic, in contrast to TGFβ1, which increases collagen I deposition and promotes scar formation [84,98]. Indeed, adult wounds treated with hyaluronan healed more rapidly with a significant decrease in TGFβ1 levels, which suggests that the large amounts of hyaluronan in fetal wounds may thus explain, at least partly, the greatly reduced levels of TGFβ1 in fetal wounds [83]. Downregulation of TGFβ1 in adult wounds produces a decrease in scarring similar to that observed with hyaluronan treatment, whereas addition of TGFβ1 to normally scarless fetal wounds induces a more scarring phenotype, with myofibroblast differentiation, wound contraction, and fibrosis [98,105]. Thus, hyaluronan-mediated inhibition of TGFβ1 expression may be critical in scarless fetal healing. The relatively small amount of TGFβ1 present during fetal wound healing may be regulated by inhibitory ECM molecules present in the injured area. One such inhibitor is the proteoglycan decorin, which is capable of binding TGFβ1 and preventing receptor activation and is expressed to a greater extent in fetal wounds than in adult wounds [2]. Decreased activity of this growth factor, combined with low levels of expression in fetal wounds, likely results in decreased fibrosis, myofibroblast differentiation, and wound contraction, leading to regeneration rather than scarring.

### Apoptosis

Less is known about the apoptotic process in fetal wounds than in adult wounds, which makes it difficult to compare cellular apoptosis under these conditions. An investigation of apoptotic induction at very early time points after wounding in both scarless (E15) and scar-forming (E18) fetal mouse wounds found lower apoptosis in scar-forming wounds than scarless wounds [106]. Some of these cells disappearing from scarless wounds may be myofibroblasts, because any myofibroblasts that differentiate from fetal fibroblasts, either in vivo or in vitro, disappear rapidly, perhaps owing to an altered rate of apoptosis in these wounds [106]. If changes in apoptotic efficiency indeed occur, they may result from the decreased contraction, and thus decreased mechanical tension, in fetal wounds, as well as altered collagen levels within the collagen matrix [7]. However, myofibroblasts may disappear from fetal wounds through dedifferentiation back to fibroblasts, which complicates the picture [89]. Perhaps apoptosis is not as critical in the healing of fetal wounds as in adult wounds, because leukocyte influx and myofibroblast differentiation appear to be minimal in fetal wounds, and thus may not require large numbers of cells to undergo apoptosis for regeneration to occur [7,89].

# IMPLICATIONS FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

One primary goal of studies comparing differences in cell–ECM interactions, and thus changes in signaling, that accompany regenerative and nonregenerative healing is to determine which types of interactions promote and which inhibit tissue regeneration (for an example, see Fig. 2.3). After elucidating the functions of particular interactions, it may be possible to increase the regenerative response through (1) the induction of proregenerative ECM molecules or signaling events in the wounded area combined with (2) the antagonism of antiregenerative–scarring interactions or signaling events using specific inhibitors. This discussion of regenerative medicine will focus on possible strategies to promote regeneration in adult scarring wounds, thus causing adult wounds to resemble more closely fetal scarless wounds. Such an increased regenerative response would be particularly useful in treating wounds that heal with increased scar formation, such as keloids and hypertrophic scars.

#### REFERENCES

Different types of approaches may be used to increase proregenerative ECM levels in the wounded area, including direct application of the matrix molecules themselves, the addition of agents that increase their expression, the addition of cells producing these types of ECM that have been prepared to minimize immunogenicity, the introduction of biomaterials modified to contain adhesive, proregenerative regions of these ECM molecules, or wound treatment with inhibitors of their proteolysis.

Several different ECM molecules are present at higher levels in fetal wounds than in adult wounds, including hyaluronan, tenascin, fibronectin, and collagen III, which may have important roles in the regeneration process [2,27,98]. Thus, altering the levels of these molecules in a scarring wound may improve regeneration. In keeping with the substantial evidence supporting a role for hyaluronan in scarless healing, multiple types of biomaterials currently used to promote healing incorporate hyaluronan in the presence or absence of other matrix molecules or various cell types, although the antiscarring outcomes of these biomaterials vary [107]. One potential reason for the observed variability lies in the rapid degradation of hyaluronan caused by hyaluronidase activity in vivo, and a biomaterial containing modified, more hyaluronidase-resistant hyaluronan mimics improved healing in multiple contexts [99]. Other biomaterials have been used with some success, including those with substantial amounts of collagen III and "natural" scaffolds containing multiple matrix molecules and proteoglycans [99,108]. Combinations of hyaluronan with other matrix molecules, including tenascin, embryonic fibronectin, and/or collagen III, should mimic the fetal wound environment better and may lead to more regenerative healing. Alternatively, various matrix scaffolds could be combined with growth factors that promote healing and reduce scarring, using the matrix molecules to deliver growth factor more effectively to the wound and thereby better facilitate a regenerative response [76]. Alterations in the biomaterial formulation, such as adding molecules that bind and release growth factors or engineering growth factors that associate more effectively with biomaterials, could regulate the timing of growth factor release, allowing their release over a relatively long period to promote more effective healing [76]. These or other biomaterials may be useful for the delivery of proregenerative ECM molecules and/or growth factors to the injured area, thereby promoting healing and reducing scar formation.

When attempting to promote regeneration, it is also imperative to inhibit events associated with scarring, including excessive ECM deposition, fibrosis, and contraction. During the adult healing process, these scarassociated processes are primarily controlled by the myofibroblast, a differentiated cell type that arises during the adult healing process, but which is largely absent throughout fetal wound healing. Therefore, inhibition of myofibroblast differentiation or function in combination with the addition of proregenerative molecules may facilitate a stronger regenerative response. Inhibition of differentiation could be accomplished by blocking factors that normally stimulate myofibroblast differentiation, such as TGF $\beta$ 1 and CXCL8, by preventing fibroblast–ECM interactions that facilitate myofibroblast differentiation, such as EDA-containing fibronectin, and by the delivery of antifibrotic molecules such as TGF $\beta$ 3 and IL-10 [84,85,96]. It is also possible that the application of one molecule may promote more regenerative healing by affecting multiple parts of the healing process. For example, insulin interaction with its receptor affects multiple aspects of keratinocyte behavior, stimulating cell motility, increasing expression of the cell surface adhesion molecule integrin  $\alpha_3$ , enhancing secretion of the ECM molecule laminin-332, and improving epidermal differentiation during wound healing [109]. Furthermore, we have shown that insulin stimulates the formation of regenerative rather than scarring matrix [110].

The surge in research regarding ECM molecules themselves and their interactions with particular cells and cell surface receptors has led to the realization that such interactions are many and complex, and that they are of the utmost importance in determining cell behavior during events such as wound repair and tissue regeneration. Therefore, the manipulation of specific cell–ECM interactions has the potential to modulate particular aspects of the repair process and thereby promote a regenerative response.

# Acknowledgments

We thank acgdesign.com for the construction of the figures presented in this article.

# References

- Bhat R, Bissell MJ. Of plasticity and specificity: dialectics of the microenvironment and macroenvironment and the organ phenotype. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol March–April 2014;3(2):147–63. PMID:24719287.
- Wells A, Nuschke A, Yates CC. Skin tissue repair: matrix microenvironmental influences. Matrix Biol January 2016;49:25–36. PMID: 26278492. PMCID:PMC4753148.
- [3] Bateman JF, Boot-Handford RP, Lamande SR. Genetic diseases of connective tissues: cellular and extracellular effects of ECM mutations. Nat Rev Genet March 2009;10(3):173-83. PMID:19204719.

- [4] Ricard-Blum S, Vallet SD. Proteases decode the extracellular matrix cryptome. Biochimie March 2016;122:300-13. PMID:26382969.
- [5] White ES, Muro AF. Fibronectin splice variants: understanding their multiple roles in health and disease using engineered mouse models. IUBMB Life July 2011;63(7):538–46. PMID:21698758. Epub 2011/06/24. eng.
- [6] Theocharis AD, Skandalis SS, Gialeli C, Karamanos NK. Extracellular matrix structure. Adv Drug Deliv Rev February 1, 2016;97:4–27. PMID:26562801.
- [7] Balaji S, Watson CL, Ranjan R, King A, Bollyky PL, Keswani SG. Chemokine involvement in fetal and adult wound healing. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) November 1, 2015;4(11):[660]–[672]. PMID:26543680. PMCID:PMC4620532.
- [8] Hynes RO. The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. Science November 27, 2009;326(5957):1216-9. PMID:19965464. Epub 2009/12/08. eng.
- [9] Vempati P, Popel AS, Mac Gabhann F. Extracellular regulation of VEGF: isoforms, proteolysis, and vascular patterning. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev February 2014;25(1):1–19. PMID:24332926. PMCID:PMC3977708.
- [10] Poluzzi C, Iozzo RV, Schaefer L. Endostatin and endorepellin: a common route of action for similar angiostatic cancer avengers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev February 1, 2016;97:156–73. PMID:26518982. PMCID:PMC4753091.
- [11] Higashiyama S, Iwabuki H, Morimoto C, Hieda M, Inoue H, Matsushita N. Membrane-anchored growth factors, the epidermal growth factor family: beyond receptor ligands. Cancer Sci February 2008;99(2):214–20. PMID:18271917.
- [12] Grahovac J, Wells A. Matrikine and matricellular regulators of EGF receptor signaling on cancer cell migration and invasion. Lab Invest January 2014;94(1):31–40. PMID:24247562. PMCID:PMC4038324.
- [12a] Bernfield MR, Cohn RH, Banerjee SD. Glycosaminoglycans and epithelial organ formation. Amer. Zool 1973;13:1067-83.
- [13] Hynes RO. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell September 20, 2002;110(6):673-87. PMID:12297042.
- [14] Humphries JD, Paul NR, Humphries MJ, Morgan MR. Emerging properties of adhesion complexes: what are they and what do they do? Trends Cell Biol July 2015;25(7):388–97. PMID:25824971.
- [15] Weis SM, Cheresh DA. Tumor angiogenesis: molecular pathways and therapeutic targets. Nat Med November 07, 2011;17(11):1359–70. PMID:22064426.
- [16] Choi Y, Chung H, Jung H, Couchman JR, Oh ES. Syndecans as cell surface receptors: unique structure equates with functional diversity. Matrix Biol March 2011;30(2):93–9. PMID:21062643. Epub 2010/11/11. eng.
- [17] Cheng B, Montmasson M, Terradot L, Rousselle P. Syndecans as cell surface receptors in cancer biology. A focus on their interaction with PDZ domain proteins. Front Pharmacol 2016;7:10. PMID:26869927. PMCID:PMC4735372.
- [18] Maytin EV. Hyaluronan: more than just a wrinkle filler. Glycobiology June 2016;26(6):553-9. PMID:26964566. PMCID:PMC4847620.
- [19] Misra S, Hascall VC, Markwald RR, Ghatak S. Interactions between hyaluronan and its receptors (CD44, RHAMM) regulate the activities of inflammation and cancer. Front Immunol 2015;6:201. PMID:25999946. PMCID:PMC4422082.
- [20] Moroy G, Ostuni A, Pepe A, Tamburro AM, Alix AJ, Hery-Huynh S. A proposed interaction mechanism between elastin-derived peptides and the elastin/laminin receptor-binding domain. Proteins August 1, 2009;76(2):461–76. PMID:19241470. Epub 2009/02/26. eng.
- [21] Nergiz-Unal R, Rademakers T, Cosemans JM, Heemskerk JW. CD36 as a multiple-ligand signaling receptor in atherothrombosis. Cardiovasc Hematol Agents Med Chem January 2011;9(1):42–55. PMID:20939828. Epub 2010/10/14. eng.
- [22] Mongiat M, Andreuzzi E, Tarticchio G, Paulitti A. Extracellular matrix, a hard player in angiogenesis. Int J Mol Sci November 01, 2016;(11): 17. PMID:27809279.
- [23] Giblin SP, Midwood KS. Tenascin-C: form versus function. Cell Adh Migr 2015;9(1-2):48-82. PMID:25482829. PMCID:PMC4422809.
- [24] Bonnans C, Chou J, Werb Z. Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol December 2014;15(12): 786-801. PMID:25415508. PMCID:PMC4316204.
- [25] Rammal H, Saby C, Magnien K, Van-Gulick L, Garnotel R, Buache E, et al. Discoidin domain receptors: potential actors and targets in cancer. Front Pharmacol 2016;7:55. PMID:27014069. PMCID:PMC4789497.
- [26] Marquez J, Olaso E. Role of discoidin domain receptor 2 in wound healing. Histol Histopathol November 2014;29(11):1355–64. PMID: 24781958.
- [27] Koivisto L, Heino J, Hakkinen L, Larjava H. Integrins in wound healing. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) December 01, 2014;3(12):762–83. PMID:25493210. PMCID:PMC4250945.
- [28] Tai YL, Chen LC, Shen TL. Emerging roles of focal adhesion kinase in cancer. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:690690. PMID:25918719. PMCID: PMC4396139.
- [29] Seong J, Tajik A, Sun J, Guan JL, Humphries MJ, Craig SE, et al. Distinct biophysical mechanisms of focal adhesion kinase mechanoactivation by different extracellular matrix proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA November 26, 2013;110(48):19372–7. PMID:24222685. PMCID: PMC3845171.
- [30] Wu JC, Chen YC, Kuo CT, Wenshin Yu H, Chen YQ, Chiou A, et al. Focal adhesion kinase-dependent focal adhesion recruitment of SH2 domains directs SRC into focal adhesions to regulate cell adhesion and migration. Sci Rep December 18, 2015;5:18476. PMID:26681405. PMCID:PMC4683442.
- [31] Webb DJ, Donais K, Whitmore LA, Thomas SM, Turner CE, Parsons JT, et al. FAK-Src signalling through paxillin, ERK and MLCK regulates adhesion disassembly. Nat Cell Biol February 2004;6(2):154–61. PMID:14743221.
- [32] Zhao X, Guan JL. Focal adhesion kinase and its signaling pathways in cell migration and angiogenesis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev July 18, 2011; 63(8):610-5. PMID:21118706. PMCID:3132829. Epub 2010/12/02. eng.
- [33] Hagel M, George EL, Kim A, Tamimi R, Opitz SL, Turner CE, et al. The adaptor protein paxillin is essential for normal development in the mouse and is a critical transducer of fibronectin signaling. Mol Cell Biol February 2002;22(3):901–15. PMID:11784865.
- [34] Shih YP, Sun P, Wang A, Lo SH. Tensin1 positively regulates RhoA activity through its interaction with DLC1. Biochim Biophys Acta December 2015;1853(12):3258–65. PMID:26427649. PMCID:PMC4621260.
- [35] Izard T, Brown DT. Mechanisms and functions of vinculin interactions with phospholipids at cell adhesion sites. J Biol Chem February 05, 2016;291(6):2548-55. PMID:26728462. PMCID:PMC4742724.
- [36] Meenderink LM, Ryzhova LM, Donato DM, Gochberg DF, Kaverina I, Hanks SK. P130Cas Src-binding and substrate domains have distinct roles in sustaining focal adhesion disassembly and promoting cell migration. PLoS One October 18, 2010;5(10):e13412. PMID:20976150. PMCID:PMC2956669.

- [37] Deakin NO, Turner CE. Paxillin comes of age. J Cell Sci August 01, 2008;121(Pt 15):2435-44. PMID:18650496. PMCID:PMC2522309.
- [38] Lawson CD, Burridge K. The on-off relationship of Rho and Rac during integrin-mediated adhesion and cell migration. Small GTPases 2014; 5:e27958. PMID:24607953. PMCID:4114617.
- [39] Michael KE, Dumbauld DW, Burns KL, Hanks SK, Garcia AJ. Focal adhesion kinase modulates cell adhesion strengthening via integrin activation. Mol Biol Cell May 2009;20(9):2508–19. PMID:19297531. PMCID:2675629.
- [39a] Hamadi A, Deramaudt TB, Takeda K, Ronde P. Src activation and translocation from focal adhesions to membrane ruffles contribute to formation of new adhesion sites. Cell Mol Life Sci 2009;66(2):324–38.
- [40] Calderwood DA, Campbell ID, Critchley DR. Talins and kindlins: partners in integrin-mediated adhesion. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol August 2013;14(8):503–17. PMID:23860236. PMCID:4116690.
- [41] Rognoni E, Ruppert R, Fassler R. The kindlin family: functions, signaling properties and implications for human disease. J Cell Sci January 01, 2016;129(1):17–27. PMID:26729028.
- [42] Qu H, Tu Y, Guan JL, Xiao G, Wu C. Kindlin-2 tyrosine phosphorylation and interaction with Src serve as a regulatable switch in the integrin outside-in signaling circuit. J Biol Chem November 07, 2014;289(45):31001–13. PMID:25237194. PMCID:4223306.
- [43] Mahabeleshwar GH, Feng W, Reddy K, Plow EF, Byzova TV. Mechanisms of integrin-vascular endothelial growth factor receptor crossactivation in angiogenesis. Circ Res September 14, 2007;101(6):570–80. PMID:17641225. PMCID: 2723825.
- [44] Masson-Gadais B, Houle F, Laferriere J, Huot J. Integrin alphavbeta3, requirement for VEGFR2-mediated activation of SAPK2/p38 and for Hsp90-dependent phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase in endothelial cells activated by VEGF. Cell Stress Chaperones 2003;8(1):37–52. Spring. PMID:12820653. PMCID:514852.
- [45] Elfenbein A, Simons M. Syndecan-4 signaling at a glance. J Cell Sci September 01, 2013;126(Pt 17):3799-804. PMID:23970415. PMCID: 3757327.
- [46] Morgan MR, Humphries MJ, Bass MD. Synergistic control of cell adhesion by integrins and syndecans. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol December 2007;8(12):957–69. PMID:17971838. PMCID:3329926.
- [47] Petrey AC, de la Motte CA. Hyaluronan, a crucial regulator of inflammation. Front Immunol 2014;5:101. PMID:24653726. PMCID:3949149.
- [48] Orian-Rousseau V, Sleeman J. CD44 is a multidomain signaling platform that integrates extracellular matrix cues with growth factor and cytokine signals. Adv Canc Res 2014;123:231–54. PMID:25081532.
- [49] Tremmel M, Matzke A, Albrecht I, Laib AM, Olaku V, Ballmer-Hofer K, et al. A CD44v6 peptide reveals a role of CD44 in VEGFR-2 signaling and angiogenesis. Blood December 10, 2009;114(25):5236–44. PMID:19773544.
- [50] Antonicelli F, Bellon G, Lorimier S, Hornebeck W. Role of the elastin receptor complex (S-Gal/Cath-A/Neu-1) in skin repair and regeneration. Wound Repair Regen September–October 2009;17(5):631–8. PMID:19769716. Epub 2009/09/23. eng.
- [51] Scandolera A, Odoul L, Salesse S, Guillot A, Blaise S, Kawecki C, et al. The elastin receptor complex: a unique matricellular receptor with high anti-tumoral potential. Front Pharmacol 2016;7:32. PMID:26973522. PMCID:4777733.
- [52] Moreno-Layseca P, Streuli CH. Signalling pathways linking integrins with cell cycle progression. Matrix Biol February 2014;34:144–53. PMID:24184828.
- [53] Faraldo MM, Deugnier MA, Thiery JP, Glukhova MA. Growth defects induced by perturbation of beta1-integrin function in the mammary gland epithelium result from a lack of MAPK activation via the Shc and Akt pathways. EMBO Rep May 2001;2(5):431–7. PMID:11375936.
- [54] Gilmore AP, Metcalfe AD, Romer LH, Streuli CH. Integrin-mediated survival signals regulate the apoptotic function of Bax through its conformation and subcellular localization. J Cell Biol April 17, 2000;149(2):431–46. PMID: 10769034. PMCID:2175159.
- [55] Bouchard V, Harnois C, Demers MJ, Thibodeau S, Laquerre V, Gauthier R, et al. B1 integrin/Fak/Src signaling in intestinal epithelial crypt cell survival: integration of complex regulatory mechanisms. Apoptosis April 2008;13(4):531–42. PMID:18322799. Epub 2008/03/07. eng.
- [56] Zouq NK, Keeble JA, Lindsay J, Valentijn AJ, Zhang L, Mills D, et al. FAK engages multiple pathways to maintain survival of fibroblasts and epithelia: differential roles for paxillin and p130Cas. J Cell Sci February 1, 2009;122(Pt 3):357–67. PMID:19126677. PMCID:2724727. Epub 2009/01/08. eng.
- [57] Ivaska J, Heino J. Cooperation between integrins and growth factor receptors in signaling and endocytosis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol November 10, 2011;27:291–320. PMID:21663443. Epub 2011/06/15. eng.
- [58] Zhu JX, Goldoni S, Bix G, Owens RT, McQuillan DJ, Reed CC, et al. Decorin evokes protracted internalization and degradation of the epidermal growth factor receptor via caveolar endocytosis. J Biol Chem September 16, 2005;280(37):32468–79. PMID:15994311.
- [59] Koch S, Claesson-Welsh L. Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med July 2012; 2(7):a006502. PMID:22762016. PMCID:3385940.
- [60] Hood JD, Frausto R, Kiosses WB, Schwartz MA, Cheresh DA. Differential alphav integrin-mediated Ras-ERK signaling during two pathways of angiogenesis. J Cell Biol September 1, 2003;162(5):933–43. PMID:12952943. PMCID:2172815. Epub 2003/09/04. eng.
- [61] David-Raoudi M, Tranchepain F, Deschrevel B, Vincent JC, Bogdanowicz P, Boumediene K, et al. Differential effects of hyaluronan and its fragments on fibroblasts: relation to wound healing. Wound Repair Regen 2008 ;16(2):274–87. PMID:18282267.
- [62] Mochizuki S, Brassart B, Hinek A. Signaling pathways transduced through the elastin receptor facilitate proliferation of arterial smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem November 22, 2002;277(47):44854–63. PMID:12244048.
- [63] Hinek A, Bodnaruk TD, Bunda S, Wang Y, Liu K. Neuraminidase-1, a subunit of the cell surface elastin receptor, desialylates and functionally inactivates adjacent receptors interacting with the mitogenic growth factors PDGF-BB and IGF-2. Am J Pathol October 2008;173(4): 1042–56. PMID:18772331. PMCID:PMC2543072.
- [64] Watt FM, Fujiwara H. Cell-extracellular matrix interactions in normal and diseased skin. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol April 01, 2011;3(4). PMID:21441589. PMCID:PMC3062212.
- [65] Longmate WM, Dipersio CM. Integrin regulation of epidermal functions in wounds. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) March 01, 2014;3(3): 229–46. PMID:24669359. PMCID:PMC3955963.
- [66] Bourguignon LY. Matrix hyaluronan-activated CD44 signaling promotes keratinocyte activities and improves abnormal epidermal functions. Am J Pathol July 2014;184(7):1912–9. PMID:24819962. PMCID:PMC4076472.
- [67] Arnaoutova I, George J, Kleinman HK, Benton G. The endothelial cell tube formation assay on basement membrane turns 20: state of the science and the art. Angiogenesis 2009;12(3):267–74. PMID:19399631. Epub 2009/04/29. eng.

- [68] Iorio V, Troughton LD, Hamill KJ. Laminins: roles and utility in wound repair. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) April 01, 2015;4(4):250–63. PMID:25945287. PMCID:PMC4397997.
- [69] Simon-Assmann P, Orend G, Mammadova-Bach E, Spenle C, Lefebvre O. Role of laminins in physiological and pathological angiogenesis. Int J Dev Biol 2011;55(4–5):455–65. PMID:21858771. Epub 2011/08/23. eng.
- [70] Stratman AN, Davis GE. Endothelial cell-pericyte interactions stimulate basement membrane matrix assembly: influence on vascular tube remodeling, maturation, and stabilization. Microsc Microanal February 2012;18(1):68–80. PMID:22166617. PMCID:PMC3919655.
- [71] Senger DR, Davis GE. Angiogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol August 2011;3(8):a005090. PMID:21807843. Epub 2011/08/03. eng.
- [72] Graf RP, Keller N, Barbero S, Stupack D. Caspase-8 as a regulator of tumor cell motility. Curr Mol Med February 2014;14(2):246–54. PMID: 24467204. PMCID:4106798.
- [73] Cheresh DA, Stupack DG. Regulation of angiogenesis: apoptotic cues from the ECM. Oncogene October 20, 2008;27(48):6285–98. PMID: 18931694. Epub 2008/10/22. eng.
- [74] Somanath PR, Malinin NL, Byzova TV. Cooperation between integrin alphavbeta3 and VEGFR2 in angiogenesis. Angiogenesis 2009;12(2): 177-85. PMID:19267251. PMCID:2863048.
- [75] Versteeg HH, Heemskerk JW, Levi M, Reitsma PH. New fundamentals in hemostasis. Physiol Rev January 2013;93(1):327–58. PMID: 23303912.
- [76] Briquez PS, Hubbell JA, Martino MM. Extracellular matrix-inspired growth factor delivery systems for skin wound healing. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) August 01, 2015;4(8):479–89. PMID:26244104. PMCID:4505763.
- [77] Laurens N, Koolwijk P, de Maat MP. Fibrin structure and wound healing. J Thromb Haemost May 2006;4(5):932-9. PMID:16689737. Epub 2006/05/13. eng.
- [78] Kumar AV, Katakam SK, Urbanowitz AK, Gotte M. Heparan sulphate as a regulator of leukocyte recruitment in inflammation. Curr Protein Pept Sci 2015;16(1):77–86. PMID:25692849.
- [79] Wondimu Z, Geberhiwot T, Ingerpuu S, Juronen E, Xie X, Lindbom L, et al. An endothelial laminin isoform, laminin 8 (alpha4beta1gamma1), is secreted by blood neutrophils, promotes neutrophil migration and extravasation, and protects neutrophils from apoptosis. Blood September 15, 2004;104(6):1859–66. PMID:15172971.
- [80] Jawhara S, Pluskota E, Cao W, Plow EF, Soloviev DA. Distinct roles of integrins alphaXbeta2 and alphaMbeta2 on leukocyte subpopulations during inflammation and antimicrobial responses. Infect Immun October 31, 2016;85(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00644-16. PMID: 27799334.
- [81] Jennewein C, Tran N, Paulus P, Ellinghaus P, Eble JA, Zacharowski K. Novel aspects of fibrin(ogen) fragments during inflammation. Mol Med 2011 ;17(5–6):568–73. PMID:21210072. PMCID:3105136. Epub 2011/01/07. eng.
- [82] Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol March 2013;13(3):159–75. PMID:23435331.
- [83] Zgheib C, Xu J, Liechty KW. Targeting inflammatory cytokines and extracellular matrix composition to promote wound regeneration. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) April 01, 2014;3(4):344–55. PMID:24757589. PMCID:PMC3985537.
- [84] Xue M, Jackson CJ. Extracellular matrix reorganization during wound healing and its impact on Abnormal Scarring. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) March 01, 2015;4(3):119–36. PMID:25785236. PMCID:4352699.
- [85] Martins-Green M, Petreaca M, Wang L. Chemokines and their receptors are key players in the orchestra that regulates wound healing. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) September 2013;2(7):327–47. PMID:24587971. PMCID:PMC3842890.
- [86] Arroyo AG, Iruela-Arispe ML. Extracellular matrix, inflammation, and the angiogenic response. Cardiovasc Res May 1, 2010;86(2):226–35. PMID:20154066. PMCID:2856193. Epub 2010/02/16. eng.
- [87] Dawson RA, Goberdhan NJ, Freedlander E, MacNeil S. Influence of extracellular matrix proteins on human keratinocyte attachment, proliferation and transfer to a dermal wound model. Burns March 1996;22(2):93–100. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20150393. PMID:8634137.
- [88] Clark RA, McCoy GA, Folkvord JM, McPherson JM. TGF-beta 1 stimulates cultured human fibroblasts to proliferate and produce tissue-like fibroplasia: a fibronectin matrix-dependent event. J Cell Physiol January 1997;170(1):69–80. PMID:9012786.
- [89] Leavitt T, Hu MS, Marshall CD, Barnes LA, Lorenz HP, Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing: finding the right cells and signals. Cell Tissue Res September 2016;365(3):483–93. PMID:27256396. PMCID:PMC5010960.
- [89a] Desmouliere A, Redard M, Darby I, Gabbiani G. Apoptosis mediates the decrease in cellularity during the transition between granulation tissue and scar. Am J Pathol 1995;146(1):56–66.
- [90] Abraham S, Kogata N, Fassler R, Adams RH. Integrin beta1 subunit controls mural cell adhesion, spreading, and blood vessel wall stability. Circ Res March 14, 2008;102(5):562–70. PMID:18202311. Epub 2008/01/19. eng.
- [91] Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. Annu Rev Immunol 2012;30: 459–89. PMID:22224774.
- [92] Mayadas TN, Cullere X. Neutrophil beta2 integrins: moderators of life or death decisions. Trends Immunol July 2005;26(7):388–95. PMID: 15922663.
- [93] Wilgus TA, Wulff BC. The importance of mast cells in dermal scarring. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) April 01, 2014;3(4):356–65. PMID: 24757590. PMCID:3985512.
- [94] Wilgus TA, Roy S, McDaniel JC. Neutrophils and wound repair: positive actions and negative reactions. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) September 2013;2(7):379-88. PMID:24527354. PMCID:3763227.
- [95] Wulff BC, Parent AE, Meleski MA, DiPietro LA, Schrementi ME, Wilgus TA. Mast cells contribute to scar formation during fetal wound healing. J Invest Dermatol February 2012;132(2):458–65. PMID:21993557. PMCID:3258379.
- [96] King A, Balaji S, Le LD, Crombleholme TM, Keswani SG. Regenerative wound healing: the role of Interleukin-10. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) April 01, 2014;3(4):315–23. PMID:24757588. PMCID:3985521.
- [97] Mast BA, Haynes JH, Krummel TM, Diegelmann RF, Cohen IK. In vivo degradation of fetal wound hyaluronic acid results in increased fibroplasia, collagen deposition, and neovascularization. Plast Reconstr Surg March 1992;89(3):503-9. PMID:1371361.
- [98] Leung A, Crombleholme TM, Keswani SG. Fetal wound healing: implications for minimal scar formation. Curr Opin Pediatr June 2012;24(3): 371–8. PMID:22572760. PMCID:4528185.

- [99] Dickinson LE, Gerecht S. Engineered biopolymeric scaffolds for chronic wound healing. Front Physiol 2016;7:341. PMID:27547189. PMCID: 4975021.
- [100] Cass DL, Bullard KM, Sylvester KG, Yang EY, Sheppard D, Herlyn M, et al. Epidermal integrin expression is upregulated rapidly in human fetal wound repair. J Pediatr Surg February 1998;33(2):312–6. PMID:9498408.
- [101] Kishi K, Okabe K, Shimizu R, Kubota Y. Fetal skin possesses the ability to regenerate completely: complete regeneration of skin. Keio J Med 2012;61(4):101–8. PMID:23324304.
- [102] Rolfe KJ, Cambrey AD, Richardson J, Irvine LM, Grobbelaar AO, Linge C. Dermal fibroblasts derived from fetal and postnatal humans exhibit distinct responses to insulin like growth factors. BMC Dev Biol November 07, 2007;7:124. PMID:17988375. PMCID:2211318.
- [103] Carre AL, James AW, MacLeod L, Kong W, Kawai K, Longaker MT, et al. Interaction of wingless protein (Wnt), transforming growth factorbeta1, and hyaluronan production in fetal and postnatal fibroblasts. Plast Reconstr Surg January 2010;125(1):74–88. PMID:20048602.
- [104] Wilgus TA. Immune cells in the healing skin wound: influential players at each stage of repair. Pharmacol Res August 2008;58(2):112–6. PMID:18723091.
- [105] Cutroneo KR. TGF-beta-induced fibrosis and SMAD signaling: oligo decoys as natural therapeutics for inhibition of tissue fibrosis and scarring. Wound Repair Regen 2007 ;(Suppl. 1):S54–60. PMID:17727468.
- [106] Carter R, Sykes V, Lanning D. Scarless fetal mouse wound healing may initiate apoptosis through caspase 7 and cleavage of PARP. J Surg Res September 2009;156(1):74–9. PMID:19555972.
- [107] Banyard DA, Bourgeois JM, Widgerow AD, Evans GR. Regenerative biomaterials: a review. Plast Reconstr Surg June 2015;135(6):1740–8. PMID:26017603.
- [108] Turner NJ, Badylak SF. The use of biologic scaffolds in the treatment of chronic nonhealing wounds. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) August 01, 2015;4(8):490-500. PMID:26244105. PMCID:4505760.
- [109] Liu Y, Petreaca M, Yao M, Martins-Green M. Cell and molecular mechanisms of keratinocyte function stimulated by insulin during wound healing. BMC Cell Biol 2009;10:1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-10-1. PMID:19134226. PMCID:2631465. Epub 2009/01/13. eng.
- [110] Dhall S, Silva JP, Liu Y, Hrynyk M, Garcia M, Chan A, et al. Release of insulin from PLGA-alginate dressing stimulates regenerative healing of burn wounds in rats. Clin Sci December 2015;129(12):1115–29. PMID:26310669.

This page intentionally left blank

# Mechanisms of Blastema Formation and Growth in Regenerating Urodele Limbs

# David L. Stocum

Indiana University-Purdue University, Indianapolis, IN, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The limbs of larval and adult urodele amphibians are unique among tetrapod vertebrates in their ability to regenerate from any level of the limb after amputation. Limb regeneration can be divided into two major phases: (1) formation of a blastema that resembles the early embryonic limb bud and (2) blastema redevelopment, which involves growth and redifferentiation. Blastema formation refers in this chapter to events leading to the establishment of an accumulation of undifferentiated cells under a thickening of the distal wound epidermis, the apical epidermal cap (AEC). Pattern formation, in which the spatial relationships of the structures to be regenerated are determined and specified, is a process that spans both phases. The ability to form a blastema after amputation is what distinguishes the limbs of urodeles from those of anuran amphibians, reptiles, birds, and mammals, and is the primary focus of this chapter. Blastema formation is a reverse developmental process realized partly by cell dedifferentiation in tissues local to the amputation plane [1] and partly by a contribution of muscle stem cells [2].

Blastema development is similar to that of the embryonic limb bud, with one major exception: blastema cell proliferation depends on an interaction between the limb nerves and the AEC, whereas proliferation of embryonic limb bud cells relies on an epithelial—mesenchymal interaction among the counterpart of the AEC, the apical ectodermal ridge, and the subjacent mesenchymal cells. The musculoskeletal and skin tissues of the new limb parts derived from the blastema redifferentiate in continuity with their parent tissues, whereas blood vessels and nerves regenerate by extension from the cut ends of the preexisting blood vessels and axons, respectively. The growing blastema goes through several morphological/histological stages to attain a cone of cells that then broadens and initiates differentiation in proximal to distal and anterior to posterior directions, ending in distal bifurcations of the digits.

If we were able to understand why some animals such as urodele amphibians are able to form a regenerationcompetent blastema after amputation whereas others such as adult anurans, birds, and mammals are not, it might be possible to design chemical approaches to inducing blastema formation in human appendages. At the least, such knowledge might improve our ability to deal with nonamputational injuries to musculoskeletal, vascular, and neural tissues. With this in mind, I review here what is known about blastema formation in the regeneration-competent limbs of urodeles and compare it with blastema formation in the regeneration-deficient anuran, *Xenopus laevis*.

# **BLASTEMA FORMATION**

Blastema formation in regenerating urodele limbs can be subdivided into three phases: (1) hemostasis and reepithelialization, (2) histolysis and dedifferentiation, and (3) blastema cell migration and accumulation (Fig. 3.1). The latter two phases overlap with one another.



**FIGURE 3.1** (A) Diagram of phases and stages of regeneration after amputation of a urodele limb. The two *black lines* indicate the two major phases of regeneration (blastema formation and blastema redevelopment) and the stages of regeneration after amputation (AMP). *2FB, 3FB, 4FB,* finger bud stages; *AB*, accumulation blastema; *LB*, late bud; *MB*, medium bud. The *colored lines* indicate different subphases of blastema formation and redevelopment. *Blue,* pattern formation; *green,* blastema growth; *orange,* histolysis and dedifferentiation; *white,* hemostasis and reepithelialization; *yellow,* redifferentiation. (B) Longitudinal section of regenerating axolotl hindlimb 4 days after amputation through the midtibia-fibula. *Arrow* points to the thickening apical epidermal cap (AEC). The cartilage (C), muscle (M), and other tissues are breaking down in a region of histolysis and dedifferentiation (H/DD) under the wound epithelium. Magnification ×10, light green and iron hematoxylin stain. (C) Longitudinal section of regenerating the midtibia-fibula. An accumulation blastema (AB) has formed by the migration of dedifferentiated cells under the AEC. *Arrows* mark the junction between the accumulation blastema and the still-active region of histolysis and dedifferentiation proximal to it. magnification ×10, light green and iron hematoxylin stain.

# Hemostasis and Reepithelialization

After limb amputation or after making skin wounds in amphibians, vasoconstriction occurs and a thrombincatalyzed fibrin clot forms within seconds to protect the wound tissue and provide a temporary matrix from which repair or regeneration is initiated. An epithelium two to three cells thick covers the wound surface within 24 h after amputation, depending on limb size. The basal epidermal cells at the cut edge of the skin migrate as a sheet that is extended by mitosis of cells adjacent to the wound edges [3]. The fibrin clot contains significant amounts of fibronectin, which the epithelial sheet uses as a substrate for migration [4]. Within 2–3 days postamputation (dpa), the wound epidermis thickens to form the AEC.

The basal cells and gland cells of the wound epidermis/AEC have secretory functions, as evidenced by their more extensive endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi network [5]. WE3, 4, and 6 are three secretory-related antigens expressed specifically by dermal glands and wound epidermis/AEC [6]. Two other antigens, 9G1 [7] and NvKII [8], are also specific to the wound epidermis, but their functions are unknown.

The early wound epidermis has an important function in generating early signals for limb regeneration. Na<sup>+</sup> influx in the amputated newt limb and H<sup>+</sup> efflux in the amputated tail of *Xenopus* tadpoles generate ionic currents across the wound epidermis essential for regeneration. Na<sup>+</sup> influx is via sodium channels [9]. H<sup>+</sup> efflux in the amputated tail is driven by a plasma membrane adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) in the epidermal cells [10] and is likely to be important for urodele limb regeneration as well, given that a gene encoding a v-ATPase was the most abundant clone in a suppressive subtraction complementary DNA library made from 4-dpa regenerating limb tissue in the axolotl [11]. Drug-induced inhibition of either Na<sup>+</sup> or H<sup>+</sup> movements during the first 24 h or so after amputation results in failure of blastema formation [10,12].

Inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol (DAG) are the products of phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>), which in turn is derived from inositol. IP<sub>3</sub> synthase, a key enzyme for the synthesis of inositol from glucose-6-phosphate, is upregulated during blastema formation in regenerating axolotl limbs [13]. IP<sub>3</sub> stimulates a rise in cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> that results in the localization of protein kinase C (PKC) to the plasma membrane, where PKC is activated by DAG and regulates transcription [14]. During blastema formation, there is a general

downregulation of proteins involved in  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis, which suggests that  $IP_3$  might signal a rise in cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  in regenerating limbs to localize PKC to the plasma membrane [13]. Other studies have shown that  $IP_3$  is generated from PIP<sub>2</sub> within 30 s after amputation in newt limbs [15] and that PKC rises to a peak by the accumulation blastema stage [16]. How these early signals are linked to the next phase of blastema formation, histolysis, and dedifferentiation, is unknown.

### Histolysis and Dedifferentiation

Histolysis is the loss of tissue organization resulting from the enzymatic degradation of the extracellular matrix (ECM). Dedifferentiation is the reversal of a given state of differentiation to an earlier state via nuclear reprogramming and loss of specialized structure and function.

All of the tissues subjacent to the wound epidermis undergo intense histolysis (ECM degradation and tissue disorganization) for 1–2 mm, resulting in the liberation of fibroblasts, Schwann cells of the peripheral nerves, and skeletal cells [1]. Myofibers fragment at their cut ends and break up into mononucleate cells while releasing satellite cells (the stem cells that effect muscle regeneration). The liberated cells lose their phenotypic specializations and revert to mesenchymal-like cells with large nuclei and sparse cytoplasm that exhibit intense RNA and protein synthesis. Histolysis and dedifferentiation begin within 2–3 dpa in larval urodeles and within 4–5 days in adults.

### **Mechanisms of Histolysis**

Degradation of tissue ECM is achieved by acid hydrolases and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) [17]. Acid hydrolases identified in regenerating urodele limbs include cathepsin D, acid phosphatase, β-glucuronidase, carboxyl ester hydrolases, and *N*-acetyl-glucosaminidase. Osteoclasts are abundant in the region of histolysis, where they degrade bone matrix via hydrochloric acid, acid hydrolases, and MMPs. Upregulated MMPs include MMP-2 and -9 (gelatinases), and MMP-3/10a and 10b (stromelysins) [18]. Macrophages are a major source of MMPs, particularly MMP-9 [19]. The basal layer of the wound epidermis is a source of MMP-3/10a and 10b in the newt limb, as well as of a novel MMP with low homology to other MMPs [20]. These MMPs are responsible for maintaining contact between the wound epidermis and the underlying tissues by preventing reassembly of a basement membrane. Chondrocytes are a source of MMP-2 and -9 in the newt limb, and these enzymes diffuse outward from the degrading skeletal elements [20]. The importance of MMPs to histolysis, and the importance of histolysis to the success of regeneration, are underscored by the failure of blastema formation in amputated newt limbs treated with an inhibitor of MMPs (GM6001) [21].

Histolysis continues to contribute blastema cells until the medium bud stage; then it ceases owing to the activity of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) [18,22]. TIMP1 is upregulated during histolysis, when MMPs are at maximum levels, and exhibits spatial patterns of expression congruent with those of MMPs in the wound epidermis, proximal epidermis, and internal tissues undergoing disorganization.

### **Mechanisms of Dedifferentiation**

Dedifferentiation is a complex and poorly understood process involving epigenetic reprogramming that suppresses the transcription of differentiation genes, while activating transcription of genes associated with stemness, reduction of cell stress, and remodeling internal structure. Inhibition of these transcriptional changes by actinomycin D does not affect histolysis, but it prevents or retards dedifferentiation, leading to regenerative failure or delay [23]. This suggests that at least part of the proteases involved in histolysis are not regulated at the transcriptional level, but that proteins effecting dedifferentiation are thus regulated. Dedifferentiated cells express a more limb bud–like ECM in which the basement membrane is absent, type I collagen synthesis and accumulation are reduced, and fibronectin, tenascin, and hyaluronate accumulate [24–26].

The molecular details of transcriptional regulation during dedifferentiation are largely unknown. Degradation of the ECM by proteases would break contacts between ECM molecules and integrin receptors, leading to changes in cell shape and reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton that might activate epigenetic reprogramming. Stemness genes upregulated during blastema formation are *msx1*, *nrad*, *rfrng*, and *notch* [17]. *Msx1* inhibits myogenesis [27] and its forced expression in mouse myotubes causes cellularization and reduced expression of muscle regulatory proteins [28]. Inhibition of *msx1* expression in cultured newt myofibers by anti-*msx* morpholinos prevents their cellularization [29]. Newt regeneration blastema extract stimulates mouse myonuclei to reenter the cell cycle, cellularize, and reduce their expression of muscle regulatory proteins [30]. *Nrad* expression is correlated with muscle

#### 3. BLASTEMA FORMATION AND GROWTH

dedifferentiation [31], and *Notch* is a major mediator of stem cell self-renewal [32]. A micro-RNA gene regulatory circuit has been identified in regenerating axolotl limbs and fish fins [33].

Three of the six transcription factor genes (*klf4*, *sox2*, and *c-myc*) used to reprogram mammalian adult somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) [34,35] are upregulated during blastema formation in regenerating newt limbs, and also during lens regeneration [36]. The Lin 28 protein, the product of a fourth transcription factor gene used to derive iPSCs [35], also is upregulated during blastema formation in regenerating axolotl limbs [13]. Thus, transcription factors that reprogram fibroblasts to iPSCs may also gave a role in nuclear reprogramming during limb regeneration. The further molecular characterization of transcription factors, micro-RNAs, and changes in epigenetic marks via chromatin-modifying enzymes will be crucial for understanding the mechanism of dedifferentiation in regenerating amphibian limbs.

The differential regulation of pathways that protect cells from stress and apoptosis also have a role in dedifferentiation. Proteomic analysis suggests that reduced metabolic activity, upregulation of pathways that accelerate protein folding or eliminate unfolded proteins (the unfolded protein response), and differential regulation of apoptotic pathways may largely prevent apoptosis [13], which is known to be minimal in regenerating limbs [37,38]. This idea is consistent with other studies on cultured chondrocytes,  $\beta$  cells, and Muller glia cells of the retina showing that cells dedifferentiate as part of a mechanism to combat apoptotic cell stress [13].

The molecular details of internal cellular remodeling are poorly understood. Dismantling of the phenotypic structure and function is most visible in myofibers, but the molecular details of the process are largely uninvestigated for any limb cell type. Two small molecules, one a trisubstituted purine called myoseverin and the other a disubstituted purine dubbed reversine, have been screened from combinatorial chemical libraries and have been found to cause cellularization of C2C12 mouse myofibers [39,40]. Myoseverin disrupts microtubules and upregulates genes for growth factors, immunomodulatory molecules, ECM remodeling proteases, and stress-response genes, which is consistent with the activation of pathways involved in wound healing and regeneration, but it does not activate the whole program of myogenic dedifferentiation in newt limbs [41]. Reversine treatment of C2C12 myotubes resulted in mononucleate cells that behaved like mesenchymal stem cells, i.e., they were able to differentiate in vitro into osteoblasts and adipocytes as well as muscle cells [42]. Myoseverin and reversine might be useful in analyzing the events of structural remodeling, and may have natural counterparts that can be isolated.

## Differential Tissue Contributions to the Blastema

Individual tissues of the limb make differential contributions to the blastema. In the axolotl limb, dermal fibroblasts represent 19%, and chondrocytes 6%, of the cells present at the amputation surface [43]. Dermal fibroblasts contribute nearly half of the blastema cells; fibroblasts of the periosteum and myofiber/nerve sheath interstitial connective tissue, Schwann cells, and myogenic tissue contribute the rest. Experiments transplanting green fluorescent protein (GFP) cartilage into a limb wound induced the formation of a supernumerary limb, which suggests that chondrocytes make no contribution to the blastema [44]. Transplants of other GFP-labeled tissues have shown that the redifferentiation of blastema cells is largely lineage-specific, i.e., they are constrained to reproduce their parent cell types. The exception is connective tissue fibroblasts, which after dedifferentiation are able to transdifferentiate at high frequency into cartilage [45–47]. Lineage-restricted redifferentiation is also reflected in stably maintained histone methylation patterns of parent cells [48]. Thus, although transcription factors that reprogram fibroblasts to iPSCs have a role in nuclear reprogramming during limb regeneration, other factors clearly ensure that dedifferentiated cells reverse their transcription programs only far enough to attain a state that can respond to proliferation and patterning signals while maintaining their phenotypic memory of origin.

There are developmental and species differences in muscle contributions to the blastema. Muscle regenerates in larval and adult axolotl and larval newt limbs by Pax7<sup>+</sup> satellite cells, whereas in adult newts, muscle regenerates via fragmentation of the ends of cut myofibers and dedifferentiation of the resulting mononucleate cells [49,50]. Whether the switch from muscle regeneration via satellite cells in newt larvae to dedifferentiation of myofiber fragments in adults is all-or-none or gradual is unknown.

# Cell Cycling During Blastema Formation

Tritiated thymidine (<sup>3</sup>H-T) labeling studies have shown that cells of amputated urodele limbs initiate cell cycle entry coincident with their liberation by histolysis. The pulse-labeling index reaches 10–30% during formation of the accumulation blastema [51,52]. However, the mitotic index is low, between 0.1% and 0.7% (average of about 0.4%, or 4 in

### BLASTEMA FORMATION

1000 cells) in both *Ambystoma* larvae [53] and adult newt [54]. The low mitotic index during establishment of the accumulation blastema suggests that it forms primarily by accumulating dedifferentiated cells rather than their mitosis.

The fact that cells readily enter the cell cycle during formation of the accumulation blastema but divide only infrequently suggests that a large proportion of dedifferentiating cells arrest in  $G_2$  (M51). Further indirect evidence for  $G_2$ arrest is the strong upregulation of the ecotropic viral integration factor 5 (Evi5) throughout blastema formation in regenerating axolotl limbs [13]. Evi5 is a centrosomal protein that accumulates in the nucleus during early  $G_1$  in mammalian cells and prevents them from prematurely entering mitosis by stabilizing Emi1, a protein that inhibits cyclin A degradation by the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome [55]. At  $G_2$ , Emi1 and Evi5 are phosphorylated by Polo-like kinase 1 and targeted for ubiquitin-driven degradation, allowing the cell to enter mitosis. Thus, high levels of Evi5 during blastema formation may restrain cells from entering mitosis until they are fully dedifferentiated and present in enough numbers to form an accumulation blastema [13]. To test this hypothesis, it will first be necessary to determine the spatiotemporal expression pattern of Emi1 and Evi5. The hypothesis predicts that these proteins would be expressed at high levels in both wound epidermis and blastema mesenchyme, and that expression would decrease as the cells transited a normal cell cycle.

The signals that drive liberated cells to enter the cell cycle have been studied in detail in myofibers of the regenerating newt limb. Entry into the cell cycle of muscle-derived blastema cells appears to be initiated by the muscle LIM protein (MLP), a member of the MARCKS family that has a role in muscle differentiation [56]; whether MLP initiates cell cycle entry of blastema cells derived from other limb tissues is unknown. Progression through G1 and S in cultured newt and mouse myoblasts and newt myofibers is promoted by a thrombin-activated factor present in the serum of all vertebrates tested thus far, including mammals, that deactivates the Rb protein [57]. Mouse myofibers do not respond to this factor. Newt blastema extract promotes DNA synthesis in both newt and mouse myofibers [30], which suggests that mouse myofibers lack an essential signal pathway ingredient that is supplied by newt blastema extract but not by serum. Although the thrombin-activated protein is both necessary and sufficient to stimulate the entry of myonuclei into the cell cycle, it is not sufficient to drive them through mitosis, and myonuclei arrest in G<sub>2</sub>. Cell cycle reentry is independent of myofiber cellularization, because cell cycle–inhibited myofibers implanted into newt limb blastemas break up into mononucleate cells [58]. However, mitosis appears to require mononucleate cell status. The mechanism of myofiber fragmentation into single cells is not known, nor is it known whether the thrombin-activated protein is also necessary to drive cells such as dedifferentiating fibroblasts and Schwann cells into the cell cycle or whether this is a feature unique to myofibers. Biochemical evidence suggests that the thrombin-activated factor may be a potent growth factor required in very small amounts [57].

### Macrophages Have an Important Role in Blastema Formation

Macrophages of the innate immune system are important mediators of wound repair in mammals via their bactericidal and phagocytic activities and their secretion of growth factors and cytokines that modulate inflammation and initiate structural repair by fibroblasts [17]. Studies emphasize the importance of the immune system, particularly macrophages, for the events of blastema formation during urodele limb regeneration [59–61].

Proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines are upregulated during blastema formation in regenerating limbs of adult axolotls, coincident with a significant enrichment of macrophages, which produce both types of cytokines as well as MMPs. Macrophage depletion by liposome-encapsulated clodronate during blastema formation results in regenerative failure and scarring of the limb stump. The epidermis closes the wound but does not develop an AEC, and dermal scar tissue is interposed between the wound epidermis and underlying tissues [19]. By contrast, depletion after a blastema enters the growth phase only delays regeneration. These results suggest a central role for macrophages in resolving inflammation and the degradation of ECM. Macrophages have also been shown to have a role in removing senescent cells during urodele limb regeneration. In mammals, senescent cells accumulate in tissues with age. Few cells undergoing apoptosis are detected in regenerating urodele limbs [37]. Cell senescence is induced during blastema formation in regenerating urodele limbs, but senescent cells are cleared by macrophages and do not accumulate [62].

### Blastema Cell Migration and Accumulation

The AEC appears to direct the migration of blastema cells to aggregate beneath it [1]. This was shown by experiments in which shifting the position of the AEC laterally caused a corresponding shift in blastema cell accumulation, and transplantation of an additional AEC to the base of the blastema resulted in supernumerary blastema

### 3. BLASTEMA FORMATION AND GROWTH

formation. Nerve guidance of blastema cells to form eccentric blastemas appeared to be ruled out, because similar experiments on aneurogenic limbs resulted in eccentric blastema formation.

The redirected accumulation of blastema cells in these experiments results from the migration of the cells on adhesive substrates produced by the eccentric AEC. Transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ 1 is strongly upregulated during blastema formation in amputated axolotl limbs [63]. A target gene of TGF- $\beta$ 1 is fibronectin, a substrate molecule for cell migration that is highly expressed by basal cells of the wound epidermis during blastema formation [13,64]. Inhibition of TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression by the inhibitor of SMAD phosphorylation, SB-431542, reduces fibronectin expression and results in failure of blastema formation [63]; this suggests that fibronectin provided by the AEC provides directional guidance for blastema cells.

# **BLASTEMA GROWTH**

There are two synergistic requirements for cells of the accumulation blastema to break  $G_2$  arrest, enter mitosis, and proliferate. The first is the production of mitogens via an interaction of the AEC with nerve axons. The second is that cells of the accumulation blastema derived from opposite positions on the limb circumference must migrate toward one another and interact. Unless these two conditions, along with vascularization, are met, the accumulation blastema will not persist and will regress.

# The Apical Epidermal Cap–Nerve Interaction

Neither denervation at the time of amputation nor deprivation of wound epidermis prevents histolysis and formation of blastema cells, but the blastema cells do not persist [65]. The <sup>3</sup>H-T labeling index is the same as that of controls during formation of the accumulation blastema in both epidermis-free and denervated limbs, which suggests that neither the nerve nor the wound epidermis is required for DNA synthesis during this time [53,66–68].

The AEC of the accumulation blastema is invaded by sprouting sensory axons as it forms, whereas other sensory axons and motor axons make intimate contact with mesenchyme cells of the blastema [69]. Coincident with innervation of the AEC, the labeling and mitotic indices of the accumulation blastema rise as much as 10-fold (Fig. 3.2) and the blastema enters the phase of growth and patterning [51,52]. These increases do not take place in denervated or wound epidermis—deprived limbs. <sup>3</sup>H-T pulse labeling studies indicate that the final cycling fraction of blastema cells is between 92% and 96% in larvae and over 90% in adults [70,71]. These results are consistent with the idea that blastema formation results from cell migration and aggregation, not mitosis.



**FIGURE 3.2** Diagram of changes in tritiated thymidine (<sup>3</sup>H-T) labeling and mitotic index (MI) during blastema formation and growth, expressed as percentages of the total cell number on the ordinate. AB on the abscissa represents the accumulation blastema stage. The growth phase is to the right of the AB. (A) Before the accumulation blastema stage, the <sup>3</sup>H-T labeling index is the same in control (*green line*) and in epidermis-free and denervated limbs (both represented by the *red line*). These indices in deprived limbs fail to rise in concert with the controls during blastema growth and an accumulation blastema does not form. (B) Before the accumulation blastema stage, the basal mitotic index of controls (*green line*) and epidermis-free limbs (*red line*) are nearly identical, but the MI does not increase with the controls during blastema growth. In contrast, the MI in denervated limbs (*blue line*) does not achieve the basal level and remains near zero. An accumulation blastema does not form in either denervated or epidermis-free limbs.

### BLASTEMA GROWTH

When the growing blastema achieves a critical mass of cells, it becomes independent of the nerve for its differentiation and morphogenesis, but its individual cells remain nerve-dependent for mitosis [72,73]. Thus, a blastema denervated at the medium bud stage will form a morphologically normal but miniature regenerate owing to the lack of further mitosis. An established blastema mesenchyme stripped of its epidermis by chelation and denervated by implanting it in a dorsal fin tunnel such that its distal end becomes recovered by fin epidermis also forms a morphologically normal but miniature regenerate. Consistent with this result, the <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine labeling and mitotic indices of epidermis-free newt limb blastemas cultured in the presence of dorsal root ganglia are reduced three- to fourfold [74]. If the mesenchyme is implanted completely into the fin tunnel, however, a miniature regenerate forms that is distally truncated [75]. This result suggests that the AEC has a role in proximodistal (PD) patterning in addition to proliferation.

As in other vertebrate embryos, the amphibian limb bud requires signals from the AEC for outgrowth that are generated by a reciprocal interaction between mesenchyme and AEC. It becomes nerve-dependent for regeneration only after it has differentiated and become innervated [76]. Urodele limb buds rendered aneurogenic are AEC-dependent for growth but do not become nerve-dependent for regeneration [77,78], although this dependence can be instituted by allowing the limbs to become reinnervated [79]. These facts suggest a model for blastema growth in which the AEC supplies mitogens to subjacent blastema cells but requires factors supplied by the nerve to perform this function (Fig. 3.3).

If this model outlined is correct, putative AEC and nerve factors should meet several criteria, in addition, to being expressed by the AEC and nerves. For AEC candidates, these are expression of their receptor in the blastema mesenchyme, loss of AEC expression by denervation, and the ability to support regeneration of denervated or AECdeprived limbs to digit stages. Neural factors should be transported from nerve cell bodies along limb nerve axons to the AEC where they bind to their receptor, denervation should prevent blastema cell mitosis by abolishing AEC factors, and they should support regeneration to digit stages in denervated limbs.

Many factors expressed by the AEC stimulate blastema cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo. Fibroblast growth factor (Fgf)1, Fgf2, and the anterior gradient (AG) protein are expressed by the AEC in vivo [80,81], and mesenchymal cells express receptors for Fgfs and AG [81,82]. Fgf1 elevated the mitotic index of cultured blastema cells [83], and Fgf2 elevated the mitotic index of blastema cells in amputated limbs covered by full-thickness skin [84]. However, only two factors expressed by the AEC have been shown to be downregulated by denervation and to substitute for the nerve in supporting regeneration to digit stages. These are Fgf2 [85] and AG [81]. AG is involved in head development of the *Xenopus* embryo and has been the more thoroughly investigated of the two. It is strongly



FIGURE 3.3 Model of apical epidermal cap (AEC)-neural (N) interaction for mitotic growth of the blastema. The function of the AEC is to secrete mitogens into the subjacent blastema mesenchyme (mes) (green dashed line); this function depends on factors made by dorsal root ganglion neurons (solid yellow line). Dashed blue line indicates level of amputation.

### 3. BLASTEMA FORMATION AND GROWTH

expressed in Schwann cells insulating the axons of regenerating newt limbs at 5 and 8 dpa, when initial dedifferentiation is under way. By 10 dpa, AG expression shifts to the gland cells of the AEC, coincident with formation of the accumulation blastema. Denervation abolishes AG expression, indicating that it is induced by axons.

The AG gene supports regeneration to digit stages when electroporated into denervated newt limbs at 5 dpa. The receptor for AG is the blastema cell surface protein Prod1, a member of the Ly6 family of three-finger proteins anchored to the cell surface by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol linkage [86]. Conditioned medium of Cos7 cells transfected with the AG gene stimulates 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine incorporation into cultured blastema cells; this incorporation is blocked by antibodies to Prod1, which suggests that AG acts directly on blastema cells through Prod1 to stimulate proliferation [81]. The dependence on nerves for mitosis throughout blastema growth implies that this action is continuous, an implication that could be confirmed or refuted by examining expression patterns of AG in control and denervated limbs at successively later stages of blastema redevelopment. As would be predicted by the nerve—AEC model, AG is expressed in developing urodele limb buds and regenerating aneurogenic limbs [87]. Fgf2 expression in the AEC of aneurogenic limbs has not been examined.

Factors expressed by DRG neurons that promote blastema cell proliferation in vitro include transferrin, substance P, Fgf2, and glial growth factor 2 (Ggf-2) [17,88]. Ggf-2 was reported to rescue regeneration to digit stages in denervated axolotl limbs when injected intraperitoneally during blastema formation [89], but this has not been investigated further. New nerve factor candidates are combinations of Fgf8 and bone morphogenetic protein. Both are expressed in DRG neurons and are detectable in peripheral limb nerve axons [90]. Furthermore, they can substitute for the nerve in inducing a supernumerary limb [91].

# Interaction of Cells From Opposite Sides of the Limb Circumference

Blastema cells also fail to persist unless they are derived from opposite positions on the limb circumference and interact. This was shown by experiments in which the normally asymmetrical (anteroposterior [AP] or dorsoventral [DV]) skin of the newt limb was made symmetrical by rotating a longitudinal strip of skin 90 degrees, grafting it around the circumference of an irradiated limb, and then amputating through the strip [92]. This led to failure of blastema cell mitosis, which indicates that mitosis requires an interaction between blastema cells with opposite positional identities. Normal regeneration ensued, however, when this requirement was met by grafting short longitudinal skin strips from two or more opposite points of the circumference.

Lheureux [93] devised an experimental model to show the synergistic effect on mitosis of nerve-induced mitogen expression by the AEC with the interaction between cells of opposite positional identities. He made a wound on one side of an adult newt limb, deviated a nerve to the wound site, and juxtaposed a graft of skin from the opposite side of the limb to the skin of the wound. By themselves, nerve deviation or juxtaposing opposite positional identities resulted in the formation of blastema cells that failed to persist. Together, however, they stimulated the formation of a supernumerary blastema that grew and regenerated a complete limb. The Lheureux model was later used by another group to evoke supernumerary blastema formation in axolotl limbs under the name "Accessory Limb Model" [94]. Supernumerary limbs can be induced in the same way by reversing the AP or DV axis of the blastema with respect to the limb stump.



**FIGURE 3.4** Cross-section of axolotl stylopodium and result of injecting baculovirus constructs containing *Fgf8* under posterior skin and *Shh* under anterior skin, followed by wounding and nerve deviation. *Fgf8* and *Shh* substitute for anterior and posterior skin, respectively, in evoking supernumerary limb formation. *A*, anterior; *D*, dorsal; *P*, posterior; *V*, ventral.

### REFERENCES

The Lheureux system has been used to investigate several aspects of limb regeneration. One of these has been to define the signals passing between cells of opposite positional identity. Nacu et al. [95] injected the sonic hedgehog (*shh*) gene under anterior skin of the stylopodium and the *fgf8* gene under posterior skin using a baculoviral vector system (Fig. 3.4). Shh and Fgf8 have been implicated in AP patterning of the limb bud and regeneration blastema [96,97]. A wound was then created in the skin and a nerve deviated to the site. The gene transfections substituted for cells of opposite positional identity, which indicated that Shh and Fgf8 signal opposite cells to drive some aspect of mitosis. The AEC does not persist in the absence of polar juxtaposition, which suggests that proliferating blastema cells may also be essential for AEC maintenance.

Positional identity in the PD axis of the limb is associated with a proximal (low) to distal (high) gradient of cell adhesion [98–100]. Prod-1 is expressed in an opposite gradient; antibodies to Prod1, or its removal from the blastema cell surface by phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C inhibit the recognition of adhesive differentials between distal and proximal blastemas [86]. These results suggest that Prod-1 has a role in integrating mitosis with patterning through its AG ligand [101]. The PD segments of the regenerating limb appear to be specified in a proximal to distal direction [102], but how the positional identities reflected in cell surface adhesion are generated is not clear. There is evidence that PD patterning of the chick limb bud switches from an extrinsic signaling mechanism to an intrinsic timing mechanism that is reflected in intrinsic changes in cell affinities in the distal limb bud mesenchyme [103]. Whether blastema patterning uses a similar mechanism is unknown but would be worth investigating.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

AEC Apical epidermal cap
AG Anterior gradient
AP Anteroposterior
DRG Dorsal root ganglion
DV Dorsoventral
ECM Extracellular matrix
GFP Green fluorescent protein
IP<sub>3</sub> Inositol triphosphate
MMP Matrix metalloproteinase
PD Proximodistal
PKC Protein kinase C
Shh Sonic hedgehog
TIMP Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteases

### Glossary

Aneurogenic limb A limb that develops without innervation.
Blastema The collection of undifferentiated cells that forms after amputation of a limb.
Dedifferentiation The process by which differentiated cells revert to progenitor cells.
Fibroblastema A blastema composed of fibroblastic cells instead of dedifferentiated cells.
Growth factors Proteins that promote cell proliferation and differentiation.
Histolysis The breakdown of extracellular matrix to release cells.
Satellite cell The progenitor cells that regenerate injured muscle.
SMAD Proteins phosphorylated by activation of TGF-b/BMP receptors that participate in activating or repressing transcription.
Stem cell Undifferentiated cells that maintain or repair tissue structure.
Transdifferentiation The differentiation of one cell type into another cell type.

### Acknowledgments

Research from this laboratory was supported by the W.M. Keck Foundation and the US Army Research Office (Grant number W911NF07-10176).

# References

- Thornton CS. Amphibian limb regeneration. In: Brachet L, King TJ, editors. Advances in morphogenesis, vol. 7. New York: Academic Press; 1968. p. 205–44.
- [2] Morrison JI, Loof S, He P, Simon A. Salamander limb regeneration involves the activation of a multipotent skeletal muscle satellite cell population. J Cell Biol 2006;172(3):433-40.
- [3] Hay ED, Fischman DA. Origin of the blastema in regenerating limbs of the newt *Triturus viridescens*. An autoradiographic study using tritiated thymidine to follow cell proliferation and migration. Dev Biol 1961;3:26–59.
#### 3. BLASTEMA FORMATION AND GROWTH

- [4] Repesh LA, Furcht LP. Distribution of fibronectin in regenerating limbs of the adult newt Notophthalmus viridescens. Differentiation 1982;22: 125–31.
- [5] Singer M, Salpeter MM. Regeneration in vertebrates: the role of the wound epithelium in vertebrate regeneration. In: Zarrow M, editor. Growth in living systems. New York: Basic Books; 1961.
- [6] Tassava RA, Castilla M, Arsanto J-P, Thouveny Y. The wound epithelium of regenerating limbs of *Pleurodeles waltl* and *Notophthalmus viridescens*: studies with mAbs WE3 and WE4, phalloidin, and DNase 1. J Exp Zool 1993;267(2):180–7.
- [7] Onda H, Tassava RA. Expression of the 9G1 antigen in the apical cap of axolotl regenerates requires nerves and mesenchyme. J Exp Zool 1991;257(3):336–49.
- [8] Ferretti P, Brockes JP, Brown RA. A newt type II keratin restricted to normal and regenerating limbs and tails is responsive to retinoic acid. Development 1991;111(2):497–507.
- [9] Borgens RB, Vanable Jr JW, Jaffe LF. Bioelectricity and regeneration: large currents leave the stumps of regenerating newt limbs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1977;74(10):4528–32.
- [10] Adams DS, Masi A, Levin M. H<sup>+</sup> pump-dependent changes in membrane voltage are an early mechanism necessary and sufficient to induce *Xenopus* tail regeneration. Development 2007;134(7):1323–35.
- [11] Gorsic M, Majdic G, Komel R. Identification of differentially expressed genes in 4-day axolotl limb blastema by suppression subtractive hybridization. J Physiol Biochem 2008;64(1):37–50.
- [12] Jenkins LS, Duerstock BS, Borgens RB. Reduction of the current of injury leaving the amputation inhibits limb regeneration in the red spotted newt. Dev Biol 1996;178(2):251–62.
- [13] Rao N, Jhamb D, Milner DJ, Li B, Song F, Wang M, et al. Proteomic analysis of blastema formation in regenerating axolotl limbs. BMC Biol 2009;7:83.
- [14] Lodish H, Berk A, et al. Molecular cell biology. New York: Freeman, W.E. and Co; 2008.
- [15] Tsonis PA, English D, Mescher AL. Increased content of inositol phosphates in amputated limbs of axolotl larvae, and the effect of beryllium. J Exp Zool 1991;259:252–8.
- [16] Oudkhir M, Martelly I, Castagna M, Moraczewski J, Boilly B. Protein kinase C activity during limb regeneration of amphibians. In: Kiortsis V, Koussoulakos S, Wallace H, editors. Recent trends in regeneration research. New York: Plenum Press; 1989. p. 69–79.
- [17] Stocum DL. Regenerative biology and medicine. San Diego: Elsevier Inc.; 2012.
- [18] Santosh N, Windsor LJ, Mahmoudi BS, Li B, Zhang W, Chernoff EA, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase expression during blastema formation in regeneration-competent versus regeneration-deficient amphibian limbs. Dev Dynam 2011;240:1127–41.
- [19] Godwin JW, Pinto AR, Rosenthal NA. Macrophages are required for adult salamander limb regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013;110: 9415–20.
- [20] Kato T, Miyazaki K, Shimizu-Nishikawa K, Koshiba K, Obara M, Mishima HK, et al. Unique expression patterns of matrix metalloproteinases in regenerating newt limbs. Dev Dynam 2003;226(2):366-76.
- [21] Vinarsky V, Atkinson DL, Stevenson TJ, Keating MT, Odelberg SJ. Normal newt limb regeneration requires matrix metalloproteinase function. Dev Biol 2005;279(1):86–98.
- [22] Stevenson TJ, Vinarsky V. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1 regulates matrix metalloproteinase activity during newt limb regeneration. Dev Dynam 2006;235(3):606–16.
- [23] Carlson BM. Inhibition of limb regeneration in the axolotl after treatment of the skin with actinomycin D. Anat Rec 1969;163(3):389-401.
- [24] Gulati AK, Zalewski AA, Reddi AH. An immunofluorescent study of the distribution of fibronectin and laminin during limb regeneration in the adult newt. Dev Biol 1983;96(2):355–65.
- [25] Mescher AL, Munaim SI. Changes in the extracellular matrix and glycosaminoglycan synthesis during the initiation of regeneration in adult newt forelimbs. Anat Rec 1986;214(4):424–31.
- [26] Onda H, Poulin ML, Tassava RA, Chiu I-M. Characterization of a newt tenascin cDNA and localization of tenascin mRNA during newt limb regeneration by in situ hybridization. Dev Biol 1991;148(1):219–32.
- [27] Woloshin P, Song K, Degnin A, Killary DJ, Goldhamer DJ, Sassoon D, et al. MSX1 inhibits myoD expression in fibroblast x 10T1/2 cell hybrids. Cell 1995;82(4):611–20.
- [28] Odelberg SJ, Kollhoff A, Keating M. Dedifferentiation of mammalian myotubes induced by msx1. Cell 2000;103(7):1099-109.
- [29] Kumar A, Velloso CP, Imokawa Y, Brockes JP. The regenerative plasticity of isolated urodele myofibers and its dependence on MSX1. PLoS Biol 2004;2(8):E218.
- [30] McGann CJ, Odelberg SJ, Keating M. Mammalian myotube dedifferentiation induced by newt regeneration extract. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98(24):13699–704.
- [31] Shimizu-Nishikawa K, Tsuji S, Yoshizato K. Identification and characterization of newt rad (ras associated with diabetes), a gene specifically expressed in regenerating limb muscle. Dev Dynam 2001;220(1):74–86.
- [32] Lundkvist J, Lendahl U. Notch and the birth of glial cells. Trends Neurosci 2001;24(9):492-4.
- [33] King BL, Yin VP. A conserved micro RNA regulatory circuit is differentially controlled during limb/appendage regeneration. PLoS One 2016. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157196.
- [34] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131(5):861–72.
- [35] Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frans JL, Tian S, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318(5858):1917–20.
- [36] Maki N, Suetsugu-Maki R, Tarui H, Agata K, Del Rio Tsonis K, Tsonis PA. Expression of stem cell pluripotency factors during regeneration in newts. Dev Dynam 2009;238(6):1613–6.
- [37] Mescher A, White GW, Brokaw JJ. Apoptosis in regenerating and denervated, nonregenerating urodele forelimbs. Wound Repair Regen 2000;8(2):110-6.
- [38] Atkinson D, Stevenson TJ, Park EJ, Reidy MD, Milash B, Odelberg SJ. Cellular electroporation induces dedifferentiation in intact newt limbs. Dev Biol 2006;291(1):257–71.

#### 46

- [39] Rosania GR, Chang YT, Perez O, Schultz PG. Myoseverin, a microtubule-binding molecule with novel cellular effects. Nat Biotechnol 2000; 18(3):304–8.
- [40] Chen S, Zhang Q, Wu X, Schultz PG, Ding S. Dedifferentiation of lineage-committed cells by a small molecule. J Am Chem Soc 2004;126(2): 410–1.
- [41] Duckmanton A, Kumar A, Chang YT, Brockes JP. A single-cell analysis of myogenic dedifferentiation induced by small molecules. Chem Biol 2005;12(10):1117–26.
- [42] Anastasia L, Sampaolesi M, Papini N, Oleari D, Lamorte G, Tringali C, et al. Reversine-treated fibroblasts acquire myogenic competence in vitro and in regenerating skeletal muscle. Cell Death Differ 2006;13(12):2042–51.
- [43] Muneoka K, Fox WF, Bryant SV. Cellular contribution from dermis and cartilage to the regenerating limb blastema in axolotls. Dev Biol 1986; 116(1):256–60.
- [44] McCusker CD, Diaz-Castillo C, Sosnik J, Phan A, Gardiner DM. Cartilage and bone cells do not participate in skeletal regeneration in Ambystoma mexicanum limbs. Dev Biol 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.05.032.
- [45] Steen TP. Stability of chondrocyte differentiation and contribution of muscle to cartilage during limb regeneration in the axolotl (Siredon mexicanum). J Exp Zool 1968;167(1):49–78.
- [46] Namenwirth M. The inheritance of cell differentiation during limb regeneration in the axolotl. Dev Biol 1974;41(1):42-56.
- [47] Kragl M, Knapp D, Nacu E, Khattak S, Maden M, Epperlein HH, et al. Cells keep a memory of their tissue origin during axolotl limb regeneration. Nature 2009;460(7251):60–5.
- [48] Hayashi S, Kawaguchi A, et al. Epigenetic modification maintains intrinsic limb-cell identity in *Xenopus* limb bud regeneration. Dev Biol 2015;406(20):271–82.
- [49] Sandoval-Guzman T, Wang H, Khattak S, Schuez M, Roensch K, Nacu E, et al. Fundamental differences in dedifferentiation and stem cell recruitment during skeletal muscle regeneration in two salamander species. Cell Stem Cell 2014;14:174–87.
- [50] Tanaka HV, Ng NCY, Zhan YY, Casco-Robles MM, Maruo F, Tsonis PA, et al. A developmentally regulated switch from stem cells to dedifferentiation for limb muscle regeneration in newts. Nat Commun 2016;7:11069. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11069.
- [51] Mescher AL, Tassava RA. Denervation effects on DNA replication and mitosis during the initiation of limb regeneration in adult newts. Dev Biol 1975;44(1):187–97.
- [52] Loyd RM, Tassava RA. DNA synthesis and mitosis in adult newt limbs following amputation and insertion into the body cavity. J Exp Zool 1980;214(1):61–9.
- [53] Kelly DJ, Tassava RA. Cell division and ribonucleic acid synthesis during the initiation of limb regeneration in larval axolotls (Ambystoma mexicanum). J Exp Zool 1973;185(1):45–54.
- [54] Mescher AL. Effects on adult newt limb regeneration of partial and complete skin flaps over the amputation surface. J Exp Zool 1976;195(1): 117–28.
- [55] Eldridge AG, Loktev AV, Hansen D, Verschuren EW, Reimann JD, Jackson PK. The evi5 oncogene regulates cyclin accumulation by stabilizing the anaphase-promoting complex inhibitor emi1. Cell 2006;124(2):367–80.
- [56] Sugiura T, Wang H, Barsacchi R, Simon A, Tanaka EM. MARCKS-like protein is an initiating molecule in axolotl appendage regeneration. Nature 2016;531:237–40.
- [57] Straube WL, Tanaka EM. Reversibility of the differentiated state: regeneration in amphibians. Artif Organs 2006;30(10):743-55.
- [58] Velloso CP, Simon A, Tanaka EM, Brockes JP. Mammalian postmitotic nuclei reenter the cell cycle after serum stimulation in newt/mouse hybrid myotubes. Curr Biol 2001;11(11):855–8.
- [59] Godwin JW, Brockes JP. Regeneration, tissue injury and the immune response. J Anat 2006;209(4):423-32.
- [60] Godwin JW, Rosenthal N. Scar-free wound healing and regeneration in amphibians: immunological influences on regenerative success. Differentiation 2014;87(1):66–75.
- [61] Mescher AL, Neff AW, King MW. Inflammation and immunity in organ regeneration. Dev Comp Immunol 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.dci.2016.02.015.
- [62] Yun MH, Davaapil H, et al. Recurrent turnover of senescent cells during regeneration of a complex structure. eLife 2015;4:e05505.
- [63] Hutchison C, Pilote M, Roy S. The axolotl limb: a model for bone development, regeneration and fracture healing. Bone 2007;40(1):45–56.[64] Christensen RN, Tassava RA. Apical epithelial cap morphology and fibronectin gene expression in regenerating axolotl limbs. Dev Dynam
- 2000;217:216-24.
- [65] Stocum DL. Wound repair, regeneration and artificial tissues. Austin, TX: RG Landes Co; 1995.
- [66] Tassava RA, Bennett LL, Zitnik GD. DNA synthesis without mitosis in amputated denervated forelimbs of larval axolotls. J Exp Zool 1974; 190(1):111–6.
- [67] Tassava RA, Mescher AL. Mitotic activity and nucleic acid precursor incorporation in denervated and innervated limb stumps of axolotl larvae. J Exp Zool 1976;195(2):253–62.
- [68] Tassava RA, Garling DJ. Regenerative responses in larval axolotl limbs with skin grafts over the amputation surface. J Exp Zool 1979;208(1): 97–110.
- [69] Lentz TL. Fine structure of nerves in the regenerating limb of the newt Triturus. Am J Anat 1967;121(3):647-69.
- [70] Tomlinson B, Goldhamer DJ, Barger PM, Tassava RA. Punctuated cell cycling in the regeneration blastema of urodele amphibians: an hypothesis. Differentiation 1985;28(3):195–9.
- [71] Goldhamer DJ, Tassava RA. An analysis of proliferative activity in innervated and denervated forelimb regenerates of the newt, Notophthalmus viridescens. Development 1987;100:619–28.
- [72] Schotte OE, Butler EG. Phases in regeneration of the urodele limb and their dependence upon the nervous system. J Exp Zool 1944;97(2): 95–121.
- [73] Singer M, Craven L. The growth and morphogenesis of the regenerating forelimb of adult *Triturus* following denervation at various stages of development. J Exp Zool 1948;108(2):279–308.
- [74] Globus M, Vethamany-Globus S, Lee YCL. Effect of apical epidermal cap on mitotic cycle and cartilage differentiation in regeneration blastemata in the newt, *Notophthalmus viridescens*. Dev Biol 1980;75(2):358–72.

#### 48

#### 3. BLASTEMA FORMATION AND GROWTH

- [75] Stocum DL, Dearlove GE. Epidermal-mesodermal interaction during morphogenesis of the limb regeneration blastema in larval salamanders. J Exp Zool 1972;181:49–61.
- [76] Fekete DM, Brockes JP. A monoclonal antibody detects a difference in the cellular composition of developing and regenerating limbs of newts. Development 1987;99(4):589-602.
- [77] Yntema CL. Blastema formation in sparsely innervated and aneurogenic forelimbs of amblystoma larvae. J Exp Zool 1959;142:423–39.
- [78] Yntema CL. Regeneration in sparsely innervated and aneurogenic forelimbs of Amblystoma larvae. J Exp Zool 1959;140:101–23.
- [79] Thornton CS, Thornton MT. Recuperation of regeneration in denervated limbs of Ambystoma larvae. J Exp Zool 1970;173:293-301.
- [80] Christensen RN, Weinstein M, Tassava RA. Fibroblast growth factors in regenerating limbs of Ambystoma: cloning and semi-quantitative RT-PCR expression studies. J Exp Zool 2001;290:529–40.
- [81] Kumar A, Godwin JW, Gates PB, Garza-Garcia AA, Brockes JP. Molecular basis for the nerve dependence of limb regeneration in an adult vertebrate. Science 2007;318(5851):772–7.
- [82] Poulin ML, Patrie KM, Botelho MJ, Tassava RA, Chiu IM. Heterogeneity in the expression of fibroblast growth factor receptors during limb regeneration in newts (*Notophthalmus viridescens*). Development 1993;119(2):353–61.
- [83] Albert P, Boilly B, Courty J, Barritault D. Stimulation in cell culture of mesenchymal cells of newt limb blastemas by EDGF I or II (basic or acidic FGF). Cell Differ 1987;21(1):63–8.
- [84] Chew KE, Cameron JA. Increase in mitotic activity of regenerating axolotl limbs by growth factor-impregnated implants. J Exp Zool 1983; 226(2):325–9.
- [85] Mullen LM, Bryant SV, Torok MA, Blumberg B, Gardiner DM. Nerve dependency of regeneration: the role of distal-less and FGF signaling in amphibian limb regeneration. Development 1996;122(11):3487–97.
- [86] Morais da Silva SM, Gates PB, Brockes JP. The newt ortholog of CD59 is implicated in proximodistal identity during amphibian limb regeneration. Dev Cell 2002;3(4):547–55.
- [87] Kumar A, Delgado J-P, Gates PB, Forge A, Brockes JP. The aneurogenic limb identifies developmental cell interactions underlying vertebrate limb regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108:13588–93.
- [88] Mescher AL. The cellular basis of regeneration in urodeles. Int J Dev Biol 1996;40:785-95.
- [89] Wang L, Marchionni MA, Tassava RA. Cloning and neuronal expression of a type III newt neuregulin and rescue of denervated, nervedependent newt limb blastemas by rhGGF2. J Neurobiol 2000;43(2):150–8.
- [90] Satoh A, Makanae A, Hirata A, Satou Y. FGF and BMP derived from dorsal root ganglia regulate blastema induction in limb regeneration in *Ambystoma mexicanum*. Dev Biol 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/ydbio.2016.07.005.
- [91] Makanae A, Mitogawa K, Satoh A. Co-operative Bmp-and Fgf-signaling inputs convert skin wound healing to limb formation in urodele amphibians. Dev Biol 2014;396:57–66.
- [92] Lheureux E. Regeneration des membres irradies de Pleurodeles waltlii Michah. (Urodele). Influence des qualités et orientations des greffons non irradies. Wilhelm Roux Arch Dev Biol 1975;176:303–27.
- [93] Lheureux E. Importance des associations de tissus du member dans le developpement des membres supernumeraires induits par deviation de nerf chez le Triton *Pleurodelees waltii* Micah. J Embryol Exp Morphol 1977;38:151–73.
- [94] Endo T, Bryant SV, Gardiner DM. A stepwise model system for limb regeneration. Dev Biol 2004;270:135-45.
- [95] Nacu E, Gromberg E, Oliveira CR, Dreschel D, Tanaka E. FGF8 and SHH substitute for anterior-posterior tissue interactions to induce limb regeneration. Nature 2016;533:407–10.
- [96] Imokawa Y, Yoshizato K. Expression of sonic hedgehog gene in regenerating newt limbs. Wound Repair Regen 1997;6:366-470.
- [97] Endo T, Yokoyama H, Tamura K, Ide H. Shh expression in developing and regenerating limb buds of Xenopus laevis. Dev Dynam 1997;209: 227–32.
- [98] Nardi JB, Stocum DL. Surface properties of regenerating limb cells: evidence for gradation along the proximodistal axis. Differentiation 1983; 25:27–31.
- [99] Crawford K, Stocum DL. Retinoic acid coordinately proximalizes regenerate pattern and blastema differential affinity in axolotl limbs. Development 1988;102(4):687–98.
- [100] Egar MW. Affinophoresis as a test of axolotl accessory limbs. In: Fallon JF, Goetinck PF, Kelley RO, Stocum DL, editors. Limb development and regeneration, Part B. New York: Wiley-Liss; 1993. p. 203–11.
- [101] Brockes JP, Kumar A. Comparative aspects of animal regeneration. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2008;24:525-49.
- [102] Roensch K, Tazaki A, Chara O, Tanaka EM. Progressive specification rather than intercalation of segments during limb regeneration. Science 2013;342:1375–9.
- [103] Saiz-Lopez P, Chinnaiya K, Campa VM, Delgado I, Ros MA, Towers M. An intrinsic timer specifies distal structures of the vertebrate limb. Nat Commun 2015;6:8108. https://doi.org/10.110.1038/ncomms9108.

# 4

## The Molecular Circuitry Underlying Pluripotency in Embryonic and Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Rachel H. Klein, Paul S. Knoepfler

University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Multiple criteria are employed to characterize cellular pluripotent potential, including (1) the expression of molecular markers, in particular, transcription factors known to regulate embryonic stem cell (ESC) potency and selfrenewal; (2) the absence of molecular and morphological markers defining specific lineages that are typically referred to as "differentiation-associated genes"; and (3) the ability to form all three embryonic germ layers including ectoderm, endoderm, and mesoderm upon induction of differentiation in vitro or in vivo. Upon injection into immunocompromised mice, ESCs and induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells will rapidly and reproducibly form teratomas containing differentiated cells from the three germ layers. Ultimately, the most rigorous pluripotency assay, but one not currently amenable to studying human cells, for ethical reasons, is that upon implantation of ESCs into blastocysts there is a subsequent contribution of these cells to all tissue types of the adult chimeric animal. Although some stem-like cells have been isolated from many organisms, including zebrafish, dogs, chickens, mice, rats, and humans, to date only stem cells from a few species have demonstrated this ultimate and most stringent capability associated with pluripotency by which they can be defined concretely as ESCs.

In this review, we describe the mechanistic details of the molecular circuitry that regulates the maintenance of the pluripotent state at the level of signal transduction, chromatin dynamics, and transcription factor control. We also discuss the reprogramming of somatic cells into iPS cells that possess essentially all ESC-like properties, and how the processes that govern their production and maintenance relate to ESC maintenance. Analyses of the rewiring of the molecular circuitry involved in going from a somatic to pluripotent state have reinforced the identities and roles of core pluripotency mechanisms.

## GROUND STATE AND PRIMED EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS HAVE UNIQUE SIGNALING NETWORKS UNDERLYING PLURIPOTENCY

The initial protocols employed to isolate and maintain murine ESCs involved plating inner-cell mass cells onto a feeder cell layer of embryonic fibroblasts in a medium containing serum proteins [1,2]. The complex mixture of exogenous factors released by fibroblasts into the medium maintains ESCs in their pluripotent state and allows for the undifferentiated self-renewal and proliferation of these cells. Despite the complex composition of fibroblast-conditioned medium containing serum components, several key growth factor signaling pathways essential for subsequent pluripotency have been identified and extensively characterized, including leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF)/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (Stat3), and bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signaling. Upon removal of the feeder cells, or medium conditioned by the feeder cells, ESCs spontaneously differentiate into all three germ layers of the developing organism. More recent protocols have been developed and used

#### 4. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF PLURIPOTENCY

alternative media options, including 2i and 3i media that allow for feeder-independent growth of mouse ESCs (mESCs) [3]. Development of these media was based on the idea that inhibition of intrinsic differentiation signals could maintain pluripotency, similar to the application of exogenous factors (from fibroblast feeders and serum). For instance, 2i medium uses an inhibitor of mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal–regulated kinase (ERK) (MEK) combined with an inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase 3β (Gsk3β) and does not require LIF for stem cell maintenance [4].

Human ESCs (hESCs) can be grown on feeder cells in media conditioned by fibroblasts or in chemically defined media [5]. Interestingly, studies with these human cells revealed striking differences in signaling pathway requirements for stem cell maintenance compared with mESCs, which led to the hypothesis that despite the high levels of conservation in development across widely divergent species, pluripotent stem cell maintenance is at least partially a unique process in different organisms. This line of thinking has been challenged by more recent findings that distinguish two main states of ESCs: naive and primed. It was found that under commonly used derivation and culture conditions, mESCs are maintained in the naive state whereas hESCs acquire and maintain the primed state [6]. Primed mESCs, which are derived from the mouse embryo after implantation and are typically called epiblast stem cells (EpiSCs), share many of the same signaling pathway requirements as do hESCs grown under standard conditions [7]. Several articles reported the development of media and conditions that allow for culturing of naive hESC [8,9] and found in this context that the pathway requirements are much more similar to those required by naive mESC, including the dependency on LIF. These findings suggest LIF signaling is a key aspect of naive pluripotent stem cell self-renewal across species. Thus, apparent differences in human and murine ESCs may be largely a function of the developmental state related to how the cells are cultured, which signaling pathways are modulated in the process, and thus which cell fate—related transcription factors are activated or repressed downstream.

#### INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

An additional type of pluripotent stem cells, iPS cells, can be derived from human or mouse somatic cells through related protocols mainly based on exogenous expression of a select group of pluripotency-related transcription factors. In 2006, Yamanaka and colleagues reported that by introducing four transcription factors necessary for ESC self-renewal including *Oct4*, *Sox2*, *Klf4*, and *c-Myc* into the genome of mouse fibroblasts, some cells underwent complete reprogramming to a state of pluripotency [10]. Further work including studies by Yu et al. found that *Klf4* and *c-Myc* can be substituted by *Nanog* and another transcription factor *Lin28* [11], or that the entire reprogramming process in humans and mice can be accomplished through the expression of a single cluster of microRNAs (miRNAs), mir302/367 [12]. These results indicate that multiple combinations of transcription factors or other regulators can reprogram cells to the same primitive developmental state [11]. A year later, Yamanaka and other teams reported successful human somatic cell reprogramming to make iPS cells [13]. These human iPS cells possess all of the hall-marks of hESCs in their functional abilities to differentiate into all cell types of an organism [10]. Importantly, these distinct pluripotent cells also require the same signaling pathways to maintain their undifferentiated state and respond appropriately to growth factors and cytokines eliciting specific lineages [14].

Reprogramming methods have been developed including the use of nongenetic methods that do not leave a genomic fingerprint via episomal vectors, nonintegrating virus, messenger RNAs (mRNAs), proteins, and even in an entirely chemical cocktail [15–17]. Although the reprogramming protocols are well-established, large fluctuations remain in efficiency and the probability that any given cell will become an iPS cell. Even among a clonally selected somatic cell population infused with the same copy number of reprogramming factors, heterogeneity abounds, with a minority of cells reprogramming within a few weeks while others require longer periods [18]. Part of the answer to the heterogeneity may reside in the concept of nongenetic heterogeneity and random fluctuations in protein expression levels among a clonal population of cells; heterogeneity in any number of transcription factors, signaling proteins, or epigenetic marks may place a cell in a state either relatively amenable or resistant to proper manipulation by the reprogramming factors.

## LEUKEMIA INHIBITORY FACTOR AND BONE MORPHOGENIC PROTEIN SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATE MOUSE EMBRYONIC STEM CELL SELF-RENEWAL

mESCs derived from permissive strains can maintain their undifferentiated state with a combination of signaling from LIF and BMPs (Bmp4) [19,20]. LIF receptor activation leads to receptor dimerization with gp130 subunits and subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation and nuclear localization of the transcriptional activator Stat3 (Fig. 4.1) [21].



FIGURE 4.1 Signaling circuitry regulating mouse and human embryonic stem cell (ESC) pluripotency. The Wnt pathway is a highly conserved regulator of pluripotency and is active in both mouse and human ESCs. Different signaling pathways are required to maintain pluripotency, depending on the state of the stem cells and species. Naive mESCs require leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signals to maintain self-renewal, whereas primed mESCs require transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling. Naive human ESCs (hESCs) have been derived using various media formulations, but in general they require LIF, FGF, TGF $\beta$ , and WNT signaling. Primed hESCs depend on the activity of TGF $\beta$  and FGF signals. These pathways ultimately function at multiple levels to maintain the pluripotent state by inhibiting differentiation and feeding into the core transcriptional regulatory circuitry of ESCs. *ALK*, anaplastic lymphoma kinase; *EpiSC*, epiblast stem cells; *ERK*, extracellular signal–regulated kinase; *GSK*, glycogen synthase kinase; *MAPK*, mitogen activated protein kinase; *MEK*, MAPK/ERK; *mESC*, mouse ESC; *STAT*, signal transducer and activator of transcription; *TCF*, transcription factor

Whereas LIF also activates the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/protein kinase B and MAPK signaling pathways in mESCs, only Stat3 activation is required for pluripotency [22]. One of the key downstream targets of LIF/Stat3 is the transcription factor *Myc* (Fig. 4.1) [23]; high levels of *Myc* expression even in the absence of LIF signaling allows for self-renewal of mESCs [23], which suggests that the main downstream target of the LIF/Stat3 signaling pathway in mESC is *c-Myc*.

51

BMPs are transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) superfamily members that bind to type I TGF $\beta$  receptors anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)1, ALK2, ALK3, or ALK6 (Fig. 4.1). Upon ligand binding, type I receptors form heterodimers with type II receptors, which recruit and phosphorylate receptor activated SMADs 1, 5, and 8 (R-SMADs). Serine/threonine phosphorylation of R-SMADs allows association and complex formation with SMAD4, which can subsequently enter the nucleus and initiate transcription (Fig. 4.1) [24]. Among the targets of BMP signaling is Inhibitor of Differentiation 1 (*Id*1), a key factor that can maintain ESC self-renewal when overexpressed even in the absence of BMP signaling [19]. In addition, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)-sequencing (Seq) studies revealed that Smad1 colocalizes with octamer binding protein 4 (Oct4), SRY-box 2 (Sox2), Nanog, and Stat3 at a number of pluripotency gene targets [25].

Whereas ERK has generally been considered to promote differentiation of mESCs (it promotes Kruppel-like factor 4 (Klf4) ubiquitination and degradation [26] and reduces Nanog's activating ability [27], and inhibitors of upstream factor MEK are used to maintain mESC pluripotency), it has also been shown to have an important role in maintaining genomic stability, promoting proliferation, and suppressing apoptosis in mESCs [28]. This suggests a more complex role for this factor in stem cell dynamics.

## TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR β AND FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATE HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELL SELF-RENEWAL

As discussed earlier, hESCs cultured on fibroblast feeder cells with serum exist in a more primed state, with similarities to mouse EpiSCs. LIF/STAT3 signaling does not stimulate self-renewal in this state; rather, TGF $\beta$ /activin and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling are required to maintain hESC pluripotency [14,29]. In contrast to naive-state mESCs, BMP signaling actually promotes hESC differentiation [30,31]. TGF $\beta$  and activins account for the second branch of the TGFβ superfamily of ligands, and binding to receptors ALK4, ALK5, and ALK7 triggers serine/threonine phosphorylation of the C-terminal region of SMAD2 and SMAD3, which also dimerize with SMAD4 to allow nuclear entry and transcription (Fig. 4.1) [24]. FGFs function through tyrosine receptor dimerization upon ligand binding and subsequent activation of phosphorylation events in the MAPK cascade (Fig. 4.1) [32]. FGF signaling can further phosphorylate both BMP and TGFβ-mediated R-SMADs at the "linker" domain of the proteins. This phosphorylation has been associated with signal termination, because linker phosphorylation allows recognition of SMAD proteins by the ubiquitin ligase SMURF1 [33,34]. Polyubiquitination of the SMAD proteins by SMURF1 leads to subsequent degradation of the SMAD proteins and termination of the signal. Hence, an intricate balance of antagonistic signaling inputs may exist in the maintenance of hESC pluripotency. Among their definitive roles in proliferation and survival, FGF signals may also act to inhibit differentiation promoting BMP signals in hESCs by promoting degradation of any active SMAD 1/5/8 proteins [33]. Alternatively, FGF signals may also fine-tune the amount of active TGF $\beta$ -mediated SMAD 2/3 proteins to produce the proper threshold of activity necessary to maintain pluripotency, because an excess of  $TGF\beta$ /activin signaling can lead to definitive endoderm differentiation of ESCs [35].

Studies demonstrating the necessity of these pathways to maintain self-renewal have followed two strategies. First, small molecule inhibition of TGF $\beta$ /activin receptors results in the rapid differentiation of hESCs even in fibroblast-conditioned medium, which illustrates the necessity for TGF $\beta$  signals to maintain pluripotency [29]. Second, defined medium with select growth factors and cytokines has been developed to substitute fibroblast-conditioned medium, which contains a diverse milieu of undefined components. These studies revealed that TGF $\beta$  or activin plus FGF-2 at defined concentrations is a necessary component for self-renewal, and removal of either of these factors results in differentiation of ESCs [14,36]. For both mouse and human iPS cells, the same media and growth factor pathway activities are required for culture and maintenance of their pluripotency as for the respective comparable types of ESCs, which further supports the important nature of these pathways in pluripotency.

## WNT SIGNALING CONTRIBUTES TO MAINTENANCE OF PLURIPOTENCY IN MOUSE EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS AND TO THE NAIVE HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELL STATE

Although activation of LIF and BMP signaling are sufficient to maintain mESC self-renewal, the highly conserved Wnt pathway is also an important modulator of these signaling pathways; it can contribute to the maintenance of mESC pluripotency [37–39]. In the presence of Wnt ligand, a receptor complex forms between receptors Frizzled

and Lrp5/6. This complex recruits and sequesters Axin and Gsk3β, releasing their inhibitory interaction with β-catenin, which subsequently can accumulate in the nucleus, where it serves as a coactivator to activate Wnt-responsive genes (Fig. 4.1) [40]. β-Catenin also interacts with chromatin remodeling factor Brg1 to remodel chromatin during gene activation in response to Wnt signaling [41]. β-Catenin is important for maintaining stem cell identity and inhibiting neuronal differentiation, because mESCs that lack this factor show decreased expression levels of stem cell genes *Dppa4*, *Dppa5*, and *Rex1*, and increased expression of *Oct6*, a marker of neuronal differentiation [42].

Functional studies demonstrating the importance of Wnt signaling have employed small molecule inhibitors of Gsk3 $\beta$ , which destabilizes  $\beta$ -catenin. Inhibition of Gsk3 $\beta$  results in increased Wnt activity, and cells cultured in the presence of Gsk3 $\beta$  inhibitors have increased propensity to maintain their pluripotent state even under differentiation conditions [19,37]. Furthermore, the role of Wnt ligands in supporting stemness has been demonstrated in experiments that show that Wnts secreted by feeder cells or Wnt-conditioned media maintain pluripotency in mESCs [38,39].

Extensive cross-talk has been documented between the LIF and Wnt signaling pathways; when LIF is removed from culture media, mESCs reduce levels of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin [43]. In addition, Wnt signaling molecules Wnt3a, Wnt5a, and Wnt6 can upregulate Stat3 signaling (downstream of LIF), and upregulation of Wnt signaling can compensate for low levels or the complete absence of LIF; LIF presence can also compensate for the loss of  $\beta$ -catenin [38]. Because  $\beta$ -catenin knockout mESCs have been shown to be able to self-renew in the presence of LIF, it appears not to be absolutely essential to the maintenance of pluripotency; rather, it acts in concert with other factors to enhance stem cell self-renewal. This idea is supported by the finding that Wnt signaling is also important in reprogramming differentiated cells into iPS cells, because Wnt3a can improve reprogramming efficiency [44].

Transcription factor 3 (Tcf3) is a transcription factor and binding partner for  $\beta$ -catenin. It has been shown to bind to many pluripotency genes and act as a repressor. It is also commonly found in complex with Oct4, Sox2, and Nanog, where it is thought to have a role in tempering the level of activation by these factors at pluripotency genes [45,46]. Upon stimulation of Wnt signaling by Wnt3a in mESCs,  $\beta$ -catenin enters the nucleus and binds to Tcf3, promoting its phosphorylation and degradation, thereby relieving the repression of at least a subset of Tcf3 targets and promoting stem cell self-renewal [47,48].

Seemingly conflicting reports exist on the role of Wnt signaling in promoting differentiation of mESCs and in maintaining pluripotency. These differences can potentially be explained by the vast number of transcriptional regulators that can associate with  $\beta$ -catenin. In addition to the TCF family,  $\beta$ -catenin can bind with p300, cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein (CBP), the histone methyltransferase Mll1, and numerous transcription factors of the SOX, SMAD, FOXO, and nuclear receptor families [49]. Some work suggested that although  $\beta$ -catenin can form a complex with p300 and with CBP, the  $\beta$ -catenin/CBP complex is specifically essential for mESC maintenance, whereas p300 is dispensable, and that the complex specificity can determine the activity of  $\beta$ -catenin [50,51]. An interesting open question is how complex specificity itself is controlled.

The mechanisms of Wnt signaling action on cell fate appear to be highly time- and context-dependent. For example, Wnt signaling activated early in mESC differentiation leads to the promotion of mesoderm development toward heart; however, the same Wnt signaling activated at a later stage of differentiation actually inhibits this fate [52]. Many of the conflicting ideas about Wnt function in differentiation and in pluripotent cells may also arise from cross-talk and interactions of Wnt with different signaling pathways that are selectively active either in ESCs or in a lineage differentiation context influenced by temporal factors.

The role of Wnt signaling in hESCs has not been fully elucidated, partly because most work has focused on hESCs under standard culture conditions, which promote a more primed cell state. Studies of cells under these conditions indicated that Wnt signaling might not be essential for hESC maintenance. However, a study looking specifically at hESCs in the naive state concluded that whereas Wnt signaling was not required for the expression of pluripotency factors in this context, it contributes to cell proliferation and colony-forming ability, and that blocking Wnt signaling led to the acquisition of a metabolic and transcriptional profile more similar to hESC in the primed state, which suggests that the role of Wnt signaling in naive hESCs is to prevent transition to the primed state [53].

## THREE TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS, OCTAMER BINDING PROTEIN 4, SRY-BOX 2, AND NANOG, FORM THE CORE PLURIPOTENCY TRANSCRIPTIONAL NETWORK

The previously discussed growth factor signaling pathways that regulate pluripotency could do so through a number of different mechanisms, as outlined earlier. The most widely accepted model is that they function coordinately to inhibit differentiation-associated factors and induce expression of pluripotency-related transcription

#### 4. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF PLURIPOTENCY

factors. Among the many transcription factors identified and characterized as having critical roles in stem cells, a core set of three pluripotency transcription factors has been shown to form the backbone of the pluripotency gene regulatory network. These three, OCT4, SOX2, and NANOG, act together downstream of the key signaling pathways and function in part through positive feedback loops to maintain each other's expression as well as that of the wider pluripotency gene expression program. The three are thought to be central to transcriptional regulation of ESC identity because of their essential roles during early development, including in the inner cell mass (ICM), and their ability to maintain the ESC state [6,54–56]. Disruption of Oct4 in knockout embryos and ESCs results in the inappropriate differentiation of ICM and ESC to trophectoderm, whereas Nanog mutants develop into extraembryonic endoderm [6,55,56]. Sox2 loss-of-function mutants also divert to trophectoderm [54]. Notably, the phenotype of mESCs overexpressing Oct4 resembles that of Nanog loss of function, forming embryonic endoderm, whereas cells with *Nanog* overexpression are highly resistant to differentiation [55]. These findings suggest a higher level of complexity in core pluripotency transcription factor functional interactions where they do not always simply work together coordinately to promote a blanket state of pluripotency and in which they can sometimes be antagonistic in specific contexts. Furthermore, they also highlight the need for exquisite fine-tuning of gene expression circuitry to promote pluripotency without completely blocking eventual differentiation capacity. Nevertheless, genome-wide analysis has revealed that these three transcription factors generally form an autoregulatory network and do so by binding to each other's promoter regions and enhancing each other's expression [57]. Furthermore, these factors regulate the expression of large numbers of downstream genes governing aspects of differentiation, cell cycle, and self-renewal [57]; and as mentioned earlier, these core factors are integral to the reprogramming process to make iPS cells.

## MYC LINKS CELL SIGNALING TO PLURIPOTENCY GENE REGULATION

In addition to core pluripotency transcription factors, *c-Myc* was also found by Yamanaka initially as one of the four main reprogramming cocktail factors. Whereas *c-Myc* was subsequently determined not to be essential for reprogramming, it can potentiate efficiency of the process by one or two orders of magnitude [58]. In stem cells, MYC factors have a broader role in regulating many unique properties associated with stemness and pluripotency, including specific states of metabolism, cell signaling, cell cycle dynamics, and the epigenetic landscape. Because MYC can regulate all of these cellular functions (even if in distinct ways) in somatic and progenitor cells, where it is also expressed, it is probably not an actual "pluripotency factor" in the narrowest sense of that term. Three MYC family members have been identified and characterized: MYC, MYCN, and MYCL. In stem cells, there is a high level of redundancy between MYC and MYCN; however, knockout of both causes a loss of pluripotency and promotes differentiation [59]. Reportedly, loss of *Mycl* causes no detectable defects in stem cells and does not appear to be able to compensate for loss of the other two MYC family members [60].

MYC represents one connection point between cell signaling and the core pluripotency transcriptional network. Stem cell maintenance requires active Wnt signaling and repression of high levels of MAPK signaling. When MYC is expressed, it acts to suppress MAPK signaling by transcriptionally upregulating the ERK inhibitors, dual-specific phosphatases (DUSP2/7); it also acts to promote Wnt signaling through upregulation of WNT receptors and suppression of WNT antagonists. In mESCs, LIF is also required to activate the JAK/Stat3 pathway with *c-Myc* as a key downstream target that is activated by LIF [23].

MYC has been shown to act as both a transcriptional activator and a repressor in hESCs. In ChIP experiments, MYC is primarily associated with active histone modifications, but it also has an important role in promoting pluripotency through repressing the expression of differentiation genes including the HOX gene clusters in hESCs [61]. This is consistent with findings that loss of MYC does not have a strong effect on the expression of core pluripotency genes; the most dramatic effects instead manifest as upregulation of early differentiation genes [59]. Similarly, during reprogramming, MYC may act to suppress differentiation-specific gene expression [62]. In the repressive context in hESCs, MYC interacts with MIZ1 and repressive chromatin-modifying complexes including DNMT3A, and histone deacetylases (HDACs) [61]. The interaction between MYC and MIZ-1 appears to be antagonistic: whereas the two co-bind many targets, their effects on transcription are often in opposite directions [61]. This opposing relation-ship may serve to balance the contradictory forces of stem cell self-renewal and differentiation; when external signals alter the balance of MYC and MIZ-1, one force can dominate and either promote commitment to differentiation or maintain pluripotency.

MYC also influences stem cell potency in part through regulating the cell cycle, where it acts to promote S-phase progression [59]. Among MYC targets are numerous cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinase enzymes, as well as the miRNA cluster miR-17-92 [63], which targets and suppresses cell cycle inhibitors including those in the retinoblastoma family [25,64]. Because ESCs have unique cell cycle properties, it has been suggested that the effect on the cell cycle and proliferation upon loss or downregulation of MYC could trigger ESC differentiation [59].

Numerous sources of evidence indicate that whereas MYC is frequently found at gene promoters with the core pluripotency factors, some of its mechanisms of action are unique compared with other transcription factors. In fact, ChIP-microarray (ChIP-chip) and ChIP-Seq studies generally point to unique modules of gene targets for MYC compared with core pluripotency factors such as OCT4, SOX2, or NANOG. MYC also has an important role in releasing transcriptional pausing of RNA polymerase II and the transcription machinery at gene promoters, a function that is unique from core pluripotency transcriptional regulators [65].

MYC has been found to interact with a number of different epigenetic modifying enzymes in both activating and repressing conditions. These include histone acetyltransferases (HATs), HDACs, DNA helicases RUVBL-1 and -2, which are essential for ESC morphology, and histone demethylase LSD1 [66]. In addition to a role in repressing lineage specific and differentiation factors, MYC has been shown to regulate global levels of euchromatin in a number of cell types, an uncommon function for a transcription factor. This may relate to the proposed model in which MYC acts as a general activating factor at certain types of gene promoters that are already primed for gene expression by binding specific transcription factors. In this context, MYC has been shown to interact with a number of HAT complexes to promote histone H3 and H4 acetylation. Although MYC is not generally considered a pioneer factor that can bind and remodel chromatin, it has an important and early job during reprogramming to promote euchromatin by regulating global levels of histone modifications. MYC frequently binds to regions where OCT4, SOX2, or KLF4 are already bound, and then increases local euchromatin formation and transcriptional activity [67]. Thus, overall, the contributions of MYC to pluripotency are pleiotropic and mediated by a number of distinct epigenetic and transcriptomic mechanisms. MYC's importance in both stem cells and cancer further points to specific downstream pathways shared among these cell types. For instance, inhibition of differentiation-related genes, maintenance of rapid cell cycling, and an elevated metabolic state are also features of tumorigenesis, and tumorigenesis and reprogramming appear to be related phenomena [68].

#### A SPECIFIC EPIGENETIC PROGRAM HELPS MAINTAIN PLURIPOTENCY

The importance of chromatin modification states in regulating pluripotency is evidenced by the fact that perturbations of the expression level or function of many different epigenetic enzymes can impair stem cell self-renewal and lead to the loss of pluripotency, events that are followed by differentiation [69–72]; these enzymes are necessary for specific chromatin structural and functional states. In addition, modulation of epigenetic enzyme activity can promote cellular reprogramming. For example, the use of HDAC inhibitors, or the H3K9 methyltransferase inhibitor G9a, makes reprogramming more efficient, implicating H3K9 methylation in the process [73,74]. Other histone marks and histone-modifying enzymes are implicated as well. For example, the polycomb group complex polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) is responsible for the H3K27me3 mark that acts to repress gene expression; in ESCs, this mark is found in many differentiation genes and prevents premature expression (Fig. 4.2) [75]. Loss of PRC2 complex components causes a dramatic reduction in H3K27me3 and impairs pluripotency by upregulating differentiation genes [69]. PRC2 also has a role in maintaining bivalent domains, characterized by the presence of both active H3K4me3 and repressive H3K27me3 marks together in discrete chromatin domains in developmental genes that allow for rapid activation upon commitment of the pluripotent cell to differentiation (Fig. 4.2).

Heterochromatin, marked by H3K9me3, is generally less common in ESCs than in differentiated cells. Consistent with this, the H3K9 methyltransferase G9a is important for early differentiation and development, and has been shown to recruit DNA methyltransferase enzymes Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b to downregulate pluripotency genes including *Oct4* (Fig. 4.2) [76,77]. Conversely, enzymes that remove the H3K9 methylation marks are important for maintaining pluripotency. These include Jumanji domain enzymes *Jmjd1a* (*Kdm3a*) and *Jmjd2c* (*Kdm4c*), which are upregulated by Oct4 and function to remove H3K9 methylation to maintain the pluripotency of ESCs [71].

A number of interesting differences exist between DNA methylation levels and patterns in pluripotent cells compared with differentiated cells. For example, in looking at cytosine guanine (CpG) methylation, differentiated cells frequently have enrichment of methylation in sites where there is a high density of CpG dinucleotides. In contrast, in pluripotent cells, higher methylation levels are observed in regions with lower concentrations of CpG dinucleotides [78]. These low-density CpG regions that are methylated in pluripotent cells are associated with



## **Differentiated Cell**

**FIGURE 4.2** Chromatin dynamics of pluripotency and stem cell differentiation. In pluripotent cells, lineage genes are maintained in two states: repressed by polycomb complexes and DNA methylation or poised for rapid activation based on histone modifications mediated by polycomb and trithorax complexes. Pluripotency genes are maintained by octamer binding protein 4, SRY-box 2, and Nanog complex binding, as well as recruitment of active chromatin-modifying complexes. Upon differentiation, a specific subset of lineage genes is activated in each cell type by lineage-specific transcription factors that recruit activating chromatin complexes. Pluripotency genes are repressed by DNA methylation and heterochromatin associated histone marks. *HAT*, histone acetyltransferase; *OSKM*, gene expression of octamer binding protein 4, SRY-box 2, Kruppel-like factor 4, and MYC; *OSN*, octamer binding protein 4, SRY-box 2, and Kruppel-like factor 4; PRC2, polycomb repressive complex 2; TrX, trithorax; *Wdr5*, WD repeat domain 5.

bivalent chromatin marks [79] and are thought to function by being able to respond rapidly and dynamically to signals that modulate chromatin remodeling, leading to efficient activation of genes with low-density CpG methylation in their promoters.

There are three DNA methyltransferase enzymes: DNMT1, DNMT3A, and DNMT3B. DNMT1 is mainly involved in maintaining methylation over DNA replication events, whereas DNMT3A and DNMT3B modulate de novo methylation events. Deletion of any one Dnmt enzyme in mice results in embryonic or neonatal lethality [80–82], which indicates an important role in development, but mESCs deleted for one or all three Dnmt enzymes retain their pluripotency, despite losing DNA methylation globally. This suggests that in mice, DNA methylation is not required to maintain pluripotency, at least in vitro [83]. In hESCs grown under standard primed conditions, loss of both *DNMT3* enzymes does not affect stem cell self-renewal, but loss of *DNMT1A* results in cell death [84]. These findings may indicate differences in the role of DNA methylation in maintenance between human and mouse ESCs, or it may reflect the fact that hESCs are usually grown under more primed conditions, whereas mESCs are maintained in a more naive state. *DNMT3A* and *3B* are also not strictly required to generate iPS cells from differentiated cells [85].

In addition to the three DNMT enzymes, DNMT3L is a catalytically inactive DNMT protein that is highly expressed in mESCs and hESCs [86]. Its high expression in this context led to its inclusion in the 24 factors originally tested by Yamanaka for their reprogramming ability in differentiated cells. Although it does not possess enzymatic activity in itself, DNMT3L has been shown to dimerize with DNMT3A and significantly increase its enzymatic

activity [87]. DNMT3L can also interact with the N terminal tail of histone H3, and several studies have suggested that it can discriminate among different H3K4 methylations [88,89]. DNMT3L knockdown alters the methylation landscape in ESCs and affects differentiation, but it does not appear to have a strong effect on pluripotency gene expression or stem cell self-renewal [90].

DNA demethylation can occur through a series of steps in which the 5mC is converted to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine through an oxidation reaction and then further modified to 5-formylcytosine and finally 5-carboxylcytosine, which can be removed by the cell through base excision repair [91]. The methylation intermediate 5fC is often found in gene regulatory elements, including poised enhancers, and in regions associated with p300 binding [92], which suggests a regulatory function for these methylation intermediaries. The main steps of this demethylation reaction are carried out by the TET family of enzymes. TET family members *Tet1* and *Tet2* are strongly expressed in mESCs and decrease in expression during cell differentiation. Loss of *Tet1* reduces the expression of important pluripotency genes including *Klf4*, *Nanog*, and *Esrrb*, among others [93,94]. In addition, the expression of *Tet1* and *Tet2* is regulated by Oct4 [95]. During reprogramming, Tet1 has a role in removing methylation at the promoter and enhancer of *Oct4* and interacts directly with Nanog [96]. Loss of *Tet1* reduces the efficiency of iPS cell induction, whereas early activation of *Tet1* increases reprogramming efficiency [96]. Although TET proteins appear to have important roles in modulating DNA methylation in ESCs, whether they are required to maintain pluripotency is not clear: *Tet1* knockout mice survive and are fertile, and mESCs from these mice display no defects [97]. Less work has been done on TET proteins in hESCs, but knockdown of *TET2* did not affect pluripotency markers although it skewed the differentiation of hESCs toward neuroectoderm at the expense of mesoderm and endoderm [98].

The chromatin in ESCs is characterized as being more open and containing more euchromatin relative to heterochromatin, compared with more differentiated cell types. Therefore, it is unsurprising that histone modifications enriched in euchromatin and associated with more active transcriptional states have also been shown to have an important role in maintaining the pluripotent state by promoting euchromatin. Histone acetylation neutralizes the charge affinity between DNA and histone proteins, leading to more open chromatin that is found at active chromatin domains [99]. That a variety of HDAC inhibitors consistently increase reprogramming efficiency [74] also indicates that open, active chromatin is an important feature of pluripotency. Trithorax group complexes are responsible for the H3K4me3 mark that is strongly enriched at active promoters, and core trithorax complex member *Wdr5* is most highly expressed in pluripotency [70]. *Wdr5* expression decreases as differentiation progresses, and it can aid in reprogramming [70]. It is also a downstream target of Oct4, Sox2, and Nanog [70]. WD repeat domain 5 protein interacts directly with OCT4 and chromatin remodeler INO80 to increase activation of self-renewal genes [100].

In addition to the interaction of cell signaling molecules with transcription factors, there are also extensive interactions between cell signaling and chromatin itself. For example, JAK signaling results in phosphorylation of tyrosine 41 on histone H3, leading to reduced affinity of heterochromatin protein 1 $\alpha$  binding at pluripotency genes and promoting gene expression [101]. The chromatin remodeling factor Brg1 acts in Stat3 target genes in pluripotent cells [102]. The embryonic stem cell Brg1/hBrm associated factor complex, an SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex that contains Brg1 as a subunit and has a crucial role in mESCs, has also been shown to be an integration point for multiple signaling pathways and transcriptional regulators. Not only does it associate with Oct4, Sox2, and Nanog, it binds with Stat3 and Smad1, linking chromatin remodeling to both the LIF and BMP signaling pathways [102–104].

## MICRORNAS INTEGRATE WITH CELL SIGNALING AND TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS TO REGULATE STEM CELL PROLIFERATION AND DIFFERENTIATION

Noncoding RNAs represent an additional level of regulation of gene expression and have an important role in stem cell maintenance as well as cellular differentiation. MicroRNAs, a class of noncoding RNAs, are short single-stranded RNA molecules that are usually 20–30 nucleotides in length and function by targeting a specific set of mRNA transcripts, interfering with their transcription. The most common mechanism for miRNA processing involves a series of cleavage steps mediated by enzymes Drosha and Dicer [105]; the resulting miRNA is incorporated into a protein complex known as the RNA-induced silencing complex [106].

Relatively few miRNAs are expressed in ESCs compared with differentiated cells [107–109]. Despite this, studies have identified several clusters of miRNAs that are highly enriched in ESCs. For instance, the miR302 cluster is selectively expressed in both mESCs and hESCs compared with differentiated cells, whereas mESCs also express the

miR290 cluster and hESCs express the miR17 family, and miRNAs from the chromosome 19 miRNA cluster and miR-371-373 cluster (thought to be orthologous to mir290 in mESC) [110–112]. Core pluripotency transcription factors Oct4, Sox2, and Nanog can bind the promoters of most of these ESC-enriched miRNAs [113]. The importance of these miRNAs to ESC maintenance was demonstrated by deleting miRNA processing enzymes Drosha and Dicer. *Dicer* knockout resulted in embryonic lethality in mice [114], which indicated an important role for miRNA in development. In addition, in mESCs, knockout of *Dicer* or the Dicer binding partner DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 caused proliferation defects and prevented proper differentiation; however, stem cell self-renewal appeared to be preserved [115–117]. Similarly, in hESCs, knockdown of *DICER* or *DROSHA* caused reductions in cell proliferation [118]. These results indicate that miRNAs function in ESCs to regulate the cell cycle: in particular, the shortened G1-S transition that uniquely characterizes stem cells. More broadly, it is hypothesized that pluripotency is facilitated by short cell cycle gap phases and that gap phases represent specific windows of opportunity for stem cells to initiate the differentiation process.

Another interesting aspect of miRNA is their ability to contribute to reprogramming during iPS cell formation. Expression of miR290 cluster members or several other miRNAs can increase the efficiency of reprogramming [119–121], whereas knockdown of *Dicer* or *Drosha* reduces efficiency [119]. Reportedly, reprogramming was completely inhibited by the deletion of the miR302 cluster in human fibroblasts [122]. ESC-expressed miRNAs have also been shown to influence cell signaling; miR290 members can repress Wnt signaling inhibitor Dkk1 in mESC [123], and mir302 targets Lefty, an inhibitor of the TGF $\beta$ /Nodal signaling pathway in hESCs [124].

## CHROMATIN STRUCTURE DETERMINES REGULATORY ACTIVITY OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR BINDING TO PLURIPOTENCY GENES

Two-dimensional views of chromatin (such as strictly linear perspectives on transcription factor control of nearby target genes) do not reflect its unique three-dimensional (3D) structure accurately. The major roles of 3D chromatin structure in pluripotency have come into focus. Regulation of chromatin structure and the formation of chromatin loops are essential aspects of pluripotency; the proper expression of members of the cohesin and mediator complexes is required for stem cell maintenance, and the preexisting chromatin structure in somatic cells has been shown to have a strong influence on the reprogramming efficiency of these cells into iPS cells [125]. In fact, the expression of transcriptional factors that regulate reprogramming and their binding to gene promoters of pluripotency targets such as *Oct4* is not enough on its own to activate gene transcription; the proper chromatin structure must also be in place. In the case of *OCT4* in hESCs, it has been shown that in addition to the binding of transcription factors such as OCT4 and NANOG, activation requires a downstream enhancer to be in close proximity to the promoter, and that this structure depends on the mediator and cohesin protein complexes [126].

The intersection of transcription factor binding and chromatin structure is also evident in long-range interactions that are present at the *Nanog* locus. In mESCs and iPS cells, it has been shown that mediator and cohesin are responsible for approximately 40% of the observed long-range genomic interactions with the *Nanog* locus, and that Med1 and Smc1a interact directly with pluripotency and reprograming factors Oct4, Sox2, Klf4 [127]. A separate study showed that tethering Nanog to a region of the genome in mESCs was sufficient to induce a number of chromatin loops between pluripotency genes, which artificially created a Nanog binding site [128]. In addition, Klf4 is required for cohesin complex recruitment to *Oct4* and for the resulting loop between enhancer and promoter [129].

Together, these results suggest that pluripotency and reprograming factors are involved in mediating chromatin looping and in the recruitment of cohesin and mediator complexes to gene targets where chromatin looping has essential roles in pluripotency. From some of these studies, it is also evident that chromatin looping at pluripotency genes tends to occur before gene activation. For example, during the reprogramming process, it is striking that pluripotency-specific genomic interactions of the *Nanog* locus occur several days before activation of *Nanog* expression [127]. These data support a model in which reprogramming factors bind and act to recruit cohesin and mediator complexes to restructure the chromatin, forming loops that place enhancers and promoters in proximity, and group coexpressed genes together, before these factors then can activate gene expression.

### CONCLUSIONS

The molecular basis of pluripotency is a complex coordination of extracellular and environmental factors with intracellular signal transduction and transcriptional regulation via specific epigenomic events. We have seen significant leaps in understanding of how signaling cascades converge upon core transcriptional circuitry to coordinate

#### REFERENCES

maintenance and induction of pluripotency. Furthermore, understanding of the intricate mechanisms through which signaling pathways create the multitude of cell types and tissue lineages remains paramount to understanding basic human development as well as to manipulating and controlling lineage specification for the purposes of regenerative medicine. The rapid advent of induced pluripotency by reprogramming differentiated cells into an embryonic state through cocktails of transcription or chemical factors has opened significant doors to the concept of personalized regenerative medicine. Understanding the fundamental mechanisms of this process may ultimately provide us with unprecedented control to reprogram somatic cells into iPS cells or directly to any desired cell type for the purpose of cell transplantation. Toward that goal, new technologies such as clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR–associated protein 9 gene editing and pluripotent stem cell–based organoids are likely to accelerate new discoveries further.

#### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

BMP Bone morphogenic protein
EpiSC Epiblast stem cell
FGF Fibroblast growth factor
GSK3β Glycogen synthase kinase 3β
HDAC Histone deacetylase
hESC Human embryonic stem cell
iPS cell Induced pluripotent stem cell
LIF Leukemia inhibitory factor
MEK mitogen activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase
mESC Mouse embryonic stem cell
OCT4 Octamer binding protein 4
PRC2 Polycomb repressive complex 2
SOX2 SRY-box 2
TCF3 Transcription factor 3
TGFβ Transforming growth factor β

#### Acknowledgment

The authors thank Ali Brivanlou and Harvir Singh, who were the authors of the previous edition of this chapter, as some of their work in that previous version of the chapter has been carried over to the current version.

## References

- [1] Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 1981;292(5819):154-6.
- [2] Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981;78(12):7634–8.
- [3] Huang G, Ye S, Zhou X, Liu D, Ying QL. Molecular basis of embryonic stem cell self-renewal: from signaling pathways to pluripotency network. Cell Mol Life Sci 2015;72(9):1741–57.
- [4] Wray J, Kalkan T, Smith AG. The ground state of pluripotency. Biochem Soc Trans 2010;38(4):1027–32.
- [5] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282(5391):1145–7.
- [6] Nichols J, Smith A. Naive and primed pluripotent states. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(6):487–92.
- [7] Tesar PJ, Chenoweth JG, Brook FA, Davies TJ, Evans EP, Mack DL, et al. New cell lines from mouse epiblast share defining features with human embryonic stem cells. Nature 2007;448(7150):196–9.
- [8] Gafni O, Weinberger L, Mansour AA, Manor YS, Chomsky E, Ben-Yosef D, et al. Derivation of novel human ground state naive pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2013;504(7479):282-6.
- [9] Theunissen TW, Powell BE, Wang H, Mitalipova M, Faddah DA, Reddy J, et al. Systematic identification of culture conditions for induction and maintenance of naive human pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15(4):471–87.
- [10] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126(4):663-76.
- [11] Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318(5858):1917–20.
- [12] Anokye-Danso F, Trivedi CM, Juhr D, Gupta M, Cui Z, Tian Y, et al. Highly efficient miRNA-mediated reprogramming of mouse and human somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 2011;8(4):376–88.
- [13] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131(5):861–72.

#### 60

#### 4. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF PLURIPOTENCY

- [14] Vallier L, Touboul T, Brown S, Cho C, Bilican B, Alexander M, et al. Signaling pathways controlling pluripotency and early cell fate decisions of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells 2009;27(11):2655–66.
- [15] Hou P, Li Y, Zhang X, Liu C, Guan J, Li H, et al. Pluripotent stem cells induced from mouse somatic cells by small-molecule compounds. Science 2013;341(6146):651–4.
- [16] Kim D, Kim C-H, Moon J-I, Chung Y-G, Chang M-Y, Han B-S, et al. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(6):472-6.
- [17] Zhou H, Wu S, Joo JY, Zhu S, Han DW, Lin T, et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells using recombinant proteins. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(5):381-4.
- [18] Hanna J, Saha K, Pando B, van Zon J, Lengner CJ, Creyghton MP, et al. Direct cell reprogramming is a stochastic process amenable to acceleration. Nature 2009;462(7273):595–601.
- [19] Ying QL, Nichols J, Chambers I, Smith A. BMP induction of Id proteins suppresses differentiation and sustains embryonic stem cell selfrenewal in collaboration with STAT3. Cell 2003;115(3):281–92.
- [20] Qi X, Li TG, Hao J, Hu J, Wang J, Simmons H, et al. BMP4 supports self-renewal of embryonic stem cells by inhibiting mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101(16):6027–32.
- [21] Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Haan S, Hermanns HM, Muller-Newen G, Schaper F. Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. Biochem J 2003;374(Pt 1):1–20.
- [22] Niwa H, Burdon T, Chambers I, Smith A. Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. Genes Dev 1998;12(13):2048–60.
- [23] Cartwright P, McLean C, Sheppard A, Rivett D, Jones K, Dalton S. LIF/STAT3 controls ES cell self-renewal and pluripotency by a Mycdependent mechanism. Development 2005;132(5):885–96.
- [24] Shi Y, Massague J. Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell 2003;113(6):685–700.
- [25] Chen X, Xu H, Yuan P, Fang F, Huss M, Vega VB, et al. Integration of external signaling pathways with the core transcriptional network in embryonic stem cells. Cell 2008;133(6):1106–17.
- [26] Kim MO, Kim SH, Cho YY, Nadas J, Jeong CH, Yao K, et al. ERK1 and ERK2 regulate embryonic stem cell self-renewal through phosphorylation of Klf4. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2012;19(3):283–90.
- [27] Kim SH, Kim MO, Cho YY, Yao K, Kim DJ, Jeong CH, et al. ERK1 phosphorylates Nanog to regulate protein stability and stem cell selfrenewal. Stem Cell Res 2014;13(1):1–11.
- [28] Chen H, Guo R, Zhang Q, Guo H, Yang M, Wu Z, et al. Erk signaling is indispensable for genomic stability and self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112(44):E5936–43.
- [29] James D, Levine AJ, Besser D, Hemmati-Brivanlou A. TGFbeta/activin/nodal signaling is necessary for the maintenance of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. Development 2005;132(6):1273–82.
- [30] Zhang P, Li J, Tan Z, Wang C, Liu T, Chen L, et al. Short-term BMP-4 treatment initiates mesoderm induction in human embryonic stem cells. Blood 2008;111(4):1933–41.
- [31] Xu RH, Chen X, Li DS, Li R, Addicks GC, Glennon C, et al. BMP4 initiates human embryonic stem cell differentiation to trophoblast. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20(12):1261–4.
- [32] Chang L, Karin M. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. Nature 2001;410(6824):37-40.
- [33] Pera EM, Ikeda A, Eivers E, De Robertis EM. Integration of IGF, FGF, and anti-BMP signals via Smad1 phosphorylation in neural induction. Genes Dev 2003;17(24):3023-8.
- [34] Sapkota G, Alarcon C, Spagnoli FM, Brivanlou AH, Massague J. Balancing BMP signaling through integrated inputs into the Smad1 linker. Mol Cell 2007;25(3):441–54.
- [35] D'Amour KA, Agulnick AD, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Kroon E, Baetge EE. Efficient differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to definitive endoderm. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(12):1534–41.
- [36] Ludwig TE, Levenstein ME, Jones JM, Berggren WT, Mitchen ER, Frane JL, et al. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells in defined conditions. Nat Biotechnol 2006;24(2):185–7.
- [37] Sato N, Meijer L, Skaltsounis L, Greengard P, Brivanlou AH. Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. Nat Med 2004;10(1):55–63.
- [38] Hao J, Li TG, Qi X, Zhao DF, Zhao GQ. WNT/beta-catenin pathway up-regulates Stat3 and converges on LIF to prevent differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. Dev Biol 2006;290(1):81–91.
- [39] Ogawa K, Nishinakamura R, Iwamatsu Y, Shimosato D, Niwa H. Synergistic action of Wnt and LIF in maintaining pluripotency of mouse ES cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;343(1):159–66.
- [40] MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 2009;17(1):9-26.
- [41] Park JI, Venteicher AS, Hong JY, Choi J, Jun S, Shkreli M, et al. Telomerase modulates Wnt signalling by association with target gene chromatin. Nature 2009;460(7251):66–72.
- [42] Anton R, Kestler HA, Kuhl M. Beta-catenin signaling contributes to stemness and regulates early differentiation in murine embryonic stem cells. FEBS Lett 2007;581(27):5247–54.
- [43] Takao Y, Yokota T, Koide H. Beta-catenin up-regulates Nanog expression through interaction with Oct-3/4 in embryonic stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007;353(3):699–705.
- [44] Marson A, Foreman R, Chevalier B, Bilodeau S, Kahn M, Young RA, et al. Wnt signaling promotes reprogramming of somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3(2):132–5.
- [45] Wray J, Kalkan T, Gomez-Lopez S, Eckardt D, Cook A, Kemler R, et al. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 alleviates Tcf3 repression of the pluripotency network and increases embryonic stem cell resistance to differentiation. Nat Cell Biol 2011;13(7):838–45.
- [46] Cole MF, Johnstone SE, Newman JJ, Kagey MH, Young RA. Tcf3 is an integral component of the core regulatory circuitry of embryonic stem cells. Genes Dev 2008;22(6):746–55.
- [47] Shy BR, Wu CI, Khramtsova GF, Zhang JY, Olopade OI, Goss KH, et al. Regulation of Tcf7l1 DNA binding and protein stability as principal mechanisms of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Cell Rep 2013;4(1):1–9.

#### REFERENCES

- [48] Atlasi Y, Noori R, Gaspar C, Franken P, Sacchetti A, Rafati H, et al. Wnt signaling regulates the lineage differentiation potential of mouse embryonic stem cells through Tcf3 down-regulation. PLoS Genet 2013;9(5):e1003424.
- [49] Le NH, Franken P, Fodde R. Tumour-stroma interactions in colorectal cancer: converging on beta-catenin activation and cancer stemness. Br J Cancer 2008;98(12):1886–93.
- [50] Roth JF, Shikama N, Henzen C, Desbaillets I, Lutz W, Marino S, et al. Differential role of p300 and CBP acetyltransferase during myogenesis: p300 acts upstream of MyoD and Myf5. EMBO J 2003;22(19):5186–96.
- [51] Miyabayashi T, Teo JL, Yamamoto M, McMillan M, Nguyen C, Kahn M. Wnt/beta-catenin/CBP signaling maintains long-term murine embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104(13):5668–73.
- [52] Ueno S, Weidinger G, Osugi T, Kohn AD, Golob JL, Pabon L, et al. Biphasic role for Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in cardiac specification in zebrafish and embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104(23):9685–90.
- [53] Xu Z, Robitaille AM, Berndt JD, Davidson KC, Fischer KA, Mathieu J, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling promotes self-renewal and inhibits the primed state transition in naive human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2016;113(42):E6382–90.
- [54] Avilion AA, Nicolis SK, Pevny LH, Perez L, Vivian N, Lovell-Badge R. Multipotent cell lineages in early mouse development depend on SOX2 function. Genes Dev 2003;17(1):126–40.
- [55] Chambers I, Colby D, Robertson M, Nichols J, Lee S, Tweedie S, et al. Functional expression cloning of Nanog, a pluripotency sustaining factor in embryonic stem cells. Cell 2003;113(5):643-55.
- [56] Mitsui K, Tokuzawa Y, Itoh H, Segawa K, Murakami M, Takahashi K, et al. The homeoprotein Nanog is required for maintenance of pluripotency in mouse epiblast and ES cells. Cell 2003;113(5):631–42.
- [57] Boyer LA, Lee TI, Cole MF, Johnstone SE, Levine SS, Zucker JP, et al. Core transcriptional regulatory circuitry in human embryonic stem cells. Cell 2005;122(6):947–56.
- [58] Wernig M, Meissner A, Cassady JP, Jaenisch R. c-Myc is dispensable for direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2(1): 10–2.
- [59] Varlakhanova NV, Cotterman RF, deVries WN, Morgan J, Donahue LR, Murray S, et al. Myc maintains embryonic stem cell pluripotency and self-renewal. Differentiation 2010;80(1):9–19.
- [60] Hatton KS, Mahon K, Chin L, Chiu FC, Lee HW, Peng D, et al. Expression and activity of L-Myc in normal mouse development. Mol Cell Biol 1996;16(4):1794–804.
- [61] Varlakhanova N, Cotterman R, Bradnam K, Korf I, Knoepfler PS. Myc and Miz-1 have coordinate genomic functions including targeting Hox genes in human embryonic stem cells. Epigenet Chromatin 2011;4:20.
- [62] Sridharan R, Tchieu J, Mason MJ, Yachechko R, Kuoy E, Horvath S, et al. Role of the murine reprogramming factors in the induction of pluripotency. Cell 2009;136(2):364–77.
- [63] Lin CH, Jackson AL, Guo J, Linsley PS, Eisenman RN. Myc-regulated microRNAs attenuate embryonic stem cell differentiation. EMBO J 2009;28(20):3157–70.
- [64] Smith K, Dalton S. Myc transcription factors: key regulators behind establishment and maintenance of pluripotency. Regen Med 2010;5(6): 947–59.
- [65] Rahl PB, Lin CY, Seila AC, Flynn RA, McCuine S, Burge CB, et al. c-Myc regulates transcriptional pause release. Cell 2010;141(3):432-45.
- [66] Smith KN, Lim JM, Wells L, Dalton S. Myc orchestrates a regulatory network required for the establishment and maintenance of pluripotency. Cell Cycle 2011;10(4):592-7.
- [67] Soufi A, Donahue G, Zaret KS. Facilitators and impediments of the pluripotency reprogramming factors' initial engagement with the genome. Cell 2012;151(5):994–1004.
- [68] Riggs JW, Barrilleaux BL, Varlakhanova N, Bush KM, Chan V, Knoepfler PS. Induced pluripotency and oncogenic transformation are related processes. Stem Cells Dev 2013;22(1):37–50.
- [69] Boyer LA, Plath K, Zeitlinger J, Brambrink T, Medeiros LA, Lee TI, et al. Polycomb complexes repress developmental regulators in murine embryonic stem cells. Nature 2006;441(7091):349–53.
- [70] Ang YS, Tsai SY, Lee DF, Monk J, Su J, Ratnakumar K, et al. Wdr5 mediates self-renewal and reprogramming via the embryonic stem cell core transcriptional network. Cell 2011;145(2):183–97.
- [71] Loh YH, Zhang W, Chen X, George J, Ng HH. Jmjd1a and Jmjd2c histone H3 Lys 9 demethylases regulate self-renewal in embryonic stem cells. Genes Dev 2007;21(20):2545–57.
- [72] Savarese F, Davila A, Nechanitzky R, De La Rosa-Velazquez I, Pereira CF, Engelke R, Takahashi K, et al. Satb1 and Satb2 regulate embryonic stem cell differentiation and Nanog expression. Genes Dev 2009;23.
- [73] Vedadi M, Barsyte-Lovejoy D, Liu F, Rival-Gervier S, Allali-Hassani A, Labrie V, et al. A chemical probe selectively inhibits G9a and GLP methyltransferase activity in cells. Nat Chem Biol 2011;7(8):566–74.
- [74] Huangfu D, Maehr R, Guo W, Eijkelenboom A, Snitow M, Chen AE, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells by defined factors is greatly improved by small-molecule compounds. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26(7):795–7.
- [75] Lee TI, Jenner RG, Boyer LA, Guenther MG, Levine SS, Kumar RM, et al. Control of developmental regulators by polycomb in human embryonic stem cells. Cell 2006;125(2):301–13.
- [76] Tachibana M, Sugimoto K, Nozaki M, Ueda J, Ohta T, Ohki M, et al. G9a histone methyltransferase plays a dominant role in euchromatic histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and is essential for early embryogenesis. Genes Dev 2002;16(14):1779–91.
- [77] Epsztejn-Litman S, Feldman N, Abu-Remaileh M, Shufaro Y, Gerson A, Ueda J, et al. De novo DNA methylation promoted by G9a prevents reprogramming of embryonically silenced genes. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2008;15(11):1176–83.
- [78] Meissner A, Mikkelsen TS, Gu H, Wernig M, Hanna J, Sivachenko A, et al. Genome-scale DNA methylation maps of pluripotent and differentiated cells. Nature 2008;454(7205):766–70.
- [79] Bock C, Beerman I, Lien WH, Smith ZD, Gu H, Boyle P, et al. DNA methylation dynamics during in vivo differentiation of blood and skin stem cells. Mol Cell 2012;47:633–47. United States: 2012 Elsevier Inc.
- [80] Li E, Bestor TH, Jaenisch R. Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell 1992;69(6):915–26.
- [81] Dodge JE, Okano M, Dick F, Tsujimoto N, Chen T, Wang S, et al. Inactivation of Dnmt3b in mouse embryonic fibroblasts results in DNA hypomethylation, chromosomal instability, and spontaneous immortalization. J Biol Chem 2005;280(18):17986–91.

#### 4. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF PLURIPOTENCY

- [82] Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell 1999;99(3):247–57.
- [83] Tsumura A, Hayakawa T, Kumaki Y, Takebayashi S, Sakaue M, Matsuoka C, et al. Maintenance of self-renewal ability of mouse embryonic stem cells in the absence of DNA methyltransferases Dnmt1, Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b. Genes Cells 2006;11(7):805–14.
- [84] Liao J, Karnik R, Gu H, Ziller MJ, Clement K, Tsankov AM, et al. Targeted disruption of DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B in human embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet 2015;47(5):469–78.
- [85] Pawlak M, Jaenisch R. De novo DNA methylation by Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b is dispensable for nuclear reprogramming of somatic cells to a pluripotent state. Genes Dev 2011;25(10):1035–40.
- [86] Huntriss J, Hinkins M, Oliver B, Harris SE, Beazley JC, Rutherford AJ, et al. Expression of mRNAs for DNA methyltransferases and methyl-CpG-binding proteins in the human female germ line, preimplantation embryos, and embryonic stem cells. Mol Reprod Dev 2004;67(3): 323–36.
- [87] Kareta MS, Botello ZM, Ennis JJ, Chou C, Chedin F. Reconstitution and mechanism of the stimulation of de novo methylation by human DNMT3L. J Biol Chem 2006;281(36):25893–902.
- [88] Ooi SK, Qiu C, Bernstein E, Li K, Jia D, Yang Z, et al. DNMT3L connects unmethylated lysine 4 of histone H3 to de novo methylation of DNA. Nature 2007;448(7154):714–7.
- [89] Otani J, Nankumo T, Arita K, Inamoto S, Ariyoshi M, Shirakawa M. Structural basis for recognition of H3K4 methylation status by the DNA methyltransferase 3A ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L domain. EMBO Rep 2009;10(11):1235–41.
- [90] Neri F, Krepelova A, Incarnato D, Maldotti M, Parlato C, Galvagni F, et al. Dnmt3L antagonizes DNA methylation at bivalent promoters and favors DNA methylation at gene bodies in ESCs. Cell 2013;155(1):121–34.
- [91] Weichenhan D, Plass C. The evolving epigenome. Hum Mol Genet 2013;22(R1):R1-6.
- [92] Song CX, Szulwach KE, Dai Q, Fu Y, Mao SQ, Lin L, et al. Genome-wide profiling of 5-formylcytosine reveals its roles in epigenetic priming. Cell 2013;153(3):678–91.
- [93] Freudenberg JM, Ghosh S, Lackford BL, Yellaboina S, Zheng X, Li R, et al. Acute depletion of Tet1-dependent 5-hydroxymethylcytosine levels impairs LIF/Stat3 signaling and results in loss of embryonic stem cell identity. Nucleic Acids Res 2012;40(8):3364–77.
- [94] Ficz G, Branco MR, Seisenberger S, Santos F, Krueger F, Hore TA, et al. Dynamic regulation of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mouse ES cells and during differentiation. Nature 2011;473(7347):398–402.
- [95] Koh KP, Yabuuchi A, Rao S, Huang Y, Cunniff K, Nardone J, et al. Tet1 and Tet2 regulate 5-hydroxymethylcytosine production and cell lineage specification in mouse embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2011;8(2):200–13.
- [96] Costa Y, Ding J, Theunissen TW, Faiola F, Hore TA, Shliaha PV, et al. NANOG-dependent function of TET1 and TET2 in establishment of pluripotency. Nature 2013;495(7441):370–4.
- [97] Dawlaty MM, Ganz K, Powell BE, Hu YC, Markoulaki S, Cheng AW, et al. Tet1 is dispensable for maintaining pluripotency and its loss is compatible with embryonic and postnatal development. Cell Stem Cell 2011;9(2):166–75.
- [98] Langlois T, da Costa Reis Monte-Mor B, Lenglet G, Droin N, Marty C, Le Couedic J-P, Almire C, et al. TET2 deficiency inhibits mesoderm and hematopoietic differentiation in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2014;32.
- [99] Delgado-Olguín P, Recillas-Targa F. Chromatin structure of pluripotent stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells. Brief Funct Genom 2011;10(1):37–49.
- [100] Wang L, Du Y, Ward JM, Shimbo T, Lackford B, Zheng X, et al. INO80 facilitates pluripotency gene activation in embryonic stem cell selfrenewal, reprogramming, and blastocyst development. Cell Stem Cell 2014;14(5):575–91.
- [101] Griffiths DS, Li J, Dawson MA, Trotter MW, Cheng YH, Smith AM, et al. LIF-independent JAK signalling to chromatin in embryonic stem cells uncovered from an adult stem cell disease. Nat Cell Biol 2011;13(1):13–21.
- [102] Ho L, Miller EL, Ronan JL, Ho WQ, Jothi R, Crabtree GR. esBAF facilitates pluripotency by conditioning the genome for LIF/STAT3 signalling and by regulating polycomb function. Nat Cell Biol 2011;13(8):903–13.
- [103] Kidder BL, Palmer S, Knott JG. SWI/SNF-Brg1 regulates self-renewal and occupies core pluripotency-related genes in embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2009;27(2):317–28.
- [104] Gaarenstroom T, Hill CS. TGF-beta signaling to chromatin: how Smads regulate transcription during self-renewal and differentiation. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2014;32:107–18.
- [105] Kim VN. MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005;6(5):376-85.
- [106] Hammond SM, Boettcher S, Caudy AA, Kobayashi R, Hannon GJ. Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. Science 2001;293(5532):1146–50.
- [107] Bar M, Wyman SK, Fritz BR, Qi J, Garg KS, Parkin RK, et al. MicroRNA discovery and profiling in human embryonic stem cells by deep sequencing of small RNA libraries. Stem Cells 2008;26(10):2496–505.
- [108] Morin RD, O'Connor MD, Griffith M, Kuchenbauer F, Delaney A, Prabhu AL, et al. Application of massively parallel sequencing to micro-RNA profiling and discovery in human embryonic stem cells. Genome Res 2008;18(4):610–21.
- [109] Mathieu J, Ruohola-Baker H. Regulation of stem cell populations by microRNAs. Adv Exp Med Biol 2013;786:329-51.
- [110] Stadler B, Ivanovska I, Mehta K, Song S, Nelson A, Tan Y, et al. Characterization of microRNAs involved in embryonic stem cell states. Stem Cells Dev 2010;19(7):935–50.
- [111] Houbaviy HB, Murray MF, Sharp PA. Embryonic stem cell-specific MicroRNAs. Dev Cell 2003;5(2):351-8.
- [112] Suh MR, Lee Y, Kim JY, Kim SK, Moon SH, Lee JY, et al. Human embryonic stem cells express a unique set of microRNAs. Dev Biol 2004; 270(2):488–98.
- [113] Marson A, Levine SS, Cole MF, Frampton GM, Brambrink T, Johnstone S, et al. Connecting microRNA genes to the core transcriptional regulatory circuitry of embryonic stem cells. Cell 2008;134(3):521–33.
- [114] Bernstein E, Kim SY, Carmell MA, Murchison EP, Alcorn H, Li MZ, et al. Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat Genet 2003;35(3): 215–7.
- [115] Kanellopoulou C, Muljo SA, Kung AL, Ganesan S, Drapkin R, Jenuwein T, et al. Dicer-deficient mouse embryonic stem cells are defective in differentiation and centromeric silencing. Genes Dev 2005;19(4):489–501.

#### 62

- [116] Wang Y, Medvid R, Melton C, Jaenisch R, Blelloch R. DGCR8 is essential for microRNA biogenesis and silencing of embryonic stem cell selfrenewal. Nat Genet 2007;39(3):380–5.
- [117] Wang Y, Baskerville S, Shenoy A, Babiarz JE, Baehner L, Blelloch R. Embryonic stem cell-specific microRNAs regulate the G1-S transition and promote rapid proliferation. Nat Genet 2008;40(12):1478–83.
- [118] Qi J, Yu J-Y, Shcherbata HR, Mathieu J, Wang AJ, Seal S, et al. microRNAs regulate human embryonic stem cell division. Cell Cycle 2009; 8(22):3729–41.
- [119] Li Z, Yang CS, Nakashima K, Rana TM. Small RNA-mediated regulation of iPS cell generation. EMBO J 2011;30(5):823-34.
- [120] Liao B, Bao X, Liu L, Feng S, Zovoilis A, Liu W, et al. MicroRNA cluster 302-367 enhances somatic cell reprogramming by accelerating a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition. J Biol Chem 2011;286(19):17359–64.
- [121] Judson RL, Babiarz JE, Venere M, Blelloch R. Embryonic stem cell-specific microRNAs promote induced pluripotency. Nat Biotechnol 2009; 27(5):459–61.
- [122] Zhang Z, Xiang D, Heriyanto F, Gao Y, Qian Z, Wu WS. Dissecting the roles of miR-302/367 cluster in cellular reprogramming using TALEbased repressor and TALEN. Stem Cell Rep 2013;1(3):218–25.
- [123] Zovoilis A, Smorag L, Pantazi A, Engel W. Members of the miR-290 cluster modulate in vitro differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. Differentiation 2009;78(2–3):69–78.
- [124] Barroso-delJesus A, Lucena-Aguilar G, Sanchez L, Ligero G, Gutierrez-Aranda I, Menendez P. The Nodal inhibitor Lefty is negatively modulated by the microRNA miR-302 in human embryonic stem cells. FASEB J 2011;25(5):1497–508.
- [125] Gaspar-Maia A, Alajem A, Meshorer E, Ramalho-Santos M. Open chromatin in pluripotency and reprogramming. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12(1):36–47.
- [126] Zhang H, Jiao W, Sun L, Fan J, Chen M, Wang H, et al. Intrachromosomal looping is required for activation of endogenous pluripotency genes during reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell 2013;13(1):30–5.
- [127] Apostolou E, Ferrari F, Walsh RM, Bar-Nur O, Stadtfeld M, Cheloufi S, et al. Genome-wide chromatin interactions of the Nanog locus in pluripotency, differentiation, and reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell 2013;12(6):699–712.
- [128] de Wit E, Bouwman BA, Zhu Y, Klous P, Splinter E, Verstegen MJ, et al. The pluripotent genome in three dimensions is shaped around pluripotency factors. Nature 2013;501(7466):227–31.
- [129] Wei Z, Gao F, Kim S, Yang H, Lyu J, An W, et al. Klf4 organizes long-range chromosomal interactions with the oct4 locus in reprogramming and pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 2013;13(1):36–47.

This page intentionally left blank

## 5

## Scarless Wound Healing: From Experimental Target to Clinical Reality

Alessandra L. Moore<sup>1,2</sup>, Clement D. Marshall<sup>1</sup>, Allison Nauta<sup>1,3</sup>, Hermann P. Lorenz<sup>1</sup>, Michael T. Longaker<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; <sup>3</sup>Oregon Health and Sciences University, Portland, OR, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Though scarring is the normal outcome of wound healing in adults, little is talked about its long-term consequences. For instance, because skin and other organs scar rather than regenerate after injury, several physiologic sequelae often occur. After bowel surgery, the visceral and parietal peritoneum develop dense scar tissue known as adhesions, which cause postoperative bowel obstructions [1]. After traumatic injury to soft tissue, ligaments, and tendons, scarring can cause contractures that limit movement and cause functional restriction [2]. Scarring in the nervous system results in loss of function because neuronal connections are destroyed [3]. In the cornea, scarring limits visual acuity [4]. Cardiac myocytes are also severely affected by scarring, as seen by the number of arrhythmias associated with impaired conduction after infarct [5]. The only exceptions to the rule of fibrosis after injury in adults are found in bone, oral mucosa, and hepatic tissue, which are capable of partial regeneration [6,7].

The most significant phenotype in skin scar formation can be found in burn injuries [8,9]. Approximately 500,000 patients in the United States undergo medical treatment for burn injuries annually; over one-third of patients have burns that exceed 10% of the total body surface area (American Burn Association Burn Incidence Fact Sheet, 2016). In addition, many of these patients are children, a population that is particularly vulnerable to the negative physical and psychological effects of scarring; 10,000 children are permanently disabled each year from burn injury and fibrosis [8–12]. Perhaps the most dramatic consequence of burns are hypertrophic scars, which afflict up to 70% of burn patients in their lifetime. These dense, fibrous scars can limit range of motion severely and can negatively affect quality of life through pain, itching, and irritation rendered from the scar tissue itself [13]. All of this, of course, does not account for the long-term psychological impact caused by delayed reintroduction to society after hospitalization, partly from disability but also from issues related to confidence and cosmetic appearance [13].

As mentioned, not only normal scars cause problems for adult and pediatric patients. Issues with underhealing and overhealing also cause significant morbidity. Nonhealing chronic ulcers and excessive fibroproliferative scarring are the most common examples of dysfunctional wound healing, each of which is prevalent in certain pediatric and adult populations. Often, dysfunctional wound healing will cause pain, functional restriction, and severe psychological outcomes [14,15]. In patients with chronic illnesses, dysfunctional wound healing usually falls into the category of "underhealing". In this situation, wounds fail to heal for numerous reasons, including infection, impaired blood flow, severe malnutrition, and inadequate wound care. These patients have become an increasing concern, particularly as the population ages and more health care resources are allocated to treat chronic diseases and their associated complications.

Diabetic patients are a dramatic example of the burden of chronic wounds on society. The following statistics, obtained from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's 2014 National Diabetes Statistic Report, illustrate the magnitude of diabetic nonhealing wounds: 29 million people in the United States have diabetes, which makes diabetic patients approximately 10% of the US population. In addition, 65% of diabetic patients have at least one other

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

co-occurring illness. In 2010, 73,00 nontraumatic lower limb amputations were performed in patients with diabetes. A total of 23% of all patients with diabetes have foot problems ranging from numbness to amputations. From 25% to 50% of all hospital admissions for diabetes are for nonhealing ulcers, which are the cause of most nontraumatic extremity amputations performed in the United States each year [16].

On the other extreme, excessive healing is also a serious clinical burden. Pathological scarring causes hypertrophic scars and keloids. Whereas hypertrophic scars eventually abate with management and time, keloids continue to grow as a type of soft tissue tumor that may persist for life after excision [17]. These scarring processes cause functional impairment and symptoms such as burning, itching, and pain. Ultimately, hypertrophic scars and keloids are difficult to treat medically or surgically, particularly because uniform treatment algorithms do not exist [18].

As is noted from these examples of normal and dysfunctional wound healing, the burden of wound healing is substantial in the United States and on patients. As such, research in the field is urgently needed to help patients regain functional abilities and limit morbidity after injury. Here, we discuss the normal mechanism of adult wound healing and explore the remarkable ability of fetal skin to regenerate. Current and future therapeutics will be discussed, with the hope of highlighting the potential of regenerative healing.

#### ADULT SKIN

#### Anatomy of Adult Skin

Adult skin is made up of two layers, the epidermis and dermis. The epidermis is a type of keratinizing stratified squamous epithelium that has five distinct layers, each characterized by the level of keratinocyte maturation. Keratinocytes originate from a thin sheet of stem cells in the basal epidermis and migrate to the surface over 4 weeks to become soft keratin, which eventually sloughs off.

Epidermal appendages, which are epithelial structures that extend intradermally, are an important source of cells for reepithelialization in skin wound healing. Epidermal appendages include sebaceous glands, sweat glands, apocrine glands, and hair follicles. Appendages can extend deep into the dermis or through the dermis into the subcutaneous tissue/hypodermis.

The hair follicle is an important appendage composed of an external outer root sheath attached to the basal lamina that is contiguous with the epidermis. The hair follicle also contains a channel with a hair shaft. Together, the hair follicle and its attached sebaceous gland are called the pilosebaceous unit. The base, or bulb, of the hair follicle contains a committed but proliferating progenitor cell population, as well as the matrix encasing the dermal papilla. The dermal papilla contains specialized mesenchymal cells. From this region, the hair shaft and its channel will grow.

Sweat glands (or eccrine glands) produce sweat, a mixture of water and salts, which functions to cool the body by evaporation. The sweat gland is distinct in that it contains a coiled intradermal portion that extends into the epidermis by a relatively straight distal duct. These glands, too, have an important role in normal skin, as well as physiologic homeostasis.

Below the epidermis lie two distinct layers of the dermis: the more superficial papillary layer and the deeper, more fibrous reticular layer. The papillary dermis is highly vascular, sending capillaries (dermal papillae) superficially. The reticular dermis contains densely packed collagen fibers and tends to be less vascular, except where sweat glands and hair follicles traverse through the tissue. Reticular dermis is also rich in elastic fibers and contains some macrophages, fibroblasts, and adipose cells that participate in skin wound healing [19] (Fig. 5.1).

#### Adult Wound Healing and Scar Formation

Adult wound healing is traditionally described as a sequence of temporally overlapping phases: inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling. Disruption of the vascular network within cutaneous wounds results in platelet aggregation and the formation of a fibrin-rich clot, which protects from further extravasation of blood or plasma. Aggregation of platelets initiates the coagulation cascade [20-22]. In addition to providing hemostasis, platelets modulate fibroblast activity through degranulation and secretion of multiple cytokines and growth factors, such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), platelet factor 4, and transforming growth factor  $\beta 1$  (TGF- $\beta 1$ ). These growth factors and cytokines remain elevated throughout the process of normal wound healing [23,24].

Largely under the influence of platelet-derived inflammatory molecules, neutrophils and monocytes initiate their migration to the wound. Because of the high concentration of neutrophils in circulation, these cells are the first to enter the area of injury and quickly reach high concentrations, becoming the most dominant influence in early wound healing. Neutrophils primarily produce degradative enzymes and phagocytose foreign and necrotic material, but they also produce vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ , interleukin 1 (IL-1),



**FIGURE 5.1 Normal skin anatomy.** Normal skin anatomy is composed of two layers, the epidermis and dermis, with a layer of subcutaneous fat known as the hypodermis below. Contained within the dense array of epithelial cells and extracellular matrix are many specialized structures including sebaceous glands, sweat glands, and hair follicles. In wound healing, normal tissue homeostasis, and tissue engineering, skin stem cells have an important role. Areas where resident adult stem cells are located are indicated by an *asterisk*. Not pictured are interfollicular epidermal stem cells.

and other growth factors that assist in wound healing [25]. Interestingly, studies show that neutrophil infiltration is not essential to normal healing, which demonstrates one of many redundancies in the repair process [26].

The level of inflammation in a wound ultimately depends on the presence or absence of infection. In the presence of infection, neutrophils continue to be active in high concentration throughout later stages of wound healing, leading to further inflammation and fibrosis [22]. In the absence of infection, neutrophils greatly diminish activity by day 2 or 3, as monocytes increase in number in response to both extravascular and intravascular chemoattractants. Monocytes differentiate into macrophages that bind to the extracellular matrix (ECM), which induces phagocytosis and allows for debridement of necrotic cells and fractured structural proteins. During the late inflammatory phase, tissue macrophages release cytokines and scavenge dead neutrophils, then elevate macrophages as the dominant leukocyte in the wound bed. In contrast to neutrophils, studies on tissue macrophage and monocyte-depleted guinea pigs demonstrated macrophages to be essential to normal wound healing through their stimulation of collagen production, angiogenesis, and reepithelialization [27]. However, like neutrophils, if macrophages presist in the wound environment, the result is excess scar formation. Under these circumstances, macrophages produce cytokines that activate fibroblasts to deposit excessive amounts of collagen [28] (Fig. 5.2).

The presence of macrophages in the wound marks the transition between the inflammatory phase and the proliferative phase of wound healing, which begins around day 4–5 after injury. Granulation tissue begins to form and is described as a loose network of collagen, fibronectin, and hyaluronic acid embedding a dense population of macrophages, fibroblasts, and neovasculature. During the deposition of granulation tissue, macrophages and fibroblasts move into the wound space as a unit while new blood vessels sprout from adjacent exposed endothelium [22].

The rate of granulation deposition depends on many factors, including the interaction between fibronectin and fibroblast integrin receptors [29]. Fibroblasts in the wound bed deposit collagen and a proteoglycan-rich provisional matrix, a process that is stimulated by TGF- $\beta$ 1 and TGF- $\beta$ 2 in adult wounds. Studies have shown that exogenous administration of these molecules leads to increased collagen and inflammatory cells at the wound site, which potentially implicates this subfamily of growth factors as a source of overactive scar formation [30,31].

During the proliferative phase of wound healing, which occurs from approximately day 5 to day 14 after wounding, collagen is deposited more densely in the wound. Once a threshold level of collagen is reached, collagen synthesis and fibroblast accumulation are suppressed by an unknown negative-feedback mechanism [32]. The balance



**FIGURE 5.2 Inflammatory cell recruitment to the site of tissue damage.** Therapeutic intervention aimed at dampening the immune response could target any of the steps along the pathway of inflammatory cell recruitment. (A) Leukocytes in blood vessels adjacent to the site of tissue damage emigrate through the vessel wall by diapedesis and (B) migrate to the site of tissue damage in response to chemotactic signals. Inflammatory cells activate resident fibroblasts and attract other bone marrow–derived cells to the wound, where the repair outcome is (C) scar formation. After acting at the wound site, the activated repair cells disperse, differentiate, or (D) apoptose, thus ending the repair response.

of collagen synthesis and degradation is controlled by collagenases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. When this negative feedback does not occur appropriately, pathological scars form with the deposition of densely packed, disorganized collagen bundles [22].

Reepithelialization begins in the first 24 h after wounding, with the goal of creating a new protective, natural skin barrier. Initially, basal keratinocytes at the border of the wound, which under normal circumstances are linked together by desmosomes, detach from each other and the ECM and migrate laterally to fill the void in the epidermis. Through this process, keratinocytes are exposed to serum for the first time. As they are subjected to new and increased levels of inflammatory cytokines and growth factors, keratinocytes are signaled to further migration, proliferation, and differentiation [33].

Neovascularization also occurs during the proliferative phase and is influenced by multiple cytokines, circulating endothelial progenitor cells, and the ECM [34]. The formation of new blood vessels can also be stimulated by lactic acid, plasminogen activator, collagenases, and low oxygen tension [22]. New blood vessels in the wound bed bud and grow at an exceptional rate during skin wound healing, eventually giving the wound bed adequate oxygenation and its characteristic pink hue. Once apoptotic pathways become active again as the granulation tissue matures, angiogenesis eventually desists and the numerous new blood vessels reduce to only a few major tributaries [35].

The maturation phase of wound healing consists of collagen remodeling beginning during the second week of healing. At this point, fibroblasts differentiate into myofibroblasts, which are characterized by greater expression of smooth muscle actin and the ability to contract wounds. Fibroblasts eventually decrease in number from the proliferative phase, and the scar tissue becomes less vascular and paler as vessels involute [36].

Scar tissue finally gains tensile strength as collagen cross-links increase during remodeling, largely owing to the action of myofibroblasts. Maturation involves the replacement of the initially randomly oriented types I and III collagen by predominantly type I collagen organized along the lines of tension. Eventually the process completes; however, scar tensile strength will never reach that of unwounded skin [37] (Fig. 5.3).

### **Fibroproliferative Scarring**

Fibrosis is defined as "the replacement of the normal structural elements of the tissue by distorted, nonfunctional, and excessive accumulation of scar tissue" [38]. Many medical problems are linked to excessive fibrosis, in addition to a number of deaths each year in the United States and across the globe [37,39]. As previously



FIGURE 5.3 Classic stages of wound repair. There are three classic stages of wound repair: inflammation (A), new tissue formation (B), and remodeling (C). (A) Inflammation. This stage lasts until about 48 h after injury. Depicted is a skin wound at about 24–48 h after injury. The wound is characterized by a hypoxic (ischemic) environment in which a fibrin clot has formed. Bacteria, neutrophils, and platelets are abundant in the wound. Normal skin appendages (such as hair follicles and sweat duct glands) are still present in the skin outside the wound. (B) New tissue formation. This stage occurs about 2–10 days after injury. Depicted is a skin wound at about 5–10 days after injury. An eschar (scab) has formed on the surface of the wound. Most cells from the previous stage of repair have migrated from the wound and new blood vessels now populate the area. The migration of epithelial cells can be observed under the eschar. (C) Remodeling. This stage lasts for a year or longer. Depicted is a skin wound about 1–12 months after repair. Disorganized collagen has been laid down by fibroblasts that have migrated into the wound. The wound has contracted near its surface and the widest portion is now the deepest. The reepithelialized wound is slightly higher than the surrounding surface and the healed region does not contain normal skin appendages. *Reproduced with permission from Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature 2008; 453(7193):314–21.* 

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

mentioned, excessive fibroproliferative scarring occurs when the mechanisms of wound healing fail to respond to inhibitory cues at any one of the phases of wound healing. In essence, abnormal scar formation is an excess accumulation of unorganized collagenous ECM. Although the appearance of scars is often unpredictable, several factors influence the severity of scarring. These include not only genetics but also tissue site, sex, race, age, magnitude of injury, and wound contamination. Generally, skin sites with thicker dermal tissue tend to heal with thicker scars. Also, estrogen is believed to promote scarring; premenopausal women have denser scar tissue than do postmenopausal women. Patients with darkly pigmented skin are also more prone to thicker scars, as well [40–44].

#### Keloids

Over months to years, some scars will develop benign but locally aggressive tumors known as "keloids" [45]. This extreme example of fibroproliferative scarring is characterized by "cauliflower" nodules that extend well beyond the area of original injury and continue to grow, sometimes into significant masses [45]. Symptoms can range from irritation and pain to severe disfigurement and functional restriction owing to the appearance, size, color, and location of lesions [17,18,28,39,46–48]. In addition to being disfiguring, keloids tend not to regress. Instead, they can continue to grow slowly over many years, and their growth rate tends to correlate with symptoms. The most common areas affected by keloids are upper-body sebaceous areas, whereas the extremities are less commonly involved [49]. Aside from being involved in areas with a high density of sebaceous glands, tension may have a role in their development over time [45].

Histologically, keloids are characterized by thick, large, closely packed bundles of disorganized collagen. In addition, the scar tissue is colonized by mast cells, eosinophils, plasma cells, and lymphocytes with a stark absence of macrophages [45]. Unlike hypertrophic scars, keloids have nodules in the mid to deep dermis containing densely packed collagen with a few myofibroblasts. Mucin is deposited focally in the dermis, and hyaluronic acid expression is confined to the thickened, granular/spinous layer of the epidermis. Finally, an amorphous and unidentified mucopolysaccharide surrounds the dense collagen bundles in keloidal scars that is not found in other scar tissue types [18].

Interestingly, in keloids, more than one mechanism of dysfunctional healing may be at play. Fibroblasts in keloids tend to respond abnormally to wound healing growth factors, secreting collagen, elastin, and fibronectin with little response to inhibitory compounds. Moreover, the ability for fibroblasts to proliferate in keloids is increased. In addition, dysfunctional apoptosis has been observed as keloidal wounds enter the remodeling phase of wound healing [50]. It is possible that this is partly the result of central scar ischemia and ongoing release of VEGF, hypoxia inducible factor  $1\alpha$ , and other growth factors that promote proliferation [17,18,28,39,46–48]. Finally, although a number of therapies exist for the treatment of keloids, including surgical excision, laser therapy, cryotherapy, and chemotherapy, keloids remain remarkably resistant and recur over time [51–54]. Because of these features, it is possible that keloid tumor cells are mutated skin progenitor cells which are known to display a similar resilience [55] (Fig. 5.4A).

#### **Hypertrophic Scars**

The incidence of hypertrophic scars, another type of fibroproliferative scar, is significantly higher than keloids. This is partly because of the large number of young adults with initially hypertrophic scars that eventually regress with age (35%) [56]. Hypertrophic scars are raised, similar to keloids; however, they are usually no more than 4 mm from the surface of skin. Visually, hypertrophic scars are erythematous or brown-red in color, but they can become pale over time. Also, hypertrophic scars will sometimes regress spontaneously. Yet, also unlike keloids, which are predominantly over skin containing sebaceous glands, hypertrophic scars usually occur on extremity joints such as the elbows and knees [48].

Histologically, hypertrophic scars are characterized by the expansion of collagen bundles that are fine, wellorganized, and parallel to the epidermis. Hypertrophic scars do not have the nodal collagen bundles seen in keloids, but they have islands of hypercellularity in the deep dermis that upon closer inspection contain aggregates of fibroblasts, collagen, and neovasculature. Mucin is absent and hyaluronic acid is a major component of the papillary dermis [18,49].

The purported mechanism of hypertrophic scar formation is increased and ongoing collagen deposition with decreased collagenase activity. In addition, fibroblasts in hypertrophic scars are more likely to assume a myofibroblast phenotype, which may contribute to collagen deposition and scar contracture without addressing scar remodeling. Because 70% of burn victims are affected, initial wound depth may have a significant impact on the development of hypertrophic scars, because they appear to be most common in patients with delayed healing or

ADULT SKIN



FIGURE 5.4 Scar reduction strategies: algorithms for (A) keloids and (B) hypertrophic scars. Modified from Ogawa R. The most current algorithms for the treatment and prevention of hypertrophic scars and keloids. Plast Reconstr Surg 2010; 125(2):557–68.

71

#### 72

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

a prolonged inflammatory phase. In deeper and larger wounds, fibroblasts assume a myofibroblast phenotype, which renders them less capable of reducing type I collagen in scars during the remodeling phase [56] (Fig. 5.4B).

### Underhealing: Chronic Skin Ulcers

Many types of chronic nonhealing dermal ulcers exist, such as pressure ulcers, diabetic lower-extremity ulcers, and venous stasis ulcers. Besides causing pain and disfigurement, chronic ulcerations often lead to infection as well as amputation. In patients with chronic ulcerations such as those who have diabetes, often the single most important life-saving measure is limb salvage to preserve mobility and function [57]. In those who are immobile, pressure ulcers predominate, as seen by their commonality among debilitated or institutionalized patients, those with spinal cord injuries, and patients with cerebrovascular infarcts. The total cost of wound care per hospitalization for pressure ulceration is estimated to be \$130,000, a figure expected to grow as the population ages [58].

Interestingly, nonhealing wounds have distinct histologic hallmarks too, as do keloid and hypertrophic scars have their own set of unique histologic hallmarks. In chronic ulcers, there is excessive neutrophil infiltration, and wounds seem to remain in the inflammatory phase. Likely, the abundance of neutrophils is responsible for the lingering inflammation seen in chronic ulcers. As neutrophils release enzymes, such as collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase [MMP] 8), connective tissue is digested as fast as new matrix is deposited [59]. Neutrophils also release elastase, an enzyme known to destroy PDGF and TGF- $\beta$ , which are important growth factors for normal wound healing [60]. The environment of chronic ulcers is also known to contain an abundance of reactive oxygen species that damage healing tissue [61]. The result of this nonhealing mechanism is a wound that not only fails to heal but perpetuates its existence.

#### FETAL SKIN

## Development of Fetal Skin

The skin's superficial layer, the epidermis, is derived from surface ectoderm, whereas the dermis is generated from mesenchyme. The epidermis starts as a single layer of ectodermal cells covering the embryo, which begins to emerge at gestational day 20 in humans. In the second month, cell division takes place, at which time the periderm (epitrichium) emerges as a thin superficial layer of squamous epithelium overlying the basal germinative layer. Over the next 4–8 weeks, the epidermis becomes highly cellular. New cells are produced in the basal germinative layer and are continuously keratinized and shed to replace cells of the periderm. Together, these cells are part of the vernix caseosa, a greasy white film that covers fetal skin. In addition to desquamated cells, the vernix caseosa contains sebum from sebaceous glands. With sebum and desquamated cells mixed together, this slippery substance serves as a protective barrier during gestation and facilitates passage through the birth canal at delivery.

Replacement of the periderm continues until the 21st week, at which point the periderm has been replaced by the stratum corneum. Through a series of stages of differentiation, the epidermis stratifies into four layers by the end of the fourth month, including the stratus germinativum (derived from the basal layer), the thick spinous layer, the granular layer, and the most superficial stratum corneum. By the time these four layers emerge, interfollicular kera-tinization has begun and the epidermis has developed buds that become epidermal appendages. Melanocytes of neural crest origin have also invaded the epidermis, synthesizing melanin pigment that can be transmitted to other cells through dendritic processes. By the end of the 21st week, the fetal epidermis has many of the components that it will maintain into adulthood. After the 21st week, the dermis begins to mature from a thin and cellular structure to a thick and fibrous one. By 24 weeks of gestation, fetal skin matures and thickens to become histologically distinct from its embryonic beginnings [62].

#### Fetal Scarless Wound Repair

Whereas adult wounds heal with fibrous tissue (scarring), early-gestation fetal skin wounds heal scarlessly. Fetal wounds are capable of healing with restoration of normal skin architecture and preservation of both tissue strength and function. This observation has been confirmed in multiple animal species, including mice, rats, rabbits, pigs, sheep, and monkeys. The mechanisms responsible for fetal scarless wound healing are intrinsic to fetal tissue and are independent of environmental or systemic factors such as bathing in sterile amniotic fluid, perfusion with fetal serum, or the fetal immune system [63–65]. To support this point, studies in which human fetal skin

#### REGENERATIVE HEALING AND SCAR REDUCTION THEORY

that was transplanted subcutaneously into the dorsolateral flank of athymic mice healed without a scar further suggested that the scarless wound phenotype depends on characteristics intrinsic to fetal tissue [66].

Ultimately, scarless fetal wound repair outcomes depend on two factors: the gestational age of the fetus and the size of the wound. Excisional wound healing studies performed on fetal lambs showed that at a given gestational age, larger wounds healed with an increased incidence of scar formation. Likewise, the frequency of scarring increased with increasing gestational age [67]. Since the publication of these studies, transitional periods have been found for humans (24 weeks' gestation) [68], rats (between gestation days 16.5 and 18.5) [64], and mice [69]. Extensive research has been dedicated to determining the culprit for the shift to adult wound healing. Eventually, instead of depositing bundles of ECM in a normal basket-weave pattern, organisms begin to heal breaches in skin integrity with scarring.

Interestingly, as fetuses develop and enter the early period of scar formation, the wound phenotype has been described as a "transition wound." At this point, the repair outcome is tissue that retains the reticular organization of collagen characteristic of normal skin but is devoid of epidermal appendages [70]. The skin does not truly regenerate, but the dermis does not form a scar.

In addition, although the fetal ECM was once thought to be inert, evidence suggests that it is a dynamic structure that has a pivotal role in cellular signaling and proliferation. The fetal ECM is now known to be a reservoir of growth factors essential to development [71]. The fetal ECM also has a structural protein composition different from that of adult skin. For example, the collagen content of the ECM changes as the fetus ages, starting with a relatively high type III to type I collagen ratio and shifting to the type I collagen-predominated adult phenotype. Another structural difference between fetal and adult ECM can be found in the hyaluronic acid content. Hyaluronic acid, the negatively charged, extremely hydrophilic, nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan of the ECM, has been shown to be in higher concentration in the ECM during rapid growth processes such as cellular migration and angiogenesis. In vitro studies show that hyaluronic acid can cause fibroblasts to increase the synthesis of collagen and noncollagen ECM proteins [72]. During adult repair, hyaluronic acid initially increases dramatically, and then decreases from days 5 to 10, after which the concentration remains at a low level. Interestingly, this hyaluronic acid profile is not the case in fetal wound ECM, in which the hyaluronic acid level remains high. Similar to the concentration of type III collagen, the ECM hyaluronic acid content decreases from the fetal to the postnatal period [63].

The concentration of other substances such as decorin, fibromodulin, lysyl oxidase, and MMPs further sets the fetal ECM apart from the adult ECM [71]. These substances are proteoglycan ECM modulators that have a role in the development and maturation of collagen. Lysyl oxidase cross-links collagens whereas MMPs degrade collagen. In addition, decorin content and the expression of lysyl oxidase and MMPs increase as fetal tissue matures. Fibro-modulin modulates collagen fibrillogenesis and has been shown to bind and inactivate TGF-βs. Fibromodulin decreases with gestational age, paralleling the shift from scarless fetal wound healing to scarring adult repair [73] (Fig. 5.5).

## **REGENERATIVE HEALING AND SCAR REDUCTION THEORY**

#### Targeting the Inflammatory Response

Initial research into the mechanisms responsible for scar formation led investigators to focus on the inflammatory phase of wound healing as a target for reducing the incidence and magnitude of scar formation. This choice was based on observations that regenerative wound healing is replaced by scarring as the immune system develops in the embryo [65]. Interestingly, many studies have shown that reduction of inflammation in postnatal skin wounds correlates with reduced scarring [74].

One example of reduced inflammation and scarring can be found in enhanced healing in mice devoid of mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 3 (Smad3), a protein known to transduce TGF- $\beta$  signals. These mice exhibited more rapid reepithelialization and decreased inflammation (blunted monocyte activation) [43]. In another example, PU.1 null mice devoid of functional neutrophils and macrophages heal wounds over a time course similar to that of their wild-type counterparts but exhibit scar-free healing similar to embryonic wound healing [75]. These two studies support the contention that the inflammatory response may be deleterious to normal wound repair by contributing to increased fibrosis. Experiments performed on athymic mice [74] and experiments involving antisense downregulation of connexin43, a protein involved in gap junctions and inflammation, support these findings [74,76]. Furthermore, other studies have provided evidence that wound inflammatory cells from the circulation



**FIGURE 5.5** Wound histologic sections at 48 h after injury in embryonic day 17 fetuses. India ink was injected at the time of injury. (A) Lowpower magnification reveals complete reepithelialization and a mild increase in the number of inflammatory cells present (arrows) (hematoxylin and eosin; original magnification, ×100; bar = 100  $\mu$ m). (B) High-power view shows India ink (arrowheads) collected around regenerating hair follicles (arrow) (eosin; original magnification, ×400; bar = 25  $\mu$ m). (B) Mallory trichrome shows a fine reticular dermal collagen pattern. A white arrow shows a hair follicle (Mallory trichrome; original magnification, ×400; bar = 25  $\mu$ m). *Reproduced with permission from Colwell AS, Krunmel TM, Longaker MT, Lorenz HP. An in vivo mouse excisional wound model of scarless healing. Plast Reconstr Surg 2006;* 117(7):2292–96.

produce signals that either directly or indirectly induce collagen deposition and granulation tissue formation, which increase scarring [77].

Although this research points to the inflammatory phase of wound healing as a cause of scar tissue formation, studies have provided evidence that the inflammatory phase and scarring might not be as directly linked as previously believed. Cox-2, an enzyme involved in prostaglandin production, is a mediator of inflammation. Two studies

show conflicting evidence regarding the effect of Cox-2 inhibition; one study reported decreased scar formation and the other claimed no difference in wound healing or scar formation [78,79]. Likewise, a study that transiently induced neutropenia in mice accelerated wound closure but failed to show a difference between collagen content in neutrophil-depleted wounds compared with wild-type controls [80].

Although other possible mediators of scar formation exist, the inflammatory response remains a major target for ongoing research aimed at preventing or reducing the appearance of scars. As Stramer et al. illustrated, many points exist at which interventions could dampen the inflammatory response. The first target could be leukocytes, at any point as they migrate (1) through the vessel wall from the bloodstream, (2) from outside the vessel to the wound, or (3) as they transmit a signal to fibroblasts, inducing the fibrotic response. A second target could be the fibroblasts themselves, and interventions could be designed to block the action of these cells as they respond to leukocyte signaling [81].

An interesting development in the scar theory was the discovery of heterogeneous fibroblast populations, with certain fibroblasts being responsible for the entirety of scar collagen production. *Engrailed-1*, a gene for a homeobox protein, was used to trace a lineage of fibroblast appearing at the transition from regenerative to scarring phenotype in the dorsal skin of fetal mice, and was also found to deposit all skin scar collagen in adults. This discovery may have uncovered the elusive element behind scar formation and may offer a specific cellular target to achieve regenerative healing. Also, along with the discovery of *Engrailed-1* positive fibroblasts was the discovery of specific inhibitors of these fibroblasts, offering already a potential therapy to achieve reliable scar reduction. Through targeting scar fibroblasts rather than inflammatory cells, perhaps other phases of wound healing, such as the proliferative and remodeling phases, may also be investigated having potential therapeutic benefit [82].

#### **Cytokines and Growth Factors**

#### Transforming Growth Factor $\beta$ Superfamily

Though there is an abundance of knowledge pertaining to the TGF- $\beta$  pathway, the development of clinical tools targeting this growth factor have largely arrested. The TGF- $\beta$  superfamily includes several proteins, the most important are which are TGF- $\beta$ 1, TGF- $\beta$ 2, and TGF- $\beta$ 3; all of them have been shown to influence adult wound healing [83]. These cytokines are secreted by keratinocytes, fibroblasts, platelets, and macrophages, which act to influence their own and other cell populations to migrate into the wound bed [84]. The TGF- $\beta$  superfamily has also been implicated in matrix remodeling and collagen synthesis [85]. Partly, this comes from evidence that TGF- $\beta$ 1 activates myofibroblast differentiation to influence wound contraction and the synthesis of collagen and fibronectin in granulation tissue [86].

Investigators have compared the TGF-β isoform profiles of fetal and adult skin. Results showed that injured fetal epidermis contains a greater amount of TGF-β3, derived from keratinocytes and fibroblasts, and less TGF-β1 and TGF-β2, derived from degranulating platelets, monocytes, and fibroblasts, compared with healing adult skin [87,88]. Since this cytokine profile was discovered, isoforms TGF-β1 and TGF-β2 have generally been thought to be pro-fibrotic, whereas TGF-β3 is thought to support scarless healing [84]. Discovery of the relative ratios of these isoforms prompted experiments aimed at mimicking the embryonic profile, using antibody neutralization of TGF-β1 and TGF-β2 and treatment with exogenous TGF-β3 [89]. Although antibody neutralization of TGF-β1 or TGF-β2 has no effect on wound healing, experiments showed that antisense RNA knockdown of TGF-β1 does in fact reduce scar formation [90]. Likely, the length of time that TGF-β1 is neutralized over the course of wound repair influences scarring, with longer neutralization needed for greater influence on scar reduction [84]. In addition, the coordinated actions of TGF-β1 and TGF-β3 in wound healing may be more complicated and necessary than originally hypothesized, because alterations in the ratio of TGF-β1 and TGF-β3 fail to produce significant results [91].

Interestingly, clinical trials with recombinant TGF- $\beta$ 3 failed to demonstrate diminished scarring. Avotermin, which received acclaim and investment in early clinical trials, failed to meet its Phase III end points [92]. Since then, Avotermin and its alternative were abandoned, perhaps highlighting the importance of integrating TGF- $\beta$  with tissues, cells, or other cell signaling molecules. Now, with the expansion of wound healing biomaterials, the TGF- $\beta$  superfamily is being targeted as a therapeutic to be delivered via biomimetic scaffolds [93]. Engineered as well as dermal composite scaffolds are emerging as potential therapies, with some promising in vivo studies [94].

#### **Connective Tissue Growth Factor**

Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), like many other growth factors in wound healing, is capable of influencing fibroblast differentiation and inflammatory cell migration [95]. It is also considered profibrotic by a mechanism related to TGF- $\beta$ , and through its influence on fibroblasts to deposit scar ECM matrix [95], as evidenced by its

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

increased expression in scleroderma patients [96]. CTGF is a TGF- $\beta$  target gene that is activated by Smad proteins after TGF- $\beta$  binds to and activates its receptors. Once activated, this cysteine-rich matricellular protein binds to integrin and proteoglycan receptors activating pathways such as wingless type (Wnt), bone morphogenic protein, VEGF, and TGF- $\beta$  [97], which highlights the redundancy in many important wound healing signaling cascades.

Adult fibroblasts have higher expression of CTGF than fetal fibroblasts, which makes this an attractive therapeutic target. Studies on fetal fibroblasts stimulated by TGF- $\beta$  show increased expression of CTGF, suggesting that scarless fetal repair may be partially a result of lower CTGF expression [98]. Following this evidence, CTGF was found to have a positive vulnerary effect in diabetic wound healing, accelerating the time to wound closure in diabetic foot ulcers [95]. In a rabbit ear model, hypertrophic scarring improved using messenger RNA (mRNA) antisense inhibition of CTGF [99]. Like TGF- $\beta$ , CTGF may be involved in too many overarching signaling cascades to influence wound healing by solitary treatment with recombinant or inhibitory compounds, although its predominant temporal influence in wound healing may be limited to the early inflammatory phases [97].

#### Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

There are four isoforms of VEGF, VEGF A through D. Keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and macrophages all produce VEGF, which is thought to be one of the main regulators of angiogenesis and vasculogenesis in wound healing. VEGF acts through two receptors in endothelial cells, VEGF-R1 and VEGF-R2.

In adult wound healing, VEGF increases over time and has been associated with angiogenesis [71]. Also, direct and indirect targets of VEGF can affect wound healing [100,101]. However, through studies on fetal rats, scarless healing has an increase in VEGF expression three times higher than what is observed in late-gestation fetal wounds [73]. This work suggests that increased VEGF expression is partially responsible for the accelerated wound healing that occurs early in gestation, but ultimately its role may not be in regulating scarless wound repair.

#### **Fibroblast Growth Factors**

Embryonic wounds contain lower levels of fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), growth factors involved in skin morphogenesis [88]. The expression of FGFs, including keratinocyte growth factors 1 and 2, increases as the fetus ages, which suggests that these growth factors are profibrotic, similar to CTGF and TGF- $\beta$  [102]. Many isoforms have been studied, including FGF-5, which doubles in expression at birth, FGF-7, which multiplies more than seven-fold at birth, and FGF-10, which doubles at the transitional period [71]. In general, downregulation of the FGF isoforms occurs during scarless wound healing, whereas the opposite is true during adult wound healing, which suggests that FGF upregulation is likely partially responsible for scar formation or at least managing cell differentiation and proliferation [71].

Studies suggest that FGFs, as well as Wnts, also have a role in organizing and differentiating embryonic organs [103–106]. Moreover, FGFs may be stored in the ECM by binding to proteoglycans, becoming a reservoir during tissue injury, when serum proteases cleave FGFs into functionally active isoforms and begin their signaling cascade [104]. In injured murine skin, FGF-9 initiates wound-induced hair follicle neogenesis through a feedback loop including two different fibroblast subtypes, the Wnt2a/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway, and FGF-10 [107]. Although studies in electroporation may provide an example of dermal appendage regeneration through ECM maintenance [108], these studies have not been verified, which makes FGF-9 the only single-cell signaling molecule capable of restoring some normal skin architecture during adult skin healing.

#### **Platelet-Derived Growth Factor**

Like FGF, PDGF has been identified as a profibrotic growth factor. Adult wounds contain high amounts of PDGF, whereas this growth factor is virtually absent in embryonic wounds. However, this is largely the result of inhibition of platelet degranulation in embryonic wounds [88]. Experiments involving the administration of PDGF to fetal wounds show that this growth factor induces scarring through increased inflammation, fibroblast recruitment, and collagen deposition [109].

#### Wingless Type Signaling

Wnts are a critical regulatory cell signaling molecule existing in the form of secreted glycoproteins. Wnts, which are usually tethered to a lipid moiety such as a palmitate tail, usually have limited diffusion capacity and function in local tissue environments [110]. In embryos, Wnts have a major role in axial differentiation. In adults, Wnt responsive cells are found in all major tissue types and origins, which suggests Wnts continue to have important roles in adult tissue organization [111]. In adult skin, Wnt-responsive cells can be found in the epidermis and dermis. By expert opinion, Wnt signaling cascades in adult stem cells are thought to be responsible for ongoing cell fate, spatial

recognition, and cell polarity, the importance of which is often understated [111]. In addition, specific Wnt proteins such as Wnt2a may be involved in the cell-to-cell communication necessary for specialized dermal structures to develop, such as new hair follicles in wounded adult skin, as was previously discussed [107].

Wnt expression in fetal tissue is usually higher than in adult tissue at baseline and often gradated [111,112]. With wounding, the expression of Wnts in fetal dermal tissue, as with many other growth factors and inflammatory cells, changes very little [112]; instead, the overwhelming number of organizational growth factors and *Hox* gene products leads to scarless tissue regeneration. In adults, Wnts increase during skin wound repair. However, their role in skin wound healing is less certain because Wnts (1) function mostly as a signal transducer and (2) are difficult to study [112]. Ultimately, Wnts are a promising although enigmatic choice for studying wound healing. Their only foreseeable barriers in clinical translation are appropriate dosing and delivery modalities, because Wnts also have a role in cancer development [106,107].

#### Interleukins

The interleukins (ILs) are a class of cytokines involved in activating the inflammatory cascade; they are frequently targeted as wound healing adjuvants. IL-8 stimulates neovascularization and attracts neutrophils. IL-6 is produced by adult fibroblasts in response to stimulation by PDGF, and then activates macrophages and monocyte chemotaxis. With an insult to skin integrity, IL-6 and IL-8 rapidly increase expression to facilitate recruitment of circulating inflammatory cells to the wound. This elevated expression is maintained over 72 h during adult repair but is suppressed after 12 h during scarless fetal repair. Early fetal fibroblasts express lower levels of both IL-6 and IL-8 than do their adult counterparts at baseline and in response to PDGF stimulation. Therefore, these proinflammatory cytokines are thought to promote scarring. In addition, studies on the administration of IL-6 to fetal wounds induces scarring, which further supports this theory [65,113].

However, IL-10 is thought to be antiinflammatory, based on its antagonism of IL-6 and IL-8. Evidence for this comes from fetal embryonic day (E)15 skin in IL-10 knockout mice grafted to syngeneic adult mice. Incisional wounds on these skin grafts showed scar formation, whereas similar wounds in 15-day gestation wild-type skin grafts on adult wild-type mice healed scarlessly. These results suggest that IL-10 is essential for scarless fetal healing owing to its ability to dampen the inflammatory response [65,113]. In a supporting study, administration of an IL-10 overexpression adenoviral vector reduced inflammation and induced scarless healing in adult mouse wounds [114].

## CURRENT THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS

No currently available therapy can induce postnatal regenerative healing. Although many therapeutic interventions are used to reduce scar formation, research has not adequately demonstrated efficacy or safety for many of these treatments, because of small treatment groups and a lack of well-designed studies. However, the following treatments are used clinically to reduce scarring symptoms and scar formation.

#### **Topical and Intralesional Corticosteroid Injections**

Corticosteroids are commonly used to treat symptomatic scars; triamcinolone is the most commonly used agent. The mechanism of action is multifactorial. The inflammatory response is globally decreased, which secondarily decreases collagen synthesis and increases collagen degradation. Corticosteroids also inhibit fibroblast proliferation and TGF- $\beta$ 1 and  $\beta$ 2 expression by keratinocytes [115,116]. Although 50–100% symptom improvement has been reported, studies are limited by a lack of appropriate controls and poor design [115,117].

The use of corticosteroids is limited by reported adverse consequences in 63% of patients. These effects include delayed wound healing, hypopigmentation, dermal atrophy, and scar widening [117]. Based on successful studies combining corticosteroid injections with 5-fluorouracil therapy and laser therapy, polytherapy may be the best method with which to use steroids, because lower dosing and fewer adverse effects occur [117,118]. Overall, an agent with global reduction in cell protein synthesis and proliferation is not ideal for achieving tissue regeneration.

## 5-Fluorouracil

In the treatment of fibroproliferative scars, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) has been used since the 1990s, with some promising clinical results [119]. This therapy, which represents a middle ground between the low side-effect profile of

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

silicone gel sheeting and the morbidity of surgery, has emerged as a promising alternative for patients who wish to avoid surgery or who have failed conventional treatment algorithms. 5-FU has gained some negative attention because of its use as a chemotherapeutic agent. When given systemically, it has potent side effects though a long-established safety profile. Its mechanism of action involves inhibiting the synthesis of the pyrimidine thymidine, thus inhibiting DNA synthesis in dividing cells and inevitably causing apoptosis [119].

In glaucoma and other proliferative diseases (such as keloids), 5-FU offers promising results when administered locally. When used alone, 45–78% of patients saw improvement in their scar appearance. However, when combined with triamcinolone, the efficacy of local administration improved scar appearance in 50–96% of patients [119]. It may also be combined with surgery to reduce fibroproliferative scar recurrences. Unfortunately, most clinical trials recruit small numbers or are confined to populations inherently at risk for fibroproliferative scarring [120,121]. Further research analyzing the efficacy of 5-FU in scarring is needed, but given its relatively benign local side effects and demonstrated benefits, it should remain an alternative for patients with recalcitrant scarring disorders [18,119,121–123].

#### Imiquimod

Originally marketed as a treatment for verruca, actinic keratosis, and basal cell skin cancer, imiquimod may be used in low-morbidity settings for the treatment of hypertrophic scars and keloids. This Toll-like receptor-7 agonist functions by stimulating dermal inflammatory cells to secrete interferons, ultimately recruiting activated leukocytes to skin when applied topically. There, the effect is mostly mediated by the immune system. This medication represents an exciting, minimally toxic, and targeted method of immune modulation with few systemic side effects, and mostly blistering or skin irritation as the major local side effect.

A few small, randomized controlled trials evaluated the efficacy of imiquimod in the treatment of acute surgical incisions in the breast [124] and in minor dermatologic surgeries [124]. However, the most trials failed to show a difference in scar appearance and potentially may have worsened outcomes by potentiating inflammation [124]. In the case of already formed keloids and hypertrophic scars, imiquimod could be tested in select patients wishing to try nonsurgical therapies, but ultimately this product does not appear to have a role in acute wound healing.

## Laser Therapy

In the 1990s, pulsed dye laser therapy emerged as a potential treatment for fibroproliferative and acute scars [125,126]. Like other disorders of aberrant proliferation, the mechanism proposed involves destruction of new blood vessels to limit, at a minimum, the erythematous appearance of some scars [126]. The idea behind targeting fibroproliferative scars with laser treatment comes from the principle that vascularity is partially responsible for their erythematous appearance. Although some case studies showed positive results in the treatment of keloids, the ischemic mechanism of keloid progenitor cell differentiation and proliferation is concerning [127].

Laser therapy has relatively few adverse effects (hyperpigmentation in 1-24% of patients and transient purpura in some). However, more research is needed to support its efficacy.

#### Bleomycin

Another potent chemotherapeutic being used in dermal fibroproliferative disorders is bleomycin. This antibiotic has profound antibacterial, antiviral, and antitumor activity through DNA strand scission [128]. The exact mechanism of action is not entirely understood, but it is generally accepted that bleomycin induces cell death by forming complexes with iron and other metals that generate free radicals that eventual cleave both double- and single-stranded DNA, as well as degrade RNAs [128]. In resistant hypertrophic scars, keloids, and warts, bleomycin has been used off-label by dermatologists via intradermal injections [129]. Similar to other off-label use products, there are few clinical trials testing its efficacy [129]. However, if monitored closely with an experienced practitioner, it may be effective and safe. Side effects from treatment with bleomycin may be as minor as skin irritation, to as severe as skin necrosis and eschar formation [129]. When giving systemically, bleomycin notoriously causes pulmonary and skin fibrosis in humans and mice [130]. As such, it is often used to induce both conditions in an effort to create mouse models of pulmonary fibrosis and scleroderma [130]. Like other chemotherapeutic agents exploited in wound healing, development of a targeted therapy would be more attractive.

## Silicone Gel Sheets

Maintaining tissue hydration in the base of wounds has long been known to improve outcomes in acute and chronic wound healing. Silicone, in either sheets or gels, emerged in the 1980s as a potential vulnerary agent by providing a hydrating barrier to open wounds. For decades, silicone has been used in deeper tissues, in the form of breast implants or as an interface for matrices used in hernia repair and large tissue defects; which highlight its safety [131,132]. Silicone gel sheets are hypothesized not only to hydrate wounds but also to inhibit collagen deposition and downregulate TGF- $\beta$ 2. Its development came from a series of studies that implicated dehydration of deep dermal fibroblasts as the mechanism for inducing scar collagen production. This therapy has been studied for both treatment and prophylaxis of excessive scarring [133]. Initial studies showed conflicting results in terms of efficacy [134,135], requiring further study. A review emphasized the weak evidence surrounding the use of silicone gel sheets in the treatment of keloids and hypertrophic scars [136]. However, silicone gel sheets will likely continue to be used because they are a noninvasive treatment with few adverse effects. In clinical practice, silicones are usually found as a component to a complex matrix or as a topical therapeutic dressing for chronic wounds [132]. Although the efficacy is unknown, they are safe to continue using and investigating.

#### Pressure Dressings and Negative-Pressure Wound Therapy

Despite being in clinical use since the 1970s [137], pressure dressings have not been validated by experimental trials to be efficacious in prophylaxis or in the treatment of scars [138]. These treatments may be efficacious in reducing the appearance of a scar if used in polytherapy, but further investigation is warranted. Pressure earrings have been used in earlobe keloid excisions but have not been shown to eliminate recurrence.

Pressure is also used in the form of negative-pressure wound therapy. Most surgeons are familiar with this technique, in which a vacuum is applied to an open wound (chronic or acute) to activate mechanotransducers in cells and potentiate cell proliferation and eventual wound closure by secondary intention [139]. The application of negative pressure in wound therapy appears to be ever increasing, with promising results as a treatment for acute wounds [140], chronic wounds [141], burns [142], and for the closure of large contaminated incisions [143]. Many modifications have been made to the vacuum system, such as the application of silicone sheets or foam pads, which ultimately make minor improvements in the overall technology.

#### **Radiation Therapy**

Radiation therapy can also be used as an adjunct to surgical excision in the treatment of keloids. Mechanistically, it is thought to decrease collagen production by reducing fibroblast proliferation and neovascular bud formation. Radiation therapy is most effective for recurrent keloids if a single dose is given within 24 h of surgical excision, but studies have attempted short courses of radiation after healing with positive results, as well [144]. Radiation treatment appears to decrease recurrence rates after surgical excision from 45–100% to 16–27% of patients [145–147]. The magnitude of difference from these studies clearly highlights their limited power.

One limitation of radiation therapy is that standardized dosing, fractionation, time period, and frequency after surgical procedures has not been developed. Reish et al. reported good results in treating recurrent keloids after surgery with 300–400 Gy in three to four fractions or 600 Gy in three fractions [138]. However, like many other studies in wound therapy, large, randomized, controlled studies are required to evaluate the role of radiation further in wound healing. Ideally, therapy that may cause oncogenesis should be avoided. Given the morbidity of radiation, this is not a popular method to reduce scar tissue formation.

### Cryotherapy

Cryotherapy has been studied in conjunction with surgical excision to treat keloids and hypertrophic scars. Many of these studies are limited by small sample size and poor controls, but the largest study reported a 79.5% response rate with 80% reduction in scar volume [148,149]. Cryotherapy is thought to decrease collagen synthesis and mechanically destroy scar tissue. Side effects include hypopigmentation and depressed atrophic scar formation [150]. This therapy can be used as an adjunct to surgery or as monotherapy, but studies question its efficacy in large recalcitrant keloids [151].

## Extracellular Matrix Substitutes and Scaffolds

As the extracellular matrix is researched, it is becoming increasingly apparent that once regarded "inert" structural proteins such as collagen, vimentin, fibronectin, hyaluronic acid, proteoglycans, and glycosaminoglycans are in fact functional and can regulate cell growth [152]. With this discovery, scaffolds mimicking the ECM targeting acute or dysfunctional wound healing have emerged at a rapid rate. The most basic ECM scaffolds are made of single ECM compounds such as collagen or hyaluronic acid, at times integrated in bilayers with synthetics. Examples include Hyalomatrix, Promogran, and Biocol [152]. Acellular dermal matrices, human amniotic membranes, and porcine intestinal mucosa, which once were used for large incision closures and hernias, are also emerging in the market as wound healing adjuvants. These, too, can be combined with a number of additional therapies, from impregnated pharmaceuticals to cultured stem cells [153]. Generally, results are promising in the treatment of chronic and diabetic wounds [152]. However, large randomized controlled trials have not been performed comparing different ECM substitutes.

#### Tension Offloading

An important field of study in wound healing focuses on mechanical forces. There are multiple examples of pressure, suction, or stretch that result in rapid cell proliferation, as is seen with vacuum-assisted wound closure and pregnancy [139,154]. In adult wound healing, tension initiates a signaling cascade leading to the proliferation of local cells typically in a symmetric pattern. Both keratinocytes and fibroblasts have mechanosensors imbedded in their cell membrane. These sensors, with other molecules that bind to the ECM such as integrins, are ion channels that open only when stretched [155]. In the case of fibroproliferative wounds, this may be an inciting factor leading to aberrant cell growth [139]. In fetal wound healing, the loss of dermal architecture leads to the deposition of actin protrusions that will contract and recruit local cells to close gaps in tissue and eventually regenerate lost structures [156]. This is perhaps the most stark difference in wound healing between prenatal and postnatal organisms, in which similar filaments and structures are involved but ultimately are used in entirely different ways [156].

In surgical patients, tension can have a severe impact on wound healing. On the back, chest, sternum, and tibia, incisions naturally stent open and can be predisposed to prolonged healing, infection, and dehiscence whereas areas with low tension and redundant tissue, such as the eyelid, heal with minimal scarring. A clinical trial tested an external tension offloading device known as "embrace<sup>®</sup>" in acute scar revision [157]. Patients achieved significantly diminished scarring with its use.

#### Surgery

Remodeling is a process that can last 1–2 years. During this time, scars can lose their dark pigmentation, flatten, soften, and contractures can lessen. Because scars can often behave unpredictably, surgery is usually reserved until after this period has passed. There are many options for surgical treatment for scarring, including excision with direct closure, local skin flap coverage, or more extensive vascular flap coverage. These treatments are generally considered before surgical treatment or as an adjunct. For fibroproliferative scars, surgical treatment is usually a simple excision, with or without flap closure, depending on the size of the resulting defect. In chronic wounds, burns, and pressure ulcerations, surgery may consist of creating local or pedicled tissue flaps, split-thickness skin grafts, or repeated surgical debridements to encourage healthy wound healing.

## FUTURE THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS

#### Growth Factors and Cell Signaling Molecules

As mentioned earlier, targeting individual cell signaling molecules has not translated to effective clinical treatments. In the case of recombinant TGF- $\beta$ , clinical trials were arrested when the treatment failed to affect wound healing [92]. Monotherapy with solitary ECM components also usually leads to some treatment effect, but none that regenerates normal dermal architecture. Studying the signals influencing cell polarity and differentiation, however, has been more fruitful. FGF-9 is being developed as a therapy for hair loss [107] whereas its target, Wnt2a, may prove to be important in generating new hair placodes. WNt3a has already proved to be valuable in regenerating tissues, and in a mouse model of tissue regeneration, full-thickness excisional wounds taken from the ears closed whereas placebo treatments did not [158]. It is likely that if signaling cascades are targeted specifically via receptor agonists and antagonists, polytherapy will be needed to circumvent redundancies in the inflammatory pathway and signals leading to collagen deposition. These few examples represent the most promising monotherapies currently in use.

#### Targeting Gap Junctions and Connexins

Gap junctions are hypothesized to function during wound repair by transferring injury signals from cell to cell, coordinating the inflammatory response, mediating wound closure, and regulating scar tissue formation in response to injury [46,159–161]. Many connexins (Cx) are present in the skin; the most extensively studied connexin is Cx43, which is expressed in both the epidermis and dermis [76]. Cx43 has decreased expression at the wound edge by the first 1 or 2 days after injury [159]. During wound repair, increased phosphorylation of Cx43 by protein kinase C may cause decreased gap junctional communication through a decrease in unitary channel conductance. This inhibition then initiates the injury-related response by the involved cell, which recognizes injury via reduced cell-to-cell communication [162].

When Cx43 antisense oligonucleotides were applied to mouse skin wounds, decreased inflammatory cell infiltration, fibrotic tissue deposition, and accelerated wound healing were observed [163]. Other studies showed that transient inhibition of Cx43 decreases scarring after burn injury in wild-type mice and increases reepithelialization after burn injury in human diabetic patients [163,164]. To further support these data, Cx43 knockouts have accelerated wound closure [165] and decreased collagen type I synthesis in the presence of chemicals that uncouple communication between cells. Interestingly, these treatments did not affect the levels of collagen type I mRNA [46]. Based on these data, the application of lithium chloride, a substance known to enhance signal propagation through gap junctions, produced the opposite effect: enhancing the deposition of granulation tissue, increasing open wound closure time, and increasing scar [166].

Given the strong correlation between Cx inhibition and improved wound healing, other therapies aimed at blocking signal transduction from cell to cell are under investigation. For example, a group at the Medical University of South Carolina synthesized a membrane permanent peptide containing a sequence designed to inhibit interaction of the ZO-1 protein with Cx43. This peptide, known as ACT1 peptide, decreases the rate of channel organization in gap junctions [167]. Through further investigation, researchers found that this peptide interacts with more than one portion of Cx43 and enhances cutaneous wound healing through decreased inflammation and scarring [160]. The advantage of this novel protein is that overall Cx43 expression is not altered. Moreover, the expression of other genes is not directly altered, unlike with antisense therapy and gene knockdown modalities.

As with the TGF- $\beta$  superfamily, several commercial companies are attempting to develop Cx-related scar reduction therapies. These therapies include Cx43 antisense-based gene therapy and ACT peptide bioengineering [167], which are in the early stages of testing and will not be available for some time.

### Other Drugs and Biologics

Additional strategies increase the expression of intrinsic antiscarring molecules at the wound site, including fibromodulin, hyaluronic acid, and hepatocyte growth factor [168–170]. Other approaches include treatment with inhibitors of MMP [171], inhibitors of procollagen C-proteinase [172], inhibitors of dipeptidyl peptidase IV enzymes [173], as well as treatment with angiotensin peptides [174]. Adenovirus-p21 overexpression has also been linked to scar reduction [175].

## Stem Cells

True skin regeneration at sites of injury has not been accomplished by single molecule—specific therapy. As such, regenerative repair may require a cell-based approach. Stem cell therapy, with the ability to differentiate cells into various necessary cell types, is a promising approach to regenerative repair (Fig. 5.6).

#### **Embryonic Stem Cells**

Embryonic stem (ES) cells are those that may be isolated from the embryo and possess both pluripotency and the capacity for unlimited self-renewal. The discovery of ES cells was the result of work in the 1970s involving transplanting embryonic cells into ectopic sites, which inevitably resulted in teratomatous tumor formation [177]. The discovery of specific embryonic cells that self-renew indefinitely in culture and can generate an entire organism


FIGURE 5.6 Stem cell-based therapies to promote scarless wound healing. Representation showing general principles of two cell-based therapeutic methodologies: (1) application of stem cell-conditioned media, and (2) direct application of stem cells to the wound bed. The poor survivability of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) transplanted to the wound bed has prompted the development of other novel therapies that take advantage of the paracrine mechanisms of action of these cells. Application of conditioned media from umbilical cord blood-derived MSC culture is one such example [178]. Reproduced with permission from Leavitt T, Hu MS, Marshall CD, Barnes LA, Lorenz HP, Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing: finding the right cells and signals. Cell Tissue Res 2016; 365(3):483–93.

or specific cell types led to the concept of the totipotent ES cell [179,180]. It was immediately recognized that these cells held the potential to be used for regenerating dysfunctional organs and tissue. Equally obvious were the potential ethical problems related to using cells from human embryos. Whereas other types of stem cells have been used successfully in clinical therapies, such as hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for hematologic diseases and malignancies, therapies involving ES cells remain entirely experimental.

In an early attempt at tissue regeneration using ES cells, Fraidenraich and colleagues injected wild-type ES cells into mice predisposed to death by cardiac failure. The remarkable result of this experiment was that the mice were rescued from their lethal phenotype through a mechanism that appeared to involve signaling factors released by the ES cells [181].

A potential barrier to using therapeutic ES cells in humans is the host immune response against these foreign cells. Immunocompetent mice mount a robust immune response against human ES cells, leading to limited ES cell survival, although this response can be mitigated with the use of immunosuppression [182].

Another difficulty with using ES cells in human therapy is the formation of teratomas; this is unsurprising because the origin of the ES cell's discovery was in the study of teratoma-forming embryonic cells. Undifferentiated ES cells transplanted into ectopic sites, such as the heart, consistently form teratomas [183]. However, advances in the directed differentiation of ES cells toward specific fates should make teratoma formation less of a concern [184].

Improvements in the purifying and characterizing ES cells have allowed for trials testing their efficacy in human diseases. In a phase I/II clinical trial, patients with macular degeneration were treated with retinal pigment epithelium cells derived from human ES cells and with immunosuppression [185]. Several patients experienced improvements in visual acuity up to 12 months after treatment, a result that would not be expected in the absence of treatment.

Human oligodendrocyte precursor cells derived from human ES cells showed promise in treating spinal cord injury in preliminary rodent experiments [186]. However, human spinal cord injury patients treated with similar cells in a phase I trial showed no improvement after treatment [187]. These results highlight that promising results in animal models are not easily translated to human applications, and that novel stem cell therapies must be tested rigorously in human trials. In addition to macular degeneration and spinal cord injury, diabetes, myocardial infarction, and Parkinson disease are among human diseases that are the subjects of ongoing clinical trials involving ES cells [187].

### Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are nonhematopoietic bone marrow stromal cells that were initially isolated based on their ability to adhere to plastic culture plates. These cells are unique in that they differentiate into

#### FUTURE THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS

mesenchymal lineages such as cartilage, fat, muscle, and bone [188]. MSCs are a heterogeneous group of cells that have had populations isolated not only from the bone marrow but also from adipose tissue and amniotic fluid. Based on their ability to expand in vivo and differentiate into multiple mesenchymal tissue types, these cells are thought to be an ideal source of autologous stem cells used for promoting wound healing and/or scar-reducing therapies [189]. MSC therapy avoids rejection and the ethical and moral concerns associated with ES cell therapies.

MSCs may affect wound healing and tissue regeneration through many different avenues. Once transplanted, these cells migrate to the site of injury or inflammation, where they may stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of resident progenitor cells, secrete growth factors, participate in remodeling [188,190], and modulate the immune and inflammatory responses in the wound bed [191].

A wealth of clinical data attest to the safety of bone marrow—derived MSCs, and emerging data support adiposederived mesenchymal cells as possessing a similar safety profile to bone marrow—derived MSCs [192,193]. Therefore, MSCs could be used to affect various pathways involved in wound healing, including inflammation, aging, and cellular senescence.

Several examples of human wound healing investigations exist using MSCs. The first was a small trial using a fibrin glue vehicle in both acute and chronic wounds. This study demonstrated that topical application of autologous passage 2–10 bone marrow–derived MSCs, combined with fibrin spray, allowed acute surgical wounds and chronic lower extremity ulcers to heal faster. The wound healing speed increased in a manner directly proportional to the number of cells applied [194].

A larger study evaluated patients with various nonhealing wounds. Bone marrow—derived MSCs were applied with a dermal scaffold to wounds, with or without autologous skin grafts. Results showed accelerated healing in wounds treated with MSCs [195]. A limitation of this study was that the cells were not passaged and flow cytometry was not used for isolation. MSCs are known to represent only 0.001% of nucleated cells in the bone marrow; therefore, the cell population used in these experiments was likely heterogeneous and may have contained tissue macrophages that would also assist in wound healing [188].

In a randomized controlled trial in which patients with critical limb ischemia received injections of either allogeneic circulating MSCs or control solution, no difference in outcomes was seen [196]. In a later randomized trial, 24 patients with nonhealing ulcers were randomized to receive autologous cultured MSCs or control treatment [197]. Those treated with MSCs experienced greater symptom improvement and ulcer healing compared with the control group.

Several small, nonrandomized human pilot studies suggested improved healing rates in patients with limb ischemia after treatment with bone marrow—derived mononuclear cells [198–205]. Designed to expand on these results, the JUVENTAS trial is perhaps the most prominent clinical investigation to date based on bone marrow—derived cell therapy [206]. This trial included 160 patients with critical limb ischemia thought to be nonrevascular-izable. Subjects received either injections of bone marrow—derived MSCs or placebo injections. There was no significant difference between groups in rates of amputations or quality of life measures. These results confirm the importance of verifying promising preliminary results with well-designed, randomized trials.

Adipose-derived stromal cells (ASCs) are a potentially promising source for therapeutic cells because they are easily isolated from a patient's own fat tissue and exhibit osteogenic and adipogenic activity in vivo and in vitro [207]. Data from animal models indicate that autologous and allogeneic ASCs can regenerate tissue after injury [208]. Two noncontrolled human trials with small numbers of patients demonstrated improved wound healing after the administration of ASCs [209,210]. However, these results must be interpreted with caution because of the absence of control groups. In a small randomized human trial, a product containing ASCs and fibrin glue accelerated closure of perianal fistulae, which share similarities with nonhealing skin wounds [211]. However, a larger follow-up study showed no improvement with ASC administration compared with control treatment [212].

Further research is needed to characterize MSCs and their niches. As purification and enrichment techniques improve, the role of MSCs in wound healing will gain clarity. Defining the direct role of MSCs in wound repair, as well as their effects on other cells, will guide their future therapeutic potential.

### **Epidermal Stem Cells**

As mentioned previously, the epidermis in humans is a dynamic structure undergoing constant renewal. Epidermal turnover is estimated to take place over 60 days in humans, a process that requires a continuous supply of differentiated cells. Epidermal stem cells have a high capacity for self-renewal, as evidenced by the number of daughter cells that undergo terminal differentiation into keratinocytes [213]. Several stem cell niches are present in the epidermis. The best-characterized are the interfollicular epidermal stem cells and the hair follicle bulge region.

The interfollicular epidermis (IFE) is the region of epidermis located between hair follicles. Under normal homeostatic conditions, IFE stem cells defined by expression of the gene *Lrig1* of the basal layer of the epidermis divide at a steady rate to provide new keratinocytes to populate the epidermis [191,214]. These cells may also contribute to the growth of hair follicles and sebaceous glands [214] Whereas the IFE can receive contributions of cells from other structures, such as the hair follicle, it is also capable of repairing and renewing itself after injury in the absence of these other cells [191].

A separate population of epidermal stem cells defined by embryonic expression of *Lgr6* represents a primitive stem cell population that establishes all lineages of the skin, including cells of the hair follicle, sebaceous gland, and interfollicular dermis. In postnatal life, *Lgr6*-expressing cells reside above the hair follicle bulge and contribute to maintaining the sebaceous gland and the IFE [215].

The hair follicle is a complex structure with several distinct regions whose cellular composition has been exceptionally well-studied. Each regions appears to contain a unique population of hair follicle stem cells (HFSCs). It is clear that HFSCs can repair the hair follicle itself after injury. However, an unresolved question is to what extent HFSCs are critical for regenerating the injured epidermis.

The first hair follicle stem cells to be discovered were those residing in the hair follicle bulge region. These cells are characterized by expression of the genes *Krt15*, *Lgr5*, and *Gli1* [191,216]. Initial experiments showing that these cells are present in the epidermis after a scratch injury suggested that they may participate in epidermal repair [217]. However, subsequent experiments showed that the presence of bulge cells in the epidermis is short-lived. It is likely that the contribution of these cells to long-term skin repair is minimal, and that their main role is to regenerate the hair follicle [191].

The junctional zone of the hair follicle is located above the bulge and adjacent to the sebaceous gland. It contains a complex population of stem cells that generally express *Lrig1* but otherwise have different gene expression profiles and roles in regeneration [191,214]. Those that express *Lgr6* in the embryo form the hair follicle, sebaceous gland, and interfollicular dermis. Postnatally, these cells contribute to repair of IFE and hair follicles. Because these *Lgr6*-positive cells are capable of forming several skin structures, they may represent a primitive skin stem cell [215].

Given the important role of epidermal stem cells in skin formation and regeneration after injury, the possibility of using them in a therapeutic role after injury is intriguing [216,218]. Preliminary experiments in animal models have yielded some promising results, such as epidermal stem cells transplanted onto rat wounds [216,218]. However, a major limiting factor in the therapeutic use of epidermal stem cells is their scarce availability and the difficulty in obtaining them. In patients most in need of new keratinocytes, burn victims, there may not be enough autologous cells left in certain situations to make this a viable clinical tool. At this point, the therapeutic potential for epidermal stem cells is largely theoretical, but research continues to develop at a rapid pace [219].

### **Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells**

Difficulties inherent in deriving and using human ES cells led to interest in generating pluripotent cells from other sources. In a landmark paper, Takahashi and colleagues described the transformation of adult dermal fibroblasts into induced pluripotent (iPS) cells using a specific combination of transcription factors [220]. Generation of iPS cells has been achieved from other human cell types, such as keratinocytes [221]. Using similar processes, fibroblasts may be transformed directly into functional, differentiated cell types such as neurons and cardiac myocytes [222,223]. The potential to derive iPS cells from adult tissue avoids the logistical and ethical problems associated with ES cells. Theoretically, iPS cells may also be used in an autogeneic fashion, avoiding the issue of immune rejection.

Translating the potential of iPS cells into human therapies has been challenging. In the only human trial to date involving the therapeutic use of iPS cells, sheets of retinal pigment epithelium cells derived from iPS cells were implanted into the retina of a patient with macular degeneration. Although the patient reportedly experienced improved vision, the trial was halted owing to concerns about mutations detected in the iPS cells [224].

Advances in molecular biology have the potential to refine and improve methods for generating therapeutic iPS cells. For example, the ability to edit specific genetic sequences using clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats—Cas nuclease 9 may allow for the generation of iPS cells with specific traits that could increase their utility in specific disease processes [225]. In addition, the ability to generate functional organoids from iPS cells may prove to be useful for replacing dysfunctional organs in humans. Various groups have used iPS cells to generate organoids resembling cerebral cortex [226], intestine [227], and kidney [228], among others [229] (Fig. 5.7).

PERSPECTIVE



**FIGURE 5.7 Potential therapies for reducing scar formation during wound repair.** To manipulate wound repair to become more regenerative than scar forming, strategies include the use of biomimetic scaffolds, manipulation of the mechanical environment (for example, negative-pressure wound therapy to increase healing) or the electrical environment, the administration of small molecules, the use of gene therapy approaches, and the use of cell-based strategies (including administration of epithelial stem cells). All of these elements have been demonstrated to have an effect on in vitro and in vivo models of wound healing as single-agent therapies. In theory, many of these elements could be combined to recreate a receptive environment (or "soil") to promote regeneration. Combining these with the appropriate stem cells (or "seed") will undoubtedly alter the result of wound healing in humans. *Reproduced with permission from Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature 2008;453(7193):314–21.* 

### PERSPECTIVE

Our understanding of adult stem cell populations, the complexity of embryonic development, and the redundancy of the adult skin wound healing mechanism has revealed that targeting a single-cell signaling cascade will not be sufficient to recreate scarless wound healing in adult mammals. Rather than the depth of our understanding leading to radical innovations, research has revealed a complex web of interactions among tissue types, structural proteins, developmental and highly evolutionarily conserved growth factors, external forces, and cell-to-cell interactions. On an optimistic note, the number of products for improved wound healing, both acute and chronic, has exploded, giving patients new options and hopes for improved outcomes and wound closure. Unfortunately, however, skin regeneration remains elusive.

With the US population aging and accumulating comorbidities, new solutions are needed that combine scar treatment strategies to prevent the cost of wound healing complications from increasing. Perhaps most exciting, our

85

understanding of stem cell niches and engraftment issues has improved to the point where autologous and allogenic stem cell therapy may become a therapeutic reality. If scarless wound healing cannot be accomplished in healthy adults by activating appropriate "self" signals, it is possible that engineered and cultured grafts may provide the necessary leap to accomplish regenerative healing.

### List of Abbreviations

5FU 5 fluorouracil ASC Adipose-derived stromal cells CTGF Connective tissue growth factor Cx Connexin E Embryonic day **ECM** Extracellular matrix ES Cell embryonic stem cell FGF Fibroblast growth factor HFSC Hair follicle stem cell **IFE** Interfollicular epidermis IL inTerleukin **iPS** Induced pluripotent stem MMP Mixed metalloproteinase MSC Mesenchymal stem cell PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor Smad3 Mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 3 **TGF-\beta** Transforming growth factor  $\beta$ VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor Wnt Wingless type

### References

- Yang PF, Rabinowitz DP, Wong SW, Khan MA, Gandy RC. Comparative validation of abdominal CT models that predict need for surgery in adhesion-related small-bowel obstruction. World J Surg 2016;41(4):940-7.
- [2] Cai J, Wang W, Yan H, Sun Y, Chen W, Chen S, et al. Complications of open elbow arthrolysis in post-traumatic elbow stiffness: a systematic review. PLoS One 2015;10(9):e0138547.
- [3] Huang L, Wu ZB, Zhuge Q, Zheng W, Shao B, Wang B, et al. Glial scar formation occurs in the human brain after ischemic stroke. Int J Med Sci 2014;11(4):344–8.
- [4] Syed-Picard FN, Du Y, Hertsenberg AJ, Palchesko R, Funderburgh ML, Feinberg AW, et al. Scaffold-free tissue engineering of functional corneal stromal tissue. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;12:59–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2363.
- [5] Nayyar S, Kuklik P, Ganesan AN, Sullivan TR, Wilson L, Young GD, et al. Development of time- and voltage-domain mapping (V-T-Mapping) to localize ventricular tachycardia channels during sinus rhythm. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2016;9(12).
- [6] Bastami F, Nazeman P, Moslemi H, Rezai Rad M, Sharifi K, Khojasteh A. Induced pluripotent stem cells as a new getaway for bone tissue engineering: a systematic review. Cell Prolif 2017;50(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12321. Epub 2016 Dec 1.
- [7] Carpino G, Renzi A, Franchitto A, Cardinale V, Onori P, Reid L, et al. Stem/progenitor cell niches involved in hepatic and biliary regeneration. Stem Cells Int 2016;2016:3658013.
- [8] Garcia LP, Huang A, Corlew DS, Aeron K, Aeron Y, Rai SM, et al. Factors affecting burn contracture outcome in developing countries: a review of 2506 patients. Ann Plast Surg 2016;77(3):290–6.
- [9] Oosterwijk AM, Mouton LJ, Schouten H, Disseldorp LM, van der Schans CP, Nieuwenhuis MK. Prevalence of scar contractures after burn: a systematic review. Burns 2017;43(1):41–9.
- [10] Palmieri TL. Pediatric burn resuscitation. Crit Care Clin 2016;32(4):547-59.
- [11] Pardesi O, Fuzaylov G. Pain management in pediatric burn patients: review of recent literature and future directions. J Burn Care Res 2017; 38(6):335–47.
- [12] Wong BM, Keilman J, Zuccaro J, Kelly C, Maynes JT, Fish JS. Anesthetic practices for laser Rehabilitation of pediatric hypertrophic burn scars. J Burn Care Res 2016;38(1):e36–41.
- [13] Finnerty CC, Jeschke MG, Branski LK, Barret JP, Dziewulski P, Herndon DN. Hypertrophic scarring: the greatest unmet challenge after burn injury. Lancet 2016;388(10052):1427–36.
- [14] Shanmugam VK, Couch KS, McNish S, Amdur RL. Relationship between opioid treatment and rate of healing in chronic wounds. Wound Repair Regen 2016;25(1):120–30.
- [15] Zhou K, Jia P. Depressive symptoms in patients with wounds: a cross-sectional study. Wound Repair Regen 2016;24(6):1059-65.
- [16] Markakis K, Bowling FL, Boulton AJ. The diabetic foot in 2015: an overview. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2016;32(Suppl 1):169-78.
- [17] Bennett KG, Kung TA, Hayman JA, Brown DL. Treatment of keloids with excision and adjuvant radiation: a single center experience and review of the literature. Ann Plast Surg 2017;78(2):157–61.
- [18] Kose O, Waseem A. Keloids and hypertrophic scars: are they two different sides of the same coin? Dermatol Surg 2008;34(3):336-46.
- [19] Cormack DH, Cormack DH. Essential histology, vol. 1993. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott Co; 1993. 430 p.
- [20] Clark RA. Biology of dermal wound repair. Dermatol Clin 1993;11(4):647-66.

### 86

### REFERENCES

- [21] Clark RA. Basics of cutaneous wound repair. J Dermatol Surg Oncol 1993;19(8):693-706.
- [22] Singer AJ, Clark RA. Cutaneous wound healing. N Engl J Med 1999;341(10):738-46.
- [23] Henry G, Garner WL. Inflammatory mediators in wound healing. Surg Clin North Am 2003;83(3):483–507.
- [24] Moulin V, Lawny F, Barritault D, Caruelle JP. Platelet releasate treatment improves skin healing in diabetic rats through endogenous growth factor secretion. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand) 1998;44(6):961-71.
- [25] Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature 2008;453(7193):314-21.
- [26] Simpson DM, Ross R. The neutrophilic leukocyte in wound repair a study with antineutrophil serum. J Clin Invest 1972;51(8):2009–23.
- [27] Leibovich SJ, Ross R. The role of the macrophage in wound repair. A study with hydrocortisone and antimacrophage serum. Am J Pathol 1975;78(1):71–100.
- [28] Trace AP, Enos CW, Mantel A, Harvey VM. Keloids and hypertrophic scars: a spectrum of clinical challenges. Am J Clin Dermatol 2016;17(3): 201–23.
- [29] Xu J, Clark RA. Extracellular matrix alters PDGF regulation of fibroblast integrins. J Cell Biol 1996;132(1-2):239-49.
- [30] Ogawa R. The most current algorithms for the treatment and prevention of hypertrophic scars and keloids. Plast Reconstr Surg 2010;125(2): 557–68.
- [31] Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Assoian RK, Smith JM, Roche NS, Wakefield LM, et al. Transforming growth factor type beta: rapid induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis in vivo and stimulation of collagen formation in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986;83(12):4167–71.
- [32] Grinnell F. Fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, and wound contraction. J Cell Biol 1994;124(4):401-4.
- [33] Li W, Henry G, Fan J, Bandyopadhyay B, Pang K, Garner W, et al. Signals that initiate, augment, and provide directionality for human keratinocyte motility. J Invest Dermatol 2004;123(4):622–33.
- [34] Folkman J. New perspectives in clinical oncology from angiogenesis research. Eur J Cancer 1996;32A(14):2534-9.
- [35] Ilan N, Mahooti S, Madri JA. Distinct signal transduction pathways are utilized during the tube formation and survival phases of in vitro angiogenesis. J Cell Sci 1998;111(Pt 24):3621–31.
- [36] Montesano R, Orci L. Transforming growth factor beta stimulates collagen-matrix contraction by fibroblasts: implications for wound healing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988;85(13):4894–7.
- [37] Rahban SR, Garner WL. Fibroproliferative scars. Clin Plast Surg 2003;30(1):77-89.
- [38] Diegelmann RF, Evans MC. Wound healing: an overview of acute, fibrotic and delayed healing. Front Biosci 2004;9:283-9.
- [39] Shaffer JJ, Taylor SC, Cook-Bolden F. Keloidal scars: a review with a critical look at therapeutic options. J Am Acad Dermatol 2002;46(2 Suppl. Understanding):S63–97.
- [40] Ashcroft GS, Dodsworth J, van Boxtel E, Tarnuzzer RW, Horan MA, Schultz GS, et al. Estrogen accelerates cutaneous wound healing associated with an increase in TGF-beta1 levels. Nat Med 1997;3(11):1209–15.
- [41] Ashcroft GS, Horan MA, Ferguson MW. Aging is associated with reduced deposition of specific extracellular matrix components, an upregulation of angiogenesis, and an altered inflammatory response in a murine incisional wound healing model. J Invest Dermatol 1997;108(4): 430-7.
- [42] Ashcroft GS, Horan MA, Ferguson MW. The effects of ageing on wound healing: immunolocalisation of growth factors and their receptors in a murine incisional model. J Anat 1997;190(Pt 3):351–65.
- [43] Ashcroft GS, Yang X, Glick AB, Weinstein M, Letterio JL, Mizel DE, et al. Mice lacking Smad3 show accelerated wound healing and an impaired local inflammatory response. Nat Cell Biol 1999;1(5):260–6.
- [44] Ferguson MW, O'Kane S. Scar-free healing: from embryonic mechanisms to adult therapeutic intervention. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2004;359(1445):839–50.
- [45] Jumper N, Paus R, Bayat A. Functional histopathology of keloid disease. Histol Histopathol 2015;30(9):1033-57.
- [46] Ehrlich HP, Sun B, Saggers GC, Kromath F. Gap junction communications influence upon fibroblast synthesis of Type I collagen and fibronectin. J Cell Biochem 2006;98(4):735–43.
- [47] English RS, Shenefelt PD. Keloids and hypertrophic scars. Dermatol Surg 1999;25(8):631-8.
- [48] Niessen FB, Spauwen PH, Schalkwijk J, Kon M. On the nature of hypertrophic scars and keloids: a review. Plast Reconstr Surg 1999;104(5): 1435–58.
- [49] Tuan TL, Nichter LS. The molecular basis of keloid and hypertrophic scar formation. Mol Med Today 1998;4(1):19-24.
- [50] Touchi R, Ueda K, Kurokawa N, Tsuji M. Central regions of keloids are severely ischaemic. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2016;69(2): e35–41.
- [51] Jones CD, Guiot L, Samy M, Gorman M, Tehrani H. The use of chemotherapeutics for the treatment of keloid scars. Dermatol Reports 2015; 7(2):5880.
- [52] Shin JY, Yun SK, Roh SG, Lee NH, Yang KM. Efficacy of 2 representative topical agents to prevent keloid recurrence after surgical excision. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016;75(2):401.e1-6.
- [53] van Leeuwen MC, Bulstra AE, Ket JC, Ritt MJ, van Leeuwen PA, Niessen FB. Intralesional cryotherapy for the treatment of keloid scars: evaluating effectiveness. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 2015;3(6):e437.
- [54] van Leeuwen MC, Stokmans SC, Bulstra AE, Meijer OW, Heymans MW, Ket JC, et al. Surgical excision with adjuvant irradiation for treatment of keloid scars: a systematic review. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 2015;3(7):e440.
- [55] Qu M, Song N, Chai G, Wu X, Liu W. Pathological niche environment transforms dermal stem cells to keloid stem cells: a hypothesis of keloid formation and development. Med Hypotheses 2013;81(5):807–12.
- [56] Butzelaar L, Ulrich MM, Mink van der Molen AB, Niessen FB, Beelen RH. Currently known risk factors for hypertrophic skin scarring: a review. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2016;69(2):163–9.
- [57] Jones DW, Dansey K, Hamdan AD. Lower extremity revascularization in end-stage renal disease: which patients benefit? Vasc Endovascular Surg 2016;50(8):582-5.
- [58] Brem H, Maggi J, Nierman D, Rolnitzky L, Bell D, Rennert R, et al. High cost of stage IV pressure ulcers. Am J Surg 2010;200(4):473-7.
- [59] Nwomeh BC, Liang HX, Cohen IK, Yager DR. MMP-8 is the predominant collagenase in healing wounds and nonhealing ulcers. J Surg Res 1999;81(2):189–95.

### 88

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

- [60] Nwomeh BC, Liang HX, Diegelmann RF, Cohen IK, Yager DR. Dynamics of the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-1 and MMP-8 in acute open human dermal wounds. Wound Repair Regen 1998;6(2):127–34.
- [61] Wenk J, Foitzik A, Achterberg V, Sabiwalsky A, Dissemond J, Meewes C, et al. Selective pick-up of increased iron by deferoxamine-coupled cellulose abrogates the iron-driven induction of matrix-degrading metalloproteinase 1 and lipid peroxidation in human dermal fibroblasts in vitro: a new dressing concept. J Invest Dermatol 2001;116(6):833–9.
- [62] Moore KL, Persaud TVN, Torchia MG. The Developing human: clinically oriented embryology. 9th ed., vol. 2013. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders/Elsevier; 2013. 540 p.
- [63] Adzick NS, Longaker MT. Animal models for the study of fetal tissue repair. J Surg Res 1991;51(3):216-22.
- [64] Ihara S, Motobayashi Y. Wound closure in foetal rat skin. Development 1992;114(3):573-82.
- [65] Liechty KW, Crombleholme TM, Cass DL, Martin B, Adzick NS. Diminished interleukin-8 (IL-8) production in the fetal wound healing response. J Surg Res 1998;77(1):80–4.
- [66] Lorenz HP, Lin RY, Longaker MT, Whitby DJ, Adzick NS. The fetal fibroblast: the effector cell of scarless fetal skin repair. Plast Reconstr Surg 1995;96(6):1251–9. discussion 60–61.
- [67] Cass DL, Bullard KM, Sylvester KG, Yang EY, Longaker MT, Adzick NS. Wound size and gestational age modulate scar formation in fetal wound repair. J Pediatr Surg 1997;32(3):411–5.
- [68] Lorenz HP, Longaker MT, Perkocha LA, Jennings RW, Harrison MR, Adzick NS. Scarless wound repair: a human fetal skin model. Development 1992;114(1):253–9.
- [69] Colwell AS, Krummel TM, Longaker MT, Lorenz HP. An in vivo mouse excisional wound model of scarless healing. Plast Reconstr Surg 2006;117(7):2292–6.
- [70] Lorenz HP, Whitby DJ, Longaker MT, Adzick NS. Fetal wound healing. The ontogeny of scar formation in the non-human primate. Ann Surg 1993;217(4):391–6.
- [71] Buchanan EP, Longaker MT, Lorenz HP. Fetal skin wound healing. Adv Clin Chem 2009;48:137–61.
- [72] Mast BA, Diegelmann RF, Krummel TM, Cohen IK. Hyaluronic acid modulates proliferation, collagen and protein synthesis of cultured fetal fibroblasts. Matrix 1993;13(6):441–6.
- [73] Colwell AS, Beanes SR, Soo C, Dang C, Ting K, Longaker MT, et al. Increased angiogenesis and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor during scarless repair. Plast Reconstr Surg 2005;115(1):204–12.
- [74] Gawronska-Kozak B, Bogacki M, Rim JS, Monroe WT, Manuel JA. Scarless skin repair in immunodeficient mice. Wound Repair Regen 2006; 14(3):265–76.
- [75] Redd MJ, Cooper L, Wood W, Stramer B, Martin P. Wound healing and inflammation: embryos reveal the way to perfect repair. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2004;359(1445):777–84.
- [76] Qiu C, Coutinho P, Frank S, Franke S, Law LY, Martin P, et al. Targeting connexin43 expression accelerates the rate of wound repair. Curr Biol 2003;13(19):1697–703.
- [77] Martin P, Leibovich SJ. Inflammatory cells during wound repair: the good, the bad and the ugly. Trends Cell Biol 2005;15(11): 599–607.
- [78] Blomme EA, Chinn KS, Hardy MM, Casler JJ, Kim SH, Opsahl AC, et al. Selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition does not affect the healing of cutaneous full-thickness incisional wounds in SKH-1 mice. Br J Dermatol 2003;148(2):211–23.
- [79] Wilgus TA, Vodovotz Y, Vittadini E, Clubbs EA, Oberyszyn TM. Reduction of scar formation in full-thickness wounds with topical celecoxib treatment. Wound Repair Regen 2003;11(1):25–34.
- [80] Dovi JV, He LK, DiPietro LA. Accelerated wound closure in neutrophil-depleted mice. J Leukoc Biol 2003;73(4):448-55.
- [81] Stramer BM, Mori R, Martin P. The inflammation-fibrosis link? A Jekyll and Hyde role for blood cells during wound repair. J Invest Dermatol 2007;127(5):1009–17.
- [82] Rinkevich Y, Walmsley GG, Hu MS, Maan ZN, Newman AM, Drukker M, et al. Skin fibrosis. Identification and isolation of a dermal lineage with intrinsic fibrogenic potential. Science 2015;348(6232):aaa2151.
- [83] Frank S, Madlener M, Werner S. Transforming growth factors beta1, beta2, and beta3 and their receptors are differentially regulated during normal and impaired wound healing. J Biol Chem 1996;271(17):10188–93.
- [84] Lichtman MK, Otero-Vinas M, Falanga V. Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β) isoforms in wound healing and fibrosis. Wound Repair Regen 2016;24(2):215–22.
- [85] Werner S, Grose R. Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. Physiol Rev 2003;83(3):835–70.
- [86] Desmouliere A, Chaponnier C, Gabbiani G. Tissue repair, contraction, and the myofibroblast. Wound Repair Regen 2005;13(1):7–12.
- [87] Hsu M, Peled ZM, Chin GS, Liu W, Longaker MT. Ontogeny of expression of transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-beta 1), TGF-beta 3, and TGF-beta receptors I and II in fetal rat fibroblasts and skin. Plast Reconstr Surg 2001;107(7):1787–94. discussion 95–96.
- [88] Whitby DJ, Ferguson MW. Immunohistochemical localization of growth factors in fetal wound healing. Dev Biol 1991;147(1):207–15.
- [89] Shah M, Foreman DM, Ferguson MW. Neutralisation of TGF-beta 1 and TGF-beta 2 or exogenous addition of TGF-beta 3 to cutaneous rat wounds reduces scarring. J Cell Sci 1995;108(Pt 3):985–1002.
- [90] Choi BM, Kwak HJ, Jun CD, Park SD, Kim KY, Kim HR, et al. Control of scarring in adult wounds using antisense transforming growth factor-beta 1 oligodeoxynucleotides. Immunol Cell Biol 1996;74(2):144–50.
- [91] Penn JW, Grobbelaar AO, Rolfe KJ. The role of the TGF-beta family in wound healing, burns and scarring: a review. Int J Burns Trauma 2012; 2(1):18–28.
- [92] So K, McGrouther DA, Bush JA, Durani P, Taylor L, Skotny G, et al. Avotermin for scar improvement following scar revision surgery: a randomized, double-blind, within-patient, placebo-controlled, phase II clinical trial. Plast Reconstr Surg 2011;128(1):163-72.
- [93] Park JS, Yang HN, Woo DG, Jeon SY, Park KH. SOX9 gene plus heparinized TGF-beta 3 coated dexamethasone loaded PLGA microspheres for inducement of chondrogenesis of hMSCs. Biomaterials 2012;33(29):7151–63.
- [94] Lin CY, Chang YH, Li KC, Lu CH, Sung LY, Yeh CL, et al. The use of ASCs engineered to express BMP2 or TGF-beta3 within scaffold constructs to promote calvarial bone repair. Biomaterials 2013;34(37):9401–12.
- [95] Henshaw FR, Boughton P, Lo L, McLennan SV, Twigg SM. Topically applied connective tissue growth factor/CCN2 improves diabetic preclinical cutaneous wound healing: potential role for CTGF in human diabetic foot ulcer healing. J Diabetes Res 2015;2015:236238.

- [96] Fonseca C, Lindahl GE, Ponticos M, Sestini P, Renzoni EA, Holmes AM, et al. A polymorphism in the CTGF promoter region associated with systemic sclerosis. N Engl J Med 2007;357(12):1210–20.
- [97] Alfaro MP, Deskins DL, Wallus M, DasGupta J, Davidson JM, Nanney LB, et al. A physiological role for connective tissue growth factor in early wound healing. Lab Invest 2013;93(1):81–95.
- [98] Colwell AS, Krummel TM, Longaker MT, Lorenz HP. Fetal and adult fibroblasts have similar TGF-beta-mediated, Smad-dependent signaling pathways. Plast Reconstr Surg 2006;117(7):2277–83.
- [99] Sisco M, Kryger ZB, O'Shaughnessy KD, Kim PS, Schultz GS, Ding XZ, et al. Antisense inhibition of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF/ CCN2) mRNA limits hypertrophic scarring without affecting wound healing in vivo. Wound Repair Regen 2008;16(5):661–73.
- [100] Wang N, Wu Y, Zeng N, Wang H, Deng P, Xu Y, et al. E2F1 Hinders skin wound healing by Repressing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression, neovascularization, and macrophage recruitment. PLoS One 2016;11(8):e0160411.
- [101] Wang P, Jiang LZ, Xue B. Recombinant human endostatin reduces hypertrophic scar formation in rabbit ear model through down-regulation of VEGF and TIMP-1. Afr Health Sci 2016;16(2):542–53.
- [102] Dang CM, Beanes SR, Soo C, Ting K, Benhaim P, Hedrick MH, et al. Decreased expression of fibroblast and keratinocyte growth factor isoforms and receptors during scarless repair. Plast Reconstr Surg 2003;111(6):1969–79.
- [103] Houschyar KS, Momeni A, Pyles MN, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Siemers F. Wnt signaling induces epithelial differentiation during cutaneous wound healing. Organogenesis 2015;11(3):95–104.
- [104] Ornitz DM, Itoh N. The fibroblast growth factor signaling pathway. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 2015;4(3):215-66.
- [105] Potthoff MJ, Kliewer SA, Mangelsdorf DJ. Endocrine fibroblast growth factors 15/19 and 21: from feast to famine. Genes Dev 2012;26(4): 312–24.
- [106] Reya T, Clevers H. Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer. Nature 2005;434(7035):843-50.
- [107] Gay D, Kwon O, Zhang Z, Spata M, Plikus MV, Holler PD, et al. Fgf9 from dermal gammadelta T cells induces hair follicle neogenesis after wounding. Nat Med 2013;19(7):916–23.
- [108] Golberg A, Villiger M, Broelsch GF, Quinn KP, Albadawi H, Khan S, et al. Skin regeneration with all accessory organs following ablation with irreversible electroporation. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;12(1):98–113.
- [109] Haynes JH, Johnson DE, Mast BA, Diegelmann RF, Salzberg DA, Cohen IK, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor induces fetal wound fibrosis. J Pediatr Surg 1994;29(11):1405–8.
- [110] Clevers H, Loh KM, Nusse R. Stem cell signaling. An integral program for tissue renewal and regeneration: Wnt signaling and stem cell control. Science 2014;346(6205):1248012.
- [111] Loh KM, van Amerongen R, Nusse R. Generating Cellular Diversity and Spatial Form: Wnt signaling and the evolution of Multicellular animals. Dev Cell 2016;38(6):643-55.
- [112] Carre AL, James AW, MacLeod L, Kong W, Kawai K, Longaker MT, et al. Interaction of wingless protein (Wnt), transforming growth factorbeta1, and hyaluronan production in fetal and postnatal fibroblasts. Plast Reconstr Surg 2010;125(1):74–88.
- [113] Liechty KW, Kim HB, Adzick NS, Crombleholme TM. Fetal wound repair results in scar formation in interleukin-10-deficient mice in a syngeneic murine model of scarless fetal wound repair. J Pediatr Surg 2000;35(6):866–72. discussion 72–73.
- [114] Gordon A, Kozin ED, Keswani SG, Vaikunth SS, Katz AB, Zoltick PW, et al. Permissive environment in postnatal wounds induced by adenoviral-mediated overexpression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 prevents scar formation. Wound Repair Regen 2008;16(1):70–9.
- [115] Perez P, Page A, Bravo A, Del Rio M, Gimenez-Conti I, Budunova I, et al. Altered skin development and impaired proliferative and inflammatory responses in transgenic mice overexpressing the glucocorticoid receptor. FASEB J 2001;15(11):2030–2.
- [116] Wu WS, Wang FS, Yang KD, Huang CC, Kuo YR. Dexamethasone induction of keloid regression through effective suppression of VEGF expression and keloid fibroblast proliferation. J Invest Dermatol 2006;126(6):1264–71.
- [117] Manuskiatti W, Fitzpatrick RE. Treatment response of keloidal and hypertrophic sternotomy scars: comparison among intralesional corticosteroid, 5-fluorouracil, and 585-nm flashlamp-pumped pulsed-dye laser treatments. Arch Dermatol 2002;138(9):1149–55.
- [118] Asilian A, Darougheh A, Shariati F. New combination of triamcinolone, 5-Fluorouracil, and pulsed-dye laser for treatment of keloid and hypertrophic scars. Dermatol Surg 2006;32(7):907–15.
- [119] Bijlard E, Steltenpool S, Niessen FB. Intralesional 5-fluorouracil in keloid treatment: a systematic review. Acta Derm Venereol 2015;95(7): 778–82.
- [120] Khare N, Patil SB. A novel approach for management of ear keloids: results of excision combined with 5-fluorouracil injection. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2012;65(11):e315-7.
- [121] Kim S, Choi TH, Liu W, Ogawa R, Suh JS, Mustoe TA. Update on scar management: guidelines for treating Asian patients. Plast Reconstr Surg 2013;132(6):1580–9.
- [122] Haurani MJ, Foreman K, Yang JJ, Siddiqui A. 5-Fluorouracil treatment of problematic scars. Plast Reconstr Surg 2009;123(1):139–48. discussion 49–51.
- [123] Ren Y, Zhou X, Wei Z, Lin W, Fan B, Feng S. Efficacy and safety of triamcinolone acetonide alone and in combination with 5-fluorouracil for treating hypertrophic scars and keloids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Wound J 2016;14(3):480–7.
- [124] Prado A, Andrades P, Benitez S, Umana M. Scar management after breast surgery: preliminary results of a prospective, randomized, and double-blind clinical study with aldara cream 5% (imiquimod). Plast Reconstr Surg 2005;115(3):966–72.
- [125] Alster TS. Improvement of erythematous and hypertrophic scars by the 585-nm flashlamp-pumped pulsed dye laser. Ann Plast Surg 1994; 32(2):186–90.
- [126] Reiken SR, Wolfort SF, Berthiaume F, Compton C, Tompkins RG, Yarmush ML. Control of hypertrophic scar growth using selective photothermolysis. Lasers Surg Med 1997;21(1):7–12.
- [127] Eke U, Diaz C, Abdullah A. Keloid scars in type VI skin successfully treated with combined surgery and pulsed dye laser therapy. Br J Dermatol 2013;168(6):1360–2.
- [128] Yamamoto T. Bleomycin and the skin. Br J Dermatol 2006;155(5):869-75.
- [129] Saitta P, Krishnamurthy K, Brown LH. Bleomycin in dermatology: a review of intralesional applications. Dermatol Surg 2008;34(10): 1299–313.

### 90

#### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

- [130] Maeda T, Yamamoto T, Imamura T, Tsuboi R. Impaired wound healing in bleomycin-induced murine scleroderma: a new model of wound retardation. Arch Dermatol Res 2016;308(2):87–94.
- [131] Greenwood JE, Wagstaff MJ, Mackie IP, Mustoe TA. Silicone action in the open wound: a hypothesis. J Burn Care Res 2012;33(1):e17-20.

[132] Lavery LA, La Fontaine J, Thakral G, Kim PJ, Bhavan K, Davis KE. Randomized clinical trial to compare negative-pressure wound therapy approaches with low and high pressure, silicone-coated dressing, and polyurethane foam dressing. Plast Reconstr Surg 2014;133(3):722–6.

- [133] Nedelec B, Carter A, Forbes L, Hsu SC, McMahon M, Parry I, et al. Practice guidelines for the application of nonsilicone or silicone gels and gel sheets after burn injury. J Burn Care Res 2015;36(3):345–74.
- [134] Ahn ST, Monafo WW, Mustoe TA. Topical silicone gel for the prevention and treatment of hypertrophic scar. Arch Surg 1991;126(4):499-504.
- [135] Carney SA, Cason CG, Gowar JP, Stevenson JH, McNee J, Groves AR, et al. Cica-Care gel sheeting in the management of hypertrophic scarring. Burns 1994;20(2):163–7.
- [136] O'Brien L, Jones DJ. Silicone gel sheeting for preventing and treating hypertrophic and keloid scars. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;(9): CD003826.
- [137] Tolhurst DE. Hypertrophic scarring prevented by pressure: a case report. Br J Plast Surg 1977;30(3):218-9.
- [138] Reish RG, Eriksson E. Scars: a review of emerging and currently available therapies. Plast Reconstr Surg 2008;122(4):1068-78.
- [139] Huang C, Holfeld J, Schaden W, Orgill D, Ogawa R. Mechanotherapy: revisiting physical therapy and recruiting mechanobiology for a new era in medicine. Trends Mol Med 2013;19(9):555–64.
- [140] Acosta S, Bjorck M, Wanhainen A. Negative-pressure wound therapy for prevention and treatment of surgical-site infections after vascular surgery. Br J Surg 2016;104(2):e75–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.10403. Epub 2016 Nov 30.
- [141] Dumville JC, Webster J, Evans D, Land L. Negative pressure wound therapy for treating pressure ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015; (5):CD011334.
- [142] Kantak NA, Mistry R, Halvorson EG. A review of negative-pressure wound therapy in the management of burn wounds. Burns 2016;42(8): 1623–33.
- [143] Dumville JC, Owens GL, Crosbie EJ, Peinemann F, Liu Z. Negative pressure wound therapy for treating surgical wounds healing by secondary intention. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;(6):CD011278.
- [144] Keeling BH, Whitsitt J, Liu A, Dunnick CA. Keloid removal by shave excision with adjuvant external beam radiation therapy. Dermatol Surg 2015;41(8):989–92.
- [145] Berman B, Bieley HC. Adjunct therapies to surgical management of keloids. Dermatol Surg 1996;22(2):126-30.
- [146] Kovalic JJ, Perez CA. Radiation therapy following keloidectomy: a 20-year experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1989;17(1):77-80.
- [147] Ship AG, Weiss PR, Mincer FR, Wolkstein W. Sternal keloids: successful treatment employing surgery and adjunctive radiation. Ann Plast Surg 1993;31(6):481–7.
- [148] Har-Shai Y, Amar M, Sabo E. Intralesional cryotherapy for enhancing the involution of hypertrophic scars and keloids. Plast Reconstr Surg 2003;111(6):1841–52.
- [149] Zouboulis CC, Blume U, Buttner P, Orfanos CE. Outcomes of cryosurgery in keloids and hypertrophic scars. A prospective consecutive trial of case series. Arch Dermatol 1993;129(9):1146–51.
- [150] Rusciani L, Paradisi A, Alfano C, Chiummariello S, Rusciani A. Cryotherapy in the treatment of keloids. J Drugs Dermatol 2006;5(7):591-5.
- [151] Bijlard E, Timman R, Verduijn G, Niessen FB, van Neck JW, Busschbach JJ, et al. Intralesional cryotherapy versus excision with corticosteroids or Brachytherapy for keloid treatment: preliminary results of a randomized controlled trial. Plast Reconstr Surg 2015;136(4 Suppl.): 149–50.
- [152] Varkey M, Ding J, Tredget EE. Advances in skin substitutes-potential of tissue engineered skin for facilitating anti-fibrotic healing. J Funct Biomater 2015;6(3):547–63.
- [153] Huang WT, Larsson M, Lee YC, Liu DM, Chiou GY. Dual drug-loaded biofunctionalized amphiphilic chitosan nanoparticles: enhanced synergy between cisplatin and demethoxycurcumin against multidrug-resistant stem-like lung cancer cells. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2016;109: 165–73.
- [154] Ingber DE. The architecture of life. Sci Am 1998;278(1):48-57.
- [155] Wong VW, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Soft tissue mechanotransduction in wound healing and fibrosis. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2012;23(9): 981–6.
- [156] Zulueta-Coarasa T, Fernandez-Gonzalez R. Tension (re)builds: biophysical mechanisms of embryonic wound repair. Mech Dev 2016;144(Pt A):43-52.
- [157] Longaker MT, Rohrich RJ, Greenberg L, Furnas H, Wald R, Bansal V, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the embrace advanced scar therapy device to reduce incisional scar formation. Plast Reconstr Surg 2014;134(3):536–46.
- [158] Whyte JL, Smith AA, Liu B, Manzano WR, Evans ND, Dhamdhere GR, et al. Augmenting endogenous Wnt signaling improves skin wound healing. PLoS One 2013;8(10):e76883.
- [159] Coutinho P, Qiu C, Frank S, Tamber K, Becker D. Dynamic changes in connexin expression correlate with key events in the wound healing process. Cell Biol Int 2003;27(7):525–41.
- [160] Gourdie RG, Ghatnekar GS, O'Quinn M, Rhett MJ, Barker RJ, Zhu C, et al. The unstoppable connexin43 carboxyl-terminus: new roles in gap junction organization and wound healing. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1080:49–62.
- [161] Mori R, Power KT, Wang CM, Martin P, Becker DL. Acute downregulation of connexin43 at wound sites leads to a reduced inflammatory response, enhanced keratinocyte proliferation and wound fibroblast migration. J Cell Sci 2006;119(Pt 24):5193–203.
- [162] Richards TS, Dunn CA, Carter WG, Usui ML, Olerud JE, Lampe PD. Protein kinase C spatially and temporally regulates gap junctional communication during human wound repair via phosphorylation of connexin43 on serine368. J Cell Biol 2004;167(3):555–62.
- [163] Coutinho P, Qiu C, Frank S, Wang CM, Brown T, Green CR, et al. Limiting burn extension by transient inhibition of Connexin43 expression at the site of injury. Br J Plast Surg 2005;58(5):658–67.
- [164] Wang CM, Lincoln J, Cook JE, Becker DL. Abnormal connexin expression underlies delayed wound healing in diabetic skin. Diabetes 2007; 56(11):2809–17.
- [165] Kretz M, Maass K, Willecke K. Expression and function of connexins in the epidermis, analyzed with transgenic mouse mutants. Eur J Cell Biol 2004;83(11–12):647–54.

### REFERENCES

- [166] Brunel AL, Leroux J. [New possibilities for composites in dental restoration]. Rev Stomatol Chir Maxillofac 1974;75(7):987-90.
- [167] Rhett JM, Ghatnekar GS, Palatinus JA, O'Quinn M, Yost MJ, Gourdie RG. Novel therapies for scar reduction and regenerative healing of skin wounds. Trends Biotechnol 2008;26(4):173–80.
- [168] Ha X, Li Y, Lao M, Yuan B, Wu CT. Effect of human hepatocyte growth factor on promoting wound healing and preventing scar formation by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer. Chin Med J (Engl) 2003;116(7):1029–33.
- [169] Iocono JA, Ehrlich HP, Keefer KA, Krummel TM. Hyaluronan induces scarless repair in mouse limb organ culture. J Pediatr Surg 1998;33(4): 564–7.
- [170] Stoff A, Rivera AA, Mathis JM, Moore ST, Banerjee NS, Everts M, et al. Effect of adenoviral mediated overexpression of fibromodulin on human dermal fibroblasts and scar formation in full-thickness incisional wounds. J Mol Med (Berl) 2007;85(5):481–96.
- [171] Witte MB, Thornton FJ, Kiyama T, Efron DT, Schulz GS, Moldawer LL, et al. Metalloproteinase inhibitors and wound healing: a novel enhancer of wound strength. Surgery 1998;124(2):464–70.
- [172] Fish PV, Allan GA, Bailey S, Blagg J, Butt R, Collis MG, et al. Potent and selective nonpeptidic inhibitors of procollagen C-proteinase. J Med Chem 2007;50(15):3442–56.
- [173] Thielitz A, Vetter RW, Schultze B, Wrenger S, Simeoni L, Ansorge S, et al. Inhibitors of dipeptidyl peptidase IV-like activity mediate antifibrotic effects in normal and keloid-derived skin fibroblasts. J Invest Dermatol 2008;128(4):855–66.
- [174] Rodgers KE, Roda N, Felix JE, Espinoza T, Maldonado S, diZerega G. Histological evaluation of the effects of angiotensin peptides on wound repair in diabetic mice. Exp Dermatol 2003;12(6):784–90.
- [175] Gu D, Atencio I, Kang DW, Looper LD, Ahmed CM, Levy A, et al. Recombinant adenovirus-p21 attenuates proliferative responses associated with excessive scarring. Wound Repair Regen 2005;13(5):480–90.
- [176] Leavitt T, Hu MS, Marshall CD, Barnes LA, Lorenz HP, Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing: finding the right cells and signals. Cell Tissue Res 2016;365(3):483–93.
- [177] Kleinsmith LJ, Pierce Jr GB. Multipotentiality of single embryonal carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 1964;24:1544–51.
- [178] Doi H, Kitajima Y, Luo L, Yan C, Tateishi S, Ono Y, Urata Y, Goto S, Mori R, Masuzaki H, Shimokawa I, Hirano A, Li TS. Potency of umbilical cord blood- and Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells for scarless wound healing. Sci Rep 2016;6:18844. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep18844.
- [179] Nagy A, Rossant J, Nagy R, Abramow-Newerly W, Roder JC. Derivation of completely cell culture-derived mice from early-passage embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90(18):8424–8.
- [180] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282(5391):1145–7.
- [181] Fraidenraich D, Stillwell E, Romero E, Wilkes D, Manova K, Basson CT, et al. Rescue of cardiac defects in id knockout embryos by injection of embryonic stem cells. Science 2004;306(5694):247–52.
- [182] Swijnenburg RJ, Schrepfer S, Govaert JA, Cao F, Ransohoff K, Sheikh AY, et al. Immunosuppressive therapy mitigates immunological rejection of human embryonic stem cell xenografts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105(35):12991–6.
- [183] Nussbaum J, Minami E, Laflamme MA, Virag JA, Ware CB, Masino A, et al. Transplantation of undifferentiated murine embryonic stem cells in the heart: teratoma formation and immune response. FASEB J 2007;21(7):1345–57.
- [184] Loh KM, Ang LT, Zhang J, Kumar V, Ang J, Auyeong JQ, et al. Efficient endoderm induction from human pluripotent stem cells by logically directing signals controlling lineage bifurcations. Cell Stem Cell 2014;14(2):237–52.
- [185] Schwartz SD, Regillo CD, Lam BL, Eliott D, Rosenfeld PJ, Gregori NZ, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium in patients with age-related macular degeneration and Stargardt's macular dystrophy: follow-up of two open-label phase 1/2 studies. Lancet 2015;385(9967):509–16.
- [186] Priest CA, Manley NC, Denham J, Wirth 3rd ED, Lebkowski JS. Preclinical safety of human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitors supporting clinical trials in spinal cord injury. Regen Med 2015;10(8):939–58.
- [187] Trounson A, DeWitt ND. Pluripotent stem cells progressing to the clinic. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2016;17(3):194-200.
- [188] Chamberlain G, Fox J, Ashton B, Middleton J. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cell 2007;25(11):2739–49.
- [189] Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, et al. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002;13(12):4279–95.
- [190] Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol 2007;213(2):341-7.
- [191] Plikus MV, Gay DL, Treffeisen E, Wang A, Supapannachart RJ, Cotsarelis G. Epithelial stem cells and implications for wound repair. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2012;23(9):946–53.
- [192] Fang B, Song Y, Liao L, Zhang Y, Zhao RC. Favorable response to human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in steroidrefractory acute graft-versus-host disease. Transplant Proc 2007;39(10):3358–62.
- [193] Garcia-Olmo D, Garcia-Arranz M, Herreros D, Pascual I, Peiro C, Rodriguez-Montes JA. A phase I clinical trial of the treatment of Crohn's fistula by adipose mesenchymal stem cell transplantation. Dis Colon Rectum 2005;48(7):1416–23.
- [194] Falanga V, Iwamoto S, Chartier M, Yufit T, Butmarc J, Kouttab N, et al. Autologous bone marrow-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells delivered in a fibrin spray accelerate healing in murine and human cutaneous wounds. Tissue Eng 2007;13(6):1299–312.
- [195] Yoshikawa T, Mitsuno H, Nonaka I, Sen Y, Kawanishi K, Inada Y, et al. Wound therapy by marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation. Plast Reconstr Surg 2008;121(3):860–77.
- [196] Gupta PK, Chullikana A, Parakh R, Desai S, Das A, Gottipamula S, et al. A double blind randomized placebo controlled phase I/II study assessing the safety and efficacy of allogeneic bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cell in critical limb ischemia. J Transl Med 2013;11:143.
- [197] Dash NR, Dash SN, Routray P, Mohapatra S, Mohapatra PC. Targeting nonhealing ulcers of lower extremity in human through autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Rejuvenation Res 2009;12(5):359–66.
- [198] Tateishi-Yuyama E, Matsubara H, Murohara T, Ikeda U, Shintani S, Masaki H, et al. Therapeutic angiogenesis for patients with limb ischaemia by autologous transplantation of bone-marrow cells: a pilot study and a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2002;360(9331):427–35.
- [199] Teraa M, Sprengers RW, van der Graaf Y, Peters CE, Moll FL, Verhaar MC. Autologous bone marrow-derived cell therapy in patients with critical limb ischemia: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. Ann Surg 2013;258(6):922–9.

### 5. SCARLESS WOUND HEALING

- [200] Li M, Zhou H, Jin X, Wang M, Zhang S, Xu L. Autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells transplant in patients with critical leg ischemia: preliminary clinical results. Exp Clin Transplant 2013;11(5):435–9.
- [201] Lu D, Chen B, Liang Z, Deng W, Jiang Y, Li S, et al. Comparison of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells with bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells for treatment of diabetic critical limb ischemia and foot ulcer: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2011;92(1):26–36.
- [202] Driskell RR, Clavel C, Rendl M, Watt FM. Hair follicle dermal papilla cells at a glance. J Cell Sci 2011;124(Pt 8):1179-82.
- [203] Gupta PK, Chullikana A, Parakh R, Desai S, Das A, Gottipamula S, et al. A double blind randomized placebo controlled phase I/II study assessing the safety and efficacy of allogeneic bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cell in critical limb ischemia. J Transl Med 2013;11(1): 1–11.
- [204] Walter DH, Krankenberg H, Balzer JO, Kalka C, Baumgartner I, Schluter M, et al. Intraarterial administration of bone marrow mononuclear cells in patients with critical limb ischemia: a randomized-start, placebo-controlled pilot trial (PROVASA). Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2011;4(1): 26–37.
- [205] Peeters Weem SMO, Teraa M, de Borst GJ, Verhaar MC, Moll FL. Bone marrow derived cell therapy in critical limb ischemia: a meta-analysis of randomized placebo controlled trials. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2015;50(6):775–83.
- [206] Teraa M, Sprengers RW, Schutgens RE, Slaper-Cortenbach IC, van der Graaf Y, Algra A, et al. Effect of repetitive intra-arterial infusion of bone marrow mononuclear cells in patients with no-option limb ischemia: the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Rejuvenating Endothelial Progenitor Cells via Transcutaneous Intra-arterial Supplementation (JUVENTAS) trial. Circulation 2015;131(10):851–60.
- [207] McArdle A, Chung MT, Paik KJ, Duldulao C, Chan C, Rennert R, et al. Positive selection for bone morphogenetic protein receptor type-IB promotes differentiation and specification of human adipose-derived stromal cells toward an osteogenic lineage. Tissue Eng Part A 2014; 20(21–22):3031–40.
- [208] Levi B, James AW, Nelson ER, Vistnes D, Wu B, Lee M, et al. Human adipose derived stromal cells heal critical size mouse calvarial defects. PLoS One 2010;5(6):e11177.
- [209] Bura A, Planat-Benard V, Bourin P, Silvestre JS, Gross F, Grolleau JL, et al. Phase I trial: the use of autologous cultured adipose-derived stroma/stem cells to treat patients with non-revascularizable critical limb ischemia. Cytotherapy 2014;16(2):245–57.
- [210] Marino G, Moraci M, Armenia E, Orabona C, Sergio R, De Sena G, et al. Therapy with autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells for the care of chronic ulcer of lower limbs in patients with peripheral arterial disease. J Surg Res 2013;185(1):36–44.
- [211] Garcia-Olmo D, Herreros D, Pascual J, Pascual JA, Del-Valle E, Zorrilla J, et al. Expanded adipose-derived stem cells for the treatment of complex perianal fistula: a phase II clinical trial. Dis Colon Rectum 2009;52(1):79–86.
- [212] Herreros MD, Garcia-Arranz M, Guadalajara H, De-La-Quintana P, Garcia-Olmo D. Autologous expanded adipose-derived stem cells for the treatment of complex cryptoglandular perianal fistulas: a phase III randomized clinical trial (FATT 1: fistula Advanced Therapy Trial 1) and long-term evaluation. Dis Colon Rectum 2012;55(7):762–72.
- [213] Watt FM. Epidermal stem cells: markers, patterning and the control of stem cell fate. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1998;353(1370): 831–7.
- [214] Jensen KB, Collins CA, Nascimento E, Tan DW, Frye M, Itami S, et al. Lrig1 expression defines a distinct multipotent stem cell population in mammalian epidermis. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(5):427–39.
- [215] Snippert HJ, Haegebarth A, Kasper M, Jaks V, van Es JH, Barker N, et al. Lgr6 marks stem cells in the hair follicle that generate all cell lineages of the skin. Science 2010;327(5971):1385–9.
- [216] Ito M, Liu Y, Yang Z, Nguyen J, Liang F, Morris RJ, et al. Stem cells in the hair follicle bulge contribute to wound repair but not to homeostasis of the epidermis. Nat Med 2005;11(12):1351–4.
- [217] Tumbar T, Guasch G, Greco V, Blanpain C, Lowry WE, Rendl M, et al. Defining the epithelial stem cell niche in skin. Science 2004;303(5656): 359–63.
- [218] Garcin CL, Ansell DM, Headon DJ, Paus R, Hardman MJ. Hair follicle bulge stem cells appear dispensable for the acute phase of wound Reepithelialization. Stem Cell 2016;34(5):1377–85.
- [219] Surrao DC, Boon K, Borys B, Sinha S, Kumar R, Biernaskie J, et al. Large-scale expansion of human skin-derived precursor cells (hSKPs) in stirred suspension bioreactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 2016;113(12):2725–38.
- [220] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131(5):861–72.
- [221] Aasen T, Raya A, Barrero MJ, Garreta E, Consiglio A, Gonzalez F, et al. Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26(11):1276–84.
- [222] Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Pang ZP, Kokubu Y, Sudhof TC, Wernig M. Direct conversion of fibroblasts to functional neurons by defined factors. Nature 2010;463(7284):1035–41.
- [223] Ieda M, Fu JD, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, et al. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell 2010;142(3):375–86.
- [224] Scudellari M. How iPS cells changed the world. Nature 2016;534(7607):310-2.
- [225] Paquet D, Kwart D, Chen A, Sproul A, Jacob S, Teo S, et al. Efficient introduction of specific homozygous and heterozygous mutations using CRISPR/Cas9. Nature 2016;533(7601):125–9.
- [226] Eiraku M, Watanabe K, Matsuo-Takasaki M, Kawada M, Yonemura S, Matsumura M, et al. Self-organized formation of polarized cortical tissues from ESCs and its active manipulation by extrinsic signals. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3(5):519–32.
- [227] Sato T, Vries RG, Snippert HJ, van de Wetering M, Barker N, Stange DE, et al. Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature 2009;459(7244):262–5.
- [228] Takasato M, Er PX, Becroft M, Vanslambrouck JM, Stanley EG, Elefanty AG, et al. Directing human embryonic stem cell differentiation towards a renal lineage generates a self-organizing kidney. Nat Cell Biol 2014;16(1):118–26.
- [229] Willyard C. The boom in mini stomachs, brains, breasts, kidneys and more. Nature 2015;523(7562):520-2.

### 92

### 6

### Progenitor and Stem Cell Heterogeneity: Using Big Data to Divide and Conquer

Melanie Rodrigues, Paul A. Mittermiller, Jagannath Padmanabhan, Geoffrey C. Gurtner Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

### INTRODUCTION

Traditional analysis of cells has relied on pooling of RNA or protein from hundreds of thousands of cells and displaying aggregate or average expression of replicate samples. These tools, which include polymerase chain reaction (PCR), microarrays, and western blotting, have been powerful in unfolding transcriptional networks, signaling cascades, and metabolic pathways, to advance our knowledge of disease and therapy. However, the underlying assumption with these techniques is that the population average represents the dominant biological state within the population. This assumption is flawed in most cases because the activity of each cell of the population is not reflected by the population average. Importantly, population averages are unable to capture the activity of rare but critical cells such as stem cells, or transiently amplifying cells such as progenitor cells (Fig. 6.1A). Interrogation of these rare but critical cells could prove to be key regulators of disease progression and therapy.

With the evolution of single-cell technologies such as high-throughput sequencing (HTS), it is possible to evaluate single cells with a high degree of comprehensiveness. These technologies provide information about transcript expression, gene fusions, mutations, or single-nucleotide polymorphisms in individual cells. Outlier cells are no longer considered errors in measurement by default, but can be tested for the presence of a unique function. It is also possible to detect whether a cell population is homogeneous or if cells display heterogeneity by clustering the single-cell data into subpopulations of cells that exist in metastates. These subpopulations can then be tested for functional relevance in tissue homeostasis, repair, and disease (Fig. 6.1B).

In homeostasis, cellular subpopulations function in a stable yet adaptable population equilibrium [1,2]. For example, in the skin, epithelial cells that display a high turnover rate are maintained by distinct subpopulations of self-renewing epithelial stem cells [3]. Similarly, in the bone marrow, the transcriptional, epigenetic, and functional heterogeneity of hematopoietic stem cells determines their cell cycle potential and differentiation ability [4,5]. A second level of complexity arises in tissue injury and repair. After tissue injury, various cell types need to be activated in spatiotemporal concert to bring about healing. In wound repair, for example, multiple cell types within the epidermis, dermis, hypodermis, and circulation must coordinate to bring about healing [6]. Single-cell technologies have revealed heterogeneity within several of the cell types involved in this repair process [7]. However, in tissues such as the heart and the brain, resident cells are still largely considered homogeneous owing to limited access to these tissues in the normal human state.

Cellular heterogeneity also has a critical role in disease and consequences for how the diseased tissue is diagnosed and treated. In cancer biology, tumors display intertumor heterogeneity in which genetic and phenotypic variations are observed between individuals with the same type of tumor, or between tumors in different tissue types of the same individual. However, tumors also exhibit intratumor heterogeneity in which cells within the same tumor exhibit differences in gene expression, cellular morphology, motility, proliferation, metabolism, metastatic potential, and recurrence potential. Alterations in these cellular characteristics can be determined using next-generation HTS



FIGURE 6.1 Population assays versus single-cell assays. In population-averaged techniques such as traditional microarray analysis, messenger RNA (*green*) from all cells (*black circles*) are pooled together and the aggregate expression level is reported. When studying hetero-geneous populations, such as in cancer and stem cell biology, this approach can lead to considerable loss of information (A). Using single-cell analysis, it is possible to determine whether the population of cells can be further subdivided into subpopulations that are distinct from each other (B).

aided by computational analysis. These technologies have also made it feasible to detect mutational burden and the temporal order of mutations within tumors [8].

Traditional population assays cannot detect cellular heterogeneity because they obscure the response of individual cells and cellular subpopulations. Population assays also require hundreds of thousands of cells to be analyzed, which makes it difficult to study cellular heterogeneity in relatively small samples that are hard to obtain. In comparison, single-cell technologies can determine accurately and comprehensively differences at the genomic,

### SINGLE-CELL ISOLATION

95

transcriptional, translation, or epigenetic level. These technologies can assay rare cells. In addition, they allow for analysis of cells in an unbiased manner without the use of markers a priori.

Although single-cell technologies are associated with several advantages, it is necessary to determine the need for resolution at the single-cell level. This is critical considering that the human body is composed of approximately 37.2 trillion cells [9] and each cell generates large datasets of information that must be analyzed computationally and mathematically. Once the need for single-cell analysis is established, it is essential to understand whether the biologic question requires a broad net to be cast to capture information about cellular behavior, or whether a targeted approach is required to reveal only certain cellular features with accuracy and precision. Thus, accuracy, precision, and comprehensiveness determine which technique is selected to answer the biologic question. Accuracy is the measure of certainty or validity that the measured value is close to the true value [10]. It is estimated by comparing the measurements generated by the single-cell technique with a reference standard technique (such as quantitative PCR for transcriptomic analysis). Precision is the ability to replicate or reproduce a measurement. In transcriptomics, high precision is associated with a narrow distribution of gene expression values [10]. Comprehensiveness or sensitivity is the amount of information obtained per cell. In transcriptomics, comprehensiveness refers to the total number of genes that can be detected [10,11]. Advanced single-cell technologies such as RNA sequencing (RNA seq) can detect more than 5000 genes per cell [12]. In addition to these three criteria, considerations such as cost-efficiency, sample size effects, and false discovery are also important for deliberation when comparing and developing HTS techniques [11,13].

This chapter describes the rapidly evolving single-cell technologies that have been used to study cellular heterogeneity. It explains how cellular subpopulations are discovered without prior bias. Finally, it addresses the impact of single-cell technologies on biology, regenerative medicine, and cellular therapy.

### SINGLE-CELL ISOLATION

To study heterogeneity and gather data on a single-cell level, cells need to be isolated with accuracy. Most genomic and transcriptional analyses assay nuclear content from individual cells and do not require the isolated cells to be alive. On the other hand, proteomic and metabolic measurements require live cells, which makes single-cell isolation a more challenging process. The classic method of isolating single cells involves manual pipetting followed by serial dilutions. Manual pipetting works only on microliter volumes, is cumbersome, and is difficult to scale. This has led to the use of robots such as the Mosquito HTS, which ensures repeatable nanoliter pipetting irrespective of the viscosity of the cell suspension or environmental conditions [14]. Automated liquid handlers can also scale experiments with ease, converting a 96-well assay into a 1536-well format [14].

In situations in which cells need to be isolated directly from a tissue sample or a surface, laser-capture microdissection can be used [15]. This technique requires a trained histologist to isolate the cells of interest accurately based on morphological properties or changes in fluorescence. To increase the speed of this technique, an automated laser microdissection technique called laser-enabled analysis and processing has been developed [16]. However, laser microdissection can be cumbersome, it may rupture surrounding cells, and it may isolate individual cells incompletely. For these reasons, this technique is not frequently used to obtain cells for HTS.

For decades, fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) has been the default technique to sort cells into welldefined populations. It has become the most widely used technique to isolate single cells for high-throughput studies. FACS can rapidly sort single cells at a high level of purity into 96- or 384-well plates at 10,000 cells per second, a pace that is impossible to match manually [17]. FACS systems work by passing cell suspensions through a small nozzle (70-100 µm in diameter) that creates a continuous stream of droplets, each droplet of which contains a single cell. Electrically charged plates are then used to deflect the droplets containing cells of interest into a microwell plate based on the physical, chemical, or optical properties of the cells that are enhanced using antibodies conjugated to fluorescent probes [15]. Sorting single cells through FACS requires a priori knowledge of surface markers for specific cells and can be difficult to perform in scenarios in which there are limited cells, such as early-stage reproduction and characterization of stem cells (Fig. 6.2). Moreover, the high flow rate and pressure can potentially damage delicate or large cells such as adipocytes as they move through the machine [18]. Most important, FACS does not allow for tracking an individual cell over time, which makes it difficult to determine the dynamic behavior of a cell.

Microfabrication, precision engineering, and rapid prototyping techniques have led to the development of microfluidic devices that allow for sorting low cell volumes on miniaturized devices with rapid throughput [19]. These devices contain thousands of integrated fluid channels, valve control surfaces, and reservoir chambers to separate individual cells [2]. In addition, they reduce the size of the sorting equipment and eliminate biohazardous aerosols



FIGURE 6.2 Enriching single cells using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS). FACS can reliably test up to 15 proteins allowing for determination of signaling pathways and enrichment of cells based on surface markers. However, surface markers for enrichment are selected a priori and it is important to determine the best surface marker that can reliably enrich cells for therapeutic use.

[20]. Microfluidic technologies can be either active or passive. Active systems use external fields such as acoustics, electric, magnetic, or optical to displace individual cells into microchambers. The commercially available dielectrophoresis array, for example, uses a nonuniform electric field to exert forces on cells suspended in a liquid and trap them into "cages." This allows for the separation of cells of interest from complex, heterogeneous samples. Passive systems, on the other hand, use inertial forces, filters, and adhesion mechanisms to sort cells [18,20,21]. The commercially available C1 chip from Fluidigm Corporation (South San Francisco, CA) is an example of a passive system in which hydrodynamic traps in a microfluidic channel allow for the isolation of a single cell from a heterogeneous sample. The cell is then subjected to RNA isolation and complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis within the trap. This system can be scaled to accommodate many traps (up to 800 for the C1 chips), but the largest disadvantage is that the cell pool must be homogeneously sized because the microfluidic traps are sized for an average cell. If the cells are too large, they will rupture before reaching the trap. If the cells are too small, the traps will capture doublets or multiplets [22].

Droplet microfluidics is an emerging field of microfluidic technology in which active or passive systems are used to capture cells within discrete micrometer-sized aqueous (micro)droplets. The flow rate of the aqueous fluid determines the number of droplets that are unoccupied by cells. Each occupied droplet acts as a miniaturized reaction vessel and allows thousands of single cells to be analyzed in parallel every second. Whereas the droplets allow for fluorescent imaging and PCR analysis, they can also keep the cells live for a few hours to enable the analysis of dynamic cellular behavior such as enzyme kinetics or the response to drugs, antibiotics, biologic, and environmental factors. The commercially available 10X platform for example, uses droplet technology for single-cell genome sequencing and RNA seq [23]. In the RNA seq platform, cells are run through a microfluidic chip and single cells are individually encapsulated within gel beads. Each bead has a unique bar code to identify the source cells. The cells then undergo reverse transcription to create bar-coded cDNA. All cDNA from a single cell share the same bar code. The cDNA is then fragmented, amplified, and sequenced. Full sequences are reconstructed from the short-read sequences and expression levels for single cells are determined based on the number of transcripts expressed with the same unique bar code. This technology has been employed to investigate chimerism in immune cell populations, screening for Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats interference, and testing single nucleotide polymorphisms in noninvasive prenatal testing, among other applications [23–25].

### ACQUIRING SINGLE-CELL DATA

Once individual cells are collected, single-cell analysis can be performed. The flow of biological information in cells is from DNA to RNA to protein, with DNA containing the genetic information of all cellular organisms, with RNA functioning as the messenger of this information and proteins acting as the working force to determine the phenotype of the organism. Random mutations bring about changes to the DNA. Injury and disease bring about changes in the transcribed RNA and protein. Sometimes there are modifications in the phenotype with no changes to the DNA sequence owing to changes in gene expression. These alterations, called epigenetic changes, can be

influenced by various conditions including age, the cellular microenvironment, or disease states. This section describes the various high-throughput techniques developed to study changes in the DNA, RNA, protein, or epigenetics of individual cells.

### Single-Cell Genomics

Next-generation DNA sequencing allows for the comprehensive study of minute amounts of DNA from an individual cell. This technology has uncovered the evolutionary history of cells, genomes of unculturable microorganisms, and genetic mosaicism in normal physiology, disease, and cancer [26,27]. Genetic mosaicism is the presence of two or more populations of cells with different genotypes within the same individual, developed from a single fertilized egg. Although it has long been known that cancer is a mosaic disorder, in somatic tissues, early studies of genetic mosaicism were limited to abnormalities in skin development such as epidermolysis bullosa and ichthyosis. However, the advent of single-cell DNA sequencing unearthed variations in the chromosome, copy number, and single nucleotide sequences in a variety of tissue types, and mosaicism is now seen in a diverse range of clinical disorders that can be gonadal, somatic, or gonosomal [28].

To obtain single-cell genomic data, single cells are isolated and subjected to whole-genome amplification. This can be achieved through either PCR amplification or isothermal methods such as multiple displacement amplification [18]. The isothermal methods have greater coverage or comprehensiveness compared with the PCR-based methods; however, they display lack of uniformity or accuracy and precision [26]. Therefore, most single-cell genomic approaches use a hybrid method that consists of a limited isothermal amplification step followed by PCR amplification. These hybrid techniques include displacement degenerate oligonucleotide-primed (DOP)-PCR and multiple annealing and looping-based amplification cycles (MALBAC) and differ based on whether degenerate primers or random primers are used for amplification. DOP-PCR and MALBAC have uniform coverage that results in greater sensitivity and accuracy [29,30].

Once the genome is amplified, it is subjected to single-cell exome sequencing or entire-genome sequencing [31]. An important consideration while sequencing is that false variants increase as the size of the genome region increases. Furthermore, errors can be introduced in any stage, including the single-cell isolation and whole-genome amplification steps. Hence, it is imperative to develop tools that differentiate technical aberrancies and noise. The quality metrics include visual conformation of isolated cells as well as quantification of the whole-genome amplification product.

### Single-Cell Transcriptomics

Whereas genomics allows for the identification of genetic alterations within cells, transcriptomics allows the investigator to understand changes in the function of cells. Single-cell transcriptional studies emerged with the integration of single-cell quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) into microfluidic platforms, allowing for massively parallel qPCR reactions on a small chip [32]. The Biomark chip from Fluidigm Corporation, for example, provides a highly sensitive platform that allows for probing of individual cells for the expression of 96 select genes, providing a readout in less than 24 h after sample collection. This platform enables cDNA volumes to be detected that are 1000 times less than those required for traditional qPCR reactions. In this method, a single cell is sorted by FACS into a well of a 96-well plate. The cDNA conversion step is combined with a low-cycle reverse-transcriptase (RT)-PCR step that preamplifies the cDNA with the select 96 primers before it is loaded onto a microfluidics chip. The microfluidics chip is subjected to qPCR in a Biomark machine (Fluidigm Corporation) where the cDNA from each cell is amplified by each of the 96 primers, which results in 9216 data points (Fig. 6.3A). This microfluidic-based qPCR technology generates highly accurate and precise gene expression data and has been used to determine heterogeneity among a wide range of cell types including fibroblasts, adipose stromal cells, glioblastomas, and hematopoietic stem cells [2,33–36]. The main downside of this method is that the number of genes that can be evaluated depends on the size of the microfluidics chip [37].

HTS of whole transcriptomes through RNA seq enables profiling of the transcriptome. This technology enables the detection of absolute levels of gene expression, gene fusions, single nucleotide variants, insertions, deletions, and weakly expressed genes. Unlike hybridization methods such as microarrays, RNA seq does not require prior knowledge about the organism (species or transcript-specific probes), which enables the identification of both known and novel transcripts. It also provides a signal-to-noise advantage over microarrays by eliminating cross-hybridization, nonideal hybridization, and DNA contaminants. DNA contaminants are negated by unambiguously mapping DNA



FIGURE 6.3 Single-cell transcriptomics. Schematic of high-throughput, microfluidic chip-based, single-cell transcriptional analysis demonstrates how a single cell is sorted by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) into each well of a 96-well plate that has been preloaded with reverse transcriptase—polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) reagents. A low-cycle RT-PCR preamplification step creates complementary DNA (cDNA) for each individual cell. Single-cell cDNA is then loaded onto the microfluidics chip along with the primer-probe sets for 96 gene targets and quantitative polymerase chain reaction is performed in the Biomark machine, leading to 9216 data points per chip (A). Schematic of single-cell RNA sequencing demonstrates that cells first need to be isolated and enriched by techniques such as FACS. Microfluidic technologies are then used to isolate single cells. Reverse transcription of messenger RNA is performed to produce cDNA that is amplified through PCR. The amplified cDNA is sheared to reduce the length of the sequences and the fragments are sequenced to the number of desired reads. Finally, the sequences are reconstructed and matched to a known library and the copy numbers of transcripts are determined (B).

sequences to unique regions of the genome. Based on its sensitivity and range of expression, there has been an overwhelming interest in using RNA seq on single cells to determine heterogeneity within cell populations, identify rare cells, and characterize poorly defined cells.

Although individual protocols vary slightly, the overall processing of single-cell RNA seq is similar. First, template switching by reverse transcription of messenger RNA (mRNA) is performed to produce cDNA that is amplified through PCR. The amplified cDNA is sheared to reduce the length of the sequences and the fragments are sequenced to the number of desired reads. Subsequently, the sequences are reconstructed and matched to a known library and the copy numbers are determined [37]. This method allows sequencing of all mRNA molecules, resulting in an unbiased approach to evaluating the transcriptome and allowing for the discovery of novel transcripts or splice variants (Fig. 6.3B) [38–40].

Despite the comprehensiveness of the technique, single-cell RNA seq is associated with a myriad of technical issues that result in uncertainty of the generated data. Most microfluidic platforms require several thousands of cells to be loaded in highly concentrated solutions as starting material before the cells are distributed into individual traps or microdroplets. In most cases, these cells are freshly sorted by FACS to obtain a homogeneously sized population. Although tested for viability before loading into the microfluidic chamber, it is unlikely that all the FACS-sorted cells are live at the start of the assay. In addition, microfluidic separation of cells may cause cell rupturing or the microchambers may capture doublets or multiplets. Several technologies do not allow for the visualization of entrapped cells within the traps or microdroplets before cDNA synthesis. If doublets are captured, it is difficult to distinguish the data obtained from a single cell. Similarly, if the cells are ruptured and only part of the RNA becomes reverse transcribed, it is difficult to separate these data from those of an intact single cell. Many sequencing technologies use spike-in RNA controls (either external RNA controls consortium or custom) to determine the quality and success of the library constructed. These spike-ins provide transcripts at a known sequence, length, and concentration and serve as a quality control for the isolated single-cell RNA. Although used as controls, in several cases, the spike-ins compete and become reverse transcribed instead of the cellular mRNA. mRNA by itself is a delicate molecule and easily prone to degradation. Therefore, strict quality control measures of fragment range in the Bioanalyzer or Experion is helpful.

### Single-Cell Proteomics

Proteomics provides information about the biochemical activation state of the translated protein. The activation of a protein is represented by its phosphorylation, acetylation, proteolytic cleavage, ubiquitylation, change in localization, conformation, or abundance within cells [41]. Traditionally, these processes have been analyzed by population assays such as western blotting and immunofluorescence imaging. However, the analysis of these changes in single cells is challenging because of the paucity of protein amplification techniques [18]. FACS has been the most wellestablished technique for determining the relative expression of surface proteins on single cells; it distinguishes individual cells within a mixed population of cells and enriches live cells based on surface markers [42]. FACS can reliably test up to 15 proteins and enables the determination of signaling pathways and networks within individual cells. However, these are markers selected a priori, and it is important to understand which is the best surface marker that can enrich cells before therapeutic use (Fig. 6.2). When the cells are fixed and permeabilized, FACS also helps in determining the intracellular activation state within individual cells. Most commercial flow cytometers require manual sample preparation of cells; however, improvements have been made in microfluidic platforms that allow for handling, sorting, and flow cytometry [42].

Groups of cells can also be fluorescently bar coded with unique signatures of fluorescent dyes, so that they can be mixed together, stained, and analyzed as a single sample. This results in the possibility of high-throughput FACS analysis. Fluorescent bar coding reduces antibody consumption by 10-fold to 100-fold and minimizes pipetting error, staining variation, and the need for normalization. The robustness of data is increased through the combination of control and treatment samples, and the speed of acquisition of data is enhanced [43].

Mass cytometry is a combination of flow cytometry with mass spectrometry and provides measurement of over 40 parameters simultaneously at a single-cell resolution. This process allows for millions of cells to be assayed, enabling sufficient sampling to identify major cell subsets from the heterogeneous cell sample [44]. Unlike conventional FACS, which uses fluorophores as reporters causing spectral overlap, mass cytometry uses unique, stable, heavy metal isotopes of atomic weights different from those employed in mass spectrometry. This allows for greater number of parameters to be analyzed with little signal overlap between parameters. The instrumentation used for mass cytometry is called cytometry by time-of-flight [44]. Disadvantages of mass cytometry are that it cannot determine forward and side scatter, and hence cannot determine cell size and shape; the acquisition rate is slower than FACS; and cells must be fixed before analysis. Thus, mass cytometry can be used to analyze subpopulations of cells based on these markers.

A long-standing challenge in proteomic analysis is the transformation of high-resolution mass spectrometry as a cell population—averaging tool into a single-cell analyzer. Advancements have enabled the identification of 500—800 nonredundant protein groups from single cells using less than 0.2% of the total protein of the cell as starting material

[45]. However, the main drawback is a low signal-to-noise ratio when considering the low levels of protein within a single cell [42].

### Single-Cell Epigenetics

Epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation or histone modifications are functionally relevant changes to the genome that perturb gene expression without altering the DNA sequence. The best-studied epigenetic modification is DNA methylation, which consists of the addition of a methyl group to cytosine residues (5-methylcytosine). Usually, this alteration is inversely correlated with gene expression levels with implications for tumor biology, disease progression, resistance to standard drug treatments, and relapse.

Attempts have been made to study epigenetics at the single-cell level. Single-cell genome-wide bisulfite sequencing (scBS-seq) has been used to assess the epigenetic heterogeneity of DNA. In this technique, the DNA of a cell is treated with bisulfite, which results in DNA fragmentation and the conversion of unmethylated cytosines to thymine [46]. Complementary strands of the fragmented DNA are synthesized using adaptor sequences and random oligonucleotides. This step is repeated several times to obtain enough tagged DNA and copy numbers of each fragment. A second adaptor is integrated, PCR amplification is performed, and cDNA libraries are generated, which are subjected to sequencing [46]. The number of CpGs obtained from the analyzed data depends on the depth of sequencing.

Furthermore, to understand the complex relationship between DNA methylation and transcription in heterogeneous cell populations, scBS-seq of the genome and RNA seq of the transcriptome have been performed on the same cell. Such analyses have clinical implications in contexts such as in vitro fertilization, in which the number of cells for analysis is limited [47].

Advances in sequencing have cleared the way for many other methods to assess single-cell modifications. These include formaldehyde-assisted isolation of regulatory elements followed by sequencing, chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing, DNase sequencing, Micrococcal nuclease followed by sequencing, and assay for transposaseaccessible chromatin sequencing. The general principle of these technologies is fragmentation of DNA and sequencing of the regions that have been bound by DNA-binding proteins [48]. This has allowed for improved profiling of DNA-binding proteins, histone modifications, and nucleosomes [49].

### ANALYZING SINGLE-CELL DATA

As detailed previously, single-cell technologies enable alterations in genes, gene expression profiles, and protein production within single cells to be determined [50]. However, single-cell sequencing technologies generate large amounts of data requiring computational infrastructure and expertise. For example, whole-genome sequencing of 100 individual cells at read lengths of 75 base pairs requires about 15 TB of storage space. Subsequently, the quality of these data needs to be assessed so that variations resulting from noise can be distinguished from true biological variations. The vetted data are then normalized and analyzed to reveal subpopulations of cells or information of clinical relevance. Thus, it is essential from the start to understand whether the biologic question requires a broad net to be cast to capture all information about individual cellular behavior, or whether a targeted approach is beneficial to reveal the most important cellular features affecting human health.

### **Reducing Noise in Single-Cell Data**

Noise in data generated from single-cell technologies can be classified into two major types: technical and biological [10,51]. During sequencing, technical variations can occur as a result of insufficient amounts of isolated RNA/ DNA, instability of the minute amounts of isolated RNA, problems in amplification of DNA/RNA, and bias during library preparation [51]. It has been estimated that over 80% of variation in expression patterns in single-cell RNA seq results from technical variations in measurement [51]. Biological noise can be caused by differences in the stages of the cell cycle, the epigenetic status of the cell, and the cellular microenvironment. It can also occur owing to the ineffective isolation of initial cells [26]. Biological confounders account for up to 18% of noise in single-cell RNA seq data and are especially problematic when analyzing rare subpopulations of cells [51].

To build accurate clinical models to guide diagnosis and treatment, it is important to minimize variability and noise in single-cell analysis techniques. This can be achieved by identifying and removing low-quality cells through

100

### ANALYZING SINGLE-CELL DATA

two major steps: (1) quality control measures at each experimental step, and (2) quality control during data analysis [50].

Quality control at the experimental level can be performed at various stages by testing for the viability and size of the isolated cells, visually inspecting entrapment of cells within microfluidic chambers, testing the quality of DNA/RNA, analyzing the size of the fragments generated, and quality testing the library preparation to ensure the data from each cell reaches a minimum threshold of usability. An interesting solution to detect doublets or multiplets is to mix cell populations from two different species. For example, when studying cardiomyocyte heterogeneity, cardiomyocytes from murine and human cells can be isolated and processed together. During data analysis, seemingly individual cells displaying mixed cDNA patterns can be discarded. The number of single cells analyzed can also be increased, resulting in a higher detection power [52]. However, this approach increases the amount of data generated when the same depth of sequencing is desired and requires greater computation capacity and resources. Another approach is to use nanoliter volumes of sample preparation to yield fewer false positives in gene expression studies compared with microliter formulations [10]. This method requires the use of automated liquid dispensers and robots.

Quality control at the data analysis level can be performed by excluding cells with minimal numbers of reads or excluding cells with a high number of poor-quality reads. Furthermore, research groups have attempted to create models to remove biological confounding factors. One group succeeded in determining where cells lay within their paths of differentiation by creating a model that adjusted for cell cycle—specific changes in gene expression [53].

### Normalizing Single-Cell Data

Once clean data are identified, normalization can be performed to compare data from one cell with data from other cells. Normalization of data can be performed through a variety of techniques and can vary depending on the technology used [54]. This has proven to be challenging for all single-cell analysis methods. For bulk RT-PCR studies, housekeeping genes have been used to normalize gene expression against that of a gene with relatively constant expression across cells. However, at the single-cell level, there is significant variation between these housekeeping genes [55]. This has led to normalization with a combination of housekeeping genes or with genes that are best for the tissue being evaluated [56]. Some researchers even suggest using no normalization owing to these significant variations between cells [57].

As with single-cell RT-PCR analysis, there are also multiple methods for data normalization with RNA sequencing [54]. One method involves median normalization, in which the mean count for all cells of each gene is calculated and a size factor is created by determining the median of the fraction of each sample's count over the mean across all samples. The size factor is then applied to all samples. Another method to normalize the data that accounts for technical artifacts is the use of spike-ins [54]. This involves introducing synthetic transcripts into each cell's library at a known concentration. Knowledge of what the expected and observed counts are can then be used as a multiplicative factor to account for technical errors that occur during the process.

### Mathematical Identification of Cellular Subpopulations

Once the data have been vetted, they can be used in various ways. One specific purpose is to find important subpopulations with unique functions [50]. Single-cell technologies have demonstrated that cells that were once thought to be homogeneous display significant variations in their functional profiles and instead exist as subpopulations. However, perfectly equivalent expression profiles between any two cells are highly unlikely, which pushes the biostatistician to determine how best to group cellular subpopulations.

A variety of techniques have been used to cluster cells within a population and reveal subpopulations. Two main categories of clustering include hierarchical and partition clustering. However, many variations exist within these groups [58].

Hierarchical clustering functions by combining or dividing groups and creating a hierarchical structure that demonstrates this order (Fig. 6.4). The two main methods within this technique include agglomerative nesting and divisive analysis [47]. Agglomerative nesting methods involve first arranging the data into a series of sets with one object in each set. For the purposes of single-cell analysis, an object would be considered the data profile from a single cell. A cost function is used to determine which of these sets is "cheapest" to combine. The two objects are then combined, removed from the list, and replaced with a combination of their components. The process is repeated until all items exist within a single group. Divisive analysis differs from agglomerative nesting in that it begins with one set



FIGURE 6.4 Hierarchical clustering followed by k-means clustering can reveal novel subsets that are altered in disease. Single-cell transcriptional data can be represented by hierarchical clustering with each cell, represented as a column, and each gene, represented as a row in the heat map. There data can further be clustered using k-means clustering to reveal subsets that are altered in disease. Cells in cluster 2 (*green box*) show an increased frequency in the diseased state, whereas cells in cluster 4 show a decreased frequency in the diseased state (*red box*). These cells can then be specifically targeted to test for therapeutic outcomes.

Ν

D

Ν

D

D

Ν

Ν

D

containing all objects. The object with the greatest dissimilarity from the rest of the objects is separated from the group. The remaining objects are then evaluated to see whether they should be included in this separated group. The process is repeated until there are as many clusters as there are objects. Each separation is demonstrated within a dendrogram to show the level of separation among the various groups. Once an object is placed into a group, it cannot be reassigned from that group. The specific mathematical approach to clustering can be varied based on the cost function used within the algorithm.

In contrast to hierarchical clustering, partition clustering involves a set number of clusters that are defined a priori [47]. This method involves placing objects into a cluster with the closest center. The goal is then to minimize dispersion within each cluster through iterative reallocation of the objects within clusters. Unlike hierarchical clustering, this method enables an object's cluster assignment to be changed at any step. Two specific examples of partition clustering are k-means clustering and partitioning around medoids (PAM). The difference between these two methods is that the cluster center in k-means is the average of the objects, whereas in PAM the center is an actual object.

A significant number of modifications have been made to both hierarchical and partition clustering. One example is demonstrated by the addition of fuzzy c-means clustering. The methods of partition clustering listed earlier involve placing an object into a single cluster, which is referred to as "hard assignment" [59]. Fuzzy c-means clustering uses a "soft assignment," which allows placement of an object into multiple clusters. This becomes useful for objects that lie between two clusters.

With partition clustering, a key requirement is to determine how many clusters one should create. Many methods have been presented to attempt to determine the optimal number of clusters, with none obviously superior to the others [59]. These include, but are not limited to, minimum message length criteria with a Gaussian mixture model, minimum description length, Bayes information criterion, Akaike information criterion, and gap statistics. Even with these objective measures, there is no perfect method to determine how many meaningful clusters exist within a given data set.

### DETERMINING SUBPOPULATIONS

Although cells are defined by their intracellular characteristics (transcription, translation, epigenetics, metabolism, etc), the only way to isolate live cells is to use markers on their surface. Many of these surface markers defined in the literature may have little to no mechanistic relationship to the intracellular function of the cell, but they are selected by educated guesses. For the first time, single-cell technologies allow the correlation of surface markers to the intracellular cellular machinery to ensure that the best surface markers are selected to determine cellular subpopulations. However, to identify the best signature for the cell, a broad net needs to be cast encompassing all surface markers.

Single-cell RNA seq offers the widest resolution and can inform decision making. However, the large datasets generated by this technology contain high amounts of technical noise, masking, or amplifying cellular heterogeneity and make it difficult to define rare subpopulations accurately and precisely. This is like to finding a needle in a hay-stack [60]. From a technical perspective, it is unclear whether single-cell RNA seq will ever approach the accuracy and precision of single-cell qPCR. Such unreliability is not acceptable for prospectively isolating and functionally testing cell subpopulations and generating therapeutic products that will be used in humans. To overcome these shortcomings, a single-cell approach was developed and validated that leverages the comprehensiveness of single-cell RNA seq and the accuracy and precision of single-cell qPCR [60].

Specifically, this approach uses information from single-cell RNA seq, metaanalysis of publicly available microarray databases, and peer-reviewed literature to arrive at 96 genes with which to interrogate cells of interest (fibroblasts, hepatocytes, etc.). These genes include cell cycle, transcriptional, and cell-specific genes that appear to be sporadically expressed by the three screening analyses. The 96 genes are then transcriptionally analyzed in individual cells by qPCR on a reliable Fluidigm Biomark microfluidic chip. The single-cell transcriptional data are subjected to hierarchical and k-means clustering to validate expression of the 96 genes and accurately determine systematic variations within the cells. This is the first part of the analysis, which determines whether putatively homogeneous cells contain undiscovered subpopulations.

At this point, if there are subpopulations (i.e., autonomous clusters), it is still not clear whether these subpopulations have any differential function. It is possible that the transcriptional clusters are merely a descriptive curiosity. To determine functional relevance requires isolation of the subpopulations and prospective functional analysis. Only cells with differing functionality are considered "true" autonomous cell subpopulations. To prove functional relevance, the subpopulations need to be isolated with surface markers using existing FACS technology. To do this, single cells are subjected to transcriptional analysis for a second time. Mathematically, the original 96 genes can be winnowed to eight or nine "cluster defining" genes, which leaves 80 or more open channels on each chip. These open channels are used to correlate the cluster defining genes blindly with all known surface markers capable of being used for FACS sorting. This results in a surface marker combination with the highest specificity and sensitivity for each subpopulation (receiver operating characteristic curve closest to 1). The surface marker combination identified is used to isolate the subpopulations of interest accurately and precisely using FACS, and the cells are functionally tested (Fig. 6.5). This technology can be used to speciate any cell type, isolate rare cells, and study cellular alterations in any disease state [33].

This single-cell approach has been used to (1) study cellular heterogeneity in various cell types including fibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells, hematopoietic stem cells, neural stem cells (NSCs), and glioblastomas [7,33,34,36,61]; (2) determine subpopulation alterations in a wide range of diseases such as diabetes, aging, fibrosis, and cancer [34,35,62,63]; and (3) identify surface markers accurately for the prospective isolation of cells for therapeutic use [33].



homogeneous cells within a population are subjected to single-cell transcriptional analysis to determine cell subsets based on differential gene expression across 96 genes. The 96 genes are selected from RNA sequencing, publicly available microarray databases, and peer-reviewed literature. The subsets are then probed with all 386 surface markers in parallel with the intracellular functional genes to determine the ideal surface markers that select for these clusters. Because the multiplex chip allows for the probing of only 96 genes, at least five chips are used and single-cell transcriptional data across these chips are displayed. Transcriptional data of the 386 surface markers is then blindly correlated with intracellular genes to determine the surface marker combination that identifies the cell with the highest sensitivity and specificity. Finally, antibodies for the selected surface markers are employed to fluorescence-activated cell sort (FACS) and enrich the functional subsets that can readily be used for investigation and therapy.

### **Development of Cell-Based Therapies**

Cell-based therapies have been developed based on 'legacy' surface markers derived from the literature and from historical data. Thus, when trials fail, it becomes difficult to determine the best way in which to proceed. Customized therapies require an in-depth knowledge of both disrupted cellular pathways in diseased tissue and cell surface marker information on cells that can bring about the best therapeutic effect.

The effectiveness of the Needlestack platform was tested to identify and isolate single-cell subpopulations rationally for therapeutic use. Human subcutaneous adipose-derived stromal cells (ASCs) were selected as the cell therapy source [33]. These cells can easily be isolated from the subcutaneous tissue and were tested widely in preclinical trials based on their ability to produce growth factors and deposit extracellular cells. However, ASCs are a heterogeneous group of cells obtained from excluding hematopoietic cells and endothelial cells and enrich CD34expressing cells from the stromal vascular fraction. If these cells are to be used therapeutically, it is imperative to understand the healing effects of the various cell subsets within this population.



FIGURE 6.6 Isolating the best cell for any given clinical application. Single-cell technologies can identify which cells in a heterogeneous population will provide the best outcome for a specific clinical application. Thus, heterogeneous cells such as adipose-derived stromal cell (ASCs) that are obtained from lipoaspirates in the clinic can be enriched for these highly potent cellular subsets in the operating room (OR) and delivered immediately to patients who require therapy.

Hence, ASCs were individually isolated and subjected to single-cell qPCR against 96 genes involved in tissue repair. The gene list was informed from the literature and publicly available microarray databases. The resulting data were subjected to k-means clustering to identify subpopulations. The subpopulation most favorable to wound healing was selected. This subpopulation was defined by 18 genes, which left open 78 channels to interrogate cell surface marker expression in a second set of experiments. Upon combining five chips, it allowed for an unbiased and blinded correlation with 386 surface markers. This blinded correlation (mathematically performed by linear discriminant analysis) identified two surface markers that precisely selected the subpopulation of interest [33].

Next, these two surface markers were used to enrich the ASC subpopulation by FACS, and the cells were delivered to diabetic wounds. Diabetic wounds displayed a normalization of the healing response with the enriched ASCs. Interestingly, the application of ASCs depleted of this important subset demonstrated no effect on diabetic healing, whereas application of the unsorted, heterogeneous ASCs improved but did not normalize diabetic healing. This was the first cell-based targeted therapy to normalize diabetic wound healing in a preclinical setting and could be extended to the treatment of any disease (Fig. 6.6). Importantly, this single-cell method for selecting the best cellular subpopulation exists during a time when US Food and Drug Administration—approved cell-based therapies such as Apligraf and Carticel have shown efficacy and have resulted in reduced overall health care costs for patients.

### CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF CELLULAR HETEROGENEITY IN TISSUE REPAIR AND DISEASE

Customized therapies need an in-depth analysis of impaired cellular pathways in disease and a granular understanding of cellular subpopulation changes that underlie disease. Although population-averaged assays cannot provide such resolution, the development of novel single-cell technologies provide great promise for targeted basic science and clinical discovery. This section summarizes advancements made using single-cell technologies in understanding the molecular and cellular changes that modulate diabetes, aging, wound healing, cancer, and fibrosis (Fig. 6.7).



FIGURE 6.7 Understanding the functional relevance of cellular heterogeneity. The development of novel single-cell technologies offers great promise for targeted basic science and clinical discovery. These techniques allow for the comprehensive mapping of cells within various tissues in health and inform us about alterations in cellular subsets during aging or diseases such as diabetes, fibrosis, and cancer.

### Cellular Heterogeneity in Diabetes

Diabetes brings about cellular and molecular impairments in a wide variety of cell types including stem and progenitor cells leading to tissue dysfunction. In many cases, owing to hyperglycemic memory, these cellular perturbations do not normalize even after a return to normoglycemia, resulting in persistence of tissue dysfunction [64]. Single-cell interrogation of subcutaneous ASCs in type 1 and type 2 diabetes has demonstrated that the global dysfunction in ASCs is brought about by the selective depletion of discrete ASC subpopulations, impairing wound healing in diabetes [33,62]. Similarly, type 1 and type 2 diabetes bring about intrinsic defects within bone marrow progenitor cells through selective depletion in provasculogenic subpopulations. These defects are not correctable by restoring glucose homeostasis [65]. Within the bone microenvironment, single-cell RNA seq has also revealed intrinsic skeletal stem cell impairments caused by hyperglycemic changes within the stem cell niche [66].

Interestingly, single-cell analyses revealed differences within insulin-producing pancreatic  $\beta$  cells, a population long considered to be homogeneous. These studies indicated that adult  $\beta$ -cell subpopulations can differ in size, insulin production, insulin secretion, and precursor cell potential with relevance to an understanding of diabetes and implications for enhancing cell replacement therapies for treating diabetes [67,68].

### Cellular Heterogeneity in Wound Healing

Wound repair is an example of a highly heterogeneous tissue with several different cell types working in concert at distinct spatiotemporal stages to bring about healing [6]. Immediately after a wound is formed, neutrophils are recruited from the bone marrow as the first line of defense against bacteria. Classically, neutrophils have been considered a homogeneous population of terminally differentiated cells with a conserved function. Their limited proliferation ability, short life span, and low mRNA content (10–20 times lower than leukocytes) have made it difficult to tease apart the various subsets of neutrophils through population techniques [69]. However, single-cell technologies revealed both phenotypic and functional versatility in neutrophils that extend beyond their antimicrobial activity to their impact on disease and their ability to activate other cells such as macrophages [70–72].

With the evolution of single-cell technologies, the definition of a macrophage has evolved as a cell that engulfs and digests pathogens, particles, and dead cells. It is now accepted that tissue macrophages have the unique ability of plasticity, in which the cells modulate their activation state based on external cues such as the presence of infection, growth factors, and cytokines in their microenvironment [73]. The diversity within macrophages is seen at the phenotypic, genetic, and epigenetic levels, leading to subsets of macrophages that are proinflammatory, antiinflammatory, and provascular, or transitioning between these states. Furthermore, there are macrophages in the adult tissue that originate during embryonic development that are not derived from monocytes [74]. Thus, spatiotemporal

factors within the wounded tissue microenvironment determine the presence of macrophage subpopulations, each potentially with a unique function.

Neovascularization follows the inflammatory phase of repair in every tissue. During this phase, blood vessels are at various levels of maturity. Some vessels are intact and are maintaining blood fluidity, some are leaky and aiding the influx of inflammatory cells, and others are actively undergoing angiogenesis. During angiogenesis, endothelial cells are sprouting and proliferating, whereas pericytes within the basal lamina are activated to scaffold and provide structural integrity to the new vessels. Circulating progenitor cells from the bone marrow are also recruited to support new blood vessel formation. Appropriate synchronization of these cells is crucial for neovascularization and healing. However, population assays have been unsuccessful in definitively characterizing pericytes and circulating progenitor cells within the repairing wound.

In wound healing, active proliferation and reciprocal interactions of fibroblasts with other cell types in the wound environment, such as keratinocytes, endothelial cells, adipocytes, inflammatory cells, and resident stem cells, are important. Although reduced extracellular matrix deposition by fibroblasts can contribute to nonhealing wounds, excessive extracellular matrix deposition can lead to hypertrophic scarring and fibrosis [75]. Single-cell analyses have led to the identification of various fibroblast subpopulations with distinct functions after injury [7,76]. These technologies have identified unique subsets of fibroblasts that are responsible for the scar response.

### Cellular Heterogeneity in Fibrosis

Tissue fibrosis is a common complication that underlies impaired tissue regeneration and tissue dysfunction in response to a variety of insults [6,75]. Fibrosis is a poorly understood process, but it is largely attributed to excessive extracellular matrix deposition by fibroblasts. However, fibroblasts are a heterogeneous population of cells [77]. To this end, single-cell technologies have been employed to interrogate fibroblast heterogeneity. It has been demonstrated that CD26+ fibroblasts constitute a distinct subpopulation of dermal fibroblasts, which is the primary cell type for excessive collagen deposition and scarring during wound healing associated with fibrosis [7]. Similarly, heterogeneity in fibroblasts mediating pathology such as pulmonary fibrosis and renal fibrosis have also been described in the literature [78,79]. Moreover, matrix stiffness cues from cross-linked collagen can induce other cells to turn into fibroblast-like cells, further contributing to fibroblast heterogeneity [80].

Macrophages are one of the cell types that deposit collagen in response to matrix stiffness. Thus, cellular heterogeneity in macrophage populations has formed the basis of many fibrosis studies. Traditionally, macrophages have been classified into proinflammatory M1 cells and antiinflammatory M2 cells [81,82]. Time-dependent shifts in relative proportions of M1/M2 macrophages underlie the reparative process as well as dysregulated excessive inflammation in the heart, kidney, and lungs. Comprehensive gene expression analysis of macrophages coupled with surface marker screening revealed that Ceacam1+/Msr1+/Ly6C-/F4/80-/Mac1+ cells, a distinct subpopulation of cells, is the chief contributor to bleomycin-induced fibrosis [83]. Similarly, subpopulations of macrophages that express CD34/CD68 have been found to be more prone to differentiate into myofibroblasts [84]. Single-cell transcriptional analysis has also been employed to study heterogeneity in fibrocytes, which are hematopoietic cells depositing collagen during tissue repair and fibrosis. This revealed the presence of a CD45+/CD11b+/ F480+ macrophage subpopulation forming fibrocytes during wound healing [35]. Further research into tissuespecific cellular heterogeneity will help develop therapeutic strategies to control fibrosis. Enhanced understanding of cell heterogeneity in fibrosis could lead to strategies for cellular reprogramming, with implications in wound healing therapeutics, tissue engineering, and regenerative medicine [77].

### Cellular Heterogeneity in Aging

Aging affects the regenerative capacity of most tissues. At the stem and progenitor cell level, these changes are attributed to both alterations of the intrinsic stem cell state and perturbations in the composition of stem cell sub-populations, which have been difficult to dissect in the past. Single-cell RNA seq has been used to differentiate between these cell-intrinsic and subpopulation differences in hematopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells. From a cell cycle perspective, these studies reveal a reduction in long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs) in the G1 phase with age. From a differentiation perspective, aged short-term-HSCs (ST-HSCs) resemble young LT-HSCs, which demonstrates that aged ST-HSCs fully self-renew and serve as the main source of hematopoietic maintenance in mice [85,86].

Single-cell qPCR has been used to evaluate the effects of aging on subcutaneous ASCs and influence their ability to support neovascularization in a wound healing setting. Although aging does not bring about changes in ASC

number, viability, or proliferative capacity, the single-cell study demonstrated that aging depletes a vasculogenic subpopulation of ASCs, leading to impairments in wound healing [63].

Single-cell RNA seq has been used to characterize adult NSC and progenitor cell populations, to determine heterogeneity within these cells. This resulted in the finding that NSCs can be clustered into early, mid-, and late-stage subpopulations along the stages of activation and differentiation. This study provides an integrative understanding of the NSC lineage with clinical implications in aging [87].

### Tumor Cell Heterogeneity and Drug Resistance

Cells within tumors exhibit differential mutations and are derived from multiple lineages resulting in intratumor heterogeneity [52]. Tumor cell heterogeneity is a chief contributor to tumor invasion, metastasis, and resistance to drug therapy [52,88]. Two models have been proposed to drive this heterogeneity. The first, called the clonal evolution model, proposes that most neoplasms originate from a single cell, and the stepwise acquisition of mutations within this clone allows for the formation of more aggressive subclones, leading to tumor progression [89]. The second, theoretically opposing hypothesis, the cancer stem cell model, suggests that only a small subset of cells, called cancer stem cells, have tumorigenic potential, whereas their differentiated progeny have limited proliferation and tumor markers from the literature [89]. Powerful single-cell technologies to discern this information had not yet been developed until now. These technologies might be able to suggest that the two tumor models are not mutually exclusive; cells within the tumor may display vast phenotypic plasticity and differentiated tumor cells undergoing dedifferentiation to acquire stemlike properties [90].

Single-cell RNA seq has been used to distinguish transcriptional diversity in genes regulating proliferation, immune response, and oncogenic signaling in cells isolated from human tumors [91]. In human glioblastomas, which is the most common and aggressive form of brain tumor, with an exceptionally low rate of survival, there has been a search for brain tumor—initiating cells. One study using single-cell qPCR identified a distinct DDR1+ subset from murine and human glioblastomas as the primary driver of aggressive tumorigenicity in vivo [34]. Although glioblastoma is a well-established example, there is limited information from other brain tumors. Single-cell RNA seq has been applied to study other brain tumors, such as from patients with oligodendroglioma, and has revealed stem/ progenitor cell populations and unique differentiation programs within cells of these tumors [92].

In breast cancer, cancer stem cell subsets have been studied, with CD44high/CD24low cells representing a quiescent invasive mesenchymal state and ALDH+ cells representing a more proliferative epithelial state [93]. Advances in single-cell transcriptional profiling have taken these studies a step further and revealed novel targets such as calcium- and zinc-binding protein encoding gene (S100A9) to target breast cancer metastasis [94,95]. Similarly, singlecell sequencing of breast cancer cells has identified subpopulations that are resistant to chemotherapy. IGF1R+/ KDM5A+/ITGA6+ breast cancer cells, for example, have been found to be resistant to drugs such as Paclitaxel [96]. In addition, in situ single-cell analysis suggested that chemotherapy before human epidermal growth factor receptor 2–targeted therapy can increase treatment resistance as a result of changes in intratumor diversity [97].

In a similar vein, single-cell RNA seq of lung adenocarcinoma cells revealed a unique subset of KRAS G12D+/ high RS cells that are resistant to chemotherapy [98]. Single-cell analysis of human colon cancer samples identified cellular subsets with unique signatures such as KRT20<sup>negative</sup>/(CA1, MS4A12, CD177, SLC26A3)<sup>negative</sup> that correlate with worse clinical prognosis [99]. Similar approaches have been used to identify POU5F1+ cells as a subpopulation of invasive cells in melanoma [100].

Therefore, new single-cell analysis techniques enable the identification of specific tumor cell subpopulations that are resistant to drugs, mediate tumor metastasis, and are responsible for tumor relapse. These novel targets can be used to develop targeted cell-specific treatments for cancer.

### CONCLUSIONS

For a long time, our understanding of biology has been defined by measuring population averages of cellular behavior. However, in most cases, population averages do not result in accurate information, because cells within the same population exhibit heterogeneity. Rare but important cells such as stem and progenitor cells are almost unidentifiable in population-averaged studies. The evolution of single-cell technologies such as next-generation sequencing offers for the first time a comprehensive analysis of the entire genome and transcriptome of single cells,

108

### REFERENCES

and the ability to discover rare and previously unidentified cells. These technologies reveal changes within individual cells without previous bias from the literature. However, obtaining single-cell data is a challenging process in terms of time, resources, technical know-how, and the reliability of analyzed data. Moreover, a major concern that accompanies single-cell sequencing technologies is the presence of technical and biological noise that needs to be differentiated from biologic variation and heterogeneity. Whether these challenges can be overcome is doubtful. Thus, it is important to determine in what cases comprehensiveness of biological information is necessary. In clinical situations, particularly those in which patients must be diagnosed or in which therapeutic products must be used in patients, unreliability of data is unacceptable. In such situations, the use of accurate and precise technologies such as single-cell qPCR and FACS remains the norm. Platforms such as the Needlestack combine RNA seq, single-cell qPCR, and FACS to provide reliable single-cell readouts and validate the cellular subpopulations discovered. Development of such accurate and precise single technologies will aid in the fundamental understanding of human biology and guide therapeutic development.

### References

- [1] Gupta PB, et al. Stochastic state transitions give rise to phenotypic equilibrium in populations of cancer cells. Cell 2011;146:633-44.
- Januszyk M, Gurtner GC. High-throughput single-cell analysis for wound healing applications. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) 2013;2: 457–69.
- [3] Levy V, Lindon C, Harfe BD, Morgan BA. Distinct stem cell populations regenerate the follicle and interfollicular epidermis. Dev Cell 2005;9: 855–61.
- [4] Yu VW, et al. Epigenetic memory underlies cell-autonomous heterogeneous behavior of hematopoietic stem cells. Cell 2016;167:1310-22. e1317.
- [5] Dykstra B, et al. Long-term propagation of distinct hematopoietic differentiation programs in vivo. Cell Stem Cell 2007;1:218–29.
- [6] Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature 2008;453:314-21.
- [7] Rinkevich Y, et al. Skin fibrosis. Identification and isolation of a dermal lineage with intrinsic fibrogenic potential. Science 2015;348:aaa2151.
- [8] McGranahan N, Swanton C. Clonal heterogeneity and tumor evolution: past, present, and the future. Cell 2017;168:613–28.
- [9] Bianconi E, et al. An estimation of the number of cells in the human body. Ann Hum Biol 2013;40:463–71.
- [10] Wu AR, et al. Quantitative assessment of single-cell RNA-sequencing methods. Nat Methods 2014;11:41-6.
- [11] Ziegenhain C, et al. Comparative Analysis of Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Methods. Mol Cell 2017;65:631-43. e634.
- [12] Gierahn TM, et al. Seq-Well: portable, low-cost RNA sequencing of single cells at high throughput. Nat Methods 2017;14:395-8.
- [13] Wu H, Wang C, Wu Z. PROPER: comprehensive power evaluation for differential expression using RNA-seq. Bioinformatics 2015;31: 233–41.
- [14] Mora-Castilla S, et al. Miniaturization technologies for efficient single-cell library preparation for next-generation sequencing. J Lab Autom 2016;21:557–67.
- [15] Shapiro E, Biezuner T, Linnarsson S. Single-cell sequencing-based technologies will revolutionize whole-organism science. Nat Rev Genet 2013;14:618–30.
- [16] Ungai-Salanki R, et al. Automated single cell isolation from suspension with computer vision. Sci Rep 2016;6:20375.
- [17] Rinke C, et al. Obtaining genomes from uncultivated environmental microorganisms using FACS-based single-cell genomics. Nat Protoc 2014;9:1038–48.
- [18] Hu P, Zhang W, Xin H, Deng G. Single cell isolation and analysis. Front Cell Dev Biol 2016;4:1–12.
- [19] Warkiani ME, Wu L, Tay AK, Han J. Large-volume microfluidic cell sorting for biomedical applications. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2015;17: 1–34.
- [20] Shields CWt, Reyes CD, Lopez GP. Microfluidic cell sorting: a review of the advances in the separation of cells from debulking to rare cell isolation. Lab a Chip 2015;15:1230–49.
- [21] Andersson H, van den Berg A. Microtechnologies and nanotechnologies for single-cell analysis. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2004;15:44-9.
- [22] Gross A, et al. Technologies for single-cell isolation. Int J Mol Sci 2015;16:16897-919.
- [23] Zheng GX, et al. Massively parallel digital transcriptional profiling of single cells. Nat Commun 2017;8:14049.
- [24] Hui WW, et al. Universal haplotype-based noninvasive prenatal testing for single gene diseases. Clin Chem 2017;63:513-24.
- [25] Adamson B, et al. A multiplexed single-cell CRISPR screening platform enables systematic dissection of the unfolded protein response. Cell 2016;167:1867–82. e1821.
- [26] Gawad C, Koh W, Quake SR. Single-cell genome sequencing: current state of the science. Nat Rev Genet 2016;17:175-88.
- [27] Macaulay IC, Voet T. Single cell genomics: advances and future perspectives. PLoS Genet 2014;10:e1004126.
- [28] Boutros PC, et al. Spatial genomic heterogeneity within localized, multifocal prostate cancer. Nat Genet 2015;47:736-45.
- [29] Hou Y, et al. Comparison of variations detection between whole-genome amplification methods used in single-cell resequencing. Giga-Science 2015;4:37.
- [30] Huang L, Ma F, Chapman A, Lu S, Xie XS. Single-cell whole-genome amplification and sequencing: methodology and applications. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2015;16:79–102.
- [31] Leung ML, Wang Y, Waters J, Navin NE. SNES: single nucleus exome sequencing. Genome Biol 2015;16:55.
- [32] Sanchez-Freire V, Ebert AD, Kalisky T, Quake SR, Wu JC. Microfluidic single-cell real-time PCR for comparative analysis of gene expression patterns. Nat Protoc 2012;7:829–38.
- [33] Rennert RC, et al. Microfluidic single-cell transcriptional analysis rationally identifies novel surface marker profiles to enhance cell-based therapies. Nat Commun 2016;7:11945.

110

- [34] Rennert RC, et al. Multiple subsets of brain tumor initiating cells coexist in glioblastoma. Stem Cell 2016;34:1702-7.
- [35] Suga H, et al. Tracking the elusive fibrocyte: identification and characterization of collagen-producing hematopoietic lineage cells during murine wound healing. Stem Cell 2014;32:1347–60.
- [36] Glotzbach JP, et al. An information theoretic, microfluidic-based single cell analysis permits identification of subpopulations among putatively homogeneous stem cells. PLoS One 2011;6:e21211.
- [37] Liu N, Liu L, Pan X. Single-cell analysis of the transcriptome and its application in the characterization of stem cells and early embryos. Cell Mol Life Sci 2014;71:2707–15.
- [38] Picelli S, et al. Full-length RNA-seq from single cells using Smart-seq2. Nat Protoc 2014;9:171-81.
- [39] Krishnaswami SR, et al. Using single nuclei for RNA-seq to capture the transcriptome of postmortem neurons. Nat Protoc 2016;11:499-524.
- [40] Hashimshony T, et al. CEL-Seq2: sensitive highly-multiplexed single-cell RNA-Seq. Genome Biol 2016;17:77.
- [41] Irish JM, Kotecha N, Nolan GP. Mapping normal and cancer cell signalling networks: towards single-cell proteomics. Nat Rev Cancer 2006;6: 146–55.
- [42] Wu M, Singh AK. Single-cell protein analysis. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2012;23:83-8.
- [43] Krutzik PO, Clutter MR, Trejo A, Nolan GP. Fluorescent cell barcoding for multiplex flow cytometry. Curr Protoc Cytom 2011. Chapter 6, Unit 6 31.
- [44] Spitzer MH, Nolan GP. Mass cytometry: single cells, many features. Cell 2016;165:780-91.
- [45] Lombard-Banek C, Moody SA, Nemes P. Single-cell mass spectrometry for discovery proteomics: quantifying translational cell heterogeneity in the 16-cell frog (Xenopus) embryo. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 2016;55:2454–8.
- [46] Smallwood SA, et al. Single-cell genome-wide bisulfite sequencing for assessing epigenetic heterogeneity. Nat Methods 2014;11:817–20.
- [47] Angermueller C, et al. Parallel single-cell sequencing links transcriptional and epigenetic heterogeneity. Nat Methods 2016;13:229–32.
- [48] Meyer CA, Liu XS. Identifying and mitigating bias in next-generation sequencing methods for chromatin biology. Nat Rev Genet 2014;15: 709–21.
- [49] Park PJ. ChIP-seq: advantages and challenges of a maturing technology. Nat Rev Genet 2009;10:669-80.
- [50] Bacher R, Kendziorski C. Design and computational analysis of single-cell RNA-sequencing experiments. Genome Biol 2016;1-14.
- [51] Kim JK, Kolodziejczyk AA, Ilicic T, Teichmann SA, Marioni JC. Characterizing noise structure in single-cell RNA-seq distinguishes genuine from technical stochastic allelic expression. Nat Commun 2015;6:8687.
- [52] Navin NE. The first five years of single-cell cancer genomics and beyond. Genome Res 2015;25:1499-507.
- [53] Buettner F, et al. Computational analysis of cell-to-cell heterogeneity in single-cell RNA-sequencing data reveals hidden subpopulations of cells. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33:155–60.
- [54] Bacher R, Kendziorski C. Design and computational analysis of single-cell RNA-sequencing experiments. Genome Biol 2016;17:63.
- [55] Vandesompele J, et al. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol 2002;3. RESEARCH0034.
- [56] Andersen CL, Jensen JL, Orntoft TF. Normalization of real-time quantitative reverse transcription-PCR data: a model-based variance estimation approach to identify genes suited for normalization, applied to bladder and colon cancer data sets. Cancer Res 2004;64:5245–50.
- [57] Stahlberg A, Bengtsson M. Single-cell gene expression profiling using reverse transcription quantitative real-time PCR. Methods 2010;50: 282–8.
- [58] Stat Sin 2002;12:241-62.
- [59] Jain AK. Data clustering: 50 years beyond K-means. Pattern Recogn Lett 2010;31:651-66.
- [60] Rodrigues M, Wong VW, Gurtner GC. Finding a needle in a "needlestack". Cell Cycle 2016;15:3331-2.
- [61] Rennert RC, et al. High-resolution microfluidic single-cell transcriptional profiling reveals clinically relevant Subtypes among human stem cell populations commonly utilized in cell-based therapies. Front Neurol 2016;7:41.
- [62] Rennert RC, et al. Diabetes impairs the angiogenic potential of adipose-derived stem cells by selectively depleting cellular subpopulations. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014;5:79.
- [63] Duscher D, et al. Aging disrupts cell subpopulation dynamics and diminishes the function of mesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep 2014;4:7144.[64] Rodrigues M, et al. Progenitor cell dysfunctions underlie some diabetic complications. Am J Pathol 2015;185:2607–18.
- [65] Januszyk M, et al. Diabetes irreversibly depletes bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cell subpopulations. Diabetes 2014;63: 3047–56.
- [66] Tevlin R, et al. Pharmacological rescue of diabetic skeletal stem cell niches. Sci Transl Med 2017;9.
- [67] Bader E, et al. Identification of proliferative and mature beta-cells in the islets of langerhans. Nature 2016;535:430-4.
- [68] Bonner-Weir S, Aguayo-Mazzucato C. Physiology: pancreatic beta-cell heterogeneity revisited. Nature 2016;535:365-6.
- [69] Scapini P, Calzetti F, Cassatella MA. On the detection of neutrophil-derived vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). J Immunol Methods 1999;232:121–9.
- [70] Silvestre-Roig C, Hidalgo A, Soehnlein O. Neutrophil heterogeneity: implications for homeostasis and pathogenesis. Blood 2016;127: 2173–81.
- [71] de Oliveira S, Rosowski EE, Huttenlocher A. Neutrophil migration in infection and wound repair: going forward in reverse. Nat Rev Immunol 2016;16:378–91.
- [72] Kippner LE, Kim J, Gibson G, Kemp ML. Single cell transcriptional analysis reveals novel innate immune cell types. PeerJ 2014;2:e452.
- [73] Avraham R, et al. Pathogen cell-to-cell variability drives heterogeneity in host immune responses. Cell 2015;162:1309–21.
- [74] Epelman S, Lavine KJ, Randolph GJ. Origin and functions of tissue macrophages. Immunity 2014;41:21-35.
- [75] Wong VW, et al. Focal adhesion kinase links mechanical force to skin fibrosis via inflammatory signaling. Nat Med 2011;18:148-52.
- [76] Driskell RR, et al. Distinct fibroblast lineages determine dermal architecture in skin development and repair. Nature 2013;504:277-81.
- [77] Williams MJ, Clouston AD, Forbes SJ. Links between hepatic fibrosis, ductular reaction, and progenitor cell expansion. Gastroenterology 2014;146:349–56.
- [78] Boor P, Floege J. The renal (myo-)fibroblast: a heterogeneous group of cells. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012;27:3027-36.
- [79] Habiel DM, Hogaboam C. Heterogeneity in fibroblast proliferation and survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Front Pharmacol 2014;5:2.

### REFERENCES

- [80] Dingal PC, et al. Fractal heterogeneity in minimal matrix models of scars modulates stiff-niche stem-cell responses via nuclear exit of a mechanorepressor. Nat Mater 2015;14:951-60.
- [81] Aurora AB, Olson EN. Immune modulation of stem cells and regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:14-25.
- [82] Cao Q, Wang Y, Harris DC. Macrophage heterogeneity, phenotypes, and roles in renal fibrosis. Kidney Int Suppl (2011) 2014;4:16-9.
- [83] Satoh T, et al. Identification of an atypical monocyte and committed progenitor involved in fibrosis. Nature 2017;541:96–101.
- [84] Mesure L, De Visscher G, Vranken I, Lebacq A, Flameng W. Gene expression study of monocytes/macrophages during early foreign body reaction and identification of potential precursors of myofibroblasts. PLoS One 2010;5:e12949.
- [85] Busch K, et al. Fundamental properties of unperturbed haematopoiesis from stem cells in vivo. Nature 2015;518:542-6.
- [86] Kowalczyk MS, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq reveals changes in cell cycle and differentiation programs upon aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Genome Res 2015;25:1860–72.
- [87] Dulken BW, Leeman DS, Boutet SC, Hebestreit K, Brunet A. Single-cell transcriptomic analysis defines heterogeneity and transcriptional dynamics in the adult neural stem cell lineage. Cell Rep 2017;18:777–90.
- [88] Meacham CE, Morrison SJ. Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. Nature 2013;501:328-37.
- [89] Cabrera MC, Hollingsworth RE, Hurt EM. Cancer stem cell plasticity and tumor hierarchy. World J Stem Cells 2015;7:27–36.
- [90] Peterson JA. Single cell heterogeneity in breast cancer. In: Ceriani RL, editor. Immunological approaches to the diagnosis and therapy of breast cancer. US, Boston, MA: Springer; 1987. p. 41–53.
- [91] Patel AP, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. Science 2014;344:1396-401.
- [92] Tirosh I, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq supports a developmental hierarchy in human oligodendroglioma. Nature 2016;539:309–13.
- [93] Brooks MD, Burness ML, Wicha MS. Therapeutic implications of cellular heterogeneity and plasticity in breast cancer. Cell Stem Cell 2015;17: 260–71.
- [94] Powell AA, et al. Single cell profiling of circulating tumor cells: transcriptional heterogeneity and diversity from breast cancer cell lines. PLoS One 2012;7:e33788.
- [95] Hayes DF, Paoletti C. Circulating tumour cells: insights into tumour heterogeneity. J Intern Med 2013;274:137-43.
- [96] Lee MC, et al. Single-cell analyses of transcriptional heterogeneity during drug tolerance transition in cancer cells by RNA sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111:E4726–35.
- [97] Janiszewska M, et al. In situ single-cell analysis identifies heterogeneity for PIK3CA mutation and HER2 amplification in HER2-positive breast cancer. Nat Genet 2015;47:1212–9.
- [98] Kim KT, et al. Single-cell mRNA sequencing identifies subclonal heterogeneity in anti-cancer drug responses of lung adenocarcinoma cells. Genome Biol 2015;16:127.
- [99] Dalerba P, et al. Single-cell dissection of transcriptional heterogeneity in human colon tumors. Nat Biotechnol 2011;29:1120–7.
- [100] Ennen M, et al. Single-cell gene expression signatures reveal melanoma cell heterogeneity. Oncogene 2015;34:3251–63.

This page intentionally left blank

## 7

# Embryonic Stem Cells: Derivation, Properties, and Challenges

### Irina Klimanskaya

Astellas Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Marlboro, MA, United States

### INTRODUCTION

Embryonic stem cells (ESC) can be viewed as an immortal extension of short-lived pluripotent cells that exist in a preimplantation embryo. These pluripotent cells become all of the tissues of the body during embryo development, and cell lines created in vitro from these pluripotent cells retain important properties: self-renewal and the ability to differentiate into a variety of tissues of all three germ layers. An in vitro research model of these cells established in 1981 [1,2] immediately became indispensable for studying mechanisms of mammalian development, and when ESC were derived from human embryo in 1998 [3], regenerative medicine received a new and promising source of cells for tissue engineering.

Cells of any type intended for a therapeutic application have to be functional in vivo, nontumorigenic, and free of pathogens, and it is highly desirable to have a reliable long-lasting source of these cells. When such cells are isolated from donor tissues, their potential for expansion is limited, which restricts the use of this source. As a desirable off-the-shelf product, pluripotent cells seem to be an excellent source of differentiated derivatives: Their ability to self-renew allows for virtually limitless in vitro expansion, thus enabling large-scale manufacture, and they can be differentiated into a variety of derivatives that in turn can be purified and expanded.

### DERIVATION OF EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

### Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells

In 1981, two independent research efforts resulted in the derivation of the first ESC lines from mouse embryos [1,2]. Both approaches used mitotically inactivated STO cells as feeders and based their assessment of cell morphology on the morphology of mouse embryonic carcinoma (EC) cells maintained in each laboratory. Evans and Kaufman considered critical factors for the success of derivation of pluripotent cell lines to be the window of embryonic development when pluripotent cells that would grow in culture existed in an embryo, the isolation of a sufficiently large number of such cells, and tissue culture conditions supportive of proliferation rather than differentiation of these cells. They first used an artificial delay in implantation induced by ovariectomy, which allowed late-stage embryos to remain free-floating in the uterus and to grow a large number of cells with no further development beyond primary ectoderm. After a 4- to 6-day delay, the blastocysts were recovered and cultured until egg cylinder-like structures formed that were isolated, trypsinized, and subcultured on mitotically inactivated STO cells, and selected for colonies resembling EC cells.

Martin based her work on the premise that teratocarcinoma stem cells are derived from pluripotent cells of the periimplantation embryo and produce pluripotency-supporting factors. She used conditioned medium from an established EC cell line as a source of such factors and plated the inner cell masses (ICMs) of mouse blastocysts isolated by immunosurgery [4] on the STO feeder layer in such conditioned medium. Resulting colonies with morphology resembling EC cells were selected and passaged until a high-density culture was established that no longer depended on conditioned medium, because ESC were probably making pluripotency-supporting factors themselves.

Pluripotent cell lines from both studies had a normal karyotype and differentiated into cells of three germ layers. These works laid the foundation for the huge field of study in cell and developmental biology on pluripotent stem cells and their differentiation.

Mouse ESC are typically derived from mouse blastocysts with optional immunosurgery. They can be cultured indefinitely on mitotically inactivated STO cells or mouse embryonic fibroblast feeder layers in the presence of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and fetal bovine serum (FBS), they express several markers of pluripotency, and they have high alkaline phosphatase activity [5]. Common pluripotency markers are transcriptional factor Oct-3/4, originally reported in the ICM of an early blastocyst [6,7], as well as Nanog [8], Sox-2, Rex-1, Dnmt3b, Lin-28 [9], and cell surface antigen SSEA-1, which is expressed on the surface of blastomeres of the eight cell—stage embryo and ICM [9a]. ESC have become a common tool for generating transgene mouse models, because they easily aggregate with the ICM of a blastocyst when injected, or with blastomeres, making aggregation chimeras. ESC could also be generated from a single blastomere of a multicell-stage embryo [10] and appear to have the same properties including germ line transmission.

### Human Embryonic Stem Cells

In 1998, in a groundbreaking report from the group led by James Thomson at the University of Wisconsin [3], the derivation of human ESC was announced. The team used an approach similar to that for deriving mouse ESC: An ICM of a blastocyst, isolated by immunosurgery, was plated onto mouse embryonic fibroblast feeder cells in medium supplemented with LIF, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and knockout serum replacement (KSR) (Life Technologies) in place of FBS. Several human ESC (hESC) lines were generated and soon became available for use by other researchers worldwide. hESC have the capability of differentiating into any and all cell types of the human body; they immediately became recognized as a promising source of many cell types sought after by regenerative medicine. However, this discovery also evoked great controversy and led to heated discussions in the media because some considered the destruction of a preimplantation human embryo to be the same as killing a human.

The use of federal funds for research involving hESC lines is allowed for National Institutes of Health-registered cell lines; there were 378 eligible hESC lines as of January, 2017 (https://grants.nih.gov/stem\_cells/registry/current.htm). Other examples of stem cell registries are the University of Massachusetts International Stem Cell Registry http://www.umassmed.edu/iscr/index.aspx and the European Human Embryonic Stem Cell Registry http://www.hescreg.eu/.

ESC retain the fundamental property of ICM cells: the ability to give rise or develop into all tissues of the human body. The same markers of pluripotency are found in both ICM and hESC: transcription factors Oct-4, NANOG, and Rex-1; cell surface antigens SSEA-3, SSEA-4, TRA-1-60, and TRA-1-81; and high endogenous alkaline phosphatase activity [11,12]. They retain high telomerase activity and can continue to self-renew indefinitely. Both in vitro and in vivo, when injected into immune-deficient mice, hESC form teratomas, tumors that contain derivatives of all three germ layers, with the most commonly seen ones being bone, cartilage, neural rosettes, and epithelium of the airways and gut.

### SOURCES OF HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

### Blastocyst

The first and most commonly used source of hESC is a blastocyst. Many groups noticed that fully expanded and spontaneously hatching blastocysts are not the best candidates for the derivation of ESC: their outgrowth is very prone to differentiation, probably because of some intrinsic commitments already made by the cells of the ICM. In addition, the growth of trophoblast cells can potentially overgrow ICM-originated cells. The latter can be avoided by performing immunosurgery [4], in which a zona pellucida—free blastocyst is incubated with antibodies that bind to the surface of trophectoderm, and then complement is added. This results in the lysis of trophoblast cells. The trophoblast-free ICM is plated for outgrowth. This procedure increases the efficiency of cell line derivation, but the success rate also depends on the quality and size of the ICM. Common impediments that may be encountered are spontaneous differentiation and apoptosis observed during the first week of ICM or blastocyst outgrowth. As mentioned earlier, Evans and Kaufman used delayed implantation of mouse embryos to achieve a larger ICM;

Stoikovic and coauthors used a similar approach. They cultured late-stage blastocysts in the presence of Buffalo rat liver (BRL) cell–conditioned medium through day 8, which allowed them to obtain larger ICM without its extensive further differentiation, and resulted in the successful derivation of hESC [13].

### Morula

As an alternative to whole blastocyst, which represents a relatively late stage in preimplantation embryonic development when the specification of the cell fate starts, earlier-stage embryos (morulae) were successfully used [14] to create hESC lines with an efficiency comparable to that for ICM- or whole blastocyst-derived hESC lines. These hESC appeared to have the same properties as blastocyst-derived hESC, such as a pattern of expression of pluripotency markers, differentiation to all three germ layers, immortality in culture, and a normal karyotype.

### Growth-Arrested Embryo

While many hESC cell lines have been created using leftover in vitro fertilization (IVF) embryos donated to research by couples undergoing infertility treatment, scientists kept working on alternative ways to make hESC without destroying the embryo. One of the first successfully executed approaches was the derivation of hESC lines from nonviable growth-arrested embryos [15,16]. This demonstrated that such embryos still have viable pluripotent cells that can be used to generate hESC lines.

### Somatic Cell Nuclear Transfer

A highly publicized approach to hESC derivation is based on somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT). During a micromanipulation procedure, an unfertilized egg is enucleated and the nucleus of a donor cell is introduced into the egg via a micropipette. The egg with the donor nucleus then develops into a blastocyst that can be used to isolate ESC. Such ESC would have the same genotype as the donor of the nucleus and can be used to generate an autologous cell type for tissue repair. Several research groups [17,17a,18] succeeded in creating hESC by SCNT using fetal, neonatal, and adult fibroblasts as donor cells for somatic nuclei; the success rate was 25% [18a], which was comparable to that for hESC derivation from a naturally fertilized blastocyst. However, the efficiency of blastocyst formation and hESC derivation seemed to be different for eggs from different donors and can even correlate with the hormonal stimulation protocol [18]. In addition, it was discovered [18a] that a major SCNT reprogramming barrier was associated with the severe methylation of lysine 9 in histone H3 in a human somatic cell genome. The introduction of KDM4A, an H3K9me3 demethylase, during SCNT significantly improved the development and blastocyst formation of SCNT embryos, even when the authors deliberately used eggs from donors whose eggs had previously failed to produce SCNT blastocysts. Although the possibility of creating donor-matched hESC lines by SCNT remains attractive, it takes years for the operator to develop the skills required to perform this procedure with high precision and minimal disturbance to the egg or donor nucleus for successful outcome, so this approach to deriving hESC remains in the realm of only a few groups in the world.

### Parthenogenesis

Another attractive possibility for generating pluripotent cells without destroying the embryos and overcome the problem of immune compatibility at the same time, is the generation of ESC and their derivatives from activated nonfertilized oocytes, or parthenotes [19], that would carry only maternal human leukocyte antigen (HLA) genes and thus allow to reduce the variability and number of lines required for immune match of the large number of patients. Due to genetic imprinting and the deficiencies of maternal and paternal haploid gene sets, their combined action is required for normal development. Parthenote mammalian embryos which do not have paternal genes are unable to develop to term; however, pluripotent cells produced from such parthenote human embryos seem to have phenotypes, behavior, and differentiation potential similar to those of hESC from blastocysts [20–23]. From an ethical viewpoint, parthenote hESC may be less controversial because no life is destroyed [23a]. A lot of progress has been made in generating human parthenote ESC and their derivatives [24–29], but data on the behavior of such derivatives in vivo are still limited. Several studies showed that a large percentage of parthenogenetic blastomeres was affected by an excessive number of centrioles, a high aneuploidy rate [30], and genetic and epigenetic

instability [31]. More studies demonstrating the safety and efficacy of parthenote hESC derivatives are needed before this attractive source of HLA-matched cells for regenerative medicine can be fully used.

### Single Blastomere

To address the ethical controversy of hESC derivation from blastocysts, our group developed an approach based on single blastomere biopsy, a procedure commonly employed in preimplantation genetic diagnostics (PGD) in the course of IVF [32–34]. In this procedure, a hole is made in the zona pellucida of a morula stage embryo using acid Tyrode solution or with the help of a laser, and a single blastomere is extracted. The embryo continues to develop while the blastomere undergoes PGD tests, and a few days later, blastocysts that were "cleared" can be implanted. This procedure has been deemed safe and has resulted in hundreds of healthy babies being born. Using blastomere biopsy, we established several hESC lines from single blastomeres, whereas the parent embryos were allowed to develop to the blastocyst stage and then were cryopreserved [35]. Single blastomeres were first cocultured with the biopsied embryos and then were plated onto feeder cells in microdrops. Outgrowing colonies were treated in the same way as ICM outgrowths: with careful mechanical passaging followed by enzymatic dissociation when an appropriate number of colonies could be achieved. Established hESC lines had properties similar to ICMderived hESC: they stained positively for Oct-4, SSEA-3, SSEA-4, TRA-1-60, TRA-1-81, and alkaline phosphatase; they had a normal karyotype and differentiated into derivatives of all three germ layers both in teratoma assays in nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency (NOD-SCID) mice and in vitro. The success rates for hESC derivation from blastocysts and blastomeres can be similar, around 25%–30%. This technique was subsequently used by several other groups to derive hESC lines with high efficiency and/or without destroying the embryo under different conditions including human feeder cells, feeder-free, and even from growth-arrested embryos [36–41]. Single blastomere–derived hESC showed a transcriptional profile similar to "conventional" hESC [38], and several differentiated derivatives of single blastomere—hESC appeared functional in vitro and in vivo [42,43,43a]. By avoiding the destruction of human embryos, this approach has offered a way to address ethical concerns regarding hESC derivation and provided a way to overcome a major impediment in developing hESC-based therapies.

### HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELL MAINTENANCE

Similar to early mammalian development, when multiple cell—cell and cell—matrix interaction produce a variety of both inductive and permissive differentiation signals, ESC culture reproduces such signals with a certain degree of approximation: hESC readily differentiate into all three lineages, but the efficiency of their commitment to each lineage often depends on specific culture conditions, because this artificial system does not provide the same finely tuned orchestration as that which happens during in vivo pattern formation. The strong inclination of hESC to differentiate in culture makes it challenging to maintain hESC in a self-renewing state and is associated with the limitations of a two-dimensional cell culture environment and media components used as substitutes for the short-lived microenvironment of a preimplantation embryo. Meticulous attention to several key factors is required for the successful maintenance of hESC in a pluripotent state for multiple passages:

- Microenvironment: defined combination of media and matrix, with or without feeder cells
- Maintenance: frequent passaging using gentle and efficient cell-matrix disruption
- Morphology observation performed daily to assess the culture and avoid subculturing cells with signs of differentiation

### Microenvironment

hESC are usually cultured on either a monolayer of mitotically inactivated feeder cells or a defined extracellular matrix (for example, Matrigel, vitronectin, laminin-521) in defined media that allow them to be propagated in culture virtually indefinitely, unlike cells of the ICM, which exist only transiently. Like the ICM of a developing blastocyst, which is programmed to differentiate once the implantation starts, pluripotent ESC in culture readily differentiate when the microenvironment changes. Even the most carefully selected and tested combinations of media and matrix will not allow hESC to keep growing in the same dish and remain pluripotent indefinitely, because when colonies

### HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELL MAINTENANCE

reach a certain size and become overcrowded, they form a second layer of cells, and then the cells in the colony begin to lose pluripotent marker expression and differentiate. Timely passaging prevents this loss of pluripotency because it releases single cells and small cell clumps, so any matrix—cell interactions that were formed during the first days after previous passage and begin to send differentiation signals to hESC are disrupted, and the cells can continue to self-renew.

The first hESC lines were derived and cultured under conditions similar to what is used for derivation and maintenance of mouse ESC: mitotically inactivated mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) plated on gelatin, in a medium based on KSR, a proprietary serum substitute formulation. This medium was supplemented with LIF and bFGF [3,11,33,34]. Variations of this system include adding Plasmanate [33] or using a 1:1 mix of Knockout- Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium and F12 medium. However, it was reported that human hESC do not have an active signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) pathway and thus are LIF-independent [44,45], and many researchers stopped using it in the culture medium. Indeed, it appeared that using bFGF alone is sufficient to support the pluripotency of hESC over multiple passages. Other studies have shown the importance of LIF in maintaining hESC in what is called a naive state (discussed subsequently), so it is probably too early to make a conclusion about the need of this factor to maintain pluripotency.

### Maintenance

It is commonly observed that cultures of hESC contain differentiating cells that, when there are only few of them, usually do not interfere with the successful maintenance of hESC in a pluripotent state or with their differentiation toward a desired derivative. However, if the colonies are allowed to overgrow, soon afterward they become multi-layered or begin to touch each other, and spontaneous differentiation usually follows within hours. Although it is possible to rescue even extensively differentiated cultures (for instance, by carefully selecting undifferentiated colony pieces, or "mechanical picking," it is more practical to prevent the loss of pluripotency by timely passaging based on observing the colony morphology and confluency and by using high-quality reagents and good cell handling practices.

For an hESC subculture, there is a wide variety of commercially available dissociating agents. In the past, collagenase used by Thomson and colleagues [3] for hESC derivation and passaging was an enzyme of choice for many laboratories. It allowed the cells to be passaged as clumps rather than as single cells, but it required meticulous attention to colony morphology because when colonies of larger size are harvested, they are more prone to spontaneous differentiation. Trypsin is another popular enzyme, but because of its rapid action, it demands careful techniques during cell harvest to avoid cell damage and death. Mechanical colony dispersion and hand picking allows the selection of colonies of "proper" morphology with minimal stress to the cells and is the most commonly used method to derive new lines (when the outgrowth is small and the removal of differentiating cells is needed to prevent further differentiation of the remaining pluripotent cells). However, this method is operator-biased and demands sufficient experience to avoid selecting for aneuploid cells that may have a growth advantage and thus are the first to form good-sized and "good-looking" colonies. On the other hand, a skilled operator may be able to rescue an aneuploid culture by carefully selecting and dispersing colonies of the right morphology. Other available dissociation methods that allow hESC colonies to gently break into small cell clumps are Accutase, TrypLE (proprietary mix of enzymes, Life Technologies), and "Dissociation Buffer" (containing chelating agents, Life Technologies).

hESC can maintain normal karyotype over multiple passages, but they are prone to aneuploidy. There are not enough data to identify reliably which factors cause aneuploidy, although a study showed an association of aneuploidy with high-density culture [46]. The authors demonstrated that 33% of hESC became genetically abnormal after only 5 days of high-density culture. It seemed that lactic acid and acidification of the medium were the main reason for such abnormalities, but interestingly, laminin 521 used as matrix counteracted this effect. Frequent change of medium also prevented such aberrations. Some of most commonly seen chromosome abnormalities, such as trisomy in chromosome 12 or 17 [47], are known to result in hESC survival or growth advantage, so even an initial nonclonal aberration can quickly become prevalent. Other common abnormalities in hESC karyotype are seen with chromosomes 1, 14, and 20 [48]. Dissociating agents can contribute to the quick spread of abnormal cells throughout the population [48a]. This tendency of hESC to undergo clonal aneuploidy reinforces the importance of making frequent karyotyping a part of the routine maintenance of hESC. G-banding with the examination of a minimum of 20 cells complemented by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) with probes for chromosomes 1, 4, 12, 17, and 20 can be considered appropriate karyotyping methods.
When choosing the most suitable combination of matrix, media, and passaging methods, it is important to remember that in addition to supporting pluripotency, a stable karyotype and reproducibility, the culture system needs to ensure the acceptable efficiency of the differentiation of hESC into the desired derivative under specific protocols. For instance, the formation of embryoid bodies (EB) (plating hESC into low-attachment cell culture plates, where they can aggregate and form cell clumps, differentiating into three germ layers) is frequently used to simulate early differentiation events in mammalian development. However, when hESC are dissociated into single cells, the formation of EB may be impeded by low cell survival, and the yields of EBs and differentiated cells can be much lower [48b].

#### Morphology

The morphology of individual hESC and of colonies was mentioned earlier with regard to the maintenance routine and the choice of culture conditions. hESC have been known to form colonies with sharp "shiny" borders when they are cultured on feeder cells, and cells in such colonies are small with a high ratio of nuclei to cytoplasts and visible nucleoli. When cultured feeder-free, hESC look larger and more spread-out [55]. The borders of the colonies may become sharp after only several days in culture, when the cells become almost "overgrown." Under these conditions, hESC inside the colonies look relatively large and flat for the first few days and may even resemble early stages of differentiation, which can be confusing to an inexperienced eye; however, after several days, the morphology of such colonies becomes more similar to typical hESC as cells become "packed," so they become smaller in diameter. However, larger and flatter cells can also indicate the beginning of differentiation, and daily follow-up of the same cell culture dish is important to better understand the nuances of cell morphology, to tell apart which deviations from the "ideal" morphology are associated with cell adaptation after passaging and which are early signs of differentiation.

#### Evolution of Human Embryonic Stem Cell Derivation and Culture Methods

There are several commercially available media with a proprietary blend of growth factors and nutrients that support the maintenance of hESC growth and pluripotency. Some examples are NutriStem (Biological Industries, Israel), TeSR media (Stem Cell Technologies), and E8 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). These media usually come with a detailed protocol prompting the researcher to use a certain matrix-media combination. Commonly used extracellular matrices are Matrigel, an extracellular matrix produced by Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma cells (BD Biosciences), laminin 521 or 511 (BioLamina Sweden), CELLstart, a human placenta-derived extracellular matrix (Life Technologies), and vitronectin. If a special matrix—media combination is desired, the conditions have to be carefully tested: hESC need to be subcultured for several passages under new conditions before it is known whether a certain combination works for the support of growth and pluripotency and ensures karyotype stability. MEF as feeder cells have been a reference standard for ESC culture for years. Since the beginning of hESC research, there has been great interest in using their derivatives clinically, but coculture of live human cells with live animal cells results in a xenogeneic product and requires more extensive testing for animal viruses. Thus is has been highly desirable to be able to derive and propagate hESC without feeder cells of animal origin or even make them feeder-free. Although xenogeneic cell products are allowed for transplantation in human patients, there are more stringent regulations. For instance, the patient's blood samples needs to be archived for a prolonged time, which adds to the costs and logistics of clinical applications. The first reports on using feeder cells of human origin demonstrated the feasibility of using cells from different donors and/or different tissues, although some cell types seemed to be more effective in supporting hESC derivation and growth [39,49–53].

Another step in the transition from a xenogeneic to a nonxenogeneic cell product was the feeder-free culture system [54], in which the MEF-conditioned cell culture medium allowed hESC to propagate on Matrigel or laminin and retained their pluripotency and normal karyotype. However, this work was done using cell lines established with live mouse feeder cells, so these feeder-free cultured hESC still classified as a xenogeneic product. We attempted to derive new cell lines from blastocysts that were completely feeder-free. We postulated that an important factor in establishing the outgrowth of pluripotent cells was interaction with an extracellular matrix that was produced and properly organized by feeder cells. MEF were cultured for several days to allow for this matrix to be produced and organized, and then sodium deoxycholate was used to lyse the MEF whereas the preassembled extracellular matrix was left intact. The blastocysts or ICMs were plated onto this matrix in KSR-based derivation medium supplemented with LIF and bFGF, and the outgrowing hESC colonies were dispersed using mechanical passaging or

trypsin–EDTA. hESC cell lines that showed normal karyotype, maintained pluripotency marker expression over multiple passages and differentiated into derivatives of all three germ layers in vivo and in vitro was established as a result of this work [55]. Although derivation of hESC is more challenging than propagation, more feeder-free hESC lines were established using novel defined media such as NutriStem [40].

## NAIVE EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

hESC and mouse ESC have many similarities, yet they are different. Mouse ESC have been shown to exist in two states: "naive" and "primed" [56–59]. Not only do naive pluripotent cells express markers of pluripotency such as Oct4, NANOG, Sox2, both X-chromosomes are active. Primed ESC coming from the epiblast (EpiSC) retain the expression of these markers, but only one X chromosome is active [60]. hESC resemble EpiSC rather than naive: the colonies they form are flat, not dome-like as is typical for naive cells, they are polarized [60a]; their metabolism is mostly glycolic whereas primed cells rely on oxidative phosphorylation [61,62]; only one X-chromosome is active; and they are sensitive to single-cell dissociation [57,63]. Naive cells survive single-cell dissociation much better, which allows for greater capacity for expansion (which could be highly desirable for large-scale manufacturing), their doubling time is much shorter, and they have been shown to differentiate more efficiently both in vivo and in vitro [64,65], a highly sought-after property when differentiation is aimed at making derivatives for regenerative medicine.

Mouse ESC are usually derived and exist in a naive state, and it takes special effort and culture conditions to isolate EpiSC from an epiblast. On the other hand, most hESC lines were derived and propagated in a primed state, until naive, or "ground state" pluripotent hESC were derived [66,67]. It has been shown that naive hESC can be derived de novo, or existing hESC lines can be converted into the naive state. In both cases, signaling pathways need to be activated or inhibited using a cocktail of bioactive substances and small molecules. Some examples are MEK inhibitor PD0325901, GSK inhibitor CHIR99021, STAT3 inhibitor NSC74859, ROCK inhibitor Y27632, LIF, FGF2, and TGFβ1. Interestingly, all such cocktails include LIF, which was once considered to be essential for hESC maintenance in the pluripotent state but then was abandoned after it was shown that hESC do not depend on it for pluripotency. It remains unclear whether the transition from naive to primed hESC happens during the first days, if not hours, of derivation from a naive ICM or whether such primed cells exist in the embryo. RNA sequencing analysis of single cells of human blastocysts showed that at least three types of cells can be identified, and that during derivation of hESC there are changes in gene expression as the cells adapt to culture conditions [68].

## HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELL DIFFERENTIATION AND MANUFACTURING FOR CLINICAL APPLICATION

Although hESC provide exciting research opportunities for studies related to the mechanisms of development, their biggest promise is in their differentiation potential. There are unmet medical needs for a variety of cell types, including but not limited to pancreatic  $\beta$  cells, hepatocytes, dopamine neurons, oligodendrocytes, retinal cells, cardiomyocytes, vascular cells, cartilage, and bone: derivatives of all three germ layers. Some of these cell types are frequently seen in hESC cultures left to differentiate spontaneously or in EB, and some require specialized derivation protocols for efficient yields. For instance, the neural path seems to be a default choice of ESC in the absence of other differentiating cues [69], and in spontaneously differentiating hESC cultures [69–71] the presence of various neural lineage cells is common. Perhaps this natural tendency of hESC to form derivatives of neural lineage endorsed derivation and studies of such derivatives, and oligodendrocyte progenitors were the first hESC-derived cells to enter clinical trials for spinal cord injury. More clinical trials followed using another hESC-derived progeny of the neural lineage: retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells to treat macular degeneration and Stargardt's disease in the United States and European Union [72,73].

RPE has a unique function: it provides support for the photoreceptor by delivering nutrients and removing shed outer segments. Its morphology is also unique which allow to easily detect these cells as pigmented cobblestone "islets" among various types of differentiating hESC. Unlike many terminally differentiated cell types, RPE retains its proliferation potential, so these pigmented epithelial cells can be relatively easily isolated with high purity and also be efficiently scaled up (Klimanskaya et al., 2004). Such hESC-derived RPE cells can fully differentiate and mature

after transplantation in animal models, fully integrate into the host's RPE layer, retain RPE morphology and molecular markers, and provide photoreceptor rescue [43a,73,74].

For this unique type of cells, a relatively small scale hESC culture can result in efficient production of the final product, and considering the small size of the macula and low cell numbers required for injection (in the range of several hundred thousand cells) [72,73], a relatively small-scale cell culture is needed to produce therapeutic doses. However, for other cell types considered for therapeutic applications that cannot undergo multiple population doublings while maintaining potency, or when large numbers of cells are required, various challenges can arise, such as using alternative cell culture systems including suspension culture, microcarrier- or microfluidics-based bioreactors at the hESC stage of the process, or isolation of progenitor type cells that can be expanded further.

Whereas there may be a variety of approaches to manufacturing different hESC-originated cell types, the same principles can be applied to producing all hESC derivatives to ensure their safety and efficacy. The US Food and Drug Administration issued a document on tissue donor regulations (*Guidance for Industry: Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps)*, https://www.fda.gov/downloads/biologicsbloodvaccines/guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/guidances/tissue/ucm091345. pdf), and these regulations apply to embryo donors. All raw materials used in manufacturing need to meet the safety criteria and be fully characterized. Standard tests performed on manufactured cells include sterility, mycoplasma, common and latent viruses, and endotoxins. Of utmost importance is the safety of the cell product. First, there should be solid proof that the manufacturing process does not result in the presence of residual pluripotent cells have to have a high level of sensitivity. Animal studies may be required to confirm that transplantation of the hESC derivative does not lead to tumor formation in immune-suppressed animals. Cell growth in soft agar can be used as an additional in vitro tumorigenicity test, and an assay should be in place to confirm the desirable purity of the derivative. Cells intended for transplantation have to have a normal karyotype confirmed by a rigorous test. The po-

for mesenchymal stem cells. For each cell type, the most relevant and technically feasible in vitro assay should be chosen.

## CONCLUSIONS

tency of the final product has to be confirmed using physiologically relevant assays: For instance, it could be phagocytosis for RPE, glucose-responsive insulin production for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, and bone and cartilage formation

ESC help to recapitulate early events in mammalian development and are an excellent system to study selfrenewal and differentiation. Since hESC were derived, numerous studies have demonstrated that they could be a promising source of various cell types for regenerative medicine. There are several alternative sources of pluripotent stem cells: the ICM of a blastocyst, morula, single blastomere, parthenote embryos, embryos generated via SCNT, growth-arrested embryos, and induced pluripotent cells. The same principles established through many years of research using ESC can be applied to the culture and differentiation of all pluripotent cell lines of different origins and sources to ensure their robust propagation in self-renewal state and efficient differentiation. Since the first derivation of hESC the culture methods have been become increasingly more robust, and there is now a variety of approaches to propagating pluripotent stem cells including hESC. Human feeder cells or feeder-free conditions can be used along with several defined media–extracellular matrix combinations and a variety of dissociating agents, including xenogeneic-free reagents.

At the same time, many challenges are associated with our incomplete knowledge of the fine mechanisms of selfrenewal and differentiation. Further studies should help us to better understand which components of the cell culture system and steps in the maintenance routine are most critical in supporting hESC self-renewal, a stable karyotype, and differentiation efficiency to advance the use of hESC derivatives in regenerative medicine.

## References

- [1] Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature July 9, 1981;292(5819):154-6.
- Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA December 1981;78(12):7634–8.
- [3] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science November 6, 1998;282(5391):1145–7.
- [4] Solter D, Knowles BB. Immunosurgery of mouse blastocyst. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA December 1975;72(12):5099-102.

- [5] Wobus AM, Holzhausen H, Jäkel P, Schöneich J. Characterization of a pluripotent stem cell line derived from a mouse embryo. Exp Cell Res May 1984;152(1):212–9.
- [6] Nichols J, Zevnik B, Anastassiadis K, Niwa H, Klewe-Nebenius D, Chambers I, Schöler H, Smith A. Formation of pluripotent stem cells in the mammalian embryo depends on the POU transcription factor Oct4. Cell October 30, 1998;95(3):379–91.
- [7] Schöler HR, Balling R, Hatzopoulos AK, Suzuki N, Gruss P. Octamer binding proteins confer transcriptional activity in early mouse embryogenesis. EMBO J September 1989;8(9):2551–7.
- [8] Cavaleri F, Schöler HR. Nanog: a new recruit to the embryonic stem cell orchestra. Cell May 30, 2003;113(5):551-2.
- [9] Calloni R, Cordero EA, Henriques JA, Bonatto D. Reviewing and updating the major molecular markers for stem cells. Stem Cells Dev May 1, 2013;22(9):1455–76.
- [9a] Solter D, Knowles BB. Monoclonal antibody defining a stage-specific mouse embryonic antigen (SSEA-1). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA November 1978; 75(11):5565–9. PMID: 281705.
- [10] Chung Y, Klimanskaya I, Becker S, Marh J, Lu SJ, Johnson J, Meisner L, Lanza R. Embryonic and extraembryonic stem cell lines derived from single mouse blastomeres. Nature January 12, 2006;439(7073):216–9.
- [11] Amit M, Itskovitz-Eldor J. Derivation and spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. J Anat March 2002;200(Pt 3):225–32.
- [12] Carpenter MK, Rosler E, Rao MS. Characterization and differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Clon Stem Cell 2003;5(1):79–88.
- [13] Stojkovic M, Lako M, Stojkovic P, Stewart R, Przyborski S, Armstrong L, Evans J, Herbert M, Hyslop L, Ahmad S, Murdoch A, Strachan T. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells from day-8 blastocysts recovered after three-step in vitro culture. Stem Cells 2004;22(5):790–7.
- [14] Strelchenko N, Verlinsky O, Kukharenko V, Verlinsky Y. Morula-derived human embryonic stem cells. Reprod Biomed Online December 2004;9(6):623–9.
- [15] Gavrilov S, Prosser RW, Khalid I, MacDonald J, Sauer MV, Landry DW, Papaioannou VE. Non-viable human embryos as a source of viable cells for embryonic stem cell derivation. Reprod Biomed Online February 2009;18(2):301–8.
- [16] Zhang X, Stojkovic P, Przyborski S, Cooke M, Armstrong L, Lako M, Stojkovic M. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells from developing and arrested embryos. Stem Cell December 2006;24(12):2669–76.
- [17] Chung YG, Eum JH, Lee JE, Shim SH, Sepilian V, Hong SW, Lee Y, Treff NR, Choi YH, Kimbrel EA, Dittman RE, Lanza R, Lee DR. Human somatic cell nuclear transfer using adult cells. Cell Stem Cell June 5, 2014;14(6):777–8.
- [17a] Tachibana M, Amato P, Sparman M, Gutierrez NM, Tippner-Hedges R, Ma H, Kang E, Fulati A, Lee HS, Sritanaudomchai H, Masterson K, Larson J, Eaton D, Sadler-Fredd K, Battaglia D, Lee D, Wu D, Jensen J, Patton P, Gokhale S, Stouffer RL, Wolf D, Mitalipov S. Human embryonic stem cells derived by somatic cell nuclear transfer. Cell June 6, 2013;153(6):1228–38.
- [18] Yamada M, Johannesson B, Sagi I, Burnett LC, Kort DH, Prosser RW, Paull D, Nestor MW, Freeby M, Greenberg E, Goland RS, Leibel RL, Solomon SL, Benvenisty N, Sauer MV, Egli D. Human oocytes reprogram adult somatic nuclei of a type 1 diabetic to diploid pluripotent stem cells. Nature June 26, 2014;510(7506):533–6.
- [18a] Lee JE, Chung YG, Eum JH, Lee Y, Lee DR. An efficient SCNT technology for the establishment of personalized and public human pluripotent stem cell banks. BMB Rep April 2016;49(4):197–8.
- [19] Daughtry B, Mitalipov S. Parthenote stem cells for regenerative medicine: genetic, epigenetic, and developmental features. Stem Cells Transl Med March 2014;3(3):290–8.
- [20] Harness JV, Turovets NA, Seiler MJ, Nistor G, Altun G, Agapova LS, Ferguson D, Laurent LC, Loring JF, Keirstead HS. Equivalence of conventionally-derived and parthenote-derived human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One January 7, 2011;6(1).
- [21] Lin G, OuYang Q, Zhou X, Gu Y, Yuan D, Li W, Liu G, Liu T, Lu G. A highly homozygous and parthenogenetic human embryonic stem cell line derived from a one-pronuclear oocyte following in vitro fertilization procedure. Cell Res December 2007;17(12):999–1007.
- [22] Mai Q, Yu Y, Li T, Wang L, Chen MJ, Huang SZ, Zhou C, Zhou Q. Derivation of human embryonic stem cell lines from parthenogenetic blastocysts. Cell Res December 2007;17(12):1008–19.
- [23] Revazova ES, Turovets NA, Kochetkova OD, Agapova LS, Sebastian JL, Pryzhkova MV, Smolnikova VI, Kuzmichev LN, Janus JD. HLA homozygous stem cell lines derived from human parthenogenetic blastocysts. Clon Stem Cells March 2008;10(1):11–24.
- [23a] Brevini TA, Pennarossa G, Antonini S, Gandolfi F. Parthenogenesis as an approach to pluripotency: advantages and limitations involved. Stem Cell Rev September 2008;4(3):127–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-008-9027-z. Epub 2008 June 12.
- [24] Ahmad R, Wolber W, Eckardt S, Koch P, Schmitt J, Semechkin R, Geis C, Heckmann M, Brüstle O, McLaughlin JK, Sirén AL, Müller AM. Functional neuronal cells generated by human parthenogenetic stem cells. PLoS One 2012;7(8):e42800.
- [25] Chen Y, Ai A, Tang ZY, Zhou GD, Liu W, Cao Y, Zhang WJ. Mesenchymal-like stem cells derived from human parthenogenetic embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells Dev January 2012;21(1):143–51.
- [26] Didié M, Christalla P, Rubart M, Muppala V, Döker S, Unsöld B, El-Armouche A, Rau T, Eschenhagen T, Schwoerer AP, Ehmke H, Schumacher U, Fuchs S, Lange C, Becker A, Tao W, Scherschel JA, Soonpaa MH, Yang T, Lin Q, Zenke M, Han DW, Schöler HR, Rudolph C, Steinemann D, Schlegelberger B, Kattman S, Witty A, Keller G, Field LJ, Zimmermann WH. Parthenogenetic stem cells for tissue-engineered heart repair. J Clin Invest March 2013;123(3):1285–98.
- [27] Isaev DA, Garitaonandia I, Abramihina TV, Zogovic-Kapsalis T, West RA, Semechkin AY, Müller AM, Semechkin RA. In vitro differentiation of human parthenogenetic stem cells into neural lineages. Regen Med January 2012;7(1):37–45.
- [28] Li WB, Zhang YS, Lu ZY, Dong LJ, Wang FE, Dong R, Li XR. Development of retinal pigment epithelium from human parthenogenetic embryonic stem cells and microRNA signature. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci August 9, 2012;53(9):5334–43.
- [29] Schmitt J, Eckardt S, Schlegel PG, Sirén AL, Bruttel VS, McLaughlin KJ, Wischhusen J, Müller AM. Human parthenogenetic embryonic stem cell-derived neural stem cells express HLA-G and show unique resistance to NK cell-mediated killing. Mol Med March 23, 2015;21:185–96.
- [30] Brevini TA, Pennarossa G, Maffei S, Tettamanti G, Vanelli A, Isaac S, Eden A, Ledda S, de Eguileor M, Gandolfi F. Centrosome amplification and chromosomal instability in human and animal parthenogenetic cell lines. Stem Cell Rev June 2, 2012.
- [31] Liu W, Yin Y, Jiang Y, Kou C, Luo Y, Huang S, Zheng Y, Li S, Li Q, Guo L, Gao S, Sun X. Genetic and epigenetic X-chromosome variations in a parthenogenetic human embryonic stem cell line. J Assist Reprod Genet April 2011;28(4):303–13.
- [32] Klimanskaya I. Embryonic stem cells from blastomeres maintaining embryo viability. Semin Reprod Med January 2013;31(1):49-55.
- [33] Klimanskaya I, Chung Y, Becker S, Lu SJ, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cell lines derived from single blastomeres. Nature November 23, 2006;444(7118):481–5. Erratum in: Nature November 2006 23;444(7118):512. Nature. March 2007 15;446(7133):342.

#### 7. EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS: DERIVATION, PROPERTIES, AND CHALLENGES

- [34] Klimanskaya I, Chung Y, Becker S, Lu SJ, Lanza R. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells from single blastomeres. Nat Protoc 2007;2(8): 1963–72.
- [35] Chung Y, Klimanskaya I, Becker S, Li T, Maserati M, Lu SJ, Zdravkovic T, Ilic D, Genbacev O, Fisher S, Krtolica A, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cell lines generated without embryo destruction. Cell Stem Cell February 7, 2008;2(2):113–7.
- [36] Feki A, Bosman A, Dubuisson JB, Irion O, Dahoun S, Pelte MF, Hovatta O, Jaconi ME. Derivation of the first Swiss human embryonic stem cell line from a single blastomere of an arrested four-cell stage embryo. Swiss Med Wkly September 20, 2008;138(37–38):540–50.
- [37] Geens M, Mateizel I, Sermon K, De Rycke M, Spits C, Cauffman G, Devroey P, Tournaye H, Liebaers I, Van de Velde H. Human embryonic stem cell lines derived from single blastomeres of two 4-cell stage embryos. Hum Reprod November 2009;24(11):2709–17.
- [38] Giritharan G, Ilic D, Gormley M, Krtolica A. Human embryonic stem cells derived from embryos at different stages of development share similar transcription profiles. PLoS One 2011;6(10):e26570.
- [39] Ilic D, Giritharan G, Zdravkovic T, Caceres E, Genbacev O, Fisher SJ, Krtolica A. Derivation of human embryonic stem cell lines from biopsied blastomeres on human feeders with minimal exposure to xenomaterials. Stem Cells Dev November 2009;18(9):1343–50.
- [40] Rodin S, Antonsson L, Niaudet C, Simonson OE, Salmela E, Hansson EM, Domogatskaya A, Xiao Z, Damdimopoulou P, Sheikhi M, Inzunza J, Nilsson AS, Baker D, Kuiper R, Sun Y, Blennow E, Nordenskjöld M, Grinnemo KH, Kere J, Betsholtz C, Hovatta O, Tryggvason K. Clonal culturing of human embryonic stem cells on laminin-521/E-cadherin matrix in defined and xeno-free environment. Nat Commun 2014;5: 3195. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4195.
- [41] Zdravkovic T, Nazor KL, Larocque N, Gormley M, Donne M, Hunkapillar N, Giritharan G, Bernstein HS, Wei G, Hebrok M, Zeng X, Genbacev O, Mattis A, McMaster MT, Krtolica A, Valbuena D, Simón C, Laurent LC, Loring JF, Fisher SJ. Human stem cells from single blastomeres reveal pathways of embryonic or trophoblast fate specification. Development December 1, 2015;142(23):4010–25.
- [42] Lu SJ, Li F, Yin H, Feng Q, Kimbrel EA, Hahm E, Thon JN, Wang W, Italiano JE, Cho J, Lanza R. Platelets generated from human embryonic stem cells are functional in vitro and in the microcirculation of living mice. Cell Res March 2011;21(3):530–45.
- [43] Wang X, Kimbrel EA, Ijichi K, Paul D, Lazorchak AS, Chu J, Kouris NA, Yavanian GJ, Lu SJ, Pachter JS, Crocker SJ, Lanza R, Xu RH. Human ESC-derived MSCs outperform bone marrow MSCs in the treatment of an EAE model of multiple sclerosis. Stem Cell Rep June 6, 2014;3(1): 115–30.
- [43a] Lu B, Malcuit C, Wang S, Girman S, Francis P, Lemieux L, Lanza R, Lund R. Long-term safety and function of RPE from human embryonic stem cells in preclinical models of macular degeneration. Stem Cells September 2009;27(9):2126–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.149.
- [44] Dahéron L, Opitz SL, Zaehres H, Lensch MW, Andrews PW, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Daley GQ. LIF/STAT3 signaling fails to maintain self-renewal of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2004;22(5):770–8. Erratum in: Stem Cells December 2007;25(12):3273.
- [45] Humphrey RK, Beattie GM, Lopez AD, Bucay N, King CC, Firpo MT, Rose-John S, Hayek A. Maintenance of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells is STAT3 independent. Stem Cells 2004;22(4):522–30.
- [46] Jacobs K, Zambelli F, Mertzanidou A, Smolders I, Geens M, Nguyen HT, Barbé L, Sermon K, Spits C. Higher-density culture in human embryonic stem cells results in DNA damage and genome instability. Stem Cell Rep March 8, 2016;6(3):330–41.
- [47] Draper JS, Smith K, Gokhale P, Moore HD, Maltby E, Johnson J, Meisner L, Zwaka TP, Thomson JA, Andrews PW. Recurrent gain of chromosomes 17q and 12 in cultured human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol January 2004;22(1):53–4.
- [48] Garcia-Martinez J, Bakker B, Schukken KM, Simon JE, Foijer F. Aneuploidy in stem cells. World J Stem Cells June 26, 2016;8(6):216-22.
- [48a] Hasegawa K, Pomeroy JE, Pera MF. Current technology for the derivation of pluripotent stem cell lines from human embryos. Cell Stem Cell June 2010;6(6):521–31.
- [48b] Pettinato G, Vanden Berg-Foels WS, Zhang N, Wen X. ROCK inhibitor is not required for embryoid body formation from singularized human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One November 3, 2014;9(11):e100742.
- [49] Richards M, Fong CY, Chan WK, Wong PC, Bongso A. Human feeders support prolonged undifferentiated growth of human inner cell masses and embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol September 2002;20(9):933–6.
- [50] Richards M, Tan S, Fong CY, Biswas A, Chan WK, Bongso A. Comparative evaluation of various human feeders for prolonged undifferentiated growth of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2003;21(5):546–56.
- [51] Tannenbaum SE, Turetsky TT, Singer O, Aizenman E, Kirshberg S, Ilouz N, Gil Y, Berman-Zaken Y, Perlman TS, Geva N, Levy O, Arbell D, Simon A, Ben-Meir A, Shufaro Y, Laufer N, Reubinoff BE. Derivation of xeno-free and GMP-grade human embryonic stem cells—platforms for future clinical applications. PLoS One 2012;7(6):e35325.
- [52] Galán A, Simón C. Human embryonic stem cells derived in xeno-free conditions. Methods Mol Biol 2012;873:13-32.
- [53] Desai N, Rambhia P, Gishto A. Human embryonic stem cell cultivation: historical perspective and evolution of xeno-free culture systems. Reprod Biol Endocrinol February 22, 2015;13:9.
- [54] Xu C, Inokuma MS, Denham J, Golds K, Kundu P, Gold JD, Carpenter MK. Feeder-free growth of undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol October 2001;19(10):971–4.
- [55] Klimanskaya I, Chung Y, Meisner L, Johnson J, West MD, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cells derived without feeder cells. Lancet May 7-13, 2005;365(9471):1636–41.
- [56] Brons LG, Smithers LE, Trotter MW, Rugg-Gunn P, Sun P, Chuva de Sousa Lps SM, Howlett SK, Clarkson A, Ahrlund-Richter L, Pedersen RA, Vallier L. Derivation of pluripotent epiblast stem cells from mammalian embryos. Nature 2007;448:191–5.
- [57] De Los Angeles A, Loh YH, Tesar PJ, Daley GQ. Accessing naïve human pluripotency. Curr Opin Genet Dev June 2012;22(3):272-82.
- [58] Nichols J, Smith A. Naïve and primed pluripotent states. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4:487-92.
- [59] Tesar PJ, Chenoweth JG, Brook FA, Davies TJ, Evans EP, Mack DL, Gardner RL, McKay RDG. New cell lines from mouse epiblast share defining features with human embryonic stem cells. Nature 2007;488:196–9.
- [60] Okamoto I, Patrat C, Thepot D, Peynot N, Fauque P, Daniel N, Diabangouaya P, Wolf JP, Renard JP, Duranthon V, Heard E. Eutherian mammals use diverse strategies to initiate X-chromosome inactivation during development. Nature 2011;472:370–4.
- [60a] Krtolica A, Genbacev O, Escobedo C, Zdravkovic T, Nordstrom A, Vabuena D, Nath A, Simon C, Mostov K, Fisher SJ. Disruption of apicalbasal polarity of human embryonic stem cells enhances hematoendothelial differentiation. Stem Cells September 2007;25(9):2215–23.
- [61] Takashima Y, Guo G, Loos R, et al. Resetting transcription factor control circuitry toward ground-state pluripotency in human. Cell 2014;158: 1254–69.

#### 122

- [62] Ware CB, Nelson AM, Mecham B, et al. Derivation of naive human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111:4484–9.
- [63] Lewandowski J, Kurpisz M. Techniques of human embryonic stem cell and induced pluripotent stem cell derivation. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) October 2016;64(5):349–70.
- [64] Dodsworth BT, Flynn R, Cowley SA. The current state of naïve human pluripotency. Stem Cell November 2015;33(11):3181–6. https:// doi.org/10.1002/stem.2085.
- [65] Duggal G, Warrier S, Ghimire S, et al. Alternative routes to induce naive pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 2015.
- [66] Gafni O, Weinberger L, Mansour AA, et al. Derivation of novel human ground state naive pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2013;504:282-6.
- [67] Hanna J, Cheng AW, Saha K, Kim J, Lengner CJ, Soldner F, Cassady JP, Muffat J, Carey BW, Jaenisch R. Human embryonic stem cells with biological and epigenetic characteristics similar to those of mouse ESCs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA May 18, 2010;107(20):9222–7.
- [68] Yan L, Yang M, Guo H, Yang L, Wu J, Li R, Liu P, Lian Y, Zheng X, Yan J, Huang J, Li M, Wu X, Wen L, Lao K, Li R, Qiao J, Tang F. Single-cell RNA-Seq profiling of human preimplantation embryos and embryonic stem cells. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2013;20:1131–9.
- [69] Ying QL, Stavridis M, Griffiths D, Li M, Smith A. Conversion of embryonic stem cells into neuroectodermal precursors in adherent monoculture. Nat Biotechnol 2003:183–6.
- [70] Munoz-Sanjuan I, Brivanlou AH. Neural induction, the default model and embryonic stem cells. Nat Rev Neurosci 2002;3:271-80.
- [71] Smukler SR, Runciman SB, Xu S, van der Kooy D. Embryonic stem cells assume a primitive neural stem cell fate in the absence of extrinsic influences. J Cell Biol 2006;172:79–90.
- [72] Schwartz SD, Regillo CD, Lam BL, Eliott D, Rosenfeld PJ, Gregori NZ, Hubschman JP, Davis JL, Heilwell G, Spirn M, Maguire J, Gay R, Bateman J, Ostrick RM, Morris D, Vincent M, Anglade E, Del Priore LV, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium in patients with age-related macular degeneration and Stargardt's macular dystrophy: follow-up of two open-label phase 1/2 studies. Lancet February 7, 2015;385(9967):509–16.
- [73] Schwartz SD, Hubschman JP, Heilwell G, Franco-Cardenas V, Pan CK, Ostrick RM, Mickunas E, Gay R, Klimanskaya I, Lanza R. Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: a preliminary report. Lancet February 25, 2012;379(9817):713–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60028-2.
- [74] Lund RD, Wang S, Klimanskaya I, Holmes T, Ramos-Kelsey R, Lu B, Girman S, Bischoff N, Sauvé Y, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cellderived cells rescue visual function in dystrophic RCS rats. Cloning Stem Cells Fall 2006;8(3):189–99.

## **Further Reading**

Boiani M, Schöler HR. Regulatory networks in embryo-derived pluripotent stem cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol November 2005;6(11):872–84. Brevini TA, Gandolfi F. Parthenotes as a source of embryonic stem cells. Cell Prolif February 2008;41(Suppl. 1):20–30.

Kato R, Matsumoto M, Sasaki H, Joto R, Okada M, Ikeda Y, Kanie K, Suga M, Kinehara M, Yanagihara K, Liu Y, Uchio-Yamada K, Fukuda T, Kii H, Uozumi T, Honda H, Kiyota Y, Furue MK. Parametric analysis of colony morphology of non-labelled live human pluripotent stem cells for cell quality control. Sci Rep September 26, 2016;6:34009.

Pan GJ, Chang ZY, Schöler HR, Pei D. Stem cell pluripotency and transcription factor Oct4. Cell Res December 2002;12(5-6):321-9.

Robertson EJ. Teratocarcinomas and embryonic stem cellsA practical approach. Oxford: IRL Press; 1987. p. 254.

- Stojkovic P, Lako M, Stewart R, Przyborski S, Armstrong L, Evans J, Murdoch A, Strachan T, Stojkovic M. An autogeneic feeder cell system that efficiently supports growth of undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells March 2005;23(3):306–14.
- Turovets N, Fair J, West R, Ostrowska A, Semechkin R, Janus J, Cui L, Agapov V, Turovets I, Semechkin A, Csete M, Agapova L. Derivation of highpurity definitive endoderm from human parthenogenetic stem cells using an in vitro analog of the primitive streak. Cell Transplant 2012;21(1): 217–34.

Wu G, Schöler HR. Role of Oct4 in the early embryo development. Cell Regen (Lond) April 29, 2014;3(1):7.

Stojkovic P, Lako M, Przyborski S, Stewart R, Armstrong L, Evans J, Zhang X, Stojkovic M. Human-serum matrix supports undifferentiated growth of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells August 2005;23(7):895–902. This page intentionally left blank

## Alternative Sources of Human Embryonic Stem Cells

Svetlana Gavrilov, Virginia E. Papaioannou, Donald W. Landry College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Human embryonic stem cells (hESC) are conventionally derived from viable preimplantation embryos produced by embryonic stem (IVF) [1]. The derivation of hESC is considered ethically controversial because of the typical destruction of the embryo during this process [2-5]. A human embryo constitutes an object of moral concern [6] owing to its identity as a human at the embryonic stage of development. In biological terms, a human embryo has a distinct, unique, and unambiguous status as a result of this identity. However, the political and moral status of human embryos are in a state of flux. Whereas there is universal opposition to reproductive cloning of humans by any method, there is diversity in opinion regarding the use of human embryos to derive hESC and, subsequently, potential therapies derived from them [7,8]. Ethical and cultural imperatives to respect human dignity from the moment of fertilization conflict with a utilitarian desire to relieve human suffering, even when this comes at the expense of embryonic human life. These conflicting perspectives have fueled an intense debate and have influenced legislative regulation of stem cell research in the United States and internationally [2–5,9,10]. US stem cell research policy was regulated on the federal level by the Dickey Amendment and President Obama's Executive Order 13,505 and by individual state laws (Box 8.1) [10]. The use of federal funding to derive new hESC that would entail destroying human embryos is forbidden. Also, in many European countries (Austria, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Norway, Poland, and Slovakia), the derivation of hESC from surplus embryos is prohibited [9]. Because stem cell biology is at the forefront of research, legislative acts change rapidly. (For up-to-date legislative regulation of human embryonic stem (ES) cell research, refer to links provided in Box 8.2) [9,10].

Another consideration is the constant demand to derive new human embryonic stem (ES) lines for both basic and clinical applications owing to the loss of genetic and epigenetic stability arising during hESC culture and manipulation [11–14]. Many available hESC lines had been exposed to animal material during derivation or culture [2,15]. It is acceptable to expose hESC lines to products of human origin, but it remains the ultimate goal to pursue hESC derivation under stringent xenogeneic-free conditions for eventual clinical use [2,15].

The debate on embryo-destructive derivation of ES cells often focuses on the moral sensibilities of investigators and their desires for research unfettered by ethical considerations. However, the goal of hESC research is to find therapies that would ease human pain or debilitation caused by illness or injury [2,16,17]. In the latter context, the sensibilities of many millions of the populace (the intended beneficiaries of this work) should be instructive. As a result, a variety of different derivation strategies have been proposed (Fig. 8.1) to avoid using an embryo as a source of human stem cells (detailed information can be found in appropriate chapters of this book or elsewhere) [2,3]. In this chapter, we will discuss two alternative approaches to yielding genetically unmodified hESC that do not interfere with the developmental potential of human embryos: single blastomere biopsy (SBB) and organismically dead embryos (Fig. 8.1) [2].

#### BOX 8.1

## BRIEF OVERVIEW OF US FEDERAL STEM CELL POLICY

The US policy on stem cell research is shaped by the following legislative act and executive order:

• The "Dickey amendment," a rider issued in 1996 that framed all subsequent political discussions regarding human embryonic stem cells (hESC) research. The amendment stated that no federal funding may be employed for (1) the creation of a human embryo or embryos for research purposes or (2) research in which a human embryo or embryos are destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of injury or death (beyond that permitted for fetuses in utero under the Public Health Service Act).

 Executive Order (EO) 13,505, which removed barriers to responsible scientific research involving human stem cells. This EO was issued by President Obama on March 9, 2009 and stated that the Secretary of Health and Human Services, through the director of the National Institutes of Health, may support and conduct responsible, scientifically worthy human stem cell research, including human stem cell research, to the extent permitted by law. In addition, this EO revoked two items issued by President George W. Bush: (1) a presidential statement that permitted work only on hESC lines generated before August 9, 2001, and (2) EO 13,435, which favored all research on stem cells without harming a human embryo.

## BOX 8.2

## USEFUL LINKS AND RESOURCES FOR INFORMATION ON CURRENT LEGISLATION IN THE UNITED STATES AND INTERNATIONALLY

National Institutes of Health (NIH) Stem Cell Information webpage: contains relevant information on current US stem cell policy; NIH Stem Cell Registry with a list of eligible lines for NIH funding. The page also contains public comments on draft NIH human stem cell guidelines that supplement Executive Order 13,505. http://stemcells.nih.gov/index.asp. International Society for Stem Cell Research webpage: contains comprehensive information on international legislation on human embryonic stem cell research; periodically updated. http://www.isscr.org/.

## Single Blastomere Biopsy

SBB for the purpose of deriving ES cells was developed by Lanza and colleagues [18–21]. HESC are created from a single blastomere that is removed from the embryo [20,21] by employing a technique that was originally developed for preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) [2,22–24]. This procedure bypasses the ethical issue of embryo destruction, because biopsied embryos continue to develop and reach the blastocyst stage and beyond, as demonstrated by more than a decade of experience with PGD [2,24]. SBB of both murine and human eight-cell stage embryos has been used successfully as a source of material to derive ES cell lines (Fig. 8.1) [2,18–21]. The risk associated with embryo biopsy [25] is accepted by patients as part of the PGD procedure, but it would be considered unjustified in a research setting in the absence of a clinical indication [2]. In addition, US regulations forbid research on an embryo that imposes greater than minimal risk, unless the research is for the direct benefit of the fetus (Box 8.1) [26]. To date, none of the hESC lines derived by SBB have been approved for National Institutes of Health (NIH) funding [10].



**FIGURE 8.1** Classical and alternative strategies for the generation of human stem cells by reprogramming with exogenous genes (iPS), transfer of a genetically altered somatic cell nucleus into an oocyte (ANT), the classical derivation of human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) from blastocyst culture, the derivation of hESCs from a biopsied single blastomere (SBB), and the derivation from organismically dead embryos. *bm*, blastomere; *ICM*, inner cell mass; *iPS*, induced pluripotent stem cells; *TE*, trophectoderm; *ZP*, zona pellucida. *Reproduced with permission from Gavrilov S*, *Papaioannou VE*, *Landry DW*. *Alternative strategies for the derivation of human embryonic stem cell lines and the role of dead embryos. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2009a;4:81–6*.

## ORGANISMICALLY DEAD EMBRYOS

Our group proposed the derivation of hESC from irreversibly arrested, nonviable human embryos that died, despite best efforts, during the course of IVF for reproductive purposes [2]. This proposal to harvest live cells from dead embryos is analogous to the harvesting of essential organs from deceased donors. We suggested that the established ethical guidelines for essential organ donation could be employed for the clinical application of this paradigm to generate new hESC lines [2,4,27,28].

## Irreversibility as a Criterion for Diagnosing Embryonic Death

The modern concept of death is based on an irreversible loss of integrated organismic function [28,29]. Brain death is used as a reliable marker for irreversible loss of integrated function. Diagnosing the death of a patient before the

127

death of that patient's tissues is important for the appropriate application of medical resources and for the possibility of organ donation.

To apply this concept to a stage of development that precedes the development of the nervous system, we proposed that an irreversible arrest of cell division would mark an irreversible loss of integrated function. Thus, it was necessary to find criteria that would establish irreversible cessation of normal embryonic development before every cell of the embryo has died. Through retrospective analysis of early-stage embryos that had been generated for reproductive purpose but were rejected owing to poor quality and/or developmental arrest, we showed that many of these embryos were in fact organismically dead [28]. Our data showed that the failure of normal cell division for 48 h was irreversible, and despite the possible presence of individual living cells, they indicated an irreversible loss of integrated organismic function: the conceptual definition of death [2,28].

Furthermore, we conducted a prospective study to characterize embryonic death [3,30], in which the progression of arrested embryos, including abnormal blastocysts, was examined in extended culture [27]. Our data demonstrated that developmental arrest observed in some human embryos by embryonic day 6 (ED6) after IVF cannot be reversed by extended culture in conditions suitable for preimplantation embryos, because we saw no morphological changes indicative of developmental progression in most embryos and observed no unequivocal instances of further cell divisions [27]. Moreover, these observations are in line with standard IVF practice, which dictates that such embryos should not be transferred or cryopreserved because they are known not to produce live offspring [27,31–38]. In an attempt to correlate morphology with cell number, we categorized the embryos at ED6 on the basis of gross morphology (Fig. 8.2) [27]. We showed that morphological categorization was of limited value in predicting cell number. Nevertheless, the higher cell number associated with cavitation might predict greater potential for the success of hESC derivation [27]. In addition, we determined the proportion of living and nonliving cells in nonviable ED6 human embryos (Fig. 8.2) and showed that most irreversibly arrested embryos contain a high proportion of vital cells regardless of the stage of arrest, which indicates that harvesting cells and deriving hESC from such nonviable embryos should be feasible [27].

#### Human Embryonic Stem Cell Lines Derived From Irreversibly Arrested, Nonviable Embryos

In fact, the proof of principle for this alternative method has been obtained, because 14 hESC lines were successfully derived from nonviable embryos that were irreversibly arrested by our criteria (Table 8.1) [39,40,41]. The first cell line (hES-NCL9) was derived by Stojkovic and colleagues from 132 arrested embryos [40]. Subsequently, Daley and colleagues derived 11 lines from 413 poor-quality embryos rejected for clinical use [39]. In addition, our group derived two human ES lines: CU1 and CU2 from 159 ED6 irreversibly arrested, nonviable human embryos [41]. Although many arrested embryos might be expected to be aneuploid [42–46], all 14 hESC lines were karyotypically normal; moreover, pluripotency and differentiation potential were demonstrated in vitro and/or in vivo [39,40]; [41].

## Morphological Criteria for Predicting the Capacity of Irreversibly Arrested, Nonviable Human Embryos to Develop Into a Human Embryonic Stem Cell Line

To define morphological criteria that could be used to predict the capacity of discarded, irreversibly arrested, nonviable embryos to develop into an hESC line, we carried out a retrospective analysis of the morphological progression from ED5 to ED6 in 2480 embryos that were rejected for clinical use [41]. Embryos were given a morphological category commonly used for clinical grading as per standard IVF practice (e.g., single-celled embryo, multicell, morula, blastocyst). If an embryo had reached the blastocyst stage (i.e., showing advanced cavitation), it was given an overall grade of good, fair, or poor, and was also scored for inner cell mass and trophectoderm quality. Our analysis showed that nonviable embryos defined as poor did not improve with extended in vitro culture but retained the capacity to yield hESC lines despite arrested development [41]. We postulated that if derivation efforts were targeted on this subgroup, the derivation success rate could be increased and the production of new hESC lines could be brought closer to clinical application [41].

#### ORGANISMICALLY DEAD EMBRYOS



**FIGURE 8.2** Morphology and differential propidium iodide/Hoechst fluorescent nuclear staining of nonviable embryos at ED6. Brightfield images (A, D, G, J, and M) with corresponding fluorescence images (B, E, H, K, and N), and enlarged details (C, F, I, L, and O) as indicated by the green squares (A–C). Category A embryo showing degeneration at embryonic day 6. All nuclei, including nuclear fragments, are pink, indicating that there are no living cells in the embryo. Detail shows pink nucleus from a dead cell (D–F). Category C embryo with living and dead cells is indicated by the blue and pink nuclei, respectively. Detail shows nuclei from one living and one dead cell. Arrow in E indicates a sperm nucleus outside the zona pellucida. (G–I) Category G embryo with living and dead cells as well as fragmented nuclei. Detail shows intact and fragmented nuclei (J–L). Category D embryo with all live cells. Detail shows blue fragmented nucleus (M–O). Category H embryo with many living and a few dead cells. Arrowheads in I and O indicate nuclear fragments. *Reproduced with permission from Gavrilov S, Prosser RW, Khalid I, MacDonald J, Sauer MV, Landry DW et al. Non-viable human embryos as a source of viable cells for embryonic stem cell derivation. Reprod Biomed Online 2009b;18:301–8.* 

Cell Line Name	Type of Embryo	Karyotype	Stem Cell Markers	Embryoid Body Assay	Teratoma	Eligible for National Institutes of Health Funding?	References
hES-NCL9	Day 6–7 late arrested embryo (16–24 cells)	46,XX	Yes	Yes	Yes	ND	[40]
CHB-1	Day 3 PQE	46,XY	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-2	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-3	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-4	Day 5 PQE	46,XY	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-5	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-6	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-8	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-9	Day 5 PQE	46,XY	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-10	Day 5 PQE	46,XY	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-11	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CHB-12	Day 5 PQE	46,XX	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	[39]
CU1	Day 6 arrested poor blastocyst	46,XX	Yes	Yes	ND	ND	[41]
CU2	Day 6 arrested early blastocyst	46,XX <sup>a</sup>	Yes	Yes	ND	ND	[41]

TABLE 8.1         List of Human Embryonic Stem Cell Lines Derived From Nonviable Organismically Dead Er
---

ND, not determined; NR, not reported; PQE, poor-quality embryo.

<sup>a</sup>Putative normal karyotype: possible low level of mosaicism.

## CONCLUSION

The derivation of hESC from organismically dead embryos is a unique approach because it defines a common ground in the human ES debate. Harvesting live cells from dead human embryos has the likelihood of being accepted by the staunchest opponents of embryo-destructive ES derivation. ES cells generated by this approach appear to be suitable for clinical research. Thus far, 11 human ES lines derived by Daley and colleagues have been included in the NIH stem cell registry and are available for research with NIH funding [10]. Human ES lines generated from organismically dead embryos are of equal quality compared with lines derived by the classical, intracellular mass-derived approach, but further characterization of these lines is needed [2].

During routine IVF procedures, large proportions of embryos fail to develop properly [45,47,48] and are discarded as being unsuitable for clinical use [2,27]. Despite the low efficiency of isolation of hESC from organismically dead embryos, large-scale derivation is not limited because in the United States alone, nearly half a million such embryos are generated yearly as a by-product of assisted reproductive technologies [2,27]. The prospect of thousands of hESC lines generated by this method and deposited into stem cell banks renders clinical applications based on human leukocyte antigen matching feasible.

## References

- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7.
- [2] Gavrilov S, Papaioannou VE, Landry DW. Alternative strategies for the derivation of human embryonic stem cell lines and the role of dead embryos. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2009a;4:81–6.
- [3] Green RM. Can we develop ethically universal embryonic stem-cell lines? Nat Rev Genet 2007;8:480-5.
- [4] Landry DW, Zucker HA. Embryonic death and the creation of human embryonic stem cells. J Clin Invest 2004;114:1184-6.
- [5] McLaren A. A scientist's view of the ethics of human embryonic stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell 2007;1:23–6.
- [6] Guenin LM. The morality of unenabled embryo use arguments that work and arguments that don't. Mayo Clin Proc 2004;79:801–8.

- [7] Einsiedel E, Premji S, Geransar R, Orton NC, Thavaratnam T, Bennett LK. Diversity in public views toward stem cell sources and policies. Stem Cell Rev 2009;5:102–7.
- [8] Peddie VL, Porter M, Counsell C, Caie L, Pearson D, Bhattacharya S. "Not taken in by media hype": how potential donors, recipients and members of the general public perceive stem cell research. Hum Reprod 2009;24:1106–13.
- [9] ISSCR. 2010. vol. 2010. http://www.isscr.org.
- [10] NIH. Stem cell information, vol. 2010; 2010. http://stemcells.nih.gov/index.asp.
- [11] Allegrucci C, Young LE. Differences between human embryonic stem cell lines. Hum Reprod Update 2007;13:103-20.
- [12] Cowan CA, Klimanskaya I, McMahon J, Atienza J, Witmyer J, Zucker JP, et al. Derivation of embryonic stem-cell lines from human blastocysts. N Engl J Med 2004;350:1353–6.
- [13] Maitra A, Arking DE, Shivapurkar N, Ikeda M, Stastny V, Kassauei K, et al. Genomic alterations in cultured human embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet 2005;37:1099–103.
- [14] Rugg-Gunn PJ, Ferguson-Smith AC, Pedersen RA. Status of genomic imprinting in human embryonic stem cells as revealed by a large cohort of independently derived and maintained lines. Hum Mol Genet 2007;16(Spec. No. 2):R243–51.
- [15] Skottman H, Dilber MS, Hovatta O. The derivation of clinical-grade human embryonic stem cell lines. FEBS Lett 2006;580:2875-8.
- [16] Klimanskaya I, Rosenthal N, Lanza R. Derive and conquer: sourcing and differentiating stem cells for therapeutic applications. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2008;7:131–42.
- [17] Leeb C, Jurga M, McGuckin C, Moriggl R, Kenner L. Promising new sources for pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rev 2009;6(1):15–26.
- [18] Chung Y, Klimanskaya I, Becker S, Li T, Maserati M, Lu SJ, et al. Human embryonic stem cell lines generated without embryo destruction. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2:113–7.
- [19] Chung Y, Klimanskaya I, Becker S, Marh J, Lu SJ, Johnson J, et al. Embryonic and extraembryonic stem cell lines derived from single mouse blastomeres. Nature 2006;439:216–9.
- [20] Klimanskaya I, Chung Y, Becker S, Lu SJ, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cell lines derived from single blastomeres. Nature 2006;444:481-5.
- [21] Klimanskaya I, Chung Y, Becker S, Lu SJ, Lanza R. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells from single blastomeres. Nat Protoc 2007;2: 1963–72.
- [22] Ogilvie CM, Braude PR, Scriven PN. Preimplantation genetic diagnosis an overview. J Histochem Cytochem 2005;53:255-60.
- [23] Staessen C, Platteau P, van Assche E, Michiels A, Tournaye H, Camus M, et al. Comparison of blastocyst transfer with or without preimplantation genetic diagnosis for aneuploidy screening in couples with advanced maternal age: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Hum Reprod 2004;19:2849–58.
- [24] Verlinsky Y, Cohen J, Munne S, Gianaroli L, Simpson JL, Ferraretti AP, et al. Over a decade of experience with preimplantation genetic diagnosis: a multicenter report. Fertil Steril 2004;82:292–4.
- [25] American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Preimplantation genetic testing: a Practice Committee opinion. Fertil Steril 2007;88:1497-504.
- [26] Department of Health And Human Services. §46.204. Research involving pregnant women or fetuses, vol. 46; 2010.
- [27] Gavrilov S, Prosser RW, Khalid I, MacDonald J, Sauer MV, Landry DW, et al. Non-viable human embryos as a source of viable cells for embryonic stem cell derivation. Reprod Biomed Online 2009b;18:301–8.
- [28] Landry DW, Zucker HA, Sauer MV, Reznik M, Wiebe L. Hypocellularity and absence of compaction as criteria for embryonic death. Regen Med 2006;1:367–71.
- [29] Egonsson D. Death and irreversibility. Rev Neurosci 2009;20:275-81.
- [30] Hipp J, Atala A. Sources of stem cells for regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Rev 2008;4:3-11.
- [31] Bolton VN, Hawes SM, Taylor CT, Parsons JH. Development of spare human preimplantation embryos in vitro: an analysis of the correlations among gross morphology, cleavage rates, and development to the blastocyst. J In Vitro Fert Embryo Transf 1989;6:30–5.
- [32] Cummins JM, Breen TM, Harrison KL, Shaw JM, Wilson LM, Hennessey JF. A formula for scoring human embryo growth rates in in vitro fertilization: its value in predicting pregnancy and in comparison with visual estimates of embryo quality. J In Vitro Fert Embryo Transf 1986; 3:284–95.
- [33] Erenus M, Zouves C, Rajamahendran P, Leung S, Fluker M, Gomel V. The effect of embryo quality on subsequent pregnancy rates after in vitro fertilization. Fertil Steril 1991;56:707–10.
- [34] Giorgetti C, Terriou P, Auquier P, Hans E, Spach JL, Salzmann J, et al. Embryo score to predict implantation after in-vitro fertilization: based on 957 single embryo transfers. Hum Reprod 1995;10:2427–31.
- [35] Puissant F, van Rysselberge M, Barlow P, Deweze J, Leroy F. Embryo scoring as a prognostic tool in IVF treatment. Hum Reprod 1987;2:705-8.
- [36] Staessen C, Camus M, Bollen N, Devroey P, van Steirteghem AC. The relationship between embryo quality and the occurrence of multiple pregnancies. Fertil Steril 1992;57:626–30.
- [37] Steer CV, Mills CL, Tan SL, Campbell S, Edwards RG. The cumulative embryo score: a predictive embryo scoring technique to select the optimal number of embryos to transfer in an in-vitro fertilization and embryo transfer programme. Hum Reprod 1992;7:117–9.
- [38] Ziebe S, Petersen K, Lindenberg S, Andersen AG, Gabrielsen A, Andersen AN. Embryo morphology or cleavage stage: how to select the best embryos for transfer after in-vitro fertilization. Hum Reprod 1997;12:1545–9.
- [39] Lerou PH, Yabuuchi A, Huo H, Takeuchi A, Shea J, Cimini T, et al. Human embryonic stem cell derivation from poor-quality embryos. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26(2):212–4.
- [40] Zhang X, Stojkovic P, Przyborski S, Cooke M, Armstrong L, Lako M, et al. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells from developing and arrested embryos. Stem Cell 2006;24:2669–76.
- [41] Gavrilov S, Marolt D, Douglas NC, Prosser RW, Khalid I, Sauer MV, et al. Derivation of two new human embryonic stem cell (hESC) lines from irreversibly-arrested, non-viable human embryos. Stem Cells Int 2011;2011:765378.
- [42] Findikli N, Kahraman S, Kumtepe Y, Donmez E, Benkhalifa M, Biricik A, et al. Assessment of DNA fragmentation and aneuploidy on poor quality human embryos. Reprod Biomed Online 2004;8:196–206.
- [43] Hardy K, Handyside AH, Winston RM. The human blastocyst: cell number, death and allocation during late preimplantation development in vitro. Development 1989;107:597–604.
- [44] Magli MC, Jones GM, Gras L, Gianaroli L, Korman I, Trounson AO. Chromosome mosaicism in day 3 aneuploid embryos that develop to morphologically normal blastocysts in vitro. Hum Reprod 2000;15:1781–6.

#### 8. ALTERNATIVE SOURCES OF HUMAN EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

- [45] Munne S, Chen S, Colls P, Garrisi J, Zheng X, Cekleniak N, et al. Maternal age, morphology, development and chromosome abnormalities in over 6000 cleavage-stage embryos. Reprod Biomed Online 2007;14:628–34.
- [46] Sandalinas M, Sadowy S, Alikani M, Calderon G, Cohen J, Munne S. Developmental ability of chromosomally abnormal human embryos to develop to the blastocyst stage. Hum Reprod 2001;16:1954–8.
- [47] Alikani M, Calderon G, Tomkin G, Garrisi J, Kokot M, Cohen J. Cleavage anomalies in early human embryos and survival after prolonged culture in-vitro. Hum Reprod 2000;15:2634–22643.
- [48] Magli MC, Gianaroli L, Ferraretti AP. Chromosomal abnormalities in embryos. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2001;183(Suppl. 1):S29-34.

## Stem Cells From the Amnion

Paolo De Coppi<sup>1,2</sup>, Anthony Atala<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>UCL Institute of Child Health and Great Ormond Street Hospital, London, United Kingdom; <sup>2</sup>Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

## INTRODUCTION

In this chapter, we provide an overview of the potential advantages and disadvantages of different stem and progenitor cell populations identified in the amnion and in the amniotic fluid (AF), along with their properties and potential clinical applications.

Placenta, fetal membranes (i.e., amnion and chorion), and AF have been extensively investigated as a potential noncontroversial source of stem cells. They are usually discarded after delivery and are accessible during pregnancy through amniocentesis and chorionic villus sampling [1]. Several populations of cells with multilineage differentiation potential and immunomodulatory properties have been isolated from the human placenta and fetal membranes; they have been classified by an international workshop [2] as human amniotic epithelial cells (hAECs) [3–7], human amniotic mesenchymal stromal cells (hAMSCs) [8,9], human chorionic mesenchymal stromal cells (hCMSCs) [10,11], and human chorionic trophoblastic cells (hCTCs).

In the AF, two main populations of stem cells have been isolated: amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells (AFMSCs) and amniotic fluid stem (AFS) cells. Because of the easier accessibility of the AF compared with other extraembryonic tissues, these cells may hold much promise in regenerative medicine.

## PLACENTA: FUNCTION, ORIGIN, AND COMPOSITION

During human placental development, a range of cell types is generated, depending on gestation, which can be described as epithelial (because they derive from the amniotic membrane), trophoblastic, and hematopoietic (both derived from the chorionic villi). Placental tissue has contributions from both the fetus (amniotic membrane epithelium, extraembryonic mesoderm, and the two-layered trophoblast) and the mother (decidua basalis). The primitive formation of the placenta occurs from cells of fetal origin, known as trophoblast, that invade the uterine endometrium, form the outer layer of the blastocyst, and produce a network of protrusions, the villi and the lacunae system. On the 7th to 10th day after conception, the chorionic membranes are developed from layers of proliferating placental cells. At day 9 postconception, the inner cell mass induces the formation of the epiblast and hypoblast that subsequently become the amniotic cavity and the yolk sac. The process of gastrulation enables the bilaminar disc to differentiate into the three germ layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm), followed by organogenesis [12,13].

During the maturation of the syncytium, the villi establish the maternofetal transport of blood nutrients, oxygen, gases, and waste products, and they differentiate from mesenchymal villi into immature intermediate villi. The placental progenitor stem cells are the cytotrophoblast cells emanating from the trophectodermal layer that result in the villous syncytiotrophoblast, which is a multinucleated aggregate of cytotrophoblast cells, and the extravillous cytotrophoblasts (EVTs) [14]. The trophoblast invasion of the maternal decidualized endometrium is also associated with hormonal secretions, such as human chorionic gonadotrophin, which downregulates maternal cellular immunity and promotes angiogenic activity of the EVTs [15]. By the 12th week of gestation, the placenta has adopted a

hemotrophic nutritional function, in particular causing extensive transformation of the maternal spiral arteries into augmented high-flow, low-resistance vessels that provide sufficient nutrients and oxygen for the developing fetus.

Human fetal placental cells can be divided into the hAECs, hAMSCs, hCMSCs, and hCTCs. Isolation of these latter cells (hCMSCs and hCTCs) can be realized directly from the placenta or through chorionic villus sampling, a form of invasive ultrasound-guided prenatal diagnosis that entails sampling of the placental tissue from 11 weeks of gestation. Isolation of the heterogeneous population of cells (hAECs, hCMSCs, and hCTCs) can be implemented from different placenta regions through enzymatic digestion with dispase or collagenase in synergy with DNase.

## AMNIOTIC FLUID: FUNCTION, ORIGIN, AND COMPOSITION

The AF is the clear, watery liquid that surrounds the growing fetus within the amniotic cavity. It allows the fetus to grow freely and move inside the uterus, protects it from outside injuries by cushioning sudden blows or movements and by maintaining consistent pressure and temperature, and acts as a vehicle for the exchange of body chemicals with the mother [16,17].

In humans, the AF starts to appear at the beginning of the second week of gestation as a small film of liquid between the cells of the epiblast. Between days 8 and 10 after fertilization, this fluid gradually expands and separates the epiblast (i.e., the future embryo) from the amnioblasts (i.e., the future amnion), thus forming the amniotic cavity [6]. Thereafter, it progressively increases in volume, completely surrounding the embryo after the fourth week of pregnancy. Over the course of gestation, AF volume markedly changes from 20 mL in the seventh week to 600 mL in the 25th week, 1000 mL in the 34th week, and 800 mL at birth. During the first half of gestation, the AF results from active sodium and chloride transport across the amniotic membrane and the nonkeratinized fetal skin, with concomitant passive movement of water. In the second half of gestation, the AF is composed of fetal urine, gastrointestinal excretions, respiratory secretions, and substances exchanged through the sac membranes [18–21].

The AF is primarily composed of water and electrolytes (98%–99%) but it also contains chemical substances (e.g., glucose, lipids, proteins, hormones, and enzymes), suspended materials (e.g., vernix caseosa, lanugo hair, and meconium), and cells. AF cells are derived both from extraembryonic structures (i.e., placenta and fetal membranes) and from embryonic and fetal tissues [22]. Although AF cells are known to express markers of all three germ layers [23], their exact origin still represents a matter of discussion; the consensus is that they consist mainly of cells shed in the amniotic cavity from the developing skin, respiratory apparatus, and urinary and gastrointestinal tracts [18,24]. AF cells display a broad range of morphologies and behaviors varying with gestational age and fetal development [25]. Under normal conditions, the number of AF cells increases with advancing gestation; if a fetal disease is present, AF cell counts can be either dramatically reduced (e.g., intrauterine death, urogenital atresia) or abnormally elevated (e.g., anencephaly, spina bifida, exomphalos) [26]. Based on their morphological and growth characteristics, viable adherent cells from the AF are classified into three main groups: epithelioid (33.7%), AF (60.8%), and fibroblastic type (5.5%) [25]. In the event of fetal abnormalities, other types of cells can be found in the AF, e.g., neural cells in the presence of neural tube defects and peritoneal cells in case of abdominal wall malformations [26–28].

Most cells present in the AF are terminally differentiated and have limited proliferative capabilities [26,29]. In the 1990s, however, two groups demonstrated the presence in the AF of small subsets of cells harboring a proliferation and differentiation potential. First, Torricelli reported the presence of hematopoietic progenitors in the AF collected before the 12th week of gestation [30]. Then Streubel was able to differentiate AF cells into myocytes, which suggested the presence in the AF of nonhematopoietic precursors [31]. These results initiated new interest in the AF as an alternative source of cells for therapeutic applications.

## AMNIOTIC EPITHELIAL CELLS

Human amnion consists of amniotic epithelial cells (AECs) on a basement collagenous membrane, an acellular compact layer filled with reticular fibers, a fibroblast layer with Hofbauer cells/histiocytes, and a highly hygroscopic spongy layer with fibrils between the chorion and the amniotic sac [32].

AECs can be obtained with differential enzymatic digestion from the amnion membrane after it is separated from the underlying chorion [33]. The amnion contains epithelial cells expressing surface markers that include both embryonic-specific markers such as the stage-specific antigens (SSEAs) 3 and 5, Tra-1-60, Tra-1-81, and mesenchymal markers CD105, CD90, CD73, CD44, CD29, human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A, -B, -C, CD13, CD10, CD166, and

CD117. Their immunological properties have not been completely elucidated; however, AECs also appear to be resistant to rejection after allotransplantation, probably owing to their immunosuppression properties (CD59 and HLA-G [34]), which could also lead to their therapeutic role in a disease model. For example, hAECs have been reported to lower the blood glucose levels of streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice several weeks after implantation, potentially by differentiation into  $\beta$  cells [35].

hAECs are considered multipotent cells because of their capacity to differentiate into different lineages. In particular, they have been able to mature under specific culture conditions into neuronal cells that synthesize acetylcholine, norepinephrine, and dopamine [6,36,37]. In vivo, hAECs have been reported to be neuroprotective and neuroregenerative, probably in relation to growth factor secretion. Indeed, studies showed that hAECconditioned media exhibit neurotrophic effects on rat cortical cells [38], and because of the expression of neural markers such as nestin, glial fibrillary acidic protein, and microtubule-associated protein 2, they are inclined toward neuronal lineages. hAECs have also been used to treat peripheral nerve injuries in animal models, in which they have shown to enhance the growth of host neurons and guide regenerative sprouting [68a]. In addition to their neurogenic potential, some relevant work has been done on exploring the hepatic potential of AECs. First, AECs produce albumin and  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein, and they show glycogen storage and hepatic differentiation potential in vitro [39,40]. Moreover, in vitro, hAECs had the capacity to metabolize ammonia, testosterone and  $17\alpha$ -hydroxyprogesterone caproate, whereas they expressed hepatocyte markers such as albumin, A1AT, CYP2A4, 3A7, 1A2, 2B6, ASGPR1, and inducible fetal cytochromes. After intrahepatic transplantation into immunodeficient (severe combined immunodeficient [SCID])/beige mice, hAECs demonstrated functional hepatic characteristics [39], and after pretreatment of SCID/beige mice with retrorsine, hAECs expressed mature liver genes, plasma proteins, and hepatic enzymes to a level equal to adult liver tissue. hAECs showed therapeutic efficacy after transplantation in a mouse model of cirrhosis [41]. The transplantation of human amnion–derived epithelial cells to the liver appears to have desired therapeutic properties including the secretion of matrix metalloproteinase that instigate fibrinolysis and increase in interleukin-10 concentration. In a liver disease mouse model, amnion epithelial cell transplantation resulted in hepatic engraftment with decreased inflammation, fibrosis, and hepatocyte apoptosis [42]. Zhang et al. infused amnion-derived cells in a carbon tetrachloride --treated mouse liver, and they showed minimal fibrosis and apoptosis [43]. Ricci et al. used a piece of human amniotic membrane (hAM) to assess fibrosis in rat liver and demonstrated increased antifibrotic properties of the hAM with a reduction in ductular reaction and extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition [44]. Vaghjiani et al. showed that the differentiation of hAECs into hepatic-like cells can remain viable and functional after encapsulation in barium alginate microspheres in vitro, and they can express CYP3A4, which is thought to break down nearly 50% of all therapeutic drugs [45].

Moreover, the cryopreserved amniotic membrane and its by-products have been recognized as significant tools for the treatment of ulceration and epithelial defects (corneal or conjunctival) [46,47]. Nakamura et al. used autologous serum corneal epithelial cells on an amniotic membrane to transplant nine eyes of nine patients with total limbal stem cell deficiency, and they demonstrated improvement in visual acuity and complete corneal epithelialization within 2–5 days [48]. Wang et al. experimented on allogeneic green fluorescent protein (GFP)<sup>+</sup> mice intact amniotic epithelium grafts with syngeneic (EGFP-C57BL/6 to C57BL/6 W/t) and allogeneic (EGFP-C57BL/6 to BALB/c W/t) AE cells that were transplanted into the cornea or conjunctiva or inserted into the anterior chambers. The researchers showed that major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I beta antigens were minimally expressed after implantation [49]. Finally, other potential clinical applications have been explored and AECs have been considered potentially useful for a broad variety of conditions including ophthalmic diseases, lung fibrosis, liver fibrosis, multiple sclerosis, congenital metabolic disorders such as ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency, familial hypercholesterolemia, spinal cord injuries, and Parkinson disease and for allogeneic cell transplantations [50–52].

## AMNIOTIC MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) represent a population of multipotent stem cells able to differentiate toward mesoderm-derived lineages (i.e., adipogenic, chondrogenic, myogenic, and osteogenic) [53]. Initially identified in adult bone marrow, where they represent 0.001%–0.01% of total nucleated cells [54], MSCs have since been isolated from several adult (e.g., adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, liver, and brain), fetal (i.e., bone marrow, liver, and blood), and extraembryonic tissues (i.e., placenta and amnion) [55].

The presence of a subpopulation of AF cells with mesenchymal features able to proliferate in vitro more rapidly than comparable fetal and adult cells was described for the first time in 2001 [56]. In 2003, In 't Anker demonstrated that the AF can be an abundant source of fetal cells that exhibit a phenotype and a multilineage differentiation

#### 9. STEM CELLS FROM THE AMNION

potential similar to that of bone marrow-derived MSCs (BM-MSCs); these cells were named AFMSCs [57]. Soon after that article, other groups independently confirmed similar results.

## Isolation and Culture

AFMSCs can easily be obtained: in humans, from small volumes (2–5 mL) of second- and third-trimester AF [57a,61], where their percentage is estimated to be 0.9%–1.5% of the total AF cells [58]; and in rodents, from the AF collected during the second or third week of pregnancy [59,60]. Various protocols have been proposed for their isolation; all are based on the expansion of unselected populations of AF cells in serum-rich conditions without feeder layers, allowing cell selection by culture conditions. The success rate of the isolation of AFMSCs was reported by different authors to be 100% [61]. AFMSCs grow in basic medium containing fetal bovine serum (20%) and fibroblast growth factor (5 ng/mL). It was shown that human AFMSCs can be also cultured in the absence of animal serum without losing their properties [62]; this finding is a fundamental prerequisite for the beginning of clinical trials in humans.

## Characterization

The fetal versus maternal origin of AFMSCs has been investigated by different authors. Molecular HLA typing and amplification of the SRY gene in AF samples collected from male fetuses [57,58] demonstrated the exclusive fetal derivation of these cells. However, whether AFMSCs originate from the fetus or from the fetal portion of extraembryonic tissues remains a matter of debate [62].

AFMSCs display a uniform spindle-shaped, fibroblast-like morphology similar to that of other MSCs populations and expand rapidly in culture [63]. Human cells derived from a single 2-mL AF sample can increase to  $180 \times 10^6$  cells within 4 weeks (three passages), and as demonstrated by growth kinetics assays, they possess a greater proliferative potential (average doubling time, 25–38 h) compared with that of BM-MSCs (average doubling time, 30–90 h) [57,58,60,64]. Moreover, AFMSC clonogenic potential has been proved to exceed that of MSCs isolated from bone marrow ( $86 \pm 4.3$  versus  $70 \pm 5.1$  colonies) [60]. Despite their high proliferation rate, AFMSCs retain a normal karyotype and do not display tumorigenic potential even after extensive expansion in culture [58,64].

Analysis of AFMSC transcriptome demonstrated that: (1) the AFMSC gene expression profile, as well as that of other MSC populations, remains stable between passages in culture, enduring cryopreservation and thawing well; (2) AFMSCs share with MSCs derived from other sources a core set of genes involved in ECM remodeling, cytoskeletal organization, chemokine regulation, plasmin activation, transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , and Wnt signaling pathways; and (3) compared with other MSCs, AFMSCs show a unique gene expression signature that consists of the upregulation of genes involved in signal transduction pathways (e.g., HHAT, F2R, and F2RL) and in uterine maturation and contraction (e.g., OXTR and PLA2G10), which suggests a role of AFMSCs in modulating interactions between the fetus and the uterus during pregnancy [63].

Different investigators determined the cell surface antigenic profile of human AFMSCs through flow cytometry (Table 9.1). Cultured human AFMSCs are positive for mesenchymal markers (i.e., CD90, CD73, CD105, and CD166), for several adhesion molecules (i.e., CD29, CD44, CD49e, and CD54), and for antigens belonging to MHC-I. They are negative for hematopoietic and endothelial markers (e.g., CD45, CD34, CD14, CD133, and CD31).

AFMSCs exhibit a broad differentiation potential toward mesenchymal lineages. Under specific in vitro inducing conditions, they are able to differentiate toward the adipogenic, osteogenic, and chondrogenic lineage [57,60,63].

Despite not being pluripotent, AFMSCs can be efficiently reprogrammed into pluripotent stem cells (iPS) via retroviral transduction of defined transcription factors (Oct4, Sox2, Klf-4, and c-Myc). Strikingly, AFMSC reprogramming capacity is significantly higher (100-fold) and much quicker (6 days versus 16–30 days) compared with that of somatic cells such as skin fibroblasts. Similarly to iPS derived from other sources, iPS derived from AF cells generate embryoid bodies (EBs) and differentiate toward all three germ layers in vitro; in vivo, they form teratomas when injected into SCID mice [65].

#### **Preclinical Studies**

After the identification of AFMSCs, various studies investigated their therapeutic potential in different experimental settings. Different groups demonstrated that AFMSCs are able not only to express cardiac and

Markers	Antigen	CD No.	You [57a]	Roubelakis [58]	Tsai [61]	In 't Anker [57]
Mesenchymal	SH2, SH3, SH4	CD73	+	+	+	+
	Thy1	CD90	+	+	+	+
	Endoglin	CD105	+	+	+	+
	SB10/ALCAM	CD166	nt	+	nt	+
Endothelial and	Leukocyte common antigen	CD14	nt	_	nt	_
hematopoietic	gp105-120	CD34	nt	_	_	_
	Lipopolysaccharide-R	CD45	_	_	_	_
	Prominin-1	CD133	nt	_	nt	nt
Integrins	β1-integrin	CD29	+	+	+	nt
	β3-integrin	CD61	_	nt	nt	nt
	α4-integrin	CD49d	nt	_	nt	_
	α5-integrin	CD49e	nt	+	nt	+
	Lymphocyte function —associated-1	CD11a	nt	+	nt	-
Selectins	E-Selectin	CD62E	nt	+	nt	_
	P-selectin	CD62P	nt	+	nt	_
Immunoglobulin superfamily	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1	CD31	_	+	_	_
	Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1	CD54	nt	+	nt	+
	ICAM-3	CD50	nt	_	nt	_
	Vascular cell adhesion protein molecule-1	CD106	nt	+	nt	_
	Homing cell adhesion molecule-1	CD44	nt	+	+	+
Major histocompatibility complex	I (human leukocyte antigen [HLA]-ABC)	none	nt	+	+	+
	II (HLA-DR, DP, DQ)	none	nt	nt	_	_

 
 TABLE 9.1
 Immunophenotype of Culture-Expanded Second- and Third-Trimester Human Amniotic Fluid Mesenchymal Stromal Cells: Results by Different Groups

nt, not tested.

endothelial-specific markers under specific culture conditions, but also to integrate into normal and ischemic cardiac tissue, where they differentiate into cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells [66–69]. In a rat model of bladder cryoinjury, AFMSCs show the ability to differentiate into smooth muscle and prevent the compensatory hypertrophy of surviving smooth muscle cells [59].

AFMSCs can be a suitable cell source for tissue engineering of congenital malformations. In an ovine model of diaphragmatic hernia, repair of the muscle deficit using grafts engineered with autologous mesenchymal amniocytes leads to better structural and functional results compared with equivalent fetal myoblast-based and acellular implants [62,70]. Engineered cartilaginous grafts have been derived from AFMSCs grown on biodegradable meshes in serum-free chondrogenic conditions for at least 12 weeks; these grafts have been successfully used to repair tracheal defects in fetal lambs when implanted in utero [62]. The surgical implantation of AFMSCs seeded on nano-fibrous scaffolds and predifferentiated in vitro toward the osteogenic lineage into a leporine model of sternal defect led to complete bone repair in 2 months [71].

Intriguingly, studies suggested that AFMSCs can harbor trophic and protective effects in the central and peripheral nervous systems. Pan showed that AFMSCs facilitate peripheral nerve regeneration after injury and

#### 9. STEM CELLS FROM THE AMNION

hypothesized that this can be determined by cell secretion of neurotrophic factors [72–74]. After transplantation into the striatum, AFMSCs are capable of surviving and integrating in the rat adult brain and of migrating toward areas of ischemic damage [75]. Moreover, the intraventricular administration of AFMSCs in mice with focal cerebral ischemia-reperfusion (IR) injuries significantly reverses neurological deficits in treated animals [76].

Remarkably, it was also observed that AFMSCs present in vitro had an immunosuppressive effect similar to that of BM-MSCs [77]. After stimulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells with anti-CD3, anti-CD28, or phytohemagglutinin, irradiated AFMSCs demonstrated a significant inhibition of T-cell proliferation with a dose-dependent kinetics [64].

## AMNIOTIC FLUID STEM CELLS

The first suggestion that the AF may contain undifferentiated cells was based on the observation that AF-derived cells expressed skeletal muscle proteins when cultured in the supernatant of rhabdomyosarcoma cell lines [31]. Subsequently, AF-derived cells were shown to differentiate into osteocytes, adipocytes, and fibroblasts while having a cell marker profile comparable to MSCs [57]. Brivanlou and colleagues were the first to confirm that a subpopulation of AF-derived cells (approximately 0.5%–1% of total live cells) have stem cell potential, by demonstrating the expression of octamer transcription factor-4 (Oct-4) at the transcriptional and protein levels [78]. Remarkably, Karlmark et al. transfected human AF cells with the GFP gene under either the Oct-4 or the Rex-1 promoter and established that some AF cells were able to activate these promoter [79]. Subsequently, we and others used CD117 (c-Kit; type III tyrosine kinase receptor for stem cell factor with essential roles in gametogenesis, melanogenesis, and hematopoiesis) as a means to select the undifferentiated population from the AF [80,81]. These CD117-expressing cells are a heterogeneous population; they were isolated from small [80–83] and large animals [84] as well as humans [80,85] and are known as AFSC.

## Isolation and Culture

The proportion of c-kit<sup>+</sup> cells in the AF varies over the course of gestation, roughly describing a Gaussian curve; they appear at very early time points in gestation (i.e., at 7 weeks of amenorrhea in humans and at embryonic day (E)9.5 in mice) and present a peak at midgestation equal to  $90 \times 10^4$  cells/fetus at 20 weeks of pregnancy in humans and 10,000 cells/fetus at E12.5 in mice [81]. Human AFS cells (AFSC) can be derived either from small volumes (5 mL) of second-trimester AF (14–22 weeks of gestation) or from confluent backup amniocentesis cultures. Murine AFSC are obtainable from the AF collected during the second week of gestation (E11.5–14.5) [80,86–88]. AFSC isolation is based on a two-step protocol consisting of the prior immunological selection of c-kit–positive cells from the AF (approximately 1% of total AF cells) and in the subsequent expansion of these cells in culture [80,87,89–92]. Isolated AFSC can be expanded in feeder layer-free, serum-rich conditions without evidence of spontaneous differentiation in vitro. Cells are cultured in basic medium containing 15% of fetal bovine serum and Chang supplement [80,92].

#### Characterization

Karyotype analysis of human AFSC deriving from pregnancies in which the fetus was male revealed the fetal origin of these cells [80].

AFSC proliferate well during ex vivo expansion. When cultivated, they display a spectrum of morphologies ranging from a fibroblast-like to an oval-round shape (Fig. 1A). As demonstrated by different authors, AFSC possess great clonogenic potential [80,88]. Clonal AFSC lines expand rapidly in culture (doubling time, 36 h); more interesting, they maintain a constant telomere length (20 kilobase pairs) between early and late passages (Fig. 1B). Almost all clonal AFSC lines express markers of a pluripotent undifferentiated state: Oct4 and NANOG [80,88,89,92,93]. However, they have been proved not to form tumors when injected in SCID mice [80].

Different investigators determined the cell surface antigenic profile of AFSC through flow cytometry (Table 9.2). Cultured human AFSC are positive for embryonic stem (ES) cell (e.g., SSEA-4) and mesenchymal markers (e.g., CD73, CD90, and CD105), for several adhesion molecules (e.g., CD29 and CD44) and for antigens belonging to MHC-I. They are negative for hematopoietic and endothelial markers (e.g., CD14, CD34, CD45, CD133, and CD31), and for antigens belonging to MHC-II.



**FIGURE 9.1** (A) Human amniotic fluid stem cells (AFSC) mainly display a spindle-shaped morphology during in vitro cultivation under feeder layer-free, serum-rich conditions. (B, C) Clonal human AFSC lines retain long telomeres and a normal karyotype after more than 250 cell divisions (magnification 20×). (B) Conserved telomere length of AFSC between early passage (20 population doublings, lane 3) and late passage (250 population doublings, lane 4). Short-length (lane 1) and high-length (lane 2) telomere standards provided in the assay kit. (C) Giemsa band karyogram showing chromosomes of late-passage (250 population doublings) cells. *Picture adapted from De Coppi* (2007b).

Markers	Antigen	CD No.	Ditadi [81]	De Coppi [80]	Kim [3]	Tsai [88]
Embryonic stem cells	Stage-specific antigen (SSEA)-3	None	nt	_	+	nt
	SSEA-4	None	nt	+	+	nt
	Tra-1-60	None	nt	_	+	nt
	Tra-1-81	None	nt	_	nt	nt
Mesenchymal	SH2, SH3, SH4	CD73	nt	+	nt	+
	Thy1	CD90	+	+	nt	+
	Endoglin	CD105	nt	+	nt	+
Endothelial and hematopoietic	Leukocyte common antigen	CD14	nt	nt	nt	_
	gp105-120	CD34	_	_	nt	_
	Lipopolysaccharide-R	CD45	+	_	nt	nt
	Prominin-1	CD133	_	_	nt	nt
Integrins	β1-integrin	CD29	nt	+	nt	+
Immunoglobulin superfamily	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1	CD31	nt	nt	+	nt
	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1	CD54	nt	nt	+	nt
	Vascular cell adhesion protein molecule-1	CD106	nt	nt	+	nt
	Homing cell adhesion molecule-1	CD44	+	+	+	+
Major histocompatibility complex	I (human leukocyte antigen [HLA]-ABC)	None	+	+	+	+
	II (HLA-DR, DP, DQ)	None	_	_	_	_

TABLE 9.2 Surface Markers Expressed by Human c-kit<sup>+</sup> Amniotic Fluid Stem Cells: Results by Different Groups

nt, not tested.

Because the stability of cell lines is a fundamental prerequisite for basic and translational research, the capacity of AFSC to maintain their baseline characteristics over passages has been evaluated based on multiple parameters. Despite their high proliferation rate, AFSC and derived clonal lines show a homogeneous, diploid DNA content without evidence of chromosomal rearrangement even after expansion to 250 population doublings [80,89] (Fig. 1C). Moreover, AFSC maintain constant morphology, doubling time, apoptosis rate, cell cycle distribution,

#### 9. STEM CELLS FROM THE AMNION

and marker expression (e.g., Oct4, CD117, CD29, and CD44) up to 25 passages [89,92]. During in vitro expansion, however, cell volume tends to increase and significant fluctuations of proteins involved in different networks (i.e., signaling, antioxidant, proteasomal, cytoskeleton, connective tissue, and chaperone proteins) can be observed using a gel-based proteomic approach [89]; the significance of these modifications warrants further investigations but needs to be taken in consideration when interpreting experiments over several passages and comparing results from different groups.

AFSC and, more important, derived clonal cell lines are able to differentiate toward tissues representative of all three embryonic germ layers spontaneously, when cultured in suspension to form EBs, and when grown under specific differentiation conditions.

EBs consist of three-dimensional aggregates of ES cells, which recapitulate the first steps of early mammalian embryogenesis [93a–93c]. As ES cells, when cultured in suspension and without antidifferentiation factors, AFSC harbor the potential to form EBs with high efficiency: the incidence of EB formation (i.e., the percentage of EB recovered from 15 hanging drops) is estimated to be around 28% for AFSC lines and around 67% for AFSC clonal lines. Similar to ES cells, EB generation by AFSC is regulated by the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway and is accompanied by a decrease of Oct4 and Nodal expression and by an induction of endodermal (GATA4), mesodermal (Brachyury and HBE1) and ectodermal (Nestin and Pax6) markers [92,94].

Under specific mesenchymal differentiation conditions, AFSC express molecular markers of adipose, bone, muscle, and endothelial differentiated cells (e.g., lipoprotein lipase, desmin, osteocalcin, and vascular cell adhesion protein 1). In the adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic medium, AFSC respectively develop intracellular lipid droplets, secrete glycosaminoglycans, and produce mineralized calcium [86,88]. Under conditions inducing cell differentiation toward the hepatic lineage, AFSC express hepatocyte-specific transcripts (e.g., albumin,  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein, and multidrug-resistant membrane transporter 1) and acquire the liver-specific function of urea secretion (Fig. 2A) [80]. Under neuronal conditions, AFSC are capable of entering the neuroectodermal lineage. After induction, they express neuronal markers (e.g., G protein–coupled inwardly rectifying K<sup>+</sup> potassium channels), exhibit barium-sensitive potassium current, and release glutamate after stimulation (Fig. 2B). Ongoing studies are investigating AFSC capacity to yield mature, functional neurons [95–97].

AFSC can be easily manipulated in vitro. They can be transduced with viral vectors more efficiently than can adult MSCs, and after infection, they maintain their antigenic profile and the ability to differentiate into different lineages [98]. AFSC labeled with superparamagnetic micrometer-sized iron oxide particles retain their potency and can be tracked noninvasively by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for at least 4 weeks after injection in vivo [99].

## **Preclinical Studies**

Several reports have investigated the potential applications of AFSC in different settings.



FIGURE 9.2 Amniotic fluid stem cell (AFSC) differentiation into lineages representative of the three embryonic germ layers. (A) Hepatogenic differentiation: urea secretion by human AFSC before (*rectangles*) and after (*diamonds*) hepatogenic in vitro differentiation. (B) Neurogenic differentiation: secretion of neurotransmitter glutamic acid in response to potassium ions. (C) Osteogenic differentiation: mouse micro-computed tomography scan 18 weeks after implantation of printed constructs of engineered bone from human AFSCs; *arrowhead*: region of implantation of control scaffold without AFSC; *rhombus*: scaffolds seeded with AFSC; \*, bone deposit after transplantation. *Picture adapted from De Coppi* (2007b).

#### Musculoskeletal System

We investigated the osteogenic potential of AFSC by inducing osteogenic differentiation with culture media containing dexamethasone,  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate, and ascorbic acid-2-phosphate. After seeding in a collagen/alginate scaffold, they were implanted subcutaneously in immunodeficient mice. At 18 weeks, micro–computed tomography revealed highly mineralized tissues and blocks of bone-like material [80]. In a study by Sun et al., osteogenic differentiation of human AFSC was achieved using bone morphogenetic protein-7 and seeding on nanofibrous scaffolds, as evident by alkaline phosphatase activity, calcium content, von Kossa staining, and the expression of osteogenic genes. Implantation into the subcutaneous space led to bone formation in 8 weeks with positive von Kossa staining and a radio-opaque profile upon X-ray [100].

A series of experiments by the Goldberg laboratory investigated the osteogenesis of AFSC after seeding on a poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) (PCL) biodegradable polymer. Cells that were differentiated in a three-dimensional PCL scaffold deposited mineralized matrix and were viable after 15 weeks of culture. It was also shown that predifferentiated cells in vitro produced seven times more mineralized matrix when implanted subcutaneously in vivo [101]. When the authors compared AFSC and BM-MSC for osteogenesis after seeding on scaffolds and long-term in vitro culture, they came across some striking results. Although BM-MSC differentiated more rapidly than AFSC, the growth and production of mineralized matrix halted at 5 weeks. In contrast, AFSC continued to produce matrix for up to 15 weeks, which led to a fivefold increase in overall production compared with BM-MSC seeded scaffolds.

We demonstrated for the first time the functional and stable long-term integration of AFSC into the skeletal muscle of human  $\alpha$ -skeletal actin–Cre SmnF7/F7 mutant mice, which closely replicates the clinical features of human muscular dystrophy [102]. AFSC were obtained from E11.5–13.5 GFP<sup>+</sup> mice through direct CD117 selection immediately after AF collection. Approximately 25,000 freshly isolated AFSC were injected into the tail vein of each animal without previous expansion in culture. Transplanted mice displayed enhanced muscle strength, improved survival rate by 75%, and restored muscle phenotype compared with untreated animals. Not only was dystrophin distribution in GFP<sup>+</sup> myofibers similar to that of wild-type animals, GFP<sup>+</sup> cells were found to be engrafted into the muscle stem cell niche (as demonstrated by their sublaminal position and by Pax7 and α7-integrin expression). Functional integration of AFSC in the stem cell niche was confirmed by successful secondary transplants of GFP<sup>+</sup> satellite cells derived from AFSC-treated mice into untreated SmnF7/F7 mutant mice. To progress toward their application for therapy, the therapeutic potential of cultured AFSC was investigated and 25,000 AFSC, expanded under "embryonic-type" conditions, were intravenously injected into SmnF7/F7 mice. Cultured AFSC regenerated approximately 20% of the recipient muscle fibers compared with 50% when freshly isolated AFSC were used; this highlighted the importance of optimizing cell expansion protocols. Available data suggest that AFSC can differentiate toward myogenic lineages, engraft into the muscle stem cell niche, and participate in muscle regeneration in animal models of muscle injury. Hence, AFSC constitute a promising therapeutic option for skeletal muscle degenerative diseases.

#### **Nervous System**

We previously investigated human AFSC injection in the brain of Twitcher mice (a model of Krabbe globoid leukodystrophy associated with progressive oligodendrocyte and neuronal loss). Human AFSC engrafted into the lateral cerebral ventricles differentiated to cells that were similar to the surrounding environment and survived for up to 2 months. It was also demonstrated that engraftment was variable; 70% of AFSC survived in the brain of Twitcher mice, in contrast to only 30% of AFSC in the brain of normal mice [80]. A study by Prasongchean et al. indicated that treatment with small molecules, which normally leads to neuronal differentiation and grafting of AFSC into environments such as organotypic rat hippocampal cultures and the embryonic chick nervous system, led to no expression of neural cell markers. However, AFSC reduced hemorrhage and increased survival in a chick embryo model of extensive thoracic crush injury. Survival was not improved by mesenchymal or neural cells, or desmopressin. The authors explained that this effect was associated with the secretion of paracrine factors as evidenced by a transwell coculture model [103].

## Heart

We previously looked at the cardiomyogenic potential of AFSC in vitro and in vivo. AFSC cultured in cardiomyocyte induction media or in coculture with cardiomyocytes demonstrated the expression of proteins specific for cardiomyocytes (atrial natriuretic peptide and  $\alpha$ -myosin heavy chain), endothelial (CD31 and CD144), and smooth muscle cells ( $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin). In our first experience with xenogenic transplantation, human AFSC were transplanted in a rat model of myocardial infarction (MI). Cells of the immune system were recruited including

#### 9. STEM CELLS FROM THE AMNION

T, B, and NK cells and macrophages, and resulted in cell rejection. We speculated that this may be caused by AFSC expression of B7 costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 as well as macrophage marker CD68 [104]. In the next step, we attempted allogenic rat AFSC cardiac therapy by intracardiac transplantation in rats with IR injury. Three weeks after transplantation, a portion of the cells acquired an endothelial or smooth muscle phenotype and a smaller number had cardiomyocyte characteristics. Left ventricular ejection fraction was improved in the animals that had the AFSC injection, as quantified using MRI, and which suggested a paracrine therapeutic effect [82]. We then aimed to investigate this paracrine effect further using a rat model of MI and xenogeneic transplantation of human AFSC administered intravascularly immediately after reperfusion. This was dissimilar to our previous attempt with xenogeneic cellular cardiomyoplasty, which involved intramuscular injection of human AFSC within 20 min of coronary artery occlusion without reperfusion. Intravascular injection of human AFSC and their conditioned medium was cardioprotective and improved cell survival, and it decreased the infarct size from 54% to around 40% in both cases. We also showed that AFSC secrete the actin monomer-binding protein thymosin  $\beta$ -4 (T $\beta$ -4), a paracrine factor with cardioprotective properties [105]. T $\beta$ -4 has also been implicated as being cardioprotective in MI models that involved BM-MSC injection [106]. In addition to models of myocardial IR injury, we investigated the salutary effects of AFSC in a rat model of right heart failure resulting from pulmonary hypertension. After intravascular injection, AFSC engrafted in the lung, heart, and skeletal muscle reduced brain natriuretic peptide, a surrogate marker for heart failure, and proinflammatory cytokines. Moreover, AFSC differentiated into endothelial and vascular cells forming microvessels, capillaries, and small arteries. A 35% decrease in pulmonary arteriole thickness accompanied the injection [107]. Of relevance, in a seminal article, Rafii demonstrated that it was possible to convert human midgestation AF-derived cells directly into a stable and expandable population of vascular endothelial cells without using pluripotency factors [108]. Notably, it has been shown that ckit<sup>+</sup> AFSC prior differentiation express early endothelial transcription factors. Moreover, in vivo, AFSC from both second and third trimesters expanded in hypoxia were able to rescue surface blood flow when locally injected in mice after chronic ischemia damage, and possessed the ability to fix carotid artery electric damage [109].

#### Hematopoietic System

Ditadi and colleagues were the first to demonstrate the hematopoietic potential of murine and human CD117<sup>+</sup>/Lin<sup>-</sup> AFSC [81]. In vitro, the AFSC population in both species displayed multilineage hematopoietic potential, as demonstrated by the generation of erythroid, myeloid, and lymphoid cells. In vivo, cells belonging to all hematopoietic lineages were found after primary and secondary transplantation of murine AFSC into immunocompromised hosts, thus demonstrating the long-term hematopoietic repopulating capacity of these cells. The latter results support the idea that the AF may be a source of stem cells with the potential for therapy of hematological disorders.

One of the most exciting applications of AFSC in this setting is in the field of in utero transplantation (IUT). IUT has been proposed as a novel approach for the treatment of inherited hematological disorders (including thalassemia and sickle cell disease) before birth [110]. Clinical translation has been limited by competitive and immunological barriers associated with IUT of adult bone marrow-derived HSC [111]. The use of AFSC for IUT could address many of these limitations. AFSC are of fetal origin, and as a result should be able to compete better against host cells compared with adult stem cells (potentially overcoming competitive barriers to engraftment). They are nonimmunogenic to the fetus at any gestational age and are also unlikely to result in maternal immunization because of the tolerogenic properties of the placenta. IUT of AFSC would involve harvesting the cells from the AF, employing in vitro gene therapy to correct the genetic defect, and transplanting back to the donor fetus. Such a combined autologous stem cell-gene transfer approach would also address some of the risks associated with administering gene therapy directly to the fetus (in utero gene therapy) [111]. The possibility of performing in vitro gene transfer to harvested ASFC would allow cells to be checked for insertional mutagenesis before transplantation and would obviate the risk of germline transmission of transgenes. In proof of principle studies, Shaw and colleagues showed that IUT of autologous (isolated using ultrasound-guided amniocentesis), expanded, and transduced AFSC resulted in widespread tissue engraftment (including the hematopoietic system) in the ovine fetus [112]. We are investigating the hematopoietic potential of freshly isolated and expanded AFSC after intravenous transplantation in immunocompetent fetal mice, and have obtained stable, multilineage engraftment at neartherapeutic levels using relatively small donor cell numbers. Whether in utero stem cell-gene therapy with AFSC would be therapeutic in models of hematological and other congenital disorders remains to be determined.

## Kidney

AFSC have been shown to have plastic regenerative properties in the lung, by differentiating into different lineages according to the type of lung injury taking place in animal models of disease. AFSC injected intravascularly into

#### AMNIOTIC FLUID STEM CELLS

nude mice subjected to hyperoxia-induced pulmonary injury migrated to the lung and expressed human pulmonary epithelial differentiation marker thyroid transcription factor 1 and type-II pneumocyte marker surfactant protein C. After naphthalene injury to Clara cells, AFSC expressed the Clara cell—specific 10-kDa protein [113]. Moreover, in an adult rat model of hyperoxic lung injury, treatment with human AFSC has a reparative potential through paracrine involvement in alveolarization and angiogenesis [114]. In an established nitrofen-induced rat model of lung hypoplasia, lung growth, bronchial motility, and innervation were rescued by AFSC both in vitro and in vivo, which was similarly to results observed before with retinoic acid. The beneficial effect of AFSC was probably related to the paracrine action of growth factor secretion [115]. Those results have been validated in fetal rabbit with a surgically created left diaphragmatic hernia at day 23 (term, day 32). In this model, human AFSC exert an additional effect on tracheal occlusion leading to a decrease in mean terminal bronchiole density, a measure of alveolar number surrounding the terminal bronchioles, without signs of toxicity [116].

#### Lung

The first evidence regarding a nephrogenic potential of AFSC arose from a series of experiments involving the ex vivo growth of murine embryonic kidneys that were injected with labeled AFSC. Whereas AFSC were viable for up to 10 days' growth, they were also shown to contribute to a number of components of the developing kidney, such as the renal vesicle and S- and C-shape bodies. In addition, the ECM and surrounding cells induced renal differentiation, with the AFSC expressing kidney markers (zona occludens-1, glial-derived neurotrophic factor, and claudin) [91].

In a mouse model of acute tubular necrosis (ATN) involving glycerol injection, luciferase-labeled injected AFSC homed to the injured kidney. This decreased creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels and reduced the number of damaged tubules while increasing the proliferation of tubular epithelial cells. Interestingly, AFSC injected during the acute phase of ATN (between 48 and 72 h) had no effect on creatinine and BUN levels, whereas AFSC injected into the kidney on the same day of glycerol injection resulted in no observed peaks in creatinine or BUN. The authors speculated that this may be the result of AFSC accelerating the proliferation of partially damage epithelial tubular cells while preventing apoptosis [117]. Another laboratory confirmed the protective effect of AFSC in the same mouse model of ATN while comparing their effect with MSC. In addition to results regarding the amelioration of the effect of glycerol, it was demonstrated that MSC were more efficient in inducing proliferation and AFSC were more antiapoptotic. Sedrakyan et al. used Col4a5(-/-) mice as a mouse model of Alport syndrome to assess the effect of AFSC in renal fibrosis [83]. Early intracardiac administration of AFSC delayed interstitial fibrosis and the progression of glomerular sclerosis and prolonged animal survival. However, AFSC were not demonstrated to differentiate into podocytes, which suggests that the positive effects to the basement membrane were again mediated, as in other model of disease, by a paracrine mechanism [102,118]. It was reported for the first time that AFSCs mixed with organoids made with murine embryonic kidney contributed to the formation of glomerular structures, differentiated into podocytes with slit diaphragms, and internalized exogenously infused bovine serum albumin, attaining unprecedented (for donor stem cells) degrees of specialization and function in vivo [119].

#### Intestine

We looked at the effect of AFSC in a rat model of necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) [120]. After 24 h of life, NEC rats were randomized to treatments of AFSC, BM-MSC, myoblasts (as a committed negative control), or phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) via intraperitoneal administration. NEC rats treated with AFSC showed significantly higher survival at 7 days compared with all the other groups and had an improved NEC clinical status at 96 h. MRI displayed significantly decreased peritoneal fluid accumulation (a surrogate marker for NEC grade) in the AFSCtreated rats. The improved clinical picture of the pups injected with AFSC was also evident by measurement of intestinal permeability, contraction, and motility.

The clinical data were confirmed by histological analysis, demonstrating a decreased amount of villus sloughing, core separation, and venous congestion. The relationship between these therapeutic effects and the presence of AFSC in the intestine was confirmed by tracking AFSC expressing GFP. At 48 h, cells were adherent to the mesentery; at 72 h, they were found in the serosa and muscularis; and at 96 h, they were located in the villi. The low cell numbers in these locations alongside the great clinical differences among treated groups suggested a paracrine effect. Accordingly, when we performed microarray analysis we saw differences in a number of genes involved in inflammation and tissue repair, cell cycle regulation, and enterocyte differentiation. These results were corroborated by immunofluorescence analysis examining cell proliferation and apoptosis.

We then sought to investigate the paracrine mechanism by which AFSC mediate their therapeutic effect and established that the number of cryptal cells expressing cyclo-oxygenase-2 ( $COX-2^+$ ) inversely correlated with the

degree of intestinal damage. COX-2<sup>+</sup> cells were diminished in rats treated with PBS, whereas they were maintained in rats treated with AFSC. Interestingly, although the total number of COX-2<sup>+</sup> cells in villi was similar in AFSCtreated and control animals, cryptal COX-2<sup>+</sup> cells were significantly increased in the AFSC rats compared with both control animals and pups treated with PBS. This dependence on COX-2 was confirmed when the effect of AFSC was abolished both by selective COX-2 and nonselective COX inhibition, but it remained unaffected by a selective COX-1 inhibitor [121].

## CONCLUSIONS

Many stem cell populations (e.g., embryonic, adult, and fetal stem cells) as well as methods for generating pluripotent cells (e.g., nuclear reprogramming) have been described. All of them have specific advantages and disadvantages. It has yet to be established which type of stem cell represents the best candidate for cell therapy. However, although it is likely that one cell type may be better than another, depending on the clinical scenario, the discovery of easily accessible cells of fetal derivation, not burdened by ethical concerns, in the AF has the potential of expanding new horizons in regenerative medicine. In fact, amniocentesis is routinely performed for the antenatal diagnosis of genetic diseases and its safety has been established by several studies documenting an extremely low overall fetal loss rate (0.06%–0.83%) related to the procedure [122,123]. Moreover, stem cells can be obtained from AF samples without interfering with diagnostic procedures.

Two stem cell populations have been isolated from the AF (i.e., AFMSCs and AFSC) and both can be used as primary (not transformed or immortalized) cells without further technical manipulations. AFMSCs exhibit typical MSC characteristics: fibroblastic-like morphology, clonogenic capacity, multilineage differentiation potential, immunosuppressive properties, expression of a mesenchymal gene expression profile, and a mesenchymal set of surface antigens. However, ahead of other MSC sources, AFMSCs are easier to isolate and have better proliferation capacities. The harvest of bone marrow remains a highly invasive and painful procedure, and the number, proliferation, and differentiation potential of these cells decline with increasing age [124,125]. Similarly, umbilical cord blood—derived MSCs exist at a low percentage and expand slowly in culture [126].

AFSC, on the other hand, represent a class of broadly stem cells with intermediate characteristics between ES and AS cells [29,127]. They express both embryonic and MSC markers, are able to differentiate into lineages representative of all embryonic germ layers, and do not form tumors after implantation in vivo. However, AFSC have been identified only recently and many questions need to be answered concerning their origin, epigenetic state, immunological reactivity, regeneration, and differentiation potential in vivo. AFSC may not differentiate as promptly as do ES cells and their lack of tumorigenesis can be argued against their pluripotency.

Although further studies are needed to better understand their biological properties and define their therapeutic potential, stem cells present in the AF appear to be promising candidates for cell therapy and tissue engineering. In particular, they represent an attractive source for the treatment of perinatal disorders such as congenital malformations (e.g., congenital diaphragmatic hernia) and acquired neonatal diseases requiring tissue repair/regeneration (e.g., NEC). In a future clinical scenario, AF cells collected during a routinely performed amniocentesis could be banked, and in case of need, subsequently expanded in culture or engineered in acellular grafts [29,62]. In this way, affected children could benefit from having autologous expanded or engineered cells ready for implantation either before birth or in the neonatal period [128].

## References

- [1] Marcus AJ, Woodbury D. Fetal stem cells from extra-embryonic tissues: do not discard. J Cell Mol Med 2008;12(3):730-42.
- [2] Parolini O, Alviano F, Bagnara GP, Bilic G, Buhring HJ, Evangelista M, Hennerbichler S, Liu B, Magatti M, Mao N, Miki T, Marongiu F, Nakajima H, Nikaido T, Portmann-Lanz CB, Sankar V, Soncini M, Stadler G, Surbek D, Takahashi TA, Redl H, Sakuragawa N, Wolbank S, Zeisberger S, Zisch A, Strom SC. Concise review: isolation and characterization of cells from human term placenta: outcome of the first international Workshop on Placenta Derived Stem Cells. Stem Cells 2008;26(2):300–11.
- [3] Kim J, Kang HM, Kim H, Kim MR, Kwon HC, Gye MC, Kang SG, Yang HS, You J. Ex vivo characteristics of human amniotic membranederived stem cells. Cloning Stem Cells 2007;9(4):581–94.
- [4] Marcus AJ, Coyne TM, Rauch J, Woodbury D, Black IB. Isolation, characterization, and differentiation of stem cells derived from the rat amniotic membrane. Differentiation 2008;76(2):130–44.
- [5] Miki T, Lehmann T, Cai H, Stolz DB, Strom SC. Stem cell characteristics of amniotic epithelial cells. Stem Cells 2005;23(10):1549–59.
- [6] Miki T, Strom SC. Amnion-derived pluripotent/multipotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rev 2006;2(2):133-42.
- [7] Tamagawa T, Ishiwata I, Saito S. Establishment and characterization of a pluripotent stem cell line derived from human amniotic membranes and initiation of germ layers in vitro. Hum Cell 2004;17(3):125–30.

#### REFERENCES

- [8] Alviano F, Fossati V, Marchionni C, Arpinati M, Bonsi L, Franchina M, Lanzoni G, Cantoni S, Cavallini C, Bianchi F, Tazzari PL, Pasquinelli G, Foroni L, Ventura C, Grossi A, Bagnara GP. Term Amniotic membrane is a high throughput source for multipotent mesenchymal stem cells with the ability to differentiate into endothelial cells in vitro. BMC Dev Biol 2007;7:11.
- [9] Soncini M, Vertua E, Gibelli L, Zorzi F, Denegri M, Albertini A, Wengler GS, Parolini O. Isolation and characterization of mesenchymal cells from human fetal membranes. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2007;1(4):296–305.
- [10] Igura K, Zhang X, Takahashi K, Mitsuru A, Yamaguchi S, Takashi TA. Isolation and characterization of mesenchymal progenitor cells from chorionic villi of human placenta. Cytotherapy 2004;6(6):543–53.
- [11] In 't Anker PS, Scherjon SA, Kleijburg-van der Keur C, de Groot-Swings GM, Claas FH, Fibbe WE, Kanhai HH. Isolation of mesenchymal stem cells of fetal or maternal origin from human placenta. Stem Cells 2004;22(7):1338–45.
- [12] Gude NM, Roberts CT, Kalionis B, King RG. Growth and function of the normal human placenta. Thromb Res 2004;114(5–6):397–407.
- [13] Huppertz B. The anatomy of the normal placenta. J Clin Pathol 2008;61(12):1296–302.
- [14] Aplin JD. Developmental cell biology of human villous trophoblast: current research problems. Int J Dev Biol 2010;54(2-3):323-9.
- [15] Bansal AS, Bora SA, Saso S, Smith JR, Johnson MR, Thum MY. Mechanism of human chorionic gonadotrophin-mediated immunomodulation in pregnancy. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 2012;8(8):747–53.
- [16] Riboldi M, Simon C. Extraembryonic tissues as a source of stem cells. Gynecol Endocrinol 2009;25(6):351–5.
- [17] Underwood MA, Gilbert WM, Sherman MP. Amniotic fluid: not just fetal urine anymore. J Perinatol 2005;25(5):341-8.
- [18] Fauza D. Amniotic fluid and placental stem cells. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2004;18(6):877-91.
- [19] Lotgering FK, Wallenburg HC. Mechanisms of production and clearance of amniotic fluid. Semin Perinatol 1986;10(2):94–102.
- [20] Mescher EJ, Platzker AC, Ballard PL, Kitterman JA, Clements JA, Tooley WH. Ontogeny of tracheal fluid, pulmonary surfactant, and plasma corticoids in the fetal lamb. J Appl Physiol 1975;39(6):1017–21.
- [21] Muller F, Dommergues M, Ville Y, Lewin F, Delvalez-Morichon N, Nihoul-Fekete C, Bargy F, Dumez Y, Boue A. Amniotic fluid digestive enzymes: diagnostic value in fetal gastrointestinal obstructions. Prenat Diagn 1994;14(10):973–9.
- [22] Gosden CM. Amniotic fluid cell types and culture. Br Med Bull 1983;39(4):348-54.
- [23] Cremer M, Treiss I, Cremer T, Hager D, Franke WW. Characterization of cells of amniotic fluids by immunological identification of intermediate-sized filaments: presence of cells of different tissue origin. Hum Genet 1981;59(4):373–9.
- [24] von Koskull H, Aula P, Trejdosiewicz LK, Virtanen I. Identification of cells from fetal bladder epithelium in human amniotic fluid. Hum Genet 1984;65(3):262–7.
- [25] Hoehn H, Salk D. Morphological and biochemical heterogeneity of amniotic fluid cells in culture. Methods Cell Biol 1982;26:11–34.
- [26] Gosden C, Brock DJ. Combined use of alphafetoprotein and amniotic fluid cell morphology in early prenatal diagnosis of fetal abnormalities. J Med Genet 1978;15(4):262-70.
- [27] Aula P, von Koskull H, Teramo K, Karjalainen O, Virtanen I, Lehto VP, Dahl D. Glial origin of rapidly adhering amniotic fluid cells. Br Med J 1980;281(6253):1456–7.
- [28] von Koskull H, Virtanen I, Lehto VP, Vartio T, Dahl D, Aula P. Glial and neuronal cells in amniotic fluid of anencephalic pregnancies. Prenat Diagn 1981;1(4):259–67.
- [29] Siegel N, Rosner M, Hanneder M, Valli A, Hengstschlager M. Stem cells in amniotic fluid as new tools to study human genetic diseases. Stem Cell Rev 2007;3(4):256–64.
- [30] Torricelli F, Brizzi L, Bernabei PA, Gheri G, Di Lollo S, Nutini L, Lisi E, Di Tommaso M, Cariati E. Identification of hematopoietic progenitor cells in human amniotic fluid before the 12th week of gestation. Ital J Anat Embryol 1993;98(2):119–26.
- [31] Streubel B, Martucci-Ivessa G, Fleck T, Bittner RE. In vitro transformation of amniotic cells to muscle cells—background and outlook. Wien Med Wochenschr 1996;146(9–10):216–7.
- [32] Antoniadou E, David AL. Placental stem cells. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2016;31:13-29.
- [33] Barbati A, Grazia Mameli M, Sidoni A, Di Renzo GC. Amniotic membrane: separation of amniotic mesoderm from amniotic epithelium and isolation of their respective mesonchymal stromal and epithelial cells. Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol 2012;Chapter 1:Unit 1E 8.
- [34] Rooney IA, Morgan BP. Characterization of the membrane attack complex inhibitory protein CD59 antigen on human amniotic cells and in amniotic fluid. Immunology 1992;76(4):541–7.
- [35] Wei JP, Zhang TS, Kawa S, Aizawa T, Ota M, Akaike T, Kato K, Konishi I, Nikaido T. Human amnion-isolated cells normalize blood glucose in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Cell Transplant 2003;12(5):545–52.
- [36] Kakishita K, Elwan MA, Nakao N, Itakura T, Sakuragawa N. Human amniotic epithelial cells produce dopamine and survive after implantation into the striatum of a rat model of Parkinson's disease: a potential source of donor for transplantation therapy. Exp Neurol 2000;165(1): 27–34.
- [37] Elwan MA, Sakuragawa N. Evidence for synthesis and release of catecholamines by human amniotic epithelial cells. Neuroreport 1997;8(16): 3435–8.
- [38] Uchida S, Inanaga Y, Kobayashi M, Hurukawa S, Araie M, Sakuragawa N. Neurotrophic function of conditioned medium from human amniotic epithelial cells. J Neurosci Res 2000;62(4):585–90.
- [39] Marongiu F, Gramignoli R, Dorko K, Miki T, Ranade AR, Paola Serra M, Doratiotto S, Sini M, Sharma S, Mitamura K, Sellaro TL, Tahan V, Skvorak KJ, Ellis EC, Badylak SF, Davila JC, Hines R, Laconi E, Strom SC. Hepatic differentiation of amniotic epithelial cells. Hepatology 2011;53(5):1719–29.
- [40] Takashima S, Ise H, Zhao P, Akaike T, Nikaido T. Human amniotic epithelial cells possess hepatocyte-like characteristics and functions. Cell Struct Funct 2004;29(3):73–84.
- [41] Lin JS, Zhou L, Sagayaraj A, Jumat NH, Choolani M, Chan JK, Biswas A, Wong PC, Lim SG, Dan YY. Hepatic differentiation of human amniotic epithelial cells and in vivo therapeutic effect on animal model of cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015;30(11):1673–82.
- [42] Manuelpillai U, Tchongue J, Lourensz D, Vaghjiani V, Samuel CS, Liu A, Williams ED, Sievert W. Transplantation of human amnion epithelial cells reduces hepatic fibrosis in immunocompetent CCl(4)-treated mice. Cell Transplant 2010;19(9):1157–68.
- [43] Zhang D, Jiang M, Miao D. Transplanted human amniotic membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate carbon tetrachlorideinduced liver cirrhosis in mouse. PLoS One 2011;6(2):e16789.

#### 9. STEM CELLS FROM THE AMNION

- [44] Ricci E, Vanosi G, Lindenmair A, Hennerbichler S, Peterbauer-Scherb A, Wolbank S, Cargnoni A, Signoroni PB, Campagnol M, Gabriel C, Redl H, Parolini O. Anti-fibrotic effects of fresh and cryopreserved human amniotic membrane in a rat liver fibrosis model. Cell Tissue Bank 2013;14(3):475–88.
- [45] Vaghjiani V, Vaithilingam V, Saraswati I, Sali A, Murthi P, Kalionis B, Tuch BE, Manuelpillai U. Hepatocyte-like cells derived from human amniotic epithelial cells can be encapsulated without loss of viability or function in vitro. Stem Cells Dev 2014;23(8):866–76.
- [46] Ahmad S, Kolli S, Lako M, Figueiredo F, Daniels JT. Stem cell therapies for ocular surface disease. Drug Discov Today 2010;15(7–8):306–13.
  [47] Bouchard CS, John T. Amniotic membrane transplantation in the management of severe ocular surface disease: indications and outcomes. Ocul Surf 2004;2(3):201–11.
- [48] Nakamura T, Inatomi T, Sotozono C, Ang LP, Koizumi N, Yokoi N, Kinoshita S. Transplantation of autologous serum-derived cultivated corneal epithelial equivalents for the treatment of severe ocular surface disease. Ophthalmology 2006;113(10):1765–72.
- [49] Wang JW, Fong CY, Su YS, Yu HN. Acetabular revision with morsellised allogenic bone graft and a cemented metal-backed component. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2006;88(5):586-91.
- [50] Cargnoni A, Gibelli L, Tosini A, Signoroni PB, Nassuato C, Arienti D, Lombardi G, Albertini A, Wengler GS, Parolini O. Transplantation of allogeneic and xenogeneic placenta-derived cells reduces bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. Cell Transplant 2009;18(4):405–22.
- [51] Sakuragawa N, Enosawa S, Ishii T, Thangavel R, Tashiro T, Okuyama T, Suzuki S. Human amniotic epithelial cells are promising transgene carriers for allogeneic cell transplantation into liver. J Hum Genet 2000;45(3):171–6.
- [52] Tejwani S, Kolari RS, Sangwan VS, Rao GN. Role of amniotic membrane graft for ocular chemical and thermal injuries. Cornea 2007;26(1): 21–6.
- [53] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- [54] Owen M, Friedenstein AJ. Stromal stem cells: marrow-derived osteogenic precursors. Ciba Found Symp 1988;136:42-60.
- [55] Porada CD, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porad G. Adult mesenchymal stem cells: a pluripotent population with multiple applications. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2006;1(3):365–9.
- [56] Kaviani A, Perry TE, Dzakovic A, Jennings RW, Ziegler MM, Fauza DO. The amniotic fluid as a source of cells for fetal tissue engineering. J Pediatr Surg 2001;36(11):1662–5.
- [57] In 't Anker PS, Scherjon SA, Kleijburg-van der Keur C, Noort WA, Claas FH, Willemze R, Fibbe WE, Kanhai HH. Amniotic fluid as a novel source of mesenchymal stem cells for therapeutic transplantation. Blood 2003;102(4):1548–9.
- [57a] You Q, Tong X, Guan Y, Zhang D, Huang M, Zhang Y, Zheng J. The biological characteristics of human third trimester amniotic fluid stem cells. J Int Med Res 2009;37(1):105–12.
- [58] Roubelakis MG, Pappa KI, Bitsika V, Zagoura D, Vlahou A, Papadaki HA, Antsaklis A, Anagnou NP. Molecular and proteomic characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from amniotic fluid: comparison to bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 2007;16(6):931–52.
- [59] De Coppi P, Callegari A, Chiavegato A, Gasparotto L, Piccoli M, Taiani J, Pozzobon M, Boldrin L, Okabe M, Cozzi E, Atala A, Gamba P, Sartore S. Amniotic fluid and bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells can be converted to smooth muscle cells in the cryo-injured rat bladder and prevent compensatory hypertrophy of surviving smooth muscle cells. J Urol 2007;177(1):369–76.
- [60] Nadri S, Soleimani M. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stromal cells from murine bone marrow and amniotic fluid. Cytotherapy 2007; 9(8):729–37.
- [61] Tsai MS, Lee JL, Chang YJ, Hwang SM. Isolation of human multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from second-trimester amniotic fluid using a novel two-stage culture protocol. Hum Reprod 2004;19(6):1450–6.
- [62] Kunisaki SM, Jennings RW, Fauza DO. Fetal cartilage engineering from amniotic mesenchymal progenitor cells. Stem Cells Dev 2006;15(2): 245–53.
- [63] Tsai MS, Hwang SM, Chen KD, Lee YS, Hsu LW, Chang YJ, Wang CN, Peng HH, Chang YL, Chao AS, Chang SD, Lee KD, Wang TH, Wang HS, Soong YK. Functional network analysis of the transcriptomes of mesenchymal stem cells derived from amniotic fluid, amniotic membrane, cord blood, and bone marrow. Stem Cells 2007;25(10):2511–23.
- [64] Sessarego N, Parodi A, Podesta M, Benvenuto F, Mogni M, Raviolo V, Lituania M, Kunkl A, Ferlazzo G, Bricarelli FD, Uccelli A, Frassoni F. Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells from amniotic fluid: solid perspectives for clinical application. Haematologica 2008;93(3):339–46.
- [65] Li C, Zhou J, Shi G, Ma Y, Yang Y, Gu J, Yu H, Jin S, Wei Z, Chen F, Jin Y. Pluripotency can be rapidly and efficiently induced in human amniotic fluid-derived cells. Hum Mol Genet 2009;18(22):4340-9.
- [66] Iop L, Chiavegato A, Callegari A, Bollini S, Piccoli M, Pozzobon M, Rossi CA, Calamelli S, Chiavegato D, Gerosa G, De Coppi P, Sartore S. Different cardiovascular potential of adult- and fetal-type mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model of heart cryoinjury. Cell Transplant 2008; 17(6):679–94.
- [67] Yeh YC, Wei HJ, Lee WY, Yu CL, Chang Y, Hsu LW, Chung MF, Tsai MS, Hwang SM, Sung HW. Cellular cardiomyoplasty with human amniotic fluid stem cells: in vitro and in vivo studies. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(6):1925–36.
- [68] Zhang Y, Smolen P, Baxter DA, Byrne JH. The sensitivity of memory consolidation and reconsolidation to inhibitors of protein synthesis and kinases: computational analysis. Learn Mem 2010;17(9):428–39.
- [68a] Sankar V, Muthusamy R. Role of human amniotic epithelial cell transplantation in spinal cord injury repair research. Neuroscience 2003;118: 11e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(02)00929-6.
- [69] Zhao P, Ise H, Hongo M, Ota M, Konishi I, Nikaido T. Human amniotic mesenchymal cells have some characteristics of cardiomyocytes. Transplantation 2005;79(5):528–35.
- [70] Fuchs JR, Kaviani A, Oh JT, LaVan D, Udagawa T, Jennings RW, Wilson JM, Fauza DO. Diaphragmatic reconstruction with autologous tendon engineered from mesenchymal amniocytes. J Pediatr Surg 2004;39(6):834–8. discussion 834–8.
- [71] Steigman SA, Ahmed A, Shanti RM, Tuan RS, Valim C, Fauza DO. Sternal repair with bone grafts engineered from amniotic mesenchymal stem cells. J Pediatr Surg 2009;44(6):1120–6. discussion 1126.
- [72] Cheng FC, Tai MH, Sheu ML, Chen CJ, Yang DY, Su HL, Ho SP, Lai SZ, Pan HC. Enhancement of regeneration with glia cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-transduced human amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells after sciatic nerve crush injury. J Neurosurg 2010;112(4): 868–79.

#### 146

#### REFERENCES

- [73] Pan HC, Cheng FC, Chen CJ, Lai SZ, Lee CW, Yang DY, Chang MH, Ho SP. Post-injury regeneration in rat sciatic nerve facilitated by neurotrophic factors secreted by amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells. J Clin Neurosci 2007;14(11):1089–98.
- [74] Pan HC, Yang DY, Chiu YT, Lai SZ, Wang YC, Chang MH, Cheng FC. Enhanced regeneration in injured sciatic nerve by human amniotic mesenchymal stem cell. J Clin Neurosci 2006;13(5):570–5.
- [75] Cipriani S, Bonini D, Marchina E, Balgkouranidou I, Caimi L, Grassi Zucconi G, Barlati S. Mesenchymal cells from human amniotic fluid survive and migrate after transplantation into adult rat brain. Cell Biol Int 2007;31(8):845–50.
- [76] Rehni AK, Singh N, Jaggi AS, Singh M. Amniotic fluid derived stem cells ameliorate focal cerebral ischaemia-reperfusion injury induced behavioural deficits in mice. Behav Brain Res 2007;183(1):95–100.
- [77] Uccelli A, Pistoia V, Moretta L. Mesenchymal stem cells: a new strategy for immunosuppression? Trends Immunol 2007;28(5):219-26.
- [78] Brivanlou AH, Gage FH, Jaenisch R, Jessell T, Melton D, Rossant J. Stem cells. Setting standards for human embryonic stem cells. Science 2003;300(5621):913-6.
- [79] Karlmark KR, Freilinger A, Marton E, Rosner M, Lubec G, Hengstschlager M. Activation of ectopic Oct-4 and Rex-1 promoters in human amniotic fluid cells. Int J Mol Med 2005;16(6):987–92.
- [80] De Coppi P, Bartsch Jr G, Siddiqui MM, Xu T, Santos CC, Perin L, Mostoslavsky G, Serre AC, Snyder EY, Yoo JJ, Furth ME, Soker S, Atala A. Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25(1):100–6.
- [81] Ditadi A, de Coppi P, Picone O, Gautreau L, Smati R, Six E, Bonhomme D, Ezine S, Frydman R, Cavazzana-Calvo M, Andre-Schmutz I. Human and murine amniotic fluid c-Kit+Lin- cells display hematopoietic activity. Blood 2009;113(17):3953–60.
- [82] Bollini S, Pozzobon M, Nobles M, Riegler J, Dong X, Piccoli M, Chiavegato A, Price AN, Ghionzoli M, Cheung KK, Cabrelle A, O'Mahoney PR, Cozzi E, Sartore S, Tinker A, Lythgoe MF, De Coppi P. In vitro and in vivo cardiomyogenic differentiation of amniotic fluid stem cells. Stem Cell Rev 2011;7(2):364–80.
- [83] Sedrakyan S, Da Sacco S, Milanesi A, Shiri L, Petrosyan A, Varimezova R, Warburton D, Lemley KV, De Filippo RE, Perin L. Injection of amniotic fluid stem cells delays progression of renal fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;23(4):661–73.
- [84] Chen J, Lu Z, Cheng D, Peng S, Wang H. Isolation and characterization of porcine amniotic fluid-derived multipotent stem cells. PLoS One 2011;6(5):e19964.
- [85] Moschidou D, Mukherjee S, Blundell MP, Drews K, Jones GN, Abdulrazzak H, Nowakowska B, Phoolchund A, Lay K, Ramasamy TS, Cananzi M, Nettersheim D, Sullivan M, Frost J, Moore G, Vermeesch JR, Fisk NM, Thrasher AJ, Atala A, Adjaye J, Schorle H, De Coppi P, Guillot PV. Valproic acid confers functional pluripotency to human amniotic fluid stem cells in a transgene-free approach. Mol Ther 2012;20(10):1953–67.
- [86] Kim J, Lee Y, Kim H, Hwang KJ, Kwon HC, Kim SK, Cho DJ, Kang SG, You J. Human amniotic fluid-derived stem cells have characteristics of multipotent stem cells. Cell Prolif 2007;40(1):75–90.
- [87] Siegel N, Valli A, Fuchs C, Rosner M, Hengstschlager M. Induction of mesenchymal/epithelial marker expression in human amniotic fluid stem cells. Reprod Biomed Online 2009;19(6):838–46.
- [88] Tsai MS, Hwang SM, Tsai YL, Cheng FC, Lee JL, Chang YJ. Clonal amniotic fluid-derived stem cells express characteristics of both mesenchymal and neural stem cells. Biol Reprod 2006;74(3):545–51.
- [89] Chen WQ, Siegel N, Li L, Pollak A, Hengstschlager M, Lubec G. Variations of protein levels in human amniotic fluid stem cells CD117/2 over passages 5-25. J Proteome Res 2009;8(11):5285–95.
- [90] Kolambkar YM, Peister A, Soker S, Atala A, Guldberg RE. Chondrogenic differentiation of amniotic fluid-derived stem cells. J Mol Histol 2007;38(5):405–13.
- [91] Perin L, Giuliani S, Jin D, Sedrakyan S, Carraro G, Habibian R, Warburton D, Atala A, De Filippo RE. Renal differentiation of amniotic fluid stem cells. Cell Prolif 2007;40(6):936–48.
- [92] Valli A, Rosner M, Fuchs C, Siegel N, Bishop CE, Dolznig H, Madel U, Feichtinger W, Atala A, Hengstschlager M. Embryoid body formation of human amniotic fluid stem cells depends on mTOR. Oncogene 2010;29(7):966–77.
- [93] Chambers I, Silva J, Colby D, Nichols J, Nijmeijer B, Robertson M, Vrana J, Jones K, Grotewold L, Smith A. Nanog safeguards pluripotency and mediates germline development. Nature 2007;450(7173):1230–4.
- [93a] Koike M, Sakaki S, Amano Y, Kurosawa HJ. Characterization of embryoid bodies of mouse embryonic stem cells formed under various culture conditions and estimation of differentiation status of such bodies. Biosci Bioeng 2007;104(4):294–9.
- [93b] Itskovitz-Eldor J, Schuldiner M, Karsenti D, Eden A, Yanuka O, Amit M, Soreq H, Benvenisty N. Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into embryoid bodies compromising the three embryonic germ layers. Mol Med 2000;6(2):88–95.
- [93c] Ungrin MD, Joshi C, Nica A, Bauwens C, Zandstra PW. Reproducible, ultra high-throughput formation of multicellular organization from single cell suspension-derived human embryonic stem cell aggregates. PLoS One 2008;3(2):e1565. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0001565.
- [94] Siegel N, Valli A, Fuchs C, Rosner M, Hengstschlager M. Expression of mTOR pathway proteins in human amniotic fluid stem cells. Int J Mol Med 2009;23(6):779–84.
- [95] Donaldson AE, Cai J, Yang M, Iacovitti L. Human amniotic fluid stem cells do not differentiate into dopamine neurons in vitro or after transplantation in vivo. Stem Cells Dev 2009;18(7):1003–12.
- [96] Santos MS, Gomes JA, Hofling-Lima AL, Rizzo LV, Romano AC, Belfort Jr R. Survival analysis of conjunctival limbal grafts and amniotic membrane transplantation in eyes with total limbal stem cell deficiency. Am J Ophthalmol 2005;140(2):223–30.
- [97] Toselli M, Cerbai E, Rossi F, Cattaneo E. Do amniotic fluid-derived stem cells differentiate into neurons in vitro? Nat Biotechnol 2008;26(3): 269–70. author reply 270–261.
- [98] Grisafi D, Piccoli M, Pozzobon M, Ditadi A, Zaramella P, Chiandetti L, Zanon GF, Atala A, Zacchello F, Scarpa M, De Coppi P, Tomanin R. High transduction efficiency of human amniotic fluid stem cells mediated by adenovirus vectors. Stem Cells Dev 2008;17(5):953–62.
- [99] Delo DM, Olson J, Baptista PM, D'Agostino Jr RB, Atala A, Zhu JM, Soker S. Non-invasive longitudinal tracking of human amniotic fluid stem cells in the mouse heart. Stem Cells Dev 2008;17(6):1185–94.
- [100] Sun H, Feng K, Hu J, Soker S, Atala A, Ma PX. Osteogenic differentiation of human amniotic fluid-derived stem cells induced by bone morphogenetic protein-7 and enhanced by nanofibrous scaffolds. Biomaterials 2010;31(6):1133–9.

#### 9. STEM CELLS FROM THE AMNION

- [101] Peister A, Deutsch ER, Kolambkar Y, Hutmacher DW, Guldberg RE. Amniotic fluid stem cells produce robust mineral deposits on biodegradable scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;15(10):3129–38.
- [102] Piccoli M, Franzin C, Bertin E, Urbani L, Blaauw B, Repele A, Taschin E, Cenedese A, Zanon GF, Andre-Schmutz I, Rosato A, Melki J, Cavazzana-Calvo M, Pozzobon M, De Coppi P. Amniotic fluid stem cells restore the muscle cell niche in a HSA-Cre, Smn(F7/F7) mouse model. Stem Cells 2012;30(8):1675–84.
- [103] Prasongchean W, Bagni M, Calzarossa C, De Coppi P, Ferretti P. Amniotic fluid stem cells increase embryo survival following injury. Stem Cells Dev 2012;21(5):675–88.
- [104] Chiavegato A, Bollini S, Pozzobon M, Callegari A, Gasparotto L, Taiani J, Piccoli M, Lenzini E, Gerosa G, Vendramin I, Cozzi E, Angelini A, Iop L, Zanon GF, Atala A, De Coppi P, Sartore S. Human amniotic fluid-derived stem cells are rejected after transplantation in the myocardium of normal, ischemic, immuno-suppressed or immuno-deficient rat. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2007;42(4):746–59.
- [105] Bollini S, Cheung KK, Riegler J, Dong X, Smart N, Ghionzoli M, Loukogeorgakis SP, Maghsoudlou P, Dube KN, Riley PR, Lythgoe MF, De Coppi P. Amniotic fluid stem cells are cardioprotective following acute myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Dev 2011;20(11):1985–94.
- [106] Bao W, Ballard VL, Needle S, Hoang B, Lenhard SC, Tunstead JR, Jucker BM, Willette RN, Pipes GT. Cardioprotection by systemic dosing of thymosin beta four following ischemic myocardial injury. Front Pharmacol 2013;4:149.
- [107] Castellani C, Vescovo G, Ravara B, Franzin C, Pozzobon M, Tavano R, Gorza L, Papini E, Vettor R, De Coppi P, Thiene G, Angelini A. The contribution of stem cell therapy to skeletal muscle remodeling in heart failure. Int J Cardiol 2013;168(3):2014–21.
- [108] Ginsberg M, James D, Ding BS, Nolan D, Geng F, Butler JM, Schachterle W, Pulijaal VR, Mathew S, Chasen ST, Xiang J, Rosenwaks Z, Shido K, Elemento O, Rabbany SY, Rafii S. Efficient direct reprogramming of mature amniotic cells into endothelial cells by ETS factors and TGFbeta suppression. Cell 2012;151(3):559–75.
- [109] Schiavo AA, Franzin C, Albiero M, Piccoli M, Spiro G, Bertin E, Urbani L, Visentin S, Cosmi E, Fadini GP, De Coppi P, Pozzobon M. Endothelial properties of third-trimester amniotic fluid stem cells cultured in hypoxia. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015;6:209.
- [110] Ramachandra DL, Shaw SS, Shangaris P, Loukogeorgakis S, Guillot PV, Coppi PD, David AL. In utero therapy for congenital disorders using amniotic fluid stem cells. Front Pharmacol 2014;5:270.
- [111] Loukogeorgakis SP, Flake AW. In utero stem cell and gene therapy: current status and future perspectives. Eur J Pediatr Surg 2014;24(3): 237–45.
- [112] Shaw SW, Bollini S, Nader KA, Gastaldello A, Mehta V, Filppi E, Cananzi M, Gaspar HB, Qasim W, De Coppi P, David AL. Autologous transplantation of amniotic fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells into sheep fetuses. Cell Transplant 2011;20(7):1015–31.
- [113] Carraro G, Perin L, Sedrakyan S, Giuliani S, Tiozzo C, Lee J, Turcatel G, De Langhe SP, Driscoll B, Bellusci S, Minoo P, Atala A, De Filippo RE, Warburton D. Human amniotic fluid stem cells can integrate and differentiate into epithelial lung lineages. Stem Cells 2008;26(11):2902–11.
- [114] Grisafi D, Pozzobon M, Dedja A, Vanzo V, Tomanin R, Porzionato A, Macchi V, Salmaso R, Scarpa M, Cozzi E, Fassina A, Navaglia F, Maran C, Onisto M, Caenazzo L, De Coppi P, De Caro R, Chiandetti L, Zaramella P. Human amniotic fluid stem cells protect rat lungs exposed to moderate hyperoxia. Pediatr Pulmonol 2013;48(11):1070–80.
- [115] Pederiva F, Ghionzoli M, Pierro A, De Coppi P, Tovar JA. Amniotic fluid stem cells rescue both in vitro and in vivo growth, innervation, and motility in nitrofen-exposed hypoplastic rat lungs through paracrine effects. Cell Transplant 2013;22(9):1683–94.
- [116] DeKoninck P, Toelen J, Roubliova X, Carter S, Pozzobon M, Russo FM, Richter J, Vandersloten PJ, Verbeken E, De Coppi P, Deprest J. The use of human amniotic fluid stem cells as an adjunct to promote pulmonary development in a rabbit model for congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Prenat Diagn 2015;35(9):833–40.
- [117] Perin L, Sedrakyan S, Giuliani S, Da Sacco S, Carraro G, Shiri L, Lemley KV, Rosol M, Wu S, Atala A, Warburton D, De Filippo RE. Protective effect of human amniotic fluid stem cells in an immunodeficient mouse model of acute tubular necrosis. PLoS One 2010;5(2):e9357.
- [118] Rota C, Imberti B, Pozzobon M, Piccoli M, De Coppi P, Atala A, Gagliardini E, Xinaris C, Benedetti V, Fabricio AS, Squarcina E, Abbate M, Benigni A, Remuzzi G, Morigi M. Human amniotic fluid stem cell preconditioning improves their regenerative potential. Stem Cells Dev 2012;21(11):1911–23.
- [119] Xinaris C, Benedetti V, Novelli R, Abbate M, Rizzo P, Conti S, Tomasoni S, Corna D, Pozzobon M, Cavallotti D, Yokoo T, Morigi M, Benigni A, Remuzzi G. Functional human podocytes generated in organoids from amniotic fluid stem cells. J Am Soc Nephrol 2016;27(5):1400–11.
- [120] Zani A, Cananzi M, Lauriti G, Fascetti-Leon F, Wells J, Siow B, Lythgoe MF, Pierro A, Eaton S, De Coppi P. Amniotic fluid stem cells prevent development of ascites in a neonatal rat model of necrotizing enterocolitis. Eur J Pediatr Surg 2014;24(1):57–60.
- [121] Zani A, Cananzi M, Fascetti-Leon F, Lauriti G, Smith VV, Bollini S, Ghionzoli M, D'Arrigo A, Pozzobon M, Piccoli M, Hicks A, Wells J, Siow B, Sebire NJ, Bishop C, Leon A, Atala A, Lythgoe MF, Pierro A, Eaton S, De Coppi P. Amniotic fluid stem cells improve survival and enhance repair of damaged intestine in necrotising enterocolitis via a COX-2 dependent mechanism. Gut 2014;63(2):300–9.
- [122] Caughey AB, Hopkins LM, Norton ME. Chorionic villus sampling compared with amniocentesis and the difference in the rate of pregnancy loss. Obstet Gynecol 2006;108(3 Pt 1):612-6.
- [123] Eddleman KA, Malone FD, Sullivan L, Dukes K, Berkowitz RL, Kharbutli Y, Porter TF, Luthy DA, Comstock CH, Saade GR, Klugman S, Dugoff L, Craigo SD, Timor-Tritsch IE, Carr SR, Wolfe HM, D'Alton ME. Pregnancy loss rates after midtrimester amniocentesis. Obstet Gynecol 2006;108(5):1067–72.
- [124] D'Ippolito G, Schiller PC, Ricordi C, Roos BA, Howard GA. Age-related osteogenic potential of mesenchymal stromal stem cells from human vertebral bone marrow. J Bone Miner Res 1999;14(7):1115–22.
- [125] Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Kluter H, Bieback K. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 2006;24(5):1294–301.
- [126] Bieback K, Kern S, Kluter H, Eichler H. Critical parameters for the isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood. Stem Cells 2004;22(4):625–34.
- [127] Bajada S, Mazakova I, Richardson JB, Ashammakhi N. Updates on stem cells and their applications in regenerative medicine. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2008;2(4):169–83.
- [128] Loukogeorgakis SP, De Coppi P. Concise review: amniotic fluid stem cells: the known, the unknown, and potential regenerative medicine applications. Stem Cells 2017;35(7):1663–73.

## CHAPTER

# 10

## Cord Blood Stem Cells

Kristin M. Page, Jessica M. Sun, Joanne Kurtzberg Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Umbilical cord blood (CB) is firmly established as an unrelated donor source for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) and is a readily available cell source in the evolving fields of regenerative medicine and cellular therapies. Worldwide, there are over 160 public banks with a global inventory of over 700,000 fully characterized, high-quality cord blood units (CBUs) [1], and more than 5 million CBUs have been banked at an estimated 215 family banks. In this chapter, we review the history of CB transplantation (CBT) and banking as well as established and emerging clinical uses of CB in regenerative medicine.

## A BRIEF HISTORY

CB was first recognized as rich source of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSCs) several decades ago. In a pivotal series of experiments, Dr. Ted Boyce, working with Dr. Hal Broxmeyer and colleagues, demonstrated that CB HSCs possessed high proliferative potential, could successfully repopulate hematopoiesis in murine models and tolerated cryopreservation and thawing with efficient HSC recovery [2]. This critical work provided the scientific rationale to investigate CB as a potential source of donor HSCs in humans.

The first patient to undergo a CBT was a 5-year-old boy with Fanconi anemia. Through prenatal testing, it was determined that his mother was pregnant with an unaffected human leukocyte antigen (HLA) matched sibling. Upon the sibling's birth, the CB was collected into a sterile bottle containing preservative-free heparin and transported to Dr. Broxmeyer's laboratory, where it was diluted with tissue culture media and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). The CB was then cryopreserved and stored under liquid nitrogen until it was transported to Paris, France, where the transplant would occur. The clinicians caring for the family elected to wait until the healthy sibling donor was 6 months of age so that she could serve as a backup bone marrow donor if the cord blood transplant failed. In 1988, Dr. Eliane Gluckman performed the first CBT in the world using the sibling's CB as the donor [3]. The child successfully engrafted with his sister's cells and has remained healthy with full donor chimerism ever since. Building on this initial success, additional related donor CBTs were performed in selected centers over the next 5 years [4–7]; the first unrelated donor CB bank was established by Dr. Pablo Rubinstein at the New York Blood Center in 1992. In the following year, Dr. Joanne Kurtzberg performed the first unrelated donor CBT at Duke University in a 4-year-old child with relapsed T-cell leukemia. Early experience with unrelated CBT demonstrated that partially HLA-mismatched, banked unrelated donor CB could successfully restore hematopoiesis with an incidence of graft versus host disease (GvHD) lower than expected and that engraftment was associated with the total nucleated cell (TNC) dose available relative to the recipient's body size [8,9].

With the extension into the unrelated donor setting, the fields of CBT and banking expanded rapidly. In 1995, EUROCORD was established by Dr. Eliane Gluckman; it continues to operate as an international CBT registry on behalf of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. In 1996, the Foundation for the Accreditation of Cellular Therapy (FACT) was established by its parent organizations, the International Society for Cellular Therapy and the American Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation (ASBMT). The following year, the International NetCord Foundation was established to serve as a registry for international public banks. The first

#### 10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

international public CB banking standards were created by NetCord and the first accreditation program resulted from a collaboration between FACT and NetCord in 1999. Although participation is these programs is considered voluntary, many public CB banks are required to received accreditation from FACT/NetCord or the American Association of Blood Banks to participate in registries and receive reimbursement for units distributed for transplantation.

In the United States, the National Marrow Donor Program (NMDP) established the Center for Cord Blood in 1999 and expanded the unrelated donor registry to include publically banked CBUs. In 2006, after passage of the Stem Cell Act of 2005, Congress established the CW Bill Young Cell Transplantation Program. This program awarded contracts to the NMDP to create a single point of access donor registry and coordinating centers for CB and adult donors, to the Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research to develop a stem cell outcomes database, and to the Health Resources and Services Administration of the Department of Health and Human Services to administer these programs and establish the national cord blood inventory (NCBI), a US network of public CB banks. This program was reauthorized in 2010 and 2015. A major goal of the program is to create a large repository of high-quality CBUs from donors of diverse ancestry to enable access to HSCT for as many patients as possible. In the United States, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulates unrelated donor CB as biological product and issued final guidance for public banks to obtain a Biological License Agreement (BLA) in 2011. Seven public banks in the United States have obtained a BLA.

## CORD BLOOD BANKING

Historically, after the birth of a baby, the CB and placenta were discarded as medical waste. With the advent of CBT, methods to reliably collect, process, test, cryopreserve, and store CB were developed with the goal of creating banks that could provide ready access to safe CBU products suitable for transplantation. Since the establishment of the first unrelated donor CB bank, the banking industry exploded, with an estimated worldwide inventory of more than 6 million CBUs stored in a combination of public and family CB banks [10]. Although the "shelf life" of banked cord blood is not known, successful transplants have been performed with units stored as long as 25 years. As the field has grown and advanced, accrediting agencies have emerged and developed standards for quality banking practices. In the United States, the FDA regulates unrelated CB as a biological product.

## PUBLIC VERSUS FAMILY (OR PRIVATE) BANKS

There are two main types of CB banks. Public banks collect, process, and store donated CBUs intended for unrelated allogeneic transplantation at no expense to the donor or their family. Mothers consent to donate their baby's CB for public use and thereby relinquish all future rights to the unit. In the United States and most other countries, public banks are subject to strict regulatory oversight and use stringent volume, cell count, sterility, donor eligibility, and medical history specifications to determine which collected CBUs are banked. Because cell count is a critical determinant of CBU use, only larger units containing sufficient cells for a single or double CBT of an adult-sized individual are banked. As a result, many donated units do not qualify to be banked and are discarded or used for research, depending on the consent given by the donor family.

Family (or private) banks are generally "for-profit" businesses that charge the parents an initial processing fee and an annual storage fee to store CB exclusively for use by the child or the family. In actuality, the likelihood of using a privately banked CB for transplantation is low [11]. Therefore, the American Academy of Pediatrics, American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), and ASBMT and other similar organizations worldwide do not recommend banking CB for personal use unless there is a family history of a disease (e.g., malignancy or hemoglobinopathy) that is amenable to HSCT [11–13]. To facilitate banking in these instances, many public and family banks offer "directed donor" programs, some of which waive charges associated with the banking process. Family banks are not subjected to the same regulatory oversight as public banks, although this varies among countries. Family banks generally use less stringent criteria for banking, which leads to wide variations in volume and cell content of the private inventory. According to a study of the safety of autologous CB infusions to treat children with acquired brain injury, CBUs from family banks were inferior to those stored in public banks with respect to collection volume, total nucleated cell count (TNCC), and CD34<sup>+</sup> count (Fig. 10.1) [14]. Because the use of CB is likely to expand, particularly in the field of regenerative medicine, the





FIGURE 10.1 Distributions of quality variables. In (A–C), the distribution of autologous CBUs is compared with the entire Carolinas Cord Blood inventory with respect to collection volume (A), TNC (B), and CD34 content (C). In (D), TNC of autologous CBUs (represented as *red circles*) and National Cord Blood Inventory–eligible Carolinas Cord Blood Bank CBUs (represented as *blue squares*) are compared. *CBUs*, cord blood units; *TNC*, total nucleated cell. *Used with permission from Sun J, Allison J, McLaughlin C, et al. Differences in quality between privately and publicly banked unbilical cord blood units: a pilot study of autologous cord blood infusion in children with acquired neurologic disorders. Transfusion 2010;50(9):1980–7.* 

indications and criteria that a CBU must meet for use may change. In response to these changes, the role of regulatory oversight in family CB banking may need to be optimized.

## PUBLIC CORD BLOOD BANKING PROCEDURES

## **Donor Recruitment and Consent**

Mothers who are potentially eligible for donation are identified based on clinical characteristics defined by the individual bank. At the Carolinas Cord Blood Bank (CCBB), donations are accepted from healthy mothers (aged  $\geq$ 18 years) who are carrying healthy singleton pregnancies of at least 34 weeks' gestation and who provide written informed consent for donation before collection. Consent gives permission to collect the CBU. For potentially eligible units, the mother is approached again to give written informed consent for banking the unit for use in transplantation. These mothers provide a medical and family history, a maternal blood specimen to screen for certain communicable diseases, and a review of medical records of the infant and maternal donors. The mother also gives permission for the CB to be used for research if it does not meet specifications for banking.

10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

## **Collection Techniques**

CB can be collected from either vaginal or cesarean births, either before delivery of the placenta (in utero) by obstetrical staff or after delivery of the placenta (ex utero), allowing for dedicated, trained bank staff to perform collections. Although the delivery method is dictated by the clinical status of the mother and infant, the method of collection is determined by staffing and collection site practices. Generally, reports have observed higher collection volumes after cesarean compared with vaginal deliveries [15–17] and when CB is collected in utero compared with ex utero [18], although not all reports have agreed [19]. Both collection methods continue to be used routinely, but in utero collections are more common, likely owing to the additional personnel expenses associated with ex utero collections. Regardless of the collection method, CB is typically collected by cannulating the umbilical vein, allowing the placental blood to drain by gravity into collection containers with anticoagulant, most commonly citrate phosphate dextrose. Closed system collection bags are standard, because they have been shown to reduce bacterial contamination [20].

## Volume and Cell Count Considerations

The goal of public CB banks is to provide quality CBUs for allogeneic transplantation for all patients in need. Because successful CBT requires a minimum TNC per kilogram dose, thresholds for banking have been established based on the TNCC. It is well-established that collection volume and TNCC are closely correlated. Therefore, many banks weigh the CBU after collection to estimate the volume and then ship to the processing laboratory only units that surpass a specified volume threshold. Low-volume units are discarded at the collection site because they are unlikely to have sufficient TNCC. Alternatively, some banks measure TNCC at the collection site or use other criteria to determine which units proceed to processing.

Efforts to increase collection volume have focused on two general approaches: identifying donations likely to have higher collection volume and developing techniques to obtain the maximal volume from an individual donation. Increased donor birth weight and older gestational age have been closely associated with higher collection volume and TNCC [21–23], although data suggest that collections from younger infants (aged 34–37 weeks' gestation) are more likely to have higher progenitor cell content, as measured by CD34<sup>+</sup> and colony-forming unit (CFU) content (Fig. 10.2) [24]. Also, despite comparable collection volumes among donors of different races or ethnicities, the TNCC, CD34<sup>+</sup>, and CFU content adjusted for collection volume (counts/mL) are lower in individuals of certain racial backgrounds, particularly African Americans, compared with Caucasian donors, even after adjusting for other



**FIGURE 10.2** Impact of infant estimated gestational age on the CFU, CD34<sup>+</sup>, and post-TNCC content. In (A–C), the adjusted mean CFU (A), CD34<sup>+</sup> (B), and post-TNCC (C) is shown in relationship to infant gestational age after adjusting for infant race/ethnicity, birth weight, sex, collection volume, delivery type, and maternal age. Only significant *P* values are shown. Whisker plots represent the 95% confidence intervals. *CFU*, colony-forming unit; *TNCC*, total nucleated cell count. *Used with permission from Page KM, Mendizabal A, Betz-Stablein B, et al. Optimizing donor selection for public cord blood banking: influence of maternal, infant, and collection characteristics on cord blood unit quality. Transfusion 2013;54.* 



**FIGURE 10.3 Comparison of the CFU, CD34<sup>+</sup>**, **and post-TNCC concentrations for Caucasian and African American infants.** In (A–C), the adjusted mean CFUs/mL (A), CD34<sup>+</sup> per mL (B), and post-TNCC/mL (C) are shown in relationship to race for infants of Caucasian and African American race, respectively, after adjusting for infant gestational age, birth weight, sex, collection volume, delivery type, and maternal age. Only significant *P* values are shown. Whisker plots represent the 95% confidence intervals. *CFU*, colony-forming unit; *TNCC*, total nucleated cell count. *Used with permission from Page KM, Mendizabal A, Betz-Stablein B, et al. Optimizing donor selection for public cord blood banking: influence of maternal, infant, and collection characteristics on cord blood unit quality. Transfusion 2013;54.* 

clinical factors (Fig. 10.3) [15,24]. Investigations of other clinical factors such as gender and maternal age have been less conclusive [16,24–26]. Although these clinical characteristics are not typically modifiable, understanding their relationship to collection volume and content can inform practical decisions pertaining to unit eligibility, staffing at collection sites, and other banking practices.

Technical approaches to increasing CBU collection volume include increasing perfusion of the placenta to collect additional blood [27,28], but these approaches remain experimental. The timing of cord clamping also affects the volume of blood collected from a placenta. The practice of delayed cord clamping, defined by ACOG as occurring >30 s after delivery [29], is becoming more common. Studies have shown benefits of delayed cord clamping for preterm infants; however, benefits in term infants appear to be marginal [30]. Delays in collection have been associated with smaller volumes and corresponding TNCCs and increase collection failures owing to clotting [16,31,32]. Because blood flow within the umbilical vessels immediately after birth is influenced by multiple physiologic factors [33], the true impact of delayed cord clamping at a specified time point on collection quality is difficult to assess. Early studies demonstrate that delayed clamping beyond 1 min is associated with loss of cord blood available for banking. It is apparent that further studies are needed to better understand the impact of cord clamping on the neonate, but it is also clear that this will be an ongoing discussion with important obstetric, perinatal, and banking implications. With the available data, it is recommended that delayed clamping is not practiced when cord blood is collected as a directed donation within a family for allogeneic transplantation in a sibling.

## Processing and Cryopreservation

Many CB banks receive collections from distant sites, which results in potential delays in processing. Although stability of TNCC and CD34<sup>+</sup> content at room temperature have been reported to range from 24 to 96 h after collection [15,34–37], we and others have demonstrated small but significant losses of TNCC, CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, and CFU content at even earlier time points [24,38,39]. Based on these findings, our standard operating procedures at the CCBB involves triaging CBUs to allow for processing within 24 h of collection. Unrelated donor banking standards require cryopreservation to begin within 48 h of birth.

The general approach to processing CB is similar between banks, although some variations exist. Rubinstein et al. demonstrated that volume reduction achieved through removal of plasma and red blood cells (RBC) allows for more efficient processing and improved cell recovery after thaw [40]. Many banks continue to use the Rubinstein method, or variations of it, to achieve plasma and RBC depletion. Manual CB processing continues to be performed in some
banks, but an increasing number of banks are using automated systems for plasma and RBC reduction. Postprocessing, DMSO, typically in a final concentration of 10% along with 5% dextran or hydroxyethylstarch, is added as a cryoprotectant [41,42]. Cryopreservation occurs via controlled-rate freezing before storage in the liquid or vapor phase of liquid nitrogen for long-term storage at less than  $-180^{\circ}$ C.

## Cord Blood Unit Characterization

Banking standards require CB products to be tested and characterized extensively to assess the purity, potency, and sterility of the CBU. Testing in most banks includes assessing postprocessing TNCC, viability, viable CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, growth of CFUs, and sterility.

Assessing viability by any of several different methods is included in the banking standards for accreditation and is required for unit licensure. Postprocessed samples should contain at least 85% viable cells. Whereas fresh CB generally has high viability, insults to cells that can decrease viability include temperature changes, longer time to processing, and prolonged exposure to DMSO before cryopreservation [36,39,41], which may affect various cell populations within CB differently [36]. For example, decreases in viability may simply reflect cell death of mature granulocytes and may not reflect loss of HSCs.

CD34<sup>+</sup> is a surface marker of HSCs, and higher infused doses (cells per kilogram) have been associated with higher rates of engraftment, less transplant-related mortality, and improved overall survival (OS) [43]. As such, it is common practice to enumerate CD34<sup>+</sup> cells before cryopreservation and again after thawing for transplantation. Some transplant centers use the total CD34<sup>+</sup> cell dose in CBU selection. However, significant interlaboratory variability exists [44–47]. Efforts to standardize CD34<sup>+</sup> measurements led to the development of guidelines by the International Society for Hematotherapy and Graft Engineering [48]. This "dual-platform" method determines the percentage of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells by flow cytometry and measures the leukocyte count using an automated cell counter. Subsequently, "single-platform" approaches have been developed that enumerate CD34<sup>+</sup> cells using flow cytometry [49,50]. The viable CD34<sup>+</sup> content can be measured indirectly by using the percentage of viable cells to adjust the total CD34<sup>+</sup> dose. The presence of total CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, however, does not assess the viability and overall potency of a given CBU. This led to interest in measuring the viable CD34<sup>+</sup> content directly. FDA-cleared kits to enumerate viable CD34<sup>+</sup> content correlates closely [51–53], whereas there is more variability in thawed samples [51]. Use of the viable CD34<sup>+</sup> in CBU selection will require further standardization of the methods by the banking community.

The CFU assay, which requires viable cells to multiply and differentiate, is considered by many to be the best measure of CB potency. Studies demonstrated that CFU dose is strongly predictive of neutrophil and platelet engraftment and improved survival [54–58]. Identification and enumeration of colony types (CFU–granulocyte macrophage, CFU–granulocyte/erythrocyte/monocyte/megakaryocyte, and burst forming unit-erythroid) are performed by some banks, but specifications for these parameters are unknown. Despite the ability to assess potency, the CFU is a time-consuming assay that typically provides results 2 weeks later. Similar to measuring CD34<sup>+</sup> content, there are also issues with standardization among laboratories [59,60]. These issues have precluded its widespread use. Automated scoring systems and 7-day CFU assays have been developed to address these issues and are becoming more commonly used. There have also been focused efforts to develop alternate measures of potency that would provide results rapidly. Enumeration of CFUs using a thawed contiguous segment has been shown to be representative of the CB product and has been used to assess potency [61].

Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) is an intracellular enzyme found in high concentration in HSCs and can be measured by a flow cytometry–based assay. Cells scoring positive (ALDH<sup>br</sup>) are viable and likely to correlate with HSC content of a graft [62]. ALDH<sup>br</sup> activity strongly correlated with CFUs and with speed of engraftment in autologous transplant recipients [63–66]. This suggests that ALDH<sup>br</sup> content of a CBU may predict potency. In fresh CB, ALDH<sup>br</sup> correlates well with TNCC, CFU, and CD34<sup>+</sup> content [67]. However, potency of a CB graft is best assessed on the thawed product, thereby reflecting any potential injury incurred as a result of cryopreservation and thaw. Therefore, we developed a potency assay for CBU release that can be performed at the time of confirmatory testing using a segment attached to a cryopreserved CBU. The assay enumerates ALDH<sup>br</sup>, CD34<sup>+</sup>, CD45<sup>+</sup>, glycophorin A<sup>+</sup>, viability (7-AAD<sup>+</sup>), and CFUs from the thawed segment (Fig. 10.4). Our study demonstrated a strong correlation between ALDH<sup>br</sup> and CFUs measured on the segment (r = 0.78). However, the correlation between cryopreserved segments and entire unit demonstrated strong overall correlation (r = 0.88). We also observed faster



FIGURE 10.4 Flowchart of the ALDH potency assay performed on attached segments of CBUs requested for confirmatory HLA typing for donor selection. 7-AAD, 7-aminoactinomycin D; ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase; FTA, fast technology analysis; GlyA, glycophorin A; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; HPCA, hematopoietic progenitor cell assay; HSA/PBS, human serum albumin/phosphate-buffered saline; RBC, red blood cells. Used with permission from Shoulars KW, Noldner P, Troy JD, et al. Development and validation of a rapid, aldehyde dehydrogenase bright-based, cord blood potency assay. Blood 2016;127.

engraftment in patients who received CB grafts with higher ALDH<sup>br</sup> measured on the segment (P = .03) [68]. Our findings demonstrated that the assay can serve as a surrogate for postthaw measurements to assess the potency of a potential CBU graft. Based on these findings, we have been using this assay before releasing CBUs from the CCBB to the transplant centers.

#### 10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

Finally, to prevent potential transmission of microbial agents to transplant recipients, all CB banks perform sterility assays on samples of processed CBU before cryopreservation. Screening units for bacterial and fungal contamination is most commonly performed using automated culture systems with high detection capabilities [69,70]. Rates of contamination reported in the literature have been variable, but generally range from 2% to 5% [15,71,72]. CBUs screening positive in sterility assays are excluded from public bank registries. However, directed donor units that are contaminated with bacteria may be stored and used for transplantation after the related recipient is covered with appropriate antibiotics before and after the infusion.

## CLINICAL USES OF UMBILICAL CORD BLOOD

## Cord Blood Transplantation for Hematological Malignancies

Most of the early clinical experience with CBT was in treating children with hematologic malignancies. The Cord Blood Transplantation Study trial, the first prospective multicenter phase II study of unrelated CBT, enrolled patients with pediatric leukemias, adult leukemias, pediatric immunodeficiencies, and infant leukemia, and pediatric patients with certain inherited metabolic diseases in a series of phase II clinical trials. The cohort of pediatric patients with hematologic malignancies were enrolled from 1998 to 2003 and received myeloablative conditioning (total body irradiation, cyclophosphamide, equine antithymocyte globulin) followed by infusion of an unrelated donor single CBU [12]. The results were encouraging and demonstrated that CB could provide adequate reconstitution of hematopoiesis and immune reconstitution with relatively low rates of GvHD. Relapse-free, 5-year survival was about 50% in this cohort of patients. Results of the adult stratum were less promising, however, likely because of the high number of comorbidities in end-stage patients and also because a typical CBU lacked sufficient cells to engraft reliably in an adult-sized individual. To overcome this obstacle, the team at the University of Minnesota pioneered the use of "double CBT" (i.e., two CBUs for one transplant) and reported improved rates of engraftment and survival in adults [11]. From 2005 to 2012, the Blood and Marrow Transplant Clinical Trials Network, in collaboration with the pediatric cooperative group, Children's Oncology Group, conducted a multicenter, randomized trial comparing one or two CB grafts in children with hematologic malignancies [14]. They found that in adequately dosed children, a single CBU was sufficient for transplant. Of note, chronic GvHD was increased in recipients of double cords compared with recipients of single CBUs. Patients experienced low rates of relapse, about 12%, in both treatment arms, and overall event-free survival was 70%. Milano et al. reported in an analysis of 582 patients that patients with detectable minimal residual disease before transplant had a significantly lower risk of relapse when CB grafts were used, compared with matched and mismatched unrelated adult donor grafts [73]. These results added to growing evidence that CB grafts may be able to provide a more potent antileukemic effect compared with other graft sources.

#### Cord Blood Transplantation for Nonmalignant Hematological Diseases

CBT has also been used successfully to treat other diseases amenable to HSCT. This heterogeneous group of diseases includes primary immunodeficiencies (PIDs), congenital and acquired bone marrow failure (BMF) syndromes, hemoglobinopathies, and inherited metabolic diseases (discussed separately subsequently). Generally, special considerations for these patients with nonmalignant conditions include decreasing the risk of GvHD and minimizing toxicities caused by the preparative regimen. Although this led to interest in developing reduced intensity conditioning regimens for these patients, rates of graft failure were much higher with this approach and the use of myeloablative conditioning continues to be the standard of care. Exceptions to this include certain diseases that are highly chemosensitive (i.e., Fanconi anemia and dyskeratosis congenita) [74,75] and certain PIDs that require little or no conditioning [76,77]. With several decades of experience in CBT, many lessons have been learned in the care of these primarily pediatric patients with nonmalignant conditions. Importantly, excellent survival (>90%) is noted when related CB grafts are used [75,76,78–82], and GvHD is lower than in related bone marrow recipients [79,81,83]. Therefore, related CBT, when available, is considered the standard of care for patients with nonmalignant diseases [83].

Experience using unrelated donor CB grafts for patients with nonmalignant diseases has generally been successful, depending primarily on the underlying disease. Patients with immunodeficiencies receiving CBT have good outcomes in smaller reports [84–91]. Morio et al. reported a 5-year OS of 69% for 88 patients with PIDs [92] with improved survival noted in patients with Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome (82%). In that series, the most common cause of death was infection. Pai et al. examined outcomes of 240 infants with severe combined immune deficiencies

#### CORD BLOOD THERAPIES FOR INHERITED AND ACQUIRED BRAIN DISEASES

transplanted using matched related or alternative donors at 25 centers from 2000 to 2009 [76]. They and others observed comparable outcomes for patients receiving unrelated donor transplantation regardless of donor source [76,77]. Younger infants (aged less than 3.5 months) experienced improved outcomes compared with older infants. It is likely, with the wider availability of newborn screening, that children will be transplanted at an earlier age, which will further improve these outcomes. Outcomes after unrelated CBT for inherited and acquired BMF syndromes have not been robust, because of higher rates of primary graft failure. MacMillan et al. described the outcomes of 130 patients with Fanconi anemia [93]. They observed that although outcomes using unrelated CB grafts historically were disappointing, similar neutrophil recovery was seen in patients receiving unrelated bone marrow and CB grafts, a finding attributed to optimizing donor selection and chemotherapy regimens. Unrelated CBT was used to treat other inherited BMF syndromes such as dyskeratosis congenita, congenital amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia, Diamond-Blackfan anemia, and osteopetrosis [75,94–96], but it has been associated with higher rates of graft failure [75,94]. Similar issues with engraftment were reported in 71 patients undergoing unrelated CBT for acquired severe aplastic anemia [97]. In the report from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation, the cumulative incidence of neutrophil engraftment was 51% at 60 days and a 3-year OS of 38% [97]. Significantly improved OS was seen in patients who received higher TNC doses ( $>3.9 \times 10^{7}$  cells/kg) from the CB graft. It is important to acknowledge, owing to the rarity of these diseases, that these studies included patients from an earlier transplant era, which probably negatively influenced the results. It is likely that contemporary outcomes would be more robust, because of improvements in supportive care and donor selection. Unrelated CBT remains a viable donor option when matched related donors are unavailable.

Thalassemia major and sickle cell disease (SCD) are the most common hemoglobinopathies worldwide. Allogeneic HSCT is the only curative treatment and best outcomes occur if HSCT is performed early in life, before significant organ dysfunction has occurred. Importantly, patients with hemoglobinopathies are at increased risk for graft rejection owing to several factors such as marrow hyperactivity to compensate for chronic anemia, alloimmunization resulting from multiple transfusions, and lack of prior chemotherapy exposure, which leaves the patient immunocompetent immediately before transplant. Similar to other nonmalignant diseases, the use of related CBT is associated with excellent outcomes [98]. Unrelated CBT for hemoglobinopathies has been more challenging, as highlighted in several studies [99,100]. Ruggeri et al. reported the outcomes of unrelated CBT in 51 children with either thalassemia (N = 35) or SCD (N = 16). Most (76%) received myeloablative conditioning followed by infusion of primarily HLA-mismatched grafts (two to three loci: 50%). High graft failure was seen in this cohort (27 of 51 patients), which was strongly associated with the TNCC cell dose [100]. Given the lower available cell dose in CBUs, it is unsurprising that graft failure has been an issue for these patients in the unrelated donor setting.

## Cord Blood Expansion Technologies

Extensive investigations are under way to manipulate or expand CB HSCs ex vivo with the goal of more rapid immune and hematopoietic reconstitution. Expansion techniques that are in clinical trials include a Notch ligand—based platform [101], a nicotinamide-based expansion approach (NiCord) [102], fucosylation [103], coculture with mesenchymal cells [104], Stem-regenin (SR1) [105], and UM171 [106]. Most are being tested in patients with hematologic malignancies, but there is a current phase I trial using NiCord to treat pediatric patients with hemoglobin-opathies, with promising early results (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT01590628) [107]. Likewise, the Notch expanded product is undergoing testing in a multicenter, phase II randomized trial as a bridge to engraftment after a standard CBT after myeloablative conditioning therapy. If successful, these approaches may ultimately be applied to unrelated CBT for patients with hemoglobinopathies, thus broadening the utility of CBT in these diseases.

## CORD BLOOD THERAPIES FOR INHERITED AND ACQUIRED BRAIN DISEASES

## Cord Blood Transplantation for Inherited Metabolic Disorders

Inherited metabolic disorders (IMD) are a heterogeneous group of genetic diseases. In most of these diseases, a single gene mutation causes an enzyme defect, which leads to the accumulation of substrates that are toxic and/ or interfere with normal cellular function. Many affected patients appear normal at birth. During infancy, however, they begin to exhibit disease manifestations, often including progressive neurological deterioration associated with absent or abnormal brain myelination. The ultimate result is death in later infancy or childhood.

#### 10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

In the 1960s, Elizabeth Neufeld demonstrated that coculture of fibroblasts from patients with two different IMDs (Hunter syndrome and Hurler syndrome) cross-corrected each other [108]; this established the basis for enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) and cellular therapy for that purpose. ERT is available for selected IMDs and can be effective in ameliorating certain systemic disease manifestations, although there are limitations. ERT is unable to cross the blood—brain barrier effectively and therefore does not alter the progression of neurologic symptoms [109,110]. Intra-thecal ERT [111] and gene therapy [112] are being investigated to attempt to address this shortcoming. However, the only effective therapy to halt neurologic progression of disease is allogeneic HSCT, which serves as a source of permanent cellular ERT [113] providing missing enzyme throughout the body, including the peripheral tissues and the central nervous system [114,115]. Donor microglia cells, which are of myeloid origin, are thought to be the source of ERT after HSCT [116], in addition to acting as normal scavengers in the central nervous system [116—118]. It is also possible that donor cells exert antiinflammatory and proneurogenic effects through paracrine signaling. The timing of migration to, and engraftment of, donor-derived microglia cells in the brain after HSCT is not known. Based on clinical observations, however, it is likely several months after hematologic engraftment.

HSCT is indicated for a subset of IMDs including lysosomal storage diseases, peroxisomal storage diseases, and a few select others. The first HSCT for an IMD was performed in 1980 in a 1-year-old child with Hurler syndrome (mucopolysaccharidosis [MPS], type 1), a lysosomal storage disease, using bone marrow from his parents [119]. Since then, more than 500 transplants have been performed worldwide in patients with Hurler syndrome, which makes it the most transplanted and well-studied IMD. Numerous reports have demonstrated the efficacy of HSCT in Hurler syndrome, including improvements in neurocognitive function, joint integrity, motor development, growth, hydrocephalus, corneal clouding, cardiac function, hepatosplenomegaly, hearing, visual and auditory processing, and OS [120–126]. Despite improvements in both symptoms and life expectancy, survivors experience a variable degree of residual disease burden [127]. Factors associated with superior clinical outcomes include transplantation early in the disease course and the ability to attain full donor chimerism with normal enzyme levels [126,128]. Among patients receiving CBT for Hurler syndrome, a shorter interval between diagnosis and CBT (<4.6 months [82%] versus >4.6 months [57%]) and a conditioning regimen containing busulfan and cyclophosphamide (75% versus 44% using other regimens) are associated with a significantly higher event-free survival [129]. Studies also demonstrate that unrelated, noncarrier CB has advantages in the transplantation of MPS in terms of achieving both full-donor chimerism and normal enzyme levels compared with other donor sources [56,120,128,130–132]. Thus, CB has been identified as an attractive source for HSCT in Hurler syndrome and other MPS types for which HSCT is indicated.

CBT has also been used to treat patients successfully with certain leukodystrophies, a group of disorders caused by genetic defects in the production or maintenance of myelin, including adrenoleukodystrophy [133,134] metachromatic leukodystrophy [135,136], and Krabbe disease (globoid leukodystrophy). Prognosis is strongly affected by the stage of the disease at the time of transplantation; children who undergo HSCT in presymptomatic or early disease stages fare better than those in symptomatic or advanced stages [137]. As such, HSCT is generally reserved for patients with presymptomatic or early disease. This is particularly challenging in the case of early infantile Krabbe disease. Symptoms typically become evident during the first 6 months of life, although there is evidence that damage occurs even prenatally. Krabbe disease is caused by mutations in the lysosomal enzyme galactosylceramidase, which then leads to an accumulation of psychosine followed by apoptosis of myelin-forming cells in the central and peripheral nervous systems. Affected babies develop irritability, spasticity, developmental regression, and seizures. Progression of symptoms is rapid and unrelenting, leading to death typically within 2 years. In 2005, the outcomes of 25 babies with Krabbe disease who received CBT were reported. The cohort included 11 presymptomatic newborns (aged <1 month of life) along with 14 infants transplanted after the onset of symptoms [132]. Survival at 3 years was dramatically improved in the presymptomatic babies (100% versus 42.8%). The presymptomatic babies also exhibited substantial neurodevelopmental gains whereas symptomatic infants stabilized without improvement. Nonetheless, some degree of gross motor function deficit became apparent in all children. An analysis of late outcomes showed that babies transplanted younger than age 30 days had superior outcomes compared with those transplanted at age greater than 30 days [138]. Results from this and other studies [87,132,136] reinforce the importance of early diagnosis and treatment. Given the time-sensitive nature, newborn screening programs for Krabbe disease have been instituted in a portion of US states with further programs in development.

One issue inherent in HSCT is that disease progression can continue in the initial few months after transplantation. While waiting for sufficient numbers of donor cells to engraft in the brain and produce adequate enzyme levels, patients can experience further loss of neurologic function, and most patients are left with some residual and irreversible neurologic impairment. Even when complete donor hematopoietic chimerism and normal serum enzyme levels are obtained and survival is extended for decades, emerging long-term data suggest that eventual neurologic decline, particularly in motor function, commonly occurs later in life. Additional approaches are necessary to address the multifaceted tissue pathology fully in these diseases and normalize functional outcomes for patients. Augmented cellular therapies, such as CB-derived microglial-like cells (DUOC-01) [139–141] and others [142], gene therapies [112], supplemental enzyme therapy [143], and chaperone therapy, alone or combined with HSCT, are all being investigated in the laboratory and/or clinic for that purpose.

## INVESTIGATIONS IN THE TREATMENT OF ACQUIRED BRAIN INJURIES WITH UMBILICAL CORD BLOOD

Aside from acting as cellular enzyme replacement, donor CB cells in patients with IMDs may also have a role in replacing damaged cells, secreting supportive factors, and immunoregulation. These additional possible mechanisms led to the hypothesis that CB might also be beneficial in patients with acquired brain injuries. CB cells have been investigated in preclinical models of stroke, neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE), cerebral palsy, traumatic brain injury, and spinal cord injury. Numerous animal models have demonstrated neuroprotection [144], neovascularization [145], and neuronal regeneration [145] after xenogeneic CB administration, leading to both neurological and survival benefits [144,146–151]. Based on these observations, early-phase clinical trials of CB are under way in human patients with acquired brain injuries, using either autologous or allogeneic CB cells.

## Hypoxic Ischemic Encephalopathy

Neonatal HIE results from an acute lack of oxygen to the infant brain, typically attributed to events during labor and delivery. Therapeutic hypothermia is considered the standard of care for babies who meet criteria for moderate to severe HIE. Despite this intervention, moderate to severe HIE is fatal in approximately 25% of patients and causes neurologic sequelae in an additional 25%. In a phase I trial conducted at Duke that enrolled neonates with HIE, fresh autologous CB (volume- and RBC-reduced) was infused within the first 48–72 h of life in one, two, or four doses of  $1-5 \times 10^7$  nucleated cells/kg in babies with moderate to severe encephalopathy who qualified for systemic hypothermia [152]. Those babies (n = 23) were compared with a concomitant group of babies at Duke who received only therapeutic hypothermia (n = 83). Infusions were found to be safe in those critically ill babies. The babies who received cells had increased survival rates to discharge (100% versus 87%; *P* = .12) and improved function at 1 year of age (72% versus 41% with development in the normal range; *P* = .05). Based on these findings, a phase II, randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter study is under way to investigate further the utility of CB infusion in conjunction with therapeutic hypothermia for babies with HIE.

## Cerebral Palsy

In most cases, cerebral palsy results from an in utero or perinatal brain injury such as stroke, hypoxic insult, or hemorrhage. Clinical outcomes of patients with cerebral palsy are widely varied, ranging from mild limitations in advanced gross motor skills to severely limited self-mobility despite the use of assistive technology. The use of CB in children with cerebral palsy is being investigated in clinical studies. Romanov et al. reported results of 80 pediatric patients who received multiple intravenous doses of allogeneic, ABO-matched, HLA-unmatched CB. Improvements were noted in children who received at least four doses; however, there was no control group for comparison [153]. Many children with cerebral palsy are expected to make some gains over time, which is an important factor to consider in study design. A double-blind study was conducted in Korea in 93 children who were randomized to receive erythropoietin, erythropoietin plus cyclosporine plus allogeneic CB ( $\geq$ 4/6 HLA matched,  $\geq$ 3 × 10<sup>7</sup> TNC/kg), or placebo [154]. They reported greater improvements in cognitive and select motor functions in children who received CB and erythropoietin versus controls; higher cell doses were associated with greater improvement. A CB-only group was not included.

In the United States, investigations of CB in children with cerebral palsy have focused on intravenous infusions of autologous CB that had been banked at the time of the child's birth. An initial safety study of 184 infants and children with cerebral palsy (76%), congenital hydrocephalus (12%), and other brain injuries (12%) identified a temporary hypersensitivity reaction (i.e., hives and/or wheezing) in approximately 1.5% of patients as the only side effect [14]. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study was subsequently conducted in 63 children aged 1–6 years to evaluate the efficacy of this approach. In that study, there was no difference in motor improvement



**FIGURE 10.5** Improvements in motor function after appropriately dosed autologous cord blood infusion: correlation with increased whole-brain connectivity. Gross motor function and brain connectivity 1 year after autologous cord blood treatment by cell dose. (A) Observed–expected GMFM-66 scores 1 year after treatment in patients aged greater than 2 years at the time of autologous cord blood infusion. (B) Change in normalized whole-brain connectivity 1 year after treatment. (C) Connectome representation. Nodes and edges included are those demonstrating significantly increased improvement in children receiving high doses compared with those receiving low doses, as indicated by the *color chart;* insignificant nodes are shown in *gray.* Representative nodes in the sensorimotor network with significant changes correlated with improvement in GMFM-66 scores include the pre- and postcentral gyri, basal ganglia, and brain stem. *GMFM-66,* Gross Motor Function Measure–66.

between study groups as a whole. However, patients receiving a previously cryopreserved nucleated cell dose of  $\geq 2.5 \times 10^7$  cells/kg demonstrated greater improvement of motor function and normalized whole brain connectivity than did subjects receiving smaller cell doses, which is consistent with the minimum dose used for allogeneic HSCT (Fig. 10.5) [155].

## Stroke

Stroke represents a significant public health concern and is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality among adults. Studies of cell therapy in older patients who have experienced a stroke have focused on autologous bone marrow—derived cells. The only published randomized trial, conducted in 120 patients in India, administered autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells (mean,  $280 \times 10^6$  cells) as a single intravenous dose 7–30 days after an acute stroke [156]. There was no difference in functional outcomes or infarct volume between groups at 6 months. Additional studies are under way or planned using autologous and allogeneic cells [157]. There are concerns regarding



**FIGURE 10.6 Changes in ASD symptoms after autologous CB infusion.** (A) Vineland-II socialization domain standard scores at baseline and 6 months after infusion (P = .02 baseline to 6 months). (B) Vineland-II communication domain standard scores at baseline and 6 months after infusion (P < .01 baseline to 6 months). (C) Distribution of CGI-I scores at 6 (*blue*) and 12 (*red*) months after infusion. Sample sizes are N = 25 for baseline and 6-month time points and N = 22 at 12 months. *ASD*, autism spectrum disorder; *CB*, cord blood; *CGI-I*, clinician assessment. *Used with permission from Dawson G, Sun JM, Davlantis KS, et al. Autologous cord blood infusions are safe and feasible in young children with autism spectrum disorder: results of a single-center phase I open-label trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2017;6(5):1332–9.* 

the functionality of autologous bone marrow—derived cells, because they must be collected from a typically ill, elderly patient, and the feasibility of early administration may not be possible if the cells must be cultured or processed for any length of time. Therefore, a CB-derived, off-the-shelf therapy is an attractive alternative to autologous bone marrow. A phase I safety study administering ABO-matched, HLA-unmatched allogeneic CB intravenously to adults within 3–10 days of acute ischemic stroke completed accrual and demonstrated no acute safety issues related to the CB infusion [131]. A phase II randomized, placebo-controlled, blinded study to evaluate efficacy has enrolled patients at four centers.

## Autism Spectrum Disorder

Intravenous infusion of CB is also being investigated in young children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), a neurodevelopmental disorder with onset in early childhood. ASD is characterized by impairments in social communication, a restricted range of activities, and repetitive behaviors [158]. Evidence suggests that ASD likely results from a complex interplay between genetic and environmental risk factors, potentially mediated through inflammatory and/or immune processes. One hypothesis regarding the development of ASD is that immune-mediated

#### 10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

changes in fetal brain cytokine profiles may result in abnormal development in the central nervous system, either directly or indirectly via microglial activation. Abnormalities in the number, function, and gene regulation of microglia as well as in localized brain inflammation, pathological astrocyte activation, and synaptic dysfunction have all been described in various models of ASD [159–161]. Cellular therapies are being investigated for their potential to reduce ongoing inflammation via cell-mediated immunomodulation, provide neuroprotection via molecular mechanisms, and/or restore functional synaptic pathways. These potential mechanisms are thought to occur via paracrine effects.

Clinical trials of cell therapy in patients with ASD are still in the early phases; a handful of exploratory studies using various cell sources are under way in several different countries. The open-label phase 1 DukeABCs trial examined the safety and tolerability study of a single intravenous infusion of autologous CB in 25 children aged 2–5 years who had ASD (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02176317) [162]. Participants received a single CB infusion (median infused dose,  $2.6 \times 10^7$ /kg; range,  $1.0-8.1 \times 10^7$ /kg) with no immunosuppression. The infusions were safe, with no serious adverse events and occasional allergic reactions and irritability reported. Improvements in ASD symptoms were observed on caregiver-completed measures (Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales–Second Edition and Pervasive Developmental Disorder Behavior Inventory), clinician assessment (Clinical Global Impressions scale [CGI-I]), and computerized eye-tracking assessments (Fig. 10.6). Positive changes, including increased social communication skills and receptive/expressive language and decreased repetitive behavior and sensory sensitivities, were observed at 6 months and maintained at 12 months after infusion. A phase 2 double-blind, randomized, controlled study is under way to evaluate the efficacy of autologous or allogeneic CB therapy versus placebo in children with ASD (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02847182).

## References

- [1] Bone Marrow Donors Worldwide. Bone Marrow Donors Worldwide; 2015. Available from: http://www.bmdw.org.
- [2] Broxmeyer HE, Douglas GW, Hangoc G, et al. Human umbilical cord blood as a potential source of transplantable hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989;86(10):3828–32.
- [3] Gluckman E, Broxmeyer HA, Auerbach AD, et al. Hematopoietic reconstitution in a patient with Fanconi's anemia by means of umbilicalcord blood from an HLA-identical sibling. N Engl J Med 1989;321(17):1174–8.
- [4] Wagner JE, Broxmeyer HE, Byrd RL, et al. Transplantation of umbilical cord blood after myeloablative therapy: analysis of engraftment. Blood 1992;79(7):1874–81.
- [5] Wagner J, Steinbuch M, Kernan N, Broxmayer H, Gluckman E. Allogeneic sibling umbilical-cord-blood transplantation in children with malignant and non-malignant disease. Lancet 1995;346(8969):214–9.
- [6] Kohli-Kumar M, Shahidi NT, Broxmeyer HE, et al. Haemopoietic stem/progenitor cell transplant in Fanconi anaemia using HLA-matched sibling umbilical cord blood cells. Br J Haematol 1993;85(2):419–22.
- [7] Broxmeyer HE, Kurtzberg J, Gluckman E, et al. Umbilical cord blood hematopoietic stem and repopulating cells in human clinical transplantation. Blood Cells 1991;17(2):313–29.
- [8] Kurtzberg J, Laughlin M, Graham ML, et al. Placental blood as a source of hematopoietic stem cells for transplantation into unrelated recipients. N Engl J Med 1996;335(3):157–66.
- [9] Wagner JE, Rosenthal J, Sweetman R, et al. Successful transplantation of HLA-matched and HLA-mismatched umbilical cord blood from unrelated donors: analysis of engraftment and acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 1996;88(3):795–802.
- [10] Cord Blood Fact Sheet. Available from: https://cord.memberclicks.net/assets/docs/fact\_sheet.pdf.
- [11] Ballen KK, Barker JN, Stewart SK, Greene MF, Lane TA. Collection and preservation of cord blood for personal use. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2008;14(3):356–63.
- [12] American Academy of Pediatrics Section on HO, American Academy of Pediatrics Section on AI, Lubin BH, Shearer WT. Cord blood banking for potential future transplantation. Pediatrics 2007;119(1):165–70.
- [13] ACOG Committee Opinion No. 648: umbilical cord blood banking. Obstet Gynecol 2015;126(6):e127-129.
- [14] Sun J, Allison J, McLaughlin C, et al. Differences in quality between privately and publicly banked umbilical cord blood units: a pilot study of autologous cord blood infusion in children with acquired neurologic disorders. Transfusion 2010;50(9):1980–7.
- [15] Kurtzberg J, Cairo MS, Fraser JK, et al. Results of the cord blood transplantation (COBLT) study unrelated donor banking program. Transfusion 2005;45(6):842–55.
- [16] Jones J. Obstetric predictors of placental/umbilical cord blood volume for transplantation. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2003;188(2):503-9.
- [17] Santos SVF, Barros SMO, Santos MS, et al. Predictors of high-quality cord blood units. Transfusion 2016;56.
- [18] Solves P, Moraga R, Saucedo E, et al. Comparison between two strategies for umbilical cord blood collection. Bone Marrow Transplant 2003; 31(4):269–73.
- [19] Lasky LC, Lane TA, Miller JP, et al. In utero or ex utero cord blood collection: which is better? Transfusion 2002;42(10):1261-7.
- [20] Bertolini F, Lazzari L, Lauri E, et al. Comparative study of different procedures for the collection and banking of umbilical cord blood. J Hematother 1995;4(1):29–36.
- [21] Askari S, Miller J, Chrysler G, McCullough J. Impact of donor- and collection-related variables on product quality in ex utero cord blood banking. Transfusion 2005;45(2):189–94.
- [22] George TJ, Sugrue MW, George SN, Wingard JR. Factors associated with parameters of engraftment potential of umbilical cord blood. Transfusion 2006;46(10):1803–12.

- [23] Ballen KK, Wilson M, Wuu J, et al. Bigger is better: maternal and neonatal predictors of hematopoietic potential of umbilical cord blood units. Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;27(1):7–14.
- [24] Page KM, Mendizabal A, Betz-Stablein B, et al. Optimizing donor selection for public cord blood banking: influence of maternal, infant, and collection characteristics on cord blood unit quality. Transfusion 2013;54.
- [25] Jan RH, Wen SH, Shyr MH, Chiang BL. Impact of maternal and neonatal factors on CD34+ cell count, total nucleated cells, and volume of cord blood. Pediatr Transplant 2008;12(8):868–73.
- [26] Solves P, Perales A, Fillol M, Bonilla-Musoles F, Mirabet V. Cord blood quality after vaginal and cesarean deliveries. Transfusion 2012;52(9): 2064–6.
- [27] Bornstein R, Flores AI, Montalban MA, del Rey MJ, de la Serna J, Gilsanz F. A modified cord blood collection method achieves sufficient cell levels for transplantation in most adult patients. Stem Cells 2005;23.
- [28] Tan KK, Tang KZ, Huang S, et al. Ex utero harvest of hematopoietic stem cells from placenta/umbilical cord with an automated collection system. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2009;56(9):2331–4.
- [29] Committee Opinion No.543: timing of umbilical cord clamping after birth. Obstet Gynecol 2012;120.
- [30] McDonald SJ, Middleton P, Dowswell T, Morris PS. Effect of timing of umbilical cord clamping of term infants on maternal and neonatal outcomes. Evid Based Child Health 2014;9(2):303–97.
- [31] Allan DS, Scrivens N, Lawless T, et al. Delayed clamping of the umbilical cord after delivery and implications for public cord blood banking. Transfusion 2016;56(3):662–5.
- [32] Solves P, Mirabet V, Larrea L, et al. Comparison between two cord blood collection strategies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2003;82(5):439-42.
- [33] Hooper SB, Binder-Heschl C, Polglase GR, et al. The timing of umbilical cord clamping at birth: physiological considerations. Matern Health Neonatol Perinatol 2016;2:4.
- [34] Pereira-Cunha FG, Duarte ASS, Costa FF, Saad STO, Lorand-Metze I, Luzo ACM. Viability of umbilical cord blood mononuclear cell subsets until 96 hours after collection. Transfusion 2013;53(9):2034–42.
- [35] Louis I, Wagner E, Dieng MM, Morin H, Champagne MA, Haddad E. Impact of storage temperature and processing delays on cord blood quality: discrepancy between functional in vitro and in vivo assays. Transfusion 2012;52(11):2401–5.
- [36] Solomon M, Wofford J, Johnson C, Regan D, Creer MH. Factors influencing cord blood viability assessment before cryopreservation. Transfusion 2010;50(4):820–30.
- [37] Guttridge MG, Soh TG, Belfield H, Sidders C, Watt SM. Storage time affects umbilical cord blood viability. Transfusion 2014;54(5):1278-85.
- [38] Wu S, Xie G, Wu J, et al. Influence of maternal, infant, and collection characteristics on high-quality cord blood units in Guangzhou Cord Blood Bank. Transfusion 2015;55(9):2158–67.
- [39] Dulugiac M, Horeanga I, Torcatoru A, Bardas A, Matei G, Zarnescu O. Factors which can influence the quality related to cell viability of the umbilical cord blood units. Transfus Apher Sci 2014;51(3):90–8.
- [40] Rubinstein P, Dobrila L, Rosenfield RE, et al. Processing and cryopreservation of placental/umbilical cord blood for unrelated bone marrow reconstitution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92(22):10119–22.
- [41] Fry LJ, Giner SQ, Gomez SG, et al. Avoiding room temperature storage and delayed cryopreservation provide better postthaw potency in hematopoietic progenitor cell grafts. Transfusion 2013;53(8):1834–42.
- [42] Lecchi L, Giovanelli S, Gagliardi B, Pezzali I, Ratti I, Marconi M. An update on methods for cryopreservation and thawing of hemopoietic stem cells. Transfus Apher Sci 2016;54(3):324–36.
- [43] Wagner JE, Barker JN, DeFor TE, et al. Transplantation of unrelated donor umbilical cord blood in 102 patients with malignant and nonmalignant diseases: influence of CD34 cell dose and HLA disparity on treatment-related mortality and survival. Blood 2002;100(5):1611–8.
- [44] Lemarie C, Esterni B, Calmels B, et al. CD34+ progenitors are reproducibly recovered in thawed umbilical grafts, and positively influence haematopoietic reconstitution after transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2007;39(8):453–60.
- [45] Dzik W, Sniecinski I, Fischer J. Toward standardization of CD34+ cell enumeration: an international study. Transfusion 1999;39(8):856-63.
- [46] Moroff G, Eichler H, Brand A, et al. Multiple-laboratory comparison of in vitro assays utilized to characterize hematopoietic cells in cord blood. Transfusion 2006;46(4):507–15.
- [47] Wagner E, Duval M, Dalle JH, et al. Assessment of cord blood unit characteristics on the day of transplant: comparison with data issued by cord blood banks. Transfusion 2006;46(7):1190–8.
- [48] Sutherland DR, Anderson L, Keeney M, Nayar R, Chin-Yee I. The ISHAGE guidelines for CD34+ cell determination by flow cytometry. International Society of Hematotherapy and Graft Engineering. J Hematother 1996;5(3):213–26.
- [49] Brocklebank AM, Sparrow RL. Enumeration of CD34+ cells in cord blood: a variation on a single-platform flow cytometric method based on the ISHAGE gating strategy. Cytometry 2001;46(4):254–61.
- [50] Sutherland DR, Nayyar R, Acton E, Giftakis A, Dean S, Mosiman VL. Comparison of two single-platform ISHAGE-based CD34 enumeration protocols on BD FACSCalibur and FACSCanto flow cytometers. Cytotherapy 2009;11(5):595–605.
- [51] Dauber K, Becker D, Odendahl M, Seifried E, Bonig H, Tonn T. Enumeration of viable CD34+ cells by flow cytometry in blood, bone marrow and cord blood: results of a study of the novel BD<sup>™</sup> stem cell enumeration kit. Cytotherapy 2011;13(4):449–58.
- [52] Preti RA, Chan WS, Kurtzberg J, et al. Multi-site evaluation of the BD Stem Cell Enumeration Kit for CD34+ cell enumeration on the BD FACSCanto II and BD FACSCalibur flow cytometers. Cytotherapy 2014;16(11):1558–74.
- [53] Massin F, Huili C, Decot V, Stoltz JF, Bensoussan D, Latger-Cannard V. Validation of a single-platform method for hematopoietic CD34+ stem cells enumeration according to accreditation procedure. Bio Med Mater Eng 2015;25(1 Suppl.):27–39.
- [54] Migliaccio AR, Adamson JW, Stevens CE, Dobrila NL, Carrier CM, Rubinstein P. Cell dose and speed of engraftment in placental/umbilical cord blood transplantation: graft progenitor cell content is a better predictor than nucleated cell quantity. Blood 2000;96(8):2717–22.
- [55] Wall DA, Carter SL, Kernan NA, et al. Busulfan/melphalan/antithymocyte globulin followed by unrelated donor cord blood transplantation for treatment of infant leukemia and leukemia in young children: the Cord Blood Transplantation study (COBLT) experience. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2005;11(8):637–46.
- [56] Prasad VK, Mendizabal A, Parikh SH, et al. Unrelated donor umbilical cord blood transplantation for inherited metabolic disorders in 159 pediatric patients from a single center: influence of cellular composition of the graft on transplantation outcomes. Blood 2008;112(7): 2979–89.

#### 10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

- [57] Page KM, Zhang L, Mendizabal A, et al. Total colony-forming units are a strong, independent predictor of neutrophil and platelet engraftment after unrelated umbilical cord blood transplantation: a single-center analysis of 435 cord blood transplants. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2011;17(9):1362–74.
- [58] Castillo N, Garcia-Cadenas I, Barba P, et al. Post-thaw viable CD45+ cells and clonogenic efficiency are associated with better engraftment and outcomes after single cord blood transplantation in adult patients with malignant diseases. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015;21(12):2167–72.
- [59] Pamphilon D, Selogie E, McKenna D, et al. Current practices and prospects for standardization of the hematopoietic colony-forming unit assay: a report by the cellular therapy team of the Biomedical Excellence for Safer Transfusion (BEST) Collaborative. Cytotherapy 2013; 15(3):255–62.
- [60] Brand A, Eichler H, Szczepiorkowski ZM, et al. Viability does not necessarily reflect the hematopoietic progenitor cell potency of a cord blood unit: results of an interlaboratory exercise. Transfusion 2008;48(3):546–9.
- [61] Goodwin HS, Grunzinger LM, Regan DM, et al. Long term cryostorage of UC blood units: ability of the integral segment to confirm both identity and hematopoietic potential. Cytotherapy 2003;5(1):80–6.
- [62] Balber AE. Concise review: aldehyde dehydrogenase bright stem and progenitor cell populations from normal tissues: characteristics, activities, and emerging uses in regenerative medicine. Stem Cells 2011;29(4):570-5.
- [63] Lee HR, Shin S, Yoon JH, Roh EY, Kim BJ, Song EY. Aldehyde dehydrogenase-bright cells correlated with the colony-forming unitgranulocyte-macrophage assay of thawed cord blood units. Transfusion 2014;54(7):1871–5.
- [64] Frandberg S, Borestrom C, Li S, Fogelstrand L, Palmqvist L. Exploring the heterogeneity of the hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell pool in cord blood: simultaneous staining for side population, aldehyde dehydrogenase activity, and CD34 expression. Transfusion 2015;55(6): 1283–9.
- [65] Gentry T, Deibert E, Foster SJ, Haley R, Kurtzberg J, Balber AE. Isolation of early hematopoietic cells, including megakaryocyte progenitors, in the ALDH-bright cell population of cryopreserved, banked UC blood. Cytotherapy 2007;9(6):569–76.
- [66] Fallon P, Gentry T, Balber AE, et al. Mobilized peripheral blood SSCloALDHbr cells have the phenotypic and functional properties of primitive haematopoietic cells and their number correlates with engraftment following autologous transplantation. Br J Haematol 2003;122(1): 99–108.
- [67] Page KM, Betz-Stablein B, Mendizabal AM, et al. Relationships among commonly used measures of cord blood potency, ALDHbr cell content, and colony forming cell content in cord blood units prior to cryopreservation: towards an improved metric for potency of banked cord blood. Blood 2011;118(21):4054.
- [68] Shoulars KW, Noldner P, Troy JD, et al. Development and validation of a rapid, aldehyde dehydrogenase bright-based, cord blood potency assay. Blood 2016;127.
- [69] Khuu Hanh M, Patel N, Carter Charles S, Murray Patrick R, Read Elizabeth J. Sterility testing of cell therapy products: parallel comparison of automated methods with a CFR-compliant method. Transfusion 2006;46(12):2071–82.
- [70] Akel S, Lorenz J, Regan D. Sterility testing of minimally manipulated cord blood products: validation of growth-based automated culture systems. Transfusion 2013;53(12):3251-61.
- [71] Clark P, Trickett A, Stark D, Vowels M. Factors affecting microbial contamination rate of cord blood collected for transplantation. Transfusion 2012;52(8):1770-7.
- [72] Gutman JA, Miller S, Kuenne S, et al. Cord blood collection after cesarean section improves banking efficiency. Transfusion 2011;51(9): 2050–1.
- [73] Milano F, Gooley T, Wood B, et al. Cord-blood transplantation in patients with minimal residual disease. N Engl J Med 2016;375(10):944-53.
- [74] Gluckman E, Rocha V, Ionescu I, et al. Results of unrelated cord blood transplant in Fanconi anemia patients: risk factor analysis for engraftment and survival. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2007;13(9):1073–82.
- [75] Bizzetto R, Bonfim C, Rocha V, et al. Outcomes after related and unrelated umbilical cord blood transplantation for hereditary bone marrow failure syndromes other than Fanconi anemia. Haematologica 2011;96(1):134–41.
- [76] Pai SY, Logan BR, Griffith LM, et al. Transplantation outcomes for severe combined immunodeficiency, 2000-2009. N Engl J Med 2014;371(5): 434-46.
- [77] Dvorak CC, Hassan A, Slatter MA, et al. Comparison of outcomes of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation without chemotherapy conditioning by using matched sibling and unrelated donors for treatment of severe combined immunodeficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014; 134(4):935–943.e915.
- [78] Gluckman E, Ruggeri A, Rocha V, et al. Family-directed umbilical cord blood banking. Haematologica 2011;96(11):1700-7.
- [79] Locatelli F, Kabbara N, Ruggeri A, et al. Outcome of patients with hemoglobinopathies given either cord blood or bone marrow transplantation from an HLA-identical sibling. Blood 2013;122(6):1072–8.
- [80] Bhattacharya A, Slatter MA, Chapman CE, et al. Single centre experience of umbilical cord stem cell transplantation for primary immunodeficiency. Bone Marrow Transplant 2005;36(4):295–9.
- [81] Rocha V, Wagner JE, Sobocinski KA, et al. Graft-versus-host disease in children who have received a cord-blood or bone marrow transplant from an HLA-identical sibling. N Engl J Med 2000;342(25):1846–54.
- [82] Soncini E, Slatter MA, Jones LB, et al. Unrelated donor and HLA-identical sibling haematopoietic stem cell transplantation cure chronic granulomatous disease with good long-term outcome and growth. Br J Haematol 2009;145(1):73–83.
- [83] Pagliuca S, Peffault de Latour R, Volt F, et al. Long-term outcomes of cord blood transplantation from an HLA-identical sibling for patients with bone marrow failure disorders: a report from Eurocord, Cord Blood Committee and Severe Aplastic Anemia Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2017;23.
- [84] Allewelt H, Martin PL, Szabolcs P, Chao N, Buckley R, Parikh S. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for CD40 ligand deficiency: single institution experience. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2015;62(12):2216–22.
- [85] Diaz de Heredia C, Ortega JJ, Diaz MA, et al. Unrelated cord blood transplantation for severe combined immunodeficiency and other primary immunodeficiencies. Bone Marrow Transplant 2008;41(7):627–33.
- [86] Tewari P, Martin PL, Mendizabal A, et al. Myeloablative transplantation using either cord blood or bone marrow leads to immune recovery, high long-term donor chimerism and excellent survival in chronic granulomatous disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2012;18(9): 1368–77.

## 164

- [87] Shekhovtsova Z, Bonfim C, Ruggeri A, et al. A risk factor analysis of outcomes after unrelated cord blood transplantation for children with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Haematologica 2017;102(6):1112–9.
- [88] Chang TY, Jaing TH, Lee WI, Chen SH, Yang CP, Hung IJ. Single-institution experience of unrelated cord blood transplantation for primary immunodeficiency. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2015;37(3):e191–193.
- [89] Park M, Lee YH, Kang HR, et al. Unrelated donor cord blood transplantation for non-malignant disorders in children and adolescents. Pediatr Transplant 2014;18(2):221-9.
- [90] Lane JP, Evans PT, Nademi Z, et al. Low-dose serotherapy improves early immune reconstitution after cord blood transplantation for primary immunodeficiencies. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2014;20(2):243–9.
- [91] Faraci M, Giardino S, Bagnasco F, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in congenital disorders: a single-center experience. Pediatr Transplant 2017;21(6).
- [92] Morio T, Atsuta Y, Tomizawa D, et al. Outcome of unrelated umbilical cord blood transplantation in 88 patients with primary immunodeficiency in Japan. Br J Haematol 2011;154(3):363-72.
- [93] MacMillan ML, DeFor TE, Young J-AH, et al. Alternative donor hematopoietic cell transplantation for Fanconi anemia. Blood 2015;125(24): 3798-804.
- [94] Chiesa R, Ruggeri A, Paviglianiti A, et al. Outcomes after unrelated umbilical cord blood transplantation for children with osteopetrosis. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2016;22(11):1997–2002.
- [95] Mahadeo KM, Parikh SH, Driscoll TA, et al. Durable engraftment and correction of genetic defect in children with congenital amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia following myeloablative umbilical cord blood transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2011; 17(2):S256.
- [96] McFarren A, Page K, Parikh SH, et al. Unrelated umbilical cord blood transplant for Diamond-Blackfan anemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2014;20(2):S177.
- [97] Peffault de Latour R, Purtill D, Ruggeri A, et al. Influence of nucleated cell dose on overall survival of unrelated cord blood transplantation for patients with severe acquired aplastic anemia: a study by Eurocord and the Aplastic Anemia Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2011;17(1):78–85.
- [98] Locatelli F, Rocha V, Reed W, et al. Related umbilical cord blood transplantation in patients with thalassemia and sickle cell disease. Blood 2003;101(6):2137–43.
- [99] Adamkiewicz TV, Szabolcs P, Haight A, et al. Unrelated cord blood transplantation in children with sickle cell disease: review of four-center experience. Pediatr Transplant 2007;11(6):641–4.
- [100] Ruggeri A, Eapen M, Scaravadou A, et al. Umbilical cord blood transplantation for children with thalassemia and sickle cell disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2011;17(9):1375–82.
- [101] Delaney C, Heimfeld S, Brashem-Stein C, Voorhies H, Manger RL, Bernstein ID. Notch-mediated expansion of human cord blood progenitor cells capable of rapid myeloid reconstitution. Nat Med 2010;16(2):232–6.
- [102] Horwitz ME, Chao NJ, Rizzieri DA, et al. Umbilical cord blood expansion with nicotinamide provides long-term multilineage engraftment. J Clin Invest 2014;124(7):3121-8.
- [103] Popat U, Mehta RS, Rezvani K, et al. Enforced fucosylation of cord blood hematopoietic cells accelerates neutrophil and platelet engraftment after transplantation. Blood 2015;125(19):2885–92.
- [104] de Lima M, McNiece I, Robinson SN, et al. Cord-blood engraftment with ex vivo mesenchymal-cell coculture. N Engl J Med 2012;367(24): 2305–15.
- [105] Wagner Jr JE, Brunstein CG, Boitano AE, et al. Phase I/II trial of StemRegenin-1 expanded umbilical cord blood hematopoietic stem cells supports testing as a stand-alone graft. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18(1):144–55.
- [106] Fares I, Chagraoui J, Gareau Y, et al. Cord blood expansion. Pyrimidoindole derivatives are agonists of human hematopoietic stem cell selfrenewal. Science 2014;345(6203):1509–12.
- [107] Parikh S, Brochstein J, Martin PL, et al. Successful engraftment of umbilical cord blood (UCB) cells after co-transplantation of Nicord<sup>®</sup> (ex vivo expanded UCB progenitor cells with nicotinamide) and an unmanipulated UCB unit after myeloablative chemotherapy in severe sickle cell disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2017;23(3):S175–6.
- [108] Fratantoni JC, Hall CW, Neufeld EF. Hurler and Hunter syndromes: mutual correction of the defect in cultured fibroblasts. Science 1968; 162(3853):570-2.
- [109] Shull RM, Kakkis ED, McEntee MF, Kania SA, Jonas AJ, Neufeld EF. Enzyme replacement in a canine model of Hurler syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91(26):12937–41.
- [110] Tokic V, Barisic I, Huzjak N, Petkovic G, Fumic K, Paschke E. Enzyme replacement therapy in two patients with an advanced severe (Hurler) phenotype of mucopolysaccharidosis I. Eur J Pediatr 2007;166(7):727–32.
- [111] Dickson PI, Kaitila I, Harmatz P, et al. Safety of laronidase delivered into the spinal canal for treatment of cervical stenosis in mucopolysaccharidosis I. Mol Genet Metab 2015;116(1-2):69-74.
- [112] Biffi A, Montini E, Lorioli L, et al. Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy benefits metachromatic leukodystrophy. Science 2013; 341(6148):1233158.
- [113] Krivit W, Peters C, Shapiro EG. Bone marrow transplantation as effective treatment of central nervous system disease in globoid cell leukodystrophy, metachromatic leukodystrophy, adrenoleukodystrophy, mannosidosis, fucosidosis, aspartylglucosaminuria, Hurler, Maroteaux-Lamy, and Sly syndromes, and Gaucher disease type III. Curr Opin Neurol 1999;12(2):167–76.
- [114] Di Ferrante N, Nichols BL, Donnelly PV, Neri G, Hrgovcic R, Berglund RK. Induced degradation of glycosaminoglycans in Hurler's and Hunter's syndromes by plasma infusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1971;68(2):303–7.
- [115] Knudson Jr AG, Di Ferrante N, Curtis JE. Effect of leukocyte transfusion in a child with type II mucopolysaccharidosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1971;68(8):1738–41.
- [116] Krivit W, Sung JH, Shapiro EG, Lockman LA. Microglia: the effector cell for reconstitution of the central nervous system following bone marrow transplantation for lysosomal and peroxisomal storage diseases. Cell Transplant 1995;4(4):385–92.
- [117] Unger ER, Sung JH, Manivel JC, Chenggis ML, Blazar BR, Krivit W. Male donor-derived cells in the brains of female sex-mismatched bone marrow transplant recipients: a Y-chromosome specific in situ hybridization study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1993;52(5):460–70.

#### 10. CORD BLOOD STEM CELLS

- [118] Neufeld EF, Muenzer J. The mucopolysaccharidoses. In: The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease. 8 ed.. Scriver CR, Beaudet A, Sly W, Valle D, editorsvol. III. McGraw-Hill; 2001. p. 3421–52.
- [119] Hobbs JR, Hugh-Jones K, Barrett AJ, et al. Reversal of clinical features of Hurler's disease and biochemical improvement after treatment by bone-marrow transplantation. Lancet 1981;2(8249):709–12.
- [120] Staba SL, Escolar ML, Poe M, et al. Cord-blood transplants from unrelated donors in patients with Hurler's syndrome. N Engl J Med 2004; 350(19):1960–9.
- [121] Peters C, Shapiro EG, Anderson J, et al. Hurler syndrome: II. Outcome of HLA-genotypically identical sibling and HLA-haploidentical related donor bone marrow transplantation in fifty-four children. The Storage Disease Collaborative Study Group. Blood 1998;91(7):2601–8.
- [122] Souillet G, Guffon N, Maire I, et al. Outcome of 27 patients with Hurler's syndrome transplanted from either related or unrelated haematopoietic stem cell sources. Bone Marrow Transplant 2003;31(12):1105–17.
- [123] Bjoraker KJ, Delaney K, Peters C, Krivit W, Shapiro EG. Long-term outcomes of adaptive functions for children with mucopolysaccharidosis I (Hurler syndrome) treated with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2006;27(4):290–6.
- [124] Boelens JJ, Wynn RF, O'Meara A, et al. Outcomes of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for Hurler's syndrome in Europe: a risk factor analysis for graft failure. Bone Marrow Transplant 2007;40(3):225–33.
- [125] Aldenhoven M, Boelens JJ, de Koning TJ. The clinical outcome of Hurler syndrome after stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2008;14(5):485–98.
- [126] Aldenhoven M, Wynn RF, Orchard PJ, et al. Long-term outcome of Hurler syndrome patients after hematopoietic cell transplantation: an international multicenter study. Blood 2015;125(13):2164–72.
- [127] Aldenhoven M, Jones SA, Bonney D, et al. Hematopoietic cell transplantation for mucopolysaccharidosis patients is safe and effective: results after implementation of international guidelines. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015;21(6):1106–9.
- [128] Boelens JJ, Aldenhoven M, Purtill D, et al. Outcomes of transplantation using various hematopoietic cell sources in children with Hurler syndrome after myeloablative conditioning. Blood 2013;121(19):3981-7.
- [129] Boelens JJ, Rocha V, Aldenhoven M, et al. Risk factor analysis of outcomes after unrelated cord blood transplantation in patients with hurler syndrome. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2009;15(5):618–25.
- [130] Church H, Tylee K, Cooper A, et al. Biochemical monitoring after haemopoietic stem cell transplant for Hurler syndrome (MPSIH): implications for functional outcome after transplant in metabolic disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 2007;39(4):207–10.
- [131] Martin PL, Carter SL, Kernan NA, et al. Results of the cord blood transplantation study (COBLT): outcomes of unrelated donor umbilical cord blood transplantation in pediatric patients with lysosomal and peroxisomal storage diseases. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2006;12(2): 184–94.
- [132] Escolar ML, Poe MD, Provenzale JM, et al. Transplantation of umbilical-cord blood in babies with infantile Krabbe's disease. N Engl J Med 2005;352(20):2069–81.
- [133] Miller WP, Rothman SM, Nascene D, et al. Outcomes after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for childhood cerebral adrenoleukodystrophy: the largest single-institution cohort report. Blood 2011;118(7):1971–8.
- [134] Beam D, Poe MD, Provenzale JM, et al. Outcomes of unrelated umbilical cord blood transplantation for X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2007;13(6):665–74.
- [135] Boucher AA, Miller W, Shanley R, et al. Long-term outcomes after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for metachromatic leukodystrophy: the largest single-institution cohort report. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2015;10:94.
- [136] Martin HR, Poe MD, Provenzale JM, Kurtzberg J, Mendizabal A, Escolar ML. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of umbilical cord blood transplantation in metachromatic leukodystrophy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2013;19(4):616–24.
- [137] Musolino PL, Lund TC, Pan J, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the leukodystrophies: a systematic review of the literature. Neuropediatrics 2014;45(3):169–74.
- [138] Allewelt HB, Page K, Taskindoust M, et al. Long-term functional outcomes following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for Krabbe disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2016;22(3):S102-3.
- [139] Tracy E, Aldrink J, Panosian J, et al. Isolation of oligodendrocyte-like cells from human umbilical cord blood. Cytotherapy 2008;10(5):518-25.
- [140] Tracy ET, Zhang CY, Gentry T, Shoulars KW, Kurtzberg J. Isolation and expansion of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells from cryopreserved human umbilical cord blood. Cytotherapy 2011;13(6):722–9.
- [141] Kurtzberg J, Buntz S, Gentry T, et al. Preclinical characterization of DUOC-01, a cell therapy product derived from banked umbilical cord blood for use as an adjuvant to umbilical cord blood transplantation for treatment of inherited metabolic diseases. Cytotherapy 2015;17(6): 803–15.
- [142] Koc ON, Day J, Nieder M, Gerson SL, Lazarus HM, Krivit W. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell infusion for treatment of metachromatic leukodystrophy (MLD) and Hurler syndrome (MPS-IH). Bone Marrow Transplant 2002;30(4):215–22.
- [143] Li Y, Sands MS. Experimental therapies in the murine model of globoid cell leukodystrophy. Pediatr Neurol 2014;51(5):600-6.
- [144] Vendrame M, Cassady J, Newcomb J, et al. Infusion of human umbilical cord blood cells in a rat model of stroke dose-dependently rescues behavioral deficits and reduces infarct volume. Stroke 2004;35(10):2390–5.
- [145] Taguchi A, Soma T, Tanaka H, et al. Administration of CD34+ cells after stroke enhances neurogenesis via angiogenesis in a mouse model. J Clin Invest 2004;114(3):330–8.
- [146] Chen J, Sanberg PR, Li Y, et al. Intravenous administration of human umbilical cord blood reduces behavioral deficits after stroke in rats. Stroke 2001;32(11):2682-8.
- [147] Meier C, Middelanis J, Wasielewski B, et al. Spastic paresis after perinatal brain damage in rats is reduced by human cord blood mononuclear cells. Pediatr Res 2006;59(2):244–9.
- [148] Nan Z, Grande A, Sanberg CD, Sanberg PR, Low WC. Infusion of human umbilical cord blood ameliorates neurologic deficits in rats with hemorrhagic brain injury. Ann NY Acad Sci 2005;1049:84–96.
- [149] Lu D, Sanberg PR, Mahmood A, et al. Intravenous administration of human umbilical cord blood reduces neurological deficit in the rat after traumatic brain injury. Cell Transplant 2002;11(3):275–81.
- [150] Zhao ZM, Li HJ, Liu HY, et al. Intraspinal transplantation of CD34+ human umbilical cord blood cells after spinal cord hemisection injury improves functional recovery in adult rats. Cell Transplant 2004;13(2):113–22.

#### REFERENCES

- [151] Nishio Y, Koda M, Kamada T, et al. The use of hemopoietic stem cells derived from human umbilical cord blood to promote restoration of spinal cord tissue and recovery of hindlimb function in adult rats. J Neurosurg Spine 2006;5(5):424–33.
- [152] Cotten CM, Murtha AP, Goldberg RN, et al. Feasibility of autologous cord blood cells for infants with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. J Pediatr 2014;164(5):973–979.e971.
- [153] Romanov YA, Tarakanov OP, Radaev SM, et al. Human allogeneic AB0/Rh-identical umbilical cord blood cells in the treatment of juvenile patients with cerebral palsy. Cytotherapy 2015;17.
- [154] Min K, Song J, Kang JY, et al. Umbilical cord blood therapy potentiated with erythropoietin for children with cerebral palsy: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Stem Cells 2013;31(3):581–91.
- [155] Sun J, Mikati M, Troy JD, et al. Adequately dosed autologous cord blood infusion is associated with motor improvement in children with cerebral palsy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 22(3):S61–2. (SCTM, October 2017).
- [156] Prasad K, Sharma A, Garg A, et al. Intravenous autologous bone marrow mononuclear stem cell therapy for ischemic stroke: a multicentric, randomized trial. Stroke 2014;45(12):3618–24.
- [157] Hess DC, Sila CA, Furlan AJ, Wechsler LR, Switzer JA, Mays RW. A double-blind placebo-controlled clinical evaluation of MultiStem for the treatment of ischemic stroke. Int J Stroke 2014;9(3):381–6.
- [158] King BH, Navot N, Bernier R, Webb SJ. Update on diagnostic classification in autism. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2014;27(2):105-9.
- [159] Takano T. Role of microglia in autism: recent advances. Dev Neurosci 2015;37(3):195–202.
- [160] Zantomio D, Chana G, Laskaris L, et al. Convergent evidence for mGluR5 in synaptic and neuroinflammatory pathways implicated in ASD. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2015;52:172–7.
- [161] Goines PE, Ashwood P. Cytokine dysregulation in autism spectrum disorders (ASD): possible role of the environment. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2013;36:67–81.
- [162] Dawson G, Sun JM, Davlantis KS, et al. Autologous cord blood infusions are safe and feasible in young children with autism spectrum disorder: results of a single-center phase I open-label trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 2017;6(5):1332–9.

This page intentionally left blank

## Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Andres M. Bratt-Leal<sup>1,2</sup>, Ai Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Yanling Wang<sup>1,2</sup>, Jeanne F. Loring<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Scripps Research Institute, San Diego, CA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Summit for Stem Cell Foundation,

San Diego, CA, United States

## INTRODUCTION

The capacity for unlimited self-renewal and the potential to differentiate into any cell in the body made embryonic stem cells (ESCs) a valuable research tool. However, before the mid-2000s, mouse ESCs, which were first derived in 1981, were more commonly used in research laboratories owing in part to the relative ease with which they could be maintained and expanded compared with the techniques used at the time to culture humans ESCs (hESCs). In 2003, the National Institutes of Health jump-started the field by sponsoring seven hESC laboratory courses across the United States, which trained a cohort that went on to use the technology in their own laboratories. Technological advances in the culture of hESCs such as single-cell passaging [1] and feeder-free media and substrata allowed for more laboratories to culture hESCs successfully. However, there has been no advance more important than the process of reprogramming adult somatic cells into induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). That discovery fundamentally changed the stem cell field.

The production of iPSCs was first reported by Kazutoshi Takahashi and Shinya Yamanaka using adult mouse fibroblasts in 2006 and was immediately hailed as a ground-breaking discovery [2]. The introduction of four transcription factors, *Oct3/4* (*Pou5f1*), *Sox2*, *Klf4*, and *c-Myc* (*Myc*), was sufficient to transform adult fibroblasts into pluripotent stem cells. In 2007, Yamanaka repeated the process using human fibroblasts [3]. The process of reprogramming adult cells into cells functionally equivalent to hESCs has provided an unparalleled tool to study human development and generate cells for regenerative medicine applications. Yamanaka's discovery altered the dogma underlying our knowledge of cell biology and created new fields of study. In 2012, Shinya Yamanaka was awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine, along with John Gurdon, for the discovery that mature cells could be reprogrammed into cells capable of developing into all cells of the body. Gurdon is credited as the first to demonstrate that a cell nucleus could be reprogrammed to a pluripotent state through the process of somatic cell nuclear transfer [4,5].

## MECHANISMS OF REPROGRAMMING

Since the first iPSCs study was published, scientists have gained a much better understanding of what was once mostly a black box process, in which the Yamanaka transcription factors were expressed as transgenes in cells and sometime later pluripotent colonies would emerge. Since the advent of iPSC technology, the molecular events underlying reprogramming have intrigued researchers. We now know that the reprogramming process is a positive feedback loop by which core transcription factors regulate the expression of a network of pluripotency-associated genes [6,7]. Early models postulated that reprogramming is a stochastic process in which most transgenic cells can initiate reprogramming but only a few achieve pluripotency [8]. Success in reprogramming may happen only stochastically when the required amount and balance of transgenic expression are achieved in a small subset of cells [9]. Subsequent studies using single-cell approaches at defined time points demonstrated that after the initiation of transgene expression, there is a hierarchical phase with *SOX2* as the upstream factor in the gene expression

hierarchy, meaning that endogenous *SOX2* expression was required before endogenous expression of other key pluripotency-associated genes [10]. Reprogramming itself has been used as a tool to explore the role of various factors systematically in the maintenance of pluripotency. For example, redundancies in the pluripotency network have been identified, such as replacing *SOX2* in the reprogramming process by the closely related *SOX1* and *SOX3* [11]. Krüppel-like factor 2 (*KLF2*) or *KLF5* can be used as substitutes for *KLF4* [12].

## EPIGENETIC REMODELING

For reprogramming to occur, major epigenetic barriers must be overcome. Epigenetics refers to modifications of the genome that can affect the ability for genes to be expressed. The addition of a methyl (CH<sub>3</sub>) group to the five prime carbon of the cytosine ring is a well-characterized example that typically results in transcriptional inhibition. Throughout the process of differentiation, the methylation pattern in the genome changes and stabilizes different cell states. As such, the methylation state of an adult somatic cell must be remodeled during the reprogramming process to unlock access to the pluripotency-associated gene network. Many of these genes are hypermethylated in donor cell types but are hypomethylated in iPSCs [13]. The reprogramming factors do not affect DNA demethylation directly, so modifications of DNA methylation are likely a secondary effect of transcription factor induction. Achieving pluripotency also requires considerable histone remodeling [14].

Some studies have raised concerns that reprogrammed cells retain an "epigenetic memory" of the somatic tissue from which they were originally derived [15,16]. However, studies have indicated that epigenetic differences account for only a small fraction of the variability among iPSCs and ESCs [13,17]. In addition, like the lead character in the movie *Memento* (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Memento\_(film)), the epigenetic memories of iPSCs are short-term and easily lost; it has been shown that time in culture reduces the epigenetic differences among iPSCs [16,18]. This suggests that the global epigenetic patterns of iPSCs stabilize over time, although there are enduring hot spots of variation, such as at imprinted regions [13,19]. Detailed analysis of global gene expression and DNA methylation patterns reveals that variability among ESCs and iPSCs occurs largely because of variations among individual cell lines rather than differences among classes of pluripotent stem cells [13,17,20–22].

## **REPROGRAMMING TECHNIQUES**

The reprogramming process initially was developed using retroviral transduction. Starting from a candidate pool of 24 factors considered to have important roles in pluripotency, Yamanaka reported that the combination of *Pou5f1*, *Klf4*, *Sox2*, and *Myc* was sufficient to produce iPSC colonies from adult mouse fibroblasts. Because the first iPSC lines were created with retroviral vectors that integrated within the host genome, there was concern that uncontrolled integration could disrupt tumor suppressor genes or activate oncogenes through the process of insertional mutagenesis. Of additional concern was that one of the Yamanaka factors, Myc, is an oncogene itself and that reactivation of the transgenes could result in tumor formation. Indeed, 20% of the offspring of chimeric mice derived from iPSCs that were created using retrovirus-developed tumors [23].

Because of the potential tumorigenicity of cells reprogrammed with integrating vectors, there is general consensus that the use of reprogramming methods that integrate transcription factors into the host genome is ill-advised if the cells are planned for clinical use. However, tools available to reprogram cells have rapidly evolved, and now a variety of nonintegrating alternatives exist and are widely practiced [24]. Integration-free methods rely on the fact that transcription factors used to reprogram the cells are necessary only during the early stages of reprogramming, after which awakening of the endogenous pluripotent machinery is sufficient to sustain the pluripotent state. The Sendai virus is a commonly used, nonintegrating method of reprogramming (see Fig. 11.1) [25]. The RNA virus does not translocate to the nucleus and is diluted with each cell division. In addition, episomal vectors can be used to deliver the Yamanaka factors; however, it has been demonstrated that episomal vectors can sometimes integrate into the host genome, so iPSC clones must be subjected to genomic analysis [24]. Another popular method for reprogramming is the introduction of synthetic messenger RNAs (mRNAs) [26]. The challenge with mRNA reprogramming is the need to repeat applications [27].

The efficiency of the first human reprogramming experiments was less than 0.01%, but reprogramming efficiencies of greater than 1% are common. Generally, the methods only need to be efficient enough to produce a few clones of iPSCs; because reprogramming is usually reproducible and much of the effort involved in



FIGURE 11.1 Reprogramming human dermal fibroblasts using Sendai virus to deliver the four transcription factors. A biopsy of dermal tissue (A) is obtained from the patient. The biopsy is then processed and dermal fibroblasts are isolated and cultured (B). After introduction of the Yamanaka factors, the morphology of the fibroblasts changes (C) as the cells undergo the reprogramming process. Finally, after a period of several weeks, colonies emerge (D) that express pluripotency markers, as shown by immunocytochemistry (E, F). Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$  in (B, C) and  $100 \mu m$  in (D–F).

reprogramming is in confirming pluripotency and characterization of the iPSCs, analysis of more than a small number of clones is not cost-effective. iPSCs are typically clonally derived, which means that single colonies of reprogrammed cells are picked and subcultured separately from other colonies. Clonal derivation preserves the genetic homogeneity of the iPSC line, a factor that is important in studying genetic disorders that are not present uniformly in the organism's cells. It has been argued that for high-throughput reprogramming, it is necessary to skip the clone-picking step and combine multiple clones [28]. This approach may be appropriate for normal cell lines, although starting populations such as fibroblasts and blood cells are mosaic [29]. Mixture of clones will lead to fluctuations in the subsequent cultures as they proliferate, because some iPSC clones divide slightly faster or are more resistant to stress than others. Many genetic diseases are also mosaic, so a single blood sample or a culture of fibroblasts will yield both normal and mutant iPSC clones. If clones are combined, they would need to be later subcloned and characterized.

## INDUCED TRANSDIFFERENTIATION

The same principle of transcription factor—based reprogramming has been applied to direct transformation of one cell type to another. The process of transdifferentiation, also known as lineage reprogramming or direct lineage conversion, can bypass the pluripotent state when converting one cell type to another. Fibroblasts can be transdifferentiated into terminally differentiated cell types such as neurons [30] or cardiomyocytes [31] without using iPSCs. This approach is potentially useful for obtaining mature cell types for which there is currently no robust differentiation scheme. In addition, transdifferentiation is relatively fast compared with iPSC differentiation, which makes it more feasible to screen many individuals in a short period. Bioinformatic analysis can be used to predict what transcription factors are needed to convert one cell type into another [32], although sometimes the same transcription factor is active in more than one cell type, which leads to cells that are hybrids of two or more cell types [33,34]. If the products of transdifferentiation are postmitotic, they might be less likely than iPSC derivatives to contain residual undifferentiated cells that could produce teratomas when used for cell therapy. Several clinical trials are under way using hESC- and iPSC-derived cell preparations, with no report of tumor formation.

#### 11. INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

There are also drawbacks that should be considered in using direct transdifferentiation of cells such as fibroblasts to mature cell types. Like reprogramming to iPSCs, this process is inefficient, and because mature cell types have a limited capacity to divide (neurons and cardiomyocytes are postmitotic), direct reprogramming requires a large input population and must be repeated each time more cells are required. Transdifferentiated mature populations are not clonally derived, which means that genetic manipulation and characterization of the resulting cell population are difficult or not feasible. These drawbacks may be mitigated by targeting an intermediate progenitor or stem cell that retains a capacity for proliferation but is limited in differentiation capacity; this allows for purification of the cell type desired, and elimination of any abnormally programmed cells [35].

## GENOMIC STABILITY

A study examined the potential for genomic damage during reprogramming using whole-genome sequencing and concluded that the reprogramming process itself is not likely to introduce mutations with adverse side effects [36]. Another exome sequencing analysis of fibroblast and iPSC clones concurred and reported that almost all of the genomic variation in iPSCs originates from the cell population used for reprogramming [37]. However, after reprogramming, populations of iPSCs can drift with time in culture like any other cell type, because genetically aberrant subpopulations tend to divide more quickly or are more resistant to apoptosis or other forms of cell death. The types of genetic variations observed range from large-scale karyotypic abnormalities to copy number variations and point mutations. Common karyotypic changes in iPSCs and hESCs include trisomies of chromosomes 12, 17, and X, and duplications of subchromosomal regions on these chromosomes [38–40]. In addition, studies of trinucleotide repeat diseases including Friedreich ataxia and Fragile X syndrome have reported changes in the repeat length after reprogramming [41,42].

Because iPSCs are self-renewing, they never senesce and will continue to divide as long as they are in culture. Because mutations arise when cells replicate, it is inevitable that genomic abnormalities will accumulate if the iPSCs are cultured for long periods of time. Of particular interest are the appearance of deletions of the tumor suppressor TP53 in hESCs after prolonged time in culture [43] and indications that similar deletions occur in iPSCs after long-term culture [44].

## APPLICATIONS OF INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

There has been concern in the field that iPSCs are somehow inferior to hESCs for practical applications. However, a number of reports have demonstrated that hESCs and iPSCs are essentially indistinguishable [13,21,22]. A study on transcriptional and epigenetic comparisons using genetically matched hESC and iPSC lines revealed that hESCs and iPSCs are molecularly and functionally equivalent and cannot be distinguished by their gene expression profiles [45]. This means that all of the applications established for hESCs should be easily transferred to iPSCs (Fig. 11.2).

## DISEASE MODELING

Perhaps the most attractive feature of iPSCs is that it allows scientists to study human diseases using human cells. Much progress in modeling human disorders has been made possible by pioneering work to develop robust protocols to generate specific cell types from human iPSCs, including neurons [46–48] and cardiomyocytes [49]. iPSCs have been used routinely to model genetic diseases including monogenic disorders and chromosomal and more complex genetic disorders. Animal model systems have been used to study those disorders for decades, but positive results in animals have not always translated to human studies. This should not be surprising because rodents diverged evolutionarily from humans almost 60 million years ago. For example, in the nervous system, understanding the mechanisms underlying neurological disorders and development of pharmaceutical interventions has lagged far behind disorders affecting other organs. Many highly anticipated drugs, such as those that target Fragile X syndrome [50] and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [51–53], have failed to demonstrate efficacy in human trials after promising preclinical work on animal models. In addition, neurological and psychiatric diseases are complex because they are rarely based on a single gene variant. Notably, many psychiatric diseases arise from mutations in noncoding regions [54,55]. In many cases, these noncoding regions either are not conserved in rodents or they



FIGURE 11.2 Applications of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). Human iPSCs can be used to study and treat human diseases. Aggregates of iPSCs can form organoids that recapitulate aspects of early embryonic development that can be used to model human developmental disorders. Genetically diverse iPSCs and their derivatives can be used in highthroughput screening to improve the preclinical development of pharmaceuticals. In addition, iPSCs can be used to derive therapeutically relevant cell types for autologous transplantation as a cell therapy to treat human diseases.

function differently. In contrast, iPSCs derived from patients with genetic disorders contain all of the complex genetic interactions that underlie the disease.

Timothy syndrome (TS) is a neurodevelopmental disorder that has been successfully investigated using patientderived iPSCs [56]. TS is a rare monogenic form of autism caused by prolonged activation of the L-type Ca<sub>v</sub>1.2 calcium channel. The prolonged channel activation results from a gain of function mutation leading to dysregulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling in many cell types. One of the striking phenotypes of TS iPSCs is abnormal cortical development; they produce fewer upper-layer neurons and a higher proportion of lower-layer neurons. Interestingly, elevated Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling leads to upregulation of tyrosine hydroxylase in cortical neurons. Higher levels of tyrosine hydroxylase, an enzyme that is involved in the biosynthesis of catecholamines, ultimately lead to increased norepinephrine and dopamine production and are associated with aggression in TS patients. Using iPSCs as a model, it was discovered that roscovitine, an L-type channel blocker, can restore tyrosine hydroxylase expression and catecholamine production in TS iPSC-derived neurons. Notably, the transcription regulatory element of human tyrosine hydroxylase locus is not conserved in mice, and the catecholamine phenotype is not observed in a transgenic TS mouse model [57]. In this way, the TS iPSC model provided preclinical validations for future therapeutic development that would otherwise have been missed using only rodent models. Similarly, studies using iPSCs to model other monogenic forms of autism such as Phelan–McDermid syndrome [58], Rett syndrome [59], and Williams syndrome [60] identified human-specific phenotypes and discovered disease-causing pathways.

iPSCs are also useful for studying diseases for which there is evidence of inheritance but no specific mutations identified. For complex diseases such as idiopathic autism and schizophrenia, most cases lack a clear genetic basis. Deriving iPSCs from the patients preserves their genomes, and when differentiated into the relevant cell types, they can be used to study cellular phenotypes and molecular mechanisms without knowing the genetic cause. However, patients who have complex diseases usually present with a wide range of symptoms. Because obtaining information about a disease from patient iPSCs requires multiple patients with the same syndrome, careful consideration should be taken in selecting patients and study controls. For example, to study idiopathic autism, a research group selectively focused on patients who presented with the same clinical phenotype: early brain overgrowth. They observed an increased proliferation rate of the disease-associated iPSC-derived neural progenitor cells and determined that it was likely caused by dysregulation of the  $\beta$ -catenin/BRN2 cascade [61]. Selection of appropriate controls is extremely important to minimize non–disease relevant differences; because humans are genomically diverse, variations in individuals' iPSCs could contribute to differences in cellular behaviors that are not necessarily

#### 11. INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

disease relevant. For this reason, iPSCs from unaffected family members are usually used to study idiopathic disease to minimize variability owing to genomic diversity [62].

iPSCs are also valuable for validating human-specific disease-causing variants. Advances in sequencing technology have enabled an increase in genome-wide association studies (GWAS) to identify novel disease-causing candidate mutations. For many complex diseases, candidate mutations are found in noncoding regions and most are not evolutionarily conserved in animal models. iPSCs are an ideal platform for validating such candidate mutations identified through GWAS studies. An example is a single nucleotide polymorphism risk variant that appeared to contribute to the pathogenesis of Parkinson disease (PD) [63]. Using genome editing with Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated protein 9 (Cas9), risk-associated alleles were introduced into wild-type iPSCs; by comparing the otherwise identical cell lines, researchers showed that the risk allele altered cis-regulation of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein (SNCA) locus and led to an upregulation of SNCA expression. This variant mimicked a duplication of the coding region for SNCA that was known to be a familial cause of PD [64].

Methods have improved for culturing iPSCs in miniature "organoids" that can resemble the structure of human organs. When iPSCs are aggregated during their differentiation in vitro, they can create their own microenvironment and self-organize into three-dimensional structures. Kidney [65], liver [66], stomach [67], and brain organoids [68] can show remarkable similarities to the corresponding tissues. Researchers have just begun to explore possibilities to model disease using organoids. Multisystem organoids have been developed, including intestinal organoids with components of the enteric nervous system [69]. Organoids may provide a means to produce more fully mature cells in vitro and may be useful for drug screening.

## CHALLENGES AND FUTURE POSSIBILITIES IN DISEASE MODELING

It is difficult to mature cells fully in vitro, so it remains challenging to model late-onset diseases. Efforts have been made to age iPSC-derived cells artificially, such as progerin treatment [70] and telomere shortening [71], but it is not clear whether these treatments are realistic mimics of aging. Direct reprogramming from fibroblasts has been reported to preserve age-related characteristics of the donor [72], but direct reprogramming has shortcomings for disease modeling, as discussed earlier. However, in some cases, aspects of late-onset genetic diseases may be detected in iPSC-derived cells. This allows testing of drugs that can correct the cellular phenotype. In one example, ALS patient-derived motor neurons were found to have an abnormal electrophysiological phenotype, which could be corrected with a US Food and Drug Administration—approved anticonvulsant drug, Retigabine [73]. A clinical trial was initiated in 2016 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02450552) to evaluate the effects of Retigabine on motor neuron activity in people with ALS.

## PERSONALIZED MEDICINE

For decades, drug discovery has relied heavily on a reductionist approach in which high-throughput screening is used to identify biologically active molecules based on expression of a recombinant target protein of interest in a single transformed cell line. The transformed lines used in these screening processes tend to be of similar ethnic backgrounds. Decades of experience using this model led to the finding that the genetic background of an individual can determine the success or adverse effects of a particular drug. For this reason, regulatory agencies recommend including a diverse patient population in later-stage clinical trials. A genetically diverse group of iPSC-derived cells would be instrumental in predicting these types of genetically dependent effects in the preclinical stages, making the drug development process more efficient [74].

Proof-of-concept toxicity studies have been performed in stem cell—derived cardiomyocytes [75], hepatocyte-like cells [76], and neurons [77]. However, to draw associations between genotype and drug response, as well as identify associated biomarkers, large collaborative initiatives are needed to generate cell banks that cover diverse ethnic groups, capturing a range of genotypes [74]. Carefully chosen sets of genetically diverse iPSCs could then be used for preclinical development.

In addition to the ethnicity of the patient, multiple disease mechanisms are likely to contribute to one disease phenotype, and one drug is not appropriate or sufficient for all cases. For example, cystic fibrosis is an autosomal recessive disease that is caused by mutations in a gene called cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR), which encodes for a chloride channel. Mutations in this channel result in abnormal regulation of salt and

#### CELL THERAPY

water, causing severe respiratory and gastrointestinal symptoms. More than 1900 CFTR mutations have been identified (www.genet.sickkids.on.ca). The type of mutation has a direct effect on the efficacy of commonly used medications. For example, for patients who carry a G551D mutation, CFTR channel activity is reduced. Ivacaftor, an oral agent and channel agonist designed to prolong the time in which the chloride channel is open, was effective in treating symptoms in this subgroup of patients [78]. However, this patient subgroup accounts for only 5% of patients with cystic fibrosis. For most patients, a truncation in the protein prohibits proper trafficking to the plasma membrane. In such cases, a channel agonist is ineffective. Another therapeutic, Lumacaftor, which aids in transporting CFTR to the cell surface, is more appropriate for these patients [79]. Identifying the disease mechanism for each CFTR variant could be enhanced by using patient-specific iPSC modeling.

iPSC model systems have been used to predict the clinical outcome of patients with specific mutations. One study examined a selective sodium channel blocker and its effect on inherited erythromelalgia using patient iPSC-derived sensory neurons, and could correlate the in vitro results to patient response and specific mutations [80]. As another example, a retrospective study identified patients who clinically experienced drug-induced QT prolongation upon administration of a nonselective  $\beta$ -blocker, sotalol. Cardiomyocytes derived from these patients' iPSCs recapitulated the patient response in vitro, demonstrating differential arrhythmias after sotalol treatment [81]. These studies demonstrate the exciting potential for using iPSCs to predict patient outcomes and to choose better from clinically available interventions.

## **CELL THERAPY**

Cell therapy is a fast-developing field in modern medicine. Traditionally, cell therapy was limited to bone marrow cells and blood stem cells, but with the ability to generate clinically relevant cell types from stem cells, pluripotent stem cell–based cell therapies are being developed. A potential advantage of using iPSC-based therapies is that the cell line can be chosen to be patient-specific or a close immunological match. Autologous transplantation of iPSCs and their derivatives is expected to be tolerated by the immune system, and patients could benefit from avoiding immunosuppressant treatment required for allogenic transplantation. The creation of banks of iPSCs designed specifically to serve as a close immunological match to a large percentage of the population may also be feasible by deriving cells from individuals homozygous for the major human leukocyte antigen (HLA) markers. Such banks would reduce the time and cost needed to produce cells for therapy. The practicality of these banks depends on the number of cell lines needed to match the population served by the bank. In a country such as Japan, it is estimated that a bank of 50–100 carefully chosen iPSC lines could match 90% of the population [82]. In contrast, the genetic diversity of the populations of Europe and the United States would necessitate banks with orders of magnitude more cell lines, which makes the design more challenging and less feasible. The HLA-matched iPSC banks have not yet been tested in human trials, and there is concern that minor antigens could cause rejection even when there is a perfect major HLA match.

The expectation of immune tolerance of autologous iPSC-derived transplants, however, is brought into question by reports showing that transplantation of mouse iPSCs into syngeneic rodents led to immunogenic teratoma formation [83]. Subsequent studies using rodent models, including a humanized mouse model to reconstitute a human immune system, produced conflicting findings. Whereas some reports [84,85] found that autologous transplants were not immunogenic, others [86] found significant immune response upon autologous transplant of some types of iPSC-derived cells. The autologous immune response may be caused by aberrant antigen expression induced by differentiation in vitro and might be cell type—specific. For example, iPSC-derived smooth muscle cells showed aberrant antigen expression but iPSC-derived retinal pigment cells did not [86]. Therefore, even for autologous transplantation, preclinical studies should include analysis of potential immune response.

Besides the potential immunological advantages of iPSCs, any cell therapy shares the common challenge of properly delivering the cell product [87]. For most cases, delivery of therapeutic cell types must be targeted to a region of interest. Although intravenous injection is simple and easy, it often results in cell capture and the destruction of delivered cells in the lungs or the liver. Consider, for example, the case of myocardial infarction. A myocardial infarct results from the loss of blood flow to a region of the heart, typically resulting from an occluded vessel. The chronic effects of an infarct are physical remodeling of the heart muscle tissue that hypertrophies as the heart struggles to adapt to a loss of function. In this case, restoration of muscle function through cell replacement could stop the remodeling process and provide symptomatic relief to millions of people. Preclinical studies on rodent and nonhuman primate myocardial infarction models reported that transplantation of embryonic stem cell–derived cardiomyocytes can be effective to prevent further deterioration of cardiac function by remuscularization of

#### 11. INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

myocardial infarcts [88]. However, the heart is not a mechanically hospitable environment for cell delivery. Cells must be physically and electrically integrated in an appropriate manner to provide meaningful improvements and avoid potentially harmful side effects in humans.

In other areas of the body, such as the central nervous system (CNS), transplanted cells are less likely to escape into the bloodstream. The relative ease of delivery is in part why most pluripotent stem cell-based therapies have focused on the CNS. Several groups have developed cell replacement therapies to treat macular degeneration, which is caused by the loss of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). The first trial to use iPSCs was led by Dr. Masayo Takahashi in Japan; the first patient was transplanted with autologous iPSC-derived RPE cells, and there are plans to use the HLA-matched Japanese iPSC bank for further trials [89]. PD is another area of intense interest for a pluripotent stem cell-derived cell therapy. PD results from progressive loss of A9 dopaminergic (DA) neurons in the substantia nigra, and by the time the symptoms are diagnosed properly, over 50% of the neurons have already been lost. In 2011, a robust protocol mimicking neuronal development was reported that used activation of the sonic hedgehog and wnt pathways to obtain patterned midbrain progenitor cells [46]. This group further generated DA neurons whose activity could be optogenetically controlled and demonstrated that when transplanted into a rodent PD model, these neurons could integrate into host circuitry, secrete dopamine, and restore movement control [47]. Clinical trials are planned in multiple countries, including Japan, the United States, and Sweden. Some groups plan to use autologous iPSC-derived DA neurons, whereas in Japan, the bank of HLA-matched iPSCs will be used. Other groups using ESCs plan to use immunosuppression for at least 1 year to prevent graft rejection. A unique consortium of researchers (www.gforce-pd.com) who are all arranging to use a similar cell type will provide results that will guide further decisions about whether autologous therapy offers benefits over allogeneic transplants.

## CONSERVATION OF ENDANGERED SPECIES

One of the least straightforward and most challenging applications of iPSCs is their potential use in wildlife conservation. One such example is the ongoing effort to save an endangered species, the northern white rhinoceros (NWR), which is on the brink of extinction owing to poaching and civil wars. The three remaining NWRs in the world, including one aging male and two females, all have reproductive issues that prohibit propagation of the species. NWR fibroblasts were first reprogrammed into iPSCs in 2011 [90], and a consortium of researchers met in 2015 to develop a plan to save the NWR, which includes differentiating NWR iPSCs into gametes to use for assisted reproduction [91]. This approach is possible only because of the foresight of researchers who, over the past 3 decades, preserved dermal fibroblasts from 12 genetically diverse NWR individuals (http://institute.sandiegozoo.org/). Since 2011, fibroblasts from several more NWRs have been reprogrammed; the technical hurdles now lie in producing functional gametes and successfully implanting fertilized embryos into surrogate hosts. It was reported that functional oocytes were generated entirely in vitro from mouse iPSCs, which provides further hope that the same can be done with endangered species iPSCs [92].

## CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

For decades, human diseases were modeled in the mouse because of the genetic tools available to alter the mouse genome. hESCs began to be used to generate multiple human cell types that could be used for clinical cell therapy and disease modeling. However, hESCs lacked genomic diversity [93], and although there are hESC lines with genetic mutations, they cannot be linked to the phenotype of a living individual. Reprogramming and derivation of iPSCs have revolutionized the fields of stem cell biology, regenerative medicine, and the study of human disease. iPSCs share all of the benefits of hESCs and also have the advantages of genomic diversity.

The future of reprogramming is difficult to predict because the technology is developing so quickly. For example, one can imagine moving from the culture dish to in vivo reprogramming. Such an approach could be used to augment tissue-specific stem cells to enhance regeneration; however, improvements are necessary in the control over the delivery of the factors in vivo. Interestingly, a study investigated the short-term expression of the Yamanaka factors in genetically engineered rodents and reported a prolonged life span and decreased recovery time after injury [94]. Studies such as this open the door to potential therapies based on iPSC technology.

#### REFERENCES

A complementary technology that is also evolving at a rapid pace is the CRISPR/Cas9 system and other genetic engineering methods that enable targeted genomic editing. Efficient genome editing of iPSCs can be used to correct mutations, allowing autologous cell therapy for genetic disease. Gene editing can also produce better models for disease, allowing the introduction of specific disease-related variants into iPSCs that can be used to better understand phenotypic expression of mutant and wild-type alleles. The applications of iPSCs are a new tool in 21st-century medicine that will improve our understanding of human disease and enable novel approaches to treat currently untreatable diseases.

## List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

**ALS** Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

CFTR Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator

DA Dopaminergic

**ESCs** Embryonic stem cells

**GWAS** Genome-wide association study

**hESCs** Human embryonic stem cells **iPSCs** Induced pluripotent stem cells

**NWR** Northern white rhinoceros

PD Parkinson disease

RPE Retinal pigment epithelium

**SNCA** α-Synuclein

**TS** Timothy syndrome

## References

- Watanabe K, Ueno M, Kamiya D, Nishiyama A, Matsumura M, Wataya T, et al. A ROCK inhibitor permits survival of dissociated human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol June 2007;25(6):681–6. PubMed PMID:17529971.
- [2] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell August 25, 2006;126(4):663–76. PubMed PMID:16904174.
- [3] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell November 30, 2007;131(5):861–72. PubMed PMID:18035408.
- [4] Gurdon JB, Elsdale TR, Fischberg M. Sexually mature individuals of *Xenopus laevis* from the transplantation of single somatic nuclei. Nature July 05, 1958;182(4627):64–5. PubMed PMID:13566187.
- [5] Gurdon JB. The developmental capacity of nuclei taken from intestinal epithelium cells of feeding tadpoles. J Embryol Exp Morphol December 1962;10:622–40. PubMed PMID:13951335.
- [6] Kim J, Chu J, Shen X, Wang J, Orkin SH. An extended transcriptional network for pluripotency of embryonic stem cells. Cell March 21, 2008; 132(6):1049–61. PubMed PMID:18358816. Pubmed Central PMCID:3837340.
- [7] Silva J, Nichols J, Theunissen TW, Guo G, van Oosten AL, Barrandon O, et al. Nanog is the gateway to the pluripotent ground state. Cell August 21, 2009;138(4):722–37. PubMed PMID:19703398. Pubmed Central PMCID:3437554.
- [8] Yamanaka S. Elite and stochastic models for induced pluripotent stem cell generation. Nature July 02, 2009;460(7251):49-52. PubMed PMID: 19571877.
- [9] Hanna J, Saha K, Pando B, van Zon J, Lengner CJ, Creyghton MP, et al. Direct cell reprogramming is a stochastic process amenable to acceleration. Nature December 03, 2009;462(7273):595–601. PubMed PMID:19898493. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC2789972.
- [10] Buganim Y, Faddah DA, Cheng AW, Itskovich E, Markoulaki S, Ganz K, et al. Single-cell expression analyses during cellular reprogramming reveal an early stochastic and a late hierarchic phase. Cell September 14, 2012;150(6):1209–22. PubMed PMID:22980981. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3457656.
- [11] Nakagawa M, Koyanagi M, Tanabe K, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol January 2008;26(1):101–6. PubMed PMID:18059259.
- [12] Jiang J, Chan YS, Loh YH, Cai J, Tong GQ, Lim CA, et al. A core Klf circuitry regulates self-renewal of embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol March 2008;10(3):353–60. PubMed PMID:18264089.
- [13] Nazor KL, Altun G, Lynch C, Tran H, Harness JV, Slavin I, et al. Recurrent variations in DNA methylation in human pluripotent stem cells and their differentiated derivatives. Cell stem cell May 04, 2012;10(5):620–34. PubMed PMID:22560082. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3348513.
- [14] Chen J, Liu H, Liu J, Qi J, Wei B, Yang J, et al. H3K9 methylation is a barrier during somatic cell reprogramming into iPSCs. Nat Genet January 2013;45(1):34–42. PubMed PMID:23202127.
- [15] Kim K, Doi A, Wen B, Ng K, Zhao R, Cahan P, et al. Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature September 16, 2010; 467(7313):285–90. PubMed PMID:20644535. Pubmed Central PMCID:3150836.
- [16] Polo JM, Liu S, Figueroa ME, Kulalert W, Eminli S, Tan KY, et al. Cell type of origin influences the molecular and functional properties of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol August 2010;28(8):848–55. PubMed PMID:20644536. Pubmed Central PMCID:3148605.
- [17] Bock C, Kiskinis E, Verstappen G, Gu H, Boulting G, Smith ZD, et al. Reference Maps of human ES and iPS cell variation enable high-throughput characterization of pluripotent cell lines. Cell February 04, 2011;144(3):439–52. PubMed PMID:21295703. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3063454.

#### 11. INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

- [18] Nishino K, Toyoda M, Yamazaki-Inoue M, Fukawatase Y, Chikazawa E, Sakaguchi H, et al. DNA methylation dynamics in human induced pluripotent stem cells over time. PLoS Genet May 2011;7(5):e1002085. PubMed PMID:21637780. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3102737.
- [19] Rugg-Gunn PJ, Ferguson-Smith AC, Pedersen RA. Epigenetic status of human embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet June 2005;37(6):585–7. PubMed PMID:15864307.
- [20] Boland MJ, Nazor KL, Tran HT, Szucs A, Lynch CL, Paredes R, et al. Molecular analyses of neurogenic defects in a human pluripotent stem cell model of fragile X syndrome. Brain January 29, 2017;140:582–98. PubMed PMID:28137726.
- [21] Muller FJ, Laurent LC, Kostka D, Ulitsky I, Williams R, Lu C, et al. Regulatory networks define phenotypic classes of human stem cell lines. Nature September 18, 2008;455(7211):401–5. PubMed PMID:18724358. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC2637443.
- [22] Muller FJ, Schuldt BM, Williams R, Mason D, Altun G, Papapetrou EP, et al. A bioinformatic assay for pluripotency in human cells. Br J Pharmacol April 2011;8(4):315–7. PubMed PMID:21378979. Pubmed Central PMCID:3265323.
- [23] Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S. Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature July 19, 2007;448(7151):313–7. PubMed PMID:17554338.
- [24] Schlaeger TM, Daheron L, Brickler TR, Entwisle S, Chan K, Cianci A, et al. A comparison of non-integrating reprogramming methods. Nat Biotechnol January 2015;33(1):58–63. PubMed PMID:25437882. Pubmed Central PMCID:4329913.
- [25] Fusaki N, Ban H, Nishiyama A, Saeki K, Hasegawa M. Efficient induction of transgene-free human pluripotent stem cells using a vector based on Sendai virus, an RNA virus that does not integrate into the host genome. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 2009;85(8):348–62. PubMed PMID:19838014. Pubmed Central PMCID:3621571.
- [26] Warren L, Manos PD, Ahfeldt T, Loh YH, Li H, Lau F, et al. Highly efficient reprogramming to pluripotency and directed differentiation of human cells with synthetic modified mRNA. Cell Stem Cell November 05, 2010;7(5):618–30. PubMed PMID:20888316. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3656821.
- [27] Li M, Sancho-Martinez I, Izpisua Belmonte JC. Cell fate conversion by mRNA. Stem Cell Res Ther February 09, 2011;2(1):5. PubMed PMID: 21345255. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3092145.
- [28] Paull D, Sevilla A, Zhou H, Hahn AK, Kim H, Napolitano C, et al. Automated, high-throughput derivation, characterization and differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Br J Pharmacol September 2015;12(9):885–92. PubMed PMID:26237226.
- [29] Abyzov A, Mariani J, Palejev D, Zhang Y, Haney MS, Tomasini L, et al. Somatic copy number mosaicism in human skin revealed by induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature December 20, 2012;492(7429):438–42. PubMed PMID:23160490. Pubmed Central PMCID:3532053.
- [30] Caiazzo M, Dell'Anno MT, Dvoretskova E, Lazarevic D, Taverna S, Leo D, et al. Direct generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nature August 11, 2011;476(7359):224–7. PubMed PMID:21725324. Epub 2011/07/05. eng.
- [31] Ieda M, Fu JD, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, et al. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell August 06, 2010;142(3):375–86. PubMed PMID:20691899. Pubmed Central PMCID:2919844.
- [32] Rackham OJ, Firas J, Fang H, Oates ME, Holmes ML, Knaupp AS, et al. A predictive computational framework for direct reprogramming between human cell types. Nat Genet March 2016;48(3):331–5. PubMed PMID:26780608.
- [33] Cahan P, Li H, Morris SA, Lummertz da Rocha E, Daley GQ, Collins JJ. CellNet: network biology applied to stem cell engineering. Cell August 14, 2014;158(4):903–15. PubMed PMID:25126793. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4233680.
- [34] Muller FJ, Loring JF. Network biology: a compass for stem-cell differentiation. Nature September 25, 2014;513(7519):498–9. PubMed PMID: 25254472.
- [35] Kim J, Efe JA, Zhu S, Talantova M, Yuan X, Wang S, et al. Direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts to neural progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA May 10, 2011;108(19):7838–43. PubMed PMID:21521790. Pubmed Central PMCID:3093517.
- [36] Bhutani K, Nazor KL, Williams R, Tran H, Dai H, Dzakula Z, et al. Whole-genome mutational burden analysis of three pluripotency induction methods. Nat Commun 2016;7:10536. PubMed PMID:26892726. Pubmed Central PMCID:4762882.
- [37] Kwon EM, Connelly JP, Hansen NF, Donovan FX, Winkler T, Davis BW, et al. iPSCs and fibroblast subclones from the same fibroblast population contain comparable levels of sequence variations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA February 21, 2017;114(8):1964–9. PubMed PMID:28167771.
- [38] Mayshar Y, Ben-David U, Lavon N, Biancotti JC, Yakir B, Clark AT, et al. Identification and classification of chromosomal aberrations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell October 8, 2010;7(4):521–31. PubMed PMID:20887957. Epub 2010/10/05. eng.
- [39] Taapken SM, Nisler BS, Newton MA, Sampsell-Barron TL, Leonhard KA, McIntire EM, et al. Karotypic abnormalities in human induced pluripotent stem cells and embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol April 2011;29(4):313–4. PubMed PMID:21478842.
- [40] Laurent LC, Ulitsky I, Slavin I, Tran H, Schork A, Morey R, et al. Dynamic changes in the copy number of pluripotency and cell proliferation genes in human ESCs and iPSCs during reprogramming and time in culture. Cell Stem Cell January 07, 2011;8(1):106–18. PubMed PMID: 21211785. Pubmed Central PMCID:3043464.
- [41] Ku S, Soragni E, Campau E, Thomas EA, Altun G, Laurent LC, et al. Friedreich's ataxia induced pluripotent stem cells model intergenerational GAATTC triplet repeat instability. Cell Stem Cell November 05, 2010;7(5):631–7. PubMed PMID:21040903. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2987635.
- [42] Sheridan SD, Theriault KM, Reis SA, Zhou F, Madison JM, Daheron L, et al. Epigenetic characterization of the FMR1 gene and aberrant neurodevelopment in human induced pluripotent stem cell models of fragile X syndrome. PLoS One 2011;6(10):e26203. PubMed PMID:22022567. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3192166.
- [43] Amir H, Touboul T, Sabatini K, Chhabra D, Garitaonandia I, Loring JF, et al. Spontaneous single-copy loss of TP53 in human embryonic stem cells markedly increases cell proliferation and survival. Stem Cells November 26, 2016;35(4):872–85. PubMed PMID:27888558.
- [44] Garitaonandia I, Amir H, Boscolo FS, Wambua GK, Schultheisz HL, Sabatini K, et al. Increased risk of genetic and epigenetic instability in human embryonic stem cells associated with specific culture conditions. PLoS One 2015;10(2):e0118307. PubMed PMID:25714340. Pubmed Central PMCID:4340884.
- [45] Choi J, Lee S, Mallard W, Clement K, Tagliazucchi GM, Lim H, et al. A comparison of genetically matched cell lines reveals the equivalence of human iPSCs and ESCs. Nat Biotechnol November 2015;33(11):1173–81. PubMed PMID:26501951. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4847940.
- [46] Chambers SM, Fasano CA, Papapetrou EP, Tomishima M, Sadelain M, Studer L. Highly efficient neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. Nat Biotechnol March 2009;27(3):275–80. PubMed PMID:19252484. Pubmed Central PMCID:2756723.
- [47] Kriks S, Shim JW, Piao J, Ganat YM, Wakeman DR, Xie Z, et al. Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Nature December 22, 2011;480(7378):547–51. PubMed PMID:22056989. Pubmed Central PMCID:3245796.

- [48] Dimos JT, Rodolfa KT, Niakan KK, Weisenthal LM, Mitsumoto H, Chung W, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cells generated from patients with ALS can be differentiated into motor neurons. Science August 29, 2008;321(5893):1218–21. PubMed PMID:18669821.
- [49] Tzatzalos E, Abilez OJ, Shukla P, Wu JC. Engineered heart tissues and induced pluripotent stem cells: macro- and microstructures for disease modeling, drug screening, and translational studies. Adv Drug Deliv Rev January 15, 2016;96:234–44. PubMed PMID:26428619. Pubmed Central PMCID:4698222.
- [50] Berry-Kravis E, Des Portes V, Hagerman R, Jacquemont S, Charles P, Visootsak J, et al. Mavoglurant in fragile X syndrome: results of two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. Sci Transl Med January 13, 2016;8(321):321ra5. PubMed PMID:26764156.
- [51] Aggarwal SP, Zinman L, Simpson E, McKinley J, Jackson KE, Pinto H, et al. Safety and efficacy of lithium in combination with riluzole for treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol May 2010;9(5):481–8. PubMed PMID:20363190. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3071495.
- [52] Verstraete E, Veldink JH, Huisman MH, Draak T, Uijtendaal EV, van der Kooi AJ, et al. Lithium lacks effect on survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase IIb randomised sequential trial. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry May 2012;83(5):557–64. PubMed PMID:22378918.
- [53] Group UK-LS, Morrison KE, Dhariwal S, Hornabrook R, Savage L, Burn DJ, et al. Lithium in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (LiCALS): a phase 3 multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol April 2013;12(4):339–45. PubMed PMID:23453347. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3610091.
- [54] Esteller M. Non-coding RNAs in human disease. Nat Rev Genet November 18, 2011;12(12):861-74. PubMed PMID:22094949.
- [55] Lee TI, Young RA. Transcriptional regulation and its misregulation in disease. Cell March 14, 2013;152(6):1237–51. PubMed PMID:23498934. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3640494.
- [56] Pasca SP, Portmann T, Voineagu I, Yazawa M, Shcheglovitov A, Pasca AM, et al. Using iPSC-derived neurons to uncover cellular phenotypes associated with Timothy syndrome. Nat Med November 27, 2011;17(12):1657–62. PubMed PMID:22120178. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3517299.
- [57] Bader PL, Faizi M, Kim LH, Owen SF, Tadross MR, Alfa RW, et al. Mouse model of Timothy syndrome recapitulates triad of autistic traits. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA September 13, 2011;108(37):15432-7. PubMed PMID:21878566. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3174658.
- [58] Shcheglovitov A, Shcheglovitova O, Yazawa M, Portmann T, Shu R, Sebastiano V, et al. SHANK3 and IGF1 restore synaptic deficits in neurons from 22q13 deletion syndrome patients. Nature November 14, 2013;503(7475):267–71. PubMed PMID:24132240.
- [59] Farra N, Zhang WB, Pasceri P, Eubanks JH, Salter MW, Ellis J. Rett syndrome induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons reveal novel neurophysiological alterations. Mol Psychiatr December 2012;17(12):1261–71. PubMed PMID:22230884. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3504383.
- [60] Chailangkarn T, Trujillo CA, Freitas BC, Hrvoj-Mihic B, Herai RH, Yu DX, et al. A human neurodevelopmental model for Williams syndrome. Nature August 18, 2016;536(7616):338–43. PubMed PMID:27509850. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4995142.
- [61] Marchetto MC, Belinson H, Tian Y, Freitas BC, Fu C, Vadodaria KC, et al. Altered proliferation and networks in neural cells derived from idiopathic autistic individuals. Mol Psychiatr July 05, 2016;22(6):820–35. PubMed PMID:27378147. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC5215991.
- [62] Mariani J, Coppola G, Zhang P, Abyzov A, Provini L, Tomasini L, et al. FOXG1-dependent dysregulation of GABA/glutamate neuron differentiation in autism spectrum disorders. Cell July 16, 2015;162(2):375–90. PubMed PMID:26186191. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4519016.
- [63] Soldner F, Stelzer Y, Shivalila CS, Abraham BJ, Latourelle JC, Barrasa MI, et al. Parkinson-associated risk variant in distal enhancer of alphasynuclein modulates target gene expression. Nature May 05, 2016;533(7601):95–9. PubMed PMID:27096366. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC5042324.
- [64] Chartier-Harlin MC, Kachergus J, Roumier C, Mouroux V, Douay X, Lincoln S, et al. Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet 2004 Sep ;364(9440):1167–9. PubMed PMID:15451224.
- [65] Takasato M, Er PX, Chiu HS, Maier B, Baillie GJ, Ferguson C, et al. Kidney organoids from human iPS cells contain multiple lineages and model human nephrogenesis. Nature August 11, 2016;536(7615):238. PubMed PMID:27120161.
- [66] Guye P, Ebrahimkhani MR, Kipniss N, Velazquez JJ, Schoenfeld E, Kiani S, et al. Genetically engineering self-organization of human pluripotent stem cells into a liver bud-like tissue using Gata6. Nat Commun January 06, 2016;7:10243. PubMed PMID:26732624. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4729822.
- [67] McCracken KW, Aihara E, Martin B, Crawford CM, Broda T, Treguier J, et al. Wnt/β-catenin promotes gastric fundus specification in mice and humans. Nature January 12, 2017;541(7636):182–7. PubMed PMID:28052057.
- [68] Lancaster MA, Renner M, Martin CA, Wenzel D, Bicknell LS, Hurles ME, et al. Cerebral organoids model human brain development and microcephaly. Nature September 19, 2013;501(7467):373–9. PubMed PMID:23995685. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3817409.
- [69] Workman MJ, Mahe MM, Trisno S, Poling HM, Watson CL, Sundaram N, et al. Engineered human pluripotent-stem-cell-derived intestinal tissues with a functional enteric nervous system. Nat Med January 2017;23(1):49–59. PubMed PMID:27869805.
- [70] Miller JD, Ganat YM, Kishinevsky S, Bowman RL, Liu B, Tu EY, et al. Human iPSC-based modeling of late-onset disease via progerin-induced aging. Cell Stem Cell December 05, 2013;13(6):691–705. PubMed PMID:24315443. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4153390.
- [71] Vera E, Bosco N, Studer L. Generating late-onset human iPSC-based disease models by inducing neuronal age-related phenotypes through telomerase manipulation. Cell Rep October 18, 2016;17(4):1184–92. PubMed PMID:27760320. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC5089807.
- [72] Mertens J, Paquola AC, Ku M, Hatch E, Bohnke L, Ladjevardi S, et al. Directly reprogrammed human neurons retain aging-associated transcriptomic signatures and reveal age-related nucleocytoplasmic defects. Cell Stem Cell December 03, 2015;17(6):705–18. PubMed PMID: 26456686.
- [73] Wainger BJ, Kiskinis E, Mellin C, Wiskow O, Han SS, Sandoe J, et al. Intrinsic membrane hyperexcitability of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patient-derived motor neurons. Cell Rep April 10, 2014;7(1):1–11. PubMed PMID:24703839. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4023477.
- [74] Fakunle ES, Loring JF. Ethnically diverse pluripotent stem cells for drug development. Trends Mol Med December 2012;18(12):709–16. PubMed PMID:23142148.
- [75] Guo L, Abrams RM, Babiarz JE, Cohen JD, Kameoka S, Sanders MJ, et al. Estimating the risk of drug-induced proarrhythmia using human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Toxicol Sci September 2011;123(1):281–9. PubMed PMID:21693436.
- [76] Medine CN, Lucendo-Villarin B, Storck C, Wang F, Szkolnicka D, Khan F, et al. Developing high-fidelity hepatotoxicity models from pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med July 2013;2(7):505–9. PubMed PMID:23757504. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3697818.

#### 11. INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

- [77] Pei Y, Peng J, Behl M, Sipes NS, Shockley KR, Rao MS, et al. Comparative neurotoxicity screening in human iPSC-derived neural stem cells, neurons and astrocytes. Brain Res May 01, 2016;1638(Pt A):57–73. PubMed PMID:26254731. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC5032144.
- [78] Ramsey BW, Davies J, McElvaney NG, Tullis E, Bell SC, Drevinek P, et al. A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. N Engl J Med November 03, 2011;365(18):1663–72. PubMed PMID:22047557. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC3230303.
- [79] Rehman A, Baloch NU, Janahi IA. Lumacaftor-Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for Phe508del CFTR. N Engl J Med October 29, 2015;373(18):1783. PubMed PMID:26510035.
- [80] Cao L, McDonnell A, Nitzsche A, Alexandrou A, Saintot PP, Loucif AJ, et al. Pharmacological reversal of a pain phenotype in iPSC-derived sensory neurons and patients with inherited erythromelalgia. Sci Transl Med April 20, 2016;8(335):335ra56. PubMed PMID:27099175.
- [81] Stillitano F, Hansen J, Kong CW, Karakikes I, Funck-Brentano C, Geng L, et al. Modeling susceptibility to drug-induced long QT with a panel of subject-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Elife January 30, 2017;6. PubMed PMID:28134617. Pubmed Central PMCID:5279943.
- [82] Taylor CJ, Peacock S, Chaudhry AN, Bradley JA, Bolton EM. Generating an iPSC bank for HLA-matched tissue transplantation based on known donor and recipient HLA types. Cell Stem Cell August 03, 2012;11(2):147–52. PubMed PMID:22862941.
- [83] Zhao T, Zhang ZN, Rong Z, Xu Y. Immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature May 13, 2011;474(7350):212–5. PubMed PMID: 21572395.
- [84] de Almeida PE, Meyer EH, Kooreman NG, Diecke S, Dey D, Sanchez-Freire V, et al. Transplanted terminally differentiated induced pluripotent stem cells are accepted by immune mechanisms similar to self-tolerance. Nat Commun May 30, 2014;5:3903. PubMed PMID:24875164. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4075468.
- [85] Araki R, Uda M, Hoki Y, Sunayama M, Nakamura M, Ando S, et al. Negligible immunogenicity of terminally differentiated cells derived from induced pluripotent or embryonic stem cells. Nature February 07, 2013;494(7435):100–4. PubMed PMID:23302801.
- [86] Zhao T, Zhang ZN, Westenskow PD, Todorova D, Hu Z, Lin T, et al. Humanized mice reveal differential immunogenicity of cells derived from autologous induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell September 3, 2015;17(3):353–9. PubMed PMID:26299572.
- [87] Scudellari M. The delivery dilemma. Nature Reports Stem Cells August 6, 2009;2009.
- [88] Chong JJ, Yang X, Don CW, Minami E, Liu YW, Weyers JJ, et al. Human embryonic-stem-cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate non-human primate hearts. Nature June 12, 2014;510(7504):273–7. PubMed PMID:24776797. Pubmed Central PMCID:PMC4154594.
- [89] Mandai M, Watanabe A, Kurimoto Y, Hirami Y, Morinaga C, Daimon T, et al. Autologous induced stem-cell-derived retinal cells for macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 2017;376(11):1038–46. PubMed PMID:28296613.
- [90] Ben-Nun IF, Montague SC, Houck ML, Tran HT, Garitaonandia I, Leonardo TR, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cells from highly endangered species. Br J Pharmacol September 04, 2011;8(10):829–31. PubMed PMID:21892153.
- [91] Saragusty J, Diecke S, Drukker M, Durrant B, Friedrich Ben-Nun I, Galli C, et al. Rewinding the process of mammalian extinction. Zoo Biol July 2016;35(4):280–92. PubMed PMID:27142508.
- [92] Hayashi K, Saitou M. Generation of eggs from mouse embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Protoc August 2013;8(8): 1513-24. PubMed PMID:23845963.
- [93] Laurent LC, Nievergelt CM, Lynch C, Fakunle E, Harness JV, Schmidt U, et al. Restricted ethnic diversity in human embryonic stem cell lines. Br J Pharmacol January 2010;7(1):6–7. PubMed PMID:20038950.
- [94] Ocampo A, Reddy P, Martinez-Redondo P, Platero-Luengo A, Hatanaka F, Hishida T, et al. Vivo amelioration of age-associated hallmarks by partial reprogramming. Cell December 15, 2016;167(7):1719–33. e12. PubMed PMID:27984723.

## Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells

Rangarajan Sambathkumar, Manoj Kumar, Catherine M. Verfaillie

University of KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

## STEM CELLS

Stem cells have the unique capacity to self-renew, either symmetrically or asymmetrically. If stem cell divisions are symmetrical, the two descendant cells become stem cells, expanding the stem cell pool. However, postnatally, most stem cells divide asymmetrically, creating one stem cell and a differentiated cell or progenitor cells, resulting in maintenance of the stem cell pool [1]. Stem cells are unspecialized but can differentiate into multiple or all types of cells, depending on their potency. Totipotent stem cells present in the zygote or in the morula after a few divisions postfertilization can contribute to all of the cell types of embryonic development, including extraembryonic tissues such as, placenta, yolk sac, amnion, trophoblast, and extraembryonic endoderm lineages. Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) are present in the inner cell mass (ICM) of the 4- to 6-day-old blastocyst. These pluripotent cells can also be derived from the ICM as embryonic stem cells (ESCs) [2–6]. Similar cells, induced PSCs (iPSCs), can be derived from adult somatic cells after overexpression of complements of transcription factors (TFs) such as *Oct4*, *Sox2*, *Klf4*, and *C-myc*. These pluripotent cells can differentiate into cells of three germ layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm) in vitro as well as primordial germ cells [7,8] and extraembryonic endoderm [9]. When injected in vivo, they form teratomas, whereas when they are allowed to self-assemble in vitro, they form embryoid bodies.

Mouse ESCs (mESCs) are commonly cultured on feeders with leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and express cell surface marker SSEA1 [10,11] as well as *Oct4* [12], *Sox2* [13], *Nanog* [14], and *Rex1* [15]. Morula aggregation or tetraploid complementation studies showed that mESC contributes to chimera formation in the embryo proper or fetus, amnion, placenta, yolk sac mesoderm, trophectoderm, and germline cell types except for extraembryonic endoderm and [16,17]. Culture of mESCs in a so-called "naive" state, resembling cells in the ICM, has been accomplished by culture with inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase 3β, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, and LIF [18].

Human ESCs (hESCs) are similar to mouse epiblast stem cells (mEpiSCs) and are established from postimplantation embryos. hESCs express SSEA4, TRA-1-60, and TRA-1-81 as well as the same TFs as are found in mESCs. As such, like mEpiSCs, hESCs do not depend on feeders or LIF, but on basic fibroblast growth factor and activin/nodal signaling to maintain pluripotency [19]. Multiple culture conditions and activation of specific TF gene networks has allowed the conversion of hESCs/iPSCs into a naive-like cell state, the direct derivation of naive PSC from blastocysts, and reprogramming of iPSCs from somatic cells [20–23]. Aside from their possible use in regenerative medicine, PSCs can be used to model cell-fate specification and disease.

## ADULT STEM CELLS

Adult stem cells (ASCs), which include multipotent stem cells, can be defined as less or undifferentiated cells that are present with more highly differentiated cells in different organs. The primary role of ASCs is to maintain cell turnover and repair the tissue in which they reside. However, evidence suggests that they may be more versatile than previously thought and may be able to generate cell types different from cells of the tissue of origin. ASCs have been classified by some on the basis of the tissue source of origin. In 1906, Maximov postulated that bone marrow (BM) contains hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs). HSCs can be isolated from BM or mobilized peripheral

#### 12. MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELLS

blood. HSCs from BM or umbilical cord blood (UCB) can reconstitute all mature blood cell lineages after transplantation into irradiated BM of the animal [24]. Since that discovery, neural stem cells (NSCs) have been isolated from the subventricular zone (SVZ) and dentate gyrus of hippocampus of the adult brain [25,26] and the LGR5-positive stem cells from gastrointestinal tissues [27]. Hair-follicle bulge stem cells [28], limbal stem cells [29,30], epidermal stem cells [31] and MSC, among others, have also been isolated.

In 1974, Friedenstein and colleagues described the presence of fibroblast colony-forming cells in BM as part of the hematopoietic microenvironment or niche [32]. These were characterized by Caplan and Prockop and designated "mesenchymal stem cells" or "mesenchymal stromal cells" (MSCs) [33–36]. MSCs are clonogenic cells that can undergo multiple rounds of self-renewing cell divisions and differentiate into multiple mesodermal cell lineages, including adipocytes, chondrocytes, osteocytes, smooth muscle cells, fibroblast cells, and hematopoietic supportive "stromal" cells [32,33,36]. According to the International Society for Cellular Therapy, human MSCs are plastic-adherent and maintained under standard culture conditions. As much as 95% or more of MSC are positive for CD29, CD105 (SH2), CD106, CD73 (SH3), CD90, CD44, CD49a-f, CD166, Stro-1, CD271, and CD146, but they do not express hematopoietic markers such as CD34, CD45, CD14, CD11b, CD79α, CD19, or human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II [37,38]. MSCs have proangiogenic, immunomodulatory properties [39] and can be expanded for multiple passages, which makes them highly interesting from a therapeutic perspective. MSCs can be derived from multiple tissues, including BM, adipose tissue [40], UCB [41], and placenta, among others [42].

Many reports have demonstrated that adherent cells from different tissues may display greater differentiation potential than that of MSCs. For instance, in 2002, Jiang et al. described novel culture conditions that allow the isolation of multipotent adult progenitor cells (MAPCs) [43]. Other such cells derived from BM were termed multipotent stem cells [44] and marrow isolated adult lineage inducible cells (MIAMI) [45]. Unrestricted somatic stem cells derived from placental cord blood have also been reported [46]. In addition, cells with apparent greater differentiation potential were derived from amniotic fluid [47], fetal liver (human fetal liver multipotent progenitor cells) [48], BM (very small embryonic-like cells) [49], human UCB [50], and BM, heart, and liver human multipotent adult stem cells [51]. In this chapter, we provide a brief update on the origin, isolation, and characterization and in vitro and in vivo differentiation potential of rodent MAPCs (rMAPCs) and human MAPCs (hMAPCs) and their use in clinical trials.

## ISOLATION OF RODENT MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELL

MAPCs from BM of mice, rats, and humans were first reported in 2001. rMAPCs were expandable in the long term in vitro without senescence. At the single-cell level, MAPC differentiated into mesoderm, endoderm, and ectoderm cell types. Furthermore, we demonstrated that when injected into the blastocyst, Rosa26 mouse-derived MAPC contributed to multiple somatic tissues of the mouse [43]. Murine MAPCs (mMAPCs) were also isolated from muscle and brain [52]. From 2005 to 2006, as described in Subramanian et al. we further optimized culture conditions for the robust isolation of rMAPCs [53]. The most important differences were that cells were maintained under 5% O<sub>2</sub> conditions and were subcloned at very low densities (5 cells/well of 96-well plate) for 6–8 weeks [43,53,54]. In this way, clones could be more easily isolated based on typical MAPC morphology and expression of *Oct4*, a TF, and the cell surface markers SSEA1 and CD31. High *Oct4* clones were more likely to have greater expansion potential in culture.

In 2007, we described the results of a comparative microarray transcriptome analysis of rMAPC isolated using the detailed method described in Subramananian et al. BM MSC, and ESC. This demonstrated that gene expression of the rMAPC differed significantly from MSC and ESC. rMAPCs expressed several ESC-specific genes including *Oct4*, *Rex1*, *Sall4*, *Rex1*, and *Esrrb* and a number of ESC-associated transcripts but did not express *Sox2* or *Nanog*. As noted, rMAPCs express primitive endoderm markers such as *Sox7*, *Sox17*, *Gata4*, *Gata6*, *Foxa2*, *Hnf1b*, and *Hnf4a* [55], similar to the nascent hypoblast of developing blastocysts [56].

In 2008, Debeb et al. described the isolation of rat extraembryonic endodermal precursor (rXENP) from rat blastocyst [57], which like rMAPC, express *Oct4* as well as *Sox7*, *Sox17*, *Gata4*, *Gata6*, *Foxa2*, *Hnf1b*, and *Hnf4a*. To address whether rMAPCs from BM correspond to rXENP derived directly from the rat blastocyst, Lo Nigro et al. assessed whether rat BM MAPC cultured in fibronectin in 2% fetal calf serum (FCS), LIF, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and epidermal growth factor (EGF) could express rXENP characteristics by culturing on rat feeders and LIF. These studies demonstrated that when rMAPCs were cultured in rXENP culture conditions, the rMAPCs were capable of acquiring certain rXENP features, and vice versa. Moreover, the transcriptome and in vitro and

in vivo differentiation potential of rMAPC and rXENP cells were highly similar: They differentiated to mesoderm and endoderm in vitro and created yolk sac-like tumors in vivo.

In addition, these studies suggested that the rMAPC characteristics are affected in vitro during long-term culture conditions [58]. Related findings have been reported for spermatogonial stem cells [59–61] and epiblast stem cells [62], i.e., they can be reprogrammed into an ESC-like state by culturing the cells under ESC conditions. We also demonstrated that rMAPC culture conditions enabled the isolation of extraembryonic endoderm precursor cells from rat blastocyst within 2–10 days after plating blastocyst. Therefore, we demonstrated that the culture conditions favor the growth of rXENP cells. These culture condition characteristics may be important to induce the transdifferentiation of BM cells to this phenotype or allow the rapid expansion of cells that are spontaneously reprogrammed to this phenotype in BM cultures. Which of these two hypotheses is correct is not clear.

## ISOLATION OF HUMAN MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELLS

hMAPCs have also been isolated from human adult BM [63–65]. In 2011 [66], Roobrouck et al. demonstrated that hMAPCs can be expanded more than 70 population doublings, significantly more than hMSCs and human mesoangioblasts. In contrast to rMAPCs, hMAPCs were cultured without LIF; but similar to rMAPCs, the hMAPCs were cultured with FCS, EGF, and PDGF-BB and under hypoxic conditions. Phenotypically, the hMAPCs were positive for CD13, CD73, CD90, and CD105+; expressed low expression levels of HLA class-1 and CD146; and were negative for HLA-DR, CD140a, CD140b, the pericyte marker NG2, alkaline phosphatase, hematopoietic antigens such as CD34, CD45, and CKIT, as well as the endothelial antigens KDR, TIE2, VE-cadherin, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, and CD31 [66]. Comparative transcriptome studies demonstrated that hMAPCs differ from ESCs, mono-clonal antibodies, and MSCs. Although quantitative reverse transcriptase—polymerase chain reaction identified *OCT4* transcripts in hMAPC, levels in hMAPCs were significantly lower than in rodent cells or hESCs [66,67]. Roobrouck et al. demonstrated that the expansion potential of the hMAPCs may be partly affected by the culture conditions used to isolate and maintain the cells. Indeed, when human BM MSCs were cultured under MAPC conditions, the expansion potential increased, and when hMAPCs were cultured under MSC conditions, the expansion potential decreased. This was also associated with a partial reversal in the transcriptome characteristics for MSCs and MAPCs, which demonstrated that the phenotype and transcriptome profile are partly imposed by cell culture conditions [66].

## DIFFERENTIATION POTENTIAL OF RODENT AND HUMAN MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELLS IN VITRO

rMAPCs and hMAPCs differentiate into mesodermal lineage cells such as osteogenic [68,69], chondrogenic [70], adipogenic [67,71], and smooth muscle [72,73]. In contrast to MSCs, rMAPCs and hMAPCs also differentiate into endothelial cells [74–76]. Unlike hMAPCs, rMAPCs differentiate into functional hepatocyte [77–79] and glucose-responsive, insulin-producing pancreatic  $\beta$ -like cells in vitro and rescue streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice [80]. For hMAPCs, induction of hepatocyte-specific transcripts and proteins can be induced using differentiation protocols similar to those used for rodent cells; however, this differentiation is less robust [81]. A more robust differentiation to endoderm cells can be obtained by overexpressing endodermal TFs in hMAPCs, which yields a population of so-called induced endodermal progenitor cells (iENDO cells) that can be expanded for at least 40 cell doublings and differentiate into hepatocyte and endocrine pancreatic-like cells in vitro and in vivo. However, iENDO progeny are not fully mature functionally (Article under revision).

## **REGENERATIVE CAPACITIES OF MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELLS**

## Hematopoietic Reconstitution With Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells

In 2007, Serafini et al. demonstrated that green fluorescent protein (GFP)-labeled transgenic mMAPCs injected into lethally irradiated mice could reconstitute the hematopoietic system in the primary recipients, albeit after a long time, with the creation of HSCs. Thus, although mMAPCs could contribute to hematopoiesis in primary recipients, a thousandfold more mMAPCs were required for efficient engraftment [82]. HSCs harvested from these primary mice could reconstitute the hematopoietic lineages of secondary and tertiary recipients with normal kinetics and protect them from lethal irradiation.

## Immunomodulatory Properties of Low-Oct4 Murine Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells and Human Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells: In Vitro, Preclinical, and Clinical Studies

## In Vitro Effects of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells on T Cells, B Cells, and Natural Killer Cells

In 2009, Highfill et al. demonstrated that high-Oct4 ( $Oct4^{high}$ ) mMAPCs can suppress allogenic T-cell activation and proliferation [83]. This suppression occurred through prostaglandin E2 synthesis by MAPCs, which decreased proinflammatory cytokine production [83]. However, Luyckx et al. demonstrated that an  $Oct4^{high}$  mMAPC clone had an immunostimulatory effect at a low stimulator to effector (S-E) ratio (100:1 and 10:1) in vitro, whereas a suppressive effect was found at an S:E ratio of 1:1 [84]. On the other hand, when  $Oct4^{low}$  mMAPCs, MSCs, or ESCs were tested, the immunostimulatory effect observed with  $Oct4^{high}$  mMAPCs was not seen. Furthermore, a local suppressive effect was found after  $Oct4^{high}$  mMAPC and mMSC injection in a mouse model of graft versus host disease (GVHD) [85]. Although the exact mechanisms responsible for the differing effects of  $Oct4^{high}$  and  $Oct4^{low}$  mMAPCs have immunosuppressive effects in vivo if delivered locally.

In 2013, Reading et al. demonstrated that hMAPCs suppress T-cell proliferation and type 1 T helper (Th1) and Th17 cytokine production while increasing interleukin (IL)10 production. Furthermore, hMAPCs inhibited the proliferation of autoreactive T cells from patients with type 1 diabetes [86]. In 2015, the same group reported that culturing hMAPCs with CD4 T<sup>+</sup> cells and CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes resulted in the suppression of IL7-dependent T-cell expansion and prevented Th1 (interferon [IFN]-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-4 $\alpha$ ), Th17 (IL17), and Th22 (IL22) proinflammatory cytokine production. Transwell studies demonstrated that soluble factors, including prostaglandin E, from MAPCs suppressed the T cells [87]. In 2016, Plessers et al. demonstrated that hMAPCs also blocked cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes [88].

Aside from affecting T-cell function, Jacobs et al. reported the effects of hMAPCs on natural killer (NK) cell function. hMAPCs express lower levels of class 1 MHC compared with the MSCs and express inhibitory signals for NK cells, such as poliovirus receptor and unique long–16 binding proteins-2/5/6. When resting NK cells were cocultured with allogeneic hMAPCs at effector–target ratios of 1:1 to 8:1 for 24 h, NK cells did not kill hMAPCs and blocked cytolytic functions of NK cells, because NK-sensitive K562 target cells were not killed. In contrast, IL 2–stimulated NK cells remained capable of killing hMAPCs. hMAPCs dose dependently reduced NK cell proliferation in an indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase–dependent manner but did not influence the cytotoxic capacity of NK cells induced by IL-2, unless the hMAPCs were also activated using IFN-gamma. Thus, the mutual interaction between NK cells and hMAPCs depends on the activation state of NK cells and the priming of hMAPCs [89].

Finally, Ravanidis et al. demonstrated that rMAPCs can also suppress activated T-cell expansion, and that when challenged with proinflammatory cytokines, the rMAPCs produced chemokines as well as neurotrophic factors, including vascular epithelial growth factor (VEGF) and ciliary neurotropic factor, which could partly protect against hydrogen peroxide—induced death of the oligodendrocyte cell line (OLN93) [90].

#### In Vivo Immunodulatory Effects

## Effect of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells on Graft Versus Host Disease

In the 2009 study described earlier, Highfill et al. demonstrated that when *Oct4*<sup>*high*</sup> mMAPCs were injected systemically, the cells did not home to sites for allopriming or suppress GVHD, but when they were injected locally in spleen at BM transplantation, mMAPCs suppressed T-cell proliferation and reduced GVHD via prostaglandin E2 synthesis [83,91]. Similarly, Luckx et al. demonstrated that although *Oct4*<sup>*high*</sup> mMAPCs suppressed local alloreactive T-cell expansion in lymph nodes in vivo, they failed to suppress GVHD when injected systemically [84]. By contrast, Kovacsovics-Bankowski et al. demonstrated that rat MAPCs were immunomodulatory, and when infused intravenously, they could reduce GVHD-related mortality in a rat model of GVHD [91].

In 2014, Maziarz et al. conducted a multicenter phase 1 dose escalation study to access the safety of clinical-grade MAPCs (MultiStem, Athersys, Inc., Cleveland, OH) in allogenic HSC transplantation. This study demonstrated that hMAPC infusions were tolerated without association of any known toxicity, graft failure, incidence, or infection. At the highest single dose (10 million cells/kg body weight) a reduced incidence of grade II to IV GVHD was seen 11.1% (one in nine patients) and no grade III and IV GVHD cases were observed compared with the lower single dose (1.5 million cells/kg body weight) in which 37% grade II to IV (37%) GVHD was observed [92]. Of note, no grade III or IV GVHD cases were observed in the highest single-dose cohort.

### Effect of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells on Graft Survival When Cotransplanted With Other Cells

Cunha et al. demonstrated that cotransplantation of mouse pancreatic islets and an hMAPC composite pellet under the kidney capsule of alloxan-induced diabetic C57BL/6 mice improved islet function and glycemic control, secretion of c-peptide, and glucose tolerance compared with mice receiving islets alone or separate pellet transplantations of islets and hMAPCs. Moreover, hMAPC production of angiogenic growth factors including VEGF in vitro and in vivo is hypothesized to be responsible for improved graft neovascularization and enhanced islet function [93].

## Role of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells as Immunomodulation in Solid Organ Transplantation

In 2012, Eggenhofer et al. demonstrated that infusion of third-party MAPCs in an allogenic rat model for heterotopic heart transplantation induced long-term allograft survival with low-dose pharmacological immunosuppression compared with animals treated with immunosuppressive drugs alone. Furthermore, hearts recovered from MAPCs treated animals could be successfully regrafted into naive animals with no immunosuppression [94]. Transcriptome studies demonstrated that the MAPC-induced tolerogenicity was caused by creating tolerogenic macrophages in the heart. Indeed, when monocytes and macrophages were depleted in the first recipient by intravenous administration of clodronate-filled liposomes in organ recipients before MAPC infusion, the tolerogenic effect of MAPCs was diminished and long-term acceptance of graft was reduced [94]. In a more recent study, the effect of clinical-grade hMAPC on the need for immunosuppression in clinical liver transplantation (Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Solid Organ Transplantation) was assessed in a phase I, dose escalation, safety, and feasibility study. Patients received one portal vein and one intravenous injection of third-party hMAPCs. Initial results indicate that no toxicity was found in MAPC-treated patients [95,96]. The clinical effect on liver rejection cannot yet be evaluated.

## Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cell Immunodulatory and/or Trophic Effects in Ischemic Disease

Several preclinical and clinical studies in ischemic diseases have demonstrated a role for immunomodulatory and/or trophic effects that affect the degree of ischemic damage in the central nervous system, heart, and limbs.

*Ischemic Stroke* In 2010, Mays et al. demonstrated the neuroprotection of endogenous tissues at the site of injury and improved locomotor function when hMAPCs were injected directly into the striatum of a rat model of ischemic stroke. It was hypothesized that this was caused in part by the secretion of trophic factors by hMAPCs and reduced neuroinflammation at the site of injury. This resulted in decreased neuronal cell death and increased neoangiogenesis, indirectly contributing to tissue regeneration [97]. Similarly, Mora-Lee et al. in 2012 showed that when hMAPCs or MSCs were transplanted in an immunodeficient mouse model of stroke, animals treated with hMAPCs revealed a decreased loss of brain tissue that was associated with increased angiogenesis, and reduced inflammation and glial scar 28 days after stroke. In addition, increased proliferation of NSCs in the SVZ and survival of new neuroblasts were observed in hMAPC-treated animals [98].

In 2014, Hess et al. outlined the clinical protocol for a phase-1/2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter dose escalation trial in patients with ischemic stroke who were treated with MultiStem [99].

Jellema et al. demonstrated in a preclinical animal model for hypoxic-ischemic injury in fetal sheep that systemic administration of MAPCs reduced the duration of seizures, prevented microglial proliferation, and modulated peripheral inflammatory responses [100].

*Spinal Cord Injury* Multipotent adult progenitor cells and related cell types have been shown to modulate the inflammatory response after spinal cord injury, driving macrophages toward an alternatively activated phenotype and reducing the effects of the inhibitory glial scar [101,102]. DePaul et al. demonstrated that intravenous delivery of hMAPCs in an acute contusive spinal cord injury model reduced macrophage-mediated axonal cell death and decreased inflammation by homing MAPCs into the spleen. Functionally, improved recovery of locomotion and urinary function was documented that correlated with reduced macrophage infiltration and increased tissue sparing at the lesion site. Furthermore, the researchers reported a significant increase in arginase 1, a well-established marker of alternatively activated macrophages, in the acutely injured spinal cord. Biodistribution studies demonstrated that hMAPCs preferentially homed to the spleen. These results demonstrate that hMAPCs exert their primary effects in the periphery and support the hypothesis that hMAPCs alter the dynamics of the inflammatory response to central nervous system injury, ultimately leading to improved outcomes [103].

*Traumatic Brain Injury* In another study, intravenous injection of rMAPCs after traumatic brain injury (TBI) protected rats from neurovascular damage, also by interaction with resident splenocytes. This resulted in improved

#### 12. MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELLS

preservation of the blood-brain barrier [104]. Intravenous rMAPC delivery after cortical injury induced T-regulatory cells and increased the M2/M1 macrophage ratio in splenocytes and plasma [105]. In addition, in vitro studies demonstrated that microglia activation was modulated by secreted factors from rMAPC-splenocyte cocultures, and these changes resulted from an increase in M1 macrophage apoptosis. Finally, it was shown that infusion of rMAPCs improved spatial learning in a TBI rodent model [106]. Therefore, it appears that neuroprotection in TBI (and possibly other brain or spinal cord injuries) is at least partly mediated by an interaction between MAPCs and splenocytes, which results in the modulation of activated microglia.

*Ischemia–Reperfusion Injury* The antiinflammatory properties of hMAPCs were also examined in an ex vivo lung explant model of ischemia–reperfusion injury [107]. The intratracheal administration of hMAPCs was shown to reduce cold-induced ischemia lung injury and inflammation and suggested that hMAPCs could be used ex vivo to reduce the effects of reperfusion after long-term cold storage of donor lungs.

In 2007, Pelacho et al. demonstrated that direction injection of Oct4<sup>low</sup> mMAPCs in the Myocardial Infarct border zone surrounding a heart infarction in mice induced the functional improvement of left ventricular contractile cardiac function. The beneficial effect of MAPCs was mainly trophic, because no conversion of MAPCs to myocardial cells was observed, but improved host angiogenesis and changes in local inflammatory response were observed, which likely explained the improved cardiac function [108]. This study was further confirmed in a rat model in which syngeneic and allogeneic rMAPCs were tested in a rat model of acute myocardial infarction (MI) [109] and in the setting of xenogeneic delivery of hMAPCs in a mouse MI model by Dimomeletis et al. in 2010, even though authors suggest that MAPC conversion to cardiomyocytes was seen, what other teams were less conclusive about [110]. Similar observations were found by Zeng et al. [111], when swine MAPCs were directly injected into the heart of allogeneic swine, without or with immunosuppression. This initial study was followed by a longer-term assessment study in which the same group demonstrated that MAPCs imparted long-term functional and bioenergetic improvement in a swine MI model [112]. These studies formed the basis for a phase I clinical trial in which allogeneic clinical-grade hMAPCs (MultiStem) were administered by adventitial delivery into the coronary artery in acute MI patients with patients with an ejection fraction of 45% or less. The results demonstrated that the cells were well-tolerated and that the ejection fraction 4 months posttherapy was increased by  $\pm 10\%$  in groups that received 50 or 100 million MultiStem, which was in the 50 and 100 million group also accompanied by a 25% and 8% increase in left ventricular stroke volume, respectively [113].

**Peripheral Hind Limb Ischemia** Aranguren et al. in 2008 compared the effect of grafting unselected murine bone marrow cells (mBMCs), *Oct4*-expressing mMAPCs, or *Oct4*-expressing mMAPCs predifferentiated to vascular progenitors (mMAPC-VP) in a mouse model of moderate ischemic limb. They demonstrated that mMAPCs, in contrast to mBMC and mMAPC-VP cells, resulted in a sustained improvement in muscle regeneration and function. In addition, when tested in a much more severe model of limb ischemia, they demonstrated that both undifferentiated *Oct4*<sup>high</sup> mMAPCs and hMAPCs remedied vascular and muscular deficiencies [114]. In a subsequent study, in which human angiogenic progenitor cells isolated from BM based on the expression of AC133 cells and hMAPC cells were compared, hMAPCs improved angiogenesis and muscle regeneration and function significantly better than AC133 cells. These studies demonstrated that the largest effect of mMAPC/hMAPC was through the production of trophic proangiogenic and regenerative stimuli.

## Antitumor Effects of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells in Glioma

*Oct4<sup>low</sup>* mMAPC syngeneic expressing enhanced GFP and firefly luciferase-herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase and labeled with superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles labeled (1% or 10%) were grafted in glioblastoma (GL261)-bearing animals. Magnetic resonance imaging of the animals demonstrated that mOct4<sup>-</sup> MAPCs were located near the glioblastoma and upon treatment with ganciclovir, a reduction was seen in tumor volume along with a better survival rate compared with control untreated animals. The antitumor effect was hypothesized to be at least partly mediated by the synergistic effects of the immunomodulatory properties of mMAPCs and suicide gene therapy [115].

## Possible Mechanisms of Trophic Effects: Secreted Proteome of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells

In 2013, using a proteomics approach, Burrows et al. identified the secretome of hMAPCs over 72 h in vitro under steady-state conditions and in response to different inflammatory signals, specifically IFN-gamma or lipopolysaccharide (LPS), or the tolerogenic CD74 ligand, RTL 1000. These studies revealed that MAPCs secrete multiple

#### REFERENCES

molecules involved in regulating extracellular matrix components, as well as chemokines, cytokines, and multiple molecules that affect angiogenesis, activation of growth factors, and the innate immune system. The secretome was highly differentially affected by incubating MAPCs with IFN-gamma, LPS, or RTL-100 [116]. These findings are in line with the immunomodulatory, protective, and proangiogenic effects of MAPCs in different disease settings; the precise contribution of the secreted factors identified in this proteome study will need further validation.

## CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

We here describe MAPCs derived from rodents (mice and rats) and humans. Although both cell types initially were named MAPCs, based on the fact that they were isolated from BM of rodents and humans and had differentiation and expansion potential greater than MSCs, more recent studies demonstrated specific and important differences between rMAPCs and hMAPCs. Although rMAPCs express the pluripotency gene *Oct4* at levels near those in ESCs, have the potential to differentiate robustly into endodermal cells, and develop into yolk sac tumors when grafted in vivo, these findings do not hold true for human cells.

hMAPC that do not cause tumor formation have been tested extensively for their possible immunomodulatory and trophic effects in different animal models of transplantation, GVHD, central nervous system injury and ischemia, and cardiac and peripheral limb ischemia. The results from these preclinical studies are being tested in ongoing clinical studies using the clinical-grade MultiStem product.

## **Conflict of Interest Statement**

Catherine M. Verfaillie is a consultant to ReGenesys, Leuven, Belgium.

## References

- [1] Morrison SJ, Kimble J. Asymmetric and symmetric stem-cell divisions in development and cancer. Nature 2006;441(7097):1068-74.
- [2] Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981;78(12):7634–8.
- [3] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282(5391):1145–7.
- [4] Odorico JS, Kaufman DS, Thomson JA. Multilineage differentiation from human embryonic stem cell lines. Stem Cells 2001;19(3):193-204.
- [5] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126(4):663–76.
- [6] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131(5):861–72.
- [7] Geijsen N, Horoschak M, Kim K, Gribnau J, Eggan K, Daley GQ. Derivation of embryonic germ cells and male gametes from embryonic stem cells. Nature 2004;427(6970):148–54.
- [8] West JA, Park IH, Daley GQ, Geijsen N. In vitro generation of germ cells from murine embryonic stem cells. Nat Protoc 2006;1(4):2026-36.
- [9] Lee JH, Hong KS, Mantel C, Broxmeyer HE, Lee MR, Kim KS. Spontaneously differentiated GATA6-positive human embryonic stem cells represent an important cellular step in human embryonic development; they are not just an artifact of in vitro culture. Stem Cells Dev 2013; 22(20):2706–13.
- [10] Knowles BB, Aden DP, Solter D. Monoclonal antibody detecting a stage-specific embryonic antigen (SSEA-1) on preimplantation mouse embryos and teratocarcinoma cells. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1978;81:51–3.
- [11] Shevinsky LH, Knowles BB, Damjanov I, Solter D. Monoclonal antibody to murine embryos defines a stage-specific embryonic antigen expressed on mouse embryos and human teratocarcinoma cells. Cell 1982;30(3):697–705.
- [12] Scholer HR, Hatzopoulos AK, Balling R, Suzuki N, Gruss P. A family of octamer-specific proteins present during mouse embryogenesis: evidence for germline-specific expression of an Oct factor. EMBO J 1989;8(9):2543–50.
- [13] Avilion AA, Nicolis SK, Pevny LH, Perez L, Vivian N, Lovell-Badge R. Multipotent cell lineages in early mouse development depend on SOX2 function. Genes Dev 2003;17(1):126–40.
- [14] Chambers I, Colby D, Robertson M, Nichols J, Lee S, Tweedie S, et al. Functional expression cloning of Nanog, a pluripotency sustaining factor in embryonic stem cells. Cell 2003;113(5):643-55.
- [15] Ben-Shushan E, Thompson JR, Gudas LJ, Bergman Y. Rex-1, a gene encoding a transcription factor expressed in the early embryo, is regulated via Oct-3/4 and Oct-6 binding to an octamer site and a novel protein, Rox-1, binding to an adjacent site. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18(4): 1866–78.
- [16] Nagy A, Rossant J, Nagy R, Abramow-Newerly W, Roder JC. Derivation of completely cell culture-derived mice from early-passage embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90(18):8424–8.
- [17] Nagy A, Gocza E, Diaz EM, Prideaux VR, Ivanyi E, Markkula M, et al. Embryonic stem cells alone are able to support fetal development in the mouse. Development 1990;110(3):815–21.
- [18] Nichols J, Smith A. Naive and primed pluripotent states. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(6):487–92.

- [19] Tesar PJ, Chenoweth JG, Brook FA, Davies TJ, Evans EP, Mack DL, et al. New cell lines from mouse epiblast share defining features with human embryonic stem cells. Nature 2007;448(7150):196-9.
- [20] Guo G, von Meyenn F, Santos F, Chen Y, Reik W, Bertone P, et al. Naive pluripotent stem cells derived directly from isolated cells of the human inner cell mass. Stem Cell Rep 2016;6(4):437–46.
- [21] Takashima Y, Guo G, Loos R, Nichols J, Ficz G, Krueger F, et al. Resetting transcription factor control circuitry toward ground-state pluripotency in human. Cell 2014;158(6):1254–69.
- [22] Gafni O, Weinberger L, Mansour AA, Manor YS, Chomsky E, Ben-Yosef D, et al. Derivation of novel human ground state naive pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2013;504(7479):282–6.
- [23] Pasque V, Tchieu J, Karnik R, Uyeda M, Sadhu Dimashkie A, Case D, et al. X chromosome reactivation dynamics reveal stages of reprogramming to pluripotency. Cell 2014;159(7):1681–97.
- [24] Spangrude GJ, Scollay R. A simplified method for enrichment of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Exp Hematol 1990;18(8):920-6.
- [25] Burns AJ, Pasricha PJ, Young HM. Enteric neural crest-derived cells and neural stem cells: biology and therapeutic potential. Neuro Gastroenterol Motil 2004;16(Suppl. 1):3–7.
- [26] Zhang J, Duan X, Zhang H, Deng Z, Zhou Z, Wen N, et al. Isolation of neural crest-derived stem cells from rat embryonic mandibular processes. Biol Cell 2006;98(10):567–75.
- [27] Barker N, Huch M, Kujala P, van de Wetering M, Snippert HJ, van Es JH, et al. Lgr5(+ve) stem cells drive self-renewal in the stomach and build long-lived gastric units in vitro. Cell Stem Cell 2010;6(1):25–36.
- [28] Zheng Y, Hsieh JC, Escandon J, Cotsarelis G. Isolation of mouse hair follicle bulge stem cells and their functional analysis in a reconstitution assay. Methods Mol Biol 2016;1453:57–69.
- [29] Chen SY, Han B, Zhu YT, Mahabole M, Huang J, Beebe DC, et al. HC-HA/PTX3 purified from amniotic membrane promotes BMP signaling in limbal niche cells to maintain quiescence of limbal epithelial progenitor/stem cells. Stem Cells 2015;33(11):3341–55.
- [30] Lopez-Paniagua M, Nieto-Miguel T, de la Mata A, Dziasko M, Galindo S, Rey E, et al. Comparison of functional limbal epithelial stem cell isolation methods. Exp Eye Res 2016;146:83–94.
- [31] Toma JG, McKenzie IA, Bagli D, Miller FD. Isolation and characterization of multipotent skin-derived precursors from human skin. Stem Cells 2005;23(6):727–37.
- [32] Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV. Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 1974;17(4):331–40.
- [33] Friedenstein AJ, Deriglasova UF, Kulagina NN, Panasuk AF, Rudakowa SF, Luria EA, et al. Precursors for fibroblasts in different populations of hematopoietic cells as detected by the in vitro colony assay method. Exp Hematol 1974;2(2):83–92.
- [34] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- [35] Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 1991;9(5):641-50.
- [36] Prockop DJ. Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for nonhematopoietic tissues. Science 1997;276(5309):71–4.
- [37] Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006;8(4):315–7.
- [38] Lv FJ, Tuan RS, Cheung KM, Leung VY. Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2014;32(6):1408–19.
- [39] Wang Y, Chen X, Cao W, Shi Y. Plasticity of mesenchymal stem cells in immunomodulation: pathological and therapeutic implications. Nat Immunol 2014;15(11):1009–16.
- [40] De Ugarte DA, Alfonso Z, Zuk PA, Elbarbary A, Zhu M, Ashjian P, et al. Differential expression of stem cell mobilization-associated molecules on multi-lineage cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow. Immunol Lett 2003;89(2–3):267–70.
- [41] Erices A, Conget P, Minguell JJ. Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. Br J Haematol 2000;109(1):235-42.
- [42] Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Kluter H, Bieback K. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 2006;24(5):1294–301.
- [43] Jiang Y, Jahagirdar BN, Reinhardt RL, Schwartz RE, Keene CD, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, et al. Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 2002;418(6893):41–9.
- [44] Yoon YS, Wecker A, Heyd L, Park JS, Tkebuchava T, Kusano K, et al. Clonally expanded novel multipotent stem cells from human bone marrow regenerate myocardium after myocardial infarction. J Clin Invest 2005;115(2):326–38.
- [45] D'Ippolito G, Diabira S, Howard GA, Menei P, Roos BA, Schiller PC. Marrow-isolated adult multilineage inducible (MIAMI) cells, a unique population of postnatal young and old human cells with extensive expansion and differentiation potential. J Cell Sci 2004;117(Pt 14): 2971–81.
- [46] Kogler G, Sensken S, Airey JA, Trapp T, Muschen M, Feldhahn N, et al. A new human somatic stem cell from placental cord blood with intrinsic pluripotent differentiation potential. J Exp Med 2004;200(2):123–35.
- [47] De Coppi P, Bartsch Jr G, Siddiqui MM, Xu T, Santos CC, Perin L, et al. Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25(1):100–6.
- [48] Dan YY, Riehle KJ, Lazaro C, Teoh N, Haque J, Campbell JS, et al. Isolation of multipotent progenitor cells from human fetal liver capable of differentiating into liver and mesenchymal lineages. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103(26):9912–7.
- [49] Kucia M, Reca R, Campbell FR, Zuba-Surma E, Majka M, Ratajczak J, et al. A population of very small embryonic-like (VSEL) CXCR4(+) SSEA-1(+)Oct-4+ stem cells identified in adult bone marrow. Leukemia 2006;20(5):857–69.
- [50] Kucia M, Halasa M, Wysoczynski M, Baskiewicz-Masiuk M, Moldenhawer S, Zuba-Surma E, et al. Morphological and molecular characterization of novel population of CXCR4+ SSEA-4+ Oct-4+ very small embryonic-like cells purified from human cord blood: preliminary report. Leukemia 2007;21(2):297–303.
- [51] Beltrami AP, Cesselli D, Bergamin N, Marcon P, Rigo S, Puppato E, et al. Multipotent cells can be generated in vitro from several adult human organs (heart, liver, and bone marrow). Blood 2007;110(9):3438–46.
- [52] Jiang Y, Vaessen B, Lenvik T, Blackstad M, Reyes M, Verfaillie CM. Multipotent progenitor cells can be isolated from postnatal murine bone marrow, muscle, and brain. Exp Hematol 2002;30(8):896–904.

- [53] Subramanian K, Geraerts M, Pauwelyn KA, Park Y, Owens DJ, Muijtjens M, et al. Isolation procedure and characterization of multipotent adult progenitor cells from rat bone marrow. Methods Mol Biol 2010;636:55–78.
- [54] Breyer A, Estharabadi N, Oki M, Ulloa F, Nelson-Holte M, Lien L, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cell isolation and culture procedures. Exp Hematol 2006;34(11):1596-601.
- [55] Ulloa-Montoya F, Kidder BL, Pauwelyn KA, Chase LG, Luttun A, Crabbe A, et al. Comparative transcriptome analysis of embryonic and adult stem cells with extended and limited differentiation capacity. Genome Biol 2007;8(8):R163.
- [56] Nichols J, Smith A. The origin and identity of embryonic stem cells. Development 2011;138(1):3–8.
- [57] Debeb BG, Galat V, Epple-Farmer J, Iannaccone S, Woodward WA, Bader M, et al. Isolation of Oct4-expressing extraembryonic endoderm precursor cell lines. PLoS One 2009;4(9):e7216.
- [58] Lo Nigro A, Geraerts M, Notelaers T, Roobrouck VD, Muijtjens M, Eggermont K, et al. MAPC culture conditions support the derivation of cells with nascent hypoblast features from bone marrow and blastocysts. J Mol Cell Biol 2012;4(6):423–6.
- [59] Guan K, Nayernia K, Maier LS, Wagner S, Dressel R, Lee JH, et al. Pluripotency of spermatogonial stem cells from adult mouse testis. Nature 2006;440(7088):1199–203.
- [60] Kanatsu-Shinohara M, Lee J, Inoue K, Ogonuki N, Miki H, Toyokuni S, et al. Pluripotency of a single spermatogonial stem cell in mice. Biol Reprod 2008;78(4):681–7.
- [61] Ko K, Tapia N, Wu G, Kim JB, Bravo MJ, Sasse P, et al. Induction of pluripotency in adult unipotent germline stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2009; 5(1):87–96.
- [62] Bao S, Tang F, Li X, Hayashi K, Gillich A, Lao K, et al. Epigenetic reversion of post-implantation epiblast to pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Nature 2009;461(7268):1292-5.
- [63] Reyes M, Dudek A, Jahagirdar B, Koodie L, Marker PH, Verfaillie CM. Origin of endothelial progenitors in human postnatal bone marrow. J Clin Invest 2002;109(3):337–46.
- [64] Vaes B, Walbers S, Gijbels K, Craeye D, Deans R, Pinxteren J, et al. Culturing protocols for human multipotent adult stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 2015;1235:49–58.
- [65] Boozer S, Lehman N, Lakshmipathy U, Love B, Raber A, Maitra A, et al. Global characterization and genomic stability of human MultiStem, a multipotent adult progenitor cell. J Stem Cells 2009;4(1):17–28.
- [66] Roobrouck VD, Clavel C, Jacobs SA, Ulloa-Montoya F, Crippa S, Sohni A, et al. Differentiation potential of human postnatal mesenchymal stem cells, mesoangioblasts, and multipotent adult progenitor cells reflected in their transcriptome and partially influenced by the culture conditions. Stem Cells 2011;29(5):871–82.
- [67] Reyes M, Verfaillie CM. Characterization of multipotent adult progenitor cells, a subpopulation of mesenchymal stem cells. Ann NY Acad Sci 2001;938:231–3. discussion 3–5.
- [68] Lee DJ, Park Y, Hu WS, Ko CC. Osteogenic potential of multipotent adult progenitor cells for calvaria bone regeneration. Adv Met Med 2016; 2016:2803081.
- [69] Ferreira JR, Hirsch ML, Zhang L, Park Y, Samulski RJ, Hu WS, et al. Three-dimensional multipotent progenitor cell aggregates for expansion, osteogenic differentiation and 'in vivo' tracing with AAV vector serotype 6. Gene Ther 2013;20(2):158–68.
- [70] Yu L, Weng Y, Shui X, Fang W, Zhang E, Pan J. Multipotent adult progenitor cells from bone marrow differentiate into chondrocyte-like cells. J Arthroplasty 2015;30(7):1273–6.
- [71] Zeng L, Rahrmann E, Hu Q, Lund T, Sandquist L, Felten M, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells from swine bone marrow. Stem Cells 2006;24(11):2355–66.
- [72] Ross JJ, Hong Z, Willenbring B, Zeng L, Isenberg B, Lee EH, et al. Cytokine-induced differentiation of multipotent adult progenitor cells into functional smooth muscle cells. J Clin Invest 2006;116(12):3139–49.
- [73] Sohni A, Mulas F, Ferrazzi F, Luttun A, Bellazzi R, Huylebroeck D, et al. TGFbeta1-induced Baf60c regulates both smooth muscle cell commitment and quiescence. PLoS One 2012;7(10):e47629.
- [74] Xu J, Liu X, Jiang Y, Chu L, Hao H, Liua Z, et al. MAPK/ERK signalling mediates VEGF-induced bone marrow stem cell differentiation into endothelial cell. J Cell Mol Med 2008;12(6A):2395–406.
- [75] Liu Z, Jiang Y, Hao H, Gupta K, Xu J, Chu L, et al. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is dynamically expressed during bone marrow stem cell differentiation into endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2007;293(3):H1760–5.
- [76] Aranguren XL, Luttun A, Clavel C, Moreno C, Abizanda G, Barajas MA, et al. In vitro and in vivo arterial differentiation of human multipotent adult progenitor cells. Blood 2007;109(6):2634–42.
- [77] Roelandt P, Pauwelyn KA, Sancho-Bru P, Subramanian K, Bose B, Ordovas L, et al. Human embryonic and rat adult stem cells with primitive endoderm-like phenotype can be fated to definitive endoderm, and finally hepatocyte-like cells. PLoS One 2010;5(8):e12101.
- [78] Roelandt P, Sancho-Bru P, Pauwelyn K, Verfaillie C. Differentiation of rat multipotent adult progenitor cells to functional hepatocyte-like cells by mimicking embryonic liver development. Nat Protoc 2010;5(7):1324–36.
- [79] Park Y, Subramanian K, Verfaillie CM, Hu WS. Expansion and hepatic differentiation of rat multipotent adult progenitor cells in microcarrier suspension culture. J Biotechnol 2010;150(1):131–9.
- [80] Kumar A, Lo Nigro A, Gysemans C, Cai Q, Esguerra C, Nelson-Holte M, et al. Reversal of hyperglycemia by insulin-secreting rat bone marrow- and blastocyst-derived hypoblast stem cell-like cells. PLoS One 2013;8(5):e63491.
- [81] Schwartz RE, Reyes M, Koodie L, Jiang Y, Blackstad M, Lund T, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells from bone marrow differentiate into functional hepatocyte-like cells. J Clin Invest 2002;109(10):1291–302.
- [82] Serafini M, Dylla SJ, Oki M, Heremans Y, Tolar J, Jiang Y, et al. Hematopoietic reconstitution by multipotent adult progenitor cells: precursors to long-term hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med 2007;204(1):129–39.
- [83] Highfill SL, Kelly RM, O'Shaughnessy MJ, Zhou Q, Xia L, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells can suppress graft-versus-host disease via prostaglandin E2 synthesis and only if localized to sites of allopriming. Blood 2009;114(3):693–701.
- [84] Luyckx A, De Somer L, Rutgeerts O, Waer M, Verfaillie CM, Van Gool S, et al. Mouse MAPC-mediated immunomodulation: cell-line dependent variation. Exp Hematol 2010;38(1):1–2.
- [85] Luyckx A, De Somer L, Jacobs S, Rutgeerts O, Lenaerts C, Roobrouck VD, et al. Oct4-negative multipotent adult progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells as regulators of T-cell alloreactivity in mice. Immunol Lett 2011;137(1-2):78-81.
#### 12. MULTIPOTENT ADULT PROGENITOR CELLS

- [86] Reading JL, Yang JH, Sabbah S, Skowera A, Knight RR, Pinxteren J, et al. Clinical-grade multipotent adult progenitor cells durably control pathogenic T cell responses in human models of transplantation and autoimmunity. J Immunol 2013;190(9):4542–52.
- [87] Reading JL, Vaes B, Hull C, Sabbah S, Hayday T, Wang NS, et al. Suppression of IL-7-dependent effector T-cell expansion by multipotent adult progenitor cells and PGE2. Mol Ther 2015;23(11):1783–93.
- [88] Plessers J, Dekimpe E, Van Woensel M, Roobrouck VD, Bullens DM, Pinxteren J, et al. Clinical-grade human multipotent adult progenitor cells block CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5(12):1607–19.
- [89] Jacobs SA, Plessers J, Pinxteren J, Roobrouck VD, Verfaillie CM, Van Gool SW. Mutual interaction between human multipotent adult progenitor cells and NK cells. Cell Transplant 2014;23(9):1099–110.
- [90] Ravanidis S, Bogie JF, Donders R, Craeye D, Mays RW, Deans R, et al. Neuroinflammatory signals enhance the immunomodulatory and neuroprotective properties of multipotent adult progenitor cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015;6:176.
- [91] Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Streeter PR, Mauch KA, Frey MR, Raber A, van't Hof W, et al. Clinical scale expanded adult pluripotent stem cells prevent graft-versus-host disease. Cell Immunol 2009;255(1–2):55–60.
- [92] Maziarz RT, Devos T, Bachier CR, Goldstein SC, Leis JF, Devine SM, et al. Single and multiple dose MultiStem (multipotent adult progenitor cell) therapy prophylaxis of acute graft-versus-host disease in myeloablative allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation: a phase 1 trial. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015;21(4):720–8.
- [93] Cunha JP, Leuckx G, Sterkendries P, Korf H, Bomfim-Ferreira G, Overbergh L, et al. Human multipotent adult progenitor cells enhance islet function and revascularisation when co-transplanted as a composite pellet in a mouse model of diabetes. Diabetologia 2016;60.
- [94] Eggenhofer E, Popp FC, Mendicino M, Silber P, Van't Hof W, Renner P, et al. Heart grafts tolerized through third-party multipotent adult progenitor cells can be retransplanted to secondary hosts with no immunosuppression. Stem Cells Transl Med 2013;2(8):595–606.
- [95] Soeder Y, Loss M, Johnson CL, Hutchinson JA, Haarer J, Ahrens N, et al. First-in-Human case study: multipotent adult progenitor cells for immunomodulation after liver transplantation. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4(8):899–904.
- [96] Popp FC, Fillenberg B, Eggenhofer E, Renner P, Dillmann J, Benseler V, et al. Safety and feasibility of third-party multipotent adult progenitor cells for immunomodulation therapy after liver transplantation—a phase I study (MISOT-I). J Transl Med 2011;9:124.
- [97] Mays RW, et al. Development of an allogeneic adherent stem cell therapy for treatment of ischemic stroke. J Exp Stroke Transl Med 2010;3(1): 34–46.
- [98] Mora-Lee S, Sirerol-Piquer MS, Gutierrez-Perez M, Gomez-Pinedo U, Roobrouck VD, Lopez T, et al. Therapeutic effects of hMAPC and hMSC transplantation after stroke in mice. PLoS One 2012;7(8):e43683.
- [99] Hess DC, Sila CA, Furlan AJ, Wechsler LR, Switzer JA, Mays RW. A double-blind placebo-controlled clinical evaluation of MultiStem for the treatment of ischemic stroke. Int J Stroke 2014;9(3):381–6.
- [100] Jellema RK, Ophelders DR, Zwanenburg A, Nikiforou M, Delhaas T, Andriessen P, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells for hypoxicischemic injury in the preterm brain. J Neuroinflammation 2015;12:241.
- [101] Nakajima H, Uchida K, Guerrero AR, Watanabe S, Sugita D, Takeura N, et al. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes an alternative pathway of macrophage activation and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2012;29(8):1614–25.
- [102] Busch SA, Hamilton JA, Horn KP, Cuascut FX, Cutrone R, Lehman N, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells prevent macrophagemediated axonal dieback and promote regrowth after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 2011;31(3):944–53.
- [103] DePaul MA, Palmer M, Lang BT, Cutrone R, Tran AP, Madalena KM, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell treatment decreases inflammation leading to functional recovery following spinal cord injury. Sci Rep 2015;5:16795.
- [104] Walker PA, Shah SK, Jimenez F, Gerber MH, Xue H, Cutrone R, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell therapy for traumatic brain injury: preserving the blood brain barrier via an interaction with splenocytes. Exp Neurol 2010;225(2):341–52.
- [105] Walker PA, Bedi SS, Shah SK, Jimenez F, Xue H, Hamilton JA, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell therapy after traumatic brain injury: modulation of the resident microglia population. J Neuroinflammation 2012;9:228.
- [106] Bedi SS, Hetz R, Thomas C, Smith P, Olsen AB, Williams S, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell therapy attenuates activated microglial/macrophage response and improves spatial learning after traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 2013;2(12):953–60.
- [107] La Francesca S, Ting AE, Sakamoto J, Rhudy J, Bonenfant NR, Borg ZD, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells decrease cold ischemic injury in ex vivo perfused human lungs: an initial pilot and feasibility study. Transplant Res 2014;3(1):19.
- [108] Pelacho B, Asakura J, Luttun B, Ross J, Heremans Y, Nelson-Holte MH, et al. Functional improvement following transplantation of Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells in a mouse model of acute myocardial infarction is due to trophic factors. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2007;1:51–9.
- [109] Van't Hof W, Mal N, Huang Y, Zhang M, Popovic Z, Forudi F, et al. Direct delivery of syngeneic and allogeneic large-scale expanded multipotent adult progenitor cells improves cardiac function after myocardial infarct. Cytotherapy 2007;9(5):477–87.
- [110] Dimomeletis I, Deindl E, Zaruba M, Groebner M, Zahler S, Laslo SM, et al. Assessment of human MAPCs for stem cell transplantation and cardiac regeneration after myocardial infarction in SCID mice. Exp Hematol 2010;38(11):1105–14.
- [111] Zeng L, Hu Q, Wang X, Mansoor A, Lee J, Feygin J, et al. Bioenergetic and bioenergetic and functional consequences of bone marrow-derived multipotent progenitor cell transplantation in hearts with postinfarction left ventricular remodeling. Circulation 2007;115:1866–75.
- [112] Jameel MN, Li Q, Mansoor A, Qiang X, Sarver A, Wang X, et al. Long-term functional improvement and gene expression changes after bone marrow-derived multipotent progenitor cell transplantation in myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2010;298(5): H1348–56.
- [113] Penn MS, Ellis S, Gandhi S, Greenbaum A, Hodes Z, Mendelsohn FO, et al. Adventitial delivery of an allogeneic bone marrow-derived adherent stem cell in acute myocardial infarction: phase I clinical study. Circ Res 2012;110(2):304–11.
- [114] Aranguren XL, McCue JD, Hendrickx B, Zhu XH, Du F, Chen E, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells sustain function of ischemic limbs in mice. J Clin Invest 2008;118(2):505–14.
- [115] Leten C, Trekker J, Struys T, Dresselaers T, Gijsbers R, Vande Velde G, et al. Assessment of bystander killing-mediated therapy of malignant brain tumors using a multimodal imaging approach. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015;6:163.
- [116] Burrows GG, Van't Hof W, Newell LF, Reddy A, Wilmarth PA, David LL, et al. Dissection of the human multipotent adult progenitor cell secretome by proteomic analysis. Stem Cells Transl Med 2013;2(10):745–57.

# Hematopoietic Stem Cell Properties, Markers, and Therapeutics

John D. Jackson

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

#### INTRODUCTION

The hematopoietic system provides for the regulated production of the complete complement of mature blood cells in the peripheral circulation, which includes neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, monocytes, lymphocytes megakaryocytes (platelets), and erythrocytes. These mature blood cells have a limited life span, which ranges from hours for granulocytes to weeks for erythrocytes and years for some lymphocytes. To maintain equilibrium in the hematopoietic system, the continual production of mature blood cells is required. The hematopoietic system is a self-renewal system in which hematopoietic stem cells divide and differentiate to produce maturing progeny as well as self-renew to maintain a pool of stem cells for the life of the individual. This chapter will define the properties of the hematopoietic system and review the current therapeutic uses of hematopoietic stem cells.

#### HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL PROPERTIES

Hematopoietic cells appear early in embryonic development. The first observable site of hematopoiesis in the mouse is the formation of blood islands in the yolk sac at 7.25–7.5 days postfertilization [1]. Controversy has surrounded the origin of hematopoietic stem cells during embryological development. In studies using parabiosed chorioamnionic membranes from two chick eggs of different sexes, it was determined that spleen, bone marrow, and bursa of Fabricius contained hematopoietic cells of the opposite sex [2]. The results suggested that the hematopoietic organs were seeded by stem cells circulating in the blood. When 7-day-old yolk sac cells were injected into irradiated chicken embryos, both myeloid and lymphoid tissues of the irradiated embryos were repopulated by the injected yolk sac cells, which suggested that the circulating cells were pluripotent, seeded the different organs, and differentiated [3]. Using a mouse model, similar studies demonstrated that yolk sac contained both stem and progenitor cell populations [1]. Yolk sac cells from 7- to 13-day old mouse embryos were injected into irradiated recipients to measure colony-forming unit-spleen (CFU-s) content. Yolk sac-derived CFU-s were detectable at day 8 of gestation and reached a maximum at day 11. These cells also contained hematopoietic progenitor cells, as measured by an in vitro colony assay. Neither hematopoietic stem nor progenitor cells were detectable by day 13 of gestation. The pluripotent nature of yolk sac cells was demonstrated by repopulation of both lymphoid and myeloid tissues of lethally irradiated recipients. The authors concluded from these studies that hematopoietic tissues in embryos were colonized by circulating stem cells that were derived from the yolk sac and that the yolk sac was the only de novo site of hematopoietic stem cell production [1].

In contrast, studies using chick—quail chimeras, in which 2-day-old quail embryos were grafted onto developmentally compatible chick yolk sacs, demonstrated that yolk sac blood island cells did not contribute to intraembryonic hematopoiesis [4]. Only quail hematopoietic cells were found in the thymus and spleen of the grafted quail embryos. The discrepancy in the data was explained by the gestational age of the embryos at which the yolk sac was examined. Seven-day-old chick embryo yolk sac—derived cells were used to repopulate the irradiated chick embryos [3]. Vascularization was established before day 7 of gestation in the chicken embryos; therefore, it was speculated that cell migration had resulted in the presence of intraembryonic-derived stem cells in the yolk sac before the gestational age of 7 days [4]. Another study demonstrated that hematopoietic cells that were able to colonize the thymus were present in the blood of 4-day-old chick embryos [5].

Lymphoid progenitor cells were shown to be derived from intraembryonic sites and not from yolk sac in a chickchick chimera model [6]. Using a chick-quail chimera model, the intraembryonic source of hematopoietic stem cells was confirmed and the colonization of embryonic hematopoietic organs was shown to occur via interstitial migration of stem cells rather than the vascular seeding of the stem cells from the yolk sac [7]. To define the location of the hematopoietic stem cells further, anterior and posterior regions of quail blastoderms were grafted onto chicken blastoderms. The origin of the hematopoietic cells was localized to the posterior section of the grafted quail blastoderm; no hematopoietic stem cells were found in the cephalic or anterior grafted blastoderm [7]. The specific site of the origin of hematopoietic stem cells was not identified. However, it was speculated that colonization of the embryonic hematopoietic organs was from stem cells derived from adjacent tissues [7]. The dorsal aorta region of the chicken embryo was suggested to be the site of origin of hematopoietic stem cells [4].

The use of an amphibian developmental model also demonstrated an intraembryonic origin of hematopoietic stem cells [8]. Using an amphibian model containing cytogenetically unique cells, the study showed that there were two sites of hematopoiesis during early amphibian development: one from the ventral blood island mesoderm, which produced a transient population of erythrocytes, and the other from the lateral plate mesoderm in the region of the dorsal aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region, which produced definitive hematopoiesis [9]. The migration of hematopoietic precursors in the lateral plate was shown to be from the posterior to the more anterior pronephros and dorsal aorta [10].

The two distinct sites of hematopoiesis described in the amphibians may also apply to avian and mammalian hematopoiesis in embryo development. Erythroid cells derived from chicken yolk sac were able to colonize spleens of grafted quail embryos, but only transiently [11]. Chicken-derived erythroid cells were found in the spleen of grafted quail embryos between days 10 and 12; however, by day 13, only quail erythroid cells were seen in the spleen. In addition, up to day 10, chicken red blood cells were most of the circulating red blood cells; however, by day 13, up to 80% of the circulating red blood cells were derived from quail hematopoietic cells [11]. In a mouse model, 9.5-day-old mouse yolk sac cultured in vitro produced primitive erythropoiesis for only a short time [12]. However, if the yolk sac was cultured in a transmembrane organ culture in the presence of embryonic liver rudiment, the yolk sac developed into definitive erythropoiesis [12]. Definitive erythropoiesis was established whether or not there was direct cell—cell contact between the yolk sac and liver rudiment. This result indicates a role for the microenvironment and short-range factors in the induction of definitive erythropoiesis.

#### **Placental Hematopoiesis**

During fetal development, the placenta serves as the tissue responsible for maternofetal exchange as well as a source of cytokines and hormones [13]. Early studies in the mouse suggested that the placenta contains hematopoietic activity [14,15]. Hematopoietic cells are found in the placenta as early as day 9 of gestation, which suggests that the placenta may be a site of hematopoietic stem cell generation in situ [16]. However, the placenta may also be seeded with hematopoietic stem cells from the AGM region [17]. Hematopoietic stem cells are rapidly expanded in the placenta between days 11.5 and 12.5 of gestation and decline after day 13.5 of gestation [18]. The placenta may be a source of hematopoietic stem cells for the fetal liver via the fetal circulation [17].

#### Fetal Liver Hematopoiesis

The fetal liver is the primary hematopoietic organ for fetal development and is the primary site for expansion and maturation of fetal hematopoietic stem cells. Hematopoiesis in the fetal liver depends on the migration of hematopoietic precursor cells and is not a site for the de novo generation of hematopoietic stem cells. In the mouse, yolk sac erythropoiesis declines rapidly from day 15 of gestation with the switch of hematopoiesis to the fetal liver. By day 9.5–10 of gestation, the fetal liver is colonized by circulating hematopoietic progenitors [19]. During this early time of colonization, the major cell type is definitive erythroid cells probably representing progenitors originating in the yolk sac [20]. Lymphoid and myeloid lineages develop later. The first hematopoietic stem cells appear around day 11.5 of gestation and undergo extensive expansion in the fetal liver [21]. The yolk sac, AGM region, and placenta are the potential sites of origin for the cells seeding the fetal liver. Hematopoietic stem cells found in the fetal liver are

pluripotent, as evidenced by the repopulation of lymphoid and myeloid linages after fetal liver cell transplantation into lethally irradiated mice [22]. Using the CFU-s assay, the number of hematopoietic stem cells in the liver reached a maximum at day 18 of gestation and then fell sharply at birth [23]. No hematopoietic stem cells could be detected in the liver 8 days after birth [23]. Developmental changes in the fetal liver microenvironment may influence the homing, retention, support, and differentiation of hematopoietic cells [24]. In adult animals, under normal physiological conditions, liver extramedullary hematopoiesis does not occur. However, under severe physiological stress, extramedullary hematopoiesis can occur [25].

#### **Bone Marrow Hematopoiesis**

In adults, the major site of hematopoiesis is the bone marrow. The structure of bone marrow is not random. There is an ordered arrangement of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in relation to the hematopoietic microenvironment. Morphologically, the mouse femoral bone marrow consists of cords of highly vascularized hematopoietic tissue that is composed of structural microenvironmental cells that support the maintenance, proliferation, and differentiation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Spatial organization is important to the regulation of hematopoietic cells. The stromal component of the bone marrow microenvironment is composed of osteoblasts, fibroblasts, adipocytes, chondrocytes, and vascular cells [26]. Bone marrow stromal cells make up the supportive microenvironment for the maintenance of hematopoiesis through the production of growth factors, chemokines, and extracellular matrix, as well as direct cell–cell interaction.

A concept for a bone marrow niche was first proposed by Schofield [27]. He postulated that primitive hematopoietic stem cells reside in the niche in association with stromal cells. When a hematopoietic stem cell divides, one daughter cells remains in the niche representing self-renewal and the other daughter cells leaves the niche to undergo further proliferation and differentiation.

Two types of bone marrow niches have been identified: osteoblastic and vascular. The osteoblastic niche is located near the endosteal surface of the marrow and was first suggested from homing studies of transplanted hematopoietic stem cells [28]. Osteoblasts and bone marrow stromal cells produce SDF-1, which is a homing chemokine for hematopoietic stem cells [29]. The osteoblastic niche provides an environment that supports stem cell quiescence and the long-term survival of hematopoietic stem cells [30]. The vascular niche is located in the central medullary region of the bone marrow. Stem cells located in the vascular niche have access to circulating factors that may allow mobilization into the peripheral circulation via transendothelial migration [31].

#### In Vitro Hematopoiesis

An in vitro bone marrow culture system was developed by Dexter and colleagues; it supports the long-term maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells [32]. The adherent layer contains several stromal cell populations and is obligatory for the long-term support and production of stem cells [33]. Upon morphological examination of the adherent layer of long-term bone marrow cultures, primitive hematopoietic cells can be seen in close association with the stromal cells (Fig. 13.1 and 13.2).



FIGURE 13.1 Photomicrograph of a long-term bone marrow culture showing the adherent stromal layer that contains bone marrow stromal cells and the associated hematopoietic cells (magnification, 20×).



**FIGURE 13.2** Photomicrograph showing the interaction of hematopoietic progenitor cells with bone marrow stromal cells. The *black arrows* point out the close association of the hematopoietic progenitor cells with the adherent stromal cells. This interaction is the "cobblestone area." The phase dark cells are hematopoietic progenitor cells that have migrated under the stromal cell (*black arrows*). The phase light hematopoietic progenitor cells are on top of the adherent stromal cell (*white arrow*) (magnification,  $100 \times$ ).



FIGURE 13.3 Transmission electron micrograph of a cobblestone area. Hematopoietic progenitor cells (*white arrows*) have migrated under the stromal cell (*black arrow*) and are in close contact with the stromal cell (magnification, 5550×).

These areas consist of multilayer cellular complexes that are hematopoietically active (Fig. 13.3).

Primitive CFU-s reside in the adherent layer, where they undergo proliferation and differentiation with some of the CFU-s, and many mature cells or their immediate precursors are released into the supernatant [34,35]. The adherent layer contains a larger proportion of more primitive (day 12) CFU-s and the nonadherent or supernatant cells contain a higher number of more mature (day 8) CFU-s [36,37]. Cell-to-cell contact appears to be essential in the in vitro maintenance of these stem cells. The development of in vitro long-term bone marrow cultures has been important in characterizing hematopoietic stem cells and their interaction with stromal cells.

#### Phenotypic Properties of Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Hematopoietic stem cells represent approximately 0.01% of nucleated cells within adult bone marrow. The identification and isolation of hematopoietic stem cells have been greatly enhanced by technical advancements in flow cytometry and the development of monoclonal antibodies. One of the first comprehensive phenotypic enrichments of mouse hematopoietic stem cells was reported in 1988 by Weissman and colleagues [38]. The procedure was modified over the years, but basically it involved the use of a cocktail of antibodies to deplete mature hematopoietic cells

#### HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL THERAPIES

195

with the resultant enrichment of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. The depletion cocktail included antibodies to B cells (CD45R/B220), granulocytes (Gr-1), macrophages (Mac-1), erythrocytes (Ter-119), and T cells (CD-4 and CD8). The resultant cell population was termed lineage negative (lin<sup>-</sup>). Other antibodies were used to subdivide the enriched cell population further, including Sca-1 and c-Kit [39]. The lin<sup>-</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup> (LSK) cells represent approximately 0.05% of nucleated bone marrow cells [40]. Thy-1.1 and Thy-1.2 antibodies were also used; however, the expression of Thy-1.1 is mouse strain dependent, and mouse strains expressing Thy-1.2 show variability in expression; therefore, these two markers are not as useful in hematopoietic stem cell purification [41]. CD34 can also be used to subdivide the LSK population. The CD34<sup>-</sup> cells contain a more primitive stem cells than do the CD34<sup>+</sup>. Therefore, long-term repopulating cells fall within the LSK/CD34<sup>-</sup> population. Morrison and colleagues used the signaling lymphocyte activation molecule family of cell surface markers to identify a long-term repopulating hematopoietic cell population (CD150<sup>+</sup>/CD244<sup>-</sup>/CD48<sup>-</sup>) [31]. CD150 can be added to the LSK scheme to enrich hematopoietic stem cells further.

Another approach to identifying hematopoietic stem cells is the use of fluorescent dye exclusion rather than cell surface markers. This approach uses the stem cell property of the high expression of multidrug resistance (MDR) pumps, which remove drugs and dye from the cells, resulting in low fluorescence. Two different dyes have been used. Rhodamine 123 (Rho123) is a mitochondrial-specific dye. Rho123l<sup>lo</sup>-expressing bone marrow cells are enriched in long-term repopulating cells [42,43]. Use of the second dye was describe by Goodell and colleagues [44]. Hoechst 33,342 is a vital dye that binds to DNA; when it is excited by a UV laser, it emits at two wavelengths, 450 nm (Hoechst blue) and 675 nm (Hoechst red). Hematopoietic stem cells efflux the dye owing to their high expression of MDR pumps, resulting in a low concentration of fluorescence. Analysis of the Hoechst red versus Hoechst blue emissions reveals a unique plot with the stem cells present on the side of the fluorescent profile; therefore, it is termed the side population (SP). SP cells are enriched for hematopoietic stem cell activity; most of the hematopoietic repopulating ability is located in the lower portion of the SP fraction [45,46]. Dye exclusion assays can be combined with immunophenotyping methods to provide a more stringent selection of hematopoietic stem cells.

#### HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL THERAPIES

#### **Bone Marrow Transplantation**

During the production of nuclear weapons in the 1940s, it was discovered that the hematopoietic system was one of the more sensitive tissues to the effects of irradiation. Many investigators searched for methods to protect the hematopoietic system from the detrimental effects of irradiation. It was found that shielding the spleen would allow irradiated mice to survive [47]. In addition, the infusion of spleen cells also protected mice from lethal irradiation by reconstituting the hematopoietic system [48]. Injection of bone marrow cells also resulted in the recovery of the hematopoietic system and the survival of lethal irradiated animals [49]. During these studies, the dogma was that humoral factors produced by spleen and bone marrow were responsible for the recovery of hematopoietic protection after irradiated animals [50]. However, several studies in the mid-1950s demonstrated that hematopoietic protection after irradiation resulted from infused donor cells that contributed to hematopoietic recovery in the host [51–54]. This discovery of a cellular role in hematopoietic recovery from lethal irradiation initiated the age of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for malignant diseases.

In 1957, Thomas and colleagues performed the first allogeneic transplantations on six patients who experienced various types of terminal illnesses [55]. The infusion of donor bone marrow cells demonstrated that this procedure could be administered safely; however, no lasting engraftment was noted owing to the modest levels of irradiation and chemotherapy given to the patients. Three years later, Thomas and colleagues transplanted two pediatric patients who had acute leukemia with syngeneic bone marrow after chemotherapy and total body irradiation [56]. Each patient had a twin sibling who provided the donor bone marrow. Although both patients experienced relapse of the disease several months after transplantation, the procedure resulted in hematopoietic reconstitution of the patients. Around the same time, Mathé and colleagues infused allogeneic bone marrow into people who had accidentally been exposed to radiation. Four of the five transplanted patients survived; however, the transplant recipients experienced only transient chimerism. Because the exact dose of irradiation that each victim received was impossible to determine accurately, they probably did not experience a lethal dose of irradiation, and survived owing to short-term hematopoietic support from the infused allogeneic cells and long-term autologous reconstitution of the hematopoietic system [57,58]. These early transplantations established the safety of bone marrow cell infusion, which led to wider use of allogeneic bone marrow transplants in the late 1950s and early 1960s. Unfortunately, no long-term

#### 13. HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

survivors were noted [59]. Many reasons contributed to this outcome, including the lack of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) matching, insufficient immunosuppression, and the lack of effective supportive care [60-62].

These early transplantation failures reduced enthusiasm for further attempts at clinical transplantation. However, animal studies continued with significant advances in immunosuppression and histocompatibility determination. These addressed issues with graft rejection involving the host immune system attacking infused donor cells, resulting in graft failure and donor-reactive T cells attacking the host tissues and organs such as skin, liver, and intestine and resulting in graft versus host disease (GVHD) [63–66]. Approximately 50% of patients with allogeneic transplantation experience GVHD even though they received major histocompatibility complex—matched donor cells and immunosuppressive drug treatment [67,68]. Other factors determining the development and severity of GVHD are recipient age, the conditioning regimen, and the source of hematopoietic stem cells [69].

Because of the significant morbidity and mortality associated with GVHD and the recognition of the role of donor T cells in GVHD, many clinical investigators examined T-cell depletion to reduce GVHD. Procedures to enrich for hematopoietic stem cells also resulted in donor T-cell depletion and, more important, reduced the number of tumor cells in the graft. However, it was found that patients who received T-depleted or hematopoietic stem cell—enriched grafts experienced an increase in graft failure, tumor relapse, and infection [70,71]. During this time, preclinical and clinical data showed that allogeneic transplantation provided an additional benefit, a graft versus tumor (GVT) effect. In a mouse model, Barnes et al. were the first to demonstrated the GVT effect. T cells within the donor graft were able to recognize and kill the host's tumor cells [72,73]. This effect occurred only in allogeneic, not syngeneic transplantations. Patients who developed GVHD experienced less tumor relapse; therefore, there was a link between GVHD and GVT effects [74–76].

Significant efforts have been reported to enhance GVT effects and suppress GVHD. One approach is to target minor histocompatibility antigens [77,78]. Another approach is to use regulator T cells to modify GVHD and maintain GVT effects [79] as well to use natural killer (NK) cells to augment GVT effects while circumventing GVHD [80,81]. In addition, the infusion of donor leukocytes after allogeneic transplantation was shown to induce remission in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia [82]. The reduction in relapse in some patients with chronic myeloid leukemia was associated with GVHD; however, other patients achieved remission without GVHD.

#### Autologous Peripheral Blood Stem Cell Transplantation

During the 1980s and 1990s, clinical transplantation rapidly increased. In earlier times, bone marrow harvested from the posterior iliac crest or the sternum was the primary source of hematopoietic stem cells used in transplantation. However, other sources of hematopoietic stem cells were identified, including peripheral blood and umbilical cord blood.

In 1979, patients with chronic granulocytic leukemia (CGL) were successfully transplanted with autologous peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs) collected in the chronic phase of the disease [83]. When the patients advanced to the acute phase of CGL, they underwent high-dose therapy and were transplanted with the cryopreserved PBSCs. The patients engrafted and returned to the chronic phase of the disease. This report demonstrated that CGL PBSCs could restore hematopoietic function in the patients with CGL. There were two reports in 1979 and 1980 in which syngeneic PBSC transplants failed [84,85], which reinforced concerns regarding the quality of circulating stem cells and their ability to reestablish bone marrow hematopoiesis [86]. The reason for failure of the PBSC transplants was not clear, but it may have been associated with the method of infusing the cells, which occurred over 1–2 weeks. In 1986, multiple centers reported successful transplantations using nonmobilized (steady-state) PBSC [87–90]. The number of hematopoietic stem cells was significantly lower in the peripheral circulation than in the bone marrow (0.06% and 1.1% CD34<sup>+</sup>, respectively). Therefore, mobilization procedures were developed to increase the number of circulating hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. One method was to collect peripheral blood after hematopoietic recovery, after nonmyeloablative chemotherapy. The myelosuppressive effects of chemotherapy induced a hematopoietic rebound, resulting in an increase in circulating hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the peripheral blood [91]. The timing of the hematopoietic rebound in the peripheral circulation was difficult to determine; therefore, this technique was not used extensively. After the development of recombinant cytokines, colonystimulating factors were approved for clinical use. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) has become the preferred method of mobilization. PBSCs have since replaced the use of bone marrow stem cells in many transplant centers; approximately 75% of unrelated allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells transplantations and almost 100% autologous transplantations have been performed [92].

#### Allogeneic Peripheral Blood Stem Cell Transplantation

Initially, there was a reluctance to use allogeneic PBSC for transplantation because of the potential for an increase in GVHD. PBSC collections contain an approximately 10-fold greater number of T cells than a bone marrow harvest. The first reported use of allogeneic peripheral stem cells transplantation was in 1989 [93]. A patient with acute lymphocytic leukemia received a steady-state (nonmobilized) PBSC transplantation from an HLA-matched sibling. The donor preferred peripheral blood collection rather than undergoing a bone marrow harvest. The collections were T-cell depleted; however, the last collection was used unmanipulated to contain the estimated number of T cells in a bone marrow harvest. On day 27 posttransplant, a biopsy showed trilineage engraftment; however, long-term engraftment was not determined because the patient died on day 32 after transplantation. By the mid-1990s, several transplant centers reported successful allogeneic PBSC transplantations [94–96].

The reasons for the switch from bone marrow to PBSC transplantations were numerous. Bone marrow harvest requires general anesthesia with its associated risks and postharvest pain, and patients have reported fatigue [97]. PBSCs are mobilized using a 4- to 5-day course of cytokines (primarily G-CSF) and then isolated using apheresis in 1- to 3-day collection sessions, usually in an outpatient setting. The only requirement is venous access. Therefore, the ease of collection and lower incidences of adverse events may have been the driving force for the switch to PBSCs [98]. In addition, the number of hematopoietic stem cells in cytokine-mobilized PBSC collections was higher than in bone marrow harvests. This higher number of stem cells may be responsible for the more rapid hematopoietic engraftment and immune reconstitution associated with PBSC transplants compared with bone marrow transplantations [99,100]. PBSC transplantations are also associated with a decreased rate of relapse, which may be related to the higher number of T cells present in the PBSC collections and the subsequent increase in GVT effects compared with bone marrow harvests. However, there are some risks associated with PBSC transplantations. A small number of PBSC donors undergoing cytokine mobilization experience bone pain. Of more concern is spleen rupture [101]. With the increase in the number of T cells in the PBSC, an increase in the incidence of chronic GVHD has been noted with no increase in acute GVHD [102,103]. However, the higher chronic GVHD seen in PBSC transplant recipients compared with bone marrow recipients did not lead to an increase in mortality for the PBSC graft recipients [103]. Overall, the risk for disease relapse is lower in PBSC transplantation patients; however, the progression-free survival appears to be similar between PBSC and bone marrow transplant recipients [99,104,105].

#### Cord Blood Transplantation

The first report of the potential of cord blood as a source for hematopoietic transplantation occurred in 1972 [106]. However, it was the critical work by Broxmeyer that advanced cord blood from the bench to the bedside [107,108]. The first cord blood transplant was performed in 1988 for a 5-year-old patient with Fanconi anemia [109]. The donor cord blood cells were collected from a sibling and cryopreserved. After transplantation, the patient engrafted by day 22 and expressed donor chimerism. This success led to an expansion of the use of cord blood for allogeneic transplantation. Cord blood has also been used for unrelated transplantation in pediatric and adult patients who did not have a related donor [110,111].

Cord blood is a readily available source of allogenic hematopoietic stem cells that can be collected at the time of birth. Both public and private cord blood donor sites are available [112,113].

Challenges in using cord blood for transplantation include delayed engraftment, which may increase the risk for infection [114], and small volumes of cord blood collections, which limit the number of hematopoietic stem cells for engraftment of adults or large pediatric patients [115]. To overcome these challenges, two cord blood collections have been used. Double cord blood transplantations increase the cost and have been associated with an increased incidence of GVHD [116]. Another method for increasing stem cell numbers in cord blood collections is to use ex vivo expansion [117]. No significant improvement was seen in survival or transplantation outcomes with expansion; however, neutrophil engraftment was augmented.

Cord blood transplantation is a valid treatment for both pediatric and adult patients who do not have a matched sibling or unrelated donor. In the future, cord blood needs to be compared with other allogeneic donor sources to define more clearly the advantages of cord blood transplantations.

#### Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for Severe Combined Immunodeficiency

Severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) describes an immunological syndrome that arises from numerous genetic defects leading to the absence of humoral and cellular immunity in infants [118]. If left untreated, SCID

#### 13. HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

results in a fatal outcome from multiple and severe infections within the first few years of life. The incidence of SCID in the United States is approximately 1 in 58,000 infants [119].

The most prevalent type of SCID (approximately 45%–50%) is X-linked (X-SCID), in which there is a defect in the common gamma chain of the receptors for interleukin-2, -4, -7, -9, -15, and -21 that affects the development of T and NK cells [120]. It has an X-linked inheritance that results in phenotype expression predominantly in males. The second most prevalent SCID is genetic defects in the recombinase-activating genes [119]. These genes are responsible for the formation of T- and B-cell antigen receptors, which lead to nonfunctional T and B cells. NK cells are not affected. The next most prevalent SCID is the defect in adenosine deaminase (ADA)-SCID. ADA is an enzyme involved in purine metabolism [120]. ADA-SCID results in the accumulation of deoxyadenosine and deoxyadenosine triphosphate, which is toxic to lymphocytes [121]. As a frontline treatment, patients with ADA-SCID receive enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) using polyethylene glycol-conjugated adenosine deaminase (PEG-ADA). There are significant side effects including lymphoproliferative disorders, anemia, and pulmonary insufficiency [121] as well as a decreased thymus T-cell output, reduced T-cell function, and B-cell deficiencies over time [122–124].

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is the best option for treatment for SCID. Bone marrow mobilized PBSCs from related, unrelated, or cord blood grafts are options for transplantation in patients with SCID. The first transplantation for SCID occurred in 1968 [125]. In 1968–2005 in Europe, patients who received a related genoidentical donor had a long-term survival of 90%, which was higher than for patients who had a related phenoidentical, mismatched related, or unrelated donor [126]. Patients who received a transplantation between 1995 and 2005 did better potentially as a result of improvement in transplantation care. Patients transplanted before age 6 months did better than did patients transplanted at age 1 year or older. In addition, outcomes were improved when patients did not have respiratory damage or viral infection before transplantation.

The Primary Immune Deficiency Treatment Consortium of 41 North American centers reported on 240 patients with SCID who received transplantations from 2000 to 2009 [127]. Grafts were either unmodified or T-cell depleted. Most patients transplanted with grafts from matched sibling donors or mismatched related donors did not receive conditioning; however, patients receiving grafts from unrelated donors or cord blood grafts received myeloablative conditioning, reduced intensity conditioning, or immunosuppression. The overall survival rate at 5 years was 74%. Patients receiving a matched sibling donor had a survival rate of 97%, whereas patients receiving an unrelated cord blood graft had the lowest survival rate of 58%. Similar to the finding from the European group, patients who were younger ( $\leq$ 3.5 months) fared better. Patients older than 3.5 months at the time of transplant and with active infections did poorly.

Although allogeneic transplantation is the treatment of choice, the overall success depends on finding an appropriate donor. Gene therapy offers an alternative treatment in which autologous hematopoietic stem cells are used in association with gene therapy to correct the genetic defect. Gene therapy has been used for X-SCID and ADA-SCID. ADA-SCID was the first to be molecularly identified, and patients with ADA-SCID were the first to be treated with gene therapy in the early 1990s. No significant clinical improvement was seen; however, the trial demonstrated that gene therapy could be delivered safely. The patients with ADA-SCID continued to be treated with PEG-ADA, which may have accounted for the inability to determine the efficacy of the gene therapy. Subsequently, other trials using improved viral vectors and conditioning regimens were conducted to treat patients with ADA-SCID [128–131]. Approximately 40 patients with ADA-SCID have been treated, with significant improvement in immunity without ERT or allogeneic transplantation. These studies confirmed the safety of gene therapy for patients with ADA-SCID and demonstrate their significant clinical improvement.

Twenty patients with X-SCID were treated with autologous hematopoietic stem cells that were modified using gene therapy [132,133]. Significant clinical improvements were seen with T-cell reconstitution and improved B-cell function. However, 5 of the 20 patients developed leukemia [134,135]. The viral insertion site was the cause of the leukemia owing to insertional oncogenesis. This result led to the development of new retroviral and lentiviral vectors that appear to have no genotoxicity [136].

#### Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for Tolerance Induction

Immune tolerance is a state in which the immune system accepts donor tissues or organs but retains the ability to respond to foreign antigens such as bacteria or viruses. The induction of donor-specific tolerance is the ultimate goal for solid organ and composite tissue transplantation. This type of tolerance would eliminate the need of life-long immunosuppression with all of the associated side effects and prevent chronic rejection. Mixed chimerism is a state in which the hematopoietic and immune systems of an allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipient

#### CONCLUSION

contain both donor and recipient cells. Mixed hematopoietic chimerism was first demonstrated to be associated with tolerance in fraternal twin cattle in 1945 [137]. Animal studies, including rodent, pig, dog and nonhuman primate, demonstrated hematopoietic mixed chimerism and tolerance induction for tissue and organ transplantation [138–142]. Because of these preclinical studies, several clinical trials for tolerance induction for kidney transplantation were performed [143–145]. Data from the three centers showed that donor hematopoietic stem cell infusion is feasible to induce tolerance for kidney organ graft. Durable to transient chimerism was established in some of the recipients with withdrawal of immunosuppressants. These results are promising; however, they represent only short-term success. Additional improvements in preconditioning to reduce tolerance needs to be expanded beyond kidney transplants to other tissues and organs.

#### Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for Autoimmune Diseases

Autoimmune diseases are clinical conditions that result from the loss of self-tolerance. This includes the failure of both peripheral and central tolerance, which results in the generation of autoreactive T and B cells that damage tissues and organs. Approximately 5% of the population is affected by autoimmune diseases. Autoimmune symptoms can be managed but not cured by conventional treatment, which include antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs. There is a group of autoimmune patients who express severe disease and are resistant to standard treatment. Morbidity and mortality are high for these patients; therefore, an alternative therapy is needed to improve their quality of life. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has been evaluated for severe forms of autoimmune diseases. The most promising results have been seen for multiple sclerosis and systemic sclerosis [146]. There has been limited success for Crohn disease and type 1 diabetes [146]. However, significant adverse events, including relapse and mortality, were noted for autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantations for systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and juvenile idiopathic arthritis [147–149].

The rationale for autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for autoimmune diseases is that it eliminates autoreactive immune cells by conditioning regimens and resets the immune system with the transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells.

Although autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has been shown to reestablish self-tolerance, there are relapses that may be associated with the original genetic risk for autoimmune disease. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantations establish a donor immune system in the recipient, potentially offering a more definitive cure. However, the risk for GVHD and the use of ablative conditioning treatments with their associated morbidity and mortality limit the widespread use of allogeneic stem cell transplants [150]. The current data suggest that the earlier that hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is performed, the more benefit is seen for the patient with autoimmune disease. A better understanding is needed of the mechanisms involved with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in autoimmune diseases.

#### CONCLUSION

The hematopoietic stem cell is the most highly studied and probably best understood of all stem cell populations. Since the initial identification of the hematopoietic stem cell, its physical and functional properties have been extensively studied in multiple animal models. All of this knowledge has been translated into the clinic for use in treating bone marrow failure, malignancies, immune tolerance, and autoimmune diseases. Hematopoietic stem cells can be isolated from multiple sources including bone marrow, peripheral blood, and cord blood. This makes stem cells easily available in sufficient numbers for clinical use. These properties make hematopoietic stem cells a valuable therapy that can have widespread use in regenerative medicine.

#### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

ADA Adenosine deaminase
ADA-SCID Adenosine deaminase-severe combined immunodeficiency
AGM Aorta-gonad-mesonephros
CFU-s Colony forming cell-spleen
CGL Chronic granulocytic leukemia
CML Chronic myeloid leukemia
DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid

#### 13. HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

GVHD Graft versus host disease GVT Graft versus tumor HLA Human leukocyte antigen JIA Juvenile idiopathic arthritis Lin- Lineage negative LSK lin<sup>-</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup> MDR Multi drug resistance NK Natural killer PBSCs Peripheral blood stem cells PEG-ADA Poly ethylene glycol conjugated adenosine deaminase **RA** Rheumatoid arthritis RAG Recombinase-activating genes Rho123<sup>10</sup> Rhodamine 123 low SCID Severe combined immunodeficiency SLAM Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule **SLE** Systemic lupus erythematosus SP Side population X-SCID X linked severe combined immunodeficiency

#### References

- Moore MA, Metcalf D. Ontogeny of the haemopoietic system: yolk sac origin of in vivo and in vitro colony forming cells in the developing mouse embryo. Br J Haematol 1970;18(3):279–96.
- [2] Moore MA, Owen JJ. Chromosome marker studies on the development of the haemopoietic system in the chick embryo. Nature 1965; 208(5014). 956 passim.
- [3] Moore MA, Owen JJ. Chromosome marker studies in the irradiated chick embryo. Nature 1967;215(5105):1081-2.
- [4] Dieterlen-Lievre F. On the origin of haemopoietic stem cells in the avian embryo: an experimental approach. J Embryol Exp Morphol 1975; 33(3):607–19.
- [5] Le Douarin NM, Jotereau FV, Houssaint E, Belo M. Ontogeny of the avian thymus and bursa of Fabricius studied in interspecific chimeras. Ann Immunol (Paris) 1976;127(6):849–56.
- [6] Lassila O, Eskola J, Toivanen P, Martin C, Dieterlen-Lievre F. The origin of lymphoid stem cells studied in chick yolk sac-embryo chimaeras. Nature 1978;272(5651):353–4.
- [7] Martin C, Beaupain D, Dieterlen-Lievre F. A study of the development of the hemopoietic system using quail-chick chimeras obtained by blastoderm recombination. Dev Biol 1980;75(2):303–14.
- [8] Hollyfield JG. The origin of erythroblasts in Rana pipiens tadpoles. Dev Biol 1966;14(3):461-80.
- [9] Turpen JB, Knudson CM, Hoefen PS. The early ontogeny of hematopoietic cells studied by grafting cytogenetically labeled tissue anlagen: localization of a prospective stem cell compartment. Dev Biol 1981;85(1):99–112.
- [10] Turpen JB, Knudson CM. Ontogeny of hematopoietic cells in *Rana pipiens*: precursor cell migration during embryogenesis. Dev Biol 1982; 89(1):138–51.
- [11] Dieterlen-Lievre F, Beaupain D, Martin C. Origin of erythropoietic stem cells in avian development: shift from the yolk sac to an intraembryonic site. Ann Immunol (Paris) 1976;127(6):857–63.
- [12] Cudennec CA, Thiery JP, Le Douarin NM. In vitro induction of adult erythropoiesis in early mouse yolk sac. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981; 78(4):2412–6.
- [13] Cross JC, Baczyk D, Dobric N, Hemberger M, Hughes M, Simmons DG, et al. Genes, development and evolution of the placenta. Placenta 2003;24(2-3):123-30.
- [14] Melchers F. Murine embryonic B lymphocyte development in the placenta. Nature 1979;277(5693):219–21.
- [15] Dancis J, Jansen V, Brown GF, Gorstein F, Balis ME. Treatment of hypoplastic anemia in mice with placental transplants. Blood 1977;50(4): 663-70.
- [16] Alvarez-Silva M, Belo-Diabangouaya P, Salaun J, Dieterlen-Lievre F. Mouse placenta is a major hematopoietic organ. Development 2003; 130(22):5437–44.
- [17] Mikkola HKA, Orkin SH. The journey of developing hematopoietic stem cells. Development 2006;133(19):3733-44.
- [18] Gekas C, Dieterlen-Lievre F, Orkin SH, Mikkola HK. The placenta is a niche for hematopoietic stem cells. Dev Cell 2005;8(3):365-75.
- [19] Johnson GR, Moore MA. Role of stem cell migration in initiation of mouse foetal liver haemopoiesis. Nature 1975;258(5537):726-8.
- [20] Chen MJ, Li Y, De Obaldia ME, Yang Q, Yzaguirre AD, Yamada-Inagawa T, et al. Erythroid/myeloid progenitors and hematopoietic stem cells originate from distinct populations of endothelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 2011;9(6):541–52.
- [21] Kumaravelu P, Hook L, Morrison AM, Ure J, Zhao S, Zuyev S, et al. Quantitative developmental anatomy of definitive haematopoietic stem cells/long-term repopulating units (HSC/RUs): role of the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region and the yolk sac in colonisation of the mouse embryonic liver. Development 2002;129(21):4891–9.
- [22] Prummer O, Fliedner TM. The fetal liver as an alternative stem cell source for hemolymphopoietic reconstitution. Int J Cell Cloning 1986; 4(4):237–49.
- [23] Barker JE, Keenan MA, Raphals L. Development of the mouse hematopoietic system. II. Estimation of spleen and liver "stem" cell number. J Cell Physiol 1969;74(1):51-6.
- [24] Johns JL, Christopher MM. Extramedullary hematopoiesis: a new look at the underlying stem cell niche, theories of development, and occurrence in animals. Vet Pathol 2012;49(3):508–23.

#### 200

- [25] Ploemacher RE, van Soest PL. Morphological investigation on phenylhydrazine-induced erythropoiesis in the adult mouse liver. Cell Tissue Res 1977;178(4):435–61.
- [26] Bianco P, Riminucci M, Gronthos S, Robey PG. Bone marrow stromal stem cells: nature, biology, and potential applications. Stem Cells 2001; 19(3):180–92.
- [27] Schofield R. The stem cell system. Biomed Pharmacother 1983;37(8):375-80.
- [28] Nilsson SK, Johnston HM, Coverdale JA. Spatial localization of transplanted hemopoietic stem cells: inferences for the localization of stem cell niches. Blood 2001;97(8):2293–9.
- [29] Peled A, Petit I, Kollet O, Magid M, Ponomaryov T, Byk T, et al. Dependence of human stem cell engraftment and repopulation of NOD/ SCID mice on CXCR4. Science 1999;283(5403):845–8.
- [30] Parmar K, Mauch P, Vergilio JA, Sackstein R, Down JD. Distribution of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow according to regional hypoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104(13):5431–6.
- [31] Kiel MJ, Yilmaz OH, Iwashita T, Yilmaz OH, Terhorst C, Morrison SJ. SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 2005;121(7):1109–21.
- [32] Dexter TM, Allen TD, Lajtha LG. Conditions controlling the proliferation of haemopoietic stem cells in vitro. J Cell Physiol 1977;91(3): 335-44.
- [33] Allen TD, Dexter TM. The essential cells of the hemopoietic microenvironment. Exp Hematol 1984;12(7):517–21.
- [34] Dexter TM. Stromal cell associated haemopoiesis. J Cell Physiol Suppl 1982;1:87-94.
- [35] Dexter TM. Cell interactions in vitro. Clin Haematol 1979;8(2):453-68.
- [36] Coulombel L, Eaves AC, Eaves CJ. Enzymatic treatment of long-term human marrow cultures reveals the preferential location of primitive hemopoietic progenitors in the adherent layer. Blood 1983;62(2):291-7.
- [37] Mauch P, Greenberger JS, Botnick L, Hannon E, Hellman S. Evidence for structured variation in self-renewal capacity within long-term bone marrow cultures. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1980;77(5):2927–30.
- [38] Spangrude GJ, Heimfeld S, Weissman IL. Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science 1988;241(4861):58–62.
- [39] Ogawa M, Matsuzaki Y, Nishikawa S, Hayashi S, Kunisada T, Sudo T, et al. Expression and function of c-kit in hemopoietic progenitor cells. J Exp Med 1991;174(1):63–71.
- [40] Okada S, Nakauchi H, Nagayoshi K, Nishikawa S, Miura Y, Suda T. In vivo and in vitro stem cell function of c-kit- and Sca-1-positive murine hematopoietic cells. Blood 1992;80(12):3044–50.
- [41] Spangrude GJ, Brooks DM. Phenotypic analysis of mouse hematopoietic stem cells shows a Thy-1-negative subset. Blood 1992;80(8): 1957–64.
- [42] Visser JW, de Vries P. Isolation of spleen-colony forming cells (CFU-s) using wheat germ agglutinin and rhodamine 123 labeling. Blood Cells 1988;14(2–3):369–84.
- [43] Ploemacher RE, Brons NH. Cells with marrow and spleen repopulating ability and forming spleen colonies on day 16, 12, and 8 are sequentially ordered on the basis of increasing rhodamine 123 retention. J Cell Physiol 1988;136(3):531–6.
- [44] Goodell MA, Brose K, Paradis G, Conner AS, Mulligan RC. Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med 1996;183(4):1797–806.
- [45] Camargo FD, Chambers SM, Drew E, McNagny KM, Goodell MA. Hematopoietic stem cells do not engraft with absolute efficiencies. Blood 2006;107(2):501-7.
- [46] Robinson SN, Seina SM, Gohr JC, Kuszynski CA, Sharp JG. Evidence for a qualitative hierarchy within the Hoechst-33342 'side population' (SP) of murine bone marrow cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 2005;35(8):807–18.
- [47] Jacobson LO, Simmons EL, Marks EK, Robson MJ, Bethard WF, Gaston EO. The role of the spleen in radiation injury and recovery. J Lab Clin Med 1950;35(5):746–70.
- [48] Jacobson L, Marks E, Robson M, Gaston E, Zirkle R. Effect of spleen protection on mortality following x-irradiation. J Lab Clin Med 1949;34: 1538–43.
- [49] Lorenz E, Congdon C, Uphoff D. Modification of acute irradiation injury in mice and Guinea-pigs by bone marrow injections. Radiology 1952;58(6):863–77.
- [50] Jacobson LO. Evidence for a humoral factor (or factors) concerned in recovery from radiation injury: a review. Cancer Res 1952;12(5):315-25.
- [51] Main JM, Prehn RT. Successful skin homografts after the administration of high dosage X radiation and homologous bone marrow. J Natl Cancer Inst 1955;15(4):1023-9.
- [52] Trentin JJ. Mortality and skin transplantability in x-irradiated mice receiving isologous, homologous or heterologous bone marrow. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1956;92(4):688–93.
- [53] Ford CE, Hamerton JL, Barnes DWH, Loutit JF. Cytological identification of radiation-chimæras. Nature 1956;177:452.
- [54] Nowell PC, Cole LJ, Habermeyer JG, Roan PL. Growth and continued function of rat marrow cells in x-radiated mice. Cancer Res 1956;16(3): 258–61.
- [55] Thomas ED, Lochte HL, Lu WC, Ferrebee JW. Intravenous infusion of bone marrow in patients receiving radiation and chemotherapy. N Engl J Med 1957;257(11):491-6.
- [56] Thomas ED, Lochte Jr HL, Cannon JH, Sahler OD, Ferrebee JW. Supralethal whole body irradiation and isologous marrow transplantation in man. J Clin Invest 1959;38:1709–16.
- [57] Mathe G, Amiel JL, Schwarzenberg L, Cattan A, Schneider M. Adoptive immunotherapy of acute leukemia: experimental and clinical results. Cancer Res 1965;25(9):1525–31.
- [58] Andrews GA. Criticality accidents in Vinca, Yugoslavia, and Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Comparison of radiation injuries and results of therapy. J Am Med Assoc 1962;179:191–7.
- [59] Bortin MM. A compendium of reported human bone marrow transplants. Transplantation 1970;9(6):571-87.
- [60] Appelbaum FR. Hematopoietic-cell transplantation at 50. N Engl J Med 2007;357(15):1472-5.
- [61] Little MT, Storb R. History of haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2(3):231-8.
- [62] Ezzone SA. History of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Semin Oncol Nurs 2009;25(2):95-9.
- [63] Santos GW. Busulfan (Bu) and cyclophosphamide (Cy) for marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1989;4(Suppl. 1):236-9.

#### 13. HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

- [64] Thomas ED, LeBlond R, Graham T, Storb R. Marrow infusions in dogs given midlethal or lethal irradiation. Radiat Res 1970;41(1):113-24.
- [65] Storb R, Rudolph RH, Thomas ED. Marrow grafts between canine siblings matched by serotyping and mixed leukocyte culture. J Clin Invest 1971;50(6):1272–5.
- [66] Bodenberger U, Kolb HJ, Rieder I, Netzel B, Schaffer E, Kolb H, et al. Fractionated total body irradiation and autologous bone marrow transplantation in dogs: hemopoietic recovery after various marrow cell doses. Exp Hematol 1980;8(4):384–94.
- [67] Thomas ED, Storb R, Clift RA, Fefer A, Johnson FL, Neiman PE, et al. Bone-marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1975;292(17):895–902.
   [68] Storb R, Prentice RL, Thomas ED. Treatment of aplastic anemia by marrow transplantation from HLA identical siblings. Prognostic factors
- associated with graft versus host disease and survival. J Clin Invest 1977;59(4):625–32.
- [69] Blazar BR, Murphy WJ, Abedi M. Advances in graft-versus-host disease biology and therapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2012;12(6):443-58.
- [70] Martin PJ, Hansen JA, Buckner CD, Sanders JE, Deeg HJ, Stewart P, et al. Effects of in vitro depletion of T cells in HLA-identical allogeneic marrow grafts. Blood 1985;66(3):664–72.
- [71] Lee SJ, Vogelsang G, Flowers ME. Chronic graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2003;9(4):215–33.
- [72] Barnes DW, Corp MJ, Loutit JF, Neal FE. Treatment of murine leukaemia with X rays and homologous bone marrow; preliminary communication. Br Med J 1956;2(4993):626–7.
- [73] Barnes DW, Loutit JF. Treatment of murine leukaemia with x-rays and homologous bone marrow. II. Br J Haematol 1957;3(3):241-52.
- [74] Sullivan KM, Weiden PL, Storb R, Witherspoon RP, Fefer A, Fisher L, et al. Influence of acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease on relapse and survival after bone marrow transplantation from HLA-identical siblings as treatment of acute and chronic leukemia. Blood 1989;73(6): 1720–8.
- [75] Weiden PL, Flournoy N, Thomas ED, Prentice R, Fefer A, Buckner CD, et al. Antileukemic effect of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneic-marrow grafts. N Engl J Med 1979;300(19):1068–73.
- [76] Weiden PL, Sullivan KM, Flournoy N, Storb R, Thomas ED. Antileukemic effect of chronic graft-versus-host disease: contribution to improved survival after allogeneic marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1981;304(25):1529–33.
- [77] Randolph SS, Gooley TA, Warren EH, Appelbaum FR, Riddell SR. Female donors contribute to a selective graft-versus-leukemia effect in male recipients of HLA-matched, related hematopoietic stem cell transplants. Blood 2004;103(1):347–52.
- [78] Bonnet D, Warren EH, Greenberg PD, Dick JE, Riddell SR. CD8(+) minor histocompatibility antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones eliminate human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96(15):8639–44.
- [79] Zorn E. CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells in human hematopoietic cell transplantation. Semin Cancer Biol 2006;16(2):150–9.
- [80] Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and in vivo expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. Blood 2005;105(8):3051–7.
- [81] Lundqvist A, McCoy JP, Samsel L, Childs R. Reduction of GVHD and enhanced antitumor effects after adoptive infusion of alloreactive Ly49-mismatched NK cells from MHC-matched donors. Blood 2007;109(8):3603–6.
- [82] Kolb HJ, Mittermuller J, Clemm C, Holler E, Ledderose G, Brehm G, et al. Donor leukocyte transfusions for treatment of recurrent chronic myelogenous leukemia in marrow transplant patients. Blood 1990;76(12):2462–5.
- [83] Goldman JM. Autografting cryopreserved buffy coat cells for chronic granulocytic leukaemia in transformation. Exp Hematol 1979;7(Suppl. 5):389–97.
- [84] Hershko C, Gale RP, Ho WG, Cline MJ. Cure of aplastic anaemia in paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria by marrow transfusion from identical twin: failure of peripheral-leucocyte transfusion to correct marrow aplasia. Lancet 1979;1(8123):945–7.
- [85] Abrams RA, Glaubiger D, Appelbaum FR, Deisseroth AB. Result of attempted hematopoietic reconstitution using isologous, peripheral blood mononuclear cells: a case report. Blood 1980;56(3):516–20.
- [86] Micklem HS, Anderson N, Ross E. Limited potential of circulating haemopoietic stem cells. Nature 1975;256(5512):41-3.
- [87] Kessinger A, Armitage JO, Landmark JD, Weisenburger DD. Reconstitution of human hematopoietic function with autologous cryopreserved circulating stem cells. Exp Hematol 1986;14(3):192–6.
- [88] Castaigne S, Calvo F, Douay L, Thomas F, Benbunan M, Gerota J, et al. Successful haematopoietic reconstitution using autologous peripheral blood mononucleated cells in a patient with acute promyelocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 1986;63(1):209–11.
- [89] Korbling M, Dorken B, Ho AD, Pezzutto A, Hunstein W, Fliedner TM. Autologous transplantation of blood-derived hemopoietic stem cells after myeloablative therapy in a patient with Burkitt's lymphoma. Blood 1986;67(2):529–32.
- [90] Tilly H, Bastit D, Lucet JC, Esperou H, Monconduit M, Piguet H. Haemopoietic reconstitution after autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation in acute leukaemia. Lancet 1986;2(8499):154–5.
- [91] Richman CM, Weiner RS, Yankee RA. Increase in circulating stem cells following chemotherapy in man. Blood 1976;47(6):1031-9.
- [92] Korbling M, Freireich EJ. Twenty-five years of peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. Blood 2011;117(24):6411-6.
- [93] Kessinger A, Smith DM, Strandjord SE, Landmark JD, Dooley DC, Law P, et al. Allogeneic transplantation of blood-derived, T cell-depleted hemopoietic stem cells after myeloablative treatment in a patient with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 1989;4(6): 643-6.
- [94] Korbling M, Przepiorka D, Huh YO, Engel H, van Besien K, Giralt S, et al. Allogeneic blood stem cell transplantation for refractory leukemia and lymphoma: potential advantage of blood over marrow allografts. Blood 1995;85(6):1659–65.
- [95] Bensinger WI, Weaver CH, Appelbaum FR, Rowley S, Demirer T, Sanders J, et al. Transplantation of allogeneic peripheral blood stem cells mobilized by recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Blood 1995;85(6):1655–8.
- [96] Schmitz N, Dreger P, Suttorp M, Rohwedder EB, Haferlach T, Loffler H, et al. Primary transplantation of allogeneic peripheral blood progenitor cells mobilized by filgrastim (granulocyte colony-stimulating factor). Blood 1995;85(6):1666–72.
- [97] Karlsson L, Quinlan D, Guo D, Brown C, Selinger S, Klassen J, et al. Mobilized blood cells vs bone marrow harvest: experience compared in 171 donors with particular reference to pain and fatigue. Bone Marrow Transplant 2004;33(7):709–13.
- [98] Pulsipher MA, Chitphakdithai P, Logan BR, Navarro WH, Levine JE, Miller JP, et al. Lower risk for serious adverse events and no increased risk for cancer after PBSC vs BM donation. Blood 2014;123(23):3655–63.
- [99] Powles R, Mehta J, Kulkarni S, Treleaven J, Millar B, Marsden J, et al. Allogeneic blood and bone-marrow stem-cell transplantation in haematological malignant diseases: a randomised trial. Lancet 2000;355(9211):1231–7.

#### 202

- [100] Pidala J, Anasetti C, Kharfan-Dabaja MA, Cutler C, Sheldon A, Djulbegovic B. Decision analysis of peripheral blood versus bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells for allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2009;15(11):1415–21.
- [101] McCullough J, Kahn J, Adamson J, Anderlini P, Benjamin R, Confer D, et al. Hematopoietic growth factors—use in normal blood and stem cell donors: clinical and ethical issues. Transfusion 2008;48(9):2008–25.
- [102] Campregher PV, Hamerschlak N, Colturato VA, Mauad MA, de Souza MP, Bouzas LF, et al. Survival and graft-versus-host disease in patients receiving peripheral stem cell compared to bone marrow transplantation from HLA-matched related donor: retrospective analysis of 334 consecutive patients. Eur J Haematol 2015;95(5):421–5.
- [103] Eapen M, Logan BR, Appelbaum FR, Antin JH, Anasetti C, Couriel DR, et al. Long-term survival after transplantation of unrelated donor peripheral blood or bone marrow hematopoietic cells for hematologic malignancy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015;21(1):55–9.
- [104] Anasetti C, Logan BR, Lee SJ, Waller EK, Weisdorf DJ, Wingard JR, et al. Peripheral-blood stem cells versus bone marrow from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med 2012;367(16):1487–96.
- [105] Wu S, Zhang C, Zhang X, Xu YQ, Deng TX. Is peripheral blood or bone marrow a better source of stem cells for transplantation in cases of HLA-matched unrelated donors? A meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2015;96(1):20–33.
- [106] Ende M, Ende N. Hematopoietic transplantation by means of fetal (cord) blood. A new method. Va Med Mon (1918) 1972;99(3):276-80.
- [107] Broxmeyer HE, Hangoc G, Cooper S, Ribeiro RC, Graves V, Yoder M, et al. Growth characteristics and expansion of human umbilical cord blood and estimation of its potential for transplantation in adults. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89(9):4109–13.
- [108] Broxmeyer HE, Kurtzberg J, Gluckman E, Auerbach AD, Douglas G, Cooper S, et al. Umbilical cord blood hematopoietic stem and repopulating cells in human clinical transplantation. Blood Cells 1991;17(2):313–29.
- [109] Gluckman E, Broxmeyer HA, Auerbach AD, Friedman HS, Douglas GW, Devergie A, et al. Hematopoietic reconstitution in a patient with Fanconi's anemia by means of umbilical-cord blood from an HLA-identical sibling. N Engl J Med 1989;321(17):1174–8.
- [110] Kurtzberg J, Laughlin M, Graham ML, Smith C, Olson JF, Halperin EC, et al. Placental blood as a source of hematopoietic stem cells for transplantation into unrelated recipients. N Engl J Med 1996;335(3):157–66.
- [111] Laughlin MJ, Barker J, Bambach B, Koc ON, Rizzieri DA, Wagner JE, et al. Hematopoietic engraftment and survival in adult recipients of umbilical-cord blood from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med 2001;344(24):1815–22.
- [112] Ballen KK, Verter F, Kurtzberg J. Umbilical cord blood donation: public or private? Bone Marrow Transplant 2015;50(10):1271-8.
- [113] Barker JN, Byam CE, Kernan NA, Lee SS, Hawke RM, Doshi KA, et al. Availability of cord blood extends allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant access to racial and ethnic minorities. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010;16(11):1541–8.
- [114] Brunstein CG, Gutman JA, Weisdorf DJ, Woolfrey AE, Defor TE, Gooley TA, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for hematologic malignancy: relative risks and benefits of double umbilical cord blood. Blood 2010;116(22):4693–9.
- [115] Gluckman E, Ruggeri A, Volt F, Cunha R, Boudjedir K, Rocha V. Milestones in umbilical cord blood transplantation. Br J Haematol 2011; 154(4):441–7.
- [116] Wagner Jr JE, Eapen M, Carter S, Wang Y, Schultz KR, Wall DA, et al. One-unit versus two-unit cord-blood transplantation for hematologic cancers. N Engl J Med 2014;371(18):1685–94.
- [117] Kiernan J, Damien P, Monaghan M, Shorr R, McIntyre L, Fergusson D, et al. Clinical studies of ex vivo expansion to accelerate engraftment after umbilical cord blood transplantation: a systematic review. Transfus Med Rev 2017;31(3):173–82.
- [118] Gaspar HB, Hammarstrom L, Mahlaoui N, Borte M, Borte S. The case for mandatory newborn screening for severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID). J Clin Immunol 2014;34(4):393-7.
- [119] Kwan A, Abraham RS, Currier R, Brower A, Andruszewski K, Abbott JK, et al. Newborn screening for severe combined immunodeficiency in 11 screening programs in the United States. J Am Med Assoc 2014;312(7):729–38.
- [120] Buckley RH. Molecular defects in human severe combined immunodeficiency and approaches to immune reconstitution. Annu Rev Immunol 2004;22:625–55.
- [121] Cappelli B, Aiuti A. Gene therapy for adenosine deaminase deficiency. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2010;30(2):249-60.
- [122] Chan B, Wara D, Bastian J, Hershfield MS, Bohnsack J, Azen CG, et al. Long-term efficacy of enzyme replacement therapy for adenosine deaminase (ADA)-deficient severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID). Clin Immunol 2005;117(2):133–43.
- [123] Malacarne F, Benicchi T, Notarangelo LD, Mori L, Parolini S, Caimi L, et al. Reduced thymic output, increased spontaneous apoptosis and oligoclonal B cells in polyethylene glycol-adenosine deaminase-treated patients. Eur J Immunol 2005;35(11):3376–86.
- [124] Serana F, Sottini A, Chiarini M, Zanotti C, Ghidini C, Lanfranchi A, et al. The different extent of B and T cell immune reconstitution after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and enzyme replacement therapies in SCID patients with adenosine deaminase deficiency. J Immunol 2010;185(12):7713–22.
- [125] Kenny AB, Hitzig WH. Bone marrow transplantation for severe combined immunodeficiency disease. Reported from 1968 to 1977. Eur J Pediatr 1979;131(3):155–77.
- [126] Gennery AR, Slatter MA, Grandin L, Taupin P, Cant AJ, Veys P, et al. Transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells and long-term survival for primary immunodeficiencies in Europe: entering a new century, do we do better? J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;126(3):602–610.e1–11.
- [127] Pai SY, Logan BR, Griffith LM, Buckley RH, Parrott RE, Dvorak CC, et al. Transplantation outcomes for severe combined immunodeficiency, 2000-2009. N Engl J Med 2014;371(5):434–46.
- [128] Aiuti A, Cattaneo F, Galimberti S, Benninghoff U, Cassani B, Callegaro L, et al. Gene therapy for immunodeficiency due to adenosine deaminase deficiency. N Engl J Med 2009;360(5):447–58.
- [129] Aiuti A, Slavin S, Aker M, Ficara F, Deola S, Mortellaro A, et al. Correction of ADA-SCID by stem cell gene therapy combined with nonmyeloablative conditioning. Science 2002;296(5577):2410–3.
- [130] Gaspar HB, Cooray S, Gilmour KC, Parsley KL, Zhang F, Adams S, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy for adenosine deaminasedeficient severe combined immunodeficiency leads to long-term immunological recovery and metabolic correction. Sci Transl Med 2011; 3(97):97ra80.
- [131] Candotti F, Shaw KL, Muul L, Carbonaro D, Sokolic R, Choi C, et al. Gene therapy for adenosine deaminase-deficient severe combined immune deficiency: clinical comparison of retroviral vectors and treatment plans. Blood 2012;120(18):3635–46.
- [132] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Hauer J, Lim A, Picard C, Wang GP, Berry CC, et al. Efficacy of gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2010;363(4):355–64.

#### 13. HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

- [133] Gaspar HB, Cooray S, Gilmour KC, Parsley KL, Adams S, Howe SJ, et al. Long-term persistence of a polyclonal T cell repertoire after gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. Sci Transl Med 2011;3(97):97ra79.
- [134] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, Soulier J, Lim A, Morillon E, et al. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest 2008;118(9):3132–42.
- [135] Howe SJ, Mansour MR, Schwarzwaelder K, Bartholomae C, Hubank M, Kempski H, et al. Insertional mutagenesis combined with acquired somatic mutations causes leukemogenesis following gene therapy of SCID-X1 patients. J Clin Invest 2008;118(9):3143–50.
- [136] Zhou S, Mody D, DeRavin SS, Hauer J, Lu T, Ma Z, et al. A self-inactivating lentiviral vector for SCID-X1 gene therapy that does not activate LMO2 expression in human T cells. Blood 2010;116(6):900–8.
- [137] Owen RD. Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anastomoses between bovine twins. Science 1945;102(2651):400-1.
- [138] Kimikawa M, Kawai T, Sachs DH, Colvin RB, Bartholomew A, Cosimi AB. Mixed chimerism and transplantation tolerance induced by a nonlethal preparative regimen in cynomolgus monkeys. Transplant Proc 1997;29(1–2):1218.
- [139] Mathes DW, Hwang B, Graves SS, Edwards J, Chang J, Storer BE, et al. Tolerance to vascularized composite allografts in canine mixed hematopoietic chimeras. Transplantation 2011;92(12):1301–8.
- [140] Graves SS, Mathes DW, Georges GE, Kuhr CS, Chang J, Butts TM, et al. Long-term tolerance to kidney allografts after induced rejection of donor hematopoietic chimerism in a preclinical canine model. Transplantation 2012;94(6):562–8.
- [141] Fuchimoto Y, Huang CA, Yamada K, Shimizu A, Kitamura H, Colvin RB, et al. Mixed chimerism and tolerance without whole body irradiation in a large animal model. J Clin Invest 2000;105(12):1779–89.
- [142] Sykes M, Sachs DH. Bone marrow transplantation as a means of inducing tolerance. Semin Immunol 1990;2(6):401-17.
- [143] Oura T, Cosimi AB, Kawai T. Chimerism-based tolerance in organ transplantation: preclinical and clinical studies. Clin Exp Immunol 2017; 189(2):190–6.
- [144] Granados JM, Benichou G, Kawai T. Hematopoietic stem cell infusion/transplantation for induction of allograft tolerance. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2015;20(1):49–56.
- [145] Chhabra AY, Leventhal J, Merchak AR, Ildstad S. HSCT-based approaches for tolerance induction in renal transplant. Transplantation 2017; 101(11):2682–90.
- [146] Zeher M, Papp G, Nakken B, Szodoray P. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in autoimmune disorders: from immune-regulatory processes to clinical implications. Autoimmun Rev 2017;16(8):817–25.
- [147] Brinkman DMC, de Kleer IM, ten Cate R, van Rossum MAJ, Bekkering WP, Fasth A, et al. Autologous stem cell transplantation in children with severe progressive systemic or polyarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis: long-term followup of a prospective clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum 2007;56(7):2410–21.
- [148] Alchi B, Jayne D, Labopin M, Kotova O, Sergeevicheva V, Alexander T, et al. Autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for systemic lupus erythematosus: data from the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation registry. Lupus 2012;22(3):245–53.
- [149] Snowden JA, Passweg J, Moore JJ, Milliken S, Cannell P, Van Laar J, et al. Autologous hemopoietic stem cell transplantation in severe rheumatoid arthritis: a report from the EBMT and ABMTR. J Rheumatol 2004;31(3):482–8.
- [150] Hugle T, van Laar JM. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for rheumatic autoimmune diseases. F1000 Med Rep 2010;2.

### Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Zulma Gazit<sup>1,2</sup>, Gadi Pelled<sup>1,2</sup>, Dmitriy Sheyn<sup>1</sup>, Doron C. Yakubovich<sup>2</sup>, Dan Gazit<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

#### INTRODUCTORY OVERVIEW

In the development of stem cell–based therapeutic platforms for tissue regeneration, the selection of which type of stem cell to use will be enormously important. Adult mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are considered one of the most promising tools for cell and cell-based gene therapy in bone repair [1]. The best-known source of MSCs in adult humans is the bone marrow (BM) compartment. Other sources of MSCs have been identified, including adipose tissue, dermal tissue, intervertebral disc, various dental tissues, human placenta, cord blood, and peripheral blood, although the latter finding is still debated [2].

In cell-based therapies, the culture expansion stage is extremely costly and time consuming; in addition, in many cases cells may lose their multipotentiality in vivo and fail to meet the desired goal. It was reported that cultured human MSCs (hMSCs) can undergo spontaneous transformation as a consequence of in vitro expansion [3]. Moreover, culture expansion attenuated the homing ability of MSCs after systemic infusion in irradiated mice [4], which implies that MSCs may lose some of their natural stem cell characteristics after expansion in vitro. Other investigators proposed that all known characteristics of MSCs may be an outcome of the culture stage and do not truly represent the actual characteristics of MSCs residing in vivo at the BM niche [5].

The isolation of an hMSC-enriched population requires an efficient and reproducible method. We reported that we used the CD105-based immunoisolation method to obtain a fresh noncultured population of hMSCs, and we showed these cells' osteogenic potential both in vitro and in vivo [6]. In additional studies, a positive selection method was implemented as well: immunoisolation of MSCs with antibodies directed against the Stro-1 [7,8] and CD146 [9] markers.

One striking feature of MSC therapy is cumulative data on the tolerance shown by the host to allogeneic MSCs. The mechanisms by which this immunotolerance exist are complex and have not yet been thoroughly identified. It has been shown that there is a low expression of alloantigens by MSCs; this may involve pathways (dependent on or independent of cell contact) that are modulated by the secretion of soluble factors such as interleukin (IL)-2, IL-10, transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 (TGF $\beta$ 1), prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE2), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), and others. Immune system cells such as dendritic cells (DCs) and T cells, have also been shown to be affected by the presence of MSCs in mixed lymphocyte cultures [10]. The inhibitory role of MSCs and the value of MSC cotransplantation in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) transplantation were thoroughly examined by Troeger et al. [11].

Several protocols have been established to enable the regeneration of large bone defects using hMSCs that have been expanded in culture. These cells differentiate into osteogenic cells; as vehicles, they deliver a therapeutic gene product such as one of the bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs). This approach requires the genetic modification of MSCs to overexpress a transgene encoding for an osteogenic gene. BMP-2 has been widely used for this purpose [12–14], as have other members of the BMP family such as BMP-4, BMP-6, and BMP-9 [15–20]. In addition, MSCs have been implemented in regeneration of the heart (cardiac muscle and vascular system), skeletal muscle, nerve, liver, and pancreas; regeneration of cardiac tissue is foremost [21–29].

Resembling the MSCs, exosomes secreted from those cells support tissue homeostasis and correct cell functioning and regeneration, perhaps providing validation for the therapeutic ability of MSCs in a broad variety of diseases. A

#### 14. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

growing amount of MSC research has been dedicated to deciphering the MSC secretome, if the soluble factors or the factors released in extracellular vesicles (EVs), such as exosomes and microvesicles (MVs) are the active factors [30].

Although the embryonic origin of MSCs remains unclear, multiple methods have been developed to differentiate MSCs derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iMSCs). These include treatment with specific factors [31] using cell isolation based on specific surface markers [32] or biomaterials-directed differentiation [33,34]. iMSCs were shown to be functional and expandable; however, to advance the application of these cells in clinic, major studies have to be performed to make the differentiation process more efficient and address safety concerns. Although there are several indications that iMSCs are actually less tumorigenic than the reference standard, BM-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) [31,35], iMSCs must be further explored.

#### DEFINITION OF MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

BM was the first tissue identified to be a source of plastic-adherent fibroblast-like cells that develop colonyforming unit—fibroblasts (CFU-Fs) when seeded into tissue culture plates [36]. These cells, which were originally designated stromal cells, elicited much attention and were the focus of thousands of studies aimed at finding a pure cell population that could eventually be used for regenerative purposes. In these studies, cells were isolated using a variety of methods (discussed later in this chapter) and given names such as MSCs, mesenchymal progenitors, and stromal stem cells. A committee of the International Society for Cytotherapy suggested the name "multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells" [37]; however, most scientists simply refer to these cells as "MSCs."

The precise characterization of MSCs remains a matter of debate. Nevertheless, MSCs are widely defined as a plastic-adherent cell population that can be directed to differentiate in vitro into cells of osteogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, myogenic, and other lineages [5,38,39]. As part of their stem cell nature, MSCs proliferate and develop into daughter cells with the same phenotype and pattern of gene expression, thereby maintaining the "stemness" of the original cells. Self-renewal and differentiation potential are two criteria that define MSCs as real stem cells; however, these characteristics have mainly been demonstrated, both in bulk and at the single-cell level, after in vitro manipulation, and there is no clear description of the characteristics displayed by nonmanipulated MSCs in vivo [40]. So far, only one study has claimed to demonstrate the in vivo self-renewal property of MSCs identified by melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM)/CD146 surface markers [41].

In contrast to other stem cells such as HSCs, which are identified by the expression of the CD34 surface marker, MSCs appear to lack one unique marker. The CD105 surface antigen (endoglin) has been used to isolate hMSCs from BM, enabling the characterization of freshly isolated hMSCs before culture. Distinct expression profiles of certain surface antigens, such as CD45 and CD31, have also been demonstrated in freshly isolated hMSCs, whereas expression of these molecules is lower in culture-expanded hMSCs [6]. From these data, one can infer alterations that hMSCs may undergo during the culture process [42]. Findings of other studies, however, indicated that CD146 or STRO1 could serve as unique markers for MSCs [7,8].

In several studies, cultured MSCs have been characterized either by using cell surface antigens or by examining the cells' differentiation potential. In 2006, the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy proposed minimal criteria by which one can define human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (also known by the abbreviation "MSCs"): (1) these multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells must be plastic-adherent when maintained in standard culture conditions and form CFU-Fs; (2) these cells must express CD105, CD73, and CD90, and lack expression of CD45, CD34, CD14, CD11b, CD79α, or CD19, and human leukocyte antigen–antigen D-related surface molecules; and (3) these cells must differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts in vitro [37]. The term "multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells" refers to cultured cells, whereas the term "mesenchymal stem cells" is designated for stem cells yet to be identified in vivo.

#### THE STEM CELL NATURE OF MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Stem cells are defined by their ability to self-renew and by their potential to undergo differentiation into functional cells under certain conditions. There is minimal evidence showing that such features exist in uncultured MSCs. The consensus is that cultured MSCs can self-renew and differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts in vitro. Whether these cells can also differentiate into tenogenic, myogenic, and numerous other cells types, as has been claimed in many studies, remains controversial. The debate on this subject originated from evidence obtained during research into embryonic development. It is known that there is no common progenitor for bone and muscle tissues after sclerotome-myotome specification in somites [43], and hence it is unlikely that such a cell exists in the adult. Supporters of this view claim that MSCs reside in BM and can only develop into bone, cartilage, and adipose cells.

Other researchers claim that MSCs can be isolated from BM as well as other adult tissues and can be differentiated into epithelial, endothelial, hepatic, and neural cells [44–47]. However, studies have shown that MSCs isolated by plastic adherence from various tissues differ considerably in morphology, proliferative capacity, differentiation capability, and the ability to form bone in vivo [48]. Therefore, MSCs from different tissue sources may not be the same cell or they may contain a heterogeneous population of progenitors that can explain the variability in their characteristics. Efforts to find a "pure" or primitive multipotential stem cell across tissues has not been well-supported [49].

Findings of some studies suggest that the multipotentiality of MSCs can be demonstrated by direct injection into extraskeletal tissues such as the brain. It was claimed that an injection of hMSCs into the brain tissue of rats resulted in the cells' long-term engraftment and subsequent migration along pathways similar to those used by neural stem cells [50]. Other studies, however, showed that injected MSCs were rejected or fused to existing differentiated cells within the tissue [51,52]. The results of these studies further strengthened the illusiveness of finding a multipotential stem cell that may reside in all or most tissues. Nevertheless, this does not hinder the therapeutic potential of MSCs from BM or other tissues. It may well be that MSCs, as they are currently used, are a heterogeneous population of cells including both multipotent and progenitor cells with unique capabilities of tissue regeneration and immune response modulation. These capabilities could be exerted via paracrine effects [53], autocrine involvement in tissue repair [54], or both.

#### WHICH TISSUES CONTAIN MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS?

The embryonic origin of MSCs is unclear; however, some findings indicate a possible origin of MSCs in a supporting layer of the dorsal aorta in the aorta-gonad—mesonephros region [55]. Consistent with these findings, MSCs or MSC-like cells were found circulating within human fetal blood [56].

MSCs that comprise the stroma-supportive system of BM along with endothelial cells and adipocytes are the most well-studied [57]. An MSC population has also been identified in the BM of the craniofacial complex [58]. In adults, MSCs appear to be "resident" stem cells in many tissues, and they function in the normal turnover of these tissues. Numerous studies have demonstrated the presence of MSCs or MSC-like cells within other tissues such as adipose tissue (adipose tissue–derived stem cells [ASCs]) [59], dermal tissue [60], the intervertebral disc [61], amniotic fluid [62], various dental tissues [63], human placenta [64], cord blood [65], the temporomandibular disc [66], and peripheral blood [67].

ASCs are similar to BM-derived MSCs both morphologically and immunophenotypically; however, ASCs form more CFU-Fs when plated in culture [68]. Adipose tissue is an attractive source of MSCs for regenerative medical purposes; it is relatively easy to obtain, can be collected with the use of local anesthesia, and is associated with minimal discomfort and risks [69].

There has been considerable interest in investigating the hypothesis that MSCs are in fact pericytes that abut the basement membrane and engulf endothelial cells in the microvasculature. Several studies have supported this hypothesis [70], yet there is no agreement among scientists as to whether all BM pericytes are MSCs or whether pericytes found in other tissues are also MSCs. Caplan speculated that all MSCs are pericytes [71], and indeed da Silva Meirelles et al. showed that pericytes from adipose tissue are similar to adipose-derived MSCs in gene expression profiles [72]. However, Blocki et al. showed that only a subset of BM pericytes can be considered MSCs [73]. Sacchetti et al. were the first to determine that CD146<sup>+</sup> perivascular cells in BM are MSCs [41]. They compared MCAM/CD146-expressing cells from different human tissues and analyzed their differentiation potentials and transcriptomes [74]. The results indicated that although the various cells were associated with microvessels, i.e., pericytes, they differed significantly in their skeletogenic differentiation pattern and their transcriptomic profile. Moreover, Guimarães-Camboa et al. analyzed pericytes from multiple tissues in a mouse model and found that these cells (identified by T-Box 18 expression) did not behave like stem cells in vivo and did not differentiate to other cell types. However, these cells did behave like MSCs in vitro [75].

Based on current knowledge, it is safe to state that MSCs are associated with the microvasculature and that different tissues contain MSC-like cells that have some characteristics in common and others that differ.

#### MESENCHYMAL STEM CELL ISOLATION TECHNIQUES

Application of MSCs requires isolation of these cells and directing cell differentiation into the appropriate lineage. Since the 1980s [36], Ficoll–Paque density-gradient media have been used to separate mononuclear cells (MNCs) from red blood cells in BM. The MNCs are then collected and seeded in medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) at a density of  $10-15 \times 10^5$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> growth area [38]. Adherent spindle-shaped cells appear within 48 h after the initial seeding, and the estimated percentage of MNCs ranges from 0.001% to 0.01%.

Since then, many approaches have been proposed to isolate MSCs. Ficoll Paque—based isolation may be used to isolate MSCs from BM as well as from peripheral blood; this approach has been used in most clinical trials performed to date [76]. Enzymatic treatment of adipose tissue with collagenase is performed to produce ASCs shown to have the high potential for in vitro expansion and in vivo differentiation [59,77,78]. A method based on the biophysical properties of MSCs in suspension under fluidic conditions has been proposed as well [79].

Major disadvantages of these methods are the impurity of the resulting cell population and the need to culture cells before application. The solution to these downsides will include isolation of cells based on the intrinsic properties of MSCs, avoiding culturing, and the generation of immortalized cell lines. Immunoisolation is a method to isolate noncultured MSCs based on cell surface markers. Several studies have employed the "positive selection" technique of immunoisolating MSCs by using antibodies directed against endoglin (CD105) [6], Stro-1 [7,8], CD146 [9], and other MSC markers. Immunodepletion, the "negative selection" of unneeded cell populations, including residual hematopoietic cells, may be used to enrich the MSC population further, especially in combination of the based on different surface markers [80]. Busser et al. compared the use of different cell markers to immunoisolate MSCs from BM and adipose tissue; they found that different antibodies yielded MSC populations that differed in immunophenotype and in differentiation and immunoregulatory capabilities [81].

A major challenge is the development of the large-scale production of good clinical practice–quality MSCs. Clinical-grade cells have to be safe for use; hence, there is a need for microbe-free closed-circuit systems [82]. An additional concern would be the use of xenogenic reagents such as FBS. Several human reagents have been used, including fibroblast growth factor [83] and platelet lysate, which has been shown to produce MSCs with various immunocapabilities [84]. Fekete et al. proposed five large-scale, two-step MSC isolation protocols, which yield as much as  $6 \times 10^9$  MSCs per BM aspirate [85].

#### MESENCHYMAL STEM CELL EXOSOMES

In several cases, a positive regenerative and healing effect was evident after systemic or local treatment with MSCs. Verifying the actual presence of these cells at the site of injury, however, is sometimes difficult or insurmountable. In fact, a correlation between administration of cells and observed improvement cannot always be recognized. Based on this difficulty of obtaining proof of the cells' presence, it has been speculated that it is not MSCs that differentiate into tissue-specific mature cells, but instead secreted factors, more precisely exosomes. Resembling their cell source, the MSC, these secreted exosomes support tissue homeostasis and correct the courses of cell function and regeneration, as required. These activities may validate the therapeutic ability of MSCs in a broad variety of diseases. Increasing numbers of MSC research studies have focused on deciphering the MSC secretome, the soluble factors, or the factors released in EVs, such as exosomes and MVs.

EVs consist of subgroups (all secreted membrane-enclosed vesicles) that include exosomes, ectosomes, MVs, microparticles, apoptotic bodies, and other EV subsets. In a position statement, the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles [86] declared that there are no specific markers of EVs with which we can establish basic standards for identification; the organization speculated that this is because EV secretion probably varies greatly depending on the environment. Thus far, there is no solid evidence to affirm that different classes of EVs represent distinct biological entities. Morphology and size guide us to discriminate among various exosomes; specifically, nanospheres are composed of a lipid bilayer similar to a liposome (40–100 nm), MVs or ectosomes are derived from the shedding of the plasma membrane (100–1000 nm), and apoptotic bodies (1–5  $\mu$ m) are released from the cell membrane as blebs during apoptosis.

Similar to exosomes in general, MSC exosomes transport a composite load that contains nucleic acids, proteins, and lipids. Unique gene products number 857 and more than 150 microRNAs (miRNAs) have been identified, although whether this diverse content is carried by one exclusive type of exosome or is split within different types of exosomes has yet to be determined [87].

The exosomal proteins, RNAs, and lipids mentioned in several published and unpublished studies have been cataloged in ExoCarta, a database that aims to identify specific molecular signatures of tissue/cell type-derived exosomes [88]. ExoCarta contains a list of 100 gene-encoding proteins most often identified in exosomes. The top five protein-encoding genes (index >90) include the following:

- CD9, which encodes a protein (a member of the tetraspanins) that functions in many cellular processes including differentiation, adhesion, and signal transduction. Expression of the gene has a critical role in suppressing cancer cell motility and metastasis [RefSeq, Jan 2011].
- **2.** HSPA8, which encodes a constitutively expressed member of the heat shock protein 70 family. This protein functions as a chaperone and binds to nascent polypeptides to facilitate correct folding. It also functions as an adenosine triphosphatase in the disassembly of clathrin-coated vesicles during transport of membrane components through the cell [RefSeq, Aug 2011].
- **3.** PDCD6IP (or ALIX), which encodes a protein that functions within cytosolic protein complexes and endosomal sorting complexes required for transport in the abscission stage of cytokinesis, in endosomal vesicle formation, and also in enveloped virus budding. PDCD6IP is also involved in the membrane-shaping phase of endocytosis, binding to endophilins [RefSeq, Jan 2012].
- 4. Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) encodes a protein of the GADPH family, which has been acknowledged to be a moonlighting protein based on its ability to perform multiple functions. The GAPDH product catalyzes a critical step in carbohydrate metabolism: the reversible oxidative phosphorylation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate in the presence of inorganic phosphate and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide. In addition, in the cell nucleus, the encoded protein has been identified to have uracil DNA glycosylase activity [RefSeq, Nov 2014].
- Actin β is a major constituent of the contractile apparatus and one of the two nonmuscle cytoskeletal actins. This
  gene encodes one of six different highly conserved actin proteins involved in cell motility, structure, and integrity
  [RefSeq, Jul 2008].

Having a number of common protein markers for exosome identification is a step forward in the future implementation of exosomes for therapeutic applications, even though the isolation method is not yet well-confirmed. Established procedures for separating exosomes include ultracentrifugation, density gradient separation, chromatography, immune-affinity capture (IAC), and polymer-based precipitation. With the use of all of these techniques, it is possible to isolate vesicles according to their diameters and markers. IAC appears to be the most effective process based on the number of exosome-related proteins identified on the purified fraction. Nevertheless, there may be situations in which there are no suitable antibodies to determine exosomal markers; in such cases, the use of densitybased separation will be advantageous for exosome isolation [89].

The notion that growth factors, chemokines, and cytokines would be the molecules responsible for the systemic and local effects of MSCs, such as immunomodulation, was discarded after several published reports showed that the absence of those molecules did not affect the immunomodulatory activity of MSCs. EVs have been reported since 2010 to be effective therapeutic mediators in MSCs, when Lai et al. revealed that MSCs secrete a specific class of EVs known as exosomes, with diameters ranging from 40 to 100 nm and bearing exosome-associated proteins such as ALG-2-interacting protein X, tumor susceptibility gene 101, and the tetraspanin proteins. After succeeding in deriving and characterizing fetal hMSCs, this group also showed that these cells' secretion was cardioprotective in a mouse model of myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Analysis of the secretion by high-performance liquid chromatography revealed the presence of microparticles with radii ranging from approximately 50 to 65 nm. This population of microparticles was cardioprotective at about one-tenth the dosage of crude secretion [90].

The exosomes contain, carry, and dispense a range of small molecules released from stem cells to nearby cells, thus enabling the uptake of enzymes and nucleic acids through the endocytosis of circulating exosomes, especially by cells in injured tissue, which often has a lower pH than normal tissue; this is a favorable condition for exosome uptake. MSC exosomes not only interact with nearby cells; via blood and other biological fluids, these exosomes can migrate to distant targets. The recipient cell response may differ according to what molecules enclosed in the exosomes reached the objective [91].

Evidence continues to grow showing that MSC-derived EVs produce beneficial effects in several disease models, such as heart conditions and kidney, brain, and skeletal injuries, and in areas of intervention, including aspects of regenerative medicine.

Exosomes released from MSCs and enriched with miRNAs have a definitive role in the heart and blood vessels, exerting antiapoptosis and antiinflammatory effects, cardiac regeneration, and neovascularization, which are considered components of whole molecular mechanisms lying behind the therapeutic potential of MSC

#### 14. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

transplantation, according to a thorough review by Huang et al. [92]. Results of preclinical studies suggested that exosomes can be used to treat cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) such as acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and stroke when derived from human, mouse, or rat MSCs. Different experimental models have been used, and cardiac progenitor cell (CPC)-derived exosomes, embryonic stem cell (ESC)-derived exosomes, and CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cell–derived exosomes significantly reduced infarct size, restored cardiac function, and stimulated angiogenesis in ischemic zones. CPCs significantly suppressed apoptosis, stimulated angiogenesis, and improved cardiac function in a rat model of AMI. In vitro experiments demonstrated that MSC-derived exosomes augmented the survival and proliferation of CPCs obtained from the infarcted area. Altogether, these studies provide compelling evidence that exosomes derived from a variety of stem cells exert beneficial effects on animal models of CVD [93].

Growth factors known for their proangiogenic activity, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), TGFβ1, and IL-8, were identified in exosomes derived from MSCs by proteomic analysis. In addition, it was reported that MSC-derived EVs are also rich in HGF, a transcription factor that stimulates the proliferation and migration of endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells involved in proangiogenic pathways. Human T-cell factor 4 (TCF4) is a key downstream effector of Wnt signaling, a canonical pathway that has a central role in vascular development and in determining and maintaining the phenotype and functional properties of human stem cells. Therefore, intercellular transmission of EVs containing VEGF, TGFβ1, IL-8, HGF, and TCF4 may have both proangiogenic and prosurvival effects [94].

A metaanalysis performed by Zhang et al. confirmed the clinical effectiveness of using exosomes in ischemia/ reperfusion injury, based on reports published between January, 2000 and September, 2015, and indexed in the PubMed and Web of Science databases. The authors' analysis of the data they gathered validated the therapeutic potential of MSC-secreted exosomes in improving heart function. Still, more steps are required to understand these exosomes' mechanism of action fully and ensure their therapeutic safety; in addition, clinical trials are required to optimize this cardiac regeneration approach after ischemic events [95].

Mesenchymal stromal cells promote recovery after acute kidney injury (AKI), and phenotypic changes have been associated with the EVs implicated in the process. Knowing that miRNAs are potential candidates for cell reprogramming toward a regenerative phenotype, Collino et al. conducted a study to evaluate whether miRNA deregulation inhibits the regenerative potential of mesenchymal stromal cells and derived EVs in a model of glycerol-induced AKI in severe combined immunodeficient mice. The results showed that miRNA depletion in mesenchymal stromal cells and in EVs significantly reduced their intrinsic regenerative potential in AKI [96]. Furthermore, when AKI occurs, dedifferentiation of the tubular cells initiates cell regeneration, involving HGF by modulating cell dedifferentiation. MSC–derived MVs deliver RNA into injured tubular cells and alter their gene expression, thus regenerating these cells. It was reported that in damaged tubular cells, HGF synthesis induced by MVs via RNA transfer facilitates cell dedifferentiation and growth, which are important regenerative mechanisms [97].

A study of the growth-promoting effect of EVs derived from different MSC sources on neurons was undertaken by the Khoury group. The researchers compared the effect of human menstrual MSCs (MenSCs), which were mediated via cell-to-cell contact by their total secretomes or by secretome-derived EVs, on neuritic outgrowth in primary neuronal cultures. The researchers showed that MSCs purified from menstrual fluid released MVs and exosomes, and that exosomes present in conditioned medium (CM) exerted a beneficial effect on neuron outgrowth, an action that could not be fully reproduced by exosomes derived from other MSC sources, such as BM-, chorion-, and umbilical cord—derived MSCs, or by other MenSC culture components [98].

Having demonstrated the neuroprotective potential of systemically administered MSCs in a preclinical animal model of hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in ovine fetuses, another research group investigated whether these protective effects can be exerted by MSC-derived extracellular vesicles (MSC-EVs) in a preclinical model of preterm hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Ovine fetuses were subjected to global hypoxia-ischemia, followed by in utero intravenous administration of MSC-EVs. The systemic administration of MSC-EVs improved brain function by reducing the total number and duration of seizures and by preserving baroreceptor reflex sensitivity. These protective effects were accompanied by a tendency to prevent hypomyelination [99]. These results are relevant because they show that a cell-free preparation composed of neuroprotective MSC-EVs could eventually become a substitute for MSCs, avoiding the potential risks involved in the systemic administration of living cells.

With respect to bone regeneration, Nakamura et al. [100] suggested that MSC-derived exosomes can promote skeletal muscle regeneration by enhancing myogenesis and angiogenesis; these researchers considered exosomeenclosed miR-494 to be an important mediator of this response. In addition, Narayanan et al. [101] demonstrated the potential of exosomes released by MSCs cultured under osteogenic conditions: In both two- and threedimensional (type I collagen hydrogels) cultures, these exosomes induced lineage-specific differentiation of undifferentiated hMSCs both in vitro and in vivo. Results of the study also showed that exosomes can bind to extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins such as type I collagen and fibronectin [102]. Work published by Furuta et al. focused on exosomes as a valuable addition to cell-to-cell communication. This study evaluated the role of exosomes isolated from MSC-CM in the fracture healing process of  $CD9^{-/-}$  mice, a strain known to produce reduced levels of exosomes. Injection of MSC-EVs accelerated fracture healing in  $CD9^{-/-}$  mice, which would otherwise be naturally delayed, whereas injection of exosome-free CM had no rescue effect [103].

Human embryonic MSC-derived exosomes were tested in an animal model of cartilage repair. Osteochondral defects were created on both distal femurs in adult rats, and treatment consisted of intraarticular injections of exosomes or phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), administered after surgery and thereafter weekly for 12 weeks. Overall, the exosome-treated defects displayed an enhanced gross appearance and improved histological scores compared with the contralateral PBS-treated defects. In the exosome-treated defects, cartilage and subchondral bone exhibited complete restoration and complete bonding to adjacent cartilage, as well as an ECM deposition that closely resembled that of an age-matched healthy control [104].

Designating a major role to exosomes in mediating the therapeutic and paracrine effects of MSCs offers additional advantages. There is less immunogenicity than that found with parental cells bearing a low content of membranebound proteins, and exosomes can be stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for 6 months with no loss of biochemical activity. The cytokines, growth factors, transcription factors, and RNAs contained inside the exosomes are protected from degradation in vivo, thereby potentially preventing some of the problems associated with small soluble molecules, which degrade rapidly [105].

#### IMMUNOMODULATORY EFFECTS OF MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Several studies have shown that MSCs escape recognition by the immune system and inhibit immune responses [106]. Modulation of the immune system has been detected in both BM-MSCs and ASCs. This property of MSCs facilitates the clinical use of MSCs in an allogeneic manner in both immune disease and regenerative medicine approaches. Numerous clinical trials involving the use of MSCs have been initiated: 38 to study the effect of MSCs on graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), 22 to treat multiple sclerosis, 14 to treat different forms of anemia, 21 to achieve bone regeneration, and 47 to treat patients with cirrhosis or facilitate liver transplantation [107].

Various mechanisms have been suggested to explicate how MSCs prevent allogeneic rejection among different species [108]: weak immunogenicity; interference in the maturation and function of DCs [10]; abolishment of T-cell proliferation by various pathways including Fas/Fas ligand—induced T-cell apoptosis [109]; and interaction with natural killer (NK) cells in cell-to-cell contact or by releasing soluble secreted factors [110]. Although there have been discrepancies, probably owing to differences in implementing experimental systems, most reports have indicated no or low expression of major histocompatibility complex class II proteins [111]. At the molecular level, many researchers believe that MSCs migrate to sites of injury where they secrete various modulator molecules including immunoregulatory and trophic signals [53]. Najar et al. [112] proposed a description of a regulatory network in which each immune mediator affects and is affected by others; accepted major modulators include HGF, TGF-β [113], nitric oxide [114], PGE2 [115], and IL-10 (the central player in the network). IL-10 is not secreted by MSCs, but by lymphocytes [116] in response to MSC secretion of HGF, PGE2, and other factors [81]. IL-10 has a pleotropic effect that includes diversion of the type 1 T helper/type 2 T helper balance and induction of regulatory T-cell differentiation while regulating antigen-presenting cell activity [117]. iMSCs retain some of the characteristic MSC immunomodulatory capabilities [118], including NK cell downregulation [119].

Exosomal signaling has been shown to participate in MSC immunomodulation [120,121]. Blazquez et al. reported that exosomes secreted by ASCs are able to inhibit the proliferation of stimulated T cells harvested from peripheral blood [120]. The contribution of miRNA molecules has been documented as well: for instance, in an MSC-modulated hepatitis C model [122] and an AKI model [96].

The timing of MSC therapy favoring immunomodulation is highly important. Wang et al. [123] described the plasticity of MSCs in response to the three phases of inflammation: inflammatory, reparative, and remodeling. Because the response of MSCs is affected by the stimulation of immune cells, there is an optimal window during which therapy should be applied. For instance, MSC infusion will not affect GVHD if it is performed during BM transfusion, before inflammation has developed [124], although MSCs can modulate GVHD if administrated 2 days later [125]. We observed a similar effect when we used systemic MSC administration to model vertebral compression fracture (VCF) repair; repair worked only when the MSCs were administered 3 days after the creation of the VCF [54]. Ankrum et al. [126] suggested strategies to prolong the persistence of allogeneic MSCs, including low-dose immunosuppression, polymer capsulation, and even genetic modification of exogenously administrated MSCs. Overall, the way in which MSCs avoid detection by the immune system has not been thoroughly elucidated. Additional soluble factors or cells may be found to exert a significant impact, and novel mechanisms may be revealed.

#### INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELL–DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

The prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders in older persons, taken together with challenges associated with the aging of the world population, has motivated researchers to investigate the impact of aging on the regenerative properties of MSCs, because of these cells' potential as an autologous treatment [127]. Although conflicting results have been published, in a variety of organs the regenerative potential of MSCs appears to decline with advancing age [128]. Human ESCs, the first pluripotent stem cells to be discovered, were found to be capable of inducing mesenchymal tissue formation in vivo [129]. Although ESCs are believed to be immunoprivileged, they have been shown to possess immunogenicity after differentiation [130].

Many ethical questions and debates have arisen from the use of ESCs [131]. As a consequence, there is need for an alternative inexhaustible source of MSCs to treat various skeletal disorders. It has been awhile since induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) were discovered [132], and they provide a feasible solution. The emergence of iPSC technology was saluted with enthusiasm because it provides a reliable technological tool for generating pluripotent cells from practically any somatic cell and, theoretically, for obtaining any differentiated cell type. Use of iPSCs provides relief from a heated ethics controversy over the use of the only other pluripotent stem cells available: ESCs. Also, the notion that less than a handful of genes could reprogram an adult cell into pluripotency was astonishing to the stem cell research community. This discovery provides an opportunity to generate and develop either autologous MSCs or an allogeneic off-the-shelf MSC product. The embryonic origin of MSCs remains unclear, although some studies indicate a possible origin for MSCs in a supporting layer of the dorsal aorta in the aorta-gonad-mesonephros region [55]. Consistent with these findings, MSC-like cells have been found to circulate in fetal human blood [56]. By overcoming the immunological and ethical problems associated with ESCs, use of iPSCs opens a new avenue for cell transplantation—based regenerative medicine [133]. Thus, iPSCs, which are aged cells that possess the properties of young/embryonic cells, could solve one of the bottlenecks for clinical cell therapy, which is the shortage of functional autologous MSCs [134].

Since 2005, several methods have been developed to differentiate pluripotent stem cells (including both ESCs and iPSCs) into MSCs with various efficiencies of differentiation [129]. Initially these methods were developed for ESCs and included OP9 coculture [135], embryoid body formation [129], and direct plating of human ESCs in MSC media [136] with cell sorting [137], scraping [138], or manual colony picking and expansion of spontaneously differentiated human ESCs based on morphology [139]. Some of these methods were applied to iPSCs, as well; specifically, embryoid body formation was used as a first step toward MSC differentiation [31,140]. In other studies, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium or a similar medium was used to culture iPSCs for prolonged periods to initiate spontaneous differentiation toward the mesenchymal lineage [119]. New methods were also developed to induce well-controlled and efficient reprogramming of iPSCs to iMSCs, including treatment with specific factors [31], using cell isolation based on specific surface markers [32], or biomaterials-directed differentiation [34]. Unfortunately, there is no consensus method to differentiate iMSCs, and differences in protocols, however small, can result in variable differentiation potentials, expandability, and properties of the end point tissue that is formed using those cells [31]. Therefore, these is a need to unify the differentiation methods and elaborate multiple tests to evaluate each batch of differentiated cells, to develop these cells into a potential therapeutic agent and move them forward to clinical applications.

Shortly after their discovery, the value of iPSCs as tools for modeling diseases became widely appreciated in the general stem cell scientific community. One of the main advantages of iPSCs lies in the ability to derive these cells from the individual patient, expand the cells, differentiate them into the desired cell type, and recreate the patient's disease in a dish. This method is mostly relevant in cases of genetic diseases, in which a mutation is transferred from the patient's somatic cells to the iPSCs and then to the differentiated cells, allowing researchers to investigate the phenotype of target cells without the need to procure target tissue or cells from the patient. There are no known diseases that specifically originate in mutated or compromised MSCs. Multiple disorders of mesenchymal tissues, such as Marfan syndrome [141] and fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva [142], have been studied using iPSC-mediated disease modeling; however, most of these models used direct reprogramming of iPSCs to the cell of interest without passing through the intermediate MSC stage [143].

#### INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELL-DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Levi and colleagues showed that iPSCs can be directed toward osteogenic differentiation in the presence of BMP-2 protein [144]. In that study, no teratoma formation was observed, even though no differentiation of iPSCs was induced before implantation. Still, the question of the tumorigenicity of pluripotent stem cells remains unanswered [145], and it is less likely that iPSCs will be used in the clinical setting unless a well-controlled differentiation procedure is developed that rules out any chance of tumor formation. Nevertheless, when tumorigenicity was specifically studied and iMSCs were compared with BM-MSCs, iMSCs were found to be less tumorigenic than BM-MSCs [31]. These iMSCs homed to tumors with efficiencies similar to BM-MSCs but were much less prone than BM-MSCs to promote an epithelial–mesenchymal transition, invasion, stemness, and growth of cancer cells [35]. These observations might be explained by the much lower expression of receptors for IL-1 and TGFβ, downstream protumor factors, and hyaluronan and its cofactor TSG6, all of which contribute to the protumor effects of BM-MSCs [35]. All of these findings suggest that once standardized, iMSCs will have the potential to become a safer alternative to the traditional and well-established BM-MSCs for therapeutic applications, especially in patients with cancer.

#### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

**AKI** Acute kidney injury AMI Acute myocardial infarction ASC Adipose tissue-derived stem cell ATPase Adenosine triphosphatase BM Bone marrow BM-MSC Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell BMP Bone morphogenetic protein CFU-F Colony-forming unit-fibroblast CPC Cardiac progenitor cell CVD Cardiovascular disease DMEM Dulbecco's modified eagle medium ECM Extracellular matrix ESC Embryonic stem cell ESCRT Endosomal sorting complexes required for transport EV Extracellular vesicle GCP Good clinical practice GVHD Graft-versus-host disease HGF Hepatocyte growth factor hMSC Human mesenchymal stem cell IAC Immune-affinity capture IL Interleukin iMSC Induced-pluripotent stem cell-derived MSCs iPSC Induced pluripotent stem cell MenSC Menstrual mesenchymal stem cell MHC Major histocompatibility complex miRNA microRNA MLC Mixed lymphocyte culture MNC Mononuclear cell MSC Mesenchymal stem cell MSC-EV MSC-derived extracellular vesicle MV Microvesicle NAD Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide NK Natural killer PBS Phosphate buffered saline PGE2 Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> TCF4 T-cell factor 4 TGFβ<sub>1</sub> Transforming growth factor-beta1 VCF Vertebral compression fracture VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

#### Acknowledgments

We acknowledge funding from National Institutes of Health (NIH)/National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (R01DE019902), NIH/ National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases (R01AR066517), California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (TR406713), and Israel Science Foundation (ISF 382/13) grants. We thank Eran Yalon, Yeshai Schary, and Raphael Lieber for their assistance with the bibliographic search.

#### 14. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

#### References

- [1] Gafni Y, Turgeman G, Liebergal M, Pelled G, Gazit Z, Gazit D. Stem cells as vehicles for orthopedic gene therapy. Gene Ther 2004;11(4): 417–26.
- [2] Gazit Z, Pelled G, Sheyn D, Kimelman N, Gazit D. In: Atala A, Lanza R, Thomson JA, Nerem R, editors. Principles of regenerative medicine. Ch 17. 2nd ed. Elsevier Inc.; 2011.
- [3] Rubio D, Garcia-Castro J, Martin MC, de la Fuente R, Cigudosa JC, Lloyd AC, et al. Spontaneous human adult stem cell transformation. Cancer Res 2005;65(8):3035–9.
- [4] Rombouts WJ, Ploemacher RE. Primary murine MSC show highly efficient homing to the bone marrow but lose homing ability following culture. Leukemia 2003;17(1):160–70.
- [5] Javazon EH, Beggs KJ, Flake AW. Mesenchymal stem cells: paradoxes of passaging. Exp Hematol 2004;32(5):414-25.
- [6] Aslan H, Zilberman Y, Kandel L, Liebergall M, Oskouian RJ, Gazit D, et al. Osteogenic differentiation of noncultured immunoisolated bone marrow-derived CD105+ cells. Stem Cells 2006;24(7):1728–37.
- [7] Gronthos S, Simmons PJ. The growth factor requirements of STRO-1-positive human bone marrow stromal precursors under serumdeprived conditions in vitro. Blood 1995;85(4):929–40.
- [8] Gronthos S, Zannettino AC, Hay SJ, Shi S, Graves SE, Kortesidis A, et al. Molecular and cellular characterisation of highly purified stromal stem cells derived from human bone marrow. J Cell Sci 2003;116(Pt 9):1827–35.
- [9] Sorrentino A, Ferracin M, Castelli G, Biffoni M, Tomaselli G, Baiocchi M, et al. Isolation and characterization of CD146+ multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. Exp Hematol 2008;36(8):1035–46.
- [10] Beyth S, Borovsky Z, Mevorach D, Liebergall M, Gazit Z, Aslan H, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells alter antigen-presenting cell maturation and induce T-cell unresponsiveness. Blood 2005;105(5):2214–9.
- [11] Troeger A, Meisel R, Moritz T, Dilloo D. Immunotherapy in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation-not just a case for effector cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 2005;35(Suppl. 1):S59-64.
- [12] Gazit D, Turgeman G, Kelley P, Wang E, Jalenak M, Zilberman Y, et al. Engineered pluripotent mesenchymal cells integrate and differentiate in regenerating bone: a novel cell-mediated gene therapy. J Gene Med 1999;1(2):121–33.
- [13] Moutsatsos IK, Turgeman G, Zhou S, Kurkalli BG, Pelled G, Tzur L, et al. Exogenously regulated stem cell-mediated gene therapy for bone regeneration. Mol Ther 2001;3(4):449–61.
- [14] Turgeman G, Pittman DD, Muller R, Kurkalli BG, Zhou S, Pelled G, et al. Engineered human mesenchymal stem cells: a novel platform for skeletal cell mediated gene therapy. J Gene Med 2001;3(3):240–51.
- [15] Sheyn D, Pelled G, Zilberman Y, Talasazan F, Frank JM, Gazit D, et al. Nonvirally engineered porcine adipose tissue-derived stem cells: use in posterior spinal fusion. Stem Cells 2008;26(4):1056–64.
- [16] Chen Y, Cheung KM, Kung HF, Leong JC, Lu WW, Luk KD. In vivo new bone formation by direct transfer of adenoviral-mediated bone morphogenetic protein-4 gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;298(1):121–7.
- [17] Aslan H, Zilberman Y, Arbeli V, Sheyn D, Matan Y, Liebergall M, et al. Nucleofection-based ex vivo nonviral gene delivery to human stem cells as a platform for tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng 2006;12(4):877–89.
- [18] Dumont RJ, Dayoub H, Li JZ, Dumont AS, Kallmes DF, Hankins GR, et al. Ex vivo bone morphogenetic protein-9 gene therapy using human mesenchymal stem cells induces spinal fusion in rodents. Neurosurgery 2002;51(5):1239–44. discussion 44–45.
- [19] Gysin R, Wergedal JE, Sheng MH, Kasukawa Y, Miyakoshi N, Chen ST, et al. Ex vivo gene therapy with stromal cells transduced with a retroviral vector containing the BMP4 gene completely heals critical size calvarial defect in rats. Gene Ther 2002;9(15):991–9.
- [20] Peng H, Wright V, Usas A, Gearhart B, Shen HC, Cummins J, et al. Synergistic enhancement of bone formation and healing by stem cellexpressed VEGF and bone morphogenetic protein-4. J Clin Invest 2002;110(6):751–9.
- [21] Burt RK, Oyama Y, Traynor A, Kenyon NS. Hematopoietic stem cell therapy for type 1 diabetes: induction of tolerance and islet cell neogenesis. Autoimmun Rev 2002;1(3):133-8.
- [22] Lardon J, Rooman I, Bouwens L. Nestin expression in pancreatic stellate cells and angiogenic endothelial cells. Histochem Cell Biol 2002; 117(6):535–40.
- [23] Bonafe F, Muscari C, Guarnieri C, Caldarera CM. Regeneration of infarcted cardiac tissue: the route of stem cells. Ital Heart J Suppl 2003;4(4): 299–305.
- [24] Dabeva MD, Shafritz DA. Hepatic stem cells and liver repopulation. Semin Liver Dis 2003;23(4):349-62.
- [25] Abedin M, Tintut Y, Demer LL. Mesenchymal stem cells and the artery wall. Circ Res 2004;95(7):671-6.
- [26] Kim SY, Lee SH, Kim BM, Kim EH, Min BH, Bendayan M, et al. Activation of nestin-positive duct stem (NPDS) cells in pancreas upon neogenic motivation and possible cytodifferentiation into insulin-secreting cells from NPDS cells. Dev Dyn 2004;230(1):1–11.
- [27] Jain M, Pfister O, Hajjar RJ, Liao R. Mesenchymal stem cells in the infarcted heart. Coron Artery Dis 2005;16(2):93–7.
- [28] Sonoyama W, Coppe C, Gronthos S, Shi S. Skeletal stem cells in regenerative medicine. Curr Top Dev Biol 2005;67:305-23.
- [29] Goncalves MA, de Vries AA, Holkers M, van de Watering MJ, van der Velde I, van Nierop GP, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells ectopically expressing full-length dystrophin can complement Duchenne muscular dystrophy myotubes by cell fusion. Hum Mol Genet 2006; 15(2):213–21.
- [30] Akyurekli C, Le Y, Richardson RB, Fergusson D, Tay J, Allan DS. A systematic review of preclinical studies on the therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived microvesicles. Stem Cell Rev 2015;11(1):150–60.
- [31] Sheyn D, Ben-David S, Shapiro G, De Mel S, Bez M, Ornelas L, et al. Human iPSCs differentiate into functional MSCs and repair bone defects. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5.
- [32] Lian Q, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Zhang HK, Wu X, Zhang Y, et al. Functional mesenchymal stem cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells attenuate limb ischemia in mice. Circulation 2010;121(9):1113–23.
- [33] Liu Y, Goldberg AJ, Dennis JE, Gronowicz GA, Kuhn LT. One-step derivation of mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells on a fibrillar collagen coating. PLoS One 2012;7(3):e33225.
- [34] Obara C, Takizawa K, Tomiyama K, Hazawa M, Saotome-Nakamura A, Gotoh T, et al. Differentiation and molecular properties of mesenchymal stem cells derived from murine induced pluripotent stem cells derived on gelatin or collagen. Stem Cells Int 2016;2016:9013089.

#### 214

#### REFERENCES

- [35] Zhao Q, Gregory CA, Lee RH, Reger RL, Qin L, Hai B, et al. MSCs derived from iPSCs with a modified protocol are tumor-tropic but have much less potential to promote tumors than bone marrow MSCs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112(2):530–5.
- [36] Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Gerasimov UV. Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and transplantation in diffusion chambers. Cell Tissue Kinet 1987;20(3):263–72.
- [37] Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006;8(4):315–7.
- [38] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- [39] Prockop DJ. Repair of tissues by adult stem/progenitor cells (MSCs): controversies, myths, and changing paradigms. Mol Ther 2009;17(6): 939-46.
- [40] Lee CC, Christensen JE, Yoder MC, Tarantal AF. Clonal analysis and hierarchy of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem and progenitor cells. Exp Hematol 2010;38(1):46-54.
- [41] Sacchetti B, Funari A, Michienzi S, Di Cesare S, Piersanti S, Saggio I, et al. Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. Cell 2007;131(2):324–36.
- [42] Boquest AC, Shahdadfar A, Fronsdal K, Sigurjonsson O, Tunheim SH, Collas P, et al. Isolation and transcription profiling of purified uncultured human stromal stem cells: alteration of gene expression after in vitro cell culture. Mol Biol Cell 2005;16(3):1131–41.
- [43] Applebaum M, Kalcheim C. Mechanisms of myogenic specification and patterning. Results Probl Cell Differ 2015;56:77–98.
- [44] Yue WM, Liu W, Bi YW, He XP, Sun WY, Pang XY, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, reduce neointimal formation, and enhance endothelial function in a rat vein grafting model. Stem Cells Dev 2008;17(4):785–93.
- [45] Spees JL, Olson SD, Ylostalo J, Lynch PJ, Smith J, Perry A, et al. Differentiation, cell fusion, and nuclear fusion during ex vivo repair of epithelium by human adult stem cells from bone marrow stroma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(5):2397–402.
- [46] Wu HH, Ho JH, Lee OK. Detection of hepatic maturation by Raman spectroscopy in mesenchymal stromal cells undergoing hepatic differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016;7:6.
- [47] Mohsin S, Shams S, Ali Nasir G, Khan M, Javaid Awan S, Khan SN, et al. Enhanced hepatic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells after pretreatment with injured liver tissue. Differentiation 2011;81(1):42–8.
- [48] Nombela-Arrieta C, Ritz J, Silberstein LE. The elusive nature and function of mesenchymal stem cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12(2): 126–31.
- [49] Jiang Y, Jahagirdar BN, Reinhardt RL, Schwartz RE, Keene CD, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, et al. Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 2002;418(6893):41–9.
- [50] Azizi SA, Stokes D, Augelli BJ, DiGirolamo C, Prockop DJ. Engraftment and migration of human bone marrow stromal cells implanted in the brains of albino rats-similarities to astrocyte grafts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95(7):3908–13.
- [51] Alvarez-Dolado M, Pardal R, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Fike JR, Lee HO, Pfeffer K, et al. Fusion of bone-marrow-derived cells with Purkinje neurons, cardiomyocytes and hepatocytes. Nature 2003;425(6961):968–73.
- [52] Coyne TM, Marcus AJ, Woodbury D, Black IB. Marrow stromal cells transplanted to the adult brain are rejected by an inflammatory response and transfer donor labels to host neurons and glia. Stem Cells 2006;24(11):2483–92.
- [53] Caplan AI, Correa D. The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell 2011;9(1):11-5.
- [54] Sheyn D, Shapiro G, Tawackoli W, Jun DS, Koh Y, Kang KB, et al. PTH induces systemically administered mesenchymal stem cells to migrate to and regenerate spine injuries. Mol Ther 2016;24(2):318–30.
- [55] Cortes F, Deschaseaux F, Uchida N, Labastie MC, Friera AM, He D, et al. HCA, an immunoglobulin-like adhesion molecule present on the earliest human hematopoietic precursor cells, is also expressed by stromal cells in blood-forming tissues. Blood 1999;93(3):826–37.
- [56] Campagnoli C, Roberts IA, Kumar S, Bennett PR, Bellantuono I, Fisk NM. Identification of mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells in human first-trimester fetal blood, liver, and bone marrow. Blood 2001;98(8):2396–402.
- [57] Bianco P, Riminucci M, Gronthos S, Robey PG. Bone marrow stromal stem cells: nature, biology, and potential applications. Stem Cells 2001; 19(3):180–92.
- [58] Steinhardt Y, Aslan H, Regev E, Zilberman Y, Kallai I, Gazit D, et al. Maxillofacial-derived stem cells regenerate critical mandibular bone defect. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14(11):1763–73.
- [59] Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, et al. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 2001;7(2):211–28.
- [60] Bartsch G, Yoo JJ, De Coppi P, Siddiqui MM, Schuch G, Pohl HG, et al. Propagation, expansion, and multilineage differentiation of human somatic stem cells from dermal progenitors. Stem Cells Dev 2005;14(3):337–48.
- [61] Mizrahi O, Sheyn D, Tawackoli W, Ben-David S, Su S, Li N, et al. Nucleus pulposus degeneration alters properties of resident progenitor cells. Spine J 2013;13(7):803–14.
- [62] De Coppi P, Bartsch Jr G, Siddiqui MM, Xu T, Santos CC, Perin L, et al. Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25(1):100–6.
- [63] Huang GT, Gronthos S, Shi S. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental tissues vs. those from other sources: their biology and role in regenerative medicine. J Dent Res 2009;88(9):792–806.
- [64] Parolini O, Alviano F, Bagnara GP, Bilic G, Buhring HJ, Evangelista M, et al. Concise review: isolation and characterization of cells from human term placenta: outcome of the first international Workshop on Placenta Derived Stem Cells. Stem Cells 2008;26(2):300–11.
- [65] Hutson EL, Boyer S, Genever PG. Rapid isolation, expansion, and differentiation of osteoprogenitors from full-term umbilical cord blood. Tissue Eng 2005;11(9–10):1407–20.
- [66] Lavi A, Pelled G, Tawackoli W, Casap N, Gazit D, Gazit Z. Isolation and characterization of mesenchymal stromal progenitors from the temporomandibular joint disc. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2015;11.
- [67] Conrad C, Gottgens B, Kinston S, Ellwart J, Huss R. GATA transcription in a small rhodamine 123(low)CD34(+) subpopulation of a peripheral blood-derived CD34(-)CD105(+) mesenchymal cell line. Exp Hematol 2002;30(8):887–95.
- [68] Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Kluter H, Bieback K. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 2006;24(5):1294–301.

#### 14. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

- [69] Mizuno H, Hyakusoku H. Mesengenic potential and future clinical perspective of human processed lipoaspirate cells. J Nippon Med Sch 2003;70(4):300-6.
- [70] Crisan M, Yap S, Casteilla L, Chen CW, Corselli M, Park TS, et al. A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3(3):301–13.
- [71] Caplan AI. All MSCs are pericytes? Cell Stem Cell 2008;3(3):229-30.
- [72] da Silva Meirelles L, Malta TM, de Deus Wagatsuma VM, Palma PV, Araujo AG, Ribeiro Malmegrim KC, et al. Cultured human adipose tissue pericytes and mesenchymal stromal cells display a very similar gene expression profile. Stem Cells Dev 2015;24(23):2822–40.
- [73] Blocki A, Wang Y, Koch M, Peh P, Beyer S, Law P, et al. Not all MSCs can act as pericytes: functional in vitro assays to distinguish pericytes from other mesenchymal stem cells in angiogenesis. Stem Cells Dev 2013;22(17):2347–55.
- [74] Sacchetti B, Funari A, Remoli C, Giannicola G, Kogler G, Liedtke S, et al. No identical "mesenchymal stem cells" at different times and sites: human committed progenitors of distinct origin and differentiation potential are incorporated as adventitial cells in microvessels. Stem Cell Rep 2016;6(6):897–913.
- [75] Guimaraes-Camboa N, Cattaneo P, Sun Y, Moore-Morris T, Gu Y, Dalton ND, et al. Pericytes of multiple organs do not behave as mesenchymal stem cells in vivo. Cell Stem Cell 2017;20.
- [76] Ikebe C, Suzuki K. Mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative therapy: optimization of cell preparation protocols. BioMed Res Int 2014;2014: 951512.
- [77] Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, et al. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002;13(12):4279–95.
- [78] Sheyn D, Kallai I, Tawackoli W, Cohn Yakubovich D, Oh A, Su S, et al. Gene-modified adult stem cells regenerate vertebral bone defect in a rat model. Mol Pharm 2011;8(5):1592–601.
- [79] Roda B, Reschiglian P, Zattoni A, Alviano F, Lanzoni G, Costa R, et al. A tag-less method of sorting stem cells from clinical specimens and separating mesenchymal from epithelial progenitor cells. Cytometry B Clin Cytom 2009;76B(4):285–90.
- [80] Kastrinaki MC, Andreakou I, Charbord P, Papadaki HA. Isolation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells using different membrane markers: comparison of colony/cloning efficiency, differentiation potential, and molecular profile. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2008;14(4):333–9.
- [81] Busser H, Najar M, Raicevic G, Pieters K, Velez Pombo R, Philippart P, et al. Isolation and characterization of human mesenchymal stromal cell subpopulations: comparison of bone marrow and adipose tissue. Stem Cells Dev 2015;24(18):2142–57.
- [82] Sensebé L, Bourin P, Tarte K. Good manufacturing practices production of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Hum Gene Ther 2011;22(1): 19–26.
- [83] Sensebé L, Gadelorge M, Fleury-Cappellesso S. Production of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells according to good manufacturing practices: a review. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013;4(3):66.
- [84] Yang D, Singh R, Divieti P, Guo J, Bouxsein ML, Bringhurst FR. Contributions of parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related peptide receptor signaling pathways to the anabolic effect of PTH on bone. Bone 2007;40(6):1453–61.
- [85] Fekete N, Rojewski MT, Fürst D, Kreja L, Ignatius A, Dausend J, et al. GMP-compliant isolation and large-scale expansion of bone marrowderived MSC. PLoS One 2012;7(8):e43255.
- [86] Lötvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzás EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, et al. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles 2014;3. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v3.26913.
- [87] Lai RC, Yeo RWY, Lim SK. Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2015;40:82-8.
- [88] Keerthikumar S, Chisanga D, Ariyaratne D, Al Saffar H, Anand S, Zhao K, et al. ExoCarta: a web-based compendium of exosomal cargo. J Mol Biol 2016;428(4):688–92.
- [89] Greening DW, Xu R, Ji H, Tauro BJ, Simpson RJ. A protocol for exosome isolation and characterization: evaluation of ultracentrifugation, density-gradient separation, and immunoaffinity capture methods. Methods Mol Biol 2015;1295:179–209.
- [90] Lai RC, Arslan F, Tan SS, Tan B, Choo A, Lee MM, et al. Derivation and characterization of human fetal MSCs: an alternative cell source for large-scale production of cardioprotective microparticles. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2010;48(6):1215–24.
- [91] Rani S, Ryan AE, Griffin MD, Ritter T. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: toward cell-free therapeutic applications. Mol Ther 2015;23(5):812–23.
- [92] Huang L, Ma W, Ma Y, Feng D, Chen H, Cai B. Exosomes in mesenchymal stem cells, a new therapeutic strategy for cardiovascular diseases? Int J Biol Sci 2015;11(2):238–45.
- [93] Suzuki E, Fujita D, Takahashi M, Oba S, Nishimatsu H. Stem cell-derived exosomes as a therapeutic tool for cardiovascular disease. World J Stem Cells 2016;8(9):297–305.
- [94] Merino-Gonzalez C, Zuniga FA, Escudero C, Ormazabal V, Reyes C, Nova-Lamperti E, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles promote angiogenesis: potential clinical application. Front Physiol 2016;7:24.
- [95] Zhang H, Xiang M, Meng D, Sun N, Chen S. Inhibition of myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury by exosomes secreted from mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016;2016:4328362.
- [96] Collino F, Bruno S, Incarnato D, Dettori D, Neri F, Provero P, et al. AKI recovery induced by mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles carrying microRNAs. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015;26(10):2349–60.
- [97] Ju GQ, Cheng J, Zhong L, Wu S, Zou XY, Zhang GY, et al. Microvesicles derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells facilitate tubular epithelial cell dedifferentiation and growth via hepatocyte growth factor induction. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0121534.
- [98] Lopez-Verrilli MA, Caviedes A, Cabrera A, Sandoval S, Wyneken U, Khoury M. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes from different sources selectively promote neuritic outgrowth. Neuroscience 2016;320:129–39.
- [99] Ophelders DR, Wolfs TG, Jellema RK, Zwanenburg A, Andriessen P, Delhaas T, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles protect the fetal brain after hypoxia-ischemia. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5(6):754–63.
- [100] Nakamura Y, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H, Matsuyama S, Nakasa T, Kamei N, et al. Mesenchymal-stem-cell-derived exosomes accelerate skeletal muscle regeneration. FEBS Lett 2015;589(11):1257–65.

- [101] Narayanan R, Huang CC, Ravindran S. Hijacking the cellular mail: exosome mediated differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016;2016:3808674.
- [102] Marote A, Teixeira FG, Mendes-Pinheiro B, Salgado AJ. MSCs-derived exosomes: cell-secreted nanovesicles with regenerative potential. Front Pharmacol 2016;7.
- [103] Furuta T, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H, Ogura T, Kato Y, Kamei N, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote fracture healing in a mouse model. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5.
- [104] Zhang S, Chu WC, Lai RC, Lim SK, Hui JH, Toh WS. Exosomes derived from human embryonic mesenchymal stem cells promote osteochondral regeneration. Osteoarthr Cartil 2016;24.
- [105] Konala VB, Mamidi MK, Bhonde R, Das AK, Pochampally R, Pal R. The current landscape of the mesenchymal stromal cell secretome: a new paradigm for cell-free regeneration. Cytotherapy 2016;18(1):13–24.
- [106] Gao F, Chiu SM, Motan DA, Zhang Z, Chen L, Ji HL, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells and immunomodulation: current status and future prospects. Cell Death Dis 2016;7:e2062.
- [107] clinicaltrials.gov 2017.
- [108] Ren G, Su J, Zhang L, Zhao X, Ling W, L'Huillie A, et al. Species variation in the mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression. Stem Cells 2009;27(8):1954–62.
- [109] Akiyama K, Chen C, Wang D, Xu X, Qu C, Yamaza T, et al. Mesenchymal-stem-cell-induced immunoregulation involves FAS-ligand-/FASmediated T cell apoptosis. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(5):544-55.
- [110] Ghannam S, Bouffi C, Djouad F, Jorgensen C, Noël D. Immunosuppression by mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms and clinical applications. Stem Cell Res Ther 2010;1(1):2.
- [111] Kean TJ, Lin P, Caplan AI, Dennis JE. MSCs: delivery routes and engraftment, cell-targeting strategies, and immune modulation. Stem Cells Int 2013;2013:732742.
- [112] Najar M, Raicevic G, Crompot E, Fayyad-Kazan H, Bron D, Toungouz M, et al. The immunomodulatory potential of mesenchymal stromal cells: a story of a regulatory network. J Immunother 2016;39(2):45–59.
- [113] Rasmusson I, Ringden O, Sundberg B, Le Blanc K. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit lymphocyte proliferation by mitogens and alloantigens by different mechanisms. Exp Cell Res 2005;305(1):33–41.
- [114] Yen BL, Yen ML, Hsu PJ, Liu KJ, Wang CJ, Bai CH, et al. Multipotent human mesenchymal stromal cells mediate expansion of myeloidderived suppressor cells via hepatocyte growth factor/c-met and STAT3. Stem Cell Rep 2013;1(2):139–51.
- [115] Yu KR, Lee JY, Kim HS, Hong IS, Choi SW, Seo Y, et al. A p38 MAPK-mediated alteration of COX-2/PGE2 regulates immunomodulatory properties in human mesenchymal stem cell aging. PLoS One 2014;9(8):e102426.
- [116] Najar M, Raicevic G, Fayyad-Kazan H, De Bruyn C, Bron D, Toungouz M, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells induce proliferative, cytokinic and molecular changes during the T Cell response: the importance of the IL-10/CD210 axis. Stem Cell Rev 2015;11(3):442–52.
- [117] Ivanova-Todorova E, Bochev I, Dimitrov R, Belemezova K, Mourdjeva M, Kyurkchiev S, et al. Conditioned medium from adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells induces CD4+FOXP3+ cells and increases IL-10 secretion. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012;2012:295167.
- [118] Zomer HD, Vidane AS, Goncalves NN, Ambrosio CE. Mesenchymal and induced pluripotent stem cells: general insights and clinical perspectives. Stem Cells Cloning 2015;8:125–34.
- [119] Giuliani M, Oudrhiri N, Noman ZM, Vernochet A, Chouaib S, Azzarone B, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells down-regulate NK-cell cytolytic machinery. Blood 2011;118(12):3254–62.
- [120] Blazquez R, Sanchez-Margallo FM, de la Rosa O, Dalemans W, Alvarez V, Tarazona R, et al. Immunomodulatory potential of human adipose mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes on in vitro stimulated T cells. Front Immunol 2014;5:556.
- [121] Fierabracci A, Del Fattore A, Luciano R, Muraca M, Teti A. Recent advances in mesenchymal stem cell immunomodulation: the role of microvesicles. Cell Transplant 2015;24(2):133–49.
- [122] Qian X, Xu C, Fang S, Zhao P, Wang Y, Liu H, et al. Exosomal MicroRNAs derived from umbilical mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hepatitis C virus infection. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5(9):1190–203.
- [123] Wang Y, Chen X, Cao W, Shi Y. Plasticity of mesenchymal stem cells in immunomodulation: pathological and therapeutic implications. Nat Immunol 2014;15(11):1009–16.
- [124] Sudres M, Norol F, Trenado A, Grégoire S, Charlotte F, Levacher B, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells suppress lymphocyte proliferation in vitro but fail to prevent graft-versus-host disease in mice. J Immunol 2006;176(12):7761–7.
- [125] Ren G, Zhang L, Zhao X, Xu G, Zhang Y, Roberts AI, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression occurs via concerted action of chemokines and nitric oxide. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2(2):141–50.
- [126] Ankrum JA, Ong JF, Karp JM. Mesenchymal stem cells: immune evasive, not immune privileged. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32(3):252-60.
- [127] Beane OS, Fonseca VC, Cooper LL, Koren G, Darling EM. Impact of aging on the regenerative properties of bone marrow-, muscle-, and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. PLoS One 2014;9(12):e115963.
- [128] Yukata K, Xie C, Li TF, Takahata M, Hoak D, Kondabolu S, et al. Aging periosteal progenitor cells have reduced regenerative responsiveness to bone injury and to the anabolic actions of PTH 1-34 treatment. Bone 2014;62:79–89.
- [129] Pringle S, De Bari C, Dell'Accio F, Przyborski S, Cooke MJ, Minger SL, et al. Mesenchymal differentiation propensity of a human embryonic stem cell line. Cell Prolif 2011;44(2):120–7.
- [130] Swijnenburg RJ, Tanaka M, Vogel H, Baker J, Kofidis T, Gunawan F, et al. Embryonic stem cell immunogenicity increases upon differentiation after transplantation into ischemic myocardium. Circulation 2005;112(9 Suppl.):I166–72.
- [131] Sugarman J. Human stem cell ethics: beyond the embryo. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2(6):529-33.
- [132] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126(4):663–76.
- [133] Taura D, Noguchi M, Sone M, Hosoda K, Mori E, Okada Y, et al. Adipogenic differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells: comparison with that of human embryonic stem cells. FEBS Lett 2009;583(6):1029–33.
- [134] Yu B, Zhao X, Yang C, Crane J, Xian L, Lu W, et al. Parathyroid hormone induces differentiation of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells by enhancing bone morphogenetic protein signaling. J Bone Miner Res 2012;27(9):2001–14.

- [135] Barberi T, Willis LM, Socci ND, Studer L. Derivation of multipotent mesenchymal precursors from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS Med 2005;2(6):e161.
- [136] Karlsson C, Emanuelsson K, Wessberg F, Kajic K, Axell MZ, Eriksson PS, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived mesenchymal progenitors-potential in regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Res 2009;3(1):39–50.
- [137] Sanchez L, Gutierrez-Aranda I, Ligero G, Rubio R, Munoz-Lopez M, Garcia-Perez JL, et al. Enrichment of human ESC-derived multipotent mesenchymal stem cells with immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory properties capable to protect against experimental inflammatory bowel disease. Stem Cells 2011;29(2):251–62.
- [138] Gruenloh W, Kambal A, Sondergaard C, McGee J, Nacey C, Kalomoiris S, et al. Characterization and in vivo testing of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17(11–12):1517–25.
- [139] Yen BL, Chang CJ, Liu KJ, Chen YC, Hu HI, Bai CH, et al. Brief report–human embryonic stem cell-derived mesenchymal progenitors possess strong immunosuppressive effects toward natural killer cells as well as T lymphocytes. Stem Cells 2009;27(2):451–6.
- [140] Xie J, Peng C, Zhao Q, Wang X, Yuan H, Yang L, et al. Osteogenic differentiation and bone regeneration of iPSC-MSCs supported by a biomimetic nanofibrous scaffold. Acta Biomater 2016;29:365–79.
- [141] Quarto N, Leonard B, Li S, Marchand M, Anderson E, Behr B, et al. Skeletogenic phenotype of human Marfan embryonic stem cells faithfully phenocopied by patient-specific induced-pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109(1):215–20.
- [142] Matsumoto Y, Hayashi Y, Schlieve CR, Ikeya M, Kim H, Nguyen TD, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cells from patients with human fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva show increased mineralization and cartilage formation. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013;8:190.
- [143] Unternaehrer JJ, Daley GQ. Induced pluripotent stem cells for modelling human diseases. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2011;366(1575): 2274–85.
- [144] Levi B, Hyun JS, Montoro DT, Lo DD, Chan CK, Hu S, et al. In vivo directed differentiation of pluripotent stem cells for skeletal regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109(50):20379–84.
- [145] Knoepfler PS. Deconstructing stem cell tumorigenicity: a roadmap to safe regenerative medicine. Stem Cells 2009;27(5):1050-6.

### Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

#### Arnold I. Caplan

Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States

#### INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY

The body continuously changes, and this is controlled primarily by genetic factors. The same genomic program that brings the fertilized egg through a series of multiplication and differentiation changes to bring about the birth of a complete multitissued organism controls the continuous changes through neonatal, juvenile, and teen stages and all of adulthood. Individuals aged 10, 30, 50, 70, and 90 years exemplify this continuous genetic and distinctive process of change. Importantly, the later stage of this process, referred to as aging, is not a disease state but rather part of this genomically controlled continuum. The central feature of change is that tissue-specific progenitor cells divide and their progeny differentiate in a sequence of site-specific changes to both expand the dimensions of tissues and *replace* cells that naturally expire. Every cell in the body has a life span measured in minutes, weeks, or in some rare cases, years. With only a few exceptions, end-stage differentiated cells die within a fixed time frame. The progenitor cells for that expired cell must replace the expired cells; the rate of replacement controls whether the tissue will increase in size, be maintained, or experience atrophy as seen in old age.

Within this view, I proposed the scheme pictured in Fig. 15.1, recognizing that bone marrow contained osteochondral progenitors, which had been used for decades to repair bones [1–3]. Fig. 15.1 was established in schematic form to mimic what was known about the lineages of hematopoiesis [4], except that in 1988 we knew the most about the lineage progression on the left of Fig. 15.1 [5] and nothing about the lineages on the right. In addition, in reviewing prior experiments from Dr. A. Friedenstein's lab in Moscow and her own findings, Professor Maureen Owen also proposed the existence of osteochondral progenitors in a logic mirroring hematopoiesis [6]. The dogma of that era (the 1980s and early 1990s) was that there was only one progenitor or stem cell, the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC), in adult organisms. The full scope of Fig. 15.1 was clearly not envisioned in 1988 and the term mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) was considered by some to be provocative at best and by others to be outlandish. Because the focus of Fig. 15.1 was on the differentiation lineages, all of the research of that era focused on tissue engineering strategies to rebuild damaged tissues; most experiments and transplantations were formulated in the orthopedic sector with bone [7,8], cartilage [9,10], muscle [11,12], and tendon [13] being prominent.

Because the MSCs were isolated from marrow, it was hypothesized that these cells were the progenitors for the bone marrow stroma (the highly differentiated tissue that supports all of hematopoiesis) [14]. Although most preclinical models using MSCs were in the orthopedic sector (bone, cartilage, and tendon) in the early 1990s, the first clinical trial using human MSCs (hMSCs) conducted by my colleagues in hematology-oncology was to supplement bone marrow transplantations with culture-expanded hMSCs for patients with cancer and eventually for patients with gene defects in mesenchymal-linked processes or tissues [15–17]. The logic of that era was that the MSCs, like the HSCs, would "home" back to the marrow when infused into the bloodstream; once home, the MSCs would rebuild or enhance the marrow scaffold to accelerate the engraftment of the HSCs and stimulate the recovery of the blood cell—forming capacity of the marrow by directly fabricating microenvironments for each distinct lineage pathway for hematopoiesis. Indeed, the early clinical evidence showed that the added MSCs improved both the kinetics and outcomes of hematopoietic recovery in bone marrow—transplanted patients with cancer [18].



FIGURE 15.1 The mesengenic process. This figure was generated in the late 1980s and proposed that a mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) existed in bone marrow and that its progeny could be induced to enter one of several mesenchymal lineage pathways [5–14]. The left side of the diagram was already experimentally established [5] whereas little was known about the lineages on the right. The lineage format was constructed from what was known about the hematopoietic lineage pathway [4].

This involvement of the hematologists-oncologists led to the realization that hMSCs were immunomodulators and, thus allogeneic MSCs were not immediately interrogated by the host's immune system [17,19,20]. This allows allogeneic hMSCs to be infused into the bloodstream as a delivery modality with the cells functioning in tissue areas of inflammation or vascular damage. As discussed subsequently, this also allows hMSCs to be used in rodent models of multiple sclerosis (MS) [21,22], asthma [23,24], inflammatory bowel disease [25], graft versus host disease (GvHD) [26], etc., without rapid and intense immunorejection.

#### NEW INSIGHT

When Steven Haynesworth and I first started working with hMSCs, we developed monoclonal antibodies to cellsurface antigens on these cells called SH2, SH3, and SH4 [27]. Subsequently, we showed that SH2 was a unique antigen on endoglin (also known as CD105) [28] and SH3=SH4=CD73 [29]. The initial screens for these monoclonal antibodies were to their binding to hMSCs in culture and then to frozen sections of marrow plugs. It was not until years later that we realized that SH2-positive cells colocalized with the external aspects of small blood vessels in those marrow sections. Through the detailed research from the laboratories of B. Peault [30], I. Bianco [31], and others [32], we now understand that MSCs are identical to perivascular cells, referred to here as pericytes. Indeed, I have hypothesized [33] that *all* MSCs are derived from pericytes (the reverse is not correct in that some pericytes are so highly differentiated that they cannot form MSCs). In this context, we published an article on human skin showing SH2-positive cells sitting on blood vessels [34]. For reasons still not clear, only a small proportion of

#### NEW INSIGHT

such cells stained positive in sections of skin, with the most numerous positive images in specimens from young donors. Perhaps the antibody SH-2 stains differently from CD105 [28].

The current literature documents that MSCs can be isolated from marrow [35], fat [36,37], muscle [38], skin [39], periosteum [40], tendon [41], neural tissues [42], etc. These tissues all have blood vessels in common and such vessels have perivascular cells on the adlumenal surface. The positioning of such pericytes is controlled by a number of factors, but the prominent component is the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor [43]. Thus, PDGF not only acts as a powerful chemoattractant and mitogen for mesenchymal cells, its receptors function to stabilize interactions between perivascular cells and vascular endothelial cells. I would suggest that in tissue domains of inflammation or blood vessel damage, the pericytes are liberated from their adlumenal locations and apparently function as activated MSCs.

Based on the clinically relevant effects of activated MSCs, we have suggested that the therapeutic capabilities of MSCs (i.e., liberated pericytes) reflect their biologic functionality at sites of tissue injury or inflammation. These therapeutic activities involve the modulation of the local immune cells to inhibit their surveillance of the damaged tissue, thus inhibiting the initiation of autoimmune activities [44]. Furthermore, the activated MSCs produce trophic effects by secreting a spectrum of bioactive molecules that inhibit apoptosis (especially in areas of ischemia), prevent scar formation, and stimulate angiogenesis by secreting vascular endothelial growth factor to attract endothelial cells to form new blood vessels, forming perivascular contacts stabilizing such newly formed vessels [45], and secreting mitogens that directly affect tissue intrinsic progenitors [46] (Fig. 15.2). These effects have resulted in clinically relevant therapies, as discussed subsequently and outlined in Table 15.1.



FIGURE 15.2 Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are immunomodulatory and trophic. (A) The sequential activation as a response to injury affects pericytes and liberates them from functional contact with blood vessels to become functional MSCs. These MSCs become immuno-activated and secrete factors that organize a regenerative microenvironment. (B) The bioactive molecules secreted by activated MSCs are immunomodulatory and affect a variety of immuno-related cells [17,19,32,33]. Other secreted molecules establish a regenerative microenvironment by establishing a powerful trophic field [44,46].

Tissue	Injury/Disease	References
Bone marrow	Graft versus host disease	[26,71]
Brain	Stroke/multiple sclerosis/ amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	[21,22,53,58,72]
Spinal cord	Cut/contusion	[73,74]
Bowel	Inflammatory bowel disease	[25,48]
Tendon	Tendonitis	[75,76]
Muscle	Defect/muscular dystrophy	[38,47]
Pancreas	Diabetes	[61]
Lung	Asthma/cystic fibrosis	[23,24]
Heart	Acute myocardial infarct, chronic	[64,65]

 TABLE 15.1
 Therapeutic Effects of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Given the proposed pericyte—MSC relationship, it is easy to understand why large numbers of MSCs can be isolated from adipose or muscle tissue. Indeed, although marrow MSCs are the most widely studied ones, data from fat and muscle appear to be complementary [47,48]. The fact that fat contains a 300- to 500-fold greater number of MSCs per milliliter of material accounts for the assertion that adipose-derived MSCs can be obtained in sufficient numbers without in vitro expansion [49]. Simply, liposuctioned fat is dispersed in a homogeneous slurry and incubated with digestive enzymes such as collagenase to free the pericytes from their capillary endothelial cell attachments, and the liberated cells are centrifuged after saline washes [50]. The adipocytes float and the pelleted cells, called the stromal vascular fraction (SVF), contain MSCs with some contaminating endothelial cells and monocytes [51]. For autologous cell-based MSC therapy, the SVF has been used directly with clear therapeutic effects [52,53]. Likewise, the SVF represents a relatively pure starting suspension for the culture attachment of MSCs and their further expansion.

Again, for emphasis, relatively large numbers of MSCs can be obtained from muscle [38], placenta [52] and other highly vascularized tissues [54]. From unpublished studies in my laboratory (Sung, Lennon, and Caplan), I suggest that MSCs are absent in cord blood but plentiful in the perivascular fraction of the cord. I further assert that if MSCs have been identified in cord blood, they have been found as an artifact of collection and are dislodged from their natural habitat (by needle insertion) during cord blood retrieval.

#### ALL MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS ARE NOT CREATED EQUAL

Because I have asserted that *all* MSCs are derived from pericytes, it also follows that MSCs from different tissue sources must be different, because they reside in different tissue microenvironments. We have published various assays to test for the capacity of MSCs (primarily from marrow) to differentiate into bone [8], cartilage [10], muscle [12], and marrow stroma [55]. In many cases, these assays have been optimized for marrow MSCs [56], but not for MSCs from other tissues. For example, dexamethasone stimulates hMSCs to differentiate into osteoblasts but it induces mouse MSCs to become adipocytes [57]. For cartilage induction, hMSCs from marrow require transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) in defined medium [10]. Fat-derived hMSCs do not respond to TGB- $\beta$  alone but require the addition of bone morphogenetic protein-6 with TGF- $\beta$  for optimal chondrogenic differentiation [58]. The relationship between the capacity of MSCs to be induced into specific and multiple phenotypic pathways and their intrinsic secretory profile remains unknown. It is clear that MSCs from a variety of tissues are multipotent, but their capacity to respond to certain signaling molecules and their ability to differentiate are apparently independent of their source or their therapeutic or secretory potential. MSCs are presumably conditioned by the tissue microenvironment from which they were purified, and thus all MSCs are not equivalent.

#### Clinically Relevant Therapies Using Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Often the US Food and Drug Administration requires animal trials as preclinical proof of concept for the use of a drug or device. No animal models match the human disease condition exactly. Indeed, in most cases of animal models of cell-based therapies, autologous animal cells have been preferentially used [9,13,38,41]. The reason for

including this section on preclinical studies is to set forth the unique example that hMSCs are being used in animal models to cure their disease states (see, for example, Bonfield et al. [23,24] and Bai et al. [22]). This in itself is a remarkable property of hMSCs, in that the animals' immune systems do not overtly reject the human cells whereas the (usually, second passage) hMSCs orchestrate the cures.

#### **Multiple Sclerosis**

#### **Experimental Autoimmune Encephalitis Model**

A mouse model for MS involves exposing immunocompetent animals to molecules from myelin in the presence of adjuvant that causes the animals to mount an immune reaction to these molecules, which in turn causes a series of demyelinating events mimicking human MS. Two models have been used by us: severe, monophasic MS and recurring-remitting MS. In both cases, hMSCs cure the animal after a single tail vein injection of 10<sup>6</sup> hMSCs [22]. We have separately shown that molecules secreted by hMSCs preferentially cause central nervous system neural stem cells to differentiate into oligodendrocytes, the cells that wrap nerve axons with myelin [21]. The end result is a cured animal that exhibits no signs of MS.

#### Asthma

#### **Ovalbumin Model**

Mice were injected with the chicken protein ovalbumin in adjuvant to immune-sensitize the animal. After 2 weeks, ovalbumin was atomized daily or every other day into the lungs of these sensitized mice, causing an intense inflammatory response. At 3 or 7 days or 11 weeks after the initial exposure of the lungs to ovalbumin followed by exposure to ovalbumin daily or every other day, 5–10 mice were injected in the tail vein with 10<sup>6</sup> hMSCs [23,24]. Ovalbumin treatment was continued for 4 days or 1 week after the injection of hMSCs; the animals were killed at 1, 4, 8, or 12 weeks after the initial ovalbumin exposure to the lungs was begun. The hMSCs were compared with saline-injected animals. In the saline-injected, ovalbumin-sensitized mice, the lungs looked normal with the reestablishment of intact endothelial lining and the absence of inflammation [23,24]. Experiments document that scar tissue from chronically inflamed lungs is replaced by normal tissue after multiple hMSC exposures [24]. Again, hMSCs facilitate the cure of this asthma-like condition in mouse models.

#### Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Mice can be exposed to dopamine dysregulation syndrome, which causes severe inflammatory bowel disease that is lethal. When hMSCs are targeted to the sites of inflammation using a proprietary cell-docking system, 80%–90% of the animals are cured [25]. No other single treatment can accomplish this cure. Whether the enhanced targeting is required for human subjects is not known, although phase I and II clinical trial data appear to indicate that substantial improvement in patients with Crohn disease can be experienced with infusion of hMSCs alone, with high doses required (Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., www.osiristx.com; now owned by Mesoblast, Ltd.).

#### Stroke and Acute Myocardial Infarct

By occluding a major artery leading to the brain [59] or suturing the heart [60], mouse models of stroke or acute myocardial infarct (AMI) have been created. Two to 7 days after these models of severe ischemia were created, hMSCs were injected via the tail vein [59,60]. The animals were monitored for 5–10 weeks and those that received hMSC therapy returned to full and normal function. The therapeutic effects resulted from the trophic activity of hMSCs that homed to sites of vascular injury and inflammation.

#### Diabetes

In both mice and rats, the immune destruction of pancreatic islet cells was initiated by exposing the animal to streptozotocin. By monitoring systemic secretion of insulin, a continuous, autoimmune-mediated elimination of islets, and thus the diminution of insulin secretion, was observed. Using a single intravenous injection of hMSCs, the decline of insulin secretion was halted and the eventual regeneration of islet cells was observed [61].

#### CLINICAL TRIALS

Worldwide, over 830 separate clinical trials are being conducted using MSCs for various clinical maladies; the most are conducted outside the United States. Such clinical trial listings do not include infusions of MSCs occurring in clinics and hospitals operating within the medical tourism industry. Indeed, the use of MSCs, both autologous (SVF and culture-expanded MSCs) and allogeneic, from marrow and other sources, form an expanding sector of the medical tourism markets in the Caribbean, Central and South America, Europe, and Asia. Most, if not all, of these MSC uses are in open-label, nonrandomized, nonplacebo controlled studies. Although one can find fault with such studies, they provide patients with access to potential therapeutics long before MSCs will be officially approved for use by regulatory agencies. Because many drugs are used "off-label" by medical practitioners, it is tempting to be enthusiastic about such treatments, especially using autologous SVF. In this regard, somewhere between 10,000 and 50,000 individuals have been infused with Various preparations of MSCs with no reported adverse reactions. Certainly, if one million patients are infused with MSCs, we should expect some adverse events. In this regard, whether in sanctioned clinical trials or in other situations, the medical community must be informed quickly and completely about any and all adverse events so that we can understand the problems and limitations of these new therapies.

#### THE NEW MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Long ago, when we developed the isolation and culturing technology and assays for hMSCs [62,63], we envisioned using these cells in tissue-engineering applications in orthopedics. We started Osiris Therapeutics, Inc. as a "bioorthopedic" company, which interestingly, followed our academic lead by furthering our initial investigator-initiated clinical trials in the augmentation of bone marrow transplantations for patients with cancer [15–19]. Within the first 10 years of Osiris, it became clear that the MSCs had a unique immunomodulatory capacity [17,19]. This led to the use of MSCs in GvHD, and the new management of Osiris brought us into the current wide range of use of MSCs as briefly outlined previously (now owned by Mesoblast, Ltd.) For the record, we set up the correct animal models for the wrong reasons. For example, the AMI model was established because it was hypothesized that MSCs would differentiate into cardiac myocytes and thus fix the damaged heart [64]. Early reports documented such differentiation by showing the labeled MSCs docked in ischemic heart tissue and the label was seen in and on cells with markers for cardiac myocytes [65]. This most probably resulted from the low frequency of fusion between the labeled MSCs and resident cardiac myocytes. We now understand more clearly that the MSCs have a complex, multicomponent trophic effect that establishes a protective and regenerative micro-environment that allows the heart to minimize the damage caused by blood vessel blockage, as shown schematically in Fig. 15.2.

The "new hypothesis" regarding MSCs is that they are site-regulated pumps for bioactive molecules that are both immunomodulatory and trophic. As outlined in review articles [44,66,67], tens to hundreds of molecules are provided and modulated at each site of injury or inflammation. Such modulation is probably site-specific and also controlled by the genetic markup of both the host and donor. The corollary is that it patients who exhibit autoimmune diseases may have defects in their MSCs with regard to specific site-regulated responses. Such defects may not be manifested by the absences of key components, but rather may be a consequence of low levels of key components. Such low levels may not be detrimental until a specific age or stress condition is experienced. Likewise, the reported decreases in MSCs with age may be controlled by the age-related decrease in tissue vascular density that is seen with age or disease state, such as diabetes. Given the relationship between pericytes and MSCs [30–33], the central issue is to determine the cause of vascular density decreases: is this controlled by the MSC/pericytes, the endothelial cells, or the tissues hosting the vasculature?

The "new" MSC, the pericyte, allows a better understanding of both a variety of diseases and the development and maintenance capacities of a variety of tissues. As a compositum of this newer information, we have constructed a poster that summarizes all of the newest information on the pericyte MSCs [68]. The new MSC treatment protocols using both culture-expanded and freshly isolated uncultured MSCs (i.e., SVF) open the door to new therapies and new medical horizons. The "old" MSCs can still be used for a variety of orthopedic indications, but they will now be used with new insights and new hypotheses. The third decade of this century will usher in "new medicine" and new treatment protocols using MSCs. The next technical hurdle will be to learn how to orchestrate the docking or targeting [25,69,70] of systemically introduced MSCs more efficiently to effect efficient therapeutic outcomes.

#### References

- [1] Caplan AI. Biomaterials and bone repair. Biomat 1988;87:15-24.
- [2] Chutro P. Greffeosseuse osseuse du tibia. Bull Mém Soc Chir Paris 1918;44:570.
- [3] Connolly JF, Guse R, Tiedeman J, Dehne R. Autologous marrow injection as a substitute for operative grafting of tibial nonunions. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1991;266:259–69.
- [4] Orkin SH, Zon LI. Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell 2008;132(4):631-44.
- [5] Bruder SP, Caplan AI. Osteogenic cell lineage analysis is facilitated by organ culture of embryonic chick periosteum. Dev Biol 1990;141: 319–29.
- [6] Owen M, Friedenstein AJ. Stromal stem cells: marrow-derived osteogenic precursors. Ciba Found Symp 1988;136:42-60.
- [7] Bruder SP, Fink DJ, Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells in bone development, bone repair, and skeletal regeneration. J Cell Biochem 1994;56: 283–94.
- [8] Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, Bruder SP. Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. J Cell Biochem 1997;64:295–312.
- [9] Wakitani S, Goto T, Pineda SJ, Young RG, Mansour JM, Goldberg VM, et al. Mesenchymal cell-based repair of large full-thickness defects of articular cartilage and underlying bone. J Bone Joint Surg 1994;76:579–92.
- [10] Yoo JU, Barthel TS, Nishimura K, Solchaga LA, Caplan AI, Goldberg VM, et al. The chondrogenic potential of human bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells. J Bone Joint Surg 1998;80:1745–57.
- [11] Saito T, Dennis JE, Lennon DP, Young RG, Caplan AI. Myogenic expression of mesenchymal stem cells within myotubes of MDX mice in vitro and in vivo. Tissue Eng 1996;1:327–44.
- [12] Wakitani S, Saito T, Caplan AI. Myogenic cells derived from rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells exposed to 5-azacytidine. Muscle Nerve 1995;18:1417–26.
- [13] Young RG, Butler DL, Weber W, Gordon SL, Fink DJ, Caplan AI. The use of mesenchymal stem cells in achilles tendon repair. J Orthop Res 1998;16:406–13.
- [14] Reese JS, Koc ON, Gerson SL. Human mesenchymal stem cells provide stromal support for efficient CD34+ transduction. J Hematoher Stem Cell Res 1999;8:515–23.
- [15] Koc ON, Peters C, Aubourg P, Raghavan S, Dyhouse S, DeGasperi R, et al. Bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells remain host-derived despite successful hematopoietic engraftment after allogeneic transplantation in patients with lysosomal and peroxisomal storage diseases. Exp Hematol 1999;27:1675–81.
- [16] Lazarus HM, Haynesworth SE, Gerson SL, Rosenthal N, Caplan AI. Ex-vivo expansion and subsequent infusion of human bone marrowderived stromal progenitor cells (mesenchymal progenitor cells) [MPCs]: implications for therapeutic use. Bone Marrow Transplant 1995; 16:557–64.
- [17] Maitra B, Szekely E, Gjini K, Laughlin MJ, Dennis J, Haynesworth SE, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells support unrelated donor hematopoietic stem cells and suppress T cell activation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2004;33:597–604.
- [18] Koc ON, Gerson SL, Cooper BW, Dyhouse SM, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, et al. Rapid hematopoietic recovery after co-infusion of autologous blood stem cells and culture expanded marrow mesenchymal stem cells in advanced breast cancer patients receiving high dose chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2000;18:307–16.
- [19] le Blanc K, Tammit LL, Sundberg B, Haynesworth SE, Ringden O. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit and stimulate mixed lymphocyte cultures and mitogenic responses independently of the major histocompatibility complex. Scand J Immunol 2003;57:11–20.
- [20] Sundin M, Ringden O, Sundberg B, Nava S, Gotherstrom C, Le Blanc K. No alloantibodies against mesenchymal stromal cells, but presence of anti-fetal calf serum antibodies, after transplantation in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell recipients. Haematologica 2007;92:1208–15.
- [21] Bai L, Caplan AI, Lennon DL, Miller RH. Human mesenchymal stem cells signals regulate neural stem cell fate. Neurochem Res 2007;32: 353–62.
- [22] Bai L, Lennon DP, Eaton V, Maier K, Caplan AI, Miller SD, et al. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells induce Th2-polarized immune response and promote endogenous repair in animal models of multiple sclerosis. Glia 2009;57:1192–203.
- [23] Bonfield TL, Koloze M, Lennon D, Zuchowski B, Yang SE, Caplan AI. Defining mesenchymal stem cell efficacy in vivo. J Inflamm 2010;7:51.
- [24] Bonfield TL, Koloze M, Lennon D, Zuchowski B, Yang SE, Caplan AI. Human mesenchymal stem cells suppress chronic airway inflammation in the murine ovalbumin asthma model. Am J Physiol Lung 2010;299(6):L760-70.
- [25] Ko K, Kim BG, Awadallah A, Mikulan J, Lin P, Letterio JJ, et al. Targeting improves MSC treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. Mol Ther 2010;18:1365–72.
- [26] le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Ball L, Locatelli F, Roelofs H, Lewis I, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II study. Lancet 2008;371:1579–86.
- [27] Haynesworth SE, Baber MA, Caplan AI. Cell surface antigens on human marrow-derived mesenchymal cells are detected by monoclonal antibodies. Bone 1992;13:69–80.
- [28] Barry FP, Boynton RE, Haynesworth S, Murphy JM, Zaia J. The monoclonal antibody SH-2, raised against human mesenchymal stem cells, recognizes an epitope of endoglin (CD105). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999;265:134–9.
- [29] Barry F, Boynton R, Murphy M, Zaia J. The SH-3 and SH-4 antibodies recognize distinct epitopes on CD73 from human mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001;28:519–24.
- [30] Crisan M, Yap S, Casteilla L, Chen C, Corselli M, Park TS, et al. A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3:301–13.
- [31] Sacchetti B, Funari A, Michienzi S, di Cesare S, Piersanti S, Saggio I, et al. Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. Cell 2007;131:324.
- [32] Hirschi K, D'Amore PA. Pericytes in the microvasculature. Cardiovasc Res 1996;32:687–98.
- [33] Caplan AI. All MSCs are pericytes? Cell Stem Cell 2008;3:229–30.
- [34] Fleming Jr JE, Cassiede P, Baber M, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI. A monoclonal antibody against adult marrow-derived mesenchymal cells recognizes developing vasculature in embryonic human skin. Dev Dyn 1998;212:119–32.
### 226

### 15. MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [35] Brighton CT, Lorich DG, Kupcha R, et al. The pericyte as a possible osteoblast progenitor-cell. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1992;276:287-99.
- [36] Bieback K. Fatty tissue: not all bad? Optimally cultured adipose tissue-derived stromal cells improve experimentally-induced ischemia. Stem Cells Dev 2009;18:531–2.
- [37] Krampera M, Marconi S, Pasini A, et al. Induction of neural-like differentiation in human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, fat, spleen and thymus. Bone 2007;40:382–90.
- [38] Lee JY, Qu-Petersen Z, Cao B, et al. Clonal isolation of muscle-derived cells capable of enhancing muscle regeneration and bone healing. J Cell Biol 2000;150:1085–100.
- [39] Toma JG, Akhavan M, Fernandes KJ, et al. Isolation of multipotent adult stem cells from the dermis of mammalian skin. Nat Cell Biol 2001;3: 778–84.
- [40] Nakahara H, Goldberg VM, Caplan AI. Culture-expanded human periosteal-derived cells exhibit osteochondral potential in vivo. J Orthop Res 1991;9:465–76.
- [41] Salingcarnboriboon R, Yoshitake H, Tsuji K, et al. Establishment of tendon-derived cell lines exhibiting pluripotent mesenchymal stem celllike property. Exp Cell Res 2003;287:289–300.
- [42] Covas DT, Panepucci RA, Fontes AM, et al. Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells obtained from diverse human tissues share functional properties and gene-expression profile with CD146(+) perivascular cells and fibroblasts. Exp Hematol 2008;36:642–54.
- [43] Gerhardt H, Semb H. Pericytes: gatekeepers in tumour cell metastasis? J Mol Med 2008;86:135-44.
- [44] da Silva Meirelles L, Caplan AI, Nardi NB. In search of the in vivo identity of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2008;26:2287–99.
- [45] Lin P, Correa D, Kean TJ, et al. Serial transplantation and long-term engraftment of intraarterially delivered clonally-derived mesenchymal stem cells to injured bone marrow. Mol Ther 2014;22(1):160–8.
- [46] Caplan AI, Dennis JE. Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J Cell Biochem 2006;98:1076-84.
- [47] Bosch P, Musgrave DS, Lee JY, Cummins J, Shuler F, Ghivizzani SC, et al. Osteoprogenitor cells within skeletal muscle. J Orthop Res 2000;18: 933–44.
- [48] Garcia-Olmo D, Garcia-Arranz M, Herreros D, Pascual I, Peiro C, Rodriguez-Montes JA. A phase I clinical trial of the treatment of Crohn's fistula by adipose mesenchymal stem cell transplantation. Dis Colon Rectum 2005;48:1416–23.
- [49] Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA. Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res 2007;100:1249-60.
- [50] Bieback K, Schallmoser K, Klutera H, Strunk D. Clinical protocols for the isolation and expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells. Transfus Med Hemother 2008;35:286–94.
- [51] Iwashima S, Ozaki T, Maruyama S, Saka Y, Kobori M, Omae K, et al. Novel culture system of mesenchymal stromal cells from human subcutaneous adipose tissue. Stem Cells Dev 2009;18:533–44.
- [52] Fauza D. Amniotic fluid and placental stem cells. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet 2004;18:877-91.
- [53] Riordan NH, Ichim TE, Min WP, Wang H, Solano F, Lara F, et al. Non-expanded adipose stromal vascular fraction cell therapy for multiple sclerosis. J Transl Med 2009;7:29.
- [54] de Bari C, Dell'Accio F, Tylzanowski P, et al. Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from adult human synovial membrane. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44:1928–42.
- [55] Majumdar MK, Thiede MA, Mosca JD, Moorman M, Gerson SL. Phenotypic and functional comparison of cultures of marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and stromal cells. J Cell Physiol 1998;176:57–66.
- [56] Solchaga LA, Penick K, Porter JD, Goldberg VM, Caplan AI, Welter JF. FGF-2 enhances the mitotic and chondrogenic potentials of human adult bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Physiol 2005;203:398–409.
- [57] Meirelles LS, Nardi NB. Murine marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell: isolation, in vitro expansion, and characterization. Br J Haematol 2003;123:702–11.
- [58] Estes BT, Wu AW, Guilak F. Potent induction of chondrocytic differentiation of human adipose-derived adult stem cells by bone morphogenetic protein 6. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54:1222–32.
- [59] Li Y, Chen J, Chen XG, Wang L, Guatam SC, Xu YX, et al. Human marrow stromal cell therapy for stroke in rat: neurotrophins and functional recovery. Neurology 2002;59:514.
- [60] Penn MS, Khalil MK. Exploitation of stem cell homing for gene delivery. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2008;8:17-23.
- [61] Farge D, Vija L, Gautier JF, Vexiau P, Dumitrache C, Verrecchia F, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells stem cell therapy perspectives for type 1 diabetes. Proc Rom Acad 2008;2:59–70.
- [62] Caplan AI. The mesengenic process. Clin Plast Surg 1994;21:429-35.
- [63] Caplan AI, Haynesworth SE. Method for enhancing the implantation and differentiation of marrow-derived mesenchymal cells. Patent No. 5. 1993. 197–985.
- [64] Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahil KS, Byrne BJ, Kessler PD. Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. Circulation 2002;105:93–8.
- [65] Pittenger MF, Martin BJ. Mesenchymal stem cells and their potential as cardiac therapeutics. Circ Res 2004;95:9–20.
- [66] Caplan AI. Why are MSCs therapeutic? New data: new insight. J Pathol 2009;217:318-24.
- [67] da Silva Meirelles L, Fontes AM, Covas DT, Caplan AI. Mechanisms involved in the therapeutic properties of mesenchymal stem cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2009;20:419–27.
- [68] Somoza R, Correa D, Caplan AI. Roles for mesenchymal stem cells as medicinal signaling cells. Nat Protoc 2015;11(1). http://www.nature. com/nprot/posters/msc/index.html.
- [69] Dennis JE, Cohen N, Goldberg VM, Caplan AI. Targeted delivery of progenitor cells for cartilage repair. J Orthop Res 2004;22:735-41.
- [70] Sackstein R, Merzaban JS, Cain DW, Dagia NM, Spencer JA, Lin CP, et al. Ex vivo glycan engineering of CD44 programs human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell trafficking to bone. Nat Med 2008;14:181–7.
- [71] Frassoni F, Labopin M, Gluckman E, Rocha V, Bruno B, Lazarus HM, et al. Expanded MSCs coinfused with HLA identical hemopoietic stem cell transplants, reduce acute and chronic graft versus host disease: a matched pair analysis. Bone Marrow Transplant 2002;29:S2–75.
- [72] Mahmoud A, Lu D, Lu M, Chopp M. Treatment of traumatic brain injury in adult rats with intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells. Neurosurgery 2003;53:697–703.
- [73] Chopp M, Li Y. Treatment of neural injury with marrow stromal cells. Lancet Neurol 2002;1:92-100.

REFERENCES

- [75] Black LL, Gaynor J, Adams C, Dhupa S, Sams AE, Taylor R, et al. Effect of intra-articular injection of autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem and regenerative cells on clinical signs of chronic osteoarthritis of the elbow joint in dogs. Vet Ther 2008;9:192–299.
- [76] Black LL, Gaynor J, Gahring D, Adams C, Aron D, Harman S, et al. Effect of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem and regenerative cells on lameness in dogs with chronic osteoarthritis of the coxofemoral joints: a randomized, double-blinded, multicenter, controlled trial. Vet Ther 2007;8:272–84.

This page intentionally left blank

# 16

# Cell Therapy of Liver Disease: From Hepatocytes to Stem Cells

Stephen C. Strom<sup>1</sup>, Carl Jorns<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Laboratory Medicine, Karolinska Institute and Division of Pathology, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden; <sup>2</sup>Department of Transplantation Surgery, Karolinska University Hospital, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

# INTRODUCTION

The concept of regenerative medicine implies that the clinician works with the innate healing and regenerative process of the body to effect an improvement in a patient's health. Perhaps more than with any other organ, the liver offers the greatest opportunity for regenerative medicine. This is because, unlike most other tissues, the liver has the capacity to regenerate after massive chemical or physical insult and tissue loss [1]. Our very existence may well rely on the ability to regenerate liver mass. The liver is an incredibly complex organ that performs diverse biological functions from glycogen storage and catabolism to maintain blood sugar levels to the production and secretion of critical plasma proteins including albumin, clotting factors, and protease inhibitors. In addition, the liver is the major site in the body for the metabolism and excretion of hormones, metabolic waste products such as ammonia, as well as exogenous compounds such as toxins, drugs, and a variety of other compounds to which we are exposed through diet and environment. These processes are so critical to survival that the loss of any of these functions has serious and often lethal consequences for the individual.

Until recently, the only option for treating chronic liver disease or metabolic defects in liver function has been whole-organ transplantation. Hepatocyte transplantation has been performed as the standard. Although still an experimental therapy, there are some potential advantages for a cell therapy approach to treat liver disease. Some advantages to and problems with current treatments for liver disease are listed in Table 16.1.

Despite the unquestioned success of this technique, orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) requires major surgery and has a significantly long recovery period. Financial costs associated with OLT and lifelong immunosuppression are considerable. There is a high incidence of complications from the surgical procedure and the concomitant immunosuppression that is required after the organ transplant. Complications can range from simple infections to renal failure, hyperlipidemia, and an increased incidence of skin and other types of cancers after long-term immunosuppression. As with all other organs, the number of liver donors does not nearly equal the number of patients on the waiting list. Patients may wait 2 or more years for a liver transplant, and there is a death rate of greater than 10% per year for patients on the waiting list. Timing is critical for whole-organ transplant. An ABO-compatible liver donor must be available when a patient requires the transplant. Some limitations associated with whole-organ transplants are addressed with hepatocyte transplants (Table 16.1). Hepatocyte transplants do not require major surgical procedures because they are performed by infusing cells into the blood supply to an organ such as the liver or spleen. Thus, hepatocyte transplants are less invasive and less costly procedures. Because major surgery is not required, fewer complications are associated with the procedure. Cell infusions are minor procedures, and thus essentially no recovery period is needed. If patients were healthy before the procedures, such as stable metabolic disease patients, they would likely feel no adverse effects from the procedure other than from the placement of a catheter. Hepatocytes can be banked and cryopreserved, so theoretically, cells could be available at any time for a patient transplant. The timing of a hepatocyte transplant depends on the status of the patient rather than on the availability of a suitable

16. CELL THERAPY OF LIVER DISEASE: FROM HEPATOCYTES TO STEM CELLS

<b>IABLE 16.1</b> Current Treatments for Liver Disease		
ORTHOTOPIC LIVER TRANSPLANTATION		
Major and expensive surgery		
Extensive recovery period		
High incidence of complications		
Expensive maintenance therapy		
Shortage of donor organs		
Timing is critical		
HEPATOCYTE TRANSPLANTATION		
Less invasive and less costly procedure		
Complications, fewer, and less severe		
Timing of procedure is easier		
Alternative cell sources		
Patient retains native liver		
Graft loss is not necessarily lethal		
Option remains for whole-organ transplant		

organ. Currently, the source of hepatocytes for hepatocyte transplants is mainly discarded organs not suitable for whole-organ transplant [2]. There are not enough hepatocytes to transplant all recipients who would likely benefit from the procedure. However, some inventive new ideas have been proposed, such as to use segment IV, which can be made available from a split-liver procedure [3] to make more hepatocytes available for transplants. Another novel source of good-quality hepatocytes is neonatal donors. Because of their small size and potential immaturity, these livers are usually not used for whole-organ transplantation. However, experience shows that these neonatal donor livers can give high-yield, good-quality hepatocytes that are resistant to cryopreservation damage. Alternative sources of hepatocytes could also be available in the future. Among the many options discussed are xenotransplants from pigs or other species, immortalized hepatocytes, and stem cell—derived hepatocytes. Future developments in these areas may make the number of cells available for hepatocyte transplants virtually unlimited.

A significant benefit of hepatocyte transplantation is that patients retain their native liver. In cases of cell transplants for metabolic disease, the patient's native liver still performs all of the liver functions with the exception of the function that initiates the disease. Patients with ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency (OTC) have a mutation in an enzyme involved in the urea cycle that prevents the metabolism and elimination of ammonia. Although the native liver is not proficient in ammonia metabolism, it is still capable of performing other liver functions including the secretion of clotting factors and albumin, drug metabolism, and all other metabolic and synthetic processes. A cell transplant only needs to support the ammonia metabolism for the patient and will not be required to provide complete liver support. Because all liver functions do not depend on donor cells, loss of the cell graft or failure of the cells to function properly will not necessarily be life-threatening, especially for a patient with stable metabolic disease. Finally, a whole-organ transplant always remains an option for the patient with a cell transplant. Even if the cell transplant fails to function or is rejected, nothing performed as part of the cell transplant procedure would likely interfere with a subsequent whole-organ transplant. Fisher et al. [4] reported that prior hepatocyte transplantation did not sensitize the cell transplant recipient to either the donor cells or to an eventual liver graft. Thus, despite sometimes transplanting hepatocytes directly into an immunological response organ (the spleen), no immunological reactions were initiated that are deleterious to the cell transplant or an eventual whole-organ transplant. However, more data must be obtained to validate these initial observations.

There are potential disadvantages of hepatocyte transplants as well. First, there are no reports of long-term complete corrections of metabolic liver disease in patients after cell transplantation alone. Because it is a new field, much additional experimentation will be required to determine the full efficacy of cell therapy of liver disease and the length of time the cell graft will function. Also, like whole-organ transplants, it is believed that cell transplant recipients will require the administration of immunosuppressive drugs. The most relevant reviews on this subject are from Jorns et al. [5], Gramignoli et al. [6], and Khan et al. [7].

# **BACKGROUND STUDIES**

# Choice of Sites for Hepatocyte Transplantation

Hepatocyte transplants have been conducted for over 20 years. A number of good reviews are available for details of the experiments and the original references that may be omitted in this review [8–13]. The large numbers of preclinical studies conducted on hepatocyte transplants firmly establish that the transplants are safe and effective. The most common sites for the transplantation of hepatocytes are the spleen and the liver; however, transplants to the peritoneal cavity, stomach, or omentum have been reported. Long-term survival of the cells is readily measured after transplants into the spleen or liver. Most cells transplanted into the peritoneal cavity intellectual property (IP) are rapidly lost. After IP transplants, only cells that nidate near blood vessels and can attract sufficient nutrition survive in the long term. Despite the ease of the procedure, IP transplants of hepatocytes have only limited efficacy. Transplants of hepatocytes to the spleen or the liver have been shown to function for the lifetime of the recipient [14–17]. Studies by Mito and coworkers clearly showed long-term survival of hepatocytes and that over time, the spleen of an animal can be "hepatized" to the point at which 80% of the mass of the organ can replaced with hepatocytes [16,18–21].

The concept of establishing ectopic liver function in the spleen is similar in theory to the bioartificial liver (BAL). In BAL, the hepatocytes are seeded into and maintained in some form of an extracorporal device. The patient's blood or plasma is pumped to the device where it interacts with the hepatocytes across membrane barriers and is then returned to the patient by a second series of pumps. There are reports that BAL can provide short-term synthetic and metabolic support [22,23]. The ease of transplant of hepatocytes and the abundance of the patient's own natural basement membrane components coupled with the naturally high blood flow make the spleen a useful site for establishing short- or long-term ectopic liver function. It is likely that hepatocyte transplants will be easier, cheaper, and more efficient, and will provide the same or better level of support as extracorporal devices.

For transplants into the liver, the preferred route for administering cells is via the portal vein. Cells are infused into the blood supply that feeds the liver and the hepatocytes are distributed to the different lobes in proportion to the blood flow they receive from the portal vein. Portal vein injections are difficult in small animals, so an alternative method is used in these studies. Hepatocytes are injected directly into the splenic pulp. The proportion of the cells that remain in the spleen is determined by the extent to which the outflow through splenic veins is impeded. In the studies of Mito et al. [16], in which the spleen was "hepatized," the authors briefly occluded the splenic outflow, which retained the cells in the spleen. Alternatively, when the spleen is used as a method to affect a portal vein injection, the splenic veins are left open. It was reported that up to 52% of cells injected into the spleen traverse to the liver via the splenic and portal veins within a few minutes [14,17].

# Integration of Hepatocytes After Transplantation

Integration of hepatocytes into a recipient liver is a complex process that requires the interaction of donor and native hepatocytes to form an integrated tissue. The process may be considered to take place in four steps (Table 16.2) [24–27]. Although they are presented as separate, there is considerable overlap of the steps in both time and space. Some of the most spectacular photographs of the entire process are provided by Koenig et al. [27]. After infusion into the portal vein, hepatocytes must traverse the endothelium to escape the vascular system. Although the liver has fenestrated endothelium, under normal conditions the pores, which are in the range of 150 nm, are far too small to provide a simple transit of parenchymal hepatocytes, which are  $20-50 \mu m$  in size. Infusions of hepatocytes quickly fill the portal veins and embolize secondary and tertiary portal radicals [28]. Portal pressures increase as flow is restricted by hepatocyte plugs in the portal veins. Venograms that were normal before cell transplantation

TABLE 16.2	Integration of Donor Hepatocytes Into Native Liver After Transplantation	
Filling vascular	spaces with donor cells	
Disruption of the sinusoidal endothelium		
Donor cell integration in host parenchyma		
Remodeling of liver via modulation of extracellular matrix		

become markedly attenuated and show greater filling of vessels proximal to the portal vein, including the mesenteric and splenic vein. If the number of hepatocytes transplanted is in the range of 5% of the total number of hepatocytes in the native liver, the portal hypertension is transient and resolves within minutes to hours.

A proportion of transplanted cells begin to fill sinusoidal spaces and the space of Disse as the endothelium in the region of the transplanted cells begins to degenerate. It is likely that both physical and humoral (growth factors and cytokines) factors are involved in this process. Microscopic analysis of tissue sections reveals that endothelium is breached in many places and donor hepatocytes leave the portal veins in regions where endothelium is incomplete and broken. Reports suggest that most hepatocytes that eventually integrate into recipient liver will have traversed the endothelial barrier by 24 h posttransplant. Cells that remain in the portal vessels are eventually removed by macrophages between 16 and 24 h posttransplant. Other reports suggest that cells may continue to integrate into parenchyma for 2–3 days after transplantation [29]. Transient hypoxia in the region of the occluded vessels leads to changes in the endothelium as well as both recipient and donor hepatocytes. Endothelium and donor and native hepatocytes all express vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in the areas of hepatocyte integration [25,29], a factor known to be induced by hypoxia. It is interesting that VEGF was previously known as vascular permeability factor (VPF). Expression and secretion of VEGF/VPF, a potent angiogenesis factor, are thought to contribute to the reformation of new sinusoids and restoration of the endothelial barrier after cell transplantation.

Passage through the endothelial barrier allows donor hepatocytes to become integrated into recipient parenchyma. Full integration of donor hepatocytes and restoration of full hepatic function are difficult to ascertain. However, careful studies of the expression of antigens and activities localized to specific membrane fractions clearly demonstrate that donor hepatocytes fully integrate into the hepatic plate of native liver and for hybrid structures between native and donor cells within 3–5 days after transplantation. The antibody to CD26 recognizes the dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPPIV) antigen, which is localized to the basolateral membrane of hepatocytes. Antibodies to connexin 32 can be used to visualize gap junctions between adjacent hepatocytes. Likewise, canicular adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) activity can be used to identify bile canicular regions between adjacent hepatocytes. Proper localization of these different antigens and activities requires that the hepatocyte be fully integrated into the hepatic plate and polarized. By 3–7 days posttransplant, hybrid structures could be visualized in recipient liver containing both donor (DPPIV) hepatocytes and recipient ATPase activity [24] or donor DPPIV colocalized with connexin 32 [27]. Both studies clearly demonstrate proper integration of donor hepatocytes as well as the reestablishment of intracellular communication (connexin 32) between donor and recipient hepatocytes. Hybrid structures between donor and recipient hepatocytes were shown to be functional, as demonstrated by the transport and excretion of a fluorescent conjugated bile acid [24]. Hepatic transport of indocyanine and sulfobromophthalein into the bile after hepatocyte transplantation was also reported by Hamaguchi et al. [30]. Hepatocyte transplants were conducted on Eisai-hyperbilirubinemic rats. These animals have a defect in multidrug resistance protein-2, which prevents the normal transport of bile acid conjugates and their excretion into bile. This is a relevant animal model of metabolic disease because the condition is similar to Dubin–Johnson syndrome in humans. Correction of this transport defect by hepatocyte transplantation is definitive proof of the complete functional integration of donor hepatocytes into recipient liver.

As part of the integration process, there is significant remodeling of the hepatic parenchyma. Koenig et al. [27] reported the activation and release of matrix metalloprotease-2 (MMP-2) in the immediate area of donor cells. It is not clear whether the proteases are produced by the donor or recipient's cells, or even which cell type is the source of the protease, but the degradation of extracellular matrix components creates space for the donor cells and allows them to migrate from the circulation. Expression of MMP-2 was detected in and surrounding foci of proliferating donor hepatocytes 2 months after cell transplantation. Increased production and release of MMP-2 were also observed at the growth edge of nodules of fetal rat hepatocytes proliferating in adult liver after transplantation [31]. Whereas all of the components of the process are not completely understood, it is clear that hepatocytes can be transplanted into the vascular supply of the liver, breach the endothelial barrier, remodel and integrate into hepatic parenchyma, and establish communication with adjacent cells and the biliary tree, all within 3–5 days in a process of remodeling that completely retains normal host hepatic architecture.

### CLINICAL HEPATOCYTE TRANSPLANTATION

Hepatocyte transplantation has been employed in clinics using three types of procedures (Table 16.3). Cell transplants were used to provide short-term liver support to patients who are dying of the disease before a suitable organ could be found. Because these patients were already listed for a whole-organ transplant, hepatocyte infusion was used, sometimes referred to as a "bridge" to transplant. A second use for hepatocyte transplants came from attempts **TABLE 16.3** Opportunities for Hepatocyte Transplantation

"Bridge" for patients to whole-organ transplantation

Cell support for acute liver failure

Cell therapy for metabolic disease

to bridge people to OLT. It was discovered that some patients receiving hepatocyte transplants recovered completely after the hepatocyte transplants and no longer required whole-organ transplant. The third general use for hepatocyte transplants is to correct metabolic liver disease. Each technique will be discussed separately.

# Hepatocyte Bridge

With the bridge technique, hepatocytes are provided to a patient in acute liver failure or those experiencing acute decompensation after chronic liver disease. Most of these patients are already listed for OLT and are in danger of dying before a suitable organ can be found. Hepatocyte transplants have been conducted on these patients in an effort to keep them alive long enough to receive OLT. The primary goal of the bridge transplant is not to prevent whole-organ transplant, but rather to support and sustain the patient until an organ becomes available. Preclinical studies with several different models of acute or chronic liver failure have demonstrated that hepatocyte transplantation can support liver function and improve survival [32-41]. The results with human hepatocyte transplantation in the clinic also show an increase in the survival of patients after hepatocyte transplantation. Several reports and review articles provide details regarding patients receiving hepatocyte transplants. Although randomized control studies could not be conducted, preliminary results with approximately 25 patients indicate a survival advantage for patients receiving cell transplants. In addition to increased survival, there are consistent reports that clinical parameters such as ammonia levels, intracranial pressure, and cerebral blood flow improved after hepatocyte transplantation [12,42,43,46-49]. These results indicate that desperately ill patients who receive hepatocyte transplants are more likely to survive long enough to receive OLT than are the nontransplant controls.

Most patients who would be candidates for the hepatocyte bridge technique have chronic liver disease and advanced cirrhosis. Because of cirrhotic changes in the liver and accompanying portal hypertension, hepatocytes were not transplanted into the liver (portal vein) in most clinical studies. Preclinical studies were conducted where cirrhosis was induced in rats by administering phenobarbital and carbon tetrachloride [50]. When hepatocytes were subsequently transplanted into animals with increased portal pressures and cirrhosis, there was significantly greater intrapulmonary translocation of donor cells, presumably because of portosystemic shunting. These results suggest that serious complications could arise if portal infusion of hepatocytes were conducted on patients who had cirrhosis and portal hypertension. Indeed, shunting of transplanted hepatocytes to pulmonary vascular beds was reported in one clinical study [42]. To avoid this possible complication, Fisher et al. recommended that hepatocytes be transplanted into the spleen in cirrhotic patients via the splenic artery [43,47]. Despite the obvious success of the splenic artery route for hepatocyte transplantation, a report suggested that transplantation of hepatocytes by direct splenic puncture resulted in superior engraftment and fewer serious complications, although long-term engraftment was not studied [51]. Although the method for splenic delivery of cells may not be resolved, it is clear that in cases where physical and/or anatomic abnormalities are present in the native liver, the preferred route for hepatocyte transplantation is to an ectopic site, the spleen.

Promising results that have been reported suggest that hepatocyte transplantation is beneficial to patients experiencing severe hepatic insufficiency while awaiting OLT. A logical extension of these results might be to use hepatocyte transplants earlier in the process. Rather than wait until the patient is near death and with no immediate prospect for a whole-organ transplant, a more preemptive approach might be warranted. Hepatocyte transplants could be performed when patients awaiting OLT become unstable. This would presumably stabilize the patient and avoid or at least delay more serious complications of liver failure. Early intervention might avoid more costly hospitalization and other treatments.

### Hepatocyte Transplantation in Acute Liver Failure

As described earlier, hepatocyte transplants have been used as a bridge to OLT. Most patients who have been referred for bridge transplants have already had chronic liver disease and cirrhotic changes in liver architecture.

There is a subgroup of patients referred for OLT who experience acute liver failure. In these patients there is massive loss of hepatocytes over a short time leading to hepatic insufficiency. Except for the dramatic loss of hepatocytes, there is no long-standing pathological change in liver architecture. Because the liver has the capacity for robust regeneration after loss of liver mass [1], there is considerable interest in trying to correct acute liver failure with hepatocyte transplantation. The hypothesis is similar to the bridge technique, in which hepatocyte transplantation is used to provide support at a time of critical and otherwise lethal liver failure. The expectation is that if the patient survives the acute loss of tissue mass, their native liver will regenerate. If the native liver regenerates, there will no longer be a need for OLT. An exogenous source of hepatocytes by transplantation would provide support of liver function to prevent lethal hepatic failure. Both donor and native hepatocytes would be expected to participate in the regeneration response. Once the native liver has been fully restored, there might not be a need for donor-derived hepatocytes. If the chimeric liver generated after the transplant is composed predominantly of native hepatocytes, the patient could safely be removed from immunosuppressive therapy. In this manner, the patient receives what amounts to a temporary liver cell transplant. If cell therapy is sufficient, the patient will be spared whole-organ transplantation and lifelong immunosuppression. Several preclinical studies support the hypothesis that hepatocyte transplantation can provide sufficient liver function to maintain an animal experiencing acute liver failure. Studies have shown that hepatocyte transplants dramatically improve the survival of animals with acute liver failure induced by D-galactosamine [37,39,40,52], 90% hepatectomy [35,36,38,53], or ischemic liver injury [41,54].

There are reports of the reversal of acute liver failure in four patients after hepatocyte transplantation [43,45,55,56]. The causes of acute liver failure ranged from hepatitis B—induced liver failure to acetaminophen intoxication, liver toxicity after eating poisonous mushrooms, and liver failure of unknown etiology in a pediatric patient. In each case, patients presented with classic symptoms of acute liver failure, and most were immediately listed for OLT. The number of cells transplanted varied for different procedures but ranged from approximately one to five billion total viable cells. In all cases, cells were transplanted into the portal vein to achieve a direct transplant into the liver. In general, patients were given fresh-frozen plasma before placement of the catheter to prevent bleeding. The results presented by Fisher et al. [55] are typical of the response to hepatocyte transplantation. There is usually a rapid fall in ammonia levels after the transplant. Circulating levels of clotting factors stabilize after the transplant and then slowly increase over the next 2 weeks. Fisher et al. reported that Factor VII levels were 1% of normal before the transplant and increased to 25% by 7 days and 64% of normal by week 2 after the cell transplant. Recovery of the clotting factors is usually rapid enough that after the cell transplant, no additional fresh-frozen plasma is required.

Patients are generally discharged within 2–4 weeks and are judged to experience a complete recovery. Cell transplant recipients ranged in age from 3 to 64 years, indicating that even older patients have sufficient regenerative capacity to be supported by hepatocyte transplantation.

As is observed with donor tissue allografts, hepatocyte allografts produce and secrete soluble human leukocyte antigen-I (sHLA-I) immediately upon implantation. If there is a mismatch between the donor and recipient, the donor-specific sHLA-I can be detected in the circulation and quantified by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Donor-specific HLA class I alleles can be identified and quantified by polymerase chain reaction analysis of tissue samples taken at biopsy. When it is determined that the preponderance of cells in the patient's liver are native, the patient can slowly be removed from immunosuppressive therapy, as described by Fisher et al. [55]. In the cases that were described, patients recovered completely from liver failure after hepatocyte transplantation without serious adverse consequences and without whole-organ transplant and lifelong immunosuppression. Although the numbers of patients are small, treatment of acute liver failure by hepatocyte transplant has some significant advantages that make further investigation of this novel therapy appropriate (Table 16.3).

### Hepatocyte Transplantation for Metabolic Liver Disease

A common indication for whole-organ transplantation in pediatric patients is metabolic liver disease. In these cases, there is usually a genetic defect in an enzyme or protein that is produced in the liver that inactivates a critical liver function. Although all other liver functions are generally normal, the liver is removed and replaced with a liver that can perform the missing function. Because usually only one genetic defect is associated with each metabolic liver disease, a gene therapy approach to correct the defect would seem appropriate. Unfortunately, gene therapy has met with considerable problems that have prevented successful use of this experimental technique. Hepatocyte transplantation has been used in attempts to correct metabolic defects associated with several types of metabolic liver disease (Table 16.4).

#### TABLE 16.4 Clinical Transplants for Metabolic Liver Disease

Familial hypercholesterolemia
Crigler—Najjar syndrome
Urea Cycle Disorders
Ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency
Carbamoyl phosphate synthetase 1 deficiency
Argininosuccinate lyase deficiency
Factor VII deficiency
Glycogen storage disease
Infantile Refsum disease
Progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis
α1-Antitrypsin deficiency
Hereditary tyrosinemia type 1

In an approach similar to gene therapy, with hepatocyte transplants one tries to seed the patient's liver with cells that are proficient in the enzyme or function missing in the native liver. The goal is to repopulate the liver of the transplant recipient with sufficient numbers of hepatocytes to provide the missing liver function by donor cells.

Large numbers of hepatocytes cannot be infused into the portal system because of problems with embolism of the portal veins and portal hypertension. We have used as a general rule to infuse approximately  $2-3 \, 10^8$  cells/kg body weight of the recipient [57,58]. Infusions of these cell numbers resulted in no long-term complications. There is always a transient increase in portal pressures that resolves within hours [45,46,57–61]. Although it is experimental, this number was arrived at by extrapolation from preclinical studies with nonhuman primates. Grossman et al. [62] reported that the infusion of  $1-3 \, 10^8$  cells/kg into baboons that had previously received a left or right lobectomy was accomplished without serious complications and with only transient increases in portal pressures. Because only a few percentages of liver mass can be transplanted at any time, single hepatocyte transplants cannot be expected to replace a large percentage of liver with donor cells. For this reason, the metabolic diseases that are candidates for cell transplants are those in which the restoration of 10% of total liver function or activity is likely to correct the disease. The liver has highly redundant functions. Thus, it is recognized that 10% of a normal amount of gene product or enzyme activity would likely correct the symptoms of most metabolic liver diseases. For most metabolic liver disease and all of those listed in Table 16.4, it is believed that replacing the liver with 10% donor hepatocytes would either be completely corrective or at least ameliorate most of the symptoms of the symptoms of the symptoms of the symptoms of the disease.

In general, hepatocyte transplants work best when the donor cells have a selective growth advantage. There are a number of animal models of liver disease in which the native hepatocytes show an increased death rate compared with normal liver [63–66]. In these situations, when cells without the defect are transplanted into the diseased liver, the donor cells have a strong and selective growth advantage compared with the native hepatocytes. Over time the liver may become nearly completely replaced with donor cells. In certain human diseases, there might be sufficient selective pressure to favor the replacement of large parts of the liver strongly with donor cells. Such diseases include tyrosinemia type 1, Wilson disease [67], progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis (PFIC) [63], and  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin deficiency [68]. In these diseases, integration of only a small proportion of liver mass by hepatocyte transplantation would likely be necessary because the donor cells would be expected to continue to proliferate in the host liver and over time replace the diseased cells. Although there are clear examples of this in studies of transplants of laboratory animals, no studies with human patients show comparable results.

Most metabolic diseases such as Crigler–Najjar syndrome (CN), OTC deficiency, and all of the diseases listed in Table 16.4 would not be expected to show such selective growth pressure for donor cells. For diseases such as these, multiple transplants over time will be required to populate the liver with 10% donor cells [69].

A large number of studies with different animal models have shown the efficacy of hepatocyte transplantation to correct metabolic liver disease (reviewed in Malhi and Gupta [10] and Strom et al. [13]. Metabolic defects in bilirubin metabolism [15,30,35,70–73], albumin secretion [16,18,69,74–76], ascorbic acid production [77,78], tyrosinemia type 1 [64], copper excretion [67,79,80], and PFIC [63], as well as other defects in bilirary transport similar to Dubin–Johnson

syndrome in humans [30] have been shown to be amenable to correction by hepatocyte transplantation. These encouraging results suggested that similar defects in human patients could be corrected by hepatocyte transplantation. The diseases listed in Table 16.4 have been the focus of human trials of hepatocyte transplants.

Hepatocyte transplants were previously shown to result in the rapid correction of ammonia levels [12,42,45,47]. For this reason, urea cycle defects that result in life-threatening hyperammonemia were the first metabolic disease target for hepatocyte transplants [47,59]. In the initial study, one billion viable cells were transplanted into the portal vein of a 5-year-old recipient. Portal pressures increased from 11 cm of water before cell transplant to 19 cm immediately after the cell infusion but recovered rapidly. The patient's ammonia levels normalized without medical intervention within 48 h of cell infusion and glutamine levels returned to normal. Although OTC activity was undetectable before cell transplant, measurable OTC activity was detected in a biopsy performed at 28 days. In these studies, 10% of cells were labeled with indium<sup>111</sup> before infusion into the patient to monitor distribution of the cells. Quantitative analysis of the scintigraphic images showed an average distribution ratio of liver to spleen of 9.5:1. Measurements made before cell infusion indicated that free indium was released from hepatocytes at a rate of 10% per hour, and free indium is rapidly cleared from the circulation by reticuloendothelial systems such as the spleen. Thus, most of the tracer in the spleen after cell infusion was thought to be free indium, not hepatocytes. Pulmonary radiotracer uptake was consistent with background counts, indicating the absence of portosystemic shunting despite the modest increase in portal pressures observed at the time of transplant. This first transplant for metabolic liver disease indicated that hepatocyte transplantation into the portal vein could be conducted safely in patients with no significant liver pathology with only a moderate and reversible increase in portal pressures. From the rapid normalization of ammonia levels after hepatocyte transplant, it was concluded that cell transplantation can partially correct the hyperammonemia associated with the disease. Subsequent studies verified that partial corrections of ammonia levels are possible by cell transplants alone [58,81–84]. Although complete corrections of OTC deficiency have not been accomplished, these studies indicate that cell transplants provide much-needed metabolic control of ammonia levels. Even in the absence of complete correction, liver cell transplantation should be considered a bridge to whole-organ transplantation for patients with OTC to prevent neurological problems associated with uncontrolled hyperammonemia [59,82–84].

A number of groups have attempted to correct CN syndrome type 1 with hepatocyte transplants. The first case was in typical many ways of results obtained by other groups and will be discussed in greater detail [57]. This disease is caused by a defect in the enzyme that is responsible for the conjugation and eventual excretion of bilirubin. Absence of the enzyme results in severe hyperbilirubinemia, which can lead to central nervous system toxicity including kernicterus. After the transplantation of approximately 7.5 billion cells into the liver of a 10-year-old girl, there was a slow and continuous decrease in circulating bilirubin levels over the first 30–40 days, and bilirubin conjugates were readily detected in the bile. Overall, there was approximately a 60%–65% decrease in bilirubin levels compared with pretransplant levels. Because the bilirubin conjugates could be produced only by the donor cells, their detection in the bile demonstrated the robust biochemical function of the transplanted cells and established that donor hepatocytes integrated into the hepatic parenchyma and quickly established connections with the recipient's biliary tree.

Several important findings were gained from this transplant. First, large numbers of hepatocytes could be safely transplanted into the portal vein without complication. Although the total numbers of hepatocytes in liver are difficult to assess, a transplant of 7.5 billion cells represents an estimated 3.5%–7.5% of the liver mass, which was transplanted without complication over approximately 15 h. Second, the apparent engraftment and function of hepatocytes in the clinical trials seemed to exceed that found in previous animal studies. The transplantation of 3.5% –7.5% of liver mass resulted in the restoration of approximately 5% of a normal amount of bilirubin conjugation capacity in the liver. Third, a long-term correction in bilirubin levels was observed. This patient was observed for more than 1.5 years. Fourth, single transplants of hepatocytes are effective in creating partial corrections of the disease but given the limitation of transplanting  $2-3 \times 10^8$  cells/kg body weight, one cannot transplant sufficient numbers of hepatocytes to achieve complete correction of metabolic liver disease with one transplant. It is estimated that complete corrections would require two to four transplants if each were as successful and efficient as the first. Finally, this was the first unequivocal demonstration of the long-term success of hepatocyte transplantation. Although patients were bridged to transplant and clinical parameters such as ammonia levels rapidly changed after transplantation, for many of the previous patients who underwent subsequent OLT it was difficult to assess the longterm metabolic function of the transplanted cells. These studies firmly established that hepatocyte transplants were an effective means to correct metabolic liver disease. The results of hepatocyte transplants of other patients with CN largely confirm those seen with the first patient [81,85,86].

Muraca et al. [87] and Lee et al. [87a] reported partial correction of glycogen storage disease type 1 after hepatocyte transplantation. Improvement was documented by the patient's ability to maintain blood glucose between meals as well as sustained and higher glucose levels with meals. Sokal et al. [61] employed hepatocyte transplants to achieve a partial correction of infantile Refsum disease, an autosomal recessive inborn error in peroxisome metabolism of very long chain fatty acid metabolism, bile acid, and pipecolic acid. The authors reported improvement in fatty acid metabolism and a reduction in circulating pipecolic acid and bile salt levels. An overall improvement in the health of the patient was evident by the report of a significant increase in muscle strength and weight gain. Dhawan et al. [81] reported that hepatocyte transplantation partially corrected a severe deficiency in the production and secretion of coagulation Factor VII. After cell transplant, the Factor VII requirement decreased nearly 80% of that administered before heart transplantation. Stephenne et al. [88] reported the complete correction of a 3.5-year-old female patient with neonatal onset argininosuccinic lyase (ASL) deficiency. Like OTC deficiency, patients with ASL deficiency are at risk for brain damage from hyperammonemia. The patient received three sequential hepatocyte transplants over 5 months. Both freshly isolated and previously cryopreserved hepatocytes were used. At 1 year after transplant, the patient displayed 3% of normal ASL activity in hepatic biopsy samples. Engraftment of donor cells could be demonstrated by fluorescence in situ hybridization for Y chromosomes. These results confirm that hepatocyte transplantation can achieve sustained engraftment of donor cells and sustained metabolic and clinical control.

# HEPATOCYTE TRANSPLANTATION NOVEL USES, CHALLENGES, AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

### Hepatocyte Transplants for Non–Organ Transplant Candidates

Most patients who have received a hepatocyte transplant were already listed for a whole-organ transplant. The need for liver support is not limited to this group. There are large numbers of patients for whom OLT is not an option. Patients in this group could include alcoholic cirrhotic patients who have not met the required abstinence period, acute liver failure patients resulting from suicide attempts, and patients with cancer. Early case reports suggested that hepatocyte transplants into the spleen could be useful to restore liver function to end-stage cirrhotic patients [12]. Although both of the patients in the reported study eventually died of concomitant renal failure that was left untreated, the patients sufficiently improved after the cell transplants to the point where they were able to be discharged from the hospital. Fox and coworkers created an animal model to study the efficacy of hepatocyte transplants to support liver function in cirrhosis in a more controlled setting. Their studies clearly demonstrated that hepatocyte transplants significantly improve liver function and survival of rats experiencing chronic liver failure after repeated injections of carbon tetrachloride [32,89,90]. Because millions of patients are currently infected with hepatitis viruses, there is clearly a need for additional means to support liver function in these patients. Notwithstanding the difficulties of such clinical studies in cirrhotic patients, cell transplantation should be thoroughly evaluated as a possible support therapy.

In addition to cirrhotic patients who may not be candidates for OLT, there are metabolic liver diseases such as phenylketonuria (PKU) that are not currently referred for OLT. Although some still believe that diseases such as PKU can be adequately controlled by diet, there is evidence of continued and progressive mental deterioration in most patients treated with diet alone. It is likely that cell therapy with hepatocytes would improve the control of phenylalanine levels in these patients. Severely affected patients with PKU and those not controlled well by diet alone should be given serious consideration for inclusion in hepatocyte transplant protocols, because it seems that the benefits would likely outweigh the risks for these individuals [91]. Reports confirm that serum phenylalanine levels were significantly reduced after hepatocyte transplants [92,93].

An important factor preventing the use of hepatocyte transplants in additional medical centers is the limited availability of hepatocytes. The normal source of cells for hepatocyte transplants are livers with greater than 50% steatosis, vascular plaques, or other factors that render the tissue unsuitable for whole-organ transplantation [2,42,45–47,55,57,58,87,94–96]. Better use of existing liver tissue could increase the numbers of hepatocytes available immediately. In the United States, no regulations require donor organs to be allocated to transplantation research centers for hepatocyte isolation, and relatively few organs go to centers where hepatocyte transplant is a possibility. Most organs that are not used for whole-organ transplant are provided to commercial firms where hepatocytes are isolated for resale or for in-house metabolism and toxicology studies. Although most uses of donor liver tissue have merit, simple allocation procedures could be instituted to route the organs to transplant centers for initial review and

selection of the most suitable cases for cell isolation. Split-liver procedures have made it possible to use caudate lobe and segment IV for hepatocyte isolation. Depending on the surgical procedure, these portions of liver tissue may remain untransplanted and have been shown to be useful for hepatocyte isolation [3]. Although currently not widely applied, most livers that are currently transplanted could be split. A portion such as the left lateral segment could be made available for cell isolation while the remaining liver tissue is used as a tissue graft. Because hepatocyte transplantation is not currently the standard of care, such proposals are not currently feasible. However, if the efficacy of hepatocyte transplants were firmly established, the risk and extra time needed for the split procedure would be outweighed by the benefit of the cell transplants. Cell transplants rather than OLT could free up the organs that are now used for acute liver failure and metabolic disease patients.

# Methods to Improve Engraftment and Repopulation

Hepatocyte transplants will not be able to progress past the small numbers of patients who are being transplanted until sufficient numbers of hepatocytes become available or engraftment and repopulation are significantly improved [96]. It has become evident that pretreatment of the native liver of the transplant recipient to induce regeneration and proliferation of donor hepatocytes may be needed before hepatocyte transplantation. Most pretreatment conditioning regiments used in studies with experimental animals are too hazardous to be applied in a clinical setting. The two most common approaches that have been suggested are portal embolization and hepatic irradiation [97–99,99a]. The theories and literature on these techniques are widely available and will not be presented here. There is another technique, partial hepatic resection, more commonly called partial hepatectomy, that is commonly used in experimental animals and that has been introduced in clinical hepatocyte transplantation [86]. Because of improved techniques and instruments and increased activities at experienced centers, liver resection and living donor liver transplantation are now common procedures. With today's advanced surgical techniques and in the hands of surgeons with considerable experience with reduced grafts and split livers, partial liver resection would likely be as safe as portal embolization and hepatic irradiation and should also be considered a possible pretreatment for hepatocyte transplantation. A partial resection for tissue collection for cell isolation is a much simpler and safer surgical procedure than those routinely performed in the clinic today. Partial liver resections are most commonly performed to remove malignancies or during living donor transplant procedures. When performing a surgical procedure for tumor removal, the amount of tissue and the location of the procedure are dictated by the location of the tumor(s). Likewise, in the case of living donor liver graft removal, the surgeons need to consider preserving vessels as well as minimizing ischemia injury to the graft during surgery.

Removal of liver tissue for cell isolation will be much safer because the only concern for the surgeon will be the safety of the patient. Because the resected liver tissue will not be used as a tissue graft, the surgeon will not be concerned about the vessels in the resected tissue. Cell isolation on resected tissue can be conducted through a number of portal or hepatic vessels; thus, concern regarding maintaining appropriate hepatic artery, portal vein, and biliary flow patterns in the resected tissue is removed. The amount and exact location of the tissue to be removed can be dictated by the surgeon and performed in the safest, fastest, and easiest way. Although there are risks associated with both the surgery and anesthesia, risks associated with liver resection as a tissue source for cell isolation would likely be much lower than for living donor liver transplantation. As example, in a report of 100 donor resections from one center, no life-threatening complications occurred [100]. Hepatectomy before hepatocyte transplantation was already performed in a series of patients transplanted for familial hypercholesterolemia in 1992–1994. Those patients underwent left lateral hepatectomy to harvest tissue for hepatocyte isolation and subsequent retroviral transduction of the low-density lipoprotein receptor [101]. Transplantation of transduced autologous hepatocytes was performed on day 3 after the operation. The surgical safety of this procedure was thoroughly studied and reported to have no major complications [102].

A point that remains unanswered is to what extent hepatectomy will generate a sufficient signal to improve the engraftment or proliferation of transplanted hepatocytes. The timing of the transplantation after hepatectomy might also be important. Efimova et al. measured serum growth factors in healthy individuals after living related liver donation and showed that hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) increased 12-fold at 2 h postoperation and thereafter stabilized at a threefold higher level compared with preoperation for an additional 5 days [103]. Other growth factors such as VEGF and epidermal growth factor (EGF) did not change significantly and transforming growth factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) was not detected at all. These results were confirmed in two clinical cases of hepatocyte transplantation for CN type I. Partial hepatectomy of the left lateral section was performed immediately before hepatocyte infusion. Partial hepatectomy and hepatocyte transplantation was associated with a strong increase in serum HGF and EGF whereas TNF- $\alpha$  remained unchanged. These data suggest that partial hepatic resection could provide a significant

stimulus to donor hepatocytes and that the effect would last at least 5 days. Taken together, these data suggest that partial hepatic resection could be a safe and effective pretreatment to hepatocyte transplantation.

### Cell Transplantation Immunology

The liver has tolerogenic properties and initially it was believed that only minimal immunosuppressive therapy was necessary in clinical hepatocyte transplantation. However, clinical experience has shown that immunosuppressive treatment is essential to avoid allograft rejection. However, there is no consensus or convincing evidence regarding the optimal immunosuppressive protocol. Most centers have adopted the same immunosuppressive protocol used for liver transplantation, including induction treatment with corticosteroids and maintenance therapy with calcineurin inhibitors, tacrolimus or cyclosporine, mycophenolate mofetil, and corticosteroids. Corticosteroids have to be used cautiously in patients with urea cycle disorders owing to their catabolic effect with a risk to induce crisis. Some centers have also added induction therapy with basiliximab or antithymocyte globulin.

Tailoring an optimal immunosuppressive treatment in clinical hepatocyte transplantation is challenging for the following reasons. No universal and reliable marker of graft function exists. In clinical liver transplantation, several simple liver function tests easily analyzed from a blood sample can exactly define liver allograft function. However, these tests are not useful in clinical hepatocyte transplantation because the hepatocyte graft usually comprises only 2%–10% of the liver mass. Furthermore, no good markers exist for allograft rejection. In clinical liver transplantation, these liver function tests are good markers of allograft rejection and histological analysis of a liver biopsy confirms the diagnosis. However, liver biopsy is not useful in hepatocyte transplantation because the procedure is invasive and has a high sampling error. Finally, knowledge is limited about the mechanism of hepatocyte allograft rejection.

Immunological studies in mouse models of hepatocyte transplantation have shown that allograft rejection is a T cell-mediated process and that humoral immunity is only minimally stimulated [104,105]. In contrast to liver allografts, which are mildly immunogenic or even tolerogenic, the allogenic hepatocytes are strongly antigenic and probably also resistant to the mechanism of allograft tolerance.

Clinical experience has confirmed that hepatocyte allograft rejection is associated with a T cell-dependent mechanism. Allen et al. [106] showed that hepatocyte allograft loss in a patient with CN type I was associated with a cellular alloresponse directed against donor class I HLA without detection of HLA antibodies. In contrast, Jorns et al. [106a] reported the appearance of de novo donor-specific HLA antibodies associated with hepatocyte allograft loss in two patients with CN. Soltys et al. [92] reported a potential noninvasive marker of hepatocyte allograft rejection. Blood analysis of allospecific CD154-positive T-cytotoxic memory cells was studied as an early marker to predict acute rejection in pediatric patients after liver, kidney, and multivisceral transplantation. In clinical hepatocyte transplantation, this assay was able to predict allograft rejection in two patients with urea cycle disorders.

Besides these mechanisms of adaptive immunity, a large proportion of transplanted hepatocytes may be destroyed by an immediate innate immune reaction. An innate immune reaction, the instant blood-mediated immune reaction, has been described in clinical hepatocyte transplantation. When in contact with blood, the expression of tissue factor on the surface of hepatocytes activates the coagulation cascade and complement system, resulting in clot formation and infiltration of leukocytes, finally destroying a major proportion of transfused hepatocytes [107,108]. Current immuno-suppressive treatment protocols only partially prevent this immediate destruction. However, the addition of *N*-acetyl-cysteine, heparin, or low–molecular weight dextran sulfate has the possibility of ameliorating this reaction [109].

### Stem Cells and Alternative Cell Sources for Liver Therapy

In addition to attempts to improve engraftment and repopulation of the liver, alternative cell sources for hepatocytes have been proposed. Xenotransplants [90], immortalized human hepatocytes [36,89,110,111], and stem cellderived hepatocytes [112–116] and fetal hepatocytes have been proposed as alternative sources of cells for clinical transplants. To date, no alternative cell source has been found that meets all of the requirements for safety and efficacy. There is great interest in stem cell–derived hepatocytes and the possibility that they might become a future source of cells for clinical transplantation.

Proponents for the use of stem cells suggest that because of their wide availability and small size, stem cells could be a feasible and efficient alternative to hepatocytes for cellular therapy [117]. Although it is true that once generated, stem cells should be available in sufficient numbers for transplant protocols, it is not clear whether the small size of the stem cells would actually favor engraftment and repopulation of target organs. It is pleasing to speculate that the relatively low levels of engraftment of mature hepatocytes after transplant result from their large diameter, and that

the 50%–90% of transplanted hepatocytes do not engraft because they temporarily obstruct and become trapped in portal veins or hepatic sinusoids. However, obstruction of the portal vessels and hepatic sinusoids and transient increases in portal pressure may actually be necessary steps in engraftment into the liver parenchyma. Smaller, stem cell–derived, hepatocyte-like cells may actually engraft less effectively than mature hepatocytes. When examined in transplant models, smaller hepatocytes or hepatocyte-like cells were usually less effective than larger or more mature hepatocytes [13,118–120]. Sharma et al. [121] directly examined and compared the engraftment and proliferation of mouse embryonic stem cell (ES)-derived, hepatocyte-like cells and mature hepatocytes in the FAH<sup>-/-</sup> mouse. The FAH<sup>-/-</sup> is a robust model of metabolic liver disease in which transplanted donor (FAH<sup>+/+</sup>) hepatocytes are under strong positive growth selection leading to rapid and effective repopulation of the disease mouse liver. Mouse ES-derived cells with hepatic features were found to engraft less efficiently compared with mature hepatocytes and showed limited capacity for repopulation and tissue formation.

Of the cell types most often suggested to become a source of cells for clinical transplants, ES and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS) may hold the greatest promise for future therapy. However, to move this potential therapy to the clinics, two significant roadblocks have to be overcome: efficient and effective hepatic differentiation of the stem cells and removal of the tumorigenic potential of the transplanted cells. To date, neither condition has been met. No published protocols are efficient or effective enough to produce large numbers of mature human hepatocytes that could be used immediately for transplants. The problem of tumor formation from cells in the population that did not undergo hepatic differentiation and the possibility that differentiated hepatocytelike cells could regress back to undifferentiated stem cells after transplantation will have to be overcome before either ES or iPS cells could be considered for clinical protocols. Also, as stated earlier, ES-derived, hepatocyte-like cells demonstrated limited capacity for liver tissue formation after transplantation compared with mature hepatocytes. Thus, much more basic research will be required before ES or iPS-derived hepatocytes are ready for the clinics.

Cell types that are currently in clinical practice and could potentially be available for cellular therapy are those from bone marrow and mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC). After the initial publication of Petersen et al., there was great excitement about the possibility that bone marrow cells might serve as a source of hepatocytes to correct liver disease [122]. Subsequent detailed work suggested that cell fusion is the principal source of bone marrow—derived hepatocytes observed in the experimental model [123]. Although there is still controversy regarding this issue, the bulk of data suggests that bone marrow is not the source of progenitor cells in the liver [124,125] and there is little evidence for the conversion of hematopoietic cells to hepatocytes in vivo in experiments with animals [126,139] or in a clinical setting [127]. When the presence of X and Y chromosomes was analyzed in liver biopsies taken from sex-mismatched liver transplant recipients (eight female to male and five male to female), the recipient-specific sex chromosome pattern was detected only in the inflammatory cells but not hepatocytes [127]. This study had a transplant to biopsy interval of 4.5 years (range, 1.2–12 years) and the authors concluded that recipient engraftment of stem hematopoietic cells is an infrequent feature in long-term grafts. Thus, bone marrow cells may not be a relevant source of hepatocytes for the treatment of liver disease.

The same cannot be said for human amnion epithelial stem cells (hAE). Whereas hAE have many of the properties that are thought to be useful in MSC, such as the ability to modulate the immune system, enhance tissue regeneration, and a lack of tumorigenicity, hAE have additional properties that make them more useful than MSC for the treatment of liver disease. Because hAE are an epithelial tissue like the liver, they do not have to cross a germ layer boundary to become hepatocyte-like cells. There is little evidence of mature liver gene expression in MSC even when transplanted into the liver, but there is good evidence that hAE cells differentiate to cells that express mature liver genes at levels that are observed in normal human liver [116], and hAE transplants have shown sub-stantial efficacy in correcting animal models of metabolic liver disease such maple syrup urine disease and PKU [128,129]. In addition to correcting metabolic liver disease effectively, hAE reversed otherwise lethal acute liver fail-ure in mice; and because of their immunomodulatory properties and production of HLA-G, it may be possible to transplant hAE cells into patients without using immunosuppressive drugs [129,130].

MSC isolated from a variety of tissues including cord blood, skin, and human liver have been proposed as a source of hepatocytes for transplantation. There are numerous reports of mesenchymal cells adopting hepatic features when cultured under specific conditions or upon transplantation in vivo. Several groups have reported the expression of hepatic genes and proteins normally expressed in the liver such as albumin,  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin,  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein, fibrinogen, glycogen, and even some more mature hepatic markers such as drug-metabolizing genes including CYP3A4 [131–134]. In all cases, when the level of expression of hepatic genes and their functions was measured it was low compared with authentic human hepatocytes. The use of MSC as a source of hepatocytes may depend on their ability to differentiate to cells with a mature hepatic phenotype upon transplantation. When examined

### SUMMARY

carefully, after transplantation into the mouse liver human cord blood mononuclear cells resulted in small clusters of hepatocyte-like cells that expressed human albumin and Hep Par, a marker protein found in hepatocytes; however, the cells also expressed mouse cytokeratin 18, which suggested that the clusters of hepatocyte-like cells were the result of cell fusion with endogenous mouse hepatocytes [135]. There is not yet convincing evidence that MSC can differentiate to cells with a broad range of mature hepatic functions.

Although there is little substantial evidence that bone marrow or MSC from different sources form mature hepatocytes in vitro or in vivo, there is growing evidence that these cells may improve liver function when they are infused into patients with cirrhosis. A remarkable article by Sakaida et al. reported that the intravenous transplantation of bone marrow cells reduced liver fibrosis in a model of cirrhosis induced by treating mice with chemokine ligand 4 [136], which eventually led to the proposal to use autologous bone marrow therapy for liver cirrhosis [137]. Several groups soon began phase I safety and feasibility studies with bone marrow cell infusions in cirrhotic patients. Most studies have been uncontrolled investigations of the infusion of bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells [138,139] or CD34-selected cells [140–144]. In most of the studies, granulocyte–colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) was used to mobilize CD34-positive cells. Cells were delivered through a peripheral vein or infused directly through a hepatic artery. The most common findings were a slight improvement in liver function as measured by a small decrease in bilirubin levels, which was usually accompanied by a small increase in serum albumin levels. Improvements in the Child–Pugh and/or the Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) scores were also frequently reported [140,142–144]. In one study, bone marrow–derived MSC rather than CD34-positive or unfractionated bone marrow mononuclear cells were infused via a peripheral vein, with similar results [145]. The authors observed an increase in mortality and other complications when the MSC were infused into the hepatic artery of patients with decompensated cirrhosis rather than via a peripheral vein.

In a controlled trial, a minimum of  $1 \times 10^8$  mononuclear cells from bone marrow aspirates (without G-CSF pretreatment) were infused through the hepatic artery of patients with cirrhosis [146]. Fifteen patients were randomized to each arm of the study. The results indicated that the Child–Pugh score improved in the cell therapy group relative to the controls. The MELD score remained stable in patients receiving the cell therapy, whereas in the control group, the MELD score increased. Serum bilirubin levels were also improved in the treated group. The improvements noted in the different end points were significant for only 90 days. The clinical findings suggested that slight improvements in hepatic function as measured by bilirubin and albumin levels, MELD, or Child–Pugh scores were obtained after the transplantation of bone marrow mononuclear cells or partially purified CD34-positive cells. It is comforting that similar findings were obtained with different protocols and by different groups. What is not clear from these initial studies is the most useful cell type to transplant and the best route of delivery. Perhaps sustained improvements in liver function could be obtained if these parameters were optimized.

With the exception of bone marrow or bone marrow—derived stem cells, other stem cell sources have not been employed to treat liver disease. Much more research will have to be conducted before cell types such as ES or iPS could be approved for clinical trials. Adult stem cells do not seem to show sufficient engraftment, proliferation, and differentiation to hepatocytes to warrant clinical trials with any of the cell types. Human amnion epithelial cells have shown a substantial ability to differentiate to hepatocyte-like cells and correct metabolic liver disease and acute liver failure and are being translated to the clinic to treat patients. However, until hAE are approved for transplant, authentic hepatocytes remain the preferred cell type to treat liver disease. Future work with hepatocyte-based therapy will need to focus on improving the engraftment and/or proliferation of donor cells posttransplant. Even two- to fourfold increases in liver repopulation by hepatocytes over the levels obtained with current transplant procedures could lead to substantial improvement in the clinical outcome of patients with liver-based metabolic diseases. It is likely that incorporating preconditioning regimens with hepatic resection [86], ischemia-reperfusion injury, and/or radiation-induced blockage of the growth of native liver [92] will provide the selective growth advantage to the donor cells required to attain the levels of liver repopulation required to normalize alterations observed in patients with metabolic disease. Because these types of studies are being conducted at medical centers around the world, the efficacy of these modified protocols should soon be apparent.

### SUMMARY

Hepatocyte transplantation studies conducted in animal models of liver failure and liver-based metabolic disease have proven to be safe and effective means to provide short- or long-term synthetic and metabolic support of liver function. For certain organ transplant candidates such as those with metabolic liver disease, cell transplantation alone could provide relief of clinical symptoms. Cell transplant studies in patients with acute or chronic liver failure

### 16. CELL THERAPY OF LIVER DISEASE: FROM HEPATOCYTES TO STEM CELLS

or genetic defects in liver function clearly demonstrate the efficacy of hepatocyte transplantation to treat liver disease. In virtually all cases, a clinical improvement in the condition of the patient could be documented. Although all of the initial reports concerning hepatocyte transplants are encouraging, it must be realized that there are still no reports of long-term and complete corrections of any metabolic disease in patients. The report of a complete correction of a patient with a urea cycle defect is encouraging; however, the length of time that human hepatocytes will function after transplantation has not been determined. Studies in animal models of liver disease have documented that donor hepatocytes transplanted into the spleen or the liver function for the lifetime of the recipient and participate in normal regenerative events. Although it is likely that human hepatocyte transplantation will result in lifelong and normal function of donor cells, this needs to be clearly demonstrated in a clinical study.

Future work will have to be conducted to establish optimal transplant and immunosuppression protocols to minimize complications and maximize engraftment and function. A major problem for clinical hepatocyte transplant is the inability to track donor cells after transplantation. Except for the short-term tracking of hepatocytes prelabeled with radioactive substances such as indium<sup>111</sup> [59], and following differences between donor- and recipient-secreted HLA [55], there are no reports of quantitative and facile methods to detect donor cells. Relatively noninvasive methods will be needed to optimize transplant and immunosuppressive protocols as well as for daily monitoring of the cell graft. None of the problems cited here seem insurmountable. There are reports of successful hepatocyte transplants from laboratories in many different countries. The cooperative spirit that has developed among investigators in the different transplant centers should benefit the research field and especially future recipients of hepatocyte transplants.

# References

- [1] Michalopoulos GK, DeFrances MC. Liver regeneration. Science 1997;276:60-6.
- [2] Nakazawa F, Cai H, Miki T, Dorko K, Abdelmeguid A, Walldorf J, Lehmann T, Strom S. Human hepatocyte isolation from cadaver donor liver. In: Proceedings of falk symposium, hepatocyte transplantation, vol. 126. Lancaster, UK: Kouwer Academic Publishers; 2002. p. 147–58.
   [3] Mitry RR, Dhawan A, Hughes RD, Bansal S, Lehec S, Terry C, Heaton ND, Karani JB, Mieli-Vergani G, Rela M. One liver, three recipients:
- segment IV from split-liver procedures as a source of hepatocytes for cell transplantation. Transplantation 2004;77:1614–6.
- [4] Fisher RA, Kimball PM, Thompson M, Saggi B, Wolfe L, Posner M. An immunologic study of liver failure in patients bridged with hepatocyte infusions. Transplantation 1998;65:S45.
- [5] Jorns C, Ellis EC, Nowak G, Fischler B, Nemeth A, Strom SC, Ericzon BG. Hepatocyte transplantation for inherited metabolic diseases of the liver. J Intern Med 2012;272:201–23.
- [6] Gramignoli R, Vosough M, Kannisto K, Srinivasan RC, Strom SC. Clinical hepatocyte transplantation: practical limits and possible solutions. Eur Surg Res 2015;54:162–77.
- [7] Khan Z, Strom SC. Hepatocyte transplantation in special populations: clinical use in children. Hepatocyte Transplantation: methods and Protocols. Meth Mol Biol 2016;1506. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6506-9\_1. © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2017.
- [8] Fox IJ. Transplantation into and inside the liver. Hepatology 2002;36:249-51.
- [9] Fox IJ, Roy-Chowdhury J. Hepatocyte transplantation. J Hepatol 2004;40:878-86.
- [10] Malhi H, Gupta S. Hepatocyte transplantation: new horizons and challenges. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2001;8:40-50.
- [11] Ohashi K, Park F, Kay MA. Hepatocyte transplantation: clinical and experimental application. J Mol Med 2001;79:617–30.
- [12] Strom SC, Chowdhury JR, Fox IJ. Hepatocyte transplantation for the treatment of human disease. Semin Liver Dis 1999;19:39-48.
- [13] Strom S, Bruzzone P, Cai H, Ellis E, Lehmann T, Mitamura K, Miki T. Hepatocyte transplantation: clinical experience and potential for future use. Cell Transplant 2006;15:S105–10.
- [14] Gupta S, Aragona E, Vemuru RP, Bhargava KK, Burk RD, Chowdhury JR. Permanent engraftment and function of hepatocytes delivered to the liver: implications for gene therapy and liver repopulation. Hepatology 1991;14:144–9.
- [15] Holzman MD, Rozga J, Neuzil DF, Griffin D, Moscioni AD, Demetriou AA. Selective intraportal hepatocyte transplantation in analbuminemic and Gunn rats. Transplantation 1993;55:1213–9.
- [16] Mito M, Ebata H, Kusano M, Onishi T, Saito T, Sakamoto S. Morphology and function of isolated hepatocytes transplanted into rat spleen. Transplantation 1979;28:499–505.
- [17] Ponder KP, Gupta S, Leland F, Darlington G, Finegold M, DeMayo J, Ledley FD, Chowdhury JR, Woo SL. Mouse hepatocytes migrate to liver parenchyma and function indefinitely after intrasplenic transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:1217–21.
- [18] Kusano M, Mito M. Observations on the fine structure of long-survived isolated hepatocytes inoculated into rat spleen. Gastroenterology 1982;82:616–28.
- [19] Kusano M, Ebata H, Onishi T, Saito T, Mito M. Transplantation of cryopreserved isolated hepatocytes into the rat spleen. Transplant Proc 1981;13:848–54.
- [20] Kusano M, Sawa M, Jiang B, Kino S, Itoh K, Sakata H, Katoh K, Mito M. Proliferation and differentiation of fetal liver cells transplanted into rat spleen. Transplant Proc 1992;24:2960–1.
- [21] Mito M, Kusano M, Onishi T, Saito T, Ebata H. Hepatocellular transplantation morphological study on hepatocytes transplanted into rat spleen. Gastroenterol Jpn 1978;13:480–90.
- [22] Demetriou AA, Brown Jr RS, Busuttil RW, Fair J, McGuire BM, Rosenthal P, Am Esch II JS, Lerut J, Nyberg SL, Salizzoni M, Fagan EA, de Hemptinne B, Broelsch CE, Muraca M, Salmeron JM, Rabkin JM, Metselaar HJ, Pratt D, De La Mata M, McChesney LP, Everson GT, Lavin PT, Stevens AC, Pitkin Z, Solomon BA. Prospective, randomized, multicenter, controlled trial of a bioartificial liver in treating acute liver failure. Ann Surg 2004;239:660–7.

### REFERENCES

- [23] Gerlach JC, Mutig K, Sauer IM, Schrade P, Efimova E, Mieder T, Naumann G, Grunwald A, Pless G, Mas A, Bachmann S, Neuhaus P, Zeilinger K. Use of primary human liver cells originating from discarded grafts in a bioreactor for liver support therapy and the prospects of culturing adult liver stem cells in bioreactors: a morphologic study. Transplantation 2003;76:781–6.
- [24] Gupta S, Rajvanshi P, Lee CD. Integration of transplanted hepatocytes into host liver plates demonstrated with dipeptidyl peptidase IVdeficient rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:5860–4.
- [25] Gupta S, Rajvanshi P, Sokhi R, Slehria S, Yam A, Kerr A, Novikoff PM. Entry and integration of transplanted hepatocytes in rat liver plates occur by disruption of hepatic sinusoidal endothelium. Hepatology 1999b;29:509–19.
- [26] Gupta S, Rajvanshi P, Malhi H, Slehria S, Sokhi RP, Vasa SR, Dabeva M, Shafritz DA, Kerr. Cell transplantation causes loss of gap junctions and activates GGT expression permanently in host liver. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2000;279:G815–26.
- [27] Koenig S, Stoesser C, Krause P, Becker H, Markus PM. Liver repopulation after hepatocellular transplantation: integration and interaction of transplanted hepatocytes in the host. Cell Transplant 2005;14:31–40.
- [28] Gupta S, Rajvanshi P, Aragona E, Lee CD, Yerneni PR, Burk RD. Transplanted hepatocytes proliferate differently after CCl<sub>4</sub> treatment and hepatocyte growth factor infusion. Am J Physiol 1999a;276:G629–38.
- [29] Shani-Peretz H, Tsiperson V, Shoshani G, Veitzman E, Neufeld G, Baruch Y. HVEGF165 increases survival of transplanted hepatocytes within portal radicles: suggested mechanism for early cell engraftment. Cell Transplant 2005;14:49–57.
- [30] Hamaguchi H, Yamaguchi Y, Goto M, Misumi M, Hisama N, Miyanari N, Mori K, Ogawa M. Hepatic biliary transport after hepatocyte transplantation in Eizai hyperbilirubinemic rats. Hepatology 1994;20:220–4.
- [31] Oertel M, Menthena A, Dabeva MD, Shafritz DA. Cell competition leads to a high level of normal liver reconstitution by transplanted fetal liver stem/progenitor cells. Gastroenterology 2006;130:507–20. quiz 590.
- [32] Ahmad TA, Eguchi S, Yanaga K, Miyamoto S, Kamohara Y, Fujioka H, Furui J, Kanematsu T. Role of intrasplenic hepatocyte transplantation in improving survival and liver regeneration after hepatic resection in cirrhotic rats. Cell Transplant 2002;11:399–402.
- [33] Aoki T, Jin Z, Nishino N, Kato H, Shimizu Y, Niiya T, Murai N, Enami Y, Mitamura K, Koizumi T, Yasuda D, Izumida Y, Avital I, Umehara Y, Demetriou AA, Rozga J, Kusano M. Intrasplenic transplantation of encapsulated hepatocytes decreases mortality and improves liver functions in fulminant hepatic failure from 90% partial hepatectomy in rats. Transplantation 2005;79:783–90.
- [34] Arkadopoulos N, Lilja H, Suh KS, Demetriou AA, Rozga J. Intrasplenic transplantation of allogeneic hepatocytes prolongs survival in anhepatic rats. Hepatology 1998b;28:1365–70.
- [35] Demetriou AA, Reisner A, Sanchez J, Levenson SM, Moscioni AD, Chowdhury JR. Transplantation of microcarrier-attached hepatocytes into 90% partially hepatectomized rats. Hepatology 1988;8:1006–9.
- [36] Kobayashi N, Fujiwara T, Westerman KA, Inoue Y, Sakaguchi M, Noguchi H, Miyazaki M, Cai J, Tanaka N, Fox IJ, Leboulch P. Prevention of acute liver failure in rats with reversibly immortalized human hepatocytes. Science 2000;287:1258–62.
- [37] Makowka L, Rotstein LE, Falk RE, Falk JA, Zuk R, Langer B, Blendis LM, Phillips MJ. Studies into the mechanism of reversal of experimental acute hepatic failure by hepatocyte transplantation. 1. Can J Surg 1981;24:39–44.
- [38] Mito M, Kusano M, Sawa M. Hepatocyte transplantation for hepatic failure. Transplant Rev 1993;7:35.

[39] Sommer BG, Sutherland DE, Matas AJ, Simmons RL, Najarian JS. Hepatocellular transplantation for treatment of D-galactosamine-induced acute liver failure in rats. Transplant Proc 1979;11:578–84.

- [40] Sutherland DE, Numata M, Matas AJ, Simmons RL, Najarian JS. Hepatocellular transplantation in acute liver failure. Surgery 1977;82: 124–32.
- [41] Takeshita K, Ishibashi H, Suzuki M, Kodama M. Hepatocellular transplantation for metabolic support in experimental acute ischemic liver failure in rats. Cell Transplant 1993;2:319–24.
- [42] Bilir BM, Guinette D, Karrer F, Kumpe DA, Krysl J, Stephens J, McGavran L, Ostrowska A, Durham J. Hepatocyte transplantation in acute liver failure. Liver Transplant 2000;6:32–40.
- [43] Fisher RA, Strom SC. Human hepatocyte transplantation: worldwide results. Transplantation 2006;82:441-9.
- [44] Habibullah CM, Syed IH, Qamar A, Taher-Uz Z. Human fetal hepatocyte transplantation in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Transplantation 1994;58:951–2.
- [45] Soriano HE. Liver cell transplantation: human applications in adults and children. Proceedings of Falk Symposium, hepatocyte transplantation, vol. 126. Lancaster, UK: Kouwer Academic Publishers; 2002. p. 99–115.
- [46] Strom SC, Fisher RA, Rubinstein WS, Barranger JA, Towbin RB, Charron M, Mieles L, Pisarov LA, Dorko K, Thompson MT, Reyes J. Transplantation of human hepatocytes. Transplant Proc 1997a;29:2103–6.
- [47] Strom SC, Fisher RA, Thompson MT, Sanyal AJ, Cole PE, Ham JM, Posner MP. Hepatocyte transplantation as a bridge to orthotopic liver transplantation in terminal liver failure. Transplantation 1997b;63:559–69.
- [48] Fisher RA. Adult human hepatocyte transplantation. In: 7th International congress of cell transplantation society, Boston; 2004. p. 304.
- [49] Soriano HE, Kang DC, Finegold MJ, Hicks MJ, Wang ND, Harrison W, Darlington GJ. Lack of C/EBP alpha gene expression results in increased DNA synthesis and an increased frequency of immortalization of freshly isolated mice [correction of rat] hepatocytes. Hepatology 1998;27:392–401.
- [50] Gupta S, Yerneni PR, Vemuru RP, Lee CD, Yellin EL, Bhargava KK. Studies on the safety of intrasplenic hepatocyte transplantation: relevance to ex vivo gene therapy and liver repopulation in acute hepatic failure. Hum Gene Ther 1993;4:249–57.
- [51] Nagata H, Ito M, Shirota C, Edge A, McCowan TC, Fox IJ. Route of hepatocyte delivery affects hepatocyte engraftment in the spleen. Transplantation 2003b;76:732–4.
- [52] Baumgartner D, LaPlante-O'Neill PM, Sutherland DE, Najarian JS. Effects of intrasplenic injection of hepatocytes, hepatocyte fragments and hepatocyte culture supernatants on D-galactosamine-induced liver failure in rats. Eur Surg Res 1983;15:129–35.
- [53] Cuervas-Mons V, Cienfuegos JA, Maganto P, Golitsin A, Eroles G, Castillo-Olivares J, Segovia de Arana JM. Time-related efficacy of liver cell isografts in fulminant hepatic failure. Transplantation 1984;38:23–5.
- [54] Arkadopoulos N, Chen SC, Khalili TM, Detry O, Hewitt WR, Lilja H, Kamachi H, Petrovic L, Mullon CJ, Demetriou AA, Rozga J. Transplantation of hepatocytes for prevention of intracranial hypertension in pigs with ischemic liver failure. Cell Transplant 1998a;7:357–63.
- [55] Fisher RA, Bu D, Thompson M, Tisnado J, Prasad U, Sterling R, Posner M, Strom S. Defining hepatocellular chimerism in a liver failure patient bridged with hepatocyte infusion. Transplantation 2000;69:303–7.

### 244

### 16. CELL THERAPY OF LIVER DISEASE: FROM HEPATOCYTES TO STEM CELLS

- [56] Ott M, Schneider A, Attaran M, Manns MP. Transplantation of hepatocytes in liver failure. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 2006;131:888-91.
- [57] Fox IJ, Chowdhury JR, Kaufman SS, Goertzen TC, Chowdhury NR, Warkentin PI, Dorko K, Sauter BV, Strom SC. Treatment of the Crigler-Najjar syndrome type I with hepatocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med 1998;338:1422–6.
- [58] Horslen SP, McCowan TC, Goertzen TC, Warkentin PI, Cai HB, Strom SC, Fox IJ. Isolated hepatocyte transplantation in an infant with a severe urea cycle disorder. Pediatrics 2003;111:1262–7.
- [59] Bohnen NI, Charron M, Reyes J, Rubinstein W, Strom SC, Swanson D, Towbin R. Use of indium-111-labeled hepatocytes to determine the biodistribution of transplanted hepatocytes through portal vein infusion. Clin Nucl Med 2000;25:447–50.
- [60] Horslen SP, Fox IJ. Hepatocyte transplantation. Transplantation 2004;77:1481-6.
- [61] Sokal EM, Smets F, Bourgois A, Van Maldergem L, Buts JP, Reding R, Bernard Otte J, Evrard V, Latinne D, Vincent MF, Moser A, Soriano HE. Hepatocyte transplantation in a 4-year-old girl with peroxisomal biogenesis disease: technique, safety, and metabolic follow-up. Transplantation 2003;76:735–8.
- [62] Grossman M, Raper SE, Wilson JM. Transplantation of genetically modified autologous hepatocytes into nonhuman primates: feasibility and short-term toxicity. Hum Gene Ther 1992;3:501–10.
- [63] De Vree JM, Ottenhoff R, Bosma PJ, Smith AJ, Aten J, Oude Elferink RP. Correction of liver disease by hepatocyte transplantation in a mouse model of progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis. Gastroenterology 2000;119:1720–30.
- [64] Overturf K, Al-Dhalimy M, Tanguay R, Brantly M, Ou CN, Finegold M, Grompe M. Hepatocytes corrected by gene therapy are selected in vivo in a murine model of hereditary tyrosinaemia type I. Nat Genet 1996;12:266–73.
- [65] Rhim JA, Sandgren EP, Degen JL, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL. Replacement of diseased mouse liver by hepatic cell transplantation. Science 1994;263:1149–52.
- [66] Sandgren EP, Palmiter RD, Heckel JL, Daugherty CC, Brinster RL, Degen JL. Complete hepatic regeneration after somatic deletion of an albumin-plasminogen activator transgene. Cell 1991;66:245–56.
- [67] Irani AN, Malhi H, Slehria S, Gorla GR, Volenberg I, Schilsky ML, Gupta S. Correction of liver disease following transplantation of normal rat hepatocytes into Long-Evans Cinnamon rats modeling Wilson's disease. Mol Ther 2001;3:302–9.
- [68] Rudnick DA, Perlmutter DH. Alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency: a new paradigm for hepatocellular carcinoma in genetic liver disease. Hepatology 2005;42:514–21.
- [69] Rozga J, Holzman M, Moscioni AD, Fujioka H, Morsiani E, Demetriou AA. Repeated intraportal hepatocyte transplantation in analbuminemic rats. Cell Transplant 1995;4:237–43.
- [70] Groth CG, Arborgh B, Bjorken C, Sundberg B, Lundgren G. Correction of hyperbilirubinemia in the glucuronyltransferase-deficient rat by intraportal hepatocyte transplantation. Transplant Proc 1977;9:313–6.
- [71] Matas AJ, Sutherland DE, Steffes MW, Mauer SM, Sowe A, Simmons RL, Najarian JS. Hepatocellular transplantation for metabolic deficiencies: decrease of plasms bilirubin in Gunn rats. Science 1976;192:892–4.
- [72] Moscioni AD, Roy-Chowdhury J, Barbour R, Brown LL, Roy-Chowdhury N, Competiello LS, Lahiri P, Demetriou AA. Human liver cell transplantation. Prolonged function in athymic-Gunn and athymic-analbuminemic hybrid rats. Gastroenterology 1989;96:1546–51.
- [73] Vroemen JP, Buurman WA, Heirwegh KP, van der Linden CJ, Kootstra G. Hepatocyte transplantation for enzyme deficiency disease in congenic rats. Transplantation 1986;42:130–5.
- [74] Demetriou AA, Holzman M, Moscioni AD, Rozga J. Hepatic cell transplantation. Adv Vet Sci Comp Med 1993;37:313-32.
- [75] Moscioni AD, Rozga J, Chen S, Naim A, Scott HS, Demetriou AA. Long-term correction of albumin levels in the Nagase analbuminemic rat: repopulation of the liver by transplanted normal hepatocytes under a regeneration response. Cell Transplant 1996;5:499–503.
- [76] Oren R, Dabeva MD, Petkov PM, Hurston E, Laconi E, Shafritz DA. Restoration of serum albumin levels in nagase analbuminemic rats by hepatocyte transplantation. Hepatology 1999;29:75–81.
- [77] Nakazawa F, Onodera K, Kato K, Sawa M, Kino Y, Imai M, Kasai S, Mito M, Matsushita T, Funatsu K. Multilocational hepatocyte transplantation for treatment of congenital ascorbic acid deficiency rats. Cell Transplant 1996;5:S23–5.
- [78] Onodera K, Kasai S, Kato K, Nakazawa F, Mito M. Long-term effect of intrasplenic hepatocyte transplantation in congenitally ascorbic acid biosynthetic enzyme-deficient rats. Cell Transplant 1995;4:S41–3.
- [79] Allen KJ, Cheah DM, Wright PF, Gazeas S, Pettigrew-Buck NE, Deal YH, Mercer JF, Williamson R. Liver cell transplantation leads to repopulation and functional correction in a mouse model of Wilson's disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004;19:1283–90.
- [80] Yoshida Y, Tokusashi Y, Lee GH, Ogawa K. Intrahepatic transplantation of normal hepatocytes prevents Wilson's disease in Long-Evans cinnamon rats. Gastroenterology 1996;111:1654–60.
- [81] Dhawan A, Mitry RR, Hughes RD, Lehec S, Terry C, Bansal S, Arya R, Wade JJ, Verma A, Heaton ND, Rela M, Mieli-Vergani G. Hepatocyte transplantation for inherited factor VII deficiency. Transplantation 2004;78:1812–4.
- [82] Meyburg J, Alexandrova K, Barthold M, Kafert-Kasting S, Schneider AS, Attaran M, et al. Liver cell transplantation: basic investigations for safe application in infants and small children. Cell Transplant 2009;18:777–86.
- [83] Meyburg J, Das AM, Hoerster F, Lindner M, Kriegbaum H, Engelmann G, et al. One liver for four children: first clinical series of liver cell transplantation for severe neonatal urea cycle defects. Transplantation 2009;87:636–41.
- [84] Stephenne X, Najimi M, Smets F, Reding R, de Ville de Goyet J, Sokal EM. Cryopreserved liver cell transplantation controls ornithine transcarbamylase deficient patient while awaiting liver transplantation. Am J Transplant 2005;5:2058–61.
- [85] Ambrosino G, Varotto S, Strom SC, Guariso G, Franchin E, Miotto D, Caenazzo L, Basso S, Carraro P, Valente ML, D'Amico D, Zancan L, D'Antiga L. Isolated hepatocyte transplantation for Crigler-Najjar syndrome type 1. Cell Transplant 2005;14:151–7.
- [86] Jorns C, Nowak G, Nemeth A, et al. De novo donor-specific HLA antibody formation in two patients with Crigler-Najjar syndrome type I following human hepatocyte transplantation with partial hepatectomy preconditioning. Am J Transplant 2016;16(3):1021–30.
- [87] Muraca M, Gerunda G, Neri D, Vilei MT, Granato A, Feltracco P, Meroni M, Giron G, Burlina AB. Hepatocyte transplantation as a treatment for glycogen storage disease type 1a. Lancet 2002;359:317–8.
- [87a] Lee KW, Lee JH, Shin SW, Kim SJ, Joh JW, Lee DH, Kim JW, Park HY, Lee SY, Lee HH, Park JW, Kim SY, Yoon HH, Jung DH, Choe YH, Lee SK. Hepatocyte transplantation for glycogen storage disease type Ib. Cell Transplant 2007;16(6):629–37.
- [88] Stephenne X, Najimi M, Sibille C, Nassogne MC, Smets F, Sokal EM. Sustained engraftment and tissue enzyme activity after liver cell transplantation for argininosuccinate lyase deficiency. Gastroenterology 2006;130:1317–23.

- [89] Cai J, Ito M, Nagata H, Westerman KA, Lafleur D, Chowdhury JR, Leboulch P, Fox IJ. Treatment of liver failure in rats with end-stage cirrhosis by transplantation of immortalized hepatocytes. Hepatology 2002;36:386–94.
- [90] Nagata H, Ito M, Cai J, Edge AS, Platt JL, Fox IJ. Treatment of cirrhosis and liver failure in rats by hepatocyte xenotransplantation. Gastroenterology 2003a;124:422–31.
- [91] Harding C. Progress towards cell-directed therapy for phenylketonuria. Clin Genet 2008;74:97-104.
- [92] Soltys KA, Setoyama K, Tafaleng EN, Soto Gutiérrez A, Fong J, Fukumitsu K, Nishikawa T, Nagaya M, Sada R, Haberman K, Gramignoli R, Dorko K, Tahan V, Dreyzin A, Baskin K, Crowley JJ, Quader MA, Deutsch M, Ashokkumar C, Shneider BL, Squires RH, Ranganathan S, Reyes-Mugica M, Dobrowolski SF, Mazariegos G, Elango R, Stolz DB, Strom SC, Vockley G, Roy-Chowdhury J, Cascalho M, Guha C, Sindhi R, Platt JL, Fox IJ. Host conditioning and rejection monitoring in hepatocyte transplantation in humans. J Hepatol 2017;66:987–1000.
- [93] Stéphenne X, Debray F, Smets F, Jaxouli N, Sana G, Tondreau T, Menten N, Goffette P, Boemer F, Schoos R, Gersting SW, Najimi M, Muntau AC, Goyens P, Sokal EM. Hepatocyte transplantation using the domino concept in a child with tetrabiopterin nonresponsive phenylketonuria. Cell Transplant 2012;21:2765–70.
- [94] Mitry RR, Hughes RD, Aw MM, Terry C, Mieli-Vergani G, Girlanda R, Muiesan P, Rela M, Heaton ND, Dhawan A. Human hepatocyte isolation and relationship of cell viability to early graft function. Cell Transplant 2003;12:69–74.
- [95] Ott MC, Barthold M, Alexandrova K, Griesel C, Shchneider A, Attaran M, Arsenieva M, Penkov B, Net M, Peralta V, Bredehorn T, Manyalich M, Kafert-Kasting S, Manns MP, Dimitrova V, Nachkov Y, LArseniev L. Isolation of human hepatocytes from donor organs under cgmp conditions and clinical application in patients with liver disease. In: 7th International congress of cell transplantation society, Boston; 2004. p. 142.
- [96] Strom S, Fisher R. Hepatocyte transplantation: new possibilities for therapy. Gastroenterology 2003;124:568-71.
- [97] Guha C, Parashar B, Deb NJ, Sharma A, Gorla GR, Alfieri A, et al. Liver irradiation: a potential preparative regimen for hepatocyte transplantation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001a;49:451–7.
- [98] Guha C, Deb NJ, Sappal BS, Ghosh SS, Roy-Chowdhury N, Roy-Chowdhury J. Amplification of engrafted hepatocytes by preparative manipulation of the host liver. Artif Organs 2001;25(7):522–8.
- [99] Weber A, Groyer-Picard MT, Dagher I. Hepatocyte transplantation techniques: large animal models. Methods Mol Biol 2009;481:83-96.
- [99a] Dagher I, Boudechiche L, Branger J, Coulomb-Lhermine A, Parouchev A, Sentilhes L, Lin T, Groyer-Picard MT, Vons C, Hadchouel M, Pariente D, Andreoletti M, Franco D, Weber A. Efficient hepatocyte engraftment in a nonhuman primate model after partial portal vein embolization. Transplantation October 27, 2006;82(8).
- [100] Fernandes R, Pacheco-Moreira LF, Enne M, Steinbruck K, Alves JA, Filho GD, et al. Surgical complications in 100 donor hepatectomies for living donor liver transplantation in a single Brazilian center. Transplant Proc 2010;42:421e423.
- [101] Grossman M, Rader DJ, Muller DW, Kolansky DM, Kozarsky K, Clark 3rd BJ, et al. A pilot study of ex vivo gene therapy for homozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. Nat Med 1995;1:1148–54.
- [102] Raper SE, Grossman M, Rader DJ, Thoene JG, Clark 3rd BJ, Kolansky DM, et al. Safety and feasibility of liver-directed ex vivo gene therapy for homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Ann Surg 1996;223:116–26.
- [103] Efimova EA, Glanemann M, Nussler AK, Schumacher G, Settmacher U, Jonas S, et al. Changes in serum levels of growth factors in healthy individuals after living related liver donation. Transplant Proc 2005;37:1074–5.
- [104] Bumgardner GL, Orosz CG. Unusual patterns of alloimmunity evoked by allogeneic liver parenchymal cells. Immunol Rev 2000;174: 260–79.
- [105] Horne PH, Zimmerer JM, Fisher MG, Lundsford KE, Nadasdy G, Nadasdy T, van Rooijen N, Bumgardner GL. Critical role of effector macrophages in mediating CD4-dependent alloimmune injury of transplanted liver parenchymal cells. J Immunol 2008;181:1224–31.
- [106] Allen KJ, Mifsud NA, Williamson R, Bertolino P, Hardikar W. Cell-mediated rejection results in allograft loss after liver cell transplantation. Liver Transpl 2008;14:688–94.
- [106a] Jorns C, Nowak G, Nemeth A, Zemack H, Mork L-M, Johansson H, Gramignoli R, Watanabe M, Karadagi A, Alheim M, Hauzenberger D, van Dijk R, Bosma PJ, Ebbesen F, Szakos A, Fischler B, Strom S, Ellis E, Ericzon B-G. De novo donor-specific HLA antibody formation in two patients with Crigler-Najjar syndrome type I following human hepatocyte transplantation with partial hepatectomy preconditioning. Am J Transpl 2016;16:1021–30.
- [107] Gustafson EK, Elgue G, Hughes RD, Mitry RR, Sanchez J, Haglund U, Meurling S, Dhawan A, Korsgren O, Nillson B. The instant bloodmediated inflammatory reaction characterized in hepatocyte transplantation. Transplantation 2011;91(6):632–8.
- [108] Stephenne X. Tissue factor-dependent procoagulant activity of isolated human hepatocytes: relevance to liver cell transplantation. Liver Transpl 2007;13:599–606.
- [109] Lee CA, Dhawan A, Smith RA, Mitry RR, Fitzpatrick E. Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction in hepatocyte transplantation: current status and future perspectives. Cell Transplant 2016;25(7):1227–36.
- [110] Wege H, Chui MS, Le HT, Strom S, Zern MA. In vitro expansion of human hepatocytes is restricted by telomere-dependent replicative aging. Cell Transplant 2003a;12:897–906.
- [111] Wege H, Le HT, Chui MS, Liu L, Wu J, Giri R, Malhi H, Sappal BS, Kumaran V, Gupta S, Zern MA. Telomerase reconstitution immortalizes human fetal hepatocytes without disrupting their differentiation potential. Gastroenterology 2003b;124:432–44.
- [112] Avital I, Feraresso C, Aoki T, Hui T, Rozga J, Demetriou A, Muraca M. Bone marrow-derived liver stem cell and mature hepatocyte engraftment in livers undergoing rejection. Surgery 2002;132:384–90.
- [113] Davila JC, Cezar GG, Thiede M, Strom S, Miki T, Trosko J. Use and application of stem cells in toxicology. Toxicol Sci 2004;79:214–23.
- [114] Miki T, Lehmann T, Cai H, Stolz DB, Strom SC. Stem cell characteristics of amniotic epithelial cells. Stem Cells 2005;23:1549–59.
- [115] Ruhnke M, Nussler AK, Ungefroren H, Hengstler JG, Kremer B, Hoeckh W, Gottwald T, Heeckt P, Fandrich F. Human monocyte-derived neohepatocytes: a promising alternative to primary human hepatocytes for autologous cell therapy. Transplantation 2005;79:1097–103.
- [116] Marongiu F, Gramignoli R, Dorko K, Miki T, Ranade AR, Paola Serra M, Doratiotto S, et al. Hepatic differentiation of amniotic epithelial cells. Hepatology 2011;53:1719–29.
- [117] Dolle L, Best J, Mei J, Al Battah F, Reynaert H, van Grunsven LA, Geerts. A the quest for liver progenitor cells: a practical point of view. J Hepatol 2010;52:117–29.

### 16. CELL THERAPY OF LIVER DISEASE: FROM HEPATOCYTES TO STEM CELLS

- [118] Overturf K, Al-Dhalimy M, Finegold M, Grompe M. The repopulation potential of hepatocyte populations differing in size and prior mitotic expansion. Am J Pathol 1999;155:2135–43.
- [119] Utoh R, Tateno C, Yamasaki C, Hiraga N, Kataoka M, Shimada T, et al. Susceptibility of chimeric mice with livers repopulated by serially subcultured human hepatocytes to hepatitis B virus. Hepatology 2008;47:435–46.
- [120] Weglarz TC, Degen JL, Sandgren EP. Hepatocyte transplantation into diseased mouse liver. Kinetics of parenchymal repopulation and identification of the proliferative capacity of tetraploid and octaploid hepatocytes. Am J Pathol 2000;157:1963–74.
- [121] Sharma AD, Cantz T, Vogel A, Schambach A, Haridass D, Iken M, et al. Murine embryonic stem cells-derived hepatocyte progenitor cells engraft in recipient livers with limited capacity of liver tissue formation. Cell Transplant 2008;17:313–23.
- [122] Petersen BE, Bowen WC, Patrene KD, Mars WM, Sullivan AK, Murase N, et al. Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells. Science 1999;284:1168–70.
- [123] Wang X, Willenbring H, Akkari Y, Torimaru Y, Foster M, Al-Dhalimy M, et al. Cell fusion is the principal source of bone-marrow-derived hepatocytes. Nature 2003;422:897–901.
- [124] Menthena A, Deb N, Oertel M, Grozdanov PN, Sandhu J, Shah S, et al. Bone marrow progenitors are not the source of expanding oval cells in injured liver. Stem Cells 2004;22:1049–61.
- [125] Thorgeirsson SS, Grisham JW. Hematopoietic cells as hepatocyte stem cells: a critical review of the evidence. Hepatology 2006;43:2-8.
- [126] Cantz T, Sharma AD, Jochheim-Richter A, Arseniev L, Klein C, Manns MP, et al. Reevaluation of bone marrow-derived cells as a source for hepatocyte regeneration. Cell Transplant 2004;13:659–66.
- [127] Fogt F, Beyser KH, Poremba C, Zimmerman RL, Khettry U, Ruschoff J. Recipient-derived hepatocytes in liver transplants: a rare event in sexmismatched transplants. Hepatology 2002;36:173–6.
- [128] Skvorak KJ, Dorko K, Marongiu F, Tahan V, Hansel MC, Gramignoli R, Gibson KM, Strom SC. Placental stem cell correction of murine intermediate maple syrup urine disease. Hepatology 2013;57:1017–23.
- [129] Strom SC, Skvorak K, Gramignoli R, Marongiu F, Miki T. Translation of amnion stem cells to the clinic. Stem Cells and Dev 2013;22. https:// doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0391.
- [130] Strom SC, Gramignoli R. Human amnion epithelial cells expressing HLA-G as novel cell-based treatment for liver disease. Hum Immunol 2016;77:734–9.
- [131] Campard D, Lysy PA, Najimi M, Sokal EM. Native umbilical cord matrix stem cells express hepatic markers and differentiate into hepatocyte-like cells. Gastroenterology 2008;134:833–48.
- [132] Duret C, Gerbal-Chaloin S, Ramos J, Fabre JM, Jacquet E, Navarro F, et al. Isolation, characterization, and differentiation to hepatocyte-like cells of nonparenchymal epithelial cells from adult human liver. Stem Cells 2007;25:1779–90.
- [133] Lysy PA, Smets F, Sibille C, Najimi M, Sokal EM. Human skin fibroblasts: from mesodermal to hepatocyte-like differentiation. Hepatology 2007;46:1574–85.
- [134] Najimi M, Khuu DN, Lysy PA, Jazouli N, Abarca J, Sempoux C, et al. Adult-derived human liver mesenchymal-like cells as a potential progenitor reservoir of hepatocytes? Cell Transplant 2007;16:717–28.
- [135] Sharma AD, Cantz T, Richter R, Eckert K, Henschler R, Wilkens L, et al. Human cord blood stem cells generate human cytokeratin 18negative hepatocyte-like cells in injured mouse liver. Am J Pathol 2005;167:555–64.
- [136] Sakaida I, Terai S, Yamamoto N, Aoyama K, Ishikawa T, Nishina H, et al. Transplantation of bone marrow cells reduces CCl4-induced liver fibrosis in mice. Hepatology 2004;40:1304–11.
- [137] Sakaida I, Terai S, Okita K. Use of bone marrow cells for the development of cellular therapy in liver diseases. Hepatol Res 2005;31:195-6.
- [138] Lyra AC, Soares MB, da Silva LF, Fortes MF, Silva AG, Mota AC, et al. Feasibility and safety of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell transplantation in patients with advanced chronic liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:1067–73.
- [139] Terai S, Ishikawa T, Omori K, Aoyama K, Marumoto Y, Urata Y, et al. Improved liver function in patients with liver cirrhosis after autologous bone marrow cell infusion therapy. Stem Cells 2006;24:2292–8.
- [140] Gaia S, Smedile A, Omede P, Olivero A, Sanavio F, Balzola F, et al. Feasibility and safety of G-CSF administration to induce bone marrowderived cells mobilization in patients with end stage liver disease. J Hepatol 2006;45:13–9.
- [141] Gordon MY, Levicar N, Pai M, Bachellier P, Dimarakis I, Al-Allaf F, et al. Characterization and clinical application of human CD34fl stem/ progenitor cell populations mobilized into the blood by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Stem Cells 2006;24:1822–30.
- [142] Yannaki E, Anagnostopoulos A, Kapetanos D, Xagorari A, Iordanidis F, Batsis I, et al. Lasting amelioration in the clinical course of decompensated alcoholic cirrhosis with boost infusions of mobilized peripheral blood stem cells. Exp Hematol 2006;34:1583–7.
- [143] Mohamadnejad M, Namiri M, Bagheri M, Hashemi SM, Ghanaati H, Zare Mehrjardi N, et al. Phase 1 human trial of autologous bone marrow-hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with decompensated cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:3359–63.
- [144] Pai M, Zacharoulis D, Milicevic MN, Helmy S, Jiao LR, Levicar N, et al. Autologous infusion of expanded mobilized adult bone marrowderived CD34fl cells into patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2008;103:1952–8.
- [145] Mohamadnejad M, Alimoghaddam K, Mohyeddin-Bonab M, Bagheri M, Bashtar M, Ghanaati H, et al. Phase 1 trial of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis. Arch Iran Med 2007;10:459–66.
- [146] Lyra AC, Soares MB, da Silva LF, Braga EL, Oliveira SA, Fortes MF, et al. Infusion of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells through hepatic artery results in a short-term improvement of liver function in patients with chronic liver disease: a pilot randomized controlled study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;22:33–42.

246

# 17

# Cardiac Stem Cells: Biology and Therapeutic Applications

Konstantinos E. Hatzistergos, Sarah Selem, Wayne Balkan, Joshua M. Hare University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States

The heart, which was previously considered a prototypic terminally differentiated and postmitotic organ, is now known to retain reservoirs of undifferentiated cardiovascular precursors and mitotic cardiomyocytes throughout adult life [1,2]. Multiple classes of precursor cells with the ability to contribute to adult cardiomyocyte turnover have been described, including postnatal remnants of bona fide embryonic heart lineages [3-5], multipotent circulating cells of noncardiac lineage [6], and adult cardiovascular progenitors generated de novo by reprogramming mature cardiac cells to a multipotent state [7,8]. The cardiac precursor and cardiomyocyte mitosis pathways remain fully operational up to the neonatal stage before becoming idle and limited in their ability to support regeneration in response to damage [9–12]. Cell-based therapeutics offers a promising strategy to overcome this limitation and induce regeneration in the diseased heart. It falls into two basic categories: (1) direct remuscularization and (2) stimulation of endogenous repair. In the first category, engraftment of billions of laboratory-grown cardiomyogenic cells derived from embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) is tested as an approach to remuscularize and revascularize a myocardial scar directly. In the second category, transplantation of cardiac and extracardiac adult multipotent stem cells aims to stimulate endogenous mechanisms of repair, which include the upregulation of cardiac precursors and cardiomyocyte mitosis, to induce regeneration. In this chapter, we review the biology of cardiac myogenesis in relation to cell-based therapeutics.

# DEVELOPMENT OF THE HEART FROM CARDIAC STEM/PROGENITOR CELLS

Mammalian cardiogenesis involves the synchrony of function among a diverse population of cells that comprise the heart: atrial/ventricular cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, epicardial cells, conduction system cells, autonomic nerves, valvular components, and connective tissue [13,14]. The specification and differentiation of these cell lineages depend on spatially and temporally controlled developmental steps [15,16]. Four cardiac anlagen (the primary heart field [FHF], secondary heart field [SHF], and proepicardial organ [PEO], which are of mesodermal lineage; and the ectodermal lineage-derived cardiac neural crest [CNC]) are the principal sources of cardiovascular progenitor cells. Essentially, they are responsible for the development of the various cardiac structures [17–21].

The FHF and SHF lineages are specified before gastrulation, in the posterior epiblast of the early primitive streak embryo [22,23]. The epiblast, or primitive ectoderm, is the primitive cell layer from which all three germ layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm) are derived during gastrulation. The primitive streak is the grooved structure that forms at the most proximal region of the posterior midline of the epiblast. The cardiogenic mesoderm gastrulates as the precardiac cells from the posterior epiblast ingress through the primitive streak [22,23]. This process involves the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of precardiac epiblast cells, mediated by the transient induction of the T-box transcription factors Brachyury and Eomesodermin, followed by expression of the mesoderm posterior 1 (*Mesp1*) gene. Precursors of the cardiogenic mesodermal progenitors express Mesp1, but the expression of this gene is downregulated upon formation of the cardiac crescent. At this stage in development, progenitors

irreversibly commit to the cardiac lineage, expressing the LIM-homeodomain transcription factor NK2 transcription related, locus 5 (*Nkx*2-5) [22].

A tetracycline-inducible, genetic lineage-tracing approach in mice carrying a Mesp1-rtTA transgene indicates that the FHF originates from an early wave of Mesp1<sup>+</sup> progenitors in the anterior splanchnic mesoderm and forms the Nkx2-5<sup>+</sup> cardiac crescent, from which the cells migrate medially to form the linear heart tube [24]. Ultimately, the FHF contributes to left ventricle and atria formation [17,21,25]. The SHF originates from a late wave of Mesp1<sup>+</sup> progenitors in the pharyngeal mesoderm medial to the cardiac crescent and lies anterior and dorsal to the linear heart tube. Ultimately, the SHF contributes to the right ventricle, outflow tract, and atrial tissue formation, accounting for two-thirds of the cells in the heart [17,21,25]. Although not all genetic markers unique to the FHF and SHF have been identified, some transcription factors and signaling molecules are known to characterize each population. Both are marked by Nkx2-5, but the FHF progenitors are distinguished by T-box transcription factor Tbx5 and basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor Hand1, whereas the SHF progenitors are distinguished by Hand2, Isl1, and Fgf10 [17,26,27]. Although a retrospective clonal analysis in the mouse embryo suggested the FHF and SHF progenitors originate from a common precursor [25], further investigations must be pursued to determine whether the FHF and SHF progenitors stem from a single precursor or perhaps a subset of precursors. As mentioned previously, the FHF and SHF are governed by both shared and distinct genetic programs. Overall, Nkx2-5 and GATA transcription factors mark the FHF progenitor population and Isl1, Foxh1, and Mef2c mark specialization of the SHF progenitors. However, the transcriptional control that comes with the lineage segregation is still uncertain.

The PEO organ, a cauliflower-like structure that arises at the inflow region of the looping primordial heart [28–30], arises from an early wave of Mesp1<sup>+</sup> progenitors, which are thought to be distinct from the FHF/ SHF-forming Mesp1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts [24]. Whether the Mesp1<sup>+</sup> cells of PEO lineage are also prespecified in the epiblast is not known [23]. The PEO progenitors will ultimately develop into the epicardium, a layer of cells that delineate the outer layer of the primordial heart and contribute to the development of the coronary vasculature, myofibroblasts, and other epicardial cells [31–34].

CNC cells are a population of vertebrate-specific, extracardiac, migratory multipotent progenitor cells of neuroectodermal lineage (Mesp1-negative), which arise transiently from rhombomeres 6 and 7 at approximately Carnegie stage 12 in humans [35]. The role of CNC cells in mammals is diverse. Part of their function is to contribute to cardiac and aorticopulmonary septation, valvulogenesis, and autonomic neurogenesis [36]. The traditional view is that neural crest cells are specified during neurulation through an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition at the roof plate of the neural tube, the site where the surface ectoderm converges with the neural ectoderm. However, lineage-tracing experiments in chick embryos suggest that, similar to the mesoderm, specification of the neural crest lineage is independent of neurulation and starts before gastrulation in the epiblast, bilaterally to the Hensen node, about 300 µm from the primitive streak [37]. Intriguingly, transplantation of quail-donor Hensen node cells to precardiac and nonprecardiac regions of chick host epiblast indicates that neural crest cells may contribute to cardiogenesis [22]. Similarly, fate-mapping studies in fish and mice also indicated that about 10% of cardiac myocytes are developmentally derived from the CNC [3,38–40].

# CARDIAC STEM/PROGENITOR CELLS IN THE ADULT HEART

Although the adult heart was traditionally thought to be a postmitotic and terminally differentiated organ, a number of studies indicate that cardiac myocytes regenerate continuously throughout the adult life, albeit at a seemingly slow pace (Fig. 17.1) [1,2,41]. Cardiomyocyte renewal occurs either via division of preexisting cardiomyocytes [1,41,42] or via pools of undifferentiated cardiac progenitor cells [41,43,44]. Some of these progenitor cell types are thought to be remnants of the embryonic cardiac progenitor cell programs, although their exact lineage relationships and plasticity remain unclear.

# c-Kit<sup>+</sup> Cardiac Progenitor/Stem Cells

Beltrami and colleagues provided the first evidence of cardiac progenitor/stem cells residing within the adult heart [45,46]. These investigators described niches of stem/progenitor cells within the adult heart, identified by the expression of the proto-oncogene c-Kit on their cell surface [45,46]. c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac stem cell (CSC) niches reportedly reside throughout the ventricular and atrial myocardium but have a higher density in the ventricular



FIGURE 17.1 Cardiomyocyte renewal in adult humans. (A, B) By analyzing the presence of the cell proliferation marker Ki67 in adult human hearts, Beltrami and colleagues provided strong evidence that human cardiomyocytes divide throughout adulthood and in response to ischemic damage. Arrows point to cycling cardiomyocytes in an infarcted human heart, identified by confocal immunofluorescence for Ki67 and the cardiomyocyte marker α-sarcomeric actin. (C, D) By examining postmortem cases in which male patients received heart transplants from female donors, Quaini et al. detected a high level of cardiac chimerism caused by the migration of Y chromosome—bearing primitive cells from the recipient to the grafted heart. Putative stem cells and progenitor cells were identified in control myocardium and in increased numbers in transplanted hearts. Arrows point to a Y-chromosome<sup>+</sup> cardiomyocyte (C) and coronary vascular cell (D) in a female heart transplanted into a male recipient. (E, F) Bergmann and colleagues took advantage of the integration of 14C, generated by nuclear bomb tests during the Cold War, into DNA to establish the age of cardiomyocytes in humans (E), and found that cardiomyocytes renew, with a gradual decrease from 1% turning over annually at the age of 20% to 0.3% at age 75; overall, less than 50% of cardiomyocytes are exchanged during a normal life span (F). These results support the original observations by Beltrami et al. and Quaini et al. (*A*, *B*) *Adapted from http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa012081#t=article; (E, F) Adapted from https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2991140/.* 

apex. c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac progenitors do not express transcription factors or membrane and cytoplasmic proteins that may characterize them as bone marrow (BM), neural, skeletal, skeletal muscle, or cardiac cells. When isolated and cultured ex vivo, c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs proved to be self-renewing, clonogenic, and multipotent, developing into cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells. More important, transplantation of culture-expanded c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs results in their multilineage differentiation into cardiomyocytes and endothelial and smooth muscle cells, providing a potentially important cell-based therapeutic strategy for promoting heart regeneration in patients with heart disease [43,45-47]. Interestingly, genetic linage fate-mapping experiments in mice suggest that c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac cells may not represent a common, multipotent cardiovascular stem cell, as was originally suggested [46], but distinct classes of cardiovascular cells with restricted lineage differentiation potentials [15]. For example, fate mapping of *c-Kit* expression in the heart indicates that most adult c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac cells are endothelial lineage-committed cells (either undifferentiated endothelial progenitor cells [12,48,49] or fully differentiated coronary endothelial cells [12,50]), whereas only a relatively small fraction of c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac cells represent cardiomyocyte progenitors [3,12,49,51]. c-Kit expression has also been reported to be retained in a small subset of differentiated adult cardiomyocytes [12,48,50,52]. However, other studies have failed to confirm expression of c-Kit in the coronary endothelium [3,8,51] and differentiated myocardium [3,49,51]. Temporal analyses of c-Kit expression during mouse cardiogenesis using tamoxifen-inducible Cre-reporter mouse lines provide compelling evidence that cardiomyogenic c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac progenitor cells are derived from the CNC, whereas a vasculogenic c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac cell originates in the cardiogenic mesoderm [3,10,15,50]. The origin of the c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiomyogenic progenitor pool in the CNC may partly explain their limited prevalence and contribution to the myocardial lineage [3,15]. iPSC models of cardiogenesis suggest that activation of canonical bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling in the outflow tract of the mouse embryo during the invasion of CNC cells is a limiting factor for c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CNC progenitors, because transient BMP antagonism extensively induces their in vitro differentiation into beating cardiomyocytes (Fig. 17.2) [3].

# Isl1<sup>+</sup> Cardioblasts

Following the seminal observation of adult c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs by Beltrami and colleagues [46], Laugwitz and colleagues identified through *Isl1-Cre* reporter mouse line approaches the retention of a multipotent Isl1<sup>+</sup> progenitor cell pool in the postnatal mouse and human heart [4]. Isl1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts are reportedly distinct from c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs based on the lack of c-Kit antigen expression [4]. They have been isolated and expanded from embryonic and postnatal hearts and have been shown to differentiate into cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells, among others [4,53–55]. Based on the original observation that Isl1 is specifically expressed in SHF progenitors [26], postnatal Isl1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts are thought to comprise remnants of the SHF program [53]. However, subsequent studies suggested that a subset of Isl1<sup>+</sup> cardiomyogenic progenitors in the postnatal mouse heart may be PEO derivatives [5,30,60]. However, this hypothesis has been challenged by subsequent work indicating the lack of cardiomyocyte differentiation capacity of epicardial progenitors [31,33,34,61]. Similar to adult c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs [49,50], postnatal Isl1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts minimally contribute to adult heart regeneration [59]. Nonetheless, the unequivocal presence of multipotent Isl1<sup>+</sup> cardiac progenitors in the adult heart has major implications for the prevention and treatment of congenital and adult heart diseases; therefore, further studies are warranted for delineating their developmental origin(s) and the molecular mechanisms regulating their expansion and cardiovascular fate commitment.

# Cardiac Neural Crest–Derived Progenitors

Given its naturally limited role in cardiomyogenesis, one of the most intriguing and unexpected functions of the neural crest lineage in the heart is its contribution to postnatal cardiac progenitor cells. Tomita and colleagues used a neural crest—specific myelin protein zero (P0) *Cre*-reporter mouse line to explore the potential contribution of the neural crest in postnatal cardiac progenitor cells [40]. The investigators showed that a portion of *P0-Cre* derivatives in the postnatal heart are multipotent neural crest progenitors that, when isolated and expanded in vitro, could develop into peripheral nervous system-type neurons, Schwann cells, smooth muscle cells, and cardiomyocytes. Notably, some of these neural crest—derived progenitor cell types that have been reported in the adult mouse heart, such as the Abcg2<sup>+</sup> side-population (SP) cells [62] and cardiosphere-forming cells [9,63]. This suggests that most adult cardiac progenitor cell types, with the possible exception of Sca-1<sup>+</sup> progenitors [64], which are discussed



**FIGURE 17.2** The cKit receptor is expressed on Nkx2.5<sup>+</sup> cardiomyogenic cells of neural crest lineage whose contribution to cardiomyogenesis is limited by bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling. (A, A'–D, D') An intersectional genetic fate-mapping strategy with *Wnt1::Flpe and cKit-CreERT2/*+ alleles allowed the lineage tracing of neural crest–derived cKit<sup>+</sup> cells in the heart. Expression of the reporter gene  $\beta$ -galactosidase was analyzed via X-gal staining and indicated the presence of a limited number of neural crest–derived cKit<sup>+</sup> progenitors in the outflow tract (A, A'), atrioventricular junctions (B, B'), ventricular myocardium (C, C'), and epicardium (D, D'). (E, F) An in vitro model of cardiogenesis with *cKit-CreERT2/*+ reporter-induced pluripotent stem cells further suggested that the cardiomyogenic contribution of cKit<sup>+</sup> neural crest progenitors is significantly enhanced when the canonical BMP pathway is transiently inhibited with the BMP antagonists noggin or dorsomorphin. Magnifications: 50 µM in A–D; 10 µm in E; and 10 µM in right two "DORSO" panels of E. *Adapted from Hatzistergos KE, Takeuchi LM, Saur D, Seidler B, Dymecki SM, Mai JJ, White IA, Balkan W, Kanashiro-Takeuchi RM, Schally AV, et al. cKit+ cardiac progenitors of neural crest origin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112:13051–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1517201112.* 

subsequently, may share a common neural crest origin. Subsequent studies using *Wnt1-Cre* [65] and *Kit-CreERT2/+* reporter mice [10] have corroborated the presence of cardiomyogenic neural crest–derived progenitors in the postnatal heart and raised the possibility of mobilizing them therapeutically in response to heart damage either pharmacologically, by activating the monocyte chemoattractant protein-/CCR2 axis [65], or by activating the stromal cell–derived factor 1 (SDF1)/CXCR4 axis via transplantation of adult BM–derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) [10] (Fig. 17.3).

# **Epicardial Progenitor Cells**

The epicardium is the cardiac structure with perhaps the highest proliferative and regenerative capacity after birth. Both mammals and fish vigorously activate epicardial cells via epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in response to damage [66,67]. A genetic fate-mapping study in mice showed that compared with the adult myocardium, which holds minimal regenerative capacity, the adult epicardium requires about 3 days to regenerate itself fully in response to ischemic damage [67]. This dynamic epicardial injury response led to the original hypothesis that the epicardium is the primary postnatal source of multipotent cardiovascular progenitors for myocardial lineage regeneration in the adult heart [5,66,68]. However, subsequent studies in fish [61], mice [31,33], and humans [32,34] provided compelling evidence suggesting that the epicardial lineage is unlikely to contribute myocardial cells during cardiac development, homeostasis, or regeneration. Nonetheless, the adult epicardium is invested with undifferentiated progenitor cell pools that are generally identified in mice by the



FIGURE 17.3 Regulation of cardiac cKit<sup>+</sup> cell (CSCs) self-renewal by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). (A) A tamoxifen-inducible *Kit-CreERT2/*+;*IRG* mouse line enables real-time imaging of CSCs based on *Cre*-mediated labeling with an enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) reporter gene. Live-tissue fate-mapping analysis of EGFP plus CSCs in cultured myocardial explants indicates that migration and proliferation of CSCs are significantly impaired in the postnatal heart (A–D). (B) Coculture with MSCs stimulates proliferation and migration of CSCs from within the myocardial explants into the MSC culture (B–D). (C) The chemotactic effects of MSCs are blocked by the SDF1/CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100 (C, D). These findings support the hypothesis that MSCs stimulate the proliferation and migration of CSCs via the SDF1–CXCR4 axis. *SCF*, stem cell factor. *Image adapted from Hatzistergos KE, Saur D, Seidler B, Balkan W, Breton M, Valasaki K, Takeuchi LM, Landin AM, Khan A, Hare JM.. Stimulatory effects of MSCs on cKit+ cardiac stem cells are mediated by SDF1/CXCR4 and SCF/ckit signaling pathways. Circ Res September 30, 2016;119(8):921–30. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.309281.* 

expression of the cell-surface markers platelet-derived growth factor receptor- $\alpha$  (PDGFR $\alpha$ ) [60] and/or stem cell antigen-1 (Sca-1) [69,70]. Intriguingly, adult PDGFR $\alpha^+$ /Sca-1<sup>+</sup> epicardial progenitors exhibit MSC-like properties, based on their ability to form colony-forming unit-fibroblasts and differentiate into osteogenic, adipogenic, and chondrogenic derivatives ex vivo. Other markers, such as the transcription factors Wilms Tumor 1 (WT1) and Tbx18, are also reported to be coexpressed in multipotent adult epicardial progenitors [5,60]. Adult epicardial progenitor cells have an important role in adult heart regeneration, either directly by contributing to coronary vessel, epicardial adipose tissue, and myofibroblast regeneration, or indirectly through paracrine mechanisms that support cardiomyocyte survival and proliferation [71,72].

# **CELL-BASED THERAPEUTICS FOR HEART DISEASE**

The most important unmet need in cardiovascular medicine is that of a regenerative therapy. Although the heart has regenerative capacity, it is limited; and ischemic and other types of cardiac injury leave permanent injury and impairment in heart function, which in turn produce the major burdens of morbidity, mortality, and health care costs. As such, there is major impetus to translate the new knowledge of CSC biology into the therapeutic arena (Fig. 17.4). There have been attempts at cell-based therapy using both cardiopoietic cells (either endogenous adult CSCs or pluripotent stem cell–derived cardiac cells) and cells derived from other body sites, most notably BM [73,74].

Mortality rates from ischemic heart disease are falling, but paradoxically the incidence of heart failure (HF) is a growing cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide because of the improved short-term survival from myocardial infarction (MI) [73]. In the United States, it is estimated that the lifetime risk of developing HF is 1:5 [73]. Despite significant advances in the management of HF, 1-year mortality rates remain approximately 20%, with even higher



FIGURE 17.4 Stem cell-based therapeutic strategies for cardiac regeneration. Sources for stem cells with cardiac reparative capacities are numerous, including embryonic, bone marrow-derived, and cardiac-specific stem cells. After their expansion into therapeutic quantities, they can be transplanted into the patient using direct transendocardial implantation, intracoronary infusions, or subcutaneous intravenous delivery. *iPS*, induced pluripotent stem.

rates among patients hospitalized for HF [73]. Coronary heart disease is the predominant cause of HF in developed countries [73]. The pathophysiologic underpinning of this phenomenon is ventricular remodeling, which ensues after MI; therefore, regenerative therapies are targeted to preventing or reversing the remodeling process.

To date, most trials have employed BM-derived strategies to treat patients after acute myocardial infarction (AMI), with the goal of preventing remodeling largely through ameliorating infarct size [73]. Strategies have begun to be tested for revering remodeling in patients with HF and left ventricular (LV) dysfunction, both of ischemic and nonischemic etiology [75–80].

The basic premise underlying early attempts to repair cardiac injury is that of myocyte terminal differentiation [74]. Thus, early and ongoing attempts were designed around cell replacement with cells capable of differentiation. An early attempt at cell-based therapeutic myocardial replacement was reported in 1993, when Koh and coworkers used murine cardiomyocyte-like tumor cells to create intracardiac grafts [81]. By genetically manipulating murine hearts to overexpress oncogenes such as the simian virus 40 large T antigen, the investigators created a tumorigenic cardiomyocyte cell line with the capacity for proliferation both in vitro and in vivo. Implantation of these cells into healthy mouse hearts was accompanied by long-term engraftment in about 50% of the recipients without affecting heart function, introducing the notion of using cells to replace injured or lost cardiomyocytes. This experiment created a new field of investigation that has led to the exploration of multiple types and sources of cells as potential cardiac therapeutic agents. In 1998, Anversa and coworkers [82]reported evidence of mitosis in adult cardiomyocytes, which suggested cellular renewal throughout adult life. This discovery instigated the notion that myocyte renewal may not be attributed only to cardiomyocyte proliferation per se, but also to homing and differentiation of BM-derived, lineage-negative (Lin[–]/c-Kit[+]) stem cells into the infarcted mouse heart caused differentiation of the BM cells into cardiac myocytes and vessels and substantial recovery of cardiac function.

Cardiac engraftment of cells from distant sites was demonstrated in studies of sex-mismatched heart transplants [41]. In these studies, male cardiomyocytes were identified in female hearts transplanted into male patients (Fig. 17.1C and D). More important, the investigators also detected a subpopulation of cardiac precursor cells of donor and host origin, which suggested for the first time that the heart could contain its own CSC population. These observations opened up the field of adult stem cell—based therapy and led to a plethora of studies using multiple sources of cells to stimulate postinjury cardiac repair. Based on the observations by Orlic and colleagues, BM was preferentially used as a cell source, prompting a decade-long quest to establish the clinical value and mechanism of action of BM-derived, cell-based therapy for heart disease [73]. However, the quest is controversial and other

experimental observations have challenged the hypothesis of cell transdifferentiation as a dominant mechanism of action for cell-based cardiac repair [6,73,83,84].

# MECHANISMS OF ACTION

Two major categories are thought to underlie the mechanisms of actions of cell-based therapeutics, each with varying degrees of experimental support: direct remuscularization and stimulation of endogenous repair (Fig. 17.5). The first category entails tissue-engineering approaches to remuscularize the dead, scarred myocardium by engrafting billions of new, healthy cardiac cells manufactured in the laboratory from pluripotent stem cells [85–87] or via genetic conversion of adult fibroblasts [88,89].

The second category entails using adult stem cells, isolated and expanded in vitro from the heart or extracardiac tissues and infused through the bloodstream or engrafted endomyocardially to stimulate endogenous mechanisms of heart regeneration. Most transplanted adult stem cells do not become heart muscle cells themselves, but induce



FIGURE 17.5 Cell-based therapeutic strategies for cardiac repair. (A, B) The two major categories of cell therapy are direct remuscularization strategies with human embryonic stem cell (hESC) or induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived cardiomyocytes (CM) and progenitors (CVP), or stimulation or endogenous repair with adult stem cells (i.e., bone marrow mononuclear cells (BM MNC). Both strategies exert similar effects in cardiac repair. (C) Comparison of the mechanisms of action underlying the two therapeutic strategies. \*Differentiation of adult stem cells (i.e., MSCs) to cardiomyocytes is minimal but not absent. *Non Card*, noncardiac. (*A*, *B*) *Adapted from Fernandes S*, *Chong JJ*, *Paige SL*, *Iwata M*, *Torok-Storb B*, *Keller G*, *Reinecke H*, *Murry CE*. *Comparison of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes, cardiovascular progenitors, and bone marrow mononuclear cells for cardiac repair. Stem Cell Rep 2015;5:753–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.09.011; (C) Hatzistergos KE, Hare JM. Cell therapy: targeting endogenous repair versus remuscularization. Circ Res 2015;117;659–61. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307346*.

### CLINICAL TRIALS

cardiac repair through other mechanisms, including stimulation of myocardial regeneration from endogenous cardiac progenitors and cardiomyocyte mitosis [10,90,91], fusion with host cells to promote survival and induce regenerative activity [6,49,92], as well as secretion of paracrine factors and exosomes that exert antiinflammatory, antifibrotic, and angiogenic effects [10,75,93–97].

# CLINICAL TRIALS

The field of stem cell research has gained enormous attention. Experimental work has employed both pluripotent stem cell–derived and tissue-specific adult stem cells to treat heart disease [73]. Whereas consensus has emerged that there is some functional merit to cell-based therapies for heart disease [73,98–100], underlying mechanisms of action remain controversial. In addition to this central issue, other key issues that need to be settled include the role of host factors in cell functionality [101] and the exciting possibility of using allogeneic grafts because of the unique immunoprivileged properties of some cell types [75]. Despite much controversy, substantial work in the clinical arena with trials of growing size and sophistication has produced a major database of safety and efficacy that is paving the way to future clinical development. We next review developments using each cell-based strategy.

### Cardiopoietic Stem Cells

### **Pluripotent Stem Cells**

ESCs, the prototypic pluripotent stem cell, were first isolated from mice in 1981 [102,103] and subsequently from human blastocysts in 1998 [104]. These cells arise from the inner cell mass of late blastocysts and differentiate into cell types of all three germ layers, including cardiomyocytes. From a clinical standpoint, because undifferentiated ESCs are pluripotent, they have a high oncologic risk when they are used as a cell-based therapeutic. However, differentiation of ESCs to cardiac progenitors or cardiomyocytes before transplantation overcomes this important limitation and reduces the risk of tumor formation [105,106]. Early animal studies suggested that ESC-derived, cardiac-committed cells may have the capacity to improve myocardial function and structure after MI by directly remuscularizing the infarct area with new cardiomyocytes and vessels. However, later experiments revealed that the degree to which engraftment of human ESC-derived cardiac cells reduces scar size and improves heart function in animals with experimental myocardial ischemia is at best comparable to that seen with adult cell-based therapy (Fig. 17.5) [73,74,85–87,107]. Furthermore, although engraftment of human ESC-derived beating cardiomyocytes into the myocardial scar appears to be safe from an oncologic standpoint, it has been associated with an increased risk for arrhythmogenesis, which suggests that more work is necessary to improve the safety of this approach before clinical testing [85]. To date, the Transplantation of Human Embryonic Stem Cell-derived Progenitors in Severe Heart Failure trial (NCT02057900) is the only ESC-based clinical trial in the field of cardiovascular diseases to test the safety and feasibility of transplanting human ESC-derived cardiac progenitor cells expressing Isl1 and SSEA1 in patients with severe HF [108].

Another strategy to obtain pluripotent stem cells involves the induction of pluripotency in somatic cells through genetic reprogramming, so-called iPSCs. In a pioneering study conducted by the laboratory of Shinya Yamanaka [109,110], adult mouse and human skin fibroblasts were induced into pluripotent embryonic-like iPSCs by transfection with stem cell-related genes such as Lin28, c-myc, oct 4, sox 2, klf-4, and Nanog. This approach has stimulated enormous enthusiasm given the potential to develop pluripotent stem cells without using human embryos and offers substantial availability of the cells. Not the least advantage of this approach is the prospect of developing host-tailored stem cells that could escape immune rejection, or the development of pluripotent cell lines from hosts with genetic diseases providing an optimal in vitro experimental system for disease-modeling and drug-screening applications [111]. However, the production and derivation of patient-specific, autologous heart cell grafts from iPSCs still require expensive and labor-intensive processes, which makes the clinical translation of personalized, iPSC-based regenerative medicine practically unfeasible. An alternative strategy proposed is the development of immunocompatible iPSC master cell banks that can be used to derive "off-the-shelf" allogeneic grafts. Nonetheless, preclinical animal models of heart regeneration using immunocompatible, allogeneic, iPSC-based strategies indicate that engraftment of iPSC-derived cardiac cells still requires high-dose immunosuppression. In addition, similar to ESC-based strategies, direct remuscularization from iPSC-derived cardiac cells is disappointingly inefficient and may have important adverse effects, including arrhythmogenesis (Fig. 17.6) [112]. Other studies indicate that, similar to adult cell-based therapeutics, iPSC-based therapeutics may



FIGURE 17.6 Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-based strategies for cardiac repair. A proof-of-concept preclinical study tested the allogeneic transplantation of beating cardiomyocytes derived from major histocompatibility complex (MHC) homozygous monkey iPSCs (A) into MHC heterozygous recipients. The allogeneic cardiomyocytes were not immunogenic in vitro (B) but required high-dose immunosuppression for in vivo engraftment (C). Another major concern raised by the study is that engraftment of terminally differentiated, allogeneic cardiomyocytes significantly increased the risk for arrhythmogenesis, whereas the effects on heart function and scar size were far from optimal (D). Future allogeneic iPSC-based strategies should focus on developing novel, cost-effective bioengineering approaches to enhance immunotolerance, improve engraftment, and reduce arrhythmogenicity of the allografts. *BrdU*, bromodeoxyuridine. *Adapted from Shiba Y*, *Gomibuchi T*, *Seto T*, *Wada Y*, *Ichimura H*, *Tanaka Y*, *Ogasawara T*, *Okada K*, *Shiba N*, *Sakamoto K*, *et al. Allogeneic transplantation of iPS cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerates primate hearts*. *Nature* 2016;538:388–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19815. Epub 2016 Oct 10.

be useful for bioengineering cardiovascular patches to stimulate the heart's innate repair mechanisms [96]. To date, iPSC cells have not entered the clinic for heart-related diseases.

### Adult Stem Cells

The field of CSC therapy has been advanced substantially through the discovery that adult stem cells have the capacity to (trans)differentiate into lineages other than their tissue of origin. This stem cell plasticity allows the use of stem cells isolated from a variety of easily accessible sources such as BM, peripheral blood, fat, umbilical

### CLINICAL TRIALS

cord, skeletal muscle, and the heart itself to be used for cell-based cardiac repair. The first generation of cell-based clinical trials was conducted with cells of extracardiac tissue origin and showed MSCs to be the safest and most promising strategy for stimulating the innate regenerative response mechanisms of the failing human heart [73,98]. The second generation of cell-based therapy supported the concept that the adult human heart contains its own stem cell compartment that may be expanded in culture and delivered back to the damaged heart muscle to enhance cardiac repair. Finally, given the stimulatory effects of MSCs on tissue-specific CSCs (Fig. 17.3), the third generation of cell-based clinical trials is testing whether the combined engraftment of the two stem cell types yields an additive regenerative effect [73,80,113].

### **Bone Marrow Stem Cells**

Because of its various well-defined stem cell compartments and its ease of access, whole-BM and BM-derived mononuclear stem cells (BMMNCs) are the most widely studied type of cell for cellular cardiomyoplasty. Using different cell-surface markers, BMMNCs can be fractionated to hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) or nonhematopoietic stem cells. The latter includes a number of distinct subtypes named SPs [114], endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) [115], MSCs [73], multipotent adult progenitor cells [116], multilineage inducible cells [117], and very small embryonic-like stem cells [118].

### **Bone Marrow–Derived Mononuclear Stem Cells**

Numerous experimental and clinical studies have tested BMMNCs for a range of therapeutic strategies involving their transplantation and/or mobilization to sites of cardiac injury. The totality of evidence of trials of BM cells and derivatives supports both the safety and provisional efficacy of this approach. Three metaanalyses evaluating data from approximately 18 trials and close to 1000 patients [7,100,119] concluded that BM cell-based therapies contribute to modest improvements in cardiac function by reducing infarct size, preserving LV dimensions, and increasing ejection fraction by 2%–3% within 6 months after transplantation. Long-term follow-up data derived from the Brain Oxygen Optimization in Severe Traumatic Brain Injury and Outcomes for Antiretroviral Therapy Patients Receiving Palliative Care (REPAIR)-AMI studies documented that the therapeutic results are sustained up to 5 years posttransplantation [73]. One of the most exciting observations derives from the Data and Safety Monitoring Board data of the REPAIR-AMI study [119a]. In this study, 204 patients with AMI underwent successful reperfusion of the culprit coronary vessel(s), and 3–7 days later were randomized to receive intracoronary infusion of autologous BMMNCs or placebo. By 4 months, patients who had received the cells showed a significantly improved left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) compared with the placebo, and the ones with larger infarcts (baseline LVEF < 48.9%) were more responsive to the therapy than the others. Importantly, 1-year follow-up data from REPAIR-AMI demonstrated improved event-free survival (death, recurrence of MI, revascularization, or rehospitalization for HF) of the BMMNC-treated patients compared with the placebo. In addition to the post-MI setting, several trials employed BMMNCs for patients with established LV dysfunction and/or HF owing to either ischemic or non-=ischemic causes; data are sufficiently promising to warrant further study [73].

### **Endothelial Progenitor Cells**

This subset of hematopoietic stem cells can be isolated from BMMNCs as well as peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), based on the expression of HSC surface markers such as CD34, CD133, and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2. The main mechanism of action of these cells is the formation of new vessels in the infarcted myocardium; however, little evidence exists for their in vivo transdifferentiation into new cardiac myocytes [73]. In rats with AMI, intravenously injected EPC stimulated the development of collateral vessels from preexisting vessels as well as de novo capillary formation [120]. This was associated with decreased apoptosis of myocytes in the borderline zone, reduced fibrosis and scar formation resulting in prevention of LV remodeling, and improvement in myocardial function [120]. Infusion of EPC in the infarct-related arteries can improve vasomotor function, an effect that could contribute to improved myocardial function [121]. In patients with old MI and chronic coronary total occlusion, intracoronary infusion of EPC after recanalization of the occluded artery improved myocardial perfusion, reduced infarct size, and ameliorated myocardial function [122].

However, a clinical trial that compared the effects of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and PBMCs as an alternative approach to recruit EPCs at the sites of MI was terminated prematurely owing to the potential adverse reaction of increased restenosis [123]. Approaches that involve EPC therapies combined with gene therapies or even the genetic manipulation of EPCs before transplantation have emerged in an attempt to minimize side effects and improve outcomes (NCT00936819).

### Mesenchymal Stem Cells

The MSC, an adult stem cell with self-replication and multilineage differentiation capacity, represents a promising adult stem cell for regenerative medicine. MSCs can be isolated from a variety of tissues such as heart, adipose, umbilical cord/umbilical cord blood, and BM, although whether they all share common cardiopoietic and immunomodulatory properties remains unclear [73]. MSCs lack hematopoietic lineage markers such as CD14, CD34, and CD45 and express specific stromal cell-surface markers such as Stro1, CD105, CD90, and CD71. They adhere to plastic surfaces and grow as cell monolayers without losing their stem cell phenotype. Furthermore, they have reduced expression levels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class-I molecule and lack MHC class-II (although interferon-gamma will induce MHC class-II) and costimulatory molecules CD80 (B7-1), CD86 (B7-2), and CD40. MSCs are therefore the prototypic immunoprivileged cell-based therapy and have been tested in phase I double-blind, randomized clinical trials as an allogeneic graft [75,76,95,124,125].

The mechanism of action of MSCs as a cardiac regenerative agent appears to be multifactorial. Although definite evidence is reported of their in vivo transdifferentiation into cardiovascular elements, the degree to which they differentiate does not fully explain their substantial cardiac reparative properties [90,126,127]. Indeed, MSCs appear to have additional powerful effects mediated by secreted factors and cytokines that evoke the therapeutic response [10,75,94,95]. However, data document that MSCs facilitate cardiac regeneration through mechanisms that involve both differentiation and paracrine stimulation of innate repair pathways [10,90,128]. In particular, MSCs seem to have a unique capacity to gain control over the endogenous c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac precursor cell content and establish the necessary cardiopoietic cues that instruct the latter to regenerate a myocardial scar [10,80,90,92,113,129].

In various animal models of AMI, intramyocardial injection of MSCs prevents ventricular remodeling by reducing scar formation, leading to a net improvement in myocardial function (Fig. 17.7) [126,127]. However, some studies in mice with AMI failed to show a sustained benefit of MSC therapy despite an early benefit [73]. In patients with AMI, intracoronary MSC infusion improved myocardial perfusion and function and reduced LV end-systolic and end-diastolic volumes [130]. In another small study, combined intracoronary administration of MSC and EPC improved perfusion and contractility of the infarcted area [131]. Although early uncontrolled animal studies suggested that intracoronary injection of MSCs could induce coronary artery occlusion and MI [132], this was not observed in humans [130]. A 53-patient, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase I clinical study of allogeneic MSCs administered intravenously within 10 days after AMI demonstrated acute and long-term safety of the approach [124]. Although this study was primarily designed to test safety, four domains of prespecified safety monitoring supported an improved outcome in the patients treated with cells. These included a reduction in malignant ventricular arrhythmias, improved pulmonary function, an improved EF in the subset of patients with anterior MI, and finally, an improved patient well-being score at 6 months [124]. These provocative data led to the conduct of a completed phase II study, the results of which will be reported (NCT00877903). Similarly, in the Action in Diabetes and Vascular Disease: Preterax and Diamicron Modified Release Controlled Evaluation (NCT01216995) and Allogeneic Mesenchymal Precursor Cell Infusion in Myocardial Infarction (NCT01781390) trials, patients with AMI were treated with adipose tissue-derived or STRO3-selected BM MSCs, respectively, via the intracoronary route. A third clinical study in which patients with AMI are treated with STRO3-selected MSCs via intramyocardial injection is also under way (NCT00555828).

The safety and efficacy of MSC-based therapeutics has also been demonstrated in patients with chronic ischemic heart disease. The Prevention of Contrast Renal Injury With Different Hydration Strategies [76] and Transendocardial Injection of Autologous Human Cells in Chronic Ischemic Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Heart Failure Secondary to Myocardial Infarction [77] trials compared autologous BM MSCs versus allogeneic MSCs and BMMNCs respectively, delivered transendocardially in patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathies. Both studies demonstrated that at 1 year, treatment with MSCs, but not BMMNCs, resulted in scar size reductions and improved contractility and functional capacity and reversal of LV remodeling (Fig. 17.8). Similarly, a phase I/II, randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study of the safety and efficacy of intramyocardial injection of autologous MSCs in patients with chronic ischemic LV dysfunction resulting from MI undergoing cardiac surgery for coronary artery bypass grafting (the Prospective Randomized Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery trial) found that MSC injections into akinetic yet nonrevascularized segments produces comprehensive regional functional restitution compared with revascularized and non–MSC treated segments, which in turn drives improvement in global LV function [78].

In a rat model of nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy, intramyocardial injection of MSC exerted antifibrotic effects and improved myocardial perfusion and function [133]. Similarly, a randomized study comparing allogeneic versus autologous MSCs in 37 patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy (Percutaneous Stem Cell Injection Delivery Effects on Neomyogenesis in Dilated Cardiomyopathy Trial, NCT01392625) revealed that intramyocardial injection of MSCs was highly safe and efficacious [75]. Strikingly, this study demonstrated that patients receiving



FIGURE 17.7 (A) Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) can provide a safe allogeneic source for cell-based therapies. Their mechanisms of action are believed to be multifaceted because activation of innate (stimulation of angiogenesis, cardiomyocyte proliferation, and cardiac stem cell [CSC] mobilization) and exogenous (differentiation onto cardiovascular lineages) repair pathways have been reported. (B) Prevention of remodeling in the porcine heart. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging and multidetector computed tomography document the development of a subendocardial rim after MSC transplantation in the damaged zones of infarcted hearts. The newly formed tissue rendered an approximately 50% decrease in infarct size and restoration of the heart function. (C) Reverse remodeling induced by MSC injection in the porcine heart. *BM-HSCs*, bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells.

allogeneic therapy benefited more than did those receiving autologous cells, as indicated by significant differences in EF, 6-min walk test, Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire, endothelial function, and, most important, a dramatic remodeling of immune cells toward a less inflammatory/exhausted phenotype [75] (Fig. 17.9). These findings are on par with earlier reports indicating that EPCs and BMMNCs from patients with established coronary heart disease or cardiovascular risk factors show impaired proliferating and migratory capacity [134,135]. Therefore, treatment of patients with cardiovascular diseases with MSCs obtained from healthy donors may be equally safe as and more advantageous than using autologous MSCs.

The total database of studies of MSC therapy for ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathies includes several proof-of-concept clinical trials described previously. Together, these studies illustrate that MSCs can be used successfully as either autologous or allogeneic grafts to treat heart disease [73]. Although safety has served as the primary end point thus far, an overall provisional efficacy of MSCs on reversing heart disease has also been strongly suggested. All studies report significant improvements in cardiac function accompanied by a substantial reduction in scar size. As a result, MSCs are now in phase III trials for AMI and chronic MI. In a phase I Cardiopoietic Stem Cell



FIGURE 17.8 Transendocardial Injection of Autologous Human Cells (bone marrow or mesenchymal) in Chronic Ischemic Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Heart Failure Secondary to Myocardial Infarction trial: percent change in scar size as a percentage of left ventricular mass and impact on functional capacity. (A) The 14 patients treated with mesenchymal stem cells exhibited a significant reduction in scar size (P = .004) as a

Therapy in Heart Failure trial, patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy who received intramyocardial injection of autologous BM MSCs pretreated with a cardiogenic cocktail reported significant improvements in LVEF, left ventricular end-diastolic volume, functional capacity, and quality of life compared with those receiving the standard of care [136]. This strategy was not borne out in the phase III Congestive Heart Failure Cardiopoietic Regenerative Therapy study, which used a composite end point (all-cause mortality, worsening HF, Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire score, 6-min walk distance, LV end-systolic volume, and ejection fraction) to evaluate the safety and efficacy of autologous MSCs pretreated with the cardiopoietic cocktail to treat ischemic heart failure. Although the procedure was safe, efficacy between groups at 39 weeks posttreatment (the primary outcome measure) was neutral [137].

### Myoblasts

Skeletal myoblasts were the first contractile cell type transplanted in the infarcted heart with the goal of restoring cardiac function [138]. These cells can be purified from the skeletal muscle of the patient; after expansion into therapeutic quantities, they can be transplanted into the myocardium. Transplantation of these cells to the heart is accomplished either surgically or by a catheter delivery system [139]. There have been several well-conducted phase I/II clinical studies [140–142]. The Medical Research Council Adjuvant Gastric Infusional Chemotherapy trial revealed that there was a dose-dependent attenuation in LV remodeling, but that it was not accompanied by functional improvements in cardiac function (Fig. 17.10). In addition, compared with MSCs, there are concerns that skeletal myoblast can precipitate arrhythmias (Fig. 17.10C) [140,142].

In experimental models of AMI, intramyocardial injection of myoblasts preserves myocardial function and abrogates the remodeling process [143]. Myoblasts can differentiate into slow-twitch myotubes in the infarcted area, which can contribute to myocardial systole [143]. It has been suggested that skeletal muscle—derived stem cells have greater potential for myocyte regeneration than myoblasts and can also stimulate innate angiogenesis. This cell population appears to be more effective in improving myocardial perfusion and contractility and attenuating remodeling in animal models of MI [144]. The failure of myoblasts to improve cardiac function in humans has been attributed to their inability to differentiate into cardiac myocytes and the in situ development of dysfunctional electrical coupling with resident cardiomyocytes (Fig. 17.10) [145]. Accordingly, some studies are focused on identifying and characterizing a more cardiogenic skeletal muscle-derived cell population that may improve cardiac repair [146].

However, studies have indicated that transplantation of skeletal myoblasts, bioengineered ex vivo into cell sheets, in patients with HF caused by ischemic heart disease is safe, nonarrhythmogenic, and clinically advantageous in facilitating LV reverse remodeling, improving HF symptoms, and preventing cardiac death, compared with cardiac resynchronization therapy [141]. Based on these studies, the Japanese government issued a 5-year conditional approval of autologous skeletal myoblast sheet transplantation as the first cell-based regenerative medicine product worldwide for use in patients with severe HF (EF < 35%; III or IV on the New York Heart Association functional classification scale) [147].

### **Cardiac Stem Cells**

CSCs are tissue-specific stem cells that reside within the heart itself. Cardiac progenitors were first reported in 2002, when Hierlihy et al. detected robust SP cells in the postnatal murine heart that expressed the adenosine triphosphate—binding cassette transporter Abcg2 and extruded Hoechst dye [148]. These cells represented about 1% of total cardiac cells and differentiated into cardiac myocytes in vitro. After this observation, in 2003, two different groups, Beltrami et al. [46] and Oh et al. [64], reported the isolation and characterization of two novel CSCs from the murine heart. These resident stem cells have been reported to correspond to 0.01%–2% (or approximately 1 CSC for every 13,000 cardiomyocytes) of the total cell population of the human heart and are mostly

percentage of left ventricular mass; there were no differences for the 15 patients treated with bone marrow cells or the 16 patients in the placebo group. (B) Short-axis and long-axis views of the basal area of a patient's heart, with delayed tissue enhancement delineated at the septal wall (short axis) and anterior and inferior walls (long axis) as well as the entire apex (long axis). Delayed tissue enhancement corresponds to scarred tissue and is depicted as brighter than the nonscarred tissue. The *red, green, and white lines* demarcate the endocardial and epicardial contours and borders of the segments, respectively. Twelve months after injection of mesenchymal stem cells, the scar mass was reduced from 30.85 g at baseline to 21.17 g (short axis) and delayed tissue enhancement receded in the midinferior and basal anterior walls (long axis). (C) Patients in the mesenchymal stem cell group exhibited a significant increase in 6-min walk distance when 6- and 12-mo time points were compared with baseline in a repeated-measures model (P = .03). No significant difference was observed for patients in the bone marrow cell group (P = .73) or the placebo group (P = .25). *ANOVA*, analysis of variance. *Adapted from Golpanian S, Wolf A, Hatzistergos KE, Hare JM. Rebuilding the damaged heart: mesenchymal stem cells, cell-based therapy, and engineered heart tissue. Physiol Rev 2016;96:1127–68. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00019.2015.*


FIGURE 17.9 Cell therapy with allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) may be more beneficial than autologous MSCs in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy of nonischemic etiology (NIDCM). One-year results from a randomized comparison of allogeneic versus autologous MSC therapy in patients with NIDCM (Percutaneous Stem Cell Injection Delivery Effects on Neomyogenesis in Dilated Cardiomyopathy Trial) support that treatment of heart failure with MSCs may be further improved if the cells are of a healthy allogeneic rather than autologous origin. More specifically, treatment with allogeneic MSCs (Allo hMSCs) from young, healthy donors, results in greater improvements in 6-min walk test (6-MWT) (A), New York Heart Association class change (B), ejection fraction (C), and Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire scores (MLHFQ) (D) compared with autologous MSCs. In addition, endothelial function is significantly improved, as indicated by the amount of endothelial progenitor colony-forming units (EPC-CFUs) from peripheral blood samples (E) and percent changes in flow-mediated vasodilation (FMD) brachial artery diameter (F). *Solid blue circle*, Allo hMSC; *solid red triangle*, Auto hMSC. *Adapted from Hare JM*, *DiFede DL*, *Castellanos AM*, *Florea V*, *Landin AM*, *El-Khorazaty J*, *Khan A*, *Mushtaq M*, *Lowery MH*, *Byrnes JJ*, *et al. Randomized comparison of allogeneic Vs*. *Autologous mesenchymal stem cells for non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol November 14*, 2016.pii: S0735-1097(16)36906-6.

recognized according to the expression of three cell-surface markers: c-Kit (the receptor for stem cell factor), multidrug resistance protein-1 (MDR-1), and/or Sca-1. CSCs are self-renewing, clonogenic, and multipotent and are able to differentiate both in vitro and in vivo into myogenic, endothelial, and vascular smooth muscle lineages. Two different methods for isolating human CSCs have been reported, but whether the purified cells share the same properties is yet unknown. The first method involves homogenizing relatively large amounts of cardiac tissue (about 30–60 mg for successful isolation) and subsequent antibody-based selection of CSCs [45]. The applicability of this method is limited to patients who undergo major cardiac interventions such as coronary artery bypass grafting, left ventricular assist device placement, or heart transplantation. The second method has been adapted from the field of neurological sciences and involves the culture of a single biopsy from which CSCs are selected with antibodies as a subpopulation of the outgrowing cells. Alternatively, CSCs can be selected without using antibodies, based on their sphere-forming property [149]. The discovery of adult CSCs represents a major biological discovery furthering understanding of cardiac pathophysiology and facilitating cardiac cell—based therapeutics.



**FIGURE 17.10** (A) Experimental studies have shown that skeletal fibroblasts engraft and survive in the damaged myocardium. However, these contractile cells do not express gap junctional proteins such as connexin-43 and fail to couple with the host myocytes. As a result, the transplanted cells cannot propagate the conduction signals, resulting in an arrhythmogenic substrate. (B) In the Medical Research Council Adjuvant Gastric Infusional Chemotherapy trial, patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy who received skeletal myoblasts were more prone to developing arrhythmias compared with the placebo-treated group. (C) Mesenchymal stem cell, in contrast, have an antiarrhythmic effect. *CABG*, coronary artery bypass grafting.

# c-Kit<sup>+</sup> Cardiac Stem Cells

c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs represent a promising candidate for cardiac-specific stem cell lineages. This cell type is described in multiple species ranging from rodents to large animals to humans and is likely heterogenous in nature [15]. Endogenous cardiac repair mechanisms are thought to involve the mobilization of c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs to areas of cardiac injury soon after infarction [90,150]. However, genetic lineage fate-mapping experiments in mice suggested that endogenous cardiomyocyte regeneration from adult c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs is likely minimal [49]. On the other hand, animal studies support that implantation of culture-expanded c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs, genetically modified or not, can reduce infarct size and improve cardiac function, largely through paracrine effects [151,152] (Fig. 17.11). These findings led to the Cardiac Stem Cells in Patients With Ischemic Cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO) trial, the first phase I clinical trial of c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs in patients with ischemic heart disease (www.clinicaltrials.gov, NCT00474461). The 1-year follow-up results from the SCIPIO trial support that intracoronary infusion of one million autologous c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs in patients with HF of ischemic etiology undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting is safe and feasible and may promote significant improvements in global and regional LV function, decrease scar size, and induce regeneration of viable myocardium [153].

# Other Cardiac Stem Cells

Sca-1<sup>+</sup> CSCs are an alternative adult CSC. Evaluation of the corresponding human cell is limited by the absence of the Sca-1 antigen in humans [154]. Lineage fate-mapping studies in mice indicate that Sca-1<sup>+</sup> CSCs likely represent a subpopulation of pdgfr $\alpha^+$  adult epicardial progenitor cells that, similar to c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs, minimally contribute to endogenous cardiomyocyte regeneration in response to myocardial damage [60,69,70]. The Isl-1<sup>+</sup> progenitors



**FIGURE 17.11** Genetic engineering of adult cardiac stem cells (CSCs) to enhance their therapeutic potential in response to myocardial damage. (A) Representative confocal microscopy image illustrating engraftment of human CSCs (green fluorescence), genetically engineered to overexpress the proto-oncogene protein kinase Pim1 (red fluorescence), in a porcine heart with experimental myocardial infarction. (B) Representative examples of delayed enhancement of the myocardium using gadolinium cardiac magnetic resonance images from placebo, CSC, or Pim1-overexpressing human CSC (hCSC)-treated animals depict the progress of the delayed enhancement at the same location throughout different points during the study. (C, D) At 4 and 8 weeks postinjection, both cell-treated groups exhibited improved ejection fraction and decreased scar formation compared with placebo. However, the PIM1-engineered CSCs exhibited three times greater antifibrotic effects compared with conventional CSCs. *MI*, myocardial infarction. *Adapted from Kulandavelu S, Karantalis, V, Fritsch, J, Hatzistergos, KE, Loescher, VY, McCall, F, Wang, B, Bagno, L, Golpanian, S, Wolf, A, et al. Pim1 kinase overexpression enhances c-kit+ cardiac stem cell cardiac repair following myocardial infarction in Swine. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;68:2454–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.09.925.* 

have been isolated only from embryonic and very young murine cardiac tissues that do not exceed age 8 days [4]. Early studies suggested that they possibly represent cell remnants from the secondary heart field during embryonic development [26,53]. However, later studies indicated that a neural crest origin is also possible [56]. Isl-1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts have not yet been isolated from human heart tissue, but they have been derived in the laboratory from human pluripotent stem cells [53]. Genetic lineage-tracing experiments in mice have failed to document the contribution of postnatal Isl-1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts in endogenous cardiomyocyte regeneration in response to damage [59]. Abcg2<sup>+</sup> SP cells are a cardiac precursor cell population found in rodent hearts [148]. However, although immunohistological studies have documented the existence of MDR-1<sup>+</sup> and Abcg2<sup>+</sup> cells in the postnatal human heart [41], isolation and expansion of these cells into therapeutic quantities have yet to be reported.

# METHODS FOR EXPANSION OF ADULT CARDIAC STEM CELLS

Two general mechanisms have been employed to isolate and expand CSCs. These are antigen-panning techniques to identify cells such as c-Kit, sca-1, or abcg-2 or direct cell amplification. In the latter case, cells can be readily amplified from cardiac explants. These have been termed cardiospheres (CSs).

## Cardiosphere Forming Cells

There have been several attempts to culture cells from the adult heart. Messina and colleagues reported on "cardiospheres" (CSs) structures akin to "neurospheres: [149]. CSs are self-aggregating structures arising from cultured cardiac cells and represent a heterogeneous population possessing cardiopoietic properties in vitro and in vivo [63]. CSs can be derived from human biopsies and are reported to contain CD105<sup>+</sup>, c-Kit+, Sca-1+, and Flk1+ cells. When cocultured with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes, they transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes, demonstrating calcium transients synchronous among the myocytes as well as spontaneous action potentials. When injected into infarcted rat hearts, ventricular function improved. In a study by Johnston et al., CSCs were injected into a porcine model of MI and were shown to abbreviate but not reverse progressive cardiac remodeling [155].

Cardiospheres represent a potential therapeutic opportunity because of their ability to expand potential cardiac stromal cells from smaller amounts of myocardial tissue, such as a cardiac biopsy. Cardiospheres are incompletely characterized, and whether they offer regenerative capacities superior to BM-derived or other stem cells will require formal testing. CS-derived cells (CDCs) have entered clinical trials [156]. The Intracoronary Cardiosphere-Derived Autologous Stem Cells to Reverse Ventricular Dysfunction trial was a phase I randomized, dose-escalation study of the safety and efficacy of intracoronary delivery of cardiosphere-derived stem cells in patients with ischemic LV dysfunction and a recent MI [156]. Patients who received infusion of CDCs exhibited an increase in viable heart mass, regional contractility, regional systolic wall thickening, and a reduction in scar mass. However, compared with c-Kit<sup>+</sup> CSCs [153], CDC infusion did not improve LV end-systolic volume, end-diastolic volume, or EF [156]. Although early reports suggested that infused CDCs improve heart function via trilineage differentiation into cardiovascular derivatives [63], more recent studies indicate that the beneficial effects of CDC therapy are likely through paracrine signaling, such as secretion of exosomes [93].

# COMBINED STEM CELL THERAPEUTICS

An intriguing effect of MSC therapy in response to ischemic heart damage is their ability to stimulate endogenous CSCs [10,90,92,97,129]. This observation has led to the hypothesis that mixing the two stem cell classes together may yield additive effects compared with each cell type alone. This hypothesis was explored in two proof-of-concept preclinical studies in a porcine model of experimental MI [80,113]. In the first study, intramyocardial injection of 200 million human MSCs combined with one million human CSCs in immunosuppressed pigs 2 weeks after MI resulted in twofold greater reductions in scar size and an increase in cell engraftment by sevenfold compared with treatment with each cell type alone. Moreover, these effects were accompanied by significant improvements in diastolic and systolic function (Fig. 17.12) [80]. The second study tested the combination of autologous MSCs and CSCs in a porcine model of chronic MI, to model its clinical application for HF more accurately. Again, combined transplantation of MSCs and CSCs resulted in significant reductions in scar size and increased viable tissue and cardiac function, which were accompanied by significant increases in endogenous cardiomyocyte mitosis [113]. These promising preclinical results are being tested in the Combination of Mesenchymal and C-kit+ Cardiac Stem Cells as Regenerative Therapy for Heart Failure trial, a multicenter phase II, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial designed to assess the feasibility, safety, and effect of autologous MSCs and CSCs both alone and combined compared with placebo as well as each other, administered by transendocardial injection in subjects with ischemic cardiomyopathy (NCT02501811). This ongoing trial, which is conducted by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's Cardiovascular Cell Therapy Research Network, will examine 144 patients. The results of this trial are highly anticipated and should provide future direction to the field.

Another promising approach of combined cell therapeutics is the mixture of adult BM MSCs with M2 macrophages [157]. Although the exact mechanism(s) of action remain unknown, it is hypothesized that this strategy combines the salutary effects of MSCs with the antiinflammatory actions of M2 macrophages to stimulate heart



**FIGURE 17.12** Combination cell therapy with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and cardiac stem cell (CSCs). (A, B) Infarct size reduction after human CSC (hCSC) and bone marrow human MSC (hMSC) therapy in a xenogenic porcine model of myocardial infarction. Reduction in (A) absolute (Abs) infarct size and (B) infarct size as a percentage of left ventricular mass shows that all stem cell–treated pigs had reduced infarct size compared with placebo and combination therapy had substantially greater scar size reduction compared with either hMSC alone or hCSC alone. (C) Retention of Alu<sup>+</sup> human stem cells was sevenfold higher when hCSCs and hMSCs were injected together compared with either cell type administered alone. Immunohistochemical-stained images showing clusters of Alu-positive human stem cells (*white arrows*) engrafted in the (H) infarct territory and (I) vasculature at 4 weeks posttransplantation. *Adapted from Williams AR, Hatzistergos KE, Addicott B, McCall F, Carvalho D, Suncion V, Morales AR, Da Silva J, Sussman MA, Heldman AW. Enhanced effect of combining human cardiac stem cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to reduce infarct size and to restore cardiac function after myocardial Infarction Clinical perspective. Circulation 2013;127:213–23.* 

repair. This hypothesis was initially tested in two open-label phase 2A trials, the Use of Ixmyelocel-T (Formerly Catheter-based Cardiac Repair Cell [CRC]) Treatment in Patients With Heart Failure Due to Dilated Cardiomyopathy [158]. In these trials, a total of 61 patients with congestive HF caused by ischemic or nonischemic cardiomyopathy were randomized to be treated with standard of care or transendocardial injections of ixmyelocel-T, an autologous BM cell product that underwent a 200-fold enrichment in CD45<sup>+</sup>/CD14<sup>+</sup> M2 macrophages and a 50-fold enrichment in CD90<sup>+</sup> MSCs before transplantation. The results showed that the combination cell therapy significantly reduced major adverse events and improved symptoms in patients with ischemic heart disease but had no benefit in patients with nonischemic heart disease. These findings prompted the Ixmyelocel-T Administered Via Transendocardial Catheter-Based Injections to Subjects With Heart Failure Due to Ischemic Dilated Cardiomyopathy ix study, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2B trial in which 126 patients with HF resulting from ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy were randomized to ixmyelocel-T (n = 66) or placebo (n = 60) [157]. The study is considered successful because it met its prespecified primary efficacy end point: a composite measure of the total number of clinical cardiac events as defined by all-cause deaths, cardiovascular admissions to hospital, or unplanned outpatient and emergency departments visits to treat acutely decompensated HF during the 12 months after administration of study treatment. However, the improved clinical outcome was not accompanied by significant improvements in LV function. Furthermore, only 109 of the 126 patients who were enrolled were finally included in the per-protocol primary efficacy analysis (58 in the ixmyelocel-T group and 51 in the placebo group), whereas the remainder of the patients were excluded for a variety of reasons including protocol violation, inadequate cell product, or catheterization/injection procedure-related adverse events that occurred within 7 days of treatment.

# CONCLUSIONS

We have witnessed the rapid development of mechanistic and clinical trial support for the notion of a new paradigm in treating heart disease based on cellular therapeutics. Several important insights have emerged supporting this paradigm: (1) the discovery that the heart has capacity for self-renewal and harbors reservoirs of precursor cells that can be tapped or manipulated for therapeutic benefit; (2) remote cell sources, notably BM, also contain cellular constituents with profound therapeutic potential; and (3) cell-based therapies have a remarkable safety profile and can be delivered by diverse methodologies that range from intravenous administration in AMI to directed catheter-based injection systems in chronic HF. An emerging database of clinical trials and fundamental scientific enquiry provides a foundation for this strategy and holds promise for a treatment strategy aimed at a key pathophysiologic target in heart disease, that of ventricular remodeling.

# References

- Beltrami AP, Urbanek K, Kajstura J, Yan SM, Finato N, Bussani R, Nadal-Ginard B, Silvestri F, Leri A, Beltrami CA, et al. Evidence that human cardiac myocytes divide after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1750–7.
- [2] Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabe-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J, Alkass K, Buchholz BA, Druid H, et al. Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 2009;324:98–102.
- [3] Hatzistergos KE, Takeuchi LM, Saur D, Seidler B, Dymecki SM, Mai JJ, White IA, Balkan W, Kanashiro-Takeuchi RM, Schally AV, et al. cKit+ cardiac progenitors of neural crest origin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112:13051–6.
- [4] Laugwitz KL, Moretti A, Lam J, Gruber P, Chen Y, Woodard S, Lin LZ, Cai CL, Lu MM, Reth M, et al. Postnatal isl1+ cardioblasts enter fully differentiated cardiomyocyte lineages. Nature 2005;433:647–53.
- [5] Smart N, Bollini S, Dube KN, Vieira JM, Zhou B, Davidson S, Yellon D, Riegler J, Price AN, Lythgoe MF, et al. De novo cardiomyocytes from within the activated adult heart after injury. Nature 2011;474:640–4.
- [6] Wu JM, Hsueh YC, Ch'ang HJ, Luo CY, Wu LW, Nakauchi H, Hsieh PC. Circulating cells contribute to cardiomyocyte regeneration after injury. Circ Res 2015;116:633–41.
- [7] Abdel-Latif A, Bolli R, Tleyjeh IM, Montori VM, Perin EC, Hornung CA, Zuba-Surma EK, Al-Mallah M, Dawn B. Adult bone marrow-derived cells for cardiac repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2007;167:989–97.
- [8] Fioret BA, Heimfeld JD, Paik DT, Hatzopoulos AK. Endothelial cells contribute to generation of adult ventricular myocytes during cardiac homeostasis. Cell Rep 2014;8:229–41.
- [9] Gago-Lopez N, Awaji O, Zhang Y, Ko C, Nsair A, Liem D, Stempien-Otero A, MacLellan WR. THY-1 receptor expression differentiates cardiosphere-derived cells with divergent cardiogenic differentiation potential. Stem Cell Rep 2014;2:576–91.
- [10] Hatzistergos KE, Saur D, Seidler B, Balkan W, Breton M, Valasaki K, Takeuchi LM, Landin AM, Khan A, Hare JM. Stimulatory effects of MSCs on cKit+ cardiac stem cells are mediated by SDF1/CXCR4 and SCF/ckit signaling pathways. Circ Res 2016;119:921–30.
- [11] Porrello ER, Mahmoud AI, Simpson E, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Olson EN, Sadek HA. Transient regenerative potential of the neonatal mouse heart. Science 2011;331:1078–80.
- [12] Tallini YN, Greene KS, Craven M, Spealman A, Breitbach M, Smith J, Fisher PJ, Steffey M, Hesse M, Doran RM, et al. c-kit expression identifies cardiovascular precursors in the neonatal heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:1808–13.
- [13] Garry DJ, Olson EN. A common progenitor at the heart of development. Cell 2006;127:1101-4.
- [14] Lam JT, Moretti A, Laugwitz KL. Multipotent progenitor cells in regenerative cardiovascular medicine. Pediatr Cardiol 2009;30:690-8.
- [15] Hatzistergos KE, Hare JM. Murine models demonstrate distinct vasculogenic and cardiomyogenic cKit+ lineages in the heart. Circ Res 2016; 118:382–7.
- [16] Yi BA, Wernet O, Chien KR. Pregenerative medicine: developmental paradigms in the biology of cardiovascular regeneration. J Clin Invest 2010;120:20–8.
- [17] Kelly RG, Brown NA, Buckingham ME. The arterial pole of the mouse heart forms from Fgf10-expressing cells in pharyngeal mesoderm. Dev Cell 2001;1:435–40.
- [18] Kirby ML, Gale TF, Stewart DE. Neural crest cells contribute to normal aorticopulmonary septation. Science 1983;220:1059–61.
- [19] Komiyama M, Ito K, Shimada Y. Origin and development of the epicardium in the mouse embryo. Anat Embryol 1987;176:183-9.
- [20] Mjaatvedt CH, Nakaoka T, Moreno-Rodriguez R, Norris RA, Kern MJ, Eisenberg CA, Turner D, Markwald RR. The outflow tract of the heart is recruited from a novel heart-forming field. Dev Biol 2001;238:97–109.
- [21] Waldo KL, Kumiski DH, Wallis KT, Stadt HA, Hutson MR, Platt DH, Kirby ML. Conotruncal myocardium arises from a secondary heart field. Development 2001;128:3179–88.
- [22] Lopez-Sanchez C, Garcia-Martinez V. Molecular determinants of cardiac specification. Cardiovasc Res 2011;91:185-95.
- [23] Tam PP, Parameswaran M, Kinder SJ, Weinberger RP. The allocation of epiblast cells to the embryonic heart and other mesodermal lineages: the role of ingression and tissue movement during gastrulation. Development 1997;124:1631–42.
- [24] Lescroart F, Chabab S, Lin X, Rulands S, Paulissen C, Rodolosse A, Auer H, Achouri Y, Dubois C, Bondue A, et al. Early lineage restriction in temporally distinct populations of Mesp1 progenitors during mammalian heart development. Nat Cell Biol 2014;16:829–40.
- [25] Meilhac SM, Esner M, Kelly RG, Nicolas JF, Buckingham ME. The clonal origin of myocardial cells in different regions of the embryonic mouse heart. Dev Cell 2004;6:685–98.
- [26] Cai CL, Liang X, Shi Y, Chu PH, Pfaff SL, Chen J, Evans S. Isl1 identifies a cardiac progenitor population that proliferates prior to differentiation and contributes a majority of cells to the heart. Dev Cell 2003;5:877–89.
- [27] Evans SM, Yelon D, Conlon FL, Kirby ML. Myocardial lineage development. Circ Res 2010;107:1428-44.

267

#### 17. CARDIAC STEM CELLS: BIOLOGY AND THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS

- [28] Cai CL, Martin JC, Sun Y, Cui L, Wang L, Ouyang K, Yang L, Bu L, Liang X, Zhang X, et al. A myocardial lineage derives from Tbx18 epicardial cells. Nature 2008;454:104–8.
- [29] van Wijk B, van den Hoff M. Epicardium and myocardium originate from a common cardiogenic precursor pool. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2010;20:1–7.
- [30] Zhou B, Ma Q, Rajagopal S, Wu SM, Domian I, Rivera-Feliciano J, Jiang D, von GA, Ikeda S, Chien KR, et al. Epicardial progenitors contribute to the cardiomyocyte lineage in the developing heart. Nature 2008;454:109–13.
- [31] Christoffels VM, Grieskamp T, Norden J, Mommersteeg MT, Rudat C, Kispert A. Tbx18 and the fate of epicardial progenitors. Nature 2009; 458:E8-9.
- [32] Iyer D, Gambardella L, Bernard WG, Serrano F, Mascetti VL, Pedersen RA, Talasila A, Sinha S. Robust derivation of epicardium and its differentiated smooth muscle cell progeny from human pluripotent stem cells. Development 2015;142:1528–41.
- [33] Rudat C, Kispert A. Wt1 and epicardial fate mapping. Circ Res 2012;111:165–9.
- [34] Witty AD, Mihic A, Tam RY, Fisher SA, Mikryukov A, Shoichet MS, Li RK, Kattman SJ, Keller G. Generation of the epicardial lineage from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32:1026–35.
- [35] O'Rahilly R, Muller F. The development of the neural crest in the human. J Anat 2007;211:335-51.
- [36] Kirby ML, Hutson MR. Factors controlling cardiac neural crest cell migration. Cell Adhes Migrat 2010;4:609-21.
- [37] Basch ML, Bronner-Fraser M, Garcia-Castro MI. Specification of the neural crest occurs during gastrulation and requires Pax7. Nature 2006; 441:218–22.
- [38] Li YX, Zdanowicz M, Young L, Kumiski D, Leatherbury L, Kirby ML. Cardiac neural crest in zebrafish embryos contributes to myocardial cell lineage and early heart function. Dev Dynam 2003;226:540–50.
- [39] Sato M, Yost HJ. Cardiac neural crest contributes to cardiomyogenesis in zebrafish. Dev Biol 2003;257:127–39.
- [40] Tomita Y, Matsumura K, Wakamatsu Y, Matsuzaki Y, Shibuya I, Kawaguchi H, Ieda M, Kanakubo S, Shimazaki T, Ogawa S, et al. Cardiac neural crest cells contribute to the dormant multipotent stem cell in the mammalian heart. J Cell Biol 2005;170:1135–46.
- [41] Quaini F, Urbanek K, Beltrami AP, Finato N, Beltrami CA, Nadal-Ginard B, Kajstura J, Leri A, Anversa P. Chimerism of the transplanted heart. N Engl J Med 2002;346:5–15.
- [42] Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL, Yang VK, Cai L, Wang M, Wu TD, Guerquin-Kern JL, Lechene CP, Lee RT. Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 2013;493:433–6.
- [43] Anversa P, Kajstura J, Rota M, Leri A. Regenerating new heart with stem cells. J Clin Invest 2013;123:62–70.
- [44] Hsieh PC, Segers VF, Davis ME, MacGillivray C, Gannon J, Molkentin JD, Robbins J, Lee RT. Evidence from a genetic fate-mapping study that stem cells refresh adult mammalian cardiomyocytes after injury. Nat Med 2007;13:970–4.
- [45] Bearzi C, Rota M, Hosoda T, Tillmanns J, Nascimbene A, De AA, Yasuzawa-Amano S, Trofimova I, Siggins RW, Lecapitaine N, et al. Human cardiac stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:14068–73.
- [46] Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S, Kasahara H, Rota M, Musso E, Urbanek K, et al. Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. Cell 2003;114:763–76.
- [47] Bolli R, Chugh AR, D'Amario D, Loughran JH, Stoddard MF, Ikram S, Beache GM, Wagner SG, Leri A, Hosoda T, et al. Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO): initial results of a randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 2011;378:1847–57.
- [48] Liu Q, Yang R, Huang X, Zhang H, He L, Zhang L, Tian X, Nie Y, Hu S, Yan Y, et al. Genetic lineage tracing identifies in situ Kit-expressing cardiomyocytes. Cell Res 2016;26:119–30.
- [49] van Berlo JH, Kanisicak O, Maillet M, Vagnozzi RJ, Karch J, Lin SC, Middleton RC, Marban E, Molkentin JD. c-kit+ cells minimally contribute cardiomyocytes to the heart. Nature 2014;509:337–41.
- [50] Sultana N, Zhang L, Yan J, Chen J, Cai W, Razzaque S, Jeong D, Sheng W, Bu L, Xu M, et al. Resident c-kit(+) cells in the heart are not cardiac stem cells. Nat Commun 2015;6:8701.
- [51] Wu SM, Fujiwara Y, Cibulsky SM, Clapham DE, Lien CL, Schultheiss TM, Orkin SH. Developmental origin of a bipotential myocardial and smooth muscle cell precursor in the mammalian heart. Cell 2006;127:1137–50.
- [52] Kubin T, Poling J, Kostin S, Gajawada P, Hein S, Rees W, Wietelmann A, Tanaka M, Lorchner H, Schimanski S, et al. Oncostatin M is a major mediator of cardiomyocyte dedifferentiation and remodeling. Cell Stem Cell 2011;9:420–32.
- [53] Bu L, Jiang X, Martin-Puig S, Caron L, Zhu S, Shao Y, Roberts DJ, Huang PL, Domian IJ, Chien KR. Human ISL1 heart progenitors generate diverse multipotent cardiovascular cell lineages. Nature 2009;460:113–7.
- [54] Domian IJ, Chiravuri M, van der MP, Feinberg AW, Shi X, Shao Y, Wu SM, Parker KK, Chien KR. Generation of functional ventricular heart muscle from mouse ventricular progenitor cells. Science 2009;326:426–9.
- [55] Moretti A, Caron L, Nakano A, Lam JT, Bernshausen A, Chen Y, Qyang Y, Bu L, Sasaki M, Martin-Puig S, et al. Multipotent embryonic isl1+ progenitor cells lead to cardiac, smooth muscle, and endothelial cell diversification. Cell 2006;127:1151–65.
- [56] Engleka KA, Manderfield LJ, Brust RD, Li L, Cohen A, Dymecki SM, Epstein JA. Islet1 derivatives in the heart are of both neural crest and second heart field origin. Circ Res 2012;110:922–6.
- [57] Khattar P, Friedrich FW, Bonne G, Carrier L, Eschenhagen T, Evans SM, Schwartz K, Fiszman MY, Vilquin JT. Distinction between two populations of islet-1-positive cells in hearts of different murine strains. Stem Cells Dev 2011;20:1043–52.
- [58] Sun Y, Liang X, Najafi N, Cass M, Lin L, Cai CL, Chen J, Evans SM. Islet 1 is expressed in distinct cardiovascular lineages, including pacemaker and coronary vascular cells. Dev Biol 2007;304:286–96.
- [59] Weinberger F, Mehrkens D, Friedrich FW, Stubbendorff M, Hua X, Muller JC, Schrepfer S, Evans SM, Carrier L, Eschenhagen T. Localization of Islet-1-positive cells in the healthy and infarcted adult murine heart. Circ Res 2012;110:1303–10.
- [60] Chong JJ, Chandrakanthan V, Xaymardan M, Asli NS, Li J, Ahmed I, Heffernan C, Menon MK, Scarlett CJ, Rashidianfar A, et al. Adult cardiac-resident MSC-like stem cells with a proepicardial origin. Cell Stem Cell 2011;9:527–40.
- [61] Kikuchi K, Gupta V, Wang J, Holdway JE, Wills AA, Fang Y, Poss KD. tcf21+ epicardial cells adopt non-myocardial fates during zebrafish heart development and regeneration. Development 2011;138:2895–902.
- [62] Martin CM, Meeson AP, Robertson SM, Hawke TJ, Richardson JA, Bates S, Goetsch SC, Gallardo TD, Garry DJ. Persistent expression of the ATP-binding cassette transporter, Abcg2, identifies cardiac SP cells in the developing and adult heart. Dev Biol 2004;265:262–75.

268

#### REFERENCES

- [63] Smith RR, Barile L, Cho HC, Leppo MK, Hare JM, Messina E, Giacomello A, Abraham MR, Marban E. Regenerative potential of cardiosphere-derived cells expanded from percutaneous endomyocardial biopsy specimens. Circulation 2007;115:896–908.
- [64] Oh H, Bradfute SB, Gallardo TD, Nakamura T, Gaussin V, Mishina Y, Pocius J, Michael LH, Behringer RR, Garry DJ, et al. Cardiac progenitor cells from adult myocardium: homing, differentiation, and fusion after infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:12313–8.
- [65] Tamura Y, Matsumura K, Sano M, Tabata H, Kimura K, Ieda M, Arai T, Ohno Y, Kanazawa H, Yuasa S, et al. Neural crest-derived stem cells migrate and differentiate into cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2011;31:582–9.
- [66] Lepilina A, Coon AN, Kikuchi K, Holdway JE, Roberts RW, Burns CG, Poss KD. A dynamic epicardial injury response supports progenitor cell activity during zebrafish heart regeneration. Cell 2006;127:607–19.
- [67] van Wijk B, Gunst QD, Moorman AF, van den Hoff MJ. Cardiac regeneration from activated epicardium. PLoS One 2012;7:e44692.
- [68] Smart N, Risebro CA, Melville AA, Moses K, Schwartz RJ, Chien KR, Riley PR. Thymosin beta4 induces adult epicardial progenitor mobilization and neovascularization. Nature 2007;445:177–82.
- [69] Noseda M, Harada M, McSweeney S, Leja T, Belian E, Stuckey DJ, Abreu Paiva MS, Habib J, Macaulay I, de Smith AJ, et al. PDGFRalpha demarcates the cardiogenic clonogenic Sca1+ stem/progenitor cell in adult murine myocardium. Nat Commun 2015;6:6930.
- [70] Uchida S, De Gaspari P, Kostin S, Jenniches K, Kilic A, Izumiya Y, Shiojima I, Grosse Kreymborg K, Renz H, Walsh K, et al. Sca1-derived cells are a source of myocardial renewal in the murine adult heart. Stem Cell Rep 2013;1:397–410.
- [71] Wang J, Cao J, Dickson AL, Poss KD. Epicardial regeneration is guided by cardiac outflow tract and Hedgehog signalling. Nature 2015;522: 226–30.
- [72] Zangi L, Oliveira MS, Ye LY, Ma Q, Sultana N, Hadas Y, Chepurko E, Spater D, Zhou B, Chew WL, et al. An IGF1R-dependent pathway drives epicardial adipose tissue formation after myocardial injury. Circulation 2016;135:59–72.
- [73] Golpanian S, Wolf A, Hatzistergos KE, Hare JM. Rebuilding the damaged heart: mesenchymal stem cells, cell-based therapy, and engineered heart tissue. Physiol Rev 2016;96:1127–68.
- [74] Hatzistergos KE, Hare JM. Cell therapy: targeting endogenous repair versus remuscularization. Circ Res 2015;117:659-61.
- [75] Hare JM, DiFede DL, Castellanos AM, Florea V, Landin AM, El-Khorazaty J, Khan A, Mushtaq M, Lowery MH, Byrnes JJ, et al. Randomized comparison of allogeneic Vs. Autologous mesenchymal stem cells for non-lschemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017;69:526–37.
- [76] Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Zambrano JP, Suncion VY, Tracy M, Ghersin E, Johnston PV, Brinker JA, et al. Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. J Am Med Assoc 2012;308:2369–79.
- [77] Heldman AW, DiFede DL, Fishman JE, Zambrano JP, Trachtenberg BH, Karantalis V, Mushtaq M, Williams AR, Suncion VY, McNiece IK, et al. Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. J Am Med Assoc 2014;311:62–73.
- [78] Karantalis V, DiFede DL, Gerstenblith G, Pham S, Symes J, Zambrano JP, Fishman J, Pattany P, McNiece I, Conte J, et al. Autologous mesenchymal stem cells produce concordant improvements in regional function, tissue perfusion, and fibrotic burden when administered to patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: the Prospective Randomized Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery (PROMETHEUS) trial. Circ Res 2014;114:1302–10.
- [79] Suncion VY, Ghersin E, Fishman JE, Zambrano JP, Karantalis V, Mandel N, Nelson KH, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Breton E, et al. Does transendocardial injection of mesenchymal stem cells improve myocardial function locally or globally?: an analysis from the Percutaneous Stem Cell Injection Delivery Effects on Neomyogenesis (POSEIDON) randomized trial. Circ Res 2014;114:1292–301.
- [80] Williams AR, Hatzistergos KE, Addicott B, McCall F, Carvalho D, Suncion V, Morales AR, Da Silva J, Sussman MA, Heldman AW. Enhanced effect of combining human cardiac stem cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to reduce infarct size and to restore cardiac function after myocardial InfarctionClinical perspective. Circulation 2013;127:213–23.
- [81] Koh GY, Soonpaa MH, Klug MG, Field LJ. Long-term survival of AT-1 cardiomyocyte grafts in syngeneic myocardium. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:H1727–33.
- [82] Anversa P, Kajstura J. Ventricular myocytes are not terminally differentiated in the adult mammalian heart. Circ Res 1998;83:1–14.
- [83] Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakoniuk I, Anderson SM, Li B, Pickel J, McKay R, Nadal-Ginard B, Bodine DM, et al. Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 2001;410:701–5.
- [84] Murry CE, Soonpaa MH, Reinecke H, Nakajima H, Nakajima HO, Rubart M, Pasumarthi KB, Virag JI, Bartelmez SH, Poppa V, et al. Haematopoietic stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiac myocytes in myocardial infarcts. Nature 2004;428:664–8.
- [85] Chong JJ, Yang X, Don CW, Minami E, Liu YW, Weyers JJ, Mahoney WM, Van Biber B, Cook SM, Palpant NJ, et al. Human embryonicstem-cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate non-human primate hearts. Nature 2014;510:273–7.
- [86] Riegler J, Tiburcy M, Ebert A, Tzatzalos E, Raaz U, Abilez OJ, Shen Q, Kooreman NG, Neofytou E, Chen V, et al. Human engineered heart muscles engraft and survive long-term in a rodent myocardial infarction model. Circ Res 2015;117:720–30.
- [87] Shiba Y, Fernandes S, Zhu WZ, Filice D, Muskheli V, Kim J, Palpant NJ, Gantz J, Moyes KW, Reinecke H, et al. Human ES-cell-derived cardiomyocytes electrically couple and suppress arrhythmias in injured hearts. Nature 2012;489:322–5.
- [88] Ieda M, Fu JD, gado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell 2010;142:375–86.
- [89] Lalit PA, Salick MR, Nelson DO, Squirrell JM, Shafer CM, Patel NG, Saeed I, Schmuck EG, Markandeya YS, Wong R, et al. Lineage reprogramming of fibroblasts into proliferative induced cardiac progenitor cells by defined factors. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18:354–67.
- [90] Hatzistergos KE, Quevedo H, Oskouei BN, Hu Q, Feigenbaum GS, Margitich IS, Mazhari R, Boyle AJ, Zambrano JP, Rodriguez JE. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells stimulate cardiac stem cell proliferation and DifferentiationNovelty and significance. Circ Res 2010;107: 913–22.
- [91] Loffredo FS, Steinhauser ML, Gannon J, Lee RT. Bone marrow-derived cell therapy stimulates endogenous cardiomyocyte progenitors and promotes cardiac repair. Cell Stem Cell 2011;8:389–98.
- [92] Quijada P, Salunga HT, Hariharan N, Cubillo J, El-Sayed F, Moshref M, Bala KM, Emathinger JM, De La Torre A, Ormachea L, et al. Cardiac stem cell hybrids enhance myocardial repair. Circ Res 2015;117:695–706.

#### 17. CARDIAC STEM CELLS: BIOLOGY AND THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS

- [93] Gallet R, Dawkins J, Valle J, Simsolo E, de Couto G, Middleton R, Tseliou E, Luthringer D, Kreke M, Smith RR, et al. Exosomes secreted by cardiosphere-derived cells reduce scarring, attenuate adverse remodelling, and improve function in acute and chronic porcine myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2016;38:201–11.
- [94] Mirotsou M, Zhang Z, Deb A, Zhang L, Gnecchi M, Noiseux N, Mu H, Pachori A, Dzau V. Secreted frizzled related protein 2 (Sfrp2) is the key Akt-mesenchymal stem cell-released paracrine factor mediating myocardial survival and repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104: 1643–8.
- [95] Premer C, Blum A, Bellio MA, Schulman IH, Hurwitz BE, Parker M, Dermarkarian CR, DiFede DL, Balkan W, Khan A, et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore endothelial function in heart failure by stimulating endothelial progenitor cells. EBio Med 2015;2:467–75.
- [96] Ye L, Chang YH, Xiong Q, Zhang P, Zhang L, Somasundaram P, Lepley M, Swingen C, Su L, Wendel JS, et al. Cardiac repair in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction with human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiovascular cells. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:750–61.
- [97] Zhang Z, Yang J, Yan W, Li Y, Shen Z, Asahara T. Pretreatment of cardiac stem cells with exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells enhances myocardial repair. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5.
- [98] Fisher SA, Doree C, Mathur A, Martin-Rendon E. Meta-analysis of cell therapy trials for patients with heart failure. Circ Res 2015;116: 1361–77.
- [99] Khan AR, Farid TA, Pathan A, Tripathi A, Ghafghazi S, Wysoczynski M, Bolli R. Impact of cell therapy on myocardial perfusion and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with angina refractory to medical therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Circ Res 2016; 118:984–93.
- [100] Martin-Rendon E, Brunskill SJ, Hyde CJ, Stanworth SJ, Mathur A, Watt SM. Autologous bone marrow stem cells to treat acute myocardial infarction: a systematic review. Eur Heart J 2008;29:1807–18.
- [101] Golpanian S, El-Khorazaty J, Mendizabal A, DiFede DL, Suncion VY, Karantalis V, Fishman JE, Ghersin E, Balkan W, Hare JM. Effect of aging on human mesenchymal stem cell therapy in ischemic cardiomyopathy patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65:125–32.
- [102] Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 1981;292:154-6.
- [103] Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981;78:7634-8.
- [104] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7.
- [105] Behfar A, Perez-Terzic C, Faustino RS, Arrell DK, Hodgson DM, Yamada S, Puceat M, Niederlander N, Alekseev AE, Zingman LV, et al. Cardiopoietic programming of embryonic stem cells for tumor-free heart repair. J Exp Med 2007;204:405–20.
- [106] Christoforou N, Miller RA, Hill CM, Jie CC, McCallion AS, Gearhart JD. Mouse ES cell-derived cardiac precursor cells are multipotent and facilitate identification of novel cardiac genes. J Clin Invest 2008;118:894–903.
- [107] Fernandes S, Chong JJ, Paige SL, Iwata M, Torok-Storb B, Keller G, Reinecke H, Murry CE. Comparison of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes, cardiovascular progenitors, and bone marrow mononuclear cells for cardiac repair. Stem Cell Rep 2015;5: 753–62.
- [108] Menasche P, Vanneaux V, Hagege A, Bel A, Cholley B, Cacciapuoti I, Parouchev A, Benhamouda N, Tachdjian G, Tosca L, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors for severe heart failure treatment: first clinical case report. Eur Heart J 2015;36: 2011–7.
- [109] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131:861–72.
- [110] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126:663–76.
- [111] Matsa E, Ahrens JH, Wu JC. Human induced pluripotent stem cells as a platform for personalized and precision cardiovascular medicine. Physiol Rev 2016;96:1093–126.
- [112] Shiba Y, Gomibuchi T, Seto T, Wada Y, Ichimura H, Tanaka Y, Ogasawara T, Okada K, Shiba N, Sakamoto K, et al. Allogeneic transplantation of iPS cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerates primate hearts. Nature 2016;538:388–91.
- [113] Karantalis V, Suncion-Loescher VY, Bagno L, Golpanian S, Wolf S, Sanina C, Premer C, Kanelidis AJ, McCall F, Wang B, et al. Synergistic effects of combined cell therapy for chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;66:1990–9.
- [114] Jackson KA, Majka SM, Wang H, Pocius J, Hartley CJ, Majesky MW, Entman ML, Michael LH, Hirschi KK, Goodell MA. Regeneration of ischemic cardiac muscle and vascular endothelium by adult stem cells. J Clin Invest 2001;107:1395–402.
- [115] Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der ZR, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 1997;275:964–7.
- [116] Jiang Y, Jahagirdar BN, Reinhardt RL, Schwartz RE, Keene CD, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, Reyes M, Lenvik T, Lund T, Blackstad M, et al. Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 2002;418:41–9.
- [117] D'Ippolito G, Howard GA, Roos BA, Schiller PC. Isolation and characterization of marrow-isolated adult multilineage inducible (MIAMI) cells. Exp Hematol 2006;34:1608–10.
- [118] Kucia M, Reca R, Campbell FR, Zuba-Surma E, Majka M, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ. A population of very small embryonic-like (VSEL) CXCR4(+)SSEA-1(+)Oct-4+ stem cells identified in adult bone marrow. Leukemia 2006;20:857–69.
- [119] Burt RK, Loh Y, Pearce W, Beohar N, Barr WG, Craig R, Wen Y, Rapp JA, Kessler J. Clinical applications of blood-derived and marrow-derived stem cells for nonmalignant diseases. J Am Med Assoc 2008;299:925–36.
- [119a] Schächinger V, Erbs S, Elsässer A, Haberbosch W, Hambrecht R, Hölschermann H, Yu J, Corti R, Mathey DG, Hamm CW, et al. REPAIR-AMI Investigators. Improved clinical outcome after intracoronary administration of bone-marrow-derived progenitor cells in acute myocardial infarction: final 1-year results of the REPAIR-AMI trial. Eur Heart J 2006;27:2775–83.
- [120] Kocher AA, Schuster MD, Szabolcs MJ, Takuma S, Burkhoff D, Wang J, Homma S, Edwards NM, Itescu S. Neovascularization of ischemic myocardium by human bone-marrow-derived angioblasts prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduces remodeling and improves cardiac function. Nat Med 2001;7:430–6.

270

- [121] Erbs S, Linke A, Schachinger V, Assmus B, Thiele H, Diederich KW, Hoffmann C, Dimmeler S, Tonn T, Hambrecht R, et al. Restoration of microvascular function in the infarct-related artery by intracoronary transplantation of bone marrow progenitor cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction: the Doppler Substudy of the Reinfusion of Enriched Progenitor Cells and Infarct Remodeling in Acute Myocardial Infarction (REPAIR-AMI) trial. Circulation 2007;116:366–74.
- [122] Erbs S, Linke A, Adams V, Lenk K, Thiele H, Diederich KW, Emmrich F, Kluge R, Kendziorra K, Sabri O, et al. Transplantation of blood-derived progenitor cells after recanalization of chronic coronary artery occlusion: first randomized and placebo-controlled study. Circ Res 2005;97:756–62.
- [123] Kang HJ, Kim HS, Zhang SY, Park KW, Cho HJ, Koo BK, Kim YJ, Soo LD, Sohn DW, Han KS, et al. Effects of intracoronary infusion of peripheral blood stem-cells mobilised with granulocyte-colony stimulating factor on left ventricular systolic function and restenosis after coronary stenting in myocardial infarction: the MAGIC cell randomised clinical trial. Lancet 2004;363:751–6.
- [124] Hare JM, Traverse JH, Henry TD, Dib N, Strumpf RK, Schulman SP, Gerstenblith G, DeMaria AN, Denktas AE, Gammon RS, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:2277–86.
- [125] Williams AR, Suncion VY, McCall F, Guerra D, Mather J, Zambrano JP, Heldman AW, Hare JM. Durable scar size reduction due to allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell therapy regulates whole-chamber remodeling. J Am Heart Assoc 2013b;2:e000140.
- [126] Quevedo HC, Hatzistergos KE, Oskouei BN, Feigenbaum GS, Rodriguez JE, Valdes D, Pattany PM, Zambrano JP, Hu Q, McNiece I, et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:14022–7.
- [127] Schuleri KH, Feigenbaum GS, Centola M, Weiss ES, Zimmet JM, Turney J, Kellner J, Zviman MM, Hatzistergos KE, Detrick B, et al. Autologous mesenchymal stem cells produce reverse remodelling in chronic ischaemic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 2009;30:2722–32.
- [128] Mazhari R, Hare JM. Mechanisms of action of mesenchymal stem cells in cardiac repair: potential influences on the cardiac stem cell niche. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 2007;4(suppl. 1):S21–6.
- [129] Suzuki G, Iyer V, Lee TC, Canty Jr JM. Autologous mesenchymal stem cells mobilize cKit+ and CD133+ bone marrow progenitor cells and improve regional function in hibernating myocardium. Circ Res 2011;109:1044–54.
- [130] Chen SL, Fang WW, Ye F, Liu YH, Qian J, Shan SJ, Zhang JJ, Chunhua RZ, Liao LM, Lin S, et al. Effect on left ventricular function of intracoronary transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2004;94:92–5.
- [131] Katritsis DG, Sotiropoulou PA, Karvouni E, Karabinos I, Korovesis S, Perez SA, Voridis EM, Papamichail M. Transcoronary transplantation of autologous mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitors into infarcted human myocardium. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2005;65: 321–9.
- [132] Vulliet PR, Greeley M, Halloran SM, MacDonald KA, Kittleson MD. Intra-coronary arterial injection of mesenchymal stromal cells and microinfarction in dogs. Lancet 2004;363:783–4.
- [133] Nagaya N, Kangawa K, Itoh T, Iwase T, Murakami S, Miyahara Y, Fujii T, Uematsu M, Ohgushi H, Yamagishi M, et al. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in a rat model of dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2005;112:1128–35.
- [134] Heeschen C, Lehmann R, Honold J, Assmus B, Aicher A, Walter DH, Martin H, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S. Profoundly reduced neovascularization capacity of bone marrow mononuclear cells derived from patients with chronic ischemic heart disease. Circulation 2004;109:1615–22.
- [135] Vasa M, Fichtlscherer S, Aicher A, Adler K, Urbich C, Martin H, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S. Number and migratory activity of circulating endothelial progenitor cells inversely correlate with risk factors for coronary artery disease. Circ Res 2001;89:E1–7.
- [136] Bartunek J, Behfar A, Dolatabadi D, Vanderheyden M, Ostojic M, Dens J, El Nakadi B, Banovic M, Beleslin B, Vrolix M, et al. Cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart failure: the C-CURE (Cardiopoietic stem Cell therapy in heart failURE) multicenter randomized trial with lineage-specified biologics. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;61:2329–38.
- [137] Bartunek J, Terzic A, Davison BA, Filippatos GS, Radovanovic S, Beleslin B, Merkely B, Musialek P, Wojakowski W, Andreka P, et al. Cardiopoietic cell therapy for advanced ischemic heart failure: results at 39 weeks of the prospective, randomized, double blind, sham-controlled CHART-1 clinical trial. Eur Heart J 2016;38:648–60.
- [138] Yoon PD, Kao RL, Magovern GJ. Myocardial regeneration. Transplanting satellite cells into damaged myocardium. Tex Heart Inst J 1995;22: 119–25.
- [139] Heldman AW, Hare JM. Cell therapy for myocardial infarction: special delivery. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2008;44:473-6.
- [140] Brickwedel J, Gulbins H, Reichenspurner H. Long-term follow-up after autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation in ischaemic heart disease. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2014;18:61–6.
- [141] Imamura T, Kinugawa K, Sakata Y, Miyagawa S, Sawa Y, Yamazaki K, Ono M. Improved clinical course of autologous skeletal myoblast sheet (TCD-51073) transplantation when compared to a propensity score-matched cardiac resynchronization therapy population. J Artif Organs 2016;19:80–6.
- [142] Menasche P, Alfieri O, Janssens S, McKenna W, Reichenspurner H, Trinquart L, Vilquin JT, Marolleau JP, Seymour B, Larghero J, et al. The Myoblast Autologous Grafting in Ischemic Cardiomyopathy (MAGIC) trial: first randomized placebo-controlled study of myoblast transplantation. Circulation 2008;117:1189–200.
- [143] Ghostine S, Carrion C, Souza LC, Richard P, Bruneval P, Vilquin JT, Pouzet B, Schwartz K, Menasche P, Hagege AA. Long-term efficacy of myoblast transplantation on regional structure and function after myocardial infarction. Circulation 2002;106:1131–6.
- [144] Oshima H, Payne TR, Urish KL, Sakai T, Ling Y, Gharaibeh B, Tobita K, Keller BB, Cummins JH, Huard J. Differential myocardial infarct repair with muscle stem cells compared to myoblasts. Mol Ther 2005;12:1130–41.
- [145] Reinecke H, Poppa V, Murry CE. Skeletal muscle stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes after cardiac grafting. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2002;34:241–9.
- [146] Okada M, Payne TR, Zheng B, Oshima H, Momoi N, Tobita K, Keller BB, Phillippi JA, Peault B, Huard J. Myogenic endothelial cells purified from human skeletal muscle improve cardiac function after transplantation into infarcted myocardium. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 52:1869–80.
- [147] McCabe C, Sipp D. Undertested and overpriced: Japan issues first conditional approval of stem cell product. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18:436-7.

#### 17. CARDIAC STEM CELLS: BIOLOGY AND THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS

- [148] Hierlihy AM, Seale P, Lobe CG, Rudnicki MA, Megeney LA. The post-natal heart contains a myocardial stem cell population. FEBS Lett 2002; 530:239–43.
- [149] Messina E, De AL, Frati G, Morrone S, Chimenti S, Fiordaliso F, Salio M, Battaglia M, Latronico MV, Coletta M, et al. Isolation and expansion of adult cardiac stem cells from human and murine heart. Circ Res 2004;95:911–21.
- [150] Fransioli J, Bailey B, Gude NA, Cottage CT, Muraski JA, Emmanuel G, Wu W, Alvarez R, Rubio M, Ottolenghi S, et al. Evolution of the c-kit positive cell response to pathological challenge in the myocardium. Stem Cells 2008;26:1315–24.
- [151] Kulandavelu S, Karantalis V, Fritsch J, Hatzistergos KE, Loescher VY, McCall F, Wang B, Bagno L, Golpanian S, Wolf A, et al. Pim1 kinase overexpression enhances ckit+ cardiac stem cell cardiac repair following myocardial infarction in swine. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;68:2454–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.09.925.
- [152] Tang XL, Li Q, Rokosh G, Sanganalmath SK, Chen N, Ou Q, Stowers H, Hunt G, Bolli R. Long-term outcome of administration of c-kit(POS) cardiac progenitor cells after acute myocardial infarction: transplanted cells do not become cardiomyocytes, but structural and functional improvement and proliferation of endogenous cells persist for at least one year. Circ Res 2016;118:1091–105.
- [153] Chugh AR, Beache GM, Loughran JH, Mewton N, Elmore JB, Kajstura J, Pappas P, Tatooles A, Stoddard MF, Lima JA, et al. Administration of cardiac stem cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the SCIPIO trial: surgical aspects and interim analysis of myocardial function and viability by magnetic resonance. Circulation 2012;126:S54–64.
- [154] Holmes C, Stanford WL. Concise review: stem cell antigen-1: expression, function, and enigma. Stem Cells 2007;25:1339–47.
- [155] Johnston PV, Sasano T, Mills K, Evers R, Lee ST, Smith RR, Lardo AC, Lai S, Steenbergen C, Gerstenblith G, et al. Engraftment, differentiation, and functional benefits of autologous cardiosphere-derived cells in porcine ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2009;120:1075–83. 1077 pp. following 1083.
- [156] Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Thomson LE, Berman D, Czer LS, Marban L, Mendizabal A, Johnston PV, et al. Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 2012;379:895–904.
- [157] Patel AN, Henry TD, Quyyumi AA, Schaer GL, Anderson RD, Toma C, East C, Remmers AE, Goodrich J, Desai AS, et al. Ixmyelocel-T for patients with ischaemic heart failure: a prospective randomised double-blind trial. Lancet 2016;387:2412–21.
- [158] Henry TD, Traverse JH, Hammon BL, East CA, Bruckner B, Remmers AE, Recker D, Bull DA, Patel AN. Safety and efficacy of ixmyelocel-T: an expanded, autologous multi-cellular therapy, in dilated cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 2014;115:730–7.

#### 272

# Skeletal Muscle Stem Cells

Nora Yucel, Helen M. Blau Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Skeletal muscle is essential for all voluntary contractile functions, including those of the limb, extraocular muscles, tongue, intercostal muscles, diaphragm, and sphincter. As a tissue, skeletal muscle comprises a major part of the human body, accounting for 28%–54% of total body mass depending on gender, age, and physical fitness [1]. It is composed of bundles of muscle fibers, or myofibers, that contract to generate force. Myofibers themselves are composed of contractile myofibrils, which are made up of hundreds to thousands of fused, postmitotic, terminally differentiated muscle cells. Each myofiber is sheathed by a cell membrane called the sarcolemma. Postnatal skeletal muscle growth, maintenance, and regeneration depend on a population of tissue-specific muscle stem cells (MuSCs) present in skeletal muscle, also known as satellite cells. Satellite cells are dedicated MuSCs that reside atop the myofiber between the sarcolemma and the basal lamina of the muscle myofiber [2]. Extensively characterized both functionally and molecularly as bona fide MuSCs, satellite cells have been shown to have a role in maintaining muscle mass in homeostasis and to be crucial for regenerating skeletal muscle in response to acute or chronic injury [3–8]. Other cell sources that contribute to muscle regeneration include muscle interstitial cells, fibrogenic/adipogenic progenitors (FAPs), blood vessel–associated mesoangioblasts, pericytes, and mesenchymal stem cells.

At homeostasis, normal adult skeletal muscle tissue undergoes relatively little turnover compared with other regenerative tissues such as the blood and skin, because only about 1%–2% of myonuclei are replaced weekly, [9]. Evidence has shown that the rate of myofiber remodeling may be higher, with 10% of myofibers showing contribution from a satellite cell per week [10,11]. In response to injury, healthy adult skeletal muscle has a remarkable ability to regenerate [12]. During regeneration, injury to myofibers first leads to a rapid immune response and an infiltration of inflammatory cells [13]. MuSCs are rapidly activated and proliferate as transient amplifying progenitors called myoblasts. A small proportion of activated MuSCs self-renew to replenish the stem cell pool. As regeneration proceeds, proliferating myogenic progenitor cells expand, differentiate, and subsequently fuse with existing myofibers or each other to form de novo myofibers. The newly formed multinucleated myofibers fuse into preexisting myofibers to replenish skeletal muscle mass and contractile function, thus repairing the injured tissue.

Inherited muscular dystrophies and noninherited muscle wasting diseases are characterized by extensive muscle degeneration, and thus are candidates for cell-based regenerative therapies. Heritable muscular dystrophies lead to progressive and often fatal muscle wasting. The most common form of muscular dystrophy is Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), a severe X-linked recessive disorder that affects 1 in 3500 males [14]. DMD is caused by mutations in the dystrophin gene. The dystrophin gene is greater than 2.22 megabases and is one of the largest known genes in the human genome. The large dystrophin protein, which is 427 kDa, links the actin cytoskeleton network within the muscle myofiber to extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins of the basal lamina via the membrane-spanning dystrogly-can complex [15,16]. Mutations in dystrophin result in a weakened sarcolemma that leads to loss of myofiber function and widespread muscle degeneration and necrosis. Patients with DMD progressively lose skeletal muscle mass, function, and regenerative potential, in part owing to the reduced stem cell proliferative capacity of MuSCs caused by the excessive demands of constant injury and regeneration [17–20]. As the disease progresses through early adulthood, patients with DMD develop severe muscle deterioration with the exception of facial muscles, increased

#### 18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS

connective and fibrotic tissue deposition, loss of mobility, and kyphosis; the disease culminates in an untimely death from cardiorespiratory failure.

Treatments for muscular dystrophies and muscle wasting conditions such as aging-associated sarcopenia and pathology-associated cachexia have the challenge of rescuing defective postmitotic myofibers [21,22]. Although many pharmacologic and genetic therapies have been developed to minimize inflammation and support muscle regeneration for these diseases, they have met with little long-term clinical success, especially for the most devastating degenerative conditions [23,24]. Therefore, increased focus has been placed on developing regenerative strategies that target MuSCs to provide more effective therapies. There has been substantial progress in elucidating the molecular signals and myogenic gene regulatory mechanisms that underlie the regenerative capacity of MuSCs [25,26]. Thus, here we highlight the discovery of satellite cells as an endogenous source of MuSCs that contribute to adult muscle regeneration. Advances in regulating MuSC activation and self-renewal by biochemical and biophysical components of the MuSC niche microenvironment have been substantial. We evaluate the potential of satellite cells and other cell sources with myogenic regenerative properties for cell-based therapy for human muscle diseases. We also describe how technological advances offer promise for advancements in targeting endogenous stem cells in muscle wasting disorders or for cell therapy of heritable muscular dystrophies.

# SATELLITE CELLS ARE MUSCLE STEM CELLS

To be considered a tissue-specific stem cell, cells must be able to (1) proliferate in a self-renewing manner that yields at least one daughter cell with a stem cell profile and (2) generate progeny capable of differentiating into all of the specialized cells of that particular tissue. For some tissues, stem cells must develop into a set of multipotent transient progenitors that can produce the complete diversity of terminally differentiated cells that make up the tissue. For example, a single hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) is capable of generating lymphoid, myeloid, and erythroid progenitors, which then generate all of the cells in the blood compartment. In contrast, MuSCs must give rise to only one single terminally differentiated cell type, the multinucleated myofiber. Consequently, a bona fide MuSC must be a self-renewing unipotent cell that is also capable of generating progeny that fuse with existing myofibers or generate new myofibers. The requirement of MuSCs to self-renew implies that MuSC division results in specialized progenitors in a manner that does not deplete the stem cell pool. This property distinguishes MuSCs from their myoblast progeny, which are able to undergo only a limited number of divisions before they undergo myogenic differentiation, thus causing their depletion. The long-term self-renewal characteristics of MuSCs confer the ability to contribute to myogenesis throughout the life span of an organism. Moreover, the stem cell capacity of MuSCs fulfills the requirements of an ongoing, continuous therapeutic cell source for long-term skeletal muscle regenerative medicine applications. In this section, we describe the molecular and functional characteristics that define MuSCs and how these can be combined to track prospectively isolated, transplanted cells and monitor their regenerative capacity.

# THE MOLECULAR CHARACTERISTICS OF MUSCLE STEM CELLS DURING MYOGENESIS IN REGENERATION

Since their first identification by electron microscopy based on their anatomical position [2], our understanding of the molecular characteristics of satellite cells has greatly increased. Quiescent satellite cells, which have been shown to be MuSCs, are defined by the expression of the essential paired-box transcription factor *Pax7* [27,28]. Mice that lack PAX7 protein develop normally in utero, but only about half of expected homozygotes live to birth. Newborns that escape this early postnatal lethality typically survive only until about age 3 weeks and show approximately 50% reduction in muscle mass with vastly decreased numbers of satellite cells [28,29]. Conditional ablation of PAX7<sup>+</sup> cells in the adult mouse leads to acutely impaired muscle regeneration, including decreased myofiber area and increased fibrosis. Knockout of *Pax7* in isolated MuSCs in vitro results in cell-cycle arrest and premature differentiation [27]. In the diaphragm muscle, the paired box transcription factor PAX3 is constitutively expressed in satellite cells; however, this factor is transiently expressed only in hind-limb muscles, and its role as an essential factor in satellite cell maintenance is unclear [30–33]. Functionally, skeletal muscle satellite cells possess an intrinsic stem cell capacity; that is, they are able to develop into muscle and repopulate the stem cell niche independently.

After injury, PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs become activated and expand. As part of their stem cell identity, MuSCs undergo asymmetric cell divisions to generate both transiently amplifying progenitors that are committed to differentiation and new MuSCs to replenish the stem cell pool [34,35]. The discovery of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) family began with MYOD1 and resulted from a clever strategy derived from the observation that treatment of fibroblasts with 5-aza-C yielded myogenic and adipogenic cells [36]. Upon activation, myogenic progenitors express a series of myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), bHLH transcription factors that upregulate genes required for differentiation into muscle myofibers (Fig. 18.1E). The dynamics of these transiently amplifying progenitors have been characterized for the first time in vivo via multidimensional single-cell mass cytometry (CyTOF) [37].

In development, *Myf5* is the first bHLH factor to be expressed, and this transcription factor activates downstream myogenic genes in MuSCs and acts as a chromatin modifier of myogenic genes [38]. Lineage tracing experiments show that about 90% of all PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs express or have expressed the *Myf5* gene at some point, which indicates that it can lead to both stem cell self-renewal or differentiation [34]. Studies have shown that *Myf5* messenger RNA



FIGURE 18.1 Myogenesis during muscle regeneration. Muscle is a primarily postmitotic tissue that consists of fused muscle cells. Muscle consists of bundles of (A) fascicles, which are in themselves composed of bundles of (B) muscle fibers. Muscle fibers are contractile, multinucleated nucleated cells formed from the fusion of myoblasts. They are sheathed by a cell membrane called the sarcolemma. (C) Muscle stem cells (MuSCs), which are not fused, reside atop the fiber between the sarcolemma and the basal lamina of the muscle fiber. They are maintained in their quiescent state by the expression of transcription factor Pax7. (D) Upon injury, MuSCS become activated and express Myf5. (E) During repair, activated MuSCs expand in the form of transiently proliferating progenitors known as myoblasts. Myoblasts downregulate Pax7 and express MyoD1. A fraction of activated MuSCs self-renew to repopulate the stem cell. After proliferation, myoblasts exit the cell cycle and (F) begin early differentiation, which is marked by expression of the transcription factor myogenin. (G) These cells eventually fuse together and form a multinucleated cell. Myosin heavy chains (MyHC) are expressed at this time. Multinucleated cells fuse to themselves to form (H) mature myotubes that eventually form the (I) new contractile myofibers at the end of regeneration.

#### 18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS

(mRNA) is sequestered in quiescent satellite cells in messenger ribonucleoprotein (mRNP) granules, which suppress translation [39]. This sequestration of *Myf5* mRNA allows MuSCs to be poised for activation and entrance into the myogenic program while maintaining quiescence. After activation, mRNP granules become dissociated, allowing *Myf5* mRNA to be translated immediately and MYF5 protein to accumulate rapidly. Later during development, MYF5 function has redundancy with bHLH regulatory factor MRF4 [40], which promotes early muscle formation. In adult regeneration, MRF4 inhibits muscle growth and hypertrophy [41].

MuSC activation is later marked by the bHLH factor, MYOD1. MYOD1 is a potent transcriptional activator of myogenesis [42]. MYOD1 shares many similar genomic targets with MYF5 and can rescue myogenesis in the absence of MYF5 [43]. Because of their largely redundant function, knockout of either MYOD1 or MYF5 is not associated with skeletal muscle defects [44], but MYOD/MYF5 double knockouts lack expression of myogenic genes and have no discernible formation of muscle myofibers [43]. In the presence of high levels of mitogens, MYF5 and MYOD1 are highly expressed and define commitment to a myogenic cell fate but they do not activate the expression of differentiation genes. In particular, MYOD1 is known to associate with histone deacetylase 1 during proliferation to repress myogenic differentiation targets [45]. Removal of serum in vitro induces cell cycle exit, which is driven in part by MYOD1 upregulation of p21, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor [46]. After cell cycle exit, MYOD1 associates with histone acetyl-transferases to induce acetylation and expression of myogenic differentiation genes [47,48]. The final stage of myogenesis is driven by expression of the transcription factor Myogenin (MYOG), the canonical marker of terminal differentiation (Fig. 18.1F) [49].

Myosin heavy chain isotypes distinguish fast and slow myofibers that differ in their stem cell and regenerative properties. They are expressed during late differentiation and upon fusion of myoblasts [50] (Fig. 18.1G). These proteins are highly conserved, actin-based motor proteins that use energy from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to generate contractile force in mature myofibers [51]. Myosins are upregulated as fusion proceeds, forming multinucleated myotubes (Fig. 18.1H) that then fuse to each other to form myofibers and repair the injured tissue at the end of regeneration. A number of different myosin heavy chain isoforms define distinct fiber types in the adult muscle: I, IIA, IIB, and IIX [52]. Type I fibers are slow-twitch and mitochondria-dense and derive ATP primarily from oxidative phosphorylation of fat. These fibers are also known to have the highest density of PAX7<sup>+</sup> stem cells per fiber [53]. Rich in myoglobin, type I fibers can maintain contractile activity and are resistant to fatigue. Type II fibers rely on glycolysis to generate ATP rapidly. Type IIA fibers use oxidative glycolysis and have more mitochondria than type IIB fibers, which primarily use anaerobic glycolysis. Type IIB fibers are the fastest but generate force for the shortest time and are the first to be affected in DMD [54]. Type IIX fibers are mixed between IIA and IIB [52].

Expression of myosin isoforms is highly dynamic during development and regeneration [55] as well as in vitro differentiation [50]. Embryonic myosin isoforms, which typically are expressed during development, are reexpressed during early differentiation or regeneration [56,57]. Neonatal fast and slow myosins precede adult myosin isoform and can be distinguished from the adult myosin isoforms at the end of regeneration by monoclonal antibodies [58,59]. The functional basis for the observed developmental progression of myosin isoforms remains unknown. Reestablishment of fiber types during late regeneration and postnatal development is independent of cell lineage [60,61] and primarily caused by innervation [55,62,63].

The search for mediators of myogenic fusion, a step essential to muscle development and regeneration, has been under way for decades. A number of integral components implicated in myofusion have been implicated using a  $\beta$ -galactosidase ( $\beta$ -gal) complementation method [64], including neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) [65] and N-cadherin [66]. Additional studies pointed to  $\alpha$ 4-integrin [67], M-cadherin [68], vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM) [69],  $\beta$ 1-integrin [70], MOR23 [71], and the metalloproteinase/disintegrin meltrin- $\alpha$  [72] as mediators of fusion. However, the proteins that are essential to muscle fusion been definitively identified only recently. The muscle-specific gene Myomaker (TMEM8c) [73] is absolutely required for fusion in vitro or during development. However, Myomaker alone does not suffice for fusion to occur, because overexpression of Myomaker causes fusion of fibroblasts with myoblasts but not fusion between myoblasts [73]. Myomaker's partner has been identified as the transmembrane protein Myomixer [74]. Although the molecular components required for muscle fusion continue to be discovered, the mechanism of fusion is still under investigation.

#### FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERISTICS OF MUSCLE STEM CELLS

One of the first indications that  $PAX7^+$  satellite cells are MuSCs was established by transplantation studies. In these studies, satellite cells juxtaposed to single fibers were genetically labeled by Myf5- $\beta$ -gal, and single fibers, which were confirmed to contain resident satellite cells, were transplanted into damaged recipient wild-type

(WT) muscles [5]. The donor myofibers resulted in new myofibers, and associated satellite cells were able to selfrenew and develop into new satellite cells in the niche position in the recipient animals [5]. However, the use of entire myofibers for transplantation did not demonstrate definitively that PAX7<sup>+</sup> satellite cells could become the entire myogenic lineage on their own. The intrinsic stem cell capacity of satellite cells alone was demonstrated through later single-cell isolation strategies. Satellite cells were genetically labeled to express reporter genes such as green fluorescent protein (GFP) or  $\beta$ -gal and isolated from single-cell muscle digests or mechanical trituration of isolated myofibers. These cells were transplanted by intramuscular injection into recipient muscle of regeneration-deficient mice [30,75,76].

In transplantation assays to evaluate MuSC properties, recipient mouse hind-limb muscles such as the tibialis anterior are often irradiated pretransplantation to limit the contribution of endogenous stem cell populations, as in HSC transplantation scenarios. Sometimes mice are also injured acutely before and/or after transplantation, either with a chemical toxin such as notexin or by direct tissue injury (e.g., freeze-probe application), to assess the stem cell and proliferative capacity of donor cells. Alternatively, satellite cells are transplanted into recipients with a muscle regenerative defect, such as the *mdx* mouse model of DMD, to assess the ability of the stem cells to meet a chronic regenerative demand. Through these approaches, multiple investigators have demonstrated that PAX7<sup>+</sup> satellite cells are able to contribute to the regeneration of recipient myofibers, repopulate the myofiber membrane-defined satellite cell niche, and expand and self-renew upon activation by injury [5,30,34,75–77]. Using such regimens, isolated labeled satellite cells were shown to contribute directly to myofibers as well as the resident stem cell population.

#### ISOLATION OF MUSCLE STEM CELLS

A number of strategies have been developed to isolate MuSCs prospectively. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting is used to identify MuSCs based on their unique profile of surface markers. Prospective isolation strategies routinely employed a combination of markers, often including the absence of lineage markers such as CD31, CD11b, CD45, and Sca1 to obtain a highly enriched cell population. For mouse satellite cells, α7-integrin (ITGA) [77], which is also present on myoblasts [78], is the most commonly used marker for isolation in conjunction with β1-integrin [34,75], CD34 [76], CXCR4 [75], VCAM1 [79], syndecan (SDC)-3/4 [6], ABCG2 [6], and c-met [80]. Additional sorting strategies have used lineage depletion combined with the antigen for the SM/C-2.6 monoclonal antibody [81], and the calcitonin receptor CALCR [82]. Other mouse MuSC prospective isolation strategies use transgenic fluorescent protein reporters under the control of promoter elements of satellite cell-associated transcription factors such as *Pax7-eGFP* [83], *Pax7-ZsGreen* [84], and *Myf5-Cre/ROSA26-YFP* [34]. These genetically labeled models have been used to distinguish subpopulations further. Two cell surface markers, CD9 and CD104, identified by single-CyTOF profiling of injured muscles, enabled in vivo identification and prospective isolation of stem and progenitor cells [37]. It is likely that none of these markers encompasses all MuSCs, because there is known to be heterogeneity within MuSC populations.

Studies have uncovered cell surface markers that enrich for human satellite cells. Human satellite cell markers have long been sought, because human markers do not completely correspond to those on well-defined mouse satellite cells. For example, unlike mouse satellite cells, human satellite cells are not CD34<sup>+</sup> [85,86]. In addition, PAX7 expression does not appear to be necessarily restricted to satellite cells in human muscle but is also expressed by progenitors [87]. Human myogenic cells were first prospectively isolated using a monoclonal antibody to an antigen identified as NCAM [88]. CD133<sup>+</sup> and culture-expanded human muscle-derived myoblasts have also been shown to have engraftment potential and generate satellite cells [89,90]. However, the xenotransplantation efficiency of these cells is low. Studies have found cell surface markers of fetal [91] and adult [92], PAX7<sup>+</sup> muscle satellite cells with MuSC function. Fetal satellite cells were identified as negative for blood and fibroblast markers CD45/CD11b/GlyA/CD31/CD34, and intermediate for NCAM (CD56) and high ITGA expression. These CD56<sup>Int</sup>ITGA7<sup>hi</sup> show bipotent myogenic and osteogenic activity with no adipogenic capacity in vitro and engraft when transplanted into mouse muscles. However, the same markers do not mark adult satellite cells with engraftment capacity. Adult MuSCs can be isolated by CD31<sup>-</sup>/CD45<sup>-</sup>/β1-integrin (CD29)<sup>+</sup>/NCAM(CD56)<sup>+</sup> expression [92] or CD31<sup>-</sup>/CD45<sup>-</sup>/ $\beta$ 1-integrin and epidermal growth factor receptor [93]. In addition, CD82 and CD318 have been identified as marking myogenic cells with high engraftment potential [94,95]. These cells express PAX7 and can both contribute to myofibers and repopulate the satellite cell niche when transplanted into mouse muscle. Similar to mouse MuSCs, these transplanted human adult MuSCs expand upon reinjury, an indicator of true stem cell capacity.

# TRACKING MUSCLE STEM CELL BEHAVIOR THROUGH LIVE IMAGING (BIOLUMINESCENCE IMAGING AND INTRAVITAL IMAGING)

The development of noninvasive imaging techniques has greatly advanced our understanding of MuSCs. Bioluminescence imaging (BLI) enabled the first demonstration that a single satellite cell fulfills the stringent criteria of a MuSC [76]. BLI has been highly useful in studies to establish the regenerative potential of other tissue-specific stem cell types. These studies showed that only 4% of 144 mice injected with single MuSCs exhibited a positive BLI signal, a result that was difficult to ascertain by classical histological methods. Similarly, the ability to track the behavior of small numbers of transplanted cells in vivo (<10) revealed the intrinsic deficit of aged MuSCs to engraft, a finding not previously apparent through transplantation of larger cells numbers (>100) [26].

BLI uses luciferase-expressing satellite cells that are often colabeled with GFP, which allows for dynamic monitoring of the cells as they contribute to tissue regeneration, as well as end-point immunohistological analysis (Fig. 18.2). Temporal assessment of stem cell behavior upon stimulation with a drug, hormone, or growth factor is also possible by BLI, because the same mice can be imaged noninvasively repeatedly over time, whereas classical histological analyses require killing the mice [96]. BLI revealed that after reinjury, the progeny of transplanted satellite cells divide exponentially and then cease to divide, reaching a plateau upon achieving homeostasis when no more stem cells are required [76]. By contrast, 90% of myoblasts without self-renewal capacity die upon injection and no increase in numbers is observed over time, which explains in part why clinical trials with these cells have been disappointing [85,97,192]. Furthermore, it is possible to assess whether transplanted stem cells are transformed, because the exponential proliferation of tumorigenic cells does not cease and a plateau is never achieved [98]. This type of exponential increase is not typically observed with transplanted MuSCs and rhabdomyosarcomas



FIGURE 18.2 Noninvasive bioluminescent imaging (BLI) to visualize the expansion and engraftment of transplanted muscle stem cells (MuSCs) dynamically. (A) Transplantation scheme for BLI. MuSCs are isolated from a donor animal expressing luciferase and green fluorescent protein (GFP). These cells are then transplanted via intramuscular injection into the hind limb of recipient animals, which are immunocompromised and irradiated to deplete the existing stem cell pool and minimize immune rejection. (B) Example of BLI signal from MuSCs after transplantation and injury. Immunohistological analysis of muscles with transplanted MuSCs show GFP-positive myofibers. (C) Scheme of a theoretical comparison of the engraftment and proliferation of 100 transplanted MuSCs or committed myoblast progenitors. BLI used to track engraftment after injury, as well as expansion after secondary injury. While transplanted MuSCs expand and engraft, myoblasts have poor viability and do not engraft or expand. For MuSC transplantation, the BLI signal reaches a plateau when cells stop proliferating, differentiate, and fuse into mature myofibers. Expansion of transplanted MuSCs that have repopulated the stem-cell niche can be stimulated by injury and tracked by BLI.

are rare in childhood and virtually nonexistent in adulthood. That MuSCs and the muscle tissue microenvironment are nontumorigenic suggests that yet unidentified tumor-suppressive factors are at play.

BLI has been used to track in vivo regeneration and inflammation in skeletal muscle disease states [99,100]. The *Pax7*-driven luciferase reporter mouse (*Pax7Cre<sup>ER</sup>/LuSEAP*) was created as a "regeneration reporter" line to study the expansion and differentiation of satellite cells during regeneration in vivo [99]. These mice had a low level of luciferase signal at baseline that increased after 3 days of injury by barium chloride injection. At the end of regeneration, once myofibers matured, the luciferase signal decreased. Luciferase-positive myotubes were apparent upon histological analysis, which was consistent with the contribution from luciferase-expressing MuSCs. To analyze the expansion of *Pax7*-expressing MuSCs during chronic muscle regeneration, *Pax7Cre<sup>ER</sup>/LuSEAP* animals were crossed to dysferlin-deficient *Dysf<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, which are a model of limb girdle muscular dystrophy. *Dysf<sup>-/-</sup>/Pax7Cre<sup>ER</sup>/LuSEAP* mice showed a persistent increase in luciferase signal over time, indicative of ongoing regenerative activity. Similarly, an inflammation-driven luciferase reporter line (*Cox2<sup>Fluc/+</sup>*) was crossed with the *mdx* mouse model of DMD to analyze muscle inflammation during disease progression in vivo [100]. BLI showed increased inflammation in response to damage by exercise or cardiotoxin injury, and a decrease upon treatment with steroids to reduce inflammation. These studies highlight the promise for future application of BLI for the rigorous quantitative assessment of muscle regeneration in different mouse models of chronic and acute muscle injuries typical of human muscle diseases, as well the efficacy of therapeutic candidates.

Intravital imaging (IVM) with two photon-excitation microscopy has arisen as a technique to study the behavior and function of MuSCs and muscle progenitors during regeneration. This technique provides for high resolution, allows for use of multiple colors, and can be combined with bright-field and secondary harmonic imaging for higher detail of tissue structure in living animals. Two-photon excitation allows for virtual cross-sections of the tissue to be analyzed. A study showed a time course of one million myoblasts transplanted to treat muscle regeneration [101]. Another study used IVM to directly image for the first time MuSCs on uninjured and injured muscle myofibers [102]. Consistent with histological evidence that MuSCs are primarily quiescent, IVM showed neither division nor migration during the imaging period of 3 days. Using the ability of IVM to visualize sarcomere structure through secondary harmonic generation, Webster et al. [102] showed that muscle progenitors divide along "ghost fibers" during regeneration. These ghost fibers are the ECM scaffold surrounding muscle fibers, which remains intact when these myofibers are ablated through injury. Overall, live imaging is a powerful tool for the longitudinal analysis of MuSCs.

#### **REGULATION OF MUSCLE STEM CELLS BY THEIR NICHE**

A number of the molecular and biophysical components of the satellite cell niche in mice have been identified that are crucial for directing satellite cell quiescence, activation, migration, and self-renewal. Although the precise roles of these niche factors are still under investigation, current progress is summarized here and detailed in subsequent sections.

#### **Extracellular Matrix Components**

The myofiber basal lamina contains a range of ECM components that regulate MuSC fate. These include type VI collagen [103], fibronectin [104,105], tenascin-C (TNC) [106], laminin [107–109], and other proteoglycans and glycoproteins [110]. Collagen VI, which is primarily deposited by muscle-resident fibroblasts, is required for maintaining MuSC self-renewal during homeostasis and injury [103]. Fibronectin is a transient niche component present during regeneration that is secreted by progenitors and promotes self-renewal of MuSCs. It is a preferred ECM substrate for MuSCs, which adhere to fibronectin through integrins and the SDC4–Frizzled-7 (FZD7) complex [105]. Accumulation of fibronectin is thought to be detrimental to differentiation and regeneration. Loss of fibronectin, in particular during aging, leads to a reduction in the stem cell pool after injury [104]. Laminins are expressed on the surface of myotubes in vitro and myofibers in vivo and have been shown to promote migration of myoblasts and preserve differentiation potential [107–109]. A mechanical stress sensor, TNC is expressed in actively remodeling muscle [111]. Knockdown of TNC results in selective atrophy of fast muscle fibers in the adult. In addition, TNC is highly expressed during development and promotes MuSC expansion and regeneration in fetal muscle [106].

Satellite cells express numerous cell-surface molecules that interact with components of the ECM [110,112]. Integrins, which are heterodimers consisting of a  $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$  chain, physically tether the satellite cell to the niche and mediate molecular and biophysical signal transduction [113]. MuSCs primarily express the  $\alpha 7/\beta 1$  heterodimer. Evidence has shown that FGF2 signaling is mediated through β1-integrin, which is critical for maintaining MuSC self-renewal and expansion during injury [114]. Another integrin, β3-integrin, has been shown to mediate MuSC differentiation in muscle regeneration [115]. Other important ECM-signaling proteins include heparan sulfate proteoglycans such as SDC3, which promotes self-renewal and inhibits differentiation through Notch activation [116], and SDC4, which mediates asymmetric self-renewal through WNT7A and fibronectin [105].

#### **Molecular Signaling Factors**

Growth factors are secreted from systemic and local sources and stimulate satellite cell survival, activation, and proliferation. They can bind to proteoglycans in the myofiber basal lamina or on the satellite cell surface itself to provide a niche repository of signaling molecules. Circulating signaling factors can gain access to satellite cells, because of the close proximity of their niches to both muscle microvasculature [53] and neuromuscular junctions [117], and diffuse through the basal lamina. After injury, inflammatory cells secrete cytokines such as interleukin 1, interleukin 6, and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  that regulate the activation, proliferation, and differentiation of MuSCs [118,119]. The small metabolite prostaglandin E2 has been recently identified as part of the inflammatory wave that is the first response to injury in muscle [120]. The addition of PGE2 transiently leads to a robust increase in muscle stem cell numbers in culture and boosts engraftment of treated cells post-transplantation. Notably, PGE2 delivered directly to injured muscles activates endogenous stem cells within the muscles and markedly accelerates regeneration, suggesting it may have therapeutic value. Other critical circulating factors include fibroblast growth factor (FGF) [114,121–123], hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) [124,125], and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) [126,127], among others. FGF stimulates MuSC activation, which is repressed during quiescence by the receptor tyrosine kinase signaling inhibitor Sprouty1 (SPRY1) [128]. HGF, which is also secreted by MuSCs themselves [125], binds to the c-met receptor of MuSCs and promotes activation, proliferation, and migration [124]. IGF-1 is a circulating hormone that stimulates proliferation of MuSCs as well as differentiation. In the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) superfamily, myostatin, also known as GDF8, is a secreted factor that has been shown to circulate in serum. Myostatin is a negative regulator of MuSC proliferation as well as muscle hypertrophy, and knockout cattle exhibit profound increases in muscle mass [129–131]. Much attention has been focused on another TGF- $\beta$  member, GDF11, which is a systemic factor that shares 89% homology with myostatin and signals through many of the same pathways. There have been conflicting reports on the function of GDF11. Some studies have shown that like myostatin, GDF11 inhibits muscle regeneration and decreases MuSC expansion [132], whereas other reports show that it can rejuvenate the regenerative function of aged muscle [133]. The debate remains unsettled, but TGF- $\beta$  family members remain attractive therapeutic targets.

In addition, MuSCs, progenitors and mature myofibers themselves express factors that influence their own behaviors through juxtacrine signaling. These include ligands for Notch, which maintains the quiescence of adult MuSCs at homeostasis [34,134–136]. Moreover, the Wnt family of proteins is composed of secreted glycoproteins often associated with the ECM. WNT3A acts through canonical Wnt signaling to drive myogenic differentiation [137,138]. WNT7A has been shown to promote symmetric expansion of MuSCs through noncanonical signaling via the receptor FZD7 [21,105,139]. A report showed that the secreted R-spondin protein RPSO1 potentiates these Wnt signaling pathways, promoting WNT3A activation and suppressing WNT7A signaling. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 is secreted by the myofiber and binds the receptor CXCR4 on satellite cells. First identified as a migratory factor during development [140], it regulates the proliferation of progenitor cells and terminally differentiated myoblasts and is necessary for fusion [141,142]. Further elucidation of how satellite cell behaviors are regulated in normal muscle homeostasis and regeneration and are dysregulated in degenerative muscle conditions will be instrumental for the development of methods to maintain and expand MuSCs in culture and therapies directed toward endogenous MuSCs or using transplanted MuSCs.

#### **Biophysical Cues**

MuSCs are highly sensitive to changes in the mechanical and topological components of their niche. Cells can respond to extracellular biophysical cues through a variety of mechanotransduction mechanisms [143]. Rigidity of the surrounding matrix, characterized by Young's modulus, is known to direct cultured multipotent mesenchymal stem cells toward myogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, or osteogenic cell fates in culture [144]. In muscle, matrix rigidity has been shown to be highly important for maintaining MuSC self-renewal and stem cell functions. In vivo, skeletal muscle stiffness increases during age and disease as a result of increased fibrosis [145–148]. Elevated rigidity of skeletal muscle is apparent in the *mdx* mouse model of DMD, which has an elastic modulus of E > 18 kPa

after age 4 months [145,146]. MuSCs plated on hard plastic, which have a Young's modulus of  $E \sim 10^6$  kPa, lose stem cell function within 7 days. A hydrogel material with the same rigidity as muscle tissue (E = 12 kPa) promotes cell survival, prevents differentiation, and maintains stem cell function, as measured by transplantation assay [149]. These findings suggest that alterations in the elasticity or rigidity of skeletal muscle tissue may have profound effects on the contributions of satellite cells and myogenic progenitors to muscle regeneration.

#### Metabolic Cues

Skeletal muscle is a highly metabolic tissue that is crucial for maintaining metabolic homeostasis in the organism and functions as a rheostat for metabolic health. Evidence has shown that metabolic cues are critical regulators of MuSC behavior and function [150]. Quiescent MuSCs have been found to associate closely with capillaries [53]; they have a high expression of oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism genes and exhibit evidence of mitochondrial respiration with little anaerobic glycolysis [151]. Upon activation, MuSCs switch to more anaerobic glycolysis, concomitant with downregulation of fatty acid metabolism genes [151] as well as increased autophagy to support bioenergetic demands [152]. During muscle regeneration, the heightened inflammatory state also affects MuSCs outside the direct injury site, inducing cells into an "alert" state poised to enter the cell cycle, characterized by increased metabolic activity and activation of the nutrient-sensing mammalian target of rapamycin complex pathway [153].

The metabolic state of the tissue has important implications for the function of MuSCs. Aged MuSCs, which have reduced function compared with young controls, exhibit mitochondrial dysfunction and an aberrant expression of metabolic genes in mice [154]. Restoration of mitochondrial activity by treatment with nicotinamide riboside, a precursor of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD<sup>+</sup>), increased MuSC numbers and improved the function of both MuSCs and total muscle in aged mice. NAD<sup>+</sup>, a by-product of a number of metabolic processes including the oxidative respiratory chain, has also been shown to be critical for the activation of MuSCs. MuSCs activated by short-term cell culture have decreased NAD<sup>+</sup> levels, concomitant with increased anaerobic glucose metabolism. These metabolic changes lead to increased histone acetylation mediated by decreased activity of the NAD-dependent histone deacetylase SIRT1. Knockout of *Sirt1* in PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs results in aberrant activation and increased histone acetylation of quiescent cells, leading to decreased regenerative capacity [151]. Finally, short-term calorie restriction (12 weeks) of young or aged mice has been shown to enhance MuSC numbers and stem cell function, including increased ex vivo myogenic colony-forming capacity and the ability to engraft into recipient (WT) muscle tissue [155]. Caloric restriction also increased mitochondrial capacity and respiration and increased the fraction of MuSCs expressing *Sirt1*. MuSCs isolated from WT tissue and transplanted into calorie-restricted recipients also showed increased engraftment, which demonstrated that the benefits of calorie restriction are extrinsic as well as intrinsic.

In contrast, muscle regeneration is known to be impaired in obesity and type 2 diabetes (T2D) [156,157], conditions that result in muscle-specific metabolic inflexibility and increased mitochondrial stress [158]. Mice given a high-fat diet (HFD) (60% kcal) to induce glucose intolerance have reduced muscle regeneration after either shortterm (3–6 weeks) [159] or long-term (8 months) [157] administration of the diet compared with normal diet (10% kcal) controls. These regenerative defects are also cell-intrinsic. MuSCs isolated from mice fed an HFD for 8 weeks have reduced proliferative capacity ex vivo, together with attenuated muscle regeneration after cardiotoxin injury in HFD muscle [160].

In humans, myoblasts derived from patients with metabolic dysfunction also retain intrinsic defects. Metabolic studies show that myotubes derived from patients with T2D retain a diabetic phenotype in culture, including increased lactate production, decreased glucose uptake as well as incorporation of glucose into glycogen, and increased expression of genes involved in mitochondrial and fatty acid metabolism [161,162]. A separate investigation showed increased pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 expression after stimulation with fatty acids (palmitic or oleic acid) in T2D myotubes [163]. Furthermore, myotubes from extremely obese patients secrete 2.9-fold more myostatin, an inhibitor of skeletal muscle hypertrophy, compared with lean controls [164]. The effect of caloric restriction on MuSCs is considerably more difficult to assess in humans, but evidence suggests that, as in mouse models, it may have a beneficial effect on muscle metabolism in humans [165,166].

# SATELLITE CELL SELF-RENEWAL MECHANISMS

The MuSC pool is maintained by self-renewal, which results from two proliferation mechanisms: (1) asymmetric self-renewal, in which a stem cell divides into one differentiated cell and one stem cell; and (2) symmetric self-renewal, in which a stem cell divides to become two equivalent stem cells. MuSCs can also remain quiescent or

18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS IGF-1 Notch Sprouty Sprouty ρ38α/β ΜΑΡΚ ρ38βα/β ΜΑΡΚ FGF2-Beta-1 integrin Notch Wnt3a Scrib Wnt7a-Frizzled7 Symmetric Self-Renewal Quiescence Differentiation Asymmetric Self-renewal Expansion of stem cell pool Depletion of stem cell pool Maintenance of stem cell pool Muscle stem cell Committed progenitor Differentiated progenitor

FIGURE 18.3 Muscle stem cell (MuSC) fates during regeneration and promoting factors. During regeneration, the quiescent MuSC pool can be depleted through death and differentiation. After activation by injury, this pool can be maintained through two types of self-renewal: asymmetric and symmetric. In asymmetric stem cell self-renewal, a stem cell divides into one committed progenitor that will eventually differentiate and one stem cell maintains the MuSCs pool. Expansion of the MuSC pool occurs with symmetric stem cell self-renewal when a stem cell divides to generate two equivalent stem cells. *FGF2*, fibroblast growth factor-2; *IGF-1*, insulin-like growth factor-1; *MAPK*, mitogen-activated protein kinase.

differentiate (Fig. 18.3). Under homeostasis, it is believed that asymmetric self-renewal is sufficient to meet the demands of normal cell turnover. However, during injury the demand for expansion of stem cells likely also requires symmetric self-renewal [167]. In the mouse, self-renewal mechanisms of MuSCs have been studied through lineage tracing with the transgenic *Myf5-Cre/ROSA26-YFP* mouse [21,34], which expresses yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) after expression of the MuSC activation gene *Myf5*. These studies showed that Notch signaling drives the asymmetric division of quiescent PAX7<sup>+</sup>MYF5<sup>-</sup> MuSCs into one PAX7<sup>+</sup>MYF5<sup>-</sup> and PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>+</sup> cell [34], and that WNT7A signaling drives the symmetric division of one PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>-</sup> MuSC into two PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>-</sup> cells [21]. Differences between symmetric and asymmetric division have also been demonstrated through dye-dilution studies, which identified slow-dividing MuSCs capable of generating progeny with long-term self-renewal properties [168,169]. Similarly, bromodeoxyuridine labeling of transgenic *Pax7-nGFP* mice showed that MuSCs that express high levels of *Pax7* (*Pax7*<sup>Hi</sup>) have higher self-renewal capacity compared with MuSCs with low levels of *Pax7* (*Pax7*<sup>Lo</sup>). Furthermore, in accordance to the immortal strand hypothesis, *Pax7*<sup>Hi</sup> MuSCs undergo asymmetric chromosome segregation, allowing the template DNA strand to segregate exclusively to one daughter cell to maintain its stem cell identity. In contrast, *Pax7*<sup>Lo</sup> MuSCs show random chromosome segregation [35].

The polarity of signaling components in the stem cell niche dictates whether MuSC division is asymmetric and symmetric. Apical-basal polarity cues orient the mitotic spindle during division, leading to asymmetric stem cell division perpendicular to the basal lamina [34,170], whereas symmetric divisions occur in a planar fashion [21,105]. During asymmetric division, quiescent PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>-</sup> MuSCs result in one PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>-</sup> and one PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>+</sup> cell. In most of these divisions, the PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>+</sup> cell is pushed apically toward the host myofiber whereas the daughter cell that remains on the basal lamina is MYF5<sup>-</sup> [34]. The Notch ligand *Delta1* is upregulated in the PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYF5<sup>+</sup> daughter cell. Pharmacological inhibition of Notch signaling decreased cell division and increased the number of differentiated PAX7<sup>-</sup>/MYOD<sup>+</sup> cells, which implicates the Notch pathway in the maintenance of self-renewal through asymmetric divisions as well as quiescence [134]. It has also been shown that dystrophin, which is primarily expressed by the muscle fiber, also regulates the polarity of MuSC division through microtubule affinity regulating kinase 2 [170]. Dystrophin is expressed when MuSCs are activated and is localized asymmetrically to one side of the cell just before division. In the absence of dystrophin, asymmetric division is impaired, leading to the loss of apicobasal division and a reduction in the number of myogenic progenitors.

Evidence has shown that polarity may also be directed by the basolateral Scribble complex, which is expressed in MuSCs upon activation. During asymmetric division, it becomes segregated into the progenitor cell committed to differentiation. It can also segregate symmetrically when both cells differentiate [171].

Symmetric divisions result in two equivalent daughter cells and occur in a planar cell orientation. WNT7A is secreted by regenerating myofibers and directs symmetric cell division through noncanonical Wnt signaling mediated through the FZD7 receptor to stimulate the planar cell polarity pathway (PCP). Stimulation of MuSCs on isolated myofibers with WNT7a induces symmetric cell division and polarized localization of the PCP protein VANGL2 on opposite ends of daughter cells [21]. In addition, WNT7A increases motility and migration of MuSCs through the Rho-GTPase Rac1 [139]. Upstream, FZD7 is part of a coreceptor complex with SDC4, which binds to the ECM protein fibronectin [105]. Fibronectin is produced by myogenic progenitors and fibroblasts in the regenerating muscle. Transient upregulation of fibronectin enhances WNT7A-mediated symmetric expansion and inhibits differentiation, whereas loss of fibronectin impairs maintenance of the MuSC pool. STAT3 signaling has been shown to be involved in maintenance of quiescence; studies showed that acute inhibition leads to MuSC expansion, increased symmetric cell divisions, and improved muscle regeneration [172,173]. However, other studies showed that chronic, long-term ablation of *Stat3* leads to gradual depletion of MuSCs and the loss of regenerative capacity over time [174].

An alternative potential mechanism of satellite cell self-renewal is reversion from a committed myogenic progenitor back into a quiescent satellite cell. In mice, it was observed that a rare subset of myofiber-derived PAX7<sup>+</sup>MYOD<sup>+</sup> progenitors do not differentiate further into myogenin<sup>+</sup> cells but instead lose *MyoD1* expression and revert to a quiescent PAX7<sup>+</sup>/MYOD<sup>-</sup> satellite cell state [175]. This reversion may be mediated by the upregulation of SPRY1, a negative regulator of growth factor—activated receptor tyrosine kinase signaling that is associated with the reestablishment of satellite cell pool are governed by self-renewal mechanisms that, although incompletely understood, are likely regulated by the active presentation of specific niche-associated extrinsic signals in a dose-dependent, temporally, and spatially controlled manner [139]. Ex vivo, inhibition of the tumor suppressors pRb as well as p19ARF has been shown to be sufficient to reverse committed postmitotic myocytes to the proliferative progenitor state [176]. This reversion process, known as dedifferentiation, has been shown to involve a mechanism characteristic of early programmed cell death [177]. Future studies that replicate the niche with bioengineered platforms or interfere with niche signals will facilitate maintenance and expansion ex vivo for subsequent transplantation; studies that target and activate the endogenous activation of MuSCs will find useful applications in regenerative medicine.

#### MUSCLE STEM CELL–INTRINSIC DEFECTS IN AGING AND DISEASE

With aging and disease, the stem cell capacity of MuSCs declines both intrinsically and extrinsically. Cellular turnover as well as extrinsic changes to the environment result in intrinsic alterations to MuSC fate, leading to compromised muscle mass and function. The number of PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs per myofiber decreases with age, concomitant with a decline in regenerative capacity and muscle mass [119]. Even before MuSC numbers decline appreciably (>18 months in the mouse) [137,178], however, there is a shift toward greater heterogeneity in the MuSC population. With age, there is an increased proportion of MuSCs with reduced clonal proliferation capacity and a smaller fraction is able to develop into muscle myofibers when transplanted into recipient muscles [26]. Aged MuSCs exhibit increased expression of the senescence marker  $p16^{Ink4a}$ , elevated phosphorylation of the inflammatory  $p38\alpha/\beta$  MAPK pathway, and upregulation of inflammatory cytokines and cytokine receptors [26,123,137,179]. These age-associated changes in MuSCs accompany sarcopenia, or age-related muscle wasting. During sarcopenia there is a reduction in the number of nuclei leading to myofiber atrophy [7]. Evidence showed that MuSCs contribute to myofibers even in the absence of injury [11]. There is also evidence suggesting that inducible depletion of MuSCs slightly worsens sarcopenia [11], although other studies claimed it is insufficient [8].

During aging there is also an accumulation of senescent cells that are alive but nondividing. These cells produce an array of cytokines, growth factors, and proteases, known as the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) [180], which has been shown to be beneficial for wound repair [181]. SASPs have also been causally implicated in generating age-related phenotypes in adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and the eye [182]. The senescent marker  $p16^{Ink4a}$  is upregulated in geriatric (age ~75 years) human satellite cells compared with young (age 25 years) counterparts and is reduced in myogenesis [179]. In geriatric mice (age >24 months),  $p16^{Ink4a}$  expression leads to reduced activation after injury and accumulation of senescent MuSCs, resulting in impaired muscle regeneration. Conditional deletion of the  $p16^{Ink4a}$  gene in PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs restores the capacity of quiescent geriatric MuSCs to be activated and reduces the expression of senescence-associated genes.

#### 18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS

In addition to senescence, a number of signaling pathways are dysregulated in aging. Many are pathways that are transiently upregulated or downregulated during activation in young, healthy MuSCs after injury. For example, the balance of Notch and Wnt pathways is critical during regeneration, with a temporal switch from Notch to Wnt during normal myogenesis [138]. Notch signaling is important for MuSC activation and self-renewal, whereas Wnt antagonizes Notch and promotes differentiation. However, during aging, expression of the Notch ligand Delta-1 decreases in muscle. Consequently, MuSCs are exposed to increased levels of WNT3A (wingless-type mouse mammary tumor virus integration site family, member 3A), which impair self-renewal and induce fibrogenic differentiation of MuSCs and muscle progenitors through  $\beta$ -catenin signaling [137]. Oxytocin is another signaling molecule that is altered in aged mice. Better known for its role in lactation and social behaviors, oxytocin is expressed systemically, and in young MuSCs it promotes muscle regeneration. Expression of oxytocin declines in aging. Depletion of oxytocin in young mice causes premature sarcopenia, whereas repletion results in proliferation and rejuvenates MuSC function [183].

Chronic inflammation and dysregulation of inflammatory pathways are particularly potent drivers of aging phenotypes in MuSCs. A temporally regulated, transient immune response is a critical component of regeneration. However, aging leads to chronic inflammation and elevation of cytokines, resulting in aberrant cell-autonomous activation of the stress-associated p38 $\alpha/\beta$  mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and the cytokine-stimulated JAK2/STAT3 signaling axes, among others [26]. Increased activity of p38 $\alpha/\beta$  suppresses *Pax7* expression through repressive chromatin modifications [184] and results in the loss of self-renewal capacity [26,185]. Inhibition of p38 $\alpha/\beta$  activity has been shown to rejuvenate stem cell function of aged MuSCs [26]. Activation of JAK2 leads to activation of its target STAT3, which causes asymmetric division and *MyoD1* expression in MuSCs [172,173]. In vitro and transplantation experiments in vivo showed that acute inhibition of JAK phosphorylation or STAT3 activity promotes symmetric MuSC expansion and rescues muscle regeneration in aged and dystrophic mice [172,173]. Factors secreted by muscle fibers during regeneration are also dysregulated in aging. Aged muscle fibers aberrantly express the growth factor *Fgf2* in homeostasis, which causes a subset of MuSCs to exit quiescence and lose their selfrenewing capacity owing, in part, to reduced SPRY1 levels [123]. Normal MuSCs from healthy young animals typically express SPRY1, which inhibits FGF signaling in vivo.

MuSCs isolated from diseased muscle have compromised regenerative capacity and stem cell function. In the *mdx* mouse model of DMD, which lacks the key muscle structural protein dystrophin, MuSCs in limb and diaphragm muscles are forced to undergo constant rounds of activation and proliferation because of the constitutive degeneration of the tissue. Early studies showed that myoblasts isolated from patients with DMD exhibit a reduction in proliferative capacity and senesce more readily than myoblasts isolated from healthy controls [18,186,187]. Reduced proliferation and self-renewal capacity are also observed in MuSCs from the *mdx/mTR*<sup>G2</sup> humanized model of DMD [20]. To generate this mouse model, which has shortened telomeres with lengths approximating those of humans, *mdx* mice were crossed with the *mTR* mouse, which lacks telomerase activity because of the absence of the RNA component of the enzyme. MuSCs from these animals have reduced proliferative capacity after injury as well as a reduced capacity to engraft when transplanted into recipient WT muscle. This cell-intrinsic restriction of self-renewal and proliferation further revealed disease phenotypes in the mouse that are present in human patients, but were not previously observed in the *mdx* mouse alone: namely, progressive muscle degeneration across skeletal muscle types and premature death resulting from dilated cardiomyopathy [20,188]. The role of MuSCs in other genetic myopathies remains to seem.

# CHALLENGES IN THE USE OF SATELLITE CELLS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

MuSCs have a great potential to be used a cell therapy; however, many significant challenges remain unmet for the use of human satellite cells in transplant-based clinical regenerative medicine applications. Although much progress has been made toward identifying surface markers to isolate human MuSCs prospectively, satellite cell transplantations require intramuscular injections to deliver functional stem cells efficiently to recipient muscle tissue. This cell type is unable to access muscle tissue when delivered systemically through the vasculature [189,190]. Therefore, treating all muscles of the body is untenable. This limitation restricts the use of MuSC transplantations to small and easily accessible muscles and makes regenerative therapy impractical for all muscles or muscles that are difficult to access, such as the diaphragm.

Before the identification of satellite cell isolation markers, researchers and clinicians long proposed using human myoblasts as a source of cells for muscle therapeutic applications. Myoblasts can be generated from enzymatically digested muscle tissue or isolated satellite cells [191] and rapidly proliferate in culture. Because they can be

#### OTHER STEM CELL TYPES WITHIN MUSCLE

maintained and expanded in culture while retaining myogenic potential, myoblasts are an attractive source for cellbased therapies. In clinical trials in the 1980s, transplanted human myoblasts were shown to fuse with endogenous muscle fibers and led to the production of functional dystrophin in the myofibers of patients with DMD [85,192]. However, a large proportion of myoblasts die after injection, expansion is extremely limited, and they do not engraft into a stem cell niche and thus ultimately fail to provide long-term therapeutic benefit.

These clinical findings are corroborated by engraftment studies of satellite cells and myoblasts transplanted into damaged mouse muscles. A major challenge for preclinical and clinical studies is that MuSCs in mice and humans are rare (about 5% of all muscle nuclei), and cannot be maintained for more than a few days. Therefore, expansion ex vivo is limited. Culture of satellite cells for more than a few days in standard tissue culture conditions results in conversion to a myoblast phenotype with a dramatically diminished self-renewal potential [30,76]. Improvements have been made in culture platforms, which have allowed for the extended maintenance of MuSC potential in vitro. Biomimetic materials have been developed that can be precisely fine-tuned to mimic biophysical cues provided by the MuSC niche. Engineered poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-based hydrogels have been engineered that replicate the physiological stiffness of the MuSC environment [149], which is five orders of magnitude less stiff than tissue culture plastic, allowing maintenance of stem cell potential. These hydrogels can be functionalized with specific tethered ligands, including adhesion and growth factors, and are resistant to degradation and nonspecific protein absorption [193]. Hydrogels are advantageous over Matrigel, which is composed of uncharacterized amino acids and growth factors. Artificial muscle myofiber preparations have also been developed to mimic the stem cell niche of the myofiber, using collagen-based hydrogels to fine-tune the stiffness of the substrate [194]. Like PEG-based hydrogels, these artificial myofibers promote stemness combined with defined media conditions, leading to enhanced engraftment after transplantation. In addition to biophysical cues, cell culture media have been optimized. Screens have identified a number of defined factors, including forskolin, p38/MAPK inhibitors, and TGF-β, which promote MuSC expansion and self-renewal [26,194,195]. A synergy of biophysical and biochemical cues provided by 12-kPa hydrogels and the p38/MAPK inhibitor SB202190 rejuvenates the function of the aged MuSC populations. After transplantation, aged mouse muscles exhibit strength on par with young ones. Nonetheless, further experimentation is warranted to establish methods to extend the culture life span and propagation of MuSCs for cell therapeutic application. The need is even greater for satellite cells bearing genetic defects, such as those present in patients with DMD, that require ex vivo gene editing before transplantation.

#### GENE EDITING STRATEGIES

Advances in gene editing strategies have created the possibility of autologous cell therapy transplantation for patients with genetic disorders. Through gene editing, genetic defects such as dystrophin mutations found in DMD can potentially be corrected through systemic delivery, or in MuSCs isolated from patients, which would then be transplanted back into the tissue. A number of strategies have targeted muscle systemically, including viral delivery of mini- or microdystrophin genes by adenoassociated virus (AAV) vectors [196,197], and oligonucleotide mediated exon skipping to restore the dystrophin reading frame [198,199]. Notable progress has been made using the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated-9 (Cas9) genome editing system, which targets DNA sequences with a single guide RNA and cleaves the target with the Cas9 nuclease [200]. Proof-of-concept studies have demonstrated the feasibility of AAV-mediated delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 to the skeletal muscle of the dystrophic *mdx* mouse model [201–203], partially restoring dystrophin expression and skeletal muscle function. Restoration of dystrophin was primarily shown for myofibers. However, these strategies still must be optimized to increase efficiency. Moreover, targeting MuSCs, which would lead to long-term correction, remains a challenge, and subsequent gene editing in a nondividing cell constitutes an additional hurdle. Also, specific CRISPR/Cas9 correction requires targeting sequences to be tailored for each patient's mutation. Regardless, progress is rapidly being made, offering hope for tenable gene therapy options.

### OTHER STEM CELL TYPES WITHIN MUSCLE

Several other myogenic cell types have been proposed as alternatives to the satellite cell. A number of other alternative MuSC sources and muscle-resident nonmuscle cells that contribute to regeneration have been characterized. These include blood vessel—associated mesoangioblasts [204,205], pericytes [189,206], and myogenic cells derived from induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells [207]. These cell types are discussed in this section. Although many of these cell sources have potential characteristics for cell therapy applications, their roles in normal development and muscle regeneration and their anatomical locations have not been fully documented. They may not represent the native MuSC but they may have therapeutic utility.

## Other Stem Cell Types Within Muscle

A number of other cell types in the muscle are integral to regeneration. Muscle-resident cell types including blood vessel—associated mesoangioblasts, pericytes, FAPs, and TWIST2<sup>+</sup> (Tw2<sup>+</sup>) myogenic progenitors have been shown to be contribute to regeneration in addition to MuSCs. Mesoangioblasts are blood vessel—associated multipotent mesodermal progenitors that can be isolated from fetal muscle biopsy tissue fragments containing small blood vessels [205]. They are an attractive source because they can be expanded in culture and contribute to muscle regeneration effectively throughout the body without tumor formation after intraarterial delivery owing to their ability to extravasate from the vasculature. Reliance on fetal tissue to isolate mesoangioblasts can be overcome by using an alternative but related population of blood vessel—associated cells called pericytes that are present in adult humans [189]. The advantageous characteristics of mesoangioblasts have motivated their extensive preclinical evaluation, including in the Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy model, which closely mimics human DMD [204]. However, clinical trials have shown that although mesangioblast transplantation is relatively safe, it has limited efficacy in human patients [208].

Fibroblasts and adipocytes within the muscle tissue arise from FAPs, also characterized as nonmyogenic mesenchymal stem cells. FAPs can be isolated based on CD45<sup>-</sup>/CD31<sup>-</sup>,  $\alpha$ 7-integrin<sup>-</sup>, SCA1<sup>+</sup>, and CD34<sup>+</sup> cell-surface marker expression [209]. Mesenchymal stem cells can be isolated based on CD45<sup>-</sup>/CD31<sup>-</sup>, SM/C2.6<sup>-</sup>, and PDGFR $\alpha^+$  expression, parameters that select for a functionally and phenotypically equivalent population of cells to FAPs [210]. Both cell types are capable of differentiating into adipocytes and fibroblasts in vitro, producing both  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin–expressing fibroblasts and perilipin/peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$ –expressing adipocytes. Upon injection of glycerol, transplanted FAPs and mesenchymal progenitors underwent adipogenic differentiation in vivo. Although fibrosis is generally associated with aging and disease, muscle-resident fibroblasts are necessary for regeneration [211]; ablation leads to decreased myofiber size and premature MuSC differentiation. Reciprocally, during regeneration, muscle progenitors have been shown to regulate ECM deposition by fibrogenic cells within the muscle through secreted exosomes containing MiR-206 [212].

Finally, the transcription factor Tw2 was identified as a marker of a separate population of interstitial progenitor cells [212,213]. Tw2<sup>+</sup> progenitors are distinct from PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs. When isolated, they can enter the myogenic pathway by activating PAX7 and MYOD1. In vivo, Tw2<sup>+</sup> progenitors contribute specifically to type IIB/X fibers during homeostasis and are required for maintenance of type-IIB/X fiber size. However, Tw2<sup>+</sup> progenitors cannot sustain regeneration in the absence of PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs.

# Induced Pluripotent Stem–Derived Muscle Stem Cells

IPS cell–derived MuSCs have been developed as a tool to study human myogenesis in regeneration and disease as well as to provide a source for cell therapy–based therapies. Human and mouse muscle cells have been derived from embryonic stem cells or iPS cells through overexpression of myogenic transcription factors such as MYOD1, PAX3, or PAX7 [207,214–217]. Studies have demonstrated the generation of human and mouse muscle progenitors capable of differentiating into mature myofibers using exogenous signaling factors [218–220] These protocols were derived from an understanding of developmental principles and sequentially expressed regulators. As such, they all share similar features of activating Wnt and inhibiting Notch signaling, a protocol that has also been used to derive skeletal muscle progenitors and myocytes from human pluripotent stem cells [221]. A major advantage of human iPS cells is that they constitute an unlimited cell source that can be infinitely propagated. A major drawback is that derivation of human iPS cells and subsequent differentiation into PAX7<sup>+</sup> MuSCs is lengthy and inefficient. Optimization is needed, but much progress has been made, and now that markers of adult human MuSCs have been characterized, flow cytometry enrichment protocols are at hand. As such, human IPS cells hold great promise for muscle cell therapies in the future.

#### REFERENCES

# CONCLUSIONS

Muscle satellite cells are essential for postnatal muscle regeneration and maintenance. They have been shown to be native MuSCs, and their study has provided critical insights into the mechanisms of muscle regeneration. However, their therapeutic use continues to be restricted by cell transplantation constraints, including the inability to contribute to myogenesis extensively when delivered systemically, and their limited capacity to be expanded and maintained in culture. Technological advances such as improved cell culture platforms and iPS cell-derived human MuSC strategies offer great promise to overcome these limitations. In addition to improving satellite cell transplantation in preclinical models, advances in MuSC in vitro technologies have led to the identification of SB202190 and should prove useful for identifying additional therapeutic agents that stimulate the regenerative contributions of satellite cells. Efforts to augment the function of endogenous satellite cells within muscle tissues are warranted for muscle wasting caused by sarcopenia or cachexia, but not conditions such as muscular dystrophy, for which such agents would exacerbate the disease. Furthermore, novel noninvasive imaging methods such as BLI and IVM enable the quantitative assessment of regeneration over time. Advances in isolating human MuSCs, iPS technology, and the validation of alternative cell types capable of contributing to human muscle regeneration may lead to the clinical realization of much-needed stem cell therapies for prevalent muscular dystrophies and muscle wasting conditions that accompany aging.

# References

- Zurlo F, Larson K, Bogardus C, Ravussin E. Skeletal muscle metabolism is a major determinant of resting energy expenditure. J Clin Invest 1990;86(5):1423–7.
- [2] Mauro A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 1961;9(2):493.
- [3] Sambasivan R, Yao R, Kissenpfennig A, Van Wittenberghe L, Paldi A, Gayraud-Morel B, et al. Pax7-expressing satellite cells are indispensable for adult skeletal muscle regeneration. Development 2011;138(17):3647–56.
- [4] Lepper C, Partridge TA, Fan C-M. An absolute requirement for Pax7-positive satellite cells in acute injury-induced skeletal muscle regeneration. Development 2011;138(17):3639–46.
- [5] Collins CA, Olsen I, Zammit PS, Heslop L, Petrie A, Partridge TA, et al. Stem cell function, self-renewal, and behavioral heterogeneity of cells from the adult muscle satellite cell niche. Cell 2005;122(2):289–301.
- [6] Tanaka KK, Hall JK, Troy AA, Cornelison DDW, Majka SM, Olwin BB. Syndecan-4-expressing muscle progenitor cells in the SP engraft as satellite cells during muscle regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(3):217–25.
- [7] Brack AS, Bildsoe H, Hughes SM. Evidence that satellite cell decrement contributes to preferential decline in nuclear number from large fibres during murine age-related muscle atrophy. J Cell Sci 2005;118(Pt 20):4813–21.
- [8] Fry CS, Lee JD, Mula J, Kirby TJ, Jackson JR, Liu F, et al. Inducible depletion of satellite cells in adult, sedentary mice impairs muscle regenerative capacity without affecting sarcopenia. Nat Med 2015;21(1):76–80.
- [9] Schmalbruch H, Lewis DM. Dynamics of nuclei of muscle fibers and connective tissue cells in normal and denervated rat muscles. Muscle Nerve 2000;23(4):617–26.
- [10] Pawlikowski B, Pulliam C, Betta ND, Kardon G, Olwin BB. Pervasive satellite cell contribution to uninjured adult muscle fibers. Skeletal Muscle 2015;5(1):42.
- [11] Keefe AC, Lawson JA, Flygare SD, Fox ZD, Colasanto MP, Mathew SJ, et al. Muscle stem cells contribute to myofibres in sedentary adult mice. Nat Commun 2015;6:7087.
- [12] Carlson BM. The regeneration of skeletal muscle—a review. Am J Anat 1973;137(2):119–49.
- [13] Grounds MD. Towards understanding skeletal muscle regeneration. Pathol Res Pract 1991;187(1):1-22.
- [14] Blake DJ, Weir A, Newey SE, Davies KE. Function and genetics of dystrophin and dystrophin-related proteins in muscle. Physiol Rev 2002; 82(2):291–329.
- [15] Campbell KP, Kahl SD. Association of dystrophin and an integral membrane glycoprotein. Nature 1989;338.
- [16] Ervasti JM, Campbell KP. A role for the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex as a transmembrane linker between laminin and actin. J Cell Biol 1993;122.
- [17] Webster C, Blau HM. Accelerated age-related decline in replicative life-span of Duchenne muscular dystrophy myoblasts: implications for cell and gene therapy. Somat Cell Mol Genet 1990;16(6):557–65.
- [18] Blau HM, Webster C, Pavlath GK. Defective myoblasts identified in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1983;80(15): 4856–60.
- [19] Heslop L, Morgan JE, Partridge TA. Evidence for a myogenic stem cell that is exhausted in dystrophic muscle. J Cell Sci 2000;113(12):2299.

[20] Sacco A, Mourkioti F, Tran R, Choi J, Llewellyn M, Kraft P, et al. Short telomeres and stem cell exhaustion model Duchenne muscular dystrophy in mdx/mTR mice. Cell 2010;143(7):1059–71.

- [21] Le Grand F, Jones AE, Seale V, Scimè A, Rudnicki MA. Wnt7a activates the planar cell polarity pathway to drive the symmetric expansion of satellite stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(6):535–47.
- [22] Saini A, Faulkner S, Al-Shanti N, Stewart C. Powerful signals for weak muscles. Ageing Res Rev 2009;8(4):251-67.
- [23] Guiraud S, Chen H, Burns DT, Davies KE. Advances in genetic therapeutic strategies for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Exp Physiol 2015; 100(12):1458–67.

287

#### 18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS

- [24] Fairclough RJ, Wood MJ, Davies KE. Therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: renewed optimism from genetic approaches. Nat Rev Genet 2013;14(6):373–8.
- [25] Cosgrove BD, Sacco A, Gilbert PM, Blau HM. A home away from home: challenges and opportunities in engineering in vitro muscle satellite cell niches. Differentiation 2009;78:185–94.
- [26] Cosgrove BD, Gilbert PM, Porpiglia E, Mourkioti F, Lee SP, Corbel SY, et al. Rejuvenation of the muscle stem cell population restores strength to injured aged muscles. Nat Med 2014;20(3):255–64.
- [27] von Maltzahn J, Jones AE, Parks RJ, Rudnicki MA. Pax7 is critical for the normal function of satellite cells in adult skeletal muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013;110(41):16474–9.
- [28] Seale P, Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Mansouri A, Gruss P, Rudnicki MA. Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell 2000;102(6):777–86.
- [29] Oustanina S, Hause G, Braun T. Pax7 directs postnatal renewal and propagation of myogenic satellite cells but not their specification. EMBO J 2004;23(16):3430–9.
- [30] Montarras D, Morgan J, Collins C, Relaix F, Zaffran S, Cumano A, et al. Direct isolation of satellite cells for skeletal muscle regeneration. Science 2005;309:2064–7.
- [31] Boutet SC, Disatnik M-H, Chan LS, Iori K, Rando TA. Regulation of Pax3 by proteasomal degradation of monoubiquitinated protein in skeletal muscle progenitors. Cell 2007;130(2):349–62.
- [32] Lepper C, Conway SJ, Fan C-M. Adult satellite cells and embryonic muscle progenitors have distinct genetic requirements. Nature 2009; 460(7255):627–31.
- [33] Relaix F, Montarras D, Zaffran S, Gayraud-Morel B, Rocancourt D, Tajbakhsh S, et al. Pax3 and Pax7 have distinct and overlapping functions in adult muscle progenitor cells. J Cell Biol 2006;172(1):91–102.
- [34] Kuang S, Kuroda K, Le Grand F, Rudnicki MA. Asymmetric self-renewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. Cell 2007;129(5): 999–1010.
- [35] Rocheteau P, Gayraud-Morel B, Siegl-Cachedenier I, Blasco MA, Tajbakhsh S. A subpopulation of adult skeletal muscle stem cells retains all template DNA strands after cell division. Cell 2012;148:112–25.
- [36] Lassar AB, Paterson BM, Weintraub H. Transfection of a DNA locus that mediates the conversion of 10T12 fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 1986;47(5):649–56.
- [37] Porpiglia E, Samusik N, Van Ho AT, Cosgrove BD, Mai T, Davis KL, et al. High-resolution myogenic lineage mapping by single-cell mass cytometry. Nat Cell Biol 2017;19.
- [38] Conerly ML, Yao Z, Zhong JW, Groudine M, Tapscott SJ. Distinct activities of Myf5 and MyoD indicate separate roles in skeletal muscle lineage specification and differentiation. Dev Cell 2016;36(4):375–85.
- [39] Crist Colin G, Montarras D, Buckingham M. Muscle satellite cells are primed for myogenesis but maintain quiescence with sequestration of Myf5 mRNA targeted by microRNA-31 in mRNP granules. Cell Stem Cell 2012;11(1):118–26.
- [40] Kassar-Duchossoy L, Gayraud-Morel B, Gomes D, Rocancourt D, Buckingham M, Shinin V, et al. Mrf4 determines skeletal muscle identity in Myf5:Myod double-mutant mice. Nature 2004;431(7007):466–71.
- [41] Moretti I, Ciciliot S, Dyar KA, Abraham R, Murgia M, Agatea L, et al. MRF4 negatively regulates adult skeletal muscle growth by repressing MEF2 activity. Nat Commun 2016;7:12397.
- [42] Weintraub H, Davis R, Tapscott S, Thayer M, Krause M, Benezra R, et al. The myoD gene family: nodal point during specification of the muscle cell lineage. Science 1991;251(4995):761–6.
- [43] Rudnicki MA, Schnegelsberg PN, Stead RH, Braun T, Arnold HH, Jaenisch R. MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell 1993;75(7):1351–9.
- [44] Braun T, Rudnicki MA, Arnold HH, Jaenisch R. Targeted inactivation of the muscle regulatory gene Myf-5 results in abnormal rib development and perinatal death. Cell 1992;71(3):369–82.
- [45] Mal A, Harter ML. MyoD is functionally linked to the silencing of a muscle-specific regulatory gene prior to skeletal myogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(4):1735–9.
- [46] Guo K, Wang J, Andrés V, Smith RC, Walsh K. MyoD-induced expression of p21 inhibits cyclin-dependent kinase activity upon myocyte terminal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15(7):3823–9.
- [47] Puri PL, Iezzi S, Stiegler P, Chen TT, Schiltz RL, Muscat GE, et al. Class I histone deacetylases sequentially interact with MyoD and pRb during skeletal myogenesis. Mol Cell 2001;8(4):885–97.
- [48] Puri PL, Avantaggiati ML, Balsano C, Sang N, Graessmann A, Giordano A, et al. p300 is required for MyoD-dependent cell cycle arrest and muscle-specific gene transcription. EMBO J 1997;16(2):369–83.
- [49] Wright WE, Sassoon DA, Lin VK. Myogenin, a factor regulating myogenesis, has a domain homologous to MyoD. Cell 1989;56(4):607-17.
- [50] Silberstein L, Webster SG, Travis M, Blau HM. Developmental progression of myosin gene expression in cultured muscle cells. Cell 1986; 46(7):1075-81.
- [51] Weiss A, McDonough D, Wertman B, Acakpo-Satchivi L, Montgomery K, Kucherlapati R, et al. Organization of human and mouse skeletal myosin heavy chain gene clusters is highly conserved. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96(6):2958–63.
- [52] Schiaffino S, Reggiani C. Fiber types in mammalian skeletal muscles. Physiol Rev 2011;91(4):1447-531.
- [53] Christov C, Chrétien F, Abou-Khalil R, Bassez G, Vallet G, Authier F-J, et al. Muscle satellite cells and endothelial cells: close neighbors and privileged partners. Mol Biol Cell 2007;18(4):1397–409.
- [54] Webster C, Silberstein L, Hays AP, Blau HM. Fast muscle fibers are preferentially affected in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cell 1988;52(4): 503-13.
- [55] Whalen RG, Harris JB, Butler-Browne GS, Sesodia S. Expression of myosin isoforms during notexin-induced regeneration of rat soleus muscles. Dev Biol 1990;141(1):24–40.
- [56] Whalen RG, Butler-Browne GS, Gros F. Identification of a novel form of myosin light chain present in embryonic muscle tissue and cultured muscle cells. J Mol Biol 1978;126(3):415–31.

#### 288

- [57] Whalen RG, Schwartz K, Bouveret P, Sell SM, Gros F. Contractile protein isozymes in muscle development: identification of an embryonic form of myosin heavy chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1979;76(10):5197–201.
- [58] Cho M, Hughes SM, Karsch-Mizrachi I, Travis M, Leinwand LA, Blau HM. Fast myosin heavy chains expressed in secondary mammalian muscle fibers at the time of their inception. J Cell Sci 1994;107(9):2361.
- [59] Hughes SM, Cho M, Karsch-Mizrachi I, Travis M, Silberstein L, Leinwand LA, et al. Three slow myosin heavy chains sequentially expressed in developing mammalian skeletal muscle. Dev Biol 1993;158(1):183–99.
- [60] Cho M, Webster SG, Blau HM. Evidence for myoblast-extrinsic regulation of slow myosin heavy chain expression during muscle fiber formation in embryonic development. J Cell Biol 1993;121(4):795.
- [61] Hughes SM, Blau HM. Muscle fiber pattern is independent of cell lineage in postnatal rodent development. Cell 1992;68(4):659-71.
- [62] Salviati G, Biasia E, Aloisi M. Synthesis of fast myosin induced by fast ectopic innervation of rat soleus muscle is restricted to the ectopic endplate region. Nature 1986;322(6080):637–9.
- [63] Soileau LC, Silberstein L, Blau HM, Thompson WJ. Reinnervation of muscle fiber types in the newborn rat soleus. J Neurosci 1987;7(12):4176.
- [64] Mohler WA, Blau MH. Gene expression and cell fusion analyzed by lacZ complementation in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;92(22):12423–7.
- [65] Charlton CA, Mohler WA, Blau HM. Neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) and myoblast fusion. Dev Biol 2000;221(1):112-9.
- [66] Charlton CA, Mohler WA, Radice GL, Hynes RO, Blau HM. Fusion competence of myoblasts rendered genetically null for N-cadherin in culture. J Cell Biol 1997;138(2):331.
- [67] Yang JT, Rando TA, Mohler WA, Rayburn H, Blau HM, Hynes RO. Genetic analysis of alpha 4 integrin functions in the development of mouse skeletal muscle. J Cell Biol 1996;135(3):829.
- [68] Zeschnigk M, Kozian D, Kuch C, Schmoll M, Starzinski-Powitz A. Involvement of M-cadherin in terminal differentiation of skeletal muscle cells. J Cell Sci 1995;108(9):2973.
- [69] Rosen GD, Sanes JR, LaChance R, Cunningham JM, Roman J, Dean DC. Roles for the integrin VLA-4 and its counter receptor VCAM-1 in myogenesis. Cell 1992;69(7):1107–19.
- [70] Schwander M, Leu M, Stumm M, Dorchies OM, Ruegg UT, Schittny J, et al. Beta1 integrins regulate myoblast fusion and sarcomere assembly. Dev Cell 2003;4(5):673–85.
- [71] Griffin CA, Kafadar KA, Pavlath GK. MOR23 promotes muscle regeneration and regulates cell adhesion and migration. Dev Cell 2009;17(5): 649–61.
- [72] Yagami-Hiromasa T, Sato T, Kurisaki T, Kamijo K, Nabeshima Y-i, Fujisawa-Sehara A. A metalloprotease-disintegrin participating in myoblast fusion. Nature 1995;377(6550):652–6.
- [73] Millay DP, O'Rourke JR, Sutherland LB, Bezprozvannaya S, Shelton JM, Bassel-Duby R, et al. Myomaker is a membrane activator of myoblast fusion and muscle formation. Nature 2013;499(7458):301–5.
- [74] Bi P, Ramirez-Martinez A, Li H, Cannavino J, McAnally JR, Shelton JM, et al. Control of muscle formation by the fusogenic micropeptide myomixer. Science 2017;356.
- [75] Cerletti M, Jurga S, Witczak CA, Hirshman MF, Shadrach JL, Goodyear LJ, et al. Highly efficient, functional engraftment of skeletal muscle stem cells in dystrophic muscles. Cell 2008;134(1):37–47.
- [76] Sacco A, Doyonnas R, Kraft P, Vitorovic S, Blau HM. Self-renewal and expansion of single transplanted muscle stem cells. Nature 2008; 456(7221):502–6.
- [77] Sherwood RI, Christensen JL, Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Rando TA, Weissman IL, et al. Isolation of adult mouse myogenic progenitors: functional heterogeneity of cells within and engrafting skeletal muscle. Cell 2004;119(4):543–54.
- [78] Blanco-Bose WE, Yao C-C, Kramer RH, Blau HM. Purification of mouse primary myoblasts based on α7 integrin expression. Exp Cell Res 2001;265(2):212–20.
- [79] Liu L, Cheung TH, Charville GW, Rando TA. Isolation of skeletal muscle stem cells by fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Nat Protoc 2015; 10(10):1612–24.
- [80] Cornelison DDW, Wold BJ. Single-cell analysis of regulatory gene expression in quiescent and activated mouse skeletal muscle satellite cells. Dev Biol 1997;191(2):270–83.
- [81] Fukada S-i, Higuchi S, Segawa M, Koda K-i, Yamamoto Y, Tsujikawa K, et al. Purification and cell-surface marker characterization of quiescent satellite cells from murine skeletal muscle by a novel monoclonal antibody. Exp Cell Res 2004;296(2):245–55.
- [82] Yamaguchi M, Watanabe Y, Ohtani T, Uezumi A, Mikami N, Nakamura M, et al. Calcitonin receptor signaling inhibits muscle stem cells from escaping the quiescent state and the niche. Cell Rep 2015;13(2):302–14.
- [83] Sambasivan R, Gayraud-Morel B, Dumas G, Cimper C, Paisant S, Kelly RG, et al. Distinct regulatory cascades govern extraocular and pharyngeal arch muscle progenitor cell fates. Dev Cell 2009;16(6):810–21.
- [84] Bosnakovski D, Xu Z, Li W, Thet S, Cleaver O, Perlingeiro RC, Kyba M. Prospective isolation of skeletal muscle stem cells with a Pax7 reporter. Stem Cells 2008;26(12):3194–204.
- [85] Peault B, Rudnicki M, Torrente Y, Cossu G, Tremblay JP, Partridge T, et al. Stem and progenitor cells in skeletal muscle development, maintenance, and therapy. Mol Ther 2007;15(5):867–77.
- [86] Lecourt S, Marolleau J-P, Fromigué O, Vauchez K, Andriamanalijaona R, Ternaux B, et al. Characterization of distinct mesenchymal-like cell populations from human skeletal muscle in situ and in vitro. Exp Cell Res 2010;316(15):2513–26.
- [87] Reimann J, Brimah K, Schröder R, Wernig A, Beauchamp JR, Partridge TA. Pax7 distribution in human skeletal muscle biopsies and myogenic tissue cultures. Cell Tissue Res 2004;315(2):233–42.
- [88] Webster C, Pavlath GK, Parks DR, Walsh FS, Blau HM. Isolation of human myoblasts with the fluorescence-activated cell sorter. Exp Cell Res 1988;174(1):252–65.
- [89] Meng J, Chun S, Asfahani R, Lochmuller H, Muntoni F, Morgan J. Human skeletal muscle-derived CD133+ cells form functional satellite cells after intramuscular transplantation in immunodeficient host mice. Mol Ther 2014;22(5):1008–17.
- [90] Skuk D, Paradis M, Goulet M, Chapdelaine P, Rothstein DM, Tremblay JP. Intramuscular transplantation of human postnatal myoblasts generates functional donor-derived satellite cells. Mol Ther 2010;18(9):1689–97.

#### 18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS

- [91] Castiglioni A, Hettmer S, Lynes Matthew D, Rao Tata N, Tchessalova D, Sinha I, et al. Isolation of progenitors that exhibit myogenic/osteogenic bipotency in vitro by fluorescence-activated cell sorting from human fetal muscle. Stem Cell Rep 2014;2(1):92–106.
- [92] Xu X, Wilschut Karlijn J, Kouklis G, Tian H, Hesse R, Garland C, et al. Human satellite cell transplantation and regeneration from diverse skeletal muscles. Stem Cell Rep 2015;5(3):419–34.
- [93] Charville Gregory W, Cheung Tom H, Yoo B, Santos Pauline J, Lee Gordon K, Shrager Joseph B, et al. Ex vivo expansion and in vivo selfrenewal of human muscle stem cells. Stem Cell Rep 2015;5(4):621–32.
- [94] Alexander MS, Rozkalne A, Colletta A, Spinazzola JM, Johnson S, Rahimov F, et al. CD82 is a marker for prospective isolation of human muscle satellite cells and is linked to muscular dystrophies. Cell Stem Cell 2016;19(6):800–7.
- [95] Uezumi A, Nakatani M, Ikemoto-Uezumi M, Yamamoto N, Morita M, Yamaguchi A, et al. Cell-surface protein profiling identifies distinctive markers of progenitor cells in human skeletal muscle. Stem Cell Rep 2016;7(2):263–78.
- [96] Ho ATV, Blau HM. Noninvasive tracking of quiescent and activated muscle stem cell (MuSC) engraftment dynamics in vivo. In: Kyba M, editor. Skeletal muscle regeneration in the mouse: methods and protocols. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2016. p. 181–9.
- [97] Karpati G. The principles and practice of myoblast transfer. Adv Exp Med Biol 1990;280:69-74.
- [98] Contag CH, Ross BD. It's not just about anatomy: in vivo bioluminescence imaging as an eyepiece into biology. J Magn Reson Imaging 2002; 16(4):378–87.
- [99] Maguire KK, Lim L, Speedy S, Rando TA. Assessment of disease activity in muscular dystrophies by noninvasive imaging. J Clin Investig 2013;123(5):2298–305.
- [100] Martinez L, Ermolova NV, Ishikawa T-O, Stout DB, Herschman HR, Spencer MJ. A reporter mouse for optical imaging of inflammation in mdx muscles. Skeletal Muscle 2015;5:15.
- [101] Chu J, Haynes RD, Corbel SY, Li P, Gonzalez-Gonzalez E, Burg JS, et al. Non-invasive intravital imaging of cellular differentiation with a bright red-excitable fluorescent protein. Nat Meth 2014;11(5):572-8.
- [102] Webster Micah T, Manor U, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Fan C-M. Intravital imaging reveals ghost fibers as architectural units guiding myogenic progenitors during regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18(2):243–52.
- [103] Urciuolo A, Quarta M, Morbidoni V, Gattazzo F, Molon S, Grumati P, et al. Collagen VI regulates satellite cell self-renewal and muscle regeneration. Nat Commun 2013;4:1964.
- [104] Lukjanenko L, Jung MJ, Hegde N, Perruisseau-Carrier C, Migliavacca E, Rozo M, et al. Loss of fibronectin from the aged stem cell niche affects the regenerative capacity of skeletal muscle in mice. Nat Med 2016;22(8):897–905.
- [105] Bentzinger CF, Wang Yu X, von Maltzahn J, Soleimani Vahab D, Yin H, Rudnicki Michael A. Fibronectin regulates Wnt7a signaling and satellite cell expansion. Cell Stem Cell 2013;12(1):75–87.
- [106] Tierney Matthew T, Gromova A, Sesillo Francesca B, Sala D, Spenlé C, Orend G, et al. Autonomous extracellular matrix remodeling controls a progressive adaptation in muscle stem cell regenerative capacity during development. Cell Rep 2016;14(8):1940–52.
- [107] Kovanen V, Suominen H, Risteli J, Risteli L. Type IV collagen and laminin in slow and fast skeletal muscle in rats-effects of age and life-time endurance training. Coll Relat Res 1988;8:145–53.
- [108] Zou K, De Lisio M, Huntsman HD, Pincu Y, Mahmassani Z, Miller M, et al. Laminin-111 improves skeletal muscle stem cell quantity and function following eccentric exercise. Stem Cells Transl Med 2014;3(9):1013–22.
- [109] Penton CM, Badarinarayana V, Prisco J, Powers E, Pincus M, Allen RE, et al. Laminin 521 maintains differentiation potential of mouse and human satellite cell-derived myoblasts during long-term culture expansion. Skeletal Muscle 2016;6(1):44.
- [110] Sanes JR. The basement membrane/basal lamina of skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 2003;278(15):12601-4.
- [111] Flück M, Mund SI, Schittny JC, Klossner S, Durieux A-C, Giraud M-N. Mechano-regulated Tenascin-C orchestrates muscle repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105(36):13662–7.
- [112] Burkin DJ, Kaufman DJ. The alpha7beta1 integrin in muscle development and disease. Cell Tissue Res 1999;296:183-90.
- [113] Hynes RO. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 2002;110(6):673-87.
- [114] Rozo M, Li L, Fan C-M. Targeting [beta]1-integrin signaling enhances regeneration in aged and dystrophic muscle in mice. Nat Med 2016; 22(8):889–96.
- [115] Liu H, Niu A, Chen SE, Li YP. Beta3-integrin mediates satellite cell differentiation in regenerating mouse muscle. FASEB J 2011;25:1914–21.
- [116] Pisconti A, Cornelison DD, Olguin HC, Antwine TL, Olwin BB. Syndecan-3 and Notch cooperate in regulating adult myogenesis. J Cell Biol 2010;190:427–41.
- [117] Kelly AM. Perisynaptic satellite cells in the developing and mature rat soleus muscle. Anat Rec 1978;190(4):891-903.
- [118] Yin H, Price F, Rudnicki MA. Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. Physiol Rev 2013;93:23-67.
- [119] Blau HM, Cosgrove BD, Ho ATV. The central role of muscle stem cells in regenerative failure with aging. Nat Med 2015;21(8):854-62.
- [120] Ho ATV, Palla AR, Blake MR, Yucel ND, Wang YX, Magnusson KEG, Holbrook CA, Kraft PE, Delp SL, Blau HM. Prostaglandin E2 is essential for efficacious skeletal muscle stem-cell function, augmenting regeneration and strength. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2017;114(26):6675–84.
- [121] DiMario J, Buffinger N, Yamada S, Strohman RC. Fibroblast growth factor in the extracellular matrix of dystrophic (mdx) mouse muscle. Science 1989;244(4905):688.
- [122] Olwin BB, Rapraeger A. Repression of myogenic differentiation by aFGF, bFGF, and K-FGF is dependent on cellular heparan sulfate. J Cell Biol 1992;118(3):631.
- [123] Chakkalakal JV, Jones KM, Basson MA, Brack AS. The aged niche disrupts muscle stem cell quiescence. Nature 2012;490(7420):355-60.
- [124] Tatsumi R, Anderson JE, Nevoret CJ, Halevy O, Allen RE. HGF/SF is present in normal adult skeletal muscle and is capable of activating satellite cells. Dev Biol 1998;194(1):114–28.
- [125] Sheehan SM, Allen RE. Skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation in response to members of the fibroblast growth factor family and hepatocyte growth factor. J Cell Physiol 1999;181(3):499–506.
- [126] Barton D, Shoturma DI, Sweeney HL. Contribution of satellite cells to IGF-I induced hypertrophy of skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 1999;167(4):301–5.
- [127] Mourkioti F, Rosenthal N. IGF-1, inflammation and stem cells: interactions during muscle regeneration. Trends Immunol 2005;26(10): 535-42.

- [128] Shea KL, Xiang W, LaPorta VS, Licht JD, Keller C, Basson MA, et al. Sprouty1 regulates reversible quiescence of a self-renewing adult muscle stem cell pool during regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2010;6(2):117–29.
- [129] McCroskery S, Thomas M, Maxwell L, Sharma M, Kambadur R. Myostatin negatively regulates satellite cell activation and self-renewal. J Cell Biol 2003;162(6):1135.
- [130] Walsh FS, Celeste AJ. Myostatin: a modulator of skeletal-muscle stem cells. Biochem Soc Trans 2005;33(6):1513.
- [131] McPherron AC, Lawler AM, Lee S-J. Regulation of skeletal muscle mass in mice by a new TGF-p superfamily member. Nature 1997; 387(6628):83-90.
- [132] Egerman Marc A, Cadena Samuel M, Gilbert Jason A, Meyer A, Nelson Hallie N, Swalley Susanne E, et al. GDF11 increases with age and inhibits skeletal muscle regeneration. Cell Metabol 2015;22(1):164–74.
- [133] Sinha M, Jang YC, Oh J, Khong D, Wu EY, Manohar R, et al. Restoring systemic GDF11 levels reverses age-related dysfunction in mouse skeletal muscle. Science 2014;344(6184):649.
- [134] Conboy IM, Rando TA. The regulation of notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. Dev Cell 2002;3(3):397–409.
- [135] Mourikis P, Sambasivan R, Castel D, Rocheteau P, Bizzarro V, Tajbakhsh S. A critical requirement for notch signaling in maintenance of the quiescent skeletal muscle stem cell state. Stem Cells 2012;30(2):243–52.
- [136] Bjornson CRR, Cheung TH, Liu L, Tripathi PV, Steeper KM, Rando TA. Notch signaling is necessary to maintain quiescence in adult muscle stem cells. Stem Cells 2012;30(2):232–42.
- [137] Brack AS, Conboy MJ, Roy S, Lee M, Kuo CJ, Keller C, et al. Increased Wnt signaling during aging alters muscle stem cell fate and increases fibrosis. Science 2007;317(5839):807–10.
- [138] Brack AS, Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Shen J, Rando TA. A temporal switch from notch to Wnt signaling in muscle stem cells is necessary for normal adult myogenesis. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2:50–9.
- [139] Bentzinger CF, von Maltzahn J, Dumont NA, Stark DA, Wang YX, Nhan K, et al. Wnt7a stimulates myogenic stem cell motility and engraftment resulting in improved muscle strength. J Cell Biol 2014;205(1):97.
- [140] Ratajczak MZ, Majka M, Kucia M, Drukala J, Pietrzkowski Z, Peiper S, et al. Expression of functional CXCR4 by muscle satellite cells and secretion of SDF-1 by muscle-derived fibroblasts is associated with the presence of both muscle progenitors in bone marrow and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in muscles. Stem Cells 2003;21(3):363–71.
- [141] Griffin CA, Apponi LH, Long KK, Pavlath GK. Chemokine expression and control of muscle cell migration during myogenesis. J Cell Sci 2010;123(18):3052.
- [142] Bobadilla M, Sainz N, Abizanda G, Orbe J, Rodriguez JA, Páramo JA, et al. The CXCR4/SDF1 axis improves muscle regeneration through MMP-10 activity. Stem Cell Dev 2014;23(12):1417–27.
- [143] DuFort CC, Paszek MJ, Weaver VM. Balancing forces: architectural control of mechanotransduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12(5): 308–19.
- [144] Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell 2006;126:677-89.
- [145] Stedman HH, Sweeney HL, Shrager JB, Maguire HC, Panettieri RA, Petrof B, et al. The mdx mouse diaphragm reproduces the degenerative changes of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nature 1991;352(6335):536–9.
- [146] Engler AJ, Griffin MA, Sen S, Bönnemann CG, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Myotubes differentiate optimally on substrates with tissue-like stiffness. J Cell Biol 2004;166(6):877.
- [147] Gao Y, Kostrominova TY, Faulkner JA, Wineman AS. Age-related changes in the mechanical properties of the epimysium in skeletal muscles of rats. J Biomech 2008;41:465–9.
- [148] Rosant C, Nagel MD, Perot C. Aging affects passive stiffness and spindle function of the rat soleus muscle. Exp Gerontol 2007;42:301-8.
- [149] Gilbert PM, Havenstrite K, Magnusson K, Sacco A, Leonardi N, Kraft P, et al. Substrate elasticity regulates skeletal muscle stem cell selfrenewal in culture. Science 2010;329:1078–81.
- [150] Ryall JG. Metabolic reprogramming as a novel regulator of skeletal muscle development and regeneration. FEBS J 2013;280(17):4004-13.
- [151] Ryall JG, Dell'Orso S, Derfoul A, Juan A, Zare H, Feng X, et al. The NAD(+)-dependent SIRT1 deacetylase translates a metabolic switch into regulatory epigenetics in skeletal muscle stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2015;16(2):171–83.
- [152] Tang AH, Rando TA. Induction of autophagy supports the bioenergetic demands of quiescent muscle stem cell activation. EMBO J 2014; 33(23):2782–97.
- [153] Rodgers JT, King KY, Brett JO, Cromie MJ, Charville GW, Maguire KK, et al. mTORC1 controls the adaptive transition of quiescent stem cells from G0 to G(Alert). Nature 2014;510(7505):393-6.
- [154] Zhang H, Ryu D, Wu Y, Gariani K, Wang X, Luan P, et al. NAD+ repletion improves mitochondrial and stem cell function and enhances life span in mice. Science 2016;352.
- [155] Cerletti M, Jang YC, Finley LWS, Haigis MC, Wagers AJ. Short-term calorie restriction enhances skeletal muscle stem cell function. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(5):515–9.
- [156] Nguyen M-H, Cheng M, Koh TJ. Impaired muscle regeneration in ob/ob and db/db mice. Sci World J 2011;11:1525–35.
- [154] Hu Z, Wang H, Lee IH, Modi S, Wang X, Du J, et al. PTEN inhibition improves muscle regeneration in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetes 2010; 59(6):1312–20.
- [158] Muoio DM. Metabolic inflexibility: when mitochondrial indecision leads to metabolic gridlock. Cell 2014;159(6):1253-62.
- [159] Woo M, Isganaitis E, Cerletti M, Fitzpatrick C, Wagers AJ, Jimenez-Chillaron J, et al. Early life nutrition modulates muscle stem cell number: implications for muscle mass and repair. Stem Cells Dev 2011;20(10):1763–9.
- [160] D'Souza DM, Trajcevski KE, Al-Sajee D, Wang DC, Thomas M, Anderson JE, et al. Diet-induced obesity impairs muscle satellite cell activation and muscle repair through alterations in hepatocyte growth factor signaling. Physiol Rep 2015;3(8):e12506.
- [161] Al-Khalili L, de Castro Barbosa T, Östling J, Massart J, Katayama M, Nyström A-C, et al. Profiling of human myotubes reveals an intrinsic proteomic signature associated with type 2 diabetes. Biochem Pharmacol 2014;2:25–38.
- [162] Gaster M, Petersen I, Højlund K, Poulsen P, Beck-Nielsen H. The diabetic phenotype is conserved in myotubes established from diabetic subjects: evidence for primary defects in glucose transport and glycogen synthase activity. Diabetes 2002;51(4):921-7.

#### 18. SKELETAL MUSCLE STEM CELLS

- [163] McAinch AJ, Cornall LM, Watts R, Hryciw DH, O'Brien PE, Cameron-Smith D. Increased pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase expression in cultured myotubes from obese and diabetic individuals. Eur J Nutr 2015;54(7):1033–43.
- [164] Hittel DS, Berggren JR, Shearer J, Boyle K, Houmard JA. Increased secretion and expression of myostatin in skeletal muscle from extremely obese women. Diabetes 2009;58(1):30–8.
- [165] Civitarese AE, Carling S, Heilbronn LK, Hulver MH, Ukropcova B, Deutsch WA, et al. Calorie restriction increases muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in healthy humans. PLoS Med 2007;4(3):e76.
- [166] Yang L, Licastro D, Cava E, Veronese N, Spelta F, Rizza W, et al. Long-term calorie restriction enhances cellular quality-control processes in human skeletal muscle. Cell Rep 2016;14(3):422–8.
- [167] Morrison SJ, Kimble J. Asymmetric and symmetric stem-cell divisions in development and cancer. Nature 2006;441(7097):1068-74.
- [169] Schultz E. Satellite cell proliferative compartments in growing skeletal muscles. Dev Biol 1996;175(1):84–94.
- [169] Ono Y, Masuda S, Nam H-s, Benezra R, Miyagoe-Suzuki Y, Takeda S. Slow-dividing satellite cells retain long-term self-renewal ability in adult muscle. J Cell Sci 2012;125(5):1309.
- [170] Dumont NA, Wang YX, von Maltzahn J, Pasut A, Bentzinger CF, Brun CE, et al. Dystrophin expression in muscle stem cells regulates their polarity and asymmetric division. Nat Med 2015;21(12):1455–63.
- [171] Ono Y, Urata Y, Goto S, Nakagawa S, Humbert Patrick O, Li T-S, et al. Muscle stem cell fate is controlled by the cell-polarity protein Scrib. Cell Rep 2015;10(7):1135–48.
- [172] Tierney MT, Aydogdu T, Sala D, Malecova B, Gatto S, Puri PL, et al. STAT3 signaling controls satellite cell expansion and skeletal muscle repair. Nat Med 2014;20(10):1182–6.
- [173] Price FD, von Maltzahn J, Bentzinger CF, Dumont NA, Yin H, Chang NC, et al. Inhibition of JAK-STAT signaling stimulates adult satellite cell function. Nat Med 2014;20(10):1174–81.
- [174] Zhu H, Xiao F, Wang G, Wei X, Jiang L, Chen Y, et al. STAT3 regulates self-renewal of adult muscle satellite cells during injury-induced muscle regeneration. Cell Rep 2016;16(8):2102–15.
- [175] Zammit PS, Golding JP, Nagata Y, Hudon V, Partridge TA, Beauchamp JR. Muscle satellite cells adopt divergent fates. J Cell Biol 2004;166(3): 347.
- [176] Pajcini KV, Corbel SY, Sage J, Pomerantz JH, Blau HM. Transient inactivation of Rb and ARF yields regenerative cells from postmitotic mammalian muscle. Cell Stem Cell 2010;7(2):198–213.
- [177] Wang H, Lööf S, Borg P, Nader GA, Blau HM, Simon A. Turning terminally differentiated skeletal muscle cells into regenerative progenitors. Nat Commun 2015;6:7916.
- [178] Garcia-Prat L, Sousa-Victor P, Munoz-Canoves P. Functional dysregulation of stem cells during aging: a focus on skeletal muscle stem cells. FEBS J 2013;280:4051–62.
- [179] Sousa-Victor P, Gutarra S, García-Prat L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Ortet L, Ruiz-Bonilla V, et al. Geriatric muscle stem cells switch reversible quiescence into senescence. Nature 2014;506(7488):316–21.
- [180] Coppé J-P, Patil CK, Rodier F, Sun Y, Muñoz DP, Goldstein J, et al. Senescence-associated secretory phenotypes reveal cell-nonautonomous functions of oncogenic RAS and the p53 tumor suppressor. PLoS Biol 2008;6(12):e301.
- [181] Demaria M, Ohtani N, Youssef SA, Rodier F, Toussaint W, Mitchell JR, et al. An essential role for senescent cells in optimal wound healing through secretion of PDGF-AA. Dev Cell 2014;31(6):722–33.
- [182] Baker DJ, Wijshake T, Tchkonia T, LeBrasseur NK, Childs BG, van de Sluis B, et al. Clearance of p16(Ink4a)-positive senescent cells delays ageing-associated disorders. Nature 2011;479(7372):232–6.
- [183] Elabd C, Cousin W, Upadhyayula P, Chen RY, Chooljian MS, Li J, et al. Oxytocin is an age-specific circulating hormone that is necessary for muscle maintenance and regeneration. Nat Commun 2014;5:4082.
- [184] Palacios D, Mozzetta C, Consalvi S, Caretti G, Saccone V, Proserpio V, et al. TNF/p38α/Polycomb signaling to Pax7 locus in satellite cells links inflammation to the epigenetic control of muscle regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2010;7(4):455–69.
- [185] Bernet D, Doles J, Hall J, Tanaka K, Carter T, Olwin B. p38 MAPK signaling underlies a cell-autonomous loss of stem cell self-renewal in skeletal muscle of aged mice. Nat Med 2014;20:265–71.
- [186] Webster C, Filippi G, Rinaldi A, Mastropaolo C, Tondi M, Siniscalco M, et al. The myoblast defect identified in Duchenne muscular dystrophy is not a primary expression of the DMD mutation. Clonal analysis of myoblasts from five double heterozygotes for two X-linked loci: DMD and G6PD. Hum Genet 1986;74(1):74–80.
- [187] Blau HM, Webster C, Chiu CP, Guttman S, Chandler F. Differentiation properties of pure populations of human dystrophic muscle cells. Exp Cell Res 1983;144(2):495–503.
- [188] Mourkioti F, Kustan J, Kraft P, Day JW, Zhao M-M, Kost-Alimova M, et al. Role of telomere dysfunction in cardiac failure in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Cell Biol 2013;15(8):895–904.
- [189] Dellavalle A, Sampaolesi M, Tonlorenzi R, Tagliafico E, Sacchetti B, Perani L, et al. Pericytes of human skeletal muscle are myogenic precursors distinct from satellite cells. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9(3):255–67.
- [190] Price FD, Kuroda K, Rudnicki MA. Stem cell based therapies to treat muscular dystrophy. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1772(2):272-83.
- [191] Rando TA, Blau HM. Primary mouse myoblast purification, characterization, and transplantation for cell-mediated gene therapy. J Cell Biol 1994;125(6):1275.
- [192] Gussoni E, Blau HM, Kunkel LM. The fate of individual myoblasts after transplantation into muscles of DMD patients. Nat Med 1997;3(9): 970-7.
- [193] Lutolf MP, Hubbell JA. Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. Nat Biotech 2005;23(1):47-55.
- [194] Quarta M, Brett JO, DiMarco R, De Morree A, Boutet SC, Chacon R, et al. A bioengineered niche preserves the quiescence of muscle stem cells and enhances their therapeutic efficacy. Nat Biotechnol 2016;34(7):752–9.
- [195] Xu C, Tabebordbar M, Iovino S, Ciarlo C, Liu J, Castiglioni A, et al. A zebrafish embryo culture system defines factors that promote vertebrate myogenesis across species. Cell 2013;155(4):909-21.
- [196] Wang B, Li J, Xiao X. Adeno-associated virus vector carrying human minidystrophin genes effectively ameliorates muscular dystrophy in mdx mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97(25):13714–9.

- [197] Harper SQ, Hauser MA, DelloRusso C, Duan D, Crawford RW, Phelps SF, et al. Modular flexibility of dystrophin: implications for gene therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Med 2002;8(3):253–61.
- [198] Cirak S, Arechavala-Gomeza V, Guglieri M, Feng L, Torelli S, Anthony K, et al. Exon skipping and dystrophin restoration in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy after systemic phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomer treatment: an open-label, phase 2, dose-escalation study. Lancet 2011;378(9791):595–605.
- [199] Goemans NM, Tulinius M, van den Akker JT, Burm BE, Ekhart PF, Heuvelmans N, et al. Systemic administration of PRO051 in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med 2011;364(16):1513–22.
- [200] Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E. A programmable dual-RNA—guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 2012;337(6096):816.
- [201] Nelson CE, Hakim CH, Ousterout DG, Thakore PI, Moreb EA, Rivera RMC, et al. In vivo genome editing improves muscle function in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Science 2016;351(6271):403.
- [202] Tabebordbar M, Zhu K, Cheng JKW, Chew WL, Widrick JJ, Yan WX, et al. In vivo gene editing in dystrophic mouse muscle and muscle stem cells. Science 2016;351(6271):407.
- [203] Long C, Amoasii L, Mireault AA, McAnally JR, Li H, Sanchez-Ortiz E, et al. Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. Science 2016;351(6271):400.
- [204] Sampaolesi M, Blot S, D'Antona G, Granger N, Tonlorenzi R, Innocenzi A, et al. Mesoangioblast stem cells ameliorate muscle function in dystrophic dogs. Nature 2006;444(7119):574–9.
- [205] Sampaolesi M, Torrente Y, Innocenzi A, Tonlorenzi R, Antona G, Pellegrino MA, et al. Cell therapy of α-sarcoglycan null dystrophic mice through intra-arterial delivery of mesoangioblasts. Science 2003;301(5632):487.
- [206] Dellavalle A, Maroli G, Covarello D, Azzoni E, Innocenzi A, Perani L, et al. Pericytes resident in postnatal skeletal muscle differentiate into muscle fibres and generate satellite cells. Nat Commun 2011;2:499.
- [207] Mizuno Y, Chang H, Umeda K, Niwa A, Iwasa T, Awaya T, et al. Generation of skeletal muscle stem/progenitor cells from murine induced pluripotent stem cells. Faseb J 2010;24(7):2245–53.
- [208] Cossu G, Previtali SC, Napolitano S, Cicalese MP, Tedesco FS, Nicastro F, et al. Intra-arterial transplantation of HLA-matched donor mesoangioblasts in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. EMBO Mol Med 2015;7(12):1513.
- [209] Joe AWB, Yi L, Natarajan A, Le Grand F, So L, Wang J, et al. Muscle injury activates resident fibro/adipogenic progenitors that facilitate myogenesis. Nat Cell Biol 2010;12(2):153–63.
- [210] Uezumi A, Fukada S-i, Yamamoto N, Takeda S, Tsuchida K. Mesenchymal progenitors distinct from satellite cells contribute to ectopic fat cell formation in skeletal muscle. Nat Cell Biol 2010;12(2):143–52.
- [211] Murphy MM, Lawson JA, Mathew SJ, Hutcheson DA, Kardon G. Satellite cells, connective tissue fibroblasts and their interactions are crucial for muscle regeneration. Development 2011;138:3625–37.
- [212] Fry CS, Kirby TJ, Kosmac K, McCarthy JJ, Peterson CA. Myogenic progenitor cells control extracellular matrix production by fibroblasts during skeletal muscle hypertrophy. Cell Stem Cell 2017;20(1):56–69.
- [213] Liu N, Garry GA, Li S, Bezprozvannaya S, Sanchez-Ortiz E, Chen B, et al. A Twist2-dependent progenitor cell contributes to adult skeletal muscle. Nat Cell Biol 2017;19(3):202–13.
- [214] Salani S, Donadoni C, Rizzo F, Bresolin N, Comi GP, Corti S. Generation of skeletal muscle cells from embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells as an in vitro model and for therapy of muscular dystrophies. J Cell Mol Med 2012;16(7):1353–64.
- [215] Darabi R, Arpke Robert W, Irion S, Dimos John T, Grskovic M, Kyba M, et al. Human ES- and iPS-derived myogenic progenitors restore dystrophin and improve contractility upon transplantation in dystrophic mice. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(5):610–9.
- [216] Albini S, Coutinho P, Malecova B, Giordani L, Savchenko A, Forcales Sonia V, et al. Epigenetic reprogramming of human embryonic stem cells into skeletal muscle cells and generation of contractile myospheres. Cell Rep 2013;3(3):661–70.
- [217] Darabi R, Gehlbach K, Bachoo RM, Kamath S, Osawa M, Kamm KE, et al. Functional skeletal muscle regeneration from differentiating embryonic stem cells. Nat Med 2008;14(2):134–43.
- [218] Chal J, Oginuma M, Al Tanoury Z, Gobert B, Sumara O, Hick A, et al. Differentiation of pluripotent stem cells to muscle fiber to model Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat Biotech 2015;33(9):962–9.
- [219] Chal J, Al Tanoury Z, Hestin M, Gobert B, Aivio S, Hick A, et al. Generation of human muscle fibers and satellite-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells in vitro. Nat Protoc 2016;11(10):1833–50.
- [220] Choi In Y, Lim H, Estrellas K, Mula J, Cohen Tatiana V, Zhang Y, et al. Concordant but varied phenotypes among Duchenne muscular dystrophy patient-specific myoblasts derived using a human iPSC-based model. Cell Rep 2016;15(10):2301–12.
- [221] Shelton M, Kocharyan A, Liu J, Skerjanc IS, Stanford WL. Robust generation and expansion of skeletal muscle progenitors and myocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Methods 2016;101:73–84.

This page intentionally left blank

# Stem Cells Derived From Fat

James C. Brown, Adam J. Katz University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Regenerative medicine aspires to restore the physiologic function of a target tissue by way of reconstitution and/ or reproduction using a combination of medicine, engineering, and molecular biology. Emerging strategies require the use of multipotent cells, and given the controversies surrounding embryonic stem cells, adult stem cells (particularly those derived from autologous sources) have been targeted by scientists and physician alike to achieve regeneration. In the late 1980s, Caplan et al. coined the term "mesenchymal stem cell" (MSC). This name was chosen in light of the inducible differentiation of these cells into osteogenic, chondrogenic, and adipogenic lineages [1].

A growing body of evidence indicates that many different adult tissues contain MSCs, including bone marrow (BM), blood, nervous tissue, skeletal muscle, and fat. Because of their almost ubiquitous presence and because several studies microanatomically localized MSCs adjacent to blood vessels, many independent groups have proposed a "unified theory": MSCs are resident in the perivascular niche. Other groups have advanced this theory further: MSCs are *not resident in* but *originate from* a heterogeneous group of perivascular cells, namely pericytes  $(CD45^{-}/31^{-}/34^{-}/146^{+})$  and adventitial cells  $(CD45^{-}/31^{-}/34^{+}/146^{-})$  [2–5]. Histologically, pericytes are in close proximity to capillary endothelium whereas adventitial cells are resident some distance from the largest vessels in the tunica adventitia, far from endothelial cells. The cluster of differentiation profiles used to describe these populations has been classically defined using flow cytometric studies of culture-expanded populations. Because of the ability of adventitial cells to assume pericyte phenotypes in vitro, these phenotypes represent a multipotent cell population that, if tapped, may alter the trajectory of cell-based therapies and regenerative science.

Adipose tissue is unique as a source of MSCs. Historically, fat was relegated to energy storage and structural supportive roles. However, enzymatic dissociation and centrifugation of adipose yielding a single-cell suspension, called the stromal vascular fraction (SVF), allowed the characterization of its cellular components, including the adipose-specific MSC: the adipose-derived stromal cell (ASC) [6]. One gram of adipose tissue obtained with minimally invasive liposuction yields approximately 5000 putative stem cells, which is 500 times greater than the number of stem cells isolated from 1 g of BM [7]. In addition, approximately 400,000 liposuction surgeries are performed in the United States each year, routinely yielding volumes of up to 3 L of valuable tissue [8]. Thus, adipose offers autologous mesenchymal progenitors with multilineage differentiation potential in unrivaled quantity, accessibility, and expendability.

# **CELLULAR FRACTIONS**

In 1964, Martin Rodbell described the first enzymatic dissociation of murine adipose tissue into a single-cell suspension. Since then, many studies have demonstrated reproducible collagenase digesting and isolating cellular fractions either intact (and subsequently minced) or aspirated with tumescent liposuction. After enzymatic neutralization, which is often achieved by albumin and/or volumetric dilution, lipid-laden, mature adipocytes are separated from remaining cellular fraction using differential centrifugation. The resulting cellular fraction, which is devoid of mature fat cells, is a primary, heterogeneous, mesenchymal cell array collectively termed the SVF. The uncultured SVF consists of leukocytes, erythrocytes, endothelial cells, perivascular cells, and of particular interest, putative stem and progenitor

#### 19. STEM CELLS DERIVED FROM FAT

cells. When the heterogeneous SVF cells are cultured in plastic, spindle-shaped cells attach and expand. These cells, selected by plastic adherence, are ASCs.

As the field of adipose science stands, the overwhelming majority of work has involved the biological evaluation and therapeutic projection of ASCs. Given the inherent heterogeneity of the SVF, there is a paucity of studies comparing the efficacy (and its dependent potency) of SVF in culture-expanded ASCs. Perhaps more important, the literature is unintentionally pervaded by the inaccurate transposition of SVF/ASC terminology. The cellular characterization of both populations has been a subject of scientific interest, as evidenced by even a cursory literature search, likely caused by acceleration in the methodology and technology used to isolate adipose-derived cell populations. To ensure the integrity of interstudy comparisons and subsequent scientific advancement within the field of adipose, a consensus biological profile of each adipose-derived cell population is required and can provide insight into biologic clarifications, best clinical practices, and safety profiles [9]. More important, this consensus profile must be dynamic and responsive to the newly acquired data and resulting advancements within adipose science, so as not to strangle the field at this juncture of critical growth.

## CELLULAR CHARACTERIZATION

# Stromal Vascular Fraction

The SVF, which is marked by its heterogeneity, is composed not only of perivascular cells, leukocytes, and endothelial cells, but also of a higher percentage of stromal cells compared with the BM nucleated fraction (which contains BM-MSCs). The SVF is composed of less than 0.1% of stem and progenitor cells. These cells of traditional interest (the stromal population) have a cluster of differentiation profile that includes positivity for CD34 and negativity for CD45 (leukocyte common antigen), CD235a (glycophorin A), or CD31 (platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 [PECAM-1]); therefore, its immunophenotypic profile in common notation should be CD45<sup>-</sup>CD235a<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>. CD34, likely because of variation in the epitope of which class I/II/III-CD34 antibody detects, is positive with variable intensity [10]; for SVF cell characterization, Bourin et al. recommends the use of class III CD34 antibodies to obtain the most consistent signal [9]. In addition, the following surface antigens may be helpful in identifying the stromal population, particularly combined with the CD profile: CD13 (aminopeptidase N), CD73 (lymphocyte-vascular adhesion molecule-2), CD90 (Thy-1), and CD105 (endoglin).

#### Adipose-Derived Stromal Cell

The definitive cell surface identity of ASCs has historically been problematic. Surface protein expression is dynamic, partially depending on the passage and cell density, among other variables including the anatomic site of harvest, isolation methodology, and culture protocol. However, after two or more passages, ASCs express relatively characteristic and reproducible surface and adhesion molecules, cytoskeletal elements, and surface markers. The ASC immunophenotype is comparable to that of the SVF stromal population, with a lack of CD45, CD235a, and CD31 expression. With regard to surface antigens, however, CD13, CD29 (integrin  $\beta$ 1), CD44 (homing cell adhesion molecule), CD73, CD90, and CD105 are the primary, consistently stable ASC markers. Overall, the ASC immunophenotype largely resembles that reported for other adult MSCs, such as BM-derived and skeletal muscle stem cells, with only a few differences [6,11–13]. However, in conjunction with selection by adherence to plastic, these immunophenotypic differences suggest that ASCs are indeed a distinct population. In light of this, several studies have hypothesized and confirmed preferential differentiation programs of ASCs versus BM-MSCs; ASCs demonstrate a greater tendency to develop into myocytes, and BM-MSCs into osteocytes and chondrocytes [14].

Ultimately, cell populations are best characterized by biological activity, multipotency, and differentiation program [6,13,15] ACSs have been shown to demonstrate phenotypes consistent with several different mesodermally, endodermally, and ectodermally derived mature cell types both in vitro and in vivo. This has been reflected in the adipose scientific industry; a prime example is the broad selection of lineage-specific inductive media and associated protocols. Although these developmental findings are remarkable and continue to evolve, many questions remain as well as some appropriate residual skepticism related to the "applied" in vivo developmental plasticity and functional integration of adult stem cells. Part of this relates to limitations of terminology, standardization, and existing technologies, and also to the human need to characterize the elusive nature of dynamic living systems with static labels and/or pathways. For example, establishing a scientific consensus regarding which "minimal threshold" definitively describes a particular phenotype/cell lineage is elusive, to say the least, and the "minimal essential threshold" continues to evolve as the field matures and realizes that there are few if any genes or proteins that are truly "lineage specific." These issues are greatly interesting and important for basic scientists and developmental biologists, but the ultimate benchmark of these cells for many in the fields remains the reproducible and predictable therapeutic safety and efficacy in the clinical setting, regardless of the mechanism of action.

# Cell Source

All fat is not the same. There are two main types of fat within the human body: brown adipose tissue (BAT) and white adipose tissue (WAT). BAT is mainly found surrounding the viscera in infants; in adults it has been identified in the neck, supraclavicular, paraaortic, paravertebral, and suprarenal areas [16]. BAT serves primarily to generate heat via a specific uncoupling mechanism identified in the cells' mitochondrial electron transport chain. WAT is found subcutaneously, is highly vascularized, and contains the ASC population; its primary function is to serves an energy reserve, but it is recognized as a dynamic and highly bioactive tissue with important roles in systemic inflammation and other processes [3,17]. Major depots of subcutaneous WAT in humans include abdominal, hip, thigh, and gluteal locations.

Population ratios of adipose-derived fractions vary depending on the anatomic site from which fat is harvested, as well as donor characteristics such as age, sex, smoking history, and medical comorbidities. In addition, studies indicate that the density of ASCs varies depending on many of these factors [18,19]; these may be of particular importance when considering ASC yield, plasticity, and potency.

# CLINICAL DELIVERY OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED CELLS

Several potential ASC delivery routes exist, including systemic, parenteral, targeted injection, and topical application.

The systemic administration of ASCs as a cell suspension continues to have great translational appeal because it provides a minimally invasive treatment modality. Imperative to this delivery modality is the characteristic of ASCs of mobilizing to injured tissue, termed homing. However, the mechanism of homing is poorly understood in ASCs and other MSCs. Scientific insight into homing can be found in inflammation, which is composed of three major stages: the dilation of capillary beds and subsequent increase in blood flow; protein expression and microvascular structural changes; and the leukocyte adhesion cascade involving white cell capture, adhesion, and transmigration. Despite the native inability to bind endothelium via E-selectin, Pachon-Pena et al. described the differential expression of sialyllactosamines (i.e., oligosaccharide residues) on glycovariant cluster of differentiation markers, specifically CD44 [20,21]. These glycovariants can subsequently be fucosylated, creating hematopoietic cell E-/L-selectin ligand, a membrane constituent that permits the shear-resistant engagement of human adipose-derived MSCs to endothelium. Thus, differential protein expression and selective posttranslation modification may allow MSCs to bind selectively to sites of inflammation.

In addition, the leukocyte adhesion cascade is highly dependent on injured tissues' differential, attractant expression of chemotactic cytokines (chemokines), and leukocyte chemokine receptors. In fact, the chemokine receptor expression profiles of leukocytes and ASCs have been demonstrated to overlap significantly, including those with assigned functional roles of transendothelial migration, diapedesis, and vascular permeability (e.g., CCR1, CCR7, CXCR3, CXCR4, and CXCR6) [22–26]. Therefore, the "native" homing mechanism of ASCs may be similar to that of leukocytes, composed of differential chemokine receptor expression or differential glycoprotein expression first-pass removal through "filter organs," or the result of postinjury, increased perfusion in a damaged organ, or most likely, a combination of these.

With parenteral delivery, ASCs engraft into many organs and concentrate largely in first-pass organs (lung and liver) as well as the spleen. Several studies have indicated additional engraftment sites for MSCs (a group to which ASCs belong) including thymus, brain, spinal cord, and heart. There has been evidence that there is variability in the chemokine receptor expression profiles of ASCs [27,28]. This may indicate that there are phenotypic and induced protein expression differences to modifiable culture conditions (e.g., supplements, pH, cell density, and/or matrix). This variability may also confirm that ASCs have the ability to home to multiple tissues, as was previously demonstrated. Therefore, modulation of chemokine receptor expression has become an area of growing interest to increase the engraftment efficiency of cells to a specific, often injured target tissue. In 2016, Hasemzadeh et al. demonstrated that differential expression could be primed with valproic acid, which resulted in increased CXC chemokine expression without altering CC chemokine groups [29]. In turn, this may influence their migration and engraftment
#### 19. STEM CELLS DERIVED FROM FAT

patterns and improve the efficacy of ASC cell therapies while decreasing the cell dose and minimizing the side effect and morbidity profiles [30-32].

It has been reported that ASCs possess the ability to differentiate into cardiomyocytes, both in vitro and in vivo, with an intact electrolyte-dependent, spontaneous, rhythmic contraction ability [33–36]. Guided by this potential, a large portion of research involving the parenteral delivery of ASCs has been aimed at cardiovascular disease, with the goal of mitigating ischemic damage and/or regeneration of myocardium. There have been several articles reporting positive effects to this end, which have been attributed to improved vascular inflow, increased angiogenesis, and cell protection (i.e., reduction in apoptosis) [37,38]. In replications of studies using marrow-derived MSCs, independent groups demonstrated that ASCs differentiate into endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells when injected in the coronary artery supplying acutely infarcted porcine myocardium, limiting infarct size, thickening the left ventricular wall, and improving cardiac function [39,40]. In 2011, intravenous administration at a distant site by Kim et al. demonstrated homing of ASCs to, and cardiomyocyte differentiation in, canine radiofrequency-ablated atrium [41]. Some studies indicated ASC engraftment into infarcted myocardium without adopting the cardiomyocyte morphology or phenotype; it is hypothesized that paracrine effects of ASCs assisted in remodeling because of improved cardiac wall architecture [42]. Two prospective, double-blind, randomized, controlled, phase I human clinical studies using ASCs were undertaken, both initiated in 2007: Adipose-Derived Stem Cells in the Treatment of Patients With ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction (APOLLO) and Adipose-Derived Stem and Regenerative Cells in the Treatment of Patients With Nonrevascularizable Ischemic Myocardium (PRECISE). In contrast to most preclinical literature, both trials used the heterogeneous, autogenous SVF as opposed to culture-expanded ASCs. There is scientific thought that the heterogeneity of the SVF may offer measurable benefits if this heterogeneity can be recapitulated in the injected or implanted graft [23,43,44]. The APOLLO and PRECISE studies were completed with an estimated enrollment of greater than 80 patients, but preliminary experimental results for the former are not available [45].

Similarly, ASCs have demonstrated therapeutic potential in peripheral vascular disease. Intravenous administration of murine ASCs attenuates critical limb ischemia to lower limbs [46,47]. The ability of ASCs to alter the extracellular, ischemic micromilieu is not brought about solely by directed target tissue differentiation, but likely involves the adipose secretome, the entirety of ASC-secreted cellular products. Several independent groups have demonstrated ischemic recovery caused by the paracrine secretion of angiogenic and vasculogenic cytokines such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), and fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2) [48–50].

The discovery of ASC-administered immunomodulatory effects broadened clinical interest in neurologic and autoimmune disease applications [51–53]. ASCs secrete cytokines and prostaglandins, predominantly interleukin (IL)-4, IL-8, IL-10, and prostaglandin-2, which are implicated in immunosuppression [54,55]. Through expression of these factors as well as selective human leukocyte antigen-II surface expression, ASCs reduce cell-mediated immunity by directing T-regulatory cell expansion [52]. In turn, ASCs have been used in experimental models of graft-versus-host disease, embolic and hemorrhagic stroke, multiple sclerosis and autoimmune encephalitis, spinal cord injury, allergic rhinitis, reactive airway disease, and rheumatoid arthritis [56–65]. Potential results in each of these models have been variable; adipose-derived therapies offer hope and insight into pathologies the cures of which remain obscure to scientists and clinicians alike.

The intravascular administration of stem cells has associated safety and efficacy concerns. Schrepfer et al. demonstrated in mice that within minutes, most BM-MSCs administered intravenously were trapped in the lungs and few cells arrived at the target destination [66,67]. Given the similar size of ASCs, these concerns were quickly transposed to intravenous ASC therapies. Subsequently, the most worrisome adverse event is the inadvertent creation of emboli. Takahashi et al. infused neural stem cells intravenously and did not detect engraftment of cells at the site of injury; worse, up to one-third of the mice died immediately after injection, presumably from pulmonary emboli [68]. Similar results, attributed to the large cell-to-capillary diameter, were obtained using adipose-derived murine ASCs with intraaorta injection [69]. In fact, case reports in humans exist demonstrating pulmonary sequestration and infarction after administration of intravenous adipose tissue-derived cell therapy [70]. There is conflicting evidence, however, regarding the relationship between simple embolism and resultant infarction. In 2011, Ra et al. demonstrated that cell doses as high as  $5 \times 10^{\circ}$  cells/mouse could be administered without an adverse event, so long as the injection was slow enough to avoid bolus injection [71]. These results are similar to those found in BM-MSCs and speak to the absence of ASC-native toxicity. Specifically, with regard to stem cell emboli, Lee et al. found that despite pulmonary sequestration, BM-MSCs increased antiinflammatory protein translation and secretion, specifically tumor necrosis factor-inducible gene 6 [72]. This evidence further bolsters the therapeutic scope of stem cell secretomes and paracrine abilities and provides insight into the mechanism of efficacy without engraftment, safety, and dosing concerns.

#### CLINICAL DELIVERY OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED CELLS

The direct, local delivery of ASCs via in situ injection or topical application has been demonstrated successfully as an alternative to systemic delivery, with greater cell engraftment efficiency and mitigation of the necessity for cellular homing as well as first-pass clearance in the lungs, spleen, and liver. In addition, direct application in several clinical models and pathologies has been successful, including myocardial ischemia, peripheral vascular disease, acute and chronic wounds, degenerative joint disease, and inflammatory bowel disease.

Several murine studies have demonstrated not only the engraftment and concomitant expression of requisite cardiac proteins (e.g., myosin, troponin, and transcription factor Nkx2.5) but also improved cardiac function, as measured by stroke volume and ejection fraction, within 1 month after ASC injection into infarcted myocardium [38,73]. Furthermore, the transgenic delivery of hASCs into immunoincompetent mice resulted in engraftment and improved cardiac architecture and function [42]. These findings have also been extended to the SVF and patients with long-standing ischemic cardiomyopathy in the PRECISE trial. Results show that transendocardial injection of syngeneic SVF preparations preserve ventricular function, myocardial perfusion, and exercise capacity [74]. Combined, these results have furthered scientific interest in "cellular cardioplasty" using adipose-derived regenerative cells in the acute and chronic settings.

Many groups have documented the ability of ASC to undergo endothelial regeneration, and when deployed in vivo, they can aid in reestablishing vascular supply and general recovery of limb ischemia [34,46,75,76]. In murine models of hind-limb ischemia, CD31<sup>-</sup> (PECAM-1<sup>-</sup>) cell inoculation in the proximity of ischemic tissue yielded de novo vessel production. These findings have been repeated and confirmed by independent groups [34,77]. As with other studies, it is postulated that engraftment and as well as its hypoxia-induced secretome (e.g., VEGF, HGF, and FGF2) are complementary in the ASC angiogenic capability [50,78]. Several phase I hASC/SVF trials were undertaken in Europe and the United States. Trial models include chronic limb ischemia in patients with diabetes, with diabetic/venous stasis ulcers, with nonsurgically amenable peripheral vascular disease, and with ASC-coated vascular bypass grafts.

The load-bearing tissue of a joint, the articular cartilage, has limited intrinsic repair capability once damaged, and therefore is a prime target for MSC therapies. Awad et al. in 2002 published data on the in vitro chondrogenic potential of hASCs on various biomaterials including agarose, alginate, and gelatin scaffolds in the presence of chondroinductive growth factors [79]. These studies were confirmed by Lin et al. in 2005 [80]. There has been evidence indicating that ASCs have an inferior chondrogenic potential compared with other MSCs, particularly BM-MSCs [81]. When seeded on a platelet-rich plasma scaffold, ASCs differentiated into functional chondrocytes and secreted cartilaginous matrix, although they were of a reportedly inferior histological quality compared with that of BM-MSCs [82]. However, because ASCs are obtained in large numbers by a minimally invasive procedure, they remain an area of interest for orthopedic pathologies [83]. When used in vivo, ASCs produce significant amounts of cartilage matrix molecules, including collagen type-II and type-IV, and chondroitin 4-sulfate, and subsequently demonstrate on histological, radiological, and biochemical analyses the healing of lapine full-thickness cartilaginous defects when seeded onto a supportive matrix such as fibrin glue [84,85]. Several human trials are being undertaken; a single 2011 case series demonstrated promising radiological and functional outcomes [86]. Intervertebral disks such as cartilage possess a limited regenerative capacity. When cocultured with nucleus pulposus (NP) (the intervertebral disc inner core) cells, ASCs increase extracellular matrix (ECM) production and improve the three-dimensional organization of the NP [87]; in vivo, ASCs have been found to be successful in regenerating experimentally damaged canine and murine intervertebral disks [88,89].

When cultured three-dimensionally and stimulated with osteoinductive growth factors and cytokines, hASCs adopt the characteristics of osteoblasts, including osteocalcin and alkaline phosphatase expression and mineralized ECM [90,91]. In addition, the gene expression profiles can be altered by applying shear stresses, with recapitulation of osteoblastic protein production (e.g., osteopontin and collagen type- $I_{\alpha 1}$ ) [92]. Collectively, these findings indicate that ASCs can differentiate into mechanosensitive osteoblasts. In vivo use demonstrated that hASCS not only produce osteoid when transplanted into severe combined immunodeficiency mice, they can heal critical-sized calvarial and long-bone defects in dogs, rabbits, mice, and rats [93–96].

Clinical interest in and efforts using ASCs to treat soft tissue wounds and defects continue to accelerate because of the relative unavailability of effective treatments. Some promising evidence of ASC-assisted wound repair has been reported and is likely mediated in large part by its secretome and production enhancement by tissue hypoxia. In 2007, Kim et al. first demonstrated that ASCs accelerate both in vitro and in vivo. When cocultured with human dermal fibroblasts (HDF), hASCs promoted HDF proliferation rates. Moreover, hASC-conditioned media enhanced HDF ECM secretion, specifically collagen type I and III and fibronectin. When these hASCs were mixed with collagen gel solution and injected directly into nude mice wounds, hASCs significantly enhanced wound-edge reepithelialization compared with collagen gel controls [97]. In a follow-up study by the same group, topically

#### 19. STEM CELLS DERIVED FROM FAT

administered ASCs improved reepithelialization rates, an effect of which was contributed to the paracrine ASC secretion of basic FGF, keratinocyte growth factor, transforming growth factor-β, HGF, and VEGF [97]. Other studies confirmed similar wound healing effects of ASCs. One interesting study, completed by Amos et al. in 2009, showed that ASCs applied to wounds in diabetic mice resulted in a faster rate of healing when the ASCs were delivered as multicellular aggregates compared with when the stem cells were delivered as a cell suspension. Furthermore, ASCs formulated as three-dimensional cellular aggregates produced significantly more ECM proteins and secreted higher levels of bioactive factors compared with a monolayer culture [98]. These results emphasize the importance of the cell culture, formulation, and delivery mechanism in the ASC biology and therapeutic effect.

Autologous lipotransfer (also known as fat grafting) was developed over a century ago. In 2008, Yoshimura and colleagues described a process called "cell-assisted lipotransfer," in which ASCs are combined with lipoaspirate in an effort to improve graft viability and long-term volume retention [43]. The presumed mechanisms of reported volume retention compared with controls included progenitor cell differentiation into mature adipocytes and/or improved vascularization and subsequent graft survival. There has been some conflicting evidence in follow-up studies, including a "head-to-head" trial of fat grafting to cell-assisted lipotransfer by Peltoniemi et al. In 18 women undergoing breast augmentation, volume retention trended lower (albeit without statistical significance) in the cell-assisted lipotransfer group as evaluated by magnetic resonance imaging [99]. Further double-blinded, randomized controlled clinical trials are required to establish the superiority of one treatment over another.

Finally, a few groups have used direct application of ASCs in the clinical setting for other therapeutic objectives, including fecal and stress urinary incontinence, inflammatory bowel disease and its fistulous sequelae, erectile dysfunction, Buerger disease, graft-versus-host disease, and spinal cord injury [45]. However, the clinical applications for which ASCs are being used often lack a solid foundation of preclinical data. For example, data demonstrating that ASCs are capable of differentiating outside an adipogenic lineage may require extreme chemical or culture modifications and, on occasion, genetic engineering. Often, "confirmation" of a particular cell phenotype is based on artifactual assays. For example, in ASC-driven osteogenesis studies, alizarin red S assay is frequently used; however, this assay does not distinguish between neo-matrix mineralization and dystrophic calcification caused by dying cells. In addition, if the cells express the characteristic enzyme alkaline phosphatase, it can cleave the donor phosphate group from the medium component,  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate; high concentrations of free phosphate will cause calcium phosphate precipitation, but this mineral in itself is not identical to the natural mineral component of human bony tissue, hydroxyapatite. Nonetheless, the plasticity that ASCs purportedly exhibit, and subsequent scientific interest in them, continue to expand. Continued confirmatory preclinical research efforts are required to validate differentiation potential and an understanding of therapeutic mechanisms of action to ensure that clinical translation is expedient, efficient, and efficacious.

## ENGINEERED NEO-TISSUE

ASCs are traditionally cultured on two-dimensional plastic. These culture conditions allow expansion of the putative stem ASC population but do not necessarily mimic the in vivo microcellular environment experienced by a cell: that is, cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions. As focused research on the creation of ex vivo neo-tissue constructs becomes more successful, the ability to recapitulate that microcellular environment becomes increasingly granular, composed of inductive media, growth factors, cytokines, gas concentrations, matrix material and dimension, and even matrix nanodirectional and microdirectional topographies [100,101].

Investigators have used ASCs to repair cartilage, bone, adipose, bladder smooth muscle, trachea, skin, and blood vessels in vitro and in human subjects, using ASCs as the cellular foundation. Starting with a three-dimensional, polylactic-glycolic acid bladder dome combined with an outer porous sponge, Jack et al. seeded the construct with smooth muscle cells differentiated from ASCs and implanted it into rats. After explantation at 12 weeks, his-tological and functional analyses revealed increasing smooth muscle mass and compliance similar to de novo bladder, respectively [102]. ASCs applied to a collage scaffold and implanted in a rat tracheal defect demonstrated accelerated epithelialization and improved angiogenesis compared with controls and provided an adequate airway [102a]. The ability to tissue engineer skin would be enormously beneficial to patients with thermal injury. Trottier et al. successfully used ASCs in place of dermal fibroblasts to reconstruct the neo-skin's dermal layer. In addition, the authors concluded that using ASCs to create neo-skin resulted in a superior neo-organ because only the samples containing ASCs were found to possess a histologically distinct hypodermis [102b].

The use of a preformed scaffold seeded with cells has become common in tissue engineering paradigms. Because higher cell densities influence cell viability and total matrix production positively, improving neo-tissue survival

#### THERAPEUTIC SAFETY OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED CELLS

requires efficient, homogeneous seeding. This can be challenging, and a number of strategies have been described in the literature. Many groups have published on the seeding of cells onto osteoinductive and/or osteoconductive scaffolds in particular. Janssen et al. described the seeding of human BM stromal cells onto 2- to 6-mm granules of a biphasic calcium phosphate scaffold under both static and perfusion conditions. Static seeding was performed for up to 4 h, but constructs were further cultured for up to 20 days and seeding efficiency was judged qualitatively [103-107]. Silva et al. reported the seeding of bioactive glass scaffolds with cylindrical dimensions of 6  $\times$  3 mm with culture-expanded hASCs using static conditions for 2 h, followed by incubation for up to 21 days, but no specific seeding efficiency was reported [107]. Chen et al. described the seeding of human amniotic MSCs onto porcine gelatin microspheres with diameters ranging from 130 to 380 µm. Their seeding protocol involved cycles of intermittent stirring alternating with static culture for 8 h and resulted in a seeding efficiency of greater than 90% [104]. Frohlich et al. reported the seeding of culture-expanded hASCs onto demineralized bone scaffolds with cylindrical dimensions of 4  $\times$  4 mm. Using repeated pipetting of a highly concentrated cell suspension followed by static culture for 2 days, they report a seeding efficiency of 73% [106]. This was in direct contrast to findings reported by Jurgens et al. with regard to the attachment of SVF cells to scaffolds. They reported that SVF cells attached rapidly to two different scaffold types, but with only 10% efficiency. Interestingly, their findings also suggested that no additional benefit was achieved by prolonging the seeding-incubation step from 30 min to 2 h [106]. It is clear that seeding methods vary widely and efficiency depends on many variables including cell type, scaffold type, and cell concentration, to name a few. These many variables can seem even more daunting when considered in the context of point-of-care objectives. With this approach, constructs are meant to be fabricated in real time at a patient's bedside, in the operating room, or perhaps in a clinic. This reduced time frame adds an additional challenge to an already difficult objective.

Other potential, albeit completely experimental methods of producing engineered neo-tissue constructs using ASCs include techniques involving organ printing and/or explanted microcirculatory beds (EMBs) [108]. Tissue and organ printing may enable large-scale industrial robotic fabrication of living human organ constructs with a "built-in" perfusable intraorgan branched vascular tree (Mironov et al., 2009). These vascularized organ constructs could then be perfused with a solution containing predifferentiated ASCs, which would subsequently engraft and further differentiate, creating a functioning, physiologic neo-organ. However, the ability to regenerate a functional, physiologic, vascularized, three-dimensional organ remains an elusive goal for tissue engineers.

In short, the engineering of neo-tissue constructs from ASCs is at an early stage. The realization of the regenerative potential of ASCs will eventually improve clinical outcomes, but it is dependent upon further advancements in adipose biology including proliferation, differentiation, and signaling.

## THERAPEUTIC SAFETY OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED CELLS

#### Carcinogenesis and Tumorigenesis

Despite a variety of preclinical and clinical studies demonstrating the safety of intravenous and site-directed injection of ASCs, conflicting reports exist indicating the induction or facilitation of tumor growth [109,110]. The resulting concern that multipotent mesenchymal cells, ASCs in particular, could inadvertently effect tumor tropism has surfaced. Proposed mechanisms permitting tumorigenicity/tumor tropism have been postulated to include immunomodulation, inhibition of caspase-induced apoptosis, and increased tumor vasculogenesis. For example, several studies have indicated that ASCs not only home and engraft into tumor and its vascular supply, but augment the tumor growth rate, cellular viability, and metastatic toolbox (i.e., invasion and motility) [110–112].

Because cells respond to the extracellular environment, it is of unsurprising that this milieu is important in the promotion and regulation of cellular functions including the cell cycle, transcription, and translation. It is therefore entirely possible that ASC-driven tumor tropism is caused in large part by its secretome and its paracrine—endocrine effects. Studies isolating the effects of this secretome using ASC-conditioned media (but devoid of adipose-derived cells) have demonstrated the ability of this conditioned media to increase cytokine and growth factor production of endometrial and breast cancer cells while simultaneously increasing tumor proliferation rates [113,114].

Other research directly contradicts the tumor-promoting behavior of ASCs. The proliferation of primary leukemia cells is inhibited by secreted Dickkopf-related protein 1 (DKK-1), the transcription of which is actively regulated via the ASC transcription factor NANOG [115]. In addition, ASC coculture studies of ASC and breast cancer cells report statistically significant reductions in cancer proliferation and metastatic rates, reportedly via the same DKK-1

#### 19. STEM CELLS DERIVED FROM FAT

expression [116]. Other in vivo modeling recapitulates these outcomes but is often attributed to other mechanisms, including downregulation of cell-cycle progression [117].

There is a large and growing number of humans who have received MSC therapies (both BM- and adiposederived cells as well as allogeneic and autologous cells) for a variety of clinical indications, by a variety of delivery routes: for example, the RESTORE-2 trial, a prospective clinical trial using autologous ASC-enriched fat grafts to reconstruct postmastectomy contour defects. With only 2 of 71 total patients lost to follow-up, there was no reported local cancer recurrences at the 12-month end point [118]. Furthermore, the current authors are unaware of any reported oncologic-related adverse events associated with any human adipose cell-derived studies or therapies. Nevertheless, there is no doubt that the (putative) oncologic risks associated with regenerative cell therapies deserve focused and continued thorough evaluation. Moreover, the mantra of "First do no harm" must guide a clinician's activities no matter how noble the intent. On the other hand, worthy efforts to advance and translate the field of regenerative medicine will inevitably be associated with risks inherent to the new and unknown, even in light of thorough and meticulous science, and the extensive education and comprehensive and ethical consent of courageous, sometimes desperate patients.

## CONCLUSIONS

Attempts to harness the pluripotent and paracrine potential of lipoaspirate cells (i.e., the heterogenous SVF and culture-expanded ASC) are increasing in number, and clinical translation of adipose science is in a fledgling but quickly growing stage. The mechanisms through which adipose-derived cells modify the extracellular micromilieu (e.g., secretome paracrine signaling, cell–cell interaction and induction, cellular homing, and engraftment) continue to be studied and elucidated, and with this expansion of solid, preclinical knowledge, further clinical discovery and subsequent therapeutic promise will continue to be realized. The relative accessibility of autologous adipose and abundance of stromal cells and putative progenitors facilitate these studies and subsequent scientific progression. However, current regulatory rules are not globalized, and they often depend on country-specific guidelines. As the understanding of adipose stromal cell biology becomes transparent, the maturation of policies governing their human clinical applications will soon follow. ASCs will likely become a cellular keystone in the field of regenerative medicine and improve our ability to treat countless diseases and disorders.

## References

- [1] Caplan AI, Sorrell JM. The MSC curtain that stops the immune system. Immunol Lett 2015;168(2):136-9.
- [2] Crisan M, et al. Perivascular cells for regenerative medicine. J Cell Mol Med 2012;16(12):2851-60.
- [3] Tang W, et al. White fat progenitor cells reside in the adipose vasculature. Science 2008;322(5901):583-6.
- [4] Corselli M, et al. The tunica adventitia of human arteries and veins as a source of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 2012;21(8): 1299–308.
- [5] West CC, et al. Prospective purification of perivascular presumptive mesenchymal stem cells from human adipose tissue: process optimization and cell population metrics across a large cohort of diverse demographics. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016;7:47.
- [6] Zuk PA, et al. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002;13(12):4279-95.
- [7] Fraser JK, et al. Fat tissue: an underappreciated source of stem cells for biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 2006;24(4):150-4.
- [8] Katz AJ, et al. Emerging approaches to the tissue engineering of fat. Clin Plast Surg 1999;26(4):587-603. viii.
- [9] Bourin P, et al. Stromal cells from the adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: a joint statement of the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). Cytotherapy 2013;15(6):641–8.
- [10] Lanza F, Healy L, Sutherland DR. Structural and functional features of the CD34 antigen: an update. J Bio Regul Homeost Agents 2001;15(1): 1–13.
- [11] Gronthos S. Molecular and cellular characterisation of highly purified stromal stem cells derived from human bone marrow. J Cell Sci 2003; 116(9):1827–35.
- [12] Katz AJ, et al. Cell surface and transcriptional characterization of human adipose-derived adherent stromal (hADAS) cells. Stem Cells 2005; 23(3):412–23.
- [13] Zuk PA, et al. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 2011;7(2):211-28.
- [14] Paul G, Li J-Y, Brundin P. Stem cells: hype or hope? Drug Discov Today 2002;7(5):295-302.
- [15] Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA. Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res 2007;100(9):1249-60.
- [16] Nedergaard J, Bengtsson T, Cannon B. Unexpected evidence for active brown adipose tissue in adult humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007;293(2):E444-52.
- [17] Trayhurn P, Beattie JH. Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. Proc Nutr Soc 2007; 60(03):329–39.

- [18] DiMuzio P, Tulenko T. Tissue engineering applications to vascular bypass graft development: the use of adipose-derived stem cells. J Vasc Surg 2007;45(Suppl. A):A99–103.
- [19] Prunet-Marcassus B, et al. From heterogeneity to plasticity in adipose tissues: site-specific differences. Exp Cell Res 2006;312(6):727–36.
- [20] Pachon-Pena G, et al. A glycovariant of human CD44 is characteristically expressed on human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2016;35.
- [21] Sackstein R. Fulfilling Koch's postulates in glycoscience: HCELL, GPS and translational glycobiology. Glycobiology 2016;26(6):560–70.
- [22] Amos PJ, et al. Functional binding of human adipose-derived stromal cells: effects of extraction method and hypoxia pretreatment. Ann Plast Surg 2008;60(4):437–44.
- [23] Boquest AC, et al. Isolation and transcription profiling of purified uncultured human stromal stem cells: alteration of gene expression after in vitro cell culture. Mol Biol Cell 2005;16(3):1131–41.
- [24] Alexander MB, Sahil K, Adam JK. Characterization of adipose-derived stem cells: an update. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2010;5(2):95–102.
- [25] Chamberlain G, et al. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells 2007;25(11):2739–49.
- [26] Naderi-Meshkin H, et al. Strategies to improve homing of mesenchymal stem cells for greater efficacy in stem cell therapy. Cell Biol Int 2015; 39(1):23–34.
- [27] Honczarenko M, et al. Human bone marrow stromal cells express a distinct set of biologically functional chemokine receptors. Stem Cells 2006;24(4):1030–41.
- [28] Sordi V, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells express a restricted set of functionally active chemokine receptors capable of promoting migration to pancreatic islets. Blood 2005;106(2):419–27.
- [29] Hashemzadeh MR, et al. Chemokine receptor's expression in human adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells primed with valproic acid. Comp Clin Pathol 2016;26(1):115–20.
- [30] Tsai LK, et al. The mood stabilizers valproic acid and lithium enhance mesenchymal stem cell migration via distinct mechanisms. Neuropsychopharmacology 2010;35(11):2225–37.
- [31] Tsai LK, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells primed with valproate and lithium robustly migrate to infarcted regions and facilitate recovery in a stroke model. Stroke 2011;42(10):2932–9.
- [32] Wang Z, et al. Chronic valproate treatment enhances postischemic angiogenesis and promotes functional recovery in a rat model of ischemic stroke. Stroke 2012;43(9):2430–6.
- [33] Choi YS, et al. Differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells into beating cardiomyocytes. J Cell Mol Med 2010;14(4):878-89.
- [34] Planat-Benard V, et al. Plasticity of human adipose lineage cells toward endothelial cells: physiological and therapeutic perspectives. Circulation 2004;109(5):656–63.
- [35] Rangappa S, et al. Transformation of adult mesenchymal stem cells isolated from the fatty tissue into cardiomyocytes. Ann Thorac Surg 2003; 75(3):775–9.
- [36] Parker AM, Katz AJ. Adipose-derived stem cells for the regeneration of damaged tissues. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2006;6(6):567-78.
- [37] Schenke-Layland K, et al. Adipose tissue-derived cells improve cardiac function following myocardial infarction. J Surg Res 2009;153(2): 217–23.
- [38] Cai L, et al. IFATS collection: human adipose tissue-derived stem cells induce angiogenesis and nerve sprouting following myocardial infarction, in conjunction with potent preservation of cardiac function. Stem Cells 2009;27(1):230–7.
- [39] Krause U, et al. Intravenous delivery of autologous mesenchymal stem cells limits infarct size and improves left ventricular function in the infarcted porcine heart. Stem Cells Dev 2007;16(1):31–7.
- [40] Valina C, et al. Intracoronary administration of autologous adipose tissue-derived stem cells improves left ventricular function, perfusion, and remodelling after acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2007;28(21):2667–77.
- [41] Kim U, et al. Homing of adipose-derived stem cells to radiofrequency catheter ablated canine atrium and differentiation into cardiomyocytelike cells. Int J Cardiol 2011;146(3):371–8.
- [42] Katz A, et al. Serial MRI assessment of human adipose-derived stem cells (HASCS) in a murine model of reperfused myocardial infarction. Adipocytes 2006;2.
- [43] Yoshimura K, et al. Characterization of freshly isolated and cultured cells derived from the fatty and fluid portions of liposuction aspirates. J Cell Physiol 2006;208(1):64–76.
- [44] Sengenes C, et al. Preadipocytes in the human subcutaneous adipose tissue display distinct features from the adult mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells. J Cell Physiol 2005;205(1):114–22.
- [45] Gir P, et al. Human adipose stem cells: current clinical applications. Plast Reconstr Surg 2012;129(6):1277-90.
- [46] Cao Y, et al. Human adipose tissue-derived stem cells differentiate into endothelial cells in vitro and improve postnatal neovascularization in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;332(2):370–9.
- [47] Nakagami H, et al. Novel autologous cell therapy in ischemic limb disease through growth factor secretion by cultured adipose tissuederived stromal cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005;25(12):2542–7.
- [48] Bayes-Genis A, et al. Human progenitor cells derived from cardiac adipose tissue ameliorate myocardial infarction in rodents. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2010;49(5):771–80.
- [49] Nie C, et al. Locally administered adipose-derived stem cells accelerate wound healing through differentiation and vasculogenesis. Cell Transplant 2011;20(2):205–16.
- [50] Rehman J, et al. Secretion of angiogenic and antiapoptotic factors by human adipose stromal cells. Circulation 2004;109(10):1292-8.
- [51] Bochev I, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow or adipose tissue differently modulate mitogen-stimulated B-cell immunoglobulin production in vitro. Cell Biol Int 2008;32(4):384–93.
- [52] Cui L, et al. Expanded adipose-derived stem cells suppress mixed lymphocyte reaction by secretion of prostaglandin E2. Tissue Eng 2007; 13(6):1185–95.
- [53] Puissant B, et al. Immunomodulatory effect of human adipose tissue-derived adult stem cells: comparison with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Br J Haematol 2005;129(1):118–29.
- [54] Berg AH, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. Circ Res 2005;96(9):939–49.

#### 19. STEM CELLS DERIVED FROM FAT

- [55] Fain JN, et al. Comparison of the release of adipokines by adipose tissue, adipose tissue matrix, and adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissues of obese humans. Endocrinology 2004;145(5):2273–82.
- [56] Cho K-S, Roh H-J. Immunomodulatory effects of adipose-derived stem cells in airway allergic diseases. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2010;5(2): 111-5.
- [57] Ra JC, et al. Stem cell treatment for patients with autoimmune disease by systemic infusion of culture-expanded autologous adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Transl Med 2011;9(181):1–11.
- [58] Riordan NH, et al. Non-expanded adipose stromal vascular fraction cell therapy for multiple sclerosis. J Transl Med 2009;7:29.
- [59] Yanez R, et al. Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have in vivo immunosuppressive properties applicable for the control of the graft-versus-host disease. Stem Cells 2006;24(11):2582–91.
- [60] Zuk P. Adipose-derived stem cells in tissue regeneration: a review. ISRN Stem Cells 2013;2013:1–35.
- [61] Kang S. Improvement of neurological deficits by intracerebral transplantation of human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells after cerebral ischemia in rats. Exp Neurol 2003;183(2):355–66.
- [62] Kang SK, et al. Autologous adipose tissue-derived stromal cells for treatment of spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Dev 2006;15(4):583-94.
- [63] Kim YJ, et al. Role of CD9 in proliferation and proangiogenic action of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Pflugers Arch 2007; 455(2):283–96.
- [64] Kim YM, et al. Effects of systemic transplantation of adipose tissue-derived stem cells on olfactory epithelium regeneration. Laryngoscope 2009;119(5):993–9.
- [65] Constantin G, et al. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells 2009;27(10):2624–35.
- [66] Gao J, et al. The dynamic in vivo distribution of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells after infusion. Cells Tissues Organs 2001; 169(1):12–20.
- [67] Schrepfer S, et al. Stem cell transplantation: the lung barrier. Transplant Proc 2007;39(2):573–6.
- [68] Takahashi Y, et al. Comparative study of methods for administering neural stem/progenitor cells to treat spinal cord injury in mice. Cell Transplant 2011;20(5):727–39.
- [69] Furlani D, et al. Is the intravascular administration of mesenchymal stem cells safe? Mesenchymal stem cells and intravital microscopy. Microvasc Res 2009;77(3):370–6.
- [70] Jung JW, et al. Familial occurrence of pulmonary embolism after intravenous, adipose tissue-derived stem cell therapy. Yonsei Med J 2013; 54(5):1293–6.
- [71] Ra JC, et al. Safety of intravenous infusion of human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in animals and humans. Stem Cells Dev 2011;20(8):1297–308.
- [72] Lee RH, et al. Intravenous hMSCs improve myocardial infarction in mice because cells embolized in lung are activated to secrete the antiinflammatory protein TSG-6. Cell Stem Cell 2009;5(1):54–63.
- [73] Strem BM, et al. Expression of cardiomyocytic markers on adipose tissue-derived cells in a murine model of acute myocardial injury. Cytotherapy 2005;7(3):282–91.
- [74] Perin EC, et al. Adipose-derived regenerative cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the PRECISE trial. Am Heart J 2014;168(1): 88–95 e2.
- [75] Fraser JK, et al. Plasticity of human adipose stem cells toward endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 2006;3: S33-7.
- [76] Martínez-Estrada OM, et al. Human adipose tissue as a source of Flk-1+ cells: new method of differentiation and expansion. Cardiovasc Res 2005;65(2):328–33.
- [77] Moon MH, et al. Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells improve postnatal neovascularization in a mouse model of hindlimb ischemia. Cell Physiol Biochem 2006;17(5–6):279–90.
- [78] Kilroy GE, et al. Cytokine profile of human adipose-derived stem cells: expression of angiogenic, hematopoietic, and pro-inflammatory factors. J Cell Physiol 2007;212(3):702–9.
- [79] Awad HA, et al. Chondrogenic potential of adipose tissue-derived stromal cells in vitro and in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 290(2):763–9.
- [80] Lin Y, et al. Molecular and cellular characterization during chondrogenic differentiation of adipose tissue-derived stromal cells in vitro and cartilage formation in vivo. J Cell Mol Med 2005;9(4):929–39.
- [81] Im G-I, Shin Y-W, Lee K-B. Do adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have the same osteogenic and chondrogenic potential as bone marrow-derived cells? Osteoarthr Cartil 2005;13(10):845–53.
- [82] Xie X, et al. Comparative evaluation of MSCs from bone marrow and adipose tissue seeded in PRP-derived scaffold for cartilage regeneration. Biomaterials 2012;33(29):7008–18.
- [83] Chen FH, Rousche KT, Tuan RS. Technology Insight: adult stem cells in cartilage regeneration and tissue engineering. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2006;2(7):373–82.
- [84] Dragoo JL, et al. Healing full-thickness cartilage defects using adipose-derived stem cells. Tissue Eng 2007;13(7):1615–21.
- [85] Erickson GR, et al. Chondrogenic potential of adipose tissue-derived stromal cells in vitro and in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 290(2):763–9.
- [86] Pak J. Regeneration of human bones in hip osteonecrosis and human cartilage in knee osteoarthritis with autologous adipose-tissue-derived stem cells: a case series. J Med Case Rep 2011;5(1):1.
- [87] Gaetani P, et al. Adipose-derived stem cell therapy for intervertebral disc regeneration: an in vitro reconstructed tissue in alginate capsules. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14(8):1415–23.
- [88] Ganey T, et al. Intervertebral disc repair using adipose tissue-derived stem and regenerative cells. Spine 2009;34(21):2297-304.
- [89] Jeong JH, et al. Regeneration of intervertebral discs in a rat disc degeneration model by implanted adipose-tissue-derived stromal cells. Acta Neurochir 2010;152(10):1771–7.
- [90] Halvorsen YD, et al. Extracellular matrix mineralization and osteoblast gene expression by human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells. Tissue Eng 2001;7(6):729-41.

#### REFERENCES

- [91] Tjabringa GS, et al. Polyamines modulate nitric oxide production and Cox-2 gene expression in response to mechanical loading in human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2006;24(10):2262–9.
- [92] Knippenberg M, et al. Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells acquire bone cell-like responsiveness to fluid shear stress on osteogenic stimulation. Tissue Eng 2005;11(11–12):1780–8.
- [93] Cowan CM, et al. Adipose-derived adult stromal cells heal critical-size mouse calvarial defects. Nat Biotechnol 2004;22(5):560-7.
- [94] Hicok KC, et al. Human adipose-derived adult stem cells produce osteoid in vivo. Tissue Eng 2004;10(3–4):371–80.
- [95] Li H, et al. Bone regeneration by implantation of adipose-derived stromal cells expressing BMP-2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007; 356(4):836–42.
- [96] Yoon E, et al. In vivo osteogenic potential of human adipose-derived stem cells/poly lactide-co-glycolic acid constructs for bone regeneration in a rat critical-sized calvarial defect model. Tissue Eng 2007;13(3):619–27.
- [97] Kim W-S, et al. Wound healing effect of adipose-derived stem cells: a critical role of secretory factors on human dermal fibroblasts. J Dermatol Sci 2007;48(1):15–24.
- [98] Amos PJ, et al. Human adipose-derived stromal cells accelerate diabetic wound healing: impact of cell formulation and delivery. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(5):1595–606.
- [99] Peltoniemi HH, et al. Stem cell enrichment does not warrant a higher graft survival in lipofilling of the breast: a prospective comparative study. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2013;66(11):1494–503.
- [100] Mata A. Micro and nanotechnologies for bioengineering regenerative medicine scaffolds. Int J Biomed Eng Technol 2011;5(2–3):266–91.
- [101] Ligouri G. Nano and micro directional topographies oppositely influence adipose-derived stem cells differentiation to smooth muscle cells, in IFATS 2016. San Diego, CA: University of Groningen; 2016.
- [102] Jack GS, et al. Urinary bladder smooth muscle engineered from adipose stem cells and a three dimensional synthetic composite. Biomaterials 2009;30(19):3259-70.
- [102a] Suzuki T, et al. Regeneration of the trachea using a bioengineered scaffold with adipose-derived stem cells. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 117(6): 453–63.
- [102b] Kobayashi K, et al. A tissue-engineered trachea derived from a framed collagen scaffold, gingival fibroblasts and adipose-derived stem cells. Biomaterials 2010;31:4855–63.
- [103] Janssen FW, et al. Human tissue-engineered bone produced in clinically relevant amounts using a semi-automated perfusion bioreactor system: a preliminary study. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2010;4(1):12–24.
- [104] Chen M, et al. A modular approach to the engineering of a centimeter-sized bone tissue construct with human amniotic mesenchymal stem cells-laden microcarriers. Biomaterials 2011;32(30):7532–42.
- [105] Fröhlich M, et al. Bone grafts engineered from human adipose-derived stem cells in perfusion bioreactor culture. Tissue Eng Part A 2009; 16(1):179–89.
- [106] Jurgens WJ, et al. Rapid attachment of adipose stromal cells on resorbable polymeric scaffolds facilitates the one-step surgical procedure for cartilage and bone tissue engineering purposes. J Orthop Res 2011;29(6):853–60.
- [107] Silva AR, et al. Synergistic effect between bioactive glass foam and a perfusion bioreactor on osteogenic differentiation of human adipose stem cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 2014;102(3):818–27.
- [108] Mironov V, et al. Organ printing: tissue spheroids as building blocks. Biomaterials 2009;30:2164-74.
- [109] Tolar J, et al. Sarcoma derived from cultured mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2007;25(2):371-9.
- [110] Zimmerlin L, et al. Regenerative therapy and cancer: in vitro and in vivo studies of the interaction between adipose-derived stem cells and breast cancer cells from clinical isolates. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;17(1–2):93–106.
- [111] Klopp AH, et al. Concise review: dissecting a discrepancy in the literature: do mesenchymal stem cells support or suppress tumor growth? Stem Cells 2011;29(1):11–9.
- [112] Yu JM, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human adipose tissues favor tumor cell growth in vivo. Stem Cells Dev 2008;17(3): 463–74.
- [113] Kuhbier JW, et al. Observed changes in the morphology and phenotype of breast cancer cells in direct co-culture with adipose-derived stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg 2014;134(3):414–23.
- [114] Linkov F, et al. The role of adipose-derived stem cells in endometrial cancer proliferation. Scand J Clin Lab Investig 2014;74(Suppl. 244):54-8.
- [115] Zhu Y, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit cancer cell proliferation by secreting DKK-1. Leukemia 2009;23(5):925-33.
- [116] Qiao L, et al. Dkk-1 secreted by mesenchymal stem cells inhibits growth of breast cancer cells via depression of Wnt signalling. Cancer Lett 2008;269(1):67–77.
- [117] Cousin B, et al. Adult stromal cells derived from human adipose tissue provoke pancreatic cancer cell death both in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One 2009;4(7):e6278.
- [118] Pérez-Cano R, et al. Prospective trial of adipose-derived regenerative cell (ADRC)-enriched fat grafting for partial mastectomy defects: the RESTORE-2 trial. Eur J Surg Oncol 2012;38(5):382–9.

This page intentionally left blank

## Peripheral Blood Stem Cells

Abritee Dahl, Graça Almeida-Porada, Christopher D. Porada, Shay Soker Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Adult stem and progenitor cells have been isolated from a wide variety of sources. Lineage-committed progenitors are found in a number of tissues including skin, fat, muscle, heart, brain, liver, pancreas, and bladder. Adults have another source of stem and progenitor cells is are not restricted to a specific tissue. These "universal" stem and progenitor cells are found circulating in peripheral blood (PB), which allows them to reach and integrate into all tissues.

The various hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), and nonhematopoietic stem cells, and progenitor cells found within the PB are thought to originate primarily from the bone marrow (BM) in adults. Hemangioblasts are the embryonic precursors of HSC, which develop into the progenitors and mature cells of all of the various hematopoietic lineages. These progenitor cells complete their differentiation in the BM, PB, and thymus. Extensive research in hematology and oncology has resulted in the identification of a wide variety of cell surface markers that allow the characterization and isolation of hematopoietic cells at different stages of differentiation and lineage commitment. Initially, adult BM-derived mesenchymal stem or marrow stromal cells (MSC) were isolated, expanded in vitro, and examined for their multilineage differentiation potential. These early studies were followed by extensive research showing that this unique cell population can proliferate extensively in vitro without loss of potential, differentiate to multiple lineages in vitro and in vivo, and contribute to the regeneration of several tissues in vivo [1]. Like HSC, it is possible that MSC may leave the BM environment and circulate within the PB. Identification and isolation of MSC is based on the differential expression of cell surface markers that distinguish them from circulating HSC. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC), another progenitor population within the PB, are derived from the same hemangioblast precursors as HSC, but they take a separate path of differentiation in the BM. The identification of circulating EPC suggested that the process of vasculogenesis, which was previously believed to be restricted to the embryonic stages, continues into adulthood. Circulating EPC have specific cell surface markers that are unique to their primitive state and are lost when EPC differentiate into mature endothelial cells (EC).

This chapter will briefly review the types and source of stem cells in PB, their specific cell surface markers, and factors that change their abundance in PB. We will focus on the isolation and in vitro expansion of MSC and EPC and describe their therapeutic applications for regenerative medicine. We will further describe the role of PB-derived stem cells in normal and pathological processes. Although much information has been gathered on the identification of different populations of PB stem cells, their clinical potential for therapy is just now being explored. Because PB is readily obtainable, their consideration as a viable source of cells for regenerative medicine deserves special attention.

## TYPES AND SOURCE OF STEM CELLS IN THE PERIPHERAL BLOOD

All of the countless cells of all 10 hematopoietic lineages (erythrocytes, platelets, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, monocytes, T and B lymphocytes, natural killer cells, and dendritic cells) that are found within the circulation at any given time are produced within BM through the carefully orchestrated process known as

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

hematopoiesis. In the adult, the process of hematopoiesis is supported by a rare population of cells within the BM known as HSC. Although HSC account for only about 0.01% of the total BM cellularity [2], it has been estimated that under steady-state conditions, this remarkable process must generate a remarkable 10<sup>10</sup> erythrocytes and 10<sup>9</sup> leukocytes each hour in a human while maintaining the circulating levels of each cell lineage within tightly regulated limits. Moreover, the BM can respond on-demand rapidly to increase the production (and release into the circulation) of the specific lineage(s) needed to counter a variety of insults and injuries, ensuring restoration of homeostasis. Although in the absence of disease BM remains the primary site of hematopoiesis throughout life [3], as early as the 1960s, it was recognized that small numbers of HSC are present at all times, circulating within in the PB stream as they transit from one site in the marrow to another, thus ensuring that the marrow is continuously and homogeneously "seeded" with these cells [3]. Interestingly, the levels of circulating HSC have been shown to fluctuate throughout the day, paralleling changes in Circadian rhythm, and increase in response to exercise and a variety of environmental and chemical stressors [4]. This process, known as "mobilization," will be discussed in detail in the next section, covering both its mechanism(s) and clinical implications.

Although most of the cells in the PB are hematopoietic in origin, other nonhematopoietic stem/progenitor cells are present. The most abundant of these are EPC, which derive from the same precursor during ontogeny as the HSC: the hemangioblast. Throughout life, EPC participate in repairing endothelial damage arising from injury and disease, and can also contribute to vasculogenesis, a process that was previously thought to be restricted to embryogenesis. As a result, many preclinical and clinical studies are exploring the use of EPC to treat ischemia in various tissues arising as a result of a range of injuries and diseases. Like HSC, the levels of EPC in the PB can fluctuate fairly widely in response to a variety of factors and stressors, likely also as a result of the mobilization of reserves of EPC from the BM. These findings have raised the hope that it may be possible to trigger or enhance the release of endogenous EPC for therapeutic purposes.

Another important BM-derived stem/progenitor cell is the MSC. MSC reside in the perivascular regions of the hematopoietic niche of the BM, from which they provide a wide array of physical and chemical signals that are required to drive or regulate the hematopoietic process. MSC or MSC-like cells also exist throughout the rest of the body as pericytes in close association with the vasculature. MSC released from the BM or these pericyte reserves have been reported to have a key part in maintaining and repairing damaged tissues throughout life, and there have been a handful of reports describing the presence of MSC in the PB [5]. However, their presence in significant numbers and their ability to be "mobilized" are still contentious. Nevertheless, given their emerging role as cellular therapeutics in regenerative medicine and as vehicles for gene delivery, we will discuss these cells in detail in this chapter.

## Mobilization of Bone Marrow Cells

#### Hematopoietic Stem/Progenitor Cell Mobilization

When HSC transplantation was first adopted as a clinical procedure, limited knowledge of the hematopoietic system at the time dictated that BM serve as the source of the HSC graft. To collect HSC for these early transplants, a substantial volume of BM had to be harvested from the pelvis or sternum under general anesthesia. While investigators were fine-tuning the details of conditioning regimens and graft composition, compelling evidence emerged that the absolute number of HSC present within the BM graft that was transplanted strongly correlated with the robustness of hematopoietic engraftment. Moreover, increasing the dose of HSC resulted in significantly lower mortality from infectious complications posttransplant [6]. These important realizations fueled the search for methods to increase the number of HSC that could be harvested for transplant.

Before it was possible to begin devising newer and more efficient ways to increase the numbers of HSC that could be obtained in a graft, a better understanding was necessary of the interactions between HSC and the BM niches in which they normally reside. Studies over the past decades revealed that the most primitive HSC are maintained in the BM niches by binding to the extracellular matrix (ECM) and stromal cells of the BM via multiple adhesive interactions [7]. Of these, binding of the ligands stromal-derived growth factor-1 (SDF-1 $\alpha$ ) (also known as CXCL12) and vascular adhesion molecule-1 (also known as CD106), which are expressed on the surface of cells in the BM microenvironment, to their respective receptors, CXCR4 and very late antigen-4 (also known as  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 1-integrin), which are expressed on the surface of HSC, have emerged as essential signals for the retention of HSC in the BM niches and in the trafficking of HSC to and from the BM [8,9]. As early as the 1960s, it was recognized that HSC residing in BM could be released from their niches and circulate in the PB, albeit at low levels, under steady-state homeostasis [10]. In subsequent years, it was observed that the levels of these circulating HSC often increased after chemotherapy.

Further studies demonstrated that the levels of naturally circulating HSC follow changes in circadian rhythm [11,12] and that the number of circulating HSC increases in response to a wide array of physiological stimuli and

#### TYPES AND SOURCE OF STEM CELLS IN THE PERIPHERAL BLOOD

stressors, including systemic or local inflammation, strenuous exercise, psychological stress, and tissue or organ injury [8,9]. This process of so-called "mobilization," in which HSC are coaxed to leave their niches within the BM and enter the circulation, is still not well-understood but has been postulated to be orchestrated by (1) SDF-1 $\alpha$  degradation and inactivation within the BM niches by proteolytic enzymes such as elastase, cathepsin G, and various metalloproteinases (MMP); (2) neurotransmitters released from nerves that innervate the BM microenvironment; and (3) reversal of the transendothelial chemotactic gradient between the BM microenvironment and plasma [13]. Evidence has also accumulated that the exodus of HSC from stem cell niches is significantly augmented in a complement cascade (ComC)-dependent manner [9]. The ComC is activated by the classical, mannan-binding lectin and alternative pathways. Activation of the ComC and generation of cleavage fragments of the fifth component of the ComC (C5) initiate events that are required for egress of HSC from BM into PB [14]. Further studies have provided compelling data to support the conclusion that the coagulation cascade is activated in parallel with the ComC during mobilization and that it has a supporting role in this process [13]. Additional support for the importance of the ComC in mobilization is provided by the fact that the ComC is activated in all of the mechanisms leading to mobilization of HSC (for example, systemic inflammation, infection, organ injury, stress, and strenuous exercise) [9].

In addition to these physiological triggers, studies in the 1970s and 1980s revealed that administering pyran copolymer to mice or dogs could induce primitive colony-forming HSC to "mobilize" from the BM into the circulation [15,16]. Moreover, the dose and number of times or frequency with which pyran copolymer was administered directly affected the resultant levels of circulating HSC. These findings led the authors to conclude that mobilized PB (mPB) could represent a viable source of HSC for transplantation. Subsequent studies showed that hematopoietic cytokines could mobilize primitive HSC with long-term repopulating ability into the PB with relatively high efficiency [17], and in the early 1980s, the first autologous transplants using HSC from mPB were reported [18]. After the discovery and clinical development of human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and the realization that immunoisolation could be used to obtain highly enriched primitive HSC from this cytokine-mPB, thereby removing malignant cells and making it possible to use autologous cells to treat hematological malignancies [19], G-CSF quickly become the standard and most widely used mobilizing agent for autologous HSC transplantation. It has been the standard of care for the past several decades. G-CSF is thought to mobilize HSC from the BM niche primarily by stimulating the secretion of neutrophil-associated extracellular proteases, such as matrix MMP-9, which can degrade SDF-1 $\alpha$ , thereby releasing HSC from their niche [20]. Experiments with neutralizing antibodies directed against CXCR4 or SDF-1a have provided further evidence that uncoupling of the SDF-1a–CXCR4 axis is critical for G–CSF–mediated HSC mobilization.

The noninvasiveness and ease with which mPB could be collected (compared with the general anesthesia required for BM harvest and the pain that follows multiple aspirations from the BM), and the discovery that HSC were present at higher frequency in these mobilized products than in steady-state BM, quickly led multiple laboratories and centers around the world to begin replacing BM with mPB in the clinical setting [21,22]. Indeed, the use of mPB as an HSC source has dramatically increased and now accounts for approximately 75% of HSC transplants from unrelated adult donors [6] and about 99% of autologous HSC transplants [23]. Interestingly, this dramatic shift has taken place without much hard clinical data to support the superiority of mPB in terms of better patient outcome or safety [6], and despite concerns that the higher T-cell content present in mPB might lead to higher risk for graft versus host disease (GVHD) [24]. Support for this shift has come from numerous large, multicenter, randomized trials that have collectively shown that engraftment or reconstitution is often faster and more robust with mPB than with BM, shortening the duration of cytopenias, and that the use of mPB may be associated with a decreased relapse rate, but this appears to depend on the patient population and malignancy in question [25]. In the allogeneic transplant setting, the use of HSC from mPB, compared with those from BM, was shown to be associated with more rapid engraftment, reduction of infectious complications, and lower transplant-related mortality in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies [21]. However, as originally feared, these studies also revealed that the use of mPB is associated with a significantly higher rate of chronic (and perhaps acute) GVHD than BM and offers no significant improvement in survival [26].

Despite the marked clinical success of G-CSF and the dramatic change it has enabled in the practice of HSC transplantation, 5%–20% of individuals fail to mobilize a sufficient number of HSC into the PB in response to G-CSF, for reasons that are unclear. This inability to mobilize a significant percentage of patients requiring HSC transplantation has led investigators and clinicians to seek alternative means of mobilizing HSC. Besides G-CSF, other cytokines such as granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin-7, interleukin-3, interleukin-12, stem cell factor, FLT-3 ligand, and interleukin-8 have been reported to mobilize HSC clinically or experimentally in animal models [27]. However, each of these molecules differs in the time to achieve efficient mobilization, the type of cells it mobilizes into the PB, and its side effects.

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

Plerixafor/AMD3100 is a bicyclam molecule that specifically and reversibly blocks SDF-1 $\alpha$  binding to CXCR4 [28,29]. It was initially developed as an antagonist of the CXCR4 HIV coreceptor that is present on the surface of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, thereby blocking HIV cell entry. Subsequently, however, this agent was demonstrated to possess significant HSC-mobilizing activity. This is unsurprising because inhibition of this critical HSC–niche interaction induces the rapid egress of HSC from the BM into the peripheral circulation. Indeed, whereas cytokines induce HSC mobilization with delayed kinetics (over the course of days), mobilizing with agents such as Plerixafor that directly disrupt the critical SDF-1 $\alpha$ -CXCR4 axis can generate peak levels of mobilized HSC within only hours of administration.

In addition to its much faster action, Plerixafor has also been shown to mobilize a larger absolute number of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells in patients who have failed to yield an adequate amount of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells upon mobilization attempts with G-CSF with or without chemotherapy. Importantly, compared with G–CSF–mobilized cells, a higher percentage of Plerixafor-mobilized CD34<sup>+</sup> cells are in the G1 phase of the cell cycle and belong to the more primitive CD34<sup>+</sup>/CD38<sup>-</sup> subset of cells. Limiting dilution HSC transplant studies in animal models showed that Plerixafor-mobilized HSC have a higher frequency of true HSC with long-term repopulating activity [28]. Thus, in addition to an absolute increase in overall CD34<sup>+</sup> cells upon Plerixafor mobilization, a more primitive and potent progenitor cell population is also significantly elevated. Numerous clinical trials have demonstrated that combining G-CSF and Plerixafor can further increase the CD34<sup>+</sup> cell yield; they also showed that a higher proportion of the mobilized progenitors possesses the primitive and possibly more potent CD34<sup>+</sup>/CD38<sup>-</sup> phenotype.

Studies over the past several years, largely spearheaded by the Ratajczak group, have provided greater insight into the mechanisms by which HSC are mobilized and have begun to provide possible explanations for why certain people are so-called "poor mobilizers." Studies by this group showed that heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), which has well-documented antiinflammatory potential, has an important and previously unrecognized role in the retention of HSC in BM niches. HO-1 appears to exert this effect through several different means, the most important of which are: (1) negatively modulating activation of ComC; (2) maintaining SDF-1 $\alpha$  levels in the BM microenvironment; and (3) attenuating the chemotactic responsiveness of HSC to SDF-1 $\alpha$  and sphingosine-1 phosphate gradients in the PB. These investigators also showed that HO-1 activity inhibits HSC mobilization in response to G-CSF or Plerixafor/AMD3100 [30]. Further study revealed that upregulation of inducible nitric oxide (NO) synthase enhances HO-1 activity, thereby acting as a novel negative regulator of hematopoietic cell migration and preventing egress of HSC into PB during mobilization [31]. This group also made the astute and important observation that all of the processes that have been shown to induce HSC mobilization also trigger activation of several ancient proteolytic cascades, such as the ComC [9,14], the coagulation cascade, and the fibrinolytic cascade [32]. The researchers found that when HO-1 metabolizes heme, it produces molecules with potent antiinflammatory properties, including inhibition of the ComC. Intriguingly, mutations in the ComC pathway occur at a frequency similar to the observed rate of "poor responders," which strongly suggests that this pathway is critically involved in this important clinical problem.

Mobilization of Other Bone Marrow–Derived Cells into Peripheral Blood

Studies have provided compelling evidence that many of the same physiological stressors such as injury and intense exercise and pharmacological agents such as G-CSF and Plerixafor/AMD3100, which mobilize HSC efficiently from the BM niches into the circulation also mobilize EPC, and that this mobilization can create pronounced therapeutic benefit in a range of diseases [33]. However, although many of the pathways appear to be shared between HSC and EPC, such as the involvement of MMP-9 [34] and regulation by NO [35], the optimal parameters or combination of cytokines or growth factors to induce mobilization differ between HSC and EPC [36]. In addition, EPC are also mobilized in response to stress signals such as hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  [37] and hormonal changes that occur during the menstrual cycle [38], which do not mobilize HSC.

In addition to EPC, another important BM-derived stem/progenitor cell is the MSC, the biology and properties of which will be discussed in detail in a subsequent section. Current thought holds that MSC released from the BM or other perivascular reserves throughout the body have an important part in maintaining and repairing damaged tissues throughout life. To accomplish this task, one would assume that they must transit to areas of damage or disease via the bloodstream. However, the detection of MSC in the PB has proven difficult, and there have only been a handful of reports actually describing the presence of MSC in the PB and their mobilization in response to injury or pharmacological agents [5]. As a result, their presence in significant numbers and their ability actually to be mobilized are still contentious. Indeed, other studies have shown a lack of mobilization, but rather alterations to the MSC secretome in response to stressors that provoke HSC and EPC mobilization [39].

## ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLS

Initial evidence that EPC can be detected in PB came from research conducted mainly by the groups of Isner and Asahara in Boston and Rafii in New York [40,41]. They showed that cells with EC characteristics can be isolated from PB and expanded in vitro. They and others showed that the numbers of EPC in PB were significantly increased as a result of acute vascular injuries, angiogenic stimuli, estrogen, and NO synthase but were reduced by certain chronic disease states (e.g., coronary artery disease) [42]. Circulating EPC originate primarily from the BM and can be identified by the differential expression of hematopoietic and EC markers. This is important because hematopoietic and EPC probably share a common precursor, the hemangioblasts [43]. Hemangioblasts reside mainly in the BM and differentiate into HSC and angioblasts. This process occurs mainly during early embryogenesis but was shown to exist in adults [42,44]. Angioblasts will develop into EPC that, upon stimulation with angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and placental growth factor, are mobilized from BM to PB [42,45]. Once in PB, EPC can be recruited to sites of active neovascularization such as those seen in wounds, diabetic retinopathy, and tumors [46]. The role of EPC in physiological and pathological neovascularization and their therapeutic applications are described next.

## Identification and Isolation of Endothelial Progenitor Cells

Marrow and PB cells expressing CD34 can develop into EPC [40,47]. Although CD34 is commonly used to isolate EPC, CD34 expression is also shared by HSC and MSC and cannot be used to distinguish between these populations. Likewise, VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR-2) (human kinase insert domain receptor [KDR] and mouse Flk-1), which is used to identify EPC, is expressed also on HSC [40]. In humans, CD133 (AC133) is used to distinguish EPC from mature EC, because CD133 is not expressed by mature EC [47]. CD133 is a stem cell marker with functions that have not yet been recognized [48]. In addition, Hebbel and colleagues have used P1H12 antibodies that recognize CD146 (MUC18) on circulating EC in PB but not on monocytes, granulocytes, platelets, megakaryocytes, or T or B lymphocytes [49]. Other markers common to progenitor and mature EC are the cell surface receptors KDR and Tie2 [46]. Purified populations of CD133<sup>+</sup>/KDR<sup>+</sup> EPC proliferate in vitro in an anchorage-independent manner and can be induced to differentiate into mature adherent EC [46]. It is thought that  $CD133^+/KDR^+$  EPC are a population of immature EC that are mobilized from the BM to participate in neovascularization. Because myelomonocytic cells have lost surface expression of CD133, this marker also provides an effective means to distinguish true EPC from cells of myelomonocytic origin. Yet, studies showed that cells expressing CD14, considered to be a typical monocytic lineage marker, can become EC [50]. Collectively, these studies suggest that identification of circulating EPC may be achieved using different markers that may define subpopulations of EPC based on their stage of differentiation and origin.

The number of EPC in BM is low (<10 per  $10 \times 10^5$  mononuclear cells [MNC]) and the reported numbers vary based on which identifying markers are used among the different studies. For practical applications, the EPC fraction may be enriched using cell surface markers such as CD34, CD133, and KDR [40]. SDF-1 stimulates the mobilization of EPC via an enhancement of protein kinase B (Akt) and endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) activity [51]. Interestingly, VEGF has been found to promote EC to express SDF-1 and CXCR4 (the SDF-1 receptor) [52]; on the other hand, SDF-1 has the potency to induce the expression of VEGF [53]. Thus, in the BM vascular niche, the expression of VEGF and endothelial SDF-1 possibly modulate the microenvironment through proteolytic enzymes (MMP-2 and MMP-9) and by controlling EPC mobilization. In addition to these factors, data indicate that erythropoietin (Epo) [54], platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) [55], and NO [54] stimulate EPC mobilization.

One functional assay capitalizes on in vitro growth kinetics to discriminate BM-derived EPC and circulating EC from vessel wall–derived mature EC [46]. In this assay, the isolated cells are incubated with VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), and fibronectin or collagen. EC colonies that appear early are derived from the recipient vessel wall circulating EC, whereas late-outgrowth cells or colonies originate mainly from BM-derived EPC. Lin et al. [56]. and Gulati et al. [57]. reported that early EPC (7-day cultures) are derived from CD14<sup>+</sup> cells (monocytes), whereas late-outgrowing EPC (4–6 weeks of culture) are derived from CD14<sup>-</sup> cells that bear endothelial markers (VE-cadherin<sup>+</sup>Flk-1<sup>+</sup>vWF<sup>+</sup>CD36<sup>+</sup>CD146<sup>+</sup>). In addition, Hur et al. [58] cultured total MNC obtained from human PB and reported two EPC types. Some cells organized into clusters as early as 3 days after plating; these were called early EPCs. These cells had limited proliferative capacity and disappeared after 4 weeks of culture. In contrast, another group of cells appeared later, at 2–3 weeks after plating. These cells demonstrated EC-like cobblestone morphology and were called late EPC. Late EPC proliferated robustly and

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

were positive for VE-cadherin, Flt-1, and KDR but were negative for CD45. The late EPC produced NO and formed capillary tubes. Yoder's group [59] reported the late outgrowth of cells from umbilical cord or circulating blood MNC that they termed endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFC). These cells appeared at 14–21 days after plating and formed adherent colonies with cobblestone morphology. ECFC expressed the cell surface antigens CD31, CD105, CD144, CD146, vWF, and KDR and took up acetylated low-density lipoprotein (AcLDL). ECFC did not express hematopoietic or monocyte/macrophage cell surface antigens such as CD14, CD45, or CD115. Whether isolated from cord or adult PB, ECFC display clonal proliferative potential and relatively high levels of telomerase [60]. Taken together, the consensus is that late-outgrowth endothelial colonies may be considered to be angioblast-like EPC.

The cell surface antigen CD31 (also known as platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1) has been used as a marker for EC for many years [61]. It was suggested that CD31 could also be used as a marker for EPC [62]. However, because it has been shown that CD31<sup>+</sup> are fully differentiated EC, it could be argued that CD31 may not be a suitable marker for identification of EPC, because it may not distinguish between progenitor and fully differentiated EC. However, in those studies, CD31-selected EPC had a typical EC/EPC phenotype, proliferated robustly, and integrated into nascent vasculature. The close phenotypic similarity between mature and progenitor EC was highlighted by Ingram et al. [60]. Those researchers used single-cell colony-forming assays to demonstrate that populations of both human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) and human aortic endothelial cells (HAEC), which were thought to be fully differentiated EC, contain a subpopulation of EPC with different clonogenic and proliferative potential. That work suggested that HUVEC and HAEC are not homogeneous populations and appear to contain some fully differentiated EC that are unable to proliferate, as well as other cell fractions that demonstrate more "stemness," as shown by their robust ability to proliferate and form colonies. It is not yet clear why HUVEC and HAEC populations demonstrate heterogeneity in ex vivo culture conditions, but these findings suggest that culturing and sorting for EPC may standardize experimental data obtained from different research groups.

Isolation of EPC is conventionally based on fluorescence-activated cell sorting or immunomagnetic techniques, which are complex, time-consuming procedures that need an experienced operator. New devices could be engineered to simplify the operation and shorten the time for obtaining EPC. Miniaturization of EPC isolation procedures by using similar strategies, adopted from microfluidic lab-on-a-chip devices, may significantly facilitate EPC isolation [63]. Plouffe et al. [64] developed a microfluidics chamber, coated with antibodies against CD34, VEGFR-2, CD31, CD146, or CD45, to capture EPC. When cells were flowing through the "EPC chip," they demonstrated specific affinity to EPC. Although this prototype device can be coated with only one antibody on a single chamber, it is potentially an alternative for easy and rapid separation of EPC. Tillman et al. [65] developed an extra-corporeal cellular affinity column that can recover CD133-expressing progenitor cells with high efficiency. In a sheep model, 1.8 L of blood was passed through a Sepharose-based column with affinity for CD133 and unbound cells and plasma were returned to the animal. The results showed that this process had a minimal effect on the hematologic and physiologic parameters of the animal and EPC recovery was over 600-fold more efficient than conventional density centrifugation from a PB specimen. This technology may facilitate the generation of large numbers of progenitor-derived cells for clinical therapies and reduce the time required to attain clinically relevant cell numbers while minimizing loss of other important cell types to the donor.

## In Vitro Expansion of Endothelial Progenitor Cells

The relative paucity of EPC in the circulation likely contributes to the difficulty associated with EPC culture [60]. Density-gradient separation procedures, designed for separating MNC from blood, may contribute to this problem. Thus, successful culture of EPC usually requires a relatively large amount (50–100 mL) of peripheral or cord blood, and yet few colony-forming units (CFU) or ECFC can be obtained (see Table 20.1 in [59]). The mononuclear fraction is placed in fibronectin-coated plates containing endothelial basal medium with contain angiogenic growth factors such as VEGF and bFGF. Other growth factors such as epidermal growth factor and IGF contribute to cell growth but not differentiation. In one of their earlier studies, Asahara et al. [66] showed that VEGF and not bFGF is important for EPC differentiation, and bFGF may be used by the differentiated EC for subsequent proliferation. Inclusion of angiogenic factors in the media prevents "contamination" by other cell types including lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. VEGF appears to inhibit dendritic cell maturation from CD34<sup>+</sup> MNC fraction [67]. Within 7–10 days of culture in fibronectin- or collagen-coated dishes, colonies with spindle-shaped cells appear in the dish. These are "slow-growing" cells, defined as "late-outgrowth" EPC. They differ from the mature

Proliferative capacity: Proposed source and mechanism for mobilization:	Putative Endothelial Progenitor Cells High Bone marrow; release and proliferation to VEGF and other stimuli	Vessel Wall–Derived Circulating Endothelial Cells Limited Endothelial cell damage; VEGF decreases apoptosis			
			MARKERS		
			VEGF receptor-2 (kinase insert domain receptor)	+	+
CD34	+	+			
CD31 (platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule)	±	+			
AC133 (CD133)	+	_			
MUC18 (P1H12)	_	+			

VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

circulating EC that readily proliferate in vitro [42]. The whole-blood culture method may be used to increase the likelihood of obtaining EPC cultures. This approach does not require MNC separation procedures, which may minimize cell damage caused by density gradient separation. Reinisch et al. [68] reported that whole-blood culture yielded nearly eightfold more ECFC colonies compared with density gradient separation. The whole-blood culture approach may simplify EPC culture procedures and increase the possibility that EPC will be used for clinical diagnostic and therapeutic purposes.

Commercially available media kits were introduced to facilitate EPC growth. These kits provide reagents and media for culturing EPC from PB. However, these culture kits may not be optimal for EPC expansion and differentiation. Hur et al. [58]. reported that cells isolated with such kits displayed limited proliferative capacity and did not integrate into nascent vasculature [69]. Further studies revealed that monocytes and T cells can contribute to CFU EC [70]; therefore, it is reasonable to argue that some of these kits are not suitable for EPC culture and assays. Instead, ECFC [59] should be cultured in endothelial cell growth medium-2 culture medium, which was developed from MCDB131 medium in the 1980s [71]. ECFC demonstrate late colony-forming, robust proliferation, endothelial morphology, the expression of EPC/EC-related markers, and the ability to integrate into nascent vasculature. Regardless of the EPC source, the cells assume a typical flat EC morphology after 2–3 weeks and present mature EC markers such as CD31, VE-cadherin, and CD146 (P1H12). They metabolize AcLDL, bind *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin-1, and produce NO, consistent with EC properties. Proper characterization of EPC-derived EC requires the analysis of a combination of cell surface markers.

## The Role of Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Physiological and Pathological Neovascularization

Blood vessels form by two processes: (1) angiogenesis, or the sprouting of capillaries from preexisting blood vessels; and (2) vasculogenesis, or the in situ assembly of capillaries from undifferentiated EC. Vasculogenesis takes place mostly during the early stages of embryogenesis [72]. Vascular channels in the yolk sac originate from the mesoderm by the differentiation of angioblasts, which subsequently generate primitive blood vessels [73]. Early findings that EPC can participate in angiogenic processes indicate that postnatal neovascularization does not rely solely on sprouting from preexisting blood vessels (angiogenesis) but may be assisted by EPC via postnatal vasculogenesis [66].

BM-derived EPC contribute to adult tissue neovascularization in several models including wound healing, cornea, and tumor angiogenesis [66]. BM-derived EPC may be detected in normal organs including spleen, lung, liver, intestine, skin, hind-limb muscle, ovary, and uterus, which indicates their participation in maintaining

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

physiological neovascularization [66]. Hormonally induced ovulation cycles were also associated with the localization of BM-derived EPC in corpus lutea and in the uterus endometrium and stroma. These findings indicate that EPC contribute to physiological neovascularization associated with the postnatal regenerative processes.

Minami et al. [74] examined the presence of endothelial, smooth muscle, and Schwann cell chimerism in patients with sex-mismatched (female-to-male) heart transplants. The Y chromosome was used to determine chimerism. Biopsy specimens taken at subsequent times after heart transplantation showed that EC had the highest degree of chimerism (24.3%), Schwann cells showed the next highest chimerism (11.2%), and vascular smooth muscle cells (SMC) had the lowest (3.4%). Results of this study indicated that circulating progenitor cells are capable of repopulating most major cell types in the heart, but they do so with varying frequency. The signals for endothelial progenitor recruitment occur early and could relate to the injury during the surgery.

Cumulative evidences show that BM cells may improve ischemic myocardium function by paracrine stimulation of angiogenesis rather than differentiation into contractile cardiomyocytes [75]. In addition to contributing to neovascularization directly and indirectly, EPC may also provide paracrine survival signals to cardiomyocytes [76]. Clinical studies also suggested that cell-based therapy with EPC can improve myocardial function [77]. In parallel, EPC were found to be incorporated into the vasculature of pathological lesions such as atherosclerotic plaques, tumors, the retina, and ischemic brain tissue. Vascular SMC proliferation results in neointimal hyperplasia and the development of restenosis. BM-derived SMC can integrate into the hyperplastic neointima and atherosclerotic plaques [78]. Evidence for the contribution of BM MSC to human atherosclerotic plaques originated from a study showing donor-derived neointimal cells within the plaques [79]. Also, decreased EPC in the circulation have been correlated with a higher risk of cardiovascular complications [80]. It was hypothesized that lower levels of PB-EPC were associated with an impaired capacity to repair the damaged vessels, but the pathophysiological role of BM-derived EPC remains unclear. Recruitment of PB-EPC to damaged or diseased tissues depends on the underlying pathology and probably results from the release of specific growth factors and chemokines by these tissues [81]. Abnormal retinal neovascularization contributes to the pathogenesis of proliferative retinopathy in diabetes and age-related prematurity and macular degeneration. BM-derived hemangioblasts were shown to contribute to retinal neovascularization in models of proliferative retinopathy [82,83]. This study documented the incorporation of EPC into mature endothelium of the retinal blood vessels. Cerebral infarction is associated with neovascularization of the ischemic zone and new vessel growth. BM transplantation studies showed that EPC could be detected in the neovessels at the repair sites after 3 days [84]. EPC reduction is also considered to be a mechanism by which cardiovascular risk factors promote cardiovascular disease (CVD). A decrease in EPCs is also associated with the pathophysiology of rheumatologic disorders [85]. In this context, restoration of EPC function may prevent long-term cardiovascular complications associated with cardiovascular risk factors and attenuate clinical manifestations of rheumatic diseases.

Whereas restoring EPC function in CVD may prevent disease development, targeting EPCs in cancer may have potential therapeutic benefits. EPC recruitment during tumor progression contributes significantly to the cancerassociated neovasculature. Thus, targeting these cells could be used effectively to halt tumor progression by preventing vascularization of neoplastic deposits [85]. Studies have shown a correlation between increased VEGF and mobilization of EPCs to tumor sites [86,87], whereas inhibiting VEGF receptors halts tumor growth in vivo [88]. Other factors that have an integral role in mobilizing EPCs to tumor sites include interleukin-8 and NO [87].

Compelling evidence for the role of EPC in tumor vascularization comes from a study by Lyden and colleagues using an angiogenesis-defective mouse model. Mice lacking both alleles of Id1  $(id1^{-/-})$  and Id3  $(id3^{-/-})$  died by embryonic day 13.5 and exhibited massive vascular malformation [89]. The  $Id3^{-/-}/id1^{+/-}$  mice survived but could not support the growth of several tumor types owing to insufficient tumor vascularization. However, transplantation of  $id3^{-/-}/id1^{+/-}$  mutant mice with BM from wild-type mice resulted in tumors that were indistinguishable from tumors grown on wild-type mice [90]. Furthermore, 90% of the tumor vessels contained BM-derived EC, which indicated the contribution of EPC to tumor neovascularization. VEGF treatment failed to elevate the number of EPC in  $id3^{-/-}/id1^{+/-}$  mutant mice but not in  $id3^{-/-}/id1^{+/-}$  transplanted with wild-type BM. Further evidence was provided by a model in which transplantation of human BM-derived multipotent adult progenitor cells into tumor xenograft-bearing mice resulted in the incorporation of human cells as 40% of the tumor vessel endothelium, which indicated the importance of circulating endothelial cells (CEC) for tumor neovascularization [91]. Different tumors secrete different types and concentrations of angiogenic factors that may have a different capability of inducing mobilization of EPC. Although a formal correlation between tumor type/stage/size and number of EPC has not been established in human cancer, some tumor types may be more dependent than others on CEC as a source of endothelium [92].

Taken together, the results of these studies indicate that the contribution of EPC to neovascularization is not restricted to normal healing processes and that they contribute significantly to several pathological processes. One of the most intensively studied models of EPC and neovascularization is tumor angiogenesis, as described

## MESENCHYMAL STEM/MARROW STROMA CELLS

An especially critical BM-derived stem/progenitor cell is the MSC. MSC reside in the perivascular regions of the hematopoietic niche of the BM, from which they provide a wide array of physical and chemical signals that are required to drive or regulate the hematopoietic process. MSC or MSC-like cells also exist in close association with the vasculature throughout the rest of the body as so-called pericytes. MSC possess a set of unique properties that combine to make them ideally suited for cellular therapies and regenerative medicine, and as vehicles for gene and drug delivery. Much research has been focused on finding ways to mobilize endogenous MSC from the BM and/or from the widely distributed pericyte reserves or to administer exogenous MSC to mediate tissue repair and thereby treat a variety of injuries and diseases. Some important properties that make MSC one of the most promising stem cell populations for regenerative medicine and vehicles for gene delivery (to be covered in a later section) include (1) their relative ease of isolation; (2) the ability to differentiate into a wide variety of functional cell types of both mesenchymal and nonmesenchymal origin in vitro and in vivo; (3) the ability to be expanded extensively in culture without a loss of differentiative capacity; (4) the fact that they are not only hypoimmunogenic but produce immunosuppression upon transplantation; (5) their pronounced antiinflammatory properties; and (6) their ability to home selectively to damaged tissues after in vivo administration, while contributing little if anything to normal or healthy tissue [1,93,94]. In the section that follows, we will briefly discuss the discovery of MSC, their basic biology and characterization, and their ability to be expanded in vitro for therapeutic use.

## Identification, Isolation, Characterization, and In Vitro Expansion

subsequently.

In pioneering studies [95] performed nearly 4 decades ago, Alexander Friedenstein demonstrated that fibroblastlike cells obtained from the BM were able to transfer the hematopoietic microenvironment to ectopic sites, thus establishing the concept that the marrow microenvironment resided within the so-called stromal cells of the BM. However, it was the pioneering work of Caplan that established the concept of the mesengenic process [96] and led to the realization that this population harbored cells with properties of true stem cells, termed MSC [96]. MSC are now known to make up a key part of the stromal microenvironment that supports the HSC and governs the process of hematopoiesis. Despite their essential role, MSC are exceedingly rare within the BM; they account for only 0.001%-0.01% of the total marrow cellularity [97].

Like many rare stem cell populations, MSC cannot be isolated to absolute purity, but numerous culture methods and purification procedures have been developed by various laboratories. The most straightforward method for obtaining MSC is simply to rely on the plastic adherence of MSC and their ability to be passaged with trypsin, to obtain a relatively morphologically homogeneous population of fibroblastic cells from a bulk MNC preparation after only two to three culture passages. This method is certainly straightforward, but true MSC account for only a small percentage of this highly heterogeneous population, which can greatly complicate the interpretation of experimental results obtained with cells prepared in this manner. To avoid this problem, numerous groups have worked for years to identify antigens that are unique to MSC. Interestingly, human MSC do not express markers associated with other stem cell populations (such as HSC), such as CD34, CD133, or c-kit. Indeed, no markers known to identify MSC uniquely. However, several markers have proven useful for obtaining cell populations that are enriched for MSC. The first such marker to be identified was Stro-1 [98]. Although the antigen recognized by the Stro-1 antibody has not yet been identified, we and others have shown that by tri-abeling BM cells with Stro-1, anti-CD45, and antiglycophorin A (GlyA) and selecting the  $Stro^{-1}+CD45$ -GlyA<sup>-</sup> cells, it is possible to obtain a homogeneous population consistently that is highly enriched for MSC [99,100]. In addition to Stro-1, other antibodies such as SB-10, SH2, SH3, and SH4 have been developed over the years, and numerous surface antigens such as CD13, CD29, CD44, CD63, CD73, CD90, and CD166 have been used to attempt to isolate MSC [101–103]. Unfortunately, all of these antigens appear to be expressed on a wide range of cell types within the body in addition to MSC. This lack of a unique marker suggests that to obtain a pure population of MSC that are functionally homogeneous, investigators likely will either have to await the development of novel antibodies that recognize as yet unidentified antigens unique to primitive MSC or employ strategies in which multiple antibodies are combined, to allow for the positive selection of MSC and depletion of cells of other lineages that share expression of the antigens recognized by the MSC antibody in question, as we have done with Stro-1, CD45, and GlyA. To facilitate the comparison of results from different groups and encourage the use of a better-defined population of MSC in experimental and clinical studies, the International Society for Cellular Therapy stated that MSC must possess several characteristics aside from simple adherence to plastic. They must express CD105, CD73, and CD90, but not express CD45, CD34, CD14, CD11b, CD79, or CD19 and human leukocyte antigen (HLA)–D related surface markers. Furthermore, they must be able to differentiate into the three key MSC types found within the BM, i.e., bone, cartilage, and fat [104].

Although much has focused on MSC isolated from adult BM, cells that appear phenotypically and functionally to be MSC have been isolated by our group and others from numerous tissues including umbilical cord blood, cord matrix, amniotic fluid, placenta, brain, liver, lung, fetal blood, kidney, and even liposuction material [105–109]. The broad distribution of MSC throughout the body has led to the supposition that MSC are likely to have a critical role in organ homeostasis, perhaps providing supportive factors as in the BM, and/or mediating maintenance and repair within their respective tissue. Importantly, although MSC from each of these tissues appear similar with respect to phenotype and overall differentiative potential, studies at the RNA and protein levels revealed that subtle but important differences exist among MSC from these various tissues, with MSC from each tissue possessing a molecular fingerprint indicative of their tissue of origin [110,111]. Using a noninjury fetal sheep transplantation model, we showed that these differences result in a bias for human MSC to home to and develop into cells of their tissue of origin in vivo [112]. This suggests that the ideal source of MSC may differ depending on the specific disease to be treated and the desired target organ. Despite the apparent presence of MSC within many of the major organs of the body, however, the relatively noninvasive fashion with which adipose tissue or BM can be obtained, and the fact that both of these tissues could readily be obtained from each patient to be treated, suggest that these two tissues will likely be the predominant sources of MSC employed in clinical applications in the foreseeable future.

Although MSC constitute a small percentage of the nucleated cells present in the BM, they can be expanded exponentially while maintaining their original phenotype and differentiative potential [113]. Indeed, Bruder et al. [114] demonstrated that human BM-derived MSC can readily be propagated in vitro until passage  $38 \pm 4$  before senescing. Moreover, by plating these cells at a low density (~1500-3000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup>) and consistently passaging them before they reach confluence, it is possible to accelerate their growth rate, increase their expansion capacity, and avoid the spontaneous differentiation that often occurs at higher cell densities [115]. This ability to be expanded extensively in vitro has two important implications for their use in cellular-based liver therapies. The first of these is that a small BM aspirate could be taken from the patient and adequate cells may be obtained for transplantation through extensive expansion in vitro after isolation. Second, by virtue of their ability to be expanded in culture without loss of in vivo potential, MSC could be harvested from the patient's own marrow even if the disease to be treated is the result of an underlying genetic defect, because MSC can readily be genetically manipulated in vitro with both viral and nonviral vectors [1,94,116]. This will be discussed in detail subsequently. After genetic manipulation, a pure population of genetically corrected autologous MSC could then be propagated to generate sufficient numbers of cells to achieve meaningful levels of engraftment after transplantation.

However, additional in vitro and in vivo experiments will likely have to be performed to assess the inherent safety of the specific in vitro–expanded MSC in question rigorously before their clinical use, because at least one study suggested that MSC from adipose tissue may be inherently less genetically stable than MSC isolated from BM [117]. Indeed, two other studies showed that upon prolonged in vitro expansion, adipose tissue–derived MSC can exhibit aneuploidy [118] and have been shown to undergo transformation [119], which raises the possibility that these cells could prove tumorigenic when used in vivo. In stark contrast, however, are the results of another study investigating the inherent safety of adipose-derived MSC. That study showed that even if genomic instability is intentionally induced with genotoxic agents, adipose tissue–derived MSC respond to this insult by undergoing terminal adipogenic differentiation rather than transformation [120]. The reasons for the conflicting nature of the results from these different studies are not known, but one can speculate that differing methods employed for isolating and culturing MSC, differing levels of contaminating non-MSC cells in the cultures, as well as the duration of the culture (i.e., the number of times the cells were passaged) were likely contributing factors. With this possible instability in mind, at this point it seems prudent, regardless of the tissue source of the MSC, to make clinical use only of cells that have been passaged fewer than 25 times in culture [121].

## THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS OF PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

The physiological role of MSC in tissue regeneration prompted researchers to evaluate their use in therapeutic applications. Ethical discussions regarding embryonic stem cells underscore the need to explore the clinical applications of adult stem cells, including MSC. MSC were first tested in several animal models and have been used in multiple clinical studies. Although the results are promising, the mechanisms behind the regenerative potential of MSC are not fully understood. Their therapeutic applications can be divided into three groups: tissue engineering, cell delivery applications, and as a vehicle for gene therapy [1,46,94].

## **Endothelial Progenitor Cells**

## Angiogenesis and Vasculogenesis

Blood vessels are constructed by two processes: angiogenesis, or the sprouting of capillaries from preexisting blood vessels and vasculogenesis; and the in situ assembly of capillaries from undifferentiated EC. Formation of the first capillaries takes place mostly during the early stages of embryogenesis [72]. Early vascular plexus in the yolk sac originates from the mesoderm by differentiation of angioblasts, which subsequently generate primitive blood vessels. Angiogenesis is a morphogenic process of new blood capillaries emerging from preexisting vessels. Angiogenesis has a major role in wound healing and collateral formation and in the female reproductive system. In wound healing and tissue repair, neovascularization is required to transport cells and nutrient into the wound. The new blood capillaries emerge from neighboring vessels during tissue remodeling. In the female reproduction cycle, neovascularization occurs physiologically in the uterus and ovary every 28 days. Placental tissues represent a major site for active angiogenesis [122]. Myocardial collateral vessels that sprout from preexisting capillaries are important to protect the heart from ischemic damage. In myocardial infarction, new vessels penetrate the necrotic area and the surrounding ischemic heart tissues [123]. Many serious diseases are associated with excess capillary growth. Most notably, angiogenesis is associated with cancer, tumor growth, and metastasis [124]. Intraocular neovascularization is usually associated with diabetic retinopathy and retinopathy of prematurity [125]. The new blood vessels are leaky and easily rupture, which may result in blindness. In chronic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, new vessels invade the joint surfaces and degrade the cartilage by proteolysis [126]. The vasculogenesis process can be divided into five consecutive steps [127]: (1) EC are generated from precursor cells called angioblasts. (2) EC form the vessel primordia and aggregates that establish cell-to-cell contact but have no lumen. (3) A nascent endothelial tube is formed composed of polarized EC. (4) A primary vascular network is formed from an array of nascent endothelial tubes. (5) Pericytes and vascular SMC are recruited. Circulating EC originating from endothelial EPC in the BM are mobilized into the bloodstream and participate in angiogenic processes [66,89]. Based on the role of EPC in postnatal neovascularization [66], attempts were made to use EPC for therapy as a means to support tissue regeneration.

EPC can be used for therapeutic vascularization in two ways: by mobilizing of EPC into the circulation using growth factors and by first expanding them in vitro followed by systemic delivery or direct injection into the target tissue or organ [128,129]. Although EPC were shown to contribute to tissue revascularization, their function in a clinical setting remains controversial [130]. On the other hand, there have been significant advances in the use of EPC for tissue engineering. Several examples are provided subsequently of the use of EPCs for tissue regeneration and vascularization and as the endothelial source for bioengineered tissues and organs.

## **Tissue Regeneration**

In many cases, organ and tissue regeneration require reestablishment of the vascular network. During healthy and pathologic neovascularization, reendothelialization can occur through mature EC that migrate from preexisting vessels via angiogenesis [131] and circulating EPC from PB that integrate with newly formed vasculature via vasculogenesis [47,128,132]. EPC can be obtained from the patient and expanded in culture to avoid immune rejection; they offer a robust cell source for tissue regenerations.

Several studies suggested that EPC participate in the vascular healing process, in part by recruiting EPC to the regenerated site [40,133]. Genetically labeled EPC were detected in ischemic limbs of mice and were shown to accelerate the revascularization process. In humans, EPC contributed to wound healing of patients implanted with a left ventricular assisted device [41]. The EPC adhered to the device and formed a nonthrombogenic surface. These studies suggested that EPC may be recruited to assist endothelialization and served as the basis for preclinical and clinical studies, as described subsequently. Administration of cytokines including G-CSF, GM-CSF, and

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

angiogenic growth factors appear to enhance the mobilization of EPC and revascularization. These factors are usually released into the circulation as a result of injuries [128]. Based on these observations, PB progenitors such as EPC were used for cell therapy to combat tissue ischemia and support tissue regeneration. Main clinical targets for the cell therapy studies were CVD, injuries in the brain, and retinal ischemia [129]. Animal studies showed improved vascularization and tissue function.

Systemic delivery of VEGF protein, one of the most potent angiogenic growth factors in vivo, and VEGF gene therapy resulted in a significant increase in EPC numbers in the circulation and their contribution to neovascularization [40]. Elevated Epo levels in the circulation were shown to increase the numbers of VEGFR-2–positive EPC [54]. In parallel, data from Epo-derived cell mobilization in humans demonstrated an increase in CD34<sup>+</sup>/CD45<sup>-</sup> cells, probably circulating EC [134]. Gene delivery of the hematopoietic growth factor CXCL12 (SDF) also led to an increase in VEGFR-2–positive EPC [135]. Interestingly, AMD3100, the SDF receptor binding inhibitor, caused EPC mobilization to the peripheral circulation.

Melero-martin et al. [62] reported that when cord blood EPC and MSC were injected subcutaneously into nude mice, they formed vascular structures that were stable for 4 weeks. The vascular network had endothelialized lumen and pericytes expressing smooth muscle actin. Au et al. [136] engineered blood vessels from HUVEC and human MSC that remained stable and functional for more than 130 days in vivo. These findings could guide future practices in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, allowing physicians to form stable and long-lasting vasculature for engineered tissue.

CVD are an attractive target for EPC-mediated tissue neovascularization as a means of improving regeneration and function. Accordingly, several promising animal studies led to clinical trials involving patients who had experienced acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and cardiac ischemia. BM-derived MSC were shown to contribute to myocardial regeneration and revascularization. In nude rats that underwent myocardial infarction, cytokinemobilized EPC homed to the infarcted tissue and contributed to neoangiogenesis [137]. In similar studies, BM-derived MSC were injected into the infarcted border and were shown to differentiate into myocardial cells and EC [137,138]. In most studies, direct introduction of these cells into an active angiogenic site, such as infarcted or ischemic myocardium, was essential for the successful incorporation of the cells and improvement in cardiac function.

AMI or chronic ischemic heart disease results in the loss of cardiomyocytes and vasculature. Several animal studies showed that the introduction of autologous BM MSC contributes to neoangiogenesis in the ischemic myocardium [46]. In patients, whole autologous BM MNC were delivered into the coronary arteries feeding the infarcted and ischemic tissue [46]. In all of these studies, there was improved cardiac perfusion and left ventricular function, which suggested that delivery of autologous progenitor cells is feasible and safe and may have a short-term therapeutic benefit. However, follow-up studies in animals and humans detected only a few BM-derived cells in the regenerated vascular network, which suggested that only a small portion of the cells may contribute to revascularization.

Delivery of autologous MNC or G-CSF-mobilized MNC showed some improvement in left ventricle ejection fraction, especially when larger numbers of cells were infused directly into the heart [139–141]. However, no long-term information is available on the clinical outcomes of the patients. Other studies of clinical intervention with cell therapy for AMI showed some clinical benefits [142]. Yet, some adverse events such as restenosis and an increased risk for atherosclerosis were also reported after cell therapy with PB-derived cells [128]. Altogether, despite early promising results from animal studies and short-term data from clinical studies of cell therapy for CVD, there is a lack of long-term outcome assessment of clinical trials that would define the patient population most likely to benefit from the treatment of cell therapy. It remains unclear whether any long-term toxicity exists with this therapy. Such toxicity may result if myeloid cells are incorporated into regenerating myocardium and generate noncardiac or fibrotic tissues.

Given the morbidity associated with limb ischemia, EPC may be used for vascular therapy as an alternative to bypass approaches. In preclinical studies, the introduction of BM-derived EPC significantly improved collateral vessel formation and minimized limb ischemia [143]. In patients with peripheral arterial disease, injection of autologous whole BM MNC into ischemic gastrocnemius muscle resulted in the restoration of limb function [144]. The improvement in muscle perfusion suggested that it was caused by the presence of EPC in the cell preparation. However, it remains to be determined whether the improvement resulted in part from the introduction of myelomonocytic cells.

Diabetes is often associated with CVDs, which can be treated with systemic and directed injections of PB-borne EPC, as described earlier. In addition, EPC can directly support the regeneration of pancreatic tissue. Intraportal transplantation of pancreatic islets covered with EPC improved the survival of grafted islets and their function in

immune-deficient mice [129]. It appears that the islet-associated EPC remained at the implantation site and supported  $\beta$ -cell proliferation and insulin secretion. Subcutaneous implantation of EPC combined with porcine pancreatic islets in collagen/fibronectin gels resulted in a functional vascular network after 2 weeks [145], which suggests that EPC can be combined with other cell therapy applications to support reestablishment of the vasculature at the site of cell injection.

Pulmonary diseases are progressive lung disorders often manifested by smaller arteries associated with intimal hyperplasia and fibrosis, increased deposition of ECM, and prolonged inflammation, which may lead to respiratory complications [146]. Cellular therapies for pulmonary-associated diseases employed progenitor cells of different types that aimed to reduce the symptoms and potentially enhance regeneration of the diseased lung tissue. EPC were used for cell therapy in rats treated with monocrotaline (MCT) to create pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) [147]. When delivered 3 days after MCT treatment, they effectively prevented PAH. However, once a state of PAH was established after 3 weeks, the cells had only marginal effectiveness, but they prevented further worsening of symptoms. On the other hand, delivery of EPC recombinantly expressing eNOS significantly reduced right ventricle systemic pressures [147]. Based on these promising results, a phase I clinical trial was initiated to test the tolerability of eNOS-expressing autologous EPC in patients with severe PAH [147].

## **Tissue Engineering**

Vascular diseases are the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the United States each year [148]. Over 500,000 coronary bypass grafts and 50,000 peripheral bypass grafts are performed annually in the United States (www.americanheart.org) [149]. However, up to 30% of patients who require arterial bypass surgery lack suitable or sufficient amounts of suitable autologous conduits such as small-caliber arteries or saphenous veins [150]. Synthetic grafts such as polytetrafluoroethylene or Dacron (polyethylene terephthalate fiber) have been used successfully to bypass large-caliber, high-flow blood vessels. However, these grafts invariably fail when used to bypass small-caliber, low-flow blood vessels owing to increased thrombogenicity and accelerated intimal thickening leading to early graft stenosis and occlusion [151]. It has been shown that a confluent EC monolayer on small-caliber prosthetic grafts may provide immediate protection from thrombus formation after implantation [152]. However, the use of allogeneic EC is limited by rejection, whereas the use of autologous human EC to construct vascular grafts has not been widely explored. The idea of using EPC to seed the lumen of engineered blood vessels came from the observation that MSC contributed to the lining of vascular grafts in vivo [129,153,154]. We have shown that EPC might be an ideal source of autologous EC for seeding small-diameter grafts, which eliminates the need to remove native vessel from which to culture EC. By seeding EPC-derived EC onto a scaffold, a nonthrombogenic barrier between blood and the vessel wall is created, thereby promoting patency in vivo. EPC-seeded collagen matrices derived from decellularized porcine arteries were used for carotid artery reconstruction in sheep [155]. These bioengineered arteries remained patent more than 4 months, whereas control grafts without autologous EC occluded within 15 days. Thus, functional vessels can be engineered using decellularized arteries and EPC. Moreover, we have shown that after a brief period of healing in vivo, these bioengineered blood vessels develop a fully cellularized wall of three distinct layers analogous to normal adventitia, media, and intima. A similar approach was used to coat vascular stents with EPC to minimize neointimal cell growth and reduce the incidence of restenosis [156]. Yoder and colleagues used mobilized progenitor cells to coat left ventricular assist devices [157]. Although these are exciting results, bioengineered grafts and vascular stents will need to be preconditioned to blood flow before implantation. Neram et al. [158] showed that local blood flow properties induce changes in endothelial cell morphology and orientation. Further studies showed that the levels of shear stress and duration of exposure induced changes in EC morphology, proliferation, and differentiation.

EPC were used in several studies to coat the surface of bioengineered heart valves. Two endothelial cell types were used: valve-derived mature EC and EPC from PB [159]. The study showed that when seeded on polyglycolide/poly-4-hydroxybutyrate (PGA/P4HB) scaffolds, both sources of EC proliferate in response to VEGF. The EPC could be induced to transdifferentiate to a mesenchymal phenotype on PGA/P4HB in response to transforming growth factor-β1. These results indicate that EPC can respond to soluble signals that induce events that occur during valvulogenesis. Another approach to coating the valve surface with an endothelium layer was described by Jordan and Williams and colleagues [160,161]. Those authors used decellularized porcine pulmonary valves that were conjugated with CD133 antibodies on the leaflet surface. The valves were transplanted into the pulmonary position of sheep and harvested for analysis at different times up to 3 months. CD133<sup>+</sup>/CD31<sup>-</sup> EPC adhered to the surface of anti-CD133–conjugated valves by 3 days and transitioned to CD133<sup>-</sup>/CD31<sup>+</sup> mature EC by 30 days. ECs expressing von Willebrand factor lined the entire length of both ventricular and arterial surfaces of conjugated valves by 1 month after implantation. Interstitial cells expressing both  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin and vimentin were observed

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

as early as 14 days postimplantation and their content increased from 1 to 3 months in valves conjugated with anti-CD133, with new collagen formation. In contrast, only a few EC or interstitial cells were associated with unconjugated valves at these times.

A new scaffolding technology for tissue and organ regeneration was introduced to the field. The technique is based on the decellularization of intact human and animal organs by infusing the organ's vasculature with mild detergents that completely remove the cellular components while not degrading the ECM [162]. We successfully made such acellular whole-organ scaffolds for liver, kidney, pancreas, and intestine. The decellularization process preserved an intact network of vascular channels that can be used to seed cells into the scaffold and later to infuse culture media to deliver oxygen and nutrients to cells [163] to ensure the successful implantation of these scaffolds into a recipient that must resist thrombosis caused by exposed ECM in contact with blood. We seeded both acellular porcine kidneys livers with EC and showed vascular patency upon implantation in vivo. These studies used an EC line that cannot be used for clinical applications. Instead, collection of mobilized EPC from PB and propagation of the cells in culture represent a logical path for the revascularization of bioengineered organs for clinical use in humans. To improve the reestablishment of functional vascular network further, EPC can be combined with other cell types such as mural cells. Combining EPC with pericyte progenitors such as MSC or with SMC or muscle progenitors significantly improves the stability and preserves functional blood vessels and subsequently tissue and organ function [129]. EPC were also used to support the bioengineering of bone. EPC combined with MSC in collagen/ fibronectin gel were seeded into decalcified cancellous bone for calvarial defect repair [164]. Only in the presence of EPC did host blood vessels penetrate into the implant and induce bone formation.

Wound healing is a major problem that affects all aspect medical treatments. Studies over the past 5 decades clearly showed that wound healing greatly depends on the successful neovascularization of the injured tissue [165]. Tissue engineering technologies combining biomaterials and cells can provide both important coverage of the wound and improve wound healing. For example, silk-based scaffolds can be populated with EPC and used as a skin construct [166]. By adding other cell types to the scaffold, such as pericyte progenitors and keratinocytes, the construct can be used for skin transplantation. In other applications, EPC were combined with dermal fibroblasts to bioengineer skin substitutes [167,168]. The resulting skin constructs were well-perfused and showed adequate epithelialization and normal matrix deposition.

EPC represent an ideal cell source for tissue engineering because they are easily obtained from the patient and expanded in culture and are functional in the bioengineered tissue. However, in several cases, heterogeneous cell populations are being expanded for seeding onto scaffolds, which may lead to compromised function as a result of differential proliferation of cells with fibroblastic properties. To overcome this, one may use specific methods to obtain a pure EPC population before seeding, such as immune isolation. An additional problem is the occasional need for immediate availability. For instance, when an emergency bypass needs to be performed, the growth of a bioengineered blood vessel ready for implantation would take too much time if autologous cells are to be implemented. Alternatively, these bioengineered grafts could be seeded with autologous MSC cells that are differentiated into EC using a shorter protocol.

## Mesenchymal Stem Cells

The ability of MSC to differentiate in vitro and in vivo into the various mesenchymal cell types found within the BM (i.e., bone, cartilage, and fat) has been described by numerous laboratories, and the conditions for bringing each of these differentiative pathways about have been delineated in detail [169]. Microarray studies [170] have shed light on the molecular mechanisms responsible for commitment to and progression along each of these lineages, providing information needed to enhance the efficiency with which MSC differentiate to each of these lineages, revealing some of the pathways that maintain MSC in an undifferentiated state, and enabling more robust in vitro expansion of this valuable stem cell population. Promising results from preclinical studies examining the use of MSC for bone and cartilage repair [171] quickly led to clinical trials using MSC to treat large bone defects [172], articular cartilage defects [173], and osteogenesis imperfecta [174]; these trials have highlighted the therapeutic potential of MSC.

Although these early studies quickly established MSC as a promising therapy for treating a wide range of skeletal injuries and diseases, further investigation over the past several years has provided compelling evidence that the differentiative capacity of MSC far exceeds that originally reported by Friedenstein. For example, MSC also have the ability to generate functional skeletal muscle cells in vitro and in vivo [175,176], which raises the possibility that MSC may eventually be used to treat muscular dystrophies. Even more surprising were subsequent studies showing that MSC had the ability to develop not only into cells of mesenchymal derivation, but into cells of all three

germinal layers. The first dogma-breaking study demonstrating that MSC had the ability to cross developmental boundaries and reprogram into cells of another germ layer demonstrated that MSC could become both neural and glial (ectoderm) cell types in vitro and in vivo [177–179]. These findings raised the exciting possibility that MSC could serve as a readily available source of cells to treat injuries or degenerative conditions within the central nervous system (CNS), clinical situations for which there are limited options, if any. Indeed, numerous in vivo transplantation studies have confirmed these exciting in vitro results by showing that MSC have the ability to mediate repair after spinal cord injury, ischemic injury and stroke, demyelinating conditions, and experimentally induced Parkinson disease, and potentially treat a host of other injuries and degenerative diseases of the CNS [180]. Although questions have been raised as to the mechanism by which this apparent "transdifferentiation" occurs [181], the demonstration by numerous groups that MSC can indeed develop into neural cells in various stages of differentiation and mediate functional improvement for a variety of injuries and diseases within the CNS provides the impetus for further studies attempting to increase the efficiency and predictability of this process and harness this potential for therapy.

After these groundbreaking findings, studies were published showing that MSC could develop in vitro into cells that appear phenotypically and morphologically like cardiomyocytes, and behave like them [182,183] and to endothelium [184,185], and to engraft within the injured myocardium [55,186–189] and form Purkinje fibers in vivo [190,191]. These preclinical studies generated tremendous excitement in the field of regenerative medicine, because they strongly suggested that MSC could be used as therapy to mediate cardiac repair postinfarction or diseases within the conduction pathways of the heart, or even, perhaps, to treat chronic progressive cardiac diseases such as congestive heart failure [192]. Coupled with preclinical animal studies showing functional cardiac improvement after infusion of MSC, or even MSC-conditioned media [193–195], these exciting results were the driving force for launching several clinical trials to investigate whether MSC are able to mediate repair in the postinfarct heart [196–198].

As a last major example of MSC in regenerative medicine, we will address their use in liver repair. Liver failure is a life-threatening condition for which the only curative treatment is whole or partial organ transplantation. Given the crippling shortage of donor livers available for transplantation and the high mortality and morbidity associated with the need for lifelong immunosuppression after liver transplantation, a major focus of regenerative medicine has been to identify cells that could be used to repopulate and/or repair the damaged failing liver. We and others have devoted a great deal of energy to demonstrating the ability of MSC from various sources to serve as therapeutics for liver disease [199,200]. It is clear that MSC isolated from a variety of mouse, rat, and human tissues have the ability to generate in vitro and in vivo cells that are indistinguishable from native hepatocytes, in that they exhibit the same morphology and antigenic profile as native hepatocytes, and they appear to be functional, based on the uptake of low-density lipoprotein, urea production, and glycogen storage. Whether these cells exhibit polarity like native hepatocytes has yet to be unequivocally demonstrated, however. Moreover, transplantation of MSC in a range of model systems has repeatedly been shown to result in the fairly robust formation of hepatocytes that repair a variety of inborn genetic defects, as well as mechanical and drug or toxin-induced injuries, including partial hepatectomy, treatment with the toxin C-C motif chemokine ligand 4, injury induced by allyl-alcohol, a high-lipid diet, treatment with 2-acetylaminofluorene, and even pathogenic infection [200]. This wealth of supportive data in several different species has led to the use of MSC for liver disease in multiple clinical trials [200]. Collectively, these clinical studies have provided hope that MSC may prove to be a valuable resource for cell-based therapies for liver disease. However, the results of these studies must be interpreted with trepidation because of the limited number of patients enrolled in each trial, the lack of appropriate controls in many cases, and the occurrence of adverse events. Furthermore, because the cells in these trials were derived autologously, there was no way for the investigators to assess the actual engraftment, persistence, or differentiative potential of the transplanted cells, which leaves the mechanism responsible for the observed clinical improvements open to speculation.

A key aspect to assessing the utility of MSC therapy for regenerative medicine is the mechanism by which the transplanted cells repair, replace, or repopulate the recipient tissue(s). Indeed, there has been much controversy regarding the mechanism by which MSC reprogram and differentiate into other cell lineages, such as hepatocytes. Whereas the previously summarized in vitro studies unequivocally showed that under the appropriate conditions, MSC can reprogram to generate what appear to be functional hepatocytes, it appears that in vivo, cell fusion could be one mechanism by which MSC appear to develop into hepatocytes, rather than true reprogramming or transdifferentiation [79,201,202]. To begin delineating the mechanism(s) of hepatocyte formation after transplantation of human MSC, we performed studies in the fetal sheep model [100], which we believed would be ideal for this analysis, given the robust generation of human-derived hepatocytes. By using carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

ester- or DiIC18(3)-labeled human MSC and performing fluorescence in situ hybridization on liver sections from sheep transplanted in utero with these labeled human MSC, we were able to demonstrate conclusively that transplanted human MSC were able to generate significant numbers of functional hepatocytes in the absence of cellular fusion or membrane vesicle or organelle transfer [99,100] independent of fusion, and by true reprogramming or transdifferentiation [100]; this suggests that these cells indeed possess a degree of true plasticity. The lack of fusion as a requirement for liver repopulation was in stark contrast to other studies in which the transplanted stem cells' differentiative capacity was restricted to cells of the liver through drug- or genetically induced lesions or deficiencies [79,201,202], and suggests that the mechanism by which the transplanted MSC contribute to the recipient liver (and likely other tissues) depends on the model system employed.

The interpretation of data generated from these myriad studies looking at the potential of MSC to mediate repair in a variety of organ systems is further complicated by the observation that a therapeutic benefit is often observed in the absence of evidence of long-term engraftment of the transplanted MSC within the damaged or diseased organ. These findings led to much debate regarding whether MSC can actually generate tissue-specific cells after transplantation, and sparked additional studies showing that MSC can mediate tissue repair by acting as "trophic factories," releasing specific cytokines, growth factors, and matrix MMP that modulate the activity of tissue-specific cells, dampen ongoing inflammation and/or aberrant immune reaction present within the damaged or diseased tissue, and inhibit fibrosis and apoptosis, thus facilitating endogenous tissue regeneration [1,93,94,200]. However, under different conditions, other studies showed that transplanted MSC may actually contribute to the myofibroblast pool, enhancing the fibrotic process [203–205]. This has led to the current belief within the field that the effect of MSC will probably vary with the nature of the injury or disease that is being treated, the specific experimental model with which the therapy is being tested, and perhaps even the time frame of MSC application, such that MSC could be beneficial if administered at certain stages of disease progression and harmful if administered at others. Thus, it appears that the therapeutic potential of MSC may have to be investigated for each specific disease or injury to be treated, to delineate the optimal time frame and population to be administered to achieve the desired effect and ensure benefit is provided rather than harm.

#### The Use of Mesenchymal Stem/Marrow Stroma Cells for Gene Therapy

Although MSC possess tremendous therapeutic potential by virtue of their ability to lodge or engraft within multiple tissues in the body and both develop into tissue-specific cells and release trophic factors that trigger the tissue's own endogenous repair pathways, gene therapists have realized that these properties are just the beginning of the therapeutic applications for MSC [1,94]. By using gene therapy to engineer MSC to either augment their own natural production of specific desired proteins or enable MSC to express proteins outside their native repertoire, it is possible to broaden the spectrum of diseases greatly for which MSC could provide therapeutic benefit. Unlike HSC, which are notoriously difficult to modify with most viral vectors while preserving their in vivo potential, MSC can be readily transduced with all of the major clinically prevalent viral vector systems (adenovirus [206], the murine retroviruses [207], lentiviruses [208], and adeno-associated virus [209]), and efficiently produce a wide range of cytoplasmic, membrane-bound, and secreted protein products. This ease of transduction, coupled with the ability subsequently to select and expand only the gene-modified cells in vitro to generate adequate numbers for transplantation, combine to make MSC one of the most promising stem cell populations for use in gene therapy studies and trials.

Most studies using gene-modified MSC have been undertaken with the purpose of enhancing the natural abilities of MSC to mediate repair within various tissues. Using the heart as an example, once investigators discovered the identity of some of the most important trophic factors responsible for the beneficial effect of MSC on the injured myocardium, they undertook studies using MSC engineered to overexpress a number of factors [210,211]. As anticipated, the "gene-enhanced" MSC were substantially more effective than their unmodified counterparts and produced greatly enhanced therapeutic effects. Similar studies were performed to repair the damaged or diseased CNS using MSC engineered to produce neurotrophic factors [180], repair the injured liver using MSC-expressing proteins involved in hepatocyte differentiation and/or proliferation [212,213], repair ischemia-reperfusion injury [214], and repair the kidney [215]. In each case, MSC engineered to express higher levels of proteins known to be beneficial for the tissue in question and/or to promote survival have produced markedly better results than unmodified MSC.

Despite the many advantages of using MSC as gene delivery vehicles, however, relatively few studies have explored this potential to treat genetic diseases. One disease for which we and others are actively investigating MSC to deliver a therapeutic gene is hemophilia A (HA) [216–218]. We will use HA in the following discussion

as a paradigmatic disease to illustrate how gene-modified MSC could be used to correct essentially any genetic disorder that involves the absence of a specific protein.

HA is the most common inheritable deficiency of the coagulation proteins [219]. The severity of HA is traditionally based on plasma levels of factor VIII (FVIII) [220], and up to 70% of patients with HA present with the severe form of the disease (<1% of normal FVIII levels) and have frequent hemorrhaging leading to chronic debilitating arthropathies, hematomas of subcutaneous connective tissue or muscle, and internal bleeding. Over time, the collective complications of recurrent hemorrhaging result in chronic pain, absences from school and work, and permanent disability [220]. Current state-of-the-art treatment consists of frequent prophylactic infusions of plasma-derived or recombinant FVIII protein to maintain hemostasis. Although this treatment has greatly increased life expectancy and quality of life for many patients with HA, it is far from ideal because of the need for lifelong intravenous infusions and the high treatment cost, which often approaches \$500,000/year. Moreover, this treatment is unavailable to a large percentage of the world's hemophiliac patients, which places them at great risk for severe, permanent disabilities and life-threatening bleeds. There is thus a significant need to develop novel, longer-lasting HA therapies.

In contrast to current protein-based therapeutics, lifelong improvement or permanent cure of HA is theoretically possible after only a single gene therapy treatment; indeed, several aspects of HA make it ideally suited for correction by gene therapy. First, in contrast to many other genetic diseases, the missing protein (FVIII) does not need to be expressed in either a cell- or tissue-specific fashion to mediate correction. Although the liver is thought to be the natural site of FVIII synthesis within the body, as long as FVIII is expressed in cells that have access to the circulation, it can be secreted into the bloodstream and exert its appropriate clotting activity. Second, levels of FVIII-expressing cells even as low as 3%–5% would be expected to convert severe HA to a moderate or mild phenotype, reducing or eliminating episodes of spontaneous bleeding and greatly improving quality of life [221]. Based on this knowledge, the American Society of Gene and Cell Therapy (www.ASGCT.org) provided National Institutes of Health Director Dr. Francis Collins with a road map of disease indications that it believed would be viable gene therapy products. The patients with hemophilia were identified as being in the most promising "Target 10" group of diseases.

As mentioned in the preceding section, the liver is thought to be the primary site of FVIII synthesis within the body. As discussed in previously we and others have devoted much energy to demonstrating the ability of MSC from various sources to serve as therapeutics for liver disease. In ongoing studies, we found that after transplantation into fetal sheep, human MSC engraft up to 12% within the recipient liver [99,100] and contribute to both the parenchyma and the perivascular zones of the engrafted organs, which makes them ideal for delivering FVIII into the circulation. Because FVIII levels of 3%–5% of normal would convert a patient with severe HA to a moderate or mild phenotype, these levels of engraftment should be highly therapeutic. Thus, these collective results suggest that MSC may represent an ideal cell type for treating HA.

However, although MSC engrafted (after transplantation in utero) at significant levels within organs that are natural sites of FVIII synthesis, only a small percentage expressed endogenous FVIII, which suggests that simply transplanting "healthy" MSC will not likely provide an effective means of treating or curing HA. By using gene therapy to engineer MSC to express FVIII, however, it is highly probable that the levels of engrafted MSC we have achieved thus far in utero would provide a marked therapeutic benefit in HA. By transducing the MSC in vitro, rather than performing gene therapy by injecting the vector directly, as is the current practice in clinical gene therapy trials for hemophilia B [222], there is no risk of off-target transduction, and the vector being employed simply needs a strong constitutively active promoter to ensure that all cells derived from the transplanted MSC continue to express FVIII and mediate a therapeutic effect. The only documented cases of viral vector-induced insertional mutagenesis were observed after genetic modification of HSC [223]; there is no evidence that MSC transform or progress to clonal dominance after transduction, which suggests that they represent safe cellular vehicles for delivering FVIII (or other transgenes).

Critical proof-of-principle studies have shown that MSC can be transduced with FVIII-expressing viral vectors and secrete high levels of FVIII protein in vitro and after transplantation in vivo [216–218]. FVIII purified from the conditioned medium of the transduced MSC was proven to have a specific activity, relative electrophoretic mobility, and proteolytic activation pattern that was virtually identical to that of FVIII produced by other commercial cell lines [217]. Given the widespread distribution and engraftment of MSC after their systemic infusion, the ability of MSC to develop in vivo into cells of numerous tissue types, and their ability to process and secrete high amounts of biologically active FVIII efficiently, unsurprisingly, they are being viewed as ideal vehicles for delivering an FVIII transgene throughout the body and thus providing long-term or permanent correction of HA [216–218].

In addition to their widespread engraftment and ability to serve as delivery vehicles for the FVIII gene, the unique immunological properties of MSC may further increase their utility for treating HA. MSC do not normally express major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II or the costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD82, and thus viewed

are as being relatively hypoimmunogenic. As such, they do not provoke the proliferation of allogeneic lymphocytes or serve as effective targets for lysis by cytotoxic T cells or natural killer cells. In fact, a large body of evidence has accumulated suggesting that MSC can be transplanted across allogeneic barriers without eliciting an immune response. Thus, one could theoretically use off-the-shelf MSC from an unrelated donor to treat HA, which greatly increases the feasibility of obtaining and using these cells for therapy.

Perhaps even more important from the standpoint of their potential use as HA therapeutics, studies have demonstrated that MSC also have the ability to intervene at multiple levels with the generation and propagation of an immune response, and thus exert potent immunosuppressive and antiinflammatory properties both in vitro and in vivo [224,225]. In addition to interacting directly with cells of the immune system, MSC express a battery of factors that reduce local inflammation, blunt immune response, and counteract the chemotactic signals responsible for recruiting immune cells to sites of injury or inflammation. One could thus envision these immune-dampening properties enabling the delivery of FVIII without eliciting an immune response and subsequent inhibitor formation, thus overcoming the most serious clinical problem that plagues current treatment and management of HA [226].

In addition to these properties, preclinical animal studies examining the potential of MSC isolated from adult tissues have highlighted another interesting and clinically valuable characteristic of MSC: their ability to navigate to sites of injury and/or inflammation selectively within the body, as discussed in detail in the preceding section on MSC in regenerative medicine. Although the mechanisms responsible for this trafficking to sites of injury are still being elucidated, this observation raises the exciting possibility that after systemic infusion, FVIII-expressing MSC could migrate efficiently to sites of active bleeding or injury, releasing FVIII locally and focusing the therapy where it is needed most.

We have begun to explore whether it is possible to exploit these many advantages of MSC as a cellular vehicle to deliver an FVIII gene by testing the ability of FVIII-expressing MSC to correct HA in a unique line of sheep we reestablished and fully characterized, with respect to both the clinical parameters and the precise molecular basis for their disease [227]. Similar to mutations seen in many human patients, these animals possess a premature stop codon with a frameshift mutation. This is the only animal model of HA with this clinically relevant mutation type, which provides a unique opportunity to study therapies in this context. As with human patients with severe HA, a hallmark symptom in these sheep is repeated spontaneous joint bleeds that lead to chronic, debilitating arthropathies and reduced mobility.

To test the ability of MSC to serve as FVIII delivery vehicles and thus treat HA experimentally, we tested a novel, nonablative transplant-based gene therapy in two HA lambs [218]. During the first 3–5 months of life, both of these animals had received frequent, on-demand infusions of human FVIII for multiple hematomas and chronic, progressive, debilitating hemarthroses of the leg joints that had resulted in severe defects in posture and gait, rendering them nearly immobile. In an ideal situation, one would use autologous cells to deliver an FVIII transgene and thus avoid complications caused by MHC mismatching. Unfortunately, the severe life-threatening phenotype of the HA sheep prevented us from collecting BM aspirates to isolate autologous cells. We therefore elected to use paternal (haploidentical) MSC in the hope that immunologic incompatibility between the donor and recipient would be sufficiently minimized to allow engraftment.

Based on our prior work in the fetal sheep model, we knew that the intraperitoneal (IP) transplantation of MSC results in widespread engraftment throughout all of the major organs and durable expression of vector-encoded genes [99,100,228]. We further reasoned that using the IP route would have the advantage of enabling cells to enter the circulation in an almost time-released fashion after being engulfed by the omentum and absorbed through the peritoneal lymphatics. We also thought that the use of the IP route would enable us to avoid lung trapping, which hinders the efficient trafficking of MSC to desired target organs after intravenous administration and poses clinical risks owing to emboli formation [229,230].

After isolation, MSC were simultaneously transduced with 2 HIV-based lentivectors, the first of which encoded an expression/secretion optimized porcine FVIII transgene [218] that had previously been shown in human cells to be expressed or secreted at 10–100 times higher levels than human FVIII [231]. We thus believed that these high levels of expression and secretion might enable us to achieve a therapeutic benefit, even if we obtained low levels of engraftment of the transduced paternal MSC. The second lentivector encoded enhanced green fluorescent protein to facilitate the tracking and identification of donor cells in vivo. The first animal was then transplanted IP with the transduced MSC under ultrasound guidance in the absence of preconditioning.

After transplantation, this animal's clinical picture improved dramatically. All spontaneous bleeding events ceased and it had an event-free clinical course devoid of spontaneous bleeds, which enabling us to cease human FVIII infusions. Existing hemarthroses resolved, the animal's joints recovered fully and resumed normal

#### CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

appearance, and it regained normal posture and gait and a normal activity level. To our knowledge, this represents the first report of phenotypic correction of severe HA in a large animal model after transplantation of cells engineered to produce FVIII, and the first time that reversal of chronic debilitating hemarthroses was achieved. However, despite this remarkable clinical improvement, FVIII activity (as assessed by chromogenic assay) was undetectable in the circulation of this animal after the MSC-based gene therapy treatment.

Based on the remarkable clinical improvement we had achieved in this first animal, we transplanted a second animal, increasing the dose of transduced cells in the hope of achieving detectable FVIII in the circulation. Similar to the first animal, hemarthroses present in the second one at the time of transplant resolved, and it resumed normal activity shortly after transplantation. The second animal also became factor-independent after the transplant. These results thus confirm the ability of this MSC-based approach to provide phenotypic correction in this large animal model of HA. However, as we had observed in the first animal, no FVIII was detectable in the circulation of the animal.

After the animals were killed, we performed a detailed tissue analysis to begin deciphering the mechanism by which this novel MSC-based gene delivery produced its pronounced therapeutic effect at a systemic level. Polymerase chain reaction analysis demonstrated readily detectable levels of MSC engraftment in nearly all tissues analyzed, including liver, lymph nodes, intestine, lung, kidney, omentum, and thymus. These molecular analyses thus proved that it is possible to achieve widespread durable engraftment of MSC after transplantation in a postnatal setting in a large animal model without the need for preconditioning or ablation, and in the absence of a selective advantage for the donor cells.

Confocal immunofluorescence analysis revealed large numbers of FVIII-expressing MSC within the synovium of joints that exhibited hemarthrosis at the time of transplant, demonstrating (as we had hoped and predicted) that the transplanted MSC possessed the intrinsic ability to home to and persist within sites of ongoing injury and inflammation, releasing FVIII locally within the joint. This explained the dramatic improvement we observed in the animal's joints. Confocal analysis also revealed engrafted cells within the small intestine, demonstrating that MSC could still engraft within the intestine after postnatal transplantation, as we observed in prior studies in fetal recipients [232]. Because of the ease with which proteins secreted from cells within the intestine can enter the circulation, future studies aimed at improving the levels of engraftment within the intestine have the potential to improve the systemic release of FVIII greatly.

The marked phenotypic improvement and improvement in quality of life we have observed in our studies in the sheep model thus support the further development of therapeutic strategies for HA and perhaps other coagulation disorders, employing MSC as cellular vehicles to deliver the required transgene. Extrapolating the work thus far in using MSC to deliver FVIII to treat HA, and combining this with the relative ease with which MSC can be isolated, propagated in culture, and modified with a variety of viral-based vectors, and their intrinsic ability to seek out sites of injury and inflammation within the body, one can readily see why MSC are widely viewed as being ideally suited not only as cellular therapeutics, but also as vehicles to deliver gene therapy vectors to numerous tissues in the body; thus, this is promising for finding a permanent cure for a diverse range of diseases.

## CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The BM is probably the source of PB stem and progenitor cells. Hemangioblasts are the embryonic precursors of HSC, developing into committed hematopoietic progenitors. The BM is also a source for other progenitor and stem cells, the MSC, which can be expanded in vitro and have multilineage differentiation potentials. Numerous studies, described earlier, showed that there is a constant exchange of cells from the BM to PB. These cells have shown proangiogenic properties and can be used for ischemic tissue neovascularization and tissue regeneration. The cells can be either mobilized using hematopoietic and angiogenic growth factors and recruited to the injured or regeneration tissues or they can be isolated, potentially expanded in culture, and delivered back to the same patient with or without a supporting scaffold system [128].

Future success in applying adult PB-derived stem cells for clinical applications will depend on the development of strategies to mobilize, isolate, expand, differentiate, and deliver these cells. For example, EPC may be isolated from PB and used for therapeutic angiogenesis directly or after a period of ex vivo expansion. Understanding the signals involved in recruiting these cells to the regenerating tissues will be crucial to optimizing this technology for clinical use. On the other hand, some concerns must be addressed before EPC can be used for therapeutic applications. First, there is the possibility that when allogeneic cells are implanted, a graft-versus-host immune reaction could occur, caused by a residual T-cell fraction derived from CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. Studies showed that

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

BM-derived CD34<sup>+</sup> cells can be differentiated into T cells both in vitro and in vivo [233]. CD34 is one of the most widely used surface makers used for EPC isolation. It is important to use CD34 combined with other surface markers to identify subsets of EPC that will be suitable for clinical use and to reduce the risk of subsequent T-cell differentiation. Second, to develop cells for clinical use, it is necessary to remove all animal substances, such as serum, from the culture environment, because they might be pathogenic or immunogenic. Conventional culture conditions use animal-derived components, especially sera (e.g., fetal bovine serum [FBS]). For clinical cell therapy applications, EPC culture conditions must be free of animal products to meet good manufacturing practice standards. Efforts were made to develop clinical-grade human embryonic stem cell lines and culture conditions [234]. Reinisch et al. [68] published results of clinically approved culture conditions to expand PB-EPC. Using pooled human platelet lysate to replace FBS in the culture environment, they reported the successful recovery of EPC (ECFC) from PB. The ECFC were characterized by robust proliferative potential (more than 30 population doublings), a normal karyotype, and vascular network-forming ability.

These summarized studies provide support for the presence of stem cells in PB and mechanisms by which they can be mobilized from BM to increase their numbers in blood. Although various attempts have been made to use PB-derived stem cells in humans and some encouraging results were obtained, standard clinical use of these techniques must await further validation and long-term toxicity evaluations.

## References

- Porada CD, Almeida-Porada G. Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutics and vehicles for gene and drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2010; 62(12):1156–66.
- [2] Ng YY, Baert MR, de Haas EF, Pike-Overzet K, Staal FJ. Isolation of human and mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 2009;506: 13–21.
- [3] Sullivan Jr FR. Hematopoiesis Houston: Baylor College of Medicine. 2009. Available from: https://www.bcm.edu/departments/medicine/ heme-onc/?pmid=4525-f.
- [4] Tay J, Levesque JP, Winkler IG. Cellular players of hematopoietic stem cell mobilization in the bone marrow niche. Int J Hematol 2017;105(2): 129–40.
- [5] Garcia NP, de Leon EB, da Costa AG, Tarrago AM, Pimentel JP, Fraporti L, et al. Kinetics of mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells mobilization by G-CSF and its impact on the cytokine microenvironment in primary cultures. Cell Immunol 2015;293(1):1–9.
- [6] Anasetti C, Logan BR, Lee SJ, Waller EK, Weisdorf DJ, Wingard JR, et al. Peripheral-blood stem cells versus bone marrow from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med 2012;367(16):1487–96.
- [7] Levesque JP, Helwani FM, Winkler IG. The endosteal 'osteoblastic' niche and its role in hematopoietic stem cell homing and mobilization. Leukemia 2010;24(12):1979–92.
- [8] Lapidot T, Kollet O. The brain-bone-blood triad: traffic lights for stem-cell homing and mobilization. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2010;2010:1–6.
- [9] Ratajczak MZ, Kim C, Ratajczak J, Janowska-Wieczorek A. Innate immunity as orchestrator of bone marrow homing for hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 2013;735:219–32.
- [10] Goodman J, Hodgson G. Evidence for stem cells in the peripheral blood of mice. Blood 1962;19(6):702-14.
- [11] D'Hondt L, McAuliffe C, Damon J, Reilly J, Carlson J, Dooner M, et al. Circadian variations of bone marrow engraftability. J Cell Physiol 2004;200(1):63–70.
- [12] Mendez-Ferrer S, Lucas D, Battista M, Frenette PS. Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature 2008; 452(7186):442-7.
- [13] Borkowska S, Suszynska M, Wysoczynski M, Ratajczak MZ. Mobilization studies in C3-deficient mice unravel the involvement of a novel crosstalk between the coagulation and complement cascades in mobilization of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Leukemia 2013;27(9): 1928–30.
- [14] Lee HM, Wu W, Wysoczynski M, Liu R, Zuba-Surma EK, Kucia M, et al. Impaired mobilization of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in C5-deficient mice supports the pivotal involvement of innate immunity in this process and reveals novel promobilization effects of granulocytes. Leukemia 2009;23(11):2052–62.
- [15] Zander AR, Dicke KA, Verma D, Ginzbarg S, Spitzer G. Mobilization of murine hemopoietic stem cells (HSC) by Pyran Copolymer. Exp Hematol 1979;7(Suppl. 5):116–24.
- [16] Zander AR, Templeton J, Gray KN, Spitzer G, Verma DS, Dicke KA. Mobilization of canine hemopoietic stem cells by pyran copolymer (NSC 46015). Biomed Pharmacother 1984;38(2):107–10.
- [17] Drize N, Chertkov J, Zander A. Hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization into the peripheral blood of mice using a combination of recombinant rat stem cell factor (rrSCF) and recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (rhG-CSF). Exp Hematol 1995;23(11): 1180–6.
- [18] Kessinger A, Armitage JO, Landmark JD, Weisenburger DD. Reconstitution of human hematopoietic function with autologous cryopreserved circulating stem cells. Exp Hematol 1986;14(3):192–6.
- [19] Van den Berg D, Wessman M, Murray L, Tong J, Chen B, Chen S, et al. Leukemic burden in subpopulations of CD34+ cells isolated from the mobilized peripheral blood of alpha-interferon-resistant or -intolerant patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 1996;87(10):4348–57.
- [20] Petit I, Szyper-Kravitz M, Nagler A, Lahav M, Peled A, Habler L, et al. G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. Nat Immunol 2002;3(7):687–94.

#### REFERENCES

- [21] Bensinger WI, Martin PJ, Storer B, Clift R, Forman SJ, Negrin R, et al. Transplantation of bone marrow as compared with peripheral-blood cells from HLA-identical relatives in patients with hematologic cancers. N Engl J Med 2001;344(3):175–81.
- [22] Korbling M, Champlin R. Peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation: a replacement for marrow auto- or allografts. Stem Cell 1996; 14(2):185–95.
- [23] Jantunen E, Varmavuo V. Plerixafor for mobilization of blood stem cells in autologous transplantation: an update. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2014;14(6):851–61.
- [24] Russell NH, Hunter A, Rogers S, Hanley J, Anderson D. Peripheral blood stem cells as an alternative to marrow for allogeneic transplantation. Lancet 1993;341(8858):1482.
- [25] Stem Cell Trialist's Collaborative Group. Allogeneic peripheral blood stem-cell compared with bone marrow transplantation in the management of hematologic malignancies: an individual patient data meta-analysis of nine randomized trials. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(22):5074–87.
- [26] Kasai M, Kiyama Y, Kawamura A. Application of peripheral blood stem cells (PBSC) mobilized by recombinant human granulocyte colony stimulating factor for allogeneic PBSC transplantation and the comparison of allogeneic PBSC transplantation and bone marrow transplantation. Transfus Apher Sci 2002;26(2):121–7.
- [27] Cottler-Fox MH, Lapidot T, Petit I, Kollet O, DiPersio JF, Link D, et al. Stem cell mobilization. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2003: 419–37.
- [28] Broxmeyer HE, Orschell CM, Clapp DW, Hangoc G, Cooper S, Plett PA, et al. Rapid mobilization of murine and human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells with AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. J Exp Med 2005;201(8):1307–18.
- [29] Cashen AF, Nervi B, DiPersio J. AMD3100: CXCR4 antagonist and rapid stem cell-mobilizing agent. Future Oncol 2007;3(1):19–27.
- [30] Adamiak M, JBt M, Zhao J, Abdelbaset-Ismail A, Grubczak K, Rzeszötek S, et al. Downregulation of heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1) activity in hematopoietic cells enhances their engraftment after transplantation. Cell Transplant 2016;25(7):1265–76.
- [31] Adamiak M, Abdelbaset-Ismail A, JBt M, Zhao J, Abdel-Latif A, Wysoczynski M, et al. Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) is a novel negative regulator of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell trafficking. Stem Cell Rev 2016;13(1):92–103.
- [32] Borkowska S, Suszynska M, Mierzejewska K, Ismail A, Budkowska M, Salata D, et al. Novel evidence that crosstalk between the complement, coagulation and fibrinolysis proteolytic cascades is involved in mobilization of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (HSPCs). Leukemia 2014;28(11):2148–54.
- [33] Khoo CP, Pozzilli P, Alison MR. Endothelial progenitor cells and their potential therapeutic applications. Regen Med 2008;3(6):863-76.
- [34] Leu S, Day YJ, Sun CK, Yip HK. tPA-MMP-9 Axis plays a pivotal role in mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells from bone marrow to circulation and ischemic region for angiogenesis. Stem Cells Int 2016;2016:5417565.
- [35] Ozuyaman B, Ebner P, Niesler U, Ziemann J, Kleinbongard P, Jax T, et al. Nitric oxide differentially regulates proliferation and mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells but not of hematopoietic stem cells. Thromb Haemost 2005;94(4):770–2.
- [36] Pitchford SC, Furze RC, Jones CP, Wengner AM, Rankin SM. Differential mobilization of subsets of progenitor cells from the bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(1):62–72.
- [37] Zan T, Li H, Du Z, Gu B, Liu K, Li Q. Enhanced endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and function through direct manipulation of hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha. Cell Biochem Funct 2015;33(3):143–9.
- [38] Elsheikh E, Sylven C, Ericzon BG, Palmblad J, Mints M. Cyclic variability of stromal cell-derived factor-1 and endothelial progenitor cells during the menstrual cycle. Int J Mol Med 2011;27(2):221–6.
- [39] Emmons R, Niemiro GM, Owolabi O, De Lisio M. Acute exercise mobilizes hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and alters the mesenchymal stromal cell secretome. J Appl Physiol 1985;120(6):624–32. 2016.
- [40] Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, et al. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 1997;275(5302):964–7.
- [41] Rafii S, Oz MC, Seldomridge JA, Ferris B, Asch AS, Nachman RL, et al. Characterization of hematopoietic cells arising on the textured surface of left ventricular assist devices. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60(6):1627–32.
- [42] Gill M, Dias S, Hattori K, Rivera ML, Hicklin D, Witte L, et al. Vascular trauma induces rapid but transient mobilization of VEGFR2(+) AC133(+) endothelial precursor cells. Circ Res 2001;88(2):167–74.
- [43] Goodell MA, Jackson KA, Majka SM, Mi T, Wang H, Pocius J, et al. Stem cell plasticity in muscle and bone marrow. Ann NY Acad Sci 2001; 938:208–18. discussion 18–20.
- [44] Dias S, Hattori K, Heissig B, Zhu Z, Wu Y, Witte L, et al. Inhibition of both paracrine and autocrine VEGF/VEGFR-2 signaling pathways is essential to induce long-term remission of xenotransplanted human leukemias. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98(19):10857–62.
- [45] Hattori K, Heissig B, Wu Y, Dias S, Tejada R, Ferris B, et al. Placental growth factor reconstitutes hematopoiesis by recruiting VEGFR1(+) stem cells from bone-marrow microenvironment. Nat Med 2002;8(8):841–9.
- [46] Rafii S, Lyden D. Therapeutic stem and progenitor cell transplantation for organ vascularization and regeneration. Nat Med 2003;9(6): 702–12.
- [47] Peichev M, Naiyer AJ, Pereira D, Zhu Z, Lane WJ, Williams M, et al. Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating human CD34(+) cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors. Blood 2000;95(3):952–8.
- [48] Bautz F, Rafii S, Kanz L, Mohle R. Expression and secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor-A by cytokine-stimulated hematopoietic progenitor cells. Possible role in the hematopoietic microenvironment. Exp Hematol 2000;28(6):700–6.
- [49] Hoerstrup SP, Sodian R, Daebritz S, Wang J, Bacha EA, Martin DP, et al. Functional living trileaflet heart valves grown in vitro. Circulation 2000;102(19 Suppl. 3):III44–I49.
- [50] Kim SY, Park SY, Kim JM, Kim JW, Kim MY, Yang JH, et al. Differentiation of endothelial cells from human umbilical cord blood AC133-CD14+ cells. Ann Hematol 2005;84(7):417–22.
- [51] Hiasa K, Ishibashi M, Ohtani K, Inoue S, Zhao Q, Kitamoto S, et al. Gene transfer of stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha enhances ischemic vasculogenesis and angiogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor/endothelial nitric oxide synthase-related pathway: next-generation chemokine therapy for therapeutic neovascularization. Circulation 2004;109(20):2454–61.
- [52] Kryczek I, Lange A, Mottram P, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Hogan M, et al. CXCL12 and vascular endothelial growth factor synergistically induce neoangiogenesis in human ovarian cancers. Cancer Res 2005;65(2):465–72.

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

- [53] Salcedo R, Wasserman K, Young HA, Grimm MC, Howard OM, Anver MR, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor induce expression of CXCR4 on human endothelial cells: in vivo neovascularization induced by stromal-derived factor-1alpha. Am J Pathol 1999;154(4):1125–35.
- [54] Heeschen C, Aicher A, Lehmann R, Fichtlscherer S, Vasa M, Urbich C, et al. Erythropoietin is a potent physiologic stimulus for endothelial progenitor cell mobilization. Blood 2003;102(4):1340–6.
- [55] Amado LC, Saliaris AP, Schuleri KH, St John M, Xie JS, Cattaneo S, et al. Cardiac repair with intramyocardial injection of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells after myocardial infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102(32):11474–9.
- [56] Bader A, Steinhoff G, Strobl K, Schilling T, Brandes G, Mertsching H, et al. Engineering of human vascular aortic tissue based on a xenogeneic starter matrix. Transplantation 2000;70(1):7–14.
- [57] Barel MT, Ressing M, Pizzato N, van Leeuwen D, Le Bouteiller P, Lenfant F, et al. Human cytomegalovirus-encoded US2 differentially affects surface expression of MHC class I locus products and targets membrane-bound, but not soluble HLA-G1 for degradation. J Immunol 2003; 171(12):6757–65.
- [58] Brown BD, Shi CX, Powell S, Hurlbut D, Graham FL, Lillicrap D. Helper-dependent adenoviral vectors mediate therapeutic factor VIII expression for several months with minimal accompanying toxicity in a canine model of severe hemophilia A. Blood 2004;103(3):804–10.
- [59] Barnes C, Blanchette V, Lillicrap D, Mann K, Stain AM, Leggo J, et al. Different clinical phenotype in triplets with haemophilia A. Haemophilia 2007;13(2):202–5.
- [60] Ingram DA, Caplice NM, Yoder MC. Unresolved questions, changing definitions, and novel paradigms for defining endothelial progenitor cells. Blood 2005;106(5):1525–31.
- [61] Albelda SM, Oliver PD, Romer LH, Buck CA. EndoCAM: a novel endothelial cell-cell adhesion molecule. J Cell Biol 1990;110(4):1227-37.
- [62] Melero-Martin JM, De Obaldia ME, Kang SY, Khan ZA, Yuan L, Oettgen P, et al. Engineering robust and functional vascular networks in vivo with human adult and cord blood-derived progenitor cells. Circ Res 2008;103(2):194–202.
- [63] Hsu S, Thakar R, Liepmann D, Li S. Effects of shear stress on endothelial cell haptotaxis on micropatterned surfaces. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;337(1):401–9.
- [64] Plouffe BD, Kniazeva T, Mayer Jr JE, Murthy SK, Sales VL. Development of microfluidics as endothelial progenitor cell capture technology for cardiovascular tissue engineering and diagnostic medicine. FASEB J 2009;23(10):3309–14.
- [65] Tillman BW, Yazdani SK, Geary RL, Corriere MA, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Efficient recovery of endothelial progenitors for clinical translation. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2009.
- [66] Asahara T, Masuda H, Takahashi T, Kalka C, Pastore C, Silver M, et al. Bone marrow origin of endothelial progenitor cells responsible for postnatal vasculogenesis in physiological and pathological neovascularization. Circ Res 1999;85(3):221–8.
- [67] Gabrilovich DI, Ishida T, Nadaf S, Ohm JE, Carbone DP. Antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy by improving endogenous dendritic cell function. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5(10):2963–70.
- [68] Reinisch A, Hofmann NA, Obenauf AC, Kashofer K, Rohde E, Schallmoser K, et al. Humanized large-scale expanded endothelial colonyforming cells function in vitro and in vivo. Blood 2009;113(26):6716–25.
- [69] Sharpe 3rd EE, Teleron AA, Li B, Price J, Sands MS, Alford K, et al. The origin and in vivo significance of murine and human cultureexpanded endothelial progenitor cells. Am J Pathol 2006;168(5):1710–21.
- [70] Case J, Mead LE, Bessler WK, Prater D, White HA, Saadatzadeh MR, et al. Human CD34+AC133+VEGFR-2+ cells are not endothelial progenitor cells but distinct, primitive hematopoietic progenitors. Exp Hematol 2007;35(7):1109–18.
- [71] Knedler A, Ham RG. Optimized medium for clonal growth of human microvascular endothelial cells with minimal serum. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 1987;23(7):481–91.
- [72] Folkman J, D'Amore PA. Blood vessel formation: what is its molecular basis? Cell 1996;87(7):1153-5.
- [73] Breier G, Damert A, Plate KH, Risau W. Angiogenesis in embryos and ischemic diseases. Thromb Haemost 1997;78(1):678-83.
- [74] Minami E, Laflamme MA, Saffitz JE, Murry CE. Extracardiac progenitor cells repopulate most major cell types in the transplanted human heart. Circulation 2005;112(19):2951–8.
- [75] Korf-Klingebiel M, Kempf T, Sauer T, Brinkmann E, Fischer P, Meyer GP, et al. Bone marrow cells are a rich source of growth factors and cytokines: implications for cell therapy trials after myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2008;29(23):2851–8.
- [76] Young PP, Vaughan DE, Hatzopoulos AK. Biologic properties of endothelial progenitor cells and their potential for cell therapy. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2007;49(6):421–9.
- [77] Abdel-Latif A, Bolli R, Tleyjeh IM, Montori VM, Perin EC, Hornung CA, et al. Adult bone marrow-derived cells for cardiac repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2007;167(10):989–97.
- [78] Luttun A, Tjwa M, Moons L, Wu Y, Angelillo-Scherrer A, Liao F, et al. Revascularization of ischemic tissues by PIGF treatment, and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis, arthritis and atherosclerosis by anti-Flt1. Nat Med 2002;8(8):831–40.
- [79] Caplice NM, Bunch TJ, Stalboerger PG, Wang S, Simper D, Miller DV, et al. Smooth muscle cells in human coronary atherosclerosis can originate from cells administered at marrow transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(8):4754–9.
- [80] Hill JM, Zalos G, Halcox JP, Schenke WH, Waclawiw MA, Quyyumi AA, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. N Engl J Med 2003;348(7):593–600.
- [81] Hillebrands JL, Klatter FA, van Dijk WD, Rozing J. Bone marrow does not contribute substantially to endothelial-cell replacement in transplant arteriosclerosis. Nat Med 2002;8(3):194–5.
- [82] Grant MB, May WS, Caballero S, Brown GA, Guthrie SM, Mames RN, et al. Adult hematopoietic stem cells provide functional hemangioblast activity during retinal neovascularization. Nat Med 2002;8(6):607–12.
- [83] Dhar DK, Naora H, Yamanoi A, Ono T, Kohno H, Otani H, et al. Requisite role of VEGF receptors in angiogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma: a comparison with angiopoietin/Tie pathway. Anticancer Res 2002;22(1A):379–86.
- [84] Hess DC, Hill WD, Martin-Studdard A, Carothers J, Brailer J, Carroll J. Blood into brain after stroke. Trends Mol Med 2002;8(9):452-3.
- [85] Moschetta M, Mishima Y, Sahin I, Manier S, Glavey S, Vacca A, et al. Role of endothelial progenitor cells in cancer progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1846(1):26–39.
- [86] Zhao X, Liu HQ, Li J, Liu XL. Endothelial progenitor cells promote tumor growth and progression by enhancing new vessel formation. Oncol Lett 2016;12(2):793–9.

## 328

- [87] Tilling L, Chowienczyk P, Clapp B. Progenitors in motion: mechanisms of mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2009;68(4):484–92.
- [88] Kim KJ, Li B, Winer J, Armanini M, Gillett N, Phillips HS, et al. Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis suppresses tumour growth in vivo. Nature 1993;362(6423):841–4.
- [89] Lyden D, Young AZ, Zagzag D, Yan W, Gerald W, O'Reilly R, et al. Id1 and Id3 are required for neurogenesis, angiogenesis and vascularization of tumour xenografts. Nature 1999;401(6754):670–7.
- [90] Benezra R, Rafii S, Lyden D. The Id proteins and angiogenesis. Oncogene 2001;20(58):8334-41.
- [91] Jiang Y, Jahagirdar BN, Reinhardt RL, Schwartz RE, Keene CD, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, et al. Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 2002;418(6893):41–9.
- [92] Dias S, Choy M, Alitalo K, Rafii S. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-C signaling through FLT-4 (VEGFR-3) mediates leukemic cell proliferation, survival, and resistance to chemotherapy. Blood 2002;99(6):2179–84.
- [93] Porada C, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G. Adult mesenchymal stem cells: a pluripotent population with multiple applications. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2006;1:231–8.
- [94] Porada CD, Almeida-Porada MG. Mesenchymal stem cells as gene delivery vehicles. In: Molina FM, editor. Gene therapy tools and potential applications. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech; 2013.
- [95] Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV. Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 1974;17(4):331–40.
- [96] Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 1991;9(5):641–50.
- [97] Galotto M, Berisso G, Delfino L, Podesta M, Ottaggio L, Dallorso S, et al. Stromal damage as consequence of high-dose chemo/radiotherapy in bone marrow transplant recipients. Exp Hematol 1999;27(9):1460–6.
- [98] Simmons PJ, Torok-Storb B. Identification of stromal cell precursors in human bone marrow by a novel monoclonal antibody, STRO-1. Blood 1991;78(1):55–62.
- [99] Chamberlain J, Yamagami T, Colletti E, Theise ND, Desai J, Frias A, et al. Efficient generation of human hepatocytes by the intrahepatic delivery of clonal human mesenchymal stem cells in fetal sheep. Hepatology 2007;46(6):1935–45.
- [100] Colletti EJ, Airey JA, Liu W, Simmons PJ, Zanjani ED, Porada CD, et al. Generation of tissue-specific cells from MSC does not require fusion or donor-to-host mitochondrial/membrane transfer. Stem Cell Res 2009;2(2):125–38.
- [101] Bruder SP, Kurth AA, Shea M, Hayes WC, Jaiswal N, Kadiyala S. Bone regeneration by implantation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 1998;16(2):155–62.
- [102] Haynesworth SE, Baber MA, Caplan AI. Cell surface antigens on human marrow-derived mesenchymal cells are detected by monoclonal antibodies. Bone 1992;13(1):69–80.
- [103] Mitchell JB, McIntosh K, Zvonic S, Garrett S, Floyd ZE, Kloster A, et al. Immunophenotype of human adipose-derived cells: temporal changes in stromal-associated and stem cell-associated markers. Stem Cells 2006;24(2):376–85.
- [104] Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006;8(4):315–7.
- [105] Almeida-Porada G, El Shabrawy D, Porada C, Zanjani ED. Differentiative potential of human metanephric mesenchymal cells. Exp Hematol 2002;30(12):1454–62.
- [106] Gotherstrom C, West A, Liden J, Uzunel M, Lahesmaa R, Le Blanc K. Difference in gene expression between human fetal liver and adult bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Haematologica 2005;90(8):1017–26.
- [107] in 't Anker PS, Noort WA, Scherjon SA, Kleijburg-van der Keur C, Kruisselbrink AB, van Bezooijen RL, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells in human second-trimester bone marrow, liver, lung, and spleen exhibit a similar immunophenotype but a heterogeneous multilineage differentiation potential. Haematologica 2003;88(8):845–52.
- [108] Lee OK, Kuo TK, Chen WM, Lee KD, Hsieh SL, Chen TH. Isolation of multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood. Blood 2004;103(5):1669–75.
- [109] Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, et al. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 2001;7(2):211–28.
- [110] Garol NJ, Yamagami T, Osborne C, Porada CD, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G. Tissue-specific molecular signature may explain differentiative bias of human MSC from different tissues. Blood 2007;110(11):570a.
- [111] Mazhari SDJ, Chamberlain J, Porada C, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G. Proteomic analysis reveals intrinsic differences between phenotypically identical mesenchymal stem cells. Blood 2005;106(11):395a.
- [112] Almeida-Porada MGCJ, Frias A, Porada CD, Zanjani ED. Tissue of origin influences in vivo differentiative potential of mesenchymal stem cells. Blood 2003;102(11):1304a.
- [113] Digirolamo CM, Stokes D, Colter D, Phinney DG, Class R, Prockop DJ. Propagation and senescence of human marrow stromal cells in culture: a simple colony-forming assay identifies samples with the greatest potential to propagate and differentiate. Br J Haematol 1999; 107(2):275–81.
- [114] Bruder SP, Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE. Growth kinetics, self-renewal, and the osteogenic potential of purified human mesenchymal stem cells during extensive subcultivation and following cryopreservation. J Cell Biochem 1997;64(2):278–94.
- [115] Colter DC, Class R, DiGirolamo CM, Prockop DJ. Rapid expansion of recycling stem cells in cultures of plastic-adherent cells from human bone marrow. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97(7):3213–8.
- [116] Hodgkinson CP, Gomez JA, Mirotsou M, Dzau VJ. Genetic engineering of mesenchymal stem cells and its application in human disease therapy. Hum Gene Ther 2010;21(11):1513–26.
- [117] Bernardo ME, Zaffaroni N, Novara F, Cometa AM, Avanzini MA, Moretta A, et al. Human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells do not undergo transformation after long-term in vitro culture and do not exhibit telomere maintenance mechanisms. Cancer Res 2007;67(19): 9142–9.
- [118] Buyanovskaya OA, Kuleshov NP, Nikitina VA, Voronina ES, Katosova LD, Bochkov NP. Spontaneous aneuploidy and clone formation in adipose tissue stem cells during different periods of culturing. Bull Exp Biol Med 2009;148(1):109–12.

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

- [119] Rubio D, Garcia-Castro J, Martin MC, de la Fuente R, Cigudosa JC, Lloyd AC, et al. Spontaneous human adult stem cell transformation. Cancer Res 2005;65(8):3035–9.
- [120] Altanerova V, Horvathova E, Matuskova M, Kucerova L, Altaner C. Genotoxic damage of human adipose-tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells triggers their terminal differentiation. Neoplasma 2009;56(6):542–7.
- [121] Crop M, Baan C, Weimar W, Hoogduijn M. Potential of mesenchymal stem cells as immune therapy in solid-organ transplantation. Transpl Int 2009;22(4):365–76.
- [122] Breier G, Albrecht U, Sterrer S, Risau W. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor during embryonic angiogenesis and endothelial cell differentiation. Development 1992;114(2):521–32.
- [123] Rivard A, Isner JM. Angiogenesis and vasculogenesis in treatment of cardiovascular disease. Mol Med 1998;4(7):429-40.
- [124] Folkman J. Angiogenesis and angiogenesis inhibition: an overview. EXS 1997;79:1-8.
- [125] King GL, Brownlee M. The cellular and molecular mechanisms of diabetic complications. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 1996;25(2): 255–70.
- [126] Battegay EJ. Angiogenesis: mechanistic insights, neovascular diseases, and therapeutic prospects. J Mol Med (Berl) 1995;73(7):333-46.
- [127] Drake CJ, Hungerford JE, Little CD. Morphogenesis of the first blood vessels. Ann NY Acad Sci 1998;857:155–79.
- [128] Watt SM, Athanassopoulos A, Harris AL, Tsaknakis G. Human endothelial stem/progenitor cells, angiogenic factors and vascular repair. J R Soc Interface 2010;7(Suppl. 6):S731–51.
- [129] Tasev D, Koolwijk P, van Hinsbergh VW. Therapeutic potential of human-derived endothelial colony-forming cells in animal models. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2016;22(5):371–82.
- [130] Pacilli A, Pasquinelli G. Vascular wall resident progenitor cells: a review. Exp Cell Res 2009;315(6):901-14.
- [131] Hanahan D, Folkman J. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell 1996;86(3):353-64.
- [132] Rafii S. Circulating endothelial precursors: mystery, reality, and promise. J Clin Invest 2000;105(1):17-9.
- [133] Shepherd RM, Capoccia BJ, Devine SM, Dipersio J, Trinkaus KM, Ingram D, et al. Angiogenic cells can be rapidly mobilized and efficiently harvested from the blood following treatment with AMD3100. Blood 2006;108(12):3662–7.
- [134] Ferrario M, Arbustini E, Massa M, Rosti V, Marziliano N, Raineri C, et al. High-dose erythropoietin in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a pilot, randomised, placebo-controlled study. Int J Cardiol 2011;147(1):124–31.
- [135] Yin Y, Huang L, Zhao X, Fang Y, Yu S, Zhao J, et al. AMD3100 mobilizes endothelial progenitor cells in mice, but inhibits its biological functions by blocking an autocrine/paracrine regulatory loop of stromal cell derived factor-1 in vitro. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2007; 50(1):61–7.
- [136] Au P, Tam J, Fukumura D, Jain RK. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells facilitate engineering of long-lasting functional vasculature. Blood 2008;111(9):4551-8.
- [137] Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Limana F, Jakoniuk I, Quaini F, et al. Mobilized bone marrow cells repair the infarcted heart, improving function and survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98(18):10344–9.
- [138] Kocher AA, Schuster MD, Szabolcs MJ, Takuma S, Burkhoff D, Wang J, et al. Neovascularization of ischemic myocardium by human bone-marrow-derived angioblasts prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduces remodeling and improves cardiac function. Nat Med 2001; 7(4):430–6.
- [139] Martin-Rendon E, Brunskill SJ, Hyde CJ, Stanworth SJ, Mathur A, Watt SM. Autologous bone marrow stem cells to treat acute myocardial infarction: a systematic review. Eur Heart J 2008;29(15):1807–18.
- [140] Martin-Rendon E, Brunskill S, Doree C, Hyde C, Watt S, Mathur A, et al. Stem cell treatment for acute myocardial infarction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008;4:CD006536.
- [141] Brunskill SJ, Hyde CJ, Doree CJ, Watt SM, Martin-Rendon E. Route of delivery and baseline left ventricular ejection fraction, key factors of bone-marrow-derived cell therapy for ischaemic heart disease. Eur J Heart Fail 2009;11(9):887–96.
- [142] Lipinski MJ, Biondi-Zoccai GG, Abbate A, Khianey R, Sheiban I, Bartunek J, et al. Impact of intracoronary cell therapy on left ventricular function in the setting of acute myocardial infarction: a collaborative systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;50(18):1761–7.
- [143] Asahara T, Takahashi T, Masuda H, Kalka C, Chen D, Iwaguro H, et al. VEGF contributes to postnatal neovascularization by mobilizing bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. Embo J 1999;18(14):3964–72.
- [144] Tateishi-Yuyama E, Matsubara H, Murohara T, Ikeda U, Shintani S, Masaki H, et al. Therapeutic angiogenesis for patients with limb ischaemia by autologous transplantation of bone-marrow cells: a pilot study and a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2002;360(9331): 427–35.
- [145] Traktuev DO, Prater DN, Merfeld-Clauss S, Sanjeevaiah AR, Saadatzadeh MR, Murphy M, et al. Robust functional vascular network formation in vivo by cooperation of adipose progenitor and endothelial cells. Circ Res 2009;104(12):1410–20.
- [146] Olson SD, Kambal A, Pollock K, Mitchell GM, Stewart H, Kalomoiris S, et al. Examination of mesenchymal stem cell-mediated RNAi transfer to Huntington's disease affected neuronal cells for reduction of huntingtin. Mol Cell Neurosci 2012;49(3):271–81.
- [147] Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Deng Y, Kugathasan L, Zhang Q, Stewart DJ. Rescue of monocrotaline-induced pulmonary arterial hypertension using bone marrow-derived endothelial-like progenitor cells: efficacy of combined cell and eNOS gene therapy in established disease. Circ Res 2005;96(4):442–50.
- [148] Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 1993;362(6423):801-9.
- [149] Report of a working party of the British Cardiac Society. Coronary angioplasty in the United Kingdom. Br Heart J 1991;66:325-31.
- [150] Motwani JG, Topol EJ. Aortocoronary saphenous vein graft disease: pathogenesis, predisposition, and prevention. Circulation 1998;97(9): 916–31.
- [151] Ao PY, Hawthorne WJ, Vicaretti M, Fletcher JP. Development of intimal hyperplasia in six different vascular prostheses. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2000;20(3):241–9.
- [152] Seifalian AM, Tiwari A, Hamilton G, Salacinski HJ. Improving the clinical patency of prosthetic vascular and coronary bypass grafts: the role of seeding and tissue engineering. Artif Organs 2002;26(4):307–20.
- [153] Bhattacharya V, McSweeney PA, Shi Q, Bruno B, Ishida A, Nash R, et al. Enhanced endothelialization and microvessel formation in polyester grafts seeded with CD34(+) bone marrow cells. Blood 2000;95(2):581–5.

- [154] Shi Q, Rafii S, Wu MH, Wijelath ES, Yu C, Ishida A, et al. Evidence for circulating bone marrow-derived endothelial cells. Blood 1998;92(2): 362-7.
- [155] Kaushal S, Amiel GE, Guleserian KJ, Shapira OM, Perry T, Sutherland FW, et al. Functional small-diameter neovessels created using endothelial progenitor cells expanded ex vivo. Nat Med 2001;7(9):1035–40.
- [156] Padfield GJ, Newby DE, Mills NL. Understanding the role of endothelial progenitor cells in percutaneous coronary intervention. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55(15):1553–65.
- [157] Yoder MC. Defining human endothelial progenitor cells. J Thromb Haemost 2009;7(Suppl. 1):49-52.
- [158] Nerem RM. Atherogenesis: hemodynamics, vascular geometry, and the endothelium. Biorheology 1984;21(4):565-9.
- [159] Dvorin EL, Wylie-Sears J, Kaushal S, Martin DP, Bischoff J. Quantitative evaluation of endothelial progenitors and cardiac valve endothelial cells: proliferation and differentiation on poly-glycolic acid/poly-4-hydroxybutyrate scaffold in response to vascular endothelial growth factor and transforming growth factor beta1. Tissue Eng 2003;9(3):487–93.
- [160] Jordan JE, Williams JK, Lee SJ, Raghavan D, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Bioengineered self-seeding heart valves. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;143(1): 201–8.
- [161] Williams JK, Miller ES, Lane MR, Atala A, Yoo JJ, Jordan JE. Characterization of CD133 antibody-directed recellularized heart valves. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 2015;8(7):411–20.
- [162] Baptista PM, Siddiqui MM, Lozier G, Rodriguez SR, Atala A, Soker S. The use of whole organ decellularization for the generation of a vascularized liver organoid. Hepatology 2011;53(2):604–17.
- [163] Baptista PM, Moran EC, Vyas D, Ribeiro MH, Atala A, Sparks JL, et al. Fluid flow regulation of revascularization and cellular organization in a bioengineered liver platform. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2016;22(3):199–207.
- [164] Goerke SM, Obermeyer J, Plaha J, Stark GB, Finkenzeller G. Endothelial progenitor cells from peripheral blood support bone regeneration by provoking an angiogenic response. Microvasc Res 2015;98:40–7.
- [165] Lee DE, Ayoub N, Agrawal DK. Mesenchymal stem cells and cutaneous wound healing: novel methods to increase cell delivery and therapeutic efficacy. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016;7:37.
- [166] Demidova-Rice TN, Durham JT, Herman IM. Wound healing angiogenesis: innovations and challenges in acute and chronic wound healing. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) 2012;1(1):17–22.
- [167] Hendrickx B, Verdonck K, Van den Berge S, Dickens S, Eriksson E, Vranckx JJ, et al. Integration of blood outgrowth endothelial cells in dermal fibroblast sheets promotes full thickness wound healing. Stem Cells 2010;28(7):1165–77.
- [168] Kung EF, Wang F, Schechner JS. In vivo perfusion of human skin substitutes with microvessels formed by adult circulating endothelial progenitor cells. Dermatol Surg 2008;34(2):137–46.
- [169] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- [170] Hishikawa K, Miura S, Marumo T, Yoshioka H, Mori Y, Takato T, et al. Gene expression profile of human mesenchymal stem cells during osteogenesis in three-dimensional thermoreversible gelation polymer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;317(4):1103–7.
- [171] Bruder SP, Fink DJ, Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells in bone development, bone repair, and skeletal regeneration therapy. J Cell Biochem 1994;56(3):283–94.
- [172] Quarto R, Mastrogiacomo M, Cancedda R, Kutepov SM, Mukhachev V, Lavroukov A, et al. Repair of large bone defects with the use of autologous bone marrow stromal cells. N Engl J Med 2001;344(5):385–6.
- [173] Wakitani S, Mitsuoka T, Nakamura N, Toritsuka Y, Nakamura Y, Horibe S. Autologous bone marrow stromal cell transplantation for repair of full-thickness articular cartilage defects in human patellae: two case reports. Cell Transplant 2004;13(5):595–600.
- [174] Horwitz EM, Prockop DJ, Fitzpatrick LA, Koo WW, Gordon PL, Neel M, et al. Transplantability and therapeutic effects of bone marrowderived mesenchymal cells in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Nat Med 1999;5(3):309–13.
- [175] Dezawa M, Ishikawa H, Itokazu Y, Yoshihara T, Hoshino M, Takeda S, et al. Bone marrow stromal cells generate muscle cells and repair muscle degeneration. Science 2005;309(5732):314–7.
- [176] Ferrari G, Cusella-De Angelis G, Coletta M, Paolucci E, Stornaiuolo A, Cossu G, et al. Muscle regeneration by bone marrow-derived myogenic progenitors. Science 1998;279(5356):1528–30.
- [177] Brazelton TR, Rossi FM, Keshet GI, Blau HM. From marrow to brain: expression of neuronal phenotypes in adult mice. Science 2000; 290(5497):1775–9.
- [178] Mezey E, Chandross KJ, Harta G, Maki RA, McKercher SR. Turning blood into brain: cells bearing neuronal antigens generated in vivo from bone marrow. Science 2000;290(5497):1779–82.
- [179] Sanchez-Ramos JR. Neural cells derived from adult bone marrow and umbilical cord blood. J Neurosci Res 2002;69(6):880-93.
- [180] Prockop DJ, Azizi SA, Phinney DG, Kopen GC, Schwarz EJ. Potential use of marrow stromal cells as therapeutic vectors for diseases of the central nervous system. Prog Brain Res 2000;128:293-7.
- [181] Tondreau T, Lagneaux L, Dejeneffe M, Massy M, Mortier C, Delforge A, et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells already express specific neural proteins before any differentiation. Differentiation 2004;72(7):319–26.
- [182] Fukuda K. Reprogramming of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into cardiomyocytes. C R Biol 2002;325(10):1027-38.
- [183] Shim WS, Jiang S, Wong P, Tan J, Chua YL, Tan YS, et al. Ex vivo differentiation of human adult bone marrow stem cells into cardiomyocytelike cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;324(2):481–8.
- [184] Cao Y, Sun Z, Liao L, Meng Y, Han Q, Zhao RC. Human adipose tissue-derived stem cells differentiate into endothelial cells in vitro and improve postnatal neovascularization in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;332(2):370–9.
- [185] Gang EJ, Jeong JA, Han S, Yan Q, Jeon CJ, Kim H. In vitro endothelial potential of human UC blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cytotherapy 2006;8(3):215–27.
- [186] Jiang W, Ma A, Wang T, Han K, Liu Y, Zhang Y, et al. Homing and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells delivered intravenously to ischemic myocardium in vivo: a time-series study. Pflugers Arch 2006;453(1):43–52.
- [187] Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakoniuk I, Anderson SM, Li B, et al. Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 2001; 410(6829):701–5.

#### 20. PERIPHERAL BLOOD STEM CELLS

- [188] Quevedo HC, Hatzistergos KE, Oskouei BN, Feigenbaum GS, Rodriguez JE, Valdes D, et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106(33):14022–7.
- [189] Yau TM, Tomita S, Weisel RD, Jia ZQ, Tumiati LC, Mickle DA, et al. Beneficial effect of autologous cell transplantation on infarcted heart function: comparison between bone marrow stromal cells and heart cells. Ann Thorac Surg 2003;75(1):169–76. discussion 76–77.
- [190] Airey JA, Almeida-Porada G, Colletti EJ, Porada CD, Chamberlain J, Movsesian M, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells form Purkinje fibers in fetal sheep heart. Circulation 2004;109(11):1401-7.
- [191] Colletti EJ, Almeida-Porada G, Chamberlain J, Zanjani ED, Airey JA. The time course of engraftment of human mesenchymal stem cells in fetal heart demonstrates that Purkinje fiber aggregates derive from a single cell and not multi-cell homing. Exp Hematol 2006;34(7):926–33.
- [192] Noort WA, Feye D, Van Den Akker F, Stecher D, Chamuleau SA, Sluijter JP, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells to treat cardiovascular disease: strategies to improve survival and therapeutic results. Panminerva Med 2010;52(1):27–40.
- [193] Li Z, Guo J, Chang Q, Zhang A. Paracrine role for mesenchymal stem cells in acute myocardial infarction. Biol Pharm Bull 2009;32(8):1343–6.
  [194] Shabbir A, Zisa D, Suzuki G, Lee T. Heart failure therapy mediated by the trophic activities of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a
- noninvasive therapeutic regimen. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2009;296(6):H1888–97. [195] Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA, et al. Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. Stem Cell Res 2007;1(2):129–37.
- [196] Chen SL, Fang WW, Ye F, Liu YH, Qian J, Shan SJ, et al. Effect on left ventricular function of intracoronary transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2004;94(1):92–5.
- [197] Hare JM, Traverse JH, Henry TD, Dib N, Strumpf RK, Schulman SP, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54(24): 2277–86.
- [198] Mohyeddin-Bonab M, Mohamad-Hassani MR, Alimoghaddam K, Sanatkar M, Gasemi M, Mirkhani H, et al. Autologous in vitro expanded mesenchymal stem cell therapy for human old myocardial infarction. Arch Iran Med 2007;10(4):467–73.
- [199] Theise ND, Krause DS. Bone marrow to liver: the blood of Prometheus. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2002;13(6):411-7.
- [200] Porada CD, Almeida-Porada G. Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutics for liver repair and regeneration. In: Gross G, Haupl T, editors. Stem cell-dependent therapies. DeGruyter; 2013. p. 263–92.
- [201] Quintana-Bustamante O, Alvarez-Barrientos A, Kofman AV, Fabregat I, Bueren JA, Theise ND, et al. Hematopoietic mobilization in mice increases the presence of bone marrow-derived hepatocytes via in vivo cell fusion. Hepatology 2006;43(1):108–16.
- [202] Vassilopoulos G, Wang PR, Russell DW. Transplanted bone marrow regenerates liver by cell fusion. Nature 2003;422(6934):901-4.
- [203] di Bonzo LV, Ferrero I, Cravanzola C, Mareschi K, Rustichell D, Novo E, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells as a two-edged sword in hepatic regenerative medicine: engraftment and hepatocyte differentiation versus profibrogenic potential. Gut 2008;57(2):223–31.
- [204] Kisseleva T, Uchinami H, Feirt N, Quintana-Bustamante O, Segovia JC, Schwabe RF, et al. Bone marrow-derived fibrocytes participate in pathogenesis of liver fibrosis. J Hepatol 2006;45(3):429–38.
- [205] Russo FP, Alison MR, Bigger BW, Amofah E, Florou A, Amin F, et al. The bone marrow functionally contributes to liver fibrosis. Gastroenterology 2006;130(6):1807–21.
- [206] Bosch P, Stice SL. Adenoviral transduction of mesenchymal stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 2007;407:265-74.
- [207] Gnecchi M, Melo LG. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells: isolation, expansion, characterization, viral transduction, and production of conditioned medium. Methods Mol Biol 2009;482:281–94.
- [208] Meyerrose TE, Roberts M, Ohlemiller KK, Vogler CA, Wirthlin L, Nolta JA, et al. Lentiviral-transduced human mesenchymal stem cells persistently express therapeutic levels of enzyme in a xenotransplantation model of human disease. Stem Cells 2008;26(7):1713–22.
- [209] Stender S, Murphy M, O'Brien T, Stengaard C, Ulrich-Vinther M, Soballe K, et al. Adeno-associated viral vector transduction of human mesenchymal stem cells. Eur Cell Mater 2007;13:93–9. discussion 9.
- [210] Liu XH, Bai CG, Xu ZY, Huang SD, Yuan Y, Gong DJ, et al. Therapeutic potential of angiogenin modified mesenchymal stem cells: angiogenin improves mesenchymal stem cells survival under hypoxia and enhances vasculogenesis in myocardial infarction. Microvasc Res 2008; 76(1):23–30.
- [211] Tang J, Wang J, Yang J, Kong X, Zheng F, Guo L, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells over-expressing SDF-1 promote angiogenesis and improve heart function in experimental myocardial infarction in rats. Eur J Cardio Thorac Surg 2009;36(4):644–50.
- [212] Aquino JB, Bolontrade MF, Garcia MG, Podhajcer OL, Mazzolini G. Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutic tools and gene carriers in liver fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gene Ther 2010;17(6):692–708.
- [213] Ishikawa T, Terai S, Urata Y, Marumoto Y, Aoyama K, Sakaida I, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 2 facilitates the differentiation of transplanted bone marrow cells into hepatocytes. Cell Tissue Res 2006;323(2):221–31.
- [214] McGinley L, McMahon J, Strappe P, Barry F, Murphy M, O'Toole D, et al. Lentiviral vector mediated modification of mesenchymal stem cells & enhanced survival in an in vitro model of ischaemia. Stem Cell Res Ther 2011;2(2):12.
- [215] Zhen-Qiang F, Bing-Wei Y, Yong-Liang L, Xiang-Wei W, Shan-Hong Y, Yuan-Ning Z, et al. Localized expression of human BMP-7 by BM-MSCs enhances renal repair in an in vivo model of ischemia-reperfusion injury. Gene Cells 2012;17(1):53–64.
- [216] Chuah MK, Brems H, Vanslembrouck V, Collen D, Vandendriessche T. Bone marrow stromal cells as targets for gene therapy of hemophilia A. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9(3):353–65.
- [217] Doering CB. Retroviral modification of mesenchymal stem cells for gene therapy of hemophilia. Methods Mol Biol 2008;433:203-12.
- [218] Porada CD, Sanada C, Kuo CJ, Colletti E, Mandeville W, Hasenau J, et al. Phenotypic correction of hemophilia A in sheep by postnatal intraperitoneal transplantation of FVIII-expressing MSC. Exp Hematol 2011;39(12):1124–35. e4.
- [219] Mannucci PM, Tuddenham EG. The hemophilias-from royal genes to gene therapy. N Engl J Med 2001;344(23):1773-9.
- [220] Agaliotis D. Hemophilia Overview 2006.
- [221] Kay MA, High K. Gene therapy for the hemophilias. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96(18):9973-5.
- [222] Nathwani AC, Reiss UM, Tuddenham EG, Rosales C, Chowdary P, McIntosh J, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of factor IX gene therapy in hemophilia B. N Engl J Med 2014;371(21):1994–2004.
- [223] Nienhuis AW, Dunbar CE, Sorrentino BP. Genotoxicity of retroviral integration in hematopoietic cells. Mol Ther 2006;13(6):1031-49.
- [224] Aggarwal S, Pittenger MF. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood 2005;105(4):1815–22.

#### REFERENCES

- [225] Le Blanc K, Tammik L, Sundberg B, Haynesworth SE, Ringden O. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit and stimulate mixed lymphocyte cultures and mitogenic responses independently of the major histocompatibility complex. Scand J Immunol 2003;57(1):11–20.
- [226] Lillicrap D, Fijnvandraat K, Santagostino E. Inhibitors genetic and environmental factors. Haemophilia 2014;20(Suppl 4):87-93.
- [227] Porada CD, Sanada C, Long CR, Wood JA, Desai J, Frederick N, et al. Clinical and molecular characterization of a re-established line of sheep exhibiting hemophilia A. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8(2):276–85.
- [228] Almeida-Porada G, Zanjani ED. A large animal noninjury model for study of human stem cell plasticity. Blood Cells Mol Dis 2004;32(1): 77–81.
- [229] Fischer UM, Harting MT, Jimenez F, Monzon-Posadas WO, Xue H, Savitz SI, et al. Pulmonary passage is a major obstacle for intravenous stem cell delivery: the pulmonary first-pass effect. Stem Cells Dev 2009;18(5):683–92.
- [230] Schrepfer S, Deuse T, Reichenspurner H, Fischbein MP, Robbins RC, Pelletier MP. Stem cell transplantation: the lung barrier. Transplant Proc 2007;39(2):573–6.
- [231] Doering CB, Denning G, Dooriss K, Gangadharan B, Johnston JM, Kerstann KW, et al. Directed engineering of a high-expression chimeric transgene as a strategy for gene therapy of hemophilia a. Mol Ther 2009.
- [232] Colletti E, Zanjani ED, Porada CD, Almeida-Porada MG. Tales from the crypt: mesenchymal stem cells for replenishing the intestinal stem cell pool. Blood 2008;112. abstract #390.
- [233] DiGiusto D, Chen S, Combs J, Webb S, Namikawa R, Tsukamoto A, et al. Human fetal bone marrow early progenitors for T, B, and myeloid cells are found exclusively in the population expressing high levels of CD34. Blood 1994;84(2):421–32.
- [234] Puri C, Montes R, Ligero G, Sanchez L, de la Cueva T, Bueno C, et al. Human ESCs predisposition to karyotypic instability: is a matter of culture adaptation or differential vulnerability among hESC lines due to inherent properties? Mol Cancer 2008;7(1):76.
This page intentionally left blank

# 21

## From Adult Pancreatic Islets to Stem Cells: Regenerative Strategies for the Treatment of Diabetes and Its Complications

Marta Pokrywczynska<sup>1</sup>, Giacomo Lanzoni<sup>2</sup>, Camillo Ricordi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Ludwik Rydygier Medical College in Bydgoszcz, Bydgoszcz, Poland; <sup>2</sup>University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic islet  $\beta$  cells synthesize and release the hormone insulin, which is fundamental for the control of glucose metabolism and glycemia.  $\beta$  cells can be lost; they can also be or become impaired as the result of different mechanisms. The lack or insufficiency of their function of insulin release leads to a group of diseases that share characteristic pathological features: an abnormal metabolism of carbohydrates and elevated levels of glucose in the blood and urine. For this reason, this group of diseases is collectively referred to as "diabetes mellitus," or more frequently, "diabetes." In this chapter, we review cell-based strategies that have been developed for the treatment of diabetes mellitus and its complications.

In a group of patients with diabetes,  $\beta$  cells are progressively lost as the result of an autoimmune process, and beta-cell function is largely lost. This form of diabetes mellitus is termed *type 1 diabetes* (T1D) [1]. To date, there is no definitive cure for this disease. In patients with T1D, life-long exogenous insulin therapy is required as a life-saving intervention. In the long term, most patients fail to achieve satisfactory metabolic control. Moreover, T1D patients remain exposed to the risk for developing both short- and long-term complications, some of which can be fatal [2]. A subset of patients with T1D cannot be managed effectively with exogenous insulin therapy and have dangerous swings in glycemia ("brittle" T1D). In these patients, diabetes can be ameliorated or corrected by transplantation of pancreas or pancreatic islets from cadaveric donors.

In another group of patients,  $\beta$  cells develop functional impairments and produce an insufficient amount of insulin in the context of insulin resistance. This form of diabetes, termed type 2 diabetes (T2D), largely results from diet and lifestyle choices; it is by far the most common form of diabetes: more than 90% of cases of diabetes in the United States are T2D.  $\beta$  cells can also be impaired if genetic conditions compromise their development or function, which can determine monogenic forms of diabetes or increase the susceptibility for other forms of diabetes, mainly T2D. In the most severe cases of T2D and of monogenic diabetes, beta-cell transplantation or regeneration strategies may be beneficial.

## FROM ADULT PANCREATIC ISLETS TO STEM CELLS

Transplantation of pancreatic islets may be considered one of the oldest forms of cell transplantation. It is also one of the safest and least invasive transplant procedures. It can restore normoglycemia in patients with T1D [3], it abates to minimal levels the risk for hypoglycemia owing to insulin treatment [4], it leads to a marked improvement in patients' quality of life [5], it relieves symptoms of the disease for up to several years [6], and it slows or prevents

#### 21. STEM CELLS AND REGENERATIVE STRATEGIES FOR DIABETES

disease progression [7]. Pancreas and pancreatic islet transplantations represent proofs of concept that transplantation of pancreatic islet cells can correct T1D in humans. These forms of transplantation present several limitations primarily connected to the low number of cadaveric organs available and the need for immunosuppression. Different forms of cell-based therapies aimed at beta-cell replacement for T1D are under investigation.  $\beta$  cells can be derived from stem or progenitor cells such as embryonic stem cells (ESCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and adult stem/progenitor cells. Other regenerative strategies include reprogramming or the delivery of prodifferentiation signals. The design of differentiation methods is largely based on knowledge obtained from studies of embryonic and fetal islet development. Novel findings are emerging related to the existence of stem and progenitor cell niches in the adult human pancreas and to molecules that can stimulate their maturation into functional insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells. The involvement of these adult progenitor cells in normal tissue turnover and in regenerative phenomena in pancreas remains to be elucidated. This chapter will cover these fields. Moreover, we will discuss studies of the effect of mesenchymal stem cell (MSCs) transplantation in diabetes. MSCs can modulate immunity, preserve beta-cell function, and stimulate repair or regeneration of endogenous  $\beta$  cells. MSC had a good safety profile in initial clinical trials in patients with T1D; they are being tested also as a therapeutic option for complications of both T1D and T2D.

## STRATEGIES FOR THE GENERATION OF $\beta$ CELLS FOR REPLACEMENT THERAPY

The limited availability of donor pancreata and islets has prompted the search for alternative sources of  $\beta$  cells. Significant progress in developing strategies to direct cell differentiation has led to opportunities to generate  $\beta$  cells from different types of stem cells and provide high-yield supplies of  $\beta$  cells for replacement therapy. Diabetes mellitus is an attractive target for cell replacement strategies because a single cell type (insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells) is missing or insufficient; moreover, cells can be implanted using minimally invasive procedures and can also perform endocrine functions ectopically [8]. An unlimited supply of human  $\beta$  cells could extend currently used islet replacement therapy to millions of patients. Stem cell–derived  $\beta$  cells would also provide a unique platform for drug discovery and disease modeling for diabetes mellitus.

There are three major strategies for generating  $\beta$  cells in vitro [1]: directed differentiation [2], reprogramming (also referred to as transdifferentiation), and [3] transdetermination [1]. The directed differentiation strategy, which is the subject of intense studies, is based on the differentiation of stem cells into  $\beta$  cells through numerous intermediate stages, frequently in attempts aimed to recapitulate pancreatic development [2]. In the cell reprogramming strategy, terminally differentiated cells are converted into  $\beta$  cells without pluripotent or multipotent intermediate stages [3]. In the transdetermination strategy, adult multipotent stem cells or progenitors are induced to change the path of differentiation from a normal form closely related to  $\beta$  cells into  $\beta$  cells.

## β CELLS FROM PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS (EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS AND INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS)

Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), including both ESCs and iPSCs, possess the robust potential to self-renew and differentiate into multiple lineages. The abilities of these cells to proliferate (extensively in undifferentiated form and to differentiate into any cell type have led to the idea that large numbers of  $\beta$  cells could be generated in vitro by artificially directing the process. Nevertheless, directing PSC differentiation into glucose-responsive, insulin-secreting, mature  $\beta$  cells has proved to be more difficult than initially expected.

Currently used methods of generating  $\beta$  cells from PSCs in vitro are based on findings from studies of embryonic development. To generate  $\beta$  cells, undifferentiated PSCs are induced to differentiate through series of intermediate stages, including definitive endoderm, primitive gut tube, posterior foregut, pancreatic endoderm, and pancreatic endocrine progenitors. This stepwise differentiation process recapitulating pancreas organogenesis can be directed in vitro by forced expression of defined transcription factors using DNA-based or non–DNA based strategies. The key transcription factors that direct undifferentiated progenitor cells toward fully mature, functional  $\beta$  cells have been identified over years of research in pancreatic development [9–15] (Table 21.1, Fig. 21.1). DNA-based reprogramming strategies use transgenic expression of key transcription factors to induce pancreatic lineage-specific gene expression and guide pancreatic endocrine cell differentiation. Transgenic expression of *pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (Pdx-1), neurogenic differentiation factors 1 (NeuroD1), neurogenin 3 (Ngn3)*, and *musculoaponeurotic* 

β CELLS FROM PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS (EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS AND INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS)

2	2	
າ	ົ	1
-	-	•

TABLE 21.1 Key Transcription Factors Inv	olved in Pancreas and	β-Cell Development
--	-----------------------	--------------------

Pdx1 Pancreas and duodenum homeobox protein 1 (Pdx-1)	is crucial for pancreas formation and $\beta$ -cell differentiation.
---	--

Ngn3 Neurogenin 3 (Ngn3) is important for the development of the endocrine pancreas.

- NeuroD1 Neurogenic differentiation factor 1 (NeuroD1) is required for pancreatic development and endocrine cell differentiation. It regulates expression of the insulin gene.
- Nkx-6.1 Homeobox protein Nkx-6.1 is required for the development of  $\beta$  cells. It controls their expansion.
- Nkx-2.2 Homeobox protein Nkx-2.2 is essential for the differentiation of pancreatic endocrine cells and is necessary for the maturation of β cells.
- Pax-4 Paired box gene 4 (Pax-4) is involved in pancreatic islet development and in the formation of  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  cells.
- Pax-6Paired box gene 6 (Pax-6) is necessary for β-cell differentiation and the normal expression of final differentiation markers such<br/>as insulin and glucose transporter 2.

MafA The transcription factor musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A is important for the maintenance of  $\beta$ -cell function. In the pancreas, it is found predominantly in  $\beta$  cells.



FIGURE 21.1 Pancreas and  $\beta$ -cell development. *ESC*, embryonic stem cell. The main transcription factors involved in fate determination are indicated along the arrows.

*fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A (MafA)* has been used to differentiate ESCs into pancreatic endocrine cells, but potential risks for mutagenesis and oncogenesis associated with such genetic manipulation limit the clinical applicability of this method [16,17]. Therefore, non—DNA based strategies are preferred. The main strategies developed so far use signaling molecules (growth factors and small molecules) to activate or inhibit different signal transduction pathways leading to induction of key transcription factors specific for particular stages of pancreas development.

Early attempts to generate beta-like cells from ESCs were based on the spontaneous differentiation of ESCs [18,19] or on the selection and differentiation of cells positive for nestin, an intermediate filament protein expressed by neural progenitors [20–22]. Although pancreas and the central nervous system have different origins and functions, similar mechanisms control their embryonic development. On the basis of these similarities, it was hypothesized that strategies that induce the generation of neural cells from ESCs could be used to generate endocrine pancreatic cells [20]. In 2001, Lumelsky et al. reported for the first time the possibility of generating beta-like cells from mouse ESCs using a protocol based on the production of a highly enriched population of nestin-positive cells from embryoid bodies [20]. Two other groups repeated and improved these results and confirmed that ESCs could be

a source of new  $\beta$  cells [21,22]. However, insufficient characterization of the origin and phenotype of these cells, and later observation that insulin-positive cells did not produce insulin de novo but uptake it from the culture media, suggested that these progenitor cells could not be the reproducible source of bona fide  $\beta$  cells [23,24]. Lessons from these unsuccessful attempts to generate  $\beta$  cells emphasized the importance of understanding pancreas development, and especially the key signaling pathways that regulate stages of differentiation from PSCs to mature  $\beta$  cells in vivo. Therefore, efforts were made to control the differentiation process in vitro better by a stepwise manner that aims to recapitulate normal embryonic development in vivo.

In 2006, D'Amour et al. (Novocell, now ViaCyte) differentiated human ESCs into pancreatic hormone–expressing cells by directing them through definitive endoderm, gut-tube endoderm, pancreatic endoderm, and endocrine precursors stages [25] (Fig. 21.2). Cells derived with this protocol had strong expression of PDX1 and NK6 homeobox 1



**FIGURE 21.2** Scheme of main protocols for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell differentiation from human embryonic stem cells. *A*; CYC, KAAD-cyclopamine; *AA*, activin; *AXL inh*, inhibitor of the tyrosine kinase receptor; *DAPT*,  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor; *DE*, definitive endoderm; *Ex4*, exendin-4; *FGF-10*, fibroblast growth factor-10; *FGF-7*, fibroblast growth factor-7; *GDF8*, growth differentiation factor-8; *GS inh XX*, gamma secretase inhibitor XX; *GSK3* $\beta$  *inh*, glycogen synthase kinase 3 inhibitor; *HEECs*, hormone-expressing endocrine cells; *hESCs*, human embryonic stem cells; *I* $\beta$ *Cs*, immature  $\beta$  cells; *LDN*; bone morphogenetic protein receptor inhibitor; *ME*, meso endoderm; *M* $\beta$ *Cs*, maturing  $\beta$  cells; *N-Cys*, *N*-acetyl cysteine; *PdbU*, phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate, a protein kinase C activator; *PE&PP*, pancreatic endoderm and endocrine precursor; *PEP*, pancreatic endocrine precursor; *PFP*, posterior foregut; *PGT*, primitive gut tube; *PP*, pancreatic progenitors; *RA*, all-trans retinoic acid; *SC-* $\beta$ , stem cell–derived  $\beta$  cells; *T3*, triiodothyronine; *TPB*, PKC activator.

(NKX6.1), transcription factors known to be highly expressed in pancreatic progenitors and mature  $\beta$  cells but did not secrete insulin in response to glucose [25]. Further studies indicated that these progenitor cells could be differentiated into glucose-responsive, insulin-secreting cells in vivo 3 months after transplantation and prevent streptozocin-induced hyperglycemia in mice [26]. These results confirmed previous observations that human fetal (6- to 9-week) islet-like cell clusters can mature into glucose-responsive, insulin-secreting cells after implantation and correct hyperglycemia in diabetic mice [27,28]. Different modifications of this multistep protocol based on pancreatic developmental paradigms were developed further to differentiate both human ESCs (hESCs) and hiPSC into pancreatic progenitor cells capable of maturing and functioning in vivo [29–36].

Different agents (growth factors and signaling molecules) were used to activate or inhibit signaling pathways to induce the expression of set of transcription factors specific to particular developmental stages of  $\beta$  cells. The first fundamental step in differentiating PSCs into  $\beta$  cells is specifying the definitive endoderm. Wnt and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) signaling pathways have a crucial role in regulating definitive endoderm formation in vivo. Activin A (AA)/Nodal and Wnt3a are among the most commonly used factors to induce definitive endoderm in vitro [25,26,30-32,37]. It was indicated that a combination of growth differentiation factor 8 (a TGF- $\beta$  family member) and glycogen synthase kinase 3 inhibitor (which activates Wnt signaling) is more efficient for inducing definitive endoderm formation than the combination of AA and Wnt3a [29]. The combination of AA with bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) 4 and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 2 [34] or AA with an phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibitor, either LY294002 [38] or wortmannin [39], induces definitive endoderm more efficiently than AA alone. Cells of a definitive endoderm can be identified by analyzing the expression of endodermal markers, including SRY-related HMG-box 17 (SOX17), FOXA2 (also known as HNF3ß), CXCR4, brachyury, or cerberus. The next steps in differentiating PSCs into  $\beta$  cells are induction of the primitive gut tube and the posterior foregut. Activation of FGF and WNT signaling pathways, along with inhibition of sonic hedgehog (SHH), are required during specification of the primitive gut tube in vivo. Inhibition of the BMP signaling pathway used to be included in differentiation protocols, but it was found to stimulate precocious differentiation and thus decrease the potential differentiation yield. Therefore, BMP inhibition was removed in certain attempts [40]. FGF7/KGF, FGF10, and 3-keto, N-aminoethyl aminocaproyl dihydrocinnamoyl (KADD)-cyclopamine are used upon removal of AA to pattern definitive endoderm into primitive gut tube in vitro [25,26,31]. At this stage, cells continue to express FOXA2 and SOX17, markers for definitive endoderm, and start to express HNF4 $\alpha$  and HNF1 $\beta$ , markers of developing gut tube [41]. Activation of retinoic acid (RA) and FGF signaling pathways and inhibition of SHH (and, in certain cases, BMP) signaling pathways promote posterior foregut formation. To induce posterior foregut differentiation in vitro, the primitive gut tube cells are treated with RA, SANT (an SHH inhibitor), or KADDcyclopamine (SHH inhibitor), Noggin or LDN193198 (BMP antagonists), and FGF10 [25,26,29,31,42]. Differentiated posterior foregut cells start to express PDX1, HNF6, HLXB9, PROX1, and SOX9. The next step in differentiating of PSCs into β cells is induction of pancreatic endoderm and endocrine progenitors. During normal in vivo pancreatic organogenesis, all pancreatic lineages including endocrine, exocrine, and ductal cells arise from PDX1-expressing progenitors. Induction of NKX6.1 in these progenitors restricts their differentiation potential to become endocrine and ductal cells, while induction of *neurogenin 3* (NGN3) further restricts their differentiation potential to become endocrine cells [43]. Endocrine linage commitment is induced by the inhibition of BMP, TGF- $\beta$ , and NOTCH signaling pathways. PDX1-expressing posterior foregut endoderm cells are recruited to pancreatic and endocrine lineages using different combinations of the  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor DAPT, compound E, or L-685.458 (NOTCH inhibitors), LDN193198 or Noggin (BMP inhibitors), and ALK5 inhibitor (TGF- $\beta$  type I receptor kinase inhibitor). Other factors may have an important role at this step, because the use of forskolin (adenylyl cyclase activator), indolactam V or TATA-binding protein (protein kinase C activators), CYP26 A inhibitor, and vitamin A (precursor of retinoic acid) enhance differentiation process [29,31]. Endocrine progenitors at this step can be identified by analyzing the expression of PDX1, NKX2.2, NKX6.1, NEUROD1, NGN3, paired box gene (PAX)4, PAX6, and MAFB. The final step of pancreatic differentiation involves the maturation of endocrine progenitors into  $\beta$  cells. The key signaling pathways and factors that regulate  $\beta$ -cell maturation have not yet been fully discovered. This maturative step is frequently obtained in vivo after transplantation of cells at the progenitor stage. Proposed factors used to stimulate β-cell maturation in vitro include insulin growth factor (IGF)1, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), glucagon-like peptide 1 or its agonist exendin 4, ALK5 inhibitor, LDN193189 (a BMP inhibitor), vitamin A, or CYP26 A inhibitor [25,29,44]. Mature  $\beta$  cells maintain the expression of PDX-1, NKX6.1, NEUROD, PAX4, and PAX6 and increase robustly the expression of MAFA, and insulin (INS). Despite numerous modifications of the multistep protocol originally proposed by D'Amour and colleagues using different growth factors, small molecules, and cell lines, none were able to direct pancreatic progenitor cells in vitro toward fully mature, glucose-responsive  $\beta$  cells; instead, they became polyhormonal (insulin<sup>+</sup>/glucagon<sup>+</sup>/somatostatin<sup>+</sup>) [29–36]. These polyhormonal cells displayed many characteristics of early fetal pancreatic cells, which suggests that they may reflect a normal embryonic differentiation process [45,46]. Although it was indicated that in vitro generated ESC-derived polyhormonal cells differentiate into mature insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells after implantation, the signaling pathways regulating this process are unknown. Moreover, increasing evidence indicates that hESC-derived polyhormonal cells generated in vitro preferentially differentiate into functional glucagon-producing  $\alpha$  cells rather than insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells after implantation [47].

Despite these ambiguities, the U.S. Food and Drugs Administration determined that it would be reasonably safe to test the transplantation of encapsulated ESC-derived pancreatic islet progenitors in humans. In 2014, the company ViaCyte started the first Phase 1/2 clinical trial with hESC-derived pancreatic progenitor cells to determine the safety, tolerability, and efficacy in patients with T1D. The purpose of that trial was to test the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of the VC-01 combination product in subjects with T1D with a 2-year (NCT02239354) and 3-year follow-up (NCT02939118) (https://clinicaltrials.gov). The VC-01 combination product consists of PEC-01 cells (pancreatic progenitors obtained from the hESC line) and the Encaptra drug delivery system (immune-protecting encapsulation device). Devices with pancreatic progenitor cells were transplanted subcutaneously in the area of the lower back of patients with T1D. The results of the clinical trial are awaited with great interest. In patients with T1D, the stem cell–derived  $\beta$  cells (SC- $\beta$  cells) could be destroyed by the autoimmune process after implantation. Encapsulation devices could protect SC-β cells against a deleterious immune attack and could enable the function of transplanted  $\beta$  cells even in nonimmunosuppressed patients. Although the implantation of incompletely differentiated cells derived from human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) could create the risk for the formation of teratoma, the implantation of these cells in encapsulation devices provides an opportunity to remove them in case of complications. Numerous preclinical animal studies indicated that PSC-derived pancreatic progenitor cells mature into functionally insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells after implantation [30–33,35]. Ongoing clinical trials will determine whether pancreatic progenitor cells will differentiate efficiently into  $\beta$  cells after transplantation in patients with T1D and whether eventual maturation into undesired cell types will cause toxicity.

Significant progress has been made in extending the differentiation of PSCs to mature  $\beta$  cells. Two independent groups developed differentiation protocols that produce glucose-responsive, insulin-secreting cells in vitro [48,49]. Monohormonal populations of NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/C<sup>-</sup>peptide<sup>+</sup> cells [49] or NKX.6.1<sup>+</sup>/INS<sup>+</sup> cells [48] were generated with about 30% and approximately 50% efficiency, respectively (Fig. 21.2). In contrast, the previous protocols generated NKX.6.1<sup>+</sup>/INS<sup>+</sup> cells with an overall efficiency of less than 1%.

The seven-stage protocol developed by Rezania and colleagues is based on the differentiation of PSCs (hESCs or iPSC lines) toward pancreatic progenitors PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup> (S1–S4), endocrine progenitors PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/ NEUROD1<sup>+</sup> (S5), immature  $\beta$  cells PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/NEUROD1<sup>+</sup>/INS<sup>+</sup> (S6), and finally, maturing  $\beta$  cells PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/NEUROD1<sup>+</sup>/INS<sup>+</sup>/MAFA<sup>+</sup> (S7). The first difference between the new and previously published protocols was the generation of pancreatic progenitors maintaining a high coexpression of PDX1/NKX6.1 and a low expression of NGN3. Previously it was found that the suppression of NGN3 during early stages of differentiation prevented the formation of polyhormonal cells [50]. Therefore, the expression of NGN3 was inhibited at early stages of differentiation (S2–S3) by adding vitamin C. The addition of ALK5 inhibitor (a TGF-β receptor inhibitor), LDN193189, SANT, thyroid hormone (T3), and RA at stage 5 (S5) to the air-liquid interface cultures of PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup> cells led to their differentiation into endocrine precursors maintaining robust coexpression of PDX1/NKX6.1 and NGN3, NKX2.2, or NEUROD1 markers. Up to 50% of cells generated with this protocol coexpressed NKX6.1/NEUROD1. Previously published protocols did not generate cells expressing endocrine precursor markers NEUROD1 or NKX2.2 at later stages in vitro. Further exposure of NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/NEUROD1<sup>+</sup> cells at S6 to gamma secretase inhibitor XX (GSiXX) (a NOTCH inhibitor) induced the expression of genes involved in  $\beta$ -cell maturation and inhibited expression of *PTF1A*, a marker of the pancreatic exocrine lineage (during the late stages of maturation). Combining GSIXX with T3 resulted in the generation of cell populations containing about 50% of NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/insulin<sup>+</sup>/glucagon<sup>-</sup> cells. However, these cells did not secrete insulin in response to glucose in vitro. Applying an inhibitor of the tyrosine kinase receptor AXL at S7 induced expression of MAFA, a marker of mature  $\beta$  cells, at a level similar to that of human islets. Approximately 50% of cells obtained at S7 were insulin positive. This protocol enables the generation of PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup>/NEUROD1<sup>+</sup>/INS<sup>+</sup>/MAFA<sup>+</sup> cells with an insulin content, glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, and a structure similar to that of human islet cells. However, the insulin and calcium response to glucose were delayed compared with human islet  $\beta$  cells. Despite these differences from human islet  $\beta$  cells, the S7 cells were capable of rapidly reverse diabetes in vivo [48].

Pagliuca et al. applied a scalable suspension-based culture system able to generate hundreds of millions of glucose-responsive human  $\beta$  cells. This six-staged protocol is based on the differentiation of PSCs (hESC and hiPSC lines) into pancreatic progenitors (S1–S4), endocrine progenitors (S5), and SC- $\beta$  cells (S6). To generate highs numbers of pancreatic progenitors PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup> (>55% of cells), the group extended the time in culture with

KGF (FGF-7), SANT1, and RA. Further exposure of PDX1<sup>+</sup>/NKX6.1<sup>+</sup> cells to ALK5 inhibitor, GS inhibitor XX1, T3, SANT1, and betacellulin (an epidermal growth factor [EGF] receptor ligand) at S5 followed by T3 and ALK5 inhibitor at S6 led to the generation of an average of 33% NKX6-1<sup>+</sup>/C-peptide<sup>+</sup> SC-β cells. These SC-β cells fluxed Ca<sup>2+</sup> and secreted insulin in response to glucose and displayed a gene expression pattern and ultrastructure similar to primary human β cell. Furthermore, SC-β cells were able to reverse hyperglycemia in diabetic mice [49].

Significant progress in the generation of  $\beta$  cells in vitro was made by Rezania and colleagues and Pagliuca and colleagues, but in vitro–generated  $\beta$  cells were not fully equivalent to mature  $\beta$  cells and the long-term function of these cells after implantation remains unknown. Therefore, further lessons have to be learned from pancreas development during prenatal and postnatal life generate fully functional  $\beta$  cells.

Stepwise pancreatic differentiation protocols were applied successfully to hiPSCs from nondiabetic individuals [39,48,49,51,52], patients with T1D [53,54] and patients with genetic forms of diabetes (maturity-onset diabetes of the young type 2) [55]. These studies indicate that a genetic predisposition for diabetes is not an obstacle in generating  $\beta$  cells in vitro. iPSCs derived  $\beta$  cells from patients with diabetes provide a platform for analyzing specific genotypes on  $\beta$ -cell function and enable gene correction strategies [55]. The differentiation efficiency of iPSCs for  $\beta$  cells differs significantly between patients [53,54], but this variability is also observed between different hESC lines [31,37,39,51]. Differentiation protocols with better consistency in yields may be developed in the future.

## β CELLS FROM ADULT STEM/PROGENITOR CELLS OF THE BILIARY TREE AND PANCREAS

Studies in animal models indicate that the repair of mild and moderate injuries in the pancreas is supported mainly by the replication of mature parenchymal cells. Nevertheless, pervasive and chronic injuries could stimulate a contribution from more undifferentiated stem or progenitor cells. If such cells exist, they could be harnessed to treat patients with diabetes. The existence, phenotype, and anatomical location of stem and progenitor cells in the adult human pancreas are at the center of an active discussion.

Precursor cells for the pancreas, liver, and biliary tree exist at early stages of human development, in the endoderm forming the *foregut* [56,57]. From the foregut, a structure emerges, termed the *hepatic diverticulum* [58]. The cranial portion of this structure forms the rudiments of liver and common hepatic duct, developing into cells that will mature into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes. The caudal portion of the hepatic diverticulum, connected to the foregut, gives rise to the *extrahepatic biliary tree* and to the *ventral pancreatic bud*; this last bud will become the ventral portion of the pancreas. The caudal portion of the diverticulum harbors biliopancreatic stem and progenitors cells coexpressing SOX17 and PDX1. Subsequent segregation of pancreatic and biliary precursors depends on these two transcription factors [59]. In an opposite region of the foregut, the *dorsal pancreatic bud* emerges. Dorsal and ventral pancreatic primordia derive from PDX1-positive pancreatic stem and progenitor cells [60]. These progenitors branch into primitive epithelial tubules [60]. Exocrine acini derive from "tip progenitors" located at the ends of primitive tubules. Development of endocrine cells begins in the central duct area, where "trunk progenitors" transiently express NGN3 and commit to an islet fate [60]. On the basis of the progenitor segregation, multiple stem cell niches seem to persist postnatally in specific niches. Stem and progenitor cells have been observed within the extrahepatic biliary tree and in association with intrapancreatic ductal structures (Fig. 21.3A). The most primitive of the stem and progenitor cells, termed biliary tree stem cells (BTSCs) [61], are found in peribiliary glands (PBGs) within extrahepatic bile ducts, and primarily at branching points and in the region of the hepatopancreatic duct [62]. PBGs are crypt-like invaginations of the extrahepatic bile duct epithelium [56,61,63,64]. These niches harbor cells with markers of multipotency for pancreatic and liver maturation (SOX17, PDX1, and SOX9), and with surface markers related to endodermal stem and progenitor cells (epithelial cell adhesion molecule [EpCAM] and leucine-rich repeatcontaining G-protein coupled receptor 5) (Fig. 21.3B). BTSC cells can be observed in (and may be isolated from) the fetal and adult biliary tree. They are capable of self-replication and multipotent differentiation toward pancreatic cells (including functional islet endocrine cells) and mature liver cells (hepatocytes and cholangiocytes) both in vitro and in vivo [56,62,64,65]. In the pancreas proper, more mature cells are observed: pancreatic ducts and pancreatic duct glands (PDGs) harbor committed pancreatic progenitors [66] (Fig. 21.3C). These cells could contribute to pancreatic organogenesis throughout life.

Niches containing cells related to BTSCs extend into liver and near the pancreas [64,65]. The largest pancreatic ducts display PDGs. Detailed anatomical studies in humans have revealed a proximal-to-distal axis for the BTSC niche organization going from proximal (the hepatopancreatic ampulla), the location of the most primitive stem cells, to distal (the liver or the pancreas), the location of mature cells [62,64,65]. This axis recapitulates the



**FIGURE 21.3** (A) Schematic representation of the pancreas, liver, duodenum, along with the biliary tree and network of pancreatic ducts. Peribiliary glands (PBGs) are marked in *green* and pancreatic duct glands are marked in *yellow-gold*. (B) PBGs exist along the hepatopancreatic duct harbor biliary tree stem cells (BTSCs), as well as more mature derivatives. PBGs display (A) cells with a range of pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1–positive (PDX1<sup>+</sup>) and SRY-related HMG-box 17–positive (SOX17<sup>+</sup>) expression, (B) subsets of cells that are mucin 6, oligomeric mucus/gel-forming positive (MUC6<sup>+</sup>) and MUC6<sup>-</sup>, but negative for the islet progenitor marker NGN3, (C) scattered Insulin + cells embedded in the epithelial cell adhesion molecule-positive epithelium, and (D) several Ki-67-positive proliferating cells. (C) Pancreatic duct gland (PDGs), distributed along the largest pancreatic ducts, harbor pancreatic progenitors, including subsets of putative progenitors committed to islet endocrine phenotypes. PDG display (E) a large number of PDX1<sup>+</sup> cells, with low or no expression of SOX17, (F) subsets of NGN3<sup>+</sup> MUC6<sup>+</sup> cells, putative islet endocrine progenitors, (G) clusters of insulin-positive cells, (H) a limited number of Ki-67-positive proliferating cells.

organogenesis of these endodermal organs; it is based on their common embryological origin [56] and is in accordance with the presence of a stem cell compartment shared and in common for the pancreas and the liver [67].

Human BTSCs are endowed with the potential to mature into functional insulin-producing cells that ameliorate diabetes in rodents. For this reason, they are a candidate source of cells for regenerative strategies in T1D [65,68]. Beside cell therapy, the modulation of BTSC differentiation toward  $\beta$  cells via growth factors or other signals represents a possible therapeutic target [69].

Postnatally, islet cell proliferation is sustained after birth, but turnover becomes slow in adulthood. However, compensatory growth can occur in response to increased demand in both the endocrine and exocrine compartments [70,71]. The question remains related to the nature of the cells responsible for such regenerative phenomena. Few reports claimed that multipotent stem cells exist within the pancreas [72,73], but such cells are rare in the postnatal pancreas [74]. Cells with pancreatic stem cell traits seem to persist postnatally in the human biliary tree, especially in the region of the hepatopancreatic duct and of the ampulla of Vater, whereas more committed progenitors appear to reside in the pancreas proper [62]. Before the observations on the biliary tree niche of multipotent stem cells for the pancreas, investigators focused on whether mature pancreatic cells could be the source of regenerative phenomena. Pancreatic cells were hypothesized to be endowed with a flexible differentiation potential to respond to injuries. A number of studies suggested that in adults, new pancreatic cells arise mainly from preexisting cells of the same lineage. Lineage tracing studies in rodents showed that acinar cells can develop into to acinar cells but not islets [75]. Similarly, newly formed islet  $\beta$  cells were found to derive mainly from the replication of preexisting islet  $\beta$ -cells [76,77]. These findings do not preclude a contribution from multiple populations of stem or progenitor cells for the de novo formation of exocrine and endocrine cells, a contribution frequently observed after extensive and chronic damage [62,72,73,78,79]. β-cell impairment or loss, peripheral insulin resistance, and hyperglycemia may stimulate regeneration from endogenous progenitors [80].

The epithelium of most pancreatic ducts is composed of Sox9+ and carbonic anhydrase II<sup>+</sup> cells [67]. Adult ductal cells were reported to be able to differentiate into pancreatic acinar and endocrine cells [78,81]. However, the contribution of this population to islet endocrine cell turnover is still a matter of debate [67,78,81]. Intriguingly, in response to pathological conditions that include pancreatitis and autoimmune diabetes, structures with heterogeneous ductal phenotypes expand in the pancreas, with a histological presentation that resembles liver ductular reactions [82,83]. PDGs of the adult human pancreas were found to harbor pancreatic endocrine progenitors [62]. PDGs occur in association with the main pancreatic duct and its immediate ramifications, and are abundant in proximity to the hepatopancreatic ampulla [62,84]. The anatomical distribution of PDGs along the pancreatic ducts of larger caliber has similarities to the distribution of PBGs along the biliary tree. PDGs harbor NGN3-positive cells, putative progenitors of islet cells [62]. PDGs undergo hyperplasia in murine models of chronic pancreatitis, displaying traits of mucinous intestinal metaplasia, and pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia [84]. Hence, cells in adult human PDGs and along the larger pancreatic ducts have a phenotype consistent with that of pancreatic progenitors. Considered altogether, these observations suggest that the adult pancreas contains niches of progenitors that could mediate regenerative responses.

Studies have identified growth factors that can stimulate the maturation of insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells from adult pancreatic nonendocrine cells, including putative progenitor cells. A study was conducted in mice after the induction of diabetes with the chemicals alloxan or streptozotocin. EGF and ciliary neurotrophic factor were administered intraperitoneally. This resulted in diabetes reversal in 64% of the animals rendered diabetic with alloxan, and in 33% of animals rendered diabetic with streptozotocin [85]. A different study was conducted on cultured human nonendocrine cells, obtained as a by-product of islet isolation. This study analyzed the effect of BMP-7. BMP-7 is a growth factor in clinical use, with the dual ability to inhibit TGF- $\beta$  and activate BMP signaling. Exposure of human nonendocrine pancreatic cells to BMP-7 led to the generation of glucose-responsive, insulin-releasing cell clusters that expressed insulin within the published range for research islets [86,87]. Preliminary lineage-tracing results suggested that cells that responded to BMP-7 were not adult acinar or ductal, but rather were pancreatic progenitor cells. Further anatomical and molecular characterization of these cells may shed additional light on their potential to regenerate the endocrine pancreas. Linking this field of research to that of ESC differentiation was the finding by Russ et al. [40] that BMP inhibition (commonly used in earlier methods to differentiate ESCs into  $\beta$  cells to promote efficient pancreatic progenitor cell generation) results in dysfunctional or polyhormonal  $\beta$ -like cells. Removal of these inhibitors corrected this problem, which further suggests that BMP signaling is important for the functional differentiation of  $\beta$  cells.

## MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS TO MODULATE IMMUNITY AND PROMOTE TISSUE REPAIR IN DIABETES

MSCs have created great interest. They possess important characteristics that could be exploited in cell-based strategies for T1D and for certain complications of T2D. MSCs are potent immunomodulators. They exert suppressive functions on immune effector cells and orchestrate the action of other regulatory cells. Moreover, they promote the repair and regeneration of endogenous tissues in recipients (Fig. 21.4). Furthermore, they have shown a good safety profile in clinical trials, including a limited risk of tumor formation. MSC transplantation has been tested extensively and has been shown to be beneficial in animal models of autoimmunity [2,88,89].

MSCs are endowed with the ability to modulate immune responses. Several mechanisms of action have been described. MSCs interact with immune cells such as dendritic cells (DC), natural killer cells,  $\beta$  cells, and T cells [90]. MSCs can inhibit DC differentiation and maturation, suppress the proliferation of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and impair the cytotoxic activity of cytotoxic lymphocytes [2]. MSCs can also induce and expand T-regulatory (T-reg) cells and can balance T-helper (Th) subsets [91]. Studies conducted in the Non Obese Diabetic mouse model (a model of autoimmune T1D) showed that MSCs can induce FoxP3+ T-reg cells that secrete the antiinflammatory cytokine interleukin (IL)-10 [92]. Moreover, MSCs could expand antigen-specific T-reg cells in vivo and stimulate long-lasting tolerance [93]. MSCs are also able to shift the cytokine profile from proinflammatory to antiinflammatory in the murine pancreatic microenvironment, polarizing the response from Th1 to Th2 in T1D animal models [2]. The ability of MSCs to modulate immunity should not be considered solely immunosuppressive; it depends closely on the microenvironment: MSCs acquire proinflammatory activity when homed into a low-inflamed microenvironment [91,93].

Dr. Arnold Caplan, who coined the nomenclature "mesenchymal stem cells" and the MSC acronym in the late 1980s, later preferred to call these cells "medicinal signaling cells." This is because MSCs have a prominent secretive activity. Great effort has been made to understand the effects of releasing these bioactive molecules. Interestingly, MSCs can home into inflamed tissues as a result of the interaction of receptors with ligands, which indicates inflamed environments, such as CXCR4 with its ligands chemokine (C-C motif) ligand-12, and stromal cell–derived factor-1, and very late antigen-4 with vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 [93]. MSCs secrete a number of bioactive molecules at their homing site, including IL-6, IL-8, TGF- $\beta$ , nitric oxide, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2, vascular endothelial growth factor, HGF, granulocyte macrophage–colony-stimulating factor, basic fibroblast growth factor, and insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP)3, 4, and 7 [93,94]. These molecules can promote tissue repair and act as chemoattractants, recruiting macrophages and endothelial cells at the site of injury or inflammation. In addition, MSCs can signal through cell contact and via microvesicles, mechanisms that participate in immunoregulation [95]. Studies in rodent models of T1D seem to validate the hypothesis that MSCs boost endogenous tissue regeneration, because mice transplanted with human MSCs displayed higher serum insulin than do the control group, but in absence of human insulin [88]. Several clinical trials have tested MSC transplantation in patients with T1D and T2D [2] [65].



As mentioned, T1D is a chronic autoimmune disease in which  $\beta$  cells are progressively lost, leading to severe complications such as hyperglycemia and ketoacidosis. Major hurdles for effective treatment of T1D are to halt immune destruction of  $\beta$  cells, preserve  $\beta$ -cell function and mass, and regenerate or replace  $\beta$  cells [1]. Because of their properties, MSCs could achieve these goals. Clinical trials have been performed to test the effect of MSC transplantation at different stages of T1D (Table 21.1). An open-label pilot trial [96] conducted in Sweden enrolled patients with T1D with recent onset of diabetes. Twenty patients were randomized to the group receiving transplantation of autologous bone marrow-derived MSCs or to the control group that received only insulin therapy. The treatment was found to be safe. Remarkably, most patients treated with MSC transplantation showed preservation of stimulated C-peptide secretion (a measurement of the function of insulin release from residual  $\beta$  cells) at 1 year after MSC infusion. The control patients showed a decline in C-peptide levels during the 1-year follow-up. Patients in both the treated and control groups continued to require insulin therapy and there were no statistically significant differences in insulin requirements and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels between the two groups. Another trial was conducted in China [97] and enrolled 42 patients with T1D who had diabetes for an average of 8.12 years. Compared with newly diagnosed patients, these patients had a severely lower level of residual β-cell function. The patients were randomized to a group receiving cell transplantation or one receiving standard diabetes care. The treated patients received cotransplantation of allogeneic umbilical cord-derived MSCs (UC-MSCs) and autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells (BM-MNCs). Given the design of the trial, the questions remain unanswered, because the individual actions of UC-MSCs and BM-MNCs could not be determined. This phase I/II trial aimed to test the safety and efficacy of this form of cell transplantation. Efficacy was assessed by measuring stimulated C-peptide, HbA1c levels, and insulin requirements. The therapy was found to be safe and resulted in a moderate improvement in  $\beta$ -cell function and metabolic parameters. After 1 year, stimulated C-peptide release during an oral glucose tolerance test was increased by 105.7% in recipients of cell transplant; in contrast, it declined in control patients. Moreover, HbA1c decreased by 12.6% in the treated group whereas it increased by 1.2% in the control group. Fasting blood glucose levels decreased significantly in transplant recipients, whereas it remained substantially unchanged in the control group. A change in the pattern of cytokine expression suggested that this form of cell therapy exerts immunomodulatory effects. Such improvements were achieved in patients with established T1D with fasting C-peptide less than 0.1 pmol/mL at entry. The reported improvement suggests some effect of the therapy on the mass of  $\beta$  cells, perhaps through the expansion of the residual  $\beta$  cells or differentiation of the transplanted cells into new  $\beta$  cells (although there is limited and controversial evidence for the differentiation of MSCs into pancreatic islet cells in vivo). The safety of MSC transplantation was corroborated in these clinical trials in patients with T1D [96,97]. The positive outcomes encourage larger, long-term studies of MSC transplantation in newly diagnosed and long-standing patients with T1D.

Ongoing clinical trials are also testing the safety and efficacy of MSC transplantation in patients with T2D [65,98]. MSCs could treat common complications of diabetes such as ulcers, limb ischemia, and nephropathy, and improve metabolic control in T2D [98–101]. Treatment with MSCs was reported to be safe and effective in facilitating wound healing in diabetic patients with foot ulcers [102], and the cells can exert an immunomodulatory effect by inducing T-reg cells in patients with T2D [103]. Allogeneic placenta-derived MSCs were transplanted in 10 patients with T2D and the infusion was reported to be safe. The patients experienced a reduction in the daily requirement for insulin; they had better control of blood glucose fluctuations and experienced improvements in quality of life [104]. Allogeneic adipose tissue-derived cells (not thoroughly characterized as MSCs) were also used in combination with bone marrow-derived cells in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus [105,106]. In that study, pancreatic endocrine differentiation was stimulated in vitro and induced adipose tissue-derived cells were co-infused in patients with culture-expanded bone marrow cells. No adverse side effects related to the infusion were observed, and transplantation was reported to result in reduced insulin requirements in the treated patients. Unfortunately, that particular study had caveats: the nature of the transplanted cells was not fully defined, the cell dose was not reported, and the mechanisms remained obscure, which raises some concerns regarding interpretation of the outcomes. Future studies are expected to provide a rigorous assessment of the efficacy of MSC transplantation in T1D, T2D, and related complications. Moreover, future efforts aim to elucidate the biological mechanisms of the effects of MSC transplantation in diabetic patients.

### CONCLUSION

Thirty years of studies in islet transplantation paved the way to the transplantation of exogenously generated  $\beta$  cells as effective treatment for diabetes, chiefly in T1D. Some avenues of research are translating into clinical trials. The derivation of pancreatic progenitors from hESC proved successful in preclinical studies, and the safety of

encapsulated ESC derivatives is being tested in human recipients. Approaches are also emerging to stimulating the maturation of adult human pancreatic progenitors into functional endocrine cell types. Strategies that use cytokines or growth factors may soon reach the clinical testing phase. Regenerative approaches may not work efficiently in patients with T1D unless steps are taken to counteract autoimmunity. MSCs can act as potent immunomodulators and release trophic mediators. They are showing promising results in initial clinical studies in patients with T1D. MSCs can also stimulate the regeneration of endogenous cells in recipients, and findings in clinical trials with patients with T1D and patients with complications of T2D provide hints in that direction. There is no doubt that regenerative advanced therapies for diabetes are taking on momentum.

## References

- [1] Skyler JS, Ricordi C. Stopping type 1 diabetes: attempts to prevent or cure type 1 diabetes in man. Diabetes 2011;60(1):1-8.
- [2] Cantarelli E, Pellegrini A, Citro A, Sordi V, Piemonti L. Bone marrow- and cord blood-derived stem cell transplantation for diabetes. CELLR4 2015;3(1).
- [3] Dominguez-Bendala J, Inverardi L, Ricordi C. Stem cell-derived islet cells for transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2011;16(1):76-82.
- [4] Shapiro AM, Pokrywczynska M, Ricordi C. Clinical pancreatic islet transplantation. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2017 May;13(5):268-77.
- [5] Poggioli R, Faradji RN, Ponte G, Betancourt A, Messinger S, Baidal DA, et al. Quality of life after islet transplantation. Am J Transplant 2006; 6(2):371–8.
- [6] Ricordi C, Strom TB. Clinical islet transplantation: advances and immunological challenges. Nat Rev Immunol 2004;4(4):259-68.
- [7] Thompson DM, Meloche M, Ao Z, Paty B, Keown P, Shapiro RJ, et al. Reduced progression of diabetic microvascular complications with islet cell transplantation compared with intensive medical therapy. Transplantation 2011;91(3):373–8.
- [8] Pagliuca FW, Melton DA. How to make a functional beta-cell. Development 2013;140(12):2472-83.
- [9] Gamer LW, Wright CV. Autonomous endodermal determination in Xenopus: regulation of expression of the pancreatic gene XlHbox 8. Dev Biol 1995;171(1):240-51.
- [10] Henry GL, Melton DA. Mixer, a homeobox gene required for endoderm development. Science 1998;281(5373):91-6.
- [11] Ninomiya H, Takahashi S, Tanegashima K, Yokota C, Asashima M. Endoderm differentiation and inductive effect of activin-treated ectoderm in Xenopus. Dev Growth Differ 1999;41(4):391-400.
- [12] Apelqvist A, Li H, Sommer L, Beatus P, Anderson DJ, Honjo T, et al. Notch signalling controls pancreatic cell differentiation. Nature 1999; 400(6747):877–81.
- [13] Kim SK, Hebrok M, Li E, Oh SP, Schrewe H, Harmon EB, et al. Activin receptor patterning of foregut organogenesis. Genes Dev 2000;14(15): 1866–71.
- [14] Hebrok M, Kim SK, St Jacques B, McMahon AP, Melton DA. Regulation of pancreas development by hedgehog signaling. Development 2000;127(22):4905–13.
- [15] Murtaugh LC, Stanger BZ, Kwan KM, Melton DA. Notch signaling controls multiple steps of pancreatic differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(25):14920–5.
- [16] Lavon N, Yanuka O, Benvenisty N. The effect of overexpression of Pdx1 and Foxa2 on the differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into pancreatic cells. Stem Cell 2006;24(8):1923–30.
- [17] Xu H, Tsang KS, Chan JC, Yuan P, Fan R, Kaneto H, et al. The combined expression of Pdx1 and MafA with either Ngn3 or NeuroD improves the differentiation efficiency of mouse embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing cells. Cell transpl 2013;22(1):147–58.
- [18] Assady S, Maor G, Amit M, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Skorecki KL, Tzukerman M. Insulin production by human embryonic stem cells. Diabetes 2001; 50(8):1691–7.
- [19] Shiroi A, Yoshikawa M, Yokota H, Fukui H, Ishizaka S, Tatsumi K, et al. Identification of insulin-producing cells derived from embryonic stem cells by zinc-chelating dithizone. Stem Cell 2002;20(4):284–92.
- [20] Lumelsky N, Blondel O, Laeng P, Velasco I, Ravin R, McKay R. Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to insulin-secreting structures similar to pancreatic islets. Science 2001;292(5520):1389–94.
- [21] Blyszczuk P, Czyz J, Kania G, Wagner M, Roll U, St-Onge L, et al. Expression of Pax4 in embryonic stem cells promotes differentiation of nestin-positive progenitor and insulin-producing cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(3):998–1003.
- [22] Hori Y, Rulifson IC, Tsai BC, Heit JJ, Cahoy JD, Kim SK. Growth inhibitors promote differentiation of insulin-producing tissue from embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99(25):16105–10.
- [23] Rajagopal J, Anderson WJ, Kume S, Martinez OI, Melton DA. Insulin staining of ES cell progeny from insulin uptake. Science 2003; 299(5605):363.
- [24] Hansson M, Tonning A, Frandsen U, Petri A, Rajagopal J, Englund MC, et al. Artifactual insulin release from differentiated embryonic stem cells. Diabetes 2004;53(10):2603–9.
- [25] D'Amour KA, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, et al. Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2006;24(11):1392–401.
- [26] Kroon E, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Bang AG, Kelly OG, Eliazer S, et al. Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26(4):443–52.
- [27] Castaing M, Peault B, Basmaciogullari A, Casal I, Czernichow P, Scharfmann R. Blood glucose normalization upon transplantation of human embryonic pancreas into beta-cell-deficient SCID mice. Diabetologia 2001;44(11):2066–76.
- [28] Hayek A, Beattie GM. Processing, storage and experimental transplantation of human fetal pancreatic cells. Ann Transplant 1997;2(3):46–54.
- [29] Bruin JE, Erener S, Vela J, Hu X, Johnson JD, Kurata HT, et al. Characterization of polyhormonal insulin-producing cells derived in vitro from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res 2014;12(1):194–208.

#### REFERENCES

- [30] Bruin JE, Rezania A, Xu J, Narayan K, Fox JK, O'Neil JJ, et al. Maturation and function of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors in macroencapsulation devices following transplant into mice. Diabetologia 2013;56(9):1987–98.
- [31] Rezania A, Bruin JE, Riedel MJ, Mojibian M, Asadi A, Xu J, et al. Maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors into functional islets capable of treating pre-existing diabetes in mice. Diabetes 2012;61(8):2016–29.
- [32] Rezania A, Bruin JE, Xu J, Narayan K, Fox JK, O'Neil JJ, et al. Enrichment of human embryonic stem cell-derived NKX6.1-expressing pancreatic progenitor cells accelerates the maturation of insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Stem Cell 2013;31(11):2432–42.
- [33] Chen S, Borowiak M, Fox JL, Maehr R, Osafune K, Davidow L, et al. A small molecule that directs differentiation of human ESCs into the pancreatic lineage. Nat Chem Biol 2009;5(4):258–65.
- [34] Xu X, Browning VL, Odorico JS. Activin, BMP and FGF pathways cooperate to promote endoderm and pancreatic lineage cell differentiation from human embryonic stem cells. Mech Dev 2011;128(7–10):412–27.
- [35] Shim JH, Kim SE, Woo DH, Kim SK, Oh CH, McKay R, et al. Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells towards a pancreatic cell fate. Diabetologia 2007;50(6):1228–38.
- [36] Cho CH, Hannan NR, Docherty FM, Docherty HM, Joao Lima M, Trotter MW, et al. Inhibition of activin/nodal signalling is necessary for pancreatic differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. Diabetologia 2012;55(12):3284–95.
- [37] D'Amour KA, Agulnick AD, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Kroon E, Baetge EE. Efficient differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to definitive endoderm. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(12):1534–41.
- [38] McLean AB, D'Amour KA, Jones KL, Krishnamoorthy M, Kulik MJ, Reynolds DM, et al. Activin a efficiently specifies definitive endoderm from human embryonic stem cells only when phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling is suppressed. Stem Cell 2007;25(1):29–38.
- [39] Zhang D, Jiang W, Liu M, Sui X, Yin X, Chen S, et al. Highly efficient differentiation of human ES cells and iPS cells into mature pancreatic insulin-producing cells. Cell Res 2009;19(4):429–38.
- [40] Russ HA, Parent AV, Ringler JJ, Hennings TG, Nair GG, Shveygert M, et al. Controlled induction of human pancreatic progenitors produces functional beta-like cells in vitro. EMBO J 2015;34(13):1759–72.
- [41] Nammo T, Yamagata K, Tanaka T, Kodama T, Sladek FM, Fukui K, et al. Expression of HNF-4alpha (MODY1), HNF-1beta (MODY5), and HNF-1alpha (MODY3) proteins in the developing mouse pancreas. Gene Expr Patterns 2008;8(2):96–106.
- [42] Schulz TC, Young HY, Agulnick AD, Babin MJ, Baetge EE, Bang AG, et al. A scalable system for production of functional pancreatic progenitors from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 2012;7(5):e37004.
- [43] Wilson ME, Scheel D, German MS. Gene expression cascades in pancreatic development. Mech Dev 2003;120(1):65-80.
- [44] Jiang W, Shi Y, Zhao D, Chen S, Yong J, Zhang J, et al. In vitro derivation of functional insulin-producing cells from human embryonic stem cells. Cell Res 2007;17(4):333–44.
- [45] De Krijger RR, Aanstoot HJ, Kranenburg G, Reinhard M, Visser WJ, Bruining GJ. The midgestational human fetal pancreas contains cells coexpressing islet hormones. Dev Biol 1992;153(2):368–75.
- [46] Riedel MJ, Asadi A, Wang R, Ao Z, Warnock GL, Kieffer TJ. Immunohistochemical characterisation of cells co-producing insulin and glucagon in the developing human pancreas. Diabetologia 2012;55(2):372–81.
- [47] Rezania A, Riedel MJ, Wideman RD, Karanu F, Ao Z, Warnock GL, et al. Production of functional glucagon-secreting alpha-cells from human embryonic stem cells. Diabetes 2011;60(1):239–47.
- [48] Rezania A, Bruin JE, Arora P, Rubin A, Batushansky I, Asadi A, et al. Reversal of diabetes with insulin-producing cells derived in vitro from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32(11):1121–33.
- [49] Pagliuca FW, Millman JR, Gurtler M, Segel M, Van Dervort A, Ryu JH, et al. Generation of functional human pancreatic beta cells in vitro. Cell 2014;159(2):428–39.
- [50] Johansson KA, Dursun U, Jordan N, Gu G, Beermann F, Gradwohl G, et al. Temporal control of neurogenin3 activity in pancreas progenitors reveals competence windows for the generation of different endocrine cell types. Dev Cell 2007;12(3):457–65.
- [51] Nostro MC, Sarangi F, Ogawa S, Holtzinger A, Corneo B, Li X, et al. Stage-specific signaling through TGFbeta family members and WNT regulates patterning and pancreatic specification of human pluripotent stem cells. Development 2011;138(5):861–71.
- [52] Nostro MC, Sarangi F, Yang C, Holland A, Elefanty AG, Stanley EG, et al. Efficient generation of NKX6-1+ pancreatic progenitors from multiple human pluripotent stem cell lines. Stem Cell Rep 2015;4(4):591–604.
- [53] Thatava T, Kudva YC, Edukulla R, Squillace K, De Lamo JG, Khan YK, et al. Intrapatient variations in type 1 diabetes-specific iPS cell differentiation into insulin-producing cells. Mol Ther 2013;21(1):228–39.
- [54] Millman JR, Xie C, Van Dervort A, Gurtler M, Pagliuca FW, Melton DA. Generation of stem cell-derived beta-cells from patients with type 1 diabetes. Nat Commun 2016;7:11463.
- [55] Hua H, Shang L, Martinez H, Freeby M, Gallagher MP, Ludwig T, et al. iPSC-derived beta cells model diabetes due to glucokinase deficiency. J Clin Invest 2013;123(7):3146–53.
- [56] Cardinale V, Wang Y, Carpino G, Mendel G, Alpini G, Gaudio E, et al. The biliary tree—a reservoir of multipotent stem cells. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;9(4):231–40.
- [57] Zaret KS, Grompe M. Generation and regeneration of cells of the liver and pancreas. Science 2008;322(5907):1490-4.
- [58] Roskams T, Desmet V. Embryology of extra- and intrahepatic bile ducts, the ductal plate. Anat Rec 2008;291(6):628-35.
- [59] Spence JR, Lange AW, Lin SC, Kaestner KH, Lowy AM, Kim I, et al. Sox17 regulates organ lineage segregation of ventral foregut progenitor cells. Dev Cell 2009;17(1):62–74.
- [60] Reichert M, Rustgi AK. Pancreatic ductal cells in development, regeneration, and neoplasia. J Clin Invest 2011;121(12):4572-8.
- [61] Cardinale V, Wang Y, Carpino G, Cui CB, Gatto M, Rossi M, et al. Multipotent stem/progenitor cells in human biliary tree give rise to hepatocytes, cholangiocytes, and pancreatic islets. Hepatology 2011;54(6):2159–72.
- [62] Wang Y, Lanzoni G, Carpino G, Cui CB, Dominguez-Bendala J, Wauthier E, et al. Biliary tree stem cells, precursors to pancreatic committed progenitors: evidence for possible life-long pancreatic organogenesis. Stem Cell 2013;31(9):1966–79.
- [63] Semeraro R, Carpino G, Cardinale V, Onori P, Gentile R, Cantafora A, et al. Multipotent stem/progenitor cells in the human foetal biliary tree. J Hepatol 2012;57(5):987–94.
- [64] Carpino G, Cardinale V, Onori P, Franchitto A, Berloco PB, Rossi M, et al. Biliary tree stem/progenitor cells in glands of extrahepatic and intraheptic bile ducts: an anatomical in situ study yielding evidence of maturational lineages. J Anat 2012;220(2):186–99.

- [65] Lanzoni G, Oikawa T, Wang Y, Cui CB, Carpino G, Cardinale V, et al. Concise review: clinical programs of stem cell therapies for liver and pancreas. Stem Cell 2013;31(10):2047–60.
- [66] Lanzoni G, Cardinale V, Carpino G. The hepatic, biliary, and pancreatic network of stem/progenitor cell niches in humans: a new reference frame for disease and regeneration. Hepatology 2016;64(1):277–86.
- [67] Kawaguchi Y. Sox9 and programming of liver and pancreatic progenitors. J Clin Invest 2013;123(5):1881-6.
- [68] Riccio M, Carnevale G, Cardinale V, Gibellini L, De Biasi S, Pisciotta A, et al. Fas/Fas ligand apoptosis pathway underlies immunomodulatory properties of Human Biliary Tree Stem/Progenitor Cells. J Hepatol 2014;61(5):1097–105.
- [69] Banga A, Akinci E, Greder LV, Dutton JR, Slack JM. In vivo reprogramming of Sox9+ cells in the liver to insulin-secreting ducts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109(38):15336-41.
- [70] Fernandes A, King LC, Guz Y, Stein R, Wright CV, Teitelman G. Differentiation of new insulin-producing cells is induced by injury in adult pancreatic islets. Endocrinology 1997;138(4):1750–62.
- [71] Bonner-Weir S, Baxter LA, Schuppin GT, Smith FE. A second pathway for regeneration of adult exocrine and endocrine pancreas. A possible recapitulation of embryonic development. Diabetes 1993;42(12):1715–20.
- [72] Smukler SR, Arntfield ME, Razavi R, Bikopoulos G, Karpowicz P, Seaberg R, et al. The adult mouse and human pancreas contain rare multipotent stem cells that express insulin. Cell Stem Cell 2011;8(3):281–93.
- [73] Seaberg RM, Smukler SR, Kieffer TJ, Enikolopov G, Asghar Z, Wheeler MB, et al. Clonal identification of multipotent precursors from adult mouse pancreas that generate neural and pancreatic lineages. Nat Biotechnol 2004;22(9):1115–24.
- [74] Lysy PA, Weir GC, Bonner-Weir S. Making beta cells from adult cells within the pancreas. Curr Diab Rep 2013;13(5):695–703.
- [75] Desai BM, Oliver-Krasinski J, De Leon DD, Farzad C, Hong N, Leach SD, et al. Preexisting pancreatic acinar cells contribute to acinar cell, but not islet beta cell, regeneration. J Clin Invest 2007;117(4):971–7.
- [76] Dor Y, Brown J, Martinez OI, Melton DA. Adult pancreatic beta-cells are formed by self-duplication rather than stem-cell differentiation. Nature 2004;429(6987):41–6.
- [77] Meier JJ, Butler AE, Saisho Y, Monchamp T, Galasso R, Bhushan A, et al. Beta-cell replication is the primary mechanism subserving the postnatal expansion of beta-cell mass in humans. Diabetes 2008;57(6):1584–94.
- [78] Inada A, Nienaber C, Katsuta H, Fujitani Y, Levine J, Morita R, et al. Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105(50):19915–9.
- [79] Xu X, D'Hoker J, Stange G, Bonne S, De Leu N, Xiao X, et al. Beta cells can be generated from endogenous progenitors in injured adult mouse pancreas. Cell 2008;132(2):197–207.
- [80] Razavi R, Najafabadi HS, Abdullah S, Smukler S, Arntfield M, van der Kooy D. Diabetes enhances the proliferation of adult pancreatic multipotent progenitor cells and biases their differentiation to more beta-cell production. Diabetes 2015;64(4):1311–23.
- [81] Hosokawa S, Furuyama K, Horiguchi M, Aoyama Y, Tsuboi K, Sakikubo M, et al. Impact of Sox9 dosage and Hes1-mediated Notch signaling in controlling the plasticity of adult pancreatic duct cells in mice. Sci Rep 2015;5:8518.
- [82] Li WC, Rukstalis JM, Nishimura W, Tchipashvili V, Habener JF, Sharma A, et al. Activation of pancreatic-duct-derived progenitor cells during pancreas regeneration in adult rats. J Cell Sci 2010;123(Pt 16):2792–802.
- [83] Wang GS, Rosenberg L, Scott FW. Tubular complexes as a source for islet neogenesis in the pancreas of diabetes-prone BB rats. Lab Invest 2005;85(5):675–88.
- [84] Strobel O, Rosow DE, Rakhlin EY, Lauwers GY, Trainor AG, Alsina J, et al. Pancreatic duct glands are distinct ductal compartments that react to chronic injury and mediate Shh-induced metaplasia. Gastroenterology 2010;138(3):1166–77.
- [85] Baeyens L, Lemper M, Leuckx G, De Groef S, Bonfanti P, Stange G, et al. Transient cytokine treatment induces acinar cell reprogramming and regenerates functional beta cell mass in diabetic mice. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32(1):76–83.
- [86] Klein D, Alvarez-Cubela S, Lanzoni G, Vargas N, Prabakar KR, Boulina M, et al. BMP-7 induces adult human pancreatic exocrine-to-endocrine conversion. Diabetes 2015;64(12):4123–34.
- [87] Kayton NS, Poffenberger G, Henske J, Dai C, Thompson C, Aramandla R, et al. Human islet preparations distributed for research exhibit a variety of insulin-secretory profiles. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2015;308(7):E592–602.
- [88] Lee RH, Seo MJ, Reger RL, Spees JL, Pulin AA, Olson SD, et al. Multipotent stromal cells from human marrow home to and promote repair of pancreatic islets and renal glomeruli in diabetic NOD/scid mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103(46):17438–43.
- [89] Zhou K, Zhang H, Jin O, Feng X, Yao G, Hou Y, et al. Transplantation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell ameliorates the autoimmune pathogenesis in MRL/lpr mice. Cell Mol Immunol 2008;5(6):417–24.
- [90] Han Z, Jing Y, Zhang S, Liu Y, Shi Y, Wei L. The role of immunosuppression of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue repair and tumor growth. Cell Biosci 2012;2(1):8.
- [91] Bernardo ME, Fibbe WE. Mesenchymal stromal cells: sensors and switchers of inflammation. Cell Stem Cell 2013;13(4):392-402.
- [92] Madec AM, Mallone R, Afonso G, Abou Mrad E, Mesnier A, Eljaafari A, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells protect NOD mice from diabetes by inducing regulatory T cells. Diabetologia 2009;52(7):1391–9.
- [93] Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U. Clinical trials with mesenchymal stem cells: an update. Cell Transplant 2016;25(5):829-48.
- [94] Carrion FA, Figueroa FE. Mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: is the cure for connective tissue diseases within connective tissue? Stem Cell Res Ther 2011;2(3):23.
- [95] Phinney DG, Di Giuseppe M, Njah J, Sala E, Shiva S, St Croix CM, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. Nat Commun 2015;6:8472.
- [96] Carlsson PO, Schwarcz E, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K. Preserved beta-cell function in type 1 diabetes by mesenchymal stromal cells. Diabetes 2015;64(2):587–92.
- [97] Cai J, Wu Z, Xu X, Liao L, Chen J, Huang L, et al. Umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cell with autologous bone marrow cell transplantation in established type 1 diabetes: a pilot randomized controlled open-label clinical study to assess safety and impact on insulin secretion. Diabetes Care 2016;39(1):149–57.
- [98] Dominguez-Bendala J, Lanzoni G, Inverardi L, Ricordi C. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells for diabetes. Stem Cell Transl Med 2012;1: 59–63.

#### 348

- [99] Pileggi A, Ricordi C, Alessiani M, Inverardi L. Factors influencing Islet of Langerhans graft function and monitoring. Clin Chim Acta 2001; 310(1):3–16.
- [100] Ezquer F, Ezquer M, Contador D, Ricca M, Simon V, Conget P. The antidiabetic effect of mesenchymal stem cells is unrelated to their transdifferentiation potential but to their capability to restore Th1/Th2 balance and to modify the pancreatic microenvironment. Stem Cells 2012; 30(8):1664–74.
- [101] Ezquer ME, Ezquer FE, Arango-Rodríguez ML, Conget PA. MSC transplantation: a promising therapeutic strategy to manage the onset and progression of diabetic nephropathy. Biol Res 2012;45(3):289–96.
- [102] Jackson WM, Nesti LJ, Tuan RS. Concise review: clinical translation of wound healing therapies based on mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 2012;1(1):44–50.
- [103] Li M, Ikehara S. Bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for organ repair. Stem Cells Int. 2013; 2013:132642.
- [104] Jiang R, Han Z, Zhuo G, Qu X, Li X, Wang X, et al. Transplantation of placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells in type 2 diabetes: a pilot study. Front Med 2011;5:94–100.
- [105] Trivedi HL, Vanikar AV, Thakker U, Firoze A, Dave SD, Patel CN, et al. Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells combined with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation synthesize insulin. Transplant Proc 2008;40(4):1135–9.
- [106] Vanikar AV, Trivedi HL, Feroze A, Kanodia KV, Dave SD, Shah PR. Effect of co-transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells and hematopoietic stem cells as compared to hematopoietic stem cell transplantation alone in renal transplantation to achieve donor hypo-responsiveness. Int Urol Nephrol 2011;43(1):225–32.

This page intentionally left blank

# 22

## Stem Cells for Diseases of the Retina

Aaron Nagiel, Steven D. Schwartz University of California Los Angeles Geffen School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Retinal disorders represent a leading cause of permanent vision loss worldwide. Unfortunately, no approved treatments exist for this group of disorders, resulting in a huge unmet medical need. Diseases such as atrophic or dry age-related macular degeneration (AMD), Stargardt macular dystrophy (STGD), and retinitis pigmentosa (RP) feature an initial period of cellular dysfunction followed by frank cell loss that is the ultimate cause of permanent blindness. Transplanting replacement cells for these conditions represents an attractive therapeutic paradigm because it may be agnostic to the underlying pathophysiology. For example, although AMD and STGD feature disparate underlying disease processes, both disorders ultimately result in the loss of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), which represents a common target for cellular transplantation. Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are promising sources from which to create fresh RPE cells that could be used to replenish compromised areas of the retina or even replace atrophic areas that are devoid of RPE. Other disorders that primarily feature photoreceptor degeneration such as RP may be treatable with stem cell–derived photoreceptor transplants. Because over 120 genetic variants of RP exist, this treatment approach might obviate the need to create custom treatments for each subtype.

Various stem cell types are being tested as sources of neurotrophic factors to stop or delay ongoing cellular loss. Human umbilical tissue-derived stem cells (hUTCs) as well as fetally sourced cells such as retinal progenitor cells (RPCs) and neural stem cells have shown promise for slowly progressive disorders such as dry AMD and RP. Adult stem cells such as bone marrow—derived hematopoietic stem cells have been employed in an autologous fashion for these degenerative conditions as well as for retinal vascular diseases. Any treatment strategy must be carefully scrutinized because there have been several cases of questionable stem cell therapies administered with minimal to no scientific validation or oversight [1].

In addition to studying stem cell-derived cellular products as potential therapeutic agents, scientists have become increasingly adept at differentiating stem cells into various retinal cell types in vitro. The capacity to recapitulate diseased retinal cells in culture (so called "disease-in-a-dish" modeling) has shown promise in characterizing particular patients' retinal disorders. Pluripotent stem cells can even be used to create three-dimensional optic vesicle-like structures that contain multiple retinal cell types in a laminar arrangement. This technology offers an unprecedented window into fetal retinal development at the cellular, developmental, and synaptic levels and may even serve as a source of cells for therapeutic use. The use of these in vitro differentiation methods can introduce artifacts, however, and any conclusions must be tempered with caution.

Stem cell—based translational research efforts have the potential to revolutionize the treatment and understanding of retinal disease, especially disorders with no treatments currently available. Furthermore, because the retina is embryologically derived from the central nervous system, it is likely this work will inform and instruct the use of cellular therapy in the brain. Compared with other central nervous system structures, the retina is more accessible, directly visualized, amenable to local immunosuppression, and requires fewer transplanted cells. These distinct advantages uniquely position retinal researchers and translational scientists to pave the way for cell-based treatments addressing a broad range of neurodegenerative diseases.

## The Retina

The human eye is a complex organ composed of multiple elements meant to capture light from the environment and transmit to the brain in the form of neuronal stimuli. The cornea and lens focus incoming light onto the retina, which converts light into electrical responses, a process known as phototransduction. This information exits the retina to the brain in the form of electrical signals via the optic nerve, which is composed of retinal ganglion cells whose nuclei reside in the retina (Fig. 22.1).

The retina is a multilayered transparent structure that is embryologically derived from the inner and outer layers of the optic cup. The key function of the retina is to perform phototransduction via the photoreceptor cells, but the other resident cell types, both neuronal and nonneuronal, have important roles such as signal processing, transmission of neuronal stimuli to the central nervous system, and regulation of metabolic function (Fig. 22.2A). The macula is the central portion of the retina bounded by the vascular arcades and the optic disc. A central depression within the macula is known as the fovea and is responsible for high-acuity color vision mediated by cone photoreceptors. The retinal periphery contains mostly rod photoreceptors and provides peripheral vision especially in low-light conditions.

The outermost layer of the retina is the RPE. The RPE consists of polarized, pigmented epithelial cells that reside between the highly vascular choroid and the photoreceptor layer. It provides several essential supportive functions to the photoreceptors including maintenance of the blood—retina barrier, phagocytosis of photoreceptor outer segments, absorbing scattered light, secretion of growth factors and cytokines, and metabolism of vitamin A derivatives [2]. The RPE monolayer exhibits apicobasal polarity with the apical processes in contact with the photoreceptor outer segments and the basal side abutting the choriocapillaris, a rich vascular plexus. The basement membrane of the RPE, which lies between the choriocapillaris and the RPE basal surface, serves as a porous matrix for adequate diffusion of nutrients. In the elderly, it undergoes deleterious changes such as atrophy, thickening, lipid accumulation, and diminished diffusional capacity, which may have a role in diseases such as AMD [3].

The photoreceptor layer contains rods and cones, which are highly specialized neuroepithelial cells that transduce light into electrical potentials. Rods are sensitive to dim light and make up most of the photoreceptors in the peripheral retina. Cones provide high-acuity color vision in bright light conditions and are highly concentrated in the fovea. Hence the retina mediates both central fine color vision and peripheral low-light sensitivity. The rods and cones perform phototransduction via outer segments that abut the apical processes of the RPE. Changes in membrane potential triggered by light stimuli are transmitted to synapses with bipolar cells, which in turn relay these signals



FIGURE 22.1 The eye contains multiple elements required for sight. The cornea and lens refract incoming light rays onto the retina. The retina is an extension of the central nervous system evolved to sense light. The retina can be grossly divided into a central portion and peripheral portion. The central retina, the macula, is bounded by the large vascular arcades emanating from the temporal aspect of the optic disc and is responsible for cone-mediated, high-acuity central vision. The peripheral retina is responsible for rod-mediated visual functions such as night vision, tracking, and peripheral vision. The visual cycle occurs in the photoreceptors and retinal pigment epithelium, initial signal processing occurs in the inner layers of the retina, and the optic nerve, composed of retinal ganglion cell axons, transmits the neural signal to the brain. *Illustration by Timothy Hengst.* 



FIGURE 22.2 Schematic cross-sectional view of the normal and diseased macula. (A) The neurosensory retina consists of many cell types, including rod and cone photoreceptors, bipolar cells, and retinal ganglion cells. Note that the photoreceptor outer segments are in contact with the apical processes of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) monolayer (inset). The polarized, confluent monolayer of RPE cells rests upon the Bruch membrane and the innermost portion of the choroidal vasculature, the choriocapillaris. (B) The diseased retina in atrophic age-related macular degeneration (AMD), for example, may exhibit a diminution of RPE and photoreceptors along with a thickened Bruch membrane and drusen (metabolic and inflammatory debris; not illustrated). The underlying choriocapillaris can be thin or atrophic. Note that the remaining photoreceptors are compromised with shortened outer segments (inset). (C) The end-stage retina in advanced atrophic AMD with geographic atrophy demonstrates extensive RPE and photoreceptor loss, with only a few photoreceptor nuclei remaining (inset). The Bruch membrane is thickened and the choriocapillaris is atrophic. *Illustration by Timothy Hengst*.

to retinal ganglion cells. Retinal ganglion cells transmit neuronal stimuli to the central nervous system via long axons that make up the optic nerve and optic tract. Other neuronal cell types in the retina such as horizontal and amacrine cells have an important role modulating and processing the light-mediated neural signaling.

The retina is an ideal tissue for using cell-based treatments. First, the transplanted cells can be visualized directly via ophthalmoscopy or a variety of noninvasive, high-resolution imaging modalities, obviating the need for a tissue biopsy. Second, the size and architecture of the retina are conducive to the transplantation of a relatively small number of cells to a specific location. This includes the surgical transplantation of cells in suspension or on sheets into the precise space or layer in which they reside, or perhaps even into the vitreous cavity that lies adjacent to the retina and is accessible via a safe, in-office injection procedure. Third, in the healthy eye the subretinal space is an

immune-privileged site with significantly diminished cellular and humoral responses [4], which may prevent rejection of foreign cells as long as the blood—retina barrier remains intact [5,6]. Fourth, there are many functional and safety end points that are noninvasive, such as visual acuity, visual field analysis, color vision, contrast sensitivity, dark adaptation, autofluorescence imaging, and microperimetry. A final advantage of the retina is that although it is a part of the central nervous system, it contains a nonsynaptic layer (the RPE) that fails as a central feature of many blinding conditions and that may render it more amenable as an early target for cellular transplantation.

## Age-Related Macular Degeneration

AMD is a multifactorial degenerative disorder in the elderly that primarily affects the macula and can lead to permanent vision loss [7]. It is a major cause of vision loss in patients age 65 years and older living in developed countries, with over 2 million affected by advanced AMD in the United States alone [8]. AMD has two main clinical presentations with distinct prognostic and treatment considerations. The nonneovascular, atrophic, or dry form of AMD is associated with the deposition of subretinal lipid deposits known as drusen and progressive RPE abnormalities that can result in geographic atrophy (GA) of the RPE, choriocapillaris, and photoreceptors (Fig. 22.2B–C). The neovascular or wet form of AMD presents with more sudden vision loss owing to hemorrhage, fluid accumulation, and eventual scarring caused by the development of neovascular tissue. This form can be treated with antivascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF) agents. However, anti-VEGF therapy is far from perfect; it has pharmacokinetic and compliance issues among others. No treatment exists for GA in dry AMD, although a number of immune-modulating and other potential therapies are being studied.

Both genetic and environment factors contribute to the pathogenesis of dry AMD. One of the earliest insults is oxidative stress on the RPE owing to the accumulation of lipofuscin and other by-products of the visual cycle [9]. These toxic metabolites ultimately result in RPE apoptosis with subsequent photoreceptor loss and GA. The pathogenesis is certainly multifactorial, however, with a role for choroidal ischemia and lifestyle factors such as diet and smoking. Genome-wide association studies have implicated the complement system in the pathogenesis of AMD [10,11].

As of yet, there is no established treatment to reverse or slow the progression of GA. Several pharmaceutical classes are being tested in clinical trials, including complement factor pathway inhibitors, neuroprotectants, visual cycle modulators, and immunosuppressants [12,13]. Stem cell—based therapies for end-stage dry AMD have shown promise in small safety studies [14].

#### Stargardt Macular Dystrophy

The most prevalent childhood-onset macular dystrophy is STGD, with an estimated prevalence of 1 in 10,000 individuals [15]. Most often it presents in the first or second decade with diminished visual acuity and the classic examination findings of bull's-eye maculopathy, pisciform flecks, and relative hypofluorescence of the choroid on fluorescein angiography. Many individuals progress to central GA with profound central vision loss. Several genes have been implicated, the most common of which is an autosomal recessive mutation in the ABCA4 gene [16]. ABCA4 is transmembrane transport protein required for the removal of all-trans-retinaldehyde from photoreceptor outer segments, and when mutated, toxic visual cycle metabolites accumulate in RPE cells.

Although this disorder has been characterized genetically and biochemically, there are no established treatments for the disease. Gene therapy trials to replace the ABCA4 gene are under way, but limitations to these trials include the size of the gene, the limited choice of nonintegrating vectors, the slow course of neural degeneration, and the fact that improvements are unlikely in advanced cases in which atrophy has already set in. Stem cell—based RPE replacement therapy has been tested in phase 1 trials with promising results in patients with advanced disease. This regenerative strategy may prove to be safe and effective earlier in the course of disease by providing the patient with dose of healthy RPE, and thus theoretically preventing further damage to adjacent macular photoreceptors and preserving central vision [14].

## **Retinitis Pigmentosa**

Inherited retinal dystrophies have myriad clinical manifestations but ultimately result in progressive and often profound vision loss owing to photoreceptor death. These disorders affect approximately 1 in 2000 individuals and have been mapped to over 120 genetic loci thus far [17]. A subset of patients with inherited retinal degenerations

#### CELL-REPLACEMENT THERAPY

have RP, which is a clinical entity presenting with symptoms of diminished night vision (nyctalopia) and peripheral vision (visual field loss), and can progress to profound central vision loss (visual acuity loss) and even total blindness. The causative genetic mutations affect the biochemistry or structure of photoreceptors and the RPE. Rod photoreceptor dysfunction and degeneration are a hallmark of the disease, but eventually cone photoreceptors, RPE, and other cell types degenerate within the retina.

Treatment for RP and other inherited retinal dystrophies is limited or nonexistent. Except for forms caused by an underlying metabolic disorder, dietary supplements have had limited success. There has been considerable excitement regarding gene replacement therapy via viral delivery of normal copies of the mutated gene. For RPE65-associated Leber congenital amaurosis, gene delivery of RPE65 via an AAV2 vector showed success in a canine model [18] and in human patients as well [19]. There are several issues with gene therapy in RP, however. One issue is that the currently available viral vectors are not ideal, with size limits and relatively inefficient transduction efficiency. Another issue is that gene delivery is unlikely to be effective in late stages of the disease when the target cells are severely compromised or already absent. Finally, in light of the genetic heterogeneity, it would be cumbersome to create custom vectors for each form of the disease. These issues have spurred interest in cell-based therapies that could replace lost cells in advanced stages of the disease regardless of the underlying mutation.

## **CELL-REPLACEMENT THERAPY**

The use of stem cells as a source of replacement cells to treat disease has been one of the long-held promises of the technology. For many retinal disorders such as AMD and RP, however, the degenerative process begins in one cell type but eventually engulfs adjacent cell types and layers. Treatment of end-stage disease is thus a more complex endeavor, requiring the transplanted stem cell–derived cells to rejuvenate dormant and moribund cells or even induce the genesis or migration of healthy cells into the proximity of the transplant. Treatment of end-stage disease with the goal of restoration of function, as opposed to halting disease progression, therefore may necessitate the use of multilayered, multicellular tissue transplants. Ideally, intervention could be performed early when the transplanted cells can augment the affected cells and prolong the survival of adjacent tissues. This approach carries a higher chance of success but must be reconciled with the safety and efficacy profile of the transplantation procedure early in the course of the disease when the eye is still seeing well.

The RPE is an attractive target for cell replacement therapy for both medical and societal reasons. Efforts to replace the RPE via autologous or fetal RPE transplantation go back to the 1990s, but these efforts were fraught with difficulties including insufficient cellular material and scarring at the harvest site [20-23]. In addition, because the transplantation occurred in end-stage GA lacking choriocapillaris and photoreceptors, visual recovery was unlikely to occur. The use of human embryonic and iPSCs has since risen to prominence as an attractive source of replacement human RPE. The use of stem cell–derived photoreceptors is being tested in animals and may be available for human studies in the near future.

## Human Embryonic Stem Cell–Derived Retinal Pigment Epithelium

The use of hESCs to generate RPE as replacement cells has stood out as a bright spot in the field of regenerative medicine, with promising data from first-in-human transplantation trials. Although many technical difficulties had to be overcome along the way, the cellular product maintained an excellent safety and functional profile from in vitro testing to animal models to human clinical trials. hESCs are an attractive source of RPE because of their scalability and diminished immunogenicity in animal models of xenorejection [24]. However, a significant concern regarding hESC-derived RPE is that they could proliferate, form teratomas, dedifferentiate, or trigger an unremitting inflammatory response that would eliminate the transplanted cells as well as adjacent areas of functional retina.

A primary goal of preclinical and human studies thus far has been to address the safety of the transplanted allogeneic cells. These terminally differentiated hESC-derived RPE cells are amenable to extensive testing ex vivo, including for purity, cellular function, and transcriptome analysis to demonstrate strong expression of RPE markers and downregulation of hESC markers [25]. When injected beneath the retina in rodent models of retinal degeneration, the transplanted cells integrate into the RPE monolayer and improve visual function and luminance threshold response. Studies in National Institutes of Health class III immune-deficient mice showed no proliferation of the cells or spread to other parts of the body.

#### 356

#### 22. STEM CELLS FOR DISEASES OF THE RETINA

Schwartz et al. first demonstrated the use of hESC-derived RPE in human subretinal transplantation studies in patients with advanced GA from dry AMD and STGD [26]. Although dry AMD represents a leading cause of blindness in the developed world, patients with STGD were included in initial trials to address the role of the Bruch membrane. Senescence of the Bruch membrane in advanced dry AMD could hypothetically limit the success of this strategy, because cells were transplanted in suspension with the hope that they might survive, engraft, and polarize on the Bruch membrane. Thus, the success of this strategy may depend on the relative viability of the Bruch membrane. Therefore, younger patients with STGD and a hypothetically healthier Bruch membrane were studied as well. In this trial, the patients were given solid-organ transplant doses of immunosuppression and received a vitrectomy with subretinal injection of a suspension of hESC-derived RPE (Fig. 22.3). The investigators in this trial selected for the transplantation site a region outside the center of the macula, termed the transition zone, that was compromised but still viable and included areas of frank atrophy at the central-most aspect and normal retina at the peripheralmost aspect. This transition zone was chosen for initial transplantation for a number of reasons. First, the central macula in advanced cases of both conditions has the longest history of tissue loss including adjacent structures such as the photoreceptors, the Bruch membrane, and choriocapillaris. Thus, the central macula in advanced disease is not only long devoid of visual tissue (photoreceptors) but also devoid of blood supply (choriocapillaris), and thus far less likely to accept a safe and effective transplant. Second, this site includes areas that mimic the state of the macula earlier in the course of disease, allowing investigators to query eventual disease stage targets for RPE replacement therapy.

These phase I/II studies included nine patients with STGD and 9 with AMD. Most important, none of the patients experienced significant safety issues including nonsurgical inflammation, teratoma formation, or unwanted proliferation of the cells. Although the initial trials were meant to address safety and tolerability, 13 of 18 patients (72%) featured increased pigment at the border of the atrophic area suggestive of stem cell–derived RPE survival, and many of the patients experienced sustained improvements in visual function [14]. However, the interpretation of functional end points should be made with caution because vision was studied as a safety end point in a study with relatively few patients, lack of a formal control group other than the fellow eye, and the advanced disease present at baseline.

This initial pilot study using hESC-derived RPE delivered as a cell suspension has spurred the development of alternative treatment strategies to address the challenges inherent in this approach. These include efforts to address engraftment, polarity, confluence, maturity, and survival concerns on the senescent Bruch membrane by transplanting RPE cells grown into a confluent monolayer on a biocompatible scaffold before surgery. Although the surgical transplant procedure is necessarily more complex and potentially complicated, and the degree of biocompatibility of the scaffold will be critical, the hypothetical advantages of these approaches at the cellular level may prove to be important. At least two groups have developed scaffold-based RPE transplants derived from hESCs. One group developed a thin polyester membrane approximately  $3 \times 6$  mm in size, upon which they cultured hESC-derived RPE cells [27]. This approach is already being tested in human patients with subretinal hemorrhages or RPE tears, two potentially catastrophic manifestations of neovascular AMD. Another team has begun clinical trials in patients with advanced dry AMD employing hESC-derived RPE sheets grown on thin Parylene membranes. Subretinal transplantation in a rat model of retinal degeneration demonstrated photoreceptor rescue with associated improvements in visual function [28].

The scalability and safety of hESC-derived RPE make it an attractive treatment strategy regardless of whether the cells are delivered as a suspension or as a monolayer supported on a scaffold. The main concern with hESC-derived cells, however, is the potential need for significant systemic immunosuppression; most adverse events reported in the pilot trials were directly attributable to the tolerability of systemic immunosuppression. Future studies must explore to what degree immunosuppression is necessary. An alternative approach for generating replacement RPE has been the use of autologous or human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched iPSCs to alleviate rejection concerns and the dangers of solid-organ transplant-dose immunosuppressive regimens.

### Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell–Derived Retinal Pigment Epithelium

The ability to create RPE cells from iPSCs theoretically reduces the risk of immune rejection, but in actuality this and other critical safety and efficacy parameters may depend on the reprogramming technique and the cell type produced [24,29,30]. Regardless, iPSC-derived RPE transplantation holds enormous promise and several research efforts with pathways to human use are under way.

Many of the iPSC-based strategies use biocompatible scaffolds to deliver the RPE cells as a sheet (Fig. 22.4). A pioneering clinical trial using iPSC-derived RPE was approved in 2013 for study in Japan. In preclinical studies,



FIGURE 22.3 Schematic illustration of human embryonic stem cell—derived retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) transplanted as a suspension for macular degeneration. (A) A subretinal bleb containing a fixed volume of transplanted cells in suspension is created via a 39-gauge injection site, or retinotomy (yellow dot), in the macula. For experimental purposes, the hyperautofluorescent transition zone straddling the border of the atrophy was targeted. (B) Schematic cross-section through the bleb at the time of delivery to a diseased retina shows a suspension of transplanted human embryonic stem cell—derived RPE. (C) The ideal outcome is for the transplanted cells to survive the injection, engraft on the Bruch membrane, polarize, and then rescue or regenerate the remaining photoreceptors. *Illustration by Timothy Hengst*.



FIGURE 22.4 Schematic illustration of stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells transplanted as a monolayer on a scaffold material. (A) The scaffold material with overlying RPE has been surgically delivered to the subretinal space. The incision in the retina (retinotomy) required to deliver the scaffold has been surgically surrounded by laser treatment to prevent postoperative retinal detachment. There is a scotoma in the nasal visual field corresponding to the crescent of injured retina including photoreceptors and ganglion cell axons. The size and thickness of the scaffold depend on design parameters. Similarly, the size of the retinotomy will vary depending on these design features and whether the scaffold and cells can be safely folded for delivery. (B) Schematic cross-section through end-stage geographic atrophy at the time of scaffold placement shows the transplanted RPE monolayer on the scaffold. (C) The ideal outcome is for the scaffold to rest directly upon the Bruch membrane and for the transplanted RPE cells to rescue the surviving photoreceptors cells. *Illustration by Timothy Hengst.* 

#### CELL-REPLACEMENT THERAPY

sheets of human iPSC-derived RPE on biodegradable collagen gel scaffolds behaved like native RPE with similar gene expression profiles and functional rescue in animal models [31]. The human trials recruited patients with end-stage wet AMD and created iPSCs from skin fibroblasts. At least one patient received an autologous iPSC-derived RPE sheet, but the study was halted for safety reasons. Future work may involve the use of HLA-matched rather than autologous iPSC-derived RPE sheets owing to logistic, financial, and safety constraints.

At least two other centers are employing iPSC-derived RPE monolayers grown on a scaffold to treat GA in dry AMD. One group will use a polyester scaffold that is injected beneath the retina via a custom-designed device. Another team is developing an iPSC-derived RPE "patch" that uses a thin biodegradable poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) matrix. These iPSC-RPE "patch" grafts will be delivered surgically to the subretinal space using a custom-built injector.

The use of iPSC technology to generate replacement RPE cells has the potential to mitigate the need for immunosuppressive regimens with unfavorable risk profiles, particularly in the elderly. Furthermore, the latest techniques permit the generation of xeno-free, integration-free iPSCs in clinical grade laboratory settings. Nevertheless, iPSCs are susceptible to mutations, chromosomal defects, and other transcriptional and epigenetic changes that require the implementation of stringent safety protocols. In addition, patient-derived iPSC derivatives will contain the same genetic defect, possibly precluding their use in certain disorders. However, gene-editing techniques have the potential to repair these mutations before the production of differentiated cells for autologous transplantation [32].

## Scaffolds for Retinal Pigment Epithelium Transplantation

As discussed earlier, several clinical trials using stem cell—derived RPE as replacement therapy are implementing scaffold materials to deliver the cells as a monolayer. This approach has several theoretical advantages over delivery of the cells as a suspension. First, it does not require the RPE cells to engraft on a senescent Bruch membrane. Second, the cells are delivered as a monolayer, which avoids issues with cell clumping or incorrect polarization. Third, the potential is limited for the RPE cells to reflux into the vitreous cavity during surgical delivery. Despite these advantages, the delivery of RPE on a scaffold to the subretinal space requires more challenging surgical manipulations and a larger opening into the retina, both of which can result in serious vision-threatening complications. Furthermore, the biocompatibility of the scaffold material is a complex and critical issue because the scaffold must not only support cells at the time of the transplant, it must subsequently allow for physiologic processes to proceed unchecked between the RPE and the choriocapillaris. As such, the permeability of the scaffold material is critical to its success if it is not engineered to dissolve. It is still unclear which if any of these approaches will prove safe and effective, but research into scaffold materials is progressing rapidly with a wide variety of materials available.

Scaffold materials can have a broad array of characteristics including biodegradability, thickness, stiffness, and permeability. The materials themselves can be natural in the case of human donor tissue or entirely synthetic with additional surface coatings and microfabrication techniques to increase porosity or cell adhesion. Natural materials are derived from donor tissue or biologic molecules meant to simulate the properties of the Bruch membrane. These include anterior lens capsule, amniotic membrane, and biodegradable gelatin, collagen, and hyaluronate gel films. Aside from difficulties in fabricating these materials consistently, the materials are allogeneic and possibly even animal-derived, which poses immunogenicity and safety concerns. Nevertheless, the group at Riken in Japan transplanted autologous iPSC-derived RPE on a collagen gel scaffold into at least one patient [33].

Synthetic materials have a wide range of physical properties that can be leveraged to maximize RPE engraftment, permeability, and stability during subretinal delivery. Nonbiodegradable synthetic materials include Parylene, polymethyl methacrylate, and polyester. Ultrathin Parylene-C sheets ( $0.4 \mu m$  thick) are nonimmunogenic and mimic the permeability properties of the Bruch membrane. Sheets of hESC-derived RPE grown on micromachined sheets of vitronectin-coated Parylene have been used in pig and rat models with favorable cellular survival and safety at 3–6 months after transplantation [28,34]. An alternative material being used in human and animal studies is permeable polyester because of its strength and flexibility characteristics [27]. The biodegradable polymers such PLGA, poly(l-lactic-co-citric acid), and poly( $\epsilon$ -caprolactone) are potentially advantageous in that their fiber density, degradation rate, and thickness can be manipulated to achieve maximal RPE engraftment, survival, and polarization. For example, ratios of PLGA and poly(lactic acid) can be manipulated to achieve favorable porosity, degradation kinetics, and thickness, and various protein coatings such as laminins can be applied to improve RPE adhesion and survival [35]. A potential downside to these degradable scaffolds is that the materials could incite inflammation upon dissolution or that the survival of the transplanted cells would be compromised once they rest directly on the Bruch membrane. Furthermore, if any features of the scaffold become compromised during production or

transplantation, the functionality and survival of the transplanted cells may also be compromised. In essence, the scaffold itself represents a critical second variable to be considered as these programs move toward regulatory consideration.

## Surgical Techniques for Retinal Pigment Epithelium Transplantation

Several surgical approaches can be employed to deliver the RPE cells. The procedure to deliver the cells must be carried out with acceptably low risk to the eye, regardless of the safety and efficacy of the transplanted cells themselves. For the delivery of RPE cells to the subretinal space, the least challenging surgical technique is injection of a cellular suspension via a subretinal cannula. This approach was used in the initial phase I/II studies of hESC-derived RPE for AMD and STGD [26]. It requires a standard three-port pars plana vitrectomy to be performed followed by insertion of a 38-gauge subretinal cannula through the retina (retinotomy) to deliver the cells into the subretinal space, raising a subretinal bleb. After the procedure, the bleb slowly flattens over a few hours as the fluid is absorbed; it is hypothesized that the RPE cells that survive the procedure may subsequently engraft and polarize. Theoretical surgical advantages to this approach are that the small retinotomy used to inject the cells seals spontaneously with little or no risk of subsequent retinal detachment and no discernible secondary scotoma formation from disruption of retinal tissue, and that it relies on skills with which most vitreoretinal surgeons are comfortable.

An alternative, more complex surgical approach must be used when delivering RPE sheets grown on a scaffold material. For the RPE sheet to be delivered in an atraumatic fashion, a large retinotomy must be made adjacent to the macula and a specialized delivery device must be employed to inject the scaffold. The size of the retinotomy depends on the dimensions of the scaffold and whether the material is foldable, but in general this will require the use of laser photocoagulation combined with a tamponade agent such as silicone oil to seal the retinal incision at the end of the surgery to keep the retina attached. Therefore, these techniques come with an increased risk for retinal detachment and a larger, potentially clinically significant scotoma associated with the retinotomy site and surrounding laser scars. Other potential downsides include the possibility the scaffold could be implanted upside down or that the cells slough off during insertion, although these risks should be mitigated with a short surgical learning curve.

A third method for subretinal delivery of cells is *ab externo* via a cannula that passes through the subretinal or suprachoroidal space. These techniques were pioneered in a trial studying delivery of human umbilical tissuederived cells to the macula. (Note that these cells were not differentiated into retinal cell types but were instead intended to serve as neuroprotective cytokine-secreting cells.) This was necessary because initial trials using a standard vitrectomy with subretinal injection of a cellular suspension led to severe proliferative vitreoretinopathy (scarring on the retinal surface with subsequent contraction and complex retinal detachment) if any cells were exposed to the vitreous cavity. Thus, this alternative approach theoretically avoids the vitreous cavity by performing a scleral cutdown followed by insertion of a microcatheter into the subretinal space. However, the technique was plagued by difficulties including an inability to control the cannula tip and the creation of inadvertent retinal perforations. The refined methodology involves threading the cannula through the suprachoroidal space toward the macula. A microneedle is then extended under direct visualization into the subretinal space and the cells are delivered. This approach is promising but requires novel, nonstandard surgical techniques.

Regardless of the technique used, the transplant site must be carefully chosen on a case-by-case basis. The first patients to undergo hESC-derived RPE transplants received the cells in the peripheral macula owing to the large area of central atrophy and to avoid detaching the fovea. Subsequent transplantations occurred at the transition zone between the atrophic retina and the relatively healthy retina, an area with compromised but still viable RPE and photoreceptors. The preferred transplantation site for RPE cells on a scaffold may be within an area of atrophy, but RPE survival and function are questionable given the extent of photoreceptor and choriocapillaris loss [36]. Further study is necessary to determine where on the spectrum of disease the ideal candidates for cellular therapy will reside, although it seems likely that treating patients earlier in the course of disease will prove beneficial.

#### Photoreceptor Transplantation

Photoreceptor cell transplantation represents a possible treatment strategy for retinal dystrophies such as RP. As for RPE transplantation, the use of stem cell-derived photoreceptors to replace lost cells is advantageous in that it can be used in advanced cases and across many forms of the disease, regardless of the underlying genetic defect. However, the transplanted photoreceptor cells must integrate into the photoreceptor layer, form appropriate synapses, and extend outer segments toward the apical processes of the RPE. These requirements may be hampered by



FIGURE 22.5 Integration and survival of transplanted human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal cells in Crx-deficient mice, a model of retinal degeneration. The transplanted cells (green) are found in the outer retina and some express recoverin (red), a photoreceptor marker. *Reprinted from Lamba DA, Gust J, Reh TA. Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived photoreceptors restores some visual function in Crx-deficient mice. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4*(1):73–9, *Copyright (2009), with permission from Elsevier.* 

ongoing cellular dysfunction, apoptosis, and inflammation in the disease state. As is the case for RPE transplantation, early intervention may provide the best opportunity for favorable anatomic and functional outcomes.

Several groups have published encouraging results in preclinical animal models of RP. MacLaren et al. demonstrated that mouse RPCs can be transplanted successfully into a mouse model of rod degeneration with the restoration of synaptic connectivity and light sensitivity [37]. The limited availability of human retinal tissue precludes the use of this approach in human clinical trials, but hESC-derived retinal progenitors can also integrate into the photoreceptor layer, form synapses, and partially rescue visual function in a mouse model of early-onset RP (Fig. 22.5) [38]. Investigators have migrated toward using photoreceptor precursors derived from three-dimensional rather than two-dimensional culture methods as a way to enhance the developmental verisimilitude of the transplanted cells [39]. In addition, sheets of developing three-dimensional retina cut out from iPSC-derived optic vesicle-like structures have been transplanted beneath the retina in diseased mice with evidence of photoreceptor integration and functional improvement [40,41].

Although efforts to transplant photoreceptors lag behind the RPE, advances in culture methods and promising results in animal models will make human photoreceptor transplantation studies a reality. Whether the transplanted cells can be delivered in sufficient quantities to improve visual function significantly and delay or even halt ongoing cellular loss in the disease state remains to be seen [42].

## **CELL-BASED NEUROPROTECTION**

In addition to serving as a source of replacement cells, stem cells are being studied for neuroprotection and neurotrophic support. This strategy relies on the transplanted cells to secrete neurotrophic factors that halt ongoing pathologic processes including apoptosis and thus sustain the surviving tissues. A potential advantage to this approach is that the final cell product does not require the production of terminally differentiated cells from pluripotent stem cells. For example, bone marrow—derived hematopoietic stem cells can be harvested from the patient, purified, and transplanted in an autologous fashion without the need for systemic immunosuppression. Even allogeneic transplantation of other stem cells such as umbilical tissue-derived stem cells may not require immunosuppression. Furthermore, because the cells are functioning via a paracrine effect, it may be sufficient to deliver the cells in proximity to the target tissue, such as the vitreous cavity. Potential disadvantages to this approach include local off-target effects such as proliferative vitreoretinopathy and the need for repeated dosing.

## Bone Marrow-Derived Stem Cells

Traditionally, two types of bone marrow—derived stem cells (BM-SCs) have been described (mesenchymal and hematopoietic) and both are being tested to treat retinal disease [43]. These cells must be harvested by bone marrow aspiration but they can be then used in an autologous fashion. Whether these transplanted cells integrate and differentiate into retinal cell types has not been clearly established, and it appears that the benefit more likely derives from the paracrine effect of secreted cytokines [43]. Hematopoietic CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cells are multipotent adult stem cells capable of self-renewal; they have been extensively characterized for use in hematologic disorders. Studies in several rodent models of retinal degeneration have shown a protective effect of human adult hematopoietic stem cells delivered via intravitreal injection [44,45]. The other bone marrow cell type, the so-called mesenchymal stem cells, have elicited controversy because this cell population may not have stem cell properties and instead represents committed multipotent progenitor cells [46]. Mesenchymal cells have been delivered beneath the retina with favorable initial results in animal models [47,48].

Anatomic and functional improvements observed in these animal models of retinal degeneration have spurred various sites to initiate clinical trials in humans using BM-SCs. Initial experience with autologous CD34<sup>+</sup> BM-SCs in human patients with RP demonstrated no adverse effects from the intravitreally delivered cells [49]. A subsequent study in patients with a variety of retinal conditions including retinal vascular disease, AMD, and inherited retinal disorders also showed no detrimental effects of the cells [50]. Convincing evidence is lacking that the cells provide a functional and anatomic benefit, however.

## Umbilical Tissue-Derived Stem Cells

hUTCs are isolated from digested human umbilical cord tissue and can be tested extensively before use. Although they are allogeneic, there is evidence the cells may be minimally immunogenic with no expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and lower expression of MHC class I [51]. The therapeutic benefit is thought to derive from the strong extracellular secretion of several trophic cytokines such as brain-derived growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor, and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor [52]. Subretinal delivery of hUTCs in a rodent model of retinal degeneration led to improvements in visual function compared with untreated animals [53].

The functional benefit of hUTCs in AMD or RP remains to be established, but human trials are underway. The initial pilot study in patients with advanced RP delivered the hUTCs to the subretinal space via pars plana vitrectomy, but this approach was abandoned owing to concerns for epiretinal membrane formation and proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Follow-up studies are instead using a novel *ab externo* delivery system in patients with advanced dry AMD.

## Neural and Retinal Progenitor Cells

Neural progenitor cells (NPCs) and RPCs are being evaluated as a treatment for atrophic AMD and photoreceptor degenerations such as RP. Both cell types are sourced from human fetal tissue, which may raise ethical concerns. In a rat retinal degeneration model, subretinally delivered NPCs persisted for months and improved visual function remarkably [54]. Transplanted mouse RPCs may even integrate and differentiate into photoreceptor-like cells in the correct retinal layer with expression of photoreceptor markers [55]. Human clinical trials using NPCs and RPCs are under way, and it may be possible in future trials to generate these cells from pluripotent stem cells [56,57].

## DISEASE-IN-A-DISH MODELING FOR RETINAL DISORDERS

Efforts to treat retinal disease with cellular therapy represent an important application of stem cell technology. Some of these same techniques can also be used to model human retinal disorders in vitro in a patient-specific manner and even serve as a platform for testing customized therapeutic agents. Stem cells derived from skin fibroblasts or peripheral leukocytes can be differentiated into various retinal cell types and can even be coaxed into forming three-dimensional optic vesicle-like structures with a multilaminar architecture reminiscent of the human fetal retina.

## Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Phenotyping

Traditionally, the study of human disease has occurred in animal models to allow for detailed molecular, genetic, cellular, and developmental analysis. However, it is common for animal models of retinal disease to recapitulate the human state only partially, or in some cases fail to do so entirely [58]. Human iPSCs serve as a promising tool to model disorders of the RPE and other retinal cell types [59]. This approach not only eliminates issues with cross-species differences and the expense of laboratory animals, it allows for the creation of patient-specific cell lines containing the precise genetic mutation in the same genomic milieu.

The first "disease-in-a-dish" model for a retinal disorder was created using iPSCs from patients with RP [60]. In this study, five iPSC lines were created from five patients with distinct causative mutations. Photoreceptors differentiated from these lines showed accelerated degeneration compared with controls, and application of the antioxidant vitamin E had a differential effect depending on the causative gene. This demonstrated the utility of patient-derived iPSC lines for modeling human disease and testing therapeutics in a customized fashion. Another study created iPSC-derived RPE cells from patients with Best vitelliform macular dystrophy [61]. Photoreceptor outer segment degradation was impaired in these RPE cells, leading to oxidative stress. Furthermore, iPSC-derived cells can be used to verify the pathogenicity of previously undiscovered mutations. This approach has been used to determine the pathogenic mechanism of novel disease-causing variants, such as a cryptic splice site mutation in the RPE65 gene [62] and a splice site mutation in USH2A [63].

Disease-in-a-dish modeling has also been employed to validate a variety of treatments such as small molecule therapeutics, gene therapy, and gene editing. iPSC-derived RPE cells have been subjected to chronic oxidative stress to simulate AMD [64] and then treated with various compounds that reduce oxidative stress [65]. A similar approach was used to test the effects of vitamin B6 supplementation in gyrate atrophy [66] and inhibitors of endoplasmic reticulum stress in RP [67,68].

Gene delivery via viral vector to patient-derived iPSC lines can also be used in preclinical studies, especially when animal models do not recapitulate the phenotype. Choroideremia is an inherited condition resulting from mutations in the REP1 gene that lead to degeneration of the choriocapillaris, RPE, and retina. The mouse knockout is lethal, but viral gene delivery rescued REP1 function in iPSCs derived from patients with choroideremia [69]. This approach has also been used in several other iPSC-based disease models including MFRP-mutant RP [70], CEP290-mutant Leber congenital amaurosis [71], and CLN3-mutant Batten disease [72].

Genome engineering represents a promising avenue to augment these treatment strategies [73]. Gene editing can correct a specific mutation in situ so that the wild-type gene is expressed under the endogenous promoter and avoids issues with size limits on genes delivered via viral vector. This rapidly evolving technology has been applied in two studies that show the feasibility of clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated protein 9 gene targeting in rodent eyes via intravitreal [74] and subretinal delivery approaches [75]. Eventually, it may even be possible to differentiate gene-edited iPSCs into a particular retinal cell type and then transplant the differentiated cells autologously in humans.

#### **Three-Dimensional Retinal Organoids**

The ability to generate complex human tissues that resemble organs in vitro has generated excitement within the field of regenerative medicine [76]. Eiraku et al. first demonstrated the capacity of mouse ESCs to form self-organizing optic vesicle-like structures containing all major cell types of the retina including photoreceptors, bipolar cells, and ganglion cells in a laminar arrangement [77]. This landmark publication set the stage for future refinements including the use of human iPSC (Fig. 22.6) [78,79], the demonstration of beautifully arranged functional photoreceptors [80], and technique modifications to accelerate the process [81]. Despite these advances, the process of culturing human retinal organoids can be labor-intensive and produce variable results and has yet to recapitulate important components of the retina including the optic nerve and vessels, for example.

Besides their use in the modeling of human retinal development and disease, three-dimensional retinal organoids may also be used as a source of replacement cells for diseases such as dry AMD and RP. It is possible that the generation of replacement cells in this fashion may provide more biologically authentic cells because their development occurred in a three-dimensional environment adjacent to other neuroretinal cells. Rod photoreceptors generated via a three-dimensional culture protocol have been dissociated and then injected beneath the retina in a mouse model of rod degeneration with evidence of functional integration into the host retina [39]. Another approach is to transplant entire sheets of stem cell–derived retinal tissue. Mouse ESC- and iPSC-derived retinal sheets transplanted into an RP mouse model can reconstitute the photoreceptor layer and form synapses in the outer plexiform layer [41]. There is also evidence these transplanted sheets elicit light-dependent behaviors and electrophysiologic responses [40].

22. STEM CELLS FOR DISEASES OF THE RETINA



**FIGURE 22.6** Self-organizing optic vesicle-like structures derived from human embryonic stem cells display remarkable complexity. The neuroretinal epithelium is multilayered and contains densely packed photoreceptors (recoverin<sup>+</sup>) along the apical side. Rods (Nrl<sup>+</sup>) and cones (Rxr- $\gamma^+$ ) are present with ZO-1<sup>+</sup> apical junctions. The visual pigments rhodopsin and S-opsin are expressed along the apical surface, but outer segments do not form. *Reprinted from Nakano T et al. Self-formation of optic cups and storable stratified neural retina from human ESCs. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(6):771–85, Copyright (2012), with permission from Elsevier.* 

## CONCLUSION

Research in regenerative medicine is accelerating at a remarkable pace owing to the exceptional promise it holds for understanding and potentially treating a variety of medical disorders, many of which are currently untreatable. This is especially true for diseases of the retina. The next revolution in retina may be driven by novel gene and cell delivery approaches, both of which benefit from advances in stem cell technology.

The ideal treatment is one that restores the anatomical and functional integrity of the retina with minimal risk to the eye and to the patient. Although advances have been made and many more are imminent, there is much work to be done. The use of systemic immunosuppression carries significant risk, especially in the elderly population. Surgical delivery techniques need to be refined to minimize iatrogenic complications. Autologous iPSC-derived cells may reduce the risk of rejection, but they are costly and associated with a risk of mutations and chromosomal anomalies. Some of these issues may be resolved by ongoing initiatives such as the creation of HLA-matched iPSC banks and optimizing scaffold materials to simplify the surgical delivery. Nevertheless, other hurdles remain, such as the reconstitution of synaptic connectivity after cell replacement and the functional recovery of end-stage GA in which multiple layers have degenerated.

The future of stem cell—based treatments in the eye will rely heavily on tissue engineering approaches, such as three-dimensional microfabrication of scaffolds populated with various retinal cell types in a laminar arrangement. This could include the creation of a capillary network populated with iPSC-derived endothelial cells [82]. Many of these treatments could emerge from improvements in cell differentiation protocols and retinal organoid technology.

Despite the obstacles that lie ahead, there is substantial optimism for cell-based therapies in the retina. Several clinical trials using stem cell-derived treatments are either under way or due to begin within the next few years. The ability to recapitulate human retinal development in culture using patient-derived pluripotent stem cells may also generate deep insights into the pathophysiology of retinal disease. It is hoped that these advances will not only provide cures for untreatable blindness but also lead the way for neurodegenerative disease and the entire field of regenerative medicine.

## References

- [1] Turner L, Knoepfler P. Selling stem cells in the USA: assessing the direct-to-consumer industry. Cell Stem Cell August 4, 2016;19(2):154-7.
- [2] Strauss O. The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. Physiol Rev July 1, 2005;85(3):845-81.
- [3] Ardeljan D, Chan C-C. Aging is not a disease: distinguishing age-related macular degeneration from aging. Prog Retin Eye Res November 2013;37:68–89.
- Wenkel H, Streilein JW. Analysis of immune deviation elicited by antigens injected into the subretinal space. Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci September 1, 1998;39(10):1823–34.
- [5] Xian B, Huang B. The immune response of stem cells in subretinal transplantation. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015;6(1):161.
- [6] Hambright D, Park K-Y, Brooks M, McKay R, Swaroop A, Nasonkin IO. Long-term survival and differentiation of retinal neurons derived from human embryonic stem cell lines in un-immunosuppressed mouse retina. Mol Vis 2012;18:920–36. Emory University.
- [7] Ratnapriya R, Chew EY. Age-related macular degeneration-clinical review and genetics update. Clin Genet August 2013;84(2):160-6.
- [8] Friedman DS, O'Colmain BJ, Muñoz B, Tomany SC, McCarty C, de Jong PTVM, et al. Prevalence of age-related macular degeneration in the United States. Arch Ophthalmol April 2004;122(4):564–72.
- Shen JK, Dong A, Hackett SF, Bell WR, Green WR, Campochiaro PA. Oxidative damage in age-related macular degeneration. Histol Histopathol December 1, 2007;22(12):1301–8.
- [10] Zhou J, Jang YP, Kim SR, Sparrow JR. Complement activation by photooxidation products of A2E, a lipofuscin constituent of the retinal pigment epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA January 31, 2006;103(44):16182–7.
- [11] Anderson DH, Radeke MJ, Gallo NB, Chapin EA, Johnson PT, Curletti CR, et al. The pivotal role of the complement system in aging and age-related macular degeneration: hypothesis re-visited. Prog Retin Eye Res March 1, 2010;29(2):95–112.
- [12] Damico FM, Gasparin F, Scolari MR, Pedral LS, Takahashi BS. New approaches and potential treatments for dry age-related macular degeneration. Arq Bras Oftalmol January 2012;75(1):71–6.
- [13] Boyer DS, Schmidt-Erfurth U, van Lookeren Campagne M, Henry EC, Brittain C. The pathophysiology of geographic atrophy secondary to age-related macular degeneration and the complement pathway as a therapeutic target. Retina May 2017;37(5):819–35.
- [14] Schwartz SD, Regillo CD, Lam BL, Eliott D, Rosenfeld PJ, Gregori NZ, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium in patients with age-related macular degeneration and Stargardt's macular dystrophy: follow-up of two open-label phase 1/2 studies. Lancet February 7, 2015;385(9967):509–16.
- [15] Travis GH, Golczak M, Moise AR, Palczewski K. Diseases caused by defects in the visual cycle: retinoids as potential therapeutic agents. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2007;47:469–512.
- [16] Sun H, Nathans J. Stargardt's ABCR is localized to the disc membrane of retinal rod outer segments. Nat Genet September 1997;17(1):15-6.
- [17] Sohocki MM, Daiger SP, Bowne SJ, Rodriquez JA, Northrup H, Heckenlively JR, et al. Prevalence of mutations causing retinitis pigmentosa and other inherited retinopathies. Hum Mutat 2001;17(1):42–51.
- [18] Acland GM, Aguirre GD, Ray J, Zhang Q, Aleman TS, Cideciyan AV, et al. Gene therapy restores vision in a canine model of childhood blindness. Nat Genet May 2001;28(1):92–5.
- [19] Jacobson SG, Cideciyan AV, Roman AJ, Sumaroka A, Schwartz SB, Héon E, et al. Improvement and decline in vision with gene therapy in childhood blindness. N Engl J Med May 14, 2015;372(20):1920–6.
- [20] Algvere PV, Berglin L, Gouras P, Sheng Y. Transplantation of fetal retinal pigment epithelium in age-related macular degeneration with subfoveal neovascularization. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol December 1994;232(12):707–16.
- [21] Peyman GA, Blinder KJ, Paris CL, Alturki W, Nelson NC, Desai U. A technique for retinal pigment epithelium transplantation for age-related macular degeneration secondary to extensive subfoveal scarring. Ophthalmic Surg February 1991;22(2):102–8.
- [22] Binder S, Stolba U, Krebs I, Kellner L, Jahn C, Feichtinger H, et al. Transplantation of autologous retinal pigment epithelium in eyes with foveal neovascularization resulting from age-related macular degeneration: a pilot study. Am J Ophthalmol February 2002;133(2):215–25.
- [23] van Meurs JC, Averst ter E, Hofland LJ, van Hagen PM, Mooy CM, Baarsma GS, et al. Autologous peripheral retinal pigment epithelium translocation in patients with subfoveal neovascular membranes. Br J Ophthalmol January 1, 2004;88(1):110–3.
- [24] Araki R, Uda M, Hoki Y, Sunayama M, Nakamura M, Ando S, et al. Negligible immunogenicity of terminally differentiated cells derived from induced pluripotent or embryonic stem cells. Nature February 7, 2013;494(7435):100–4.
- [25] Klimanskaya I, Hipp J, Rezai KA, West M, Atala A, Lanza R. Derivation and comparative assessment of retinal pigment epithelium from human embryonic stem cells using transcriptomics. Clon Stem Cell 2004;6(3):217–45.
- [26] Schwartz SD, Hubschman J-P, Heilwell G, Franco-Cardenas V, Pan CK, Ostrick RM, et al. Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: a preliminary report. Lancet February 25, 2012;379(9817):713–20.
- [27] Carr A-JF, Smart MJK, Ramsden CM, Powner MB, da Cruz L, Coffey PJ. Development of human embryonic stem cell therapies for age-related macular degeneration. Trends Neurosci July 2013;36(7):385–95.
- [28] Thomas BB, Zhu D, Zhang L, Thomas PB, Hu Y, Nazari H, et al. Survival and functionality of hESC-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells cultured as a monolayer on polymer substrates transplanted in RCS rats. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci May 1, 2016;57(6):2877–87.
- [29] Kaneko S, Yamanaka S. To be immunogenic, or not to be: that's the iPSC question. Cell Stem Cell April 4, 2013;12(4):385-6.
- [30] Zhao T, Zhang Z-N, Westenskow PD, Todorova D, Hu Z, Lin T, et al. Humanized mice reveal differential immunogenicity of cells derived from autologous induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell September 3, 2015;17(3):353–9.

#### 366

#### 22. STEM CELLS FOR DISEASES OF THE RETINA

- [31] Kamao H, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Sakai N, Suga A, Sugita S, et al. Characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium cell sheets aiming for clinical application. Stem Cell Rep February 11, 2014;2(2):205–18.
- [32] Merkle FT, Neuhausser WM, Santos D, Valen E, Gagnon JA, Maas K, et al. Efficient CRISPR-Cas9-mediated generation of knockin human pluripotent stem cells lacking undesired mutations at the targeted locus. Cell Rep May 12, 2015;11(6):875–83.
- [33] Reardon S, Cyranoski D. Japan stem-cell trial stirs envy. Nature September 18, 2014:287–8.
- [34] Brant Fernandes RA, Koss MJ, Falabella P, Stefanini FR, Maia M, Diniz B, et al. An innovative surgical technique for subretinal transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigmented epithelium in Yucatan Mini pigs: preliminary results. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina April 1, 2016;47(4):342–51.
- [35] Thomson HAJ, Treharne AJ, Walker P, Grossel MC, Lotery AJ. Optimisation of polymer scaffolds for retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cell transplantation. Br J Ophthalmol April 2011;95(4):563–8.
- [36] Bird AC, Phillips RL, Hageman GS. Geographic atrophy: a histopathological assessment. JAMA Ophthalmol March 2014;132(3):338-45.
- [37] MacLaren RE, Pearson RA, MacNeil A, Douglas RH, Salt TE, Akimoto M, et al. Retinal repair by transplantation of photoreceptor precursors. Nature January 9, 2006;444(7116):203–7.
- [38] Lamba DA, Gust J, Reh TA. Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived photoreceptors restores some visual function in Crx-deficient mice. Cell Stem Cell January 9, 2009;4(1):73–9.
- [39] Gonzalez-Cordero A, West EL, Pearson RA, Duran Y, Carvalho LS, Chu CJ, et al. Photoreceptor precursors derived from three-dimensional embryonic stem cell cultures integrate and mature within adult degenerate retina. Nat Biotechnol August 2013;31(8):741–7.
- [40] Mandai M, Fujii M, Hashiguchi T, Sunagawa GA, Ito S, Sun J, et al. Ipsc-derived retina transplants improve vision in rd1 end-stage retinaldegeneration mice. Stem Cell Rep January 10, 2017;8(1):69–83.
- [41] Assawachananont J, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Yamada C, Eiraku M, Yonemura S, et al. Transplantation of embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell-derived 3D retinal sheets into retinal degenerative mice. Stem Cell Rep May 6, 2014;2(5):662–74.
- [42] Reh TA. Photoreceptor transplantation in late stage retinal degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci Assoc Res Vision Ophthalmol April 1, 2016;57(5). ORSFg1–7.
- [43] Park SS, Moisseiev E, Bauer G, Anderson JD, Grant MB, Zam A, et al. Advances in bone marrow stem cell therapy for retinal dysfunction. Prog Retin Eye Res January 2017;56:148–65.
- [44] Otani A, Dorrell MI, Kinder K, Moreno SK, Nusinowitz S, Banin E, et al. Rescue of retinal degeneration by intravitreally injected adult bone marrow-derived lineage-negative hematopoietic stem cells. J Clin Invest. Am Soc Clin Invest September 2004;114(6):765–74.
- [45] Moisseiev E, Smit-McBride Z, Oltjen S, Zhang P, Zawadzki RJ, Motta M, et al. Intravitreal administration of human bone marrow CD34+ stem cells in a murine model of retinal degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci August 1, 2016;57(10):4125–35.
- [46] Sacchetti B, Funari A, Remoli C, Giannicola G, Kogler G, Liedtke S, et al. No identical "mesenchymal stem cells" at different times and sites: human committed progenitors of distinct origin and differentiation potential are incorporated as adventitial cells in microvessels. Stem Cell Rep June 14, 2016;6(6):897–913.
- [47] Zhang Y, Wang W. Effects of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation on light-damaged retina. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci July 2010;51(7):3742-8.
- [48] Arnhold S, Absenger Y, Klein H, Addicks K, Schraermeyer U. Transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells rescue photoreceptor cells in the dystrophic retina of the rhodopsin knockout mouse. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol March 2007;245(3):414–22.
- [49] Siqueira RC, Messias A, Voltarelli JC, Scott IU, Jorge R. Intravitreal injection of autologous bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells for hereditary retinal dystrophy: a phase I trial. Retina June 2011;31(6):1207–14.
- [50] Park SS, Bauer G, Abedi M, Pontow S, Panorgias A, Jonnal R, et al. Intravitreal autologous bone marrow CD34+ cell therapy for ischemic and degenerative retinal disorders: preliminary phase 1 clinical trial findings. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci December 9, 2014;56(1):81–9.
- [51] Cho PS, Messina DJ, Hirsh EL, Chi N, Goldman SN, Lo DP, et al. Immunogenicity of umbilical cord tissue derived cells. Blood January 1, 2008; 111(1):430–8.
- [52] Cao J, Murat C, An W, Yao X, Lee J, Santulli-Marotto S, et al. Human umbilical tissue-derived cells rescue retinal pigment epithelium dysfunction in retinal degeneration. Stem Cells February 2016;34(2):367–79.
- [53] Lund RD, Wang S, Lu B, Girman S, Holmes T, Sauve Y, et al. Cells isolated from umbilical cord tissue rescue photoreceptors and visual functions in a rodent model of retinal disease. Stem Cells March 1, 2007;25(3):602–11.
- [54] Wang S, Girman S, Lu B, Bischoff N, Holmes T, Shearer R, et al. Long-term vision rescue by human neural progenitors in a rat model of photoreceptor degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci July 1, 2008;49(7):3201–6.
- [55] Klassen HJ, Ng TF, Kurimoto Y, Kirov I, Shatos M, Coffey P, et al. Multipotent retinal progenitors express developmental markers, differentiate into retinal neurons, and preserve light-mediated behavior. Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci November 2004;45(11):4167–73.
- [56] Lamba DA, Karl MO, Ware CB, Reh TA. Efficient generation of retinal progenitor cells from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA August 22, 2006;103(34):12769–74.
- [57] Osakada F, Ikeda H, Mandai M, Wataya T, Watanabe K, Yoshimura N, et al. Toward the generation of rod and cone photoreceptors from mouse, monkey and human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol February 2008;26(2):215–24.
- [58] Brennenstuhl C, Tanimoto N, Burkard M, Wagner R, Bolz S, Trifunovic D, et al. Targeted ablation of the Pde6h gene in mice reveals crossspecies differences in cone and rod phototransduction protein isoform inventory. J Biol Chem April 17, 2015;290(16):10242–55.
- [59] Li Y, Chan L, Nguyen HV, Tsang SH. Personalized medicine: cell and gene therapy based on patient-specific iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 2016;854:549–55.
- [60] Jin Z-B, Okamoto S, Osakada F, Homma K, Assawachananont J, Hirami Y, et al. Modeling retinal degeneration using patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One February 10, 2011;6(2):e17084.
- [61] Singh R, Shen W, Kuai D, Martin JM, Guo X, Smith MA, et al. iPS cell modeling of Best disease: insights into the pathophysiology of an inherited macular degeneration. Hum Mol Genet February 1, 2013;22(3):593–607.
- [62] Tucker BA, Cranston CM, Anfinson KA, Shrestha S, Streb LM, Leon A, et al. Using patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells to interrogate the pathogenicity of a novel retinal pigment epithelium-specific 65 kDa cryptic splice site mutation and confirm eligibility for enrollment into a clinical gene augmentation trial. Transl Res December 2015;166(6):740–1.

- [63] Tucker BA, Mullins RF, Streb LM, Anfinson K, Eyestone ME, Kaalberg E, et al. Patient-specific iPSC-derived photoreceptor precursor cells as a means to investigate retinitis pigmentosa. Elife August 27, 2013;2:e00824.
- [64] Yang J, Li Y, Chan L, Tsai Y-T, Wu W-H, Nguyen HV, et al. Validation of genome-wide association study (GWAS)-identified disease risk alleles with patient-specific stem cell lines. Hum Mol Genet July 1, 2014;23(13):3445–55.
- [65] Garcia TY, Gutierrez M, Reynolds J, Lamba DA. Modeling the dynamic AMD-associated chronic oxidative stress changes in human ESC and iPSC-derived RPE cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci November 2015;56(12):7480–8.
- [66] Meyer JS, Howden SE, Wallace KA, Verhoeven AD, Wright LS, Capowski EE, et al. Optic vesicle-like structures derived from human pluripotent stem cells facilitate a customized approach to retinal disease treatment. Stem Cells August 2011;29(8):1206–18.
- [67] Schwarz N, Carr A-J, Lane A, Moeller F, Chen LL, Aguilà M, et al. Translational read-through of the RP2 Arg120stop mutation in patient iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells. Hum Mol Genet February 15, 2015;24(4):972–86.
- [68] Yoshida T, Ozawa Y, Suzuki K, Yuki K, Ohyama M, Akamatsu W, et al. The use of induced pluripotent stem cells to reveal pathogenic gene mutations and explore treatments for retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Brain June 16, 2014;7(1):45.
- [69] Vasireddy V, Mills JA, Gaddameedi R, Basner-Tschakarjan E, Kohnke M, Black AD, et al. AAV-mediated gene therapy for choroideremia: preclinical studies in personalized models. PLoS One 2013;8(5):e61396.
- [70] Li Y, Wu W-H, Hsu C-W, Nguyen HV, Tsai Y-T, Chan L, et al. Gene therapy in patient-specific stem cell lines and a preclinical model of retinitis pigmentosa with membrane frizzled-related protein defects. Mol Ther September 2014;22(9):1688–97.
- [71] Burnight ER, Wiley LA, Drack AV, Braun TA, Anfinson KR, Kaalberg EE, et al. CEP290 gene transfer rescues leber congenital amaurosis cellular phenotype. Gene Ther July 2014;21(7):662–72.
- [72] Wiley LA, Burnight ER, Drack AV, Banach BB, Ochoa D, Cranston CM, et al. Using patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells and wildtype mice to develop a gene augmentation-based strategy to treat CLN3-associated retinal degeneration. Hum Gene Ther July 11, 2016;27(10): 835–46.
- [73] Wiley LA, Burnight ER, Songstad AE, Drack AV, Mullins RF, Stone EM, et al. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) for the study and treatment of retinal degenerative diseases. Prog Retin Eye Res January 2015;44:15–35.
- [74] Hung SSC, Chrysostomou V, Li F, Lim JKH, Wang J-H, Powell JE, et al. AAV-mediated CRISPR/Cas gene editing of retinal cells in vivo. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci June 1, 2016;57(7):3470–6.
- [75] Bakondi B, Lv W, Lu B, Jones MK, Tsai Y, Kim KJ, et al. In vivo CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing corrects retinal dystrophy in the S334ter-3 rat model of autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Ther March 2016;24(3):556–63.
- [76] Lancaster MA, Knoblich JA. Organogenesis in a dish: modeling development and disease using organoid technologies. Science July 18, 2014; 345(6194):1247125.
- [77] Eiraku M, Takata N, Ishibashi H, Kawada M, Sakakura E, Okuda S, et al. Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. Nature April 7, 2011;472(7341):51–6.
- [78] Phillips MJ, Wallace KA, Dickerson SJ, Miller MJ, Verhoeven AD, Martin JM, et al. Blood-derived human iPS cells generate optic vesicle-like structures with the capacity to form retinal laminae and develop synapses. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci April 2012;53(4):2007–19.
- [79] Nakano T, Ando S, Takata N, Kawada M, Muguruma K, Sekiguchi K, et al. Self-formation of optic cups and storable stratified neural retina from human ESCs. Cell Stem Cell June 14, 2012;10(6):771–85.
- [80] Zhong X, Gutierrez C, Xue T, Hampton C, Vergara MN, Cao L-H, et al. Generation of three-dimensional retinal tissue with functional photoreceptors from human iPSCs. Nat Comms June 10, 2014:5.
- [81] Reichman S, Terray A, Slembrouck A, Nanteau C, Orieux G, Habeler W, et al. From confluent human iPS cells to self-forming neural retina and retinal pigmented epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA June 10, 2014;111(23):8518–23.
- [82] Songstad AE, Wiley LA, Duong K, Kaalberg E, Flamme-Wiese MJ, Cranston CM, et al. Generating iPSC-derived choroidal endothelial cells to study age-related macular degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci December 2015;56(13):8258–67.

This page intentionally left blank

# 23

## Stem Cells for Traumatic Brain Injury

Christopher M. Schneider, Margaret L. Jackson, Supinder S. Bedi, Charles S. Cox, Jr.

McGovern Medical School at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

## INTRODUCTION

## Epidemiology

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a leading cause of death and disability in the United States. Approximately 1.5 million people experience a TBI yearly in the United States. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimate that 275,000 people are hospitalized annually as a result of a TBI. The yearly TBI mortality rate exceeds 50,000 and it is responsible for 30% of all injury-related deaths [1]. In addition, TBI is the leading cause of death in children and adolescents. Surviving patients have varying levels of long term-sequela. Overall, 6.5 million patients are burdened by the physical, cognitive, and psychosocial deficits associated with TBI, leading to a total economic impact of approximately \$76.3 billion in medical costs and lost wages [2].

The CDC collects data on TBI mechanisms of injury and trends in patient outcomes. Fig. 23.1 illustrates the leading causes of TBI in the United States from 2006 to 2010. Falls were the leading cause of TBI, accounting for 40% of all



FIGURE 23.1 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (https://www.cdc.gov/traumaticbraininjury/get\_the\_facts.html) pie chart demonstrating the most common causes of traumatic brain injury (TBI) in the United States from 2006 to 2010. Falls were the leading cause, followed by unintentional blunt trauma, motor vehicle accidents, and assaults.
370

injuries that resulted in an emergency department visit, hospitalization, or death. Unintentional blunt trauma (being hit by an object) was the second leading cause, accounting for 15% of TBIs, followed by motor vehicle accidents, which made up 14%, and finally, assaults at 10%. TBI-related emergency department visits increased by 70% from 2001 to 2010. However, the death rate during this period decreased by 7%, largely owing to postinjury supportive care that focuses on modulating intracranial pressure (ICP) and cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP). Unfortunately, this medical management of TBI is still merely supportive care that focuses on preventing further damage without the ability to restore function.

#### Classification of Traumatic Brain Injury

Development of successful TBI treatments requires a clear classification of brain injury severity. Multiple clinical scoring systems have been used to classify TBI. The Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) has been adopted to assess TBI severity and is now one of the most used scoring systems. The GCS gives a clinical score based on the patient's ability to open his or her eyes, communicate, and follow motor commands. The scale ranges from 3 to 15; GCS scores of 3–8 are classified as severe TBI, scores of 9–12 are classified as moderate TBI, and scores of 13–15 are classified as mild TBI. The abbreviated injury scale and injury severity score are additional criteria to stratify TBI based on anatomic injury, which are often available only late into a clinical course.

Several imaging classifications have been developed as an adjunct to scoring TBI severity. The Marshall classification of TBI is a computed tomography (CT) scan-derived prognostic metric that places patients into one of six categories of increasing severity. The scoring system is primarily concerned with the degree of swelling (midline shift and/or compression of basal cisterns) and the presence or size of contusions and hemorrhages. It has been able to predict both the risk of increased ICP and outcomes in adult patients with TBI [3]. Limitations of the Marshall classification system include difficulty categorizing patients with multiple injury types and standardization of certain features of the CT scan [4]. The more recently developed Rotterdam CT score of TBI includes four independently scored elements: basal cistern compression, midline shift, epidural hematomas (EDH), and intraventricular blood or traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [5]. The Rotterdam scoring system may become a more preferable imaging measure of TBI severity after further validation.

Identifying biomarkers for TBI could have many potential applications in the way TBI is diagnosed and treated. A point of care test could identify TBI early and assist in the initial stages of management. Other biomarkers could serve to highlight the specific neuropathophysiology behind the injury or even injury severity. With regard to stem cell therapeutics for brain injury, a biomarker could be used in the acute and chronic stages of TBI to follow the response to different therapeutic interventions. A literature review performed in 2016 examined 12 biomarkers (S100 $\beta$ , glial fibrillary acidic protein [GFAP], ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1, neuron-specific enolase, neurofilaments, myelin basic protein, spectrin breakdown products, Tau, microtubule-associated protein 2, amyloid  $\beta$ , cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and interleukin (IL)-6, and autoantibodies against brain proteins such as GFAP) that have been studied to diagnose TBI [6]. The review found that nearly all 12 biomarkers were rapidly elevated after injury and may serve as a diagnostic tool. Although not specific for TBI, the negative predictive value of the biomarkers could be a clinical tool to rule out a brain injury. Although the clinical use of biomarkers in TBI is still in its infancy, the potential for broad clinical application is promising and many clinical trials are ongoing.

#### PHASES OF BRAIN INJURY

#### Primary Versus Secondary Brain Injury

TBI is divided into two distinct phases: "primary" and "secondary" brain injuries. The primary injury occurs at the time of the trauma, when energy is dissipated within the substance of the brain, either from a closed blunt injury or a penetrating wound. The primary injury is irreversible and includes direct neuronal, glial, and vascular disruption. The primary injury may be caused by contusions, shear injuries, or compression from hemorrhage. Contusions can occur under fracture sites, the point of impact (coup contusion), or at regions distant from the initial impact (contrecoup contusion). Shear injury, often referred to as diffuse axonal injury, occurs when axons tear as the brain shifts and rotates inside the bony skull. Hematomas and hemorrhages are classified by location within the brain. EDH are often caused by temporal bone skull fractures that lacerate the middle meningeal artery. EDH can develop into large, lens-shaped, extraaxial hematomas that compress the brain parenchyma and increase ICP. Subdural hematomas are found between the dura and arachnoid mater from tearing of the bridging veins in this subdural space. Large

#### PHASES OF BRAIN INJURY



FIGURE 23.2 Different types of traumatic brain hemorrhages. *DAI*, diffuse axonal injury; *EDH*, epidural hematoma; *IVH*, intraventricular hemorrhage; *SAH*, subarachnoid hemorrhage; *SDH*, subdural hematoma.

crescent-shaped blood collections can lead to an elevated ICP and uncal herniation. SAH is bleeding between the arachnoid and pia mater. Patients with SAH can develop cerebral vasospasm, which worsens further ischemic injuries (Fig. 23.2).

The second phase of TBI begins hours after the trauma and can last decades after the initial injury [7]. Secondary injuries are the result of biochemical events that may accelerate initial cellular injury or cause new injury altogether [8,9]. The effects of secondary brain injury are caused by increased neuronal excitotoxicity, disturbances in ionic homeostasis, neuronal apoptosis, and the initiation of inflammatory and immune responses. Secondary injury mechanisms are cumulative and create a toxic local environment around the site of injury. The resulting increase in blood—brain barrier (BBB) permeability and the ensuing cerebral edema serve to amplify the neuroinflammatory signal by exacerbating the initial ischemic injury.

#### Neuroinflammation

TBI increases neuronal excitotoxicity and prompts disturbances in ionic homeostasis that contribute to secondary neuronal cell injury. Both human and animal models have found elevated levels of the excitatory amino acid glutamate in the brain after TBI [10,11]. Increased glutamate levels lead to neuronal excitotoxicity and a resulting hypermetabolic state. Positron-emission tomography (PET) imaging in patients with severe TBI found hyperglycolysis regionally at the site of injury and diffusely throughout the cerebrum [12]. Hyperglycolysis leads to the depletion of neuronal cell adenosine triphosphate stores and resultant disturbances in ionic homeostasis resulting from active ion pump failure. Electrochemical equilibrium across the neuron is lost owing to inactivation of the Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> pump and activation of ion channels by the increased glutamate levels. A massive intracellular influx of calcium occurs leading to calpain-mediated spectrin proteolysis triggering increased levels of membrane breakdown and axonal injury. These pathways result in the sustained secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and cytotoxic molecules from the damaged neurons. Fig. 23.3 demonstrates elevated intracerebral proinflammatory cytokines identified in specific areas and at specific time points relative to a TBI carried out in a rodent model using a controlled cortical impact (CCI) injury [13].

Central to the secondary inflammatory responses to TBI are microglia, the macrophages of the central nervous system (CNS) [14]. Consistent with their role as CNS macrophages, microglia are responsible for clearing dead cells









**FIGURE 23.3** Elevated intracerebral cytokines identified in specific areas and at specific times relative to the traumatic brain injury (TBI). The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  (A), IL-1 $\beta$  (B), and IL-6 (C) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  (D) were significantly elevated 6 hours after controlled cortical impact in the injury and penumbral regions compared with sham animals (\*P < .01 for all). IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 (c) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  (D) were significantly elevated 6 hours after controlled cortical impact in the injury and penumbral regions compared with sham animals (\*P < .01 for all). IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 remained elevated through 12, 12, and 24 h, respectively (\*P < .01 or <sup>†</sup>P < .05). In the frontal area, IL-6 was significantly increased at 24 h (33- to 50-fold, P < .01, Dunnett test), but not at 6 or 12 h after TBI.

#### PHASES OF BRAIN INJURY

and other debris such as astrocytes and myelin. Under homeostasis, microglia are highly mobile and provide continuous surveillance of their cellular milieu (M0-phenotype) [15,16]. The hostile local milieu that results from the proinflammatory molecules during the secondary phase of TBI causes microglia to differentiate into a neurotoxic, proinflammatory state (M1-like phenotype). M1-like microglia worsen secondary neuronal cell injury by perpetuating the production of proinflammatory cytokines and cytodestructive substances. Moreover, M1-like microglia upregulate chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans, which are powerful inhibitors of axon regrowth [17,18]. Animal models have shown that within 1 week of a brain injury, there is a phenotypic shift toward the M1-like microglial response [19]. The ratio of M1-like (proinflammatory) to M2-like (antiinflammatory) microglia can be attenuated with stem cell therapy, which leads to improvements in cognitive behavior [20]. Fig. 23.4 illustrates a TBI that resulted in chronic activation of microglia that was attenuated with multipotent adult progenitor cell (MAPC) treatment (CCI-10) in the dentate gyrus. Similarly, Zanier et al. demonstrated that human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) infused into brain-injured mice promoted an M2-like polarization of microglia. This favorable dichotomization resulted in M2-like mediated repair responses and long-term neurologic recovery [21].

TBI also elicits a dramatic rise in the number of infiltrating macrophages at the site of injury. The pathways responsible for macrophage infiltration are still not well-understood, but they may deal with the binding of C–C-chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2). Hsieh et al. used a CCI injury model to demonstrate a greatly reduced number of infiltrating macrophages (about 80%–90%) after TBI in mice that were CCR2-deficient compared with wild-type animals. CCR2-deficient mice showed improved functional recovery (spatial learning/memory) and neuronal survival, although there was no difference in the volume of tissue loss [22]. Other preclinical works have shown that infiltrating macrophages activate microglia by releasing proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  [23,24]. In the absence of infiltrating macrophages, there is a reduction in microglial activation [25] and therefore a reduction in neuroinflammation. These discoveries have important implications for progenitor cell therapy for TBI and also question the inflammatory roles of the different myeloid lineages. The results of these studies could lead one to postulate whether infiltrating macrophages are proinflammatory and resident microglia are antiinflammatory until provoked by these hostile invaders. In this scenario, stem cell therapy would have a stronger role in downregulating the peripheral macrophage response to TBI, possibly as demonstrated through their effect on the reticuloendothelial system.

Assessment of microglial activation patterns in vivo may soon serve as a marker of TBI severity, as demonstrated by an in vivo proinflammatory response to CCI using PET/CT imaging with the PET radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 [26]. Peripheral benzodiazepine receptors, also known as the translocator protein, are upregulated on the mitochondrial membranes of activated microglia (M1-like). Uptake of the radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28, as measured by standardized uptake values (SUV), was increased in a dose-dependent manner based on the severity of the TBI, as seen in Fig. 23.5. These SUV findings were confirmed ex vivo by quantifying the cellular morphology of activated (M1-like) versus semiactivated versus nonactivated microglia (M2-like) in thalami of the same rodents. Similar to the in vivo results, the most severely injured animals had the highest numbers of activated microglia (M1-like), followed by the moderately injured animals, and finally the sham group, as seen in Fig. 23.6. Future experiments are being planned to determine the utility of the radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 as a marker of stem cell therapeutic efficacy after TBI in a rodent model.

#### **Blood–Brain Barrier Permeability**

The BBB is an anatomical structure that controls the flow of molecules in and out of the CNS. Cells that contribute to the structure of the BBB include endothelial cells and tight junction proteins. The opening and closing of tight junction proteins regulate transport of essential molecules and maintenance of a stable environment. There is communication between the cells of the BBB and the cells of the CNS, which include astrocytes, neurons, and microglia. Interaction between cells of the BBB and CNS has an important role in the control of cerebral blood flow [27,28].

TBI opens the BBB, allowing progression of the neuroinflammatory response. In addition, breakdown of the BBB after TBI increases microvascular permeability, exacerbating vasogenic cerebral edema with concomitant elevations in ICP. Shortly after TBI, an array of effector cells, including neutrophils and monocytes, migrate from the peripheral blood to the site of injury [29]. Infiltrating macrophages can further amplify microglia activation into the neurotoxic, proinflammatory phenotype. In the absence of closure of the BBB, macrophage infiltration is left unchecked and contributes to a prolonged inflammatory response. A prolonged inflammatory response with chronic microglia activation is associated with deleterious effects on cognitive behavior.

Stem cell therapy in preclinical experiments restores the BBB. Repair of the BBB was demonstrated using a CCI injury model in rodents with either human MAPC or autologous cells from the tibia of the animal. Administration of multiple doses (MAPC) or a single dose (autologous cells) resulted in a decrease in BBB permeability after TBI as



FIGURE 23.4 Multipotent adult progenitor cell treatment reduced the number of activated microglia in the dentate gyrus. (A–D) Photomicrographs of microglia from sham (A), CCI (B), CCI-2 (C), and CCI-10 (D) animals using IBA1 antibody (*red*). Scale bars = 500  $\mu$ m (magnification ×4), 100  $\mu$ m (magnification ×20), and 50  $\mu$ m (magnification ×40). (E) Number of activated microglia in the dentate gyrus of the ipsilateral hippocampus. \**P* ≤ .05. *CCI*, cortical contusion injury (untreated); *CCI*-2, cortical contusion injury treated with 2 million cells/kg; *CCI*-10, cortical contusion injury treated with 10 million cells/kg.



**FIGURE 23.5** Whole-brain standardized uptake values (SUV) relative to muscle of the radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 after a traumatic brain injury (TBI) in a rodent model. There was a dose-dependent increase in the amount of [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 uptake depending on the severity of the injury. 2.1 mm CCI, 2.1-mm controlled cortical impact simulating a moderate TBI; 3.1 mm CCI, 3.1-mm controlled cortical impact simulating a severe TBI.



**FIGURE 23.6** Microglial counts based on morphology in the thalami after a traumatic brain injury (TBI) in a rodent model. Severely injured animals had the highest counts of all cellular morphology types, all of which were statistically significant at *P* < .05. Microglia were identified via immunohistochemistry using the antibody Iba-1. Manual counts based on specific morphologic criteria were then carried out. 2.1 mm CCI, 2.1-mm controlled cortical impact simulating a moderate TBI; 3.1 mm CCI, 3.1-mm controlled cortical impact simulating a severe TBI; SUV, standardized uptake values.

measured by extravasation of Evans blue dye [30,31]. BBB integrity was further examined by immunostaining for the tight junction protein, occludin. A qualitative increase in occludin staining occurred in CCI-injured animals that received both forms of cell therapy, compared with the CCI-injured animals alone. Pati et al. were able to clearly elucidate a molecular mechanism for the effects of MSC on the BBB in TBI. They found that a soluble factor produced by MSC, tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP3), inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor A–induced breakdown of endothelial adherens junctions. Increased circulating levels of TIMP3 led to the replacement of endothelial function and BBB compromise. In addition, they discovered that the attenuation of TIMP3 expression in MSC negates the effects of MSC on BBB permeability, whereas intravenous (IV) administration of recombinant TIMP3 alone inhibits BBB permeability [32].

#### **Cerebral Edema**

Cerebral edema results in reduced cerebral microvascular perfusion, leading to significant secondary neuronal injury after TBI. Cytotoxic and vasogenic cerebral edema lead to increased brain tissue water and a subsequent

rise in ICP [33]. Cytotoxic edema is caused by the establishment of an osmotic gradient causing water flow into the intracellular space. The osmotic gradient is established when there is an influx of intracellular ions from active ion pump failure and increased membrane permeability. Vasogenic edema is also caused by an osmotic and oncotic gradient; however, the ion and protein flux is from the intravascular to extracellular space. Vasogenic edema follows disruption of the cerebral vascular endothelial cell lining that makes up the BBB [34]. The consequential elevations in ICP serve as a clinical target and surrogate marker of cerebral edema. Restoration of the BBB with stem cell therapy allows better treatment of cerebral edema; clinical trials have shown a reduction in therapeutic intensity required to counter cerebral edema in brain-injured patients treated with bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNCs) [35].

#### CURRENT TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

Current TBI management strategies are designed to minimize secondary injury, because the primary injury is considered irreversible [36–38]. The current treatment paradigm can be divided into surgical or medical management, depending on the severity of the injury. Surgical intervention focuses on evacuating extraaxial fluid collections and the placement of ICP monitors. Medical management of cerebral hemodynamics involves optimizing the CPP. The definition of CPP is the difference between the mean arterial pressure (MAP) and the ICP (CPP = MAP – ICP). Thus, maximization of CPP can be achieved by either increasing the MAP or reducing the ICP [39,40]. Variations in the precise techniques used to manage these variables do nothing to reverse the primary injury. Moreover, currently there are no effective treatments to prevent the secondary brain injury mechanisms after TBI. Therefore, significant advances in reducing the disability associated with TBI are unlikely using current management strategies alone [41].

#### PRECLINICAL DATA SUPPORTING STEM CELL THERAPIES FOR TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

#### Cell Types

Two major classes of stem cell-based therapies have emerged for CNS insults: autologous and heterologous (allogeneic). The allogeneic class can be broken down into embryonic, embryonic-like (induced pluripotent stem cells cells), and adult cells. Adult stem cells are derived from a niche in a developing or developed organism [42]. These cells are considered multipotent or pluripotent because they can differentiate into multiple adult cell types. The adult subdivisions includes fetal, specialized niche cells (for example, subventricular zone derived neural stem cells [NSCs]), bone marrow-derived adherent cells (mesenchymal stromal cells [MSC] and MAPC), and nonadherent cells (BMMNCs and human umbilical cord blood cells [hUCBCs]). Autologous cells include cells used in heterologous applications, including BMMNC, expanded MSC, harvested niche cells such as NSC, and privately banked hUCBC.

#### Mechanisms of Action

The proposed biologic mechanisms for using cell-based therapy for TBI fall into one of two major categories: neural/supporting element replacement or an antiinflammatory/immune biologic response modifier. Early preclinical work focused on neural replacement mechanisms. The term "transdifferentiation" was popularized after studies showed that in vitro "adult" or nonembryonic progenitor cell types could be coaxed into neural phenotypes and express neural protein [43–45]. In vivo murine models replicated this intuitive hypothesis that progenitor cells migrated to an area of injury, transdifferentiated into neurons, and replaced neurons that were lost during the primary and secondary injuries [46–54]. Those reports showed impressive improvement in murine behavioral outcomes (improved locomotor recovery and temporospatial cognition) as well as apparent "engraftment" of these cells through 5-bromo-2′-deoxyuridine (BrdU) labeling identification. Immunohistochemistry sections of the injured brains demonstrated BrdU-labeled cells near the site of injury with neural phenotypes. However, this engraftment and transdifferentiation theory was later disproven and abandoned by most investigators. In 2006, Coyne et al. showed that the BrdU that was used to label MSC persisted in the area of injury, but it was merely the BrdU from dead MSC that persisted, not the cells themselves. Specifically, the thymidine analogues were taken up by other cells in the area of injury (endogenous NSC or microglia) and gave a false signal [55]. However, discarding the engraftment hypothesis did not change the improvement shown in behavioral outcomes in murine models.

Although some investigators still work with the hypothesis that progenitor cells transdifferentiate into neurons, most have turned to investigating progenitor cells as systemic neuroinflammatory modulators. The overall neuroinflammatory modulation of stem cells in TBI is downregulation of the intrinsic proinflammatory responses to injury and upregulation of antiinflammatory responses. Through probable pleiotropic mechanisms, systemic administration of cellular therapies improves outcomes compared with placebo. In this way, progenitor cell therapy preserves neurons that have not yet died from the primary injury but are vulnerable as a result of ongoing secondary injury [31,55–60]. Potential mechanistic pathways for this include downregulation of the activated microglia population to downregulate phagocytosis/neuron programmed cell death [31,60] and the study of antiinflammatory proteins secreted by progenitor cells such as TNF  $\alpha$ -stimulated gene 6 product (TSG-6), Winglesstype MMTV Integration Site Family, Member 3a, and TIMP3 [61-64]. The success that was seen with TIMP3 and BBB preservation led Pati et al. to investigate this MSC-derived soluble factor for a neuroprotective role. They found that rodents treated with IV TIMP3 did not experience the significant loss of NSCs that is routinely seen in the preclinical literature [62]. NSC upregulation is important because NSC develop into immature neurons that migrate into the granule cell layer and integrate into neural circuitry. Others have produced some evidence of stem cell fusion with injured cells and the possible exchange of cytoplasm to preserve the damaged neurons. There is a growing body of literature that supports the concept that progenitor cell infusions profoundly upregulate multiple antiinflammatory neuroprotective pathways mediated by the reticuloendothelial system and possibly the lung [65,66]. Yang et al. demonstrated immunomodulation of the splenic response to stroke using human MAPC. MAPC treatment restored spleen mass reduction caused by stroke, elevated T<sub>regulatory</sub> cells within the spleen, increased IL-10, and decreased IL-1 $\beta$  released by splenocytes. In addition, MAPC treatment enhanced recovery in rats with intact spleens [67]. Prockop et al. revealed that IV infused human multipotent stromal cells (hMSC) become trapped as emboli in the lungs but upregulated a large increase in the antiinflammatory protein TSG-6. IV hMSC or TSG-6 administered during the initial mild phase of a mouse model of TBI decreased neutrophil extravasation, expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by endothelial cell and neutrophils, and subsequent BBB leakage. TSG-6 administered alone decreased TBI lesion size at 2 weeks and administration within 24 h showed improvements in memory, depressive-like behavior, and the number of newly born neurons 6–10 weeks after the injury [68].

#### Timing of Infusion

Stem cell delivery must take the acute injury time window into consideration. The secondary phase of brain injury occurs within hours of the initial trauma and is characterized by a rapid increase in proinflammatory cytokines at the site of injury and surrounding regions [13,69]. The peak in cerebral edema, and thus ICP elevations, follows the early inflammation after cytokine levels start to subside by 72 h. To downregulate the proinflammatory processes (or upregulate the antiinflammatory responses) associated with TBI, delivery of cell therapy likely must occur before or during the period of maximum inflammation. In clinical trials, this time point has been within 36–48 h of the trauma. The 36-h time window has been clinically reaffirmed in patients with stroke treated with MAPC. Patients treated before 36 h after a stroke had significant improvement relative to controls, whereas those treated after 36 h did not have the same benefit [70].

One potential error with this rationale is that the toxic cellular microenvironment may significantly affect the potential therapeutic benefit of the treatment. Cellular engraftment or even transient residence of the cells would cause most of the cells to die upon reaching the noxious region of interest. Harting et al. used immunohistochemistry to reveal that only 1.4%–1.9% of 400,000 infused NSC remained in the neural tissue at 48 h and 2 weeks after direct implantation after a CCI injury in rats [71]. This hypothesis led some investigators in the field to suggest that cell-based therapy be given 72 h after the brain injury to minimize the risk of transplanted cell death.

Two antiinflammatory mechanistic views have been hypothesized to explain the clinical benefits that are evident despite the seemingly uninhabitable injury area. First, stem cells of various types exhibit a paracrine secretion of growth factors and cytokines to salvage "at-risk" cells in the penumbral regions around the primary injury [72,73] Second, infusion of stem cells systemically alters the innate, cellular immune response to injury favorably such that tissue is preserved and functional outcomes are improved [65,74]. The exact window for cell therapy delivery remains ill-defined. Further understanding of cell therapy mechanisms of actions will define clinical time-lines for maximum therapeutic benefits.

#### **Conventional Cell Delivery Routes**

A fundamental question of stem cell therapy for any disease process is how to administer the cells. Optimization of stem cell therapies for TBI requires a route of delivery without a significant effect on cell viability and function. Routine routes of delivery for animal models and human clinical trials include infusions IV, intraarterially, or intra-thecally, and direct stereotactic implantation.

IV infusion of cells is minimally invasive; it provides widespread cellular distribution and has demonstrated promising preclinical data. The reported low levels of cell engraftment in the toxic injury site likely make the IV route more efficacious than stereotactic delivery or intrathecal infusion. Furthermore, TBI is not typically confined to one region of the brain, in contrast to a stroke that manifests symptoms in a defined arterial distribution. The disseminated injuries of TBI thus make direct stereotactic injection or targeted intraarterial infusion appear less effective than the widespread IV route of delivery. The Chopp laboratory exhibited both motor and cognitive improvements after the IV infusion of MSC 24 h after a CCI injury in rats. IV infusions of hUCBCs have exhibited enhanced neurogenesis [75], oligodendrocyte, and white matter (WM) protection [65], and decreased messenger RNA of proinflammatory cytokines and nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB) in rodents [76]. Similar to their work with MSC, the Chopp laboratory found significantly reduced motor and neurological deficits in brain-injured rats treated with IV hUCBC compared with control groups [47]. IV hUCBC therapy combined with granulocyte–colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) demonstrated vigorous and long-lasting motor recovery compared with hUCBC therapy alone [77].

#### **Pulmonary "First-Pass" Effect**

IV-infused cells must first pass through the pulmonary vasculature, during which they are subjected to sequestration, the "pulmonary first-pass effect." Investigations in multiple laboratories have shown that IV-injected MSC (15–19  $\mu$ m in diameter) undergo a significant pulmonary first-pass effect and become trapped in the pulmonary vasculature (5–7  $\mu$ m in diameter) [78,79]. Fischer et al. found that less than 1% of injected MSC cross the pulmonary vasculature into the arterial circulation. As seen in Fig. 23.7, infrared imaging of the lungs, heart, kidney, spleen, and liver of rats immediately after IV infusion of varying cell types revealed accumulation of most MSC, MAPC, and NSC in the lungs [78]. Antiadhesion molecule strategies and rheologic agents (P188) did not improve the transpulmonary passage of these cells. In contrast, BMMNC (5–8  $\mu$ m in diameter) pass through the pulmonary vasculature to the arterial circulation at a 30-fold higher rate [78]. A large volume of the infused BMMNC was noted in the spleen. The neurologic benefits that continue to be seen from IV MSC therapy, despite their significant pulmonary first-pass effect, challenge the idea of engraftment at the site of injury as a requirement for therapeutic efficacy.

#### Conventional Cell Delivery Routes, Continued

Intraarterial infusion of stem cells via the carotid artery is an attractive infusion method because of the focused delivery of cells and the potential for improved levels of cellular engraftment. Although it is invasive to access the carotid artery, consolidated injury areas close to the cerebral vasculature may see benefits from this style of delivery. Osanai et al. used in vivo optical imaging and immunohistochemistry to demonstrate significant engraftment of bone marrow stromal cells (BMSC) transplanted through the ipsilateral internal carotid artery. The authors also used near-infrared fluorescence imaging to demonstrate the transplanted BMSC migrating from the cerebral capillary bed to the injured CNS within 3 h of infusion [80]. Improved MSC engraftment rates are likely evident because these cells avoid the significant pulmonary first-pass effect that is seen with IV infusion. A major limitation of intraarterial infusion was observed when the large size of the injected MSC resulted in impedance of cerebral blood flow [81].

Intrathecal infusion via lumbar puncture allows stem cells to circulate rapidly in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF); preclinical work has shown the potential for better engraftment rates by avoiding the pulmonary first-pass effect. Intrathecal delivery of stem cells has largely been used in preclinical spinal cord injury studies; however, the promising results invited TBI investigators to explore this route of delivery. Liu et al. found improved cortical engraftment and motor functioning when comparing MSC injected intrathecally versus IV in a rabbit model of TBI [82]. Walker et al. demonstrated enhanced neuroprotection when intrathecally transplanted MSC activated resident NSC NF-kB activity, which led to an increase in IL-6 production and a decrease in apoptosis [83]. Additional preclinical work on intrathecal delivery has been minimal. However, several clinical trials that used this mode of transport will be discussed in the clinical trials section subsequently.

Preclinical work that used direct stereotactic implantation of various stem cell lines displayed amplified engraftment and encouraging functional outcomes. However, this mode of delivery would require an invasive



FIGURE 23.7 Infrared imaging of organs immediately after intravenous stem cell infusions. Lungs, heart, kidney, spleen, and liver of rats immediately after intravenous stem cell infusion (B–K) or vehicle (A, control) imaged ex vivo on the Li-COR Odyssey infrared imaging system. *BMMCs*, bone marrow mononuclear cells; *MAPCs*, multipotent adult progenitor cells; *MSCs*, mesenchymal stem cells; *NSCs*, neural stem cells; *VCAM*, vascular cell adhesion molecule.

#### 23. STEM CELLS FOR TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

neurosurgical procedure. Despite this constraint, rodent experiments displayed migration and engraftment of MSC at the injury site, increased endogenous cellular proliferation, and functional improvement up to 8 days after injury [51,84]. Several studies have been performed with direct implantation of NSC. As mentioned earlier, Harting et al. found that stereotactically placed NSC 1 week after a CCI injury in rats displayed a 1.4%-1.9% engraftment rate along the injection tracks 48 h and 2 weeks after placement. These animals had an observed improvement in motor function via the rotarod test; however, no improvement was found in cognitive function [71]. Li et al. examined and compared stereotactically placed NSC and NSC that were activated with N-acetyl aspartyl-glutamate synthetase (NAAGS/NSC). Both treatment groups displayed significant recovery of motor behavior compared with the control group. However, animals treated with NAAGS/NSC showed significantly improved motor behavior at 14 and 21 days compared with the NSC group (P < .05). In addition, NAAGS/NSC treatment inhibited cell apoptosis detected by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase deoxyuridine triphosphate nick end labeling staining and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1B, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ ) analyzed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay [85]. Wu et al. found that CCI-injured mice injected intracerebrally with primed human NSC showed significantly reduced injury-dependent accumulation of the axonal injury protein amyloid precursor protein. Intracerebral human NSC transplantation also reduced microglia activation and showed a transition toward the M2 antiinflammatory phenotype [56]. However, in addition to the invasive nature of this delivery route, another major barrier to direct implantation regards TBI as a diffuse injury with multiple large injury cavities. Multiple stereotactic injections would be needed in most instances to deliver cells to all injured areas of the brain. In addition to the risks associated with each procedure, the repetitive injections could exacerbate the underlying inflammatory response to injury.

#### Novel Cell Delivery Routes

Each of these conventional routes of cell delivery have major limitations; therefore, novel delivery methods are needed to enhance cellular migration, survival, and engraftment. Novel forms of delivery include nasal administration, scaffold constructs, hydrogels, and enhancement of stem cells to promote engraftment at the site of injury. Effective intranasal administration of stem cells has been reported in several neurologic disorders, stroke, neurodegenerative disorders, etc. [86]. The trigeminal nerve or cranial nerve V is a large sensory and motor nerve with many branches. Nerves providing sensation to the surface and interior structures of the face converge and enter the brain at the level of the pons. Intranasally administered cells follow the path of the trigeminal nerve and enter the brain parenchyma and CSF to carry out their functions on the CNS.

Success with transplantation of stem cells onto three-dimensional bioactive scaffolds in other injury paradigms have led to a large number of preclinical studies in TBI research. Natural materials such as collagen, hyaluronic acid, and porcine urinary bladder are the most commonly employed materials used for scaffolds. Wang et al. transplanted NSC cultured in a bioactive scaffold derived from porcine urinary bladder matrix (UBM) to a rat brain after a CCI injury. UBM has intrinsic antiinflammatory properties and it degrades rapidly in vivo, which makes it an ideal scaffold. Exposure to UBM alone decreased the loss of sensorimotor skills; however, only UBM containing NSC attenuated memory and cognitive impairments [87]. Guan et al. used PET imaging to show increased retention of human bone marrow MSC transplanted on collagen scaffolds in the lesion site of injured rats versus those transplanted without a scaffold. Brain metabolism was also improved in the collagen scaffold—implanted group as demonstrated by PET [88]. Synthetic materials are not as commonly employed in the use of scaffolds. However, Skop et al. were able to use a chitosan-based scaffold impregnated with growth factor (fibroblast growth factor-2) successfully to deliver fetal rat neural precursor cells to the injury site [89].

Hydrogels are three-dimensional networks of cross-linked hydrophilic polymers held together by covalent and hydrogen bonds that allow attachment, growth, and migration of surrounding cells onto the scaffold. Hydrogels have excellent nutrient and oxygen permeability allowing for stem cell survival [90]. The polymer networks expand when in contact with water; as such, they form in situ after injection. Hydrogels can be modified with proteins, glycosaminoglycans, cytokines, drugs, and other factors that will stimulate cell adhesion and growth [91]. Cheng et al. linked the laminin adhesion motif isoleucine-lysine-valine-alanine-valine (IKVAV) to a self-assembling peptide AcN-RADA<sub>16</sub> to form a hydrogel with mechanical stiffness similar to that of brain tissue. Rat neural precursor cells were encapsulated in the RADA<sub>16</sub>-IKVAV hydrogel and transplanted into rats after a 2-mm biopsy punch neocortical injury. Immunohistochemistry revealed that the hydrogel enhanced survival of the transplanted cells compared with cells infused in saline [92]. The broad capabilities of hydrogels to retain water, provide structural support, modify cell behavior, and take on many different forms make them attractive scaffolds for use in cell therapy for TBI.

#### CLINICAL TRIALS

In their metaanalysis, Chang et al. evaluated preclinical TBI data to determine behavioral effect sizes for both modified and nonmodified stem cells [93]. "Modified cells" are those genetically programmed to overexpress certain proteins such as G-CSF or TSG-6, or those implanted onto biological scaffolds before being applied as treatment. The authors found an increased treatment effect with modified treatments over and above that found with naive progenitor cell treatment when analyzed in aggregate. This finding suggests that cells enhanced by gene modification or impregnated on scaffolds may survive longer in vivo or potentiate downstream mechanistic effects. The mechanisms by which modified cells produce their treatment effect is continually under investigation.

#### CLINICAL TRIALS

#### Phase 1 Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cell Pediatric Trial

#### Background

Autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy for severe traumatic brain injury in children [94] was a phase I clinical trial (NCT00254722) in pediatric patients who experienced a severe closed-head TBI as defined by a GCS of 5–8. The purpose of the study was to determine whether autologous BMMNCs are a safe treatment for severe TBI in children. Each patient received  $6 \times 10^6$  mononuclear cells per kilogram body weight within 48 h of the TBI. After the bone marrow harvest and infusion, infusion-related toxicity was determined by pediatric logistic organ dysfunction scores, hepatic enzymes, Murray lung injury scores, and renal function. No detectable infusion-related toxicities occurred during this phase 1 trial.

#### **Rationale for Using Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cells**

We have focused on the use of autologous BMMNC for several reasons: (1) There are no immune barrier considerations; (2) these cells are  $5-8 \mu m$  in size (versus  $13-19 \mu m$  for MSC), which prevents the significant pulmonary "first-pass" effect and makes IV delivery more feasible [78]; (3) there are no in vitro culture or scaling issues for autologous application; (4) they are readily available; (5) there are no issues with uncontrolled replication as with embryonic stem cells or fetal cells; (6) there are no ethically objectionable issues with the cell type; and (7) there are evolving data on the efficacy and putative mechanism of action.

#### Longitudinal Outcome Measures

Clinical outcome measures and the imaging date were used to evaluate the children's response to stem cell treatment at 1 and 6 months after the TBI. All functional and neurocognitive outcome scores showed significant increases at 1 to 6 months follow-up. Volumetric magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) data obtained at 1 and 6-month after the TBI revealed no loss of whole-brain intracranial volume, gray matter (GM), or WM, or increase in CSF space. MRI is being planned for this group of patients to evaluate chronic structural changes. In addition, PET imaging using the radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 will evaluate chronic microglial activation.

#### **Reduction in Therapeutic Intensity: Pediatric Intensity Level of Therapy Scores**

A retrospective cohort study was completed after this phase 1 trial to study the intensity of treatment required to counter cerebral edema caused by neuroinflammatory responses to injury [35]. Investigators compared the degree of neurointensive care intervention in the 10 patients with severe TBI treated with BMMNC versus age-, severity-, and time-matched controls. In the pediatric population, the Pediatric Intensity Level of Therapy (PILOT) scoring system for treatment intensity directed toward ICP management was developed [95]. The PILOT score for each patient was calculated at 24-h intervals starting from the time of admission through 21 days. The group treated with BMMNC experienced a statistically significant reduction in PILOT scores beginning at 24 h after treatment through week 1 (P < .05). The treated group received autologous BMMNC infusion between 24 and 48 h from time of admission, which correlated to the time of divergence of the PILOT curves. In the first week, the control group treatment intensity after cell therapy. The treatment group continued to follow a linear decline in therapeutic intensity through 21 days. The control group required equal or escalated therapy and did not approach the treatment group scores until after 2 weeks postinjury. Fig. 23.8 illustrates these trends.

23. STEM CELLS FOR TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

Daily Pediatric Intensity Level of Therapy (PILOT)



FIGURE 23.8 Pediatric Intensity Level of Therapy (PILOT) scores calculated from time of admission with divergence seen after time of cell therapy (patients were treated within 48 h of admission) (P < .001) compared with both 2006–2008 and 2000–2008 controls.

#### Conclusions

The pediatric phase 1 trial data demonstrate that autologous BMMNC infusion is safe, does not result in infusional toxicity, results in lower therapeutic intensity of neurocritical care, and preserves brain GM and WM. Although the study was not designed to study these parameters, outcomes suggested continued improvement in functional measures.

#### Phase 1/2a Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cell Adult Trial

#### Background

After completion of the phase 1 pediatric trial, a phase 1/2a study (NCT01575470) was carried out in adult patients aged 18 to 55 years who experienced a severe TBI [96]. In addition to safety and the logistic feasibility of autologous BMMNC for severe TBI, the investigators sought to determine a potential treatment effect size of WM structural preservation. Biomarkers of the inflammatory response to TBI were also evaluated sequentially before and after injury. A dose-escalation format was performed in 25 patients: five controls followed by five patients in each dosing cohort (6, 9, and  $12 \times 10^6$  cells/kg body weight), and then five more controls. No serious adverse events were related to the study protocol.

#### **Imaging Data**

Imaging was performed at 1 and 6 months from the time of the TBI to acquire volumetric data and diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) comparisons. Significant differences and trends in structural preservation in global volumetrics of WM were seen in the treated versus untreated groups despite two confounding patients. These two patients had higher severity of injury and both required decompressive surgery before cell infusion, which altered the imaging readouts.

Prior imaging studies reported major impacts of TBI on the corpus callosum (CC) and corticospinal tract (CST), which led investigators to select these regions for the analysis of DTI metrics [97]. DTI data yielded measures of WM integrity, which included fractional anisotropy (FA) and mean diffusivity (MD). FA is a summary measure of microstructural integrity. Oversimplified, high FA values are a surrogate measure of coherent, tightly packed, and

#### CLINICAL TRIALS

myelinated fibers; higher FA is "good." The FA values of the CC in the untreated group were lower relative to the low-, middle-, and high-dose treatment groups at 1 and 6 months. The pooled treated patients exhibited higher FA values at 1 and 6 months relative to the untreated patients. MD is an inverse measure of cell membrane density and is sensitive to edema and necrosis; lower MD is "good." The MD values of the CC in the untreated group were higher relative to the low- and middle-dose treatment groups at 1 and 6 months. Pooled treated patients exhibited lower MD values of the CC at 1 and 6 months relative to the untreated patients.

The CST at the level of the brain stem exhibited similar characteristics of better WM integrity in the pooled group of treated patients as measured by DTI metrics (FA, MD, and radial diffusivity). FA values were higher and RD/MD values were lower in the pooled treatment group relative to the untreated group of patients.

#### **Biomarker Analysis**

Whole blood was collected in the acute and chronic periods for biomarker analysis. Cytokine levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, interferon gamma (IFN-gamma), and TNF- $\alpha$  were assessed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. The biomarker data showed a dose-dependent downregulation of the proinflammatory innate immune response to TBI, similar to the preclinical data in cell therapy models for TBI mentioned earlier. Investigators found a dose-dependent trend for TNF- $\alpha$  suppression and a statistically significant reduction in IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-10, and IFN-gamma in the high-dose group.

#### Conclusions

The adult phase 1/2a severe TBI trial found that autologous BMMNC infusion for adults with severe TBI is safe and logistically feasible. In addition, the investigators found a potential signal of treatment effect in terms of structural preservation of critical CNS architecture.

#### Phase 1 Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Subacute Traumatic Brain Injury Trial

#### Background

Autologous Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy in the Subacute Stage of Traumatic Brain Injury by Lumbar Puncture was a phase 1 clinical trial (NCT02028104) in patients aged older than 6 months of age who were diagnosed with a chronic TBI of at least 1-month duration [98]. The study was a nonrandom, open-labeled, interventional cohort study. Patients with a persistent vegetative state (PVS) or disturbances in motor activity admitted to the Department of Neurosurgery at Yichang Center People's Hospital were selected for inclusion. A total of 97 patients (24 with a vegetative state and 73 with motor disturbances) voluntarily received bone marrow MSC via a lumbar puncture. Lumbar puncture was used as the delivery route in this study because the authors cited better cell engraftment rates, tissue sparing, and reduced host immune responses. No serious adverse events occurred upon MSC infusion. The primary outcome measure was change in the clinical symptoms of TBI within 6 months.

#### **Rationale for Using Mesenchymal Stromal Cells**

The authors highlighted MSC therapy as a novel method to treat TBI and discussed the potential mechanisms by which MSC improve functional disorders associated with TBI. Human bone marrow MSC have been the most widely studied progenitor cells for TBI therapy because of their ease of access and their multipotent differentiation potential. As discussed earlier, MSC accelerated neuroplasticity, facilitated neuronal regeneration, and improved functional recovery in preclinical data. Several mechanisms of potential therapeutic benefit are hypothesized, including the secretion of growth factors, exchange of genes and proteins through cell-to-cell fusion or contact, and induction of angiogenesis, and the effect on immunomodulation [99]. The authors acknowledged that engraftment and transdifferentiation were a controversial topic as the primary mechanism of MSC action. MSC were identified in this trial by the cell surface markers CD73, CD90, and CD105, which is the minimal criterion for characterizing MSC set forth by the International Society for Cellular Therapy.

#### Results

Despite long-term sequela (PVS or motor disturbances), 38 of 97 patients showed improvements 14 days after MSC therapy. The authors reported that 11 patients (out of 24 with PVS) showed posttherapeutic improvements in consciousness, which was evaluated according to the grading principle of PVS. The improvements seen were in responsive eyeball tracking, groaning, or tearing. Of 73 patients with motor disturbances, 27 showed improvements in motor function based on neurologic examinations.

#### Conclusions

The investigators concluded that MSC therapy through lumbar puncture is safe and effective in patients with severe TBI complications, such as PVS and motor disorders. In addition, the MSC effect was more pronounced in young patients and an inverse relationship was found between the time elapsed after injury and the outcome of cellular therapy.

#### **Ongoing Clinical Trials**

#### Phase 2 Multicenter Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cell Pediatric Trial

Pediatric Autologous Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cells for Severe Traumatic Brain Injury is a multicenter (Children's Memorial Hermann Hospital/UT Health and Phoenix Children's Hospital), prospective, randomized, placebocontrolled, blinded phase 2 safety/biological activity study (NCT01851083). A Bayesian adaptive dose escalation design is planned to assess doses of  $6 \times 10^6$  and  $10 \times 10^6$  cells per kg body weight versus placebo in children aged 5–17 years who are hospitalized for severe TBI (GCS 3–8).

The primary objective of the study is to determine the effect of autologous BMMNC on CNS WM and GM structural preservation. MRI-based quantitative indices of macroscopic (volume) and microscopic (FA and MD) integrity will be evaluated over time and compared with immediate postinjury measurements. Secondary objectives hypothesize autologous BMMNC infusion improving functional and neurocognitive deficits and reducing the neuroinflammatory response in children after TBI. Spleen size will be evaluated using ultrasound, because preclinical data have shown that the spleen responds to injury in the brain by releasing stored immune cells into the bloodstream. These cells then infiltrate the brain and promote a secondary inflammatory response that enhances neurodegeneration. Finally, infusion-related toxicity and long-term safety evaluations will be completed. Study enrollment commenced in August 2013 and is ongoing.

#### Phase 2b Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cell Adult Trial

Autologous Stem Cell Study for Adult TBI (Phase 2b) was designed in a fashion similar to that of the pediatric phase 2 trial (NCT02525432). It is a randomized, blinded, Bayesian continual reassessment method dose-escalation, placebocontrolled study design to treat severe, acute TBI in adults ages 18–55 years with an IV infusion of autologous BMMNC. The primary and secondary objectives between the two studies are the same. Enrolled patients are randomized to receive a single IV infusion of BMMNC ( $6 \times 10^6$  or  $9 \times 10^6$  cells/kg body weight) or placebo. After cell infusion, safety data monitoring and MRI data acquisition have a timeline similar to that of the pediatric phase 2 BMMNC trial. Study enrollment commenced in November 2016 and is ongoing.

#### **Phase 2 Modified SB623 Cells Trial**

SanBio, Inc. is conducting a multicenter phase 2 trial entitled *A Double-Blind*, *Controlled Phase 2 Study of the Safety* and Efficacy of Modified Stem Cells (SB623) in Patients With Chronic Motor Deficit From Traumatic Brain Injury (NCT02416492). Patients aged 18 to 75 years with stable, chronic motor deficits resulting from focal TBI at least 12 months after the injury are eligible for enrollment. SB623 cells are adult bone marrow—derived cells that are transiently transfected with a plasmid construct encoding the intracellular domain of human Notch-1. These cells produce trophic factors that protect neurons in models of ischemic insult. In a rat contusion model of TBI, implantation of SB623 around the area of the injury resulted in significant improvement in motor function. A phase 1/2A doseescalation study (NCT01287936) of SB623 cells stereotactically implanted into the brains of patients with chronic motor deficits caused by ischemic stroke showed statistically significant improvements in motor with no serious adverse events. The primary outcome is clinical efficacy of the cells as measured by changes in the Fugi—Meyer Motor Scale. In addition, the study will evaluate the safety and tolerability of the intracranial route of delivery. Enrollment opened in January 2016 and is ongoing.

#### Phase 1/2 Adipose-Derived Stem/Stromal Cells

Use of Adipose-Derived Cellular Stromal Vascular Fraction (AD-cSVF) Parenterally in Postconcussion Injuries and Traumatic Brain Injury is a randomized phase 1/2 trial for patients aged 16 to 70 years with concussion syndrome or mild TBI (NCT02959294). Patients must be 1 month postinjury and demonstrate repetitive TBI events (such as those that occur with contact sports), depression, cognitive disability, attention disorders, headaches, or other persistent changes after the TBI. Patients enrolled in the intervention arm will undergo microcannula harvest of autologous adipose-derived stem cells. Primary outcomes are concerned with safety, as measured by the number of adverse events, and changes in clinical symptoms associated with concussion TBI. Enrollment opened in November 2016 and is ongoing.

#### CONCLUSION

#### Phase 2 Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Neurologic Stem Cell Treatment Study (NCT02795052)

*Neurologic Bone Marrow Derived Stem Cell Treat Study, or NEST Study,* is a nonrandomized phase 2 trial for patients aged over 18 years with documented damage to the central or peripheral nervous systems. This study is not specific to TBI, but patients who have residual disability 6 months after the injury may be enrolled. Two intervention arms exist in this trial: (1) bone marrow MSC injected IV, and (2) bone marrow MSC injected IV and applied topically to the lower one-third of bilateral nasal passages. Primarily, the authors will be looking at activities of daily living, but they will secondarily examine deficits of neurologic function, such as speech, balance, hearing, and gait. Enrollment opened in June 2016 and is ongoing.

#### Phase 1 Collagen Scaffold–Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Study

The Safety and Efficacy Assessment of Injectable Collagen Scaffold Combined With Mesenchymal Stem Cells Transplantation in Patients With Brain Injury is a phase 1 trial for patients aged 35–75 years who are diagnosed with a severe TBI and CT evidence of intracerebral hemorrhage (NCT02767817). Patients who underwent craniotomy for hematoma evacuation are excluded because the sham group undergoes stereotactic hematoma evacuation. Treatment groups undergo stereotactic drainage of hematomas; however, one treatment arm then receives 10 million MSC via the drainage tube and the other treatment arm receives an injectable collagen scaffold with 10 million MSC. The primary outcome measure is the number of adverse events. Secondary outcome measures will survey functional outcomes (self-care and motor recovery), pain intensity, electrical brain activity, brain electrophysiology, and brain pathology diagnosed by CT scan. Enrollment opened in March 2016 and is ongoing.

#### CONCLUSION

There has been a growing body of preclinical literature supporting the use of various progenitor cell types to treat acute neurological injuries such as TBI and stroke. Preclinical work has laid the foundation for clinical trials, and although the exact mechanism of action is still not completely defined, it is complex and pleiotropic. There have been three metaanalyses that analyzed the efficacy of progenitor cell therapies for TBI in murine models [93,100,101]. Although each metaanalysis has limitations and includes studies with significant heterogeneity, all show statistically significant improvements in behavior outcomes. Jackson et al. also analyzed 14 studies that presented lesion volume metrics and the metaanalysis showed improvement in the size of lesion volumes after progenitor cell treatment. To date, this is the only histologic outcome metaanalysis in the preclinical TBI progenitor cell therapy literature. These findings from three independent metaanalysis teams are striking support that progenitor cell therapies are effective treatments for TBI. In addition, the authors of each metaanalysis performed multivariate regression to identify which cells were most beneficial, at which doses, and via which routes of administration (e.g., IV, intraarterial, direct injection in the lesion cavity). However, each metaanalysis found that there are not enough comparable data to make significant conclusions. This lack of conclusion is itself interesting: If there were large differences in effect size when different cells are administered different ways, we would expect that at least one of three metaanalyses would find it. This again suggests that a factor intrinsic to a progenitor cell administered in a systemic fashion has a role as the putative treatment mechanism.

Clinical trials in the acute, subacute, and chronic stages of TBI have highlighted the safety, logistical feasibility, and benefits of using stem cells as therapy for TBI. Ongoing clinical trials are seeking to demonstrate safety, CNS structural preservation, and improved functional outcomes. A variety of modified and nonmodified stem cells are being delivered via multiple routes and doses. The future of stem cell therapy for TBI will likely include genetically modified cells and repeated dosing regimens. Further preclinical understandings of cell therapy mechanisms of action will guide future clinical trial design.

As cell therapy becomes a more widely available treatment for TBI, it will become increasingly important to monitor these patients chronically. Equally important to administering cell therapeutics for TBI is the long-term ability to observe their clinical benefits. Patients enrolled in the pediatric phase 1 trial (NCT00254722) will undergo PET/CT imaging with the radioligand [<sup>11</sup>C]PBR28 to identify chronic microglial activation years after the primary injury. These data will also highlight the role that stem cells have in the chronic neuroinflammatory response to TBI and will be correlated with long-term functional outcomes. Research efforts dedicated to imaging and laboratory techniques that can be used to observe response to cell therapy both in the acute and chronic stages of TBI will guide future preclinical works.

Continuing to find treatments that improve clinical outcomes after TBI is vital to decreasing the global burden of TBI, and we believe that progenitor cell therapy will have a fundamental role in these efforts.

#### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

AIS Acute Injury Score ALT Alanine Aminotransferase ARDS Adult Respiratory Distress Syndrome AST Aspartate Aminotransferase ATLS Advanced Trauma Life Support BBB Blood-Brain Barrier **BM** Bone Marrow BMMNCs Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cells CC Corpus Callosum CCI Controlled Cortical Impact CNS Central Nervous System CPP Cerebral Perfusion Pressure CSF Cerebrospinal Fluid CST Corticospinal Tract CT Computed Tomography **DTI** Diffusion Tensor Imaging ESCs Embryonic Stem Cells FA Fractional Anisotropy GCS Glasgow Coma Score GM Gray Matter GOS Glasgow Outcome Score (EC-expanded, children) hCG Human Chorionic Gonadotropin hUCBC Human Umbilical Cord Blood Cells **ICP** Intracranial Pressure ICU Intensive Care Unit ICV Intracranial Volume IL Interleukin iPS Cells Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells **ISS** Injury Severity Score **IV** Intravenous LAR Legally Authorized Representative LOD Logistic Organ Dysfunction MAP Mean Arterial Pressure MAPC Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cell MD Mean Diffusivity MHC Major Histocompatibility Complex MHH Memorial Hermann Hospital MNCs Mononuclear Cells MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging MSC Mesenchymal Stromal Cell NIH National Institutes of Health NSCs Neural Stem Cells PELOD Pediatric Logistic Organ Dysfunction SOFA Sequential Organ Failure Assessment TBI Traumatic Brain Injury TNF Tumor Necrosis Factor WM White Matter

#### Acknowledgments

Supported in part by 1. George and Cynthia Mitchell Distinguished Chair in Neurosciences.

2. Clare A. Glassell Family Pediatric Surgery Research Fund.

#### 386

#### References

- [1] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Mortality data. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; February 16, 2016.
- [2] Finkelstein EA, Corso PS, Miller TR. The incidence and economic burden of injuries in the United States. New York (NY): Oxford University Press; 2006.
- [3] Marshall LF, Marshall SB, Klauber MR, Van Burkum CM, Eisenberg H, Jane JA, et al. The diagnosis of head injury requires a classification based on computed axial tomography. J Neurotrauma 1992;1(9):S287–92.
- [4] Saatman KE, Duhaime AC, Bullock R, Maas AL, Valadka A, Manley GT. Classification of traumatic brain injury for targeted therapies. J Neurotrauma 2008;25(7):719–38.
- [5] Maas AL, Steyerberg EW, Butcher I, Dammers R, Lu J, et al. Prognostic value of computerized tomography scan characteristics in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study. J Neurotrauma 2007;24(2):303–14.
- [6] Harel A, Kvist M, Nuutinen S, Valimaa L. Biomarkers of traumatic brain injury: temporal changes in body fluids. eNeuro 2016;3(6).
- [7] Ramlackhansingh AF, Brooks DJ, Greenwood RJ, Bose SK, Turkheimer FE, Kinnunen KM, et al. Inflammation after trauma: microglial activation and traumatic brain injury. Ann Neurol 2011;70(3):374–83.
- [8] Marmarou A. A review of progress in understanding the pathophysiology and treatment of brain edema. Neurosurg Focus 2007;22:E1.
- [9] Ghajar J. Traumatic brain injury. Lancet 2000;356:923–9.
- [10] Bullock R, Zauner A, Myseros JS, Marmarou A, Woodward JJ, Young HF. Evidence for prolonged release of excitatory amino acids in severe human head trauma. Ann NY Acad Sci 1995;765:290–7.
- [11] Yi JH, Hazell AS. Excitotoxic mechanisms and the role of astrocytic glutamate transporters in traumatic brain injury. Neurochem Int 2006; 48(5):394–403.
- [12] Bergsneider M, Hovda DA, Shalmon E, Kelly DF, Vespa PM, Martin NA, et al. Cerebral hyperglycolysis following severe traumatic brain injury in humans: a positron emission tomography study. J Neurosurg 1997;86(2):241–51.
- [13] Harting MT, Jimenez F, Adams SD, Mercer DW, Cox CS. Acute, regional inflammatory response after traumatic brain injury: implications for cellular therapy. Surgery 2008;144(5):803–13.
- [14] Nakajima K, Kohsaka S. Microglia: activation and their significance in the central nervous system. J Biochem 2001;130(2):169-75.
- [15] Davalos D, Grutzendler J, Yang G, Kim JV, Zuo Y, Jung S, et al. ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. Nat Neurosci 2005;8(6):752–8.
- [16] Nimmerjahn A. Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. Science 2005;308(5726):1314–8.
- [17] Galtrey CM, Fawcett JW. The role of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in regeneration and plasticity in the central nervous system. Brain Res Rev 2007;54(1):1–18.
- [18] Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. J Immunol 2006;177:7303–11.
- [19] Hu X, Li P, Guo Y, Wang H, Leak RK, Chen S, et al. Microglia/macrophage polarization dynamics reveal novel mechanism of injury expansion after focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke 2012;43(11):3063–70.
- [20] Bedi SS, Hetz R, Thomas C, Smith P, Olsen AB, Williams S, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell therapy attenuates activated microglial/macrophage response and improves spatial learning after traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 2013;2(12):953–60.
- [21] Zanier ER, Pischiutta F, Riganti L, Marchesi F, Turola E, Fumagalli S, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells drive protective M2 microglia polarization after brain trauma. Neurotherapeutics 2014;11(3):679–95.
- [22] Hsieh CL, Niemi E, Wang S, Lee CC, Bingham D, Zhang J, et al. CCR2 deficiency impairs macrophage infiltration and improves cognitive function after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 2014;31(20):1677–88.
- [23] Pineau I, Lacroix S. Proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in the injured mouse spinal cord: multiphasic expression pattern and identification of the cell types involved. J Comp Neurol 2007;500(2):267–85.
- [24] Pineau I, Sun L, Bastien D, Lacroix S. Astrocytes initiate inflammation in the injured mouse spinal cord by promoting the entry of neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes in an IL-1 receptor/MyD88-dependent fashion. Brain Behav Immun 2010;24(4):540-53.
- [25] Ma Y, Wang J, Wang Y, Yang GY. The biphasic function of microglia in ischemic stroke. Progress Neurobiol 2016;157.
- [26] Schneider CM, Aertker BM, Caplan HW, Kaffes CC, Bedi SS, Cox Jr CS. Microglia as markers for traumatic brain injury severity. In: Presented at the annual South Texas Chapter American College of Surgeons conference, February 24, 2017, Austin, TX; 2017.
- [27] Takano T, Tian G, Peng W, Lou N, Libionka W, Han X, Nedergaard M. Astrocyte-mediated control of cerebral blood flow. Nat Neurosci 2005; 9(2):260-7.
- [28] Iadecola C, Nedergaard M. Glial regulation of the cerebral microvasculature. Nat Neurosci 2007;10(11):1369-76.
- [29] Clark RS, Schiding JK, Kaczorowski SL, Marion DW, Kochanek PM. Neutrophil accumulation after traumatic brain injury in rats: comparison of weight drop and controlled cortical impact models. J Neurotrauma 1994;11(5):499–506.
- [30] Walker PA, Jimenez F, Shah SK, Gerber MH, Mays RW, Cox CS, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell therapy for traumatic brain injury: preserving the blood brain barrier via an interaction with splenocytes. J Am Coll Surg 2010;211(3).
- [31] Bedi SS, Walker PA, Shah SK, Jimenez F, Thomas CP, Cox CS, et al. Autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells therapy attenuates activated microglial/macrophage response and improves spatial learning after traumatic brain injury. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2013;75(3):410–6.
- [32] Menge T, Zhao Y, Zhao J, Wataha K, Gerber M, Zhang J, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells regulate blood-brain barrier integrity through TIMP3 release after traumatic brain injury. Sci Transl Med 2012;4(161).
- [33] Marmarou A, Fatouros PP, Barzo P, Portella G, Yoshihara M, Tsuji O, et al. Contribution of edema and cerebral blood volume to traumatic brain swelling in head-injured patients. J Neurosurg 2000;93:183–93.
- [34] Werner C, Engelhard K. Pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. Br J Anaesth 2007;99(1):4-9.
- [35] Liao GP, Harting MT, Hetz RA, Walker PA, Shah SK, Cox CS, et al. Autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells reduce therapeutic intensity for severe traumatic brain injury in children. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2015;16(3):245.
- [36] Luerssen TG. Neurological injuries in infants and children: an overview of current management strategies. Clin Neurosurg 2001;12:170-84.
- [37] Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, et al. Guidelines for the acute medical management of severe traumatic brain injury in infants, children, and adolescents. Suppl Pediatr Crit Care Med 2003;4:S68–71.

#### 388

- [38] Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, the Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury: I- XV. J Neurotrauma 2007;24(Suppl):1–95.
- [39] Robertson CS, Valadka AB, Hannay HJ, Contant CF, Gopinath SP, Cormio M, Uzura M, Grossman RG. Prevention of secondary ischemic insults after severe head injury. Crit Care Med 1999;27:2086–95.
- [40] Downard C, Hulka F, Mullins RJ, Piatt J, Chesnut R, Quint P, Mann NC. Relationship of cerebral perfusion pressure and survival in pediatric brain-injured patients. J Trauma 2000;49:654–9.
- [41] Narayan RK, Michel ME, Ansell B, Baethmann A, Biegon A, Bracken MB, et al. Clinical trials in head injury. J Neurotrauma May 2002;19(5): 503–57.
- [42] Scadden DT. The stem-cell niche as an entity of action. Nature 2006;441(7097):1075-9.
- [43] Prockop DJ. Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for nonhematopoietic tissues. Science 1997;276:71-4.
- [44] Mezey E, Key S, Vogelsang G, Szalayova I, Lange GD, Crain B. Transplanted bone marrow generates new neurons in human brains. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:1364–9.
- [45] Woodbury D, Schwarz EJ, Prockop DJ, Black IB. Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. J Neurosci Res 2000;61:364–70.
- [46] Lu D, Mahmood A, Wang L, Li Y, Lu M, Chopp M. Adult bone marrow stromal cells administered intravenously to rats after traumatic brain injury migrate into brain and improve neurological outcome. Neuroreport 2001;12(3):559–63.
- [47] Lu D, Sanberg PR, Mahmood A, Li Y, Wang L, Sanchez-Ramos J, et al. Intravenous administration of human umbilical cord blood reduces neurological deficit in the rat after traumatic brain injury. Cell Transplant 2002;11(3):275–81.
- [48] Riess P, Zhang C, Saatman KE, Laurer HL, Longhi LG, Raghupathi R, et al. Transplanted neural stem cells survive, differentiate, and improve neurological motor function after experimental traumatic brain injury. Neurosurgery 2002;51(4):1043–52. discussion 52–4.
- [49] Mahmood A, Lu D, Lu M, Chopp M. Treatment of traumatic brain injury in adult rats with intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells. Neurosurgery 2003;53(3):697–702. discussion 702–3.
- [50] Hoane MR, Becerra GD, Shank JE, Tatko L, Pak ES, Smith M, et al. Transplantation of neuronal and glial precursors dramatically improves sensorimotor function but not cognitive function in the traumatically injured brain. J Neurotrauma 2004;21(2):163–74.
- [51] Mahmood A, Lu D, Chopp M. Marrow stromal cell transplantation after traumatic brain injury promotes cellular proliferation within the brain. Neurosurgery 2004;55(5):1185–93.
- [52] Mahmood A, Lu D, Chopp M. Intravenous administration of marrow stromal cells (MSCs) increases the expression of growth factors in rat brain after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 2004;21(1):33–9.
- [53] Shear DA, Tate MC, Archer DR, Hoffman SW, Hulce VD, Laplaca MC, et al. Neural progenitor cell transplants promote long-term functional recovery after traumatic brain injury. Brain Res 2004;1026(1):11–22.
- [54] Zhang C, Saatman KE, Royo NC, Soltesz KM, Millard M, Schouten JW, et al. Delayed transplantation of human neurons following brain injury in rats: a long-term graft survival and behavior study. J Neurotrauma 2005;22(12):1456–74.
- [55] Coyne TM, Marcus AJ, Woodbury D, Black IB. Marrow stromal cells transplanted to the adult brain are rejected by an inflammatory response and transfer donor labels to host neurons and glia. Stem Cells 2006;24(11):2483–92.
- [56] Gao J, Grill RJ, Dunn TJ, Bedi S, Labastida JA, Hetz RA, et al. Human neural stem cell transplantation-mediated alteration of microglial/ macrophage phenotypes after traumatic brain injury. Cell Transplant 2016;25(10):1863–77.
- [57] Darkazalli A, Vied C, Badger CD, Levenson CW. Human mesenchymal stem cell treatment normalizes cortical gene expression after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 2016;34.
- [58] Tajiri N, Acosta SA, Shahaduzzaman M, Ishikawa H, Shinozuka K, Pabon M, et al. Intravenous transplants of human adipose-derived stem cell protect the brain from traumatic brain injury-induced neurodegeneration and motor and cognitive impairments: cell graft biodistribution and soluble factors in young and aged rats. J Neurosci 2014;34(1):313–26.
- [59] Park KJ, Park E, Liu E, Baker AJ. Bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells protect postischemic axons after traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2014;34(2):357–66.
- [60] Walker PA, Bedi SS, Shah SK, Jimenez F, Xue H, Hamilton JA, et al. Intravenous multipotent adult progenitor cell therapy after traumatic brain injury: modulation of the resident microglia population. J Neuroinflammation 2012;9:228.
- [61] Gibb SL, Zhao Y, Potter D, Hylin MJ, Bruhn R, Baimukanova G, et al. TIMP3 attenuates the loss of neural stem cells, mature neurons and neurocognitive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells 2015;33(12):3530–44.
- [62] Pati S, Muthuraju S, Hadi RA, Huat TJ, Singh S, Maletic-Savatic M, et al. Neurogenic plasticity of mesenchymal stem cell, an alluring cellular replacement for traumatic brain injury. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2016;11(2):149–57.
- [63] Zhang R, Liu Y, Yan K, Chen L, Chen XR, Li P, et al. Anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in experimental traumatic brain injury. J Neuroinflammation 2013;10:106.
- [64] Zhao Y, Gibb SL, Zhao J, Moore AN, Hylin MJ, Menge T, et al. Wnt3a, a protein secreted by mesenchymal stem cells is neuroprotective and promotes neurocognitive recovery following traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells 2016;34(5):1263–72.
- [65] Lee ST, Chu K, Jung KW, et al. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of intravascular neural stem cell transplantation in haemorrhagic stroke. Brain 2008;131:616–29.
- [66] Nemeth K, Loelahavanichkul A, Yuen PS, et al. Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate sepsis via a PGE2 dependent reprogramming of host macrophages to increase IL-10 production. Nat Med 2009;15:42–9.
- [67] Yang B, Hamilton JA, Valenzuela KS, Bogaerts A, Xi X, Aronowski J, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells enhance recovery after stroke by modulating the immune response from the spleen. Stem Cells 2017;35.
- [68] Watanabe J, Shetty AK, Hattiangady B, Kim D, Foraker JE, Nishida H, Prockop DJ. Administration of TSG-6 improves memory after traumatic brain injury in mice. Neurobiol Dis 2013;59:86–99.
- [69] Israelsson C, Bengtsson H, Kylberg A, Kullander K, Lewen A, Hillered L, Ebendal T. Distinct cellular patterns of upregulated chemokine expression supporting a prominent inflammatory role in traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 2008;25:959–74.
- [70] Hess DC, Wechsler LR, Clark WM, Savitz SI, Ford GA, Chiu D, et al. Safety and efficacy of multipotent adult progenitor cells in acute ischaemic stroke (MASTERS): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol 2017;16.

- [71] Harting MT, Sloan LE, Jimenez F, Baumgartner J, Cox CS. Subacute neural stem cell therapy for traumatic brain injury. J Surg Res 2009;153(2): 188–94.
- [72] Chopp M, Li Y, Zhang ZG. Mechanisms underlying improved recovery of neurological function after stroke in the rodent after treatment with neurorestorative cell-based therapies. Stroke 2009;40:S143–5.
- [73] Ohtaki H, Ylostalo JH, Foraker JE, Robinson AP, Reger RL, Shioda S, Prockop DJ. Stem/progenitor cells from bone marrow decrease neuronal death in global ischemia by modulation of inflammatory/immune responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA September 23, 2008; 105(38):14638–43.
- [74] Willing AE, Pennypacker KR. Alternate approach to understanding the molecular mechanisms of stroke-induced injury. Histol Histopathol 2007;22:697–701.
- [75] Bachstetter AD, Pabon MM, Cole MJ, Hudson CE, Sanberg PR, Willing AE, et al. Peripheral injection of human umbilical cord blood stimulates neurogenesis in the aged rat brain. BMC Neurosci 2008;9(1):22.
- [76] Vendrame M, Gemma C, De Mesquita D, Collier L, Bickford PC, Sanberg CD, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of human cord blood cells in a rat model of stroke. Stem Cells Dev 2005;14(5):595–604.
- [77] Acosta SA, Tajiri N, Shinozuka K, Ishikawa H, Sanberg PR, Sanchez-Ramos J, et al. Combination therapy of human umbilical cord blood cells and granulocyte colony stimulating factor reduces histopathological and motor impairments in an experimental model of chronic traumatic brain injury. PLoS One 2014;9(3).
- [78] Fischer UM, Harting MT, Jimenez F, Monzon-Posadas WO, Xue H, Savitz SI, et al. Pulmonary passage is a major obstacle for intravenous stem cell delivery: the pulmonary first-pass effect. Stem Cells Dev 2009;18(5):683–91.
- [79] Schrepfer S, Deuse T, Reichenspurner H, Fischbein MP, Robbins RC, Pelletier MP. Stem cell transplantation: the lung barrier. Transplant Proc 2007;39(2):573–6.
- [80] Osanai T, Kuroda S, Sugiyama T, Kawabori M, Ito M, Shichinohe H, et al. Therapeutic effects of intra-arterial delivery of bone marrow stromal cells in traumatic brain injury of rats-*In vivo* cell tracking study by near-infrared fluorescence imaging. Neurosurgery 2012;70(2): 435–44.
- [81] Walczak P, Zhang J, Gilad AA, et al. Dual modality monitoring of targeted intra-arterial delivery of mesenchymal stem cells after transient ischemia. Stroke 2008;39:1569–74.
- [82] Liu W, Jiang X, Fu X, Cui S, Du M, Cai Y, Xu R. Bone marrow stromal cells can be delivered to the site of traumatic brain injury via intrathecal transplantation in rabbits. Neurosci Lett 2008;434(2):160–4.
- [83] Walker PA, Harting MT, Jimenez F, Shah SK, Pati S, Dash PK, Cox CS. Direct intrathecal implantation of mesenchymal stromal cells leads to enhanced neuroprotection via an NFKB-mediated increase in interleukin-6 production. Stem Cells Dev 2010;19(6):867–76.
- [84] Mahmood A, Lu D, Wang L, Chopp M. Intracerebral transplantation of marrow stromal cells cultured with neurotrophic factors promotes functional recovery in adult rats subjected to traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 2002;19(12):1609–17.
- [85] Li M, Liu X, Yue H, Xiong W, Gu J, Xu M. Transplantation of N-acetyl aspartyl-glutamate synthetase-activated neural stem cells after experimental traumatic brain injury significantly improves neurological recovery. Cell Physiol Biochem 2013;32(6):1776–89.
- [86] Chapman CD, Frey WH, Craft S, Danielyan L, Hallschmid M, Schioth HB, Benedict C. Intranasal treatment of central nervous system dysfunction in humans. Pharmaceut Res 2012;30(10):2475–84.
- [87] Wang JY, Liou AK, Ren ZH, Zhang L, Brown BN, Cui XT, et al. Neurorestorative effect of urinary bladder matrix-mediated neural stem cell transplantation following traumatic brain injury in rats. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 2013;12(3):413–25.
- [88] Guan J, Zhu Z, Zhao RC, Xiao Z, Wu C, Han Q, et al. Transplantation of human mesenchymal stem cells loaded on collagen scaffolds for the treatment of traumatic brain injury in rats. Biomaterials 2013;34(24):5937–46.
- [89] Skop NB, Calderon F, Cho CH, Gandhi CD, Levison SW. Optimizing a multifunctional microsphere scaffold to improve neural precursor cell transplantation for traumatic brain injury repair. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2013;10(10).
- [90] Nisbet DR, Crompton KE, Horne MK, Finkelstein DI, Forsythe JS. Neural tissue engineering of the CNS using hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2008;87(1):251–63.
- [91] Ta HT, Dass CR, Dunstan DE. Injectable chitosan hydrogels for localised cancer therapy. J Control Release 2008;126(3):205-16.
- [92] Cheng TY, Chen MH, Chang WH, Huang MY, Wang TW. Neural stem cells encapsulated in a functionalized self-assembling peptide hydrogel for brain tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2013;34(8):2005–16.
- [93] Chang J, Phelan M, Cummings BJ. A meta-analysis of efficacy in pre-clinical human stem cell therapies for traumatic brain injury. Exp Neurol 2015;273:225–33.
- [94] Cox CS, Baumgartner JE, Harting MT, Worth LL, Walker PA, Shah SK, et al. Autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy for severe traumatic brain injury in children. Neurosurgery 2011;68(3):588–600.
- [95] Shore PM, Hand LL, Roy L, et al. Reliability and validity of the pediatric intensity level of therapy (PILOT) scale: a measure of the use of intracranial pressure-directed therapies. Crit Care Med 2006;34:1981–7.
- [96] Cox CS, Hetz RA, Liao GP, Aertker BM, Ewing-Cobbs L, Juranek J, et al. Treatment of severe adult traumatic brain injury using bone marrow mononuclear cells. Stem Cells 2016. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2538.
- [97] Adams JH, Doyle D, Ford I, et al. Diffuse axonal injury in head injury: definition, diagnosis and grading. Histopathology 1989;15:49-59.
- [98] Tian C, Wang X, Wang X, Wang L, Wang X, Wu S, Wan Z. Autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell therapy in the subacute stage of traumatic brain injury by lumbar puncture. Exp Clin Transplant 2013;11(2):176–81.
- [99] Walker PA, Shah SK, Harting MT, Cox Jr CS. Progenitor cell therapies for traumatic brain injury: barriers and opportunities in translation. Dis Model Mech 2009;2(1–2):23–38.
- [100] Peng W, Sun J, Sheng C, Wang Z, Wang Y, Zhang C, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of efficacy of mesenchymal stem cells on locomotor recovery in animal models of traumatic brain injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015;6:47.
- [101] Jackson ML, Srivasta AK, Cox Jr CS. Pre-clinical progenitor cell therapy in traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis. J Surg Res 2017;214:38–48.

This page intentionally left blank

# 24

## Mechanical Determinants of Tissue Development

Volha Liaudanskaya, Disha Sood, David L. Kaplan Tufts University, Medford, MA, United States

#### INTRODUCTION

In biology and medicine, it has been common to study different diseases and pathologies from genetic and chemical factor perspectives that affect tissue development and function. In contrast, the effect of external mechanical forces has only more recently been documented for a significant role in cell signaling and tissue development and function [1,2]. Mechanical forces have been found to contribute significantly to the development and function of a variety of organs such as lung, heart, bone, cartilage, muscle, and brain, establishing a new field of science, called mechanobiology. Mechanobiology is an interdisciplinary field that combines developmental and cellular biology to understand the cellular response to mechanical stimulation and the mechanotransduction mechanisms by which these stimuli are translated into a cascade of biochemical events. Mechanical stimuli have an essential role in regulating cell functions such as survival, reproduction, and fate determination through changes in gene expression, protein synthesis, and assembly, which are crucial to maintain tissue homeostasis. Deviation from normal mechanical stimulation can affect cellular functions and, in turn, the composition and assembly of the extracellular matrix (ECM), which can lead to tissue and organ diseases. Examples of such malfunctions include fetal deformities, osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, tendinopathy, atherosclerosis, and fibrosis of different tissues [3–8]. An improved understanding of mechanotransduction mechanisms will unveil the pathogenesis of many developmental diseases to find treatments to cure or mitigate the consequences of these maladies. One way to explain mechanotransduction is to examine step-by-step mechanical signal propagation in the body from organs to single-cell nuclei in response to gravity or other mechanical loads applied to the body. First, skin receptors sense gravity or mechanical stimuli, which then transfer the signal to different types of tissues (e.g., bones, muscles, connective tissue, vascular tissue). Every tissue consists of different cells that are interconnected by an extensive network of ECM, including collagens, proteoglycans, and glycoproteins. This ECM network transfers the mechanical signals to the plasma membrane of cells, where signal transduction results in a cascade of biochemical reactions through cytoskeleton filaments toward the nucleus. The nucleus then regulates gene expression, resulting in the expression of new ECM components secreted from the cells as the external outcome of the input signals, finalizing the adaptation of the tissue to the mechanical stimulus.

The ECM senses changes in environmental forces and responds to these inputs by regulating gene expression inside the cell through signaling cascades from cell membranes to the nucleus. The nucleus transduces these signaling inputs to respond by secreting soluble and insoluble molecules as outputs from the cells as part of the cascade in mechanotransduction events. Thus, it is crucial to understand the major factors of the ECM, soluble molecules, and mechanisms of mechanotransduction, and they will be reviewed here.

#### MECHANOTRANSDUCTION MECHANISMS AND MAJOR EFFECTORS

#### Cell Structure and Composition

The cells in the human body are routinely exposed to different types of external stimuli ranging from gentle touch to music and sensing gravity [8,9]. Mechanosensory transduction is the ability of living cells to sense a variety of mechanical stimuli and to convert these signals into electrical or biochemical intercellular signals [10–12]. Continuous responses to mechanical stimulation are possible owing to the evolutionary accumulated adaptations in cell structure and environment. All cells are surrounded by ECM and composed of complex plasma membranes with embedded ion channels and sensory receptors, and cytoplasm with organelles and a nucleus (except for red blood cells) [1,13,14]. The plasma membrane encloses the cells, defines their boundaries, and contains protein receptors that act as sensors of external signals. These receptors allow the cells to adapt continuously to changes in the extracellular environment [15]. Plasma membranes are composed of a 5-nm-thick phospholipid bilayer that serves as a relatively impermeable barrier to water-soluble molecules [16,17]. The membrane is composed of lipids containing hydrophilic, phosphorylated heads and hydrophobic tails, with embedded sensory receptors. In response to mechanical forces, the plasma membrane regulates cell attachment, cell-cell communication, and the motion of molecules across the lipid bilayer [18]. Moreover, the membrane has a key role in antigen recognition because of the high number of embedded receptors [5,14,19-22]. The cytoplasm contains cytoskeleton proteins and a variety of organelles such as mitochondria, Golgi apparatus, ribosomes, and the nucleus, which regulate cellular processes including mechanotransduction through the expression of genes (Fig. 24.1).

#### **Extracellular Matrix**

All cells reside in an ECM, which provides mechanical support to the cells through cell-attachment sites and functions as a reservoir of bioactive molecules that have a role in cellular functions. These matrix proteins interact with



FIGURE 24.1 Schematic of cell structure and the main mechanoeffectors. (A) Various stimuli applied to the extracellular matrix (ECM) transmit the signal through integrins and other transmembrane receptors inside the cell cytoplasm, where microfilaments and microtubules transmit the inputs to the nuclear membrane. (B) The nuclear envelope is tightly connected with the cell cytoplasm and receives mechanical signals through nuclear pores and LINC complexes. After the nucleus receives the stimuli, there is a response through changes in gene expression, and subsequent regulation of the assembly of cytoskeletal and ECM components.

cells through cell surface receptors [14]. Collagens are a major component of the ECM in most tissues, about 28 different types of which have been characterized [23]. Molecules of collagen types I, II, and III constitute the bulk of the fibrillar collagens present across all tissues, particularly in dense connective tissues, and are arranged as insoluble fibrils. Such fibrillar structures resist compressive, shear, and tensile forces in tendons, bone, arteries, and skin. Collagen IV forms mesh-like scaffolds present as the basement membranes of vascular structures and in other tissues. The remaining dozens of collagens regulate fibril initiation, fibril diameter, and other factors in tissues; functions are still being discovered [14].

Proteoglycans are another important class of macromolecules in the ECM that form complexes with the protein structural components. Proteoglycans are macromolecules that consist of a core protein covalently bound to glycosaminoglycan (GAG) [24] chains. These molecules vary in function depending on the core protein, the GAG chains, and the sulfation patterns [25]. Aggrecan, for example, provides compressive stiffness in tissues. GAGs, which include chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate, and keratan sulfate, are the major functional components of proteoglycans. Hyaluronan, a nonsulfated GAG, is hydrophilic and imparts enhanced lubrication in tissues such as cartilage. Many cell surface receptors for hormones and growth factors are also proteoglycans. Thus, proteoglycans fall into two categories: membrane-associated and secreted forms.

Glycoproteins such as fibronectin, laminin, vitronectin, and tenascin are found in the ECM and further mediate cell–cell and cell–ECM interactions by binding to collagens, proteoglycans, and cell surfaces. The expression of tenascins, found mostly in the nervous system, heart, smooth and skeletal musculature, tumors, and healing wounds, is mechanically regulated, which is turn controls cell adhesion and spreading [26,27]. The elastic recoil capabilities of various tissues such as dermal, pulmonary, and vascular are mainly controlled by elastin and fibrillin as insoluble elastic fibers [28].

All of the components of the ECM are uniquely organized in different tissues within a steady yet dynamic state. There is reciprocal cross-talk between the ECM and the resident cells, such that the cells with their mechanosensing capabilities offered through integrins and the cytoskeleton maintain the mechanical properties of the ECM; in turn, ECM deposition, rearrangement, or degradation is a critical regulator of cell and tissue health [14].

#### Ion Channels and Mechanoreceptors

Evolutionarily, the human body has accumulated a variety of cellular and molecular structures that can sense and respond to applied external forces; these includes but are not limited to mechanosensitive (MS) ion channels, G protein—coupled receptors (GPCR), integrins, and tight junction (TJ) proteins [29–31]. MS ion channels, among others, are believed to be the oldest and the most essential molecular force transducers owing to their ability to operate on a millisecond time scale, passing millions of ions per second through membranes [29]. MS ion channels change their confirmation in response to external forces such as pressure, gravity, shear stress, and osmolarity [31,32]. The existence of ion channels gated by mechanical stimuli was first suggested in 1950, when the phenomenon was described in association with the electrophysiological response of sensory neurons when stretching frog muscle [33]. Later, this phenomenon was observed with hair cells [34], skeletal muscle cells [35,36], red blood cells [37], cardiomyocytes [29,31,35,38], osteoblasts [39], skin cells [40], neurons [29,31,41], and many others cells.

The activity of MS ion channels is observed in all vital body functions, such as the maintenance of the synaptic cleft; synapse formation [5,41]; regulation of heart rate [42]; arrhythmia [3,38]; regulation of cell volume [30]; tactile [32,43], auditory, and visual sensations [44,45]; pulmonary arterial hypertension [46]; muscular dystrophy [36]; polycystic kidney disease [6]; and tumor progression [47]. The diversity of MS ion channels in prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells potentially involved in mechanosensory transduction has been summarized in prior studies [3–42]. Here, the attention is on the major eukaryotic MS ion channels and their function in health and disease.

Degenerin (DEG) and epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) proteins belong to a family of eukaryotic amiloridesensitive, Na<sup>+</sup>-selective ion channels that are touch-sensitive receptors [48]. Mutations in DEG genes in *Caenorhabditis elegans* triggered confined degeneration of touch-receptor neurons [49]. ENaC channels are expressed on the apical surfaces of diverse epithelial cells, including distal nephrons, gastrointestinal tract, skin, and cerebral arteries, where they regulate pressure-induced myogenic responses and are involved in maintaining tissue homeostasis and ion balances [50]. ENaC channels are active, have low voltage sensitivity, and can be blocked by some diuretics [51]. Studies have shown that ENaC mutants with upregulated expression display severe hypertension, whereas the opposite loss of function mutants demonstrate hypotension [52,53].

The transient receptor potential (TRP) channels received their name after they were first discovered in the *trp* mutant strain of fruit fly *Drosophila*, with its main feature of transient photoreceptor activity in response to light

[54]. In humans, there are 27 members of this family and they are encoded by 33 genes. There are six major groups of TRPs: TRPC (canonical), TRPV (vanilloid), TRPA (ankyrin), TRPM (melastatin), TRPP (polycystin), and TRPML (mucolipin) [29,31]. Here, we focus only on TRP receptors that are widely expressed in different tissues and perform critical functions. TRP channels are permeable to cations and are activated by a variety of physical and chemical stimuli; they have a crucial role in sensory regulation, calcium signaling, and the maintenance of homeostasis. TRPA1 (subfamily 1, member 1) receptor was described as a mechanical stress sensor and is highly expressed in nociceptive neurons [55], mechanosensory epithelia of the inner ear [35,56], pancreatic  $\beta$  cells [57], and periodontal ligament cells [58]. TRPC1 (subfamily C, member 1) receptors are widely expressed in brain cells, spinal neurons, cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, endothelia cells, and others [21,29,31]. Another highly expressed receptor is TRPC6 in dorsal root ganglia neurons, cardiomyocytes, and variety of epithelial cells in the colon, esophagus, and stomach [29,59]. These TRPC6 receptors respond to most mechanical stimuli, tension, or osmotic forces. The function of these channels was controversial; they were activated upon sensing mechanical stimuli; however, they can also assemble into more complex heteromeric structures and mediate the activity of GPCR. Thus, they appear to perform different functions. Other members of the TRP family of ion channels perform functions ranging from thermosensation to sensing shear stress and pressure. For instance, TRPV4 channels are activated when physical forces are applied to integrins, allowing  $Ca^{2+}$  ions to flow into cells, which in turn leads to the activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K) and Rho [60,61], both of which are crucial molecular pathways that regulate cellular response to mechanical stimuli.

Piezo receptors were more recently discovered and have only two members, Piezo 1 and Piezo 2. They have a critical role in the function of hollow organs, such as the stomach, bladder, lung, and blood vessels, where they trigger transduction mechanisms by sensing shear stress [62–64]. Piezo 2 channels also have a critical role in proprioception; Piezo 2 knockout mice presented uncoordinated movement [5,43,62].

*N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors are oligomeric cation channels that are present in the central and the peripheral nervous system, where they regulate essential physiological and pathological processes such as long-term potentiation, synaptic plasticity, and neurodegeneration via  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling [29,31,65–67]. These receptors are gated by mechanical forces and respond to changes in the osmotic and hydrostatic pressure. In addition, glutamate and glycine ligands are crucial for activation of these channels [65–67].

Besides ion channels gated by mechanical forces, some voltage-gated cation channels are also considered MS and activated in response to mechanical stimuli; however, they act through different activation mechanisms [29,31]. For instance, voltage-gated sodium channels Na<sub>v</sub>1.5 or voltage-gated calcium channels Ca<sub>v</sub>1.2 are present in electromechanical tissues such as muscle, heart, and gut [5,68,69]. Another large group of channels is potassium channels, K<sub>2P</sub>, with a unique two-pore structure; they are present in excitable and nonexcitable cells [70]. These channels regulate potassium flow conductance that is crucial to establish membrane resting potential, cell excitability, and transport of water and solutes to support ionic balance.

#### Cytoskeleton

The ECM is a complex structure of proteins directly linked to the cell cytoskeleton via cellular receptors, integrins, and other transmembrane proteins that regulate cell–cell attachment and cell–ECM interactions [71]. The cytoskeleton is a complex interconnected network of filaments that forms unique structures critical for the mechanical stability of the cells and for rapid responses to external stimuli. The cytoskeleton provides resistance to deformation; hence it maintains the mechanical stability of cellular structures (Fig. 24.2). The cytoskeleton is composed of three main components: semiflexible actin microfilaments [72], hollow microtubules (MTs), and stiff intermediate filaments (IFs). The actin cytoskeleton is composed of filamentous (F) actin, helical globular (G) actin, and a variety of actin-binding proteins that regulate the overall actin cytoskeleton structure [17,22,73]. The actin cytoskeleton is associated with both focal adhesion (FA) complexes at cell-ECM sites and with TJs at cell-cell sites (adhesion complexes attached to small binding proteins such as  $\alpha$ -actinin, talin, or vinculin) [74]. Moreover, it has been shown actin MF can generate tension through the activity of molecular motors that convert adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into mechanical force. Actin filaments also serve a critical role in cell motion and migration through self-regulated ECM polymerization [1,17]. Alterations in actin assembly and structure triggered by mechanical forces regulate cell proliferation and gene expression [17,75]. A variety of cells (endothelial, osteoblasts, and mesenchymal stem) adhered to stiff substrates showed a shift toward higher F-actin versus G-actin ratios, which in turn triggered the activation of transcription factor Yes associated protein 1 (YAP1) [76,77]. YAP1 is a key effector of the Hippo molecular pathway, which is responsible for cell proliferation and differentiation [78]. This process is mediated



FIGURE 24.2 Key players of cellular mechanotransduction. Cell–cell connections transmit mechanical signals through adherent junctions, desmosomes, gap junctions, and tight junctions, which are ubiquitously present among cells. The signals between cells and the extracellular matrix (ECM) are transmitted through complexes of proteins called focal adhesions, which are mostly composed of integrins. The connections receive signals, perform sensory functions, and after microfilaments [72], microtubules [131] and intermediate filaments, they transmit the signal to the nucleus and then perform transmission functions. *FAK*, focal adhesion kinase.

by the formation of a complex with another transcription factor, transcriptional enhancer factor domain family member [79]. If these cells adhere to a soft surface, YAP1 coactivator becomes phosphorylated by serine/ threonine-protein kinase, which in turn leads to YAP inactivation and, as a result, cell death [77]. Tubulin-based microtubules associated with the centrosome regulate the cell cycle. Microtubules are essential in cell mitotic spin-dle formation, vesicle transport, cell polarity, and cilia formation [80,81]. MTs have a major function in cell polarity and spindle orientation during the mitotic cycle, with associated regulation of chromatin orientation. Moreover, cilia axoneme consists of MTs and are crucial in regulating sperm motility and the flow of mucus, cerebrospinal fluid, and other bodily fluids upon sensing mechanical forces. Finally, elastic IFs (lamin, vimentin, desmin, and keratin) link nuclei and cell attachment sites (desmosomes) [82]. Lamin proteins form the inner support structure for the nuclear net and have an essential role in mechanotransduction. Compared with actin filaments and microtubules, IFs are relatively stable structures. IFs are highly expressed in neuronal (especially axons) and epithelial and muscle cells, which are constantly undergoing high mechanical stresses [83,84].

The assembly of more complex cytoskeletal structures is possible when microfilaments, microtubules, and IFs are supplemented by other proteins such as actin-bound myosin chains, which combine to form stress fibers around the periphery of cells. Cytoskeleton components in combination form a complex network and fill the interior of the cell. These components are continuously remodeled, such that monomers can be rapidly added or removed.

Microfilaments and microtubules are essential to maintain cell shape and polarization; they support a vast range of fundamental cellular mechanisms such as vesicle transport, cytoplasmic organization, chromosome segregation, and cell migration. IFs complexed with other components are crucial for cell–cell interactions and attachment and are required for healthy tissue and organ function during development and adult life. Actin and myosin coat the interior side of the plasma membrane and perform contractile and supportive functions for the membrane. The external forces that are propagated through integrins of the plasma membrane can be transduced as chemical modifications of the cytoskeletal structure at information-receiving sites and later transferred along the network as cascades.

To understand the function of the cytoskeleton in mechanotransduction better, tensegrity has been suggested [22,85]. This model proposes compensatory stress–strain organization of cytoskeletal components, in which compression-bearing elements (microtubules and ECM adhesion sites) withstand the stretching of surrounding

24. MECHANICAL DETERMINANTS OF TISSUE DEVELOPMENT

elastic elements (microfilaments and IFs). This complex organization of cytoskeletal elements thus allows the rapid exchange of energy with the surroundings and immediate cellular responses to fluctuating microenvironmental and mechanical stimulation. Continuous movement of actin—myosin complexes, formation of new FA sites and ECM adhesions, as well as osmotic forces result in the accumulation of physiological prestress or isomeric tension in many components of the cytoskeleton, according to the tensegrity model. Thus, these cytoskeletal adaptations and the compensatory stress—strain organization and physiological isomeric tension could explain the ability of cells to transduce signals over long distances and to convert mechanical stimuli into the cascade of complex biomechanical reactions in the nucleus [85]. Cellular mechanics have been described by other models, such as the cortical network, open cell foam, and percolation. However, these models do not account for the contribution of the ECM and microtubules toward cellular mechanics [86].

#### NUCLEUS AS THE CENTRAL ORGANELLE IN REGULATING MECHANOTRANSDUCTION

The nucleus is the central administrative organelle of the cell. This organelle performs three crucial functions: the storage of hereditary information, the regulation of key cellular processes such as cell growth, metabolism, proliferation, and protein synthesis; and mechanotransduction [87]. The cell nucleus is composed of the nucleolus and chromatin–DNA complexes that are protected by the nuclear envelope (NE), which has a high number of nuclear pores [88]. The nucleus is supported by the endoplasmic reticulum covered with ribosomes that are responsible for rapid RNA synthesis [89]. Although the nuclear content seems to be isolated from the cytoplasm by the NE, these two compartments are tightly linked structurally and physically by two protein complexes, the nuclear pore complex and the Linker of the Nucleoskeleton and Cytoskeleton (LINC) [90]. Because of this tight connection with the cytoplasm, the nucleus senses physical forces applied to a cell in seconds and transduces these signals into a cascade of biochemical reactions to remodel and adapt the cell to changing environmental conditions. Nuclei respond within short periods by physical changes to lamina, relocation of nuclear markers, and the nuclear position itself. Over longer durations, nuclei change their stiffness, thus affecting the stiffness of cell cytoskeleton and the microenvironment of the cell [91]. All of these observations demonstrate the communication of all cell compartments in response to external stimulation and the critical role of nuclei not only for immediate responses but for long-term changes in cell structure.

These studies support the tensegrity model, in which proximal stimuli can affect distal cell structures owing to the connectivity among all cell compartments [10]. The nucleus is tightly associated with integrins such that the distortion of adhesive sites, followed by realignment of the NE structure, nuclear displacement, and stiffening are regulated by the underlying net of lamin A/C proteins. In response to integrin stimulation, plasma membrane ion channels transmit the signals of changing forces through the actin network to mitochondria bound to microtubules [7]. Mitochondria immediately respond by the significant release of reactive oxygen species and trigger activation of numerous signaling molecules such as nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  and vascular cell-adhesion molecule 1 [92].

To understand these cascades better, the molecular organization of the nucleus is important, with a doublelayered membrane or NE that connects chromatin-containing nucleoskeleton to the cytoskeleton. The inner and outer membranes of the NE are interconnected with pores that mediate this communication between compartments. The inner membrane of the NE is supported by nuclear lamina composed of lamin proteins (lamins A, B, and C) and other incorporated membrane proteins such as lamina-associated protein  $2\alpha$ , emerin, inner nuclear membrane protein Man1 domain–containing members [91]. The organization of the NE is similar to that of the cell plasma membrane, with a high number of ions channels and inner actin support. The nuclear lamina is a dynamic structure linked to the nuclear chromatin domains and is responsible for the structural organization of chromatin and gene expression. Moreover, earlier research confirmed the association of the lamina with the cytoskeleton, observed via electron microscopy; molecular studies based on nuclear migration have supported this conclusion [89,93]. The complex of two protein families, synaptic nuclear envelope protein/nesprin and SUN (Sad1p and UNC-84) colocalized within the NE linked the nuclear lamina and cytoskeleton and were accordingly named the LINC [90]. Disruption of the LINC complex or ablation of lamina A/C proteins caused the disruption of cytoskeleton actin organization, which presumably was required to be linked with nuclear pores for proper assembly and organization. Intriguingly, independent physical force responses of isolated nuclei has been shown in in vitro studies, which points to the critical role of the nucleus in cell responses to mechanical forces [94,95]. Similarities in the organization of the cell plasma membrane and NE suggest the presence of resembling signal amplification mechanisms, well described for the cell membrane through FA sites, but not proved for NE. It was speculated the nesprin family of proteins performs this amplification function [94]. Nesprin proteins unfold under tension, exposing binding sites and triggering further nesprin dimerization and the recruitment of other factors to support LINC complex stability and rigidity. Mainly lamina A and C proteins are responsible for nuclear stiffness in response to applied stress on the nesprin 1 protein of the LINC complex [94].

Mutations in most of the nuclear LINC proteins, or the lamina complex, are related to a variety of human pathologies such as different laminopathies (congenital muscular dystrophy, mandibuloacral lipoatrophy, cerebral ataxia, dilated cardiomyopathy, and others) [7].

#### CELLULAR MECHANOTRANSDUCTION MECHANISMS

Internal mechanical forces sensed by cell surface intramembrane receptors (integrins) are responsible for binding cells to the surrounding ECM, and cadherins for cell–cell contact and communication [2] (Fig. 24.3). Mechanical forces applied to cell–cell contact and cell–ECM adhesions affect cellular homeostasis, including single cells as well as surrounding tissues and organs [96]. The complex cell structure allows the detection of alterations in mechanical forces applied from outside or inside the cell, and to converts these signals into a cascade of biochemical events to regulate cell responses known as mechanotransduction [97]. To understand how the body responds to mechanical stimuli, it is critical to study mechanotransduction mechanisms starting from the single-cell level to the more complex levels of tissues and organs, a hierarchy of responses [98]. Cells respond to external forces by regulating the expression of ECM and other downstream effectors inside the cell. The cascade of molecular mechanisms that regulate cell responses to mechanical forces remains under study; however, some of the events are understood and are presented here.



FIGURE 24.3 Cellular changes over time after mechanical stimulation. Cell–cell connections sense signals as stretching or shear stress, whereas cell–extracellular matrix (ECM) connections sense matrix rigidity and tension. The signals are converted into a cascade of biochemical reactions that cause cellular responses to the applied stimuli. Immediate changes after stimulation can include actin-myosin filament contraction, stabilization of focal adhesions, and the assembly of protein complexes. During the hours and days after initial signaling, the inputs reach the nucleus and cause changes by regulating major molecular pathways such as Yes associated protein (YAP) and LIM. The final chain of biochemical events can push the cell into division, differentiation, or trigger apoptosis or fibrosis, among other events, depending on the nature of the stimulation. *FAK*, focal adhesion kinase; *IF*, intermediate filament; *MRTFA*, myocardin-related transcription factor A; *MT*, microtubule; *ROCK*, Rho-associated protein kinase.

#### Mechanotransduction Through Cell—Extracellular Matrix Adhesions

All cells are surrounded by a network of ECM and are connected to this structure at multiple points through integrins of FA sites, to cytoplasmic actin filaments. Over 50 proteins are described in FAs, with integrins as the major component [17]. Integrins consist of two types of homodimers,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , which associate with the ECM and various intracellular proteins, such as FA kinase (FAK), talin, vinculin, paxillin, and p130Cas (also known as breast cancer antiestrogen resistance 1) [99]. The associated proteins maintain and regulate the activation of integrins, transduction of mechanical signals, linkage to the actin cytoskeleton, and additional functions. Upon cell attachment to the ECM, integrins bind and initially start to form small focal contacts consisting of integrins and other FA proteins, all of which form a complex FA [100]. Because of the essential role of FAs in regulating mechanotransduction signaling, they are considered to be mechanosensing centers from which the signals are oriented toward the proper organelle or structure to be transduced into a cascade of biochemical reactions [15]. These responses regulate cell adaption toward constantly changing environmental forces. FAs are stress sensitive and constantly alter their conformation under different stress conditions, to protect cells and support survival and stress resistance. These instantaneous changes in FA conformation are regulated by the Rho molecular pathway and its downstream effectors Rhoassociated protein kinase (ROCK) and mDia (mammalian Diaphanous) [12,101]. The integrin linker protein talin is also sensitive to stress and undergoes unfolding and stretching in response to stress, revealing its binding site to vinculin to form the talin–vinculin complex. This complex triggers further changes in integrin structure and initiates signal transduction; it is also strongly dependent on myosin II activity. The talin-vinculin complex was shown to have a key role in the cell response to ECM rigidity [13].

FAK is a signaling molecule that has a critical role in regulating mechanotransduction by binding to various proteins such as receptor tyrosine kinase and PI3K, which are responsible for the activation and deactivation of molecular pathways [102,103]. Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway (MAPK), with its major effectors such as extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2), p38 MAPKs, and Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), is upregulated upon FA complex formation [104]. The nucleus receives the signal after ERK1/2 and JNK activation, and via a feedback loop it regulates the expression of critical components of the ECM, such as collagen type I, which is responsible for tissue formation and remodeling [105].

#### Mechanotransduction Through Cell-Cell Adhesions

Adherent junctions (AJs) and desmosomes are the structures through which cells communicate with each other; and the have a role similar to that of FAs as mechanosensors, or mechanosensing ion channels and mechanotransmitters that include cytoskeleton components, nuclear lamina, and various transmembrane proteins [12,106]. AJs are composed of cadherins,  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent transmembrane adhesion molecules, and intercellular proteins such as  $\alpha$ -catenin,  $\beta$ -catenin, and vinculin [74]. Cadherin extracellular domains connect with cadherins of neighboring cells, whereas their cytoplasmic domain is responsible for the recruitment of catenins and other regulatory molecules. Cadherin–catenin complexes are critical in fetal development and in maintaining tissue homeostasis during adulthood [107]. Epithelial cells form a unique feature, TJs, on the apical side of AJs. These features are composed of specific membrane proteins such as occludin and claudin [108]. These TJs are crucial for barrier maintenance and the apical polarity of epithelial cells [109,110]. Several other pathways also regulate signal transduction though cell–cell contact. The Notch pathway regulates cell-fate determination in embryogenesis and tissue homeostasis in the adult state. Upon binding of Notch with its transmembrane ligand Delta, the extracellular domain is cleaved by ADAM (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase) protease, whereas the cytoplasmic domain is cleaved by  $\gamma$ -secretase [111]. The remaining Notch intracellular domain relocates to the nucleus, where it activates and deactivates targeted genes.

Cell–cell contacts share many functional similarities with cell–ECM contacts, such as clustering, recruitment of associated molecules for signal transduction, and trigger signaling cascades that result in activation of Rho family GTPases. Rho family small GTPases are important molecules that regulate cell cytoskeleton remodeling and reassembly in response to changing external forces. There are about 20 members in this family; three were described as regulators of cytoskeleton remodeling: RhoA, Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1), and cell division cycle 42 [12]. RhoA protein is activated in response to mechanical stimuli, whereas its inhibition or its downstream effectors, ROCK or mDia, affect cyclic stress-induced cell filaments reorientation. Rac1 has a key role in regulating stress-induced responses in endothelial and other cells [17].

#### From Cells to Organs: How Mechanobiology Affects Tissue Development and Function

After understanding mechanotransduction mechanisms at the single-cell level, the next step is to understand how these mechanisms affect fetal development and overall tissue homeostasis. Mechanical forces are critical regulators of fertilization and fetal development from the earliest stages [11,12]. Cell motility during fetal development generates mechanical tension that shapes the embryo. Moreover, it significantly affects gene expression and thus cell differentiation [22,71,112]. Therefore, during fetal development there are two processes that play a key role, morphogenesis driven by tissue motility and cell differentiation controlled by gene expression [112].

Fertilization is regulated by mechanical forces, starting from sperm activity that is driven by the ATP-fueled motor protein dynein [12]. Dynein generates tail beats, which allow flagella to move the sperm within the viscous uterine environment toward an egg [113]. Upon sperm penetration inside the egg, a chain of biochemical reactions is triggered that allows the egg membrane to harden through cross-linking of molecular filaments [114].

The early-stage embryo is composed of tightly packed identical cell populations, until actin-driven asymmetrical division splits cells into polar and apolar groups [11,115]. The balance between symmetric and asymmetric cell division during fetal development is regulated by the mitotic spindle located inside the cell, which in turn is controlled by the physical forces generated upon interaction of cytoskeletal microtubules and actin microfilaments [116]. Correlations among cell geometry and the position and orientation of the spindle have been demonstrated [117]. The mechanism that regulates spindle position, and thus cell division, can be explained by the tensegrity model presented earlier [85]. Overall, at the early stages of embryonic development there is little to no ECM present, and thus cell differentiation and embryo development are driven by mechanical forces generated by cellular cytoskeleton proteins or by cell-cell interactions. One of the most well-described models is convergence extension during gastrulation [12,118–120]. Tissue narrowing and lengthening via cell intercalation generate mechanical tension along the embryo, driving morphogenesis. Elongation of the neuroectoderm is a passive process, with mechanical tension arising from the underlying chordamesoderm [121]. Only after the emergence of early epithelial cell layers does the ECM start to assemble, and at this point it is mainly composed of collagen type IV, laminin, and heparan sulfate proteoglycans accumulated at the base of trophectoderm [13,122]. After the ECM assembles, it contributes to the mechanical properties of the fetal microenvironment, and thus regulates cellular differentiation and the control of fetal development by controlling major molecular mechanisms that cause cell differentiation [123]. These features include the Hippo pathway, the conserved signaling pathway that regulates normal organ growth and development in humans and *Drosophila* [124–126].

When the main embryonic axis is formed, predifferentiated cells start to self-assemble into more complex hollowlike and other three-dimensional structures that become future organs. As in early embryonic development, morphogenesis is regulated by mechanical forces generated by cytoskeletal proteins and transmitted through ECM and cell–cell interactions to neighboring cells and tissues [127]. Another critical process contributing to normal tissue development and function is planar cell polarity (PCP) [118,120,128]. PCP regulates cell function in the perpendicular axis of the epithelial layer. Two major molecular mechanisms regulate PCP and are critical at the stage of embryonic morphogenesis: the core PCP and the Fat-Dachsous-Four-jointed modules [11,128]. The major role of these signaling pathways is to control the distribution of transmembrane receptors in opposing cell compartments of various tissues. This process in turn regulates cellular organization, motility, and function, based on the location of the signaling complexes. For instance, PCP regulates cell proliferation during wing development in *Drosophila*, as well as in the skin cracks of crocodiles [128].

Upon the establishment of a morphogenetic body plan, cells trigger differentiation into the organ-specific lineages and self-assemble into more complex structures that become organs [12]. At this stage of embryonic development, mechanical forces may not have a leading role, although they still contribute to organ development and overall body homeostasis. Soluble morphogens have a critical role at later stages of embryonic development, although some of these act by regulating cellular force homeostasis [129–131]. For example, during murine tooth formation, there is a sequence of events [12]. The process starts with increased production of growth factors responsible for cell migration and proliferation, which triggers massive cell migration toward each other, forming a defined condensed mesenchymal cell area [132,133]. The formation of dense tissue in turn triggers the activation of molecular pathways that regulate further tooth development. Finally, the dense mesenchyme initiates the production of collagen type VI containing ECM to harden the organ formed and finalize organ-specific lineage differentiation [11]. Thus, later embryogenesis is controlled by complex mechanochemical mechanisms that together control healthy organ development.

The development of some organs and body systems such as brain [4,134], heart [19,135], bone [136,137], lung [138,139], kidney [140], muscle [141,142], and the hematopoietic system [143–145] are affected by mechanical forces

more than other tissues and organs [20]. The early-stage sensitivity and responsiveness of embryonic stem cells to stretch and stress may still be present upon differentiation toward a defined cell type. For instance, fetal-derived cardiomyocyte progenitors maintain contractility crucial for healthy heart development on substrates with stiffness similar or equal to the native myocardial microenvironment [146,147]. Cytoskeleton formation and assembly of vimentin, filamin, and myosin were sensitive to substrate stiffness [147–149]. Loss-of-function experiments performed with ROCK inhibitors showed restored functions of cardiomyocytes on stiff substrates through the disassembly of stress fibers, which were shown to form in response to mechanical stress, such as stiff substrates [99]. Thus, phenotypic stage–dependent responses of single cells to mechanical stimuli at early stages of embryogenesis are important to the process.

Another example illustrates how the formation of lung buds from epithelial planar layers depends on force balancing in the developing embryo [22]. Cells located in more clustered areas of high turnover regions of cells in the epithelium demonstrate a greater chance of budding outgrowth; in comparison, the regions with higher ECM deposition remained the same size. Moreover, it was shown that budding could be modulated by cytoskeletal tension, causing a loss of differential basement membrane thickness [138,150]. The same budding pattern was observed in capillary sprout growth during angiogenesis [151]. Another example is kidney development, in which flow shear stress contributed to the assembly of glomerular structures, proper function for filtration and liquid flow, and morphogenetic control of nephron formation [152]. It was hypothesized that tissue-specific differentiation was strongly dependent on the properties of the substrate, such as stiffness, ECM composition, and elasticity, rather than mechanical stretching that is critical only during early stages of cell migration and orientation within the embryo.

Mechanical forces significantly affect embryonic development, but also tissue and organ function throughout adult life. Examples include the effect of physical exercise on the musculoskeletal system, blood flow stress on the cardiovascular system, cerebrospinal fluid and blood flow on brain function, and cyclic strain from inspiratory and expiratory forces on the pulmonary system [146]. Thus, normal tissue function and organ homeostasis strongly depend on proper mechanotransduction mechanisms between cell contacts and ECM in the tissue microenvironment. The human skeleton is one systems that can significantly remodel itself in response to physical forces. For instance, physically inactive patients experience osteopenia (bone mass loss) as a result of the lack of mechanical stress on bone and joints [12]. This process leads to increased bone fractures and joint malfunctions [153]. In contrast, an increase in the mechanical loading forces on bone tissue result in tissue hardening and matrix deposition [154]. The muscular system also modulates bone structure and composition via maintenance of tensegrity force homeostasis [155]. Similar to bone tissue remodeling, cardiomyocytes respond to hemodynamic changes in their microenvironment; under increased pressure, cardiomyocytes undergo hypertrophy, which in turn can lead to heart failure [156]. Numerous cardiovascular studies showed various factors contributing to both healthy and maladaptive maintenance of heart function, many of which are mechanosensors or mechanotransducers (stretch-sensitive ion channels, integrins and integrin-associated proteins, sarcomeric proteins, cell surface receptors, and others) [157]. These features support the importance of understanding the principles of mechanobiology. Strict control over tissue and microenvironment remodeling is crucial for organ homeostasis and to prevent devastating life-threatening diseases such as fibrosis and cancers associated with distorted remodeling of the ECM.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Mechanobiology principles are being applied in all biomedical fields. Mechanical forces have a crucial role in embryonic development and in the homeostasis and function of adult organs. Application of this knowledge in the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine will help in designing systems for the growth of artificial organs or tissues. Moreover, the insight and use of the principles of mechanobiology will allow the study of various diseases associated with changes in ECM assembly and misassembly and with cellular responses to mechanical stimuli.

Several microengineered platforms have been developed to recapitulate in vivo—like mechanical environment to decipher the role of mechanical forces in normal and pathological cellular processes [158]. Such platforms include bioreactors that apply tension and compression, microelectromechanical systems—based approaches that combine electrical and mechanical stimulation, and mechanopharmacology approaches that allow the simultaneous investigation of drugs and biomechanics in living systems [159]. However, the underlying mechanisms of how mechanical factors affect stem cell biology remain poorly defined. An understanding of the stem cell "mechano-niche" composed of cellular mechanical properties, the surrounding ECM, and external mechanical cues will enable the lineage-specific differentiation of stem cells for various in vitro and in vivo applications [160].

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the NIH (P41EB002520, R01NS092847, R01AR068048, R01DE016525) for support of our research and our many colleagues in the laboratory and beyond for their daily inputs, help, and guidance.

#### References

- Humphrey JD, Dufresne ER, Schwartz MA. Mechanotransduction and extracellular matrix homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014;15(12): 802–12.
- [2] Jaalouk DE, Lammerding J. Mechanotransduction gone awry. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10(1):63-73.
- [3] Benoist D, Stones R, Benson AP, Fowler ED, Drinkhill MJ, Hardy ME, et al. Systems approach to the study of stretch and arrhythmias in right ventricular failure induced in rats by monocrotaline. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2014;115(2–3):162–72.
- [4] Barnes JM, Przybyla L, Weaver VM. Tissue mechanics regulate brain development, homeostasis and disease. J Cell Sci 2017;130(1):71-82.
- [5] Gu Y, Gu C. Physiological and pathological functions of mechanosensitive ion channels. Mol Neurobiol 2014;50(2):339-47.
- [6] Hofherr A, Kottgen M. Polycystic kidney disease: cilia and mechanosensation revisited. Nat Rev Nephrol 2016;12(6):318-9.
- [7] Isermann P, Lammerding J. Nuclear mechanics and mechanotransduction in health and disease. Curr Biol 2013;23(24):R1113-21.
- [8] Jo H, Shin JH. Special issue on mechanobiology and diseases. Biomed Eng Lett 2015;5(3):159-61.
- [9] Oomens C. Cellular and biomolecular mechanics and mechanobiology. Comput Meth Biomech Biomed Eng 2012;17(6):694.
- [10] Ingber DE. Cellular mechanotransduction: putting all the pieces together again. FASEB J 2006;20(7):811–27.
- [11] Mammoto T, Ingber D. Mechanical control of tissue and organ development. Development 2010;137(9):1407-20.
- [12] Mammoto T, Mammoto A, Ingber D. Mechanobiology and developmental control. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2013;29:27–61.
- [13] Bonnans C, Chou J, Werb Z. Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014;15(12):786-801.
- [14] Wang JH, Thampatty BP. An introductory review of cell mechanobiology. Biomech Model Mechanobiol 2006;5(1):1-16.
- [15] Hoffman BD, Grashoff C, Schwartz MA. Dynamic molecular processes mediate cellular mechanotransduction. Nature 2011;475(7356): 316–23.
- [16] Gefen A, Weihs D. Cytoskeleton and plasma-membrane damage resulting from exposure to sustained deformations: a review of the mechanobiology of chronic wounds. Med Eng Phys 2016;38(9):828–33.
- [17] Ohashi K, Fujiwara S, Mizuno K. Roles of the cytoskeleton, cell adhesion and rho signalling in mechanosensing and mechanotransduction. J Biochem 2017;161.
- [18] Butler P, Muddana H, Farag S. Mechanobiology of the cell membrane. In: Zemel A, Ronald K, editors. Cell and matrix mechanics. 6000 Broken Sound Parkway NW, Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press Taylor and Francis Group; 2015. p. 35–63.
- [19] Granados-Riveron JT, Brook JD. The impact of mechanical forces in heart morphogenesis. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2012;5(1):132-42.
- [20] Najrana T, Sanchez-Esteban J. Mechanotransduction as an adaptation to gravity. Front Pediatr 2016;4:140.
- [21] Valero ML, Caminos E, Juiz JM, Martinez-Galan JR. TRPC1 and metabotropic glutamate receptor expression in rat auditory midbrain neurons. J Neurosci Res 2015;93(6):964–72.
- [22] Kluge JA, Leisk GG, Kaplan DL. Mechanical determinants of tissue development. In: Inc E, editor. Principles of regenerative medicine; 2011.
- [23] Myllyharju J, Kivirikko K. Collagens, modifying enzymes and their mutations in humans, flies and worms. Trends Genet 2004;20(1):33–43.
- [24] Gage FH, Temple S. Neural stem cells: generating and regenerating the brain. Neuron 2013;80(3):588-601.
- [25] Wade A, Robinson AE, Engler JR, Petritsch C, James CD, Phillips JJ. Proteoglycans and their roles in brain cancer. FEBS J 2013;280(10): 2399-417.
- [26] Minuth WW, Strehl R, Schumacher K. Tissue engineering: from cell biology to artificial organs. John Wiley & Sons; 2006.
- [27] Ducheyne P. Comprehensive biomaterials 1. Elsevier Inc.; 2013.
- [28] Sherratt MJ. Tissue elasticity and the ageing elastic fibre. Age 2009;31(4):305-25.
- [29] Martinac B, Cox CD. Mechanosensory transduction: focus on ion channels. 2017.
- [30] Jentsch TJ. VRACs and other ion channels and transporters in the regulation of cell volume and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2016;17(5): 293–307.
- [31] Takahashi K, Matsuda Y, Naruse K. Mechanosensitive ion channels. AIMS Biophys 2016;3(1):63-74.
- [32] Ranade SS, Syeda R, Patapoutian A. Mechanically activated ion channels. Neuron 2015;87(6):1162-79.
- [33] Katz B. Depolarization of sensory terminals and the initiation of impulses in the muscle spindle. J Physiol 1950;111:261-82.
- [34] Pan B, Geleoc GS, Asai Y, Horwitz GC, Kurima K, Ishikawa K, et al. TMC1 and TMC2 are components of the mechanotransduction channel in hair cells of the mammalian inner ear. Neuron 2013;79(3):504–15.
- [35] Martinac B. The ion channels to cytoskeleton connection as potential mechanism of mechanosensitivity. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1838(2): 682–91.
- [36] Lansman JB. Utrophin suppresses low frequency oscillations and coupled gating of mechanosensitive ion channels in dystrophic skeletal muscle. Channels 2015;9(3):145–60.
- [37] Cahalan SM, Lukacs V, Ranade SS, Chien S, Bandell M, Patapoutian A. Piezo1 links mechanical forces to red blood cell volume. eLife 2015;4.
- [38] Peyronnet R, Nerbonne JM, Kohl P. Cardiac mechano-gated ion channels and arrhythmias. Circ Res 2016;118(2):311-29.
- [39] Goodman CA, Hornberger TA, Robling AG. Bone and skeletal muscle: key players in mechanotransduction and potential overlapping mechanisms. Bone 2015;80:24–36.
- [40] Wang J, Zhang Y, Zhang N, Wang C, Herrler T, Li Q. An updated review of mechanotransduction in skin disorders: transcriptional regulators, ion channels, and microRNAs. Cell Mol Life Sci 2015;72(11):2091–106.
- [41] Delmas P, Coste B. Mechano-gated ion channels in sensory systems. Cell 2013;155(2):278-84.
- [42] Nitsan I, Drori S, Lewis YE, Cohen S, Tzlil S. Mechanical communication in cardiac cell synchronized beating. Nat Phys 2016;12(5):472-7.
- [43] Zhao Q, Wu K, Geng J, Chi S, Wang Y, Zhi P, et al. Ion permeation and mechanotransduction mechanisms of mechanosensitive Piezo channels. Neuron 2016;89(6):1248–63.

#### 24. MECHANICAL DETERMINANTS OF TISSUE DEVELOPMENT

- [44] Peng AW, Gnanasambandam R, Sachs F, Ricci AJ. Adaptation independent modulation of auditory hair cell mechanotransduction channel open probability implicates a role for the lipid bilayer. J Neurosci 2016;36(10):2945–56.
- [45] Giblin JP, Comes N, Strauss O, Gasull X. Ion channels in the eye: involvement in ocular pathologies. Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol 2016;104: 157–231.
- [46] Ayon RJ, Tang H, Fernandez RA, Makino A, Yuan JXJ. Smooth muscle cell ion channels in pulmonary arterial hypertension: pathogenic role in pulmonary vasoconstriction and vascular remodeling. 2016. p. 295–324.
- [47] Li C, Rezania S, Kammerer S, Sokolowski A, Devaney T, Gorischek A, et al. Piezo1 forms mechanosensitive ion channels in the human MCF-7 breast cancer cell line. Sci Rep 2015;5:8364.
- [48] Hong K, Driscoll M. A transmembrane domain of the putative channel subunit MEC-4 influences mechanotransduction and neurodegeneration in *C.elegans*. Nature 1994;367:470–3.
- [49] Driscoll M, Chalfie M. The *mec-4* gene is a member of a family of *Caenorhabditis elegans* genes that can mutate to induce neuronal degeneration. Nature 1991;349(14):588–93.
- [50] Roy S, Boiteux C, Alijevic O, Liang C, Berneche S, Kellenberger S. Molecular determinants of desensitization in an ENaC/degenerin channel. FASEB J 2013;27(12):5034–45.
- [51] Rossier BC. The epithelial sodium channel (ENaC): new insights into ENaC gating. Pflugers Arch 2003;446(3):314-6.
- [52] Luft F. Molecular genetics of salt-sensitivity and hypertension. Drug Metab Dispos 2001;29(4):500–4.
- [53] Oha Y, Warnock D. Disorders of the epithelial Na<sup>+</sup> channel in Liddle's syndrome and autosomal recessive pseudohypoaldosteronism type 1. Exp Nephrol 2000;8:320–5.
- [54] Cosens D, Manning A. Abnormal electroretinogram from a Drosophila mutant. Nature 1969;224:285-7.
- [55] Hatakeyama Y, Takahashi K, Tominaga M, Kimura H, Ohta T. Polysulfide evokes acute pain through the activation of nociceptive TRPA1 in mouse sensory neurons. Mol Pain 2015;11:24.
- [56] Corey DP, Garcia-Anoveros J, Holt JR, Kwan KY, Lin S-Y, Vollrath MA, et al. TRPA1 is a candidate for the mechanosensitive transduction channel of vertebrate hair cells. Nature 2004;432:723–30.
- [57] Schwartz ES, Christianson JA, Chen X, La JH, Davis BM, Albers KM, et al. Synergistic role of TRPV1 and TRPA1 in pancreatic pain and inflammation. Gastroenterology 2011;140(4):1283–1291 e1–2.
- [58] Tsutsumi T, Kajiya H, Fukawa T, Sasaki M, Nemoto T, Tsuzuki T, et al. The potential role of transient receptor potential type A1 as a mechanoreceptor in human periodontal ligament cells. Eur J Oral Sci 2013;121(6):538–44.
- [59] Chen J, Li Z, Hatcher JT, Chen QH, Chen L, Wurster RD, et al. Deletion of TRPC6 attenuates NMDA receptor-mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry and Ca<sup>2+</sup>induced neurotoxicity following cerebral ischemia and oxygen-glucose deprivation. Front Neurosci 2017;11:138.
- [60] Baratchi S, Almazi JG, Darby W, Tovar-Lopez FJ, Mitchell A, McIntyre P. Shear stress mediates exocytosis of functional TRPV4 channels in endothelial cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 2016;73(3):649–66.
- [61] Thoppil RJ, Paruchuri S, Cappelli HC, Thodeti CK. TRPV4 channels regulate tumor angiogenesis via modulation of Rho/Rho kinase pathway. Oncotarget 2016;7(18):25849–61.
- [62] Volkers L, Mechioukhi Y, Coste B. Piezo channels: from structure to function. Pflugers Arch 2015;467(1):95-9.
- [63] Lee W, Guilak F, Liedtke W. Role of Piezo channels in joint health and injury. 2017.
- [64] Alcaino C, Farrugia G, Beyder A. Mechanosensitive Piezo channels in the gastrointestinal tract. 2017.
- [65] Saab AS, Tzvetavona ID, Trevisiol A, Baltan S, Dibaj P, Kusch K, et al. Oligodendroglial NMDA receptors regulate glucose import and axonal energy metabolism. Neuron 2016;91(1):119–32.
- [66] Wang M, Yang Y, Wang CJ, Gamo NJ, Jin LE, Mazer JA, et al. NMDA receptors subserve persistent neuronal firing during working memory in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Neuron 2013;77(4):736–49.
- [67] Krasnow AM, Attwell D. NMDA receptors: power switches for oligodendrocytes. Neuron 2016;91(1):3-5.
- [68] Beyder A, Rae JL, Bernard C, Strege PR, Sachs F, Farrugia G. Mechanosensitivity of Nav1.5, a voltage-sensitive sodium channel. J Physiol 2010;588(Pt 24):4969–85.
- [69] Simms BA, Zamponi GW. Neuronal voltage-gated calcium channels: structure, function, and dysfunction. Neuron 2014;82(1):24-45.
- [70] Feliciangeli S, Chatelain FC, Bichet D, Lesage F. The family of K2P channels: salient structural and functional properties. J Physiol 2015; 593(12):2587–603.
- [71] Iskratsch T, Wolfenson H, Sheetz MP. Appreciating force and shape-the rise of mechanotransduction in cell biology. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014;15(12):825–33.
- [72] Lancaster MA, Renner M, Martin CA, Wenzel D, Bicknell LS, Hurles ME, et al. Cerebral organoids model human brain development and microcephaly. Nature 2013;501(7467):373–9.
- [73] Sun M, Zaman MH. Modeling, signaling and cytoskeleton dynamics: integrated modeling-experimental frameworks in cell migration. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med 2017;9(1).
- [74] Sluysmans S, Vasileva E, Spadaro D, Shah J, Rouaud F, Citi S. The role of apical cell-cell junctions and associated cytoskeleton in mechanotransduction. Biol Cell 2017;109.
- [75] Alhussein G, Shanti A, Farhat IAH, Timraz SBH, Alwahab NSA, Pearson YE, et al. A spatiotemporal characterization method for the dynamic cytoskeleton. Cytoskeleton 2016;73:221–32.
- [76] Dupont S, Morsut L, Aragona M, Enzo E, Giulitti S, Cordenonsi M, et al. Role of YAP/TAZ in mechanotransduction. Nature 2011;474(7350): 179–83.
- [77] Kodaka M, Hata Y. The mammalian Hippo pathway: regulation and function of YAP1 and TAZ. Cell Mol Life Sci 2015;72(2):285-306.
- [78] Mascharak S, Benitez PL, Proctor AC, Madl CM, Hu KH, Dewi RE, et al. YAP-dependent mechanotransduction is required for proliferation and migration on native-like substrate topography. Biomaterials 2017;115:155–66.
- [79] Dupont S. Role of YAP/TAZ in cell-matrix adhesion-mediated signalling and mechanotransduction. Exp Cell Res 2016;343(1):42-53.
- [80] Yokoyama H, Koch B, Walczak R, Ciray-Duygu F, Gonzalez-Sanchez JC, Devos DP, et al. The nucleoporin MEL-28 promotes RanGTPdependent gamma-tubulin recruitment and microtubule nucleation in mitotic spindle formation. Nat Commun 2014;5:3270.
- [81] Franker MA, Hoogenraad CC. Microtubule-based transport—basic mechanisms, traffic rules and role in neurological pathogenesis. J Cell Sci 2013;126(Pt 11):2319–29.

#### 402

#### REFERENCES

- [82] Chernyatina AA, Guzenko D, Strelkov SV. Intermediate filament structure: the bottom-up approach. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2015;32:65–72.
- [83] Herrmann H, Aebi U. Intermediate filaments: structure and assembly. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2016;8(11).
- [84] Fuchs E, Weber K. Intermediate filaments: structure, dynamics, function, and disease. Annu Rev Biochem 1994;63:345-82.
- [85] Ingber DE, Wang N, Stamenovic D. Tensegrity, cellular biophysics, and the mechanics of living systems. Rep Prog Phys 2014;77(4):046603.
- [86] King MR. Principles of cellular engineering: understanding the biomolecular interface. Academic Press; 2011.
- [87] Graham DM, Burridge K. Mechanotransduction and nuclear function. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2016;40:98-105.
- [88] Gilbert H, Swift J. Molecular pathways of mechanotransduction. In: Sons JW, editor. Mechanobiology: exploitation for medical benefit. 1st ed. 2017. p. 23–42.
- [89] Dupin I, Etienne-Manneville S. Nuclear positioning: mechanisms and functions. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2011;43(12):1698-707.
- [90] Soheilypour M, Peyro M, Jahed Z, Mofrad M. On the nuclear pore complex and its roles in nucleo-cytoskeletal coupling and mechanobiology. Cell Mol Bioeng 2016;9(2):217–26.
- [91] Wang N, Tytell J, Ingber D. Mechanotransduction at a distance: mechanically coupling the extracellular matrix with the nucleus. Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:75–82.
- [92] Wedgwood S, Lakshminrusimha S, Schumacker PT, Steinhorn RH. Cyclic stretch stimulates mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and Nox4 signaling in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2015;309(2):L196–203.
- [93] Capco D, Wan K, Penman S. The nuclear matrix: three-dimensional architecture and protein composition. Cell 1982;29:847-58.
- [94] Guilluy C, Osborne LD, Van Landeghem L, Sharek L, Superfine R, Garcia-Mata R, et al. Isolated nuclei adapt to force and reveal a mechanotransduction pathway in the nucleus. Nat Cell Biol 2014;16(4):376–81.
- [95] Le HQ, Ghatak S, Yeung CY, Tellkamp F, Gunschmann C, Dieterich C, et al. Mechanical regulation of transcription controls Polycombmediated gene silencing during lineage commitment. Nat Cell Biol 2016;18(8):864–75.
- [96] Kurniawan NA, Chaudhuri PK, Lim CT. Mechanobiology of cell migration in the context of dynamic two-way cell-matrix interactions. J Biomech 2016;49(8):1355–68.
- [97] Guck J, Lautenschlager F, Paschke S, Beil M. Critical review: cellular mechanobiology and amoeboid migration. Integr Biol 2010;2(11–12): 575–83.
- [98] Janmey PA, Weitz DA. Dealing with mechanics: mechanisms of force transduction in cells. Trends Biochem Sci 2004;29(7):364-70.
- [99] DuFort CC, Paszek MJ, Weaver VM. Balancing forces: architectural control of mechanotransduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12(5): 308–19.
- [100] Chen CS. Mechanotransduction-a field pulling together? J Cell Sci 2008;121(Pt 20):3285-92.
- [101] Geiger B, Bershadsky A. Assembly and mechanosensory function of focal contacts. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2001;13:584–92.
- [102] Tomakidi P, Schulz S, Proksch S, Weber W, Steinberg T. Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) perspectives in mechanobiology: implications for cell behaviour. Cell Tissue Res 2014;357(3):515–26.
- [103] Sathe AR, Shivashankar GV, Sheetz MP. Nuclear transport of paxillin depends on focal adhesion dynamics and FAT domains. J Cell Sci 2016; 129(10):1981-8.
- [104] Ihermann-Hella A, Lume M, Miinalainen IJ, Pirttiniemi A, Gui Y, Peranen J, et al. Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway regulates branching by remodeling epithelial cell adhesion. PLoS Genet 2014;10(3):e1004193.
- [105] Popov C, Burggraf M, Kreja L, Ignatius A, Schieker M, Docheva D. Mechanical stimulation of human tendon stem/progenitor cells results in upregulation of matrix proteins, integrins and MMPs, and activation of p38 and ERK1/2 kinases. BMC Mol Biol 2015;16:6.
- [106] Elosegui-Artola A, Oria R, Chen Y, Kosmalska A, Perez-Gonzalez C, Castro N, et al. Mechanical regulation of a molecular clutch defines force transmission and transduction in response to matrix rigidity. Nat Cell Biol 2016;18(5):540–8.
- [107] Benham-Pyle BW, Pruitt BL, Nelson WJ. Cell adhesion. Mechanical strain induces E-cadherin-dependent Yap1 and beta-catenin activation to drive cell cycle entry. Science 2015;348(6238):1024-7.
- [108] Dorland YL, Huveneers S. Cell-cell junctional mechanotransduction in endothelial remodeling. Cell Mol Life Sci 2017;74(2):279-92.
- [109] Ng M, Besser A, Brugge J, Danuser G. Mapping the dynamics of force transduction at cell-cell junctions of epithelial clusters. eLife 2014;3: e03282.
- [110] Biswas KH, Zaidel-Bar R. Early events in the assembly of E-cadherin adhesions. Exp Cell Res 2017;358.
- [111] Bays JL, Peng X, Tolbert CE, Guilluy C, Angell AE, Pan Y, et al. Vinculin phosphorylation differentially regulates mechanotransduction at cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesions. J Cell Biol 2014;205(2):251–63.
- [112] Eroshkin FM, Zaraisky AG. Mechano-sensitive regulation of gene expression during the embryonic development. Genesis 2017;55.
- [113] Itabashi T, Takagi J, Suzuki K, Ishiwata S. Responses of chromosome segregation machinery to mechanical perturbations. Biophysics 2013;9: 73–8.
- [114] Oehninger S, Swanson RJ, Matorras R. Overview of fertilization, gestation, and parturition. 2016. p. 47–67.
- [115] Serna L. Development: early events in asymmetric division. Nat Plants 2015;1:15008.
- [116] Orr AW, Helmke BP, Blackman BR, Schwartz MA. Mechanisms of mechanotransduction. Dev Cell 2006;10(1):11–20.
- [117] Minc N, Burgess D, Chang F. Influence of cell geometry on division-plane positioning. Cell 2011;144(3):414-26.
- [118] Walck-Shannon E, Hardin J. Cell intercalation from top to bottom. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014;15(1):34-48.
- [119] Shindo A, Wallingford J. PCP and septins compartmentalize cortical actomyosin to direct collective cell movement. Science 2014;343:649–52.
- [120] Ulmer B, Tingler M, Kurz S, Maerker M, Andre P, Monch D, et al. A novel role of the organizer gene Goosecoid as an inhibitor of Wnt/PCPmediated convergent extension in *Xenopus* and mouse. Sci Rep 2017;7:43010.
- [121] Jessen JR, Topczewski J, Bingham S, Sepich DS, Marlow F, Chandrasekhar A, et al. Zebrafish trilobite identifies new roles for strabismus in gastrulation and neuronal movements. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4(8):610–5.
- [122] McMillen P, Holley SA. Integration of cell-cell and cell-ECM adhesion in vertebrate morphogenesis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2015;36:48-53.
- [123] Julich D, Cobb G, Melo AM, McMillen P, Lawton AK, Mochrie SG, et al. Cross-scale integrin regulation organizes ECM and tissue topology. Dev Cell 2015;34(1):33–44.
- [124] Nishioka N, Inoue K, Adachi K, Kiyonari H, Ota M, Ralston A, et al. The Hippo signaling pathway components Lats and Yap pattern Tead4 activity to distinguish mouse trophectoderm from inner cell mass. Dev Cell 2009;16(3):398–410.
- [125] Yu FX, Zhao B, Guan KL. Hippo pathway in organ size control, tissue homeostasis, and cancer. Cell 2015;163(4):811-28.

#### 404

#### 24. MECHANICAL DETERMINANTS OF TISSUE DEVELOPMENT

- [126] Barry ER, Camargo FD. The Hippo superhighway: signaling crossroads converging on the Hippo/Yap pathway in stem cells and development. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2013;25(2):247–53.
- [127] Ito K, Ito K. Metabolism and the control of cell fate decisions and stem cell renewal. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2016;32:399-409.
- [128] Butler MT, Wallingford JB. Planar cell polarity in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2017;18.
- [129] Cizkova K, Rajdova A, Ehrmann J. Soluble epoxide hydrolase as a potential key factor for human prenatal development. Cells Tissues Organs 2016;201(4):277–86.
- [130] Thouas GA, Dominguez F, Green MP, Vilella F, Simon C, Gardner DK. Soluble ligands and their receptors in human embryo development and implantation. Endocr Rev 2015;36(1):92–130.
- [131] Ngangan A, Waring J, Cooke M, Mandrycky C, McDevitt T. Soluble factors secreted by differentiating embryonic stem cells stimulate exogenous cell proliferation and migration. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014;5(26):1–12.
- [132] Luukko K, Kettunen P. Coordination of tooth morphogenesis and neuronal development through tissue interactions: lessons from mouse models. Exp Cell Res 2014;325(2):72–7.
- [133] Jia S, Zhou J, Gao Y, Baek JA, Martin JF, Lan Y, et al. Roles of Bmp4 during tooth morphogenesis and sequential tooth formation. Development 2013;140(2):423–32.
- [134] Tay A, Schweizer FE, Di Carlo D. Micro- and nano-technologies to probe the mechano-biology of the brain. Lab Chip 2016;16(11):1962–77.
- [135] Majkut S, Dingal PC, Discher DE. Stress sensitivity and mechanotransduction during heart development. Curr Biol 2014;24(10):R495–501.
- [136] Morgan EF, Lei J. Toward clinical application and molecular understanding of the mechanobiology of bone healing. Clin Rev Bone Miner Metabol 2015;13(4):256-65.
- [137] Goggin PM, Zygalakis KC, Oreffo ROC, Schneider P. High-resolution 3D imaging of osteocytes and computational modelling in mechanobiology: insights on bone development, ageing, health and disease. Eur Cell Mater 2016;31:264–95.
- [138] Mullassery D, Smith NP. Lung development. Semin Pediatr Surg 2015;24(4):152-5.
- [139] Nichols JE, Niles JA, Vega SP, Argueta LB, Eastaway A, Cortiella J. Modeling the lung: design and development of tissue engineered macroand micro-physiologic lung models for research use. Exp Biol Med 2014;239(9):1135–69.
- [140] Shah MM, Sampogna RV, Sakurai H, Bush KT, Nigam SK. Branching morphogenesis and kidney disease. Development 2004;131(7):1449–62.
  [141] Lemke SB, Schnorrer F. Mechanical forces during muscle development. Mech Dev 2017;144(Pt A):92–101.
- [142] Andarawis-Puri N, Flatow EL, Soslowsky LJ. Tendon basic science: development, repair, regeneration, and healing. J Orthop Res 2015;33(6): 780-4.
- [143] Adamo L, Naveiras O, Wenzel PL, McKinney-Freeman S, Mack PJ, Gracia-Sancho J, et al. Biomechanical forces promote embryonic haematopoiesis. Nature 2009;459(7250):1131–5.
- [144] North TE, Goessling W, Peeters M, Li P, Ceol C, Lord AM, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell development is dependent on blood flow. Cell 2009; 137(4):736–48.
- [145] Ingber DE. Mechanobiology, tissue development and organ engineering. In: Inc E, editor. Principles of tissue engineering; 2014.
- [146] Mao AS, Shin JW, Mooney DJ. Effects of substrate stiffness and cell-cell contact on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. Biomaterials 2016; 98:184–91.
- [147] Ribeiro AJ, Ang YS, Fu JD, Rivas RN, Mohamed TM, Higgs GC, et al. Contractility of single cardiomyocytes differentiated from pluripotent stem cells depends on physiological shape and substrate stiffness. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112(41):12705–10.
- [148] van Putten S, Shafieyan Y, Hinz B. Mechanical control of cardiac myofibroblasts. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2016;93:133-42.
- [149] Liau B, Jackman CP, Li Y, Bursac N. Developmental stage-dependent effects of cardiac fibroblasts on function of stem cell-derived engineered cardiac tissues. Sci Rep 2017;7:42290.
- [150] Siedlik MJ, Nelson CM. Regulation of tissue morphodynamics: an important role for actomyosin contractility. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2015;32: 80-5.
- [151] Hoying JB, Utzinger U, Weiss JA. Formation of microvascular networks: role of stromal interactions directing angiogenic growth. Microcirculation 2014;21(4):278–89.
- [152] Ishikawa H, Marshall WF. Mechanobiology of ciliogenesis. Bioscience 2014;64(12):1084-91.
- [153] Hu M, Tian GW, Gibbons DE, Jiao J, Qin YX. Dynamic fluid flow induced mechanobiological modulation of in situ osteocyte calcium oscillations. Arch Biochem Biophys 2015;579:55–61.
- [154] Ruggiu A, Cancedda R. Bone mechanobiology, gravity and tissue engineering: effects and insights. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2015;9(12): 1339–51.
- [155] Lavagnino M, Wall ME, Little D, Banes AJ, Guilak F, Arnoczky SP. Tendon mechanobiology: current knowledge and future research opportunities. J Orthop Res 2015;33(6):813–22.
- [156] Takahashi K, Kakimoto Y, Toda K, Naruse K. Mechanobiology in cardiac physiology and diseases. J Cell Mol Med 2013;17(2):225-32.
- [157] Takahashi K, Piao H, Naruse K. Dynamic remodeling of the heart and blood vessels: implications of health and disease. In: Rawlinson SCF, editor. Mechanobiology: exploitation for medical benefit. John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2017.
- [158] Kim DH, Wong PK, Park J, Levchenko A, Sun Y. Microengineered platforms for cell mechanobiology. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2009;11: 203–33.
- [159] Krishnan R, Park JA, Seow CY, Lee PV, Stewart AG. Cellular biomechanics in drug screening and evaluation: mechanopharmacology. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2016;37(2):87–100.
- [160] Lee DA, Knight MM, Campbell JJ, Bader DL. Stem cell mechanobiology. J Cell Biochem 2011;112(1):1-9.

# 25

### Morphogenesis, Bone Morphogenetic Proteins, and Regeneration of Bone and Articular Cartilage

### A.H. Reddi, Kenjiro Iwasa

University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States

#### INTRODUCTION

Morphogenesis is the developmental cascade of pattern formation, establishment of body plan, and the architecture of mirror-image bilateral symmetry of musculoskeletal structures culminating in the adult form. Regenerative medicine is the emerging discipline of the science of the design and manufacture of spare parts for the human body including the skeleton to restore the function of lost parts owing to cancer, diseases and trauma. Regenerative medicine and surgery are based on rational principles of molecular developmental biology and morphogenesis and are further governed by principles of bioengineering and biomechanics. The three key elements for regenerative medicine and surgery are inductive morphogenetic signals, responding stem cells, and the extracellular matrix (ECM) scaffolding [1]. Advances in the molecular cell biology of morphogens will aid in the design principles and architecture for regenerative medicine and surgery. Regeneration recapitulates in part embryonic development and morphogenesis. Among many tissues in the human body, bone has considerable powers for regeneration and therefore is a prototype model for tissue engineering. On the other hand, cartilage is feeble in its prowess for regeneration (Fig. 25.1). Implantation of demineralized bone matrix into subcutaneous sites results in local bone induction. The sequential cascade of bone morphogenesis mimics sequential skeletal morphogenesis in limbs and permits the isolation of bone morphogens. Although it is traditional to study morphogenetic signals in embryos, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), the primordial inductive signals for bone, were isolated from adult demineralized bone matrix. BMPs initiate, promote, and maintain chondrogenesis and osteogenesis and have actions beyond bone. The cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins (CDMPs) are critical for cartilage and joint morphogenesis. The symbiosis of bone-inductive and conductive strategies is critical for regenerative medicine and is in turn governed by the context and biomechanics. The context in bone is the microenvironment, consisting of ECM scaffolding, and can be duplicated by biomimetic biomaterials such as collagens, hydroxyapatite, proteoglycans, and cell adhesion proteins including fibronectins and laminins. The rules

The spectrum of regeneration potential of musculoskeletal tissues




Approaches to morphogen isolation

- Genetic screens
- Expression cloning
- Differential display
- Subtractive hybridization
- Expressed sequence tags
- Genomics/proteomics
- Grind and find

FIGURE 25.2 The various approaches to isolation of morphogens.

of architecture for regenerative medicine and surgery are an imitation and adaptation of the laws of developmental biology and morphogenesis, and thus may be universal for all tissues, including musculoskeletal tissues and a variety of other tissues in the human body.

The traditional approach to identifying and isolating morphogens is first to identify genes in fly and frog embryos by genetic approaches, differential displays, subtractive hybridization, and expression cloning (Fig. 25.2). This information is subsequently extended to mice and humans. An alternative approach is to isolate morphogens from bone with known regenerative potential. The principles gleaned from bone morphogenesis and BMPs can be extended to regeneration of bone and cartilage and other tissues.

# BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEINS

Bone grafts have been used by orthopedic surgeons for nearly a century to aid in recalcitrant bone repair. Decalcified bone implants have been used to treat patients with osteomyelitis [2]. It was hypothesized that bone might contain a substance, osteogenin, that initiates bone growth [3]. Urist made the key discovery that when implanted intramuscularly, demineralized, lyophilized segments of rabbit bone induced new bone formation [4]. Bone induction is a sequential multistep cascade [5-7]. Important steps in this cascade are chemotaxis, mitosis, and differentiation. Chemotaxis is the directed migration of cells in response to a chemical gradient of signals released from the insoluble demineralized bone matrix. The demineralized bone matrix is predominantly composed of type I insoluble collagen and it binds plasma fibronectin [8]. Fibronectin has domains for binding to collagen, fibrin, and heparin. The responding mesenchymal cells attach to the collagenous matrix and proliferate, as indicated by [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine autoradiography and incorporation into acid-precipitable DNA on day 3 [9]. Chondroblast differentiation is evident on day 5, chondrocytes on days 7 and 8, and cartilage hypertrophy on day 9. There is concomitant vascular invasion on day 9 with osteoblast differentiation. On days 10-12, alkaline phosphatase is maximal. Osteocalcin, bone  $\gamma$ -carboxyglutamic acid containing Gla protein (BGP) increases on day 28. Hematopoietic marrow differentiates in the ossicle and is maximal by day 21. This entire sequential bone development cascade is reminiscent of bone and cartilage morphogenesis in the limb bud [7,10]. Hence, it has immense implications for the isolation of inductive signals initiating cartilage and bone morphogenesis. In fact, a systematic investigation was undertaken of the chemical components responsible for bone induction from the demineralized bone matrix.

This account of the demineralized bone matrix—induced bone morphogenesis in extraskeletal sites demonstrated the potential role of morphogens in the ECM. A systematic study of the isolation of putative morphogens from the bone matrix was initiated. A prerequisite for any quest for novel morphogens is to establish a battery of bioassays for new bone formation. The three key steps in bone morphogenesis are chemotaxis of progenitor stem cells, mitosis, and differentiation (Fig. 25.3). A panel of in vitro assays was established for chemotaxis, mitogenesis, and chondrogenesis, and an in vitro bioassay for bone formation. Although the in vitro assays are expedient, we routinely monitored a labor-intensive in vivo bioassay because it is the only bona fide bone induction assay.

Three key steps in bone morphogenesis

- Chemotaxis
- Mitosis
- Differentiation

FIGURE 25.3 The three key steps in bone morphogenesis.

#### BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEINS



FIGURE 25.4 Dissociative extraction of bone matrix by chaotropic reagents such as 4 M guanidine hydrochloride and reconstitution of the extract with collagenous matrix scaffold. The results indicate that there is a collaboration between the soluble signal in the extract and the insoluble extracellular matrix of bone. *DBM*, demineralized bone matrix.

A major stumbling block in the approach was that the demineralized bone matrix is insoluble and in a solid state. In view of this, dissociative extractants such as 4 M guanidine HCl or 8 M urea as 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate at pH 7.4 were used [11] to solubilize proteins. Approximately 3% of the proteins were solubilized from the demineralized bone matrix; the remaining residue was mainly insoluble type I bone collagen. The extract alone or the residue alone was incapable of new bone induction. However, the addition of the extract to residue (insoluble collagen) and then implantation in a subcutaneous site resulted in bone induction (Fig. 25.4). Therefore, for optimal osteogenic activity it is essential to have a collaboration between the soluble signal in the extract and the insoluble substratum of collagenous ECM [11]. This bioassay was a critical advance in the ultimate purification of BMPs; it led to the determination of limited tryptic peptide sequences and to the eventual cloning of BMPs [12–14]. The dissociative extraction of soluble signals from the demineralized ECM of bone and its subsequent reconstitution with collagen established the cardinal principle of regenerative medicine. The critical principle is that morphogenetic signals stimulate stem cells to differentiate in the optimal scaffold microenvironment (Fig. 25.5). Thus, the triumvirate of signals, stem cells, and scaffolds for regenerative medicine was conceived as a concept.

Although the basic description of bone induction was performed in rats, purification requires a larger and more abundant source of bone. A switch was made to bovine bone. Demineralized bovine bone matrix was not osteoinductive in rats and the results were variable. However, when the guanidine extracts of demineralized bovine bone were fractionated on an S-200 molecular sieve column, fractions less than 50 kD were consistently osteogenic in rats when bioassayed after reconstitution with allogeneic insoluble collagen [15,16]. Thus, protein fractions inducing bone were not species specific and appeared to be homologous in several mammals. It is likely that larger molecular mass fractions and/or the insoluble xenogeneic (bovine and human) collagens were inhibitory or immunogenic. Initial estimates revealed 1  $\mu$ g of active osteogenic fraction in a kilogram of bone. Hence, over a ton of bovine bone was processed to yield optimal amounts for amino acid sequence determination. The amino acid sequences revealed a homology to transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta_1$  [16]. The decisive work of Wozney et al.



FIGURE 25.5 The key principle of regenerative medicine is that signals stimulate the differentiation of stem cells in the appropriate scaffold.



FIGURE 25.6 Members of the bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) family include three main subfamilies: BMP-5, -6, and -7; BMP-2 and -4; BMP-3 and -3b; and growth/differentiation factors (GDF)-5, -6, and -7. *OP*, osteogenic protein.

[12] cloned BMP-2, BMP-2B (now called BMP-4), and BMP-3 (also called osteogenin). Ozkaynak et al. [14] cloned osteogenic proteins 1 and 2 (OP-1 and OP-2). There are several members of this BMP family (Fig. 25.6). Other members of the extended TGF- $\beta$ /BMP superfamily include inhibins and activins (implicated in follicle-stimulating hormone release from pituitary). Müllerian duct inhibitory substance, growth/differentiation factors (GDFs), nodal, and lefty genes implicated in establishing right and left asymmetry [1,17,18]. BMPs are also involved in embryonic induction [18–21].

BMPs are dimeric molecules, and the conformation is critical for biological actions. Reduction of the single interchain disulfide bond resulted in the loss of biological activity. The mature monomer molecule consists of about 120 amino acids, with seven canonical cysteine residues. There are three intrachain disulfides per monomer and one interchain disulfide bond in the dimer. In the critical core of the BMP monomer is the cysteine knot. The crystal structure of BMP-7 has been determined [22].

Morphogenesis is a sequential multistep cascade. BMPs regulate each of the key steps: chemotaxis, mitosis, and differentiation of cartilage and bone. BMPs initiate chondrogenesis in the limb [23,24]. The apical ectodermal ridge is the source of BMPs in the developing limb bud. The intricate dynamic, reciprocal interactions between the ectodermally derived epithelium and mesoderm-derived mesenchyme sets into motion the train of events culminating in the pattern of the phalanges, radius, ulna, and humerus.

The chemotaxis of human monocytes is optimal at femtomolar concentration [25]. The apparent affinity was 100–200 pM. The mitogenic response was optimal at the 100-pM. range. The initiation of differentiation was in the nanomolar range in solution. However, caution should be exercised because BMPs may be sequestered by ECM components and the local concentration may be higher when BMPs are bounded on the ECM. Thus, BMPs are pleiotropic regulators that act in concentration-dependent thresholds.

It is well-known that ECM components have a critical role in morphogenesis. The structural macromolecules and their supramolecular assembly in the matrix do not explain their role in epithelial—mesenchymal interaction and morphogenesis. This riddle can now be explained by the binding of BMPs to heparan sulfate heparin, and type IV collagen [26–28] of the basement membranes. In fact, this might partly explain the necessity for angiogenesis before osteogenesis during development. In addition, the actions of activin in the development of the frog, in terms of dorsal mesoderm induction, are modified to neutralization by follistatin [29]. Similarly, chordin and noggin from the Spemann organizer induce neutralization by the binding and inactivation of BMP-4. Thus, neural induction is likely to be a default pathway when BMP-4 is nonfunctional [30,31]. This is an emerging principle in development and morphogenesis that binding proteins can terminate a dominant morphogen's action and initiate a default pathway. Finally, the binding of a soluble morphogen to ECM converts it into an insoluble matrix bound morphogen to act locally in the solid state [26].

Although BMPs were isolated and cloned from bone, work with gene knockouts has revealed a plethora of actions beyond bone. Mice with targeted disruption of BMP-2 caused embryonic lethality. The heart development is abnormal, which indicates a need for BMP-2 in heart development [32]. BMP-4 "knockouts" exhibit no mesoderm induction and gastrulation is impaired [33]. Transgenic overexpression of BMPs under the control of keratin 10 promoter leads to psoriasis. The targeted deletion of BMP-7 revealed the critical role of this molecule in kidney and eye development [34–36]. Thus, the BMPs are really true morphogens for such disparate tissues as skin, heart, kidney, and eye. In view of the emerging wider role, BMPs may be called bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs).

Recombinant human BMP-4 and BMP-7 bind to BMP receptor IA (BMPR-IA) and BMP receptor IB (BMPR-IB) [37]. CDMP-1 also binds to both of the type I BMP receptors. There is a collaboration between type I and II BMP receptors [38]. The type I receptor serine/threonine kinase phosphorylates a signal-transducing protein substrate called Smad 1 or 5 [39]. Smad is a term derived from fusion of Drosophila Mad gene and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (nematode) Sma gene. Smads 1, 5, and 8 signal in partnership with a common co-Smad, Smad 4 (Fig. 25.7). The transcription of BMP-response genes is initiated by Smad 1/Smad 4 heterodimers. Smads are trimeric molecules as gleaned by X-ray crystallography. The phosphorylation of Smads 1 and 5 by type I BMP receptor kinase is inhibited by inhibitory Smad 6 and 7 [40]. Smad interacting protein may interact with Smad 1 and modulate BMP-response gene expression [18,41]. The downstream targets of BMP signaling are likely to be homeobox genes, the cardinal genes for morphogenesis and transcription. BMPs, in turn, may be regulated by members of the hedgehog family of genes such as Sonic and Indian hedgehog [42].

# STEM CELLS

It is well-known that embryonic mesoderm-derived mesenchymal cells are progenitors for bone, cartilage, tendons, ligaments, and muscle. However, certain stem cells in adult bone marrow, muscle, and fascia can form bone and cartilage (Fig. 25.8). The identification of stem cells readily sourced from bone marrow may lead to banks of stem cells for cell therapy and perhaps gene therapy with appropriate "homing" characteristics to bone marrow and hence to skeleton. The pioneering work of Friedenstein et al. [43,44], and Owen and Friedenstein [45] identified bone marrow stromal stem cells. These stromal cells are distinct from the hematopoietic stem cell lineage. Bone marrow stromal stem cells consist of inducible and determined osteoprogenitors committed to osteogenesis. Determined osteogenic precursor cells have the propensity to form bone cells with no external cues or signals. On the other hand, inducible osteogenic precursors require an inductive signal such as BMP or demineralized bone matrix. The operational distinction between stromal stem cells and hematopoietic stem cells is becoming increasingly less distinct. The stromal stem cells of Friedenstein and Owen are also called mesenchymal stem cells [46,47], with the potential to form bone, cartilage, adipocytes, and myoblasts in response to cues from the environment and/or intrinsic factors. Mesenchymal stem cells are present in synovium [48], periosteum [49], adipose tissue [50], and blood [51]. There is considerable hope and anticipation that these bone marrow stromal cells may be excellent vehicles for cell and gene therapy [52,53].

From a practical standpoint, these stromal stem cells can be obtained by bone marrow biopsies and expanded rapidly for use in cell therapy after pretreatment with BMPs. Their potential use in both cell and gene therapy is promising. There are continuous improvements in the viral vectors and efficiency of gene therapy [54–57]. For example, it is possible to use BMP genes transfected in stromal stem cells for targeting to bone marrow.

# SCAFFOLDS OF EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AND BIOMIMETIC BIOMATERIALS

The earlier discussion regarding inductive signals (BMPs) and responding stem cells (stromal cells) leads us to the scaffolding (the microenvironment and ECM) for optimal tissue engineering. Natural biomaterials in the composite tissue of bones and joints are collagens, proteoglycans, and glycoproteins of cell adhesion such as fibronectin and the mineral phase. The mineral phase in bone is predominantly hydroxyapatite. In their native state, the associated citrate, fluoride, carbonate, and trace elements constitute physiological hydroxyapatite. The high protein binding capacity makes hydroxyapatite a natural delivery system. Comparison of insoluble bone collagenis an optimal delivery system for BMPs [58]. It is well-known that collagen is an ideal delivery system for growth factors in soft and hard tissue wound repair [59].

During the course of systematic work on hydroxyapatite of two pore sizes (200 or 500  $\mu$ m) in two geometrical forms (beads and disks), an unexpected observation was made. The geometry of the delivery system is critical



FIGURE 25.7 Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) receptors (BMPR) and signaling cascades. BMPs are dimeric ligands with a cysteine knot in each monomer fold. Each monomer has two  $\beta$  sheets represented as two pointed fingers. In the functional dimer, the fingers are oriented in opposite directions. BMPs interact with type I and II BMPR. The exact stoichiometry of the receptor complex is being elucidated. BMPR-II phosphorylates the GS domain of BMPR-I. The collaboration between type I and II receptors forms the signal-transducing complex. BMP type I receptor kinase complex phosphorylates the trimeric signaling substrates Smad 1 or Smad 5. This phosphorylation is inhibited and modulated by inhibitory Smads 6 and 7. Phosphorylated Smad 1 or 5 interacts with Smad 4 (functional partner) and enters the nucleus to activate the transcriptional machinery for early BMP response genes. A novel SIP may interact and modulate the binding of heteromeric Smad 1/Smad 4 complexes to the DNA.

for optimal bone induction. The disks were consistently osteoinductive with BMPs in rats, but the beads were inactive [60]. The chemical composition of the two hydroxyapatite configurations was identical. In certain species, the hydroxyapatite alone appears to be "osteoinductive" [61]. In subhuman primates, the hydroxyapatite induces bone, albeit at a much slower rate. One interpretation is that osteoinductive endogenous BMPs in circulation progressively bind to the implanted disk of hydroxyapatite. When an optimal threshold concentration of native BMPs is achieved, the hydroxyapatite becomes osteoinductive. Strictly speaking, most hydroxyapatite substrata are ideal osteoconductive materials. This example in certain species also serves to illustrate how an osteoconductive biomimetic biomaterial may progressively function as an osteoinductive substance by binding to endogenous BMPs. Thus, there is a physiological—physicochemical continuum between the hydroxyapatite alone and progressive



**FIGURE 25.8** The lineage of the putative musculoskeletal stem cell. The bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) determine the lineage into chondro/osteoprogenitor cells and further specialization into articular chondrocytes growth plate chondrocytes and osteoblast lineage. BMPs are morphogens critical for directing the differentiation of cartilage and bone cells. *Cbfa 1*, core-binding factor  $\alpha(1)$ ; *CDMP*, cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins; *IGF*, insulin-like growth factor; *TGF-* $\beta$ , transforming growth factor-  $\beta$ .

composites with endogenous BMPs. Recognition of this experimental nuance will save unnecessary arguments among biomaterials scientists about the osteoinductive action of a conductive substratum such as hydroxyapatite.

Complete regeneration of a baboon craniotomy defect was accomplished by recombinant human osteogenic protein (human BMP-7) [62]. Recombinant BMP-2 was delivered by a poly(hydroxy acid) carrier for calvarial regeneration [63]. Copolymer of polylactic and polyglycolic acid was evaluated as a delivery system for BMP 2 in a rabbit ulna nonunion model and the results were satisfactory (Fig. 25.9) [64].

An important problem in the clinical application of biomimetic biomaterials with BMPs and/or other morphogens in regenerative medicine is sterilization. Although gas (ethylene oxide) is used, one should always be concerned about reactive free radicals. Using allogenic demineralized bone matrix with endogenous native BMPs, as long as a low temperature is maintained (4°C or less), the samples tolerate up to 5–7 milliradians of irradiation [65,66]. The standard dose acceptable to the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is 2.5 milliradians. This information is useful to biotechnology companies preparing to market recombinant BMP-based osteogenic devices. Perhaps a tissue banking industry with an interest in bone grafts [67] may also use this critical information. Various freeze-dried and demineralized allogeneic bones may be used in the interim as satisfactory carriers for BMPs. The moral of this experiment is that it is not the irradiation dose but the ambient sample temperature during irradiation that is absolutely critical.

#### BMPs and tissue regeneration

- Orthopedics
- Fractures
- Spine/fusions
- Articular cartilage repair
- Dentistry/oral surgery
- Periodontal surgery
- Craniofacial surgery
- Plastic surgery

FIGURE 25.9 Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) have wide-ranging roles in regenerative medicine and surgery. Their applications include, but are not limited to, orthopedics and plastic and reconstructive surgery, in dentistry and oral surgery. Recombinant BMP-2 has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for spine fusion and the nonunion of fractures.

# ARTICULAR CARTILAGE REGENERATION AND CARTILAGE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEINS

Morphogenesis of the cartilage is the most important rate-limiting step in the dynamics of bone development. Cartilage is the initial model for the architecture of bones. Bone can form either directly from mesenchyme, as in intramembranous bone formation, or with an intervening cartilage stage, as in endochondral bone development [7]. All BMPs first induce the cascade of chondrogenesis; therefore, they all sense cartilage morphogenetic proteins. The hypertrophic chondrocytes in the epiphyseal growth plate mineralize and serves as a template for appositional bone morphogenesis. Cartilage morphogenesis is critical for both bone and joint morphogenesis. The two lineages of cartilage are clear-cut. The first, at the ends of bone, forms articulating articular cartilage. The second is the growth plate chondrocytes, which under hypertrophy and synthesize cartilage matrix destined to calcify before replacement by bone and are the "organizer" centers of longitudinal and circumferential growth of cartilage, setting into motion the orderly program of endochondral bone formation. The phenotypic stability of articular (permanent) cartilage is at the crux of the problem of osteoarthritis. The "maintenance" factors for articular chondrocytes include TGF-β isoforms and the BMP isoforms [68].

An in vivo chondrogenic bioassay with soluble purified proteins and insoluble collagen scored for chondrogenesis. A concurrent reverse transcription—polymerase chain reaction approach was taken with degenerate oligonucleotide primers. Two novel genes for CDMPs 1 and 2 were identified and cloned [69]. CDMPs 1 and 2 are also called GDF-5 and GDF-6, respectively [70]. CDMPs are related to BMPs (Fig. 25.6). CDMPs are critical for cartilage and joint morphogenesis [71]. CDMPs stimulate proteoglycan synthesis in cartilage. GDF-7 initiates tendon and ligament morphogenesis.

# **REGENERATIVE MEDICINE AND SURGERY OF ARTICULAR CARTILAGE**

Unlike bone, with its considerable prowess for repair and constant regeneration, articular cartilage is recalcitrant. The recalcitrant regeneration in articular cartilage may be due to the relative avascularity of the tissue, the high concentration of protease inhibitors, and perhaps even cytokine inhibitors. The wound debridement phase is not optimal for preparing the cartilage wound bed for best possible regeneration. Although cartilage has been successfully engineered to predetermined shapes [72], true repair of the tissue continues to be a real challenge in part because of hierarchical organization and geometry [73]. The use of autologous culture-expanded human chondrocytes is expanding [74]. Also gaining increasing attention is mosaicplasty for defects in articular cartilage [75]. A continuous challenge in chondrocyte cell therapy is progressive dedifferentiation and loss of a characteristic cartilage phenotype. The redifferentiation and maintenance of chondrocytes for cell therapy can be aided by BMPs, CDMPs, TGF- $\beta$  isoforms, and insulin growth factors. It is also possible to repair cartilage using muscle-derived mesenchymal stem cells [76]. The possibility of problems posed by cartilage proteoglycans in preventing cell immigration for repair was investigated by chondroitinase ABC and trypsin pretreatment in partial-thickness defects [77] with and without TGF-β. Pretreatment with chondroitinase ABS followed by TGF-β revealed a contiguous layer of cells from the synovial membrane that hinted at the potential source of "repair" cells from synovium. Multiple avenues of cartilage morphogens, cell therapy with chondrocytes, and stem cells from marrow and muscle and a biomaterial scaffolding may lead to optimal tissue-engineered articular cartilage.

# **REGENERATION OF ARTICULAR CARTILAGE SURFACE AND LUBRICATION**

The articular cartilage is a tissue that functions in weight bearing and in friction-free locomotion. Unlike bone, the articular cartilage is recalcitrant to repair and regeneration. The articular cartilage is avascular. Because of this, the innate mechanism of tissue regeneration is feeble and the recruitment of stem and progenitor cells is impaired. In addition, untreated injury to the cartilage progresses to osteoarthritis, with pain and degenerative joint tissue damage [78]. Severe pain is associated with the clinical symptoms of osteoarthritis, and there is a financial burden. In the articular cartilage, regeneration of the superficial zone is critical to maintain joint mobility and reduce wear by optimizing lubrication. The chondrocytes in the superficial zone secrete superficial zone protein (SZP), also known as lubricin and proteoglycan 4, which is encoded by the *prg4* gene. SZP has an important role in lubrication as a boundary lubricant and joint homeostasis. Three key ingredients for the regeneration of the surface of the articular cartilage are signals, stem cells, and scaffolds. SZP secreted by the surface is critical for lubrication. Partial-thickness defects in the articular cartilage do not heal. On the other hand, full-thickness defects penetrating the subchondral bone permit the healing of cartilage. Three important elements for both morphogenesis and regeneration are signals for morphogenesis, stem cells, and scaffolds of ECM. Regeneration is essentially a recapitulation of the sequential cascade of embryonic development and morphogenesis [1].

Normal articular cartilage maintains a functionally optimized lubricated surface with a low coefficient of friction to reduce wear and preserve joint mobility [79]. Cartilage lubrication is critical for joint mobility. Experiments in animals have demonstrated that SZP reduces cartilage degeneration after knee injury [80]. Autologous platelet-rich plasma (PRP) has been used to ameliorate pain, based on the presence of platelet-derived growth factor in the PRP. In an investigation, human PRP significantly stimulated cell proliferation and SZP secretion by surface chondrocytes of the articular cartilage and synoviocytes from the knee joint. In addition, PRP stimulated lubrication in bovine articular cartilage superficial zone in a functional bioassay [79].

It is inevitable during aging most humans will confront the challenges of impaired locomotion owing to wear and tear in bones and joints. Therefore, repair and possibly complete regeneration of the musculoskeletal system and other vital organs such as skin, liver, and kidney may need optimal repair or a spare part for replacement. Can we create spare parts for the human body? There is much reason for optimism that tissue engineering can help patients. We are living in an extraordinary time for biology, medicine, surgery, and computational and related technology. The confluence of advances in developmental biology and inductive signals for morphogenesis of articular cartilage may lead to quantum advances in tissue engineered joints.

The symbiosis of biotechnology and biomaterials has set the stage for systematic advances in tissue engineering [16,81,82]. Advances in enabling platform technology include molecular imprinting [83]. In principle, specific recognition and catalytic sites are imprinted using templates. Applications range from biosensors to catalytic applications, antibody, and receptor recognition sites. For example, the cell-binding RGD site in fibronectin [84] or YIGSR domain in laminin can be imprinted in complementary sites [85].

The rapidly advancing frontiers in morphogenesis with BMPs, hedgehogs, homeobox genes, and a veritable cornucopia of general and specific transcription factor coactivators and repressors will lead to cocrystallization of ligand-receptor complexes, protein-DNA complexes, and other macromolecular interactions. This will lead to peptidomimetic agonists for large proteins, as exemplified by erythropoietin [86]. To such advances one can add new developments in the self-assembly of millimeter-scale structures floating at the interface of perfluorodecalin and water and interacting by capillary forces controlled by the pattern wettability [87]. The final self-assembly is caused by the minimization of free energy in the interface. These are truly incredible advances that will lead to man-made materials that mimic ECM in tissues. Now, superimpose on such chemical progress a biological platform in a bone and joint mold. Let us imagine a head of the femur: a mold is fabricated with computer-assisted design and manufacture. It faithfully reproduces the structural features and may be imprinted with morphogens, inductive signals, and cell adhesion sites. This assembly can be loaded with stem cells and BMPs and other inductive signals with a nutrient medium optimized for optimal number of cell cycles, and then predictably exit into differentiation phase to reproduce a totally new bone femoral head. In fact, such a biological approach with a vascularized muscle flap and BMPs has yielded new bone with a defined shape and has demonstrated the proof of principle for further development and validation [88]. We are indeed entering a brave new world of prefabricated biological spare parts for the human body based on sound architectural rules of inductive signals for bone morphogenesis and responsive stem cell lineage control by BMPs, and with growth and differentiation factors immobilized on a template of biomimetic biomaterials based on ECM.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

ECM Extracellular matrix **BMPs** Bone morphogenetic proteins CDMPs Cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins **BGP** Bone gla protein SDS Sodium dodecyl sulfate TGF Transforming growth factor OP-1 and OP-2 Osteogenic proteins 1 and 2 MIS Müllerian duct inhibitory substance GDFs Growth/differentiation factors BMPR-IA BMP receptor IA BMPR-IB BMP receptor IB SIP Smad interacting protein rhOP-1 Recombinant human osteogenic protein FDA Food and Drug Administration RT-PCR Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction IGFs Insulin growth factors SZP Superficial zone protein PRP Platelet-rich plasma PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor

# Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the Lawrence Ellison Chair in Musculoskeletal Molecular Biology.

# References

- [1] Reddi AH. Role of morphogenetic proteins in skeletal tissue engineering and regeneration. Nat Biotechnol 1998;16(3):247-52.
- [2] Senn N. On the healing of aseptic bone cavities by implantation of aniseptic decalcified bone. Am J Med Sci 1989;98:219-40.
- [3] Lacroix P. Recent investigations on the growth of bone. Nature 1945;156:576.
- [4] Urist MR. Bone: formation by autoinduction. Science 1965;150(3698):893-9.
- [5] Reddi AH, Huggins C. Biochemical sequences in the transformation of normal fibroblasts in adolescent rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1972; 69(6):1601-5.
- [6] Reddi AH, Anderson WA. Collagenous bone matrix-induced endochondral ossification hemopoiesis. J Cell Biol 1976;69(3):557-72.
- [7] Reddi AH. Cell biology and biochemistry of endochondral bone development. Coll Relat Res 1981;1(2):209-26.
- [8] Weiss RE, Reddi AH. Synthesis and localization of fibronectin during collagenous matrix-mesenchymal cell interaction and differentiation of cartilage and bone in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1980;77(4):2074–8.
- [9] Rath NC, Reddi AH. Collagenous bone matrix is a local mitogen. Nature 1979;278(5707):855-7.
- [10] Reddi AH. In: Piez KA, Reddi AH, editors. Extracellular matrix and development. New York: Elsevier; 1984.
- Sampath TK, Reddi AH. Dissociative extraction and reconstitution of extracellular matrix components involved in local bone differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981;78(12):7599–603.
- [12] Wozney JM, Rosen V, Celeste AJ, Mitsock LM, Whitters MJ, Kriz RW, et al. Novel regulators of bone formation: molecular clones and activities. Science 1988;242(4885):1528–34.
- [13] Luyten FP, Cunningham NS, Ma S, Muthukumaran N, Hammonds RG, Nevins WB, et al. Purification and partial amino acid sequence of osteogenin, a protein initiating bone differentiation. J Biol Chem 1989;264(23):13377–80.
- [14] Ozkaynak E, Rueger DC, Drier EA, Corbett C, Ridge RJ, Sampath TK, et al. OP-1 cDNA encodes an osteogenic protein in the TGF-beta family. EMBO J 1990;9(7):2085–93.
- [15] Sampath TK, Reddi AH. Homology of bone-inductive proteins from human, monkey, bovine, and rat extracellular matrix. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1983;80(21):6591-5.
- [16] Reddi AH. Bone and cartilage differentiation. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1994;4(5):737-44.
- [17] Cunningham NS, Jenkins NA, Gilbert DJ, Copeland NG, Reddi AH, Lee SJ. Growth/differentiation factor-10: a new member of the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily related to bone morphogenetic protein-3. Growth Factors 1995;12(2):99–109.
- [18] Reddi AH. Bone morphogenetic proteins: an unconventional approach to isolation of first mammalian morphogens. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 1997;8(1):11–20.
- [19] Melton DA. Pattern formation during animal development. Science 1991;252(5003):234-41.
- [20] Lemaire P, Gurdon JB. Vertebrate embryonic inductions. Bioessays 1994;16(9):617-20.
- [21] Lyons KM, Hogan BL, Robertson EJ. Colocalization of BMP 7 and BMP 2 RNAs suggests that these factors cooperatively mediate tissue interactions during murine development. Mech Dev 1995;50(1):71–83.
- [22] Griffith DL, Keck PC, Sampath TK, Rueger DC, Carlson WD. Three-dimensional structure of recombinant human osteogenic protein 1: structural paradigm for the transforming growth factor beta superfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93(2):878–83.
- [23] Chen P, Carrington JL, Hammonds RG, Reddi AH. Stimulation of chondrogenesis in limb bud mesoderm cells by recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 2B (BMP-2B) and modulation by transforming growth factor beta 1 and beta 2. Exp Cell Res 1991; 195(2):509–15.

- [24] Duboule D. How to make a limb? Science 1994;266(5185):575-6.
- [25] Cunningham NS, Paralkar V, Reddi AH. Osteogenin and recombinant bone morphogenetic protein 2B are chemotactic for human monocytes and stimulate transforming growth factor beta 1 mRNA expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89(24):11740–4.
- [26] Paralkar VM, Nandedkar AK, Pointer RH, Kleinman HK, Reddi AH. Interaction of osteogenin, a heparin binding bone morphogenetic protein, with type IV collagen. J Biol Chem 1990;265(28):17281–4.
- [27] Paralkar VM, Vukicevic S, Reddi AH. Transforming growth factor beta type 1 binds to collagen IV of basement membrane matrix: implications for development. Dev Biol 1991;143(2):303-8.
- [28] Paralkar VM, Weeks BS, Yu YM, Kleinman HK, Reddi AH. Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 2B stimulates PC12 cell differentiation: potentiation and binding to type IV collagen. J Cell Biol 1992;119(6):1721–8.
- [29] Hemmati-Brivanlou A, Kelly OG, Melton DA. Follistatin, an antagonist of activin, is expressed in the Spemann organizer and displays direct neuralizing activity. Cell 1994;77(2):283–95.
- [30] Piccolo S, Sasai Y, Lu B, De Robertis EM. Dorsoventral patterning in Xenopus: inhibition of ventral signals by direct binding of chordin to BMP-4. Cell 1996;86(4):589–98.
- [31] Zimmerman LB, De Jesus-Escobar JM, Harland RM. The Spemann organizer signal noggin binds and inactivates bone morphogenetic protein 4. Cell 1996;86(4):599–606.
- [32] Zhang H, Bradley A. Mice deficient for BMP2 are nonviable and have defects in amnion/chorion and cardiac development. Development 1996;122(10):2977-86.
- [33] Winner G, Blessing M, Labosky PA, Hogan BLM. Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse. Gene Dev 1996;9:2105–16.
- [34] Dudley AT, Lyons KM, Robertson EJ. A requirement for bone morphogenetic protein-7 during development of the mammalian kidney and eye. Genes Dev 1995;9(22):2795–807.
- [35] Luo G, Hofmann C, Bronckers AL, Sohocki M, Bradley A, Karsenty G. BMP-7 is an inducer of nephrogenesis, and is also required for eye development and skeletal patterning. Genes Dev 1995;9(22):2808–20.
- [36] Vukicevic S, Kopp JB, Luyten FP, Sampath TK. Induction of nephrogenic mesenchyme by osteogenic protein 1 (bone morphogenetic protein 7). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93(17):9021-6.
- [37] ten Dijke P, Yamashita H, Sampath TK, Reddi AH, Estevez M, Riddle DL, et al. Identification of type I receptors for osteogenic protein-1 and bone morphogenetic protein-4. J Biol Chem 1994;269(25):16985–8.
- [38] Nishitoh H, Ichijo H, Kimura M, Matsumoto T, Makishima F, Yamaguchi A, et al. Identification of type I and type II serine/threonine kinase receptors for growth/differentiation factor-5. J Biol Chem 1996;271(35):21345–52.
- [39] Chen X, Rubock MJ, Whitman M. A transcriptional partner for MAD proteins in TGF-beta signalling. Nature 1996;383(6602):691-6.
- [40] Hayashi H, Abdollah S, Qiu Y, Cai J, Xu YY, Grinnell BW, et al. The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGFbeta receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFbeta signaling. Cell 1997;89(7):1165–73.
- [41] Heldin CH, Miyazono K, ten Dijke P. TGF-beta signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins. Nature 1997;390(6659): 465–71.
- [42] Johnson RL, Tabin CJ. Molecular models for vertebrate limb development. Cell 1997;90(6):979-90.
- [43] Fridenshtein A, Petrakova KV, Kuralesova AI, Frolova GI. [Precursor cells for osteogenic and hemopoietic tissues. Analysis of heterotopic transplants of bone marrow]. Tsitologiia 1968;10(5):557–67.
- [44] Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Gerasimov UV. Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and transplantation in diffusion chambers. Cell Tissue Kinet 1987;20(3):263–72.
- [45] Owen M, Friedenstein AJ. Stromal stem cells: marrow-derived osteogenic precursors. Ciba Found Symp 1988;136:42-60.
- [46] Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 1991;9(5):641-50.
- [47] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- [48] De Bari C, Dell'Accio F, Tylzanowski P, Luyten FP. Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from adult human synovial membrane. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44(8):1928–42.
- [49] Nakahara H, Goldberg VM, Caplan AI. Culture-expanded human periosteal-derived cells exhibit osteochondral potential in vivo. J Orthop Res 1991;9(4):465–76.
- [50] Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, et al. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 2001;7(2):211–28.
- [51] Zvaifler NJ, Marinova-Mutafchieva L, Adams G, Edwards CJ, Moss J, Burger JA, et al. Mesenchymal precursor cells in the blood of normal individuals. Arthritis Research 2000;2(6):477–88.
- [52] Prockop DJ. Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for nonhematopoietic tissues. Science 1997;276(5309):71-4.
- [53] Kuznetsov SA, Friedenstein AJ, Robey PG. Factors required for bone marrow stromal fibroblast colony formation in vitro. Br J Haematol 1997; 97(3):561–70.
- [54] Mulligan RC. The basic science of gene therapy. Science 1993;260(5110):926-32.
- [55] Kozarsky KF, Wilson JM. Gene therapy: adenovirus vectors. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1993;3(3):499-503.
- [56] Bank A. Human somatic cell gene therapy. Bioessays 1996;18(12):999–1007.
- [57] Morsy MA, Mitani K, Clemens P, Caskey CT. Progress toward human gene therapy. J Am Med Assoc 1993;270(19):2338-45.
- [58] Ma S, Chen G, Reddi AH. Collaboration between collagenous matrix and osteogenin is required for bone induction. Ann NY Acad Sci 1990; 580:524–5.
- [59] McPherson JM. The utility of collagen-based vehicles in delivery of growth factors for hard and soft tissue wound repair. Clin Mater 1992; 9(3–4):225–34.
- [60] Ripamonti U, Ma S, Reddi AH. The critical role of geometry of porous hydroxyapatite delivery system in induction of bone by osteogenin, a bone morphogenetic protein. Matrix 1992;12(3):202–12.
- [61] Ripamonti U. Osteoinduction in porous hydroxyapatite implanted in heterotopic sites of different animal models. Biomaterials 1996;17(1): 31–5.

#### 416 25. MORPHOGENESIS, BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEINS, AND REGENERATION OF BONE AND ARTICULAR CARTILAGE

- [62] Ripamonti U, Van Den Heever B, Sampath TK, Tucker MM, Rueger DC, Reddi AH. Complete regeneration of bone in the baboon by recombinant human osteogenic protein-1 (hOP-1, bone morphogenetic protein-7). Growth Factors 1996;13(3–4):273–89. color plates III-VIII, pre bk.
- [63] Hollinger JO, Leong K. Poly(alpha-hydroxy acids): carriers for bone morphogenetic proteins. Biomaterials 1996;17(2):187-94.
- [64] Bostrom M, Lane JM, Tomin E, Browne M, Berberian W, Turek T, et al. Use of bone morphogenetic protein-2 in the rabbit ulnar nonunion model. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1996;327:272–82.
- [65] Wientroub S, Reddi AH. Influence of irradiation on the osteoinductive potential of demineralized bone matrix. Calcif Tissue Int 1988;42(4): 255–60.
- [66] Wientroub S, Weiss JF, Catravas GN, Reddi AH. Influence of whole body irradiation and local shielding on matrix-induced endochondral bone differentiation. Calcif Tissue Int 1990;46(1):38–45.
- [67] Damien CJ, Parsons JR. Bone graft and bone graft substitutes: a review of current technology and applications. J Appl Biomater 1991;2(3): 187–208.
- [68] Luyten FP, Yu YM, Yanagishita M, Vukicevic S, Hammonds RG, Reddi AH. Natural bovine osteogenin and recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2B are equipotent in the maintenance of proteoglycans in bovine articular cartilage explant cultures. J Biol Chem 1992;267(6):3691–5.
- [69] Chang SC, Hoang B, Thomas JT, Vukicevic S, Luyten FP, Ryba NJ, et al. Cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins. New members of the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily predominantly expressed in long bones during human embryonic development. J Biol Chem 1994;269(45):28227–34.
- [70] Storm EE, Huynh TV, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Kingsley DM, Lee SJ. Limb alterations in brachypodism mice due to mutations in a new member of the TGF beta-superfamily. Nature 1994;368(6472):639–43.
- [71] Tsumaki N, Tanaka K, Arikawa-Hirasawa E, Nakase T, Kimura T, Thomas JT, et al. Role of CDMP-1 in skeletal morphogenesis: promotion of mesenchymal cell recruitment and chondrocyte differentiation. J Cell Biol 1999;144(1):161–73.
- [72] Kim WS, Vacanti JP, Cima L, Mooney D, Upton J, Puelacher WC, et al. Cartilage engineered in predetermined shapes employing cell transplantation on synthetic biodegradable polymers. Plast Reconstr Surg 1994;94(2):233–7. discussion 8–40.
- [73] Mow VC, Ratcliffe A, Poole AR. Cartilage and diarthrodial joints as paradigms for hierarchical materials and structures. Biomaterials 1992; 13(2):67–97.
- [74] Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L. Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med 1994;331(14):889–95.
- [75] Hangody L, Feczko P, Bartha L, Bodo G, Kish G. Mosaicplasty for the treatment of articular defects of the knee and ankle. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2001;(391 Suppl.):S328–36.
- [76] Grande DA, Southerland SS, Manji R, Pate DW, Schwartz RE, Lucas PA. Repair of articular cartilage defects using mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng 1995;1(4):345–53.
- [77] Hunziker EB, Rosenberg LC. Repair of partial-thickness defects in articular cartilage: cell recruitment from the synovial membrane. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1996;78(5):721–33.
- [78] Sakata R, Iwakura T, Reddi AH. Regeneration of articular cartilage surface: morphogens, cells, and extracellular matrix scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2015;21(5):461–73.
- [79] Sakata R, McNary SM, Miyatake K, Lee CA, Van den Bogaerde JM, Marder RA, et al. Stimulation of the superficial zone protein and lubrication in the articular cartilage by human platelet-rich plasma. Am J Sports Med 2015;43(6):1467–73.
- [80] Jay GD, Fleming BC, Watkins BA, McHugh KA, Anderson SC, Zhang LX, et al. Prevention of cartilage degeneration and restoration of chondroprotection by lubricin tribosupplementation in the rat following anterior cruciate ligament transection. Arthritis Rheum 2010; 62(8):2382–91.
- [81] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260(5110):920-6.
- [82] Hubbell JA. Biomaterials in tissue engineering. Biotechnology (N Y) 1995;13(6):565-76.
- [83] Mosbach K, Ramstrom O. The emerging technique of molecular imprinting and its future impact on biotechnology. Biotechnology 1996;14: 163–70.
- [84] Ruoslahti E, Pierschbacher MD. New perspectives in cell adhesion: RGD and integrins. Science 1987;238(4826):491-7.
- [85] Vukicevic S, Luyten FP, Kleinman HK, Reddi AH. Differentiation of canalicular cell processes in bone cells by basement membrane matrix components: regulation by discrete domains of laminin. Cell 1990;63(2):437–45.
- [86] Livnah O, Stura EA, Johnson DL, Middleton SA, Mulcahy LS, Wrighton NC, et al. Functional mimicry of a protein hormone by a peptide agonist: the EPO receptor complex at 2.8 A. Science 1996;273(5274):464–71.
- [87] Bowden N, Terfort A, Carbeck J, Whitesides GM. Self-assembly of mesoscale objects into ordered two-dimensional arrays. Science 1997; 276(5310):233-5.
- [88] Khouri RK, Koudsi B, Reddi H. Tissue transformation into bone in vivo. A potential practical application. J Am Med Assoc 1991;266(14): 1953–5.

# 26

# Physical Stress as a Factor in Tissue Growth and Remodeling

Joel D. Boerckel<sup>1</sup>, Christopher V. Gemmiti<sup>2</sup>, Devon E. Mason<sup>1</sup>, Yash M. Kolambkar<sup>2</sup>, Blaise D. Porter<sup>2</sup>, Robert E. Guldberg<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The goal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine is to restore or regenerate damaged and degenerate tissues, many of which have explicitly mechanical functions or are regulated by mechanical factors. Indeed, physical stimuli are essential for the proper morphogenesis, maintenance, and repair of numerous tissue types, including bone, cartilage, and blood vessels, all of which are primary targets for tissue engineers. Therefore, being able to describe and understand the role of physical stress and strain mathematically in tissue repair is essential to regenerating functional, mechanically competent tissues.

The role of physical stresses and strains in regulating tissue growth and remodeling has been tremendously interesting to investigators for well over 100 years. Although unfairly to his contemporary colleagues, Julius Wolff is often credited with the concept that tissue structure or form follows from its function (i.e., Wolff's law). At the time, Wolff's law was simply based on the apparent correspondence between anatomical observations of trabecular bone organization and estimations of principal stress directions caused by functional loading conditions. The recognition that adaptation of tissue structure and composition is cell-mediated was not made until later by other investigators. These early observations spawned the interdisciplinary field of mechanobiology, which is focused on identifying mechanisms by which mechanical signals are transduced into cellular activity; it emphasizes the need to consider the effects of physical factors on tissue growth and remodeling as an important part of strategies for tissue regeneration.

Many different cell types from various tissues have been shown to be sensitive to mechanical stimuli in one form or another. The effects of physiological mechanical signals on cells and tissues can be beneficial; they have a central role in maintaining tissue structural integrity via remodeling processes. Alterations in mechanical signals can also contribute to the development of pathological conditions. For example, local shear stresses have a key role in developing and localizing atherosclerotic lesions. Likewise, the progression of osteoarthritis is caused by a vicious cycle of cartilage matrix degradation and increased local stresses. In bone, the mechanical environment also has important clinical implications in the development of osteoporosis, stress fractures, total joint implant loosening, and bone loss during space flight.

Therefore, approaching a tissue-engineering problem from a mechanical perspective involves four steps: (1) describe the native mechanical environment quantitatively, (2) understand the role of mechanical factors in the tissue of interest, (3) manipulate mechanical conditions to enhance function or regeneration, and (4) evaluate the degree of functional restoration of the engineered tissue quantitatively. This chapter will present an overview of the tools and concepts required in each.

# DESCRIBE THE MECHANICAL ENVIRONMENT

As mentioned, cells respond and adapt to their local mechanical environment, but to understand this phenomenon, the mechanical environment must be usefully described. This requires an appropriate theoretical framework that can accurately model the salient features of the tissue of interest and describe the local mechanical stimuli experienced by a cell either in situ or in a tissue-engineered construct. The framework must therefore describe the properties and behavior of the tissue or construct, incorporate the loads (boundary conditions) that will be applied, and justify the assumptions made.

It is useful to view tissues as a structural hierarchy through which functional loads are transmitted down to the cellular level (Fig. 26.1). In bone, for example, applied joint and muscle forces result in stresses and strains within the mineralized tissue that can be defined at different scale levels, from the whole-bone level down to submicron mineral crystals embedded within collagen molecules. At each hierarchical level, it is convenient to assume that everything below that level is a continuum (i.e., there is a finite mass density at every point within the material). This simplification allows material properties to be expressed at a given hierarchical level in terms of constitutive equations. As described in the next section, constitutive equations define the relationship between stresses and strains at each level. Cells sense and respond to local stresses or strains produced by forces transmitted from the macrolevel down through the complex structural hierarchy to the cellular level. Cell-mediated adaptational changes in tissue structure and composition subsequently alter the local stresses and strains resulting from functionally applied loads, thus providing a regulatory feedback mechanism. The sensitivity of the cellular response to mechanical stimuli can be altered by a variety of nonmechanical factors such as age and disease, as well as numerous biochemical factors.

# Strain and Stress Definitions

#### Strain

Strain is a normalized measure of deformation. Consider the simple case of a thin rectangular piece of tissue being axially loaded by a force, as shown in Fig. 26.2A. The axial force increases the length of the tissue, but at the same time it decreases its width and thickness. Engineering strain is defined as the change in a dimension of the tissue normalized by its original dimension and is given in the axial direction by:

$$\varepsilon_{11} = \frac{L - L_0}{L_0} \tag{26.1}$$



FIGURE 26.1 Force transmission through the structural hierarchy of bone to the cellular level resulting in cell-mediated adaptation of tissue structure and composition.



FIGURE 26.2 (A) Axial and transverse strains associated with uniaxial tensile loading. (B) Shear strain associated with torsional or shear loading.

Another important deformation parameter is the Poisson ratio v, which is defined as the ratio of lateral strain to axial strain and in this case is given by:

$$\nu = -\frac{\varepsilon_{22}}{\varepsilon_{11}} = -\frac{\frac{W - W_0}{W_0}}{\frac{L - L_0}{L_0}}$$
(26.2)

The Poisson ratio is a measure of the tendency for a material body to try to retain its total volume as it is deformed. When v = 0.5, the material is said to be incompressible (e.g., water) and does not undergo a volume change after deformation. The typical value of v for tissues is between 0.2 and 0.45. Thus, a tissue subjected to tensile deformation and strain would slightly increase in volume. In contrast to normal strains, shear strains caused by simple shear forces, dF, or from torsional loading, for example, produce a change in shape but not volume, as shown in Fig. 26.2B. Measurement of the angle of shear deformation,  $\gamma_{12}$ , allows calculation of shear strain, as given by:

$$\varepsilon_{12} = \frac{\gamma_{12}}{2} \tag{26.3}$$

The complex deformations created by forces acting in multiple directions necessitate the generalization of deformation to three-dimensional (3-D) space. Deformation in 3-D can be expressed by the deformation gradient tensor, **F**. Consider the body shown in Fig. 26.3A undergoing a deformation from the reference state to a deformed configuration. If one follows the particles P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub>, they move from position  $X_{P1}$  and  $X_{P2}$  to  $x_{P1}$  and  $x_{P2}$ , respectively. There will also be a similar one-to-one mapping of other particles in the reference and deformed configurations. Thus, the deformation of the body can be written as a function relating the current state (lowercase) to the reference state (uppercase):

$$\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{X}) \tag{26.4}$$

In scalar form, this would involve three equations:

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= f_1(X_1, X_2, X_3), \\ x_2 &= f_2(X_1, X_2, X_3), \\ x_3 &= f_3(X_1, X_2, X_3), \end{aligned} \tag{26.5}$$

where 1, 2, and 3 correspond to the three directions of the coordinate system.

The displacement vector is given by:

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{X} \tag{26.6}$$

420



FIGURE 26.3 (A) Deformation of a 3D body from a reference configuration to a deformed configuration. (B) Stress on a surface element, and the nine stress components defining the stress state at a point.

The deformation gradient F is then defined as:

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}}{\partial \mathbf{X}} \tag{26.7}$$

In matrix form, the deformation gradient can be written as:

$$\mathbf{F}] = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_1}{\partial \mathbf{X}_1} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_1}{\partial \mathbf{X}_2} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_1}{\partial \mathbf{X}_3} \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_2}{\partial \mathbf{X}_1} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_2}{\partial \mathbf{X}_2} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_2}{\partial \mathbf{X}_3} \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_3}{\partial \mathbf{X}_1} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_3}{\partial \mathbf{X}_2} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_3}{\partial \mathbf{X}_3} \end{bmatrix},$$
(26.8)

and is related to the gradient of displacement by the following expression, in which I is the identity tensor:

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial \mathbf{X}} + \mathbf{I} \tag{26.9}$$

It is appropriate to use the engineering strains as just defined when the strains in the material are small (typically less than 5%). However, the analysis of large deformations, as frequently observed for soft tissues under functional loading conditions, requires the use of other strain measures. When the deformation is large, a useful measure of deformation is the Green (or Lagrangian) strain, E, which is defined as:

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{F} - \mathbf{I} \right] = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \mathbf{D} + \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{T}} + \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{D} \right],$$
(26.10)

where  $\mathbf{D} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial \mathbf{X}}$  and superscript "T" stands for the transpose of the matrix form of the second-order tensor. Consider the segment P<sub>1</sub>P<sub>2</sub> of length dS that has deformed to p<sub>1</sub>p<sub>2</sub> with length ds. In this case, the 1-D Green strain becomes:

$$E = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{ds^2 - dS^2}{dS^2} \right)$$
(26.11)

If the deformation under consideration is small, as is typically the case for bone and most structural engineering materials, the quadratic term,  $\mathbf{D}^{T}\mathbf{D}$  in the Green strain can be neglected to give the infinitesimal (engineering) strain tensor,  $\epsilon$ :

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \mathbf{D} + \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{T}} \right], \tag{26.12}$$

which in 1-D gives us the familiar expression of engineering strain in a uniaxial test:

$$\varepsilon = \frac{L - L_0}{L_0}.\tag{26.13}$$

To begin to understand the relative values of these strain measures, consider the following example of uniaxial elongation of our rectangular tissue with an original length of 5 cm. In one case, the tissue is stretched to a final length of 5.05 cm (small strain), whereas in the second case, it is elongated to 10 cm (large strain).

	Case I (L = 5.05 cm)	Case II ( $L = 10 \text{ cm}$ )
Green strain $\left(E = \frac{1}{2} \frac{L^2 - L_0^2}{L_0^2}\right)$	0.01005	1.5
Engineering strain $\left(\epsilon = \frac{L-L_0}{L_0}\right)$	0.01	1.0

Thus, we see that for the small deformations, the different strain definitions give approximately the same value and engineering strain is reasonably accurate, whereas for large deformations, the strain definitions yield different values owing to neglect of the higher-order terms in the engineering strain definition.

#### **Stress**

Stress is a measure of the intensity of internal force developed in a material upon application of an external force. Consider force  $\Delta F$  acting on a small surface element of area  $\Delta A$  in Fig. 26.3B. This element lies on the surface S, which is part of the larger body B. As  $\Delta A$  tends to zero, the ratio  $\frac{\Delta F}{\Delta A}$  tends to a finite limit  $\frac{dF}{dA}$ , which is defined as the stress on the surface element.

Consider an infinitesimal cube in the body, as shown in Fig. 26.3B. Because of the external force applied on the body, internal forces are applied on the surface of the cube. Each internal force can be resolved into its three components and normalized by the area to give three stress components on each face. The volume of the cube can be continuously decreased such that the cube collapses to a point. The nine stress components define the second-order stress tensor and completely describe the stress state at this point. Using equilibrium conditions, we can show that the stress tensor is symmetric: that is,  $\sigma_{ij} = \sigma_{ji}$ ; thus, the stress tensor has only six independent components. If a stress component acts in a direction perpendicular to the surface on which it acts, it is referred to as a normal stress. On the other hand, if it is parallel to the surface, it is called a shear stress. Thus,  $\sigma_{11}$ ,  $\sigma_{22}$ , and  $\sigma_{33}$  are normal stresses, whereas  $\sigma_{12}$ ,  $\sigma_{23}$ , and  $\sigma_{31}$  are shear stresses. Normal stresses can change both the volume and shape of the body, whereas shear stresses induce only shape change.

The first Piola–Kirchoff stress tensor, **P**, is defined as the force acting in the current configuration,  $\Delta F$ , on an oriented area in the reference configuration,  $\Delta A$ , in the limit as  $\Delta A$  tends to zero. In a typical experiment, the force is constantly measured but the cross-sectional area is not. Thus, the first Piola–Kirchoff stress is an easy quantity to compute because the undeformed cross-sectional area can be measured before loading. However, when considering the balance of forces in the deformed body at equilibrium, the deformed area  $\Delta a$  of the surface element is required for the stress definition. The Cauchy stress, or "true" stress, is thus defined as the limit of  $\sigma = \frac{\Delta F}{\Delta a}$  as  $\Delta a$  tends to zero. Although the difference between  $\Delta a$  and  $\Delta A$  is negligible for small deformations, the difference becomes significant for large deformations and choice of stress definition is important. A third definition, the second Piola–Kirchoff stress tensor, **S**, is often used in constitutive modeling and is defined as the limit of  $\mathbf{S} = \frac{\Delta \mathbf{F}}{\Delta \mathbf{A}}$  as  $\Delta \mathbf{A}$  tends to infinity, where  $\Delta \mathbf{F}'$  is the current force,  $\Delta \mathbf{F}$ , mapped onto the reference configuration and therefore is defined completely in terms of the reference state. All three stress definitions can be related to one another by the deformation gradient [1].

# **Constitutive Relations**

These definitions enable us to begin establishing a theoretical framework in which to describe the material behavior of the tissue of interest in response to mechanical forces. The material behavior will be expressed as a constitutive equation, a mathematical model that specifies the relationship between stress and strain. At this stage, assumptions must be made regarding the behavior of the material, which will dictate the framework selected. These assumptions will be tested by experimental validation of the model. The goal of constitutive modeling is to describe the important features of a tissue's material behavior in the simplest and most mathematically useful way possible. For example, the simplest constitutive equation is that for linearly elastic, homogeneous, isotropic materials, in which there is a linear, reversible relationship between stress and strain and the material properties do not vary by position or direction. For such materials, we are limited to discussion of small deformations. This gives the familiar equation,  $\sigma = \mathbf{E} \varepsilon$ , in which E is the elastic modulus and  $\sigma$  and  $\varepsilon$  are the engineering stress and strain, respectively. Many engineering materials (i.e., steel) can be modeled in this way; however, most biological materials are more complex.

Mechanically speaking, bone is one of the simpler tissue types and can be modeled as linear elastic, although it is highly inhomogeneous and anisotropic (the properties vary by both position and direction). This behavior can be described well using the generalized Hooke law, which can be written in indicial notation as:

$$\sigma_{ij} = C_{ijkl} \varepsilon_{kl}, \tag{26.14}$$

where  $C_{ijkl}$  is a fourth-order tensor describing the material properties and contains 81 constants. However, owing to symmetry arguments and thermodynamic constraints, the number of independent constants is reduced to 21. If the six stress and strain components are written in the form of a column matrix, the material tensor can be represented by a matrix called the stiffness matrix:

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} C_{11} & C_{12} & C_{13} & C_{14} & C_{15} & C_{16} \\ & C_{22} & C_{23} & C_{24} & C_{25} & C_{26} \\ & & C_{33} & C_{34} & C_{35} & C_{36} \\ & & & C_{44} & C_{45} & C_{46} \\ & & & & C_{55} & C_{56} \\ & & & & & C_{66} \end{bmatrix},$$
(26.15)

where the other side of the diagonal is symmetric (i.e.,  $C_{ij} = C_{ji}$ ). This stiffness matrix represents a fully anisotropic linear elastic material for which 21 constants must be determined experimentally to characterize the material behavior fully. Fortunately, many tissues have some degree of material symmetry. For example, trabecular bone is frequently described using an orthotropic material model, which consists of three mutually orthogonal planes of symmetry that coincide with the chosen reference coordinate system. This reduces the numbers of independent constants to nine, which are related to the Young's moduli (E<sub>1</sub>, E<sub>2</sub>, and E<sub>3</sub>) and shear moduli (G<sub>1</sub>, G<sub>2</sub>, and G<sub>3</sub>) and the Poisson ratios ( $v_{12}$ ,  $v_{23}$ , and  $v_{31}$ ) in the three planes. In the case of a fully isotropic material, which has infinite planes of symmetry, these equations reduce to the basic mechanics of materials expression of the Hooke law, with only two independent constants, E and v.

For most biological materials (e.g., cartilage, tendon, blood vessels) the constitutive models must describe an expanding array of features. Unlike most engineering materials, most tissues are nonlinear, viscoelastic (i.e., timedependent), inhomogeneous, and anisotropic, and experience large deformations under physiologic loads. It can be difficult to include every one of these features in a 3-D model. Fortunately, reasonable assumptions can be made to simplify the approach and yield useful information about the most important features of the tissue at hand. For example, Y.C. Fung made the observation that in many soft tissues, after several "preconditioning" cycles, the loading and unloading curves reach a steady state and the final curves lose much of their rate dependence [2]. He termed this characteristic behavior "pseudoelasticity." Thus, many tissues such as skin, tendon, and blood vessels can often be modeled as nonlinear, pseudoelastic, homogeneous, and anisotropic, with large deformations. Using these assumptions and applying the second law of thermodynamics (via the Clausius–Duhem entropy inequality), it can be shown that the second Piola–Kirchoff stress, **S**, is directly related to the derivative of the strain potential, or strain energy function, W, with respect to the Green strain, **E**:

$$S = \rho_0 \frac{\partial W}{\partial E}, \qquad (26.16)$$

where  $\rho_0$  is the mass density. Now, provided we know a proper strain energy function for a given material, we have a direct relationship between the stress and the strain. Selection of a proper functional form for W is an active area of research and can account for anisotropy, incompressibility, and nonlinearity [2,3]. One commonly used model, proposed by Fung [4,5], assumes that the exponential relationship observed in 1-D can be extended to 3-D:

$$W = \exp[Q(E) - 1], \tag{26.17}$$

where Q(E) is a polynomial function of the strain components whose functional form allows for different degrees of anisotropy.

Classically, constitutive models were phenomenological in nature and not derived from microstructure; however, many current investigators are developing multiscale models that incorporate microstructural composition, fibermatrix interactions, and fiber orientation to predict both elastic and plastic behavior [6–8]. Such models feature Many biological tissues exhibit other characteristics such as time dependence (viscoelasticity) that are essential to their function in vivo and must be incorporated to describe tissue properties accurately. Articular cartilage, for example, exhibits multiphasic behavior in which the matrix composition and interstitial fluid—matrix interactions are essential to conferring the lubricating and impact-absorbing properties of the tissue. Textbooks by Fung and Cowin provide further reading on constitutive modeling of time-dependent tissues [9,10].

Finally, validity of assumptions and predictive capabilities of constitutive models must be evaluated by experiments. Often, simple experiments (e.g., tension, compression, biaxial stretch) can be used to validate the models before application, but the capability of the models to predict essential behavior under near-physiologic conditions is critical.

## **Boundary Value Problems**

Once the tissue properties and behavior are known, determining the actual stresses and strains experienced by cells within the extracellular matrix (ECM) requires solution of the boundary value problems defined by the physical field equations, the constitutive behavior, and the boundary conditions. Boundary conditions are simply the loads and deformations applied further up in the structural hierarchy that induce local stresses and strains at the level of interest. For classical engineering materials, the boundary value problems and admissible assumptions have been identified, and most current research focuses on their solutions; however, in the field of biomechanics, the formulation of boundary value problems, including constitutive models and boundary conditions, remains an active area of research with great promise for enhancing our understanding of biological materials [2].

# UNDERSTAND THE ROLE OF MECHANICAL STIMULI

With the necessary tools established and a theoretical framework chosen, we can begin to understand how mechanical stimuli affect organs, tissues, and cells. Mechanical loads are essential for proper morphogenesis (see Chapter 24) and maintenance of normal tissue structure and function in a wide variety of tissues. In many systems, physical stimuli may also be pathogenic, inducing damage or disease, depending on the type, magnitude, and/or frequency of the stimulus. Understanding these factors is therefore important to regenerating mechanosensitive tissues.

In many tissues, subcellular components to whole tissues are coupled to adapt the structure and properties actively according to the mechanical environment. The role of mechanical stimulation has been studied and described at many hierarchical levels, linking gross tissue remodeling to mechanotransduction, the cellular and subcellular responses that convert mechanical stimuli into chemical signals.

## Tissue Remodeling

We will first consider bone adaptation as an example of tissue-level remodeling to physical stresses. The mechanisms behind bone tissue remodeling were first described by Frost, who suggested that modeling and remodeling are mediated by basic multicellular units (BMU) made up of osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and osteocytes [11–14]. Osteoblasts lay down bone matrix and osteoclasts degrade it within a highly regulated and intertwining milieu of chemical signals. Osteocytes, residing within bone matrix and communicating with other cells through the lacuno-canalicular network, are thought to be the primary mechanosensors that transduce mechanical signals into chemical signals. These adaptations are stimulated by changes in the mechanical loading history.

Turner and others have studied numerous mechanical variables affecting bone adaptation [15–19] and have proposed three rules for load-induced adaptation [20]. First, bone adapts to dynamic but not static strains. Experimental observations revealed that the strain stimulus, or the strain needed to induce adaptation, was proportional to both strain magnitude and frequency:

$$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{k}_1 \varepsilon \mathbf{f},\tag{26.18}$$

424

where E is the strain stimulus, k is a proportionality constant,  $\varepsilon$  is the peak-to-peak strain magnitude, and f is the loading frequency [19]. Second is the principle of diminishing returns: that is, as loading duration is increased, the bone formation response tends to level off. This effect was mathematically described by Carter and colleagues as:

$$S = k_2 \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} N_j \sigma_j^m \right]^{\overline{m}},$$
(26.19)

where  $k_2$  is a constant, N is number of loading cycles per day,  $\sigma$  is the effective stress, and m is a constant weighting factor, which has been estimated at 3.5–4, based on published data [20,21]. Finally, bone adaptation is error-driven such that bone cells accommodate to "normal" strain waveforms but adapt to abnormal strain changes [22]. This has been described mathematically as:

$$\frac{\partial M}{\partial t} = B\{\phi - F\}, \tag{26.20}$$

where M is bone mass, t is time,  $\varphi$  is the local stress–strain state, and B and F are constants that describe the "normal" load state [23]. Thus,  $\varphi$  – F represents the error function driving force for bone mass adaptation.

These rules apply to both mechanical stimulation of new bone formation and disuse-induced bone resorption. Astronauts, for example, experience significant reductions in bone mass: When the local stress–strain state,  $\varphi$ , becomes less than the normal earthbound state, F, because of reduced gravitational loads, the negative error function drives bone resorption. This tightly regulated system can also become pathogenic in osteoporosis, in which the communication between constituents of the BMU is disrupted and more bone is resorbed than can be replaced, leading to a decrease in bone mass and skeletal fragility.

In blood vessels, hemodynamic forces have multiple important roles in regulating vascular cells [24]. Pulsatile intramural pressures produce cyclic strain within vessel wall, and blood flows exert shear stresses on the lumen walls. These two types of physical stimuli influence the phenotype and activity of smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells within the vasculature. Tremendous research has been directed toward studying hemodynamic effects given the potential implications for preventing or treating atherosclerosis, as well as for vascular tissue engineering. Arteries are capable of remodeling their structure in response to changes in their mechanical environment. A chronic increase in systemic blood pressure induces an increase in vessel wall thickness and area, whereas reduced pressure leads to a decrease in vessel dimensions [25].

In cartilage, normal joint loading produces compressive, tensile, and shear forces that deform the cells (chondrocytes) and induce interstitial fluid flows and streaming potentials throughout the matrix [26]. These mechanical, chemical, and electric signals prominently influence the metabolism of the chondrocytes. Because articular cartilage in adults is devoid of a blood supply, mechanical deformations are critically important to facilitate the flow of nutrients and waste products into and out of the tissue. Mechanical deformations also serve to maintain the tissue's proper matrix composition, organization, and mechanical properties. It is generally accepted that static or constant compression and pressure result in loss and/or reduction of synthesis of proteoglycans and DNA in nearly a dosedependent manner [27]. Dynamic compression has been shown to modulate proteoglycan synthesis positively, and this stimulation is heavily influenced by both the frequency and amplitude of the compressive waveform [27]. Similarly, dynamic tissue shear also has a pronounced effect on matrix components in a frequency- and amplitude-dependent manner [28].

Abnormal joint loads have been shown to induce changes in the composition, structure, and mechanical properties of articular cartilage. For example, disuse studies that employ casting or other means of immobilization have demonstrated a loss of matrix constituents such as proteoglycans and a reduction in tissue thickness and mechanical properties [29]. Conversely, moderate exercise may have beneficial effects on maintaining healthy articular cartilage [30]. Dynamic compression modulates biomarkers implicated in important disease states (e.g., osteoarthritis) such as cartilage oligomeric matrix protein [31], but high-impact loading or altered joint loading resulting from instability or injury is recognized as a significant risk factor for the development and progression of osteoarthritis [30,32]. These studies suggest that there is a range of local stresses and strains that promote healthy tissue homeostasis, but loading conditions that are abnormally high or low can trigger catabolic responses and a loss of tissue function.

#### Mechanotransduction

How are local mechanical signals transduced into cellular responses that affect tissue growth, repair, and remodeling? The process of mechanotransduction can be divided into four stages [33], as shown in Fig. 26.5: (1) force transmission, (2) mechanotransduction, (3) signal propagation, and (4) cellular response. The first stage refers to the transmission of the force from the point at which it is applied to the cell surface. The second corresponds to the sensory action of the cells in sensing mechanical stimuli and transducing it into a biochemical signal, which is propagated inside the cell in the third stage. Finally, the cell responds to the intracellular signal by modulating gene expression, completing the mechanotransduction process.

In the first stage of mechanotransduction, applied forces are converted into local stimuli that may be detected by cells. Transmitted forces can cause direct cellular deformation by deforming the surrounding ECM. Applied forces may also result in local fluid flow and/or hydrostatic pressures. For example, compression of articular cartilage generates hydrostatic pressure that can regulate chondrocyte metabolism. Dynamic compression of cartilage induces fluid flow through the matrix and exposes cells to local shear stresses. The relative importance of these different types of local stimuli in vivo is not clear because of the difficulty of isolating each kind of mechanical stimulus. However, extensive research has been done to study the effects of various forms of mechanical stimuli on cells in vitro. These include tensile stretch, compression, hydrostatic pressure, and fluid flow—induced shear stress applied either statically or dynamically. These studies have allowed investigators to identify potential mechanotransduction mechanisms.

The next stage of mechanotransduction occurs at the plasma membrane of the cell, and it is here that the cell detects the external signal and converts it into an intracellular signal. The plasma membrane contains numerous receptors and ion channels that can serve as sensors of the mechanical stimuli. The key structures in this interaction are the mechanosensitive (also known as stretch-activated) ion channels, integrin receptors, and other plasma membrane receptors.

Mechanosensitive ion channels [34–36] are thought to be important to many cell types including chondrocytes [37,38], osteoblasts [39], endothelial cells [40], and cardiac myocytes [41]. Experiments involving direct perturbation of the chondrocyte membrane have implicated such ion channels in the increase in concentration of cytosolic calcium ion [42], which is a second messenger and has well-known intracellular effects [43–45].

Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane proteins that bind to ECM proteins and cluster together leading to the assembly of focal adhesions, at which the cell contacts the ECM. Focal adhesions associate intracellularly with  $\alpha$ -actinin [46], talin [47], tensin [48], and other cytoskeletal binding proteins as well as signaling molecules such as focal adhesion kinase [49]. Because of their associations with both structural and signaling proteins, integrins are well-placed to act as transducers of physical stimuli and have been implicated as a link between the extracellular and intracellular environments for a variety of cell types that allow transmission of inside-out and outside-in signals capable of modulating cell behavior [50–54]. Wright et al. reported that the transduction pathways involved in the hyperpolarization response of human articular chondrocytes in vitro after cyclical pressure-induced strain involve  $\alpha 5\beta1$  integrin, which they suggest is an important chondrocyte mechanoreceptor [54]. Externally applied forces would cause changes in the conformations of the ECM molecules that would affect their binding to integrins and modify the force balance within focal adhesions. It is thought that increased tension within focal adhesions can trigger increased integrin clustering and focal adhesion kinase phosphorylation [55,56], which initiates a signal cascade resulting in altered gene expression.

In addition to integrins, the plasma membrane is host to other receptors for specific ECM proteins such as collagen, aggrecan, and hyaluronic acid, which may also be able to sense extracellular forces because of their interactions with their ligands. G protein—coupled receptors (GPCR) may also act as mechanotransducers or be activated as a result of other pathways, because the consequences of G protein stimulation of the phospholipase C—inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) pathway have been observed in mechanically stimulated cells [40,57].

Primary cilia, microtubule-based, flagella-like extensions of the membrane, have been identified as potent mechanosensors [58]. First identified in the late 1800s and thought to be a functionless vestige, the primary cilium has been implicated as a mechanism for mechanosensation in numerous cell types including kidney [59], bone [60,61], and cartilage [62]. Jacobs and colleagues identified primary cilia in both osteocytes and osteoblasts and proposed that primary cilia sense lacuno-canalicular fluid flow caused by bone loading [61]. They demonstrated that primary cilia are required for osteocyte and osteoblast response to fluid shear stress, inducing the expression of genes (osteopontin, cyclooxygenase-2, and osteoprotegerin/receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B ligand) and production of second messengers (prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> [PGE<sub>2</sub>]) associated with bone remodeling. Primary cilia have also been shown to cause intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> release by GPCR proteolysis of polycystic kidney disease 1 to activate Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) and IP<sub>3</sub> production [63]. Further research is required to fully understand the mechanisms through which primary cilia respond to mechanical stimuli.

The third stage of mechanotransduction is signal propagation, in which extracellular physical stimuli propagate into the cell through cytoskeletal remodeling, calcium flux, and kinase cascade activation leading to midterm and

long-term changes in transcriptional activity [64]. A complex and incompletely understood transcription factormediated integration system is responsible for much cellular adaptation to physical environmental cues, regulating tissue morphogenesis. Coordinated activation and/or expression of multiple transcription factors combinatorially regulate downstream expression patterns, forming a signal integration system that interprets the cells' physical, chemical, and microenvironmental context and returns the necessary response [64].

Advances in transcriptomics have led to the identification of novel transcriptional activators whose transcriptional targets overlap with known mechanotransducers. These include nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB), serum response factor, as well as Yes-associated protein (YAP) and transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding domain (TAZ) [65]. YAP and TAZ have received extensive attention because they appear to be nearly ubiquitous effectors of mechanosensation. These proteins are paralogous transcriptional coactivators that translocate to the nucleus to activate a number of transcription factors, most notably the TEA domain family (TEAD1–4) [66,67]. YAP and TAZ are localized to the nucleus on rigid substrates in response to dynamic loading, and require Rho GTPases (RHOA, CDC42, and RAC1) in addition to a number of actin processing factors [68–70]. YAP and TAZ nuclear localization is inhibited by cell–cell contact-mediated activation of hippo core kinases mammalian STE20-like protein kinase and large tumor suppressor kinase 1; subsequent serine (S127YAP/S89TAZ) phosphorylation, nuclear restriction, and degradation of YAP and TAZ [65].

Differentiation typically requires exit from a proliferative progenitor state to a functional, nonproliferative state, and can be directly controlled by both dynamic and passive mechanical cues [71]. For example, differentiation of pluripotent stem cells to motor neurons requires loss of homeobox transcription factor nanog, SRY-box 2 (SOX2), and octamer binding transcription factor 4 and induction of SOX1 and Paired box 6 and is accelerated by highly compliant substrates that promote phosphorylation and deactivation of YAP/TAZ- and mothers against decapentaplegic (Mad) and the *Caenorhabditis elegans* protein Sma (SMAD)-mediated transcription [72]. Dynamic strain also has a key role in morphogenesis; in the case of cartilage, compressive loads promote chondrocyte differentiation and matrix production in developing limb buds through cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase A and subsequent phosphorylation and association of cAMP response element binding protein and SOX9 [73]. However, context is important because, for example, cyclic stretch has been shown to have both pro- and antimyogenic capacity in C2C12 myoblasts through activation of NF-κB-mediated gene expression [74]. Finally, flow and shear force have a role in diverse cellular function. This is most evident in the cardiovascular system. Regions in the vascular tree are less susceptible to atherosclerotic lesions and inflammation as a result of atheroprotective shear flow [75]. Shear forces activate extracellular signal-regulated kinases and promote myocyte enhancer factor 2 and NF-κB nuclear localization and Krüppel-like factor 2 expression, which promote atheroprotective antiinflammatory gene expression, most notably nitric oxide synthase (NOS) [75,76]. Shear flow-generated NOS produces nitric oxide (NO), a potent vasodilator required for initial hematopoietic stem cell emergence during embryogenesis, which means that cardiovascular flow is required for hematopoiesis [77].

Similarly, the  $\beta$ -catenin pathway has sparked great interest as a mechanotransduction mechanism. Like YAP and TAZ, intracellular  $\beta$ -catenin is normally controlled by subcellular localization and proteasomal degradation in the cytosol [78]. Under mechanical stimulation, cells produce small molecules known as What that bind to the membrane receptor complex of LRP5/6 and Frizzled to phosphorylate the kinase glycogen synthase kinase-3 $\beta$ , resulting in deactivation of the destruction complex [79,80]. This allows stabilization of intracellular  $\beta$ -catenin, which translocates to the nucleus to initiate gene expression, and in osteoblasts for example, it induces bone formation [81,82]. Interestingly, mechanical stimulation of osteocytes has also been demonstrated to activate the  $\beta$ -catenin pathway independently of Wht signaling through NO and phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase [83]. This pathway has the potential to provide novel targets for intervention in bone-remodeling pathologies and to manipulate the response of cells to mechanical stimuli.

Mechanotransduction is an essential component of a number of pathologic and regenerative processes: fibrosis, differentiation, and wound repair. Injury-induced transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ )-mediated SMAD signaling promotes an inflammatory response that coordinates with YAP and TAZ signaling to promote proliferation and tissue remodeling [84,85]. However, during fibrosis and cancer-associated fibroblast activation, pathologic ECM stiffening increases YAP and TAZ signaling that can overcome contact inhibition and result in an excessive wound healing response [86,87]. Likewise, bone marrow stromal cell tripotentiality is coordinated by wingless-type MMTV integration site modulation of  $\beta$ -catenin that is inhibited by YAP and TAZ through direct or indirect action on the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex [69,88]. Osteogenesis in particular requires rigidity-mediated nuclear localization of TAZ to enhance Runx2 activity, and YAP and TAZ together may have a long-term role in bone marrow stem cell lineage restriction [89–91].

The final stage of mechanotransduction is the altered response of the cell, which may include changes in matrix synthesis and degradation, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, cell alignment, and migration. The effectors of the mechanotransduction pathways are the various transcription factors, which are activated by the events discussed previously. The activated transcription factors interact with the promoter and enhancer regions of various genes to mediate transcription. This results in an increase in the expression of genes, such as in vascular cells, Cox-2, vascular endothelial growth factor, TGF- $\beta$ 3, and endothelial NOS (eNOS) [92], which orchestrate the cellular responses. Lee et al. demonstrated that vascular smooth muscle cells respond to mechanical strain by increasing specific proteoglycan synthesis and aggregation [93]. It is known that mechanical loading of osteocytes results in anabolic responses such as the expression of c-fos, insulin-like growth factor-I, and osteocalcin [94]. Elevations in Ca<sup>2+</sup> activate a Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase that causes increased c-fos expression, which is a progrowth transcription factor. Calcineurin, a Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-activated phosphatase, dephosphorylates and activates the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NF-AT) family of transcription factors. Different NF-ATs expressed in different cells, including those of the heart, cartilage, and bone, serve as tissue-specific activators of cell growth and differentiation [95,96].

# MECHANICAL REGULATION OF VASCULARIZED TISSUE REGENERATION

Replacing tissues that serve a significant biomechanical function has proven exceptionally challenging [97]. For mechanosensitive cells and tissues, it may be possible to manipulate the mechanical environment, either in vivo or in a bioreactor, to enhance the integration, degradation, or activity of a tissue-engineered construct.

## Mechanical Stimulation In Vivo

During development, bone formation is controlled by the spatiotemporal distribution of morphogens such as TGF- $\beta$ 1 and bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2). Therefore, presentation of these and other growth factors has been pursued to stimulate regeneration in challenging clinical cases such as large bone defects [98]. For further detail on this topic, please refer to Chapter 24. Notably, however, bone development is also acutely responsive to mechanical stimuli induced by fetal movement. This in utero motion functions to direct joint morphogenesis [99] and promote endochondral ossification [100]. Similarly, in natural fracture healing, the local mechanical environment determines both the course and success of healing [101]. Although it was once held that complete immobilization was needed for successful fracture healing and that the resorptive effect of disuse was necessary to release calcium for callus mineralization [102], it is now known that limited physical activity can promote tissue repair and the restoration of function [103].

Despite strong evidence that the local mechanical environment acutely influences bone healing, studies evaluating the effects of in vivo stresses on engineered tissue regeneration have emerged. Case et al. investigated the effects of controlled intermittent compressive deformation on cellular constructs using a hydraulic bone chamber device implanted into the distal femoral metaphyses of rabbits [104]. Constructs receiving 4 weeks of daily mechanical loading at 0.5 Hz were found to have ninefold more new bone formation compared with contralateral control constructs that did not receive loading. Using preclinical models of large bone defect regeneration, several groups have begun to evaluate the influence of in vivo mechanical loading on tissue-engineered bone repair [105–110]. For example, Boerckel et al. developed a rat segmental bone defect model that enables the control of ambulatory load transfer through modulation of axial fixation plate stiffness [106] (Fig. 26.4A). These studies demonstrated that bone regeneration depends on both the magnitude and timing of in vivo loading, with early loading inhibiting vascular ingrowth leading to pseudarthrosis but delayed loading enhancing bone regeneration and remodeling leading to restored functional bone properties [105–107] (Fig. 26.4B,C). Notably, this delayed loading protocol failed to induce regeneration in the presence of structural scaffolds that mimicked the properties of native bone [110], which suggests that stiff scaffolds can impede the beneficial effect of mechanical loading by stress shielding or inhibition of tissue ingrowth. Collectively, these observations suggest that the mechanical environment should be considered together with the physical and biochemical properties of engineered extracellular matrices for tissue regeneration.



FIGURE 26.4 (A) Hydraulic bone chamber implant used to apply cyclic compressive loading to tissue engineered constructs in vivo. Implanted constructs (B) receiving the mechanical stimulus (right) had 9-fold more new bone formation than no load controls (left). (C) Stiff (top) and axially compliant (below) fixation plates. (D) Compliant fixation (right) enhanced bone formation and altered local strain disributions over stiff fixation (left). (E) Delayed loading increased vascularization compared to stiff fixation.



FIGURE 26.5 Schematic showing the four stages of mechanotransduction: [1] force transmission, [2] mechanotransduction, [3] signal propagation, and [4] cellular response. See text for details.

# Mechanical Stimulation In Vitro

Many tissues bear tremendous stress and strain over repeated loading cycles in vivo while maintaining normal function. To date, no engineered construct has been developed in vitro possessing the same biomechanical properties as its in situ counterpart. One approach to addressing this challenge is to use physiologically inspired mechanical forces to transmit stimuli to developing constructs in vitro. Because these tissues normally experience a dynamic environment in vivo, the rationale is that the application of mechanical forces such as compression or shear stress will stimulate the cells of the engineered construct to secrete and organize the proper matrix proteins required to reproduce the mechanical function of the native tissue.

Perhaps the tissues of the body most subjected to mechanical forces are those of the musculoskeletal and cardiovascular origin. Consequently, orthopedic and cardiovascular tissue-engineered constructs represent the bulk of the research in which mechanical forces have been applied to developing tissues in vitro. Cartilage, bone, tendon, ligament, blood vessels, heart valves, and muscle have been cultured in vitro under the influence of mechanical forces. The remainder of this section will discuss select examples from the orthopedic and cardiovascular fields that use the in vivo environment as an inspiration to mechanically condition tissue-engineered constructs in vitro.

#### **Cartilage Bioreactors**

Cartilage bioreactors commonly apply compression and/or shear forces to modulate the construct matrix composition and mechanical properties. Although many different tissue-engineering models exist for cartilage (e.g., alginate, agarose, pellet/micromass, and scaffold and scaffold-free culture), the mechanical properties necessary to withstand the complex and demanding in vivo mechanical environment have yet to be recapitulated. For clinical success, it has been suggested that tissue-engineered constructs may need to approximate the matrix composition, organization, and biomechanical properties of native tissue to promote construct integration and load-bearing capability in vivo [111]. Bioreactor systems have produced encouraging results indicating that in vitro mechanical conditioning of tissue-engineered constructs is a promising approach to reproducing native tissue properties.

As one example, a novel dual-chambered, parallel-plate flow bioreactor system has been used to apply controlled shear stresses to the surface of cartilaginous constructs grown de novo from primary bovine articular chondrocytes without the aid of a scaffold (Fig. 26.6). The "parallel-plate" design refers to the top bioreactor surface and tissueengineered construct face that form two parallel walls separated by a defined distance that creates a flow channel. Fluid flows through the channel, resulting in a parabolic velocity profile. Consequently, a shear stress is applied that is maximal at the upper wall and tissue surface; this is commonly referred to as Poiseuille flow [112]. One can estimate the wall shear stress ( $\tau_w$ ) by the following equation:

$$\tau_{\rm w} = \frac{6\mu Q}{bh^2}.\tag{26.21}$$

where  $\mu$  is the media viscosity, Q is the volumetric flow rate, b is the flow chamber width, and h is the fluid gap height.

Chondrocytes are seeded onto a semipermeable membrane; following a static preculture period, fluid-induced shear stress is applied to the construct. The application of flow significantly increases type II collagen compared with static (no flow) controls, as well as both Young's modulus and ultimate strength [113]. This study suggests that flow-induced shear stresses may be an effective functional tissue-engineering strategy for modulating matrix composition and mechanical properties in vitro.

#### **Bone Bioreactors**

Without a vascular blood supply in vitro, nutrient delivery to cells throughout 3-D tissue-engineered constructs grown in static culture must occur by simple diffusion alone. As a result, attempts to engineer bone greater than 1 mm thick usually result in a thin shell of viable tissue and cells localized at the periphery [114]. It has been theorized that this effect results from suboptimal mass transport conditions and a lack of mechanical stimulation in static culture. Therefore, tissue culture systems that provide dynamic media flow around or within tissue-engineered constructs have been designed to enhance nutrient and waste exchange in vitro [115]. In addition to enhancing mass transport, fluid flow applies shear stresses to the cells within the scaffolds. The effects of flow-mediated shear on cells have been studied in 2-D monolayer cultures. Continuous fluid flow applied to osteoblasts in vitro has been shown to alter bone-related gene expression and the cellular phenotype [116]. Parallel-plate flow experiments have shown that bone cells cultured in monolayer are highly responsive to flow-mediated shear stresses. Shear stresses in the range of  $5-15 \text{ dyn/cm}^2$  affect osteoblast proliferation as well as the production of NO and PGE<sub>2</sub>,



FIGURE 26.6 Dual-chambered parallel-plate bioreactor system that applies controlled shear stresses to the surface of cartilaginous construct slabs.

which suggests that shear stress is an important regulator of osteoblast function [117]. Pulsatile and oscillatory flow conditions applied to osteoblasts using in vitro parallel-plate flow chambers have also been shown to increase gene expression, intracellular calcium concentration, and the production of NO and PGE<sub>2</sub> compared with static controls [118,119]. Furthermore, cell responsiveness has been reported to vary with the fluid flow rate and frequency [120,121]. Proposed mechanisms for the stimulation of cells by fluid flow include increased mass transport, the generation of streaming potentials, and the application of shear stresses to the cell membranes [119,122]. Although these studies were performed using 2-D cell culture systems for short-term experiments, they suggest that variable flow conditions may also have differential effects in 3-D tissue culture systems.

Such tissue culture systems may be useful to engineer thicker, more uniform bone graft substitutes for implantation or as test bed models that simulate aspects of the in vivo environment. Whereas many different bioreactor systems have been developed, perfusion bioreactors in particular have shown significant increases in both cell viability and mineralized matrix formation on large 3-D constructs in vitro. In a study, micro–computed tomography has been used to quantify mineralized matrix production within perfused and statically cultured marrow progenitor cells seeded on large polymer scaffolds (6.35 mm in diameter and 9 mm thick) [123]. Statically cultured constructs were found to have mineralized matrix localized only to the periphery of the constructs. In contrast, perfused constructs were found to have a several-fold increase in mineralized matrix production distributed throughout the constructs (Fig. 26.7).



FIGURE 26.7 Perfusion bioreactor system (left) for production of mineralized constructs for bone defects. Computational fluid dynamics simulation of flow rate and shear stresses within the 3D scaffold porosity (right).

#### **Blood Vessel Bioreactors**

Following the same rationale for mechanical conditioning of orthopedic-engineered tissues, cardiovascular tissues can also be enhanced by in vitro mechanical stimulation. Cardiovascular tissues reside in a dynamic environment that can be mimicked in vitro using bioreactors and mechanical loading systems to deliver the physiologically inspired environmental cues.

In vivo, the pulsatile flow of blood imparts cyclic strains and shear stresses to the vessel's constituents, which respond in a variety of ways to these mechanical signals. Endothelial cells are uniquely situated in the lumen and are directly in contact with the flowing blood, which causes a shear stress to be applied to the cells. Consequently, these rapidly responding, mechanosensitive cells attain an elongated shape, aligning their long axis with the direction of flow. Sensing of the shear via cell-surface receptors, ion channels, or integrins leads to the secretion and/or activation of a number of signaling molecules such as NO, eNOS, kinases, and transcription factors [124–126]. Perhaps most important, the fluid-induced shear stress confers a protective effect on the vessel by decreasing the probability of atherosclerosis [127]. Indeed, areas of irregular blood flow (i.e., velocity, direction, and shear stress) have been implicated as sites of increased atherosclerosis [128]. Shear stress also modulates smooth muscle cell production of signaling molecules (such as NO) [129] and gene transcription levels of cell-surface receptors [130].

Tissue-engineered blood vessels (TEBVs) aim to reproduce cellular and mechanical properties of the native vessel as an effective replacement. However, similar to other engineered tissues, those cultured under static conditions fall short of native tissue properties. The concept of mechanical stimulation of TEBVs to enhance matrix organization and mechanical properties began in the mid-1990s, and it has since been an active topic of research. Historically, three types of TEBVs have received the greatest attention for application of in vitro cyclic strains. First, collagen gel-derived TEBVs were exposed to cyclic circumferential strains by Nerem and Tranquillo and colleagues. Cummings et al. demonstrated an increase in mechanical properties and altered cellular function in response to cyclic strain of cell-seeded collagen gels induced matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2)–mediated remodeling, yielding improved mechanical properties [131]. Gleason and colleagues presented a microstructurally motivated continuum mechanics model that combines numerous factors affecting the success of the TEBV approach, such as cell type,

matrix composition, mechanical stimulus, and their interacting effects on TEBV growth, remodeling, and mechanics [132]. Such studies point to the challenge of optimizing this approach and point to the importance of biomechanics-informed rational experimental design.

Second, the effects of cyclic stretching on biodegradable polymeric scaffolds have been investigated. Gong and Niklason reported that cyclic strain of cell-seeded constructs enhanced mesenchymal stem cell differentiation toward a smooth muscle cell phenotype and induced a more normal tissue composition [133].

Finally, Auger and colleagues presented a method of self-assembly, in which cells are cultured in two dimensions to excrete their own ECM, forming a tissue sheet, which is then rolled into a TEBV. When exposed to uniaxial stretch, the cells realign along the axis of strain and improve the contractile capacity of the resulting TEBVs [134].

Other experiments demonstrated that exposing tissue-engineered vascular grafts to fluid-induced shear stress increased endothelial cell adherence [135] and proliferation [136] and altered tissue morphology and mechanical properties [137]. Cyclic mechanical strains cause an increase in collagen (types I and III) transcription by smooth muscle cells [138], an increase in mechanical properties (strength and stiffness) that is attributed to an increase in remodeling enzymes such as MMP-2 [139] and an increase in matrix and cellular organization [136,140]. Subjecting smooth muscle cell–impregnated constructs to dynamic mechanical stress not only causes ultrastructural and orientation changes in the cell phenotype and matrix, it can also induce cells to shift from a synthetic to a contractile state [141]. Similar constructs (smooth muscle cells seeded into polyglycolic acid meshes) exposed to pulsatile radial stresses of 165 beats per minute (analogous to fetal heart rates) and 5% radial strain produces constructs with burst pressures in excess of 2000 mm Hg increased collagen deposition and desirable histological characteristics [142].

Great strides have been made in the field of tissue-engineered vascular grafts, but a completely successful graft has yet to be identified. However, as the field continues to progress and learn more about the in vivo environment, those cues can be translated to more realistic conditioning techniques for in vitro—grown constructs. This mechanical stimulation is critical to remodeling the graft to possess proper mechanical properties as well as matrix composition and organization. The same can be said for cartilage and bone. Thus, mechanical conditioning in an in vitro setting has proven to be a powerful technique to increase the similarity of tissue-engineered constructs to the native tissues they aim to replace.

# EVALUATE FUNCTIONAL RESTORATION

Assessment of functional regeneration is an essential benchmark for establishing a successful tissue-engineering strategy. Often, qualitative, indirect measures of regeneration are presented without evaluating biomechanical integrity. For tissues and structures whose primary function is to bear physical loads, mechanical testing is an essential measure of repair. In cartilage regeneration, for example, many studies present only compositional and morphological assessments of healing without directly measuring mechanical function. Although composition and morphology are important measures, the true indicator of regeneration is whether the regenerated tissue recapitulates normal tissue behavior, including both the monotonic elastic and viscoelastic properties. Although it is often experimentally difficult, the establishment of standards for mechanical evaluation of engineered tissues will be a significant contribution. For tissue-engineering approaches to long bone defect healing, torsion testing is an experimentally facile and analytically simple method of determining the structural properties of the regenerated tissue and allows for direct comparison with age-matched uninjured limbs.

Other functional considerations include the assessment of long-term consequences and temporal remodeling of tissue-engineered constructs. These include the evaluation of scaffold degradation by-products, the extent of remodeling to native architecture, and the restoration of the behavior of the native material.

# CONCLUSIONS

This chapter presented four steps to approaching a tissue-engineering problem successfully from the perspective of physical mechanics: (1) describe the native mechanical environment quantitatively, (2) understand the role of mechanical factors in the tissue of interest, (3) manipulate mechanical conditions to enhance function or regeneration, and (4) evaluate the degree of functional biomechanical restoration of the engineered tissue quantitatively. Although all of these considerations are active areas of research, regenerating tissues that serve a significant biomechanical function continue to prove exceptionally challenging [97]. It is clear that tissue regeneration strategies must take

#### REFERENCES

into consideration the complex and demanding in vivo mechanical environment into which tissue-engineered constructs are implanted. Fortunately, a wealth of knowledge is available to tissue engineers regarding how local stresses and strains affect cell function within tissues. Integration of this knowledge into strategies for tissue replacement or regeneration will be important to achieving the goal of long-term functional restoration in patients.

# References

- Malvern LE. Introduction to the mechanics of a continuous medium. Prentice-Hall series in engineering of the physical sciences. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1969. xii, 713 p.
- [2] Fung YC. Biomechanics: mechanical properties of living tissues. 2nd ed., New York: Springer-Verlag; 1993. xviii, 568 p.
- [3] Humphrey JD, Strumpf RK, Yin FC. Determination of a constitutive relation for passive myocardium: I. A new functional form. J Biomech Eng 1990;112(3):333–9.
- [4] Fung YC. Elasticity of soft tissues in simple elongation. Am J Physiol 1967;213(6):1532-44.
- [5] Fung YC. Biorheology of soft tissues. Biorheology 1973;10(2):139-55.
- [6] Natali AN, et al. Anisotropic elasto-damage constitutive model for the biomechanical analysis of tendons. Med Eng Phys 2005;27(3):209-14.
- [7] Maceri F, Marino M, Vairo G. A unified multiscale mechanical model for soft collagenous tissues with regular fiber arrangement. J Biomech 2010;43(2):355–63.
- [8] Hansen L, Wan W, Gleason RL. Microstructurally motivated constitutive modeling of mouse arteries cultured under altered axial stretch. J Biomech Eng 2009;131(10):101015.
- [9] Fung YC. Foundations of solid mechanics. Prentice-Hall international series in dynamics. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1965. xiv, 525 p.
- [10] Cowin SC, Doty SB. Tissue mechanics. , New York: Springer; 2007. xvi, 682 p.
- [11] Frost HM. Bone remodelling dynamics. The Henry Ford Hospital surgical monographs. Springfield, IL: Thomas; 1963. 175 p.
- [12] Robling AG, Bellido T, Turner CH. Mechanical stimulation in vivo reduces osteocyte expression of sclerostin. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2006;6(4):354.
- [13] Mackie EJ. Osteoblasts: novel roles in orchestration of skeletal architecture. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2003;35(9):1301-5.
- [14] Knothe Tate ML, et al. The osteocyte. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2004;36(1):1-8.
- [15] Lanyon LE, Rubin CT. Static vs dynamic loads as an influence on bone remodelling. J Biomech 1984;17(12):897-905.
- [16] Rubin CT, Lanyon LE. Regulation of bone formation by applied dynamic loads. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1984;66(3):397-402.
- [17] Rubin CT, Lanyon LE. Regulation of bone mass by mechanical strain magnitude. Calcif Tissue Int 1985;37(4):411-7.
- [18] Turner CH, et al. Mechanical loading thresholds for lamellar and woven bone formation. J Bone Miner Res 1994;9(1):87–97.
- [19] Turner CH, Owan I, Takano Y. Mechanotransduction in bone: role of strain rate. Am J Physiol 1995;269(3 Pt 1):E438-42.
- [20] Turner CH. Three rules for bone adaptation to mechanical stimuli. Bone 1998;23(5):399-407.
- [21] Carter DR, Fyhrie DP, Whalen RT. Trabecular bone density and loading history: regulation of connective tissue biology by mechanical energy. J Biomech 1987;20(8):785–94.
- [22] Lanyon LE. The success and failure of the adaptive response to functional load-bearing in averting bone fracture. Bone 1992;13(Suppl. 2): S17–21.
- [23] Fyhrie DP, Schaffler MB. The adaptation of bone apparent density to applied load. J Biomech 1995;28(2):135-46.
- [24] Riha GM, et al. Roles of hemodynamic forces in vascular cell differentiation. Ann Biomed Eng 2005;33(6):772-9.
- [25] Arner A, Malmqvist U, Uvelius B. Structural and mechanical adaptations in rat aorta in response to sustained changes in arterial pressure. Acta Physiol Scand 1984;122(2):119–26.
- [26] Mow V, Ratcliffe A. Structure and function of articular cartilage and meniscus. In: Mow V, Hayes W, editors. Basic orthopaedic biomechanics. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers; 1997. p. 113–77.
- [27] Li KW, et al. Growth responses of cartilage to static and dynamic compression. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2001;(391 Suppl.):S34-48.
- [28] Jin M, et al. Tissue shear deformation stimulates proteoglycan and protein biosynthesis in bovine cartilage explants. Arch Biochem Biophys 2001;395(1):41–8.
- [29] Akeson WH, et al. Effects of immobilization on joints. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1987;(219):28-37.
- [30] Lane NE. Physical activity at leisure and risk of osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 1996;55(9):682-4.
- [31] Piscoya JL, et al. The influence of mechanical compression on the induction of osteoarthritis-related biomarkers in articular cartilage explants. Osteoarthr Cartil 2005;13.
- [32] Buckwalter JA. Osteoarthritis and articular cartilage use, disuse, and abuse: experimental studies. J Rheumatol Suppl 1995;43:13-5.
- [33] Gooch K, et al. Mechanical forces and growth factors utilized in tissue engineering. In: Patrick C, Mikos A, McIntire L, editors. Frontiers in tissue engineering. Elsevier Science; 1998.
- [34] Martinac B. Mechanosensitive ion channels: molecules of mechanotransduction. J Cell Sci 2004;117:2449–60.
- [35] Sachs F. Mechanical transduction by membrane ion channels: a mini review. Mol Cell Biochem 1991;104:57-60.
- [36] Hamill OP, Martinac B. Molecular basis of mechanotransduction in living cells. Physiol Rev 2001;81:685-740.
- [37] Wright M, et al. Effects of intermittent pressure-induced strain on the electrophysiology of cultured human chondrocytes: evidence for the presence of stretch-activated membrane ion channels. Clin Sci 1996;90(1):61–71.
- [38] Guilak F, Hung CT. Physical regulation of cartilage metabolism. In: Mow VC, Huiskes R, editors. Basic orthopaedic biomechanics and mechano-biology. 3rd ed. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2005.
- [39] Charras G, Horton M. Single cell mechanotransduction and its modulation analyzed by atomic force microscope indentation. Biophys J 2002; 82:2970–81.
- [40] Davies P. Flow-mediated endothelial mechanotransduction. Physiol Rev 1995;75(3):519-60.
- [41] Hu H, Sachs F. Stretch-activated ion channels in the heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1997;29:1511-23.

#### 434

#### 26. PHYSICAL STRESS AS A FACTOR IN TISSUE GROWTH AND REMODELING

- [42] Guilak F, et al. Mechanically induced calcium waves in articular chondrocytes are inhibited by gadolinium and amiloride. J Orthop Res 1999; 17(3):421–9.
- [43] Faber ESL, Sah P. Calcium-activated potassium channels: multiple contributions to neuronal function. Neuroscientist 2003;9(3):181-94.
- [44] Carafoli E. Intracellular calcium homeostasis. Annu Rev Biochem 1987;56(395-433).
- [45] Rasmussen H. The calcium messenger system. N Engl J Med 1986;17:1094–170.
- [46] Otey C, et al. Mapping of the alpha-actinin binding site within the beta 1 integrin cytoplasmic domain. J Biol Chem 1993;268(28):21193–7.
- [47] Critchley D. Cytoskeletal proteins talin and vinculin in integrin-mediated adhesion. Biochem Soc Trans 2004;32(5):831-6.
- [48] Bockholt S, Burridge K. Cell spreading on extracellular matrix proteins induces tyrosine phosphorylation of tensin. J Biol Chem 1993;268: 14565–7.
- [49] Schaller M, et al. Focal adhesion kinase and paxillin bind to peptides mimicking beta integrin cytoplasmic domains. J Cell Biol 1995;130: 1181–7.
- [50] Martinez-Lemus L, et al. Integrins as unique receptors for vascular control. J Vasc Res 2003;40(3):211-33.
- [51] Pelham RJ, Wang Y. High resolution detection of mechanical forces exerted by locomoting fibroblasts on the substrate. Mol Biol Cell 1999; 10(4):935–45.
- [52] Aikawa R, et al. Integrins play a critical role in mechanical stress-induced p38 MAPK activation. Hypertension 2002;39(2):233-8.
- [53] Jalali S, et al. Integrin-mediated mechanotransduction requires its dynamic interaction with specific extracellular matrix (ECM) ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98(3):1042–6.
- [54] Wright M, et al. Hyperpolarisation of cultured human chondrocytes following cyclical pressure-induced strain: evidence of a role for alpha 5 beta 1 integrin as a chondrocyte mechanoreceptor. J Orthop Res 1997;15(5):742–7.
- [55] Katsumi A, et al. Integrins in mechanotransduction. J Biol Chem 2004;279(13):12001-4.
- [56] Sieg D, Hauck C, Schlaepfer D. Required role of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) for integrin-stimulated cell migration. J Cell Sci 1999;112(16): 2677–91.
- [57] Reich KM, et al. Activation of G proteins mediates flow-induced prostaglandin E2 production in osteoblasts. Endocrinology 1997;138(3): 1014–8.
- [58] Whitfield JF. The solitary (primary) cilium-a mechanosensory toggle switch in bone and cartilage cells. Cell Signal 2008;20(6):1019-24.
- [59] Nauli SM, et al. Polycystins 1 and 2 mediate mechanosensation in the primary cilium of kidney cells. Nat Genet 2003;33(2):129-37.
- [60] Whitfield JF. Primary cilium-is it an osteocyte's strain-sensing flowmeter? J Cell Biochem 2003;89(2):233-7.
- [61] Malone AM, et al. Primary cilia mediate mechanosensing in bone cells by a calcium-independent mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104(33):13325–30.
- [62] Poole CA. Articular cartilage chondrons: form, function and failure. J Anat 1997;191(Pt 1):1-13.
- [63] Chauvet V, et al. Mechanical stimuli induce cleavage and nuclear translocation of the polycystin-1 C terminus. J Clin Invest 2004;114(10): 1433–43.
- [64] Mammoto A, Mammoto T, Ingber DE. Mechanosensitive mechanisms in transcriptional regulation. J Cell Sci 2012;125(Pt 13):3061-73.
- [65] Dupont S, et al. Role of YAP/TAZ in mechanotransduction. Nature 2011;474:179-83.
- [66] Mahoney WM, et al. The transcriptional co-activator TAZ interacts differentially with transcriptional enhancer factor-1 (TEF-1) family members. Biochem J 2005;388:217–25.
- [67] Zhao B, et al. TEAD mediates YAP-dependent gene induction and growth control. Genes Dev 2008;22:1962-71.
- [68] Aragona M, et al. A mechanical checkpoint controls multicellular growth through YAP/TAZ regulation by actin-processing factors. Cell 2013;154:1047–59.
- [69] Park HW, et al. Alternative Wnt signaling activates YAP/TAZ. Cell 2015;162:780-94.
- [70] Reginensi A, et al. Yap- and Cdc42-dependent nephrogenesis and morphogenesis during mouse kidney development. PLoS Genet 2013;9: e1003380.
- [71] Engler AJ, et al. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell 2006;126:677-89.
- [72] Sun Y, et al. Hippo/YAP-mediated rigidity-dependent motor neuron differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Mater 2014;13: 599-604.
- [73] Juhász T, et al. Mechanical loading stimulates chondrogenesis via the PKA/CREB-Sox9 and PP2A pathways in chicken micromass cultures. Cell Signal 2014;26:468–82.
- [74] Bakkar N, Guttridge DC. NF-kappaB signaling: a tale of two pathways in skeletal myogenesis. Physiol Rev 2010;90(2):495-511.
- [75] Parmar KM, et al. Integration of flow-dependent endothelial phenotypes by Kruppel-like factor 2. J Clin Invest 2006;116:49-58.
- [76] Partridge J, et al. Laminar shear stress acts as a switch to regulate divergent functions of NF-kappaB in endothelial cells. FASEB J 2007;21: 3553-61.
- [77] North TE, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell development is dependent on blood flow. Cell 2009;137:736-48.
- [78] Robinson JA, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a normal physiological response to mechanical loading in bone. J Biol Chem 2006;281(42): 31720–8.
- [79] Mao J, et al. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-5 binds to Axin and regulates the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. Mol Cell 2001;7(4):801–9.
- [80] Staal FJ, et al. Wnt signals are transmitted through N-terminally dephosphorylated beta-catenin. EMBO Rep 2002;3(1):63-8.
- [81] Case N, et al. Beta-catenin levels influence rapid mechanical responses in osteoblasts. J Biol Chem 2008;283(43):29196–205.
- [82] Norvell SM, et al. Fluid shear stress induces beta-catenin signaling in osteoblasts. Calcif Tissue Int 2004;75(5):396-404.
- [83] Santos A, et al. Early activation of the beta-catenin pathway in osteocytes is mediated by nitric oxide, phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase/Akt, and focal adhesion kinase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010;391(1):364–9.
- [84] Alarcon C, et al. Nuclear CDKs drive Smad transcriptional activation and turnover in BMP and TGF-beta pathways. Cell 2009;139(4): 757–69.
- [85] Varelas X, et al. The crumbs complex couples cell density sensing to hippo-dependent control of the TGF-β-SMAD pathway. Dev Cell 2010; 19:831–44.

#### REFERENCES

- [86] Calvo F, et al. Mechanotransduction and YAP-dependent matrix remodelling is required for the generation and maintenance of cancerassociated fibroblasts. Nat Cell Biol 2013;15:637–46.
- [87] Liu F, et al. Mechanosignaling through YAP and TAZ drives fibroblast activation and fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2015;308: L344–57.
- [88] Azzolin L, et al. YAP/TAZ incorporation in the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex orchestrates the Wnt response. Cell 2014;158:157–70.
- [89] Cui CB, et al. Transcriptional coactivation of bone-specific transcription factor Cbfa1 by TAZ. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:1004–13.
- [90] Tang Y, et al. MT1-MMP-dependent control of skeletal stem cell commitment via a β1-integrin/YAP/TAZ signaling axis. Dev Cell 2013;25: 402–16.
- [91] Yang C, et al. Mechanical memory and dosing influence stem cell fate. Nat Mater 2014;13:645-52.
- [92] Kakisis J, Liapis C, Sumpio B. Effects of cyclic strain on vascular cells. Endothelium 2004;11(1):17-28.
- [93] Lee R, et al. Mechanical strain induces specific changes in the synthesis and organization of proteoglycans by vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 2001;276(17):13847–51.
- [94] Mikuni-Takagaki Y. Mechanical responses and signal transduction pathways in stretched osteocytes. J Bone Miner Metab 1999;17(1):57-60.
- [95] Iqbal J, Zaidi M. Molecular regulation of mechanotransduction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;328:751-5.
- [96] Crabtree G. Generic signals and specific outcomes: signaling through Ca2+, calcineurin, and NF-AT. Cell 1999;96:611–4.
- [97] Butler DL, Goldstein SA, Guilak F. Functional tissue engineering: the role of biomechanics. J Biomech Eng 2000;122(6):570–5.
- [98] Boerckel JD, et al. Effects of protein dose and delivery system on BMP-mediated bone regeneration. Biomaterials 2011;32:5241-51.
- [99] Hamburger V, Waugh M. The primary development of the skeleton in nerveless and poorly innervated limb transplants of chick embryos. Physiol Zool 1940;13:367–82.
- [100] Hosseini A, Hogg DA. The effects of paralysis on skeletal development in the chick embryo. I. General effects. J Anat 1991;177:159-68.
- [101] Goodship AE, Kenwright J. The influence of induced micromovement upon the healing of experimental tibial fractures. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1985;67(4):650-5.
- [102] Baker AH. Non-union in fractures. Ulster Med J 1934;3(4):277-83.
- [103] Buckwalter JA. Activity vs. rest in the treatment of bone, soft tissue and joint injuries. Iowa Orthop J 1995;15:29–42.
- [104] Case ND, et al. Bone formation on tissue-engineered cartilage constructs in vivo: effects of chondrocyte viability and mechanical loading. Tissue Eng 2003;9(4):587–96.
- [105] Boerckel JD, et al. In vivo model for evaluating the effects of mechanical stimulation on tissue-engineered bone repair. J Biomech Eng 2009; 131:084502.
- [106] Boerckel JD, et al. Mechanical regulation of vascular growth and tissue regeneration in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108:E674–80.
- [107] Boerckel JD, et al. Effects of in vivo mechanical loading on large bone defect regeneration. J Orthop Res 2012;30:1067–75.
- [108] Glatt V, et al. Improved healing of large segmental defects in the rat femur by reverse dynamization in the presence of bone morphogenetic protein-2. J Bone Joint Surg Am Vol 2012;94:2063–73.
- [109] Glatt V, et al. Reverse dynamization: influence of fixator stiffness on the mode and efficiency of large-bone-defect healing at different doses of rhBMP-2. J Bone Joint Surg Am Vol 2016;98:677–87.
- [110] McDermott AM, et al. Influence of structural load-bearing scaffolds on mechanical load- and BMP-2-mediated bone regeneration. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2016;62:169–81.
- [111] Hung CT, et al. A paradigm for functional tissue engineering of articular cartilage via applied physiologic deformational loading. Ann Biomed Eng 2004;32(1):35–49.
- [112] Fox R, McDonald A. Introduction to fluid mechanics. 4th ed., New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1992.
- [113] Gemmiti CV, Guldberg RE. Fluid flow increases type II collagen deposition and tensile mechanical properties in bioreactor-grown tissueengineered cartilage. Tissue Eng 2006 Mar;12(3):469–79.
- [114] Gersbach CA, et al. Runx2/Cbfa1-genetically engineered skeletal myoblasts mineralize collagen scaffolds in vitro. Biotechnol Bioeng 2004; 88(3):369-78.
- [115] Bujia J, et al. Engineering of cartilage tissue using bioresorbable polymer fleeces and perfusion culture. Acta Otolaryngol 1995;115(2):307-10.
- [116] Ogata T. Fluid flow-induced tyrosine phosphorylation and participation of growth factor signaling pathway in osteoblast-like cells. J Cell Biochem 2000;76(4):529–38.
- [117] McAllister TN, Du T, Frangos JA. Fluid shear stress stimulates prostaglandin and nitric oxide release in bone marrow-derived preosteoclastlike cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;270(2):643–8.
- [118] Klein-Nulend J, et al. Pulsating fluid flow stimulates prostaglandin release and inducible prostaglandin G/H synthase mRNA expression in primary mouse bone cells. J Bone Miner Res 1997;12(1):45–51.
- [119] Bakker AD, et al. The production of nitric oxide and prostaglandin E(2) by primary bone cells is shear stress dependent. J Biomech 2001; 34(5):671–7.
- [120] Jacobs CR, et al. Differential effect of steady versus oscillating flow on bone cells. J Biomech 1998;31(11):969-76.
- [121] Edlich M, et al. Oscillating fluid flow regulates cytosolic calcium concentration in bovine articular chondrocytes. J Biomech 2001;34(1):59–65.
- [122] McAllister TN, Frangos JA. Steady and transient fluid shear stress stimulate NO release in osteoblasts through distinct biochemical pathways. J Bone Miner Res 1999;14(6):930–6.
- [123] Porter BD, et al. Perfusion significantly increases mineral production inside 3-D PCL composite scaffolds. In: Proceedings of the American Society for Mechanical Engineering summer bioengineering meeting, Vail, CO; 2005.
- [124] Fisher AB, et al. Endothelial cellular response to altered shear stress. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2001;281(3):L529-33
- [125] Takahashi M, et al. Mechanotransduction in endothelial cells: temporal signaling events in response to shear stress. J Vasc Res 1997;34(3): 212–9.
- [126] Fisslthaler B, et al. Phosphorylation and activation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase by fluid shear stress. Acta Physiol Scand 2000; 168(1):81–8.
- [127] Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar shear stress: mechanisms by which endothelial cells transduce an atheroprotective force. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18(5):677–85.

#### 436

- [128] Papadaki M, et al. Fluid shear stress as a regulator of gene expression in vascular cells: possible correlations with diabetic abnormalities. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1999;45(2–3):89–99.
- [129] Papadaki M, et al. Nitric oxide production by cultured human aortic smooth muscle cells: stimulation by fluid flow. Am J Physiol 1998;274(2 Pt 2):H616–26.
- [130] Papadaki M, et al. Differential regulation of protease activated receptor-1 and tissue plasminogen activator expression by shear stress in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 1998;83(10):1027–34.
- [131] Seliktar D, Nerem RM, Galis ZS. Mechanical strain-stimulated remodeling of tissue-engineered blood vessel constructs. Tissue Eng 2003; 9(4):657–66.
- [132] Raykin J, Rachev AI, Gleason Jr RL. A phenomenological model for mechanically mediated growth, remodeling, damage, and plasticity of gel-derived tissue engineered blood vessels. J Biomech Eng 2009;131(10):101016.
- [133] Gong Z, Niklason LE. Small-diameter human vessel wall engineered from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs). FASEB J 2008;22(6):1635–48.
- [134] Grenier G, et al. Mechanical loading modulates the differentiation state of vascular smooth muscle cells. Tissue Eng 2006;12(11):3159–70.
- [135] Ott MJ, Ballermann BJ. Shear stress-conditioned, endothelial cell-seeded vascular grafts: improved cell adherence in response to in vitro shear stress. Surgery 1995;117(3):334–9.
- [136] Imberti B, et al. The response of endothelial cells to fluid shear stress using a co-culture model of the arterial wall. Endothelium 2002;9(1): 11–23.
- [137] Niklason LE, et al. Morphologic and mechanical characteristics of engineered bovine arteries. J Vasc Surg 2001;33(3):628-38.
- [138] Leung DY, Glagov S, Mathews MB. Cyclic stretching stimulates synthesis of matrix components by arterial smooth muscle cells in vitro. Science 1976;191(4226):475-7.
- [139] Seliktar D, Nerem RM, Galis ZS. The role of matrix metalloproteinase-2 in the remodeling of cell-seeded vascular constructs subjected to cyclic strain. Ann Biomed Eng 2001;29(11):923–34.
- [140] Seliktar D, et al. Dynamic mechanical conditioning of collagen-gel blood vessel constructs induces remodeling in vitro. Ann Biomed Eng 2000;28(4):351–62.
- [141] Kanda K, Matsuda T. Mechanical stress-induced orientation and ultrastructural change of smooth muscle cells cultured in threedimensional collagen lattices. Cell Transplant 1994;3(6):481–92.
- [142] Niklason LE, et al. Functional arteries grown in vitro. Science 1999;284(5413):489-93.

# 27

# Cell-Substrate Interactions

Muhammad Rizwan<sup>1</sup>, John W. Tse<sup>1</sup>, Aparna Nori<sup>2</sup>, Kam W. Leong<sup>2,3</sup>, Evelyn K.F. Yim<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Duke University, Durham, NC, United States; <sup>3</sup>Columbia University, New York, NY, United States; <sup>4</sup>National University of Singapore, Singapore

# INTRODUCTION

In most cases, tissue engineering in vitro or in vivo requires a scaffold to provide the optimal microenvironment for seeded cells. There is a growing trend toward using synthetic substrates to mimic natural, physiological systems for tissue engineering or regenerative medicine. Cell—substrate interactions are fundamentally important to studies geared toward designing biomimetic substrates that may replace damaged vital organs or tissues or assist in the natural healing processes of the body. This chapter reviews cell interactions with the extracellular matrix (ECM). This information is followed by sections detailing the modification of cell behavior by different aspects of a biomimetic substrate, such as its physical, chemical, and biological properties. The role of surface topography in modulating cell interactions is also discussed. Many studies have underscored the necessity of a three-dimensional (3D) environment to yield physiologically relevant data; thus, a section is dedicated to the effect of dimensionality on cell behavior. The chapter concludes with a discussion on the importance of mechanical stress in tissue development at both the cellular and tissue levels.

# CELL-EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX INTERACTIONS

The principal building blocks of organs are cells. These functional units are held together to become structures such as tissues, by a hydrated gel-like material known as the ECM. The ECM provides spatial organization, anchorage, and mechanical strength for different cells within a tissue. In addition, it is also responsible for the control and regulation of cell functions such as adhesion, spreading, proliferation, migration, differentiation, and apoptosis by providing mechanical as well as biochemical stimuli.

The functions of the ECM are carried out by important components such as fibrillar and nonfibrillar glycoproteins, hydrated proteoglycans (insoluble macromolecules), and soluble molecules such as growth factors and cytokines [1]. The most important fibrous proteins that cross-link the matrix are collagen and elastin, which contribute to the tensile and contractile strength of the tissue, respectively. For instance, elastin creates the recoil after transient stretch [2] such as contraction of the heart tissue. Nonfibrous proteins include fibronectin (FN), vitronectin, and laminin, which act as anchors that initiate cell binding via cell surface adhesion receptors such as integrins. These proteins also stimulate cell signaling pathways in a bidirectional manner between the cells and the ECM. Whereas FN is ubiquitous, vitronectin has a greater role in adhesion involving endothelial cells. Laminin is a vital protein secreted by epithelial cells and forms an important constituent of the basal lamina [3].

The integrin family of cell adhesion receptors consists of heterodimeric glycoproteins (composed of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits) that show specificity for different cell adhesion proteins [4] as well as collagen. For example,  $\alpha_1\beta_1$  binds collagen whereas  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  have affinity specifically for FN and vitronectin. The complete integrin receptor is composed of an extracellular domain that binds the ECM in a cation-dependent manner and short cytoplasmic tails that lack intrinsic kinase activity [5–10]. These proteins mediate cell adhesion via cell surface receptor–ligand

#### 27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

binding, leading to the clustering of the integrin receptors and formation of transient cell–ECM contacts known as focal contacts. Clustering (or mechanical force and the presence of growth factors) can bring the cytoplasmic segments of the integrins into close proximity, possibly resulting in dimerization or autophosphorylation of tyrosine kinase proteins such as focal adhesion (FA) kinase (FAK).

Focal contacts stabilize into FAs, which are molecularly complex structures containing proteins including α-actinin and talin (which connect integrins to the actin cytoskeleton), paxillin, and signaling molecules such as FAK (bound to integrins directly, but not to the cytoskeleton). Furthermore, FAs contain vital molecules such as vinculin, which link adhesion molecules to actin and other adaptor molecules. All of these molecules transmit signals for various regulatory pathways between the cell and the ECM [11]. These complexes also serve as the termination points of actin filament bundles known as stress fibers. Recruitment of Src homology 2 domain–containing proteins such as Src kinase and p130 by phosphorylated FAK to these complexes may induce their subsequent phosphorylation. In turn, the phosphorylation activates downstream pathways and alters gene expression that is ultimately translated into specific processes such as migration, proliferation, and differentiation. For instance, activation of small guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) Rac or Erk and c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathways results in cell migration and proliferation, respectively [8].

Glycosaminoglycans such as heparan sulfate, hyaluronic acid, and chondroitin sulfate in the glycosylated proteins are also involved in cell adhesion, cell signaling, and communication. In addition, growth factors and cytokines such as interleukin-2, transforming growth factor  $\beta$ , and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), which may be either immobilized or solubilized in the ECM, are responsible for cell proliferation and differentiation. Cell interaction with the ECM has been demonstrated in the adhesion of cells to substrates coated with ECM molecules, a change of cell shape, the migration of cells along a concentration gradient of ECM ligands, and the demonstration of differentiated phenotype (development of neurites) in response to the ECM [12].

# CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

#### Importance of Substrate

Although it may appear that interactions between the ECM and the cells control only cellular functions, in reality ECM-cell communication is bidirectional. The cells can regulate how much ECM is synthesized or the extent to which it is degraded by controlling the amount of ECM degrading the enzymes produced (proteases such as matrix metalloproteases, collagenase, or plasmin). This is an integral part of ECM remodeling. Furthermore, the extent and specific function of the ECM vary from tissue to tissue and are governed by the need and function of the tissue itself (e.g., connective tissue versus epithelial cells). Because the cells are constantly in close contact with the ECM, these two components exert a considerable degree of influence over each other, known as "ECM-cell dynamic reciprocity" [1]. The realm of tissue engineering ranges from basic studies elucidating the mechanisms underlying cell behavior to applications generating tissues and replacing organs. This involves the use of biomaterials that can mimic the natural environment spatially and temporally so as to facilitate cell adhesion, proliferation, or differentiation according to tissue-specific requirements. Within the context of cell–ECM interactions, important design considerations for a potential biomaterial are discussed subsequently. The influence of these design parameters on cell behavior is further illustrated with pertinent examples from the literature.

### **Effect of Physical Properties**

Although metals and ceramics are important biomaterials, polymers are much more commonly used in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications because of their versatility. The focus of this chapter is therefore on biomedical polymers. Understanding cell interactions with polymers is important for designing substrata for in vitro cell culture or in vivo implantation. Because cells constantly interact with the extracellular environment, they are sensitive to changes in the surface and bulk properties. In addition, for in vivo application, the mechanical property of the substrate or scaffold may need to match the mechanical requirement of the implantation site so as not to affect the biomechanical stimulus adversely that is provided to the seeded cells in situ. Physiochemical properties such as crystallinity, morphology, and stiffness or compliance of materials affect cell attachment and cellular behavior.

# Crystallinity

The crystallinity of a polymer represents a state in which a periodic and repeating atomic arrangement is achieved by molecular chain alignment [13]. Because of their size and complexity, polymer molecules are often only partially crystalline, with crystalline regions dispersed within the amorphous regions. The degree of crystallinity of a polymer depends on the rate of cooling during solidification as well as on chain configuration. Upon cooling through the melting temperature, sufficient time must be allowed for the polymer chains to self-organize and form a crystalline region. Crystallization is favored in polymers with a chemically simple structure. Some common crystalline polymers used in biomedical applications include polyethylene, polypropylene, polytetrafluoroethylene, poly(vinyl chloride), poly(glycolide) (PGA), poly(L-lactide) (PLLA), and poly(caprolactone) (PCL). Crystalline polymers are usually stronger and more resistant to solvent penetration and softening by heat.

Crystallinity affects mechanical properties such as the strength and fatigue resistance of the polymer, but it also has an important role in determining surface physiochemical properties including surface free energy, chemical states, polarity, surface roughness, and wettability, which influence cellular response. When blood compatibility was tested on polypropylene surfaces with different crystalline states, an increase in platelet adhesiveness was observed with decreasing surface crystallinity and interlamellar spacing [14]. A decrease in interlamellar spacing resulted in enhanced albumin adsorption and diminished fibrinogen adsorption. Therefore, controlling the crystalline–amorphous microstructure at the surface layer may improve the blood compatibility of polypropylene surfaces.

When designing scaffolds for implantation, crystallinity can influence the biodegradability and cellular responses of the scaffold. The crystalline region is more resistant to water penetration and hence retards biodegradation. The adhesion, proliferation, and morphology of human articular cartilage chondrocytes were different when cultured on various degradable polymers with various crystallinity, such as PGA, PLLA, poly(D,L-lactide), different ratios of poly(D,L-lactide-*co*-glycolide)s, PCL, poly(glycolide-*co*-trimethylene carbonate) (PCTMC), and poly(dioxanone) films [15]. Significantly higher number of chondrocytes were attached to PGA and 67:33 PCTMC polymer films than on PCL and PLLA films. The total cell numbers and hence fold expansion were significantly higher than the fold expansion on tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS), although the greater fold expansion may be attributed to the lower initial cell attachment. Park and Griffith performed a study of spheroid formation by hepatocytes and proliferation of fibroblasts on PLLA substrates [16]. Their results suggested that cells proliferate more slowly on crystalline versus amorphous PLLA and faster spheroid formation on crystalline substrates. This highlights the interesting dynamics between cell–substrate and cell–cell interactions in dictating cell aggregation. Mikos et al. investigated tissue in growth through porous scaffolds composed of semicrystalline or amorphous PLLA that were implanted in rat mesentery [17]. There was a twofold reduction in percent tissue ingrowth through the crystalline scaffolds after 10 days compared with the amorphous scaffolds.

Variations in crystallinity can also lead to changes in surface roughness on nanometer-length scales [18]. MC3T3-E1 osteoblastic cells showed a higher rate of proliferation on smooth regions with a monotonic variation in rate as a function of roughness.

# Morphology

The morphology of the substrate can affect cell attachment by influencing the ability of the substratum to adsorb protein and/or by altering the conformation of the adsorbed protein. ECM proteins are present in serum that is used in most cell cultures. Cell attachment to the substratum is almost always mediated by these ECM proteins adsorbed on the culture surface. Rough and porous surfaces are routinely used in clinical applications such as orthopedic, dental, and cardiovascular prostheses [19–22]. For example, numerous studies suggested that implants with a porous surface can form better tissue—implant seals to enhance tissue integration [21]. Roughness has been shown to alter the adhesiveness of platelets to hydrophobic and hydrophilic surfaces [23]. The details of surface topography and surface chemistry will be discussed in later sections.

#### **Stiffness and Compliance**

The stiffness of a material is measured by the modulus of elasticity or Young's modulus; compliance is the inverse of stiffness. Sufficient substrate stiffness is important for anchorage-dependent cells, which often rely on finite resistance to cell-generated forces to induce outside-in mechanical signals. Such signals feed back into cell tension [24], cell adhesion [25], protein expression and cytoskeletal organization [26], and cell viability [27]. Stiffness and compliance encountered during cell–cell adhesion and cell–substrate adhesion are important interactions that modulate intracellular signaling pathways and cellular events from gene expression to cell locomotion.

#### 27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

When Normal Rat Kidney (NRK) epithelial cells and National Institutes of Health (NIH) 3T3 fibroblasts were cultured on collagen I substrates with varying Young's modulus, they exhibited different motility and cytoskeletal organization [28]. Both cells were well-spread on rigid substrates. NRK cells became less well-spread and irregularly shaped whereas NIH 3T3 cells lost most of their stress fibers with an increase in locomotion rate when they were cultured on increasingly compliant substrates.

Cell movement can also be guided by the manipulation of flexible substrates to produce mechanical strains in polarized cells. When NIH 3T3 fibroblasts were cultured on flexible polyacrylamide sheets with type I collagen coating and transition in rigidity [29], cells approaching the transition region from the soft side could easily migrate across the boundary whereas cells migrating from the stiff side turned around or retracted as they reached the boundary. Cell also spread to a greater extent on stiff substrates compared with more compliant counterparts [30].

Contractile myocytes sense the mechanical as well as molecular microenvironment. Myoblast culture has been studied on collagen strips attached to glass or polymer gels of varying elasticity [31]. Myosin/actin striation emerges only on gels with stiffness typical of normal muscle. Adhesion strength increases monotonically with increasing sub-strate stiffness.

#### **Effect of Chemical Properties**

The chemical properties of a polymer have an important role in its surface functionality and consequently its cell behavior. When cells are exposed to a polymeric surface, a layer of protein adsorbs onto the surface within milliseconds. Thus, cells "see" the adsorbed protein layer rather than the actual polymer surface.

The surface chemistry of a polymer may be fine-tuned to control protein adsorption, which in turn controls cell adhesion. Depending on the desired outcome, the surface chemistry of a polymer can be modified to modulate the interactions of the adherent cells, such as morphology, migration, differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis. In the context of biointeractions, important chemical properties of a polymeric surface may be categorized into its surface wettability and charge.

#### Surface Wettability

The wettability of a polymer surface is a measure of its hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity, or its surface energy. Water molecules at a polymeric surface rearrange around proteins, causing the native protein to unfold and adsorb irreversibly to the surface. Water molecules are unable to form hydrogen bonds with hydrophobic substrates. Hence, they form hydrogen bonds within themselves, leading to a more ordered structure with lower entropy. Proteins present in the serum can act as surfactants in which their hydrophobic domains interact with the substrate and their hydrophilic domains form hydrogen bonds with the water molecules. This results in release of the ordered water molecules, which is energetically favorable owing to the increase in entropy. This is known as the hydrophobic domains. The adsorbed protein monolayer is seen by the cells instead of the underlying surface, modulating adhesion to a great extent. For example, fibrinogen adsorbed onto a polymer surface greatly increases platelet adhesion.

Functionalization of polymer surfaces with poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO) creates a hydrophilic surface that easily becomes hydrated. PEO is the standard for creating a hydrated hydrophilic surface and is commonly employed to reduce uncontrolled protein adsorption or biofouling onto an implant device.

#### Surface Charge

The surface charge of a polymer affects protein adsorption and unfolding on its surface. Unlike surface wettability, the driving force for protein unfolding onto a charged surface is ionic interactions, not hydrophobic interactions. Protein unfolding depends on the net charge that proteins and cells encounter on the surface. For example, PEO is hydrophilic but has a net neutral charge. In contrast, NH<sub>2</sub> and COOH groups become ionized in solution, resulting in a net positive and negative charge, respectively. Many proteins have a net negative surface charge, which promotes their adsorption onto a positively charged surface. In addition, the glycocalyx on a cell surface (the polysaccharide mucosal layer) has a largely negative charge, adhering to positively charged surfaces via nonspecific interactions.

## **Cellular Response**

The effect of surface chemistry on cellular behavior begins at the point of interaction. The surface chemistry influences the pattern of protein immobilization, absorptive or ionic, on the surface. For example, polymers with higher hydrophobicity are demonstrated to promote greater osteogenesis (bone regeneration) in vivo [33]. This effect has been attributed to a more favorable balance between hydrophobic and hydrophilic properties, which promotes greater protein adsorption onto its surfaces as well as enhanced cell adhesion.

Hydrophilic surfaces appear to inhibit leukocyte adhesion and the attached cells exhibit a decreased cytokine response. This results in an attenuated inflammatory reaction and decreased macrophage fusion [34]. Thus, hydrophilic polymer surfaces may offer an approach to limiting leukocyte adhesion and consequently improving the biocompatibility of an implant.

Surface chemistries also regulate the conformational changes in binding domains of FN, directing integrin binding affinity and the specificity of cell adhesion. In turn, this provides a greater degree of control over cellular behavior. For example,  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  integrin was shown to bind with greatest affinity to hydrophilic, noncharged surfaces (OH functionalized end groups), intermediate affinity to hydrophilic, charged surfaces (NH<sub>2</sub> and COOH end groups), and least affinity to hydrophobic surfaces (CH<sub>3</sub> end groups). In contrast,  $\alpha_V\beta_3$  integrins bind with highest affinity to COOH surfaces, intermediate affinity to NH<sub>2</sub>, and negligible affinity to OH and CH<sub>3</sub> modified surfaces. These differences in binding and adhesion were reflected in the varying degrees of mineral matrix deposition and osteoblast differentiation of MC3T3-E1 cells [35].

#### Methods of Altering Surface Chemistry

Modifications of the surface chemistry of a biomaterial allow for the selective treatment of the superficial layer without changing its bulk property. This is achieved mainly through coating or by plasma treatment. A note of caution on oxygen plasma treatment of a polymeric substrate is that it might have an unintended effect on the physicochemical properties of the polymer. For instance, polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) is a popular substrate for many studies of cell—substrate interactions because of the ease of fabrication and the optical transparency of the polymer. The stiffness of the substrate can also be fine-tuned by varying the cross-linking density. However, oxygen plasma treatment of PDMS can affect its surface chemistry and consequently the topography and elasticity at the nanoscale level. At low cross-linking density, it is also important to extract the unreacted cross-linkers before initiating the cellular studies [36].

Coating or deposition of a top layer includes several methods. Solvent coating or casting is a method in which a polymer is dissolved in a solvent (usually an organic solvent), which in turn is then soaked, brushed, or sprayed onto a surface. Polyelectrolyte multilayers [37] are generated by depositing alternating layers of polycationic and polyanionic monolayers onto a surface. Self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) consist of chemisorbed monolayers of closely packed alkanethiols onto surfaces such as gold, silver, or mercury. The head groups with a hydrocarbon tail may be functionalized with different end groups such as hydrophobic  $CH_{3}$ , hydrophilic OH, or charged COO end groups [38]. Polydopamine coating has proved effective in modifying the surface functionality of a biomaterial [39]. This versatile method applies to any base materials as well as to various conjugation chemistries. For example, Yang et al. applied polydopamine coating on 316L stainless-steel stents that demonstrated a differential response of the coating for human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) and human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells (HUASMCs). Polydopamine-coated stents increased HUVEC adhesion, proliferation, and migration while suppressing the adhesion and proliferation of HUASMCs, thus leading to faster reendothelialization [40]. In another study, 3D tissue engineering of nanofibrous scaffolds of PCL were modified to coat the fibers with polydopamine [41]. These scaffolds allowed HUVEC cells to attach well and spread with a high cell viability. Chuah et al. conjugated the polydopamine on PDMS surface to fabricate a substrate for long-term culture of mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) adhesion and proliferation [42]. This effect was attributed to the change in the surface wettability of PDMS and the presence of hydroxyl and secondary amines on the surface compared with uncoated surfaces. Polydopamine-coated substrates have also proven to be highly efficient in supporting the reprogramming and self-renewal of human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) under defined conditions [43].

Another method of altering polymer chemistry is via plasma treatment of the surfaces of interest. Plasma treatment creates ionized gases such as ions, free radicals, and electrons from electron and ion impact in an electric field. These ionized particles create oxidized and groups on the polymer surface by breaking chemical
bonds. In surface etching, inert gases such as argon are employed to remove impurities and increase surface roughness. In addition, plasma etching allows the alteration of surface reactivity by cross-linking polymer chains.

# **Effect of Biological Properties**

Although the physical and chemical properties of the biomaterial have an integral role in modulating cell behavior, biological features may be equally important if not so, because they represent the natural ECM. Thus, bioactive molecules such as adhesion ligands, growth factors, and enzymes may be physically entrapped, surface-immobilized, or covalently conjugated onto the substrate to resemble the ECM and control cell behavior.

# Commonly Used Ligands

Bioactive substrates can be produced by the surface immobilization of a large variety of ECM cell adhesion proteins such as FN, vitronectin, laminin, and collagen. With the advent of molecular biology tools, the amino acid sequences of the specific cell-binding sites of these proteins have been identified, which has led to the development of short peptide ligands for the modulation of critical cellular processes. The Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) tripeptide is a commonly occurring motif present in several cell adhesion glycoproteins; it mediates binding to specific members of the integrin family (FN and vitronectin bind via RGD to  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  integrins, respectively) [44]. The YGISR peptide derived from laminin binds to a family of nonintegrin cell adhesion receptors and can induce cell adhesion and motility [45]. Besides the RGD motif, substrates coated with short cell adhesion peptides are increasingly being employed to develop biomimetic substrates. Short peptides offer several advantages over entire ECM proteins. They are chemically defined and can be used in higher densities. They possess diverse functions because they can provide cell adhesion sites and matrix binding sites, promote self-assembly and growth factor binding, or a combination of all of these. Several new peptide ligands have been identified by using peptide libraries and de novo design. Overall, application of peptides instead of entire proteins eliminates immunogenic risks, facilitates conjugation without the loss of bioactivity, and improves cell adhesion and selectivity to the scaffold.

Cell surface proteoglycans have also been known to bind to proteins containing a large number of cationic amino acids. This finding has led to the generation of substrates modified with a positively charged surface.

# **Development of Bioactive Surfaces**

Based on the naturally occurring hydrophobic effect of proteins in solution, several strategies have been developed to immobilize either naturally occurring ECM proteins or ECM-derived peptides (cell adhesion ligands) by adsorbing them directly onto a substrate. Covalent conjugates of nonadhesive bovine serum albumin (BSA) and RGD peptide adsorbed via BSA onto the surface of tissue culture plates have supported cell adhesion [46]. The disadvantage of adsorption-based methods includes easy desorption of the bioactive molecules by other proteins such as antibodies that may be routinely employed in assay procedures. More important, protein adsorption may cause the burial of the active site of the adhesion ligand, rendering it inaccessible for cell binding. Furthermore, protein adsorption may constrain the peptide in a conformation that reduces its binding affinity [47].

Challenges of bioactive surface development have been overcome by new methods of protein/peptide immobilization in which peptides are covalently grafted onto surfaces that typically do not support cell adhesion. These techniques allow the precise control and quantification of ligand density. Furthermore, the inert nature of these substrates ensures that any cell adhesion observed can be attributed solely to the covalently bound peptide. Several methods have emerged for covalent grafting of proteins or peptides onto the surfaces. Carbodiimide chemistry is a widely used method to conjugate molecules covalently containing amine groups (proteins and peptides) with carboxylic acid—containing substrates [48]. However, carbodiimide chemistry is nonspecific and cannot target a particular reactive group on the biomolecule structure and the substrate. Therefore, the binding of peptide or protein chains to the substrate can occur at multiple locations, which can prevent them from assuming the correct configuration and affect the activity of the protein or peptide.

Click chemistry-based covalent grafting is being increasingly used, because the reactions are highly efficient, region-selective, and orthogonal in nature [49]. Photoinitiated reactions can also be used to bind ligands to the substrate. This technique involves functionalizing the ligand of interest with a heterobifunctional cross-linker containing a photoreactive group, which can be subsequently conjugated with the substrate upon exposure to light [50].

Probably the most significant advantage of using phototriggered reactions is the ease with which spatial organization of the ligands can be achieved in 2D and 3D substrates.

Bioactive surfaces with immobilized ligands of varying concentrations modulate cell response differently. For instance, human foreskin fibroblasts seeded on glycophase glass-modified substrates exhibit increasingly spreadout morphologies with higher ligand concentrations. Higher ligand concentrations also generate more focal contacts and stress fibers. These findings thus established that RGD spacing of 440 and 140 nm is sufficient to promote cell spreading and cell adhesion, respectively [51]. Glycophase glass-modified substrates specific for laminin demonstrated both cell attachment and spreading of different cell types via nonintegrin cell adhesion receptors. In contrast, surfaces containing adsorbed laminin supported only cell attachment [47].

Another approach to generating nonadhesive substrates derivatized with cell-specific ligands is to employ the nonadhesive polymer poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG). Graft copolymers of RGD-modified PEG and poly-L-lysine could undergo surface immobilization onto negatively charged surfaces via electrostatic interactions. These surfaces could then support the binding and spreading of human dermal fibroblasts [52].

Alkanethiolates bind to gold and silver monolayer surfaces and form SAMs. Alkanethiolates modified terminally with the biologically inactive oligo(ethylene glycol) (OEG) have been extensively used in studying the modulation of cell behavior by substrates based on mixed SAMs. Mixed SAMs consisting of alkanethiolates modified terminally with either RGD or OEG promoted cell attachment via the cell adhesive RGD or cell repulsion by the OEG regions [53].

Finally, chemisorption is an immobilization strategy inspired by the composition of adhesive proteins in mussels [39]. The coexistence of catechol (L-dopa) and amines (lysine) in mussel pads was crucial for adhesion. Therefore, dopamine, a naturally occurring catecholamine containing both catechol and amine functional groups, was used as a bioadhesive building block for multifunctional surface coatings. To immobilize proteins or peptides, a polymerized dopamine layer is first formed on the substrate, which can then immobilize the molecule of choice.

#### **Cell–Bioactive Surface Interactions**

The property of the underlying ECM and its corresponding ligands determine cell behavior and response. Thus, the desired application (to evoke cell adhesion and proliferation versus cell migration and differentiation) may be tailored by choosing and designing the appropriate ligand, which will enable an engineered cell response. This, in turn, can affect the substrate itself, similar to the cell–ECM adaptive behavior inherent in vivo. The effects of some ligands on various aspects of cell behavior are presented next.

#### Cell Adhesion

Cell adhesion and its natural outcome of cell spreading are the first interactions that occur between the cell and the ECM. Cells adhere to the underlying ECM via cell—substratum bonds, which are typically receptor—ligand complexes formed between adhesion receptors (such as integrins) and their ligands (such as FN). Features of the substratum such as ligand density have been shown to affect cell adhesion and spreading via intracellular mechanisms that have not been completely delineated.

The RGD motif in the ECM proteins is an important ligand for cell adhesion. The ability of the RGD peptide to affect cellular adhesion depends on its activity, which can be modulated by the presentation of cell-binding complementary domains. Because ECM molecules exhibit multiple integrin interaction domains, spacing between these domains affects cell adhesion and migration events. For example, cells cultured on recombinant FN fragment encompassing the seventh through 10th type III repeats that presented the Pro-His-Ser-Arg-Asn (PHSRN) and RGD sequences (FNIII<sub>7-10</sub>) in the correct structural orientation exhibited significantly higher adhesion strength and FAK activation versus surfaces modified with RGD ligand alone [54]. Interestingly, in the same study, separating the RGD and PHSRN ligands by a polyglycine linker did not improve the cellular adhesion strength compared with the FNIII<sub>7-10</sub> fragment, which underscores the importance of properly spacing ligands.

The immobilization strategy can also affect the integrin—ligand interaction. FN immobilization on an ammonia plasma-treated poly(tetrafluoroethylene) (PTFE) surface using glutaric anhydride promoted optimal display of the RGD motif, as opposed to a sulfosuccinimidyl-4-(*p*-maleimidophenyl)butyrate linker [55]. However, RGD peptide may not be the best choice of ligand in every case to promote cellular adhesion. In another study, the RGD, YIGSR, and IKVAV domains of the ECM protein laminin were grafted onto an aminated PCL surface [56]. The results revealed that the IKVAV sequence provided the highest cellular adhesion for human adipose—derived stem cells. Gauvreau and Laroche used their aminated PTFE surface to print different combinations of the cyclic RGD, cyclic Gly-Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (CGRGDS), and cyclic H-Trp-Gln-Pro-Pro-Arg-Ala-Arg-Ile (CWQPPRARI) peptides,

all derived from FN [57]. They found that a combination of GRGDS and WQPPRARI were most efficient in promoting the attachment, spreading, and proliferation of HUVECs.

The length of the ligand spacer arm can also influence ligand—receptor interaction. In one study, alginate gels were modified with RGD peptides of varying spacer arm lengths. The spreading of the primary fibroblasts was directly proportional to the number of glycine units in the spacer arm of the RGD peptides, up to 12 glycine units. Increasing the spacer length from 12 to 20 glycine units did not increase the cell spreading further [58]. Similarly, the type of the spacer used affects the binding affinity of the integrin receptor to the RGD ligand—polyproline spacer (compared with an aminoethoxyacetic acid or PEG-containing spacer), resulting in ligands with higher integrin-binding affinity and improved cell adhesion properties [59].

A large number of studies have been conducted to delineate the relationships among ligand density, spatial arrangement, and their effect on cellular adhesion. Previously, the effect of ligand density on cell adhesion was studied by varying the concentration of ligand solutions in which ligands were present ubiquitously on the substrates. Hepatocytes cultured on surfaces expressing interstitial ligands (laminin or collagen type I) or basement membrane (FN or collagen type IV) demonstrated an increased rate and degree of spreading at higher ligand densities compared with lower coating densities. This direct dependence on ligand density was attributed to the increased number and density of cell adhesion receptor—ligand bonds, which may generate forces that overcome cellular traction [60]. Alternately, the formation of focal contacts could be enhanced, leading to reorganization of the cytoskeleton. Initial cell adhesion was found to occur with an increase in actin microfilament (MF) mass and a concurrent, rapid cell-spreading phase. This was later followed by a slow rate of ECM-independent spreading. It was hypothesized that the MFs may have formed focal contacts with the ECM, which may provide the force for cell spreading. The fact that only a combination of cytoskeleton-disrupting drugs (targeting actin and microtubules) could inhibit cell spreading implies cytoskeletal redundancy, which means that one structural component can compensate for the other. Furthermore, the intracellular forces generated by focal contact formation may also be transmitted to the ECM [61].

Advanced fabrication techniques have enabled researchers to gain precise control over the arrangement of ligands in microsized and nanosized islands [62]. Contact printing can be used to prepare microsized islands of ligands of approximately equal size as FAs. On the other hand, receptor-sized ligand patterns can also be designed on substrates using techniques such as self-assembled nanoparticles, block copolymer micelle lithography, and electron beam lithography (EBL) [63]. By using such techniques, it has been shown that the formation of strong adhesive protein clusters requires extracellular adhesive ligands to be spaced closer than the critical value of around 60 nm [64].

Immobilized ligand gradients on substrates allow for the testing of a large range of ligand concentrations on a single substrate. A surface-immobilized osteogenic growth peptide (OGP) concentration gradient prepared by click chemistry was used to investigate osteoblast adhesion and proliferation. The highest cell adhesion occurred on areas of low OGP concentration (40–60 pmol/cm<sup>2</sup>), whereas cell proliferation was higher on OGP gradients at all concentrations compared with the free ligand control [65].

# Cell Motility

The migration of cells is an important aspect of cell behavior, especially during embryogenesis, organ regeneration, and other repair processes such as wound healing and angiogenesis. Main requirements for initiating cell migration are the breaking of existing cell—ECM bonds and the formation of new ones in the desired direction and at the next site of attachment on the substratum.

Studies on factors affecting cell motility such as ligand concentration have shown that the migration speed of human MSCs (hMSCs) on FN or collagen IV-coated surfaces has a biphasic dependence on ligand concentration. The maximal speed is attained at intermediate ligand density. This suggests that very low densities do not provide the traction needed for movement whereas extremely high densities confer strong cell adhesiveness that deters cell detachment from the substrate. Because the shear forces for cell detachment for FN and collagen are similar, it was also concluded that the strength or adhesiveness of the initial cell–substratum bond governed cell migration speeds [66]. Studies have also shown that the high ligand density reduces the cell migration rate on 2D surfaces. In contrast, cell migration on a 1D surface was found to be independent of ligand density [67]. The study concluded that contact guidance provided by the linear topographical cue compensates for the prohibitive effect of high ligand density on cell migration. Studies have shown that contact guidance can improve the cell migration rates. Interestingly, the cell migration in the 3D fibrillar matrix was similar to the 1D matrix and both depended on the myosin II contractility.

#### CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

The concentration gradient of ligands, particularly growth factors, has been studied to stimulate directed cell migration. Immobilized ligand gradients have been shown to stimulate directed keratinocyte migration [68]. In another study, a low-to-high concentration gradient of solid-phase heparin binding epidermal growth factor stimulated the migration of MSCs away from the cell source, which could potentially help in faster wound healing [69].

The initial bonds formed between the cell and ECM can also be affected by the affinity of the receptor to the ligand as well as the expression levels of the receptor itself. In one study, cell migration speed inversely depended on the expression and affinity of the integrin receptor. Maximal cell speed was achieved with intermediate ligand densities, integrin levels, and affinity. All of these parameters represent an optimal initial adhesiveness or an adequate number of cell–substratum bonds to support initial attachment followed by migration. Under conditions in which very few or too many cell–substratum bonds were formed, cells were observed to form short unstable lamellipodia or were too spread out to support movement. Interestingly, the maximal speed attained was found to be independent of ligand concentration, receptor expression levels, or affinity [70]. This suggests the involvement of other factors such as intracellular contractile force or the induction of intracellular signaling.

Because integrins have been shown to cluster and mediate downstream cytoplasmic signaling, the spatial arrangement of the ligand also influences motility. Murine fibroblasts were grown on surfaces that presented the YGRGD ligand either singly or in clusters while maintaining the same average ligand density for the entire surface. Cells showed higher adhesion strength and migration speeds when the ligand was presented in increasing cluster numbers compared with single ligands. Furthermore, the maximum speed attained by the clustered ligands was achieved with lower overall ligand densities compared with the higher ligand densities required when ligands were expressed singly. Finally, the presence of stress fibers and distinct FAs in cells exposed to the clustered ligand confirmed the importance of the orientation of the ligands in cell adhesion and motility [71]. Well-designed surfaces with precise control of ligand presentation and interligand distance allow for a mechanistic understanding of ligand-receptor interaction and its effect on cell migration. With the invention of nanotechnology tools, significant progress has been made in the design and fabrication of surfaces with precise and controlled ligand presentation. In a study, gold RGD-immobilized nanodots were prepared with 58 or 108 nm interligand spacing [72]. Fibroblasts formed stable FAs on the 58-nm spacing surface, which resulted in stationary cells. On the 108-nm spacing surface, however, the cells had higher migration rates, which were associated with the high turnover of FAs. Furthermore, the molecular properties of FAs were dissimilar on differently spaced ligands: e.g., the presence of zyxin, an FA protein, was significantly lower in FAs formed on the 108-nm spacing surface [72]. Another study showed that cells can sense ligand spacing variations as low as 1 nm and use this information to induce cell polarization and cell migration [73].

Integrin-mediated cell migration is the universal mechanism employed by cells with the exception of leukocytes. Leukocyte migration in 3D environments occurs independently of integrin-mediated migration. Instead, these cells migrate by the sole force of actin-network expansion, which promotes protrusive flowing of the leading edge. Integrin-mediated adhesion and migration are necessary only when cells need to overcome tissue barriers such as the endothelial barrier [74].

#### Cell Proliferation, Self-renewal, and Differentiation

Cell–ECM interactions can also modulate cell function, although the underlying mechanism remains unclear. Identification of critical parameters such as cell–cell contacts, key proteins, and intracellular tension will allow their incorporation into an artificial ECM that can stimulate desired cell function when necessary.

Because stem cell phenotype and fate are influenced by the interaction of cells with the niche, many studies have focused on investigating the effect of ECM ligand type, density, and spatial arrangement, which provide stimuli for directing the differentiation of stem cells into specific lineages. Similarly, self-renewal of stem cells is regulated by several ECM molecules. A study showed that although FN has a vital role in the proliferation and self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells (mES), excessive FN levels could result in cell spreading and differentiation [75]. Laminin-511 is another important ECM ligand that supports mES attachment, proliferation, and pluripotency [76]. Interestingly, this study showed that other forms of laminin, such as -332, -111, or -411, were not effective in maintaining cell adhesion and self-renewal [76]. Subsequent studies showed that recombinant laminin-511 supports attachment and proliferation and maintains the pluripotency of human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) as well as induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) by binding to  $\alpha_6\beta_1$ , an integrin that is frequently expressed by these cells [77]. Other integrins that can maintain the pluripotency of iPSCs include  $\alpha_V\beta_5$  integrin via vitronectin binding [78].

Stem cell differentiation is also affected by the type of ligand, density, and presentation. Studies have shown that a combination of ligands could modulate the differentiation of stem cells, which was not achieved with the use of a

#### 27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

single ligand molecule. For example, cell culture substrates functionalized with peptide ligands for  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_6\beta_1$  integrin efficiently supported the early mesodermal differentiation of hESCs. Cellular differentiation, however, could not be induced in the same cell culture medium with the use of either ligand alone [79]. The spatial presentation of ligands is another factor that could regulate cell differentiation. Increased lateral spacing of adhesion peptide induced the increased adipogenic differentiation of MSCs whereas the smaller spacing of ligands resulted in the osteogenesis of MSCs [80]. These results established the strong effect of nanometer-scale changes in ligand arrangement on stem cell differentiation.

Cell shape has been long proved to be a vital regulator of cell function. Bioactive surfaces can be tailored to modulate cell shape by controlling the ligand density or arrangement (to create patterns) on the surface. Hepatocytes cultured at very low initial densities (to minimize cell–cell interactions) on substrates coated with different densities of FN, collagen type I, laminin, or collagen type IV would exhibit a density-dependent alteration of cell shape. The lowest densities were sufficient to support cell attachment but not promote cell spreading, as evident from the rounded cell morphology. In contrast, higher densities mediated a shift to extensive cell spreading. These changes in cell shape were accompanied by corresponding changes in cell function. Rounded cells observed on low-density surfaces exhibited a lower degree of proliferation and bore signs of differentiation, such as the increased production of liver-specific proteins such as albumin. On the other hand, highly spread-out cells on high-density surfaces tended toward proliferation rather than differentiation [81]. The density of ligands influences the number of cell– ECM bonds formed and consequently cell shape. This, in turn, may regulate the switch between proliferation and differentiation via several possible mechanisms such as the clustering of the integrin receptors leading to cytoskeletal reorganization, upregulation of downstream signaling pathways, or the distribution of intracellular forces.

The effect of cell shape on function was also convincingly demonstrated when hepatocytes were grown on laminin-coated adhesive islands  $(2-80 \ \mu m)$  surrounded by nonadhesive PEG areas. Primary rat hepatocytes were restricted to these adhesive islands and adopted the underlying square or rectangular island morphology, as opposed to cells showing pleiomorphic forms when grown on nonpatterned adhesive surfaces. This confinement of cell shape led to increased cell differentiation (albumin secretion) with a concomitant reduction in growth. Because the ligand density was maintained over the various islands, this regulation of cell function could not be attributed to a lack of cell–ECM contacts but primarily to cell shape, and consequently triggered molecular pathways [22].

# Effect of Topography

Cells in tissues or organs respond to organized spatiotemporal stimuli. During the development of an embryo, the surrounding ECM provides a hierarchical organization of topography that ranges from meso to molecular scales. Topography, coupled with biochemical and physical cues, regulates cellular functions such as migration, adhesion, morphogenesis, differentiation, and apoptosis in a developing embryo [82]. Defined topographical cues allow the systematic study of cell—substrate interactions (termed contact guidance) and can also modulate cellular orientation and morphology that may in turn be extended to modify other cellular responses.

#### **Fabrication Techniques**

To study the effect of topography on cellular behavior, patterning techniques have been developed to create defined substrate topography at the micron scale. With further advancements in patterning techniques, topographical structures may be fabricated at the nanometer scale over larger areas and with greater ease [83]. Fabrication at nanometer dimensions is highly relevant because most in vivo structures are found at the nanometer scale, such as the 40- to 120-nm collagen fibrils of the basement membrane.

Several reviews have been published on common techniques used to generate topographically modified surfaces to study cellular behavior [84,84a]. Many techniques have been developed from photolithography. One of the first studies using photolithography to fabricate patterned structures involves coating a resist onto a surface and subsequently exposing it to UV light through a patterned mask [85]. Thus, a photochemical reaction occurs only at the exposed areas of the resist. These reacted areas of the resist are either retained or dissolved away when soaked in a developer solvent, depending on whether a positive or negative resist is used. Photolithography allows the facile fabrication of submicron-sized topography with great reproducibility over large areas. However, the size of the feature achieved is curtailed by the wavelength of light diffraction. This limitation may be overcome by EBL to fabricate fine features at the submicron level. However, this method is both expensive and time-intensive.

Technique	Materials That Can Be Patterned	Advantages	Disadvantages
Nanoimprinting	Thermoplastic polymers, polymer resists	One step patterning of thermoplastics Very high resolution (<50 nm) High throughput Cost-effective	Requires a master mold Requires etching step to transfer patterns for substrates other than thermoplastics
Photolithography	UV-sensitive prepolymers	Does not require a master mold Well-suited for low-resolution, UV–cross-linked hydrogel patterning	Low-resolution (micron range) Limited to hydrogel patterning unless combined with etching step or soft lithography
Hot-embossing	Thermoplastic polymers	One-step patterning of thermoplastics Cost effective	Requires a master mold
Injection molding	Thermoplastic polymers	Rapid and low-cost operation High throughput	Higher capital cost Limited to micron resolution Requires electroformed master dies [89]
Electron beam lithography (EBL)	Spin coated EBL resists such as poly(methyl methacrylate)	Excellent resolution (<10 nm) Master mold is not required High-nanoscale reproducibility	High capital cost Slow patterning Requires etching and embossing step to transfer patterns to cell culture substrate
Soft lithography (molding)	Polydimethylsiloxane, hydrogels, protein solutions	Simple process, cost-effective Applicable to wide range of materials	Requires a master mold Challenging to obtain nanoscale resolution

<b>TABLE 27.1</b>	Commonly Used	Two-Dimensional	Substrate	Patterning	Techniques for	Tissue E	ingineering and	Regenerative I	Medicine
	Applications								

Patterns obtained by photolithography may be transferred to elastomeric molds such as PDMS. This technique, known as soft lithography, allows structures as small as 30–50 nm to be fabricated [83]. Soft lithography can also be used to "stamp" patterns onto a surface; this is known as microcontact printing [86].

Polymer demixing, which is based on phase separation, can also generate nanoscale structures. For instance, polystyrene and poly(4-bromostyrene) were shown to demix spontaneously, producing islands that varied from 13 to 95 nm in height, depending on the ratio of polymer to solvent mixture [87]. Although this technique is simple and inexpensive, its main disadvantage is a compromise in precision.

Electrospinning [88] has emerged as a simple, efficient method to produce polymer fibers as scaffolds for cell and tissue engineering. Briefly, electrospinning uses a high-voltage field to overcome the surface tension of a polymer solution, to form fibers that are deposited onto a grounded surface. Electrospinning yields a nonwoven mesh that, if collected over a longer time, can form a nonwoven 3D scaffold. Alignment of the fibers can be accomplished by spinning the grounded surface at the same speed as the rate of fiber deposition (Table 27.1).

# Cellular Responses to Topographical Cues

The complex cross-talk among cell adhesion molecules and the ECM, intracellular and ECM-generated mechanical forces, and biochemical signaling molecules, elucidates a correlation between cell shape and function [90]. Control of cell morphology dictates cell behavior such as growth, differentiation, and survival. Topographical cues can induce changes in cell morphology, affecting cellular responses such as proliferation, gene expression, cytokine production, and cellular function. These responses vary depending on the cell type and the geometry and size of the topographical features; they are reviewed elsewhere [91,92]. It has been suggested that all cell types will attain a spherical morphology with a less-organized cytoskeleton when exposed to isotropic features 5 µm or smaller in dimension [93].

Disordered topographies on poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) substrates have an important role in cell differentiation and aggregation. Varying the degree of randomness in nanopit spacing was shown to affect cell adhesion and increase the expression of bone-specific ECM [94]. Interestingly, a range of semirandomness of the nanopits was shown to provide optimal enhancement in cell adhesion and promote bone-specific ECM.

#### 27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

The importance of the feature size was illustrated when smooth muscle cells were cultured on PDMS and PMMA surfaces presenting a range of different-sized grooves. Cells exhibited superior alignment along the grooves of surfaces with the smallest topographical features. Epithelial cells aligned on uniform grooves and ridges showed greater adhesion strength when the groove size was reduced from 4000 to 400 nm by exposure to fluid shear stress [95]. Illustrating the effect of feature size on cellular behavior, it was shown that cells grown on adhesive, patterned islands of varying sizes and shapes conformed to the underlying substrate geometry.

At the nanometer scale, uroepithelial cells cultured on hemispherical pillars or step edges demonstrated a stellate morphology compared with the spread-out morphology adopted when grown on smooth surfaces. The less-spread morphology also correlated with a decrease in cytokine production. Interestingly, uroepithelial cells cultured on parallel grooves and ridges showed only differences in morphology while cytokine production remained unaffected [96]. Furthermore, smooth muscle cells showed a decreased rate of proliferation when cultured on nanoimprinted gratings compared with those cultured on nonpatterned surfaces [97], which demonstrated the effect of nanotopog-raphy on cell morphology, proliferation, and migration. Muhammad et al. also showed that nanograting topography on titanium oxide substrate suppressed the proliferation of human coronary artery smooth muscle cells [98]. In another study, gratings with line widths of 350 nm and 1 and 10  $\mu$ m on PDMS were used to study the differentiation of hMSCs into neuronal lineage, with or without retinoic acid induction. The expression of microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2) was most significantly upregulated on 350-nm gratings compared with the 1- and 10- $\mu$ m gratings. A synergistic effect of nanotopography and retinoic acid was also observed on the upregulation of neuronal marker, compared with the induction of retinoic acid or of topographical alone [99]. These studies further illustrate the significance of topographical feature size on cellular responses.

Neuronal cells present a unique response to topography. Unlike other cell types, neurons have certain distinctive cell shape features. A typical neuron is a polarized cell with soma and dendrites on one end and axons on the other. Neurite alignment or outgrowth was shown to increase with increasing groove depth from 0.2 to 4  $\mu$ m. With isotropic pillars, hippocampal neurons could expand from pillar to pillar in a highly ordered manner when interpillar spacing was less than 40  $\mu$ m [100].

Multipotent neural stem cells (NSCs) are highly interesting to regenerative medicine and neuroscience studies because they are present in both developing and adult central nervous system. The NSCs are capable of selfrenewal and differentiation into astrocytes, oligodendrocyte, and neurons whereas the neural progenitors (NPCs) are lineage restricted and capable of fewer divisions. The major types of progenitors found in the adult human brain are ventricular zone NPCs, hippocampal neuronal progenitor cells, and white matter glial progenitors [101–108]. Many studies have expressed the significant influence of topography on NSC and NPC differentiation, proliferation, morphology, and even regional specification. Christopherson et al. demonstrated the application of electrospun polyethersulfone fiber mesh coated with poly-L-ornithine and laminin for the maintenance of rat hippocampusderived adult NSC [109]. That study showed that as the diameter of the fiber mesh decreased from 1452 to 283 nm, the proliferation and spreading of the NSCs increased and exhibited lower aggregation. Furthermore, the fibers were more efficient at promoting differentiation when the NSCs were cultured under differentiation conditions. Moe et al. studied the influence of different geometries and sizes in neural differentiation of primary murine NPCs (mNPCs) using a microarray of various topographical structures as a Multi-ARChitecture chip [110]. The customizable microarray contains distinct topographies of various architectural complexities, from nanometer to micrometer dimensions, with different aspect ratios and hierarchical structures on a single chip. They showed that anisotropic gratings significantly promoted differentiation of the stem cells into neurons. In contrast, glial differentiation was enhanced on isotropic holes and pillars. Interestingly, a similar trend of neuronal differentiation of hESCs was shown by Ankam et al. [111]. In their study, the anisotropic nano- and microgratings enhanced neuronal differentiation and maturation of hESCs. These studies showed that the geometry and size of a topographical structure can influence the lineage commitment of the stem cells, even when the cells were cultured under the same condition. Tan and Tann et al. took one step further to investigate whether topography affects regional specification in the derivation of midbrain dopaminergic neurons [112]. The gratings and hierarchical gratings, which were composed of a secondary set of nanogratings imprinted on top of microgratings, showed the most significant enhancement in the midbrain dopaminergic neuron derivation.

The aspect ratio of the height and width of topographical features is also an important parameter in guiding neurites. Different depths of grooved substrates have been studied systematically and have been shown to have an effect on cell morphology [113] and neuronal differentiation [114]. Neurons differentiated from mNPC on groove substrates of different depths (0.35, 0.8, 2, and 4  $\mu$ m) revealed that an aspect ratio of height to width > 1 would enhance neurite growth. With a height to depth aspect radio < 1, neurite alignment parallel to the grooves decreased. A model was proposed to hypothesize that the depth-sensing ability of the neurites is involved with the interplay

#### CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

between filopodia adhesion and neurite bending. Thus, the size of topographical features, ranging from nanoscale to microscale, has been shown to have a role in directing neural differentiation and neurite guidance.

In addition to stem cell differentiation, neurite guidance, and morphological changes, topographies affect and regulate other cellular responses. Cells stretched by the underlying substrate were observed to switch from an apoptotic mode to growth [115]. The geometry of the underlying substrate was also found to affect fibroblast attachment, in which the greatest adhesion occurred at ridges but diminished on nanosized pits and columns [116]. Differences in proliferation and adhesion can lead to differential endocytotic activities of cells on topographies. Human fibroblasts attempted to endocytose nanocolumns 100 nm in diameter fabricated using colloidal lithography [117]. Another work demonstrated that the topographical effects influence endocytosis, and in turn the efficiency of drug and gene delivery in hMSCs and fibroblasts [118]. The enhanced cellular endocytosis exhibited by the cells on micro-and nanopillars promoted the internalization of fluorescently labeled dextran, as well as the nonviral gene transfection of green-fluorescent protein encoding plasmid with lipofectamine. By optimization and careful design, various topographies can be applied to regulate drug and gene delivery and cell proliferation.

Corneal endothelial cells generally have low in vitro proliferation rates and are nonproliferative in vivo. However, studies demonstrate that appropriate surface topographical cues can induce higher proliferation rates in corneal endothelial cells [119] as well as in primary human corneal endothelial cells [120]. Furthermore, topographical cues increased the expression of the tight junction protein zona occludens 1 (ZO1) and promoted in vivo cell-like morphology [120]. The study also demonstrated that the donor-derived human corneal endothelial cells were able to memorize the topographical cues such that even after passaging, the cells could consistently express increased ZO1 and improve cell morphology.

Pathological changes to the microstructure of basement membranes can occur under pathological conditions. Fuchs endothelial dystrophy (FED) is one such disease that is characterized by the development of microdomes and pillars-like structures known as corneal guttata on the corneal endothelial basement membrane. Rizwan et al. characterized the guttata dimensions at various stages of FED disease and then developed synthetic guttata substrates as an in vitro disease model. This model was subsequently used to study the monolayer formation and migration of primary corneal endothelial cells on guttata-like microtopography [121]. This study is an example of how in vitro disease models can be used to mimic basement membrane microstructural changes and consequently to study the mechanisms underlying cell behavior in pathological settings.

Whereas many studies have demonstrated the significant influence of substrate topography on cellular responses, researchers have also been actively investigating the mechanisms underlying the topographical regulation of cell behavior. It has long been demonstrated that genetic expression can be influenced by surface topography. Human gingival fibroblasts aligned along 60-, 30-, and 15-µm grooves 5 and 10 µm deep on titanium-coated silicon demonstrated increased production of both cellular and plasma FN compared with nonaligned controls. The narrower grooves favored plasma FN whereas the wider grooves favored cellular FN [122].

How does topography affect gene expression? One working hypothesis is changes of integrin expression and/or clustering that subsequently affect FA signaling. The changes in hMSC integrin expression were studied using 350-nm patterned or unpatterned substrates [123]. A reduced expression of integrin subunits  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_V$ ,  $\beta_2$ ,  $\beta_3$ , and  $\beta_4$  was observed on nanopatterned substrates compared with unpatterned substrates. In addition, integrin expression was generally higher on TCPS than on PDMS substrates, which suggests that the substrate surface chemistry and stiffness were also contributing factors to integrin expression in hMSCs. Teo et al. showed that integrin-activated FAK is an early sensor and regulator of topography-induced hMSC differentiation [124]. FAK phosphorylation was required for topography-induced hMSC differentiation whereas FAK overexpression overruled the topographical cues in cell lineage bias. This work indicated a direct effect of FAK activity on topography-induced gene expression, explaining how hMSCs can sense and transduce topographical signals via FAK and cytoskeletal contractility to induce cell differentiation.

Actomyosin contractility could be another intracellular mechanism involved in topography-induced differentiation. Ankam et al. showed that high actomyosin contractility induced by a nanograting topography is crucial for neuronal maturation of hESCs during neuronal differentiation. Treatment of cells with the myosin II inhibitor (blebbistatin) and myosin light chain kinase inhibitor (ML-7) greatly reduces the expression level of MAP2 [125]. The mechanical signals are transduced through FAs via a mechanism involving vinculin, and into the contractile actomyosin cytoskeleton.

Another study identified zyxin as one of the molecular players involved in the topography-mediated modulation of cellular response [126]. When hMSCs were cultured on PDMS with 350-nm grating topography, downregulated zyxin expression led to smaller and more dynamic FAs. Because the association of zyxin with FAs depends on force, smaller zyxin-positive adhesions as well as their higher turnover rate suggest that the traction force in FAs on 350-nm topography is decreased. These changes led to faster and more directional migration on 350-nm gratings.

It also suggests that the 350-nm grating topography decreases intracellular tension. Interestingly, a higher turnover rate of zyxin was observed when cells were cultured on more compliant substrates [127]. Therefore, phenomenologically, the initial molecular response of a cell to nanotopography appears to mirror that of a compliant substrate.

Another crucial part of the mechanistic understanding of topography-induced differentiation is the effect on the stem cell differentiation efficiency and speed, and the crucial time period for applying topography to enhance stem cell differentiation. Chan et al. quantified the effect of topography on the neural differentiation of hPSCs during 21-day differentiation, and showed that gratings increased the rate of neural differentiation [128]. The group also compared the significance of a priming period in which the stem cells were cultured on the topography in maintenance media, with the actual contact of topography during the differentiation period. The hPSCs with both topography priming and topography contact during differentiation showed faster progress in differentiation compared with the culture with only the priming or topography contact during differentiation. The study demonstrated that topography contact is significant for topography-induced differentiation, and the effect of topography priming and topography contact is neural topography contact is neural differentiation.

In addition to stem cell–directed differentiation, a study showed that topography at the microscale can promote the direct conversion of fibroblasts into neurons [129]. When neuronal transcription factors Ascl1, Brn2, and Myt11 were overexpressed in murine fibroblasts, the fibroblasts could be transdifferentiated into functional neurons, the subtype of which depended on the topography of the PDMS substrate. The purity and conversion efficiency of the induced neurons (iN) were increased on micrograting substrates, whereas neurite branching was increased on microposts and decreased on microgratings. Compared with the reprogramming conducted on planar PDMS, the iNs reprogrammed on 5-µm microgratings showed upregulation of vasoactive intestinal polypeptide and down-regulation of thymus cell antigen 1 and bone morphogenetic protein 5, and coupled with microarray DNA analysis, reflected a more gamma-aminobutyric acid-ergic rather than glutamatergic phenotype [129].

Although that study sheds light on the impact of topography at the cytoplasmic level, another study linked extracellular physical cues to changes in the nucleus [130]. When the same hMSCs were cultured on PDMS with 350-nm grating topography, 2D gel electrophoresis and western blotting showed that A-type lamins and retinoblastoma protein were downregulated compared with hMSCs cultured on planar PDMS. The differentiation potential of the hMSCs was also altered. When the hMSCs were cultured in mixed media containing adipogenic and osteogenic cues, the adipogenic markers peroxisome proliferator activator receptor  $\gamma$  and low-density lipoprotein in hMSCs cultured on 350-nm topography were downregulated whereas the osteogenic markers osteocalcin and Runtrelated transcription factor 2 (Runx2) were upregulated compared with planar controls.

# **Electrically Conductive Substrate**

Bioelectricity is the electrical currents and electrical potentials generated by or occurring within living cells, tissues, and organisms. For example, neurons conduct signals by using electrical fields. Similarly, cardiac tissue is composed of aligned cells and cardiomyocytes, which conduct the electrical current that provides signals for cardiac contraction and blood flow. The heart consists of Purkinje fibers, which are electrically conductive and essential for the conduction system of the heart. Because electrical current is an indispensable part of cell and tissue function, electrically conductive substrates and scaffolds for tissue engineering applications can be designed to facilitate better cellular cross-talk and tissue regeneration. Commonly used naturally occurring biopolymers or synthetic polymer scaffolds are not electrically conductive. These materials can be rendered electrically active by combination with conductive components such as carbon nanotubes (CNTs), carbon nanofibers, and gold nanowires. Shin et al. showed that the addition of CNTs into gelatin hydrogels improved cardiac cell adhesion and maturation, and promoted cell–cell electrical coupling [131]. The cardiac cells also showed synchronous beating on these CNT-incorporated hydrogels. These effects depended on the CNT concentration in the hydrogel, which indicated that the appropriate amount of electrical conductivity in a scaffold is an important parameter. Limitations of these electrically conductive scaffolds components are that they are nonbiodegradable and their long-term in vivo effects are largely unknown, which could present challenges for in vivo transplantation. This limitation may be addressed to an extent by blending conductive polymers such as polyaniline and polypyrrole with the scaffold material solution before processing. Polypyrrole has been shown to degrade in aqueous conditions [132] and polyaniline, although nonbiodegradable, can be used to synthesize biodegradable copolymers [133].

Besides endogenous electrical signals, externally applied electrical stimuli have long been known to modulate cellular functions and tissue healing. In the 1960s, Bassett et al. demonstrated that the mechanism of bone formation in adult dogs could be altered by applying direct electrical currents of varying intensities [134]. Since then, a

#### EFFECT OF DIMENSIONALITY

multitude of studies have confirmed the effect of external electrical fields on the cellular function of several tissues including heart, lungs, skin, and vascular and neuronal tissue. Schmidt et al. showed that neurite outgrowth could be enhanced by applying exogenous electrical fields on cells cultured on electrically conductive substrates [135]. In their study, cells exposed to either a constant potential or a constant current applied through polypyrrole film exhibited significant and uniform improvements in neurite extension with no directional bias. In another study, Rowlands and Cooper-White showed that proper exogenous electrical stimulation could enhance the proliferation rate of smooth muscle cells but also lead to increased contractile protein expression [136]. Conducting polymer substrates (polypyrrole) doped with hyaluronic acid and coated with collagen IV and Matrigel were used to mimic the basement membrane of smooth muscle cells.

A combination of electrical stimulation and a unique extracellular microenvironment can also be used to modulate cellular differentiation, regenerate tissues, and achieve faster wound healing. Cells can sense electrical stimuli as well as the characteristics of the physical microenvironment such as topography and stiffness. Therefore, electrically conductive scaffolds can be used in conjunction with physical cues to take advantage of the beneficial synergistic effects of physical and electrical cues and thus obtain greater control of cellular fate.

#### Carbon Nanotube and Graphene Surfaces

Carbon coatings have been established as a new biocompatible material that has no biochemically adverse effects on cells in culture [137]. Since this discovery, several studies on CNTs, graphene, and graphene oxide (GO) have been investigated, which have demonstrated a high potential for modulating cellular functions. Each of these materials provides an intrinsic set of physical, electronic, chemical, and mechanical properties and provides nanoscale dimensionality, cues, and texture [93].

The effects of CNTs are controversial because some studies have shown cytotoxic effects whereas others have shown increased cell adhesion and proliferation. It has been postulated that the line between adverse and augmented effects is based on the CNT length, degree of dispersion, and purity [138]. Multiwalled CNT (MWCNT)-soaked collagen was shown to improve initial cell attachment and proliferation of 3T3 mouse fibroblasts greatly. Increased adhesion was attributed to enhanced filopodia that wrapped around the CNTs. Because alkaline phosphatase activities were similar between cells that adhered to MWCNT-covered collagen and bare collagen controls, no significant effect on cell differentiation was expected [139].

Single-walled CNT (swCNT) coatings on surfaces have proved to increase cell adhesion and cell spreading of MSCs. MSCs preferentially adhered to swCNTs; after 1 week of culturing, they began to cross over to neighboring swCNTs. This favorable adhesion demonstrates nanostructure-directed growth that can be applied to neuronal culturing [140]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that mES can differentiate into neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes on a multilayered swCNT surface, which raises the possibility of a new potential surface for neural interfaces [141].

Graphene and GO surfaces have demonstrated accelerated osteogenic stem cell differentiation of hMSCs. The effect of a graphene coating does not appear to change cell adhesion or morphology on SiO<sub>2</sub> [142]; however, a comparison between bare PDMS and pure graphene and GO showed increased hMSC adhesion and proliferation on the carbon surfaces [143]. The accelerated osteogenic differentiation can be attributed to the special  $\pi-\pi$  interactions, which allow for increased mineralization and an ability to preconcentrate osteogenic inducers such as dexamethasone and  $\beta$ -glycerol-phosphate [143]. GO has also demonstrated an increased capacity for absorbing serum proteins owing to its surface roughness and surface oxygen content [144].

A comparison of MWCNT, MWCNT/GO, single and multilayer GO, and reduced GO (rGO) on glass cover slips was performed using NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblast cells. The rGO and rGO/MWCNT had slightly increased cell adhesion after 48 h of incubation; however, the surfaces with MWCNTs had a larger cell area. The carbon-based materials exhibited an elevated amount of FAs, which implied a higher affinity for carbon versus the glass coverslip [145].

# **EFFECT OF DIMENSIONALITY**

Research aimed at gaining a fundamental understanding of tissue development or designing a new biomaterial has always employed substrates that mimic the ECM as closely as possible. However, one aspect that has been more difficult to imitate is the 3D nature of the tissue. In the in vivo microenvironment, cells are not only surrounded by other cells, they are encompassed by the ECM (between the cells or as a basement membrane) and its various components (growth factors and proteins).

# Importance of Three Dimensions

Culturing cells in a 3D environment promotes normal cell polarity, as opposed to a 2D culture in which cells are exposed to different upper and lower microenvironments, which results in an artificial cell polarity [26]. Growth on 3D substrates is not curtailed to a single plane. Hence the surface area over which cells can adhere and cell–cell communication can take place is enhanced. Because of the proximity of the cells to the ECM, the local concentration of important cytokines and enzymes may be greater than that distributed over a cell monolayer. Moreover, the presentation of ECM ligands to spatially oriented cells may afford the simultaneous stimulation of several signal transduction pathways [146], leading to greater control over cell behavior and function. Thus, 3D systems provide spatial regulation of the cells and also affect cellular responses to the physical and biochemical cues provided [147]. This may also lead to the remodeling of the ECM itself, thus modulating the dynamic reciprocity of the cell–ECM system more effectively. The significance of 3D culture versus 2D has been highlighted in many studies [148,149].

# Substrates for Three-Dimensional Culture

It has been demonstrated that experiments carried out on a planar, rigid substrate elicit results that may not be comparable to those obtained under in vivo conditions [146]. To obtain a more biomimicking in vitro microenvironment, sufficiently porous substrates are increasingly being developed that provide spatial freedom to allow the movement of cells as well as the transport of nutrients. In addition, cell adhesion ligands and growth factors are being incorporated to bestow adhesive and proliferative properties to these substrates to recreate the natural environment. Substrates that serve as 3D environments include polymer scaffolds, hydrogels, porous cellulose beads, electrospun scaffolds [150], 3D printed scaffolds [151] and decellularized tissue [152].

# Polymers for Three-Dimensional Scaffolds

Several types of synthetic polymers and naturally occurring biopolymers have been used to grow 3D tissues. Commonly used synthetic polymers include PEG, PLLA, poly(acrylic acid), and poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA). Synthetic polymers offer several advantages over naturally occurring biopolymers: they can be chemically defined and they are highly reproducible and xeno-free. They also offer opportunities for versatile chemical modifications and the tailoring of functional groups to facilitate the conjugation of different molecules of interest to the polymer backbone. However, synthetic materials have limited biodegradability and do not support the adhesion of all cell types. Short sequences of self-assembling peptides have been synthesized to mimic ECM proteins [153]. Naturally occurring biopolymers can also be used to fabricate scaffolds for 3D cell culture. Traditionally, collagen is the mostly commonly used 3D culture scaffold among biopolymer materials because it offers easy cell encapsulation and forms a hydrogel at 37°C in a gentle environment that does not damage the encapsulated cells. Alginate, gelatin, chitosan, gellan gum, and hyaluronic acid are among other naturally derived materials that have been used successfully for 3D cell culture [154].

These materials can be fabricated into 3D cell culture scaffolds by employing a variety of methods, depending on the requirements of specific tissue growth. Commonly used 3D scaffold fabrication methods are discussed next.

# Preparation of Three-Dimensional Scaffolds

# Hydrogel Scaffolds

Hydrogels are among the most commonly used material-processing techniques for 3D scaffold preparation and consist of a network of cross-linked hydrophilic polymer chains that can absorb water. Both synthetic and natural biopolymer materials can be fabricated into hydrogels that bear close resemblance to the tissues in terms of mechanical properties and water content [155]. Three important properties of hydrogels that influence 3D cell growth include the porosity, biodegradability, and source of the material. High porosity leads to more efficient cell infiltration and nutrient delivery to the inner sections of the 3D scaffold. If the hydrogel is biodegradable, it allows cells to remodel their microenvironment, which ultimately improves tissue growth. In general, bioactive materials (e.g., gelatin, collagen, and silk) promote cell adhesion, proliferation, and tissue growth versus synthetic material hydrogels (e.g., PEG hydrogel). However, they are poorly defined and inherent batch-to-batch variability confounds the

effects of the scaffold on cell functions. Hydrogels prepared with short, biodegradable, synthetic peptides that mimic extracellular proteins are increasingly being studied as fully defined 3D scaffolds [156].

#### **Three-Dimensional Printed Scaffolds**

3D printing involves the laying down of successive layers of material in additive manufacturing to form 3D shapes, which enables better control of pore morphology, size, and matrix porosity compared with other fabrication methods. With the help of computer-aided design and by using patient medical imaging data, 3D-printed scaffolds can be developed with an intricate design that are patient-specific. However, only a limited number of materials can be processed in 3D printers. Traditionally, 3D printing has been used to print molten materials such as metals, ceramics, and plastics. To fabricate scaffolds for tissue engineering, processes have been modified to print commonly used tissue engineering scaffold materials such as PCL, PLGA, and PEG. The ink for 3D printing can be used in two different forms: with or without cells. Once the material is deposited, it can be cross-linked by different methods such as heat, UV light, or binder [157]. 3D printing with inks containing cell suspensions is particularly interesting owing to its ability to fabricate cell-seeded scaffolds in a single step. The material needs to meet a number of requirements to be suitable for the 3D printing of scaffolds. It should possess suitable rheological properties to enable the deposition of strands of various thicknesses. Second, after deposition, the material should be mechanically strong enough to hold its shape until cured. Finally, the swelling of the material should be known so as to accommodate changes in the size of the printed strands. Schuurman et al. studied the concentration of gelatin methacrylate (GelMA) precursor, UV dose, and the incorporation of viscosity-enhancer to determine the parameters for the successful fabrication of 3D-printed scaffolds of gelatin strands [151]. 3D bioprinting also permits the fabrication of tissues with multiple cell types. Duan et al. printed mechanically robust, living trileaflet heart valves that contained aortic valve leaflet interstitial cells as well as aortic root sinus smooth muscle cells using alginate/gelatin bioinks [158].

# Electrospun/Nanofibrous Scaffold

Electrospinning has evolved as a promising technique for fabricating fibrous scaffolds for 3D culture. This method produces nonwoven materials with fiber diameters ranging from a few nanometers to over 1 µm. In a typical electrospinning process, a polymer solution or melt is forced through a needle by using an electrostatic field, resulting in the formation of a jet that breaks up to produce fibers of adjustable diameter. The fibers are collected on a grounded substrate. Electrospun nanofibers are similar to native ECM in terms of morphology, which has led to their popularity as tissue engineering scaffolds [150]. A wide range of scaffold materials can be processed into scaffolds by electrospinning. A few limitations associated with electrospinning include poor cell infiltration and migration as a result of the close packing of scaffold fibers, the toxicity of the residual solvent, and the low mechanical strength of the scaffolds for load-bearing applications. Several strategies have been used to produce electrospun scaffolds with large pore sizes. These include the fine-tuning of electrospinning parameters [159] using sacrificial materials as porogens [160] and electrospinning in wet media [161].

# **Decellularized Tissue**

Synthetic 3D scaffolds are an improvement over 2D scaffolds because they provide an in vivo—like microenvironment for promoting cell functions and tissue growth. However, they are lacking in two important aspects. First, synthetic scaffolds do not recapitulate the complete ECM protein composition and ultrastructure of the microenvironment. Second, they do not contain blood vessels, which are essential for large organs such as the heart and liver. Without the presence of vasculature in large synthetic scaffolds, the delivery of nutrients to cells farther from the surface of scaffolds becomes difficult when the scaffold size approaches that of organs such as heart or liver. These limitations of synthetic scaffolds pioneered the use of decellularized tissues and organs as scaffolds for 3D cell culture.

The cell-free organ is actually a combination of blood vessels and ECM secreted and remodeled by the native cells. By using the decellularized tissue or organ as a scaffold, the benefit of nature's own platform can be manipulated to engineer a new organ. However, it is essential that the methods employed for cell removal preserve the delicate structure of the ECM while ensuring complete cell removal from the organ or tissue. The choice of chemical agent to be perfused into the tissue or organ for decellularization depends on several factors such as tissue or organ density (e.g., dermis versus adipose tissue), the number of cells in the tissue or organ (e.g., liver versus tendon), the lipid content (e.g., brain versus urinary bladder), and the thickness (e.g., dermis versus pericardium) [162]. Every cell removal agent and technique will alter the ECM composition and cause some degree of ultrastructure disruption; however, efforts must be taken to minimize these undesirable effects. For example, detergents are effective agents

#### 27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

for cell removal because they solubilize cell membranes; however, they can also dissociate proteins in the ECM. Another challenge is the complete removal of the cell removal agent from the decellularized organ, because residual traces can damage the seeded cells [152]. Decellularization using physical forces has also been studied. The freeze-thaw process is a promising strategy for lysing cells without the loss of ECM proteins. However, postprocessing is required to remove the lysed cells from the tissue or organ. Furthermore, freeze-thawing can produce minor alterations in the ultrastructure of ECM [163]. Flynn et al. used the freeze-thaw process successfully to provide an inductive microenvironment for the adipogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells [164].

# Development of Three-Dimensional Culture and Materials

#### **New Materials**

Numerous smart materials have been designed that incorporate unique material properties that benefit the 2D as well as 3D cell culture. These materials include stimuli-responsive materials that respond to external stimuli such as temperature, light, or pH, bioresponsive materials, shape memory polymers, double-network or interpenetrating network hydrogels, self-assembled materials such as peptide hydrogels, and photodegradable materials with spatiotemporal control of material degradation (Table 27.2). pH-sensitive materials are polyelectrolytes that contain weak acidic or basic groups, which either accept or release protons in response to changes in pH. In one study, pHsensitive hydrogel scaffolds improved cell function, which was attributed to their ability to swell or contract in response to pH changes that modulated oxygen transport and cell infiltration [165]. Lei et al. fabricated a fully synthetic thermoresponsive hydrogel for the 3D culture of hPSCs [166]. These thermoresponsive scaffolds made of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-co-poly(ethylene glycol) could support the long-term and serial expansion of multiple human pluripotent stem cell lines with a high expansion rate. Moreover, the same hydrogel scaffolds supported the directed differentiation of stem cells. In another study, magnetic field-responsive hydrogels were fabricated by impregnating alginate scaffolds with magnetic particles; these scaffolds were seeded with aortic endothelial cells [167]. The cells were able to reorganize into cellular vessel-like structures in magnetically stimulated scaffolds without supplementing growth factors. In contrast, the cells formed sheets or aggregates in the nonstimulated (control) scaffolds. Hybrid cross-linking can also impart new properties to materials. GelMA is a commonly used photocurable hydrogel that has shown promising results in numerous tissue engineering applications [168]. However, it lacks mechanical strength and has limited control over the biodegradation rate. Gelatin is known to gel physically at low temperatures. In a study, this property of gelatin was exploited and GelMA precursor solution was UV-cross-linked after it had gelled at a low temperature. This new material with hybrid crosslinking (termed GelMA+) showed more than eightfold improvement in material strength and greater control over the enzymatic biodegradation rate (Table 27.2) [169].

#### New Technology Development

Advances in 3D cell culture have been made possible by the concurrent development of technologies that aided several aspects of 3D tissue engineering, such as control of the 3D microenvironment, fabrication of scaffolds for 3D culture, imaging of cellular interactions with the 3D microenvironment, and the large-scale manufacture of cells [179]. For example, technologies such as 3D printing, electrospinning, polymer demixing, microencapsulation, and microfluidic 3D cell culture have enabled the development of 3D scaffolds with an ECM-mimetic microenvironment and a controlled pore size. 3D printing technology has made feasible the fabrication of vasculature within the scaffolds by using 3D-printed sacrificial sugar templates in the hydrogel scaffold [180].

Characterizing cellular interactions with the 3D environment remains challenging because high-resolution 3D imaging is more complicated than 2D imaging. New techniques are required to comprehend the complex cellular interactions fully in 3D. CLARITY is a technique that transforms 3D tissue into a 3D nanoporous hydrogel-hybridized form that is optically transparent and macromolecule-permeable [181]. Superresolved fluorescence microscopy is a set of imaging techniques that offer nanoscale resolution by bypassing the diffraction limit of light, which is not achievable with conventional light fluorescence microscopy. This technique can also be used to image the 3D morphology of nanoscopic cellular structures [182].

Microfluidic platforms have given rise to the rapid generation of cell-laden microspheres for 3D culture. Toh et al. used a microfluidic platform to culture hepatocytes in a 3D environment. This system was used to test dosedependent drug toxicity in vitro and predict in vivo hepatotoxicity [183]. Headon et al. generated size-controlled, biofunctionalized microgels for cell encapsulation using a microfluidic platform with precise control over the sphere size [184]. Alginates can be cross-linked in a salt bath in an environment that is gentle to cells. Therefore, alginates

Material Property		Example Materials	Application	References
	Stimulus			
Stimuli-responsive	рН	pH-sensitive monomer DMAEMA-HEMA	Enhanced angiogenesis and tissue remodeling	[165]
	pH + temperature	SMO-PCLA-PEG-PCLA-SMO block copolymer	Bone tissue engineering	[170]
	Stress	PEG-poly(isocyano peptide)	Critical stress-mediated control of stem cell commitment	[171]
	Magnetic field	Hydroxyapatite (HA)-collagen ferrogel	Bone tissue engineering	[172]
	Temperature	Hyaluronic acid-p(NIPAM)	Adipose tissue engineering	[173]
Bioresponsive	Enzyme	PEG-heparin	Nerve regeneration	[174]
	Glucose	Chitosan-HA	Adipose tissue	[175]
Shape memory mater	rials	Alginate-based Cryogel scaffold	Injectable hydrogels for cell transplantation	[176]
Interpenetrating poly (IPN)/hybrid materia	mer network ıls	IPN of dextran and gelatin	Vascular tissue engineering	[177]
Self-assembled materials		Fmoc-FF and Fmoc-RGD—based short peptide hydrogel	Three-dimensional culture of human dermal fibroblasts	[153]
Photodegradable materials		Photodegradable poly(ethylene glycol)	Chondrogenic differentiation of encapsulated stem cells	[178]

TABLE 27.2 Some Examples of Materials for Three-Dimensional Cell Culture and Tissue Engineering

PEG, poly(ethylene glycol); DMAEMA, N',N'-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate; HEMA, 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate; SMO, sulfamethazine oligomers; PCLA, poly(epsilon-caprolactone-co-lactide); pNIPAM, poly(N-isopropylacrylamide); Fmoc-FF, fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-diphenylalanine; Fmoc-RGD, fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-arginylglycylaspartic acid.

have commonly been used to microencapsulate cells for 3D cell culture. The cells can be mixed with alginate precursor and dispensed into the aqueous salt solution using needles or droplet microfluidic platforms [185]. 3D culture has been applied to the field of stem cell technology as well. Pluripotent stem cells can be differentiated into different cell types within a 3D cell culture scaffold [186]. In addition, stem cells can self-organize into 3D tissues that can selfrenew and differentiate when appropriate media, cell culture substrates, and biochemical cues are employed. These are called organoids and mimic some of the functions of real organs with applications as model organs for drug testing and other uses [187].

Finally, bioreactors are increasingly being developed for large-scale 3D cell culture. Bioreactors can have several designs, such as rotating wall vessels, direct-perfusion systems, hollow fibers, and spinner flask bioreactors [188]. At the core of a bioreactor is usually a small cylindrical chamber composed of a polymer scaffold that supports cell adhesion and growth as well as nutrient delivery. The bioreactor needs to maintain high levels of humidity and oxygen for optimum cell growth. An overview of the 3D technology development for cell culture and tissue engineering is provided in Fig. 27.1.

# Cellular Responses to Three-Dimensional Substrates

Most cells in the in vivo environment are surrounded by other cells and the ECM in the third dimension. 3D substrates provide a more physiologically relevant environment for cell growth and tissue development. Although 2D cell culture methods have been well-established for many cellular studies, 2D culture methods cannot fully recapitulate the natural 3D environment. Therefore, in vitro 3D cell culture tests have been proposed to provide more predictable and reliable analysis with more relevance to the corresponding in vivo responses [189,190].

Researchers have discovered striking differences in cell responses, such as cell adhesion and cell migration, between 2D and 3D microenvironments [148]. Studies of cell—substrate interactions in the 3D environment become increasingly important for tissue engineering and the development of in vitro drug-testing models [179].



FIGURE 27.1 Overview of technology development for 3D cell culture tissue engineering. 3D, three-dimensional; ECM, extracellular matrix; *IPN*, interpenetrating polymer network; *PDMS*, polydimethylsiloxane.

# **Cell Adhesion**

Cell morphology is one of the major differences observed when comparing cells in 2D and 3D substrates [148,191]. On 2D substrates, cells are flat as either individual cells or a monolayer. The cells can adhere and spread in the horizontal x–y plane but they cannot spread in the vertical z dimension. Similar to cells on the basement membrane in vivo, the cells cultured on 2D surfaces can adapt an apicobasal polarity. The polarity and 2D cell morphology are relevant for some cell types, such as epithelial cells and endothelial cells. However, most mesenchymal cells assume a stellate morphology and polarize only during migration [192]. The geometries of 2D or 3D substrates also determined if integrin-mediated adhesions to the ECM form on only one side of the cell or on multiple planes around the cell surface. The difference in cellular responses with 2D substrates compared with 3D culture could arise from these variations in the spatial distribution of integrin–ECM adhesions [148]. Variations in matrix stiffness, structural diversity, and topography of the extracellular environment could affect the recruitment of proteins to adhesion sites, leading to the variations observed in different 3D contexts [193,194]. Although imaging FAs in 3D contexts is challenging because of the decreased size or intensity of adhesions, advances in imaging methods have enabled FA imaging in 3D matrices [195,196]. Thus, quantitative studies and models can be developed to provide insight into the mechanism of cell adhesion in 3D matrices.

# **Cell Migration**

Advances in materials science, scaffold fabrication, biological tools, high-resolution imaging, and force traction measurement [197,198] have facilitated groundbreaking research in studying cell migration on 3D substrates. Studies on cell migration on 3D cell culture systems and in vivo conditions have revealed several differences compared with cell migration in 2D, including their morphology and mechanical and signaling control [148,199].

#### EFFECT OF DIMENSIONALITY

Using microphotopatterning lines, Doyle et al. showed that cell migration in both 1D and 3D is rapid and uniaxial, and the cell migration is independent of ECM ligand density but dependent on myosin II contractility and microtubules. The 1D and 3D migration were also characterized by an anterior microtubule bundle with a posterior centrosome [67]. Other researchers also illustrated the existence of multiple modes of 3D migration, including lamellipodial, lobopodial, and amoeboid migration, in which cells use different types of cell protrusions [200,201] and collective cell migration [202]. Another study showed that the classic polarized patterns of signaling, such as Rac and Cdc42, which guide migration in 2D models, are not essential for efficient 3D migration [199,202]. In contrast to lamellipodia-based migration on 2D, polarization signal molecules at the leading edge of 2D motile cells are not present in 3D lobopodia cell migration. Meanwhile, various studies showed that physical properties of the ECM such as stiffness, cross-linking, and pore size affect 3D migration [203,204]. Cells can also detect the porosity and the elasticity, linearity, or nonlinearity of the matrix, and adjust their migration mode accordingly [201].

# Cell–Extracellular Matrix Reciprocity

3D culture also governs dynamic cell—ECM reciprocity, as seen in the response of cells to mechanical stress during matrix remodeling. In the case of fibroblasts grown on collagen matrices, this involves an increased density of collagen fibrils. As the fibroblasts exert a mechanical force on the underlying matrix, these collagen fibrils are either aligned or randomly oriented, depending on whether the matrix is restrained to the dish (scenario mimicking 2D culture) or free-floating, respectively. Alignment of the fibrils consequently affects cell morphology as stimulation with PDGF yields fibroblasts with a stellate morphology and isometric tension. In contrast, fibroblasts grown on the floating matrices (lack of tension in the matrix) adopt neuronal extensions and a dendritic network [204a].

The intrinsic state of the cell can also influence ECM adhesion by regulating integrin gene expression [205]. A study used a small interfering RNA-based screen of over 300 chromatin modifiers to identify functional interactions among different proteins that regulate differentiation of human epidermal stem cells [206]. One network of genetically interacting factors was found to affect distinct but functionally related genes, including those encoding  $\alpha_6$  and  $\beta_1$  integrins and other proteins involved in mediating interactions with the ECM. The study showed that the chromatin modifiers that regulate differentiation are also involved by affecting genes encoding  $\alpha_6$  and  $\beta_1$  integrins and other ECM-interacting protein, thus influencing stem cell interactions with the ECM. The study showed that epigenetic strategies are employed by the epidermal stem cells to protect from differentiation by adjusting cell–ECM adhesion.

#### Effect of Externally Applied Mechanical Stimuli

Cells reside in a dynamic environment in the body and are sensitive to changes in the microenvironment. Mechanical forces applied on the cell–polymer construct will often modify the cellular response, which renders cell–polymer interactions in the presence of mechanical stimuli an important area of study (Fig. 27.2).

Mechanical stimuli are particularly important in tissue engineering and regeneration, such as cardiovascular grafts, bone, cartilage, and tendon/ligament engineering, because different types of dynamic or static mechanical stresses are experienced by various tissues. The polymer substrate should possess physical properties that match the mechanical properties of the implant site. It should also have the ability to support the mechanical force exerted on the implanted graft at the site, such as pulsating blood flow through arteries and weight-bearing bone grafts.

In vitro systems have been developed to model the effect of mechanical stimuli in mechanical conditioning of the engineered tissues to enhance tissue functions. The biomimetic mechanical stimuli applied could be in the form of compressive, tensile, or shear force [207] (e.g., compressive stress on chondrocytes [208] or fluid shear stress on endo-thelial cells [209]). One type of experimental setup involves seeding cells on a flexible substrate such as an elastic membrane and applying a defined, stepwise, or cyclic strain to the substrate [210–212]. Bioreactors have also been designed to apply mechanical stimuli to induce functional maturation of the engineered tissue for tissue regeneration [213]. With the advancement of lab-on-chip technologies, microfluidic platforms have also been used to study how dynamic mechanical forces can affect cell—substrate interactions. Microfluidic chips have been designed to study various aspects of cell responses and to manipulate and analyze cells [214–216], cell migration [217], stem cell differentiation [218], and in vivo modeling [219].

The application of mechanical forces could trigger intracellular signaling via mechanosensors such as the actomyosin cytoskeleton and mechanosensitive ion channels [220,221]. The applied mechanical stimuli can also transduce signals to cells and hence direct stem cell differentiation via mechanosensing pathways such as RhoA signaling. For

27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS



FIGURE 27.2 Effects of mechanical stress on cellular behavior. ECM, extracellular matrix; FAK, focal adhesion kinase; MAPK, microtubuleassociated protein kinase; MTOC, microtubule organizing center.

example, when fluid flow is applied to C3H10T1/2 murine MSCs, RhoA and Rho kinase (ROCK)II are activated, which enhances Runx2 expression for commitment to osteogenesis [222].

# Mechanotransduction

When a force is applied to cells growing on substrates, the cells sense the changes in the physical environment and transduce the mechanical signals to intracellular biochemical signals by a mechanism called mechanotransduction [223,224]. Mechanotransduction involves a series of complex and dynamic interactions between different cellular organelles and components [225] such as integrins, FAs, and the cytoskeleton, which collectively have important roles in biophysically induced cellular behaviors [225–227]. Various indirect and physicochemical mechanisms such as calcium signaling [228] and mechanosensitive ion channels [229] also contribute to mechanotransduction [92,207,230].

The class of integrin adhesion receptors is one of the cellular mechanosensors for mechanotransduction [231], as discussed previously. FAs are one of the most important integrin-mediated cell-matrix adhesions involved in mechanotransduction [225,232]. They are composed of a large complex network of adhesion molecules [233], including talin, vinculin, and FAK. FAs link the actin cytoskeleton to transmembrane integrins [11,234]; hence, the formation and maturation of FA are driven by cross-talk between both components [225].

FA mechanosensing has been shown to be crucial for mechanotransduction and force-mediated stem cell differentiation. FA maturation and actin polymerization of MSC were promoted in response to micropillar substrates [235]. The phosphorylation of FAK was also essential for topography-induced differentiation [124]. By inhibiting FAK activity, topography-induced differentiation was abolished. Various independent studies collectively demonstrated that FAK activity and cytoskeletal contractility have an essential role in topography-induced differentiation. Force generation in the cytoskeleton is required for cell adhesion to ECM. The contractile cytoskeleton consists of actin, myosin, microtubules, and intermediate filaments. Increasing evidence has demonstrated the significance of the cytoskeleton in stem cell differentiation [123,125,236,237].

Contractile forces in nonmuscle cells are generated by nonmuscle myosin II. Cells use actomyosin contractility for a two-way interaction with the ECM. Engler et al. showed that matrices of different elasticity could regulate the differentiation of MSCs into different lineages [236]. The specific nonmuscle myosin II inhibitor blebbistatin blocked all elasticity-directed lineage specification without significantly affecting cell function and shape, thus providing evidence of cytoskeletal force generation in ECM sensing. This tension-mediated signaling is reflected by the reorganization of actin MFs or stress fibers to reflect surface features, such as their observed alignment to nanogratings [99,125,226,238]. This cellular force sensing also modulates Rho GTPase levels and MAP kinase activity for downstream stem cell gene regulation.

Rho GTPases are molecular switches that control various signal transduction pathways in cells [239] including the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 are the three best-characterized members of the Rho GTPase family. Many studies illustrate the importance of Rho in regulating the actin cytoskeleton in mechano-transduction. Increasing ECM stiffness or force application activates Rho [240], which, through a series of reactions, eventually promotes actomyosin stress fiber assembly [241], significantly changing the mechanical properties of the cell [242].

Using micropatterned islands of FN to control cell spreading, it appears that cell shape controls the osteogenicadipogenic lineage commitment of MSCs through RhoA-dependent actomyosin contractility [237]. Adipogenesis is induced in MSCs confined to small ECM islands, whereas osteogenesis is induced in MSCs cells, with extensive spreading and higher cytoskeletal tension on large ECM islands. Inhibition of actin polymerization and tension by cytochalasin D or inhibition of ROCK activity mimics the phenotype of poorly spread cells, resulting in adipogenesis.

The intricate physical network described earlier sets the framework for the physical continuity spanning from the ECM to the nucleus. Mechanical signals such as topographical perturbations from the ECM can be transduced by structural alterations in the network to elicit differential gene expression in stem cells [243–245].

Whereas the actin MFs are anchored to the ECM through the integrins, they are also physically connected to the nuclear membrane in a coherent actomyosin cytoskeleton. Nesprins are a class of large outer-nuclear membrane proteins that bind actin MFs through their Klarsicht, ANC-1, Syne homology (KASH) domains [246,247], which are physically connected to the Sad1p, UNC-84 (SUN) domain protein of the inner nuclear membrane, forming a KASH–SUN complex to mechanically bridge the actin stress fibers to the nuclear membrane lamins. The nuclear lamina has an important role in mechanotransduction [248] and consists of a meshwork of intermediate filaments and lamin proteins that are physically associated with both the KASH–SUN complex [249,250] and the chromatin [245,251]. The linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton (LINC) complex, which includes the nuclear lamin and SUN binding to KASH domain of the actin-associated Nesprins, was shown to link both the nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton. The presence of the LINC complex demonstrates that the mechanical forces arising owing to cell-substrate interactions and the substrate rigidity can physically affect the structural organization of the nucleus [246,252], potentially resulting in changes in gene expression. Forces that are transmitted to the nuclear scaffolds via the LINC complex may regulate critical DNA enzymes or factors. Indeed, the direct physical connection between the cell nucleus and cell–substrate interactions was illustrated in an earlier study [253]; the disruption of intermediate filaments leads to the mechanical decoupling of the integrins and nuclei.

#### Cellular Responses in Modifying Extracellular Matrix

The ECM forms the underlying substrate for cell adhesion, growth, differentiation, and mechanical support. It is known that connective tissue cells adapt their ECM to changes in mechanical load, such as in bone remodeling, or wound healing. In turn, changes in the ECM content can influence the performance of the tissue, such as the stiffness of heart and vasculature and the strength of bone and cartilage. Experimental evidence confirms that specific ECM proteins are regulated by mechanical stimuli in vivo. For example, tenascin-C and collagen XII are two ECM components associated with fibrillar collagen in tissues bearing high tensile stress such as tendons, ligament, periosteum, arterial smooth muscle, and heart valves [254–256].

In cardiac tissue, fibroblasts are the principal cell type responsible for secreting components of the ECM. In vitro studies using rat cardiac fibroblasts have shown long-term ECM component changes in response to variations in mechanical load. In response to both cyclic and static uniaxial stretch, an increase was obtained in both collagen I

and collagen II messenger RNA expression [257]. When the rat cardiac fibroblasts were cyclically stretched for various durations, mitogen-activated protein kinase was most rapidly activated and collagen I expression became most abundant [258].

# CONCLUSION

Cell-substrate interactions are centrally important to many biological processes and have been investigated extensively from various angles. Discussed in the context of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, this chapter covers the basics and general principles of this tremendously complex phenomenon. The examples cited here reiterate the importance and relevance of elucidating the interactions of cells with substrates (Fig. 27.3). The aim of this review is to provide a starting point for readers to design optimal substrates for specific tissue development. Despite advanced developments in fabrication and analytical technologies, many challenges remain for a deeper understanding of the cell-substrate phenomenon. The heterogeneous nature of the cell population in any tissue remains a challenge. Technologies for single-cell analysis and high-throughput assays have provided much knowledge. As the quality and quantity of the data improve with new characterization techniques, automated image analysis, efficient data analysis, and data mining of the massive data generated from high-throughput assays and computational modeling may become possible for developing a meaningful theoretical framework to describe and predict these cell-substrate interaction phenomena. The ability to fabricate a biomimicking environment to analyze cell-substrate interactions at the single-cell level in situ will also provide important insight: for instance, in uncoupling the effects of cell-cell communication from cell-substrate interactions. Finally, as the field of regenerative medicine continues to be fueled by advances in stem cell biology, studies of cell-substrate interactions, particularly with stem cells, transdifferentiation, and iPSCs, will be more important and rewarding in understanding tissue regeneration and disease development.



FIGURE 27.3 Schematic depicting the different properties of a substrate that influence cellular behavior. 3D, three-dimensional.

# Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge funding support from the NIH (UH3 TR000505), Guangdong Innovative and Entrepreneurial Research Team Program No. 2013S086, the Global Research Laboratory Program (Korean NSF GRL; 2015032163), the University of Waterloo Startup Fund, and the NIH (R01 HL130274-01A1).

# References

- Lutolf MP, Hubbell JA. Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(1):47–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1055.
- [2] Rosenbloom J, Abrams WR, Mecham R. Extracellular matrix 4: the elastic fiber. FASEB J 1993;7(13):1208–18.
- Kleinman HK, Cannon FB, Laurie GW, Hassell JR, Aumailley M, Terranova VP, DuBois-Dalcq M. Biological activities of laminin. J Cell Biochem 1985;27(4):317-25. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.240270402.
- [4] Hynes RO. Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. Cell 1992;69(1):11–25.
- [5] Humphries MJ. Integrin structure. Biochem Soc Trans 2000;28:311-40. https://doi.org/10.1042/0300-5127:0280311.
- [6] Leitinger B, McDowall A, Stanley P, Hogg N. The regulation of integrin function by Ca(2+). Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1498(2–3):91–8.
- [7] Plow EF, Haas TA, Zhang L, Loftus J, Smith JW. Ligand binding to integrins. J Biol Chem 2000;275(29):21785-8. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.R000003200.
- [8] Schwartz MA. Integrin signaling revisited. Trends Cell Biol 2001;11(12):466-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(01)02152-3.
- [9] Vuori K. Integrin signaling: tyrosine phosphorylation events in focal adhesions. J Membr Biol 1998;165(3):191-9.
- [10] Xiong JP, Stehle T, Diefenbach B, Zhang R, Dunker R, Scott DL, Arnaout MA. Crystal structure of the extracellular segment of integrin alpha Vbeta3. Science 2001;294(5541):339–45. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064535.
- [11] Geiger B, Bershadsky A, Pankov R, Yamada KM. Transmembrane crosstalk between the extracellular matrix-cytoskeleton crosstalk. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2(11):793-805. https://doi.org/10.1038/35099066.
- [12] Ruoslahti E, Pierschbacher MD. New perspectives in cell-adhesion—Rgd and integrins. Science 1987;238(4826):491–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.2821619.
- [13] Callister Jr WD. Materials science and engineering: an introduction. 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030–5774: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.; 1997.
- [14] Kawamoto N, Mori H, Terano M, Yui N. Blood compatibility of polypropylene surfaces in relation to the crystalline-amorphous microstructure. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1997;8(11):859–77.
- [15] Ishaug-Riley SL, Okun LE, Prado G, Applegate MA, Ratcliffe A. Human articular chondrocyte adhesion and proliferation on synthetic biodegradable polymer films. Biomaterials 1999;20(23–24):2245–56.
- [16] Park A, Cima LG. In vitro cell response to differences in poly-L-lactide crystallinity. J Biomed Mater Res 1996;31(1):117-30.
- [17] Mikos AG, Sarakinos G, Lyman MD, Ingber DE, Vacanti JP, Langer R. Prevascularization of porous biodegradable polymers. Biotechnol Bioeng 1993;42(6):716-23. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260420606.
- [18] Washburn NR, Yamada KM, Simon Jr CG, Kennedy SB, Amis EJ. High-throughput investigation of osteoblast response to polymer crystallinity: influence of nanometer-scale roughness on proliferation. Biomaterials 2004;25(7–8):1215–24.
- [19] Chehroudi B, Gould TR, Brunette DM. Titanium-coated micromachined grooves of different dimensions affect epithelial and connectivetissue cells differently in vivo. J Biomed Mater Res 1990;24(9):1203–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.820240906.
- [20] Clark RE, Boyd JC, Moran JF. New principles governing the tissue reactivity of prosthetic materials. J Surg Res 1974;16(5):510-22.
- [21] Haddad Jr RJ, Cook SD, Thomas KA. Biological fixation of porous-coated implants. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1987;69(9):1459-66.
- [22] Singhvi R, Kumar A, Lopez GP, Stephanopoulos GN, Wang DI, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. Engineering cell shape and function. Science 1994;264(5159):696-8.
- [23] Zingg W, Neumann AW, Strong AB, Hum OS, Absolom DR. Effect of surface roughness on platelet adhesion under static and under flow conditions. Can J Surg 1982;25(1):16–9.
- [24] Wang N, Tolic-Norrelykke IM, Chen J, Mijailovich SM, Butler JP, Fredberg JJ, Stamenovic D. Cell prestress. I. Stiffness and prestress are closely associated in adherent contractile cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2002;282(3):C606–16. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00269.2001.
- [25] Choquet D, Felsenfeld DP, Sheetz MP. Extracellular matrix rigidity causes strengthening of integrin-cytoskeleton linkages. Cell 1997;88(1): 39–48.
- [26] Cukierman E, Pankov R, Stevens DR, Yamada KM. Taking cell-matrix adhesions to the third dimension. Science 2001;294(5547):1708–12. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064829.
- [27] Wang HB, Dembo M, Wang YL. Substrate flexibility regulates growth and apoptosis of normal but not transformed cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2000;279(5):C1345–50.
- [28] Pelham Jr RJ, Wang YL. Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by the mechanical properties of the substrate. Biol Bull 1998; 194(3):348–9. https://doi.org/10.2307/1543109. discussion 349–50.
- [29] Lo CM, Wang HB, Dembo M, Wang YL. Cell movement is guided by the rigidity of the substrate. Biophys J 2000;79(1):144-52. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(00)76279-5.
- [30] Engler A, Bacakova L, Newman C, Hategan A, Griffin M, Discher D. Substrate compliance versus ligand density in cell on gel responses. Biophys J 2004;86(1 Pt 1):617–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(04)74140-5.
- [31] Engler AJ, Griffin MA, Sen S, Bonnemann CG, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Myotubes differentiate optimally on substrates with tissue-like stiffness: pathological implications for soft or stiff microenvironments. Journal of Cell Biology 2004;166(6):877–87. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.200405004.
- [32] Tanford C. The hydrophobic effect and the organization of living matter. Science 1978;200(4345):1012-8.
- [33] Jansen EJ, Sladek RE, Bahar H, Yaffe A, Gijbels MJ, Kuijer R, Koole LH. Hydrophobicity as a design criterion for polymer scaffolds in bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2005;26(21):4423–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.11.011.

#### 27. CELL-SUBSTRATE INTERACTIONS

- [34] Brodbeck WG, Voskerician G, Ziats NP, Nakayama Y, Matsuda T, Anderson JM. In vivo leukocyte cytokine mRNA responses to biomaterials are dependent on surface chemistry. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;64(2):320–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.10425.
- [35] Keselowsky BG, Collard DM, Garcia AJ. Surface chemistry modulates focal adhesion composition and signaling through changes in integrin binding. Biomaterials 2004;25(28):5947–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.01.062.
- [36] Yang Y, Kulangara K, Lam RTS, Dharmawan R, Leong KW. Effects of topographical and mechanical property alterations induced by oxygen plasma modification on stem cell behavior. ACS Nano 2012;6(10):8591–8. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn301713d.
- [37] Dubas ST, Schlenoff JB. Factors controlling the growth of polyelectrolyte multilayers. Macromolecules 1999;32(24):8153-60. https:// doi.org/10.1021/Ma981927a.
- [38] Whitesides GM, Kriebel JK, et al. Molecular engineering of surfaces using self-assembled monolayers. Sci Prog 2005;88(1):17-48.
- [39] Lee H, Dellatore SM, Miller WM, Messersmith PB. Mussel-inspired surface chemistry for multifunctional coatings. Science 2007;318(5849): 426–30. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1147241.
- [40] Yang Z, Tu Q, Zhu Y, Luo R, Li X, Xie Y, Huang N. Mussel-inspired coating of polydopamine directs endothelial and smooth muscle cell fate for re-endothelialization of vascular devices. Adv Healthc Mater 2012;1(5):548–59. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201200073.
- [41] Ku SH, Park CB. Human endothelial cell growth on mussel-inspired nanofiber scaffold for vascular tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010; 31(36):9431-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.08.071.
- [42] Chuah YJ, Koh YT, Lim K, Menon NV, Wu Y, Kang Y. Simple surface engineering of polydimethylsiloxane with polydopamine for stabilized mesenchymal stem cell adhesion and multipotency. Sci Rep 2015;5:18162. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18162. http://www.nature.com/ articles/srep18162#supplementary-information.
- [43] Zhou P, Wu F, Zhou T, Cai X, Zhang S, Zhang X, Wei S. Simple and versatile synthetic polydopamine-based surface supports reprogramming of human somatic cells and long-term self-renewal of human pluripotent stem cells under defined conditions. Biomaterials 2016;87:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.02.012.
- [44] Pierschbacher MD, Ruoslahti E. Cell attachment activity of fibronectin can be duplicated by small synthetic fragments of the molecule. Nature 1984;309(5963):30–3.
- [45] Graf J, Ogle RC, Robey FA, Sasaki M, Martin GR, Yamada Y, Kleinman HK. A pentapeptide from the laminin B1 chain mediates cell adhesion and binds the 67,000 laminin receptor. Biochemistry 1987;26(22):6896–900.
- [46] Danilov YN, Juliano RL. (Arg-Gly-Asp)n-albumin conjugates as a model substratum for integrin-mediated cell adhesion. Exp Cell Res 1989; 182(1):186–96.
- [47] Massia SP, Rao SS, Hubbell JA. Covalently immobilized laminin peptide Tyr-Ile-Gly-Ser-Arg (YIGSR) supports cell spreading and co-localization of the 67-kilodalton laminin receptor with alpha-actinin and vinculin. J Biol Chem 1993;268(11):8053–9.
- [48] Shen YH, Shoichet MS, Radisic M. Vascular endothelial growth factor immobilized in collagen scaffold promotes penetration and proliferation of endothelial cells. Acta Biomater 2008;4(3):477–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2007.12.011.
- [49] Nimmo CM, Shoichet MS. Regenerative biomaterials that "click": simple, aqueous-based protocols for hydrogel synthesis, surface immobilization, and 3D patterning. Bioconjugate Chem 2011;22(11):2199–209. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc200281k.
- [50] Anderson SM, Chen TT, Iruela-Arispe ML, Segura T. The phosphorylation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (VEGFR-2) by engineered surfaces with electrostatically or covalently immobilized VEGF. Biomaterials 2009;30(27):4618–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2009.05.030.
- [51] Massia SP, Hubbell JA. An RGD spacing of 440 nm is sufficient for integrin alpha V beta 3-mediated fibroblast spreading and 140 nm for focal contact and stress fiber formation. Journal of Cell Biology 1991;114(5):1089–100.
- [52] VandeVondele S, Voros J, Hubbell JA. RGD-grafted poly-L-lysine-graft-(polyethylene glycol) copolymers block non-specific protein adsorption while promoting cell adhesion. Biotechnol Bioeng 2003;82(7):784–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10625.
- [53] Roberts C, Chen CS, et al. Using mixed self-assembled monolayers presenting RGD and (EG)(3)OH groups to characterize long-term attachment of bovine capillary endothelial cells to surfaces. J Am Chem Soc 1998;120(26):6548–55.
- [54] Petrie TA, Capadona JR, Reyes CD, García AJ. Integrin specificity and enhanced cellular activities associated with surfaces presenting a recombinant fibronectin fragment compared to RGD supports. Biomaterials 2006;27(31):5459–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2006.06.027.
- [55] Vallieres K, Petitclerc E, Laroche G. Covalent grafting of fibronectin onto plasma-treated PTFE: influence of the conjugation strategy on fibronectin biological activity. Macromol Biosci 2007;7(5):738–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200600267.
- [56] Santiago LY, Nowak RW, Peter Rubin J, Marra KG. Peptide-surface modification of poly(caprolactone) with laminin-derived sequences for adipose-derived stem cell applications. Biomaterials 2006;27(15):2962–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.01.011.
- [57] Gauvreau V, Laroche G. Micropattern printing of adhesion, spreading, and migration peptides on poly(tetrafluoroethylene) films to promote endothelialization. Bioconjugate Chem 2005;16(5):1088–97. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc049717s.
- [58] Lee JW, Park YJ, Lee SJ, Lee SK, Lee KY. The effect of spacer arm length of an adhesion ligand coupled to an alginate gel on the control of fibroblast phenotype. Biomaterials 2010;31(21):5545-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.03.063.
- [59] Pallarola D, Bochen A, Boehm H, Rechenmacher F, Sobahi TR, Spatz JP, Kessler H. Interface immobilization chemistry of cRGD-based peptides regulates integrin mediated cell adhesion. Adv Funct Mater 2014;24(7):943–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201302411.
- [60] Ingber DE. Tensegrity: the architectural basis of cellular mechanotransduction. Annu Rev Physiol 1997;59:575–99. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.physiol.59.1.575.
- [61] Mooney DJ, Langer R, Ingber DE. Cytoskeletal filament assembly and the control of cell spreading and function by extracellular matrix. J Cell Sci 1995;108(Pt 6):2311–20.
- [62] Ekerdt BL, Segalman RA, Schaffer DV. Spatial organization of cell-adhesive ligands for advanced cell culture. Biotechnol J 2013;8(12): 1411–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201300302.
- [63] Schvartzman M, Palma M, Sable J, Abramson J, Hu X, Sheetz MP, Wind SJ. Nanolithographic control of the spatial organization of cellular adhesion receptors at the single-molecule level. Nano Lett 2011;11(3):1306–12. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl104378f.
- [64] Deeg JA, Louban I, Aydin D, Selhuber-Unkel C, Kessler H, Spatz JP. Impact of local versus global ligand density on cellular adhesion. Nano Lett 2011;11(4):1469–76. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl104079r.

- [65] Moore NM, Lin NJ, Gallant ND, Becker ML. The use of immobilized osteogenic growth peptide on gradient substrates synthesized via click chemistry to enhance MC3T3-E1 osteoblast proliferation. Biomaterials 2010;31(7):1604–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2009.11.011.
- [66] DiMilla PA, Stone JA, Quinn JA, Albelda SM, Lauffenburger DA. Maximal migration of human smooth muscle cells on fibronectin and type IV collagen occurs at an intermediate attachment strength. Journal of Cell Biology 1993;122(3):729–37.
- [67] Doyle AD, Wang FW, Matsumoto K, Yamada KM. One-dimensional topography underlies three-dimensional fibrillar cell migration. Journal of Cell Biology 2009;184(4):481–90. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200810041.
- [68] Stefonek TJ, Masters KS. Immobilized gradients of epidermal growth factor promote accelerated and directed keratinocyte migration. Wound Repair Regen 2007;15(6):847–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00288.x.
- [69] Miller ED, Li K, Kanade T, Weiss LE, Walker LM, Campbell PG. Spatially directed guidance of stem cell population migration by immobilized patterns of growth factors. Biomaterials 2011;32(11):2775–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.12.005.
- [70] Palecek SP, Loftus JC, Ginsberg MH, Lauffenburger DA, Horwitz AF. Integrin-ligand binding properties govern cell migration speed through cell-substratum adhesiveness. Nature 1997;385(6616):537–40. https://doi.org/10.1038/385537a0.
- [71] Maheshwari G, Brown G, Lauffenburger DA, Wells A, Griffith LG. Cell adhesion and motility depend on nanoscale RGD clustering. J Cell Sci 2000;113(Pt 10):1677–86.
- [72] Cavalcanti-Adam EA, Volberg T, Micoulet A, Kessler H, Geiger B, Spatz JP. Cell spreading and focal adhesion dynamics are regulated by spacing of integrin ligands. Biophys J 2007;92(8):2964–74. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.106.089730.
- [73] Arnold M, Hirschfeld-Warneken VC, Lohmuller T, Heil P, Blummel J, Cavalcanti-Adam EA, Spatz JP. Induction of cell polarization and migration by a gradient of nanoscale variations in adhesive ligand spacing. Nano Lett 2008;8(7):2063–9. https://doi.org/10.1021/ nl801483w.
- [74] Lammermann T, Bader BL, Monkley SJ, Worbs T, Wedlich-Soldner R, Hirsch K, Sixt M. Rapid leukocyte migration by integrin-independent flowing and squeezing. Nature 2008;453(7191):51–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06887.
- [75] Hunt GC, Singh P, Schwarzbauer JE. Endogenous production of fibronectin is required for self-renewal of cultured mouse embryonic stem cells. Exp Cell Res 2012;318(15):1820–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.06.009.
- [76] Domogatskaya A, Rodin S, Boutaud A, Tryggvason K. Laminin-511 but not -332, -111, or -411 enables mouse embryonic stem cell selfrenewal in vitro. Stem Cells 2008;26(11):2800–9. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0389.
- [77] Rodin S, Domogatskaya A, Strom S, Hansson EM, Chien KR, Inzunza J, Tryggvason K. Long-term self-renewal of human pluripotent stem cells on human recombinant laminin-511. Nat Biotechnol 2010;28(6):611-5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1620.
- [78] Rowland TJ, Miller LM, Blaschke AJ, Doss EL, Bonham AJ, Hikita ST, Clegg DO. Roles of integrins in human induced pluripotent stem cell growth on Matrigel and vitronectin. Stem Cells Dev 2010;19(8):1231–40. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2009.0328.
- [79] Liu Y, Wang X, Kaufman DS, Shen W. A synthetic substrate to support early mesodermal differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Biomaterials 2011;32(32):8058–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.07.052.
- [80] Frith JE, Mills RJ, Cooper-White JJ. Lateral spacing of adhesion peptides influences human mesenchymal stem cell behaviour. J Cell Sci 2012; 125(Pt 2):317–27. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.087916.
- [81] Mooney D, Hansen L, Vacanti J, Langer R, Farmer S, Ingber D. Switching from differentiation to growth in hepatocytes: control by extracellular matrix. J Cell Physiol 1992;151(3):497–505. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.1041510308.
- [82] Zagris N. Extracellular matrix in development of the early embryo. Micron 2001;32(4):427-38.
- [83] Odom TW, Thalladi VR, Love JC, Whitesides GM. Generation of 30-50 nm structures using easily fabricated, composite PDMS masks. J Am Chem Soc 2002;124(41):12112–3.
- [84] Flemming RG, Murphy CJ, Abrams GA, Goodman SL, Nealey PF. Effects of synthetic micro- and nano-structured surfaces on cell behavior. Biomaterials 1999;20(6):573–88.
- [84a] Curtis ASG, Gadegaard N, Dalby MJ, Riehle MO, Wilkinson CDW, Aitchison G. Cells react to nanoscale order and symmetry in their surroundings. IEEE Trans Nanobioscience 2004;3(1):61–5. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/1273510/?tp=&arnumber=1273510.
- [85] Brunette DM, Kenner GS, Gould TR. Grooved titanium surfaces orient growth and migration of cells from human gingival explants. J Dent Res 1983;62(10):1045–8.
- [86] Quist AP, Pavlovic E, Oscarsson S. Recent advances in microcontact printing. Anal Bioanal Chem 2005;381(3):591–600. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00216-004-2847-z.
- [87] Dalby MJ, Riehle MO, Johnstone HJ, Affrossman S, Curtis AS. Polymer-demixed nanotopography: control of fibroblast spreading and proliferation. Tissue Eng 2002;8(6):1099–108. https://doi.org/10.1089/107632702320934191.
- [88] Ma Z, Kotaki M, Inai R, Ramakrishna S. Potential of nanofiber matrix as tissue-engineering scaffolds. Tissue Eng 2005;11(1–2):101–9. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2005.11.101.
- [89] Muhammad R, Cho S-H, Lee J-H, Park J-G. Fluorocarbon film-assisted fabrication of a CoNi mold with high aspect ratio for nanoimprint lithography. Microelectron Eng 2013;104(0):58–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2012.11.006.
- [90] Schwartz MA, Ginsberg MH. Networks and crosstalk: integrin signalling spreads. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4(4):E65-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncb0402-e65.
- [91] Nguyen AT, Sathe SR, Yim EK. From nano to micro: topographical scale and its impact on cell adhesion, morphology and contact guidance. J Phys Condens Matter 2016;28(18):183001. https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/28/18/183001.
- [92] Teo BKK, Ankam S, Chan LY, Yim EKF. Nanotopography/mechanical induction of stem-cell differentiation. In: Methods in cell biology, vol. 98; 2010. p. 241–94.
- [93] Thomson LA, Law FC, Rushton N, Franks J. Biocompatibility of diamond-like carbon coating. Biomaterials 1991;12(1):37-40.
- [94] Dalby MJ, Gadegaard N, Tare R, Andar A, Riehle MO, Herzyk P, Oreffo ROC. The control of human mesenchymal cell differentiation using nanoscale symmetry and disorder. Nat Mater 2007;6(12):997–1003. https://www.nature.com/articles/nmat2013.
- [95] Karuri NW, Liliensiek S, Teixeira AI, Abrams G, Campbell S, Nealey PF, Murphy CJ. Biological length scale topography enhances cellsubstratum adhesion of human corneal epithelial cells. J Cell Sci 2004;117(Pt 15):3153–64. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.01146.

- [96] Andersson AS, Backhed F, von Euler A, Richter-Dahlfors A, Sutherland D, Kasemo B. Nanoscale features influence epithelial cell morphology and cytokine production. Biomaterials 2003;24(20):3427–36.
- [97] Yim EK, Reano RM, Pang SW, Yee AF, Chen CS, Leong KW. Nanopattern-induced changes in morphology and motility of smooth muscle cells. Biomaterials 2005;26(26):5405–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.01.058.
- [98] Muhammad R, Lim SH, Goh SH, Law JBK, Saifullah MSM, Ho GW, Yim EKF. Sub-100 nm patterning of TiO<sub>2</sub> film for the regulation of endothelial and smooth muscle cell functions. Biomater Sci 2014;2(12):1740–9. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4bm00212a.
- [99] Yim EK, Pang SW, Leong KW. Synthetic nanostructures inducing differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells into neuronal lineage. Exp Cell Res 2007;313(9):1820-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.02.031.
- [100] Hoffman-Kim D, Mitchel JA, Bellamkonda RV. Topography, cell response, and nerve regeneration. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2010;12(12): 203–31. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-bioeng-070909-105351.
- [101] Goldman SA. Neural progenitor cells of the adult human brain. In: Neural development and stem cells; 2006. p. 267–97.
- [102] Johansson CB, Momma S, Clarke DL, Risling M, Lendahl U, Frisén J. Identification of a neural stem cell in the adult mammalian central nervous system. Cell 1999;96(1):25–34.
- [103] Johansson CB, Svensson M, Wallstedt L, Janson AM, Frisén J. Neural stem cells in the adult human brain. Exp Cell Res 1999;253(2):733-6.
- [104] Morshead CM, Reynolds BA, Craig CG, McBurney MW, Staines WA, Morassutti D, van der Kooy D. Neural stem cells in the adult mammalian forebrain: a relatively quiescent subpopulation of subependymal cells. Neuron 1994;13(5):1071–82.
- [105] Roy NS, Wang S, Harrison-Restelli C, Benraiss A, Fraser RAR, Gravel M, Goldman SA. Identification, isolation, and promoter-defined separation of mitotic oligodendrocyte progenitor cells from the adult human subcortical white matter. J Neurosci 1999;19(22):9986–95.
- [106] Scolding N, Franklin R, Stevens S, Heldin CH, Compston A, Newcombe J. Oligodendrocyte progenitors are present in the normal adult human CNS and in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. Brain 1998;121(12):2221–8.
- [107] Steven AG, Abdellatif B, Eva C, Keyoung HM, Marta N, Neeta SR, Martha W. Isolation and induction of adult neural progenitor cells. Clin Neurosci Res 2002;2(1):70–9.
- [108] Svendsen CN, Caldwell MA, Ostenfeld T. Human neural stem cells: isolation, expansion and transplantation. Brain Pathol 1999;9(3): 499-513.
- [109] Christopherson GT, Song H, Mao H-Q. The influence of fiber diameter of electrospun substrates on neural stem cell differentiation and proliferation. Biomaterials 2009;30(4):556–64.
- [110] Moe AAK, Suryana M, Marcy G, Lim SK, Ankam S, Goh JZW, Low HY. Microarray with Micro- and Nano-topographies enables identification of the optimal topography for directing the differentiation of primary murine neural progenitor cells. Small 2012;8(19):3050–61.
- [111] Ankam S, Suryana M, Chan LY, Moe AA, Teo BK, Law JB, Yim EK. Substrate topography and size determine the fate of human embryonic stem cells to neuronal or glial lineage. Acta Biomater 2013;9(1):4535–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2012.08.018.
- [112] Tan KKB, Tann JY, Sathe SR, Goh SH, Ma D, Goh ELK, Yim EKF. Enhanced differentiation of neural progenitor cells into neurons of the mesencephalic dopaminergic subtype on topographical patterns. Biomaterials 2015;43:32–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2014.11.036.
- [113] Wong ST, Teo S-K, Park S, Chiam K-H, Yim EKF. Anisotropic rigidity sensing on grating topography directs human mesenchymal stem cell elongation. Biomech Model Mechanobiol 2014;13(1):27–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10237-013-0483-2.
- [114] Chua JS, Chng CP, Moe AA, Tann JY, Goh EL, Chiam KH, Yim EK. Extending neurites sense the depth of the underlying topography during neuronal differentiation and contact guidance. Biomaterials 2014;35(27):7750–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.06.008.
- [115] Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. Geometric control of cell life and death. Science 1997;276(5317):1425-8.
- [116] Curtis AS, Casey B, Gallagher JO, Pasqui D, Wood MA, Wilkinson CD. Substratum nanotopography and the adhesion of biological cells. Are symmetry or regularity of nanotopography important? Biophys Chem 2001;94(3):275–83.
- [117] Dalby MJ, Gadegaard N, Riehle MO, Wilkinson CDW, Curtis ASG. Investigating filopodia sensing using arrays of defined nano-pits down to 35 nm diameter in size. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2004;36(10):2005–15.
- [118] Teo BKK, Goh SH, Kustandi TS, Loh WW, Low HY, Yim EKF. The effect of micro and nanotopography on endocytosis in drug and gene delivery systems. Biomaterials 2011;32(36):9866-75.
- [119] Koo S, Muhammad R, Peh GS, Mehta JS, Yim EK. Micro- and nanotopography with extracellular matrix coating modulate human corneal endothelial cell behavior. Acta Biomater 2014;10(5):1975–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.01.015.
- [120] Muhammad R, Peh GSL, Adnan K, Law JBK, Mehta JS, Yim EKF. Micro- and nano-topography to enhance proliferation and sustain functional markers of donor-derived primary human corneal endothelial cells. Acta Biomater 2015;19(0):138–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.actbio.2015.03.016.
- [121] Rizwan M, Peh GS, Adnan K, Naso SL, Mendez AR, Mehta JS, Yim EKF. In vitro topographical model of Fuchs dystrophy for evaluation of corneal endothelial cell monolayer formation. Adv Healthc Mater 2016;5(22):2896–910. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201600848. Featured on Journal Cover https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/adhm.201600848.
- [122] Lai Y, Chen J, Zhang T, Gu D, Zhang C, Li Z, Schultze-Mosgau S. Effect of 3D microgroove surface topography on plasma and cellular fibronectin of human gingival fibroblasts. J Dent 2013;41(11):1109–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2013.08.004.
- [123] Yim EK, Darling EM, Kulangara K, Guilak F, Leong KW. Nanotopography-induced changes in focal adhesions, cytoskeletal organization, and mechanical properties of human mesenchymal stem cells. Biomaterials 2010;31(6):1299–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2009.10.037.
- [124] Teo BKK, Wong ST, Lim CK, Kung TYS, Yap CH, Ramagopal Y, Yim EKF. Nanotopography modulates mechanotransduction of stem cells and induces differentiation through focal adhesion kinase. ACS Nano 2013;7(6):4785–98. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn304966z.
- [125] Ankam S, Lim CK, Yim EK. Actomyosin contractility plays a role in MAP2 expression during nanotopography-directed neuronal differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Biomaterials 2015;47:20–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.01.003.
- [126] Kulangara K, Yang Y, Yang J, Leong KW. Nanotopography as modulator of human mesenchymal stem cell function. Biomaterials 2012; 33(20):4998–5003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.03.053.
- [127] Lele TP, Pendse J, Kumar S, Salanga M, Karavitis J, Ingber DE. Mechanical forces alter zyxin unbinding kinetics within focal adhesions of living cells. J Cell Physiol 2006;207(1):187–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20550.

#### REFERENCES

- [128] Chan LY, Birch WR, Yim EK, Choo AB. Temporal application of topography to increase the rate of neural differentiation from human pluripotent stem cells. Biomaterials 2013;34(2):382–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.09.033.
- [129] Kulangara K, Adler AF, Wang H, Chellappan M, Hammett E, Yasuda R, Leong KW. The effect of substrate topography on direct reprogramming of fibroblasts to induced neurons. Biomaterials 2014;35(20):5327–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.03.034.
- [130] Kulangara K, Yang J, Chellappan M, Yang Y, Leong KW. Nanotopography alters nuclear protein expression, proliferation and differentiation of human mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. PLoS One 2014;9(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114698. pii:ARTN e114698.
- [131] Shin SR, Jung SM, Zalabany M, Kim K, Zorlutuna P, Kim SB, Khademhosseini A. Carbon-nanotube-embedded hydrogel sheets for engineering cardiac constructs and bioactuators. ACS Nano 2013;7(3):2369–80. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn305559j.
- [132] Zelikin AN, Lynn DM, Farhadi J, Martin I, Shastri V, Langer R. Erodible conducting polymers for potential biomedical applications. Angew Chem Int Ed 2002;41(1):141–4. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20020104)41:1<141::Aid-Anie141>3.0.Co;2-V.
- [133] Guo BL, Finne-Wistrand A, Albertsson AC. Universal two-step approach to degradable and electroactive block copolymers and networks from combined ring-opening polymerization and post-functionalization via oxidative coupling reactions. Macromolecules 2011;44(13): 5227–36. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma2009595.
- [134] Bassett CA, Pawluk RJ, Becker RO. Effects of electric currents on bone in vivo. Nature 1964;204(495):652. https://doi.org/10.1038/204652a0.
- [135] Schmidt CE, Shastri VR, Vacanti JP, Langer R. Stimulation of neurite outgrowth using an electrically conducting polymer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94(17):8948-53. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.17.8948.
- [136] Rowlands AS, Cooper-White JJ. Directing phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cells using electrically stimulated conducting polymer. Biomaterials 2008;29(34):4510–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.07.052.
- [137] Chang Y, Yang S-T, Liu J-H, Dong E, Wang Y, Cao A, Wang H. In vitro toxicity evaluation of graphene oxide on A549 cells. Toxicol Lett 2011; 200(3):201–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.11.016.
- [138] Kalbacova M, Broz A, Kong J, Kalbac M. Graphene substrates promote adherence of human osteoblasts and mesenchymal stromal cells. Carbon 2010;48(15):4323–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbon.2010.07.045.
- [139] Li X, Liu X, Huang J, Fan Y, Cui F-z. Biomedical investigation of CNT based coatings. Surf Coating Technol 2011;206(4):759–66. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.surfcoat.2011.02.063.
- [140] Park SY, Park SY, Namgung S, Kim B, Im J, Kim JY, Hong S. Carbon nanotube monolayer patterns for directed growth of mesenchymal stem cells. Adv Mater 2007;19(18):2530–4. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200600875.
- [141] Jan E, Kotov NA. Successful differentiation of mouse neural stem cells on layer-by-layer assembled single-walled carbon nanotube composite. Nano Lett 2007;7(5):1123-8. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl0620132.
- [142] Nayak TR, Andersen H, Makam VS, Khaw C, Bae S, Xu X, Özyilmaz B. Graphene for controlled and accelerated osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. ACS Nano 2011;5(6):4670–8. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn200500h.
- [143] Lee WC, Lim CHYX, Shi H, Tang LAL, Wang Y, Lim CT, Loh KP. Origin of enhanced stem cell growth and differentiation on graphene and graphene oxide. ACS Nano 2011;5(9):7334–41. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn202190c.
- [144] Ku SH, Park CB. Myoblast differentiation on graphene oxide. Biomaterials 2013;34(8):2017–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2012.11.052.
- [145] Ryoo S-R, Kim Y-K, Kim M-H, Min D-H. Behaviors of NIH-3T3 fibroblasts on graphene/carbon nanotubes: proliferation, focal adhesion, and gene transfection studies. ACS Nano 2010;4(11):6587–98. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn1018279.
- [146] Cukierman E, Pankov R, Yamada KM. Cell interactions with three-dimensional matrices. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2002;14(5):633-9.
- [147] Schmeichel KL, Bissell MJ. Modeling tissue-specific signaling and organ function in three dimensions. J Cell Sci 2003;116(Pt 12):2377–88. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.00503.
- [148] Baker BM, Chen CS. Deconstructing the third dimension how 3D culture microenvironments alter cellular cues. J Cell Sci 2012;125(13): 3015.
- [149] Page H, Flood P, Reynaud EG. Three-dimensional tissue cultures: current trends and beyond. Cell Tissue Res 2013;352(1):123-31. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00441-012-1441-5.
- [150] Liao S, Li B, Ma Z, Wei H, Chan C, Ramakrishna S. Biomimetic electrospun nanofibers for tissue regeneration. Biomed Mater 2006;1(3): R45-53. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-6041/1/3/R01.
- [151] Schuurman W, Levett PA, Pot MW, van Weeren PR, Dhert WJA, Hutmacher DW, Malda J. Gelatin-methacrylamide hydrogels as potential biomaterials for fabrication of tissue-engineered cartilage constructs. Macromol Biosci 2013. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201200471.
- [152] Cebotari S, Tudorache I, Jaekel T, Hilfiker A, Dorfman S, Ternes W, Lichtenberg A. Detergent decellularization of heart valves for tissue engineering: toxicological effects of residual detergents on human endothelial cells. Artif Organs 2010;34(3):206–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1525-1594.2009.00796.x.
- [153] Zhou M, Smith AM, Das AK, Hodson NW, Collins RF, Ulijn RV, Gough JE. Self-assembled peptide-based hydrogels as scaffolds for anchorage-dependent cells. Biomaterials 2009;30(13):2523–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.01.010.
- [154] Carletti E, Motta A, Migliaresi C. Scaffolds for tissue engineering and 3D cell culture. Meth Mol Biol 2011;695:17–39. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-60761-984-0\_2.
- [155] Tibbitt MW, Anseth KS. Hydrogels as extracellular matrix mimics for 3D cell culture. Biotechnol Bioeng 2009;103(4):655–63. https:// doi.org/10.1002/bit.22361.
- [156] Fichman G, Gazit E. Self-assembly of short peptides to form hydrogels: design of building blocks, physical properties and technological applications. Acta Biomater 2014;10(4):1671–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2013.08.013.
- [157] Do AV, Khorsand B, Geary SM, Salem AK. 3D printing of scaffolds for tissue regeneration applications. Adv Healthc Mater 2015;4(12): 1742–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201500168.
- [158] Duan B, Hockaday LA, Kang KH, Butcher JT. 3D bioprinting of heterogeneous aortic valve conduits with alginate/gelatin hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res A 2013;101(5):1255-64. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34420.
- [159] Rnjak-Kovacina J, Wise SG, Li Z, Maitz PK, Young CJ, Wang Y, Weiss AS. Tailoring the porosity and pore size of electrospun synthetic human elastin scaffolds for dermal tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2011;32(28):6729–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.05.065.

- [160] Phipps MC, Clem WC, Grunda JM, Clines GA, Bellis SL. Increasing the pore sizes of bone-mimetic electrospun scaffolds comprised of polycaprolactone, collagen I and hydroxyapatite to enhance cell infiltration. Biomaterials 2012;33(2):524–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2011.09.080.
- [161] Yang W, Yang F, Wang Y, Both SK, Jansen JA. In vivo bone generation via the endochondral pathway on three-dimensional electrospun fibers. Acta Biomater 2013;9(1):4505–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2012.10.003.
- [162] Crapo PM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes. Biomaterials 2011;32(12):3233–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.01.057.
- [163] Prasertsung I, Kanokpanont S, Bunaprasert T, Thanakit V, Damrongsakkul S. Development of acellular dermis from porcine skin using periodic pressurized technique. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2008;85B(1):210–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.30938.
- [164] Flynn LE. The use of decellularized adipose tissue to provide an inductive microenvironment for the adipogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells. Biomaterials 2010;31(17):4715-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.02.046.
- [165] You JO, Rafat M, Almeda D, Maldonado N, Guo P, Nabzdyk CS, Auguste DT. pH-responsive scaffolds generate a pro-healing response. Biomaterials 2015;57:22–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.04.011.
- [166] Lei Y, Schaffer DV. A fully defined and scalable 3D culture system for human pluripotent stem cell expansion and differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013;110(52):E5039–48. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309408110.
- [167] Sapir Y, Cohen S, Friedman G, Polyak B. The promotion of in vitro vessel-like organization of endothelial cells in magnetically responsive alginate scaffolds. Biomaterials 2012;33(16):4100-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.02.037.
- [168] Yue K, Trujillo-de Santiago G, Alvarez MM, Tamayol A, Annabi N, Khademhosseini A. Synthesis, properties, and biomedical applications of gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogels. Biomaterials 2015;73:254–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.08.045.
- [169] Rizwan M, Peh GSL, Ang H-P, Chan Lwin N, Adnan K, Mehta JS, Yim EKF. Sequentially-crosslinked bioactive hydrogels as nano-patterned substrates with customizable stiffness and degradation for corneal tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2016. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.12.026.
- [170] Kim HK, Shim WS, Kim SE, Lee KH, Kang E, Kim JH, Lee DS. Injectable in situ-forming pH/thermo-sensitive hydrogel for bone tissue engineering. Tissue Eng A 2009;15(4):923–33. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2007.0407.
- [171] Das RK, Gocheva V, Hammink R, Zouani OF, Rowan AE. Stress-stiffening-mediated stem-cell commitment switch in soft responsive hydrogels. Nat Mater 2016;15(3):318–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4483.
- [172] Bock N, Riminucci A, Dionigi C, Russo A, Tampieri A, Landi E, Dediu V. A novel route in bone tissue engineering: magnetic biomimetic scaffolds. Acta Biomater 2010;6(3):786–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2009.09.017.
- [173] Tan H, Ramirez CM, Miljkovic N, Li H, Rubin JP, Marra KG. Thermosensitive injectable hyaluronic acid hydrogel for adipose tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2009;30(36):6844–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.08.058.
- [174] Roam JL, Yan Y, Nguyen PK, Kinstlinger IS, Leuchter MK, Hunter DA, Elbert DL. A modular, plasmin-sensitive, clickable poly(ethylene glycol)-heparin-laminin microsphere system for establishing growth factor gradients in nerve guidance conduits. Biomaterials 2015;72: 112–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.08.054.
- [175] Tan H, Rubin JP, Marra KG. Injectable in situ forming biodegradable chitosan-hyaluronic acid based hydrogels for adipose tissue regeneration. Organogenesis 2010;6(3):173–80.
- [176] Bencherif SA, Sands RW, Bhatta D, Arany P, Verbeke CS, Edwards DA, Mooney DJ. Injectable preformed scaffolds with shape-memory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109(48):19590-5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211516109.
- [177] Liu YX, Chan-Park MB. Hydrogel based on interpenetrating polymer networks of dextran and gelatin for vascular tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2009;30(2):196–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.09.041.
- [178] Kloxin AM, Kasko AM, Salinas CN, Anseth KS. Photodegradable hydrogels for dynamic tuning of physical and chemical properties. Science 2009;324(5923):59–63. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1169494.
- [179] Edmondson R, Broglie JJ, Adcock AF, Yang L. Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cellbased biosensors. Assay Drug Dev Technol 2014;12(4):207–18. https://doi.org/10.1089/adt.2014.573.
- [180] Miller JS, Stevens KR, Yang MT, Baker BM, Nguyen DH, Cohen DM, Chen CS. Rapid casting of patterned vascular networks for perfusable engineered three-dimensional tissues. Nat Mater 2012;11(9):768–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat3357.
- [181] Chung K, Wallace J, Kim SY, Kalyanasundaram S, Andalman AS, Davidson TJ, Deisseroth K. Structural and molecular interrogation of intact biological systems. Nature 2013;497(7449):332–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12107.
- [182] Huang B, Wang W, Bates M, Zhuang X. Three-dimensional super-resolution imaging by stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy. Science 2008;319(5864):810-3. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1153529.
- [183] Toh YC, Lim TC, Tai D, Xiao GF, van Noort D, Yu HR. A microfluidic 3D hepatocyte chip for drug toxicity testing. Lab Chip 2009;9(14): 2026-35. https://doi.org/10.1039/b900912d.
- [184] Headen DM, Aubry G, Lu H, Garcia AJ. Microfluidic-based generation of size-controlled, biofunctionalized synthetic polymer microgels for cell encapsulation. Adv Mater 2014;26(19):3003–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201304880.
- [185] Sabhachandani P, Motwani V, Cohen N, Sarkar S, Torchilin V, Konry T. Generation and functional assessment of 3D multicellular spheroids in droplet based microfluidics platform. Lab Chip 2016;16(3):497–505. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5lc01139f.
- [186] Meng X, Leslie P, Zhang Y, Dong J. Stem cells in a three-dimensional scaffold environment. Springerplus 2014;3:80. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 2193-1801-3-80.
- [187] Fatehullah A, Tan SH, Barker N. Organoids as an in vitro model of human development and disease. Nat Cell Biol 2016;18(3):246–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3312.
- [188] Martin I, Wendt D, Heberer M. The role of bioreactors in tissue engineering. Trends Biotechnol 2004;22(2):80-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tibtech.2003.12.001.
- [189] Bhadriraju K, Chen CS. Engineering cellular microenvironments to improve cell-based drug testing. Drug Discov Today 2002;7(11):612-20.
- [190] Birgersdotter A, Sandberg R, Ernberg I. Gene expression perturbation in vitro-a growing case for three-dimensional (3D) culture systems. Semin Cancer Biol 2005;15(5):405–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2005.06.009.

#### REFERENCES

- [191] Baker BM, Trappmann B, Wang WY, Sakar MS, Kim IL, Shenoy VB, Chen CS. Cell-mediated fibre recruitment drives extracellular matrix mechanosensing in engineered fibrillar microenvironments. Nat Mater 2015;14(12):1262–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4444. http:// www.nature.com/nmat/journal/v14/n12/abs/nmat4444.html#supplementary-information.
- [192] Mseka T, Bamburg JR, Cramer LP. ADF/cofilin family proteins control formation of oriented actin-filament bundles in the cell body to trigger fibroblast polarization. J Cell Sci 2007;120(24):4332–44. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.017640.
- [193] Harunaga JS, Yamada KM. Cell-matrix adhesions in 3D. Matrix Biol 2011;30(7–8):363–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2011.06.001.
- [194] Kubow KE, Horwitz AR. Reducing background fluorescence reveals adhesions in 3D matrices. Nat Cell Biol 2011;13(1):3–5. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncb0111-3. author reply 5–7.
- [195] Broussard JA, Diggins NL, Hummel S, Georgescu W, Quaranta V, Webb DJ. Automated analysis of cell-matrix adhesions in 2D and 3D environments. Sci Rep 2015;5:8124. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08124. http://www.nature.com/articles/srep08124#supplementaryinformation.
- [196] Chiu C-L, Aguilar JS, Tsai CY, Wu G, Gratton E, Digman MA. Nanoimaging of focal adhesion dynamics in 3D. PLoS One 2014;9(6):e99896. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099896.
- [197] Legant WR, Choi CK, Miller JS, Shao L, Gao L, Betzig E, Chen CS. Multidimensional traction force microscopy reveals out-of-plane rotational moments about focal adhesions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013;110(3):881–6.
- [198] Steinwachs J, Metzner C, Skodzek K, Lang N, Thievessen I, Mark C, Fabry B. Three-dimensional force microscopy of cells in biopolymer networks. Nat Methods 2016;13(2):171–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3685. http://www.nature.com/nmeth/journal/v13/n2/abs/ nmeth.3685.html#supplementary-information.
- [199] Friedl P, Sahai E, Weiss S, Yamada KM. New dimensions in cell migration. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2012;13(11):743-7.
- [200] Madsen CD, Sahai E. Cancer dissemination-lessons from leukocytes. Dev Cell 2010;19(1):13-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.devcel.2010.06.013.
- [201] Petrie RJ, Gavara N, Chadwick RS, Yamada KM. Nonpolarized signaling reveals two distinct modes of 3D cell migration. J Cell Biol 2012; 197(3):439–55. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201201124.
- [202] Friedl P, Alexander S. Cancer invasion and the microenvironment: plasticity and reciprocity. Cell 2011;147(5):992–1009. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.016.
- [203] Grinnell F, Petroll WM. Cell motility and mechanics in three-dimensional collagen matrices. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2010;26:335–61. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113318.
- [204] Nelson CM, Bissell MJ. Of extracellular matrix, scaffolds, and signaling: tissue architecture regulates development, homeostasis, and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2006;22:287–309. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010305.104315.
- [204a] Grinnell F, Ho CH, Tamariz E, Lee DJ, Skuta G. Dendritic fibroblasts in three-dimensional collagen matrices. Mol Biol Cell 2003;14(2):384–95. https://www.molbiolcell.org/doi/full/10.1091/mbc.E02-08-0493.
- [205] Hynes RO. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 2002;110(6):673-87.
- [206] Mulder KW, Wang X, Escriu C, Ito Y, Schwarz RF, Gillis J, Watt FM. Diverse epigenetic strategies interact to control epidermal differentiation. Nat Cell Biol 2012;14(7):753–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2520.
- [207] Dado D, Sagi M, Levenberg S, Zemel A. Mechanical control of stem cell differentiation. Regen Med 2012;7(1):101–16. https://doi.org/ 10.2217/rme.11.99.
- [208] Wong M, Wuethrich P, Buschmann MD, Eggli P, Hunziker E. Chondrocyte biosynthesis correlates with local tissue strain in statically compressed adult articular cartilage. J Orthop Res 1997;15(2):189–96. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.1100150206.
- [209] Davies PF, Barbee KA, Volin MV, Robotewskyj A, Chen J, Joseph L, Barakat AI. Spatial relationships in early signaling events of flowmediated endothelial mechanotransduction. Annu Rev Physiol 1997;59:527–49. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.59.1.527.
- [210] Chiquet M. Regulation of extracellular matrix gene expression by mechanical stress. Matrix Biol 1999;18(5):417-26.
- [211] Leung DY, Glagov S, Mathews MB. Cyclic stretching stimulates synthesis of matrix components by arterial smooth muscle cells in vitro. Science 1976;191(4226):475–7.
- [212] Sadoshima J, Izumo S. The cellular and molecular response of cardiac myocytes to mechanical stress. Annu Rev Physiol 1997;59:551–71. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.59.1.551.
- [213] Bilodeau K, Mantovani D. Bioreactors for tissue engineering: focus on mechanical constraints. A comparative review. Tissue Eng 2006;12(8): 2367–83. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.12.2367.
- [214] Mu X, Zheng W, Sun J, Zhang W, Jiang X. Microfluidics for manipulating cells. Small 2013;9(1):9–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201200996.
- [215] Polacheck WJ, Li R, Uzel SGM, Kamm RD. Microfluidic platforms for mechanobiology. Lab Chip 2013;13(12):2252–67. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c3lc41393d.
- [216] Yang Y, Kulangara K, Sia J, Wang L, Leong KW. Engineering of a microfluidic cell culture platform embedded with nanoscale features. Lab Chip 2011;11(9):1638–46. https://doi.org/10.1039/C0LC00736F.
- [217] Nguyen TA, Yin T-I, Reyes D, Urban GA. Microfluidic chip with integrated electrical cell-impedance sensing for monitoring single cancer cell migration in three-dimensional matrixes. Anal Chem 2013;85(22):11068–76. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac402761s.
- [218] Sonam S, Sathe SR, Yim EKF, Sheetz MP, Lim CT. Cell contractility arising from topography and shear flow determines human mesenchymal stem cell fate. Sci Rep 2016;6:20415. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20415. http://www.nature.com/articles/srep20415#supplementaryinformation.
- [219] Boussommier-Calleja A, Li R, Chen MB, Wong SC, Kamm RD. Microfluidics: a new tool for modeling cancer-immune interactions. Trends Cancer 2016;2(1):6–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2015.12.003.
- [220] Althaus M, Bogdan R, Clauss WG, Fronius M. Mechano-sensitivity of epithelial sodium channels (ENaCs): laminar shear stress increases ion channel open probability. FASEB J 2007;21(10):2389–99. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.06-7694com.
- [221] Kobayashi T, Sokabe M. Sensing substrate rigidity by mechanosensitive ion channels with stress fibers and focal adhesions. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2010;22(5):669-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2010.08.023.
- [222] Arnsdorf EJ, Tummala P, Kwon RY, Jacobs CR. Mechanically induced osteogenic differentiation—the role of RhoA, ROCKII and cytoskeletal dynamics. J Cell Sci 2009;122(4):546–53. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.036293.

- [223] Vogel V, Sheetz M. Local force and geometry sensing regulate cell functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006;7(4):265-75.
- [224] Vogel V, Sheetz MP. Cell fate regulation by coupling mechanical cycles to biochemical signaling pathways. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2009;21(1): 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2009.01.002.
- [225] Geiger B, Spatz JP, Bershadsky AD. Environmental sensing through focal adhesions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10(1):21–33. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrm2593. pii:nrm2593.
- [226] Dalby MJ, Childs S, Riehle MO, Johnstone HJ, Affrossman S, Curtis AS. Fibroblast reaction to island topography: changes in cytoskeleton and morphology with time. Biomaterials 2003;24(6):927–35. pii:S0142961202004271.
- [227] Riveline D, Zamir E, Balaban NQ, Schwarz US, Ishizaki T, Narumiya S, Bershadsky AD. Focal contacts as mechanosensors: externally applied local mechanical force induces growth of focal contacts by an mDia1-dependent and ROCK-independent mechanism. J Cell Biol 2001;153(6):1175–86.
- [228] Kim TJ, Seong J, Ouyang M, Sun J, Lu S, Jun PH, Wang Y. Substrate rigidity regulates Ca<sup>2+</sup> oscillation via RhoA pathway in stem cells. J Cell Physiol 2009;218(2):285–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21598.
- [229] Kung C. A possible unifying principle for mechanosensation. Nature 2005;436(7051):647-54.
- [230] Yim EKF, Sheetz MP. Force-dependent cell signaling in stem cell differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther 2012;3(5). https://doi.org/10.1186/ scrt132.
- [231] Martinez-Lemus LA, Sun Z, Trache A, Trzciakowski JP, Meininger GA. Integrins and regulation of the microcirculation: from arterioles to molecular studies using atomic force microscopy. Microcirculation 2005;12(1):99–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/10739680590896054.
- [232] Burridge K, Fath K, Kelly T, Nuckolls G, Turner C. Focal adhesions: transmembrane junctions between the extracellular matrix and the cytoskeleton. Annu Rev Cell Biol 1988;4:487–525. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cb.04.110188.002415.
- [233] Zamir E, Geiger B. Molecular complexity and dynamics of cell-matrix adhesions. J Cell Sci 2001;114(Pt 20):3583–90.
- [234] Zaidel-Bar R, Itzkovitz S, Ma'ayan A, Iyengar R, Geiger B. Functional atlas of the integrin adhesome. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9(8):858–67. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncb0807-858. pii:ncb0807-858.
- [235] Seo CH, Furukawa K, Montagne K, Jeong H, Ushida T. The effect of substrate microtopography on focal adhesion maturation and actin organization via the RhoA/ROCK pathway. Biomaterials 2011;32(36):9568–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.08.077.
- [236] Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell 2006;126(4):677-89.
- [237] McBeath R, Pirone DM, Nelson CM, Bhadriraju K, Chen CS. Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage commitment. Dev Cell 2004;6(4):483–95.
- [238] Fujita S, Ohshima M, Iwata H. Time-lapse observation of cell alignment on nanogrooved patterns. J R Soc Interface 2009;6(Suppl. 3):S269–77. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2008.0428.focus. pii:rsif.2008.0428.focus.
- [239] Etienne-Manneville S, Hall A. Rho GTPases in cell biology. Nature 2002;420(6916):629-35.
- [240] Paszek MJ, Zahir N, Johnson KR, Lakins JN, Rozenberg GI, Gefen A, Weaver VM. Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype. Cancer Cell 2005;8(3):241–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2005.08.010. pii:S1535-6108(05)00268-0.
- [241] Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M, Burridge K. Rho-stimulated contractility drives the formation of stress fibers and focal adhesions. J Cell Biol 1996;133(6):1403–15.
- [242] Hall A. Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton. Science 1998;279(5350):509-14.
- [243] Dahl KN, Ribeiro AJS, Lammerding J. Nuclear shape, mechanics, and mechanotransduction. Circ Res 2008;102(11):1307–18. https:// doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.108.173989.
- [244] Shivashankar GV. Mechanosignaling to the cell nucleus and gene regulation. Annu Rev Biophys 2011;40:361–78. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-biophys-042910-155319.
- [245] Wang N, Tytell JD, Ingber DE. Mechanotransduction at a distance: mechanically coupling the extracellular matrix with the nucleus. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10(1):75–82. https://www.nature.com/articles/nrm2594.
- [246] Crisp M, Liu Q, Roux K, Rattner JB, Shanahan C, Burke B, Hodzic D. Coupling of the nucleus and cytoplasm: role of the LINC complex. J Cell Biol 2006;172(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200509124. pii:jcb.200509124.
- [247] Zhang Q, Skepper JN, Yang F, Davies JD, Hegyi L, Roberts RG, Shanahan CM. Nesprins: a novel family of spectrin-repeat-containing proteins that localize to the nuclear membrane in multiple tissues. J Cell Sci 2001;114(Pt 24):4485–98.
- [248] Mattout A, Meshorer E. Chromatin plasticity and genome organization in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2010;22(3): 334–41.
- [249] Alberts B, Bray D, Lewis J, Raff M, Watson J. Molecular biology of the cell. New York: Garland Publishing Inc.; 1994.
- [250] Dechat T, Pfleghaar K, Sengupta K, Shimi T, Shumaker DK, Solimando L, Goldman RD. Nuclear lamins: major factors in the structural organization and function of the nucleus and chromatin. Genes Dev 2008;22(7):832–53. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1652708. pii:22/7/832.
- [251] Gieni RS, Hendzel MJ. Mechanotransduction from the ECM to the genome: are the pieces now in place? J Cell Biochem 2008;104(6):1964–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21364.
- [252] Fey EG, Wan KM, Penman S. Epithelial cytoskeletal framework and nuclear matrix-intermediate filament scaffold: three-dimensional organization and protein composition. J Cell Biol 1984;98(6):1973–84.
- [253] Maniotis AJ, Chen CS, Ingber DE. Demonstration of mechanical connections between integrins, cytoskeletal filaments, and nucleoplasm that stabilize nuclear structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94(3):849–54.
- [254] Chiquet M, Fambrough DM. Chick myotendinous antigen. I. A monoclonal antibody as a marker for tendon and muscle morphogenesis. J Cell Biol 1984;98(6):1926–36. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.98.6.1926.
- [255] Koch M, Bohrmann B, Matthison M, Hagios C, Trueb B, Chiquet M. Large and small splice variants of collagen XII: differential expression and ligand binding. Journal of Cell Biology 1995;130(4):1005–14.
- [256] Walchli C, Koch M, Chiquet M, Odermatt BF, Trueb B. Tissue-specific expression of the fibril-associated collagens XII and XIV. J Cell Sci 1994; 107(Pt 2):669–81.
- [257] Carver W, Nagpal ML, Nachtigal M, Borg TK, Terracio L. Collagen expression in mechanically stimulated cardiac fibroblasts. Circ Res 1991; 69(1):116-22.
- [258] Atance J, Yost MJ, Carver W. Influence of the extracellular matrix on the regulation of cardiac fibroblast behavior by mechanical stretch. J Cell Physiol 2004;200(3):377–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20034.

# Intelligent Surfaces for Cell Sheet Engineering

Hironobu Takahashi, Tatsuya Shimizu, Teruo Okano Institute of Advanced Biomedical Engineering and Science, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Tokyo, Japan

# **INTRODUCTION**

Cell- and tissue-based therapy has become a promising approach to curing a number of diseases and disorders. To obtain sufficient therapeutic effects, transplanted cell populations need to survive and then function appropriately in the transplanted site. The conventional method delivers cells directly by injecting suspended cells to the target site in the body; however, poor cell retention and survival at the target site are severe problems that prevent significant therapeutic effects on the damaged tissues. Tissue engineering, which was first proposed in the 1980s by R. Langer and J. P. Vacanti, promises to overcome this limitation in the field of cell-based therapy [1-3]. Delivery of cultured cells to damaged tissue in patients requires supporting materials for the primary cells that provide specific environments for cell growth in vitro while maintaining their structure during delivery. Advances in tissue engineering have produced scaffolds of various kinds of natural and synthetic polymeric materials to provide cells with a threedimensional (3D) environment for adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation into a specific cell phenotype [4-6]. This technology is able to organize and arrange cells 3D in vitro. For example, collagen, fibrin, and alginate have often been used as a scaffold [7,8]. However, the implantation of naturally derived polymers may trigger an immune rejection in some patients, which has led to the wide use of synthetic polymers for tissue construction. For example, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) and its derivatives are commonly used for scaffold fabrication because their physical properties and degradation rates can be custom designed [9,10]. On the other hand, regardless of the scaffold materials used, most still have limitations such as insufficient cell migration into the scaffold and poor permeability to permit the ingress of cells and nutrients. In addition, the degradation of the scaffold can decrease the in vivo stability of scaffold-based tissues after implantation. Furthermore, in many cases, 3D scaffolds occupy some space within the constructed tissues that prevents cell-cell interaction. To overcome these limitations, a scaffold-free tissue generation system was needed for a new class of regenerative medicine technology. Intelligent thermoresponsive cell culture substrates can be used as powerful tools to establish a unique type of tissue engineering called "cell sheet engineering."

# THE INTELLIGENCE OF THERMORESPONSIVE POLYMERS FOR CELL SHEET ENGINEERING

# Thermoresponsive Polymer for Biomedical Applications

A number of stimulus-responsive polymers have been used as functional biomaterials in the fields of diagnostics, drug delivery system, and tissue engineering [11–14]. The physical properties of these materials change depending on the temperature or pH. In some other cases, light irradiation or exposure to an electrical and magnetic field can be used as a trigger to change their properties. Thermoresponsive poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm) is well-known as a functional polymer for such uses as thermally induced drug release and thermally regulated separation systems [15–18]. The physical properties of PIPAAm change across its lower critical solution temperature (LCST) of



**FIGURE 28.1** (A) Temperature-dependent change of hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm) in solution. (B) Detachment of adhering cells on a thermoresponsive surface by lowering the culture temperature to 20°C. (C) Harvesting a cell sheet with preserved cell–cell junctions and associated extracellular matrix (ECM) without the use of enzymatic treatment. Photograph shows that the cell sheet shrinks two-dimensionally by detaching from the surface. *Adapted with permission from Takahashi H, Nakayama M, Yamato M, Okano T. Controlled chain length and graft density of thermoresponsive polymer brushes for optimizing cell sheet harvest. Biomacromolecules 2010;11:1991–99.* 

32°C in aqueous media. Specifically, it has a hydrophilic property owing to the hydration of the polymer chain below the LCST, and then the chain conformation changes to a compact globule state above the LCST and the polymer becomes hydrophobic (Fig. 28.1A) [19]. This temperature-dependent switching behavior has been widely used in the field of drug delivery and allows us to design stimuli-induced release systems for various kinds of drugs (e.g., hydrophobic small molecules, biopharmaceuticals).

# Thermoresponsive Surface for Regulating Cell Adhesion and Detachment

The thermoresponsive property of PIPAAm has been used to provide intelligence to a tissue culture substrate. PIPAAm-grafted surfaces behave as a cell adhesive surface at the normal culture temperature (37°C), whereas the surface becomes hydrophilic and they behave as a nonadhesive surface below the LCST. As a result, various kinds of cells adhering to the surface at 37°C detach spontaneously from the surface when the temperature is lowered below the LCST (for example, 20°C) (Fig. 28.1B) [20–22]. This thermally regulated cell detachment allows the adhered cells to be collected from the culture surface without an enzymatic treatment such as trypsinization. Importantly, when cells are confluent on the intelligent surface, a cellular monolayer can be harvested as a single continuous cell sheet by lowering the culture temperature (Fig. 28.1C). In conventional studies, naturally derived materials are widely used as scaffolds to provide an appropriate environment for transplanted cells and manipulate the therapeutic cells. On the other hand, the thermoresponsive surface is able to release a single cell sheet with only the associated extracellular matrix (ECM) (Fig. 28.1C). Moreover, because the cell sheet is harvested without enzymatic treatment, important membrane proteins and cell–cell junctions within the cell monolayer remain intact when it is transplanted. This unique tissue construction method is called "cell sheet engineering" and is applied to tissue engineering and regenerative medicine [23].

# Controlled Grafting of Thermoresponsive Polymer on Culture Substrates

To achieve the regulation of cell adhesion and detachment, PIPAAm needs to be grafted precisely at a nanoscale. The amount grafted and its thickness are key factors to provide the appropriate hydrophobicity for cell adhesion at normal culture temperature; the surface is allowed to become nonadhesive by lowering the temperature across the LCST (approximately 30°C in culture medium). The PIPAAm is grafted by electron beam (EB) irradiation to an



FIGURE 28.2 (A) Schematic illustration of molecular motion of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm) chains and cell adhesion and detachment behaviors on PIPAAm-grafted surfaces at different graft thicknesses. A PIPAAm layer at an appropriate thickness allows both cell adhesion at 37°C and cell detachment at 20°C. On the other hand, when the amount of PIPAAm is increased by changing electron beam irradiation, the surface is nonadhesive for cells regardless of the culture temperature. (B) Correlation of cell adhesion and thickness of the PIPAAm layer on a glass substrate and tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) substrate. The range of the appropriate thickness is different between glass and TCPS substrates. *Adapted with permission from Fukumori K, Akiyama Y, Kumashiro Y, Kobayashi J, Yamato M, Sakai K, Okano T. Characterization of ultra-thin temperature-responsive polymer layer and its polymer thickness dependency on cell attachment/detachment properties. Macromol Biosci 2010;10: 1117–29.* 

*N*-isopropylacrylamide solution on a tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) dish. As a result, PIPAAm can be grafted covalently and the amount grafted can be controlled at a nanoscale. The polymer thickness can be optimized by changing the monomer concentration and EB irradiation conditions. A previous study demonstrated that a PIPAAm layer approximately 20 nm thick is appropriate to achieve both cell adhesion and detachment by changing the temperature [25]. A thicker layer of PIPAAm makes the surface too hydrophilic for most types of cells, so they are unable to adhere in significant numbers on the surface even at a normal culture temperature (Fig. 28.2A). In addition, the appropriate thickness of the PIPAAm layer depends on culture substrates. For example, when PIPAAm is grafted on a glass substrate, a smaller amount of PIPAAm is optimal for regulating cell adhesion and detachment behavior owing to the difference in surface properties between TCPS and the glass surface (Fig. 28.2B) [26,27]. Therefore, to prepare a thermoresponsive surface for cell sheet engineering, precise control of the polymer grafting is required. Thermoresponsive culture dishes prepared using EB-irradiation methods are commercially available.

# Variety of Fabrication Techniques of Thermoresponsive Cell Culture Substrate

Several kinds of polymer grafting techniques have been developed to produce thermoresponsive surfaces for cell sheet engineering. Surface-initiated living radical polymerization (LRP) processes can provide polymer brush—type thermoresponsive surfaces. Because the LRP processes are widely used to synthesize polymers at precisely controlled molecular weights, this polymer grafting is advantageous to fabricate well-defined thermoresponsive polymer brushes. Atom transfer radical polymerization and reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer (RAFT) polymerization have been successfully used for PIPAAm brush grafting onto cell culture surfaces [24,28,29]. For example, because surface-initiated RAFT approaches allow the fabrication of polymer brushes with a uniform chain length, the grafted conditions can be precisely adjusted by controlling both the chain length and the graft density of the polymer (Fig. 28.3) [24]. On the other hand, a block copolymer of PIPAAm domain and a hydrophobic polymer domain can be used to achieve a simple coating on a culture surface by spin-coating the free polymer in solution [30]. In this approach, unlike the LRP process, PIPAAm can be synthesized as a free polymer, and then the culture surface can simply be coated with the polymers. To fabricate any kind of cell sheet, a suitable thermoresponsive surface needs to be selected according to the features of the cell sheet such as the cell type. This approach has promoted the development of a wide variety of thermoresponsive surfaces that have been used effectively to fabricate unique cell sheets.



FIGURE 28.3 Performance of cell sheet harvesting using various kinds of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm) brush surfaces with different polymer chain lengths and graft densities. "Good" and "not detached" ("N.D.") in the photographs indicate complete cell sheet harvest by reducing the temperature (20°C) and no cell sheet detachment within 24 h by reducing the temperature, respectively. "Poor" indicates that some cell sheets showed complete harvest within 24 h but some did not. By changing the chain length and density of the PIPAAm brush (three different densities and chain length in the figure), thermoresponsive properties could be precisely controlled. Scale bar: 100 μm. Adapted with permission from Takahashi H, Nakayama M, Yamato M, Okano T. Controlled chain length and graft density of thermoresponsive polymer brushes for optimizing cell sheet harvest. Biomacromolecules 2010;11:1991–99.

# CLINICAL APPLICATIONS FOR CELL SHEET ENGINEERING

The advantages of cell sheet engineering have been shown in a number of experimental studies as well as in human clinical studies of cell transplantation. The use of intelligent surfaces allows us to harvest therapeutic cells with complete preservation of cell–cell junctions and the associated ECM [31,32]. Therefore, a cell sheet can be manipulated simply without an artificial scaffold and transplanted just by placement onto a target site. Because the preserved ECM layer acts as a glue to adhere cell sheets tightly to the host tissue, this cell transplantation can be completed without additional treatments such as suturing. With these advantages, human clinical studies are ongoing targeting the regeneration of cornea, esophagus, heart, periodontal ligament, and cartilage.

# Cornea Reconstruction

The unique cell sheet features mean that cell sheet engineering can be applied to treat epithelial tissues effectively. In fact, oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets have been exploited for corneal reconstruction. Severe trauma or eye diseases such as Stevens—Johnson syndrome can cause the complete loss of corneal epithelial stem cells and may result in corneal opacification with severe visual loss; to date no effective therapy has been established without limbal allograft transplantation. Cultured epithelial cell sheets derived from oral mucosal tissue have been successfully fabricated on the intelligent surface and are transplantable simply by handling with the support of a poly(vinylidene fluoride) membrane and placing the sheet onto the patient's corneal stroma without a scaffold [33]. The transplanted cell sheets adhere rapidly to the host corneal surface without suturing. A preclinical study using a rabbit model demonstrated that this cell sheet retained the corneal epithelium-like structure. After transplantation, it was confirmed that vascularization and inflammation were inhibited in the transplanted tissue and the corneal clarity and smoothness recovered significantly (Fig. 28.4). Clinical studies demonstrated that by transplanting the autologous epithelial cell sheet to human patients, this treatment with cell sheets provided good tolerability and efficacy after grafting.

CLINICAL APPLICATIONS FOR CELL SHEET ENGINEERING



FIGURE 28.4 Schematic illustration of the preparation method for an oral mucosal epithelial cell sheet using the intelligent surface, and photograph of a transplanted cell sheet onto a diseased eye.

# Esophagus Reconstruction After Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection Treatment

Mucosal epithelial cell sheets can be transplanted to an ulcer wound bed after endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD). ESD is a commonly used operative procedure to resect superficial early-stage cancers in the gastrointestinal tract with low invasiveness compared with open surgery. However, postoperative inflammation and stenosis are still major complications observed in the resected area. Severe esophageal stricture after endoscopic treatment often requires repeated endoscopic balloon dilations or a temporary stent. Transplantation of autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets promotes epithelialization of the resected area and prevents postoperative complications including esophageal stenosis [34–37]. These transplantable epithelial cell sheets retain all of the cell membrane proteins and ECM deposited during culture. Therefore, these cell sheets can easily adhere to and integrate into the transplanted tissue sites within a short period. In addition, the placement of cell sheets into the mucosal defect does not require sutures or other adhesives. Furthermore, an autologous epidermal cell sheet is useful for preventing esophageal stenosis after ESD. More autologous cell sheets can be fabricated than ones originating from oral mucosal tissue. Based on these animal studies, human autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets are fabricated using an intelligent surface. Preliminary results showed early reepithelialization of the ulcer site; results suggest its efficacy for preventing stricture in cases of circumferential ESD. A further randomized study is being prepared to fully assess the potential benefits of using cultured autologous cell sheets therapies in regenerative medicine.

## Myocardium Regeneration

Cell-based therapy is also predicted to be an important treatment for patients with severe heart failure including dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) and ischemic heart disease. Skeletal myoblasts have been widely used in the clinical application of cell transplantation because of possible advantages including their autologous origin, high obtainability, high proliferative potential in vitro, and strong resistance to hypoxia followed by ischemia [38,39]. However, because of the poor retention of suspended cells to the target cardiac tissue, in many cases multiple injections are required to deliver high numbers of cells. In addition, the needle injection itself is highly invasive and induces cell death at the injected area, resulting in a risk for myocardial infarction [40]. To overcome these issues, the skeletal myoblast sheet derived from medial vastus muscle has been developed as a patch for myocardial regeneration. Sawa and coworkers demonstrated that autologous skeletal myoblast sheets harvested from the intelligent surface could be used to treat severe DCM [41,42]. Using this effective cell delivery approach, large numbers of myoblasts can be transplanted onto a damaged site. The myoblast sheets potentially release therapeutic cytokines including stromal-derived factor-1, hepatocyte growth factor, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and deliver them to a damaged tissue effectively [43]. Although conventional scaffold-based cell transplantation also allows delivery of therapeutic myoblasts, it is unable to form the kind of cell-dense microenvironment found in a cell sheet construct.

In addition, its inflexible bulky properties are unable to withstand the dynamic pulsation of the host myocardial tissue. Studies demonstrated that this scaffold-free tissue delivery system has been also used to deliver other cell types (e.g., cardiac stem cell, adipocyte) in cell sheets to treat myocardial infarction in mice [44,45]. These strategies also have the potential to become a novel drug delivery system for myocardial treatment. In a case report, autologous myoblast sheets were transplanted into the heart of a patient with DCM. This cell sheet transplantation dramatically improved cardiac functions, resulting in no symptoms attributable to heart failure, left ventricular assist device weaning, and eventual hospital discharge.

# Periodontal Ligament Regeneration

Periodontitis is an inflammatory disease characterized by periodontal tissue destruction. It predominates as the main cause of tooth loss in adults. It is well-known that periodontal ligament (PDL) tissues include stem cell populations and possibly differentiate into alveolar bone and cementum. A clinical study using autologous PDL cell sheets was carried out and achieved periodontal regeneration [46,47]. To fabricate PDL cell sheets in this human clinical study, PDL tissue was obtained from an unnecessary tooth such as a wisdom tooth. To deliver a large number of cells, triple-layered cell sheets were generally implanted in the proximity of the infrabony defect. No adverse events were found in nine patients and the safety and efficacy of the cell sheet approach were confirmed [48].

# **Cartilage Regeneration**

Regenerative products for articular cartilage are available for patients with osteochondral defects but repeated abrasion of an articulated surface causes symptoms of immovable joints and pain. This radical treatment for osteoarthritis has not yet been established; current treatments such as nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and injection of hyaluronic acid are usually conducted to retard disease progression. Triple-layer chondrocyte sheets might be applicable as a curative treatment for this partial-thickness defect of articular cartilage [49]. A clinical study is ongoing in which autologous chondrocyte sheets are transplanted onto the lesion of early middle-stage osteoarthritis. This scaffold-free cell transplantation is anticipated to be effective in patients with full-thickness cartilage defects as well as those with partial thickness defects.

# CELL SHEET ENGINEERING PRODUCES SCAFFOLD-FREE, THREE-DIMENSIONAL TISSUE CONSTRUCTS

# Cell Sheet Layering Technique

Progress in induced pluripotent stem cell (iPS) technology worldwide has opened up an entirely new era of life science research [50-52]. In the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, iPS technology provides an important key to achieving cell-based therapies with the patient's own cells. In addition, it is expected that human cell-based tissue models will be developed for drug discovery and biological studies because patient-specific cells can be used to produce a customized tissue model for a specific disease. To exploit this excellent source of cells for medical applications, more integrated tissue engineering technology is required. 3D scaffolds from natural and synthetic polymers have commonly been used to provide a 3D environment for cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation into specific cell phenotypes. On the other hand, cell sheet engineering allows the creation of scaffold-free 3D tissues by layering multiple cell sheets. By placing one cell sheet onto another, the layered cell sheets bond tightly because of the preserved ECM underneath each individual cell sheet (Fig. 28.5) [53,54]. The cells can communicate with each other both physically and biologically [55–58]. The combination of these characteristics in the cell sheet layering process allows us to engineer functional 3D tissues. For example, cardiomyocytes cultured on the intelligent surface can be harvested as a single continuous cell sheet and each cardiomyocyte sheet exhibits synchronized beating within the cells of the sheet. Furthermore, when multiple beating cardiomyocyte sheets are layered, beatings at different rates are further synchronized throughout the entire 3D myocardial tissue construct [55,56]. This indicates that just by layering each cell sheet atop each other, they can interact electrochemically



**FIGURE 28.5** Cell sheet layering process for the production of a multilayer cell sheet construct without the use of scaffold. Because of the preserved extracellular matrix proteins, multiple cell sheets can be stacked tightly simply by layering them. *Adapted with permission from Haraguchi Y*, *Shimizu T, Sasagawa T, Sekine H, Sakaguchi K, Kikuchi T, et al. Fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues by stacking cell sheets in vitro. Nat Protoc* 2012;7: 850–8.

between each cell layer. Therefore, this technique offers the potential for constructing large-scale 3D tissues without the use of a 3D scaffold.

# Three-Dimensional Coculture System Based on Cell Sheet Layering

Cell sheet layering technology can be used to produce unique 3D cocultured tissue constructs. In the field of liver tissue engineering, because it is difficult to preserve hepatocyte-specific functions in vitro, several culture methods have been proposed, including coculture with other types of cells [59]. In particular, coculture methods with endothelial cells (ECs) significantly contributed to maintaining hepatic functions compared with conventional monolayer cultures [60,61]. However, the structural configuration of hepatocytes is considerably different from that of the natural liver. Cell sheet engineering can be applied to harvest a rat hepatocyte sheet from the intelligent surface and then sandwich it between two endothelial cell sheets (Fig. 28.6A) [62,63]. Within this 3D hepatic tissue construct, in vivo–like hepatocyte polarization was organized (Fig. 28.6B). This morphological similarity between the engineered rat hepatic tissues and native liver is advantageous for preparing bioartificial liver devices that require a highly effective delivery system for blood components to the hepatocytes. In addition, hepatocyte-specific functions, including albumin secretion, ammonia removal, and the induction of cytochrome P450, were highly preserved (Fig. 28.6C) [62]. The technology for layering multiple cell sheets is a simple operation and successfully reproduced both heterotypic/homotypic cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions with the native hepatocyte configurations. Because the 3D hepatic constructs closely mimic the in vivo environment, it could be valuable as a tissue model for drug screening, as an implantable tissue for cell-based therapies, and as an efficient culture platform for bioartificial liver devices [64].

# Vascularization in Cell Sheets for Large-scale Tissue Construction

Although cell sheet layering is useful for producing large-scale tissues, most engineered tissues including multilayer cell sheets require vascularization to supply sufficient oxygen and nutrients inside the tissues [65–67]. As described earlier, synchronously pulsatile myocardial tissues have been successfully fabricated by stacking multiple cardiomyocyte sheets [55,56]. However, in a long-term in vitro culture, severe necrosis can be found within the 28. INTELLIGENT SURFACES FOR CELL SHEET ENGINEERING



**FIGURE 28.6** (A) Preparation of multilayer cell sheets composed of rat hepatocytes (Hep) and endothelial cell (ECs). (B) The formation of bile canaliculus (BC) can be observed only in multilayer cell sheets in which a hepatocyte sheet is sandwiched between two EC sheets (EC-Hep-EC). (C) Albumin secretion is maintained in the long term by sandwiching a hepatocyte sheet between two EC sheets, compared with double-layered hepatocyte and EC sheets and a single hepatocyte sheet. *NC*, nucleus. *Adapted with permission from Kim K, Utoh R, Ohashi K, Kikuchi T, Okano T. Fabrication of functional 3D hepatic tissues with polarized hepatocytes by stacking endothelial cell sheets in vitro. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017; 11: 2071–2080.* 

engineered myocardial tissue [68]. This has been a limitation of producing thicker multilayer cell sheet constructs. Typically, in tissue transplantation, host-originated blood vessels invade the transplanted tissue, providing a supply of oxygen and nutrients within the tissue. However, thick tissues often become necrotic before sufficient neovascularization is established in the tissue. Moreover, neovascularization in engineered tissue cultured in vitro has not been achieved successfully. Coculture with EC is a promising approach to promoting vascular formation within engineered tissue. Through the cell sheet layering process, ECs can be incorporated simply by being sandwiched between two other cell sheets. Interestingly, the ECs form vascular-like branching networks in the layer cell sheets, which promote vascularization and connections to the host vasculatures after transplantation [69,70]. However, in an in vitro culture, maturation of the prevascularized networks is limited and perfusable tubular structures can rarely be found within the layered cell sheet construct. To overcome this problem and produce a thicker tissue, a technique for the in vitro formation of mature blood vessels was developed. To mimic in vivo conditions, layered cardiomyocyte sheets cocultured with ECs are transferred onto a vascular bed using a resected section of femoral tissue containing a connectable artery and vein [71,72]. For example, when a triple-layered cell sheet construct is placed on the vascular bed in the bioreactor system, the preserved ECM allows the cell sheets to adhere tightly onto the vascular bed; consequently, branching endothelial cell networks connect to the blood vessels originating from the vascular bed. After the formation of functional tubular blood vessels in the tissue construct, the cell sheets can survive owing to the newly formed vasculatures. This enables other triple-layered sheets construct to be layered onto the first cell sheet construct without causing necrosis, resulting in the production of six-layer cell sheets. Based





Step-by-step vascularization in cell sheets

(A)

Cardiomyocyte

FIGURE 28.7 (A) Production of vascularized cell sheet constructs using a vascular bed. Endothelial cell (ECs) cocultured with cardiomyocyte sheets form a vascular-like branching network. (B) The EC network can connect to the vasculature in the vascular bed and oxygen and nutrients are supplied to the multilayer cell sheets through the newly formed vasculature. (C) After vascularization, step-by-step layering of additional triple-layer cell sheets produce thicker cell sheet constructs complete with new vasculature formations. (D) A previous study demonstrated that a 12-layer cardiomyocyte sheet construct could be produced using this vascular bed system without severe necrosis inside the construct. *Adapted with permission from Sekine H, Shimizu T, Sakaguchi K, Dobashi I, Wada M, Yamato M, et al. In vitro fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues with perfusable blood vessels. Nat Commun 2013;4:1399.* 

on this repeated cell sheet layering, the in vitro cell-dense tissues can be scaled up as desired. This technique may be applied to many other tissue types needed to generate thick vascularized tissues (Fig. 28.7).

# COMBINATION OF CELL SHEET ENGINEERING AND SCAFFOLD-BASED ENGINEERING

Whereas cell sheet technology established scaffold-free tissue engineering, the unique properties of cell sheets could also be used jointly with scaffold-based tissue engineering. In the field of vascular tissue engineering, the basic strategy is to mimic a native blood vessel by combining vascular cells, mostly ECs and smooth muscle cells (SMCs), with a tubular scaffold under suitable culture conditions. Electrospinning is one of the most useful techniques for producing a tubular scaffold of synthetic polymers [73,74]. By seeding ECs onto a tubular scaffold composites of synthetic polycaprolactones and type I collagen, an engineered vascular tissue was produced and maintained structural integrity after implantation in a rabbit aortoiliac bypass model [75]. To produce mature blood vessels, SMCs have an important role because they contribute to the contractility and mechanical stability of mature vasculatures, and so they are often used as another cell source of vascular grafts [76,77]. However, because of the tubular-shaped geometry of the vascular scaffolds, cell seeding onto the exterior surface of the scaffold fails to achieve efficient cell penetration into the vascular scaffolds. In a cell sheet engineering approach, SMC sheets can be produced using a thermoresponsive substrate and the vascular graft can be effectively wrapped with the sheet
#### 28. INTELLIGENT SURFACES FOR CELL SHEET ENGINEERING



**FIGURE 28.8** Fabrication of smooth muscle cell (SMC) layers on a vascular scaffold based on cell sheet engineering. By wrapping a tubular scaffold composed of polycaprolactone/collagen with SMC sheets, a mature smooth muscle layer can be efficiently produced, compared with one simply fabricated by seeding SMCs onto a scaffold.  $\alpha$ -SMA,  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin; CX43, connexin43; MLCK, myosin light chain kinase. Adapted with permission from Ahn H, Ju YM, Takahashi H, Williams DF, Yoo JJ, Lee SJ, et al. Engineered small diameter vascular grafts by combining cell sheet engineering and electrospinning technology. Acta Biomater 2015;16:14–22.

(Fig. 28.8) [78]. Cell sheet technology can produce a mature smooth muscle layer before it is applied to the vascular graft. Unlike simply seeding SMCs, the cells forming a cell sheet retain the all-important cell–cell junctions and express contractile proteins when they are applied onto the vascular scaffold. In addition, the secondary harvested cell sheet can be subsequently layered onto the first cell sheet and the graft can continue to be wrapped with multiple cell sheets. In a previous study, triple-layer SMC sheets were fabricated around a tubular scaffold. On the other hand, cell necrosis within the multilayer cell sheets needs to be addressed. In the previous study, a pulsatile perfusion bioreactor system was used to improve the nutrition supply and gas exchange. In addition, the pulsatile flow and pressure to the cell sheet–vascular scaffold led to tissue maturity that could withstand the level of blood flow from the native artery.

# MICROFABRICATED INTELLIGENT SURFACE FOR ENGINEERING COMPLEX TISSUE CONSTRUCTS

# Copatterning to Create a Cellular Microenvironment

Progress in cell sheet engineering technology has led to cell sheets being applied to the construction of various kinds of tissues and organs [79–82]. It has been confirmed that many different types of cells can be applied to fabricate cell sheets using a thermoresponsive surface. On the other hand, living tissues are composed of multiple cell types in which cell-to-cell interactions influence and maintain the development of characteristic physiological functions and activities. As described earlier, for example, ECs can provide the appropriate environment for hepatic cells under normal culture conditions [60,61]. In previous studies, it was demonstrated that when hepatic cells and ECs were copatterned on micropatterned surfaces, the patterned hepatocytes effectively maintained their functions even in 2D culture by optimizing the size of the hepatic cell patterns [83]. These results demonstrate that copatterned cell sheets of hepatocytes and ECs are one option for producing functional hepatic tissues. Micropatterning on a thermoresponsive surface supports the fabrication of copatterned cell sheets [84,85]. EB irradiation using photomasks onto a PIPAAm surface allows poly(*n*-butyl methacrylate) (PBMA) to be grafted spatio-selectively onto the surface (Fig. 28.9A). Because the LCST of the polymer-grafted regions is decreased by the presence of PBMA patterns, the regions become adhesive only at 27°C, whereas the nonirradiated regions show a cellrepellent property at the same temperature. Therefore, rat primary hepatocytes can be patterned on the PBMA regions at 27°C and then secondary seeded ECs can be patterned on the PIPAAm homopolymer regions at the normal culture temperature, resulting in the copatterning of hepatocytes and endothelial cells on the thermoresponsive surface (Fig. 28.9B–D). Because the copatterned hepatocytes, which can be harvested as a cell sheet (Fig. 28.9E), maintain the functions to synthesize albumin and urea, this type of functional hepatocyte assembly is expected to be useful for liver tissue engineering.

MICROFABRICATED INTELLIGENT SURFACE FOR ENGINEERING COMPLEX TISSUE CONSTRUCTS



FIGURE 28.9 (A) Fabrication process of copatterns of rat primary hepatocytes (HCs) and endothelial cells (ECs) and harvest of a cell sheet using a micropatterned thermoresponsive surface. (B) Microscopic image of copatterned HCs and ECs. (C) Microscopic image in the square area in (B). (D) Fluorescence image of HC pattern on the thermoresponsive surface. (E) Photograph of a detaching cell sheet, composed of patterned HCs and ECs, by lowering the culture temperature. *P(IPAA-co-BMA)*, poly(isopropylacrylamide-co-butyl methacrylate); *PIPAAm*, poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide). *Adapted with permission from Tsuda Y, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Nakao A, Sakurai Y, Umezu M, et al. The use of patterned dual thermoresponsive surfaces for the collective recovery as co-cultured cell sheets. Biomaterials 2005;26:1885–93; Tsuda Y, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Chen G, Okano T. Heterotypic cell interactions on a dually patterned surface. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;348:937–44.* 

# Regulating Cell Orientation in Cell Sheet Engineering

#### Intelligent Surfaces for Regulating Cell Orientation

Native tissues often form specific structures that are well-known important factors for producing an appropriate functionality [86–89]. Ideally, engineered tissues should be produced in an environment that closely mimics the microstructure of native tissue. In particular, some kinds of native tissues, such as muscle tissues, have wellorganized orientations of cells and/or ECM, and their tissue anisotropy are a critical factor in providing biomimetic functions to engineered tissues. For example, in native skeletal muscle, the bundle structure of highly oriented myofibers is essential for generating mechanical functions. Micropatterning approaches can be used to regulate the cell orientation on culture substrates [90]. Although a variety of microfabricated substrates have been reported, conventional substrates have limitations to releasing the well-organized cell monolayer from the culture surface. Because the intelligent surface allows the harvest of aligned cells as a single-cell sheet, cell sheet engineering overcomes these limitations to facilitate the design of 3D cell orientation within a densely packed cell environment. To achieve this, several kinds of micropatterned thermoresponsive substrates have been developed [91,92]. Using these substrates, cell orientation is first regulated 2D and then the aligned cells are stacked as cell sheets layer by layer. Microgrooved polydimethylsiloxane substrates are widely used to control cell alignment, and the same method can be applied to produce aligned cells on the thermoresponsive surface [93]. First, a microgrooved TCPS substrate is prepared and then PIPAAm is grafted over the whole surface. As a result, the surface functions to regulate cell orientation and release the cell sheet. The LRP process is also effective for producing micropatterns on a thermoresponsive polymer layer. Through two-step polymerization, hydrophilic poly(N-acryloylmorpholine) (PAcMo) can be grafted sitespecifically on a PIPAAm layer, resulting in block polymer, PIPAAm-b-PAcMo domains and PIPAAm domains (Fig. 28.10A) [94,95]. The width of the patterns is a key factor in the regulation of cell orientation, and the previous study demonstrated that a 50  $\times$  50-µm striped pattern was appropriate for producing a cell sheet composed of aligned cells. Because of the difference in the cell-to-surface affinity on the surfaces, cells are aligned parallel to the stripe patterns simply by cell seeding. For example, human dermal fibroblasts proliferate and reach confluency while maintaining alignment on the patterned surfaces (Fig. 28.10B) [92,95]. Harvested cell sheets typically shrink 2D and maintain the original aspect of the cell monolayer, whereas here the aligned actin fibers in the cell monolayer induced two distinctive shrinking rates in the vertical and parallel sides of the cell alignment (Fig. 28.10C). This suggests that the cell orientation influences the physical properties of cell sheets. In addition, the cell alignment induces a change in the biological properties of cell sheets. A previous study demonstrated that VEGF secretion from a normal human dermal fibroblast sheet was increased by organizing the alignment of fibroblasts [95]. As described 480

28. INTELLIGENT SURFACES FOR CELL SHEET ENGINEERING



**FIGURE 28.10** (A) Fabrication of micropatterned thermoresponsive surface composed of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm) regions and PIPAAm-*b*-poly(*N*-acryloylmorpholine) (PAcMo) regions through spatio-selective grafting of PAcMo on a PIPAAm-grafted surface. (B) Microscopic images of fibroblast sheets prepared using normal (nonpatterned) and patterned thermoresponsive surfaces. (C) Photographs of cell sheets harvested from normal (nonpatterned) and patterned thermoresponsive surfaces by lowering culture temperature. (D) Schematic illustration of layering process of cell sheets composed of aligned cells using a gelatin gel-coated manipulator. (E) Fluorescence image of perpendicularly layered fibroblast sheets produced by cell sheet layering. Actin fibers of cell sheets are stained red. *Adapted with permission from Takahashi H*, *Nakayama M*, *Shimizu T*, *Yamato M*, *Okano T*. *Anisotropic cell sheets for constructing three-dimensional tissue with well-organized cell orientation*. *Biomaterials* 2011;32:8830–8.

earlier, vascularization is one of the main issues to constructing large-scale tissue successfully [71,72] and angiogenic growth factors such as VEGF are important mediators to promoting vascularization in tissues. Therefore, this could potentially enhance vascularization in multilayered cell sheets. These patterned substrates are also able to regulate the orientation of osteoblasts, SMCs, and mesenchymal stem cells [91].

#### Arrangement of Three-Dimensional Orientation Using Cell Sheet Layering Techniques

Because cell sheets can be manipulated using a gelatin gel-coated plunger [53], cell sheets composed of aligned cells can be layered while maintaining the designed orientation. In some native tissues, tissue anisotropy is organized 3D and the orientation of their structures is essential for specific mechanical and biological functions. For example, native myocardial tissue consists of multiple layers of aligned cardiomyocytes that are oriented in various directions throughout the whole tissue [88,89,96]. This well-organized 3D oriented structure is important for generating the anisotropic electrical propagation found in the native myocardium. However, it remains difficult to arrange different cell orientations vertically using conventional biomaterial scaffolds. Employing the cell sheet layering technique, cell sheets composed of aligned cells can be layered upon each other to achieve the desired directions (Fig. 28.10D). For example, 3D perpendicularly oriented fibroblast sheet constructs can be created without using a 3D scaffold (Fig. 28.10E) [95]. This strategy is simple and flexible for creating a variety of tissue architectures. As described earlier, the cell-dense tissue structure is important for multiple cell sheets to communicate with each other within the layered cell sheet construct. Therefore, this technique of arranging cell orientation within engineered tissues is expected to be useful for producing biomimetic myocardial tissues.

#### **Skeletal Muscle Tissue Engineering**

Because native skeletal muscle tissue is made of highly oriented myofibers, the orientation of muscle cells needs to be regulated to produce biomimetic muscle tissue constructs [97–99]. Using the micropatterned intelligent surface, it is possible to align human skeletal muscle myoblasts in a direction parallel to the striped patterns (Fig. 28.11A) [57,58].



FIGURE 28.11 (A) Myoblast sheet prepared using a micropatterned thermoresponsive surface. (B) Myotubes differentiated from random and aligned myoblasts fabricated on normal and patterned surfaces. (C) Rearrangement of cell orientation of random myoblasts (bottom cells: fluorescently stained) by layering a cell sheet composed of aligned myoblasts (top cells: unstained). (D) Myotube construct produced through the differentiation of three myoblast sheets (top layer: aligned myoblasts; middle and bottom layers: random myoblasts). The random myoblasts self-organize their orientation with the top cell sheet's alignment after they are layered. *Adapted with permission from Takahashi H, Shimizu T, Nakayama M, Yamato M, Okano T. The use of anisotropic cell sheets to control orientation during the self-organization of 3D muscle tissue. Biomaterials 2013;34: 7372–80.* 

After reaching confluence, the aligned myoblasts can be harvested as a single continuous cell sheet by lowering the culture temperature to 20°C. Then, after culturing the aligned myoblasts in differentiation media (e.g., 2% horse serum-containing media), they differentiate into myotubes while maintaining their aligned orientation (Fig. 28.11B). In addition, regulating the aligned orientation stimulates the formation of longer myotubes, compared with randomly oriented myoblasts. This aligned structure will be important for producing biomimetic muscle tissue [100]. Moreover, because the aligned myotubes can be layered with cell sheet technology, this combination supports the production of 3D aligned muscle tissues, which is required for scaling up skeletal muscle tissues. On the other hand, previous study found a unique behavior of myoblasts [57]. When a single cell sheet composed of aligned myoblasts was layered onto a normal cell sheet composed of randomly oriented myoblasts, the bottom myoblasts rearranged their orientation in the same direction as the top aligned cells (Fig. 28.11C). Consequently, all myoblasts became aligned within the layered cell sheet construct. Although the mechanism has not yet been elucidated, this self-organization process possibly shows an important factor for regulating cell-ECM orientation in native muscle tissues. Furthermore, this self-organizing behavior allows us simply to produce 3D myotube constructs with a single orientation. Because the top cell layer stimulates random cells to become aligned, three cell sheets of aligned myoblasts are not necessary to produce a triple-layer myotube construct with a single common direction. Myoblasts in the tissue construct are able to self-adjust their 3D orientation precisely. After self-organization is completed, the 3D tissue construct forms an aligned structure of myotubes (Fig. 28.11D). This cell sheet—based technology provides a new potential for constructing complex tissues composed of natively oriented cell assemblies, particularly for skeletal muscle tissue [58].

#### CONCLUSIONS

Progress in tissue engineering enables cells to be cultured 3D on polymeric scaffolds and then transplanted at desired sites for tissue regeneration. Scaffold-based tissue engineering continues to develop, but cell sheet engineering has also expanded its unique features and advantages to create a new field in regenerative medicine. Intelligent surfaces allowing us to use cell sheets have been applied to human clinical studies that deliver therapeutic cells to

damaged sites. Moreover, the cell sheet transplantation approach will probably be applied to other tissue regeneration applications in the near future. Moreover, new cell sheet technologies including polymer grafting, cell patterning, and cell sheet layering promise to advance the production of sophisticated 3D tissues with complex structures. To develop an integrated tissue model for future drug discovery, we need to develop techniques to construct more complex tissues. To meet this challenge, a new level of cell sheet engineering must be developed to be able to construct any complex tissue with well-organized structures. The combination of microfabricated and thermoresponsive substrates will provide anisotropy within the cell sheets and allow us to use them as "anisotropic tissue units" to produce flexible tissue constructs with multiple 3D orientations. Progress in cell sheet engineering has shown the potential to produce scaffold-free 3D oriented tissue constructs with complex microstructures mimicking native tissues.

# References

- [1] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260:920-6.
- [2] Vacanti JP, Langer R. Tissue engineering: the design and fabrication of living replacement devices for surgical reconstruction and transplantation. Lancet 1999;354(Suppl. 1):SI32-4.
- [3] Buikema JW, Van Der Meer P, Sluijter JP, Domian IJ. Concise review: engineering myocardial tissue: the convergence of stem cells biology and tissue engineering technology. Stem Cells 2013;31:2587–98.
- [4] Hutmacher DW. Scaffold design and fabrication technologies for engineering tissues-state of the art and future perspectives. J Biomater Sci 2001;12:107–24.
- [5] Yang S, Leong KF, Du Z, Chua CK. The design of scaffolds for use in tissue engineering. Part I. Traditional factors. Tissue Eng 2001;7:679–89.
   [6] Griffith LG. Emerging design principles in biomaterials and scaffolds for tissue engineering. Ann NY Acad Sci 2002;961:83–95.
- [7] Shao X, Hunter CJ. Developing an alginate/chitosan hybrid fiber scaffold for annulus fibrosus cells. J Biomed Mater Res 2007;82:701–10.
- [7] Shao X, Hutter CJ. Developing an algulate/chlosar hybrid hoer scanold for annulus indicate cens. J biomed Mater Res 2007;62:701–10.
   [8] Wang Y, Cui FZ, Hu K, Zhu XD, Fan DD. Bone regeneration by using scaffold based on mineralized recombinant collagen. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;86:29–35.
- [9] Sahoo SK, Panda AK, Labhasetwar V. Characterization of porous PLGA/PLA microparticles as a scaffold for three dimensional growth of breast cancer cells. Biomacromolecules 2005;6:1132–9.
- [10] Saito E, Liao EE, Hu WW, Krebsbach PH, Hollister SJ. Effects of designed PLLA and 50:50 PLGA scaffold architectures on bone formation in vivo. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2013;7:99–111.
- [11] Hoffman AS. Hydrogels for biomedical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:3–12.
- [12] Smela E. Conjugated polymer actuators for biomedical applications. Adv Mater 2003;15:481-94.
- [13] Kikuchi A, Okano T. Pulsatile drug release control using hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:53-77.
- [14] Eeckman F, Moes AJ, Amighi K. Evaluation of a new controlled-drug delivery concept based on the use of thermoresponsive polymers. Int J Pharm 2002;241:113–25.
- [15] Bae YH, Okano T, Hsu R, Kim SW. Thermo-sensitive polymers as on-off switches for drug release. Die Makromolekulare Chemie Rapid Commun 1987;8:481–5.
- [16] Kurisawa M, Yokoyama M, Okano T. Gene expression control by temperature with thermo-responsive polymeric gene carriers. J Contr Release 2000;69:127–37.
- [17] Kanazawa H, Yamamoto K, Matsushima Y, Takai N, Kikuchi A, Sakurai Y, et al. Temperature-responsive chromatography using poly(Nisopropylacrylamide)-modified silica. Anal Chem 1996;68:100–5.
- [18] Cole MA, Voelcker NH, Thissen H, Griesser HJ. Stimuli-responsive interfaces and systems for the control of protein-surface and cell-surface interactions. Biomaterials 2009;30:1827–50.
- [19] Heskins M, Guillet JE. Solution properties of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide). J Macromol Sci A Chem 1968;2:1441-55.
- [20] Yamada N, Okano T, Sakai H, Karikusa F, Sawasaki Y, Sakurai Y. Thermo-responsive polymeric surfaces; control of attachment and detachment of cultured cells. Die Makromolekulare Chemie Rapid Commun 1990;11:571–6.
- [21] Okano T, Yamada N, Okuhara M, Sakai H, Sakurai Y. Mechanism of cell detachment from temperature-modulated, hydrophilichydrophobic polymer surfaces. Biomaterials 1995;16:297–303.
- [22] Yang J, Yamato M, Okano T. Cell-sheet engineering using intelligent surfaces. MRS Bull 2005;30:189-93.
- [23] Okano T. Cell sheet engineering for tissue and organ regeneration. Tissue Eng 2007;13:882–3.
- [24] Takahashi H, Nakayama M, Yamato M, Okano T. Controlled chain length and graft density of thermoresponsive polymer brushes for optimizing cell sheet harvest. Biomacromolecules 2010;11:1991–9.
- [25] Akiyama Y, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Okano T. Ultrathin poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) grafted layer on polystyrene surfaces for cell adhesion/ detachment control. Langmuir 2004;20:5506–11.
- [26] Fukumori K, Akiyama Y, Kumashiro Y, Kobayashi J, Yamato M, Sakai K, Okano T. Characterization of ultra-thin temperature-responsive polymer layer and its polymer thickness dependency on cell attachment/detachment properties. Macromol Biosci 2010;10:1117–29.
- [27] Fukumori K, Akiyama Y, Yamato M, Kobayashi J, Sakai K, Okano T. Temperature-responsive glass coverslips with an ultrathin poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) layer. Acta Biomater 2009;5:470–6.
- [28] Mizutani A, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Kanazawa H, Okano T. Preparation of thermoresponsive polymer brush surfaces and their interaction with cells. Biomaterials 2008;29:2073–81.
- [29] Takahashi H, Matsuzaka N, Nakayama M, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Okano T. Terminally functionalized thermoresponsive polymer brushes for simultaneously promoting cell adhesion and cell sheet harvest. Biomacromolecules 2012;13:253–60.
- [30] Nakayama M, Yamada N, Kumashiro Y, Kanazawa H, Yamato M, Okano T. Thermoresponsive poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-based block copolymer coating for optimizing cell sheet fabrication. Macromol Biosci 2012;12:751–60.

#### REFERENCES

- [31] Ide T, Nishida K, Yamato M, Sumide T, Utsumi M, Nozaki T, et al. Structural characterization of bioengineered human corneal endothelial cell sheets fabricated on temperature-responsive culture dishes. Biomaterials 2006;27:607–14.
- [32] Kushida A, Yamato M, Konno C, Kikuchi A, Sakurai Y, Okano T. Temperature-responsive culture dishes allow nonenzymatic harvest of differentiated Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cell sheets. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;51:216–23.
- [33] Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Yamamoto K, Adachi E, et al. Corneal reconstruction with tissue-engineered cell sheets composed of autologous oral mucosal epithelium. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1187–96.
- [34] Ohki T, Yamato M, Murakami D, Takagi R, Yang J, Namiki H, et al. Treatment of oesophageal ulcerations using endoscopic transplantation of tissue-engineered autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets in a canine model. Gut 2006;55:1704–10.
- [35] Ohki T, Yamato M, Ota M, Takagi R, Murakami D, Kondo M, et al. Prevention of esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection using tissue-engineered cell sheets. Gastroenterology 2012;143:582–8.
- [36] Ohki T, Yamato M, Ota M, Takagi R, Kondo M, Kanai N, et al. Application of regenerative medical technology using tissue-engineered cell sheets for endoscopic submucosal dissection of esophageal neoplasms. Dig Endosc 2015;27:182–8.
- [37] Takagi R, Yamato M, Kanai N, Murakami D, Kondo M, Ishii T, et al. Cell sheet technology for regeneration of esophageal mucosa. World J Gastroenterol 2012;18:5145–50.
- [38] Taylor DA, Atkins BZ, Hungspreugs P, Jones TR, Reedy MC, Hutcheson KA, et al. Regenerating functional myocardium: improved performance after skeletal myoblast transplantation. Nat Med 1998;4:929–33.
- [39] Vilquin JT. Myoblast transplantation: clinical trials and perspectives. mini-review. Acta Myol 2005;24:119–27.
- [40] Mouly V, Aamiri A, Perie S, Mamchaoui K, Barani A, Bigot A, et al. Myoblast transfer therapy: is there any light at the end of the tunnel? Acta Myol 2005;24:128–33.
- [41] Kondoh H, Sawa Y, Miyagawa S, Sakakida-Kitagawa S, Memon IA, Kawaguchi N, et al. Longer preservation of cardiac performance by sheet-shaped myoblast implantation in dilated cardiomyopathic hamsters. Cardiovasc Res 2006;69:466–75.
- [42] Hata H, Matsumiya G, Miyagawa S, Kondoh H, Kawaguchi N, Matsuura N, et al. Grafted skeletal myoblast sheets attenuate myocardial remodeling in pacing-induced canine heart failure model. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006;132:918–24.
- [43] Memon IA, Sawa Y, Fukushima N, Matsumiya G, Miyagawa S, Taketani S, et al. Repair of impaired myocardium by means of implantation of engineered autologous myoblast sheets. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;130:1333–41.
- [44] Imanishi Y, Miyagawa S, Maeda N, Fukushima S, Kitagawa-Sakakida S, Daimon T, et al. Induced adipocyte cell-sheet ameliorates cardiac dysfunction in a mouse myocardial infarction model. Circulation 2011;124:S10–7.
- [45] Miyahara Y, Nagaya N, Kataoka M, Yanagawa B, Tanaka K, Hao H, et al. Monolayered mesenchymal stem cells repair scarred myocardium after myocardial infarction. Nat Med 2006;12:459–65.
- [46] Iwata T, Yamato M, Tsuchioka H, Takagi R, Mukobata S, Washio K, et al. Periodontal regeneration with multi-layered periodontal ligamentderived cell sheets in a canine model. Biomaterials 2009;30:2716–23.
- [47] Ishikawa I, Iwata T, Washio K, Okano T, Nagasawa T, Iwasaki K, et al. Cell sheet engineering and other novel cell-based approaches to periodontal regeneration. Periodontology 2000;2009(51):220–38.
- [48] Washio K, Iwata T, Mizutani M, Ando T, Yamato M, Okano T, et al. Assessment of cell sheets derived from human periodontal ligament cells: a pre-clinical study. Cell Tissue Res 2010;341:397–404.
- [49] Sato M, Yamato M, Hamahashi K, Okano T, Mochida J. Articular cartilage regeneration using cell sheet technology. Anat Rec 2014;297:36–43.
- [50] Inoue H, Nagata N, Kurokawa H, Yamanaka S. iPS cells: a game changer for future medicine. EMBO J 2014;33:409-17.
- [51] Sun N, Yazawa M, Liu J, Han L, Sanchez-Freire V, Abilez OJ, et al. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells as a model for familial dilated cardiomyopathy. Sci Transl Med 2012;4:130ra147.
- [52] Takebe T, Zhang RR, Koike H, Kimura M, Yoshizawa E, Enomura M, et al. Generation of a vascularized and functional human liver from an iPSC-derived organ bud transplant. Nat Protoc 2014;9:396–409.
- [53] Haraguchi Y, Shimizu T, Sasagawa T, Sekine H, Sakaguchi K, Kikuchi T, et al. Fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues by stacking cell sheets in vitro. Nat Protoc 2012;7:850–8.
- [54] Kino-oka M, Ngo TX, Nagamori E, Takezawa Y, Miyake Y, Sawa Y, et al. Evaluation of vertical cell fluidity in a multilayered sheet of skeletal myoblasts. J Biosci Bioeng 2012;113:128–31.
- [55] Haraguchi Y, Shimizu T, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, Okano T. Electrical coupling of cardiomyocyte sheets occurs rapidly via functional gap junction formation. Biomaterials 2006;27:4765–74.
- [56] Haraguchi Y, Shimizu T, Yamato M, Okano T. Electrical interaction between cardiomyocyte sheets separated by non-cardiomyocyte sheets in heterogeneous tissues. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2010;4:291–9.
- [57] Takahashi H, Shimizu T, Nakayama M, Yamato M, Okano T. The use of anisotropic cell sheets to control orientation during the self-organization of 3D muscle tissue. Biomaterials 2013;34:7372–80.
- [58] Takahashi H, Shimizu T, Nakayama M, Yamato M, Okano T. Anisotropic cellular network formation in engineered muscle tissue through the self-organization of neurons and endothelial cells. Adv Healthc Mater 2015;4:356–60.
- [59] Godoy P, Hewitt NJ, Albrecht U, Andersen ME, Ansari N, Bhattacharya S, et al. Recent advances in 2D and 3D in vitro systems using primary hepatocytes, alternative hepatocyte sources and non-parenchymal liver cells and their use in investigating mechanisms of hepatotoxicity, cell signaling and ADME. Arch Toxicol 2013;87:1315–530.
- [60] Bale SS, Golberg I, Jindal R, McCarty WJ, Luitje M, Hegde M, et al. Long-term coculture strategies for primary hepatocytes and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. Tissue Eng C Meth 2014;21:413–22.
- [61] Liu Y, Li H, Yan S, Wei J, Li X. Hepatocyte cocultures with endothelial cells and fibroblasts on micropatterned fibrous mats to promote liver-specific functions and capillary formation capabilities. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:1044–54.
- [62] Kim K, Utoh R, Ohashi K, Kikuchi T, Okano T. Fabrication of functional 3D hepatic tissues with polarized hepatocytes by stacking endothelial cell sheets in vitro. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017;11:2071–80.
- [63] Kim K, Ohashi K, Utoh R, Kano K, Okano T. Preserved liver-specific functions of hepatocytes in 3D co-culture with endothelial cell sheets. Biomaterials 2012;33:1406–13.
- [64] Kimlin L, Kassis J, Virador V. 3D in vitro tissue models and their potential for drug screening. Expet Opin Drug Discov 2013;8:1455–66.
- [65] Jain RK, Au P, Tam J, Duda DG, Fukumura D. Engineering vascularized tissue. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23:821-3.

#### 484

- [66] Ogawa R, Oki K, Hyakusoku H. Vascular tissue engineering and vascularized 3D tissue regeneration. Regen Med 2007;2:831-7.
- [67] Levenberg S, Rouwkema J, Macdonald M, Garfein ES, Kohane DS, Darland DC, et al. Engineering vascularized skeletal muscle tissue. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23:879–84.
- [68] Shimizu T, Sekine H, Yang J, Isoi Y, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, et al. Polysurgery of cell sheet grafts overcomes diffusion limits to produce thick, vascularized myocardial tissues. Faseb J 2006;20:708–10.
- [69] Sasagawa T, Shimizu T, Sekiya S, Haraguchi Y, Yamato M, Sawa Y, et al. Design of prevascularized three-dimensional cell-dense tissues using a cell sheet stacking manipulation technology. Biomaterials 2010;31:1646–54.
- [70] Shimizu T, Yamato M, Isoi Y, Akutsu T, Setomaru T, Abe K, et al. Fabrication of pulsatile cardiac tissue grafts using a novel 3-dimensional cell sheet manipulation technique and temperature-responsive cell culture surfaces. Circ Res 2002;90:e40–8.
- [71] Sekine H, Shimizu T, Sakaguchi K, Dobashi I, Wada M, Yamato M, et al. In vitro fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues with perfusable blood vessels. Nat Commun 2013;4:1399.
- [72] Sakaguchi K, Shimizu T, Horaguchi S, Sekine H, Yamato M, Umezu M, et al. In vitro engineering of vascularized tissue surrogates. Sci Rep 2013;3:1316.
- [73] Zhang X, Reagan MR, Kaplan DL. Electrospun silk biomaterial scaffolds for regenerative medicine. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2009;61:988–1006.
- [74] Hasan A, Memic A, Annabi N, Hossain M, Paul A, Dokmeci MR, et al. Electrospun scaffolds for tissue engineering of vascular grafts. Acta Biomater 2014;10:11–25.
- [75] Ju YM, Choi JS, Atala A, Yoo JJ, Lee SJ. Bilayered scaffold for engineering cellularized blood vessels. Biomaterials 2010;31:4313–21.
- [76] Hillebrands J-L, Klatter FA, Rozing J. Origin of vascular smooth muscle cells and the role of circulating stem cells in transplant arteriosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:380–7.
- [77] Lacolley P, Regnault V, Nicoletti A, Li Z, Michel J-B. The vascular smooth muscle cell in arterial pathology: a cell that can take on multiple roles. Cardiovasc Res 2012;95:194–204.
- [78] Ahn H, Ju YM, Takahashi H, Williams DF, Yoo JJ, Lee SJ, et al. Engineered small diameter vascular grafts by combining cell sheet engineering and electrospinning technology. Acta Biomater 2015;16:14–22.
- [79] Kuramoto G, Takagi S, Ishitani K, Shimizu T, Okano T, Matsui H. Preventive effect of oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets on intrauterine adhesions. Hum Reprod 2015;30:406–16.
- [80] Kanzaki M, Yamato M, Yang J, Sekine H, Kohno C, Takagi R, et al. Dynamic sealing of lung air leaks by the transplantation of tissue engineered cell sheets. Biomaterials 2007;28:4294–302.
- [81] Akimoto J, Takagi S, Nakayama M, Arauchi A, Yamato M, Okano T. Transplantation of cancerous cell sheets effectively generates tumourbearing model mice. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;10:E510-7.
- [82] Yamamoto K, Hama T, Yamato M, Uchimizu H, Sugiyama H, Takagi R, et al. The effect of transplantation of nasal mucosal epithelial cell sheets after middle ear surgery in a rabbit model. Biomaterials 2015;42:87–93.
- [83] Bhatia SN, Balis UJ, Yarmush ML, Toner M. Effect of cell-cell interactions in preservation of cellular phenotype: cocultivation of hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells. Faseb J 1999;13:1883–900.
- [84] Tsuda Y, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Nakao A, Sakurai Y, Umezu M, et al. The use of patterned dual thermoresponsive surfaces for the collective recovery as co-cultured cell sheets. Biomaterials 2005;26:1885–93.
- [85] Tsuda Y, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Chen G, Okano T. Heterotypic cell interactions on a dually patterned surface. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;348:937–44.
- [86] Connon CJ, Meek KM. Organization of corneal collagen fibrils during the healing of trephined wounds in rabbits. Wound Repair Regen 2003;11:71–8.
- [87] Foolen J, van Donkelaar C, Nowlan N, Murphy P, Huiskes R, Ito K. Collagen orientation in periosteum and perichondrium is aligned with preferential directions of tissue growth. J Orthop Res 2008;26:1263–8.
- [88] Camelliti P, Borg TK, Kohl P. Structural and functional characterisation of cardiac fibroblasts. Cardiovasc Res 2005;65:40-51.
- [89] Vunjak-Novakovic G, Tandon N, Godier A, Maidhof R, Marsano A, Martens TP, et al. Challenges in cardiac tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2010;16:169–87.
- [90] Lucker PB, Javaherian S, Soleas JP, Halverson D, Zandstra PW, McGuigan AP. A microgroove patterned multiwell cell culture plate for highthroughput studies of cell alignment. Biotechnol Bioeng 2014;111:2537–48.
- [91] Takahashi H, Okano T. Cell sheet-based tissue engineering for organizing anisotropic tissue constructs produced using microfabricated thermoresponsive substrates. Adv Healthc Mater 2015;4:2388–407.
- [92] Muraoka M, Shimizu T, Itoga K, Takahashi H, Okano T. Control of the formation of vascular networks in 3D tissue engineered constructs. Biomaterials 2013;34:696–703.
- [93] Isenberg BC, Tsuda Y, Williams C, Shimizu T, Yamato M, Okano T, et al. A thermoresponsive, microtextured substrate for cell sheet engineering with defined structural organization. Biomaterials 2008;29:2565–72.
- [94] Takahashi H, Nakayama M, Itoga K, Yamato M, Okano T. Micropatterned thermoresponsive polymer brush surfaces for fabricating cell sheets with well-controlled orientational structures. Biomacromolecules 2011;12:1414–8.
- [95] Takahashi H, Nakayama M, Shimizu T, Yamato M, Okano T. Anisotropic cell sheets for constructing three-dimensional tissue with well-organized cell orientation. Biomaterials 2011;32:8830–8.
- [96] Badie N, Bursac N. Novel micropatterned cardiac cell cultures with realistic ventricular microstructure. Biophys J 2009;96:3873-85.
- [97] Kim SJ, Cho HR, Cho KW, Qiao S, Rhim JS, Soh M, et al. Multifunctional cell-culture platform for aligned cell sheet monitoring, transfer printing, and therapy. ACS Nano 2015;9:2677–88.
- [98] Huang NF, Lee RJ, Li S. Engineering of aligned skeletal muscle by micropatterning. Am J Transl Res 2010;2:43-55.
- [99] Anene-Nzelu CG, Peh KY, Fraiszudeen A, Kuan YH, Ng SH, Toh YC, et al. Scalable alignment of three-dimensional cellular constructs in a microfluidic chip. Lab Chip 2013;13:4124–33.
- [100] Choi JS, Lee SJ, Christ GJ, Atala A, Yoo JJ. The influence of electrospun aligned poly(epsilon-caprolactone)/collagen nanofiber meshes on the formation of self-aligned skeletal muscle myotubes. Biomaterials 2008;29:2899–906.

# 29

# Applications of Nanotechnology for Regenerative Medicine; Healing Tissues at the Nanoscale

Yafeng Yang<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, Aditya Chawla<sup>1,2,3,\*</sup>, Jin Zhang<sup>1,2</sup>, Adam Esa<sup>4</sup>, Hae Lin Jang<sup>1,2,3,¶</sup>, Ali Khademhosseini<sup>1,2,3,5,6,¶</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States; <sup>3</sup>Harvard University, Boston, MA, United States; <sup>4</sup>Cardiff University, Cardiff Wales, United Kingdom; <sup>5</sup>Konkuk University, Seoul, Republic of Korea; <sup>6</sup>King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

# INTRODUCTION

Regenerative medicine aims to develop methods to regrow, repair, or replace damaged or diseased cells, tissues, or organs [1] based on integrated strategies from tissue engineering, molecular biology, biomaterials, and stem cell biology. Tissue regeneration can be achieved by stimulating the repair mechanisms of the body, particularly by the delivery of stem cells that can perform biological functions and materials that can function as scaffolds to promote cell proliferation. Because human tissues have a nanoscale structure (Fig. 29.1), progress in nanotechnology has accelerated advances in regenerative medicine with the ability to mimic the composition and structure of human tissues and organs at the nanoscale [4,5] (Fig. 29.2). In addition, many functional nanomaterials have been used to deliver drugs, proteins, and genes for tissue regeneration [4].

Since Richard Feynman first proposed the idea of developing technology at the atomic scale in 1959, nanotechnology has been rapidly developed and actively investigated in many biomedical research fields. According to the US National Nanotechnology Initiative, nanotechnology is defined as "the understanding and control of matter at dimensions of roughly 1–100 nm, where unique phenomena enable novel applications." Nanotechnologies have been incorporated into multiple research areas related to regenerative medicine, including drug delivery, stem cell therapy, and scaffolds for tissue engineering [6–9]. For example, thermoresponsive liposome (TSL) nanoparticles can release their cargo at the liposome transition temperature [10]. When doxorubicin (DOX) was loaded into TSL nanoparticles, only a small amount of leakage was monitored at  $37^{\circ}$ C. As the temperature was raised to  $42^{\circ}$ C, almost 100% of DOX was released from TSL nanoparticles. In this respect, TSL nanoparticles have the potential to be applied to target a tumor site where the temperature is higher (~40–42°C) compared with normal tissues (~37^{\circ}C) [10].

In this chapter, we will present the unique physicochemical properties of nanomaterials for applications in regenerative medicine. In addition, we will discuss nanotechnology-based strategies in regenerative medicine for treating multiple types of tissues, including bone, muscle, blood vessels, and neural tissues. We will also introduce nanotechnology-based stem cell therapy, particularly for controlling stem cell fate and function.

\* These authors contributed equally to this book chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>¶</sup>Both corresponding authors contributed equally to this book chapter.



**FIGURE 29.1 Nanoscale features of human tissues.** In neural tissue, the axon initial segment is responsible for generating action potentials in neurons and is organized at the nanoscale. This structure is organized periodically in a longitudinal direction and is layered radially. This nanoscale architecture is crucial for neuronal function. (Adapted from Leterrier et al. [2].) The compact bone tissue consists of osteons (100  $\mu$ m), which are composed of reinforced fibers formed by aggregated type I collagen and calcium phosphate nanoparticles (Adapted from Wegst et al. [3].) In muscle tissue, myofibrils are aligned in parallel and are composed of sarcomeres. The sarcomeres consist of protein filaments composed of actin and are arranged in a direction parallel to thick filaments composed of aggregates of myosin. Myofibrils, sarcomeres, and myosin can have nanoscale dimensions. In tendon tissue, a tendon fiber is composed of a hierarchical structure of tendon fibers, fascicle, and nanoscale collagen fibrils (50–500 nm), which are further composed of collagen molecules (~1.3 nm). *Adapted from Nourissat G, Berenbaum F, Duprez D. Tendon injury: from biology to tendon repair. Nat Rev Rheumatol* 2015;11:223–33.

# **PROPERTIES OF NANOMATERIALS**

One aim of regenerative medicine is to embed cells in synthetic or natural scaffolds to produce functional tissues or organs. In the body, cells interact closely with the nanostructured extracellular matrix (ECM), where these nanoscale topographical features can direct cellular growth, adhesion, motility, and differentiation [5]. Cells also adhere to proteins located in the nanofibrous ECM, such as laminin and fibronectin, by their nanoscale receptors such as integrins and cadherins [11]. To fabricate biomimetic scaffolds that can be used to improve tissue regeneration, nanomaterials such as nanoparticles, nanofibers, and nanofilms have been developed to mimic the composition and structure of tissues at the nanoscale [4,5]. These nanomaterials possess distinguished physicochemical, optical, magnetic, and electrical properties compared with their bulk-level counterparts [12] (Fig. 29.3). Next, we will discuss these unique properties of nanomaterials that have enabled novel applications to develop functional tissues, targeted delivery, and in vivo stem cell imaging for tissue regeneration.

### **Physical Properties**

The physical properties of natural systems, such as their size, shape, and surface topography, are directly related to their function. For example, the discoidal shape of erythrocytes promotes its mechanical flexibility and



FIGURE 29.2 Engineering nanostructured scaffolds for human tissues. Heart tissue is composed of elongated and aligned cardiomyocytes that are mechanically coupled with the nanostructured extracellular matrix (ECM) to form anisotropic syncytium. Nanogrooved structures can be formed on substrates to promote the alignment of cardiomyocytes for cardiac tissue engineering. Liver tissue is composed of polarized epithelial cells between the ECM, lumen, and other cells for efficient mass transfer. This tissue polarity can be recapitulated on nanofibers by surface modification to enhance cell adhesion. Bone tissue is a composite of collagen and hydroxyapatite (HAP) nanocrystals. A bone-mimetic scaffold composed of HAP can promote osteogenesis and bone formation. *Adapted from Dvir T, Timko BP, Kohane DS, Langer R. Nanotechnological strategies for engineering complex tissues. Nat Nanotechnol* 2011;6:13–22.

biorheological properties and allows them to traverse blood vessels as small as  $2-3 \mu m$  [13,14]. In addition, the surface texture of cell substrates, particularly at the nanoscale, can influence various cellular processes such as differentiation, motility, spreading, and apoptosis [13]. For example, epithelial cells grow in an elongated form on surfaces patterned with nanoscale grooves and ridges, whereas these cells have a rounded morphology on smooth surfaces [11]. These observations have promoted the development of nanomaterials with novel physical properties for applications in regenerative medicine.

# Size

The delivery of drugs, genes, and peptides to a specific tissue can enhance drug efficiency while lowering systemic side effects; it is a useful approach in regenerative medicine for treating diseased or damaged tissues [5]. The small size of nanoparticles results in favorable properties compared with microparticle-based delivery methods, such as improved circulation and the ability to cross tissue barriers [15]. The size of the nanoparticle is correlated with the efficiency of cellular uptake and is determined by the avidity of ligand—receptor interactions between the nanoparticle and the cell surface [16]. In the range of 5 nm, nanoparticles cannot bind a sufficient number of receptors to induce membrane wrapping for efficient uptake. However, nanoparticles of sizes 50 nm or greater can bind multiple receptors but can limit the additional binding of nanoparticles. These properties can vary according to the cell type and culture conditions, which can cause variations in the number of receptors and internalization mechanisms [16].



**FIGURE 29.3 Physicochemical properties of nanomaterials.** The unique physical features of nanomaterials include their size and shape. The small size of nanoparticles allows them to traverse tissue barriers. The shape of nanoparticles can vary from particles to fibers, needles, and tubes. These nanomaterials can self-assemble into a larger structural unit based on covalent or noncovalent interaction. For example, peptides with an amphiphilic structure can self-assemble into tubular structures. The high surface area and reactivity of nanoparticles can promote protein adsorption, which can affect their biological properties. Electrically conductive nanomaterials can be applied to restore the electroactive function of tissues such as nerve and heart. The optical properties of quantum dots (QDs) create variations in color according to size properties. The toxicity of QDs can be minimized by coating with a bioinert ZnS layer. The magnetic nanoparticles can be used for magnetic resonance imaging and can control magnetic actuation of individual receptors with a magnetic field (*B*).

The regeneration of brain tissue is particularly limited by the extremely low permeation rate (<1%) of small drugs or peptides, such as neurotrophins, through the blood-brain barrier (BBB) [17]. This barrier is formed by tight junctions between blood vessel endothelial cells (ECs), which restrict the passage of solutes [17]. To pass the BBB, gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) can be a potentially powerful drug carrier owing to their small size. In particular, 15-and 50-nm AuNPs could accumulate in the brain [18], which demonstrates their possible use in crossing the BBB for drug delivery applications.

## Shape

The anisotropy and shape specificity of biological interactions are a critical parameter for functions at the cell, tissue, and organ levels [19]. For example, hydroxyapatite (HAP) (Ca<sub>10</sub>[PO<sub>4</sub>]<sub>6</sub>[OH]<sub>2</sub>) nanoparticles with a needle shape incorporated in a polycaprolactone (PCL) scaffold can promote osteoblast differentiation compared with rod or spherical-shaped HAP owing to their improved mechanical strength [20,21]. Therefore, the modification of nanoparticles into specific shapes such as cylinders, rods, and tubes has resulted in novel applications for tissue engineering.

In some cases, the shape of a nanoparticle can have a more significant effect than size on its functionality. For example, although micrometer-sized particles are cleared rapidly from circulation, 18- $\mu$ m-long filomicelles with two nanoscale dimensions (20–60 nm) have a dramatically improved circulation half-life (~5 days). This unique property allows filomicelles to cross tissue barriers such as in the spleen and to evade phagocytosis and degradation by the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS) [22].

#### PROPERTIES OF NANOMATERIALS

The incorporation of anisotropic nanostructures using materials such as carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and nano-HAP into scaffolds can also mimic the anisotropic structure of the ECM to provide ex vivo cues for tissue development [19]. For example, collagen fibrils in the ECM can be hundreds of micrometers long with diameters on the nanoscale (10–300 nm) and their longitudinal orientation results in high tensile strength. Similarly, CNTs have a high aspect ratio and their aligned structure in polymer scaffolds can impart high mechanical strength to scaffolds [23,24].

#### Surface Topography

Interest in adult and embryonic stem cells (ESCs) for applications in regenerative medicine has grown considerably, particularly for their ability to differentiate into multiple cell types to produce new tissues [25]. Materials with nanoscale topography can control cell behavior [25], based on the similar mechanism that cells can detect physical and topographical cues at the nanoscale of the ECM, such as cross-linking patterns, fiber length, fiber diameter, and surface irregularities [26]. This interaction occurs at the level of individual receptors on the cell surface, such as the transmembrane, heterodimeric protein receptors consisting of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -integrin subunits [27]. These physical cues can guide cell orientation, adhesion, and differentiation, which are essential for the formation of functional tissues [5].

In a process termed "nanoimprinting," the shape and topography of the substrate (e.g., grooves, ridges, pits) can induce a similar shape in cells through integrin clustering and cytoskeletal reorganization [27,28]. For example, a nanoimprinted surface of grooves and ridges could promote the neurite growth and alignment of dorsal root ganglion neurons, which is a useful approach to sensory neuron regeneration [29]. The scale length of the substrate is also correlated with cell activity, because nanoscale island shapes ranging from 10 to 20 nm can promote cell adhesion and spreading of fibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), and ECs, whereas a size of 100 nm can inhibit cell spreading and differentiation [27]. In accordance with this general observation, a spacing of 15 nm could promote the osteogenesis of MSCs owing to optimal integrin clustering [30].

Cell–substrate interactions can induce mechanical tension (i.e., mechanotransduction) and nuclear reorganization through cytoskeletal tension, resulting in gene expression changes that influence stem cell differentiation and function [31]. The influence of mechanotransduction on gene expression is a result of multiple synergistic effects such as the increased access of transcription factors to DNA, the alteration of nuclear pores for messenger RNA transport, and transcription complex formation [32]. A number of pathologies result from the loss of mechanotransduction, such as osteoporosis, cancer, and arteriosclerosis, which demonstrates its importance in cellular function [33].

In addition to physical signals, the interaction of cells on nanostructured substrates can induce chemical signals, particularly through the integrin-linked signal cascade [32]. The binding of integrin receptors to motifs in the ECM (e.g., the arginine-glycine-asparate [RGD] motif in fibronectin, vitronectin, and laminin) results in their clustering into supramolecular complexes, called focal adhesions [34]. The focal adhesion kinase (FAK) protein, which is a nonreceptor tyrosine kinase, remains constitutively bound at these sites through interaction with the β-integrin subunit. As an adhesion-dependent kinase, FAK can phosphorylate a number of molecules, such as the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1 and 2, to affect downstream cell signaling [32]. For instance, ERK 1/2 can translocate into the nucleus and modulate cellular activity by affecting transcription factor expression, such as the runt-related transcription factor 2, a key regulator of bone formation [32,35]. Evidence that the nanotopographical interaction of substrates can influence cell activity has promoted the development of novel nanostructured biomaterials for applications in bone and heart tissue regeneration.

Bone tissue is a nanocomposite structure of organic collagen nanofibers and inorganic materials such as HAP and whitlockite ( $Ca_{18}Mg_2[HPO_4]_2[PO_4]_1_2$ ), which range in size from 20 to 50 nm in lamellar bone and 10 to 50 nm in woven bone [36–38]. However, conventional orthopedic bone implants are based on larger, micrometer-scaled grains, which can cause fibrotic tissue formation as a result of poor bone tissue integration [36]. The formation of a nanostructured coating layer on the surface of bone implant materials (i.e., ceramics and metals) can improve their biocompatibility and bioactivity by stimulating osteoblast adhesion, proliferation, and calcium deposition [5,36]. In particular, surfaces with random features at the scale of 100 nm can promote greater osteogenesis of human MSCs (hMSCs) compared with ordered surface, and can be incorporated into biomaterials for improved bone–material contact [27,39,40].

The myocardium of the heart is composed of many different cell types, such as cardiomyocytes and fibroblasts, which interact with the nanoscale topographical and molecular structure of the surrounding ECM [11]. In particular, the nanoscale structural and mechanical cues of the ECM can promote mechanical coupling between cardiomyocytes to form aligned, elongated bundles to create an anisotropic syncytium [11]. However, the in vitro expansion of cardiomyocytes results in the loss of this native organization and can compromise features crucial to tissue

function, such as cell geometry and conduction velocity [41]. The formation of cardiac tissue constructs with nanoscaled grooves can recapitulate cardiomyocyte elongation and alignment found in vivo through increased contraction-mediated stress and cell spreading [41].

### **Chemical Properties**

490

The surface atoms of bulk solids represent a small fraction of their total composition, so the external surface contributes minimally to their material properties. However, as the surface-to-volume ratio increases to the nano-scale, the surface chemistry becomes dominant, affecting chemical properties such as solubility, luminescence, and catalytic activity [42].

#### Surface Chemistry

As a result of their surface reactivity, nanoparticles can adsorb endogenous proteins on their surface when placed in biological environments [43]. In the blood circulation, nanoparticles adsorb serum proteins such as immunoglobulins, complement factors, and lipoproteins, which can act as an opsonin for recognition by the immune system ultimately to influence its biodistribution [44]. In particular, negatively charged nanoparticles have a reduced level of serum protein adsorption, which can increase their circulation half-life and reduce accumulation in the liver and spleen [45,46]. In contrast, positively charged nanoparticles rapidly adsorb serum proteins, which act as a signal for clearance by the MPS in the spleen and liver [16]. For this reason, the grafting of hydrophilic polymers such as poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) is a promising strategy for improving circulation time by blocking protein adsorption through steric hindrance [47].

The internalization of nanoparticles into cells also depends on its surface charge. In particular, positively charged nanoparticles demonstrate efficient cell uptake ability compared with neutral or negative nanoparticles because of favorable electrostatic interactions with the negatively charged cell surface [16]. The interaction with positively charged particles can induce local fluidity of the phospholipid bilayer, indicating a potential mechanism for the transportation of absorbates across the cell membrane [48].

#### Self-assembly

Nanostructures can be formed through the self-assembly of intricate and ordered structures through weak noncovalent forces such as ionic bonds, hydrogen bonds, hydrophobic interactions, and van der Waals interactions [49]. This bottom-up approach to the formation of supramolecular architectures such as collagen, keratin, and coral is common in nature and can be harnessed to fabricate novel biomaterials [49]. For example, amphiphilic peptides can form  $\beta$ -sheet structures through complementary interactions between their hydrophobic and hydrophilic surfaces. These nanoscale fibers (10–20 nm in diameter) result in an interwoven matrix and can function as a cell scaffold for tissue regeneration [49,50]. In particular, these scaffolds can mimic the gross architecture of the ECM, with a small pore size (5–200 nm) and high water content, which allows growth factors and nutrients to diffuse slowly and cells to reside in a three-dimensional (3D) environment [49].

# **Optical Properties**

The transplantation of stem cells is an emerging therapeutic strategy in regenerative medicine to guide tissue regeneration [12]. An important factor in this approach is the development of noninvasive, biocompatible, and long-term strategies for monitoring stem cell proliferation, differentiation, and incorporation into the target tissue [12]. The development of nanomaterials such as quantum dots (QD) has enabled cell-specific imaging techniques with high spatial resolution and sensitivity for stem cell—based therapies [12].

QDs are colloidal semiconductor nanocrystals composed of compounds such as cadmium sulfide, cadmium selenide (CdSe), and indium phosphide [51]. At the scale of QDs (a few nanometers), quantum effects become more prominent, producing advantages over traditional fluorophores, such as an increased fluorescence life span and high fluorescence intensity [12,51]. These unique advantages can enable the long-term labeling of stem cells after they are transplanted or injected into the desired location. For example, QDs functionalized with RGD peptides remained labeled in hMSCs during self-replication and differentiation along adipogenic, androgenic, and osteogenic lineages [52]. In addition, QDs can enable the tracking of stem cells during their mechanical integration with surrounding tissue. The delivery of QD-labeled hMSCs to the heart demonstrated clear spatial distribution without nonspecific targeting to neighboring cells and could be imaged after 8 weeks [53]. In addition, the emission

#### NANOBIOMATERIALS

properties of QDs could be altered based on their size and composition, from blue wavelengths to the near-infrared region [54]. This unique property of QDs allows for multiplex imaging of various cell types in a single organism using multiple types of QDs. For example, ESCs can be labeled with multiple QDs ranging in emission from 525 to 800 nm and can be simultaneously imaged using a single excitation wavelength [55].

However, a high concentration of QDs can lead to toxicity issues such as malformations in embryonic development [55a]. The release of heavy metal ions such as  $Cd^{2+}$  or  $Se^{2-}$  from CdSe-based QDs or the generation of free radicals by photoirradiation can have a detrimental effect on cell viability [51,56]. Therefore, techniques to reduce the toxic effects of QDs, such as coating with bioinert ZnS to block the release of  $Cd^{2+}$  ions, are essential for future clinical applications [56,57].

### **Magnetic Properties**

Magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) are a class of nanomaterials composed of metals such as cobalt, nickel, and iron, with paramagnetic, ferromagnetic, or superparamagnetic properties [58]. In particular, superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) are promising for in vivo applications because they are composed of biocompatible iron metals and do not agglomerate because of a lack of mutual attraction [58]. These nanoparticles have multifunctional applications in regenerative medicine, such as stem cell tracking and nanomagnetic actuation of cell surface receptors.

The high sensitivity of SPIONs as a contrasting agent in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can enable more effective in vivo stem cell tracking [59]. The modification of SPIONs with transfection agents such as poly-L-lysine can promote efficient internalization into cells, reducing the need for high concentrations that can induce cytotox-icity [60]. The transfer of magnetic properties to cells may enable the systematic study of delivery methods, optimal engraftment approaches, and cell migration for applications in stem cell therapy [58].

In addition, MNPs can attach to the cell membrane and activate mechanosensitive ion channels when a strong magnetic field is applied, which can be used to control cellular processes [61]. In particular, physical forces such as pressure-induced strain can direct the differentiation of MSCs into various lineages such as bone, muscle, and connective tissue [61,62]. The advantage of MNPs in this approach is their small size, which can allow the mechanical actuation of individual cell receptors by an external magnetic field [61]. For example, MNPs can be targeted to the mechanosensitive potassium ion channel TREK with anti-TREK antibodies and could promote the osteogenesis of MSCs when applied with a cyclic (1-Hz) magnetic field [63].

# **Electrical Properties**

The incorporation of nanomaterials such as CNTs and graphene can increase the conductivity of scaffolds to promote the regeneration of electrically active tissues [11]. For example, CNTs are a promising material for use in neural implants because they are highly conductive and can promote the transmission of electrical signals between neurons [5]. In particular, CNTs can interface closely with neuronal circuits and synapses and can promote the formation of functional synapses [64]. Graphene has also been used to produce 3D conductive scaffolds for neuroregeneration [65]. In a model of the mouse hippocampus, graphene-based scaffolds could promote the growth of neurons and enhance their branching and outgrowth [65].

Because heart muscle tissue is underlined with conductive Purkinje fibers, the incorporation of conductive nanomaterials is relevant for myocardial tissue engineering [66,67]. For example, the homogeneous incorporation of CNTs in gelatin-based scaffolds can improve cardiomyocyte adhesion, maturation, and alignment [67]. Furthermore, to provide conductivity in cardiac scaffolds for the improved electrical communication of cardiomyocytes, they can be coupled with conductive materials such as gold nanowires [68].

# NANOBIOMATERIALS

Nanobiomaterials describe biomaterials with a size between 1 and 100 nm in at least one dimension [69]. A major advantage of nanobiomaterials is their high surface-to-volume ratio, which is important for wound healing applications because a minimal amount of material can be used to cover a large area of defect while providing an extensive surface area to deliver drugs [70,71]. Nanostructured biomaterials can also interact directly with nanoscale cell surface receptors and cellular components to provide instructive signals to the cell. Nanobiomaterials have also

been applied in regenerative medicine because they can recreate the composition and structure of the ECM at the nanoscale. Nanobiomaterials can also improve the properties of engineered tissue constructs, such as mechanical strength [11,72]. For example, nanoclay and nano-HAP have been widely used as reinforcing fillers to strengthen the mechanical stability of dental implants and articular grafts [73]. Therefore, nanobiomaterials have great potential in regenerative medicine based on their ability to direct cellular activity [74].

Nanobiomaterials can be classified as metallic, inorganic-based, carbon-based, polymeric-based, and biological protein—peptide-based, depending on their compositions (Table 29.1) [75].

Examples of metallic nanobiomaterials include AuNPs, silver nanoparticles, and iron oxide nanoparticles [75,76]. AuNPs are useful for their simple synthesis techniques, adjustable optical properties and good biocompatibility [77]. In addition, AuNPs can convert absorbed light into heat via a series of nonradiative electron relaxation dynamics [78,79]. For these reasons, they have been broadly applied in various applications, particularly drug delivery [80], photothermal cancer therapy [81], and cell tracking [82]. Advantages of silver nanoparticles include their antimicrobial and antiinflammatory properties, which are useful for combating infections; these properties are further enhanced by their large surface area [83]. Silver nanoparticles can also accelerate wound healing owing to their antimicrobial activity and can be used in artificial joint replacements by reducing the levels of proinflammatory cytokines and minimizing the wear of implants [84]. In addition, iron oxide nanoparticles are a type of magnetic nanoparticle that can be employed to transfect DNA and antisense oligonucleotides for gene therapy [85,86].

Inorganic based nanobiomaterials include mesoporous silica nanoparticles and HAP-based nanobiomaterials [75,76]. Mesoporous silica nanobiomaterials are widely used in regenerative medicine applications such as drug delivery [87] and gene delivery [88] owing to their good biocompatibility and highly porous framework. In addition, mesoporous silica nanobiomaterials can be manufactured into different shapes, such as rod-like particles, fibers,

Classifications	Examples	Applications	References
Metallic nanobiomaterials	Gold nanoparticles; silver nanoparticles; iron oxide nanoparticles	Drug delivery; photothermal therapy (breast cancer, skin carcinoma, and leukemia); detection of inflammatory and degenerative disease; cellular labeling and separation	[80-82,104-108,85]
Inorganic-based nanobiomaterials	Mesoporous silica nanoparticles; hydroxyapatite-based nanobiomaterials; carbon-based nanobiomaterials	Drug delivery; gene delivery; intracellular pathogen treatment; dental restoratives; bone defect repair platforms	[88,93,109–113]
Carbon-based nanobiomaterials	Carbon nanotubes; graphene; nanodiamonds; buckminster fullerene	Drug delivery; photothermal ablation of tumors	[76,113a]
Polymeric-based nanobiomaterials	Natural polymer-based nanobiomaterials (sodium alginate, starch, hyaluronic acid, chitin/chitosan and derivatives, dextran, albumin, and gelatin); synthetic polymer-based nanobiomaterials (poly[D,L-lactic acid], poly[D,L-lactic- <i>co</i> -glycolic acid]), poly (hydroxylalkanoates), polycaprolactone, polyacrylamide, polyanhydride)	Drug delivery; gene therapy; sensing; tissue regeneration	[98—100,114,115]
Biological protein —peptide-based nanobiomaterials	Gelatin; albumin; elastin; milk protein; gliadin; legumin	Gene delivery; gene therapy; antimicrobial substances to treat brain infections; antimicrobial substances to treat infectious diseases; intracellular delivery of proteins	[101,103,116—119]

 TABLE 29.1
 Examples and Applications of Nanobiomaterials

films, and hollow and solid nanospheres for various functionalities. For example, nanotubes can be differentially functionalized based on their outer and inner surface [89]. Furthermore, because HAP is the most common inorganic biomineral in bone tissue [90], HAP-based nanobiomaterials are a promising candidate for dental restoratives and bone defect repair platforms [91,92]. In general, HAP-based systems can be combined with collagen or elastin nanofibers to recreate the composition and structure of bone tissues to treat bone defect sites. These systems are often loaded together with antibacterial drugs or growth factors, particularly bone morphogenic protein-2, to further enhance bone tissue regeneration [93].

Carbon-based nanobiomaterials mainly refer to CNTs, graphene, nanodiamonds, and buckminster fullerene  $(C_{60})$ , which possess strong optical absorption, good electrical conductivity, and high mechanical strength [94,95]. In addition, the surfaces of these carbon-based nanobiomaterials can be functionalized by oxidation treatments or conjugation with bioactive molecules to improve their solubility and biocompatibility [96].

Polymer-based nanobiomaterials can be fabricated into different structures and compositions; they possess a range of properties that are suitable for wide applications in regenerative medicine, such as bone plates, drug delivery carriers, and tissue engineering scaffolds [97]. For example, the surfaces of polymer-based nanobiomaterials can be modified with ligands of bovine serum albumin, glutathione, transferrin, or alkane thiols to develop actively targeted drug or gene delivery systems for enhanced therapeutic efficiency in biomedical applications [98–100].

Polymeric nanobiomaterials can be further categorized into natural biological and synthetic polymer-based nanobiomaterials. Compared with synthetic polymer-based nanobiomaterials, natural polymer-based nanobiomaterials have better biocompatibility, which is beneficial for cell adhesion and tissue regeneration. However, natural polymer-based nanobiomaterials can exhibit poor mechanical properties, such as low strength and stiffness, which can result in the instability of polymer-based nanobiomaterials and burst drug release within biological systems [76]. In comparison, synthetic polymer-based nanobiomaterials have greater mechanical strength and improved structural integrity, but they generally have lower biocompatibility compared with natural polymer-based nanobiomaterials [75]. Therefore, the concept of blended polymeric nanobiomaterials composed of natural and synthetic polymer-based nanobiomaterials was devised to meet both of these biological and physical requirements [97].

Biological protein—peptide-based nanobiomaterials mainly include gelatin, albumin, elastin, milk protein, gliadin, and legumin [76]. Biological protein—peptide-based nanobiomaterials can be applied as nanocarrier systems because they are biodegradable, biocompatible, stable in blood circulation, and amphiphilic for favorable interactions with drugs and solvents [101]. In addition, biological protein—peptide-based nanobiomaterials have the flexibility to acquire desirable biophysical characteristics by surface modifications such as self-assembly or binding with other various nanomaterials [102]. For example, antimicrobial cationic peptides can be self-assembled into core-shell nanoparticles and have enhanced antimicrobial properties to treat infectious diseases with a high therapeutic index [103].

# NANOTECHNOLOGY-BASED STRATEGIES IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

# **Bone Tissue**

Bone tissue forms the human skeletal system of a vertebrate, supporting the whole body, protecting organs, producing blood cells, and storing minerals. Bone tissue can be maintained in a healthy state based on continuous bone remodeling processes [120]. Specifically, osteoclasts can dissolve weak and old bone regions by locally secreting acidic substances such as protons, whereas osteoblasts can form new bone tissues by secreting proteins such as collagen. However, disruption of these cell activities, as well as various bone diseases such as nonunion bone fractures, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, or bone cancers, can cause pain and disability.

Bone minerals incorporated in implants are commonly used to treat bone defect sites [120a]. For instance, synthetic HAP is a widely used component of bone implants because it is similar in composition to natural bone minerals [120a]. In an organic—inorganic hybrid, HAP incorporated in a poly(lactic acid) (PLA) scaffold can be fabricated by homogeneously mixing these two components in an ether-based solution, using sonication and freeze-drying to maintain its nanostructure [72]. These polymeric constructs have a high porosity (>90%) that can enhance cell ingrowth and survival, and the incorporation of HAP nanocrystals can improve the mechanical properties of the hybrid scaffold [72]. Furthermore, these HAP nanocrystals increase the adsorption of proteins, such as fibrinogen or bovine serum albumin, which can promote the osteogenic differentiation of MSCs [6].

#### **494** 29. APPLICATIONS OF NANOTECHNOLOGY FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE; HEALING TISSUES AT THE NANOSCALE

The surface nanotopography of bone implants can improve osseointegration, which is the formation of a direct interface between implant materials and bone. For example, by using colloidal lithography techniques, titanium rods can be patterned with 60-nm polystyrene semispherical protrusions to enhance bone—implant contact [121]. When this nanostructured implant was placed in a rat tibial bone defect model, it showed higher bone—implant contact compared with the nonpatterned control group. Interestingly, when the size of protrusions was increased to 120 nm, bone—implant contact decreased, which suggested an optimal size range for bone cell contact. In addition, the formation of a coating layer with osteogenic nanoparticles can further enhance bone regeneration. For example, implant materials such as polyether ether ketone and titanium have mechanical properties similar to that of bone and have been applied to treat bone in the clinic [122,123]. However, these materials are biologically inert and can separate from the surrounding tissues after implantation. In this respect, the formation of a coating layer with bioactive nanomaterials such as HAP nanoparticles can enhance the attachment and growth of osteoblasts, promoting osseointegration and bone regeneration [124].

Nanoparticle-based drug delivery can be also used to treat osteoporosis and bone cancer. AuNPs are a widely used drug delivery vector because of their low toxicity and capability for surface functionalization [80,77]. In addition, AuNPs are known to accelerate the osteogenic differentiation of stem cells while suppressing the formation of osteoclasts [125,126]. AuNPs can also be readily functionalized with biological molecules by surface modification [127]. For example, AuNPs can inhibit the activity of osteoclasts and load and deliver alendronate (ALD), an anti-resorptive drug that can induce new bone formation by promoting the proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts [128]. ALD-conjugated AuNPs can easily be obtained by mixing AuNPs with ALD solution [129]. These ALD-conjugated AuNPs can enter cells by endocytosis and can enhance the formation of trabecular bone when applied in osteoporotic mice. In addition, dextran-based lipid nanoparticles can be used to deliver anticancer drugs such as DOX [130]. This DOX-loaded polymeric nanocarrier has a curative effect on drug-resistant osteosarcoma cell lines through the accumulation of drugs in the cell nucleus. As a result, DOX-loaded nanoparticles can increase the apoptosis rate of osteosarcoma cells compared with applying DOX alone.

# Muscle Tissue

According to its function and location in the body, muscle tissue can be divided into three types: skeletal, smooth, and cardiac muscle tissues [131]. Skeletal muscle is responsible for carrying out movements and maintaining the posture of the body [132]. Smooth muscle can support hollow organ contractility, such as the gastrointestinal tract, the bladder, and blood vessels [133]. Finally, cardiac muscle is the muscle of the heart, which is autonomically regulated to self-contract in rhythmic fashion for the whole life of the organism [134].

Diseases related to dysfunction of muscle tissue include age-related muscle dysfunction, muscular dystrophy, localized muscle fatigue, muscle dysmorphia, muscle fiber necrosis, and progressive muscle weakness [135–139]. In addition, common clinical situations such as aggressive tumor ablation and severe denervation can result in significant muscle tissue loss, which can require additional surgical reconstruction. However, only few treatments can restore damaged functional muscle tissues effectively [140]. Among these treatments, free tissue transfer is widely used in the clinic, which is the transfer of living tissue obtained from a specific region of the body (e.g., skin, bone, tendon, muscle, and fascia) to another damaged region of the body through anastomosis to facilitate the reconstruction of complex defects [141]. However, limitations exist with free tissue transfer, particularly morbidity of the donor site [140]. In this respect, nanotechnology-based engineered tissue can recreate nanoscale features of the ECM to replace damaged muscle tissues [142,143].

To regenerate muscle tissue, various nanotechnologies have been employed to assemble nanobiomaterials, such as electrospinning [144], polyelectrolyte thin film deposition [145,146], and cell sheet technology [147]. Electrospinning is a fabrication technique that can be used to create complex 2D and 3D structures, based on ultrafine nanofibers [148]. Various types of polymers including collagen, cellulose acetate, PLA, poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA), PCL, and polyvinyl alcohol can be electrospun with diameters ranging from smaller than 3 nm to over 1  $\mu$ m [149]. The seeding of myoblasts on the surfaces of parallel nanofibers is analogous to the native histological organization of skeletal muscle tissue and is beneficial for generating aligned cell layers to enhance myogenic differentiation [150].

In thin-film deposition, gaseous, liquid, or sol-gel precursors of biomaterials are deposited onto a given substrate; the film thickness can be controlled to within few tens of nanometers [151,152]. For example, PEG-linked multi-walled CNT films with nanoscale surface roughness can be engineered using the thin-film deposition method. This nanostructured film can resemble the nanoarchitecture of the ECM, which can facilitate protein adsorption and stem cell attachment and promote the differentiation of hMSCs to the skeletal myogenic lineage [152].

#### NANOTECHNOLOGY-BASED STRATEGIES IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

In the case of cardiac muscle tissue, it allows for the continuous beating of the heart because of its high contractile strength and endurance and includes tissues such as the myocardium, endocardium, and pericardium [153]. The damage of cardiac muscle tissue can cause critical health issues such as stroke, aneurysm, and peripheral artery disease [154–156]. In addition, cardiac disease accounts for approximately 40% of global mortality [153]. Diseases and defects of the cardiac system include myocardial infarction, heart failure, cardiomyopathy, ischemic heart disease, congenital heart disease, hypertensive heart disease, and chronic heart disease [157,158].

Among these heart diseases, heart failure after a myocardial infarction (MI) is a major cause of death in the United States. In particular, approximately 3 million Americans experienced heart failure in 2015, and it is anticipated that 100,000 new cases will have been diagnosed in the following 5 years [159]. Total heart transplantation is a possible treatment for end-stage cardiac failure, but the lack of donor hearts is a major bottleneck for this approach. In addition, because damaged myocardial tissue caused by MI cannot undergo self-regeneration, the left ventricle cannot remodel successfully, resulting in heart failure [160]. The use of scaffolds that can repair the infracted tissues and regenerate new cardiac tissues based on patient cells can overcome the drawbacks of limited donor organs and immunological rejection [161].

Cell sheet technology is a nanotechnology that was developed to produce polymeric scaffolds for myocardial tissue engineering. This technique mainly depends on the use of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm), a biomaterial with a typical surface thickness less than 100 nm [147]. Because PIPAAm is a thermoresponsive polymer, when the environment is cooled to a temperature lower than the low critical solution temperature of PIPAAm (32°C), the material surfaces becomes hydrophilic and intact cells sheet can spontaneously detach and easily be harvested from the polymer substrate [162]. This scaffoldless cell sheet technology has been successfully applied for 3D myocardial tissue reconstruction by harvesting and layering cardiomyocytes, which suggests the advantages of nanoscalethermoresponsive surfaces [147].

# Vascular Tissue

Cardiovascular tissue has an important role in circulating blood for the transport of oxygen, carbon dioxide, nutrients, blood cells, and hormones, to maintain the homeostasis of human body. Because it is a vital organ of the human body to sustain life, disease and/or damage of vascular tissue can result in critical health issues. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), cardiovascular-related diseases resulted in over 596,000 deaths in 2011 which was the leading cause of death in the United States [163]. Therefore, artificial vascular grafts that can substitute for damaged blood vessels have been widely explored to treat these vascular diseases [164]. In particular, vascular grafts with nanostructured surfaces can promote cell adhesion and proliferation. For example, the surface roughness of PLGA vascular grafts can be controlled at the nanoscale through etching with NaOH solution. As a result, cell adhesion on this vascular graft is significantly enhanced, which can promote the proliferation of ECs and smooth muscle cells (SMCs) to improve tissue integration in vivo [165].

In addition, metal stents composed of titanium and nitinol are widely applied to treat vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and superficial femoral artery stenosis, because of their durability and mechanical properties [166,167]. However, the adhesion of blood platelets on bare metal stents can result in in-stent restenosis [168]. To overcome this limitation, the surface of cardiovascular metal stents can be modified with nanopatterns to enhance the adhesion of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) for rapid reendothelialization in vivo. Because human blood vessels are formed from an inner layer of ECs as well as an outer layer of SMCs, nanopatterns that mimic the patterns of SMCs can be used to modify the surface of metal stents to promote endothelialization [168]. For instance, when fibril structures of nanoscale width (700 nm) were formed on stainless-steel stents using a femtosecond laser, the adhesion and proliferation of HUVECs were significantly enhanced. These surface-modified stents were almost fully covered by ECs within 30 days after implantation into an iliac artery-blocking model in a rabbit model.

Nanomaterial-based drug delivery can be also employed for the early detection and treatment of vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and thrombosis, by targeting ECs or blood vessels [169]. In particular, dendrimers are highly branched globular macromolecules, and their multivalency enables the binding of multiple drug molecules to achieve a concentrated payload [170,171]. Dendrimers can be used for drug delivery by binding molecules on its surface or encapsulating drugs in their interior structure based on electrostatic or hydrophobic interactions [172]. For example, positively charged PEGylated dendrimers can electrostatically bind negatively charged heparins to treat deep vein thrombosis with increased circulation time [173]. When heparin was encapsulated in dendrimers, the half-long period of heparin was more than doubled; this heparin–dendrimer complex could reduce 85% of thrombus in a rat jugular vein thrombosis model.

#### Neural Tissue

Neurons exist mainly in the brain and spinal cord and their nerves are distributed throughout the whole human body. Their function is to transmit and receive external and internal stimuli such as body temperature and light [174,175] and elicit responses in the form of action potentials [176]. The human nervous system is composed of two regions: the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS).

The CNS forms the brain and spinal cord and the PNS consists of nerves (autonomic, cranial, and spinal) that are connected to the CNS [177]. Unlike hard tissue such as bone, nerve tissue is a soft tissue and can easily be impaired. In fact, injury occurring in other tissues, such as bone fracture, are usually accompanied by nerve damage [178]. In addition, injuries of the CNS, such as cerebral ischemia, can result in neuronal death [179]. Similarly, neurological diseases such as Alzheimer disease (AD) can cause CNS disorders, resulting in memory impairment [180]. A main obstacle to treatment of the diseased or damaged CNS with drugs is the difficulty of passing through the BBB [181]. However, nanotechnology-based drug delivery strategy can be used to overcome this barrier to treat specific cells in the brain [182]. For example, AD, a chronic and progressive neurodegenerative disease, can be alleviated by rivastigmine. AD patients experience from memory loss, problems with language use, and emotion control; rivastigmine is known to improve or maintain their cognition and behavioral symptoms. To enhance the efficacy of this drug, poly(*n*-butylcyanoacrylate) (PBCA) nanoparticles with a polysorbate coating layer can be used as a nanocarrier [183]. PBCA is a biocompatible and biodegradable polymer that can entrap drugs to prevent rapid release [184]. Coating PBCA nanoparticles with polysorbate allows for efficient crossing of the BBB, because polysorbate can adsorb proteins such as apolipoprotein B/E, enabling uptake by the epithelial cells of brain capillaries by receptor-mediated endocytosis [185]. Based on this nanodelivery system, the concentration of rivastigmine in brain could increase more than three times after an intravenous injection in rats.

The PNS consists of nerves that connect the CNS, which extends to all regions of the human body. The injury of peripheral nerves interferes with communication between the CNS and damaged tissues, which can cause neuropathic pain and the functional loss of tissues. Nerve autografts are a substitute to repair injured peripheral nerve based on its low risk of immunological rejection and a rich amount of neurotrophic factors [186,187]. However, limitations of using autografts include the shortage of nerve autografts as well as donor site morbidity [188]. To overcome these limitations, scaffolds composed of aligned nanofibers can be used to treat PNS injury [189,190]. For example, aligned nanofibrous PLA scaffolds can be fabricated by electrospinning techniques. When neural stem cells (NSCs) are seeded onto this scaffold, their neurite outgrowth was parallel to the aligned PLA nanofibers. Interestingly, the neuronal differentiation rate of NSCs was higher for nanofibrous than for microfibrous scaffolds, which suggests that NSCs can preferentially interact with a nanostructured environment [189].

# Other Tissue

Nanotechnology can be applied to other diseased or damaged tissues including cartilage, bladder, and skin. Because cartilage tissue lacks blood vessels and cells, it has a limited regenerative capacity [191], so external treatment is often required when damage occurs. Peptide amphiphiles (PAs) can be used to regenerate cartilage based on their capacity to bind a high concentration of cartilage growth factors. These PAs can self-assemble into supramolecular nanofibers with a high aspect ratio and can be designed to have a large number of binding epitopes for transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), a chondrogenic growth factor. As a result, TGF- $\beta$ -bound PA scaffolds can be used to direct the chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs to promote cartilage regeneration in vivo [192].

In addition, nanostructured scaffolds are applicable for bladder tissue regeneration. For example, nanoscale roughness can be generated on the surface of poly(ether urethane) and PLGA polymers by chemical etching to enhance the proliferation of urothelial cells and reduce bladder stone formation [193].

Skin is another important tissue because it acts as a barrier to protect interior tissues; serious health complications can occur when skin tissues are damaged by severe incisions or burn wounds. Because fibroblasts have an important role during the wound healing process by dissolving fibrin clots, producing collagen and ECM structures, and retracting wounds [194], nanofibrous scaffolds that support the growth of fibroblasts can be beneficial for skin regeneration [195]. For example, human dermal fibroblasts can proliferate on biodegradable nanofibrous scaffolds composed of poly(L-lactic acid)-*co*-poly(caprolactone) and gelatin and can improve collagen secretion.

# NANOTECHNOLOGY-BASED STEM CELL THERAPY

Stem cell—based therapeutics can improve the treatment of human diseases [196]. The use of nanotechnologies to control stem cell fate accurately, improve in vivo delivery and integration, and promote expansion and proliferation has led to rapid advances in stem cell therapy in regenerative medicine (Fig. 29.4).

#### Stem Cell Transfection

Stem cells can be directed into multiple lineages to replace damaged tissues to restore their vital functions. Therefore, the ability to control stem cell fate in a precise manner has promoted therapeutic applications for regenerative medicine. This control is particularly crucial in clinical applications, because transplanted cells often have low viability and occasionally form malignant teratomas [197]. In particular, stem cell differentiation can be regulated by gene delivery using viral transfection [196]. Although viruses such as retroviruses, lentiviruses, and adenoviruses are highly efficient gene delivery vectors, they are limited because of high manufacturing costs and the potential for an immunogenic response [196].

The use of nanoparticles offers several advantages for the delivery of these factors compared with viral vectors, such as low immunogenicity, the ease of fabrication, and high gene loading efficiency [196]. Therefore, the in vivo delivery of genetic cues by nanoparticles can improve the therapeutic effect of stem cells by directing their differentiation into a specific cell type [196].

Stem cells are a useful approach to treating ischemic diseases because they can release angiogenic factors including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or participate directly in the formation of new blood vessels (i.e., vasculogenesis) in the case of endothelial precursors [198,199]. However, stem cell viability after transplantation is low, and their ability to form new blood vessels is limited owing to insufficient angiogenic gene expression [199]. To promote the angiogenic phenotype of hMSCs, the gene encoding VEGF can be delivered using biodegradable poly(β-amino ester) nanoparticles [199]. The transfection efficiency of this approach was superior to physical methods (e.g., electroporation) or other nonviral vectors (e.g., lipofectamine), and the transplantation of these



FIGURE 29.4 Applications of nanotechnology for stem cell therapy. Stem cell expansion in vitro can be promoted by nanoscale substrates, which can maintain their differentiation potential. Embryonic stem cells can be grown on polyamide nanofiber substrates to maintain their pluripotency and promote their proliferation. Stem cell transfection with nonviral polyplexes, which are nanoscale complexes of cationic polymers and anionic nucleotides, can enable genetic modification before implantation. Nanofiber substrates can also be used to enhance the recruitment of stem cells in situ by covalently attached peptides. Drug-loaded nanocarriers can be conjugated onto the cell surface and can improve stem cell delivery and promote their repopulation in vivo.

498

genetically modified stem cells could promote neovascularization in an ischemic mouse model [199]. These types of nanoparticles are termed polyplexes; they are formed by the interaction of a cationic polymer such as chitosan or polyethylenimine with negatively charged DNA to form structures with sizes of tens to hundreds of nanometers [200]. The close interaction of the polymer with DNA can promote its intracellular delivery and protection from degradation, resulting in transfection efficiency comparable to viral vectors [199,200].

#### Stem Cell Delivery

In addition to secreting trophic factors to promote tissue regeneration, transplanted stem cells can participate directly in the building of new tissues [201]. For example, after ischemic injury of the mammalian heart, MSCs can migrate to the myocardium to initiate repair by differentiating into cardiac muscle [202]. The integration of stem cells with host tissue requires multiple factors such as efficient migration from the site of injection, high cell viability, and effective engraftment into the target tissue [201]. However, the delivery of stem cells by injection, either systematically or at the tissue site, can result in high cell death and limited migration, resulting in low engraftment efficiency [201].

The incorporation of stem cells in a scaffold can improve the efficiency of transplantation by acting as a template to guide tissue regeneration, which can degrade simultaneously with the formation of new ECM by proliferating cells [201]. In particular, scaffolds based on nanofibers have a large surface area and high porosity and can affect cell behavior through interaction with nanoscale topographical features. These scaffolds can be constructed by electrospinning synthetic polymers such as PCL and PLA, or natural polymers such as chitosan and collagen, using an electric field on a rotating plate substrate [196]. In addition, nanofiber-based scaffolds can present bioactive factors to promote in situ tissue regeneration from the body's own stem cell and progenitor cell population [203]. In particular, to increase the adult stem cell population at the target tissue to accelerate tissue regeneration, they can be mobilized to the target site by cytokines and chemoattractants [203]. For example, stromal stem cell–derived factor-1 $\alpha$  can be covalently bound to nanofibers composed of self-assembling peptides and can recruit endothelial progenitor cells for improved cardiac function by increased neovascularization [203,204].

The delivery of therapeutic stem cells often requires the concurrent delivery of adjuvant drugs such as TGF- $\beta$  signaling inhibitors and  $\chi_c$  receptor cytokines, which can promote their differentiation into an optimal therapeutic phenotype and enhance immune reconstitution [205]. However, the high dosage and systemic delivery required for these factors can cause toxicity issues because of their pleiotropic effects [205]. A clinically applicable alternative is to conjugate drug-loaded nanoparticles onto the cell surface, which can deliver low drug doses locally and follow the cell's migration patterns. For example, nanoparticles conjugated onto hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) can locally release a glycogen synthase kinase-3 $\beta$  inhibitor to enhance the reconstitution of the HSC graft [205].

#### Stem Cell Expansion

The general protocol for regenerative therapies involves harvest of a patient's stem cells, expansion under in vitro conditions, and reintroduction into the patient to initiate regeneration [206]. However, stem cells such as MSCs show a decline in differentiation potential after prolonged passaging under in vitro conditions [207]. Therefore, the propensity of MSCs to differentiate spontaneously into a heterogeneous fibroblast phenotype on tissue culture plastic limits their clinical applications [206]. These limitations have prompted the development of nanoscale cell–material interfaces to direct the differentiation and growth of MSCs. In particular, the surface topography can regulate the balance of cell adhesion and cytoskeletal tension to affect the expression of MSC-specific markers such as CD63 [206].

In addition, a major bottleneck for stem cell therapy is the requirement for a large quantity of undifferentiated stem cells, especially to regenerate bulk tissues or organs [208]. This process is limited by the slow doubling times of stem cells, which can range from 36 h for human ESCs to 45 days for human HSCs [208]. Stem cells reside in specialized niches in vivo that promote their extensive self-renewal, so mimicking this environment ex vivo is a powerful approach to promoting stem cell expansion [209]. For example, the topography and texture of the basement membrane can be recapitulated on polyamide nanofibers and can promote the expansion of murine ESCs while retaining their differentiation potential [210]. The stem niche also contains multiple growth factors, including leukemia inhibitory factor and stem cell factor, which are sequestered in the ECM and can be presented to cells [209]. To mimic this microenvironment, growth factors can be covalently attached to nanofibers to prevent their degradation and can promote the expansion of stem cells such as human ESCs [211].

# CONCLUSION

Nearly every human tissue has a nanostructure, and these nanostructures can influence cell activity such as cell adhesion, viability, and differentiation. Since the concept of nanotechnology was first proposed in 1959, this research field has developed rapidly for applications in regenerative medicine [212], especially in the fabrication of nanobiomaterials and nanoscale delivery systems. Nanomaterials can have a controlled shape, size, and topography that can be used to mimic the nanoarchitecture of tissue-specific ECM to direct cellular activity. Because of their small size and high surface area-to-volume ratio, nanomaterials can be internalized into cells to carry a large amount of growth factors and drugs. Nanomaterials with unique optical, magnetic, and electrical properties also can be used to track cells, stimulate cellular differentiation, or build functional tissue scaffolds. Depending on their composition, nanobiomaterials can be categorized as metallic-based, inorganic-based, carbon-based, polymeric-based, and biological protein–peptide based nanobiomaterials. These nanomaterials have been widely explored for potential applications in regenerating multiple types of tissues, including bone, muscle, cardiovascular, neural, cartilage, bladder, and skin, by creating nanopatterned tissue scaffolds or delivering biomolecules across tissue barriers. In particular, drugs, peptides, or nucleic acids can be delivered to a specific tissue, organ, or cell with high targeting efficiency, based on nanoscale delivery systems. In addition, nanomaterials can be used to track, deliver, and expend stem cells accurately, which are crucial factors for future clinical applications of stem cell-based regenerative therapies. We expect that advances in nanotechnology will contribute continuously to the field of regenerative medicine in the future.

# References

- [1] Petit-Zeman S. Regenerative medicine. Nat Biotech 2001;19:201-6.
- [2] Leterrier C, Potier J, Caillol G, Debarnot C, Rueda Boroni F, Dargent B. Nanoscale architecture of the axon initial segment reveals an organized and robust scaffold. Cell Rep 2015;13:2781–93.
- [3] Wegst UG, Bai H, Saiz E, Tomsia AP, Ritchie RO. Bioinspired structural materials. Nat Mater 2015;14:23-36.
- [4] Alarçin E, Guan X, Kashaf SS, Elbaradie K, Yang H, Jang HL, et al. Recreating composition, structure, functionalities of tissues at nanoscale for regenerative medicine. Regen Med 2016;11:849–58.
- [5] Engel E, Michiardi A, Navarro M, Lacroix D, Planell JA. Nanotechnology in regenerative medicine: the materials side. Trends Biotechnol 2008;26:39–47.
- [6] Gonzalez-McQuire R, Green DW, Partridge KA, Oreffo ROC, Mann S, Davis SA. Coating of human mesenchymal cells in 3D culture with bioinorganic nanoparticles promotes osteoblastic differentiation and gene transfection. Adv Mater 2007;19:2236–40.
- [7] Farokhzad OC, Langer R. Impact of nanotechnology on drug delivery. ACS Nano 2009;3:16–20.
- [8] Nazem A, Mansoori GA. Nanotechnology solutions for Alzheimer's disease: advances in research tools, diagnostic methods and therapeutic agents. J Alzheimers Dis 2008;13:199–223.
- [9] Gupta J. Nanotechnology applications in medicine and dentistry. J Investig Clin Dent 2011;2:81-8.
- [10] Al-Ahmady ZS, Al-Jamal WT, Bossche JV, Bui TT, Drake AF, Mason AJ, et al. Lipid-peptide vesicle nanoscale hybrids for triggered drug release by mild hyperthermia in vitro and in vivo. ACS Nano 2012;6:9335–46.
- [11] Dvir T, Timko BP, Kohane DS, Langer R. Nanotechnological strategies for engineering complex tissues. Nat Nanotechnol 2011a;6:13–22.
- [12] Solanki A, Kim JD, Lee K-B. Nanotechnology for regenerative medicine: nanomaterials for stem cell imaging. Nanomedicine 2008;3:567–78.
- [13] Mitragotri S, Lahann J. Physical approaches to biomaterial design. Nat Mater 2009;8:15-23.
- [14] Diez-Silva M, Dao M, Han J, Lim CT, Suresh S. Shape and biomechanical characteristics of human red blood cells in health and disease. MRS Bull 2010;35:382-8.
- [15] Kohane DS. Microparticles and nanoparticles for drug delivery. Biotechnol Bioeng 2007;96:203-9.
- [16] Albanese A, Tang PS, Chan WC. The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2012;14:1–16.
- [17] Orive G, Anitua E, Pedraz JL, Emerich DF. Biomaterials for promoting brain protection, repair and regeneration. Nat Rev Neurosci 2009;10: 682–92.
- [18] Sonavane G, Tomoda K, Makino K. Biodistribution of colloidal gold nanoparticles after intravenous administration: effect of particle size. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2008;66:274–80.
- [19] Meyer RA, Green JJ. Shaping the future of nanomedicine: anisotropy in polymeric nanoparticle design. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 2016;8:191–207.
- [20] Sahoo NG, Pan YZ, Li L, He CB. Nanocomposites for bone tissue regeneration. Nanomedicine 2013;8:639-53.
- [21] Roohani-Esfahani SI, Nouri-Khorasani S, Lu Z, Appleyard R, Zreiqat H. The influence hydroxyapatite nanoparticle shape and size on the properties of biphasic calcium phosphate scaffolds coated with hydroxyapatite-PCL composites. Biomaterials 2010;31:5498–509.
- [22] Petros RA, DeSimone JM. Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2010;9:615–27.
- [23] MacDonald RA, Laurenzi BF, Viswanathan G, Ajayan PM, Stegemann JP. Collagen-carbon nanotube composite materials as scaffolds in tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;74:489–96.
- [24] Cen L, Liu W, Cui L, Zhang W, Cao Y. Collagen tissue engineering: development of novel biomaterials and applications. Pediatr Res 2008;63: 492–6.

#### 29. APPLICATIONS OF NANOTECHNOLOGY FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE; HEALING TISSUES AT THE NANOSCALE

- [25] Guilak F, Cohen DM, Estes BT, Gimble JM, Liedtke W, Chen CS. Control of stem cell fate by physical interactions with the extracellular matrix. Cell Stem Cell 2009;5:17–26.
- [26] Lutolf MP, Gilbert PM, Blau HM. Designing materials to direct stem-cell fate. Nature 2009;462:433-41.

500

- [27] Dalby MJ, Gadegaard N, Oreffo RO. Harnessing nanotopography and integrin-matrix interactions to influence stem cell fate. Nat Mater 2014;13:558–69.
- [28] Wood MA, Bagnaninchi P, Dalby MJ. The beta integrins and cytoskeletal nanoimprinting. Exp Cell Res 2008;314:927–35.
- [29] Wieringa P, Tonazzini I, Micera S, Cecchini M. Nanotopography induced contact guidance of the F11 cell line during neuronal differentiation: a neuronal model cell line for tissue scaffold development. Nanotechnology 2012;23:275102.
- [30] Park J, Bauer S, von der Mark K, Schmuki P. Nanosize and vitality: TiO2 nanotube diameter directs cell fate. Nano Lett 2007;7:1686–91.
- [31] Teo BK, Ankam S, Chan LY, Yim EK. Nanotopography/mechanical induction of stem-cell differentiation. Methods Cell Biol 2010;98:241–94.
- [32] McNamara LE, McMurray RJ, Biggs MJ, Kantawong F, Oreffo RO, Dalby MJ. Nanotopographical control of stem cell differentiation. J Tissue Eng 2010;2010:120623.
- [33] Jaalouk DE, Lammerding J. Mechanotransduction gone awry. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:63-73.
- [34] Biggs MJ, Richards RG, Dalby MJ. Nanotopographical modification: a regulator of cellular function through focal adhesions. Nanomedicine 2010;6:619–33.
- [35] Hamilton DW, Brunette DM. The effect of substratum topography on osteoblast adhesion mediated signal transduction and phosphorylation. Biomaterials 2007;28:1806–19.
- [36] Webster TJ, Ejiofor JU. Increased osteoblast adhesion on nanophase metals: Ti, Ti6Al4V, and CoCrMo. Biomaterials 2004;25:4731–9.
- [37] Jang HL, Jin K, Lee J, Kim Y, Nahm SH, Hong KS, et al. Revisiting whitlockite, the second most abundant biomineral in bone: nanocrystal synthesis in physiologically relevant conditions and biocompatibility evaluation. ACS Nano 2014;8:634–41.
- [38] Stevens MM. Biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Mater Today 2008;11:18–25.
- [39] Dalby MJ, Gadegaard N, Tare R, Andar A, Riehle MO, Herzyk P, et al. The control of human mesenchymal cell differentiation using nanoscale symmetry and disorder. Nat Mater 2007;6:997–1003.
- [40] Oh S, Brammer KS, Li YJ, Teng D, Engler AJ, Chien S, et al. Stem cell fate dictated solely by altered nanotube dimension. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:2130–5.
- [41] Kim DH, Lipke EA, Kim P, Cheong R, Thompson S, Delannoy M, et al. Nanoscale cues regulate the structure and function of macroscopic cardiac tissue constructs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:565–70.
- [42] Boles MA, Ling D, Hyeon T, Talapin DV. The surface science of nanocrystals. Nat Mater 2016;15:141–53.
- [43] Nel AE, Madler L, Velegol D, Xia T, Hoek EM, Somasundaran P, et al. Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. Nat Mater 2009;8:543–57.
- [44] Owens 3rd DE, Peppas NA. Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 2006;307:93-102.
- [45] Alexis F, Pridgen E, Molnar LK, Farokhzad OC. Factors affecting the clearance and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. Mol Pharm 2008;5:505–15.
- [46] Yamamoto Y, Nagasaki Y, Kato Y, Sugiyama Y, Kataoka K. Long-circulating poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(D,L-lactide) block copolymer micelles with modulated surface charge. J Control Release 2001;77:27–38.
- [47] Howard MD, Jay M, Dziubla TD, Lu X. PEGylation of nanocarrier drug delivery systems: state of the art. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2008;4: 133–48.
- [48] Wang B, Zhang L, Bae SC, Granick S. Nanoparticle-induced surface reconstruction of phospholipid membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:18171–5.
- [49] Zhang S. Fabrication of novel biomaterials through molecular self-assembly. Nat Biotechnol 2003;21:1171-8.
- [50] Zhang S, Holmes T, Lockshin C, Rich A. Spontaneous assembly of a self-complementary oligopeptide to form a stable macroscopic membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:3334–8.
- [51] Michalet X, Pinaud FF, Bentolila LA, Tsay JM, Doose S, Li JJ, et al. Quantum dots for live cells, in vivo imaging, and diagnostics. Science 2005; 307:538–44.
- [52] Shah BS, Clark PA, Moioli EK, Stroscio MA, Mao JJ. Labeling of mesenchymal stem cells by bioconjugated quantum dots. Nano Lett 2007;7: 3071–9.
- [53] Rosen AB, Kelly DJ, Schuldt AJ, Lu J, Potapova IA, Doronin SV, et al. Finding fluorescent needles in the cardiac haystack: tracking human mesenchymal stem cells labeled with quantum dots for quantitative in vivo three-dimensional fluorescence analysis. Stem Cell 2007;25: 2128–38.
- [54] Chan WC, Maxwell DJ, Gao X, Bailey RE, Han M, Nie S. Luminescent quantum dots for multiplexed biological detection and imaging. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2002;13:40–6.
- [55] Lin S, Xie X, Patel MR, Yang YH, Li Z, Cao F, et al. Quantum dot imaging for embryonic stem cells. BMC Biotechnol 2007;7:67.
- [55a] Dubertret B, Skourides P, Norris DJ, Noireaux V, Brivanlou AH, Libchaber A. In vivo imaging of quantum dots encapsulated in phospholipid micelles. Science 2002;298:1759–62.
- [56] Ipe BI, Lehnig M, Niemeyer CM. On the generation of free radical species from quantum dots. Small 2005;1:706-9.
- [57] Kumar CS. Semiconductor nanomaterials. John Wiley & Sons; 2010.
- [58] Markides H, Rotherham M, El Haj A. Biocompatibility and toxicity of magnetic nanoparticles in regenerative medicine. J Nanomater 2012: 1–11.
- [59] Chemaly ER, Yoneyama R, Frangioni JV, Hajjar RJ. Tracking stem cells in the cardiovascular system. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2005;15: 297–302.
- [60] Bulte JW, Kraitchman DL. Iron oxide MR contrast agents for molecular and cellular imaging. NMR Biomed 2004;17:484-99.
- [61] Dobson J. Remote control of cellular behaviour with magnetic nanoparticles. Nat Nanotechnol 2008;3:139–43.
- [62] Wright M, Jobanputra P, Bavington C, Salter DM, Nuki G. Effects of intermittent pressure-induced strain on the electrophysiology of cultured human chondrocytes: evidence for the presence of stretch-activated membrane ion channels. Clin Sci 1996;90:61–71.
- [63] Kanczler JM, Sura HS, Magnay J, Green D, Oreffo RO, Dobson JP, et al. Controlled differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells using magnetic nanoparticle technology. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:3241–50.

- [64] Fabbro A, Prato M, Ballerini L. Carbon nanotubes in neuroregeneration and repair. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2013;65:2034-44.
- [65] John AA, Subramanian AP, Vellayappan MV, Balaji A, Mohandas H, Jaganathan SK. Carbon nanotubes and graphene as emerging candidates in neuroregeneration and neurodrug delivery. Int J Nanomedicine 2015;10:4267.
- [66] You JO, Rafat M, Ye GJ, Auguste DT. Nanoengineering the heart: conductive scaffolds enhance connexin 43 expression. Nano Lett 2011;11: 3643–8.
- [67] Shin SR, Jung SM, Zalabany M, Kim K, Zorlutuna P, Kim SB, et al. Carbon-nanotube-embedded hydrogel sheets for engineering cardiac constructs and bioactuators. ACS Nano 2013;7:2369–80.
- [68] Dvir T, Timko BP, Brigham MD, Naik SR, Karajanagi SS, Levy O, et al. Nanowired three-dimensional cardiac patches. Nat Nanotechnol 2011b;6:720–5.
- [69] Merkoçi A. Nanobiomaterials in electroanalysis. Electroanalysis 2007;19:739-41.
- [70] Singh AV, Patil R, Lenardi C, Milani P, Gade WN. Nanobiomaterial applications in tissue repair and ulcer management: a new role for nanomedicine. In: Biocompatible Nanomaterials: synthesis, Characterization and Applications. New York: Nova Science; 2010. p. 117.
- [71] Sahoo NG, Bao H, Pan Y, Pal M, Kakran M, Cheng HKF, et al. Functionalized carbon nanomaterials as nanocarriers for loading and delivery of a poorly water-soluble anticancer drug: a comparative study. Chem Commun 2011;47:5235–7.
- [72] Wei G, Ma PX. Structure and properties of nano-hydroxyapatite/polymer composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2004;25:4749–57.
- [73] Michael FM, Khalid M, Walvekar R, Ratnam CT, Ramarad S, Siddiqui H, et al. Effect of nanofillers on the physico-mechanical properties of load bearing bone implants. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2016;67:792–806.
- [74] An J, Chua CK, Yu T, Li H, Tan LP. Advanced nanobiomaterial strategies for the development of organized tissue engineering constructs. Nanomedicine 2013;8:591–602.
- [75] Sitharaman B. Nanobiomaterials handbook. CRC Press; 2016.
- [76] Garg A. Therapeutic applications of nanobiomaterials. In: Novel Approaches for Drug Delivery, vol. 390; 2016.
- [77] Khan AK, Rashid R, Murtaza G, Zahra A. Gold nanoparticles: synthesis and applications in drug delivery. Trop J Pharm Res 2014;13:1169.
- [78] Huschka R, Zuloaga J, Knight MW, Brown LV, Nordlander P, Halas NJ. Light-induced release of DNA from gold nanoparticles: nanoshells and nanorods. J Am Chem Soc 2011;133:12247–55.
- [79] Tong L, Wei Q, Wei A, Cheng JX. Gold nanorods as contrast agents for biological imaging: optical properties, surface conjugation and photothermal effects. Photochem Photobiol 2009;85:21–32.
- [80] Ghosh P, Han G, De M, Kim CK, Rotello VM. Gold nanoparticles in delivery applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2008;60:1307–15.
- [81] Rengan AK, Bukhari AB, Pradhan A, Malhotra R, Banerjee R, Srivastava R, et al. In vivo analysis of biodegradable liposome gold nanoparticles as efficient agents for photothermal therapy of cancer. Nano Lett 2015;15:842-8.
- [82] Meir R, Shamalov K, Betzer O, Motiei M, Horovitz-Fried M, Yehuda R, et al. Nanomedicine for cancer immunotherapy: tracking cancerspecific T-cells in vivo with gold nanoparticles and CT imaging. ACS Nano 2015;9:6363–72.
- [83] Amany A, El-Rab SFG, Gad F. Effect of reducing and protecting agents on size of silver nanoparticles and their anti-bacterial activity. Der Pharma Chem 2012;4:53–65.
- [84] Prabhu S, Poulose EK. Silver nanoparticles: mechanism of antimicrobial action, synthesis, medical applications, and toxicity effects. Int Nano Lett 2012;2:1–10.
- [85] Kievit FM, Veiseh O, Bhattarai N, Fang C, Gunn JW, Lee D, et al. PEI–PEG–chitosan-copolymer-coated iron oxide nanoparticles for safe gene delivery: synthesis, complexation, and transfection. Adv Funct Mater 2009;19:2244–51.
- [86] Dobson J. Gene therapy progress and prospects: magnetic nanoparticle-based gene delivery. Gene Ther 2006;13:283-7.
- [87] Slowing II, Trewyn BG, Giri S, Lin VY. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for drug delivery and biosensing applications. Adv Funct Mater 2007;17:1225–36.
- [88] Torney F, Trewyn BG, Lin VSY, Wang K. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles deliver DNA and chemicals into plants. Nat Nanotechnol 2007;2: 295–300.
- [89] Xiao Q-G, Tao X, Zou H-K, Chen J-F. Comparative study of solid silica nanoparticles and hollow silica nanoparticles for the immobilization of lysozyme. Chem Eng J 2008;137:38–44.
- [90] Driessens FCM, Verbeeck RK. Biominerals. CRC Press; 1990.
- [91] Khan AS, Ahmed Z, Edirisinghe MJ, Wong FSL, Rehman IU. Preparation and characterization of a novel bioactive restorative composite based on covalently coupled polyurethane–nanohydroxyapatite fibres. Acta Biomater 2008;4:1275–87.
- [92] Liu H, Xu GW, Wang YF, Zhao HS, Xiong S, Wu Y, et al. Composite scaffolds of nano-hydroxyapatite and silk fibroin enhance mesenchymal stem cell-based bone regeneration via the interleukin 1 alpha autocrine/paracrine signaling loop. Biomaterials 2015;49:103–12.
- [93] Li C, Vepari C, Jin H-J, Kim HJ, Kaplan DL. Electrospun silk-BMP-2 scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2006;27:3115-24.
- [94] Zhang B-T, Zheng X, Li H-F, Lin J-M. Application of carbon-based nanomaterials in sample preparation: a review. Anal Chim Acta 2013;784: 1–17.
- [95] Gaharwar AK, Peppas NA, Khademhosseini A. Nanocomposite hydrogels for biomedical applications. Biotechnol Bioeng 2014;111:441-53.
- [96] Tran PA, Zhang L, Webster TJ. Carbon nanofibers and carbon nanotubes in regenerative medicine. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2009;61:1097–114.
- [97] Sionkowska A. Current research on the blends of natural and synthetic polymers as new biomaterials. Rev Prog Polym Sci 2011;36:1254–76.
- [98] Nicolas J, Mura S, Brambilla D, Mackiewicz N, Couvreur P. Design, functionalization strategies and biomedical applications of targeted biodegradable/biocompatible polymer-based nanocarriers for drug delivery. Chem Soc Rev 2013;42:1147–235.
- [99] Bellocq NC, Pun SH, Jensen GS, Davis ME. Transferrin-containing, cyclodextrin polymer-based particles for tumor-targeted gene delivery. Bioconjugate Chem 2003;14:1122–32.
- [100] Biju V. Chemical modifications and bioconjugate reactions of nanomaterials for sensing, imaging, drug delivery and therapy. Chem Soc Rev 2014;43:744–64.
- [101] Munyendo WLL, Lv H, Benza-Ingoula H, Baraza LD, Zhou J. Cell penetrating peptides in the delivery of biopharmaceuticals. Biomolecules 2012;2:187–202.
- [102] Lee J-H, Lee JH, Lee YJ, Nam KT. Protein/peptide based nanomaterials for energy application. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2013;24:599-605.

#### 502 29. APPLICATIONS OF NANOTECHNOLOGY FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE; HEALING TISSUES AT THE NANOSCALE

- [103] Liu L, Xu K, Wang H, Tan PKJ, Fan W, Venkatraman SS, et al. Self-assembled cationic peptide nanoparticles as an efficient antimicrobial agent. Nat Nanotechnol 2009;4:457–63.
- [104] Swanner J, Mims J, Carroll DL, Akman SA, Furdui CM, Torti SV, et al. Differential cytotoxic and radiosensitizing effects of silver nanoparticles on triple-negative breast cancer and non-triple-negative breast cells. Int J Nanomed 2015;10:3937.
- [105] Ahmed KBA, Mahapatra SK, Raja MRC, Subramaniam S, Sengan M, Rajendran N, et al. Jacalin-capped silver nanoparticles minimize the dosage use of the anticancer drug, shikonin derivatives, against human chronic myeloid leukemia. RSC Adv 2016;6:18980–9.
- [106] Tyagi N, Arora S, Srivastava SK, Carter JE, Singh AP, Singh S. The chemopreventive potential of silver nanoparticles against UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis in mouse model. Cancer Res 2016;76:5238.
- [107] Neuwelt A, Sidhu N, Hu C-AA, Mlady G, Eberhardt SC, Sillerud LO. Iron-based superparamagnetic nanoparticle contrast agents for MRI of infection and inflammation. Am J Roentgenol 2015;204:302–13.
- [108] Barrow M, Taylor A, Murray P, Rosseinsky MJ, Adams DJ. Design considerations for the synthesis of polymer coated iron oxide nanoparticles for stem cell labelling and tracking using MRI. Chem Soc Rev 2015;44:6733–48.
- [109] Lee JE, Lee N, Kim T, Kim J, Hyeon T. Multifunctional mesoporous silica nanocomposite nanoparticles for theranostic applications. Acc Chem Res 2011;44:893–902.
- [110] Zou Z, He D, He X, Wang K, Yang X, Qing Z, et al. Natural gelatin capped mesoporous silica nanoparticles for intracellular acid-triggered drug delivery. Langmuir 2013;29:12804–10.
- [111] Kontonasaki E, Chatzistavrou X, Paraskevopoulos KM, Koidis P. Bioactive ceramic porcelain/glass for dental application. Handbook of solgel science and technology. 2016. p. 1–15.
- [112] Venkatesan J, Kim S-K. Nano-hydroxyapatite composite biomaterials for bone tissue engineering—a review. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2014;10: 3124–40.
- [113] Prato M, Kostarelos K, Bianco A. Functionalized carbon nanotubes in drug design and discovery. Acc Chem Res 2007;41:60-8.
- [113a] Bianco A, Kostarelos K, Prato M. Opportunities and challenges of carbon-based nanomaterials for cancer therapy. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2008;5:331–42.
- [114] Shim MS, Kwon YJ. Stimuli-responsive polymers and nanomaterials for gene delivery and imaging applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012; 64:1046–59.
- [115] Park K, Lee S, Kang E, Kim K, Choi K, Kwon IC. New generation of multifunctional nanoparticles for cancer imaging and therapy. Adv Funct Mater 2009;19:1553–66.
- [116] Derossi D, Joliot AH, Chassaing G, Prochiantz A. The third helix of the Antennapedia homeodomain translocates through biological membranes. J Biol Chem 1994;269:10444–50.
- [117] Chuang S-Y, Lin C-F, Ibrahim A, Fang J-Y. Specific targeting of engineered nanoparticles to activated macrophages. Curr Nanosci 2016;12: 63–9.
- [118] Mankar S, Anoop A, Sen S, Maji SK. Nanomaterials: amyloids reflect their brighter side. Nano Rev 2011;2.
- [119] Bulman SE, Barron V, Coleman CM, Barry F. Enhancing the mesenchymal stem cell therapeutic response: cell localization and support for cartilage repair. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2012;19:58–68.
- [120] Sims NA, Martin TJ. Coupling the activities of bone formation and resorption: a multitude of signals within the basic multicellular unit. BoneKEy Rep 2014;3.
- [120a] Geuli O, Metoki N, Eliaz N, Mandler D. Electrochemically driven hydroxyapatitenanoparticles coating of medical implants. Adv Func Mater 2016;26:8003–10.
- [121] Ballo A, Agheli H, Lausmaa J, Thomsen P, Petronis S. Nanostructured model implants for in vivo studies: influence of well-defined nanotopography on de novo bone formation on titanium implants. Int J Nanomed 2011;6:3415–28.
- [122] Barkarmo S, Wennerberg A, Hoffman M, Kjellin P, Breding K, Handa P, et al. Nano-hydroxyapatite-coated PEEK implants: a pilot study in rabbit bone. J Biomed Mater Res 2013;101:465–71.
- [123] Jonášová L, Müller FA, Helebrant A, Strnad J, Greil P. Biomimetic apatite formation on chemically treated titanium. Biomaterials 2004;25: 1187–94.
- [124] Chen F, Lam WM, Lin CJ, Qiu GX, Wu ZH, Luk KD, et al. Biocompatibility of electrophoretical deposition of nanostructured hydroxyapatite coating on roughen titanium surface: in vitro evaluation using mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomed Mater Res B 2007;82:183–91.
- [125] Yi C, Liu D, Fong C-C, Zhang J, Yang M. Gold nanoparticles promote osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells through p38 MAPK pathway. ACS Nano 2010;4:6439–48.
- [126] Sul OJ, Kim JC, Kyung TW, Kim HJ, Kim YY, Kim SH, et al. Gold nanoparticles inhibited the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappab ligand (RANKL)-induced osteoclast formation by acting as an antioxidant. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2010;74:2209–13.
- [127] Kong L, Alves CS, Hou W, Qiu J, Mohwald H, Tomas H, et al. RGD peptide-modified dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles enable highly efficient and specific gene delivery to stem cells. ACS Appl Mater Interf 2015;7:4833–43.
- [128] Komatsu K, Shimada A, Shibata T, Wada S, Ideno H, Nakashima K, et al. Alendronate promotes bone formation by inhibiting protein prenylation in osteoblasts in rat tooth replantation model. J Endocrinol 2013;219:145–58.
- [129] Lee D, Heo DN, Kim HJ, Ko WK, Lee SJ, Heo M, et al. Inhibition of osteoclast differentiation and bone resorption by bisphosphonateconjugated gold nanoparticles. Sci Rep 2016;6:27336.
- [130] Susa M, Iyer AK, Ryu K, Hornicek FJ, Mankin H, Amiji MM, et al. Doxorubicin loaded Polymeric Nanoparticulate Delivery System to overcome drug resistance in osteosarcoma. BMC Canc 2009;9:399.
- [131] Guilak F, Butler DL, Goldstein SA, Mooney D. Functional tissue engineering. Springer Science & Business Media; 2006.
- [132] Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN. Signaling pathways in skeletal muscle remodeling. Annu Rev Biochem 2006;75:19–37.
- [133] Watterson KR, Ratz PH, Spiegel S. The role of sphingosine-1-phosphate in smooth muscle contraction. Cell Signal 2005;17:289-98.
- [134] Feinberg AW, Alford PW, Jin H, Ripplinger CM, Werdich AA, Sheehy SP, et al. Controlling the contractile strength of engineered cardiac muscle by hierarchal tissue architecture. Biomaterials 2012;33:5732–41.
- [135] Sinha M, Jang YC, Oh J, Khong D, Wu EY, Manohar R, et al. Restoring systemic GDF11 levels reverses age-related dysfunction in mouse skeletal muscle. Science 2014;344:649–52.

#### REFERENCES

- [136] Beedle AM. Distribution of myosin heavy chain isoforms in muscular dystrophy: insights into disease pathology. Musculoskelet Regen 2016;2.
- [137] Enoka RM, Duchateau J. Muscle fatigue: what, why and how it influences muscle function. J Physiol 2008;586:11–23.
- [138] Olivardia R, Pope Jr HG, Hudson JI. Muscle dysmorphia in male weightlifters: a case-control study. Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:1291-6.
- [139] Deasy BM, Li Y, Huard J. Tissue engineering with muscle-derived stem cells. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2004;15:419–23.
- [140] Bach AD, Beier JP, Stern-Staeter J, Horch RE. Skeletal muscle tissue engineering. J Cell Mol Med 2004;8:413–22.
- [141] Berner SH. Free tissue transfer. Telemicrosurgery 2013:77-81.
- [142] Khademhosseini A. Micro and nanoengineering of the cell microenvironment: technologies and applications. Artech House; 2008.
- [143] Zhang L, Webster TJ. Nanotechnology and nanomaterials: promises for improved tissue regeneration. Nano Today 2009;4:66–80.
- [144] Choi JS, Lee SJ, Christ GJ, Atala A, Yoo JJ. The influence of electrospun aligned poly (epsilon-caprolactone)/collagen nanofiber meshes on the formation of self-aligned skeletal muscle myotubes. Biomaterials 2008;29:2899–906.
- [145] Salloum DS, Olenych SG, Keller TCS, Schlenoff JB. Vascular smooth muscle cells on polyelectrolyte multilayers: hydrophobicity-directed adhesion and growth. Biomacromolecules 2005;6:161–7.
- [146] Gilmore KJ, Kita M, Han Y, Gelmi A, Higgins MJ, Moulton SE, et al. Skeletal muscle cell proliferation and differentiation on polypyrrole substrates doped with extracellular matrix components. Biomaterials 2009;30:5292–304.
- [147] Elloumi-Hannachi I, Yamato M, Okano T. Cell sheet engineering: a unique nanotechnology for scaffold-free tissue reconstruction with clinical applications in regenerative medicine. J Intern Med 2010;267:54–70.
- [148] Bao M, Wang X, Yuan H, Lou X, Zhao Q, Zhang Y. HAp incorporated ultrafine polymeric fibers with shape memory effect for potential use in bone screw hole healing. J Mater Chem B 2016;4:5308–20.
- [149] Huang ZM, Zhang YZ, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S. A review on polymer nanofibers by electrospinning and their applications in nanocomposites. Compos Sci Technol 2003;63:2223–53.
- [150] Beier JP, Klumpp D, Rudisile M, Dersch R, Wendorff JH, Bleiziffer O, et al. Collagen matrices from sponge to nano: new perspectives for tissue engineering of skeletal muscle. BMC Biotechnol 2009;9:1.
- [151] Robbie K, Beydaghyan G, Brown T, Dean C, Adams J, Buzea C. Ultrahigh vacuum glancing angle deposition system for thin films with controlled three-dimensional nanoscale structure. Rev Sci Instrum 2004;75:1089–97.
- [152] Zhao C, Andersen H, Ozyilmaz B, Ramaprabhu S, Pastorin G, Ho HK. Spontaneous and specific myogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells on polyethylene glycol-linked multi-walled carbon nanotube films for skeletal muscle engineering. Nanoscale 2015;7: 18239–49.
- [153] Chen Q-Z, Harding SE, Ali NN, Lyon AR, Boccaccini AR. Biomaterials in cardiac tissue engineering: ten years of research survey. Mater Sci Eng R rep 2008;59:1–37.
- [154] Taylor F, Huffman MD, Macedo AF, Moore THM, Burke M, Davey Smith G, et al. Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. The Cochrane Library; 2013.
- [155] Usui F, Shirasuna K, Kimura H, Tatsumi K, Kawashima A, Karasawa T, et al. Inflammasome activation by mitochondrial oxidative stress in macrophages leads to the development of angiotensin II-induced aortic aneurysm. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2015;35:127–36.
- [156] Price JF, Mowbray PI, Lee AJ, Rumley A, Lowe GDO, Fowkes FGR. Relationship between smoking and cardiovascular risk factors in the development of peripheral arterial disease and coronary artery disease: Edinburgh Artery Study. Eur Heart J 1999;20:344–53.
- [157] Hsiao LC, Carr C, Chang KC, Lin SZ, Clarke K. Stem cell-based therapy for ischemic heart disease. Cell Transplant 2013;22:663-75.
- [158] Foell D, Jung B, Germann E, Staehle F, Bode C, Markl M. Hypertensive heart disease: MR tissue phase mapping reveals altered left ventricular rotation and regional myocardial long-axis velocities. Eur Radiol 2013;23:339–47.
- [159] Heidenreich PA, Trogdon JG, Khavjou OA, Butler J, Dracup K, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Forecasting the future of cardiovascular disease in the United States a policy statement from the American heart association. Circulation 2011;123:933–44.
- [160] Singelyn JM, DeQuach JA, Seif-Naraghi SB, Littlefield RB, Schup-Magoffin PJ, Christman KL. Naturally derived myocardial matrix as an injectable scaffold for cardiac tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2009;30:5409–16.
- [161] Jockenhoevel S, Zund G, Hoerstrup SP, Chalabi K, Sachweh JS, Demircan L, et al. Fibrin gel–advantages of a new scaffold in cardiovascular tissue engineering. Eur J Cardio Thorac Surg 2001;19:424–30.
- [162] Shimizu T, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, Okano T. Cell sheet engineering for myocardial tissue reconstruction. Biomaterials 2003;24:2309-16.
- [163] Santulli G. Epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in the 21st century: updated numbers and updated facts. JCvD 2013;1:1-2.
- [164] Griese DP, Ehsan A, Melo LG, Kong D, Zhang L, Mann MJ, et al. Isolation and transplantation of autologous circulating endothelial cells into denuded vessels and prosthetic grafts: implications for cell-based vascular therapy. Circulation 2003;108:2710–5.
- [165] Miller DC, Thapa A, Haberstroh KM, Webster TJ. Endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cell function on poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) with nano-structured surface features. Biomaterials 2004;25:53–61.
- [166] Schillinger M, Sabeti S, Loewe C, Dick P, Amighi J, Mlekusch W, et al. Balloon angioplasty versus implantation of nitinol stents in the superficial femoral artery. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1879–88.
- [167] Choudhary S, Haberstroh KM, Webster TJ. Enhanced functions of vascular cells on nanostructured Ti for improved stent applications. Tissue Eng 2007;13:1421–30.
- [168] Liang C, Hu Y, Wang H, Xia D, Li Q, Zhang J, et al. Biomimetic cardiovascular stents for in vivo re-endothelialization. Biomaterials 2016;103: 170–82.
- [169] Wickline SA, Neubauer AM, Winter P, Caruthers S, Lanza G. Applications of nanotechnology to atherosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006;26:435–41.
- [170] Lee CC, MacKay JA, Frechet JM, Szoka FC. Designing dendrimers for biological applications. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23:1517-26.
- [171] Gillies ER, Frechet JM. Dendrimers and dendritic polymers in drug delivery. Drug Discov Today 2005;10:35–43.
- [172] Sato K, Anzai J. Dendrimers in layer-by-layer assemblies: synthesis and applications. Molecules 2013;18:8440-60.
- [173] Bai S, Ahsan F. Synthesis and evaluation of pegylated dendrimeric nanocarrier for pulmonary delivery of low molecular weight heparin. Pharm Res (NY) 2009;26:539–48.
- [174] Shibasaki K, Suzuki M, Mizuno A, Tominaga M. Effects of body temperature on neural activity in the hippocampus: regulation of resting membrane potentials by transient receptor potential vanilloid 4. J Neurosci 2007;27:1566–75.

- 29. APPLICATIONS OF NANOTECHNOLOGY FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE; HEALING TISSUES AT THE NANOSCALE
- [175] Callaway EM, Yuste R. Stimulating neurons with light. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2002;12:587-92.
- [176] Stuart G, Spruston N, Sakmann B, Häusser M. Action potential initiation and backpropagation in neurons of the mammalian CNS. Trends Neurosci 1997;20:125–31.
- [177] Zhang N, Wen X. Neural tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Fundamentals of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Springer; 2009. p. 271–88.
- [178] DeFranco MJ, Lawton JN. Radial nerve injuries associated with humeral fractures. J Hand Surg 2006;31:655-63.
- [179] Linnik MD, Zobrist RH, Hatfield MD. Evidence supporting a role for programmed cell death in focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Stroke 1993; 24:2002–8. discussion 2008-2009.
- [180] Selkoe DJ. Alzheimer's disease is a synaptic failure. Science 2002;298:789-91.
- [181] Pardridge WM. The blood-brain barrier: bottleneck in brain drug development. NeuroRx 2005;2:3–14.
- [182] Srikanth M, Kessler JA. Nanotechnology novel therapeutics for CNS disorders. Nat Rev Neurol 2012;8:307–18.
- [183] Wilson B, Samanta MK, Santhi K, Kumar KP, Paramakrishnan N, Suresh B. Poly(n-butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles coated with polysorbate 80 for the targeted delivery of rivastigmine into the brain to treat Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 2008;1200:159–68.
- [184] Bagad M, Khan ZA. Poly(n-butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles for oral delivery of quercetin: preparation, characterization, and pharmacokinetics and biodistribution studies in Wistar rats. Int J Nanomed 2015;10:3921–35.
- [185] Silva GA. Neuroscience nanotechnology: progress, opportunities and challenges. Nat Rev Neurosci 2006;7:65–74.
- [186] Ray WZ, Mackinnon SE. Management of nerve gaps: autografts, allografts, nerve transfers, and end-to-side neurorrhaphy. Exp Neurol 2010; 223:77–85.
- [187] Gao Y, Wang YL, Kong D, Qu B, Su XJ, Li H, et al. Nerve autografts and tissue-engineered materials for the repair of peripheral nerve injuries: a 5-year bibliometric analysis. Neural Regen Res 2015;10:1003–8.
- [188] Bellamkonda RV. Peripheral nerve regeneration: an opinion on channels, scaffolds and anisotropy. Biomaterials 2006;27:3515-8.
- [189] Yang F, Murugan R, Wang S, Ramakrishna S. Electrospinning of nano/micro scale poly(l-lactic acid) aligned fibers and their potential in neural tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2005;26:2603–10.
- [190] Koh HS, Yong T, Chan CK, Ramakrishna S. Enhancement of neurite outgrowth using nano-structured scaffolds coupled with laminin. Biomaterials 2008;29:3574–82.
- [191] Huey DJ, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Unlike bone, cartilage regeneration remains elusive. Science 2012;338:917-21.
- [192] Shah RN, Shah NA, Del Rosario Lim MM, Hsieh C, Nuber G, Stupp SI. Supramolecular design of self-assembling nanofibers for cartilage regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:3293–8.
- [193] Chun YW, Khang D, Haberstroh KM, Webster TJ. The role of polymer nanosurface roughness and submicron pores in improving bladder urothelial cell density and inhibiting calcium oxalate stone formation. Nanotechnology 2009;20:085104.
- [194] Bainbridge P. Wound healing and the role of fibroblasts. J Wound Care 2013;22:407–11.
- [195] Chandrasekaran AR, Venugopal J, Sundarrajan S, Ramakrishna S. Fabrication of a nanofibrous scaffold with improved bioactivity for culture of human dermal fibroblasts for skin regeneration. Biomed Mater 2011;6:015001.
- [196] Ferreira L, Karp JM, Nobre L, Langer R. New opportunities: the use of nanotechnologies to manipulate and track stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3:136–46.
- [197] Wu KC, Tseng CL, Wu CC, Kao FC, Tu YK, So EC, et al. Nanotechnology in the regulation of stem cell behavior. Sci Technol Adv Mater 2013; 14:054401.
- [198] Kocher AA, Schuster MD, Szabolcs MJ, Takuma S, Burkhoff D, Wang J, et al. Neovascularization of ischemic myocardium by human bonemarrow-derived angioblasts prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduces remodeling and improves cardiac function. Nat Med 2001;7:430–6.
- [199] Yang F, Cho S-W, Son SM, Bogatyrev SR, Singh D, Green JJ, et al. Genetic engineering of human stem cells for enhanced angiogenesis using biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:3317–22.
- [200] Pack DW, Hoffman AS, Pun S, Stayton PS. Design and development of polymers for gene delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2005;4:581-93.
- [201] Mooney DJ, Vandenburgh H. Cell delivery mechanisms for tissue repair. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2:205–13.
- [202] Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. Nat Med 2003;9:1195–201.
- [203] Ko IK, Lee SJ, Atala A, Yoo JJ. In situ tissue regeneration through host stem cell recruitment. Exp Mol Med 2013;45:e57.
- [204] Segers VF, Tokunou T, Higgins LJ, MacGillivray C, Gannon J, Lee RT. Local delivery of protease-resistant stromal cell derived factor-1 for stem cell recruitment after myocardial infarction. Circulation 2007;116:1683–92.
- [205] Stephan MT, Moon JJ, Um SH, Bershteyn A, Irvine DJ. Therapeutic cell engineering with surface-conjugated synthetic nanoparticles. Nat Med 2010;16:1035–41.
- [206] McMurray RJ, Gadegaard N, Tsimbouri PM, Burgess KV, McNamara LE, Tare R, et al. Nanoscale surfaces for the long-term maintenance of mesenchymal stem cell phenotype and multipotency. Nat Mater 2011;10:637–44.
- [207] Bonab MM, Alimoghaddam K, Talebian F, Ghaffari SH, Ghavamzadeh A, Nikbin B. Aging of mesenchymal stem cell in vitro. BMC Cell Biol 2006;7:14.
- [208] Chai C, Leong KW. Biomaterials approach to expand and direct differentiation of stem cells. Mol Ther 2007;15:467-80.
- [209] Dellatore SM, Garcia AS, Miller WM. Mimicking stem cell niches to increase stem cell expansion. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2008;19:534-40.
- [210] Nur EKA, Ahmed I, Kamal J, Schindler M, Meiners S. Three-dimensional nanofibrillar surfaces promote self-renewal in mouse embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell 2006;24:426–33.
- [211] Nur EKA, Ahmed I, Kamal J, Babu AN, Schindler M, Meiners S. Covalently attached FGF-2 to three-dimensional polyamide nanofibrillar surfaces demonstrates enhanced biological stability and activity. Mol Cell Biochem 2008;309:157–66.
- [212] Joachim C. To be nano or not to be nano? Nat Mater 2005;4:107-9.
- [213] Nourissat G, Berenbaum F, Duprez D. Tendon injury: from biology to tendon repair. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2015;11:223-33.

504

# 30

# Design Principles in Biomaterials and Scaffolds

Yang Zhu, William R. Wagner University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

When tissue deficiencies occur as a result of trauma, disease, or congenital conditions, there is a desire to provide functional replacement tissues to the patient. The use of autografts is ideal when this option is available and is often applied for both soft and hard tissue defects with a broad variety of approaches, although donor site morbidity is a problematic consideration. In many cases, such donor tissue is not available and allotransplantation is favored, albeit with the frequently accompanying disadvantages of a limited donor supply and immunosuppressive therapy. In tissue engineering, a central concept is the application of a temporary biomaterial scaffold at the defect site to facilitate healing that will provide some restoration of functionality. If this scaffold is used to carry precursor cells or other features that may induce a functional healing, the outcome potential may be further improved. In designing such solutions for tissue repair and replacement, the parameters that define the scaffold must be selected and optimized to provide the best possible outcome. If cells are to be used, this adds further design (and regulatory) complexity. This chapter focuses on the design principles affecting degradable biomaterial scaffolds used in tissue engineering. Although acellular scaffold approaches are considered, the cellular component of seeded scaffolds will not be explicitly addressed; relevant considerations are covered elsewhere in this text.

# FUNCTION AND APPLICATION-ORIENTED DESIGN OF BIOMATERIAL SCAFFOLDS

The objective for a given scaffold design is to meet the clinical needs for a specific application or set of applications. The better the understanding of the clinical need, including the underlying tissue physiology, disease pathology, and other impactful environmental parameters, the more appropriately the design parameters can be defined. As cellular and molecular biology knowledge have rapidly advanced and pathological processes are better defined, the ability to harness this knowledge in designing more advanced scaffolds has grown. The early use of temporary scaffolds in medicine was for simple mechanical support (e.g., sutures), whereas research efforts in recent decades have expanded the potential functional role that the scaffold can have, including the designed modulation of cell behavior and the incorporation of controlled release for bioactive agents.

# **Mechanical Support**

Tissue loss and mechanical failure can be caused by various reasons, including disease processes, trauma, burn, surgical resection, and chronic inflammation. Biomaterial scaffold implantation may provide permanent or temporary mechanical support, hence maintaining the structural and functional integrity of the host tissue. In some reconstructive or cosmetic applications, the implanted scaffold role may be to improve aesthetics in addition to providing appropriate tactile or load-bearing behavior.

Mechanical support structures comprise a major part of the implantable biomedical device industry. Most of these devices are permanent and made from nondegradable metals and polymers. For instance, vascular stents are commonly nondegradable metallics such as nitinol, stainless steel, and cobalt-chromium [1]. Vascular grafts and abdominal wall meshes for hernia repair are often made from polyethylene terephthalate, polytetrafluoroethylene, polyurethane, and polypropylene [2,3]. In the orthopedic field, orthopedic screws and plates, staples, and other fixation devices are commonly stable metals [4,5]. However, each case, there has been substantial research and clinical

investigation of degradable scaffolds [6–8]. The general cited advantages of using degradable scaffolds are (1) the potential for new tissue regeneration, (2) the reduced chronic stimulus for inflammation and ongoing foreign body response, (3) elimination of a nidus for infection risk once the material has degraded, and (4) the potential for reduced thrombotic risk and the elimination of anticoagulant therapy for blood-contacting scaffold applications. Despite these advantages, degradable scaffolds have not effectively displaced permanent scaffolds for a variety of reasons. Common factors limiting broader adoption include a higher risk for mechanical failure [9,10], increased early inflammatory response, and concerns with local tissue effects from degradation products and by-products [11].

It is common in the tissue engineering literature to find a hypothetical graph in which a hypothetical mechanical parameter is plotted versus time with three curves: scaffold, new tissue, and net construct (or combined). The scaffold curve slopes downward with time whereas the new tissue formation curve increases. Usually these curves are matched so that the net level of the mechanical parameter is maintained during the healing process. Of course, in reality this is often not the case; scaffolds remain longer than needed and potentially stress shield the tissue. Of greater concern is scaffold mechanical failure when the new tissue is insufficiently strong to take on the required load (Fig. 30.1). This is a serious concern in that such mechanical failures lead to morbidity and mortality that have limited the broader adoption of many degradable scaffold approaches, as indicated earlier. Also, such mechanical failure may be related to the underlying disease process in the treated population that may not be apparent in preclinical testing or in the application of such an approach in other populations. Therefore, in addition to selecting biomaterial scaffold designs with appropriate initial mechanical parameters approximating the host tissue, matching the degradation rate of temporary scaffolds to tissue integration and maturation is greatly important. In fact, sophisticated models seeking to capture the underlying physics and biology are under development [12].

At a cellular scale, a great deal of research in has examined how the microscale mechanical properties of biomaterial scaffolds can modulate cell behavior. Biomaterial substrate stiffness affects stem cell differentiation, including mesenchymal stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, and embryonic stem cells [13–15]. Many molecular pathways involved in this process have been described [16,17]. In addition to stem cell effects, substrate stiffness has been shown to affect primary cell phenotypes, including the macrophage and its polarization [18,19]. Macrophages are important cells involved in the foreign body response; thus, substrate stiffness also relates to the host tissue response to scaffolds. Researchers have shown that biomaterial stiffness modulates the adhesion, migration, and proliferation for other types of cells, as well [20].

Given the mechanical support functions that are defined for a specific clinical application of a scaffold, together with the increasingly appreciated effect that mechanical parameters can have on host response and cell behavior, selecting materials with suitable mechanical parameters is usually the first step in scaffold design. Generally, metals and ceramics have high stiffness and strength (Fig. 30.2A and B), as do many composite materials containing these two major categories of biomaterials for scaffolding. Between the two, ceramics have the disadvantage of the risk for brittle fracture. In comparison, synthetic polymeric materials and naturally derived materials are usually weaker in all major aspects. However, polymers and naturally derived materials have lower densities; thus, the differences in specific modulus and specific strength between them and metals and ceramics are not as large. Because most human tissues have stiffness values below the gigapascal range (Fig. 30.2C) [21], metals and ceramics are commonly used in hard tissue replacements (bone and teeth) and applications in which smaller scaffold dimensions are desired (e.g., coronary stents), whereas polymers and naturally derived materials are more often used for soft tissue substitutes.



FIGURE 30.1 Mechanical support by scaffold–integrated tissue. The *blue line* indicates mechanical support by degrading scaffold; the *red line*, mechanical support by integrated tissue; and the *green line*, combined mechanical support by the scaffold–tissue combination. (A) Ideal matching between scaffold degradation and tissue integration. (B) The scaffold degrades too quickly and tissue generation is unable to compensate for some interim period, presenting a failure risk. (C) Slower scaffold degradation stress shields new tissue or prevents adequate cell migration and extracellular matrix (ECM) elaboration, leading to inadequate mechanical properties at a later time point.



FIGURE 30.2 (A, B) Ashby chart of strength versus modulus. The "strength" for metals is the 0.2% offset yield strength. For polymers, it is the 1% yield strength. For ceramics and glasses, it is the compressive crushing strength, roughly 15 times larger than the tensile (fracture) strength. For composites, it is the tensile strength. For elastomers, it is the tear strength [22]. (C) Young's, or elastic, modulus of tissues [21]. *CFRP*, carbon fiber—reinforced thermoplastic; *EVA*, ethylene(vinyl acetate); *GFRP*, glass fiber—reinforced plastic; *MOR*, modulus of rupture; *PA*, phosphatidylethanolamine; *PMMA*, poly(methyl methacrylate); *PP*, polypropylene; *PS*, phosphatidylserine; *PTFE*, polyterafluoroethylene; *WC*, water cosolvent.

#### **Degradation Profile**

As noted previously, scaffold degradation is important for tissue integration and should be well-synchronized with the latter to maintain mechanical support in implantation sites. Aside from tissue integration, degradation can have a critical role in providing pathways for metabolite diffusion and angiogenesis, as well as the release of agents loaded into the material.

#### **Degradation Mechanisms**

The mechanisms at work in biomaterial scaffold degradation vary by material type. For polymeric biomaterials, the most commonly seen mechanism is hydrolytic cleavage of backbone bonds (ester, amide, urethane, and carbonate) in polymer chains by water molecules, producing oligomers and monomers with lower molecular weights and higher solubility (Fig. 30.3A) [23]. Enzymatic facilitation of such cleavage reactions can be an important factor in accelerating degradation in vivo, and the use of enzymes in degradation buffer solutions to study degradation in vitro is common. Polymer chains can also be cleaved by free radicals, irradiation, reduction reactions, and other reagents or stimulus, depending on the bonding mechanism [24–26]. Newer concepts in polymeric biomaterial degradation include increased solubility induced by side chain cleavage [27], self-immolating depolymerization [28], and the dissociation of supramolecular assemblies [29]. Metallic biomaterials are almost exclusively selected for their degradation (corrosion) resistance. However, a great deal of research has been focused on degradable metals such as magnesium and zinc alloys for use as temporary scaffolds in a broad variety of applications [30–32]. The corrosion process proceeds by coupled electrochemical reactions with electrolytes to produce oxides, hydrogen gas, hydroxides, or other compounds (Fig. 30.3B) [33]. A high concentration of Cl<sup>-</sup> ions significantly accelerates



FIGURE 30.3 (A) Hydrolytically degradable linkages used in biomaterials. (B) Schematic diagram of biocorrosion at the biodegradable metal (BM)-medium interface [33].

the corrosion of metals. Cells are also subsequently involved in breaking down the metal substrate from the surface (Fig. 30.3B) [33]. The degradation of commonly used ceramic scaffolds (tricalcium phosphate, hydroxyapatite, and dicalcium phosphate) starts with the dissolution of CaP components, which is heavily affected by the solubility of the specific material. Various cell types (monocytes/macrophages, fibroblasts, and osteoblasts) are then involved in the degradation process by phagocytic mechanisms or via an acidic mechanism to reduce the microenvironmental pH that results in demineralization of the ceramic matrix and resorption [34]. For biologically sourced materials, specific enzymatic degradation has an essential role in degradation, and resistance to such degradation varies with the material composition, processing history and local tissue conditions.

#### **Factors That Affect Degradation Rates**

Several factors affect the degradation rates of biomaterial scaffolds, and these factors can be leveraged to modulate the degradation profiles of corresponding scaffolds. Most obviously, the molecular composition of the scaffold will dictate the degradation profile. For polymers with hydrolytically cleavable backbone bonds as introduced earlier, the bond type will heavily influence the degradation rate. For example, hydrolysis of anhydride bonds is generally faster than ester bonds, which in turn is faster than amide and urethane bonds. Based on this effect, copolymerizing monomers that will result in different backbone bonds have been used to fine-tune the degradation rate of polyesters and other polymers [35]. The molecular environment around the labile bond and the relative density of labile bonds along the backbone are also important factors that can fine-tune the rate of degradation dramatically, despite maintenance of the same labile group. As a result, polyesters can vary as a class of polymer from very rapidly degrading to effectively nondegradable (e.g., polyethylene terephthalate). The hydrolytic cleavage of many of these susceptible bonds is acid catalytic and autocatalytic (degradation products of these bonds are acids); basic salts have been mixed with polyester substrates to slow down degradation whereas acidic monomers have been copolymerized purposefully to accelerate the degradation of polyesters [27,36]. Another obvious option in controlling polymeric scaffold degradation is to choose the initial molecular weight of polymer building blocks so that a greater or lesser number of cleavage events need to occur before solubility of the residual polymer is achieved.

For metallic scaffolds, innate factors affecting oxidation include the activity of the metal, phase organization (of alloys), impurities, the processing history, and the stability of the formed oxide layers [33,37]. For ceramics, the crystal type and degree of crystallinity are important parameters.

#### **Enzymatic Degradation**

Degradation on demand, or triggered degradation, is a concept receiving attention in the literature. For polymers, such triggers can include electromagnetic radiation, ultrasound, heating/cooling, or the delivery of a triggering molecule such as an enzyme. For metals, control of the oxidation/reduction reaction by the delivery of current is a ready means of control.

Looking at enzymatically triggered degradation, numerous examples of scaffolds employing this technique have been reported in which enzymes produced by the host tissue or delivered to the biomaterial scaffold accelerate degradation, particularly for naturally derived biomaterials and polymers. Matrix metalloproteinases, elastase, and other enzymes have been employed to cleave protein components in naturally derived biomaterials with high specificity, whereas enzymes such as hyaluronidase and glucanases cleave polysaccharides including hyaluronic acid, alginate, and chitosan. Some of these enzymes accelerate the degradation of synthetic polymers as well [38–42]. Segments of polypeptide, DNA, and other biomolecules have been deliberately covalently combined with synthetic materials at the molecular level or by physical mixing to provide cleavage sites for the composite scaffolds [43–45]. Because enzyme expression levels vary among tissues and some are specifically and temporally elevated in wound beds or sites of inflammation, they provide convenient local factors to be included and targeted in designing scaffold degradation profiles [46–48].

#### Surface to Volume Ratio

Scaffold morphology, particularly the ratio of the surface area to the volume, has a significant effect on the degradation of biomaterial scaffolds. Higher surface area ratios commonly lead to higher degradation rates of the scaffolds as a result of the greater access of backbone bonds to the surrounding aqueous environment and cofactors present in this environment. For example, electrospun nanofiber meshes made from certain polymers degrade faster than cast films with the same component [49,50]. However, in some important cases, porous structures can be associated with slower degradation [51]. This counterintuitive effect is postulated to result from the diffusion of catalytic reactants out of the scaffolds more readily in the porous case. Rapid transport facilitated by pores also serves to stabilize the pH in some Mg scaffolds, leading to a similar effect as that seen in some polymeric biomaterials [52,53]. Therefore, both opposing effects need to be considered when designing the porous structure in scaffolds. Methods of fabricating porous scaffolds are discussed in subsequent sections.

#### Surface Modification for Degradation Control

Another method for modulating scaffold degradation is to modify the surfaces. One mechanism is to change the surface hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity, thereby increasing or reducing water uptake that would affect the hydrolysis process. Generally, hydrophilic coatings increase degradation rates whereas hydrophobic coatings do the opposite [54–56]. For degradable metals, increasing corrosion resistance is usually the aim for surface modification, particularly when a given alloy is attractive for its processability, mechanical properties, or other considerations. Methods include simple polymeric coatings, molecular coatings that react with the surface oxide layer, plasma ion implantation, physical vapor deposition, thermal oxidation, and various electrochemical oxidation methods that have been widely applied to metallic biomaterials [56–60].

In considering scaffold degradation in general, many external factors such as mechanical load or irradiation can have a major impact on scaffold degradation rates. However, because the operational environment or processing requirements are often fixed, no further discussion of these factors will be made here.

# **Controlled Release of Bioactive Agents**

Scaffolds may also serve as a reservoir for bioactive agent delivery including small molecule drugs, proteins, genes, cells and nanoparticles. Compared with the inherent physical and chemical features of scaffolds, the effects of released bioactive agents can extend beyond implantation sites to recruit or control circulating cells that are beneficial for tissue repair, and higher specificity can be achieved [61]. When two or more cargoes are loaded, corresponding release profiles may be programmable, which provides flexibility and can yield more desirable effects when orchestrated properly [62]. Logically, seeking synergy by combining the largely local benefits provided by the degrading scaffold with the diffusing effects from controlled-release agents has been a consistent direction explored in the effort to improve scaffold performance.

Many physical and chemical parameters of a scaffold affect the release profile experienced by the loaded cargo. Several of these factors overlap with factors regulating scaffold degradation, as degrading scaffolds open new channels for cargo diffusion. Some of the more important scaffold design parameters that influence the release of watersoluble agents are discussed subsequently.

#### **Effect of Porous Structures**

In diffusion-controlled delivery systems, porous structures provide an easier path for the molecules detaching from the material substrate to exit from the scaffolds and enter surrounding tissues, compared with diffusing through relatively dense material substrates. Therefore, easier access to pores and higher connectivity between pores facilitate faster soluble molecule release from a scaffold [63]. However, this theory does not always strictly apply because higher porosities may decrease the degradation rates of some polymer scaffolds, which would slow the accelerated delivery owing to the degradation effects.

At the molecular level, free volume will affect the diffusion rate. Taking hydrated hydrogel systems, for example, for gels with mesh sizes comparable to the size of the loaded agent, diffusion coefficients are decreased owing to steric hindrance provided by the cross-linked polymer chains [64]. Mesh sizes comparable to the size of the loaded agent increase the molecule diffusion path length compared with hydrogels with mesh sizes much larger than the releasing agent [64].

#### Affinity-Based Release

Affinity between the bioactive agent and the scaffold substrate affects the tendency of loaded molecules to permeate the material volume and approach the interface of the material—pore and materia—/tissue. Through transient interactions between the loaded cargo and the delivery scaffold, affinity-based systems (e.g., heparin-binding proteins for heparin, aptamers for nucleic acids, cyclodextrins for hydrophobic antibiotics) can minimize burst release while providing fine-tunable release profiles by attenuating diffusional release [65]. Related studies about affinity systems have shown that the addition of an affinity group to the therapeutic may be done so as not to affect the bioactivity of interest detrimentally, which supports the practicality of this strategy [66,67]. In addition, mathematical simulations have been developed to predict release profiles, which could be useful in predicting desired release profiles and designing release systems [65].

An alternative method to fabricate affinity-based release systems is to recognize a specific molecule selectively by the scaffold substrate known as molecular imprinting (Fig. 30.4) [68]. In molecular imprinting, the bioactive agents work as template molecules to create imprints in the polymer networks, which subsequently function as affinity binding domains [69]. Compared with nonaffinity systems, release retention was observed in imprinted systems [70]. Molecular imprinting systems would be advantageous for drug delivery because of their ability to sustain the release of a therapeutic agent, enhance the loading capacity, release the bioactive agents by in response to the stimuli intelligently, and enantioselectively load and release the eutomer (isomer of interest) [71].

#### **On-Demand Release**

The strategies mentioned earlier are effective passive methods to obtain sustained, prolonged release. However, it is often desirable to have a designed response to changing conditions as tissue healing or remodeling proceeds or to provide a more optimal delivery of an agent dependent on externally determined factors. More active, on-demand



FIGURE 30.4 Molecular imprinting. (A) Solution mixture of template, cross-linking monomer, and functional monomers (triangles, squares, and circles). (B) Complex formation between functional monomers and template via covalent or noncovalent chemistry. (C) The formation of the polymer network typically via free radical polymerization. (D) Template removal step that leaves binding sites specific to the original template [68].

modulation of bioactive agent release can be achieved with on-and-off triggers. The most commonly used triggering mechanisms include (1) pH or temperature, (2) enzymes that cleave cross-linkers used to immobilize bioactive agents, or (3) drugs or ions that trigger the cleavage of an engineered substrate, resulting in the release of encapsulated cargoes [72–78]. Externally applied stimuli including light, electric or magnetic fields, and ultrasound can also modify scaffold structures or bioactive agent immobilization and regulate release [72,79]. The strategies introduced in this section can be applied to control the release of single bioactive agents and to program the delivery of two or more factors to obtain synergic effects [72,80,81].

#### Scaffold Morphology

As noted previously, scaffold morphology can greatly influence scaffold degradation, mechanical properties, and bioactive agent release. In this section, morphology is considered in terms of microscale pores and surface features, and progress in modulating scaffold morphological parameters is discussed.

#### Methods for Fabricating Porous Scaffolds

Conventional fabrication methods to generate porous scaffolds commonly used in tissue engineering include temperature-induced phase separation, salt leaching, gas foaming, electrospinning (for polymers and natural products); gas injection through the melt, gas foaming, plasma spraying, sintering, space holder methods (for metallic scaffolds); and dry-pressing, extrusion, and slip-casting (for ceramic scaffolds). The literature provides many excellent reviews covering these approaches and applications with materials processed in this manner [82–86]. Beyond these methods, newer technologies allow more design control over the scaffold geometry.

Solid free-form fabrication (SFF) technologies are the most important advances made in scaffold fabrication [87]. Among SFF, three-dimensional (3D) printing fabricates 3D structures by inkjet printing liquid binder solution onto a powder bed (Fig. 30.5A). Fused deposition modeling deposits molten thermoplastic materials through two heated extrusion heads with a small orifice in a specific lay-down pattern. The basic concept of stereolithography is to control the polymerization spatially of photocurable resin in a 2D pattern and to extend it to 3D by repeating in-plane polymerization in a layer-by-layer fashion (Fig. 30.5C). Selective laser sintering and melting employs a laser to scan the surface of powdered polymer or metal particles in a specific 2D pattern to sinter by heating them above the melting temperature. 3D plotting or direct-write bioprinting extrudes a viscous liquid material from a pressurized syringe into a liquid medium with matching density and deposits the materials in one long continuous strand or in individual dots to create desired 3D shapes (Fig. 30.5B) [87–91].

#### Anisotropic and Gradient Scaffolds

Anisotropy and gradient features are widely found in human tissues and organs, including the interfaces between tissues, such as the bone–cartilage interface. This morphology has important implications for the mechanical and biological behavior of these tissues. Therefore, it is interesting to fabricate anisotropic and gradient biomaterials as scaffolds to guide regeneration in a manner that provides greater biomimicry of the native state. Anisotropic and gradient cues include composition, pore structure, stiffness, and fiber orientation. A variety of scaffold processing methods have been developed. Listed here are several representative examples for both methodologic and therapeutic effects.



FIGURE 30.5 Schematic illustration of (A) three-dimensional (3D) printing, (B) 3D plotting/direct-write bioprinting, (C) stereolithography [88–90]. LCD, *liquid* crystal display.

Concentration gradients of bioactive molecules such as growth factors are often desired to drive spatially distinct biological responses to a scaffold. Such gradients have been created using microfluidic platforms or allowing a limited period of diffusion from a reservoir connected to one edge of a scaffold. In a case where platelet-derived growth factor was differentially loaded, tissue invasion depth and blood vessel density increased with the magnitude of the gradient, whereas cortical neurites showed sensitivity to the magnitude of an insulin-like growth factor-1 concentration gradient [92,93]. By controlling the cross-linking density, a gradient modulus was achieved in a polyethylene glycol (PEG) hydrogel. The human osteoarthritic chondrocyte number and phenotype were maintained in regions with a lower storage modulus compared with stiffer regions [94]. A modified one-step gravity sintering method was used to distribute pores with gradient sizes in calcium polyphosphate scaffolds, which induced greater osteoblast differentiation and mineralization in gradient calcium polyphosphate scaffolds in contrast to homogenous calcium polyphosphate scaffolds [95].

Creating thermal gradients when fabricating temperature-induced phase separation scaffolds was effective in arranging unidirectional porous structures and induced anisotropic cell attachment, proliferation, and migration [96,97]. Aligned fibrous scaffolds could be prepared by 3D printing and electrospinning. These unidirectional features have been employed in organizing new tissues including nerve, cornea, tendon, and muscle [98–100]. Applying similar processing methods on both x and y directions could mimic alternating orientating cells and ECM such as that in laminar cardiac tissues [101,102].

#### Surface Feature Manipulation

It is widely known that surface features and patterns can have a significant influence on cell attachment, locomotion, survival, and differentiation [103,104]. However, discrete patterns can be challenging to fabricate across the surfaces of 3D scaffolds using many of the most common fabrication techniques. Less discrete control of the surface is

#### SAFETY AND BIOCOMPATIBILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR BIOMATERIAL SCAFFOLDS

more readily achieved, effectively varying the roughness, to affect responses of adhering cells [105,106]. Appropriate creation of microsurface or nanosurface structures can either promote or reduce cell adhesion [107,108]. In addition, cell migration can be guided by micrometer-scale roughness and hydrophilicity gradients [109,110]. Using specific interactions with adsorbed proteins and cell surface receptors, cell migration can be modulated [111].

#### Injectable Scaffolds/Controlling Morphology In Situ

Traditionally, biomaterial scaffolds are formed in vitro before implantation. Technologies have allowed the minimally invasive delivery of scaffolds and the formation in situ of desired microstructures, which reduce the risk for invasive surgical procedures [112]. In addition, in situ—formed pores would allow cell infiltration before significant scaffold degradation, which may promote tissue integration.

Metallic scaffolds including coils and stents can be compressed with large deformation ratios to allow packaging on catheters for guided delivery. After deployment in targeted regions, these scaffolds can either revert to their original shape with high elasticity or be shaped by catheter-associated mechanisms such as inflatable balloons. Porous ceramic and polymeric scaffolds can be delivered by injection as solution precursors mixed with porogens [113,114]. As the biocompatible solvents absorb and the porogens dissolve in vivo, the result is porous structures. An alternative method to forming porous hydrogels in situ is to bind micrometer building blocks covalently via self-assembly in the tissue [115]. Elastic, high water—content hydrogels are squeezed through syringe needles and partially regain their porous structure in vivo [116,117].

#### Traceability and Imaging

Common to preclinical biomaterial and medical device evaluations is the recovery at different time points of implanted scaffolds from experimental animals or patients for subsequent histological, proteomic, and genetic assessments. Valuable information has been extracted by employing this paradigm. However, real-time monitoring options for the scaffold or tissue environment are limited and constrain the capacity of researchers and clinicians to monitor scaffold performance and sense potential negative events such as mechanical failure and detailed aspects of the biological response. Furthermore, as the tools to manipulate the status of smart, responsive biomaterials continue to expand, the desire is increasing for parameters that reflect scaffold status at given postimplantation time points.

Tracking scaffold material with noninvasive imaging techniques including magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasound, and computed tomography scanning is favored. Essential to scaffold tracking is the ability to differentiate the biomaterial signal from the tissue background. Different signal generation mechanisms are involved in these imaging techniques, with contrast originating from differences in parameters such as water content, radio opacity, stiffness, density, and magnetism. Contrast can be specifically created by adding contrast agents during scaffold formation [118–121]. However, the potential toxicity of contrast agents needs to be considered [122]. Greater contrast properties for the scaffold provide for improved resolution in the imaging techniques to reveal greater structural detail. Although not considered in this chapter, the labeling of loaded cells is commonly pursued in the context of tissue constructs [123].

# SAFETY AND BIOCOMPATIBILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR BIOMATERIAL SCAFFOLDS

Achieving the desired level of functionality for a given medical application is obviously central to assembling the design objectives for a biomaterial scaffold system. However, the safety of such a system must explicitly be demonstrated as the pathway to clinical application is traversed. Several general concerns will apply to all scaffolds, whereas other considerations will be specific to the given application. The governing regulatory body (e.g., the U.S. Food and Drug Administration) will ultimately dictate the specific testing required for progression to early-stage clinical evaluation. Biomaterial scaffolds are medical devices by definition, and as the World Health Organization has pointed out in its guidelines: (1) absolute safety cannot be guaranteed, (2) the consideration of a given device's safety is a risk management issue, (3) safety is closely aligned with device effectiveness and performance, (4) safety must be considered throughout the life span of the device, and (5) the assurance of safety requires shared responsibility among the stakeholders [124]. As specifically addressed in International Standards Organization Document 10993, some of the principal considerations in demonstrating device safety include local and systemic
#### 514

toxicity, carcinogenicity, pyrogenicity, sensitization, potential for infection, hemocompatibility, and adverse foreign body responses. Furthermore, because the scaffold system is biodegradable, the evaluation of biodegradation products both in vitro and in vivo must be explicitly addressed.

#### Infection and Sterilization

Bacteria can adhere to biomaterial scaffolds before, during, and after the implantation procedure. Although completely eliminating the possibility of bacterial contamination before implantation is impossible, major sterilization protocols including radiation, ethylene oxide (EtO), hydrogen peroxide, or steam can be designed to achieve a recommended sterility assurance level (SAL) (usually a risk of one nonsterile device in a million) [125]. The scaffold thus needs to be compatible with at least one of the sterilization methods and the design processes should reflect consideration for sterilization step. The various methods each have trade-offs in terms of their impact on the underlying material, expense, and integration with the manufacturing process. Specifically, the sterilization procedure may affect material performance by the same mechanisms used to kill bacteria, e.g., each of these sterilization methods can decrease the molecular weight of PEG-based polymers [126]. For scaffolds made from natural products (such as proteins or polysaccharides) and those containing naturally derived bioactive ingredients, EtO, heating, and radiation may denature and alter the structural or functional components of the scaffold. Although metals and ceramics are more stable compared with polymer and naturally derived materials, the labile versions of these materials can be more sensitive to some of the sterilization methods. For all of the scaffold types, because degradability is a feature, considerations must be given to packaging and storage methods, including the determination of shelf-life under prescribed conditions.

Across all implanted medical devices, the incidence of device-centered infections is much higher than the SAL, which has led to the conclusion that most infections occur as a result of exposure to bacteria during the implantation procedure or after device placement (Fig. 30.6). An attractive feature of biodegradable scaffold systems is the limited implant period, because the scaffold is replaced by native tissue, which removes the nidus for infection that remains with nondegradable devices. Current strategies that have been explored to reduce the potential for infection in nondegradable devices generally apply to scaffolds as well. These approaches fall into three general categories: (1) surface modification to impart resistance to bacterial adhesion [127,128], (2) loading of antibiotic agents into the biomaterial for controlled release [129,130], and (3) modifying or otherwise designing the surface to encourage



FIGURE 30.6 Patient risk factors for developing a biomaterial-associated infection. Revision surgery patients are at greater risk than primary surgery implant patients, whereas the risk of an implant or device becoming infected hematogenously decreases with time after implant placement due to more extensive host tissue integration [132].

rapid coverage and integration with host tissue, thus minimizing the likelihood of further exposure to and colonization by planktonic bacteria [131]. Because the scaffold design generally seeks to integrate and be replaced with native tissue, the latter approach is particularly attractive, although controlled antibiotic release in the early period may also be attractive.

# Toxicity

Major components of scaffolds are not present in the human body (e.g., polycaprolactone) or at unnaturally high concentrations (e.g., high dosage of magnesium in magnesium scaffolds). These components and corresponding degradation products may induce acute, subacute, or chronic toxicities, especially with allo- and xeno-sourced products [133]. Pyrogenicity, genotoxicity, carcinogenicity, reproductive, and developmental toxicity are the main risks of scaffold toxicity.

Endotoxins are abundant in the environment and have high affinity to various biomaterials; they are the major factors that cause pyrogenicity [134]. In addition, endotoxins have strong proinflammatory effects. Different methods have been developed to lower the endotoxin level in scaffolds [135,136]. Resin monomers, glass ionomers, graphene oxide nanosheets, and other substances have been shown to be genotoxic [137–139]. On the other hand, much research has been focused on testing carcinogenicity in chemicals and small particles and has identified a variety of risky species that are dissolved components or wear debris of biomaterial scaffolds [140,141]. Improvements in scaffold design could mitigate the carcinogenic potentials, e.g., lower the possibility of generating debris production [142]. Organ-on-a-chip and laboratory-on-a-chip technologies have been employed to fabricate medical-device-on-a-chips as in vitro models for medical device toxicity tests [143].

# Hemocompatibility

Scaffold hemocompatibility is a concern in the acute period when the device placement procedure involves some level of blood contact, and more chronically for scaffolds that will experience ongoing exposure to blood, such as with stents, cardiac valve scaffolds, or vascular grafts and patches. For all concerns regarding blood-contacting materials, the potential exists for the material to induce hemolysis, complement activation, and the formation of thrombus or embolus. Hemolysis can result from the material properties or the induced flow path created by a scaffold, such as high–fluid shear regions. The characterization of hemolysis for materials and devices is well-described in standards and in the literature [144,145]. Complement activation is generally related to surface properties; guidance exists to assess the activation of this immune system pathway [146–148]. Like hemolysis, thrombogenicity depends on both the material properties and the blood flow pathway near the scaffold surfaces. The status of the patient's blood is also a consideration, because anticoagulant and antiplatelet medications can be prescribed to reduce the safety risks associated with thrombosis.

Thrombogenicity remains a major cause of scaffold failure for blood-contacting biomaterial scaffolds, including vascular grafts and stents [149,150]. Thrombi formed on scaffolds may occlude vessels or embolize and lead to lifethreatening ischemia in distal tissues (e.g., pulmonary emboli or embolic stroke) [151]. Because the coagulation pathway and platelet adhesion are initiated on artificial surfaces by protein adsorption, the design of scaffold surface properties to alter this adhesion process to reduce thrombogenicity has long been a focus of research in the biomaterials community. Common approaches include those that seek to reduce overall protein adsorption by increasing surface hydrophilicity, presenting zwitterionic groups, attaching specific bioactive molecules, or manipulating surface roughness. Surface attachment of the anticoagulant heparin or heparin analogs is one of the most widely employed strategies [152,153]. Surface modification with zwitterionic polymers such as phosphoryl choline or sulfobetaine derivatives can effectively reduce protein adsorption; it has been shown to reduce thrombogenesis for a variety of underlying surfaces [154–156]. Layer-by-layer assembly has also used to create antifouling surfaces [157]. Rough surfaces generally increase the potential for platelet deposition [158]. Therefore, smooth and even lubricious scaffold surfaces have been employed to reduce thrombogenesis [159,160], although an alternative approach of presenting rough surfaces to encourage rapid tissue integration has been used in chronically placed nondegradable devices [161,162]. With the theme of tissue integration central to scaffold placement, the development of an endothelial layer over the blood-contacting surfaces is an attractive way to reduce the ongoing risk for thrombosis and thromboembolism. This is a common vision for blood vessel, cardiac valve, and stent scaffold design. Such endothelialization may be encouraged by specific surface ligands or the controlled release of bioactive agents, as well as endothelial cell or endothelial progenitor cell seeding or recruitment from the circulation or nearby tissue [163–165].





FIGURE 30.7 Sequence of events involved in inflammatory and wound healing responses leading to foreign body giant cell formation. This shows the potential importance of mast cells in the acute inflammatory phase and T helper 2 (Th2) lymphocytes in the transient chronic inflammatory phase with the production of interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13, which can induce monocyte and macrophage fusion to form foreign body giant cells. *PMN*, polymorphonuclear leukocytes [167].

#### Foreign Body Response

Implantation of biomaterial scaffolds induces inflammatory and wound healing pathways, which result in a common response if the material is synthetic and nondegradable. Similarities of the response across materials and implant locations has led to the designation of these sequelae as the "foreign body response" (Fig. 30.7). Degradable scaffolds will ultimately remove a central feature of the chronic foreign body response (the implant immediately surrounded by encapsulating fibrous tissue), but during the degradation period of the scaffold, the response is roughly equivalent, although ultimately with more active phagocytosis by macrophages in the surrounding tissue. Of note, with materials based on decellularized tissue, this response outcome may follow a different pathway that has been termed "constructive remodeling," with important differences in the cellular and molecular components [166]. From a safety perspective, the extent of inflammation and fibrosis in the area of scaffold placement is a concern in terms of how this response may lead to failure of the device or inhibition of the device's function. Also of concern is the variability that may occur with this response such that in some patients a more vigorous inflammatory response may lead to accelerated scaffold degradation and early mechanical failure or other morbidity such as local pain and swelling. Readers are encouraged to refer to reviews for the latest concepts regarding foreign body responses [167–170].

Because macrophage behavior is a critical determinant in the direction of the foreign body response, there has been attention to examining how macrophage behavior can be influenced by scaffold topography, stiffness, surface chemistry, and naturally derived bioactive components [19,167,171,172]. Of interest to the biomaterial community are strategies that may serve to influence the foreign body response by modulating macrophage behavior. One approach is to passivate scaffold surfaces in an attempt to render the material substrate "invisible" or neutral to macrophages. Ultralow-fouling zwitterionic hydrogels resisted macrophage adhesion and capsule formation for at least 3 months in a mouse subcutaneous model [173]. In another study, triazole derivatives of alginate were identified to modulate immune cell populations at the surface of hydrogels made from these molecules, specifically

#### SUMMARY

macrophages, in a manner that inhibited their activation and disrupted fibrotic processes, leading to the mitigation of foreign body response in nonhuman primate models [174]. A second strategy has been to polarize local macrophages actively toward an M2 phenotype (a phenotype associated with the promotion of tissue repair and regeneration in contrast to the proinflammatory M1 phenotype [168]). It was widely reported that a decellularized tissue-based material alternative referred to as ECM-based products can induce M2 polarization of macrophages. Thus, aside from fabricating scaffolds directly from ECM products, efforts have been made to produce composites of scaffolding material, usually synthetic polymers, and ECM-derived components as additives [168,175,176].

# MANUFACTURABILITY

Even at the earliest stages of the design process for biomaterial scaffolds, it is worth considering how scaffold production ultimately might be scaled up in a manner consistent with good manufacturing practice to ensure stable quality. More broadly, translational and regulatory challenges from the manufacturing perspective will need to be addressed if the scaffold is to move toward a clinical impact, and early identification of design limitations in this area may allow the implementation of an approach with a greater likelihood of success.

As introduced earlier, selecting the scaffold material is often the first step in scaffold development. Regulatory agencies focus on application-oriented pathways in which a specific type or composition of material is approved for one application (device) at a time and reevaluation is needed for a different application. The selection of widely used materials in approved devices such as poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid), stainless steel, and hydroxyl apatite can be attractive because their safety as components in existing products has been demonstrated and general sterilization and biocompatibility protocols have been addressed in a manner that may greatly reduce the material-associated risk for the new application. Furthermore, supplier and manufacturing considerations, from raw material sourcing to material synthesis, and even scaffold formation may have been addressed successfully. Taking polymeric biomaterials as an example, despite the exploding diversity of material designs reported in the literature and the great advancement with controlled polymerization, a limited set of degradable polymers is still commonly implemented owing to practical considerations regarding regulatory approval, costs, and manufacturability. Although newer designs for degradable polymers may possess a better-controlled structure and molecular weight, enabling the integration of powerful biological and imaging functions, the synthesis and processing steps may be markedly more complex, require more strictly monitored controls and systems, and require a more extensive approval pathway compared with a less effective but still functional material. Some of these obstacles may be overcome by modifying laboratory fabrication protocols and considering trade-offs in complexity or benefit early in the design and evaluation process.

With rapid advances in SFF and the attractiveness of combining such technology with patient-specific imaging and even personalized medicine, the promise is presented of better designs suited for individual patient needs. One could imagine controlling the material, morphology, and bioactivity in a patient-specific manner. This will be an area of substantial investment in coming years, and if the patient benefits are great enough compared with nonindividualized solutions with simpler materials, the cost of implementing such technologies in a regulatorycompatible and economically attractive manner would be justified.

## SUMMARY

The use of temporary biomaterial scaffolds for regenerative medicine approaches to tissue failure provides a means to support the transition from a synthetic, externally generated "bandage" to an autologous, functional tissue outcome. The potential to mediate a complete and effective transition remains elusive for many tissues and disease states. For the team designing such regenerative medicine solutions, the considerations for the scaffold are many, and there is much more potential for the scaffold than to serve as a well-designed physical support that appropriately transfers load to ingrowing tissue. As noted in this chapter, the team has an increasing array of tools to control the degradation process, design for tissue integration, deliver bioactive agents in an appropriate temporal fashion, and use these design options to meet specific hypothesized needs for the tissue and patient group in question. Ultimately, scaffold design considerations must fit within a much broader array of considerations that will touch upon many other topics covered in this text. As with many of those other topics, the field is dynamic, challenging, and ripe with the opportunity for new investigators to have an impact on the future of regenerative medicine.

# References

- [1] Garg S, Bourantas C, Serruys PW. New concepts in the design of drug-eluting coronary stents. Nat Rev Cardiol 2013:248–60.
- [2] Hiob MA, She S, Muiznieks LD, Weiss AS. Biomaterials and modifications in the development of small-diameter vascular grafts. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016:712–23.
- [3] Ibrahim AM, Vargas CR, Colakoglu S, Nguyen JT, Lin SJ, Lee BT. Properties of meshes used in hernia repair: a comprehensive review of synthetic and biologic meshes. J Reconstr Microsurg 2015:83–94.
- [4] Smith TO, Sexton D, Mann C, Donell S. Sutures versus staples for skin closure in orthopaedic surgery: meta-analysis. BMJ 2010:c1199.
- [5] Goodman SB, Yao Z, Keeney M, Yang F. The future of biologic coatings for orthopaedic implants. Biomaterials 2013:3174-83.
- [6] Mattesini A, Secco GG, Dall'Ara G, Ghione M, Rama-Merchan JC, Lupi A, Viceconte N, Lindsay AC, De Silva R, Foin N, Naganuma T, Valente S, Colombo A, Di Mario C. ABSORB biodegradable stents versus second-generation metal stents: a comparison study of 100 complex lesions treated under OCT guidance. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2014:741–50.
- [7] Williams Simon F, Rizk S, Martin David P. Poly-4-hydroxybutyrate (P4HB): a new generation of resorbable medical devices for tissue repair and regeneration. Biomed Tech Biomed Eng 2013:439.
- [8] Middleton JC, Tipton AJ. Synthetic biodegradable polymers as orthopedic devices. Biomaterials 2000:2335-46.
- [9] Teo AJT, Mishra A, Park I, Kim Y-J, Park W-T, Yoon Y-J. Polymeric biomaterials for medical implants and devices. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016:454–72.
- [10] Brannigan RP, Dove AP. Synthesis, properties and biomedical applications of hydrolytically degradable materials based on aliphatic polyesters and polycarbonates. Biomater Sci 2016:9–21.
- [11] Williams DF. On the mechanisms of biocompatibility. Biomaterials 2008:2941–53.
- [12] Hollister SJ. Scaffold design and manufacturing: from concept to clinic. Adv Mater 2009:3330-42.
- [13] Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell 2006:677-89.
- [14] Macri-Pellizzeri L, Pelacho B, Sancho A, Iglesias-Garcia O, Simon-Yarza AM, Soriano-Navarro M, Gonzalez-Granero S, Garcia-Verdugo JM, De-Juan-Pardo EM, Prosper F. Substrate stiffness and composition specifically direct differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2015:1633–41.
- [15] Evans ND, Minelli C, Gentleman E, LaPointe V, Patankar SN, Kallivretaki M, Chen X, Roberts CJ, Stevens MM. Substrate stiffness affects early differentiation events in embryonic stem cells. Eur Cell Mater 2009:1–14.
- [16] Park JS, Chu JS, Tsou AD, Diop R, Tang Z, Wang A, Li S. The effect of matrix stiffness on the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in response to TGF-beta. Biomaterials 2011:3921–30.
- [17] Lv H, Li L, Sun M, Zhang Y, Chen L, Rong Y, Li Y. Mechanism of regulation of stem cell differentiation by matrix stiffness. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015:103.
- [18] McWhorter FY, Davis CT, Liu WF. Physical and mechanical regulation of macrophage phenotype and function. Cell Mol Life Sci 2015: 1303–16.
- [19] Sridharan R, Cameron AR, Kelly DJ, Kearney CJ, O'Brien FJ. Biomaterial based modulation of macrophage polarization: a review and suggested design principles. Mater Today 2015:313–25.
- [20] Mason BN, Califano JP, Reinhart-King CA. Matrix stiffness: a regulator of cellular behavior and tissue formation. Eng Biomater Regen Med 2012:19–37.
- [21] Barnes JM, Przybyla L, Weaver VM. Tissue mechanics regulate brain development, homeostasis and disease. J Cell Sci 2017:71-82.
- [22] Ashby MF. Chapter 4-material property charts, materials selection in mechanical design. 4th ed. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann; 2011. p. 57–96.
- [23] Deshayes S, Kasko AM. Polymeric biomaterials with engineered degradation. J Polym Sci Part A: Polym Chem 2013:3531–66.
- [24] Ali SAM, Doherty PJ, Williams DF. The mechanisms of oxidative-degradation of biomedical polymers by free-radicals. J Appl Polym Sci 1994:1389–98.
- [25] Simpson M, Gilmore BF, Miller A, Helt-Hansen J, Buchanan FJ. Irradiation of bioresorbable biomaterials for controlled surface degradation. Radiat Phys Chem 2014:211–6.
- [26] Phillips DJ, Gibson MI. Biodegradable poly(disulfide)s derived from RAFT polymerization: monomer scope, glutathione degradation, and tunable thermal responses. Biomacromolecules 2012:3200–8.
- [27] Zhu Y, Jiang H, Ye S-H, Yoshizumi T, Wagner WR. Tailoring the degradation rates of thermally responsive hydrogels designed for soft tissue injection by varying the autocatalytic potential. Biomaterials 2015:484–93.
- [28] Peterson GI, Larsen MB, Boydston AJ. Controlled depolymerization: stimuli-responsive self-immolative polymers. Macromolecules 2012: 7317–28.
- [29] Webber MJ, Appel EA, Meijer EW, Langer R. Supramolecular biomaterials. Nat Mater 2015:13–26.
- [30] Staiger MP, Pietak AM, Huadmai J, Dias G. Magnesium and its alloys as orthopedic biomaterials: a review. Biomaterials 2006:1728–34.
- [31] Ma J, Zhao N, Zhu D. Endothelial cellular responses to biodegradable metal zinc. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2015:1174-82.
- [32] Kirkland NT. Magnesium biomaterials: past, present and future. Corr Eng Sci Technol 2012:322-8.
- [33] Zheng YF, Gu XN, Witte F. Biodegradable metals. Mater Sci Eng R Rep 2014:1-34.
- [34] Sheikh Z, Abdallah M-N, Hanafi A, Misbahuddin S, Rashid H, Glogauer M. Mechanisms of in vivo degradation and resorption of calcium phosphate based biomaterials. Materials 2015:7913–25.
- [35] Hakkarainen M, Albertsson AC, Karlsson S. Weight losses and molecular weight changes correlated with the evolution of hydroxyacids in simulated in vivo degradation of homo- and copolymers of PLA and PGA. Polym Degradation Stab 1996:283–91.
- [36] Ara M, Watanabe M, Imai Y. Effect of blending calcium compounds on hydrolytic degradation of poly(DL-lactic acid-co-glycolic acid). Biomaterials 2002:2479–83.
- [37] Zhao D, Witte F, Lu F, Wang J, Li J, Qin L. Current status on clinical applications of magnesium-based orthopaedic implants: a review from clinical translational perspective. Biomaterials 2017:287–302.
- [38] Patterson J, Siew R, Herring SW, Lin AS, Guldberg R, Stayton PS. Hyaluronic acid hydrogels with controlled degradation properties for oriented bone regeneration. Biomaterials 2010:6772–81.

#### 518

#### REFERENCES

- [39] Kong HJ, Kaigler D, Kim K, Mooney DJ. Controlling rigidity and degradation of alginate hydrogels via molecular weight distribution. Biomacromolecules 2004:1720-7.
- [40] Banerjee A, Chatterjee K, Madras G. Enzymatic degradation of polymers: a brief review. Mater Sci Technol 2014:567-73.
- [41] Helling AL, Tsekoura EK, Biggs M, Bayon Y, Pandit A, Zeugolis DI. In vitro enzymatic degradation of tissue grafts and collagen biomaterials by matrix metalloproteinases: improving the collagenase assay. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2017:1922–32.
- [42] Yahyouche A, Zhidao X, Czernuszka JT, Clover AJ. Macrophage-mediated degradation of crosslinked collagen scaffolds. Acta Biomater 2011:278–86.
- [43] Yang J, Jacobsen MT, Pan H, Kopecek J. Synthesis and characterization of enzymatically degradable PEG-based peptide-containing hydrogels. Macromol Biosci 2010:445–54.
- [44] Um SH, Lee JB, Park N, Kwon SY, Umbach CC, Luo D. Enzyme-catalysed assembly of DNA hydrogel. Nat Mater 2006:797-801.
- [45] Nicodemus GD, Bryant SJ. Cell encapsulation in biodegradable hydrogels for tissue engineering applications. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2008: 149–65.
- [46] Tondera C, Hauser S, Kruger-Genge A, Jung F, Neffe AT, Lendlein A, Klopfleisch R, Steinbach J, Neuber C, Pietzsch J. Gelatin-based hydrogel degradation and tissue interaction in vivo: insights from multimodal preclinical imaging in immunocompetent nude mice. Theranostics 2016:2114–28.
- [47] West JL, Hubbell JA. Polymeric biomaterials with degradation sites for proteases involved in cell migration. Macromolecules 1999:241-4.
- [48] Lopresti ST, Brown BN. Chapter 4-host response to naturally derived biomaterials A2-badylak, Stephen F, host response to biomaterials. Oxford: Academic Press; 2015. p. 53–79.
- [49] Cui W, Li X, Zhu X, Yu G, Zhou S, Weng J. Investigation of drug release and matrix degradation of electrospun poly(DL-lactide) fibers with paracetanol inoculation. Biomacromolecules 2006:1623–9.
- [50] Yixiang D, Yong T, Liao S, Chan CK, Ramakrishna S. Degradation of electrospun nanofiber scaffold by short wave length ultraviolet radiation treatment and its potential applications in tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A 2008:1321–9.
- [51] Pan Z, Ding J. Poly(lactide-co-glycolide) porous scaffolds for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Interface Focus 2012:366-77.
- [52] Gu XN, Zhou WR, Zheng YF, Liu Y, Li YX. Degradation and cytotoxicity of lotus-type porous pure magnesium as potential tissue engineering scaffold material. Mater Lett 2010:1871–4.
- [53] Lam KH, Nieuwenhuis P, Molenaar I, Esselbrugge H, Feijen J, Dijkstra PJ, Schakenraad JM. Biodegradation of porous versus non-porous poly(L-lactic acid) films. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1994:181–9.
- [54] Zhang H, Zhou L, Zhang W. Control of scaffold degradation in tissue engineering: a review. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2014:492–502.
- [55] Bakry A, Martinelli A, Bizzarri M, Cucina A, D'Ilario L, Francolini I, Piozzi A, Proietti S. A new approach for the preparation of hydrophilic poly(L-lactide) porous scaffold for tissue engineering by using lamellar single crystals. Polym Int 2012:1177–85.
- [56] Tang YW, Santerre JP, Labow RS, Taylor DG. Application of macromolecular additives to reduce the hydrolytic degradation of polyurethanes by lysosomal enzymes. Biomaterials 1997:37–45.
- [57] Singh R, Dahotre NB. Corrosion degradation and prevention by surface modification of biometallic materials. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2007: 725–51.
- [58] Leitao E, Silva RA, Barbosa MA. Electrochemical and surface modifications on N+-ion-implanted 316 L stainless steel. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1997:365–8.
- [59] Villermaux F, Tabrizian M, Yahia LH, Meunier M, Piron DL. Excimer laser treatment of NiTi shape memory alloy biomaterials. Appl Surf Sci 1997:62–6.
- [60] Wang CX, Wang M, Zhou X. Nucleation and growth of apatite on chemically treated titanium alloy: an electrochemical impedance spectroscopy study. Biomaterials 2003:3069–77.
- [61] Tasso R, Fais F, Reverberi D, Tortelli F, Cancedda R. The recruitment of two consecutive and different waves of host stem/progenitor cells during the development of tissue-engineered bone in a murine model. Biomaterials 2010:2121–9.
- [62] Browne S, Pandit A. Multi-modal delivery of therapeutics using biomaterial scaffolds. J Mater Chem B 2014:6692–707.
- [63] Al-Sokanee ZN, Toabi AA, Al-Assadi MJ, Alassadi EA. The drug release study of ceftriaxone from porous hydroxyapatite scaffolds. AAPS PharmSciTech 2009:772–9.
- [64] Lin CC, Metters AT. Hydrogels in controlled release formulations: network design and mathematical modeling. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2006: 1379–408.
- [65] Vulic K, Shoichet MS. Affinity-based drug delivery systems for tissue repair and regeneration. Biomacromolecules 2014:3867–80.
- [66] Vulic K, Shoichet MS. Tunable growth factor delivery from injectable hydrogels for tissue engineering. J Am Chem Soc 2012:882–5.
- [67] Vulic K, Pakulska MM, Sonthalia R, Ramachandran A, Shoichet MS. Mathematical model accurately predicts protein release from an affinity-based delivery system. J Control Release 2015:69–77.
- [68] Kryscio DR, Peppas NA. Mimicking biological delivery through feedback-controlled drug release systems based on molecular imprinting. AIChE J 2009:1311–24.
- [69] Mohtaram NK, Montgomery A, Willerth SM. Biomaterial-based drug delivery systems for the controlled release of neurotrophic factors. Biomed Mater 2013:022001.
- [70] Wang NX, von Recum HA. Affinity-based drug delivery. Macromol Biosci 2011:321-32.
- [71] Cunliffe D, Kirby A, Alexander C. Molecularly imprinted drug delivery systems. Adv Drug Del Rev 2005:1836-53.
- [72] Lee K, Silva EA, Mooney DJ. Growth factor delivery-based tissue engineering: general approaches and a review of recent developments. J R Soc Interface 2011:153–70.
- [73] Shim WS, Kim SW, Lee DS. Sulfonamide-based pH- and temperature-sensitive biodegradable block copolymer hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 2006:1935–41.
- [74] Klouda L, Mikos AG. Thermoresponsive hydrogels in biomedical applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2008:34–45.
- [75] Lutolf MP, Weber FE, Schmoekel HG, Schense JC, Kohler T, Muller R, Hubbell JA. Repair of bone defects using synthetic mimetics of collagenous extracellular matrices. Nat Biotechnol 2003:513–8.
- [76] Miyata T, Asami N, Uragami T. A reversibly antigen-responsive hydrogel. Nature 1999:766-9.

#### 520

#### 30. DESIGN PRINCIPLES IN BIOMATERIALS AND SCAFFOLDS

- [77] Ehrbar M, Schoenmakers R, Christen EH, Fussenegger M, Weber W. Drug-sensing hydrogels for the inducible release of biopharmaceuticals. Nat Mater 2008:800–4.
- [78] Ehrick JD, Deo SK, Browning TW, Bachas LG, Madou MJ, Daunert S. Genetically engineered protein in hydrogels tailors stimuli-responsive characteristics. Nat Mater 2005:298–302.
- [79] Jager EW, Smela E, Inganas O. Microfabricating conjugated polymer actuators. Science 2000:1540–5.
- [80] Yilgor P, Tuzlakoglu K, Reis RL, Hasirci N, Hasirci V. Incorporation of a sequential BMP-2/BMP-7 delivery system into chitosan-based scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2009:3551–9.
- [81] Awada HK, Johnson NR, Wang Y. Sequential delivery of angiogenic growth factors improves revascularization and heart function after myocardial infarction. J Control Release 2015:7–17.
- [82] Hollister SJ. Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering. Nat Mater 2005:518–24.
- [83] Yazdimamaghani M, Razavi M, Vashaee D, Moharamzadeh K, Boccaccini AR, Tayebi L. Porous magnesium-based scaffolds for tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2017:1253–66.
- [84] Ryan G, Pandit A, Apatsidis DP. Fabrication methods of porous metals for use in orthopaedic applications. Biomaterials 2006:2651-70.
- [85] Jones JR. Reprint of: review of bioactive glass: from Hench to hybrids. Acta Biomater 2015:S53-82.
- [86] Liu X, Ma PX. Polymeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 2004:477–86.
- [87] Chia HN, Wu BM. Recent advances in 3D printing of biomaterials. J Biol Eng 2015:4.
- [88] Billiet T, Vandenhaute M, Schelfhout J, Van Vlierberghe S, Dubruel P. A review of trends and limitations in hydrogel-rapid prototyping for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2012:6020–41.
- [89] van Noort R. The future of dental devices is digital. Mater: Dent; 2012. p. 3-12.
- [90] Melchels FP, Feijen J, Grijpma DW. A review on stereolithography and its applications in biomedical engineering. Biomaterials 2010: 6121–30.
- [91] Pattanayak DK, Fukuda A, Matsushita T, Takemoto M, Fujibayashi S, Sasaki K, Nishida N, Nakamura T, Kokubo T. Bioactive Ti metal analogous to human cancellous bone: fabrication by selective laser melting and chemical treatments. Acta Biomater 2011:1398–406.
- [92] Akar B, Jiang B, Somo SI, Appel AA, Larson JC, Tichauer KM, Brey EM. Biomaterials with persistent growth factor gradients in vivo accelerate vascularized tissue formation. Biomaterials 2015:61–73.
- [93] Kothapalli CR, Honarmandi P. Theoretical and experimental quantification of the role of diffusive chemogradients on neuritogenesis within three-dimensional collagen scaffolds. Acta Biomater 2014:3664–74.
- [94] Callahan LA, Ganios AM, Childers EP, Weiner SD, Becker ML. Primary human chondrocyte extracellular matrix formation and phenotype maintenance using RGD-derivatized PEGDM hydrogels possessing a continuous Young's modulus gradient. Acta Biomater 2013:6095–104.
- [95] Chen L, Song W, Markel DC, Shi T, Muzik O, Matthew H, Ren W. Flow perfusion culture of MC3T3-E1 osteogenic cells on gradient calcium polyphosphate scaffolds with different pore sizes. J Biomater Appl 2016:908–18.
- [96] de Mulder ELW, Buma P, Hannink G. Anisotropic porous biodegradable scaffolds for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. Materials 2009: 1674–96.
- [97] Guan J, Fujimoto KL, Wagner WR. Elastase-sensitive elastomeric scaffolds with variable anisotropy for soft tissue engineering. Pharm Res (N Y) 2008:2400–12.
- [98] McCullen SD, Autefage H, Callanan A, Gentleman E, Stevens MM. Anisotropic fibrous scaffolds for articular cartilage regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 2012:2073–83.
- [99] Fierz FC, Beckmann F, Huser M, Irsen SH, Leukers B, Witte F, Degistirici O, Andronache A, Thie M, Muller B. The morphology of anisotropic 3D-printed hydroxyapatite scaffolds. Biomaterials 2008:3799–806.
- [100] Wu J, Du YQ, Watkins SC, Funderburgh JL, Wagner WR. The engineering of organized human corneal tissue through the spatial guidance of corneal stromal stem cells. Biomaterials 2012:1343–52.
- [101] Hinton TJ, Jallerat Q, Palchesko RN, Park JH, Grodzicki MS, Shue HJ, Ramadan MH, Hudson AR, Feinberg AW. Three-dimensional printing of complex biological structures by freeform reversible embedding of suspended hydrogels. Sci Adv 2015:e1500758.
- [102] Lind JU, Busbee TA, Valentine AD, Pasqualini FS, Yuan H, Yadid M, Park SJ, Kotikian A, Nesmith AP, Campbell PH, Vlassak JJ, Lewis JA, Parker KK. Instrumented cardiac microphysiological devices via multimaterial three-dimensional printing. Nat Mater 2017:303–8.
- [103] Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. Geometric control of cell life and death. Science 1997:1425.
- [104] Kilian KA, Bugarija B, Lahn BT, Mrksich M. Geometric cues for directing the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010:4872–7.
- [105] Deligianni DD, Katsala ND, Koutsoukos PG, Missirlis YF. Effect of surface roughness of hydroxyapatite on human bone marrow cell adhesion, proliferation, differentiation and detachment strength. Biomaterials 2001:87–96.
- [106] Huang HH, Ho CT, Lee TH, Lee TL, Liao KK, Chen FL. Effect of surface roughness of ground titanium on initial cell adhesion. Biomol Eng 2004:93–7.
- [107] Gittens RA, McLachlan T, Olivares-Navarrete R, Cai Y, Berner S, Tannenbaum R, Schwartz Z, Sandhage KH, Boyan BD. The effects of combined micron-/submicron-scale surface roughness and nanoscale features on cell proliferation and differentiation. Biomaterials 2011: 3395–403.
- [108] Ishizaki T, Saito N, Takai O. Correlation of cell adhesive behaviors on superhydrophobic, superhydrophilic, and micropatterned superhydrophobic/superhydrophilic surfaces to their surface chemistry. Langmuir 2010:8147–54.
- [109] Ren T, Mao Z, Guo J, Gao C. Directional migration of vascular smooth muscle cells guided by a molecule weight gradient of poly(2hydroxyethyl methacrylate) brushes. Langmuir 2013:6386–95.
- [110] Mao Z, Yu S, Ren T, Gao C. Gradient biomaterials and their impact on cell migration. In: Gao C, editor. Polymeric biomaterials for tissue regeneration: from surface/interface design to 3D constructs. Singapore: Springer Singapore; 2016. p. 151–85.
- [111] Ren T, Yu S, Mao Z, Gao C. A complementary density gradient of zwitterionic polymer brushes and NCAM peptides for selectively controlling directional migration of schwann cells. Biomaterials 2015:58–67.
- [112] Antonios GM, Johnna ST. Formation of highly porous biodegradable scaffolds for tissue engineering. Electron J Biotechnol 2000;3(2).
- [113] Xu HH, Weir MD, Burguera EF, Fraser AM. Injectable and macroporous calcium phosphate cement scaffold. Biomaterials 2006:4279-87.

#### REFERENCES

- [114] Krebs MD, Sutter KA, Lin AS, Guldberg RE, Alsberg E. Injectable poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid scaffolds with in situ pore formation for tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2009:2847–59.
- [115] Griffin DR, Weaver WM, Scumpia PO, Di Carlo D, Segura T. Accelerated wound healing by injectable microporous gel scaffolds assembled from annealed building blocks. Nat Mater 2015:737–44.
- [116] Verbeke CS, Mooney DJ. Injectable, pore-forming hydrogels for in vivo enrichment of immature dendritic cells. Adv Healthc Mater 2015: 2677–87.
- [117] Bencherif SA, Sands RW, Bhatta D, Arany P, Verbeke CS, Edwards DA, Mooney DJ. Injectable preformed scaffolds with shape-memory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012:19590–5.
- [118] Lusic H, Grinstaff MW. X-ray-computed tomography contrast agents. Chem Rev 2013:1641-66.
- [119] Tang J, Sheng Y, Hu H, Shen Y. Macromolecular MRI contrast agents: structures, properties and applications. Prog Polym Sci 2012:462-502.
- [120] Zhang Z, Nair SA, McMurry TJ. Gadolinium meets medicinal chemistry: MRI contrast agent development. Curr Med Chem 2005:751-78.
- [121] Kim K, Wagner WR. Non-invasive and non-destructive characterization of tissue engineered constructs using ultrasound imaging technologies: a review. Ann Biomed Eng 2016:621–35.
- [122] Hasebroock KM, Serkova NJ. Toxicity of MRI and CT contrast agents. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2009:403-16.
- [123] Terrovitis JV, Bulte JW, Sarvananthan S, Crowe LA, Sarathchandra P, Batten P, Sachlos E, Chester AH, Czernuszka JT, Firmin DN, Taylor PM, Yacoub MH. Magnetic resonance imaging of ferumoxide-labeled mesenchymal stem cells seeded on collagen scaffolds-relevance to tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2006:2765–75.
- [124] WHO. Medical device regulations: global overview and guiding principles. 2003.
- [125] von Woedtke T, Kramer A. The limits of sterility assurance. GMS Krankenhhyg Interdiszip 2008;3(3): Doc19.
- [126] Bhatnagar D, Dube K, Damodaran VB, Subramanian G, Aston K, Halperin F, Mao M, Pricer K, Murthy NS, Kohn J. Effects of terminal sterilization on PEG-based bioresorbable polymers used in biomedical applications. Macromol Mater Eng 2016:1211–24.
- [127] Desai NP, Hossainy SFA, Hubbell JA. Surface-immobilized polyethylene oxide for bacterial repellence. Biomaterials 1992:417–20.
- [128] Kingshott P, Griesser HJ. Surfaces that resist bioadhesion. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 1999:403-12.
- [129] Dave RN, Joshi HM, Venugopalan VP. Novel biocatalytic polymer-based antimicrobial coatings as potential ureteral biomaterial: preparation and in vitro performance evaluation. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2011:845–53.
- [130] Sileika TS, Kim H-D, Maniak P, Messersmith PB. Antibacterial performance of polydopamine-modified polymer surfaces containing passive and active components. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2011:4602–10.
- [131] Gristina AG, Naylor P, Myrvik Q. Infections from biomaterials and implants: a race for the surface. Med Prog Technol 1988:205-24.
- [132] Busscher HJ, van der Mei HC, Subbiahdoss G, Jutte PC, van den Dungen JJ, Zaat SA, Schultz MJ, Grainger DW. Biomaterial-associated infection: locating the finish line in the race for the surface. Sci Transl Med 2012:153rv110.
- [133] Anderson JM. Biological responses to materials. Annu Rev Mater Res 2001:81-110.
- [134] Lieder R, Petersen PH. Ö.E. Sigurjónsson, endotoxins—the invisible companion in biomaterials research. Tissue Eng B Rev 2013:391–402.
- [135] Zhang H, Fan D, Deng J, Zhu C, Hui J, Ma X. Effect of Tris-acetate buffer on endotoxin removal from human-like collagen used biomaterials. Mater Sci Eng C 2014:124–9.
- [136] Tarafa PJ, Williams E, Panvelker S, Zhang J, Matthews MA. Removing endotoxin from metallic biomaterials with compressed carbon dioxide-based mixtures. J Supercrit Fluids 2011:1052–8.
- [137] Müller BP, Eisenträger A, Jahnen-Dechent W, Dott W, Hollender J. Effect of sample preparation on the in vitro genotoxicity of a light curable glass ionomer cement. Biomaterials 2003:611–7.
- [138] El-Yamany NA, Mohamed FF, Salaheldin TA, Tohamy AA, Abd El-Mohsen WN, Amin AS. Graphene oxide nanosheets induced genotoxicity and pulmonary injury in mice. Exp Toxicol Pathol 2017:383–92.
- [139] Kleinsasser NH, Schmid K, Sassen AW, Harréus UA, Staudenmaier R, Folwaczny M, Glas J, Reichl F-X. Cytotoxic and genotoxic effects of resin monomers in human salivary gland tissue and lymphocytes as assessed by the single cell microgel electrophoresis (Comet) assay. Biomaterials 2006:1762–70.
- [140] Kirkpatrick CJ, Alves A, Köhler H, Kriegsmann J, Bittinger F, Otto M, Williams DF, Eloy R. Biomaterial-induced sarcoma : a novel model to study preneoplastic change. Am J Pathol 2000:1455–67.
- [141] Klosterhalfen B, Klinge U, Schumpelick V. Carcinogenicity of implantable biomaterials. In: Bendavid R, Abrahamson J, Arregui ME, Flament JB, Phillips EH, editors. Abdominal wall hernias: principles and management. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2001. p. 235–6.
- [142] Hallab NJ. A review of the biologic effects of spine implant debris: fact from fiction. SAS J 2009:143-60.
- [143] Guan A, Hamilton P, Wang Y, Gorbet M, Li Z, Phillips KS. Medical devices on chips. 2017. p. 0045.
- [144] Seyfert UT, Biehl V, Schenk J. In vitro hemocompatibility testing of biomaterials according to the ISO 10993-4. Biomol Eng 2002:91-6.
- [145] Říhová B. Biocompatibility of biomaterials: hemocompatibility, immunocompatibility and biocompatibility of solid polymeric materials and soluble targetable polymeric carriers. Adv Drug Del Rev 1996:157–76.
- [146] Ekdahl KN, Lambris JD, Elwing H, Ricklin D, Nilsson PH, Teramura Y, Nicholls IA, Nilsson B. Innate immunity activation on biomaterial surfaces: a mechanistic model and coping strategies. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2011:1042–50.
- [147] Lyle DB, Bushar GS, Langone JJ. Screening biomaterials for functional complement activation in serum. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010:205–13.
- [148] Hakim RM. Chapter 18 Complement activation by biomaterials. Cardiovasc Pathol 1993:187–97.
- [149] Brewster LP, Bufallino D, Ucuzian A, Greisler HP. Growing a living blood vessel: insights for the second hundred years. Biomaterials 2007: 5028–32.
- [150] Joner M, Finn AV, Farb A, Mont EK, Kolodgie FD, Ladich E, Kutys R, Skorija K, Gold HK, Virmani R. Pathology of drug-eluting stents in humans: delayed healing and late thrombotic risk. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006:193–202.
- [151] Jung F, Braune S. Thrombogenicity and hemocompatibility of biomaterials. Biointerphases 2015:029601.
- [152] Dimitrievska S, Cai C, Weyers A, Balestrini JL, Lin T, Sundaram S, Hatachi G, Spiegel DA, Kyriakides TR, Miao J, Li G, Niklason LE, Linhardt RJ. Click-coated, heparinized, decellularized vascular grafts. Acta Biomater 2015:177–87.
- [153] Wang LR, Qin H, Nie SQ, Sun SD, Ran F, Zhao CS. Direct synthesis of heparin-like poly(ether sulfone) polymer and its blood compatibility. Acta Biomater 2013:8851–63.

#### 522

#### 30. DESIGN PRINCIPLES IN BIOMATERIALS AND SCAFFOLDS

- [154] Ye SH, Arazawa DT, Zhu Y, Shankarraman V, Malkin AD, Kimmel JD, Gamble LJ, Ishihara K, Federspiel WJ, Wagner WR. Hollow fiber membrane modification with functional zwitterionic macromolecules for improved thromboresistance in artificial lungs. Langmuir 2015: 2463–71.
- [155] Sin M-C, Chen S-H, Chang Y. Hemocompatibility of zwitterionic interfaces and membranes. Polym J 2014:436–43.
- [156] Damodaran VB, Murthy NS. Bio-inspired strategies for designing antifouling biomaterials. Biomater Res 2016:18.
- [157] Manabe K, Kyung KH, Shiratori S. Biocompatible slippery fluid-infused films composed of chitosan and alginate via layer-by-layer selfassembly and their antithrombogenicity. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2015:4763–71.
- [158] Jamiolkowski MA, Pedersen DD, Wu WT, Antaki JF, Wagner WR. Visualization and analysis of biomaterial-centered thrombus formation within a defined crevice under flow. Biomaterials 2016:72–83.
- [159] Yuan S, Luan S, Yan S, Shi H, Yin J. Facile fabrication of lubricant-infused wrinkling surface for preventing thrombus formation and infection. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2015:19466–73.
- [160] Janairo RR, Zhu Y, Chen T, Li S. Mucin covalently bonded to microfibers improves the patency of vascular grafts. Tissue Eng Part A 2014: 285–93.
- [161] Woolley JR, Teuteberg JJ, Bermudez CA, Bhama JK, Lockard KL, Kormos RL, Wagner WR. Temporal leukocyte numbers and granulocyte activation in pulsatile and rotary ventricular assist device patients. Artif Organs 2014:447–55.
- [162] Woolley JR, Kormos RL, Teuteberg JJ, Bermudez CA, Bhama JK, Lockard KL, Kunz NM, Wagner WR. Preoperative liver dysfunction influences blood product administration and alterations in circulating haemostatic markers following ventricular assist device implantation. Eur J Cardio Thorac Surg 2015:497–504.
- [163] Chen Z, Li Q, Chen J, Luo R, Maitz MF, Huang N. Immobilization of serum albumin and peptide aptamer for EPC on polydopamine coated titanium surface for enhanced in-situ self-endothelialization. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2016:219–29.
- [164] Liang C, Hu Y, Wang H, Xia D, Li Q, Zhang J, Yang J, Li B, Li H, Han D, Dong M. Biomimetic cardiovascular stents for in vivo reendothelialization. Biomaterials 2016:170–82.
- [165] Punnakitikashem P, Truong D, Menon JU, Nguyen KT, Hong Y. Electrospun biodegradable elastic polyurethane scaffolds with dipyridamole release for small diameter vascular grafts. Acta Biomater 2014:4618–28.
- [166] Brown BN, Londono R, Tottey S, Zhang L, Kukla KA, Wolf MT, Daly KA, Reing JE, Badylak SF. Macrophage phenotype as a predictor of constructive remodeling following the implantation of biologically derived surgical mesh materials. Acta Biomater 2012:978–87.
- [167] Anderson JM, Rodriguez A, Chang DT. Foreign body reaction to biomaterials. Semin Immunol 2008:86–100.
- [168] Brown BN, Ratner BD, Goodman SB, Amar S, Badylak SF. Macrophage polarization: an opportunity for improved outcomes in biomaterials and regenerative medicine. Biomaterials 2012:3792–802.
- [169] Klopfleisch R. Macrophage reaction against biomaterials in the mouse model phenotypes, functions and markers. Acta Biomater 2016: 3–13.
- [170] Morris AH, Stamer DK, Kyriakides TR. The host response to naturally-derived extracellular matrix biomaterials. Semin Immunol 2017: 72–91.
- [171] Sussman EM, Halpin MC, Muster J, Moon RT, Ratner BD. Porous implants modulate healing and induce shifts in local macrophage polarization in the foreign body reaction. Ann Biomed Eng 2014:1508–16.
- [172] Hachim D, LoPresti ST, Yates CC, Brown BN. Shifts in macrophage phenotype at the biomaterial interface via IL-4 eluting coatings are associated with improved implant integration. Biomaterials 2017:95–107.
- [173] Zhang L, Cao Z, Bai T, Carr L, Ella-Menye JR, Irvin C, Ratner BD, Jiang S. Zwitterionic hydrogels implanted in mice resist the foreign-body reaction. Nat Biotechnol 2013:553–6.
- [174] Vegas AJ, Veiseh O, Doloff JC, Ma M, Tam HH, Bratlie K, Li J, Bader AR, Langan E, Olejnik K, Fenton P, Kang JW, Hollister-Locke J, Bochenek MA, Chiu A, Siebert S, Tang K, Jhunjhunwala S, Aresta-Dasilva S, Dholakia N, Thakrar R, Vietti T, Chen M, Cohen J, Siniakowicz K, Qi M, McGarrigle J, Lyle S, Harlan DM, Greiner DL, Oberholzer J, Weir GC, Langer R, Anderson DG. Combinatorial hydrogel library enables identification of materials that mitigate the foreign body response in primates. Nat Biotechnol 2016:345–52.
- [175] Sicari BM, Dziki JL, Siu BF, Medberry CJ, Dearth CL, Badylak SF. The promotion of a constructive macrophage phenotype by solubilized extracellular matrix. Biomaterials 2014:8605–12.
- [176] D'Amore A, Yoshizumi T, Luketich SK, Wolf MT, Gu X, Cammarata M, Hoff R, Badylak SF, Wagner WR. Bi-layered polyurethane extracellular matrix cardiac patch improves ischemic ventricular wall remodeling in a rat model. Biomaterials 2016:1–14.

# 31

# Proteins Controlled With Precision at Organic, Polymeric, and Biopolymer Interfaces for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine

# David G. Castner, Buddy D. Ratner

University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

# WHY THE NEED FOR PRECISION CONTROL OF PROTEINS AT INTERFACES IN TISSUE ENGINEERING AND REGENERATIVE MEDICINE?

Evolution has crafted proteins to communicate information in biological systems with precision and accuracy. Living biological systems present the correct protein in the correct orientation and conformation to deliver protein signals. Such protein signal delivery typically occurs at cell surfaces or on the surfaces of extracellular matrix proteins. In areas where there should be no protein signals, nature uses nonfouling strategies to prevent nonspecific interactions. Overall, this leads to high signal-to-noise: the specific signal is optimally delivered and the "noise" from nonspecific proteins is minimized.

An example of such precision protein signaling that occurs in living systems is seen with bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), a family of proteins that have been evolutionarily important for over a billion years. BMP proteins are involved in biological signaling for skeletogenesis, limb regeneration, body axis determination, tissue morphogenesis, germ layer direction, and cell-fate determination, among other signal pathways [1]. BMPs affect so many different biological processes, and these processes are so critical to organism development, that the signals must be delivered with almost perfect specificity and temporal control. It has been found that BMP signals delivered after interaction with type I collagen show enhanced bioactivity compared with the soluble protein [2]. A similar observation was made with osteopontin noncovalently immobilized on type I collagen [3]. Important for this precision signaling are the specific BMP proteins involved, accessibility of the active site on the protein (molecular orientation and conformation), protein concentrations, concentration gradients and temporal persistence of the signal delivery.

In contrast, biotechnological approaches, particularly using nonbiological materials, do a poor job of delivering protein signals. Proteins are often nonspecifically adsorbed to surfaces with no control of orientation and conformation, and sometimes little or no control of which proteins adsorb. For example, consider cell culture. Billions of tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) plates are sold each year for use in most every area of cell biology, biotechnology, and medicine. The medium pipetted into these plates is frequently supplemented with fetal bovine serum or related complex biological fluids that contain hundreds of different proteins. The TCPS surface interacts with some complex mixture of proteins that reach the surface, adhere (absorb), and are not displaced by other proteins. These proteins can adsorb with their biologically relevant faces up, or down, or in some intermediate orientation. Just a small fraction of the proteins that adsorb to the surface are integral to cell attachment and growth (for example, fibronectin or vitronectin). Furthermore, the multiprotein surface can be highly denatured, in a native conformation or partially denatured. Couple this lack of precision in control of the media and

it is surprising that we have any reproducibility at all in our cell technologies. Where the absence of precision control becomes particularly evident is when we attempt to control cell differentiation at surfaces. TCPS is poor at preventing phenotype drift in cell lines on culture plates and poor at inhibiting stem cells from differentiating where we want to culture and replicate those cells in their stem-like state.

For implanted medical devices and tissue engineering scaffolds made of synthetic materials, these materials adsorb complex, nonspecific protein layers immediately after implantation. It has been hypothesized that such layers (many proteins in many states of orientation and denaturation) are responsible for the collagenous encapsulation (foreign body reaction) observed in most cases with synthetic material implants: the macrophages interrogating the implant do not recognize such multiprotein, multiconformation surface films as part of normal physiology and thus trigger an encapsulation reaction to isolate the implant from the body.

Nonspecifically adsorbed proteins have also been implicated in the thrombogenicity of synthetic surfaces in blood. Fibrinogen on surfaces has been implicated as the principal activator of blood platelets. In a study on fibrinogen adsorbed to a series of polyurethane polymers of different compositions, it was noted that the amount of adsorbed fibrinogen correlated directly with the platelet adhesion for most of the polymers [4]. However, there were some significant outliers and it was hypothesized that these were related to proteins in different states of denaturation on the different surfaces.

Decellularized tissue scaffold-based approaches to tissue engineering may also benefit from the controlled use of surface proteins. The processes used for decellularization may damage the recognizability of the proteins comprising these scaffolds. After decellularization, treating the scaffolds with signaling proteins can restore biospecificity [5] while taking advantage of the biocompatibility, biodegradability, unique pore geometries, and good mechanical properties of such scaffolds. Also, new functionality not present in nature can be added to the scaffolds.

# SURFACE ANALYSIS AND ITS ROLE IN THE PRECISION DELIVERY OF BIOLOGICAL SIGNALS

Many proteins are roughly 5–10 nm in size. The recognition sites on proteins (protein-ligand binding sites) responsible for biological signaling are closer to 0.5–1 nm in dimension. These dimensions are appropriate for the analysis depths of many contemporary surface analysis methods (Fig. 31.1). Furthermore, preparing the



FIGURE 31.1 Consider a surface interacting with a protein. A typical protein molecule (about 5 nm) is shown to establish the size scale. Techniques such as sum frequency generation (SFG) and atomic force microscopy (AFM) are highly surface localized. Quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) methods, especially with dissipation monitoring can measure the protein and its viscoelastic response in the surface zone. Secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) penetrates 1–2 nm into a surface or into a protein. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), also called electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis (ESCA), looks approximately 8 nm into a protein or surface. Other methods such as attenuated total reflection infrared (ATR\_IR) look microns into a surface, provide vibration spectroscopy information, and are still considered surface analysis methods.

524

#### A SHORT REVIEW OF KEY SURFACE ANALYSIS METHODS AND SUPPORTING TOOLS

substrate surface for the immobilization of proteins often involves complex chemical modifications so that specialized tools are needed to monitor complex chemistry modifications. Protein—biomaterial interfaces are typically complex, and validation that a chemistry or surface organization is indeed as might have been envisioned in a Powerpoint image is essential for reproducibility and to achieving predicted functionality. Modern surface analysis methods offer exceptional abilities to probe surfaces chemistries and to compare hypothesized surface organizations with real-world data [6]. A few of the more powerful and versatile methods will be briefly described here. Their application to specific chemistries for delivering biological signals will be elaborated upon in the section on Techniques and Technologies for Precision Immobilization at Surfaces.

# A SHORT REVIEW OF KEY SURFACE ANALYSIS METHODS AND SUPPORTING TOOLS

## X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) can determine compositional information in the uppermost 8–10 nm of the substrate surface [7–10]. XPS has been used to verify the quality (identity and contaminants) of the substrates and quantify protein adsorption. X-rays bombard the sample, and electrons from the atoms' core and valance bands, called photoelectrons, are ejected and analyzed [7]. The kinetic energy (*KE*) of the photoelectrons is measured and the binding energy (*E*<sub>B</sub>) of the photoelectrons is calculated using the X-ray photon energy, which is a fixed, known energy. For example, for aluminum K $\alpha$ , a common X-ray source, the X-ray photon energy (*hv*) is 1486.6 eV. The binding energy is given by:  $E_B = h\nu - KE - \phi$ , where the work function ( $\phi$ ) is the minimum energy required to eject a photoelectron into the vacuum from the highest occupied energy level. The work function can be calibrated using a clean bare gold sample and remains constant as long as the spectrometer is maintained in ultrahigh vacuum. Manufacturers of instruments usually provide a value for the work function. Insulating samples require charge neutralization using a low-energy (<20 eV) electron flood gun.

XPS provides both quantitative information (atomic percentage) and chemical-structural information (molecular bonding). The atomic percentage of each element is governed by the photoelectron yield at a particular binding energy. Elemental compositions (atomic percentages) are calculated from the measured peak areas by using appropriate instrumental sensitivity factors and accounting for instrumental conditions such as the photoelectron takeoff angle. For protein adsorption, the nitrogen atomic percentage can be monitored because the protein typically contributes a larger nitrogen signal compared with the substrate [10]. The binding energy of the photoelectrons depends on the type and environment of the atom. Therefore, high-resolution XPS spectra can be used to determine the type of chemical species (hydrocarbon, fluorocarbon, metal oxide, etc.) present in the sample surface.

#### Time-of-Flight Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry

Time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry (ToF-SIMS) can be used in the static mode to generate a mass spectrum or a two-dimensional (2D) chemical image of the outer 2 nm or so of a surface [11]. In the dynamic mode, ToF-SIMS can be used to generate depth profiles or 3D chemical images of a sample. In a ToF-SIMS experiment, surfaces are bombarded with a pulsed, primary ion beam that sputters atoms, molecular fragments, and entire molecules from the outermost surface. Most of sputtered material is neutral but about 1% is ions (secondary ions) that can be collected and mass-analyzed. Both positive and negative secondary ions can be analyzed. Identities for these secondary ions are proposed based on their masses and fragmentation patterns. In ToF-SIMS imaging, the analysis area is sectioned into pixels (2D) or voxels (3D) and a full spectrum is collected from each region. An image is then constructed by displaying the intensity of a given peak at each square on a color scale.

Because static secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) probes to a depth less than 2 nm, and because proteins are 5 nm or more in size, SIMS looks at only one "face" of the protein molecule. This selective data set can be used to ascertain information of protein orientation and conformation [12] (Fig. 31.2).

#### Sum Frequency Generation

Sum frequency generation (SFG) spectroscopy can be used to determine the orientation of adsorbed proteins [13,14]. For SFG vibrational spectroscopy, visible and infrared light beams are overlapped in time and space at a surface or interface. The sum frequency signal is generated at locations without inversion symmetry (e.g., interfaces)



FIGURE 31.2 Graphical description of the mechanism by which static secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) probes protein orientation and conformation. *Thin arrows* represent the SIMS primary ion beam that liberates amino acid fragments from a surface zone less than 2 nm deep. *Larger gray arrows* represent the direction of emission of amino acid fragments. *Colored geometric shapes* are various amino acids (20 different amino acids in most proteins). For surface "A," the *green triangles* are within the 2-nm sampling depth. Because most of the green triangles are in the outermost 2 nm of the protein, there are many green triangles in the emitted amino acid "cloud" (these amino acids are then detected and sorted by the mass analyzer). For a different surface, B, the "green triangle" face of the protein is buried at the solid—protein interface, so few green triangles are seen in the emitted amino acids. For case "C," the protein is highly denatured (flattened to the surface), and thus all of the protein is within the 2-nm sampling depth and all amino acids are seen in the SIMS emission.

owing to nonlinear optical frequency mixing. When the vibrations of interfacial species satisfy the SFG-selection rules (e.g., both Raman and infrared [IR] active), the SFG signal is enhanced. Owing to the nonlinear optical selection rules of SFG, only ordered protein layers at the interface are detected. Disordered proteins, either on the surface or nearby in solution, are not detected. In analogy to Raman or IR spectroscopy, the amide I modes can provide detailed information about the folding and structure of interfacial proteins.

SFG spectra can be calculated and compared with experimental data to aid in the spectral interpretation. For example, couplings between the amide groups can be determined from atom coordinates in protein structure files. Nearest-neighbor couplings between amide groups can be calculated using ab initio methods that give the coupling as a function of the dihedral angle between the neighboring amide moieties. Non–nearest neighbor couplings are calculated with a coulomb-like transition dipole coupling model. Then the IR and Raman modes of the protein can be calculated and used to calculate the vibrational SFG response.

# Surface Plasmon Resonance

Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) takes advantage of the excitation and perturbation of surface plasmons (quantized vibrations of mobile electrons within a metal) to probe events occurring at a metal surface (usually gold). If solution-phase molecules adsorb or interact at a surface, this alters these plasmon vibrations and leads to changes in the vibration resonance frequency. We relate this frequency change to the mass and refractive index of the adsorbates. SPR instrumentation is well-suited for studying biomolecule (protein) adsorption and biomolecule interactions at interfaces [15,16].

#### Quartz Crystal Microbalance With Dissipation Monitoring

Quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation monitoring (QCM-D) can be used to measure changes in mass and viscoelastic properties of adsorbed and immobilized proteins as a function of time [17,18]. QCM-D is based on the piezoelectric effect. When a voltage is applied to a piezoelectric quartz crystal, the material begins to oscillate. The frequency of oscillation will change depending on the amount of material deposited onto the quartz crystal. The dissipation is determined by measuring the signal decay once the voltage to the quartz crystal is turned off (much like the decay in sound of a struck bell). Viscoelasticity, or the rigidity of the deposited layer, will cause the voltage to decay at different speeds. The mass adsorbed (in  $ng/cm^2$ ) can be calculated using either the Sauerbrey or Voigt model. Analysis used a harmonic overtone (e.g., seventh) for calculating the Sauerbrey mass or multiple

harmonic overtones (e.g., third, fifth, seventh, ninth, and eleventh) for calculating the viscoelastic Voigt mass. The Sauerbrey model assumes an inverse relationship between the change in frequency ( $\Delta f$ ) and mass ( $\Delta m$ ):

$$\Delta f = -\frac{2f_0^2}{A\sqrt{\rho_q\mu_q}}\Delta m$$

where  $f_0$  is the resonant frequency, A is the quartz crystal area,  $\rho_q$  is the density of quartz (2.648 g/cm<sup>3</sup>), and  $\mu_q$  is the shear modulus of quartz for AT-cut crystal (2.947 × 10<sup>11</sup> g cm<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-2</sup>). This model can be used only when the dissipation change is low, typically less than 5% of the change in frequency. In this case, the protein is considered rigid. If dissipation occurs, the Sauerbrey model will underestimate the mass. If the dissipation is too large to use the Sauerbrey model, the Voigt model can be used, which models the changes in viscoelastic properties as a damper and spring. A hydrated, flexible protein at a surface might be best modeled using the Voigt model.

#### Atomic Force Microscopy

Atomic force microscopy (AFM) has been widely used to image the organization, dynamics, and conformations of proteins directly at interfaces [19–23]. AFM generates images by passing a flexible, sharp-pointed stylus over a specimen and converting the x, y, and z position information of the stylus to electrical signals that can then be translated into image pixels representing the height and dimensions of the object being probed. Spatial resolution for contemporary instruments can approach 0.1 nm. From AFM data, one can also infer information on the molecular-scale biomechanics of proteins and their motions on surfaces [24].

#### Multivariate Methods for Analyzing Surface Molecular Information

Multivariate statistical methods, sometimes referred to as chemometrics, provides powerful mathematical tools to discover trends and correlations in large data sets such as are often obtained with modern surface analysis instrumentation [25–27]. The most widely used of these methods is principal components analysis (PCA), although many other methods are available. The application of multivariate analysis methods to study proteins at interfaces has been reviewed [28,29].

#### Conformational Stabilization for Biomolecules at Interfaces and Frozen-Hydrated Surface Studies

A challenge in the precise use of proteins at interfaces is to stabilize structures to permit analysis (especially for analytical techniques requiring high vacuum such as XPS and SIMS). Also, in stabilizing delicate conformational structures at interfaces, enhanced bioactivity can be realized. Three techniques have been especially useful for such structural preservation: freezing the proteins, freeze-drying (or critical-point) drying, and surrounding proteins with a stabilizing agent. Frozen-hydrated studies under ultrahigh vacuum for XPS have been described [30]. Key advances in cryogenic transmission electron microscopy [31] will probably lead to improved methods for studying proteins by cryo-XPS and cryo-SIMS. Freeze-drying can be effective for preserving protein structure and interfaces; coupled with preservation agents such as trehalose or sorbitol, excellent preservation can be realized [32,33]. The use of trehalose to preserve protein structure in surface studies was clearly demonstrated in a published study [34].

#### Iodine 125–Labeled Proteins

Labeling a protein with an  $I^{125}$  (gamma emitter) tag, although an older method, has excellent advantages for specificity and sensitivity in studying protein—surface interactions for medical devices or extracellular matrix scaffolds. An extensive review covering the methodology and rationale for  $I^{125}$  studies has been published [35].

# TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGIES FOR PRECISION IMMOBILIZATION AT SURFACES

This section will review many of the methods that have been used to deliver protein signal from surfaces with precision and specificity (in contrast to simply immobilizing the protein to the surface with little control of orientation or conformation). To anchor proteins to surfaces, we can consider three general classes of interactions:

31. PROTEINS CONTROLLED WITH PRECISION AT ORGANIC, POLYMERIC, AND BIOPOLYMER INTERFACES

noncovalent, covalent, and ionic. These are, respectively, weak bonds (although many of them to provide stronger interactions (i.e., cooperativity)), strong bonds (direct chemical attachment through directional chemical bond formation), and electrostatic ("plus—minus" interactions). A variety of potential attachment methods will be described that not only anchor the protein to the surface but permit some control of orientation and conformation to enhance signal delivery to living systems.

# Hexahistidine Tags

A tag on a protein molecule consisting of a short chain of six histidine residues (HIS tag) can added precisely at the protein C or N terminus. Because the HIS tag will bind to a nickel—nitrilotriacetic complex (Ni-NTA), and the Ni-NTA complex can be bound to a surface of interest, this binding event can be used to orient the protein (Fig. 31.3). If the active or recognition site is near the C terminus, it would be best to place the HIS tag at the N terminus (and vice versa). There are many published examples of using HIS tags to control protein orientation [36,37].

# Ionic Charge and Charge Control of Orientation

With an appreciation that protein molecules have many "faces," each with different molecular characteristics, some faces will be, on average, more positively charged and others will be more negatively charged. It follows that if a biomaterial or scaffold surface is positively charged, it should interact more strongly with a negative domain on the protein surface. This relatively straightforward rationale for orienting protein molecules has been shown in a number of studies to confer much enhanced recognition specificity to bound proteins.

In a study focused on engineering the orientation of surface immunoglobulin G (IgG) proteins via an electrostatic charge, a strong effect of surface charge was noted on the orientation of the protein [38]. This study is schematically illustrated in Fig. 31.4. Positively charged self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) (amino head group) and negatively charged (carboxylic acid head group) SAMs were used as substrates to adsorb and interact with IgG. A bare gold substrate was used as a control. IgG is made up of two Fab subunits and an Fc subunit (Fig. 31.4A). Because of their different amino acid compositions, the Fc subunit is more negatively charged at physiological pH and the Fab subunit is more positively charged. First, the IgG protein was enzymatically cleaved to Fab and Fc fragments. SIMS spectra were taken of Fab units and Fc units to form a "learning set" for subsequent PCA analysis



FIGURE 31.3 A nickel—nitrilotriacetic complex can bind to a short histidine chain introduced into a protein. Thus, depending on the specific, controllable site of the histidine chain on the protein, the protein can be oriented to the surface.

528



FIGURE 31.4 Schematic representation of a published study on antibody orientation [38]. (A) The subunits of an immunoglobulin G (IgG) molecule with an indication of their relative charge states at physiologic pH. (B) The IgG was dissociated into the Fab and Fc portions for secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) analysis. Then the IgG molecules were adsorbed onto an amino-terminal self-assembled monolayer (SAM) (positively charged surface), a carboxylic acid terminal SAM (negatively charged surface), and a gold surface (control). (B) SIMS analysis was performed on all specimens, demonstrating that the images represent the predominant orientation based on an analysis of secondary ion amino acid fragments expected for the Fc portion of the molecule "up," the Fab portion "up," or random distribution.

(Fig. 31.4B). Then IgG was adsorbed to an amino-terminal (head group) SAM, a carboxylic acid terminal SAM, and gold. SIMS analysis looking into the top 1–2 nm of these films provided mass spectra showing amino acid distributions. For the amine surface, the SIMS amino acid distribution was suggestive of the Fab portion. For the carboxylic acid surface, the SIMS amino acid distribution was compositionally closer to that of the Fc portion. No such separation was seen for the molecules on the gold surface where no charge-directed orientation would be expected. An antigen to the IgG on the amine surface where the Fab portion was facing out to the liquid interface would be expected to have much higher molecular recognition.

Other studies using charged substrates to orient proteins (osteopontin, fibronectin subunit, and FNIII<sub>7-10</sub>) demonstrated that the surface charge can strongly enhance bioactivity (antibody recognizability and cell attachment) (Fig. 31.5) [39,40]. This effect is presumably induced by orienting the proteins so recognition motifs interacting with cells and other proteins are more accessible to the biological environment.

#### Collagen to Control Protein Orientation

Although best known as a structural protein, collagen type I binds biospecifically to least 50 other biomolecules [41]. When biomolecules bind biospecifically to collagen I, they are conformationally stabilized in a geometry that is optimized to deliver signals or perform other functions. Collagen I can be exploited to deliver protein signals with precision. It is well-suited for this purpose for a number of reasons: it is inexpensive, well-tolerated in vivo, already approved for many medical applications, and chemically robust, and in its triple helix configuration, it is easily oriented and axially symmetrical, so there is no "up" or "down" when it is immobilized onto a surface. In a few studies, collagen was shown to be remarkably effective in enhancing the bioactivity of molecules bound to it. For example, in one study, collagen I surfaces were treated simply by dipping into osteopontin (OPN) solutions [3]. Such surfaces had much higher attachment of bovine aortic endothelial cells than surfaces onto which the same amount of OPN was covalently immobilized using carbonyl diimidazole chemistry. Collagen I with no OPN was relatively ineffective for cell adhesion. A similar amplification of OPN's ability to mediate cell adhesion when bound to collagen I was seen in a related study [42].



**FIGURE 31.5** Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) measurement of the amount of a monoclonal antibody to the cell binding region of peptide  $FnIII_{7-10}$  for peptide  $FnIII_{7-10}$  on COOH- and NH<sub>2</sub>- self-assembled monolayers, each adsorbed with equivalent amounts of  $FnIII_{7-10}$ . Although all surfaces have the same amount of adsorbed peptide, only peptide on the amine surface is strongly recognized by the antibody.

#### Immobilization of Proteins in Lipid Layers and Tethered Lipid Bilayers

The lipid bilayers of living cells are evolutionarily optimized system for delivering appropriate protein signals with high bioactivity and specificity. Proteins are conformationally stabilized in the lipid environment and oriented so their recognition elements are optimally available (Fig. 31.6).

In analogy to nature's method of delivering protein signals, using lipid bilayers, synthetic systems have been envisioned using assembled lipid layers to constrain and orient proteins. Fig. 31.7 offers some possibilities. A number of publications have described such strategies for controlling proteins at interfaces in some detail [43–46].

#### Streptavidin for Biomolecular Orientation Control

Streptavidin protein has a number of advantages as a tool for orienting proteins and delivering signals from proteins. Its symmetrical tetravalency offers many possibilities for surface tethering, protein tethering, and molecular orientation. Streptavidin is robust, it has an exceptionally high biotin binding affinity ( $K_a = 10^{14}$ ), and it is not too large, which reduces steric concerns (53 kDa). Fig. 31.7B illustrates one option for using streptavidin to deliver signals from appropriately oriented proteins. Many publications are available on using streptavidin to immobilize other proteins and control their orientations [47–49].



FIGURE 31.6 Proteins that are embedded within a cell's lipid bilayer membrane are conformationally stabilized and optimally oriented to deliver signals. *Figure from Wikimedia Commons.* 



FIGURE 31.7 Delivering protein signals with proteins embedded in lipid bilayer-like structures. Based on a diagram from H. Vogel.

# Hydroxyapatite for Protein Signal Delivery and Orientation Control

Hydroxyapatite (HA) calcium phosphate mineral  $[Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2]$  has long been known to interact biospecifically with proteins [50-52]. Indeed, HA–protein interactions are critical for bone formation and bone strength is improved by protein–HA interactions that inhibit the formation of large HA crystals. Thus, HA surfaces represent a unique option to control protein orientation and bioactivity. In one study using XPS and SIMS to compare osteocalcin adsorption with both calcium phosphate and silica surfaces, silica was found to induce the denaturation of the osteocalcin compared with calcium phosphate [52]. The specificity of HA for purifying antibodies has been well-described in the literature [53]. In excellent studies demonstrating the biospecificity of HA–protein binding as analyzed by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy, the investigators determined precisely which portion of a statherin peptide interacts with HA and which is conformationally mobile and free from surface interaction [54,55].

#### Other Options to Control Proteins at Interphases With Precision

Not all potential methods for protein control at surfaces and interfaces have been elaborated upon in this article. Nevertheless, it is useful to mention a few other possibilities. If antibodies (particularly monoclonal antibodies) can be oriented at a surface, the possibilities of using those surface antibodies to orient and control other proteins in the surface zone become viable options for biosurface construction [48]. Strategies using NeutrAvidin Protein A complexes and protein G (antibody binding proteins) at the interface can also direct antibody orientation [56,57]. Electrical fields might be used to orient antibodies and other proteins at interfaces [58]. An extensive general review on antibody orientation (with particular focus on immunoassays) was published [59]. Finally, surface imprints prepared from protein templates might find application to create oriented, controlled protein surfaces [60–62].

In addition to the techniques for creating ordered protein surfaces, there are a few "platform" technologies that are important and supportive for such precision surfaces. One set of technologies deals with incorporating appropriate functional groups into the surface. These functional groups are the anchors or handles to affix proteins or the molecules that lead to organized protein films. Important functional groups are  $-NH_2$  and -OH; other chemical groups are -SH,  $-N_3$  (azide), alkynes, and acrylate double bonds. Glow discharge plasma deposition is a powerful method for surface modification to incorporate anchored functional groups [63,64], although many other methods are available [65].

Another set of platform technologies for precision-controlled protein surfaces uses nonfouling (cell and proteinresistant surfaces) regions on the surface [66]. Recognition elements (i.e., oriented protein molecules) can be spaced in a "sea" of nonbioadhesive chemistry so that the recognition event is not fouled by the nonspecific adsorption of proteins or by cell attachment. Many technologies have been developed to create nonfouling surfaces; the most commonly used ones are poly(ethylene glycol) surfaces [67] and zwitterionic polymer surfaces [68,69].

# CONCLUSIONS

There are numerous possibilities for controlling the orientation, conformation, and density of proteins at surfaces with precision and specificity. Such precision control is sharply in contrast to nonspecific adsorption or nonspecific chemical immobilization, the protein—surface technologies that have dominated the field since the 1960s. Precision

engineered protein surfaces exhibit higher "signal-to-noise" (i.e., they are more effective in fulfilling their intended purpose) and are less likely to be interrogated by living systems as denatured proteins to be targeted for destruction. The shift in thinking from simply applying proteins to surfaces and/or scaffolds with little control, to engineering surfaces with biological specificity and control, is facilitated by newer methods for creating such surfaces and the technologies for analyzing these surfaces. This review is written to start the reader on the path to thinking about the merits of the precision control of protein structure and function at synthetic and biological interfaces. There is a huge literature on this subject; thus, starting from this basic tutorial, a sophisticated, nuanced approach to the subject of organized proteins at interfaces can be developed.

# References

- [1] Salazar VS, Gamer LW, Rosen V. BMP signalling in skeletal development, disease and repair. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2016;12:203-21.
- [2] Seib FP, Lanfer B, Bornhäuser M, Werner C. Biological activity of extracellular matrix-associated BMP-2. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2009;4: 324-7.
- [3] Martin SM, Schwartz JL, Giachelli CM, Ratner BD. Enhancing the biological activity of immobilized osteopontin using a type-1 collagen affinity coating. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2004;70A(1):10–9.
- [4] Wu Y, Simonovsky FI, Ratner BD, Horbett TA. The role of adsorbed fibrinogen in platelet adhesion to polyurethane surfaces: a comparison of surface hydrophobicity, protein adsorption, monoclonal antibody binding, and platelet adhesion. J Biomed Mater Res A 2005;74A:722–38.
- [5] Lowndes M, Rotherham M, Price JC, El Haj AJ, Habib SJ. Immobilized WNT proteins act as a stem cell niche for tissue engineering. Stem Cell Rep 2016;7:126–37.
- [6] Castner DG, Ratner BD. Biomedical surface science: foundations to frontiers. Surf Sci 2002;500:28-60.
- [7] Vickerman JC, Gilmore IS. Surface analysis: the principal techniques. Surf Anal 2009;2. Wiley Online Library.
- [8] McArthur SL. Applications of XPS in bioengineering. Surf Interface Anal 2006;38(11):1380-5.
- [9] Ratner BD, Castner DG. Electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis. In: Vickerman JC, Gilmore IS, editors. Surface analysis: the principal techniques. 2nd ed. Chichester, UK: Wiley; 2009. p. 47–112.
- [10] Paynter RW, Ratner BD. The study of interfacial proteins and biomolecules by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. In: Andrade JD, editor. Surface and interfacial aspects of biomedical polymers, vol. 2. New York: Plenum; 1985. p. 189–216.
- [11] Castner DG, Ratner BD. Static secondary ion mass spectroscopy: a new technique for the characterization of biomedical polymer surfaces. In: Ratner BD, editor. Surface characterization of biomaterials. Amsterdam: Elsevier Press; 1988. p. 65–81.
- [12] Tidwell CD, Castner DG, Golledge SL, Ratner BD, Meyer K, Hagenhoff B, Bennighoven A. Static time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry and x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy characterization of adsorbed albumin and fibronectin films. Surf Interface Anal 2001; 31:724–33.
- [13] Yan EC, Wang Z, Fu L. Proteins at interfaces probed by chiral vibrational sum frequency generation spectroscopy. J Phys Chem B 2015;119(7): 2769–85.
- [14] Ding B, Jasensky J, Li Y, Chen Z. Engineering and characterization of peptides and proteins at surfaces and interfaces: a case study in surface-sensitive vibrational spectroscopy. Acc Chem Res 2016;49(6):1149–57.
- [15] Liedberg B, Lundstrom I, Stenberg E. Principles of biosensing with an extended coupling matrix and surface plasmon resonance. Sensor Actuator 1993;11:63–72.
- [16] Bakhtiar R. Surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy: a versatile technique in a biochemist's toolbox. J Chem Educ 2012;90(2):203-9.
- [17] Molino PJ, Higgins MJ, Innis PC, Kapsa RM, Wallace GG. Fibronectin and bovine serum albumin adsorption and conformational dynamics on inherently conducting polymers: a QCM-D study. Langmuir 2012;28(22):8433–45.
- [18] Witos J, Saint-Guirons J, Meinander K, D'Ulivo L, Riekkola ML. Collagen I and III and their decorin modified surfaces studied by atomic force microscopy and the elucidation of their affinity toward positive apolipoprotein B-100 residue by quartz crystal microbalance. Analyst 2011; 136(18):3777–82.
- [19] Müller DJ, Anderson K. Biomolecular imaging using atomic force microscopy. Trends Biotechnol 2002;20(8):S45-9.
- [20] Rief M, Gautel M, Oesterhelt F, Fernandez JM, Gaub HE. Reversible unfolding of individual titin immunoglobulin domains by AFM. Science 1997;276:1109–12.
- [21] Maver U, Velnar T, Gaberšček M, Planinšek O, Finšgar M. Recent progressive use of atomic force microscopy in biomedical applications. Trac Trends Anal Chem 2016;80:96–111.
- [22] Whited AM, Park PSH. Atomic force microscopy: a multifaceted tool to study membrane proteins and their interactions with ligands. BBA Biomembranes 2014;1838(PA):56–68.
- [23] Eppell SJ, Zypman FR, Marchant RE. Probing the resolution limits and tip interactions of atomic force microscopy in the study of globular proteins. Langmuir 1993;9(9):2281–8.
- [24] Li H, Cao Y. Protein mechanics: from single molecules to functional biomaterials. Acc Chem Res 2010;43(10):1331-41.
- [25] Martens H, Naes T. Multivariate calibration. I. Concepts and distinctions. Trends Anal Chem 1984;3(8):204–10.
- [26] Naes T, Martens H. Multivariate calibration. II. Chemometric methods. Trends Anal Chem 1984;3(10):266-71.
- [27] Beebe KR, Kowalski BR. An introduction to multivariate calibration and analysis. Anal Chem 1987;59(17):1007A-17A.
- [28] Wagner MS, Castner DG. Characterization of adsorbed protein films by ToF SIMS with PCA. Langmuir 2000;17:4649-60.
- [29] Wagner MS, Tyler BJ, Castner DG. Interpretation of static time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectra of adsorbed protein films by multivariate pattern recognition. Anal Chem 2002;74(8):1824–35.
- [30] Ratner BD, Weathersby PK, Hoffman AS, Kelly MA, Scharpen LH. Radiation-grafted hydrogels for biomaterial applications as studied by the ESCA technique. J Appl Polym Sci 1978;22:643–64.
- [31] Nogales E. The development of cryo-EM into a mainstream structural biology technique. Br J Pharmacol 2016;13(1):24-7.

532

#### REFERENCES

- [32] Chang LL, Shepherd D, Sun J, Ouellette D, Grant KL, Tang XC, Pikal MJ. Mechanism of protein stabilization by sugars during freeze-drying and storage: native structure preservation, specific interaction, and/or immobilization in a glassy matrix? J Pharmaceut Sci 2005;94(7): 1427–44.
- [33] Ohtake S, Kita Y, Arakawa T. Interactions of formulation excipients with proteins in solution and in the dried state. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2011; 63(13):1053–73.
- [34] Xia N, Castner DG. Preserving the structure of adsorbed protein films for time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry analysis. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;67(1):179–90.
- [35] Horbett TA. Techniques for protein adsorption studies. In: Williams DF, editor. Techniques of Biocompatibility Testingvol. II. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, Inc.; 1986. p. 183–214.
- [36] Sigal GB, Bamdad C, Barberis A, Strominger J, Whitesides GM. A self-assembled monolayer for the binding and study of histidine-tagged proteins by surface plasmon resonance. Anal Chem 1996;68(3):490–7.
- [37] Hinterdorfer P, Dufrene YF. Detection and localization of single molecular recognition events using atomic force microscopy. Nat Methods 2006;3(5):347-55.
- [38] Wang H, Castner DG, Ratner BD, Jiang S. Probing the orientation of surface-immobilized immunoglobulin G by time of flight secondary ion mass spectrometry. Langmuir 2004;20:1877–87.
- [39] Liu L, Chen S, Giachelli CM, Ratner BD, Jiang S. Controlling osteopontin orientation on surfaces to modulate endothelial cell adhesion. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2005;74A(1):23–31.
- [40] Wang H, He Y, Ratner BD, Jiang S. Modulating cell adhesion and spreading by control of FnIII-7-10 orientation on charged self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) of alkanethiolates. J Biomed Mater Res A 2006;77A(4):672–8.
- [41] de Lullo GA, Sweeney SM, Korkko J, Ala-Kokko L, San Antonio JD. Mapping the ligand-binding sites and disease-associated mutations on the most abundant protein in the human, type I collagen. J Biol Chem 2002;277(6):4223–31.
- [42] Liu L, Qin C, Butler WT, Ratner BD, Jiang S. Controlling the orientation of bone osteopontin via its specific binding with collagen I to modulate osteoblast adhesion. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2007;80A(1):102–10.
- [43] Tanaka M, Sackmann E. Polymer-supported membranes as models of the cell surface. Nature (London) 2005;437(7059):656-63.
- [44] Naumann RL, Knoll W. Protein tethered lipid bilayer: an alternative mimic of the biological membrane (mini review). Biointerphases 2008; 3(2):FA101.
- [45] Spinke J, Liley M, Guder HJ, Angermaier L, Knoll W. Molecular recognition at self-assembled monolayers: the construction of multicomponent multilayers. Langmuir 1993;9(7):1821-5.
- [46] Leufgen K, Mutter M, Vogel H, Szymczak W, Study T-S. Orientation modulation of a synthetic polypeptide in self-assembled monolayers: a TOF-SIMS study. J Am Chem Soc 2003;125(29):8911–5.
- [47] Müller W, Ringsdorf H, Rump E, Wildburg G, Zhang X, Angermaier L, Knoll W, Liley M, Spinke J. Attempts to mimic docking processes of the immune system: recognition-induced formation of protein multilayers. Science Magazine 1993;262(5140):1706–8.
- [48] Peluso P, Wilson DS, Do D, Tran H, Venkatasubbaiah M, Quincy D, Heidecker B, Poindexter K, Tolani N, Phelan M, Witte K, Jung LS, Wagner P, Nock S. Optimizing antibody immobilization strategies for the construction of protein microarrays. Anal Biochem 2003;312(2): 113–24.
- [49] Nelson KE, Gamble L, Jung LS, Boeckl MS, Naeemi E, Golledge SL, Sasaki T, Castner DG, Campbell CT, Stayton PS. Surface characterization of mixed self-assembled monolayers designed for streptavidin immobilization. Langmuir 2001;17(9):2807–16.
- [50] Raj PA, Johnsson M, Levine MJ, Nancollas GH. Salivary statherin. Dependence on sequence, charge, hydrogen bonding potency, and helical conformation for adsorption to hydroxyapatite and inhibition of mineralization. J Biol Chem 1992;267(9):5968–76.
- [51] Weiner S, Addadi L. Design strategies in mineralized biological materials. J Mater Chem 1997;7(5):689-702.
- [52] Hou Y, Morrison CJ, Cramer SM. Classification of protein binding in hydroxyapatite chromatography: synergistic interactions on the molecular scale. Anal Chem 2011;83(10):3709–16.
- [53] Gagnon P. Monoclonal antibody purification with hydroxyapatite. New Biotechnol 2009;25(5):287-93.
- [54] Shaw WJ, Long JR, Dindot JL, Campbell AA, Stayton PS, Drobny GP. Determination of statherin N-Terminal peptide conformation on hydroxyapatite. J Am Chem Soc 2000;122:1709–16.
- [55] Long JR, Shaw WJ, Stayton PS, Drobny GP. Structure and dynamics of hydrated statherin on hydroxyapatite as determined by solid-state NMR. Biochemistry 2001;40(51):15452-5.
- [56] Chung JW, Park JM, Bernhardt R, Pyun JC. Immunosensor with a controlled orientation of antibodies by using NeutrAvidin-protein A complex at immunoaffinity layer. J Biotechnol 2006;126(3):325–33.
- [57] Harrison ET, Weidner T, Castner DG, Interlandi G. Predicting the orientation of protein G B1 on hydrophobic surfaces using Monte Carlo simulations. Biointerphases 2017;12(2). 02D401–11.
- [58] Emaminejad S, Javanmard M, Gupta C, Chang S, Davis RW, Howe RT. Tunable control of antibody immobilization using electric field. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112(7):1995–9.
- [59] Welch NG, Scoble JA, Muir BW, Pigram PJ. Orientation and characterization of immobilized antibodies for improved immunoassays (review). Biointerphases 2017;12(2). 02D301–14.
- [60] Shi H, Tsai W-B, Ferrari S, Ratner BD. Template imprinted nanostructural surfaces for protein recognition. Nature (London) 1998;398: 593-7.
- [61] Shi H, Ratner BD. Template recognition of protein imprinted polymer surfaces. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;49:1-11.
- [62] Zhang X, Du X, Huang X, Lv Z. Creating protein-imprinted self-assembled monolayers with multiple binding sites and biocompatible imprinted cavities. J Am Chem Soc 2013;135(25):9248–51.
- [63] Ratner BD, Chilkoti A, Lopez GP. Plasma deposition and treatment for biomaterial applications. In: D'Agostino R, Flamm DL, editors. Plasma deposition, treatment and etching of polymers. San Diego: Academic Press; 1990. p. 463–516.
- [64] Siow KS, Britcher L, Kumar S, Griesser HJ. Plasma methods for the generation of chemically reactive surfaces for biomolecule immobilization and cell colonization - a review. Plasma Process Polym 2006;3(6–7):392–418.
- [65] Park J-W, Kim D-S, Kim M-S, Choi J-H, Jun C-H. A method for introducing organic functional groups on silica surfaces using a functionalized vinylsilane containing polymer. Polym Chem 2015;6(4):555–60.

#### 534

#### 31. PROTEINS CONTROLLED WITH PRECISION AT ORGANIC, POLYMERIC, AND BIOPOLYMER INTERFACES

- [66] Ratner BD, Hoffman AS. Non-fouling surfaces. In: Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE, editors. Biomaterials science: an introduction to materials in medicine. 3rd ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2013. p. 241–7.
- [67] Ma H, Hyun J, Stiller P, Chilkoti A. "Non-fouling" oligo(ethylene glycol)- functionalized polymer brushes synthesized by surface-initiated atom transfer radical polymerization. Adv Mater 2004;16(4):338–41.
- [68] Zhang Z, Zhang M, Chen S, Horbett T, Ratner B, Jiang S. Blood compatibility of surfaces with superlow protein adsorption. Biomaterials 2008; 29(32):4285–91.
- [69] Zhang L, Cao Z, Bai T, Carr L, Ella-Menye J-R, Irvin C, Ratner BD, Jiang S. Zwitterionic hydrogels implanted in mice resist the foreign-body reaction. Nat Biotechnol 2013;31(6):553–6.

# 32

# Natural Origin Materials for Bone Tissue Engineering: Properties, Processing, and Performance

F. Raquel Maia<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Vitor M. Correlo<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Joaquim M. Oliveira<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Rui L. Reis<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>3B's Research Group, I3Bs – Research Institute on Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal; <sup>2</sup>ICVS/3B's–PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; <sup>3</sup>The Discoveries Centre for Regenerative and Precision Medicine, Headquarters at University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal

# INTRODUCTION

Advances in the medical field have increased life expectancy worldwide and increased age-related pathologies that are responsible for reducing the quality of life for elderly people. Bone injuries may be severe among the aging population and can result in morbidity and significant socioeconomic costs. Thus, there is a need for new and efficient regenerative strategies to optimize patient outcomes.

Current options for treating large bone injuries are unsatisfactory because they rely on the use of autografts, allografts, and scaffolds associated with cells and/or biological factors. Each option has major limitations such as reduced bioactivity, the risk for the transmission of pathogens and inflammation, the need for additional surgery, limited supply, inadequate size and shape, and morbidity associated with the donor site. To address these limits, advanced tissue engineering-based approaches have been pursued to create grafts to repair and regenerate damaged tissues [1]. The engineered scaffolds should be cytocompatible and mimic the native tissue to present biochemical and mechanical cues. In this way, similar biological functions can be promoted, overcoming issues such as donor site scarcity, immune rejection, and the transfer of pathogens.

The bone tissue engineering field has progressed. The main strategies have focused on the combination of cells, biologically active molecules, and a temporary three-dimensional (3D) porous scaffold.

The evaluation of scaffolds for bone tissue engineering is generally composed of cellular interactions as well as an assessment of the scaffold microstructure and mechanical properties. These properties are important for the success of the scaffold for bone tissue engineering applications. The scaffold microstructure (e.g., pore size, shape, and interconnectivity) is an important characteristic for the success of the developed scaffold because it should allow cell migration, nutrient and waste exchange, neovascularization and angiogenesis, and bone ingrowth. Mechanical properties are also a critical parameter for bone remodeling because they should ensure the formation of a new tissue once implanted while maintaining its structural integrity.

Because load-bearing applications require porous structures with improved mechanical performance, we believe that solid porous structures can be more appropriate for connective tissue engineering applications than matrices from hydrogels. Therefore, special attention will be given to processing techniques used to prepare foams and meshes and their performance in vitro and in vivo, alone or combined with cells, in the context of bone tissue engineering. Table 32.1 provides a quick overview of natural-based polymers and ceramics and their properties, processing methods, and performance, which will be discussed in more detail later in the chapter.

	Materials	Properties	Processing Methods	Performance	References
Natural-Based Polymers	Chitosan	Crystallinity dependent on degree of deacetylation Degraded by lysozymes Insoluble in aqueous solutions pH < 7 Similar to glycosaminoglycans (GAGs)	Phase separation Lyophilization Porogen technique Melt-based technique Gas foaming Freeze gelation Particle aggregation Rapid prototyping Nanofiber production	Induce minimal foreign body response Accelerate wound healing Antimicrobial properties Low mechanical properties	[3,5-7,9-11]
	Collagen	Most abundant structural protein Can be isolated from different tissues and species Insoluble fibers High tensile strength and stability Degraded by matrix metalloproteinases Abundant functional groups	Freeze-drying Porogen technique Electrospinning Computer-aided manufacturing Solid free-form fabrication	Low antigenicity Biocompatible High porosity Facility for combining with other materials Low mechanical properties	[19–21,24–27]
	Gellan gum	Similar to GAGs Soluble in water Insoluble in ethanol Mechanical and gelation properties dependent on degree of acetylation Gelation upon interaction with monovalent and divalent cations Processed under mild conditions Easily modified	Casting approaches Freeze-drying Electrospinning Wet spinning Bioprinting	Biodegrades over weeks to months Induces low inflammation Not cytotoxic Low mechanical properties	[33–35,38,39]
	Polyhydroxyalkanoates	High melting points Low glass transition temperatures High crystallinity	Solvent casting Particle leaching Phase separation Freeze-drying Electrospinning	Biodegradable Biocompatible Brittle Slow degradation Induces secretion of cytokines necessary for wound healing Minimal inflammatory response	[46,47,49-51]
	Silk fibroin	Formation of β-sheets	Salt leaching Freeze-drying Lyophilization Inverse opal Electrospinning Three-dimensional (3D) plotting	Biocompatible Biodegradable High mechanical properties Not immunogenic Not cytotoxic	[55—60]

# TABLE 32.1 Natural-Based Polymers and Ceramics and Their Properties, Processing Methods, and Performance

	Starch	Degraded by several enzymes (e.g., amylases)	Solvent casting Particle leaching Freeze-drying Supercritical assisted phase-inversion Wet spinning Water-in-oil emulsification Coprecipitation	Biodegradable Brittle	[68—71,73,74]
Natural-Based Bioceramics	Calcium phosphates	Crystalline Similar to minerals found in bone Low resorption rate	Foam replica Solid free-form 3D printing Gas foaming Electrospinning	Biocompatible Bioactive Osteoconductive Osteoinductive Not toxic Not inflammatory Not immunogenic Promotes osteogenesis and osteointegration Formation of apatite layer	[80,85—89]
	Silicate ceramics	Fine-tuned mechanical properties, bioactivity, and degradation rates	Sol—gel Foaming Particle leaching Melt-derived approach Melt spinning	Osteointegration Brittle Induces bone formation Slow degradation rates Formation of apatite layer	[91—97]

# NATURAL-BASED POLYMERS

Natural polymers are widespread in nature. Those polymers are formed during the growth cycles of many organisms and are obtained from renewable sources such as plants, animals, and microorganisms. A large variety of natural polymers are available with potential interest for the production of scaffolds because their characteristics better mimicry tissue natural extracellular matrix (ECM). Natural polymers can be fine-tuned in terms of their degradation rate, biological activity, porosity, charge, and mechanical strength by changing the polymer concentrations or polymerization conditions, or by introducing functional groups. Moreover, their susceptibility to enzymatic or hydrolytic degradation may indicate great susceptibility to being metabolized under physiological conditions.

# CHITOSAN

Chitosan is a deacetylated derivative of the biopolymer chitin. Chitin is a natural polysaccharide composed of  $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine residues and is the most abundant polysaccharide in nature after cellulose. Chitin can be found in the exoskeleton of invertebrates such as crustaceans, insects, and spiders, and in the cell walls of most fungi and many algae [2].

Structurally, chitosan is a linear polysaccharide consisting of *N*-glucosamine (deacetylated unit) and *N*-acetyl glucosamine (acetylated unit) units linked by  $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$  glycosidic bonds. The molecular weight may vary between 300 and 1000 kDa, with a degree of deacetylation (glucosamine/*N*-acetyl glucosamine ratio) that usually can vary from 30% to 95%. The degree of crystallinity of chitosan is mainly controlled by the degree of deacetylation that is maximum for both chitin (i.e., 0% deacetylated) and fully deacetylated forms (100% chitosan) and minimum for intermediate degrees of deacetylation [3].

Chitosan is degraded in vivo by means of lysozyme, which hydrolyzes glucosamine–glucosamine, glucosamine-*N*-acetyl-glucosamine, and *N*-acetyl-glucosamine-*N*-acetylglucosamine bonds. The reaction results in oligosaccharides that can be incorporated into glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) or glycoprotein pathways or metabolic pathways or excreted. The degradation rate is inversely related to the percentage of crystallinity that can be controlled mainly by fine-tuning the degree of deacetylation. Highly deacetylated forms (e.g., 85%) exhibit the lowest degradation rates and may last several months in vivo [3]. The degradation products are chitosan oligosaccharides of variable length.

Chitosan is insoluble in aqueous solutions above pH 7, but in dilute acids, the free amino groups are protonated and the molecule becomes fully soluble below pH 5. The pH-dependent solubility of chitosan provides a convenient mechanism for its processing under mild conditions. For example, at pH > 7, chitosan becomes insoluble and precipitates, resulting in hydrogels. Freeze-drying techniques also allow highly porous structures to be obtained by means of freezing a polymer solution ( $-20^{\circ}$ C and  $-196^{\circ}$ C), followed by the removal of solvent through lyophilization. Thus, chitosan can easily be processed into porous scaffolds [4]. If we consider its biological features, as such as an induced minimal foreign body response and accelerated wound healing, and its antimicrobial properties, chitosan is one of the most appealing biomaterials for tissue engineering strategies. In addition, much of the potential of chitosan as a biomaterial for tissue engineering can be partially justified by its structural similarity to GAGs, because it possesses glucosamine residues similar to those of the major components of the cartilage ECM. Because the properties of GAG include many specific interactions with growth factors, receptors, and adhesion proteins, the analogous structure in chitosan may also have related bioactivities. Moreover, the cationic nature of chitosan allows it to interact with anionic GAGs, proteoglycans, and other negatively charged species. This property is great interesting because it may serve as a mechanism for retaining or accumulating these molecules.

#### **Processing Methods**

An interesting property of chitosan is that it can be transformed into 3D highly porous structures with a high degree of interconnectivity that allows cells to grow and transport nutrients using various technologies. For example, porous scaffolds can be produced by lyophilizing a frozen solution of chitosan in acetic acid [5]. The freezing process can promote the phase separation of acetic acid from chitosan, which forms ice crystals. Then, acetic acid ice crystals are sublimated during the freeze-drying process, creating pores in the scaffold. The pore size of the obtained scaffolds can vary between 100 and 500  $\mu$ m, depending on the process parameters, such as the chitosan concentrations, freezing temperature, and thermal gradients. The increase in chitosan concentration results in a decrease in pore size. The main limitation of these structures is that the mechanical properties of pure chitosan scaffolds are low,

#### CHITOSAN

which could compromise their use. Jana et al. optimized the solvent acidity and polymer concentration with this processing method [5]. In this way, they were able to produce scaffolds with a higher chitosan concentration (maximum of 12 wt%) than usual (4 wt%), which greatly improved the mechanical properties. In addition, the scaffolds that were produced had better rates of cell proliferation and cell differentiation (Fig. 32.1).

Using a different approach, Costa-Pinto et al. combined the use of porogens (salts, sugars, paraffin, and gelatin) with a melt-based technique [6]. With this approach they were able to increase the level of interconnectivity to 90%, which is adequate for the diffusion of cells into the inner regions of the scaffolds. The pore range obtained was  $100-250 \mu m$ , which was shown in the literature to be suitable for bone regeneration [6]. An alternative to the use of porogen is a foaming or blowing agent (e.g., sodium bicarbonate) that creates gas bubbles, resulting in the formation of a porous structure [7].

Another method is to use freeze gelation, which is based on exposing a chitosan/acetic acid solution to a sodium hydroxide/ethanol solution at  $-20^{\circ}$ C, inducing phase separation and gelation. Then, acetic acid ice crystals



**FIGURE 32.1** Scanning electron micrographs of (A) the structure of chitosan scaffolds prepared at different concentrations (scale bars =  $100 \mu$ m), (B) the cell morphology observed when cultured in chitosan scaffolds at different concentrations (scale bars =  $10 \mu$ m), and (C) the mechanical properties of chitosan scaffolds prepared at different concentrations. *Adapted with permission Jana S, Florczyk SJ, Leung M, Zhang M. High-strength pristine porous chitosan scaffolds for tissue engineering. J Mater Chem* 2012; 22(13):6291–9. Copyright © 2016.

32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE

are formed and the sodium hydroxide/ethanol solution is allowed to air-dry at room temperature instead of lyophilize [8].

Finally, with the intention of developing porous scaffolds, microparticles or microspheres of chitosan can be fused. For example, Malafaya et al. produced a chitosan particle-aggregated scaffold to release biomolecules [9]. With this method, it was possible to obtain a scaffold able to support cell attachment and differentiation and an adequate release profile.

In addition, chitosan scaffolds can be obtained by fiber bonding or, in a more controlled manner, using rapid prototyping technology. The first technology allows the production of a defined structure using computer design and manufacturing [10]. The second allows the production of structures similar to proteoglycans and fibrous proteins found in native ECM [11].

## Chitosan in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

Chitosan-based scaffolds have been designed to imitate some bone properties, which allows the adhesion and proliferation of osteoblasts to be improved. For example, chitosan scaffolds with bioactive ceramics can confer osteoconductive and even osteoinductive properties to the final structure that will guide bone formation. Moreover, they can improve mechanical characteristics. The inclusion of bioactive glass in chitosan scaffolds has been shown to improve scaffold stiffness and promote the deposition of an apatite layer, which is evidence of osteoconductive potential [12]. In addition, Mota Yu et al. showed an increase in cell proliferation and cell matrix mineralization compared with pure chitosan [12].

Calcium phosphate ceramics such as hydroxyapatite (HAp) and  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate ( $\beta$ -TCP) were also studied because they mimic bone composition. Maji Dasgupta et al. showed that HAp-chitosan–gelatin nanocomposite scaffolds resulted in mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation [13]. Shavandi et al. studied the addition of HAp and  $\beta$ -TCP to chitosan and observed an increase in mechanical properties that indicated the potential of these scaffolds for bone tissue applications [14].

Calcium phosphate/chitosan biomaterials have been shown to be osteoinductive as well as to have the capacity to promote the formation of new blood vessels, which makes them attractive for bone tissue applications [15]. An in vivo evaluation of calcium phosphate/chitosan biomaterials implanted into rat calvaria defects showed the remarkably accelerated formation and mineralization of new woven bone and histological evidence of primary osteon formation [15].

Using a different approach, chitosan was mixed with a polyester, poly(butylene succinate). The biological assays showed that the scaffolds with amounts of chitosan had higher cell viability, adhesion, proliferation, and osteogenic differentiation [6]. In addition, in vivo tests showed that the scaffolds maintained structural integrity and displayed mild inflammatory response and good integration with the surrounding tissues, including the presence of new blood vessels.

The performance of tissue engineering constructs can be greatly enhanced by incorporating bioactive agents. Chitosan scaffolds with HAp were modified with the peptide Arg-Gly-Asp; its cellular affinity was higher compared with the HAp–chitosan scaffolds [16]. Furthermore, the developed scaffold demonstrated superior osteointegration and bone defect repair and possessed biomechanical properties comparable to those of normal bone.

In a different study, HAp microspheres with chitosan were loaded with recombination human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2) and the bone-regenerative potential was evaluated in a rabbit radius defect model [17]. The results showed higher rates of new bone formation with rhBMP-2–loaded scaffolds than with rhBMP-2 scaffolds without HAp.

Chitosan has been exploited to increase the mechanical and biological properties of polymers of marine origin, as such as collagen, to provide an alternative to collagen derived from mammalian sources [18]. Overall, scaffolds of collagen extracted from salmon skin had improved mechanical properties and MSC proliferation owing to the addition of chitosan.

#### COLLAGEN

Collagen is the most abundant structural protein of the extracellular space in mammals. It constitutes around 30% of the total protein weight among which 90% is collagen type I [19].

540

#### COLLAGEN

Collagen has a characteristic triple helix that consists of two polypeptide chains ( $\alpha$ 1 chains) and a third chain that can differ in its chemical composition ( $\alpha$ 2 chains). Each chain is composed of approximately 1000 amino acids with a molecular weight of approximately 100 kDa. The amino acid sequence of this molecule is glycine-proline-X and glycine-X-hydroxyproline, in which X is any amino acid besides proline and hydroxyproline. A high proportion of tripeptide sequences found are composed of glycine-proline-hydroxyproline.

Each  $\alpha$  chain can form a left-handed helix and the combination of the three chains forms a right-handed triple superhelix structure in which the glycine residues are within the core and the X and Y residues are located in the outer positions [19]. Among the 29 types of collagen, types I, II, III, IV, and V are the most common. Collagen type I is found in almost all vertebrae connective tissues, but especially in tendon and bone. In addition, this collagen has the capacity to form insoluble fibers, which provides high tensile strength and stability to the tissues.

Decades ago, researchers discovered that collagen type I could be isolated from different tissue and different animal species using a simple acid extraction protocol followed by neutralization [20]. Nevertheless, it is most frequently extracted from bovine, which may entail complications as such as the transmission of bovine spongiform encephalopathy [19]. To overcome this limitation, alternative sources have been investigated. For example, Raftery et al. studied collagen derived from marine sources such as salmon skin to work as a platform to promote tissue repair in orthopedics [18].

Human recombinant collagen has also been used for tissue engineering applications. It is a reliable, predictable, and chemically defined source that is free of animal components. Collagen possesses several advantages including abundance, low antigenicity, biocompatibility, and the facility to be combined with other materials. In the human body, collagen is degraded largely through the activity of matrix metalloproteinases [19]. By fine-tuning some features such as the degree of cross-linking, it is possible to modify the mechanical properties and degradation rate of collagen. Furthermore, the abundance of functional groups along its polypeptide backbone makes it highly receptive to binding with genes, growth factors, and other biological molecules.

#### **Processing Methods**

Collagen has been reported as a biomaterial to fabricate scaffolds for different tissue engineering applications including bone. Because of its abundancy, it is easy to envision collagen as a platform for tissue engineering and regeneration. One of the most highly used processes to produce collagen scaffolds is freeze-drying [21], in which collagen suspensions are prepared in acetic acid and collagen slurries are allowed to form before the freeze-dry process. The porosity of the obtained scaffolds varies with the conditions chosen for the process. Pawelec et al. showed that the freezing temperature and the addition of a thermal hold on the freezing cycle affect the freezing behavior of the collagen slurry and thus the final pore size [22]. The mechanical properties of the scaffolds that are produced using this technique are determined by the concentration of collagen that is chosen. Nevertheless, scaffolds of pure collagen have poor mechanical properties. To overcome this limitation, physical or chemical procedures (i.e., ultraviolet irradiation,  $\gamma$ -radiation, covalent amine/imine linkage, genipin) are essential to promote the intermolecular cross-linking of collagen [23].

Liu et al. reported an improved approach, i.e., they mineralized the collagen fibrils as a mimetic approach to bone regeneration and promoted intermolecular cross-linking and its superior mechanical properties [23]. This method consists of a synchronized precipitation in which the collagen self-assembles into fibrils and the amorphous calcium phosphate simultaneously transforms into crystalline apatite. The obtained mineralized fibrils are submitted to freeze-drying and then the intermolecular cross-linking of collagen is promoted using carbodiimide chemistry. Finally, the obtained scaffolds are lyophilized again, creating a porous scaffold.

In a different study, ice particulates with different sizes were used as a porogen material to produce scaffolds with different pore diameters [24]. For that, collagen was mixed with the ice particulates and freeze-dried, creating spherical pore structures of different pore sizes and good interconnectivity.

Electrospinning can also be used to produce scaffolds with nano to micron-scale diameter fibers that mimic the fiber's diameters observed in the ECM. Jha et al. concluded that the obtained scaffold did not necessary fully recapitulate the structure of the native fibril to generate a biologically relevant tissue engineering scaffold [25].

Computer-aided manufacturing appears to be a technique that allows the production of highly organized scaffolds. It produces highly porous patterned scaffolds using pure collagen, in which the pore size, shape, and spacing can be controlled [26]. By this method, it is possible to modulate the mechanical properties by changing the number of layers and the shape of the final structure or scaffold.

#### 542 32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE

SeungHyun et al. applied a different approach to obtain a three-dimensional scaffold [27]. They combined a cryogenic plotting system, freeze-drying, and electrospinning to produce a stable scaffold with a controlled pore size. This scaffold had improved mechanical properties, cellular attachment, and a proliferation of MSCs.

#### Collagen in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

Type I collagen is secreted by osteoblasts during the process of ossification; it has important roles during mineralization. Therefore, enhanced biological integration with the surrounding tissue may be foreseen when collagen scaffolds are used in vivo. Type I collagen is the basis of several commercial products including Orthopedic Osteon, Orthocell CelGro, Collapat II, Symbios Biphasic Bone Graft Material, Geistlich Bio-Gide, OssiPatch Collagen Bone Healing Protective Sheet, Collatene Fibrillar Collagen Dental Dressing, Collagraft, Infuse Bone Graft, and OssiMend.

Collagen-based scaffolds show great promise for bone tissue engineering applications (Fig. 32.2). In vitro, it was shown that collagen/cellulose scaffolds support cellular adhesion and the phenotype maintenance of cultured human osteoblasts [28]. High levels of osteogenic enzyme, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), and mineral deposition were observed. In vivo, collagen scaffolds implanted in critical bone defects in rat calvaria were biocompatible and highly osteogenic [29]. In addition, the rate of biodegradation was compatible with bone neoformation and vessel neoformation.



**FIGURE 32.2** Immunohistochemical analysis of osteogenic markers (ALP and osteonectin) expressed by adipose-derived stem cells cultured on collagen–hydroxyapatite scaffolds: (A–D) in expansion or (E–H) in osteogenic medium, at different time points (1, 2, 4, and 8 weeks) (Magnification ×20). *ALP*, alkaline phosphatase. *Adapted with permission Calabrese G, Giuffrida R, Fabbi C, Figallo E, Lo Furno D, Gulino R et al. Collagen-hydroxyapatite scaffolds induce human adipose derived stem cells osteogenic differentiation in vitro. PLoS One 2016;11(3):e0151181. Copyright © 2016.* 

#### GELLAN GUM

In a different study, with the objective of mimicking the microstructure and composition of bone ECM, scaffolds were produced based on collagen combined with HAp [30]. It was shown that adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) cultured in collagen—HAp scaffolds differentiated into mature osteoblasts even in the absence of inducing factors (Fig. 32.2). The same strategy was followed by Kon et al., who implanted collagen—HAp scaffolds to treat osteochondral defects of the knee [31]. In a 2-year follow-up report, it was observed that the approach favored osteochondral tissue regeneration in treating knees affected by damage of the articular surface compared with degenerative lesions. These observations represent significant clinical improvement.

#### GELLAN GUM

Gellan gum is a linear extracellular polysaccharide produced by the bacteria *Pseudomonas elodea*. Structurally, this high—molecular weight gum ( $\approx$  500 kDa) contains a repeating unit composed of L-rhamnose, D-glucuronic acid, and two D-glucose subunits. The presence of glucuronic acid residues makes this polysaccharide structural similar to native glycosaminoglycans and supports its use for tissue engineering strategies. Gellan gum is soluble in water; it forms a viscous solution and is insoluble in ethanol, forming precipitates. Its ability to form precipitates enable its extraction from bacteria inoculates in a medium with glucose, nitrogen, and inorganic salts [32]. When submitted to a high temperature, it undergoes a reversible transition conformation from a coil to a double helix upon cooling. The temperature necessary for the transition depends on the polymer concentration, the degree of acetylation, and the presence of cations [32].

Gellan gum may be found as high-acyl gellan gum, which is the native acetylated form, and low-acyl gellan gum, which is the commercially available deacetylated form. The difference between these two forms resides in the presence of glycerate and acetate functionalities in high-acyl gellan gum, which in low-acyl gellan gum are reduced to hydroxyl residues. The reduction results from the hot alkaline conditions employed during extraction. The degree of acetylation can greatly influence the mechanical properties and gelation properties of gellan gum. In this sense, high-acyl gellan gum produces soft, elastic, thermoreversible gels after cooling from  $65^{\circ}$ C, whereas low-acyl gellan gum produces stiff, brittle, thermostable gels after cooling from  $40^{\circ}$ C. In terms of gelation, divalent cations (e.g., Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) and monovalent cations (e.g., Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup>) can interact with polymer backbone. In the first case, gelation occurs owing to ionic cross-linking between the divalent cations and the carboxylate groups, and because of the screening effect, forming stable and strong bonds. In the second case, gelation occurs only as a result of the screening effect, resulting in less stable structures.

Gellan gum matrices have been mostly produced by casting; they biodegrade over weeks to months, which is an attractive characteristic for tissue engineering approaches [33]. However, to understand their degradation pathways and kinetics fully, more studies must be done. Furthermore, they were found to induce low inflammation in vivo [34]. If we consider their biological features, such as being processed under mild conditions and not being cytotoxic, and also their apparent influence during osteogenesis, one can envisage their potential as a biomaterial. Furthermore, because of the hydroxyl groups formed during deacetylation and the free carboxyl group in the glucuronic acid subunit, they can be modified to improve physicochemical and biological properties.

#### **Processing Methods**

Gellan gum has emerged as a biomaterial for tissue engineering because of its biological features but also owing to the possibility of its easily being modified on demand. One of the most well-used methods for developing gellan gum scaffolds is casting followed by freeze-drying [35]. For that, a solution of gellan gum is casted into molds, allowed to form a solid gel upon reaction with divalent cations, and then frozen and lyophilized. However, a limitation of these gellan gum structures that is in common with other biopolymers is their low mechanical properties. The scaffolds' pore size obtained using that technique can vary with the size of ice crystals formed during the freezing process. A rapid freezing process results in smaller ice crystals and consequently smaller pore sizes. Other parameters such as the cross-linking solution, stabilization time, and freezing temperature and time may influence the pore size, as demonstrated by da Silva et al. [36]. They showed that a higher degree of slowdown in the crosslinking formation of ice crystals led to the creation of larger pores. In terms of the time of stabilization, it was observed that an increase in stabilization time resulted in smaller crystals and a smaller pore size. Finally, in terms of the freezing temperature and time, sponge-like scaffolds frozen for longer periods of time and higher temperatures resulted in larger pores. The gellan gum sponge-like scaffolds produced by this method had pores ranging

#### 544 32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE

from 100 to 500  $\mu$ m in diameter. Interestingly, the researchers optimized the parameters, and using this technique, they produced sponge-like scaffolds with thicker wall pores. Pore wall thickening resulted from microstructure reorganization, which increased scaffold flexibility [36].

The structure of the obtained scaffold also depends on the drying process chosen, as shown by Yang et al. [37]. Oven-dried scaffolds had a crack in the surface of the structure, whereas vacuum-dried scaffolds had a relatively smooth surface, and freeze-dried scaffolds had a looser structure. The different methods also influenced the swelling rates and protein release (Fig. 32.3). In addition, the freeze-dried scaffolds had a sponge-like structure and possessed a high swelling rate, as confirmed by Cerqueira et al. [36]. Moreover, the integration of endothelial cells into these promising scaffolds maximized the neovessels' formation and integration of the transplanted cells into the new vasculature.

A different approach used electrospinning to produce ultrafine nanofibers, as performed by Vashisth et al. [38]. They produced blended fibers of gellan gum with polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) about 40 nm of diameter, because gellan gum alone did not form a fiber structure using electrospinning. The less viscous gellan gum—PVA solutions resulted in fibers with a higher diameter. In addition, the use of polymeric blends (e.g., gellan gum with chitosan) enhanced the mechanical properties [33]. To create fibers using gellan gum alone, wet-spinning must be used, as described by Oliveira et al. [35]. In this approach, they extruded a solution of gellan gum through a needle into a solution of ascorbic acid. Afterward, the fibers were allowed to dry at 37°C.

Bioprinting is a different technique that can also be applied to produce custom-made gellan gum—based scaffolds. This technique combines gellan gum with other polymers, producing mechanically stable and robust 3D scaffolds in a core—shell fashion [39].

# Gellan Gum in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

Gellan gum has been proposed as a novel biomaterial for regenerative medical applications. However, its low mechanical characteristics have prompt the need to mix gellan gum with other materials. For example, Gantar et al. used bioactive glass to reinforce gellan gum–composite, sponge-like scaffolds [40]. Even so, the improvements in mechanical properties did not reach values necessary to accommodate biomechanical loading. Nevertheless, human ACSs were able to adhere and spread within the scaffolds. Altogether, this improved scaffold has great potential for bone tissue strategies. A similar approach was pursued with bioactive glass reinforcement but with different amounts of calcium [41]. The formation of apatite was observed only in the presence of calcium. In addition, bioactive glass with higher amounts of calcium had a lower compressive modulus and higher antibacterial properties.



FIGURE 32.3 Effect of different drying processes on: (A) the swelling ratio and (B) protein release. BSA, bovine serum albumin. Adapted with permission Yang F, Xia S, Tan C, Zhang X. Preparation and evaluation of chitosan-calcium-gellan gum beads for controlled release of protein. Eur Food Res Technol 2013;237(4):467–79.

#### POLYHYDROXYALKANOATES

In a different strategy, Douglas et al. modified the hydroxyl groups present on the gellan gum backbone to improve its suitability for tissue engineering [42]. They incorporated alkaline phosphatase enzyme and observed the induction of an apatite layer and an increase in the scaffold's stiffness. Ultimately, in vitro studies have shown that the apatite layer also enhanced the attachment and viability of the cells. With the intent of improving these developed enzymatically mineralized scaffolds with antibacterial activity, the authors studied the incorporation of zinc [43]. Zinc caused a reduction in the size of the mineral deposits that formed; they had antibacterial activity and promoted the adhesion of bone-forming cells. The same authors compared the use of gellan gum scaffolds modified with alkaline phosphatase or with an extract of seaweed rich in phlorotannins to induce mineralization [44]. The extract of seaweed successfully enhanced mineralization and increased the compressive modulus of the scaffolds. However, when both were present, some mineral formation was observed.

Wen et al. use the fact that gellan gum is biodegradable and its potential as a substrate for apatite deposition to develop a scaffold to repair tissue [45]. For that, they mixed  $\alpha$ -tricalcium phosphate and gellan gum, which resulted into a scaffold with increased compressive strength. In addition, the dissolving rate of  $\alpha$ -tricalcium phosphate was controlled by adjusting the concentration of gellan gum.

#### POLYHYDROXYALKANOATES

Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) are produced by approximately 300 different bacteria upon environmental stress conditions; they function as energy storage. The molecular weight of the PHAs produced is in the range of 200–3000 kDa. PHAs are composed of hydroxy acid monomers connected by an ester bond creating linear polyesters [46]. Depending on the number of carbon atoms present in the monomers, they can be classified as short—chain length PHAs (three to five carbon atoms) or medium—chain length PHAs (6–14 carbon atoms). In addition, different bacteria and substrates result in more than 150 different type of polymers, such as poly 3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB), polyhydroxyvalerate, polyhydroxyhexanoate, polyhydroxyoctanoate, and their copolymers [46]. The PHA family is degraded in nature by a variety of microorganisms such as nonspecific lipases and esterases into carbon dioxide and water. Thus, they are considered biodegradable and biocompatible, which has prompted their use in the medical industry.

PHB, poly 3-hydroxyvalerate (PHBV) and poly 3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyhexanoate (PHBHHx) are the most common types of PHAs. Among these, PHB is the simplest occurring form and the first to be discovered. Moreover, it possesses a high melting point (173–180°C) and low glass transition temperature (5–9°C), which results in high crystallinity [46]. Because of this feature, PHB is relatively stiff and brittle and has a slow degradation rate, which is not appealing for most tissue engineering approaches. To overcome this limitation, many studies have used PHBV or PHBHHx [47]. Those have lower melting points and consequently lower crystallinity. In this sense, they are more flexible and undergo degradation at a much faster rate.

#### **Processing Methods**

Solvent evaporation is commonly used to prepare PHA scaffolds. For that, the polyester is dissolved in chloroform, allowed to evaporate, and vacuum dried. Nevertheless, other approaches have been studied as an alternative to chloroform for solvents. For example, Anbukarasu et al. used acetic acid to produce films with properties similar to those of films produced using chloroform (Fig. 32.4) [48]. The prepared PHB films possessed crystallinity ranging from 64% at 80°C to 78% at 160°C, whereas, the crystallinity of PHB processed with chloroform was approximately 60.5%. In a different approach, Nemati et al. produced scaffolds by compression molding and particle leaching without organic solvents [49]. For that, they heated a mixture of PHB with HAp and sodium chloride particles up to the melting temperature of PHB, compressed it by uniaxial pressing, and leached out the particles. The scaffolds showed improved mechanical properties in the range of the mechanical properties of cancellous bone and had an interconnected porous structure. The porosity of the scaffolds ranged from 77.2% to 77.5% with pores sizes from 150 to 300 µm.

Porous scaffolds were obtained using sucrose lumps that were soaked in a solution of PHB in chloroform (50). After drying, the sucrose was removed, producing scaffolds with 87.3% porosity and pore sizes of about 120 μm.

PHA scaffolds can also be produced by phase separation and freeze-drying, as was done by Ribeiro-Samy et al. [51]. The polymer was dissolved in organic solvents, and then acetic acid was added to produce two immiscible





FIGURE 32.4 Properties of polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) films produced using chloroform(CF) or acetic acid (AA): (A) Crystallinity of films produced using AA (*black line*) or CF (*red line*) with respect to the processing temperature, (B) atomic force microscopy scans of PHB samples processed at different temperatures in AA or CF. *Adapted with permission Anbukarasu P, Sauvageau D, Elias A. Tuning the properties of poly-hydroxybutyrate films using acetic acid via solvent casting. Sci Rep 2015;5:17884.* 

phases. Afterward, the mixture was frozen and lyophilized. In that way, they obtained scaffolds with a pore size of approximately 164 µm and a porosity of 88%.

Electrospinning is a different technique to produce polyhydroxybutyrate-hydroxyvalerate (PHB-HV) scaffolds [47]. For that, PHB-HV was dissolved in a solution of chloroform with dimethylformamide and a fiber mesh was electrospun. The fibers exhibited diameters ranging from 300 nm to 1.3 µm, similar to the diameters of collagen fibers present in the natural ECM. The developed fiber mesh supported endothelial differentiation, which showed its potential for improving the vascularization in engineered bone tissue.

## Polyhydroxyalkanoates in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

It has been shown that PHBV produced by a metabolic reaction-based model induced the secretion of cytokines necessary for wound healing. PHB scaffolds can easily be fine-tuned with an alkaline solution to increase the proliferation of human osteoblasts and inhibit the growth of bacteria [52]. These features reinforce its potential for tissue engineering applications.

In vitro, the incorporation of HAp into PHB increased biocompatibility and the ability to support the proliferation of human MSCs [53]. In addition, the scaffolds had a higher porosity and improved mechanical properties compared with scaffolds with just PHB.

Cylindrical pins of PHB were produced to evaluate the response of bone upon implantation in the femora of growing rats [54]. For that, the authors modified it with zirconium dioxide to increase radiological contrast values, and with Herafill to increase degradation. Compared with the clinically used poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid), poly(gly-colic acid), and poly(lactic acid) materials, PHB composites had the advantage of not altering the pH upon degradation, but no degradation was observed after 36 weeks of implantation in vivo. Nevertheless, the composites with Herafill were the most attractive for bone cells and the zirconium dioxide positively influenced the radiological contrast. Nonetheless, it will be necessary to improve the mechanical properties to obtain an appropriate load-bearing material.

Porous 3D implants of PHB seeded with MSCs showed new bone tissue formation in bone defects [50]. It gradually biodegraded, allowing bone tissue ingrowth with a minimal inflammatory response; after 120 days, the defect completely closed. Moreover, the MSCs retained their viability and rate of proliferation, enabling a more effective regeneration.



#### SILK FIBROIN

Silk is composed of fibroin fibers enfolded by a glue-like coating of sericin. It is produced by several arthropods (e.g., silkworms and spiders). The most common and extensively used type of silk in the textile industry is produced by the silkworm *Bombyx mori*. The composition and structure of silk can vary with the species that produces it, which can influence its mechanical properties, bioactivity, and degradation behavior [55]. It has attracted attention because of its potential use in biomedical applications owing to its biocompatibility and biodegradability [55].

Silk fibroin can easily be separated from the sericin (degumming) using a boiling alkaline or surfactant solution. The result fibers are around 10–25  $\mu$ m in diameter and are composed of a light chain ( $\approx$ 25 kDa) that is hydrophilic, and a heavy chain ( $\approx$ 350 kDa) that is hydrophobic. The chains are connected by a disulfide bond and are assembled with glycoprotein P25 ( $\approx$ 25 kDa). The heavy chain is composed of glycine-X (in which X is Ala, Ser, Thr, or Val) repeats, which form antiparallel  $\beta$ -sheets, usually called silk-II. The light chains are amorphous blocks in a random coil, which gives elasticity to silk, usually called silk-I [55]. The proportions of silk-I and silk-II may define the final properties of silk. For example, by increasing the amount of silk-II ( $\beta$ -sheet structures), the time of degradation increases.

Different parameters, such as processing techniques, can modify the mechanical properties of silk fibers. In addition, silk has no immunogenicity or cytotoxic effects [56]. When some immunogenic reaction to silk is observed, it is attributed to the sericin proteins.

#### **Processing Methods**

Silk fibroin can be processed using different techniques for different architectures, as shown by Correia et al. [57]. They produced scaffolds using different solvents (aqueous versus hexafluoro-2-propanol [HFIP]), different pore sizes  $(250-500 \text{ versus } 500-1000 \mu m)$ , and different structures (lamellar versus spherical pores). To obtain aqueous-derived scaffolds with spherical pores, they used a salt leaching technique employing sodium chloride particles that were removed with water. In the case of aqueous-derived scaffolds with lamellar pores, they cast the silk solution in a tube, froze it, lyophilized it, and induced the formation of  $\beta$ -sheet by autoclaving the scaffolds. On the other hand, to produce HFIP-derived scaffolds, they used salt leaching technique as previously described and induced the  $\beta$ -sheet by freeze-drying it. The first technique resulted in pores sizes ranging from 140 to 250  $\mu$ m, high interconnectivity (97%), and high porosity (87%) whereas the second resulted in smaller pore sizes (126  $\mu$ m), lower interconnectivity (63%), and lower porosity (64%). Moreover, the HFIP-based silk scaffold had a higher stiffness than did the aqueous-derived scaffolds.

Sommer et al. compared two different processes, salt leaching and inverse opal, to obtain reproducible highly porous scaffolds (Fig. 32.5) [58]. Salt leaching resulted in scaffolds with pore sizes varying from 6 to 678 µm and 92% porosity, whereas inverse opal resulted in scaffolds with pores sizes varying from 6 to 312 µm and 84% porosity.

Wang et al. used electrospinning to produce fibers about 167 nm in diameter but with a low tensile strength [59]. They also blended silk with poly(lactide-*co*- $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) to obtain higher fiber diameters ( $\approx$  250 nm) and higher tensile strength, which showed improved cellular interactions in vitro and enhanced new bone formation in vivo.

3D plotting allows the development of scaffolds with a controlled hierarchical structure with different pore sizes, which facilitates cell attachment, proliferation, vascularization, and the delivery of nutrients and physical cues. Xu et al. fabricated hierarchically porous scaffolds using 3D plotting and freeze-drying [60]. The obtained scaffold had a first level with 1-mm pores and a second level with approximately 50- to 100-µm pores. This hierarchical structure increased cell attachment four times and enhanced cell proliferation, ALP activity, and bone-related gene expression compared with no hierarchical structures.

#### Silk Fibroin in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

Silk fibroin is a biomaterial with attractive features for bone tissue engineering. Correia et al. showed that higher stiffness resulted in higher osteogenic induction and the formation of bone-like tissue [57]. Although the mechanical properties were inferior in developed silk scaffolds compared with those in decellularized trabecular bone scaffolds, the cellular activities were similar. Finally, they suggested that lamellar pores were beneficial for differentiation into lamellar bone, whereas spherical pores led to the development of woven bone.

Nevertheless, it is challenging to obtain scaffolds with mechanical properties that meet the high compressive properties of bone. Mandal et al. developed a high–compressive strength polymeric bone composite based on

32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE



**FIGURE 32.5** Scanning electron micrographs of silk scaffold pores produced by: (A) salt-leached process, or (B) inverse opal (scale bar =  $100 \mu$ m). Pore diameter distribution of: (C) salt-leached scaffolds and (D) inverse opal scaffolds. *Adapted with permission Sommer MR, Vetsch JR, Leemann J, Muller R, Studart AR, Hofmann S. Silk fibroin scaffolds with inverse opal structure for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2016.* 

silk protein—protein interfacial bonding [61]. For that, they produced a micron-sized silk fiber and used it as filler for a silk matrix, increasing the mechanical properties 50- to 100-fold compared with control HFIP—silk scaffolds. The result, which was associated with surface roughness and porosity, favored stem cell differentiation into osteoblasts in vitro. In addition, a minimal in vivo immunomodulatory response was observed.

Using a different strategy, Yan et al. developed silk/nanosized calcium phosphate to improve silk scaffolds for bone tissue engineering [62]. The promising results had improved mechanical properties, architecture, and stability, bioactivity, and no cytotoxicity. Later, the authors conducted in an in vivo study in which the developed scaffolds promoted new bone formation [63]. The group demonstrated the use of a bilayer construct composed of a silk scaffold and a silk/nanosized calcium phosphate scaffold is a promising candidate for osteochondral defect regeneration [64].

To mimic the composition of bone, silk was mixed with HAp, the primary mineral found in bone, to produce an osteoinductive composite. HAp not only increased the compressive strength of the scaffolds, it enhanced the growth and osteogenic capability of cells [65].

Nanofibrous silk scaffolds also showed promising results owing to their similarity with the native ECM. The silkbased nanofibrous scaffolds facilitated cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation in vitro [59]. Furthermore, in vivo, they promoted new bone formation, demonstrating their potential for bone tissue regeneration.

# STARCH

Starch is naturally produced by plants and algae in the form of granules as an energy-storing compound. These granules have different sizes  $(1-110 \ \mu\text{m})$  and composition depending on the source. There are two types of starch: transitory and storage. The first is produced during photosynthesis in leaves and is rapidly degraded; the second is stored for longer periods in seeds or roots [66].

This biodegradable and inexpensive natural polymer is composed of two types of  $\alpha$ -glucan polymers, linear poly(1,4- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose) (amylose) and branched poly(1,4- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose) with branches of (1,6-D-glucopyranose) (amylopectin) occurring in nearly every 25 glucosidic moieties [66].

Starch is the main carbohydrate source in the human diet. It is degraded by the action of amylases, which act on  $\alpha$ -1,4-glycosidic bonds. The degradation products are oligosaccharides that can be metabolized to produce energy.

Native starch can be recognized as waxy starch with a low amylose content, normal starch with 15%–30% amylose, and high amylose with more than 50% amylose. The crystallinity of these can vary from 50% in waxy starch to 15% in high-amylose starch [67].

To process starch using different methods and allow its use in various applications, it is necessary to disrupt and melt its semicrystalline granular structure, i.e., gelatinization. During gelatinization there is the diffusion of water into the interior of the granules, producing swelling and consequently disruption of the crystalline structure. The amount of amylose is inversely related to the energy necessary to initiate gelatinization. In this sense, highamylose starch needs less heat to initiate gelation compared with waxy starch.

Starch is usually brittle, which limits its use in most applications. Thus, to improve the properties of starch, it needs to be modified or blended with other polymers.

#### **Processing Methods**

Because of the thermoplastic behavior of starch-based blends and composites, it is possible to produce scaffolds using traditional solvent casting methodologies [68]. For that, starch-based blends are dissolved in chloroform, cast onto a mold, and allowed to dry. In a different approach, blends of starch and cellulose were processed by combining solvent casting, salt leaching, and freeze-drying [69]. The obtained scaffolds had a porosity between 20% and 50%, depending on the components. The porosity increased with an increase in the amount of components. The authors also showed that adding cellulose promoted an increase in tensile properties, as demonstrated by the increase in Young's modulus and tensile strength. However, a decline in the compression modulus and compression strength was observed.

A different study used a supercritical assisted phase-in version process because it allowed control over the scaffolds' structure by fine-tuning the temperature and pressure [70]. In this case, the polymer solution was placed into a mold and immersed in a nonsolvent bath, which originated the phase separation under controlled temperature and pressure. The scaffolds had 64% porosity and 65% interconnectivity at 45°C and 80 bar. However, at 55°C and 150 bar, the scaffolds had a more compact structure with low interconnectivity (Fig. 32.6).

Wet spinning was also used to produce fibers of starch mixed with other polymers, such as poly(ε-caprolactone) [68,71]. This technique consisted of extruding a polymer solution loaded into a syringe into a coagulation bath (e.g., a

(A)	Experiment	P (bar)	T (°C)	Porosity (%)	Interconnectivity (%)
	1	80	45	64	65
	2	100	45	75	67
	3	150	45	53	40
	4	150	55	62	23



**FIGURE 32.6** Effect of pressure (*P*) and temperature (T) on (A) porosity and interconnectivity in starch–poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) scaffolds, and (B) effect of pressure on the pore size distribution at 45°C (*diamond* = 80 bar; *dashed line* = 100 bar; *solid line* = 150 bar). *Adapted with permission Duarte AR, Mano JF, Reis RL. Supercritical phase inversion of starch-poly(epsilon-caprolactone) for tissue engineering applications. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2010;21(2):533–40. Copyright* © 2009, Springer Science + Business Media, LLC.
550 32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE

methanol or calcium silicate solution). The fibers' thickness was approximately  $100-200 \mu m$  and the final scaffolds had a porosity of 60%-85%, depending on the coagulation solution used. When methanol was used, the porosity was higher than in the case of the calcium silicate solution [71].

A different approach was pursued to obtain fibers without using solvents, which can be risky for tissue engineering [72]. In that study, fibers were prepared using melt spinning followed by fiber bonding. The first step consisted of extruding the polymer at 150°C into a bath at 13°C. The fibers produced using this method were 120–500  $\mu$ m in diameter. Then, to prepare the scaffolds, the fibers were chopped and placed into a mold and heated to 120°C. In a further step, pressure was gently applied to avoid crushing the fibers and to maintain porosity. The scaffolds produced using this method had about 75% porosity and 97% pore interconnectivity, in which the pore size was around 275  $\mu$ m [72].

Furthermore, water-in-oil emulsification can be used to obtain starch–chitosan microparticles [73]. The microparticles' scaffolds had a pore size of  $80-150 \mu m$ .

In a different study, nanocomposites of starch, HAp, and chitosan were produced using coprecipitation [74]. For that, a solution of starch and chitosan was prepared, followed by the addition of calcium nitrate and 3-deoxy-D-arabinoheptulosonate 7-phosphate synthase to promote the nucleation of HAp. Finally, the produced composites were allowed to dry at 85°C. The porous scaffolds obtained had a compressive strength of about 9 MPa, which is in the range of the compressive strength of trabecular bone.

# Starch in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

A number of studies used starch-based scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Scaffolds composed of starch with polycaprolactone and stem cells improved bone regeneration upon implantation into a critical-sized defect [75]. In one study, several stages of osteoblastic differentiation were tested to improve bone regeneration when seeded on starch and polycaprolactone scaffolds [76]. The authors observed that scaffolds loaded with osteoblastic cells had a higher amount of new bone formation compared with scaffolds loaded with no differentiated cells. In addition, blood vessels were observed in the periphery of the scaffold with and without cells, which indicated that this strategy promoted not only new bone tissue formation but also angiogenesis.

In an improved approach, Leonor et al. modified scaffolds of starch and polycaprolactone with silanol groups [71]. Silanol groups were reported to promote osteoblast differentiation, which is an interesting feature for bone tissue engineering strategies. The developed scaffolds showed that the silanol functional groups promoted the differentiation of stem cells into osteoblasts.

Requicha et al. produced a double-layer scaffold for use in periodontal defects, composed of one membrane layer and a 3D scaffold layer [68]. The membrane layer prevents the ingrowth of the gingival epithelium into the periodontal defect and promotes the recruitment and adhesion of native cells. The 3D scaffold layer supports new bone tissue ingrowth. The assay showed that stem cells were able to adhere and proliferate, and that in the presence of silanol groups, they were able to express osteogenic markers. Taking into consideration these promising results, the authors tested the developed double scaffold in vivo in a mandibular rodent model [77]. After 8 weeks of implantation, the scaffolds had higher new bone formation than did the collagen control scaffolds. In addition, no proliferation of bone tissue was observed along the membrane layer, which indicated the success of the design of the first layer for preventing the ingrowth of tissue. However, no differences were observed between scaffolds with or without silanol groups.

# NATURAL-BASED BIOCERAMICS

Bioceramics are used in tissue engineering as solid scaffolds (e.g., reconstruction of ear ossicles), powders (e.g., bone filling), and porous scaffolds (e.g., bone regeneration). Among those, bioceramics can be divided into nearly inert (e.g., zirconia), bioactive (e.g., bioactive glass), and resorbable (e.g., calcium phosphates). The first type, nearly inert, is not usually chosen for regenerative medicine because it promotes the formation of a fibrous capsule instead of tissue regeneration. The other two types, bioactive ceramics and resorbable ceramics, have been considered promising materials for bone regeneration and have undergone clinical trials. For example, calcium phosphate has been studied as a synthetic bone graft for donor site repair [78], and silica-based bioactive glasses have been used for the rehabilitation of canal-wall-down mastoidectomies [79]. Here, we will highlight the routes and natural origin sources for obtaining these materials and review their application in bone tissue engineering strategies.

# CALCIUM PHOSPHATES

Calcium phosphates are crystalline ceramics with a structure and chemical composition similar to minerals found in bone. An example of calcium phosphate widely used is HAp, which is represented by the chemical formula  $(Ca_{10}[PO_4]_6[OH]_2)$ ; it has a structure similar to the main mineral found in bone, apatite.

HAp is available as a bone filler and as coatings on prostheses, owing to its good biocompatibility, bioactivity, high osteoconductive and/or osteoinductive capacity, nontoxicity, noninflammatory behavior, and nonimmunogenic properties [80]. Calcium phosphate scaffolds are described as promoting osteogenesis and osteointegration, which seems to be related to surface charge and the chemistry and topography of the scaffolds. However, this ceramic has a low resorption rate. Therefore, other calcium phosphates, such as β-tricalcium phosphate, which have fast resorption rates, have been studied. As an alternative, new sources of calcium phosphate have been explored (Fig. 32.7). Calcium phosphates can be extracted from different marine origins such as fish bones, corals, seashells, and algae. Sponges from the phylum Porifera have been explored because their skeleton is composed of bioceramics [81], and new methods have been developed to assess the overall regenerative and mineralogenic performance in zebrafish [82]. HAp has been extracted from the porous exoskeleton of corals owing to its similarity to bone and its mechanical, osteoconductive, and resorbable properties. This interesting material can be found commercially, such as in Pro Osteon 200R (Biomet), an osteoconductive bone graft.

Another marine source that is widely used is shells, which are mainly composed of calcium carbonate associated with approximately 2% polysaccharides and glycoproteins. Eggshells are also an interesting source for obtaining HAp [83]. Eggshells are an easily obtained, low-cost resource because they come from food waste and the HAp can be readily extracted by calcination and milling.

Synthetic HAp can be produced by different methods [1]: hydrothermal (in the presence of water and at a high temperature and pressure) [2]; sol-gel (formed by apatite crystals at a low temperature and pressure owing to the high reactivity of calcium and phosphorus reagents used) [3]; wet chemical (by mixing an aqueous precursor solution or hydrolyzing calcium phosphate); and [4] biomimetic deposition (the nucleation of HAp when subjected to



FIGURE 32.7 Some sources of calcium phosphate.

body fluids) [84]. In addition, parameters such as the pH, reaction time, temperature, and concentration of reagents during synthesis can influence the obtained HAp.

Apart from the differences observed caused by the different extraction or production method and origin, natural HAp had better outcomes than synthetic HAp [83]. This could be the result of significant differences observed between naturally derived HAp and synthetic HAp.

#### **Processing Methods**

HAp forms a bond with the host tissue. This feature has made this material the first choice for preparing scaffolds for bone tissue engineering.

HAp scaffolds can be obtained by foam replication, which requires the use of a polymeric mold and allows control over the scaffolds' structure. For example, polyurethane sponges can be used as templates [85]. During this procedure a suspension of HAp is mixed with porous synthetic polymeric foams until the pores are totally filled and sintered, allowing the development of a porous scaffold with a porosity of about 70%. The obtained pore size varies between 100 and 300 µm and the pore wall has a thickness of 50 µm. Moreover, it was shown that the pores are uniformly distributed. The compressive strength of the prepared scaffolds, 1.3 MPa, is close to that of cancellous bone.

Rapid prototyping technologies are being used to produce scaffolds with precise morphology (e.g., shape, porosity, and pore size). Control over mechanical properties, biological effects, and degradation kinetics is associated with control of the scaffold architecture. Furthermore, that approach can enable the development of dimensionally accurate prototypes of bone, which is an attractive feature for bone engineering. Solid free-form fabrication allows the production of inorganic complex-shaped scaffolds directly from 3D objects fabricated using computer-aided design [86]. For that, an HAp slurry is produced by mixing HAp powder with a freezing vehicle (e.g., camphene). Then the slurry is placed into a mold previously produced using a stereolithography device and allowed to cool. Finally, it is freeze-dried to remove the freezing vehicle and sintered to remove the mold and any freezing vehicle still present, which densifies the scaffold. This method allows the production of pores 100  $\mu$ m in diameter. A similar approach that creates custom scaffolds is 3D printing [87]. The scaffold can be produced with complex internal structures and high resolution. Scaffolds prepared by this method had smaller pores (10–60  $\mu$ m) and a porosity of about 50%. In addition, the compressive strength (0.88 MPa) was close to the lower limit of cancellous bone.

Gas foaming, in which the production of gas allows the development of pores, was used to produce an inorganic porous matrix [88]. Hydrogen peroxide was mixed with a ceramic slurry, which generated gas after heating. Then, the slurry was molded, dried, and sintered, resulting in a scaffold with interconnected pores and 75% porosity. The pore size ranged from 200 to 400 µm.

Franco et al. produced fibers of HAp of submicron dimensions using electrospinning [89]. They took advantage of the gel phase produced during the sol—gel technique for HAp production. At the end, the fibers were sintered. This technique produced fibers 122 nm in diameter for the lower viscosity tested and 567 nm for the higher viscosity.

## Calcium Phosphate in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

Scaffolds should meet some criteria to enable tissue regeneration. In addition to being biocompatible and porous (minimum pore size of about 100  $\mu$ m for tissue ingrowth), scaffolds should be osteoconductive and osteoinductive, which are well-known features of HAp scaffolds. Moreover, some issues need to be overcome to fulfill all of the criteria, such as the ability to fine-tuning biodegrading and to improve mechanical strength. Tripathi et al. studied new methods for scaffold preparation that allowed scaffold architecture to be tailored [85]. Using sponges as a template, they successfully obtained scaffolds that enabled the attachment and differentiation of human osteoblasts.

Bone tissue is composed not only of HAp but also of collagen type I. To mimic bone composition, Changchun et al. developed a scaffold with a hierarchical structure composed of calcium phosphate, collagen, and HAp [88]. These scaffolds demonstrated better mechanical strength than scaffolds composed solely of calcium phosphate, and had good biocompatibility. In addition, the authors observed better osteoinductivity and increased bone formation in vivo compared with calcium phosphate scaffolds and calcium phosphate with collagen scaffolds. Thus, the developed scaffolds composed of calcium phosphate, collagen, and HAp are a promising material for bone engineering.

The mechanical properties of synthetic HAp scaffolds are still in the lower limit of mechanical properties presented by natural bone. Therefore, Nandi et al. pursued the possibility of HAp derived from natural sources such as marine corals, which are described as exhibiting mechanical properties and porosity similar to those of natural bone [90]. They developed coralline HAp scaffolds with growth factors to enhance the formation of bone tissue. Upon mechanical evaluation, the authors observed adequate compressive strength values for coralline HAp scaffolds. Moreover, the in vivo assessment of scaffolds loaded with growth factors showed higher new bone formation compared with scaffolds without growth factors.

# SILICATE CERAMICS

Silicate ceramics can be found in the skeleton of some marine sponges. This inorganic polymer is produced by an enzymatic reaction in siliceous sponges during the formation of the skeleton. Bioactive silicate ceramics have been studied for bone tissue engineering owing to their ability to induce the formation of an apatite layer on their surface. The apatite layer stimulates cell differentiation along the osteoblastic lineage and favors the adhesion of stem cells [91]. Silicate ceramics are described as enabling osteointegration with host bone. More than 20 different silicate ceramics have been developed with fine-tuned mechanical properties, bioactivity, and degradation rates. However, the low mechanical properties of this material have limited its application as a filler or coating for metal implants. Generally, silicate ceramics allow cell adhesion, but differences in chemical composition result in different adhesion rates. Their composition influences surface degradation, which could influence cell adhesion.

Among the silicate ceramics, the most well-studied is silicate-based bioactive glass 45S5, also known as Bioglass [92]. One of the most attractive characteristics of bioactive glass is the release of soluble ions during degradation, which that can induce bone formation [92]. Furthermore, bioactive glass 45S5 promotes the secretion of angiogenic growth factors in vitro and angiogenesis in vivo [91]. However, its use in clinics is limited and it is employed less often than calcium phosphates. Different limitations have been pointed out to explain this. For example, bioactive glass has slow degradation rates, which limit bone growth [91], and the preparation of porous scaffolds is challenging [92]. Some features of bioactive glass, such as brittleness and the promotion of nucleation, have prompted its use for improving the mechanical properties and bioactivity of other materials [40].

# **Processing Methods**

Bioactive glass can be obtained through different techniques. The most widely used is the sol-gel process, which is composed of the formation of an inorganic network [93]. For that, metal alkoxides in solution are mixed and further hydrolyzed and gellified. Finally, they are submitted to low-temperature firing to produce a glass phase and then dried, sintered, and fractured. This method obtains pores with a diameter between 6 and 18 nm. A different method is the melt-derived approach, in which the glass components are mixed, melted, and homogenized at high temperature [96]. The melted solution is poured into a liquid and then cool and cracked into small pieces to obtain a powder.

Porous scaffolds of bioactive glass have been developed through different methods to adjust the pore size and interconnectivity, such as foaming [94]. This method is composed of mixing the ceramic slurry with the polymeric foam, which is eliminated at the end of the process. With this approach, the foam determines the final scaffolds' architecture, allowing pore sizes to be controlled.

Particulate leaching is a different method also used to produce glass scaffolds [95]. In this case, porogen particles are mixed with the ceramic slurry and leached out during the sintering step. The resulting scaffold has an interconnected network.

A different method is the melt-derived approach [96]. This approach consists of mixing the glass components followed by melting and homogenizing them at high temperature. Afterward, the melted components are placed into a mold to obtain the desired scaffold. A different approach is to use the melt glass to produce fibers, a technique known as melt spinning. For example, Deliormanli et al. prepared a solution of bioactive glass by mixing different precursors (tetraethyl orthosilicate, triethyl phosphate, calcium nitrate tetrahydrate, potassium nitrate, magnesium nitrate hexahydrate, and sodium nitrate) with aqueous PVA [97]. Then, this solution was electrospun under an applied voltage, aged at 60°C, allowed to dry at 120°C, and finally sintered.

#### Silicate in Bone Tissue Engineering Applications

As mentioned, silicate ceramic scaffolds fulfil many of the criteria of an ideal scaffold, but they are brittle. Therefore, new strategies have been pursued to improve they mechanical characteristics of these scaffolds, such as fabricating composite scaffolds composed of an inorganic and an organic phase. Moreover, some studies have used this 554



FIGURE 32.8 Effect of silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced porosity versus Bioglass on osteogenic marker expression. (A) Scanning electron microscopy image of silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced porosity. (B) Osteocalcin expression comparing silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced porosity. (B) Osteocalcin expression comparing silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced porosity. (B) Osteocalcin expression comparing on *De Godoy RF, Hutchens S, Campion C, Blunn G. Silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced strut porosity stimulates osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2015;26(1):5387. Copyright © 2015, Springer Science + Business Media New York.* 

approach to improve the mechanical properties of other materials such as hydrogels [40]. Gantar et al. reinforced gellan gum hydrogels with bioactive glass nanoparticles and observed an improvement in mechanical properties and bioactivity. In addition, the developed composite sponge-like hydrogels allowed stem cell adhesion and spreading, showing great promise for bone tissue engineering. In a different study, bioactive glass was mixed with chitosan, promoting the enhancement of the scaffolds' mechanical properties [12]. The improvement in mechanical properties resulted from the formation of an apatite layer upon body fluid immersion.

In in vivo studies, bioactive glass was loaded with growth factors to promote repair of bone defects [98]. Upon implantation of the designed scaffolds into critical size defects, a bridging callus was observed only in scaffolds loaded with the growth factor. In a study conducted by Meretoja et al., poly(ɛ-caprolactone/D,L-lactide)-based scaffolds were filled with bioactive glass and implanted ectopically [99]. After 12 weeks, the authors showed that the developed scaffolds were able to induce ectopic bone formation.

Silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced porosity was developed by De Godoy et al. and compared with Bioglass in vitro [100]. Higher cell adhesion and enhanced cell differentiation along the osteogenic lineage were observed in cells cultured in silicate-based scaffolds, compared with Bioglass. The obtained results showed that the microstructure and chemistry of the scaffold influence cells behavior (Fig. 32.8).

# CONCLUSIONS

The unique properties of natural-based materials have attracted the interest of many scientists, with the purpose of repairing and regenerating damaged bone tissue. Bioavailability, the possibility of blending, and the processability of each material guarantee its use, alone or in combination, in the continuous pursuit of an ideal approach to obtaining an efficient therapy. However, natural-based materials have some limitations that must be overcome. Although the future of bone tissue regeneration is promising, much work must be done, namely in what concerns to the need of promote the vascularization of implants when large bone defects regeneration is envisioned. The continuous development of new and personalized technologies such as high-resolution bioprinting has provided new tools that allow the exploration of the potential of natural-based materials in the clinic. At the same time, these new tools and other advanced processing technologies have encouraged the creation of personalized and safer medical devices, which may enhance their success rate and faster translation to the clinics. In addition, growing knowledge in the most diverse fields, such as an increasing understanding of interactions between biological tissues and materials, will boost progress of new strategies. Ultimately, this progress will result in the optimization of the performance of natural-based materials and their successful translation to clinics.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

3D three-dimensional ALP alkaline phosphatase ASCs adipose derived stem cells ECM extracellular matrix GAGs glycosaminoglycans **HAp** hydroxyapatite HFIP hexafluoro-2-propanol MSCs mesenchymal stem cells PHAs polyhydroxyalkanoates PHB poly 3-hydroxybutyrate PHBHHx poly 3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate PHB-HV polyhydroxybutyrate-hydroxyvalerate PHBV poly 3-hydroxyvalerate PHV polyhydroxyvalerate PVA polyvinyl alcohol rhBMP-2 human bone morphogenetic protein-2 **β-TCP** β-tricalcium phosphate

# Acknowledgments

F.R. Maia acknowledges Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) for her Postdoc scholarship (SFRH/BPD/117492/2016), ERC-2012-ADG 20120216-321266 (ComplexiTE) and project Hierarchitech, financed by the FCT. J.M. Oliveira thanks FCT for his distinction attributed under the FCT Investigator program (IF/00423/2012 and IF/01285/2015). V.M. Correlo acknowledges Investigator FCT program (IF/01214/2014).

# References

- [1] Tatara AM, Mikos AG. Tissue engineering in orthopaedics. J Bone Joint Surg 2016;98(13):1132-9.
- [2] Venkatesan J, Vinodhini PA, Sudha PN, Kim SK. Chitin and chitosan composites for bone tissue regeneration. Adv Food Nutr Res 2014;73: 59–81.
- [3] Rodríguez-Vázquez M, Vega-Ruiz B, Ramos-Zúñiga R, Saldaña-Koppel DA, Quiñones-Olvera LF. Chitosan and its potential use as a scaffold for tissue engineering in regenerative medicine. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015:821279.
- [4] Aranaz I, Gutierrez MC, Ferrer ML, del Monte F. Preparation of chitosan nanocomposites with a macroporous structure by unidirectional freezing and subsequent freeze-drying. Mar Drugs 2014;12(11):5619–42.
- [5] Jana S, Florczyk SJ, Leung M, Zhang M. High-strength pristine porous chitosan scaffolds for tissue engineering. J Mater Chem 2012;22(13): 6291–9.
- [6] Costa-Pinto AR, Vargel I, Tuzlakoglu K, Correlo VM, Sol PC, Faria S, et al. Influence of scaffold composition over in vitro osteogenic differentiation of hBMSCs and in vivo inflammatory response. J Biomater Appl 2014;28(9):1430–42.
- [7] Beskardes IG, Demirtas TT, Durukan MD, Gumusderelioglu M. Microwave-assisted fabrication of chitosan-hydroxyapatite superporous hydrogel composites as bone scaffolds. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2015;9(11):1233–46.
- [8] Silva SS, Popa EG, Gomes ME, Cerqueira M, Marques AP, Caridade SG, et al. An investigation of the potential application of chitosan/aloebased membranes for regenerative medicine. Acta Biomater 2013;9(6):6790–7.
- Malafaya PB, Oliveira JT, Reis RL. The effect of insulin-loaded chitosan particle-aggregated scaffolds in chondrogenic differentiation. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(2):735–47.
- [10] Li L, Li B, Zhao M, Ding S, Zhou C. Single-step mineralization of woodpile chitosan scaffolds with improved cell compatibility. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2011;98B(2):230-7.
- [11] Costa-Pinto AR, Martins AM, Castelhano-Carlos MJ, Correlo VM, Sol PC, Longatto-Filho A, et al. In vitro degradation and in vivo biocompatibility of chitosan-poly(butylene succinate) fiber mesh scaffolds. J Bioact Compat Polym Biomed Appl 2014;29(2):137–51.
- [12] Mota J, Yu N, Caridade SG, Luz GM, Gomes ME, Reis RL, et al. Chitosan/bioactive glass nanoparticle composite membranes for periodontal regeneration. Acta Biomater 2012;8(11):4173–80.
- [13] Maji K, Dasgupta S, Kundu B, Bissoyi A. Development of gelatin-chitosan-hydroxyapatite based bioactive bone scaffold with controlled pore size and mechanical strength. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2015;26(16):1190–209.
- [14] Shavandi A, Bekhit Ael D, Ali MA, Sun Z, Gould M. Development and characterization of hydroxyapatite/beta-TCP/chitosan composites for tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2015;56:481–93.
- [15] Fernandez T, Olave G, Valencia CH, Arce S, Quinn JM, Thouas GA, et al. Effects of calcium phosphate/chitosan composite on bone healing in rats: calcium phosphate induces osteon formation. Tissue Eng Part A 2014;20(13–14):1948–60.
- [16] Chen LIN, Li B, Xiao X, Meng Q, Li WEI, Yu Q, et al. Preparation and evaluation of an Arg-Gly-Asp-modified chitosan/hydroxyapatite scaffold for application in bone tissue engineering. Mol Med Rep 2015;12(5):7263–70.
- [17] Yao A-H, Li X-D, Xiong L, Zeng J-H, Xu J, Wang D-P. Hollow hydroxyapatite microspheres/chitosan composite as a sustained delivery vehicle for rhBMP-2 in the treatment of bone defects. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2015;26(1):25.
- [18] Raftery RM, Woods B, Marques ALP, Moreira-Silva J, Silva TH, Cryan S-A, et al. Multifunctional biomaterials from the sea: assessing the effects of chitosan incorporation into collagen scaffolds on mechanical and biological functionality. Acta Biomater 2016;43:160–9.
- [19] Liu D, Nikoo M, Boran G, Zhou P, Regenstein JM. Collagen and gelatin. Ann Rev Food Sci Technol 2015;6:527-57.

# 556 32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE

- [20] Sherman VR, Yang W, Meyers MA. The materials science of collagen. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2015;52:22-50.
- [21] Dong C, Lv Y. Application of collagen scaffold in tissue engineering: recent advances and new perspectives. Polymers 2016;8(2):42.
- [22] Pawelec KM, Husmann A, Best SM, Cameron RE. A design protocol for tailoring ice-templated scaffold structure. J R Soc Interface 2014; 11(92):20130958.
- [23] Liu Y, Liu S, Fu Y, Chang DT, Zhou YH. Mineralised collagen scaffolds loaded with stromal cell-derived Factor-1 improve mandibular bone regeneration. Chin J Dent Res 2014;17(1):23–9.
- [24] Zhang Q, Lu H, Kawazoe N, Chen G. Pore size effect of collagen scaffolds on cartilage regeneration. Acta Biomater 2014;10(5):2005-13.
- [25] Jha BS, Ayres CE, Bowman JR, Telemeco TA, Sell SA, Bowlin GL, et al. Electrospun collagen: a tissue engineering scaffold with unique functional properties in a wide variety of applications. J Nanomater 2011;2011:15.
- [26] Islam A, Chapin K, Younesi M, Akkus O. Computer aided biomanufacturing of mechanically robust pure collagen meshes with controlled macroporosity. Biofabrication 2015;7(3):035005.
- [27] SeungHyun A, Young Ho K, GeunHyung K. A three-dimensional hierarchical collagen scaffold fabricated by a combined solid freeform fabrication (SFF) and electrospinning process to enhance mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) proliferation. J Micromech Microeng 2010;20(6): 065015.
- [28] Aravamudhan A, Ramos DM, Nip J, Harmon MD, James R, Deng M, et al. Cellulose and collagen derived micro-nano structured scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2013;9(4):719–31.
- [29] Miguel FB, de Almeida Barbosa Júnior A, de Paula FL, Barreto IC, Goissis G, Rosa FP. Regeneration of critical bone defects with anionic collagen matrix as scaffolds. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2013;24(11):2567–75.
- [30] Calabrese G, Giuffrida R, Fabbi C, Figallo E, Lo Furno D, Gulino R, et al. Collagen-hydroxyapatite scaffolds induce human adipose derived stem cells osteogenic differentiation in vitro. PLoS One 2016;11(3):e0151181.
- [31] Kon E, Filardo G, Perdisa F, Di Martino A, Busacca M, Balboni F, et al. A one-step treatment for chondral and osteochondral knee defects: clinical results of a biomimetic scaffold implantation at 2 years of follow-up. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2014;25(10):2437–44.
- [32] Bacelar AH, Silva-Correia J, Oliveira JM, Reis RL. Recent progress in gellan gum hydrogels provided by functionalization strategies. J Mater Chem B 2016;4(37):6164–74.
- [33] Stevens LR, Gilmore KJ, Wallace GG, in het Panhuis M. Tissue engineering with gellan gum. Biomater Sci 2016;4(9):1276-90.
- [34] Silva-Correia J, Miranda-Gonçalves V, Salgado AJ, Sousa N, Oliveira JM, Reis RM, et al. Angiogenic potential of gellan-gum-based hydrogels for application in nucleus pulposus regeneration: in vivo study. Tissue Eng 2012;18(11–12):1203–12.
- [35] Oliveira JT, Martins L, Picciochi R, Malafaya PB, Sousa RA, Neves NM, et al. Gellan gum: a new biomaterial for cartilage tissue engineering applications. J Biomed Mater Res 2010;93(3):852–63.
- [36] da Silva LP, Cerqueira MT, Sousa RA, Reis RL, Correlo VM, Marques AP. Engineering cell-adhesive gellan gum spongy-like hydrogels for regenerative medicine purposes. Acta Biomater 2014;10(11):4787–97.
- [37] Yang F, Xia S, Tan C, Zhang X. Preparation and evaluation of chitosan-calcium-gellan gum beads for controlled release of protein. Eur Food Res Technol 2013;237(4):467–79.
- [38] Vashisth P, Nikhil K, Roy P, Pruthi PA, Singh RP, Pruthi V. A novel gellan-PVA nanofibrous scaffold for skin tissue regeneration: fabrication and characterization. Carbohydr Polym 2016;136:851–9.
- [39] Akkineni AR, Ahlfeld T, Lode A, Gelinsky M. A versatile method for combining different biopolymers in a core/shell fashion by 3D plotting to achieve mechanically robust constructs. Biofabrication 2016;8(4):045001.
- [40] Gantar A, da Silva LP, Oliveira JM, Marques AP, Correlo VM, Novak S, et al. Nanoparticulate bioactive-glass-reinforced gellan-gum hydrogels for bone-tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C 2014;43:27–36.
- [41] Douglas TE, Piwowarczyk W, Pamula E, Liskova J, Schaubroeck D, Leeuwenburgh SC, et al. Injectable self-gelling composites for bone tissue engineering based on gellan gum hydrogel enriched with different bioglasses. Biomed Mater (Bristol, England) 2014;9(4):045014.
- [42] Douglas TE, Wlodarczyk M, Pamula E, Declercq HA, de Mulder EL, Bucko MM, et al. Enzymatic mineralization of gellan gum hydrogel for bone tissue-engineering applications and its enhancement by polydopamine. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2014;8(11):906–18.
- [43] Douglas TE, Pilarz M, Lopez-Heredia M, Brackman G, Schaubroeck D, Balcaen L, et al. Composites of gellan gum hydrogel enzymatically mineralized with calcium-zinc phosphate for bone regeneration with antibacterial activity. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017;11(5):1610–8.
- [44] Douglas TE, Dokupil A, Reczynska K, Brackman G, Krok-Borkowicz M, Keppler JK, et al. Enrichment of enzymatically mineralized gellan gum hydrogels with phlorotannin-rich Ecklonia cava extract Seanol((R)) to endow antibacterial properties and promote mineralization. Biomed Mater (Bristol, England) 2016;11(4):045015.
- [45] Wen J, Kim IY, Kikuta K, Ohtsuki C. Fabrication of porous alpha-TCP/gellan gum scaffold for bone tissue engineering. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 2016;16(3):3077–83.
- [46] Mozejko-Ciesielska J, Kiewisz R. Bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates: still fabulous? Microbiol Res 2016;192:271-82.
- [47] Zonari A, Novikoff S, Electo NR, Breyner NM, Gomes DA, Martins A, et al. Endothelial differentiation of human stem cells seeded onto electrospun polyhydroxybutyrate/polyhydroxybutyrate-co-hydroxyvalerate fiber mesh. PLoS One 2012;7(4):e35422.
- [48] Anbukarasu P, Sauvageau D, Elias A. Tuning the properties of polyhydroxybutyrate films using acetic acid via solvent casting. Sci Rep 2015; 5:17884.
- [49] Nemati Hayati A, Rezaie HR, Hosseinalipour SM. Preparation of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)/nano-hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Mater Lett 2011;65(4):736–9.
- [50] Shumilova AA, Myltygashev MP, Kirichenko AK, Nikolaeva ED, Volova TG, Shishatskaya EI. Porous 3d implants of degradable poly-3hydroxybutyrate used to enhance regeneration of rat cranial defect. J Biomed Mater Res 2016.
- [51] Ribeiro-Samy S, Silva NA, Correlo VM, Fraga JS, Pinto L, Teixeira-Castro A, et al. Development and characterization of a PHB-HV-based 3D scaffold for a tissue engineering and cell-therapy combinatorial approach for spinal cord injury regeneration. Macromol Biosci 2013;13(11): 1576–92.
- [52] Karahaliloglu Z, Ercan B, Taylor EN, Chung S, Denkbas EB, Webster TJ. Antibacterial nanostructured polyhydroxybutyrate membranes for guided bone regeneration. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2015;11(12):2253–63.

- [53] Ramier J, Bouderlique T, Stoilova O, Manolova N, Rashkov I, Langlois V, et al. Biocomposite scaffolds based on electrospun poly(3hydroxybutyrate) nanofibers and electrosprayed hydroxyapatite nanoparticles for bone tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng C 2014;38:161–9.
- [54] Meischel M, Eichler J, Martinelli E, Karr U, Weigel J, Schmöller G, et al. Adhesive strength of bone-implant interfaces and in-vivo degradation of PHB composites for load-bearing applications. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2016;53:104–18.
- [55] Melke J, Midha S, Ghosh S, Ito K, Hofmann S. Silk fibroin as biomaterial for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2016;31:1–16.
- [56] Thurber AE, Omenetto FG, Kaplan DL. In vivo bioresponses to silk proteins. Biomaterials 2015;71:145-57.
- [57] Correia C, Bhumiratana S, Yan L-P, Oliveira AL, Gimble JM, Rockwood D, et al. Development of silk-based scaffolds for tissue engineering of bone from human adipose-derived stem cells. Acta Biomater 2012;8(7):2483–92.
- [58] Sommer MR, Vetsch JR, Leemann J, Muller R, Studart AR, Hofmann S. Silk fibroin scaffolds with inverse opal structure for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2016.
- [59] Wang Z, Lin M, Xie Q, Sun H, Huang Y, Zhang D, et al. Electrospun silk fibroin/poly(lactide-co-epsilon-caprolactone) nanofibrous scaffolds for bone regeneration. Int J Nanomed 2016;11:1483–500.
- [60] Xu M, Li H, Zhai D, Chang J, Chen S, Wu C. Hierarchically porous nagelschmidtite bioceramic-silk scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Chem B 2015;3(18):3799–809.
- [61] Mandal BB, Grinberg A, Seok Gil E, Panilaitis B, Kaplan DL. High-strength silk protein scaffolds for bone repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109(20):7699–704.
- [62] Yan LP, Silva-Correia J, Correia C, Caridade SG, Fernandes EM, Sousa RA, et al. Bioactive macro/micro porous silk fibroin/nano-sized calcium phosphate scaffolds with potential for bone-tissue-engineering applications. Nanomedicine (London, England) 2013;8(3):359–78.
- [63] Yan L-P, Salgado AJ, Oliveira JM, Oliveira AL, Reis RL. De novo bone formation on macro/microporous silk and silk/nano-sized calcium phosphate scaffolds. J Bioact Compat Polym 2013;28(5):439–52.
- [64] Yan L-P, Silva-Correia J, Oliveira MB, Vilela C, Pereira H, Sousa RA, et al. Bilayered silk/silk-nanoCaP scaffolds for osteochondral tissue engineering: in vitro and in vivo assessment of biological performance. Acta Biomater 2015;12:227–41.
- [65] Huang X, Bai S, Lu Q, Liu X, Liu S, Zhu H. Osteoinductive-nanoscaled silk/HA composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering application. J Biomed Mater Res Part B, Appl Biomater 2015;103(7):1402–14.
- [66] Pfister B, Zeeman SC. Formation of starch in plant cells. Cellular and molecular life sciences. CMLS 2016;73(14):2781-807.
- [67] Alcázar-Alay SC, Meireles MAA. Physicochemical properties, modifications and applications of starches from different botanical sources. Food Sci Technol (Campinas) 2015;35:215–36.
- [68] Requicha JF, Viegas CA, Hede S, Leonor IB, Reis RL, Gomes ME. Design and characterization of a biodegradable double-layer scaffold aimed at periodontal tissue-engineering applications. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;10(5):392–403.
- [69] Nasri-Nasrabadi B, Mehrasa M, Rafienia M, Bonakdar S, Behzad T, Gavanji S. Porous starch/cellulose nanofibers composite prepared by salt leaching technique for tissue engineering. Carbohydr Polym 2014;108:232–8.
- [70] Duarte AR, Mano JF, Reis RL. Supercritical phase inversion of starch-poly(epsilon-caprolactone) for tissue engineering applications. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2010;21(2):533–40.
- [71] Leonor IB, Rodrigues MT, Gomes ME, Reis RL. In situ functionalization of wet-spun fibre meshes for bone tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2011;5(2):104–11.
- [72] Gardel LS, Correia-Gomes C, Serra LA, Gomes ME, Reis RL. A novel bidirectional continuous perfusion bioreactor for the culture of largesized bone tissue-engineered constructs. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2013;101(8):1377–86.
- [73] Balmayor ER, Baran TE, Unger M, Marques AP, Azevedo HS, Reis RL. Presence of starch enhances in vitro biodegradation and biocompatibility of a gentamicin delivery formulation. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2015;103(8):1610–20.
- [74] Shakir M, Jolly R, Khan MS, Iram N, Khan HM. Nano-hydroxyapatite/chitosan-starch nanocomposite as a novel bone construct: synthesis and in vitro studies. Int J Biol Macromol 2015;80:282–92.
- [75] Carvalho PP, Leonor IB, Smith BJ, Dias IR, Reis RL, Gimble JM, et al. Undifferentiated human adipose-derived stromal/stem cells loaded onto wet-spun starch-polycaprolactone scaffolds enhance bone regeneration: nude mice calvarial defect in vivo study. J Biomed Mater Res 2014;102(9):3102–11.
- [76] Rodrigues MT, Lee B-K, Lee SJ, Gomes ME, Reis RL, Atala A, et al. The effect of differentiation stage of amniotic fluid stem cells on bone regeneration. Biomaterials 2012;33(26):6069–78.
- [77] Requicha JF, Moura T, Leonor IB, Martins T, Munoz F, Reis RL, et al. Evaluation of a starch-based double layer scaffold for bone regeneration in a rat model. J Orthop Res 2014;32(7):904–9.
- [78] de Ruiter A, Dik E, van Es R, van der Bilt A, Janssen N, Meijer G, et al. Micro-structured calcium phosphate ceramic for donor site repair after harvesting chin bone for grafting alveolar clefts in children. J Cranio Maxillo Facial Surg 2014;42(5):460–8.
- [79] Bernardeschi D, Nguyen Y, Russo FY, Mosnier I, Ferrary E, Sterkers O. Cutaneous and labyrinthine tolerance of bioactive glass S53P4 in mastoid and epitympanic obliteration surgery: prospective clinical study. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015:242319.
- [80] Baino F, Novajra G, Vitale-Brovarone C. Bioceramics and scaffolds: a winning combination for tissue engineering. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2015;3:202.
- [81] Barros AA, Aroso IM, Silva TH, Mano JF, Duarte AR, Reis RL. In vitro bioactivity studies of ceramic structures isolated from marine sponges. Biomed Mater (Bristol, England) 2016;11(4):045004.
- [82] Cardeira J, Gavaia PJ, Fernández I, Cengiz IF, Moreira-Silva J, Oliveira JM, et al. Quantitative assessment of the regenerative and mineralogenic performances of the zebrafish caudal fin. Sci Rep 2016;6:39191.
- [83] Lee S-W, Kim S-G, Balázsi C, Chae W-S, Lee H-O. Comparative study of hydroxyapatite from eggshells and synthetic hydroxyapatite for bone regeneration. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2012;113(3):348–55.
- [84] Pina S, Oliveira JM, Reis RL. Natural-based nanocomposites for bone tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: a review. Adv Mater 2015;27(7):1143–69.
- [85] Tripathi G, Basu B. A porous hydroxyapatite scaffold for bone tissue engineering: physico-mechanical and biological evaluations. Ceram Int 2012;38(1):341–9.

- 558 32. NATURAL ORIGIN MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING: PROPERTIES, PROCESSING, AND PERFORMANCE
- [86] Kwon BJ, Kim J, Kim YH, Lee MH, Baek HS, Lee DH, et al. Biological advantages of porous hydroxyapatite scaffold made by solid freeform fabrication for bone tissue regeneration. Artif Organs 2013;37(7):663–70.
- [87] Cox SC, Thornby JA, Gibbons GJ, Williams MA, Mallick KK. 3D printing of porous hydroxyapatite scaffolds intended for use in bone tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng C 2015;47:237–47.
- [88] Changchun Z, Xingjiang Y, Yujiang F, Liang M, Yanfei T, Fangzu Q, et al. Biomimetic fabrication of a three-level hierarchical calcium phosphate/collagen/hydroxyapatite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Biofabrication 2014;6(3):035013.
- [89] Franco PQ, João CFC, Silva JC, Borges JP. Electrospun hydroxyapatite fibers from a simple sol-gel system. Mater Lett 2012;67(1):233-6.
- [90] Nandi SK, Kundu B, Mukherjee J, Mahato A, Datta S, Balla VK. Converted marine coral hydroxyapatite implants with growth factors: in vivo bone regeneration. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2015;49:816–23.
- [91] Zeimaran E, Pourshahrestani S, Djordjevic I, Pingguan-Murphy B, Kadri NA, Towler MR. Bioactive glass reinforced elastomer composites for skeletal regeneration: a review. Mater Sci Eng C 2015;53:175–88.
- [92] Jones JR. Review of bioactive glass: from Hench to hybrids. Acta Biomater 2013;9(1):4457-86.
- [93] Bejarano J, Caviedes P, Palza H. Sol-gel synthesis and in vitro bioactivity of copper and zinc-doped silicate bioactive glasses and glassceramics. Biomed Mater (Bristol, England) 2015;10(2):025001.
- [94] Nadeem D, Kiamehr M, Yang X, Su B. Fabrication and in vitro evaluation of a sponge-like bioactive-glass/gelatin composite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2013;33(5):2669–78.
- [95] Dziadek M, Pawlik J, Menaszek E, Stodolak-Zych E, Cholewa-Kowalska K. Effect of the preparation methods on architecture, crystallinity, hydrolytic degradation, bioactivity, and biocompatibility of PCL/bioglass composite scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2015; 103(8):1580–93.
- [96] Liu X, Rahaman MN, Day DE. Conversion of melt-derived microfibrous borate (13-93B3) and silicate (45S5) bioactive glass in a simulated body fluid. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2013;24(3):583-95.
- [97] Deliormanli AM. Preparation, in vitro mineralization and osteoblast cell response of electrospun 13-93 bioactive glass nanofibers. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2015;53:262–71.
- [98] Liu WC, Robu IS, Patel R, Leu MC, Velez M, Chu TM. The effects of 3D bioactive glass scaffolds and BMP-2 on bone formation in rat femoral critical size defects and adjacent bones. Biomed Mater (Bristol, England) 2014;9(4):045013.
- [99] Meretoja VV, Tirri T, Malin M, Seppala JV, Narhi TO. Ectopic bone formation in and soft-tissue response to P(CL/DLLA)/bioactive glass composite scaffolds. Clin Oral Implants Res 2014;25(2):159–64.
- [100] De Godoy RF, Hutchens S, Campion C, Blunn G. Silicate-substituted calcium phosphate with enhanced strut porosity stimulates osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2015;26(1):5387.

# 33

# Synthetic Polymers

Michael C. Hacker<sup>1</sup>, Jan Krieghoff<sup>1</sup>, Antonios G. Mikos<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany; <sup>2</sup>Rice University, Houston, TX, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Regenerative medicine is an emerging interdisciplinary approach to repairing or replacing damaged or diseased tissues and organs. To reestablish tissue and organ function impaired by disease, trauma, or congenital abnormalities, regenerative medicine employs cellular therapies, tissue engineering strategies, and artificial or biohybrid organ devices. Typically, these techniques rely on combinations of cells, genes, morphogens, or other biological building blocks with bioengineered materials and technologies to address tissue or organ insufficiency.

Materials used in these approaches range from metals and ceramics to natural and synthetic polymers as well as their microcomposites and nanocomposites. When used in a three-dimensional context, these materials are processed into microporous and/or nanoporous cell carriers of various structures and properties, typically called scaffolds, a topic discussed elsewhere in this book. This chapter focuses exclusively on synthetic polymers used in regenerative medicine. Some synthetic derivatives of natural materials are briefly discussed where appropriate. In addition to the various facets of regenerative medicine, a plethora of synthetic polymers with different compositions and physicochemical properties have been developed and investigated; however, research is ongoing. Synthetic materials have an important key role in many applications of regenerative medicine, including implants, tissue engineering scaffolds, and orthopedic fixation devices. In a broader sense, sutures, drug delivery systems, nonviral gene delivery vectors, and sensors made from synthetic polymers are further examples.

This chapter provides a structural overview of these synthetic polymers and discusses their physicochemical characteristics, structure—property relationships, applications, and limitations. Synthetic polymers that are hydro-lytically labile and erode (biodegradable polymers) are considered, as are as those that are bioinert and remain unchanged after implantation (nondegradable polymers). It is the authors' intention to provide a thorough overview of available classes of synthetic material. Some polymer classes are briefly mentioned and their chemical structures are provided; other more relevant materials are discussed in greater detail. For most polymer classes and properties, reviews are referenced for guidance to further reading.

In general, the history of biomaterials can best be organized into four eras: prehistory, the era of the surgeon hero (first-generation biomaterials), designed biomaterials and engineered devices (second-generation biomaterials), and the contemporary era leading into the new millennium (third-generation biomaterials) [1,2]. As far back as AD 600, the use of dental implants made from materials such as seashells or iron was reported. Also, there is evidence that sutures have been used to close large wounds for as long as 32,000 years. The word "biomaterials," however, was introduced within the half century. Almost at the same time, aided by rapid advancements in industrial polymer development and synthesis, the exploration of synthetic polymers for biomedical applications began. The development of plastic contact lenses, using primarily poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), started around 1936, and the first data on the implantation of nylon as a suture were reported in 1941. This development was accompanied by studies on the biocompatibility of the new materials. From the beginning, differences in foreign body reactions to the materials became apparent. Additives such as plasticizers, unreacted monomers, and degradation products were discussed as possible causes leading to an awareness of polymer's quality for biomedical applications and biocompatibility testing.

At the end of World War II, a wide variety of durable, high-performance metal, ceramic, and especially polymeric materials was available, inspiring surgeons to break new ground in replacing diseased or damaged body parts.

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

Materials including silicones, polyurethanes (PUs), Teflon, nylon, methacrylates, titanium, and stainless steel were available "off the shelf" for surgeons to apply to medical problems [2]. Primarily medical and dental practitioners, driven by the vision to replace lost organ or tissue functionality, used minimal regulatory constraints to develop and improvise replacements, bridges, conduits, and even organ systems based on such materials. Those pioneering approaches laid the foundation for novel procedures and engineered biomaterials. Such early implants made from industrial materials available "off the shelf" were often poorly biocompatible, in many cases owing to insufficient purity. With a developing understanding of the immune system and foreign body reactions, the first generation of materials was developed during the 1960s and 1970s by engineers and scientists for use inside the human body. The primary goal of early biomaterial development was to achieve a suitable combination of physical properties to match those of the replaced tissue with a minimal toxic response in the host [3]. After this paradigm, more than 50 implanted devices made from 40 different materials were in clinical use in 1980. In the early 1980s, research began to shift from materials that exclusively exhibited a bioinert tissue response to materials that interacted actively with their environment. Another advance in this second generation was the development of biodegradable materials that exhibited controllable chemical breakdown into nontoxic degradation products that were either metabolized or directly eliminated. Biodegradable synthetic polymers were designed to resolve the interface problem, because the foreign material is ultimately replaced by regenerating tissues and eventually the regeneration site is histologically indistinguishable from the host tissue. By 1984, resorbable polymers were routinely used clinically as sutures. Other applications in fracture fixation aids or drug delivery devices quickly emerged. Despite the considerable clinical success of bioinert, bioactive, and resorbable implants, there is still a high longterm prosthesis failure rate and the need for revision surgery [2].

Improvements in first- and second-generation biomaterials have been limited for one main reason: unlike living tissue, artificial biomaterials cannot respond to changing physiological loads or biochemical stimuli. This limits the lifetime of artificial body parts. To overcome these limitations, a third generation of biomaterials is being developed that involves the molecular tailoring of resorbable polymers for specific cellular responses. By immobilizing specific biomolecules such as signaling molecules or cell-specific adhesion peptides or proteins onto a material, it is possible to mimic the extracellular matrix (ECM) environment and provide a cell-adhesive surface [1,4–6]. Biomimetic surfaces are promising tools for controlling cell adhesion, integrating implants, differentiating cells, and developing tissues. Synthetic polymer matrices can also be tailored to deliver drugs, signaling molecules, and genetic code and thus provide versatile technologies for regenerative medicine [7–9]. Constantly expanding knowledge of the basic biology of stem cell differentiation and the corresponding signaling pathways as well as tissue development provides the basis for the molecular design of scaffolds. In attempts at tissue engineering, which aim to regenerate lost or defective tissue by transplanting in vitro engineered tissue constructs based on a patient's own cells, one no longer strives to match scaffold mechanical properties closely to those of the replaced tissue. Instead, it is considered important for the engineered transplanted construct to be steadily remodeled in vivo to resemble the histological and mechanical properties of the surrounding tissue [10]. Owing to this paradigm shift, mechanically labile hydrogels, especially injectable systems that can be used to encapsulate cells directly, have gained great importance as the basis for biomimetic cell carriers. Hydrogels are characterized by a high content of water that allows encapsulated cells to survive and enables the sufficient passive transport of nutrients, oxygen, and waste. Hydrogelforming materials typically offer functional groups for chemical modifications, and their degradation can be controlled by chemical composition and cross-linking content.

After a brief overview on synthesis techniques, inert and biodegradable synthetic polymers representative of all three generations will be presented in subsequent sections. Their structure, synthesis, physicochemical properties, and applications will be described.

# POLYMER SYNTHESIS

Polymerization reactions for the synthesis of organic polymers are often categorized into chain-growth polymerizations and step-growth polymerizations, depending on how the chemical process of chain formation proceeds. The synthesis of polymers with a carbon–carbon backbone such as polyolefins and polyacrylates typically follows a chain-growth mechanism [11]. Chain-growth polymerizations involve the steps of chain initiation, chain propagation, and termination. Characteristics of this type of polymerization are that chain growth occurs only by the addition of monomers to the active chain end, generally at a high speed, and that only the monomer and polymer are present during the reaction. Depending on the nature of the reactive center of the propagation chains, chaingrowth reactions are subdivided into radical, ionic (anionic or cationic), or transition-metal mediated (coordinative

#### NONDEGRADABLE SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

or insertion) polymerizations. Suitable monomers contain an unsaturated carbon—carbon bond (double or triple) or are cyclic molecules with a sufficiently high ring strain. For the industrial synthesis of polyolefins, for example, free radical and transition-metal mediated polymerizations are commonly employed. Unlike radical polymerization, transition-metal coordinated mechanisms, such as with Ziegler—Natta catalysts, allow for the control of polymer tacticity [12]. A milestone in chain-growth polymerization history was the development of controlled or living radical polymerization techniques that allow for the precise control of polymer composition and architecture and yield polymeric products with low polydispersity [13].

Polymers that contain heteroatoms in the main chain are typically synthesized by a step-growth mechanism. During step-growth, the polymer molecular weight increases through the reaction of any two molecular species, i.e., monomers, oligomers, and polymer chains. In contrast to chain-growth, monomers disappear early on during the reaction and the polymer molecular weight slowly increases over the course of the reaction, which can last for days. Typical polymerization types that follow a step-growth mechanism are polycondensation and polyaddition reactions. In condensation reactions, small molecules such as water, alcohols, or hydrochloric acid are eliminated during step-growth. Polyethylene terephthalate and polyamides such as nylon and poly(propylene fumarate) [14] are examples of polymers that are synthesized by condensation reactions between carboxylic acid derivatives and diols or diamines (nylon). Most polyanhydrides are also synthesized by polycondensation reactions [15]. Polyaddition reactions follow a similar mechanism because nucleophilic groups react with electrophilic moieties during polymer chain buildup. In contrast to condensation reactions, addition reactions combine monomers without eliminating a small molecule. During PU synthesis, for example, diisocyanate monomers are reacted with diamines or dihydroxy-terminated molecules in the presence of catalysts under the formation of urethane and urea groups, respectively, to build up polymer chains [16].

Ring-opening polymerizations (ROPs) also yield polymers with heteroatoms in the main chain and are used to synthesize polyamines, polyethers such as poly(ethylene glycol)s (PEGs), and most biodegradable polyesters including polylactides, polyglycolides, and copolymers [17]. ROPs can follow chain-growth and step-growth kinetics and are executed in melts or solutions in the presence of catalysts and heat.

Driven by advances in drug design through combinatorial approaches in small-molecule chemistry, similar techniques have been adapted to polymerization chemistry [18]. Through the systematic screening of libraries of polymeric materials that have similar chemistries but are synthesized from a series of different monomers and comonomers in various combinations, structure—property relations can be identified and polymer properties can be fine-tuned for specific applications. Polymer properties that are screened using such approaches include the material's glass transition temperature, degradative properties, air—water contact angle, mechanical properties, cytocompatibility and cell proliferation.

# NONDEGRADABLE SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

A common characteristic of most nondegradable synthetic polymers is their biological inertness [1]. These materials were developed to reduce the host response to the biomaterial to a minimum. Nondegradable synthetic polymers provide the basis for a plethora of medical devices as diverse as suture materials, orthopedic implants, fracture fixation devices, and catheters and dialysis tubing. These materials are also applied as implantable carriers for the long-term delivery of drugs, e.g., contraceptive hormones. Despite their excellent biological inertness and welladjustable mechanical properties, orthopedic implants made from nondegradable synthetic polymers and nondegradable bone cements ultimately fail at a high rate from problems at the interface arising from a lack of integration with the surrounding tissue, infections, or bone resorption caused by stress shielding [19,20].

Major groups of nondegradable synthetic polymers are highlighted in the following section.

# Polymers With a –C–C– Backbone

#### **Polyethylene and Derivatives**

#### Poly(ethylene), Poly(propylene), and Poly(styrene)

Poly(ethylene) (PE) (Fig. 33.1A), poly(propylene) (PP) (Fig. 33.1B), and poly(styrene) (PS) (Fig. 33.1C) are ubiquitous industrial polymers that have been applied as biomaterials. All three thermoplastic polymers are pure hydrocarbons and are synthesized by the direct polymerization of their corresponding monomers. Whereas PE can be synthesized by the radical or ionic polymerization of ethylene, special organometallic catalysts are required to



FIGURE 33.1 Chemical structures of nondegradable synthetic polymers (I).

polymerize propylene into useful PP. PE and PP are classified into several different categories based on their density, branching, and molecular weight. These parameters significantly influence the crystallinity and mechanical properties of the polymers. PE has been used to produce catheters. High-density PE, which is characterized by a low degree of branching and thus strong intermolecular forces and tensile strength, has been processed into highly durable hip prostheses. A three-dimensional fabric composed of PE fibers and coated with hydroxyapatite was used to regenerate hyaline cartilage in osteochondral defects in rabbit knees and showed successful biocompatibility [21]. The best-known application for PP is its use in syringe bodies. Copolymers of PE and vinyl acetate (poly[ethylene-*co*-vi-nyl acetate] [PEVAc]) (Fig. 33.1D) are widely used in nondegradable drug delivery devices [22]. PEVAc is one of the most biocompatible implant materials [23]; it has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in implanted and topically applied devices.

Vitrasert , Implanon, and NuvaRing are examples of PEVAc-based drug delivery platforms [24–26] for ocular applications and long-term contraception. For the latter application, PE-based implants have also been developed.

PS is a hard, brittle polymer used to fabricate tissue culture flasks and dishes. By copolymerization with butadiene, copolymers with improved elasticity are synthesized that are used to make catheters and medical devices for perfusion and dialysis.

#### Poly(tetrafluoroethylene)

Poly(tetrafluoroethylene) (PTFE) (Fig. 33.1E), well-known as Teflon (DuPont), can be synthesized from liquid tetrafluoroethylene by radical polymerization and through the fluorination of PE. Among the known polymers, PTFE has the lowest coefficient of friction and excellent resistance to chemicals, and it is hemocompatible. Porous PTFE fiber meshes (Gore-Tex) have become a popular synthetic vascular graft material [27].

#### **Poly(meth)acrylates and Polyacrylamides**

Poly(meth)acrylate hydrogels are used in medical devices, especially for ocular applications (e.g., contact lenses and intraocular lenses), as drug delivery systems, and as cell delivery systems [28–30]. Three major types, PMMA, poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (PHEMA), and poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide), are discussed in more detail subsequently.

A variety of (meth)acrylate and acrylamide monomers with different functional groups are available; thus, poly(meth)acrylates and polyacrylamides of different chemical compositions can be synthesized. Together with the free carboxylic acid moieties of (meth)acrylic acid, the presentation of different functional groups and charges along copolymer chains or within cross-linked hydrogels is possible. Using an imprinting technique, these moieties can

#### NONDEGRADABLE SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

be oriented so that pouches are created that interact noncovalently with molecules, e.g., drugs or therapeutic peptides and proteins, via ionic interactions, hydrogen bonds,  $\pi - \pi$  interactions, and hydrophobic interactions [31,32]. Besides intelligent hydrogels for controlled drug release, this technology has an impact on microfluidic devices, biomimetic sensors, intelligent polymeric membranes [33], and analyte-sensitive materials [34].

#### Poly(methyl Methacrylate)

PMMA (Fig. 33.1F) is a nondegradable polyacrylate and is the most commonly applied nonmetallic implant material in orthopedics. It was used as an essential ingredient to make dentures and then in the mid-1950s, PMMA was introduced for use in orthopedic surgery [35]. PMMA tissue biocompatibility became further apparent when Plexiglas fragments were accidentally implanted in the eyes and other body tissues of World War II fighter pilots during aircraft crashes.

PMMA can be polymerized in situ and cross-linked from a slurry containing PMMA and methyl (meth)acrylate monomers; thus, it is used as a common bone grafting material, mainly in the fixation of orthopedic prosthetic materials for hips, knees, and shoulders [36]. PMMA-based bone cements can be mixed with inorganic ceramics or bioactive glass to modulate curing kinetics and enforce mechanical properties. Antibiotics can be loaded within the cement to reduce the risk for prosthesis-related infection. Significant drawbacks of self-curing PMMA cements are that they are not degraded, that their high curing temperatures and toxic monomers can cause necrosis of the surrounding tissue, and that the cements have limited interactions with surrounding bone [37,38]. Therefore, the development of alternative injectable bone cements is directed toward biodegradable materials with improved curing properties and osteoconductive interfaces.

Because of its excellent biocompatibility and hemocompatibility and ease of manipulation, PMMA is used in many medical devices, including blood pumps and dialyzers. Its optical properties make it a candidate material for implantable ocular lenses and hard contact lenses [29]. PMMA also offers physical and coloring properties that are beneficial for denture fabrication [37].

#### Poly(2-hydroxyethyl Methacrylate)

PHEMA (Fig. 33.1G) was the first hydrogel to be successfully employed for biological use [39]. PHEMA has become the major component of most soft contact lenses and is also part of intraocular lenses [29]. Owing to their free hydroxyl groups, PHEMA gels contain relatively high amounts of water, which facilitates the diffusion of solutes and oxygen. PHEMA has excellent biocompatibility, which initiates the development of a plethora of hydroxyl methacrylate—containing copolymers. Hydrogels fabricated from PHEMA and copolymers have been intensively characterized for controlled drug delivery applications [40,41] and employed for biomedical uses. PHEMA gels, which have limited mechanical properties, have been used in attempts to reconstruct female breasts and nasal cartilages, and as artificial corneas as well as wound dressings [42].

In a subcutaneous rabbit model, porous PHEMA sponges promoted significant cellular ingrowth and neovascularization combined with good cytocompatibility [43]. A mineralization technique was demonstrated that exposed carboxylate groups on cross-linked PHEMA hydrogel scaffolds, promoting calcification [44].

#### Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)

Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNiPAAm) (Fig. 33.1H) is important for injectable applications in drug and cell delivery using minimally invasive techniques because of its unique physicochemical properties [45]. PNiPAAm undergoes (lower critical) phase separation, resulting in the formation of an opaque hydrogel in response to a temperature above 32°C, the material's lower critical solution temperature (LCST). This thermoresponsive behavior is the result of strong hydrogen bonds between the polymer and water molecules and the specific molecular orientations of these bonds caused by the molecular structure of the polymer. The formation of hydrogen bonds between the polymer and the solvent lowers the free energy of the solution. Because of the hydrophobic N-isopropyl residues in PNiPAAm, the hydrogen bonds between water and the amide functionality require specific molecular orientation. Such ordered structures lead to negative entropy changes and positive contributions to the free energy. Because the enthalpic contribution to the free energy is temperature-dependent, the formation of strong but specifically oriented hydrogen bonds is no longer thermodynamically favored above a certain temperature. Consequently, PNiPAAm dissolves in water below the LCST. At and above the LCST, the polymer chains partially desolvate and undergo a coil-to-globule transition resulting in colloidal aggregation that may lead to gel formation or polymer precipitation [46,47]. Hydrogels formed by linear PNiPAAm at 32°C are instable and collapse substantially as the temperature is increased above the LCST. The synthesis of cross-linked networks and copolymers, typically with hydrophilic building blocks, has resulted in materials that demonstrate reversible thermogelation and form hydrogels with no

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

significant syneresis at body temperature. Different PNiPAAm-containing copolymers for cell delivery have been synthesized with acrylic acid, PEG, hyaluronic acid, and gelatin [45,48–50]. Detailed information is available for the in vitro and in vivo use of gelatin–PNiPAAm conjugates for the regeneration of articular cartilage [51,52]. A series of multifunctional N-isopropylacrylamide (NiPAAm)-based copolymers has also been developed [53]. One example is the injectable, thermosensitive macromer poly(NiPAAm-co-polylactide-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMAPLA)-co-acrylic acid-co-N-acryloxysuccinimide) [54] that is composed of HEMAPLA for increased biodegradability via elevated backbone solubility upon PLA hydrolysis and reactive succinimide esters for the crosslinking of, e.g., type I collagen. Further examples of such advanced copolymers include a series of amphiphilic NiPAAm-based macromers with dual gelation properties [55,56], calcium ion-sensitive macromers of a similar design with vinylphosphonic acid as comonomer [57], and a series of anhydride group—containing oligomers synthesized with maleic anhydride and a key copolymer [58]. The latter have been used to formulate dual-component hydrogels with gelatin [59], cross-linked gelatin microparticles, as well as tubular conduits [60]. NiPAAm-based copolymers with at least dual functionality have also been synthesized with glycidyl methacrylate as comonomer [61]. The introduction of epoxides allowed for effective cross-linking and dual-component hydrogel engineering with polyamidoamine-based diamines [62]. Syneresis in NiPPAm-based hydrogels could be suppressed and their degradation improved by the integration of dimethyl- $\gamma$ -butyrolactone acrylate as comonomer with a hydrolysable lactone structure [63,64]. The chemical incorporation of the comonomer monoacryloxyethyl phosphate and subsequent ester formation with glycidyl methacrylate allowed for the introduction of phosphatase degradable linkages in injectable hydrogels for bone regeneration [65,66].

## **Polyethers**

PEG (Fig. 33.2A), often also called poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO), is a nondegradable polyether of the monomer ethylene glycol. Technically, PEG and PEO should not be used as synonyms because PEO is synthesized from the monomer ethylene oxide and typically is terminated by only one hydroxyl group and an initiator fragment [67]. Commonly, PEG is often used to refer to the polymer with a molecular weight less than 30,000–50,000 Da whereas PEO is used for higher molecular weights. PEG is water soluble and solutions of its high–molecular weight form can be categorized as a hydrogel. PEG hydrogels for biomedical applications are typically composed of polymer chains that are cross-linked. These cross-linked networks frequently contain chemical bonds between the PEG chains and the cross-linkable moieties, which are prone to aqueous hydrolysis and therefore are characterized as biodegradable systems. The molecular weight of the PEG chains cross-linked in such hydrogels is below a threshold molecular weight to allow for complete resorption by renal elimination of the individual chains. Consequently, these materials are discussed as biodegradable polymers in the Cross-linked Polyesters section.

Favorable characteristics of PEG and PEO include their high hydrophilicity, bioinertness, and outstanding biocompatibility, which make them candidate biomaterials [68]. PEG and PEO are frequently used as hydrophilic polymeric building blocks in copolymers with more hydrophobic degradable or nondegradable polymers for drug delivery [69], gene delivery, tissue engineering scaffolds, medical devices, and implants. PEG has also been immobilized on polymeric biomaterial surfaces to make them resistant to protein absorption and cell adhesion. These effects are attributed to highly hydrated PEG chains on the polymer surfaces that exhibit steric repulsion based on an osmotic or entropic mechanism [70]. Attempts to benefit from this phenomenon include the design of long-circulating nanoparticles or liposomes [71–74] and PEGylated enzymes or proteins with a prolonged functional residence time in vivo compared with unmodified biomolecules [75,76].



FIGURE 33.2 Chemical structures of nondegradable synthetic polymers (II).

A variety of PEG-containing block copolymers for injectable drug delivery have been developed [77]. The most prominent class is triblock copolymers composed of two hydrophilic PEO blocks and one hydrophobic poly(propylene oxide) (PPO) block, also known as Pluronics or poloxamers. These materials are designed to have phase transition behavior similar to thermogelling PNiPAAm-containing materials (see Poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) section). Poloxamers have been intensively investigated for the delivery of drugs and proteins [78]. Because Poloxamers are nondegradable, biodegradable structural analogues have been synthesized. They are described within the next section, Block Copolymers of Polyesters or Polyamides With Poly(ethylene glycol).

Polyglycerols (also called polyglycidols) have gained recognition as an alternative to PEG and PPO. The main distinguishing feature of this polymer is the presence of an additional hydroxyl group on the monomer. As a result, polyglycerols can have a linear structure with a free hydroxyl group per repeat unit or a hyperbranched structure, in which all three hydroxyl groups contribute to the formation of the polyether [79,80]. Linear polyglycerol was found to possess properties similar to PEG with regard to biocompatibility and protein absorption resistance. In addition, the materials exhibit thermoresponsive behavior [81].

#### **Polysiloxanes**

Polysiloxanes, or silicones, are a general category of polymers consisting of a silicon-oxygen backbone with organic groups, typically methyl groups, attached to the silicon atoms [82]. Certain organic side groups can be used to link two or more chains. By varying the silicon-oxygen chain length, side groups, and extent of cross-linking, silicones with properties ranging from liquids to hard plastics can be synthesized. Silicone synthesis typically involves the hydrolysis of chlorosilanes into linear or cyclic siloxane oligomers, which are then polymerized into polysiloxanes by polycondensation or polymerization, respectively. The most common polysiloxane is linear poly(dimethylsiloxane) (Fig. 33.2B).

Polysiloxanes, which are characterized by unique material properties combining biocompatibility and biodurability, have found widespread application in health care [82]. The materials' high biodurability is a result of other material properties such as hydrophobicity, low surface tension, and chemical and thermal stability. Silicone surfaces have been found to inhibit blood from clogging for many hours and thus have been used to fabricate silicone-coated needles, syringes, and other blood-collecting instruments. Silicone materials have also been employed as heart valves and components in kidney dialysis, blood oxygenators, and heart bypass machines owing to their hemocompatibility. Silicone elastomers have been used in numerous catheters, shunts, drains, and tubular implants such as artificial urethra. Significant orthopedic applications of silicones are joint implants in hands and feet. The most prominent application of silicones is their extensive use as cosmetic implants in aesthetic and reconstructive plastic surgery. Prosthetic silicone implants are available for the breast, scrotum, chin, nose, cheek, calf, and buttocks. Different silicone materials, including slightly cross-linked silicone gels, are combined to achieve a natural feel. Controversy arose regarding the safety of popular silicone gel-filled breast implants in the early 1990s. These discussions initially involved an increased risk for breast cancer; it then progressed to autoimmune connective tissue disease and evolved to the frequency of local or surgical complications such as rupture, infection, and capsular contracture. To date, no epidemiology study has indicated that the rate of breast cancer has significantly increased in women with silicone breast implants [83]. However, a slight increase in anaplastic large cell lymphoma, a rare cancer of the immune system, is being discussed as connected with breast implants [84]. Studies on autoimmune or connective tissue disease agreed regarding the lack of causal association between breast implants and these diseases [85,86]. A safety concern that was discussed involves the amount of platinum (the part of catalysts used during silicone synthesis) that is released from silicone implants and accumulated in the host organism [87,88]. Other complications, especially implant rupture, are persisting problems; in 1992, the FDA restricted the use of silicone gel-filled implants. Since then, the implants may be used only under certain controlled conditions [89]. In 2016, the FDA approved three types of saline-filled breast implants and five types of silicone gel-filled ones, and required the manufacturers of silicone gel-filled implants to conduct postapproval studies to characterize the safety and effectiveness of their implants.

Polysiloxane gels, which combine the high oxygen permeability of silicone and the comfort and clinical performance of conventional polyacrylate hydrogels, enable the fabrication of soft, gas-permeable contact lenses for extended wear. In contrast to conventional hydrogels, silicone gels render the surface of the lens highly hydrophobic and less "wettable," which frequently results in discomfort and dryness during lens wear. Surface modifications of the silicones or the addition of conventional hydrogels are suitable strategies to compensate for the hydrophobicity.

Overall, polysiloxanes have been increasingly applied in medicine since the 1960s; today, they are one of the most thoroughly tested and important biomaterials.

#### **Other Nondegradable Polymers**

#### Poly(ethylene Terephthalate)

Poly(ethylene terephthalate) (Fig. 33.2C), a linear polyester synthesized by polycondensation of terephthalic acid and ethylene glycol, is typically processed into fiber meshes. These meshes are applied as vascular grafts [27] or used to reinforce prostheses.

#### Hydrolytically Stable Polyurethanes

PUs are a heterogeneous class of polymers that consist of organic units joined by urethane links (Fig. 33.3). Generally, PUs can be synthesized from a bischloroformate and a diamine or by reacting a diisocyanate with a dihydroxy component. PUs used in biomedical applications typically have a segmented structure that results in useful physicochemical properties [90]. Such segmented PUs or PU copolymers are elastomers composed of alternating polydispersed "soft" and "hard" segments. These two segments are thermodynamically incompatible and phase-segregate, resulting in discrete, crystalline domains of the associated "hard" segments surrounded by a continuous, amorphous phase of "soft" segments. The segregated domains are stabilized by interchain hydrogen bonds and are responsible for the materials' mechanical properties [91]. Segmented PUs are synthesized in a two-step process that provides control over polymer architecture (Fig. 33.3A). The first step involves the synthesis of an isocyanate-terminated prepolymer from a diisocyanate (D in Fig. 33.3) and a hydroxyl group terminated polyether or polyester (P in Fig. 33.3). The prepolymer and excess diisocyanate are then reacted with a hydroxy or amine group-terminated chain extender (C in Fig. 33.3) to generate the final PU (Fig. 33.3A).

A chain extender terminated with hydroxy groups yields segmented PUs, whereas a diamine extender yields PUurea (Fig. 33.3B). The "hard" segment of the PU copolymer is composed of the diisocyanate and the chain extender, whereas the "soft" segment contains the polymeric segment introduced during the first step. The extent of phase separation depends on the molecular weights, chemistry, and relative percentages of the building blocks [92].



FIGURE 33.3 General synthesis scheme (A) and an example structure (B) for polyurethanes.

#### BIODEGRADABLE SYNTHETIC POLYMERS FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

After almost 50 years of use in biomedical applications, PUs remain one of the most popular groups of biomaterials for the fabrication of medical devices. Their popularity results from a wide range of versatility with regard to tailoring their physicochemical and mechanical properties, blood and tissue compatibility, and degradative properties by altering block copolymer composition. Biomedical PUs are used in numerous medical devices such as breast implants, catheters, vascular and aortic grafts, pacemaker leads, artificial heart valves, and artificial hearts; they perform well in a variety of in vivo applications. PUs often have better blood and tissue compatibilities compare with numerous other synthetic polymers. The efficient removal of impurities from the polymer synthesis, such as catalyst residues and low—molecular weight oligomers, has critically determined PU biocompatibility [93].

Traditional PUs such as Biomer (in which the dihydroxy-terminated oligomer (P) is polytetramethylenen oxide, the diisocyanate (D) is methylene bisphenylenediisocyante and ethylenediamine is the chain extender (C)) (Fig. 33.2D), were materials of first choice. However, the assumption of polyetherurethane nondegradability had to be revised in response to the well-documented failures of pacemaker leads and breast implant coatings containing PUs in the late 1980s. Although PUs can be designed to be stable against hydrolysis, these materials have been shown to degrade in the biological environment by mechanisms including oxidation and enzyme and cell-mediated degradation [92,94,95]. Oxidation of PUs can be initiated by peroxides, free radicals, and enzymes. Metal-catalyzed oxidation was found to be most frequently associated with pacemaker lead failure. Another important oxidation-driven problem with long-term PU implants is environmental stress cracking. PU surfaces become coated with a protein layer that enhances the adhesion of macrophages. The macrophages, activated by proteins of the complement family, release oxidative factors that accelerate the degradation of the polymer [96].

Chemical design criteria have been identified for biostable PUs. To increase the degree of interchain hydrogen bonding, on which biostability partially depends, low—molecular weight oligomeric diols (P) are preferred as building blocks. To avoid oligomer hydrolysis, oligoethers are favored over oligoesters. Aromatic diisocyanates (D) have been found to yield more biostable PUs than aliphatic diisocyanates. The use of a diamine chain extender (C) instead of a dihydroxy-terminated one typically results in stronger PU-urea, but polymer fabrication is often hampered because of solubility problems. The use of soft segment building blocks with high crystallinity, such as polycaprolactone, or silicone-based oligomers is also assumed to improve polymer biostability [92].

PUs can be surface modified to reduce the risk of thrombosis or improve interactions with cells and tissues. Different strategies, including adsorption, covalent grafting, and the use of self-assembled monolayers, have been applied to distribute proteins such as fibronectin, or adhesion peptides, which contain the integrin-binding peptide motif RGD, across the PU surface [92,97].

# **BIODEGRADABLE SYNTHETIC POLYMERS FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE**

Biodegradable synthetic polymers offer a number of advantages over nondegradable materials for applications in regenerative medicine. Like all synthetic polymers, they can be synthesized at reproducible quality and purity and fabricated into various shapes with desired bulk and surface properties. Specific advantages include the ability to tailor mechanical properties and degradation kinetics to suit various applications. Clinical applications for biode-gradable synthetic polymers are manifold and traditionally include resorbable sutures, drug delivery systems, and orthopedic fixation devices such as pins, rods, and screws [98]. Synthetic biodegradables were widely explored as artificial matrices for tissue engineering applications [99–103]. For such applications, the mechanical properties of the scaffolds, which are determined by the constitutive polymer, should functionally mimic the properties of the tissue to be regenerated. Ultimately, the polymeric support is designed to degrade while transplanted or invading cells proliferate, lay down ECM, and form coherent tissue that ideally is functionally, histologically, and mechanically indistinguishable from the surrounding tissue. To engineer scaffolds suitable for different applications, a wide variety of biodegradable polymers are required ranging from pliable, elastic materials for soft tissue regeneration to stiff materials that can be used in load-bearing tissues such as bone. In addition to the mechanical properties, the degradation kinetics of polymer and ultimately scaffold also have to be tailored to suit various applications.

The major classes of synthetic, biodegradable polymers are briefly reviewed and their potential in regenerative medicine is discussed subsequently.

#### Polyesters

Polyesters have been attractive for biomedical applications because of their ease of degradation by the primarily nonenzymatic hydrolysis of ester linkages along the backbone. In addition, degradation products can be

#### 568

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

resorbed through the metabolic pathways in most cases, and there is the potential to tailor the structure to alter degradation rates [104].

A vast majority of biodegradable polymers studied belong to the polyester family [105]. Polyester fibers, which also became popular in the textile industry, were used as resorbable sutures [106]. Promising observations regarding the biocompatibility of the materials led to applications in drug delivery, orthopedic implants, and tissue engineering scaffolds, particularly for orthopedic applications [98,102,107–110].

#### Polyesters of *α*-Hydroxy Acids

The family of polyesters can be subdivided according to the structure of the monomers. In  $poly(\alpha-hydroxy acids)$ , each monomer has two functionalities, a carboxylic acid and a hydroxyl group, located at the carbon atom next to the carboxylic acid ( $\alpha$ -position), that form ester bonds. Poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) are linear thermoplastic elastomers that typically are synthesized by ROP of cyclic dimers of the building blocks [111,112]. Poly(lactic acid) (PLA) (Fig. 33.4A), poly(glycolic acid) (PGA) (Fig. 33.4B), and a range of their copolymers, including poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) (Fig. 33.4C) are prominent representatives not only of biodegradable polyesters but of biodegradables in general. The cyclic dimers that are polymerized during PLA and PGA synthesis are called lactide and glycolide, respectively. Therefore, the polymers are often named polylactides or polyglycolides. For reasons of consistency with the general term poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids), the terms PLA and PGA will be used here. Poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) have a long history of use as synthetic biodegradable materials in a number of clinical applications. Initially, resorbable sutures were made from these materials [113]. Later, poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) were the basis for controlled release systems for drugs, proteins and vaccines [114–118], and orthopedic fixation devices [119]. Langer and coworkers pioneered the development of these polymers in the form of porous scaffolds for tissue engineering [120].

Because of the chiral nature of lactic acid, several forms of PLA exist: poly(L-lactic acid) (P<sub>L</sub>LA), for example, is synthesized from L-lactide. The polymerization of racemic lactide leads to poly(D,L-lactic acid) (P<sub>D,L</sub>LA), which is an amorphous polymer. P<sub>L</sub>LA, in contrast, is a semicrystalline polymer with a crystallinity of around 37%. P<sub>L</sub>LA is characterized by a glass transition temperature between 50°C and 80°C and a melting temperature between 173°C and 178°C. Amorphous P<sub>D,L</sub>LA is typically used in drug delivery applications, whereas semicrystalline P<sub>L</sub>LA is preferred in applications in which high mechanical strength and toughness are required, e.g., for sutures and orthopedic devices. PGA is also a semicrystalline polymer with a higher crystallinity of 46–52%. Thermal characteristics of PGA are glass transition and melting temperatures of 36°C and 225°C, respectively. Because of its high crystallinity, unlike PLA, PGA is not soluble in most organic solvents; the exceptions are highly fluorinated organic solvents such as hexafluoroisopropanol. Consequently, common processing techniques for PGA include melt extrusion, injection, and compression molding.

PLA, PGA, and PLGA undergo homogeneous erosion via ester linkage hydrolysis into the degradation products lactic acid and glycolic acid, which are both natural metabolites that are fully metabolized and excreted as carbon dioxide and water. Degradation of  $poly(\alpha$ -hydroxy acid)s showed characteristics typical of bulk erosion. Bulk erosion occurs when water penetrates the entire structure and the device degrades simultaneously [121]. During the initial stages of degradation, almost no mass loss can be detected. Analysis of the average molecular weight of the polymer bulk over the same period, however, reveals a steady decrease in molecular weight. Once the polymer chains throughout the bulk are degraded below a certain threshold, the water-soluble degradation products are washed out and the system collapses, accompanied by significant mass loss. Because of its well-accessible ester group, PGA degrades rapidly in aqueous media. PGA sutures typically lose their mechanical strength over 2–4 weeks postoperatively [122]. To adapt these properties to a wider range of applications, copolymers with more hydrophobic PLA were synthesized and investigated. The two main series are those of  $P_LLGA$  (Fig. 33.4C) and  $P_{DL}LGA$ . It was shown that the range of compositions from 25% to 70% glycolic acid (GA) for L-lactic acid (L-LA)/GA and from 0% to 70% GA for D<sub>L</sub>-LA/GA are amorphous [104,105,123–126]. For the P<sub>L</sub>LGA copolymers, the rate of hydrolysis was slower at either extreme of the copolymer composition range. It is generally accepted that intermediate PLGA copolymers have a shorter half-life in vivo than either homopolymer. Besides the polymer composition, the rate of degradation is affected by factors such as the configurational structure, copolymer ratio, crystallinity, molecular weight, morphology, stresses, the amount of residual monomer, bulk porosity, and the site of implantation [104].

Multiple in vitro and in vivo studies that were conducted on the biocompatibility of PLA, PLGA, and PGA have generally revealed satisfying results [127]. Consequently, PLA, PLGA copolymers, and PGA are among the few biodegradable polymers with FDA approval for human clinical use.

Concerns with  $poly(\alpha-hydroxy \text{ esters})$  typically focus on the accumulation of acidic degradation products within the polymer bulk that can have detrimental effects on encapsulated drugs in delivery applications [128–130] or can cause late noninfectious inflammatory responses when released in a sudden burst upon structure breakdown



(A) Poly(D, L-lactic acid) (B) Poly(glycolic acid) (C) Poly(L-lactic-co-glycolic acid)



(D) Poly(D, L-lactic acid)-blockpoly(ethylene glycol) monomethyl ether



(F) Poly(p-dioxanone)



(H) Poly(glycerol dicarboxylate) (R: H or polymer chain) (x = 4 sebacate, x=2 adipate)



(J) Poly(trimethylene carbonate) for R and R': H



(E)<sub>Poly(ε-caprolactone)</sub>



(G) Poly(octanediol citrate)



(I) Poly(ortho ester)



(M) Poly(phosphazene)



(K) Poly(amide carbonate) derived from desaminotyrosine and a tyrosine alkyl ester (R: alkyl)



FIGURE 33.4 Chemical structures of biodegradable synthetic polymers.

[131–133]. This adverse reaction can occur weeks and months postoperatively and might need surgical drainage. This is a major concern in orthopedic applications, in which implants of considerable size would be required and which may result in the release of degradation products with high local acid concentrations. Inflammatory response to poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) were also found to be triggered by the release of small particles during degradation that were phagocytosed by macrophages and multinucleated giant cells [117,134]. In general, implant size as well as surface properties appear to be critical factors with regard to biocompatibility. Fewer concerns seem to exist regarding the application of poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) in soft tissues compared with hard tissue applications [127]. Injectable P<sub>L</sub>LA has been employed for skin volume restoration by using its stimulating effect on collagen production [135].

# 570

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

Poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) were the materials of choice when one of the key concepts of tissue engineering, the de novo engineering of tissue by combining isolated cells and three-dimensional macroporous cell carriers in vitro, was first realized and developed [120,136,137]. Polymers based on lactic acid and GA are still popular scaffold materials, especially for orthopedic applications such as bone, cartilage, and meniscus, as outlined in several reviews [101,138–140]. Limitations of this class of materials include insufficient mechanical properties with regard to load-bearing applications [110] and inflammatory or cytotoxic events caused by the accumulation of acidic products during degradation.

To cover a broader range of mechanical and physicochemical properties, such as water absorption, polymer degradation, and polymer–drug interactions, block copolymers containing PLA and hydrophilic PEO or PEG were synthesized for drug delivery applications [141,142]. Solid particulate systems from these block copolymers were almost invisible to the immune system owing to the hydrophilic PEG chains that swell on the surface [71,143] (see Polyethers section) (Fig. 33.4D). The stealthiness of such surfaces is mainly caused by the suppression of protein adsorption, which also inhibits cell adhesion. Investigations into cell adhesion to PEG–PLA diblock copolymer surfaces revealed that cell adhesion can be controlled and cell differentiation can be modulated by the PEG content [144]. With the objective of specifically controlling cell–polymer interactions, PEG–PLA copolymers were further developed to allow for the covalent attachment of signaling molecules [145,146]. Because these polymers were insoluble in water, they could be processed into macroporous scaffolds for tissue engineering applications [147]. Furthermore, diblock and triblock copolymers of PLA with PEG were investigated as microscale and nano-scale vehicles for drug delivery [148,149], as well as for tissue engineering applications [150].

Another direction in which to broaden the range of mechanical and chemical properties of PLA centers on the use of  $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids that possess longer alkyl or aryl side chains [151] or feature a side chain with an additional double or triple bond or a functional group [152]. An important effect of such an incorporation is the modulation of the glass transition temperature of the resulting polymer [153]. For example, a viscous copolymer of lactic acid and 2-hydroxy-octanoic acid was investigated as a delayed intravitreal release system for vasodilatory substances or as an excipient for sustained-release drug formulations [154–156].

#### **Polyesters of Lactones**

The most prominent and thoroughly investigated polylactone is  $poly(\varepsilon-caprolactone)$  (PCL) (Fig. 33.4E), an aliphatic, semicrystalline polyester with an interestingly low glass transition temperature  $(-60^{\circ}C)$  and melting temperature (59-64°C) [105,157]. PCL is considered to be biocompatible [158]. PCL is prepared by the ROP of the cyclic monomer  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone and is compatible with a range of other polymers. Catalysts such as stannous octoate are used to catalyze the polymerization and low-molecular weight alcohols can be used as the initiator and to control the molecular weight of the polymer [159]. *e*-Caprolactone can be copolymerized with numerous other monomers. Copolymers with PLA and PEG are probably the most noteworthy and have been investigated extensively [160–163]. PCL degrades at a much slower rate than PLA and therefore is most suitable for the development of long-term implantable drug delivery systems. These copolymers of caprolactone with lactide were synthesized to accelerate degradation rates [105]. Tubular, highly permeable  $poly(L-lactide-co-\varepsilon-caprolactone)$ guides were found to be suitable for the regeneration and functional reinnervation of large gaps in injured nerves [164]. Although this study focused on tissue regeneration, the application of PCL in drug delivery devices is still far more common [165]. With the increasing popularity of electrospinning, a laboratory-scale technique that allows for the fabrication of nonwoven meshes composed of nanofibers and/or microfibers [166], PCL might find its way into cell-based therapies because slowly degrading polymers are preferred for this technique to ensure sufficient stability of the fibers [167].

Poly(p-dioxanone) (Fig. 33.4F), another polylactone, and its copolymers with lactide, glycolide, and/or trimethylene carbonate, are synthesized by catalyzed ROP and have been used in a number of clinical applications ranging from suture materials to bone fixation devices [168,169]. The use of analogues of p-dioxanone bearing methyl or more complex groups for homopolymerization or copolymerization allows for the fine-tuning of degradation properties of the polymer [170].

Another class of polymer that is accessible via the polymerization of lactones is poly(hydroxy-alkanoates) (PHAs), which are composed of hydroxy acids with the hydroxyl group located at least in the  $\beta$ -position relative to the carboxylic acid group [171]. PHAs are mostly produced biosynthetically; the resulting polymer is perfectly isotactic and highly crystalline. Synthesis via ROP of lactones, on the other hand, enables the production of syndiotactic and atactic PHAs with altered physicochemical and mechanical properties [172].

#### Polyesters of Polyols and Carboxylic Acids

In addition to using monomers bearing a hydroxyl and a carboxyl group on the same molecule, elastomeric polyester networks have been synthesized by combining two kinds of building blocks, one bearing two or more hydroxyl groups (a polyol), such as glycerol [173], and one bearing two or three carboxyl groups (a dicarboxylic acid or tricarboxylic acid), such as citric acid [174]. Polymers are synthesized from the two building blocks by polycondensation either by organometallic, metal-oxide [175], enzyme-based catalysis [176] or without using exogenous catalysts [177,178], depending on the employed building blocks.

Poly(diol citrates) are synthesized from citric acid and various low— or high—molecular weight diols [174]. Poly(1,8-octanediol-*co*-citrate) (POC) (Fig. 33.4G; R, R': –H), one of the first poly(diol citrates), demonstrated mechanical properties such as tensile strength, Young's modulus, and elongation at break that justify applications in ligament reconstruction and vascular engineering [178]. Variations in chemical composition, especially diol chemistry, allowed for the synthesis of a variety of biodegradable elastomers covering a range of mechanical and degradative properties [179]. With regard to vascular tissue engineering, POC showed good hemocompatibility and exhibited decreased platelet adhesion and clotting relative to  $P_LLGA$  and expanded poly(tetrafluoro ethylene) [180]. Endothelial cell attachment and differentiation were supported with no modification of the surface. To improve the mechanical properties of the POC elastomer, unsaturated acrylate and fumarate diols were added during the condensation reaction and moieties for secondary cross-linking were introduced [181]. Further modification of the employed diols and functionalization of the pendant carboxyl and hydroxyl groups of citric acid led to citrate-based biomaterials with potential applications ranging from regeneration of hard and soft tissue to drug delivery, bioadhesive, and imaging functions [174].

Poly(glycerol sebacate) (Fig. 33.4H; x = 4) is an elastomeric polymer network made from the triol glycerol and sebacic acid (decanedioic acid) [182]. It is developed for use in the regeneration of soft tissues such as cardiac [183], vascular, retinal, and neural tissue. A similar polymer, poly(glycerol adipate) (Fig. 33.4H; x = 2), made from glycerol and adipic acid (hexanedioic acid), is being examined for use as a nanoparticulate drug delivery system after esterification with fatty acids [184].

Linear polymers of this type are synthesized from a diol and a dicarboxylic acid [185]. An example is poly(butylene succinate), which is synthesized from 1,4-butanediole and succinic acid [186] and which has been evaluated for use in the regeneration of cartilage [187] and bone tissue [188].

#### Polyorthoesters

Polyorthoesters (POEs) (Fig. 33.4I) were developed by Alza Corporation and SRI International in 1970 in the search for a new biodegradable polymer for drug delivery applications [189]. Since then, polymer synthesis has improved. POEs are synthesized by condensation or addition reactions typically involving dialcohols and monomeric orthoesters or diketene acetals, respectively. The use of triethylene glycol as the diol component produced predominantly hydrophilic polymers, whereas hydrophobic materials could be obtained by using 1,10-decanediol. Orthoester is a functional group containing three alkoxy groups attached to one carbon atom. In POEs, two of the three alkoxy groups are typically part of a cyclic acetal (Fig. 33.4G).

POEs were synthesized that degrade by surface erosion, which is characterized by a constant decrease in bulk mass while the polymer molecular weight within the polymer bulk is preserved [190]. It is known that materials built from functional groups with short hydrolysis half-lives and low water diffusivity tend to be surface eroding. Polymers that exhibit surface erosion can be used to fabricate drug delivery systems that release loaded drugs at a constant rate at a high aspect to volume ratio (e.g., as for wafers).

The addition of lactide segments to the POE structure resulted in self-catalyzed erosion and allowed for finetunable degradation times ranging from weeks to months [191]. POEs provide the material platform for a variety of drug delivery applications including the treatment of postsurgical pain, osteoarthritis and ophthalmic diseases, and the delivery of proteins and DNA. Block copolymers of POE and PEG have been prepared and their use as drug delivery matrices or as colloidal structures for tumor targeting are being explored [189].

Initial biocompatibility studies revealed that POEs provoked little inflammation and were largely absorbed by 4 weeks. In contrast, P<sub>D,L</sub>LA degraded more slowly and provoked chronic inflammation with multinuclear giant cells, macrophages with engulfed material, and proliferating fibroblasts within the same model. Ossicles with bone marrow had formed in the implants of POE combined with demineralized bone. In PLA/demineralized bone implants, bone formation was inhibited [192,193].

# Polycarbonates

Polycarbonates have become interesting biomaterials because of their excellent mechanical strength and good processability. The degradation of most polycarbonates is controlled by hydrolysis of the carbonate group, which yields two alcohols and carbon dioxide, which alleviates the problem of acid bursting seen in polyesters [104,194]. The structural variation in the pendant side groups allows polymers to be prepared with different mechanical properties, degradation rates, and cellular responses.

The most prototypical polycarbonate is poly(trimethylene carbonate) (Fig. 33.4J), generated by ROP of the monomer 1,3-dioxan-2-one (trimethylene carbonate [TMC]). By using substituted analogues of this monomer, it is possible to introduce additional functionalities into the material [195]. Altered material properties resulting from these functionalities widen the prospect for the use of polycarbonates in tissue and bone regeneration [196,197] as well as in drug delivery [198,199] and as polymer-based antibiotics [200,201].

Because TMC-based polycarbonates degrade extremely slowly under physiological conditions [195], polyiminocarbonates [202] and tyrosine-based polycarbonates [203] (Fig. 33.4K) have been engineered to yield biodegradable polymers with good mechanical strength [204] for use in drug delivery and orthopedic applications. Tyrosine-based polycarbonates that contain a pendant ethyl ester group have been shown to be osteoconductive and to possess mechanical properties sufficient for load-bearing bone fixation. Long-term (48-week) in vivo degradation kinetics and host bone response to tyrosine-derived polycarbonates were investigated using a canine bone chamber model [205]. Histological sections revealed intimate contact between bone and the polymer. It was concluded that from a degradation-biocompatibility perspective, the tyrosine-derived polycarbonates appear to be comparable to PLA, if not superior, in this model. The incorporation of desaminotyrosyltyrosine units without a pendant ester and low– molecular weight PEG allows for the development of tyrosine-based polycarbonates with faster degradation without affecting the osteoconductive properties [206], which are further improved upon by combining the polymer scaffolds with calcium phosphate minerals and bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP-2) [207]. Variations in the composition of these terpolymers can be used to engineer ultrafast degrading and resorbing polymers that may be suitable for the coating of implants in brain tissue to minimalize adverse effects [208].

#### Block Copolymers of Polyesters or Polyamides With Poly(ethylene Glycol)

Amphiphilic block copolymers of biodegradable polymers with PEG have become popular materials for injectable drug delivery applications [78]. Inspired by the thermoresponsive behavior observed for nondegradable A-B-A-type triblock copolymers composed of hydrophilic PEO (block A) and hydrophobic PPO (block B), polymer development focused on synthesizing biodegradable analogs of these poloxamers (or Pluronics) that were water soluble at ambient temperature and formed stable hydrogels at body temperature. Biodegradable block copolymers were synthesized by substituting the hydrophobic PPO block with a biodegradable polymer block such as PLA or PCL [69,77,209].

Biodegradable, physically cross-linkable block copolymers of inverse structure (that is, B-A-B triblock copolymers with two biodegradable hydrophobic polymer blocks [block B] and a hydrophilic PEO block) were also investigated as protein delivery systems [148,210].

#### Polyurethanes

PUs represent a major class of synthetic elastomers that have excellent mechanical properties and good biocompatibility. PUs have been evaluated for a variety of medical devices and implants, particularly for long-term implants.

Knowledge gained about the mechanisms of PU biodegradation in response to implant failures throughout the 1990s has been translated to form a new class of bioresorbable materials [95]. Research has employed the flexible chemistry and diverse mechanical properties of PUs to design degradable polymers for a variety of regenerative applications. Segmented PUs with varied molecular structure have been synthesized to control the rates of hydrolysis [95,211]. To obtain biodegradable, segmented PUs, significant changes were required to the structural components historically used for their synthesis. Traditional aromatic diisocyanates (D; compare with Fig. 33.3) can yield toxic or carcinogenic degradation products when they are part of a degradable PU; therefore, linear diisocyanates are preferred, such as lysine-diisocyanate, which yields the nontoxic degradation product lysine. The soft segment, which is typically composed of an oligomeric diol (P; compare with Fig. 33.3), is typically the block of the PU used to modify the degradation rate. Biodegradable PUs have been synthesized with a variety of soft segments including PEO, degradable polyesters such as PLA, PGA, or PCL, and their combinations. Other strategies focus on the copolymers' hard segments. PUs were synthesized that contain enzyme-sensitive linkages introduced with

#### 572

the chain extender (C; compare with Fig. 33.3). For example, the use of a phenylalanine diester chain extender yielded a PU that showed susceptibility to enzyme-mediated degradation upon exposure to chymotrypsin and trypsin.

Saad et al. investigated cell and tissue interactions with a series of degradable polyesterurethanes. In vivo investigations showed that all test polymers exhibited favorable tissue compatibility and degraded significantly over 1 year [212]. Polyurethane-urea matrices were shown to allow vascularization and tissue infiltration in vivo [213]. The flexible chemistry and diverse mechanical properties of PU materials allowed researchers to design degradable polymers to regenerate diverse tissues including neurons, vasculature, smooth muscle, cartilage, and bone [27,95,214].

To accelerate the degradation behavior of polyesterurethanes, polyester segments in the polymer backbone were partially substituted with polycarbonate, yielding poly(ester carbonate)urethane-ureas [215]. Flexible, low-moduli biodegradable PU, or poly(ether carbonate urethane)-ureas, were synthesized with polyether-based domains containing biodegradable sections as soft segments [216]. Examples of such soft segments include poly(trimethylene carbonate) (PTMC)-based triblock copolymers such as PTMC–PEO–PTMC and thermoresponsive pentablock copolymers such as PTMC–PEO–PTMC. For controlling the response of a biological system to materials, surface and bulk modifications are a common strategy. To this end, a series of biodegradable polyesterurethane-urea elastomers with variable amino content were developed. Via the amine groups, carboxylated phosphorylcholine was conjugated to polymer for bulk functionalization [217]. This modification significantly reduced platelet adhesion to the material and inhibited rat vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. Such materials may find use as coatings in cardiovascular devices or as scaffolds for cardiovascular tissue regeneration. Enzyme-degradable PU was synthesized by using a collagenase-sensitive peptide as a chain extender [218].

#### Amino Acid–Derived Polymers, Poly(amino Acids), and Peptides

Amino acids are an interesting building block for polymers because of the biocompatibility of the degradation products and the degradability of the amide or ester bonds by which amino acids are typically polymerized or integrated in copolymers. Early studies on pure poly(amino acids)s revealed significant concerns regarding the materials' immunogenicity and mechanical properties [219]. To improve those unfavorable properties, amino acids have been used as monomeric building blocks in polymers that have a backbone structure different from that of natural peptides. Based on polymer structure and chemistry, four major groups have been used to classify such "nonpeptide amino acid—based polymers": (1) synthetic polymers with amino acid side chains, (2) copolymers of natural amino acids and non—amino acid monomers, (3) block copolymers containing peptide or poly(amino acid) blocks, and (4) pseudopoly(amino acids) such as  $\alpha$ -peptoids [220].

As in tyrosine-derived polycarbonates (discussed in the Polycarbonates section), L-tyrosine is the predominantly employed amino acid in the synthesis of tyrosine-derived polyarylates and polyesters. These copolymers exhibit excellent engineering properties and polymer systems can be designed whose members have exceptional strength (polycarbonates), flexibility and elastomeric behavior (polyarylates), or water solubility and self-assembly properties (copolymers with PEG). Poly(DTE carbonate) (Fig. 33.4K; R: –CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>) exhibits a high degree of tissue compatibility and is being evaluated by the FDA for possible clinical use [219].

A combinatorial library of degradable tyrosine-derived polyarylates was synthesized by copolymerizing 14 different tyrosine-derived diphenols and eight different aliphatic diacids in all possible combinations, resulting in 112 distinct polymers [221]. Significant differences were observed in the mechanical properties of the polymers and fibroblast proliferation assays with these materials. This illustrates that such combinatorial approaches provide a library of related polymers that encompasses a broad range of properties and permits the systematic study of material-dependent biological responses in order to choose a suitable material for a specific application.

Another amino acid that has received interest as a component in synthetic polymers for biomedical purposes is L-lysine. Lysine has been investigated as a component in urethane/urea esters, both as a linear block with a free carboxyl group for functionalization [222] and as a three-armed branching point in which the carboxyl group bears an ester with another amino functionality. Degradation studies of the latter material pointed to oxidative processes having an important role in the degradation of such a material in vivo [223]. Lysine was also employed in block copolymers with PEG and PLA that showed no cytotoxic effect [224], in an allylamine-initiated homopolymer copolymerized with PEG-diacrylate as a hydrogel for nerve regeneration [225] or in a genipin-cross-linked poly(L-lysine) hydrogel for drug delivery, and as a cell culture substrate [226].

In a more general context, the polymerization of amino acids with side chain functionalities yields polymer chains with pendent functional groups that can be used for further functionalization. In addition to lysine and tyrosine, other amino acids have been selected for their side chain functionalities [227], including glutamic acid [228] and

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

L- dihydroxyphenylalanine [229] to influence calcium phosphate mineralization and L-arginine for the synthesis of urethane/urea polymers as biodegradable gene therapy vector [230].

The most common route to generate homopolymers of amino acids or a poly(amino acid) segment in block copolymers uses the ROP of N-carboxy-anhydrides (NCAs) [231,232]. This process yields polymers that are composed of a single amino acid or a random sequence of amino acids when multiple NCAs are reacted simultaneously. Block copolymers can be obtained when NCAs of different amino acids are polymerized in a stepwise manner. An important issue of long chains of these synthetic poly(amino acids) is high immunogenicity [219]. In contrast, solid-phase peptide synthesis, pioneered by Merrifield, and genetic engineering allow for the automated and highly efficient synthesis of peptides of a predefined sequence. Synthetic peptides have become an important polymer class for biomedical applications. Specifically, peptides and peptide-amphiphiles that undergo self-assembly–driven in situ gelation in response to temperature, pH, or chemical stimuli are interesting because these materials can be minimally invasively implanted starting from aqueous solutions [233–235].

Genetically engineered elastin-like polypeptides, which are composed of a pentapeptide repeat and undergo inverse temperature phase transition, have been used to encapsulate chondrocytes. Cell culture studies showed that cartilaginous tissue formation was supported, characterized by the biosynthesis of sulfated glycosaminoglycans and collagen [236].

Self-assembled peptide-amphiphiles form hydrogels composed of nanofibers resembling the native ECM components, with the amphiphiles composed of a peptide with hydrophilic and hydrophobic domains, a hydrophilic peptide attached to a hydrophobic lipid chains, or copolymers composed of the peptide and a hydrophobic component [237]. These hydrogels have been demonstrated to be cytocompatible in cell encapsulation studies [238]. Peptide nanostructures designed through self-assembly strategies and supramolecular chemistry have the potential to combine bioactivity with biocompatibility [239]. In addition, such structures can be used to deliver proteins, nucleic acids, drugs, and cells.

Peptide-amphiphile nanofibers were shown to promote the in vitro proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of marrow stromal cells [240]. For dental tissue engineering, dental stem cells were encapsulated in peptide-amphiphile hydrogels containing adhesion peptides and enzyme-cleavable sites. The cells proliferated and differentiated within the gels and remodeled the matrices [241].

#### Polyanhydrides

Drug delivery technologies rely on engineered polymers that degrade in a well-controllable and adjustable fashion [22]. An increased understanding of erosion mechanisms led to a demand for synthetic polymers that contain a hydrolytically labile backbone while limiting water diffusion within the polymer bulk significantly to confine erosion to the polymer–water interface. Such surface-eroding polymers allow for the fabrication of drug delivery devices that erode at constant velocity at any time during erosion, thus releasing incorporated drugs at constant rates [242]. Polyanhydrides were engineered following this paradigm by selecting the anhydride linkage, one of the least hydrolytically stable chemical bonds available, to connect the building hydrophobic monomers.

Polyanhydrides (Fig. 33.4L) have been synthesized by various techniques, including melt condensation, ROP, interfacial condensation, dehydrochlorination, and dehydrative coupling agents [243]. Solution polymerization traditionally yielded low—molecular weight polymers. Different dicarboxylic acid monomers have been polymerized to yield polyanhydrides with various physicochemical properties. Examples are linear, aromatic, or fatty acid based dicarboxylic acid monomers, and fatty acid—terminated polyanhydrides. Polyanhydrides made from linear sebacic acid (SA) and aromatic 1,3-bis(p-carboxyphenoxy)propane (CPP) (Fig. 33.4L) have been engineered to deliver carmustine (BNCU), an anticancer drug, to sites in the brain after primary resection of a malignant glioma [244]. Poly(SA-CPP) hydrolyzes into nontoxic degradation products and local chemotherapy with BCNU wafers was shown to be tolerated and to offer a survival benefit to patients with newly diagnosed malignant glioma, although this therapy revealed potentially problematic side effects [245,246].

The chemical composition of a polyanhydride can be used to custom-design its degradation properties. Whereas polyanhydrides from linear monomers such as poly(SA) degrade within a few days, polymerized aromatic dicarboxylic acids such as poly(1,6-*bis*[*p*-carboxyphenoxy]hexane) degrade much more slowly (up to a year) [247,248]. Combined with their unique degradation and erosion properties, the structural versatility of polyanhydrides make them precious materials for numerous medical, biomedical, and pharmaceutical applications in which degradable polymers that allow for perfect erosion control are needed [242]. With regard to tissue engineering applications, polyanhydrides have also been interesting polymers owing to their degradative properties and their good biocompatibility [249]. The use of polyanhydrides in load-bearing orthopedic applications, however, is restricted because of their limited mechanical properties. Poly(anhydrides-*co*-imides), which were developed to combine

#### 574

the good mechanical properties of polyimides with the degradative properties of polyanhydrides, were shown to have compressive strengths comparable to human bone [250] and displayed good osteocompatibility [251].

Photopolymerizable polyanhydrides have been synthesized with the objective of combining high strength, controlled degradation, and minimal invasive techniques for orthopedic applications and were shown to be osteocompatible [252]. Depending on the chemical composition, these materials reached compressive and tensile strengths similar to those of cancellous bone [253].

An interesting strategy for the controlled release of bioactive substances has been explored with poly(anhydrideesters). Bioactive substances such as antiinflammatory drugs [254], analgesics [255], and antiseptics [256] have been used as monomers or comonomers for polyanhydrides. Upon polymer degradation, the active substances were released from the polymer bulk in a controlled manner. To guide bone regeneration, salicylic acid—containing, poly(anhydride-ester)-based flexible sheets were investigated as barriers to prevent excessive BMP-2—induced bone formation [257].

#### **Polyphosphazenes**

Polyphosphazenes (Fig. 33.4M), which are polymers containing a high—molecular weight backbone of alternating phosphorus and nitrogen atoms with two organic side groups attached to each phosphorus atom, are a relatively new heterogenic class of biomaterials. Because different synthetic pathways allow for a tremendous variety of derivatives, phosphazene polymers exhibit a diverse spectrum of chemical and physical properties. As a result of this variety, these polymers are suitable for many biomedical applications ranging from templates for nerve regeneration to cardiovascular and dental uses as implantable and controlled-release devices [258–261].

The best-studied and most important route to polyphosphazenes, whose synthesis is generally more involved than that for most petrochemical biomaterials but offers unique flexibility, is macromolecular substitution. A reactive polymeric intermediate, poly(dichlorophosphazene), is typically synthesized by a thermal ring opening cationic polymerization of hexachlorocyclotriphosphazene in bulk at 250°C, which yields a polydisperse high-molecular weight product. The intermediate is reacted with low-molecular weight organic nucleophiles, resulting in stable, substituted polyphosphazenes, which in this case are also addressed as poly(organo)phosphazenes. Depending on the substituent chemistry, the polyphosphazene is more or less susceptible to hydrolysis. Biodegradable hydrophobic polyphosphazenes have been synthesized using imidazolyl, ethylamino, oligopeptides, amino acid esters, and depsipeptide groups (dimers composed of an amino acid and a glycolic or lactic ester) as hydrolysissensitive side groups. Hydrolytic degradation products include the free side group units phosphate and ammonia as a result of backbone degradation [258]. Hydrogel-forming, hydrophilic polyphosphazenes can by synthesized by introducing small, hydrophilic side groups such as glucosyl, glyceryl, or methylamino. Ionic side groups yield polymers that form hydrogels upon ionic complexation with multivalent ions [262]. Hydrophilic, water-soluble polyphosphazenes with amphiphilic side groups such as poly(*bis*[methoxyethoxyethoxy]phosphazene) (Fig. 33.4M,  $R,R': -OCH_2CH_2OCH_2CH_2OCH_3$ ) display an LCST (see the Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) section) and are responsive to changes in temperature and ionic strength [263]. Both hydrophilic and hydrophobic polyphosphazenes have demonstrated potential as biocompatible materials for controlled protein delivery. Ionic polyphosphazenes have been explored as vaccine delivery systems and poly(di[carboxylatophenoxy]phosphazene) has demonstrated remarkable adjuvant activity in the immunogenicity of inactivated influenza virions and commercial trivalent influenza vaccine in the soluble state [258].

Porous scaffolds from biodegradable polyphosphazenes have been shown to be good substrates for osteoblastlike cell attachment and growth with regard to skeletal tissue regeneration [264]. It was also shown that hydroxyapatite deposition was supported by polyphosphazenes with side groups containing antioxidative properties [265]. Tubular polyphosphazene nerve guides were investigated in a rat sciatic nerve defect. After 45 days, a regenerated nerve fiber bundle was found to bridge the nerve stumps in all cases [259].

#### **Biodegradable Cross-linked Polymer Networks**

The chemical cross-linking of individual linear polymer chains results in networks of increased stability. This concept has been extensively explored for applications in regenerative medicine and most likely represents the concept of choice for modern biomaterial research, especially if polymer cross-linking can be conducted inside a tissue defect [266]. The cross-linking of hydrophobic polymers or monomers results in tough polymer networks that can be used for orthopedic fixation. PMMA (Fig. 33.1F), the main component in injectable bone cements, is the most prominent example. Because of their hydrophobicity, the precursors are typically injected as a moldable liquid or paste free of additional solvents. In situ cross-linking can be initiated thermally or photochemically by UV-rich light. Both ways of initiation are also applicable to hydrophilic injectable systems that form highly swollen

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

gels (hydrogels) as a result of precursor cross-linking. In contrast to hydrophobic networks that scarcely swell in the presence of water, injectable hydrogels are characterized by a high water content and diffusivity, which allow for the direct encapsulation of cells and sufficient transport of oxygen, nutrients, and waste. Hydrophobic networks, however, often require the addition of a leachable porogen, such as salt particles, to facilitate cell migration and tissue ingrowth. Generally, injectable polymer systems have considerable advantages over prefabricated implants or tissue engineering scaffolds, which include the ability to fill irregularly shaped defects with minimal surgical intervention [267].

A number of demanding requirements have to be fulfilled by synthetic materials for applications in regenerative medicine. In addition to physicochemical properties that fit the application site, the polymer and any adjuvant component that is required to formulate an in situ cross-linkable system have to be biocompatible. Ideally, the resulting network should also have the ability to support cell growth and proliferation early in the tissue regeneration process [53,266].

The cross-linkable synthetic polymers that will be discussed in the following sections are reactive polyesters. The main chemical functionality involved in the chemical cross-linking mechanisms is the polarized, electron-poor double bond, such as in vinylsulfones and in esters of acrylic acid, methacrylic acid, and fumaric acid. Other chemically or thermally cross-linkable macromonomer functional groups are styryl, coumarin, and phenylazide; these will not be discussed here [268].

#### **Cross-linked Polyesters**

*Fumarate-based polymers*: The development of fumarate-based polyesters for biomedical applications began several decades ago. Fumaric acid is a naturally occurring metabolite found in the tricarboxylate cycle (Krebs cycle); it is composed of a reactive double bond available for chemically cross-linking reactions. These characteristics make fumaric acid a candidate building block for cross-linkable polymers. The first and most comprehensively investigated fumarate-based copolymer is the biodegradable copolyester poly(propylene fumarate) (PPF) (Fig. 33.5A). PPF was first polymerized from fumaric acid and propylene oxide [269]. Mikos and coworkers optimized the synthesis of PPF and broadly investigated the tissue compatibility and applications of PPF both in vitro and in vivo [14]. Synthesis progressed to the copolymerization of fumaryl chloride and 1,2-propanediol (propylene glycol) [270]. It



FIGURE 33.5 Chemical structures of synthetic polymers for the fabrication of cross-linked biodegradable networks.

now involves the transesterification of diethylfumarate with propylene glycol and subsequent polycondensation of the diester intermediate bis(2-hydroxypropyl) fumarate (PF) [271]. A variety of methods to synthesize PPF have been explored; each results in different polymer molecular weights and properties [272]. PPF has been developed as an alternative to PMMA bone cements. PPF can be injected as a viscous liquid and thermally cross-linked in vivo, eliminating the need for direct exposure of the defect site to light. Typically, PPF is cross-linked with either methyl methacrylate or N-vinyl pyrrolidone (NVP) monomers and benzoyl peroxide as a radical initiator [273,274]. Depending on the ratio of initiator, monomer, and PPF, the curing time can be controlled between 1 and 121 min. Compared with PMMA, which is not resorbable and is limited because its high curing temperatures ( $94^{\circ}C$ ) can cause necrosis of the surrounding tissue, the curing temperature of PPF has been shown not to exceed 48°C [275,276]. PPF can also be photocross-linked via the electron-poor double bonds along the backbone. Typical formulations include NVP, diethylfumarate, or PF-diacrylate (PF-DA) as comonomers together with a photoinitiator such as *bis*(2,4,6trimethylbenzoyl) phenylphosphine oxide [277–279]. The mechanical properties of PPF, which depend on the composition, synthesis condition, and cross-linking density, are promising. However, these materials are probably not sufficient for load-bearing applications, especially when used as macroporous scaffolds [267,278,280]. One strategy to strengthen PPF scaffolds further includes the incorporation of nanoparticulate fillers. Reinforced PPF composites have been synthesized using aluminum oxide-based ceramic nanoparticles and chemically modified single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT). For just 0.05 wt% loading with the latter, a 74% increase was recorded for the compressive modulus and a 69% increase for the flexural modulus compared with plain PPF/PF-DA [281]. The chemical integration of alumoxane nanoparticles in cross-linked PPF/PF-DA networks resulted in a significantly increased flexural modulus [282]. Both the PPF/alumoxane nanocomposites and the PPF/SWNT nanocomposites were processed into macroporous tissue engineering scaffolds [283,284] and showed good biocompatibility in vitro [285,286] and in vivo [287,288].

Microparticulate ceramic materials such as  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate ( $\beta$ -TCP) were also employed as an inorganic filler to improve the mechanical properties of composite scaffolds and improve the material's osteoconductivity [289]. The composite scaffolds exhibited increased compressive strengths in the range of 2–30 MPa, and  $\beta$ -TCP reinforcement delayed scaffold disintegration significantly in vivo [290]. Rabbit in vivo studies also revealed the biocompatibility of photocross-linked PPF scaffolds in both soft and hard tissues [291].

PPF hydrolytically degrades at the ester bonds along its backbone. The degradation time depended on the polymer structure as well as other components such as fillers. In vitro studies identified the time needed to reach 20% original mass ranging from around 84 days (PPF/ $\beta$ -TCP composite) to over 200 days (PPF–CaSO<sub>4</sub> composite) [266]. Slow-degrading, porous antibiotic-releasing PPF exhibited properties suitable for craniofacial degradable space maintenance applications [292].

To broaden the application spectrum for in situ cross-linkable PPF, block copolymers with hydrophilic PEG of different compositions were synthesized. Poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) (P[PF-co-EG]) (Fig. 33.5B) was synthesized from PPF and PEG in a transesterification reaction catalyzed by antimony trioxide; propylene glycol was removed by condensation [293]. Behravesh et al. modified the synthesis to yield well-defined ABA-type triblock copolymers from 2 mol monomethoxy-PEG and 1 mol PPF [294]. Generally, P(PF-co-EG) copolymers are hydrophilic polymers with specific properties including crystallinity and mechanical characteristics that depend on the molecular weights of the individual blocks and the copolymer. As a result, platelet attachment to P(PF-co-EG) hydrogels was significantly reduced compared with the PPF homopolymer, which makes these copolymers candidate materials when direct biomaterial-blood contact is inevitable, such as for vascular grafts [295]. Most P(PF-co-EG) copolymers are amphiphiles and soluble in water; this makes them candidate materials for injectable applications. ABA-type copolymers showed thermoreversible properties comparable to other PEG-containing triblock copolymers discussed earlier. The thermogelling properties of P(PF-co-EG) depended on the PEG's molecular weight and salt concentration and the physical gelation temperature could be adjusted to values below body temperature [294]. In addition, the hydrophobic PPF block is highly unsaturated and available for additional chemical cross-linking, which could result in stiff cross-linked networks suitable for fabricating prefabricated cell carriers. In vitro degradation studies of macroporous, cross-linked P(PF-co-EG) scaffolds revealed considerable mass loss and swelling over 12 weeks. In these studies, the degradation rate depended mainly on the content of the PEG-DA cross-linker and was almost unaffected by the construct porosity. Overall, the results indicated a bulk degradation mechanism of the macroporous constructs [296]. In a subcutaneous rat model, P(PF-co-EG) hydrogels demonstrated good initial biocompatibility followed by the development and maturation of a fibrous capsule, which is often seen for polymeric implants [270]. Overall, the reported in vitro cytotoxicity and in vivo biocompatibility assays suggest that P(PF-co-EG) hydrogels have potential for use as injectable biomaterials. Fisher et al. demonstrated the suitability of thermoresponsive P(PF-co-EG) hydrogels for chondrocyte delivery in regenerating articular cartilage defects [297].

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

As previously discussed for stealthy PEG-containing biodegradables, PEG content and the hydrophilicity of cross-linked P(PF-*co*-EG) hydrogels are critical factors affecting cell adhesion [298]. Low-adhesive hydrogels enable a controlled surface or bulk modification with adhesion molecules specifically to enhance cell adhesion. P(PF-*co*-EG) hydrogels have been modified by the covalent integration of agmatine [299] and the adhesion peptide GRGDS [300]. Significantly increased numbers of smooth muscle cells and marrow stromal cells adhered compared with the unmodified networks.

An exclusively hydrophilic fumarate-based macromer is oligo(poly[ethylene glycol] fumarate) (OPF) (Fig. 33.5C). OPF macromers have been synthesized from PEG and fumaryl chloride by a simple condensation reaction in the presence of triethylamine. OPF cross-linking with or without the addition of a cross-linker such as PEG-DA can be initiated photochemically [301] or thermally [302]. In contrast to chemically cross-linked PPF and P(PF-co-EG), both of which form rigid polymer networks with a low water content, cross-linked OPF networks exhibit properties typical of hydrogels. Gel characteristics mainly depended on the molecular weight of PEG and the reactant ratio [301]. Cross-linked OPF hydrogels degrade hydrolytically along the ester bonds between fumaric acid and PEG, resulting in increased polymer swelling and a decreased dry weight. The weight loss of OPF hydrogels depended on their cross-linking density [303]. Studies investigating the mechanical properties revealed that cross-linked OPF hydrogels made from low-molecular weight PEG (1000 Da) swelled less, were stiffer, and elongated less before fracture compared with hydrogels composed of longer PEG chains. OPF hydrogels can also be combined in layers to form biphasic gels, with each phase having different material properties [302]. An in vitro investigation was conducted of the cytotoxicity of each component of OPF hydrogel formulation and the resulting cross-linked network employing marrow stromal cells (MSCs). After 24 h, the MSCs maintained more than 75% viability for OPF concentrations below 25% (w/v). A high-molecular weight (3400 Da) PEG-DA cross-linker demonstrated significantly higher viability compared with lower-molecular weight (575 Da) PEG-DA. Leachable products from cross-linked OPF hydrogels were found to have minimal adverse effects on MSC viability [304]. The in vivo bone and soft tissue compatibility of OPF hydrogels was demonstrated using a rabbit model [303]. Based on these promising biocompatibility data, OPF-based hydrogels were investigated as injectable drug, DNA, and cell delivery devices. Cross-linked OPF hydrogels that encapsulated gelatin microparticles were developed as a means of simultaneously delivering two chondrogenic proteins, insulin-like growth factor-1 and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 [305], a strategy that promoted cartilage regeneration [306]. In a more complex approach involving a bilayered OPF hydrogel and the release of a chondrogenic and an osteogenic growth factor, the materials demonstrated the potential for osteochondral tissue repair [307].

Kasper et al. developed and characterized composites of OPF and cationized gelatin microspheres that released plasmid DNA in a sustained, controlled manner in vivo [308]. To control cell adhesion to the hydrophilic hydrogels, RGD adhesion peptide-modified OPF hydrogels were developed [309]. OPF hydrogels have also been shown to be useful as injectable cell delivery vehicles for bone regeneration. MSCs were directly combined with the OPF hydrogel precursors and encapsulated during thermal cross-linking. In the presence of osteogenic supplements, MSC differentiation in these hydrogels was apparent by day 21. By day 28, mineralized matrix could be seen throughout the hydrogels [310]. Hydrogel properties have been identified as affecting osteogenic differentiation within these systems [311]. Studies focused on combining cell and growth factor delivery using injectable OPF formulations [312].

*Reactive cyclic acetal polymers*: Current synthetic polyesters and polyanhydrides possess distinctive properties and are used extensively in clinical practice. Despite their popularity, the acidic degradation products liberated from the bulk of these polymers raise concerns regarding adverse effects and inflammation of the implantation site. In an effort to develop alternative materials, extensive research is being done to synthesize polymers that biodegrade hydrolytically without releasing pH-affecting moieties. Polymers based on acetals, cyclic acetals, and ketals degrade and form degradation products with hydroxyl, carbonyl, and/or aldehyde groups, depending on the structure of the monomers [313]. These polymers can be used for both soft and hard tissue repair. An example of a cyclic acetal-based building block is 5-ethyl-5-(hydroxymethyl)- $\beta$ , $\beta$ -dimethyl-1, 3-dioxane-2-ethanol (EH).

Relatively simple polymeric cyclic acetal networks can be fabricated by the radical polymerization of diacrylated EH (EHD). The resulting networks are hydrophobic; they do not swell in water and they support osteoprogenitor cell adhesion [314]. Using the traditional salt leaching technique, macroporous biodegradable scaffolds were fabricated that supported myoblast adhesion and proliferation; they were investigated for muscular tissue engineering [315]. Networks with increased hydrophilicity were designed by copolymerizing hydrophilic PEG-DA [316], generating water-swellable EHD/PEG-DA hydrogels that were formulated as an injectable system that allowed cross-linking under cytocompatible conditions and sustained encapsulated osteoprogenitor cells for up to 7 days [317]. Copolymerization with methyl-terminated PEG monoacrylate, on the other hand, resulted in nonswelling biocompatible networks with increased hydrophilicity [318].

Other groups of biomaterials are based on polyacetals and polyketals and have shown potential in drug delivery applications owing to their pH-dependent degradation [313]. The development of alternative synthetic polymers such as those described here is a critical step toward the future success of many tissue engineering and drug delivery applications.

Polymers containing acrylate, methacrylate or vinylsulfone functionalities: Precursors of cross-linked biodegradable polyester networks that bear vinylsulfone, acrylate, or methacrylate functionalities include PEG-DA (Fig. 33.5D), PEG-dimethacrylate (Fig. 33.5E), PEG vinylsulfones, diacrylated PLA-PEG-PLA block copolymers, acrylic modified PVA, methacrylate-modified dextran, and acrylated chitosan [45,99,268]. Because the last two examples are synthetic derivatives of natural macromolecules, they are not discussed further here. Besides such hydrophilic, natural macromolecules, which are considered to be candidate building blocks based on their inherent biocompatibility, PEG is the most prominent synthetic component of cross-linked polymer networks owing to its biocompatibility and inertness. As described earlier, PEG is hydrophilic and does not promote cell adhesion. To improve cell adhesion to cross-linked PEG hydrogels, adhesion peptides containing the tripeptide motif RGD were incorporated [319–321]. Research on engineered hydrogels has focused on mimicking the invasive characteristics of native ECMs by including substrates for matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in addition to integrin-binding sites. PEG hydrogels cross-linked in part by MMP-sensitive linkers were made degradable and invasive for cells via cellsecreted MMPs [322]. Critical-sized defects in rat crania were completely infiltrated by cells and were remodeled into bony tissue within 5 weeks when these gels were loaded with recombinant human BMP-2 and implanted in the defect site. As in natural ECMs that sequester a variety of cellular growth factors and act as a local depot for them, invading cells were presented with a mitogen that, in this case, specifically promoted bone regeneration [323]. The PEG-based hydrogels used in these studies were fabricated by a "click"-type conjugate addition reaction between vinylsulfone-functionalized branched PEG and thiol-bearing peptides under almost physiological conditions.

To enhance the initial mechanical stability and biodegradability of cross-linked PEG-based hydrogels, oligomeric biodegradable lipophilic blocks such as oligo(lactic acid) [324] (Fig. 33.5F) and oligo(caprolactone) [325], were included in the cross-linkable polymeric precursors. In a critical-sized cranial defect model, porous cross-linked scaffolds made from diacrylated poly(ethylene glycol[2]-lactic acid[10]) combined with osteoinductive growth factors showed potential as an in situ—forming synthetic bone graft material [326].

Biodegradable oligomeric macromers containing biodegradable segments were synthesized for hard tissue applications and drug delivery. To enable more flexibility in materials design and the degree of cross-linking, the central hydroxyl-bearing core molecule was changed from a linear diol such as PEG to a trivalent alcohol with different degrees of ethoxylation [327]. Oligomeric biodegradable domains were incorporated by ROP of lactides or caprolactone. Macromer reactivity for cross-linking was introduced by methacrylation of the chain termini. The degree of core ethoxylation as well as the content of lactic acid or caprolactone units per arm controlled the material properties and provided a material platform for different applications. A similar material system with higher molecular weights was developed for ocular drug delivery [328,329]. These macromers contained lactide- and trimethylene carbonate—based degradable domains and were end-functionalized for cross-polymerization with methylfumarate or methacrylate moieties. Acrylated poly(glycerol sebacate) has been used as an effective tissue adhesive [330].

Photopolymerized (meth)acrylated biodegradable hydrogels have been used in a wide range of biomedical applications. As described earlier, limited interactions with proteins are characteristic of hydrophilic surfaces. Consequently, applications such as the use of cross-linked hydrogels as a barrier applied after a tissue injury to improve wound healing or as a cell encapsulation material that immunoisolates transplanted cells capitalize on this property [99,331]. Islets of Langerhans encapsulated in PEG-DA hydrogels and transplanted to develop a bioartificial endocrine pancreas are a prominent example of the latter application. The hydrogels are permeable for nutrients, oxygen, and metabolic products and enable the entrapped islets to survive and secrete insulin that is released by diffusion. Hydrophilic tissue barriers from cross-linked polyesters such as P(EG-*co*-LA) diacrylate have been used to prevent thrombosis and restenosis after vascular injury and postoperative adhesion formation after many abdominal and pelvic surgical procedures.

Cross-linked hydrophilic polyesters are also promising depots for local drug delivery because of their compatibility with hydrophilic macromolecular drugs, such as proteins or oligonucleotides. The materials' tissue compatibility and hemocompatibility even allow for intravascular applications [332]. Drug release from cross-linked hydrogels generally can be well-controlled by adjusting swelling, the cross-link density, and polymer degradation [30,333,334].

Photopolymerized methacrylated polymer networks have also been widely explored for injectable tissue engineering [45,335]. Elisseeff and coworkers employed PEG-DA scaffolds for cartilage engineering by encapsulating

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

chondrocytes, MSCs, and embryonic stem cells. In these studies, the cross-linked PEG-based hydrogels served as an efficient scaffold for anchorage-independent cells and promoted tissue formation. Photogelation, which offers good spatial and temporal control of hydrogel curing, was used to control the spatial organization of different cell types within a three-dimensional system for osteochondral defect regeneration by sequentially polymerizing multiple cell and hydrogel layers. In an attempt to promote hydrogel—tissue integration, a tissue-initiated polymerization technique was developed that uses in situ generated tyrosyl radicals to initiate the photogelation of an injectable macromer solution [336].

Traditionally, photopolymerization is initiated by directly exposing materials to UV or visible light in accessible cavities or during invasive surgery. For PEG-dimethacrylate hydrogels, it was shown that light, which penetrates tissue including skin, can cause photopolymerization indirectly (transdermal photopolymerization). In vivo studies revealed that gels can be polymerized in 3 min with no harm to imbedded chondrocytes and subsequent cartilag-inous tissue formation, as indicated by increasing the glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and collagen contents [337]. In deep crevices, such as may be found in larger orthopedic defects, problems are expected to arise from limited light penetration and inconsistent photopolymerization. For those applications, thermally induced cross-linking techniques appear to be advantageous [266].

Hydrogel-forming macromonomers containing other functionalities: The development of injectable hydrophilic macromonomers that can be cross-copolymerized to hydrogels under physiological conditions using cytocompatible chemistries has become a major focus in biomaterial development. The process started with the development of protocols using photo- or heat-initiated free radical polymerization of hydrophilic, typically PEG-based macromonomers in the presence of cells [266,304]. Over the years, several alternative strategies have been explored employing specific addition reactions [6], classical bioconjugation chemistry, and "click" chemistry [338,339], as well as enzymatic conjugation [340]. Specific examples include the Michael-type addition between thiol groups of designed peptides and multiarm PEG vinylsulfone [341], or the conjugation reaction between amine groups and succinimidyl esters that was used to fabricate transparent PEG-hydrogels for ocular applications from branched PEGsuccinimidyl propionates and bifunctional or multifunctional PEG-amines [342]. A more complex engineering approach was presented for the direct fabrication of biologically functionalized gels with ideal structures that can be photopatterned to generate specific microenvironments in situ, all in the presence of cells [343]. In this approach, an enzymatically degradable peptide macromer was reacted with a multiarm PEG-azide through a copper-free "click" chemistry that allows for the direct encapsulation of cells. Subsequently, biological functionalities, e.g., adhesion peptides, were introduced within the gel by a thiol-ene photocoupling chemistry in real time and with micrometer-scale resolution. Another approach to the design of biodegradable and biofunctional hydrogel hybrids focuses on integrating GAGs to synthetic polymer networks. Multiarmed PEG (star-PEG) was processed to covalent hybrid networks with GAGs, mainly heparin [344,345]. In the design of hydrogels, the importance of controlling degradation properties as well as externally triggered degradation mechanisms has become clear [346,347], in addition to optimizing the base material, in situ polymerization chemistries, and cell-material interactions.

# APPLICATIONS OF SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

Synthetic polymers have a vital role in biomedical applications, including nano-, micro-, and macroscopic drug and gene delivery devices [115,348–350], orthopedic fixation devices [351], and cosmetic and prosthetic implants [98], and as artificial matrices for tissue engineering applications [101]. The interested reader may be directed to the referenced reviews that provide in-depth insight into current trends and technologies. Researchers have sought to develop and clinically explore third-generation biomaterials [1] that are designed to control protein adsorption, cell adhesion and differentiation, implant integration, and foreign body reaction, and to develop biomimetic synthetic materials [4,5,352].

#### CONCLUSION/SUMMARY

Synthetic biomaterials have progressed from testing "off-the-shelf" plastics not developed for biomedical purposes to a field of synergistic research by engineers, scientists, and physicians dedicated to tailoring material properties for specific applications. Current trends have shifted the focus toward biology to understand and then mimic physiological interactions and signaling.

#### REFERENCES

Hydrogels, especially injectable systems, have attracted increasing attention due to the ease of their application, their structural similarity to native ECM, and their good compatibility for direct cell encapsulation because of their high water content. In tissue engineering, it is no longer believed that the biomaterial itself has to provide mechanical properties comparable to the diseased tissue; instead, the polymer has to promote defect site remodeling and tissue regeneration in vivo such that the regenerated tissue is histologically and functionally indistinguishable from the surrounding tissue. Hydrogels might be superior to hydrophobic polymers in that regard, because they can degrade more quickly, which solves the problem of the formation of nonfunctional fibrous tissue on the polymer—tissue interface. Also, hydrogel breakdown can be synchronized with cell proliferation and migration by using an enzymatically cleavable cross-linker.

Besides providing tailored degradative properties, synthetic materials for regenerative medicine should allow for minimally invasive application techniques, integrate well with the surrounding tissue, and promote cell adhesion, migration, and differentiation. The development and thorough characterization of injectable biodegradables provide the foundation for injectable tissue regeneration. Nevertheless, in situ gelation or polymerization concepts will have to be developed and optimized with regard to the cytocompatibility and stability of the resulting construct. The implementation of biomimetic design strategies will enable control and custom-designed cell—biomaterial interactions to guide tissue formation from transplanted cells. Strategies based on gene delivery or gene-activating biomaterials also have great potential in regenerative medicine, but the long-term safety of such therapies remains to be proven. Developments in stem cell biology and conjugation chemistry, such as biorthogonal "click" chemistries, have allowed for the convenient biofunctionalization of the polymeric base structures presented in this chapter with small molecules, peptides, proteins, GAGs, or DNA/RNA toward implant materials with tailored properties and bioactivity. Advances in additive manufacturing provide tools to process such engineered synthetic biomaterials into customized implants with optimized outer shapes and pore structures as well as porosity.

Overall, advances in the field of biomaterial synthesis and the design of physicochemical properties in conjunction with rapidly increasing knowledge in stem cell biology regarding adhesion, migration, differentiation, and signaling will reveal design concepts for improved injectable, biomimetic, polymer-based formulations for tissue engineering applications.

## References

- [1] Hench LL, Polak JM. Third-generation biomedical materials. Science 2002;295:1014-7.
- [2] Ratner BD. A history of biomaterials. In: Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE, editors. Biomaterials science. An introduction to materials in medicine. 2nd ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 2004. p. 10–9.
- [3] Hench LL. Biomaterials. Science 1980;208:826-31.
- [4] Drotleff S, Lungwitz U, Breunig M, Dennis A, Blunk T, Tessmar J, Gopferich A. Biomimetic polymers in pharmaceutical and biomedical sciences. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2004;58:385–407.
- [5] Lutolf MP, Hubbell JA. Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23:47–55.
- [6] Patterson J, Martino MM, Hubbell JA. Biomimetic materials in tissue engineering. Mater Today 2010;13:14–22.
- [7] Saltzman WM, Olbricht WL. Building drug delivery into tissue engineering. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2002;1:177–86.
- [8] Segura T, Shea LD. Surface-tethered DNA complexes for enhanced gene delivery. Bioconjug Chem 2002;13:621-9.
- [9] Tabata Y. Tissue regeneration based on growth factor release. Tissue Eng 2003;9:15.
- [10] Nerem RM. Tissue engineering: the hope, the hype, and the future. Tissue Eng 2006;12:1143–50.
- [11] Reimschuessel HK. General aspects in polymer synthesis. Environ Health Perspect 1975;11.
- [12] Soga K, Shiono T. Ziegler-Natta catalysts for olefin polymerizations. Progr Polymer Sci 1997;22:1503-46.
- Braunecker WA, Matyjaszewski K. Controlled/living radical polymerization: features, developments, and perspectives. Progr Polymer Sci 2007;32:93–146.
- [14] Kasper FK, Tanahashi K, Fisher JP, Mikos AG. Synthesis of poly(propylene fumarate). Nat Protoc 2009;4:518-25.
- [15] Leong KW, Simonte V, Langer R. Synthesis of polyanhydrides: melt-polycondensation, dehydrochlorination, and dehydrative coupling. Macromolecules 1987;20:705–12.
- [16] Król P. Synthesis methods, chemical structures and phase structures of linear polyurethanes. Properties and applications of linear polyurethanes in polyurethane elastomers, copolymers and ionomers. Prog Mater Sci 2007;52:915–1015.
- [17] Albertsson AC, Varma IK. Recent developments in ring opening polymerization of lactones for biomedical applications. Biomacromolecules 2003;4:1466–86.
- [18] Goldberg M, Mahon K, Anderson D. Combinatorial and rational approaches to polymer synthesis for medicine. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2008; 60:971–8.
- [19] Bobyn JD, Mortimer ES, Glassman AH, Engh CA, Miller JE, Brooks CE. Producing and avoiding stress shielding: laboratory and clinical observations of noncemented total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1992:79–96.
- [20] Jacobs JJ, Sumner DR, Galante JO. Mechanisms of bone loss associated with total hip replacement. Orthop Clin North Am 1993;24:583-90.
- [21] Hasegawa M, Sudo A, Shikinami Y, Uchida A. Biological performance of a three-dimensional fabric as artificial cartilage in the repair of large osteochondral defects in rabbit. Biomaterials 1999;20:1969–75.

#### 582

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

- [22] Langer R. New methods of drug delivery. Science 1990;249:1527-33.
- [23] Langer R, Brem H, Tapper D. Biocompatibility of polymeric delivery systems for macromolecules. J Biomed Mater Res 1981;15:267-77.
- [24] Bhatia P, Nangia S, Aggarwal S, Tewari C. Implanon: subdermal single rod contraceptive implant. J Obstet Gynaecol India 2011;61:422–5.
- [25] Wagner MS, Arias RD, Nucatola DL. The combined etonogestrel/ethinyl estradiol contraceptive vaginal ring. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2007;8:1769–77.
- [26] Choonara YE, Pillay V, Danckwerts MP, Carmichael TR, Du Toit LC. A review of implantable intravitreal drug delivery technologies for the treatment of posterior segment eye diseases. J Pharm Sci 2010;99:2219–39.
- [27] Xue L, Greisler HP. Biomaterials in the development and future of vascular grafts. J Vasc Surg 2003;37:472-80.
- [28] Langer RS, Peppas NA. Present and future applications of biomaterials in controlled drug delivery systems. Biomaterials 1981;2:201–14.
- [29] Lloyd AW, Faragher RGA, Denyer SP. Ocular biomaterials and implants. Biomaterials 2001;22:769-85.
- [30] Peppas NA, Bures P, Leobandung W, Ichikawa H. Hydrogels in pharmaceutical formulations. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2000;50:27-46.
- [31] Mosbach K, Ramstrom O. The emerging technique of molecular imprinting and its future impact on biotechnology. Nat Biotechnol 1996;14: 163-70.
- [32] Tunc Y, Hasirci N, Yesilada A, Ulubayram K. Comonomer effects on binding performances and morphology of acrylate-based imprinted polymers. Polymer 2006;47:6931–40.
- [33] Ulbricht M. Advanced functional polymer membranes. Polymer 2006;47:2217-62.
- [34] Byrne ME, Park K, Peppas NA. Molecular imprinting within hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:149-61.
- [35] Saha S, Pal S. Mechanical properties of bone cement: a review. J Biomed Mater Res 1984;18:435-62.
- [36] Kenny SM, Buggy M. Bone cements and fillers: a review. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2003;14:923-38.
- [37] Hendriks JGE, van Horn JR, van der Mei HC, Busscher HJ. Backgrounds of antibiotic-loaded bone cement and prosthesis-related infection. Biomaterials 2004;25:545–56.
- [38] Yaszemski MJ, Payne RG, Hayes WC, Langer R, Mikos AG. In vitro degradation of a poly(propylene fumarate)-based composite material. Biomaterials 1996;17:2127–30.
- [39] Wichterle O, Lim D. Hydrophilic gels for biological use. Nature 1960;185:117-8.
- [40] Lu S, Anseth KS. Photopolymerization of multilaminated poly(HEMA) hydrogels for controlled release. J Control Release 1999;57:291–300.
- [41] Mack EJ, Okano T, Kim SW. Biomedical applications of poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) and its copolymers. In: Peppas N, editor. Hydrogels in medicine and pharmacy, vol. II. Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press; 1987. p. 65–93.
- [42] Young CD, Wu JR, Tsou TL. Fabrication and characteristics of polyHEMA artificial skin with improved tensile properties. J Membr Sci 1998; 146:83–93.
- [43] Chirila TV, Constable IJ, Crawford GJ, Vijayasekaran S, Thompson DE, Chen YC, Fletcher WA, et al. Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) sponges as implant materials: in vivo and in vitro evaluation of cellular invasion. Biomaterials 1993;14:26–38.
- [44] Song J, Saiz E, Bertozzi CR. A new approach to mineralization of biocompatible hydrogel scaffolds: an efficient process toward 3-dimensional bonelike composites. J Am Chem Soc 2003;125:1236–43.
- [45] Hoffman AS. Hydrogels for biomedical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:3-12.
- [46] Schild HG. Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide): experiment, theory and application. Progr Polymer Sci 1992;17:163–249.
- [47] Schild HG, Tirrell DA. Microcalorimetric detection of lower critical solution temperatures in aqueous polymer solutions. J Phys Chem 1990; 94:4352–6.
- [48] Morikawa N, Matsuda T. Thermoresponsive artificial extracellular matrix: N-isopropylacrylamide-graft-copolymerized gelatin. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2002;13:167–83.
- [49] Ohya S, Nakayama Y, Matsuda T. Thermoresponsive artificial extracellular matrix for tissue engineering: hyaluronic acid bioconjugated with poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) grafts. Biomacromolecules 2001;2:856–63.
- [50] Stile RA, Burghardt WR, Healy KE. Synthesis and characterization of injectable poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-based hydrogels that support tissue formation in vitro. Macromolecules 1999;32:7370–9.
- [51] Ibusuki S, Fujii Y, Iwamoto Y, Matsuda T. Tissue-engineered cartilage using an injectable and in situ gelable thermoresponsive gelatin: fabrication and in vitro performance. Tissue Eng 2003;9:371–84.
- [52] Ibusuki S, Iwamoto Y, Matsuda T. System-engineered cartilage using poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-grafted gelatin as in situ-formable scaffold: in vivo performance. Tissue Eng 2003;9:1133–42.
- [53] Hacker MC, Nawaz HA. Multi-functional macromers for hydrogel design in biomedical engineering and regenerative medicine. Int J Mol Sci 2015;16:27677-706.
- [54] Guan J, Hong Y, Ma Z, Wagner WR. Protein-reactive, thermoresponsive copolymers with high flexibility and biodegradability. Biomacromolecules 2008;9:1283–92.
- [55] Hacker MC, Klouda L, Ma BB, Kretlow JD, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of injectable, thermally and chemically gelable, amphiphilic poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-based macromers. Biomacromolecules 2008;9:1558–70.
- [56] Klouda L, Hacker MC, Kretlow JD, Mikos AG. Cytocompatibility evaluation of amphiphilic, thermally responsive and chemically crosslinkable macromers for in situ forming hydrogels. Biomaterials 2009;30:4558–66.
- [57] Kretlow JD, Hacker MC, Klouda L, Ma BB, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of dual stimuli responsive macromers based on poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) and poly(vinylphosphonic acid). Biomacromolecules 2010;11:797–805.
- [58] Loth T, Hennig R, Kascholke C, Hötzel R, Hacker MC. Reactive and stimuli-responsive maleic anhydride containing macromers multifunctional cross-linkers and building blocks for hydrogel fabrication. React Funct Polym 2013;73:1480–92.
- [59] Loth T, Hötzel R, Kascholke C, Anderegg U, Schulz-Siegmund M, Hacker MC. Gelatin-based biomaterial engineering with anhydridecontaining oligomeric cross-linkers. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:2104–18.
- [60] Kohn C, Klemens JM, Kascholke C, Murthy NS, Kohn J, Brandenburger M, Hacker MC. Dual-component collagenous peptide/reactive oligomer hydrogels as potential nerve guidance materials - from characterization to functionalization. Biomater Sci 2016;4:1605–21.
- [61] Ekenseair AK, Boere KWM, Tzouanas SN, Vo TN, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of thermally and chemically gelling injectable hydrogels for tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 2012;13:1908–15.

- [62] Ekenseair AK, Boere KWM, Tzouanas SN, Vo TN, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Structure-property evaluation of thermally and chemically gelling injectable hydrogels for tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 2012;13:2821–30.
- [63] Vo TN, Ekenseair AK, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Synthesis, physicochemical characterization, and cytocompatibility of bioresorbable, dual-gelling injectable hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:132–42.
- [64] Vo TN, Ekenseair AK, Spicer PP, Watson BM, Tzouanas SN, Roh TT, Mikos AG. In vitro and in vivo evaluation of self-mineralization and biocompatibility of injectable, dual-gelling hydrogels for bone tissue engineering. J Control Release 2015;205:25–34.
- [65] Watson BM, Kasper FK, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of injectable, biodegradable, phosphate-containing, chemically cross-linkable, thermoresponsive macromers for bone tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:1788–96.
- [66] Watson BM, Vo TN, Tatara AM, Shah SR, Scott DW, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Biodegradable, phosphate-containing, dual-gelling macromers for cellular delivery in bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2015;67:286–96.
- [67] Spitzer M, Sabadini E, Loh W. Poly(ethylene glycol) or poly(ethylene oxide)?: magnitude of end-group contribution to the partitioning of ethylene oxide oligomers and polymers between water and organic phases. J Braz Chem Soc 2002;13:7–9.
- [68] Pasut G, Veronese FM. Polymer-drug conjugation, recent achievements and general strategies. Progr Polymer Sci 2007;32:933-61.
- [69] Jeong B, Bae YH, Lee DS, Kim SW. Biodegradable block copolymers as injectable drug-delivery systems. Nature 1997;388:860–2.
- [70] Elbert DL, Hubbell JA. Surface treatments of polymers for biocompatibility. Annu Rev Mater Sci 1996;26:365-94.
- [71] Gref R, Minamitake Y, Peracchia MT, Trubetskoy V, Torchilin V, Langer R. Biodegradable long-circulating polymeric nanospheres. Science 1994;263:1600–3.
- [72] Gref R, Minamitake Y, Peracchia MT, Domb A, Trubetskoy V, Torchilin V, Langer R. Poly(ethylene glycol)-coated nanospheres: potential carriers for intravenous drug administration. Pharm Biotechnol 1997;10:167–98.
- [73] Gref R, Luck M, Quellec P, Marchand M, Dellacherie E, Harnisch S, Blunk T, et al. 'Stealth' corona-core nanoparticles surface modified by polyethylene glycol (PEG): influences of the corona (PEG chain length and surface density) and of the core composition on phagocytic uptake and plasma protein adsorption. Colloids Surf B 2000;18:301–13.
- [74] Vonarbourg A, Passirani C, Saulnier P, Benoit JP. Parameters influencing the stealthiness of colloidal drug delivery systems. Biomaterials 2006;27:4356–73.
- [75] Harris JM, Chess RB. Effect of pegylation on pharmaceuticals. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2003;2:214-21.
- [76] Roberts MJ, Bentley MD, Harris JM. Chemistry for peptide and protein PEGylation. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:459-76.
- [77] Ruel-Gariepy E, Leroux JC. In situ-forming hydrogels-review of temperature-sensitive systems. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2004;58:409-26.
- [78] Jeong B, Kim SW, Bae YH. Thermosensitive sol-gel reversible hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:37–51.
- [79] Calderon M, Quadir MA, Sharma SK, Haag R. Dendritic polyglycerols for biomedical applications. Adv Mater 2010;22:190-218.
- [80] Schömer M, Schüll C, Frey H. Hyperbranched aliphatic polyether polyols. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 2013;51:995–1019.
- [81] Thomas A, Muller SS, Frey H. Beyond poly(ethylene glycol): linear polyglycerol as a multifunctional polyether for biomedical and pharmaceutical applications. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:1935–54.
- [82] Colas A, Curtis J. Silicone biomaterials: history and chemistry. In: Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE, editors. Biomaterials science. An introduction to materials in medicine. 2nd ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 2004. p. 80–6.
- [83] Silverman BG, Brown SL, Bright RA, Kaczmarek RG, rrowsmith-Lowe JB, Kessler DA. Reported complications of silicone gel breast implants: an epidemiologic review. Ann Intern Med 1996;124:744–56.
- [84] Aladily TN, Medeiros LJ, Amin MB, Haideri N, Ye D, Azevedo SJ, Jorgensen JL, et al. Anaplastic large cell lymphoma associated with breast implants: a report of 13 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 2012;36:1000–8.
- [85] Lewin SL, Miller TA. A review of epidemiologic studies analyzing the relationship between breast implants and connective tissue diseases. Plast Reconstr Surg 1997;100:1309–13.
- [86] Sanchez-Guerrero J, Colditz GA, Karlson EW, Hunter DJ, Speizer FE, Liang MH. Silicone breast implants and the risk of connective-tissue diseases and symptoms. N Engl J Med 1995;332:1666–70.
- [87] Arepalli SR, Bezabeh S, Brown SL. Allergic reaction to platinum in silicone breast implants. J Long Term Eff Med Implants 2002;12:299-306.
- [88] Brook MA. Platinum in silicone breast implants. Biomaterials 2006;27:3274–86.
- [89] Miranda RN, Aladily TN, Prince HM, Kanagal-Shamanna R, de JD, Fayad Le, Amin MB, et al. Breast implant–associated anaplastic largecell lymphoma: long-term follow-up of 60 patients. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:114–20.
- [90] Boretos JW, Pierce WS. Segmented polyurethane: a new elastomer for biomedical applications. Science 1967;158:1481-2.
- [91] Gunatillake PA, Martin DJ, Meijs GF, McCarthy SJ, Adhikari R. Designing biostable polyurethane elastomers for biomedical implants. Aust J Chem 2003;56:545–57.
- [92] Fromstein JD, Woodhouse KA. Polyurethane biomaterials. New York: Marcel Dekker; 2006.
- [93] Gogolewski S. Selected topics in biomedical polyurethanes. A review. Colloid Polym Sci 1989;267:757-85.
- [94] Howard GT. Biodegradation of polyurethane: a review. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 2002;49:245-52.
- [95] Santerre JP, Woodhouse K, Laroche G, Labow RS. Understanding the biodegradation of polyurethanes: from classical implants to tissue engineering materials. Biomaterials 2005;26:7457–70.
- [96] Stokes K, Mcvenes R, Anderson JM. Polyurethane elastomer biostability. J Biomater Appl 1995;9:321-54.
- [97] Lin HB, Sun W, Mosher DF, Garcia-Echeverria C, Schaufelberger K, Lelkes PI, Cooper SL. Synthesis, surface, and cell-adhesion properties of polyurethanes containing covalently grafted RGD-peptides. J Biomed Mater Res 1994;28:329–42.
- [98] Behravesh E, Yasko AW, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Synthetic biodegradable polymers for orthopaedic applications. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1999: S118–29.
- [99] Nguyen KT, West JL. Photopolymerizable hydrogels for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2002;23:4307–14.
- [100] Salgado AJ, Coutinho OP, Reis RL. Bone tissue engineering: state of the art and future trends. Macromol Biosci 2004;4:743-65.
- [101] Seal BL, Otero TC, Panitch A. Polymeric biomaterials for tissue and organ regeneration. Mater Sci Eng R Rep 2001;34:147-230.
- [102] Ozdil D, Aydin HM. Polymers for medical and tissue engineering applications. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2014;89:1793–810.
- [103] Lee EJ, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Biomaterials for tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 2014;42:323–37.
- [104] Gunatillake PA, Adhikari R. Biodegradable synthetic polymers for tissue engineering. Eur Cell Mater 2003;5:1–16.
- [105] Middleton JC, Tipton AJ. Synthetic biodegradable polymers as orthopedic devices. Biomaterials 2000;21:2335-46.

#### 584

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

- [106] Freed LE, Vunjak NG, Biron RJ, Eagles DB, Lesnoy DC, Barlow SK, Langer R. Biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. Bio Technol 1994;12:689–93.
- [107] Amecke B, Bendix D, Entenmann G. Resorbable polyesters: composition, properties, applications. Clin Mater 1992;10:47-50.
- [108] Heller J. Biodegradable polymers in controlled drug delivery. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 1984;1:39-90.
- [109] Hubbell JA. Biomaterials in tissue engineering. Bio Technol 1995;13:565–76.
- [110] Webb AR, Yang J, Ameer GA. Biodegradable polyester elastomers in tissue engineering. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2004;4:801–12.
- [111] Gupta AP, Kumar V. New emerging trends in synthetic biodegradable polymers polylactide: a critique. Eur Polym J 2007;43:4053-74.
- [112] Hu Y, Daoud WA, Cheuk KKL, Lin CSK. Newly developed techniques on polycondensation, ring-opening polymerization and polymer modification: focus on poly(lactic acid). Materials 2016;9:133.
- [113] Cutright DE, Beasley III JD, Perez B. Histologic comparison of polylactic and polyglycolic acid sutures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1971; 32:165–73.
- [114] Juni K, Nakano M. Poly(hydroxy acids) in drug delivery. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 1987;3:209-32.
- [115] Brannon-Peppas L. Recent advances on the use of biodegradable microparticles and nanoparticles in controlled drug delivery. Int J Pharm 1995;116:1–9.
- [116] Jain RA. The manufacturing techniques of various drug loaded biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices. Biomaterials 2000; 21:2475–90.
- [117] Anderson JM, Shive MS. Biodegradation and biocompatibility of PLA and PLGA microspheres. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012;64(Suppl.):72-82.
- [118] Pavot V, Berthet M, Resseguier J, Legaz S, Handke N, Gilbert SC, Paul S, et al. Poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) particles as versatile Carrier platforms for vaccine delivery. Nanomedicine 2014;9:2703–18.
- [119] Eglin D, Alini M. Degradable polymeric materials for osteosynthesis. Tutorial eCM 2008;16:80-91.
- [120] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260:920-6.
- [121] Goepferich A. Polymer degradation and erosion. Mechanisms and applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 1996;42:1-11.
- [122] Reed AM, Gilding DK. Biodegradable polymers for use in surgery poly(glycolic)/poly(Iactic acid) homo and copolymers: 2. In vitro degradation. Polymer 1981;22:494–8.
- [123] Miller RA, Brady JM, Cutright DE. Degradation rates of oral resorbable implants (polylactates and polyglycolates): rate modification with changes in PLA/PGA copolymer ratios. J Biomed Mater Res 1977;11:711–9.
- [124] Gilding DK, Reed AM. Biodegradable polymers for use in surgery-polyglycolic/poly(actic acid) homo- and copolymers: 1. Polymer 1979; 20:1459–64.
- [125] Sawhney AS, Hubbell JA. Rapidly degraded terpolymers of dl-lactide, glycolide, and epsilon-caprolactone with increased hydrophilicity by copolymerization with polyethers. J Biomed Mater Res 1990;24:1397–411.
- [126] Li S. Hydrolytic degradation characteristics of aliphatic polyesters derived from lactic and glycolic acids. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;48: 342–53.
- [127] Athanasiou KA, Niederauer GG, Agrawal CM. Sterilization, toxicity, biocompatibility and clinical applications of polylactic acid/polyglycolic acid copolymers. Biomaterials 1996;17:93–102.
- [128] Brunner A, Mader K, Gopferich A. pH and osmotic pressure inside biodegradable microspheres during erosion. Pharm Res 1999;16:847-53.
- [129] Lucke A, Kiermaier J, Gopferich A. Peptide acylation by poly(alpha-hydroxy esters). Pharm Res 2002;19:175-81.
- [130] Houchin ML, Topp EM. Chemical degradation of peptides and proteins in PLGA: a review of reactions and mechanisms. J Pharm Sci 2008; 97:2395–404.
- [131] Simon JA, Ricci JL, Di Cesare PE. Bioresorbable fracture fixation in orthopedics: a comprehensive review. Part I. Basic science and preclinical studies. Am J Orthop 1997;26:665–71.
- [132] Simon JA, Ricci JL, Di Cesare PE. Bioresorbable fracture fixation in orthopedics: a comprehensive review. Part II. Clinical studies. Am J Orthop 1997;26:754–62.
- [133] Ramot Y, Haim-Zada M, Domb AJ, Nyska A. Biocompatibility and safety of PLA and its copolymers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2016;107:153-62.
- [134] Xia Z, Triffitt JT. A review on macrophage responses to biomaterials. Biomed Mater 2006;1:R1-9.
- [135] Bartus C, William HC, Daro-Kaftan E. A decade of experience with injectable poly-L-lactic acid: a focus on safety. Dermatol Surg 2013;39: 698–705.
- [136] Freed LE, Langer R, Martin I, Pellis NR, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Tissue engineering of cartilage in space. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94: 13885–90.
- [137] Mooney DJ, Mikos AG. Growing new organs. Sci Am 1999;280:60-5.
- [138] Agrawal CM, Athanasiou KA. Technique to control pH in vicinity of biodegrading PLA-PGA implants. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;38:105-14.
- [139] Hutmacher DW. Scaffolds in tissue engineering bone and cartilage. Biomaterials 2000;21:2529-43.
- [140] Gentile P, Chiono V, Carmagnola I, Hatton PV. An overview of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA)-based biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 2014;15:3640–59.
- [141] Bouillot P, Petit A, Dellacherie E. Protein encapsulation in biodegradable amphiphilic microspheres. I. Polymer synthesis and characterization and microsphere elaboration. J Appl Polym Sci 1998;68:1695–702.
- [142] Kutikov AB, Song J. Biodegradable PEG-based amphiphilic block copolymers for tissue engineering applications. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering 2015;1:463–80.
- [143] Bazile D, Prud'homme C, Bassoullet MT, Marlard M, Spenlehauer G, Veillard M. Stealth Me.PEG-PLA nanoparticles avoid uptake by the mononuclear phagocytes system. J Pharm Sci 1995;84:493–8.
- [144] Lieb E, Tessmar J, Hacker M, Fischbach C, Rose D, Blunk T, Mikos AG, et al. Poly(D,L-lactic acid)-Poly(ethylene glycol)-Monomethyl ether diblock copolymers control adhesion and osteoblastic differentiation of marrow stromal cells. Tissue Eng 2003;9:71–84.
- [145] Cannizzaro SM, Padera RF, Langer R, Rogers RA, Black FE, Davies MC, Tendler SJ, et al. A novel biotinylated degradable polymer for cell-interactive applications. Biotechnol Bioeng 1998;58:529–35.
- [146] Tessmar J, Mikos A, Gopferich A. The use of poly(ethylene glycol)-block-poly(lactic acid) derived copolymers for the rapid creation of biomimetic surfaces. Biomaterials 2003;24:4475–86.

#### REFERENCES

- [147] Hacker M, Tessmar J, Neubauer M, Blaimer A, Blunk T, Gopferich A, Schulz MB. Towards biomimetic scaffolds: Anhydrous scaffold fabrication from biodegradable amine-reactive diblock copolymers. Biomaterials 2003;24:4459–73.
- [148] Alexander A, Ajazuddin. Khan J, Saraf S. Poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) based thermosensitive injectable hydrogels for biomedical applications. Journal of controlled release official journal of the Controlled Release Society 2013;172:715–29.
- [149] Zhang K, Tang X, Zhang J, Lu W, Lin X, Zhang Y, Tian B, et al. PEG-PLGA copolymers: their structure and structure-influenced drug delivery applications. Journal of controlled release official journal of the Controlled Release Society 2014;183:77–86.
- [150] Tessmar JK, Göpferich AM. Customized PEG-derived copolymers for tissue-engineering applications. Macromol Biosci 2007;7:23–39.
- [151] Becker JM, Pounder RJ, Dove AP. Synthesis of poly(lactide)s with modified thermal and mechanical properties. Macromol Rapid Commun 2010;31:1923–37.
- [152] Yu Y, Zou J, Cheng C. Synthesis and biomedical applications of functional poly(α-hydroxyl acid)s. Polym Chem 2014;5:5854–72.
- [153] Baker G, Vogel E, Smith M. Glass transitions in polylactides. Polymer Revs 2008;48:64–84.
- [154] Asmus LR, Gurny R, Möller M. Solutions as solutions—synthesis and use of a liquid polyester excipient to dissolve lipophilic drugs and formulate sustained-release parenterals. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2011;79:584—91.
- [155] Veurink M, Mangioris G, Kaufmann B, Asmus L, Hennig M, Heiligenhaus A, Gurny R, et al. Development of an intravitreal peptide (BQ123) sustained release system based on poly(2-hydroxyoctanoic acid) aiming at a retinal vasodilator response. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 2014;30: 517–23.
- [156] Veurink M, Asmus L, Hennig M, Kaufmann B, Bagnewski L, Heiligenhaus A, Mendrinos E, et al. Design and in vitro assessment of L-lactic acid-based copolymers as prodrug and Carrier for intravitreal sustained L-lactate release to reverse retinal arteriolar occlusions. Eur J Pharm Sci 2013;49:233–40.
- [157] Woodruff MA, Hutmacher DW. The return of a forgotten polymer–Polycaprolactone in the 21st century. Progr Polymer Sci 2010;35:1217–56.
- [158] Matsuda T, Nagase J, Ghoda A, Hirano Y, Kidoaki S, Nakayama Y. Phosphorylcholine-endcapped oligomer and block co-oligomer and surface biological reactivity. Biomaterials 2003;24:4517–27.
- [159] Lecomte P, Jérôme C. Recent developments in ring-opening polymerization of lactones. In: Rieger B, Amann M, editors. Synthetic biodegradable polymers. Berlin: Springer; 2012. p. 173–217.
- [160] Cerrai P, Guerra GD, Lelli L, Tricoli M, Sbarbati Del Guerra R, Cascone MG, Giusti P. Poly(ester-ether-ester) block copolymers as biomaterials. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1994;5:33–9.
- [161] Petrova T, Manolova N, Rashkov I, Li S, Vert M. Synthesis and characterization of poly(oxyethylene)-poly(caprolactone) multiblock copolymers. Polym Int 1998;45:419–26.
- [162] Pitt CG, Jeffcoat AR, Zweidinger RA, Schindler A. Sustained drug delivery systems. I. The permeability of poly(epsilon-caprolactone), poly(DL-lactic acid), and their copolymers. J Biomed Mater Res 1979;13:497–507.
- [163] Pitt GG, Gratzl MM, Kimmel GL, Surles J, Sohindler A. Aliphatic polyesters II. The degradation of poly (DL-lactide), poly ([var epsilon]caprolactone), and their copolymers in vivo. Biomaterials 1981;2:215–20.
- [164] Rodriguez FJ, Gomez N, Perego G, Navarro X. Highly permeable polylactide-caprolactone nerve guides enhance peripheral nerve regeneration through long gaps. Biomaterials 1999;20:1489–500.
- [165] Sinha VR, Bansal K, Kaushik R, Kumria R, Trehan A. Poly-[epsilon]-caprolactone microspheres and nanospheres: an overview. Int J Pharm 2004;278:1–23.
- [166] Pham QP, Sharma U, Mikos AG. Electrospun poly(ε-caprolactone) microfiber and multilayer nanofiber/microfiber scaffolds: characterization of scaffolds and measurement of cellular infiltration. Biomacromolecules 2006;7:2796–805.
- [167] Yoshimoto H, Shin YM, Terai H, Vacanti JP. A biodegradable nanofiber scaffold by electrospinning and its potential for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2003;24:2077–82.
- [168] Wang H, Dong JH, Qiu KY, Gu ZW. Synthesis of poly(1,4-dioxan-2-one-co-trimethylene carbonate) for application in drug delivery systems. J Polym Sci A 1998;36:1301–7.
- [169] Yang KK, Li XL, Wang YZ. Poly(p-dioxanone) and its copolymers. J Macromol Sci Poly R 2002;42:373-98.
- [170] Goonoo N, Jeetah R, Bhaw-Luximon A, Jhurry D. Polydioxanone-based bio-materials for tissue engineering and drug/gene delivery applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2015;97:371–91.
- [171] Hazer DB, Kılıçay E, Hazer B. Poly(3-hydroxyalkanoate)s: diversification and biomedical applications: a state of the art review. Mater Sci Eng C 2012;32:637–47.
- [172] Carpentier JF. Discrete metal catalysts for stereoselective ring-opening polymerization of chiral racemic beta-lactones. Macromol Rapid Commun 2010;31:1696–705.
- [173] Zhang H, Grinstaff MW. Recent advances in glycerol polymers: chemistry and biomedical applications. Macromol Rapid Commun 2014;35: 1906–24.
- [174] Tran RT, Yang J, Ameer GA. Citrate-based biomaterials and their applications in regenerative engineering. Annu Rev Mater Res 2015;45: 277–310.
- [175] Jacquel N, Freyermouth F, Fenouillot F, Rousseau A, Pascault JP, Fuertes P, Saint-Loup R. Synthesis and properties of poly(butylene succinate): efficiency of different transesterification catalysts. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 2011;49:5301–12.
- [176] Azim H, Dekhterman A, Jiang Z, Gross RA. Candida Antarctica lipase B-catalyzed synthesis of poly(butylene succinate): shorter chain building blocks also work. Biomacromolecules 2006;7:3093-7.
- [177] Wang Y, Ameer GA, Sheppard BJ, Langer R. A tough biodegradable elastomer. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20:602-6.
- [178] Yang J, Webb AR, Ameer GA. Novel citric acid-based biodegradable elastomers for tissue engineering. Adv Mater 2004;16:511-6.
- [179] Yang J, Webb AR, Pickerill SJ, Hageman G, Ameer GA. Synthesis and evaluation of poly(diol citrate) biodegradable elastomers. Biomaterials 2006;27:1889–98.
- [180] Motlagh D, Allen J, Hoshi R, Yang J, Lui K, Ameer G. Hemocompatibility evaluation of poly(diol citrate) in vitro for vascular tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2007;82:907–16.
- [181] Zhao H, Ameer GA. Modulating the mechanical properties of poly(diol citrates) via the incorporation of a second type of crosslink network. J Appl Polym Sci 2009;114:1464–70.
#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

- [182] Rai R, Tallawi M, Grigore A, Boccaccini AR. Synthesis, properties and biomedical applications of poly(glycerol sebacate) (PGS): a review. Progr Polymer Sci 2012;37:1051–78.
- [183] Chen QZ, Ishii H, Thouas GA, Lyon AR, Wright JS, Blaker JJ, Chrzanowski W, et al. An elastomeric patch derived from poly(glycerol sebacate) for delivery of embryonic stem cells to the heart. Biomaterials 2010;31:3885–93.
- [184] Weiss VM, Naolou T, Hause G, Kuntsche J, Kressler J, Mader K. Poly(glycerol adipate)-fatty acid esters as versatile nanocarriers: from nanocubes over ellipsoids to nanospheres. J Control Release 2012;158:156–64.
- [185] Díaz A, Katsarava R, Puiggalí J. Synthesis, properties and applications of biodegradable polymers derived from diols and dicarboxylic acids: from polyesters to poly(ester amide)s. Int J Mol Sci 2014;15:7064–123.
- [186] Gigli M, Fabbri M, Lotti N, Gamberini R, Rimini B, Munari A. Poly(butylene succinate)-based polyesters for biomedical applications: a review. Eur Polym J 2016;75:431–60.
- [187] Alves da Silva ML, Crawford A, Mundy JM, Correlo VM, Sol P, Bhattacharya M, Hatton PV, et al. Chitosan/polyester-based scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering: assessment of extracellular matrix formation. Acta Biomater 2010;6:1149–57.
- [188] Wang H, Ji J, Zhang W, Zhang Y, Jiang J, Wu Z, Pu S, et al. Biocompatibility and bioactivity of plasma-treated biodegradable poly(butylene succinate). Acta Biomater 2009;5:279–87.
- [189] Heller J, Barr J, Ng SY, Abdellauoi KS, Gurny R. Poly(ortho esters): synthesis, characterization, properties and uses. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:1015–39.
- [190] Burkersroda F, Schedl L, Gopferich A. Why degradable polymers undergo surface erosion or bulk erosion. Biomaterials 2002;23:4221–31.
- [191] Ng SY, Vandamme T, Taylor MS, Heller J. Synthesis and erosion studies of self-catalyzed poly(ortho ester)s. Macromolecules 1997;30:770-2.
- [192] Andriano KP, Tabata Y, Ikada Y, Heller J. In vitro and in vivo comparison of bulk and surface hydrolysis in absorbable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;48:602–12.
- [193] Solheim E, Sudmann B, Bang G, Sudmann E. Biocompatibility and effect on osteogenesis of poly(ortho ester) compared to poly(DL-lactic acid). J Biomed Mater Res 2000;49:257–63.
- [194] Tangpasuthadol V, Pendharkar SM, Kohn J. Hydrolytic degradation of tyrosine-derived polycarbonates, a class of new biomaterials. Part I: study of model compounds. Biomaterials 2000;21:2371–8.
- [195] Fukushima K. Poly(trimethylene carbonate)-based polymers engineered for biodegradable functional biomaterials. Biomater Sci 2016;4: 9–24.
- [196] Pastusiak M, Dobrzynski P, Kasperczyk J, Smola A, Janeczek H. Synthesis of biodegradable high molecular weight polycarbonates from 1,3-trimethylene carbonate and 2,2-dimethyltrimethylene carbonate. J Appl Polym Sci 2014;131 [n/a-n/a].
- [197] Hu X, Chen X, Liu S, Shi Q, Jing X. Novel aliphatic poly(ester-carbonate) with pendant allyl ester groups and its folic acid functionalization. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 2008;46:1852–61.
- [198] Tempelaar S, Mespouille L, Coulembier O, Dubois P, Dove AP. Synthesis and post-polymerisation modifications of aliphatic poly(carbonate) s prepared by ring-opening polymerisation. Chem Soc Rev 2013;42:1312–36.
- [199] Lee ALZ, Ng VWL, Gao S, Hedrick JL, Yang YY. Injectable biodegradable hydrogels from vitamin D-functionalized polycarbonates for the delivery of avastin with enhanced therapeutic efficiency against metastatic colorectal cancer. Biomacromolecules 2015;16:465–75.
- [200] Chin W, Yang C, Ng VWL, Huang Y, Cheng J, Tong YW, Coady DJ, et al. Biodegradable broad-spectrum antimicrobial polycarbonates: investigating the role of chemical structure on activity and selectivity. Macromolecules 2013;46:8797–807.
- [201] Ng VWL, Tan JPK, Leong J, Voo ZX, Hedrick JL, Yang YY. Antimicrobial polycarbonates: investigating the impact of nitrogen-containing heterocycles as quaternizing agents. Macromolecules 2014;47:1285–91.
- [202] Kohn J, Langer R. Poly(iminocarbonates) as potential biomaterials. Biomaterials 1986;7:176-82.
- [203] Pulapura S, Kohn J. Tyrosine-derived polycarbonates: backbone-modified 'pseudo'-poly(amino acids) designed for biomedical applications. Biopolymers 1992;32:411–7.
- [204] Engelberg I, Kohn J. Physico-mechanical properties of degradable polymers used in medical applications: a comparative study. Biomaterials 1991;12:292–304.
- [205] Choueka J, Charvet JL, Koval KJ, Alexander H, James KS, Hooper KA, Kohn J. Canine bone response to tyrosine-derived polycarbonates and poly(L-lactic acid). J Biomed Mater Res 1996;31:35–41.
- [206] Magno MHR, Kim J, Srinivasan A, McBride S, Bolikal D, Darr A, Hollinger JO, et al. Synthesis, degradation and biocompatibility of tyrosinederived polycarbonate scaffolds. J Mater Chem 2010;20:8885.
- [207] Kim J, McBride S, Donovan A, Darr A, Magno MHR, Hollinger JO. Tyrosine-derived polycarbonate scaffolds for bone regeneration in a rabbit radius critical-size defect model. Biomed Mater 2015;10:35001.
- [208] Lewitus DY, Smith KL, Shain W, Bolikal D, Kohn J. The fate of ultrafast degrading polymeric implants in the brain. Biomaterials 2011;32: 5543–50.
- [209] Lee DS, Shim MS, Kim SW, Lee H, Park I, Chang T. Novel thermoreversible gelation of biodegradable PLGA-block-PEO-block-PLGA triblock copolymers in aqueous solution. Macromol Rapid Commun 2001;22:587–92.
- [210] Kissel T, Li Y, Unger F. ABA-triblock copolymers from biodegradable polyester A-blocks and hydrophilic poly(ethylene oxide) B-blocks as a candidate for in situ forming hydrogel delivery systems for proteins. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:99–134.
- [211] Skarja GA, Woodhouse KA. Synthesis and characterization of degradable polyurethane elastomers containing and amino acid-based chain extender. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1998;9:271–95.
- [212] Saad B, Hirt TD, Welti M, Uhlschmid GK, Neuenschwander P, Suter UW. Development of degradable polyesterurethanes for medical applications: in vitro and in vivo evaluations. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;36:65–74.
- [213] Ganta SR, Piesco NP, Long P, Gassner R, Motta LF, Papworth GD, Stolz DB, et al. Vascularization and tissue infiltration of a biodegradable polyurethane matrix. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;64:242–8.
- [214] Zhang J, Doll BA, Beckman EJ, Hollinger JO. A biodegradable polyurethane-ascorbic acid scaffold for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res a 2003;67:389–400.
- [215] Hong Y, Guan J, Fujimoto KL, Hashizume R, Pelinescu AL, Wagner WR. Tailoring the degradation kinetics of poly(ester carbonate urethane) urea thermoplastic elastomers for tissue engineering scaffolds. Biomaterials 2010;31:4249–58.

#### REFERENCES

- [216] Wang F, Li Z, Lannutti JL, Wagner WR, Guan J. Synthesis, characterization and surface modification of low moduli poly(ether carbonate urethane)ureas for soft tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2009;5:2901–12.
- [217] Fang J, Ye SH, Shankarraman V, Huang Y, Mo X, Wagner WR. Biodegradable poly(ester urethane)urea elastomers with variable amino content for subsequent functionalization with phosphorylcholine. Acta Biomater 2014;10:4639–49.
- [218] Fu HL, Hong Y, Little SR, Wagner WR. Collagenase-labile polyurethane urea synthesis and processing into hollow fiber membranes. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:2924–32.
- [219] Bourke SL, Kohn J. Polymers derived from the amino acid -tyrosine: polycarbonates, polyarylates and copolymers with poly(ethylene glycol). Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2003;55:447–66.
- [220] Secker C, Brosnan SM, Luxenhofer R, Schlaad H. Poly(alpha-Peptoid)s revisited: synthesis, properties, and use as biomaterial. Macromol Biosci 2015;15:881–91.
- [221] Brocchini S. Combinatorial chemistry and biomedical polymer development. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2001;53:123-30.
- [222] Yin J, Wildeman J, Loontjens T. Lysine-based functional blocked isocyanates for the preparation of polyurethanes provided with pendant side groups. J Polym Sci Part a: Polym Chem 2015;53:2036–49.
- [223] Hafeman AE, Zienkiewicz KJ, Zachman AL, Sung H-J, Nanney LB, Davidson JM, Guelcher SA. Characterization of the degradation mechanisms of lysine-derived aliphatic poly(ester urethane) scaffolds. Biomaterials 2011;32:419–29.
- [224] Zhu M-Q, Xiang L, Yang K, Shen L-J, Long F, Fan J-B, Yi H-Q, et al. Synthesis and characterization of biodegradable amphiphilic triblock copolymers methoxy-poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly(L-lysine)-b-poly(L-lactic acid). J Polym Res 2012;19.
- [225] Cai L, Lu J, Sheen V, Wang S. Promoting nerve cell functions on hydrogels grafted with poly(L-lysine). Biomacromolecules 2012;13:342-9.
- [226] Wang SSS, Hsieh P-L, Chen P-S, Chen Y-T, Jan J-S. Genipin-cross-linked poly(L-lysine)-based hydrogels: synthesis, characterization, and drug encapsulation. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2013;111:423–31.
- [227] Huang J, Heise A. Stimuli responsive synthetic polypeptides derived from N-carboxyanhydride (NCA) polymerisation. Chem Soc Rev 2013; 42:7373–90.
- [228] Sugino A, Miyazaki T, Ohtsuki C. Apatite-forming ability of polyglutamic acid hydrogels in a body-simulating environment. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2008;19:2269–74.
- [229] Wu C, Han P, Liu X, Xu M, Tian T, Chang J, Xiao Y. Mussel-inspired bioceramics with self-assembled Ca-P/polydopamine composite nanolayer: preparation, formation mechanism, improved cellular bioactivity and osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells. Acta Biomater 2014;10:428–38.
- [230] Memanishvili T, Zavradashvili N, Kupatadze N, Tugushi D, Gverdtsiteli M, Torchilin VP, Wandrey C, et al. Arginine-based biodegradable ether-ester polymers with low cytotoxicity as potential gene carriers. Biomacromolecules 2014;15:2839–48.
- [231] Kricheldorf HR. Polypeptide und 100 Jahre Chemie der α-Aminosäure-N-carboxyanhydride. Angew Chem 2006;118:5884–917.
- [232] Habraken GJ, Heise A, Thornton PD. Block copolypeptides prepared by N-carboxyanhydride ring-opening polymerization. Macromol Rapid Commun 2012;33:272–86.
- [233] Hartgerink JD, Beniash E, Stupp SI. Self-assembly and mineralization of peptide-amphiphile nanofibers. Science 2001;294:1684-8.
- [234] Meyer DE, Chilkoti A. Purification of recombinant proteins by fusion with thermally-responsive polypeptides. Nat Biotech 1999;17:1112–5.
   [235] Stupp SI, LeBonheur V, Walker K, Li LS, Huggins KE, Keser M, Amstutz A. Supramolecular materials: self-organized nanostructures.
- Science 1997;276:384–9.
   [236] Betre H, Setton LA, Meyer DE, Chilkoti A. Characterization of a genetically engineered elastin-like polypeptide for cartilaginous tissue repair. Biomacromolecules 2002;3:910–6.
- [237] Dehsorkhi A, Castelletto V, Hamley IW. Self-assembling amphiphilic peptides. J Pept Sci 2014;20:453-67.
- [238] Beniash E, Hartgerink JD, Storrie H, Stendahl JC, Stupp SI. Self-assembling peptide amphiphile nanofiber matrices for cell entrapment. Acta Biomater 2005;1:387–97.
- [239] Webber MJ, Kessler JA, Stupp SI. Emerging peptide nanomedicine to regenerate tissues and organs. J Intern Med 2010;267:71-88.
- [240] Hosseinkhani H, Hosseinkhani M, Tian F, Kobayashi H, Tabata Y. Osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in self-assembled peptide-amphiphile nanofibers. Biomaterials 2006;27:4079–86.
- [241] Galler KM, Cavender A, Yuwono V, Dong H, Shi S, Schmalz G, Hartgerink JD, et al. Self-assembling peptide amphiphile nanofibers as a scaffold for dental stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14:2051–8.
- [242] Gopferich A, Tessmar J. Polyanhydride degradation and erosion. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:911-31.
- [243] Kumar N, Langer RS, Domb AJ. Polyanhydrides: an overview. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:889-910.
- [244] Westphal M, Hilt DC, Bortey E, Delavault P, Olivares R, Warnke PC, Whittle IR, et al. A phase 3 trial of local chemotherapy with biodegradable carmustine (BCNU) wafers (Gliadel wafers) in patients with primary malignant glioma. Neuro Oncol 2003;5:79–88.
- [245] Bregy A, Shah AH, Diaz MV, Pierce HE, Ames PL, Diaz D, Komotar RJ. The role of Gliadel wafers in the treatment of high-grade gliomas. Expet Rev Anticancer Ther 2013;13:1453–61.
- [246] Xing W-k, Shao C, Qi Z-y, Yang C, Wang Z. The role of Gliadel wafers in the treatment of newly diagnosed GBM: a meta-analysis. Drug Design Dev Ther 2015;9:3341–8.
- [247] Temenoff JS, Mikos AG. Review: tissue engineering for regeneration of articular cartilage. Biomaterials 2000;21:431-40.
- [248] Dong A-J, Zhang J-W, Jiang K, Deng L-D. Characterization and in vitro degradation of poly(octadecanoic anhydride). J Mater Sci Mater Med 2008;19:39–46.
- [249] Katti DS, Lakshmi S, Langer R, Laurencin CT. Toxicity, biodegradation and elimination of polyanhydrides. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54: 933–61.
- [250] Uhrich KE, Gupta A, Thomas TT, Laurencin CT, Langer R. Synthesis and characterization of degradable poly(anhydride-co-imides). Macromolecules 1995;28:2184–93.
- [251] Ibim SEM, Uhrich KE, Attawia M, Shastri VR, El-Amin SF, Bronson R, Langer R, et al. Preliminary in vivo report on the osteocompatibility of poly(anhydride- co-imides) evaluated in a tibial model. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;43:374–9.
- [252] Anseth KS, Shastri VR, Langer R. Photopolymerizable degradable polyanhydrides with osteocompatibility. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17:156-9.
- [253] Muggli DS, Burkoth AK, Anseth KS. Crosslinked polyanhydrides for use in orthopedic applications: degradation behavior and mechanics. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;46:271–8.

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

- [254] Bryers JD, Jarvis RA, Lebo J, Prudencio A, Kyriakides TR, Uhrich K. Biodegradation of poly(anhydride-esters) into non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and their effect on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms in vitro and on the foreign-body response in vivo. Biomaterials 2006;27:5039–48.
- [255] Rosario-Meléndez R, Harris CL, Delgado-Rivera R, Yu L, Uhrich KE. PolyMorphine: an innovative biodegradable polymer drug for extended pain relief. J Control Release 2012;162:538–44.
- [256] Schmeltzer RC, Uhrich KE. Synthesis and characterization of antiseptic-based poly(anhydride-esters). Poly Bull 2006;57:281–91.
- [257] Subramanian S, Mitchell A, Yu W, Snyder S, Uhrich K, O'Connor JP. Salicylic acid-based polymers for guided bone regeneration using bone morphogenetic Protein-2. Tissue Engineering Part A 2015;21:2013–24.
- [258] Andrianov AK, Payne LG. Protein release from polyphosphazene matrices. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1998;31:185-96.
- [259] Langone F, Lora S, Veronese FM, Caliceti P, Parnigotto PP, Valenti F, Palma G. Peripheral nerve repair using a poly(organo)phosphazene tubular prosthesis. Biomaterials 1995;16:347–53.
- [260] Schacht E, Vandorpe J, Dejardin S, Lemmouchi Y, Seymour L. Biomedical applications of degradable polyphosphazenes. Biotechnol Bioeng 1996;52:102–8.
- [261] Baillargeon AL, Mequanint K. Biodegradable polyphosphazene biomaterials for tissue engineering and delivery of therapeutics. BioMed Res Int 2014;2014:761373.
- [262] Allcock HR, Kwon S. Ionically cross-linkable polyphosphazene: poly[bis(carboxylatophenoxy)phosphazene] and its hydrogels and membranes. Macromolecules 1989;22:75–9.
- [263] Lee SB. A new class of biodegradable thermosensitive polymers. 2. hydrolytic properties and salt effect on the lower critical solution temperature of poly(organophosphazenes) with methoxypoly(ethylene glycol) and amino acid esters as side groups. Macromolecules 1999;32: 7820–7.
- [264] Laurencin CT, El-Amin SF, Ibim SE, Willoughby DA, Attawia M, Allcock HR, Ambrosio AA. A highly porous 3-dimensional polyphosphazene polymer matrix for skeletal tissue regeneration. J Biomed Mater Res 1996;30:133–8.
- [265] Morozowich NL, Nichol JL, Allcock HR. Investigation of apatite mineralization on antioxidant polyphosphazenes for bone tissue engineering. Chem Mater 2012;24:3500–9.
- [266] Temenoff JS, Mikos AG. Injectable biodegradable materials for orthopedic tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2000;21:2405–12.
- [267] Peter SJ, Miller MJ, Yasko AW, Yaszemski MJ, Mikos AG. Polymer concepts in tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;43:422-7.
- [268] Hou QP, de BPA, Shakesheff KM. Injectable scaffolds for tissue regeneration. J Mater Chem 2004;14:1915–23.
- [269] Domb AJ, Laurencin CT, Israeli O, Gerhart TN, Langer R. Formation of propylene fumarate oligomers for use in bioerodible bone cement composites. J Polym Sci A 1990;28:973–85.
- [270] Peter SJ, Suggs LJ, Yaszemski MJ, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Synthesis of poly(propylene fumarate) by acylation of propylene glycol in the presence of a proton scavenger. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1999;10:363–73.
- [271] Shung AK, Behravesh E, Jo S, Mikos AG. Crosslinking characteristics of and cell adhesion to an injectable poly(propylene fumarate-coethylene glycol) hydrogel using a water-soluble crosslinking system. Tissue Eng 2003;9:243–54.
- [272] Peter SJ, Miller MJ, Yaszemski MJ, Mikos AG. Poly(propylene fumarate). In: Domb A, Kost J, Wiseman D, editors. Handbook of biodegradable polymers. Amsterdam: Harwood Academic; 1997. p. 87–97.
- [273] Frazier DD, Lathi VK, Gerhart TN, Hayes WC. Ex vivo degradation of a poly(propylene glycol-fumarate) biodegradable particulate composite bone cement. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;35:383–9.
- [274] Gresser JD, Hsu SH, Nagaoka H, Lyons CM, Nieratko DP, Wise DL, Barabino GA, et al. Analysis of a vinyl pyrrolidone/poly(propylene fumarate) resorbable bone cement. J Biomed Mater Res 1995;29:1241–7.
- [275] Peter SJ, Nolley JA, Widmer MS, Merwin JE, Yaszemski MJ, Yasko AW, Engel PS, et al. In vitro degradation of a poly(propylene fumarate)/ [beta]-tricalcium phosphate composite orthopaedic scaffold. Tissue Eng 1997;3:207–15.
- [276] Peter SJ, Kim P, Yasko AW, Yaszemski MJ, Mikos AG. Crosslinking characteristics of an injectable poly(propylene fumarate)/beta-tricalcium phosphate paste and mechanical properties of the crosslinked composite for use as a biodegradable bone cement. J Biomed Mater Res 1999; 44:314–21.
- [277] Fisher JP, Holland TA, Dean D, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Synthesis and properties of photocross-linked poly(propylene fumarate) scaffolds. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2001;12:673–87.
- [278] Fisher JP, Dean D, Mikos AG. Photocrosslinking characteristics and mechanical properties of diethyl fumarate/poly(propylene fumarate) biomaterials. Biomaterials 2002;23:4333–43.
- [279] He S, Timmer MD, Yaszemski MJ, Yasko AW, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Synthesis of biodegradable poly(propylene fumarate) networks with poly(propylene fumarate)-diacrylate macromers as crosslinking agents and characterization of their degradation products. Polymer 2001;42:1251–60.
- [280] Timmer MD, Ambrose CG, Mikos AG. Evaluation of thermal- and photo-crosslinked biodegradable poly(propylene fumarate)-based networks. J Biomed Mater Res a 2003;66:811–8.
- [281] Shi X, Hudson JL, Spicer PP, Tour JM, Krishnamoorti R, Mikos AG. Rheological behaviour and mechanical characterization of injectable poly(propylene fumarate)/single-walled carbon nanotube composites for bone tissue engineering. Nanotechnology 2005;16:S531–8.
- [282] Horch RA, Shahid N, Mistry AS, Timmer MD, Mikos AG, Barron AR. Nanoreinforcement of poly(propylene fumarate)-based networks with surface modified alumoxane nanoparticles for bone tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 2004;5:1990–8.
- [283] Mistry AS, Cheng SH, Yeh T, Christenson E, Jansen JA, Mikos AG. Fabrication and in vitro degradation of porous fumarate-based polymer/ alumoxane nanocomposite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2009;89:68–79.
- [284] Shi X, Sitharaman B, Pham QP, Liang F, Wu K, Edward Billups W, Wilson LJ, et al. Fabrication of porous ultra-short single-walled carbon nanotube nanocomposite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2007;28:4078–90.
- [285] Mistry AS, Mikos AG, Jansen JA. Degradation and biocompatibility of a poly(propylene fumarate)-based/alumoxane nanocomposite for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2007;83:940-53.
- [286] Shi X, Sitharaman B, Pham QP, Spicer PP, Hudson JL, Wilson LJ, Tour JM, et al. In vitro cytotoxicity of single-walled carbon nanotube/biodegradable polymer nanocomposites. J Biomed Mater Res A 2008;86:813–23.

588

#### REFERENCES

- [287] Mistry AS, Pham QP, Schouten C, Yeh T, Christenson EM, Mikos AG, Jansen JA. In vivo bone biocompatibility and degradation of porous fumarate-based polymer/alumoxane nanocomposites for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010;92:451–62.
- [288] Sitharaman B, Shi X, Walboomers XF, Liao H, Cuijpers V, Wilson LJ, Mikos AG, et al. In vivo biocompatibility of ultra-short single-walled carbon nanotube/biodegradable polymer nanocomposites for bone tissue engineering. Bone 2008;43:362–70.
- [289] Peter SJ, Lu L, Kim DJ, Mikos AG. Marrow stromal osteoblast function on a poly(propylene fumarate)/[beta]-tricalcium phosphate biodegradable orthopaedic composite. Biomaterials 2000;21:1207–13.
- [290] Peter SJ, Miller ST, Zhu G, Yasko AW, Mikos AG. In vivo degradation of a poly(propylene fumarate)/beta-tricalcium phosphate injectable composite scaffold. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;41:1–7.
- [291] Fisher JP, Vehof JWM, Dean D, van der Waerden JP, Holland TA, Mikos AG, Jansen JA. Soft and hard tissue response to photocrosslinked poly(propylene fumarate) scaffolds in a rabbit model. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;59:547–56.
- [292] Henslee AM, Shah SR, Wong ME, Mikos AG, Kasper FK. Degradable, antibiotic releasing poly(propylene fumarate)-based constructs for craniofacial space maintenance applications. J Biomed Mater Res A 2015;103:1485–97.
- [293] Suggs LJ, Payne RG, Yaszemski MJ, Alemany LB, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of a block copolymer consisting of poly(propylene fumarate) and poly(ethylene glycol). Macromolecules 1997;30:4318–23.
- [294] Behravesh E, Shung AK, Jo S, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of triblock copolymers of methoxy poly(ethylene glycol) and poly(propylene fumarate). Biomacromolecules 2002;3:153–8.
- [295] Suggs LJ, West JL, Mikos AG. Platelet adhesion on a bioresorbable poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) copolymer. Biomaterials 1999;20:683–90.
- [296] Behravesh E, Timmer MD, Lemoine JJ, Liebschner MAK, Mikos AG. Evaluation of the in vitro degradation of macroporous hydrogels using gravimetry, confined compression testing, and microcomputed tomography. Biomacromolecules 2002;3:1263–70.
- [297] Fisher JP, Jo S, Mikos AG, Reddi AH. Thermoreversible hydrogel scaffolds for articular cartilage engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2004;71: 268–74.
- [298] Tanahashi K, Mikos AG. Cell adhesion on poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;62:558-66.
- [299] Tanahashi K, Mikos AG. Protein adsorption and smooth muscle cell adhesion on biodegradable agmatine-modified poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;67:448–57.
- [300] Behravesh E, Zygourakis K, Mikos AG. Adhesion and migration of marrow-derived osteoblasts on injectable in situ crosslinkable poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol)-based hydrogels with a covalently linked RGDS peptide. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;65:260–70.
- [301] Jo S, Shin H, Shung AK, Fisher JP, Mikos AG. Synthesis and characterization of oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) macromer. Macromolecules 2001;34:2839–44.
- [302] Temenoff JS, Athanasiou KA, LeBaron RG, Mikos AG. Effect of poly(ethylene glycol) molecular weight on tensile and swelling properties of oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;59:429–37.
- [303] Shin H, Quinten Ruhé P, Mikos AG, Jansen JA. In vivo bone and soft tissue response to injectable, biodegradable oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogels. Biomaterials 2003;24:3201–11.
- [304] Shin H, Temenoff JS, Mikos AG. In vitro cytotoxicity of unsaturated oligo[poly(ethylene glycol)fumarate] macromers and their cross-linked hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 2003;4:552–60.
- [305] Holland TA, Tabata Y, Mikos AG. Dual growth factor delivery from degradable oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogel scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. J Control Release 2005;101:111–25.
- [306] Holland TA, Bodde EWH, Baggett LS, Tabata Y, Mikos AG, Jansen JA. Osteochondral repair in the rabbit model utilizing bilayered, degradable oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogel scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res A 2005;75:156–67.
- [307] Lu S, Lam J, Trachtenberg JE, Lee EJ, Seyednejad H, van den Beucken JJJP, Tabata Y, et al. Dual growth factor delivery from bilayered, biodegradable hydrogel composites for spatially-guided osteochondral tissue repair. Biomaterials 2014;35:8829–39.
- [308] Kasper FK, Seidlits SK, Tang A, Crowther RS, Carney DH, Barry MA, Mikos AG. In vitro release of plasmid DNA from oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogels. J Control Release 2005;104:521–39.
- [309] Shin H, Jo S, Mikos AG. Modulation of marrow stromal osteoblast adhesion on biomimetic oligo[poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate] hydrogels modified with Arg-Gly-Asp peptides and a poly(ethyleneglycol) spacer. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;61:169–79.
- [310] Temenoff JS, Park H, Jabbari E, Conway DE, Sheffield TL, Ambrose CG, Mikos AG. Thermally cross-linked oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogels support osteogenic differentiation of encapsulated marrow stromal cells in vitro. Biomacromolecules 2004;5:5–10.
- [311] Temenoff JS, Park H, Jabbari E, Sheffield TL, LeBaron RG, Ambrose CG, Mikos AG. In vitro osteogenic differentiation of marrow stromal cells encapsulated in biodegradable hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res A 2004;70:235–44.
- [312] Park H, Temenoff JS, Holland TA, Tabata Y, Mikos AG. Delivery of TGF-[beta]1 and chondrocytes via injectable, biodegradable hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2005;26:7095–103.
- [313] Falco EE, Patel M, Fisher JP. Recent developments in cyclic acetal biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. Pharm Res 2008;25: 2348–56.
- [314] Moreau JL, Kesselman D, Fisher JP. Synthesis and properties of cyclic acetal biomaterials. J Biomed Mater Res 2007;81:594-602.
- [315] Falco EE, Roth JS, Fisher JPEH. Networks as a scaffold for skeletal muscle regeneration in abdominal wall hernia repair. J Surg Res 2008;149: 76–83.
- [316] Kaihara S, Matsumura S, Fisher JP. Synthesis and characterization of cyclic acetal based degradable hydrogels. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2008; 68:67–73.
- [317] Betz MW, Modi PC, Caccamese JF, Coletti DP, Sauk JJ, Fisher JP. Cyclic acetal hydrogel system for bone marrow stromal cell encapsulation and osteodifferentiation. J Biomed Mater Res A 2008;86:662–70.
- [318] Yin R, Zhang N, Wu W, Wang K. Poly(ethylene glycol)-grafted cyclic acetals based polymer networks with non-water-swellable, biodegradable and surface hydrophilic properties. Mater Sci Eng C 2016;62:137–43.
- [319] Burdick JA, Anseth KS. Photoencapsulation of osteoblasts in injectable RGD-modified PEG hydrogels for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2002;23:4315–23.
- [320] Gonzalez AL, Gobin AS, West JL, McIntire LV, Smith CW. Integrin interactions with immobilized peptides in polyethylene glycol diacrylate hydrogels. Tissue Eng 2004;10:1775–86.

#### 33. SYNTHETIC POLYMERS

- [321] Hern DL, Hubbell JA. Incorporation of adhesion peptides into nonadhesive hydrogels useful for tissue resurfacing. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;39:266–76.
- [322] Lutolf MP, Lauer-Fields JL, Schmoekel HG, Metters AT, Weber FE, Fields GB, Hubbell JA. Synthetic matrix metalloproteinase-sensitive hydrogels for the conduction of tissue regeneration: engineering cell-invasion characteristics. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:5413–8.

[323] Lutolf MP, Weber FE, Schmoekel HG, Schense JC, Kohler T, Muller R, Hubbell JA. Repair of bone defects using synthetic mimetics of collagenous extracellular matrices. Nat Biotechnol 2003;21:513–8.

- [324] Burdick JA, Philpott LM, Anseth KS. Synthesis and characterization of tetrafunctional lactic acid oligomers: a potential in situ forming degradable orthopaedic biomaterial. J Polym Sci A 2001;39:683–92.
- [325] Davis KA, Burdick JA, Anseth KS. Photoinitiated crosslinked degradable copolymer networks for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2003;24:2485–95.
- [326] Burdick JA, Frankel D, Dernell WS, Anseth KS. An initial investigation of photocurable three-dimensional lactic acid based scaffolds in a critical-sized cranial defect. Biomaterials 2003;24:1613–20.
- [327] Loth R, Loth T, Schwabe K, Bernhardt R, Schulz-Siegmund M, Hacker MC. Highly adjustable biomaterial networks from three-armed biodegradable macromers. Acta Biomater 2015;26:82–96.
- [328] Jansen J, Koopmans SA, Los LI, van der Worp RJ, Podt JG, Hooymans JMM, Feijen J, et al. Intraocular degradation behavior of crosslinked and linear poly(trimethylene carbonate) and poly(D,L-lactic acid). Biomaterials 2011;32:4994–5002.
- [329] Jansen J, Boerakker MJ, Heuts J, Feijen J, Grijpma DW. Rapid photo-crosslinking of fumaric acid monoethyl ester-functionalized poly(trimethylene carbonate) oligomers for drug delivery applications. J Control Release 2010;147:54–61.
- [330] Mahdavi A, Ferreira L, Sundback C, Nichol JW, Chan EP, Carter DJ, Bettinger CJ, et al. A biodegradable and biocompatible gecko-inspired tissue adhesive. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:2307–12.
- [331] Cruise GM, Hegre OD, Lamberti FV, Hager SR, Hill R, Scharp DS, Hubbell JA. In vitro and in vivo performance of porcine islets encapsulated in interfacially photopolymerized poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate membranes. Cell Transpl 1999;8:293–306.
- [332] An Y, Hubbell JA. Intraarterial protein delivery via intimally-adherent bilayer hydrogels. J Control Release 2000;64:205–15.
- [333] Davis KA, Anseth KS. Controlled release from crosslinked degradable networks. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 2002;19:385-423.
- [334] Peppas NA, Keys KB, Torres-Lugo M, Lowman AM. Poly(ethylene glycol)-containing hydrogels in drug delivery. J Control Release 1999;62: 81–7.
- [335] Varghese S, Elisseeff J. Hydrogels for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. Adv Polym Sci 2006;203:95–144.
- [336] Wang D, Williams CG, Yang F, Elisseeff JH. Enhancing the tissue-biomaterial interface: tissue-initiated integration of biomaterials. Adv Funct Mater 2004;14:1152–9.
- [337] Elisseeff J, Anseth K, Sims D, McIntosh W, Randolph M, Langer R. Transdermal photopolymerization for minimally invasive implantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:3104–7.
- [338] Lutz J-F, Börner HG. Modern trends in polymer bioconjugates design. Progr Polymer Sci 2008;33:1–39.
- [339] van Dijk M, Rijkers DTS, Liskamp RMJ, van Nostrum CF, Hennink WE. Synthesis and applications of biomedical and pharmaceutical polymers via click chemistry methodologies. Bioconjug Chem 2009;20:2001–16.
- [340] Liu SQ, Tay R, Khan M, Rachel Ee PL, Hedrick JL, Yang YY. Synthetic hydrogels for controlled stem cell differentiation. Soft Matter 2009;6: 67–81.
- [341] Lutolf MP, Hubbell JA. Synthesis and physicochemical characterization of end-linked poly(ethylene glycol)-co-peptide hydrogels formed by Michael-type addition. Biomacromolecules 2003;4:713–22.
- [342] Brandl F, Henke M, Rothschenk S, Gschwind R, Breunig M, Blunk T, Tessmar J, et al. Poly(ethylene glycol) based hydrogels for intraocular applications. Adv Eng Mater 2007;9:1141–9.
- [343] Deforest CA, Polizzotti BD, Anseth KS. Sequential click reactions for synthesizing and patterning three-dimensional cell microenvironments. Nat Mater 2009;8:659–64.
- [344] Freudenberg U, Liang Y, Kiick KL, Werner C. Glycosaminoglycan-based biohybrid hydrogels: a sweet and smart choice for multifunctional biomaterials. Adv Mater 2016;28:8861–91.
- [345] Freudenberg U, Hermann A, Welzel PB, Stirl K, Schwarz SC, Grimmer M, Zieris A, et al. A star-PEG-heparin hydrogel platform to aid cell replacement therapies for neurodegenerative diseases. Biomaterials 2009;30:5049–60.
- [346] Kharkar PM, Kiick KL, Kloxin AM. Designing degradable hydrogels for orthogonal control of cell microenvironments. Chem Soc Rev 2013; 42:7335–72.
- [347] Kharkar PM, Kiick KL, Kloxin AM. Design of thiol- and light-sensitive degradable hydrogels using Michael-type addition reactions. Polym Chem 2015;6:5565–74.
- [348] Hubbell JA. Synthetic biodegradable polymers for tissue engineering and drug delivery. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 1998;3:246–51.
- [349] Panyam J, Labhasetwar V. Biodegradable nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to cells and tissue. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2003;55:329-47.
- [350] Uhrich KE, Cannizzaro SM, Langer RS, Shakesheff KM. Polymeric systems for controlled drug release. Chem Rev 1999;99:3181–98.
- [351] Bostman O, Pihlajamaki H. Clinical biocompatibility of biodegradable orthopaedic implants for internal fixation: a review. Biomaterials 2000;21:2615–21.
- [352] Shin H, Jo S, Mikos AG. Biomimetic materials for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2003;24:4353-64.

# Calcium Phosphate Bioceramics and Cements

Nathan W. Kucko<sup>1,2</sup>, Ralf-Peter Herber<sup>2</sup>, Sander C.G. Leeuwenburgh<sup>1</sup>, John A. Jansen<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Radboudumc, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Cam Bioceramics BV, Leiden, The Netherlands

# INTRODUCTION

With ever-increasing growth in the world's population and average life expectancy, chronic bone disorders such as osteoporosis have become more prevalent, resulting in nearly nine million bone fractures annually worldwide [1]. This development, coupled with the high prevalence of bone fractures caused by trauma, has created the need to develop novel therapies and strategies to treat fractures and augment other bone defects more efficiently and cost-effectively. Conventional approaches to overcoming these complications have involved the use of bone autografts and allografts, which provide the implant site with natural osteogenic growth and some structural support [2]. These standard treatment options have had relative success and are considered the reference standard in treatment, but several shortcomings associated with them have prompted clinicians to seek alternative strategies [3,4].

For example, the application of autografts is limited by the size of the implant site and the viability of the host tissue [4]. Furthermore, the graft will often be resorbed by the body before osteogenesis is fully complete for large bone defect sites. This phenomenon is attributed to the unpredictable bone resorption characteristics of the grafts [5,6]. Autografting also requires surgeons to harvest donor tissue, which is relatively scarce and requires a secondary procedure that increases the operating time and overall cost. In addition, this procedure runs the risk of donor-site morbidity, which can include long-lasting pain, infection, nerve damage, and hematoma once the donor graft is removed [3,4,7]. A major limiting factor of allografts relates to the immune response that is triggered by the introduction of a foreign tissue into the body. When using allografts, surgeons run the risk that the tissue may be rejected by the body and initiate an inflammatory response, resulting in complete resorption of the graft [3,7]. Transmission of disease and/or infection is also possible and is capable of causing partial or complete loss of the bone inductive factors [8].

The wide array of risk factors associated with these treatment options has prompted the need to develop alternative materials for use as bone substitutes. Furthermore, the need to improve bone filler materials for reconstruction of large orthopedic defects and the need for implants that are more suitable, both mechanically and chemically, for their in vivo environment has prompted the development of new biomaterials [4]. More specifically, calcium phosphate (CaP) bioceramics have been used as a bone substitute material to replace, augment, and promote new bone formation since the 1920s [9]. CaP bioceramics are considered to be a highly favorable bone substitute material because CaP compounds make up approximately 70% of the inorganic phase of bone, which gives these materials excellent osteoconductive and bioactive properties [10].

# **Calcium Phosphate Bioceramics**

CaP bioceramics are usually manufactured in the form of blocks or granules that make up the bulk raw material of bone substitute materials [11]. From a chemical perspective, CaP compounds are salts that contain  $H_2PO_4^{-}$ ,  $H_2PO_4^{2-}$ , or  $PO_4^{3-}$  ions. Of these three ions, only  $HPO_4^{2-}$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  ions exist naturally in the inorganic mineral phase of teeth and bones [12], which gives them excellent biological properties for use as a bone substitute material for dental and orthopedic applications [13]. Table 34.1 lists CaP compounds along with their standard abbreviations,

Name and Abbreviation	Chemical Formula	Ca/P Ratio	Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Solubility at 25°C (mg/L)
Amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP)	_	1.5	3.01	25.6-32.8
Hydroxyapatite (HA)	Ca10(PO4)6(OH)2	1.67	3.16	~0.3
Calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite (CDHA)	$Ca_{10-x}(HPO_4)_x(PO_4)_{6-x}(OH)_{2-x}$	1.5-1.67	3.16	~9.4
Dicalcium phosphate anhydrous (DCPA)	CaHPO <sub>4</sub>	1	2.92	~48
Dicalcium phosphate dihydrate (DCPD)	CaHPO <sub>4</sub> ·2H <sub>2</sub> O	1	2.27	~88
Monocalcium phosphate monohydrate (MCPM)	$Ca(H_2PO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	0.5	2.23	~18,000
Octacalcium phosphate (OCP)	$Ca_8(HPO_4)_2(PO_4)_4 \cdot 5H_2O$	1.33	2.61	~8.1
α-Tricalcium phosphate (α-TCP)	α-Ca <sub>3</sub> (PO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	1.5	2.86	~2.5
β-Tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP)	β-Ca <sub>3</sub> (PO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	1.5	3.07	~0.5
Tetracalcium phosphate (TTCP)	$Ca_4(PO_4)_2O$	2.0	3.05	~0.7

#### TABLE 34.1 Calcium Phosphate Compounds and Their Major Properties [16]

chemical formula, Ca/P molar ratio, density, and solubility data [14–16]. A more comprehensive review of the structure and chemistry of all CaP compounds can be found elsewhere [12]. Hydroxyapatite (HA) and  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate ( $\beta$ -TCP), or their biphasic combination, comprise most commercially available CaP bioceramics.

One of the most important properties of CaP compounds is its solubility, because this characteristic strongly influences the in vivo behavior of the bioceramics [14]. Specifically, the degradation rate, and therefore the rate of new bone formation, is directly related to the chemical solubility of the CaP compounds. Fig. 34.1 outlines the



**FIGURE 34.1** Two-dimensional solubility phase diagram for calcium phosphate compounds [17]. *DCPA*, dicalcium phosphate anhydrous; *DCPD*, dicalcium phosphate dehydrate; *HA*, hydroxyapatite; *OCP*, octacalcium phosphate; *TTCP*, tetracalcium phosphate;  $\alpha$ -*TCP*,  $\alpha$ -tricalcium phosphate;  $\beta$ -*TCP*,  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate.

solubility phase diagrams for all types of CaP compounds [17]. Based on these phase diagrams, it can be stated that generally, under neutral pH conditions, the degradation rate of CaP compounds follows a pattern from most soluble to least soluble [14]:

 $MCPM > TTCP > \alpha$ - $TCP > DCPD > DCPA > OCP > \beta$ -TCP > CDHA > HA

where MCPM is monocalcium phosphate monohydrate, TTCP is tetracalcium phosphate,  $\alpha$ -TCP is  $\alpha$ -tricalcium phosphate, DCPD is dicalcium phosphate dehydrate, DCPA is dicalcium phosphate anhydrous, OCP is octacalcium phosphate, and CDHA is calcium-deficient HA.

By exploiting these solubility patterns, researchers are able to tailor and modify the biodegradation rate of these CaP bioceramics to better suit the rate of new bone formation. For example, biphasic CaP compounds composed of HA and  $\beta$ -TCP were designed by incorporating  $\beta$ -TCP into HA ceramics. As a consequence, these biphasic bioceramics exhibited a greater rate of resorption than pure HA ceramics [18]. More specifications regarding the biodegradability and solubility trends of CaP compounds can be reviewed elsewhere [12,19].

In the 1970s and 1980s, research into CaP bioceramics focused on their development for dental and orthopedic applications in the form of dense or porous blocks and granules [15,19,20]. Some of the most common dental applications include alveolar ridge augmentation, fillers for periodontal bony defects, tooth root replacement surgery, and coatings for metal screws for dental implants. Typical orthopedic applications included repair of bony defects as well as coatings for orthopedic metal implants usually used for hip and knee replacement surgery [19]. Although these more traditional CaP bioceramics have shown some clinical success, they still lack some important properties that severely restrict their clinical application, in particular with respect to their handling properties. CaP blocks or granules usually require invasive surgery to reach the desired implant site and achieve complete filling of the bone defect. Furthermore, because granules have poor cohesion, they run the risk of migrating out of the implant site, which can lead to unpredictable bone growth or other complications such as blood clotting [21]. From a surgeon's point of view, trying to shape granules or blocks to fit into an irregularly shaped bony defect site can prove challenging and lead to implant migration [22]. Therefore, these forms of CaP compounds have proven to be of limited value when the defect site is not easily accessible or when microinvasive percutaneous surgery would be a preferred method for implantation. Moreover, CaP in bulk form is considerably brittle in nature and exhibits poor mechanical strength and fracture toughness, which limits its uses to nonloading bearing sites [11]. These complications, coupled with the fact that most surgical trends lean toward the development of minimally invasive surgical techniques, have warranted the development of a bone substitute material that exhibits superior handling properties and can be injectable or moldable [23]. These demands have resulted in the development of calcium phosphate cements (CPCs).

#### **Calcium Phosphate Cements**

A current challenge for surgeons is to be able to place a bone substitute material directly into the defect site using the least invasive method possible. With the development of more advanced minimally invasive surgical procedures such as percutaneous surgery, there has been a demand for researchers to develop bone substitute materials that can be injectable, such as CPCs [11,24]. CPCs are a synthetic, self-setting bone substitute material that was first discovered by Brown and Chow in the early 1980s [19,25]. This "first-generation" cement consisted of an equimolar amount of TTCP and DCPA mixed with water in a liquid-to-powder ratio (LPR) of 1:4 to form a paste. This paste differed from the more traditional granule and block forms of CaPs in the sense that upon setting and hardening in vivo, the paste would sustain a rapid phase transformation resulting in the formation of HA or brushite with no hazardous acidic or basic by-products [25,26]. Details regarding this setting mechanism and the final products of the set cements are discussed further on in this chapter.

#### **Basic Properties**

The discovery of CPCs has opened up a new era for bone substitute materials in which handling properties are of upmost importance. This improvement in handling properties allowed for CPCs to be employed in minimally invasive surgery in which it also exhibited the unique ability to be molded and shaped to fill abnormal and complex defect sites where they were then able to set in situ [27]. In addition, because CPCs set in an aqueous environment at 37°C, their CDHA or brushite end product is more similar to that of natural apatites rather than CaP granules and blocks, which are sintered at high temperatures. This low-temperature formation also means that organic molecules such as polymers and living cells could be safely incorporated into the cement, which could further improve their biological response [28].

#### 34. CALCIUM PHOSPHATE BIOCERAMICS AND CEMENTS

Similar to all CaP compounds, CPCs possess excellent biological properties owing to their chemical resemblance to the mineral component of bone [29]. As a consequence, several studies have shown that CPCs are highly biocompatible and osteoconductive materials with the ability to stimulate new bone growth by developing osteoconductive pathways [30]. Interestingly, it was shown that CPCs create chemical bonds to the surrounding host bone, which makes them suitable for fixating metal devices in mechanically weak bone. In addition, studies have shown that certain CPC formulations can even exhibit antimicrobial behavior as well as support osteoblast cell adhesion and gene expression in vitro [29].

CPCs also require several important properties to be employed to the best of their ability. For example, the cement requires suitable rheological properties with respect to viscosity and cohesion to ensure good bonding of the CaP particles to each other while providing adequate cell permeability. Conversely, CaP blocks and granules tend to be denser with minimal inherent porosity, which restricts their biodegradation and new bone formation. Good cohesion of CPCs is also needed to confine the CaP particles to the implant site and avoid migration throughout the body, which could lead to potential complications. CPCs also need to exhibit a suitable setting time with minimal heat output during the setting reaction to be relevant for clinical applications. Finally, the rate of resorption for the cements needs to be tailored to the rate of new bone formation so that the cement can provide adequate mechanical strength until it is replaced by new bone tissue [11,31]. CPCs are a rising class of bone substitute materials that have garnered much attention in the bone tissue engineering field. They are widely considered to be an ideal material for many bone repair and augmentation applications owing to their unique combination of biocompatibility, osteotransductivity, injectability, moldability and manipulation into bony defects, and self-setting ability in situ without producing toxic by-products. In this regard, CPCs are a more attractive material than prefabricated CaP blocks or granules for bone replacement applications [29].

# CLASSES OF CALCIUM PHOSPHATE CEMENTS

In general, CPCs can be categorized into two main types based on the formed end products, i.e., apatite or brushite. The end product of the set cement is mainly determined by the solubility of the CaP precursor compounds and the pH of the setting reaction. Generally, a poorly crystalline HA or CDHA (apatite) forms when the pH value is greater than 4.2 whereas brushite, otherwise known as DCPD, forms when the pH value is less than 4.2 [32]. With respect to solubility characteristics, brushite-forming cements have a higher solubility rate than apatiteforming cements. Therefore, brushite cements tend to resorb faster than apatite cements both in vitro and in vivo [14,26].

# Apatite Cements

All apatite-forming CPCs undergo a phase transformation that results in the formation of a poorly crystalline precipitated HA and/or CDHA as the final end product [32]. This end product has a strong similarity to the mineral phase in bone and teeth, which is primarily attributed to the fact that this type of cement is formed in an aqueous environment, resulting in a poorly crystalline structure. In some instances, a full phase transformation does not always occur and therefore small traces of unreacted CaP precursor compounds may remain in the matrix [29].

The most common CaP precursor compounds for apatite-forming cements include tricalcium phosphate (TCP) and/or TTCP [26]. For TCP-based cements, the particle size, degree of crystallinity, and crystal phase all strongly influence its degree of reactivity. For example, higher degrees of reactivity have been reported when the crystal phase was thermodynamically less stable. To this end, amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) is considered to be the most reactive because it has the least stable crystal phase, followed by  $\alpha$ -TCP and finally  $\beta$ -TCP [33]. Furthermore, the smaller the particle size, the more reactive the compound is, owing to the higher surface area available for reaction with the aqueous environment [32,34].

Interestingly, for apatite-forming cements, the forces holding the newly formed, highly interconnected CDHA crystals together are relatively weak, which means that detachment of the crystals in the network from each other can easily occur, especially once the passive dissolution process has been initiated. This is considered to be advantageous from biological and biodegradation points of view, because osteoclasts are better suited to ingest the smaller, fragmented apatite crystals [35]. The solubility of these cements also has an important role in regulating the biodegradation of the cements in vivo. For example, because apatite-forming CPCs and bone share a similar biological composition, they also exhibit similar solubility characteristics. Thus, like normal bone mineral, these CPCs are relatively insoluble in aqueous solutions at a neutral pH but become more soluble as the pH becomes more acidic. This is a unique feature that allows osteoclasts to facilitate controlled dissolution during the bone remodeling process [36]. Although apatite cement degrades faster than stoichiometric HA, the rate of degradation is still relatively slow compared with brushite cements, resulting in degradation times that may take several years to decades [37].

# **Brushite Cements**

As previously noted, all brushite-forming CPCs precipitate as DCPD as its final cementitious end product, in which the pH value of the setting reaction in the beginning is below 4.2. A wide variety of formulations have been proposed within the literature, but formulations of  $\beta$ -TCP + MCPM [38], and  $\beta$ -TCP + H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> [29,39] tend to be most commonly used. Contrary to apatite cements, all brushite cements can form under only one type of setting reaction: the acid-base interaction, as described in more detail subsequently in this chapter. This characteristic is attributed to the chemical composition of brushite cement formulations and also the fact that DCPD can be precipitated only in a solution with a pH less than 6. Therefore, it is also understood that all formulations of this type of cement are acidic by nature during the setting and hardening phase [12,39]. For example, the pH of cements formed by a reaction between MCPM and  $\beta$ -TCP is initially low (~2.5) before the pH eventually begins to rise to around 6 as the hardening phase progresses [39]. By modifying the starting formulations, the pH of the reaction, and thus several important properties of the cement, can be controlled. For example, replacing MCPM with  $H_3PO_4$  in  $\beta$ -TCP-based formulations maintains a highly acidic cement paste for the first approximately 30 s of the setting reaction. Subsequently, the pH begins to rise in a similar fashion, as observed in MCPM +  $\beta$ -TCP formulations. Several major advantages can be obtained when MCPM is replaced by  $H_3PO_4$  in  $\beta$ -TCP-based formulations, most notably: (1) more control over the reaction and chemical composition; (2) more homogeneity in the cement matrix, resulting in higher tensile strengths; and (3) prolonged setting times, which is desired specifically for brushite cements for which setting times are generally too fast [39].

The setting time of brushite cements is determined primarily by the solubility of the alkaline phase present within the CaP formulation. The more soluble the formulation, the faster the setting time is. Furthermore, a reduction in the solubility can be accomplished by increasing the alkalinity of the formulation, effectively prolonging the setting time. It is well-known that the alkalinity of HA is greater than  $\beta$ -TCP, which in turn is greater than  $\alpha$ -TCP. In other words, the solubility of these three CaP compounds is: HA <  $\beta$ -TCP <  $\alpha$ -TCP [14,40]. Therefore, by adding different types CaP compounds with varying pH and solubility characteristics to the formulation, the setting time can be modified. MCPM-based formulations, for instance, have been mixed with HA,  $\beta$ -TCP, or  $\alpha$ -TCP. It was shown that the formulation containing HA took several minutes to set, whereas the formulation containing  $\beta$ -TCP took only 30–60 s to set, and finally the setting time for the  $\alpha$ -TCP–containing formulation was further reduced to a matter of only several seconds [38]. Alternatively, incorporating additives into the cements that act by inhibiting the precipitation and growth of DCPD crystals has proven to be a successful strategy for increasing the setting time [41]. This effect has been observed for cements when setting retardants such as glycolic acid [42], sodium citrate, and citric acid were incorporated into the cement formulations [29].

Brushite cements set within a relatively short period of time from a liquid state, while these cements are highly bioresorbable and biocompatible. This latter feature is attributed to the fact that DCPD has a higher solubility and better stability under physiological conditions compared with apatite [12]. Therefore, it has been shown that brushite cements have a faster in vivo biodegradation rate than apatite cements. This rapid resorption rate also means that these cements have a rapid and significant decrease in mechanical strength after in vivo implantation [32]. Moreover, the setting times of brushite cements are generally so rapid that they require a large volume of liquid phase to keep the cement paste injectable and workable over a reasonable time. This means that high LPRs are often employed for these cements and this higher liquid content results in a more porous, inherently weaker cement as the final end product [11]. Poor mechanical strength coupled with short setting times and constricted handling properties have limited the clinical applicability of brushite cements, in particular with respect to load-bearing applications [29,43].

#### PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

#### Setting/Hardening Mechanism

The setting of CPCs is a continuous process that always begins with the dissolution of CaP precursor compounds into the liquid phase [17,26]. Generally, all CPCs are composed of two main phases: a solid/powder phase and a

liquid phase. Generally, the solid phase consists of one or more of CaP compounds listed in Table 34.1, whereas the liquid phase is typically either distilled water or an aqueous solution containing, e.g., phosphate-buffered saline, so-dium phosphate, ammonium phosphate, citric acid, or sodium silicate [29]. Once the solid and liquid phases are combined and thoroughly mixed, dissolution of the CaP precursor compounds into the aqueous environment occurs. The rate of this dissolution highly depends on the pH of the liquid phase as well as the chemical composition of the CaP precursor compounds. Once the Ca<sup>2+</sup> and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> ions dissolve in solution, a supersaturation level is reached. Subsequently, these reactants begin to precipitate back onto the surface of the remaining powder constituents, usually in the form of CDHA (apatite) or DCPD (brushite) [32,44]. What is left is a highly viscous and moldable self-setting paste that can be placed directly into a bone defect site to aid in the healing process [11]. Generally speaking, once the cement is placed within the body, most of the phase transformation occurs within the first 6 h of setting; approximately 80% of the CaP precursor compounds convert to the final end products in this time frame [29].

An important factor behind the setting reaction of CPCs is the relative stability and solubility of the CaP compounds. This solubility is why a chemical transformation is induced once the CaP compound(s) are mixed with an aqueous solution. During the precipitation phase of the setting reaction, the newly formed CDHA or DCPD crystals grow epitaxially in the form of needle or rod-like microstructures that become highly interconnected and entangled. This highly entangled network of crystals provides structural rigidity to the hardened CPCs. Moreover, this highly interconnected web of crystals means that the microstructure and nanostructure of the cements possess an inherently intrinsic porosity usually between 40% and 60%, with pore sizes ranging between about 0.1 and 10 µm [11,29]. This formation of a web of needle or rod-like crystals during the setting reaction, as described previously, also leads to the adherence of crystalline grains, which results in hardening of the cement. After a sufficient time has passed, usually at least 24 h, most of the crystals have completely formed; a cement matrix is left composed of some areas of highly dense, compacted crystals whereas other areas are highly porous owing to large separations of the crystals [29].

For some apatite-forming CPCs, water is generally not employed as a reactant but rather acts as a medium. Because of this, the amount of water needed for setting to occur is minimal. Conversely, for brushite-forming CPCs, water always actively participates in the setting reaction because it is necessary for DCPD to form. Therefore, these cements are commonly referred to as hydraulic cements [30,44].

#### **Chemical Reaction**

The chemical reaction that takes place during the setting of CPCs depends on several key variables such as the pH of the reaction, the LPR, the particle size, and, most importantly, the chemical composition of the CaP precursor compounds. Two main types of setting reactions can be discerned: the acid—base interaction and hydrolysis [14,26,32].

#### Acid-Base Interaction

The first type of setting reaction, the acid—base interaction, employs the use of the general principles of chemistry in which, once an acidic compound and a basic compound are combined, they interact and produce a neutral compound [29]. In this instance, a relatively acidic CaP compound reacts with a relatively basic one to produce a neutral end product. A typical example of this reaction can be observed in what is considered the first CPC formulation developed by Brown and Chow in the 1980s [25]. This cement formulation consisted of acidic DCPA and basic TTCP compounds that, once combined in an aqueous liquid phase, reacted to form a relatively neutral, poorly crystalline precipitated HA, as shown in Eq. (34.1) [25,29]:

$$2Ca_4(PO_4)_2O + 2CaHPO_4 \rightarrow Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$$
 (34.1)

It was initially thought that the reaction of DCPA with TTCP would result in the formation of stoichiometric HA (Ca/P ionic ratio = 1.67), but upon further investigation it was determined that only the first nuclei were stoichiometric HA. As the reaction continued, the nuclei would continue to grow and enlarge in the form of CDHA (Ca/P molar ratio of 1.5-1.67) crystals [25,29].

### Hydrolysis Interaction

The second type of setting reaction involves the hydrolysis of CaP compounds in a liquid phase. This hydration process is mildly exothermic and is composed of five stages: (1) initiation, (2) induction, (3) the acceleration, (4) deceleration, and (5) termination [29]. Unlike the previous acid—base interaction reaction, this reaction employs the use of only one CaP precursor compound, and therefore the Ca/P molar ratio remains the same from the beginning to the end of the reaction [45]. Typical CaP precursor compounds include ACP, DCPA, CDHA, OCP, TTCP,

 $\beta$ -TCP, and  $\alpha$ -TCP;  $\alpha$ -TCP is the most commonly used in the literature. Once one of these single-phase CaP compounds is mixed with an aqueous solution, most reprecipitate into CDHA crystals during the setting of the cement. An example of the chemical reaction using  $\alpha$ -TCP as the starting compound and water as the aqueous solution can be seen in Eq. (34.2) [29]:

$$B\alpha Ca_3(PO_4)_2 + H_2O \rightarrow Ca_9(HPO_4) (PO_4)_5(OH)$$
 (34.2)

For the hydrolysis of  $\alpha$ -TCP, the literature indicates that the reaction is controlled through the dissolution of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> ions at the surface of the  $\alpha$ -TCP particles. Therefore, the surface area, or particle size, has a crucial role in the setting process as well as the time it takes for the cement to set fully [46,47]. Results from another study indicated that the incorporation of 2 wt% CDHA into the  $\alpha$ -TCP powder phase to act as a nucleation sites accelerated the kinetics of the setting reaction [46]. A comparison of these two setting mechanisms, with examples from the most common CaP formulations for both apatite and brushite cements, is shown in Fig. 34.2.

# Setting Times

Setting time properties are greatly important for all CPC formulations. This is especially true from the perspective of the surgeon, as the setting time dictates the amount of time the surgeon can mold and/or inject the cement as well



**FIGURE 34.2** Classification of calcium phosphate cement setting mechanisms with examples from the most common formulations. Cements are classified based on their final phase transformation end product (apatite or brushite), the number of components in the powder phase (single or multiple), the type of setting reaction (hydrolysis interaction or acid—base interaction), and the microstructure progression during the setting reaction. *CDHA*, calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite; *DCP*, dicalcium phosphate; *DCPA/DCPD*, dicalcium phosphate anhydrous/dicalcium phosphate dehydrate; *MCP*, monocalcium phosphate; *MCPM/MCPA*, monocalcium phosphate monohydrate/monocalcium phosphate anhydrous; *SEM*, scanning electron microscopy; *TTCP*, tetracalcium phosphate;  $\alpha$ -*TCP*,  $\alpha$ -tricalcium phosphate;  $\beta$ -*TCP*,  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate. *Reprinted with permission from Ginebra M-P, Canal C, Espanol M, Pastorino D, Montufar EB. Calcium phosphate cements as drug delivery materials. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012;64(12):1090–1110.* 

as close the wound safely in the operating theater. Setting times must be slow enough to give the surgeon time to implant and mold the cement into the defect site, and fast enough not to delay the operation. There are two main methods for how researchers can measure the setting time of the cements: the Gillmore needles method (ASTM C266-89) and the Vicat needle method (ASTM C191-92) [29]. Both involve placing a weighted needle onto the surface of the cement at different time points to visualize whether an indentation was created. Once a full indentation has not been created on the surface, the cement is considered to be set. More specifically, Gillmore needles have been used to measure the initial and final setting times of cements [48]. For instance, a lighter, thicker needle is used to determine the initial setting time whereas a heavier, thinner needle is used to determine the final setting time whereas a heavier, thinner needle is used to determine the final setting time whereas a heavier, thinner needle is used to determine the final setting time [49]. Both the Gilmore needle and Vicat needle methods are highly user-dependent because their results are based on the concept of "visible indentation," which can make reproducibility of data between research groups challenging. Moreover, these methods provide no information about the progression of the setting reaction that controls the setting process and time. Therefore, other methods such as impedance spectroscopy have garnered much attention as a way to monitor the setting reactions of CPCs in situ. More information regarding this technique can be found elsewhere [50].

With respect to its clinical use, the initial setting time translates to the amount of time the surgeon has to implant and work with the cement, whereas the final setting time translates to the time when the wound can be closed, as depicted in Fig. 34.3. The cement should not move or deform between the initial and final setting time because this could induce cracks. Therefore, setting time criteria have been defined as follows:

 $\begin{array}{l} 3 \text{ min} \leq I < 8 \text{ min} \\ I - CT \geq 1 \text{ min} \\ F \leq 15 \text{ min} \end{array}$ 

where CT = cohesion time, I = initial setting time, and <math>F = final setting time. In this instance, CT is defined as the time when the cement paste no longer disintegrates in an aqueous solution [49]. The initial setting time window is relatively large and depends on the application procedure of the specific cement. For example, for dental applications, shorter initial setting times are usually preferred, whereas longer initial setting times are needed for orthopedic procedures. Regardless, the maximum final setting times for all applications generally should not exceed 15 min [49].

#### Strategies to Improve Setting Times

A wide array of strategies has been developed over the years to modify the setting rate of the cements so that they fall within the desired time window. Generally, brushite cements react and set much faster than apatite cements. This means that the setting reaction for brushite cements needs to be delayed whereas the setting of apatite cements needs to be accelerated to meet clinical requirements [14,40]. One of the most straightforward and common approaches toward this end is to change the particle size of the CaP precursor compounds [51]. Setting times can be significantly reduced by decreasing the mean particle size, because the size reduction increases the surface area of the particles that can then interact with the liquid phase, thus accelerating the setting reaction and hydration kinetics of the



FIGURE 34.3 A diagram outlining the setting time stages of calcium phosphate cements from a clinical perspective where CT = cohesion time, I = initial setting time, and F = final setting time [29].

#### PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

cement [26,34,46,47]. When this is the case, higher amounts of dissolved  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  ions can be reached in a shorter time, increasing the degree of supersaturation that favors crystal nucleation and growth [52].

Another simple approach to modifying the setting time is to change the amount of liquid phase used in the cement. As is the case for most apatite cements, the amount of liquid phase used is brought to a minimum in an attempt to reduce the setting time, whereas the opposite approach is employed for brushite cements. This is one reason why apatite cements have a tendency to be more viscous and difficult to inject compared with less viscous brushite cements [26,29]. The setting time can also be reduced by incorporating soluble orthophosphates such as Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> or NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> into the liquid phase to reduce the pH. Creating a more acidic environment increases the solubility of the CaP compounds and accelerates the setting reaction, which shortens the overall setting time [33,53]. Furthermore, the presence of these sodium orthophosphates prevents unreacted CaP particles from becoming isolated, which could prolong the setting time [29]. Organic acids such as lactic, glycolic, tartaric, citric and malic have also been extensively used to influence the setting time of cements and have been well-described elsewhere [54].

It was also observed that for some cases, an initial thermal treatment of the CaP precursor compounds extended the setting reaction. For example, when  $\alpha$ -TCP particles were first heated to 500°C, it increased the final setting time from the order of several minutes to upward of a few hours [55]. Finally, it is common practice to add a nucleating agent such as nanosized HA to the powder component of the cements to reduce the setting time [26,51].

# Injectability

CPCs have the potential to be injectable, which sets them apart from other bone substitute materials, especially for applications involving minimally invasive surgery, in which injectability is considered a prerequisite [29]. Although there has been much debate in the literature in terms of defining injectability [15], the overall fundamental consensus is that it can be defined as the ability of the CPC paste to be extruded through a syringe, usually with a 12-gauge (i.e., 2 mm in diameter) needle 10 cm long attached to the end, although other needle dimensions have been reported [56–58]. Generally, it is measured by calculating the weight percentage of the CPC paste that can be extruded from the syringe either manually by hand or with the aid of a mechanical bench in which a force of no more than 100 N is applied [15,59].

To understand the injectability of these cements better, one must take into account the flow dynamics of the paste within the syringe. Because CPCs are composed of a powder and liquid phase, they are considered to be a biphasic material. When this biphasic material is subjected to a pressure gradient, as is the case during extrusion through a syringe, the liquid phase has a tendency to flow faster than the powder phase, which can result in local changes of the final cement composition. More specifically, because of the pressure gradient present in the syringe, the paste located closest to the plunger of the syringe is subjected to a higher pressure than the paste farther from the plunger. This higher pressure forces the liquid to flow faster than the CaP particles to the point where the paste in this region becomes depleted of liquid and all that is left is a wet powder instead of a paste [15,56,58]. The opposite effect occurs for the paste in the region farthest from the plunger, where the pressure is lower and the paste is saturated by liquid. Because these effects are dynamic, the size of the region that is depleted of liquid grows and enlarges during injection to the point where this wet powder zone eventually reaches the tip of the syringe and plugs it, rendering the remaining material noninjectable. This phenomenon, in which a phase separation occurs once pressure is applied to the paste, is commonly referred to as filter pressing [15]. As a result of the phase separation, the final composition of the extruded paste becomes compromised and not fully controllable. This is caused by the change in the LPR that takes place, which can influence the setting behavior, mechanical properties, and biological performance of the final cement product. Hence, good cohesion of the paste is of utmost importance to avoid problems associated with filter pressing [60].

#### Strategies to Improve Injectability

As mentioned previously, an important advantage of CPCs is their ability to be injected for use in minimally invasive surgical techniques, although this ability can become compromised when filter pressing occurs [54,56,57]. In fact, in some cases complete injectability cannot be attained even when relatively large-diameter syringe tips without a cannula are used. This implies that filter pressing can occur even under very small loading forces [11]. Thus, there is a need to develop strategies to improve the injectability of the cements. Strategies involving the addition and/or modification of certain variables have been shown to be successful for improving the injectable properties of CPCs. These variables include modifying the particle size and shape [56], the viscosity and rheology of the paste [54,57,61–64], and the LPR [15,57,65].

# Particle Size and Shape

With respect to the particle size, it has been shown that the smaller the particle size, the greater the injectability [56,65]. For the particle shape, powders with a more spherical shape have been known to exhibit better injectability because the particles roll more easily and produce less shear resistance when they are extruded from the syringe. Interestingly, more spherical powders also require less liquid phase to turn into a slurry or paste, because no liquid becomes captured between the particles and therefore the liquid can be used more efficiently to wet the particles fully [11,15].

#### Viscosity

It is well-known that the ability of the cements to be injected is highly constrained owing to the rheological properties of the paste during extrusion. Reducing filter pressing or eliminating it from occurring by modifying the viscosity of the paste is one possible solution to improving injectability properties. One approach would be to reduce the ability of the liquid phase to pass through the powder phase. This could be achieved by increasing the viscosity of the liquid phase or by reducing the permeability of the powder phase [54,56,57,61–63]. The viscosity of the liquid phase can be modified by using additives. These additives must be nontoxic and not inhibit the phase transformation that takes place during the cement setting reaction [11].

In principle, the use of additives in the liquid phase can increase the viscosity by several orders of magnitude, resulting in the formation of a more putty-like paste. Furthermore, they can improve wettability and increase the surface charge of the CaP particles owing to the adsorption of ions on the surface [64]. Studies have shown that the addition of organic additives, such as citric acid, increased injectability by delaying the hydration time [11,66]. Furthermore, citric acid is a favorable additive for use in CPCs because it is present as citrate ions in bone and is a triprotic acid, which means that it can release or donate three hydrogen ions. This is advantageous in the sense that these citrate ions can be adsorbed onto the surface of CaP particles and give them a negative charge, and by doing so it can create a repulsion between the negatively charged particles. This repulsion enhances the mobility of the particles, increasing the injectability of the paste, because the formation of any particle agglomerations is eliminated [61]. The behavior of CPCs also depends on the type of acid additive used. For example, it was observed that the use of acetic acid, a monoprotic acid, resulted in an increase in the rate of apatite formation, which made the cement less injectable. Conversely, when citric acid was employed, the CPC became more macroporous and easier to inject, although the rate of apatite formation was reduced [59].

Another additive that was shown to improve the injectability as well as cohesion of CPCs is hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose (HPMC). HPMC, a polysaccharide gelling agent, has the ability to hydrogenate in water, forming a viscous solution in the process. This increase in viscosity improves the cohesion of the paste and makes it easier to extrude out of a syringe under minimal force with no occurrence of filter pressing [66,67]. In another study, researchers added xanthan, a type of polysaccharide, to the cement formulation to exert a lubricating effect on the interface of the CaP particles, which improved injectability [56].

Yet another technique decreases the viscosity to improve injectability. One way to achieve this is to increase the amount of liquid phase used. The idea behind this is that as more liquid phase is used, the viscosity becomes lower and the friction between the CaP particles as well as the cement paste between the syringe walls is reduced. This would make the cement easier to inject, although issues such as filter pressing are likely to occur [64,68].

Finally, the viscosity of CPCs is a constantly changing property because it is related to the setting mechanism. Traditionally, the viscosity decreases immediately after mixing the liquid and powder phases together, followed by a strong increase during the setting of the cement until hardening occurs. The viscosity needs to be at a high enough value to where extravasation of the liquid from the powder can be prevented. This can be accomplished if the viscosity falls between 100 and 1000 Pa s<sup>-1</sup> and an appropriate window for injection is defined [11].

#### Liquid-to-Powder Ratio

Any adjustment to the LPR can have a significant influence on not only the injectability but also the setting time, porosity, cohesion, resorbability, and strength [68]. For example, high LPRs are known to increase the injectability of cements by reducing the friction between CaP particles and the syringe wall during extrusion, but this additional liquid can delay the setting time, result in poor cohesion [69], and reduce the mechanical integrity of the cement because the higher liquid content leaves behind a greater microporous structure upon dilution [11,56]. Studies have shown how the injectability of CPC formulations with LPRs between 3.85 and 4.50 g/mL have been relatively unaffected, but once this range increases to 4.50–5.00 g/mL the degree of injectability drops by nearly 100% [64]. Consequently, it seems that only major shifts in the general properties of CPCs occur once a certain LPR threshold is met.

# Cohesion

Besides injectability, CPCs need to possess adequate rheological properties such as viscosity and cohesion to be employed successfully for clinical applications [15,70]. In this instance, cohesion is defined as the ability of a cement paste to keep its geometrical integrity during setting in an aqueous environment [15,26]. It can be measured by evaluating the amount of solid particles that are released from the paste under aqueous conditions, typically water or Ringer's solution before setting fully [71]. The level of cohesion is directly correlated to the degree of affinity among CaP particles within the cement, where stronger cohesive properties can result from an increase in attractive van der Waal forces and/or a decrease in repulsive electrostatic forces among the CaP particles [15]. The ideal cohesion of CPCs occurs when no disintegration of CaP particles can be observed while immersed in an aqueous environment for a period of time exceeding the final setting time of the cement [49,60]. This level of cohesion can be achieved by maintaining a high level of viscosity for the cement paste, usually through the use of gel-forming polymers or other cohesion promoters such as sodium alginate and carboxymethyl cellulose [71,72].

In the past, poor cohesive properties were associated with poor biocompatibility and negative in vivo reactions, such as inflammation triggered by the leaching and release of CaP microparticles in and around the implant site [37]. It was argued that CPCs could be considered a prime candidate for the use in vertebroplasty spinal surgery, provided that excellent cohesion of the CPC could be achieved and maintained [32]. Poor cohesive properties of CPCs used for vertebroplasty can lead to an increased risk for blood clotting. It was suggested that blood clotting is triggered by interfacial interactions between blood and CaP microparticles that fragmented off the cement and leached into the bloodstream. Coupled with the fact that vertebrae are highly perfused with blood and positioned in close proximity to the heart and lungs, this compounds the problem and exposes the patient to potentially life-threatening complications. Therefore, it is of utmost importance to maintain a high level of cohesion for CPCs to prevent the release of CaP particles and avoid in vivo complications [26].

#### Strategies to Improve Cohesion

The level of cohesion is directly associated with the interaction among CaP particles within the cement. Bearing that in mind, common approaches to improving cohesion are focused on reducing the mean particle size and liquid content, thus improving the van der Waal attractive forces and decreasing electrostatic repulsive forces among the CaP particles [60]. CPC pastes are considered to be non-Newtonian fluids, which means that their viscosity is a function of shear forces and time [65,70]. This poses a challenge to researchers to be able to maintain and control the viscosity, and therefore the cohesion, of the cements. However, some success has been achieved through the strategy of increasing the viscosity of the liquid phase by incorporating water-soluble polymeric hydrogels into the formulation [60,67].

Most notably, polysaccharides [32,53,67,71,72] polyacrylic acid [29], and gelatin [69] are among the most common hydrogels used owing to their biocompatibility and favorable rheological properties. Moreover, only small amounts of these polymers, on the order of just a few weight percent, need to be added to CPCs to improve their viscosity and cohesion significantly, which makes them less susceptible to washout effects [29]. In some instances, it has been shown that adding certain types of these water-soluble polymers can prolong the setting time of CPCs. To address this issue, sodium phosphate aqueous solutions have been used as the liquid phase to act as a catalyst in the setting time [73]. Other water-soluble polymers, such as sodium alginate, exhibit the unique ability to pectize (i.e., form into a jelly or gel-like substance) when placed in contact with calcium ions. This enables putty-like pastes to be fabricated, although only a few polymers displaying this unique property have been accepted for parenteral use [14,40]. Regardless, the addition of water-soluble polymers has been shown to be a promising technique to improve the viscosity and cohesion of CPCs so that the spectrum of their clinical applications can widen.

# STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE THE MECHANICAL PROPERTIES

The development of CPCs has progressed significantly with respect to the optimization of their physiochemical, handling, and biological properties. Nevertheless, CPCs exhibit poor mechanical properties, because their tensile and shear strength is lower than that of teeth and bone [43]. Coupled with their inherent brittle behavior, this has limited their clinical applicability to non–load bearing or pure compression-loading sites [74,75].

The compressive strength of CPCs is the most commonly reported mechanical property in the literature, although this property offers minimal insight into the mechanical integrity and reliability of the CPC [15]. Generally, brittle materials are more likely to fail under tension or shearing rather than compression. This phenomenon is attributed

#### 34. CALCIUM PHOSPHATE BIOCERAMICS AND CEMENTS

to the fact that fracturing of brittle ceramics such as CPCs initiates in preexisting flaws such as microcracks or macropores located throughout the cement matrix. It is easier to propagate a crack in tension rather than in compression [76]. Furthermore, loads within the body are generally cyclic, which indicates that fatigue properties should be reported as well [15,77]. Moreover, it is difficult to compare compressive strengths of CPCs with those of trabecular bone because bone is typically much less brittle than bioceramic cements. Therefore, it is highly recommended that the mechanical properties of CPCs be reported as more appropriate parameters such as the Weibull modulus to make a more comparative analysis between bone tissue and cement [77]. Another factor that should be taken into account regarding the mechanical properties of CPCs is that their mechanical performance in vivo may vary considerably from in vitro measurements under laboratory conditions. For example, brushite cements are highly soluble under physiological conditions compared with apatite cements, so their mechanical properties will decrease rapidly upon implantation. This sudden and spontaneous dissolution is also why brushite cements are typically combined with less soluble materials, e.g., HA or  $\beta$ -TCP, thus creating a biphasic CPC [15]. Based on these shortcomings, it is clear why CPCs are restricted to non–load bearing applications.

An improvement in the mechanical performance of CPCs would broaden their applicability in the operating theater to more load-bearing defect sites, e.g., spinal surgical procedures such as vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty [75,78]. To this end, the brittleness of the cements would need to be reduced along with an improvement in their fracture toughness. This toughening can be achieved by reducing the porosity of the cement matrix or combining CPCs with a polymer matrix to form a composite material [79]. Generally, these polymers are incorporated into the cement by modifying the liquid phase with polymeric additives [78] in the form of fibers [75], or by using a dual setting system in which dissolved monomers simultaneously cross-link during the cement setting reaction [80,81], as depicted in Fig. 34.4. More common formulations of various CPC–polymer composite materials have been comprehensively reviewed elsewhere [11,74].

# Porosity

The mechanical strength of CPCs is directly related to their microstructural characteristics. The physical entanglement of crystals that precipitate during the setting reaction, as described earlier, results in the formation of a bulk cement matrix that determines its mechanical integrity. Several factors can affect the outcome of the cement matrix, such as the final setting products (i.e., apatite or brushite), the degree of phase transformation, the crystal size, and the porosity; with the latter being one of the most important factors. The porosity of CPCs mainly originates from the presence of an excess amount of liquid phase that has not fully reacted with the CaP particles. When this is the case, this excess liquid leaves behind open voids or pores within the entangled cement crystal matrix [78]. Generally, these pores can range from a few nanometers to upward of  $8-12 \mu m$  in diameter and consume between 22% and 55% of the total cement volume [82,83]. The presence of these pores makes it much easier for microcracks to propagate throughout the cement matrix, increasing the cement porosity and decreasing the mechanical properties [29], as shown in the inverse exponential relationship [84]:

$$CS = CS_0 \exp(-KP) \tag{34.3}$$

where *CS* is the compressive strength of the cement at a set porosity,  $CS_0$  is the maximum theoretical strength, *K* is a constant, and *P* is the porosity [84]. Therefore, the mechanical properties of cements can be improved by decreasing



FIGURE 34.4 Mechanical reinforcement strategies for calcium phosphate cements used in load-bearing applications [78].

the matrix porosity [26]. As a rule of thumb, the tensile strength of CPCs seems to increase two-fold with every 10 vol% decrease in porosity. For example, tensile strength values of 5, 10, and 20 MPa would correlate to porosity values of 60%, 50%, and 40%, respectively [14,40]. Consequently, one method to achieve this reduction in porosity is to apply pressure to compact the CaP particles [73,84,85]. In some cases, this method has been shown to reduce the porosity from 50% to 31%, which resulted in an increase in compressive strength by almost one order of magnitude, but this method is typically unsuitable for most clinical applications [84].

Because porosity is directly attributed to the amount of liquid phase used, a more common approach to reducing it is to increase the LPR by reducing the amount of liquid phase added to the cement [14,40]. When this happens, the space between the CaP particles is reduced, enabling a more compact crystal structure to form, as illustrated in Fig. 34.5 [52]. The influence of the LPR on porosity explains why the porosity of apatite cements is usually different from that of brushite cements. The general trend is that for brushite cements the average pore size is larger than for apatite cements, but the total porosity is usually smaller than for apatite cements. This is because brushite cements have an increased water consumption during the setting reaction that also forms larger crystal sizes, which makes the average pore size greater but the total porosity smaller than apatite cements [78].

Although a reduction in the liquid content leads to a decrease in porosity, this approach is limited because all CPC formulations require a minimum amount of liquid to wet all of the CaP particles fully and create a paste [56]. Moreover, a large reduction in the liquid phase can have a negative effect on the rheological properties of the paste, such as increasing the viscosity to the point where the paste becomes noninjectable [29].

Therefore, another effective strategy for reducing the porosity of the cements is to minimize spacing between the CaP particles. This can be achieved by using a two-pronged approach: (1) create a bimodal CaP particle size distribution to fill the space among particles; and (2) create a high surface charge, or  $\zeta$ -potential, on the particles. By using a bimodal particle size distribution, the smaller particles are able to occupy the space normally occupied by any



FIGURE 34.5 Schematic depiction of how the (A) particle size of the powder phase and (B) the liquid-to-powder ratio (LPR) influences the microstructure and porosity of calcium phosphate cement (CPCs). A reduction in calcium phosphate (CaP) particle size increases the particle surface area, which means a higher degree of supersaturation can be achieved that favors crystal nucleation. This leads to more frequent and smaller needle-like crystals to form instead of larger plate-like crystals that typically form when larger CaP particles are used, effectively changing the microstructure and porosity of the cement. Modifying the LPR can also fine-tune the microstructure and porosity of CPCs. Lowering the LPR reduces the spacing among CaP particles, leading to a more compact and dense crystal microstructure. The opposite effect can be seen by increasing the LPR. *Reprinted with permission from Ginebra M-P, Canal C, Espanol M, Pastorino D, Montufar EB. Calcium phosphate cements as drug delivery materials. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012;64(12):1090–1110.* 

excess liquid, thus reducing the porosity for both apatite [86] and brushite cements [82,83]. Adding a high surface charge by increasing the ζ-potential on the CaP particles is thought to aid in dispersing and breaking up any particle agglomerates by reducing their attractive forces. This can be achieved by adding charged ions such as tartrates or citrates to the liquid phase of CPC formulations. These charged ions are then able to adsorb to the particle surface, effectively increasing the ζ-potential and removing particle agglomerations, leaving behind a more evenly dispersed particle network that exhibits smaller particle spacing [87]. Applying these two principles has been shown to increase the plastic limit (i.e., reduce the need to use more liquid) and reduce the porosity for both apatite and brushite cements. For apatite cements, a reduction in the porosity from 37% to 25% with an increase in the compressive strength from 50 to 79 MPa has been reported [86], and for brushite cements, a reduction in porosity from 30% to 23% resulted in an improvement in compressive strength from 23 to 42 MPa [82].

Finally, although a reduction in porosity leads to an improvement in the mechanical properties of CPCs, this change in the microstructure can have negative implications on the bioresorbability and osteotransductive properties of the cement. For example, the lack of an interconnected porous structure inhibits the growth of newly formed bone into the cement. This means that new bone formation would be dictated by the passive dissolution rate of the cements, resulting in a reduction in the rate of new bone formation. Therefore, it is important to understand and take into account how porosity may affect other properties of the cement, especially with respect to the biodegradability [14,40].

# **Dual Setting System**

Another approach to increasing the mechanical strength of CPCs involves using a dual setting system. An example of this strategy involves adding polymeric components to the cement that can be cross-linked by binding  $Ca^{2+}$  ions with carboxylic acid or organic phosphate moieties within the polymer chain. The addition of the liquid phase then initiates the dual setting reaction composed of (1) the traditional dissolution-precipitation reaction of the bioceramic cement component, and (2) deprotonation of the acid groups of the polymer to induce the formation of intrachained or interchained  $Ca^{2+}$ -acid cross-links. The result of this process is a reduction in brittleness and an increase in the strength of the cement [88].

Another example of the dual setting system involves using reactive monomer units that are added to the cement formulation by first dissolving them in the liquid phase. An initiator is then added to the solid phase of the cement so that once the two phases are mixed, a simultaneous reaction is initiated that involves the traditional dissolution-precipitation setting reaction of the CaP particles and a gelation-polymerization reaction of the monomer units [78]. Within the first several minutes, a hydrogel matrix with embedded CaP particles is formed, followed by a phase transformation of the CaP particles that takes place during the setting reaction of the cement. Finally, a highly interconnected, reinforcing hydrogel matrix is formed that is located within the porous cement microstructure, as depicted in Fig. 34.6. This approach enables the possibility of adding a high amount of polymer to the cement, which translates to a potentially significant increase in its strength and toughness. Furthermore, the rheological properties of the cement paste can remain relatively stable. Both of these characteristics are attributed to the fact that the



FIGURE 34.6 Schematic diagram depicting the setting mechanism of dual-setting calcium phosphate cements (CPCs) with the formation of interconnected matrices of hydrogel and precipitated calcium phosphate (CaP) crystals [78].

monomer units are small, water-miscible liquids that exhibit low viscosity such that even high concentrations of the monomers do not alter the initial viscosity of the cement [78]. Further studies regarding this concept can be found elsewhere [80,81,89].

A dual setting system can also be applied when using pure inorganic materials such as silica. Studies describing different approaches to adding silica to the cement, along with its influence on CPCs setting, handling, and mechanical properties can be found elsewhere [78,90,91].

# Fiber Reinforcement

Toughening of brittle cements by using fibers has proven to be one of the most successful approaches, particularly when using long continuous fibers as a reinforcing matrix [32,75,79,92]. The mechanical performance of these fiber-reinforced CPCs depends on the complex interaction among all of the components of the composite cement [79]. The mechanical properties are also time-dependent because both the fibers and the cement matrix have the potential to degrade once they are implanted in the body to allow for tissue regeneration. These components are illustrated in Fig. 34.7, in which contributions to the mechanical behavior of the cement are associated with the strength and stiffness of the fibers and cement matrix, the toughness of the matrix, interfacial interactions between the matrix and fibers, and supplementary effects of the polymeric additives or agglomerations [79]. Excellent reviews detailing how various fiber parameters (i.e., type, volume fraction, orientation, aspect ratio, tensile modulus, and fiber–matrix interface properties) can influence the mechanical properties of CPCs can be read elsewhere [75,76,78,79].

#### Mechanics of Fiber-Reinforced Calcium Phosphate Cements

The concept of improving the mechanical performance of CPCs by producing fiber–cement composites was initially adopted from the field of materials engineering, where, for instance, the development of fiber-reinforced hydraulic cements and concretes for civil and industrial engineering purposes has been studied extensively. For these applications, the incorporation of fibers into the cement has been a highly effective strategy to improve fracture toughness as well as flexural and tensile strength [76].

To understand better how fibers can improve the mechanical properties of CPCs, the failure pattern of fiber-free CPCs must first be understood. Like most ceramics, CPCs are brittle materials, which means that their failure is characterized by a sudden, catastrophic fracture with minimal plastic deformation occurring before the failure point. Therefore, fracture deformation and the work needed to induce failure are relatively low. From an engineering



FIGURE 34.7 Illustration of the components for fiber-reinforced calcium phosphate cements (CPCs) that influence their mechanical performance [79].



FIGURE 34.8 Schematic drawing of the three mechanisms of how fibers can mechanically reinforce cements [76].

standpoint, this brittle behavior is detrimental for mechanically loaded materials and therefore must be compensated for, in this case by incorporating fibers. The reinforcement effect of fibers in CPCs creates a tougher, more ductile cement that is more suitable for load-bearing applications because they will exhibit a higher tolerance to impact loading and sample flaws [79].

There are three main mechanisms according to how a fiber can mechanically reinforce a cement: fiber bridging, crack deflection, and frictional sliding (Fig. 34.8). In fiber bridging, fibers that bridge crack together within the matrix, thus effectively dissipating the fracture energy and delaying any further opening and propagation [79]. For crack deflection, fibers act as barriers that extend the path distance at which the crack needs to travel through the matrix. It has also been reported that these two mechanisms contribute to the high fracture toughness of human bone [93]. Frictional sliding consists of frictional sliding occurring at the fiber—matrix interface when fibers begin to pull out of the cement. This mechanism leads to a stress transfer that ultimately results in increased energy dissipation and fracture toughness of fiber-reinforced CPCs [76].

The load-bearing capacity of fibers increases with an increase in the elastic modulus as well as tensile strength. The diameter of the fibers dictates the total interface area for a given fiber volume fraction, which affects both the homogeneity and workability of the composite. Furthermore, the fiber length to diameter ratio, known as the aspect ratio, is greatly important because loading of the composite needs to be transferred from the matrix to the fibers via the interface. A reinforcing effect is observed only when the fiber length exceeds a critical value,  $l_c$  [94]. Extensive research from civil engineering revealed that the optimum fiber content to reinforce cementitious materials is typically less than 5 vol%, whereas the fiber content for fiber-reinforced CPCs is usually one order of magnitude higher. This higher fiber content is partially attributed to the fact that only a moderate load transfer has been achieved for fiber-reinforced CPCs because the interface strength has not yet been optimized for bioceramic cements [92].

Finally, because mechanical testing of CPCs is not strictly regulated, caution must be exercised when comparing mechanical values from different studies, because many variables during sample preparation and testing can strongly influence the final results [78]. For example, the strength of dried samples is typically superior to that of hydrated samples, because excess water acts as a lubricant within the entangled crystal network structure of the cement. Moreover, the macroporosity and microporosity of the cement can also be heavily influenced during sample preparation, in which any precompacting of the paste would result in a denser, less porous sample that would exhibit higher strength values compared with uncompacted samples [71,85].

# CLINICAL APPLICATIONS

#### Oral, Maxillofacial, and Craniofacial Applications

CPC was first approved for human use by the US Food and Drug Administration in 1996. Since then, the number of CPC products and clinical indications has increased considerably, most notably in the oral, maxillofacial, and craniofacial fields [17]. CPCs are increasingly used in these fields because the CPC is stressed only moderately in these applications. Furthermore, the excellent handling properties of the CPC provide the ability to mold the material, which is highly advantageous from a surgeon's perspective. These cements have been used to repair neurosurgical burr holes, contiguous craniotomy cuts, and other cranial defects. They have also been indicated for use in sinus augmentation procedures and orbital reconstruction surgery [27,95]. Further information outlining CPCs use for oral, maxillofacial, and craniofacial applications can be found elsewhere [29].

# **Dental Applications**

Clinical use of CPCs for dental and intraoral applications has been relatively lacking compared with their use in other fields such as craniomaxillofacial and orthopedic indications. However, research has indicated that CPCs can be highly beneficial in a number of dental and intraoral procedures. To understand better the potential of CPCs to stimulate new bone formation for dental applications, a group of researchers conducted a study in which they implanted prefabricated CPC blocks into the alveolar bone of dogs. They started by extracting all of the mandibular premolar teeth; then they waited 1 month for the alveolar bone to reduce in size to make room to implant 8-mm CPC preset blocks. Over the course of 1 month the researchers observed that the CPC block was slowly being replaced by bone. Histopathologic images further proved that the implant site exhibited features similar to those of natural bone. In addition, it was observed that the coronal half of the implanted CPC was firmly attached to the natural bone [96]. In another study, a CPC was injected into artificially created periodontal defect sites, where it was observed that the cement acted as a scaffold for new bone growth and promoted healing of the periodontal tissue [97]. CPCs have also been indicated for use in direct pulp capping, where investigators compared a self-setting CPC with that of calcium hydroxide. It was concluded that both materials were successful in producing secondary dentin after 24 weeks [98]. Finally, other studies have shown promising results for the use of CPC in restoring enamel carious cavities, for fillings in root canal procedures, for alveolar ridge augmentation, as sinus lifts, for repair of the cleft palate, and as supportive agents for dental implants [17,29]. It has been proven over the years that CPCs can exhibit superior results in these dental applications owing to their excellent osteoconductivity, unique self-hardening properties, excellent affinity to bone defect surfaces, and gradual resorption and replacement by new bone [17].

# Orthopedic Applications

CPCs are predominantly used for orthopedic applications because of their distinctive handling and biological properties. The cements have been applied to a wide range of clinical procedures including: hip fractures, tibial plateau fractures, fixation of bone screws and titanium implants, vertebral body fillings and augmentation of osteoporotic-induced vertebral bodies, and distal radius fractures [36,99].

#### Vertebroplasty and Kyphoplasty

Two orthopedic procedures, vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty, have become increasingly popular areas in which CPCs have been employed. These procedures aim to treat osteoporosis-induced vertebral compression fractures by augmenting, stabilizing, and restoring weakened vertebra to their normal functional state and height as best as possible [100]. Vertebroplasty involves the direct injection of CPC into the fractured vertebral body, whereas an inflatable balloon tamp is used for kyphoplasty to create a cavity in the vertebral body into which CPC can then be injected to fill the cavity. Results from both procedures have shown promising results with respect to faster healing times of the vertebral body [32].

The type of CPC, and thus its properties, have a crucial role in the overall outcome and success of the procedures. For example, the CPCs must exhibit some key desirable properties such as easy injectability, excellent cohesion to prevent possible leaching of CaP particles into the bloodstream where blood clotting could be triggered, high radio-pacity, mechanical properties similar to healthy vertebral bone, and a resorption rate that is comparable to normal bone remodeling times [31]. Owing to these demands, only a few CPC formulations have been allowed for clinical use in this field, and even these formulations are not necessarily considered ideal. For example, several major topics of interest still need to be investigated in more detail to optimize and tailor CPC formulations for future use. In particular, understanding the quasi-static compressive strength and fatigue performance of CPC formulations is highly interesting, especially when considering the in vivo life expectancy of the cement [32]. Overall, it has been demonstrated that the use of CPCs for vertebral bone compression fractures has substantial clinical benefits to the point where this treatment method is on the rise and is growing in popularity [11].

# CONCLUSION

The rapid development of CPCs confirms that it exhibits unique characteristics that render these types of bioceramics highly suitable as a bone substitute material. CPCs are formed in a simple procedure by combining a CaP powder phase with a liquid phase to form a cementitious paste at body temperature. This paste undergoes a phase transformation at which it eventually hardens in vivo into a material that shares a composition similar to

#### 34. CALCIUM PHOSPHATE BIOCERAMICS AND CEMENTS

the inorganic component found in natural bone. This self-setting capability allows for CPCs to be injectable so that they can be used in minimally invasive surgical techniques; they are also moldable so that they can adapt and fit into irregularly shaped bone defect sites. Their chemical similarity to natural bone gives them excellent osteotransductive properties. The setting times as well as cohesiveness and injectability of CPCs have improved considerably, indicating that CPCs have a promising future in the field of bone regeneration. However, the perfect bone grafting material does not yet exist, and CPCs have much room for improvement and development. In particular, CPCs are still regarded as an inadequate material for use in load-bearing sites, which severely restricts their clinical applicability. Nevertheless, many CPC products have become commercially available that are suitable for several applications, particularly in dental, maxillofacial, and craniofacial surgeries. It is anticipated that a better understanding of the fracture mechanics of CPCs will lead to an improvement in their mechanical properties, which would significantly expand their clinical relevance.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

ACP Amorphous calcium phosphate CaP Calcium phosphate CDHA Calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite CPC Calcium phosphate cement CT Cohesion time DCPA Dicalcium phosphate anhydrous DCPD Dicalcium phosphate dehydrate F Final setting time HA Hydroxyapatite I Initial setting time LPR Liquid-to-powder ratio MCPM Monocalcium phosphate monohydrate **OCP** Octacalcium phosphate TTCP Tetracalcium phosphate α-TCP α-Tricalcium phosphate β-TCP β-Tricalcium phosphate

# Glossary

Cohesion The ability of a cement paste to keep its geometrical integrity during setting in an aqueous environment

Injectability The ability of the CPC paste to be extruded through a syringe, usually with a 12-gauge (i.e., 2 mm in diameter) needle 10 cm long attached to the end

Osteoconduction The ability to have bone tissue grow on a material's surface

Osteotransduction The ability of a material to be resorbed and replaced by new bone tissue

Stoichiometric The quantitative relationship between reactants and products within a chemical reaction

# References

- Johnell O, Kanis J. An estimate of the worldwide prevalence and disability associated with osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 2006; 17(12):1726–33.
- [2] Suchanek W, Yoshimura M. Processing and properties of hydroxyapatite-based biomaterials for use as hard tissue replacement implants. J Mater Res 1998;13(01):94–117.
- [3] Laurencin CT, Ambrosio A, Borden M, Cooper Jr J. Tissue engineering: orthopedic applications. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 1999;1(1):19-46.
- [4] Burg KJ, Porter S, Kellam JF. Biomaterial developments for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2000;21(23):2347–59.
- [5] Tancred D, McCormack B, Carr A. A synthetic bone implant macroscopically identical to cancellous bone. Biomaterials 1998;19(24):2303-11.
- [6] Enneking WF, Eady J, Burchardt H. Autogenous cortical bone grafts in the reconstruction of segmental skeletal defects. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1980;62(7):1039–58.
- [7] Yoshikawa H, Tamai N, Murase T, Myoui A. Interconnected porous hydroxyapatite ceramics for bone tissue engineering. J R Soc Interface 2009;6(Suppl. 3):S341–8. rsif. 2008.0425. focus.
- [8] Atala A. Synthetic biodegradable polymer scaffolds. Springer Science & Business Media; 1997.
- [9] Albee FH. Studies in bone growth: triple calcium phosphate as a stimulus to osteogenesis. Ann Surg 1920;71(1):32.
- [10] Al-Sanabani JS, Madfa AA, Al-Sanabani FA. Application of calcium phosphate materials in dentistry. Int J Biomater 2013:2013.
- [11] Low KL, Tan SH, Zein SHS, Roether JA, Mouriño V, Boccaccini AR. Calcium phosphate-based composites as injectable bone substitute materials. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2010;94(1):273–86.
- [12] Elliott JC. Structure and chemistry of the apatites and other calcium orthophosphates. Elsevier; 2013.
- [13] Navarro M, Michiardi A, Castano O, Planell J. Biomaterials in orthopaedics. J R Soc Interface 2008;5(27):1137-58.
- [14] Bohner M. Calcium orthophosphates in medicine: from ceramics to calcium phosphate cements. Injury 2000;31:D37-47.

#### REFERENCES

- [15] Bohner M. Design of ceramic-based cements and putties for bone graft substitution. Eur Cell Mater 2010;20(1):3-10.
- [16] Dorozhkin SV. Calcium orthophosphates: applications in nature, biology, and medicine. CRC Press; 2012.
- [17] Chow LC. Next generation calcium phosphate-based biomaterials. Dent Mater J 2009;28(1):1–10.
- [18] Tadic D, Epple M. A thorough physicochemical characterisation of 14 calcium phosphate-based bone substitution materials in comparison to natural bone. Biomaterials 2004;25(6):987–94.
- [19] LeGeros RZ. Biodegradation and bioresorption of calcium phosphate ceramics. Clin Mater 1993;14(1):65-88.
- [20] Nery EB, Lynch KL, Rooney GE. Alveolar ridge augmentation with tricalcium phosphate ceramic. J Prosthet Dent 1978;40(6):668-75.
- [21] Frame JW. Hydroxyapatite as a biomaterial for alveolar ridge augmentation. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1987;16(6):642-55.
- [22] Quayle A, Marouf H, Holland I. Alveolar ridge augmentation using a new design of inflatable tissue expander: surgical technique and preliminary results. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1990;28(6):375–82.
- [23] Weiss P, Gauthier O, Bouler J-M, Grimandi G, Daculsi G. Injectable bone substitute using a hydrophilic polymer. Bone 1999;25(2):67S-70S.
- [24] Daculsi G. Biphasic calcium phosphate concept applied to artificial bone, implant coating and injectable bone substitute. Biomaterials 1998; 19(16):1473–8.
- [25] Brown WE, Chow LC. Dental resptorative cement pastes. 1985. Google Patents.
- [26] Bohner M, Gbureck U, Barralet J. Technological issues for the development of more efficient calcium phosphate bone cements: a critical assessment. Biomaterials 2005;26(33):6423-9.
- [27] Friedman CD, Costantino PD, Takagi S, Chow LC. BoneSource<sup>™</sup> hydroxyapatite cement: a novel biomaterial for craniofacial skeletal tissue engineering and reconstruction. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;43(4):428–32.
- [28] Frayssinet P, Gineste L, Conte P, Fages J, Rouquet N. Short-term implantation effects of a DCPD-based calcium phosphate cement. Biomaterials 1998;19(11):971–7.
- [29] Dorozhkin SV. Self-setting calcium orthophosphate formulations. J Funct Biomater 2013;4(4):209–311.
- [30] Schmitz JP, Hollinger JO, Milam SB. Reconstruction of bone using calcium phosphate bone cements: a critical review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1999;57(9):1122-6.
- [31] Heini P, Berlemann U. Bone substitutes in vertebroplasty. Eur Spine J 2001;10(2):S205-13.
- [32] Lewis G. Injectable bone cements for use in vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty: state-of-the-art review. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2006;76(2):456–68.
- [33] Brunner TJ, Grass RN, Bohner M, Stark WJ. Effect of particle size, crystal phase and crystallinity on the reactivity of tricalcium phosphate cements for bone reconstruction. J Mater Chem 2007;17(38):4072–8.
- [34] Bohner M, Brunner TJ, Stark WJ. Controlling the reactivity of calcium phosphate cements. J Mater Chem 2008;18(46):5669-75.
- [35] Yuan H, Li Y, De Bruijn J, De Groot K, Zhang X. Tissue responses of calcium phosphate cement: a study in dogs. Biomaterials 2000;21(12): 1283–90.
- [36] Constantz BR, Ison IC, Fulmer MT, Poser RD, Smith ST, VanWagoner M, et al. Skeletal repair by in situ formation of the mineral phase of bone. Science 1995;267(5205):1796–9.
- [37] Miyamoto Y, Ishikawa K, Takechi M, Toh T, Yuasa T, Nagayama M, et al. Histological and compositional evaluations of three types of calcium phosphate cements when implanted in subcutaneous tissue immediately after mixing. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;48(1):36–42.
- [38] Mirtchi AA, Lemaitre J, Terao N. Calcium phosphate cements: study of the β-tricalcium phosphate—monocalcium phosphate system. Biomaterials 1989;10(7):475–80.
- [39] Bohner M, Van Landuyt P, Merkle H, Lemaitre J. Composition effects on the pH of a hydraulic calcium phosphate cement. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1997;8(11):675–81.
- [40] Bohner M. Physical and chemical aspects of calcium phosphates used in spinal surgery. Eur Spine J 2001;10(2):S114-21.
- [41] Bohner M, Merkle H, Van Landuyt P, Trophardy G, Lemaitre J. Effect of several additives and their admixtures on the physico-chemical properties of a calcium phosphate cement. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2000;11(2):111–6.
- [42] Mariño FT, Torres J, Hamdan M, Rodríguez CR, Cabarcos EL. Advantages of using glycolic acid as a retardant in a brushite forming cement. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2007;83(2):571–9.
- [43] Dorozhkin SV. Calcium orthophosphate cements for biomedical application. J Mater Sci 2008;43(9):3028-57.
- [44] Lacout J, Mejdoubi E, Hamad M. Crystallization mechanisms of calcium phosphate cement for biological uses. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1996; 7(6):371–4.
- [45] Zoulgami M, Lucas A, Briard P, Gaudé J. A self-setting single-component calcium phosphate cement. Biomaterials 2001;22(13):1933-7.
- [46] Ginebra M, Driessens F, Planell J. Effect of the particle size on the micro and nanostructural features of a calcium phosphate cement: a kinetic analysis. Biomaterials 2004;25(17):3453–62.
- [47] Liu C, Shao H, Chen F, Zheng H. Effects of the granularity of raw materials on the hydration and hardening process of calcium phosphate cement. Biomaterials 2003;24(23):4103–13.
- [48] Driessens F, Boltong M, Bermudez O, Planell J. Formulation and setting times of some calcium orthophosphate cements: a pilot study. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1993;4(5):503-8.
- [49] Khairoun I, Boltong M, Driessens F, Planell J. Limited compliance of some apatitic calcium phosphate bone cements with clinical requirements. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1998;9(11):667–71.
- [50] Despas C, Schnitzler V, Janvier P, Fayon F, Massiot D, Bouler J-M, et al. High-frequency impedance measurement as a relevant tool for monitoring the apatitic cement setting reaction. Acta Biomater 2014;10(2):940–50.
- [51] Bohner M. Reactivity of calcium phosphate cements. J Mater Chem 2007;17(38):3980-6.
- [52] Ginebra M-P, Canal C, Espanol M, Pastorino D, Montufar EB. Calcium phosphate cements as drug delivery materials. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012;64(12):1090–110.
- [53] Burguera EF, Xu HH, Weir MD. Injectable and rapid-setting calcium phosphate bone cement with dicalcium phosphate dihydrate. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2006;77(1):126–34.
- [54] Leroux L, Hatim Z, Freche M, Lacout J. Effects of various adjuvants (lactic acid, glycerol, and chitosan) on the injectability of a calcium phosphate cement. Bone 1999;25(2):31S-4S.

#### 34. CALCIUM PHOSPHATE BIOCERAMICS AND CEMENTS

- [55] Bohner M, Luginbühl R, Reber C, Doebelin N, Baroud G, Conforto E. A physical approach to modify the hydraulic reactivity of α-tricalcium phosphate powder. Acta Biomater 2009;5(9):3524–35.
- [56] Bohner M, Baroud G. Injectability of calcium phosphate pastes. Biomaterials 2005;26(13):1553-63.
- [57] Khairoun I, Boltong M, Driessens FM, Planell J. Some factors controlling the injectability of calcium phosphate bone cements. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1998;9(8):425–8.
- [58] Burguera EF, Xu HH, Sun L. Injectable calcium phosphate cement: effects of powder-to-liquid ratio and needle size. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2008;84(2):493–502.
- [59] Montufar E, Maazouz Y, Ginebra M. Relevance of the setting reaction to the injectability of tricalcium phosphate pastes. Acta Biomater 2013; 9(4):6188–98.
- [60] Bohner M, Doebelin N, Baroud G. Theoretical and experimental approach to test the cohesion of calcium phosphate pastes. Eur Cell Mater 2006;12(1473–2262):26–35.
- [61] Wang X, Ye J, Wang H. Effects of additives on the rheological properties and injectability of a calcium phosphate bone substitute material. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2006;78(2):259–64.
- [62] Ratier A, Freche M, Lacout J, Rodriguez F. Behaviour of an injectable calcium phosphate cement with added tetracycline. Int J Pharm 2004; 274(1):261–8.
- [63] Habib M, Baroud G, Gitzhofer F, Bohner M. Mechanisms underlying the limited injectability of hydraulic calcium phosphate paste. Acta Biomater 2008;4(5):1465–71.
- [64] Gbureck U, Barralet JE, Spatz K, Grover LM, Thull R. Ionic modification of calcium phosphate cement viscosity. Part I: hypodermic injection and strength improvement of apatite cement. Biomaterials 2004;25(11):2187–95.
- [65] Baroud G, Cayer E, Bohner M. Rheological characterization of concentrated aqueous β-tricalcium phosphate suspensions: the effect of liquid-to-powder ratio, milling time, and additives. Acta Biomater 2005;1(3):357–63.
- [66] Sarda S, Fernandez E, Nilsson M, Balcells M, Planell J. Kinetic study of citric acid influence on calcium phosphate bone cements as waterreducing agent. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;61(4):653–9.
- [67] Cherng A, Takagi S, Chow L. Effects of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose and other gelling agents on the handling properties of calcium phosphate cement. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;35(3):273–7.
- [68] Hesaraki S, Moztarzadeh F, Sharifi D. Formation of interconnected macropores in apatitic calcium phosphate bone cement with the use of an effervescent additive. J Biomed Mater Res 2007;83(1):80–7.
- [69] Bigi A, Bracci B, Panzavolta S. Effect of added gelatin on the properties of calcium phosphate cement. Biomaterials 2004;25(14):2893-9.
- [70] Liu C, Shao H, Chen F, Zheng H. Rheological properties of concentrated aqueous injectable calcium phosphate cement slurry. Biomaterials 2006;27(29):5003–13.
- [71] Ishikawa K, Miyamoto Y, Kon M, Nagayama M, Asaoka K. Non-decay type fast-setting calcium phosphate cement: composite with sodium alginate. Biomaterials 1995;16(7):527–32.
- [72] An J, Liao H, Kucko NW, Herber RP, Wolke JG, van den Beucken JJ, et al. Long-term evaluation of the degradation behavior of three apatiteforming calcium phosphate cements. J Biomed Mater Res 2016;104(5):1072–81.
- [73] Chow LC, Eanes ED. Octacalcium phosphate. Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers; 2001.
- [74] Dorozhkin SV. Calcium orthophosphate-based biocomposites and hybrid biomaterials. J Mater Sci 2009;44(9):2343-87.
- [75] Canal C, Ginebra M. Fibre-reinforced calcium phosphate cements: a review. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2011;4(8):1658-71.
- [76] Zhang J, Liu W, Schnitzler V, Tancret F, Bouler J-M. Calcium phosphate cements for bone substitution: chemistry, handling and mechanical properties. Acta Biomater 2014;10(3):1035–49.
- [77] Morgan JP, Dauskardt RH. Notch strength insensitivity of self-setting hydroxyapatite bone cements. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2003;14(7): 647-53.
- [78] Geffers M, Groll J, Gbureck U. Reinforcement strategies for load-bearing calcium phosphate biocements. Materials 2015;8(5):2700-17.
- [79] Krüger R, Groll J. Fiber reinforced calcium phosphate cements—On the way to degradable load bearing bone substitutes? Biomaterials 2012; 33(25):5887—900.
- [80] Wang J, Liu C, Liu Y, Zhang S. Double-network interpenetrating bone cement via in situ hybridization protocol. Adv Funct Mater 2010; 20(22):3997–4011.
- [81] Dos Santos LA, Carrodeguas RG, Boschi AO, De Arruda AC. Dual-setting calcium phosphate cement modified with ammonium polyacrylate. Artif Organs 2003;27(5):412-8.
- [82] Engstrand J, Persson C, Engqvist H. The effect of composition on mechanical properties of brushite cements. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2014;29:81–90.
- [83] Hofmann M, Mohammed A, Perrie Y, Gbureck U, Barralet J. High-strength resorbable brushite bone cement with controlled drug-releasing capabilities. Acta Biomater 2009;5(1):43–9.
- [84] Barralet J, Gaunt T, Wright A, Gibson I, Knowles J. Effect of porosity reduction by compaction on compressive strength and microstructure of calcium phosphate cement. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;63(1):1–9.
- [85] Chow L, Hirayama S, Takagi S, Parry E. Diametral tensile strength and compressive strength of a calcium phosphate cement: effect of applied pressure. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;53(5):511–7.
- [86] Gbureck U, Spatz K, Thull R, Barralet J. Rheological enhancement of mechanically activated α-tricalcium phosphate cements. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2005;73(1):1–6.
- [87] Barralet JE, Tremayne M, Lilley KJ, Gbureck U. Modification of calcium phosphate cement with α-hydroxy acids and their salts. Chem Mater 2005;17(6):1313–9.
- [88] Greish Y, Brown P, Bender J, Allcock H, Lakshmi S, Laurencin C. Hydroxyapatite-polyphosphazane composites prepared at low temperatures. J Am Ceram Soc 2007;90(9):2728-34.
- [89] Christel T, Kuhlmann M, Vorndran E, Groll J, Gbureck U. Dual setting α-tricalcium phosphate cements. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2013;24(3): 573–81.
- [90] Geffers M, Barralet JE, Groll J, Gbureck U. Dual-setting brushite-silica gel cements. Acta Biomater 2015;11:467-76.

- [91] Alkhraisat MH, Rueda C, Jerez LB, Mariño FT, Torres J, Gbureck U, et al. Effect of silica gel on the cohesion, properties and biological performance of brushite cement. Acta Biomater 2010;6(1):257–65.
- [92] Xu HH, Eichmiller FC, Giuseppetti AA. Reinforcement of a self-setting calcium phosphate cement with different fibers. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;52(1):107–14.
- [93] Ritchie RO. The conflicts between strength and toughness. Nat Mater 2011;10(11):817-22.
- [94] Brandt AM. Cement-based composites: materials, mechanical properties and performance. CRC Press; 2009.
- [95] Aral A, Yalçın S, Karabuda ZC, Anıl A, Jansen JA, Mutlu Z. Injectable calcium phosphate cement as a graft material for maxillary sinus augmentation: an experimental pilot study. Clin Oral Implants Res 2008;19(6):612–7.
- [96] Sugawara A, Fujikawa K, Kusama K, Nishiyama M, Murai S, Takagi S, et al. Histopathologic reaction of a calcium phosphate cement for alveolar ridge augmentation. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;61(1):47–52.
- [97] Shirakata Y, Oda S, Kinoshita A, Kikuchi S, Tsuchioka H, Ishikawa I. Histocompatible healing of periodontal defects after application of an injectable calcium phosphate bone cement. A preliminary study in dogs. J Periodontol 2002;73(9):1043–53.
- [98] Lee S-K, Lee S-K, Lee S-I, Park J-H, Jang J-H, Kim H-W, et al. Effect of calcium phosphate cements on growth and odontoblastic differentiation in human dental pulp cells. J Endod 2010;36(9):1537-42.
- [99] Ryf C, Goldhahn S, Radziejowski M, Blauth M, Hanson B. A new injectable brushite cement: first results in distal radius and proximal tibia fractures. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg 2009;35(4):389–96.
- [100] Ferguson SJ, Steffen T. Biomechanics of the aging spine. Eur Spine J 2003;12(2):S97–103.

This page intentionally left blank

# Biologic Scaffolds Composed of Extracellular Matrix for Regenerative Medicine

Michelle Scarritt, Mark Murdock, Stephen F. Badylak University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The goal of regenerative medicine is to rebuild or replace damaged tissues and enable structural and functional restoration of the tissue. Many regenerative medicine strategies involve the use of scaffolds composed of synthetic polymers or biologic materials. The purposes of these scaffolds are to provide at least temporary mechanical support and to act as a temporal and spatial guide to promote cell attachment, migration, proliferation, and/or differentiation during the development of site-specific neotissues. Synthetic scaffold materials have a known chemistry that permits controlled chemical and structural modification such that they can be manufactured to almost any physical and mechanical specifications. However, synthetic materials invariably elicit a proinflammatory host response and occasionally can elicit a foreign body response. Bioscaffolds composed of extracellular matrices (ECM) as well as those composed of purified individual components of ECM (such as collagen) have also been used as surgical mesh materials. Numerous biologic scaffolds have been used in human clinical applications to treat a variety of tissue defects (Table 35.1). Biologic scaffolds are not as fine-tunable as synthetic scaffolds; however, biologic materials are typically more biocompatible and have inductive properties that can modulate cell behavior [1]. This chapter discusses the production and application of biologic scaffolds.

# EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX: FUNCTION AND COMPONENTS

ECM consists of a complex mixture of structural macromolecules and bioactive factors which not only act as scaffolding for cellular growth and motility, which gives shape to tissues, but as a bioactive, instructional environment that can regulate multiple facets of cell behavior including adhesion, migration, differentiation, proliferation, and even survival.

All multicellular organisms produce ECM although the composition can vary greatly between species. Plant ECM, for example, includes components of the cell wall, such as the polysaccharide cellulose. Chitosan, a biopolymer that has abundant commercial and biomedical applications, is derived from chitin, a nitrogenous polysaccharide that is a component of the exoskeleton of insects and crustaceans, the radulae of mollusks, the scales of fish and amphibians, and the beaks or shells of cephalopods [2]. Although these polysaccharides can be considered naturally occurring scaffold materials, they will not be discussed in this chapter. Here, the focus is on mammalian ECM, which is highly conserved among species and includes the basement membrane and the interstitial matrix between cells.

The basement membrane is a thin, fibrous, sheet-like matrix that underlies an epithelium, mesothelium, or endothelium. The interstitial matrix, on the other hand, is a gel consisting of proteins and polysaccharides that surround cells and act as a compression buffer. Resident cells produce and assemble the components of the ECM intracellularly and then secrete them into the extracellular space by exocytosis. Once secreted, these components assemble to

Product	Company	Material	Processing	Applications
AlloDerm <sup>TM</sup>	LifeCell Corporation	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue repair
AlloMax <sup>TM</sup>	Becton, Dickinson and Company	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue repair
AlloPatch®	Musculoskeletal Transplant Foundation	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Tendon and soft tissue repair
ArthroFlex®	Arthrex	Human dermis	Preservon proprietary preservation process	Soft tissue repair
Axis <sup>TM</sup>	Coloplast	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Pelvic organ prolapse and stress urinary incontinence
AxoGuard®	AxoGen	Porcine SIS	Multilaminar sheets	Nerve repair
BellaDerm	MTF Biologics	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Repair integumental tissue or soft tissue
Biodesign®	Cook Biotech	Porcine SIS	Natural, dry sheet	Dura mater repair
CorMatrix®	Cook Biotech	Porcine SIS	Natural, dry sheet	Cardiac tissue repair
DermACELL®	Stryker	Human dermis	Preservon proprietary preservation process	Soft tissue repair
DermaMatrix <sup>TM</sup>	DePuy Synthes	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Repair integumental tissue or soft tissue
DuraGuard	Baxter	Bovine pericardium	Cross-linked, hydrated sheet	Dura mater and soft tissue repair
DuraMatrix®	Stryker	Bovine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Dura mater repair
FlexHD®	Ethicon	Human dermis	Natural, hydrated sheet	Soft tissue repair
Glyaderm®	Euro Skin Bank	Human dermis	Preserved in 85% glycerol	Dermal repair and plastic surgery
GraftJacket <sup>TM</sup>	Wright Medical Group	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Tendon and ligament repair
Integra HuMend <sup>TM</sup>	Integra LifeSciences	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue reconstruction
Integra® Reinforcement Matrix	Integra LifeSciences	Porcine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue reconstruction and tendon repair
MIRODERM®	MiroMatrix Medical Inc	Porcine liver	Sheet cut from decellularized organ	Wound repair
MIROMESH®	MiroMatrix Medical Inc	Porcine liver	Sheet cut from decellularized organ	Soft tissue repair
OASIS® Wound Matrix	Smith & Nephew	Porcine SIS	Natural, dry sheet	Wound repair
Peri-Guard®	Baxter	Bovine pericardium	Cross-linked, dry sheet	Pericardial and soft tissue repair
PerioDerm <sup>TM</sup>	MTF Biologics	Human dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Dental, integumental, and soft tissue repair
Permacol <sup>TM</sup>	Medtronic	Porcine dermis	Cross-linked sheet	Soft tissue repair
PriMatrix®	Integra LifeSciences	Fetal bovine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Wound repair
SurgiMend®	Integra LifeSciences	Fetal bovine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue repair
Suspend®	Coloplast	Human fascia lata	Natural, dry sheet	Prolapse and stress urinary incontinence

# TABLE 35.1 Examples of Extracellular Matrix-Based Products

Product	Company	Material	Processing	Applications
TissueMend®	Stryker	Fetal bovine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Tendon repair
Vascu-Guard®	Synovis Surgical	Bovine pericardium	Cross-linked, hydrated sheet	Vascular reconstruction
Veritas <sup>TM</sup>	Baxter	Bovine pericardium	Cross-linked, hydrated sheet	Soft tissue repair
Xenform <sup>TM</sup>	Boston Scientific	Fetal bovine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue repair
XenMatrix <sup>TM</sup>	Becton, Dickinson and Company	Porcine dermis	Natural, dry sheet	Soft tissue repair
Zimmer Collagen Repair Patch®	Zimmer Biomet	Porcine dermis	Cross-linked, hydrated sheet	Tendon repair

TABL	E 35.1	Examples of	Extracellular	Matrix-Base	ed Products—	·cont'd
------	--------	-------------	---------------	-------------	--------------	---------

SIS, small intestinal submucosa.

form a fibrous mesh. The composition of ECM is tissue-specific, highly dynamic, and crucially important in organ and tissue development, homeostasis, and response to injury. Each component of the ECM participates in the continuous cross-talk between cells and their environment. This general mechanism is known as dynamic reciprocity and is capable of influencing gene expression [3] (Fig. 35.1).

The ECM consists of proteins, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), glycoproteins, and small molecules that function individually and in conjunction to support and influence cell behavior. The main components are discussed in more detail subsequently; there are excellent textbooks and reviews that describe the ECM in depth [4].

# Collagen

Collagen is the most abundant protein in the human body. Fittingly, it is also the most common biologic scaffold material. The main function of collagen is to give structural support to resident cells. The domain structure of collagen is unique: a triple helix consisting of three distinct  $\alpha$ -chains called "tropocollagen" [5]. Proper three-dimensional (3D) folding requires a glycine residue in every third position of the individual  $\alpha$ -chains with prolines and hydroxyprolines often flanking the glycines. The helical structure is further stabilized via hydrogen bonds between the chains such that the resulting structure is highly stable.

The compliance of a tissue containing collagen depends on the form and arrangement of collagens as well as the degree of mineralization [6]. Accordingly, the 28 types of collagen have been categorized into several structural classes including fibrillar (types I, II, III, V, and XI), fibril-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices (types IX, XII, XIV, XVI, and XIX), short-chain (types VIII and X), basement membrane (type IV), multiple triple helix domains with interruptions (types XV and XVIII), membrane-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices (types XIII)



FIGURE 35.1 ECM-cell interactions are a two-way street. Although the ECM originates from the resident cells, the relationship between the ECM and cells is a feedback loop. Dynamic reciprocity, a mechanism whereby ECM could influence gene expression which in turn would modify and influence cell-secreted products, was proposed in 1982 by Mina Bissell [3a]. Multiple groups have since demonstrated that the ECM is able to affect cell signaling directly not only by acting as a reservoir for growth factors and other cell-secreted molecules, but also directly through mechanotransduction. Cells are constantly degrading, secreting, and remodeling their environment and thus dictate the composition, mechanics, and geometry of the ECM. In turn, the ECM is able to affect the morphology, polarity, and phenotype of cells, which ultimately affects cell and tissue function. *ECM*, extracellular matrix.

#### 35. BIOLOGIC SCAFFOLDS COMPOSED OF EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

and XVII), and other (types VI and VII) [7]. Type I collagen accounts for over 90% of the collagen in the human body and is found in fibrous tissues such as skin and tendons. Fibroblasts are the most common cell type that produces collagen. In addition to its structural properties, collagen has inherent functional properties such as the stimulation or inhibition of angiogenesis and the promotion of cellular proliferation, differentiation, and attachment [8]. For these reasons, collagen is often used as a coating for cell culture vessels not only to promote cell attachment but also to influence cell phenotype.

As the main component of connective tissue, collagen is a highly conserved protein that is ubiquitous among mammalian species and accounts for approximately 25%–35% of all body proteins [9]. Inherent common amino acid sequences and epitope structures exist within collagen molecules across species [10,11]. These common antigens appear to account for the lack of an adverse immune response when xenogeneic collagen is used as an implantable scaffold material. Upon implantation, if left in its native ultrastructure, collagen implants are subjected to the fundamental biological processes of degradation and integration into adjacent host tissues. However, structural modifications such as chemical cross-linking may retard or prevent degradation and integration.

Collagen can be extracted from tissues such as tendons and ligaments, solubilized, and then reconstituted into fine strands that then can be fashioned to mimic body structures such as heart valves, blood vessels, and skin. Although collagen provides considerable mechanical strength in its natural state, the necessary mechanical and physical properties of tissue engineered products for cardiovascular and orthopedic use often require chemical manipulation of collagen-based materials. Extracted and reconstituted collagen is usually stabilized by chemical cross-linking methods and then terminally sterilized by irradiation or ethylene oxide treatment before clinical use. Chemical processing methods include glutaraldehyde treatment, carbodiimide treatment, dye-mediated photo-oxidation, exposure to polyepoxy compounds, and glycerol treatment. Most methods of chemical cross-linking increase the strength of collagen at the cost of decreasing the rate of in vivo degradation and negatively affecting cell attachment, proliferation, differentiation, and tissue remodeling. Exposure to chemical cross-linking agents can also change the biocompatibility of a collagen-based material, leading to a foreign body response.

Bovine and porcine type I collagen provide readily available sources of ECM scaffold material for numerous clinical applications. Isolated collagen and collagen scaffolds have been widely used in cosmetic surgery, bone grafts, artificial skin for burns, wound care, and multiple other reconstructive applications. Examples of collagen scaffolds include Contigen (Becton, Dickinson and Company, Franklin Lakes, NJ), CosmoDerm and CosmoPlast (Allergan, Inc., Santa Barbara, CA), CollaGUARD/Collieva and CollaRx (Innocoll, Inc., Ashburn, VA), Chondro-Gide (Geistlich Pharma AG, Wolhusen, Switzerland), and Menaflex (formerly Collagen Meniscal Implant [CMI]; ReGen Biologics, Inc., Franklin Lakes, NJ).

For these reasons, collagen has become a favorite substrate for many tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. The tissue and species source of collagen and its treatment before use are important considerations in the design of tissue engineered devices.

# Fibronectin

There are two forms of fibronectin in animals: soluble plasma fibronectin and insoluble cellular fibronectin. The soluble form is produced by the hepatocytes of the liver and is a major component of blood. Deposition of plasma fibronectin at a wound site leads to the formation of a blood clot, which is critical to proper wound healing [12]. The insoluble form is a glycoprotein within the ECM. This form of fibronectin is secreted by cells, mainly fibroblasts, as a soluble protein dimer that is subsequently clustered with other fibronectins and arranged into an insoluble fibril matrix.

Fibronectin is a protein dimer consisting of two nearly identical approximately 250-kDa polypeptide chains linked by a pair of C-terminal disulfide bonds [13]. Each monomer consists of repeating units termed types I, II, and III [14]. Type I repeating units are approximately 40 amino acids long; they contain two disulfide bonds and appear 12 times in a single fibronectin. Type II units are approximately 60 amino acids long; they contain two disulfide bonds and appear twice in a fibronectin molecule. Type III units are 90 amino acids long; they contain no disulfide bonds and appear 15–17 times. The lack of disulfide bonds in type III units permits partial unfolding under applied force [15]. All three types form a  $\beta$  sandwich composed of two antiparallel  $\beta$ -sheets. Although a single gene encodes fibronectin, a number of splice variants exist, resulting in at least 20 variants in humans [16]. Splicing can occur within type III repeats, leading to "extra" units termed EIIIA (between repeats III<sub>11</sub> and III<sub>12</sub>) and EIIIB (between III<sub>7</sub> and III<sub>8</sub>). Between III<sub>14</sub> and III<sub>15</sub> is a nonhomologous stretch of amino acids of variable length called the V-region, which represents another site for alternative splicing. This V-region can be partially or completely excluded, which subsequently leads to the exclusion of an integrin  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  binding domain. These repeating units

616

and splice variants are arranged into several functional domains that permit fibronectin to bind to collagen, heparin, chondroitin sulfate, heparan sulfate, fibrin, other fibronectins, and integrins  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha \nu \beta 1$ ,  $\alpha \nu \beta 3$ ,  $\alpha 5\beta 6$ ,  $\alpha 3\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 8\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha IIb\beta 3$ , and  $\alpha 4\beta 1$ . Integrins are transmembrane receptors that facilitate cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions and can relay information to the cell about the composition and mechanics of the ECM. The sequence arginine-glycine-aspartate (known as the RGD sequence) is located within III<sub>10</sub> and is the site for cell attachment via  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  and  $\alpha V\beta 3$  integrins. Thus, fibronectin is involved in cell adhesion, migration, differentiation, and growth.

Because of its cell-binding RGD sequence, recombinant fibronectin is often used to coat culture vessels to promote cell attachment and proliferation [17]. For these reasons, fibronectin has been conjugated to porous 3D poly(carbonate) urethane scaffolds for vascular tissue engineering and poly(D,L-lactide-*co*-glycolide) scaffolds for periodontal tissue engineering, among others [18,19]. One interesting preclinical study used modified fibronectin fragments to bind soluble growth factors and integrins simultaneously; injection of these growth factor–loaded fragments was able to improve wound healing and bone regeneration [20].

# Laminin

Laminins are high—molecular weight, heterotrimeric proteins that are found in the basement membrane, specifically the basal laminae. Laminins contain an  $\alpha$ -chain, a  $\beta$ -chain, and a  $\gamma$ -chain. There are five genetic variants of the  $\alpha$ -chain, four of the  $\beta$ -chain, and three of the  $\gamma$ -chain. To date, 15 heterotrimers resulting from unique combinations of these chain variants have been identified in vivo, 12 of which were identified in mammals [21]. Unlike collagen, laminins do not form fibers. Instead, they self-assemble and self-bind to form independent mesh-like structures. Laminins also associate with nidogens and collagens via entactin, fibronectin, and perlecan. Through these intermolecular bonds, a network is formed that allows the basal lamina to resist tensile forces.

Heparan sulfates,  $\beta 1$  and  $\beta 4$  integrins, dystroglycan, and other surface receptors are able to bind directly to laminin moieties. The binding of laminin to these receptors and receptor-like proteins facilitates cell adhesion, migration, and differentiation [21].

With regard to the use of laminin as a biologic scaffold, laminins are a critical component of matrix materials generated from the basement membrane of tissues via decellularization, a topic that will be discussed later in the chapter. On their own, laminins have been used as a substrate for culturing cells in vitro. Two groups demonstrated that mouse embryonic stem cells can be grown on recombinant laminin-511 for long-term culture [22,23]. Human embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells have also been grown with recombinant laminin 511 without the need for a feeder layer [24].

# Elastin

As its name implies, elastin lends elasticity to tissues so that it can return to its original shape after stretching or contracting. Elastin is particularly prevalent in the ECM of the lungs, skin, ligaments, and blood vessels, where physiological forces result in intermittent stretching. Similar to fibronectin, elastin is synthesized from only one gene, but it can undergo extensive alternative splicing, resulting in tissue-specific elastin variants. Fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells secrete a soluble, nonglycosylated, hydrophobic form of elastin known as tropoelastin. These elastin precursors undergo posttranslational modification and are packaged inside chaperone molecules and secreted. In the extracellular space, tropoelastins covalently bind by patterning alternating hydrophobic and hydrophilic sequences to form a highly insoluble, cross-linked array, a process known as coacervation [25]. The tropoelastin coacervates are associated with microfibrils, particularly fibrillin-1, by the molecules fibulin-5 and fibulin-4 [26]. Lysyl oxidases cross-link the tropoelastins; after the formation of a multitude of cross-links between the tropoelastin monomers, the resulting elastin polymer becomes an insoluble fiber [27].

Electrospun recombinant human tropoelastin has been evaluated for use in wound healing [28]. Commercially, it is marketed as a product called Dermalastyl or Elastatropin for use in skin care to prevent wrinkles.

#### Glycosaminoglycans/Proteoglycans

GAG are long unbranched polysaccharides consisting of a repeating disaccharide unit. GAG are classified into four groups based on their core disaccharide: heparin/heparin sulfate, chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate, keratan sulfate, and hyaluronic acid (HA). All GAG are synthesized in the Golgi apparatus except HA, which is synthesized at the cell membrane. Unlike protein or nucleic acid synthesis, GAG production is not template driven. GAG are highly heterogeneous because they are subjected to dynamic modification by processing enzymes [29]. These modifications include sulfation and epimerization, which make GAG highly polar and allow them to attract water molecules and bind cations such as calcium, potassium, and sodium. Thus, GAG are able to act as a physiological lubricant or shock absorber.

One or more GAG covalently bonded to a protein are considered a proteoglycan. Proteoglycans are heavily glycosylated proteins. The protein core of the proteoglycan is synthesized in the rough endoplasmic reticulum and then posttranslationally modified with glycosylations in the Golgi apparatus. A tetrasaccharide bridge connects a GAG to a serine residue of a protein core.

Chondroitin sulfate is the most prevalent GAG. It is usually found as part of a proteoglycan, and its function largely depends on the protein to which it is attached. As part of a large aggregating proteoglycan, such as aggrecan, neurocan, versican, or brevican, chondroitin sulfate is critical to maintaining the structural integrity of a tissue. Aggrecan is a major component of cartilage in which chondroitin sulfate lends its highly charged sulfate groups to attract water and provide electrostatic repulsion to generate resistance to compression. Chondroitin can be extracted from the cartilage of cow and pig tissues for use as a biologic. Thus far, it has been investigated as a dietary supplement, drug, or injection in clinical trials to alleviate osteoarthritis; however, the symptomatic benefit is reported to be minimal [30].

Dermatan sulfate is distinguished from chondroitin sulfate by the presence of iduronic acid instead of glucuronic acid. Like chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate is found in proteoglycans such as decorin, biglycan, and versican. Dermatan sulfate is mostly found in skin, but it is also present in tendons, blood vessels, heart valves, intestinal mucosa, and lungs, where it may have a role in coagulation, wound repair, response to infection, differentiation, morphogenesis, cell migration, carcinogenesis, and fibrosis [31]. Although the clinical application of dermatan sulfate is limited, companies such as Bioibérica (Barcelona, Spain) manufacture and sell it for potential use in enhancing wound repair or preventing coagulation.

Keratan sulfate is found in cornea, bone, nervous tissue, and cartilage, where it is part of proteoglycans such as lumican, mimecan, aggrecan, osteoadherin, keratocan, and fibromodulin. Like other GAG, it is highly hydrated and is able to absorb shock experienced by joints. Keratan sulfate has been demonstrated to be absent or aberrant in macular corneal dystrophy [32]; however, keratan sulfate has no widespread clinical uses.

Heparan sulfate is found in all animal tissues in various proteoglycan forms. Transmembrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans such as syndecans and glypicans are critical to cell signaling processes. Other proteoglycans are integral to the basement membrane, such as perlecan and agrin. Heparan sulfate can also be bound to a variety of extracellular proteins including collagen XVIII, growth factors, chemokines, cytokines, enzymes, and coagulation factors. Thus, heparan sulfate has a critical role in regulating developmental and biologic processes. Largely based on its ability to bind growth factors and cytokines, heparan sulfate and its mimics have been reported to promote wound repair and tissue regeneration [33,34].

Unlike other GAG, HA (also known as hyaluronan) is a polysaccharide that is not sulfated and is not found as a proteoglycan. HA is synthesized by integral membrane hyaluronan synthases that directly extrude it into the extracellular space [35]. HA is able to absorb significant amounts of water to act as a swelling force that permits tissues to resist compression. Thus, it is most commonly found in load-bearing joints and in the ECM of tissues such as skin, cartilage, connective tissue, epithelial tissue, and neural tissue [36,37]. HA is also found in nonanimal sources such as roots and tubers (potatoes and sweet potatoes) [38]. In addition to mechanical support, HA influences cell proliferation and migration. Moreover, HA facilitates these cellular functions during the late stages of wound healing and acts as a promoter of inflammation in the early stages [39]. HA has been extensively investigated as a natural scaffold material for tissue reconstruction. It has been used clinically in an injectable form for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee, for cosmetic surgery as a dermal filler, and for ophthalmic surgery, among other applications. Examples of HA-based materials include Belotero (Merz Aesthetics, Raleigh, NC), JUVÉDERM (Allergan, Inc.), Hyalomatrix, Hyalofill, Hyalogran, Hyalosafe, and Elevess (Anika Therapeutics, Inc., Bedford, MA), and Restylane and Restylane Perlane (Q-Med Corporation, Fort Lauderdale, FL).

# Matrix-Bound Nanovesicles

Matrix-bound vesicles (MBV) are a component of the ECM. They were first identified by Huleihel et al. as nanovesicles embedded within ECM scaffolds derived from porcine urinary bladder matrix (UBM), small intestinal submucosa (SIS), and dermis [40]. Like exosomes, MBV are nanosized, lipid membrane—bound vesicles with a size distribution from 10 to 200 nm. MBV were isolated from acellular porcine tissues by enzymatic digestion followed

618

#### INTACT AND SOLUBILIZED EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AS A SCAFFOLD MATERIAL

by ultracentrifugation at increasing *g* values. MBV contain distinct profiles of microRNAs and proteins with some mutual cargo among the three ECM scaffolds evaluated. In vitro, MBV can recapitulate some of the regenerative effects observed when cells are treated with ECM, which highlights the potential of MBV as a key mechanism mediating the regenerative abilities of ECM scaffolds. For example, Huleihel et al. observed neurite outgrowth in neuroblastoma cells treated with MBV and activation of macrophages toward a phenotype associated with a more regenerative, anti-inflammatory, constructive remodeling response.

MBV may be useful for direct injection to a damaged site to encourage local anti-inflammatory and pro-remodeling pathways, or as an additive to enhance implanted scaffold performance. Identification of the variability and potential modification of MBV cargo will be critical to developing clinically relevant strategies with MBV.

# INTACT AND SOLUBILIZED EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AS A SCAFFOLD MATERIAL

# **Tissue Procurement**

Intact ECM can be isolated from virtually any tissue. Decellularization protocols have been established for heart valves, blood vessels, skin, nerves, skeletal muscle, tendons, ligaments, ovaries, testes, small intestine, urinary bladder, liver, and other tissues. ECM is routinely harvested for research purposes and for clinical application from different species including humans, pigs, cows, and horses [1]. ECM may alternatively be collected from cells grown in vitro [41]. ECM scaffold materials harvested from different species, tissues, or cells have unique structural, functional, and biochemical characteristics. For instance, ECM scaffolds derived from porcine SIS (SIS-ECM) consist of about 90% collagen, most of which is collagen type I, and minor amounts of other collagen types III, IV, V, and VI [42]. On the other hand, although they contain the same collagen types as SIS–ECM, ECM scaffolds composed of porcine UBM (UBM-ECM) contain greater amounts of Col III as well as Col VII, which are important components of the epithelial basement membrane [43]. ECM from various sources also differ in the amount and distribution of GAGs, including heparin, heparin sulfate, chondroitin sulfates, and HA [36,37]; adhesion molecules such as fibronectin and laminin [43,44]; the proteoglycan decorin and the glycoproteins biglycan and entactin [1]; as well as various growth factors including transforming growth factor- $\beta$  [45], basic fibroblast growth factor (b-FGF) [46], and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [47]. In addition, ECM scaffolds are distinctive in their protein composition from location to location within various tissues: for example, endocrine versus exocrine loci within the pancreas, or, the valvular versus mural loci within the heart. It is assumed that preservation of the intact ECM composition as well as its intrinsic ultrastructure and 3D architecture, especially its collagen fiber architecture, are fundamentally important in processes such as cell recruitment, migration, proliferation, and differentiation during neotissue formation in vivo [43,48].

# Decellularization

Conceptually, intact ECM consists of all of the structural and functional components secreted by the resident cells in their native 3D microarchitecture. In reality, the content and microarchitecture of intact ECM are invariably altered during the decellularization process. ECM will necessarily lose some of its functional components as they are washed out by detergents or other liquid washes. The reagents used in these washes are occasionally retained to a small degree in the final ECM product. Moreover, various decellularization processes and reagents are known to alter the orientation, porosity, or fiber size of the main collagen network differentially, potentially affecting biocompatibility and bioactivity. Decellularization processes are designed to balance the removal of cellular material with the preservation of the composition, mechanical integrity, and biological activity of the remaining ECM. Decellularization processes attempt to achieve the metrics of decellularization established in 2011 by Crapo et al.: less than 50 ng of double-stranded DNA per milligram of dry weight ECM, no visible nuclei in hematoxylin eosin—stained histological sections, and any residual DNA being fewer than 200 base pairs in length [49]. The process from native tissue to ECM varies dramatically between tissue types, considering factors such as tissue density, vasculature, and lipid content. Decellularization processes necessarily include multiple steps, i.e., liberation of desired tissues from surrounding tissues, decellularization (several methods are described subsequently), disinfection, lyophilization, and terminal sterilization. Most commercially available intact ECM scaffolds are processed into a sheet form before decellularization by methods that include trimming and spreading of the original tissue to facilitate the removal of cellular components and debris. In addition, the decellularization of whole organs has been achieved through

perfusing detergents or other solutions through the tissue's native vascular network [50]. Common approaches to decellularization include a combination of physical and chemical treatments, e.g., sonication, agitation, freeze-thawing, and washes with various proteolytic detergents and solvents (reviewed in Gilbert et al. [51]). The decellularization process effectively removes xenogeneic and allogeneic cellular antigens that may be recognized as foreign by the host and results in an adverse inflammatory response or overt immune-mediated rejection [52,53]. The main ECM components are highly conserved between species and are well-tolerated by xenogeneic recipients [10,11]. Over 10 million patients have received ECM-based materials in clinical settings, most of which are of xenogeneic origin, and no immune rejection complications have been reported. Residual amounts of DNA and certain immunogenic species-specific antigens, such as galactosyl- $\alpha$ -1,3-galactose ( $\alpha$ -Gal epitope), have been shown to be present in ECM scaffolds but fail to activate complement or bind immunoglobulin M antibody, possibly owing to the small amount and widely scattered distribution of the antigen [54–57].

#### Postprocessing

After decellularization, it is often desirable for the ECM to be processed further. Such processing may include lyophilization (freeze-drying) or vacuum pressing before terminal sterilization to avoid leaching of soluble factors (for example, VEGF and b-FGF), and extend the product's shelf life. The production of multilaminate forms of the ECM also improves the device's handling and allows various geometric constructs to be built, including tubes [58], cones [59], and multilaminate sheets [60,61]. Lyophilized scaffolds can be processed further to yield powdered ECM, solubilized ECM, or ECM in hydrogel form [62] for use as minimally invasive injectable scaffolds [63,64] or in combination with sheets of ECM to produce sheet-powder hybrid scaffolds. Whereas each of the processing steps will change the overall composition and structure of the prepared ECM compared with those found in vivo, intact ECM preparations retain a multitude of structurally and functionally active proteins [61,65].

ECM scaffolds that are not chemically cross-linked are rapidly degraded in vivo. Typically, 50% of a noncrosslinked SIS-ECM scaffold is degraded within one month postimplantation and the scaffold is usually completely degraded within a three month time frame, as demonstrated in the repair of a urinary bladder defect or the Achilles tendon [66,67]. ECM degradation leads to an initial decrease in overall strength during the early phase of in vivo remodeling, followed by an increase in strength caused by the deposition of site-specific ECM and the formation of functional site-appropriate neotissue by infiltrating cells in response to their experienced mechanical stresses [58,66,68,69]. Soluble factors within ECM scaffold materials (that is, growth factors, and the release of biologically active cryptic peptides resulting from degradation of the ECM material [8,70]) are thought to be directly involved in the processes of neotissue formation including angiogenesis, mononuclear cell infiltration, cell proliferation, cell migration, and cell differentiation [45,71,72]. The release of soluble factors along with the rapid degradation of the ECM appear to be essential processes for constructive remodeling to occur. This fact is highlighted by an altered remodeling profile in clinical applications using scaffolds that have been chemically cross-linked using glutaraldehyde, carbodiimide, or hexamethylene-diisocyanate, or nonchemical methods. Whereas chemical crosslinking can increase the mechanical strength and reduce the rate of scaffold degradation of an ECM scaffold, this modification results in the formation of a chronic, proinflammatory, foreign body type of tissue response and a reduced level of constructive remodeling [71,73]. Similar to the host response to synthetic polymer scaffolds, an adverse host response is heralded by a predominance of M1-like activated macrophages, a high level of proinflammatory cytokines, and the formation of a type 1 T helper (Th-1) (cell-mediated rejection) response [74]. In contrast, intact, nonchemically modified ECM scaffold materials show a host immune response characteristic of accommodation and integration, as demonstrated by the increased presence of M2-like activated macrophages resulting in low levels of proinflammatory cytokines and the establishment of a Th-2 type of response [75–77]. The initial host immune response to ECM scaffolds appears to be critically important in determining subsequent processes including scaffold degradation, release of matricryptic peptides, host cell recruitment, and angiogenesis, among others [8,72].

# Hydrogels

A form of ECM that is receiving increased scientific and clinical attention is the ECM hydrogel. Unlike powder or sheet forms, ECM hydrogels are injectable, which makes them minimally invasive; and by virtue of their liquid state at room temperature, they can fill irregularly shaped volumes before they self-assemble into a gel at body temperature. The mechanical stiffness as well as the polymerization time of the resulting gel is fine-tunable by altering the concentration of solubilized ECM in the solution, which makes it a physically versatile biomaterial. Commonly used terminal sterilization methods including  $\gamma$ - or electron beam irradiation and ethylene oxide exposure have been shown to inhibit ECM hydrogel formation. However, supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> sterilization may permit sterile ECM

hydrogel formation [78]. ECM hydrogels have the benefit of retaining the inherent bioactivity of the native matrix despite the loss of its native 3D microarchitecture during the solubilization process [79]. Hydrogels are typically created using powdered ECM as a starting point and then enzymatically digesting the structural components until complete solubilization is achieved. Pepsin is popularly used to solubilize ECM, and it has been observed that proteolysis with other enzymes (papain, for example) can impede the polymerization behaviors of the resulting solution. Similar to solid ECM scaffolds, hydrogels will degrade under physiological conditions, typically within one month of implantation, depending on the source ECM and concentration, and it is supposed that this degradation is essential in achieving their favorable host response [79,80]. Many studies suggest that hydrogels from various source ECMs have vast potential to regenerate bone, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and even central nervous system tissue [81–83]. Ventrix, Inc. developed a hydrogel for cardiac repair and regeneration called VentriGel. To date, Ventrix is in Phase I clinical development for VentriGel.

#### Host Response

A unique feature of intact ECM compared with other types of bioscaffolds is the favorable host response that it elicits. As stated previously, over 10 million patients have received xenogeneic ECM-based materials in clinical settings and no immune rejection complications have been reported. The lack of an adverse immune response to the use of xenogeneic collagen in implantable scaffold materials has been attributed to the common nature of amino acid sequences and surface epitopes among species [10,11] although work has shown the immunomodulation effects of ECM degradation products [70]. Allogeneic and xenogeneic collagen is subjected to the fundamental biological processes of degradation and integration into adjacent host tissues when left in its native ultrastructure. However, structural modifications designed to alter the rate of degradation and remodeling (e.g., cross-linking) may impair the desired healing and regenerative response.

Beyond simply being tolerated by the host, intact ECM has been implicated in directing functional remodeling in many tissue types including skin [84], tendon and ligament [60], urinary bladder [85], skeletal muscle [86], heart [87], and esophagus [58]. Xenogeneic ECMs used clinically are typically of porcine origin; they are usually derived from the urinary bladder, small intestine, or dermis. In vitro, the biologic effect of different source ECMs can be diverse, which can be partly explained by the various methods used to decellularize different tissues [88]. In clinical settings, certain source ECMs are approved for specific applications and not others, although in a clinical trial for volumetric muscle loss including 13 patients, no distinguishable differences were found between patients receiving ECM from urinary bladder, small intestine, or dermis [89].

The exact mechanisms of action for ECM's favorable host response are unknown, although several observations provide a partial explanation. ECM has been shown to attract and/or facilitate differentiation of endogenous stem or progenitor cells [72], enhance mitogenesis in certain cell populations [90], and shift the innate immune response away from inflammation and toward remodeling [73]. In the clinical trial mentioned earlier, it was noted that the ECM scaffolds attracted muscle and nerve progenitor cells to the wound area, thus assembling the key players for muscle regeneration. In another study, an ECM hydrogel was applied to the volumetric lesion of a stroke infarct and within 24 h the host cell infiltrate was characterized. Approximately 60% of the cells were found to be of brainderived phenotypes, including neural progenitor cells, which upon histological staining appeared to be differentiating into neuronal networks [81]. Another 30% of infiltrating cells were peripheral macrophages; importantly, the ECM hydrogel directed their phenotype away from the M1, classical proinflammatory activation and toward the M2, alternatively activated anti-inflammatory phenotype, putatively aiding in remodeling.

It is known that ECM and their degradation products have various effects on other immune cells as well. For example, ECM components such as entactin, nidogen, and fragments of laminin, elastin, and type IV collagen have been shown to attract neutrophils, a microbicidal cell type [91,92]. It was also found that tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  linked to fibronectin affected the signal transduction and cell adhesive properties of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, possibly helping to direct these immune cells toward inflammatory sites [93]. Another study showed that a 3D collagen matrix was essential for naive T cells to interface meaningfully with antigen-presenting dendritic cells, leading to signal induction and T-cell activation [94]. These studies illustrate how ECM bioscaffolds promote regenerative conditions and tissue development by priming the local immune response.

#### Whole-Organ Scaffolds

In 2008, perfusion of detergents through an intact donor heart was used to generate a 3D heart ECM scaffold [50]. This detergent-perfusion decellularization technique has since been applied to liver, lung, pancreas, kidney, and even a whole limb [95–99]. Whole-organ engineering using porcine-derived organ scaffolds seeded with
622

patient-derived stem cells provides an alternative to traditional transplantation that circumvents the need for immunosuppression and the shortage of organs available for traditional transplantation. Recellularization of organ scaffolds is the current focus of the field. To facilitate recellularization, bioreactors have been developed that can provide perfusion, monitoring, and organ-specific stimuli such as mechanical stretch, pressure gradients, or electric impulses (reviewed in Scaritt et al. [100]). These bioreactors permit the ex vivo culture of whole-organ scaffolds seeded with cells such as primary parenchymal cells, endothelial cells, or stem/progenitor cells. Bioengineered rodent organs that have been generated using this bioreactor-assisted recellularization method have been orthotopically implanted by several groups. These bioengineered organs were able to participate in organ function to a limited extent, but hemorrhage and/or edema occurred within the bioengineered organ as a result of incomplete recellularization [95,98]. Regardless of the challenges ahead, the promise and progress of whole-organ engineering have prompted companies such as United Therapeutics Corporation and Miromatrix Medical Incorporated to invest in developing whole-organ decellularization-recellularization technology toward clinical application using porcine organ scaffolds.

# CLINICAL AND COMMERCIAL APPLICATIONS

As the science behind the generation and characterization of ECM scaffolds have expanded, the applications for these scaffolds have exponentially increased. Most commercially available ECM scaffolds are used as a surgical mesh for soft tissue reconstruction or topical wound healing (Table 35.1). Preclinical research has demonstrated the promise of using ECM scaffolds (and recellularized ECM scaffolds) for cardiac patches, vascular cuffs, heart valve replacement, tracheal reconstruction, and potentially even organ transplantation, among numerous other uses.

## Regulatory Considerations for Extracellular Matrix Scaffolds

ECM scaffolds have a long history of commercial and clinical application. Most of these ECM scaffolds have been classified as a medical device by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). In 1997, the FDA created the Tissue Reference Group (TRG) to assist in categorizing products as a device, biologic, or combination, specifically in the realm of regulating human cells, tissues, and cellular- and tissue-based products (HCT/P). The TRG is composed of representatives from the FDA's Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, the Center for Devices and Radiological Health, the Office of Combination Products, and the Office of the Chief Counsel. The TRG continues to update recommendations on the classification of products. As of this writing, the TRG indicated that secreted or extracted human products such as collagen are not considered an HCT/P (http://www.fda.gov/biologicsbloodvaccines/tissuetissueproducts/regulationoftissues/ucm152857.htm). In 2014, ground, defatted, decellularized adipose tissue was determined not to be an HCT/P because it is more than minimally manipulated. As a final example, in 2012, allogeneic, processed acellular dermis for breast tissue defects was determined not to be an HCT/P because it is used in a nonhomologous site. It is apparent that FDA regulation of commercial or clinical products is changing as the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine advances. For the present, it is hoped that new ECM scaffold-based products will be classified based on their predicates.

# CONCLUSIONS

Biologic scaffold materials represent one facet of the multiple strategies used in regenerative medicine to construct functional tissue. Biologic scaffolds are derived from mammalian tissues and thus contain countless structural and functional moieties that have been shown to be necessary for tissue development, homeostasis, and response to injury. Such scaffold materials are currently used in clinical medicine and their use will likely expand as regenerative medicine strategies evolve.

#### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

b-FGF Basic fibroblast growth factorDNA Deoxyribonucleic acidECM Extracellular matrixFACITs Fibril-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices

FDA Food and Drug Administration GAGs Glycosaminoglycan HA Hyaluronic acid HCT/P Human cells, tissues, and cellular- and tissue-based products MACITs Membrane-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices MBV Matrix-bound vesicle PLGA poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) RGD Arginine-glycine-aspartate SIS-ECM Porcine small intestinal submucosa extracellular matrix TGF-b Transforming growth factor-b TRG Tissue Reference Group UBM-ECM Porcine urinary bladder matrix extracellular matrix VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

# Glossary

Decellularization The process by which cells are removed from a tissue or organ to isolate the extracellular matrix scaffold of the tissue or organ for use in engineering or regenerating new tissue

**Recellularization** The process by which cells are delivered to and cultured within a tissue or organ extracellular matrix scaffold **Xenogeneic** Relating to tissues, cells, or materials belonging to different species.

# References

- Badylak SF, Freytes DO, Gilbert TW. Extracellular matrix as a biological scaffold material: structure and function. Acta Biomater 2009;5:1–13. England.
- [2] Tang WJ, Fernandez JG, Sohn JJ, Amemiya CT. Chitin is endogenously produced in vertebrates. Curr Biol 2015;25(7):897–900.
- [3] Bissell MJ, Aggeler J. Dynamic reciprocity: how do extracellular matrix and hormones direct gene expression? Prog Clin Biol Res 1987;249: 251–62.
- [3a] Bissell MJ, Hall HG, Parry G. How does extracellular matrix direct gene expression? J Theor Biol 1982;99(1):31-68.
- [4] The extracellular matrix: an overview. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2011. XIV, 426 p.
- [5] Bella J, Eaton M, Brodsky B, Berman HM. Crystal and molecular structure of a collagen-like peptide at 1.9 A resolution. Science 1994; 266(5182):75–81.
- [6] Sherman VR, Yang W, Meyers MA. The materials science of collagen. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2015;52:22-50.
- [7] van der Rest M, Garrone R. Collagen family of proteins. FASEB J 1991;5(13):2814-23.
- [8] Brennan EP, Reing J, Chew D, Myers-Irvin JM, Young EJ, Badylak SF. Antibacterial activity within degradation products of biological scaffolds composed of extracellular matrix. Tissue Eng 2006;12(10):2949–55.
- [9] Di Lullo GA, Sweeney SM, Korkko J, Ala-Kokko L, San Antonio JD. Mapping the ligand-binding sites and disease-associated mutations on the most abundant protein in the human, type I collagen. J Biol Chem 2002;277(6):4223–31.
- [10] Garrone R, Exposito JY, Franc JM, Franc S, Humbert-David N, Qin L, et al. Phylogenesis of the extracellular matrix. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil 1993;187(2):114–23.
- [11] Stover DA, Verrelli BC. Comparative vertebrate evolutionary analyses of type I collagen: potential of COL1a1 gene structure and intron variation for common bone-related diseases. Mol Biol Evol 2011;28(1):533–42.
- [12] Grinnell F. Fibronectin and wound healing. J Cell Biochem 1984;26(2):107-16.
- [13] Pankov R, Yamada KM. Fibronectin at a glance. J Cell Sci 2002;115(Pt 20):3861-3.
- [14] To WS, Midwood KS. Plasma and cellular fibronectin: distinct and independent functions during tissue repair. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 2011;4:21.
- [15] Erickson HP. Stretching fibronectin. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 2002;23(5-6):575-80.
- [16] ffrench-Constant C. Alternative splicing of fibronectin-many different proteins but few different functions. Exp Cell Res 1995;221(2): 261-71.
- [17] Roy DC, Wilke-Mounts SJ, Hocking DC. Chimeric fibronectin matrix mimetic as a functional growth- and migration-promoting adhesive substrate. Biomaterials 2011;32(8):2077–87.
- [18] Dubey G, Mequanint K. Conjugation of fibronectin onto three-dimensional porous scaffolds for vascular tissue engineering applications. Acta Biomater 2011;7(3):1114–25.
- [19] Campos DM, Gritsch K, Salles V, Attik GN, Grosgogeat B. Surface entrapment of fibronectin on electrospun PLGA scaffolds for periodontal tissue engineering. Biores Open Access 2014;3(3):117–26.
- [20] Martino MM, Tortelli F, Mochizuki M, Traub S, Ben-David D, Kuhn GA, et al. Engineering the growth factor microenvironment with fibronectin domains to promote wound and bone tissue healing. Sci Transl Med 2011;3(100):100ra89.
- [21] Colognato H, Yurchenco PD. Form and function: the laminin family of heterotrimers. Dev Dyn 2000;218(2):213-34.
- [22] Domogatskaya A, Rodin S, Boutaud A, Tryggvason K. Laminin-511 but not -332, -111, or -411 enables mouse embryonic stem cell selfrenewal in vitro. Stem Cells 2008;26(11):2800–9.
- [23] Miyazaki T, Futaki S, Hasegawa K, Kawasaki M, Sanzen N, Hayashi M, et al. Recombinant human laminin isoforms can support the undifferentiated growth of human embryonic stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008;375(1):27–32.
- [24] Rodin S, Domogatskaya A, Strom S, Hansson EM, Chien KR, Inzunza J, et al. Long-term self-renewal of human pluripotent stem cells on human recombinant laminin-511. Nat Biotechnol 2010;28(6):611–5.

#### 35. BIOLOGIC SCAFFOLDS COMPOSED OF EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [25] Mithieux SM, Weiss AS. Elastin. Adv Protein Chem 2005;70:437-61.
- [26] Yamauchi Y, Tsuruga E, Nakashima K, Sawa Y, Ishikawa H. Fibulin-4 and -5, but not Fibulin-2, are associated with tropoelastin deposition in elastin-producing cell culture. Acta Histochem Cytochem 2010;43(6):131–8.
- [27] Maki JM, Sormunen R, Lippo S, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Soininen R, Myllyharju J. Lysyl oxidase is essential for normal development and function of the respiratory system and for the integrity of elastic and collagen fibers in various tissues. Am J Pathol 2005;167(4):927–36.
- [28] Machula H, Ensley B, Kellar R. Electrospun tropoelastin for delivery of therapeutic adipose-derived stem cells to full-thickness dermal wounds. Adv Wound Care 2014;3(5):367–75.
- [29] Silbert JE, Sugumaran G. Biosynthesis of chondroitin/dermatan sulfate. IUBMB Life 2002;54(4):177-86.
- [30] Reichenbach S, Sterchi R, Scherer M, Trelle S, Burgi E, Burgi U, et al. Meta-analysis: chondroitin for osteoarthritis of the knee or hip. Ann Intern Med 2007;146(8):580–90.
- [31] Trowbridge JM, Gallo RL. Dermatan sulfate: new functions from an old glycosaminoglycan. Glycobiology 2002;12(9):117r-25r.
- [32] Klintworth GK, Meyer R, Dennis R, Hewitt AT, Stock EL, Lenz ME, et al. Macular corneal dystrophy. Lack of keratan sulfate in serum and cornea. Ophthalmic Paediatr Genet 1986;7(3):139–43.
- [33] Groah SL, Libin A, Spungen M, Nguyen KL, Woods E, Nabili M, et al. Regenerating matrix-based therapy for chronic wound healing: a prospective within-subject pilot study. Int Wound J 2011;8(1):85–95.
- [34] van Neck J, Tuk B, Barritault D, Tong M. Heparan sulfate proteoglycan mimetics promote tissue regeneration: an overview. In: Davies J, editor. Tissue regeneration—from basic biology to clinical application. InTech; 2012.
- [35] Schulz T, Schumacher U, Prehm P. Hyaluronan export by the ABC transporter MRP5 and its modulation by intracellular cGMP. J Biol Chem 2007;282(29):20999–1004.
- [36] Entwistle J, Zhang S, Yang B, Wong C, Li Q, Hall CL, et al. Characterization of the murine gene encoding the hyaluronan receptor RHAMM. Gene 1995;163(2):233–8.
- [37] Hodde JP, Badylak SF, Brightman AO, Voytik-Harbin SL. Glycosaminoglycan content of small intestinal submucosa: a bioscaffold for tissue replacement. Tissue Eng 1996;2(3):209–17.
- [38] Band P. Hyaluronan derivatives: chemistry and clinical applications. In: Laurent TC, editor. The chemistry, biology and medical applications of hyaluronan and its derivatives. London: Portland Press; 1998. p. 33–42.
- [39] Chen WY, Abatangelo G. Functions of hyaluronan in wound repair. Wound Repair Regen 1999;7(2):79-89.
- [40] Huleihel L, Hussey GS, Naranjo JD, Zhang L, Dziki JL, Turner NJ, et al. Matrix-bound nanovesicles within ECM bioscaffolds. Sci Adv 2016; 2(6):e1600502.
- [41] Datta N, Holtorf HL, Sikavitsas VI, Jansen JA, Mikos AG. Effect of bone extracellular matrix synthesized in vitro on the osteoblastic differentiation of marrow stromal cells. Biomaterials 2005;26(9):971–7.
- [42] Badylak SF, Tullius R, Kokini K, Shelbourne KD, Klootwyk T, Voytik SL, et al. The use of xenogeneic small intestinal submucosa as a biomaterial for Achilles tendon repair in a dog model. J Biomed Mater Res 1995;29(8):977–85.
- [43] Brown B, Lindberg K, Reing J, Stolz DB, Badylak SF. The basement membrane component of biologic scaffolds derived from extracellular matrix. Tissue Eng 2006;12(3):519–26.
- [44] Hodde J, Record R, Tullius R, Badylak S. Fibronectin peptides mediate HMEC adhesion to porcine-derived extracellular matrix. Biomaterials 2002;23(8):1841–8.
- [45] Voytik-Harbin SL, Brightman AO, Kraine MR, Waisner B, Badylak SF. Identification of extractable growth factors from small intestinal submucosa. J Cell Biochem 1997;67(4):478–91.
- [46] Hodde JP, Ernst DM, Hiles MC. An investigation of the long-term bioactivity of endogenous growth factor in OASIS Wound Matrix. J Wound Care 2005;14(1):23–5.
- [47] Hodde JP, Record RD, Liang HA, Badylak SF. Vascular endothelial growth factor in porcine-derived extracellular matrix. Endothelium 2001; 8(1):11–24.
- [48] Sellaro TL, Ravindra AK, Stolz DB, Badylak SF. Maintenance of hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cell phenotype in vitro using organ-specific extracellular matrix scaffolds. Tissue Eng 2007;13(9):2301–10.
- [49] Crapo PM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes. Biomaterials 2011;32(12):3233-43.
- [50] Ott HC, Matthiesen TS, Goh SK, Black LD, Kren SM, Netoff TI, et al. Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med 2008;14(2):213–21.
- [51] Gilbert TW, Sellaro TL, Badylak SF. Decellularization of tissues and organs. Biomaterials 2006;27:3675-83. England.
- [52] Ross JR, Kirk AD, Ibrahim SE, Howell DN, Baldwin 3rd WM, Sanfilippo FP. Characterization of human anti-porcine "natural antibodies" recovered from ex vivo perfused hearts-predominance of IgM and IgG2. Transplantation 1993;55(5):1144–50.
- [53] Erdag G, Morgan JR. Allogeneic versus xenogeneic immune reaction to bioengineered skin grafts. Cell Transplant 2004;13(6):701-12.
- [54] McPherson TB, Liang H, Record RD, Badylak SF. Galalpha(1,3)Gal epitope in porcine small intestinal submucosa. Tissue Eng 2000;6(3): 233–9.
- [55] Daly KA, Stewart-Akers AM, Hara H, Ezzelarab M, Long C, Cordero K, et al. Effect of the alphaGal epitope on the response to small intestinal submucosa extracellular matrix in a nonhuman primate model. Tissue Eng A 2009;15(12):3877–88.
- [56] Gilbert TW, Freund JM, Badylak SF. Quantification of DNA in biologic scaffold materials. J Surg Res 2009;152:135-9. United States.
- [57] Raeder RH, Badylak SF, Sheehan C, Kallakury B, Metzger DW. Natural anti-galactose alpha1,3 galactose antibodies delay, but do not prevent the acceptance of extracellular matrix xenografts. Transpl Immunol 2002;10(1):15–24.
- [58] Badylak SF, Vorp DA, Spievack AR, Simmons-Byrd A, Hanke J, Freytes DO, et al. Esophageal reconstruction with ECM and muscle tissue in a dog model. J Surg Res 2005;128(1):87–97.
- [59] Nieponice A, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. Reinforcement of esophageal anastomoses with an extracellular matrix scaffold in a canine model. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82(6):2050–8.
- [60] Dejardin LM, Arnoczky SP, Ewers BJ, Haut RC, Clarke RB. Tissue-engineered rotator cuff tendon using porcine small intestine submucosa. Histologic and mechanical evaluation in dogs. Am J Sports Med 2001;29(2):175–84.
- [61] Freytes DO, Badylak SF, Webster TJ, Geddes LA, Rundell AE. Biaxial strength of multilaminated extracellular matrix scaffolds. Biomaterials 2004;25(12):2353–61.

#### 624

- [62] Freytes DO, Martin J, Velankar SS, Lee AS, Badylak SF. Preparation and rheological characterization of a gel form of the porcine urinary bladder matrix. Biomaterials 2008;29(11):1630–7.
- [63] Wood JD, Simmons-Byrd A, Spievack AR, Badylak SF. Use of a particulate extracellular matrix bioscaffold for treatment of acquired urinary incontinence in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2005;226(7):1095–7.
- [64] Choi JS, Yang HJ, Kim BS, Kim JD, Kim JY, Yoo B, et al. Human extracellular matrix (ECM) powders for injectable cell delivery and adipose tissue engineering. J Control Release 2009;139(1):2–7.
- [65] Freytes DO, Tullius RS, Valentin JE, Stewart-Akers AM, Badylak SF. Hydrated versus lyophilized forms of porcine extracellular matrix derived from the urinary bladder. J Biomed Mater Res A 2008;87(4):862–72.
- [66] Record RD, Hillegonds D, Simmons C, Tullius R, Rickey FA, Elmore D, et al. In vivo degradation of 14C-labeled small intestinal submucosa (SIS) when used for urinary bladder repair. Biomaterials 2001;22(19):2653–9.
- [67] Gilbert TW, Stewart-Akers AM, Simmons-Byrd A, Badylak SF. Degradation and remodeling of small intestinal submucosa in canine Achilles tendon repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007;89(3):621–30.
- [68] Badylak S, Kokini K, Tullius B, Whitson B. Strength over time of a resorbable bioscaffold for body wall repair in a dog model. J Surg Res 2001; 99(2):282–7.
- [69] Liang R, Woo SL, Takakura Y, Moon DK, Jia F, Abramowitch SD. Long-term effects of porcine small intestine submucosa on the healing of medial collateral ligament: a functional tissue engineering study. J Orthop Res 2006;24(4):811–9.
- [70] Reing JE, Zhang L, Myers-Irvin J, Cordero KE, Freytes DO, Heber-Katz E, et al. Degradation products of extracellular matrix affect cell migration and proliferation. Tissue Eng A 2009;15(3):605–14.
- [71] Valentin JE, Badylak JS, McCabe GP, Badylak SF. Extracellular matrix bioscaffolds for orthopaedic applications. A comparative histologic study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006;88(12):2673–86.
- [72] Beattie AJ, Gilbert TW, Guyot JP, Yates AJ, Badylak SF. Chemoattraction of progenitor cells by remodeling extracellular matrix scaffolds. Tissue Eng A 2009;15(5):1119–25.
- [73] Badylak SF, Valentin JE, Ravindra AK, McCabe GP, Stewart-Akers AM. Macrophage phenotype as a determinant of biologic scaffold remodeling. Tissue Eng A 2008;14(11):1835–42.
- [74] Martinez FO, Sica A, Mantovani A, Locati M. Macrophage activation and polarization. Front Biosci 2008;13:453-61.
- [75] Allman AJ, McPherson TB, Badylak SF, Merrill LC, Kallakury B, Sheehan C, et al. Xenogeneic extracellular matrix grafts elicit a TH2restricted immune response. Transplantation 2001;71(11):1631–40.
- [76] Brown BN, Valentin JE, Stewart-Akers AM, McCabe GP, Badylak SF. Macrophage phenotype and remodeling outcomes in response to biologic scaffolds with and without a cellular component. Biomaterials 2009;30(8):1482–91.
- [77] Sadtler K, Estrellas K, Allen BW, Wolf MT, Fan H, Tam AJ, et al. Developing a pro-regenerative biomaterial scaffold microenvironment requires T helper 2 cells. Science 2016;352(6283):366–70.
- [78] White LJ, Keane TJ, Smoulders A, Zhang L, Castleton A, Badylak SF. The effects of terminal sterilization upon the biological activity and stiffness of extracellular matrix hydrogels. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2016. https://doi.org/10.3389/conf.FBIOE.2016.01.00032. Conference Abstract: 10th World Biomaterials Congress.
- [79] Faulk DM, Carruthers CA, Warner HJ, Kramer CR, Reing JE, Zhang L, et al. The effect of detergents on the basement membrane complex of a biologic scaffold material. Acta Biomater 2014;10(1):183–93.
- [80] Wolf MT, Daly KA, Reing JE, Badylak SF. Biologic scaffold composed of skeletal muscle extracellular matrix. Biomaterials 2012;33(10): 2916–25.
- [81] Ghuman H, Massensini AR, Donnelly J, Kim SM, Medberry CJ, Badylak SF, et al. ECM hydrogel for the treatment of stroke: characterization of the host cell infiltrate. Biomaterials 2016;91:166–81.
- [82] Sawkins MJ, Bowen W, Dhadda P, Markides H, Sidney LE, Taylor AJ, et al. Hydrogels derived from demineralized and decellularized bone extracellular matrix. Acta Biomater 2013;9(8):7865–73.
- [83] Cheung HK, Han TT, Marecak DM, Watkins JF, Amsden BG, Flynn LE. Composite hydrogel scaffolds incorporating decellularized adipose tissue for soft tissue engineering with adipose-derived stem cells. Biomaterials 2014;35(6):1914–23.
- [84] Hodde JP, Johnson CE. Extracellular matrix as a strategy for treating chronic wounds. Am J Clin Dermatol 2007;8(2):61–6.
- [85] Chen F, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Acellular collagen matrix as a possible "off the shelf" biomaterial for urethral repair. Urology 1999;54(3):407-10.
- [86] Valentin JE, Turner NJ, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. Functional skeletal muscle formation with a biologic scaffold. Biomaterials 2010;31(29): 7475–84.
- [87] Robinson KA, Li J, Mathison M, Redkar A, Cui J, Chronos NA, et al. Extracellular matrix scaffold for cardiac repair. Circulation 2005;112(9 Suppl):1135–43.
- [88] Reing JE, Brown BN, Daly KA, Freund JM, Gilbert TW, Hsiong SX, et al. The effects of processing methods upon mechanical and biologic properties of porcine dermal extracellular matrix scaffolds. Biomaterials 2010;31(33):8626–33.
- [89] Dziki J, Badylak S, Yabroudi M, Sicari B, Ambrosio F, Stearns K, et al. An acellular biologic scaffold treatment for volumetric muscle loss: results of a 13-patient cohort study. NPJ Regen Med 2016;1. Article Number:16008.
- [90] Thompson K, Rabinovitch M. Exogenous leukocyte and endogenous elastases can mediate mitogenic activity in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells by release of extracellular-matrix bound basic fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Physiol 1996;166(3):495–505.
- [91] Senior RM, Hinek A, Griffin GL, Pipoly DJ, Crouch EC, Mecham RP. Neutrophils show chemotaxis to type IV collagen and its 7S domain and contain a 67 kD type IV collagen binding protein with lectin properties. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1989;1(6):479–87.
- [92] Senior RM, Gresham HD, Griffin GL, Brown EJ, Chung AE. Entactin stimulates neutrophil adhesion and chemotaxis through interactions between its Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) domain and the leukocyte response integrin. J Clin Invest 1992;90(6):2251–7.
- [93] Hershkoviz R, Cahalon L, Miron S, Alon R, Sapir T, Akiyama SK, et al. TNF-alpha associated with fibronectin enhances phorbol myristate acetate- or antigen-mediated integrin-dependent adhesion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells via protein tyrosine phosphorylation. J Immunol 1994;153(2): 554–65.
- [94] Gunzer M, Schafer A, Borgmann S, Grabbe S, Zanker KS, Brocker EB, et al. Antigen presentation in extracellular matrix: interactions of Tcells with dendritic cells are dynamic, short lived, and sequential. Immunity 2000;13(3):323–32.

#### 35. BIOLOGIC SCAFFOLDS COMPOSED OF EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [95] Petersen TH, Calle EA, Zhao L, Lee EJ, Gui L, Raredon MB, et al. Tissue-engineered lungs for in vivo implantation. Science 2010;329(5991): 538-41.
- [96] Uygun BE, Soto-Gutierrez A, Yagi H, Izamis ML, Guzzardi MA, Shulman C, et al. Organ reengineering through development of a transplantable recellularized liver graft using decellularized liver matrix. Nat Med 2010;16(7):814–20.
- [97] Goh SK, Bertera S, Olsen P, Candiello JE, Halfter W, Uechi G, et al. Perfusion-decellularized pancreas as a natural 3D scaffold for pancreatic tissue and whole organ engineering. Biomaterials 2013;34(28):6760–72.
- [98] Song JJ, Guyette JP, Gilpin SE, Gonzalez G, Vacanti JP, Ott HC. Regeneration and experimental orthotopic transplantation of a bioengineered kidney. Nat Med 2013;19:646–51.
- [99] Jank BJ, Xiong L, Moser PT, Guyette JP, Ren X, Cetrulo CL, et al. Engineered composite tissue as a bioartificial limb graft. Biomaterials 2015; 61:246–56.
- [100] Scarritt ME, Pashos NC, Bunnell BA. A review of cellularization strategies for tissue engineering of whole organs. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2015;3:43.

#### 626

# 36

# Hydrogels in Regenerative Medicine

David F. Williams

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

To discuss the role of hydrogels in regenerative medicine without extraneous and irrelevant information, it is necessary to set out the meaning and boundaries of regenerative medicine itself. The author of the current described regenerative medicine in 2014, especially in the context of the use of biomaterials in medical technologies [1]. Regenerative medicine addresses a major nonpharmacological, approach to treat disease and injury through the de novo development of functional tissue rather than the replacement of tissue through synthetic devices. Although implantable medical devices can give good performance in treating many conditions, they will always be limited to situations that involve mechanical or physical functions and will not in themselves be able to provide biological solutions to replacing tissue structure and function. Thus, the techniques of regenerative medicine involves alternative therapies to treat disease and injury by the regeneration of functional tissues or organs instead of replacement by medical devices, transplantation of viable structures or palliative care through the use of pharmaceuticals.

As depicted in Fig. 36.1, there are three main strands of regenerative medicine. The first, usually called cell therapy, involves using groups of cells derived from the patient or elsewhere, which can be injected or otherwise placed at the site of disease or injury in the expectation that they will facilitate the spontaneous regeneration of the required tissue. At its conceptually simplest level, cell therapy does not involve conventional biomaterials, but there are situations in which they may have a supportive role; as will be shown, hydrogels feature prominently here. The second strand is that of gene therapy, in which specific genes are inserted into specific cells to correct deficiencies in those cells, enabling certain processes in tissue expression. It is possible for some biomaterials to be involved in the delivery process, and gene and cell therapies may be combined. The third strand is that of tissue engineering, "the creation of new tissue by the deliberate and controlled stimulation of selected target cells through a systematic combination of molecular and mechanical signals" [2]. Molecular and mechanical signals do not directly imply that the use of biomaterials and tissue engineering may theoretically be carried out in the absence of biomaterials. However, three factors determine that biomaterials are most likely to be involved in tissue engineering processes. The first is that new tissue generated in this way usually needs form and structure, and in themselves, injected cells are unlikely to provide this without the assistance of biomaterials. Second, molecular signals are easily delivered with the appropriate spatial and temporal characteristics; a biomaterial that contains and delivers such signals to the required cells would be beneficial. Third, mechanical signals may be equally difficult to deliver without the sustained effects of a biomaterial support.

As implied earlier, the tissue engineering, cell therapy, and gene therapy modes have some overlapping features; it is not the intention here to become involved in the semantics of these terms or the details of interfaces between them. Instead, this chapter focuses on the role of hydrogels as the preferred exemplars of biomaterials that may be used to support the mechanisms of regenerative medicine and specifically facilitate the delivery of the mechanical and molecular signals, and to assist in generating new functional tissues with appropriate morphological characteristics.

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



FIGURE 36.1 The essence of regenerative medicine and its components.

# **BIOMATERIALS TEMPLATES**

Nevertheless, it is necessary to briefly address the principles underlying the specifications for the biomaterials that can support regenerative medicine. Specifically focusing on tissue engineering, it has been common practice to describe these material constructs as scaffolds [3]. Conventional scaffolds tend to be composed of discrete porous constructs, usually of polymers or ceramics, in which appropriate cells infiltrate the pores and are intended to express new tissue within these spaces, with the biomaterial degrading and resorbing at the same time. Such constructs have usually been produced by three-dimensional (3D) techniques such as solid free-form fabrication, electrospinning, and solvent casting with porogen leaching. Typical porous scaffolds are seen in Fig. 36.2.



FIGURE 36.2 Examples of conventional porous solid polymer tissue engineering templates.

As discussed by Edalat et al. [4], a scaffold is required to provide an environment, or niche, that favors the natural behavior of cells. The in vivo microenvironment of a cell in general is composed of the relevant extracellular matrix (ECM), homotypic or heterotypic cells surrounding that cell, and cytokines and other bioactive agents around the cells associated with endocrine, autocrine, and paracrine secretions. The microenvironment also involves topographical and architectural features and mechanical forces. It immediately becomes obvious that the type of porous scaffold epitomized by Fig. 36.2 will have considerable difficulty in replicating this type of microenvironment.

This becomes even more significant when stem cells are involved, where the microenvironment is referred to as the stem cell niche. Fig. 36.3, reproduced from Scadden [5], indicates the factors that participate in regulating the system of a stem cell in its tissue state. These include "the constraints of the architectural space, physical engagement of the cell membrane with tethering molecules on neighboring cells or surfaces, signaling interactions at the interface of stem cells and niche or descendent cells, paracrine and endocrine signals from local or distant sources, neural input and metabolic products of tissue activity."

It is suggested here that conventional porous scaffolds do not represent the ideal format for a so-called tissue engineering "scaffold." It is further suggested that, as discussed by the author, the term "scaffold" falls far short of the characterization and specification required for these supporting constructs. The overarching term "template" is preferable [6].

To determine what type of template offers better chances of success than conventional porous solids, it is necessary to define the specifications of these constructs; this has rarely been done within tissue engineering. Edalat et al. [4] have addressed this issue, stating that the engineering of what they describe as scaffolds requires close attention to the 3D microgeometry of the construct (including porosity, pore size, and interpore connectivity), mechanical parameters such as linearity or nonlinearity, elasticity, viscoelasticity, or anisotropy and the successful delivery of biologics including cells, nucleic acids, and cytokines.

These generic requirements can be translated into detailed specifications, some of which are mandatory if optimal performance is to be achieved, whereas others are optional, depending on the precise application [1].

The mandatory specifications are:

- The material should be capable of recapitulating the architecture of the niche of the target cells;
- Because the cell niche is changeable over time, the material should be capable of adapting to the constantly changing microenvironment;
- The material should have elastic properties, particularly stiffness, that favor mechanical signaling to the target cells to optimize differentiation, proliferation, and gene expression;
- The material should have optimal surface or interfacial energy characteristics to facilitate cell adhesion and function;



FIGURE 36.3 Components of the local environment that participate in regulating stem cells in their tissue environment. These include the constraints of the architectural space, the physical engagement of the cell membrane with tethering molecules in neighboring cells, signaling interactions at the interface of stem cells, and the niche paracrine and endocrine signals, neural input, and metabolic products. *Reproduced from Scadden DT. The stem cell niche as an entity of action. Nature* 2006;44:1075–78, *with permission of the Nature Publishing Group.* 

# 630

- The material should be capable of orchestrating molecular signaling to the target cells by directing endogenous molecules or delivering exogenous molecules;
- The material should be of a physical form that provides appropriate shape and size to the regenerated tissue;
- The material should be capable of forming into an architecture that optimizes cell, nutrient, gas, and biomolecule transport ex vivo, in vivo, or both, and facilitates blood vessel and nerve development;
- The material should be intrinsically noncytotoxic and nonimmunogenic, and minimally proinflammatory.

Optional specifications that vary with the application are:

- The material should be degradable if that is desired, with appropriate degradation kinetics and appropriate morphological and chemical degradation profiles;
- The material should be injectable if that is desired, with the appropriate rheological characteristics and transformation mechanisms and kinetics;
- Where necessary, the material should be compatible with the processing techniques that simultaneously pattern both the material and living cells;
- Where multiple cell types are involved, the material properties should be fine-tunable to accommodate variable cellular requirements, with spatiotemporal control as appropriate;
- When used in a significantly stressed in vivo environment, the material must have sufficient strength and toughness;
- In situations in which the biomaterial encapsulates cells, optimal diffusion characteristics concerning critical molecules are required.

If porous solids are generically unable to comply with all of the mandatory specifications concerned with the cellular microenvironment, consideration has to be given to the type of material that is able to do so; universally the solution to this problem has involved the group of materials known as hydrogels, which are 3D networks composed of cross-linked hydrophilic polymer chains that contain large amounts of water [7-10].

In consideration of these specifications, it is necessary to focus on the characteristics of the composition, structure, and properties of the various forms of ECM [7]. In its natural form, an ECM is composed of water and a mixture of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and fibrous proteins, which collectively self-assemble into nanofibrillar supramolecular networks. The precise composition and specific structure vary from tissue to tissue, which implies that the hydrogel for any one construct will depend on the intended tissue application. The main fibrous proteins are the collagens, elastin, fibronectin, and laminin, whereas principal GAGs are hyaluronates, dermatan sulfates, heparin and heparan sulfates, chondroitin sulfates, and keratan sulfates. In addition, many of the GAGs link to core proteins to form proteoglycans. It should be of unsurprising that many of the currently favored hydrogels are based on naturally occurring molecules found in these ECMs. The water content also varies, both with the type of tissue and regionally within any tissue type. Articular cartilage water content varies from 65% to 80% on a regional basis. Within the intervertebral disk, the ECM water content is around 75% in the annulus fibrosis and 80% in the nucleus pulposus; importantly, this decreases with disk degeneration, typically by 10% in advanced cases [11].

From a purely compositional perspective, the ECM appears to be analogous to a hydrogel, albeit a complex one; this was pointed out clearly by a number of reports [12,13]. Naturally, the presence of cells appropriate for the tissue in question and the presence of mineral phases in tissues such as bone and dentin influence the biological and physical properties. The topology, or architecture, reflects the dynamic, reciprocal relationship between the cells and the molecular microenvironment, and the topology and biochemical composition of the ECM is markedly heterogeneous [14,15]. As a form of hydrogel, various types of ECM would be expected to have gel-like mechanical properties, especially those of viscoelasticity, and indeed this is the case [16]. These characteristics vary, especially the complex shear modulus, both regionally within a tissue and with physiological variables such as aging and disease [17,18].

The ECM not only provides the structural and physical support of cells and their biomechanical stimuli in tissue, it initiates critical biochemical cues that are required for tissue function, including morphogenesis, differentiation, and homeostasis. This has to be seriously considered when designing hydrogel templates for tissue engineering. One critical aspect is adhesion between the cells and their ECM, which is mediated by receptors such as integrins. The ECM also is responsible for morphological organization and physiological function by binding growth factors and interacting with cell surface receptors to generate signal transduction and regulate gene expression [14]. The complexity of tissue function requires the ECM to be a dynamic structure that is continually being remodeled and subjected to a variety of posttranslational modifications. Hydrogels used as tissue engineering templates have to address this multitude of characteristics and properties of the ECM.

# STRUCTURE–PROPERTY RELATIONSHIPS IN HYDROGELS

As noted earlier, hydrogels are 3D networks composed of cross-linked hydrophilic polymer chains, which can contain large amounts of water, up to thousands of times their dry weight.

The structure—property relationships that characterize these networks depend on a number of factors relating to their source, the polymer composition, the type and nature of the cross-links, their electrical charge, and waterswelling behavior. Hydrogels may be natural or synthetic, or possibly a blend or composite of the two groups. They may be homopolymers (based on a single species of monomer), copolymers (involving two or more different monomer species, at least one of which is hydrophilic), or interpenetrating networks (containing two independent cross-linked components). The hydrogels may be crystalline, semicrystalline, or amorphous. Different properties are seen, depending on the presence or absence of electrical charge on the chains, which may be neutral, anionic or cationic, amphoteric (with both basic and acidic groups), or zwitterionic (with both anionic and cationic groups) in each repeating unit. One of most important characteristics is the ability to swell and deswell reversibly in water on the basis of environmental stimuli; chemical stimuli that induce this behavior include the pH, solvent composition, and ionic strength, whereas physical stimuli primarily include the temperature and electrical or magnetic fields.

As reviewed by Slaughter et al. [19], cross-linking is characterized by junctions, or tie points, formed by covalent or ionic bonds between polymer chains, or by physical entanglements or weak interactions, such as by hydrogen bonding (Fig. 36.4). The resulting network structure can be quantified through a number of parameters, including the polymer volume fraction in the swollen state, the average molecular weight between cross-links, and the distance between them, which is obviously a measure of the mesh size and porosity. This latter parameter is critical for determining the properties of solute transport in the hydrogel, which is obviously important for compliance with the requirement that a tissue engineering template facilitates the transport of nutrients and other molecules. Diffusion is considered to be the dominant mode of transport in tissue engineering hydrogels. This is influenced by the electrical charge, the mesh size, and environmental factors such as the pH and temperature. In complex biological media in which both the polymer and solute are likely to be ionized, interactions between them may have significant effects, generally decreasing solute transport. The precise mechanical characteristics of a hydrogel range from rapid elastic recovery from applied stress or strain to time-dependent viscous recovery; a major factor in tissue engineering hydrogels is the relationship between the glass transition temperature,  $T_g$ , and body temperature [19]. At temperatures below T<sub>g</sub> there is a tendency for a greater viscous component, with contributions from creep and stress relaxation. However, the very high water content associated with these hydrogels tends to suppress T<sub>g</sub>, favoring a more rubbery elastic regime.

We may use the arguments of Buwalda et al. regarding the historic development of hydrogels for biomedical applications [20] to capture the increasing sophistication of hydrogel design as attempts have been made to



FIGURE 36.4 Hydrogel network with physical junctions, covalent bonds, and physical entanglements.

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

incorporate the ECM specifications described in the last section. As those authors noted, the first significant event in hydrogel design related to such applications was the introduction of water-swollen, cross-linked, macromolecular networks to construct poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (pHEMA) soft contact lenses by Wichterle and Lim in 1960 [21]. The specifications for such a lens were simple and involved sufficient water content for optical transparency, the lack of extractable toxic components, resistance to degradation, good permeability to water-soluble substances (especially oxygen), and suitable mechanical properties; accordingly, the hydrogel structure that was developed was also simple. These first lenses were prepared by the free radical polymerization of 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) in aqueous solution using ethylene glycol dimethacrylate as a cross-linker.

Buwalda et al. [20] defined this type of simple hydrogel as being a "first-generation" hydrogel. In general, the use of "generation" descriptors is not helpful in biomaterials science [1] because such classifications are subjective, but the use of increasing complexity with specifically designed hydrogels as a marker of suitability for tissue engineering templates serves a good purpose. The baseline of simple synthetic hydrogels encompasses a small group of hydrogels prepared by the polymerization of water-soluble monomers and a group based on cross-linking water-soluble polymers. pHEMA belongs to the first group. These polymers were successful in a number of applications but were soon shown to have several limitations, especially insufficient oxygen (and other solute) transport and mechanical fragility. *N*-Vinylpyrrolidone (nVP) was used as an alternative water-soluble monomer; polyvinylpyrrolidone had higher hydrophilicity and overall improved biocompatibility. Nevertheless, these were not ideal, and various copolymers of HEMA, such as nVP, substituted acrylamides, vinyl acetate, and substituted methacrylates, were subsequently developed. These produced hydrogels with variations in basic properties but with no significant change in the underlying philosophy.

The second group of simple hydrogels, based on the cross-linking of water-soluble synthetic polymers, largely involved poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) and poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG). PVA is a linear polymer produced by the free radical polymerization of vinyl acetate, followed by the hydrolysis of the acetate groups to alcohol groups [22]. Cross-linking has been achieved through the use of bifunctional or multifunctional agents that are able to react with the hydroxyl groups of the PVA molecules, including aldehydes such as glutaraldehyde, or through the use of electron beam or  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Obtaining the optimal balance of biocompatibility (potentially influenced by residual chemical cross-linking agents) and mechanical properties has not been straightforward. PEG and its higher—molecular weight counterpart, poly(ethylene oxide), are widely used hydrogels in pharmaceutical preparations; the highly water-soluble polymers are readily cross-linked by  $\gamma$  or electron beam radiation [23]. PEG hydrogels are versatile because molecular chains can have a variety of forms, such as linear or star-shaped, and because they can be biologically modified readily. This provides a good example of how the basic synthetic hydrogels have led to more sophisticated structures that can approximate the ECM paradigm discussed previously.

# INCREASING SOPHISTICATION OF SYNTHETIC HYDROGELS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING

# Bioactive Forms of Poly(ethylene Glycol) as Exemplars of Increasing Sophistication

The PEG hydrogels discussed in the previous section provide a good example of how modifications, especially biological ones, can improve the performance of synthetic hydrogels [24,25]. The major limitation of these hydrogels with respect to regenerative medicine applications is the lack of cell-specific adhesion. One approach to overcoming this involves the use of cell-adhesive peptides in modifying the PEG structure. These have generally been derived from the major ECM proteins fibronectin, laminin, and collagen. The most widely used peptide has been arginine-glycine-aspartate (RGD) [26], which can be derived from the cell-binding domain of all three proteins; both linear and cyclic RGD have been employed, with preference for the latter in view of the greater affinity for the integrin  $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ . The peptide may be linked to the PEG network by a number of different groups, such as monoacrylates.

A second modification to PEG involves incorporating growth factors. These are polypeptides that transmit signals to modulate cellular activity, which is important in tissue engineering processes. However, in their free form they have short half-lives because they are susceptible to proteolytic degradation. Growth factors may be incorporated into PEG directly during hydrogel formation, but this usually results in a burst release; this is likely to be unsatisfactory because the dosage response required to facilitate tissue formation is precise and sensitive. Several strategies have been used to address these difficulties, particularly using functional groups to modify the growth factors before tethering them to the PEG network, such as by using cysteine to tether recombinant vascular endothelial growth factor using multiarm PEG vinyl sulfone [27]. Among other growth factors that have been attached to PEG are basic

#### INCREASING SOPHISTICATION OF SYNTHETIC HYDROGELS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING

fibroblast growth factor, transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , epidermal growth factor, and various bone morphogenetic proteins. Various methods have also been used to mimic the growth factor binding mechanism of GAGs in the natural ECM by the chemical modification of heparin, chondroitin sulfate, and hyaluronic acid, using reactive groups such as acrylate or thiol, and subsequent reaction with functionalized PEG derivatives [28].

With these PEG-based examples in mind, generic forms of hydrogel sophistication are now discussed.

# Spatial Heterogeneity

As alluded to earlier, biological processes are usually regulated by spatially dependent signals, in which gradients of molecules are able to regulate cell migration, axon extension, angiogenesis, differentiation, and other processes. As discussed by Khademhosseini et al., control of the spatial location of molecules on a surface and/or throughout a material template could be beneficial for tissue engineering [29]. One approach to generating these gradients involves releasing molecules from a source over time to form a concentration gradient as the molecule diffuses away from the source; in general, however, these gradients are unstable and it is difficult to control their shape. An alternative concept that involves conjugating biomolecules to materials has been used to increase the stability of signaling molecules in a spatially controlled manner. For example, multicomponent, spatially patterned, photocross-linkable hydrogels may be fabricated to localize growth factors within hydrogels. In addition, microfabrication approaches provide attractive technologies because of their availability and cost-effectiveness. The ability to pattern fluids within microchannels has been merged with photopolymerization chemistry to form spatially oriented hydrogels. Hydrogels may be synthesized with gradients of signaling or adhesive molecules or with varying cross-linking densities across the material to direct cell behavior such as migration, adhesion, and differentiation.

These concepts of controlling the microstructure and spatial compositional character in relation to the connectivity between multicomponent tissues, especially the ECM, and hydrogels was discussed by several authors [7,10,12,30–32]. Burdick and Murphy [32] referred to the motivation to introduce spatial heterogeneity into hydrogels, and discussed the role of micropatterning (Fig. 36.5). They claimed that introducing spatially specific cues in hydrogels makes multicellular constructs possible through cocultures or multilineage differentiation.

One widely used micropatterning technique is photolithography, in which a hydrogel precursor material is exposed to ultraviolet light through a photomask that displays the required pattern. This provides reliable shape definition and is able to pattern multiple cells with materials to facilitate the selective adhesion of individual cell types to specific regions; photocross-linkable hydrogels are placed underneath the mask that controls the exposure to generate the structures in the shape of the mask. Soft lithography allows microfabrication at the micron scale, especially using silicon-based elastomers (e.g., polydimethylsiloxane) in microfluidic systems. This is of great potential interest in the development of constructs that have microchannels that resemble the vascular systems of tissues; so far, nutrient and metabolite diffusion has been observed only in relatively small hydrogel-based constructs owing to transport limitations, so microfluidic and nanofluidic techniques that allow for the creation of channels to overcome these limitations are immensely important [33–35].

Most techniques that have been investigated with respect to spatially heterogeneous hydrogels involve nanofibrous architecture [31]; these techniques include electrospinning, phase separation, and self-assembly. Electrospinning is an old technique; it dates back to the 1970s with respect to medical technology, but it is now considerably more sophisticated in relation to the materials used and the structures produced. For example, Sun et al. investigated the use of electrospun photocross-linkable hydrogel fibrous constructs for skin flap regeneration that possess the dual properties of a fibrous nanostructure and hydrogel softness, designed to allow cell migration into the scaffolds to develop 3D microvascular structures [36]. They hypothesized that such a hydrogel would be conducive to endothelial cell adhesion and growth, tubulogenesis, skin flap adhesion of the wound bed, and the formation of microvasculature. This should increase the number of capabilities to aid blood supply and enhance the survival rate of random skin flap after implantation. Gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogel, fabricated by incorporating methacrylate groups to the amine-containing side groups of gelatin, was the photocross-linkable hydrogel used. The methacryloyl groups maintained the properties of gelatin and also allowed solidification from liquid to solid permanently via the chemical reaction of the methacryloyl groups. Also, by varying the polymer cross-linking density to control the hydrogel network structure, the mechanical, degradation, and biological properties could easily be fine-tuned. The study demonstrated the suitability of scaffolds for accelerated vascularization and that electrospun GelMA nanofiber scaffolds could support cell adhesion, proliferation, migration in vitro, and the formation of 3D vascular networks in vivo. The photocross-linkable gelatin exhibited controllable mechanical and degradation



**FIGURE 36.5** Cell patterning and critical areas of cell adhesion on micropatterned surfaces with adhesion contrast. (A) Optical micrographs of micropatterns with arginine-glycine-aspartate (RGD) peptide—grafted gold microislands of varying diameters on poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogel. (B) Fluorescence micrograph of MC3T3-E1 cells, a preosteoblast cell line, on a micropatterned surface with cellular nuclei labeled by 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole. (C) Fluorescence micrograph of adherent cells with cellular nuclei labeled in *blue* and F-actin in *red. Dashed circles* indicate the contours of the underlying RGD-grafted microislands. (D) Schematic presentation of three characteristic areas for cells adhering on adhesive microislands on a cell-resistant background:  $A_{c1}$ , also named  $A^*$ , the critical area from apoptosis to survival;  $A_{c2}$ , the critical area from single-cell adhesion to multicell adhesion; and  $A_{\Delta}$ , the characteristic area for one more cell to adhere. *Courtesy of Professor Jiandong Ding and Dr. Ce Yan of Fudan University, China.* 

properties, resulting in nanofibrous templates to provide the rapid regeneration and formation of cutaneous tissues with minimal inflammation.

Spatial heterogeneity is also important in other tissues and for different reasons, including applications in musculoskeletal engineering [37]. In electrospun constructs, fiber alignment promotes the formation of long lamellipodia extensions parallel to the direction of the fibers, resulting in directional cell orientation and migration through mechanisms of contact guidance similar to that seen in native tissue environmental signaling. Cellular orientation is particularly important in the biomechanics of musculoskeletal tissue, because it determines the pattern of ECM deposition, which is an essential factor in the functionality of bone, tendon, ligament, and cartilage. In bone tissue engineering, for example, fiber alignment and consequent cellular alignment have been shown to regulate cell adhesion and migration, promote osteogenic phenotype, differentiate stem cells toward osteogenic lineage, and enhance mineralization and osteogenesis. Fiber alignment associated with electrospun fibers also closely resembles that seen with collagen fibrils in tendon tissue. Such anisotropy promotes elongated physiological cell morphology, the phenotype maintenance of tendon-derived cells, and the transdifferentiation of other cell types toward tenogenic lineage. The porous 3D nature of electrospun materials also provides a good environment for chondrogenic phenotype maintenance, the chondrogenic differentiation of stem cells, and new tissue formation in vivo in both cartilage and osteochondral defects. Fiber size as well as alignment is an important variable in maintaining cell phenotype and function in cartilage and tendon engineering. One interesting strategy to enhancing the complexity of constructs is based on the use of emulsions or multiaxial nozzles to produce multicomponent core-sheath fibers with multiple, often immiscible components. Such systems have been used extensively for bone, cartilage, and tendon repair.

#### INCREASING SOPHISTICATION OF SYNTHETIC HYDROGELS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING

Electrospinning has also been combined successfully with other fabrication technologies with optimal outputs for various clinical targets. For example, multiphasic scaffolds can be fabricated using electrospinning and additive manufacturing techniques, yielding constructs with large size pores essential for cell and mass transportation, together with fibrous components that provide suitable substrates for cell attachment.

Molecular self-assembly, a ubiquitous biological process, is defined as an autonomous organization of components into patterns or structure without human intervention, and is identified across length scales ranging from DNA base pairing to microtubule fabrication, and up to macroscale tissue morphogenesis [31,37]; unsurprisingly, self-assembly features powerfully in the concepts of structural heterogeneity for the creation of hydrogel-based ECM mimics. The natural extracellular environment is synthesized and organized through self-assembly in hierarchical motifs in which, in a dynamic equilibrium, the structural and chemical milieu needed to promote a range of physiological functions are controlled, including cell morphology, proliferation, attachment, migration, and tissue morphogenesis. Self-assembled template fabrication aims to replicate the sophistication of nature to produce hierarchical 3D tissue equivalents, in which hydrogels have a dominant role. Molecules that are structurally conformable and have chemical complementarity can spontaneously self-assemble into supramolecular architectures under appropriate conditions of temperature, pH, and anionic strength. These will be held together by reversible, noncovalent bonds, which, although they are inherently weak individually, yield strong and stable complexes through their collective interactions. Self-assembled natural, synthetic, or peptide-derived hydrogels have the ability to capture and deliver living cells while controlling their fate. They may also immobilize and control the release of potent biological and bioactive molecules, preserving their molecular conformation and bioactivity. By way of example, collagen nanotextured microfibers, produced by extrusion into a series of neutral phosphate buffers and cross-linking or functionalization solutions at 37°C, represent a significant advance in the recapitulation of the hierarchical architectural organization of musculoskeletal tissues.

The self-assembly of peptides can result in the formation of nanofibers with very high aspect ratios, which may be able to mimic the physical microenvironment of cells, such as wrapping around cells and acting as ties between adjacent structures. One prominent area involves peptide amphiphiles. The development of tissue-engineered nerve conduits used in the setting of complex nerve injury has seen interesting developments with peptide amphiphile nanofibrous constructs. These should mimic the aligned architecture of native nerves to support directional axonal regeneration, but also provide the bioactivity found in the native ECM that facilitates Schwann cell attachment, proliferation, migration, and function. Stupp and colleagues used a series of aligned nanofiber gels formed by self-assembling peptide amphiphiles in peripheral nerve regeneration [38]. Because of their molecular design, these nanofibers can mimic the internal fascicular architecture of peripheral nerves, allowing for the incorporation of Schwann cells vital for peripheral nerve and inducing cellular and neurite alignment and guiding cell migration. They can also be engineered to possess bioactivity that is relevant to nerve regeneration; a peptide presenting the amino acid sequence IKVAV (derived from laminin) was shown to induce neural stem cell differentiation, stimulate neurite outgrowth, and result in functional improvement in acute spinal cord injury.

## **Matrix Mechanics**

The biophysical properties of the ECM are important determinants of many biological processes. As discussed by Gattazzo et al. [39], every cell in its anatomical location has to balance external forces dictated by the mechanical properties of its environment resulting from compression exerted by neighboring cells and the stiffness of the surrounding ECM. The cells have to regulate their own cytoskeleton, generating internal forces that are transmitted to the environment by adhesion sites. These focal adhesion complexes include integrins and signaling proteins, and these physically link the cytoskeleton to the ECM. Mechanical forces are exerted on and by each cell, and this interplay generates a tension within the cytoskeleton that allows maintenance of cell shape and the dynamic response to external forces. This response to mechanical stimuli is referred to as mechanotransduction.

The current author explained elsewhere the pivotal role that mechanotransduction has in many biocompatibility phenomena [40]. Included here are interactions between hydrogels and other template materials with stem cells, as discussed a few years ago by Lutolf et al. [41]. Mechanotransduction profoundly affects the behavior of stem cells, both under natural circumstances and within tissue engineering systems, such as in in vitro bioreactors. The force-dependent cell signaling processes in stem cell differentiation were reviewed by Yim and Sheetz [42], with a special emphasis on focal adhesions, mechanosensitive ion channels, cytoskeletal contractility, Rho guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) signaling, calcium signaling, and nuclear regulation. Many individual components of the various

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

pathways in these systems are clearly force-dependent, including the binding of vinculin to talin during initial stages of focal adhesion assembly [43] and the activation of RhoA and Cdc42 in neurogenesis in neural stem cells [44].

Dealing first with in vitro bioreactor-based tissue engineering, two separate types of mechanical cue influence stem cell behavior, only one of which is concerned with a biomaterial property. These aspects were discussed by Steward and Kelly with respect to the mechanical regulation of mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) differentiation [45]. The first type refers to the shear stress system imposed by the mechanics of the bioreactor, which include spinner flasks, rotating wall bioreactors, and perfusion bioreactors, as described by Yeatts et al. [46]. Each of these provides different stress systems and dynamic variations in shear stresses. A primary shear stress—driven signaling pathway in the differentiation of MSCs in both osteogenesis and chondrogenesis is that of mitogen-activated protein kinases. Mechanical stresses are involved in pathway activation and in the upregulation of the proteins on which the pathways depend. Although the physical characteristics of any biomaterial template, including porosity, have some influence on fluid flow, they are not the primary determinant of the shear stresses that affect the cells.

The second type of mechanical cue is that of structural stresses, perhaps best seen in cell-seeded scaffolds in static culture, in which hydrostatic pressure results in stress transfer between biomaterial surfaces and cell membranes. The precise nature of the stresses at these interfaces, including magnitude and type (especially tensile or compressive), has a strong influence on the gene expression of the cells and the differentiation pathway down which they are directed. The mechanisms here are likely to reflect the normal processes of stem cell–matrix interactions within the microenvironment of cell niche; the material property most likely to influence the cell fate is substrate stiffness, or elasticity. In particular, MSCs clearly respond to 3D hydrogel stiffness. They are modulated by integrin binding through the reorganization of ligand presentation at the nanoscale; matrices of 11–30 kPa stiffness induce MSC osteogenic differentiation whereas those of 2.5–5 kPa show adipogenesis.

At this stage, there is a lack of consistency in the details of the causal relationship between stiffness and cell fate when considering all types of cells and all practical conditions, largely because of the interactivity among different mechanisms, but it is clear that mechanotransduction is a primary controlling factor in the phenomena of biomaterial—bioreactor-induced stem cell differentiation. The situation is similar with in vivo tissue engineering, in which much evidence points to a role of mechanical stress in tissue regeneration associated with injectable scaffolds. Myocardial tissue engineering provides a good example. The disparity between the stiffness of myocardium and injectable hydrogels and the importance of associated stress fields were addressed by Reis et al. [47]. When cardiovascular progenitor cells are contained in cardiac ECM—fibrin hybrid scaffolds, their differentiation is affected by the stiffness as well as the composition of the hydrogel. For example, von Willebrand factor gene expression is upregulated with increasing gel stiffness, although such effects vary between adult and neonatal cell sources and with other relevant variables.

The potential role of biomaterials as stem cell regulators was extensively analyzed by Murphy et al. [48]. It is relevant to repeat here a major part of their conclusions: "Although there are many mechanisms at play at the cell/material interface, the fundamental interaction that all cells must have is a link between the cytoskeleton and the material. The consequences of this interaction include a cascade of events in the cell, all of which are initiated by the cytoskeleton or by structures that link it to the material ... the cytoskeletal protein actin and its molecular motor myosin II bind and slide past one another to contract the cell. This mechanism is highly organized in muscle, yet it is present in all adherent cell types and in stem cells it enables them to 'feel' the stiffness and topography of the environment, as well as to control their size, shape and polarity. Although such inherent properties of the material may seem disparate, they are united by a common contractility-based mechanism that directs stem cells towards specific lineages based on the degree of activation."

Two further points are worth mentioning. First, some tissues that are prime targets for tissue engineering solutions may be remarkably heterogeneous and/or anisotropic with respect to elasticity, so that replication of the matrix mechanics may not be easy. Within the myocardium, for example, even healthy ventricular ECM can show an effective Young's modulus ranging from 30 to 75 kPa in different regions; infarcted myocardium can be much stiffer than this [18]. Second, it may be difficult to decouple matrix mechanics from inherent porosity and permeability [49], so that altering hydrophilicity and cross-link density, for example, can have varying effects on stiffness; this has to be taken into account in hydrogel design.

#### Hydrogel Degradation

It is usually considered necessary for tissue engineering templates to be degradable so that they are replaced as new tissue develops. A few general points need to be made about in vivo polymer degradation in relation to the

#### INCREASING SOPHISTICATION OF SYNTHETIC HYDROGELS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING

mechanisms of degradation and the biological consequences of degradation processes [1]. First, decades of development have shown that it is possible to design biomaterials that are essentially resistant to degradation in tissue environments (such as polytetrafluoroethylene) or are rapidly degraded (such as poly[glycolic acid]) and many that have characteristics in between. The principal mechanism of degradation is hydrolysis, so that susceptibility to degradation is largely controlled by hydrophilicity and the presence of hydrolyzable bonds. By definition, hydrogels are hydrophilic, so their degradation behavior will be determined by the hydrolyzable bonds. If these are numerous and homogeneously distributed, the hydrogel should be rapidly and uniformly degraded. It is also possible under some circumstances for polymers to be degraded by other mechanisms such as oxidation. Polyolefins such as polypropylene may experience oxidative degradation under some in vivo conditions, which is why implantable devices made of such polymers usually contain antioxidants. More important, many biological processes that occur in the vicinity of biomaterials, including inflammation, involve reactive oxygen species, which may become associated with degradation. Other reactions involve tissue enzymes, which may also be able to influence polymer degradation. Because these processes are not necessarily uniform, either spatially or temporally, it follows that degradation effects may be heterogeneous. As noted subsequently, this is an important point in the design of complex heterogeneous or anisotropic hydrogel templates. Second, degradation processes result in the generation of by-products. It is essential that these by-products be compatible with the tissue engineering environment. Ideally, the hydrogel should be bioresorbable: that is, the by-products should be metabolized and harmlessly assimilated into the tissue, such as water and carbon dioxide. It is very important that the by-products not be proinflammatory or cytotoxic. Third, degradation processes may be influenced by mechanical stress, which should be taken into account in template design.

As pointed out by Burdick on several occasions [32,49], uniform hydrogel constructs with homogeneous degradation profiles considerably oversimplify the complexity of the temporal dynamics that are present in tissue development. As implied in the earlier parts of this chapter, the natural ECM undergoes dynamic remodeling through a combination of matrix assembly and degradation, and this characteristic should be replicated in a hydrogel template. These processes occur through the effects of molecules such as proteolytic enzymes, such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which are produced by cells during migration and signaling. If hydrogels are simple uniform structures in which degradation is solely controlled by cross-link density, there will be no local control over degradation behavior.

In general, hydrogel degradation rates can be fine-tuned by manipulating network connectivity and mesh size. Increased the cross-linking density usually leads to a smaller mesh size, an increased elastic modulus, and slower degradation, because there will be an increased number of cleavable bonds that have to be broken for network mass loss and erosion. Decreased the mesh size also limits accessibility of the degradable moiety to larger molecules, including enzymes, because of a reduced diffusion rate. In addition, encapsulated cells, cell-secreted enzymes, and growth media can influence the degradation, surface erosion, or a combination of the two (Fig. 36.6). At high cross-link density, restricted diffusion of water and enzymes preferentially leads to surface erosion. In hydrogels with high water content and high diffusivity, bulk degradation occurs when cleavable groups are present throughout the bulk and may degrade simultaneously.

Physically cross-linked hydrogels can degrade by processes that reverse the gelation mechanism or disturb the noncovalent interactions of the cross-links. Chemically cross-linked hydrogels degrade via several mechanisms, including cleavage of the backbone chain, cross-linker, or pendant groups. Also, hydrogels prepared using polymers with degradable functional groups within the backbone chain may be degraded into smaller segments, depending on the location of the degradable groups. Many hydrogels include degradable cross-linkers, such as peptides, proteins, or polymers with chemically labile moieties. These networks degrade into high—molecular weight polymer backbone chains, with degradation products derived from the cross-linker. Polymer chains also can be end-capped with degradable functional groups followed by the addition of reactive functionalities, thus creating cross-linkable degradable macromers. Chemically cross-linked hydrogels may be degraded through hydrolysis, enzymatic cleavage, reversible click reactions, or photolytic degradation. Obviously, to engineer hydrogel degradability, it is necessary to understand the types of cleavable groups and modes of degradation, their by-products, and factors affecting degradation rates.

# **Polymerization Mechanisms**

These sections have referred to the general mechanisms of hydrogel formation and the effects of, for example, different cross-linking processes on the resulting complexity and properties of the hydrogel. The development of



FIGURE 36.6 Degradation mechanisms for hydrogels, involving erosion, bulk degradation, or a combination of these. (A) Polymers subject to degradation at the cross-links. (B) Degradation of the backbone. (C) Release of pendant side groups.

new techniques of cross-link chemistry has led to new structures that are able to mimic the ECM better. Lin discussed such advances with respect to PEG hydrogels [51]; these examples are instructive. It will be recalled that although PEG-based hydrogels have a high water content, tissue-mimicking elasticity, solute permeability, and cytocompatibility, the lack of biological recognition sites is a significant disadvantage. Therefore, PEG hydrogels have been developed that are functionalized through copolymerization with peptides during network cross-linking. For example, acrylated or methacrylate peptides can be copolymerized within PEG-diacrylate or PEG-dimethacrylate hydrogels through chain-growth homopolymerization. PEG-based hydrogels can also be prepared by step-growth photopolymerization, giving a more homogeneous network structure and better mechanical properties. Photopolymerization has the advantage of excellent spatiotemporal control of gelation characteristics. Several bioactive motifs can be incorporated into the hydrogel using this technique.

Click chemistry has been embraced in hydrogel preparation [52] because of the high reactivity and selectivity that can be achieved, as well as the mild conditions that are involved. Click chemistry produces highly efficient, quantitative, orthogonal reactions between mutually reactive functional groups. With reference to PEG, MMP-sensitive peptide sequences can be incorporated into the hydrogels using nucleophilic Michael-type addition reactions between these cross-linkers with terminal cysteines, and multiarm PEG-vinyl sulfone [53]. Cell-adhesive ligands may be readily conjugated using similar Michael-type addition reactions. One major advantage of these types of nucleophilic additions reactions is that they avoid the generation of radicals, which often compromise the biocompatibility of the systems.

Biomimetic hydrogels with good biocompatibility may also be prepared by macromolecular or supramolecular self-assembly, especially where gelation is produced by physical processes, which again avoids the use of radicals. Amphiphilic cyclodextrins are widely used in this context, with physical interactions between their inner hydrophobic cavity and hydrophobic molecules; the hydrophilic outer surfaces facilitate dissolution in physiological environments.

# **Injectable Systems**

In the context of different polymerization mechanisms, mention must be made of the possibility of forming in situ or in vivo gelling systems [54]. The attraction is obvious of being able to inject a viscous sol into the tissue at the site where regeneration is required, under ambient physiological conditions and in a short time (Fig. 36.7).

NATURAL BIOPOLYMERS AS EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX-ANALOG HYDROGELS



FIGURE 36.7 Example of potential benefits of injectable hydrogels in regenerative medicine. Epicardial delivery of hydrogel-based solution carrying cells and biomolecular signals, which upon administration forms three-dimensional hydrogel over the infarct site owing to cross-linked networks. *Reproduced from Radhakrishnan et al. Biotech Adv* 2014;32(2):449–61, *with permission of Elsevier.* 

In situ—forming hydrogels may be prepared using noncytotoxic cross-linking agents, physical interactions, or selfassembly supramolecular chemistry. These resulting gels should be able to take on the shape and architecture of the site where they are injected and preferably adhere to the local tissue. However, success has been elusive owing to the narrow range of biologically acceptable stimuli for triggering the physical interactions, the generally low mechanical properties, the difficulty of incorporating bioactive agents, and often poor stability.

The range of options for gelling reactions follows the systems discussed in the previous section on general polymerization mechanisms. Much attention has been given to Michael-type addition reactions, especially in PEG, collagen, hyaluronic acid, and heparin systems. Click chemistry is also employed.

# NATURAL BIOPOLYMERS AS EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX-ANALOG HYDROGELS

It is not the intention in the next two sections to provide detailed catalogs of tissue engineering hydrogels, but rather to give a summary of the salient features of the various species that are attracting attention. In both categories, i.e., natural and synthetic biomaterials, categories can exist in solid polymer, elastomer, and nanostructured forms as well as hydrogels. Biopolymer or naturally derived hydrogels include those based on hyaluronic acid, alginates, collagen, fibrin, and peptides. They tend to be considered superior to synthetic gels with respect to biocompatibility because they may offer better molecular and morphological cues to cells. However, they have potential disadvantages associated with the sourcing of raw materials from natural origins where purity and consistency may be less than ideal for a quality product used in health care.

# Polysaccharides

Generically, a polysaccharide is a complex carbohydrate composed of a chain of monosaccharide units linked by glycosidic groups. Sugars are monosaccharides or disaccharides; polysaccharides have much larger molecules. They clearly have some similarities, but structural differences between different types mean that it is difficult to find common ground that distinguishes the group as a whole from other materials, and they are best dealt with individually. Some of those discussed here are GAGs (mucopolysaccharides), which are long, linear, unbranched polysaccharides of repeating disaccharide units. Some, such as hyaluronan (HA), are nonsulfated, but several, including heparan sulfate, dermatan sulfate, and keratan sulfate, are sulfated.

# Hyaluronic Acid

HA, otherwise known as hyaluronic acid, is a linear glycosaminoglycan that has a molecular mass of  $10^6 - 10^7$  Da, with very long molecules that consist of linear chains of repeating units of disaccharides of glucuronic acid and *N*-acetylglucosamine.

Two main features of HA have contributed to its attractiveness as a biomaterial [55]. First, it is contained in the properties of many tissues in the human body and contributes to them, which suggests the possibility of

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

recapitulating some of these within therapeutic products. Among the specific biological properties of HA are its role in embryonic development and wound healing. It is present in high concentrations in synovial fluid and in the ECM of cartilage, so it has a significant role in the functioning of articulating joints. HA interacts with some cell surface receptors and is involved in angiogenesis, cell migration and motility, and tissue organization. It has a role in inflammation and the stimulation of cytokine activity. It can also be functionalized and chemically modified to present a wide range of physical characteristics, with wide-ranging solubility and mechanical properties. The carboxyl group can be functionalized through amidation, esterification, or oxidation. The hydroxyl group may undergo esterification or etherification and the acetyl group may be reacted by deacetylation or amidation.

HA can be derived from a number of sources; one of the most common is rooster comb. It is highly soluble, especially at a low pH, and has a high rate of turnover in human tissue. For the purposes of creating a practical biomaterial, HA is normally cross-linked, for which a number of methods are available, and it may be modified with other substances. Covalent cross-linking provides the opportunity to achieve hydrogels, sponges, and other solid forms while maintaining biological functionality. Cross-linking may take place using water-soluble agents such as a carbodiimide or by the use of photocross-linking using glycidylmethacrylate or methacrylic anhydride.

As a gel, it has high viscoelasticity, a major factor in its use in ophthalmic surgery and in therapies for osteoarthritis. It can be degraded by reactive oxygen intermediates; unmodified HA is rapidly degraded and cleared from the site of administration. To reduce the rate of degradation, cross-links may be introduced. It may also be modified with peptides to enhance cell attachment, spreading, and proliferation. For example, thiol-modified HA can be functionalized with the RGD sequence. These peptide-functionalized gels may also be used as in situ gelling injectable constructs for in vivo tissue engineering.

The areas of tissue engineering most relevant to hyaluronic acid templates are brain and neural regeneration, cardiovascular tissue engineering, skin regeneration, retinal regeneration, and cartilage repair [55]. Several factors have limited the clinical applications so far, including nonspecific protein adsorption and cell adhesion, which can lead to inflammation and the accumulation of degradation products at the site of application, which inhibits stem cell differentiation.

#### Alginate

Algae are living organisms that are mostly found in water; they can be harvested and provide substances for many industrial uses [56]. These uses are mainly based on their polysaccharide content, although they are often also rich in amino acids such as proline, glycine, and lysine, which accounts for their widespread application as food additives. Seaweeds constitute an important source of harvested algae-based substances because their cell walls contain polysaccharides, which can be readily extracted. Some seaweeds produce agar (from red seaweed); others produce carrageenans. Brown algae (Phaeophyta) produce alginates and several other polysaccharides. The alginates are probably the most important seaweed-derived products and certainly the most significant from a biomaterials perspective. These are harvested in their wild state; cultivation is too expensive, which accounts for some variability in the extracted alginates, because there is some species and seasonal dependence. Alginates are extracted from the seaweed using sodium carbonate and precipitated as either sodium or calcium alginate. This is treated with diluted HCl to produce alginic acid, which us purified and reconstituted into different ionic forms, depending on the application.

Alginates are linear block copolymers of 1,4-linked  $\beta$ -D-mannuronic acid (M) and  $\alpha$ -L-guluronic acid (G). The properties of the material will depend on the M:G ratio. Alginates form gels and readily retain water. Different ionic forms have different solubilities; the transition from sol to gel can easily be achieved by conversion between calcium and sodium forms, a process that was extensively used in dentistry to produce elastomeric impression materials. In the solid state, alginates can form films and fibers of good structural quality. When prepared as meshes of nonwoven fibers, they make useful wound dressings, because they are able to absorb large amounts of exudate from the wound bed. Alginate products are used as food additives, moisturizing components of cosmetics, and ingestible preparations for treating inflamed mucosal surfaces. The most attention has been paid in tissue engineering and cell therapies. It is particularly notable that alginates present one of the best options for cell encapsulation, because the hydrated material will allow the diffusion of small molecules essential for metabolic activity but not the immunoglobulins that would attack the cells. The viscosity of alginates and the stiffness after gelling depend on the concentration of the polymer and its molecular weight distribution. Cross-linking between polymer chains can be arranged through multivalent cations (especially calcium) and with carboxylic acid groups in the sugars. Alginates have generally good biocompatibility and can be prepared as an injectable ionic solution. They have poorly controlled degradation and variable cell adhesion characteristics. γ-Irradiation may be used to break high-molecular weight chains to allow faster degradation and clearance in vivo, whereas partial oxidation such as with sodium periodate

YDROGELS

increases susceptibility to hydrolysis. There is also interest in derivatization reactions on the polysaccharide backbone that enable, for example, hydroxyapatite nucleation and growth for bone tissue engineering applications and anticoagulation properties through the attachment of heparin [57].

## Agarose

Agarose is also a polysaccharide that originates from sea algae; it is composed of repeating units of 3,6anhydrous-L-galactose and D-galactose [58]. The agarose gels involve a rigid network that is porous and may be used for drug and gene delivery [59]. They can polymerize in situ and are attractive in the context of therapies for central nervous system injury and disease, where they support neurite extension [60]. It is also significant that agarose can form interpenetrating networks with some synthetic hydrogels, such as PEG diacrylate, into which bioactive molecules such as RGD peptides or aggrecan can be covalently immobilized or physically entrapped [61].

# **Chitin and Its Derivatives**

Chitin was first prepared from the cuticle of beetles, from which it derives its name. It is widely distributed in both animals and plants, and is in the shells of crustaceans and mollusks, the backbone of squid, the cell wall of many fungi, within marine diatoms, and so on. Chitin is a linear polysaccharide of  $\beta$ -(1–4)-2-acetamido-2-deoxy-D-glucopyranose, where all the residues are composed entirely of *N*-acetyl-glucosamine: that is, it is fully acetylated. Chitosan is a derivative of chitin, which is a linear polymer of  $\beta$ -(1–4)-2-amino-2-deoxy-D-glucopyranose, in which all of the residues are composed entirely of *N*-glucosamine, which is fully deacetylated. In nature, it is rare for the material to exist as either pure chitin or pure chitosan, and the natural biopolymer will be a copolymer of the two. Generally, when the number of acetamide groups exceeds 50%, the material is referred to as chitin, and the actual percentage is termed the degree of acetylation. Conversely, when the amino groups dominate, the material is referred to as chitosan.

The dry shells of animal sources such as crabs and lobsters contain 20%–40% chitin; the remainder is proteins and calcium carbonate. Demineralization and deproteinization steps are used in the process to prepare raw chitin products. Chitosan can be prepared from the chitin by deacetylation methods involving sodium hydroxide. Moreover, chitosan is able to form a gel by itself without the need of additives. That may happen via hydrogen bonds, hydrophobic interactions, and chitosan crystallites. These hydrogels can also be formed by blending chitosan with other water-soluble nonionic polymers [62] or polyol salts. Because it is polycationic in nature under acidic conditions, chitosan can also form hydrogels through interaction with negatively charged molecules [63]. In addition, the gelation of chitosan could also be obtained through covalent bonding between polymer chains. These bonds make the hydrogel more stable because the gelation is irreversible.

Chitin can exist in three polymorphic states (the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  forms);  $\alpha$ -chitin is the most common. The biostability varies with the source of the material, the crystallinity, and the degree of acetylation. Chitosan hydrogels are pH-sensitive; they are soluble in dilute aqueous conditions and precipitate into a gel at neutral pH. Generally, chitosan is susceptible to enzymatic degradation. Within animal species, a variety of chitinases are able to break the chitin down into oligosaccharides, which can then be degraded by enzymes such as  $\beta$ -*N*-acetyl-glucosaminidase to yield *N*-acetyl-glucosamine. Similar mechanisms exist for the degradation of chitosan to *N*-glucosamine.

In neuronal repair, chitosan is commonly used to produce tubular structures, such as in the peripheral nervous system [64]. However, chitosan hydrogels have also been applied in neural tissue engineering. For instance, the use of chitosan–glycerophosphate salt hydrogels showed that this type of gel provides a suitable 3D environment for neurons. The addition of peptides such as poly-D-lysine may improve scaffold biocompatibility and nerve cell affinity for chitosan materials (Fig. 36.8).

# Cellulose

Cellulose is a linear polymer of  $\beta$ -(1,4)-D-glucose units. It is the main component of the primary cell wall of plants. It forms as crystalline microfibrils that encapsulate the cell with a mesh-like structure, and controls, along with hemicellulose, pectin, and lignin, the mechanical properties of the plants. There is interest in using some derivatives of cellulose as biomaterials in scaffolds and drug delivery systems, for example. Microbial cellulose is a polymer that is synthesized be *Acetobacter xylinum*, a simple gram-negative bacterium. During the synthesis, various carbon compounds are used by the bacteria, polymerized into single linear  $\beta$ -1,4-glucan chains, and then secreted through pores to the cell exterior. These chains then self-assemble into subfibrils and then microfibrils and bundles, which yields a highly 3D crystalline structure with considerable mechanical strength. This nanostructure results in a large surface area that can hold a large amount of water. It can be prepared as a gelatinous membrane that is highly nanoporous. It may be treated with strong bases at elevated temperatures to remove the cells that are embedded in the cellulose



FIGURE 36.8 Schematic diagram of chitosan-based nerve guide conduit (NGC) with intraluminal fillers supporting cell migration of Schwann cells and guiding axonal growth after implantation to bridge a peripheral nerve gap. *Courtesy of Professor Xiaosong Gu, Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Neuroregeneration, Nantong University, China.* 

net; it is free of lignin and hemicelluloses so that the final material should be nonpyrogenic, noncytotoxic, and nonimmunogenic. It has shown considerable potential, with support from clinical evidence, for uses in wound healing and possibly as a tissue engineering scaffold. Economic large-scale fermentation systems have been difficult to optimize, which has restricted commercial applications so far.

#### **Proteins and Peptides**

Notwithstanding the challenges of purity and consistency mentioned earlier, a wide variety of proteins and their derivatives have been developed as biomaterials, which may be used in several different ways. Most proteins that are used as biomaterials are based on those found in mammalian tissue. These include the structural proteins collagen and elastin, and also some that are derived from plasma proteins, including fibrin and fibrinogen. These structural proteins could be used in what is essentially their natural form: that is, as the mammalian tissues themselves, with varying degrees of processing. Alternatively, they may be extracted from such tissues and subjected to some form of purification and reconstitution. Also, because of the inherent variability in such products, it may be possible to prepare the materials by recombinant technologies. There are some generic and important differences between the reconstituted and recombinant forms of protein biomaterials. In the former case, there is always a risk of contamination with prions and viruses, but this risk is not present with recombinant proteins. The latter are fully characterized, consistent, and reproducible, whereas the former depend on the source quality and batch-to-batch variability may be high. From the perspective of commercial manufacturing, recombinant proteins will usually be expensive but are amenable to proprietary processes that can be protected by patents and trademarks, which is not as readily applicable to the natural products.

#### **Collagen and Its Derivatives**

Collagen may be prepared in various forms of gel for tissue engineering applications, including those with the ability to form in situ. Many of these applications involve unmodified collagen; chemical cross-linkers can be used to inhibit degradation and resorption when necessary.

Collagen in one form or another has been used as a biomaterial for many years. Catgut sutures, which are rarely used now, were the mainstay of surgical wound closure for a long time and were made from the collagen of bovine intestines. Purified collagen has been used in injectable form as a tissue filler for both functional (vocal chords and urethra) and cosmetic (facial) effects. Some of these products are xenogeneic; they are derived from bovine dermis, for example, whereas others are allogeneic and are obtained from cultured human dermal fibroblasts or from human cadavers. Formulations vary considerably. Some are simple suspensions (at less than 5%) in buffered saline. Others

#### NATURAL BIOPOLYMERS AS EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX-ANALOG HYDROGELS

are prepared as micronized particles contained in syringes that are hydrated just before use. Depending on the source of the collagen, these products have the potential to be immunogenic. A small number of patients show immunological intolerance. Procedures usually involve prior testing of sensitivity. The collagen filler becomes incorporated into the patient's tissue, but some volume loss will occur over time.

The precise biochemical characteristics of the collagens used in these products are not significant because the material simply acts as a space filler. The applications of collagen in tissue engineering, wound healing, and drug delivery are more dependent on these characteristics. The structural order of collagen occurs at several different levels, and there are many different forms of the protein in mammalian tissue. Of relevance here is the need to balance the mechanical properties and biological activity of the products; this balance will change with the specific type of collagen.

At this stage, collagen types I and III, alone or combined, are most commonly used in products of regenerative medicine. Conduits for peripheral nerve repair are good examples. There are products made from type I or mixed types I and III in clinical use. These have different structures; some conduits are homogeneous fibrillar structure whereas others have heterogeneous structures with concentric cylindrical structures. The materials are processed in ways to minimize antigenicity, such as by cross-linking or the enzymatic removal of antigenic nonhelical telopeptides. Degradation rates vary from a few months to a year or so. In some situations, the collagen may be copolymerized, such as with GAG molecules. Collagen type I is also used in a number of products in bone tissue engineering, although not on its own. It is usually combined with hydroxyapatite or tricalcium phosphate, either as a reinforced composite or as phosphate-coated collagen fibrils.

It was noted earlier that recombinant collagen may have some advantages over animal- or human-derived materials. A number of methods are available for recombinant collagen production. This occurs in bioreactorbased eukaryotic systems, mammalian cell culture, insect cell culture, and many other systems. However, the best results and the formation of collagens most appropriate for human regenerative medicine applications are obtained with mammalian cells transfected with collagen genes, in which hydroxylated full-length collagens are produced. Recombinant human collagen of types I, II, and III can be reconstituted into fibrils that can be processed into forms such as fleeces, 3D gels, and sponges, in which it is anticipated that type I will be used in bone tissue engineering, type II in cartilage, and type III in vascular tissues.

In general, collagen products used in medical technology are structural materials rather than gels [65]. Antoine et al. reviewed the specific features of type I collagen that are associated with its use as a hydrogel in tissue environments [66], especially in relation to the encapsulation of viable cells in the constructs. As alluded to earlier, the properties of collagen biomaterials are variable, depending on a large number of fabrication parameters, and this is especially relevant for collagen hydrogels. The collagen source is particularly influential, with marked differences between animal sources (e.g., murine, porcine, bovine) and tissue types (tendon, skin, etc.) The method by which the collagens whereas a combination of neutral salt solution with proteolytic digestion is needed for highly cross-linked collagens to denature them fully. The polymerization temperature affects the properties of the resulting hydrogel, with more rapid self-assembly and therefore less ordering as the temperature increases; the temperature used will reflect the need to avoid cell damage. Collagen concentration is also important, although correlations between this and resulting mechanical properties are not clear. As with the temperature, the pH is influential; cell viability will be negatively affected if the pH is outside the range 7.4–8.4, so the better properties that may be achieved at the extremes of pH are not relevant.

Gelatin is obtained by the partial hydrolysis of collagen obtained from bone and other connective tissues of animals. When obtained under acid conditions, it is known as type A gelatin, and under alkaline conditions as type B. It is used in foodstuffs and in many pharmaceutical formulations. It is also used as a gel to provide an initial seal within vascular grafts, in which situation it may also be a drug carrier, such as in the delivery of antibiotics.

#### **Elastin Derivatives**

Elastin is the dominant protein of elastic tissue fibers; as such, it is an important component of the ECM of tissues, such as those of the lungs, skin, and blood vessels, which depend on elasticity for their function. It is derived in vivo from cross-linking of the tropoelastin monomer and is essentially insoluble. The tropoelastin/elastin molecules have hydrophobic regions from which the resulting elasticity is derived, and hydrophilic regions, which provide sites for amine-dependent cross-linking and biological signaling. The elastin possesses a number of peptide motifs that are able to influence cell behavior, including proliferation and differentiation. Such interactions take place through several cell-surface receptors, including the elastin-laminin receptor. The signaling of cells in wound healing by elastin controls the relative activity of dermal fibroblasts and contractile myofibroblasts and hence determines the mechanical properties of the subsequent repaired skin.

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

The insolubility of elastin, which restricts processing, and its relatively poor strength, has limited the practical applications of this protein in biomedical applications. Thus, elastin-like or elastin-based materials have attracted more attention [67]. There are solubilized forms of elastin, including  $\alpha$ -elastin, which is obtained under acid conditions, and  $\kappa$ -elastin, which is obtained under alkaline conditions. Recombinant techniques have allowed the preparation of materials that are able to mimic the important and desirable regions of the elastin. Synthetic analogs of elastin may also be prepared from the aqueous processing of replicas of tropoelastin. Many of these substances are amenable to scale-up manufacture, giving a range of elastin-derived products for biomedical uses. For tissue engineering applications, many of these derivatives may be processed by electrospinning or prepared as hydrogel matrices. It is also possible to prepare blends involving elastin derivatives and other proteins, such as silk and collagen.

Desai et al. discussed critical issues with elastin-based hydrogels [68] and noted that many applications requiring large and repeated deformations can benefit from rubber-like elastomeric hydrogels; there are examples in regenerative medicine that come into this category. However, hydrogels generally lack sufficient strength and elastic extensibility owing to cross-link inhomogeneity in the networks. Short, uneven intercross-link distances and poor chain extensibility limit the ability of the hydrogels to stretch. Various strategies have been used to improve hydrogel properties, such as extensibility and toughness through physical bonds. However, time-dependent recovery of physical cross-links in these hydrogels results in high hysteresis and stress softening that can lead to a loss of performance under repeated deformation. Creating a rubber-like elastomeric hydrogel requires control over the architecture of the cross-linked network, which should be homogeneous, and a careful choice of polymer. The chain length between cross-links should be constant to avoid local concentrations of stress, whereas the cross-linking scheme should ensure proper chain incorporation to avoid dangling chains that do not participate in the elastic network. Ideally, the polymer should behave like an entropic spring that recoils once unloaded, in which the driving force restoring an entropic spring is an increase in entropy as the chain goes from a stretched state with limited movements to a coiled state. Protein-based polymers may provide opportunities for engineering hydrogels with these network and polymer properties. To create elastomers, elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) sequences provide a natural choice because they have been characterized as entropic springs. ELPs are built on a repetition of the pentapeptide Val-Pro-Gly-X-Gly with a guest residue "X" that cannot be proline. They are thermoresponsive and undergo the process of inverse temperature transition in which they transition reversibly from a hydrophilic to a hydrophobic state. Thermodynamic factors including the hydrophobic interactions within the chains keep the polypeptides in an unstructured coil form after the transition and have a role in the elastomeric nature of the polypeptides. These elastomeric hydrogels are clearly interesting for tissue engineering applications.

#### **Fibrin Derivatives**

Fibrinogen is a soluble protein in blood that is converted to an insoluble fibrin network in the presence of thrombin during coagulation. The fibrinogen has three pairs of polypeptide chains that are joined by disulfide groups. The central domain contains fibrinopeptides A and B, which are cleaved in the presence of thrombin to form the fibrin monomer. These monomeric units form two-stranded fibrils that undergo covalent cross-linking to form the fibrin network, a process that is facilitated by CaCl<sub>2</sub>. This process can be recapitulated artificially in biomaterial products, generally known as fibrin glues or fibrin sealants, in which separate preparations containing fibrinogen and thrombin are mixed just before application at sites of surgical injury, such as during cardiopulmonary bypass, to assist in sealing tissue defects such as fistulae and facilitate tissue repair as in peripheral nerves.

It is possible for fibrin glue to be derived from autogenous or allogeneic blood, although the latter is more common in commercial products. Blood components are obtained from the blood and undergo various screening and purification procedures, especially when pooled blood is involved. Fibrinogen may be isolated from the blood using centrifugation and cryoprecipitation. Typically, sodium citrate solution is added to the blood to anticoagulate it before centrifugation. The cryoprecipitation procedure may be carried out by a variety of regimes, usually using temperatures between  $-20^{\circ}$ C and  $-80^{\circ}$ C. CaCl<sub>2</sub> and aprotinin are added to the solutions to optimize the gelation of the fibrinogen and thrombin solutions once mixed.

The role that fibrin has in response to the injury of vascularized tissue may also be recapitulated in the formation of tissue engineering scaffolds, which have been used in many experimental systems involving several different tissues. Fibrin hydrogels prepared, as discussed earlier, from commercially purified allogeneic fibrinogen and thrombin have some attractive features but are not ideal. Mechanically, they are weak and not stiff, and they have a tendency to degrade quickly. The gels also undergo considerable shrinkage during formation. In addition, the fibrin is not particularly active biologically in this format. Several procedures may be used to modify the gel to obtain better performance. Shrinkage may be minimized by incorporating poly-L-lysine. Using a variety of synthetic polymers or calcium phosphate additions, composite or copolymer scaffolds may improve the mechanical

#### NATURAL BIOPOLYMERS AS EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX-ANALOG HYDROGELS

properties. Cross-linking agents may improve stability. In addition, biologically active peptides or therapeutic proteins can be incorporated into the hydrogels, such as by incorporating functionalized PEG. Najjat et al. showed that it is possible to engineer fibrin gels incorporating proangiogenic growth factors that are able in a murine model to promote the engraftment of pancreatic islets in extrahepatic sites [69].

# Silk

Silks are proteins that are synthesized by Lepidoptera larvae such as silkworms and spiders. They are biosynthesized in epithelial cells and secreted into the lumen of specialized glands, where they are stored and subsequently spun into fibers. The properties of silk vary considerably with their source, with different amino acid sequences and mechanical properties that are fine-tuned to their specific function. The most widely used and investigated silks with respect to biomaterials applications are derived from the domesticated silkworm, *Bombyx mori*, and from spiders such as *Nephila clavipes* and *Araneus diadematus*.

Silkworm silk is popular and has been used for medical devices such as sutures for many years; for general textiles, it has been used even longer. This silk has two major fibroin proteins, light (25-kDa) and heavy kDa chains, where the core sequence repeats include alanine-glycine with serine or tyrosine. These core fibers are encased in the glue-like sericin protein. Spider silk proteins range from 70 to 700 kDa; many such silks are characterized by polyalanine and glycine regions. Spider silk is not easy to harvest, and much emphasis has been placed on the use of genetic engineering techniques to produce synthetic versions. Cloning and expression of silks has been achieved in a number of host systems, because the sequences of complementary DNA and genomic clones encoding spider silks show highly repetitive structures that can be used to construct genetically engineered spider silk—like proteins.

Silk fibers have significant hydrophobic regions and high crystallinity with extensive hydrogen bonding, which give good environmental stability and mechanical properties. They are insoluble in most solvents including water. The crystallinity results from the presence of small  $\beta$ -sheets within the fibers. *B. mori* silk can have an ultimate tensile strength of 740 MPa, a Young's modulus of 10 GPa, and a 20% strain at break. Spider silk may have values of 950 MPa, 12 GPa, and 18% respectively.

The biocompatibility of silk products varies, largely because of the varying levels of nonfibroin components such as the sericin. When used as a suture material, silk elicits a greater inflammatory response than do most synthetic polymers. Although it is classified as nonabsorbable, it degrades slowly. Silk fibers losing their tensile strength over a year or so. Proteases such as chymotrypsin can cleave proteins to peptides, especially in amorphous regions. Various silks have found utility in tissue engineering applications because they are often able to support cell growth [70].

As discussed by Melke et al., silk fibroin can be used in several different formats in tissue engineering [71]. Sponges made by freeze-drying or porogen leaching techniques are easily produced and give good porosity, although the precise design of architecture is difficult. Fibers may be prepared by electrospinning, although reproducibility is problematic. 3D printing is used, with controllable geometry and cell encapsulation, although with low resolution. The hydrogel format (Fig. 36.9) is probably the most versatile; there are opportunities for in vivo injectable cell-encapsulation applications, although the small pore size is a disadvantage.

#### Self-assembled Peptides

An increasingly important class of hydrogels for regenerative medicine is those made from self-assembled peptides [72]. These are polypeptides that assemble under specific conditions to form nanoscale structures. One prominent example is the class of self-assembled peptides made from amphiphilic molecules, derived from polypeptides linked to a polycarbon chain. The polypeptide region is typically hydrophilic whereas the hydrocarbon chain is hydrophobic. They can self-assemble into rod structures because of the arrangement of the hydrophobic regions as well as the charge shielding of the hydrophilic end groups by ionic molecules in the solution. These molecules can be decorated with functional groups to facilitate cellular adhesion and signaling. A number of other self-assembling peptides have been produced with advantages such as the ease in which gels are formed and functionalization. They tend to be mechanically weak.

The significance of these engineered peptide hydrogels is that they epitomize this direction toward materials that can replicate cell niches, referred to earlier as the most important specification for tissue engineering templates. Considering the stem cell niche in particular, these contain ECM components such as laminin and hyaluronan, which present cell-adhesion ligands, and soluble factors such as cytokines and growth factors, with a constantly replenished supply of differentiation cues. Peptide materials can be designed at a molecular level to bestow combined structural and biological activity characteristics that start to address these niche characteristics. These engineered, self-assembled peptides contain relatively short chains of amino acids. Through the careful choice of amino acid monomer sequences, the peptides can fold into secondary structures such as  $\beta$ -sheets, which themselves

#### 646

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



FIGURE 36.9 Different silkworms and silk-derived biomaterials. Sericin can also be fabricated into different biomaterials such as scaffolds, films, hydrogels, nanofibers, and particles. Images courtesy of Professor Kundu, Indian Institute of Technology Kharagpur, India.

self-assemble into hierarchical structures such as fibers and micelles. These fibrous hydrogels replicate the required cell niches far better than do other materials. It is possible that such structures may be reinforced by other nanoscale structures to give robust templates.

Several forms of self-assembled peptides have reached advanced stages of development, with good biocompatibility and degradation properties and without immunogenicity [72]. B-strand peptides, which assemble into discrete  $\beta$ -sheets, appear to be favored. For example, templates consisting of alternating amino acids that contain 50% charged residues may be prepared. The  $\beta$ -sheets have distinct polar and nonpolar surfaces; included here are several self-assembling peptides such as RAD16-I and RAD16-II, in which stable macroscopic matrix structures can be fabricated through the spontaneous self-assembly of aqueous peptide solutions introduced into physiological solutions. Such peptide structures support the cell attachment of a variety of mammalian cells.

# SYNTHETIC HYDROGELS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING TEMPLATES

An informed discussion about the current situation with synthetic hydrogels in tissue engineering is problematic; despite a vast amount of research and development in this area, and although such hydrogels have a reasonably good record in drug delivery systems, there has been little progress in introducing them into clinical tissue engineering products.

#### SYNTHETIC HYDROGELS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING TEMPLATES

One important consideration is that of intrinsic biocompatibility. It is recognized that the chemicals used in preparing hydrogels may have some toxicity, and care has to be taken if the degree of conversion is not 100%; initiators, organic solvents, stabilizers, emulsifiers, unreacted monomers, cross-linking agents, and other substances have to be considered in this light and such chemicals may need to be removed. Synthesis typically should be followed by purification processes such as solvent washing or dialysis. When any of the materials are derived from natural sources, they may carry the risk of batch-to-batch variation, which also has to be taken into account. Synthetic hydrogels have some important advantages over natural biopolymer-based hydrogels, including easier large-scale production and fine-tunable and consistent properties. However, many are made using harsh synthetic chemistry, which requires care to ensure that contaminants and unreacted reagents present during synthesis are then removed. Reaction schemes for these hydrogels often rely on multifunctional cross-linking agents. Free radical polymerization is widely used with many tissue engineering systems that require in situ formation.

The main difficulty, as pointed out several times in this chapter, is that truly synthetic hydrogels usually do not have the biological functionality to provide for the specifications that have been defined for template materials. Thus, many of the newer developments have addressed this major deficiency by introducing functionalization methods and using hybrid or composite structures, often through blending or copolymerization with one of more of the biopolymers discussed earlier. Following the pattern of the Bioactive Forms of Poly(ethylene Glycol) as Exemplars of Increasing Sophisticationsection, the experiences with PEG may be used as an example.

PEG is a diol with two hydroxy end groups; it is formed by linking repeating units of ethylene glycol. The versatility arises from two facts; first, it has linear and branched forms' and second, these end groups can readily be functionalized, such as through carboxyl, amine, thiol, or azide groups. These functional end groups can be symmetric or asymmetric. The latter option is effective because it enables simultaneous but different properties to be achieved. A popular form of PEG is the four-arm-PEG, but other geometries are possible.

The versatility is also facilitated by the possibility of cross-linking by different methods under different conditions. Free radical polymerization, condensation reactions, enzymatic reactions, and click chemistry can all be used, but the most common cross-linking procedure is photopolymerization. This allows the conversion of liquid to solid state under ambient physiological conditions in situ, with good spatial and temporal control and with the possibility of the simultaneous incorporation of biological species or active agents. Best results are normally achieved through the use of acrylates such as diacrylates or dimethacrylates as the macromers. PEG is normally nonbiodegradable and has little intrinsic biological reactivity; a major use of PEG is as a coating to minimize protein adsorption to surfaces. Unmodified PEG is unattractive for tissue engineering applications because of the lack of support for cell function.

PEG itself, in a low—molecular weight, unmodified form, has a number of mundane medical uses, largely as over-the-counter preparations such as laxatives and skin moisturizing agents. The real attraction of PEG as a biomaterial is associated with its combination with other molecules. There are two main scenarios here: either the PEG is used to surface modify a structure to provide or hide properties, or other molecules are used to modify PEG hydrogels to capitalize on the hydrogel characteristics but provide some specific biological activity. The first of these options is referred to as pegylation. There are many examples ranging from pharmaceutical molecules to nanoparticles. It has long been known that pegylation of protein and polypeptide drugs can alter both their pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, such as by increasing water solubility, minimizing cytotoxicity, and reducing renal clearance. At its simplest, PEG makes the drug molecule larger; each ethylene glycol subunit is tightly associated with two or three water molecules, which makes the pegylated molecules appear up to 10 times larger than the unmodified molecule. The PEG acts a shield around the molecule, protecting it from degradation and rapid clearance. The effect may be much more subtle, depending on the chemistry involved. For example, the bond between the PEG and the drug molecule may be intentionally unstable to improve targeting, such as when the bond is cleavable by enzymes within the endosomal compartment of cells, which releases the peptide or protein molecule within the cell.

Bioactive modification of PEG hydrogels for tissue engineering applications may facilitate cellular function. A variety of ECM protein-derived cell-adhesive molecules may be incorporated into the hydrogel to increase cell adhesiveness. The hydrogels may be made degradable by incorporating hydrolytically or enzymatically susceptible segments. Growth factors that have been functionalized may be covalently attached to the PEG hydrogels, especially those that involve multithiol or multiacrylate groups.

PEG has been combined with a variety of nonhydrogel biodegradable polymers such as poly(glycolic acid) [73] and reinforced with fibrous collagen [74]. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have also been used to create hydrogel composites [75]. CNTs can impart electroconductivity to otherwise insulating materials, improve mechanical stability, guide

**FIGURE 36.10** Principles of cell sheet engineering. Conventional techniques to release cells from biomaterials surfaces using enzymes result in disruption of the cells. Techniques of cell sheet engineering, which involve a change in the hydrophobic—hydrophilic balance of a thermally responsive hydrogel such as poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm), produce the release of sheets of cells without disruption. *Courtesy of Professor Teruo Okano, Institute of Advanced Biomedical Engineering and Science, Tokyo Womens Medical University, Japan.* 



Cell Sheet Manipulation by Enzyme Treatment or Temperature Change

neuronal cell behavior, and elicit axon regeneration. A PEG hydrogel composite was prepared in which the CNTs were entrapped in the hydrogel phase during gelation. The hydrogel cross-linking reaction was based on Michael-type addition, which is ideal for in situ cell and protein encapsulation, and in which sonication and surfactants were used to disperse the highly hydrophobic CNTs in the aqueous polymer solution. The inclusion of the CNTs impeded hydrogel crosslinking leading to longer gelation times, higher swelling and porosity, and lower storage modulus above a threshold CNT concentration. Unlike the PEG hydrogel alone, the PEG–CNT hydrogel composite was capable of supporting high neural cell viability in which the CNTs provided sites for cell attachment.

As a final point, mention should be made of thermoresponsive hydrogels, which have potential uses in regenerative medicine. Poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) (pNIPAAm) is a good example [76]; it is a polymer with lower critical solution behavior in aqueous solvents and a lower critical solution temperature (LCST) around 32°C. During the phase transition, the polymer chains undergo a change in conformation from an extended coil to a globular structure. The LCST of *N*-isopropylacrylamide (NIPAAm)-based polymers can be increased with copolymerization with more hydrophilic monomers, resulting in a transition temperature close to physiological, which can be useful in medical applications, including drug delivery, tissue engineering, and cell sheet engineering. The homopolymer of NIPAAm is not biodegradable, and many studies have focused on imparting biodegradation by adding various monomers into the polymer structure, such as by copolymerizing NIPAAm with benzomethylene dioxepane.

The development of in situ—forming materials with a dual solidification mechanism, a physical gelation imparted by NIPAAm and a covalent cross-linking reaction, is interesting. The dual gelation mechanism results in hydrogels with significantly enhanced mechanical properties compared with hydrogels solidified only by physical or chemical means. Covalent cross-linking mechanisms include Michael-type addition between thiols and vinyl groups, functionalization of thermogelling macromers with (meth)acrylate groups, cross-linking with a thermal initiator, and epoxy functionalities reacting with amines.

Substrates based on NIPAAm have been also used to fabricate cell sheets. When heated above the transition temperature, the hydrophobic nature of pNIPAAm favors cell attachment. The LCST of the pNIPAAm-based polymer can be fine-tuned to be below cell culture temperatures. When the temperature is lowered below the LCST, the polymer surface becomes more hydrophilic and cells can be harvested in a confluent monolayer (Fig. 36.10). This process eliminates the use of proteolytic enzymes or mechanical means for cell detachment from cell culture surfaces [77].

# CONCLUSIONS

Much progress has been made in the development of hydrogels as templates in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. However, there is a long way to go. The ultimate aim is to create templates that can meet all of the specifications set out in the early parts of this chapter, especially concentrating on replicating all of the characteristics of the ECM. Although hydrogels are superior to porous solid biomaterials in this respect, the architectural and

#### REFERENCES

functional requirements are exacting. Most synthetic hydrogels are too far removed from ECM characteristics for us to have serious expectations for their scientific and clinical success. Natural biopolymers have many advantages, but they still have limitations. Hybrid, composite, and functionalized structures are showing attractive properties in many situations.

# References

- [1] Williams DF. Essential biomaterials science. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2014.
- [2] Williams DF. To engineer is to create; the link between engineering and regeneration. Trends Biotechnol 2006;24(1):4-8.
- [3] O'Brien FJ. Biomaterials and scaffolds for tissue engineering. Mater Today 2011;14(3):88–95.
- [4] Edalat F, Sheu I, Manoucheri S, Khademhosseini A. Material strategies for creating artificial cell-instructive niches. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2012;2:820–5.
- [5] Scadden DT. The stem cell niche as an entity of action. Nature 2006;44:1075-8.
- [6] Williams DF. The biomaterials conundrum in tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2014;20(7(8)):1129-31.
- [7] Geckil H, Xu F, Zhang X, Moon S, Demirci U. Engineering hydrogels as extracellular matrix mimics. Nanomedicine 2010;5(3):469–84.
- [8] Fisher OZ, Khademhosseini A, Langer R, Peppas NA. Bioinspired materials for controlling stem cell fate. Acc Chem Res 2010;43(3):419–28.
- [9] Annabi N, Tamayol A, Uquillas JA, Akbari M, Bertassoni LE, Cha C, et al. 25<sup>th</sup> Anniversary article: rational design and applications of hydrogels in regenerative medicine. Adv Mater 2014;26:85–124.
- [10] Seliktar D. Designing cell-compatible hydrogels for biomedical applications. Science 2012;336:1124–8.
- [11] Ruiz Wills C, Malandrino A, van Rijsbergen MM, Lacroix D, Ito K, Noailly J. Simulating the sensitivity of cell nutritive environment to composition changes within the intervertebral disc. J Mech Phys Solid 2016;90:108–23.
- [12] Gonzalez-Diaz EC, Varghese S. Hydrogels as extracellular matrix analogs. Gels 2016;2:20.
- [13] Ungerleider JL, Johnson TD, Hernandez MJ, Elhag DI, Braden RL, Dzieciatkowska M, et al. Extracellular matrix hydrogel promotes tissue remodeling, arteriogenesis and perfusion in a rat hindlimb ischemia model. J Am Coll Cardiol Basis Transl Sci 2016;1(1–2):32–44.
- [14] Frantz C, Stewart KM, Weaver VM. The extracellular matrix at a glance. J Cell Sci 2010;123:4195–200.
- [15] Theocharis AD, Skandalis SS, Gialeli C, Karamanos NK. Extracellular matrix structure. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2016;97:4–27.
- [16] Miri AK, Heris HK, Mongeau L, Javid F. Nanoscale viscoelasticity of extracellular matrix proteins in soft tissues; A multiscale approach. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2014;30:196–204.
- [17] Shayegan M, Forde NR. Microrheological characterization of collagen systems: from molecular solutions to fibrillar gels. PLoS One 2013;8(8): e70590.
- [18] Andreu I, Luque T, Sancho A, Pelacho B, Iglesias-Garcia O, Melo E, et al. Heterogeneous micromechanical properties of the extracellular matrix in healthy and infarcted hearts. Acta Biomater 2014;10:3235–42.
- [19] Slaughter BV, Khurshid SS, Fisher OZ, Khademhosseini A, Peppas NA. Hydrogels in regenerative medicine. Adv Mater 2009;21:3307–29.
- [20] Buwalda SJ, Boere KWM, Dijkstra PJ, Feijen J, Vermonden T, Hennink WE. Hydrogels in a historic perspective: from simple networks to smart materials. J Contr Release 2014;190:254–73.
- [21] Wichterle O, Lim D. Hydrophilic gels for biologic use. Nature 1960;185:117-8.
- [22] Hassan CM, Peppas NA. Structure and applications of poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels produced by conventional crosslinking or by freezing/ thawing methods. Adv Polym Sci 2000;153:37–65.
- [23] Keys KB, Andreopoulos FM, Peppas NA. Poly(ethylene glycol) star polymer hydrogels. Macromolecules 1998;31:8149e56.
- [24] Zhu J. Bioactive modification of poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010;31:4639–56.
- [25] Cuchiara ML, Coskun S, Banda OA, Horter KL, Hirschi KK, West JL. Bioactive poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels to recapitulate the HSC niche and facilitate HSC expansion in culture. Biotechnol Bioeng 2016;113(4):870–81.
- [26] Hersel U, Dahmen C, Kessler H. RGD modified polymers: biomaterials for stimulated cell adhesion and beyond. Biomaterials 2003;24: 4385–415.
- [27] Seliktar D, Zisch AH, Lutolf MP, Wrana JL, Hubbell JA. MMP-2 sensitive, VEGF bearing bioactive hydrogels for promotion of vascular healing. J Biomed Mater Res 2004;68:704–16.
- [28] Cai S, Liu Y, Zheng X, Prestwich GD. Injectable glycosaminoglycan hydrogels for controlled release of human basic fibroblast growth factor. Biomaterials 2005;26:6054–67.
- [29] Khademhosseini A, Langer R, Borenstein J, Vacanti JP. Microscale technologies for tissue engineering and biology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;103(8):2480–7.
- [30] Liu JS, Gartner ZJ. Directing the assembly of spatially organized multicomponent tissues from the bottom up. Trends Cell Biol 2012;22(12): 683-93.
- [31] Lu T, Li Y, Chen T. Techniques for fabrication and construction of three-dimensional scaffolds for tissue engineering. Int J Nanomed 2013;8: 337–50.
- [32] Burdick JA, Murphy WL. Moving from static to dynamic complexity in hydrogel design. Nat Commun 2012;3:1269.
- [33] Bettinger CJ, Weinberg EJ, Kulig KM, Vacanti JP, Wang Y, Borenstein JT, et al. Three-dimensional microfluidic tissue-engineering scaffolds using a flexible biodegradable polymer. Adv Mater 2006;18(2):165–9.
- [34] Kinoshita K, Iwase M, Yamada M, Yajima Y, Seki M. Fabrication of multilayered vascular tissues using microfluidic agarose hydrogel platforms. Biotechnol J 2016;11(11):1415–23.
- [35] Hasan A, Paul A, Vrana NE, Zhao X, Memic A, Dokmeci MR, et al. Microfluidic techniques for development of 3D vascularized tissue. Biomaterials 2014;35:7308–25.
- [36] Sun X, Lang Q, Zhang H, Cheng L, Zhang Y, Pan G. Electrospun photocrosslinkable hydrogel fibrous scaffolds for rapid in vivo vascularized skin flap regeneration. Adv Funct Mater 2017;27:1604617.

#### 650

#### 36. HYDROGELS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [37] Abbah SA, Delgado LM, Azeem A, Fuller K, Shologu N, Keeney M, et al. Harnessing hierarchical nano- and micro-fabrication technologies for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. Adv Healthcare Mater 2015;4:2488–99.
- [38] Li A, Hokugo A, Yalom A, Berns EJ, Stephanopoulos N, McClendon MT, et al. A bioengineered peripheral nerve construct using aligned peptide amphiphile nanofibers. Biomaterials 2014;35:8780–90.
- [39] Gattazzo F, Urciuolo A, Bonaldo P. Extracellular matrix: a dynamic microenvironment for stem cell niche. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1840: 2506–19.
- [40] Williams DF. Biocompatibility pathways: biomaterials-induced sterile inflammation, mechanotransduction and principles of biocompatibility control. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2017;3:2–35.
- [41] Lutolf MP, Gilbert PM, Blau HM. Designing materials to direct stem cell fate. Nature 2009;462:433-41.
- [42] Yim EKF, Sheetz MP. Force dependent cell-signaling in stem cell differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther 2012;3:41.
- [43] Gingras AR, Vogel K-P, Steinhoff HT, Ziegler WH, Patel B, Emsley J, et al. Structural and dynamic characterization of a vinculin binding site to talin. Biochemistry 2006;45:1805–17.
- [44] Keung AJ, De Juan-Pardo EM, Schaffer DV, Kumar S. Rho GTPases mediate the mechanosensitive lineage commitment of neural stem cells. Stem Cell 2011;29:1886–97.
- [45] Steward AJ, Kelly DJ. Mechanical regulation of mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. J Anat 2015;227:717–31.
- [46] Yeatts AB, Choquette DT, Fisher JP. Bioreactors to influence stem cell fate: augmentation of mesenchymal stem cell signaling pathways via dynamic culture systems. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1830:2470–80.
- [47] Reis LA, Chiu LLY, Ferric N, Fu L, Radisic M. Biomaterials in cardiac tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;10:11–28.
- [48] Murphy WL, McDevitt TC, Engler AJ. Materials as stem cell regulators. Nat Mater 2014;13:547-57.
- [49] Guvendiren M, Burdick JA. Engineering synthetic hydrogel microenvironments to instruct stem cells. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2013;24:841-6.
- [50] Kharkar PM, Kiick KL, Kloxin AM. Designing degradable hydrogels for orthogonal control of cell microenvironments. Chem Soc Rev 2013; 42:7335–72.
- [51] Lin C-C. Recent advances in crosslinking chemistry of biomimetic poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels. RSC Adv 2015;5:39844-53.
- [52] Jiang Y, Chen J, Deng C, Suurone EJ, Zhong Z. Click hydrogels, microgels and nanogels; Emerging platforms for drug delivery and tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2014;35:4969–85.
- [53] Lutholf MP, Lauer-Fields JL, Schmoekel HG, Metters AT, Weber FE, Fields GB, et al. Synthetic matrix metalloproteinase-sensitive hydrogels for the conduction of tissue regeneration: engineering cell-invasion characteristics. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:5413–8.
- [54] Yang J-A, Yeom J, Hwang BW, Hoffman AS, Hahn SK. In situ-forming injectable hydrogels for regenerative medicine. Prog Polym Sci 2014;39: 1979–86.
- [55] Hemshekhar M, Thushara RM, Chandranayaka S, Sherman LS, Kemparaju K, Girish KS. Emerging roles of hyaluronic acid bioscaffolds in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Int J Biol Macromol 2016;86:917–28.
- [56] Pawar SN, Edgar KJ. Alginate derivatization: a review of chemistry, properties and applications. Biomaterials 2012;33:3279–305.
- [57] Venkatesan J, Bhatnagar I, Manivasagan P, Kang K-H, Kim S-K. Alginate composites for bone tissue engineering: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 2015;72:269–81.
- [58] Varoni E, Tschon M, Palazzo B, Nitti P, Martini L, Rimondini L. Agarose gel as biomaterial or scaffold for implantation surgery: characterization, histological and histomorphometric study on soft tissue response. Connect Tissue Res 2012;53(6):548–54.
- [59] Assunção-Silva RC, Gomes ED, Nuno Sousa N, Silva NA, Salgado AJ. Hydrogels and cell based therapies in spinal cord injury regeneration. Stem Cells Int 2015. Article ID 948040.
- [60] Jain A, Kim Y-T, McKeon RJ, Bellamkonda RV. In situ gelling hydrogels for conformal repair of spinal cord defects, and local delivery of BDNF after spinal cord injury. Biomaterials 2006;27(3):497–504.
- [61] Ingavie GC, Gehrke SH, Detamore MS. The bioactivity of agarose-PEGDA interpenetrating network hydrogels with covalently immobilized RGD peptides and physically entrapped aggrecan. Biomaterials 2014;35:3558–70.
- [62] Berger J, Reist M, Mayer JM, Felt O, Gurny R. Structure and interactions in chitosan hydrogels formed by complexation or aggregation for biomedical applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2004;57(1):35–52.
- [63] Shu XZ, Zhu KJ. Controlled drug release properties of ionically cross-linked chitosan beads: the influence of anion structure. Int J Pharmaceut 2002;233(1–2):217–25.
- [64] Gu X, Ding F, Williams DF. Neural tissue engineering options for peripheral nerve regeneration. Biomaterials 2014;35:6143-56.
- [65] Dong C, Lv Y. Application of collagen scaffolds in tissue engineering; Recent advances and new perspectives. Polymers 2016;8:42.
- [66] Antoine EE, Vlachos PP, Rylander MN. Review of collagen I hydrogels for bioengineered tissue microenvironments; Characterization of mechanics, structure and transport. Tissue Eng 2014;20(6):683–95.
- [67] Almine JF, Bax DV, Mithieux SM, Nivison-Smith L, Rnjak J, Waterhouse A, et al. Elastin-based materials. Chem Soc Rev 2010;39:3371-9.
- [68] Desai MS, Wang E, Joyner K, Chung TW, Jin H-E, Lee S-W. Elastin-based rubber-like hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 2016;17:2409–16.
- [69] Najjar M, Manzoli V, Abreu M, Villa C, Martino MM, Molano RD, et al. Fibrin gels engineered with pro-angiogenic growth factors promote engraftment of pancreatic islets in extrahepatic sites in mice. Biotechnol Bioeng 2015;112:1916–26.
- [70] Wang Y, Kim H-J, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Kaplan D. Stem cell-based tissue engineering with silk biomaterials. Biomaterials 2006;27:6064-82.
- [71] Melke J, Midha S, Ghosh S, Ito K, Hofmann S. Silk fibroin as biomaterial for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2016;31:1–16.
- [72] Maude S, Ingham E, Aggeli A. Biomimetic self-assembling peptides as scaffolds for soft tissue engineering. Nanomedicine 2013;8(5):823-47.
- [73] Rahman CV, Kuhn G, White LJ, Kirby Giles TS, Varghese OP, McLaren JS, et al. PLGA/PEG hydrogel composite scaffolds with controllable mechanical properties. J Biomed Mater Res 2013;101B:648–55.
- [74] Kinneberg KRC, Nelson A, Stender ME, Aziz AH, Mozdzen LC, Harley BAC, et al. Reinforcement of mono-and bi-layer poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels with a fibrous collagen scaffold. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43(11):2618–29.
- [75] Shah K, Vasileva D, Karadaghy A, Zustiak SP. Development and characterization of polyethylene glycol-carbon nanotube hydrogel composite. J Mater Chem B 2015;3:7950–62.
- [76] Klouda L. Thermoresponsive hydrogels in biomedical applications: a seven-year update. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2015;97:338-49.
- [77] Seekine H, Shimizu T, Okano T. Myocardial tissue engineering: towards a boartificial pump. Cell Tissue Res 2012;347:775–82.

# 37

# Surface Modification of Biomaterials

Rachit Agarwal<sup>1</sup>, Andrés J. García<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre for BioSystems Science and Engineering, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, India; <sup>2</sup>Woodruff School of Mechanical Engineering and Petit Institute for Bioengineering and Bioscience, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

# **Biomaterial Interfaces in Regenerative Medicine**

Biomaterials, whether synthetic (e.g., polymers, metals, ceramics) or natural (e.g., proteins polysaccharides), have central roles in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications by providing three-dimensional scaffolds to support cellular activities, matrices for the delivery of therapeutic agents (e.g., drugs, proteins, DNA, small interfering RNA), and functional device components (e.g., mechanical supports, sensing/stimulating elements, nonthrombogenic surfaces, diffusional barriers). The bulk properties of the biomaterial are critical determinants of the biological performance of the material [1]. For example, the mechanical properties of a vascular substitute, including elastic modulus, ultimate tensile stress, and compliance, dictate the ability of this tissue construct to support the applied mechanical loads associated with blood flow. On the other hand, the biological response to a biomaterial is governed by the material surface properties, primarily surface chemistry and structure. Protein adsorption or activation and cell adhesion, events that regulate host responses to materials, occur at the biological events [2,3]. For instance, the chemical properties of the surface of a vascular substitute control blood compatibility (i.e., protein adsorption, platelet adhesion, thrombogenicity, patency). Hence, modification of biomaterial surfaces represents a promising route to engineer biofunctionality at the material–tissue interface to modulate biological responses without altering material bulk properties.

## **Overview of Surface Modification Strategies**

Numerous surface modification approaches have been developed for all classes of materials to modulate biological responses and improve device performance. Applications include the reduction of protein adsorption and thrombogenicity, control of cell adhesion, growth and differentiation, modulation of fibrous encapsulation and osseointegration, improved wear and/or corrosion resistance, and potentiation of electrical conductivity [1]. Surface modifications fall into two general categories: (1) physicochemical modifications involving alterations to the atoms, compounds, or molecules or topography on the surface; and (2) surface coatings consisting of a different material from the underlying support. Physicochemical modifications include chemical reactions (e.g., oxidation, reduction, silanization, acetylation), etching, and mechanical roughening or polishing and patterning (Fig. 37.1). Overcoating alterations are composed of grafting (including tethering of biomolecules), noncovalent and covalent coatings, and thin-film deposition (Fig. 37.2).

Whereas the specific requirements of the surface modification approach vary with application, several characteristics are generally desirable. Thin surface modifications are preferred for most applications because thicker coatings often negatively influence the mechanical and functional properties of the material. Ideally, the surface modification should be confined to the outermost molecular layer ( $\sim 10-15$  Å), but in practice, thicker layers (10–100 nm) are used to ensure uniformity, durability, and functionality. Stability of the modified surface



#### Surface chemical reaction

(e.g., fluorination of hydroxylated surfaces via tri-fluoroacetic anhydrides)



#### **Conversion coating**

(e.g., passivation of titanium to yield titanium oxide layer)



Mechanical roughening

(e.g., sandblasting)

FIGURE 37.1 Schematic representations of common physicochemical surface modifications of biomaterials.



(e.g., passive adsorption, tethering)

#### PHYSICOCHEMICAL SURFACE MODIFICATIONS

is a critical requirement for adequate biological performance. Surface stability refers to mechanical durability (i.e., resistance to cracking, delamination, and debonding) but also to chemical stability, especially in aggressive, chemically active environments such as the biological milieu. Several types of surface rearrangements, such as translation of surface atoms or molecules in response to environmental factors and mobility of bulk molecules to the surface, and vice versa, readily occur in polymers and ceramics after exposure to biological fluids.

Given the uniquely reactive nature and mobility or rearrangement of surfaces, as well as the tendency of surfaces to contaminate readily, rigorous analyses of surface treatments are essential to surface modification strategies. Surface analyses technologies generally focus on characterizing topography, chemistry or composition, and surface energy [4] (Table 37.1). Important considerations for these surface analyses technologies include operational principles (impact of high-energy particles or X-rays under ultrahigh vacuum, adsorption, or emission spectroscopies), depth of analysis, sensitivity, and resolution. For most applications, several analyses techniques must be used to obtain a complete description of the surface.

# PHYSICOCHEMICAL SURFACE MODIFICATIONS

Physicochemical modifications involve alterations to the atoms, compounds, or molecules and/or topography on the material surface (Fig. 37.1).

# **Chemical Modifications**

Countless chemical reactions, including UV and laser irradiation and etching reactions to clean, alter, or cross-link surface groups, have been developed to modify biomaterial surfaces [1]. Nonspecific reactions yield a distribution of chemically distinct groups at the surface; the resulting surface is complex and difficult to characterize owing to the presence of different chemical species in various concentrations. Nevertheless, nonspecific chemical reactions are widely used in biomaterials processing. Examples of nonspecific reactions include radio-frequency glow discharge in different plasmas (e.g., oxygen, nitrogen, argon), corona discharge in air, oxidation of metals, and acid—base treatments of polymers. In contrast, specific chemical reactions target particular chemical moieties on the surface to convert them into another functional group with minimal side (unwanted) reactions. Acetylation, fluorination of hydroxylated surfaces via trifluoroacetic anhydrides, silanization of hydroxylated surfaces, and incorporation of glycidyl groups into polysiloxanes are examples of specific chemical reactions. In addition, various chemical methods exist to tether biomacromolecules onto available anchoring groups on surfaces, as described in the Biological Modification of Surfaces section.

The reaction of metal surfaces to produce an oxide-rich layer that conveys corrosion resistance, passivation, and improved wear and adhesive properties (also referred to as conversion coatings) is a common surface modification in metallic biomaterials. For example, nitric acid treatment of titanium and titanium alloys to generate titanium oxide layers is regularly performed on titanium-based medical devices, and the excellent biocompatibility properties of titanium are attributed to this oxide layer [5]. Implantation of ions into surfaces by beaming accelerated ions has been applied to modify the surface properties of metals and ceramics. For example, ion beam implantation of nitrogen into titanium and boron and carbon into stainless steel improves wear resistance and fatigue life, respectively [6]. In addition, evidence suggests that ion beam implantation of silicone and silver can enhance the blood compatibility and infection resistance of silicone rubber catheters [7,8].

# **Topographical Modifications**

The size and shape of topographical features on a surface influence cellular and host responses to the material. For example, surface macrotexture and microtexture alter cell adhesion, spreading, and alignment [9,10] and can regulate cell phenotypic activities, including neurite extension and osteoblastic differentiation [11,12]. Moreover, surface topography can have significant in vivo effects. For instance, the implant porosity modulates bone and soft tissue ingrowth [13,14], and the surface texture alters epithelial downgrowth responses to percutaneous devices and inflammatory reactions and fibrous encapsulation to materials implanted subcutaneously [15–17]. Although specific surface texture parameters that elicit particular biological responses have been identified in several cases, the mechanisms generating these behaviors remain poorly understood.

Methods for generating surface texture can be grouped into approaches for engineering either roughness or topography (Fig. 37.3). Surface *roughness* indicates a random or complex pattern of features of varying amplitude and spacing, typically on a scale smaller than a cell (10–20 µm). On the other hand, surface *topography* refers to

		Operation	Spatial Resolution	Depth	Sensitivity	Texture	Chemical Composition			
	Principle						Elements	Compounds	Isotopes	Additional
Contact angle	Liquid wetting of surfaces	Air Liquid	NA	3–20 Å	NA	Indirect				Surface energy
Atomic force microscopy	Records interatomic forces between tip and sample	Air Aqueous	Atomic	NA	Single atom	Yes	No	No	No	
Scanning electron microscopy	Secondary electron emission caused by electron bombardment is imaged	Vacuum	40 Å	5—10 Å	High	Yes	No	No	No	Crystallinity
Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy	X-ray emission caused by electron bombardment	Vacuum	40 Å	1 μm	$10^{-7}  {\rm g/cm^2}$	No	Z > 5	No	No	
Auger electron spectroscopy	Auger electron emission caused by electron bombardment	Vacuum	100 Å	15—50 Å	10 <sup>-10</sup> g/cm <sup>2</sup> 0.1 atm%	No	Z > 3	Chemical shift	No	
X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy	X-rays cause emission of photoelectrons with characteristic energies	Vacuum	10 µm	10—150 Å	10 <sup>-10</sup> g/cm <sup>2</sup> 0.1 atm%	No	Z > 3	Chemical shift (excellent)	No	
Secondary-ion mass spectrometry	Ion bombardment causes secondary ion emission	Vacuum	3-10 μm	10 Å	$10^{-13}{ m g/cm^2}$	No	All	Yes	Yes	
Fourier transform infrared (IR) resonance	Molecular vibrations resulting from adsorption of IR radiation	Air Aqueous (attenuated total reflection)	10 µm	<1 µm	1 mol%	No	Indirect	Vibration frequency	No	Monolayer orientation

 TABLE 37.1
 Common Surface Analysis Techniques

NA, not available.



FIGURE 37.3 Surface roughness and topography.

patterns of well-defined, controlled features on the surface. Surface roughness has been traditionally modified via sandblasting, plasma spraying, chemical etching, and mechanical polishing; the nonspecific nature of these processes renders surfaces with random or complex topographies. Ion beam and electric arc (for conductive materials) texturing approaches have also been applied to modulate surface roughness. To generate controlled topographies, micromachining and nanomachining techniques have been exploited using silicon, glass, and polymers as substrate materials [10]. Photolithography combined with reactive plasma and ion etching has been extensively applied to generate surfaces with well-defined topographies. This technique enables the preparation of machined silicon and polymeric substrates and silicon templates that can then be used as molds to transfer features to polymers via solvent casting or injection molding. Similarly, *Lithographie, Galvanoformung, Abformung* electron beam and laser machining have been used to manufacture defined topographical features on various materials. Alternatively, hotembossing imprint lithography represents a robust approach to the low-cost and rapid fabrication of microscale and nanoscale features on biomedically relevant polymers [18].

# **OVERCOATING TECHNOLOGIES**

Coating strategies rely on the deposition of a surface layer consisting of a different composition from the underlying base material (Fig. 37.2). These surface modification approaches include noncovalent and covalent coatings [1].

# Noncovalent Coatings

Major advantages of noncovalent coatings include simple application and the ability to coat a variety of different base materials. Examples of common noncovalent coating methods are solvent casting and vapor deposition of metals, parylene, and carbons. In the Langmuir-Blodgett deposition method, one or more highly ordered layers of surfactant molecules (e.g., phospholipids, amphiphiles) are placed at the surface of the base material via assembly at the air-water interface and compression of the surfactant molecules. Langmuir-Blodgett films exhibit high order and uniformity and provide flexibility in incorporating a wide range of chemistries. The stability of these films can be improved by cross-linking or internally polymerizing the surfactant molecules after film formation. Polymer coatings containing drugs can be applied by solvent dip-coating or spraying over the substrate. This is widely used to make drug eluting stents (Cypher, Cordis Corporation; and TAXUS, Boston Scientific Corporation) that result in a lower risk for restenosis [19]. However, coatings should be thin and mechanically stable because defects in such polymer coatings have potential risks for thrombosis and coronary microembolism [20]. Another surface modification strategy that takes advantage of intermolecular interactions is the deposition of multilayer polyelectrolytes (e.g., poly[styrene sulfonate]–poly[allylamine], hyaluronic acid– chitosan). In this simple layer-by-layer (LbL) method, a charged surface is sequentially dipped into alternating aqueous solutions of polyelectrolytes of opposite charge to deposit thin multilayers of a polyelectrolyte complex [21]. This technique enables the deposition of films on any topography and material in an aqueous environment. For instance, alternating layers of chitosan (positively charged) and hyaluronic acid (negatively charged) were deposited on titanium implants using LbL self-assembly and resulted in reduced bacterial adhesion because of the antibacterial properties of chitosan [22]. Another elegant strategy for surface modification is to use surface-modifying additives. These molecules are blended in the bulk material during fabrication but will spontaneously rise to and concentrate at the surface owing to the driving force to minimize interfacial energy; they have been shown to increase the hemocompatibility and stability of polymers such as polyurethane and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) [23]. Mussel-inspired surface modification strategies have gained significant interest. Mussels attach to all kinds of organic and inorganic surfaces using catechol groups on their adhesive proteins in aqueous environments [24]. Polymers containing catechol groups can be deposited by dip-coating in an aqueous solution to form the desired outer surface coatings over the base material.

# **Covalent Coatings**

Covalent coating methodologies rely on direct tethering of overcoats onto the base material to improve film stability and adherence. Radiation grafting, with ionizing radiation and high-energy electron beams, and photografting have been extensively pursued to modify polymer substrates to introduce chemically reactable groups into inert hydrophobic polymers and polymerize overcoats onto the base support [1]. In principle, the radiation breaks chemical bonds in the base material into free radicals and other reactive species, which are then exposed to a monomer or presynthesized polymers. Use of presynthesized polymers is referred to as "grafting-to" approaches, and although it provides control over the molecular weight of the overcoat, the density of grafts is limited by the steric crowding of polymer chains. "Grafting-from" approaches involve a monomer reaction with the reactive species at the surface and propagation as a free radical chain reaction. Because of the use of low-molecular weight monomer, dense polymer brushes can be synthesized. These strategies enable the generation of a wide range of surface chemistries; unique graft copolymers can be synthesized by combining different monomers. Using such approaches, proteinresistant brush polymers can be produced on a variety of surfaces and can reduce bacterial colonization significantly. Plasma deposition (also referred to as glow discharge deposition) via radio-frequency or microwave has also been extensively applied to biomaterial surface modification [25]. In particular, radio-frequency glow discharge plasma deposition has received considerable attention because it can generate continuous conformal coatings (relatively free of pinholes and voids) that can be applied to many different types of supports (metals, ceramics, and polymers) with complex geometries. In addition, these films exhibit good adherence to the substrate and can be engineered to present different functionalities, although the resulting chemistry is complex and ill-defined. In contrast to these relatively low-energy/low-temperature plasmas, high-energy/high-temperature plasmas have been used to apply inorganic surface modifications onto inorganic substrates. For example, calcium phosphate ceramic particles such as hydroxyapatite have been deposited via flame-spraying onto titanium and cobalt chrome orthopedic implants to improve osseointegration [26].

Coatings consisting of self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) have gained significant attention as robust surface modification agents [27,28]. These films spontaneously assemble, form highly ordered, well-defined surfaces with excellent chemical stability, and provide a wide range of available surface functionalities. The basic structure of molecules that form SAMs is an anchoring "head" group, organic chain backbone, and functional "tail" group. Common SAM systems are alkanethiols on coinage metals (gold and silver), n-alkyl silanes on hydroxylated supports (glass and silica), and phosphoric acid or phosphate groups on titanium or tantalum surfaces. Assembly of these organic chains into highly ordered structures is driven by the strong adsorption of the anchoring "head" group of the monolayer constituent to the surface and van der Waals interactions of the backbone chains. The order and stability of the SAMs are strongly influenced by the length of the backbone chain; in the case of alkanethiols, molecules with backbones with 9–24 methylene groups assemble well on gold. Importantly, the terminal functional group is presented at the surface–solution interface and controls the physicochemical properties of the SAM.

# **BIOLOGICAL MODIFICATION OF SURFACES**

Biomolecules (e.g., cell receptor ligands, enzymes, antibodies, pharmacological agents, lipids, nucleic acids) have been immobilized onto and within biomaterial supports for numerous therapeutic, diagnostic, and bioprocess applications. Table 37.2 lists examples of biological modifications to surfaces for biomedical and biotechnological applications. The rationale for these hybrid materials integrating synthetic and biological components is to convey biofunctionality and hence engineer materials that elicit desired biological responses or have attributes associated with biosystems. One of the earliest examples of this strategy is the immobilization of heparin onto polymer surfaces to improve blood compatibility. Drug-eluting stents (stents coated with a polymeric layer loaded with antihyperplasia drugs) have also been developed to reduce restenosis and improve patency. Another example of a widely used biological modification strategy is the immobilization of adhesive ligands, either adsorbed proteins (e.g., fibronectin, laminin) or tethered synthetic oligopeptides (e.g., arginine-glycine-aspartate [RGD]), on synthetic and natural supports to promote cell adhesion and function in various tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications [29]. Important considerations in modifying surfaces with biological molecules include the density, distribution (uniform versus clustered), and activity (e.g., orientation, conformation, accessibility) of the immobilized biomolecule.

Biomolecule	Applications				
Heparin	Blood-compatible surfaces; growth factor immobilization				
Fibronectin, collagen Arginine-glycine-aspartate peptides	Cell adhesion and function in biosensors, arrays, devices, and tissue-engineered constructs				
Antibodies	Biosensors; bioseparations; anticancer treatments				
DNA plasmids Antisense oligonucleotides Small interfering RNA	Gene therapy for a multitude of diseases; DNA probes				
Growth factor proteins and peptides	Anticancer treatments; treatments for autoimmune and inflammatory conditions; enhanced wound repair				
Enzymes	Biosensors; bioreactors; anticancer treatments; antithrombotic surfaces				
Drugs and antibiotics	Antithrombotic agents; anticancer treatments; antihyperplasia treatments; antiinfection/ inflammation treatments				
Polysaccharides	Nonfouling supports for biosensors and bioseparations				

Three major methods are used to immobilize biomolecules onto biomaterial surfaces: physical adsorption, physical entrapment, and covalent immobilization (Fig. 37.4) [30]. Passive physisorption of biomacromolecules (i.e., proteins, polysaccharides, nucleic acids) is a simple yet efficient method to render surfaces biologically active. Everyday applications include the coating of synthetic materials with extracellular matrix proteins such as fibronectin and collagen to improve cell adhesion. Protein adsorption is a complex, dynamic, energy-driven process involving hydrophobic interactions, electrostatic interactions, hydrogen bonding, and van der Waals forces. Protein parameters such as the primary structure, size, and structural stability, as well as surface properties including surface energy, and the chemistry influence the biological activity of the adsorbed biomacromolecules. These biologically modified surfaces can undergo further modifications, such as the displacement of adsorbed proteins and the cell-mediated deposition and remodeling of matrix components in the biological milieu. As an approach to improving the stability of these modified surfaces, the biological molecules can be cross-linked after adsorption. Finally, the use of high-affinity interactions, such as avidin—biotin and antibody—antigen, represents a special case of these physical immobilization methods that is particularly important in diagnostics and bioprocessing.

Physical entrapment methods rely on diffusive barriers or matrix systems to control the transport or availability of the biomolecule. For example, entrapment of enzymes within sol-gels with nanoscale porosity and drug or protein therapeutics within encapsulation matrices provide technologies for enhanced stability, separation, or recovery of the biological agent, and regulated delivery kinetics. The encapsulation systems can be engineered to isolate the biomolecule permanently or degrade in nonspecific (e.g., hydrolysis) or specific (e.g., enzymatic degradation) fashion for controlled-release kinetics.

An extensive and diverse group of strategies has been developed to immobilize or tether biomolecules covalently to soluble or solid supports (Fig. 37.4) [30,31]. Soluble polymers functionalized with biomolecules can then be polymerized into a network or grafted onto a solid support. These strategies rely on coupling reactions between groups in the biomolecule ( $-NH_2$ , -COOH, and -SH) and the biomaterial support, and often involve cross-linkers or coupling agents such as CNBr, carbodiimides, and *N*-hydroxysulfosuccinimide. Furthermore, chemoselective reactions such as "click" chemistry, provide unparalleled control over the tethering and presentation of biomolecules that are bio-orthogonal and hence provide specificity without unwanted side reactions [32]. In many instances, the biomolecule is covalently immobilized via an inert spacer arm (e.g., polyethylene glycol) that provides increased steric freedom and activity. In addition, the tether arm can be designed to be hydrolytically or enzymatically labile to allow for release of the tethered biomolecule. As expected, the properties of the underlying biomaterial support have central roles in the tethering efficiency and resulting biological activity of the immobilized biomolecule. In some cases, the surface needs to be modified via the techniques described earlier to introduce reactive groups for the subsequent immobilization step. For example, inert surfaces can be modified by overcoating with a polymeric adlayer that then presents anchoring groups suitable for the immobilization of biomolecules. For many
### Physical adsorption



**Physical entrapment** 



encapsulation



(e.g., antibody-antigen)

dispersion in matrix

immobilization via high affinity interaction



FIGURE 37.4 Schematic diagram of methods for immobilizing biomolecules onto and within biomaterials.

biomedical and biotechnological applications, it is desirable to tether biomolecules within a protein adsorptionresistant (nonfouling) background to eliminate effects associated with nonspecific protein adsorption. This is particularly important in biomaterials and regenerative medicine applications in which inflammatory responses to nonspecifically adsorbed proteins limit biological performance. Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) ( $-[CH_2CH_2O]_n$ ) groups have proven to be the most protein-resistant functionality and remain the standard [33]. A strong correlation exists between PEG chain density and length and resistance to protein adsorption, and consequently cell adhesion. Other hydrophilic polymers such as poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate), polyacrylamide, polycarboxybetaine, and

### REFERENCES

phosphoryl choline polymers also resist protein adsorption. In addition, mannitol, oligomaltose, and taurine groups have emerged as promising moieties to prevent protein adsorption [34,35]. Critical considerations for these approaches include the ability to apply these coatings to existing medical-grade materials and the long-term stability of these coatings in terms of their nonfouling character and whether protein adsorption can be reduced below threshold levels to suppress nonspecific biological responses. Emerging strategies combining passive and active characteristics (e.g., biotherapeutics that modulate blood clotting or inflammation, self-cleaning materials) provide promising approaches to reduce protein adsorption effectively while enabling the controlled presentation of bioactive molecules.

# SURFACE CHEMICAL PATTERNING

Whereas the surface chemical and biological modification strategies described here were presented in the context of a uniform surface, many of these technologies can be used to generate surfaces that have chemical or biological functionalities in distinct geometrical patterns. Important applications of patterned surfaces include protein and oligonucleotide arrays, biosensors, and cell-based arrays [36]. In many instances, these patterned substrates contain spatially defined domains with biomolecules surrounded by a nonfouling background. Photo-lithography and other techniques relying on exposure through masked patterns or direct surface exposure (e.g., laser or electron beam) combined with chemical reaction or grafting are often used to generate chemically patterned surfaces. Importantly, "soft" lithography methods such as microcontact printing and microfluidic fluid exposure have been applied to produce micropatterned substrates in high throughput at a low cost and without the need for a cleanroom environment [37].

### CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

Surface modifications of biomaterials represent promising routes to engineer biofunctionality at the material– tissue interface to modulate biological responses without altering material bulk properties. Countless technologies have been developed to create physicochemical modifications involving alterations to the chemical groups on the surface and coatings consisting of a different material from the underlying support, including immobilized biomolecules. These approaches hold tremendous promise to enhance biomaterial performance in regenerative medicine. Future structure–function analyses on the effects of specific surface chemistries, topographies, and biological modifications on in vivo responses, especially in healing and regenerative environments, will further advance the understanding of host responses to implanted devices. These insights will result in the identification of surface modifications that synergize with biological elements (e.g., cells, growth and differentiation factors) to enhance tissue repair and regeneration. It is anticipated that technical breakthroughs in synthetic chemistry, biofunctionalization, microfabrication and nanofabrication, and surface characterization will lead to the engineering of advanced bioactive materials. In particular, complex patterns of bioligand presentation, such as clusters, gradients, temporal exposure, and multiple ligands, are expected to provide unparalleled control over cellular activities and healing responses.

# References

- Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE. Biomaterials science: an introduction to materials in medicine. San Diego: Academic Press; 2004.
- [2] Anderson JM. Biological responses to materials. Annu Rev Mater Res 2001;31:81-110.
- [3] Anderson JM, Rodriguez A, Chang DT. Foreign body reaction to biomaterials. Semin Immunol 2008;20(2):86-100.
- [4] Woodruff DP, Delchar TA. Modern techniques of surface science. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1994.
- [5] Albrektsson T, Branemark PI, Hansson HA, Kasemo B, Larsson K, Lundstorm I, et al. The interface zone of inorganic implants in vivo: titanium implants in bone. Ann Biomed Eng 1983;11:1–27.
- [6] Sioshansi P. Surface modification of industrial components by ion implantation. MaterSciEng 1987;90:373-83.
- [7] Wan YZ, Raman S, He F, Huang Y. Surface modification of medical metals by ion implantation of silver and copper. Vacuum 2007;81(9): 1114–8.
- [8] Bambauer R, Latza R, Bambauer S, Tobin E. Large bore catheters with surface treatments versus untreated catheters for vascular access in hemodialysis. Artif Organs 2004;28(7):604–10.
- [9] Curtis AS, Wilkinson CD. Reactions of cells to topography. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1998;9(12):1313-29.

### 660

- [10] Flemming RG, Murphy CJ, Abrams GA, Goodman SL, Nealey PF. Effects of synthetic micro- and nano-structured surfaces on cell behavior. Biomaterials 1999;20(6):573–88.
- Boyan BD, Hummert TW, Dean DD, Schwartz Z. Role of material surfaces in regulating bone and cartilage cell response. Biomaterials 1996; 17(2):137–46.
- [12] Jansen JA, von Recum AF, Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE. Textured and porous materials. Biomaterials Science: an Introduction to materials in medicine. 2nd ed. San Diego: Academic Press; 2004. p. 218–25.
- [13] Pilliar RM. Cementless implant fixation-toward improved reliability. Orthop Clin North Am 2005;36(1):113-9.
- [14] Yamamoto M, Tabata Y, Kawasaki H, Ikada Y. Promotion of fibrovascular tissue ingrowth into porous sponges by basic fibroblast growth factor. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2000;11(4):213–8.
- [15] Brauker JH, Carr-Brendel VE, Martinson LA, Crudele J, Johnston WD, Johnson RC. Neovascularization of synthetic membranes directed by membrane microarchitecture. J Biomed Mater Res 1995;29(12):1517–24.
- [16] Chehroudi B, Gould TR, Brunette DM. Effects of a grooved titanium-coated implant surface on epithelial cell behavior in vitro and in vivo. J Biomed Mater Res 1989;23(9):1067–85.
- [17] Chehroudi B, Brunette DM. Subcutaneous microfabricated surfaces inhibit epithelial recession and promote long-term survival of percutaneous implants. Biomaterials 2002;23(1):229–37.
- [18] Charest JL, Bryant LE, García AJ, King WP. Hot embossing for micropatterned cell substrates. Biomaterials 2004;25(19):4767–75.
- [19] Stefanini GG, Holmes Jr DR. Drug-eluting coronary-artery stents. N Engl J Med 2013;368(3):254-65.
- [20] Otsuka Y, Chronos NA, Apkarian RP, Robinson KA. Scanning electron microscopic analysis of defects in polymer coatings of three commercially available stents: comparison of BiodivYsio, Taxus and Cypher stents. J Invasive Cardiol 2007;19(2):71–6.
- [21] Hammond PT. Building biomedical materials layer-by-layer. Mater Today 2012;15(5):196-206.
- [22] Chua PH, Neoh KG, Kang ET, Wang W. Surface functionalization of titanium with hyaluronic acid/chitosan polyelectrolyte multilayers and RGD for promoting osteoblast functions and inhibiting bacterial adhesion. Biomaterials 2008;29(10):1412–21.
- [23] Lopez-Donaire ML, Santerre JP. Surface modifying oligomers used to functionalize polymeric surfaces: Consideration of blood contact applications. J Appl Polym Sci 2014;131(14) [n/a-n/a].
- [24] Lee H, Dellatore SM, Miller WM, Messersmith PB. Mussel-inspired surface chemistry for multifunctional coatings. Science 2007;318(5849): 426–30.
- [25] Hoffman AS. Biomedical applications of plasma gas discharge processes. J Appl Polymer Sci Appl Polymer Symp 1988;42:251-67.
- [26] Gruner H, Brunette DM, Tengvall P, Textor M, Thomsen P. Thermal spray coating on titanium. Titanium in medicine. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2005. p. 375–416.
- [27] Mrksich M, Whitesides GM. Patterning self-assembled monolayers using microcontact printing: a new technology for biosensors? Trends Biotechnol 1995;13:228–35.
- [28] Ulman A. An introduction to ultrathin organic films: from langmuir-blodgett to self-assembly. San Diego: Academic Press; 1991.
- [29] Lutolf MP, Hubbell JA. Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(1):47–55.
- [30] Hoffman AS, Hubbell JA, Ratner BD, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE. Surface-immobilized biomolecules. biomaterials science: an introduction to materials in medicine. 2nd ed. San Diego: Academic Press; 2004. p. 225–33.
- [31] Weetall HH. Covalent coupling methods for inorganic support materials. Methods Enzymol 1976;44:134-48.
- [32] McKay CS, Finn MG. Click chemistry in complex mixtures: bioorthogonal bioconjugation. Chem Biol 2014;21(9):1075-101.
- [33] Hoffman AS. Non-fouling surface technologies. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1999;10(10):1011-4
- [34] Luk Y-Y, Kato M, Mrksich M. Self-assembled monolayers of alkanethiolates presenting mannitol groups are inert to protein adsorption and cell attachment. Langmuir 2000;16(24):9604–8.
- [35] Ruegsegger MA, Marchant RE. Reduced protein adsorption and platelet adhesion by controlled variation of oligomaltose surfactant polymer coatings. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;56(2):159–67.
- [36] Hubbell JA. Biomaterials science and high-throughput screening. Nat Biotechnol 2004;22(7):828-9.
- [37] Whitesides GM, Ostuni E, Takayama S, Jiang X, Ingber DE. Soft lithography in biology and biochemistry. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2001;3: 335–73.

# 38

# Histogenesis in Three-Dimensional Scaffolds

Melissa K. McHale<sup>1</sup>, Nicole M. Bergmann<sup>1</sup>, Jennifer L. West<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Rice University, Houston, TX, United States; <sup>2</sup>Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

# THE NEED FOR REPLACEMENT TISSUES

Replacement of diseased tissues and organs is one of the biggest problems facing the medical industry. According to the US Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients, there were over 97,000 patients on the National Organ Registry at the end of 2007 [1]. Of the patients awaiting life-saving transplants, approximately 10% died before they could receive donor organs. In addition, tissue disease and organ failure lead to an estimated 8 million surgical procedures annually in the United States [2]. From these statistics, one fact is clear: the need for replacement organs far outweighs the supply, and the discrepancy is only expected to worsen as populations rise and life expectancies increase.

Synthetic materials and tissue grafting have been employed throughout history in an effort to address the need for tissue substitutes, although each is marred by seemingly insurmountable challenges. In the case of synthetic replacements, the primary mode of failure comes through attack via the host's foreign body response. Disease transmission, in the case of xenografts or allografts, and donor site morbidity from autografts leave these tissues underused, although the primary constraint, as with whole organs, is a limited supply. Thus, tissue engineering, with its goal of recapitulating biological structure and function, has emerged as the most viable solution to the lack of suitable replacement tissues.

The idea that tissue function can be restored is as old as the medical profession. Historically, one of the most popular sites of implant was the nose, which, other than the hand, was the body part most likely to be injured in battle [3]. As a consequence, many cultures were performing successful nasal operations thousands of years ago. A pioneering technique for nasal tissue regeneration was developed in 1596, when a flap of skin from the arm, complete with underlying vessels, was reconnected to the face. In many cases, these tissues were able to reconnect with the local blood supply and successfully regenerate [4]. By the 19th century, numerous surgeons had successfully transplanted skin between individuals [4,5] and with World War II came the advent of large-scale tissue replacement using synthetic materials. Faced with high numbers of battlefield casualties, surgeons began experimenting with artificial materials for tissue replacement and augmentation in efforts to reduce battlefield mortality [6]. Although most of these attempts were unsuccessful for various reasons, the idea of replacing lost tissue with synthetic materials endured and continues to be used today.

Through the successes and challenges of previous replacement strategies, the medical community has gained a heightened appreciation for the complexity of biological tissues. It is recognized that each tissue is a carefully organized aggregate of cells and other factors specialized to perform a particular function [7], and that the complexity increases as tissues come together to form organs. Although still relying to a large degree on artificial materials and devices, the focus of tissue replacement research is moving toward regenerative medicine and total biological solutions. Along those lines, this chapter will focus on efforts to promote histogenesis in three-dimensional (3D) scaffold matrices.

# TISSUE COMPONENTS

Biological tissues are composed of three components: cells, the extracellular matrix (ECM), and the signaling systems that are encoded by genes in the nuclei of the cells and then activated through cues from the ECM or other cells



FIGURE 38.1 The basic components of mammalian tissue. ECM, extracellular matrix.

[8] (Fig. 38.1). Together, the three components interact in balance to form tissues and organs; mimicking these interactions is the focus of tissue engineering.

From an engineering design standpoint, the tissues of the human body are infinitely complex, and the dynamic processes that constitute organs are not confined to a single dimension. At the most basic level, cells reside in a complex ECM environment of proteins, carbohydrates, and other structural molecules. Cells respond to changes in their environment (e.g., injury or disease) by secreting proteases, growth factors, and other signaling molecules, which in turn lead to intramolecular and intercellular communications dictating the initiation of processes from proliferation and protein synthesis to migration and apoptosis.

The ECM can be broadly defined as a natural scaffold that supports tissues and organs, but it should not be viewed as merely providing strength and physical reinforcement. This matrix, which is composed of both a fibrillar and an amorphous component, is known to be intricately involved in the events that lead to tissue formation [9]. These two broad components interact with cells via cell surface receptors and various membrane proteins to influence processes such as cell orientation, growth and differentiation, and the secretion of bioactive molecules [9]. Cellular responses to changes in the tissue environment may result from direct interaction with the matrix, such as when physical stresses are transmitted through fibrillar ECM components to cell focal adhesion complexes within the cell, or they may arise as a consequence of the release of signaling molecules that are stored in the ECM reservoir. Understanding the complexity of tissue components and their roles in natural processes, such as embryogenesis and wound healing, will guide tissue engineering methodologies and lead to more functional replacement options.

## **REGENERATION OF DISEASED TISSUES**

Regeneration is defined as the synthesis of physiologic tissue with the objective of restoring lost biological function. This is in contrast to the notion of tissue repair, which is simply the closure of a wound to allow for the return of homeostatic function at the site of injury [10]. Repair generally results in the contraction of tissue and the formation of a scar, which contains undifferentiated epithelial tissue with little or no physiological function. Although many tissue engineering strategies have been influenced by the principles at work in the wound healing process (especially with regard to cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions), the formation of scar tissue is regarded as an adverse event that directly inhibits the regeneration of new tissues [11].

Unlike an embryo, the adult human has limited capacity for self-regeneration. The precise reason for this inability is not understood, but research demonstrates that the removal of ECM, as in disease or injury, disrupts normal tissue regeneration and leads directly to the formation of scar tissue [10]. This observation signifies the importance of a structural support to direct and guide cell-mediated regeneration. Indeed, studies have shown that for large tissue defects, the implantation of cells alone is ineffective at initiating new tissue formation [11]. Depending on the size and location of tissue damage, cells must work in conjunction with the ECM to initiate repair or regeneration. Again, it is valuable to consider the natural process of wound healing when attempting to delineate these interactions.

Tissues are composed of three interconnected layers: the epithelium, basal lamina, and stroma. The epithelium is composed entirely of cells with little or no matrix component. In contrast, the basal lamina contains only ECM, whereas the stroma is composed of cells, ECM, and blood vessels [12] (Fig. 38.2). Both the epithelia and basal lamina can regenerate without inducing scar formation, but the stroma is usually nonregenerative, and injury to this layer leads directly to the repair state [13]. When tissue injury occurs, the inflammatory response is swift and quickly



FIGURE 38.2 The three layers of tissue. The epithelia is the outermost layer of tissue and is composed mainly of cells. The basal lamina is a thin extracellular matrix (ECM) membrane that separates the epithelia from the stroma. The stroma is mainly composed of ECM fibers and is generally unable to regenerate spontaneously.

results in recruitment of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts to the wound bed [13]. The destruction of stromal tissue signals myofibroblasts to secrete collagen fibrils in an attempt to stabilize the wound. Unlike the random fibril orientation achieved by fibroblasts in normal tissue formation, myofibroblasts deposit collagen in a highly organized fashion along stress planes [10]. The stress forces generated by these contractile cells are generally in one dimension and both the myofibroblasts and matrix fibers align parallel to the force [14]. Deposition of ECM under stress results in contraction of the wound bed, bringing healthy tissue closer together and thus reducing the size of the defect to be healed. Unfortunately, the highly aligned scar fibrils inhibit subsequent infiltration by additional cell types, thereby limiting the extent to which the scar can be remodeled into functional, regenerated tissue.

With the goal of limiting wound contraction and subsequent scar tissue formation, much research has focused on implanting exogenous materials into the defect site to replace the lost matrix component. As example, Yannas and colleagues placed a collagen scaffold into a full-thickness skin wound and were able to block wound contraction and greatly reduce scar formation while inducing partial skin regeneration [13]. The collagen construct was shown to reduce the inflammatory response greatly, and consequently, the number of myofibroblasts recruited to the wound bed. In control studies, inhibition of contraction and subsequent tissue regeneration was not evident in defects treated with cytokines or cell suspensions, or in artificial scaffolds known to induce a high inflammatory response [11]. In addition, inhibition of contraction by steroids or other chemicals [15] is not sufficient for regeneration, which demonstrates the complex influence of scaffold materials in the healing process.

Although the need for a scaffold material has been validated, a complete tissue replacement strategy is composed of more than a single component. Successful histogenesis requires the presence of cells capable of producing new tissue matrix and must include the biochemical factors necessary for the cells to live and function. Furthermore, several important design parameters related to the scaffold itself have become evident. In addition to being biocompatible, scaffold materials should have the appropriate chemical structure and microarchitecture to support cell viability and tissue formation. As tissues mature, precisely tuned scaffold degradation will allow the transfer of mechanical properties to the newly formed matrix and materials permissive to vascular ingrowth will encourage incorporation with surrounding tissues and provide a blood supply for nourishment.

# DESIGN PARAMETERS FOR HISTOGENESIS

Tissue engineers have recognized certain critical components to regeneration design strategies. Methodologies generally start by including the three components of tissue: cells, matrix, and signaling factors. From here, constituents are specialized based on specific tissue needs. In general, researchers seek to develop a scaffold material that can support viability of the appropriate cell type while acting as a temporary substitute for the ECM. Over time, this surrogate matrix will ideally be replaced by functional replacement tissue.

## Cell Sources

Because scaffold materials alone are insufficient to stimulate regeneration of all tissue defects, cell sourcing is an important consideration in the histogenesis design strategy. Host cells have been shown to infiltrate acellular matrices in some instances, but generally this infiltration distance is limited to a few microns. By implanting cells into the biomaterial scaffold, it is believed that the time for tissue infiltration by the host will be minimized and

the cells can secrete bioactive factors in vitro that will encourage autologous ECM formation. Thus, a combination of cells and scaffold serves as the most common implant construct.

A variety of cell types have been investigated for regeneration applications, including differentiated cells, adultderived stem cells, and embryonic stem cells [16]. Mature cells have historically come from three sources, autologous, allogeneic, and xenogeneic, although xenogeneic cell transplantations have mostly been abandoned because of concerns regarding immune rejection and cross-species disease transmission. Allogeneic cells are harvested from healthy adult donor organs and then expanded in vitro. Scaffolds with allogeneic cells are subject to immune rejection, but these cells have been successful in skin regeneration for burn patients [17]. Autologous cells biopsied from a patient, expanded in vitro, and then seeded onto a tissue scaffold are generally viewed as the ideal replacement in terms of compatibility. However, in many patients, the extent of tissue damage or disease makes it difficult to obtain a sufficient supply of healthy cells [16].

The field has seen an increase in the number of progenitor cells employed for regeneration applications. These stem cells have varying degrees of potential, depending on their source, but in general, adult-derived cells are considered multipotent and have the capacity to generate a limited number of cell types, whereas pluripotent, embryonic cells can be differentiated into cells of all three germ layers [18]. As example, murine embryonic stem cells have been differentiated in vitro into various tissue cells including neurons, myocytes, and chondrocytes [19]. This differentiation was initiated in vitro through the use of media containing cytokines and growth factors specific to the target cell lineage. Osteoblast differentiation has been accomplished in a similar manner and by incubating embryonic stem cells in preconditioned media transferred from a culture of mature bone cells [20]. Mechanical stimulation can also serve as a tool to guide differentiation for orthopedic [21] or cardiovascular [22] applications of embryonic stem cells. The advent of induced pluripotent stem cells, derived from reprogramming adult cells such as fibroblasts, further expands possibilities for the field [23].

## Porosity

In most types of synthetic materials, successful histogenesis requires a porous microstructure. Scaffold porosity, pore size, and the overall pore structure all have important effects on tissue formation and infiltration into biomaterial constructs. Interconnecting pores facilitate the loading of cells into scaffold materials whereas the increased internal surface area provides sites for attachment and spreading. By allowing the diffusion of metabolites, oxygen, and growth factors into and out of the material, an open network structure permits cell viability and proliferation and allows room for the deposition of cell-secreted proteins. In vivo, a porous structure serves to encourage the infiltration of host cells and, importantly, the extension of vascular processes that offer nourishment to developing tissue.

Methods of creating pores or increasing the porosity of biomaterials include gas foaming [24], salt leaching [25], freeze-drying [26], and electrospinning [27], and the inclusion of biodegradable hydrogel microparticles [28]. As example, a microporous polyurethane urea was developed using a gas-foaming method. In these studies, sodium bicarbonate is added to a mixture of a polyurethane urea copolymer in dimethylformamide. The polymer is cast in a mold and the solvent evaporated. The cast polymer is next placed into an acidic solution to react with the salt. Both the removal of the salt and the bubbles formed during this foaming process contribute to the porosity of the resulting scaffold [29]. The final material is homogeneous in structure with a surface pore morphology and pore volume fraction similar to that seen throughout the bubble (Fig. 38.3). In addition, incorporation of the



FIGURE 38.3 Microporous polyurethane urea copolymer scaffold. The scaffold formed by gas foaming exhibits a similar porous morphology on the surface (*left*) and in the bulk (*right*).



FIGURE 38.4 Microporous polyurethane urea scaffold modified for cell adhesion. The original scaffold porosity (*left*) was unaltered by the addition of the cell-adhesive peptide YIGSR (*right*).

laminin-derived peptide YIGSR permits cell adhesion to the otherwise nonadhesive polymer matrix without changing the overall porosity of the scaffold (Fig. 38.4).

It is important to consider how variations in pore architecture affect cell-material interactions. Experimental studies have led to the determination of a characteristic interaction parameter,  $\Phi_c$ , which relates the number of cells bound,  $N_c$ , to the available surface area, A, of the scaffold, according to Eq. (1) [10]:

$$\Phi_{\rm c} = \frac{N_{\rm c}}{A},\tag{38.1}$$

By careful analysis, it can be shown that two matrices with identical chemistries but differing pore diameters have vastly different abilities to provide for cellular attachment. For example, scaffolds containing pores of 300  $\mu$ m have a much lower internal surface area than do matrices with pore diameters of less than 50  $\mu$ m, and as such, they bind a much lower number of cells in the matrix. Because of the low cellular infiltration, tissue formation in these constructs is slow and in certain cases inhibited owing to a lack of interactions between cells [10]. From this calculation, it can be assumed that there is a maximum pore diameter that will allow cells sufficient area to attach and divide while maintaining the critical intracellular communication that leads to histogenesis. This parameter will be influenced by scaffold material properties (e.g., hydrophobicity) and limited by the size of the cell in each application. In general, research supports that pores larger than 10  $\mu$ m (the average cell diameter) will permit cell infiltration [30].

In terms of successful histogenesis, both the pore size and the degree of porosity are tissue and scaffold specific. For example, in vivo osteogenesis occurs in biomaterials of high porosity (>70%) with average pore sizes larger than 300  $\mu$ m [31]. However, in skin regeneration, successful scaffolds need only to exhibit pore sizes of 20–125  $\mu$ m [32]. This discrepancy can be explained by the low vascular requirements of the skin and its convenient juxtaposition to an ample supply of atmospheric oxygen. However, there is an upper limit in the porosity and pore size set by constraints associated with mechanical properties. An increase in the void volume results in a reduction in the mechanical strength of the scaffold, which can be detrimental in applications where regenerated tissues must support significant mechanical loads (e.g., long bones, heart valves, and articular cartilage) [13]. The extent to which the porosity of a scaffold can be increased while allowing it to meet tissue mechanical requirements depends on many factors, including the intrinsic makeup of the biomaterial and the processing conditions used in fabrication [31].

As histogenesis progresses and gives way to organogenesis, the impact of the scaffold pore structure on material degradation and tissue vascularization becomes apparent. The size and distribution of pores within a scaffold greatly influence the manner and rate of in vivo degradation [33], which can affect tissue formation and construct mechanical integrity. In materials susceptible to hydrolytic cleavage, for example, the access of water molecules to the interior of a scaffold is limited by porosity. Similar parallels exist for matrices subject to enzymatic degradation, which rely on interaction with cell-secreted molecules for dissolution. A final, important consideration is the influence of pore structure on the establishment of a blood supply in newly developing tissue. In early stages of histogenesis, nutrients, metabolites and other factors essential to cell survival pass freely through scaffold pores. As these pores fill with new tissue, however, a functioning vasculature is necessary. New "designer" tissue-engineered scaffolds are composed of precisely controlled porous architectures that support and guide vessel ingrowth during tissue development [34,35]. The concepts of degradation and microvascularization are discussed in more detail in the following sections.

# Degradation

Although nondegradable biomaterials have had success in many medical devices, complication primarily caused by chronic foreign body responses have yet to be overcome. For this reason, the ideal regeneration construct is one that can eventually be replaced by native tissues. Furthermore, the degradation rate of the construct is intrinsic to the success of the implant. This means that the material dissolution should complement tissue synthesis to ensure suitable mechanical stability during the process of histogenesis. The necessary scaffold residence time is tissue specific and must account for the time required for cells to populate the scaffold adequately and deposit a stable ECM. If a biomaterial degrades before sufficient ECM deposition has occurred, cells will lose important physiochemical factors for tissue regeneration and repair is likely to occur, resulting in scar formation. However, if the scaffold residence time is too long, ECM deposition and cell proliferation will be suppressed. An important balance must be established for successful regeneration.

In most currently employed scaffold materials, degradation in the in vivo aqueous environment occurs via hydrolysis of chemical bonds in the base material. Chemical functionalities, molecular weight, and the degree of crosslinking determine the degradation characteristics. For example, higher—molecular weight materials tend to degrade more slowly over time as do materials with a higher hydrophobicity and crystallinity. Using a combination of these factors, predictable degradation profiles can be developed to match expected tissue formation rates. However, the consequences of material dissolution must be considered. As mentioned earlier, scaffolds that undergo bulk erosion can rapidly become unstable owing to the formation of large pores with low mechanical stability [36]. In addition, the degradation products of some scaffolds can be toxic not only to cells of the surrounding tissue, but also to vital organs of the lymphatic system. For example, degradation of the frequently studied polylactic acid (PLA) and polyglycolic acid (PGA) scaffolds results in a marked drop in pH in the local vicinity because of the release of acidic degradation products [36,37]. The decrease in pH can be detrimental to cells and organs; over time, it can lead to an inflammatory response with possible capsule formation and tissue necrosis [38].

As an alternative to hydrolytic degradation, many investigators are developing smart materials that can be dynamically remodeled during histogenesis via cell-mediated processes. These scaffolds are designed to mimic the degradation of natural ECM proteins, which are subject to matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and serine prote-ases that are either secreted or activated by most cell types. Because proteolysis-induced degradation is required for cell migration and invasion, researchers have had success in introducing synthetic hydrogels that are sensitive to cell proteases. Hydrogels containing amino acid sequences that can be degraded by plasmin [39], MMPs [40], or both of these protease families [41–43] exhibit sustained degradation upon cellular infiltration.

In our own laboratory, we have fabricated MMP-degradable hydrogels that become fluorescent when degraded by cell proteases [44]. These = polyethylene glycol (PEG)-based hydrogels are synthesized with MMP-degradable segments in the polymer backbone that are labeled with fluorescent, self-quenching tags. Thus, intact substrates show no fluorescence, but upon degradation by cell proteases, quantifiable fluorescence is emitted. Cells seeded in these fluorogenic substrates are able to cleave the degradable hydrogel matrix, as visualized by a marked increase in fluorescence in the areas immediately around the cell (Fig. 38.5). In addition, cell migration trails could be seen in the hydrogels. It is believed these materials will contribute to an understanding of cell migration and cell-mediated scaffold degradation.



FIGURE 38.5 Fibroblast encapsulated within a fluorogenic substrate. Differential interference contrast image (*left*) and fluorescent image (*right*) showing green fluorescence generated by material degradation around cell (*red*).

# **Biomolecular Factors**

In many cases, seeding cells inside a porous scaffold is insufficient to induce tissue regeneration because the material does not contain the chemical cues necessary to promote cellular remodeling events. Thus, researchers have attempted to modify biomaterials actively at the molecular level by incorporating cell-specific biomolecules. One strategy is to encapsulate molecules such as peptides or proteins into biomaterial carriers so that these molecules can be released from the material to trigger or modulate new tissue formation [8]. Another approach involves physically or chemically modifying scaffolds with specific cell-binding peptides to increase cellular interaction with the substrate. Cell-binding peptides are short amino acid sequences derived from much longer native ECM proteins that have been identified as able to incur specific, predictable interactions with cell receptors. Essentially the peptides function to mimic the signaling dynamic between the ECM and cells, and because many synthetic scaffold materials are not inherently adhesive to cells, the introduction of such sequences can be critical to encouraging cell retention and subsequent tissue formation [45]. The most well-studied cell adhesion peptide, arginine-glycine-aspartic acid-serine (RGDS) has been widely used to encourage cells of various types to interact with otherwise nonadhesive synthetic matrices [46] (Fig. 38.6). Other amino acid sequences have been found to promote adhesion by specific cell phenotypes including endothelial cells [29,47–49], smooth muscle cells [47], neural cells [50], and osteoblasts [51].

Various growth factors have also been employed in efforts to enhance the process of histogenesis. Because they have key roles in tissue differentiation and repair, molecules such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) are popular for use in these applications. The release of PDGF from a polyurethane scaffold has been shown to encourage wound healing of in a rat model [52], whereas Griffith and colleagues used tethered EGF to promote osteogenic differentiation in an effort to improve connective tissue regeneration [53]. TGF- $\beta$ 1 has many roles in histogenesis [54] and has received particular attention for aiding the differentiation of stem cells and the development of new vasculature in vivo [55]. In other work, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and nerve growth factor were immobilized in fibrin scaffolds to facilitate cellular recruitment and differentiation [56]. Biomolecules have also been covalently coupled to PEG-based materials [57–60] with vascular endothelial growth factor and showed the potential to drive endothelial cell tubulogenesis. Furthermore, Delong and West formed gradients of bFGF and observed cellular alignment and migration that was directly influenced by growth factor presentation [61] (Fig. 38.7).

## Importance of Microvasculature

One of the biggest limitations to histogenesis in 3D scaffolds is the lack of a functional vascular system. The most successful engineered materials to date have been for tissues such as skin, which are thin enough to be supported by diffusion from the host vascular, and cartilage, which is relatively avascular and as such contains cells that are tolerant of anoxic conditions. All other tissues require some form of vascular system to permit the long-term survival of cells within the material. There are two primary strategies for establishing a blood supply in implanted 3D scaffolds. Vessels can grow into the construct from host tissue or they can be preformed in vitro and interconnect with host vascular upon implantation.



FIGURE 38.6 Peptide modification promotes cell adhesion. The nonadhesive nature of polyethylene glycol hydrogels (*left*) can be significantly altered by inclusion of an arginine-glycine-aspartic acid-serine peptide to promote cell attachment (*right*).



FIGURE 38.7 Gradient of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) immobilized in a hydrogel scaffold. Cells seeded on hydrogels containing a bFGF gradient aligned and migrated along the axis of growth factor immobilization.

The premise behind the first strategy is to encourage vessels to enter an avascular construct from the host tissue by stimulating angiogenesis. To encourage this process, scaffolds can be fabricated with precisely designed pore structures or surface chemistries that support ingrowth [34,62]. In some cases, proangiogenic factors are immobilized on or released from implants to encourage the ingrowth of vessels from host tissue. Work from our laboratory showed extensive infiltration of functional vessels into a cell-adhesive, proteolytically degradable, PEG-based hydrogel that had been implanted in the mouse cornea [63–66]. The limitation of these strategies is the time required for vessels to extend into the entirety of the engineered construct. At an extension rate of approximately 5  $\mu$ m/h [67], new vessels will not reach the center of large scaffolds until several days after implant, leaving any cells at these locations without sufficient supplies of oxygen and nutrients.

A second option is to create preformed vascular networks in vitro that are capable of anastomosing with host vascular upon implantation. This process of connecting two independent vascular networks is called inosculation and is the mechanism primarily responsible for the successes in plastic surgery and skin transplantations. To generate microvascular networks in vitro, researchers seed scaffolds with cells known to participate in vasculogenesis, including endothelial cells, stem cells, and pericytes. With appropriate biochemical and/or physical stimulation, these cells self-assemble into capillary-like structures. As an example, successful vascular networks have been formed by endothelial cells in fibrin scaffolds [68] and by adult and cord blood—derived progenitor cells in Matrigel [69]. In each study, the preformed vessels were functional upon implantation in vivo; and in the case of the endothelial cells, immature capillaries were further stabilized by host mural cells. Other work along these lines suggests that providing relevant physiomechanical stimulation in vitro will aid in developing functional prevascularized networks in engineered constructs [70–72]. A final approach exploits the body's own ability to form blood vessels. A variety of scaffold materials have been implanted in highly vascularized anatomical sites, where they are incubated for up to 3 weeks as host vessels infiltrate. Once the vessel network is established, the scaffold is explanted, loaded with cells, and finally implanted into the site targeted for regeneration [73].

The need for adequate blood flow in 3D scaffolds is readily apparent and of concern to all researchers interested in regeneration strategies. Advances are promising, although much work remains to be done. Inosculation of preformed microvascular networks with host vascular, for instance, provides functional transport of engineered materials much more rapidly than some other methods, but it is still too slow for sensitive tissue applications. A combination of this approach with proangiogenic strategies may encourage connection in a shorter time, thus leading to the better long-term regeneration of target tissue.

## SYNTHETIC MATERIALS FOR HISTOGENESIS OF NEW ORGANS

Biomaterials investigated as scaffolds for histogenesis include natural polymers such as collagen and fibrin, as well as a range of synthetic substrates. Although natural matrices have certain advantages in that their chemical composition is generally amenable to cell growth, batch-to-batch variations in substrate quality and performance can make their use in clinical regeneration applications problematic. As such, the control and flexibility of synthetic materials make them attractive alternatives. As alluded to previously, control is an important element in tailoring the scaffold's material properties for appropriate cell–material and matrix–material interactions. The following sections highlight two popular classes of synthetic materials: hydrolytically degradable polymers and hydrogels.

### Hydrolytically Degradable Polymers

The most widely used polymers for cellular scaffold materials are PLA, PGA, or a combination of these two polymers (poly[lactic-*co*-glycolic acid] [PLGA]). PLA, PGA, and PLGA are aliphatic esters that possess good biocompatibility [74] and have been used as drug delivery materials to administer biomolecules during tissue regeneration [75,76]. These polymers are also among the few synthetic polymers approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for certain human clinical applications. PGA is extremely hydrophilic in nature; consequently, it will lose its mechanical strength within 2–4 weeks of implantation [77]. PLA, however, contains an additional methyl group and as a result is more hydrophobic. Degradation of PLA scaffolds can take from months to years [75,78]. In addition, the degradation rates of these polymers can be tailored by using copolymer blends (PLGA), which give distinct degradation profiles [75,79]. However, these scaffolds undergo acid-catalyzed hydrolysis and bulk erosion, which have the potential to result in structural instability and interruption of the regeneration process [80].

Polyanhydrides have been synthesized for a number of biomedical applications including tissue engineering and drug delivery [81]. Polyanhydride scaffolds exhibit excellent biocompatibility and contain a large aliphatic component that possesses an ester group that makes the material subject to surface erosion [82]. This deliberate surface erosion is mechanistically different from bulk hydrolysis and can be exploited to synthesize biomaterials scaffolds that have predictable degradation profiles. In addition, the erosion of only the surface of the material allows anhydrides to maintain structural integrity in support of histogenesis. Because they exhibit mechanical properties similar to bone and are ideal scaffolds for tissue infiltration, anhydrides have been widely employed as scaffolds for in vivo bone regeneration [83–85]. Polyanhydride networks can also be combined with other polymers to change their degradation and structural characteristics. Jiang and Zhu [86] showed that anhydride polymers could be polymerized in the presence of PEG to form a cross-linked network with both hydrophobic and hydrophilic components. The hydrophilic PEG chains increase the uptake of water to drive the hydrolysis of the ester bond in the hydrophobic anhydride. As such, the degradation properties can be tailored by altering the amount of PEG in the scaffold material.

# Hydrogels

Hydrogels, which contain up to 90% water, are another widely studied class of materials for tissue regeneration. These materials are appealing because the polymer properties are controllable and reproducible [87] and the large water uptake promotes excellent biocompatibility. In many cases, hydrogel mechanical properties resemble those of native tissue and can be systematically controlled for specific applications. In addition, several hydrogel monomers contain vinyl chemical moieties, which are conducive to various free radical—initiated polymerizations schemes that can be employed to generate solid substrate materials. Photoinitiation, for example, enables polymers to be formed using specific wavelengths of light. Using this method, many researchers have had success forming complex 3D structures of varying stiffnesses. For example, polyacrylamide hydrogels have been shown to induce regeneration of soft tissue in facial defects [88], and 2-hydroxyethylmethacrylate has had good success as a fibrillar support for nerve regeneration [89].

Among the most well-studied hydrogel materials is cross-linked PEG, which has been approved by the FDA for use in certain medical applications [90]. As with other hydrogels, the hydrophilic nature of PEG discourages cell and

protein adhesion and therefore results in a low instance of immunorejection by the host. By changing the monomer chain length, adding biological molecules, or using copolymers, researchers have generated a wide array of PEG hydrogel formulations suitable for many different tissue engineering applications. To render an otherwise blank slate amenable to histogenesis, various biomimetic peptides and growth factors have been incorporated into the PEG hydrogel matrix [57,59,91–93]. These modifications have been successful in achieving selective cell adhesion and promoting the accumulation of secreted tissue matrix. As mentioned previously, similar methods have been employed to encourage vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in PEG hydrogel materials. In addition, these hydrogel materials show promise as small-diameter vascular grafts [94]. Incorporation of peptides subject to proteolytic cleavage in the backbone of the PEG monomer renders the scaffolds subject to cell-mediated remodeling, giving these materials an additional advantage as histogenesis conduits.

# FUTURE DIRECTIONS IN THREE-DIMENSIONAL SCAFFOLDS: THREE-DIMENSIONAL MICROFABRICATION

Advances in the biomaterial field are providing tissue engineers with the means to generate complex and highly specialized 3D scaffolds. One of the earliest examples of such architectures was developed by Griffith and colleagues for hepatocyte culture and liver regeneration. Using a rapid printing technique, microporous PLGA scaffolds were fabricated by directing solvent streams onto polymer granules in a precisely controlled manner [95]. The hepatocytes seeded upon these constructs exhibited increased metabolic rates that mimicked cells in vivo more closely. In other work, 3D, microporous PLGA foams were prepared by drilling with dies of a specific size. The dimensions of these cylindrical scaffolds were reproducible with millimeter precision, and when placed in vivo, the materials supported bone regeneration in nonhealing defect models [96,97]. Porous scaffolds have also been micropatterned for vascular tissue engineering applications [35,98].

Several researchers have used photopolymerization techniques to mold and pattern hydrogel scaffolds for better control of cell–substrate interactions [99]. Peppas reported micropatterning of PEG hydrogels using UV polymerization to generate many different substrate morphologies on the order of 100  $\mu$ m [100]. Liu and Bhatia also photopatterned PEG hydrogels using a layer-by-layer method to generate a 3D scaffold for hepatocytes [101].

Laser-based patterning of hydrogels is a relatively new technique for generating complex 3D microenvironments inside hydrogel materials and natural constructs. Liu et al. used a laser ablation technique to form lines, holes, and interconnected grids in collagen matrices [102], whereas growth factors and peptides were patterned by Roy and colleagues using laser-based stereolithography [103] inside a PEG hydrogel. Biomolecules have also been patterned inside agarose hydrogels [104]. In this case, RGDS peptides were patterned in cylindrical shapes within the hydrogel material. After 3 days, neuronal cells seeded on the surface of the materials were shown to have migrated into the hydrogel in only the selectively patterned areas. Additional studies of cell migration in hydrogel materials were conducted with micropatterned, PEG-based materials functionalized with several different bioactive moieties [60,105,106]. In the process of laser scanning lithography, photosensitive peptides or proteins are covalently incorporated into 3D hydrogels with the precision of a confocal microscope laser (Fig. 38.8). The technique is capable of generating features from 1 µm to 1 mm and can be extended to include multiple bioactive moieties in a single substrate. The image in Fig. 38.9 illustrates the 3D nature of a patterned ligand. These precisely fabricated regeneration matrices provide great opportunities for controlled tissue growth.

# CONCLUSIONS

The need for replacement tissues and organs is driving tissue engineers to develop materials and strategies capable of generating biologically functional substitutes. The study of natural processes such as wound healing has provided insights into the complex mechanisms of tissue regeneration and allowed researchers to prioritize design parameters for 3D scaffolds. At the same time, advances in biomaterial synthesis and modification, as well as a better understanding of the signaling molecules important in tissue synthesis, are providing a wealth of tools for regeneration strategies. In a systematic approach to histogenesis, Nettles et al. developed a method of neural network analysis in which a self-organizing map delineates the relationships between scaffold parameters, such as cross-link density, and tissue outcomes [107]. The investigators employed this tool with the goal of optimizing and



FIGURE 38.8 Laser scanning lithography patterning of polyethylene glycol (PEG) hydrogels. Precisely defined patterned areas are generated in three-dimensional (3D) hydrogels by using a confocal microscope laser to cross-link photosensitive materials. *DA*, diacrylate; *RGDS*, arginine-glycine-aspartic acid-serine. *Schematic courtesy of Joseph C. Hoffman, Rice University.* 



FIGURE 38.9 Laser scanning lithography pattern of fluorescently labeled arginine-glycine-aspartic acid-serine in a polyethylene glycol hydrogel. The fluorescent peptide (*red*) is visible in the bulk hydrogel (*black*) after patterning. Scale bar =  $10 \mu m$ . *Image courtesy of Joseph C. Hoffman, Rice University.* 

accelerating the design of a cartilage tissue substitute. Tools such as these will focus the work of tissue engineers going forward. Good success has been seen in developing substitutes for skin and cartilage. Advances in scaffold microvascularization techniques will aid in progressing the field to larger, more complex target tissues.

# References

- OPTN/SRTR. 2008 annual report of the U.S. organ procurement and transplantation network and scientific registry of transplant recipients: transplant data 1998-2007. Rockville, MD and Richmond, VA: HHS; 2008.
- [2] Angelos P, Lafreniere R, Murphy TF, Rosen W. Ethical issues in surgical treatment and research. Curr Probl Surg 2003;40(7):353-448.

### 672

#### 38. HISTOGENESIS IN THREE-DIMENSIONAL SCAFFOLDS

- [3] Wallace AF. The early development of pedicle flaps. J R Soc Med 1978;71(11):834.
- [4] Ang GC. History of skin transplantation. Clin Dermatol 2005;23(4):320.
- [5] Hauben DJ. The history of free skin transplant operations. Acta Chir Plast 1985;27(2):66.
- [6] DeBakey MS, Simeone FA. Battle injuries of the arteries. Am J Surg 1946;123:534.
- [7] Wnek GE, Bowlin GL. Encyclopedia of biomaterials and biomedical engineering. New York: Informa Healthcare USA; 2008.
- [8] Shin H, Jo S, Mikos AG. Biomimetic materials for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2003;24(24):4353-64.
- [9] Reid LM, Zern MA. Extracellular matrix chemistry and Biology. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1993.
- [10] Yannas IV. Facts and theories of induced organ regeneration. Regen Med I Theor Models Methods 2005a;93:1–38.
- [11] Yannas IV. Similarities and differences between induced organ regeneration in adults and early foetal regeneration. J R Soc Interface 2005b; 2(5):403–17.
- [12] Wetzels RHW, Robben HCM, Leigh IM, et al. Distribution patterns of type-Vii collagen in normal and malignant human tissues. Am J Pathol 1991;139(2):451–9.
- [13] Yannas IV. Synthesis of tissues and organs. Chembiochem 2004;5(1):26-39.
- [14] Ng CP, Hinz B, Swartz MA. Interstitial fluid flow induces myofibroblast differentiation and collagen alignment in vitro. J Cell Sci 2005; 118(20):4731–9.
- [15] Ehrlich HP, Hunt TK. Effects of cortisone and vitamin A on wound healing. Ann Surg 1968;167(3):324.
- [16] Hedrick MH, Daniels EJ. The use of adult stem cells in regenerative medicine. Clin Plast Surg 2003;30(4):499.
- [17] Horch RE, Kopp J, Kneser U, Beier J, Bach AD. Tissue engineering of cultured skin substitutes. J Cell Mol Med 2005;9(3):592-608.
- [18] Brignier AC, Gewirtz AM. Embryonic and adult stem cell therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;125(2 Suppl. 2):S336–44.
- [19] Vats A, Tolley NS, Polak JM, Buttery LDK. Stem cells: sources and applications. Clin Otolaryngol 2002;27(4):227-32.
- [20] Buttery LDK, Bourne S, Xynos JD, et al. Differentiation of osteoblasts and in vitro bone formation from murine embryonic stem cells. Tissue Eng 2001;7(1):89–99.
- [21] McKee C, Hong Y, Yao D, Chaudry GR. Compression induced chondrogenic differentiation of embryonic stem cells in 3-D PDMS scaffolds. Tiss Eng a 2017;23:426–35. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2016.0376.
- [22] Zhang W, Kong CW, Tong MH, Chooi WH, Huang N, Li RA, Chan BP. Maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes (hESC-CMs) in 3D collagen matrix: effects of niche cell supplementation and mechanical stimulation. Acta Biomater 2017;49:204–17.
- [23] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126(4):652–5.
- [24] Montjovent MO, Mathieu L, Hinz B, et al. Biocompatibility of bioresorbable poly(L-lactic acid) composite scaffolds obtained by supercritical gas foaming with human fetal bone cells. Tissue Eng 2005;11(11–12):1640–9.
- [25] Gross KA, Rodriguez-Lorenzo LM. Biodegradable composite scaffolds with an interconnected spherical network for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2004;25(20):4955–62.
- [26] Moscato S, Cascone MG, Lazzeri L, et al. Morphological features of ovine embryonic lung fibroblasts cultured on different bioactive scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 2006;76A(1):214–21.
- [27] He W, Ma ZW, Yong T, Teo WE, Ramakrishna S. Fabrication of collagen-coated biodegradable polymer nanofiber mesh and its potential for endothelial cells growth. Biomaterials 2005;26(36):7606–15.
- [28] Kim J, Yaszemski MJ, Lu L. Three-dimensional porous biodegradable polymeric scaffolds fabricated with biodegradable hydrogel porogens. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2009;15(4):583–94.
- [29] Jun H-W, West JL. Endothelialization of microporous YIGSR/PEG-modified polyurethaneurea. Tissue Eng 2005;11(7–8):1133–40.
- [30] Agrawal CM, Ray RB. Biodegradable polymeric scaffolds for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;55(2):141-50.
- [31] Karageorgiou V, Kaplan D. Porosity of 3D biomaterial scaffolds and osteogenesis. Biomaterials 2005;26(27):5474.
- [32] Yannas IV, Lee E, Orgill DP, Skrabut EM, Murphy GF. Synthesis and characterization of a model extracellular matrix that induces partial regeneration of adult mammalian skin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989;86(3):933.
- [33] Lu L, Peter SJ, Lyman MD, et al. In vitro and in vivo degradation of porous poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid) foams. Biomaterials 2000b;21(18): 1837–45.
- [34] Hollister SJ. Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering. Nat Mater 2005;4(7):518-24.
- [35] Miller JS, Stevens KR, Yang MT, et al. Rapid casting of patterned vascular networks for perfusable engineered three-dimensional tissues. Nat Mater 2012;11:768–74.
- [36] Lu L, Peter SJ, Lyman MD, et al. In vitro and in vivo degradation of porous poly(-lactic-co-glycolic acid) foams. Biomaterials 2000a;21(18): 1837.
- [37] Martin C, Winet H, Bao JY. Acidity near eroding polylactide-polyglycolide in vitro and in vivo in rabbit tibial bone chambers. Biomaterials 1996;17(24):2373.
- [38] Sung HJ, Meredith C, Johnson C, Galis ZS. The effect of scaffold degradation rate on three-dimensional cell growth and angiogenesis. Biomaterials 2004;25(26):5735–42.
- [39] Halstenberg S, Panitch A, Rizzi S, Hall H, Hubbell JA. Biologically engineered protein-graft-poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels: a cell adhesive and plasm in-degradable biosynthetic material for tissue repair. Biomacromolecules 2002;3(4):710–23.
- [40] Kim S, Chung EH, Gilbert M, Healy KE. Synthetic MMP-13 degradable ECMs based on poly(N-isopropylacrylamide-co-acrylic acid) semiinterpenetrating polymer networks. I. Degradation and cell migration. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 2005;75A(1):73–88.
- [41] Mann BK, Gobin AS, Tsai AT, Schmedlen RH, West JL. Smooth muscle cell growth in photopolymerized hydrogels with cell adhesive and proteolytically degradable domains: synthetic ECM analogs for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2001a;22(22):3045.
- [42] Raeber GP, Lutolf MP, Hubbell JA. Molecularly engineered PEG hydrogels: a novel model system for proteolytically mediated cell migration. Biophys J 2005;89(2):1374–88.
- [43] West JL, Hubbell JA. Polymeric biomaterials with degradation sites for proteases involved in cell migration. Macromolecules 1999;32(1): 241–4.
- [44] Lee SH, Miller JS, Moon JJ, West JL. Proteolytically degradable hydrogels with a fluorogenic substrate for studies of cellular proteolytic activity and migration. Biotechnol Prog 2005;21(6):1736–41.

### REFERENCES

- [45] Mann BK, Tsai AT, Scott-Burden T, West JL. Modification of surfaces with cell adhesion peptides alters extracellular matrix deposition. Biomaterials 1999;20(23–24):2281–6.
- [46] Hern DL, Hubbell JA. Incorporation of adhesion peptides into nonadhesive hydrogels useful for tissue resurfacing. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;39(2):266–76.
- [47] Gobin AS, West JL. Val-ala-pro-gly, an elastin-derived non-integrin ligand: smooth muscle cell adhesion and specificity. J Biomed Mater Res 2003b;67A(1):255–9.
- [48] Heilshorn SC, DiZio KA, Welsh ER, Tirrell DA. Endothelial cell adhesion to the fibronectin CS5 domain in artificial extracellular matrix proteins. Biomaterials 2003;24(23):4245–52.
- [49] Jun Ho-W, West JL. Modification of polyurethaneurea with PEG and YIGSR peptide to enhance endothelialization without platelet adhesion. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;72B(1):131–9.
- [50] Adams DN, Kao EYC, Hypolite CL, et al. Growth cones turn and migrate up an immobilized gradient of the laminin IKVAV peptide. J Neurobiol 2005;62(1):134–47.
- [51] Benoit DSW, Anseth KS. The effect on osteoblast function of colocalized RGD and PHSRN epitopes on PEG surfaces. Biomaterials 2005; 26(25):5209–20.
- [52] Li B, Davidson JM, Guelcher SA. The effect of the local delivery of platelet-derived growth factor from reactive two-component polyurethane scaffolds on the healing in rat skin excisional wounds. Biomaterials 2009;30(20):3486–94.
- [53] Marcantonio NA, Boehm CA, Rozic RJ, et al. The influence of tethered epidermal growth factor on connective tissue progenitor colony formation. Biomaterials 2009;30(27):4629–38.
- [54] Letterio JJ, Roberts AB. Regulation of immune responses by TGF-beta. Annu Rev Immunol 1998;16:137-61.
- [55] Bohnsack BL, Hirschi KK. Red light, green light: signals that control endothelial cell proliferation during embryonic vascular development. Cell Cycle 2004;3(12):1506–11.
- [56] Sakiyama-Elbert SE, Hubbell JA. Development of fibrin derivatives for controlled release of heparin-binding growth factors. J Contr Release 2000;65(3):389–402.
- [57] DeLong SA, Moon JJ, West JL. Covalently immobilized gradients of bFGF on hydrogel scaffolds for directed cell migration. Biomaterials 2005b;26(16):3227.
- [58] Gobin AS, West JL. Effects of epidermal growth factor on fibroblast migration through biomimetic hydrogels. Biotechnol Prog 2003a;19(6): 1781–5.
- [59] Leslie-Barbick JE, Moon JJ, West JL. Covalently-immobilized vascular endothelial growth factor promotes endothelial cell tubulogenesis in poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate hydrogels. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2009;20(12):1763–79.
- [60] Moon JJ, Hahn MS, Kim I, Nsiah BA, West JL. Micropatterning of poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate hydrogels with biomolecules to regulate and guide endothelial morphogenesis. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;15(3):579–85.
- [61] DeLong SA, Moon JJ, West JL. Covalently immobilized gradients of bFGF on hydrogel scaffolds for directed cell migration. Biomaterials 2005c;26(16):3227–34.
- [62] Heintz KA, Bregenzer ME, Mantle JL, Lee KH, West JL, Slater JH. Fabrication of 3D biomimetic microfluidic networks in hydrogels. Adv Healthc Mater 2016;5(17):153–60.
- [63] Hsu CW, Poche RA, Saik JE, Ali S, Wang S, Yosef N, Calderon GA, Scott L, Vadakkan TJ, Larina IV, West JL, Dickinson ME. Improved angiogenesis in response to localized delivery of macrophage-recruiting molecules. PLoS One 2015;10(7):e0131643.
- [64] Moon JJ, Saik JE, Poche RA, et al. Biomimetic hydrogels with pro-angiogenic properties. Biomaterials 2010;31:3840-7.
- [65] Roudsari LC, Jeffs SE, Witt AS, Gill BJ, West JL. A 3D poly(ethylene glycol)-based tumor angiogenesis model to study the influence of vascular cells on lung tumor cell behavior. Sci Rep 2016;6(6):32726.
- [66] Saik JE, Gould DJ, Watkins EM, Dickinson ME, West JL. Covalently immobilized platelet-derived growth factor-BB promotes angiogenesis in biomimetic poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels. Acta Biomater 2011;7(1):133–43.
- [67] Laschke MW, Vollmar B, Menger MD. Inosculation: connecting the life-sustaining pipelines. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2009;15(4):455-65.
- [68] Montano I, Schiestl C, Schneider J, et al. Formation of human capillaries in vitro: the engineering of prevascularized matrices. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(1):269–82.
- [69] Melero-Martin JM, De Obaldia ME, Kang SY, et al. Engineering robust and functional vascular networks in vivo with human adult and cord blood-derived progenitor cells. Circ Res 2008;103(2):194–202.
- [70] Burg KJ, Holder Jr WD, Culberson CR, et al. Comparative study of seeding methods for three-dimensional polymeric scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;52(3):576.
- [71] Cuchiara MP, Gould DJ, McHale MK, Dickinson ME, West JL. Integration of self-assembled microvascular networks with microfabricated PEG-based hydrogels. Adv Funct Mater 2012;22(21):4511-8.
- [72] Sudo R, Chung S, Zervantonakis IK, et al. Transport-mediated angiogenesis in 3D epithelial coculture. FASEB J 2009;23(7):2155-64.
- [73] Laschke MW, Rucker M, Jensen G, et al. Improvement of vascularization of PLGA scaffolds by inosculation of in situ-preformed functional blood vessels with the host microvasculature. Ann Surg 2008;248(6):939–48.
- [74] Li SM. Hydrolytic degradation characteristics of aliphatic polyesters derived from lactic and glycolic acids. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;48(3): 342–53.
- [75] Brannon-Peppas L, Vert M. Polylactic and polyglycolic acids as drug delivery carriers. In: Wise D, Brannon-Peppas L, Klibanov AM, et al., editors. Handbook of pharmaceutical controlled release technology; 2000. p. 99–130.
- [76] Whang K, Goldstick TK, Healy KE. A biodegradable polymer scaffold for delivery of osteotropic factors. Biomaterials 2000;21(24):2545-51.
- [77] Reed AM, Gilding DK. Biodegradable polymers for use in surgery poly(glycolic)/poly(lactic acid) homo and copolymers: 2. In vitro degradation. Polymer 1981;22(4):494–8.
- [78] Pitt CG, Gratzl MM, Kimmel GL, Surles J, Schindler A. Aliphatic polyesters .2. The degradation of poly(dl-lactide), poly(epsiloncaprolactone), and their copolymers in vivo. Biomaterials 1981;2(4):215–20.
- [79] Ma PX. Scaffolds for tissue fabrication. Mater Today 2004;7(5):30-40.
- [80] Moran JM, Bonassar LJ. Fabrication and characterization of PLA/PGA composites for cartilage tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 1998;4:S498.

### 674

#### 38. HISTOGENESIS IN THREE-DIMENSIONAL SCAFFOLDS

- [81] Burkoth AK, Anseth KS. A review of photocrosslinked polyanhydrides:: in situ forming degradable networks. Biomaterials 2000a;21(23): 2395–404.
- [82] Davis KA, Burdick JA, Anseth KS. Photoinitiated crosslinked degradable copolymer networks for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2003;24(14):2485–95.
- [83] Anseth KS, Shastri VR, Langer R. Photopolymerizable degradable polyanhydrides with osteocompatibility. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17(2): 156-9.
- [84] Burkoth AK, Anseth KS. A review of photocrosslinked polyanhydrides:: in situ forming degradable networks. Biomaterials 2000b;21(23): 2395.
- [85] Muggli DS, Burkoth AK, Anseth KS. Crosslinked polyanhydrides for use in orthopedic applications: degradation behavior and mechanics. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;46(2):271–8.
- [86] Jiang HL, Zhu KJ. Preparation, characterization and degradation characteristics of polyanhydrides containing poly(ethylene glycol). Polym Int 1999;48(1):47–52.
- [87] Peppas NA. Devices based on intelligent biopolymers for oral protein delivery. Int J Pharm 2004;277(1-2):11-7.
- [88] von Buelow S, von Heimburg D, Pallua N. Efficacy and safety of polyacrylamide hydrogel for facial soft-tissue augmentation. Plast Reconstr Surg 2005;116(4):1137–46.
- [89] Flynn L, Dalton PD, Shoichet MS. Fiber templating of poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) for neural tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2003; 24(23):4265–72.
- [90] Drury JL, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. Biomaterials 2003;24(24):4337-51.
- [91] DeLong SA, Gobin AS, West JL. Covalent immobilization of RGDS on hydrogel surfaces to direct cell alignment and migration. J Contr Release 2005a;109(1–3):139.
- [92] Gonzalez AL, Gobin AS, West JL, McIntire LV, Smith CW. Integrin interactions with immobilized peptides in polyethylene glycol diacrylate hydrogels. Tissue Eng 2004;10(11-12):1775–86.
- [93] Mann BK, Schmedlen RH, West JL. Tethered-TGF-[beta] increases extracellular matrix production of vascular smooth muscle cells. Biomaterials 2001b;22(5):439-44.
- [94] Hahn MS, McHale MK, Wang E, Schmedlen RH, West JL. Physiologic pulsatile flow bioreactor conditioning of poly(ethylene glycol)-based tissue engineered vascular grafts. Ann Biomed Eng 2007;35(2):190–200.
- [95] Kim SS, Utsunomiya H, Koski JA, et al. Survival and function of hepatocytes on a novel three-dimensional synthetic biodegradable polymer scaffold with an intrinsic network of channels. Ann Surg 1998;228(1):8–13.
- [96] Karp JM, Rzeszutek K, Shoichet MS, Davies JE. Fabrication of precise cylindrical three-dimensional tissue engineering scaffolds for in vitro and in vivo bone engineering applications. J Craniofac Surg 2003;14(3):317–23.
- [97] Karp JM, Sarraf F, Shoichet MS, Davies JE. Fibrin-filled scaffolds for bone-tissue engineering: an in vivo study. J Biomed Mater Res 2004; 71A(1):162–71.
- [98] Sarkar S, Lee GY, Wong JY, Desai TA. Development and characterization of a porous micro-patterned scaffold for vascular tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2006;27(27):4775–82.
- [99] Bryant SJ, Cuy JL, Hauch KD, Ratner BD. Photo-patterning of porous hydrogels for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2007;28(19):2978-86.
- [100] Peppas NA, Ward JH. Biomimetic materials and micropatterned structures using iniferters. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2004;56(11):1587–97.
- [101] Tsang VL, Chen AA, Cho LM, et al. Fabrication of 3D hepatic tissues by additive photopatterning of cellular hydrogels. FASEB J 2007;21(3): 790-801.
- [102] Liu YM, Sun S, Singha S, Cho MR, Gordon RJ. 3D femtosecond laser patterning of collagen for directed cell attachment. Biomaterials 2005; 26(22):4597–605.
- [103] Mapili G, Lu Y, Chen SC, Roy K. Laser-layered microfabrication of spatially patterned functionalized tissue-engineering scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2005;75B(2):414–24.
- [104] Luo Y, Shoichet MS. A photolabile hydrogel for guided three-dimensional cell growth and migration. Nat Mater 2004;3(4):249-53.
- [105] Hahn MS, Miller JS, West JL. Laser scanning lithography for surface micropatterning on hydrogels. Adv Mater 2005;17(24):2939.
- [106] Lee SH, Moon JJ, West JL. Three-dimensional micropatterning of bioactive hydrogels via two-photon laser scanning photolithography for guided 3D cell migration. Biomaterials 2008;29(20):2962-8.
- [107] Nettles DL, Haider MA, Chilkoti A, Setton LA. Neural network analysis identifies scaffold properties necessary for in vitro chondrogenesis in elastin-like polypeptide biopolymer scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;16(1):11–20.

# 39

# Biocompatibility and Bioresponse to Biomaterials

# James M. Anderson Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Biocompatibility is generally defined as the ability of a biomaterial or medical device to perform with an appropriate host response in a specific application. A bioresponse or biocompatibility assessment (i.e., an evaluation of biological responses) is considered to be a measure of the magnitude and duration of the adverse alterations in homeostatic mechanisms that determine the host response. From a practical point of view, the evaluation of biological responses to a medical device is carried out to determine whether the medical device performs as intended and presents no significant harm to the patient. The goal of bioresponse evaluation is to predict whether a biomaterial or medical device presents potential harm to the patient. In regenerative medicine, biomaterials are used in a wide variety of ways ranging from carriers of genetic material to tissue-engineered implants that may contain autologous, allogeneic, or xenogeneic genetic materials, cells, and scaffold materials. Scaffolds may be composed of synthetic or modified-natural materials. A tissue-engineered implant is a biological—biomaterial combination in which some component of tissue has been combined with a biomaterial to create a device to restore or modify tissue or organ function. Thus, tissue-engineered devices with a biological component(s) require an expanded perspective and understanding of biocompatibility and biological response evaluation. The purpose of this chapter is to provide an overview of this expanded perspective. Each unique tissue-engineered device requires a distinctive set of experiments to determine its biological responses and biocompatibility.

This chapter presents an overview of host responses that must be considered in determining the biocompatibility of tissue-engineered devices that employ biomaterials. The three major responses that must be considered for biocompatibility assessment are inflammation, wound healing, and immunological reactions or immunity. For the purposes of biological response evaluation, immunological reactions or immunity are considered to be immunotoxicity.

Pathologists use the terminology of inflammation and immunity to describe adverse tissue reactions, whereas immunologists commonly refer to inflammation as innate immunity and activation of the immune system as being acquired immunity. Tissue—material interactions are a series of responses that are initiated by the implantation procedure, as well as by the presence of the biomaterial, medical device, or tissue-engineered device. In this chapter, we divide the series of tissue—material responses into inflammation (innate immunity) and wound healing, and immunotoxicity. After implantation, early, transient tissue—material responses include injury (implantation), blood—materials interactions, provisional matrix formation, and the temporal sequence of inflammation and wound healing including acute inflammation, chronic inflammation, granulation tissue development, foreign body reaction, and ultimately fibrosis or fibrous capsule (scar) development. Immunotoxicity is any adverse effect on the function or structure of the immune system or other systems as a result of an immune system dysfunction. Two significant failure mechanisms of tissue-engineered device, or the initiation of acquired or cellular immunity by the biological component of the tissue-engineered device. Also, the biological component and the biomaterial component in a tissue-engineered device may act in concert or synergistically to facilitate either of these failure mechanisms.

## INFLAMMATION (INNATE IMMUNITY) AND WOUND HEALING

The process of implanting a biomaterial or tissue-engineered device results in injury to tissues or organs [1-8]. This injury and the subsequent perturbation of homeostatic mechanisms lead to inflammatory responses, foreign body reaction, and wound healing. The response to injury depends on multiple factors that include the extent of injury, loss of basement membrane structures, blood—material interactions, provisional matrix formation, the extent or degree of cellular necrosis, and the extent of the inflammatory response. The organ or tissue undergoing implantation may have a significant role in the response. These events, in turn, may affect the extent or degree of granulation tissue formation, foreign body reaction, and fibrosis or fibrous capsule (scar) development [9]. These events are summarized in Table 39.1. These host reactions for biocompatible biomaterials are considered to be normal. They are also tissue-, organ-, and species-dependent. These dependencies thus provide perspectives on the biological response evaluation and the ultimate determination of biocompatibility. The reactions occur or are initiated early (that is, within 2–3 weeks of the time of implantation) and undergo resolution quickly, leading to fibrosis or fibrous capsule formation.

### Blood–Material Interactions and Initiation of the Inflammatory Response

Blood—material interactions and the inflammatory response are intimately linked; in fact, early responses to injury involve mainly blood and the vasculature [1–8]. Regardless of the tissue into which a biomaterial is implanted, the initial inflammatory response is activated by injury to vascularized connective tissue. Because blood and its components are involved in the initial inflammatory responses, thrombus, blood clot, or both also form. Thrombus formation involves activation of the extrinsic and intrinsic coagulation systems, the complement system, the fibrinolytic system, the kinin-generating system, and platelets. Thrombus or blood clot formation on the surface of a biomaterial is related to the well-known Vroman effect of protein adsorption. From a wound healing perspective, blood protein deposition on a biomaterial surface is described as provisional matrix formation.

Although injury initiates the inflammatory response, released chemicals from plasma, cells, and injured tissue mediate the response [4,6,10,11]. Important classes of chemical mediators of inflammation are presented in Table 39.2. Several important points must be noted to understand the inflammatory response and how it relates to biomaterials. First, although chemical mediators are classified on a structural or functional basis, different mediator systems interact and provide a system of checks and balances regarding their respective activities and functions. Second, chemical mediators are quickly inactivated or destroyed, which suggests that their action is predominantly local (i.e., at the implant site). Third, generally acid, lysosomal proteases, and oxygen-derived free radicals produce the most significant damage or injury. These chemical mediators are also important in the degradation of biomaterials. Phagolysosomes in macrophages can have acidity as low as pH 4, and direct microelectrode studies of this acidic environment have determined pH levels to be as low as 3.5. Moreover, only several hours are necessary to achieve these acid levels after adhesion of macrophages [12–14].

The predominant cell type present in the inflammatory response varies with the age of the injury. In general, neutrophils, commonly called polymorphonuclear leukocytes or polys, predominate during the first several days after injury and then are replaced by monocytes as the predominant cell type. Three factors account for this change in cell type [1]: Neutrophils are short-lived and disintegrate and disappear after 24–48 h; neutrophil emigration is of

ribbb syster bequeitee of flost reactions
Injury
Blood—material interactions
Provisional matrix formation
Acute inflammation
Chronic inflammation
Granulation tissue
Foreign body reaction
Fibrosis/fibrous capsule development

TABLE 39.1 Sequence of Host Reactions

6	7	7
~	•	•

Mediators	Examples
Vasoactive agents	Histamine, serotonin, adenosine, endothelial-derived relaxing factor, prostacyclin, endothelin, thromboxane $a_2$
Plasma proteases	
Kinin system	Bradykinin, kallikrein
Complement system	C3a, C5a, C3b, C5b–C9
Coagulation/fibrinolytic system	Fibrin degradation products, activated Hageman factor (FXIIA), tissue plasminogen activator
Leukotrienes	Leukotriene B4, hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid
Lysosomal proteases	Collagenase, elastase
Oxygen-derived free radicals	H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> , superoxide anion, nitric oxide
Platelet-activating factors	Cell membrane lipids
Cytokines	Interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor
Growth factors	Platelet-derived growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, transforming growth factor- $\alpha$ or $\beta$ , epithelial growth factor

 TABLE 39.2
 Important Chemical Mediators of Inflammation Derived From Plasma, Cells, or Injured

 Tissue
 Tissue

short duration because chemotactic factors for neutrophil migration are activated early in the inflammatory response [2]. After emigration from the vasculature, monocytes differentiate into macrophages, and these cells are very long-lived (up to months) [3]. Monocyte emigration may continue for days to weeks, depending on the injury and implanted biomaterial, and chemotactic factors for monocytes are activated over longer periods of time.

### **Provisional Matrix Formation**

Injury to vascularized tissue in the implantation procedure leads to immediate development of the provisional matrix at the implant site. This provisional matrix consists of fibrin, produced by activation of the coagulative and thrombosis systems, and inflammatory products released by the complement system, activated platelets, inflammatory cells, and endothelial cells [15–18]. These events occur early, within minutes to hours after implantation of a medical device. Components within or released from the provisional matrix (that is, fibrin network [thrombosis or clot]) initiate the resolution, reorganization, and repair processes such as inflammatory cell and fibroblast recruitment. Platelets activated during the fibrin network formation release platelet factor 4, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor β (TGF-β), which contribute to fibroblast recruitment [19,20]. Upon activation, monocytes and lymphocytes generate additional chemotactic factors including leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>), PDGF, and TGF-β to recruit fibroblasts.

The provisional matrix is composed of adhesive molecules such as fibronectin and thrombospondin bound to fibrin as well as platelet granule components released during platelet aggregation. Platelet granule components include thrombospondin, released from the platelet  $\alpha$ -granule, and cytokines including TGF- $\alpha$ , TGF- $\beta$ , PDGF, platelet factor 4, and platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor. The provisional matrix is stabilized by the cross-linking of fibrin by factor XIIIa.

The provisional matrix appears to provide both structural and biochemical components to the process of wound healing. The complex three-dimensional structure of the fibrin network with attached adhesive proteins provides a substrate for cell adhesion and migration. The presence of mitogens, chemoattractants, cytokines, and growth factors within the provisional matrix provides for a rich milieu of activating and inhibiting substances for various cellular proliferative and synthetic processes.

The provisional matrix may be viewed as a naturally derived, biodegradable, sustained release system in which mitogens, chemoattractants, cytokines, and growth factors are released to control subsequent wound healing processes [21–27]. Despite the rapid increase in our knowledge of the provisional matrix and its capabilities, our knowledge of the control of the formation of the provisional matrix and its effect on subsequent wound healing events is poor.

# Temporal Sequence of Inflammation and Wound Healing

Inflammation is generally defined as the reaction of vascularized living tissue to local injury. Inflammation serves to contain, neutralize, dilute, or wall off the injurious agent or process. In addition, it sets into motion a series of events that may heal and reconstitute the implant site by replacing the injured tissue by regenerating native parenchymal cells, forming fibroblastic scar tissue, or a combination of these processes [4,6].

The sequence of events after implantation of a biomaterial is illustrated in Fig. 39.1. The size, shape, and chemical and physical properties of the biomaterial and the physical dimensions and properties of the prosthesis or device may be responsible for variations in the intensity and time duration of the inflammatory and wound healing processes. Thus, the intensity and/or time duration of the inflammatory reaction may characterize the biocompatibility of a biomaterial or device.

Classically, the biocompatibility of an implanted material has been described in terms of the morphological appearance of the inflammatory reaction to the material; however, the inflammatory response is a series of complex reactions involving various types of cells, the densities, activities, and functions of which are controlled by various endogenous and autacoid mediators. The simplistic view of the acute inflammatory response progressing to the chronic inflammatory response may be misleading with respect to biocompatibility studies and the inflammatory response to implants. In vivo studies using the cage implant system show that monocytes and macrophages are present in highest concentrations when neutrophils are also at their highest concentrations: that is, the acute inflammatory response [28,29]. Neutrophils have short lifetimes (hours to days) and disappear from the exudates more rapidly than do macrophages, which have lifetimes of days to weeks to months. Eventually, macrophages become the predominant cell type in the exudates, resulting in a chronic inflammatory response. Monocytes rapidly differentiate into macrophages, the cells principally responsible for normal wound healing in the foreign body reaction. Classically, the development of granulation tissue has been considered to be part of chronic inflammation, but because of unique tissue–material interactions, it is preferable to differentiate the foreign body reaction, with its varying degree of granulation tissue development, including macrophages, fibroblasts, and capillary formation, from chronic inflammation.

INJURY, IMPLANTATION



FIGURE 39.1 Sequence of events involved in inflammatory and wound healing responses leading to foreign body giant cell (FBGC) formation. This shows the potential importance of mast cells in the acute inflammatory phase and T-helper 2 (Th2) lymphocytes in the transient chronic inflammatory phase with the production of interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13, which can induce monocyte/macrophage fusion to form FBGCs. *PMN*, polymorphonuclear.

# Acute Inflammation

Acute inflammation is of relatively short duration, lasting from minutes to days, depending on the extent of injury. The main characteristics of acute inflammation are the exudation of fluid and plasma proteins (edema) and the emigration of leukocytes (predominantly neutrophils). Neutrophils and other motile white cells emigrate or move from the blood vessels to the perivascular tissues and the injury (implant) site [30–32].

The accumulation of leukocytes, in particular neutrophils and monocytes, is the most important feature of the inflammatory reaction. Leukocytes accumulate through a series of processes including margination, adhesion, emigration, phagocytosis, and extracellular release of leukocyte products [33]. Increased leukocytic adhesion in inflammation involves specific interactions between complementary "adhesion molecules" present on the leukocyte and endothelial surfaces [34,35]. The surface expression of these adhesion molecules is modulated by inflammatory agents; mechanisms of interaction include stimulation of leukocyte adhesion molecules (C5a and LTB<sub>4</sub>), stimulation of endothelial adhesion molecules (interleukin-1 [IL-1]), or both effects of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ). Integrins are composed of a family of transmembrane glycoproteins that modulate cell–matrix and cell–cell relationships by acting as receptors to extracellular protein ligands and also as direct adhesion molecules [36]. An important group of integrins (adhesion molecules) on leukocytes include the CD11/CD18 family of adhesion molecules. Inflammatory mediators (i.e., cytokines) stimulate a rapid increase in these adhesion molecules on the leukocyte surface as well as increased leukocyte adhesion to endothelium. Leukocyte–endothelial cell interactions are also controlled by endothelial–leukocyte adhesion molecules (also known as E-selectins) or intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs) such as ICAM-1 and ICAM-2, and vascular cell adhesion molecules on endothelial cells [37].

Inflammatory cell emigration is controlled in part by chemotaxis, which is the unidirectional migration of cells along a chemical gradient. A wide variety of exogenous and endogenous substances have been identified as chemotactic agents [11,30–41]. Important to the emigration or movement of leukocytes is the presence of specific receptors for chemotactic agents on the cell membranes of leukocytes. These and other receptors also may have a role in activating leukocytes. After localization of leukocytes at the injury (implant) site, phagocytosis and the release of enzymes occur following activation of neutrophils and macrophages. The major role of the neutrophils in acute inflammation is to phagocytose microorganisms and foreign materials. Phagocytosis is seen as a three-step process in which the injurious agent undergoes recognition and neutrophil attachment, engulfment, and killing or degradation. With regard to biomaterials, engulfment and degradation may or may not occur, depending on the properties of the biomaterial.

Although biomaterials are not generally phagocytosed by neutrophils or macrophages because of the size disparity (i.e., the surface of the biomaterial is greater than the size of the cell), certain events may occur in phagocytosis. The process of recognition and attachment is expedited when the injurious agent is coated by naturally occurring serum factors called opsonins. The two major opsonins are immunoglobulin (Ig)G and the complement-activated fragment, C3b. Both of these plasma-derived proteins are known to adsorb to biomaterials, and neutrophils and macrophages have corresponding cell membrane receptors for these opsonization proteins. These receptors may also have a role in activating the attached neutrophil or macrophage. Because of the size disparity between the biomaterial surface and the attached cell, "frustrated phagocytosis" may occur [38,39]. This process does not involve engulfing the biomaterial but it causes the extracellular release of leukocyte products in an attempt to degrade the biomaterial. Neutrophils adherent to complement-coated and Ig-coated nonphagocytosable surfaces may release enzymes by direct extrusion or exocytosis from the cell [38,39]. The amount of enzyme released during this process depends on the size of the polymer particle, with larger particles inducing greater amounts of enzyme release. This suggests that the specific mode of cell activation in the inflammatory response in tissue depends on the size of the implant and that a material in a phagocytosable form (e.g., powder or particulate) may provoke a degree of inflammatory response different from that of the same material in a nonphagocytosable form (e.g., film).

Tissue-engineered constructs containing biomaterial scaffolds alone or with cells and/or chemokines, growth factors, or other biological components are thus subjected to an aggressive microenvironment that may quickly compromise the intended function of the construct [42].

## Chronic Inflammation

Chronic inflammation is less uniform histologically than is acute inflammation. In general, chronic inflammation is characterized by the presence of monocytes and lymphocytes with the early proliferation of blood vessels and connective tissue [4,6,43–45]. Many factors modify the course and histological appearance of chronic inflammation.

### 39. BIOCOMPATIBILITY AND BIORESPONSE TO BIOMATERIALS

Persistent inflammatory stimuli lead to chronic inflammation. Although the chemical and physical properties of the biomaterial may lead to chronic inflammation, motion in the implant site by the biomaterial may also produce chronic inflammation. The chronic inflammatory response to biomaterials is confined to the implant site. Inflammation with the presence of mononuclear cells, including lymphocytes and plasma cells, is given the designation chronic inflammation, whereas the foreign body reaction with granulation tissue development is considered the normal wound healing response to implanted biomaterials (i.e., the normal foreign body reaction). Chronic inflammation with biocompatible materials is usually of short duration (i.e., a few days).

Lymphocytes and plasma cells are involved principally in immune reactions and are important mediators of antibody production and delayed hypersensitivity responses. Their roles in nonimmunological injuries and inflammation are largely unknown [46–48]. Little is known regarding immune responses and cell-mediated immunity to synthetic biomaterials. The role of macrophages must be considered in the possible development of immune responses to synthetic biomaterials. Macrophages and dendritic cells process and present the antigen to immuno-competent cells and thus are critical mediators in the development of immune reactions.

The macrophage is probably the most important cell in chronic inflammation because of the great number of biologically active products it produces [44]. Important classes of products yielded and secreted by macrophages include neutral proteases, chemotactic factors, arachidonic acid metabolites, reactive oxygen metabolites; complement components, coagulation factors, growth-promoting factors, and cytokines [49–51].

Growth factors such as PDGF, fibroblast growth factor, TGF- $\beta$ , TGF- $\alpha$ /epithelial growth factor, and IL-1 or TNF are important to the growth of fibroblasts and blood vessels and the regeneration of epithelial cells. Growth factors released by activated cells stimulate the production of a wide variety of cells; initiate cell migration, differentiation, and tissue remodeling; and may be involved in various stages of wound healing [19,52–56]. There is a lack of information regarding interaction and synergy among various cytokines and growth factors and their abilities to exhibit chemotactic, mitogenic, and angiogenic properties.

### Granulation Tissue

Within 1 day after implantation of a biomaterial (i.e., injury), the healing response is initiated by the action of monocytes and macrophages, followed by the proliferation of fibroblasts and vascular endothelial cells at the implant site, leading to the formation of granulation tissue, the hallmark of healing inflammation. Granulation tissue derives its name from the pink, soft, granular appearance on the surface of healing wounds; its characteristic histological features include the proliferation of new small blood vessels and fibroblasts. Depending on the extent of injury, granulation tissue may be seen as early as 3–5 days after the implantation of a biomaterial.

The new small blood vessels are formed by budding or sprouting of preexisting vessels in a process known as neovascularization or angiogenesis [45,57–60]. This process involves proliferation, maturation, and organization of endothelial cells into capillary tubes. Fibroblasts also proliferate in developing granulation tissue and are active in synthesizing collagen and proteoglycans. In the early stages of granulation tissue development, proteoglycans predominate; later, however, collagen (especially type I collagen) predominates and forms the fibrous capsule. Some fibroblasts in developing granulation tissue may have features of smooth muscle cells. These cells are called myofibroblasts and are considered to be responsible for the wound contraction seen during the development of granulation tissue.

### Macrophage Interactions

The inflammatory and immune systems overlap considerably through the activity and phenotypic expression of macrophages that are derived from blood-borne monocytes. Monocytes and macrophages belong to the monouclear phagocytic system (MPS) (Table 39.3). Cells in the MPS may be considered resident macrophages in the respective tissues that take on specialized functions that depend on their tissue environment. From this perspective, the host defense system may be seen as blood-borne or circulating inflammatory and immune cells as well as mononuclear phagocytic cells that reside in specific tissues with specialized functions. In the inflammatory and immune responses, the macrophage has a pivotal role in both the induction and effector phases of these responses.

Two factors that have a role in monocyte or macrophage adhesion and activation and foreign body giant cell (FBGC) formation are the surface chemistry of the substrate onto which the cells adhere and the protein adsorption that occurs before cell adhesion. These two factors have been hypothesized to have significant roles in the inflammatory and wound healing responses to biomaterials and medical devices in vivo.

Tissues		Cells	
Implant sites		Inflammatory macrophages, foreign body giant cells	
Liver		Kupffer cells	
Lung		Alveolar macrophages	
Connective tiss	sue	Histiocytes	
Bone marrow		Macrophages	
Spleen and lyn	nph nodes	Fixed and free macrophages	
Serous cavities	i	Pleural and peritoneal macrophages	
Nervous system	m	Microglial cells	
Bone		Osteoclasts	
Skin		Langerhans cells and dendritic cells	
Lymphoid tiss	ue	Dendritic cells	
MONOC	YTE	MACROPHAGE FOREIGN BODY GIANT CELL	
BLOOD	TISSUE	TISSUE/BIOMATERIAL BIOMATERIAL	



FIGURE 39.2 In vivo transition from blood-borne monocyte to biomaterial-adherent monocyte/macrophage to foreign body giant cell (FBGC) at the tissue—biomaterial interface. Little is known regarding the indicated biological responses that are considered to have important roles in the transition to FBGC development.

Macrophage interactions with biomaterials are initiated when blood-borne monocytes in the early transient responses migrate to the implant site and adhere to the blood protein adsorbed biomaterial through monocyte– integrin interactions. After adhesion, adherent monocytes differentiate into macrophages that then may fuse to form FBGCs. Fig. 39.2 demonstrates the progression from circulating blood monocyte to tissue macrophage to FBGC development that is most commonly observed. Because of the progression of monocytes to macrophages to FBGCs (Fig. 39.2), the following discussion of macrophage interactions includes perspectives on how macrophages are formed (i.e., monocyte adhesion) and what happens to macrophages on biomaterial surfaces (i.e., FBGC formation) [61,62].

Material surface property-dependent blood protein adsorption occurs immediately upon surgical implantation of a biomaterial; it is the protein-modified biomaterial that inflammatory cells subsequently encounter. Monocytes express receptors for various blood components, but they recognize naturally occurring foreign surfaces by receptors for opsonins such as fragments of complement component C3. Complement activation by biomaterials has been well-documented [63]. Exposure to blood during biomaterial implantation may permit extensive opsonization with the labile fragment C3b and the rapid conversion of C3b to its hemolytically inactive but nevertheless opsonic and more stable form, C3bi. C3b is bound by the CD35 receptor, but C3bi is recognized by distinct receptors, CD11b/CD18 and CD11c/CD18, on monocytes [61]. Fibrinogen, a major plasma protein that adsorbs to biomaterials, is another ligand for these receptors that, together with CD11a/CD18, constitutes a subfamily of integrins that is restricted to leukocytes [61,62]. Studies with monoclonal antibodies to their common  $\beta_2$  subunit (CD18) and distinct  $\alpha$ -chains have implicated CD11b/CD18 and CD11c/CD18 in monocyte/macrophage responses. Other potential adhesion-mediating proteins that adsorb to biomaterials include IgG, which may interact with monocytes via various receptors and fibronectin, for which monocytes also express multiple types of receptors [64–67].

## Foreign Body Giant Cell Formation and Interactions

The foreign body reaction is composed of FBGCs and the components of granulation tissue, which consist of macrophages, fibroblasts, and capillaries in varying amounts, depending on the form and topography of the implanted material [68]. Relatively flat and smooth surfaces, such as those found on breast prostheses, have a foreign body reaction that is composed of a layer of macrophages one to two cells thick. Relatively rough surfaces, such as those found on the outer surfaces of expanded poly(tetrafluoroethylene) vascular prostheses or poly(methyl meth-acrylate) bone cement, have a foreign body reaction composed of several layers of macrophages and FBGCs at the surface. Fabric materials generally have a surface response composed of macrophages and FBGCs with varying degrees of granulation tissue subjacent to the surface response.

As previously discussed, the form and topography of the surface of the biomaterial determine the composition of the foreign body reaction. With biocompatible materials, the composition of the foreign body reaction in the implant site may be controlled by the surface properties of the biomaterial, the form of the implant, and the relationship between the surface area of the biomaterial and the volume of the implant. For example, high surface-to-volume implants such as fabrics or porous materials will have higher ratios of macrophages and FBGCs in the implant site than will smooth-surface implants, which will have fibrosis as a significant component of the implant site.

The foreign body reaction consisting mainly of macrophages and/or FBGCs may persist at the tissue—implant interface for the lifetime of the implant [1,2,69–71]. Generally, fibrosis (i.e., fibrous encapsulation) surrounds the biomaterial or implant with its interfacial foreign body reaction, isolating the implant and foreign body reaction from the local tissue environment. Early in the inflammatory and wound healing response, the macrophages are activated upon adherence to the material surface [50]. Although the chemical and physical properties of the biomaterial are generally considered to be responsible for macrophage activation, the nature of subsequent events regarding the activity of macrophages at the surface is not clear. Tissue macrophages, derived from circulating blood monocytes, may coalesce to form multinucleated FBGCs. FBGCs containing large numbers of nuclei are typically present on the surface of biomaterials. Although these FBGCs may persist for the lifetime of the implant, it is not known whether they remain activated, releasing their lysosomal constituents, or become quiescent. FBGCs have been implicated in the biodegradation of polymeric medical devices [72–74].

Fig. 39.1 demonstrates the sequence of events involved in inflammation and wound healing when medical devices are implanted. In general, the neutrophil (polymorphonuclear) predominant acute inflammatory response and the lymphocyte/monocyte predominant chronic inflammatory response resolve quickly (i.e., within 2 weeks), depending on the type and location of the implant. Studies using IL-4 demonstrate the role for type 2 (Th2) helper lymphocyte and mast cells in the development of the foreign body reaction at the tissue–material interface [75]. Th2 helper lymphocytes have been described as "antiinflammatory" based on their cytokine profile, of which IL-4 is a significant component. Th2 helper lymphocytes also produce IL-13, which has an effect similar to that of IL-4 on FBGC formation. In this regard, anti-IL-4 antibody does not inhibit IL-13–induced FBGC formation, nor does anti-IL-13 antibody inhibit IL-4–induced FBGC formation. In IL-4 and IL-13 FBGC culture systems, the macrophage mannose receptor (MMR) has been identified as critical to the fusion of macrophages in the formation of FBGC [76,77]. FBGC formation can be prevented by competitive inhibitors of MMR activity (i.e.,  $\alpha$ -mannan) or inhibitors of glycoprotein processing that restrict MMR surface expression.

Regarding the effect of lymphocytes on the foreign body reaction, studies have demonstrated that interactions with lymphocytes enhance adherent macrophage and FBGC production of proinflammatory cytokines. Interactions through indirect (paracrine) signaling showed a significant proinflammatory effect in enhancing adherent macrophage/FBGC at early time points, whereas interactions via direct (juxtacrine) mechanisms dominated at later points. Furthermore, lymphocytes prefer interactions with adherent macrophages and FBGCs, as opposed to biomaterial surfaces, resulting in lymphocyte activation [78–81]. In vivo studies using clinically synthetic biomaterials have demonstrated that there is a quantitative increase in T cells after secondary biomaterial exposure, but the T-cell subset distribution does not change, indicating nonspecific recruitment of T cells rather than an adaptive immune response. Studies in T cell–deficient mice have shown no change in foreign body giant cell formation. In vitro studies with clinical synthetic biomaterials showed no expression of the activation markers CD69 and CD25 and lymphocyte proliferation was not identified [82–85]. Results from these in vivo and in vitro studies do not suggest an adaptive immune response with clinically relevant biomaterials, because T cell markers CD25 and CD69 were not upregulated and T cell cytokines IL-2 and interferon-gamma were not present.

FBGC formation at the surface of implanted biomaterials occurs quickly and within days to weeks after implantation. Fig. 39.3 shows scanning electron micrographs of monocytes, macrophages, and FBGCs at various times after implantation of a biocompatible polyurethane material in the in vivo rat cage system. Monocyte adhesion



Adhesive Events at Implanted Biomaterial Surface

FIGURE 39.3 In vivo time-dependent processes of monocyte adhesion (A), macrophage development (B), early macrophage fusion to form foreign body giant cells (C), and late macrophage and foreign body giant cell fusion to form large foreign body giant cells (D).

(Fig. 39.3A) occurs quickly, at 2–4 days. Macrophage development is seen within 1 week after implantation (Fig. 39.3B). Macrophage fusion to form FBGCs can occur within 1–2 weeks after implantation (Fig. 39.3C); interestingly, FBGCs themselves can fuse to produce exceptionally large giant cells on the surface (Fig. 39.3D). Of interest in the use of porous scaffolds and other forms of topographical variations of implanted tissue-engineered systems, these large giant cells may be significantly large enough to cover the porous structure and thus inhibit cellular infiltration into the respective pores as well as inhibit diffusion from these porous structures. The formation of large FBGCs formed late (i.e., weeks) may compromise the function of tissue-engineered medical devices in which porosity and diffusion are important design criteria for the function of the device. Examples of such behavior are the development of biosensors and of complex tissue-engineered scaffolds in which proteins and other important modifying agents depend on diffusion from the device into the microenvironment. The potential for these events should be considered in the design of in vivo biocompatibility studies.

### FIBROSIS AND FIBROUS ENCAPSULATION

The end-stage healing response to biomaterials is generally fibrosis or fibrous encapsulation. However, tissueengineered devices may be exceptions to this general statement (e.g., porous materials inoculated with parenchymal cells or porous materials implanted into bone).

Repair of implant sites involves two distinct processes: regeneration, which is the replacement of injury tissue by parenchymal cells of the same type, or replacement by connective tissue that constitutes the fibrous capsule. These processes are generally controlled by either the proliferative capacity of the cells in the tissue receiving the implant and the extent of injury as it relates to the destruction or persistence of the tissue framework of the implant site. The regenerative capacity of cells permits classification into three groups: labile, stable (or expanding), and permanent (or static) cells. Labile cells continue to proliferate throughout life, stable cells retain this capacity but do not normally replicate, and permanent cells cannot reproduce themselves after birth. Perfect repair with restitution of normal structure theoretically occurs only in tissue consisting of stable and labile cells, whereas all injuries to tissues composed of permanent cells may result in fibrosis and fibrous capsule formation with little restitution of the normal tissue or organ structure. Tissues composed of permanent cells (e.g., nerve cells, skeletal muscle cells, and cardiac muscle cells) most commonly undergo an organization of the inflammatory exudates, leading to fibrosis. Tissues composed of stable cells (e.g., parenchymal cells of the liver, kidney, and pancreas), mesenchymal cells

### 39. BIOCOMPATIBILITY AND BIORESPONSE TO BIOMATERIALS

(e.g., fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, osteoblasts, and chondroblasts), and vascular endothelial and labile cells (e.g., epithelial cells and lymphoid and hematopoietic cells) may also follow this pathway to fibrosis or may undergo resolution of the inflammatory exudates, leading to restitution of the normal tissue structure. The condition of the underlying framework or supporting stroma of the parenchymal cells after an injury has an important role in restoring normal tissue structure. Retention of the framework may lead to restitution of the normal tissue structure, whereas destruction of the framework most commonly leads to fibrosis. It is important to consider the species-dependent nature of the regenerative capacity of cells. For example, cells from the same organ or tissue but from different species may exhibit different regenerative capacities and/or connective tissue repair.

The extent of provisional matrix formation is an important factor because it is related to wound healing by first or second intention. First intention (primary union) wound healing occurs when there is minimal to no space between the tissue and device, whereas second intention (secondary union) wound healing occurs when a large space is present, providing for extensive provisional matrix formation. Obviously, inappropriate or inadequate preparation of the implant site leading to extensive provisional matrix formation may predispose the implant to failure through mechanisms related to fibrous capsule formation.

The inflammatory (innate) and immune (adaptive) responses have common components. It is possible to have inflammatory responses only with no adaptive immune response. In this situation, both humoral and cellular components that are shared by both types of responses may only participate in the inflammatory response. Table 39.4 indicates the common components of the inflammatory (innate) and immune (adaptive) responses. Macrophages and dendritic cells are known as professional antigen-presenting cells responsible for the initiation of the adaptive immune response.

Many investigators have considered macrophages and dendritic cells to be distinctly different antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Hume summarized evidence that dendritic cells are part of the mononuclear phagocyte system and are derived from the same common macrophage precursor; they are responsive to the same growth factors, express the same surface markers, and have no unique adaptation for antigen presentation that is not shared by other macrophages [86].

## IMMUNOTOXICITY (ACQUIRED IMMUNITY)

The acquired or adaptive immune system acts to protect the host from foreign agents or materials and usually is initiated through specific recognition mechanisms and the ability of humoral and cellular components to recognize the foreign agent or material as being "nonself" [18,87–92]. Generally, the adaptive immune system may be considered to have two components: humoral or cellular. Humoral components include antibodies, complement components, cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and other soluble mediators. These components are synthesized by cells of the immune response; in turn, they function to regulate the activity of these cells and provide for communication between different cells in the cellular component of the adaptive immune response. Cells of the immune system arise from stem cells in the bone marrow (B lymphocytes) or the thymus (T lymphocytes) and differ from each other in morphology, function, and the expression of cell-surface antigens. They share the common features of maintaining cell-surface receptors that assist in recognizing and/or eliminating foreign materials. Regarding tissue-engineered devices, the adaptive immune response may recognize the biological components, modifications

and Immune (Adaptive) Responses
Components
Complement cascade components
Immunoglobulins
Cellular components
Macrophages
Natural killer cells
Dendritic cells
Cells with dual phagocytic and antigen-presenting capabilities

 TABLE 39.4
 Common Components of Inflammatory (Innate)

of the biological components, or degradation products of the biological components, commonly known as antigens, and initiate immune response through humoral or cellular mechanisms.

Components of the humoral immune system have important roles in the inflammatory responses to foreign materials. Antibodies and complement components C3b and C3bi adhere to foreign materials, act as opsonins, and facilitate phagocytosis of the foreign materials by neutrophils and macrophages that have cell-surface receptors for C3b. Complement component C5a is a chemotactic agent for neutrophils, monocytes, and other inflammatory cells and facilitates the immigration of these cells to the implant site. The complement system is composed of classic and alternative pathways that eventuate in a common pathway to produce the membrane attack complex, which is capable of lysing microbial agents. The complement system (i.e., complement cascade) is closely controlled by protein inhibitors in the host cell membrane that may prevent damage to host cells. This inhibitory mechanism may not function when non-host cells are used in tissue-engineered devices.

T (thymus-derived) lymphocytes are significant cells in the cell-mediated adaptive immune response and their cell-adhesion molecules have a significant role in lymphocyte migration, activation, and effector function. The specific interaction of cell membrane adhesion molecules, sometimes also called ligands or antigens, with APCs produces specific types of lymphocytes with specific functions. Table 39.5 indicates cell types and function in the adaptive immune response. Obviously, the functions of these cells are more numerous than those indicated in the table, but the major function of these cells is provided to indicate similarities and differences in the interaction and responsiveness of these cells. Effector T cells (Table 39.6) are produced when their antigen-specific receptors and either the CD4 or the CD8 co-receptors bind to peptide—major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs). A second, costimulatory signal is also required, which is provided by the interaction of the CD28 receptor on the T cell and the B7.1 and B7.2 glycoproteins of the Ig superfamily present on APCs. B lymphocytes bind soluble antigens through their cell-surface Ig and thus can function as professional APCs by internalizing the soluble antigens and presenting peptide fragments of these antigens as MHC—peptide complexes. Once activated, T cells can synthesize the T-cell growth factor IL-2 and its receptor. Thus, activated T cells secrete and respond to IL-2 to promote T cell growth in an autocrine fashion.

Cell Type	Motor Function
Macrophages (antigen-presenting cell [APC])	Process and present antigen to immunocompetent T cells
	Phagocytosis
	Activated by cytokines (i.e., interferon-gamma) from other immune cells
T cells	Interact with APCs and are activated through two required cell membrane interactions
	Facilitate target cell apoptosis
	Participate in transplant rejection (type IV hypersensitivity)
B cells	Form plasma cells that secrete immunoglobulins (IgGs) (IgA and IgE)
	Participate in antigen—antibody complex mediated tissue damage (type III hypersensitivity)
Dendritic cells (APC)	Process and present antigen to immunocompetent T cells
	Use Fc receptors for IgG to trap antigen—antibody complexes
Natural killer cells (non-T, non-B lymphocytes)	Innate ability to lyse tumor, virus-infected, and other cells without previous sensitization
	Mediates T- and B-cell function by secretion of interferon- gamma

TABLE 39.5 Cell Types an	l Function in Ad	daptive Im	imune System
--------------------------	------------------	------------	--------------

#### 39. BIOCOMPATIBILITY AND BIORESPONSE TO BIOMATERIALS

T-Helper 1 Cells	CD41
	Proinflammatory
	Activation of macrophages
	Produces IL-2, IFN-gamma, IL-3, TNF- $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, macrophage chemotactic factor, and migration inhibitor factor
	Induces IgG2a
Th2 helper cells	CD41
	Antiinflammatory
	Activation of B cells to make antibodies
	Produces IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-3, GM-CSF, and IL-13
	Induces IgG1
Cytotoxic T cells	CD81
	Induces apoptosis of target cells
	Produces IFN-gamma, TNF- $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$
	Releases cytotoxic proteins

 TABLE 39.6
 Effector T Lymphocytes in Adaptive Immunity

*GM-CSF*, granulocyte macrophage–colony-stimulating factor; *IFN*, interferon; *Ig*, immunoglobulin; *IL*, interleukin; *Th*, T helper; *TNF*, tumor necrosis factor.

Cytokines are the messenger molecules of the immune system. Most cytokines have a wide spectrum of effects, reacting with many different cell types, and some are produced by several different cell types. Table 39.7 presents common categories of cytokines and lists some of their general properties. Whereas cytokines can be subdivided into functional groups, many cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN-gamma are pleotropic in their effects and regulate, mediate, and activate numerous responses by various cells.

Immunotoxicity is any adverse effect on the function or structure of the immune system or other systems as a result of an immune system dysfunction [93]. Adverse or immunotoxic effects occur when humoral or cellular immunity needed by the host to defend itself against infections or neoplastic disease (immunosuppression) or unnecessary tissue damage (chronic inflammation, hypersensitivity, or autoimmunity) is compromised. Potential immunological effects and responses that may be associated with one or more of these effects are presented in Table 39.8. Hypersensitivity responses are classified on the basis of the immunological mechanism that mediates the response. There are four types: I (anaphylactic), II (cytotoxic), III (immune complex), and IV (cell-mediated delayed hypersensitivity). Hypersensitivity is considered to be increased reactivity to an antigen to which a human or animal has been previously exposed, with an adverse rather than a protective effect. Hypersensitivity) reactions are the most common [94]. Types II and III reactions are relatively rare and are less likely to occur with medical devices and biomaterials; however, with tissue-engineered devices containing potential antigens (i.e., proteins), extracellular matrix (ECM) components, and/or cells, types II and III reactions must be considered in biological response evaluations.

Type I (anaphylactic) hypersensitivity reactions are mediated by IgE antibodies, which are cytotropic and affect the immediate release of basoactive amines and other mediators from basophils and mast cells followed by the recruitment of other inflammatory cells. Type IV cell-mediated (delayed) hypersensitivity responses involve sensitized T lymphocytes that release cytokines and other mediators that lead to cellular and tissue injury. Type IV hypersensitivity (cell-mediated) reactions are initiated by specifically sensitized T lymphocytes. This reaction includes the classic delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction initiated by CD4+ T cells and direct cell cytotoxicity mediated by CD8+ T cells. The less common type II (cytotoxic) hypersensitivity involves the formation and binding of IgG and/or IgM to antigens on target cell surfaces that facilitate phagocytosis of the target cell or lysis of the target cell by activated complement components. Type II hypersensitivity (cytotoxic) is mediated by antibodies directed toward antigens present on the surface of cells or other tissue components. Three different antibody-dependent mechanisms may be involved in this type of reaction: complement-dependent reactions, antibody-dependent

### TABLE 39.7 Selected Cytokines and Their Effects

Cytokine	Effect
IL-1, TNF-α, INF-gamma, and IL-6	Mediate natural immunity
IL-1, TNF-α, and IL-6	Initiate nonspecific inflammatory responses
IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-12, IL-15, and TGF-β	Regulate lymphocyte growth, activation, and differentiation
IL-2 and IL-4	Promote lymphocyte growth and differentiation
IL-10 and TGF-β	Downregulate immune responses
IL-1, INF-gamma, TNF-α, and migration inhibitor factor	Activate inflammatory cells
IL-8	Produced by activated macrophages and endothelial cells
	Chemoattractant for neutrophils
Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, macrophage inflammatory protein- $\alpha$ , and Regulated on Activation, Normal T Expressed and Secreted	Chemoattractant for monocytes and lymphocytes
GM-CSF and G-CSF	Stimulate hematopoiesis
IL-4 and IL-13	Promote macrophage fusion and foreign body giant cell formation

G-CSF, granulocyte–colony-stimulating factor; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage–colony-stimulating factor; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; TGF, transforming growth factor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

Effects	Responses
Hypersensitivity	Histopathological changes
Type I: anaphylactic	Humoral responses
Type II: cytotoxic	Host resistance
Type III: immune complex	Clinical symptoms
Type IV: cell-mediated (delayed)	Cellular responses
Chronic inflammation	T cells
Immunosuppression	Natural killer cells
Immunostimulation	Macrophages
Autoimmunity	Granulocytes

 TABLE 39.8
 Potential Immunological Effects and Responses

reactions, cell-mediated cytotoxicity, or antibody-mediated cellular dysfunction. Type III immune complex hypersensitivity is present when circulating antigen—antibody complexes activate complement whose components are chemotactic for neutrophils that release enzymes and other toxic moieties and mediators leading to cellular and tissue injury.

Immunological reactions that occur with organ transplant rejection also offer insight into potential immune responses to tissue-engineered devices. Mechanisms involved in organ transplant rejection include T cell—mediated reactions by direct and indirect pathways and antibody-mediated reactions. Immune responses may be avoided or diminished by using autologous or isogeneic cells in cell—polymer scaffold constructs. The use of allogeneic or xenogeneic cells incorporated into the device requires the prevention of immune rejection by immune suppression of the host, induction of tolerance in the host, or immunomodulation of the tissue-engineered construct. The development of tissue-engineered constructs by immunoisolation using polymer membranes and the use of non-host cells have been compromised by immune responses. In this concept, a polymer membrane is used to encapsulate non-host cells or tissues, thus separating them from the host immune system. However, antigens shed by encapsulated cells were released from the device and initiated immune responses [42,95,96]. Although exceptionally minimal and superficial in its presentation, the previously discussed humoral and cell-mediated immune responses demonstrate the possibility that any known tissue-engineered construct may undergo immunological tissue injury. To date, our understanding of immune mechanisms and their interactions with tissue-engineered constructs is markedly limited. An obvious problem is that preliminary studies are generally carried out with nonhuman tissues, and immune reactions result when tissue-engineered constructs from one species are used to test the device in another species. Ideally, tissue-engineered constructs would be prepared from cells and tissues of a given species and subsequently tested in that species. Although this approach does not guarantee that immune responses will not be present, the probability of immune responses in this type of situation is markedly decreased.

The following examples provide perspective to these issues. They further demonstrate the detailed and in-depth approach that must be taken to evaluate tissue-engineered constructs or devices and their potential adverse responses appropriately and adequately.

The inflammatory response considered to be immunotoxic is persistent chronic inflammation. With biomaterials, controlled release systems, and tissue-engineered devices, potential antigens capable of stimulating the immune response may be present and these agents may facilitate a chronic inflammatory response that is of extended duration (weeks or months). Regarding immunotoxicity, this persistent chronic inflammation is of concern because immune granuloma formation and other serious immunological reactions such as autoimmune disease may occur. Thus, in biological response evaluation, it is important to discriminate between the short-lived chronic inflammation that is a component of the normal inflammatory and healing responses versus long-term, persistent chronic inflammation that may indicate an adverse immunological response.

Immunosuppression may occur when antibody and T-cell responses (adaptive immune response) are inhibited. Potentially significant consequences of this type of response are frequent, and serious infections result from reduced host defense. Edelman and colleagues demonstrated that incorporating endothelial cells into three-dimensional collage matrices has a downregulating effect on the humeral and cellular immune response elicited by the endothelial cells [97]. The strong MHC-dominant immune response that occurs when endothelial cells are the primary component of an implant can be significantly reduced when the endothelial cells are embedded in the three-dimensional collage matrix. Although they retain many of the characteristics of quiescent endothelial cells, the endothelial cells evoke no significant humeral or cellular immune response in immunocompetent animals and also reduce the memory response to previous free endothelial cell implants. These studies are significant and demonstrate the influence of spatial matrix formation as well as matrix composition on endothelial cell immunophenotype. Thus, modulation of the matrix structure may be helpful in designing vascular conduits for tissue-engineered devices.

Using ECM scaffolds prepared under different conditions, Badylak and colleagues determined the participation of different macrophage phenotypes in the degradation and remodeling of the ECM scaffolds, demonstrating that the properties of the matrix can control the innate and possibly acquired immune responses to ECM scaffolds [98–100].

Immunostimulation may occur when unintended or inappropriate antigen-specific or nonspecific activation of the immune system is present. From a biomaterial and controlled-release system perspective, antibody and/or cellular immune responses to a foreign protein may lead to unintended immunogenicity. Enhancement of the immune response to an antigen by a biomaterial with which it is mixed ex vivo or in situ may lead to adjuvancy, which is a form of immunostimulation. This effect must be considered when biodegradable controlled-release systems are designed and developed for use as vaccines [101–103].

Patients implanted with polyurethanes used for left ventricular assist devices (LVADs) experience B-cell hyperreactivity and allosensitization [104]. There is evidence that T lymphocytes can be activated in response to biomaterials. T lymphocytes cultured in the presence of polyurethane particles from the flexible diaphragms of LVADs resulted in intracellular calcium flux, CD40 ligand expression, and nuclear translocation of nuclear factor (NFAT) of activated T cells. NFAT translocation was reduced by a calcineurin inhibitor and CD40 ligand expression was reduced by both a calcineurin inhibitor and CD25 blockade indicating IL-2–dependent activation pathways [104,105]. In response to polyurethane particles, T lymphocytes exhibited classic activation indicators: calcium flux, translocation of transcription factors, upregulation of activation cell surface markers, and proliferation.

Differences in human leukocyte antigen (HLA) gene inheritance can result in MHC diversity. MHC loci are among the most genetically variable loci in humans. The MHC class II proteins (DP, DQ, and DR) are found on APCs. Diversity in MHCII proteins results in individual variability in antigen presentation and thus immune responses. Because of this diversity, individuals mount immune responses to different epitopes of pathogens. LVAD recipients who are predisposed to develop B-cell hyperreactivity have HLA-DR3 expression, which indicates that lymphocyte responses to biomaterials are variable and depend on the individual's genetic profile [106]. It is possible that only individuals with certain MHCII receptors can interact with biomaterials in a mechanism that results in a lymphocyte response.

Autoimmunity is the immune response to the body's own constituents, which are considered in this response to be autoantigens. An autoimmune response, indicated by the presence of autoantibodies or T lymphocytes that are reactive with host tissue or cellular antigens, may (or may not) result in autoimmune disease with chronic, debilitating, and sometimes life-threatening tissue and organ injury.

Representative tests to evaluate for immune responses are given in Table 39.9. The table is not all-inclusive; other tests may be applicable. The examples presented represent only the large number of tests that are currently available [87,88,92]. The table is informative but incomplete, because in the future, direct and indirect markers of immune response may be validated and their predictive value documented, thus providing new tests for immunotoxicity. Direct measures of immune system activity by functional assays are the most important types of tests for immunotoxicity. Functional assays are generally more important than are tests for soluble mediators, which are more important than phenotyping. Signs of illness may be important in in vivo experiments, but symptoms may also have a significant role in studies of immune function in clinical trials and postmarket studies.

As with any type of test for biological response evaluation, immunotoxicity tests should be valid; they have been shown to provide accurate, reproducible results that indicate the effect being studied and are useful in a statistical analysis. This implies that appropriate control groups are also included in the study design.

Immunogenicity involving a specific immune response to a biomaterial is an important consideration because it may lead to serious adverse effects. For example, a foreign, nonhuman protein may induce IgE antibodies that cause an anaphylactic (type I) hypersensitivity reaction. An example of this type of response is latex protein found in latex gloves. Low—molecular weight compounds such as chemical accelerators used to manufacture latex gloves may also induce a T cell—mediated (type IV) reaction, resulting in contact dermatitis. Tests for type I (e.g., antigen-specific IgE) and type IV (e.g., guinea pig) maximization hypersensitivity reactions, a device may elicit autoimmune responses (i.e., antibodies or T cells) that react with the body's own constituents. An autoimmune response may lead to the pathological consequences of an autoimmune disease. For example, a foreign protein may induce IgG or IgM

Functional Assays	Soluble Mediators
Skin testing	Antibodies
Immunoassays (e.g., enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays)	Complement
Lymphocyte proliferation	Immune complexes
Plaque-forming cells	Cytokine patterns (T-cell subsets)
Local lymph node assay	Cytokines (IL-1, IL-1ra, TNF-α, IL-6, TGF-β, IL-4, and IL-13)
Mixed lymphocyte reaction	Chemokines
Tumor cytotoxicity	Basoactive amines
Antigen presentation	Signs of illness
Phagocytosis	
Degranulation	Allergy
Resistance to bacteria, viruses, and tumors	Skin rash
Phenotyping	Urticaria
	Edema
Cell-surface markers	Lymphadenopathy
Major histocompatibility complex markers	

TABLE 39.9 Representative Tests for Evaluation of Immune Responses

IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TGF, transforming growth factor.

#### 39. BIOCOMPATIBILITY AND BIORESPONSE TO BIOMATERIALS

antibodies that cross-react with a human protein and cause tissue damage by activating the complement system. In a similar fashion, a biomaterial or controlled-release system that has a gel or oil constituent may act as an adjuvant, leading to the induction of an autoimmune response. Even if an autoimmune response (autoantibodies and/or autoreactive T lymphocytes) is suggested in preclinical testing, it is difficult to obtain convincing evidence that a biomaterial or controlled-release system causes autoimmune disease in animals. Therefore, routine testing for the induction of autoimmune disease in animal models is not recommended.

Babensee and coworkers tested the hypothesis that by promoting an inflammatory response, the biomaterial component of a medical device can recruit APCs (e.g., macrophages and dendritic cells) and induce their activation, thus acting as an adjuvant in the immune response to foreign antigens originating from the histological component of the device [107–109]. Using polystyrene and polylactic-glycolic acid microparticles and polylactic-glycolic scaffolds together with their model antigen, ovalbumin, in a mouse model for 18 weeks, the researchers demonstrated that a persistent humoral immune response that was Th2, T-cell dependent, as determined by IgG1, was present. These findings indicated that activation of CD41 T cells and the proliferation and isotype switching of B cells had occurred. A Th1 immune response characterized by the presence of IgG2a was not identified. Moreover, the humoral immune responses for all three types of microparticles were similar, indicating that the production of antigen-specific antibodies was not material chemistry–dependent in this model. Babensee et al. suggested that the presence of the biomaterial functions as an adjuvant for initiation and promotion of the immune response and augments the phagocytosis of the antigen with expression of MHCII and costimulatory molecules on APCs with the presentation of antigen to CD41 T cells.

Babensee and coworkers identified differential levels of dendritic cell maturation on different biomaterials used in combination products [110–114]. The effect of biomaterials on dendritic cell maturation, and the associated adjuvant effect, are novel biocompatibility selection and design criteria for biomaterials to be used in combination products in which immune consequences are potential complications or outcomes.

Badylak and colleagues carried out extensive studies on the use of xenogeneic ECM as a scaffold for tissue reconstruction [115–117]. Use of the small intestinal submucosa (SIS) ECM in animals indicated a restricted Th2-type immune response. The presence of natural antibodies to the terminal galactose- $\alpha$ 1,3-galactose ( $\alpha$ -gal) epitope is considered to be a major barrier to xenotransplantation in humans. Cell membranes of all animals except humans express this epitope, and naturally occurring antibodies mediate hyperacute or delayed rejection of transplanted organs through complement fixation or antibody dependence cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Whereas ECM derived from porcine tissues, SIS, contains small amounts of the galactose epitope, it appears that the quantity or distribution of this epitope and/or the subtype of Ig response to the epitope is such that complement activation does not occur [118]. In addition, the resorbable characteristics of this nonchemically cross-linked ECM leads to active inflammation and eventually scar formation.

The role of Th1 and Th2 lymphocytes in cell-mediated immune responses to xenografts has been examined. Activation of the Th1 pathway leads to macrophage activation, stimulation of complement fixing antibody isotypes, and differentiation of CD8+ cells to a cytotoxic type phenotype that is associated with both allogeneic and xenogeneic transplant rejection. The Th2 lymphocyte response does not activate macrophages and leads to production of noncomplement fixing antibody isotypes; it is usually associated with transplant acceptance.

The use of appropriate animal models is an important consideration in the safety evaluation of controlled-release systems that may contain potential immunoreactive materials [91,119,120]. A study involving the in vivo evaluation of recombinant human growth hormone in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres demonstrated the appropriate use of various animal models to evaluate biological responses and the potential for immunotoxicity. Using biodegradable PLGA microspheres containing recombinant human growth hormone (rhGH), Cleland et al. used rhesus monkeys, transgenic mice expression rhGH, and normal control (Balb/C) mice in their in vivo studies [112]. Rhesus monkeys were used for serum assays in the pharmacokinetic study of rhGH release as well as tissue responses to the injected microcapsule formulation. Placebo injection sites were also employed, and a comparison of the injection sites from rhGH PLGA microspheres and placebo PLGA microspheres demonstrated a normal inflammatory and wound healing response with a normal focal foreign body reaction. To examine the tissue response further, transgenic mice were used to assess the immunogenicity of the rhGH PLGA formulation. Transgenic mice expressing a heterologous protein were previously used to assess the immunogenicity of sequence or structural mutant proteins [121,122]. With the transgenic animals, no detectable antibody response to rhGH was found. In contrast, the Balb/C control mice had a rapid onset of high titer antibody response to the rhGH PLGA formulation. This study pointed out the appropriate use of animal models not only to evaluate biological responses but also for one type of immunotoxicity (immunogenicity) of controlled-release systems.

### REFERENCES

The focus in tissue engineering traditionally has been on modulating the fate of transplanted host cell populations that participate directly in reconstructing tissues. However, new materials for tissue engineering are being considered that give greater control over the inflammatory and immune responses [123]. Biomimetic strategies based on viruses and bacteria are being used to develop immune evasive biomaterials [124]. Materials are being investigated that can promote tolerance to specific antigens and cells by directly signaling APCs such as dendritic cells, or by releasing growth factors or cytokines that promote tolerance. On the other hand, materials might promote a destructive immune response by directly providing immunity-promoting signals or releasing insoluble factors. This approach could be used to combat infections and cancer [125].

# CONCLUSION

Tissue-engineered devices are biological—biomaterial combinations in which some component of tissue has been combined with a biomaterial to create a device for the restoration or modification of tissue or organ function. The biocompatibility and bioresponse require the ultimate achievement of four significant goals if these devices are to function adequately and appropriately in the host environment. These goals are (1) restoration of the target tissue with its appropriate function and cellular phenotypic expression; (2) inhibition of the macrophage and FBGC foreign body response that may degrade or adversely modify device function; (3) inhibition of scar and fibrous capsule formation that may be deleterious to the function of the device; and (4) inhibition of immune responses that may inhibit the proposed function of the device and ultimately lead to the destruction of the tissue component of the tissue-engineered device. This chapter has presented a brief and limited overview of mechanisms and biological responses that determine biocompatibility: inflammation, wound healing, and immunotoxicity. Given the unique nature of the combination of tissue components and biomaterials in tissue-engineered devices, coupled with the species differences in biological responses, a significant future challenge in developing tissue-engineered devices is to construct and use a unique set of tests that will ensure that these four goals are achieved for the lifetime of the device in its in vivo environment in humans.

## References

- [1] Anderson JM. Inflammatory response to implants. Am Soc Artif Intern Organs Trans 1988;11:101-7.
- [2] Anderson JM. Mechanisms of inflammation and infection with implanted devices. Cardiovasc Pathol 1993;2:1995–2085.
- [3] Anderson JM. Biological responses to materials. Ann Rev Mater Res 2001;31:81-110.
- [4] Anderson JM, Cramer S. Perspectives on the inflammatory, healing, and foreign body responses to biomaterials and medical devices. In: Badylak SF, editor. Host response to biomaterials. The impact of host response on biomaterial selection. Elsevier/Academic Press; 2015. p. 13–36. Chap. 2.
- [5] Gallin JI, Synderman R, editors. Inflammation: basic principles and clinical correlates. New York: Raven Press; 1999.
- [6] Anderson JM, Rodriguez A, Chang DT. Foreign body reaction to biomaterials. Semin Immunol 2008;20:86–100.
- [7] Kumar V, Abbas AK, Fauston N, Aster JC, editors. Robbins and cotran pathologic basis of disease. 8th ed. Saunders/Elsevier; 2010. p. 43–110.
- [8] Boutrand J-P, editor. Biocompatibility and performance of medical devices. Oxford: Woodhead Publishing Limited; 2012.
- [9] Broughton G, Janis JE, Attinger CE. The basic science of wound healing. Plast Reconstr Surg 2006;117(Suppl.):12S-34S.
- [10] Salthouse TN. Cellular enzyme activity at the polymer-tissue interface: a review. J Biomed Mater res 1976;10:197–229.
- [11] Weisman G, Smolen JE, Krochak HM. Release of inflammatory mediators from stimulated neutrophils. N Engl J Med 1980;303:27-34.
- [12] Silver IA, Murrills R, Etherington DJ. Microelectrode studies on the acid environment beneath adherent macrophages and osteoclasts. Exp Cell Res 1988;175:266-76.
- [13] Jankowski A, Scott CC, Grinstein S. Determinants of the phagosomal pH in neutrophils. J Biol Chem 2002;277:6059-66.
- [14] Haas A. The phagosome: compartment with a license to kill. Traffic 2007;8:311-30.
- [15] Clark RA, Lanigan JM, DellePelle P, Manseau E, Dvorak HF, Colvin RB. Fibronectin and fibrin provide a provisional matrix for epidermal cell migration during wound reepithelialization. J Invest Dermatol 1982;79:264–9.
- [16] Tang L, Eaton JW. Fibrin(ogen) mediates acute inflammatory responses to biomaterials. J Exp Med 1993;178:2147-56.
- [17] Tang L. Mechanism of pro-inflammatory fibrinogen-biomaterial interactions. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1998;9:1257-66.
- [18] Gorbet MB, Sefton MV. Biomaterial-associated thrombosis: roles of coagulation factors, complement, platelets and leukocytes. Biomaterials 2004;25:5681-703.
- [19] Wahl SM, Wong H, McCartney-Francis N. Role of growth factors in inflammation and repair. J Cell Biochem 1989;40:193-9.
- [20] Riches DWF. Macrophage involvement in wound repair, remodeling, and fibrosis. In: Clark RAP, Henson PM, editors. The molecular and cellular biology of wound repair. New York: Plenum Press; 1988. p. 213–39.
- [21] Dvorak HF, Harvey VS, Estrella P, Brown LF, McDonagh J, Dvorak AM. Fibrin containing gels induce angiogenesis. Implications for tumor stroma generation and wound healing. Lab Invest 1987;57:673–86.
- [22] Ignotz R, Endo T, Massague J. Regulation of fibronectin and type I collagen mRNA levels by transforming growth factor-beta. J Biol Chem 1987;262:6443–6.

### 692

- [23] Muller G, Behrens J, Nussbaumer U, Böhlen P, Birchmeier W. Inhibitor action of transforming growth factor beta on endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987;84:5600–4.
- [24] Wahl SM, Hunt DA, Wakefield LM, Roberts AB, Sporn MB. Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β) induces monocyte chemotaxis and growth factor production. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987;8:5788–92.
- [25] Madri JA, Pratt BM, Tucker AM. Phenotypic modulation of endothelial cells by transforming growth factor-beta depends upon the composition and organization of the extracellular matrix. J Cell Biol 1988;106:1375–84.
- [26] Sporn MB, Roberts AB. Peptide growth factors are multifunctional. Nature 1988;332(6161):217-9.
- [27] Broadley KN, Aquino AM, Woodward SC, Buckley-Sturrock A, Sato Y, Rifkin DB, et al. Monospecific antibodies implicate basic fibroblast growth factor in normal wound repair. Lab Invest 1989;61:571–5.
- [28] Marchant R, Hiltner A, Hamlin C, Rabinovitch A, Slobodkin R, Anderson JM. In vivo biocompatibility studies: I. The cage implant system and a biodegradable hydrogel. J Biomed Mater Res 1983;17:301–25.
- [29] Spilizewski KL, Marchant RE, Hamlin CR, Anderson JM, Tice TR, Dappert TO, et al. The effect of hydrocortisone acetate loaded poly(dllactide) films on the inflammatory response. J Contr Release 1985;2:197–203.
- [30] Henson PM, Johnston Jr RB. Tissue injury in inflammation: oxidants, proteinases, and cationic proteins. J Clin Invest 1987;79:669-74.
- [31] Malech HL, Gallin JI. Current concepts: immunology. Neutrophils in human diseases. N Engl J Med 1987;317:687-94.
- [32] Ganz T. Neutrophil receptors (Lehrer RI, moderator). Ann. intern. med. In: Neutrophils and host defensevol. 109; 1988. p. 127-42.
- [33] Jutila MA. Leukocyte traffic to sites of inflammation. APMIS 1990;100:191-201.
- [34] Cotran RS, Pober JS. Cytokine-endothelial interactions in inflammation, immunity, and vascular injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 1990;1:225-35.
- [35] Pober JS, Cotran RS. The role of endothelial cells in inflammation. Transplantation 1990;50:537-44.
- [36] Hynes RO. Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. Cell 1992;69:11-25.
- [37] Butcher EC. Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: three (or more) steps to specificity and diversity. Cell 1991;67:1033-6.
- [38] Henson PM. The immunologic release of constituents from neutrophil leukocytes. II. Mechanisms of release during phagocytosis, and adherence to nonphagocytosable surfaces. J Immunol 1971;197:1547–57.
- [39] Henson PM. Mechanisms of exocytosis in phagocytic inflammatory cells. Am J Pathol 1980;101:494-511.
- [40] Weiss SJ. Tissue destruction by neutrophils. N Engl J Med 1989;320:365-76.
- [41] Paty PB, Graeff RW, Mathes SJ, Hunt TK. Superoxide production by wound neutrophils: evidence for increased activity of the NADPH oxidase. Arch Surg 1990;125:65–9.
- [42] Babensee JE, Anderson JM, McIntire LV, Mikos AG. Host response to tissue-engineered devices. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1988;33:111–39.
- [43] Williams GT, Williams WJ. Granulomatous inflammation a review. J Clin Pathol 1983;36:723–33.
- [44] Johnston Jr RB. Monocytes and macrophages. N Engl J Med 1988;318:747-52.
- [45] Browder T, Folkman J, Pirie-Shepherd S. The hemostatic system as a regulator of angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 2000;275:1521-4.
- [46] Brodbeck WG, MacEwan M, Colton E, Meyerson H, Anderson JM. Lymphocytes and the foreign body response: lymphocyte enhancement of macrophage adhesion and fusion. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;74A:222–9.
- [47] [a] MacEwan MR, Brodbeck WG, Matsuda T, Anderson JM. Student Research Award In the Undergraduate Degree Candidate category. In: 30th Annual Meeting of the Society for Biomaterials, Memphis, Tennessee; April 27–30, 2005.
  [b] Monocyte/lymphocyte interactions and the foreign body response: in vitro effects of biomaterial surface chemistry. J biomed mater res 2005;74:285–93.
- [48] Revell PA. The combined role of wear particles, macrophages, and lymphocytes in the loosening of total joint prostheses. J R Soc Interface 2008;5:1263–78.
- [49] Anderson JM, Jones JA. Phenotypic dichotomies in the foreign body reaction. Biomaterials 2007;28:5114–20.
- [50] Jones JA, Chang DT, Meyerson H, Colton E, Kwon IK, Matsuda T, Anderson JM. Proteomic analysis and quantification of cytokines and chemokines from biomaterial surface-adherent macrophages and foreign body giant cells. J Biomed Mater Res 2007;83A:585–96.
- [51] Jones JA, McNally AK, Chang DT, Qin LA, Meyerson H, Colton E, et al. Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in the foreign body reaction on biomaterials. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;84A:158–66.
- [52] Mustoe TA, Pierce GF, Thomason A, Gramats P, Sporn MB, Deuel TF. Accelerated healing of incisional wounds in rats induced by transforming growth factor. Science 1987;237:1333–6.
- [53] Fong Y, Moldawer LL, Shires GT, Lowry SF. The biological characteristics of cytokines and their implication in surgical injury. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1990;170:363–78.
- [54] Sporn MB, Roberts AB. Peptide growth factors and their receptors I. New York: Springer; 1990.
- [55] Golden MA, AuYP KTR, Wilcox JN, Raines EW, Ross R, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor activity and RNA expression in healing vascular grafts in baboons. J Clin Invest 1991;87:406–14.
- [56] Kovacs EJ. Fibrogenic cytokines: the role of immune mediators in the development of scar tissue. Immunol Today 1991;12:17-23.
- [57] Ziats NP, Miller KM, Anderson JM. In vitro and in vivo interactions of cells with biomaterials. Biomaterials 1985;9:5-13.
- [58] Thompson JA, Anderson KD, DiPetro JM, Zweibel JA, Zmaetta M, Anderson WF, Maciag T. Site-directed neovessel formation in vivo. Science 1988;241:1349–52.
- [59] Maciag T. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of angiogenesis. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg S, editors. Important advances in oncology. Philadelphia: Lippincott; 1990. p. 85–103.
- [60] Nguyen LL. d'Amore PA. Cellular interactions in vascular growth and differentiation. Int Rev Cytol 2001;204:1-48.
- [61] McNally AK, Anderson JM. Complement C3 participation in monocyte adhesion to different surfaces. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91: 10119–23.
- [62] McNally AK, Anderson JM. Interleukin-4 induces foreign body giant cells from human monocytes/macrophages. Differential lymphokine regulation of macrophage fusion leads to morphological variants of multinucleated giant cells. Am J Pathol 1995;147:1487–99.
- [63] Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN, Mollnes TE, Lambris JD. The role of complement in biomaterial-induced inflammation. Mol Immunol 2007;44:82–94.
   [64] Jenney CR, Anderson JM. Adsorbed IgG: a potent adhesive substrate for human macrophages. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;50:281–90.
- [65] McNally AK, Anderson JM. Beta1 and beta2 integrins mediate adhesion during macrophage fusion and multinucleated foreign body giant cell formation. Am J Pathol 2002;160:621–30.

### REFERENCES

- [66] McNally AK, MacEwan SR, Anderson JM. Alpha subunit partners to Beta1 and Beta2 integrins during IL-4-induced foreign body giant cell formation. J Biomed Mater Res 2007;82A:568-74.
- [67] McNally AK, Jones JA, MacEwan SR, Colton E, Anderson JM. Vitronectin is a critical protein adhesion substrate for IL-4-induced foreign body giant cell formation. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;86A:535–43.
- [68] Brodbeck WG, Anderson JM. Giant cell formation and function. Curr Opin Hematol 2009;16:53-7.
- [69] Chambers TJ, Spector WG. Inflammatory giant cells. Immunobiology 1982;161:283-9.
- [70] Rae T. The macrophage response to implant materials. Crit Rev Biocompatibility 1986;2:97–126.
- [71] Greisler H. Macrophage-biomaterial interactions with bioresorbable vascular prostheses. Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs 1988;34:1051-7.
- [72] Zhao Q, Agger MP, Fitzpatrick M, Anderson JM, Hiltner A, Stokes K, et al. Cellular interactions with biomaterials: in vivo cracking of prestressed Pellethane 2363–80A. J Biomed Mater Res 1990;24:621–37.
- [73] Zhao Q, Topham N, Anderson JM, Hiltner A, Lodoen G, Payet CR. Foreign-body giant cells and polyurethane biostability: *in vivo* correlation of cell adhesion and surface cracking. J Biomed Mater Res 1991;25:177–83.
- [74] Wiggins MJ, Wilkoff B, Anderson JM, Hiltner A. Biodegradation of polyether polyurethane inner insulation in bipolar pacemaker leads. J Biomed Mater Res (Appl Biomater) 2001;58:302–7.
- [75] Zdolsek J, Eaton JW, Tang L. Histamine release and fibrinogen adsorption mediate acute inflammatory responses to biomaterial implants in humans. J Transl Med 2007;5:31–7.
- [76] McNally AK, DeFife KM, Anderson JM. Interleukin-4-induced macrophage fusion is prevented by inhibitors of mannose receptor activity. Am J Pathol 1996;149:975–85.
- [77] DeFife KM, McNally AK, Colton E, Anderson JM. Interleukin-13 induces human monocyte/macrophage fusion and macrophage mannose receptor expression. J Immunol 1997;158:319–28.
- [78] Chang DT, Jones JA, Meyerson H, Colton E, Kwon IK, Matsuda T, et al. Lymphocyte/macrophage interactions: biomaterial surfacedependent cytokine, chemokine, and matrix protein production. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;87A:676–87.
- [79] Chang DT, Saidel GM, Anderson JM. Dynamic systems model for lymphocyte interactions with macrophages at biomaterial surfaces. Cell Molec Bioeng 2009;2:573–90.
- [80] Chang DT, Colton E, Anderson JM. Paracrine and juxtacrine lymphocyte enhancement of adherent macrophage and foreign body giant cell activation. J Biomed Mater Res 2009;89A:490-8.
- [81] Chang DT, Colton E, Matsuda T, Anderson JM. Lymphocyte adhesion and interactions with biomaterial adherent macrophages and foreign body giant cells. J Biomed Mater Res 2009;91A:1210–20.
- [82] Rodriguez A, Voskerician G, Meyerson H, MacEwan SR, Anderson JM. T cell subset distributions following primary and secondary implantation at subcutaneous biomaterial implant sites. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;85A:556–65.
- [83] Rodriguez A, Meyerson H, Anderson JM. Quantitative *in vivo* cytokine analysis at synthetic biomaterial implant sites. J Biomed Mater Res 2009;89A:152–9.
- [84] Rodriguez A, MacEwan SR, Meyerson H, Kirk JT, Anderson JM. The foreign body reaction in T-cell-deficient mice. J Biomed Mater Res 2009; 90A:106–13.
- [85] Rodriguez A, Anderson JM. Evaluation of clinical biomaterial surface effects on T lymphocyte activation. J Biomed Mater Res 2010;92A: 214–20.
- [86] Hume DA. Macrophages as APC and the dendritic cell myth. J Immunol 2008;181:5829-35.
- [87] Coligan JE, Kruisbeek AM, Magulies DH, Shevach EM, Strober R, editors. Current protocols in immunology. New York: Greene Publishing Associates and Wiley Interscience; 1992.
- [88] Burleson GR, Dean JH, Munson AE, editors. Methods in immunotoxicology. New York: Wiley-Liss; 1995.
- [89] Smialowicz RJ, Holsapple MP. Experimental immunotoxicology. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- [90] Janeway Jr CA, Travers P. Immunobiology: the immune system in health and disease. 3rd ed. New York: Current Biology Garland; 1997.
- [91] Rose NR. In: Lefell MS, Donnenberg AD, Rose NR, editors. Immunologic diagnosis of autoimmune disease. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1997. p. 111–23.
- [92] Rose NR, de Mecario EC, Folds JD, Lane HC, Nakamura RM. Manual of clinical laboratory immunology. Washington, DC: ASM Press; 1997.
- [93] Langone JJ. Immunotoxicity testing guidance. Draft Document. Office of Science and Technology, Center for Devices and Radiological Health, Food and Drug Administration; 1998.
- [94] Nebeker JR, Virmani R, Bennett CL, Hoffman JM, Samore MH, Alvarez J, et al. Hypersensitivity cases associated with drug-eluting coronary stents. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;47:175–81.
- [95] Brauker J. Neovascularization of immuno-isolation membranes: the effect of membrane architecture and encapsulated tissue. In: First International Congress of Cell Transplant Society. A146. Immunoisolation and Bioartificiality; 1992. p. 163.
- [96] Brauker JH, Carr-Brendel VE, Martinson LA, Crudele J, Johnston WD, Johnson RC. Neovascularization of synthetic membranes directed by membrane microarchitecture. J Biomed Mater Res 1995;29:1517–24.
- [97] Methe H, Hess S, Edelman ER. The effect of three-dimensional matrix-embedding of endothelial cells on the humoral and cellular immune response. Semin Immunol 2008;20:117–22.
- [98] Badylak SF, Valentin JE, Ravindra AK, McCabe GP, Stewart-Akers AM. Macrophage phenotype as a determinant of biological scaffold remodeling. Tissue Eng 2008;14:1835–42.
- [99] Brown BN, Valentin JE, Stewart-Akers AM, McCabe GP, Badylak SF. Macrophage phenotype and remodeling outcomes in response to biological scaffolds with and without a cellular component. Biomaterials 2009;30:1482–91.
- [100] Valentin JE, Stewart-Akers AM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. Macrophage participation in the degradation and remodeling of extracellular matrix scaffolds. Tissue Eng 2009;15:1687–94.
- [101] Jones KS. Assays on the influence of biomaterial on allogeneic rejection in tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B 2008;14:407–17.
- [102] Jones KS. Effects of biomaterial-induced inflammation on fibrosis and rejection. Semin Immunol 2008;20:130-6.
- [103] Jones KS. Biomaterials as vaccine adjuvants. Biotechnol Prog 2008;24:807-14.
- [104] Schuster M, Kocher A, John R, Hoffman M, Ankersmit J, Lietz K, et al. B-cell activation and allosensitization after left ventricular assist device implantation is due to T-cell activation and CD40 ligand expression. Hum Immunol 2002;63:211–20.
#### 694

#### 39. BIOCOMPATIBILITY AND BIORESPONSE TO BIOMATERIALS

- [105] Schuster M, Kocher A, Lietz K, Ankersmit J, John R, Edwards N, et al. Induction of CD40 ligand expression in human T cells by biomaterials derived from left ventricular assist device surfaces. Transplant Proc 2001;33:1960–1.
- [106] Itescu S, Schuster M, Burke E, Ankersmit J, Kocher A, Deng M, John R, Lietz K. Immunobiological consequences of assist devices. Cardiol Clin 2003;21:119–33 [ix–x].
- [107] Babensee JE, Stein MM, Moore LK. Interconnections between inflammatory and immune responses in tissue engineering. Ann NY Acad Sci 2002;961:360–3.
- [108] Matzell MM, Babensee JE. Humoral immune responses to model antigen co-delivered with biomaterials used in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2004;25:295–304.
- [109] Babensee JE. Interaction of dendritic cells with biomaterials. Semin Immunol 2008;20:101-8.
- [110] Babensee JE, Paranjpe A. Differential levels of dendritic cell maturation on different biomaterials used in combination products. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;74A:503–10.
- [111] Bennewitz NL, Babensee JE. The effect of the physical form of poly(lactic- *co* glycolic acid) carriers on the humoral immune response to codelivered antigen. Biomaterials 2005;26:2991–9.
- [112] Yoshida M, Babensee JE. Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) enhances maturation ohuman monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Biomed Mater Res 2004;71:45–54.
- [113] Yoshida M, Babensee JE. Differential effects of agarose and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) on dendritic cell maturation. J Biomed Mater Res 2006;79:393–408.
- [114] Yang D, Jones KS. Effect of alginate on innate immune activation of macrophages. J Biomed Mater Res 2009;90:411-8.
- [115] Allman AJ, McPherson TB, Merrill LC, Badylak SF, Metzger DW. The Th2-restricted immune response to xenogeneic small intestinal submucosa does not influence systemic protective immunity to viral and bacterial pathogens. Tissue Eng 2002;8:53–62.
- [116] Badylak SF. Xenogeneic extracellular matrix as a scaffold for tissue reconstruction. Transpl Immunol 2004;12:367–77.
- [117] Badylak SF, Gilbert TW. Immune response to biological scaffold materials. Semin Immunol 2008;20:109-16.
- [118] McPherson TB, Liang H, Record RD, Badylak SF. Galα(1,3)Gal epitope in porcine small intestinal submucosa. Tiss Eng 2000;6:233-9.
- [119] Greenwald RA, Diamond HS, editors. Handbook of animal models for the rheumatic diseases, vol. I. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1988.
- [120] Cohen IR, Miller A, editors. Autoimmune disease models: a Guidebook. New York: Academic Press; 1994.
- [121] Stewart TA, Hollinghead PG, Pitts SL, Chang R, Martin LE, Oakley H. Transgenic mice as a model to test the immunogenicity of proteins altered by site-specific mutagenesis. Mol Biol Med 1989;6:275–81.
- [122] Stewart TA. Models of human endocrine disorders in transgenic rodents. Trends Endocrinol Metab 1993;4:136-41.
- [123] Jeong HJ, Lee SA, Moon PD, Na HJ, Park RK, Um JY, et al. Alginic acid has anti-anaphylactic effects and inhibits inflammatory cytokine expression via suppression of nuclear factor-kappaB activation. Clin Exp Allergy 2006;36:785–94.
- [124] Novak MT, Bryers JD, Reichert WM. Biomimetic strategies based on viruses and bacteria for the development of immune evasive biomaterials. Biomaterials 2009;30:1989–2005.
- [125] Chan G, Mooney DJ. New materials for tissue engineering: towards greater control over the biological response. Trends Biotechnol 2008;26: 382–92.

## **Further Reading**

Cleland JL, Duenas E, Daugherty A, Marian M, Yang J, Wilson M, et al. Recombinant human growth hormone poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres provide a long lasting effect. J Control Release 1997;49:193–205.

# 40

## Hybrid Composite Biomaterials

Nirmalya Tripathy<sup>1</sup>, Elumalai Perumal<sup>2</sup>, Rafiq Ahmad<sup>1</sup>, Jeong Eun Song<sup>1</sup>, Gilson Khang<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Chonbuk National University, Jeonju-si, Republic of Korea; <sup>2</sup>The Catholic University of Korea, Seocho-gu, Republic of Korea

## INTRODUCTION

Damage and degeneration of tissues caused by disease, injury, and trauma to the human body necessitate treatments including transplanting tissue from one site to another in the same patient (an autograft) or from one individual to another (a transplant or allograft). All techniques have the serious constraints of being expensive and painful and having the risks for rejection by the patient's immune system and the possibility of introducing infection or disease from the donor to the patient. Therefore, the approach of tissue engineering to repair defects in tissues is perceived as a smart strategies because the repair process proceeds with the patient's own tissue. The field of tissue engineering is highly multidisciplinary; it has the aim of developing biological substitutes to regenerate damaged tissues and to restore, maintain, or improve tissue function [1,2]. The tissue engineering triad is mainly composed of three main key components of engineered tissues: cells, scaffolds, and the growth-stimulating signal. Typically, the three-dimensional (3D) scaffolds are made from natural or synthetic biomaterials in various formats, serving as a template to provide an appropriate environment for tissue regeneration. These tissue engineered scaffolds are mainly seeded with cells and growth factors or subjected to biophysical stimuli in a bioreactor (a device that applies different types of mechanical or chemical stimuli to cells) [3]. These cell-seeded scaffolds are then either cultured in vitro to produce tissues followed by implantation into an injured site or directly implanted into the injured target site using the body's own systems in which tissues regeneration is induced in vivo [4]. In this chapter, we outline various materials used for scaffolding, the functions of scaffolds, approaches to scaffolding, and tissuespecific considerations for scaffolding, using bone as an example.

Materials that are implanted to repair, replace, or augment existing tissues in the body are generally known as biomaterials. In the wider context covered in this chapter, biomaterials include all materials formed in biological systems, e.g., the specific products of biomineralization. The development of biomaterials, both as products and in understanding their in vivo behavior, has been driven largely by the desire to assist in caring for patients. The material-forming processes occurring in living organisms require much milder reaction conditions than are currently used in the laboratory, such that a new area of materials chemistry, "biomimetics," has been established in which scientists are taking ideas from biology to generate "softer" routes to useful materials.

Biomaterials present in nature provide the necessary structure and architectures of all animal and plant species on earth and function to maintain the structure of organs as well as the organism itself. In nature, materials that are used are polymers such as polysaccharides and proteins and a relatively small number of simple insoluble oxides and salts. These can be put together in a wide range of combinations to produce materials that are soft, hard, flexible, elastic, etc. In contrast, the range of available materials for biomedical applications is vast and includes metals, polymers, ceramics, and their composites. In designing medical devices, materials are chosen to suit their intended use and the proposed implantation area. The materials that are used must have properties that are compatible with the location in which they are placed. Properties such as the tensile strength, toughness, elasticity, and hardness have to be considered, and other factors such as material transparency may have to be thought about if, for instance, the device is to be used within the eye. Although technologists have a wider array of materials at their disposal, it is not a simple matter to come up with a material or series of materials that fulfil all of the criteria required for successful implantation or biomedical use. In the wider context covered in this chapter, biomaterials include all materials formed in biological systems, e.g., the specific products of biomineralization. The development of biomaterials, both as products and in understanding their in vivo behavior, has been driven largely by the desire to assist in caring for patients. The material-forming processes occurring in living organisms require much milder reaction conditions than are currently used in the laboratory, such that a new area of materials chemistry, "biomimetics," has been established in which scientists are taking ideas from biology to generate "softer" routes to useful materials.

## FUNDAMENTALS OF BONE DEVELOPMENT AND DEFECTS

Bone is a calcium reservoir in the body in the form of hydroxyapatite (HA) (85%), calcium carbonate (10%), calcium fluoride ( $\sim$ 3%), and magnesium fluoride ( $\sim$ 3%). There are two main structural types in the bone: cortical bone forms a dense outer shell and cancellous or trabecular bone forms the porous inner core. Cortical bone is highly dense structure consisting of hierarchical structures, each within a different size scale; it provides torsion, bending resistance, and compressive strength. On the other hand, cancellous bone is highly porous and possesses an interconnected trabeculae network filled with marrow, a hierarchical structure ranging from solid material to trabeculae, lamellae, and a collagen—mineral composite. The trabeculae have a large surface area for the diffusion of nutrients and the circulation of growth factors, which allows cancellous bone tissue to be metabolically active and which can be remodeled more frequently than that of cortical bone.

Bone formation occurs via two distinctive pathways: intramembraneous and endochondral. First, mesenchymal cellular condensation occurs and acts as a template for subsequent bone formation. Intramembraneous bone formation involves the differentiation of mesenchymal progenitor cells directly into osteoblasts; it further develops into parts of the mandible, clavicle, and many cranial bones. Most of the bones in the human body, including all of the long bones and vertebrae, were formed through endochondral bone formation, in which mesenchymal progenitor cells differentiate into chondrocytes, which are responsible for cartilaginous template formation, and then are further mineralized and reinstated by bone.

Upon fracture, the bone becomes repaired by recapitulating several events of endochondral and intramembraneous bone formation and heals with no scar tissue formation. Usually, the formation of hematoma involves an inflammatory response and many signaling molecules specific for the regulation of new bone formation (i.e., tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , interleukins, fibroblast growth factors, platelet-derived growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF], bone morphogenetic proteins [BMPs], etc.). The formation of intramembranous bone occurs immediately at the cortex and periosteum. Then the fracture becomes stabilized by the external soft tissues via callus formation; subsequently, chondrocyte proliferation takes place. Then the ingrowing blood vessels carry chondroclasts, which reabsorb calcified cartilage and osteoblastic progenitors and initiate new bone formation. The mechanical continuity of the cortex is achieved via subsequent remodeling of the newly formed bone. In case of damage or disease requiring bone tissue regeneration, the formation of hematoma and an early inflammatory response occurs, which facilitates host cell recruitment and the release of critical signaling molecules. Thus, smart scaffolds mimicking the properties of normal bone tissue development are important to efficient bone tissue engineering. Fundamental developmental biology principles that should be considered for bone tissue engineering are: (1) the use of pluripotent or multipotent stem cells; (2) the establishment of required growth factors, involved genes, and signal transduction cascades facilitating bone formation; (3) an understanding of the bone formation process and normal tissue healing; (4) an understanding of complex interactions between mesenchyme and epithelium, and mesenchyme-encoding, tissue-specific patterns; (5) an understanding of the criticality of the tissue microenvironment's physical characteristics (mechanotherapy, etc.); and (6) neovascularization and angiogenesis of the newly formed and developed bone tissue.

## FUNCTIONS OF SCAFFOLDING AND EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX

Various tissue engineered constructs or scaffolds have been extensively fabricated from numerous materials and a plethora of manufacturing approaches for the neoregeneration of different tissues and organs in the body. When designing an ideal scaffold for tissue engineering, a number of important features and functions must be considered regardless of the type of tissue:

Architecture: Scaffolds should possess an interconnected pore structure and high porosity and void volume for proper vascularization, the formation of neotissue, and remodeling, which facilitates cell penetration and host tissue integration upon implantation. The biomaterial must provide enough interconnected porous structure for efficient nutrient and metabolite diffusion to cells within the scaffolds and to the extracellular matrix (ECM) formed by these cells without significantly compromising mechanical scaffold stability. Moreover, the scaffold should have enough mean pore size for cell migration within the structure where they eventually bind to the ligands present in scaffold materials, but small enough to establish a sufficiently high specific surface leading to a minimal ligand density to allow efficient binding of a critical number of cells to the scaffold [5]. Thus, for any scaffold, a critical range of pore sizes exists that may vary depending on the cell type used and the tissue being engineered [6]. Furthermore, the materials must be degradable upon implantation at a rate corresponding to the newly formed matrix by the developing tissue. The issue of core degradation, which arises from the lack of vascularization and waste removal from scaffolds, is one of the major concerns in the tissue engineering field [7,8].

Cytocompatibility: An important criterion for any tissue engineered scaffold is that it must be biocompatible: seeded cells must adhere, function normally, migrate onto or through the scaffold surface, and start proliferating during both in vitro culture and in vivo implantation before laying down new matrix. After implantation, the scaffold must be compatible with the cellular components and endogenous cells in host tissue and thus must elicit a negligible immune reaction or inflammatory response to avoid reduced healing or rejection by the body.

Bioactivity: Scaffolds must interact actively with the cellular components of the engineered tissues to regulate their activities. The construct material must be composed of biological cues such as cell-adhesive ligands to enhance attachment or physical cues such as topography to influence cell morphology and alignment. It can also act as a delivery vector for exogenous growth-stimulating signals to speed up regeneration such as growth factors. For example, hydrogels synthesized by covalent or ionic cross-linking can encapsulate proteins and perform a responsive release by hydrogels swelling [9].

Biodegradability: Scaffolds implanted for tissue engineering purposes were intended to be eventually replaced by the body's own cells. Thus, the scaffold material must be biodegradable, facilitating cells to generate their own ECM and produce nontoxic by-products followed by their removal from the body with no interference from other organs. Moreover, an inflammatory response with the infusion of controlled cells such as macrophages is essential for the execution of materials degradation with the formation of tissues or cells.

Mechanical characteristics: From a practical point of view, a scaffold should be strong enough to allow surgical handling during implantation. Moreover, its mechanical characteristics must be similar to the implantation anatomical site, providing mechanical and shape firmness to the tissue defect. Especially for orthopedic and cardiovascular applications, it is critical to design a scaffold with sufficient mechanical integrity mimicking host bone or cardiac tissue integrity. This becomes more challenging with age-dependent defects or fractures; for example, generally, fractures heal to an acceptable weight-bearing point at about 6 weeks in young individuals, but the repair rate slows down in elderly people. With the evolution of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, the focus has been mostly diverted to manufacturing scaffolds with good mechanical properties and reduced porosity, which have been shown to have potential in vitro; however, these were unsuccessful when implanted in vivo owing to their insufficient capacity for vascularization. Thus, a well-established balance between the scaffold mechanical features and porous architecture allowing cell infiltration and vascularization is a vital factor for the success of any tissue engineered scaffold [4].

Except for blood cells, normal cells in human tissues are anchorage-dependent and located in a solid matrix called the ECM. There are various types of ECM in human tissues consisting of multiple components and a tissue-specific composition. Generally, functions of the ECM in tissues can be divided into five categories: (1) it provides a physical environment and structural support to cells in specific tissues to attach, grow, migrate, and respond to signals; (2) it provides mechanical and structural strength to tissues including elasticity and rigidity; (3) it actively provides bioactive cues to native cells to regulate their activities; (4) it behaves as a reservoir for growth factors and potentiates their bioactivities; and (5) it provides a degradable physical platform, allowing vascularization and remodeling in response to developmental, physiological, and pathological challenges during tissue dynamic processes such as morphogenesis, homeostasis, and wound healing, respectively. Thus, it is important for any ideal scaffold material to mimic the dynamic nature of the ECM in native tissues, at least partially [10].

### SCAFFOLDING APPROACHES IN BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING

In this section, we discuss various approaches employed in bone tissue engineering from a materials point of view; further details are elaborated on in later sections.

## **Osteoinductive Materials**

Osteoinductive refers to materials having the ability to induce the formation of ectopic bone by summoning the surrounding environment to form neobone [11–13]; thus, it holds immense potential for bone tissue regeneration. Materials including natural and synthetic ceramics (for example, HA, alumina ceramic, and porous Bioglass) [14] and several calcium phosphate compositions and their composites (for example, HA–poly[lactic-*co*-glycolic acid] [PLGA]) have been reported to be efficient osteoinductive materials in various bone tissue engineering studies. In particular, calcium phosphate—based designs (i.e., cements [15,16], coatings [17–19], sintered ceramics, and coralderived ceramic [20,21]) have illustrated osteoinduction in several animal models. Polymer-ceramic blends (i.e., HA–PLGA) have displayed osteoinductive properties and induced ectopic bone formation [22,23]. Other than the material's chemical composition, several other factors have a critical role in determining osteoinductive, including porosity, surface properties, and nanotopography and microtopography. To explain osteoinductivity, two main hypotheses were proposed. The first is based on biomaterial surface properties that absorb and present osteoinductive factors to the surrounding cells. The second hypothesis is that calcium phosphate—based materials release calcium and phosphate ions, which influence stem cell differentiation into bone cells [13].

#### Immunomodulatory Materials

These systems have the ability to manipulate or modulate the immune system in favorably so as to enhance tissue regeneration. In general, the host's immune system reacts to an external implant by initiating an acute reaction to the surgical injury and recognize the alien material innately; this followed by adaptive immunity-mediated chronic inflammation in response to the recognition of specific antigens. Therefore, myriads of approaches were proposed in immune-bioengineering, highlighting the relevance of rational control over host inflammation that suggest cell-specific responses, accelerated wound healing, and bone tissue regeneration (enhanced activity of bone-forming cells and decreased activity of natural killer (NK) cells and T and B cell–mediated immunity). This includes the appropriate selection of materials, material surface functionalization and modulating agents (i.e., surface treatments and topography) and the inclusion of artificial ECM and bioactive agents. One approach is to develop biomaterials mimicking ECM composition and structure. Smith et al. showed polydioxanone and collagen–elastin composites with immune-modulating features by decreasing NK cell activity and T- and B-cell proliferation [24].

Material microscale and nanoscale architecture and its surface topography have a key role in modulating the immune system and host acute immune response upon scaffold implantation. Thus, the biomaterial surface should be functionalized to limit macrophage adhesion and activation, shielding them from protein absorption via polymer coating, delivering bioactive molecules (i.e., growth factors, antiinflammatory drugs), and thereby facilitating their fusion into foreign body giant cells. Some studies evaluated the pharmacologic modification effects of inflammatory response upon in vivo bone regeneration including cytokine-specific agents, corticosteroids, prostaglandins, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, and selective prostaglandin agonists [25]. A few studies have shown the enhanced strength of healed bone, vascularization at the fracture site, or accelerated fracture repair and regeneration with the controlled release of TP508 from various biodegradable scaffolds (PLGA microspheres and poly[propylene fumarate]) [26,27]. Although these results are interesting and promising, further detailed and advanced studies are essential that integrate inflammatory modulation strategies into tissue engineering to enhance tissue regeneration.

## Hybrid Materials

Any biomaterial chosen for tissue engineering scaffolding needs to possess certain biological and physiochemical characteristics specific for the target tissue. However, it is difficult for any material to meet all of these expectations by itself; thus, hybrid materials have been made by combining two or more materials complementing each other in terms of the required features. Various optimal and advanced hybrids were developed (i.e., copolymer, polymer–polymer blends, polymer–ceramic composites) These are described in detail in later sections.

## Hydrogels

Hydrogels, which have the ability to mimic ECM topography and deliver bioactive substances to promote tissue regeneration owing to their physical characteristics and biocompatibility, have become popular in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Examples includes both nature-derived (collagen, silk, and gelatin) and synthetic biomaterials (poly[vinyl alcohol] and poly[ethylene glycol]). Self-assembling peptides have attracted the interest of

#### SCAFFOLDING MATERIALS

researchers for scaffolding applications because these systems are nonimmunogenic, biocompatible, and biodegradable, and can be readily manufactured chemically and biologically to serve as a starting scaffolding matrix [28,29]. For instance, self-assembling RAD16-I (i.e., PuraMatrix, Cambridge, MA) can form an injectable nanofiber network or hydrogel upon implantation [30–32].

## SCAFFOLDING MATERIALS

## Natural Polymers

The major goal of bone tissue engineering is to develop bioconstructs that substitute for the functionality of damaged natural bone structures as much as possible if critical-sized defects occur. Scaffolds that mimic the structure and composition of bone tissue and cells have a pivotal role in bone tissue engineering. Natural polymers have attractive properties for the construction of 3D scaffolds, such as biocompatibility and biodegradability. The porosity, charge, and mechanical strength can be controlled by changing polymer concentrations or polymerization conditions, or by introducing various functional groups. Bioactivity can also be tuned by adding chemicals, proteins, peptides, and cells. The most commonly studied natural polymers for the purpose of bone engineering are collagen/gelatin, chitosan (CHI), silk, alginate, hyaluronic acid (HAc), and peptides [33]. Here we discuss studies in which these natural polymers were studied as 3D scaffolds for bone regeneration and were modified in different manners to improve their osteogenic capabilities.

## Silk

Silk fibroin (SF) is a fibrous protein that is produced mainly by silkworms and spiders. Its unique mechanical properties and fine-tunable biodegradation rate, and the ability to support the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells along the osteogenic lineage have made SF a favorable scaffold material for bone tissue engineering. SF can be processed into various scaffold forms that can be combined synergistically with other biomaterials to form composites and chemically modified, which provides an impressive toolbox and allows SF scaffolds to be tailored to specific applications [34]. Silk is composed of two major proteins: SF (fibrous protein) and sericin (globular protein). SF is a protein isolated from different animals in the form of an aqueous protein solution. The ability to produce silk has evolved multiple times among insects such as *Bombyx mori*, spiders, mites, and beetles with diverse functions [35].

In one study, calcium phosphate (CaP)/silk powders were incorporated into silk scaffolds to improve the porous structure and distribution of CaP powders in the composite scaffolds [36,37]. The scaffolds tested contained pure silk, or silk with 5% or 10% CaP. The pure silk and silk composite scaffolds were prepared using a freeze-drying method. The addition of CaP did not affect the compressive strength of the material (all tested were  $\sim$ 70 KPa) or the compressive modulus ( $\sim$  250 MPa for all materials tested). All scaffolds tested supported bone marrow stromal cell (BMSC) proliferation to comparable levels. However, alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity was significantly higher in CaP-silk scaffolds at days 7 and 14. The expression of the osteogenic markers ALP, type 1 collagen, and osteocalcin (OCN) was also significantly increased in CaP-scaffolds at day 7 and 14 compared with pure silk scaffolds. In vivo bone formation was assessed in a calvarial defect model by microcomputed tomography (µCT). Groups studied were silk scaffold, CaP–scaffold, silk scaffold plus mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), and CaP-scaffold plus MSCs. Defect areas were collected after 4 weeks. When bone formation was measured, it was clear that the addition of CaP into the scaffold significantly increased bone volume in the area. These results suggest that the presence of CaP in the scaffold was sufficient to enhance osteogenesis, because it did had no effect on the scaffold's mechanical properties. Decellularized bovine trabecular bone was used for comparison. It was found that the values of these parameters approached those for bovine trabecular bone in scaffolds with 3.1% and 4.6% HA. Calcium content was studied in all scaffolds at up to 10 weeks; there was increase over time but no differences between groups. These studies demonstrate a system in which, although there was no improvement in other work, the relationship between scaffold degradability and osteogenesis was examined [38]. 3D porous SF scaffolds were prepared with two different degradation rates. The water-based scaffold was synthesized as the rapidly degrading scaffold (control) and a slower-degrading scaffold was obtained by adding hexafluoroisopropanol (HFIP) to induce insolubility in aqueous media (HFIP scaffold). Degradation studies were performed; the control scaffold lost more than 90% of its mass at day 7 and the HFIP scaffold's mass remained nearly the same at 7 days. Various biochemical assays were performed on both scaffolds after seeding with MSCs and culturing for 16 or 56 days. At 56 days, the DNA content in the control scaffolds was around sixfold lower than for HFIP scaffolds.

#### 40. HYBRID COMPOSITE BIOMATERIALS

There was no significant difference in ALP activity between the two scaffolds. However, calcium content/DNA and total collagen/DNA showed a dramatic increase in the rapidly degrading scaffold compared with the slowly degrading scaffold. There was no significant difference in the expression of osteogenesis-related genes ALP, bone sialoprotein (BSP), Colla1, or osteopontin (OPN) between control and HFIP scaffolds. However, at day 56, hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) expression was significantly higher in the control than the HFIP scaffold. Studies in transgenic mice have shown that HIF-1 is a critical component of bone regeneration.

Another study was conducted to evaluate the ability of fibroin scaffolds combined with human stem cells, such as human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSCs) and human amniotic fluid stem cells (hAFSCs), to repair critical-size cranial bone defects [39]. These scaffolds had 85% porosity and pore diameters ranging from 10 to 250  $\mu$ M, and a compressive modulus of 25.69  $\pm$  1.61 kPa. hDPSCs and hAFSCs were seeded onto the scaffolds and grown in osteogenic media for 10 days before implantation into the cranial critical-size defect. Groups tested consisted of scaffolds without cells, scaffold plus hDPSCs, scaffold plus hAFSCs, and empty defect. Thirty days after surgery, radiograph images showed that scaffolds without cells were able to repair the area slightly, but this effect was more pronounced when either kind of stem cell was present.

Hematoxylin—eosin staining showed that vascularization was present in all scaffolds tested; however, hASFCs seemed to have a greater potential for bone regeneration because it was the only scaffold tested that showed bone in scaffold areas distant to the dura matter. Another study reported the effects of different concentrations of SF protein on a 3D scaffold pore microstructure and its effects on bone formation when cultured with BMSCs transfected with BMP-7 [36,37]. At 1 wt% silk protein, scaffolds had a porosity of 94% and a pore size ranging from 250 to 300  $\mu$ M. At 2 wt% protein, porosity was 87% and the pore size was 200–250  $\mu$ M. At 3.5 wt% silk protein, scaffolds had a porosity of 80% and a pore size ranging from 150 to 200  $\mu$ M. At 2 wt% protein, porosity was 71% and pore size was from 80 to 150  $\mu$ M. MSCs proliferated on all scaffolds, but at day 14 there was a significant decrease in the 5% scaffold. ALP activity was shown to increase in all groups, but there was significantly higher expression in the 3.5% scaffold. After 2 weeks in osteogenic medium, expression of osteogenic markers in transfected and untransfected MSCs in the various scaffolds was analyzed by reverse transcriptase—polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). ALP, Col1, and OCN had similar levels of expression in all scaffolds tested when they were transfected with BMP-7, except in the 5% scaffold, where there was a significant decrease in marker expression. This study indicated that decreased scaffold porosity is detrimental to the promotion of bone formation and that the presence of BMP-7 greatly enhances cells' ability to express osteogenic phenotypes.

## Collagen

The ECM provides physical support to tissues by occupying the intercellular space, acting not only as benign native scaffolding for arranging cells within connective tissues but also as a dynamic, mobile, and flexible substance defining cellular behaviors and tissue function [40]. For most soft and hard connective tissues (bone, cartilage, tendon, cornea, blood vessels, and skin), collagen fibrils and their networks function as an ECM, the highly organized 3D architecture surrounding various cells. Collagen has a dominant role in maintaining the biologic structural integrity of ECM and is highly dynamic, undergoing constant remodeling for proper physiologic functions [40]. As a primary component of bone, collagen (and gelatin) is an idyllic candidate for the design of 3D scaffolds [41]. It is inherently biocompatible and biodegradable and stimulates the proliferation and differentiation of cells as an ECM. However, it has poor mechanical properties. In many studies, collagen was used as a base for 3D scaffolds and modified by adding polymers and other biomolecules to improve osteoinductivity. In one [42], the authors combined the mechanical properties of a 3D macrochanneled poly- $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone (PCL) scaffold, fabricated by robotic dispensing, with the bioactive properties of collagen. An MSC-loaded collagen hydrogel collagen was inserted onto the macrochanneled scaffold. In addition, they studied the effect of growing these cell-seeded scaffolds in a perfusion bioreactor to test how osteogenesis was affected by the continuous supply of fresh media and shear stress. The collagen-PCL scaffolds increased cell proliferation when grown in the perfusion chamber compared with cells grown under static conditions. The activity of ALP, an early osteogenic marker, and osteogenic genes OPN, OCN, and BSP were significantly upregulated at 14 days in cells grown in the perfusion chamber. Bone marrow MSCs (BM-MSC) have shown great potential for tissue engineering purposes as they are relatively easy to isolate, retain their multipotency even after several passages, and can be induced to differentiate into bone. However, there is a low amount that can be harvested from bone marrow and they have limited proliferation and high senescence [43]. It has been reported that MSCs can be isolated from the Wharton jelly found in the umbilical cord (UC-MSC), and they are more abundant, more easily expanded, and more resistant to cryogenic storage [44]. The adhesion, migration into scaffold, growth, spreading, osteogenic differentiation, ECM degradation, and synthesis of BM-MSCs versus UC-MSCs were compared. The tested collagen scaffold (CS) showed excellent cytocompatibility with both cell types and could maintain high proliferation and viability. When stimulated with osteogenic induction medium, both cell types showed comparable osteogenic gene expression, migration and scaffold colonization, and the ability to contract the CS. UC-MSCs were much more capable of producing an ECM. They demonstrated at least 10-fold higher expression of the ECM marker genes collagen I, collagen III, collagen IV, and laminin than did BM-MSCs. Because the production of ECM is an integral component of bone regeneration, UC-MSCs could have a significant impact on bone tissue engineering; its osteogenic potential should be investigated in additional scaffold compositions.

In another study, the hydraulic permeability (k) of a collagen-based scaffold was manipulated to improve mechanical properties, cell—scaffold interactions, oxygen flow, and nutrient diffusion [45]. Permeability is the ability of porous structures to transfer fluids through their interstices under applied pressure. This can be controlled through pore size, number, orientation, distribution, and interconnectivity [46]. Collagen scaffolds were prepared and exposed to plastic compression using different static stresses to control permeability. Results showed that increasing compression reduced k. It was also found that a decrease in k correlated with an increase in the modulus and permeability of collagen gels. The authors then tested the effect of k on MSC proliferation, differentiation, and mineralization. Compared with noncompressed gels, compressed ones showed higher proliferation, ALP staining, and mineralization, but no significant difference was found between the different compressed gels. These findings suggest that decreasing k provides a good matrix for cell proliferation and osteodifferentiation, but the influence of k on osteoinduction and osteoconduction has not been fully defined.

BMP-4 was spatially immobilized in a collagen–PLGA hybrid scaffold and has been shown to induce the osteogenic differentiation of osteoblasts to promote bone formation. MSCs were loaded into collagen-PLGA scaffolds with or without BMP-4 and cultured in osteoinductive media before implantation into the dorsa of athymic nude mice. Type 1 collagen, OPN, and OCN showed a significant increase in expression compared with the control. However, there was no difference in ALP expression. This may have been because ALP expression increased before the analysis of the removed implants. In another study, a collagen-based silicified matrix was loaded with stromal cellderived factor-1 (SDF-1) [47], which is a chemokine-receptor ligand that is involved in immobilizing and homing stem cells to injured tissues. The silicified collagen scaffold (SCS) was first compared with CS in terms of its mechanical properties. The tangent modulus values (KPa) from 0%-5% strain were  $0.80\pm0.21$  for CS and  $599.8\pm166.0$  for SCS. The modulus of resilience values (KPa) were  $0.18 \pm 0.06$  for CS and  $165.3 \pm 4.0$  for SCS. In vitro analyses showed that there was no difference in cell viability when MSCs or endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) were in contact with CS or SCS. The formation of extracellular bone nodules in differentiated MSCs was significantly higher in SCS than in CS, and the formation of capillary-like tubes by EPCs was much higher in SCS than in CS. These results indicate that the presence of silica in collagen hydrogels increases its osteogenic and angiogenic potential. The release kinetics of the SDF-1 from SCS hydrogels was analyzed and it was found that at high concentrations, up to 80% release could be obtained at 30 days. In vitro cell homing experiments were conducted with MSCs and EPCs using a transwell migration assay, employing SDF-1 concentrations that corresponded to those used in the release assay. Both MSCs and EPCs showed higher migration with higher SDF-1 concentrations. For in vivo experiments, the ability to promote osteogenesis was compared between SCS loaded with MSCs (cell-seeding approach) and cell-free SDF-1 containing SCS (cell-homing approach). Scaffolds were implanted into subcutaneous pockets of Balb/c mice. Implants were studied after removal and it was found that ectopic bone formation was similar in both scaffolds. However, ectopic bone formation in scaffolds loaded with SCF-1 showed a statistically significant increase in capillary formation. The results indicate that cell-homing strategies such as this must be further explored, because it reduces the complications of cell seeding and increases angiogenesis, a requirement for the formation of healthy bone.

#### **Hyaluronic Acid**

HAc has also demonstrated potential as a bone scaffold material. It is naturally occurring, hydrophilic, and nonimmunogenic, and has been found in the cytoplasm of osteoprogenitor cells [48]. This natural polymer has been used in combination with other materials, factors, and drugs to enhance its osteogenic potential. HAc, a nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan present in all connective tissue as a major constituent of the ECM and particularly prevalent during wound healing, has been proposed for the preparation of biodegradable ECM-like constructs for tissue engineering applications [49]. The ECM is a hydrophilic matrix with a gel-like uniformity consisting primarily of collagen fibers, proteoglycan filaments, and entrapped interstitial fluid. Similarly, hydrogels are also usually composed of covalently cross-linked hydrophilic polymers that enable them to swell while retaining their 3D structure without dissolving. This results in scaffolds structurally similar to the ECM, with a high water content and excellent biocompatibility characteristics. Cross-linking of HA forms experimentally controllable hydrogels that

#### 40. HYBRID COMPOSITE BIOMATERIALS

provide a microstructure similar to native ECM. Subsequent encapsulation of cells into permeable HA hydrogels thus provides both structural support and protection, as well as the ability for cells to interact in 3D, which has been shown to increase the viability of transplanted cells significantly [50]. Furthermore, cell encapsulation with biocompatible materials such as HA has been shown to reduce the immunogenicity of the tissue engineered construct, because biocompatible materials reduce the adsorption of proteins [51], which would normally stimulate the recruitment of immune cells such as macrophages.

In one study, a photocured HAc hydrogel containing an osteogenesis-inducing drug, simvastatin (SIM), was designed [52]. SIM was found to induce osteodifferentiation of human adipose-derived stromal cells. Hydrogel viscoelastic properties were fine-tuned through 2-aminoethyl methacrylate (AEMA) substitution (HAc-AEMA). Three different HAc-AEMA scaffolds were studied: HAc with 20% (wt/wt) AEMA (HAc-AEMA-20), 30% AEMA (HAc-AEMA-30), and 40% AEMA (HAc-AEMA-40). Rheological measurements showed that elastic storage of the hydrogel increased with increasing AEMA concentrations (from 40 to 80 Pa). Pore size increased with increasing AEMA concentration, but sizes were not reported. MC3T3 fibroblasts were seeded into the hydrogels to test for cytocompatibility; it was found that the material was cytocompatible and that there was no difference in viability between groups. After SIM was loaded into the hydrogel, release kinetic experiments showed that it could sustain release for up to 14 days. HAc-AEMA-40 hydrogel was chosen for the remaining experiments. Loading of 1 mg SIM into HAc-AEMA-40 significantly increased fibroblast proliferation and mineralization at all times tested. The presence of SIM also upregulated the expression of OCN and OPN at all times tested. The effectiveness of this system was then tested in vivo with and without SIM. Hydrogels were implanted in parietal bone defects in rabbits. Cone beam computed tomography was used to assess healing of the bone defect for up to 9 weeks. Healing was only slightly superior at 9 weeks in the SIM-containing hydrogel. These results showed that substitution with AEMA can improve viscoelastic properties and the addition of SIM into the hydrogel improved osteogenesis in vitro, although the results were not as notable in vivo.

#### Alginate

Alginate—HA composite scaffolds were prepared by internal gelation followed by freeze-drying to obtain a porous structure. The nanoparticles were prepared in presence of a lactose-modified CHI; this colloidal solution was adsorbed on the scaffolds by exploiting electrostatic interactions and was used as temporary resorbable bone implants [53]. A CHI—polypyrrole—alginate composite scaffold can act as a substrate for tissue regeneration and can be employed for bone tissue engineering using osteogenic cells by employing electrical stimulation with a bioreactor system, and thus evaluating the role of conducting substrate in bone regeneration [54].

CHI–alginate hybrid scaffolds displayed improved mechanical strength and structural stability and were shown to stimulate new bone formation and rapid vascularization [55]. CHI–alginate gel–MSC–BMP-2 composites should have become clinically useful injectable materials to generate new bone [56]. Porous HA–CHI–alginate composite scaffolds were prepared through in situ coprecipitation and freeze-drying for bone tissue engineering [57]. Two different types of polymer scaffolds, such as CHI–alginate and CHI–alginate with fucoidan, were developed by freeze-drying; each was characterized as a bone graft substitute by Venkatesan et al. [58]. Alginate microparticle and microfiber aggregated scaffolds were produced with alginate through the aggregation method. Such a porous structure will allow vascularization, oxygenation and cell migration, adhesion, and proliferation, which are biological events that are fundamental for bone tissue regeneration [59].

In another study, macroporous alginate scaffold was fabricated and mineral-coated using a biomimetic approach [60]. The nucleation of HA was achieved by incubating the scaffold in modified simulated body fluids for up to 4 weeks. Mineralization of the scaffold was determined by a change in mass, which increased steadily from weeks 1 to 4. Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy revealed a Ca/P ratio of 1.61 when the Ca/P ratio of pure HA (HAP) was 1.67. Viability experiments demonstrated that the HAP coatings supported the attachment and proliferation of hMSCs. The cell number was significantly higher in the coated scaffolds at all times tested. This work showed that a simple scaffold modification, such as immersion in simulated biological fluids, can change the topography and environment of a scaffold to improve the osteogenic outcome of the scaffold. The in vivo application of a facile polyelectrolyte complexation (PEC) process was employed to condense heparin onto the surfaces of poly-L-ornithine (PLO), poly-L-arginine (PLA), and diethylaminoethyl-dextran-coated alginate microbead templates that entrap bioactive recombinant human BMP-2 (rhBMP-2). In vivo implantation of PEC shells loaded with rhBMP-2 resulted in new bone formation that could stimulate a mechanically stable posterolateral spinal fusion in rats (PLO- and PLA-based PEC shells). This ability to retain or regulate rhBMP-2 delivery and stimulate new bone formation from heparin-incorporated PEC shells could provide a powerful tool for entrapping and controlling the delivery of several growth factors in a variety of bone tissue engineering [61].

## Chitosan

CHI, the deacetylated form of chitin, is the structural component found in the exoskeleton of crustaceans such as shrimp, crabs, and lobsters. It is a natural polymer, with a linear structure consisting of  $\beta(1-4)$ glycosidic bond– linked D-glucosamine residues with a variable number of randomly located N-acetyl-D-glucosamine groups [62]. CHI is bioactive, biodegradable, antibacterial, and biocompatible and possesses a hydrophilic surface, which is absent in many synthetic polymers. Here we describe several studies in which the osteogenic properties of CHI 3D scaffolds were modified by adding other polymers, cells, and bone-inducing factors. CHI and poly(butylene succinate) scaffolds were constructed and seeded with human MSCs to test their ability to induce osteogenesis [63]. The material was found to have 59% porosity, a 144.9-mm pore size, and 60.9% interconnectivity. MSC viability increased for 21 days in the scaffold and ALP activity also increased for 21 days after MSCs were exposed to osteogenic induction. The ability of the MSC-seeded scaffolds to repair a cranial critical-sized bone defect in mice was also examined. The cell-scaffold constructs were cultured in osteogenic-induced medium for 2 weeks before implantation. Cell-free scaffolds were used as a control. The crania were observed 8 weeks after implantation. Bone formation was analyzed using µCT. The results showed an elevated rate of bone formation in the cell-seeded scaffold, evidencing the importance of the existence of stem cells near the area where bone formation is needed. In another study, human bone marrow-derived stem cells (hBMSC) were encapsulated in hydrogels at CHI-collagen ratios of 100/0, 65/35, 25/75, and 0/100 wt%. β-Glycerophosphate was added to hydrogels, because it has been shown to be an osteogenic supplement when added to cultures of hBMSC, and it has also been used as a catalyst to sol-gel transitions in CHI hydrogels. The effect of adding collagen to CHI on matrix mechanical properties was assessed. Stress-strain profiles (0%-8% strain) showed that all collagen materials were approximately three times stiffer than pure CHI, which has a modulus of 6.3 kPa. When evaluating cell proliferation, the DNA content dropped by about half over 12 days in pure CHI materials whereas it increased twofold in materials containing collagen. For these reasons, only collagen-containing materials were examined for their effect on osteogenic gene expression. hBMSCs were encapsulated in CHI-collagen and collagen hydrogels and exposed to osteogenic medium. Hydrogels with a CHI-collagen ratio of 65/35 had the highest levels of osterix expression, bone sialoprotein expression, and ALP activity. These osteogenic markers started to decrease at lower CHI concentrations. These results suggest that the presence of collagen was highly beneficial for the osteogenic capabilities of the 3D scaffold, although it remains to be determined whether this was caused by the change in mechanical properties or the intrinsic biological properties of collagen.

Another research group prepared porous 3D scaffolds based on CHI, CHI/SF, and CHI/SF/HA. SF/HA scaffolds were previously reported to be unsuitable for bone tissue engineering owing to insufficient formability and inflexibility [64]. The CHI scaffolds had a porosity of  $94.2\% \pm 0.9\%$ , which was statistically higher than the one presented by CHI/SF/HA scaffolds, which had a porosity of  $89.7\% \pm 2.6\%$ . The CHI/SF scaffold had a porosity of  $91.6\% \pm 1.2\%$ , which was not significantly different from other materials. SaOs-2 cells were used to measure viability and differentiation. At day 21, there was a statistically significant increase in cell proliferation and ALP activity in the CHI/SF/HA scaffolds compared with CHI and CHI/SF. It is unclear whether it was the presence of HA or the changes in porosity that promoted osteogenesis.

CHI has also been used as an injectable biomaterial. Bi et al. [65] produced an injectable composite of tricalcium phosphate (TCP), CHI, and platelet-rich plasma (PRP). A TCP-CHI composite (TC) was used as a control. PRP contains a number of growth factors (i.e., PGDF, transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , insulin-like growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor [bFGF], and VEGF), which have often been shown to have an important role in bone tissue engineering applications. The composites were fabricated into cylinders for mechanical testing. It was found that the compressive strength (MPa) of both composites increased over time (~9–16 over 7 days) but there was no difference between them. The MSCs were seeded onto TCP and TC scaffolds and cell proliferation was measured over 7 days; the number of cells on TCP was found to be significantly higher than on TC at every time point tested. MSCs grown in plates in osteogenic media (OM) were used as a positive control for osteodifferentiation analysis of the materials being tested. ALP activity was tested at 7 and 14 days. At 7 days, ALP activity was higher in PTC than TC, and PTC and OM had comparable levels. At day 14, ALP activity was significantly higher in PTC than TC and even OM. RT-PCR analysis was used to study the expression of osteogenesis-related genes. Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx-2), type-1 collagen and osteonectin expression in TCP were comparable to those in OM.

## **Peptide Hydrogels**

Hydrogels are 3D networks composed of hydrophilic polymers cross-linked through covalent bonds or held together via physical intramolecular and intermolecular attractions. Hydrogels can absorb huge amounts of water

704

#### 40. HYBRID COMPOSITE BIOMATERIALS

or biological fluids, up to several thousand percent, and readily swell without dissolving. The high hydrophilicity of hydrogels results from the presence of hydrophilic moieties such as carboxyl, amide, amino, and hydroxyl groups distributed along the backbone of polymeric chains. In the swollen state, hydrogels are soft and rubbery, resembling living tissues to a great extent. In addition, many hydrogels such as CHI and alginate-based hydrogels have desirable biocompatibility [66], can easily be modified to contain bioactive motifs and composed of self-complementary amphiphilic peptides, and when gelled they provide a 3D structure that has many similarities to the ECM. In one study, self-assembling peptide nanostructured gels were constructed using peptide amphiphile (PA) materials with or without phosphoserine residues near their surfaces and with or without Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (RGDS) peptide [67]. The phosphoresidues contribute to mineralization and the RGDS peptide contributes to cell adhesion. The authors proposed that the architecture of these PA materials is highly biomimetic of the fibrous elements commonly found in ECM, such as collagen fibrils. The results of this study suggested that a 3D matrix that supports mineralization and cell adhesion is favorable for bone formation, but the outcome was not superior to implantation with demineralized bone tissue. In another study, the commercially available peptidic hydrogel PuraMatrix was evaluated as a candidate to assess its potential for the osteogenic differentiation of dedifferentiated fat cells (DFATs) [68]. PuraMatrix is composed of 8–16 L-amino acid residues and forms a 3D scaffold that is biocompatible and biodegradable. The cell suspension was mixed at a 1:1 ratio with the hydrogel. These results indicate that commercially available PuraMatrix can support the osteogenic differentiation route and that DFATs are a viable alternative to MSCs that should further be explored with regard to bone regeneration.

#### Synthetic Polymers

#### Copolymers

A range of polyethylene oxide (PEO)–polybutylene terephthalate (PBT) copolymers (70%–30% PEO) was investigated for non–load bearing bone replacement. In general, copolymers are attractive for tissue engineering applications because their physicochemical properties are highly controllable. Gel formation dynamics, cross-linking density, and material mechanical and degradation properties can be controlled by regulating molecular weights, block structures, degradable linkages, and cross-linking modes [69].

β-Keto nitrile tautomeric copolymers have demonstrated fine-tunable hydrophilicity and hydrophobicity properties according to their surrounding environment and mechanical properties similar to those of human bone tissue. These characteristic properties make them promising candidates as biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Based on this knowledge, we designed two scaffolds based on  $\beta$ -keto nitrile tautomeric copolymers that differ in chemical composition and surface morphology. Two of them were nanostructured, using an anodized aluminum oxide template and the other two were obtained by solvent casting. They were used to evaluate the effect of the composition and their structural modifications on the biocompatibility, cytotoxicity, and degradation properties. The results showed that the nanostructured scaffolds exhibited a higher degradation rate by macrophages than the casted scaffolds (6% and 2.5% of degradation for the nanostructured and casted scaffolds, respectively), a degradation rate compatible with bone regeneration times. We also demonstrated that the β-keto nitrile tautomeric–based scaffolds supported osteoblastic cell proliferation and differentiation without cytotoxic effects, which suggested that these biomaterials could be useful in bone tissue engineering [70]. In one study, the authors had developed a novel BMP-2-related peptide (P24) that was shown to enhance the osteoblastic differentiation of BMSCs. The purpose of that study was to incorporate P24 into a modified PLGA-(PEG–ASP)n copolymer to promote bone formation [71]. PLGA and PLGA-(PEG–ASP)n membranes were fabricated by solvent coating and evaporating. In in vitro release studies, about 70% of peptide was released after 14 days. Adhesion and proliferation studies were performed with BMSCs and the PLGA-(PEG–ASP)n scaffolds, with and without p24, promoted cell adhesion and proliferation compared with the PLGA control. There was no difference between PLGA-(PEG-ASP)n and PLGA-(PEG-ASP) n-p24 scaffolds in either cell adhesion or proliferation. However, in cell differentiation studies, the PLGA-(PEG-ASP)n-p24 scaffold was shown to enhance differentiation at each time point tested for up to 20 days, as determined by ALP activity.

A novel three-component biomimetic hydrogel composed of triblock PEG–PCL–PEG copolymer (PECE), collagen, and nano-HA (n-HA) was successfully prepared [72]. The in vivo biocompatibility of the PECE–collagen– n-HA hydrogel composite was tested by implanting the composite into the dorsal muscle pouches of Wistar rats for 3, 7, and 14 days. Some inflammation occurred during the degradation process, but by day 14, the inflammatory response disappeared completely. The activity of bone regeneration was evaluated by reconstructing two rectangular defects in rabbit craniums. The untreated left defects were used as control and the right defects were packed

#### SCAFFOLDING MATERIALS

with PECE-collagen-n-HA hydrogel composite. At 20 weeks, as determined by histological staining, the right defect was filled completely with new bone and the amount of high-density tissue in the control defect was visibly less than the treatment defect. In another study, biodegradable and electroactive poly(ester amide)s containing conjugated segments of phenyl amino end-capped tetraaniline (PEA-g-TA) were prepared [73]. Composites were prepared under different feed weight percentages of tetraaniline (TA) (3.5%, 8.4%, and 15.5%). The copolymer solutions were cast onto a superflat polytetrafluoroethylene plate and placed for 5 h under room temperature to form thin films. Conductivity increased with an increasing percentage of TA  $(7.11 \times 10^{-7}, 8.01 \times 10^{-6})$ , and  $2.45 \times 10^{-6}$  S/cm for 3.5%, 8.4%, and 15.5%, respectively) but all scaffolds had conductivity values adequate to transfer bioelectrical signals in vivo. The PEA-g-TA number 2 copolymer (8.4% feeding ratio) was highly distensible with a breaking elongation rate of  $105\% \pm 10\%$ , and the tensile modulus of copolymer was  $20 \pm 2.5$  MPa. These values were not reported for the other scaffolds. Mouse MC3T3-E1 cells showed more than 90% viability in all copolymers tested. Cells were stimulated by pulsed electrical signal for 2 hours every day for 14 days. Osteogenic differentiation of MC3T3-E1 cells was assessed by the intracellular free calcium concentration and ALP enzyme activity. After 14 days, there were no significant differences between the materials tested; however, cells that were stimulated by the electric signal had higher intracellular calcium concentration and ALP enzyme activity. This work illustrates that combining appropriate materials with physical stimulation such as electrical impulses can produce superior responses.

#### Polyesters

Polyphosphazene-polyester blends are attractive materials for bone tissue engineering because of their controllable degradation pattern with nontoxic and neutral pH degradation products. Aliphatic polyesters such as polyglycolic acid, polylactic acid, and polycaprolactone are the most commonly used polyesters for tissue engineering. Their degradation products are present in the human body and can be removed by natural metabolic pathways. 3D scaffolds from these materials can be fabricated through various techniques and fine-tuning the molar ratios of these polymers can influence mechanical properties and degradation rates [74,75]. In one study, PCL scaffolds incorporating HA particles were fabricated by combined solvent casting and particulate leaching [76]. The presence of HA slightly increased the density of the scaffold but had no significant effect on the porosity values of the scaffolds. With increasing HA concentrations, there was a significant correlation with an increase in the compressive modulus. Viability assays showed that the number of primary human bone cells that had been cultured on the PCL–HA scaffolds was greater than that of cells that had been cultured on the neat PCL scaffolds at both 24 and 48 h after cell culturing. Expression levels of type I collagen and osteocalcin were evaluated by RT-PCR and were significantly greater in cells cultured on the PCL-HA scaffolds than those in cells cultured on the neat PCL scaffolds on day 10. The formation of mineralized nodules of cells cultured on the PCL-HA scaffolds was significantly greater than that of cells cultured on the neat PCL scaffolds. For in vivo experiments, a circular calvarial defect in mouse was used as a model. Six weeks after implantation, histomorphometric analysis indicated a statistically significant increase in the amount of new bone formation in the PCL–HA scaffolding implants compared with neat PCL counterparts.

## **Ceramic Scaffolds**

Bioactive ceramics have received great attention owing to their success in stimulating cell proliferation, differentiation, and bone tissue regeneration. They can react and form chemical bonds with cells and tissues in human body. These ceramics are recognized as bioceramics and are classified into two groups: bioinert or bioactive. Bioactive ceramics are categorized as resorbable or nonresorbable [77]. Ceramics are used because of their chemical properties and crystallinity, which is similar to bone mineral components. These materials exhibit excellent biocompatibility and bioactivity. The inorganic fraction of bone is composed of HA and CaPs, which allow the formation of bone tissue on its surface. This type of material is excellent as an implant, but it has particular problems with its mechanical properties in terms of fracture and fatigue. Common ceramic materials used for bone repair or regeneration are Bioglass, CaPs, and ceramic scaffold derived from corals. Here, we report some studies in which these materials were studied both in vitro and in vivo to assess their osteogenic potential.

Bioactive ceramics are known to enhance osteoblast differentiation as well as osteoblast growth. However, their clinical applications have been limited because of their brittleness, difficulty in shaping, and extremely slow degradation rate in the case of HAP. Also, they have poor fidelity and reliability, and new bone formed in a porous ceramic scaffold cannot sustain the mechanical loading needed for weight-bearing bone [78]. Wang and Shaw [79] reported that dense HAP ceramics with a fracture toughness of 0.61–1.06 MPa · m1/2 were fabricated via conventional sintering. Fielding et al. [80] fabricated TCP scaffolds with a compressive strength of 1.75–5.48 MPa using commercial 3D

#### 706

printing technology. However, the mechanical properties of fabricated scaffolds were far below those of weightbearing bone (fracture toughness =  $2-12 \text{ MPa} \cdot \text{m1/2}$ ; compressive strength = 130-180 MPa) in the human body [81]. Therefore, obtaining an effective method to overcome these limitations has become the focus of current and future research in bone tissue engineering.

#### **Calcium Phosphate**

Calcium phosphate ceramics (CPCs) are a class of fine-tunable bioactive materials that have been widely used for bone tissue repair and augmentation. They possess surface properties that support osteoblast adhesion and proliferation (i.e., osteoconduction) and stimulate new bone formation (i.e., osteoinduction) [82]. TCP was first used in 1920 by Albee [83]. The study reported cases of fracture with bone loss in which more rapid bone growth and union were observed when TCP was injected into the gap between the bone ends than did the controls without its use. Also, it was demonstrated that osteogenesis was stimulated by this material in conjunction with the fracture microenvironment. In 1951, Ray and Ward [84] reported the use of granular synthetic HA to repair defects in long bone and iliac wings of dogs and bur holes in the crania of cats; the study demonstrated that this material could be replaced by new bone, but it was not as effective as autologous bone grafts in repairing the defects. Calcium phosphate—based scaffolds exhibit osteoconductivity, bioactivity, and resorbability in vivo owing to their complex chemical composition (Ca/P ratio) and physical properties such as their crystallographic structure and porosity [85]. In studies combining CPC paste and hydrogel microbeads to encapsulate human umbilical cord MSCs (hUCMSCs) with CHI fibers [86], hUCMSC viability and differentiation capacity were observed.

Nanostructured CaP biomaterials and scaffolds mimic natural bone, and have high surface-to-volume ratios, improved wettability and mechanical properties, and increased protein adsorption and other desirable properties, compared to conventional counterparts. Nano-CaP biomaterials have emerged as a promising class of biomimetic and bioactive scaffolds capable of directing cell behavior and cell fate and enhancing tissue formation in vivo. In general, nano-CaP scaffolds can support stem cell attachment and proliferation and induce osteogenic differentiation, in some cases without osteogenic supplements. The influence of nano-CaP on cell alignment is less prominent than that of polymers and metals owing to the no-uniform distribution of the nano-CaP crystals. Nano-CaP biomaterials can achieve significantly better bone regeneration in vivo than conventional CaP biomaterials. The combination of various types of stem cells with nano-CaP scaffolds can further accelerate bone regeneration, the effect of which can be even further promoted by growth factor incorporation. Cell microencapsulation combined with nano-CaP scaffolds is a promising tool for bone tissue engineering applications to distribute cells throughout the interior of the scaffold [87]. More studies are needed to compare various types of stem cells in bone regeneration.

#### Bioglass

Since the discovery of 4555 bioactive glasses by Hench, they have been frequently considered scaffold materials for bone repair [88]. The need to find a material that forms a living bond with tissues led Hench to develop Bioglass repair tissues during the Vietnam War [89]. Bioglass offers advantages such as a controlled rate of degradation, excellent osteoconductivity, bioactivity, and the capacity to deliver cells, but they have limitations in certain mechanical properties such as low strength, toughness, and reliability [90]. Advantages of the glasses are ease in controlling the chemical composition and thus, the rate of degradation, which make them attractive as scaffold materials. The structure and chemistry of glasses can be tailored over a wide range by changing the composition or the thermal or environmental processing history. Therefore, it is possible to design glass scaffolds with variable degradation rates to match those of bone ingrowth and remodeling. A limiting factor in using bioactive glass scaffolds to repair defects in load-bearing bones has been their low strength [91]. Work has shown that by optimizing composition, processing, and sintering conditions, bioactive glass scaffolds can be created with predesigned pore architectures and with strength comparable to that of human trabecular and cortical bones [92]. Another limiting factor of bioactive glass scaffolds has been the brittleness. This limitation has received little interest in the scientific community, judging from the paucity of publications that report on properties such as fracture toughness, reliability (i.e., Weibull modulus), or work on the fracture of glass scaffolds.

Wu et al. [93] prepared 45S5 Bioglass by foaming with rice husks and sintering at a high temperature; they obtained favorable results in compressive testing and degradability in simulated body fluid. That study reported compressive strength values in the range of trabecular bone. Porous bioactive glass-ceramic (45S5) was tested with human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) and human osteoblast-like cells (HOBs). The results of the study demonstrated that the proliferation of HOB and HUVEC cocultures seeded on scaffolds was higher than that of commercial HA scaffolds. Wu et al. [93] studied HOB attachment, proliferation, and differentiation

on a bioactive diopside scaffold (CaMgSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>). Cell proliferation increased with incubation time. In addition, porous CaSiO<sub>3</sub> and kermanite (Ca<sub>2</sub>MgSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>) ceramic scaffolds were compared with  $\beta$ -TCP ceramic scaffolds, demonstrating in vivo bone formation and potential applications in bone tissue regeneration [94]. Other studies related to the formation of porous Bioglass were developed by Moawad and Jain [95]. They fabricated nanomacroporous soda lime phosphosilicate glass scaffolds using sucrose as a macropore former, and established process parameters such as the weight ratio of glass/sucrose, the particle size of glass/sucrose powders, and the time and temperature of sucrose dissolution.

### Coral

Coral exoskeleton (CaCO<sub>3</sub>), which has an interconnected pore structure that resembles that of natural human bone, has been used as a scaffold material to fill bone defects in both animal models and humans since the early 1970s. This natural material is biocompatible, osteoconductive, and biodegradable. Most important, the possibility of seeding coral scaffolds with stem cells or loading them with growth factors has provided a novel alternative for bone tissue engineering. Corals are attractive materials for scaffolds because they have microstructures with highly controlled pore sizes and an interconnected porous architecture similar to trabecular bone [96,97]. After 1991, Ripamonti reported the first study of the morphogenesis of bone in porous bioceramics (coral-derived HA) in the rectus abdomen in the muscle of adult nonhuman primates Papioursinus demonstrated the use of coral line replicas of HA with an average pore size of 600 µm as bone grafts for the controlled formation of bone in humans [98]. Coral scaffolds using adipose-derived MSCs (AMSCs) have been used to repair cranial bone defects in a canine model [99]. They showed adipogenic differentiation and good biocompatibility to support the proliferation of AMSCs in vitro. Subsequent implantation in vivo showed new bone formation. Certain types of proteins such as ALP, OPN, and OCN are employed to identify the activity of osteoblast-specific proteins. Suzina et al. [100] reported an increase in the expression of specific genetic markers from osteoblasts such as Runx-2, OPN, ALP, and OCN in the Porites Goniopora coral, which was implanted in orthotropic calvarial defects of the adult nonhuman primate *Papio ursinus*. In vivo results showed an increase in ALP activity from 2 to 12 months and induction of bone in the concavities; however, limited conversion of HA-calcium carbonate was observed.

A preliminary study in nude mice reported the vascularization of tubular coral scaffold with cell sheets [101]. The results showed that cells promoted new bone formation through an endocrine process. In addition, Zheng et al. [102] evaluated the feasibility of mandibular condyle constructs engineered from hBMSCs. In vitro studies reported that hBMSCs induced differentiation into osteoblasts and chondroblasts, and seeded scaffolds implanted into nude mice showed neovascularization in the temporomandibular joint detected by bFGF expression.

## Metallic Scaffolds

Several biocompatible metallic materials are frequently used as implanting materials in dental and orthopedic surgery to replace damaged bone or provide support for healing bones or bone defects. Standard surgical implant materials include stainless steel 316 L (ASTM F138), Co-based alloys (mainly ASTM F75, and ASTM F799), and titanium alloys; Ti-6Al-4V (ASTM F67 and F136) is the most commonly employed. However, the main disadvantage of metallic biomaterials is their lack of biological recognition on the material surface. To overcome this restraint, surface coating or surface modification offers a way to preserve the mechanical properties of established biocompatible metals improving the surface biocompatibility. In 1909, the first patent of a metallic framework for an artificial tooth root for fixation by bone in growth was accredited to Greenfield [103,104]. He recognized the limitations of natural tooth implantation and started experimenting with implanting artificial hollow cylinders made of iridoplatinum wire soldered with 24 kt gold. In 1971, Galante et al. [105] were pioneers in developing open-pore fiber metals for clinical use as porous coatings in hip and knee arthroplasty. Because metals are materials with high mechanical strength and fracture toughness, they are frequently used as metallic biomaterials in the dental and orthopedic fields to replace and offer support for damaged and healing bone [106,107]. The commonly metals used as standard surgical implants were stainless steel 316 L (ASTM F138), Co-based alloys (mainly ASTM F75, and ASTM F799), and titanium alloys. where Ti–6Al–4V (ASTM F67 and F136). However, these metallic biomaterials have disadvantages such as the possible release of toxic metallic ions and/or particles through corrosion or wear processes that cause inflammation and allergic reactions, which affect biocompatibility and tissue loss. Also, they produce poor stimulation of new bone growth owing to the elastic moduli, which does not correspond with natural bone tissue. Despite this, it has been reported that Ti-based metals can be used as bone substitute because of its elasticity, mechanical properties, shape memory effect, porous structure, and biocompatibility [108]. Also, 3D microporous NiTi and Ti scaffolds have been produced by powder metallurgy that obtains a hydrophilic surface to facilitate the deposition of HA and stimulate cell attachment and proliferation.

## Hybrid Materials

The material needs to be bone bioactive: that is, it should encourage bone ingrowth and degrade at a rate that allows the newly formed tissue to replace the scaffold gradually, both as a mechanical structure and in terms of the space occupied. Finally, and this is where most current materials fail, the material needs mechanical properties that allow the device to be implanted without failing. This last requirement allows a patient to use the implanted area without mechanical protection, such as a cast, but still enables sufficient loading of the newly formed tissue to stimulate the osteoblasts mechanically. As yet no one has reported a material that fulfils all of these requirements. One group of materials that attempts to fulfill many of these requirements is composites of degradable polymers reinforced with ceramics, glass-ceramics, or bioglasses. If the polymer is biodegradable and the ceramic, glass-ceramic, or bioglass phase is degradable or metabolized by the body, the degradation requirement is fulfilled. The use of ceramics or glass-ceramics can both stiffen and strengthen a low-modulus, low-strength polymer and increase the bioactivity of the composite [109]. Commonly, composite scaffolds are fabricated using a different type of matrix with a dispersed phase such as polymer–ceramics, ceramic, ceramic, and polymer–metals [110].

#### **Polymer–Polymer Blends**

A polymer–polymer blend defines a mixture of two different polymers addressing each other's drawbacks and giving synergetic advantage to the scaffold design. A miscible composite design with desired features can be fabricated by employing polymers with particular intermolecular or van der Waals interactions. One important example is PLGA and polyphosphazene bends [111]. PLGA is a well-known biomaterial in tissue engineering. Owing to PLGA acidic by-products upon degradation, it has been a critical issue for its further use, because its long-term tissue exposure to acidic products may lead to tissue necrosis and implant failure. On the other hand, polyphosphazene releases neutral or basic products upon degradation. Thus, PLGA has been blended with a wide arena of polyphosphazenes to achieve near-neutral degradation products as an efficient construct for tissue engineering [112–114].

#### **Polymer–Ceramics Blends**

Many researchers have studied polymer–ceramic-based scaffolds. Combinations of CaP–polyesters for scaffold production were investigated by Kaplan and coworkers [115], who developed a scaffold from SF–poly aspartic acid coated with CaP. In vitro studies showed cell viability, proliferation, and osteogenic differentiation; however, nonuniform distribution of cells resulting from mineral deposition was observed. Li et al. [115] used two biocompatible and biodegradable polymers, PLGA and PCL, with a layer of CaP and a gelatin coating. MC3T3 cells adhered to regions with higher CaP content along the scaffold, which indicated that the mineralization gradient affects the adhesion and proliferation of cells and the physical properties of the scaffold. Relative to the mechanical properties, the local strain varied along the long axis of the scaffold and the Young's modulus increased with increasing levels of CaP.

TCP has been used to generate biocompatible and biomechanical scaffolds [116]. In vivo studies using this type of scaffold reported significant biocompatibility, sufficient mechanical strength, osteogenic differentiation, and bone growth. It was also demonstrated that the incorporation of collagen into this type of system improves hydrophobicity and differentiation [117]. Wang et al. [118] reported a novel scaffold composed of the PLGA $-\beta$ -TCP skeleton wrapped with type I collagen. The aim of that study was to analyze the physical properties and biocompatibility of the core–sheath structure composite scaffold in vitro compared with the PLGA $-\beta$ -TCP skeleton. No differences were observed in the porosity ratio, compressive strength, or Young's modulus of the scaffolds. MTT assay indicated that BMSCs showed better adhesion and proliferation activity on the surface of the core-sheath structure composite scaffold than on the PLGA $-\beta$ -TCP skeleton. In a previous study [119], this scaffold was fabricated via low-temperature deposition manufacturing but its hydrophobicity did not promote adequate cell adhesion, proliferation, or osteoblastic differentiation. Thein-Han and Xu [120] were the first to develop a novel scaffold from collagen-CPC using hUCMSCs for in vitro analysis. Good mechanical properties, hUCMSC attachment, viability, and osteogenic differentiation were observed. Previously, studies were conducted using collagen-CaP scaffolds, but they were not moldable or injectable [121]. HA was also employed to fabricate ceramic-polymer scaffolds [122–124]. Kim et al. [125] developed this type of scaffold and demonstrated that the combination of PGA–PLGA– HA improves their osteogenic capacity. Hollinger et al. [125] used a combination of poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone fumarate) -PVA-HA with rhBMP-2 and the preosteoblast cell line MC3T3-E1 obtained good cell viability and proliferation, bioactivity, and bone regeneration and an increase in compressive modulus with an increase in HA; however,  $\mu$ CT showed a nonuniform distribution of the porogen indicating that the degradation process, porosity, and pore interconnectivity needed to be improved. Geng et al. [126] fabricated a scaffold from a magnesium phosphate (MP)–poly(ɛ-caprolactone) composite in which the mechanical analysis showed low values of the compressive modulus compared with trabecular bone; thus, this scaffold was found not to be appropriate for high–load bearing applications. It was also reported that the degradation rate of the composite scaffolds could be modulated by varying the amount of MP particles introduced into the polymer matrix.

#### Metal–Polymer Blends

The development of successful scaffolds for bone tissue engineering requires a concurrent engineering approach that combines different research fields. Researchers have tailored metallic scaffolds that are useful for a wide variety of medical and dental applications. Surface modification of already proved biocompatible metals is an essential requisite for their use in tissue engineering because the metal surface must be controlled to induce the adhesion and proliferation of cells and the adsorption of essential biomolecules. Chemical and physical properties have a crucial role in the osteointegration of implant surface; they allow protein adsorption between implanted biomaterials and the biological environment. Thus, numerous strategies have been developed to create a bond between the implant and the living host tissue. The use of metallic implants with a polymer coating has been reported by many for these purposes. Ti, TiO<sub>2</sub>, and Ti-alloy combined with polyester coatings have been intensively studied to fabricate scaffolds. Lagoa et al. [127] developed a partially biodegradable implant from titanium, polylactide, HA, and calcium carbonate. The implant had mechanical stability, biocompatibility, and partial biodegradability. Helary and coworkers used poly(sodium styrene sulfonate) (polyNaSS) on oxidized or grafted Ti samples [128] and polyNaSS–(methylacrylic acid) MA grafted onto  $Ti_6Al_4V$  alloy surfaces [129] They reported that cell adhesion and differentiation on Ti (grafted) were higher than on oxidized titanium and titanium because of the presence of active sites that interact with extracellular proteins. In addition, polyNaSS-MA grafted onto Ti6Al4V alloy in femoral rabbit model showed lamellar trabecular bone with wide haversian canals lined by osteoblasts; however, the high levels of Na, P, Ca, Zn, etc., indicated that the piranha treatment used to oxidize the alloy surface was intense. Oughlis et al. [130] developed a scaffold from polyNaSS polymer and titanium. The results showed cell viability, proliferation, and osteoblastic differentiation of hMSCs on this scaffold.

#### Metal-Ceramic Blends

Many researchers have reported the development of metal–ceramic scaffolds that have been shown to possess favorable characteristics regarding their mechanical properties and bioactivity (cell attachment, proliferation, and differentiation). Yang et al. [131] developed a biodegradable and bioactive scaffold composed of magnesium with a coating of  $\beta$ -TCP. The in vitro results showed good cell adhesion and bioactivity. In similar studies, when tantalum and titanium were used as metals, osteoconductivity and osteoinductivity were improved in vivo. Wu et al. [132,133] reported the fabrication of a hypoxia-mimicking mesoporous bioactive glass (MBG) scaffold by incorporating Co<sup>2+</sup> ions into the MBG scaffold. Results showed that MBG scaffolds had no significant cytotoxicity and that the incorporation of ionic Co<sup>2+</sup> ions enhanced VEGF secretion, HIF-1a, expression, and bone-related gene expression in BMSCs. Also, the CoMBG scaffolds supported BMSC attachment and proliferation. It was reported that ZrO<sub>2</sub> itself does not have good cellular and tissue affinity [134] although in vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated that ZrO<sub>2</sub> is not toxic [135]. Lee et al. [136] fabricated a scaffold composed of (biphasic CaP) ZrO<sub>2</sub> and PCL layers. The scaffold had a compressive strength of 12.7 MPa and a porosity of 78 vol% and showed excellent MG63 cell attachment, and OCN and collagen expression. It was also shown that PCL incorporated into biphasic CaP gave scaffolds high biodegradability, cell attachment, and proliferation.

Li et al. [137] reported a novel ion doping method applied in calcium polyphosphate (CPP)-based bioceramic scaffolds to be substituted by potassium and strontium ions (K/Sr). The K/Sr CPP scaffolds had a higher compressive strength, cell biocompatibility, biodegradability, osteoinductivity, and osteoconductivity and better degradation properties than the pure CPP scaffolds; however, the mechanical strength of K/Sr-CPP was not good after degradation. Studies suggested that directly mixing  $Cu^{2+}$  ions with bioactive materials improves angiogenesis [138]. Xiao et al. (2013) prepared copper (Cu)-containing mesoporous bioactive glass (Cu-MBG) scaffolds with interconnected large pores. Attachment, proliferation, and ALP activity of hBMSCs on Cu–MBG scaffolds were observed, and ionic products of Cu–MBG extracts enhanced the osteogenic differentiation of hBMSCs. Studies using porous ceramic– coated TiO<sub>2</sub> as scaffolds were reported by Dimitrievska et al. [139]. They evaluated the cell adhesion, growth, and osteoblastic differentiation of hMSCs in the TiO<sub>2</sub>–HA nanocomposite; however, applications in bone implants were limited by their bioinertness. Also, Haugen et al. [140] reported in vitro results that showed the cell viability of the mouse osteoblastic cell line MC3T3-E1. No cytotoxic effects from the TiO<sub>2</sub>–HA scaffolds were found. It was also reported that healing occurred when this scaffold was implanted into rabbit defects.

## CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

We have summarized the current state of the art of materials technology and the development requisites for successful bone graft substitute. Clearly, the smart selection of materials is the key to successful tissue engineering. Nevertheless, various other factors also influence the overall outcome. Scaffold composed of natural or synthetic biomaterials or their combination should closely mimic the ECM in native tissues, provide the required support, promote neovascularization, and allow access to nutrients to support the entire process of tissue regeneration. All of these areas of advanced, fast-growing interest and expanding research demonstrate the multidisciplinary nature of tissue engineering and the field of regeneration medicine. There are vast challenges as well as wide opportunities to improve human health immensely in a variety of areas. However, much study is needed to explore various novel materials and the dynamics of the bone tissue microenvironment for proper simulation.

## Acknowledgments

This research was supported by Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Science, ICT & Future Planning (NRF-2017R1A2B3010270) and the Korea Health Technology R&D Project through the Korea Health Industry Development Institute (KHIDI), funded by the Ministry of Health &Welfare, Republic of Korea (grant number : HI15C2996).

## References

- [1] Langer R, Tirrell DA. Designing materials for biology and medicine. Nature 2004;428:487-92.
- [2] Karp JM, Langer R. Development and therapeutic applications of advanced biomaterials. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2007;18:454-9.
- [3] Martin I, Wendt D, Heberer M. The role of bioreactors in tissue engineering. Trends Biotechnol 2004;22:80-6.
- [4] O'Brien FJ. Biomaterials & scaffolds for tissue engineering. Mater Today 2011;14:88-95.
- [5] O'Brien FJ, Harley BA, Yannas IV, Gibson LJ. The effect of pore size on cell adhesion in collagen-GAG scaffolds. Biomaterials 2005;26: 433–41.
- [6] Murphy CM, Haugh MG, O'Brien FJ. The effect of mean pore size on cell attachment, proliferation and migration in collagenglycosaminoglycan scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010;31:461–6.
- [7] Ko HC, Milthorpe BK, McFarland CD. Engineering thick tissues-the vascularization problem. Eur Cell Mater 2007;14:1-18.
- [8] Phelps EA, Garcia AJ. Update on therapeutic vascularization strategies. Regen Med 2009;4:65-80.
- [9] Berger J, Reist M, Mayer JM, Felt O, Peppas NA, Gurny R. Structure and interactions in covalently and ionically crosslinked chitosan hydrogels for biomedical applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2004;57:19–34.
- [10] Chan BP, Leong KW. Scaffolding in tissue engineering: general approaches and tissue-specific considerations. Eur Spine J 2008;17:467-79.
- [11] Blokhuis TJ, Arts JJ. Bioactive and osteoinductive bone graft substitutes: definitions, facts and myths. Injury 2011;42:26–9.
- [12] Habibovic P, de Groot K. Osteoinductive biomaterials-properties and relevance in bone repair. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2007;1:25–32.
- [13] Barradas AM, Yuan H, van Blitterswijk CA, Habibo-vic P. Osteoinductive biomaterials: current knowledge of properties, experimental models and biological mechanisms. Eur Cell Mater 2011;21:407–29.
- [14] Yuan H, de Bruijn JD, Zhang X, van Blitterswijk CA, de Groot K. Bone induction by porous glass ceramic made from Bioglass (45S5). J Biomed Mater Res 2001;58:270–6.
- [15] Gosain AK, Song L, Riordan P, Amarante MT, Nagy PG, Wilson CR, et al. A 1-year study of osteoinduction in hydroxyapatite-derived biomaterials in an adult sheep model: part I. Plast Reconstr Surg 2002;109:619–30.
- [16] Habibovic P, Gbureck U, Doillon CJ, Bassett DC, van Blitterswijk CA, Barralet JE. Osteoconduction and osteoinduction of low-temperature 3D printed bioceramic implants. Biomaterials 2008;29:944–53.
- [17] Barrère F, van der Valk CM, Dalmeijer RA, Meijer G, van Blitterswijk CA, de Groot K, et al. Osteo-genecity of octacalcium phosphate coatings applied on porous metal implants. J Biomed Mater Res 2003;A 66:779–88.
- [18] Barrère F, van der Valk CM, Meijer G, Dalmeijer RA, de Groot K, Layrolle P. Osteointegration of biomimetic apatite coating applied onto dense and porous metal implants in femurs of goats. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2003;15:655–65.
- [19] Habibovic P, van der Valk CM, van Blitterswijk CA, De Groot K, Meijer G. Influence of octacalcium phosphate coating on osteoinductive properties of biomaterials. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2004;15:373–80.
- [20] Ripamonti U, Crooks J, Khoali L, Roden L. The induction of bone formation by coral-derived calcium carbonate/hydroxyapatite constructs. Biomaterials 2009;30:1428–39.
- [21] Ripamonti U, Klar RM, Renton LF, Ferretti C. Synergistic induction of bone formation by hOP-1, hTGF-beta3 and inhibition by zoledronate in macro-porous coral-derived hydroxyapatites. Biomaterials 2010;31:6400–10.
- [22] Barbieri D, Renard AJ, de Bruijn JD, Yuan H. Heterotopic bone formation by nano-apatite containing poly(D,L-lactide) composites. Eur Cell Mater 2010;19:252–61.
- [23] Hasegawa S, Neo M, Tamura J, Fujibayashi S, Take-moto M, Shikinami Y, et al. In vivo evaluation of a porous hydroxyapatite/poly-DLlactide composite for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2007;81:930–8.
- [24] Smith MJ, Smith DC, Bowlin GL, White KL. Modulation of murine innate and acquired immune responses following in vitro exposure to electrospun blends of collagen and polydioxanone. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010;93:793–806.
- [25] Amini AR, Wallace JS, Nukavarapu SP. Short-term and long-term effects of orthopedicbiodegradable implants. J Long Term Eff Med Implants 2011;21:93–122.

#### REFERENCES

- [26] Hedberg EL, Kroese-Deutman HC, Shih CK, Crowther RS, Carney DH, Mikos AG, et al. Effect of varied release kinetics of the osteogenic thrombin peptide TP508 from biodegradable, polymeric scaffolds on bone formation in vivo. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;A 72:343–53.
- [27] Sheller MR, Crowther RS, Kinney JH, Yang J, Di Jorio S, Breunig T, et al. Repair of rabbit segmental defects with the thrombin peptide, TP508. J Orthop Res 2004;22:1094–9.
- [28] Adewumi O, Aflatoonian B, Ahrlund-Richter L, Amit M, Andrews PW, Beighton G, et al. Characterization of human embryonic stem cell lines by the International Stem Cell Initiative. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25:803–16.
- [29] Semino CE. Self-assembling peptides: from bio-inspired materials to bone regeneration. J Dent Res 2008;87:606-16.
- [30] Bokhari MA, Akay G, Zhang S, Birch MA. The enhancement of osteoblast growth and differentiation in vitro on a peptide hydrogelpolyHIPE polymer hybrid material. Biomaterials 2005;26:5198–208.
- [31] Kirkham J, Firth A, Vernals D, Boden N, Robinson C, Shore RC, et al. Self-assembling peptide scaffolds promote enamel remineralization. J Dent Res 2007;86:426–30.
- [32] Kyle S, Aggeli A, Ingham E, McPherson MJ. Recombinant self-assembling peptides as biomaterials for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010; 31:9395–405.
- [33] Vagaská B, Bacáková L, Filová E, Balík K. Osteogenic cells on bio-inspired materials for bone tissue engineering. Physiol Res 2010;59:309-22.
- [34] Melke J, Midha S, Ghosh S, Ito K, Hofmann S. Silk fibroin as biomaterial for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2016:1–16.
- [35] Sutherland TD, Young JH, Weisman S, Hayashi CY, Merritt DJ. Insect silk: one name, many materials. Annu Rev Entomol 2010;55:171–88.
- [36] Zhang Y, Fan W, Ma Z, Wu C, Fang W, Liu G, Xiao Y. The effects of pore architecture in silk fibroin scaffolds on the growth and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells expressing BMP7. Acta Biomater 2010;6:3021–8.
- [37] Zhang Y, Wu C, Friis T, Xiao Y. The osteogenic properties of CaP/silk composite scaffolds. Biomaterials 2010;31:2848-56.
- [38] Park SH, Gil ES, Kim HJ, Lee K, Kaplan DL. Relationships between degradability of silk scaffolds and osteogenesis. Biomaterials 2010;31: 6162–72.
- [39] Riccio M, Maraldi T, Pisciotta A, La Sala GB, Ferrari A, Bruzzesi G, et al. Fibroin scaffold repairs critical-size bone defects in vivo supported by human amniotic fluid and dental pulp stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2012;18:1006–13.
- [40] Aszódi A, Legate KR, Nakchbandi I, Fässler R. What mouse mutants teach us about extracellular matrix function. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2006;22:591–621.
- [41] Aravamudhan A, Ramos DM, Nip J, Harmon MD, James R, Deng M, et al. Cellulose and collagen derived micro-nano structured scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2013;9:719–31.
- [42] Yu HS, Won JE, Jin GZ, Kim HW. Construction of mesenchymal stem cell-containing collagen gel with a macrochanneled polycaprolactone scaffold and the flow perfusion culturing for bone tissue engineering. Biores Open Access 2012;1:124–36.
- [43] Bruder SP, Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE. Growth kinetics, self-renewal and the osteogenic potential of purified human mesenchymal stem cells during extensive subcultivation and following cryopreservation. J Cell Biochem 1997;64:278–94.
- [44] Ennis J, Sarugaser R, Gomez A, Baksh D, Davies JE. Isolation. characterization. and differentiation of human umbilical cord perivascular cells (HUCPVCs). Methods Cell Biol 2008;86:121–36.
- [45] Serpooshan V, Julien M, Nguyen O, Wang H, Li A, Muja N, et al. Reduced hydraulic permeability of three-dimensional collagen scaffolds attenuates gel contraction and promotes the growth and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Biomater 2010;6:3978–87.
- [46] O'Brien FJ, Harley BA, Waller MA, Yannas IV, Gibson LJ, Prendergast PJ. The effect of pore size on permeability and cell attachment in collagen scaffolds for tissue engineering. Technol Health Care 2007;15:3–17.
- [47] Niu LN, Jiao K, Qi YP, Nikonov S, Yiu CK, Arola DD, et al. Intrafibrillar silicification of collagen scaffolds for sustained release of stem cell homing chemokine in hard tissue regeneration. FASEB J 2012;26:4517–29.
- [48] Pavasant P, Shizari TM, Underhill CB. Distribution of hyaluronan in the epiphysial growth plate: turnover by CD44-expressing osteoprogenitor cells. J Cell Sci 1994;107:2669–77.
- [49] Prestwich GD, Kuo JW. Chemically-modified HA for therapy and regenerative medicine. Curr Pharmaceut Biotechnol 2008;4:242-5.
- [50] Schmidt JJ, Rowley J, Kong HJ. Hydrogels used for cell-based drug delivery. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;87:1113-22.
- [51] vanBeek M, Weeks A, Jones L, Sheardown H. Immobilized hyaluronic acid containing model silicone hydrogels reduce protein adsorption. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2008;19:1425–36.
- [52] Bae MS, Yang DH, Lee JB, Heo DN, Kwon YD, Youn IC, et al. Photo-cured hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels containing simvastatin as a bone tissue regeneration scaffold. Biomaterials 2011;32:8161–71.
- [53] Marsich E, Bellomo F, Turco G, Travan A, Donati I, Paoletti S. Nano-composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering containing silver nanoparticles: preparation, characterization and biological properties. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2013;24:1799–807.
- [54] Sajesh KM, Jayakumar R, Nair SV, Chennazhi KP. Biocompatible conducting chitosan/polypyrrole-alginate composite scaffold for bone tissue engineeringInternational. J Biol Macromol 2013;62:465–71.
- [55] Li Z, Ramay HR, Hauch KD, Xiao D, Zhang M. Chitosan-alginate hybrid scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2005;26: 3919–28.
- [56] Park DJ, Choi BH, Zhu SJ, Huh JY, Kim BY, Lee SH. Injectable bone using chitosan-alginate gel/mesenchymal stem cells/BMP-2 composites. J Cranio Maxillo Fac Surg 2005;33:50–4.
- [57] Jin HH, Kim DH, Kim TW, Shin KK, Jung JS, Park H-C, et al. In vivo evaluation of porous hydroxyapatite/chitosan-alginate composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biological Macromol 2012;51:1079–85.
- [58] Venkatesan J, Bhatnagar I, Kim SK. Chitosan-alginate biocomposite containing fucoidan for bone tissue engineering. Mar Drugs 2014;16: 300–16.
- [59] Valente JFA, Valente TAM, Alves P, Ferreira P, Silva A, Correia IJ. Alginate based scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C 2012; 32:2596–603.
- [60] Suárez-González D, Barnhart K, Saito E, Vanderby RJr, Hollister SJ, Murphy WL. Controlled nucleation of hydroxyapatite on alginate scaffolds for stem cell-based bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010;95:222–34.
- [61] Abbah SA, Liu J, Lam RWM, Goh JCH, Wong HK. In vivo bioactivity of rhBMP-2 delivered with novel polyelectrolyte complexation shells assembled on an alginate microbead core template. J Controlled Release 2012;162:364–72.
- [62] Pillai CKS, Paul W, Sharma CP. Chitin and chitosan polymers: chemistry, solubility and fiber formation. Prog Polym Sci 2009;34:641-78.

#### 40. HYBRID COMPOSITE BIOMATERIALS

- [63] Costa-Pinto AR, Correlo VM, Sol PC, Bhattacharya M, Srouji S, Livne E, Reis RL, Neves NM. Chitosan-poly(butylene succinate) scaffolds and human bone marrow stromal cells induce bone repair in a mouse calvaria model. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2012;6:21–8.
- [64] Wang L, Li C. Preparation and physicochemical properties of a novel hydroxyapatite/chitosan-silk fibroin composite. Carbohydr Polym 2007;68:740-5.
- [65] Bi L, Cheng W, Fan H, Pei G. Reconstruction of goat tibial defects using an injectable tricalcium phosphate/chitosan in combination with autologous platelet-rich plasma. Biomaterials 2010;31:201–11.
- [66] Kyung JH, Yeon KS, Jeong KS, Moo LY. pH/temperature-responsive semi-IPN hydrogels composed of alginate and poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) J. Appl Polym Sci 2002;83:128–36.
- [67] Mata A, Geng Y, Henrikson KJ, Aparicio C, Stock SR, Satcher RL, et al. Bone regeneration mediated by biomimetic mineralization of a nanofiber matrix. Biomaterials 2010;31:6004–12.
- [68] Kishimoto N, Momota Y, Hashimoto Y, Tatsumi S, Ando K, Omasa T, et al. The osteoblastic differentiation ability of human dedifferentiated fat cells is higher than that of adipose stem cells from the buccal fat pad. Clin Oral Investig 2014;18:1893–901.
- [69] Drury JL, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. Biomaterials 2003;24:4337-51.
- [70] Lastra ML, Molinuevo MS, Giussi JM, Allegretti PE, Blaszczyk-Lezak I, Mijangos C, et al. Tautomerizable β-ketonitrile copolymers for bone tissue engineering: studies of biocompatibility and cytotoxicity. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2015;51:256–62.
- [71] Lin ZY, Duan ZX, Guo XD, Li JF, Lu HW, Zheng QX, et al. Bone induction by biomimetic PLGA-(PEG-ASP)n copolymer loaded with a novel synthetic BMP-2-related peptide in vitro and in vivo. J Control Release 2010;144:190–5.
- [72] Fu S, Ni P, Wang B, Chu B, Zheng L, Luo F, et al. Injectable and thermo-sensitive PEG-PCL-PEG copolymer/collagen/n-HA hydrogel composite for guided bone regeneration. Biomaterials 2012;33:4801–9.
- [73] Cui H, Liu Y, Deng M, Pang X, Zhang P, Wang X, Chen X, Wei Y. Synthesis of Biodegradable and Electroactive Tetraaniline Grafted Poly(ester amide) Copolymers for Bone Tissue Engineering. Biomacromolecules 2012;13:2881–9.
- [74] Sachlos E, Czernuszka JT. Making tissue engineering scaffolds work. Review: the application of solid freeform fabrication technology to the production of tissue engineering scaffolds. Eur Cell Mater 2003;30:29–39.
- [75] Wang DX, He Y, Bi L, Qu ZH, Zou JW, Pan Z, et al. Enhancing the bioactivity of Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) scaffold with a nanohydroxyapatite coating for the treatment of segmental bone defect in a rabbit model. Int J Nanomed 2013;8:1855–65.
- [76] Chuenjitkuntaworn B, Inrung W, Damrongsri D, Mekaapiruk K, Supaphol P, Pavasant P, et al. Polycaprolactone/hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds: preparation, characterization, and in vitro and in vivo biological responses of human primary bone cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010;94:241–51.
- [77] Best SM, Porter AE, Thian ES, Huang J. Bioceramics: past, present and for the future. J Europ Ceram Soc 2008;28:1319–27.
- [78] Kim SS, Park MS, Jeon O, Choi CY, Kim BS. Poly(lactide-co-glycolide)/hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2006;27:1399–409.
- [79] Wang J, Shaw LL. Nanocrystalline hydroxyapatite with simultaneous enhancements in hardness and toughness. Biomaterials 2009;30: 6565–72.
- [80] Fielding GA, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S. Effects of silica and zinc oxide doping on mechanical and biological properties of 3D printed tricalcium phosphate tissue engineering scaffolds. Dent Mater 2012;28:113–22.
- [81] Gerhardt LC, Boccaccini AR. Bioactive glass and glass-ceramic scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Materials 2010;3:3867-910.
- [82] Dorozhkin SV, Epple M. Biological and medical significance of calcium phosphates. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 2002;41:3130-46.
- [83] Albee FH. Studies in bone growth: triple calcium phosphate as a stimulus to osteogenesis. Ann Surg 1920;71:32-9.
- [84] Ray R, Ward Jr A. Surgical forum, vol. 429. Philadelphia: American College of Surgeons WB Saunders Co; 1951.
- [85] Shepherd JH, Best SM. Calcium phosphate scaffolds for bone repair. JOM 2011;63:3–92.
- [86] Zhao L, Weir MD, Xu HH. An injectable calcium phosphate-alginate hydrogel-umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell paste for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010;31:6502–10.
- [87] Wang P, Zhao L, Liu J, Weir MD, Zhou X, Xu HH. Bone tissue engineering via nanostructured calcium phosphate biomaterials and stem cells. Bone Res 2014;30:140–7.
- [88] Hench LL, Splinter WC, Allen WC, Greenlee TK. Bonding mechanisms at the interface of ceramic prosthetic materials. Mater Res Symp 1971; 2:117–41.
- [89] Hench LL. The story of Bioglass. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2006;17:967-78.
- [90] Rezwan K, Chen QZ, Blaker JJ, Boccaccini AR. Biodegradable and bioactive porous polymer/inorganic composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2006;27:3413–31.
- [91] Yunos DM, Bretcanu O, Boccaccini AR. Polymer-bioceramic composites for tissue engineering scaffolds. J Mater Sci 2008;43:4433-42.
- [92] Liu X, Rahaman MN, Fu QA. Bioactive glass scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: state of the art and future perspectives. Acta Biomater 2011;7:406–16.
- [93] Wu C, Ramaswamy Y, Zreiqat H. Porous diopside (CaMgSi(2)O(6)) scaffold: a promising bioactive material for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2010;6:2237–45.
- [94] Huang Y, Jin X, Zhang X, Sun H, Tu J, Tang T, Chang J, Dai K. In vitro and in vivo evaluation of akermanite bioceramics for bone regeneration. Biomaterials 2009;30:5041–8.
- [95] Moawad HM, Jain H. Fabrication of nano-macroporous glass-ceramic bioscaffold with a water soluble pore former. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2012;23:307–14.
- [96] Guillemin G, Meunier A, Dallant P, Christel P, Pouliquen JC, Sedel L. Comparison of coral resorption and bone apposition with two natural corals of different porosities. J Biomed Mater Res 1989;23:765–79.
- [97] Hannouche D, Petite H, Sedel L. Current trends in the enhancement of fracture healing. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2001;83:157-64.
- [98] Ripamonti U. The morphogenesis of bone in replicas of porous hydroxyapatite obtained from conversion of calcium carbonate exoskeletons of coral. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1991;73:692-703.
- [99] Cui L, Liu B, Liu G, Zhang W, Cen L, Sun J, Yin S, Liu W, Cao Y. Repair of cranial bone defects with adipose derived stem cells and coral scaffold in a canine model. Biomaterials 2007;28:5477–86.

## 712

- [100] Foo LH, Suzina AH, Azlina A, Kannan TP. Gene expression analysis of osteoblasts seeded in coral scaffold. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2008;87: 215–21.
- [101] Gao Z, Chen F, Zhang J, He L, Cheng X, Ma Q, et al. Vitalisation of tubular coral scaffolds with cell sheets for regeneration of long bones: a preliminary study in nude mice. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;47:116–22.
- [102] Zheng YH, Su K, Jian YT, Kuang SJ, Zhang ZG. Basic fibroblast growth factor enhances osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in coral scaffold constructs. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2011;5:540–50.
- [103] Greenfield EJ. Inventor, Mounting of artificial teeth. 1909. U S Patent Office. (478360).
- [104] Rudy RJ, Levi PA, Bonacci FJ, Weisgold AS, Engler-Hamm D. Compendium 2008;29:2.
- [105] Galante J, Rostoker W, Lueck R, Ray RD. Sintered fiber metal composites as a basis for attachment of implants to bone. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1971;53:101–14.
- [106] Alvarez K, Nakajima I. Metallic scaffolds for bone regeneration. Materials 2009;2:790-832.
- [107] Staiger MP, Pietak AM, Huadmai J, Dias G. Magnesium and its alloys as orthopedic biomaterials: a review. Biomaterials 2006;27:1728–34.
- [108] Bansiddhi A, Sargeant TD, Stupp SI, Dunand DC. Porous NiTi for bone implants: a review. Acta Biomater 2008;4:773-82.
- [109] Bonfield W, Grynpas MD, Tully AE, Bowman J, Abram J. Hydroxyapatite reinforced poly-ethylene a mechanically compatible implant material for bone replacement. Biomaterials 1981;2:185–6.
- [110] Liu G, Zhang Y, Liu B, Sun J, Li W, Cui L. Bone regeneration in a canine cranial model using allogeneic adipose derived stem cells and coral scaffold. Biomaterials 2013;34:2655–64.
- [111] Nukavarapu SP, Kumbar S, Laurencin C. Biodegradable polyphosphazene scaffolds for tissue engineering. Polyphosphazenes for Biomedical Applications Taylor & Francis group; 2009. p. 117–38.
- [112] Deng M, Nair LS, Nukavarapu SP, Kumbar SG, Jiang T, Krogman NR, et al. Miscibility and in vitro osteo-compatibility of biodegradable blends of poly[(ethyl alanato) (p-phenyl phenoxy)phospha-zene] and poly(lactic acid-glycolic acid). Biomaterials 2008;29:337–49.
- [113] Krogman NR, Singh A, Nair LS, Laurencin CT, All-cock HR. Miscibility of bioerodible polyphospha-zene/poly(lactide-co-glycolide) blends. Biomacromolecules 2007;8:1306–12.
- [114] Krogman NR, Weikel AL, Kristhart KA, Nukavarapu SP, Deng M, Nair LS, et al. The influence of side group modification in polyphosphazenes on hydrolysis and cell adhesion of blends with PLGA. Biomaterials 2009;30:3035–41.
- [115] Li X, Xie J, Lipner J, Yuan X, Thomopoulos S, Xia Y. Nanofiber scaffolds with gradations in mineral content for mimicking the tendon-to-bone insertion site. Nano Lett 2009;9:2763–8.
- [116] Reichert JC, Wullschleger ME, Cipitria A, Lienau J, Cheng TK, Schütz MA, et al. Custom-made composite scaffolds for segmental defect repair in long bones. Int Orthop 2011;35:1229–36.
- [117] Schofer MD, Veltum A, Theisen C, Chen F, Agarwal S, Fuchs-Winkelmann S, et al. Functionalisation of PLLA nanofiber scaffolds using a possible cooperative effect between collagen type I and BMP-2: impact on growth and osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2011;22:1753–62.
- [118] Wang C, Meng G, Zhang L, Xiong Z, Liu J. Comparison of next-generation sequencing systems. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012;2012:1–11.
- [119] Gao C, Hu X, Hong Y, Guan J, Shen J. Photografting of poly(hydroxylethyl acrylate) onto porous polyurethane scaffolds to improve their endothelial cell compatibility. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2003;14:937–50.
- [120] Thein-Han W, Xu HH. Collagen-calcium phosphate cement scaffolds seeded with umbilical cord stem cells for bone tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17:2943–54.
- [121] Parenteau-Bareil R, Gauvin R, Berthod F. Collagen-based biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. Materials 2010;3:1863-87.
- [122] Lee JB, Park HN, Ko WK, Bae MS, Heo DN, Yang DH, et al. Poly(L-lactic acid)/hydroxyapatite nanocylinders as nanofibrous structure for bone tissue engineering scaffolds. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2013;9:424–9.
- [123] Shalumon KT, Sowmya S, Sathish D, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, Jayakumar R. Effect of incorporation of nanoscale bioactive glass and hydroxyapatite in PCL/chitosan nanofibers for bone and periodontal tissue engineering. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2013;9:430–40.
- [124] Sun F, Kang HG, Ryu SC, Kim JE, Park EY, Hwang DY, et al. Guided bone regeneration using a flexible hydroxyapatite patch. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2013;9:1914–20.
- [125] Kim J, Sharma A, Runge B, Waters H, Doll B, McBride S, et al. Osteoblast growth and bone-healing response to three-dimensional poly(ε-caprolactone fumarate) scaffolds. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2012;6:404–13.
- [126] Geng F, Tan L, Zhang B, Wu C, He Y, Yang J, et al. Mg-based porous metals as cancellous bone analogous material: a review. J Mater Sci Technol 2009;25:123.
- [127] Lagoa AL, Wedemeyer C, von Knoch M, Löer F, Epple M. A strut graft substitute consisting of a metal core and a polymer surface. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2008;19:417–24.
- [128] Hélary G, Noirclère F, Mayingi J, Migonney V. A new approach to graft bioactive polymer on titanium implants: improvement of MG 63 cell differentiation onto this coating. Acta Biomater 2009;5:24–33.
- [129] Michiardi A, Hélary G, Nguyen PC, Gamble LJ, Anagnostou F, Castner DG, et al. Bioactive polymer grafting onto titanium alloy surfaces. Acta Biomater 2010;6:667–75.
- [130] Oughlis S, Lessim S, Changotade S, Bollotte F, Poirier F, Helary G, et al. Development of proteomic tools to study protein adsorption on a biomaterial. titanium grafted with poly(sodium styrene sulfonate). J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2011;1:3681–7.
- [131] Yang F, Both SK, Yang X, Walboomers XF, Jansen JA. Development of an electrospun nano-apatite/PCL composite membrane for GTR/GBR application. Acta Biomater 2009:3295–304.
- [132] Wu C, Zhou Y, Fan W, Han P, Chang J, Yuen J, et al. Hypoxia-mimicking mesoporous bioactive glass scaffolds with controllable cobalt ion release for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2012;33:2076–85.
- [133] Wu F, Liu C, O'Neill B, Weib J, Ngothai Y. Fabrication and properties of porous scaffold of magnesium phosphate/polycaprolactone biocomposite for bone tissue engineering. Appl Surf Sci 2012;258:7589–95.
- [134] Masonis JL, Bourne RB, Ries MD, McCalden RW, Salehi A, Kelman DC. Zirconia femoral head fractures: a clinical and retrieval analysis. J Arthroplasty 2004;19:898–905.
- [135] Manicone PF, Rossi I, Ommetti P, Raffaelli L. An overview of zirconia ceramics: basic properties and clinical applications. J Dent 2007;35: 819–26.

## 714

#### 40. HYBRID COMPOSITE BIOMATERIALS

- [136] Mondal D, So-Ra S, Sarkar SK, Min YK, Yang HM, Lee BT. Fabrication of multilayer ZrO<sub>2</sub>-biphasic calcium phosphate-poly-caprolactone unidirectional channeled scaffold for bone tissue formation. J Biomater Appl 2013;28:462–72.
- [137] Xie H, Wang Q, Ye Q, Wan C, Li L. Application of K/Sr co-doped calcium polyphosphate bioceramic as scaffolds for bone substitutes. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2012;23:1033–44.
- [138] Ewald A, Käppel C, Vorndran E, Moseke C, Gelinsky M, Gbureck U. The effect of Cu(II)-loaded brushite scaffolds on growth and activity of osteoblastic cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 2012;100:2392–400.
- [139] Dimitrievska S, Bureau MN, Antoniou J, Mwale F, Petit A, Lima RS, Marple BR. Titania-hydroxyapatite nanocomposite coatings support human mesenchymal stem cells osteogenic differentiation. J Biomed Mater Res A 2011;15:576–88.
- [140] Haugen HJ, Monjo M, Rubert M, Verket A, Lyngstadaas SP, Ellingsen J, et al. Porous ceramic titanium dioxide scaffolds promote bone formation in rabbit peri-implant cortical defect model. Acta Biomater 2013;9:5390–9.

# **41**

## Materials-Based Cancer Immunotherapies

Jared M. Newton<sup>1</sup>, Andrew G. Sikora<sup>1</sup>, Simon Young<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States; <sup>2</sup>The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, School of Dentistry, Houston, TX, United States

## INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW OF CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

The immune system is composed of two primary cellular subsets; innate and adaptive. Cells of the innate immune system are often the first responders to reach a site of injury. One of their primary functions is to contain locally and eliminate, if possible, any potentially dangerous substances, which are commonly termed pathogens. In addition, a number of innate immune cells function to collect small pieces of the dangerous substance, termed antigens, and present them to cells of the adaptive immune system. Macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) are two key cells that perform this function, and thus are appropriately known as antigen presenting cells (APCs). After successful presentation and stimulation by APCs, adaptive immune cells, namely antigen-specific cytotoxic T cells, can mount a more pathogen-specific immune response with long-term components that can protect the host more rapidly if reexposed to that particular antigen. In response to identifying features of pathogens, APCs can release specific combinations of cytokines, chemokines, and other cues to promote T-helper 1 (Th1) or T-helper 2 (Th2) adaptive immune responses. Th1 immune responses induce cell-mediated responses, typically provoking T-cell proliferation and investigation of intracellular pathogens. Alternatively, Th2 immune response induce humoral immunity, promoting B-cell antibody production targeting primarily extracellular pathogens. Although greatly simplified, this is one of the primary processes that the immune system uses any time it encounters potentially harmful substances, whether that be a virus, bacteria, or cancer cell.

Cancer presents a variety of challenges for the immune system as evidenced by the fact that avoidance of immune destruction has been recognized as a primary hallmark of cancer [1]. One of the most difficult challenges is the fact that cancer cells are not foreign entities, and thus look similar to normal healthy tissue, which makes it difficult for the immune system to identify and eliminate them. As a result, the adaptive immune system often struggles to present tumor-associated antigens in an immunogenic context that is critical for generating a productive immune response. However, cancer has long been recognized as a disease mediated by genomic mutations, whether naturally or virally induced, and if these genomic mutations result in mutated proteins, the immune system theoretically has the potential to recognize that. As proof of this, tumors with a higher mutational burden are typically more immunologically active, with higher immune cell infiltrate and a greater potential for immunemediated attack [2]. In addition to mutated antigens, differential expression of self-antigens provides another mechanism of immunologic recognition of cancer (i.e., human estrogen receptor 2 in breast cancer, prostatespecific antigen in prostate cancer, cancer-testes antigens). Another challenge that hinders immune recognition and destruction of cancer is the highly immunosuppressive protumor microenvironment observed in solid tumors. This occurs largely through a wound healing–like intratumoral inflammation and an increase in suppressive immune cell populations such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), and T-regulatory cells (Tregs) [3]. In light of these obstacles, cancer immunotherapeutic strategies are warranted to direct and stimulate an effective immune response against cancer.

The idea of using one's own immune system to fight cancer is by no means a novel concept; in fact, this concept has existed for over 100 years. Perhaps the oldest recorded evidence came from an American surgeon, William B. Coley, when he demonstrated successful remission in numerous inoperable cancer patients after intratumoral

injection of a mixture of bacterial lysates known as Coley's toxin [4]. In the 90 years after Coley's findings, the fields of immunotherapy and immunology matured in concert with one another. Significant immunotherapy achievements include the development of the first immune adjuvants [5], proposal of the immune surveillance theory or the idea that cancer cells could be recognized and killed by components of the immune system [6], proof that tumors have tumor-specific antigens that can be targeted by the immune system [7–10], and proof of tumoral immune escape through the loss of tumor-specific antigens [11]. During this same time, we note the discovery of numerous important immune mediators such as the Treg [12], DCs [13], natural killer cells [14], and interferons (IFNs), which are a family of critical protein mediators that act as signals for the immune system to regulate various aspects of an immune response [15]. Each of these discoveries and countless more were monumental in the development of the field of cancer immunotherapy.

These discoveries led to some of the first organized cancer immunotherapy clinical trials. Pioneering trials by Steve Rosenberg and colleagues, and others, aimed to use systemic administration of interleukin-2 (IL-2), a potent T cell-activating cytokine, in treating melanoma and renal cancer [16,17]. Despite promising preclinical data, clinical trials with IL-2 appeared to generate little improvement in overall survival and were often associated with concerning side effects. The early 1990s also saw the development of several promising new cancer vaccine strategies. One such strategy was GVAX, a vaccine that used irradiated cancer cells genetically modified to secrete granulocyte macrophage–colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), a potent APC activator [18]. A second successful strategy involved the use of autologous DCs pulsed with cancer peptides that could be reintroduced to the patient [19]. Both strategies were found to elicit potent antigen-specific T-cell responses and led to the development of Sipuleucel-T, or Provenge, for the treatment of prostate cancer. Sipuleucel-T treatment requires the isolation of patient-derived DCs and incubation with both an antigenic target overexpressed on most prostate cancers (i.e., antigenic prostatitic acid phosphatase) and GM-CSF for stimulation. Blinded, placebo-controlled phase III clinical trials showed a 4-month improvement in median survival for patients receiving Sipuleucel-T compared with placebo-treated cohorts [20]. This eventually led to the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval of Sipuleucel-T for the treatment of prostate cancer in 2010. Sipuleucel-T represents the first major cancer immunotherapy to receive FDA approval and ultimately paved the way for numerous immunotherapies. A variety of other cancer vaccine strategies are currently under investigation, which vary according to what stimulus they provide and whether they deliver only a single antigen, termed subunit vaccines, or a whole library of tumor antigens (i.e., tumor lysates, irradiated whole tumor cells) [21]. During this period, adoptive T-cell therapies were also showing promise as an effective cancer immunotherapy. Applications include genetically modified T cells made to recognize and kill specific tumor antigens or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells and adoptive T-cell therapies in which tumor reactive T-cells isolated from the patient were stimulated ex vivo and then reinfused [22–24]. Despite showing significant success in blood-borne cancers (i.e., lymphoma, leukemia), T-cell therapies continue to show minimal benefits against established solid tumor cancers; however, numerous technical advances and clinical trials are under way investigating new approaches and combinatorial treatment strategies with these therapies.

The mid 1990s saw the emergence of an immunotherapy platform termed immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), which continue to show significant potential as a solid tumor therapy. Two ICI targets of extensive investigation are cytotoxic T lymphocyte—associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1). CTLA-4 is expressed on activated T cells and functions as the "brakes" of a T-cell response by saturating away costimulatory molecules on activated APCs and promoting overall deactivation of the T cell [25,26]. Blockade of CTLA-4 using monoclonal antibodies has been shown to prolong T-cell activation and promote significant antitumor effects in murine models [27,28]. Phase III clinical trials of Ipilimumab, a humanized antibody targeting CTLA-4, improved median survival by 4 months for patients with advanced melanoma, with a small subset of patients maintaining cancer-free progression up to 10 years later [29,30]. This led to the FDA approval of Ipilimumab in 2011 to treat advanced melanoma. CTLA-4 blockade is currently being tested in numerous other cancers both as a monotherapy and combined with other treatment modalities. Success of CTLA-4 inhibition led to the investigation of numerous other ICI targets, one of particular success being PD-1. PD-1 functions to deactivate T cells after engagement with either of its known ligands, PD-L1 or PD-L2 [25]. Of interest in cancer, high PD-L1 expression has been observed in numerous solid tumor cancers and has been correlated with a poorer prognosis [31–33]. In addition, cancer-induced exhaustion of T cells appears to upregulate PD-1 drastically on their surfaces, making them more susceptible to deactivation through this pathway [34]. Strong evidence suggests that blockade of PD-1 can restore functionality to these exhausted T cells and promote significant antitumor effects [35,36]. Thus, after clinical investigation, both nivolumab and pembrolizumab, two humanized anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibodies, received FDA approval in 2014 for the treatment of unresectable melanoma. Since then, they gained FDA approval for the treatment of lung and kidney cancers in 2015 and Hodgkin lymphoma in 2016 and are actively being investigated in numerous other cancer types, again as both monotherapies and combined with other treatment modalities.

Despite preclinical and some clinical success of immunotherapies in treating cancer, it should be noted that although small subsets of patients have full durable responses, most patients do not benefit from these therapies. In addition, many of these therapies result in a number of systemic side effects, many of which could have life-threatening or long-term consequences for the patient's health. This leaves much to be desired from the field of immunotherapy in treating cancer.

### ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Cancer immunotherapy offers numerous advantages compared with other standard of care treatments. Most notably, immunotherapy optimizes the patient's own natural immune system as the primary therapeutic source. This allows use of the intricate biologic features of the immune system that engineered therapeutic systems cannot currently achieve. Examples of these features include the natural ability of T cells to traffic and extravasate into tumor tissue, the ability to target cells preferentially harboring specific aberrations while leaving surrounding healthy tissue relatively unharmed, the ability to seek and destroy cancer cells throughout the entire body, even micrometastatic lesions, and finally, features of immunologic memory that can protect against recurrence. These advantages are highly unique to immunotherapy and thus provide the rationale for why it remains an exciting and highly investigated therapy in the fight against cancer.

Despite these numerous advantages, current immunotherapy applications face a number of challenges. Most notable is their inconsistent efficacy, because the majority of patients do not benefit from current immunotherapeutic strategies. Even more challenging is that currently few correlative biomarkers can predict patient success from these therapies. This has led numerous groups to investigate combinatorial treatment strategies in the hope of achieving synergistic treatment effects. Some examples include combinations of immunotherapies with chemotherapy, radiation, small molecule inhibitors, and even combined with other immunotherapy strategies [37]. In addition to low success rates, a number of immunotherapies have shown concerning side effects. Most often, these side effects are associated with systemic hyperactivation of the immune system, which can promote autoimmune responses against vital organ systems, leading to long-term and sometimes deadly health consequences for patients. The last major challenge of immunotherapy is affordability. Many current immunotherapies require isolation of patient-derived cells (i.e., T cells, DCs, tumors cells), which are then modified and readministered to the patient. This personalized medicine approach requires an extensive manufacturing pipeline and is often associated with vastly higher costs than a typical "off-the shelf" cancer drug such as chemotherapy or small molecule inhibitors. Non-patient derived immunotherapies are often expensive as well, typically requiring months to years of clinical visits for therapeutic administration. This creates major issues in terms of patient affordability and compliance. Thus, despite significant efforts and advances in the field of immunotherapy, it continues to remains significantly hindered by its limitations. This is where biomaterials-based approaches could have a significant role.

Whether macro-, micro-, or nanoscale, biomaterials offer the potential for sustained and/or targeted release of drugs (Fig. 41.1). For immunotherapeutic applications, this simple feature could provide a significant opportunity to overcome many of its current challenges. Biomaterials would provide a platform to contain an immune response locally within target areas. This would greatly benefit immunotherapies because the desired immunomodulation could occur in important areas such as in a subcutaneous zone, within the tumor itself, or even within critical immunologic tissues (i.e., lymph nodes and spleen). This could benefit the safety of immunotherapies by eliminating systemic immune activation and also would likely improve their efficacy, because more of the delivered drug would come into contact with the effector cell types rather than being removed from the systemic circulation or be degraded through normal physiologic routes. In addition, advances in biomaterial technology allow for accurate and highly controllable fine-tuning of drug release, in some cases providing extended release for up to years. Numerous groups have also developed systems for the controlled release of more than one drug with the potential to control the release kinetics of each drug individually. These multidrug release systems could enable the delivery of combinatorial immunotherapies to mimic the true response progression of the immune system more closely (i.e., first priming the innate system and then providing activation markers for the acquired immune system to maintain that response). This has the potential to enhance the poor response outcomes of immunotherapy greatly and could minimize the necessary time that patients need to spend in the clinical



**FIGURE 41.1** Schematic of the cancer-immunity cycle illustrating each sequential step with the labeled physiologic location needed to generate an efficient immune response against a tumor. Current immunotherapy approaches are shown at their point of augmentation (*bolded*) and biomaterial-based strategies used to benefit those immunotherapeutic strategies are listed below (*bulleted points*). *MPs*, microparticles; *NPs*, nanoparticles. *Reproduced with permission from Cheung AS*, *Mooney DJ*. *Engineered materials for cancer immunotherapy*. *Nano Today August* 1, 2015; 10(4):511–31, *Elsevier*.

setting, because the biomaterial could be implanted and release the drug continuously for extended times. Finally, although biomaterial approaches in immunotherapy seemingly make it more expensive, there are many opportunities for biomaterials to make these strategies cheaper. Biomaterials approaches allow the more efficient use of immunotherapeutic drugs by targeting them to key areas and cells types while minimizing physiologic clearance and drug degradation, and thus could minimize the necessary time patients need to spend in the clinic receiving the drugs. By providing a platform for immunologic modification of patient-derived cells in situ, biomaterial systems could also cut the costs of adoptive cell therapies. Thus, biomaterials have the potential to remove many of the challenges that immunotherapy currently faces.

## NANOPARTICLE BIOMATERIALS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

## Introduction of Nanomedicine in Cancer

Since its original discussion and conception in 1959 by Richard Feynman during his famous lecture, "There's Plenty of Room at the Bottom" [38], nanotechnology has continued to show exciting potential in the field of cancer therapy. The National Nanotechnology Initiative defines nanotechnology as the manipulation of matter at sizes

between 1 and 100 nm; however, many consider materials under 1 µm to warrant nanoparticle status. Because nanotechnology applications are so broad, the term "nanomedicine" further defines the application of nanotechnology in medicine. Most nanomedicine approaches rely on their intrinsic ability to accumulate in tumor tissue owing to a phenomenon known as the enhanced permeation and retention effect. Essentially, leaky tumor vasculature and inadequate lymphatic drainage result in the preferential localization of nanoparticles in the intratumoral space [39]. Thus, many groups have attempted to localize various therapeutic agents in tumors using nanoparticles to limit systemic toxicity and maximize drug efficacy [40]. In these attempts, a number of nanoparticle formulations have been widely optimized (i.e., metallic, liposome, dendrimer, and polymeric) (Fig. 41.2).

Nanoparticles offer a number of unique properties that make them an attractive approach to improving current immunotherapy applications. The biocompatibility of the formulation material, surface charge, size, and shape of the nanoparticle all have critical roles in how it interacts with the body. In particular, these features greatly influence where it localizes in the body, with what cell types it interacts or by which it is internalized, and its cytotoxicity effects [41,42]. Thus, when designing nanoparticles for a specific application, these features must be taken into careful consideration. A more detailed description of these various nanoparticle design criteria will be provided subsequently.



FIGURE 41.2 Schematic of the four most common nanoparticle platforms (*top*) and their application as tumor drug delivery vehicles. Optimally designed particles with adequate shape, size, surface charge, hydrophilicity, and surface modifications will promote a longer circulating half-life and accumulation in the tumor through the enhanced permeation and retention (EPR) effect (*bottom left*). Surface modification of the particle with ligands or other targeting moieties can be used to target receptor on tumor cells and promote the intracellular delivery and release of drug payloads in response to specific intracellular stimuli (*bottom right*). *Nps*, nanoparticles. *Reproduced with permission from Shao K, Singha S, Clemente-Casares X, Tsai S, Yang Y, Santamaria P. Nanoparticle-based immunotherapy for cancer. ACS Nano January 27, 2015;9(1):16–30, American Chemical Society.* 

## Effects of Nanoparticle Size and Shape

With improvements in nanoparticle manufacturing techniques, it is possible to make a variety of nanoparticle shapes. This has led to a number of studies determining how cellular and physiologic systems interact with different nanoparticle shapes. Cellular particle uptake rates depend on both size and shape. It appears that for particle sizes larger than 100 nm, rod-shaped particles have the highest uptake rates, followed by spheres, cylinders, and cubes. However, with particles smaller than 100 nm, sphere-shaped particles surpass rods in terms of cellular uptake rates [43]. Other more exotic shapes with various surface characteristics are being investigated; however, it remains unclear whether these will provide differential uptake.

When introducing nanoparticles to a physiologic system, several other effects such as pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution influence nanoparticle size and shape design criteria. For nanoparticles delivered intravenously, particles smaller than 6 nm are readily removed from the circulation by the kidneys. Nanoparticles larger than 200 nm typically accumulate in the liver and spleen and encounter a variety of immune cells tasked with removing large particulates from the circulation known as the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS). Cells of the MPS typically phagocytose the nanoparticles, degrade them if possible, and then exocytose them for either filtration and removal or potential distribution in other physiologic tissues. Nanoparticle shape also is important in the physiologic systems, as evidenced by the fact that cells that circulate in the blood are typically not spherical. Thus, unsurprisingly, rod- or disk-shaped nanoparticles can promote longer circulation times compared with spherical nanoparticles [44]. Particle sizes between 10 and 200 nm are optimal in cancer nanomedicine for promoting long-term circulation, which ultimately provides more opportunities for delivery into tumor tissue. Within the tumor interstitium, particles in the upper end of this optimal range (100–200 nm) cannot extravasate far beyond the blood vessel and often remain stuck in the extracellular region between cells. Smaller particles (10 nm) have the potential to penetrate much farther into tumor tissue; however, without some form of targeting agent, they are not well-retained for more than 24 h [45]. Although many of these design optimization studies aimed for tumor drug delivery applications, in which the primary goal was to enhance nanoparticle localization within the tumor, an understanding of how particle size and shape dictate particle fate continues to shape the design characteristics of its newer applications in immunotherapy.

## Effects of Nanoparticle Surface Charge and Hydrophilicity

Nanoparticle surface charge and hydrophilicity are also features that have major implications in the design of nanoparticles. These features are easily modifiable through a number of technologies such as layer-by-layer, conjugation of surface moieties, and careful selection of particle material. Generally, positively charged particles are taken up by cells at a much higher rate than are neutral or negatively charged particles. Many researchers postulate that this is the result of the slightly negative surface charge of cellular membranes, which provides an electrostatic interaction that draws positively charged particles to the surface of the cell. In addition to having higher uptake, positively charged particles induce higher cytotoxicity effects because of detrimental disturbances that they cause in cellular membranes [46]. Similar to size, however, introduction into a biologic environment creates a number of additional considerations. Most notable is that the nanoparticle surface is rapidly covered by a variety of serum proteins, forming what is known as the corona on the particle surface. The surface charge and hydrophobicity of the particle largely dictate the composition of this corona and thus influence the future fate of the particle. Most highly charged particles, positive or negative, rapidly and strongly bind a number of serum proteins that tag them for removal through the MPS system [47,48]. Particles containing a more hydrophobic surface experience a similar fate, with high serum protein binding and removal. Thus, neutral particles with highly hydrophilic surfaces are the most optimal for naturally promoting long-term circulation; however, depending on the application of the nanoparticle, this may not be the desired surface features. With these understandings, many groups have developed ways to alter the surface characteristics of their nanoparticles to provide beneficial delivery features.

#### Effects of Nanoparticle Surface Functionalization

As previously described, the surface characteristics of nanoparticles are a major parameter in the development and design of nanomedicine applications. Thus, numerous surface modification techniques have been developed to create favorable surface features without having to modify the bulk material of the nanoparticle. Surface attachment of hydrophilic polymers such as polyethylene glycol (i.e., PEGylation) is one of the most widely studied nanoparticle functionalization techniques. Many groups have shown significant improvements in the particle circulation time as a result of decreased protein absorption and MPS recognition after PEGylation [49]. Another surface modification commonly used is the attachment of targeting agents. A variety of targeting moieties have been developed, the most prominent of which are variable antibody fragments, peptides, receptor ligands, and aptamers. These are often made specific to a receptor or surface target on the target cell; upon binding, they promote the internalization of the nanoparticle carrier. The small size of nanoparticles provides a vast improvement in the total surface area exposure compared with many micromaterials and macromaterials, which allows for drastic advantages for targeting applications. Numerous groups have further shown that there are a variety of parameters that must be optimized for targeting ligands to make them maximally effective; these typically rely on targeting the agent density on the nanoparticle surface and the nanoparticle size [50]. With beneficial surface characteristics, nanoparticles can be considerably improved in nanomedicine applications. These important findings have promoted many of the design criteria for applying nanoparticles in immunotherapy.

#### Nanoparticle Targeting Applications in Immunotherapy

Nanoparticle targeting often occurs through two primary methods, active or passive. Active targeting requires conjugating targeting moieties to the surface of the nanoparticle to encourage localization in specific areas or uptake by critical cells. Alternatively, passive targeting relies on the natural properties of the nanoparticle (i.e., surface charge, size, shape) to promote preferential uptake. Drug targeting is a unique ability of nanoparticles that has been widely studied in the field of drug delivery, with extensive success including a number of FDA-approved nanoparticle drug targeting formulations [51].

Compared with standard cancer nanomedicine targeting, immunotherapeutic applications require slightly more consideration of the intracellular or extracellular compartment in which the therapeutic payload will be released. For example, proinflammatory cytokines or other agents that target surface-bound cell receptors must be released into the extracellular tumor space. A number of strategies have been used to promote extracellular release, typically aiming to discourage phagocytosis of the particle. Notable examples include PEGylation or coating of the particle's surface with antiphagocytic signals such as CD47 [52]. In addition, fine-tuning of the particle's physical properties can be used to diminish cellular uptake, as previously discussed. In opposition to extracellular acting agents, delivery of other therapeutics such as specific Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists, short interfering RNAs (siRNAs), or tumor-specific antigens for cancer vaccine applications require the delivered cargo to be released in specific intracellular compartments (i.e., endosome, lysosome, or cytosol). Enhancement of the particle surface with ligands targeting endocytosis-associated receptors and optimization of a particle's physical characteristics can be used to promote more enhanced cellular uptake, especially in phagocytic cells [53]. In addition to targeting key compartments, particles must be designed to release their payload within a target environment. This can be achieved by chemically modifying the particle drug carrier to release its payload upon encountering some form of location-specific stimuli. The most common release cues include low pH and specific intracellular or extracellular proteases [54]. A number of triggered release systems have also been developed in which the release stimuli is delivered exogenously (i.e., light, magnetic field, heat) and promotes particle degradation and payload release [55,56]. Certain nanoparticle systems also provide the ability to fine-tune the rate of drug release by altering various particle features such as porosity, degradability, and the drug incorporation method (basic encapsulation versus stimuli-cleavable chemical conjugation). Thus, optimizing these various features has allowed for highly efficient, selective, and fine-tunable targeting of immunotherapeutic agents. This which will be discussed in more detail subsequently.

#### Nanoparticle Targeting of the Tumor Microenvironment

Most solid tumor cancers harbor a wound healing—like inflammation and a highly immunosuppressive microenvironment. This feature of solid tumors is elicited by an intricate network of numerous cell types including the cancer cells themselves, a highly active stroma (i.e., cancer-associated fibroblasts), and a number of immune cells such as MDSCs, Tregs, and TAMs. Through a variety of mechanisms, this tumor microenvironment can drastically prevent effector T-cell infiltration into the tumor and abrogate the cytotoxic function of effector cells that manage to infiltrate it. The tumor microenvironment has even been shown to promote tumor growth and induce tumoral immune tolerance [3]. Thus, modulating this tumor microenvironment would provide a significant therapeutic opportunity, especially in situations in which a notable population of cancer-specific T cells exists but is unable overcome the immunosuppressive state of the tumor. The most common immunotherapeutic applications targeting the tumor microenvironment aim to inhibit or downregulate immunosuppressive features of the tumor, stimulate suppressed effector immune cells within the tumor parenchyma, or combinations of these approaches. Bolus delivery of immunomodulatory agents (i.e., cytokines, ICIs) have rapid saturation and/or degradation, which limits the effective dose delivered to the tumor and generates significant concern for systemic inflammatory toxicities. Thus, leveraging the advantages of nanoparticles to deliver these agents selectively to the tumor is an obvious application of nanomedicine in immunotherapy.

Rather than attempt to discuss the robust amount of preclinical application of nanomedicine targeting the tumor microenvironment, we will provide a few examples of the diverse applications that are currently being explored. One interesting application involves targeting dysregulated genetic pathways within tumorinfiltrating immune cells. Signal transducer and activator transcription 3 (STAT3), a transcription factor that has previously been shown to promote Th2-based inflammation and enhance the survival of Tregs, is an intriguing target. Using tumor-targeting liposomes delivering intracellular agents to deplete STAT3 (i.e., small-molecule inhibitors [siRNA]), a few groups have shown impressive tumor immunosuppression reversal effects [57]. This strategy provides a valuable platform for the inhibition of numerous other dysregulated immunologic genetic pathways within the tumor. In addition to inhibiting immunosuppressive mechanisms directly, many groups have aimed to activate naive, suppressed, or tolerogenic effector cells within the tumor microenvironment. A number of strategies have been employed for this, including tumor localized delivery of proinflammatory and T cell-stimulating cytokines (i.e., IFN-gamma, IL-1α, IL-2, IL-12, tumor necrosis factor-α) and APC-activating agents (i.e., CD40 ligand, cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides [CpG], lipopolysaccharide, monophosphoryl lipid A [MPL-A], polyinosinic–polycytidylic acid [poly I:C]) [58–60]. Nearly all of these nanoparticle delivery systems showed benefits compared with bolus delivery of the same agents because they provided less systemic toxicity and extended release for up to many weeks in some cases, thus promoting more potent immunomodulatory effects. These strategies have shown relatively minimal therapeutic benefits as monotherapies; however, they are readily being investigated as combination modalities with more conventional immunotherapeutic strategies. Toward this combinatorial theme, a few groups have developed dual therapeutic delivery systems encapsulated within a single nanoparticle platform. One particular group used a polymeric liposome system, termed nanolipogels, to codeliver a small molecule inhibitor for transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) (an immunosuppressive cytokine) and a potent T cell-activating cytokine, IL-2 (Fig. 41.3A). Their system was able to extend the release of these agents for many days and promoted significant survival benefits in preclinical models (Fig. 41.3B and C) [61]. In addition to releasing proinflammatory markers, some nanoparticle systems have been shown to promote the activation of target cell types by surface engagement with effector cells. One group optimized liposomes enhanced with IL-2 fragments and costimulatory 4-1BB, which were retained at the tumor site and promoted marked T-cell activation within the tumor through active engagement [62].

Applications of nanomedicine in targeting the tumor microenvironment are extensive; the example listed earlier represents only a portion of the vast work that has been done in this area. Overall, nanoparticles provide major advantages over the bolus delivery of immunomodulatory drugs. First, they enable the agent to be localized and concentrated at the tumor site, which benefits not only its efficacy but also its systemic toxicity. Second, they allow for extended immunomodulatory drug release, which provides sufficient time for effective immune responses to be generated and mounted against the tumor. Finally, they enable the targeting of drugs not only to important cells but also to necessary spatial and temporal locations. Overall, this renders these applications highly warranted and provides the rationale for the extensive past and current investigation of these systems.

## Nanoparticle Targeting of Antigen Presenting Cells

In addition to targeting the tumor directly, significant efforts have been made to target immunologic stimuli and antigenic information to key lymphoid cells or tissues using nanoparticles, primarily targeting APCs in the lymph node and spleen. DCs are commonly recognized as the most potent APCs, which makes them a logical cellular target of nanoparticle systems. By providing DCs with the appropriate "danger signals," they have the ability to generate potent T-cell responses against antigens that they have acquired. This creates two unique applications for nanoparticles: one in which they could deliver only stimulus to DCs, in the hope that they have already acquired tumor antigens, and a second in which they could deliver both antigen and simulation to generate highly antigenspecific immune responses. Using nanoparticles, DCs can be targeted through a number of delivery routes. Because a subpopulation of DCs dwells in peripheral tissues, nanoparticles delivered into the dermal or subcutaneous space



**FIGURE 41.3** Nanolipogels (NLGs) are an effective immunotherapy codelivery platform (A) Synthesis illustration of NLGs. Lyophilized liposomes were loaded with a tumor growth factor- $\beta$  receptor 1 inhibitor that was solubilized using methacrylate-conjugated  $\beta$ -cyclodextrins (SB), interleukin-2 (IL-2) cytokine, and a biodegradable cross-linking polymer. This allowed the formation of a core-shell structure with entrapped CD-SB505 (*blue*) and IL-2 (*green*) in a biodegradable polymer matrix (*red*), all within a PEGylated liposome. (B) Percentage of intravenously delivered rhodamine (a fluorescent pseudodrug) remaining at 1, 24, 48, and 72 h postinjection. Rhodamine was either encapsulated in their NLGs or bolus delivered in saline. (C) Plot of tumor area following treatment of established B16–F10 melanoma in B6 mice. Treatment groups include no treatment or intratumoral injections of soluble SB, soluble SB and IL-12, NLG-encapsulated SB, NLG-encapsulated IL-2, and NLG-encapsulated SB and IL-2. Dates of injection are indicated by *red arrows*. *PE*, polyethylene; *PEG*, poly(ethylene glycol); *PLA*, poly(lactic acid). *Reproduced with permission from Park J, Wrzesinski SH, Stern E, Look M, Criscione J, Ragheb R, et al. Combination delivery of TGF-\beta inhibitor and IL-2 by nanoscale liposomal polymeric gels enhances tumour immunotherapy. Nat Mater October 2012;11(10):895–905, Nature Publishing Group.* 

can be phagocytosed by DCs, activate them, and promote their migration to the lymph nodes, where they can induce T cell expansion. Alternatively, nanoparticles can be designed to drain into the lymphatics and encounter lymphoid tissue—residing DCs. Both of these strategies provide a unique application for nanomedicine, because they essentially allow for DC priming and activation without the need for ex vivo cell isolation and manipulation. Thus, cancer vaccine applications using nanoparticles have promoted great excitement in the field and continue to show promising effects.

A number of groups have developed nanoparticle formulations that can be targeted to the lymph node. Lymph nodes are obviously a useful target organ because of their primary function in the priming and generation of clonal T cell expansion. Various groups have demonstrated that 20- to 100-nm particles are optimal for lymph node targeting through lymphatic drainage, with markedly faster lymph node localization and uptake at the smaller sizes [63]. At this size, particles can extravasate from vascular beds and are driven into the lymphatic network, where

they are transported to lymph nodes via interstitial pressure. Once in the lymph node, particles are readily taken up by DCs, providing an efficient route to promote immunologic priming. Various groups have then used this feature for subunit vaccine strategies, typically optimizing a model antigen ovalbumin (OVA). A study using subcutaneously injected PEGylated lipid nanoparticles with encapsulated OVA and cyclic dinucleotide stimulus promoted significant lymph nodal immune responses. Using their system, they noted a 15-fold improvement in adjuvant localization to the lymph node and a threefold improvement in OVA-specific CD8+ T-cell generation compared with bolus antigen and adjuvant delivery [64]. To improve on poor liposome serum stability, another group developed multilayered liposomes with intralayer cross-linking, termed interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles (ICMVs). PEGylated ICMVs with OVA loaded into the particle center and MPL-A, a TLR-4 agonist, embedded within the ICMV wall promoted a 14-fold enhancement in antigen-specific T cells compared with bolus delivery [65]. Another group developed an alternative strategy using the natural trafficking phenomenon of serum albumin to traffic nanoparticles to the lymph node efficiently and selectively. Their most successful lipid formulation was composed of a lipophilic albumin-binding tail, a polar linking chain, and either a potent APC agonist or a target antigen peptide (Fig. 41.4A) [66]. When delivered together, this adjuvant and antigen nanoparticle formulation complexed with albumin and was highly localized to the lymph nodes, where they promoted significant activation and expansion of target antigen-specific CD8+ T cells (Fig. 41.4B and C). Impressively, when delivered in combination with a tumor-targeting antibody, modified IL-2 cytokine, and ICI therapies, the lymph node-targeting nanoparticles were also able to promote the rejection of large established tumors (Fig. 41.4D) [67]. Overall, these subunit vaccine nanoparticle strategies provide a promising method for generating antitumor T-cell responses.

Despite the relative success of subunit vaccine strategies, they have a number of limitations. Most notable is that targeted vaccine strategies against a single antigen will not benefit cancers with unknown or unpredictable antigenic features. In addition, these strategies do not consider the vast patient-specific tumor antigen repertoire, which could ultimately promote immunoediting (i.e., selection of only the minimally immunogenic cancer cell populations) and eventual immunologic escape by the tumor. This has driven a number of groups to investigate the delivery of adjuvant nanoparticles to the tumor-draining lymph nodes (tdLNs). The tdLNs are an attractive target for simulation because they are continuously exposed to a plethora of cancer-specific antigens throughout the course of tumor progression. However, they also represent a relatively challenging stimulation site, with depleted effector cell populations and high levels of cellular suppression and exhaustion, especially at later stages of tumor progression [68]. Nevertheless, numerous nanomedicine attempts have been made to stimulate tdLNs, most often involving the delivery of APC stimulatory agonists in the hope of promoting clonal T cell expansion targeting numerous cancer antigens. One example includes the use of a 30-nm pyridyl disulfide (PDS) nanoparticle surface conjugated with CpG. The CpG conjugation was performed using pH-sensitive chemistry to promote release in the endolysosomal compartment of DCs for TLR-9 stimulation. PDS-CpG nanoparticles delivered intradermally near the tumor (B16–F10 melanoma) allowed for efficient draining and uptake by DCs in the ipsilateral lymph node, which the researchers verified to be tdLN by intratumoral injection of fluorescent dextran. These stimulatory particles increased the percentages of activated DCs and promoted a marked increase in CD8+ T cells specific for tyrosinase-related protein-2 (TRP2), a tumor-specific antigen known to be associated with this tumor model; they also significantly slowed tumor growth [69].

Although targeting of lymph nodes using an intradermal or subcutaneous injection of nanoparticles has shown promising immunologic effects, this approach raises a number of questions when considering applying them in the clinical setting. The most obvious question is which specific lymph nodes these systems should target, because the tdLN may contain the most tumor antigen—experienced DCs, however, it also contains the highest levels of immunosuppression and exhaustion, which could hinder effective stimulation. This issue spurred the development of a systemically delivered nanoparticle vaccine strategy that could be delivered intravenously and would naturally accumulate in a variety of lymphoid tissues such as spleen, lymph nodes, and bone marrow. Using systemically delivered RNA liposome complex (RNA-LPX) nanoparticles, one group demonstrated an impressive ability to target lymphoid tissues and resident DCs and macrophages passively simply by altering the net surface charge of their particles (Fig. 41.5A and B). Even more impressive was the fact that systemic delivery of their optimally charged RNA-LPX could promote significant activation of DCs and strong expansion of antigen-specific T cells (Fig. 41.5C). This ultimately promoted considerable rejection and survival benefits in a variety of established murine tumor models (Fig. 41.5D) [70].

The application of nanoparticles as APC targeting agents is one of the most exciting developments in the field of nanomedicine. Numerous groups have shown the potent effects that APC-targeted nanoparticles can induce, especially in terms of generating tumor-specific T-cell expansion. The unique ability of small nanoparticles to traffic to



FIGURE 41.4 Amphiphilic peptide and adjuvants efficiently target lymph nodes and promote antigen-specific immune responses. (A) Structure of amphiphilic peptide used to complex with serum albumin and target peptide antigens the lymph nodes. For treatment applications, this was codelivered with liposome cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG). (B) IVIS fluorescence imaging showing both axillary and inguinal lymph node accumulation of various targeted molecular adjuvant formulations. CpG was conjugated with fluorescein amidite to make it fluorescent. Higher intensity indicates higher CpG localization to the lymph node. Groups tested include free CpG, CpG in incomplete Freund's adjuvant (CpG in IFA), CpG encapsulated in a poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-coated liposome (CpG in liposome), or various amphiphile CpG conjugates; mono-acyl-conjugated CpG (C18-CpG), cholesterol-conjugated CpG (Cho-CpG), and diacyl lipid-conjugated CpG (lipo-CpG). Of note, lipo-CpG was found to associate strongly with albumin in serum (not shown), a likely mechanism of this delivery. (C) Plot of tumor area after vaccination treatment of established B16-F10 melanoma tumors in C57/BL6 mice. Mice were vaccinated with CpG and Trp2 peptide, an antigen known to be associated with B16-F10 tumors in bolus form or in designed amphiphile (amph) forms at the days indicated by black arrows. (D) Similar tumor area curves in B16-F10 melanoma tumors. AIPV trivalent-treated mice received vaccination with amphiphilic CpG and peptide antigens (Trp1, Trp2, and gp100) known to be associated with this tumor model, systemic administration of tumor targeting antibodies (targeting Trp1), systemic administration of albumin-fused interleukin-2, and administration of α-programmed cell death protein-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor. (A-C) Reproduced with permission from Liu H, Moynihan KD, Zheng Y, Szeto GL, Li AV, Huang B, et al. Structure-based programming of lymph-node targeting in molecular vaccines. Nature. March 27, 2014;507(7493):519-22, Nature Publishing Group. (D) Reproduced with permission from Moynihan KD, Opel CF, Szeto GL, Tzeng A, Zhu EF, Engreitz JM, et al. Eradication of large established tumors in mice by combination immunotherapy that engages innate and adaptive immune responses. Nat Med October 24, 2016;22(12):1402-10, Nature Publishing Group.





**FIGURE 41.5** RNA-lipoplex (RNA-LPX) lipid carriers promote lymphoid tissue targeting potent antigen-specific immune responses. (A) Particle size/polydispersity index (*top*) and zeta potential (*bottom*) for RNA-LPX achieved by using different lipid (DOTMA/DOPE) to RNA ratios. (B) Bioluminescent imaging of Balb/c mice after intravenous injection of various luciferase encoding lipid—RNA ratios. A representative fluorescent image of a lung, liver, and spleen from each ratio group is shown below whole-mouse images with pie charts summarizing the distribution of signal in each. Fluorescent image to the far right shows additional uptake of RNA-LPX in lymph node and bone marrow at a 1.3:2 charge ratio. (C) Kinetics of ovalbumin (OVA) specific CD8+ T cells in the blood of C57/BL6 mice after multiple intravenous injections of OVA-encoding LPX carriers. Injection schedule is noted above the figure with *black arrows* indicating dates of OVA-LPX administration. (D) Kaplan—Meier survival curves of C57/BL6 mice with established TC-1 tumors harboring E6 and E7 human papillomavirus oncoproteins as target antigens. Treatment groups include untreated (control) or intravenous administration of irrelevant OVA-LPX at day 7 (Irrelevant-LPX d7), E6/E7-LPX at day 7 (E6/E7RNA-LPXd7), or E6/E7-LPX administered at day 10 (E6/E7RNA-LPX d10). The treatment schedule can be seen above the figure, with *yellow arrows* indicating the administration dates for groups started on day 7 and *red arrows* for the group started on day 10. *Reproduced with permission from Kranz LM, Diken M, Haas H, Kreiter S, Loquai C, Reuter KC, et al. Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. Nature 2016;534(7607):396–401, Nature Publishing Group.* 

lymphoid tissues and readily be internalized by APCs, namely DCs, provides a unique application of nanomedicine in treating cancer. Furthermore, the improved efficacy and safety that nanoparticle targeted systems provide compared with the bolus delivery of immune stimulatory agents and/or antigens is unparalleled. Thus, many of these systems have translated to the clinical setting and likely will continue to do so, where it is hoped that they will provide immunotherapy applications with these pronounced benefits.

### Conclusion of Nanomedicine Applications in Immunotherapy

Unsurprisingly, nanomedicine applications have demonstrated amazing potential for the enhancement of cancer immunotherapies. This section focused largely on their targeting applications, such as targeting of the tumor microenvironment or targeting of APCs in important lymphoid sites. However, nanomedicine is being applied in many other applications in immunotherapy as well [71-73]. Most of these applications apply the extended release features of nanoparticle systems to the delivery of immunomodulatory agents. One such example involves the ex vivo conjugation or the in vivo targeting of T cells using nanoparticles that provide the extended release of T-cell stimuli or inhibitors of T-cell inactivation. These "T-cell piggyback" nanoparticle systems have shown amazing potential for prolonging the persistence of adoptively transferred T-cell therapies, a major hindrance for those therapies [74,75]. This demonstrates just one example of how nanoimmunosystems could theoretically be applied to target any immune cell population and deliver any number of immunomodulatory agents, which thus providing much future work for the field of nanomedicine immunotherapy. Overall, the applications of nanomedicine in immunotherapy will likely continue to exploit the unique ability of nanoparticles to prolong the release kinetics and selectively deliver immunotherapeutic agents to important cell types or physiologic locations. This simplistic-seeming ability has the potential to benefit immunotherapeutic strategies greatly in cancer, making them safer, more efficacious, and applicable to far more cancer settings than was previously thought achievable.

## MACROSCALE BIOMATERIAL SCAFFOLDS FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

## Implantable Biomaterial Scaffolds as Cancer Vaccines

As we have discussed, the ability of nanoparticles to target bioactive factors toward important cell populations at specific physiologic locations is an example of how biomaterials have evolved over the past decades to be more than just inert, biologically compatible replacement parts. This paradigm shift toward the design of "smart," biologically active materials that can manipulate and interact with cells in their environment is a fundamental concept familiar to those in the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. For example, macroscale drug delivery biomaterial platforms (i.e., with at least one dimension large than 1 mm) are widely used to control the spatiotemporal delivery of multiple bioactive molecules and/or cells to direct cell behavior and drive functional tissue formation [76]. The ability of these engineered scaffolds to perform in situ cell programming has made them an attractive technology to improve DC and T cell function in the context of therapeutic cancer vaccines.

In contrast to nanoparticulate vaccines, which target antigen and/or adjuvant components to DCs located in tumor-draining lymph nodes, the paradigm for using microscale and macroscale cancer vaccines is to recruit large numbers of immature DCs to the scaffold itself, where in situ programming takes place in a controlled microenvironment. This has the potential to reduce the financial and regulatory burdens associated with conventional methods of DC-based cancer vaccinations such as Sipuleucel-T, which require cell isolation, ex vivo cell culture and manipulation, and multiple patient procedures [77]. With the in situ DC vaccination approach, the implanted biomaterial scaffold is designed for controlled release of a recruitment factor that promotes the trafficking of immune cells to the implantation site. Once there, recruited cells such as immature DCs infiltrate the scaffold and are simultaneously presented with tumor antigen and proinflammatory "danger signals" in the form of a pattern recognition receptor ligand adjuvant. The mature, antigen-loaded DCs that are generated then traffic out of the scaffold toward draining lymph nodes, where they can facilitate anticancer immunity through T cell priming and activation (Fig. 41.6).

This approach was first described by Ali et al. [77], who used macroporous scaffolds composed of the copolymer poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLG) as subcutaneously implanted DC cancer vaccines (Fig. 41.7).

Incorporated into the PLG matrix were GM-CSF as a recruitment factor for immune cells, cationic nanoparticles of CpG as the danger signal, and melanoma tumor lysate as the antigen. Sustained release of bioactive GM-CSF was



**FIGURE 41.6** Schematic of an implantable biomaterial system that can be used for in situ dendritic cell programming. Recruitment factors released from the implant promote the trafficking of immature dendritic cells to the scaffold, where they encounter programming factors such as adjuvant and tumor antigen. The activated, antigen-presenting dendritic cells then leave the scaffold and migrate to draining lymph nodes, where they trigger downstream events such as the activation of antigen-specific cytotoxic lymphocytes. *Reproduced with permission from Huebsch N, Mooney DJ. Inspiration and application in the evolution of biomaterials. Nature November 26, 2009;462(7272):426–432, Nature Publishing Group.* 

achieved over 15 days in vivo, resulting in a significant number of DCs infiltrating the scaffold (on the order of 10<sup>6</sup> cells, similar to the number of cells administered by ex vivo protocols). Scaffold-infiltrating DCs were shown to be activated by the CpG immobilized within the scaffolds and then subsequently dispersed to draining lymph nodes. After vaccination, cytotoxic lymphocytes targeting the melanoma-associated antigen TRP2 were markedly expanded in the spleen, and a threefold increase in CD8+ T-cell infiltration into tumors was noted for vaccinated mice compared with controls. Further work to characterize the multiple DC subtypes recruited to the implanted vaccine revealed the accumulation of a heterogeneous DC network including CD8+ DCs (important for cross-presentation of tumor antigen to Th1 T cells and cytotoxic lymphocytes) and plasmacytoid DCs (known to generate



**FIGURE 41.7** Low- and high-power scanning electron microscopy cross-sectional images of a macroporous poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) cancer vaccine scaffold containing granulocyte macrophage–colony-stimulating factor, cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides, and tumor antigen. The image on the left (low power) is 1X and the image on the right (high-power) is 125X.

type I IFNs, helping to activate CD8+ DCs) [78]. Prophylactic vaccination resulted in a 90% survival rate, whereas mice bearing established melanoma tumors and treated twice with the PLG vaccine resulted in 47% survival (Fig. 41.8). Subsequent work investigated the use of alternative adjuvants in the PLG vaccine including MPL-A and poly I:C [79], and alternative recruitment factors such as chemokine (C–C motif) ligand 20 (CCL20) and Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 ligand [80], which illustrates the ability of this implantable, polymeric vaccine system for use as a versatile macroscale biomaterial platform to deliver multiple immunomodulatory factors. The PLG-based cancer vaccine is undergoing a phase I clinical trial under the name "WDVAX" (NCT01753089), investigating its safety in metastatic melanoma patients.

## Injectable Biomaterial Systems as Cancer Vaccines

Drawbacks of macroporous scaffolds composed of PLG are their relative stiffness and brittleness, which necessitate a small surgical procedure to enable subcutaneous implantation. To address this shortcoming, macroporous Cryogel scaffolds have been developed that can undergo large amounts of reversible deformation and rapid volumetric recovery, enabling the minimally invasive delivery of these scaffolds through small-bore needles [81]. Bencherif et al. [81] investigated an alginate-based Cryogel system as an injectable cancer vaccine scaffold, incorporating GM-CSF as the DC recruitment factor, CpG as an adjuvant, and irradiated B16–F10 melanoma cells as the antigen source (Fig. 41.9) [82]. To enhance the retention of the irradiated cells within the pores of the sponge-like vaccine scaffold, arginylglyclaspartic acid (RGD) peptides were covalently coupled to the alginate, allowing the preloaded cancer cells to adhere via integrin binding and remain localized to the scaffold microenvironment. Akin to the strategy used by the PLG-based cancer vaccine, this macroporous Cryogel-based cancer vaccine was designed to provide a localized immunogenic niche for recruited DCs and irradiated tumor cells to interact in the presence of the CpG danger signal without the tolerogenic factors present in the tumor microenvironment. Successful encapsulation of GM-CSF and CpG into the sponge-like alginate cancer vaccine construct was followed by sustained release of these factors over 1 month, enabling the recruitment and activation of both CD8+ and plasmacytoid DCs and a strong effector T cell response. Mice bearing B16–F10 melanoma tumors and treated with the Cryogel vaccine at days 3 and 10 after tumor inoculation displayed a 40% survival rate compared with unimmunized mice, illustrating the potent antitumor response that can be generated with this system.

Another injectable, materials-based cancer vaccine platform was described by Kim et al. [83] and is based on high–aspect ratio mesoporous silica rods (MSRs). Using the same paradigm of host immune cell recruitment and



**FIGURE 41.8** Kaplan–Meier survival curves of mice vaccinated with poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLG) vaccines. (A) PLG vaccine implanted 14 days before B16–F10 melanoma tumor challenge, comparing groups receiving either blank PLG scaffold or PLG scaffolds loaded with tumor lysate, granulocyte macrophage (GM)–colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and 1, 10, 50, or 100 µg of cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG). Mice receiving vaccines with 100 µg of CpG had a survival rate of 90%. (B) PLG vaccine implanted 9 days after B16–F10 melanoma tumor challenge, comparing groups receiving either blank PLG scaffold or PLG scaffolds loaded with tumor lysate, GM-CSF, and 100 µg CpG administered either once (on day 9, labeled Vax, 1×) or twice (days 9 and 19, labeled Vax, 2×). *Reproduced with permission from Ali OA, Emerich D, Dranoff G, Mooney DJ. In situ regulation of DC subsets and T cells mediates tumor regression in mice. Sci Transl Med. November 25, 2009;1(8):8ra19, The American Association for the Advancement of Science.*
41. MATERIALS-BASED CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPIES



FIGURE 41.9 (A) Schematic showing how alginate-derived Cryogel cancer vaccines are prepared. Cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG), granulocyte macrophage—colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and arginylglyclaspartic acid (RGD)-containing methacrylated-alginate undergo cryogelation at subzero temperatures. Gels are then seeded with irradiated melanoma cells and incubated for 6 h before subcutaneous injection. (B) Scanning electron microscopic (SEM) image of the macroporous Cryogel. (C) Cross-sectional SEM image of macroporous Cryogel showing interconnected pores. (D) 2D confocal micrograph showing seeded melanoma cells on the Cryogel. Intracellular actin is shown in *green*, cell nuclei in *blue*, and Cryogel polymer walls in *red*. (E) 3D reconstruction of confocal image showing spreading and elongation of seeded irradiated melanoma cells after 6 h in culture. *ODN*, oligodeoxynucleotides. *Reproduced with permission from Bencherif SA*, *Warren Sands R*, *Ali OA*, *Li WA*, *Lewin SA*, *Braschler TM*, *et al. Injectable cryogel-based whole-cell cancer vaccines*. Nat Commun August 12, 2015;6(May):7556, Nature Publishing Group.

modulation in vivo, a suspension of MSRs loaded with GM-CSF, CpG, and antigen was injected subcutaneously, leading to spontaneous nonspecific self-assembly in situ to form a 3D macroporous structure akin to "thrown match-sticks" (Fig. 41.10) [83].

The high pore volume and large surface area associated with the MSRs allowed for the continuous release of bioactive GM-CSF and CpG over several weeks in vitro and promoted the persistence of a model antigen (OVA) at the vaccination site compared with bolus control by an order of magnitude (Fig. 41.11) [83]. The MSR vaccine generated a potent adaptive immune response, not only increasing the frequency of antigen-specific cytotoxic lymphocytes but also eliciting strong and durable titers of antigen-specific serum immunoglobulin  $G_{2a}$  (Ig $G_{2a}$ ) antibodies associated with a Th1 inflammatory immune response. By comparison, the conventional adjuvant alum combined with the model antigen ovalbumin was able to elicit only serum anti-ovalbumin Ig $G_1$  antibodies, skewing toward a Th2 more tolerogenic immune response. A single injection with the MSR-based cancer vaccine in the prophylactic setting was able to reduce tumor growth rate significantly and enhance survival over unvaccinated controls in a murine model of lymphoma; this illustrates the potential utility of MSRs for use as an injectable biomaterial scaffold in cancer immunotherapy.

## Implantable Biomaterial Scaffolds to Enhance Autologous T Cell Therapy

Macroscale biomaterials have also been used to augment other steps in the cancer-immunity cycle [84]. Whereas the work of Ali and coworkers focused on designing systems for the in situ programming of DCs in the context of cancer vaccines, others used a biomaterials approach to address downstream events in the cancer-immunity cycle. Adoptive T cell therapy, for example, involves the infusion of autologous tumor-reactive lymphocytes to target malignancies. Maintaining the presence and antitumor potency of the bolus-injected T cells has been challenging, however. Furthermore, infused lymphocytes have difficulty tracking to the site of the tumor and overcoming the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment when they reach it, which results in limited efficacy of this modality against solid malignancies [85]. To improve the in vivo expansion and potency of lymphocytes used for adoptive cell therapy, Stephan et al. [86] described the use of a macroporous alginate scaffold to deliver T cells to accessible or resected tumors. The scaffolds were covalently modified with a lymphocyte adhesion peptide and stimulatory cues were presented to the loaded T cells by incorporating lipid-coated silica microparticles containing the soluble factor IL-15 superagonist and bound to costimulatory anti-CD3, anti-CD28, and anti-CD137 antibodies (Fig. 41.12) [86].

Adhesion peptide-modified scaffolds increased the transit of loaded lymphocytes by 6.3-fold in vitro versus unmodified scaffolds whereas the addition of the stimulatory silica microparticles boosted in vitro T cell proliferation by 22-fold. In a mouse 4T1 breast tumor resection model, tumor-reactive T cells were delivered to the resection



**FIGURE 41.10** Schematic of mesoporous silica rod (MSR)-based vaccine in situ self-assembly and mechanism of action. MSRs dispersed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) are injected subcutaneously, forming a pocket. As PBS diffuses away from the site of injection, MSRs randomly and spontaneously self-assemble into a macroporous structure, allowing for host immune cell recruitment (via release of recruitment factors from the MSRs), programming (via antigen and danger signals incorporated into the vaccine), and finally emigration of programmed cells to target structures such as draining lymph nodes. *Reproduced with permission from Kim J, Li WA, Choi Y, Lewin SA, Verbeke CS, Dranoff G, et al. Injectable, spontaneously assembling, inorganic scaffolds modulate immune cells in vivo and increase vaccine efficacy. Nat Biotechnol January 2015;33(1):64–72, Nature Publishing Group.* 



**FIGURE 41.11** Recruitment factor (granulocyte macrophage–colony-stimulating factor [GM-CSF]) and danger signal (cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides [CpG]) are released from mesoporous silica rod (MSR) scaffolds in a sustained manner. (A) In vitro release curve of bioactive GM-CSF from MSRs. (B) In vitro release curve of CpG from MSRs. (C) MSRs allow for enhanced persistence of a model antigen at the vaccination site. *Left panel* shows near-infrared fluorescent images of mice injected with a bolus of fluorescently labeled ovalbumin (OVA\*) versus MSRs loaded with the same antigen; *right graph* shows relative OVA remaining at injection sites over time. *Reproduced with permission from Kim J, Li WA, Choi Y, Lewin SA, Verbeke CS, Dranoff G, et al. Injectable, spontaneously assembling, inorganic scaffolds modulate immune cells in vivo and increase vaccine efficacy. Nat Biotechnol. January 2015;33(1):64–72, Nature Publishing Group.* 



**FIGURE 41.12** Schematic of a macroporous alginate scaffold used to deliver antitumor T cells (*blue*) to the tumor site via surgical placement. Stimulatory silica microparticles (*green*) contained in the scaffold promote T-cell activation and expansion, followed by migration of the activated immune cells into the surrounding environment. *Reproduced with permission from Stephan SB, Taber AM, Jileaeva I, Pegues EP, Sentman CL, Stephan MT. Biopolymer implants enhance the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol January 2015;33(1):97–101, Nature Publishing Group.* 



FIGURE 41.13 Tumor-reactive T cells delivered to the tumor site using the macroporous alginate scaffold—stimulatory microparticle system can eliminate residual disease in a 4T1 breast tumor model of residual disease. (A) Bioluminescent imaging of luciferase-expressing 4T1 breast tumors treated with no T cells, intravenously administered T cells, a T cell bolus injected into the tumor resection cavity (both unstimulated and prestimulated before injection), and biomaterial scaffold—delivered T cells. (B) Kaplan—Meier survival curves for these groups, showing 100% survival for mice treated with the biomaterial scaffold—delivered T cells. All other groups showed tumor recurrence at varying time points. *Reproduced with permission from Stephan SB, Taber AM, Jileaeva I., Pegues EP, Sentman CL, Stephan MT. Biopolymer implants enhance the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol. January 2015;33(1):97–101, Nature Publishing Group.* 

cavity using this macroporous scaffold system loaded with stimulatory microparticles, resulting in no recurrences. In contrast, intravenous injection of T cells had a metastatic relapse rate equal to negative controls, whereas injecting prestimulated T cells directly into the resection cavity had only a modest effect (improving median survival versus controls by an additional 11 days, but not preventing recurrence) (Fig. 41.13) [86]. T cells delivered to the resection cavity via the biomaterial scaffold were found to proliferate at the resection site (167-fold versus injected, prestimulated cells delivered without the scaffold) and maintain a nonexhausted phenotype, whereas intravenously injected T cells accumulated in the spleen and liver instead. In addition, the use of the polymeric scaffold to deliver NKG2D CAR-transduced T cells in a mouse model of stage 3 ovarian carcinoma with peritoneal metastases produced complete tumor clearance in 6 of 10 mice whereas locally injected T cells were unable to show tumor eradication in any animals. The efficacy of this system in preclinical models of improperly resected or metastatic cancer illustrates the potential for a biomaterials approach to provide localized delivery of antitumor immune cells while enabling their proliferation and activation in the face of an adverse tumor microenvironment.

## CONCLUSION

The unprecedented scale and scope of ongoing investments in immunotherapy by pharmaceutical companies illustrate the excitement regarding this area [87]. Despite this heavy investment, thus far single-modality immunotherapies such as ICIs have proven effective in only a small fraction of cancer patients. Although rational combinations of immunotherapies that affect multiple points in the cancer-immunity cycle have been shown to be more efficacious, our understanding of cancer immunobiology is still far from complete. Nonetheless, rapid progress witnessed in the field of cancer immunotherapy justifies confidence that increasingly effective immunotherapies can be designed as the components required for a robust antitumor response become increasingly clear. The ability of engineered biomaterial systems to control the spatiotemporal distribution of cells and bioactive factors will allow them to have an important key role in learning how biomaterial—immune system interactions work, but then also to exploit these characteristics to shape an evolving anticancer immune response. It remains to be seen whether the most successful biomaterials-based cancer immunotherapies will be used to improve current therapies such as targeting immune-modulating antibodies and/or adoptively transferred immune cells more effectively to the tumor, enhancing the generation of antigen-specific immune effector cells through better priming, or curtailing the adverse tumor microenvironment. Perhaps an as yet—undiscovered pathway may

present another opportunity for engineered systems to address. Regardless, the continued development of safer and more effective immunotherapies will depend on the effective integration of ideas across a broad spectrum of disciplines and collaboration between scientists and clinicians to allow for the effective translation of these technologies to the clinic.

## List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

APCs antigen presenting cells CAR T-cell Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-cell CCL20 Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 20 CpG cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides CTLA-4 Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 DCs Dendritic cells DOPE 1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine DOTMA 1,2-di-O-octadecenyl-3-trimethylammonium propane EPR effect Enhanced permeation and retention effect FDA Food and Drug Administration GM-CSF Granulocyte colony stimulating factor HER2 Human estrogen receptor 2 ICIs Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors ICMVs Interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles IFN-gamma Interferon gamma IL Interleukin IL-12 Interleukin 12 **IL-1** $\alpha$  Interleukin 1 $\alpha$ IL-2 Interleukin 2 LPS Lipopolysaccharide MDSCs Myeloid-derived suppressor cells MPL-A Monophosphoryl lipid A MPS Mononuclear phagocytic system MSRs mesoporous silica rods NK cells Natural killer cells NLGs Nanolipogels OVA ovalbumin PD-1 Programmed cell death protein-1 PDS Pyridyl disulfide PLG Poly(lactide-co-glycolide) Poly I:C Polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid PRR pattern recognition receptor RGD Arginylglyclaspartic acid RNA-LPX RNA liposome complexes (lipoplex) siRNA Short interfering RNAs STAT3 Signal transducer and activator transcription 3 TAMs Tumor-associated macrophages tdLNs Tumor-draining lymph nodes Th1/Th2 T-helper 1/T-helper 2 adaptive immune response TLR Toll-like receptor Tregs T-regulatory Cells TRP2 Tyrosinase-related protein-2

## Glossary

- Active nanoparticle targeting Nanoparticle targeting applications that require the surface conjugation of a targeting moiety (i.e., ligands, antibody) to target nanoparticles to a desired cell or location.
- Adaptive immune system The response of antigen-specific lymphocytes to antigen, including the development of immunological memory. Adaptive immune responses are generated by the clonal selection of lymphocytes. Adaptive immune responses are distinct from innate and nonadaptive phases of immunity, which are not mediated by clonal selection of antigen-specific lymphocytes.
- Adjuvant An adjuvant is any substance that enhances the immune response to an antigen with which it is mixed.
- Adoptive T-cell therapy A specific immunotherapy strategy which involves the isolation and ex vivo expansion of tumor-specific T cells, and then reinfusion to the patient.
- Antigen presenting cells Highly specialized cells that can process antigens and display their peptide fragments on the cell surface together with molecules required for T-cell activation. The main antigen-presenting cells for T cells are dendritic cells, macrophages, and B cells.
- Autoimmune responses An adaptive immune response directed at self-antigens is called an autoimmune response; likewise, adaptive immunity specific for self-antigens is called autoimmunity

#### GLOSSARY

- **B Cell** One of the two major types of lymphocyte. The antigen receptor on B lymphocytes, usually called the B-cell receptor, is a cell-surface immunoglobulin. After activation by antigen, B cells differentiate into cells producing antibody molecules of the same antigen specificity as this receptor.
- Cancer vaccine A specific immunotherapy strategy that aims to train the immune function to recognize and destroy cancer cells. This is typically done by providing both an antigen expressed by the cancer cells and an adjuvant to stimulate generation of T cells specific to that cancer antigen.
- **Chemokines** Chemokines are small chemoattractant proteins that stimulate the migration and activation of cells, especially phagocytic cells and lymphocytes. They have a central role in inflammatory responses.
- **Clonal T cell expansion** Clonal expansion is the proliferation of antigen-specific lymphocytes in response to antigenic stimulation; it precedes their differentiation into effector cells. It is an essential step in adaptive immunity, allowing rare antigen-specific cells to increase in number so that they can effectively combat the pathogen that elicited the response.
- **Corona** A serum protein shell that forms around a nanoparticle, especially charged nanoparticles, after introduction into a protein-rich environment such as blood.
- **Costimulatory molecules** The proliferation of lymphocytes requires both antigen binding and the receipt of a costimulatory signal. Costimulatory signals are delivered to T cells by the costimulatory molecules B7.1 and B7.2, related molecules that are expressed on the surface of antigen presenting cells, and which bind the T cell surface molecule CD28.
- Cytokines Cytokines are proteins made by cells that affect the behavior of other cells. Cytokines made by lymphocytes are often called lymphokines or interleukins, but the generic term "cytokine" is used in this book and most of the literature. Cytokines act on specific cytokine receptors on the cells that they affect.
- Cytotoxic T cells or lymphocyte T cells that can kill other cells are called cytotoxic T cells. Most cytotoxic T cells are major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted CD8 T cells, but CD4 T cells can also kill in some cases. Cytotoxic T cells are important in host defense against cytosolic pathogens.
- **Dendritic cells** Dendritic cells, also known as interdigitating reticular cells, are found in T-cell areas of lymphoid tissues. They have a branched or dendritic morphology and are the most potent stimulators of T-cell responses. Nonlymphoid tissues also contain dendritic cells, but these are not able to stimulate T-cell responses until they are activated and migrate to lymphoid tissues. The dendritic cell derives from bone marrow precursors. It is distinct from the follicular dendritic cell that presents antigen to B cells.
- **Effector immune cells** Armed effector cells, most often effector T cell, that can be triggered to perform their effector functions immediately upon contact with cells bearing the peptide—major histocompatibility complex for which they are specific. They contrast with memory T cells, which need to be activated by antigen-presenting cells to differentiate into effector T cells before they can mediate effector responses.
- Enhanced permeation and retention effect A phenomenon by which molecules of a certain size, typically nanoparticles and/or drugs, tend to accumulate in tumor tissue more so than they do in normal tissue. Many believe that this is a result of leaky tumor vasculature and inadequate lymphatic drainage of solid tumors.
- Helper T cell A class of T cells, a specific subclass of CD4+ T cells, that can help B cells make antibody in response to antigenic challenge. The most efficient helper T cells are also known as Th2 cells, which make the cytokines interleukins-4 and 5.
- Hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity The physical property of a material to either repel or promote water from binding to its surface.
- **Immunoediting** A dynamic process by which tumors survive attack by the immune system. Typically described as three phases: elimination of immunologically susceptible cells, equilibrium, and finally, immunologic escape.
- Immunogenic Any molecule that can elicit an adaptive immune response on injection into a person or animal is called an immunogen, and thus is classified as being immunogenic. In practice, only proteins are fully immunogenic because only proteins can be recognized by T lymphocytes.
- **Immunologic escape** The point at which a tumor is no longer susceptible to immune surveillance and begins to progress in terms of growth and malignancy.
- **Immunologic memory** When an antigen is encountered more than once, the adaptive immune response to each subsequent encounter is speedier and more effective, a crucial feature of protective immunity known as immunological memory. Immunological memory is specific for a particular antigen and is long-lived.
- Immunosuppressive A characteristic of something that promotes the inhibition or downregulation of immune responses.
- Immunotherapy The prevention or treatment of disease by using or stimulating components of the immune system.
- Innate immune system Cells that are responsible for the early phases of the host response to an injury or immunologic insult in which a variety of innate resistance mechanisms recognize and respond to the presence of a pathogen. Innate immunity is present in all individuals at all times, does not increase with repeated exposure to a given pathogen, and discriminates between a group of related pathogens.
- Interferons Cytokines that can induce cells to resist viral replication. Interferon-alpha and interferon-beta are produced by leukocytes and fibroblasts, respectively, as well as by other cells, whereas interferon-gamma is a product of CD4 Th1 cells, CD8 T cells, and natural killer cells. IFNgamma has the activation of macrophages as its primary action.
- Interleukins A generic term for cytokines produced by leukocytes. The more general term "cytokine" is often used, but the term "interleukin" is used to name specific cytokines such as interleukin-2.
- **Macrophages** Macrophages are large mononuclear phagocytic cells important in innate immunity, in early nonadaptive phases of host defense, as antigen-presenting cells, and as effector cells in humoral and cell-mediated immunity. They are migratory cells deriving from bone marrow precursors and are found in most tissues of the body. They have a crucial role in host defense.
- **Monoclonal antibodies** Antibodies made from the same clonal cell line and have monovalent affinity, meaning that they bind the same epitope (the part of the antigen that is recognized by the antibody).
- Mononuclear phagocytic system A network of phagocytic cells located in the reticular connective tissue that are highly responsible for the clearance of nanosized and microsized materials from the blood.
- Myeloid-derived suppressor cells A heterogeneous group of immature myeloid immune cells that have been shown to induce significant immunosuppressive effects, especially in pathogenic situations such as in chronic infections or cancer.
- Nanomedicine The applications of nanotechnology in medicine.

Nanotechnology The manipulation and engineering of materials that are in the nanometer-size range, typically less than 100 nm.

Natural killer cells Large granular, non-T, non-B lymphocytes that kill certain tumor cells. Natural killer cells are important in innate immunity to viruses and other intracellular pathogens, as well as in antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

**Passive nanoparticle targeting** Nanoparticle targeting applications that use the nature physiochemical properties (i.e., size, shape, and surface charge) to target nanoparticles to a desired cell or location.

Pattern recognition receptors Receptors that bind to pathogen-associated molecular patterns, which are typical of bacteria or many commercially used adjuvants.

PEGylation The process of attachment of poly(ethylene glycol) to molecules, nanoparticles, or macrostructures.

**Phagocytosis/endocytosis** The internalization of particulate material by cells. If the material is being taken up by a phagocytic cell via invagination of the cellular membrane to form a phagosome, it is referred to as phagocytosis. If the material is taken up by a nonphagocytic cell through membrane invagination to form a vacuole, it is referred to as endocytosis.

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells A class of dendritic cells that circulate in the blood and are found in peripheral lymphoid organs (i.e., spleen, lymph node).

**RNA-lipoplex nanoparticles** A complex of RNA and lipid material to form liposome-like nanoparticle.

Self-antigens By convention, natural antigens in the body of an individual are called self-antigens. Lymphocytes are screened during their immature stages for reactivity with self-antigens; those that respond undergo apoptosis.

Spatiotemporal delivery Delivery of drug to its optimal location and with optimal time kinetics.

- Subunit vaccine A vaccination strategy that uses only part of the disease-causing pathogen. Cancer subunit vaccines typically involve the stimulation of an immune response against a single antigen known to be associated with the cancer cells.
- T-helper 1 (Th1)/T-helper 2 (Th2) adaptive immune response Th1 immune responses are adaptive immune responses that are primarily driven by Th1 cells. Th1 cells are a subset of CD4 T cells that are characterized by the cytokines they produce. They are mainly involved in activating macrophages and are sometimes called inflammatory CD4 T cells. Th2 immune responses are adaptive immune responses typically driven by Th2 cells. Th2 cells are a subset of CD4 T cells that are characterized by the cytokines they produce. They are mainly involved in stimulating B cells to produce antibody and are often called helper CD4 T cells.
- Therapeutic cancer vaccine Stimulation of the immune system so as to allow for the targeted attack of antigens present on cancer cells, typically through by generating tumor antigen–specific T cells.
- **Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists** Any agonist aiming to target a TLR. TLRs are a common pattern recognition receptor on antigen presenting cells and other innate immune cells. Binding and activation of TLRs promote inflammatory effects and stimulation of the cell. There are numerous TLRs, each with a different activation potential. They are all named TLR, followed by a number, as in TLR-4.

T-regulatory cells Regulatory or suppressor class of T cells that can inhibit T-cell response.

Tumor interstitium The space within a tumor that is not taken up by cancer cells; essentially all of the remaining space within a tumor.

Tumor microenvironment An intricate network of cancer cells, tumor stroma, and immune cells within a solid tumor that generally promote an overall immunosuppressive state.

- Tumor stroma The fibroblast, vasculature endothelial cells, pericytes, and other structural proteins that make up the extracellular matrix component of a tumor.
- Tumor-associated macrophages Macrophages found in close proximity or within solid tumors. Tumor-associated macrophages have been shown to induce significant protumor and antitumor effects and induce major immunosuppressive effects.
- **Tumor-specific antigens** An antigen that is overexpressed or specifically located on or within tumors. Often this is an antigen that is unique to the tumor, thus providing a targetable feature.

## Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Aurelie Hanoteau for her reviewing assistance. JMN acknowledges financial support from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences (T32GM088129) and the National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (F31DE026682) both of the National Institutes of Health. AGS acknowledges support from the Federal Drug Administration (R01 #FD-R-05109-01) and Baylor College of Medicine Carolyn Weiss Law Fund for Translational Research. SY gratefully acknowledges support from the National Institutes of Health (R00 DE023577) and the University of Texas System (Rising STARs Award). This content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

## References

- [1] Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144(5):646-74.
- [2] Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science April 3, 2015;348(6230):124–8.
- [3] Junttila MR, de Sauvage FJ. Influence of tumour micro-environment heterogeneity on therapeutic response. Nature September 19, 2013; 501(7467):346-54.
- [4] Coley WB. The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas. With a report of ten original cases Clin Orthop Relat Res 1893;1991 Jan(262):3–11.
- [5] Freund J, McDermott K. Sensitization to horse serum by means of adjuvants. Exp Biol Med 1942;49(2):548-53.
- [6] Ehrlich P. Present status of chemotherapy. Ber Dtsch Chem Ges 1909;42:17–47.
- [7] Foley EJ. Attempts to induce immunity against mammary adenocarcinoma in inbred mice. Cancer Res 1953;13(8):578-80.
- [8] Klein G, Sjögren HO, Klein E, Hellstrom KE. Demonstration of resistance against methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas in the primary autochthonous host. Cancer Res 1960;20(11):1561–72.
- [9] Révész L. Detection of antigenic differences in isologous host-tumor systems by pretreatment with heavily irradiated tumor cells. Cancer Res 1960;20(4):443-51.
- [10] Prehn RT, Main JM. Immunity to methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas. J Natl Cancer Inst June 1957;18(6):769-78.
- [11] Uyttenhove C, Maryanski J, Boon T. Escape of mouse mastocytoma P815 after nearly complete rejection is due to antigen-loss variants rather than immunosuppression. J Exp Med March 1, 1983;157(3):1040–52.

- [12] Gershon RK, Kondo K. Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. Immunology May 1970;18(5):723–37.
- [13] Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med May 1, 1973;137(5):1142–62.
- [14] Kiessling R, Klein E, Wigzell H. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. Eur J Immunol February 1975;5(2):112–7.
- [15] Isaacs A, Linderman J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc London Ser B Biol Sci September 12, 1957;147(927):258-67.
- [16] Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, Leitman S, Chang AE, Ettinghausen SE, et al. Observations on the systemic administration of autologous lymphokine-activated killer cells and recombinant Interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med December 5, 1985;313(23): 1485–92.
- [17] Lotze MT, Matory YL, Rayner AA, Ettinghausen SE, Vetto JT, Seipp CA, et al. Clinical effects and toxicity of interleukin-2 in patients with cancer. Cancer 1986;58(12):2764–72.
- [18] Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, Golumbek P, Levitsky H, Brose K, et al. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA April 15, 1993;90(8):3539–43.
- [19] Mukherji B, Chakraborty NG, Yamasaki S, Okino T, Yamase H, Sporn JR, et al. Induction of antigen-specific cytolytic T cells in situ in human melanoma by immunization with synthetic peptide-pulsed autologous antigen presenting cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92(17): 8078–82.
- [20] Small EJ, Schellhammer PF, Higano CS, Redfern CH, Nemunaitis JJ, Valone FH, et al. Placebo-controlled phase III trial of immunologic therapy with Sipuleucel-T (APC8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006;24(19): 3089–94.
- [21] Berzofsky JA, Terabe M, Oh S, Belyakov IM, Ahlers JD, Janik JE, et al. Progress on new vaccine strategies for the immunotherapy and prevention of cancer. J Clin Invest June 2004;113(11):1515–25.
- [22] Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity in patients after clonal repopulation with antitumor lymphocytes. Science October 25, 2002;298(5594):850–4.
- [23] Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science October 6, 2006;314(5796):126–9.
- [24] Till BG, Jensen MC, Wang J, Chen EY, Wood BL, Greisman H a, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy for indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma and mantle cell lymphoma using genetically modified autologous CD20-specific T cells. Blood September 15, 2008;112(6):2261–71.
- [25] Parry RV, Chemnitz JM, Frauwirth KA, Lanfranco AR, Braunstein I, Kobayashi SV, et al. CTLA-4 and PD-1 receptors inhibit T-cell activation by distinct mechanisms. Mol Cell Biol November 1, 2005;25(21):9543–53.
- [26] Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, Linsley PS, Freeman GJ, Green JM, et al. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. Immunity August 1994;1(5):405–13.
- [27] Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science March 22, 1996;271(5256):1734-6.
- [28] Yang YF, Zou JP, Mu J, Wijesuriya R, Ono S, Walunas T, et al. Enhanced induction of antitumor T-cell responses by cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated molecule-4 blockade: the effect is manifested only at the restricted tumor-bearing stages. Cancer Res September 15, 1997;57(18): 4036–41.
- [29] Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med August 19, 2010;363(8):711–23.
- [30] Prieto PA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hughes MS, Kammula US, White DE, et al. CTLA-4 blockade with ipilimumab: long-term follow-up of 177 patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res April 1, 2012;18(7):2039–47.
- [31] Thompson RH, Gillett MD, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Dong H, Webster WS, et al. Costimulatory B7-H1 in renal cell carcinoma patients: indicator of tumor aggressiveness and potential therapeutic target. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA December 7, 2004;101(49):17174–9.
- [32] Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, et al. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA February 27, 2007;104(9):3360–5.
- [33] Blank C, Brown I, Peterson AC, Spiotto M, Iwai Y, Honjo T, et al. PD-L1/B7H-1 inhibits the effector phase of tumor rejection by T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res February 1, 2004;64(3):1140–5.
- [34] Ahmadzadeh M, Johnson LA, Heemskerk B, Wunderlich JR, Dudley ME, White DE, et al. Tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cells infiltrating the tumor express high levels of PD-1 and are functionally impaired. Blood August 20, 2009;114(8):1537–44.
- [35] Wong RM, Scotland RR, Lau RL, Wang C, Korman AJ, Kast WM, et al. Programmed death-1 blockade enhances expansion and functional capacity of human melanoma antigen-specific CTLs. Int Immunol October 2007;19(10):1223–34.
- [36] Iwai Y, Terawaki S, Honjo T. PD-1 blockade inhibits hematogenous spread of poorly immunogenic tumor cells by enhanced recruitment of effector T cells. Int Immunol March 2005;17(2):133–44.
- [37] Vanneman M, Dranoff G. Combining immunotherapy and targeted therapies in cancer treatment. Nat Rev Cancer 2012;12(4):237-51.
- [38] Feynman RP. There's plenty of room at the bottom. Eng Sci 1960:22-36.
- [39] Fang J, Nakamura H, Maeda H. The EPR effect: unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2011;63(3):136–51.
- [40] Nie S, Xing Y, Kim GJ, Simons JW. Nanotechnology applications in cancer. Annu Rev Biomed Eng January 2007;9:257-88.
- [41] Albanese A, Tang PS, Chan WCW. The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems. Annu Rev Biomed Eng January 2012;14:1–16.
- [42] Zamboni WC, Torchilin V, Patri AK, Hrkach J, Stern S, Lee R, et al. Best practices in cancer nanotechnology: perspective from NCI nanotechnology alliance. Clin Cancer Res June 15, 2012;18(12):3229–41.
- [43] Gratton SEA, Ropp PA, Pohlhaus PD, Luft JC, Madden VJ, Napier ME, et al. The effect of particle design on cellular internalization pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA August 19, 2008;105(33):11613–8.
- [44] Geng Y, Dalhaimer P, Cai S, Tsai R, Tewari M, Minko T, et al. Shape effects of filaments versus spherical particles in flow and drug delivery. Nat Nanotechnol April 25, 2007;2(4):249–55.

#### 41. MATERIALS-BASED CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPIES

- [45] Lee H, Fonge H, Hoang B, Reilly RM, Allen C. The effects of particle size and molecular targeting on the intratumoral and subcellular distribution of polymeric nanoparticles. Mol Pharm August 2, 2010;7(4):1195–208.
- [46] Fröhlich E. The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles. Int J Nanomed 2012;7:5577–91.
- [47] He C, Hu Y, Yin L, Tang C, Yin C. Effects of particle size and surface charge on cellular uptake and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. Biomaterials May 2010;31(13):3657–66.
- [48] Roser M, Fischer D, Kissel T. Surface-modified biodegradable albumin nano- and microspheres. II: effect of surface charges on in vitro phagocytosis and biodistribution in rats. Eur J Pharm Biopharm November 1998;46(3):255–63.
- [49] Nel AE, M\u00e4del L, Velegol D, Xia T, Hoek EMV, Somasundaran P, et al. Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. Nat Mater July 2009;8(7):543–57.
- [50] Gu F, Zhang L, Teply BA, Mann N, Wang A, Radovic-Moreno AF, et al. Precise engineering of targeted nanoparticles by using self-assembled biointegrated block copolymers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA February 19, 2008;105(7):2586–91.
- [51] Pillai G. Nanomedicines for cancer Therapy : an update of FDA approved and those under various stages of development. SOJ Pharm Pharm Sci 2014;1(2):13.
- [52] Rodriguez PL, Harada T, Christian DA, Pantano DA, Tsai RK, Discher DE. Minimal "Self" peptides that inhibit phagocytic clearance and enhance delivery of nanoparticles. Science February 22, 2013;339(6122):971–5.
- [53] Kim HR, Gil S, Andrieux K, Nicolas V, Appel M, Chacun H, et al. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-mediated endocytosis of PEGylated nanoparticles in rat brain endothelial cells. Cell Mol Life Sci February 2007;64(3):356–64.
- [54] Molino NM, Anderson AKL, Nelson EL, Wang S-W. Biomimetic protein nanoparticles facilitate enhanced dendritic cell activation and crosspresentation. ACS Nano November 26, 2013;7(11):9743–52.
- [55] Fan N-C, Cheng F-Y, Ho JA, Yeh C-S. Photocontrolled targeted drug delivery: photocaged biologically active folic acid as a light-responsive tumor-targeting molecule. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl August 27, 2012;51(35):8806–10.
- [56] Liu T-Y, Hu S-H, Liu K-H, Shaiu R-S, Liu D-M, Chen S-Y. Instantaneous drug delivery of magnetic/thermally sensitive nanospheres by a high-frequency magnetic field. Langmuir December 2, 2008;24(23):13306–11.
- [57] Liao D, Liu Z, Wrasidlo WJ, Luo Y, Nguyen G, Chen T, et al. Targeted therapeutic remodeling of the tumor microenvironment improves an HER-2 DNA vaccine and prevents recurrence in a murine breast cancer model. Cancer Res September 1, 2011;71(17):5688–96.
- [58] Kwong B, Liu H, Irvine DJ. Induction of potent anti-tumor responses while eliminating systemic side effects via liposome-anchored combinatorial immunotherapy. Biomaterials August 2011;32(22):5134–47.
- [59] Sánchez A, Tobio M, González L, Fabra A, Alonso MJ. Biodegradable micro- and nanoparticles as long-term delivery vehicles for interferonalpha. Eur J Pharm Sci March 2003;18(3–4):221–9.
- [60] Li YP, Pei YY, Zhou ZH, Zhang XY, Gu ZH, Ding J, et al. PEGylated polycyanoacrylate nanoparticles as tumor necrosis factor-alpha carriers. J Control Release April 28, 2001;71(3):287–96.
- [61] Park J, Wrzesinski SH, Stern E, Look M, Criscione J, Ragheb R, et al. Combination delivery of TGF-β inhibitor and IL-2 by nanoscale liposomal polymeric gels enhances tumour immunotherapy. Nat Mater October 2012;11(10):895–905.
- [62] Kwong B, Gai SA, Elkhader J, Wittrup KD, Irvine DJ. Localized immunotherapy via liposome-anchored Anti-CD137 + IL-2 prevents lethal toxicity and elicits local and systemic antitumor immunity. Cancer Res March 1, 2013;73(5):1547–58.
- [63] Manolova V, Flace A, Bauer M, Schwarz K, Saudan P, Bachmann MF. Nanoparticles target distinct dendritic cell populations according to their size. Eur J Immunol May 2008;38(5):1404–13.
- [64] Hanson MC, Crespo MP, Abraham W, Moynihan KD, Szeto GL, Chen SH, et al. Nanoparticulate STING agonists are potent lymph nodetargeted vaccine adjuvants. J Clin Invest June 2015;125(6):2532–46.
- [65] Moon JJ, Suh H, Bershteyn A, Stephan MT, Liu H, Huang B, et al. Interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles as synthetic vaccines for potent humoral and cellular immune responses. Nat Mater March 20, 2011;10(3):243–51.
- [66] Liu H, Moynihan KD, Zheng Y, Szeto GL, Li AV, Huang B, et al. Structure-based programming of lymph-node targeting in molecular vaccines. Nature March 27, 2014;507(7493):519–22.
- [67] Moynihan KD, Opel CF, Szeto GL, Tzeng A, Zhu EF, Engreitz JM, et al. Eradication of large established tumors in mice by combination immunotherapy that engages innate and adaptive immune responses. Nat Med October 24, 2016;22(12):1402–10.
- [68] Jeanbart L, Ballester M, de Titta A, Corthésy P, Romero P, Hubbell JA, et al. Enhancing efficacy of anticancer vaccines by targeted delivery to tumor-draining lymph nodes. Cancer Immunol Res May 2014;2(5):436–47.
- [69] Thomas SN, Vokali E, Lund AW, Hubbell JA, Swartz MA. Targeting the tumor-draining lymph node with adjuvanted nanoparticles reshapes the anti-tumor immune response. Biomaterials January 2014;35(2):814–24.
- [70] Kranz LM, Diken M, Haas H, Kreiter S, Loquai C, Reuter KC, et al. Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. Nature 2016;534(7607):396-401.
- [71] Hotaling NA, Tang L, Irvine DJ, Babensee JE. Biomaterial strategies for immunomodulation. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2015;17(September): 317–49.
- [72] Cheung AS, Mooney DJ. Engineered materials for cancer immunotherapy. Nano Today August 1, 2015;10(4):511-31.
- [73] Shao K, Singha S, Clemente-Casares X, Tsai S, Yang Y, Santamaria P. Nanoparticle-based immunotherapy for cancer. ACS Nano January 27, 2015;9(1):16–30.
- [74] Stephan MT, Stephan SB, Bak P, Chen J, Irvine DJ. Synapse-directed delivery of immunomodulators using T-cell-conjugated nanoparticles. Biomaterials August 2012;33(23):5776–87.
- [75] Zheng Y, Stephan MT, Gai SA, Abraham W, Shearer A, Irvine DJ. In vivo targeting of adoptively transferred T-cells with antibody- and cytokine-conjugated liposomes. J Control Release December 10, 2013;172(2):426–35.
- [76] Kearney CJ, Mooney DJ. Macroscale delivery systems for molecular and cellular payloads. Nat Mater November 2013;12(11):1004–17.
- [77] Ali OA, Huebsch N, Cao L, Dranoff G, Mooney DJ. Infection-mimicking materials to program dendritic cells in situ. Nat Mater February 2009; 8(2):151–8.
- [78] Ali OA, Emerich D, Dranoff G, Mooney DJ. In situ regulation of DC subsets and T cells mediates tumor regression in mice. Sci Transl Med November 25, 2009;1(8):8ra19.

- [79] Ali OA, Verbeke C, Johnson C, Sands RW, Lewin SA, White D, et al. Identification of immune factors regulating antitumor immunity using polymeric vaccines with multiple adjuvants. Cancer Res March 15, 2014;74(6):1670–81.
- [80] Ali OA, Tayalia P, Shvartsman D, Lewin S, Mooney DJ. Inflammatory cytokines presented from polymer matrices differentially generate and activate DCs in situ. Adv Funct Mater August 1, 2013;23(36):4621–8.
- [81] Bencherif SA, Sands RW, Bhatta D, Arany P, Verbeke CS, Edwards DA, et al. Injectable preformed scaffolds with shape-memory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA November 27, 2012;109(48):19590–5.
- [82] Bencherif SA, Warren Sands R, Ali OA, Li WA, Lewin SA, Braschler TM, et al. Injectable cryogel-based whole-cell cancer vaccines. Nat Commun August 12, 2015;6(May):7556.
- [83] Kim J, Li WA, Choi Y, Lewin SA, Verbeke CS, Dranoff G, et al. Injectable, spontaneously assembling, inorganic scaffolds modulate immune cells in vivo and increase vaccine efficacy. Nat Biotechnol January 2015;33(1):64–72.
- [84] Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity July 25, 2013;39(1):1-10.
- [85] Redeker A, Arens R. Improving adoptive T cell therapy: the particular Role of T Cell costimulation, cytokines, and post-transfer vaccination. Front Immunol 2016;7(September):345.
- [86] Stephan SB, Taber AM, Jileaeva I, Pegues EP, Sentman CL, Stephan MT. Biopolymer implants enhance the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol January 2015;33(1):97–101.
- [87] Brawley L. With 20 agents, 803 trials, and 166,736 patient slots, is pharma investing too heavily in PD-1 drug development? Cancer Lett 2016; 42(37):1–8.
- [88] Huebsch N, Mooney DJ. Inspiration and application in the evolution of biomaterials. Nature November 26, 2009;462(7272):426-32.

This page intentionally left blank

## Gene Editing in Regenerative Medicine

Yunlan Fang<sup>1</sup>, Xuguang Chen<sup>2,\*</sup>, W.T. Godbey<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>XenoBiotic Laboratories, Inc., Plainsboro Township, NJ, United States; <sup>2</sup>Salubris Biotherapeutics, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD, United States; <sup>3</sup>Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, United States

## GENOME EDITING TOOLS

Genome editing can be defined as the modification of the genome within a living cell through the insertion, deletion, or replacement of one or more segments of DNA. Currently, the commonly accepted view of genome editing entails genome modifications via site-specific nucleases. Although the current view is valued, it is also important to include other genome editing approaches that do not use targeted nucleases, because many down-stream applications in regenerative medicine require much higher efficiency editing rates than site-specific editing can supply. These approaches include gene insertion, recombination, and translocation.

## **Targetable Nucleases**

All genome editing approaches that use targeted nucleases share a similar mechanism. The function of targeted nucleases is to induce a double-strand break within the cellular genome at a particular site. After the cleavage is established, inherent cellular DNA repair mechanisms are initiated to fix the double-strand break spontaneously. Three major types of targetable nucleases have been developed and widely applied within the genomic engineering field: clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPR-associated systems (CRISPR-Cas), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs). Among these three systems, CRISPR has attracted considerable attention owing in part to its simplicity, although great work has also been performed using TALENs and ZFNs. Because the three systems share the same DNA repair mechanisms inherent in the cell, therapeutic concepts investigated using one system could be pursued via the other two if certain conditions are met.

## **Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats**

Genes that can be targeted by a CRISPR system are CRISPR-Cas genes. This system, which was first noticed (but not immediately pursued) in *Escherichia coli* by Ishino et al. in 1987 [1], involves repeated sequences of DNA that do not appear in tandem. As time went on and more repeat sequences were identified and characterized in different strains of archaea, bacteria, and mitochondria [2], the repeat sequences became a focus of interest, with the term "CRISPR" being coined in 2002 by Jansen and Mojica and the involvement of Cas proteins being observed at the same time [3].

CRISPR-Cas systems are thought to be parts of a primordial immune system in which bacteria acquire immunity to certain viruses by inserting a fragment of the viral genome into a CRISPR locus. The bacterial immune process basically consists of chopping up the genome of a viral invader into small fragments of approximately 20 bases. Focusing on a single fragment, it will be placed into a special location in the bacterial genome. The locus, now modified with the viral gene fragment, will be transcribed and processed into CRISPR-RNA (crRNA), which we will refer to as guide RNA (gRNA) when discussing applied genome editing.

<sup>\*</sup> Author was at Rutgers University when the chapter was written.

Cas proteins are restriction enzymes (endonucleases) that have a tunable recognition sequence. The enzyme specificity is determined by the crRNA (gRNA) introduced earlier. The Cas protein binds to a region on the 3' side of the crRNA (gRNA) known as the "scaffold sequence," leaving a section at the 5' end of the gRNA, termed the "spacer sequence," free to act as a probe for locating homologous regions within DNA (Fig. 42.1). In wild-type bacterial systems, the crRNA is used to identify DNA as foreign; in engineered systems, the gRNA is used to locate a region in the genome for editing in a site-specific way. After binding of the Cas-bound crRNA or gRNA spacer sequence to a homologous region of DNA, the Cas protein will cleave the DNA in one of several ways. Three different paradigms for gene editing with CRISPR will be discussed subsequently: double-stranded breaks, nickases, and homologydirected repair.

## **Knockouts via Double-Strand Breaks**

Isolated cells can be made to express specific gRNA sequences that can be used to target other DNA sequences for knockout. There are three requirements for the transcribed gRNA: (1) It must have a scaffold sequence that will bind to a given Cas. Cas is inactive unless gRNA is bound. (2) The target sequence must be unique; otherwise, several genes may be bound and produce off-target effects. (3) The target must be just upstream of a protospacer-adjacent motif, also known as a PAM sequence. (For discussion purposes, we will focus on a specific Cas: Cas 9 from *Streptococcus pyogenes*, also known as spCas9. The CRISPR/spCas9 system is one of the most well-characterized and widely used gene editing systems.) The PAM sequence for spCas9 is 5'-NGG-3'. The PAM sequence is an absolute requirement for this system: If the spCas9/gRNA binds to a target sequence that is not next to a PAM, there will be no cleavage by spCas9. However, with the PAM present, cleavage will take place three to four bases upstream of the PAM (Fig. 42.2). SpCas9/gRNA can bind to any portion of the DNA with a PAM, but it is the matching with the spacer sequence that determines whether DNA cleavage will take place.

The spCas9 protein has six domains, including two endonuclease domains: HNH and RuvC. If there is a good match between the gRNA spacer sequence and the target DNA sequence, a conformational change in the Cas9 occurs, thereby activating HNH (which cleaves the target DNA strand) and RuvC (which cleaves the nontarget strand) domains. A double-strand break is thereby introduced.

The double-strand break will be repaired by the cell in one of two ways: nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) or homology-directed repair (HDR). NHEJ is the more common of the two pathways in the cell. It is also more errorprone because insertions and deletions can easily occur, and these can cause frameshift mutations. The result of a frameshift can cause codons to be translated differently, as in different amino acids being assembled onto a growing



**FIGURE 42.1** The DNA recognition and cleavage functions carried out in the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) gene editing systems come from a complex consisting of a CRISPR-associated systems (Cas) protein interacting with a CRISPR RNA (crRNA). The crRNA, known as guide RNA in applied gene editing, consists of a scaffold sequence that will bind to the Cas protein, and a spacer sequence that will extend from the complex, allowing it to interact with chromosomal DNA as a probe. The wild-type Cas protein has domains that are responsible for inducing double-stranded breaks in DNA after homology with the spacer sequence has been established.



FIGURE 42.2 Interaction of CRISPR-associated systems 9– guide RNA (Cas9/gRNA) with double-stranded DNA. Although a homologous DNA sequence may be recognized by a Cas9/gRNA complex, DNA cleavage will only take place if a protospacer-adjacent motif (PAM) sequence is present in the DNA. It is the PAM sequences, which appear in numerous, nearly evenly spaced copies in the DNA, that are referred to by the CRISPR acronym (Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats).

polypeptide, the elimination of a stop codon, or the introduction of a premature stop. In each of these cases, a nonfunctional protein is likely, so this type of DNA repair often results in knocking out a gene by lowering or halting the production of a functional protein product.

HDR has a much higher fidelity, but it is not used as much in the cell. We will return to HDR in a moment.

## Nickases

One problem with generating knockouts via double-strand breaks is that despite using a 20-base recognition (spacer) segment on the gRNA, sequences with near-homology may also be cut. One logical solution to this problem would be to use gRNAs with longer spacer sequences. The problem with this idea is that the CRISPR-Cas system is set up for approximately 20-nucleotide spacers, so using a gRNA that has a 40-nucleotide spacer sequence would not work well. An alternative approach is to modify the Cas protein so that it cuts only one DNA strand. By creating a Cas9 with an inactivated HNH domain, or a Cas9 with an inactivated RuvC domain, and by loading the mutated Cas9 protein with respective gRNAs that are specific to separate areas on one of the two strands of DNA, one can essentially require homology at 40 nucleotides (20 for each of the two gRNAs) before the formation of a double-strand break (Fig. 42.3). Only one type of mutated Cas9 is required: HNH-mutated or RuvC-mutated. Unmutated HNH cuts the strand that pairs with the guide RNA, while unmutated RuvC cuts the strand with the PAM sequence. It is through the selection of guide sequences with spacers complimentary to sequences on each of the host DNA strands that is used to generate what amounts to a staggered double-strand break.

The single-stranded breaks introduced by the mutated Cas proteins are known as "nicks"; hence the term "nickases" used to describe the proteins. Nicks are usually repaired quickly by the HDR system and with high fidelity. With the Cas nickase system, a double-nick, in which both strands are cut, will only occur if both of the spacer sequences line up with good homology.



FIGURE 42.3 Nickases working simultaneously to generate single-stranded breaks surrounding a targeted region of DNA. The requirement of homology matching in two distinct guide RNA spacer sequences improves specificity over wild-type clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated systems (Cas), resulting in a reduction in off-target cleavage. *PAM*, protospacer-adjacent motif.

## Homology-Directed Repair

HDR is how CRISPR is used for specific gene edits, such as altering the identity of a single base. Three components are requisite to this system: a Cas protein such as spCas9 or Cas9 nickases, gRNA, and a repair template with homology arms.

The mechanism used for this precise form of gene editing is similar to what has already been covered, except that DNA (linear or plasmid) containing the desired insertion or repair is codelivered with the Cas9/gRNA. Consider a linear repair template designed to correct a point mutation in the genome. Although only one base pair (bp) will differ from the genomic sequence, the length of the repair template must be longer than one bp. The bases to the left and right of the repair bp, called the "homology arms," will have the same sequence as the genomic DNA. The length of each depends on the size of the insert (Fig. 42.4).



FIGURE 42.4 Homology-directed repair. In this scheme of genome editing, clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated systems (Cas)–guide RNA complexes (Cas9 shown here) are codelivered with a repair template. The template will be introduced into the genome via homologous recombination after the introduction of a double-stranded break. *PAM*, protospacer-adjacent motif.

## 744

#### GENOME EDITING TOOLS

It is important for the repair template not to contain a PAM sequence; otherwise it would be cut by the Cas proteins. If the section to be inserted happens to contain a PAM sequence, the insertion sequence should be reengineered with a silent mutation to remove the PAM. For example, an AGG sequence, which codes for arginine and is also is a Cas9 PAM sequence, could be modified to AGA, which still codes for an arginine but is no longer a PAM sequence.

Recall that the HDR, while having high fidelity, is not used by the cell as much as NHEJ, which means NHEJ will still be at work. Because somatic mammalian cells have two alleles, the result of this type of gene editing for a given cell will be a combination of:

- wild-type,
- NHEJ-mutated, and/or
- HDR-inserted (repaired) alleles.

It is therefore imperative for the researcher to perform a screen to isolate HDR–HDR clones.

## SpCas 9 Variants and Orthologues

Although the SpCas9 system has been widely accepted for laboratory applications worldwide, some limitations still must be overcome. For example, SpCas9 depends on the specific (*S. pyogenes*) PAM sequence 5'–NGG–3', and the cleavage site must be close to this PAM. Although NGG is abundant throughout the mammalian genome, the appearance of the sequence might not be close enough to the desired target to effect the desired modification. To address this issue, multiple novel Cas9 variants that use different PAM sequences have been engineered or discovered. Benjamin et al. developed a series of Cas9 variants by mutating the particular site of SpCas9 (D1135/R1335/T1337 or D1135/G1218/R1335/T1337) or screening various Cas9 orthologues from nature [4,5]. The PAM library has been expanded to include 5'-NGCG-3' (SpCas9 VRER variant), 5'-NGAG-3' (SpCas9 EQR variant), 5'NGAN-3' (SpCas9 VQR variant), 5'-NNAGAAW-3' (Cas9 from *Streptococcus thermophilus* [St1Cas9]), and 5'-NNGRRT-3' (Cas9 from *Staphylococcus aureus* [SaCas9]) [4]. These Cas9 variants and orthologues provide great convenience to scientists by expanding the editable areas within the genome.

Off-target effects pose a potential risk to future therapeutic applications of CRISPR [6,7]. These occur when the nuclease induces a double-strand break at an unwanted site, leading to unwanted cellular changes such as transformation. To reduce the possibility of off-target effects, SpCas9 has been mutated by rational design with apparent success. One such set of mutations, designed to reduce potential interactions between SpCas9 and the phosphate backbone of DNA through direct hydrogen bonds, produced what is referred to as the *S. pyogenes* Cas9 High-Fidelity variant 1 (SpCas9-HF1). (The specific mutations to the wild-type SpCas9 were N497 A, R661 A, Q695 A, and Q926 A [8].) SpCas9-HF has editing activity that is comparable to wild-type SpCas9, but off-target events have been nearly eliminated. Another set of mutations designed to reduce the affinity between a positively charged groove (located between the HNH, RuvC, and PAM-interacting domains) and the negative charges of genomic DNA have served to neutralize positively charged residues in the Cas9 (K810 A, K848 A, K1003 A, and R1060 A) [9]. The mutated enzyme was named "enhanced specificity" SpCas9 (eSpCas9), and like SpCas9-HF1, it has been shown to have activity similar to the wild-type enzyme but with a clear reduction in off-target events.

A novel CRISPR system from the genera *Prevotella* and *Francisella*, called Cpf1, has introduced several specific features to these systems [10]. Usually, the double-strand breaks introduced by a Cas protein are blunt ended. The Cpf1 system is different in that it creates overhangs of four to five bases [10]. The overhangs present an opportunity to increase the efficiency of gene insertion. In addition, the Cpf1-associated system does not require the transactivating crRNA to perform the DNA interference function [10]. Cpf1 is able to process pre-crRNA into crRNA without relying on host RNase, which makes it possible to edit multiple genes simultaneously. Because of the large size of a single gRNA expression cassette ( $\sim$ 400–500 bp), for SpCas9, each single gRNA must be placed in different vectors or driven by a different set of promoters [11,12]. However, thanks to the feature of Cpf1 being guided by a small (39-nucleotide) crRNA, a single promoter within one vector is enough to drive many crRNA together. Published experiments have achieved simultaneous modification of four different targets by using Cpf1 with a single construct [13] (Fig. 42.5).

Another interesting system employs CRISPR-C2c2, which comes from the bacterium *Leptotrichia shahii* [14]. Instead of working on DNA, CRISPR-C2c2 can serve as an RNA-guided RNase that can cleave certain single-stranded RNAs via pairing with a 28-nucleotide sequence in the crRNA. This system could be used to downregulate gene expression via posttranscriptional knockdown, similar to RNA-induced silencing complex–mediated RNA



**FIGURE 42.5** Schematic outlining the components of a multiplex gene pre–clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats RNA array. The outline represents a single construct consisting of guide sequences for four genes and Cpf1. Two promoters are included: the U6 promoter directs transcription of the four guide sequences and the cytomegalovirus promoter drives transcription of the Cpf1 nuclease gene. *Figure adopted from Zetsche B, Heidenreich M, Mohanraju P, Fedorova I, Kneppers J, DeGennaro EM, et al. Multiplex gene editing by CRISPR-Cpf1 using a single crRNA array. Nat Biotechnol 2016.* 

interference [14]. Moreover, fluorescent labeling of C2c2 makes it possible to tag specific messenger RNA (mRNA) sequences and linking dC2c2 with a splicing factor makes it possible to affect mRNA splicing [15]. However, the function of the system has been shown only in bacteria. Further investigation is necessary before it can be used reliably in mammalian cells.

#### Transcription Activator-like Effector Nucleases

TALENs are chimeric proteins which contain two functional domains: a DNA-recognition transcription activatorlike effector (TALE) and a DNA nuclease domain. They work for gene editing by recognizing a specific sequence, which the user can design, and introducing a double-stranded break with an overhang. TALENs therefore serve as a form of customizable restriction enzyme.

The DNA-recognition TALEs used in TALEN technology are secreted by the genus *Xanthomona*, a type of phytopathogenic bacteria [16]. A TALE consists multiple domains, including a translocation domain at the N terminus, a nuclear localization signal and a transcription-activation domain that are close to C-terminus, and multiple repeats in the center that serve to recognize DNA molecules [16]. The repeat sequences are composed of a highly conserved 33– to 34–amino acid sequence, with positions 12 and 13 being variable. The variable portion of the sequence is termed the "repeat variable di-residue" (RVD). By changing the RVD sequence of a specific repeat, that particular repeat can be made to bind a specific nucleotide [17]. As examples, a monomer with an RVD consisting of asparagine-asparagine will bind with a purine, asparagine-isoleucine will bind with adenine, asparagine-glycine will bind with thymine, and histidine-aspartate will bind with cytosine (Table 42.1) [17]. By manipulating the RVDs of its repeated sequences, a TALE can be made to serve as a probe for a specific site within the genome.

The nuclease portion of a TALEN is the catalytically active domain of the restriction enzyme FokI. (The DNA recognition domain has been removed.) FokI can be used in mammalian cells to cut genomic DNA, but it must be dimerized to be functional. Both homodimeric and heterodimeric domains can be used [18].

One challenge in using TALENs is that the enzyme construct is hard to build owing to the numerous repeat sequences that must be customized for targeting. This is why much effort has been directed toward improving the construction of TALENs. One method, called Golden Gate assembly, is widely accepted for its relative simplicity [19]. This method employs type IIS restriction endonucleases, which cleave outside their recognition sequences. By selecting appropriate type IIs endonucleases, the recognition sequence can be removed from the fragment of interest, thus allowing for digestion and ligation in the same reaction mixture. Similarly, because the site where

RVD Sequence	Nucleotide Bound
Asparagine-asparagine	Purines
Asparagine-isoleucine	Adenine
Asparagine-glycine	Thymine
Histidine-aspartate	Cytosine

 
 TABLE 42.1
 The Identity of the Variable Sequences (Repeat Variable Di-residues [RVDs]) in a Transcription Activator-like Effector Determine the Nucleotide Targets

the DNA cleavage itself occurs is not sequence-specific (is outside the recognition sequence), the compositions of the resulting overhangs are not dictated by the enzyme, so multiple, specific overhangs can be created simultaneously, allowing for the creation of multiple assemblies.

Compared with the CRISPR system, which requires only the design of a single gRNA, the TALEN system requires significantly greater effort devoted to sequence design and cloning. As a result, CRISPR is the more widely accepted method for genome editing. TALENs have certain advantages over CRISPR in specific situations, though. For example, TALENs can theoretically target any site within the genome, as opposed to CRISPR, which requires the presence of a PAM site. Therefore, when no PAM site is available for a given application, one can still turn to a TALEN system. In addition, TALENs are associated with lower off-target effects versus wild-type SpCas9. For perspective, a study of off-target cleavage by CRISPR-Cas9 (using SpCas9) versus TALENs was performed using six different genes. The TALENs produced no off-target cleavage, whereas half of the applications (three of six) using SpCas9 nucleases yielded off-target events [20]. Published comparisons of TALENs with the high-fidelity forms of CRISPR were not readily available at the time this chapter was written.

## Zinc Finger Nucleases

ZFNs are another type of DNA recognition/cleavage construct that acts like a restriction enzyme. They combine the Cys2-His2 zinc finger motif as the DNA recognition domain with the FokI DNA cleavage domain [21]. The Cys2-His2 zinc finger motif consists of a single zinc atom with about 30 amino acids in a  $\beta$  sheet– $\beta$  sheet– $\alpha$  helix conformation [22]. Each zinc finger contacts three DNA bases through amino acids on the  $\alpha$  helix of the motif [23]. The selectivity between a zinc finger and target triplets can be modulated by adjusting the amino acid sequence. A library of zinc-finger domains that can target nearly all of the possible triple nucleotide combinations has been developed [24]. By connecting three to six zinc finger motifs via conserved linker sequences, 9–18 nucleotides will be targeted by a monomer [25]. As with TALENs, because ZNFs use FokI as the nuclease, they are also designed for use as dimers, so a total of 18–36 nucleotides will be targeted.

The primary hurdle for using ZFNs is that of enzyme design and construction. The cloning process used to produce the correct amino acid sequence is labor intensive, but the correct primary sequence is also imperative for achieving high targeting specificity. As a result, the number of studies applying this technique has dwindled since TALENs and CRISPR were introduced to the field. However, unlike the TALENs and CRISPR systems, ZFNs originated from mammalian cells, so there has been less concern regarding immunogenicity. Phase I clinical trials that infused ZFN-modified autologous CD4 T cells as a treatment for HIV have been completed, with the treatments being deemed safe (NCT00842634) [26]. This implies that ZFNs may be suitable for other clinical applications.

## Other Genome Manipulation Tools

## **Transposons and Transposase**

There are two types of transposons: class I transposons, also known as retrotransposons, which are transcribed and reverse-transcribed as part of the translocation mechanism, and class II transposons, which do not require transcription—reverse-transcription but use transposases to catalyze the translocation mechanism. The transposons used for genomic engineering are class II. Combined with the enzyme transposase, a transposon can be moved efficiently between plasmid and genome in a cut-and-paste fashion. Transposase acts by recognizing a sequence of inverted terminal repeats (ITRs) that appear at each end of the transposon and introducing a pair of doublestranded breaks in the DNA. A gene flanked by ITRs can be cut out of a plasmid and transferred to a site within the genome that is flanked by the same ITRs. This method can also be used to delete genes that appear between two ITRs sites in the genome. There is no size limit for transposons. This system has been used, for example, to reprogram primary cells into induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) through virus exclusion [27].

## Recombinase

The major function of recombinase is to exchange strands between two DNA segments that have partial sequence homology. The most widely used recombinase systems for genome manipulation are Cre-loxP and Flp-FRT. The Cre and Flp enzymes are site-specific recombinases that recognize 34-bp recognition sites. The loxP recognition site contains two 13-bp palindromic sequences and an 8-bp spacer (5'-ATAACTTCGTATA-atgtatgc-TATACGAAGTTAT-3', [spacer shown in lowercase]) [28]. Similar to loxP, FRT consists of two 13-bp palindromes surrounding an 8-bp spacer (5'-GAAGTTCCTATTC-tctagaaa-GTATAGGAACTTC-3') [28]. The Cre and Flp recombinases can be used for gene

insertion, excision, inversion, or translocation combined with their respective recognition sites and are often applied in genome engineering [29], such as for generating conditional mutants. The International Knockout Mouse Consortium has been launched to produce mutant murine embryonic stem cells for every gene in the mouse genome (more than 20,000 genes) by incorporating the loxP and FRT sites [30]. Using Cre and Flp, knockout mice for any gene can be produced from these cells.

## Integrase

In the past, gene insertion typically was achieved by plasmid integration with stringent antibiotic selection or via infection with lentiviral vectors. Insertions occurred randomly and the copy number, location, and direction of insertion were difficult to control. Homologous recombination with or without a targetable nuclease addressed the problem of directionality, but the size of the inserted gene was limited and integration efficiency was still lacking, especially in primary cells [31].

A technology named "dual integrase cassette exchange" (DICE) provides an alternative route whereby the copy number, location, and direction gene integration are controlled, and with higher efficiency [32]. DICE adopts the phage integrases phiC31 and Bxb1, which have the ability to insert a gene into their own recognition sites by unidirectional recombination. However, these recognition sites do not exist in the mammalian cell genome. To get around this problem, a "landing pad" was introduced into a safe region of the mammalian genome by integrating those recognition sites through TALEN-assisted homologous recombination. As a result, desired genes could be efficiently implanted into the landing pad by codelivery of the two integrases and donor template. It is claimed that there is no size limitation for the inserted gene [32].

## DELIVERY CARGO

The genome-editing tools just described can be delivered into cells via multiple routes based on whether DNA, RNA, or protein is the tool being used.

## DNA

DNA is often delivered as a plasmid, which is typically constructed via standard molecular cloning techniques. When properly preserved, DNA has a long shelf life. The efficiency of DNA delivery into cells is the major limiting factor for the associated methods. DNA for genome editing can also be engineered into a viral genome, and plasmids can be adapted for use with viruses for delivery into cells [33]. Although viruses typically generate higher gene delivery efficiencies than do nonviral gene delivery agents, immunogenicity is a concern for in vivo applications, especially if repeated delivery events must be performed.

Another concern regarding the delivery of DNA into cells is that the foreign DNA could integrate into the host genome through homologous recombination. If this occurs in an untargeted fashion, vital host genes may be disrupted or inactivated, tumor suppressor genes may be knocked out, or oncogenes might be activated. Whether targeted or untargeted, genomic integration could cause the encoded nuclease to be expressed in a sustained manner, potentially causing continuous formation of double-strand breaks and serious off-target effects.

## **RNA**

The editing methods that use delivered RNA avoid the possibility of genomic integration. RNA can be produced by cells transfected in vitro, harvested, and applied to cells of interest in subsequent experiments. With RNA delivery, the efficiency of enzyme production may be enhanced because genetic materials do not have to reach the nucleus and the transcription step is eliminated. However, RNA is more difficult to handle and store than is DNA because RNases are abundant in the cell, on the skin, and throughout most research environments. The immunogenicity of RNA produced in vitro should also be considered [34].

## Proteins

Instead of delivering genetic materials, delivering proteins into cells for gene editing is now a commercially available option. Multiple CRISPR Cas9 protein delivery kits exist on the market; TALENs and ZFNs can also be delivered into cells. For the CRISPR system, the ribonucleoprotein complexes are formed in vitro by combining a Cas nuclease with the appropriate gRNA, and the constructs are delivered into cells without fear of genomic integration. Another advantage to delivering proteins instead of (deoxy)ribonucleotides is that the amount of enzyme that will reside within the cell is more precisely controllable.

## DELIVERY METHODS

Microinjection, gene gun, electroporation, and hydrodynamic delivery are all methods that have been used to deliver genome editing tools into cells [35–38]. These methods are not widely used because they either need specialized equipment and experienced professionals (microinjection) or they are associated with cell or tissue damage (gene gun, electroporation, and hydrodynamic delivery). These methods are also restricted in their ability to reach host tissues in vivo.

Chemical agents such as cationic lipids, polymers, and dendrimers have been widely used for gene delivery, but they are associated with gene delivery efficiencies that are generally lower than those of viral vectors. However, chemical delivery methods are still preferred compared with viral methods in some cases owing to their ease of preparation, lower immunogenicity, and lower expense [39].

All of the chemical gene delivery methods can be applied to genome editing because there is no chemical difference between plasmids encoding targetable nucleases and plasmids encoding other genes. However, different mechanisms may be involved for the delivery of proteins. Cationic liposomes have been used to this end with relative success. The delivery of Cas9–gRNA complexes or TALENs via cationic lipids is evident by the multiple commercially available agents that are in the marketplace [40,41]. The cationic polymer poly(ethylenimine) has been used to coat self-assembled DNA cages to delivery Cas9/gRNA complexes successfully into mammalian cells [42]. Cell-penetrating peptides have been used to deliver targetable nuclease proteins, including Cas9 and TALEN [43,44]. Interestingly, ZFN has inherent cell-penetrating capabilities and can pass into cells without a carrier [45].

Viruses have been used for gene delivery for decades [46]. For gene editing applications, several viruses have been evaluated, including lentivirus [47], adenovirus [48], and adeno-associated virus (AAV) [49]. Lentiviral vectors have been shown to have a high transduction efficiency in multiple primary cell types and are capable of having genes integrated into the genome of the host [39,50]. As mentioned, incorporating a gene encoding a nuclease into the genome can lead to constitutive expression of the enzyme, which can lead to off-target events. Even worse, lentiviral integration occurs randomly, which can potentially induce various malignancies [51,52]. One solution to these problems of integration is to knock out the viral gene that encodes integrase, a technique that has been used to transfer genes encoding ZFNs, TALENs, and Cas9 [20,53]. Another solution is to develop lentivirus-derived particles to carry nuclease proteins. ZFN, TALEN, and Cas9 proteins have been successfully packed into such lentiviral particles [47,54]. Donor templates have been copacked into the particles to achieve targeted DNA insertion and gene correction [54]. It has been reported that this approach has lower off-target activity than traditional delivery methods [47,54].

Adenoviral vectors allow transient transgene expression in both dividing and nondividing cells. These vectors carry a much lower risk of genomic integration than their retroviral counterparts. A set of third-generation adenoviral vectors named "helper-dependent adenoviral vectors" have increased cargo sizes (36 kb, as opposed to  $\sim 8$  kbp) [55], which provides more versatility for the delivery of donor DNA templates for gene insertion and correction. However, immunogenicity is still a concern, as it is for all virus methods [56], especially when multiple gene delivery events must be carried out.

Like adenovirus, AAV can produce transient transgene expression in both dividing and nondividing cells. In gene delivery, certain AAV serotypes are preferred because their delivered genes will be integrated into the host genome in a targeted fashion. Keeping in mind the previous discussion about problems with constitutively expressed nucleases, recombinant AAV have been produced that lack the viral *rep* gene to lower or eliminate the frequency of genomic integration [57]. Some strains of AAV carry lower immunogenicity concerns for a single administration, but repeated administrations require different serotypes to avoid a secondary immune response. These viruses are relatively small so they have limited DNA loading capacity ( $\sim 5$  kb) [58]. The ZFNs with double monomers [59] are usually compatible with this limitation, but it is difficult to package double TALEN monomers ( $\sim 3$  kb each) or SpCas9 ( $\sim 4.2$  kb) and associated gRNA within a single AAV vector [60]. For in vitro genome editing, this limitation can be overcome by packaging the functional units separately and cotransducing cells. Edited cells can then be screened and selected. However, this is not practical for in vivo editing because the selection step

cannot be performed, and every abnormal cell is expected to be treated. One could reduce the size of the gene encoding the enzyme: a Cas9 orthologue, named *S. aureus* Cas9 (SaCas9), which is 1 kb smaller than SpCas9, was identified [60]. The smaller gene has been successfully copacked with gRNA in a single AAV construct, with precise genome editing still being attainable.

## APPLICATIONS OF GENE EDITING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

Stem cells are characterized by two properties: self-renewal, in which they are able to divide numerous times while remaining undifferentiated, and pluripotency, which means they can differentiate down any of the three germ cell lineages (ectodermal, mesodermal, and endodermal). Because of these characteristics, stem cells are attractive progenitors to a broad range of regenerative medicine applications. Stem cells can be harvested and isolated from various tissues such as bone marrow [61], amniotic fluid [62], umbilical cord blood [63], or brain [64]. In addition, they can be induced from differentiated cells by introducing genes encoding specific transcription factors [65]. In contrast to embryonic stem cells, adult-derived stem cells and iPSCs can be harvested or produced autologously, thus eliminating the need for immunosuppression and providing a means of personalized medicine as new applications are developed. As genome-editing technologies develop, gene-edited stem cells may be produced for the repair and regeneration of various tissues and organs [66]. Various applications of genome editing to the regeneration of specific tissues or organs are presented in this section.

## Liver

The liver is a vital organ containing numerous enzymes that are involved in a wide range of bioprocesses such as glucose storage and gluconeogenesis, cholesterol synthesis, bile production, urea production, the synthesis of certain blood proteins, red blood cell turnover, and the detoxification of metabolites and drugs (such as ethanol). Because of the importance of this organ and the numerous diseases that can arise to affect its function, the liver is a prime target for regenerative medicine and gene editing therapy.

 $\alpha$ 1-Antitrypsin (A1AT) deficiency is an autosomal recessive disorder that is caused by a single point mutation (Glu342Lys). Copies of the mutated protein aggregate in the endoplasmic reticulum of hepatocytes instead of being secreted into the blood and body fluids [67,68]. A1AT deficiency may further develop into cirrhosis of the liver and necessitate the need for liver transplantation [69]. ZFNs and PiggyBac transposons have been used in conjunction to correct the point mutation in the *A1AT* gene in human iPSCs derived from a patient with A1AT deficiency [69]. The cells were then differentiated into hepatocyte-like cells, which displayed normal A1AT function. This pioneering work demonstrated the potential for applying genome-editing and iPSC technologies for an autologous cell-based therapy.

Several disorders are related to deficiencies in one or more of the enzymes of the urea cycle, a biochemical pathway that is involved in removing nitrogen from the body. Hyperammonemia is one such condition that can lead to encephalopathy and, potentially, death. Arginase, which is an enzyme of the urea cycle, has a part in ureagenesis. Defects in the gene encoding arginase can lead to hyperammonemia. Gene editing has been used with patient-derived iPSC to restore arginase activity in arginase-deficient patients [70]. In these experiments, CRISPR-Cas9 was used to add an arginase-1 cDNA expression cassette into the first exon of the hypoxanthine-guanine phos-phoribosyltransferase locus in the isolated cells. The cells were then differentiated into hepatocyte-like cells, which displayed both arginase activity and ureagenesis [70].

Another potential cause of urea cycle disruption is ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency, caused by a mutation in the associated gene. Gene editing research toward addressing this malady has included a dual AAV system used to deliver Cas9-gRNA and donor DNA separately into newborn mice with a partial deficiency in ornithine transcarbamylase [71]. Results have been weak but encouraging, with correction of the mutated gene in about 10% of hepatocytes and improved survival in treated mice that were given high-protein diets.

Tyrosinemia, which is characterized by a buildup of tyrosine (and some of its breakdown products, depending on the type), is a severe genetic disorder stemming from an inability to break down the amino acid tyrosine. There are three types of tyrosinemia, each characterized by the specific enzyme that is mutated in the degradation pathway (Fig. 42.6). Tyrosinemia type I is caused by a deficiency in the enzyme fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase (FAH), which catalyzes the conversion of fumarylacetoacetate into fumarate plus acetoacetate [72,73]. A deficiency



**FIGURE 42.6** Partial degradation pathway of tyrosine, highlighting the steps associated with tyrosinemia type I, catalyzed by fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase (FAH). Tyrosinemia type II has a deficiency in the enzyme tyrosine aminotransferase (TAT) and type III tyrosinemia has a deficiency in the enzyme 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase (HPD). *Figure from Jorquera R, Tanguay RM. Cyclin B-dependent kinase and caspase-1 activation precedes mitochondrial dysfunction in fumarylacetoacetate-induced apoptosis. FASEB J* 1999;13(15):2284–98.

in FAH results in the accumulation of fumarylacetoacetate and maleylacetoacetate, which induce cellular damage [74]. CRISPR-Cas9 has been examined for use as a treatment for hereditary tyrosinemia type I, in which the gene encoding 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase was deleted. This deletion caused hepatocytes associated with tyrosinemia type I to be converted into hepatocytes that would be associated with the more-benign tyrosinemia type III [75]. Rather than relying on genetic deletion, a different laboratory group used a gene editing approach to deliver mRNA encoding Cas9 via lipofection, along with AAV containing DNA encoding gRNA, to correct mutant *fah* in mice with human hereditary tyrosinemia. This method yielded modest recovery of FAH function in approximately 6% of hepatocytes [76].

#### Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is a process in which new capillaries grow from preexisting vessel networks to form more complexed vessel networks [77]. It is essential for the regeneration of tissues and organs if the component cells are to receive oxygen and nutrients and have carbon dioxide and other waste products removed. Therefore, procedures designed to enhance angiogenesis are related to regenerative medicine.

Genome editing using TALENs has been used to induce cells to express hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) to induce angiogenesis [78]. The common theme of editing the genomes of progenitor cells was used on mesenchymal stromal cells isolated from human umbilical cord blood. In this case, a TetOn sequence preceded a gene encoding HGF pUC19-TetOn-*HGF* expression cassette, and the DNA was inserted into chromosome 19. The TetOn sequence was used as a safety measure. It allowed for control of the *hgf* gene by requiring that tetracycline be present for the gene to be transcribed. After the establishment of HGF expression in the cells, the cells were encapsulated in alginate and transplanted to correct a hind limb ischemia model. The entire procedure worked well, yielding angiogenesis in the in vivo model.

## Muscle: Muscular Dystrophy

Muscular dystrophy is family of diseases characterized by a gradual loss of muscular strength and control. There are nine forms of the disease, each with its own characteristic set of symptoms and time of onset. Some affect only

#### 42. GENE-EDITING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

Туре	Sexes Affected	Typical Time of First Appearance	Characteristic Muscles Affected
Duchenne	Males	Ages 3–5	Upper legs and pelvis; heart and diaphragm in advanced cases
Becker	Males	Ages 11–25	Upper legs, pelvis; similar to, but milder than, Duchenne
Limb-girdle	Both	Teens to early adulthood	Begins in hips, spreads to shoulders, legs, and neck
Myotonic	Both	Ages 20-30	General: prolonged stiffening of muscles after use
Facioscapulohumeral	Both	Teens to forties	Face, shoulders, and back
Congenital	Both	Present at birth, symptoms by age 2	General weakness, progressing to muscle shortening
Oculopharyngeal	Both	Ages 40–60	Muscles of the eye, face, and throat
Distal	Both	Ages 40–60	Hands, forearms, feet, and lower legs
Emery–Dreifuss	Males	Ages 10 to mid-twenties	Shoulders, upper arms, and lower legs

<b>TABLE 42.2</b>	Types of Muscular	: Dystrophy and Some	Defining Characteristics [79]
-------------------	-------------------	----------------------	-------------------------------

males whereas others affect either sex. The symptoms of some appear in infancy whereas others present in adolescence or adulthood. The areas affected are also varied and are characteristic of the form of the disease being experienced (e.g., limbs, eyes and throat, face and shoulders, hips, hands, or even heart and diaphragm). A brief description of the types of muscular dystrophy appears in Table 42.2.

#### **Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy**

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked genetic disease arising from mutations in the *dystrophin* gene, a large gene consisting of 2.4 million bp and containing 79 exons. Exons 45–55 hold the mutational hot spot for the gene. Frameshift mutations lead to dysfunction of the dystrophin protein, which has an important role in skeletal and cardiac muscle function. In the absence of functioning dystrophin, patients experience progressive muscle weakness and wasting. In conventional virus-mediated gene therapy, owing to the size limitations imposed by the viral capsid, the full-length DMD cDNA must be replaced by a truncated complementary DNA (cDNA) that will yield proteins with compromised function, yielding minimal efficacy and a T cell response after gene delivery in vivo. Exon *dys* 51 (from Sarepta Therapeutics, Inc.) was developed using an oligonucleotide exon-skipping strategy [80]; after a controversial argument regarding its efficacy [80], it was approved by the US Food and Drug administration in 2016 as the first drug to treat DMD [81]. One drawback of the treatment, however, is that patients must receive regular intravenous infusions.

Genome editing provides the ability to correct mutations in genes without the need for introducing overly long sequences. Because of this, editing tools hold a different promise than do conventional gene delivery techniques for providing a more complete treatment for cells with mutations to the dystrophin gene. For instance, paired ZFNs have been delivered to DMD patient-derived myoblasts using electroporation, with the purpose of removing exon 51 of the dystrophin gene. This led to restoration of the dystrophin reading frame in approximately 13% of DMD patient mutations [82]. Long et al. [83], Nelson et al. [84], and Tabebordbar et al. [85] used CRISPR-Cas9 systems on the mdx mouse model of DMD to delete the mutated exon 23 from the dystrophin gene, resulting in the restoration of expression of functional dystrophin in the murine skeletal and cardiac muscles, plus enhancements in skeletal muscle function in the mice. Long et al. [83] delivered SpCas9 using AAV9, whereas Nelson et al. [84] and Tabebordbar et al. [85] delivered SaCas9 via AAV8 and AAV9, respectively. Iyombe-Engembe et al. used a pair of gRNAs to target exons surrounding exons 51–53 to bring about their deletion from the *DMD* gene, which restored the correct reading frame with 62% efficiency [86].

The CRISPR-Cas9 system has been delivered by "all-in-one" adenoviral vectors into patient-derived muscle progenitor cells for the purpose of removing mutations from the major *DMD* mutational hot spot [87]. This blanket approach has been asserted to counteract multiple mutations and provide treatment coverage in more than 60% of patients with DMD. Another investigation that targeted the DMD mutational hot spot deleted up to 725 kb using CRISPR-Cas9 with NHEJ. The efforts reportedly restored the function of dystrophin in cardiomyocytes and skeletal muscle cells derived from edited human iPSCs [88].

#### APPLICATIONS OF GENE EDITING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

TALENs have been used to target a point mutation (A > G) associated with muscular dystrophies in iPSCs isolated from a canine golden retriever model of muscular dystrophy. The corrected canine progenitor cells were implanted into immunodeficient mice after ischemia-induced myocardial injury and cardiotoxin-induced hind limb skeletal muscle injury, yielding encouraging levels of regeneration in both cardiac and skeletal muscles [89].

## Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy

Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy types 2B and 2D are muscular dystrophies that are induced by mutations in the dysferlin and  $\alpha$ -sarcoglycan genes, respectively. The dysferlin nonsense mutation (c.5713C > T; p.R1905X) and the  $\alpha$ -sarcoglycan missense mutation (c.229C > T; p.R77C) have been corrected using the CRISPR-Cas9 system in iPSCs isolated from patients with the respective diseases [90].

Another treatment aimed at the dysferlin mutation involved site-specific cDNA insertion via DICE, or TALENassisted homologous recombination for insertion precise, carried out in iPSCs isolated from patients with the disease. Expression of dysferlin was restored in the corrected iPSCs [90]. The typical next step would be to reintroduce the cells into the patient with the hope of restoring muscle function. Although the gene corrections were significant, using the corrected cells to restore function is a task that is more easily said than done.

## Blood

The  $\beta$ -hemoglobinopathies, including  $\beta$ -thalassemia and sickle cell disease, are a group of genetic blood diseases caused by mutations in the  $\beta$  subunits of hemoglobin (HBB). These mutations are responsible for the decreased production of functional or mature  $\beta$ -globin subunits and therefore reduce the oxygen-carrying capacity of the blood [91].  $\beta$ -Thalassemia can be caused by different mutations, whereas sickle cell disease is caused by a single DNA base mutation (A > T) in the sixth codon of the *hbb* gene [92,93]. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation is an effective way to treat  $\beta$ -hemoglobinopathies but it is difficult to find a fully matched donor, so immune rejection of the transplanted cells is often a concern. The combination of genome editing with (autologous) stem cell technology has brought about a potentially improved approach to treat these blood disorders.

For instance, a CRISPR-Cas9 system consisting of Cas9 ribonucleoproteins and a homologous, unmutated DNA sequence (carried by AAV) was used to achieve homologous recombination at a site of mutation in the *hbb* gene in isolated hematopoietic stem cells. These *hbb*-corrected cells were further enriched and transplanted into nonobese diabetic, severe combined immunodeficiency mice, yielding edited cells in the bone marrow of the mice [94]. In the same study, Dever et al. used a CRISPR-Cas9 system to correct the (A > T) mutation seen in sickle cell disease, following the standard logical scheme of isolating progenitor cells (in this case, hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells [HSPCs]) taken from patients with the disease, and then performing gene editing. The corrected HSPCs were able to differentiate into erythrocytes expressing  $\beta$ -globin mRNA.

Two more examples of gene editing directed toward correcting sickle cell disease again used a CRISPR-Cas9 system. This time, a ribonucleoprotein complex consisting of the Cas9 protein and an unmodified gRNA was delivered with a single-stranded DNA oligonucleotide to patient-derived HSPC cells by electroporation. Correction efficiencies of up to 25% were reported [95]. The corrected HSPCs were used to restore the expression of wild-type hemoglobin after differentiation into erythroblasts, with the correction being maintained through 16 weeks after injection [95]. A remarkable correction efficiency of up to 67.9% was reported by Li et al. when they used CRISPR-Cas9 with adenovirus, followed by nucleoporation with a single-stranded DNA template, to correct the sickle cell disease mutation in patient-derived iPSCs [96].

As we have seen, the CRISPR-Cas9 system is a popular route for gene editing for treatment of  $\beta$ -hemoglobinopathies. In fact, this system could be deemed the preferred method for editing. A series of studies have demonstrated that CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases are relatively efficient and specific in gene editing in human iPSCs [91,97–99], with advantages over ZFNs and TALENs, even when used to correct a point mutation such as that seen in sickle cell disease [100]. However, this certainly does not invalidate efforts made with the other editing systems, which have been shown to be superior to CRISPR-Cas9 in certain situations.

TALENs have been used to correct separate mutations (the intron 2 mutation IVS2-654C > T and the TCTT deletion) in the *hbb* gene of patient-specific iPSCs, made to enter cells via electroporation. The corrections were achieved with high efficiency: 68% and 40%, respectively [101]. TALENs and CRISPR-Cas9 have been separately employed, combined with a PiggyBac transposon DNA donor, to correct IVS2-654C > T mutations in the globin gene [102]. In this case, contrary to findings reported in the previous paragraph, TALENs performed with higher efficiency than CRISPR-Cas9 (33% versus 12.3%). In addition, the TALENs generated fewer off-target events. Not all such CRISPR-Cas9 applications display off-target effects, however. Fei et al. employed CRISPR/Cas9 combined

with the PiggyBac transposon to correct a -28 (A/G) mutation and TCTT deletion seamlessly in the *hbb* gene in patient-derived iPSCs to restore HBB expression after hematopoietic differentiation [103]. In this case, off-target events were not observed.

In addition to therapeutic applications toward  $\beta$ -hemoglobinopathies, genome editing has been employed to increase red blood cell production for transfusion purposes. The *SH2B3* gene encodes a protein that serves as a negative regulator of cytokine signaling. Naturally occurring dysfunctional variants of the protein can increase the population of red blood cells. CRISPR-Cas9 has been used to delete the *SH2B3* gene in pluripotent stem cells, allowing for the increased production of erythroid cell populations in vitro [104].

## Skin

Epidermolysis bullosa dystrophica is a genetic disease caused by mutations within the gene encoding the collagen  $\alpha$ -1 (VII) chain (COL7A1). Afflicted patients have fragile skin that is susceptible to minor injury and they easily form blisters and skin erosions.

Efforts targeted to correct this genetic abnormality have been made by codelivering Cas9 and gRNA into iPSCs generated from patients with dominant dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa [105]. After the editing, the iPSCs were differentiated into COL7-secreting keratinocytes and fibroblasts. Another approach was to deliver TALENs, via electroporation, into primary fibroblasts isolated from a patient with the disease in an effort to correct the COL7A1 mutation [106]. The corrected fibroblasts were then driven into iPSCs and placed into the flanks of SCID mice. Results showed that the cells expressed normal COL7A1 protein and that skin-like structures were formed after implantation.

## Nerve

As with so many of the applications that have been covered thus far, the CRISPR-Cas9 system has been used to correct genetic mutations associated with neural disorders. The common scheme is to isolate progenitor cells (or to induce isolated cells into iPSCs) from a patient with the affliction and then to correct the mutation with the editing system. The resulting corrected cells are then differentiated and implanted back into the patient. This scheme has been performed on, for example, cells from patients with Alzheimer disease to correct a point mutation in the presenilin 1 gene [107]. It has also been used in conjunction with the PiggyBac transposon system to correct point mutations that result in disruption of tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis or recycling, which affects tyrosine and dopamine levels that are important for proper brain function [108]. The system has also been used to bring about genetic deletions, such as to combat fragile X syndrome, a type of inherited intellectual disability that is caused by an expansion of an area of CGG repeats in the *fragile X mental retardation 1* gene [109].

As mentioned in the Nickases section, Cas9 can be mutated to alter its endonuclease activity, resulting in enzymes known as nickases. Whereas wild-type Cas9 allows for genome editing by introducing targeted double-strand breaks in the genome, mutations of the HNH or RuvC domains in Cas9 can yield nickases that cut only one strand of DNA [110,111]. Some have introduced mutations that stripped Cas9 of all endonuclease activity [112,113]. These mutants, called nuclease-deficient Cas9 (dCas9), have been used for transcriptional repression and activation. CRISPR interference technology uses a fusion of Cas9 with repressor domains to yield effective gene repression. CRISPR-mediated gene activation incorporates a fusion of dCas9 with activation domains to recruit transcription activators in the nuclei of mammalian cells [114].

As an example, consider an application that targeted  $\alpha$ -synuclein, which is encoded by the *SNCA* gene and is associated with mediating the pathogenesis of Parkinson disease. Under the mediation of carefully designed gRNA, a dCas9 fused with a hybrid VP64-p65-Rta tripartite activator (dCas9-VPR) [115] was used to obtain upregulation of *SNCA* expression by eightfold compared with iPSC-derived neurons expressing normal  $\alpha$ -synuclein levels, whereas dCas9-KRAB served as a transcriptional repressor to downregulate *SNCA* expression by 40% in  $\alpha$ -synuclein triplication iPSC-derived neurons [116].

## Retina

Retinitis pigmentosa is a group of inherited eye diseases that are caused by mutations within a group of genes. Patients with retinitis pigmentosa have impaired vision caused by the degeneration of photoreceptor cells within the retina. A point mutation (c.3070G > T) in the *retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator* gene was corrected using

#### REFERENCES

CRISPR-Cas9 with about 13% efficiency in patient-derived iPSCs, which laid the foundation for autologous iPSC transplantation to treat retinal diseases [117]. In another study, CRISPR-Cas9 was used to disrupt a mutation in the rhodopsin gene in the S334ter rat model of retinitis pigmentosa, halting retinal degeneration and improving optomotor reflexes (a possible indicator of improved visual function) [118].

## **CLOSING REMARKS**

Gene editing involves the cleavage of double-stranded DNA in a targeted fashion. Although restriction enzymes have been used in molecular biology for about half a century, the field of genome editing has arisen relatively recently. The breakthrough in the field of genome editing came with the discovery of endonucleases that have tunable targeting and can be used in living cells. Three major forms of such systems were presented in this chapter: CRISPR/Cas, TALENs, and ZFNs.

For the researcher, the choice of editing system should take into account both the efficiency of a given method and the number of off-target effects generated. A system that produces the desired genetic change in 99.9% of treated cells would not be desirable for clinical use if an off-target insertion, deletion, or base change caused 0.1% of the cells to be transformed into cancer cells. As covered earlier, much work has been performed to generate enzymes that operate with greater specificity in the hope of eliminating off-target effects.

The general scheme used for gene editing for regenerative medicine includes isolating cells from the patient, which will greatly reduce the chances for an immune response to the therapy. The cells may be pluripotent, multipotent, or differentiated, but a common theme is to use or produce stem cells (such as iPSCs). The cellular genomes are then edited and the cells are reimplanted into the host in a pluripotent or differentiated form, with the differentiated form appearing to be more common. Differentiation of the cells before implantation gives the investigator a chance to verify that expression of the edited gene is at a clinically relevant level, whereas implantation of undifferentiated cells may allow for differentiation into multiple cell types in the proportions that the body needs. The implantation itself can occur in the form of the injection of cells into a given organ or tissue, or it could include cellular encapsulation or the embedding of cells into a scaffold construct. These implantation methods are options that are addressed elsewhere in this book.

The regenerative applications presented in this chapter addressed congenital aberrations, or disease states, that were dealt with via gene editing. In the future, it may be possible to regenerate noncongenital tissue defects, such as those arising from injury, by editing cells to be specifically responsive to an engineered repair environment. Editing may be used to create cells that can be used as tools to guide the differentiation of stem cells in vivo, recruit other cells to an area, induce angiogenesis, or proliferate into a tissue that has an enhanced property to aid the host at the organismal level. With new applications and advances appearing in the literature nearly weekly, it is difficult to predict the precise directions that this burgeoning field will take next.

## References

- Ishino Y, Shinagawa H, Makino K, Amemura M, Nakata A. Nucleotide sequence of the iap gene, responsible for alkaline phosphatase isozyme conversion in *Escherichia coli*, and identification of the gene product. J Bacteriol 1987;169(12):5429–33.
- [2] Mojica FJ, Diez-Villasenor C, Soria E, Juez G. Biological significance of a family of regularly spaced repeats in the genomes of Archaea, Bacteria and mitochondria. Mol Microbiol 2000;36(1):244–6.
- [3] Jansen R, Embden JD, Gaastra W, Schouls LM. Identification of genes that are associated with DNA repeats in prokaryotes. Mol Microbiol 2002;43(6):1565–75.
- [4] Kleinstiver BP, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Topkar VV, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, et al. Engineered CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with altered PAM specificities. Nature 2015;523(7561):481–5.
- [5] Hirano S, Nishimasu H, Ishitani R, Nureki O. Structural basis for the altered PAM specificities of engineered CRISPR-Cas9. Mol Cell 2016; 61(6):886-94.
- [6] Fu Y, Foden JA, Khayter C, Maeder ML, Reyon D, Joung JK, et al. High-frequency off-target mutagenesis induced by CRISPR-Cas nucleases in human cells. Nat Biotechnol 2013;31(9):822–6.
- [7] Cradick TJ, Fine EJ, Antico CJ, Bao G. CRISPR/Cas9 systems targeting beta-globin and CCR5 genes have substantial off-target activity. Nucleic Acids Res 2013;41(20):9584–92.
- [8] Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, et al. High-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature 2016;529(7587):490-5.
- [9] Slaymaker IM, Gao L, Zetsche B, Scott DA, Yan WX, Zhang F. Rationally engineered Cas9 nucleases with improved specificity. Science 2016; 351(6268):84–8.
- [10] Zetsche B, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Slaymaker IM, Makarova KS, Essletzbichler P, et al. Cpf1 is a single RNA-guided endonuclease of a class 2 CRISPR-Cas system. Cell 2015;163(3):759–71.

- [11] Kabadi AM, Ousterout DG, Hilton IB, Gersbach CA. Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-based genome engineering from a single lentiviral vector. Nucleic Acids Res 2014;42(19):e147.
- [12] Sakuma T, Nishikawa A, Kume S, Chayama K, Yamamoto T. Multiplex genome engineering in human cells using all-in-one CRISPR/Cas9 vector system. Sci Rep 2014;4:5400.
- [13] Zetsche B, Heidenreich M, Mohanraju P, Fedorova I, Kneppers J, DeGennaro EM, et al. Multiplex gene editing by CRISPR-Cpf1 using a single crRNA array. Nat Biotechnol 2017;35(1):31–4.
- [14] Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Konermann S, Joung J, Slaymaker IM, Cox DB, et al. C2c2 is a single-component programmable RNAguided RNA-targeting CRISPR effector. Science 2016;353(6299):aaf5573.
- [15] Zhang D, Li Z, Yan B, Li JF. A novel RNA-guided RNA-targeting CRISPR tool. Sci China Life Sci 2016;59(8):854-6.
- [16] Mahfouz MM, Li L, Shamimuzzaman M, Wibowo A, Fang X, Zhu JK. De novo-engineered transcription activator-like effector (TALE) hybrid nuclease with novel DNA binding specificity creates double-strand breaks. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108(6):2623–8.
- [17] Boch J, Scholze H, Schornack S, Landgraf A, Hahn S, Kay S, et al. Breaking the code of DNA binding specificity of TAL-type III effectors. Science 2009;326(5959):1509–12.
- [18] Joung JK, Sander JD. TALENs: a widely applicable technology for targeted genome editing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2013;14(1):49-55.
- [19] Cermak T, Doyle EL, Christian M, Wang L, Zhang Y, Schmidt C, et al. Efficient design and assembly of custom TALEN and other TAL effector-based constructs for DNA targeting. Nucleic Acids Res 2011;39(12):e82.
- [20] Wang X, Wang Y, Wu X, Wang J, Wang Y, Qiu Z, et al. Unbiased detection of off-target cleavage by CRISPR-Cas9 and TALENs using integrase-defective lentiviral vectors. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33(2):175–8.
- [21] Gaj T, Gersbach CA, Barbas 3rd CF. ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends Biotechnol 2013;31(7): 397–405.
- [22] Durai S, Mani M, Kandavelou K, Wu J, Porteus MH, Chandrasegaran S. Zinc finger nucleases: custom-designed molecular scissors for genome engineering of plant and mammalian cells. Nucleic Acids Res 2005;33(18):5978–90.
- [23] Pavletich NP, Pabo CO. Zinc finger-DNA recognition: crystal structure of a Zif268-DNA complex at 2.1 A. Science 1991;252(5007):809–17.
- [24] Gonzalez B, Schwimmer LJ, Fuller RP, Ye Y, Asawapornmongkol L, Barbas 3rd CF. Modular system for the construction of zinc-finger libraries and proteins. Nat Protoc 2010;5(4):791–810.
- [25] Kim H, Kim JS. A guide to genome engineering with programmable nucleases. Nat Rev Genet 2014;15(5):321-34.
- [26] Tebas P, Stein D, Tang WW, Frank I, Wang SQ, Lee G, et al. Gene editing of CCR5 in autologous CD4 T cells of persons infected with HIV. N Engl J Med 2014;370(10):901–10.
- [27] Woltjen K, Michael IP, Mohseni P, Desai R, Mileikovsky M, Hamalainen R, et al. piggyBac transposition reprograms fibroblasts to induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2009;458(7239):766–70.
- [28] Branda CS, Dymecki SM. Talking about a revolution: the impact of site-specific recombinases on genetic analyses in mice. Dev Cell 2004;6(1): 7–28.
- [29] Maizels N. Genome engineering with cre-loxP. J Immunol 2013;191(1):5-6.

[30] Skarnes WC, Rosen B, West AP, Koutsourakis M, Bushell W, Iyer V, et al. A conditional knockout resource for the genome-wide study of mouse gene function. Nature 2011;474(7351):337–42.

- [31] Coluccio A, Miselli F, Lombardo A, Marconi A, Tagliazucchi GM, Goncalvess MA, et al. Targeted gene addition in human epithelial stem cells by zinc-finger nuclease-mediated homologous recombination. Mol Ther 2013;21(9):1695–704.
- [32] Zhu FF, Gamboa M, Farruggio AP, Hippenmeyer S, Tasic B, Schule B, et al. DICE, an efficient system for iterative genomic editing in human pluripotent stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res 2014;42(5).
- [33] Vectors AV. Viral plasmids and resources: Addgene: Viral Vectors. Available from: https://www.addgene.org/viral-vectors/.
- [34] Sahin U, Kariko K, Tureci O. mRNA-based therapeutics-developing a new class of drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2014;13(10):759-80.
- [35] Horii T, Arai Y, Yamazaki M, Morita S, Kimura M, Itoh M, et al. Validation of microinjection methods for generating knockout mice by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. Sci Rep 2014;4:4513.
- [36] Svitashev S, Schwartz C, Lenderts B, Young JK, Mark Cigan A. Genome editing in maize directed by CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein complexes. Nat Commun 2016;7:13274.
- [37] Xue W, Chen S, Yin H, Tammela T, Papagiannakopoulos T, Joshi NS, et al. CRISPR-mediated direct mutation of cancer genes in the mouse liver. Nature 2014;514(7522):380–4.
- [38] Chen S, Lee B, Lee AY, Modzelewski AJ, He L. Highly efficient mouse genome editing by CRISPR ribonucleoprotein electroporation of zygotes. J Biol Chem 2016;291(28):14457–67.
- [39] Fang YL, Chen XG, Godbey WT. Gene delivery in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2015; 103(8):1679–99.
- [40] Zuris JA, Thompson DB, Shu Y, Guilinger JP, Bessen JL, Hu JH, et al. Cationic lipid-mediated delivery of proteins enables efficient proteinbased genome editing in vitro and in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33(1):73–80.
- [41] Yu X, Liang X, Xie H, Kumar S, Ravinder N, Potter J, et al. Improved delivery of Cas9 protein/gRNA complexes using lipofectamine CRISPRMAX. Biotechnol Lett 2016;38(6):919–29.
- [42] Sun W, Ji W, Hall JM, Hu Q, Wang C, Beisel CL, et al. Self-assembled DNA nanoclews for the efficient delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome editing. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 2015;54(41):12029–33.
- [43] Ramakrishna S, Kwaku Dad AB, Beloor J, Gopalappa R, Lee SK, Kim H. Gene disruption by cell-penetrating peptide-mediated delivery of Cas9 protein and guide RNA. Genome Res 2014;24(6):1020-7.
- [44] Liu J, Gaj T, Patterson JT, Sirk SJ, Barbas 3rd CF. Cell-penetrating peptide-mediated delivery of TALEN proteins via bioconjugation for genome engineering. PLoS One 2014;9(1):e85755.
- [45] Gaj T, Guo J, Kato Y, Sirk SJ, Barbas 3rd CF. Targeted gene knockout by direct delivery of zinc-finger nuclease proteins. Nat Methods 2012; 9(8):805-7.
- [46] Rogers S, Lowenthal A, Terheggen HG, Columbo JP. Induction of arginase activity with the Shope papilloma virus in tissue culture cells from an argininemic patient. J Exp Med 1973;137(4):1091–6.

- [47] Choi JG, Dang Y, Abraham S, Ma H, Zhang J, Guo H, et al. Lentivirus pre-packed with Cas9 protein for safer gene editing. Gene Ther 2016; 23(7):627–33.
- [48] Holkers M, Maggio I, Henriques SF, Janssen JM, Cathomen T, Goncalves MA. Adenoviral vector DNA for accurate genome editing with engineered nucleases. Nat Methods 2014;11(10):1051–7.
- [49] Swiech L, Heidenreich M, Banerjee A, Habib N, Li Y, Trombetta J, et al. In vivo interrogation of gene function in the mammalian brain using CRISPR-Cas9. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33(1):102-6.
- [50] Dass CR, Choong PFM. Non-viral methods for gene transfer towards osteosarcoma therapy. J Drug Target 2007;15(3):184-9.
- [51] Howe SJ, Mansour MR, Schwarzwaelder K, Bartholomae C, Hubank M, Kempski H, et al. Insertional mutagenesis combined with acquired somatic mutations causes leukemogenesis following gene therapy of SCID-X1 patients. J Clin Invest 2008;118(9):3143–50.
- [52] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, von Kalle C, Schmidt M, Le Deist F, Wulffraat N, McIntyre E, et al. A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2003;348(3):255–6.
- [53] Joglekar AV, Hollis RP, Kuftinec G, Senadheera S, Chan R, Kohn DB. Integrase-defective lentiviral vectors as a delivery platform for targeted modification of adenosine deaminase locus. Mol Ther 2013;21(9):1705–17.
- [54] Cai Y, Bak RO, Mikkelsen JG. Targeted genome editing by lentiviral protein transduction of zinc-finger and TAL-effector nucleases. Elife 2014;3:e01911.
- [55] Cots D, Bosch A, Chillon M. Helper dependent adenovirus vectors: progress and future prospects. Curr Gene Ther 2013;13(5):370-81.
- [56] Majhen D, Calderon H, Chandra N, Fajardo CA, Rajan A, Alemany R, et al. Adenovirus-based vaccines for fighting infectious diseases and cancer: progress in the field. Hum Gene Ther 2014;25(4):301–17.
- [57] Tenenbaum L, Lehtonen E, Monahan PE. Evaluation of risks related to the use of adeno-associated virus-based vectors. Curr Gene Ther 2003; 3(6):545–65.
- [58] Wu Z, Yang H, Colosi P. Effect of genome size on AAV vector packaging. Mol Ther 2010;18(1):80-6.
- [59] Ellis BL, Hirsch ML, Porter SN, Samulski RJ, Porteus MH. Zinc-finger nuclease-mediated gene correction using single AAV vector transduction and enhancement by Food and Drug Administration-approved drugs. Gene Ther 2013;20(1):35–42.
- [60] Ran FA, Cong L, Yan WX, Scott DA, Gootenberg JS, Kriz AJ, et al. In vivo genome editing using *Staphylococcus aureus* Cas9. Nature 2015; 520(7546):186–91.
- [61] Visser JW, Bauman JG, Mulder AH, Eliason JF, de Leeuw AM. Isolation of murine pluripotent hemopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med 1984;159(6): 1576–90.
- [62] Cananzi M, Atala A, De Coppi P. Stem cells derived from amniotic fluid: new potentials in regenerative medicine. Reprod Biomed Online 2009;18(Suppl. 1):17–27.
- [63] Harris DT, Rogers I. Umbilical cord blood: a unique source of pluripotent stem cells for regenerative medicine. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2007; 2(4):301–9.
- [64] Rietze RL, Valcanis H, Brooker GF, Thomas T, Voss AK, Bartlett PF. Purification of a pluripotent neural stem cell from the adult mouse brain. Nature 2001;412(6848):736–9.
- [65] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126(4):663–76.
- [66] Brunger JM, Zutshi A, Willard VP, Gersbach CA, Guilak F. CRISPR/Cas9 editing of induced pluripotent stem cells for engineering inflammation-resistant tissues. Arthritis Rheumatol 2017;69(5):1111–21.
- [67] Perlmutter DH. Autophagic disposal of the aggregation-prone protein that causes liver inflammation and carcinogenesis in alpha-1antitrypsin deficiency. Cell Death Differ 2009;16(1):39–45.
- [68] Gooptu B, Lomas DA. Conformational pathology of the serpins: themes, variations, and therapeutic strategies. Annu Rev Biochem 2009;78: 147–76.
- [69] Yusa K, Rashid ST, Strick-Marchand H, Varela I, Liu PQ, Paschon DE, et al. Targeted gene correction of alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2011;478(7369):391–4.
- [70] Lee PC, Truong B, Vega-Crespo A, Gilmore WB, Hermann K, Angarita SA, et al. Restoring ureagenesis in hepatocytes by CRISPR/Cas9mediated genomic addition to arginase-deficient induced pluripotent stem cells. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2016;5(11):e394.
- [71] Yang Y, Wang L, Bell P, McMenamin D, He Z, White J, et al. A dual AAV system enables the Cas9-mediated correction of a metabolic liver disease in newborn mice. Nat Biotechnol 2016;34(3):334–8.
- [72] Zhang L, Shao Y, Li L, Tian F, Cen J, Chen X, et al. Efficient liver repopulation of transplanted hepatocyte prevents cirrhosis in a rat model of hereditary tyrosinemia type I. Sci Rep 2016;6:31460.
- [73] Lindblad B, Lindstedt S, Steen G. On the enzymic defects in hereditary tyrosinemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1977;74(10):4641-5.
- [74] Kvittingen EA. Hereditary tyrosinemia type I-an overview. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 1986;184:27-34.
- [75] Pankowicz FP, Barzi M, Legras X, Hubert L, Mi T, Tomolonis JA, et al. Reprogramming metabolic pathways in vivo with CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing to treat hereditary tyrosinaemia. Nat Commun 2016;7:12642.
- [76] Yin H, Song CQ, Dorkin JR, Zhu LJ, Li Y, Wu Q, et al. Therapeutic genome editing by combined viral and non-viral delivery of CRISPR system components in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 2016;34(3):328–33.
- [77] Carmeliet P. Angiogenesis in life, disease and medicine. Nature 2005;438(7070):932-6.
- [78] Chang HK, Kim PH, Cho HM, Yum SY, Choi YJ, Son Y, et al. Inducible hgf-secreting human umbilical cord blood-derived MSCs produced via TALEN-mediated genome editing promoted angiogenesis. Mol Ther 2016;24(9):1644–54.
- [79] What are the types of muscular dystrophy?. Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. Available from: https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/musculardys/conditioninfo/pages/types.aspx#f1.
- [80] Railroading at the FDA. Nat Med 2016;22(11):1193.
- [81] FDA grants accelerated approval to first drug for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Available from: http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm521263.htm.
- [82] Ousterout DG, Kabadi AM, Thakore PI, Perez-Pinera P, Brown MT, Majoros WH, et al. Correction of dystrophin expression in cells from Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients through genomic excision of exon 51 by zinc finger nucleases. Mol Ther 2015;23(3):523–32.

#### 42. GENE-EDITING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [83] Long C, Amoasii L, Mireault AA, McAnally JR, Li H, Sanchez-Ortiz E, et al. Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. Science 2016;351(6271):400–3.
- [84] Nelson CE, Hakim CH, Ousterout DG, Thakore PI, Moreb EA, Castellanos Rivera RM, et al. In vivo genome editing improves muscle function in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Science 2016;351(6271):403–7.
- [85] Tabebordbar M, Zhu K, Cheng JK, Chew WL, Widrick JJ, Yan WX, et al. In vivo gene editing in dystrophic mouse muscle and muscle stem cells. Science 2016;351(6271):407–11.
- [86] Iyombe-Engembe JP, Ouellet DL, Barbeau X, Rousseau J, Chapdelaine P, Lague P, et al. Efficient restoration of the dystrophin gene reading frame and protein structure in DMD myoblasts using the CinDel method. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2016;5:e283.
- [87] Maggio I, Liu J, Janssen JM, Chen X, Goncalves MA. Adenoviral vectors encoding CRISPR/Cas9 multiplexes rescue dystrophin synthesis in unselected populations of DMD muscle cells. Sci Rep 2016;6:37051.
- [88] Young CS, Hicks MR, Ermolova NV, Nakano H, Jan M, Younesi S, et al. A single CRISPR-Cas9 deletion strategy that targets the majority of DMD patients restores dystrophin function in hiPSC-derived muscle cells. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18(4):533–40.
- [89] Quattrocelli M, Swinnen M, Giacomazzi G, Camps J, Barthelemy I, Ceccarelli G, et al. Mesodermal iPSC-derived progenitor cells functionally regenerate cardiac and skeletal muscle. J Clin Invest 2015;125(12):4463–82.
- [90] Turan S, Farruggio AP, Srifa W, Day JW, Calos MP. Precise correction of disease mutations in induced pluripotent stem cells derived from patients with limb girdle muscular dystrophy. Mol Ther 2016;24(4):685–96.
- [91] Chou BK, Mali P, Huang X, Ye Z, Dowey SN, Resar LM, et al. Efficient human iPS cell derivation by a non-integrating plasmid from blood cells with unique epigenetic and gene expression signatures. Cell Res 2011;21(3):518–29.
- [92] Ingram VM. A specific chemical difference between the globins of normal human and sickle-cell anaemia haemoglobin. Nature 1956; 178(4537):792-4.
- [93] Ingram VM. Gene mutations in human haemoglobin: the chemical difference between normal and sickle cell haemoglobin. Nature 1957; 180(4581):326-8.
- [94] Dever DP, Bak RO, Reinisch A, Camarena J, Washington G, Nicolas CE, et al. CRISPR/Cas9 beta-globin gene targeting in human haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 2016;539(7629):384–9.
- [95] DeWitt MA, Magis W, Bray NL, Wang T, Berman JR, Urbinati F, et al. Selection-free genome editing of the sickle mutation in human adult hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Sci Transl Med 2016;8(360):360ra134.
- [96] Li C, Ding L, Sun CW, Wu LC, Zhou D, Pawlik KM, et al. Novel HDAd/EBV reprogramming vector and highly efficient Ad/CRISPR-cas sickle cell disease gene correction. Sci Rep 2016;6:30422.
- [97] Ding Q, Regan SN, Xia Y, Oostrom LA, Cowan CA, Musunuru K. Enhanced efficiency of human pluripotent stem cell genome editing through replacing TALENs with CRISPRs. Cell Stem Cell 2013;12(4):393–4.
- [98] Smith C, Gore A, Yan W, Abalde-Atristain L, Li Z, He C, et al. Whole-genome sequencing analysis reveals high specificity of CRISPR/Cas9 and TALEN-based genome editing in human iPSCs. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15(1):12–3.
- [99] Veres A, Gosis BS, Ding Q, Collins R, Ragavendran A, Brand H, et al. Low incidence of off-target mutations in individual CRISPR-Cas9 and TALEN targeted human stem cell clones detected by whole-genome sequencing. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15(1):27–30.
- [100] Huang X, Wang Y, Yan W, Smith C, Ye Z, Wang J, et al. Production of gene-corrected adult beta globin protein in human erythrocytes differentiated from patient iPSCs after genome editing of the sickle point mutation. Stem Cells 2015;33(5):1470–9.
- [101] Ma N, Liao B, Zhang H, Wang L, Shan Y, Xue Y, et al. Transcription activator-like effector nuclease (TALEN)-mediated gene correction in integration-free beta-thalassemia induced pluripotent stem cells. J Biol Chem 2013;288(48):34671–9.
- [102] Xu P, Tong Y, Liu XZ, Wang TT, Cheng L, Wang BY, et al. Both TALENs and CRISPR/Cas9 directly target the HBB IVS2-654 (C > T) mutation in beta-thalassemia-derived iPSCs. Sci Rep 2015;5:12065.
- [103] Xie F, Ye L, Chang JC, Beyer AI, Wang J, Muench MO, et al. Seamless gene correction of beta-thalassemia mutations in patient-specific iPSCs using CRISPR/Cas9 and piggyBac. Genome Res 2014;24(9):1526–33.
- [104] Giani FC, Fiorini C, Wakabayashi A, Ludwig LS, Salem RM, Jobaliya CD, et al. Targeted application of human genetic variation can improve red blood cell production from stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18(1):73–8.
- [105] Shinkuma S, Guo Z, Christiano AM. Site-specific genome editing for correction of induced pluripotent stem cells derived from dominant dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2016;113(20):5676–81.
- [106] Osborn MJ, Starker CG, McElroy AN, Webber BR, Riddle MJ, Xia L, et al. TALEN-based gene correction for epidermolysis bullosa. Mol Ther 2013;21(6):1151–9.
- [107] Poon A, Schmid B, Pires C, Nielsen TT, Hjermind LE, Nielsen JE, et al. Generation of a gene-corrected isogenic control hiPSC line derived from a familial Alzheimer's disease patient carrying a L150P mutation in presenilin 1. Stem Cell Res 2016;17(3):466–9.
- [108] Ishikawa T, Imamura K, Kondo T, Koshiba Y, Hara S, Ichinose H, et al. Genetic and pharmacological correction of aberrant dopamine synthesis using patient iPSCs with BH4 metabolism disorders. Hum Mol Genet 2016;25(23):5188–97.
- [109] Park CY, Halevy T, Lee DR, Sung JJ, Lee JS, Yanuka O, et al. Reversion of FMR1 methylation and silencing by editing the triplet repeats in fragile X iPSC-derived neurons. Cell Rep 2015;13(2):234–41.
- [110] Ran FA, Hsu PD, Lin CY, Gootenberg JS, Konermann S, Trevino AE, et al. Double nicking by RNA-guided CRISPR Cas9 for enhanced genome editing specificity. Cell 2013;154(6):1380–9.
- [111] Mali P, Aach J, Stranges PB, Esvelt KM, Moosburner M, Kosuri S, et al. CAS9 transcriptional activators for target specificity screening and paired nickases for cooperative genome engineering. Nat Biotechnol 2013;31(9):833–8.
- [112] Qi LS, Larson MH, Gilbert LA, Doudna JA, Weissman JS, Arkin AP, et al. Repurposing CRISPR as an RNA-guided platform for sequencespecific control of gene expression. Cell 2013;152(5):1173–83.
- [113] Gilbert LA, Larson MH, Morsut L, Liu Z, Brar GA, Torres SE, et al. CRISPR-mediated modular RNA-guided regulation of transcription in eukaryotes. Cell 2013;154(2):442–51.
- [114] Dominguez AA, Lim WA, Qi LS. Beyond editing: repurposing CRISPR-Cas9 for precision genome regulation and interrogation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2016;17(1):5–15.
- [115] Chavez A, Scheiman J, Vora S, Pruitt BW, Tuttle M, Iyer EPR, et al. Highly efficient Cas9-mediated transcriptional programming. Nat Methods 2015;12(4):326-8.

- [116] Heman-Ackah SM, Bassett AR, Wood MJ. Precision modulation of neurodegenerative disease-related gene expression in human iPSCderived neurons. Sci Rep 2016;6:28420.
- [117] Bassuk AG, Zheng A, Li Y, Tsang SH, Mahajan VB. Precision medicine: genetic repair of retinitis pigmentosa in patient-derived stem cells. Sci Rep 2016;6:19969.
- [118] Bakondi B, Lv W, Lu B, Jones MK, Tsai Y, Kim KJ, et al. In vivo CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing corrects retinal dystrophy in the S334ter-3 rat model of autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Ther 2016;24(3):556–63.
- [119] Jorquera R, Tanguay RM. Cyclin B-dependent kinase and caspase-1 activation precedes mitochondrial dysfunction in fumarylacetoacetateinduced apoptosis. FASEB J 1999;13(15):2284–98.

This page intentionally left blank

## Preclinical Bone Repair Models in Regenerative Medicine

Elvis L. Francois<sup>1</sup>, Michael J. Yaszemski<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United States; <sup>2</sup>Departments of Orthopedic Surgery and Biomedical Engineering, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Bone tissue engineering (BTE) is a promising avenue of research that has the goal of providing novel methods to add to our clinical capabilities for treating difficult segmental and contained skeletal defects. Bone tissue demonstrates the intrinsic properties of regrowth and self-repair, which is a process marked by a complex array of biologic, structural and metabolic functions. The primary building blocks of bone tissue regeneration center on the recapitulation of the natural signaling pathways of bone development and healing, which are modified toward developing modalities to stimulate bone formation in a clinical situation in which the skeletal defect may not heal using currently available methods.

Of the many tissues under investigation, bone repair models continue to be a promising avenue of study primarily owing to the ever-increasing demand for and short supply of bone substitutes [1]. It is estimated that two million bone graft procedures are performed annually worldwide [2]. In the setting of large bony segmental defects that are often caused by polytrauma, pathological fractures, and osteonecrosis, the capacity for the normal process of fracture healing to repair the skeletal defect and restore load-bearing function to the injured bone is often insufficient, and the result is a fracture nonunion. This further marks the importance of preclinical bone repair models and their value for clinical application. This chapter will provide a general focus on the biological processes of preclinical bone repair in vitro and in animal models.

Ethical issues must be addressed when animals are used as preclinical models as part of the testing program. The appropriate conduct of experimentation using live animals is important to progress in the care of both humans and animals. The responsibility for the appropriate use of animals in research is incumbent on the investigators. The three "R's" of animal experimentation are replacement, reduction, and refinement. Replacement is the process of seeking to replace animals in an experimental design by either using an in vitro method or a phylogenetically lower animal whenever possible. The reduction process is constant assessment of the experimental design in an effort to reduce the number of animals by asking whether the desired data can be obtained in a statistically valid manner using fewer animals. Finally, the refinement process is an attempt to improve existing experimental methods to obtain the desired data with reduced ethical costs in terms of any painful or stressful procedures that are done on the animals.

## **BIOMINERALIZATION AND BONE REGENERATION**

The triad of building blocks for bone tissue regeneration are: functionally active osteoblastic cells to secrete new bone matrix (osteogenesis), scaffolds upon which these anchorage-dependent cells attach and from which signaling

molecules can be delivered to the bone regeneration space (osteoconduction), and growth factors to drive the regeneration process (osteoinduction) [2].

## CELL SOURCES

## Stem Cells in Bone Tissue Engineering

Stem cells require two fundamentally important characteristics: the ability to self-renew and generate daughter lineages with identical potentialities, as well as the ability to differentiate along one or more lineages [3]. In the field of BTE, commonly used sources of stem cells include embryonic stem cells (ESCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and adult mesenchymal stem cell (MSCs).

## EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

Human ESCs (hESCs) are derived from embryos generated via in vitro fertilization. Embryos are most often obtained from donors after they are deemed unsuitable for implantation and appropriate consent has been obtained. The preparation of embryos occurs via an antibody application process in which the inner cell mass from the blastocyst stage of the embryo is separated from the trophectoderm. The cells that are derived from the blastocyst inner cell mass are initially plated onto feeder cells. The cells that constitute the inner cell mass then expand to form an hESC cell line [4]. ESCs have two distinctive properties: the ability to proliferate infinitely and the property of pluripotency to differentiate into all three germ layer cell types: ectoderm, endoderm, and mesoderm [5].

Of specific interest in BTE, hESCs can be guided toward differentiation into osteoblast cells in vitro. One method of differentiation was described by Bielby, in which osteogenic cells are derived from three-dimensional (3D) cell spheroids (embryoid bodies [EBs]) [5]. EBs are formed via suspension or hanging drop methods from a single cell suspension. EBs provide the potential for differentiation into precursor cells of all three germ layers. Committed cells in the EB matrix are cultured in monolayer and are induced to osteogenic cells under the presence of exogenous factors (e.g., dexamethasone-ascorbic acid and sodium- $\beta$ -glycerophosphate). These exogenous factors work in concert to promote an environment conducive to bone regeneration. Dexamethasone stimulates the osteogenic differentiation of precursor cells harvested from multiple tissues. Ascorbic acid facilitates collagen secretion and deposition, and sodium- $\beta$ -glycerophosphate acts to mineralize the deposited matrix. Working in concert with biochemical exogenous factors, the extracellular matrix (ECM) has an important role in the direction and differentiation of ESCs. Alternatively, undifferentiated ESCs or dispersed EBs are sometimes implanted directly into 3D scaffolds and driven to form multiple tissues for later implantation [6].

#### Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

iPSCs are somatic cells reprogrammed to exhibit pluripotent properties. Historically, mouse skin fibroblasts were first reprogrammed to iPSCs by overexpression of a set of four key transcription factors [7]. Subsequently, adult human cells were reprogrammed [7,8]. Systematic reviews of the literature on the osteogenic potential of iPSCs suggest that osteo-induced iPSCs demonstrate an osteogenic capability equal or superior to MSCs [9]. Furthermore, studies demonstrate that cell sources for iPSCs do not appear to affect the osteogenic potential of iPSCs [9]. In their early use, it was noted that iPSCs were met with complications of teratoma formation. In an attempt to address these complications, studies have demonstrated that the addition of resveratrol to the osteogenic medium and irradiation after osteogenic induction reduce teratoma formation in animal models [9].

## Mesenchymal Stem Cells

The most common stem cell type used in the BTE field is the MSC [10]. First identified in 1966 by Friedenstein, MSCs were discovered via the isolation of bone and cartilage-forming cells from rat bone marrow cells that had fibroblast-like morphology [11]. MSCs have since been isolated from multiple tissues (liver, fetal blood, and umbilical cord), but the most well-investigated and readily available source of MSCs is the bone marrow. MSCs harvested from different sources may not be identical in their biological characteristics. A comprehensive report on the

#### SCAFFOLDS

proteome and transcriptome profiles of MSCs revealed source-specific markers [12]. Furthermore, differences that exist in colony-forming unit efficiency, surfactome profiles, multilineage differentiation, and paracrine functions may suggest a specific optimal clinical application for that particular MSC cell line [13,14].

MSCs comprise roughly 0.001%-0.1% of the total population of bone marrow nucleated cells. In turn, these can be specifically separated from other nucleated cells by their adherence properties to plastic culture flasks. They can then be expanded in vitro without a loss of phenotype. The process of harvesting MSCs and then exploiting their pluripotent ability to differentiate them into osteoblasts, chondroblasts, myoblasts, and tenocytes is primarily why they are often used in musculoskeletal tissue engineering applications [15]. MSCs have the ability to differentiate into a variety of adult musculoskeletal cells as well as an inherent ability to secrete a variety of cytokines that modulate inflammatory and immune response pathways [16]. The synergistic benefit of these immunomodulatory effects is a reduction in the risk for host rejection. Another beneficial property of MSCs is their ability to be driven down various mesenchymal cellular pathways including chondrogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic lineages when provided the necessary in vitro or in vivo environments [17] or 3D scaffolds [18]. MSCs are driven toward osteogenic differentiation when stimulated with dexamethasone, ascorbic acid, and sodium- $\beta$ -glycerophosphate. When appropriately stimulated, MSCs upregulate alkaline phosphatase, osteocalcin, and the expression of osteopontin, and they direct calcium deposition within the ECM. In vivo preclinical BTE models also benefit from the use of MSCs, in that the MSCs have been shown to facilitate bone repair when they have anchored onto artificial matrices such as hydroxyapatite scaffolds [19].

## SCAFFOLDS

BTE scaffolds allow for the adherence of osteogenic cells and serve as an appropriate microenvironment to permit those cells to secrete osteoid, the matrix of newly formed bone tissue. Scaffolds are often subdivided into three classes based on their material composition: polymers, metals, and bioceramics. Scaffolds may contain more than one of these three material types. Further stratification is delineated by the derivation of the material (i.e., natural versus synthetic) and their ability to undergo degradation (i.e., resorbable versus nonresorbable).

The benefits of naturally derived scaffolds (i.e., collagens, fibrin, elastin, alginate, hyaluronic acid) are their resorbable qualities in vivo as well as their intrinsic biocompatibility and minimal adverse immunological properties. Synthetic scaffolds have the benefit of often being able to be fabricated with a wider range of degradation rates and mechanical properties compared with their natural counterparts. This ability is based on their polymeric composition, the copolymer ratio, and the interactions of their polymeric side chains. The choice of the synthetic polymer's chemical composition and 3D configuration often determines its cell adhesion properties and ability to incorporate and deliver bioactive molecules in a controlled fashion [20].

A novel arena within scaffold design has been the adoption of additive manufacturing technologies (3D printing) in scaffold fabrication. The term "3D printing" describes a group of additive manufacturing technologies that are collectively referred to as solid free-form fabrication. These include laser stereolithography, fiber electrospinning, fused deposition modeling, fiber extrusion from the melt, and injection molding [21]. The benefits of 3D printing are conferred by its immense flexibility in fabricating scaffolds of varying structural complexity. This process allows for a great deal of control over the construct architecture and flexibility in scaling up fabrication, and it has the added benefit of technically precise reproducibility, which is sometimes lacking in subtractive fabrication techniques (e.g., milling).

## **Biochemical Signaling: Growth Factors and Cell Signals**

BTE cell signals are environmental factors that directly or indirectly influence the regeneration of skeletal tissues. The importance of appropriate cell signals and growth factors cannot be overstated in terms of their importance for bone formation. Common growth factors of particular importance in bone regeneration include bone morphogenic protein (BMP)-2, BMP-7 (also called osteogenic protein 1), fibroblast growth factor, platelet derived growth factor, parathyroid hormone (PTH), PTH-releasing peptide, transforming growth factor-β3, vascular endothelial growth factor, and the Wnt proteins [22]. The interplay between signaling molecules and growth factors is complex and multivariable. Factors critical to cell signaling include the spatiotemporal release of growth factors and their bioactivity. The delivery of biochemical signaling cues is generally categorized as unbound, bound within the implant with a designed controlled delivery, coated on the implant surface, or coded within the cells via gene delivery mechanisms [23,24]. Unbound delivery systems are marked by the rapid efflux of the growth factors followed by rapid clearance from the microenvironment. Bound delivery systems allow the advantage of controlled or specific variable release of the biochemical signal over time. Generally speaking, bound delivery

systems are more applicable for the requirements of BTE. Hydrogels are the most commonly investigated polymer for cell encapsulation and the in situ delivery of biochemical cues [22]. To mimic the function performed by the ECM, bioactive hydrogels containing protease sensitive sites, cell adhesion molecules such as Arg-Gly-Asp– containing peptides, and/or biological cues in the form of growth factors, inorganic minerals, or drugs have also been developed [25,26].

Of the many growth and differentiation factors in BTE, BMPs possess the unique ability to stimulate the differentiation of mesenchymal precursor cells to chondrocytes and osteoblasts; this in turn allows for the induction of new bone at ectopic and orthotopic sites. Marshall Urist discovered that demineralized bone matrix induced ectopic bone formation in subcutaneous and intramuscular pockets in rodents [27]. Further investigation over the next several decades led to the isolation of BMPs as the causative factor in this induction of the bone formation cascade [28]. Clinically, BMPs are often used at the sites of intended bone regeneration in skeletal defects with the goal of osteoblastic cell proliferation and differentiation. The delivery of BMPs can be either direct application to the intended site of bone regeneration or via controlled release. There are several drug delivery systems under investigation that allow for measured controlled delivery. BMPs as well as other proteins may be encapsulated in poly(D,L-lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) microspheres [29] or embedded into collagen carriers [30]. Among other delivery systems, these allow for the temporal and spatial release of growth factors and cell signals in a controlled fashion.

## PRECLINICAL MODELS OF BONE TISSUE REGENERATION

## In Vitro Preclinical Models

In vitro studies offer the advantage of focused manipulation of specific biomaterials in well-controlled experiments. In targeting specific cascades, investigators are more capable of understanding specific variable responses in a closed environment with the goal of predicting future responses in preclinical animal models and in subsequent translational first-in-human applications. In vitro studies afford the opportunity to simulate complex interactions among cells, scaffolds, and growth factors in relatively controlled environments. Bone-forming cells (osteoblasts) are often procured from three primary origins:

- pluripotent stem cells that differentiate into osteoblasts [31],
- primary osteoblasts and osteocytes from different species [32,33], and
- immortalized cell lines [34,35].

To maintain translational validity, bone in vitro models must incorporate the classic triad of cells, scaffolds, and growth factors in a fashion that closely mimics both the biochemical and biomechanical bone formation characteristics that are seen in vivo. The bone matrix is composed of cells surrounded by an ECM made up of an inorganic phase that is approximately 70 wt% hydroxyapatite and an organic phase that is approximately 30 wt% type I collagen and other noncollagenous proteins [36,37]. Biomechanical studies have demonstrated that greater than 90% of bone cells within the ECM are osteocytes that sense and transduce mechanical forces exerted on the bone, in turn governing the rates of resorption and deposition that occur during bone remodeling [38].

Historically, the study of the interplay between bone physiological and pathological processes has been performed on 2D plastic plates. Although great strides in understanding bone formation, bone resorption, and bone remodeling have been made via this medium, the 2D cell cultures have been shown to mimic the 3D microenvironment of native bone and the interactions between the bone cells and the ECM incompletely [39]. In vitro studies provide great insight into the translational validity of a model, but the biomechanical environment in vivo is much more complex and the stresses exerted on the bone dictate its resorption and deposition rates. This complex interplay between the microscopic cellular level and the macroscopic mechanical level are greatly important in BTE, because understanding these interactions is critical to the success of in vivo BTE preclinical models.

## In Vivo Preclinical Models

The benefit of in vivo models rests in the ability to assess biomaterials in more complex tissue environments that have variable loading conditions. Among the limitations of BTE animal models is the interspecies variation of bone tissue. It has been well-illustrated that bone composition, density, and mechanical properties of various animal models (i.e., cow, sheep, pig, dog, chicken, and rat) often differ from those properties in human bone [40].

#### PRECLINICAL MODELS OF BONE TISSUE REGENERATION

There are a host of factors to be considered when selecting a specific animal model for in vivo preclinical studies. Chief among these is that the animal model demonstrates physiological and pathophysiological processes that mimic those in humans. The attributes of a "good" animal model are that in addition to being similar to those in humans, as mentioned earlier, the animal's anatomy and physiology are suitable for the requirements of the study design. The animal chosen should be economical and available. The animal management and care issues must have been considered and are optimal for the chosen study (e.g., housing requirements and ease of handling).

## Selection Considerations Based on Animal Species

Animal species that are under consideration for in vivo preclinical studies include mice, rats, rabbits, sheep, goats, pigs, dogs, cats, and nonhuman primates. There are pros and cons to the use of any of these animals. Mice and rats are readily available and inexpensive and have minimal housing requirements. On the negative side, their small size is an issue in some experiments, and their life span postskeletal maturity places a time limit on the study. Human clinical conditions that have been modeled by rats and mice include heterotopic bone formation, trabecular bone defects, segmental bone defects, and spinal cord injury. Given their size, robustness, and cost efficiency, rodents are particularly useful in preclinical studies in assessing biomaterials as bone substitutes and are generally regarded as the prime model for in vivo testing of the regeneration of bone tissue [41]. Disadvantages, in addition to those listed earlier, include the lack of Haversian-type remodeling in the rodent bone cortex and thin, fragile cortices in the long bones [42]. The rat, which is the most often used animal model, has been shown to have the most significant difference from human bone compared with other animal models [43]. Rodents are primarily useful for the surgical implantation stage of substitute bone materials. For example,  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate ( $\beta$ -TCP), calcium phosphate, and collagen experiments have been commonly conducted in rodents. A prime example of applications of rodent bone defect models is exemplified by investigations of the biocompatibility of highly purified  $\beta$ -TCP bone graft substitutes using a rat femoral defect model. The study demonstrated that purified  $\beta$ -TCP was both biocompatible and resorbable [44]. In another study, investigators successfully used small animal rodent models to establish a 4-mm-diameter calvarial critical-sized defect model in mice. This model was successful in the analysis of the in vivo osteoconductive and osteoinductive abilities of bone substitute materials [45].

Similar to mice and rats, rabbits are also readily available and inexpensive, and have minimal housing requirements. They are larger than mice and rats but are still considered a small animal model. Rabbit models rank as the most commonly employed models in musculoskeletal research [46]. Applications that have used rabbit models include calvarial critical-sized bone defects, posterolateral spine fusion, and cartilage regeneration. Rabbits have similarities to humans in bone mineral density and fracture toughness of middiaphyseal bone.

Large animal models allow for the assessment of a larger volume of bone regeneration and repair over a longer time frame than is possible in mice, rats, and rabbits. Large animal models permit the assessment of bone remodeling and implant integration in a manner that better mimics the biomechanics and loading characteristics seen in humans. Large animal models that are often used in musculoskeletal investigations include sheep, goats, pigs, dogs, cats, and nonhuman primates. The use of sheep, goats, and pigs provides an animal model in which bones and joints are more similar to their counterparts in humans than are those in the small animal models discussed previously. Sheep, goats, and pigs have good availability and can serve as an alternative to dogs in some applications. Dogs and cats are companion animals, which often causes their use to receive greater scrutiny. Negative issues associated with the use of sheep, goats, and pigs include the increased cost, housing requirements, and the need for a formal operating room setup to perform surgery on them. Applications for which sheep, goats, and pigs have been used include radius nonunion (and other bone healing or bone defect applications), femoral head osteonecrosis, anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction, and meniscal repair.

Dogs and cats share the same pros and cons as sheep, goats, and pigs. In addition, as mentioned earlier, their status as companion animals often attracts greater scrutiny in their use in experimental designs that include surgical procedures. Several applications that have used dogs and cats as experimental animals include many of the same applications for which sheep, goats, and pigs were used: radial nonunions, tibial defects, other fracture healing or bone defect models, femoral head osteonecrosis, and craniomandibular reconstruction. In addition, dogs and cats have been used in surgical studies for total joint arthroplasty, spinal cord injury, and distal radius osteosarcoma.

Nonhuman primates have an anatomy and physiology that more closely parallel those of humans than any of the other animal models discussed here. They are not readily available, they are expensive, and they have the highest housing requirements than any of the other animals. The scrutiny that they receive from the Institutional Animal
Care and Use Committee when their use is requested is even higher than that of the companion animals. Applications in which nonhuman primates have been used include osteoporosis, bone healing, fracture nonunions, prosthetic implant studies, spinal fusion, and organ transplantation studies.

Surgical studies using animals are essential for the analysis of novel treatments for both humans and animals. However, we must treat them humanely, take whatever measures are necessary to control their surgical pain, and constantly seek to apply "the three R's" of replacement, reduction, and refinement to obtain the data that we need, and simultaneously try to do so while using increasingly fewer animals.

# CONCLUSIONS

No amount or type of preclinical (in vitro and animal) studies can predict with certainty the implant behavior in humans. The first in-human use must consider clinical equipoise: the anticipated balance between potential benefit and potential risk in the human study subject who receives the implant. Consider the regulatory implications of potential preclinical experimental pathways, because different but feasible may pose different regulatory burdens. Plan to speak with US Food and Drug Administration colleagues early and often as the various potential preclinical paths are being considered. Remember that animal models are an essential but insufficient component of the preclinical evaluation for new medical products. The choice of model depends on several factors, including the biologic and structural goal of the study, the applicability of the model to the human condition under evaluation, the cost and technical feasibility of the chosen model, and historical experience with the model. Eventually, the safety and efficacy of new treatment modalities will be determined by well-controlled studies in humans, and postevaluation use in the general population of patients who have the condition to be treated. Be certain that clinicians who care for patients with the disease in question are members of the planning and execution of the preclinical study team. The ultimate determination as to whether your product will become the standard of care for the surgical care of the disease condition under consideration will be made one patient at a time, within the physician-patient relationship as the treating doctor and the patient discuss the various treatment options available to them to treat the patient's clinical problem.

# References

- Cancedda R, Giannoni P, Mastrogiacomo M. A tissue engineering approach to bone repair in large animal models and in clinical practice. Biomaterials 2007;28(29):4240-50.
- [2] Giannoudis PV, Dinopoulos H, Tsiridis E. Bone substitutes: an update. Injury 2005;36(Suppl. 3):S20-7.
- [3] Wagers AJ, Weissman IL. Plasticity of adult stem cells. Cell 2004;116:639-48.
- [4] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7.
- [5] Bielby RC, Boccaccini AR, Polak JM, Buttery LD. In vitro differentiation and in vivo mineralization of osteogenic cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Tissue Eng September–October 2004;10(9–10):1518–25.
- [6] Levenberg S, Huang NF, Lavik E, Rogers AB, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Langer R. Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells on three-dimensional polymer scaffolds. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA October 28, 2003;100(22):12741–6 [Epub Oct 15, 2003].
- [7] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131:861–72.
- [8] Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318:1917–20.
- [9] Bastami F, Nazeman P, Moslemi H, Rezai Rad M, Sharifi K, Khojasteh A. Induced pluripotent stem cells as a new getaway for bone tissue engineering: a systematic review. Cell Prolif April 2017;50(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12321 [Epub Dec 1, 2016].
- [10] Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop DJ, Horwitz E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006;8(4): 315–7.
- [11] Friedenstein AJ, Piatetzky-Shapiro II, Petrakova KV. Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J Embryol Exp Morphol December 1966;16(3):381–90.
- [12] Billing AM, Ben Hamidane H, Dib SS, et al. Comprehensive transcriptomic and proteomic characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells reveals source specific cellular markers. Sci Rep 2016;6:21507.
- [13] Davies JE, Walker JT, Keating A. Concise review: Wharton's Jelly: the rich, but enigmatic, source of mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 2017;6:1620–30.
- [14] Chen J-Y, Mou X-Z, Du X-C, et al. Comparative analysis of biological characteristics of adult mesenchymal stem cells with different tissue origins. Asian Pac J Trop Med 2015;8:739–46.

- [15] Al-Nbaheen M, Vishnubalaji R, Ali D, Bouslimi A, Al-Jassir F, Megges M, Prigione A, Adjaye J, Kassem M, Aldahmash A. Human stromal (mesenchymal) stem cells from bone marrow, adipose tissue and skin exhibit differences in molecular phenotype and differentiation potential. Stem Cell Rev February 2013;9(1):32–43.
- [16] Caplan A, Correa D. The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell July 8, 2011;9(1):11-5.
- [17] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science April 2, 1999;284:143–7.
- [18] Hu J, Feng K, Liu XH, Ma PX. Chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiations of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on a nanofibrous scaffold with designed pore network. Biomaterials 2009;30:5061–7.
- [19] Kasten P, Vogel J, Luginbuhl R, Niemeyer P, Tonak M, Lorenz H, Helbig L, Weiss S, Fellenberg J, Leo A, Simank HG, Richter W. Ectopic bone formation associated with mesenchymal stem cells in a resorbable calcium deficient hydroxyapatite carrier. Biomaterials October 2005;26(29): 5879–89.
- [20] El-Rashidy AA, Roether JA, Harhaus L, Kneser U, Boccaccini AR. Regenerating bone with bioactive glass scaffolds: a review of in vivo studies in bone defect models. Acta Biomater 2017;62:1–28.
- [21] Black CR, Goriainov V, Gibbs D, Kanczler J, Tare RS, Oreffo RO. Bone tissue engineering. Curr Mol Biol Rep 2015;1(3):132–40 [Epub Aug 15, 2015].
- [22] Gothard D, Smith EL, Knaczler JM, Rashidi H, Qutachi O, Henstock J, Rotherham M, El Haj A, Shakesheff KM, Oreffo ROC. Tissue engineered bone using select growth factors: a comprehensive review of animal studies and clinical translation studies in man. Eur Cell Mater 2014;28:166–208. https://doi.org/10.22203/eCM.v028a13.
- [23] Zhang H, Migneco F, Lin CY, Hollister SJ. Chemically-conjugated bone morphogenetic protein-2 on three-dimensional polycaprolactone scaffolds stimulates osteogenic activity in bone marrow stromal cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:3441. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2010.0132.
- [24] Mourino V, Cattalini JP, Roether JA, Dubey P, Roy I, Boccaccini AR. Composite polymer-bioceramic scaffolds with drug delivery capability for bone tissue engineering. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2013;10:1353. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2013.808183.
- [25] He X, Ma J, Jabbari E. Effect of grafting RGD and BMP-2 protein-derived peptides to a hydrogel substrate on osteogenic differentiation of marrow stromal cells. Langmuir 2008;24:12508. https://doi.org/10.1021/la802447.
- [26] Fedorovich NE, Schuurman W, Wijnberg HM, Prins HJ, Van Weeren PR, Malda J, et al. Biofabrication of osteochondral tissue equivalents by printing topologically defined, cell-laden hydrogel scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part C 2012;18:33. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEC.2011.0060.
- [27] Urist MR. Bone formation by autoinduction. Science 1965;150:893-9.
- [28] Wozney JM, Rosen V, Celeste AJ, Mitsock LM, Whitters MJ, Kriz RW, et al. Novel regulators of bone formation: molecular clones & activities. Science 1988;242:1528–34.
- [29] Weber M, Steinert A, Jork A, Dimmler A, Thürmer F, Schütze N, Hendrich C, Zimmerman U. Formation of cartilage matrix proteins by BMPtransfected murine mesenchymal stem cells encapsulated in a novel class of alginates. Biomaterials May 2002;23(9):2003–13.
- [30] Murata M, Maki F, Sato D, Shibata T, Arisue M. Bone augmentation by onlay implant using recombinant human BMP-2 and collagen on adult rat skull without periosteum. Clin Oral Implants Res August 2000;11(4):289–95.
- [31] Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, Bruder SP. Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. J Cell Biochem February 1997;64(2):295–312.
- [32] Jonsson KB, Frost A, Nilsson O, Ljunghall S, Ljunggren O. Three isolation techniques for primary culture of human osteoblast-like cells: a comparison. Acta Orthop Scand 2009;70:365–73. https://doi.org/10.3109/17453679908997826.
- [33] Prideaux M, Wijenayaka AR, Kumarasinghe DD, Ormsby RT, Evdokiou A, Findlay DM, et al. SaOS<sub>2</sub> osteosarcoma cells as an in vitro model for studying the transition of human osteoblasts to osteocytes. Calcif Tissue Int 2014;95:183–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00223-014-9879-y.
- [34] Kato Y, Boskey A, Spevak L, Dallas M, Hori M, Bonewald LF. Establishment of an osteoid preosteocyte-like cell MLO-A5 that spontaneously mineralizes in culture. J Bone Miner Res 2001;16:1622–33. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.2001.16.9.1622.
- [35] Woo SM, Rosser J, Dusevich V, Kalajzic I, Bonewald LF. Cell line IDG-SW3 replicates osteoblast-to-late-osteocyte differentiation in vitro and accelerates bone formation in vivo. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:2634–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.465.
- [36] Boskey AL. The organic and inorganic matrices. In: Hollinger JO, Einhorn TA, Doll BA, Sfeir C, editors. Bone tissue engineering. Boca Raton, London, New York, Washington, DC: CRC Press; 2004. p. 91–123.
- [37] Alvarez K, Nakajima H. Metallic scaffolds for bone regeneration. Materials 2009;2:790-832. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma2030790.
- [38] Franz-Odendaal TA, Hall BK, Witten PE. Buried alive: how osteo-blasts become osteocytes. Dev Dynam 2006;235:176–90. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/dvdy.20603.
- [39] Tortelli F, Cancedda R. Three-dimensional cultures of osteogenic and chondrogenic cells: a tissue engineering approach to mimic bone and cartilage in vitro. Eur Cell Mater 2009;17:1–14. https://doi.org/10.22203/eCM.v017a01.
- [40] Martini L, Fini M, Giavaresi G, Giardino R. Sheep model in orthopedic research: a literature review. Comp Med 2001;51:292-9.
- [41] Gomes P, Fernandes M. Rodent models in bone-related research: the relevance of calvarial defects in the assessment of bone regeneration strategies. Lab Anim 2011;45:14e24.
- [42] An YH, Freidman RJ. Animal models in orthopaedic research. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1998.
- [43] Aerssens J, Boonen S, Lowet G, Dequeker J. Interspecies differences in bone composition, density, and quality: potential implications for in vivo bone research 1. Endocrinology 1998;139:663–70. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.139.2.5751.
- [44] Kondo N, Ogose A, Tokunaga K, Ito T, Arai K, Kudo N, et al. Bone formation and resorption of highly purified b-tricalcium phosphate in the rat femoral condyle. Biomaterials 2005;26:5600e8.
- [45] Zhao J, Shen G, Liu C, Wang S, Zhang W, Zhang X, Ye D, Wei J, Zhang Z, Jiang X. Enhanced healing of rat calvarial defects with sulfated chitosan-coated calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite/bone morphogenetic protein 2 scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part A 2012;18:185–97.
- [46] Neyt J, Buckwalter JA, Carroll N. Use of animal models in musculoskeletal research. Iowa Orthop J 1998;18:118e23.

This page intentionally left blank

# 44

# Body-on-a-Chip: Regenerative Medicine for Personalized Medicine

Aleksander Skardal<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>, Thomas Shupe<sup>1</sup>, Anthony Atala<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States; <sup>2</sup>Virginia Tech-Wake Forest School of Biomedical Engineering and Sciences, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States; <sup>3</sup>Comprehensive Cancer Center at Wake Forest Baptist Medical, Winston-Salem, NC, United States; <sup>4</sup>Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Current drug development strategies do not include adequate models to predict drug efficacy or safety in humans. There is a considerable need for the high-fidelity in vitro representation of integrated human physiology to test both the beneficial and potential detrimental effects of drug candidate compounds in the body [1,2]. Animals (rodents, in particular) have been the reference standard of scientific experimentation for centuries. These animal models have served as the cornerstone of research in cell biology, pathobiology, molecular biology, and many other biomedical research fields [3]. Two-dimensional (2D) cell lines and animal models have been used extensively to determine the toxicity of new drugs before the initiation of human clinical trials. It has become clear that these models have significant limitations owing to phenotypic differences in physiology compared with humans. This is especially critical for the assessment of toxic side effects of drugs that might target the liver, heart, and other organs because of the differences in enzymatic expression profiles among humans, rodents, and cell lines, which often results in significant differences in drug metabolism, efficacy, and toxicity. In vitro drug screening platforms use human cells; however, by definition, the genotype of cell lines is altered from the natural state, and primary cells change phenotype after removal from native tissue. These phenotype changes in culture result from the failure of traditional 2D systems to recapitulate several aspects of the native 3D cellular microenvironment [4, 5]. As a result, 2D cultures exert selective pressures on cells, significantly altering their phenotype as they adapt to their new conditions. Drug diffusion kinetics are not modeled accurately in 2D tissue culture, drug doses effective in 2D are often ineffective when scaled to patients, and the lack of cell-cell/cell-matrix interactions in 2D often lead to loss of cell function [4,6,7].

In contrast, advances in tissue engineering, biomaterial development, and microfluidics and electronics have resulted in the successful fabrication of multicellular human tissue equivalents and microorgans (organoids) that demonstrate many of the functional properties of normal human tissue and organs. For example, liver organoids exhibit normal metabolic activity, skeletal and cardiac muscle constructs contract in a physiologically normal manner, lung organoids "breath," and gut/vessel/brain microvasculature constructs maintain normal barrier functionality [8,9].

"Body-on-a-chip" devices that recapitulate 3D tissue architectures and physiological fluid flow conditions are more effective at supporting normal cell function than static 2D culture [10]. These engineered platforms can include sophisticated hardware systems, potential for scale-up, capacity for high throughput, and user control over physical factors such as fluid shear stress and mechanical deformations. Microfabrication techniques based on a variety of nanotechnologies have resulted in the development of microscale fluidic systems with predictable fluid dynamics throughout the entire fluid circuit [11]. Tissues and organoids can be immobilized within platform microreactors using sophisticated hydrogel biomaterials, providing a proper microenvironment and allowing for long-term perfusion. A variety of iterations on these basic concepts are in use by laboratories around the world [12–14]. In addition, a variety of on-chip disease models have been investigated [13]. The most pressing challenge in advancing the body-on-a-chip field is to combine multiple organs within a common microfluidic circuit, to model an entire human, on-chip. Such a system would represent the pinnacle of in vitro platforms for modeling integrated human physiology. Ideally, as in the human body, such a system would recapitulate the interdependent and synergistic functions of all tissues and organs within a cell culture or body-on-a-chip platform. The microfluidic circuit connecting organoid microreactor chambers allows for fluid flow across each organoid type in a sequence that mimics blood flow throughout the human body [8]. Compound metabolites and other secreted factors would likewise be transported to downstream organoid types in a physiologically relevant sequence. As such, these advanced body-on-a-chip platforms would be ideal for testing newly developed drugs and assessing potential toxic side effects in human tissues and organs. Furthermore, the body-on-a-chip platform would offer tremendous benefits for pharmacological studies aimed at determining the specific effects and toxic levels for newly developed drugs, allowing for the better prediction of appropriate doses for human trials. In this chapter, we highlight a variety of organoid-on-a-chip systems for applications such as drug screening and disease modeling and look to the future of multiorganoid body-on-a-chip systems and applications in personalized precision medicine.

# ADVANCE OF IN VITRO ORGANOID DEVELOPMENT: PROGRESSION FROM TWO-DIMENSIONAL TO THREE-DIMENSIONAL MODELS

The development of novel drugs that are safe and effective in humans has been significantly hampered owing to the inability to model human cell phenotype, function, and intercellular signaling accurately in vitro. Animal models used extensively in preclinical drug studies are traditionally regarded to be the reference standard for drug testing. However, animal models do not reflect human drug metabolism accurately; thus, animals are often not predictive of results in humans. The second type of conventional model system, in vitro 2D culture, fails to recapitulate many aspects of the 3D cellular microenvironment, leading to poor support for cell viability and cellular function [4,15]. In addition, drug diffusion kinetics are completely nonphysiological in traditional cell culture and drug doses that are effective in 2D are often ineffective when scaled to patients [6,7]. Cells grown on tissue culture plastic experience several properties in their environment that are inconsistent with the tissue from which the cells were originally isolated. These include surface microtopography, stiffness, oxygen tension, mechanical loading, biochemical composition, and most important, a 2D rather than 3D architecture. These unnatural characteristics can significantly alter the phenotypic properties of cells, because they are forced to adapt to these new conditions.

The functional differences between 2D cultures and 3D constructs have begun to be appreciated. A myriad of studies have demonstrated these differences across a variety of cell types. 3D systems consistently outperform 2D cultures in many aspects including accurately representing in vivo function and demonstrating a physiologically normal response to drugs and toxins [16]. The current drug development pipeline (Fig. 44.1A) has not yet evolved to include newer 3D cell culture technology, which results in countless discrepancies between in vitro drug screening outcomes and later performance in patients, during or even after clinical trials [17]. As an example, our team demonstrated that metastatic colon carcinoma cells adopted an epithelial appearance in 2D tissue culture. However, when transitioned to a 3D organoid form factor, the cancer cells "switched" to a morphology that resembled mesenchymal metastatic cells, which were much more representative of malignant tumor cells in vivo [18]. These kinds of documented benefits of 3D cell culture beg the question: Why are 2D cell cultures still being employed in drug development and toxicology screening?

Fortunately, tissue engineering technologies have evolved to the point that microengineered tissue constructs can better mimic the structure, cellular heterogeneity, and function of in vivo tissue. These organ models can often be maintained in viable states for longer periods and are designed to preserve the functional properties of native tissues. They can also recapitulate the microenvironmental roles of cell–cell, cell–extracellular matrix (ECM), and mechanical interactions that cells experience inside tissues. Oxygenation can be a concern in 3D tissue models. If they are too large in diameter, an oxygen gradient develops across the organoid that can lead to phenotypic changes and potentially a necrotic core. However, oxygen gradients exist in vivo. As such, as long these gradients are taken into consideration and controlled, either by limiting the size of the organoids or by creating perfusable channels within the construct, maintaining an oxygen gradient may actually provide a better representation of native tissue. Overall, these relatively new 3D model systems are greatly superior to their 2D predecessors for drug and toxicology testing.



FIGURE 44.1 Potential improvements in the drug development pipeline as a result of deployment of organ-on-a-chip and body-on-a-chip technologies into pharmaceutical research and development. (A) The current drug development pipeline requires many years and multiple billions of dollars to bring a drug to market. (B) Plugging in human-based, biofabricated on-a-chip platforms into preclinical stages can potentially drastically improve the efficiency of the drug development pipeline. *R&D*, research and development.

Fortunately, the general concept of performing research using 3D versus 2D cultures has gained significant traction. However, hurdles and challenges remain. 2D cell culture is an established practice that will certainly remain a widely used tool for many years. This is primarily because it is easy and inexpensive compared with 3D culture systems. Implementing 3D systems in a laboratory can be complicated, requiring the mastery of new technologies including biomaterial development and biofabrication techniques. Furthermore, once 3D culture technologies have been established, processes regarded as trivial in 2D culture, such as cell harvesting and cell passaging, can be difficult and in some cases impossible without harming the cells. For example, if cells are cultured within a 3D hydrogel construct, one must effectively dissolve the matrix to isolate or harvest the cells. Some biomaterials support cell retrieval by building specific features into the material [19], but most do not; instead, they require enzymatic dissolution that in some cases can influence cell viability or phenotype. Also, most cell imaging techniques were developed for 2D cell cultures, environments in which cells exist in a narrow focal plane. In 3D, cells reside in many focal planes. Consequently, high-quality imaging in 3D may be obtained only by confocal or macroconfocal microscopy, requiring expensive equipment to which many laboratories do not have access. In addition, there are a variety of assays that can be significantly more difficult to perform on 3D models or that require significant modification for adapting to 3D models. Finally, some body-on-chip device materials (polydimethylsiloxane, for example) are prone to fouling and drug and protein adsorption. However, new materials for device hardware are being developed to solve this problem.

All things considered, it is generally understood that 3D or dynamic on-a-chip platforms outperform static 2D systems in modeling normal human physiology [16]. As a result, these more capable 3D platforms have an immense potential to influence the drug development pipeline positively, decreasing development costs and increasing success rates of drug candidates in clinical trials (Fig. 44.1B). Perhaps just as important, these models can be used to identify nonoptimal drug candidates early before human trials are initiated.

# ORGAN-ON-A-CHIP TECHNOLOGIES AND THEIR APPLICATIONS

Advances in biotechnology areas such as tissue engineering [20], biomaterials [21], and microbiofabrication [22] have allowed the derivation of new biological systems with massive potential as test platforms. Researchers have developed a wide variety of human-derived in vitro models that can be used to test drugs, toxins, and drug candidates in a more normal physiological environment [14,23–25]. Furthermore, advances in molecular genetics and tissue engineering technologies have enabled the development of 3D models of specific diseases [13,26–28]. Advances in related technologies such as microfabrication and microfluidic technology have improved 3D cell models by supporting cell and organoid culture, fluid flow, high-throughput testing, environmental sampling, and biosensing. These organ-on-a-chip systems can vary widely in design, allowing for the representation of a range of tissue types. Some of these systems have already been implemented in drug discovery [12] and purport to affect the future of medicine significantly. Here, we highlight just a few microengineering technologies and discuss examples of liver-on-a-chip, vessel-on-a-chip, lung-on-a-chip, and cancer-on-a-chip systems. However, there are many variations of these systems, as well as many additional models for virtually any tissue type.

# Microengineering and Biofabrication

The cellular content of a body-on-a-chip model is only one piece of the puzzle. Even with a physiologically normal composition of cells, normal cell function and appropriate responses to pharmacological agents are not guaranteed. Another environmental characteristic that must be considered is the interaction of cells with specific ECM proteins. As mentioned, cells receive a lot of information from their immediate local microenvironment that directly influences cell phenotype. Thus, it is critically important to reproduce as many of the components of the microenvironment as possible. Several techniques have been developed to incorporate natural structural and functional components of tissue ECM into cell culture systems.

Micropatterning is the precise placement of proteins within a cell culture substrate. Micropatterning can be accomplished by a variety of methods including (1) microcontact printing, in which a stamp is coated with specific ECM components and is pressed against a solid substrate to create a specific pattern; (2) photopatterning using UV light projected through a photomask to catalyze the adherence of ECM proteins, or compounds that bind ECM proteins to a cell substrate in a predetermined pattern; and (3) laser patterning, in which laser light is used to mediate protein binding to a substrate in any desired pattern with very high resolution [29].

Many bioregulatory components of the ECM can be distributed in a controlled manner by using micropatterning techniques. For instance, depositing islands of ECM cell adhesion proteins that restrict cell spreading will induce apoptosis in bovine adrenal capillary cells while maintaining the differentiation state of epidermal keratinocytes. Conversely, micropatterning of ECM proteins that induce cell spreading promoted proliferation of both the bovine adrenal capillary cells and epidermal keratinocytes. These experiments demonstrate a clear link among the local ECM composition of a cell substrate, cell cycle, and differentiation [30,31]. This notion is further highlighted by another study involving micropatterning. Mesenchymal stem cells grown on small micropatterned patches that restrict cell spreading promoted differentiation toward adipogenic lineages, whereas micropatterning of factors that induce cell spreading promoted differentiation toward osteogenic lineages. These studies also showed that modulating cell shape was sufficient to induce the expression of signaling proteins Rac1 and N-cadherin, which have an important role in cell lineage specification [32,33]. Micropatterning represents a powerful tool for precisely controlling the protein composition of the cellular microenvironment within a cell culture substrate. By modulating the biochemical and geometric properties of the microenvironment, global cell phenotype and cell viability may be greatly influenced. Micropatterning has a wide variety of applications in advanced in vitro models and will become increasingly used to tune physiologic output from these systems.

Whereas micropatterning technologies are generally used to control the cellular microenvironment in 2D culture systems, bioprinting provides a method for doing the same in a 3D space. Bioprinting involves the layer-by-layer deposition of structural material, cells, and bioregulatory factors in a controlled manner. Bioprinting technologies enable the fabrication of complex cellularized 3D constructs that may include components of the ECM, including both intrinsic and bound bioregulatory factors that modulate cell organization and function within a 3D space.

Bioprinting is highly customizable across a wide range of resolutions and biochemical or physical characteristics. Applications requiring a more rigid structure can be printed using biomaterials with high mechanical stiffness. For stiffnesses beyond that which may be directly printed, methods have been developed for cross-linking structural components of the biomaterial subsequent to bioprinting. For example, dental implants have been bioprinted from polycaprolactone and hydroxyapatite [34]. On the other end of the stiffness spectrum, soft tissues such as vascular grafts have been printed using very low stiffness poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels [35]. Because of the increasing resolution and speed of bioprinters, the structures that may be fabricated are becoming highly complex. The ability to precisely reproduce the structural and biochemical microarchitecture of tissues will most certainly result in more physiologically normal cellular function in bioprinted constructs.

Several biological constructs have been fabricated using current bioprinting technology. Liver organoids have been generated using microextrusion bioprinting technology that includes several liver cell types suspended in a supportive hydrogel. These constructs demonstrated exceptionally high levels of liver tissue function and maintained viability in the long term, which makes them ideal candidates for tissue-on-a-chip applications [36]. Skin substitutes have also been created using a laser-based bioprinting technology, which allowed the precise placement of cells associated with specific layers of the skin. The resulting skin constructs were implanted into rodent wound models and demonstrated robust neovascularization, differentiation of mature keratinocytes, and the generation of a normal dermal basal lamina, all hallmarks of native skin [37].

3D printing may still be considered a nascent field. Logistical obstacles continue to limit applications in whole-organ biofabrication. However, the speed, reproducibility, and scalability of bioprinting make it an ideal complement to body-on-a-chip modeling. 3D printing can be used to generate an industrial-scale volume of biological constructs with low run-to-run variability, with the complex structure required for high-function tissue organoid models.

### Liver-on-a-Chip

Early tissue/organoid-on-a-chip devices were geometrically designed to drive cell aggregation, thereby creating multicellular organoids. For example, devices were designed with microwells with a convergent geometry that terminated in a cell substrate of some type. Based on the microwell design, liver-derived cell lines could be formed into either spheroid or cylindrical constructs in a highly controlled manner. These 3D constructs maintained much better cellular function than did 2D controls [38,39]. In another example, spheroids were created from a cell line using an array of channels connecting inverted, pyramid-shaped microwells, allowing for the delivery of cells and test compound to multiple chambers simultaneously. This integration of microfluidics with an array of micro-reactors greatly increased the throughput potential for drug screening [40].

Liver-on-a-chip devices have become much more complex. They often employ controlled fluid flow to address nutrient circulation, drug or toxin administration, sample collection, and the integration of liver organoids with other tissue types. The latter will be discussed in detail later in this chapter. In one such liver-on-a-chip, hydrogels were used to encapsulate HepG2 cells with National Institutes of Health (NIH)-3T3 fibroblasts. These arrays of 3D organoids had increased liver function compared with 2D controls and produced an appropriate toxic response to acetyl-para-aminophenol (acetaminophen [APAP]) in a drug screening experiment [41]. Our group employed a versatile photopolymerizable hyaluronic acid biopolymer system for in situ photopatterning of HepG2 cells to generate 3D liver constructs. The constructs were formed in parallel channel fluidic devices that were fabricated by soft lithography and molded polydimethylsiloxane. This system was used for toxicity screening by administering multiple alcohol concentrations within each chip. As expected, alcohol administration resulted in a dose-dependent decrease in viability and cellular function [14]. Efforts within our group are focused on miniaturizing this and other systems to increase throughput further. Miniaturization and microfabrication approaches can be employed to generate more intricate biological microarchitecture such as liver sinusoids. Precise seeding and layering of hepatocytes and endothelial cells within microfluidic circuits can be used to generate structures with the resolution required to produce sinusoid-like models [42]. Another approach to generating biologically relevant microarchitecture involves mating synthetic and biological components. As an example, semiporous membrane to separate two adjacent chambers may be used to partition human hepatocytes from sinusoidal endothelial cells. Such a design was shown to generate higher albumin and urea production compared with traditional hepatocyte cultures; it demonstrates another strategy for recapitulating normal microarchitecture to increase cell function [43].

### Vessel-on-a-Chip

The term "microfluidics" carries with it the assumption of controlled fluid routing. Thus, microfluidic devices are effective for modeling vascular networks. Moreover, because drugs are generally introduced directly to the blood-stream or enter the bloodstream shortly after oral or airway introduction, fluidic systems that mimic the role of the

774

vasculature contribution to pharmacokinetics represent a beneficial component for any drug screening technology. A substantial number of vascular-like fluidic devices have been developed, including both straight channels devices [44,45] and fluidic devices with more complex, branching features [46,47]. One major role of the vascular system, beyond transporting nutrients and oxygen among tissues, is to transport drugs and other molecules to sites throughout the body, where they pass through the endothelium into adjacent tissues. Many microfluidic systems have been designed to model the transendothelial delivery of test compounds to a target tissue. As an example, a device was developed that includes two perpendicular channels that cross at a single point. A semipermeable membrane colonized with an endothelial cell monolayer was positioned at the point where the two channels cross. Fluorescently labeled albumin was introduced into one channel and transport through the endothelial monolayer was quantified by laser excitation of the fluorophore in the other channel [48]. In another example, an endothelialized construct was designed with a mechanism to control shear stress experienced by the endothelial cells. The device was used to determine the effect of fluid shear on nanoparticle translocation across the endothelial monolayer. These studies were intended to define the ability of flow and shear stress to model different types of vasculature in terms of the contribution to pharmacokinetics and drug biodistribution [49]. Other microfluidic devices with integrated vasculature have been developed to determine how the atomic structure of drugs and nanoparticles can influence the rate of translocation across an endothelium [50]. The integration of vascular function in organ-on-a-chip microfluidic design shows great promise in providing more accurate modeling of drug pharmacology in next-generation in vitro cell platforms.

#### Lung-on-a-Chip

The lungs, which represent a fluid—air interface between the aqueous in vivo environment and the extracorporeal environment, serve as a common port of entry for drugs, toxins, pathogens, and other xenobiotic compounds. Accurate modeling of the lung in organ-on-a-chip systems is likely important for relevant modeling of the effects of agents that enter the circulation through the alveoli. Significant advancements have been made in the on-chip modeling of lung tissue [51]. Many of these lung constructs consist of lung epithelial cells and endothelial cells situated on opposing surfaces of a semipermeable membrane. The cellularized membrane forms a barrier that can model the transport of aerosols or vapors from the gaseous alveolar compartment into the aqueous circulatory compartment. Contact of the alveolar epithelial cells with air in the alveolar compartment has the added advantage of promoting normal cellular function and maintaining the differentiated state. In more complex devices, multiple independent pneumatic channels were incorporated into the design. Cyclic deformation of the pneumatic channel walls paired with controlled shear within the fluid channel promoted exceptional cell morphology and function [52,53]. These advanced models have proven to be valuable for modeling several lung pathologies including inflammation, pulmonary edema, mucus plug rupture, alveolar epithelial cell damage, and advanced drug screening [54–57]. Although planar air–fluid interface models have shown incredible promise for modeling exchange across the alveoli and certain pulmonary disease states, more simple, acinar lung organoids may be sufficient for screening drug toxicity for compounds delivered orally or directly into the circulation.

#### Heart-on-a-Chip

Models for cardiac tissue are generally straightforward in design. The heart's sole function in the human body is to drive the circulation of blood, and most in vitro cardiac models are designed to model this function. Simple monolayer cultures of human cardiomyocytes will beat spontaneously in culture when grown on Matrigel [58]. Sheets of human cardiomyocytes may be layered to produce 3D cardiac constructs that retain the ability to contract in synchrony [59]. These planar construct designs are sufficient for modeling the heart's beating action but are not ideal for modeling 3D mechanics such as contractile force. 3D cardiac constructs consisting of human cardiomyocytes embedded in collagen I hydrogels molded into ring structures self-organize into circumferentially aligned cell architecture and support physiologically relevant action potential propagation [60]. These types of constructs have been integrated into microfluidic circuits to form dynamic, contractile heart-on-a-chip systems [61–65].

#### Cancer-on-a-Chip

In addition to modeling normal tissue such as liver and heart, excellent models for tumor tissue have been developed. These models have been integrated into microfluidic platforms to form tumor-on-a-chip devices capable of

#### BODY-ON-A-CHIP: MULTIORGAN SYSTEMS AND FUTURE APPLICATIONS

modeling both tumor growth and metastasis. The microenvironments of tumors are often more complex than their normal counterparts. The ECM often varies greatly from tumor to tumor, and cells within the tumor display varying degrees of reliance on the tumor stroma. Tumors possess a range of degrees of vascularization and have different structural and regulatory protein compositions within the stroma. The physical and biochemical characteristics of tumors can be monitored and controlled using microfluidic and microfabrication techniques. Tumor microphysiological systems derived from a patient's tumor sample can be used to determine the selection of an effective chemotherapeutic agent and an optimal dose on a patient-by-patient basis [66,67].

Advancements in tumor-on-a-chip modeling include the development of integrated hardware to monitor the tumor tissue. These include advanced imaging technology and onboard molecular biology assays that provide detailed characterization of tumor behavior, on-chip. The microscale of on-a-chip systems has been shown to influence cell metabolism significantly. This results from the bioavailability of oxygen within these platforms. Studies demonstrated that microfluidic systems provided greater access to oxygen compared with standard 2D culture systems. This increased oxygen level results in increased Krebs cycle activity and decreased expression of hypoxia-regulated factor-1 [68]. Constant perfusion of with oxygenated media provides a better model for a normal tumor microenvironment.

A device was designed with multiple drug gradient mixers and parallel cell culture chambers to facilitate multidose drug screens. This system was paired with a cell-labeling strategy and high content-imaging data collection on-chip [69]. Another tumor model design includes microscale bioreactors that contain hepatocytes, nonparenchymal cells, and breast cancer cells. This system is intended to simulate the hepatic microenvironment. The device contains oxygen sensors, micropumps for controlling nutrient distribution, and real-time sampling capabilities [70]. This device was used to demonstrate that breast tumor cells will spontaneously become dormant when placed within the hepatic niche. This effect was postulated to result from the microenvironmental cytokine profile created by the presence of hepatic cells within the liver bioreactor. Breast cancer has also been studied using a developed system that includes both the ductal and lobular components of breast tissue [71,72]. This system is intended to model the interaction among these two microanatomical compartments during tumor initiation and progression. In another device, HCT-116 human colorectal carcinoma cells and HepG2 hepatoma cells were encapsulated in Matrigel in separate chambers. Myeloblasts were embedded in alginate gels within an additional chamber to simulate bone marrow. Using this platform, the cytotoxic effects of the 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) prodrug tegafur could be determined for each cell type. Interestingly, using 3D tumor organoids, the liver constructs were able to metabolize tegafur to 5-FU, resulting in cell death within the other two tumor organoid types. Tumor models constructed in 2D were unable to metabolize the prodrug to its activated form [73].

Lung tumor models have also been developed in microfluidic devices. Human non–small cell lung cancer in both 2D and 3D organoid configurations were evaluated for sensitivity to several common chemotherapeutic agents [74]. In another example, lung cancer spheroids were formed from cell lines or derived from patient lung tumor biopsies, both with and without the addition of a pericyte population. Each of these constructs was tested for susceptibility to the drug cisplatin. Systems that included the pericyte population demonstrated higher levels of chemoresistance to the anticancer drug, which indicated the importance of considering all cell types within the tumor when developing an organoid design strategy [75]. These examples of tumor-on-a-chip platforms demonstrate the benefits of 3D organoid models and microfluidic technologies for cancer research as well as patient-specific drug and dose selection.

# BODY-ON-A-CHIP: MULTIORGAN SYSTEMS AND FUTURE APPLICATIONS

On-a-chip technologies have gained significant momentum. Although these technologies are relatively new, they have shown great promise for applications in research and drug development. However, systems of increased biological complexity have begun to emerge that feature multiple organoids integrated within a single platform [76–79]. These multiorganoid devices [80], sometimes referred to as "body-on-a-chip" systems, have demonstrated greatly increased potential for modeling relevant physiology compared with single organoid systems. Until recently, these multiorganoid platforms were composed of cell lines and animal cells [73,81] More recent systems have begun to use human primary cells or fully differentiated cells derived from stem or progenitor populations. These human platforms have required the development of more advanced cell substrates and microfluidic devices to support primary cell populations. Several notable published studies have demonstrated complex human multitissue systems. In one such system, a four-tissue circuit was developed in a pumpless microfluidic perfusion platform, housing 2D tissue cultures of liver, cardiac, skeletal muscle, and neuronal integrated within

776

a single microfluidic circuit. This platform was designed as a screening tool to determine cell toxicity in experiments using doxorubicin, atorvastatin, valproic acid, APAP, and *N*-acetyl-*m*-aminophenol [82]. This pumpless concept was also employed in a dual-tissue gut—liver system including transepithelial electrical resistance sensors to monitor gut epithelial barrier function [83]. In another study, a dual-organoid microfluidic platform was developed with integrated intestine, skin, liver, and kidney epithelial barrier tissue. In that system, basic cellular function, appropriate gene expression, and viability were maintained for 28 days [77]. These examples represent important steps toward systems that can mimic complex, multitissue responses and interactions during drug and toxicology testing.

#### The Importance of Multiorganoid Integration

In vitro models that recapitulate human tissues and model disease accurately are rare. Fewer still contain multiple tissues integrated in series on a single platform. Such models are required for testing drug toxicity and effects at the organism level, because tissues do not exist in isolation in the body. Moreover, for cells within a microphysiological platform to function normally, it is essential that they receive signals and support, such as vascular, neural, metabolic, and hormonal cues from other cell types. With respect to drugs, effects in secondary tissues can be as important as those at the intended target site, particularly if they induce toxicity. If undetected, detrimental secondary effects can lead to the failure of expensive clinical trials or withdrawal from commercial or clinical use after US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval. Multiorganoid platforms are also useful for disease modeling. Cancer metastasis, in which malignant tumor cells are able to migrate to and establish tumors at a secondary site, may be modeled in multiorganoid platforms. Although they are useful for many applications, single-organoid models have a limited ability to model these types of physiologically relevant events. Here, we describe several examples of multiorganoid platforms that demonstrate the importance of these systems.

#### Cancer

As described earlier, cancer metastasis is a disease process that may be modeled only in a multiorganoid system. In developing metastatic potential, certain tumor cells gain the ability to intravasate through endothelium into the bloodstream or lymphatic system. They may then migrate to a distant tissue and extravasate into a secondary tissue site. Few in vitro systems have been developed that employ a multiorganoid approach to model the kinetics of metastasis. One system developed by our team demonstrated that it is possible to recapitulate the metastatic process in vitro. This metastasis-on-a-chip platform was designed to enable tracking of the migrating metastatic tumor cells from a bioengineered colon organoid to a bioengineered liver organoid within a simple recirculating micro-fluidic device (Fig. 44.2A). It was shown that metastatic colorectal cancer cells were able to migrate out of the colon tumor organoid into the microfluidic circuit and engraft in the downstream liver organoid. Conversely, a nonmetastatic colorectal cancer cell type proliferated at the primary site but never migrated to the liver within the study time frame [84].

Tumor metastasis-on-a-chip platforms, as described previously, may be composed of multiple organoids that enable tumor cells to metastasize from a primary location to a secondary site. On-a-chip devices have also been designed to assess certain discrete aspects of metastasis. For example, one system includes a microfluidic device that can model the process by which multicellular tumor aggregates migrate through both a collagen matrix and an endothelial cell layer [85]. Another device includes an endothelial cell layer that partitions a microfluidic circuit from a chamber that houses a 3D bone construct. This system allows modeling of the extravasation of metastatic tumor cells from the vasculature into bone [86,87]. Other devices include a system to assess the effects of interstitial pressure on cell migration [88] and a system for screening antiangiogenic drugs [89]. These systems illustrate the potential benefits that on-a-chip cancer technologies are capable of delivering. However, there is still a major lack of platforms that model both the primary and metastatic sites, as well as the barriers that separate these locations (i.e., basement membranes, circulation, ECM, and endothelium) in a single platform. By providing circulating flow through a system containing both vasculature and multiple organoids, recapitulating the migration of tumor cells from primary tumor organoids into the microfluidic circulation and engraftment into a downstream target organoid may be accomplished. The results of these systems seem to be well-aligned with what is seen clinically. For example, this system has demonstrated that colorectal cancer cells preferentially engraft into liver organoids, a well-established target tissue for colorectal metastatic tumors [84]. These examples represent several components of the metastatic process that have been modeled in multiorganoid systems; future studies will likely rely on these types of platforms to uncover other factors that influence metastasis.



FIGURE 44.2 Examples of multiorgan interactions that cannot be modeled with single-organoid systems. (A) Migration and metastasis of tumor cells from one organ or organoid site to another, demonstrated in vitro in a metastasis-on-a-chip device in which colorectal carcinoma metastasizes from the colon to the liver. (B) Reliance of a prodrug therapy such as the anticancer 5-fluorouracil prodrug tegafur on liver metabolism to activate the drug to generate a positive effect by targeting tumor cells successfully. (C) Inflammatory molecules secreted from organs such as the liver and lung upon drug injury can cause detrimental inflammatory responses and cell injury in downstream tissues. *BPM*, beats per minute; *IL*, interleukin; *TNF-* $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor-  $\alpha$ .

#### Drug Testing and Toxicology

As has been discussed throughout this chapter, a major area of interest addressed by the body-on-a-chip field is understanding how multiple organs and tissues respond to the administration of particular drugs within an integrated platform. A variety of examples demonstrate this concept. For example, 5-FU is a common chemotherapy agent employed in treating colorectal cancer. Unfortunately, 5-FU can induce a variety of detrimental side effects in patients, including cell damage in the gastrointestinal tract. In an attempt to reduce toxicity, several prodrugs have been developed, such as tegafur. Tegafur and other prodrugs are inactive in the administered form. The prodrug is activated by hepatocytes in the liver to 5-FU that are able to kill tumor cells. Consequently, without including a metabolically active liver organoid in the system, no active drug would be produced and experimental results would be irrelevant. Including functional liver organoids, along with intended target tumor cells and potential tissues that may experience unwanted toxicity, a more complete understanding of the benefits and risks associated with administration of a chemotherapeutic agent may be determined (Fig. 44.2B).

Additional strides are being made toward deploying organoids and organ-on-a-chip technologies in drug and toxicology screening applications. For example, our group demonstrated the use of 3D cardiac organoids in screening for drugs and toxins. We consistently observed expected changes in cardiac beat kinetics in response to these compounds. By employing a minimicroscope with custom-written software to analyze cardiac beating kinetics, the precise determination of beat frequency and magnitude could be recorded [64]. These toxicity screening efforts were expanded to include both cardiac and liver organoids, assessing toxic outcomes from a panel of environmental toxins and a set of drugs that were recalled from the market owing to unanticipated toxicity in human patients (Fig. 44.3). Fig. 44.4 highlights some of these studies, in which the dual-organoid systems were able to model



FIGURE 44.3 Highly functional organoids for a multiorganoid body-on-a-chip platform. (A) Acetaminophen (toxicity in liver organoids and reduction in toxicity by *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine. (B) Cardiac organoids remain viable long-term and support transport of fluorescent dyes (lucifer yellow *[yellow stain]* and fluorescein *[green stain]*) through interconnected ion channels suggesting high levels of cell–cell communication. (C) Beating analysis of cardiac organoids: An onboard camera captures video of beating organoids, after which beating rates are calculated by quantifying pixel movement, generating beat plots. (D) Vascular endothelium devices respond to changes in endothelium integrity as measured by a transendothelium electrical resistance sensor. Organoid diameter - 250 μm.

these toxicities. In addition, the integration of different tissue organoids into a singular system allows for screening studies that can identify unanticipated toxicities (Fig. 44.2C) [90].

#### Additional Disease Modeling

Research into human pathologies other than cancer may also benefit from the capabilities of multiorganoid systems. Many drugs and that are known to cause inflammatory responses. For example, large doses of the common analgesic APAP (Tylenol) causes significant inflammation and toxicity in the liver. Other drugs, including BODY-ON-A-CHIP: MULTIORGAN SYSTEMS AND FUTURE APPLICATIONS



FIGURE 44.4 Drug and toxicology screening in liver and cardiac organoids. Live/dead stains show the presence of dead cells (*red*) after treatment with lead, mercury, troglitazone, or astemizole. Organoid diameter - 250 µm.

chemotherapeutics such as bleomycin, cause inflammation, toxicity, and irreversible fibrosis in the lungs or other organs. In most of these cases, toxicity and apoptosis lead to the release of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  and interleukin-1 into the circulation. These molecules can cause a series of downstream responses, including recruitment of inflammatory cells, activation of fibroblasts, and changes in vascular protein expression and permeability (Fig. 44.4C). Integrated multiorganoid model systems, including integrated vasculatures, can model these complex, multiorgan drug responses in a reproducible and physiologically relevant manner, whereas single organoid systems cannot.

# Cutting-Edge Body-on-a-Chip: The First Highly Functional Multiorganoid Systems

As described previously, there is a paucity of truly integrated multiorganoid platforms that are able to model and test the complex responses accurately to drugs, toxins, and disease across a range of human tissue types. However, progress is being made.

#### The Ex Vivo Console of Human Organoids Platform

Our team has developed an advanced, modular, multiorganoid integrated, body-on-a-chip system for use in drug development and toxicology screening. The multiorganoid body-on-a-chip platform is named Ex Vivo Console of Human Organoids (ECHO). This platform was initially developed to include four engineered tissue organoid types (liver, cardiac, vascular, and lung), which were developed independently and integrated into a single system that provides real-time monitoring of physiological responses to toxic agents and pharmaceuticals.

Using the ECHO platform, a comprehensive set of data was developed providing a characterization of each organoid. In general, the 3D organoids are bioprinted into platform microreactors using tissue type—specific supportive hydrogels. The result is an array of organoids suspended in a substrate containing tissue-specific, ECM-derived bioregulatory factors [36,91]. Liver organoids are fabricated using liver ECM—derived hydrogels that maintain viability and function in vitro for 4 weeks [91]. The production of important liver markers (e.g., albumin, multiple cytochrome P450 enzymes, epithelial cell—cell adhesion markers, dipeptidyl peptidase IV, organic solute transporter-α, etc.) have been confirmed and are stable over a month. These organoids respond to toxins such as APAP at appropriate doses and in a dose-dependent manner. The organoids may also be rescued by the clinical countermeasure for APAP intoxication, *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine (Fig. 44.4A). Cardiac organoids also remain for 4 weeks and beyond. These organoids demonstrate the transport of fluorescent dye molecules among cells within the organoids, indicating a high degree of cell—cell communication. The organoids beat spontaneously and change their beating rates appropriately in response to a variety of drugs. These kinetics are captured using an onboard camera system [92,93] and custom software for analysis (Fig. 44.4B). In addition, an engineered vasculature has been incorporated into the platform that responds to agents such as histamine by disrupting the endothelial cell monolayer (Fig. 44.4C). This results in increased transendothelial transfer of larger–molecular weight molecules that are normally sequestered within the microfluidic circuit.

Several integrated, multiorganoid studies were performed using the ECHO platform. Experiments including integrated liver organoids, cardiac organoids, and endothelial modules in microfluidic devices (Fig. 44.5A and B) under common media demonstrated long-term viability and produced multiorganoid responses to drugs that largely mimic the responses that would be expected in an experimental animal, or even in a human. For example, Fig. 44.5C describes the effects of propranolol and epinephrine on cardiac organoids, both with and without integrated liver organoids in the microfluidic platform. Normally, epinephrine induces an increase in the beating rate in cardiomyocytes. Without liver, propranolol, a  $\beta$ -blocker, blocks the  $\beta$ 1- and  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptors, preventing an increase in the cardiac beat rate after epinephrine administration. However, in the integrated system that includes the liver organoids, propranolol is metabolized to an inactive form, resulting in the recovery of much of the epinephrine-induced increase in beat rate. To our knowledge, these experiments are the first interdependent multiorganoid studies performed successfully in a single integrated system.

The ECHO platform has been used to screen drugs that were withdrawn from the market owing to unanticipated toxicities. Because of the lack of accurate models to predict drug toxicity, many drugs have passed through preclinical studies and clinical trials, received FDA approval, and remained on the commercial market for years in some cases, before being recalled because they cause toxic effects in humans. Approximately 90% of drugs that were removed from the market were because of toxic effects in the liver and the heart. A panel of these drugs were tested in the ECHO platform. These include the drug troglitazone (Rezulin), an antidiabetic and antiinflammatory that was recalled for causing liver failure, and mibefradil, an ion channel blocker that was recalled for having fatal interactions with other drugs, including antibiotics. In our platform, troglitazone and mibefradil both result in liver toxicity. We also screened the drug rofecoxib (Vioxx), a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug that was recalled because it caused serious vascular-based pathologies such as heart attack, stroke, skin reactions, and gastrointestinal bleeding. Astemizole, an antipsychotic that caused slowing of potassium channels, torsade de pointes, and QT prolongation. We also tested terodiline, a drug for bladder incontinence that caused QT prolongation and toxicity, in ECHO and showed functional changes and loss in viability among several cell types within the platform. The anticancer drug 5-FU and isoproterenol, a  $\beta$ -adrenergic agonist, both of which are known to induce cardiac toxicity, were evaluated in ECHO. Each of these drugs resulted in increased levels of cell death within the cardiac organoids in a dosedependent manner. Using the onboard camera, beating effects were observed to decrease with dose increases as well. Effects on beat kinetics were detected at doses well below the toxic threshold. This is an important point, because drugs withdrawn from the market for cardiac toxicity are generally not withdrawn for killing cells in the heart, but rather for causing changes in heartbeat kinetics.

#### **Other Body-on-a-Chip Programs**

In addition to the ECHO platform initiative, a variety of other high-profile programs have been working to develop integrated systems. In particular, the Advanced Tissue-Engineered Human Ectypal Network Analyzer (ATHENA) program designed a millimeter-scale multiorganoid system, and a program sponsored by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) sponsored a 10-organoid project [94].

These projects have stressed aspects of microphysiological systems that are often different from the main goal of ECHO (i.e., organoid integration within a common microfluidic circuit). Specifically, the ATHENA program, which is based in Los Alamos National Laboratory, developed a system composed of four organs: liver, heart, lung, and kidney [95]. These organoids are three orders of magnitude larger than the ECHO organoids. This scale allows for more relevant mechanical testing and the system fluid volume is sufficient to collect samples that may be analyzed using standard clinical diagnostic equipment. The DARPA program, based in Harvard's Wyss Institute, is working with a collection of 10 organoids, including representations of endocrine, gastrointestinal, immune, musculoskeletal, and reproductive tissues [96].

In addition, the NIH are supporting a major organ-on-a-chip program through the National Center for Advancing Translational Science, the National Institute for Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering, the National Cancer Institute, the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, the NIH Common Fund, and the NIH Office of Research on Women's Health. However, the NIH initiative differs in that the funding is divided among a variety of individual research laboratories; between them, they are working on organoid representations of a wide range of tissue types [97]. The



**FIGURE 44.5 Multiorganoid body-on-a-chip.** (A) Depiction of a liver, cardiac, and vascular organoid-containing body-on-a-chip platform. (B) Photograph of the three-organoid system. (C) Description of the effects of propranolol and epinephrine on cardiac organoids, with or without liver organoids, illustrating the importance of multiorganoid systems. Without liver, propranolol, a β-blocker, blocks cardiac beating increases by epinephrine. However, with both organoids present, propranolol is metabolized by the liver organoid, resulting in a measurable epinephrine-induced increase in beating rates. (D) (i, ii) Future body-on-a-chip platforms for increased capabilities for linking multiple organoids within a single circulatory system. *BPM*, beats per minute; *DST*, double-sided tape; PMMA, poly(methyl methacrylate).

program stresses the derivation of organoids from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and many of the organoids developed by members of this program are excellent models for specific tissue types. However, the potential for integrating these organoids into a multiorganoid system remains to be seen.

# **Organ-on-a-Chip Systems for Personalized Precision Medicine**

Numerous in vitro systems are being developed for general drug development screening, but few have been developed to benefit specific patients. This is an unmet clinical need, because finding the most effect drug and dose for a specific patient is often a trial-and-error process. With personalized organoid models (Fig. 44.6A and B), therapies can be screened using a patient's own cells in a 3D tissue organoid system. For example, accurately predicting a patient's tumor progression and response to therapy is one of the most challenging aspects of oncology. Prescribed treatments are often made based on the general success rate of a drug within a population, not on the specific response that may be expected within an individual. The concept of precision, or personalized, medicine has evolved to address these problems by using the patient's genetic profile to identify "druggable" targets for treatment [98–100]. However, in real-world practice, the results of this approach to personalized medicine do not reach the desired goals [101]. After identifying key mutations through genetic profiling, physicians can still be left with a variety of drug options, with no concrete data regarding potential side effects or actual drug effectiveness in the patient. As such, there is a clear need to develop tools that can predict the response of individual patients to drugs [102,103]. Our group is working to develop a multiorganoid platform that contains patient-specific tumor organoids, and in which drug therapies that are selected based on genetic profiling can be tested for efficacy. By using



FIGURE 44.6 Employing biofabricated tissues in personalized medicine. (A) In personalized precision medicine for cancer patients (*red arrows*), a potential list of drugs is determined based on mutations found in the tumor genetic profile, from which best-guess therapies are prescribed. In the future, cells from tumor biopsies could be used to create in vitro tumor models specific to a given patient (*green arrows*). Potentially effective drug therapies can then be screened in the models, thus identifying the optimal drug therapy for that patient in terms of both safety and effectiveness. (B) In genetic diseases, cells can be harvested from alternative tissues, such as skin, translated into induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS), differentiated into cells of the tissue of interest (e.g., lung or heart), and bioengineered into three-dimensional (3D) organoids and organoid-on-a-chip systems, after which generic and genome-specific drug therapies can be screened for the original patient.

#### REFERENCES

microfluidic devices, a circulatory system containing multiple tissue organoids may be fabricated. This may allow for the prediction of tissues to which metastatic cells will migrate [84]. By combining all of these capabilities described, it may soon be possible to generate accurate prognoses regarding tumor progression and metastases and to develop an informed treatment plan that is personalized to each patient's tumor. In the near future, iPSC technology may allow for the generation of an array of patient-specific normal tissue organoids that could provide information about the sensitivity of these tissues to a specific treatment regimen. This would enable the selection of an agent that reduces stress on the healthy tissues within a cancer patient. These exciting and powerful new in vitro technologies may soon revolutionize the treatment of cancer and other diseases.

# CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Although the benefits of multiorganoid systems are clear, several challenges remain regarding their acceptance and widespread deployment for drug development and personalized medicine. Most single cell-type systems do a respectable job in mimicking a few specific aspects of in vivo physiology and are amenable to highthroughput drug screening. The few single- and multiorganoid platforms, including multiple cell types within each organoid, provide a much better model for human physiology but have not yet been optimized for high throughput [104]. As such, these more complex systems are best-suited for evaluating drugs that are in the later stages of development. Many groups are actively developing strategies for multiorganoid systems and automating their production [14]. A significant reduction in size, automated fabrication, improved onboard biosensing, and in-line diagnostic technology would greatly increase the throughput potential for multiorganoid platforms across all potential applications [92,93,105,106]. Another perceived challenge in the development of advanced, multiorganoid, platforms is the requirement of a common cell medium to support a wide variety of cell phenotypes. Typically, human primary cells and iPSC-derived cells require complex, highly specialized media formulations that are tailored to each specific cell type. Surprisingly, there is growing evidence that 3D cell constructs are intrinsically supportive and much less reliant on complexed media supplements or serum. Our group has repeatedly demonstrated the maintenance of a variety of cell types in human cancer models [84,107] using serum-free medium and customized hydrogen substrates [36,91,108]. Even more remarkable is the ECHO platform described earlier in this chapter. In this platform, up to six organoid types, each containing up to five human primary cell types, have been maintained under a serum-free common medium for at least a month with minimal loss in viability and function. It is likely that the organoids themselves produce the autocrine and paracrine factors that are required for long-term viability and function. The compact architecture, scant interstitial space between cells, and accumulation of ECM proteins would allow these factors to become concentrated within each organoid and diminish reliance on exogenous factors delivered through the medium. Multiorganoid body-on-a-chip technology is advancing at a rapid pace and is likely be deployed soon for drug screening [10]. These platforms have significant utility in many areas and will dramatically change the way in which precision medicine, cancer modeling, and drug development are performed.

#### References

- [1] Jamieson LE, Harrison DJ, Campbell CJ. Chemical analysis of multicellular tumour spheroids. Analyst 2015;140:3910–20.
- [2] Sung JH, et al. Using physiologically-based pharmacokinetic-guided "body-on-a-chip" systems to predict mammalian response to drug and chemical exposure. Exp Biol Med 2014;239:1225–39.
- [3] Hughes JP, Rees S, Kalindjian SB, Philpott KL. Principles of early drug discovery. Br J Pharmacol 2011;162:1239-49.
- [4] Kunz-Schughart LA, Freyer JP, Hofstaedter F, Ebner R. The use of 3-D cultures for high-throughput screening: the multicellular spheroid model. J Biomol Screen 2004;9:273–85.
- [5] Pasirayi G, et al. Low cost microfluidic cell culture array using normally closed valves for cytotoxicity assay. Talanta 2014;129:491-8.
- [6] Ho WJ, et al. Incorporation of multicellular spheroids into 3-D polymeric scaffolds provides an improved tumor model for screening anticancer drugs. Cancer Sci 2010;101:2637–43.
- [7] Drewitz M, et al. Towards automated production and drug sensitivity testing using scaffold-free spherical tumor microtissues. Biotechnol J 2011;6:1488–96.
- [8] Bhatia SN, Ingber DE. Microfluidic organs-on-chips. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32:760-72.
- [9] Huh D, Hamilton GA, Ingber DE. From 3D cell culture to organs-on-chips. Trends Cell Biol 2011;21:745-54.
- [10] Marx U, et al. 'Human-on-a-chip' developments: a translational cutting-edge alternative to systemic safety assessment and efficiency evaluation of substances in laboratory animals and man? Altern Lab Anim 2012;40:235–57.
- [11] Smith AST, et al. Microphysiological systems and low-cost microfluidic platform with analytics. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013;4:S9.
- [12] Polini A, et al. Organs-on-a-chip: a new tool for drug discovery. Expet Opin Drug Discov 2014;9:335-52.

#### 44. BODY-ON-A-CHIP: REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR PERSONALIZED MEDICINE

- [13] Benam KH, et al. Engineered in vitro disease models. Ann Rev Pathol 2015;10:195–262.
- [14] Skardal A, Devarasetty M, Soker S, Hall AR. In situ patterned micro 3D liver constructs for parallel toxicology testing in a fluidic device. Biofabrication 2015;7:031001.
- [15] Messner S, Agarkova I, Moritz W, Kelm JM. Multi-cell type human liver microtissues for hepatotoxicity testing. Arch Toxicol 2013;87: 209–13.
- [16] Nam KH, Smith AS, Lone S, Kwon S, Kim DH. Biomimetic 3D tissue models for advanced high-throughput drug screening. J Lab Autom 2015;20:201–15.
- [17] McKim Jr JM. Building a tiered approach to in vitro predictive toxicity screening: a focus on assays with in vivo relevance. Comb Chem High Throughput Screen 2010;13:188–206.
- [18] Skardal A, Devarasetty M, Rodman C, Atala A, Soker S. Liver-tumor hybrid organoids for modeling tumor growth and drug response in vitro. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43:2361–73.
- [19] Zhang J, Skardal A, Prestwich GD. Engineered extracellular matrices with cleavable crosslinkers for cell expansion and easy cell recovery. Biomaterials 2008;29:4521–31.
- [20] Murphy SV, Atala A. Organ engineering-combining stem cells, biomaterials, and bioreactors to produce bioengineered organs for transplantation. Bioessays 2013;35:163–72.
- [21] Williams D. The continuing evolution of biomaterials. Biomaterials 2011;32:1-2.
- [22] Kang HW, et al. A 3D bioprinting system to produce human-scale tissue constructs with structural integrity. Nat Biotechnol 2016;34:312-9.
- [23] Skardal A, Sarker SF, Crabbe A, Nickerson CA, Prestwich GD. The generation of 3-D tissue models based on hyaluronan hydrogel-coated microcarriers within a rotating wall vessel bioreactor. Biomaterials 2010;31:8426–35.
- [24] Prestwich GD. Evaluating drug efficacy and toxicology in three dimensions: using synthetic extracellular matrices in drug discovery. Acc Chem Res 2008;41:139–48.
- [25] Prestwich GD, Liu Y, Yu B, Shu XZ, Scott A. 3-D culture in synthetic extracellular matrices: new tissue models for drug toxicology and cancer drug discovery. Adv Enzyme Regul 2007;47:196–207.
- [26] Barrila J, et al. Organotypic 3D cell culture models: using the rotating wall vessel to study host-pathogen interactions. Nat Rev Microbiol 2010;8:791–801.
- [27] Nickerson CA, Ott CM. A new dimension in modeling infectious disease (Invited Review) ASM News 2004;70:169-75.
- [28] Nickerson CA, Richter EG, Ott CM. Studying host-pathogen interactions in 3-D: organotypic models for infectious disease and drug development. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 2007;2:26–31.
- [29] Thery M. Micropatterning as a tool to decipher cell morphogenesis and functions. J Cell Sci 2010;123:4201–13.
- [30] Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. Geometric control of cell life and death. Science 1997;276:1425-8.
- [31] Watt FM, Jordan PW, O'Neill CH. Cell shape controls terminal differentiation of human epidermal keratinocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988;85:5576–80.
- [32] McBeath R, Pirone DM, Nelson CM, Bhadriraju K, Chen CS. Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage commitment. Dev Cell 2004;6:483–95.
- [33] Gao L, McBeath R, Chen CS. Stem cell shape regulates a chondrogenic versus myogenic fate through Rac1 and N-cadherin. Stem Cells (Dayton) 2010;28:564–72.
- [34] Kim K, Lee CH, Kim BK, Mao JJ. Anatomically shaped tooth and periodontal regeneration by cell homing. J Dent Res 2010;89:842-7.
- [35] Stosich MS, et al. Bioengineering strategies to generate vascularized soft tissue grafts with sustained shape. Methods 2009;47:116–21.
- [36] Skardal A, et al. A hydrogel bioink toolkit for mimicking native tissue biochemical and mechanical properties in bioprinted tissue constructs. Acta Biomater 2015;25:24–34.
- [37] Michael S, et al. Tissue engineered skin substitutes created by laser-assisted bioprinting form skin-like structures in the dorsal skin fold chamber in mice. PLoS One 2013;8:e57741.
- [38] Mori R, Sakai Y, Nakazawa K. Micropatterned organoid culture of rat hepatocytes and HepG2 cells. J Biosci Bioeng 2008;106:237-42.
- [39] Fukuda J, Sakai Y, Nakazawa K. Novel hepatocyte culture system developed using microfabrication and collagen/polyethylene glycol microcontact printing. Biomaterials 2006;27:1061–70.
- [40] Torisawa YS, et al. A multicellular spheroid array to realize spheroid formation, culture, and viability assay on a chip. Biomaterials 2007;28: 559–66.
- [41] Au SH, Chamberlain MD, Mahesh S, Sefton MV, Wheeler AR. Hepatic organoids for microfluidic drug screening. Lab Chip 2014;14:3290-9.
- [42] Kang YB, et al. Liver sinusoid on a chip: long-term layered co-culture of primary rat hepatocytes and endothelial cells in microfluidic platforms. Biotechnol Bioeng 2015;112(12):2571-82.
- [43] Prodanov L, et al. Long term maintenance of a microfluidic 3-D human liver sinusoid. Biotechnol Bioeng 2015;113:241-6.
- [44] Kim D, Finkenstaedt-Quinn S, Hurley KR, Buchman JT, Haynes CL. On-chip evaluation of platelet adhesion and aggregation upon exposure to mesoporous silica nanoparticles. Analyst 2014;139:906–13.
- [45] Korin N, et al. Shear-activated nanotherapeutics for drug targeting to obstructed blood vessels. Science 2012;337:738-42.
- [46] Lamberti G, et al. Adhesive interaction of functionalized particles and endothelium in idealized microvascular networks. Microvasc Res 2013;89:107–14.
- [47] Doshi N, et al. Flow and adhesion of drug carriers in blood vessels depend on their shape: a study using model synthetic microvascular networks. J Control Release 2010;146:196–200.
- [48] Young EW, Watson MW, Srigunapalan S, Wheeler AR, Simmons CA. Technique for real-time measurements of endothelial permeability in a microfluidic membrane chip using laser-induced fluorescence detection. Anal Chem 2010;82:808–16.
- [49] Samuel SP, et al. Multifactorial determinants that govern nanoparticle uptake by human endothelial cells under flow. Int J Nanomed 2012;7: 2943–56.
- [50] Kolhar P, et al. Using shape effects to target antibody-coated nanoparticles to lung and brain endothelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110: 10753–8.
- [51] Huh D, et al. Acoustically detectable cellular-level lung injury induced by fluid mechanical stresses in microfluidic airway systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:18886–91.

#### 784

#### REFERENCES

- [52] Douville NJ, et al. Combination of fluid and solid mechanical stresses contribute to cell death and detachment in a microfluidic alveolar model. Lab Chip 2011;11:609–19.
- [53] Huh D, et al. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. Science 2010;328:1662-8.
- [54] Benam KH, et al. Small airway-on-a-chip enables analysis of human lung inflammation and drug responses in vitro. Nat Methods 2015;13: 151–7.
- [55] Huh D, et al. A human disease model of drug toxicity-induced pulmonary edema in a lung-on-a-chip microdevice. Sci Transl Med 2012;4. 159ra147.
- [56] Tavana H, Zamankhan P, Christensen PJ, Grotberg JB, Takayama S. Epithelium damage and protection during reopening of occluded airways in a physiologic microfluidic pulmonary airway model. Biomed Microdevices 2011;13:731–42.
- [57] Hu Y, et al. A microfluidic model to study fluid dynamics of mucus plug rupture in small lung airways. Biomicrofluidics 2015;9:044119.
- [58] Goldman BI, Wurzel J. Effects of subcultivation and culture medium on differentiation of human fetal cardiac myocytes. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 1992;28a:109–19.
- [59] Shimizu T, et al. Fabrication of pulsatile cardiac tissue grafts using a novel 3-dimensional cell sheet manipulation technique and temperature-responsive cell culture surfaces. Circ Res 2002;90:e40.
- [60] Zimmermann WH, et al. Tissue engineering of a differentiated cardiac muscle construct. Circ Res 2002;90:223-30.
- [61] Conant G, et al. High-content assessment of cardiac function using heart-on-a-chip devices as drug screening model. Stem Cell Rev 2017;13: 335–46.
- [62] Ugolini GS, Visone R, Cruz-Moreira D, Redaelli A, Rasponi M. Tailoring cardiac environment in microphysiological systems: an outlook on current and perspective heart-on-chip platforms. Future Sci OA 2017;3:FSO191.
- [63] Maoz BM, et al. Organs-on-chips with combined multi-electrode array and transepithelial electrical resistance measurement capabilities. Lab Chip 2017;17:2294–302.
- [64] Devarasetty M, et al. Optical tracking and digital quantification of beating behavior in bioengineered cardiac organoids. Biosensors 2017;7: E24.
- [65] Zhang YS, et al. Multisensor-integrated organs-on-chips platform for automated and continual in situ monitoring of organoid behaviors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2017;114:E2293–302.
- [66] Wlodkowic D, Cooper JM. Tumors on chips: oncology meets microfluidics. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2010;14:556-67.
- [67] Young EW. Cells, tissues, and organs on chips: challenges and opportunities for the cancer tumor microenvironment. Integr Biol (Camb) 2013;5:1096–109.
- [68] Ouattara DA, et al. Metabolomics-on-a-chip and metabolic flux analysis for label-free modeling of the internal metabolism of HepG2/C3A cells. Mol Biosyst 2012;8:1908–20.
- [69] Ye N, Qin J, Shi W, Liu X, Lin B. Cell-based high content screening using an integrated microfluidic device. Lab Chip 2007;7:1696-704.
- [70] Wheeler SE, et al. All-human microphysical model of metastasis therapy. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013;4(Suppl 1):S11.
- [71] Vidi PA, et al. Disease-on-a-chip: mimicry of tumor growth in mammary ducts. Lab Chip 2014;14:172-7.
- [72] Yang Y, et al. Evaluation of photodynamic therapy efficiency using an in vitro three-dimensional microfluidic breast cancer tissue model. Lab Chip 2015;15:735–44.
- [73] Sung JH, Shuler ML. A micro cell culture analog (microCCA) with 3-D hydrogel culture of multiple cell lines to assess metabolismdependent cytotoxicity of anti-cancer drugs. Lab Chip 2009;9:1385–94.
- [74] Xu Z, et al. Application of a microfluidic chip-based 3D co-culture to test drug sensitivity for individualized treatment of lung cancer. Biomaterials 2013;34:4109–17.
- [75] Ruppen J, et al. Towards personalized medicine: chemosensitivity assays of patient lung cancer cell spheroids in a perfused microfluidic platform. Lab Chip 2015;15:3076–85.
- [76] Atac B, et al. Skin and hair on-a-chip: in vitro skin models versus ex vivo tissue maintenance with dynamic perfusion. Lab Chip 2013;13: 3555–61.
- [77] Maschmeyer I, et al. A four-organ-chip for interconnected long-term co-culture of human intestine, liver, skin and kidney equivalents. Lab Chip 2015;15:2688–99.
- [78] Materne EM, et al. The multi-organ chip-a microfluidic platform for long-term multi-tissue coculture. J Vis Exp 2015:e52526.
- [79] Wagner I, et al. A dynamic multi-organ-chip for long-term cultivation and substance testing proven by 3D human liver and skin tissue co-culture. Lab Chip 2013;13:3538–47.
- [80] Kim JY, et al. 3D spherical microtissues and microfluidic technology for multi-tissue experiments and analysis. J Biotechnol 2015;205:24–35.
- [81] Miller PG, Shuler ML. Design and demonstration of a pumpless 14 compartment microphysiological system. Biotechnol Bioeng 2016;113: 2213–27.
- [82] Oleaga C, et al. Multi-Organ toxicity demonstration in a functional human in vitro system composed of four organs. Sci Rep 2016;6:20030.
- [83] Esch MB, Ueno H, Applegate DR, Shuler ML. Modular, pumpless body-on-a-chip platform for the co-culture of GI tract epithelium and 3D primary liver tissue. Lab Chip 2016;16:2719–29.
- [84] Skardal A, Devarasetty M, Forsythe SD, Atala A, Soker S. A reductionist metastasis-on-a-chip platform for in vitro tumor progression modeling and drug screening. Biotechnol Bioeng 2016;113:2020–32.
- [85] Niu Y, Bai J, Kamm RD, Wang Y, Wang C. Validating antimetastatic effects of natural products in an engineered microfluidic platform mimicking tumor microenvironment. Mol Pharm 2014;11:2022–9.
- [86] Bersini S, et al. A microfluidic 3D in vitro model for specificity of breast cancer metastasis to bone. Biomaterials 2014;35:2454-61.
- [87] Bersini S, Jeon JS, Moretti M, Kamm RD. In vitro models of the metastatic cascade: from local invasion to extravasation. Drug Discov Today 2014;19:735–42.
- [88] Polacheck WJ, German AE, Mammoto A, Ingber DE, Kamm RD. Mechanotransduction of fluid stresses governs 3D cell migration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014;111:2447–52.
- [89] Kim C, Kasuya J, Jeon J, Chung S, Kamm RD. A quantitative microfluidic angiogenesis screen for studying anti-angiogenic therapeutic drugs. Lab Chip 2015;15:301–10.
- [90] Skardal A, et al. Multi-tissue interactions in an integrated three-tissue organ-on-a-chip platform. Sci Rep 2017;7:8837.

#### 786

#### 44. BODY-ON-A-CHIP: REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR PERSONALIZED MEDICINE

- [91] Skardal A, et al. Tissue specific synthetic ECM hydrogels for 3-D in vitro maintenance of hepatocyte function. Biomaterials 2012;33:4565–75.
- [92] Kim SB, et al. A mini-microscope for in situ monitoring of cells. Lab Chip 2012;12:3976-82.
- [93] Zhang YS, et al. A cost-effective fluorescence mini-microscope for biomedical applications. Lab Chip 2015;15:3661-9.
- [94] Reardon S. Scientists seek 'Homo chippiens'. Nature 2015;518:285-6.
- [95] Roark K. In: Los Alamos national laboratory press release, vol. 2016; 2015.
- [96] The economist; 2015.
- [97] National Institutes of Health news releases; 2014.
- [98] Tran NH, et al. Precision medicine in colorectal cancer: the molecular profile alters treatment strategies. Ther Adv Med Oncol 2015;7:252-62.
- [99] Miles G, Rae J, Ramalingam SS, Pfeifer J. Genetic testing and tissue banking for personalized oncology: analytical and institutional factors. Semin Oncol 2015;42:713–23.
- [100] Bando H, Takebe N. Recent innovations in the USA National Cancer Institute-sponsored investigator initiated Phase I and II anticancer drug development. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2015;45:1001–6.
- [101] Hayes DF, Schott AF. Personalized medicine: genomics trials in oncology. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 2015;126:133-43.
- [102] Cantrell MA, Kuo CJ. Organoid modeling for cancer precision medicine. Genome Med 2015;7:32.
- [103] Gao D, et al. Organoid cultures derived from patients with advanced prostate cancer. Cell 2014;159:176-87.
- [104] Esch EW, Bahinski A, Huh D. Organs-on-chips at the frontiers of drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2015;14:248–60.
- [105] Kim SB, et al. A cell-based biosensor for real-time detection of cardiotoxicity using lensfree imaging. Lab Chip 2011;11:1801–7.
- [106] Shaegh SAM, et al. A microfluidic optical platform for real-time monitoring of pH and oxygen in microfluidic bioreactors and organ-on-chip devices. Biomicrofluidics 2016;10:044111.
- [107] Skardal A, Devarasetty M, Rodman C, Atala A, Soker S. Liver-tumor hybrid organoids for modeling tumor growth and drug response in vitro. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43:2361–73.
- [108] Skardal A, et al. Bioprinting cellularized constructs using a tissue-specific hydrogel bioink. J Vis Exp 2016;21:e53606.

# **45**

# Bioreactors in Regenerative Medicine

Jinho Kim, Kelsey Kennedy, Gordana Vunjak-Novakovic

Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The goal of regenerative medicine is to restore the structure and function of damaged, diseased, or lost tissues and organs. Most human tissues have limited regenerative capacity after injury and heal with scar formation or inflammation [1]. Accordingly, approaches to regenerative medicine use tissue-specific cells, biomaterials, and biologically active molecules to enhance regenerative responses and promote the formation of matured and functional tissues. In particular, tissue constructs and whole organs can be produced in vitro by providing physiologically relevant culture conditions and by subjecting the cells to biomimetic physical and biochemical cues [2]. By closely recapitulating the native environments of tissue development, bioreactors can provide conditions for growing fully functional and viable tissues and organs for transplantation in vitro (Fig. 45.1).

# DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS FOR CREATING BIOREACTORS

When appropriate conditions are provided, cells can survive and grow, and eventually form tissue units outside the body. Conventional two-dimensional (2D) cell culture protocols enable the efficient generation of cells with controllable properties and phenotypes, but simple cell assemblies grown on 2D surfaces would be insufficient for applications in regenerative medicine, which typically require three-dimensional (3D) and functional tissue constructs. Using a bioreactor, physiologically functional 3D tissues can be bioengineered in vitro by recreating the microenvironmental and macroenvironmental niche conditions to cells seeded into scaffolds such as the extracellular matrix (ECM) [3]. To this end, several physical and biological aspects must be considered in designing bioreactor systems to produce tissues or even whole organs with desired physiological properties.

To promote cell viability, proliferation, and differentiation, it is essential to provide adequate amounts of oxygen, nutrients, and biochemical factors to the cells or tissues cultured in a bioreactor. In addition, metabolic waste generated by the cells must be removed effectively to further facilitate cell and tissue growth. As the cell density and tissue size increase, mass transfer through bioengineered constructs becomes challenging. Under static culture conditions, diffusion is the major mechanism for the transport of nutrients, most critically oxygen. However, diffusional transport is efficient only within a superficial layer (usually about  $100-200 \ \mu m$ ) of the 3D tissue constructs, which can be at least several millimeters to centimeters thick. Accordingly, to enhance the efficiency of gas and mass transfer, convective flow can be generated within bioreactors by stirring, rotating, or perfusing culture medium [4–6].

Mechanical forces can regulate the physiology of cells, in particular osteocytes, chondrocytes, cardiomyocytes, and skeletal muscle cells, via mechanotransduction pathways by which mechanical signals are converted into biochemical signals [7]. Thus, tissue formation and development can be promoted by mechanical stimuli, motivating the use of various mechanical stimulation regimes to regenerate tissues and organs with desired properties. For example, tissue-engineered cartilage with enhanced functionality was produced by applying physiological levels of compression to hydrogels seeded with articular chondrocytes [8,9]. Similarly, enhanced cell proliferation and tissue organization were achieved by repeatedly stretching scaffolds embedded with heart cells [10] or skeletal muscle cells [11]. Shear forces induced by fluid flow increased osteogenic expression and chondrogenic responses [12].



FIGURE 45.1 Schematic of tissue or organ regeneration in vitro using bioreactor systems.

Cell behaviors such as proliferation, differentiation, and migration can also be influenced by electrical stimulation in electrically excitable cells [13]. In particular, when appropriate electrical stimulation is applied, cardiomyocytes cultured in vitro, combined with biomaterials such as collagen, can differentiate and form into functional cardiac tissue constructs [14]. Development of contractile and electrophysiological function in bioengineered tissue constructs can be facilitated by cyclic electrical stimulation, organization of connexin-43, and the formation of structural features similar to those of native myocardium. The electrical stimulation also increases the expression of myosin heavy chain, creatine kinase-MM, and cardiac troponin-I in the bioengineered cardiac constructs. Notably, the positive effects of the electrical stimulation on tissue development strongly depend on the time of its initiation, which indicates that the timing of stimulation must be carefully determined to bioengineer cardiac tissues [15].

In addition to physical stimuli, regeneration of tissues and organs of interest requires the addition of biochemical cues that can modulate cellular and tissue behaviors [16], in particular, soluble biochemical factors such as growth factors and cytokines that are provided to local cells through secretion from neighboring cells or through supply from the blood instruct cells during development and tissue regeneration [17]. Because the concentration and spatial gradient of the biochemical factors strongly influence the microenvironment that dictate the fates of the cells, tight control of the biochemical parameters within the in vitro system is essential to obtain tissue and organs for specific applications.

In the body, cells reside in a complex 3D microenvironment that is composed of tissue- and organ-specific cell types, the ECM, and physical and biochemical factors Accordingly, the regeneration of tissue and organs for transplantation requires 3D scaffolds, in which cells seeded are provided with a biomimetic niche microenvironment that can promote the formation of functional tissue or reconstruct viable organs [18]. Various synthetic ECM materials such as poly(ethylene glycol) and poly(vinyl alcohol), which are typically soft and porous and have a high water content, have been employed as scaffolds that can facilitate the organization of cells into a 3D architecture by presenting the necessary structural, physical, and biochemical characteristics [19]. On the other hand, biological scaffold materials obtained from the native ECM have been shown to promote regeneration of functional tissues greatly [20]. Although the mechanisms mediating the cell behavior by the natural ECM are not well-understood, ECM derived from many different tissues such as heart, blood vessels, skin, and tendons have been tested in both preclinical and clinical applications [18].

Methods that allow monitoring of the tissue growth and maturity, and generation of tissue- and organ-specific functionalities are needed for the successful applications of bioengineered tissues and organs in regenerative medicine [21]. Typical assays that are used to analyze the structure and biochemical composition of the tissue, such as histology and microscopy, involve tissue-sampling procedures, which is destructive in nature. On the other hand, advanced imaging techniques such as molecular imaging and deep-tissue imaging techniques allow noninvasive assessment in vitro and enable real-time and long-term evaluation of bioengineered tissues and organs.

# LUNG BIOREACTORS

# **Bioengineering Functional Lungs**

For many patients with end-stage lung disease, lung transplant is the only definitive treatment option available. Although timely organ transplant is important to increase the life span and overall life quality of the recipients, this treatment procedure is significantly hampered by the severe shortage of viable donor lungs [22]. Furthermore, less than 20% of donated lungs are acceptable for transplant whereas the rest are unsuitable because of poor lung

#### LUNG BIOREACTORS

conditions caused by various reasons including contusion or edema [23]. Accordingly, to increase the number of lungs suitable for transplant, tissue-engineering methods are being developed to salvage donor lungs that are marginally unacceptable and rejected for transplant. In these approaches, endogenous cells in the donor lungs are replaced with fresh cells to restore the lung function to a level acceptable for transplant.

Important processes for lung regeneration using tissue-engineering technologies include (1) removal of the cellular components from the donor lungs (i.e., decellularization), and (2) repopulation of the resulting lung scaffold with the new cells such as lung airways cells or stem/progenitor cells (i.e., recellularization) [24]. The 3D lung scaffold provides organ-specific environment with structural and biochemical cues for the transplanted cells to facilitate lung remodeling and regeneration. In particular, functional ECM components preserved in the decellularized lung matrix, such as collagens, elastin, fibronectin, laminin, and glycosaminoglycans, can promote cell engraftment and differentiation during recellularization.

For the accelerated regeneration of viable and functional lungs, a bioreactor is an essential component that can offer suitable environments to the bioengineered lung [25]. For instance, normothermic (37°C) perfusion and sterile support of the lungs during reconditioning can be achieved by using a bioreactor. An ideal bioreactor would provide mechanical and biochemical cues to the lungs mimicking physiological stimuli during the native lung development. Furthermore, physically and biologically relevant conditions including the air—liquid interface and breathing movement should be generated in the lung bioreactor to promote precisely regulated differentiation and organization of the transplanted cells in the lung scaffolds created by decellularization.

# **Bioreactors for Regeneration of Small Animal Lungs**

Because of their relatively easy access, lungs harvested from small animals such as rodents [26,27] have been widely used to establish protocols for lung tissue engineering (Fig. 45.2A). Accordingly, various lung bioreactors



FIGURE 45.2 Bioreactors for exvivo regeneration of small-animal lungs. (A) Schematic for lung regeneration process [26]. (B) Photograph of bioreactors for (i) decellularization and (ii) recellularization of rat lungs [28]. (C) Schematic of a bioreactor for selective cell replacement in the rat lungs [29]. *De-epith*, de-epithelialization.

#### 45. BIOREACTORS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

designed for small animals have been evaluated for the long-term preservation of explanted lungs during cell-based organ regeneration via decellularization followed by recellularization (Fig. 45.2B). It is imperative that the lung bioreactors provide physiologically relevant conditions (e.g., sterile conditions, isothermic perfusion, and air ventilation) to the lungs throughout the regeneration procedures.

While lungs are kept in a bioreactor, chemical or biological decellularization agents can be perfused sequentially through the airways and vasculatures to remove entire cellular components from the lungs [30]. This perfusion-based decellularization requires precisely controlled fluid flow to maximize preservation of the structural integrity and biological activity of the lung ECM. Decellularization agents include detergents such as 3-([3-cholamidopropyl] dimethylammonio)-1-propanesulfonate, sodium dodecyl sulfate, and Triton X-100 and enzymes such as nuclease, trypsin, and collagenase. After cell removal, the lungs are seeded with therapeutic cells (e.g., epithelial and endothelial) through the airway and vasculature. During recellularization, the lung is ventilated and perfused, respectively, via ventilator and pump integrated into the bioreactor, recapitulating physiological lung developmental conditions (Fig. 45.2C).

A novel bioreactor for the rat lungs was developed in which one lobe of the lung could be bioengineered while the other one remained intact to serve as a control [29]. This bioreactor allowed removal of the epithelial cell layer (de-epithelialization) from the airways of the small animal lungs (i.e., rat) while the underneath lung tissue was preserved (Fig. 45.3D). The selective cell removal was achieved by introducing a mild decellularization solution through the airway while the solution entering the blood vessels was quickly cleared by continuously perfusing the vasculature. As a result, the vasculature network in the lung could be maintained undisrupted, allowing structural and biological integrity of the blood—gas barrier that facilitated bioengineering of functional lungs after reepithelialization.

### **Bioreactors for Regeneration of Large Animal Lungs**

To generate bioengineered lungs on a clinically relevant scale, bioreactors have been developed that could maintain the function of large-animal lungs (e.g., porcine and human) during ex vivo regeneration [31,33,34] (Fig. 45.3A and B). Similar to bioreactors for small animal lungs, these clinical-scale bioreactors allow sterile, normothermic perfusion and ventilation to promote lung regeneration and functional recovery. In addition, large-lung bioreactors have been further optimized to support the lungs for a sufficient time to allow diagnostic and therapeutic interventions that would be needed to improve marginal lungs. Automated lung perfusion and ventilation with integrated sensors (e.g., flow, pressure sensors) and lung monitoring components (e.g., video cameras) into the bioreactor would be desirable to achieve more tightly controlled lung regeneration.

Whereas ex vivo lung perfusion (EVLP) has typically been used to preserve donor lungs during transport, its utility for assessment and reconditioning of marginally unacceptable donor lungs has also been pursued (Fig. 45.3C). Benefits of using EVLP include the recruitment of collapsed lung areas, removal of bronchial secretions, and clearing of clots from the circulation. In addition, because the lungs are connected to the EVLP system externally, direct and targeted treatments of the lungs are possible via endotracheal and intravascular routes. Owing to the absence of other organs in the circuit, higher doses of therapeutics for accelerated disease treatment can be administered to the lungs supported by EVLP (Fig. 45.3C). However, the lack of other organs also implies that the metabolic clearance and systemic factors are absent. Nevertheless, EVLP systems have served as excellent platforms for human lung support and bioengineering [35]. The adaptation of EVLP for reconditioning marginal donor lungs increased the total number lung transplants at least by 15% [36].

# In Vivo Bioreactors for Lung Regeneration

Allogeneic solid organ transplants typically require nonspecific and lifelong immunosuppressive therapy to prevent and treat organ rejection. Although immunosuppression improves graft survival, the patient becomes susceptible to infections, in particular to pulmonary infections that may cause morbidity and mortality [37]. An effective approach to reducing the immunogenic response would be using the recipient as an "in vivo bioreactor," in which donated organs or tissues are implanted heterotopically, thus taking full advantage of the natural regenerative capacity of the recipient's body [38]. This elegant method was demonstrated for trachea (Fig. 45.4A), with the donor trachea implanted subcutaneously into the recipient's forearm for over 9 months. During this time, the neovascularization occurred and the endogenous mucosal lining was partially replaced with the recipient's own buccal mucosa. After transplantation of the regenerated trachea, the immunosuppressive therapy was suspended and the recipient's



FIGURE 45.3 Bioreactors for ex vivo regeneration of large-animal lungs. (A) Schematic layout of a clinical-scale lung bioreactor and (B) photograph of the bioreactor setup in an incubator [31]. (C) Schematic drawing of an ex vivo lung perfusion (EVLP) unit [32]. *LA*, left atrium; *P.Eq.*, pressure equilibrium; *PA*, pulmonary artery; *PEEP*, positive end-expiratory pressure; *PV*, pulmonary vein.

buccal mucosa gradually grew over the graft. Significantly, the allogeneic trachea was stable and functional for several years even after immunosuppression was discontinued [39,41].

Smaller tissues or organs such as trachea and bone segments can be heterotopically regenerated within the recipient's own body before orthotopic transplantation. However, this in vivo approach can be difficult for the regeneration of solid organs such as whole lungs or liver owing to their large size and the need for perfusion. A potential solution for this can be cross-circulation (extracorporeal circulation), in which donor organs are connected externally to the recipient's circulatory system during organ recovery or repair [42,43]. Using a preclinical swine model, this novel cross-circulation approach has been demonstrated for prolonged lung support during therapeutic interventions undertaken to recover the injured donor lungs [40] (Fig. 45.4B and C). Because the donor organ is placed outside the recipient's body, the organ is more accessible for diagnostic and therapeutic interventions that can improve the 792



**FIGURE 45.4 In vivo bioreactors** (A) Tracheal allotransplant after revascularization in a heterotopic position (forearm) of the patient [39]. (B) Cross-circulation circuit for regeneration of donor lungs ex vivo supported by the recipient and (C) operative setup for the cross-circulation [40]. *H*, warm water jacket; *I.C.*, incision; *I.S.*, immunosuppression; *IJ*, internal jugular vein; *PA*, pulmonary artery; *PV*, pulmonary vein; *TC*, thermal camera; *TL*, time-lapse camera; *VB*, video bronchoscopy.

organ conditions, and minimally invasive evaluation of the lung function recovery. In addition, lung regeneration through cross-circulation can be accelerated when combined with the cell-replacement therapy using the patient's own cells, because the recipient provides the necessary biochemical cues needed by the transplanted cells.

# Bioreactors for Study of Lung Biology

Lung regeneration and repair involve complex processes for which the underlying mechanisms are not fully understood [44]. More detailed study of lung development can enable the establishment of effective treatment modalities for a number of respiratory complications including immature lungs in preterm babies and inflammation-induced disruption of alveologenesis. In addition, such study would also inform strategies for stem cell–based ex vivo lung regeneration [45]. Microengineered lung models in microfluidic culture devices (i.e., "lung-on-a-chip") have great value for high-throughput in vitro studies of the lung at the molecular, cellular, and tissue levels [46–48] (Fig. 45.5A). Thus, these biomimetic lung-on-a-chips can recapitulate the structure, function, and microenvironment of human lung, permitting the study of lung development, regeneration, disease, and responses to drugs.



FIGURE 45.5 In vitro (iv) devices for studies of lung development and regeneration. (A) A lung-on-a-chip model for microengineering small airways [48]. (B) Lung bud organoids grown in vitro in a hydrogel [49]. (C) Bioreactor for lung organoid generation [50]. (D, E) Bright-field microscopy of a lung organoid [51].

When provided with suitable biochemical and physical conditions, stem cells can be formed into 3D tissue structures (i.e., organoids) that contain self-organized cell clusters. For example, human pluripotent stem cells cultured in 3D hydrogel (e.g., Matrigel) formed lung bud organoids resembling branching human airways and early alveolar structures [49] (Fig. 45.5B). Whereas model systems such as 2D monolayer cell cultures, 3D cell spheroids, and tissue explants have limitations in recapitulating the complex and multilevel human physiology, organoids can faithfully recapitulate many biological parameters, providing a unique opportunity to perform more physiologically relevant studies in vitro. Using custom-built bioreactor systems, generation of organoids can be facilitated in terms of organoid number and size, establishing the use of organoids in applications of drug testing, regenerative medicine, and disease modeling [51] (Fig. 45.5C–E).

### **Evaluation of Bioengineered Lungs**

Various imaging and tissue processing techniques are used to evaluate the bioengineered lungs and assess their structural and biochemical integrity [21]. For example, removal and repopulation of cells such as epithelium of the

45. BIOREACTORS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



FIGURE 45.6 Evaluation of the microstructure and composition of the lung tissue. (A) Hematoxylin–eosin and immunofluorescence staining of lung tissue samples of airways. (B) Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) of native and de-epithelialized (De-epith, De epi) lungs and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) of alveoli. (C) Pressure–volume measures of lungs. (D) Microscopic imaging of fluorescent microbeads (diameter =  $\sim 1 \,\mu$ m) in the lung capillaries [29]. (E) Transpleural imaging of labeled microbeads or mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in the lung parenchyma [40]. (F) Imaging of MSCs seeded onto the rat trachea [52]. (G) X-ray and thermal imaging of the porcine lung during regeneration [40]. *TR*, trachea.

lung can be visually assessed by hematoxylin and eosin staining of the tissue samples obtained from the lung. In addition, immunofluorescence staining can reveal the presence or absence of biological molecules in the lung tissue (Fig. 45.6A). Detail about cell and tissue structures can be probed by using powerful imaging techniques such as scanning electron microscopy and transmission electron microscopy, which provide high-resolution images [29] (Fig. 45.6B).

To evaluate the lungs without the need for tissue sampling, nondestructive and real-time assessment have been employed [29,40,52]. A simple method to determine the quality of the bioengineered lung is to measure the pressure—volume relation of the lung, which can provide lung compliance and resistance (Fig. 45.6C). In addition, the structural integrity of the blood vessels can be evaluated by directly monitoring traveling paths of microbeads (diameter of approximately 1  $\mu$ m) added into the blood flow (Fig. 45.6D). Similarly, cells added into the lung parenchyma (Fig. 45.6E) or airways (Fig. 45.6F) can be visually inspected using a custom-built microscope and opticalfiber imaging probe, respectively. Airway recruitment and blood perfusion of the lung during regeneration can be inspected using X-ray and thermal imaging (Fig. 45.6G).

# **Bioengineering Bone**

Bone tissue has an inherent ability to regenerate, except in critical-sized defects caused by congenital abnormalities, trauma, or disease. Autologous grafts are the reference standard treatment, but these grafts are limited by the tissue volumes that can be harvested and patient morbidity. Engineered bone substitutes rely on bioreactors to provide nutrients throughout the large tissue constructs and to deliver the mechanical stimuli needed to promote bone development [53]. In this section, we examine bioreactor design for bone tissue engineering, including an advanced example of clinical translation, and the important role of bioreactors in delivering dynamic loads to cells within the engineered bone. Like lung, bone is a vascularized organ, and we summarize efforts to use the body as its own bioreactor to mitigate the challenge of vascularizing implants. Finally, we consider the use of bioreactors as platforms for biological studies of bone development and disease, and how nondestructive modalities may be used to monitor bone structure and function within bioreactor environments.

#### Nonperfused Bioreactors for Bone Regeneration

Static tissue culture relies on diffusion to deliver nutrients and biophysical stimuli to tissue, resulting in cell viability and matrix deposition only at the border of a 3D construct. To drive nutrient distribution in bone tissue engineering, two types of bioreactors for dynamic culture have been introduced: rotating wall vessels that use concentric, rotation cylinders to create laminar flow; and spinner flasks that use a magnetic stirrer or similar device to create flow through constructs suspended in the flask. Both setups have shown improvements in cell viability and distribution compared with static culture; however, in both cases, flow remains restricted to the periphery and necessary nutrients and signaling cannot reach deep within critical-sized scaffolds [54].

#### Perfusion Bioreactors for Bone Regeneration

Perfusion bioreactors, in which media are pumped throughout the construct, have shown improved cell distribution and viability and matrix production throughout large 3D scaffolds [55,56]. Perfusion bioreactors pump media from a reservoir throughout a construct within a liquid-tight vessel. Flow may be directed around the outside of a construct, or it may be forced directly through a construct by press-fitting the scaffold within the bioreactor casing. The latter setup offers superior mass transport, although flow patterns need to be customized to fit the construct geometry [57]. Perfusion bioreactors have been used for engineering bone from various stem cell sources, including embryonic [58], induced pluripotent [59], bone marrow–derived [60], and adipose-derived stem cells [61,62].

Bone marrow-derived and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have shown particular promise for clinical translation, because both have demonstrated success in perfusion-bioreactor engineering of large-animal, anatomical bone replacements [60,61] (Fig. 45.7). These custom-shaped bioreactors relied on preoperative imaging of the targeted defect from which a mold was fabricated. Two elastomer pieces were then molded and press-fit onto a decellularized bone scaffold, which was milled to the anatomical shape and loaded with stem cells (Fig. 45.7A). To ensure optimal mass transport and shear stress throughout the construct, computational flow simulations were used to determine the channel size and placement (Fig. 45.7B). The engineered bone closely resembled the resected, native bone after 3 weeks in culture (Fig. 45.7C) and guided generation of new bone over 6 months in vivo in adult pigs (Fig. 45.7D). In contrast, soft issue formed in the condylectomy control (Fig. 45.7E). Custom perfusion bioreactors may be extended to implement multiple chambers for engineering adjacent tissues, such as engineering the articular cartilage surface on bone to form whole joints [63,64].

An important advantage of perfusion bioreactors is the ability to control the media flow throughout engineered bone, not only for mass transport but also to introduce appropriate shear stresses to cells for bone development. Previous reviews reported on the mechanobiology of bone development and the use of bioreactors to recapitulate physiological shear stresses [53,65]. Shear stresses are critical to bone formation and resorption via mechanotransduction in osteocytes, which communicate via paracrine signaling with osteoblasts and osteocytes to regulate matrix turnover [66]. Shear stress was also shown to direct osteogenic differentiation of MSCs [67]. Several studies attempted to recapitulate the physiological stresses seen by cells in native bone using perfusion bioreactors [56].

However, because no method exists for measuring the locally applied shear stress directly at the cellular level in 3D, studies rely on computational simulation of flow rates to determine local stresses. An important study established predictive correlates between the perfusion rate and the local osteogenic behavior of human MSCs in 45. BIOREACTORS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



FIGURE 45.7 Engineering anatomical bone grafts using a perfusion bioreactor. (A) The bioreactor consists of two polydimethylsiloxane blocks with incorporated channels, two manifolds, and a casing, providing controlled perfusion through the scaffold. (B) Channel diameters and spacing were designed by flow simulation software to provide a desired interstitial flow velocity for a given shape and size of graft. Simulations revealed a uniform flow velocity throughout the volume. (C) Comparison of resected native bone and engineered graft shows closely matched geometry. (D) Movat pentachrome stain of explants from pigs undergoing condylectomy showed fibrous tissue filling the defect; (E) engineered scaffolds guided development of new calcified tissue in the defect [61].

decellularized bone matrix [57]. Computational simulations yielded the independent contributions of oxygen delivery and shear stress to the resulting osteogenic behavior, including gene expression, matrix deposition, and cell proliferation. A range of flow rates from 400 to 1800  $\mu$ m/s resulted in stresses of 2–20 mPa, respectively; although this is more than an order of magnitude lower than stress values reported in vivo [53], stresses were expected to increase as more matrix was produced and pore size correspondingly decreased.

Although many perfusion bioreactors introduce steady, continuous flow to engineered bone, there may be advantages to mimicking the oscillatory or pulsatile loading experienced by bone tissue in vivo [55]. External loads are applied to cells via a combination of matrix strain and interstitial fluid flow through lacunar-canalicular spaces [68]. A study examined the direct effects of oscillatory flow on MSCs using a parallel-plate bioreactor setup, in which the pressure is spatially constant throughout the setup, as confirmed by computational fluid dynamics (Fig. 45.8A). By testing various load magnitudes and frequencies, a regime of 2 Pa at 2 Hz was identified to have the greatest upregulation of osteogenic expression in MSCs [69], similar to the loads experienced by human cells in vivo during jogging.

Beyond fluid flow, external intermittent compression may be applied for mechanosignaling for bone development. A compression bioreactor setup, including an array of platens driven by a linear actuator and interfaced with a 24-well plate, was used to introduce periodic strain cycles and investigate mechanical regulation in a bone tumor model [70] (Fig. 45.8B). Computational simulation of the local pressure and flow velocity throughout the porous decellularized bone matrix (modeled as a poroelastic material) allowed the correlation of local pressure and matrix strain with gene expression. A new paradigm for dynamic loading in a bone bioreactor was reported in which nanoscale vibrations were introduced to MSCs via a magnetic plate [71] (Fig. 45.8C). Simulations of the displacement within the constructs revealed a constant force magnitude across the construct surface, and MSCs undergoing nanovibrations generated mineralized matrix despite the absence of physiological matrix stiffness



**FIGURE 45.8 Bone bioreactors with advanced loading regimes and corresponding mechanics simulations.** (A) Oscillatory flow bioreactor (*left*) and stress field simulations (*right*) [69]. (B) Compression bioreactor (*left*) and simulated stress field (*right*) [70]. (C) Vibrational bioreactor, simulated nanoscale displacements of the magnetic plate (*top*) and six-well plate (*bottom*) used for culture, and resulting constructs without stimulation, with mechanical stimulation, and with osteospecific media (OSM) [71].

(soft collagen gel served as a matrix material). These diverse approaches to loading bone tissue in bioreactors showed that mechanical effects on bone development must be considered in designing bioreactors.

# In Vivo Bone Bioreactors for Solving the Vascularization Problem

One of the greatest challenges in producing viable engineered bone substitutes is the generation and anastomosis of a functioning vascular network. Like lung, bone is a highly vascularized tissue and efforts to incorporate vasculature during in vitro development have fallen short of promoting vascular integration upon implantation. A potential approach to overcome this is to use the body itself as a vascularized bioreactor and develop the bone in an ectopic location before orthotopic implantation [72–74]. This "in vivo bioreactor" principle has the additional advantage that the body provides a further supply of stem cells and growth factors to the construct, avoiding overmanipulating

797

45. BIOREACTORS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



**FIGURE 45.9 In vivo bone bioreactor.** (A) The in vivo bioreactor paradigm: ectopic implantation prepares a construct for successful orthotopic implantation [73]. (B) Layered nanofibrous–ceramic constructs implanted subcutaneously in nude mice to promote vascularization (left). Hematoxylin–eosin histology shows that vascularization occurred all the way through the core of the scaffold [75]. *TMJ*, temporomandibular joint.

the tissue ahead of implantation, which could simplify the clinical translation of engineered bone replacements [73] (Fig. 45.9A). Since it was originally introduced, in vivo bioreactor studies have taken advantage of the highly vascularized environment in the periosteum, the connective tissue layer surrounding the bone [69]. The successful formation of mineralized, compact bone was demonstrated by 6 weeks after implantation, in rabbit periosteum. Given the relatively invasive nature of this implantation, subcutaneous implantation has also been explored for its vascularization potential. To promote vascular ingrowth, a layered construct was engineered using MSCs within electrospun polycaprolactone nanofibers, an angiogenic layer composed of collagen—fibronectin gel with endothelial cells, and an osteoconductive layer containing hydroxyapatite particles. After 4 weeks of subcutaneous implantation in nude mice, vasculature was present throughout the core of the scaffold [75] (Fig. 45.9B).

# Bioreactors for Studying Bone Development and Disease

Bioreactors for bone were originally introduced to improve mass transport to cells when culturing in large 3D constructs. However, the opportunity to introduce a controlled mechanical and biological environment to realistic 3D bone constructs has allowed sophisticated models of bone development and disease within bioreactors. For instance, advanced mechanobiology studies may be carried out in perfusion bioreactors. A study examined the synergistic effects of matrix stiffness and shear stress on the osteogenic differentiation of progenitor cells. Decellularized bone matrices were coated with various ratios of collagen—hydroxyapatite to vary matrix stiffness and were loaded with MSCs [76]. The authors modeled flow through the constructs to estimate shear stresses and found that oscillatory flow is needed to promote cell viability and osteogenic behavior in long-term culture, whereas matrix stiffness had to be optimized separately for the greatest osteogenic potential. The controlled environment provided by bioreactors could also be used to study fracture repair under different biological regimes. For instance, static culture of hypertrophic chondrocytes improved long bone repair via endochondral ossification in the rat model, in contrast to osteoblast-laden scaffolds cultured in a perfusion bioreactor that promoted intramembranous ossification [77].

#### BONE BIOREACTORS

Bioreactors have also shown advantages in modeling the bone tumor microenvironment to understand tumorigenesis and drug efficacy better [70,78]. A study that used a dynamic compression bioreactor showed that mechanical loading affects the tumor's drug sensitivity in an engineered model of Ewing sarcoma [79]. Effects of shear stresses on tumor cell homing to bone during metastasis have also been studied. Spinner flask culture upregulated interleukin-24, which was shown to decrease the viability of prostate cells in engineered bone compared with static coculture [80]. The role of compression in inhibiting tumor-mediated osteolysis and metastatic tumor formation in bone by breast cancer cells was observed in a compression bioreactor for bone engineering [81].

Bioreactors also enable the modeling of joint disease for drug screening applications [82]. By scaling down and simplifying the bioreactor design, the osteochondral interface has been studied "on a chip" using microfluidics to introduce appropriate media to the two tissues [83]. A similar dual-compartment design was implemented to grow osteochondral tissues from human MSCs, and interleukin-1β induced tissue degeneration [84]. This platform is suitable for testing disease-modifying osteoarthritis drugs.

#### Monitoring the Environment and Tissue Development Within Bioreactors

The abilities to sense and visualize the inner workings of bioreactors are crucial for determining their faithfulness in recapitulating the physiologic environment and for evaluating proper tissue development. In the context of bone bioreactors, several structural, mechanical, and biological assessment tools have been proposed to monitor tissues and cells nondestructively.

Microcomputed tomography ( $\mu$ CT) is a nondestructive imaging modality that visualizes tissue structure in 3D. Because of the high absorption of X-rays by mineralized tissue, it may be used to quantify formation of bone longitudinally and has been a primary modality for this application [85]. Some studies have performed  $\mu$ CT imaging directly within perfusion bioreactors [86,87] without the need to remove the construct from its media circuit and sterile environment. Such longitudinal imaging can provide feedback to 3D tissue formation during culture, enabling the adaptation of biophysical stimuli as needed. Direct  $\mu$ CT monitoring within a perfusion bioreactor also allowed the relation of flow rate to the formation of mineralized tissue by human MSCs in a decellularized bone scaffold [88]. Longitudinal  $\mu$ CT has been used to investigate the effects of the degree of matrix curvature on new bone formation in 3D silk fibroin constructs [86] (Fig. 45.10A). Scaffolds with channels of varying degrees of curvature, to mimic the matrix turnover in vivo, were cultivated with cells in perfusion and static bioreactors to study fracture healing.

Optical imaging, including bioluminescent and fluorescent imaging, offers molecular specificity and may be performed nondestructively to investigate cell behavior within bone bioreactors. Bioluminescence has been used to track stem cell behavior in bone defects in vivo in mice (Fig. 45.10B). MSCs were transfected with two variants of luciferase, one used as a constitutive promoter to quantify cell number and another as a cell differentiation reporter for osteoblast lineage [89]. This approach is a promising avenue to understand stem cell fate better in engineered bone. Noninvasive, optical assessment of oxygenation in a bioreactor has also been achieved by measuring the oxygen-dependent phosphorescence lifetime of microprobes within the media of a perfusion bioreactor [91].

The authors found a decrease in oxygen within tissue constructs under static culture conditions, in contrast to stable oxygen levels in the perfusion setup. However, the technique provides no spatially resolved information; it offers a single oxygen measurement at each time point. Another disadvantage of optical modalities is a limited depth penetration, which restricts imaging to thick, opaque constructs.

Owing to both shear stresses and matrix strains, mechanical effects on bone development have received increased attention, but many studies lack a method to visualize the effects of mechanics directly within dynamic bioreactor environments. A bioreactor system was demonstrated that is capable of real-time mechanical conditioning (dynamic, uniaxial strain, and electrical stimulation) of nanofibrous constructs and the simultaneous monitoring of local strains [90]. Fluorescent beads and MSCs were electrospun directly into fibers, and fluorescence microscopy along with digital image correlation techniques were used to map local strains (Fig. 45.10C). Such a system may provide new insights for bone mechanobiology and allow tracking of the mechanical development of bone tissue in future studies. Elastography, which uses medical imaging including ultrasound, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and optical coherence tomography, may also have a role in mechanically conditioned engineered tissues [92].

45. BIOREACTORS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



FIGURE 45.10 Image-based monitoring of tissue and cell behavior in bone models. (A) microcomputed tomography monitoring of bone deposition in silk fibroin scaffolds with and without perfusion. Color-coded overlays of different time points show areas of new growth and resorption [86]. (B) Bioluminescent imaging of human mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) differentiation in demineralized bone scaffolds implanted in a mouse model. MSCs were transduced with reporters for cell number (renilla luciferase [RLuc]) and/or cell differentiation (photinus luciferase [PLuc]) toward osteoblast lineage (OC), endothelial lineage (human platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule [hPECAM]), or hypoxic expression (HRE) [89]. (C) Optical monitoring of local strain in nanofibrous constructs in a mechanical bioreactor. Fluorescent beads were incorporated into the fibers to track local displacements [90].

# CHALLENGES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Promising advances have been made in designing bioreactors that deliver essential nutrients and environmental cues to drive tissue development. However, several areas require improvement to enable the clinical translation of bioreactor technologies for regenerative medicine. As discussed here for lung and bone tissues, vascularization is critical for graft survival upon implantation. Using ectopic locations in the body as an in vivo bioreactor can mitigate some of the issues, but it may not always be practical. Other bio-inspired strategies should be considered that could be carried out in vitro to prime tissues for vascularization and contribute to success upon implantation. For example, harnessing the inflammatory response to promote angiogenesis has been explored in bone tissue constructs. Biomaterial-directed switching of the macrophage phenotype enabled upregulation of angiogenic factors and improved vascularization in a mouse model. Many bioreactor studies do not account for the inflammatory milieu, but it may be necessary to incorporate these cell types for optimal tissue development in the future.

In this chapter, we have introduced techniques that have been used to monitor the bioreactor environment and tissue development, but much work is needed in this space to interface bioreactors further with advanced imaging and sensing modalities. Although several modalities have been used to monitor cell fate and tissue development in vitro in monolayer culture [93], relatively few have been extended to monitoring the 3D complex environment within a bioreactor. Part of the challenge is the trade-off between the resolution needed to capture cellular-scale events with the field of view needed to monitor large, 3D constructs. MRI-compatible [94] and computed tomography—compatible bioreactors have been developed to monitor media flow and tissue structure, but they cannot track individual cells and have not been widely adopted for laboratory use, likely owing to the cost and size of the systems. Optical techniques including bioluminescence, fluorescence, multiphoton techniques, and optical coherence tomography may have an increasing role in real-time monitoring in future studies [93].

Real-time and nondestructive assessment of tissue and organ regeneration will be essential to the eventual automation of bioreactor control. Imaging and sensing readouts may be used in a feedback loop to signal inputs of environment cues (e.g., mechanical actuation, oxygenation) or delivery of biological factors. Toward this end, a computer-controlled perfusion bioreactor with integrated sensors for oxygen and pH was used to grow bone successfully for implantation in mice [95]. Eventual clinical translation will also require standardization and quality control; here, predictive computational models and automation are expected to contribute. Computational analyses and machine learning techniques may enable further the optimization of culture regimes, resulting in improved reproducibility in engineered construct quality.

# Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the National Institutes of Health support of the work described in this chapter (Grants DE016525, EB025765, HL120046, HL134760, and EB002520).

# References

- Turner NJ, Keane TJ, Badylak SF. Lessons from developmental biology for regenerative medicine. Birth Defects Res Part C Embryo Today 2013;99:149–59.
- [2] Badylak SF, Nerem RM. National Acad Sciences, 2010.
- [3] Pörtner R, Nagel-Heyer S, Goepfert C, Adamietz P, Meenen NM. Bioreactor design for tissue engineering. J Biosci Biong 2005;100:235–45.
- [4] Martin I, Wendt D, Heberer M. The role of bioreactors in tissue engineering. Trends Biotechnol 2004;22:80–6.
- [5] Martin Y, Vermette P. Bioreactors for tissue mass culture: design, characterization, and recent advances. Biomaterials 2005;26:7481–503.
- [6] Griffith LG, Swartz MA. Capturing complex 3D tissue physiology in vitro. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006;7:211–24.
- Huang H, Kamm RD, Lee RT. Cell mechanics and mechanotransduction: pathways, probes, and physiology. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2004; 287:C1–11.
- [8] Vunjak-Novakovic G, et al. Bioreactor cultivation conditions modulate the composition and mechanical properties of tissue-engineered cartilage. J Orthop Res 1999;17:130–8.
- [9] Mauck RL, et al. Functional tissue engineering of articular cartilage through dynamic loading of chondrocyte-seeded agarose gels. J Biomech Eng 2000;122:252–60.
- [10] Boublik J, et al. Mechanical properties and remodeling of hybrid cardiac constructs made from heart cells, fibrin, and biodegradable, elastomeric knitted fabric. Tissue Eng 2005;11:1122–32.
- [11] Moon DG, Christ G, Stitzel JD, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Cyclic mechanical preconditioning improves engineered muscle contraction. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14:473–82.
- [12] Burdick JA, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Engineered microenvironments for controlled stem cell differentiation. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;15:205–19.
- [13] Vunjak-Novakovic G, et al. Challenges in cardiac tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2009;16:169–87.
#### 802

#### 45. BIOREACTORS IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [14] Tandon N, Marsano A, Cannizzaro C, Voldman J, Vunjak-Novakovic G. In: Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2008. EMBS 2008. 30th annual international conference of the IEEE. IEEE. p. 3594–7.
- [15] Radisic M, et al. Functional assembly of engineered myocardium by electrical stimulation of cardiac myocytes cultured on scaffolds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:18129–34.
- [16] Nerem RM, Sambanis A. Tissue engineering: from biology to biological substitutes. Tissue Eng 1995;1:3–13.
- [17] Lee K, Silva EA, Mooney DJ. Growth factor delivery-based tissue engineering: general approaches and a review of recent developments. J R Soc Interface 2011;8:153–70.
- [18] Badylak SF, Freytes DO, Gilbert TW. Extracellular matrix as a biological scaffold material: structure and function. Acta Biomater 2009;5:1–13.
- [19] Guvendiren M, Burdick JA. Engineering synthetic hydrogel microenvironments to instruct stem cells. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2013;24:841-6.
- [20] Saldin LT, Cramer MC, Velankar SS, White LJ, Badylak SF. Extracellular matrix hydrogels from decellularized tissues: structure and function. Acta Biomater 2016;49:1–15.
- [21] Ravichandran A, Liu Y, Teoh SH. Bioreactor design towards generation of relevant engineered tissues: focus on clinical translation. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2018;12:e7–22.
- [22] Song J, Ott H. Bioartificial lung engineering. Am J Transplant 2012;12:283-8.
- [23] Soto-Gutierrez A, Wertheim JA, Ott HC, Gilbert TW. Perspectives on whole-organ assembly: moving toward transplantation on demand. J Clin Invest 2012;122:3817.
- [24] Crapo PM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes. Biomaterials 2011;32:3233-43.
- [25] Badylak SF, Weiss DJ, Caplan A, Macchiarini P. Engineered whole organs and complex tissues. Lancet 2012;379:943-52.
- [26] Petersen TH, et al. Tissue-engineered lungs for in vivo implantation. Science 2010;329:538-41.
- [27] Price AP, England KA, Matson AM, Blazar BR, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A. Development of a decellularized lung bioreactor system for bioengineering the lung: the matrix reloaded. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:2581–91.
- [28] Mishra DK, et al. Human lung cancer cells grown on acellular rat lung matrix create perfusable tumor nodules. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;93: 1075–81.
- [29] Dorrello NV, et al. Functional vascularized lung grafts for lung bioengineering. Sci Adv 2017;3:e1700521.
- [30] Ott HC, et al. Regeneration and orthotopic transplantation of a bioartificial lung. Nat Med 2010;16:927–33.
- [31] Charest JM, et al. Design and validation of a clinical-scale bioreactor for long-term isolated lung culture. Biomaterials 2015;52:79-87.
- [32] Wallinder A, et al. Early results in transplantation of initially rejected donor lungs after ex vivo lung perfusion: a case-control study. Eur J Cardio Thorac Surg 2013;45:40–5.
- [33] Price AP, et al. Automated decellularization of intact, human-sized lungs for tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2014;21:94–103.
- [34] Gilpin SE, et al. Perfusion decellularization of human and porcine lungs: bringing the matrix to clinical scale. J Heart Lung Transplant 2014;33: 298–308.
- [35] Raemdonck D, Neyrinck A, Cypel M, Keshavjee S. Ex-vivo lung perfusion. Transpl Int 2015;28:643-56.
- [36] Tane S, Noda K, Shigemura N. Ex vivo lung perfusion: a key tool for translational science in the lungs. Chest 2017;151:1220-8.
- [37] Sykes M. Immune evasion by chimeric trachea. N Engl J Med 2010;362:172.
- [38] Tatara A, Wong M, Mikos A. In vivo bioreactors for mandibular reconstruction. J Dent Res 2014;93:1196-202.
- [39] Delaere P, Van Raemdonck D. Tracheal replacement. J Thorac Dis 2016;8:S186.
- [40] O'Neill JD, et al. Cross-circulation for extracorporeal support and recovery of the lung. Nat Biomed Eng 2017;1:0037.
- [41] Delaere PR, Vranckx JJ, Den Hondt M. Tracheal allograft after withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy. N Engl J Med 2014;370:1568-70.
- [42] Burnell J, et al. Observations on cross circulation in man. Am J Med 1965;38:832-41.
- [43] Iberer F, et al. Extracorporeal circulation for repair of suprahepatic vena cava stenosis after liver transplantation. Transpl Int 2002;15:589–90.
- [44] Baddour JA, Sousounis K, Tsonis PA. Organ repair and regeneration: an overview. Birth Defects Res Part C Embryo Today 2012;96:1–29.
- [45] Hogan BL, et al. Repair and regeneration of the respiratory system: complexity, plasticity, and mechanisms of lung stem cell function. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:123–38.
- [46] Huh D, et al. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. Science 2010;328:1662-8.
- [47] Benam KH, et al. Small airway-on-a-chip enables analysis of human lung inflammation and drug responses in vitro. Nat Methods 2016;13:151-7.
- [48] Huh D, et al. Microfabrication of human organs-on-chips. Nat Protoc 2013;8:2135-57.
- [49] Chen Y-W, et al. A three-dimensional model of human lung development and disease from pluripotent stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 2017;19:542-9.
- [50] Wilkinson DC, et al. Development of a three-dimensional bioengineering technology to generate lung tissue for personalized disease modeling. Stem Cells Transl Med 2017;6:622–33.
- [51] Sucre JM, et al. A three-dimensional human model of the fibroblast activation that accompanies bronchopulmonary dysplasia identifies Notch-mediated pathophysiology. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2016;310:L889–98.
- [52] Kim J, et al. Controlled delivery and minimally invasive imaging of stem cells in the lung. Sci Rep 2017;7:13082.
- [53] McCoy RJ, O'Brien FJ. Influence of shear stress in perfusion bioreactor cultures for the development of three-dimensional bone tissue constructs: a review. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2010;16:587–601.
- [54] Sladkova M, de Peppo GM. Bioreactor systems for human bone tissue engineering. Processes 2014;2:494-525.
- [55] Gaspar DA, Gomide V, Monteiro FJ. The role of perfusion bioreactors in bone tissue engineering. Biomatter 2012;2:167–75.
- [56] Yeatts AB, Choquette DT, Fisher JP. Bioreactors to influence stem cell fate: augmentation of mesenchymal stem cell signaling pathways via dynamic culture systems. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1830:2470–80.
- [57] Grayson WL, et al. Optimizing the medium perfusion rate in bone tissue engineering bioreactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 2011;108:1159-70.
- [58] Marolt D, et al. Engineering bone tissue from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:8705-9.
- [59] de Peppo GM, et al. Engineering bone tissue substitutes from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110: 8680–5.
- [60] Grayson WL, et al. Engineering anatomically shaped human bone grafts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:3299-304.
- [61] Bhumiratana S, et al. Tissue-engineered autologous grafts for facial bone reconstruction. Sci Transl Med 2016;8:83.
- [62] Fröhlich M, et al. Bone grafts engineered from human adipose-derived stem cells in perfusion bioreactor culture. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;16: 179–89.

- [63] Bhumiratana S, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Engineering physiologically stiff and stratified human cartilage by fusing condensed mesenchymal stem cells. Methods 2015;84:109–14.
- [64] Grayson WL, Bhumiratana S, Chao PG, Hung CT, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Spatial regulation of human mesenchymal stem cell differentiation in engineered osteochondral constructs: effects of pre-differentiation, soluble factors and medium perfusion. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2010;18: 714–23.
- [65] Yeatts AB, Fisher JP. Bone tissue engineering bioreactors: dynamic culture and the influence of shear stress. Bone 2011;48:171-81.
- [66] Robling AG, Castillo AB, Turner CH. Biomechanical and molecular regulation of bone remodeling. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2006;8:455–98.[67] Hoey DA, Tormey S, Ramcharan S, O'Brien FJ, Jacobs CR. Primary cilia-mediated mechanotransduction in human mesenchymal stem cells.
- Stem Cell 2012;30:2561–70.
  [68] Ren L, et al. Biomechanical and biophysical environment of bone from the macroscopic to the pericellular and molecular level. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2015;50:104–22.
- [69] Stavenschi E, Labour M-N, Hoey DA. Oscillatory fluid flow induces the osteogenic lineage commitment of mesenchymal stem cells: the effect of shear stress magnitude, frequency, and duration. J Biomech 2017;55:99–106.
- [70] Marturano-Kruik A, et al. In: Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2015 37th annual international conference of the IEEE. IEEE. p. 3561–4.
- [71] Tsimbouri PM, et al. Stimulation of 3D osteogenesis by mesenchymal stem cells using a nanovibrational bioreactor. Nat Biomed Eng 2017;1:758.
- [72] Stevens MM, et al. In vivo engineering of organs: the bone bioreactor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:11450-5.
- [73] Huang R-L, Kobayashi E, Liu K, Li Q. Bone graft prefabrication following the in vivo bioreactor principle. EBioMedicine 2016;12:43-54.
- [74] Liu Y, Möller B, Wiltfang J, Warnke PH, Terheyden H. Tissue engineering of a vascularized bone graft of critical size with an osteogenic and angiogenic factor-based in vivo bioreactor. Tissue Eng Part A 2014;20:3189–97.
- [75] Sathy BN, et al. Bone tissue engineering with multilayered scaffolds—Part I: an approach for vascularizing engineered constructs in vivo. Tissue Eng Part A 2015;21:2480–94.
- [76] Chen G, Xu R, Zhang C, Lv Y. Responses of MSCs to 3D scaffold matrix mechanical properties under oscillatory perfusion culture. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2017;9:1207–18.
- [77] Bernhard J, et al. Tissue-engineered hypertrophic chondrocyte grafts enhanced long bone repair. Biomaterials 2017;139:202-12.
- [78] Santoro M, Lamhamedi-Cherradi S-E, Menegaz BA, Ludwig JA, Mikos AG. Flow perfusion effects on three-dimensional culture and drug sensitivity of Ewing sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015;112:10304–9.
- [79] Marturano-Kruik A, et al. Biomechanical regulation of drug sensitivity in an engineered model of human tumor. Biomaterials 2018;150: 150–61.
- [80] Frith JE, Thomson B, Genever PG. Dynamic three-dimensional culture methods enhance mesenchymal stem cell properties and increase therapeutic potential. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2009;16:735–49.
- [81] Lynch ME, et al. In vivo tibial compression decreases osteolysis and tumor formation in a human metastatic breast cancer model. J Bone Miner Res 2013;28:2357–67.
- [82] Alexander PG, Gottardi R, Lin H, Lozito TP, Tuan RS. Three-dimensional osteogenic and chondrogenic systems to model osteochondral physiology and degenerative joint diseases. Exp Biol Med 2014;239:1080–95.
- [83] Shi X, Zhou J, Zhao Y, Li L, Wu H. Gradient-regulated hydrogel for interface tissue engineering: steering simultaneous osteo/chondrogenesis of stem cells on a chip. Adv Healthcare Mater 2013;2:846–53.
- [84] Lin H, Lozito TP, Alexander PG, Gottardi R, Tuan RS. Stem cell-based microphysiological osteochondral system to model tissue response to interleukin-1B. Mol Pharm 2014;11:2203–12.
- [85] Hagenmüller H, et al. Non-invasive time-lapsed monitoring and quantification of engineered bone-like tissue. Ann Biomed Eng 2007;35: 1657–67.
- [86] Vetsch JR, Müller R, Hofmann S. The influence of curvature on three-dimensional mineralized matrix formation under static and perfused conditions: an in vitro bioreactor model. J R Soc Interface 2016;13:20160425.
- [87] Porter BD, Lin AS, Peister A, Hutmacher D, Guldberg RE. Noninvasive image analysis of 3D construct mineralization in a perfusion bioreactor. Biomaterials 2007;28:2525–33.
- [88] Grayson WL, et al. Effects of initial seeding density and fluid perfusion rate on formation of tissue-engineered bone. Tissue Eng Part A 2008; 14:1809–20.
- [89] Bagó JR, et al. In vivo bioluminescence imaging of cell differentiation in biomaterials: a platform for scaffold development. Tissue Eng Part A 2012;19:593–603.
- [90] Cook CA, et al. Characterization of a novel bioreactor system for 3D cellular mechanobiology studies. Biotechnol Bioeng 2016;113:1825–37.
- [91] Weyand B, et al. Noninvasive oxygen monitoring in three-dimensional tissue cultures under static and dynamic culture conditions. BioResearch Open Access 2015;4:266-77.
- [92] Kim W, Ferguson VL, Borden M, Neu CP. Application of elastography for the noninvasive assessment of biomechanics in engineered biomaterials and tissues. Ann Biomed Eng 2016;1–20.
- [93] Leferink AM, van Blitterswijk CA, Moroni L. Methods of monitoring cell fate and tissue growth in three-dimensional scaffold-based strategies for in vitro tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2016;22:265–83.
- [94] Crowe JJ, Grant SC, Logan TM, Ma T. A magnetic resonance-compatible perfusion bioreactor system for three-dimensional human mesenchymal stem cell construct development. Chem Eng Sci 2011;66:4138–47.
- [95] Ding M, Henriksen SS, Wendt D, Overgaard S. An automated perfusion bioreactor for the streamlined production of engineered osteogenic grafts. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2016;104:532-7.

This page intentionally left blank

# **46**

# Bioinks for Three-Dimensional Printing in Regenerative Medicine

Javier Navarro<sup>1,2,a</sup>, Gisele A. Calderon<sup>3,a</sup>, Jordan S. Miller<sup>3</sup>, John P. Fisher<sup>1,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>University of Maryland, College Park, MD, United States; <sup>2</sup>Center for Engineering Complex Tissues, College Park, MD, United States; <sup>3</sup>Rice University, Houston, TX, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The advent of three-dimensional printing (3DP) is revolutionizing approaches to fabricating tissue mimics for therapeutic replacement, drug discovery, and fundamental biological understanding. The potential niche for 3DP in tissue engineering is seemingly infinite, because we have at hand the ability to provide on-demand, fabricated, patient-specific designs rapidly and at a low cost. However, 3DP technology was first intended for industrial settings. The translation to tissue engineering applications is hindered by major hurdles that include technical printing issues and, more important, biocompatibility. Consequently, we are limited by the number of materials available that can satisfy both the 3DP and compatibility requirements. Here we provide a historical perspective of 3DP and summarize the different techniques, consider the important characteristic properties a bioink must have to fit bioprinting criteria, summarize bioink and biomaterial advancement used for 3D bioprinting, and discuss future directions to address current limitations for clinical impact.

Generally, printable biomaterials, or bioinks, are materials that can be used in 3DP techniques that include or will include biological features. The term "bioink" may lead to confusion because some may consider the material a bioink only if it is cell-laden or contains some matrix or matrix-mimicking component. However, we would like to expand its definition to encompass any printable material that (1) will interface with biological components (e.g., tissues, cells, proteins, growth factors) during or after the actual print, or (2) is involved in the structural construction of scaffolds that will interface with biological components.

Bioinks must comply with the 3DP technique as well as provide a biocompatible environment mimicking a desired tissue and ideally degrade controllably with no harmful by-products. Harmful by-products may not originate exclusively in degradation; they may also come from temporary bioinks that have structural roles during the printing process. Unfortunately, to satisfy these criteria, material properties work against each other and require some compromise between desired printability and satisfactory biological features. However, bioengineers have a selection of materials compatible with several different 3DP platforms. Therefore, in our discussion we will cover bioinks in the context of which printing technique is capable of printing with the described material. We will describe the diversity of available bioinks and biomaterials for 3DP under three main categories: (1) matrix or matrix-mimicking, (2) sacrificial, and (3) support [1].

# FUNDAMENTALS OF THREE-DIMENSIONAL PRINTING

3DP is an additive manufacturing technique originally applied to plastic and metal manufacturing. It has progressed to adapt to biomedical engineering applications within the past few decades. Over 3 decades ago, Charles

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> J.N. and G.A.C. contributed equally to the production of this text.

#### 806

Hull patented a new technology for rapid prototyping, called stereolithography. This described system to fabricate three-dimensional (3D) constructs uses liquid photopolymerization to build desired objects in a stepwise manner and is considered the birth of 3D bioprinting [2,3]. 3DP and bioprinting have revolutionized the ability to create objects with any shape or size on demand. The exciting promise for medicine is that we can customize patient-specific tissue scaffolds, fabricate on-demand medical devices, and reliably reproduce constructs for high-throughput screening.

The key term that defines modern bioprinting is control. Casting approaches have surface resolution defined by the mold itself and no control over the internal structure of the casted sample. Similar salt leaching or electrospinning protocols for porous structures have little to no control over the internal pore size and distribution [4]. Modern technologies allow for control deposition and building; there is control over detailed characteristics such as the location and content of material deposition. This includes microstructures to bear stress, cell encapsulation, and growth factor or other biochemical functionalization. Being able to design the bulk shape and internal microstructure fully has allowed structures to be produced that more closely resemble nature's complexity: controlled internal microstructures (pores, gradients, and layering) [5–10], microchannel and micropatterning for prevascularization [11,12], and the simultaneous deposition of different types of materials [12-14] or different cell lines [6-8,12,15]. The technology allows for control and the mechanics are there to exploit; however, the hurdle to overcome is to define the bioinks that can be adequately used with these systems. An ever-expanding list exists of 3D bioprinting technologies (and bioinks to match) that are differently suited for specific desired materials or applications. These techniques vary based not only according to the materials (e.g., affected by cross-linking mechanisms to determine biocompatibility and/or mechanical properties) but to the resolution of the architecture and the speed of fabrication. Four 3DP methods have been adapted for biomedical application: (1) extrusion-based printing, (2) particle fusionbased printing, (3) inkjet printing, and (4) stereolithography or photopolymerization methods (Fig. 46.1). Technological advances have resulted in novel methods or modifications of these four, including acoustic droplet ejection, direct-write assembly, laser-guided direct writing, and 3D powder printing [3]. Each of these approaches has advantages and limitations. However, given an identified desired application, often one or a combination of technologies proves to match the sought biomaterial and architecture. A 2016 review by the Kaplan Lab [3] summarized the evolution of bioprinting and additive manufacturing technologies.

# **Extrusion-Based Printing**

Extrusion-based printing is the most commonly employed method for 3DP, but it requires thermoplastic materials that are cell compatible only if they are printed at physiological temperatures. The technology forces a viscous ink



FIGURE 46.1 Three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting techniques: Extrusion-based printing deposits continuous filaments on a surface to build constructs layer by layer. Inkjet printing adapts inkjet cartridges to contain bioinks so that liquid droplets are formed on a surface that can quickly solidify. Selective laser sintering uses a laser to melt powder particles together to sinter a 3D object within the powder bed. Finally, projection stereolithography uses photosensitive liquid material that can be cross-linked with light exposure with controllable photomasks. *Reprinted with permission from Miller JS, Burdick JA. Editorial: special issue on 3D printing of biomaterials. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1658–61. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.* 

through a nozzle that can solidify once deposited onto a build platform. The extruded material is deposited to form individual lines in a predefined path as dictated by a generated computer model to form a 3D object in a layer-bylayer fashion. Typically, each different ink is extruded out of the nozzle at a specific temperature and pressure so that the material can flow through the nozzle (e.g., polycaprolactone PCL] will extrude at 80°C and a pneumatic pressure of 400 kPa, whereas alginate can be deposited at 20°C [7]). Materials that are most commonly used for this technique possess a sharp solid-to-melt transition such that the material can flow and rapidly solidify once passed through the nozzle. Progress has been made in developing thermoplastics that extrude at lower, more physiological temperatures and pressures by exploiting shear thinning properties (i.e., PCL) [17]. Other approaches include using materials that can be extruded at lower temperatures or do not rely on thermal setting but require additional cross-linking mechanisms such as ionic bonding [18], pH alteration [19], or UV photopolymerization, among others. The inclusion of cells, however, can ultimately affect several aspects of the resulting print. Not only do materials need to be able to flow through the nozzle at low temperature, parameters such as high extrusion forces and narrow nozzle diameters, which usually improve the print's resolution for synthetics at high temperatures, affect cell viability. Decreasing the pressure and/or increasing the nozzle diameter may improve cell viability by reducing the cells' experienced shear stress but at the cost of potential nozzle clogging and print resolution. In addition, this technique has difficulty printing overhanging structures without supporting filler structures. The printed filaments can sag or even collapse without underlying support. Although some groups used extrusion printing with PCL or poly(propylene fumarate) (PPF) to create highly controlled porous scaffolds [20–22], others generated structures as a sacrificial template with similar extrusion-based methods to pattern architectures precisely that can be better-suited for some of the biocompatibility issues with this 3DP technique [11,23]. Overall, extrusion-based printing has been applied to many tissue engineering applications and is most widely available.

### Selective Laser Sintering

Another printing technique, particle fusion printing methods such as selective laser sintering (SLS), uses a directed laser to raise the temperature of a powder material beyond its melting temperature to fuse or sinter the particles locally. The laser fuses each patterned layer in a repeated process to create 3D structures [24]. The construct's resolution is limited only by the laser resolution and the powder size. This technique has had its most successful applications to bone tissue engineering by sintering composite materials. Examples include ceramics, PCL, and hydroxyapatite [25–28]. Although the tissue engineering field has seen promise with this technique, the printed objects are difficult to incorporate with living cells and instead use a two-step process of first building the volume followed by adding cells. Moreover, there is difficulty in controlling porosity, which can affect the longevity of the biomedical application [3]. However, a major benefit is the technique's capacity to be self-supportive of complex printed structures, as the powder bed enables the printing of overhanging geometries. In addition, similar to extrusion-based printing approaches, groups use the technique of SLS additively [28] and sacrificially [29].

# Inkjet Bioprinting

Inkjet bioprinting is considered the cheapest bioprinting technique. It was patented as one of the first strategies for cell printing [30,31]. Originally, inkjet bioprinters were created by replacing traditional 2D ink-based printers' cartridges with biological solutions. Instead of paper used as the recipient of the ink, a moveable stage added a third dimension to build a construct layer by layer [32,33]. Inkjet bioprinters can deposit picoliter droplets with positional accuracy less than 30 µm, allowing high-precision control in positioning different materials and cells into specific microenvironments [34]. To deposit liquid onto a substrate, some inkjet printers electrically heat the print head to a range between 200°C and 300°C. The high heat raises concerns regarding the viability and function of the cells after printing. Still, some studies using this technique show viability for mammalian cells and attribute survival to the short duration of the high-temperature exposure [35,36]. In inkjet printing, a liquid droplet is solidified after deposition onto a substrate, a process that must occur quickly to control the spatial resolution of the printed volume. Important material properties of the ink are the viscosity and the surface tension to determine the final shape, size, resolution, and accuracy of the print. Therefore, an important mechanism to consider to improve the final print is the cross-linkability of the bioink. Effective methods for this application are chemical, pH, or UV cross-linking [37,38]. There is a delicate balance of cross-linking the deposited droplets for rapid structural organization and to limit toxicity introduced to the cells. The chemical modification to achieve the desired cross-linking capability can decrease cell viability and affect the chemical and mechanical properties of the material. These changes can alter

the biomimicry that was relevant before modification [39]. In addition, inkjet printing uses a nozzle head to deposit the bioinks and therefore is limited by the possibility of clogging. Bioinks for inkjet printing should have low viscosities (below 10 cP) because the necessary pressures or heat that would eject higher viscosities would negatively affect cell viability [40].

# Stereolithography

The last 3D printing technique to be discussed, stereolithography, brings us to the origins of 3D bioprinting. Stereolithography-based printing uses light as a tool to solidify liquid materials in a photochemical reaction. With a laser often used as the light source, a projection of light is shown onto the liquid material in a specific pattern to solidify the exposed region [41,42]. Using a light source, photosensitive material, and a controlled axis stage, one can print complex 3D structures. Because stereolithography depends on photosensitive material to print constructs, a limited number of biomaterials can be used. Common materials for this application are poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA)-based materials and gelatin methacrylate (gelMA). Acrylation modification to PEG and gelatin render the material photosensitive for printing [43,44]. Combinations of already self-assembling proteins, such as keratin or decellularized extracellular matrix (ECM), with photoinitiators have allowed the cross-linking of soft hydrogels [45]. This method has the advantage of excellent structural integrity because no artificial interfaces result from droplets (inkjet printing) or lines (extrusion printing). Also, the electromagnetic spectrum and its multiple energy wavelengths allow for a broad range of chemistry alterations; various wavelength lasers, UV sources, and the visible light spectrum are common energy sources used in this technique. The use of light with all available intensities and wavelengths results in very fast and precise builds. Resolution of this technique ranges from 25 to 200  $\mu$ m for commercially available printers [3,45] down to ~10  $\mu$ m for two-photon polymerization setups [46]. However, because the material must be photosensitive, many biomaterials cannot be used or they must be chemically modified for photopolymerization [45,47]. A photopolymerizable material such as PEGDA is not in itself good for cell viability. Additional surface modifications are necessary to allow for cell attachment and material degradation by incorporating peptide sequences [48]. In addition, resolution is determined mostly by the laser spot size and therefore has high 3D resolution, but the prints often are warped because the mechanical properties are typically weak [3].

Overall, 3D bioprinting techniques vary in approach and can result in a wide array of medical applications from tissue repair to modeling disease. There has been tremendous progress in the development of the technique as well as the biomaterials synthesized to expand the palette of available 3DP bioinks. 3D bioprinting has exciting translational potential to produce implantable structures for regenerative medicine and high-throughput, reproducible drug screening. However, to realize this medical impact, researchers must continue to explore the architecture, the biocompatible yet printable materials, and the inclusion of proliferating and differentiating cells for fabricated living tissues to reach a desirable function.

#### BIOINKS

3D bioprinting may offer the potential to fabricate physiological tissue mimics; however, progress toward therapeutic application relies heavily on its integration with bioinks. Therefore, the development of biocompatible yet printable bioinks requires tremendous consideration to match physical and functional aspects of the desired tissue closely. Because 3DP technologies originally were designed for nonbiological applications, some of the materials used as inks for printing, such as thermoplastic polymers, ceramics, and metals, cannot translate to supporting living cells. Hence, one of the greatest challenges of the field is to find materials that are both biocompatible and printable.

As defined previously, printable biomaterials, or bioinks, encompass any printable material that (1) will interface with biological components during or after the actual print, or (2) is involved in the structural construction of scaffolds that will interface with biological components. The key difference between bioinks and other printable inks is cytocompatibility; bioinks cannot be toxic or produce any toxic by-products that could be detrimental to living cells, to the physiological function of the printed tissue, or to surrounding or down-stream native tissues.

Generally, materials used in the field of regenerative medicine are divided between natural and synthetic materials. Natural materials have all of the advantages of being physiological and inherently bioactive. However, natural materials lack tunability, batch-to-batch consistency, and often the physical properties necessary for printing. On the

	Material	Extrusion	Stereolithography	Inkjet	Sintering
Natural	Fibrin	[23,51]		[52,53]	
	Collagen	[23,54,55]	Multiphoton cross-linking [9]	[53,56]	
	Alginate	[6,7,14,18,23,57-60]		[61]	
	Hyaluronic acid (HA)	[62], Thiolated HA plus thiolated gelatin [63]	Acrylated HA [3]		
	Gelatin	[58,62,64,65]		[66]	
	Keratin		[45]		
	Agarose	[67]			
	Hydroxyapatite	[68]			[3,26]
	Carbohydrate glass	[11]			
Modified natural (semisynthetic)	Gelatin methacrylate	[69], Hybrid with gellan gum [70]	[44,57,71,72]	[73]	
	Methacrylated HA	[50]		[73,74]	
Synthetic	Poly(ε-caprolactone)	[7,20,21,75,76], Hybrid with starch [14,77], co-printed with polyurethane [60], hybrid with hydroxyapatite [78]			[27,29]
	Poly(glycolic acid)	[79], Hybrid with hydroxyapatite [78]			
	Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) or PEG-diacrylate	[80], PEG with reactive ends hybrid with multiple proteins [81]	[3,67,82-84]	[85]	
	Pluronic F127	[12,86]			
	Poly(propylene fumarate)	[22]	[10,87,88]		
	Poly(vinyl alcohol)	[89,90]	[3]		

TABLE 46.1 Bioink Materials Compatible With Associated Printing Techniques

other hand, synthetic materials benefit from a high degree of tailoring to specific physical property needs with inherent consistency to meet the printing technique's criteria. Still, synthetic materials often fail to match the biocompatibility of natural materials, and sometimes lead to toxic degradation products or the lack of cell-binding sites. Some groups have compromised the divided material set by synthesizing a semisynthetic class of materials such as gelMA or methacrylated hyaluronic acid [49,50]. Of our palette of biomaterials, only a subset is also suitable for bioprinting (Table 46.1).

For a bioink to be biocompatible as well as printable, the material must have the capacity to be accurately and precisely deposited with spatial and temporal control. Each bioprinting technique may require a different subset of material properties. For example, inkjet printing requires bioinks to possess low viscosity to avoid nozzle clogging; extrusion printing benefits from shear thinning properties to fluidize through the nozzle and quickly solidify once deposited; SLS must be able to become a fine powder and have an attainable melting temperature; and stereo-lithography requires photosensitive bioinks. These material properties to promote printability often come at the cost of compromising biocompatibility. As an example, a photosensitive material that cross-links in the presence of a photoinitiator that can be highly cytotoxic. Therefore, available bioinks are chosen to meet the demands of the particular printing process, but also for its ability to shield encapsulated cells from a possibly harmful printing process.

The requirements for printing depend on a variety of properties, including rheological behavior, the gelation process, or available biological interactions. From a rheology perspective, only specific ranges of viscosities match well with either inkjet or extrusion printing, but shear thinning is an example of a rheological property ideally suited for extrusion. The gelation process, or cross-linking, can greatly influence the geometric integrity of the print. Gelation can occur through ionic, thermal, enzymatic, or photocross-linking mechanisms; these ultimately dictate the printing technique with which the bioink is compatible. Biological interactions might need to be enhanced, especially for synthetic materials, by incorporating cell binding motifs or inclusion of an additional natural material.

#### 46. BIOINKS FOR 3D PRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



FIGURE 46.2 Bioink categories (*from left to right*): A desired final geometry volume can be fabricated with three different bioink approaches to result in the ultimate final print. The print setup shows how different bioinks would be incorporated during the print fabrication.

We categorize the available bioinks into three categories: (1) matrix or matrix-mimicking, (2) sacrificial, and (3) support [1]. As seen in Table 46.1, the same bioink can fall into several bioprinting strategies even if the bioink is used in a different way. Each category requires specific workflows, but they are ultimately brought together in the printing process, as illustrated in Fig. 46.2.

# Matrix or Matrix-Mimicking Bioinks

Matrix or matrix-mimicking bioinks are printed and remain part of the scaffold system. A scaffold can be printed and consist of the matrix bioink material only (acellular scaffold), the matrix material with its surface chemically altered during or after the printing process (functionalized acellular scaffold), or the matrix printed with a loaded cell population (cell-laden scaffold). In all cases, the matrix bioink is the material that provides the mechanical structure to which cells adhere, and which will then be used to enhance cellular communication, proliferation, migration, and differentiation, and ultimately determine the function of the system.

As a structural element in a biological environment, there is a delicate balance between achieving the rheological and mechanical properties needed to print a self-supporting structure and the eventual effects that the material may have on the biological development of the cellular component. This balance is specific to the properties and function ultimately desired for the printed sample, anything ranging from soft and porous hydrogels for the in vitro culture and assessment of cells [65,81,91] to very strong and durable scaffolds for in vivo bone regeneration [10,76,92,93]. The desired mechanical and biological properties of the matrices are nevertheless restricted by the capacities of the 3DP technologies and the bioinks associated with each method. As has been reiterated in the literature, synthetic materials can be engineered to provide strong scaffolds with tunable mechanical and chemical properties [76]. Nevertheless, these materials have been traditionally associated with low biocompatibility [91], complex and demanding manufacturing processes (high temperatures, high pressures, strong solvents, etc.) [34,94], very low degradation rates [76,77], and, in some cases, cytotoxicity or harmful by-products [94]. On the other hand, natural materials inherently provide the adequate biological cues that cells need for proper development. The perfect combinations of amino acid sequences, protein ratios, growth factors, and cytokines are found in natural materials from fauna (ECM combinations, collagen, elastin, fibrin, keratin, hyaluronic acid [HA], chitosan, etc.) and flora (alginate, agarose, agar, silk, etc.) [3,91,95,96]. However, natural materials are also associated with weaker mechanical

properties and high batch-to-batch variability [7,46]. Natural variability is unavoidable and perfectly defined manufacturing protocols for natural materials are virtually impossible. Thus, truly tunable properties are difficult to predict and the reason why results in studies using ECM usually differ in a case-to-case scenario. As will be discussed in the next sections, synthetic and natural materials cannot be defined by positive and negative characteristics; researchers have been working on mitigating the weaknesses of both, either by biochemically altering the individual materials or by implementing synthetic—natural hybrids or combined prints that use the strengths of each.

#### Synthetic Materials

As mentioned, 3D bioprinting is an adapted technology; the original patent filed by Hull in 1986 [2] proposed using the stereolithographic method to optimize prototype manufacturing of plastic parts for industrial applications. Since then, the processes have evolved and revolutionized the industry and have bled into many other manufacturing applications including bioengineering, regenerative medicine, and tissue engineering. The original Hull patent was intended for synthetic materials, named "U- curable materials," which could be processed as a "fluid medium capable of solidification in response to prescribed stimulation" [2]. This definition is technologically viable today and could be applicable to most modern bioprinting methodologies, even if the solidification is not via UV cross-linking. The materials have greatly evolved and new ones have arisen, allowing researchers to incorporate synthetic materials and printing technologies into biomedical and tissue engineering.

The greatest strength of synthetics is that the manufacturing processes are well-known and can be engineered to specific mechanical and biochemical properties [91,94]. Polymer engineering allows control over molecular weights and distributions, as well as cross-linking densities, which can be tailored to control mechanical properties such as yield stress and strain, ultimate stress and strain, and elastic modulus [94]. This tailoring can occur as part of the polymer synthesis process, but it can be further modified in the printing or postprinting processes with curing or cross-linking steps. In the end, robust mechanical properties can be used to sustain high loads or adequately respond to elastic deformation, which is ideal for the structural scaffolding components of biological constructs. The synthesis of tunable mechanical properties also means that synthetic materials can be used in multiple 3DP techniques (Table 46.1) and result in constructs with consistent macroscopic and microscopic definition. The pore distribution in a biological scaffold is an important parameter that will define the presence or absence of vascularization for oxygen, nutrient, and metabolic waste transport in tissue regeneration [93]. The superior print resolution and fidelity of synthetics have been widely explored to produce complex morphologies that may be applied as biomimicking scaffolds in regenerative medicine (Fig. 46.3) or as structural supports in co-printing applications, a concept that will be further detailed in following sections.

In theory, just as the synthetic print resins can be modified to facilitate the manufacturing processes, surface modifications can be implemented to allow better interactions with biologic components. However, the manufacturing and modification processes and variables are usually demanding and work in narrow ranges to achieve specific properties. Often, printing techniques will involve high temperatures, toxic organic solvents, or cross-linking agents, which renders them incompatible with living cells and biological materials such as growth factors and proteins that aid cellular function and survival [94]. Synthetic materials generally do not support cell adhesion without additional surface functionalization for adhesion ligands such as arginine-glycine-aspartic acid, which is widely identified as a binding motif for proteins such as fibronectin, osteopontin, and fibrinogen [45,91,94]. Even with consistent morphology control and compatibility with surface modification strategies, synthetic polymers do not innately mimic ECM, which remains its weakest characteristic for the clinical translation of synthetic bioprinted scaffolds [3]. Still, synthetic materials that are commonly used in bioprinting applications include poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) and PEGDA, PCL, poly(D,L-lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA), poly(L-lactic acid) (PLA), and PPF, among others.

PEG has long been used as a coating on medical devices to control host-immune responses or alter degradation rates in vivo [94]. Furthermore, PEG is commercially available in many physical (linear, branched, molecular weight variation) and chemical variants (diacrylated variant PEGDA) and is approved by the US Food and Drug Administration as a biocompatible material, which makes it a versatile polymer for bioengineering [81]. Here, biocompatibility, a broad term, means the material does not kill cells or induce an aggressive immune reaction, but it does not necessarily mean that it induces cell adhesion or proliferation. As for other synthetic materials, PEG lacks attachment sites that cells need to adhere to a substrate. PEG requires chemical immobilization of binding motifs to support cell adherence and stem cell differentiation [3,94]. These characteristics usually result in PEG being used as a secondary plasticizer component in bioinks: even more so, PEG is often modified with acrylate groups to create photopolymerizable PEGDA, a variation that is commonly used with extrusion or stereolithography approaches, and can be easily coupled with natural biomolecules for cell-laden bioinks [3,81].



**FIGURE 46.3 Synthetic materials in bioprinting applications:** (A) Morphology of bioprinted starch- poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) (PCL) scaffolds, including tubular scaffolds made by rapid prototyping and fiber-bonded scaffolds [77]. (B) Variations of three-dimensional (3D) printing (3DP) poly(propylene fumarate) (PPF) assessing scaffold and pore geometry to study the effects of pore geometry on cell viability and differentiation [10]. (C) Design and fabrication process of a 3DP PPF graft to treat a coarctation of the aorta [88]. *CAD*, computer-aided design; *MRI*, magnetic resonance imaging;  $\mu$ CT, microcomputed tomography.

PCL is synthesized by ring-opening polymerization of  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone [77]. PCL is a high-molecular weight semicrystalline polymer that has good solubility, a low melting point, thermoplastic behavior, and an extended hydrolysis-induced degradation profile in vivo. This polymer is stable in the body for over 6 months [97]; then it exhibits nonenzymatic hydrolysis degradation of 2–4 years (depending on the molecular weight) at physiological pH and temperature, leaving no cytotoxic by-products [76,77,96]. Extended degradation is ideal for providing long-term load-bearing support during healing and regeneration processes [7]. PCL has a melting point close to 60°C, a relatively low temperature in the manufacturing industry, which allows easy processing [77,94,96]. Upon heating, PCL has viscoelastic properties ideal for the extrusion printing of constructs with elastic mechanical behavior, a characteristic that improves the brittle properties of polymers such as PLA and polyurethanes [97]. The Hutmacher group printed cylindrical scaffolds of medical-grade PCL-tricalcium phosphate by fused deposition modeling that required added growth factors to increase the osteogenic potential of seeded mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) [76]. The growth factor-coated PCL scaffolds successfully completed up to 12 months of unrestricted load bearing in vivo within large tibial defects in sheep [76]. The use of additional osteogenic growth factors indicates the biochemical limitations of PCL; other than the hydrophobic nonspecific binding of cells, PCL lacks binding motifs that provide specific binding sites for cells [94]. Combination with natural materials or other functionalized materials is the usual approach to address this limitation. The Atala group, for example, concurrently prints PCL with hydrogels based on gelatin, HA, or fibrin; the hydrogels provide the biochemical cues for cellular adhesion and viability [94]. Starch, a natural polysaccharide, has also been widely used to improve the biocompatibility of PCL [77]. PCL-starch prints can enhance and stimulate osteoblast proliferation for bone regeneration, support hippocampal neurons and glial cells to treat spinal cord injury, or support bovine articular chondrocyte adhesion and proliferation, and glycosaminoglycans for cartilage tissue engineering [77].

PLA is a well-known established aliphatic polymer used in temperature-based extrusion methods [96,97]. It has a melting temperature close to 175°C, so it can be extruded in melt-based systems between 200°C and 230°C [97]. However, PLA glass transition occurs around 60°C and easily interacts with many plasticizers and solvents to change viscosity, a characteristic that allows printing at lower temperatures [96]. The resulting mechanical properties are usually high, with an elastic modulus around 1.5–2.7 GPa, but it tends to be brittle [96,97]. PLA is commonly used in orthopedic implants and drug delivery systems owing to its biocompatibility and biodegradability [96,97]. Nevertheless, its degradation is via the hydrolysis of ester bonds, which releases acidic by-products; in vivo, this may cause the localized decrease of pH through the release of lactic acid, inflammation, and cell death [97].

PLGA is the copolymer of lactide and glycolide, obtained via ring-opening polymerization, synthesized to address individual limitations and uncontrolled degradation of PLA and poly(glycolic acid) (PGA) [96]. Popular polymerization of D- and L-configurations of lactide yield the PLGA variation, which is frequently used owing to its improved toughness and easy manipulation of hydrolysis-driven degradation rates [96]. The Shah group synthesized "hyperelastic bone," a particle—laden 3D bioink that combines hydroxyapatite, a highly bioactive ceramic, and either PCL or PLGA [78]. The extrusion-printed structures exhibited mechanical and physical properties that allow further manipulation (sheets that can be rolled, folded, or cut). The hybrid with PCL showed highly elastic properties capable of reaching a  $61.2\% \pm 6.4\%$  strain and a tensile elastic modulus of  $10.3 \pm 1.3$  MPa, a behavior superior to that of the PLGA combination ( $36.1\% \pm 4.3\%$  strain and  $4.3 \pm 0.4$  MPa elastic modulus). In terms of cell interaction, the PLGA combination showed better results; both the hydroxyapatite—PLGA and hydroxyapatite—PCL scaffolds supported human MSC adhesion and proliferation and induced osteogenic differentiation in the absence of engineered growth factors after 28 days [78].

PPF is a biodegradable polymer broadly applied in tissue engineering owing to its ability to form cross-linked networks through its carbon–carbon double bond [10,22]. The Mikos [22] and Fisher [10,88] groups extensively studied PPF and its cross-linking capabilities for 3DP and tissue engineering. Because it is biocompatible and can be photocross-linked, PPF is a prime candidate for 3DP via stereolithography [22,88], but it can also be as a viscous bioink for extrusion and cured using a UV source [22]. In the first case, the printing process is driven by the intensity of the light source and the proportions of photoinitiator and photoinhibitor in the bioink, but the resulting mechanical properties of the constructs heavily depend on the amount of printing or postprinting exposure to UV, which determines the polymer cross-linking density [10,88]. In the case of extrusion, PPF resins exhibit shear thinning behavior and the concentration of PPF drives the viscosity level. Other factors such as fiber spacing during deposition and pressure affect the pore size and fiber diameter, respectively, but interplay among the factors can also alter scaffold architecture [22]. Melchiorri et al. reported that human umbilical vein endothelial cells and human umbilical vein smooth muscle cells were seeded on stereolithography-printed PPF surfaces and proliferated in a 7-day study [88]. Similarly, MSCs were cultured on PPF scaffolds over 7 days and exhibited levels of metabolic activity that were not statistically different from cells cultured on standard tissue culture polystyrene [10]. In vivo, using 3DP PPF grafts to treat a coarctation of the aorta in mice for 6 months, printed PPF experienced a  $40.76\% \pm 8.37\%$  decrease in mass, and full endothelialization of the inner lumen on the grafts was observed even without preceding cellseeding or surface modifications [88].

#### **Natural Materials**

Based on the definition earlier proposed, bioinks will interact with biological components (e.g., tissues, cells, proteins, growth factors) during or after the actual print or will serve as structural components during the printing of scaffolds that will interface with biological components. Without considering the specifics of in vivo or in vitro applications, there is an imminent interaction between cells and tissues with the bioink or its by-products. Natural materials are taken from animal or plant sources; these are materials that naturally developed to sustain cellular life cycles, nutrient and waste transport, and healing processes. They are composed of the perfect combinations of amino acid sequences, protein ratios, growth factors, and cytokines, thus intrinsically providing safe and nurturing interactions with cells. The composition provides the proper biochemical environment for cells to adhere or feel attracted to, subsequently allowing individual cells the healthy completion of the cell cycle and then induce cellular proliferation, migration, and differentiation. This is the basic definition of cytocompatibility, and natural materials provide a high intrinsic level of it [3,91,94]. Just as important, the composition and biochemistry of a natural material are designed to be degraded by physiologically viable processes through natural enzymatic and chemical processes, and to be discarded by natural metabolic activity, leaving behind no significantly harmful by-products [91]. Bioinks from these materials can be further biochemically enhanced by encapsulating tissue-specific growth factors, genes, and other controlled-release chemical-regulation factors. Similarly, the surfaces of printed hydrogels can be functionalized by adding the same biochemical factors with both approaches, aiming to recreate environments more like those of in vivo tissues [78,91,94,95]. The balance between cytocompatibility and degradation means that these materials naturally go through the proper cycles and rates needed to induce healthy integration with host tissue [3].

Natural materials can be used as isolated, purified proteins (e.g., collagen, fibrin, keratin, or elastin) or as the natural protein combinations already present in the ECM, combinations that are specific to each type of tissue and determine the type of cells present, the bulk mechanical properties, and its function. Methods to obtain and alter natural materials in laboratory mainly consist of enzymatic cleaving, ionic interactions, and variations in temperature and pH [3]. These methods are used to cross-link the bioinks via multiple 3DP techniques (Table 46.1) and produce hydrogels with theoretically fine-tuned biochemical and mechanical properties. As it will be discussed further (see Cell-Laden Bioinks section), encapsulated cells or those that later migrate into the printed scaffolds are greatly affected by the mechanical cues imparted by the surrounding material. Cellular adhesion, morphology, migration, and especially differentiation, have been widely proven to be affected by the stiffness of the substrate [70,94]. In general, 3DP natural materials result in weak hydrogels difficult to manipulate into specific ranges of physical properties; they are limited by the inefficient or low-energy cross-links achieved by the traditional methods mentioned [94]. Weak mechanical properties have been used as an advantage when attempting to model or regenerate soft tissues or substrate for cell culture, but they are a severe disadvantage when the applications relate to load-bearing hard (e.g., bone, cartilage) or elastic tissue (e.g., muscle, skin, vascular and gastrointestinal tissues, ligaments, tendons). This major weakness has led to combinations with strong and elastic synthetic materials by co-printing or as hybrids, as will be detailed later (see Co-printing and Hybrid Bioinks section).

The intrinsic biocompatibility of natural materials is the main reason why these have been used to formulate bioinks for use in a wide range of in vitro and in vivo bioengineering and regenerative medicine applications (Fig. 46.4). The most popular materials are generally proteins from mammalian origin such as collagen, gelatin and gelMA, fibrin, HA, elastin, and keratin; similarly, popular polysaccharides from plant sources include alginate, starch, agarose, and silk, among others.



**FIGURE 46.4** Natural materials in bioprinting applications: (A) Examples of plotted gelatin methacrylate–gellan structures after UV curing: (*clockwise*) solid pyramid, solid hemisphere, porous hollow cylinder, and 30% porous hemisphere (5-mm scale bars) [70]. (B) Examples of decellularized extracellular matrix (dECM) printing in combinations with polycaprolactone (PCL) framework, including heart dECM (hdECM), cartilage dECM (cdECM), and adipose dECM (adECM) (scale bar = 5 mm). Also, scanning electron microscopy of PCL tissue constructs with adipose-derived dECM bioink (scale bar = 400 mm) [100].

Collagen, particularly type I collagen, is the most abundant ECM protein in tissues [9,94,98]. The most common types of collagen are the fibril-forming collagens (e.g., type I, II, III, V, and XI); they are the main component in the ECM of tissues such as bone, tendon, ligament, skin, muscle, or cornea [9,98]. Because of its natural abundance in all types of tissues, collagen has variations that interact with most types of cells and it performs a wide range of mechanical roles in soft, elastic, or hard tissues. For this reason, collagen is arguably the material that most researchers have tried to adapt for bioengineering applications and has been reported as the most commonly used for cell and tissue culture [94]. It has been used in 3DP techniques such as extrusion [23,55], stereolithography [9], and inkjet [51], mostly employing variations of pH-triggered or temperature-triggered gelation [98] that range from hours to minutes [91]. Cross-linking of collagen by altering pH using solubilized sodium bicarbonate solution has been used to construct multilayered cell-hydrogel composites. This method provided a novel approach to printing both fibroblasts and keratinocytes in a single experiment to model dermal—epidermal-like distinctive layers in a 3D hydrogel [15]. Natural material hydrogels have typically been reported to have subpar printing resolution compared with synthetics. Nevertheless, Bell et al. reported printing line widths of about 1 µm using multiphoton cross-linking of type I collagen with a flavin mononucleotide photosensitizer, which confers structural control at a microscale level [9]. Collagen has also been widely used in combinations with other natural and synthetic materials, principally bringing strong biocompatibility to the mixture [13,91,99].

Gelatin is the denatured form of collagen that has undergone partial hydrolysis [9,94]. As collagen, gelatin is characterized by its wide availability, biocompatibility, predictable enzymatic degradation, nontoxic by-products, and inherent cell binding motifs [70]. It has been involved in engineering soft and hard tissues ranging from liver to bone, either by itself or as part as hybrids such as gelatin—alginate, gelatin—fibrin, and gelatin—HA [95,100]. Gelatin is widely regarded as the easiest protein to print, mainly because of thermally responsive behavior that allows extrusion at temperatures below 20°C and hydrophobic cross-linking [64,94]. However, the melting temperature of gelatin (30–35°C) is below physiological temperature, which severely limits its clinical application in vivo [95]. Even with the high resolution obtained by extrusion-based printing [70], gelatin hydrogels are usually soft and limited by temperature, which requires further cross-linking either by postprinting approaches (e.g., using glutaraldehyde or thrombin [95]) or by adding functional groups [94]. Like the acrylate modification on PEG that produces the versatile PEGDA, methacrylamide photoinitiator groups can be used on gelatin to obtain gelMA to produce a photocrosslinkable resin. This modification enables irreversible cross-linking, generally by UV irradiation, that preserves printed architectures under physiological conditions [70]. UV exposure time and gelMA concentration regulate printability, whereas the degree of methacrylation determines the mechanical properties and additional acetylation can be used to influence the rheological properties of the bioink further [70,96].

Fibrin is a glycoprotein composed of fibrinogen monomers; it is synthesized in the liver by hepatocytes. In the body, it has important roles in blood clotting and wound healing [94]. The clotting pathway has been replicated as a cross-linking method for 3DP; thrombin is used to polymerize fibrinogen rapidly into cross-linked fibrin [12,94]. As a glue-like gel, fibrin has been used clinically as surgical hemostatic agents and sealants [94]. Enzymatically quick cross-linking rates have been exploited with extrusion and inkjet-based printing [51,52,94], but the mechanical properties of the constructs have been paradoxically described as both robust [94] and weak regardless of the concentration of the reagents [46]. Fibrin-based hybrids materials with natural or synthetic components are usually reported to fine-tune mechanical properties depending on the application, including cross-linking with PEG and adding PGA fibers, PLGA, hydroxyapatite, or demineralized bone matrix [46].

Alginate is a natural polysaccharide derived from algae or seaweed. Sodium alginate is generally cross-linked in calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) aqueous solution, via an ion exchange reaction between sodium and calcium [3,101]. This chemically efficient reaction results in biocompatible, low—polymer density, high—water content hydrogels [3]. Traditionally, cell encapsulation in calcium alginate hydrogels was the main application of alginate in tissue engineering and bioengineering models, despite the controversial effects of CaCl<sub>2</sub>, the cross-linking reagent, as well as sodium citrate and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), commonly used chelators, on cell viability [94]. This ionic cross-linking approach has been implemented in bioprinting. It works particularly well in extrusion-based systems that extrude alginate resin into CaCl<sub>2</sub> reservoirs [6,7,14,18,60]. Cells can be suspended in a solution of sodium alginate in cell-specific culture medium, after which cross-linking is induced by incubation in CaCl<sub>2</sub> and results in a hydrogel construct laden with cells. This approach has been successful in bioprinting, such as in human cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cells (hCMPCs) for an in vitro committed cardiac tissue [18]; heterogeneous scaffolds with MSCs and chondrocytes (in alginate with osteogenic or chondrogenic differentiation medium, respectively) for osteochondral tissue engineering [6]; or encapsulated HepG2 liver cells printed directly on a poly-dimethylsiloxane chamber for a microfluidic pharmacokinetic liver model [101]. Nevertheless, Carrow et al. stated that there were major challenges for bioprinting alginate: (1) the difficulty of controlling the ionically driven process,

which results in unpredictable microstructures; and (2) the high solubility of alginate, which was a disadvantage when printing thick structures by extruding directly into CaCl<sub>2</sub> aqueous solutions [96].

Hyaluronic acid (HA), also called hyaluronan, is a hydrophilic nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan present in the ECM of tissues [94]. The Atala group has regularly used HA in bioprinting processes by adding photocross-linkable methacrylate groups that can undergo free radical polymerization when irradiated with UV light. This modification allows soft hydrogels to be printed via stereolithography or extruded with additional postprinting UV curing [62,63,94]. Although not mechanically robust on their own, HA hydrogels have served in cutaneous and corneal wound healing, prototype vessel structure bioprinting, tumor modeling, and 3DP of cell-laden structures [94].

Other lesser-used natural materials for bioprinting include proteins and polysaccharides such as elastin [98], keratin [45], starch [77], and agarose [3,91]. Despite the success of using isolated natural polymers, there has been growing interest in using the innate combination of proteins in the ECM. The ECM allows structural support and anchoring to cells and also provides a substrate for transport and communication, ultimately affecting the survival and differentiation of cells. Cell–ECM interactions are extremely complex and cannot be fully and precisely replicated in vitro or engineered from isolated proteins. Several groups have presented decellularized ECM (dECM) bioinks derived from adipose, cartilage, heart, bone, or skin tissues. The combination of proteins in the ECM can be understood as a hybrid of multiple natural materials; therefore, available cross-linking methods and bioprinting approaches have been successful in producing 3D dECM scaffolds. Pati et al. developed dECM bioinks that can be extruded as filaments; printed scaffolds can then undergo gelation at physiological temperatures, remaining in the solution below 15°C and cross-linking by incubation at 37°C [100].

#### **Co-printing and Hybrid Bioinks**

Approaches attempting to print synthetic and natural materials individually have produced scaffolds with mechanical and biochemical properties that affect cells and tissues differently, and thus can be used in different types of in vitro and in vivo applications. A common generalization in the field is that synthetics are used for their strong, finely tunable mechanical properties; nevertheless, it has been proven that they can provide tunable degradation rates, functionalization capabilities, and various degrees of biocompatibility and print resolution. On the other hand, natural polymers have proven to be highly compatible with a wide variety of cells and biological components, mostly owing to their inherent composition and function. As with synthetics, it is hard to generalize the negative characteristics of natural bioinks, but the properties (mechanical or biochemical) are rarely fine-tunable and usually are presented as ranges and wide error margins commonly associated with batch-to-batch variability. Overall, natural material properties, printing quality, and in vitro or in vivo behavior can be described as unpredictable and difficult to replicate. Combining both types of materials has been an increasingly popular hypothesis that relies on the positive properties of each. In theory, synthetic materials provide structural integrity and printing definition, whereas natural polymers can be used to incorporate cells and other biological components [95,97,100]. Two broad categories for combining synthetics and natural materials as bioinks for 3DP applications are (1) co-printing, the individual but parallel printing of natural and synthetic resins; and (2) hybrid bioinks, in which the resin is a uniform solution of both materials printed as a single construct.

Co-printing approaches rely on printing synthetic scaffold structures with robust mechanical properties onto which natural hydrogels can be printed. This addresses the common limitation of natural materials, the inability to maintain uniform 3D structures in vivo (e.g., to allow tissue load bearing or provide a specific porosity or microstructural pattern) or in vitro (e.g., to be handled robustly in bioreactors, or as cell substrates), by integrating a synthetic scaffolding [14].

The main challenge is that co-printing relies on technologies that dispense more than one material during the printing process, sometimes with radically different deposition necessities and cross-linking mechanisms, as illustrated in Fig. 46.5. In extrusion-based systems, for example, the rheology of the materials is the driving principle, and variables such as viscosity, flow rate, temperature, and pressure determine the extruded line width, fabrication time, or print resolution [7]. Shim et al. used a multihead tissue—organ building system possessing six dispensing heads to dispense thermoplastic PCL and alginate hydrogel individually in the same structure, to produce constructs containing two different cell types for osteochondral tissue regeneration [7]. As they reported, the viscosity of alginate solution was about 10 Pa s and needed low driving forces but high force control to achieve high resolution; on the other hand, viscosity for PCL ranged from 1020 to 2560 Pa s at  $80-120^{\circ}$ C (a temperature high enough to damage cells) which required high driving forces to extrude [7]. The same PCL—alginate approach was reported using a multihead deposition system, they printed PCL and chondrocyte-laden alginate with and without transforming growth factor  $\beta$  [14]. Here, PCL was extruded at 80 mm/min at  $80^{\circ}$ C using a 650-kPa pneumatic pressure. Sodium alginate was deposited at room temperature between lines of PCL at 400 mm/min, and then cross-linked in sodium chloride



FIGURE 46.5 Co-printed systems with synthetic and natural bioinks: (A) Synthetic and natural materials are deposited using independent cartridges and print heads. The different properties of each material can be exploited to print them separately and sequentially, but it is necessary to consider force and temperature shocks that may alter one material when the other is printed in contact with it. (B) Bioprinting of poly(e-caprolactone) (PCL)-alginate scaffolds. Scanning electron microscopy images comparing PCL and PCL—alginate scaffolds [14]. (C) AlexaFluor 594 red fluorescent dye positively staining type II collagen fibrils deposited by viable chondrocytes encapsulated in the same PCL—alginate scaffolds.

[14]. These cases illustrate the complexity of printing two different materials in the same structure; as stated before, the key lies in the independent extruding heads, in which the variables of the process (temperature, speed, pneumatic pressure, architectural patterns, etc.) can be controlled independently for each different material.

Also, live/dead assay of chondrocytes showing cellular viability on the natural material but none on the synthetic component [14].

The ability to control each material separately but still building a single construct has high impact in resolution. In particular, the ability to place cells and materials with different properties into specific patterns confers high control over the resulting mechanical and biochemical behavior of the whole construct. Complex tissue constructs have been achieved via co-printing, such as the muscle—tendon unit (MTU) approach reported by the Atala group [60]. The MTU is the interface between muscle, which is elastic and fibrous in nature, and the tendon, which is stiff and sparsely cellular. In this approach, natural hydrogels were composed of gelatin, HA and fibrinogen. Elastic polyure-thane and hydrogel laden with C2C12 myoblasts were chosen for the muscle side, whereas stiffer PCL and National Institutes of Health (NIH)/3T3 fibroblasts gels were selected for the tendon group [60]. The co-printing approach allowed the controlled construction of the interface in which two mechanically different tissues with different cell populations flawlessly met (Fig. 46.5). They reported that the construct was not only able to mimic the complex mechanical behavior of the MTU but successfully retain cell viability in both hydrogel portions (C2C12 cells with 92.7%  $\pm$  2.5% viability and NIH/3T3 cells with 89.1%  $\pm$  3.3% after 7 days [60]). The PCL-hydrogel co-printing approach has also been used to mimic mandible bone, ear cartilage, and skeletal muscle for tissue engineering [92].

Not restricted to producing tissue scaffolds for eventual in vivo applications, co-printing enables the construction of complex models for in vitro testing, particularly vascularization, microfluidic, and tissue-on-a-chip models. Having multiple heads depositing various materials and cells, under strict spatiotemporal control, has allowed researchers to produce highly complex models that more closely resemble the behavior of biological systems in vitro. These efforts usually require the use of cell-laden hydrogels (see Cell-Laden Bioinks section) and complex types of bioinks such as sacrificial (see Sacrificial Bioinks section) or supportive bioinks (see Supporting Bioinks and Supporting Baths section). An interesting example of such structures can be observed in the work of the Lewis group. Those researchers used the co-printing of natural and synthetic materials to develop in vitro models of tissues

and vascularization [12]. They concomitantly printed natural materials that included cell-laden castable and printable ECM composed of fibrinogen and gelatin, cross-linked via thrombin and transglutaminase enzymatic reactions, whereas the synthetic parts included silicone chip bases and Pluronic sacrificial materials [12]. These materials were deposited and cross-linked independently and sequentially to produce a highly organized vascularized tissue analogue based on the strong characteristics of both natural and synthetic materials.

**Hybrid bioinks** are the second approach to integrating synthetic and natural materials. In this case, there is a single bioink solution that includes both types of materials as solutes. Generally, hybrid bioinks are composed of a synthetic substrate solution with specific mechanical and rheological properties into which a natural component is mixed to alter biochemical and biocompatibility properties, as illustrated in Fig. 46.6. For synthetic materials, add-ing natural groups to the bioink usually results in improved compatibility with cellular processes, including binding sites and growth factors or reducing the high hydrophobicity of synthetics [14]. For natural materials, the benefits are usually observed as structural or mechanical, but the inclusion of synthetic polymers to the protein chains also enables natural materials to be processed using the techniques and equipment designed for synthetics. The weak ionic interactions or unpredictable enzymatic processes reserved to process alginate, fibrin, or collagen can be changed for optimized and finely tunable techniques such as photocross-linking or high-resolution extrusion [94].

The hybridization of the materials can be achieved by mechanical entanglement of the materials in solution or by chemically joining the polymer and protein chains. The first is a common approach to improving the mechanical or rheological properties of natural materials. Narayanan et al. used human adipose tissue stem cells loaded in alginate bioink with suspended PLA nanofibers [102]. The cell-laden alginate solution could be prepared separately from the nanofibers but they were vortexed together into a single solution, printed, and cross-linked, trapping the PLA within the hydrogel with no cross-linking interaction between the two. This approach was successful in producing constructs that allowed stem cell differentiation down the chondrogenic pathway; more interestingly, it revealed a



FIGURE 46.6 Hybrid bioinks combining synthetic and natural biomaterials: (A) Hybrid bioinks can be three-dimensionally (3D) printed from a single ink containing both the synthetic and natural components. The two materials can be printed into a single construct and structurally held together either by mechanical entanglement of the polymers or by biochemical cross-linking (a process that can occur during resin formulation or after printing). (B) 3D bioprinting of poly(ethylene glycol) with reactive ends (PEGX)—biomolecule hybrids. Extrusion printing of PEGX–gelatin hybrid. Next, PEGX–gelatin (*red*) and PEGX–fibrinogen (*blue*) can be printed in a single cylinder. Finally, PEGX–poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) and PEGX–gelatin fibers crosshatched, live/dead assay show viable human dermal fibroblasts preferentially adhering to PEGX–gelatin, a synthetic—natural hybrid, but not to the PEGX–PEG, a synthetic mixture [81]. (C) Optical and live/dead fluorescence images (after 16 days) showing cell viability in bioprinted strands of alginate with adipose-derived stem cells (Alg-hASC) and of alginate-poly(L-lactic acid) (PLA) nanofibers with human adipose-derived stem cells (Alg-Nf-hASC) [102].

method to use the distribution and alignment of the PLA nanofibers to stimulate orientations within the ECMmimicking hydrogels [102]. The second approach relies on chemically altering and cross-linking the synthetic and natural chains. It is commonly used to improve the biocompatibility of the synthetic portion or print the natural material using synthetic methodologies. The chemical modification allows the personalization and optimization of the resulting bioink chain, which means higher specificity of the printed materials to cell or tissue functions. The Shah group, for example, used functionalized PEG to include a variety of proteins in extrudable, tunable, and cell-compatible bioinks [81]. As illustrated in Fig. 46.6, PEG with reactive ends (PEGX) is used to bridge protein and polymer chains in a variety of configurations, producing mixtures such as PEGX–collagen, PEGX–gelatin, PEGX–fibrinogen, and PEGX–PEG, among many others, that can be successfully loaded with cells and printed via extrusion [81].

#### **Cell-Laden Bioinks**

Current definitions of bioinks refer to resins that are loaded with cells and printed. As described before, we expanded the definition of bioink to include several categories of printable materials, and do not necessarily consider cells to be the determinant "bio" factor. Nevertheless, the importance of cells for bioengineering and regenerative medicine is undisputable, and cell-laden bioinks are crucial for the development of 3D bioprinting technologies and the goal of printing functional in vivo and in vitro tissues and organs (Fig. 46.7).

Synthetic and natural materials have been proven to have various degrees of success in cell compatibility, tissue integration, and tunable mechanical and biochemical properties, so why incorporate the complex additional factor of cells? It is commonly accepted that the acellular scaffold approaches have poor translation in vivo, mostly owing to the limitation of cells adhering only to the surface of the constructs. The success of this approach is unpredictable, locations and concentrations of growth factors or chemoattractants within the constructs cannot be guaranteed, and cell behavior cannot be controlled [14]. We have mentioned before that the key term that defines modern bioprinting is control. Being able to control where cells, matrix, growth factors, and other biological components are placed results in structures with higher orders of specificity and functionality. If materials and cells can be located and properly stimulated to construct gradients, strata, or clusters, there is a higher chance for success without relying on the unpredictable colonization of native cells. Fedorovich et al. exploited this control feature to reproduce the specific spatiotemporal distribution of cells and ECM in osteochondral tissue [6]. The bioinks consisted of alginate solution in osteogenic or chondrogenic differentiation medium, in which MSC or chondrocytes, respectively, were added. After successful extrusion mimicking the adjacent bone and cartilage portions, ionic cross-linking, and subcutaneous implantation in mice, the dual, heterogeneous scaffolds showed two different cell lineage commitments, with each type of cell remaining in its printed position and depositing lineage-committed ECM [6]. Another multiphase approach to osteochondral tissue engineering was presented by the Demirci group, aiming to study tissue interfaces in the anisotropic composition of fibrocartilage [8]. Human MSCs were encapsulated in gels and printed by droplet deposition in an arrangement with zone-specific biochemical factors and ECM components (transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 for fibrocartilage and bone morphogenetic protein-2 for bone regions). Again, cells showed different lineage commitment by upregulating osteogenesis- and chondrogenesis-related genes defined by the position and matrix in which they were printed, yet constructing a single heterogeneous scaffold [8].

Cell-laden bioinks are generally hybrid or natural bioinks that can be 3DP into hydrogels. The materials provide innate cell-binding motifs, hydrophilic surfaces, and low cytotoxicity to promote cell adhesion [94]. The hydrogel structures provide soft, degradable, and swelling networks that mimic ECM and allow cell migration, metabolism, and differentiation with minimal restriction [70,97]. The mechanical properties of 3DP hydrogels can be modified by regulating cross-linking density, the linking chemistry, or polymer concentrations to match properties close to those of native ECM [94]. Structural properties of the microenvironment, such as stiffness or composition, can deliver biochemical cues by mechanotransduction to regulate cell shape, migration, and differentiation lineage selection [81,91,94]. As an example, bioinks used for high-resolution prints generally produce stiffer gels ideal from a 3DP and structural standpoint, but the high elastic modulus will drive stem cell differentiation toward the stronger tissue lineages (bone and cartilage), making it an obsolete approach to produce soft tissues [70].

Hydrogels seem to have the ideal characteristics for cell adhesion and sustenance, but the material—cell tandem must also work with 3DP methods and account for the impact of the processes on cell function after printing. First and foremost, no part of the bioink, printer setup, additional cross-linking mechanisms, or by-products can be cyto-toxic; and they have to be sterile-compatible. This seems straightforward, but it considerably reduces the available materials and processes that can be used [3]. 3D bioprinting methods mostly rely on physical forces or temperature to deliver materials. The most popular methods, extrusion-based and inkjet printing, rely on some mechanism of pressure that pushes the bioink through a nozzle. This setup translates pressure on the cells first as a compressive



**FIGURE 46.7 Applications of cell-laden bioinks:** (A) Micropatterning and bioprinting the anisotropic three-dimensional (3D) fibrocartilage phase, composed by merging two human mesenchymal stem cell (hMSC)-laden gelatin hydrogels with either tendon or bone growth factors [8]. (B) Macroscopic and live/dead images of printed human cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cells in 5% alginate scaffold [18]. (C) Fluorescence image of alginate hydrogels laden with chondrocyte (*green*) and osteoblast (*red*) cells and dispensed into a poly( $\epsilon$ -caprolactone) (PCL) framework. Every other pore is empty for oxygen and nutrient transportation [7]. *BMP-2*, bone morphogenetic protein-2; *TGF-* $\beta$ , transforming growth factor- $\beta$ .

force within the cartridge and then as shear stress while they are moving through the nozzle. Varying the pneumatic pressure, extrusion speed, and nozzle diameter regulates the stress delivered to cells and has been proven to affect cell viability during and after printing [14,94]. A variety of printing protocols have studied these parameters and successfully printed multiple types of cells and materials with a very high viability rate: extrusion of MSCs and chondrocytes in alginate with 89% viability 5 h after print [6] or 97% cell viability after thermal inkjet deposition [34]. High shear rates and shear stress have been proven to harm the cells, but high viability may be explained: (1) Stress causes protein denaturation by damaging the tertiary or quaternary structures of the chains, a process that is reversible with time [34]; or (2) natural or hybrid gels have shear thinning behavior, which decreases stress on the cells even at high shear rates or pressures [6,100]. Bioink viscosity and surface tension can also be modified to reduce shear stress using solvents or surfactants [34,95], although these must comply with minimum cytotoxicity requirements. In the case of stereolithography, the UV intensities required to initiate and sustain photoinitiator and photocross-linking reactions can negatively alter cell morphology and viability [3]. The amount of energy radiated can also cause irreversible damage to the cells as a result of increasing temperatures and dehydration.

Temperatures different from physiological 37°C, both high or low, and drastic changes will alter cell metabolic activity and may cause cell death [94]. This is a critical consideration for co-printing approaches, in which the

A critical element to maintain cells in the bioinks is the permanent need for proper oxygenation and metabolic transport. In vivo, any cell will be located within  $100-200 \mu m$  of a capillary, the maximum distance for adequate gas and metabolic exchange [4,7,91]. Thick-casted or printed hydrogels without pores do not allow diffusion deep enough to supply oxygen or nutrients and result in necrotic cells encapsulated in the center of the structure. Generally, the design of 3DP architectures is envisioned with pores or channels that provide open transport pathways and open vascularization channels. Interconnected pores, constructed by weaving strands or layered patterns, with dimensions ranging from tens to hundreds of micrometers usually allow transport through the scaffolds and report high cell viability and development [7,10,64,95]. Another common approach is to induce fast vascularization of the constructs, generally by adding endothelial progenitor cells or growth factors and using bioreactors [4,12].

Overall, accounting for the strengths and limitations of printing cell-laden bioinks, numerous approaches regularly report positive effects of this approach on cell behavior for a wide range of applications. As an in vitro example: Gaetani et al. printed a model of undifferentiated but committed cardiac tissue [18]. Here, sodium alginate was dissolved in a culture medium and mixed with hCMPCs. 3D constructs were obtained by printing strands into layers, stacking them to obtain different degrees of porosity, and cross-linking with CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Compared with regular 2D cultures, bioprinting had no effect on cell viability and proliferation, but it increased cardiac lineage commitment by upregulating early and late cardiac transcription factors and markers [18]. On the other hand, in an in vivo application aiming to produce an implantable bioartificial liver, Wei et al. used a gelatin—fibrinogen matrix loaded with rat hepatic cells to produce 3D porous constructs via extrusion printing and thrombin-induced gelation [51]. After extrusion, about 98% of the hepatic cells were reported to be viable, steadily producing albumin, and dissolving the surrounding gelatin matrix throughout the culture time [51].

# Sacrificial Bioinks

Sacrificial bioinks enable the fabrication of complicated structures and open geometries without dealing with many of the difficulties related to satisfying biological requirements. Using a sacrificial bioink for a print material, the print volume is initially created and will subsequently be washed away, as shown in multiple approaches in literature illustrated in Fig. 46.8. The bioink provides space-filling volume and support that will be evacuated. Some groups refer to their sacrificial bioinks as fugitive inks to suggest its temporary role in printing in the scope of the final structure [103]. Therefore, a sacrificial bioink only needs to be nontoxic and will not introduce harmful by-products; however, no further biological features are necessary, such as cell adhesiveness or biodegradability [1]. Here, by nontoxic, we idealize success cases in which the by-products are also noncytotoxic. Still, sacrificial bioinks ideally match these specifications: high print fidelity, ease of removal, and the lack of toxicity (Fig. 46.8).

To enable ease of removal, an important material property is its gelation process: in other words, the conditions under which the printed material will wash away. Some examples of bioinks, such as Pluronic F127 or gelatin, have a thermally reversible gelation process. Therefore, although printing can occur at one temperature, the printed material can evacuate when another temperature is attained. The Lewis laboratory is one of the leaders using Pluronic F127 as a fugitive ink to create perfusable networks in tissue mimics. Pluronic F127, a poloxamer, is solid at 37°C but it can be liquefied when cooled to 4°C. They take advantage of this material property to flush out the fugitive bioink with cold cell media, leaving behind perfusable channels. The resulting print structures resemble thick vascularized tissue mimics with endothelialized lumens viable after 45 days of perfusion [12]. The same group applies this strategy to other tubular tissues; the technique was also applied to fabricating renal proximal tubules [86].

Other common sacrificial bioinks include agarose [67], alginate [57], and gelatin [66]. The Khademosseini laboratory applied sacrificial templating strategies with different materials. For agarose, the geometry was extruded to form a solid network at 4°C. Subsequently, the agarose fibers could be manually removed or lightly vacuumed because the material does not adhere to surrounding photocross-linked hydrogel [67]. With a different material, the Khademosseini cohort used sodium alginate to fabricate a sacrificial network. The gelation of alginate occurred ionically with calcium chloride and could be removed with EDTA treatment [57]. Others applied this strategy to 3DP other tissue mimics such as aortic valves and bone; however, those groups did not print with this bioink sacrificially 46. BIOINKS FOR 3D PRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE



**FIGURE 46.8** Sacrificial templating strategies: (A) The Lewis laboratory extrudes Pluronic F127 filaments in a renal proximal tubule geometry that is cast with a gelatin—fibrinogen gel. The extruded Pluronic can then be flushed out by cooling to 4°C to leave behind perfusable renal tubules that can be seeded with proximal tubule endothelial cells [86]. (B) Miller and colleagues similarly extrude a lattice structure with carbohydrate sugar glass that can be encapsulated with a number of different extracellular matrix (ECM) or ECM-like materials and later dissolved for a perfusable vasculature. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells are seeded in the casted gel and remain viable owing to the perfusion of cell media through the vascular architecture [11]. (C) Lee et al. print collagen layers with intermittent sacrificial and cell-laden gelatin filaments via inkjet. Gelatin's gelation process relies on thermal transition; therefore, it can be liquified to evacuate open geometries. When seeded with endothelial cells, junctional markers confirm their barrier function after long-term perfusion [66]. (D) Kinstlinger et al. demonstrate that selective laser sintering can also be implemented with a sacrificial templating strategy. Vascular geometries can be formed with poly(e-caprolactone)(PCL) and casted over with polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) (shown here) or other materials and leave behind open channels [29]. *3D*, three-dimensional; *DAPI*, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; *PTECs*, proximal tubular epithelial cells; *RFP*, red fluorescent protein; *VE-cadherin*, vascular endothelial caller.

[58,104]. An additional naturally derived sacrificial bioink, gelatin, is thermally reversible, which proves useful for a sacrificial templating strategy. Lee and colleagues used inkjet printing to form vascularized tissue constructs dropwise and layer by layer with gelatin and collagen. Collagen layers were printed and polymerized at 4°C with a pHaltering cross-linking agent (sodium bicarbonate) so that the thermal responsive nature did not take precedence over the intended material evacuation. Within the collagen layers, gelatin was left uncross-linked and therefore was removed by liquefying the printed structure when the final print structure was raised to room temperature [66]. These natural sacrificial bioinks are all able to be easily evacuated, which fits one of the crucial characteristics of a sacrificial bioink.

So far, the sacrificial bioinks that have been discussed have poor mechanical strength potentially leading to complications in maintaining print fidelity after the print. Some researchers have addressed this complication by using an alternative sugar material that has high mechanical stiffness and is water soluble [11,105]. Miller and colleagues developed an approach to using carbohydrate sugar glass to fabricate complex vascular designs. This strategy circumvented issues related to poor mechanical strength. However, a similar evacuation approach is employed in which the printed perfusable network is evacuated by running cell media through the channels to provide a fluidic network. Although the carbohydrate glass lattices were printed at high temperatures (110°C, a temperature physiologically unviable), the finished print volume could be brought to physiological temperature with complete cell media for 10 min to dissolve the carbohydrate glass [11]. After evacuation, these open channels could be perfused with cell suspensions for long-term cell culture. However, the extrusion-based printing technique used to fabricate structures has limitations. One example of a limitation is that because the build volume relies on depositing material layer by layer, this technique is unable to create overhanging structures without support.

Some in the bioengineering community employ SLS as a different 3D bioprinting technique extending the list of bioinks while addressing the overhang limitation of extrusion-based approaches. SLS-based prints have been commonly used with materials such as PCL and PLA to produce bone-mimicking scaffolds, for example. However, emerging research for this printing strategy falls under the scope of sacrificial bioinks [106,107]. Limited in resolution only by the smallest powder size of the bioink and the laser used, SLS exhibits micron-sized fabricated structures with complicated overhangs with a sacrificial templating workflow [29]. Using PCL, a lattice structure can be selectively laser sintered and dissolved to leave behind a fluidic network. However, to provide perfusable channels, the printed construct requires dissolving in dichloromethane, which may or may not induce toxicity to future seeded cells [29]. More gentle evacuation for future cell encapsulation may be necessary to translate to a cytocompatible workflow. Although others use sacrificial templating strategies with plastics (i.e., acrylonitrile butadiene styrene) to fabricate intricate microfluidic systems and subsequently remove them with acetone, these removal approaches may not lend well to tissue incorporation [108].

Although there is a short list of sacrificial bioinks, these materials share one thing in common: the need to have multimaterial integration for a finalized structure. Inevitably, for the sacrificial ink to be evacuated, a requirement is an encapsulating material in which the flushed material can leave behind a space. The selection of the encapsulation material, the matrix, or matrix-mimicking bioink (see Extrusion-Based Printing section) is crucial to incorporating cells, or otherwise an interface with biological tissue might require cell-adhesive sites or degradation properties. Moreover, the gelation process of the encapsulation should ideally mismatch the sacrificial bioink so that the intended material is the one being sacrificed at the point of dissolving.

# Supporting Bioinks and Supporting Baths

Supporting bioinks and supporting baths are used during 3DP to improve the mechanical properties and expand the geometric capacities of the bioprinted scaffold, as shown in Fig. 46.9. High viscosity is commonly a desired material property for supporting baths to provide structural integrity as the print is fabricated. This material property functions to hold the print in place so that the printed material alone (without the support bath) would be unable to be maintained (i.e., overhanging features or ultrathin features). Consistent with requirements for other bioinks, the material should not possess toxicity, to ensure biocompatibility.

The Feinberg laboratory takes an innovative approach to bioprinting by taking advantage of material properties to extrude bioprinted features within a hydrogel support bath. Their approach, coined freeform reversible embedding of suspended hydrogels, uses a gelatin slurry hydrogel bath embodying thermoreversible properties and Bingham viscosity to print soft, fragile constructs within the bath material. With the bath's Bingham plasticity, the material acts as a solid unless a yield shear stress is attained, in which case the material will flow as a viscous fluid locally to the applied shear. In this way, extruded cross-linked printed structures (i.e., fibrin, alginate, and collagen type I via enzymatic, ionic, and pH mechanisms- respectively) within the hydrogel bath will immediately be surrounded by the supporting viscous material- enabling improved complexity in fabrication without collapsing or deforming under the printed structure's own weight. In addition, the gelatin slurry possesses thermoreversible and biocompatible properties. The temporary support bath can be removed by raising the temperature from room temperature maintained during the printing process to a physiological range at 37°C (for gelatin specifically) to release the 3DP object supported within. Because the gelatin slurry is biocompatible, cells can be incorporated in the extruded bioink within the bath without concern regarding its effect on cell viability[23].

Similarly, others have achieved the bioprinting of intricate structures that otherwise cannot be achieved without support baths. Carbopol is another support bath material possessing desirable rheological properties in that the



FIGURE 46.9 Supportive baths used in three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting: (A) The Feinberg laboratory developed the free-form reversible embedding of suspended hydrogels method to 3D printing (3DP) structures within a support bath. The bath is a Bingham plastic gelatin slurry that provides structural integrity to the print; an example is a human femur computed tomography scan that was downsized to create a printed version composed of alginate (scale = 1 cm, 4 mm) [23]. (B) Angelini's group demonstrates the capacity of cells to remain functional (viable, migrating, and proliferative) with their 3DP method [110] that expanded from their previous work in (C). In (C), a 3D object is printed within another gel support bath. This support bath, based on carbopol, fluidizes locally to the point at which shear is applied (i.e., the needle head extruding print material). The print can be released and form intricate structures such as the fine tentacles of a jellyfish [89]. (D) Christensen et al. use calcium chloride as a supporting and cross-linking bath for sodium alginate bifurcated objects with inkjet printing. This material supports cell encapsulation and allows for overhanging geometries [61]. (E) The Burdick laboratory uses photosensitive hyaluronic acid bioinks printed within a self-healing support hydrogel to form free-standing geometries, as shown by the spiral enveloping a channel [50].

transition from locally fluidized to solidified afforded by its Bingham plastic nature allows for the support of printed structures. Although the writing medium is more permanent (via photocross-linking or other means), the support bath can be dissolved with water [89,109]. The Angelini group has even expanded their carbopol support material to be cytocompatible for a range of cells (i.e., MSCs, human aortic endothelial cells) with enough elasticity to support cell division with the inclusion of cell media adjusted to pH 7.4 [112].

For those using inkjet printing for their bioprinted constructs, a common support bath system employs a CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution that can dually function as a cross-linking agent and a support material. In this way, the alginate inkjetted

deposition with or without cells is fabricated with the support bath instantly polymerizing the material to allow for complex structures with overhangs [61].

Yet another extrusion-based bioprinting approach, the Burdick laboratory developed a hydrogel bioink format that is directly written into a self-healing support hydrogel based on guest—host complexes. Their system is based on noncovalent and reversible bonds with the application of shear. By directly writing into this material, the bonds of the support bath are disrupted by the physical stimulus but are quickly reformed after the shear is removed. This enables the capacity of injectable hydrogels and extrusion 3DP. Their writing bioink based on HA was chemically modified for photocross-linking; more important, the support bath possesses shear thinning properties to provide structural support to print freestanding structures [50] (Fig. 46.9).

Support baths must interact with the finalized structure in such a way that the material itself must still provide a minimal baseline of compatibility. Certainly, some approaches have been using the support bath as a reservoir of cells or perhaps cross-linking agents that will ultimately become part of the printed construct; therefore, the level of cytocompatibility is going to increase correspondingly. Regarding toxicity, beyond the baseline of cell compatibility in cell-laden prints, future studies might want to consider long-term effects on cytotoxicity. If residual components of support baths are cytotoxic, a few days after the print is not long enough to prove long-term cell viability and functionality. Finally, in parallel to sacrificial inks, these materials must be easily removable to decouple from the finalized printed construct.

# Current Translation of Three-Dimensional Bioprinting

3D bioprinting has opened the door for opportunities in directly translating to the clinic. 3DP provides us with the ability to print tissue analogs by controlling the delivery of living cells and matching the appropriate material in a defined and organized manner. The control is promising because it is beyond defining the exact location as well as the sufficient number of cells in a multimaterial environment. 3DP has applications to tissue-engineering scaffolds, constructing cell-based sensors, physiological screening for drug and toxicity, and modeling tissue disease and tumors [100]. Here we will broadly characterize translation applications using in vitro and in vivo examples.

#### In Vitro Applications

In general, lab-on-a-chip style models can represent tissue analogs well by incorporating the many fluidic networks of our body (i.e., vasculature, lymphatics). An example of lab-on-a-chip, miniaturized, functional tissue mimics was discussed in the sacrificial section from the Khademhosseini laboratory. In their work, they incorporated embedded vascular networks in their 3DP constructs [67]. Many others have also dedicated their research to incorporating vascular fluidic networks, because vascularization remains a critical challenge in tissue engineering [11,29,86,103]. As discussed, beyond a few hundred microns of the diffusion limit, cells will not remain viable. However, even with many research groups studying vascularization strategies, many challenges remain, such as which vascular geometries to print and how to reach truly multiscale vasculature. By miniaturizing human tissue functional elements, studies can more accurately predict drug toxicity over animal models. Khademhosseini and colleagues delved into more complex in vitro models by developing liver-on-a-chip constructs. By developing a liver model, one can assess drug toxicity more adequately because the liver has the most important role in drug metabolism. Their liver model was biofabricated as a perfusable bioreactor with a direct-write printer to create hepatic spheroid-laden hydrogel structures [65].

In addition to better drug screening, in vitro models fabricated with 3DP approaches can better represent tumor models to help researchers elucidate cancer mechanisms. Efforts are being made to represent tumors 3D in models, because the progression of tumor metastasis is significantly different from that of a 2D counterpart [111]. The West laboratory modeled tumor angiogenesis with layer-by-layer tunable PEG hydrogels [112]. 3DP can provide cancer researchers with control over specific 3D microenvironments influencing nutrient transport and fluid shear stresses. With this kind of physiological mimicry, researchers can identify mechanisms directing tumor metastasis.

A major challenge for 3DP is scale for tissue engineering translation: Printers often have difficulty achieving large, clinical-size organ analogs with the microdetail of the cellular organization necessary to be functional. The Atala laboratory reported an integrated tissue-organ printer that prints cell-laden hydrogels of desired mechanical stiffness with sacrificial hydrogels. Fabricated constructs presented include mandible bone, cartilage, and skeletal muscle. The printed anatomical shapes can be composed of multiple biomaterials and cells resulting in structures that in the future can be vascularized and included in more complex, solid organs [113]. Until then, these constructs may be difficult to incorporate in the clinic because encapsulated cells will quickly necrose without proper vascularization.

For in vitro 3DP, clinical translation is mostly limited to drug screening and disease modeling. These applications can provide important information regarding addressing drug toxicity and to develop drugs.

#### In Vivo Applications

The promise of 3DP to fabricate tissue parts for implantation in the body is taking shape in in vivo applications. Tissue engineering has the potential to facilitate tissue regeneration by replacing injured parts and encouraging regrowth with the appropriate healing environment (i.e., growth factors, vascularization, stem cells). With 3DP, a diversity of critical-sized defects can be addressed tailored to the needs of the individual. In this section, we discuss studies that use 3DP to fabricate scaffolds applied in vivo.

As mentioned previously, rapid vascularization is a limitation in applying tissue mimics in vivo, because cells will necrose soon after implantation without access to nutrients and oxygen. Several studies achieve rapid vascularization in vivo enabled by prevascularization strategies fabricated with 3DP techniques [114,115]. Using sacrificial templating with a sacrificial carbohydrate bioink, an open microvascular network can anastomose in line with the rat femoral artery with a surgical technique [11,114]. Similarly, others employ 3DP biodegradable scaffolds to anastomose built-in vasculature directly and surgically in an AngioChip to the host vasculature of the rat hind limb femoral vessels [115]. Patency is maintained through the fabricated vessels within the scaffold. These studies demonstrate the potential of prevascularizing tissue analogues with 3DP for rapid vascularization in vivo.

Other tissues have been fabricated and implanted in vivo, such as bone. Bone scaffolds 3DP with MSCs, bone morphogenetic protein growth factor, and PCL as the bioink have been implanted in critical-sized bone defects of sheep. After 3 and 12 months, bone healing progresses with signs of vascularization ingrowth, mineralization, and appropriate mechanical stiffness [76]. By considering important aspects of biocompatibility and degradability, many of the bioink principles described earlier here have resulted in the success of 3DP tissue mimics for in vivo implantation.

The opportunities to apply 3DP to in vivo applications are still being explored. Integration with the host tissue is of utmost importance for all in vivo studies. For researchers, great care is taken to select the most appropriate bioink during fabrication to allow the best possibility for successful integration. Future work is necessary to ensure the functionality of the intended tissue analog taking into consideration the role of the parenchyma.

# CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This chapter introduces current 3DP techniques and describes the materials used to enable bioengineering applications. For bioprinting, the materials, or bioinks, used for fabrication must be biocompatible as well as printable. Bioinks are printing materials that will interface with biological components or are part of the fabrication process of a construct that will come into biological contact. We describe three separate categories for bioinks: (1) matrix or matrix-mimicking, (2) sacrificial, and (3) supporting.

Although there has been great progress in synthesizing biocompatible and printable materials, future work is needed to address the greatest limitations in bioengineering. For one, vascularization must be rapidly integrated. Many of the challenges for vascularization strategies involve scale to realize multiscale hierarchical vessels. Reaching capillary-sized vessels requires microscale resolution in printing. However, many printing techniques that can even reach these small levels are not able to print rapidly. Another limitation in current studies is the use of physiologically relevant cell types. Fortunately, induced pluripotent stem cells hold much promise in alleviating this limitation. Materials available as bioinks are limited. Generally, the bioinks used are a compromise between structural strength and biocompatibility. Therefore, current and future work follows a multimaterial approach to achieve the desired properties.

The advent of 3DP applied to bioengineering and tissue engineering has pushed researchers to create complex biological structures with incorporated fluidic networks with multiple cells and materials for the most physiologically mimicking environment. This is an exciting time for the field to realize approaches that have a clinical impact. From rapidly reiterating studies for drug screening to achieving high spatial resolution to fabricate tissue analogs, 3DP holds much promise for therapeutic translation. The choice of bioinks will continue to have a fundamental role in determining ultimate biocompatibility.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

- 2D Two-dimensional 3D Three-dimensional 3DP Three-dimensional printing CaCl<sub>2</sub> Calcium chloride dECM Decellularized extracellular matrix **ECM** Extracellular matrix EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid gelMA Gelatin methacrylate HA Hyaluronic acid hCMPC Human cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cell MSC Mesenchymal stem cells MTU Muscle-tendon unit **PCL** Poly(ε-caprolactone) PDMS Polydimethylsiloxane PEG Poly(ethylene glycol) PEGDA Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate **PEGX** Poly(ethylene glycol) with reactive ends PGA Poly(glycolic acid) PLA Poly(L-lactic acid) PLGA Poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) **PPF** Poly(propylene fumarate) SLS Selective laser sintering
- UV Ultraviolet

# References

- Prendergast ME, Solorzano RD, Cabrera D. Bioinks for biofabrication: current state and future perspectives. Journal of 3D printing in medicine 2017;1(1):49–62.
- Hull CW. Apparatus for production of three-dimensional objects by stereolithography. US Patent 4,575,330. 1986. p. 1–16. Available from: http://www.google.com/patents/US4575330.
- [3] Jose RR, Rodriguez MJ, Dixon TA, Omenetto F, Kaplan DL. Evolution of bioinks and additive manufacturing technologies for 3D bioprinting. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1662-78.
- [4] Ferris CJ, Gilmore KG, Wallace GG, In het Panhuis M. Biofabrication: an overview of the approaches used for printing of living cells. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2013;97:4243–58.
- [5] Sant S, Hancock MJ, Donnelly JP, Iyer D, Khademhosseini A. Biomimetic gradient hydrogels for tissue engineering. Can J Chem Eng 2010;88: 899–911.
- [6] Fedorovich NE, et al. Biofabrication of osteochondral tissue equivalents by printing topologically defined, cell-laden hydrogel scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2012;18:33–44.
- [7] Shim J-H, et al. Bioprinting of a mechanically enhanced three-dimensional dual cell-laden construct for osteochondral tissue engineering using a multi-head tissue/organ building system. J Micromech Microeng 2012;22(085014).
- [8] Gurkan UA, et al. Engineering anisotropic biomimetic fibrocartilage microenvironment by bioprinting mesenchymal stem cells in nanoliter gel droplets. Mol Pharm 2014;11:2151–9.
- [9] Bell A, Kofron M, Nistor V. Multiphoton crosslinking for biocompatible 3D printing of type I collagen. Biofabrication 2015;7:035007.
- [10] Ferlin KM, Prendergast ME, Miller ML, Kaplan DS, Fisher JP. Influence of 3D printed porous architecture on mesenchymal stem cell enrichment and differentiation. Acta Biomater 2016;32:161–9.
- [11] Miller JS, et al. Rapid casting of patterned vascular networks for perfusable engineered three-dimensional tissues. Nat Mater 2012;11:768-74.
- [12] Kolesky DB, Homan KA, Skylar-Scott MA, Lewis JA. Three-dimensional bioprinting of thick vascularized tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016;113:3179–84.
- [13] Lee Y-B, et al. Bio-printing of collagen and VEGF-releasing fibrin gel scaffolds for neural stem cell culture. Exp Neurol 2010;223:645-52.
- [14] Kundu J, Shim J-H, Jang J, Kim S-W, Cho D-W. An additive manufacturing-based PCL-alginate-chondrocyte bioprinted scaffold for cartilage tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2015;9:1286–97.
- [15] Lee W, et al. Multi-layered culture of human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes through three-dimensional freeform fabrication. Biomaterials 2009;30:1587–95.
- [16] Miller JS, Burdick JA. Editorial: special issue on 3D printing of biomaterials. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1658-61.
- [17] Guo S-Z, Heuzey M-C, Therriault D. Properties of polylactide inks for solvent-cast printing of three-dimensional freeform microstructures. Langmuir 2014;30:1142–50.
- [18] Gaetani R, et al. Cardiac tissue engineering using tissue printing technology and human cardiac progenitor cells. Biomaterials 2012;33: 1782–90.
- [19] Janmey PA, et al. Fibrin gels and their clinical and bioengineering applications. J R Soc Interface 2009;6:1–10.
- [20] Hutmacher DW, et al. Mechanical properties and cell cultural response of polycaprolactone scaffolds designed and fabricated via fused deposition modeling. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;55:203–16.

#### 828

#### 46. BIOINKS FOR 3D PRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [21] Zein I, Hutmacher DW, Tan KC, Teoh SH. Fused deposition modeling of novel scaffold architectures for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2002;23:1169–85.
- [22] Trachtenberg JE, et al. Extrusion-based 3D Printing of Poly(propylene fumarate) in a full-factorial design. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2: 1771–80.
- [23] Hinton TJ, et al. Three-dimensional printing of complex biological structures by freeform reversible embedding of suspended hydrogels. Sci Adv 2015;1.
- [24] Beaman JJ, Deckard CR. Selective laser sintering with assisted powder handling. US Patent 4,938,816 1990:1–17. Available from: https://patents.google.com/patent/US4938816.
- [25] Goodridge RD, Wood DJ, Ohtsuki C, Dalgarno KW. Biological evaluation of an apatite-mullite glass-ceramic produced via selective laser sintering. Acta Biomater 2007;3:221–31.
- [26] Hao L, et al. Characterization of selective laser-sintered hydroxyapatite-based biocomposite structures for bone replacement. Proc R Soc A Math Phys Eng Sci 2007;463:1857–69.
- [27] Salmoria GV, Hotza D, Klauss P, Kanis LA, Roesler CRM. Manufacturing of porous polycaprolactone prepared with different particle sizes and infrared laser sintering conditions: microstructure and mechanical properties. Adv Mech Eng 2015;6:640496.
- [28] Xia Y, et al. Selective laser sintering fabrication of nano-hydroxyapatite/poly-ε-caprolactone scaffolds for bone tissue engineering applications. Int J Nanomed 2013;8:4197–213.
- [29] Kinstlinger IS, et al. Open-source selective laser sintering (OpenSLS) of nylon and biocompatible polycaprolactone. PLoS One 2016;11: e0147399.
- [30] Murphy SV, Atala A. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32:773-85.
- [31] Boland. Ink-jet printing of viable cells. Biomaterials 2006;26:93–9.
- [32] Xu T, et al. Characterization of cell constructs generated with inkjet printing technology using in vivo magnetic resonance imaging. J Manuf Sci Eng 2008;130:021013.
- [33] Xu T, Kincaid H, Atala A, Yoo JJ. High-throughput production of single-cell microparticles using an inkjet printing technology. J Manuf Sci Eng 2008;130:021017.
- [34] Derby B, et al. Bioprinting: inkjet printing proteins and hybrid cell-containing materials and structures. J Mater Chem 2008;18:5717.
- [35] Xu T, Jin J, Gregory C, Hickman JJJJ, Boland T. Inkjet printing of viable mammalian cells. Biomaterials 2005;26:93–9.
- [36] Xu T, et al. Viability and electrophysiology of neural cell structures generated by the inkjet printing method. Biomaterials 2006;27:3580-8.
- [37] Murphy SV, Skardal A, Atala A. Evaluation of hydrogels for bio-printing applications. J Biomed Mater Res A 2013;101:272–84.
- [38] Khalil S, Sun W. Biopolymer deposition for freeform fabrication of hydrogel tissue constructs. Mater Sci Eng C 2007;27:469-78.
- [39] Hennink W, van Nostrum C. Novel crosslinking methods to design hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54:13–36.
- [40] Kim JD, Choi JS, Kim BS, Chan Choi Y, Cho YW. Piezoelectric inkjet printing of polymers: stem cell patterning on polymer substrates. Polymer 2010;51:2147–54.
- [41] Lin H, et al. Application of visible light-based projection stereolithography for live cell-scaffold fabrication with designed architecture. Biomaterials 2013;34:331–9.
- [42] Lu Y, Chen S. Projection printing of 3-dimensional tissue scaffolds. Meth Mol Biol 2012;868:289-302.
- [43] Nichol JW, et al. Cell-laden microengineered gelatin methacrylate hydrogels. Biomaterials 2010;31:5536-44.
- [44] Ma X, et al. Deterministically patterned biomimetic human iPSC-derived hepatic model via rapid 3D bioprinting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016;113:2206–11.
- [45] Placone JK, Navarro J, Laslo GW, Lerman MJ, Gabard AR, Herendeen GJ, Fisher JP. Development and characterization of a 3D printed, keratin-based hydrogel. Annals of biomedical engineering 2017;45(1):237–48.
- [46] Koroleva A, et al. Fabrication of fibrin scaffolds with controlled microscale architecture by a two-photon polymerization-micromolding technique. Biofabrication 2012;4:015001.
- [47] Zhu W, et al. 3D printing of functional biomaterials for tissue engineering. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2016;40:103–12.
- [48] Miller JS, et al. Bioactive hydrogels made from step-growth derived PEG-peptide macromers. Biomaterials 2010;31:3736–43.
- [49] Yue K, et al. Synthesis, properties, and biomedical applications of gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogels. Biomaterials 2015;73:254-71.
- [50] Highley CB, Rodell CB, Burdick JA. Direct 3D printing of shear-thinning hydrogels into self-healing hydrogels. Adv Mater 2015;27:5075-9.
- [51] Xu W, et al. Rapid prototyping three-dimensional cell/gelatin/fibrinogen constructs for medical regeneration. J Bioact Compat Polym 2007; 22:363–77.
- [52] Cui X, Boland T. Human microvasculature fabrication using thermal inkjet printing technology. Biomaterials 2009;30:6221-7.
- [53] Xu T, et al. Hybrid printing of mechanically and biologically improved constructs for cartilage tissue engineering applications. Biofabrication 2013;5:015001.
- [54] Smith CM, et al. Three-dimensional bioassembly tool for generating viable tissue-engineered constructs. Tissue Eng 2004;10:1566-76.
- [55] Rhee S, Puetzer JL, Mason BN, Reinhart-King CA, Bonassar LJ. 3D bioprinting of spatially heterogeneous collagen constructs for cartilage tissue engineering. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1800–5.
- [56] Moon S, et al. Layer by layer three-dimensional tissue epitaxy by cell-laden hydrogel droplets. Tissue Eng Part C Meth 2010;16:157-66.
- [57] Tamayol A, et al. Hydrogel templates for rapid manufacturing of bioactive fibers and 3D constructs. Adv Healthc Mater 2015;4:2146-53.
- [58] Duan B, Hockaday LA, Kang KH, Butcher JT. 3D bioprinting of heterogeneous aortic valve conduits with alginate/gelatin hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res A 2013;101:1255–64.
- [59] Williams SK, Touroo JS, Church KH, Hoying JB. Encapsulation of adipose stromal vascular fraction cells in alginate hydrogel spheroids using a direct-write three-dimensional printing system. Biores Open Access 2013;2:448–54.
- [60] Merceron TK, et al. A 3D bioprinted complex structure for engineering the muscle-tendon unit. Biofabrication 2015;7:035003.
- [61] Christensen K, et al. Freeform inkjet printing of cellular structures with bifurcations. Biotechnol Bioeng 2015;112:1047–55.
- [62] Gaetani R, et al. Epicardial application of cardiac progenitor cells in a 3D-printed gelatin/hyaluronic acid patch preserves cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Biomaterials 2015;61:339–48.
- [63] Skardal A, Devarasetty M, Kang HW, Seol YJ, Forsythe SD, Bishop C, Atala A. Bioprinting Cellularized Constructs Using a Tissue-specific Hydrogel Bioink. Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE 2016;(110). e53606–e53606.

#### REFERENCES

- [64] Wang X, et al. Generation of three-dimensional hepatocyte/gelatin structures with rapid prototyping system. Tissue Eng 2006;12:83–90.
- [65] Bhise NS, et al. A liver-on-a-chip platform with bioprinted hepatic spheroids. Biofabrication 2016;8:014101.
- [66] Lee VK, et al. Creating perfused functional vascular channels using 3D bio-printing technology. Biomaterials 2014;35:8092-102.
- [67] Bertassoni LE, et al. Hydrogel bioprinted microchannel networks for vascularization of tissue engineering constructs. Lab Chip 2014;14: 2202–11.
- [68] Ang T, et al. Fabrication of 3D chitosan-hydroxyapatite scaffolds using a robotic dispensing system. Mater Sci Eng C 2002;20:35-42.
- [69] Kuo C-Y, et al. Development of a 3D printed, bioengineered placenta model to evaluate the role of trophoblast migration in preeclampsia. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1817–26.
- [70] Melchels FPW, et al. Development and characterisation of a new bioink for additive tissue manufacturing. J Mater Chem B 2014;2:2282.
- [71] Bertassoni LE, et al. Direct-write bioprinting of cell-laden methacrylated gelatin hydrogels. Biofabrication 2014;6:24105–11.
- [72] Soman P, Chung PH, Zhang AP, Chen S. Digital microfabrication of user-defined 3D microstructures in cell-laden hydrogels. Biotechnol Bioeng 2013;110:3038–47.
- [73] Skardal A, et al. Photocrosslinkable hyaluronan-gelatin hydrogels for two-step bioprinting. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:2675-85.
- [74] Suri S, et al. Solid freeform fabrication of designer scaffolds of hyaluronic acid for nerve tissue engineering. Biomed Microdevices 2011;13: 983–93.
- [75] Hung BP, et al. Three-dimensional printing of bone extracellular matrix for craniofacial regeneration. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1806–16.
- [76] Reichert JC, et al. A tissue engineering solution for segmental defect regeneration in load-bearing long bones. Sci Transl Med 2012;4.
- [77] Ali Akbari Ghavimi S, Ebrahimzadeh MH, Solati-Hashjin M, Abu Osman NA. Polycaprolactone/starch composite: fabrication, structure, properties, and applications. J Biomed Mater Res 2015;103:2482–98.
- [78] Jakus AE, et al. Hyperelastic 'bone': a highly versatile, growth factor-free, osteoregenerative, scalable, and surgically friendly biomaterial. Sci Transl Med 2016;8.
- [79] Mironov AV, Grigoryev AM, Krotova LI, Skaletsky NN, Popov VK, Sevastianov VI. 3D printing of PLGA scaffolds for tissue engineering. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A 2017;105(1):104–9.
- [80] Hockaday LA, et al. Rapid 3D printing of anatomically accurate and mechanically heterogeneous aortic valve hydrogel scaffolds. Biofabrication 2012;4:035005.
- [81] Rutz AL, Hyland KE, Jakus AE, Burghardt WR, Shah RN. A multimaterial bioink method for 3D printing tunable, cell-compatible hydrogels. Adv Mater 2015;27:1607–14.
- [82] Arcaute K, Mann BK, Wicker RB. Stereolithography of three-dimensional bioactive poly(ethylene glycol) constructs with encapsulated cells. Ann Biomed Eng 2006;34:1429–41.
- [83] Warner J, Soman P, Zhu W, Tom M, Chen S. Design and 3D printing of hydrogel scaffolds with fractal geometries. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1763–70.
- [84] Han L-H, Mapili G, Chen S, Roy K. Projection microfabrication of three-dimensional scaffolds for tissue engineering. J Manuf Sci Eng 2008; 130(021005).
- [85] Cui X, Breitenkamp K, Finn MG, Lotz M, D'Lima DD. Direct human cartilage repair using three-dimensional bioprinting technology. Tissue Eng Part A 2012;18:1304–12.
- [86] Homan KA, et al. Bioprinting of 3D convoluted renal proximal tubules on perfusable chips. Sci Rep 2016;6:34845.
- [87] Lan PX, Lee JW, Seol Y-J, Cho D-W. Development of 3D PPF/DEF scaffolds using micro-stereolithography and surface modification. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2009;20:271–9.
- [88] Melchiorri AJ, et al. 3D-printed biodegradable polymeric vascular grafts. Adv Healthc Mater 2016;5:319–25.
- [89] Bhattacharjee T, Zehnder SM, Rowe KG, Jain S, Nixon RM, Sawyer WG, Angelini TE. Writing in the granular gel medium. Science advances 2015;1(8):e1500655.
- [90] Wu C, Luo Y, Cuniberti G, Xiao Y, Gelinsky M. Three-dimensional printing of hierarchical and tough mesoporous bioactive glass scaffolds with a controllable pore architecture, excellent mechanical strength and mineralization ability. Acta Biomater 2011;7:2644–50.
- [91] Köpf M, Campos DFD, Blaeser A, Sen KS, Fischer H. A tailored three-dimensionally printable agarose-collagen blend allows encapsulation, spreading, and attachment of human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells. Biofabrication 2016;8:025011.
- [92] Kang D, et al. Endothelial monolayers on collagen-coated nanofibrous membranes: cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions. Biofabrication 2016;8: 025008.
- [93] Kim M, Kim GH. Electrohydrodynamic direct printing of PCL/collagen fibrous scaffolds with a core/shell structure for tissue engineering applications. Chem Eng J 2015;279:317–26.
- [94] Skardal A, Atala A. Biomaterials for integration with 3-D bioprinting. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43:730-46.
- [95] Wang X, Yan Y, Zhang R. Rapid prototyping as a tool for manufacturing bioartificial livers. Trends Biotechnol 2007;25:505–13.
- [96] Carrow JK, Kerativitayanan P, Jaiswal MK, Lokhande G, Gaharwar AK. Polymers for bioprinting. In: Essentials of 3D Biofabrication and Translation; 2015. p. 229–48.
- [97] Guvendiren M, Molde J, Soares RMD, Kohn J. Designing biomaterials for 3D printing. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1679–93.
- [98] Miranda-Nieves D, Chaikof EL. Collagen and elastin biomaterials for the fabrication of engineered living tissues. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering 2016;3(5):694–711.
- [99] Lee A, et al. Engineering anastomosis between living capillary networks and endothelial cell-lined microfluidic channels. Lab Chip 2014;16.
- [100] Pati F, et al. Printing three-dimensional tissue analogues with decellularized extracellular matrix bioink. Nat Commun 2014;5:3935.
- [101] Chang R, Nam J, Sun W. Direct cell writing of 3D microorgan for in vitro pharmacokinetic model. Tissue Eng Part C Meth 2008;14:157-66.
- [102] Narayanan LK, et al. 3D-bioprinting of polylactic acid (PLA) nanofiber-alginate hydrogel bioink containing human adipose-derived stem cells. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1732-42.
- [103] Kolesky DB, et al. 3D bioprinting of vascularized, heterogeneous cell-laden tissue constructs. Adv Mater 2014;26:3124–30.
- [104] Poldervaart MT, et al. Sustained release of BMP-2 in bioprinted alginate for osteogenicity in mice and rats. PLoS One 2013;8:e72610.
- [105] Bellan LM, et al. Fabrication of an artificial 3-dimensional vascular network using sacrificial sugar structures. Soft Matter 2009;5:1354.
- [106] Antonov EN, et al. Fabrication of polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering using surface selective laser sintering. Laser Phys 2006;16:774-87.

### 830

#### 46. BIOINKS FOR 3D PRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [107] Williams JM, et al. Bone tissue engineering using polycaprolactone scaffolds fabricated via selective laser sintering. Biomaterials 2005;26: 4817–27.
- [108] Saggiomo V, Velders AH. Simple 3D printed scaffold-removal method for the fabrication of intricate microfluidic devices. Adv Sci 2015;2.
- [109] Hinton TJ, Hudson A, Pusch K, Lee A, Feinberg AW. 3D printing PDMS elastomer in a hydrophilic support bath via freeform reversible embedding. ACS biomaterials science & engineering 2016;2(10):1781–6.
- [110] Bhattacharjee T, et al. Liquid-like solids support cells in 3D. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2:1787-95.
- [111] Albritton JL, et al. Ultrahigh-throughput generation and characterization of cellular aggregates in laser-ablated microwells of poly(dimethylsiloxane). RSC Adv 2016;6:8980-91.
- [112] Roudsari LC, et al. A 3D poly(ethylene glycol)-based tumor angiogenesis model to study the influence of vascular cells on lung tumor cell behavior. Sci Rep 2016;6:32726.
- [113] Kang H-W, et al. A 3D bioprinting system to produce human-scale tissue constructs with structural integrity. Nat Biotechnol 2016;34:312-9.
- [114] Sooppan R, et al. In vivo anastomosis and perfusion of a three-dimensionally-printed construct containing microchannel networks. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2016;22:1–7.
- [115] Zhang B, et al. Biodegradable scaffold with built-in vasculature for organ-on-a-chip engineering and direct surgical anastomosis. Nat Mater 2016;15:669–78.

# 47

# Three-Dimensional Tissue and Organ Printing in Regenerative Medicine

Gregory J. Gillispie, Jihoon Park, Joshua S. Copus, Anil Kumar Pallickaveedu Rajan Asari, James J. Yoo, Anthony Atala, Sang Jin Lee

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Attempts have been made in tissue engineering to develop biological substitutes to address the high shortage of tissues and organs for transplantation. Although tissue engineering has progressed rapidly over the past 2 decades, conventional fabrication methods are limited in their ability to create clinically applicable tissue constructs with well-interconnected pores, complex architectures, patient-specific geometries, and heterogeneous material distributions. Over the past few years, three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting strategy has been applied to overcome these limitations. It enables the fabrication of tissue constructs with unique spatial control over the deposition of cells, biomaterials, and bioactive molecules such as growth factors, cytokines, peptides, and small molecules, resulting in higher regenerative capability after implantation [1,2]. 3D printing technology was developed in the 1980s and included various approaches to creating objects from a computer-generated file [3]. This technology quickly became a powerful tool in tissue engineering and biomedical research [4]. In structure-based bioprinting, bioinert or bioactive materials such as metals, ceramics, and polymers are used to develop a tissue structure followed by precisely depositing cells and bioactive molecules onto it [5,6]. In cell-based bioprinting, a high density of cells is patterned spatially with a prescribed organization in a layer-by-layer fashion, forming tissue constructs [5].

Thus, additive biomanufacturing or 3D bioprinting allows the creation of tissue-specific architectures with precise geometries that have been limited using conventional fabrication methods. Landers et al. first introduced 3D bioprinting as an extrusion-based method to dispense cells continuously within a hydrogel material (bioink) from a dispensing head to a stage-based patterns predesigned through computer-aided design/computer-aided manufacturing (CAD/CAM) tools [7,8]. Various types of 3D bioprinting methodologies are available to meet specific requirements in tissue engineering applications.

# **BIOPRINTING STRATEGY: FROM MEDICAL IMAGE TO PRINTED TISSUE**

Bioprinting aims to achieve reproducible, complex tissue structures that are well-vascularized and suitable for future clinical use. Human tissues and organs have arbitrary 3D shapes composed of multiple cell types and an extracellular matrix (ECM) with a functional organization. CAD/CAM processes are important technologies necessary for future clinical applications of 3D bioprinting because these processes provide an automated way to replicate the 3D shape of a targeted tissue structure. In general, the process starts by scanning the patient to produce 3D volumetric information about a target object using medical imaging modalities such as computed tomography



FIGURE 47.1 Three-dimensional (3-D) bioprinting strategy from medical imaging to printed tissue construct: (A) schematic diagram and (B) example of computer-aided design (CAM)/computer-aided manufacturing process for automated printing of 3D shape imitating target tissue or organ. A 3D CAD model developed from medical image data generates a visualized motion program, which includes instructions for XYZ stage movements and actuating pneumatic pressure to achieve 3D bioprinting. *CT*, computed tomography; *DICOM*, Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine; *MRI*, magnetic resonance imaging; *STL*, stereolithography.

(CT) and magnetic resonance imaging. These imaging tools acquire information from cross-sectional slices of the body and the data are stored in the Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine format, which is a standard format for digital imaging in medicine. This information is transformed into a 3D CAD model by reverse engineering. This process starts by interpolating points within and between image slices to improve the resolution and generate voxels from the measured data. This CAD model is created by extracting localized volumetric data from a targeted tissue structure to generate a surface model. In this step, sophisticated reconstruction of the CAD model is required for bioprinting owing to the complexity of the tissue or organ. A motion program, which is instructional computer codes for the printer to follow designed paths, is generated with a CAM system. This CAM process is divided into three steps: slicing, the tool path, and the generation of the motion program. Slicing obtains information about sliced 2D shapes of an object for the layer-by-layer process. Then, tool path generation creates a path for the tool to follow to fill the cross-sectional space of each layer. The printed tissue-specific structure has the proper inner architecture constructed with multiple cellular components for efficient tissue regeneration. Therefore, a well-organized strategy for tool path generation is required to have high efficient tissue regeneration and is an important process for 3D bioprinting. Fig. 47.1 shows the 3D bioprinting strategy from the medical image to the printed tissue constructs developed by CAD/CAM process and automated printing of a 3D shape imitating a target tissue or organ.

# **BIOPRINTING MECHANISMS**

Researchers have developed a variety of printing mechanisms, all of which aim to accomplish the same goal: printing 3D human tissue or organ structures for reconstruction. The effectiveness of each printing mechanism relies heavily on the choice of biomaterials and the targeted applications. Bioprinters consist of three main components: a three-axis stage, printing cartridges, and the dispenser. Stage controllers are used to move the printer head in the X, Y, and Z directions. Printing cartridges, usually in the form of a syringe, store either the polymeric components of the scaffold or the cellular/hydrogel components. They contain the nozzle, which determines the amount of material dispensed at set printing parameters. The dispenser is the final component; it varies among printing methods, but it is the mechanism that deposits materials (Fig. 47.2).

#### **Jetting-Based Printing**

Jetting-based printing, or "inkjet" printing, is the most commonly used printing mechanism for both nonbiological and biological objects [9]. Similar to an inkjet printer used to apply ink to paper, jetting-based bioprinters dispense a controlled volume of liquid to a predefined location through noncontact deposition (Fig. 47.2A). The "ink" in this instance is usually a hydrogel that may or may not contain cells and can be dispensed in

#### BIOPRINTING MECHANISMS



FIGURE 47.2 (A) Microscopic view of a three-dimensional multicell "pie" construct printed by a jetting-based mechanism. Individual cells were printed in predetermined locations and then located by microscopy at those locations after printing [124]. (B) Auricular implant was printed through extrusion-based mechanisms with cell-laden hydrogel, poly(e-caprolactone), and Pluronic F-12 [47]. (C) Human umbilical vein endothelial cells were printed precisely in straight lines through laser-assisted bioprinting to study cell migration rates [125]. *PBS*, phosphate-buffered saline.

volumes between 10 and 150 pL, depending on the dispensing modules used [10]. The two main dispensing methods for jetting-based printing are thermal and piezoelectric inkjets. Thermal inkjets use an electric heater that generates small bubbles in the printhead. These bubbles collapse to create pressure pulses that force droplets of liquid out of the nozzle. Although thermal inkjets use heat at around  $200-300^{\circ}$ C, the duration of heating is typically around 2 µs, which studies have found to result in only a  $4-10^{\circ}$ C rise in hydrogel temperature [9]. Piezoelectric inkjet printers use a polycrystalline piezoelectric ceramic to create the pressure pulse that ejects the droplet [10]. The volume of liquid dispensed depends on the temperature gradient, the frequency of the pressure pulse, and the ink viscosity. To determine where the material will be dispensed, the bioprinter can control the X and Y positions of the nozzle heads to a scale of micrometers, which allows for precise, high-resolution printing.

A major drawback of jetting-based printing is the amount of shear stress induced on the cells as they are forced through the nozzle. Shear stress creates a huge risk to damage cell membranes and causes cell lysis [10]. Another drawback of this printing is that to dispense materials, it has to be in a liquid form, so to form a solid structure, the liquid has to be cross-linked during or very soon after printing. This causes a significant reduction in printing speed, because a time for cross-linking must be determined. It is also considered that high cell concentrations (greater than 10 million cells/mL) often result in nozzle clogging and some instances may even alter the properties of the hydrogel so much that it can no longer be cross-linked [11,12].

Despite these drawbacks, jetting-based printing offers many advantages over laser-assisted and extrusion-based printing methods. Commercial inkjet printers are readily available, and because of this, many laboratories can modify the printers so that they can experiment with bioprinting at a low cost. The printers also offer high printing resolution, which allows concentration gradients of cells, biomaterials, or bioactive molecules to be introduced throughout the structure by altering drop sizes and densities [9]. The droplets can be arranged into patterns such as lines 50  $\mu$ m wide or single droplet patterns containing one or two cells [13]. The droplet size can be controlled electronically and can range from less than 1 pL to more than >300 pL in volume with deposition rates from 1 to 10,000 droplets per second [14].

# **Extrusion-Based Printing**

Unlike jetting-based printing, extrusion-based printing is an additive manufacturing mechanism that relies on fused deposition modeling and requires direct contact with a surface to print (Fig. 47.2B). These printers mainly include a temperature-controllable dispensing system and a stage, with one or both capable of movement in the X, Y, and Z axes. Some 3D extrusion printers have multiple dispensers that allow them to switch printing material without going through the process of retooling [15]. Extrusion-based printing methods offer improved printing resolution, speed, and spatial control. These printers also differ from inkjet printers in the manner in which they deposit material, because they dispense in a continuous string as opposed to individual droplets. The printer extrudes a 2D pattern designed by CAD/CAM software, and then each layer serves as the foundation for the next layer above it. Three systems can be used to extrude the material: pneumatic, piston, or screw-based dispensing systems [9]. Pneumatic dispensing systems can deposit high viscous materials, but the drawback is that there is a delay in deposition owing to the time it takes to compress the gas in the cartridge. The ultimate force of pneumatic systems is limited only by the air-pressure capabilities of the system. Mechanical systems such as a piston and screw-based dispensers provide more spatial control at the cost of reduced maximum force capabilities [9].

Extrusion-based printing methods have the widest range of biomaterials that can be printed; they vary from hydrogels to polymers and cell aggregates. Materials with viscosities ranging from 30 mPa/s to greater than  $6 \times 10^7$  mPa/s have been successfully printed with extrusion-based printers, with high viscous materials acting as structural support and low viscous materials providing an adequate environment for cell printing [16]. This printing method is also able to print a high density of cells; however, cell viability may be decreased with smaller nozzle sizes and a high pressure level. The main challenges to extrusion-based printing mechanisms are the low printing resolution and low printing speed: 5- to 200-µm pattern resolution at linear speeds of 10-50 µm/s [17].

# Laser-Assisted Printing

Laser-assisted bioprinters operate by focusing a laser pulse toward an absorbing layer, typically gold or titanium, to generate high-pressure bubbles that propel cell-containing bioinks toward a collector substrate [9]. A standard laser-assisted printing system usually consists of a pulsed laser beam, a focusing system, a "ribbon" that has a transport support made from a laser energy—absorbing layer, a layer of hydrogel or cellular material, and a substrate-receiving layer (Fig. 47.2). Laser-assisted printing method has successfully transferred peptides, DNA, and cells [18]. The main advantage of this method is that it is nozzle-free; therefore, it avoids nozzle clogging issues found in other bioprinting systems. Laser-assisted methods can deposit materials with viscosities ranging from 1 to 300 mPa/s and cell densities close to 10<sup>8</sup> cells/mL, with resolutions close to a single cell per drop without significant effects on cell viability or function. In addition, many factors affect the printing resolution. Some of these factors include the energy delivered per unit area owing to the laser, the surface tension, substrate wettability, the gap between ribbon and substrate, and the thickness and viscosity of the biological layer [9].

There are also a lot of disadvantages associated with the laser-assisted printing system. One drawback is that each ribbon must be prepared following a time-consuming process that may become overwhelming if multiple cells or hydrogels must be codeposited [9]. It can also be difficult to target and position the cells accurately because of the nature of the ribbon cell coating. Metallic residues may be present in the final construct owing to vaporization of the laser-absorbing layer, although there have been methods to reduce this contamination, including using nonmetallic absorbing layers and altering the printing process so that an adsorbing layer is not needed [19].

# Hybrid and Other Mechanisms

Hybrid fabrication is a combination of technologies that are practiced individually. Despite rapid growth over 2 decades, current 3D bioprinting techniques and systems fall short in integrating rigid and soft multifunctional components. In some instances, the advantages of one technology might not be sufficient to meet the requirements of creating targeted functional tissue constructs. Merging technologies may overcome this limitation and improve the bioprinting process. The combination of technologies can be at the cellular, bioink, or bioprinter level. Tan et al. introduced a 3D bioprinting strategy by integrating conventional scaffold-based fabrication and the cell-based bioprinting approach [20]. They explored the use of hydrogel-encapsulated, cell-laden microspheres as the bioink for 3D bioprinting. The hydrogel lubricates and glues the microspheres during printing and fuses them together

after printing upon gelation. Kucukgul et al. developed computational algorithms to generate support structures for cylindrical cell aggregates to print fully cell-based vascular structures [21]. Xu et al. proposed a combination of electrospinning and inkjet bioprinting techniques to develop layered cartilage constructs [22]. Combining the two principles of electrospinning and bioprinting resulted in the fabrication of a cartilage construct with appropriate cell function and mechanical properties. Shanjani et al. developed a new hybrid 3D bioprinting technology called Hybprinter by integrating soft and rigid components [23]. This technique employs a digital light processing based stereolithography component and molten material extrusion techniques. Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA) was used as soft hydrogel and poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL) as the scaffold's structural support. Mendoza-Buenrostro et al. reported a hybrid bioprinting technique for the fabrication of scaffolds with topography scales ranging from nanometers to millimeters [24]. Scaffolds were produced by extrusion-printing PCL embedded with nanofibers.

# **BIOMATERIALS FOR BIOPRINTING: BIOINKS**

#### Printability

When used in bioprinting, hydrogels that can encapsulate and deliver cells and bioactive molecules through printing mechanisms are referred to as bioinks. In extrusion-based bioprinting, bioinks should have strong shear thinning behavior, which means that viscosity decreases under shear strain [25]. They should also have low surface tension so that extrusion is possible without the formation of droplets at the needle tip. In addition, bioinks should have proper viscoelastic properties that allow them to be stable enough to be printed in multiple layers before cross-linking. Traditional hydrogel precursors are low-viscous solutions that are cross-linked either during or after the printing process. Cross-linking before printing increases the shear stress on the cells, resulting in cellular damage and nozzle clogging. Cross-linking after printing affects the resolution because of the spread of bioink in the time between extrusion and cross-linking and can lead to incomplete cross-linking deep in large, multilayered constructs [9]. Fig. 47.3 shows a schematic diagram of variables, including printability, in 3D bioprinting.

There are structural properties that must be satisfied so that the printed construct maintains shape, accuracy, and integrity after printing is finished. The printed construct should maintain its predesigned structure, which includes shape, resolution, orientation, and mechanical properties. Because bioprinting aims to build a 3D tissue construct with cells, cell viability after printing is one of the main criteria for the printability of bioinks. For the cells to survive, a biologically favorable microenvironment is required so that the cells can be well-preserved not only during the printing process but also afterward in culture. In hydrogel-based bioinks, cell density, diffusion coefficient, temperature, and humidity can significantly affect the printability of the bioinks [26–28].

### Hydrogel-Based Bioinks for Cell Printing

Hydrogels are naturally derived or synthetically produced. Hydrogel networks consist of polymer chains or peptide chains. They are highly moist and ideal for absorbing high levels of nutrients and oxygen, enabling cells to survive within the construct and diffuse waste. Therefore, hydrogels have been printed by a variety of mechanisms to deliver cells in the printed constructs. In the extrusion-based printing, the required properties of hydrogel-based bioinks during the printing process are (1) high viscosity to provide homogeneous cell suspension and initial structural integrity, (2) strong shear-thinning behavior to minimize cell damage, and (3) rapid gelation mechanism to stabilize a 3D-printed structure. If the gelation time is too long, the spatial resolution is lost and the layer cannot be printed correctly. To control the gelation time, the cross-linking mechanisms can be manipulated by chemically modifying the material, introducing a cross-linking agent or changing the polymer content [29].

#### Synthetic Hydrogels

Synthetic hydrogels used as bioinks have low cytotoxicity, controlled biodegradability, and good mechanical properties; however, most synthetic hydrogels have low biological properties that interact minimally with cells. Pluronic F127, a thermosensitive hydrogel, undergoes a phase transition at room temperature and becomes a viscous substance [30]. When the concentration of Pluronic F127 is 25% w/v or more, it can be dispensed with high printability. Although high-resolution of the printed structures can be achieved using Pluronic F127, the structure can



FIGURE 47.3 Schematic diagram of variables critical to three-dimensional bioprinting strategy. The hydrogel-based bioinks determine the viscosity, gelation mechanism, and printing parameters, and eventually the bioprinted tissue structures.

easily be collapsed in the culture condition. To improve its mechanical stability, Pluronic F127 has commonly been used chemically modified as a photocross-linkable hydrogel [31]. Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-based hydrogels can be chemically modified to control their biological and biomechanical properties. Therefore, PEGs have been used as bioink materials in 3D bioprinting by introducing various functional motifs attached to the terminal end of PEG [32] or combining them with other hydrogels [33,34].

# Naturally Derived Hydrogels

Natural hydrogels are classified into mainly proteins and polysaccharides. Most of them are present in the body, so they show high biological properties and do not cause a severe immune response. Collagen (type I) is the most abundant component of ECMs; it contains cell-guiding chemical cues such as the cell adhesion peptide sequence arginine-glycine-aspartic acid. Under the appropriate temperature and pH, a pure collagen solution physically forms a gel with properties dependent on the solution concentration. However, collagen itself has rarely been used as a bioink material owing to low viscosity and poor mechanical stability. To overcome these limitations, collagen has been mixed with various other hydrogels such as agarose, chitosan, fibrin, and hyaluronic acid (HA) [22,35–37]. An approach to printing skin cell-containing collagen solution from separate nozzles using an inkjet microvalve dispensing method was reported [38]. In the printing process, the collagen solution remained acidic and cooled. Multiple layers of cell-laden collagen bioink were printed and then treated with aerosolized so-dium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) to buffer the pH toward neutral for gelation. The results showed high cell viability at 1 day after printing for keratinocytes and fibroblasts, which indicated the survival of cells and spatial control of the printing approach, which is needed to offer a functional skin replacement.

Gelatin is a substance in which water-insoluble collagen is made soluble by high temperature or acid-base treatment. It forms a thermoreversible hydrogel. Moreover, chemical modification of gelatin with unsaturated methyl methacrylate results in gelatin methacrylate (GelMA), which can form covalently cross-linked hydrogels

under UV exposure [39]. Photocross-linkable GelMA is the most popular bioink material for cell bioprinting because of high printability and tunable mechanical properties. GelMa was used to print a complex architecture that contained various cell types and vasculature [40]. A cell-laden GelMa and sacrificial Pluronic F127 were dispensed and embedded within the GelMa block in a predetermined 3D structure. Afterward, the printed structure was cross-linked by UV exposure. The sacrificial Pluronic F127 was removed at 4°C by phase transition to create open microchannels within the GelMa block. Finally, a suspension of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) was seeded into the open microchannels. This approach allowed for the viable deposition of cells in a 3D structure with a microvessel-like structure that was covered by endothelial cells (ECs) to provide nutrients to surrounding cells.

HA is the most abundant of the glycosaminoglycan (GAG) family; it has the repeating structure of glucuronic acid and *N*-acetyl-glucosamine disaccharide. HA has a high molecular weight and a large amount of branching, which allows for intermolecular hydrogen bonding and high viscosity. Like other polysaccharides, HA can support cell survival but has low cell-binding motifs. Moreover, HA itself has low structural integrity and shape fidelity after printing; therefore, HA has been chemically modified for cross-linking or mixed with other hydrogels [41].

Fibrinogen, which is a glycoprotein, is reacted with thrombin to convert into fibrin network self-assemblies [42]. Fibrin has many cell-binding motifs that enable cell attachment and vulnerability to proteases for remodeling. Fibrin-based bioink has been used by laser-induced forward transfer—based printing for a 3D multicellular array [43]. To improve the gel stability, HA was added to a fibrinogen solution to print the arrays. Endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFCs) were printed along with adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) in a 3D array to observe cell-cell interactions. These droplet arrays were printed onto a layer of fibrinogen—HA that was spray-treated with a thrombin—calcium chloride solution to induce gelation. The cell-laden droplets were converted into fibrin—HA as they encountered the treated substrate with a residual thrombin solution. Results showed that ASCs initially migrated toward ECFCs with no evidence of ECFC sprouting or migrating. Once ASCs contacted the ECFC aggregates, an explosion of ECFC network sprouts began to extend from the initial droplet position and remained stable networks for several weeks.

Alginate is a naturally derived anionic polysaccharide that exhibits gelation in the presence of bivalent ions such as  $Ca^{2+}$  [44]. Alginate hydrogel has served as a cell delivery material for many tissue engineering and drug delivery applications owing to its ease of preparation and relatively good cell compatibility; however, a major drawback is the lack of mammalian enzymatic degradation, which limits tissue remodeling when implanted. Because the solubility of alginate is low, it is often mixed with other materials to increase the printing resolution as a bioink. For example, alginate solution mixed with cellulose nanofibers improved shear fluidization and viscosity, resulting in high printing resolution. In addition, alginate was cross-linked with the divalent cation  $Ca^{2+}$  to stability the printed construct.

Tissue-specific, ECM-based bioinks have been developed and tested. Technically, ECMs obtained from various decellularized tissues are pulverized and solubilized as bioinks [45]. The approaches combined with tissue-specific ECM-based bioinks and tissue-specific cell types have been shown to be valuable for recapitulating anticipated tissue features [45,46]. However, the ECM solution inherently has a low viscosity and exhibits low shape fidelity and structural stability. Thus, various attempts have been made to enhance their chemical and physical properties in 3D bioprinting.

#### **Biodegradable Synthetic Polymers for Structural Integrity**

Synthetic polymers have some advantages for applications in tissue engineering and 3D bioprinting. These polymers can be synthesized with reproducible quality and fabricated into various structures with predetermined bulk and surface properties. Additional advantages include the ability to tailor their biomechanical properties and biodegradation kinetics for various biomedical applications. In bioprinting, synthetic polymers such as PCL, poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA), and poly(lactic acid) can provide mechanical strength, thereby overcoming limitations of the hydrogel-based constructs regarding size, shape, and structural integrity [47]. For the extrusion method, melted polymers or polymer solutions with proper viscosity are needed. Therefore, PCL is the most commonly available polymer for extrusion-based bioprinting because of its low melting point of 60°C and high printability. Many research groups are exploring the synthesis of polymeric biomaterials for 3D bioprinting.
# Scaffold-Free Cell Printing

3D tissue structure can be printed using multicellular aggregates without supporting materials [48]. This method enables cell aggregates to be dispensed from a capillary to form a 3D structure. Norotte et al. reported a scaffold-free cell printing method using multicellular spheroids consisting of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and fibroblasts and agarose hydrogel for temporary support [49]. After printing, the printed cell aggregates were fused and formed a small-diameter vessel-like tube ranging from 0.9 to 2.5 mm in diameter. Li et al. fabricated vertical channels without using a support material by taking advantage of the gelation behavior of gelatin combined with cross-linking alginate or fibrinogen [50]. Itoh et al. proposed a method to fabricate a scaffold-free vascular tube using cell aggregates [51]. Predesigned 3D tubular structures were constructed with cell aggregates consisting of ECs, SMCs, and fibroblasts. The multicellular aggregates self-organized and fused into a tubular structure that was perfused with a bioreactor. To avoid droplets from forming at the end of the nozzle owing to surface tension, Ozler et al. developed a quantitative model to predict the success of cell aggregate extrusion [48]. This approach can be repeated for different cell types after obtaining their respective rheological properties. In addition, cell viability can depend on the compression ratio applied during printing. Thus, it is necessary first to investigate the impact of compression on their survival rate and cellular functions.

# THREE-DIMENSIONAL BIOPRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPLICATIONS

# **Three-Dimensional Bioprinted Vascular Structures**

A major limitation of bioengineered tissue constructs is the lack of proper vascularization into the implanted constructs. Fully vascularized tissue constructs are required to attain long-term cell survival and tissue functions. 3D tissue constructs packed with metabolically active cells can rapidly form necrotic cores in the absence of a vascular network [52]. The transport of nutrients and other physiologically relevant molecules toward and away from a large tissue construct is still limited [53,54]. When a 3D tissue construct with cells is implanted, efficient mass transfer requires an intact microvasculature to maintain the metabolic functions of cells deep inside the construct. Indeed, the ingrowth of a microvascular system into the implanted bioengineered tissue constructs in a timely manner is the key to success in clinical use [9]. Hence, many attempts have employed 3D bioprinting as a promising technology to fabricate vascularized tissue constructs (Fig. 47.4) [40,49,55].



FIGURE 47.4 Examples of the three-dimensional bioprinted vasculature. (A) Vascular unit printed by Miller et al. [56] The construct shows three compartments consisting of the vascular lumen, the endothelial cell (EC) lining, and the matrix-encapsulated cells. Endothelialized channel walls and the intervessel junction surrounded by human fibroblasts. (B) Engineered tissue construct developed by Kolesky et al. [40] showing channels lined with human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) (*red*) and human neonatal dermal fibroblast–laden gelatin methacrylate (*green*). (C) Hydrogel construct with embedded, connected hollow channels reported by Attalla et al. [57] and cross-section of hollow channel embedded within HUVEC-laden hydrogel. (D) Deposition of ECs and fibrin channel scaffold using thermal inkjet printer described by Cui and Boland [55]. Fluorescent image shows the printed microvasculature after 21 days.

One of the earliest and simplest approaches to fabricating a vascularized tissue construct is to use a sacrificial component that acts as a structural role during printing and is later removed to create a hollow tunnel. Miller et al. reported a vascular casting approach with carbohydrate glass as the sacrificial template; however, vascular networks developed by carbohydrate glass are limited in size and culture duration because of the practical difficulty of direct perfusion [56]. Kolesky et al. attempted to overcome these limitations by fabricating 3D constructs complete with a vasculature including multiple cell types and ECM proteins [40]. Attalla et al. modified a printhead with a microfluidic unit and generated instantly perfusable vascular networks integrated within a cell-seeded hydrogel [57]. The vascular structures were made from alginate using a coaxial nozzle. Cui and Boland reported an inkjet-based printing method with a precise droplet volume of 130 pL to fabricate microchannels [55]. Human microvascular ECs combined with the printing of biomaterials were found to align themselves inside the microchannels and form a confluent microvascular lining. Although bioprinting technologies have evolved to a level of creating complex vascularized constructs with multiple cell types and ECM proteins, reconnection of the vascular structures to the host circulatory system remains challenging. Lee et al. developed a novel bioprinting approach to creating a network from capillaries to large perfused vascular channels [58]. This was achieved by angiogenic sprouting from the large vessel through a natural maturation process. However, these printed constructs are often thin or hollow structures, so they are nourished by diffusion from the host vasculature but not by anastomosing [59]. When the diffusion limit needed by engineered tissues exceeds 150–200 μm, a precise vascular network must be embedded into fabricated constructs, a feat that has not yet been accomplished [60,61]. Efforts to simplify the complex fabrication methods and find new technologies for bioprinting vascular structures are in great need by tissue engineering as a whole.

# In Vitro Tissue Models

Drug discovery is an inefficient process with a high failure rate and an extreme financial burden. Animal studies do not always indicate the results in human trials, and the regulatory environment is becoming stricter as time progresses. In addition, from a moral standpoint, attempts should be made to reduce the number of animal studies conducted. In vitro studies, mostly 2D cell culture methods are also severely limited. Drug response, gene expression, migration, morphology, and viability have all been shown to differ between 2D and 3D environments. Much emphasis has been placed on creating in vitro 3D tissue models to overcome these limitations. Typically, this is done by suspending cells or organoids (or cell aggregates) in a 3D culture within a singular or entire array of microfluidic devices. 3D in vitro assay systems have advanced immensely to a level in which living constructs can closely mimic the native tissue environment in a high-throughput platform. Although several fabrication techniques have been used to develop these models, 3D bioprinting technologies are advantageous owing to their low cost and efficiency, high throughput, excellent reproducibility, and ability to create complex geometries. The two major areas in which 3D printed in vitro tissue models have been applied are cancer research and drug screening systems. Table 47.1 summarizes bioprinting applications for in vitro biological systems.

# **Tumor Models**

3D bioprinting of cells as tumor models are helpful for studying the interaction of immune and tumor cells and for screening new treatments [62]. Xu and Celli et al. introduced a 3D in vitro cancer model using human fibroblasts and ovarian cancer cells on a Matrigel matrix; they showed precise and reproducible control over the cell density and spacing compared with manual ejection by micropipettes [63]. Snyder et al. introduced a similar model in 2011 with human hepatic carcinoma cells and mammary epithelial cells. Cells and the microfluidic device were printed to test the radiation shielding of the prodrug amifostine. Radioprotective benefits for the liver were seen in their in vitro model [64]. Huang et al. examined tumor cell migration in a honeycomb structure with different channel widths (25, 45, and 120 µm) to mirror those of natural blood vessels [65]. HeLa and 10T1/2 cells were seeded within the device and were evaluated in the different channel sizes. HeLa cancer cells showed less morphological changes between channel sizes than did 10T1/2 cells and migrated at higher rates as the channel size decreased. Also looking at bioprinted HeLa cells, Zhao et al. examined the cell response after extrusion in a gelatin-alginate-fibrinogen hydrogel compared with a 2D culture model. Cells in the 3D model showed higher proliferation, matrix metalloproteinase expression, and chemoresistance [28]. Hribar et al. used 3D projection printing to create concave PEG structures that formed and maintained breast cancer spheroids for long-term culture [66]. The breast cancer spheroids exhibited necrotic, hypoxic cores, which are key components of the tumor in vivo microenvironment.

<b>TABLE 47.1</b>	Applications of	Bioprinting In	Vitro Biological Systems
-------------------	-----------------	----------------	--------------------------

Tissue/Organ	<b>Bioprinting Method</b>	Cell Type	Encapsulation Material	Testing	Outcomes	References
Tumor/cancer	Pneumatic cell droplet patterning	Fibroblasts and ovarian cancer cells	Matrigel	Reproducibility and precision of cell density and spacing	Bioprinting methods showed improved performance compared with micropipette ejection	[63]
Tumor/cancer	Temperature controlled, pneumatic extrusion	Hepatic carcinoma and mammary epithelial cells	Matrigel	Radiation shielding capabilities of the prodrug amifostine	Amifostine provided radioprotection to cells, with greatest benefit seen in dual-cell model	[64]
Tumor/cancer	Projection stereolithography (UV exposure)	HeLa and 10T1/2	Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate	The effect of channel width on tumor cell and 10 T1/2 migration and morphology	Tumor cells showed increased migration speed and less change in morphology with smaller channel sizes compared with 10 T1/2	[65]
Tumor/cancer	Extrusion	HeLa	Gelatin–alginate– fibrinogen	Viability, proliferation, MMP expression, and chemoresistance versus 2D culture	3D cell culture increases cancer cell proliferation, MMP expression, and resistance to chemotherapy	[28]
Tumor/cancer	Continuous 3D projection (with nonlinear exposure)	Breast cancer cells	Poly(ethylene glycol)	Long-term culture and validation of breast cancer spheroids	Spheroids showed hypoxic cores and signs of necrosis, key features of tumor environment	[66]
Liver	Extrusion	Hepatocytes	Alginate	Validation of liver cell activity and metabolic performance	Cells were viable, proliferative, synthesized urea, and metabolized 7-ethoxy-4-trifluoromethyl coumarin to 7-hydroxy-4- trifluoromethyl coumarin	[67,68]
Bacterial Infection	Inkjet	Escherichia coli	Alginate	Treatment of <i>E. coli</i> with several common antibiotics	Similar results to current low- throughput, less reproducible, and more expensive methodologies	[69]
Brain	Extrusion and subsequent dissolution of sacrificial resin	Mouse brain endothelial cells	Type 1 collagen microchannels	en Model validation with Permeability decreased over s transendothelial 3 weeks of culture and then permeability recovered over 4 days after measurements and hyperosmotic mannitol disruptior hyperosmotic mannitol		[70]
Lung	Extrusion	Endothelial and epithelial cells	Matrigel	Cell viability, distribution, morphology, and permeability compared with manually placed cells	Printed constructs resulted in more homogeneous cell distributions, proper cell morphologies, lower permeability, and similar viability	[71]

3D, three-dimensional; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase.

#### **Drug Screening Systems**

The number of in vitro drug screening systems has increased immensely in both quality and quantity, ranging from hepatic cells suspended in a microfluidic device to integrated, multiple-tissue, body-on-a-chip systems. Chang et al. used direct cell writing bioprinting to create a 3D microorgan housed using soft lithographic micropatterning [67]. Alginate-encapsulated hepatocytes printed in the microfluidic device were viable and proliferated and were capable of synthesizing urea. This work was furthered by infusing a hepatocyte containing a microfluidic device with 7-ethoxy-4-trifluoromethyl coumarin, which was metabolized into 7-hydroxy-4-trifluoromethyl coumarin, mimicking the in vivo behavior of the liver [68]. Rodriguez-Devora et al. developed an inexpensive drug-screening platform via inkjet bioprinting deposition. *Escherichia coli* were printed in an alginate solution with different antibiotic droplets patterned on the cells, resulting in similar bacteria inhibition compared with the current screening process [69]. An in vitro model of the blood-brain barrier was developed by Kim et al. Mouse brain ECs were cultured within an array of type I collagen microchannels fabricated using microneedles on a 3D printed frame [70]. The model was validated by measuring transendothelial permeability and a disruption experiment by hyperosmotic mannitol. In addition to the blood-brain barrier, an air-blood barrier was developed to model the lung. Horváth et al. developed a model by bioprinting epithelial cells and ECs separated by a basal membrane layer [71]. The bioprinted model was more reproducible and had thinner cell layers than that which could be manufactured using traditional manual methods.

In addition to these already successful in vitro models, several areas for future work stand out in this new field. Work is in progress to incorporate an array of tissue types into the same drug screening platform. Bioprinted in vitro models are also in good position to evaluate gene therapy techniques; however, standardized model systems and industry standards are needed to facilitate comparison across studies. The use of these in vitro models show promise in increasing our understanding of biology, disease progression, organ cross-talk, and many other areas as the field progresses.

# **Tissue Engineering Applications**

Bioprinting has been used in the laboratory to fabricate constructs targeting nearly every tissue types in the body. Although clinical implantation is still rare in this relatively new technology, there have been many successes in vitro and in vivo. Highly detailed, anatomically correct, and patient-specific tissue constructs have been fabricated for a number of tissues and organs. A wide range of cells has been shown to maintain viability, gene expression, and functional capabilities after the printing process. Various stem cells have demonstrated the ability to preserve their differentiation potential and also have been directed by various cues applied during the printing process [72,73]. This section will highlight a select few of the many tissue-specific regenerative medicine applications that have been studied with bioprinting technologies.

#### Bone

Bone regeneration is a natural target application for bioprinting given the importance of anatomical structure to its in vivo function. Conventional 3D printing technologies are in use clinically as patient-specific metal implants [74]. Bioprinting offers a unique and promising alternative to bone grafting because of the wide variety in anatomic location, defect size, and patient-specific morphology for bone pathologies [75,76]. The advantage of bioprinting is especially apparent for bone defects, which also feature a significant cosmetic function such as in craniofacial reconstruction [77]. Fedorovich et al. printed a mixture of Matrigel and alginate hydrogels with endothelial progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) [78]. The constructs were implanted subcutaneously in immunodeficient mice. The researchers were able to demonstrate that incorporating biphasic calcium phosphate microparticles caused the MSCs to differentiate into an osteogenic lineage and caused bone formation within 6 weeks after implantation. Phillippi et al. used inkjet bioprinting to pattern bone morphogenetic protein 2 on primary muscle-derived stem cells on fibrin-coated coverslips [79]. The stem cells differentiated into an osteogenic lineage even under myogenic differentiation media conditions. Keriquel et al. demonstrated in situ bioprinting by delivering nanoscale hydroxyapatite and osteoblasts into mouse calvarial defects, with positive outcomes [80]. Using CT scanning, Yao et al. were able to print anatomically accurate PCL-hydroxyapatite mandible scaffolds that supported physiological loads [81]. Wang et al. examined the degradation profile of printed poly(propylene fumarate) scaffolds as it pertained to pore size, porosity, and mechanical properties [82]. They also developed a novel test for cytotoxicity of the degradation products and determined the scaffolds to be suitable for bone tissue engineering applications. To incorporate biological

materials with bioprinting technology, Pati et al. cultured MSCs onto a printed PCL–PLGA– $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate (TCP) scaffold [83]. The cells deposited ECM during a brief culture period, after which the scaffold was decellularized. In vivo, the ECM-enriched scaffolds induced greater bone formation than did unadorned scaffolds of the same composition.

Many limitations exist, including for large-sized defects and in high—load bearing applications. Lack of perfusion and neovascularization prevent large defects from being treated with bioprinting strategies; further research is needed in this area [84]. In addition, the discovery of new bioprinting-compatible materials and unique structural designs could increase maximum load-bearing applications for these constructs. More work is also needed to match the degradation profiles of scaffolding materials closely with those of the bone remodeling rate. New bone formation is obstructed if the scaffolding material degrades too slowly, but the defect site is left without a load-bearing material if degradation occurs too quickly, damaging nearby tissue. Altogether, bone tissue is one of the more promising target tissue applications for bioprinting owing to its many advantages relative to other tissue engineering strategies and the natural ability of bone to remodel in vivo (Table 47.2).

#### Cartilage

Articular cartilage is imperative to reducing friction and absorbing compressive forces in load-bearing joints with little to no capacity for self-regeneration. Current cartilage tissue engineering strategies are insufficient for reproducing tissue that is equivalent to healthy cartilage [85]. However, there has been greater interest in the zonal differences found in cartilage matrix and cellular composition [86]. Bioprinting presents an appealing tool for constructing stratified scaffolds, especially in patient-specific size and shape of individual lesions [87]. Gruene et al. used laser-induced forward transfer to generate MCS grafts, showing good cell viability, density, and functionality [88]. MSCs were able to differentiate into osteoblasts and chondrocytes and the graft maintained good structural integrity in vitro. Cui et al. loaded chondrocytes into poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate hydrogel and inkjet bioprinted them into an osteochondral plug [89]. The implant had mechanical and biochemical properties similar to native cartilage, and Safranin-O staining revealed good integration with surrounding cartilage tissue. The same group also used their experimental setup to investigate the effects of fibroblast growth factor 2 and transforming growth factor  $\beta 1$  on cartilage generation. Samples were cultured up to 4 weeks, and the highest GAG content was found for samples containing both growth factors, suggesting a synergistic effect between increased cell proliferation and increased chondrogenic phenotype expression [90]. To address some of the limitations of bioprinting, Xu et al. alternated between inkjet-bioprinted layers of rabbit elastic chondrocytes suspended in a fibrin-collagen hydrogel and electrospun PCL [22]. The construct formed cartilage-like tissues in vitro and in vivo demonstrated by type II collagen and GAG deposition. In addition, the scaffolds with electrospun layers showed improved mechanical properties compared with those that were only bioprinted.

In particular, engineering the external ear has been a notably successful area of bioprinting cartilage tissue. The ear is almost completely avascular and aneural, it has a complex geometry, and it serves a largely aesthetic function, which places a greater emphasis on individualizing each prosthetic to the specific patient. Mannoor et al. developed a bionic ear that can translate sound waves into an electrical output [91]. The scaffold was extrusion bioprinted with sodium alginate, silver nanoparticles, and chondrocytes in an ear-shaped geometry around the conductive, sound-translating coil. Lee et al. extrusion printed PCL with PEG as a supporting sacrificial layer [92]. Chondrocytes and adipocytes were differentiated from adipose-derived stromal cells, encapsulated in alginate hydrogel, and dispensed into their respective regions. After 7 days in in vitro culture, immunostaining analysis confirmed chondrogenesis and adipogenesis. We also applied the extrusion-based bioprinting to fabricate a complex shape by making human-sized ear cartilage tissue construct (Fig. 47.5A) [47]. After implantation, the printed ear shape was well-maintained, with cartilage tissue as confirmed by GAG and collagen type II staining. Quantitatively, GAG content increased over time, reaching 20% of that of native ear GAG content at 2 months after implantation.

At this stage, the next challenge for bioprinting as a means for cartilage regeneration is to conduct translational studies. Few in vivo studies have been conducted. The long-term stability of bioprinted cartilage constructs has yet to be demonstrated and no studies have compared these strategies with practices used clinically. However, research in cartilage bioprinting is growing exponentially and exhibits many promising results for the future.

Tissue/Organ	Testing Model	Printing Method	Cell Type	Bioink	Outcomes	References
Bone	In vitro viability and differentiation studies	Extrusion	Endothelial progenitor and multipotent stromal cells	Matrigel and alginate hydrogels	Viability and differentiation capability were unaffected by printing process, and the two distinct cell populations were maintained within a single scaffold	[78]
	In vitro differentiation studies	Inkjet	Primary muscle-derived stem cells	Fibrin	Incorporation of bone morphogenetic protein-2 caused spatially controlled osteogenic lineage differentiation even in myogenic media conditions	[79]
	In situ bioprinting	Laser	Osteoblasts	Glycerol and n-Ha slurry	Successful in situ bioprinting into mouse calvarial defects with minimal side effects	[80]
	In vitro	Extrusion	-	Polycaprolactone- hydroxyapatite	Reconstructed from CT scans, anatomically accurate and supportive of physiological loads	[81]
	In vitro degradation, mechanical, and cytotoxicity	Laser	Fibroblasts	Poly(propylene fumarate)	Scaffolds maintained their mechanical stability, and degradation products did not induce significant cell death	[82]
	In vitro and in vivo bone formation	Extrusion	Mesenchymal stromal cells	PCL/PLGA/B-tricalcium phosphate	Scaffolds which were decellularized after brief culture period induced greater bone formation in vivo	[83]
Cardiac Muscle	In vitro	Extrusion	Spheroids of HUVECs and cardiac cells	Type 1 collagen	Viable cells, fusion and beating at 70 h with early signs of vascularization	[98]
	In vitro	Inkjet	Cardiomyocytes	Alginate	Viability in thickness as high as 1 cm and contraction was observed at macroscopic and microscopic levels	[99]
	In vivo cardiac infarct patch	Laser	HUVECs and human MSCs	Polyester urethane urea	Increased function and vessel formation compared with cell-only treatment 8 weeks postinfarction	[100]
	In vitro	Extrusion	Cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cells	Alginate	Cells demonstrated viability, phenotypic cardiac expression, and ability to migrate from hydrogel	[101]
Cardiac valve	In vitro	Extrusion	Porcine aortic valve interstitial cells	PEGDA and alginate	Anatomical accuracy was confirmed; a range in mechanical properties was obtainable by varying the concentrations of the hydrogels	[6,103,104]
Cartilage	In vitro	Laser	MSCs	None	Good structural integrity and osteoblast and chondrogenic differentiation	[88]
	In vitro	Inkjet	Articular chondrocytes	PEGDMA	Similar mechanical and biochemical properties of native cartilage and good integration with surrounding tissue; fibroblast growth factor 2 and transforming growth factor $\beta$ -1 synergistically improved GAG deposition	[89,90]

# TABLE 47.2 Three-Dimensional Bioprinting Technologies for Tissue Regeneration Applications

Tissue/Organ	Testing Model	Printing Method	Cell Type	Bioink	Outcomes	References
	In vitro and in vivo	Inkjet	Rabbit elastic chondrocytes	Fibrin—collagen	Combined PCL electrospinning and bioprinting technique facilitated type 2 collagen and GAG deposition with improved mechanical properties	[22]
	In vitro	Extrusion	Chondrocytes	Alginate	Biomimetic ear could translate sound waves into an electrical signal and coexist with viable chondrocytes	[91]
	In vitro	Extrusion	Chondrocytes and adipocytes	PCL and PEG (sacrificial) and alginate (encapsulation)	Chondrogenesis and adipogenesis confirmed by immunostaining	[92]
Skin	In situ bioprinting	Extrusion	Amniotic fluid derived stem cells	Fibrin-collagen	Amniotic fluid—derived stem cells outperformed both MSCs and acellular graft	[105]
	In vitro and in vivo	Laser	Fibroblasts and keratinocytes	Collagen	Early indicators of stratum corneum formation and blood vessels after 11 days	[106,107]
	In vivo	Inkjet	Fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and microvascular endothelial cells	Collagen	10% improvement of wound contraction compared to allogeneic skin substitute	[108]
Bone— cartilage	In vitro and in vivo	Extrusion	MSCs and chondrocytes	Alginate	Distinct tissue regions were found after 21 days in culture and 6 weeks after subcutaneous implantation	[113]
	In vitro	Extrusion	Osteoblasts and chondrocytes	Type 1 collagen and hyaluronic acid	Cells showed better proliferation, migration, and function on hydrogels made from their native ECM and performed well in 14-day coculture	[37]
Muscle— tendon	In vitro	Extrusion	Myoblasts and 3T3 fibroblasts	PCL & Polyurethane	Cells were viable after a week in culture and scaffolds showed an appropriate trend in mechanical properties	[96]
Pancreas	In vivo	Extrusion	INS1E β/islets	Alginate and gelatin	Scaffolds were formed and embedded while maintaining cell viability and morphology	[123]
Adipose	In vitro	Laser	Adipose-derived stem cells	Alginate	Cells maintained viability, differentiation potential, and adipogenic gene expression after 10 days	[121]
Neural	In vivo	Extrusion	Bone marrow MSCs and Schwann cells	-	Grafts underperformed autograft controls, but provide a proof-of-concept for future work	[114]
	In vitro	Inkjet	Retinal ganglion cells and glia	-	Good cell viability and growth properties of cells was found after printing	[115]
	In vitro and in vivo	Laser	Neuronal, Schwann, and dorsal root ganglion cells	PEG	After 3 weeks, the nerve guide supported reinnervation across a 3-mm gap equal to that of an autograft	[116]

TABLE 47.2 Three-Dimensional Bioprinting Technologies for Tissue Regeneration Applications-cont'd

*CT*, computed tomography; *FGF-2*, fibroblast growth factor-2; *GAG*, glycosaminoglycan; *HUVECs*, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; *MSCs*, mesenchymal stromal cells; *n-Ha*, nano-hydroxyapatite; *PCL*, polycaprolactone; *PEG*, poly(ethylene glycol); *PEGDA*, poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate; *PEGDMA*, poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate; *PLGA*, poly(lactide-co-glycolide).



**FIGURE 47.5** (A) Bioprinted ear construct: The shape was well-maintained, with substantial cartilage formation upon gross examination. Histological and immunohistochemical analyses showed the typical cartilage tissue formation [47]. (B) Bioprinted organized muscle construct: The retrieved muscle constructs showed well-organized muscle fiber structures, the presence of acetylcholine receptor clusters on the muscle fibers (myosin heavy chain (MHC+) and  $\alpha$ -bungarotoxine ( $\alpha$ -BTX+)), as well as nerve (neurofilament) contacts with  $\alpha$ -BTX+ structures within the implants at 2 weeks after implantation [47]. (C) Bioprinted muscle—tendon unit (MTU): fluorescently labeled dual-cell printed MTU constructs (*green*: DiO-labeled C2C12 cells; *red*: DiI-labeled National Institutes of Health/3T3 cells; *yellow*: interface region between green and red fluorescence) [96]. (D) Bioprinted tracheal construct: Ingrowth of ciliary respiratory epithelium from the normal region was observed in the lumen of the bioprinted construct. Typical morphologies of respiratory mucosa and pseudocolumnar ciliary epithelium with goblet cells were well-developed at 8 weeks after implantation [120]. *DAPI*, 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; *L*, lumen.

#### **Skeletal Muscle and Tendon**

The organized ultrastructure of skeletal muscle is required for muscle contraction and force generation [93]. Because 3D bioprinting mechanism enables control of the spatial organization of cell-laden bioinks, we were able to fabricate highly oriented, muscle-like bundles to engineer skeletal muscle construct (Fig. 47.5B) [47]. The printed, aligned cellular construct began stretching along the longitudinal axis at 3 days in culture, and the constructs underwent compaction from polymeric pillars, keeping the fibers taut during differentiation. The aligned muscle fiber-like structures were observed at 7 days in differentiation medium condition. This bioprinted skeletal muscle construct maintained the tissue organization, followed by tissue maturation and host nerve integration in rats. The results demonstrate that the 3D bioprinting is capable of producing promising the structural and functional characteristics of skeletal muscle constructs in vitro and in vivo.

Tendon has a hierarchical architecture, and tenocytes are aligned along with a dense collagen fibrous structure [94]. To mimic these structural characteristics of the tendon, an electrohydrodynamic jetting printing was introduced to generate a tubular-shape, multilayered tendon construct with highly porous, oriented microscale PCL fibers [95]. The cultured human tenocytes on the bioprinted structure showed a highly cellular orientation, metabolism, and type I collagen expression. 3D bioprinting technologies are particularly useful for composite tissue constructs such as muscle—tendon. We used our integrated tissue and organ printing system to print four different components to fabricate a single integrated muscle—tendon unit (MTU) construct (Fig. 47.5C)

[96]. The printed MTU construct was composed of mechanically heterogeneous polymeric materials that were elastic (polyurethane [PU]) on the muscle side and relatively stiff (PCL) on the tendon side, in addition to having a tissue-specific distribution of cells with C2C12 myoblasts on the muscle side and National Institutes of Health/ 3T3 fibroblasts on the tendon side. Results showed that cells were printed with high cell viability and cellular orientation as well as increased musculotendinous junctional gene expression. It was demonstrated that 3D bioprinting technology enabled a 3D heterogeneous tissue construction with region-specific biological and biomechanical characteristics.

#### **Cardiac Tissue and Heart Valves**

The heart is a complex organ in both shape and tissue organization, both of which are difficult to replicate by other fabrication methods. The ability to control the distribution of different cell types and growth factors spatially make bioprinting an attractive option for cardiac engineering, although only proof-of-concept successes have been accomplished thus far [97]. Jakob et al. were able to use extrusion-based bioprinting to pattern spheroids of HUVECs and cardiac cells on collagen [98]. The cells proved viable after the process; they fused at 70 h into a beating tissue and showed early signs of forming vascularization. Using inkjet bioprinting, Xu et al. printed a half heart shape (with two connected ventricles) with cardiomyocytes encapsulated in an alginate hydrogel [99]. Cell viability was preserved in constructs as thick as 1 cm owing to the designed porosity within the structure, and contraction was observed in vitro at both the microscopic and macroscopic levels. Instead of targeting whole-heart reconstruction, Gaebel et al. developed a cardiac patch for regeneration after cardiac infarction [100]. Using laser-induced forward transfer, HUVECs and human MSCs were patterned on polyester urethane urea and transplanted into the infarct zone. After 8 weeks, increased vessel formation and function were found, compared with a control treatment of bioprinted cells alone. A patch by Gaetani et al. used human cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cells; they were extrusion-bioprinted in a sodium alginate mesh pattern [101]. They demonstrated cell viability, phenotypic expression of cardiac lineage, and the ability to migrate from the alginate, which suggested that bioprinting can be used to define cardiac cell delivery.

Patients with heart valve failure must receive a replacement valve that can be mechanical requiring a lifetime of anticoagulant treatment, or biological, which typically fails within 10–20 years [102]. Bioprinting has gained momentum as a potential heart valve fabrication strategy to mimic the complex geometry and nonhomogeneous material makeup, mechanical properties, and cell distributions that naturally occur in heart valves [102]. Hockaday et al. used a dual ionic and physical cross-linking hydrogel strategy by using a PEGDA sodium alginate composite [6]. The printing accuracy of the aortic valve root wall and trileaflets was confirmed via microCT scanning. By varying PEGDA and alginate concentrations, elastic moduli were found to range from 1.5 to 5.3 kPa. Porcine aortic valve interstitial cells were seeded and cultured on the scaffold for 21 days with nearly 100% viability. Later studies by the same group printed the cells directly within the hydrogel, as opposed to seeding the scaffolds afterward, also with good geometric accuracy, cell viability, and mechanical properties [103,104]. Although these studies are far removed from use in the clinic, they demonstrate that bioprinting technology is amenable to cardiac tissue regeneration and open the door for many future studies focused on improving the current methodology and outcomes.

#### Skin

Bioprinting is an excellent technology for depositing distinct layers. It has been used in an attempt to mirror the layers of native skin, and research in this area has increased significantly. Skardal et al. performed direct in situ printing of amniotic fluid–derived stem cells suspended in the fibrin–collagen hydrogel [105]. Compared with an acellular graft and an MSC graft, amniotic fluid–derived stem cells showed increased microvessel density and capillary diameter. Laser-assisted bioprinting has been used to embed fibroblasts and keratinocytes in collagen [106]. Histology revealed a high density of both cell types and the expression of laminin protein. The same group grafted their construct onto mice and reported early indicators of stratum corneum formation and blood vessels after 11 days [107]. Yanez et al. printed keratinocytes and fibroblasts in collagen as well, but they included human microvascular ECs [108]. When implanted onto the backs of mice and compared with allogeneic skin substitute as a control, wound contraction improved by 10% and histological results appeared similar to those of normal skin. Sweat glands and hair follicles remain elusive, as does commercial and regulatory viability [109]. Nonetheless, skin bioprinting has shown many encouraging successes, and the clinical bioprinting of skin appears to be an impending reality [20].

### **Other Tissue Types**

Many other tissue types have been targeted with bioprinting technology, albeit to a lesser extent than those discussed thus far. This could be caused by a lesser clinical need, a higher difficulty of tissue engineering in general, or a poor match between the advantages of bioprinting and the necessary components for regenerating that tissue. Composite tissues are a major challenge facing regenerative medicine. No organ in the body is completely isolated, and many tissues such as tendons have specific and functional interfaces with other tissue types. Bioprinting is uniquely positioned to address this problem by spatially directing the placement of different cell types, growth factors, and biomaterials [110–112]. Fedorovich et al. extrusion bioprinted MSCs with hydroxyapatite,  $\beta$ -TCP, and biphasic calcium phosphate particles in alginate for one section of the scaffold and chondrocytes in alginate for the other [113]. Distinct tissue formation was found after 21 days in a mixture of osteogenic and chondrogenic media culture as well as after 6 weeks of subcutaneous incubation in vivo. Park et al. bioprinted osteoblasts in collagen I hydrogel and chondrocytes in HA hydrogel with good results after 14 days in vitro, in the process showing that the cells performed better on hydrogels made from their native ECM [37]. Finally, Merceron et al. targeted the MTU using PCL and 3T3 fibroblasts for the tendon zone and PU and myoblasts for the muscle zone [96]. Cells were viable after 7 days, and the scaffold showed appropriate trends in mechanical properties.

Neural tissue has also been addressed by bioprinting. Owens et al. extrusion bioprinted a nerve graft containing bone marrow MSCs and Schwann cells [114]. The grafts were implanted for 10 months in a rat sciatic nerve injury model with autograft controls. The researchers concluded that that bioprinting was a promising approach to nerve grafting. Retinal ganglion cells and glia were piezoelectric inkjet bioprinted by Lorber et al., and the results showed good cell viability and growth-promoting properties in vitro [115]. Pateman et al. used a microsterolithographic technique to print PEG-based nerve guides for nerve repair [116]. In a 3-week, common fibular nerve injury mouse model, the nerve guide was capable of supporting reinnervation across a 3-mm injury with results similar to that of an autograft.

Trachea is mainly composed of tightly stacked cartilage rings and respiratory mucosa in the luminal surface. Several synthetic implants have been used to reconstruct tissue defects [117–119]; however, these implants have been limited in their ability to mimic the tracheal functions biologically and biomechanically. We developed a biomimetic tracheal construct using a 3D bioprinting approach that could reconstruct a partial tracheal defect in a rabbit model (Fig. 47.5D) [120]. The printed tracheal PU constructs provided excellent structural characteristics. In the rabbit tracheal defect model, the printed PU constructs maintained the biomechanical function of the trachea, whereas the microscale porous architecture in the construct allowed cellular infiltration for the biological integration with host tracheal tissue. Moreover, the printed PU scaffold provided a proper microenvironment to facilitate the resurfacing of the ciliated respiratory epithelium and the ingrowth of connective tissue with microvasculature.

Adipose tissue is not often targeted by regenerative medicine strategies, but Gruene et al. [121] laser bioprinted adipose-derived stem cells encapsulated in alginate. They proved that the cells maintained their viability, differentiation ability, and adipogenic gene expression after 10 days in vitro culture. Preliminary progress has also been made in several more complicated organs such as the intestine [122] and pancreas [123]. This section briefly examined the application of bioprinting to specific tissue types. Many studies were excluded because of space constraints; several tissue types that have been explored via bioprinting have not been covered here.

# CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The ultimate goal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine is to reduce patient morbidity and mortality while improving quality of life by producing patient-tailored tissue constructs that induce tissue regeneration. 3D bioprinting technologies hold great promise for achieving this goal. The focus on replicating complex and heterogeneous tissue constructs continues to increase as 3D bioprinting technologies progress. Progression from single, simple tissues such as skin, bone, and cartilage, to organized contractile tissues such as skeletal muscle and cardiac tissue, to composite tissues such as osteochondral tissue and MTUs, and finally to robust organs such as the kidney and heart are under way.

A novel bioink system needs to be developed to improve printability with high-resolution capability and structural maintenance. The availability is limited of biomaterials, including hydrogels and polymers, in 3D bioprinting that can serve as cell delivery bioinks and supporting structures, but which also provide biological properties and mechanical and structural support. Advances in biomaterials depending on 3D bioprinting mechanisms

are necessary for long-term success in tissue engineering applications. An approach that uses the decellularized ECM can provide a tissue-specific microenvironment to the cells. Decellularized ECM-based bioinks are still the closest biological microenvironment that mimics in vivo conditions; thus, tissue-specific ECM-based bioinks are capable of providing critical cues for targeted cell engraftment, survival, and tissue formation.

There must be an increase in knowledge about biological, anatomical, and physiological aspects of complex tissues and organs. In particular, the development of in vitro 3D tissue models to study tissue-specific functions in the body will require a better understanding of morphological, structural, and functional units in tissues or organs. Moreover, the well-known limitation to building a large-scale tissue construct is vascularization in the construct. 3D bioprinting may have a unique capability among the various tissue engineering technologies to overcome this limitation. A few groups have made progress toward printing vascular structures; however, integrating functional microvascular structures into tissue or organ-like constructs has not been accomplished. Approaches to using high porosity, angiogenic factors, and highly organized patterns of vascular cells may encourage vasculogenesis.

Bioprinting methods are able to construct 3D free-form shapes containing multiple cell types, biomaterials, and bioactive molecules, resulting in sophisticated tissue constructs that have the potential to replace damaged or diseased human tissues and organs. Although there is much work to be accomplished to advance these technologies toward successful clinical translation, our efforts will constantly contribute to producing clinically applicable tissue constructs until 3D bioprinting is able to improve the lives of patients.

#### List of Abbreviations

3D Three-dimensional **β-TCP** β-Tricalcium phosphate CAD Computer-aided design CAM Computer-aided manufacturing CT Computed tomography DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid ECM Extracellular matrix GAG Glycosaminoglycan GelMA Gelatin methacrylate HA Hyaluronic acid HUVECs Human umbilical vein endothelial cells MSCs Mesenchymal stem cells PCL Poly(*\varepsilon*-caprolactone) PEG Poly(ethylene glycol) PEGDA Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate PLGA Poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) **UV** Ultraviolet light

#### Glossary

**Bioprinting** The incorporation of biological materials into additive manufacturing techniques, either by directly depositing cells layer by layer or indirectly by three-dimensional printing biologically active materials for later use in cellular applications.

Cross-linking A chemical bond between two polymer chains that changes the overall properties of the material.

Electrospinning A method for producing fibers that uses electrical forces to draw out nanoscale threads of melted polymer material.

Extracellular matrix The environment secreted by cells that biochemically and structurally supports a cellular network.

Extrusion bioprinting Direct contact bioprinting mechanism that relies on pressure or displacement to force material through the syringes.

**Fused deposition modeling** An additive manufacturing technology that extrudes heated material layer by layer to create three-dimensional structures.

High-throughput screening Drug delivery process in which a lot of drugs or chemicals can be tested at a rapid pace.

Hybrid bioprinting Using multiple bioprinting mechanisms in one system to overcome the limitations of each mechanism.

Hydrogel A polymeric gel material in which the main component is water.

In situ bioprinting Bioprinting directly in vivo such as onto a skin wound or into a bone defect, as opposed to bioprinting separately and then surgically placing a scaffold into a defect.

Jetting bioprinting Originating from inkjet printers, this noncontact bioprinting mechanism uses pressure pulses to apply bioink in predetermined locations.

Laser-assisted bioprinting Bioprinting mechanism that uses a focused laser to generate high-pressure bubbles that propel cell-containing material onto a substrate.

**Microfluidic device** A device that is able to manipulate and control the flow of fluids on a microliter to picoliter scale.

Scaffold The material which acts in place of the extracellular matrix, providing a physical, three-dimensional environment for cells to attach, migrate, and proliferate.

848

#### REFERENCES

Micropatterning Precisely controlling the cellular microenvironment on a substrate for the purposes of studying cell behavior.

Perfusion The process of oxygen and other vital nutrients being delivered from the bloodstream to tissues and cells.

**Piezoelectric** A ceramic crystal that creates an electric charge in response to an applied mechanical stress.

Printability The ability and usefulness of a particular material to be applied as a bioink.

**Printing resolution** The smallest dimension that can be controlled by a particular bioprinting system.

Spheroid A three-dimensional conglomerate of cells, often organized into a spherical shape.

**Stereolithography** Three-dimensional printing process in which liquid photopolymer is exposed above a perforated platform and then cross-linked by a UV laser forming the first layer. The platform then lowers exposing a new surface of liquid which the UV laser cross-links to form layer two.

**Structural stability** The ability of a printed construct to maintain its shape.

# References

- Lee M, Wu BM, Dunn JC. Effect of scaffold architecture and pore size on smooth muscle cell growth. J Biomed Mater Res A Dec 15 2008;87(4): 1010-6.
- [2] Tsang VL, Bhatia SN. Three-dimensional tissue fabrication. Adv Drug Deliv Rev September 22, 2004;56(11):1635–47.
- [3] Xue W, Krishna BV, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S. Processing and biocompatibility evaluation of laser processed porous titanium. Acta Biomater November 2007;3(6):1007–18.
- [4] Derby B. Printing and prototyping of tissues and scaffolds. Science November 16, 2012;338(6109):921-6.
- [5] Ozbolat IT, Hospodiuk M. Current advances and future perspectives in extrusion-based bioprinting. Biomaterials January 2016;76:321–43.
- [6] Hockaday LA, Kang KH, Colangelo NW, et al. Rapid 3D printing of anatomically accurate and mechanically heterogeneous aortic valve hydrogel scaffolds. Biofabrication September 2012;4(3):035005.
- [7] Landers R, Mülhaupt R. Desktop manufacturing of complex objects, prototypes and biomedical scaffolds by means of computer-assisted design combined with computer-guided 3D plotting of polymers and reactive oligomers. Macromol Mater Eng 2000;282(1):17–21.
- [8] Landers R, Pfister A, Hübner U, John H, Schmelzeisen R, Mülhaupt R. Fabrication of soft tissue engineering scaffolds by means of rapid prototyping techniques. J Mater Sci 2002;37(15):3107–16.
- [9] Murphy SV, Atala A. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol August 2014;32(8):773-85.
- [10] Cui X, Boland T, D'Lima DD, Lotz MK. Thermal inkjet printing in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Recent Pat Drug Deliv Formul August 2012;6(2):149–55.
- [11] Saunders RE, Gough JE, Derby B. Delivery of human fibroblast cells by piezoelectric drop-on-demand inkjet printing. Biomaterials January 2008;29(2):193–203.
- [12] Skardal A, Zhang J, Prestwich GD. Bioprinting vessel-like constructs using hyaluronan hydrogels crosslinked with tetrahedral polyethylene glycol tetracrylates. Biomaterials August 2010;31(24):6173–81.
- [13] Nakamura M, Kobayashi A, Takagi F, et al. Biocompatible inkjet printing technique for designed seeding of individual living cells. Tissue Eng November–December 2005;11(11–12):1658–66.
- [14] Demirci U, Montesano G. Single cell epitaxy by acoustic picolitre droplets. Lab a Chip September 2007;7(9):1139-45.
- [15] Smith CM, Stone AL, Parkhill RL, et al. Three-dimensional bioassembly tool for generating viable tissue-engineered constructs. Tissue Eng September–October 2004;10(9–10):1566–76.
- [16] Jones N. Science in three dimensions: the print revolution. Nature July 04, 2012;487(7405):22-3.
- [17] De Coppi P, Bartsch Jr G, Siddiqui MM, et al. Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy. Nat Biotechnol January 2007; 25(1):100-6.
- [18] Chrisey DB. Materials processing: the power of direct writing. Science August 11, 2000;289(5481):879-81.
- [19] Kattamis NT, Purnick PE, Weiss R, Arnold CB. Thick film laser induced forward transfer for deposition of thermally and mechanically sensitive materials. Appl Phys Lett 2007;91(17):171120.
- [20] Tan YJ, Tan X, Yeong WY, Tor SB. Hybrid microscaffold-based 3D bioprinting of multi-cellular constructs with high compressive strength: a new biofabrication strategy. Sci Rep December 14, 2016;6:39140.
- [21] Kucukgul C, Ozler B, Karakas HE, Gozuacik D, Koc B. 3D hybrid bioprinting of Macrovascular structures. Procedia Eng 2013;59:183-92.
- [22] Xu T, Binder KW, Albanna MZ, et al. Hybrid printing of mechanically and biologically improved constructs for cartilage tissue engineering applications. Biofabrication March 2013;5(1):015001.
- [23] Shanjani Y, Pan CC, Elomaa L, Yang Y. A novel bioprinting method and system for forming hybrid tissue engineering constructs. Biofabrication December 18, 2015;7(4):045008.
- [24] Mendoza-Buenrostro C, Lara H, Rodriguea C. Hybrid fabrication of a 3D printed geometry embedded with PCL nanofibers for tissue engineering applications. Proceedia Eng 2015;110:128–34.
- [25] Jungst T, Smolan W, Schacht K, Scheibel T, Groll J. Strategies and molecular design criteria for 3D printable hydrogels. Chem Rev February 10, 2016;116(3):1496–539.
- [26] Wang X-F, Lu P-J, Song Y, Sun Y-C, Wang Y-G, Wang Y. Nano hydroxyapatite particles promote osteogenesis in a three-dimensional bioprinting construct consisting of alginate/gelatin/hASCs. RSC Adv 2016;6(8):6832–42.
- [27] Panwar A, Tan LP. Current Status of bioinks for micro-extrusion-based 3D bioprinting. Molecules May 25, 2016;21(6).
- [28] Zhao Y, Yao R, Ouyang L, et al. Three-dimensional printing of Hela cells for cervical tumor model in vitro. Biofabrication September 2014; 6(3):035001.
- [29] Kundu J, Shim JH, Jang J, Kim SW, Cho DW. An additive manufacturing-based PCL-alginate-chondrocyte bioprinted scaffold for cartilage tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med November 2015;9(11):1286–97.
- [30] Wu W, DeConinck A, Lewis JA. Omnidirectional printing of 3D microvascular networks. Adv Mater June 24, 2011;23(24):H178-83.
- [31] Fedorovich NE, Swennen I, Girones J, et al. Evaluation of photocrosslinked Lutrol hydrogel for tissue printing applications. Biomacromolecules July 13, 2009;10(7):1689–96.

#### 47. THREE-DIMENSIONAL TISSUE AND ORGAN PRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [32] Peppas NA, Keys KB, Torres-Lugo M, Lowman AM. Poly(ethylene glycol)-containing hydrogels in drug delivery. J Control Release November 01, 1999;62(1-2):81-7.
- [33] Wang Z, Abdulla R, Parker B, Samanipour R, Ghosh S, Kim K. A simple and high-resolution stereolithography-based 3D bioprinting system using visible light crosslinkable bioinks. Biofabrication December 22, 2015;7(4):045009.
- [34] Skardal A, Devarasetty M, Kang HW, et al. A hydrogel bioink toolkit for mimicking native tissue biochemical and mechanical properties in bioprinted tissue constructs. Acta Biomater October 2015;25:24–34.
- [35] Duarte Campos DF, Blaeser A, Korsten A, et al. The stiffness and structure of three-dimensional printed hydrogels direct the differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells toward adipogenic and osteogenic lineages. Tissue Eng Part A February 2015;21(3–4):740–56.
- [36] Zhang Y, Cheng X, Wang J, et al. Novel chitosan/collagen scaffold containing transforming growth factor-beta1 DNA for periodontal tissue engineering. Biochem Biophys Res Commun May 26, 2006;344(1):362–9.
- [37] Park JY, Choi JC, Shim JH, et al. A comparative study on collagen type I and hyaluronic acid dependent cell behavior for osteochondral tissue bioprinting. Biofabrication September 2014;6(3):035004.
- [38] Lee W, Debasitis JC, Lee VK, et al. Multi-layered culture of human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes through three-dimensional freeform fabrication. Biomaterials March 2009;30(8):1587–95.
- [39] Rutz AL, Hyland KE, Jakus AE, Burghardt WR, Shah RN. A multimaterial bioink method for 3D printing tunable, cell-compatible hydrogels. Adv Mater March, 04 2015;27(9):1607–14.
- [40] Kolesky DB, Truby RL, Gladman AS, Busbee TA, Homan KA, Lewis JA. 3D bioprinting of vascularized, heterogeneous cell-laden tissue constructs. Adv Mater May 21, 2014;26(19):3124–30.
- [41] Schuurman W, Levett PA, Pot MW, et al. Gelatin-methacrylamide hydrogels as potential biomaterials for fabrication of tissue-engineered cartilage constructs. Macromol Biosci May 2013;13(5):551–61.
- [42] Nair LS, Laurencin CT. Biodegradable polymers as biomaterials. Prog Polym Sci Aug-Sep;32(8-9):762-98.
- [43] Gruene M, Pflaum M, Hess C, et al. Laser printing of three-dimensional multicellular arrays for studies of cell-cell and cell-environment interactions. Tissue Eng Part C Methods October 2011;17(10):973–82.
- [44] Jin R, Dijkstra PJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering applications. In: Ottenbrite RM, Park K, Okano T, editors. Biomedical applications of hydrogels handbook. New York, NY: Springer; 2010. p. 203–25.
- [45] Pati F, Jang J, Ha DH, et al. Printing three-dimensional tissue analogues with decellularized extracellular matrix bioink. Nat Commun 2014;5: 3935.
- [46] Badylak SF. The extracellular matrix as a scaffold for tissue reconstruction. Semin Cell Dev Biol October 2002;13(5):377-83.
- [47] Kang HW, Lee SJ, Ko IK, Kengla C, Yoo JJ, Atala AA. 3D bioprinting system to produce human-scale tissue constructs with structural integrity. Nat Biotechnol March 2016;34(3):312–9.
- [48] Ozler SB, Bakirci E, Kucukgul C, Koc B. Three-dimensional direct cell bioprinting for tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2017;105(8):2530–44.
- [49] Norotte C, Marga FS, Niklason LE, Forgacs G. Scaffold-free vascular tissue engineering using bioprinting. Biomaterials October 2009;30(30): 5910–7.
- [50] Li S, Xiong Z, Wang X, Yan Y, Liu H, Zhang R. Direct fabrication of a hybrid cell/hydrogel construct by a double-nozzle assembling technology. J Bioact Compat Polym 2009;24(3):249–65.
- [51] Itoh M, Nakayama K, Noguchi R, et al. Scaffold-free tubular tissues created by a Bio-3D printer undergo remodeling and endothelialization when implanted in rat aortae. PLoS One 2015;10(9):e0136681.
- [52] Radisic M, Yang L, Boublik J, et al. Medium perfusion enables engineering of compact and contractile cardiac tissue. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol February 2004;286(2):H507–16.
- [53] Melchels FPW, Domingos MAN, Klein TJ, Malda J, Bartolo PJ, Hutmacher DW. Additive manufacturing of tissues and organs. Prog Polym Sci 2012;37(8):1079–104.
- [54] Mondy WL, Cameron D, Timmermans JP, et al. Computer-aided design of microvasculature systems for use in vascular scaffold production. Biofabrication September 2009;1(3):035002.
- [55] Cui X, Boland T. Human microvasculature fabrication using thermal inkjet printing technology. Biomaterials October 2009;30(31):6221-7.
- [56] Miller JS, Stevens KR, Yang MT, et al. Rapid casting of patterned vascular networks for perfusable engineered three-dimensional tissues. Nat Mater September 2012;11(9):768–74.
- [57] Attalla R, Ling C, Selvaganapathy P. Fabrication and characterization of gels with integrated channels using 3D printing with microfluidic nozzle for tissue engineering applications. Biomed Microdevices February 2016;18(1):17.
- [58] Lee VK, Lanzi AM, Haygan N, Yoo SS, Vincent PA, Dai G. Generation of multi-scale vascular network system within 3D hydrogel using 3D bio-printing technology. Cell Mol Bioeng September 2014;7(3):460–72.
- [59] Schubert C, van Langeveld MC, Donoso LA. Innovations in 3D printing: a 3D overview from optics to organs. Br J Ophthalmol February 2014;98(2):159–61.
- [60] Gross BC, Erkal JL, Lockwood SY, Chen C, Spence DM. Evaluation of 3D printing and its potential impact on biotechnology and the chemical sciences. Anal Chem April 01, 2014;86(7):3240–53.
- [61] Ozbolat IT, Yu Y. Bioprinting toward organ fabrication: challenges and future trends. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng March 2013;60(3):691-9.
- [62] Feder-Mengus C, Ghosh S, Reschner A, Martin I, Spagnoli GC. New dimensions in tumor immunology: what does 3D culture reveal? Trends Mol Med August 2008;14(8):333–40.
- [63] Xu F, Celli J, Rizvi I, Moon S, Hasan T, Demirci U. A three-dimensional in vitro ovarian cancer coculture model using a high-throughput cell patterning platform. Biotechnol J February 2011;6(2):204–12.
- [64] Snyder JE, Hamid Q, Wang C, et al. Bioprinting cell-laden matrigel for radioprotection study of liver by pro-drug conversion in a dual-tissue microfluidic chip. Biofabrication September 2011;3(3):034112.
- [65] Huang TQ, Qu X, Liu J, Chen S. 3D printing of biomimetic microstructures for cancer cell migration. Biomed Microdevices February 2014; 16(1):127–32.
- [66] Hribar KC, Finlay D, Ma X, et al. Nonlinear 3D projection printing of concave hydrogel microstructures for long-term multicellular spheroid and embryoid body culture. Lab a Chip June 07, 2015;15(11):2412–8.

#### 850

#### REFERENCES

- [67] Chang R, Nam J, Sun W. Direct cell writing of 3D microorgan for in vitro pharmacokinetic model. Tissue Eng Part C Methods June 2008;14(2): 157–66.
- [68] Chang R, Emami K, Wu H, Sun W. Biofabrication of a three-dimensional liver micro-organ as an in vitro drug metabolism model. Biofabrication December 2010;2(4):045004.
- [69] Rodriguez-Devora JI, Zhang B, Reyna D, Shi ZD, Xu T. High throughput miniature drug-screening platform using bioprinting technology. Biofabrication September 2012;4(3):035001.
- [70] Kim JA, Kim HN, Im SK, Chung S, Kang JY, Choi N. Collagen-based brain microvasculature model in vitro using three-dimensional printed template. Biomicrofluidics March 2015;9(2):024115.
- [71] Horvath L, Umehara Y, Jud C, Blank F, Petri-Fink A, Rothen-Rutishauser B. Engineering an in vitro air-blood barrier by 3D bioprinting. Sci Rep January 22, 2015;5:7974.
- [72] Tricomi BJ, Dias AD, Corr DT. Stem cell bioprinting for applications in regenerative medicine. Ann N Y Acad Sci November 2016;1383(1): 115-24.
- [73] Irvine SA, Venkatraman SS. Bioprinting and differentiation of stem cells. Molecules September 08, 2016;21(9).
- [74] Hsu AR, Ellington JK. Patient-specific 3-dimensional printed titanium Truss cage with Tibiotalocalcaneal Arthrodesis for Salvage of Persistent distal Tibia Nonunion. Foot Ankle Spec December 2015;8(6):483–9.
- [75] Jeong CG, Atala A. 3D printing and biofabrication for load bearing tissue engineering. Adv Exp Med Biol 2015;881:3-14.
- [76] Bose S, Vahabzadeh S, Bandyopadhyay A. Bone tissue engineering using 3D printing. Mater Today 2013;16(12):496–504.
- [77] Visscher DO, Farre-Guasch E, Helder MN, et al. Advances in bioprinting technologies for craniofacial reconstruction. Trends Biotechnol September 2016;34(9):700–10.
- [78] Fedorovich NE, De Wijn JR, Verbout AJ, Alblas J, Dhert WJ. Three-dimensional fiber deposition of cell-laden, viable, patterned constructs for bone tissue printing. Tissue Eng Part A January 2008;14(1):127–33.
- [79] Phillippi JA, Miller E, Weiss L, Huard J, Waggoner A, Campbell P. Microenvironments engineered by inkjet bioprinting spatially direct adult stem cells toward muscle- and bone-like subpopulations. Stem Cells January 2008;26(1):127–34.
- [80] Keriquel V, Guillemot F, Arnault I, et al. In vivo bioprinting for computer- and robotic-assisted medical intervention: preliminary study in mice. Biofabrication March 2010;2(1):014101.
- [81] Yao Q, Wei B, Guo Y, et al. Design, construction and mechanical testing of digital 3D anatomical data-based PCL-HA bone tissue engineering scaffold. J Mater Sci Mater Med January 2015;26(1):5360.
- [82] Wang MO, Piard CM, Melchiorri A, Dreher ML, Fisher JP. Evaluating changes in structure and cytotoxicity during in vitro degradation of three-dimensional printed scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part A May 2015;21(9–10):1642–53.
- [83] Pati F, Song TH, Rijal G, Jang J, Kim SW, Cho DW. Ornamenting 3D printed scaffolds with cell-laid extracellular matrix for bone tissue regeneration. Biomaterials January 2015;37:230–41.
- [84] Barabaschi GD, Manoharan V, Li Q, Bertassoni LE. Engineering Pre-vascularized scaffolds for bone regeneration. Adv Exp Med Biol 2015; 881:79–94.
- [85] Makris EA, Gomoll AH, Malizos KN, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Repair and tissue engineering techniques for articular cartilage. Nat Rev Rheumatol January 2015;11(1):21–34.
- [86] Tatman PD, Gerull W, Sweeney-Easter S, Davis JI, Gee AO, Kim DH. Multiscale biofabrication of articular cartilage: bioinspired and biomimetic approaches. Tissue Eng Part B Rev December 2015;21(6):543–59.
- [87] Di Bella C, Fosang A, Donati DM, Wallace GG, Choong PF. 3D bioprinting of cartilage for orthopedic surgeons: reading between the lines. Front Surg 2015;2:39.
- [88] Gruene M, Deiwick A, Koch L, et al. Laser printing of stem cells for biofabrication of scaffold-free autologous grafts. Tissue Eng Part C Methods January 2011;17(1):79–87.
- [89] Cui X, Breitenkamp K, Finn MG, Lotz M, D'Lima DD. Direct human cartilage repair using three-dimensional bioprinting technology. Tissue Eng Part A June 2012;18(11–12):1304–12.
- [90] Cui X, Breitenkamp K, Lotz M, D'Lima D. Synergistic action of fibroblast growth factor-2 and transforming growth factor-beta1 enhances bioprinted human neocartilage formation. Biotechnol Bioeng September 2012;109(9):2357–68.
- [91] Mannoor MS, Jiang Z, James T, et al. 3D printed bionic ears. Nano Lett June 12, 2013;13(6):2634-9.
- [92] Lee JS, Hong JM, Jung JW, Shim JH, Oh JH, Cho DW. 3D printing of composite tissue with complex shape applied to ear regeneration. Biofabrication June 2014;6(2):024103.
- [93] Ostrovidov S, Hosseini V, Ahadian S, et al. Skeletal muscle tissue engineering: methods to form skeletal myotubes and their applications. Tissue Eng Part B Rev October 2014;20(5):403–36.
- [94] Goh JC, Ouyang HW, Toh SL, Lee EH. Tissue engineering techniques in tendon and ligament replacement. Med J Malaysia May 2004; 59(Suppl B):47–8.
- [95] Wu Y, Wang Z, Ying Hsi Fuh J, San Wong Y, Wang W, San Thian E. Direct E-jet printing of three-dimensional fibrous scaffold for tendon tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2017;105(3):616–27.
- [96] Merceron TK, Burt M, Seol YJ, et al. A 3D bioprinted complex structure for engineering the muscle-tendon unit. Biofabrication June 17, 2015; 7(3):035003.
- [97] Mosadegh B, Xiong G, Dunham S, Min JK. Current progress in 3D printing for cardiovascular tissue engineering. Biomed Mater March 16, 2015;10(3):034002.
- [98] Jakab K, Norotte C, Damon B, et al. Tissue engineering by self-assembly of cells printed into topologically defined structures. Tissue Eng Part A March 2008;14(3):413–21.
- [99] Xu T, Baicu C, Aho M, Zile M, Boland T. Fabrication and characterization of bio-engineered cardiac pseudo tissues. Biofabrication September 2009;1(3):035001.
- [100] Gaebel R, Ma N, Liu J, et al. Patterning human stem cells and endothelial cells with laser printing for cardiac regeneration. Biomaterials December 2011;32(35):9218–30.
- [101] Gaetani R, Doevendans PA, Metz CH, et al. Cardiac tissue engineering using tissue printing technology and human cardiac progenitor cells. Biomaterials February 2012;33(6):1782–90.

#### 47. THREE-DIMENSIONAL TISSUE AND ORGAN PRINTING IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [102] Jana S, Lerman A. Bioprinting a cardiac valve. Biotechnol Adv December 2015;33(8):1503-21.
- [103] Duan B, Hockaday LA, Kang KH, Butcher JT. 3D bioprinting of heterogeneous aortic valve conduits with alginate/gelatin hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res a May 2013;101(5):1255–64.
- [104] Duan B, Kapetanovic E, Hockaday LA, Butcher JT. Three-dimensional printed trileaflet valve conduits using biological hydrogels and human valve interstitial cells. Acta Biomater May 2014;10(5):1836–46.
- [105] Skardal A, Mack D, Kapetanovic E, et al. Bioprinted amniotic fluid-derived stem cells accelerate healing of large skin wounds. Stem Cells Transl Med November 2012;1(11):792–802.
- [106] Koch L, Deiwick A, Schlie S, et al. Skin tissue generation by laser cell printing. Biotechnol Bioeng July 2012;109(7):1855-63.
- [107] Michael S, Sorg H, Peck CT, et al. Tissue engineered skin substitutes created by laser-assisted bioprinting form skin-like structures in the dorsal skin fold chamber in mice. PLoS One 2013;8(3):e57741.
- [108] Yanez M, Rincon J, Dones A, De Maria C, Gonzales R, Boland T. In vivo assessment of printed microvasculature in a bilayer skin graft to treat full-thickness wounds. Tissue Eng Part A January 2015;21(1–2):224–33.
- [109] Higgins CA, Chen JC, Cerise JE, Jahoda CA, Christiano AM. Microenvironmental reprogramming by three-dimensional culture enables dermal papilla cells to induce de novo human hair-follicle growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A December 03, 2013;110(49):19679–88.
- [110] Qu D, Mosher CZ, Boushell MK, Lu HH. Engineering complex orthopaedic tissues via strategic biomimicry. Ann Biomed Eng March 2015; 43(3):697–717.
- [111] Atesok K, Doral MN, Karlsson J, et al. Multilayer scaffolds in orthopaedic tissue engineering. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc July 2016;24(7):2365–73.
- [112] Baldino L, Cardea S, Maffulli N, Reverchon E. Regeneration techniques for bone-to-tendon and muscle-to-tendon interfaces reconstruction. Br Med Bull March 2016;117(1):25–37.
- [113] Fedorovich NE, Schuurman W, Wijnberg HM, et al. Biofabrication of osteochondral tissue equivalents by printing topologically defined, cellladen hydrogel scaffolds. Tissue Eng Part C Methods January 2012;18(1):33–44.
- [114] Owens CM, Marga F, Forgacs G, Heesch CM. Biofabrication and testing of a fully cellular nerve graft. Biofabrication December 2013;5(4): 045007.
- [115] Lorber B, Hsiao WK, Hutchings IM, Martin KR. Adult rat retinal ganglion cells and glia can be printed by piezoelectric inkjet printing. Biofabrication March 2014;6(1):015001.
- [116] Pateman CJ, Harding AJ, Glen A, et al. Nerve guides manufactured from photocurable polymers to aid peripheral nerve repair. Biomaterials May 2015;49:77–89.
- [117] Jacobs WC, van der Gaag NA, Kruyt MC, et al. Total disc replacement for chronic discogenic low back pain: a Cochrane review. Spine January 1, 2013;38(1):24–36.
- [118] Pezzotti G, Yamamoto K. Artificial hip joints: the biomaterials challenge. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater March 2014;31:3-20.
- [119] Tokunaga S, Tominaga R. Artificial valves "up to date" in Japan. J Artif Organs July 2010;13(2):77-87.
- [120] Jung SY, Lee SJ, Kim HY, et al. 3D printed polyurethane prosthesis for partial tracheal reconstruction: a pilot animal study. Biofabrication October 27, 2016;8(4):045015.
- [121] Gruene M, Pflaum M, Deiwick A, et al. Adipogenic differentiation of laser-printed 3D tissue grafts consisting of human adipose-derived stem cells. Biofabrication March 2011;3(1):015005.
- [122] Wengerter BC, Emre G, Park JY, Geibel J. Three-dimensional printing in the intestine. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol August 2016;14(8):1081-5.
- [123] Marchioli G, van Gurp L, van Krieken PP, et al. Fabrication of three-dimensional bioplotted hydrogel scaffolds for islets of Langerhans transplantation. Biofabrication May 28, 2015;7(2):025009.
- [124] Xu T, Zhao W, Zhu JM, Albanna MZ, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Complex heterogeneous tissue constructs containing multiple cell types prepared by inkjet printing technology. Biomaterials January 2013;34(1):130–9.
- [125] Bourget JM, Kerouredan O, Medina M, et al. Patterning of endothelial cells and mesenchymal stem cells by laser-assisted bioprinting to study cell migration. BioMed Res Int 2016;2016:3569843.

#### 852

# Biomineralization and Bone Regeneration

Kunal J. Rambhia, Peter X. Ma The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

# DEVELOPMENT AND FRACTURE OF BONE

# Bone Development

Normal bone formation takes place by two different processes: endochondral ossification and intramembranous ossification. The endochondral ossification process features a sequential formation and degradation of cartilaginous tissue. By contrast, intramembranous ossification occurs by direct differentiation of precursor cells into mature osteoblasts [1].

Limbs of the body undergo endochondral ossification whereas the flat bones in the skull are formed by intramembranous ossification. Although these two processes are regulated by many of the same signaling molecules, the means by which cells differentiate and form bone are vastly different. In intramembranous ossification, precursor cranial neural crest cells differentiate into osteoblasts, which are bone-forming cells [2,3]. By contrast, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) establish a cartilage template, which is subsequently mineralized to form cortical bone during endochondral ossification [4]. During embryonic development, specific embryologic zones are defined for the formation of precisely defined structures of cartilage and bone. These early processes are regulated by several signals including soluble growth and differentiation factors, as well as cell–cell and cell–extracellular matrix (ECM) interactions. During an initial commitment phase, cells that will form bone are committed in a defined time and space. After initial commitment, cells are then differentiated into the terminal and mature cell phenotypes that are needed to construct bone.

# Fracture Healing

In some ways, bone fracture healing is similar to the process of initial bone development, as described earlier [5]. It involves the establishment of an environment that drives the differentiation of precursor cells to repair and replenish the tissue at the site of the injury. Fracture healing has several distinct features. After a fracture occurs, there is an immediate inflammatory response that recruits activated macrophages and polymorphonuclear neutrophils to the site of injury. The macrophages release multiple factors that stimulate the formation of a hematoma. Granulation tissue fibroblasts then proliferate to form a blastema. Osteoprogenitor cells are then recruited from the periosteum, surrounding soft tissue, and bone marrow at the site of the fracture. These cells differentiate into chondrocytes and osteoblasts to repair the fracture. Several soluble growth and differentiation factors influence this process. Mitogenic growth factors, and platelet-derived growth factors. Differentiation factors such as bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) induce the differentiation of precursors into osteoblasts and chondrocytes. Typically, differentiation follows a proliferative phase, so BMPs are often found in higher concentrations later in the healing process.

# PRINCIPLES OF BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING

For fractures to be healed successfully, a sufficient number of precursor cells must be present at the site of injury and they must be directed toward osteogenic differentiation. Cells can be recruited in vivo or implanted directly. Expression of signaling factors can be upregulated or they, too, can be applied directly. The signals must be given in appropriate time course and quantity to stimulate cell growth and differentiation in a controlled manner.

Although fractures can heal naturally without intervention, larger defects require clinical interventions to repair or regenerate bone. These are referred to as critical-size defects. The reference standard treatment of these defects is autologous bone grafting, a process by which donor bone tissue removed from the patient's hip is shaped according to the site of injury and surgically implanted into the defect site. These grafts contain viable cells, signaling factors, and a matrix that can support healing. However, the success of these grafts is variable, the surgical intervention has associated risks, and donor site morbidity has been reported as a complication of this treatment.

In this chapter, we provide an updated overview of the state of bone tissue engineering as a means for treating bone defects and disease [6]. Bone tissue engineering provides an alternative method to regenerate bone while eliminating some limitations associated with grafts. In tissue engineering, a precisely engineered scaffold can be combined with an appropriate osteoprogenitor cell type and relevant growth and differentiation factors [7]. Damaged tissue sites that reach critical sizes can have limited self-healing potential in terms of the availability of precursor cells and concentration of growth and differentiation factors, as well as by scarring or inflammation. Thus, delivery of cells and growth factors can boost the efficacy of bioengineered scaffolds for bone regeneration in these cases. Nucleotide and gene delivery [8] and immune modulation [9] are also being pursued in bone and bone regeneration research.

# STEM CELLS IN BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING

Stem cells are defined cell populations with the capacity for self-renewal and the potential for differentiation to multiple cell fates [10]. In bone tissue engineering, adult MSCs, which are often derived from bone marrow, are the most common cell type used to regenerate bone. Other cell types frequently used in the field include embryonic stem cells (ESCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs).

# Mesenchymal Stem Cells

MSCs are a common cell source for bone regeneration therapies because they are easily obtained and amplified. They are a multipotent cell type and have low immunogenicity. In vivo, MSCs develop into cells that make up bone, cartilage, and fat. MSCs have been isolated from fetal blood, liver, and umbilical cord, but they are most frequently derived from bone marrow. In culture, they exhibit fibroblastic morphology. They easily adhere to plastic dishes and flasks and can be expanded in culture for several passages without loss of phenotype.

Osteogenic differentiation of MSCs can be stimulated in vitro by an induction media supplemented with dexamethasone, ascorbic acid (vitamin C), and  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate. Exposure to osteogenic media causes upregulation of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity and expression of two transcription factors that direct osteogenic differentiation, runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) and osterix in MSCs during early stages of differentiation. During later stages, expression of matrix proteins including osteocalcin, osteopontin, and bone sialoprotein can be observed. Deposition of calcium within the ECM is also observed as osteogenic differentiation progresses (Table 48.1).

#### Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

Like bone marrow, white adipose tissue is mesodermally derived and contains endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and MSCs. The MSCs can be isolated from adipose tissue and expanded in culture. These cells (ADSCs) behave similarly in culture to MSCs obtained from bone marrow. They are multipotent and highly proliferative and can be obtained in large numbers with minimal invasiveness. ADSCs can be directed toward osteogenic differentiation with the same induction media used for MSCs. Given their similarities to bone marrow–derived MSCs, ADSCs are a clinically relevant cell source with potential for use in bone tissue engineering. However, compared with MSCs from other sources, the efficiency of osteogenic differentiation of ADSCs is low in both in vitro and in vivo

#### TABLE 48.1 Markers of Osteogenic Differentiation

Marker of Osteogenic Differentiation	Highest Expression During Stages of Osteogenic Differentiation	Function	
Alkaline phosphatase (ALP)	Early	The function of ALP is not well-described; however, it is thought to have a role in promoting calcification of tissue [133].	
Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2)	Early	Runx2 is a transcription factor that activates osteogenic genes and has a role in cell fate determination of mesenchymal stem cell to osteoprogenitor cells [134].	
Osterix	Early	Osterix is a transcription factor that acts downstream of Runx2 to direct osteogenic differentiation [135]	
Osteocalcin	Late	Osteocalcin is the most abundant noncollagenous protein in bone extracellular matrix. It serves as a metabolic regulator of bone [136].	
Bone sialoprotein (BSP)	Late	Extracellular matrix protein of bone that regulates the microenvironment of osteoblasts, hypertrophic chondrocytes, and osteoclasts. Regulates bone formation, mineralization, and turnover [137].	
Osteopontin	Late	Similar to BSP, osteopontin is an extracellular matrix protein that regulates mineralization and bone matrix quality [138].	

studies [11–13]. Therefore, many researchers have designed studies that aim to increase osteogenic differentiation of ADSCs by treating cells with osteogenic growth factors or introducing osteoconductive scaffolds [13].

# **Embryonic Stem Cells**

ESCs are derived from fertilized embryos, typically donated from embryos that are not used after in vitro fertilization. These cells are grown in a plastic dish on a layer of feeder cells that maintain ESCs in their undifferentiated, pluripotent state. To differentiate ESCs, the cells are allowed to clump, forming embryoid bodies that can then be subjected to distinct culture conditions and develop into all three primordial germ layers. Direct differentiation of ESCs or differentiation of ESCs to an intermediate MSC stage can be used in tissue engineering applications [14]. Culture of committed cells is conducted in monolayer and supplemented with lineage-specific media conditions. Osteogenic differentiation. Although ESCs have greater capacity for self-renewal and can result in more tissue types compared with MSCs, ethical issues and complex culture requirements complicate their clinical and research use.

Nonetheless, human ESCs (hESC) or hESC-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells have been seeded onto an osteoconductive nanofibrous scaffold and subsequently treated with osteogenic factors. These culture conditions guide the osteogenic differentiation of hESC-derived cells in three dimension (3D) and demonstrate the potential role of hESCs in bone tissue engineering [14,15].

### Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

As an alternative to the controversial use of ESCs, iPSCs were developed to have the same capacity for selfrenewal and pluripotency as ESCs. These cells are adult cells that have been reprogrammed to behave like ESCs. When iPSCs were initially described in 2006, researchers exposed mouse embryonic or adult fibroblasts to four factors under culture conditions used to maintain ESCs. The resulting cells had the same morphology, growth properties, and gene expression as ESCs and formed tumors of all three germ layers [16]. These cells were referred to as iPSCs.

The innovation of iPSCs was revolutionary to the field of stem cell biology, because it opened new areas of research into cell fate determination. It also opened the door to the use of iPSCs in tissue engineering. Several studies combined iPSCs or iPSC-derived cells with tissue engineering constructs to regenerate bone. In tissue engineering, one of the most appealing characteristics of iPSCs is that they originate from a patient with a tissue defect. The ability

to isolate and proliferate a patient-specific cell source would alleviate the risks in tissue engineering of allogenic graft rejection or disease transmission.

Several methods and several adult cell types are being used to generate iPSCs. The most common of these methods is exposure of cells to exogenous factors, genetic modification by viruses, and other methods of genetic alteration [17,18]. Researchers are pursuing methods that increase the efficiency of reprogramming and reduce the risk for tumor formation [17,19–22]. As methods improve to reprogram adult somatic cells, so does the variety of cell types that can be reprogrammed to iPSCs. In humans, dermal fibroblasts are among the most common cells used for iPSC generation. Other cell types that have been reprogrammed include dental and oral cells, cord blood cells, and peripheral blood cells [23].

Human and murine iPSCs show promise for osteogenic differentiation [24,25] and in bone tissue engineering [26–31]. Like other cell types, human iPSCs and cells derived from iPSCs can be seeded onto scaffolds and differentiated bone-forming osteoblasts.

# SCAFFOLDS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING

#### Scaffolding Design Criteria

Scaffolds engineered for bone regeneration are designed to support cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, and differentiation [7,32–34]. Key features of a supportive architecture for bone tissue engineering scaffold include a controlled porous microstructure, high interconnectivity between pores, mechanical stability, a controlled degradation rate, and osteoconductive interaction with cells. The porous microstructure facilitates the ingrowth of cells and enhances the regeneration of tissue. Interconnectivity of pores allows for uniform cell seeding and nutrient exchange. Scaffolds are designed to degrade at controlled rates to match the rate of formation of new tissue. Finally, the structure and microenvironment of scaffolds are conducive to differentiation of precursor cells into osteoblasts and to support functional activities of osteoblasts in bone regeneration. In addition, it was found that a fibrous nanostructure could enhance osteoconductive characteristics of scaffolds for bone tissue engineering [35]. Nanofibers mimic the native ECM of bone and nanofibrous scaffolds support enhanced osteogenic differentiation compared with non-nanofibrous scaffolds. Nanofibrous scaffolds were shown to enhance osteogenic differentiation in vitro and heal critical size calvarial defects better in a rat model compared with solid-walled scaffolds [36,37].

To fabricate porous 3D scaffolds and microspheres for bone regeneration, a variety of processing techniques have been developed. These include solvent casting/particulate leaching [38,39], gas foaming [40,41], emulsion freeze-drying [42], electrospinning [43,44], rapid prototyping [45,46], and thermally induced phase separation (TIPS) [47–49]. Each of these methods has advantages and disadvantages that are discussed at length in several review articles [7,35,50–52]. This chapter will not provide an exhaustive description of processing techniques. Instead, it will focus on how scaffolding design can be used to improve bone tissue engineering with respect to porosity, interconnectivity, mechanical strength, elastic modulus, morphology, and surface properties.

### Porous and Highly Interconnected Scaffolds

The porosity and interconnectivity of pores in scaffolds are important for uniform distribution of cells when seeded on a scaffold. A classical method to obtain porous scaffolds is the solvent casting/salt leaching method [38]. The process involves casting a mixture of polymer solution and salt (NaCl) into a mold. Subsequent drying of the mixture and leaching of the salt with water result in a porous structure. The pore size and porosity of the scaffolds fabricated using this method can be controlled by the particle size of the added salt and the salt-to-polymer ratio. This method produces scaffolds with limited interpore connectivity, which limits its value in tissue engineering.

To create a scaffold with highly interconnected pores and a spherical pore shape, paraffin spheres and sugar spheres were used a porogen [53,54]. The interconnectivity of the scaffold was finely tuned by changing the heat treatment time to bond the paraffin spheres. Meanwhile, changing the concentration of polymer solution, size of paraffin spheres, and number of casting steps controlled the porosity and pore size. Together, this approach allowed for the creation of porous scaffolds with high interconnectivity, which is critical to the uniformity of cell seeding and tissue ingrowth on the scaffold.

# Nanofibrous Scaffolds for Bone Tissue Engineering

It is well-established that the ECM has a critical role in regulating cell behavior [55]. As previously noted, one of the key design features in bone tissue engineering has been the development of scaffolds with fibrous nanostructures that mimic native ECM and support cellular attachment, differentiation, and proliferation. Therefore, scaffolds were designed with nanofibrous structures that resembled the collagen fibers present in native ECM [56]. Collagen nanofibers were shown to have an integral role in cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation as early as the 1980s. To create poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) scaffolds with nanofibers that resembled collagen fibers, a liquid—liquid phase separation technique was developed by integrating sugar sphere template leaching with phase separation [57]. The resulting nanofibrous PLLA (NF-PLLA) matrix featured fibers with diameters ranging from 50 to 500 nm, or within the same range of collagen fibers [49,53,58,59]. Fig. 48.1.

The combination of techniques to make porous materials and techniques to make nanofibrous materials produced scaffolds with biomimetic nanostructures and porous microstructures, which incorporate the advantages of both synthetic materials and natural structures for bone tissue engineering.

Nanofibrous materials have been successfully fabricated using electrospinning for applications in bone tissue engineering. Electrospinning uses an electric field to overcome the surface tension of polymer solutions. This causes the polymer to be ejected out of a needle to a conductive collector, resulting in fibers on the nanoscale to submicroscale [35]. Early electrospun scaffolds for bone tissue engineering were made of poly- $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone (PCL) as the biodegradable polymer of choice [60–62]. Today, electrospun scaffolds are made from a variety of synthetic and natural polymers and can also be combined into composite scaffolds, as described in the next section. Several different electrospun scaffolds for bone tissue engineering have been described, including one method that used PLLA nanofibrous scaffolds that were produced by both thermally induced phase separation and electrospinning, and enhanced by surface calcium phosphate deposition for bone tissue engineering [63,64].



**FIGURE 48.1** (A, B) Scanning electron micrographs of scaffolds fabricated using a spherical porogen (paraffin sphere) leaching technique: (A) poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA), (B) poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (85/15), and (C, D) PLLA scaffolds fabricated using a thermally induced solid - ± liquid phase separation technique in dioxane (C) or benzene (D). (*A*, *B*) From Ma PX, Choi J-W. Biodegradable polymer scaffolds with well-defined interconnected spherical pore network. Tissue Eng 2001;7(1):23–33; (C, D) From Ma PX, Zhang R. Microtubular architecture of biodegradable polymer scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;56(4):469–77; Ma PX, Zhang R, Xiao G, Franceschi R. Engineering new bone tissue in vitro on highly porous poly(alpha-hydroxyl acids)/hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res (United States) February 2001;54(2):284–93.

# Composite Materials for Bone Tissue Engineering Scaffolds

The makeup of natural bone ECM is a combination of fibrous proteins, primarily collagen, upon which mineralized calcium is deposited [55]. In bone regeneration, researchers often attempt to replicate the natural ECM by synthesizing polymers from natural or synthetic building blocks. Because of intrinsic limitations of individual polymers, it is challenging to create a tissue engineering scaffold using a single material source that incorporates the fibrous microstructure of native ECM and supports sufficient mineralization. There are key limitations to each individual material, as no "perfect" single material exists for bone tissue engineering. Researchers therefore combine materials in various ways to form composite scaffolds that possess the advantageous qualities of each component material and better support the physical and biochemical requirements of bone regeneration. Integration of a mineral component into a fibrous scaffold can contribute to both the structural integrity and osteoconductive activity of the scaffold [35].

A variety of synthetic materials have been developed for bone tissue engineering, including PLLA, poly(lactic-*co*glycolic acid) (PLGA), and poly(glycolic acid). Similarly, collagen, hydroxyapatite (HAP), decalcified bone matrix, chitosan, and other natural materials have been used in bone regeneration applications. The goal of composite scaffolds is to have a biocompatible, osteoconductive matrix with suitable mechanical properties to support bone regeneration.

One early composite matrix was made from combining synthetic polymer with ceramic through thermally induced phase separation. These scaffolds, made from highly porous  $poly(\alpha-hydroxy acids)/HAP$ , had significantly improved physical properties (compressive modulus and yield strength) compared with pure polymer scaffolds. They also improved cellular ingrowth, increased osteoblast survival rate, and enhanced bone-specific gene expression [59,65,66]. Alternatively, coating a polymeric scaffold with apatite particles can produce a composite scaffold with the improved ability to deposit calcium in bone regeneration [66,67].

Other composites have been developed in an effort to combine the advantageous qualities of different synthetic and natural materials [68–70].

### **Injectable Scaffolds**

Concurrent with the development of implantable 3D scaffolds for tissue engineering, researchers have sought to develop injectable scaffolds in the form of hydrogels, microspheres, or nanospheres.

#### Microspheres

An effort to fabricate microspheres with the same porosity and interconnectivity of 3D scaffolds yielded two new tissue engineering scaffolds. These particles retain the favorable characteristics of their implantable counterparts while having the potential for noninvasive treatment. The nanofibrous hollow microsphere (single pore) and the nanofibrous spongy microsphere (multiple pores) (NF-SMS) were created to mimic the physical characteristics of a 3D scaffold in an injectable format. Nanofibrous microspheres were made from linear PLLA create solid nanofibrous microspheres. By substituting linear PLLA with star-shaped PLLA in a surfactant-free emulsification technique, a hollow microsphere, with a single pore was developed [71]. By changing the number of arms on the star-shaped PLLA and altering its hydroxyl density, additional pores could be introduced, forming the NF-SMS [72]. These two novel microsphere scaffolds have shown promise for cartilage and dental tissue regeneration [71,73].

Other microsphere-based systems are used as cell carriers and/or drug carriers and are composed of synthetic, natural, or composite polymers [74–78]. These can be porous or nonporous and are used independently as tissue engineering platforms, or in combination with a 3D scaffold or hydrogel [79,80].

#### Hydrogels

Considerable research has been conducted into using hydrogels for bone regeneration. Hydrogels are polymer networks made of natural or synthetic components that are hydrophilic in nature and form viscous gels owing to 3D interactions between the polymer chains. These interactions can be either physical or chemical cross-linked between polymer chains. In bone tissue engineering, a number of hydrogels have served as a scaffold or used to deliver osteogenic drugs. An ideal hydrogel should be injectable so that it can be used to treat a bone defect noninvasively and fill abnormally shaped tissue defects. It should also be biocompatible and able to release osteogenic drugs over an extended time [81]. Controlled drug release remains a challenge for hydrogels because they are often prone to a burst release of drug within the first 24–48 h of treatment.

Hydrogels are often combined with other materials to form composite scaffolds for bone regeneration. PLLA/ PCL nanoyarns were suspended in a collagen hydrogel to make a composite scaffold that showed benefits for in vitro differentiation of human MSCs [82]. In another study, 45S5 Bioglass was introduced into alginate, forming a composite hydrogel that demonstrated enhanced osteogenic potential with MC3T3-E1 osteoblast precursor cells [83]. A third study used a nanohydroxyapatite-reinforced chitosan hydrogel to stimulate osteogenic differentiation in vitro and bone regeneration in vivo [84]. These represent a small sampling of the many composite hydrogels being evaluated for bone tissue engineering.

#### Surface Modification and Functionalization of Scaffolds for Bone Regeneration

In an effort to increase the effectiveness of tissue engineering scaffolds, biologically active molecules can be attached to the surface or integrated within the scaffold. A specific molecule or peptide can be chosen to promote cell attachment and proliferation or direct cell differentiation [57,85,86]. For example, modification of poly( $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids) scaffold with gelatin enhanced osteoblast attachment, proliferation, and deposition of collagen [87]. Surface modification of a PLLA scaffold with calcium phosphate by electrodeposition enhanced osteogenic differentiation of MC3T3-E1 cells compared with cells attached to a control PLLA scaffold [64]. PEG hydrogels that are functionalized with integrin-specific peptides can enhance bone formation and vascularization when also treated with vascular endothelial growth factor [88]. Scaffolds can also be functionalized by the deposition of diamond nanoparticles. The addition of nanoparticles to a conventional scaffold can change the physical and chemical characteristics of the scaffold and enhance cell attachment and differentiation to support better bone formation [89]. Various additional methods and strategies for surface modification of scaffolds are being pursued [85,90].

# **Three-Dimensional Printed Scaffolds**

3D printing technology is becoming increasingly capable of designing microenvironments and developing novel tissue engineering platforms. Many 3D printed scaffolds for bone regeneration have been developed that use many of the same natural, synthetic, and composite polymers discussed previously [91]. One approach to 3D printing scaffolds for bone tissue engineering is to print scaffolds that can be used to make vascularized bone grafts [92]. By varying the internal porosity of the scaffold or adding osteogenic and angiogenic factors such as zinc and silicon, researchers have attempted to increase the neovascularization of regenerated bone and simultaneously enhance the osteogenic differentiation of progenitor cells [93–95]. The successes and challenges of current strategies, descriptions of 3D printing methodologies, and clinical progress of 3D printing for bone tissue engineering are covered in depth in relevant reviews in the literature [96–98].

# **GROWTH AND DIFFERENTIATION FACTORS IN BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING**

Bioactive molecules, hormones, and nucleic acids can be used to enhance the growth and differentiation of cells. The effective combination of these factors with tissue engineering constructs and drug delivery systems can improve the regeneration of bone both in vitro and in vivo.

#### **Bone Morphogenetic Proteins**

A group of proteins within the transforming growth factor-β superfamily, known as BMPs, have various roles in bone development, as well as the development of a multitude of tissues within the human body. Fifteen BMPs have been identified; of those, BMP-2 and BMP-7 show the most robust activity to induce bone formation. Both BMP-2 and BMP-7 have been used clinically in US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved devices to treat a narrow range of severe bone defects.

BMPs act on bone-forming osteoblasts, preosteoblasts, and other precursor cells, including MSCs, ADSCs, iPSCs, and ESCs. Typically, BMPs form homodimers and bind with known BMP receptors to activate a cascade of signaling pathways that initiate differentiation and mineralization of cells and tissue. Some evidence of BMP-2/7 heterodimers having a stronger osteogenic effect than the respective homodimers has been published [99,100]. BMP-2 and BMP-7 act to stimulate osteogenic differentiation through intracellular phosphorylation of the smad

1/5/8 proteins. Upon phosphorylation, p-smad 1/5/8 proteins translocate to the nucleus and upregulates Runx2. BMPs can also activate other pathways in parallel, including Wnt signaling [101]. BMP-related signaling is generally divided into either smad-dependent or smad-independent, depending on which pathway is being described or studied.

The clinical use of BMP-2 began after its approval by the FDA in 2002 for the treatment of anterior lumbar interbody fusion within a threaded titanium tapered cage. The scope of its use expanded in 2004 to include tibial nonunions, and in 2007 for oral maxillofacial reconstruction. After the expanded use of BMP-2 for these clinical and other off-label applications, a number of serious side effects were observed and reported [102]. Inflammatory complications, including swelling of the cervical spine [103], radiculopathy [104], ectopic bone formation [105,106], osteoclast activation [107,108], urogenital events [109], and wound complications were reported [102].

For in vitro bone regeneration, BMP-2 and BMP-7 are applied in concentrations ranging from 50 to 100 ng/mL. For in vivo applications, encapsulation of BMP-2 and BMP-7 in a drug delivery system can provide local, clinically relevant doses for short or long time. This is often accomplished by encapsulating BMPs in a delivery vehicle such as a biocompatible polymer microsphere or hydrogel. Controlled release of recombinant human BMP-7 in a microsphere delivery system enhanced a bone tissue engineering scaffold in a subcutaneous mouse model [110].

#### Parathyroid Hormone Delivery

Parathyroid hormone (PTH) is secreted by the parathyroid glands and can have both catabolic and anabolic effects on bone [111]. It is well-known that a continuous and sustained treatment of PTH will lead to increased bone resorption or reduction in bone mass [112]. Conversely, an intermittent or pulsatile treatment of PTH can enhance osteogenesis or bone regeneration. PTH is used as an FDA-approved treatment of osteoporosis, which requires daily injections of a sufficient dose to be effective. A novel approach to PTH delivery uses a multilayered scaffold to achieve local pulsatile release of PTH to stimulate bone regeneration. Layers of PTH are separated by layers of polyanhydride (PA) and sealed with PCL. Surface erosion of PA allows the sequential release of PTH from the scaffold in controlled doses. Using this approach, a daily spike in PTH was observed and corresponded to superior healing of a critical-size defect in a calvarial mouse model [113] (Fig. 48.2).

# Nucleotide Delivery and Gene Therapy

Nucleic acids (DNA, RNA, small interfering RNA, and microRNA [miRNA]) regulate gene and protein expression in cells. There are several methods to enhance or suppress the expression of specific proteins or genes that are involved in healing or new tissue formation.

The goal of gene therapy is to increase or sustain the local expression of factors related to healing, cell recruitment, cell proliferation, or cell differentiation. This is most frequently accomplished by delivering nonintegrating plasmid DNA or inserting additional copies of the desired genes into the chromosomal DNA. Transfer of genes to cells at the site of injury can be accomplished by viral and nonviral delivery methods [8,114]. Transcription and translation of these additional gene copies can enhance the expression of factors that promote healing.

For bone regeneration, gene therapy often involves modulating the temporal and spatial expression of BMPs [115,116]. The use of adenovirus vectors allows researchers to transfect progenitor or differentiated cells with additional copies of genes that enhance regenerative processes. In one example, adenoviral gene transfer was used to elicit the expression of BMP-7 from muscle cells. These cells were then implanted into femoral defects to evaluate their regenerative potential [117]. Although gene transfer can be effective, improvements are needed in the efficiency, stability, and safety of these methods.

In a nonviral approach, a gene vector that incorporates a plasmid encoding for BMP-2 is protected by a poly(D,L-lactide) (PDLLA) copolymer and delivered to a mandibular defect [118]. In this strategy, the gene vector is delivered on a PDLLA scaffold to induce cells localized at the site of injury to express BMP-2 and improve regeneration of the bone defect. In a similar approach, a BMP-7 plasmid enhanced by a heparin-binding site is transfected into MSCs and applied to regenerate bone defects [119].

Local delivery of nucleic acid molecules is another promising novel approach to bone regeneration. In particular, applications that use miRNA are being developed to enhance pro-osteogenic factors or suppress antiosteogenic factors [120]. Controlled release of miRNA-26a demonstrated a significant regenerative capability in an in vivo osteoporotic mouse model. In this example, miRNA-26a increased bone regeneration and healing by targeting a known inhibitor of osteoblastic activity, glycogen synthase kinase-3β [121]. Polymer–miRNA complexes (polyplexes) were



FIGURE 48.2 Experimental design of using a three-dimensional (3D) cell-free scaffold and a parathyroid hormone (PTH) deliver device (pulsatile or continuous) to repair calvarial bone defect in a mouse model. *PA*, polyanhydride.

created by mixing miRNA-26a and hyperbranched polyesters with affinity to miRNA-26a. These polyplexes were encapsulated in PLGA microspheres and were subsequently immobilized on a nanofibrous PLLA scaffold. The polyplex-microsphere-scaffold platform was surgically implanted in critical-size calvarial defects in osteoporotic mice. Efficient intracellular delivery of the miRNA was accomplished in a stepwise manner. As the PLGA microspheres were hydrolyzed, the miRNA-26a-containing polyplexes were released from their interior. These polyplexes were subsequently engulfed by cells via endocytosis. Endosomal escape allowed release of the miRNA into the cytoplasm of the cell. Fig. 48.3 Intracellular release of miRNA-26a in osteoblasts increased bone mass and increased expression of early and late genetic markers of osteogenic differentiation [121].

The advent of Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-9–associated (Cas9) gene editing technology has increased the efficiency by which researchers can manipulate the genome of mammalian cells and establish new cell lines for use in culture. Although CRISPR/Cas9 has increased the ability of researchers to study bone function and regeneration [122–124], no CRISPR-based therapeutic approaches have been developed to date.

# IMMUNOMODULATION IN BONE REGENERATION

During the natural process of healing of a bone injury, the inflammatory and immune response activates several distinct cell types that can directly or indirectly interact with progenitor cells, osteoblasts, and osteoclasts [125–127]. Methods to modulate these interactions are being developed to enhance bone regeneration therapies.



FIGURE 48.3 Hyperbranched polymers (HPs) and microRNA (miRNA) formed polyplexes in water. The HP–miRNA polyplexes were encapsulated into the poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA microspheres) via the double-emulsion method, and the PLGA microspheres containing the HP–miRNA polyplexes were then attached on the poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) nanofibrous scaffold. The PLGA microsphere-incorporated PLLA scaffolds were implanted into mice. The HP–miRNA polyplexes released from the PLGA microspheres (on the PLLA scaffold) could be taken into cells through endocytosis. Intracellular release of miRNA in the cytosol after enzymatic polymer degradation allows its regulation of gene expression.

#### Macrophages

Macrophages are part of the innate immune response to injury. As they are recruited to the site of injury, macrophages act by phagocytizing bacteria and damaged tissue. They also release cytokines and growth factors that initiate and promote healing. One study demonstrated that coculture of MSCs with specific macrophage subtypes enhanced osteogenic differentiation of MSCs. Antiinflammatory macrophages (M2) promoted osteogenic differentiation of MSCs better than proinflammatory macrophages (M1) or immature macrophages (M0) [128]. In another study, M1 macrophages increased osteogenic differentiation of MSCs more dramatically than M2 macrophages [129]. These two studies are seemingly contradictory, although in both studies, coculture of MSCs with M1 and M2 macrophages enhanced osteogenic differentiation, but the importance of macrophage polarity [130] and the molecular signaling pathways involved have yet to be clearly elucidated.

In practice, macrophages have been stimulated by the release of a macrophage-recruiting agent and platelet-rich plasma from a gelatin hydrogel scaffold to a defect site in the ulna bone in a rat model demonstrated enhanced bone healing [131]. Mechanistic studies that clarify the role of macrophages in bone healing are still limited.

# T Cells

The adaptive immune response also has a role in bone regeneration in the form of activated T cells. T lymphocytes regulate callus formation in bone healing by secretion of pro-osteogenic cytokines (tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  and interleukins [IL]-6 and -1 $\beta$ ). Coculture of activated T cells with MSCs enhances osteogenic differentiation owing to the osteogenic effect of soluble factors released by CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes [132]. Furthermore, there is a differential effect on osteoblast maturation from pro inflammatory and antiinflammatory CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell subsets. CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper 17– specific cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) increased ALP activity in MSCs, and IL-17A in particular works synergistically with BMP-2 to increase calcium deposition by MSCs.

# References

- Karaplis AC. Embryonic development of bone and regulation of intramembranous and endochondral bone formation. In: Principles of bone biology2 vols.; 2008. p. 53–84.
- [2] Percival CJ, Richtsmeier JT. Angiogenesis and intramembranous osteogenesis. Dev Dyn August 1, 2013;242(8):909-22.
- [3] Mishina Y, Snider TN. Neural crest cell signaling pathways critical to cranial bone development and pathology. Exp Cell Res July 2014;325(2): 138–47.
- [4] Thompson EM, Matsiko A, Farrell E, Kelly DJ, O'Brien FJ. Recapitulating endochondral ossification: a promising route to in vivo bone regeneration. J Tissue Eng Regen Med August 1, 2015;9(8):889–902.
- [5] Gerstenfeld LC, Cullinane DM, Barnes GL, Graves DT, Einhorn TA. Fracture healing as a post-natal developmental process: molecular, spatial, and temporal aspects of its regulation. J Cell Biochem 2003;88(5):873–84.
- [6] Hu J, Liu X, Ma PX. Biomineralization and bone regeneration. In: Atala A, Lanza R, Thomson JA, Nerem R, editors. Principles of regenerative medicine. Elsevier Inc.; 2011. p. 733–45.
- [7] Liu X, Ma PX. Polymeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 2004;32(3):477-86.
- [8] Evans CH. Gene delivery to bone. Adv Drug Deliv Rev September 2012;64(12):1331-40.
- [9] Loi F, Córdova LA, Zhang R, Pajarinen J, Lin T, Goodman SB, et al. The effects of immunomodulation by macrophage subsets on osteogenesis in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther December 22, 2016;7(1):15.
- [10] Wagers AJ, Weissman IL. Plasticity of adult stem cells. Cell 2004:639-48.
- [11] Peng L, Jia Z, Yin X, Zhang X, Liu Y, Chen P, et al. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, cartilage, and adipose tissue. Stem Cells Dev August 12, 2008;17(4):761–74 [Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. publishers 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801-5215 USA].
- [12] Shafiee A, Seyedjafari E, Soleimani M, Ahmadbeigi N, Dinarvand P, Ghaemi N. A comparison between osteogenic differentiation of human unrestricted somatic stem cells and mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Biotechnol Lett June 2, 2011;33(6): 1257–64 [Springer Netherlands].
- [13] Rumiński S, Ostrowska B, Jaroszewicz J, Skirecki T, Włodarski K, Świeszkowski W, et al. Three-dimensional printed polycaprolactone-based scaffolds provide an advantageous environment for osteogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med January 1, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2310.
- [14] Hu J, Smith LA, Feng K, Liu X, Sun H, Ma PX. Response of human embryonic stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells to osteogenic factors and architectures of materials during in vitro osteogenesis. Tissue Eng Part A November 2010;16(11):3507–14.
- [15] Smith LA, Liu X, Hu J, Ma PX. The Enhancement of human embryonic stem cell osteogenic differentiation with nano-fibrous scaffolding. Biomaterials July 2010;31(21):5526–35.
- [16] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell August 25, 2006;126(4):663–76.
- [17] Malik N, Rao MS. A review of the methods for human iPSC derivation. Methods Mol Biol 2013:23–33.
- [18] Chen G, Gulbranson DR, Hou Z, Bolin JM, Ruotti V, Probasco MD, et al. Chemically defined conditions for human iPSC derivation and culture. Nat Methods May 2011;8(5):424–9 [Nature Publishing Group, a division of Macmillan Publishers Limited. All Rights Reserved].
- [19] Menendez S, Camus S, Herreria A, Paramonov I, Morera LB, Collado M, et al. Increased dosage of tumor suppressors limits the tumorigenicity of iPS cells without affecting their pluripotency. Aging Cell February 1, 2012;11(1):41–50 [Blackwell Publishing Ltd].
- [20] Habib O, Habib G, Choi HW, Hong K-S, Tae Do J, Moon S-H, et al. An improved method for the derivation of high quality iPSCs in the absence of c-Myc. Exp Cell Res December 2013;319(20):3190–200.
- [21] Paull D, Sevilla A, Zhou H, Hahn AK, Kim H, Napolitano C, et al. Automated, high-throughput derivation, characterization and differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Methods August 3, 2015;12(9):885–92.
- [22] Kishino Y, Seki T, Fujita J, Yuasa S, Tohyama S, Kunitomi A, et al. Derivation of transgene-free human induced pluripotent stem cells from human peripheral T cells in defined culture conditionsBarbuti A, editor. PLoS One May 13, 2014;9(5):e97397.
- [23] Seki T, Fukuda K. Methods of induced pluripotent stem cells for clinical application. World J Stem Cells January 26, 2015;7(1):116-25 [Baishideng Publishing Group Inc].
- [24] Kang R, Zhou Y, Tan S, Zhou G, Aagaard L, Xie L, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells retain adequate osteogenicity and chondrogenicity but less adipogenicity. Stem Cell Res Ther January 18, 2015;6(1):144 [BioMed Central Ltd].
- [25] Phillips MD, Kuznetsov SA, Cherman N, Park K, Chen KG, McClendon BN, et al. Directed differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells toward bone and cartilage: in vitro versus in vivo assays. Stem Cells Transl Med July 2014;3(7):867–78.
- [26] Li F, Niyibizi C. Cells derived from murine induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) by treatment with members of TGF-beta family give rise to osteoblasts differentiation and form bone in vivo. BMC Cell Biol 2012;13:35.
- [27] Liu J, Chen W, Zhao Z, Xu HHK. Reprogramming of mesenchymal stem cells derived from iPSCs seeded on biofunctionalized calcium phosphate scaffold for bone engineering. Biomaterials 2013;34(32):7862–72.
- [28] Tang M, Chen W, Liu J, Weir MD, Cheng L, Xu HHK. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell seeding on calcium phosphate scaffold for bone regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A April 2014;20(7–8):1295–305 [United States].
- [29] Teng S, Liu C, Krettek C, Jagodzinski M. The application of induced pluripotent stem cells for bone regeneration: current progress and prospects. Tissue Eng Part B Rev August 2014;20(4):328–39 [United States].
- [30] Ardeshirylajimi A, Dinarvand P, Seyedjafari E, Langroudi L, Adegani FJ, Soleimani M. Enhanced reconstruction of rat calvarial defects achieved by plasma-treated electrospun scaffolds and induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Tissue Res December 2013;354(3):849–60 [Germany].
- [31] Jeon OH, Panicker LM, Lu Q, Chae JJ, Feldman RA, Elisseeff JH. Human iPSC-derived osteoblasts and osteoclasts together promote bone regeneration in 3D biomaterials. Sci Rep July 26, 2016;6(1):26761 [Nature Publishing Group].
- [32] Ma PX, Eyster TW, Doleyres Y. Tissue engineering biomaterials. In: Encyclopedia of polymer science and technology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2002.
- [33] Ma PX. Scaffolds for tissue fabrication. Mater Today 2004:30-40.

#### 48. BIOMINERALIZATION AND BONE REGENERATION

- [34] Smith LA, Ma PX. Nano-fibrous scaffolds for tissue engineering. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2004;39(3):125–31.
- [35] Holzwarth JM, Ma PX. Biomimetic nanofibrous scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials December 2011;32(36):9622-9.
- [36] Woo KM, Chen VJ, Jung H-M, Kim T-I, Shin H-I, Baek J-H, et al. Comparative evaluation of nanofibrous scaffolding for bone regeneration in critical-size calvarial defects. Tissue Eng Part A August 2009;15(8):2155–62.
- [37] Woo KM, Jun JH, Chen VJ, Seo J, Baek JH, Ryoo HM, et al. Nano-fibrous scaffolding promotes osteoblast differentiation and biomineralization. Biomaterials 2007;28(2):335–43.
- [38] Mikos AG, Thorsen AJ, Czerwonka LA, Bao Y, Langer R, Winslow DN, et al. Preparation and characterization of poly(l-lactic acid) foams. Polymer 1994;35(5):1068–77.
- [39] Thomson RC, Yaszemski MJ, Powers JM, Mikos AG. Fabrication of biodegradable polymer scaffolds to engineer trabecular bone. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1996;7(1):23–38.
- [40] Mooney DJ, Baldwin DF, Suh NP, Vacanti JP, Langer R. Novel approach to fabricate porous sponges of poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) without the use of organic solvents. Biomaterials 1996;17(14):1417–22.
- [41] Hile DD, Amirpour ML, Akgerman A, Pishko MV. Active growth factor delivery from poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) foams prepared in supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>. J Control Release 2000;66(2–3):177–85.
- [42] Whang K, Thomas CH, Healy KE, Nuber G. A novel method to fabricate bioabsorbable scaffolds. Polymer 1995;36(4):837-42.
- [43] Li WJ, Laurencin CT, Caterson EJ, Tuan RS, Ko FK. Electrospun nanofibrous structure: a novel scaffold for tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;60(4):613-21.
- [44] Matthews JA, Wnek GE, Simpson DG, Bowlin GL. Electrospinning of collagen nanofibers. Biomacromolecules 2002;3(2):232-8.
- [45] Giordano RA, Wu BM, Borland SW, Cima LG, Sachs EM, Cima MJ. Mechanical properties of dense polylactic acid structures fabricated by three dimensional printing. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 1997;8(1):63–75.
- [46] Sun W, Darling A, Starly B, Nam J. Computer-aided tissue engineering: overview, scope and challenges. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 2004; 39(1):29.
- [47] Nam YS, Park TG. Porous biodegradable polymeric scaffolds prepared by thermally induced phase separation. J Biomed Mater Res 1999; 47(1):8–17.
- [48] Zhang R, Ma PX. Poly(alpha-hydroxyl acids)/hydroxyapatite porous composites for bone-tissue engineering. I. Preparation and morphology. J Biomed Mater Res March 1999;44(4):446-55 [United States].
- [49] Ma PX, Zhang R. Microtubular architecture of biodegradable polymer scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;56(4):469-77.
- [50] Hutmacher DW. Scaffolds in tissue engineering bone and cartilage. Biomaterials 2000;21(24):2529–43.
- [51] Chaikof EL, Matthew H, Kohn J, Mikos AG, Prestwich GD, Yip CM. Biomaterials and scaffolds in reparative medicine. Ann NY Acad Sci 2002;961:96–105.
- [52] Sun F, Zhou H, Lee J. Various preparation methods of highly porous hydroxyapatite/polymer nanoscale biocomposites for bone regeneration. Acta Biomater November 2011;7(11):3813–28.
- [53] Ma PX, Choi J-W. Biodegradable polymer scaffolds with well-defined interconnected spherical pore network. Tissue Eng 2001;7(1):23–33.
- [54] Wei G, Ma PX. Partially nanofibrous architecture of 3D tissue engineering scaffolds. Biomaterials November 2009;30(32):6426–34 [Elsevier Ltd].
- [55] Alford AI, Kozloff KM, Hankenson KD. Extracellular matrix networks in bone remodeling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol August 2015;65:20-31.
- [56] Hartgerink JD, Beniash E, Stupp SI. Self-assembly and mineralization of peptide-amphiphile nanofibers. Science 2001;294(5547).
- [57] Zhang R, Ma PX. Synthetic nano-fibrillar extracellular matrices with predesigned macroporous architectures. J Biomed Mater Res November 2000;52(2):430–8.
- [58] Wei G, Ma PX. 2 polymeric biomaterials. In: Tissue engineering using ceramics and polymers; 2007. p. 32–51.
- [59] Ma PX, Zhang R, Xiao G, Franceschi R. Engineering new bone tissue in vitro on highly porous poly(alpha-hydroxyl acids)/hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res February 2001;54(2):284–93 [United States].
- [60] Yoshimoto H, Shin YM, Terai H, Vacanti JP. A biodegradable nanofiber scaffold by electrospinning and its potential for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials May 2003;24(12):2077–82.
- [61] Fujihara K, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S. Guided bone regeneration membrane made of polycaprolactone/calcium carbonate composite nanofibers. Biomaterials July 2005;26(19):4139–47.
- [62] Zhang Y, Ouyang H, Lim CT, Ramakrishna S, Huang Z-M. Electrospinning of gelatin fibers and gelatin/PCL composite fibrous scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res January 15, 2005;72B(1):156-65.
- [63] He CL, Xiao GY, Jin XB, Sun CH, Ma PX. Electrodeposition on nanofibrous polymer scaffolds: rapid mineralization, tunable calcium phosphate composition and topography. Adv Funct Mater 2010;20(20):3568–76.
- [64] He C, Jin X, Ma PX. Calcium phosphate deposition rate, structure and osteoconductivity on electrospun poly(l-lactic acid) matrix using electrodeposition or simulated body fluid incubation. Acta Biomater January 2014;10(1):419–27.
- [65] Ma PX, Zhang R. Synthetic nano-scale fibrous extracellular matrix. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;46(1):60-72.
- [66] Zhang R, Ma PX. Biomimetic polymer/apatite composite scaffolds for mineralized tissue engineering. Macromol Biosci February 2004;4(2): 100–11 [Germany].
- [67] Wei G, Ma PX. Structure and properties of nano-hydroxyapatite/polymer composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2004;25(19):4749–57.
- [68] Li J, Baker BA, Mou X, Ren N, Qiu J, Boughton RI, et al. Biopolymer/calcium phosphate scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Adv Healthc Mater April 1, 2014;3(4):469–84.
- [69] Mourino V, Cattalini JP, Roether JA, Dubey P, Roy I, Boccaccini AR. Composite polymer-bioceramic scaffolds with drug delivery capability for bone tissue engineering. Expert Opin Drug Deliv October 19, 2013;10(10):1353–65 [Taylor & Francis].
- [70] Venkatesan J, Bhatnagar I, Manivasagan P, Kang K-H, Kim S-K. Alginate composites for bone tissue engineering: a review. Int J Biol Macromol January 2015;72:269–81.
- [71] Liu X, Jin X, Ma PX. Nanofibrous hollow microspheres self-assembled from star-shaped polymers as injectable cell carriers for knee repair. Nat Mater May 2011;10(5):398–406 [Nature Publishing Group].

- [72] Zhang Z, Gupte MJ, Jin X, Ma PX. Injectable peptide decorated functional nanofibrous hollow microspheres to direct stem cell differentiation and tissue regeneration. Adv Funct Mater 2015;25(3):350–60.
- [73] Kuang R, Zhang Z, Jin X, Hu J, Gupte MJ, Ni L, et al. Nanofibrous spongy microspheres enhance odontogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells. Adv Healthc Mater July 2, 2015;4.
- [74] Perez RA, El-Fiqi A, Park J-H, Kim T-H, Kim J-H, Kim H-W. Therapeutic bioactive microcarriers: co-delivery of growth factors and stem cells for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater January 2014;10(1):520–30 [England].
- [75] Park J-H, Pérez RA, Jin G-Z, Choi S-J, Kim H-W, Wall IB. Microcarriers designed for cell culture and tissue engineering of bone. Tissue Eng Part B Rev April 17, 2013;19(2):172–90 [Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA].
- [76] Kucharska M, Walenko K, Lewandowska-Szumieł M, Brynk T, Jaroszewicz J, Ciach T. Chitosan and composite microsphere-based scaffold for bone tissue engineering: evaluation of tricalcium phosphate content influence on physical and biological properties. J Mater Sci Mater Med March 4, 2015;26(3):143 [Springer US].
- [77] Bagheri-Khoulenjani S, Mirzadeh H, Etrati-Khosroshahi M, Ali Shokrgozar M. Particle size modeling and morphology study of chitosan/ gelatin/nanohydroxyapatite nanocomposite microspheres for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res Part A June 1, 2013;101A(6): 1758–67 [Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company].
- [78] Shen S, Fu D, Xu F, Long T, Hong F, Wang J. The design and features of apatite-coated chitosan microspheres as injectable scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Biomed Mater February 22, 2013;8(2):25007 [IOP Publishing].
- [79] Tao C, Huang J, Lu Y, Zou H, He X, Chen Y, et al. Development and characterization of GRGDSPC-modified poly(lactide-co-glycolide acid) porous microspheres incorporated with protein-loaded chitosan microspheres for bone tissue engineering. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces October 2014;122:439–46.
- [80] Jin G-Z, Park J-H, Seo S-J, Kim H-W. Dynamic cell culture on porous biopolymer microcarriers in a spinner flask for bone tissue engineering: a feasibility study. Biotechnol Lett July 21, 2014;36(7):1539–48 [Springer Netherlands].
- [81] Gibbs DMR, Black CRM, Dawson JI, Oreffo ROC. A review of hydrogel use in fracture healing and bone regeneration. J Tissue Eng Regen Med March 1, 2016;10(3):187–98.
- [82] Liu W, Zhan J, Su Y, Wu T, Ramakrishna S, Liao S, et al. Injectable hydrogel incorporating with nanoyarn for bone regeneration. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed January 22, 2014;25(2):168–80.
- [83] Zeng Q, Han Y, Li H, Chang J. Bioglass/alginate composite hydrogel beads as cell carriers for bone regeneration. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater January 2014;102(1):42–51.
- [84] Dhivya S, Saravanan S, Sastry TP, Selvamurugan N. Nanohydroxyapatite-reinforced chitosan composite hydrogel for bone tissue repair in vitro and in vivo. J Nanobiotechnol December 12, 2015;13(1):40.
- [85] Liu XH, Holzwarth JM, Ma PX. Functionalized synthetic biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. Macromol Biosci 2012; 12(7):911–9.
- [86] Liu X, Won Y, Ma PX. Porogen-induced surface modification of nano-fibrous poly(l-lactic acid) scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biomaterials July 2006;27(21):3980–7.
- [87] Liu X, Won Y, Ma PX. Surface modification of interconnected porous scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res Part A July 1, 2005;74A(1):84-91.
- [88] García JR, Clark AY, García AJ. Integrin-specific hydrogels functionalized with VEGF for vascularization and bone regeneration of criticalsize bone defects. J Biomed Mater Res Part A April 2016;104(4):889–900.
- [89] Yassin MA, Mustafa K, Xing Z, Sun Y, Fasmer KE, Waag T, et al. A copolymer scaffold functionalized with nanodiamond particles enhances osteogenic metabolic activity and bone regeneration. Macromol Biosci January 24, 2017:1600427.
- [90] Motamedian SR, Hosseinpour S, Ahsaie MG, Khojasteh A. Smart scaffolds in bone tissue engineering: a systematic review of literature. World J Stem Cells 2015;7(3):657–68.
- [91] Sears NA, Seshadri DR, Dhavalikar PS, Cosgriff-Hernandez E. A review of three-dimensional printing in tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev August 2016;22(4):298–310.
- [92] Wang MO, Vorwald CE, Dreher ML, Mott EJ, Cheng M-H, Cinar A, et al. Evaluating 3D-printed biomaterials as scaffolds for vascularized bone tissue engineering. Adv Mater January 7, 2015;27(1):138–44.
- [93] Fielding G, Bose S. SiO<sub>2</sub> and ZnO dopants in three-dimensionally printed tricalcium phosphate bone tissue engineering scaffolds enhance osteogenesis and angiogenesis in vivo. Acta Biomater November 2013;9(11):9137–48.
- [94] Barabaschi GDG, Manoharan V, Li Q, Bertassoni LE. Engineering pre-vascularized scaffolds for bone regeneration. In: Advances in experimental medicine and biology; 2015. p. 79–94.
- [95] Temple JP, Hutton DL, Hung BP, Huri PY, Cook CA, Kondragunta R, et al. Engineering anatomically shaped vascularized bone grafts with hASCs and 3D-printed PCL scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res Part A February 2014;102(12).
- [96] Jeong CG, Atala A. 3D printing and biofabrication for load bearing tissue engineering. In: Advances in experimental medicine and biology; 2015. p. 3–14.
- [97] Brunello G, Sivolella S, Meneghello R, Ferroni L, Gardin C, Piattelli A, et al. Powder-based 3D printing for bone tissue engineering. Biotechnol Adv September 2016;34(5):740–53.
- [98] Shaunak S, Dhinsa B, Khan W. The role of 3D modelling and printing in orthopaedic tissue engineering: a review of the current literature. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther February 15, 2017;12(3):225–32.
- [99] Morimoto T, Kaito T, Matsuo Y, Sugiura T, Kashii M, Makino T, et al. The bone morphogenetic protein-2/7 heterodimer is a stronger inducer of bone regeneration than the individual homodimers in a rat spinal fusion model. Spine J June 1, 2015;15(6):1379–90.
- [100] Sun P, Wang J, Zheng Y, Fan Y, Gu Z. BMP2/7 heterodimer is a stronger inducer of bone regeneration in peri-implant bone defects model than BMP2 or BMP7 homodimer. Dent Mater J 2012;31(2):239–48 [The Japanese Society for Dental Materials and Devices].
- [101] Sagomonyants K, Mina M. Biphasic effects of FGF2 on odontoblast differentiation involve changes in the BMP and Wnt signaling pathways. Connect Tissue Res August 26, 2014;55(suppl. 1):53-6 [Taylor & Francis].
- [102] James AW, LaChaud G, Shen J, Asatrian G, Nguyen V, Zhang X, et al. A review of the clinical side effects of bone morphogenetic protein-2. Tissue Eng Part B Rev August 13, 2016;22(4):284–97 [Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA].
- [103] Smucker JD, Rhee JM, Singh K, Yoon ST, Heller JG. Increased swelling complications associated with off-label usage of rhBMP-2 in the anterior cervical spine. Spine November 2006;31(24):2813–9.

#### 48. BIOMINERALIZATION AND BONE REGENERATION

- [104] Mindea SA, Shih P, Song JK. Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2-induced radiculitis in elective minimally invasive transforaminal lumbar interbody fusions. Spine June 2009;34(14):1480–4.
- [105] Deutsch H. High-dose bone morphogenetic protein-induced ectopic abdomen bone growth. Spine J February 2010;10(2):e1-4.
- [106] Chen N-F, Smith ZA, Stiner E, Armin S, Sheikh H, Khoo LT. Symptomatic ectopic bone formation after off-label use of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 in transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion. J Neurosurg Spine January 2010;12(1):40–6.
- [107] McClellan JW, Mulconrey DS, Forbes RJ, Fullmer N. Vertebral bone resorption after transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion with bone morphogenetic protein (rhBMP-2). J Spinal Disord Tech October 2006;19(7):483–6.
- [108] Vaidya R, Sethi A, Bartol S, Jacobson M, Coe C, Craig JG. Complications in the use of rhBMP-2 in PEEK cages for interbody spinal fusions. J Spinal Disord Tech December 2008;21(8):557–62.
- [109] Carragee EJ, Mitsunaga KA, Hurwitz EL, Scuderi GJ. Retrograde ejaculation after anterior lumbar interbody fusion using rhBMP-2: a cohort controlled study. Spine J June 2011;11(6):511-6.
- [110] Wei G, Jin Q, Giannobile WV, Ma PX. The enhancement of osteogenesis by nano-fibrous scaffolds incorporating rhBMP-7 nanospheres. Biomaterials 2007;28(12):2087–96.
- [111] Silva BC, Bilezikian JP. Parathyroid hormone: anabolic and catabolic actions on the skeleton. Curr Opin Pharmacol June 2015;22:41–50.
- [112] Horwitz MJ, Tedesco MB, Sereika SM, Prebehala L, Gundberg CM, Hollis BW, et al. A 7-day continuous infusion of PTH or PTHrP suppresses bone formation and uncouples bone turnover. J Bone Miner Res September 1, 2011;26(9):2287–97 [Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company].
- [113] Dang M, Koh AJ, Jin X, McCauley LK, Ma PX. Local pulsatile PTH delivery regenerates bone defects via enhanced bone remodeling in a cellfree scaffold. Biomaterials 2017;114:1–9.
- [114] Luo J, Sun M, Kang Q, Peng Y, Jiang W, Luu H, et al. Gene therapy for bone regeneration. Curr Gene Ther April 1, 2005;5(2):167–79.
- [115] Krebsbach PH, Gu K, Franceschi RT, Rutherford RB. Gene therapy-directed osteogenesis: BMP-7-transduced human fibroblasts form bone in vivo. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:1201–10.
- [116] Wilson CG, Martín-Saavedra FM, Vilaboa N, Franceschi RT. Advanced BMP gene therapies for temporal and spatial control of bone regeneration. J Dent Res May 28, 2013;92(5):409–17 [SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA].
- [117] Betz VM, Betz OB, Rosin T, Keller A, Thirion C, Salomon M, et al. The effect of BMP-7 gene activated muscle tissue implants on the repair of large segmental bone defects. Injury 2015;46(12):2351–8.
- [118] Kolk A, Tischer T, Koch C, Vogt S, Haller B, Smeets R, et al. A novel nonviral gene delivery tool of BMP-2 for the reconstitution of critical-size bone defects in rats. J Biomed Mater Res Part A October 2016;104(10):2441–55.
- [119] Kargozar S, Hashemian SJ, Soleimani M, Milan PB, Askari M, Khalaj V, et al. Acceleration of bone regeneration in bioactive glass/gelatin composite scaffolds seeded with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells over-expressing bone morphogenetic protein-7. Mater Sci Eng C 2017;75:688–98.
- [120] Sriram M, Sainitya R, Kalyanaraman V, Dhivya S, Selvamurugan N. Biomaterials mediated microRNA delivery for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol March 2015;74:404–12.
- [121] Zhang X, Li Y, Chen YE, Chen J, Ma PX. Cell-free 3D scaffold with two-stage delivery of miRNA-26a to regenerate critical-sized bone defects. Nat Commun 2016;7:1–15 [Nature Publishing Group].
- [122] Hirschhorn T, Levi-Hofman M, Danziger O, Smorodinsky NI, Ehrlich M. Differential molecular regulation of processing and membrane expression of Type-I BMP receptors: implications for signaling. Cell Mol Life Sci March 29, 2017;74.
- [123] Lambert LJ, Challa AK, Niu A, Zhou L, Tucholski J, Johnson MS, et al. Increased trabecular bone and improved biomechanics in an osteocalcin-null rat model created by CRISPR/Cas9 technology. Dis Model Mech October 1, 2016;9(10):1169–79.
- [124] Duan X, Liu J, Zheng X, Wang Z, Zhang Y, Hao Y, et al. Deficiency of ATP6V1H causes bone loss by inhibiting bone resorption and bone formation through the TGF-β1 pathway. Theranostics 2016;6(12):2183–95.
- [125] Schlundt C, Schell H, Goodman SB, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Duda GN, Schmidt-Bleek K. Immune modulation as a therapeutic strategy in bone regeneration. J Exp Orthop December 7, 2015;2(1):1.
- [126] Takayanagi H. Osteoimmunology: shared mechanisms and crosstalk between the immune and bone systems. Nat Rev Immunol April 2007; 7(4):292–304 [Nature Publishing Group].
- [127] Könnecke I, Serra A, El Khassawna T, Schlundt C, Schell H, Hauser A, et al. T and B cells participate in bone repair by infiltrating the fracture callus in a two-wave fashion. Bone July 2014;64:155–65.
- [128] Zhang Y, Böse T, Unger RE, Jansen JA, Kirkpatrick CJ, van den Beucken JJJP. Macrophage type modulates osteogenic differentiation of adipose tissue MSCs. Cell Tissue Res March 30, 2017:1–14 [Springer Berlin Heidelberg].
- [129] Lu LY, Loi F, Nathan K, Lin T, Pajarinen J, Gibon E, et al. Pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages promote Osteogenesis by mesenchymal stem cells via the COX-2-prostaglandin E2 pathway. J Orthop Res March 2017;35.
- [130] Gong L, Zhao Y, Zhang Y, Ruan Z. The macrophage polarization regulates MSC osteoblast differentiation in vitro. Ann Clin Lab Sci 2016; 46(1):65–71.
- [131] Kim Y-H, Furuya H, Tabata Y. Enhancement of bone regeneration by dual release of a macrophage recruitment agent and platelet-rich plasma from gelatin hydrogels. Biomaterials January 2014;35(1):214–24.
- [132] Croes M, Öner FC, van Neerven D, Sabir E, Kruyt MC, Blokhuis TJ, et al. Proinflammatory T cells and IL-17 stimulate osteoblast differentiation. Bone March 2016;84:262–70.
- [133] Golub EE, Boesze-Battaglia K. The role of alkaline phosphatase in mineralization. Curr Opin Orthop 2007;18.
- [134] Komori T. Runx2, A multifunctional transcription factor in skeletal development. J Cell Biochem 2002;87:1-8.
- [135] Zhou X, Zhang Z, Feng JQ, Dusevich VM, Sinha K, Zhang H, et al. Multiple functions of Osterix are required for bone growth and homeostasis in postnatal mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107:12919–24.
- [136] Wei J, Karsenty G. An overview of the metabolic functions of osteocalcin. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2015;16:93-8.
- [137] Neves Granito R, Bouleftour W, Sabido O, Lescale C, Thomas M, Aubin JE, et al. Absence of bone sialoprotein (BSP) alters profoundly hematopoiesis and upregulates osteopontin. J Cell Physiol 2015;230:1342–51.
- [138] Thurner PJ, Chen CG, Ionova-Martin S, Sun L, Harman A, Porter A, et al. Osteopontin deficiency increases bone fragility but preserves bone mass. Bone 2010;46:1564–73.

# Hair Cell Regeneration in the Inner Ear and Lateral Line

Matthew W. Kelley<sup>1</sup>, Jason R. Meyers<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States; <sup>2</sup>Colgate University, Hamilton, NY, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The ability to detect sounds and motion is mediated through mechanosensory hair cells located in the inner ears of all vertebrates. The basic cellular structures of hair cells are similar across vertebrate classes, but mammals are unique in their inability to regenerate hair cells that have been lost as a result of aging or trauma. As a result, mammals are the only vertebrates that incur lasting deficits in hearing or balance. In this chapter, we will describe the process of hair cell regeneration that occurs in nonmammalian species, explore the factors that prevent regeneration in mammal inner ears, and discuss efforts to induce regeneration using transgenic mouse models and gene therapy.

# STRUCTURE OF THE INNER EAR

The inner ear can be grossly divided into three structures: the membranous labyrinth, a series of epithelial-lined fluid filled chambers derived from the otocyst; the bony labyrinth, a dense bony structure that surrounds and protects the membranous labyrinth; and the eighth cranial nerve, also called the vestibulocochlear nerve, which provides afferent innervation to all sensory structures within the inner ear (Fig. 49.1). The membranous labyrinth can be further subdivided into a ventral auditory section that contains the cochlea and a dorsal vestibular section that contains the three semicircular canals that act to mediate balance, as well as two otolithic organs, the saccule and utricle, which have a role in perception of linear acceleration and gravitation forces. Each of these structures contains a sensory epithelium that is composed of mechanosensory hair cells and a population of surrounding epithelial cells referred to as supporting cells. Vestibular sensory epithelia appear as rounded or oblong patches containing thousands of mechanosensory hair cells. The overall structure of these sensory patches is grossly similar among all vertebrate classes. In contrast, auditory epithelia show a greater degree of diversity; some develop as narrower, elongated stripes of cells. The most extreme example of this is the mammalian auditory sensory epithelia, also called the organ of Corti, which features four or five rows of hair cells extending up to 70 mm [1], which are functionally and morphologically divided into one row of inner hair cells that detect auditory stimuli and three or four rows of outer hair cells that serve as a mechanical amplifier. Finally, aquatic vertebrates such as fishes and amphibians have an additional hair cell-based sensory system called the lateral line, which is composed of a series of canals and sensory patches arrayed along the outer surface of the head and body, and which enables the detection of flow and vibrations in the surrounding water.

Mechanosensory hair cells are so named because of the presence of a modified bundle of microvilli, referred to as stereocilia, that project from the lumenal surface of each cell [2,3]. The morphology of the bundle is characterized by an asymmetric staircase pattern in which the lengths of the individual stereocilia increase toward one end of the bundle. Deflection of the bundle in the direction of the longest stereocilia leads to opening of transduction channels, the influx of positively charged ions, and subsequent increases in the rate of neurotransmitter release. Each hair cell



**FIGURE 49.1** Overview of the inner ear. (A) Cut away view of the human ear. The pinna and external auditory meatus (EAM) transmit sound waves to the tympanic membrane located at the central end of the EAM. Vibration of the tympanic membrane is amplified through the middle ear ossicles (OC). The footplate of the stapes vibrates the footplate of the stapes, which creates a pressure wave that travels along the cochlear spiral. The three semicircular canals, along with the utricle and saccule, mediate sense of balance, acceleration, and gravity. Signals generated in the inner ear are carried to the central nervous system through separate branches of the eighth nerve. (B) View of the inner ear illustrating the three semicircular canals, cochlear spiral, and endolymphatic duct (*dark gray*). The branches of the eighth nerve are illustrated in *yellow*. (C) Schematic cross-sections of the sensory epithelia in the utricle (*upper image*) and cochlea (*lower image*). Hair cells are *red* and supporting cells are *green*. In the utricle, hair cells are arranged in a large patch whereas in the cochlea, hair cells are arranged in four or five rows that extend along the length of the cochlear spiral. (D) Schematic of a single utricular hair cell illustrating the staircase pattern of the stereocilia (*orange*) and the single kinocilium (*gray*).

forms synapses with peripheral axons from one or more afferent neurons that transmit changes in the rate of neurotransmitter release into brain stem nuclei and higher central nervous system structures, where these signals are interpreted as perceptions of sound, vibration, or movement.

# HAIR CELL LOSS

A number of factors have a role in the death of hair cells. Foremost among these is aging. According to the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders, nearly 35% of all individuals will have a significant hearing loss by age 65 years, and this number will increase to over 50% by age 80 years. Similarly, virtually all individuals lose the ability to perceive frequencies above 17 kHz by age 25 years. The underlying cellular or genetic mechanisms that lead to this progressive hair cell loss remain largely unknown, although mutations in some genes, in particular *Cdh23*, have been shown to cause age-related hearing loss in mice [4]. Similar declines in hair cell numbers have also been reported in aged vestibular epithelia; however, a strict correlation between hair cell loss and loss of vestibular function has not been established [5].

#### HISTORY OF HAIR CELL REGENERATION

Environmental factors can significantly accelerate the rate of hair cell loss. Exposure to loud noises, even in the short term, can lead to hair cell death from both mechanical damage and neurotoxicity from calcium, resulting in hearing loss. Toxins such as copper and *Gingko biloba* have also been shown to be harmful to hair cells [6,7]. In addition, several medicines, most notably aminoglycoside antibiotics and the anticancer drug cisplatin, have been shown to kill hair cells [8]. As is the case for age-related hearing loss, the cellular basis for hair cell death after exposure to any of these stressors is not particularly well-understood, but metabolic stress and generation of reactive oxygen species, may be important mediators [9]. This is particularly true for outer hair cells in the organ of Corti, which are highly sensitive to all environmental stressors. Outer hair cells are motile cells that generate cellular contractions in response to stimulation. Because these contractions typically occur at the optimal frequency for each cell, some cells may need to contract repeatedly at rates as high as 20 kHz. This high level of activity may produce a chronic metabolic stress that makes the outer hair cells particularly sensitive to additional external challenges.

# HISTORY OF HAIR CELL REGENERATION

As discussed in the Introduction, in mammals, hair cells are primarily generated during the embryonic or early postnatal period, depending on the species. Therefore, in adults, hair cell loss is permanent. Before the 1980s, it was assumed that similar limitations existed in the inner ears of all other vertebrates. However, examinations of the inner ears of sharks and rays, which grow indeterminately, indicated an ongoing increase in the number of hair cells in the inner ear sensory patches of these animals. In several species of sharks, the increase in the number of hair cells is remarkable; more than 180,000 cells are added to just a single inner ear sensory patch, the macula neglecta, over the life of an individual animal [10]. Subsequent studies in amphibians used a mitotic tracer, tritiated-thymidine, to demonstrate that new hair cells in the inner ears of these animals were generated through cellular proliferation of surrounding cells [11]. These results motivated additional studies using chickens, homothermic vertebrates with determinant growth, and an elongated auditory structure, the basilar papilla (BP), which is functionally similar to the mammalian cochlea. After induction of hair cell damage using prolonged exposure to loud pure tones, initial experiments used scanning electron microscopy to image the BP [12]. Whereas BPs imaged immediately after noise exposure showed widespread hair cell loss and damage, analysis of similar BPs after a 2- to 4-week recovery period illustrated nearly complete recovery of the hair cell population. Moreover, recovery of auditory function tracked closely with morphological recovery, demonstrating that the new hair cells were functional and that the rest of the auditory system remained intact after exposure to noise. Finally, introduction of a mitotic tracer demonstrated that at least some of the regenerated hair cells arose from proliferation of the surrounding supporting cells [13,14]. To determine whether this regenerative ability is restricted to young birds, similar experiments were performed in aged quails [15]. Even quails that were near the end of their expected life span (3 years) were able to regenerate hair cells and recovery auditory function, which demonstrated that this ability is retained throughout the life of the animal.

Subsequent studies at the cellular level identified two different mechanism for the formation of regenerated hair cells (Fig. 49.2). As discussed previously, some new hair cells arise from the re-entry and subsequent division of supporting cells, but in other cases, supporting cells are able to convert into hair cells directly, a process referred to as transdifferentiation [16,17]. These results demonstrate that in birds, supporting cells can act as hair cell progenitors. This suggests that these cells retain some stem or progenitor capacity throughout the life of the animal. Whether every supporting cell can act as a stem or progenitor cell or whether this ability is limited to a subset of cells within the epithelium has not been determined. Interestingly, the response of supporting cells, in terms of whether they transdifferentiate or reenter the cell cycle, is spatially segregated; cells located on one edge of the BP are more likely to transdifferentiate whereas those on the other edge are more likely to re-enter the cell cycle [18]. The molecular and/or functional bases for these differences have not been determined.

A final consideration in the avian system is the unexpected observation that vestibular epithelia undergo constant turnover of hair cells; old cells are replaced with new ones such that the average life of a hair cell in a vestibular sensory epithelium is approximately 1 month [19]. This process may be a compromise of the ancestral trait of ongoing addition of hair cells, as seen in fish and amphibians, with the derived trait of determinant growth as occurs in birds and mammals. However, this also demonstrates that vestibular epithelia can efficiently maintain all of the neuronal connections required for normal function even as hair cells are being continually lost and regenerated.

49. HAIR CELL REGENERATION IN THE INNER EAR AND LATERAL LINE



**FIGURE 49.2** Modes of hair cell regeneration in the chick basilar papilla. (A) Cross-sectional view of an idealized basilar papilla. Hair cells (*red*) and supporting cells (*green*) are present in a pseudostratified epithelium. (B) In response to an insult, hair cells are ejected from the epithelium (*small arrow*), creating a gap in the mosaic of hair cells and supporting cells and eliciting a response from one or more of the remaining supporting cells (*yellow*). (C) Transdifferentiation. Under some circumstances one of the remaining supporting cells will directly transform into new hair cells (*yellow*). This results in a decrease in the number of supporting cells. (D) Proliferative regeneration. The second possible response is for a remaining supporting cells (*yellow*) to undergo mitotic proliferation to generate new progenitor cells. (E) These cells then go on to form new hair cells and supporting cells (*yellow*).

# SPONTANEOUS HAIR CELL REGENERATION IN MAMMALIAN VESTIBULAR ORGANS

The discovery of spontaneous hair cell regeneration in birds sparked a re-examination of the regenerative potential within adult mammalian vestibular and auditory epithelia. As a first step, work from Warchol et al. [20] and Forge et al. [21] demonstrated limited proliferation of supporting cells in cultured utricles from Guinea pigs and humans, as well as the presence of hair cells with bundles that appeared immature in Guinea pigs. Although these results were compelling, the number of potential new cells was small and a preponderance of clinical data clearly suggests that meaningful vestibular hair cell regeneration does not occur in adult humans. In contrast to the findings in the utricle, similar studies in the adult mammalian auditory system confirmed the absence of hair cell regeneration in this epithelium [22]. Despite the importance of the findings in the utricle, further examination of potential hair cell regeneration in this structure was slowed by difficulty in reliably killing hair cells in the vestibular system in vivo.

In the auditory system, two different approaches have been developed to kill hair cells reliably and reproducibly: exposure to loud sounds and administration of aminoglycoside antibiotics such as neomycin or kanamycin, alone or combined with a loop-diuretic such as furosemide [23]. The effects of both of these treatments have been studied extensively and have led to precise protocols that yield consistent results. Moreover, because the auditory system is organized along a tonotopic gradient, damage can be mapped to particular regions of the auditory epithelium based on the results of tests for auditory sensitivity at different frequencies [24]. Because vestibular epithelia are not stimulated by auditory vibrations, exposure to loud sound does not cause hair cell loss, and whereas the sensitivity of vestibular hair cells to aminoglycosides is comparable to auditory hair cells in vitro, systemic treatments result in variable hair cell death. Moreover, many animals that exhibit significant vestibular loss of function after a chemical insult will show progressive and marked recovery over time as a result of functional compensation based on visual input [25]. As a result, between the late 1980s and the early 21st century, it was virtually impossible to assess the extent of hair cell regeneration accurately in vestibular epithelia in vivo because there was no way to kill the existing hair cells consistently. However, the situation changed with the development of several lines of transgenic mice beginning around 2010. First, lines were developed in which genes that are expressed specifically in supporting cells drive the expression of cre recombinase (cre). When one of these lines is combined with one of several reporter lines in which expression of cre leads to the permanent expression of a fluorescent molecule such as green fluorescent protein (GFP), it is possible to differentiate regenerated hair cells that will express GFP because they arise from supporting cells, from nonregenerated hair cells that are GFP-negative [26]. In addition, in 2013, Rubel and colleagues [27] developed a mouse model in which the promoter for the hair cell—specific gene *Pou4f3* is used to drive expression of the human diphtheria toxin receptor (Dtr). Because the human Dtr is approximately 10,000 times more sensitive to diphtheria toxin [28] compared with the mouse Dtr, this line can be used to kill vestibular (and auditory) hair cells effectively and consistently by giving mice injections of diphtheria toxin.

In fact, injection of diphtheria toxin in this line consistently kills approximately 94% of hair cells in the utricle by 14 days after treatment [27]. Animals killed at specific recovery times between 15 and 180 days showed a modest recovery of hair cells, up to approximately 17% of the original number, and the loss of supporting cells and lack of incorporation of mitotic markers demonstrated that these cells arise from the conversion of surrounding supporting cells into hair cells. In addition, a small percentage of regenerated hair cells arose as a result of mitotic division; the number of mitotically generated cells decreased rapidly as animals aged past the very early postnatal period [27,29]. These results provide definitive evidence that a limited amount of spontaneous hair cell regeneration can occur in adult mammalian vestibular epithelia. However, whether the regenerated hair cells lead to recovery of function remains to be determined.

# ROAD BLOCKS TO REGENERATION

An intriguing question which, if answered, might provide insights regarding the development of clinical strategies, is: Why do mammals have a greatly reduced capacity to regenerate hair cells, including a complete loss in the auditory system? At a systems level, one of the most appealing hypotheses is that the increased complexity of the organ of Corti relative to other auditory epithelia, and in particular the highly differentiated state of the supporting cells within the organ of Corti, has resulted in those cells losing the ability to de-differentiate, as might be required to change fate or re-enter the cell cycle. Although the basis for such a loss is not clear, one possibility would be alterations in the epigenetic landscape of the supporting cells, leading to an inability to reactivate important genes required for one or more aspects of regeneration [30]. There is ample evidence from other systems that is consistent with a negative correlation between cellular differentiation and plasticity, sometimes correlated with epigenetic changes, which supports this idea [31]. However, a noteworthy caveat is that this hypothesis does not explain why regenerative ability would also be greatly decreased in the vestibular system where supporting cells appear to be considerably less differentiated compared with similar cells in the organ of Corti and are comparable to those in nonmammalian vestibular organs. Still, it is possible that changes in other inner ear supporting cells.

The reduced capacity for mammalian supporting cells to regenerate hair cells seems to be tied to their own maturation. Generally, loss of cochlear or vestibular hair cells during embryonic or perinatal periods results in supporting cell proliferation and hair cell regeneration [29,32], although the capacity for regeneration decreased rapidly with postnatal age. Corwin and colleagues provided intriguing, albeit correlative, data suggesting that a structural component of supporting cells, dense actin belts located just beneath the lumenal surfaces of supporting cells, may act to inhibit the ability of those cells to undergo a regenerative response [33,34]. At early postnatal time points, lumenal cortical actin in supporting cells creates a thin circumferential belt located close to the lateral cell membrane. As discussed, supporting cells in the utricle generate a significant regenerative response, including cellular proliferation, during this same period. However, as an animal ages, the width of supporting cell lumenal actin belts increases while regenerative ability decreases. Examination of actin belts in non-mammalian vertebrates, including birds and fish, revealed thin belts similar to those observed in newborn mammals, regardless of the age of the animal. Unfortunately, it has not yet been possible to disrupt these belts to demonstrate whether they actually prevent supporting cells from initiating a regenerative response. The ability of postnatal supporting cells to respond to growth factors and extracellular matrix components in culture also decreases rapidly [35,36]. Thus, the lack of mammalian regeneration appears to be a trait acquired by the maturation of supporting cells.

# INSIGHTS FROM DEVELOPMENTAL BIOLOGY

Because meaningful spontaneous regeneration does not occur in mammals, it seems likely that manipulation of the system, possibly through pharmacological and/or genetic approaches, will be necessary to induce a response. To develop an appropriate strategy, it will be necessary to identify the molecular and genetic pathways that regulate the key steps in a regenerative response. Based on the process that occurs during hair cell regeneration in non-mammalian vertebrates, hair cell regeneration can come from the nonmitotic conversion of supporting cells into

hair cells or the proliferation of supporting cells followed by differentiation of some of the progeny into hair cells. Because neither proliferation of supporting cells nor differentiation into hair cells occurs at a high rate in adult mammalian hair cell epithelia, one possible way to identify the factors that regulate each of these events is to examine them during development.

Significant progress has been made in understanding both proliferation and differentiation, but our understanding of the regulation of differentiation is more advanced and therefore will be discussed first. One of the initial findings was actually related to a genetic signal that inhibits rather than promotes hair cell formation (Fig. 49.3). The Notch signaling pathway is an ancient developmental process that regulates the number of cells that assume a particular cell fate through cell-cell based lateral inhibition [37]. Briefly, transmembrane Notch receptors are activated through binding similarly membrane-bound ligands called Deltas or Jaggeds. Because both ligands and receptors are membrane bound, cell–cell contact is required for receptor activation. After binding, Notch molecules are cleaved to generate a Notch intracellular domain (NICD) molecule that is then translocated to the nucleus of the cell, where it forms a transcriptional complex with other factors including Rbpj. The results of Notch activation vary, depending on the biological system, but a common effect is the inhibition of cellular differentiation through the induction of expression of a class of inhibitory transcription factors that includes Hes1, Hes5, and Hey2. In the developing cochlea, Notch1 is expressed broadly in the progenitor cells that will develop as both hair cells and supporting cells [38,39]. As cells begin to develop as hair cells, they upregulate expression of two Notch ligands, Jagged2 and Delta1. Binding of these ligands leads to the generation of NICDs and expression of Hes genes in surrounding cells [38,40,41]. Deletion of any component of this signaling pathway or prevention of Notch cleavage by pharmacological  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitors results in an increase in the number of cells that develop as hair cells, which demonstrates that the Notch signaling pathway acts as an inhibitor of hair cell development [38,42]. Whether this pathway is still active in the adult auditory epithelium and could therefore have a role in inhibiting hair cell regeneration, is a matter of debate [43–45]. However, some initial results to be discussed subsequently suggest that this is possible.

The demonstration of a role for Notch signaling also provided clues regarding some of the genes that might have a positive role in inducing hair cell formation. As discussed, Notch is part of an ancient signaling pathway that includes Hes and Hey transcription factors. These transcription factors are part of a large family that share common structural motifs including a basic DNA binding domain (b) and a helix–loop–helix (HLH) dimerization domain. Other members of the basic HLH family include molecules that promote cellular differentiation [46]. Screening for basic HLHs expressed in developing hair cells indicated that Atoh1 might be a strong candidate. Results of both in situ hybridization and mouse reporter line studies demonstrated that Atoh1 turns on in a large number of cochlear progenitor cells before hair cell development, but by embryonic day (E)16 to E17 in the mouse, expression is restricted to the developing hair cells [47,48]. More important, genetic deletion of *Atoh1* leads to a complete absence of all inner ear hair cells whereas forced expression of Atoh1 in the embryonic inner ear can induce cells to adopt a hair cell fate [47,49,50]. Finally, lineage tracing experiments demonstrated that the number of cells that initially express *Atoh1* is greater than the number that ultimately develop as hair cells and that activation of Notch signaling has a critical role in determining which cells will maintain expression of Atoh1 [51]. Based on these results, Atoh1 has been established as a strong inducer of hair cell formation.

Following from these experiments, both expression of Atoh1 and modulation of Notch signaling have been examined as possible mechanisms to induce hair cell regeneration in the mature inner ear. Although promising in some respects, the results have unfortunately, been limited. To assess the ability of cells in different regions of the inner ear to develop as hair cells, transgenic mice in which broad expression of Atoh1 can be induced pharmacologically were generated by two laboratories. The results indicated that whereas forced expression of Atoh1 induces ectopic hair cell formation in embryonic or neonatal cochlea, this ability is completely lost in adult inner ear cells [52,53]. Furthermore, even in neonatal tissue, hair cells that were formed in response to forced expression of Atoh1 failed to mature completely. The reasons for both lack of hair cell maturation and loss of responsiveness to Atoh1 are unclear. The most likely explanation for the defects in hair cell maturation are that other factors (either co-factors for Atoh1 or possibly additional transcription factors) are required to drive hair cell maturation. This hypothesis was supported by a study showing that the efficacy and maturity of hair cells derived from embryonic stem cells could be significantly increased if the cells were forced to express three relatively inner ear-specific transcription factors: Atoh1, Gfi1, and Pou4f3 [54]. Gfi1 and Pou4f3 are expressed in hair cells soon after Atoh1, but both loss-of-function and gain-of-function experiments indicated that neither Gfi1 nor Pou4f3 is necessary or sufficient for initial hair cell formation [55,56]. Regardless, these results suggest that the combination of these three factors may have the ability to induce more mature hair cells in an adult inner ear epithelium, although this possibility has not yet been directly tested.



(B) Activation of Atoh1 Targets



(C) Determination of Cell Fate



**FIGURE 49.3** Regulation of cell fates during inner ear development. Three stages of molecular signaling interactions are illustrated. (A) An initial period of Wnt signaling leads to stabilization and subsequent nuclear-translocation of β-catenin (β-cat). In the nucleus, β-catenin induces expression of TCF/Lef transcription factors that bind directly to an *Atoh1-3'* enhancer leading to the initial expression of *Atoh1*. (B) Atoh1 protein binds to multiple DNA recognition sites, including one in the Atoh1-3' enhancer and others in uncharacterized hair cell (HC) genes. (C) In some cells, expression of two Notch ligands, Delta1 and Jagged2, is initiated. Delta1 and Jagged2 bind to Notch1 receptors on neighboring cells, causing the upregulation of inhibitory transcription factors such as HES5. HES5 inhibits the expression of Atoh1, resulting in a downregulation of Atoh1 target genes, including *Atoh1*. Cells that maintain expression of Atoh1 go on to develop as hair cells whereas cells in which Atoh1 is downregulated develop as supporting cells.
#### 49. HAIR CELL REGENERATION IN THE INNER EAR AND LATERAL LINE

Regarding the loss of ability of Atoh1 to induce hair cells in more mature inner ear cells, the most likely explanation for this change is progressive epigenetic changes that prevent Atoh1 from binding to and activating essential downstream target genes. Although this type of epigenetic modulation has been reported in other cell types, no definitive studies have been performed in the inner ear. Other possibilities include downregulation of essential co-factors or required post-translational modifications that do not occur in more mature cells.

The results described earlier focused on the cochlear epithelium; however, an experiment demonstrated consistent, although not entirely similar, results for the vestibular epithelia. As is true for the cochlea, forced expression of Atoh1 induced hair cell formation in utricular epithelia at early postnatal ages and the efficacy of this effect decreased over time with 75% fewer hair cells formed in response to Atoh1 expression at postnatal day 21 (P21) versus the same level of induction at P0 [57]. However, the formation of new hair cells in the utricle at P21 contrasted with results from the cochlea in which no new hair cells were formed at that age. Unfortunately, the ability of Atoh1 to induce new hair cells in the utricle was not tested at ages older than P21, so it is not clear whether the level of induction observed at P21 represents a plateau or whether further loss of efficiency would occur at older ages. Similar experiments in which Atoh1 expression was induced using viral vectors in more mature animals reported the formation of a limited number of hair cell–like cells in different regions of the inner ear, which is consistent with the possibility that some adult inner ear cells located outside the cochlear duct retain the ability to develop as hair cells [58]. In fact, recovery of some degree of vestibular function was reported in animals in which hair cells were killed using systemic applications of aminoglycosides and loop diuretics [23]. However, as discussed previously, it was difficult to determine the relative contributions of hair cell regeneration and functional compensation in those experiments.

During development, activation of the Notch pathway serves to inhibit hair cell formation. This observation raised the question of whether continued activation of this pathway, in particular in response to injury, might have a role in inhibiting hair cell regeneration. Consistent with this idea, examination of the expression of Notch pathway genes in the chicken basilar papilla indicated that both Notch and its receptors are re-expressed during a regenerative response, although these factors were subsequently downregulated once the epithelium completed the regenerative process [59]. Neither Notch1 nor the ligands Delta1 and Jagged2 were observed in the mature intact organ of Corti. However, examination of epithelia after noise trauma yielded contrasting results; one laboratory reported an increase in the expression of Notch pathway genes, whereas a second observed the opposite result [43]. More intriguing are the results of a study in which partial recovery of hearing sensitivity was demonstrated after noise trauma in animals treated with a systemic  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor [45].  $\gamma$ -Secretase is required for the cleavage of Notch [60]. Although the recovery was modest, the results suggested a potential role for Notch signaling in inhibiting hair cell regeneration.

Finally, the Wnt signaling pathway has been shown to have diverse roles in hair cell development. Wnts are secreted glycoproteins that have been implicated in myriad biological processes including cell fate, cellular polarity, and the regulation of cancer [61]. Studies in which a highly conserved target of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway,  $\beta$ -catenin ( $\beta$ -cat), was modulated both in vitro and in vivo demonstrated important roles for  $\beta$ -cat, and presumably Wnt signaling, in cochlear proliferation and subsequent hair cell formation [62,63]. In particular, inhibition or deletion of  $\beta$ -cat causes a significant disruption in hair cell development whereas increased activation of  $\beta$ -cat leads to increased proliferation of cochlear prosensory cells and subsequent formation of extra hair cells. Unfortunately, it has been difficult to identify the specific Wnts and Wnt receptors that may mediate these effects. A study used a combination of microarray analysis and in situ hybridization to identify and profile the expression of Wnts and Wnt receptors in the developing cochlea, but because of redundant expression and function, it is not yet possible to determine which factors might act to activate Wnt signaling within the cochlea.

As discussed earlier, under some circumstances, cellular proliferation may be required to facilitate hair cell regeneration. For instance, the loss of structural differentiation that typically occurs before cellular mitosis may increase the ability of an individual cell to undergo a phenotypic switch. In some epithelia, such as the organ of Cori, the limited number and high degree of specialization of supporting cells may necessitate the generation of new cells to maintain a functional epithelium after the conversion of some supporting cells into new hair cells. Cellular proliferation is minimal to non-existent in adult mammalian inner ear sensory epithelia [64]; however, before hair cell differentiation, the progenitor cells that will develop as hair cells are highly proliferative. Understanding how cellular proliferation is promoted or inhibited in these cells could provide valuable insights regarding possible approaches to inducing mature supporting cells to reenter the cell cycle. Extensive previous studies have identified a large number of factors that modulate cell cycle progress and exit. The first of these to be examined in the developing cochlea was the cell cycle inhibitor Cdkn1b (formerly p27<sup>kip1</sup>). Cdkn1b is specifically expressed in all cochlear prosensory cells before terminal mitosis; expression is maintained in supporting cells through

adulthood [65,66]. Deletion of *Cdkn1b* results in approximately one additional round of mitosis within the prosensory population, leading to the generation of supernumerary hair cells and supporting cells and to auditory dysfunction. Subsequent experiments demonstrated important roles for a number of other cell cycle regulators including cyclin D1, N-myc, retinoblastoma, p130, p19, and p21 [67]. Deletion of factors that promote proliferation such as N-myc leads to reduced cells within the inner ear and significant defects in cellular patterning, whereas deletions of cell cycle inhibitors leads to supernumerary cells and some level of cell cycle reentry in adults, although in most cases those cells undergo subsequent cell death.

Overall, studies on the development of the inner ear sensory epithelia have provided valuable insights regarding the genes and signaling pathways that regulate processes relevant to hair cell regeneration. In particular, identification of the transcription factor Atoh1 as a strong inducer of a hair cell fate and the demonstration that the Notch signaling pathway has a critical role in inhibiting cells from differentiating as hair cells suggest two possible approaches to enhancing hair cell regeneration in an adult epithelium. Similarly, the discovery that the Wnt signaling pathway and cell cycle regulators act to modulate proliferation of inner ear progenitor cells may provide insights regarding methods to induce cell cycle reentry in an adult inner ear. Results described in the next section will discuss initial attempts to induce regeneration by modulating these pathways.

### INDUCTION OF HAIR CELL REGENERATION USING TRANSGENIC MICE

The development of inducible transgenic mouse lines in which specific genes can be activated or inactivated in specific cell types at specific time points has revolutionized the ability to study inner ear regeneration. Based on the results of the developmental studies described earlier, four genes (Cdkn1b, Atoh1, Notch1, and  $\beta$ -cat) have been targeted. In most cases, two general concepts were addressed individually or together. The first of these is that forced activation of Atoh1 alone or combined with the deletion of Notch1 can enhance hair cell differentiation by expressing a hair cell inducer (Atoh1) and removing a hair cell inhibitor (Notch1). The second is that removal of the cell cycle inhibitor Cdkn1b might allow supporting cells to reenter the cell cycle. Finally, activation of the Wnt pathway has been implicated in both proliferation and differentiation, and so it might be able to mediate both events. For the bulk of these projects, the basic experimental design has been to use supporting cell-specific inducible cre lines combined with floxed deletion or activator lines to modulate one or more of these factors after injury [68,69]. These approaches have yielded encouraging results after induced hair cell loss in neonatal cochleae; unfortunately, similar results have not been obtained in adult inner ears. Because newborn mouse pups do not begin to hear until approximately 14 days postpartum, it seems possible that the results obtained in neonates may be a remnant of the embryonic developmental program or immaturity of the supporting cells. Whether the inability of these factors to induce new hair cells in adult cochleae is a result of changes in post-transcriptional or post-translational processing, loss of obligate co-receptors, epigenetic changes, or a progressive loss of stem cells within the epithelium remains to be determined.

The results of two studies shed some light but also provide some confusion regarding the mechanism that might act to prevent hair cell regeneration in the cochlea. As discussed, activation of Notch1 requires a  $\gamma$ -secretasedependent cleavage of the Notch1 protein leading to the formation of NICD, which is then translocated to the nucleus to initiate signaling. Several pharmacological inhibitors of  $\gamma$ -secretase have been shown to block Notch1 activation effectively in vitro. Mizutari and colleagues induced hair cell damage in adult mice using noise or driving caspase expression in hair cells to promote apoptosis and then injected LY411575, a new, highly potent  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor into the inner ears of these animals for several days [45]. The mice in these studies also carried a lineage marker that allowed the authors to mark all of the supporting cells in the cochlea permanently. After 3 months of recovery, the LY411575-treated animals showed some improvement in auditory function and evidence of replacement hair cells in the cochlea. Moreover, the new hair cells expressed the lineage marker, which suggested that they had developed from existing supporting cells, although it is not clear whether they were exclusively from nonmitotic conversion or whether any proliferative regeneration was induced. This result was particularly exciting in that the use of a pharmacological agent is well-suited for development as a clinical application. From a biological standpoint, this result suggested that the Notch pathway remains active or is re-activated after injury in adult tissue. In fact, both this study and work from a separate laboratory indicated re-expression of some components of the Notch pathway in response to injury [44].

However, a subsequent study by a different group of researchers observed a different result. In that case, explant cultures of neonatal cochleae were established, treated with  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitors and then assayed for the development of new hair cells. The results indicated a marked decrease in the number of new hair

cells that developed even in cochleae as young as P3. In addition, polymerase chain reaction analysis of the expression of Notch pathway genes after noise damage in adult animals indicated no reactivation of the Notch pathway [43]. Thus, these two studies would seem to present two highly disparate results for which the bases for the differences cannot easily be determined. One possibility is that the mechanisms of hair cell damage were different, as were the time scales. Another possibility is that although Notch genes are a main target of  $\gamma$ -secretase, they are not the only target, which raises the possibility that the regeneration observed in vivo is mediated through a different pathway. Therefore, although the results are intriguing, additional studies are clearly required.

# STUDIES OF HAIR CELL REGENERATION USING THE LATERAL LINE

As discussed, in mammals and other terrestrial vertebrates, hair cell sensory epithelia are confined to the inner ear. In contrast, aquatic vertebrates, such as fishes and amphibians, possess an additional hair cell sensory structure, the lateral line system (Fig. 49.4). This sensory system is composed of a series of organs, termed neuromasts, arrayed along the surface of the skin or in bony dermal canals that connect to the skin surface (Fig. 49.4A). The amphibian lateral line is indeed the first place that hair cell regeneration was observed. After amputation and subsequent



**FIGURE 49.4** Overview of the lateral line. (A) Schematic diagram of the lateral line in a 4-day-old zebrafish embryo. The *green circles* represent the position of neuromasts (NM) and the *green lines* represent the underlying nerve. The neuromasts in the head make up the anterior lateral line, whereas those along the body make up the posterior lateral line. (B) Schematic of a surface view of an individual neuromast in a 3- to 4-day-old zebrafish. The mantle cells make up the outer edge of the neuromast and the interneuromast cells are a line of cells connecting adjacent neuromasts (*dark green*). The supporting cells (*light green*) surround the sensory hair cells (*red*). (C) Cross-section of a neuromast in a 3- to 4-day-old zebrafish. The apical side of the neuromast is constricted and the hair cells (*red*) extend their hair bundles into an overlying gelatinous cupula (*yellow*). Mantle cells and interneuromast cells (*dark green*) lie at the edge of the neuromast, with supporting cells (*light green*) extending the width of the epithelium and interdigitating between the hair cells. (D) Schematic of the development of the posterior lateral line. The leading edge of the primordium (*arrow*) has migratory mesenchymal cells that crawl forward, driving the primordium along the horizontal myoseptum of the fish from head to tail. Cells in more posterior positions within the primordium begin to organize into rosettes, which are deposited as the primordium continues to migrate. In the deposited neuromast, centrally positioned cells become the Atoh1-expressing hair cell precursor (*yellow*) and organize the neuromast.

#### FORMATION OF NEW NEUROMASTS FROM MULTIPOTENT PROGENITORS

regrowth of larval salamander tails, Stone reported in the 1930s that replacement neuromasts, which contain new sensory hair cells, were produced from cells located in the most distal remaining neuromast [70,71]. As a result, the amphibian lateral line was used as a model for both sensory organ regeneration and hair cell regeneration for many years. The development of zebrafish as a genetically manipulatable model system has allowed more extensive investigation of the molecular control of these regenerative phenomena.

The mechanosensory lateral line is used to detect the flow of water and water pressure differences across the fish's or amphibian's body and has important roles in schooling behavior, predator and prey detection, rheotaxis, obstacle avoidance, and, potentially, communication between individuals [72–74]. Each neuromast is composed of a number of sensory hair cells and supporting cells and, at the outermost edge, a layer of mantle cells (Fig. 49.4B,C). The lateral line sensory hair cells are morphologically and physiologically similar to those in the inner ear, and although there are fewer markers or identifying features, the supporting cells also appear to be similar to those in the inner ear [75–77]. During development, the lateral line system is established by several different primordia that migrate from the region of the otic placode along the head and trunk, progressively depositing clusters of cells that organize into neuromasts (Fig. 49.4D). Whereas the migrating primordia establish an initial series of neuromasts, additional, new neuromasts arise from latent, multipotent interneuromast cells that are also deposited by the initial primordia as well as from budding of new neuromasts from existing ones, ultimately to form stitches, or linear arrays of neuromasts, along the body [70,71,78–80]. Once a neuromast begins to develop, the initial formation of hair cells is coordinated by *atoh1* and Notch signaling, similar to the development of hair cells in the vertebrate inner ear (see earlier discussion). Cells in the center of each new neuromast acquire *atoh1* expression, becoming hair cell precursors, and those cells use Notch and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling to suppress hair cell precursor fate in neighboring cells [80–82]. The hair cell precursors then divide using planar polarity cues oriented during the migration of the primordium, such as vangl2, to produce pairs of hair cells oriented in the opposite direction; the hair bundles and kinocilia are oriented 180 degrees away from each other, with the kinocilia of both located closest to the center of the plane of division [83,84]. The similarity of the genes, signals, and patterns used to develop sensory hair cells within the lateral line and the vertebrate inner ear has suggested that studying the robust regeneration that occurs in the lateral line will provide valuable insights into the mechanisms that control (and limit) hair cell regeneration in all systems.

#### FORMATION OF NEW NEUROMASTS FROM MULTIPOTENT PROGENITORS

As mentioned previously, the first evidence that hair cells could be regenerated from supporting cells came from early experiments in salamander tail regeneration, in which it was noted that replacement neuromasts were derived from the outermost (mantle) cells on the posterior edge of the distal-most remaining neuromast after tail amputation [70,71]. Experimentation revealed that the anterior mantle cells also had the capacity to regenerate lost neuromasts if they were rotated to be proximal to the amputation site, and that these mantle cells were responsible for the budding of new neuromasts during stitch formation. These results suggested that the mantle cells retained an intrinsic latent multipotency that could be stimulated to proliferate, forming new or replacement neuromasts [70,71,78,85–87]. It has also been suggested that macrophages responding to the injury may have an important role in initiating regeneration [87], and that the regenerative primordium may reexpress markers used in the developmental primordia [88], but little is known about the signals that initiate either neuromast budding or regeneration from the mantle cells (Fig. 49.5).

In addition to the mantle cells, it has been suggested that interneuromast cells, which are deposited by the developmental primordia between primary neuromasts, may also serve as a pool of multipotent progenitors capable of forming new or replacement neuromasts. In fact, several studies suggested that the glia ensheathing the lateral line nerve, which runs beneath the lateral line, suppress the interneuromast cells from forming new neuromasts, and that interstitial growth may therefore come from de-repressed interneuromast cells that escape glial inhibition [89–92]. In addition, in response to localized destruction of an entire neuromast, interneuromast cells are capable of replacing the missing neuromast, and this regeneration is enhanced by blocking the development of lateral line nerve glia [93]. Thus, there appear to be at least two populations of latent multipotent progenitors capable of producing new sense organs in the lateral line: the mantle cells and the interneuromast cells, with both populations held in check until injury or growth requirements stimulate them (Fig. 49.5A). Notably, although full molecular characterization of mantle and interneuromast cells is incomplete [94], many common markers are expressed in both populations, which raises the possibility that these are highly similar cells, even though the mantle cells are epithelial whereas interneuromast cells appear to be more mesenchymal. 49. HAIR CELL REGENERATION IN THE INNER EAR AND LATERAL LINE



FIGURE 49.5 Models of progenitor cells in the lateral line. (A) Schematic diagram of a neuromast showing the areas where multipotent progenitors (interneuromast cells and mantle cells) can develop into new neuromasts. Interneuromast cells can divide and form a new neuromast between two existing neuromasts. Mantle cells can proliferate on the dorsoventral sides of the neuromast to bud off additional neuromasts during stitch formation. In response to amputation of the tail, the posterior neuromasts divide to become a migratory regenerative primordium that forms and deposits replacement neuromasts as it migrates into the regenerating tail. (B) Model of hair cell regeneration in the lateral line. When hair cells are ablated (Xs), they are rapidly extruded from the epithelium. Adjacent supporting cells divide symmetrically to develop into two replacement hair cells, and more peripheral supporting cells divide to give rise to replacement supporting cells.

# HAIR CELL REGENERATION IN THE LATERAL LINE

The ability to regenerate entire sensory organs within the lateral line demonstrates a robust regenerative capacity; moreover, the ability also to regenerate just damaged or missing hair cells within the sensory organs makes this an important system for working out the mechanisms underlying hair cell regeneration. Like inner ear hair cells, lateral line hair cells are susceptible to damage from aminoglycoside antibiotics and chemotherapeutics such as cisplatin [95–97], and the presence of sensory structures on the surface of the fish means that hair cells can be killed simply by placing a fish in water containing ototoxins for 15–60 min. The result is rapid hair cell death and extrusion from the neuromast. The ease of applying such compounds to the lateral line hair cells, particularly in zebrafish larvae, has been leveraged to develop several screens for the discovery both of new potential ototoxins, such as copper ions and other clinically relevant compounds [98,99], as well as compounds that serve protective functions [100–103]. In addition, the surface location of the cells allows for the direct ablation of individual cells, such as by laser irradiation, and tracking of the regenerative response [104,105].

Notably, even without the addition of ototoxic compounds or other insults, there is a significant and ongoing turnover of hair cells in lateral line neuromasts [106,107], similar to that seen in avian vestibular organs [108–110]. The correlation between levels of cell death and levels of proliferative regeneration both at baseline and after the induction of damage suggests that each neuromast uses a feedback mechanism to maintain the number of hair cells within a certain range [106]. After an acute insult, loss and regeneration of hair cells occur rapidly; hair cell loss and extrusion occur within 3 h and the first regenerated hair cells appear within 12 h. Baseline numbers of hair cells are typically restored within 72 h [96,111].

Similar to results from nonaquatic vertebrates, studies in both amphibian and zebrafish lateral line have clearly identified the supporting cells as the source of regenerated hair cells [83,96,97,104–106,111,112]. Most studies suggest that regenerated hair cells are formed as a pair after the single division of a supporting cell [83,111–113]; indeed, treatment with mitotic inhibitors inhibits hair cell regeneration [97,112,114]. However, there are reports that a few regenerated hair cells may be derived via nonmitotic conversion of a supporting cell into a hair cell [105,111,115]. Because there is constant turnover within neuromasts, this nonproliferative conversion may reflect the presence of some recently produced, undifferentiated progeny at the time of lesion, or it may be tied to the specific type and level of damage induced. However, this type of regeneration is composed of only a minor percentage of new hair cells; the vast majority originate from the proliferation of nearby supporting cells. The ability of the supporting cells to regenerate hair cells extends from larval stages through to adulthood with little loss in capacity and only slight changes in the kinetics, and there is little evidence that the population of progenitors can be exhausted, because repeated rounds of neomycin still lead to robust regeneration [107,116].

Because regenerated hair cells appear to be produced as a pair from the division of one supporting cell [83], repeated rounds of regeneration would lead to a depletion of supporting cells (and loss of regenerative capacity) without proliferative replacement of the supporting cell population. However, the fates of supporting cell divisions appear to be compartmentalized based on their position within the neuromast. More central supporting cells divide to produce hair cells, whereas more peripheral supporting cells divide to renew the supporting cell population. Differences have been observed among mantle cells, with more anterior supporting cells representing a slower dividing or quiescent pool [107,117]. Mantle cells rarely appear to contribute to regeneration after limited damage, but they can contribute to the production of new supporting cells after more extensive damage such as the forced depletion of the supporting cell pool [118]. Thus, although mantle cells may be a multipotent progenitor for new sensory organ formation, they may not have regular roles in maintaining and regenerating hair cells and supporting cells, although the relationship between mantle cells and peripheral support cells, such as whether they have nichelike interactions, needs to be clarified.

### PATHWAYS COORDINATING HAIR CELL REGENERATION IN THE LATERAL LINE

The ability to use both forward and reverse genetics techniques in zebrafish, the strength of various gene expression assays, as well as the ease of adding pharmacological compounds to the water has allowed extensive investigation of the pathways and genes coordinating the regeneration of hair cells after damage and comparison of those with both the developmental pathways and regeneration in other vertebrates. Transcriptomic analysis of supporting cells and mantle cells has begun to characterize genes that are active during different windows of regeneration [94,118]. Shortly after hair cell loss, Wnt, Notch, and FGF signaling pathways are each inhibited; Wnt and Notch become active in later stages of regeneration [118]. In particular, Wht10a and the Frizzled 7b and 8a receptors are regulated during the first 5 h after hair cell ablation [118]. Consistent with these results, several studies found that the inhibition of Wnt signaling, either genetically or pharmacologically, blocks supporting cell proliferation and hair cell regeneration, whereas the activation of Wnt signaling promotes supporting cell proliferation [117,119–121]. Similarly, the inhibition of Notch signaling promotes increased numbers of supporting cells returning to the cell cycle and biases the progeny to differentiate into hair cells, whereas the activation of Notch blocks supporting cell proliferation and hair cell regeneration [111,112,117]. These pathways appear to be hierarchically arranged, because Notch inhibition activates Wnt signaling in supporting cells, likely via the loss of Notchmediated expression of the Wnt-inhibitor dkk2 [117,120]. This relationship is similar to that reported for Wnt/Notch control of the proliferation of supporting cells in the mouse utricle [122]. Although FGF signaling is modulated after hair cell death and is known to be important in the initial development of hair cells within neuromasts [81,82,118], the specific role of FGF signaling in hair cell regeneration is less clear. During regeneration, hair cell progenitors appear to have active FGF [123], similar to the progenitors during development, and inhibition of FGF signaling or ablation of FGF receptor 1-expressing support cells reduces hair cell regeneration [124]. Retinoic acid

(RA) signaling also seems to be an important inducer of supporting cell proliferation by altering  $p27^{kip}$ , and although RA and FGF signaling often interact, they seem to be independent during hair cell regeneration in the lateral line [123].

In addition to studies finding signals required for hair cell regeneration, negative regulators have been found. An insertional mutagenesis screen identified N-glycosylation by *mgat5a* as an important negative regulator of hair cell regeneration, because mutations in this gene had increased regeneration [125]. Although the specific pathway(s) modulated by *mgat5a* is not known, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) has been suggested as a candidate. Consistent with this idea, inhibition of Stat3, which is typically downstream of TGF $\beta$  signaling, enhances hair cell regeneration [126], although the early upregulation of Stat3 suggests that it may also have a role in initiating the regenerative response [118,126]. Studies have also begun to examine how epigenetic control of these signaling pathways may mediate regeneration, in particular focusing on histone methylation and its control of Wnt and FGF signaling [127,128].

Many of the most heavily studied pathways seem to mediate proliferation and/or differentiation of the hair cell progenitors, but it remains unclear what signals initiate the regenerative response, because none of the pathways that have been studied appear to be sufficient to stimulate supporting cell proliferation. Transcriptomic studies have identified other cell–cell signaling pathways including insulin, mitogen-activated protein kinase, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , nitric oxide, reactive oxygen species, Fat, and integrins, that are activated during regeneration, but specific analysis of the roles of these pathways during hair cell regeneration are still required [94,118]. Several of these candidate pathways, such as nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species, could be tied to pathways active in and released by dying hair cells. It has also been proposed that hair cell death may stimulate regeneration via recruitment of immune cells that secrete cytokines, because macrophages migrate to the sites of hair cell damage before the initiation of proliferation [104,105] and ablation of recruited macrophages delays hair cell regeneration in the avian inner ear [130–133], ablation of macrophages does not appear to limit hair cell regeneration in that system [134].

In contrast to the extensive study of hair cell regeneration in the fish and amphibian lateral line, less is known about the pathways underlying regeneration within the inner ears of fish and amphibians. Hair cells lost from the saccule, utricle, and cristae after aminoglycosides, laser ablation, or acoustic overstimulation are regenerated within 1–7 days from *sox2*-expressing supporting cells [123,126,135–137]. RA and FGF signaling appear to regulate inner ear and lateral line regeneration similarly, [123]. Interestingly, although proliferative regeneration was found in cristae and saccule [123,135], rapid recovery of hair cells in the utricle after laser ablation occurred without proliferation of the supporting cells [136], which suggests a potential capacity for direct phenotypic conversion.

# OPEN QUESTIONS ABOUT LATERAL LINE REGENERATION

The lateral line system provides a unique opportunity to study hair cell regeneration at multiple levels. As described earlier, it has provided valuable insights regarding the regeneration process. One of the central questions still to be answered is whether there are unique populations of supporting cells responsible for regenerating hair cells, or whether all supporting cells have this capacity and instead environmental factors regulate which cells respond to injury. In either case, the specific gene interactions that distinguish the subset of supporting cells responsible for hair cell regeneration (in contrast to quiescent or self-renewing supporting cells) remain to be clarified. Similarly, whether there are distinctions between subpopulations of mantle or interneuromast cells in the lateral line is unclear. The ability of mantle cells and supporting cells to generate hair cells, directly in the case of supporting cells and secondarily in the case of mantle cells, suggests some common stem cell-like properties, but also important differences in their control. The separation of hair cell production and self-renewal of supporting cells into separate populations of symmetrically dividing cells is different from the mixture of symmetric and asymmetric (i.e., producing both hair cells and supporting cells) divisions reported in hair cell regeneration in the chick [18]. Whether this represents a unique adaptation of the neuromast or is a general property of hair cell regeneration in fish will require more careful examination of regenerative proliferation in the fish inner ear. Similarly, open questions still surround the potential role of nonproliferative regeneration among the lateral line, the utricle, and the saccule: in particular, whether the differences are more tied to the levels of damage that is induced, relate to different temporal effects, or reflect differences among these sensory organs.

# CONCLUSIONS

All vertebrates use sensory structures containing mechanosensory hair cells to perceive sound, motion, and gravity. Although the overall structure of both the hair cells and their surrounding sensory epithelia appear to be largely comparable among orders, only mammals have lost almost all ability to regenerate hair cells. As a result, humans and all other mammals have the potential to develop permanent deficits in auditory and/or vestibular function. The biological basis for the loss of regenerative ability in mammals remains unclear.

In an effort to understand the molecular bases for hair cell formation and regeneration, two general strategies have been developed: an examination of the development of hair cells in mammals and studies of regeneration in other vertebrates, in particular zebrafish. Results from both of these studies have identified general concepts that appear to apply to hair cell formation and regeneration in all vertebrates. Hair cells typically arise from surrounding supporting cells that become activated in response to injury. The nature of that response can vary based on the extent of the injury and the cells that respond. In some cases, supporting cells directly convert into hair cells, whereas in more severe situations, different classes of supporting cells may reenter the cell cycle to generate new progenitor cells before differentiation. In both developing and regenerating epithelia, the number of cells that develop as hair cells is mediated through the Notch signaling pathway, with developing hair cells expressing ligands that bind to and activate Notch in neighboring cells preventing those cells from developing as hair cells. Similarly, the transcription factor Atoh1, which is inhibited by the Notch pathway, acts as a positive regulator of hair cell fate for all vertebrate hair cells. Based on these results, efforts have been made to manipulate both Atoh1 expression and/ or the Notch pathway to induce hair cell regeneration in a mature mammal auditory organ. The results of those experiments are equivocal. Some studies suggest possible regeneration in animal models whereas others have concluded the opposite. Although subsequent work will be required to determine whether these or other factors or pathways hold the key to inducing hair cell regeneration in a mature mammalian epithelium, progress that has been achieved has been remarkable and suggests that a clinical therapy for hearing loss may be developed in the not too distant future.

# CLINICAL TRIAL

Based on the results of some of these experiments, a multicenter Phase I clinical trial to examine the safety of introducing Atoh1 into the inner ears of patients was initiated in October, 2014 (NCT02132130) by Novartis. The general concept of the trial was to use an adenoviral vector to drive expression of Atoh1 in the ears of patients with profound hearing loss. As a Phase I trial, the primary end points of this study were concern regarding patient safety and the ability to tolerate the adenoviral injections. However, some patients may have been examined for possible recovery of auditory function. Although the results of this trial will not be available for some time, its approval marks the first step toward the application of gene therapy to the inner ear. As discussed, the ability of Atoh1 to induce hair cell formation in cells of an adult ear is probably limited, but if the results indicate that gene therapy can be applied safely to the inner ear, these results have the potential to usher in a series of clinical trials based on manipulations of the signaling pathways discussed in this chapter. Which of these pathways, if any, have the potential to induce a meaningful recovery of function remains to be determined. Nevertheless, that a trial of this nature has been initiated is a remarkable event in and of itself.

# References

- [1] Manley GA. Comparative auditory neuroscience: understanding the evolution and function of ears. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2016;18.
- [2] Barr-Gillespie PG. Assembly of hair bundles, an amazing problem for cell biology. Mol Biol Cell 2015;26(15):2727-32.
- [3] Goutman JD, Elgoyhen AB, Gomez-Casati ME. Cochlear hair cells: the sound-sensing machines. FEBS Lett 2015;589(22):3354-61.
- [4] Noben-Trauth K, Zheng QY, Johnson KR. Association of cadherin 23 with polygenic inheritance and genetic modification of sensorineural hearing loss. Nat Genet 2003;35(1):21–3.
- [5] Rauch SD, et al. Decreasing hair cell counts in aging humans. Ann NY Acad Sci 2001;942:220-7.
- [6] Neveux S, et al. Natural compounds as occult ototoxins? Ginkgo biloba flavonoids moderately damage lateral line hair cells. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2016;18.
- [7] Olivari FA, Hernandez PP, Allende ML. Acute copper exposure induces oxidative stress and cell death in lateral line hair cells of zebrafish larvae. Brain Res 2008;1244:1–12.
- [8] Schacht J, Talaska AE, Rybak LP. Cisplatin and aminoglycoside antibiotics: hearing loss and its prevention. Anat Rec 2012;295(11):1837-50.

- [9] Esterberg R, et al. Mitochondrial calcium uptake underlies ROS generation during aminoglycoside-induced hair cell death. J Clin Invest 2016;126(9):3556–66.
- [10] Corwin JT. Postembryonic production and aging in inner ear hair cells in sharks. J Comp Neurol 1981;201(4):541–53.
- [11] Corwin JT. Perpetual production of hair cells and maturational changes in hair cell ultrastructure accompany postembryonic growth in an amphibian ear. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1985;82(11):3911-5.
- [12] Cotanche DA. Regeneration of hair cell stereociliary bundles in the chick cochlea following severe acoustic trauma. Hear Res 1987;30(2–3): 181–95.
- [13] Corwin JT, Cotanche DA. Regeneration of sensory hair cells after acoustic trauma. Science 1988;240(4860):1772-4.
- [14] Ryals BM, Rubel EW. Hair cell regeneration after acoustic trauma in adult Coturnix quail. Science 1988;240(4860):1774-6.
- [15] Ryals BM, Westbrook EW. Hair cell regeneration in senescent quail. Hear Res 1990;50(1-2):87-96.
- [16] Adler HJ, Raphael Y. New hair cells arise from supporting cell conversion in the acoustically damaged chick inner ear. Neurosci Lett 1996; 205(1):17–20.
- [17] Shang J, et al. Supporting cell division is not required for regeneration of auditory hair cells after ototoxic injury in vitro. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2010;11(2):203–22.
- [18] Stone JS, Rubel EW. Temporal, spatial, and morphologic features of hair cell regeneration in the avian basilar papilla. J Comp Neurol 2000; 417(1):1–16.
- [19] Weisleder P, Rubel EW. Hair cell regeneration in the avian vestibular epithelium. Exp Neurol 1992;115(1):2-6.
- [20] Warchol ME, et al. Regenerative proliferation in inner ear sensory epithelia from adult Guinea pigs and humans. Science 1993;259(5101): 1619–22.
- [21] Forge A, et al. Ultrastructural evidence for hair cell regeneration in the mammalian inner ear. Science 1993;259(5101):1616-9.
- [22] Roberson DW, Rubel EW. Cell division in the gerbil cochlea after acoustic trauma. Am J Otol 1994;15(1):28–34.
- [23] Izumikawa M, et al. Auditory hair cell replacement and hearing improvement by Atoh1 gene therapy in deaf mammals. Nat Med 2005;11(3): 271–6.
- [24] Wang Y, Hirose K, Liberman MC. Dynamics of noise-induced cellular injury and repair in the mouse cochlea. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2002; 3(3):248–68.
- [25] Lacour M, Helmchen C, Vidal PP. Vestibular compensation: the neuro-otologist's best friend. J Neurol 2016;263(Suppl 1):S54-64.
- [26] McGovern MM, et al. Quantitative analysis of supporting cell subtype labeling among CreER lines in the neonatal mouse cochlea. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2016;18.
- [27] Golub JS, et al. Hair cell replacement in adult mouse utricles after targeted ablation of hair cells with diphtheria toxin. J Neurosci 2012;32(43): 15093–105.
- [28] Mekada E, et al. Methylamine facilitates demonstration of specific uptake of diphtheria toxin by CHO cell and toxin-resistant CHO cell mutants. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1982;109(3):792–9.
- [29] Burns JC, et al. In vivo proliferative regeneration of balance hair cells in newborn mice. J Neurosci 2012;32(19):6570-7.
- [30] Layman WS, Sauceda MA, Zuo J. Epigenetic alterations by NuRD and PRC2 in the neonatal mouse cochlea. Hear Res 2013;304:167-78.
- [31] Betschinger J. Charting developmental dissolution of pluripotency. J Mol Biol 2016;429.
- [32] White PM, et al. Mammalian cochlear supporting cells can divide and trans-differentiate into hair cells. Nature 2006;441(7096):984-7.
- [33] Burns JC, et al. Reinforcement of cell junctions correlates with the absence of hair cell regeneration in mammals and its occurrence in birds. J Comp Neurol 2008;511(3):396–414.
- [34] Burns JC, et al. Specializations of intercellular junctions are associated with the presence and absence of hair cell regeneration in ears from six vertebrate classes. J Comp Neurol 2013;521(6):1430–48.
- [35] Gu R, et al. Proliferative responses to growth factors decline rapidly during postnatal maturation of mammalian hair cell epithelia. Eur J Neurosci 2007;25(5):1363–72.
- [36] Montcouquiol M, Corwin JT. Intracellular signals that control cell proliferation in mammalian balance epithelia: key roles for phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase, mammalian target of rapamycin, and S6 kinases in preference to calcium, protein kinase C, and mitogenactivated protein kinase. J Neurosci 2001;21(2):570–80.
- [37] Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ. Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Science 1999;284(5415): 770-6.
- [38] Lanford PJ, et al. Notch signalling pathway mediates hair cell development in mammalian cochlea. Nat Genet 1999;21(3):289-92.
- [39] Morrison A, et al. Expression of Delta1 and Serrate1 (Jagged1) in the mouse inner ear. Mech Dev 1999;84(1–2):169–72.
- [40] Lanford PJ, et al. Expression of Math1 and HES5 in the cochleae of wildtype and Jag2 mutant mice. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2000;1(2): 161–71.
- [41] Zine A, et al. Hes1 and Hes5 activities are required for the normal development of the hair cells in the mammalian inner ear. J Neurosci 2001; 21(13):4712–20.
- [42] Kiernan AE, et al. The Notch ligands DLL1 and JAG2 act synergistically to regulate hair cell development in the mammalian inner ear. Development 2005;132(19):4353–62.
- [43] Maass JC, et al. Changes in the regulation of the Notch signaling pathway are temporally correlated with regenerative failure in the mouse cochlea. Front Cell Neurosci 2015;9:110.
- [44] Batts SA, Shoemaker CR, Raphael Y. Notch signaling and Hes labeling in the normal and drug-damaged organ of Corti. Hear Res 2009; 249(1–2):15–22.
- [45] Mizutari K, et al. Notch inhibition induces cochlear hair cell regeneration and recovery of hearing after acoustic trauma. Neuron 2013;77(1): 58–69.
- [46] Huang C, Chan JA, Schuurmans C. Proneural bHLH genes in development and disease. Curr Top Dev Biol 2014;110:75–127.
- [47] Bermingham NA, et al. Math1: an essential gene for the generation of inner ear hair cells. Science 1999;284(5421):1837-41.
- [48] Woods C, Montcouquiol M, Kelley MW. Math1 regulates development of the sensory epithelium in the mammalian cochlea. Nat Neurosci 2004;7(12):1310-8.

882

- [49] Jones JM, et al. Inhibitors of differentiation and DNA binding (Ids) regulate Math1 and hair cell formation during the development of the organ of Corti. J Neurosci 2006;26(2):550–8.
- [50] Zheng JL, Gao WQ. Overexpression of Math1 induces robust production of extra hair cells in postnatal rat inner ears. Nat Neurosci 2000;3(6): 580-6.
- [51] Driver EC, et al. The Atoh1-lineage gives rise to hair cells and supporting cells within the mammalian cochlea. Dev Biol 2013;376(1):86–98.
- [52] Kelly MC, et al. Atoh1 directs the formation of sensory mosaics and induces cell proliferation in the postnatal mammalian cochlea in vivo. J Neurosci 2012;32(19):6699–710.
- [53] Liu Z, et al. Age-dependent in vivo conversion of mouse cochlear pillar and Deiters' cells to immature hair cells by Atoh1 ectopic expression. J Neurosci 2012;32(19):6600–10.
- [54] Costa A, et al. Generation of sensory hair cells by genetic programming with a combination of transcription factors. Development 2015; 142(11):1948–59.
- [55] Erkman L, et al. Role of transcription factors Brn-3.1 and Brn-3.2 in auditory and visual system development. Nature 1996;381(6583):603-6.
- [56] Wallis D, et al. The zinc finger transcription factor Gfi1, implicated in lymphomagenesis, is required for inner ear hair cell differentiation and survival. Development 2003;130(1):221–32.
- [57] Gao Z, et al. Spatial and age-dependent hair cell generation in the postnatal mammalian utricle. Mol Neurobiol 2016;53(3):1601–12.
- [58] Kawamoto K, et al. Math1 gene transfer generates new cochlear hair cells in mature Guinea pigs in vivo. J Neurosci 2003;23(11):4395–400.
  [59] Stone JS, Rubel EW. Delta1 expression during avian hair cell regeneration. Development 1999;126(5):961–73.
- [60] Cheng HT, et al. Gamma-secretase activity is dispensable for mesenchyme-to-epithelium transition but required for podocyte and proximal tubule formation in developing mouse kidney. Development 2003;130(20):5031–42.
- [61] Sokol SY. Spatial and temporal aspects of Wnt signaling and planar cell polarity during vertebrate embryonic development. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2015;42:78-85.
- [62] Jacques BE, et al. A dual function for canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling in the developing mammalian cochlea. Development 2012;139(23): 4395–404.
- [63] Shi F, et al. beta-Catenin is required for hair-cell differentiation in the cochlea. J Neurosci 2014;34(19):6470-9.
- [64] Ruben RJ. Development of the inner ear of the mouse: a radioautographic study of terminal mitoses. Acta Otolaryngol 1967;(Suppl 220): 1–44.
- [65] Chen P, Segil N. p27(Kip1) links cell proliferation to morphogenesis in the developing organ of Corti. Development 1999;126(8):1581-90.
- [66] Lowenheim H, et al. Gene disruption of p27(Kip1) allows cell proliferation in the postnatal and adult organ of corti. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96(7):4084-8.
- [67] Mantela J, et al. The retinoblastoma gene pathway regulates the postmitotic state of hair cells of the mouse inner ear. Development 2005; 132(10):2377–88.
- [68] Walters BJ, et al. Auditory hair cell-specific deletion of p27Kip1 in postnatal mice promotes cell-autonomous generation of new hair cells and normal hearing. J Neurosci 2014;34(47):15751–63.
- [69] Kuo BR, et al. In vivo cochlear hair cell generation and survival by coactivation of beta-catenin and Atoh1. J Neurosci 2015;35(30):10786-98.
- [70] Stone LS. The development of lateral-line sense organs in amphibians observed in living and vital-stained preparations. J Comp Neurol 1933;57(3):507–40.
- [71] Stone LS. Further experimental studies of the development of lateral-line sense organs in amphibians observed in living preparations. J Comp Neurol 1937;68(1):83–115.
- [72] Pitcher TJ, Partridge BL, Wardle CS. A blind fish can school. Science 1976;194(4268):963-5.
- [73] Bleckmann H, Zelick R. Lateral line system of fish. Integr Zool 2009;4(1):13-25.
- [74] Butler JM, Maruska KP. Mechanosensory signaling as a potential mode of communication during social interactions in fishes. J Exp Biol 2016;219(18):2781–9.
- [75] Flock Å, Jørgensen JM. The ultrastructure of lateral line sense organs in the juvenile salamander Ambystoma mexicanum. Cell Tissue Res 1974; 152(3):283–92.
- [76] Jørgensen JM, Flock Å. The ultrastructure of lateral line sense organs in the adult salamander Ambystoma mexicanum. J Neurocytol 1973;2(2): 133–42.
- [77] Nicolson T. The genetics of hearing and balance in zebrafish. Annu Rev Genet 2005;39:9–22.
- [78] Ledent V. Postembryonic development of the posterior lateral line in zebrafish. Development 2002;129(3):597-604.
- [79] Ghysen A, Dambly-Chaudière C. The lateral line microcosmos. Genes Dev 2007;21(17):2118-30.
- [80] Chitnis AB, Nogare DD, Matsuda M. Building the posterior lateral line system in zebrafish. Dev Neurobiol 2012;72(3):234-55.
- [81] Nechiporuk A, Raible DW. FGF-dependent mechanosensory organ patterning in zebrafish. Science 2008;320(5884):1774-7.
- [82] Matsuda M, Chitnis AB. Atoh1a expression must be restricted by Notch signaling for effective morphogenesis of the posterior lateral line primordium in zebrafish. Development 2010;137(20):3477–87.
- [83] López-Schier H, Hudspeth AJ. A two-step mechanism underlies the planar polarization of regenerating sensory hair cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103(49):18615–20.
- [84] López-Schier H, et al. Directional cell migration establishes the axes of planar polarity in the posterior lateral-line organ of the zebrafish. Dev Cell 2004;7(3):401–12.
- [85] Wright MR. Regeneration and degeneration experiments on lateral line nerves and sense organs in anurans. J Exp Zool 1947;105(2):221-57.
- [86] Jørgensen JM, Flock Å. Non-innervated sense organs of the lateral line: development in the regenerating tail of the salamander Ambystoma mexicanum. J Neurocytol 1976;5(1):33–41.
- [87] Jones JE, Corwin JT. Replacement of lateral line sensory organs during tail regeneration in salamanders: identification of progenitor cells and analysis of leukocyte activity. J Neurosci 1993;13(3):1022–34.
- [88] Dufourcq P, et al. Mechano-sensory organ regeneration in adults: the zebrafish lateral line as a model. Mol Cell Neurosci 2006;33(2):180-7.
- [89] Grant KA, Raible DW, Piotrowski T. Regulation of latent sensory hair cell precursors by glia in the zebrafish lateral line. Neuron 2005;45(1): 69–80.

- [90] López-Schier H, Hudspeth AJ. Supernumerary neuromasts in the posterior lateral line of zebrafish lacking peripheral glia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102(5):1496–501.
- [91] Nuñez VA, et al. Postembryonic development of the posterior lateral line in the zebrafish. Evol Dev 2009;11(4):391-404.
- [92] Lush ME, Piotrowski T. ErbB expressing Schwann cells control lateral line progenitor cells via non-cell-autonomous regulation of Wnt/ β-catenin. eLife 2014;3(3):e01832.
- [93] Sánchez M, et al. Mechanosensory organ regeneration in zebrafish depends on a population of multipotent progenitor cells kept latent by Schwann cells. BMC Biol 2016;14(1):27.
- [94] Steiner AB, et al. Dynamic gene expression by putative hair-cell progenitors during regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111(14):E1393-401.
- [95] Song J, Yan HY, Popper AN. Damage and recovery of hair cells in fish canal (but not superficial) neuromasts after gentamicin exposure. Hear Res 1995;91(1–2):63–71.
- [96] Harris JA, et al. Neomycin-induced hair cell death and rapid regeneration in the lateral line of zebrafish (Danio rerio). J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2003;4(2):219–34.
- [97] Mackenzie SM, Raible DW. Proliferative regeneration of zebrafish lateral line hair cells after different ototoxic insults. PLoS One 2012;7(10): 1–8.
- [98] Hernández PP, et al. Sub-lethal concentrations of waterborne copper are toxic to lateral line neuromasts in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Hear Res 2006;213(1–2):1–10.
- [99] Chiu LL, et al. Using the zebrafish lateral line to screen for ototoxicity. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2008;9(2):178–90.
- [100] Owens KN, et al. Identification of genetic and chemical modulators of zebrafish mechanosensory hair cell death. PLoS Genet 2008;4(2): e1000020.
- [101] Coffin AB, et al. Chemical screening for hair cell loss and protection in the zebrafish lateral line. Zebrafish 2010;7(1):3–11.
- [102] Ou HC, et al. Quinoline ring derivatives protect against aminoglycoside-induced hair cell death in the zebrafish lateral line. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2012;13(6):759-70.
- [103] Thomas AJ, et al. Identification of small molecule inhibitors of cisplatin-induced hair cell death: results of a 10,000 compound screen in the zebrafish lateral line. Otol Neurotol 2015;36(3):519-25.
- [104] Balak KJ, Corwin JT, Jones JE. Regenerated hair cells can originate from supporting cell progeny: evidence from phototoxicity and laser ablation experiments in the lateral line system. J Neurosci 1990;10(8):2502–12.
- [105] Jones JE, Corwin JT. Regeneration of sensory cells after laser ablation in the lateral line system: hair cell lineage and macrophage behavior revealed by time-lapse video microscopy. J Neurosci 1996;16(2):649–62.
- [106] Williams JA, Holder N. Cell turnover in neuromasts of zebrafish larvae. Hear Res 2000;143(1-2):171-81.
- [107] Cruz IA, et al. Robust regeneration of adult zebrafish lateral line hair cells reflects continued precursor pool maintenance. Dev Biol 2015; 402(2):229–38.
- [108] Jørgensen JM, Mathiesen C. The avian inner ear. Continuous production of hair cells in vestibular sensory organs, but not in the auditory papilla. Naturwissenschaften 1988;75(6):319–20.
- [109] Roberson DF, et al. Ongoing production of sensory cells in the vestibular epithelium of the chick. Hear Res 1992;57(2):166-74.
- [110] Kil J, Warchol ME, Corwin JT. Cell death, cell proliferation, and estimates of hair cell life spans in the vestibular organs of chicks. Hear Res 1997;114(1–2):117–26.
- [111] Ma EY, Rubel EW, Raible DW. Notch signaling regulates the extent of hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. J Neurosci 2008;28(9): 2261–73.
- [112] Wibowo I, et al. Compartmentalized Notch signaling sustains epithelial mirror symmetry. Development 2011;138(6):1143-52.
- [113] Mirkovic I, Pylawka S, Hudspeth AJ. Rearrangements between differentiating hair cells coordinate planar polarity and the establishment of mirror symmetry in lateral-line neuromasts. Biol Open 2012;1(5):498–505.
- [114] Namdaran P, et al. Identification of modulators of hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. J Neurosci 2012;32(10):3516-28.
- [115] Hernández PP, et al. Regeneration in zebrafish lateral line neuromasts: expression of the neural progenitor cell marker sox2 and proliferation-dependent and-independent mechanisms of hair cell renewal. Dev Neurobiol 2007;67(5):637–54.
- [116] Pinto-Teixeira F, et al. Inexhaustible hair-cell regeneration in young and aged zebrafish. Biol Open 2015;4(7):903-9.
- [117] Romero-Carvajal A, et al. Regeneration of sensory hair cells requires localized interactions between the notch and wnt pathways. Dev Cell 2015;34(3):267–82.
- [118] Jiang L, et al. Gene-expression analysis of hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111(14):E1383-92.
- [119] Head JR, et al. Activation of canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling stimulates proliferation in neuromasts in the zebrafish posterior lateral line. Dev Dynam 2013;242(7):832–46.
- [120] Wada H, et al. Wnt/Dkk negative feedback regulates sensory organ size in zebrafish. Curr Biol 2013;23(16):1559-65.
- [121] Jacques BE, et al. The role of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in proliferation and regeneration of the developing basilar papilla and lateral line. Dev Neurobiol 2014;74(4):438–56.
- [122] Wu J, et al. Co-regulation of the Notch and Wnt signaling pathways promotes supporting cell proliferation and hair cell regeneration in mouse utricles. Sci Rep October 2015;6:29418.
- [123] Rubbini D, et al. Retinoic acid signaling mediates hair cell regeneration by repressing p27kip and sox2 in supporting cells. J Neurosci 2015; 35(47):15752–66.
- [124] Lee SG, et al. Myc and Fgf are required for zebrafish neuromast hair cell regeneration. PLoS One 2016;11(6):1–21.
- [125] Pei W, et al. Loss of Mgat5a-mediated N-glycosylation stimulates regeneration in zebrafish. Cell Regen 2016:1–12.
- [126] Liang J, et al. The stat3/socs3a pathway is a key regulator of hair cell regeneration in zebrafish. [corrected]. J Neurosci 2012;32(31):10662–73.
- [127] He Y, et al. LSD1 is required for hair cell regeneration in zebrafish. Mol Neurobiol 2016;53(4):2421-34.
- [128] Tang D, et al. Inhibition of H3K9me2 reduces hair cell regeneration after hair cell loss in the zebrafish lateral line by down-regulating the wnt and Fgf signaling pathways. Front Mol Neurosci 2016;9(May):1–12.
- [129] Carrillo SA, et al. Macrophage recruitment contributes to regeneration of mechanosensory hair cells in the zebrafish lateral line. J Cell Biochem 2016;117(8):1880–9.

884

#### REFERENCES

- [130] Warchol ME. Immune cytokines and dexamethasone influence sensory regeneration in the avian vestibular periphery. J Neurocytol 1999; 28(10–11):889–900.
- [131] Warchol ME. Macrophage activity in organ cultures of the avian cochlea: demonstration of a resident population and recruitment to sites of hair cell lesions. J Neurobiol 1997;33(6):724–34.
- [132] Warchol ME, et al. Ongoing cell death and immune influences on regeneration in the vestibular sensory organs. Ann NY Acad Sci 2001; 942(314):34–45.
- [133] Bhave SA, Oesterle EC, Coltrera MD. Macrophage and microglia-like cells. J Comp Neurol 1998;256(April):241-56.
- [134] Warchol ME, Schwendener RA, Hirose K. Depletion of resident macrophages does not alter sensory regeneration in the avian cochlea. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e51574.
- [135] Schuck JB, Smith ME. Cell proliferation follows acoustically-induced hair cell bundle loss in the zebrafish saccule. Hear Res 2009;253(1–2): 67–76.
- [136] Millimaki BB, Sweet EM, Riley BB. Sox2 is required for maintenance and regeneration, but not initial development, of hair cells in the zebrafish inner ear. Dev Biol 2010;338(2):262–9.
- [137] Uribe PM, et al. Aminoglycoside-induced hair cell death of inner ear organs causes functional deficits in adult zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). PLoS One 2013;8(3):e58755.

This page intentionally left blank

# 50

# Craniofacial Regenerative Medicine

Brandon T. Smith<sup>1,a</sup>, Emma Watson<sup>1,a</sup>, Issa A. Hanna<sup>2</sup>, James C. Melville<sup>2</sup>, Antonios G. Mikos<sup>1</sup>, Mark E. Wong<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Rice University, Houston, TX, United States; <sup>2</sup>University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The craniofacial region is composed of several tissue types and a number of niche environments. As such, the need to regenerate injured or diseased tissues requires strategies for engineering both hard and soft tissue, taking into account their surroundings. Tissue engineers have made great strides developing techniques that support and encourage new tissue growth. However, it is imperative that one first appreciates the unique characteristics associated with the defect. With this knowledge, health care providers can select specific approaches that optimize aspects of tissue engineering technology. Additive manufacturing (AM) techniques have become more popular in the clinical setting, and attention has turned to how patient-specific models can be used to plan and execute surgical care whereas patient specific implants can be leveraged to enhance tissue regeneration further within the craniofacial region. This chapter will discuss the craniofacial environment, review current clinical reconstructive practices, and highlight bone tissue engineering strategies with applications in craniofacial reconstruction.

# UNDERSTANDING THE CRANIOFACIAL REGENERATIVE ENVIRONMENT

Several types of craniofacial defects are associated with different environments; the characteristics of each must be considered if predictable regenerative medicine results are expected. Although comprehensive descriptions of each environment are incomplete, some of the most important features have been identified through a detailed study of the normal development of tissue types and regenerative technologies based on a reproduction of embryological and remodeling biology. Using bone engineering as an example, defect characteristics exist such as [1]:

- **1.** the resident population of pluripotent or multipotent stem cells available for differentiation;
- 2. vascularity of the defect and the ability of the newly formed tissue to undergo neovascularization;
- **3.** the activity of critical genes, growth factors, and signal transduction agents that mediate tissue formation and remodeling;
- **4.** physical features of the defect that promote tissue formation, including available space and naturally occurring scaffolds;
- 5. mechanical influences on the defect, including types and magnitude of loads; and
- 6. interactions between epithelial and mesenchymal elements.

In addition to these features, the ability of different craniofacial defects to undergo successful reconstruction is affected by the cause and the presence of infection. We will examine several common defects with different

<sup>a</sup> These authors contributed equally.

environmental characteristics to illustrate the need for customized regenerative strategies and why techniques for regeneration work for some defects but not for others.

One of the smallest and most challenging defects to regenerate is the periodontal apparatus that surrounds an erupted tooth and is responsible for its support. The periodontium is composed of an epithelial gingival cuff supported by mesenchymal connective tissue covering the alveolar bone, which forms the tooth socket encasing the root(s). The connective tissue fibers that attach the cementum lining of the tooth root to the socket walls are known as the periodontal ligament; within these fibers lies a network of vascular channels and neural elements with associated cells in various stages of differentiation. Loss of the periodontium typically follows chronic inflammation caused by the accumulation of bacteria- or virus-laden biofilms on the surface of a tooth and root (Fig. 50.1) [2].

The resulting infection results in osteolysis creating a pocket between the alveolar bone and overlying gingival soft tissue and in loss of the periodontal ligament attachments between the bone and root surface cementum (Fig. 50.1). This defect can have single or multiple bony walls. Defects with multiple bony walls constitute more protected environments and regenerative technologies are more successful in these circumstances. Complete restoration of the composite structures within periodontal defects remains elusive, but certain treatment strategies are required to achieve any measure of regenerative success. An appreciation of these factors provides general guidelines for the successful reconstruction of craniofacial defects that can be applied broadly.

To begin with, physical removal of the biofilm covering all surfaces of the defect is necessary. Systemic and local delivery of broad-spectrum antibiotics against periodontal pathogens are also beneficial [3,4]. The effect of infection and inflammation on bone formation is a complex topic that acknowledges the important role of proinflammatory mediators in initiating the coordinated processes responsible for bone regeneration. Some important mediators of early inflammation include interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , and eicosanoids such as prostaglandin (PGE) (e.g., PGE<sub>2</sub>). Evidence of the role of these mediators is provided by knockout animal studies or the observed effects of anti-PGE<sub>2</sub> medications such as nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, which result in compromised bone formation. After these initial events, the activity of proinflammatory mediators abates and a rise in local levels of antiinflammatory mediators such as resolvins, protectins, and lipoxins (autacoids) is responsible for countering inflammation and coincides with the start of the reparative process. Both eicosanoids and autacoids are derivatives of arachidonic acid, and the mechanism for a change in synthesis from inflammatory to antiinflammatory mediators has been characterized as "class switching" and occurs by activating enzymes such as 15-lipooxygenase. If inflammation in a defect site persists as a result of chronic infection, osseous regeneration is diminished. An excellent review of the topic of inflammation and bone regeneration may be found in an article by Thomas and Puleo [5].

Once regeneration begins, the kinetics of the different reparative tissues becomes important. More specialized components of the periodontium, such as the bony walls, ligament, and bone-cementum attachments, take longer



FIGURE 50.1 Periodontal pocket (marked by arrow) produced by loss of alveolar bone under the gingival cuff.

#### UNDERSTANDING THE CRANIOFACIAL REGENERATIVE ENVIRONMENT

to form than do epithelium or connective tissue. Unless a physical void is preserved by preventing the ingrowth of epithelium and connective tissue (a technique known as *osteopromotion* by barrier techniques), periodontal regeneration is compromised. Scaffolds in combination with barrier membrane technology have been shown to be effective in restoring bone volume, and the addition of exogenous growth factors and gene therapy for the local production of growth factors are additional approaches that have been studied in preclinical studies [6].

Larger defects of the craniofacial skeleton extending beyond the periodontal defect differ from each other in a number of physical and biological ways. Defects can be intrabony and surrounded with multiple bony walls (Fig. 50.2A). In this case, the rigidity of the walls facilitates bone regeneration by protecting biological scaffolds such as blood clots, healing tissue, and neovasculature. In addition, periosteum lining the bone surfaces and the underlying endosteal surfaces are an excellent source of cells capable of differentiation under the influence of the proper growth factors. When a bony defect is segmental (Fig. 50.2B), only two bony walls remain, leading to greater instability of the skeletal structure, reduced apposition of osteogenic cell beds, and the potential for adjacent soft tissue to prolapse into the defect, later reducing bone formation. Immobilization of the bone ends (with bone plates) is important to protect early reparative activities such as the secretion of extracellular matrix and neovascularization from mechanical disruption by external loads. Filling such defects with rigid graft material (autologous, allogeneic, or alloplastic) also enhances regeneration by providing a source of living cells or tissue with inductive or osteogenic



FIGURE 50.2 (A) A five-wall bone defect covered with periosteum (1) provides a protected space that contains a reparative scaffold and cells (2). (B) Segmental defects typically have a reduced number of bony walls with soft tissue (e.g., muscle [1]) adjacent to the defect. (C) Segmental defects with compromised vasculature typically have fewer vessels (1) in the soft tissue envelope, areas of fibrosis (2), and a reduced number of reparative cells (3).



FIGURE 50.3 Histological cross-section of tissue generated within a bioreactor (initially filled with morcellized autologous graft) after implantation against the sheep periosteum for 9 weeks. High-magnification images taken adjacent periosteum and distal to the periosteum can be found on the right (magnification, 10x). *Courtesy Alexander Tatara, MS, PhD; doctoral thesis.* 

capabilities. The graft can also serve as a scaffold and a barrier to the ingrowth of nonosteogenic tissue. Techniques for reconstructing segmental bone defects using tissue engineering principles are described later in this chapter.

As described in the strategies for promoting periodontal regeneration, inflammation and infection have significant roles in the regenerative capabilities of craniofacial defects. Infection of a graft site is a major factor accounting for a complication rate of 48% in a review of the literature on nonvascularized bone grafting [7]. Strategies for reducing infection through implantation of antimicrobial agents will be described in a later section.

The paradoxical relationship between inflammation and bone formation raises theoretical questions about the significance of inflammatory states, but the negative effect of prolonged inflammation on bone grafting and fracture repair is well-documented [8]. As such, it is essential to treat infected craniofacial defects by physical debridement and antimicrobial agents for healing or regeneration to occur. Newer strategies to deliver antibiotics locally using devices fabricated through tissue engineering will be described later in this chapter.

Other important conditions that can reduce the regeneration of bone include those that compromise the vascularity of the tissue surrounding a bone defect. The role of the vasculature as a source of inducible cells (pericytes), conduit for inflammatory cells (platelets, macrophages, and monocytes) and essential foundation for supporting metabolism in all living tissue is well-known [9]. When the blood supply to a defect site is compromised by therapeutic measures such as radiation therapy, comorbid conditions (e.g., diabetes), and even healing processes (e.g., scarring and fibrosis), the ability of a defect to undergo osteogenic healing is reduced (Fig. 50.2C). Efforts to reconstruct craniofacial defects afflicted by such conditions include adjuvant strategies to mitigate against the compromised vascularity such as the transfer of well-vascularized tissue beds or chemical modulators of angiogenesis. An example of the critical role of the vasculature is provided in this histological section. Fig. 50.3 illustrates bone formation within a chamber filled with autogenous bone particles placed against a vascularized periosteal membrane. New bone formation associated with neovascularization from the periosteum is seen as osteogenesis progresses from the vascularized margin upward.

# CURRENT METHODS OF MAXILLOFACIAL RECONSTRUCTION

Maxillofacial reconstruction evolved from the use of nonvascularized grafting to the addition of vascularized free flaps in the late 1980s [10]. Nonvascular autogenous bone grafts were considered the reference standard for the repair of bone defects. However, successful osteogenesis from nonvascularized grafts depended on adequate soft

tissue coverage to isolate the graft site from infection, serve as a source of osteoprogenitor cells, and provide a vasculature supply. Common donor sites for bone harvest included the ilium, tibia, and calvarium [11,12]. Free tissue transfer techniques added the use of vascularized flaps anastomosed to local vessels when defect sites were contaminated or associated with compromised vascularity [13]. The impact of free flap reconstructions has been so profound that it is considered to be one of the most influential advances in head and neck surgery [14]. These flaps are harvested from areas with an axial blood supply that are isolated and anastomosed to vessels close to the defect site to produce an immediately "living" transplant. The most commonly used sites are chosen for their ease in harvest, modest donor site morbidity, and ability to include a large volume and variety of tissue types nourished from a single vascular pedicle [15]. When soft tissue is missing or when a vascularized soft tissue bed is required, the anterior lateral thigh flap or radial forearm flap can be used. For defects requiring composite soft tissue and bony reconstruction, options include the fibula, scapula, and deep circumflex iliac artery—nourished ilium flaps. Technical concerns with these techniques include the morbidity associated with graft harvest, the patency and length of vessels, the duration of surgery, and the recovery time [16]. However, the quality of reconstruction judged by the amount of bone stock is a matter of the patient's anatomy and may or may not be adequate for functional purposes.

### TISSUE ENGINEERING TECHNOLOGIES CURRENTLY USED

The field of tissue engineering emerged in the early 1990s as a new way to combine the principles of biology and engineering for the development of functional tissues [17]. Since the inception of tissue engineering, several technologies have entered the marketplace offering hope for patients who have a range of conditions. In the following sections we will review advances in the field of tissue engineering that show promise for the future of craniofacial reconstruction.

#### Implantable Scaffolds

To allow damaged bone to be replaced with functional tissue, engineers have developed a wide range of materials that serve to stimulate the adherence and proliferation of osteogenic cells. Some of these technologies mimic the biomechanical and/or biochemical properties of native bone, whereas others try to recapitulate the anatomy [18–20].

In 1881, Sir William MacEwen of Rothesay used tibial bone wedges from three donors to reconstruct a humeral defect in a 3-year-old child, which represented the first published account of interhuman bone grafting [21]. The procedure was unsuccessful; however, later studies identified the factors affecting graft acceptance and rejection and established the parameters of allogeneic grafting. Nevertheless, despite advancements in developing allogeneic, xenogeneic, and artificial substitutes, autogenous bone grafts remain the reference standard for reconstructing segmental bone defects [22]. By definition, bone grafts can be classified as an autograft, allograft, or xenograft, depending on the source [23]. In contrast, alloplastic implants are synthetically manufactured, inorganic, and biocompatible [24]. Whereas autologous bone grafts produce the most predictable results, alloplastic materials offer several advantages over biologically derived materials. They can be fabricated to fit a patient-specific defect and the resorption rate can be controlled by adjusting material properties and compared with autologous grafts, to provide more material than can be typically harvested from a patient while avoiding a second surgical donor site. For oral and maxillofacial surgery procedures, the US Food and Drug Administration has approved a number of alloplastic materials that can be broadly divided into ceramics and polymers.

#### Ceramics

Numerous ceramics are available; calcium phosphate (CaP)-based ceramics represent the most widely used bioactive ceramic. CaPs offer excellent biocompatibility, possess remarkable osteoactivity, and have a chemical and crystalline structure close to those of native bone mineral [25]. Since becoming available for clinical use in 1992, CaP ceramics have been used with success within craniofacial surgery [26,27]. There are two commonly used CaP ceramics: slow-resorbing hydroxyapatite (Ca<sub>10</sub>[PO<sub>4</sub>]<sub>6</sub>[OH]<sub>2</sub>) and resorbable tricalcium phosphate (TCP) (Ca<sub>3</sub>[PO<sub>4</sub>]<sub>2</sub>) [28]. Both of these formulations can be produced as a paste, which enables the surgeon to inject and mold the cement before final setting occurs, and which makes CaPs an attractive option for dental and orthopedic applications. Depending on the formulation of the CaP, the pore and particle size, and the metabolic activity of the

recipient site, CaP cement can take 3–36 months to be completely replaced with bone [25]. To accelerate the degradation of CaP-based scaffolds, several studies have investigated the introduction of macropores to increase the surface area of the implant and accelerate tissue integration [29–31]. The use of macroporosity has gained a lot of interest owing to improved degradation kinetics and improved tissue infiltration. Potential applications of CaP-based scaffolds have improved as several studies have investigated techniques to manufacture CaP-based scaffolds through AM techniques. This allows the engineer to improve degradation kinetics further, reproduce tissue architecture more precisely, and improve tissue infiltration [32–34]. Klammert et al. explored the ability to powder-print CaP implants to repair craniofacial defects [34]. In that study, the authors fabricated custom implants by using three-dimensional powder printing to repair defects in human cadaver skulls. The physical and mechanical characteristics of the implants were tested [34]. Whereas the four-point bending strength was in the range of 3.9–5.2 MPa, which is significantly lower than the bending strength of native compact bone (115–209 MPa), these implants could be used to reconstruct the craniofacial skeleton in non–load bearing areas [35]. A porosity of approximately 28–35% could be achieved, increasing the degradation rate and with sufficient fidelity to size and shape so that a printed implant would be able to fit the defect accurately [34].

#### **Polymers**

Polymeric-based biomaterials first emerged within the field of surgery as a material for suture and fixation devices [36]. Although numerous synthetic polymers have been tried in craniofacial surgery, only a few are extensively used in the clinical setting. Unlike natural polymers, in which degradation depends on enzymes present within the host, synthetic polymers degrade in a uniform and predictable manner by simple hydrolysis [37]. Altering the reaction environment during synthesis can precisely control the observed degradation rate, and even other properties such as mechanical properties, by altering the average molecular weight and size distribution [38]. Specifically within the field of craniofacial surgery poly(glycolic acid), poly(lactic acid), and their copolymer poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) have been successfully used clinically [39]. Landes et al. examined the efficacy of using PLGA-based implants for maxillary and mandibular osteosynthesis [40]. In that study, five patients (6%) had an apparent foreign body whereas 75 (94%) had no observable reaction. At 24 months, histology revealed few macrophages, giant cells, and minimal bleeding residuals [40]. This demonstrated that PLGA has excellent biocompatibility but there is need for further investigation into the efficacy of bone integration. PLGA has been used as a delivery vehicle for bioactive factors. Several studies investigated the effect of using PLGA microparticles to produce a sustained release of growth factors, signaling molecules, and/or antibiotics [41–44]. These studies demonstrate the applications PLGA microparticles may have in the clinical setting.

In addition to PLGA, poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) (PCL) has been investigated extensively within craniofacial tissue engineering owing to some of its unique properties. For example, PCL can form a wide array of biocompatible composites, blends, and copolymers [38]. If one combines PCL with other lactones, the degradation time dramatically decreases from that of the homopolymer of PCL, which is roughly 2–3 years [45]. Hollister et al. showed that the concentration of copolymer can be varied so that it has the ability to support bone formation [46]. Finally, the unsaturated linear polyester, poly(propylene fumarate), can be fabricated into scaffolds by UV-initiated photocross-linking. Although this polymer has been extensively characterized, it has been mainly used within bone tissue engineering applications [47–49].

## **Bioactive Molecules**

Just as materials can be leveraged to promote bone growth, bioactive molecules can be introduced to craniofacial defect sites to encourage osteogenesis or angiogenesis. Growth factors are peptides that bind to receptors on a cell, leading to a cellular response. These responses vary by growth factor, cell type, the cell receptor bound, and the time course of growth factor exposure [50]. Clinically, growth factors are used in several applications. They can be employed to augment bone grafting systems, such as with the bone marrow aspirate concentrate (BMAC) technique [51,52]. Growth factors can also be used to stimulate bone formation in heterotopic sites [53–56], an important concept discussed in depth in the section on Bioreactors. Finally, growth factors can be used to form bone without using grafts, employing resorbable scaffolds such as collagen sponges, as seen with sinus augmentation procedures [57–60]. The following section focuses on bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) and platelet-derived growth factors (PDGFs), early animal studies, and clinical applications. Many other growth factors (i.e., transforming growth factor- $\beta$  family, fibroblast growth factor family, insulin-like growth factor, and vascular endothelial growth factor) are important in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine; however, evaluation of these factors in human craniofacial defects is limited and will not be discussed here.

#### **Bone Morphogenetic Proteins**

BMPs are a large family of peptides that have a crucial role in bone and cartilage development, as well as some other functions of embryogenesis such as heart and kidney formation [61]. The family acts via two distinct type II and type I serine/threonine kinase receptors; both types are required for signal transduction. BMPs act by stimulating osteoblasts. BMP-2, BMP-4, and BMP-7 show efficacy with bone formation in vivo including in critical-sized defects [62]. The US Food and Drug Administration approved recombinant human BMP-2 and BMP-7 in 2002 for spinal fusion surgeries. In addition, BMP-14 is being tested clinically as a growth factor alternative [63]. There is controversy regarding the use of BMPs in spinal fusion surgeries; a metaanalysis showed efficacy similar to autograft but with more complications, especially when used in the cervical spine [63].

Despite controversy about the use of BMPs in spinal fusion [63], they show great potential for use in the craniofacial area [64–68]. In a rodent study, BMPs have been shown to aid in the healing of critical-sized cranial defects [64]. After loading BMP-2 into PLGA microparticles within a scaffold in a critical-sized, 1-cm defect cranial defect, total union was found in three of eight animals, and the bone volume generated significantly increased over the blank group [65,66]. Larger animals show similar trends. In baboons, a 2.5-cm, critical-sized cranial defect was formed [65]. A collagenous bone scaffold loaded with BMP-7 was introduced to the defect. Groups receiving high doses of BMP-7 (2.5 mg/g scaffold) had extensive osteogenesis, whereas those with low doses (0.1-mg/g scaffold) showed significant increases in bone growth over control animals. A box-type dehiscence defect in the edentulous region of dogs was employed to compare the use of synthetic bone substitute (SBS) and BMP-2—loaded hydrogel [66]. After 8 weeks, the animals were killed and the defects examined. Significantly increased bone volume was seen in the groups containing BMP-2 (14.7 mm<sup>3</sup> for the BMP-2—loaded hydrogel and only 2.01 mm<sup>3</sup> for the SBS-loaded hydrogel).

Several clinical studies were conducted to evaluate the efficacy of recombinant human BMPs (rhBMPs) in human craniofacial defects [67]. In 47 identified case studies in the systemic review, rhBMP-2 was shown to be effective in enhancing bone formation in socket healing and in sinus lift procedures, and BMP-14 was shown to be effective in sinus lift procedures [67]. In one maxillary floor sinus augmentation study, 160 human subjects were enrolled and treated with rhBMP-2 on a collagen sponge or autograft [57]. At 6 months, there was no difference in the change of height between the two groups ( $7.83 \pm 3.52$  and  $9.46 \pm 4.11$  mm for the rhBMP-2 and autograft groups respectively), but the density of the bone in the rhBMP-2—treated group was significantly higher. Another clinical study analyzed the effects of rhBMP-2 on the repair of buccal wall defects [68]. Groups received rhBMP-2 (1.5 or 0.75 mg/mL) on an absorbable collagen sponge, just the collagen sponge, or no treatment. The assessment of the alveolar bone showed significantly increased adequacy (as calculated by height and width measured computed tomography [CT] scans and number of repeat procedures needed) over the control or untreated groups.

#### **Platelet-Derived Growth Factor**

PDGF is a dimer composed of PDGF A, B, C, or D joined by sulfide bonds [69]. Several homodimers (PDGF-AA, PDGF-BB, PDGF-CC, and PDGF-DD) and one heterodimer (PDGF-AB) exist. Two isotypes of the receptor exist,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , with different binding affinities. PDGF-BB can bind to all receptor isotypes and is often considered the universal PDGF [69]. In vitro studies have shown PDGF is produced by osteoblasts and inhibits osteoclastogenesis [70]. In vivo, PDGF is important in new bone formation and in fracture healing [70].

In humans, PDGF is expressed naturally in the course of fracture healing [71]. PDGF-A chains were found expressed by a variety of cell types throughout the healing process. PDGF-B chains were expressed in a more selective pattern: by osteoblasts at the time of bone formation [71]. Several clinical studies investigated the use of PDGF on the healing of craniofacial defects [72,73]. One study investigated intrabony periodontal defects of greater than 4 mm depth treated with  $\beta$ -TCP alone or  $\beta$ -TCP with recombinant human (rhPDGF)-BB [72]. In the group treated with  $\beta$ -TCP and 0.3 mg rhPDGF-BB, the clinical level of attachment was found to be greater and gingival recession was found to be less at 3 months than that of control patients who received only  $\beta$ -TCP. The clinical level of attachment was not significant at 6 months. Given the significant difference at the early 3-month evaluation with loss of significant differences at the 6-month appointment, rhPDGF-A-BB increased the rate of attachment in the treated groups, providing an advantage for treated patients soon after the surgery. A similar defect treated with rhPDGF-BB was analyzed for the rate of bone turnover [73]. Pyridinoline cross-linked carboxyterminal telopeptide of type I collagen, a well-known biomarker of bone turnover, was shown to be increased at the early study time points of patients treated with rhPDGF-BB, which again indicated advantages for patients with decreased recovery times. rhPDGF has also been evaluated in humans for the treatment of sinus augmentation and ridge preservation [59,60]. Both studies involved using inorganic bovine bone material with rhPDGF-BB as the treatment method, and both studies exhibited good bone growth.

# Bone Marrow Aspirate Concentrate Technique

As described in the preceding sections, the principal efforts in tissue engineering have focused on stimulating cell multiplication and differentiation and the development of artificial scaffolds with tunable properties to enhance cell adhesion, vascular ingrowth, and scaffold degradation in coordination with new tissue formation. To meet the goal of reconstructing bony defects, another approach was devised to combine several of the more important contributions in tissue engineering methodology in vivo to take advantage of the body's established vascular system.

In keeping with the classical tissue engineering paradigm, the three essential components are provided with clinically available materials. This technique uses allogeneic bone to maintain space and support the ingrowth of vessels and adhesion of bone-forming cells. Differentiation and regenerative signals are provided by inductive bone proteins such as rhBMP-2, which promotes the differentiation of stem cells and migrating osteogenic cells [74]. Finally, a concentrated regenerative cell population composed of autogenous BMAC is introduced into the defect site. The aspirate contains a highly concentrated population of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Figs. 50.4 and 50.5) and migrating osteogenic cells that serve as a source of cells for differentiation into osteoblasts. By combining these agents, bone regeneration is promoted, which can lead to successful reconstruction of a bony defect (Fig. 50.6). Several studies reported the efficacy, safety, and ability of rhBMP-2 when combined with osteoconductive grafts to accomplish mandibular reconstruction [51,52]. The use of osteoprogenitor or stem cells from a bone marrow aspirate has improved results and offered another technique to reconstruct craniofacial bone defects.

Bone marrow aspirate serves as a rich and readily available source of bone-forming cells (MSCs), which otherwise would not be present in sufficient quantities in a traditional bone harvest. It is easily harvested with simple aspiration through large-bore needles and concentrated with centrifuge devices without significant donor site morbidity [75,76]. Bone marrow transplant/aspirate was first used to treat hemopoietic and oncologic diseases, but it has found additional uses as a cell source in the regeneration of other tissues in the body. Several studies have shown bone marrow–derived stem and progenitor cells to be capable of regenerating bone in both animal and human models [77,78]. BMAC has also been used with spine, long bone, and myocardial regeneration [77,79–81]. Of the mixed population of cells collected in an aspirate, Marx and Harrell suggested that CD34+, CD44+, CD90+, and CD105+ cells are the main types of osteoprogenitor cells collected in the concentrate [82].

In a comparison of osteogenic activity, Gimbel et al. studied patients undergoing alveolar cleft repair with different graft materials. A total of 69 patients were divided into three groups. Group 1 underwent grafting with bone marrow aspirate seeded onto a resorbable collagen matrix (n = 21); group 2 received autogenous cortical and cancellous bone harvested from the ilium through a traditional open approach (n = 25); and group 3 received autogenous cancellous bone that was collected from the ilium with a cannula (n = 23) [83]. Whereas alveolar bone formation was comparable in all three groups, the BMAC plus scaffold group experienced significantly less morbidity, operative time, duration of hospital stay, and cost.

A study conducted by Hendrich et al. described 101 patients treated with BMAC injections for various bone healing disturbances of the femur including necrosis of the head of the femur (n = 37), avascular necrosis (n = 32), nonunion of fractures (n = 12), and other problems (n = 20) [81]. After an average of 14 months (2–24 months),



FIGURE 50.4 Aspiration of bone marrow from ilium.



FIGURE 50.5 Aspirate after centrifuging, demonstrating separation of cells from plasma and red blood cells.



FIGURE 50.6 Tissue engineered graft for mandibular reconstruction: mixture of bone marrow aspirate concentrate, allogeneic bone, and recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2.

the patients were reexamined clinically and radiologically and interviewed. Of the 101 patients, only 2 required additional surgery to correct a nonunion or inadequate bone formation; no additional complications such as infections, excessive bone formation, or harvest site morbidity were observed. The researchers' conclusion was that BMAC therapy was a suitable alternative to open treatment but required additional studies to determine the full benefits of this treatment modality.

One of the most exciting applications of the BMAC technique in maxillofacial reconstruction lies in treating large segmental defects of the mandible. Marx and Harrell reported on a series of 40 patients who underwent mandibular reconstruction using this method [75]. All 40 patients achieved successful mandibular continuity that was functionally useful. Melville et al. conducted another study with five patients who underwent immediate intraoral reconstruction with the BMAC technique after resection of benign mandibular tumors [84] (Figs. 50.7 and 50.8). All patients achieved excellent bone quality both clinically and radiographically and were successful candidates for endosseous dental implant placement (Figs. 50.9 and 50.10). This case series demonstrated that composite allogeneic



FIGURE 50.7 Orthopantomogram radiograph of benign tumor (ameloblastoma) of the left mandible.



FIGURE 50.8 Orthopantomogram radiograph 1 year after resection and reconstruction with bone marrow aspirate concentrate, allogeneic bone, and recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2.



FIGURE 50.9 Histology of tissue engineered mandibular reconstruction bone (hematoxylin-eosin stain., 10× magnification). Normal reactive bone with regular trabecular pattern with fibrosis. No remnants of cadaver bone were seen after 8 months.



FIGURE 50.10 Placement of dental implants in tissue engineered reconstructed bone. Alveolar ridge demonstrating excellent height and width for placement of four  $5 \times 13$ -mm implants.

bone, BMAC, and rhBMP grafts constitute an effective and predictable technique for immediate reconstruction of mandibular continuity defects. In addition, there was no donor site morbidity, intraoperative time was reduced, hospital stay was shorter, and total costs were lower compared with more traditional methods of mandibular reconstruction.

# **Bioreactors**

If the desire is to use living biological tissue and avoid donor site morbidity, another strategy employs bioreactors to grow tissues in geometries matching the defect in either in vitro or in vivo environments [85]. In vitro bioreactors have been used to engineer tissues such as the temporomandibular joint (TMJ) or ear perichondrium [86,87]. Using human MSCs obtained from fresh bone marrow aspirate, researchers were able to observe confluent layers of lamellar bone and osteoids on the decellularized bone scaffold [86]. This required the use of a bioreactor of the same size and dimensions as the TMJ and a constant flow of media across the scaffold. Other types of in vitro bioreactors are also capable of generating viable tissue. A rotating wall bioreactor has been successfully used to cultivate elastic cartilage [87]. Tissue obtained from patients were differentiated into cartilage progenitor cells and injected into a porous scaffold of collagen, hydroxyapatite, and chondroitin sulfate. After culture for 6 weeks, differentiated chondrocytes and elastic fibers were observed in histology.

Although the formation of tissue engineered grafts is possible in vitro, it is important to consider how these tissues will obtain nutrients in vivo. For small tissues, the transport of nutrients and byproducts may be adequate; however, for large tissues, the diffusion rates may not be adequate for the tissue to survive [88]. By introducing vasculature into the construct, cells deep within the tissue can receive appropriate nutrition and gas exchange. In vivo bioreactors have been used to generate vascularized flaps that match the geometry of the defect [85,89–91].

Using strategies previously discussed, in vivo bioreactors can be designed to encourage bone growth in a chamber of desired dimensions. As with osteopromotion strategies, growth factor incorporation or cell seeding can be used directly within the defect to encourage bone growth. These techniques can be used to grow bone in bioreactors in animal models [89–91]. Using MASTERGRAFT, a clinically available scaffold consisting of hydroxyapatite and  $\beta$ -TCP, bone can be grown adjacent to rib periosteum in a large-animal model [89]. Because of the close proximity to the intercostal arteries and veins running below the ribs, tissue from the bioreactor chambers could be removed with the nearby vasculature and transferred to a mandibular defect as a vascularized flap. Whereas some chambers were filled with autograft (requiring harvest from elsewhere in the body), those filled with synthetic graft allowed for the formation of mineralized tissue and reconstruction of large mandibular defects. Incorporation of growth factors to in vivo bioreactors can also be used to promote advantageous ectopic bone growth [90]. BMP-7 was added to Bio-Oss (a scaffold derived from bovine bone) and placed in a pouch created within the latissimus dorsi muscle. After 6, 12, and 24 weeks, tissue was harvested and analyzed. Analysis showed the formation of new bone with vascular supply that could be used for mandibular reconstruction. As an alternative to loading scaffolds with growth factors, cells can be seeded onto scaffolds to promote tissue growth in in vivo bioreactors [91]. Porous, degradable PCL scaffolds were seeded with MSCs from neonatal rats. After 4 weeks of in vitro culture, the cell-seeded scaffolds were implanted in the omenta of rats. Four weeks later, the scaffolds were harvested

#### 50. CRANIOFACIAL REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

and mineralization was observed throughout the scaffold. However, the formation of vasculature allowing for flap transfer was not investigated.

With strong support for the efficacy of in vivo bioreactors in animal models, several bioreactor systems have been used clinically [53–56,92]. The earliest reported case involved angle-to-angle mandibular resection owing to a recurring ameloblastoma [53]. The mandibular-shaped chamber was loaded with autologous bone harvested from the iliac crest and BMP before implantation within the fascia above the scapula. After 4 months, the flap was harvested and transferred with vasculature to the mandible. Competence was restored for liquids and solids, but the patient did not regain the ability to swallow solids. Another clinical case study involved Bio-Oss, bone marrow, and rhBMP-7 within a titanium mesh [54]. The titanium mesh was shaped using CT scans to ensure a close match with the native patient architecture. After 7 weeks within the latissimus dorsi muscle, the mineralized tissue, titanium mesh, and adjacent vasculature were transferred to the mandible. The flap showed remodeling after transfer and the patient had an improved level of mastication after reconstruction completed. Unfortunately, after 13 months, the mesh fractured and the gingiva became disrupted, resulting in infection and necrosis of the mandible replacement [92]. The patient died soon thereafter of cardiac arrest. Many of the human in vivo bioreactor studies require the need for morcellized autograft or bone marrow. Hydroxyapatite with rhBMP-7 was capable growing mineralized tissue in the pectoralis muscle [55]. This tissue was then transferred to the mandible. The patient could talk and eat food; however, 5 months after transfer, the flap became infected. Another clinical study used CT images to shape a titanium mesh cage [56]. Bone blocks, rhBMP-2, and bone marrow aspirate were placed within the cage before implantation in the gastric omentum. After 3 months within the gastric omentum, the free tissue flap was harvested and used to reconstruct the mandible. Three months after transfer, the patient could talk and eat normally.

# **Adjuvant Therapies**

#### Antibiotics

When repairing craniomaxillofacial tissue defects, proximity to bacterial flora is an important consideration. The oral cavity hosts over 500 bacterial species, including many species of *Streptococcus* [93], and the nasal cavity has been shown to be colonized by *Staphylococcus aureus* in 21% of patients at admission [94]. Although native bacteria generally do not cause problems, trauma or the following reparative surgery can shift the bacterial balance in favor of pathogenic bacteria or permit the passage of bacteria to previously aseptic sites. In facial fracture repair, infection rates can be as high as 42% if no antibiotics are received before surgery [95].

The use of cefazolin sodium has been shown to reduce the rate of infection to 9% during the surgical repair of facial fractures [95]. Although antibiotics are commonly provided systemically before many craniofacial surgeries, a systemic review and metaanalysis of endoscopic sinus surgeries showed no statistical difference in infection rate between patients who receive antibiotics and those who do not [96]. The authors noted that the amount of available data may have limited the statistical power of their analysis, however. For clean-contaminated wounds such as those commonly seen in patients with head and neck cancers, antibiotic prophylaxis becomes mandatory [97]. In cases in which the upper aerodigestive track is entered, the infection rate is much greater. In addition, these infections are often polymicrobial, and the chosen antibiotic should cover aerobic, anaerobic, and gram-negative flora [97].

From a tissue engineering perspective, local antibiotic release is an exciting avenue for exploration. A scaffold designed to promote bone growth, by material properties or the incorporation of bioactive molecules, could potentially deliver antibiotics to a local area, thereby alleviating some of the systemic effects of the antibiotic. Using an infected composite defect in a rabbit mandible, clindamycin-loaded poly(methyl methacrylate) space maintainers were shown to clear infection [98]. The study investigated both burst and extended release kinetics, but the inoculated bacteria were not recovered from any group. Several clinical products exist for local antibiotic release [99]. These clinically available products include gels, chips, fibers, and polymers consisting of a range of antimicrobials such as tetracycline, metronidazole, and doxycycline. After several days of controlled drug release to the site of the periodontal disease, degradation occurs for many of these products whereas others must be surgically removed [99].

Although the species distribution of craniofacial infection has not changed much over the years, the antibiotic resistance of these organisms is growing [100]. The production of  $\beta$ -lactamases has limited the efficacy of penicillin against some gram-negative species, and others are increasingly resistant to clindamycin. This growing resistance has led researchers to explore other potential methods of combatting infection [101,102]. Human saliva contains antimicrobial peptides that can cause bacterial cell death [102]. Although over 45 such peptides have been found,

efficacy in human trials has been limited. Antimicrobial peptides can be designed with different functional groups and can be modified to bind hydroxyapatite selectively [101]. A modest minimum inhibitory concentration (125  $\mu$ g/mL) was seen against *Streptococcus mutans* and *Lactobacillus acidophilus* when bound to hydroxyapatite. Although this particular antimicrobial peptide was designed to bind to tooth surfaces to combat biofilm formation, the in vitro studies were conducted on hydroxyapatite scaffolds, a major component of the CaP cements discussed earlier.

### Patient-Specific Technology

Tissue engineering scaffolds have classically been fabricated from techniques such as electrospinning, phase separation, gas foaming, and particulate leaching [103]. Although researchers have worked to optimize and refine these techniques further, there are intrinsic limitations to the architecture and topography that can be achieved with these conventional techniques. Furthermore, techniques such as electrospinning require the use of organic carcinogenic solvents [104]. The field of tissue engineering has embraced AM or rapid prototyping techniques to bypass these limitations and produce scaffolds with superior reproducibility, more sophisticated structural features, and even patient-specific constructs [105]. Tissue engineers have leveraged AM to control the internal architecture of scaffolds, whereas surgeons have adopted AM to produce solid biomodels that reproduce the patient's anatomy. The field of craniomaxillofacial surgery first adopted AM techniques to produce patient-specific models for surgical planning [106]. This proved to be an invaluable tool for surgeons, because an operation could be planned beforehand. In addition, it allowed the surgeon to predict physical outcomes of the procedure [106]. AM techniques have been extended to produce patient-specific implants. These custom implants precisely fit within a defect site, reducing surgical time and improving aesthetics [107,108].

To generate a patient-specific implant, a fine-cut CT study must be obtained that is acquired according to a special protocol. The radiographic data are first processed with software such as 3D Doctor, to creates a three-dimensional model of the defect. This model is then transferred to design software that allows the engineer to create the implant design. The implant is manufactured from this dataset by subtractive or AM techniques before sterilizing, packaging, and delivery to the surgeon. Initially, the fabrication of patient-specific implants was hindered by limitations within the fields of design and manufacturing. However, technological advances have led to customized cranial, dental, and facial implants in addition to space holders for grafts [58,109–111].

Chacon-Moya et al. published a case report of a 63-year-old female patient diagnosed with esthesioneuroblastoma [111]. The patient underwent an anterior craniofacial resection and radiotherapy. After treatment, the patient developed secondary complications of osteomyelitis and osteoradionecrosis that resulted in loss of the anterior cranial vault [111]. After resolution of the infection, the patient underwent frontal bone reconstruction using a computer-generated poly(ether ether ketone) (PEEK) implant. The patient was observed for 5 months after the PEEK implantation and no complications were observed. This case serves to demonstrate that reconstruction using PEEK implants is an excellent option in patients with large bone defects. Alternatively, computer-aided design—based technology can be leveraged to fabricate customized jigs and cutting guides (Fig. 50.11A and B). This allows the surgeon to create osteotomies in the fibula, resulting in an autogenous graft that approximates the defect contour (Fig. 50.12). Hou et al. used three-dimensional model simulation to contour vascularized fibular osteomyocutaneous flaps to repair mandibular defects in 15 patients [112] (Fig. 50.13). In this report, all patients experienced uneventful healing and were satisfied with the functionality and esthetics when questioned 6 months after surgery. These examples further illustrate the beneficial role AM has within the field of craniofacial surgery.

### CONCLUSION

The field of tissue engineering continues to make important strides toward the goal of producing biological tissue of high functional and esthetic fidelity to replace anatomical structures lost to trauma or disease. The field has developed sophisticated biomaterials that leverage manufacturing techniques, characterized and manufactured cell signaling proteins, and developed strategies to deliver therapeutic doses of antibiotics locally to improve tissue regeneration further. In addition, clinicians trying to apply this technology have gained new appreciation for the underlying cause of a defect, which has a significant role in the success of tissue regeneration. Although there have been significant advancements in the field, new directions of investigation into regenerating composite, vascularized, and innervated constructs are required to account for all the tissue types present within the craniofacial region.

#### 50. CRANIOFACIAL REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

# (A) Guide Design: Fibula harvesting guide for PSP Mandible (slots)

- Slot width: 1 mm
- Pre-drill cylinders with angulation control: for use with dePuy Synthes trocar drill guide 03.503.045 & 1.5/1.8 mm drill bits → indicated in blue

Lateral

Fixation hole diameter (temporary fixation of the guide): 2.6 mm (for use with MatrixMANDIBLE) → indicated in grey

Predrilling cylinder with angulation control **Fixation Holes** Anterior Part 3: all holes

Plate screw holes that are indicated by fibula guide (counting from distal):

- Part 1: all holes
- Part 2: all holes
- (B) Surgical Plan: Mandible reconstruction with left fibula graft (3 segments) Patient specific left fibula; pedicle attaching to right neck, facing lingual; lateral fibula facing buccal.



FIGURE 50.11 (A) Virtual surgical planning (VSP) matches the geometry of the fibula to the planned mandibular defect for reconstruction. (B) VSP plan shows final mandibular reconstruction using the fibula, which has been contoured to fit the defect through osteotomies and ostectomies. CONCLUSION



FIGURE 50.12 Custom-fabricated plastic jigs applied to the fibula to guide the creation of osteotomies to contour the bone.



FIGURE 50.13 Fibula contoured with custom jigs is plated to maintain its shape before transplantation to the mandibular defect.

# List of Abbreviations

AM Additive manufacturing BMAC Bone marrow aspirate concentrate BMPs Bone morphogenetic proteins CaP Calcium phosphate CT Computed tomography MSC Mesenchymal stem cells PCL Poly(e-caprolactone) PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor PLGA Poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) rhBMP-2 Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 rhPDGF Recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor TCP Tricalcium phosphate TMJ Temporomandibular joint

# Acknowledgments

We acknowledge support toward the development of new technologies for craniofacial regenerative medicine by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) (R34 DE025593) and the Army, Navy, NIH, Air Force, Veterans Administration, and Health Affairs to support the AFIRM II effort, under Award No. W81XWH-14-2-0004.

# References

- [1] Amini AR, Laurencin CT, Nukavarapu SP. Bone tissue engineering: recent advances and challenges. Crit Rev Biomed Eng 2012;40(5).
- [2] Teles R, Teles F, Frias-Lopez J, Paster B, Haffajee A. Lessons learned and unlearned in periodontal microbiology. Periodontol 2000 2013;62(1): 95–162.
- [3] Cionca N, Giannopoulou C, Ugolotti G, Mombelli A. Amoxicillin and metronidazole as an adjunct to full-mouth scaling and root planing of chronic periodontitis. J Periodontol 2009;80(3):364–71.
- [4] López NJ, Gamonal JA, Martinez B. Repeated metronidazole and amoxicillin treatment of periodontitis. A follow-up study. J Periodontol 2000;71(1):79–89.
- [5] Thomas M, Puleo D. Infection, inflammation, and bone regeneration a paradoxical relationship. J Dent Res 2011;90(9):1052-61.
- [6] Larsson L, Decker A, Nibali L, Pilipchuk S, Berglundh T, Giannobile W. Regenerative medicine for periodontal and peri-implant diseases. J Dent Res 2016;95(3):255–66.
- [7] Akinbami BO. Reconstruction of continuity defects of the mandible with non-vascularized bone grafts. Systematic literature review. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr 2016;9(3):195–205.
- [8] Kovach TK, Dighe AS, Lobo PI, Cui Q. Interactions between MSCs and immune cells: implications for bone healing. J Immunol Res 2015; 2015.
- [9] Tabbaa SM, Horton CO, Jeray KJ, Burg KJ. Role of vascularity for successful bone formation and repair. Crit Rev Biomed Eng 2014;42(3-4).
- [10] Macnamara M, Pope S, Sadler A, Grant H, Brough M. Microvascular free flaps in head and neck surgery. J Laryngol Otol 1994;108(11):962-8.
- [11] Marx RE, Morales MJ. Morbidity from bone harvest in major jaw reconstruction: a randomized trial comparing the lateral anterior and posterior approaches to the llium. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1988;46(3):196-203.
- [12] Jewer DD, Boyd JB, Manktelow RT, Zuker RM, Rosen IB, Gullane P, et al. Orofacial and mandibular reconstruction with the iliac crest free flap: a review of 60 cases and a new method of classification. Plast Reconstr Surg 1989;84(3):391–403.
- [13] Pogrel M, Podlesh S, Anthony JP, Alexander J. A comparison of vascularized and nonvascularized bone grafts for reconstruction of mandibular continuity defects. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1997;55(11):1200–6.
- [14] Urken ML, Weinberg H, Buchbinder D, Moscoso JF, Lawson W, Catalano PJ, et al. Microvascular free flaps in head and neck reconstruction: report of 200 cases and review of complications. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1994;120(6):633–40.
- [15] Blackwell KE. Unsurpassed reliability of free flaps for head and neck reconstruction. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1999;125(3):295-9.
- [16] Suh JD, Sercarz JA, Abemayor E, Calcaterra TC, Rawnsley JD, Alam D, et al. Analysis of outcome and complications in 400 cases of microvascular head and neck reconstruction. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2004;130(8):962–6.
- [17] Langer R, Vacanti J. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260:920-6.
- [18] Kretlow JD, Young S, Klouda L, Wong M, Mikos AG. Injectable biomaterials for regenerating complex craniofacial tissues. Adv Mater 2009; 21(32–33):3368–93.
- [19] Bose S, Roy M, Bandyopadhyay A. Recent advances in bone tissue engineering scaffolds. Trends Biotechnol 2012;30(10):546-54.
- [20] Bose S, Vahabzadeh S, Bandyopadhyay A. Bone tissue engineering using 3D printing. Mater Today 2013;16(12):496-504.
- [21] Elsalanty ME, Genecov DG. Bone grafts in craniofacial surgery. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr 2009;2(3):125-34.
- [22] Damien CJ, Parsons JR. Bone graft and bone graft substitutes: a review of current technology and applications. J Appl Biomater 1991;2(3): 187–208.
- [23] Finkemeier CG. Bone-grafting and bone-graft substitutes. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002;84(3):454-64.
- [24] Trombelli L, Heitz-Mayfield LJ, Needleman I, Moles D, Scabbia A. A systematic review of graft materials and biological agents for periodontal intraosseous defects. J Clin Periodontol 2002;29(s3):117–35.
- [25] Ambard AJ, Mueninghoff L. Calcium phosphate cement: review of mechanical and biological properties. J Prosthodont 2006;15(5):321-8.
- [26] Browaeys H, Bouvry P, De Bruyn H. A literature review on biomaterials in sinus augmentation procedures. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2007;9(3):166–77.
- [27] Gosain AK. Biomaterials in facial reconstruction. Operat Tech Plast Reconstr Surg 2002;9(1):23-30.
- [28] Kumar J, Jain V, Kishore S, Pal H. Journey of bone graft materials in periodontal therapy: a chronological review. J Dent Allied Sci 2016;5(1):30.
- [29] Habraken W, De Jonge L, Wolke J, Yubao L, Mikos A, Jansen J. Introduction of gelatin microspheres into an injectable calcium phosphate cement. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;87(3):643–55.
- [30] Habraken W, Wolke J, Mikos A, Jansen J. Injectable PLGA microsphere/calcium phosphate cements: physical properties and degradation characteristics. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2006;17(9):1057–74.
- [31] Liao H, Walboomers XF, Habraken WJ, Zhang Z, Li Y, Grijpma DW, et al. Injectable calcium phosphate cement with PLGA, gelatin and PTMC microspheres in a rabbit femoral defect. Acta Biomater 2011;7(4):1752–9.
- [32] Inzana JA, Olvera D, Fuller SM, Kelly JP, Graeve OA, Schwarz EM, et al. 3D printing of composite calcium phosphate and collagen scaffolds for bone regeneration. Biomaterials 2014;35(13):4026–34.
- [33] Bergmann C, Lindner M, Zhang W, Koczur K, Kirsten A, Telle R, et al. 3D printing of bone substitute implants using calcium phosphate and bioactive glasses. J Eur Ceram Soc 2010;30(12):2563–7.
- [34] Klammert U, Gbureck U, Vorndran E, Rödiger J, Meyer-Marcotty P, Kübler AC. 3D powder printed calcium phosphate implants for reconstruction of cranial and maxillofacial defects. J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg 2010;38(8):565–70.
- [35] Keller T, Mao Z, Spengler D. Young's modulus, bending strength, and tissue physical properties of human compact bone. J Orthop Res 1990; 8(4):592–603.

## 902

#### REFERENCES

- [36] Kulkarni R, Moore E, Hegyeli A, Leonard F. Biodegradable poly (lactic acid) polymers. J Biomed Mater Res 1971;5(3):169-81.
- [37] Sabir MI, Xu X, Li L. A review on biodegradable polymeric materials for bone tissue engineering applications. J Mater Sci 2009;44(21): 5713–24.
- [38] Smith BT, Shum J, Wong M, Mikos AG, Young S. Bone tissue engineering challenges in oral & maxillofacial surgery. In: Engineering mineralized and load bearing tissues. Springer; 2015. p. 57–78.
- [39] Modjarrad K, Ebnesajjad S. Handbook of polymer applications in medicine and medical devices. Elsevier; 2013.
- [40] Landes CA, Ballon A, Roth C. Maxillary and mandibular osteosyntheses with PLGA and P (L/DL) LA implants: a 5-year inpatient biocompatibility and degradation experience. Plast Reconstr Surg 2006;117(7):2347–60.
- [41] Lu L, Stamatas GN, Mikos AG. Controlled release of transforming growth factor β1 from biodegradable polymer microparticles. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;50(3):440–51.
- [42] Oldham J, Lu L, Zhu X, Porter B, Hefferan T, Larson D, et al. Biological activity of rhBMP-2 released from PLGA microspheres. J Biomech Eng 2000;122(3):289–92.
- [43] Spicer PP, Shah SR, Henslee AM, Watson BM, Kinard LA, Kretlow JD, et al. Evaluation of antibiotic releasing porous polymethylmethacrylate space maintainers in an infected composite tissue defect model. Acta Biomater 2013;9(11):8832–9.
- [44] Shah SR, Henslee AM, Spicer PP, Yokota S, Petrichenko S, Allahabadi S, et al. Effects of antibiotic physicochemical properties on their release kinetics from biodegradable polymer microparticles. Pharmaceut Res 2014;31(12):3379–89.
- [45] Gunatillake PA, Adhikari R. Biodegradable synthetic polymers for tissue engineering. Eur Cell Mater 2003;5(1):1–16.
- [46] Hollister SJ, Lin C, Saito E, Schek R, Taboas J, Williams J, et al. Engineering craniofacial scaffolds. Orthod Craniofac Res 2005;8(3):162-73.
- [47] Timmer MD, Ambrose CG, Mikos AG. In vitro degradation of polymeric networks of poly (propylene fumarate) and the crosslinking macromer poly (propylene fumarate)-diacrylate. Biomaterials 2003;24(4):571–7.
- [48] Fisher JP, Holland TA, Dean D, Mikos AG. Photoinitiated cross-linking of the biodegradable polyester poly (propylene fumarate). Part II. In vitro degradation. Biomacromolecules 2003;4(5):1335–42.
- [49] Fisher JP, Timmer MD, Holland TA, Dean D, Engel PS, Mikos AG. Photoinitiated cross-linking of the biodegradable polyester poly (propylene fumarate). Part I. Determination of network structure. Biomacromolecules 2003;4(5):1327–34.
- [50] Phillips A. Overview of the fracture healing cascade. Injury 2005;36(3):S5-7.
- [51] Herford AS, Stoffella E, Tandon R. Reconstruction of mandibular defects using bone morphogenic protein: can growth factors replace the need for autologous bone grafts? A systematic review of the literature. Plast Surg Int 2011;2011.
- [52] Carter TG, Brar PS, Tolas A, Beirne OR. Off-label use of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2) for reconstruction of mandibular bone defects in humans. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2008;66(7):1417–25.
- [53] Orringer JS, Shaw WW, Borud LJ, Freymiller EG, Wang SA, Markowitz BL. Total mandibular and lower lip reconstruction with a prefabricated osteocutaneous free flap. Plast Reconstr Surg 1999;104(3):793–7.
- [54] Warnke P, Springer I, Wiltfang J, Acil Y, Eufinger H, Wehmöller M, et al. Growth and transplantation of a custom vascularised bone graft in a man. Lancet 2004;364(9436):766-70.
- [55] Heliotis M, Lavery K, Ripamonti U, Tsiridis E, Di Silvio L. Transformation of a prefabricated hydroxyapatite/osteogenic protein-1 implant into a vascularised pedicled bone flap in the human chest. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006;35(3):265–9.
- [56] Wiltfang J, Rohnen M, Egberts J-H, Lützen U, Wieker H, Açil Y, et al. Man as a living bioreactor: prefabrication of a custom vascularized bone graft in the gastrocolic omentum. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2016;22(8):740–6.
- [57] Triplett RG, Nevins M, Marx RE, Spagnoli DB, Oates TW, Moy PK, et al. Pivotal, randomized, parallel evaluation of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2/absorbable collagen sponge and autogenous bone graft for maxillary sinus floor augmentation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67(9):1947–60.
- [58] Juergens P, Krol Z, Zeilhofer H-F, Beinemann J, Schicho K, Ewers R, et al. Computer simulation and rapid prototyping for the reconstruction of the mandible. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67(10):2167–70.
- [59] Nevins M, Garber D, Hanratty JJ, McAllister BS, Nevins ML, Salama M, et al. Human histologic evaluation of anorganic bovine bone mineral combined with recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor BB in maxillary sinus augmentation: case series study. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2009;29(6):583–91.
- [60] Nevins ML, Camelo M, Schupbach P, Kim DM, Camelo JMB, Nevins M. Human histologic evaluation of mineralized collagen bone substitute and recombinant platelet-derived growth factor-BB to create bone for implant placement in extraction socket defects at 4 and 6 months: a case series. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2009;29(2).
- [61] Xiao Y-T, Xiang L-X, Shao J-Z. Bone morphogenetic protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007;362(3):550-3.
- [62] Vo TN, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Strategies for controlled delivery of growth factors and cells for bone regeneration. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2012; 64(12):1292–309.
- [63] Hustedt JW, Blizzard DJ. The controversy surrounding bone morphogenetic proteins in the spine: a review of current research. Yale J Biol Med 2014;87(4):549.
- [64] Patel ZS, Young S, Tabata Y, Jansen JA, Wong ME, Mikos AG. Dual delivery of an angiogenic and an osteogenic growth factor for bone regeneration in a critical size defect model. Bone 2008;43(5):931–40.
- [65] Ripamonti U, DenHeever BV, Sampath TK, Tucker MM, Rueger DC, Reddi AH. Complete regeneration of bone in the baboon by recombinant human osteogenic protein-1 (hOP-1, bone morphogenetic protein-7). Growth Factors 1996;13(3–4):273–89.
- [66] Jung UW, Lee IK, Park JY, Thoma DS, Hämmerle CH, Jung RE. The efficacy of BMP-2 preloaded on bone substitute or hydrogel for bone regeneration at peri-implant defects in dogs. Clin Oral Implants Res 2015;26(12):1456–65.
- [67] Schliephake H. Clinical efficacy of growth factors to enhance tissue repair in oral and maxillofacial reconstruction: a systematic review. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2015;17(2):247–73.
- [68] Fiorellini JP, Howell TH, Cochran D, Malmquist J, Lilly LC, Spagnoli D, et al. Randomized study evaluating recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 for extraction socket augmentation. J Periodontol 2005;76(4):605–13.
- [69] Caplan AI, Correa D. PDGF in bone formation and regeneration: new insights into a novel mechanism involving MSCs. J Orthop Res 2011; 29(12):1795–803.

# 904

#### 50. CRANIOFACIAL REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [70] Graham S, Leonidou A, Lester M, Heliotis M, Mantalaris A, Tsiridis E. Investigating the role of PDGF as a potential drug therapy in bone formation and fracture healing. Expet Opin Invest Drugs 2009;18(11):1633–54.
- [71] Andrew J, Hoyland J, Freemont A, Marsh D. Platelet-derived growth factor expression in normally healing human fractures. Bone 1995; 16(4):455–60.
- [72] Nevins M, Giannobile WV, McGuire MK, Kao RT, Mellonig JT, Hinrichs JE, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor stimulates bone fill and rate of attachment level gain: results of a large multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Periodontol 2005;76(12):2205–15.
- [73] Sarment DP, Cooke JW, Miller SE, Jin Q, McGuire MK, Kao RT, et al. Effect of rhPDGF-BB on bone turnover during periodontal repair. J Clin Periodontol 2006;33(2):135–40.
- [74] Hoffmann A, Gross G. BMP signaling pathways in cartilage and bone formation. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 2001;11(1–3).
- [75] Abukawa H, Shin M, Williams WB, Vacanti JP, Kaban LB, Troulis MJ. Reconstruction of mandibular defects with autologous tissueengineered bone. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004;62(5):601–6.
- [76] Dawson JI, Smith JO, Aarvold A, Ridgway JN, Curran SJ, Dunlop DG, et al. Enhancing the osteogenic efficacy of human bone marrow aspirate: concentrating osteoprogenitors using wave-assisted filtration. Cytotherapy 2013;15(2):242–52.
- [77] Muschler GF, Nitto H, Matsukura Y, Boehm C, Valdevit A, Kambic H, et al. Spine fusion using cell matrix composites enriched in bone marrow-derived cells. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2003;407:102.
- [78] Kim BC, Yoon J-H, Choi B, Lee J. Mandibular reconstruction with autologous human bone marrow stem cells and autogenous bone graft in a patient with plexiform ameloblastoma. J Craniofac Surg 2013;24(4):e409–11.
- [79] Stamm C, Westphal B, Kleine H-D, Petzsch M, Kittner C, Klinge H, et al. Autologous bone-marrow stem-cell transplantation for myocardial regeneration. Lancet 2003;361(9351):45–6.
- [80] Connolly JF. Injectable bone marrow preparations to stimulate osteogenic repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1995;313:8–18.
- [81] Hendrich C, Engelmaier F, Waertel G, Krebs R, Jäger M. Safety of autologous bone marrow aspiration concentrate transplantation: initial experiences in 101 patients. Orthop Rev 2009;1(2):32.
- [82] Marx RE, Harrell DB. Translational research: the CD34+ cell is crucial for large-volume bone regeneration from the milieu of bone marrow progenitor cells in craniomandibular reconstruction. Oral Craniofac Tissue Eng 2012;2(4).
- [83] Gimbel M, Ashley RK, Sisodia M, Gabbay JS, Wasson KL, Heller J, et al. Repair of alveolar cleft defects: reduced morbidity with bone marrow stem cells in a resorbable matrix. J Craniofac Surg 2007;18(4):895–901.
- [84] Melville JC, Nassari NN, Hanna IA, Shum JW, Wong ME, Young S. Immediate transoral allogeneic bone grafting for large mandibular defects. Less morbidity, more bone. A paradigm in benign tumor mandibular reconstruction? J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016;75(4):828–38.
- [85] Tatara A, Wong M, Mikos A. In vivo bioreactors for mandibular reconstruction. J Dent Res 2014;93(12):1196-202.
- [86] Grayson WL, Fröhlich M, Yeager K, Bhumiratana S, Chan ME, Cannizzaro C, et al. Engineering anatomically shaped human bone grafts. Proc Natl Acad Sci Unit States Am 2010;107(8):3299–304.
- [87] Takebe T, Kobayashi S, Kan H, Suzuki H, Yabuki Y, Mizuno M, et al., editors. Human elastic cartilage engineering from cartilage progenitor cells using rotating wall vessel bioreactor. Transplantation proceedings. Elsevier; 2012.
- [88] Hutmacher DW. Scaffolds in tissue engineering bone and cartilage. Biomaterials 2000;21(24):2529–43.
- [89] Tatara AM, Shah SR, Demian N, Ho T, Shum J, van den Beucken JJ, et al. Reconstruction of large mandibular defects using autologous tissues generated from in vivo bioreactors. Acta Biomater 2016;45:72–84.
- [90] Terheyden H, Knak C, Jepsen S, Palmie S, Rueger D. Mandibular reconstruction with a prefabricated vascularized bone graft using recombinant human osteogenic protein-1: an experimental study in miniature pigs. Part I: Prefabrication. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2001; 30(5):373–9.
- [91] Shin M, Yoshimoto H, Vacanti JP. In vivo bone tissue engineering using mesenchymal stem cells on a novel electrospun nanofibrous scaffold. Tissue Eng 2004;10(1-2):33-41.
- [92] Warnke PH, Wiltfang J, Springer I, Acil Y, Bolte H, Kosmahl M, et al. Man as living bioreactor: fate of an exogenously prepared customized tissue-engineered mandible. Biomaterials 2006;27(17):3163–7.
- [93] Gendron R, Grenier D, Maheu-Robert L-F. The oral cavity as a reservoir of bacterial pathogens for focal infections. Microb Infect 2000;2(8): 897–906.
- [94] Jernigan JA, Pullen AL, Flowers L, Bell M, Jarvis WR. Prevalence of and risk factors for colonization with methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* at the time of hospital admission. Infect Contr Hosp Epidemiol 2003;24(06):409–14.
- [95] Chole RA, Yee J. Antibiotic prophylaxis for facial fractures: a prospective, randomized clinical trial. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1987; 113(10):1055–7.
- [96] Saleh AM, Torres KM, Murad MH, Erwin PJ, Driscoll CL. Prophylactic perioperative antibiotic use in endoscopic sinus surgery a systematic review and meta-analysis. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg (Tokyo) 2012;146(4):533–8.
- [97] Simo R, French G. The use of prophylactic antibiotics in head and neck oncological surgery. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2006; 14(2):55–61.
- [98] Shah SR, Tatara AM, Lam J, Lu S, Scott DW, Bennett GN, et al. Polymer-based local antibiotic delivery for prevention of polymicrobial infection in contaminated mandibular implants. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016;2(4):558–66.
- [99] Greenstein G, Polson A. The role of local drug delivery in the management of periodontal diseases: a comprehensive review. J Periodontol 1998;69(5):507–20.
- [100] Lypka M, Hammoudeh J. Dentoalveolar infections. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin 2011;23(3):415-24.
- [101] Huang Z-B, Shi X, Mao J, Gong S-Q. Design of a hydroxyapatite-binding antimicrobial peptide with improved retention and antibacterial efficacy for oral pathogen control. Sci Rep 2016;6:38410.
- [102] Gorr SU, Abdolhosseini M. Antimicrobial peptides and periodontal disease. J Clin Periodontol 2011;38(s11):126-41.
- [103] Hutmacher DW. Scaffold design and fabrication technologies for engineering tissues—state of the art and future perspectives. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2001;12(1):107–24.
- [104] Cheah C, Chua C, Leong K, Chua S. Development of a tissue engineering scaffold structure library for rapid prototyping. Part 1: investigation and classification. Int J Adv Manuf Technol 2003;21(4):291–301.

- [105] Jardini AL, Larosa MA, Maciel Filho R, de Carvalho Zavaglia CA, Bernardes LF, Lambert CS, et al. Cranial reconstruction: 3D biomodel and custom-built implant created using additive manufacturing. J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg 2014;42(8):1877–84.
- [106] Peltola SM, Melchels FP, Grijpma DW, Kellomäki M. A review of rapid prototyping techniques for tissue engineering purposes. Ann Med 2008;40(4):268–80.
- [107] D'Urso PS, Effeney DJ, Earwaker WJ, Barker TM, Redmond MJ, Thompson RG, et al. Custom cranioplasty using stereolithography and acrylic. Br J Plast Surg 2000;53(3):200–4.
- [108] Lee M-Y, Chang C-C, Lin C-C, Lo L-J, Chen Y-R. Custom implant design for patients with cranial defects. IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag 2002;21(2): 38-44.
- [109] Mertens C, Löwenheim H, Hoffmann J. Image data based reconstruction of the midface using a patient-specific implant in combination with a vascularized osteomyocutaneous scapular flap. J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg 2013;41(3):219–25.
- [110] Foletti J, Lari N, Dumas P, Compes P, Guyot L. PEEK customized implant for skull esthetic reconstruction. Rev Stomatol Chir Maxillo-Faciale 2012;113(6):468–71.
- [111] Chacón-Moya E, Gallegos-Hernández JF, Piña-Cabrales S, Cohn-Zurita F, Goné-Fernández A. Cranial vault reconstruction using computerdesigned polyetheretherketone (PEEK) implant: case report. Cir Cir 2009;77:437–40.
- [112] Hou J-S, Chen M, Pan C-B, Wang M, Wang J-G, Zhang B, et al. Application of CAD/CAM-assisted technique with surgical treatment in reconstruction of the mandible. J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg 2012;40(8):e432–7.

This page intentionally left blank

# 51

# Dental Tissue Engineering

Nelson Monteiro<sup>1</sup>, Pamela C. Yelick<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Connecticut Health, Farmington, CT, United States; <sup>2</sup>Tufts University School of Dental Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Dental caries, trauma, genetic disorders, and periodontal diseases may cause damage and loss of dental tissues, and ultimately loss of the whole tooth [1]. Despite advancements in dental therapies, loss of dental tissues and teeth is a concern both to individuals and to their professional health care providers and remains a highly prominent public health issue [2,3]. It was reported that the public health burden associated with dental treatment of root canals represents a significant fraction of all expenses related to dental care, which totaled \$100 billion in 2009 in the US alone [3]. Approximately 150 million adults experience tooth loss, and it is expected that over 10 million new cases of edentulism will have arisen in one decade [2]. Another highly significant population and of particular concern to the field of regenerative medicine and the US Department of Defense is the military. In 2000, a cost of \$1.9 billion was estimated for active duty personnel and \$203 million for recruits; periodontal disease accounted for the greatest proportion of active duty treatment costs (47%) and oral surgery for the greatest proportion of recruit treatment costs (32%) [4]. Therefore, the health of both military and civilian populations would significantly benefit from the development of new, improved, and alternative functional dental tissue replacement therapies.

Treatments for deep carious lesions include pulp capping or partial pulp amputation to preserve the pulp tissue [5,6]. However, in the case of irreversible pulpitis, root canal treatment or extraction of the tooth is necessary. Root canal therapy involves complete removal of the infected pulp tissue and replacement with inert material [7]. There are some limitations associated with root canal treatment, including pulp tissue devitalization and excessive enlargement of the pulp chamber; in addition, debridement of infected root canals and the preparation of a post to support a synthetic tooth crown can increase the possibility of tooth root fracture and tooth loss. Dental prosthetic procedures such as dental implant placement have been used as tooth replacement therapies for many centuries [8]. Dental implants function through osseointegration, which is direct integration of the implant with the surrounding alveolar bone [9]. Dental implants have improved significantly over the years, based on innovations from basic and translational research, material sciences, and clinical techniques [8]. However, they are not equivalent to natural teeth in either function or aesthetics. They lack periodontal and cementum tissues, which function to cushion and modulate the mechanical stresses of mastication [9]. These disadvantages have driven an ongoing search for alternative strategies to overcome both the need for root canal and dental implant treatments. This search has led to the development of dental tissue engineering (TE) technologies, which consist of combined TE and clinical approaches to bioengineer dental tissues and whole teeth. Dental TE has demonstrated the potential use of dental stem cells (DSCs), biodegradable scaffolds, and bioactive agents such as growth factors (GFs) to control the spatial and temporal organization of regenerated dental tissues [8,10]. It is expected that dental TE will soon emerge as the preferred solution to root canal and dental implants therapies. Here, we summarize advances in dental TE to regenerate dental tissues including dental pulp, dentin, periodontal tissues, alveolar bone, and whole teeth.

# TOOTH DEVELOPMENT

Tooth development is a tightly regulated process mediated by dental epithelial—mesenchymal cell interactions, Fig. 51.1. The dental mesenchyme and dental epithelium are derived from the neural crest and the ectoderm, respectively [11]. Tooth organogenesis is regulated by a complex and intricate network of cell—cell signaling, gene expression, and GF signaling pathways [12]. Progress in elucidating the roles of molecular signals in natural tooth development has shed light on new approaches to control better the cell migration, growth, and differentiation of regenerated tissues [8,12,13]. It is known that at least 12 transcription factors are expressed in odontogenic mesenchyme [12], and more than 200 genes have been identified that are expressed in the oral epithelium, dental epithelium, and dental mesenchyme during the initiation of tooth development [14]. Tooth organogenesis is initiated by the formation of the dental lamina within the dental epithelium. The dental epithelial placode exhibits localized proliferative activity leading to dental epithelial outgrowths into the ectomesenchyme. The developing tooth organ proceeds through bud, cap, and bell stages [11,12]. In the bell stage, species-specific cusp patterns emerge, forming either a single or a multicusped tooth. The bell stage is followed by the differentiation stage, in which final growth and matrix secretion occur as the inner enamel epithelium differentiates into enamel-producing ameloblasts, whereas adjacent dental mesenchymal cells differentiate into dentin-producing odontoblasts [11,13].

The dental pulp is the soft connective tissue in the center of the tooth, which is enclosed by dentin [12]. Dental pulp has a variety of functions: (1) to support nerves that provide sensitivity to the tooth, (2) to nourish the avascular dentin, and (3) to produce the dentin that surrounds it. Dental pulp differs from other craniofacial structures in that it is extensively vascularized and innervated. Pulp vascularization is established by vasculogenesis during embryonic development of the tooth, and angiogenesis occurs during regeneration and therapeutic processes. Pulp innervation occurs at a relatively late postnatal stage and is innervated primarily by nociceptors [15]. Dentin is a resilient and elastic tissue that forms the bulk of the tooth, supports the enamel, and compensates for the brittleness of the highly mineralized enamel tissue. Dentin is a sensitive tissue that is capable of limited self-repair [12]. Odontoblasts and dental mesenchymal cells present in the tooth pulp can be stimulated to deposit new dentin in response to mechanical injury, termed reparative dentin. Enamel is the most highly mineralized tissue in the body; it consists of greater than 96% hydroxyapatite (HA) and exhibits a complex crystalline lattice organization [11,12]. Ameloblasts,



FIGURE 51.1 Principal stages of tooth formation [1].

#### DENTAL STEM CELLS



FIGURE 51.2 Adult human tooth morphology.

which secrete the enamel, largely undergo apoptosis before the tooth emerges into the oral cavity, with only a few dental epithelial cell remnants remaining in the periodontal ligament (PDL), termed the epithelial rests of Malassez. The tooth is attached to the jaw by specialized supporting tissues that consist of the PDL, the cementum, and the alveolar bone, all of which are derived from the neural crest cell—derived dental mesenchyme and which are protected by the gingiva (Fig. 51.2). To date, vital vascularized and innervated human adult teeth cannot be regenerated or regrown once damaged or lost. Therefore, the development of effective therapies to regenerate and repair lost or damaged teeth is a major goal of dental TE and regenerative medicine.

# DENTAL STEM CELLS

DSCs can be collected from a variety of embryonic and postnatal or adult dental tissues. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are pluripotent stem cells that have the capacity to form all tissues of the body, including dental tissues [1,10]. ESCs can be obtained from the inner cell mass of a blastocyst in the 4- to 5-day-old embryo and from the embryonic germ in the 10- to 15-day-old embryo [10,16,17]. In contrast to ESCs, postnatal DSCs are multipotent stem cells that can develop into a restricted number of differentiated dental cell types [18]. The main functions of DSCs in natural teeth are to repair damaged dental tissues and maintain normal dental tissue turnover. Five different mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) populations have been identified in dental tissues, including dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs), PDL stem cells (PDLSCs), dental follicle precursor cells (DFPCs), and stem cells from apical papilla (SCAPs). Each type of DSC population has specific characteristics and advantages for application in regenerative medicine and dentistry.

In 2000, Gronthos et al. were the first to report the isolation and identification of DPSCs in adult human dental pulp [19]. They showed that DPSCs can produce densely calcified nodules in in vitro tissue culture, but did not exhibit the capacity to form adipocytes, compared with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), which do. However, in 2002, Gronthos et al. reported the capacity of DPSCs to differentiate into both adipocytes and neural-like cells [20]. Periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) are found in PDL tissues located between the tooth and the alveolar bone and can be isolated from the roots of extracted teeth. PDLSCs have the capacity to differentiate into cementoblast-like cells, adipocytes, osteoblasts and collagen-forming cells [21]. Moreover, they were shown to regenerate a cementum–PDL-like structure and contribute to periodontal tissue repair [21]. SHEDs are isolated from an accessible tissue resource: autologous baby teeth [22]. They were identified as a population of highly proliferative, clonogenic cells capable of differentiating into a variety of cell types including neural cells,
#### 51. DENTAL TISSUE ENGINEERING

adipocytes, and odontoblasts [22]. SHEDs showed the capacity to induce bone formation, generate dentin, and survive in mouse brain after in vivo transplantation. DFPCs can be isolated from the dental follicle, which surrounds the developing tooth and supports the formation of cementum, PDL, and alveolar bone [23]. DFSCs have the capacity to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and nerve-like cells in in vitro culture [24-26]. DFPCs expressed higher amounts of insulin-like growth factor-2 transcripts than human BMSCs, and after in vivo transplantation in immunocompromised mice, DFPCs expressed osteocalcin (OCN) and bone sialoprotein (BS) but did not exhibit cementum or bone formation [23]. However, other studies showed that DFSCs transplanted into mice contributed to the formation of a new PDL and cementum tissues [27,28]. SCAPs can be isolated from the dental papilla, which normally develop into the tooth dentin and pulp. It was reported that SCAPs proliferate two- to threefold more rapidly than stem cells obtained from the pulp organ [29]. Also, SCAPs were demonstrated to differentiate into osteoblasts, odondoblasts and adipocytes in in vitro culture, and when implanted in vivo, they were shown to differentiate into osteoblasts and odontoblasts [30,31]. Immunophenotypically, SCAPs are similar to DPSCs with respect to osteogenic or dentinogenic and GF receptor gene profiles, and they also express the stem cell marker STRO-1 and dentinogenic markers including bone sialophosphoprotein, OCN, and the GFs fibroblast growth factor (FGF) recombinant 1 (FGFR1) and transforming growth factor  $(TGF)-\beta$  [29]. Moreover, upon stimulation with a neurogenic medium, SCAPs express a wide variety of neurogenic markers including nestin and neurofilament M.

Based on the promising characteristics of DSCs, dental TE efforts are focused on using DSC populations to bioengineer dental tissues, tooth supporting structures, and bioengineered whole teeth. Moreover, DSCs are considered to be a promising treatment method for several clinical conditions including Alzheimer disease, Parkinson disease, and spinal cord injury [32]. Here, we describe advances in dental TE to regenerate whole tooth and dental tissue structures, including dental pulp, dentin, PDL, and alveolar bone.

## DENTAL TISSUE ENGINEERING

The basic principle of TE employs the use of cells, scaffolds, and bioactive agents to regenerate tissues similar to native human tissues (Fig. 51.3). In vivo delivery exposes cells to a host of survival challenges, including immune issues related to inflammation and autoimmunity [33]. To survive the initial onslaught of the immune response



FIGURE 51.3 Dental tissue engineering approach [1].

#### DENTAL TISSUE ENGINEERING

better and avoid death, in vivo-delivered cells can be seeded in or onto a biodegradable scaffold before implantation when they are used to repopulate a tissue defect and/or restore function [34]. Ideal TE scaffolds mimic the properties and functions of the natural extracellular matrix (ECM), providing appropriate physical characteristics to support the development of new functional tissues. Therefore, it is important to consider the mechanical integrity and surface functionality of any given biomaterial scaffold, to ensure appropriate cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation [35,36]. Both natural and synthetic biomaterial scaffolds have been proposed for dental tissue regeneration [1,35,37–40]. The advantage of using natural scaffolds (i.e., collagen, alginate, fibrin, chitosan, gelatin, silk) is the ability to fine-tune their degradation rates by varying the concentration of the polymer and/or cross-linking agents. Synthetic scaffolds (polylactic acid, polyglycolic acid (PGA), PLLA, PLGA, PCL, etc.) have advantages including processing flexibility and the ability to be manufactured in any shape or size and with the desired predefined architecture and structural parameters [35]. Hydrogels are a specific class of scaffolds that exhibit huge potential for applications in dental tissue regeneration, owing to their versatility and adaptability [41,42]. Hydrogels offer several advantages including injectability, easy incorporation of therapeutic agents and cells under mild conditions, minimally invasive local delivery, and high contourability [42,43].

Bioactive agents such as GFs and nucleic acids have an important role in odontogenesis [12] and can be used to functionalize scaffolds to initiate the formation of new tissues [1]. As such, scaffolds can provide a multitude of advantages for bioactive agents, including safe delivery profiles, protection from biodegradation, and the ability to deliver the bioactive agents locally to where they are needed [13,44-46]. GF are critical to the development, maturation, maintenance, and repair of craniofacial and dental tissues [12]. It is therefore important to understand which of the GFs resident in the DSC niche provide appropriate cues to control their fate. For instance, GFs produced by DSCs during tooth development are responsible for the regenerative capacity of the dentin, which maintain cell proliferation and differentiation potential [12]. GFs function by binding to the extracellular domain of an appropriate target GF receptor, which in turn activates intracellular signal transduction pathways [47]. Several GFs (i.e., bone morphogenetic proteins [BMPs], sonic hedgehog [SHH], TGFs, FGFs, brain-derived neurotrophic factor [BDNF], and VEGF) are expressed during tooth formation and repair [1,15]. Therefore, dental tissue regeneration may be facilitated by incorporating GFs into scaffolds to promote dental cell differentiation. Also, because GF protein expression is the result of their gene expression [12], incorporating nucleic acid expression constructs into scaffolds has been proposed as a means to overcome certain limitations of GF delivery, including their short half-lives, denaturation during encapsulation processes, the time-consuming and expensive problem of GF production, the requirement for supraphysiological doses and GF combination for the most effective approach, the extended times required for cell differentiation, and difficulties in differentiating cells toward specific lineages [47–49]. Gene delivery of transcription factors can be used to ensure proper expression of particular splice variants in a coordinated time and sequence, and the ability to regulate a cascade of multiple genes, all from a single delivered construct [1]. Moreover, interference RNA (RNAi), a gene silencing mechanism, can be used to induce DSC differentiation [50].

Several approaches have been developed to incorporate a variety of bioactive agents into scaffolds and control their release profiles [45,46]. For instance, covalent immobilization of bioactive agents offers additional control over the spatiotemporal distribution of a particular agent compared with physical adsorption [1]. Immobilized bioactive agents can be released upon degradation of the matrix or by the hydrolysis of degradable links. Another way to entrap bioactive agents into scaffolds is by incorporating microparticles and nanoparticles [51–54]. The nanoscale properties of nanoparticles enable the ability to fine-tune release kinetics for improved transport properties, diffusivity, solubility, regulated biodistribution, minimization of toxic side effects, and the enhanced therapeutic index of bioactive agents. The combination of DSCs, biomaterial scaffolds, and bioactive agent delivery systems allows for the creation of multifunctionalized systems that can be used to facilitate dental tissue regeneration [1].

Notably, decellularized scaffolds and scaffold free approaches have created new areas of research in addition to the previously used natural and synthetic scaffold approaches [55–58]. Decellularized scaffolds, created by gently removing immunogenic cells from natural tissues such as heart, lung, bone, liver, and tooth buds, preserve the structure, shape compatibility, mechanical integrity, and bioactive molecule gradients that facilitate cell–cell interactions, cell adhesion, and ECM formation [55,59]. As such, detailed characterizations of ECM composition and organization in natural dental tissues could also facilitate dental TE efforts [56,60]. Finally, cell sheet technologies have been proposed to facilitate the regeneration of dental tissues including tooth root, pulp, dentin, and periodontal tissues [57,61–63]. This technique enables the creation of intact sheets of cells that can be harvested without trypsinization and preserves the ECM formed by the cells, including adhesive proteins such as fibronectin. Application of these TE approaches in dental tissue regeneration are discussed subsequently.

## Whole Tooth Engineering

Several approaches to engineering entire biological teeth have been proposed, including dental TE, stimulation of third dentition formation, cell-tissue recombination, chimeric tooth TE, and gene-manipulated tooth regeneration [1]. The two major approaches used for tooth regeneration are cell—tissue recombination and dental TE approaches. Dental cell-tissue recombination approaches rely on replicating the natural processes of tooth development, in which cultured progenitor stem cell-tissue constructs are directly implanted in the defect site (Fig. 51.4). Many studies have reported the bioengineering of functional teeth from embryonic stem cells cultured in vitro and/or implanted in vivo [16,17,64–66]. Ohazama et al. showed that embryonic day (E)10 oral epithelium stimulated an odontogenic response in cultured neural and BMSCs [16]. Moreover, BMSC-derived recombinants were demonstrated to form tooth crown structures composed of enamel, dentin, and pulp. In contrast, tissue recombinants derived from ESCs and neural stem cells did not form teeth but expressed odontogenesis-related genes [16]. In another study, high cell-density suspensions generated from E14.5 incisor epithelial and mesenchymal tissues cultured in vitro or implanted into the subrenal kidney capsule subsequently formed bioengineered teeth when implanted in the extraction socket of a rat mandibular incisor [17]. These studies demonstrate the potential for using ESCs for tooth regeneration. However, the potential tumorigenic nature of transplanted ESCs, ethical issues regarding the use of human embryos, and the potential for allogeneic immune rejection are all major concerns of ESC-based therapies [10,67].

Adult DSCs, BMSCs, umbilical cord-derived MSCs, and induced pluripotent stem (iPS) all exhibit potential for use in dental TE [10,68]. Young et al. demonstrated the first successful use of adult DSCs seeded onto PGA–PLLA scaffolds to generate tooth crowns containing dentin and enamel; this demonstrated the presence of adult dental epithelial and MSC populations in pig third-molar tooth tissues [69]. Another study demonstrated that bioengineered pig tooth crowns containing dentin, pulp, and enamel formed in 25–30 weeks, whereas rat tooth crowns formed in just 12 weeks [70]. Honda et al. harvested dental cells from canine first-molar tooth buds, seeded them onto PGA scaffolds, and implanted them into tooth sockets of extracted teeth [71]. Subsequent analyses of harvested implants showed the formation of dentin and bone, but no enamel tissue or dental-root formation was observed. The same authors reported that dental epithelial and mesenchymal cells harvested from porcine third molar teeth seeded onto collagen scaffolds and implanted in vivo formed a single tooth in each scaffold that was morphologically similar to natural teeth [72]. In another interesting study, comparison of bioengineered dental tissues grown in the mandible versus the omentum revealed that both implant sites supported the formation of bioengineered dentin, enamel, pulp, and periodontal tissues [73]. However, omental implant dental tissues appeared to be more organized than those grown in the mandible. Yang et al. reported the formation of a complete tooth, consisting of a tooth crown, root, pulp, enamel, dentin, odontoblasts, cementum, blood vessels, and PDLs when tooth bud cells were suspended in fibrin glue and autografted back into the original alveolar sockets of a pig [74]. Smith et al. demonstrated the use of gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogels, combined with postnatal porcine dental epithelial and dental mesenchymal progenitor cells, to support the formation of mineralized and functionally vascularized tissues of specified size and shape [75]. Also, the same model was improved by incorporating dental epithelial and dental mesenchymal cell sheets that expressed appropriate tooth marker expression patterns including SHH, BMP-2, Runt-related transcription factor 2, tenascin, and syndecan in vitro and in vivo [57]. Yang et al. reported whole tooth regeneration using DPSCs combined with epithelial cells isolated from gingival epithelium implanted into the mandibular alveolar socket of a pig for 13.5 months [66]. Seven of eight pigs developed two teeth containing crown, root, and pulp structures. Subsequent histological analyses demonstrated the formation of enamel-like tissues, dentin, cementum, odontoblasts, and periodontal tissues. All of the pig hosts formed regenerated molar teeth regardless



FIGURE 51.4 Dental cell tissue recombination approach [1].

of the original tooth type used to procure the DPSCs, whereas pig hosts that had tooth germs removed or received acellular scaffold implants did not develop new teeth. The authors also reported that the implant location may have influenced the morphology of the regenerated tooth.

More detailed characterizations of tooth expressed ECM molecules, including their respective developmental and spatial organization, may facilitate the design of effective scaffolds for tooth regeneration. One approach to achieving this goal included devising methods to decellularize and demineralize porcine molar tooth buds effectively while preserving natural ECM protein gradients [56]. This report showed that the collagen I, fibronectin, collagen IV, and laminin gradients present in natural tooth tissues were retained in decellularized tooth bud samples. Second harmonic—generation image analysis and three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions showed that natural tooth tissue exhibited higher collagen fiber density and more organized collagen fibers compared with decellularized tooth tissue. That report showed that dental cells seeded back into the decellularized tooth bud scaffolds were able to establish residence within the scaffold and to elaborate and remodel the matrix. Ongoing research has focused on detailed 3D characterizations of tooth pulp tissue to examine collagen fiber destruction and remodeling as a consequence of the decellularization and reseeding processes.

## Dental Pulp and Dentin Regeneration

Dental pulp consists of DPSCs, odontoblasts, endothelial cells, neurons, immune system cells, GFs and the ECM, all of which are crucial for maintaining the functions of healthy teeth. Dentin, which encases the dental pulp, is a mineralized form of the collagen-based predentin matrix; its crystalline structure primarily consists of HA and water [76]. Creating an in vitro tissue model that takes into account all of the aspects of a pulp-dentin microenvironment is challenging. Nonetheless, adopting a deconstruction strategy to reduce the pulp-dentin ecosystem to a few of the main components anticipated to be involved in maintaining functional pulp-dentin biology may be sufficient to establish in vitro models capable of pulp-dentin regeneration. Because interactions between tissue vasculature and nerves is critical to maintaining dental pulp homeostasis, dental TE strategies for pulp regeneration must recreate a microenvironment that supports the cellular cross-talk needed to maintain the healthy, functional tissue heterogeneity of natural tooth pulp [76]. Advances in the field of TE have made dental pulp regeneration a realistic, attractive, and alternative therapy for endodontic treatments to restore damaged teeth [5,6,77–81]. The goal is to replace the damaged pulp-dentin complex with a bioengineered, functional biological tissue surrogate that can integrate with remaining healthy host tissues. The first evidence of novo pulp regeneration was demonstrated using human tooth slices or root segments (RSs) injected with DSCs combined with scaffolds [79]. In that report, Cordeiro et al. showed that SHED cell-seeded PLLA scaffolds placed within human tooth slices and transplanted into immunodeficient mice created bioengineered tissue architecture and cellularity closely resembling those of physiologic dental pulp [79,81], including SHED cell differentiation into odontoblast and endothelial-like cells. When supplemented with VEGF, SHED cells expressed VEGF receptor2, CD31, and vascular endothelial cadherin and organized into capillary-like sprouts [81]. These studies demonstrated that the VEGF signaling pathway is an important regulator of endothelial cell-controlled differentiation of DSCs, and therefore that scaffold biomaterials could be used to control the delivery of GFs such as VEGF for dental TE [13]. Another study consisted of SCAPs and DPSCs seeded onto PLG scaffolds, inserted into tooth RSs and transplanted in mice. Analyses of harvested implants showed that the root canal space was filled entirely by a pulp-like tissue exhibiting well-established vascularity, and the formation of a continuous layer of dentin-like tissue deposited along the dental wall of the tooth root canal. The newly formed dentin like tissue was elaborated by a layer of newly formed odontoblast-like cells expressing dentin sialophosphoprotein, BS, alkaline phosphatase, and CD105.

For optimized clinical translation, dental pulp regeneration will require the use of injectable scaffolds. Rosa et al. tested the hypothesis whether SHED encapsulated in PuraMatrix hydrogel or collagen I, could regenerate a functional dental pulp when injected into full-length root canals and implanted in vivo [77]. The authors reported the formation of pulp-like tissues, including the presence of odontoblasts capable of generating new tubular dentin throughout the root canals. The engineered pulp tissue exhibited cellularity and vascularization similar to those of natural human dental pulps. Therefore, this strategy might successfully facilitate the completion of tooth root formation in damaged, necrotic, immature permanent teeth. In another study, autologous DPSCs encapsulated in collagen were transplanted into a root canal along with stromal cell–derived factor-1 (SDF-1) after pulpectomy of mature teeth with complete apical closure in dogs [82]. The results showed that by day 14, the root canal was successfully filled with regenerated pulp tissue, including nerves and vasculature, followed by new dentin formation along the dentinal wall. Khayat et al. also defined a reliable method to regenerate pulp-like tissues within tooth RSs using 5% GelMA hydrogel-encapsulated human DPSCs–human umbilical vein endothelial cells

#### 51. DENTAL TISSUE ENGINEERING

(HUVECs) implanted subcutaneously in nude rats for 4 and 8 weeks [6]. Analyses of harvested implants showed that hDPSC-HUVEC-encapsulated GelMA constructs formed pulp-like tissue that adhered to the inner dentin surface of the RS, including odontoblast-like cells exhibiting cell extensions into the dentin tubules. Moreover, that report showed that GelMA hydrogels supported hDPSC-HUVEC cell attachment, proliferation, and infiltration of host cells and promoted the establishment of well-organized neovasculature formation. This study identified GelMA hydrogels combined with DSCs as a promising, clinically relevant pulpal revascularization treatment to regenerate human dental pulp tissues. Another study showed that SHEDs and DPSCs cultured in peptideamphiphile hydrogel scaffolds exhibited cell proliferation and differentiation within the scaffolds, and that SHEDs formed a soft tissue whereas DPSCs deposited mineral [43]. These hydrogel scaffolds are desirable for clinical applications for pulp regeneration, because they are easy to handle and can be introduced into small defects or root canal. Hyaluronic acid sponge scaffolds also exhibit an appropriate structure, biocompatibility, and biodegradation for dental pulp regeneration [83]. In vivo studies using hyaluronic acid-based scaffolds in an amputated dental pulp of rat molar showed dental pulp proliferation and blood vessel invasion. Prescott et al. investigated the role of DPSCs, collagen scaffold, and dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1) in a simulated furcal perforation, in vivo mouse model [84]. The successful formation of organized pulp tissue was observed in the group containing the triad of DPSCs, a collagen scaffold, and DMP1. In another report, a chitosan bilayer membrane containing TGFβ1 releasing microspheres was developed to promote reparative dentin formation in a pulp-capping dog model [85]. Analyses of in vivo implanted constructs showed that  $TGF-\beta 1$ -releasing chitosan membranes generated reparative dentin three to six times thicker than those generated by chitosan bilayer membrane alone. In another study, decellularized human dental pulp ECM supported the proliferation and differentiation of SCAP into odontoblastlike cells near pulp chamber dentinal walls [86]. That study demonstrated that human dental pulp from healthy extracted teeth can be successfully decellularized and subsequently used to differentiate reseeded DSCs, potentially improving clinical outcomes and ultimately promoting the survival and function of injured teeth. Ravindran et al. also demonstrated the odontogenic differentiation of both human DPSCs and human PDLSCs when cultured on a decellularized 3D pulp ECM scaffold, without the need for the exogenous addition of GFs. Subcutaneous implantation of ECM scaffolds containing DPSCs showed the formation of dental pulp-like tissue containing cells expressing DSP and dentin phosphophorin. These results showed that a decellularized dental pulp ECM scaffold can be used as a biomimetic scaffold for dental tissue regeneration and as tool to study the extracellular function of multifunctional proteins [60].

Kim et al. reported the regeneration of dental pulp-like tissue in human teeth by cell homing and without cell transplantation [80]. Human teeth implanted in the mouse dorsum and delivering basic FGF (bFGF) and/or VEGF formed recellularized and revascularized connective tissue that integrated with native dentinal walls of tooth root canals. Also, the combined delivery of bFGF and VEGF, or platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) combined with a basal set of nerve growth factor and BMP-7, generated cellularized and vascularized tissues and neodentin formation over the surface of native dentinal walls. In another study, scaffold-free 3D tissues were engineered from DPSC sheets, placed into the canal space of human tooth RSs, and implanted subcutaneously into mice for pulp regeneration [87]. Histological results indicated that after 3–5 months, implanted tooth roots containing 3D scaffold-free engineered tissues exhibited vascularized fibrous tissue formation throughout, whereas empty tooth roots remained predominantly empty.

## Periodontal Regeneration

Periodontal tissue regeneration strategies aim to restore the supporting periodontal tissues of teeth, including the formation of new cementum, PDL, and alveolar bone [88]. Clinical studies show that transplantation of autologous PDL progenitor (PDLP) cells may be a useful therapy to repair periodontal defects [89]. It was shown that PDLPs were similar to PDLSCs with respect to their ability to exhibit high proliferation rates, express mesen-chymal surface molecules, and regenerate in vivo tissue; this provides clinical and experimental evidence supporting the efficacy and safety of using autologous PDL cells in treating human periodontitis. In another study, human PDLSCs were transplanted into immunocompromised mice and rats to assess their capacity for tissue regeneration and periodontal repair [21]. Using defined in vitro culture conditions, PDLSCs were shown to differentiate into cementoblast-like cells, adipocytes, and collagen-forming cells. When transplanted into immunocompromised rodents, PDLSCs were shown to differentiate into immunocompromised rodents, PDLSCs exhibited the capacity to generate cementum–PDL-like tissues and contribute to periodontal tissue repair. Therefore, transplantation of PDLSCs may hold promise as a therapeutic approach for reconstructing tissues destroyed by periodontal diseases. It was also reported that autologous PDLSCs, combined

with  $HA-\beta$ -TCP scaffolds and transplanted into surgically created periodontal defects in pigs, were capable of regenerating periodontal tissues, leading to a favorable treatment for periodontitis [90]. Using a similar approach, it was shown that transplanted human SCAPs and PDLSCs, combined with HA–TCP ceramic particles and implanted in an in vivo swine model, regenerated a functional tooth root and periodontal complex capable of supporting a porcelain crown [91]. As such, this approach led to the recovery of both tooth strength and appearance.

Zhou et al. reported a PDL cell-sheet delivery system to promote periodontal tissue healing in a canine model [62]. After root canal treatment, the tooth roots were wrapped with PDL fibroblast-derived cell sheets and replanted back into the same tooth socket for 8 weeks. Subsequent analyses of the in vivo implanted teeth showed that multilayered PDL cell sheet constructs attached to the tooth root and that most cells of the PDL sheet-tooth constructs were viable after replantation. The PDL cell-sheet group showed a significantly higher occurrence of healing (88.4%) than the control group without cell sheets (5.3%). PDL and cementum tissue regeneration was observed in the experimental group and the regenerated tissues expressed high levels of collagen type III, collagen type I, and fibronectin expression. In a similar study, three-layered PDL cell sheets supported by PGA nanofibers were transplanted to dental root surfaces exhibiting a three-wall periodontal defect while filling existing bone defects with porous  $\beta$ -TCP. PDL cell sheet transplantation resulted in regenerated new bone formation as well as the formation of cementum containing embedded, properly oriented collagen fibers. These results suggested that PDL cells exhibit the ability to differentiate into periodontal tissues composed of both hard and soft PDL tissues, and that PDL cell sheet transplantation may be useful for periodontal regeneration in clinical settings [92]. In another study, Lei et al. characterized the cell properties of DPSCs and PDLSCs after in vivo implantation [93], showing that DPSCs and PDLSCs can maintain MSC-like characteristics after in vivo implantation compared with PDLSCs, DPSCs appear to be much more stable under in vivo conditions. These findings provide additional cellular evidence supporting and expanding the use of dental tissue-derived stem cells in dental TE.

In another study, intrabony defects were created in rats to evaluate the regenerative potential of an injectable macroporous calcium phosphate cement (CaP) combined with BMP-2 or FGF-2. Results from that study showed that the combined topical application of FGF-2 with an injectable CaP may prove to be a promising treatment for periodontal regeneration [94]. Another study, by Kim et al., tested the hypothesis that anatomically correct teeth can be regenerated in scaffolds without the need for cell transplantation. Anatomically shaped human molar and rat incisor scaffolds were fabricated by 3D bioprinting of hybrid PCL-HA with 200-µm-diameter interconnecting microchannels. SDF1 and BMP-7 were delivered into the microchannels of the scaffold, which were then implanted orthotopically after mandibular incisor extraction in the case of rats, or by using human molar-shaped scaffolds implanted ectopically into the rat dorsum. Analyses of explanted constructs showed the regeneration of PDL and new bone, which formed at the interface of the rat incisor scaffold and the native alveolar bone. This study showed that SDF1 and BMP-7 delivery recruited significantly more endogenous cells and also induced a greater angiogenesis response compared with growth factor-free control scaffolds [95]. Porous chitosan-coral composites combined with plasmid-encoding PDGF-B gene were also tested for periodontal regeneration, showing that subcutaneous implantation of gene-activated scaffolds supported greater cell proliferation than pure coral scaffolds, and that PDGF-B and type-I collagen expression was upregulated in gene-activated scaffold. Therefore, coral scaffolds combined with PDGF-B gene delivery may also serve as a suitable approach for periodontal tissue regeneration [96]. In another study, a mesoporous bioglass—silk fibrin scaffold combined with BMP-7 and/or PDGF-B adenovirus synergistically promoted up to twofold greater regeneration of PDL, alveolar bone, and cementum compared with each adenovirus used alone [97]. Ex vivo BMP-7 gene transfer was used to stimulate the repair of large mandibular alveolar bone defects in a rat wound repair model [98], consisting of syngeneic dermal fibroblasts transduced ex vivo with adenoviruses encoding green fluorescent protein, BMP-7 (Ad-BMP-7), or an antagonist of BMP bioactivity, noggin (Ad-noggin). These studies demonstrated that Ad-noggin treatment inhibited osteogenesis compared with the control- and Ad-BMP-7-treated specimens. Furthermore, the osseous lesions treated with Ad-BMP-7 gene delivery demonstrated rapid chondrogenesis and subsequent osteogenesis, cementogenesis, and predictable bridging of the periodontal bone defects [98]. In another study, a thermosensitive chitosan hydrogel was used as a small interfering RNA (siRNA) reservoir to silence receptor activator of nuclear factor-KB signaling and promote PDL regeneration [50]. The cumulative in vitro release of siRNA from the hydrogel was 50% over 14 days, and high PDL cell viability was observed for cells seeded on the siRNA-loaded scaffold. In vivo studies showed that the fluorescent signal from siRNA within hydrogel was maintained for up to 14 days when subcutaneously implanted in mice [50].

## Alveolar Bone Regeneration

Jaw reconstruction can be challenging because both teeth and bone must be restored [99]. Autologous bone graft techniques followed by the placement of dental implants is one approaches being used to repair jaw defects. However, undesirable limitations to this approach include associated donor-site morbidity for harvested bone, insufficient quantities of available bone, and difficulties in dental implant placement owing to inadequate size, shape, and quality of the reconstructed alveolar ridge [100,101]. Because of high rates of progressive periodontitis, which can alter alveolar bone morphology and destroy surrounding tooth-supporting tissues, alveolar bone is highly susceptible to inflammation, which may result in necessary tooth extraction. The alveolar ridge may continue to resorb even after dental implant placement, and dysregulated bone remodeling in response to mechanical loading (mastication forces) may occur owing to uneven strain distributions caused by resorbed alveolar bone tissues [101]. Therefore, reliable tooth and alveolar bone regeneration strategies are needed to repair jaw defects effectively.

Inorganic materials such as CaP ceramics, bioactive glass, and ceramic–polymer composites have been especially developed for bone TE applications [39,101]. HA ceramics,  $\beta$ -TCP cements, and biphasic calcium phosphates are examples of synthetic CaP bone substitutes [101]. Although they lack the mechanical properties of naturally formed bone, they exhibit osteoinductive or osteogenic abilities, and these ceramics gradually acquire mechanical strength similar to that of cancellous bone [101,102]. For alveolar bone regeneration, biodegradable granular forms of ceramics are preferred, such as  $\beta$ -TCP, because they are easy to shape and can easily adopt the 3D size and shape of the bony defect, an important consideration for proper aesthetics [102]. Advantages of combining ceramics with polymers include improved biodegradability, biocompatibility, and an ability to readily bind GFs critical for osteoinduction. PCL scaffolds coated with CaP or HA exhibit improved osteoblast adhesion, spreading, and proliferation and promote alveolar bone formation in periodontal defects [101]. Goh et al. used a monkey model to examine periimplant bone regeneration and implant stability after immediate implant placement into tooth sockets containing facial wall defects [103]. In the control group, the bony defect was reconstructed with autogenous particulate bone, whereas in the test group, PCL-TCP scaffolds were used. Histological analyses showed better maintenance of facial bone contour in the test group; however, bone regeneration was observed only in areas adjacent to the bony wall of the defect. Implant survival was 100% 6 months for both groups, but the use of a PCL-TCP scaffold showed better maintenance of the alveolar contour compared with autogenous particulate bone at 6 months, although there was minimal bone regeneration within the defect [103].

Aquino et al. reported the use of autologous human DSPCs combined with a collagen sponge scaffold for oral maxillofacial bone tissue repair in patients requiring third-molar extraction [104]. Three months after autologous DSPC grafting, they reported that patient alveolar bone showed optimal vertical repair and complete restoration of periodontal tissue. Moreover, optimal bone regeneration was still evident 1 year after grafting. This clinical study demonstrated the effectiveness of DSCs combined with scaffolds to restore dental tissues such as alveolar bone and periodontal tissues [104]. In another study, bone implants created from pig iliac crest-derived MSCs seeded onto lattice scaffolds and grown in a rotational oxygen-permeable bioreactor system (ROBS) reactor were then combined with dental epithelial and dental mesenchymal cell-derived tooth constructs created from unerupted tooth buds harvested from the same pig [105]. Analyses of harvested implants revealed the formation of bioengineered mineralized tooth tissues, including primary and reparative dentin and enamel in the tooth portion of the hybrid tooth bone implants, and the formation of OCN and BS-positive mineralized bone in the bone portion of the hybrid toothbone constructs. Collagen type III–positive connective tissue resembling PDL and tooth root structures were also present at the interface of the bioengineered tooth and bone tissues. These results demonstrate the potential use of hybrid tooth–alveolar bone constructs for clinical treatment of tooth loss accompanied by alveolar bone resorption [105]. In a similar study, tooth–bone constructs were prepared from third-molar tooth tissue and iliac crest bone marrow-derived osteoblasts isolated from, and implanted back into, the same pig as an autologous reconstruction [100]. Subsequent analyses showed the formation of small tooth structures consisting of organized dentin, enamel, pulp, cementum, and PDL surrounded by newly formed bone, indicating the possibility of tooth regeneration and associated alveolar bone in a single procedure [106].

Cai et al. studied which differentiation approach (e.g., maintenance of stemness, osteogenic or chondrogenic induction) was most suitable for periodontal regeneration, using in vivo implanted, rat BMSC-seeded PLGA–PCL electrospun scaffolds. Their results showed that BMSCs exhibited chondrogenic differentiation, followed by regeneration of alveolar bone and ligament tissues [107]. Successful regeneration of alveolar bone and surrounding

periodontal tissues using gene therapy vectors such as adenoviral BMP-7 (Ad-BMP-7) was also achieved in vivo [98]. Mesoporous Bioglass—silk fibrin scaffolds combined with BMP-7 and/or PDGF-B adenovirus synergistically promoted periodontal regeneration by enabling up to twofold greater regeneration of PDL, alveolar bone, and cementum tissues compared with each adenovirus used alone [97].

## CONCLUSIONS

Root canal therapy and prosthetic dental procedures such as dental implants are the only clinical treatments available to treat necrotic dental pulp tissue defects and tooth replacement. These treatments present numerous disadvantages, including loss of tooth vitality and the inability to mimic properties and functions of natural teeth. Based on the promising characteristics of DSCs for regenerative tissue applications, dental TE efforts are focused on using these stem cell populations to bioengineer tooth supporting tissues and whole tooth. Although a variety of studies support the potential use of ESCs for tooth regeneration, the possibility of malignant tumorigenesis, ethical issues regarding the use of embryos, and the potential for allogeneic immune rejection make this approach problematic and unrealistic at present. In contrast, adult DSCs and iPS cells both exhibit significant potential for utility in dental TE. Successful use of DSCs for applications in dental tissue regeneration requires the combination of appropriate scaffolds and GF signals to induce dental cell differentiation and dental tissue formation. In addition, the concepts of scaffold-free approaches and cell homing have also been developed, suggesting alternative approaches using dental cell sheets and the recruitment of endogenous MSCs for dental tissue by GFs.

These reports demonstrate that it is possible to regenerate correct teeth anatomically using a combination of dental cells, scaffolds, and signals. Indeed, the tooth organ is a highly complex biological organ whose formation requires the intricate regulation of a cascade of molecular signals and gene expression. As such, a better understanding of the biological processes and interactions of important GFs and gene expression patterns regulating natural tooth development is critical for successful dental tissue regeneration. Methods to differentiate DSCs successfully into tooth specific lineages, to create all of the tissues that comprise a functional living tooth, is a main challenge in DSC research. New and effective methods for delivering bioactive agents such as GFs and nucleotides (i.e., plasmid DNA and RNA interference) combined with optimized biomaterials scaffolds, are anticipated to provide the means for successful alveolar bone and tooth regeneration in the foreseeable future, to meet the challenge of generating functional, living, bioengineered dental tissues.

## List of Abbreviations

BMP Bone morphogenetic protein **BS** Bone sialoprotein CaP Calcium phosphate cement DFPC Dental follicle precursor cells **DPSC** Dental pulp stem cells ECM Extracellular matrix ESC Embryonic stem cells FGF Fibroblast growth factor GF Growth factors HA Hydroxyapatite **OCN** Osteocalcin PCL Polycaprolactone PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor PDL Periodontal ligament PDLSC Periodontal ligament stem cells PGA Polyglycolic acid PLGA Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) PLLA Poly-L-lactide SCAP Stem cells from apical papilla SHED Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth TCP Tricalcium phosphate **TGF** Transforming growth factors VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

## Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (R01DE016132, PCY and AFIRM2 CF-04, PCY).

## References

- [1] Monteiro N, Yelick P. Advances and perspectives in tooth tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017;11(9):2443-61.
- [2] Cooper LF. The current and future treatment of edentulism. J Prosthodont 2009;18(2):116–22.
- [3] Federation FWD. Oral health worldwide. 1-23 (Genève, Switzerland). 2012.
- [4] Chisick MC, Piotrowski MJ. Estimated cost of dental treatment for active duty and recruit U.S. military personnel. Mil Med 2000;165(1):70–1.
- [5] Nakashima M, Iohara K. Experimental in vivo approaches of pulp regeneration. In: Goldberg M, editor. The dental pulp: biology, pathology, and regenerative therapies. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2014. p. 203–18.
- [6] Khayat A, Monteiro N, Smith E, Angstadt S, Yelick PC. GelMA-Encapsulated hDPSCs and HUVECs for Dental Pulp Regeneration. J Dent Res 2016;96(2):192–9.
- [7] Smith AJ, Lumley PJ, Tomson PL, Cooper PR. Dental regeneration and materials: a partnership. Clin Oral Investig 2008;12(2):103-8.
- [8] Chai Y, Slavkin HC. Prospects for tooth regeneration in the 21st century: a perspective. Microsc Res Tech 2003;60(5):469-79.
- [9] Yen AH, Yelick PC. Dental tissue regeneration a mini-review. Gerontology 2011;57(1):85–94.
- [10] Otsu K, Kumakami-Sakano M, Fujiwara N, Kikuchi K, Keller L, Lesot H, et al. Stem cell sources for tooth regeneration: current status and future prospects. Front Physiol 2014;5:36.
- [11] Jernvall J, Thesleff I. Tooth shape formation and tooth renewal: evolving with the same signals. Development 2012;139(19):3487–97.
- [12] Nanci A, Cate ART. Ten Cate's oral histology: development, structure, and function. Mosby; 2003.
- [13] Lai WF, Lee JM, Jung HS. Molecular and engineering approaches to regenerate and repair teeth in mammals. Cell Mol Life Sci 2014;71(9): 1691–701.
- [14] Takahashi K, Kiso H, Saito K, Togo Y, Tsukamoto H, Huang B, et al. Feasibility of gene therapy for tooth regeneration by stimulation of a third dentition. 2013.
- [15] de Almeida JFA, Chen P, Henry MA, Diogenes A. Stem cells of the apical papilla regulate trigeminal neurite outgrowth and targeting through a BDNF-dependent mechanism. Tissue Eng Part A 2014;20(23–24):3089–100.
- [16] Ohazama A, Modino SAC, Miletich I, Sharpe PT. Stem-cell-based tissue engineering of murine teeth. J Dent Res 2004;83(7):518-22.
- [17] Nakao K, Morita R, Saji Y, Ishida K, Tomita Y, Ogawa M, et al. The development of a bioengineered organ germ method. Nat Methods 2007; 4(3):227–30.
- [18] Mitalipov S, Wolf D. Totipotency, pluripotency and nuclear reprogramming. In: Martin U, editor. Engineering of stem cells. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol, vol. 114; 2009. p. 185–99.
- [19] Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97(25):13625–30.
- [20] Gronthos S, Brahim J, Li W, Fisher LW, Cherman N, Boyde A, et al. Stem cell properties of human dental pulp stem cells. J Dent Res 2002; 81(8):531–5.
- [21] Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, et al. Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet 2004;364(9429):149–55.
- [22] Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao MR, Lu B, Fisher LW, Robey PG, et al. SHED: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100(10):5807–12.
- [23] Morsczeck C, Gotz W, Schierholz J, Zellhofer F, Kuhn U, Mohl C, et al. Isolation of precursor cells (PCs) from human dental follicle of wisdom teeth. Matrix Biol 2005;24(2):155–65.
- [24] Coura GS, Garcez RC, de Aguiar CB, Alvarez-Silva M, Magini RS, Trentin AG. Human periodontal ligament: a niche of neural crest stem cells. J Periodontal Res 2008;43(5):531–6.
- [25] Lymperi S, Ligoudistianou C, Taraslia V, Kontakiotis E, Anastasiadou E. Dental stem cells and their applications in dental tissue engineering. Open Dent J 2013;7:76–81.
- [26] Kemoun P, Laurencin-Dalicieux S, Rue J, Farges JC, Gennero I, Conte-Auriol F, et al. Human dental follicle cells acquire cementoblast features under stimulation by BMP-2/-7 and enamel matrix derivatives (EMD) in vitro. Cell Tissue Res 2007;329(2):283–94.
- [27] Handa K, Saito M, Tsunoda A, Yamauchi M, Hattori S, Sato S, et al. Progenitor cells from dental follicle are able to form cementum matrix in vivo. Connect Tissue Res 2002;43(2–3):406–8.
- [28] Yokoi T, Saito M, Kiyono T, Iseki S, Kosaka K, Nishida E, et al. Establishment of immortalized dental follicle cells for generating periodontal ligament in vivo. Cell Tissue Res 2007;327(2):301–11.
- [29] Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Yamaza T, Tuan RS, Wang S, Shi S, et al. Characterization of the apical papilla and its residing stem cells from human immature permanent teeth: a pilot study. J Endod 2008;34(2):166–71.
- [30] Kikuchi H, Suzuki K, Sakai N, Yamada S. Odontoblasts induced from mesenchymal cells of murine dental papillae in three-dimensional cell culture. Cell Tissue Res 2004;317(2):173–85.
- [31] Ikeda E, Hirose M, Kotobuki N, Shimaoka H, Tadokoro M, Maeda M, et al. Osteogenic differentiation of human dental papilla mesenchymal cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;342(4):1257–62.
- [32] Martens W, Bronckaers A, Politis C, Jacobs R, Lambrichts I. Dental stem cells and their promising role in neural regeneration: an update. Clin Oral Investig 2013;17(9):1969–83.
- [33] Petrie Aronin CE, Kuhn NZ, Tuan RS. Tissue engineering and selection of cells. In: Paul D, editor. Comprehensive biomaterials. Oxford: Elsevier; 2011. p. 81–93. Editor-in-Chief.

#### REFERENCES

- [34] Dvir T, Timko BP, Kohane DS, Langer R. Nanotechnological strategies for engineering complex tissues. Nat Nanotechnol 2011;6(1): 13–22.
- [35] Zhanga L, Morsib Y, Wanga Y, Lia Y, Ramakrishna S. Review scaffold design and stem cells for tooth regeneration. Jpn Dent Sci Rev 2013; 49(1):14–26.
- [36] Fu J, Wang Y-K, Yang MT, Desai RA, Yu X, Liu Z, et al. Mechanical regulation of cell function with geometrically modulated elastomeric substrates. Nat Methods 2010;7(9):733–6.
- [37] Galler KM, D'Souza RN, Hartgerink JD. Biomaterials and their potential applications for dental tissue engineering. J Mater Chem 2010; 20(40):8730-46.
- [38] Horst OV, Chavez MG, Jheon AH, Desai T, Klein OD. Stem cell and biomaterials research in dental tissue engineering and regeneration. Dent Clin N Am 2012;56(3):495–520.
- [39] Sowmya S, Bumgardener JD, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, Jayakumar R. Role of nanostructured biopolymers and bioceramics in enamel, dentin and periodontal tissue regeneration. Prog Polym Sci 2013;38(10–11):1748–72.
- [40] Yuan ZL, Nie HM, Wang S, Lee CH, Li A, Fu SY, et al. Biomaterial selection for tooth regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2011;17(5):373-88.
- [41] Dobie K, Smith G, Sloan AJ, Smith AJ. Effects of alginate hydrogels and TGF-beta 1 on human dental pulp repair in vitro. Connect Tissue Res 2002;43(2–3):387–90.
- [42] Bidarra SJ, Barrias CC, Granja PL. Injectable alginate hydrogels for cell delivery in tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2014;10(4):1646–62.
- [43] Galler KM, Cavender A, Yuwono V, Dong H, Shi S, Schmalz G, et al. Self-assembling peptide amphiphile nanofibers as a scaffold for dental stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14(12):2051–8.
- [44] Kulkarni M, Greiser U, O'Brien T, Pandit A. Liposomal gene delivery mediated by tissue-engineered scaffolds. Trends Biotechnol 2010;28(1): 28–36.
- [45] Monteiro N, Martins A, Reis RL, Neves NM. Liposomes in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. J R Soc Interface 2014;11(101): 20140459.
- [46] Monteiro N, Martins A, Reis RL, Neves NM. Nanoparticle-based bioactive agent release systems for bone and cartilage tissue engineering. Regen Ther 2015;1:109–18.
- [47] Chen FM, An Y, Zhang R, Zhang M. New insights into and novel applications of release technology for periodontal reconstructive therapies. J Control Release 2011;149(2):92–110.
- [48] Storrie H, Mooney DJ. Sustained delivery of plasmid DNA from polymeric scaffolds for tissue engineering. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2006;58(4): 500-14.
- [49] Yau WWY, Rujitanaroj P-O, Lam L, Chew SY. Directing stem cell fate by controlled RNA interference. Biomaterials 2012;33(9):2608–28.
- [50] Ma Z, Yang C, Song W, Wang Q, Kjems J, Gao S. Chitosan hydrogel as siRNA vector for prolonged gene silencing. J Nanobiotechnol 2014;12.
  [51] Monteiro N, Martins M, Martins A, Fonseca NA, Moreira JN, Reis RL, et al. Antibacterial activity of chitosan nanofiber meshes with lipo-
- somes immobilized releasing gentamicin. Acta Biomater 2015;18:196–205.
- [52] Monteiro N, Martins A, Pires RA, Faria S, Fonseca NA, Moreira JN, et al. Dual release of a hydrophilic and a hydrophobic osteogenic factor from a single liposome. RSC Adv 2016;6(115).
- [53] Monteiro N, Martins A, Pires R, Faria S, Fonseca NA, Moreira JN, et al. Immobilization of bioactive factor-loaded liposomes at the surface of electrospun nanofibers targeting tissue engineering. Biomater Sci 2014;2:1195–209.
- [54] Monteiro N, Ribeiro D, Martins A, Faria S, Fonseca NA, Moreira JN, et al. Instructive nanofibrous scaffold comprising runt-related transcription factor 2 gene delivery for bone tissue engineering. ACS Nano 2014;8:8082–94.
- [55] Patnaik SS, Wang B, Weed B, Wertheim JA, Liao J. Decellularized scaffolds: concepts, methodologies, and applications in cardiac tissue engineering and whole-organ regeneration. In: Liu Q, editor. Tissue regeneration: where nanostructure meets biology. World Scientific Company; 2013. p. 77–124.
- [56] Traphagen SB, Fourligas N, Xylas JF, Sengupta S, Kaplan DL, Georgakoudi I, et al. Characterization of natural, decellularized and reseeded porcine tooth bud matrices. Biomaterials 2012;33(21):5287–96.
- [57] Monteiro N, Smith EE, Angstadt S, Zhang W, Khademhosseini A, Yelick PC. Dental cell sheet biomimetic tooth bud model. Biomaterials 2016;106:167–79.
- [58] Yang J, Yamato M, Kohno C, Nishimoto A, Sekine H, Fukai F, et al. Cell sheet engineering: recreating tissues without biodegradable scaffolds. Biomaterials 2005;26(33):6415–22.
- [59] Tapias LF, Ott HC. Decellularized scaffolds as a platform for bioengineered organs. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2014;19(2):145-52.
- [60] Ravindran S, Zhang Y, Huang C-C, George A. Odontogenic induction of dental stem cells by extracellular matrix-inspired three-dimensional scaffold. Tissue Eng Part A 2014;20(1–2):92–102.
- [61] Yang B, Chen G, Li J, Zou Q, Xie D, Chen Y, et al. Tooth root regeneration using dental follicle cell sheets in combination with a dentin matrix based scaffold. Biomaterials 2012;33(8):2449–61.
- [62] Zhou Y, Li Y, Mao L, Peng H. Periodontal healing by periodontal ligament cell sheets in a teeth replantation model. Arch Oral Biol 2012;57(2): 169–76.
- [63] Na S, Zhang H, Huang F, Wang W, Ding Y, Li D, et al. Regeneration of dental pulp/dentine complex with a three-dimensional and scaffoldfree stem-cell sheet-derived pellet. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;10(3):261-70.
- [64] Oshima M, Ogawa M, Yasukawa M, Tsuji T. Generation of a bioengineered tooth by using a three-dimensional cell manipulation method (organ germ method). Meth Mol Biol 2012;887:149–65.
- [65] Hirayama M, Oshima M, Tsuji T. Development and prospects of organ replacement regenerative therapy. Cornea 2013;32:S13-21.
- [66] Yang K-C, Kitamura Y, Wu C-C, Chang H-H, Ling T-Y, Kuo T-F. Tooth germ-like construct transplantation for whole-tooth regeneration: an in vivo study in the miniature pig. Artif Organs 2016;40(4):E39–50.
- [67] Zhang W, Ahluwalia IP, Yelick PC. Three dimensional dental epithelial-mesenchymal constructs of predetermined size and shape for tooth regeneration. Biomaterials 2010;31(31):7995–8003.
- [68] Iglesias-Linares A, Yanez-Vico RM, Sanchez-Borrego E, Moreno-Fernandez AM, Solano-Reina E, Mendoza-Mendoza A. Stem cells in current paediatric dentistry practice. Arch Oral Biol 2013;58(3):227–38.

#### 51. DENTAL TISSUE ENGINEERING

- [69] Young CS, Terada S, Vacanti JP, Honda M, Bartlett JD, Yelick PC. Tissue engineering of complex tooth structures on biodegradable polymer scaffolds. J Dent Res 2002;81(10):695–700.
- [70] Duailibi MT, Duailibi SE, Young CS, Bartlett JD, Vacanti JP, Yelick PC. Bioengineered teeth from cultured rat tooth bud cells. J Dent Res 2004; 83(7):523–8.
- [71] Honda MJ, Ohara T, Sumita Y, Ogaeri T, Kagami H, Ueda M. Preliminary study of tissue-engineered odontogenesis in the canine jaw. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006;64(2):283–9.
- [72] Honda MJ, Tsuchiya S, Sumita Y, Sagara H, Ueda M. The sequential seeding of epithelial and mesenchymal cells for tissue-engineered tooth regeneration. Biomaterials 2007;28(4):680–9.
- [73] Duailibi SE, Duailibi MT, Zhang W, Asrican R, Vacanti JP, Yelick PC. Bioengineered dental tissues grown in the rat jaw. J Dent Res 2008;87(8): 745–50.
- [74] Yang KC, Wang CH, Chang HH, Chan WP, Kuo TF. Fibrin glue mixed with platelet-rich fibrin as a scaffold seeded with dental bud cells for tooth regeneration. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2012;6(10):777–85.
- [75] Smith EE, Zhang W, Schiele NR, Khademhosseini A, Kuo CK, Yelick PC. Developing a biomimetic tooth bud model. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017;11(12):3326–36.
- [76] Kaushik SN, Kim B, Walma AMC, Choi SC, Wu H, Mao JJ, et al. Biomimetic microenvironments for regenerative endodontics. Biomater Res 2016;20:14.
- [77] Rosa V, Zhang Z, Grande RH, Nor JE. Dental pulp tissue engineering in full-length human root canals. J Dent Res 2013;92(11):970-5.
- [78] Dissanayaka WL, Hargreaves KM, Jin L, Samaranayake LP, Zhang C. The interplay of dental pulp stem cells and endothelial cells in an injectable peptide hydrogel on angiogenesis and pulp regeneration in vivo. Tissue Eng Part A 2015;21(3–4):550–63.
- [79] Cordeiro MM, Dong Z, Kaneko T, Zhang Z, Miyazawa M, Sbl S, et al. Dental pulp tissue engineering with stem cells from exfoliated deciduous teeth. J Endod 2008;34(8):962–9.
- [80] Kim JY, Xin X, Moioli EK, Chung J, Lee CH, Chen M, et al. Regeneration of dental-pulp-like tissue by chemotaxis-induced cell homing. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(10):3023–31.
- [81] Sakai VT, Zhang Z, Dong Z, Neiva KG, Machado MAAM, Shi S, et al. SHED differentiate into functional odontoblasts and endothelium. J Dent Res 2010;89(8):791–6.
- [82] Iohara K, Imabayashi K, Ishizaka R, Watanabe A, Nabekura J, Ito M, et al. Complete pulp regeneration after pulpectomy by transplantation of CD105+ stem cells with stromal cell-derived factor-1. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17(15–16):1911–20.
- [83] Inuyama Y, Kitamura C, Nishihara T, Morotomi T, Nagayoshi M, Tabata Y, et al. Effects of hyaluronic acid sponge as a scaffold on odontoblastic cell line and amputated dental pulp. J Biomed Mater Res Part B 2010;92B(1):120–8.
- [84] Prescott RS, Alsanea R, Tayad MI, Johnson BR, Wenckus CS, Hao J, et al. In vivo generation of dental pulp-like tissue by using dental pulp stem cells, dentin matrix protein 1 transplantation in mice. J Endod 2008;34(4):421–6.
- [85] Li F, Liu X, Zhao S, Wu H, Xu HHK. Porous chitosan bilayer membrane containing TGF-beta(1) loaded microspheres for pulp capping and reparative dentin formation in a dog model. Dent Mater 2014;30(2):172–81.
- [86] Song JS, Takimoto K, Jeon M, Vadakekalam J, Ruparel NB, Diogenes A. Decellularized human dental pulp as a scaffold for regenerative endodontics. J Dent Res 2017;96(6). https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034517693606.
- [87] Syed-Picard FN, Ray Jr HL, Kumta PN, Sfeir C. Scaffoldless tissue-engineered dental pulp cell constructs for endodontic therapy. J Dent Res 2014;93(3):250–5.
- [88] Sculean A, Nikolidakis D, Schwarz F. Regeneration of periodontal tissues: combinations of barrier membranes and grafting materials biological foundation and preclinical evidence: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol 2008;35(8 Suppl.):106–16.
- [89] Feng F, Akiyama K, Liu Y, Yamaza T, Wang TM, Chen JH, et al. Utility of PDL progenitors for in vivo tissue regeneration: a report of 3 cases. Oral Dis 2010;16(1):20–8.
- [90] Liu Y, Zheng Y, Ding G, Fang D, Zhang C, Bartold PM, et al. Periodontal ligament stem cell-mediated treatment for periodontitis in miniature swine. Stem Cell 2008;26(4):1065–73.
- [91] Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo BM, Zhang C, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in swine. PLoS One 2006;1:e79.
- [92] Iwata T, Yamato M, Tsuchioka H, Takagi R, Mukobata S, Washio K, et al. Periodontal regeneration with multi-layered periodontal ligamentderived cell sheets in a canine model. Biomaterials 2009;30(14):2716–23.
- [93] Lei M, Li K, Li B, Gao L-N, Chen F-M, Jin Y. Mesenchymal stem cell characteristics of dental pulp and periodontal ligament stem cells after in vivo transplantation. Biomaterials 2014;35(24):6332-43.
- [94] Oortgiesen DAW, Walboomers XF, Bronckers ALJJ, Meijer GJ, Jansen JA. Periodontal regeneration using an injectable bone cement combined with BMP-2 or FGF-2. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2014;8(3):202–9.
- [95] Kim K, Lee CH, Kim BK, Mao JJ. Anatomically shaped tooth and periodontal regeneration by cell homing. J Dent Res 2010;89(8):842-7.
- [96] Zhang Y, Wang Y, Shi B, Cheng X. A platelet-derived growth factor releasing chitosan/coral composite scaffold for periodontal tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2007;28(8):1515–22.
- [97] Zhang YF, Miron RJ, Li S, Shi B, Sculean A, Cheng XR. Novel mesoporous bioglass/silk scaffold containing adPDGF-B and adBMP7 for the repair of periodontal defects in beagle dogs. J Clin Periodontol 2015;42(3):262–71.
- [98] Jin QM, Anusaksathien O, Webb SA, Rutherford RB, Giannobile WV. Gene therapy of bone morphogenetic protein for periodontal tissue engineering. J Periodontol 2003;74(2):202–13.
- [99] Monteiro N, Yelick P. Alveolar complex regeneration. In: Tolstunov L, editor. Horizontal alveolar ridge augmentation in implant dentistry: a surgical manual. Wiley-Blackwell; 2015. p. 360.
- [100] Abukawa H, Zhang W, Young CS, Asrican R, Vacanti JP, Kaban LB, et al. Reconstructing mandibular defects using autologous tissueengineered tooth and bone constructs. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67(2):335–47.
- [101] Pilipchuk SP, Plonka AB, Monje A, Taut AD, Lanis A, Kang B, et al. Tissue engineering for bone regeneration and osseointegration in the oral cavity. Dent Mater 2015;31(4):317–38.
- [102] Matsuno T, Omata K, Hashimoto Y, Tabata Y, Satoh T. Alveolar bone tissue engineering using composite scaffolds for drug delivery. Jpn Dent Sci Rev 2010;46(2):188–92.

## 920

- [103] Goh BT, Chanchareonsook N, Tideman H, Teoh SH, Chow JKF, Jansen JA. The use of a polycaprolactone-tricalcium phosphate scaffold for bone regeneration of tooth socket facial wall defects and simultaneous immediate dental implant placement in *Macaca fascicularis*. J Biomed Mater Res 2014;102(5):1379–88.
- [104] d'Aquino R, De Rosa A, Lanza V, Tirino V, Laino L, Graziano A, et al. Human mandible bone defect repair by the grafting of dental pulp stem/progenitor cells and collagen sponge biocomplexes. Eur Cell Mater 2009;18:75–83.
- [105] Young CS, Abukawa H, Asrican R, Ravens M, Troulis MJ, Kaban LB, et al. Tissue-engineered hybrid tooth and bone. Tissue Eng 2005; 11(9-10):1599-610.
- [106] Zhang W, Abukawa H, Troulis MJ, Kaban LB, Vacanti JP, Yelick PC. Tissue engineered hybrid tooth-bone constructs. Methods 2009;47(2): 122-8.
- [107] Cai X, Yang F, Yan X, Yang W, Yu N, Oortgiesen DAW, et al. Influence of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells pre-implantation differentiation approach on periodontal regeneration invivo. J Clin Periodontol 2015;42(4):380–9.

This page intentionally left blank

# 52

## Cell Therapy for Blood Substitutes

Shi-Jiang Lu<sup>1</sup>, Robert Lanza<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Vcanbio Center for Translational Biotechnology, Natick, MA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Astellas Institute of Regenerative Medicine, Marlborough, MA, United States

## INTRODUCTION

RBCs, the oxygen-carrying component of the blood, are transfused in over half of all anemic patients admitted to intensive care units in the United States [1-3]. It is estimated that nearly 5 million patients receive approximately 14 million units of RBCs per year in the United States alone [4,5]. Limitations in the supply of RBCs can have potentially life-threatening consequences for patients, specifically for those who have rare or unusual blood types with massive blood loss caused by trauma or other emergency situations. Unfortunately, the supply of transfusable RBCs, especially the "universal" donor type (O)Rh-negative, is often insufficient, particularly in the battlefield environment and/or major natural disasters owing to the lack of blood type information and the limited time required for lifesaving transfusion. Moreover, the low prevalence of (O)Rh-negative blood type in the general population (<8% in Western countries and <0.3% in Asia) further intensifies the consequences of blood shortages for emergency situations in which blood typing may not be possible.

Platelets, anucleate discoid-shaped cell fragments released from megakaryocytes (MK), are essential to hemostasis, the biological process by which bleeding stops. Platelets adhere to damaged blood vessels and trigger a series of biochemical changes that stimulate clot formation and vascular repair. In cases of thrombocytopenia (platelet counts  $< 150 \times 10^3/\mu$ L), the increased risk of bleeding can have life-threatening consequences [6]. In the United States, approximately 1.5 million platelet transfusions are performed annually to protect patients, including those treated with chemotherapy or stem cell transplantations, from the risk of thrombocytopenia and its related dangers [7]. Unfortunately, refractoriness occurs in approximately one out of every three patients who require repeated platelet transfusions [8,9] and whereas both immunological and nonimmunological complications may be to blame, HLA alloimmunization is the primary cause of refractoriness [8]. Over the past few decades, the steady increase in demand for platelets combined with their limited shelf life has presented a constant challenge for blood centers and donor-dependent programs. As with RBCs, there is a vast and continuous need for functional, transfusable platelets, especially in times of emergency.

HSCs located within the bone marrow are multipotent stem cells discovered more than half century ago by Till and McCullogh [10] that have the ability to self-renew indefinitely and are responsible for replenishing all mature cells within the adult blood system including RBCs, platelets and myeloid and lymphoid cells. More than 30,000 patients with malignant blood diseases after chemotherapy received HSC transplantation; however, difficulty in finding an HLA-matched HSC donor, especially for individuals from a mixed or minority ethnicity, is the major obstacle to HSC regenerative therapy.

PSCs, including human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), are capable of expanding indefinitely in culture without losing their pluripotency; this makes them an attractive cell source to be used for the large-scale production of a variety of therapeutic cell types [11–13]. The advent of human iPSCs may allow patient-specific therapies to be produced, thus circumventing potential issues with HLA mismatching and immunoincompatibility. Although each has its own advantages and disadvantages, hESCs and iPSCs represent two types of PSCs that may be able to serve as an alternative source for producing transfusable RBCs and platelets,

and HSCs with long-term engraftment capability. Here, we will review progress in developing these lifesaving blood substitutes, including some of our own efforts in unlocking the potential use of hESCs and iPSCs in these endeavors.

## **RED BLOOD CELLS**

## Erythropoiesis

Erythropoiesis is a highly regulated, multistep process by which the body generates mature RBCs or erythrocytes. During mammalian development, erythropoiesis consists of two major waves: (1) primitive erythropoiesis, which is initiated in the yolk sac with the generation of large *nucleated* erythroblasts, and (2) definitive erythropoiesis, which arises from the fetal liver with the development of smaller *enucleated* erythrocytes [14]. Definitive erythropoiesis in fetal liver features the production of enucleated RBCs that quickly become dominant in embryonic circulation. The switch of hemoglobin to fetal types ( $\alpha_2\gamma_2$ ) also occurs at the initiation of definitive erythropoiesis [15–17]. However, reports show that yolk sac–derived primitive erythroblasts can also enucleate in the circulation of a mouse embryo and persist throughout gestation [18,19].

In adults, all blood cell types, including lymphocytes, myeloid cells, and RBCs, are derived from HSCs residing in the bone marrow. The initial differentiation of a multipotential HSC into a common myeloid progenitor (CMP) determines its capacity to differentiate further into granulocytes, erythrocytes, megakaryocytes, and macrophages, but not lymphoid cells. As the CMP continues to differentiate, it undergoes significant expansion and will eventually commit to one particular lineage. Erythroid unilineage commitment leads to the appearance of the pronormoblast (also called the proerythroblast or rubriblast). The pronormoblast will then pass through early, intermediate, and late normoblast (erythroblast) stages before expelling its nucleus and becoming a reticulocyte. Upon exiting the bone marrow, reticulocytes enter the blood circulation and become fully mature RBCs, expressing adult forms of hemoglobin ( $\alpha 2\beta 2$ ) and delivering oxygen to tissues of the body. They circulate for about 120 days before they are engulfed by macrophages and recycled [20]. The various stages of erythropoiesis can also be distinguished by characteristic morphological features in the cell cytoplasm and nucleus, which become evident after Wright–Giemsa staining. In addition, using an in vitro colony-forming assay, CMP progenitors can be identified by their ability to form a characteristic colony-forming unit (CFU), called the CFU–granulocyte, erythroid, macrophage, megakaryocyte (GEMM) whereas early erythroid progenitors develop into burst-forming units–erythroid (BFU-E), and late erythroid progenitors become CFU-erythroid (CFU-E) in this assay [14].

## "Universal" Blood Generated by Modifying Red Blood Cell Surface Antigens

Dr. Lansteiner's Nobel Prize—winning discovery of ABO blood groups occurred over a century ago. Now 30 known human blood group systems and complicated issues surrounding blood type incompatibility continue to frustrate clinicians and scientists. To circumvent these issues, researchers have been trying to develop "universal" blood for decades, primarily through chemical modifications on the surface of RBCs. Among these efforts, Goldstein and coworkers demonstrated that group B erythrocytes can be enzymatically converted to group O, and that the converted cells survived normally in A, B, and O individuals [21]. Since this groundbreaking discovery, there have been coordinated efforts to identify both clinically and economically viable alternative enzymes. New classes of bacterial exoglycosidases have been discovered that can enzymatically perform group O conversions with faster kinetics [22,23]; yet the likelihood of this technology having a major role in blood transfusion practice is unclear. There are no reports showing the enzymatic conversion of other important blood typing groups such as the Rh factor. With the momentum of the rapidly advancing stem cell field, the concept of (O)Rh- negative RBCs derived from PSCs clearly offers an attractive option for the future of blood transfusions.

## Red Blood Cells Generated From Adult Stem Cells In Vitro

Erythrocytes have been derived from a variety of primary stem cell sources including umbilical cord blood (CB), peripheral blood (PB), and bone marrow (BM). CD34<sup>+</sup> cells from CB, PB, and BM have been isolated and differentiated into erythrocytes with 95% purity after a little over a week of culture using erythropoietin (EPO), stem cell factor (SCF), and interleukin-3 [24–26]. Coculturing with a mouse MS-5 stromal cell line or human mesenchymal stem cells facilitates enucleation, the hallmark of mature RBCs. The stem cell–derived erythrocytes have properties similar to normal RBCs, including membrane deformation capacity, intrinsic enzymatic activity, and balanced adult

or fetal forms of hemoglobin that can bind and release oxygen. In addition, these erythrocytes have been found to survive in vivo in NOD/SCID mice and were detectable 3 days after transplantation. Douay and colleagues showed that autologous RBCs generated under good manufacturing practices (GMP) conditions from PB CD34<sup>+</sup> cells behaved the same as did their natural counterparts when reinfused into the autologous recipient [27]. This first preclinical study provided proof of principle for transfusion of in vitro–generated RBCs and the necessary safety data that could support an investigational new drug application. Stem cells from PB and BM have limited expansion capacity (29,000- and 16,500-fold, respectively) compared with those from CB (140,000-fold). Yet, cells from adult PB and BM are often easier to obtain and display mature forms of hemoglobin, whereas CB sources are more difficult to obtain and cells derived from them express only fetal globins. Despite their potential utility and substantial in vitro expansion using bioreactors [28], however, these primary cells still represent donor-limited sources of blood substitutes.

## Red Blood Cells Generated From Human Embryonic Stem Cells

The expansion capacity of hESCs far exceeds that of BM, PB, or even CB. Hematopoietic precursors as well as more mature progeny representing erythroid, granulocyte, macrophage, megakaryocytic, and lymphoid lineages have all been identified in differentiating hESC cultures [29]. Therefore, many groups have focused their efforts on trying to steer the in vitro differentiation of entire hESC cultures into specific blood cell types such as RBCs or megakaryocytes and platelets [30–36].

The controlled differentiation of hESCs into erythrocytes has primarily been achieved by either embryoid body (EB) formation or coculturing with stromal cells followed by the isolation of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells and further expansion or differentiation. Although somewhat different in approach, both systems have encountered the same obstacles in generating fully mature adult RBCs. For example, Chang et al. [37] generated erythroid cells from hESCs by isolating and expanding nonadherent cells of day 14 EBs for an additional 15-56 days. The resulting cells coexpressed high levels of embryonic  $\varepsilon$ - and fetal  $\gamma$ -globins but few or no adult  $\beta$ -globins. In addition, the cells had not enucleated. Using a stroma coculture method, erythroid cells could be generated by cultured with human fetal liver stromal cells (FHB-hTERT) for 14–35 days, isolating CD34<sup>+</sup> cells and further differentiating them in a four-step culture system. In steps 1 and 2, cocktails of cytokines were used to promote the proliferation and maturation of erythroid precursors. In steps 3 and 4, erythroid cells were transferred onto mouse BM stromal cells (MS5) to facilitate terminal maturation [38]. Although these erythrocytes were generated on a relatively large scale ( $0.5-5 \times$  $10^{\prime}$  cells), the resulting cells had problems similar to those generated by the EB method: they mainly expressed embryonic  $\varepsilon$ - and fetal  $\gamma$ -globin isoforms, with only a trace amount of adult  $\beta$ -globin being detected. Despite these reports, other studies suggest that specific types of stroma can in fact facilitate the expression of adult  $\beta$ -globin in developing erythrocytes. Immunostaining with globin chain-specific monoclonal antibodies [39] showed that almost 100% of hESC-derived erythrocytes expressed the adult  $\beta$ -globin chain after coculture with murine fetal liver derived stromal cells; however, the  $\beta$ -globin content and identity were not verified by an accurate physical method such as high-performance liquid chromatography or mass spectrography. Yet, most of the cells still had not enucleated, a problem that does not seem to have an easily explainable mechanism or simple solution. For example, a study published in 2005 showed that coculturing CD34<sup>+</sup> CB, PB, and BM cells on MS5 stroma produced RBCs with up to 100% enucleation [24], whereas a year later, Miharada et al. [26], reported that up to 77% of CB-derived erythrocytes could achieve enucleation without the use of stromal cells.

The mechanism(s) by which stromal cells may facilitate erythrocyte enucleation are largely unknown; therefore, it remains to be determined whether stroma coculture will be absolutely required for the enucleation of hESC-derived erythrocytes. Stroma may secrete important soluble factors, provide critical cell–cell contact, and/or engulf of nuclei and other organelles. Some studies suggest that the process of enucleation involves a critical asymmetric cell division [40] and that Rac GTPases and their effector, mDia2, extrude the pyknotic nucleus during this process [41]. Other studies show that in vivo, contact with macrophages is important and that the erythroblast-macrophage-protein Emp has a critical role in enucleation [42–44]. Clearly, further studies will be required to determine how to improve the efficiency of both enucleation and globin switching in vitro. Coculture with stroma may circumvent problems with the processes, but production of clinical-grade RBC substitutes will demand stroma-free culture conditions.

Not only must in vitro—generated RBC substitutes be fully matured and enucleated for use in the clinic, they must also be capable of large-scale production. Related to this issue, we have developed a strategy that generates functional hemangioblasts (the common precursor cell to all hematopoietic and endothelial cell lineages) efficiently and reproducibly using a serum-free culture system, and have been able to do so with high purity (>95%) and on a



FIGURE 52.1 Erythroid differentiation potential of human embryonic stem cell-derived hemangioblasts. These cells showed tremendous colony-forming unit (CFU) capability when cultured in Cephalothin–Fucidin–Cetrimide medium. (i, ii): early burst-forming unit–erythroid ( $\times$ 40,  $\times$ 100), (iii): large CFU- granulocyte, erythroid, macrophage, megakaryocyte ( $\times$ 200); and (iv): late CFU- erythroid ( $\times$ 100).

relatively large scale [45,46]. A characteristic of the primitive hemangioblast cell is its highly efficient generation of large BFU-E (Fig. 52.1-i and 1-ii), CFU-GEMM (Fig. 52.1-iii), and CFU-E (Fig. 52.1-iv) colonies when cultured in a methylcellulose-based medium. This prompted us to investigate whether hemangioblasts could be used as an intermediate cell source to generate large, clinically relevant quantities of blood components such as erythrocytes and platelets.

Using the hemangioblast system, we generated functional RBCs (blood types A, B, O, and both Rh<sup>+</sup> and Rh<sup>-</sup>) on a large scale from multiple hESC lines [33]. Three critical elements allowed us to do this: (1) the efficient generation of hemangioblasts without disruption of their colony-forming environment; (2) expansion of hemangioblasts to erythroblasts in a high cell density (Fig. 52.2i and 2ii); and (3) culture in semisolid methylcellulose-based media to provide optimal conditions for maximum expansion and high erythroid purity (Fig. 52.2i). We generated approximately 10<sup>10</sup>



FIGURE 52.2 In vitro characterization of human embryonic stem cell (hESC)-derived erythroid cells. (i, ii): Morphology of typical highdensity expansion/differentiation of immature hESC-derived erythrocytes cultured with medium containing methylcellulose (×10); (iii): Maturing hESC-derived erythrocytes stain positive for erythrocyte marker CD235a, with a small fraction of cell showing enucleation (*arrows*); (iv): Giemsa–benzidine double staining of maturing hESC-derived erythrocytes showing a high content of intracellular hemoglobin (*brown*). *Arrow* indicates fully enucleated red blood cells (×100); (v): Maturing hESC-derived erythrocytes express A-type surface antigen (*red*, ×100 magnification); (vi): Some hESC-derived erythrocytes express  $\beta$ -chain hemoglobin (*green*, ×100) after elongated culture in vitro. Cellular nuclei in all fluorescence images were stained with DAPI (*blue*).

#### RED BLOOD CELLS

to 10<sup>11</sup> erythroid cells per six-well plate of hESCs [33], which is over a thousand-fold more efficient than previously reported methods [38]. Oxygen equilibrium curves of erythroid cells from days 19-21 of differentiation were comparable to normal transfusible RBCs and responded to changes in pH and 2,3-diphosphoglycerate. During the course of our studies, we found that extended in vitro culture facilitated further maturation of these erythroid cells, inducing a progressive decrease in size, increased expression of the erythrocyte cell surface marker, glycophorin A (CD235a), as well as chromatin and nuclear condensation. When the extended culture was performed on OP9 stromal cells, it resulted in the extrusion of the pyknotic nucleus in up to 65% of cells and the generation of enucleated erythrocytes with a diameter of approximately 6-8 µm (Fig. 52.3). At this stage, the erythrocyte population was nearly 100% positive for glycophorin A (Fig. 52.2iii), it had a high content of hemoglobin (Fig. 52.2iv), and it expresses ABO antigen (Fig. 52.2v). Although the cells were found to express fetal and embryonic globin chains, globin chain-specific polymerase chain reaction and immunofluorescent analyses showed that after extended culture, expression of adult  $\beta$ -globin increased from 0% to 15% (Fig. 52.2vi). Overall, these results showed that it is feasible to differentiate and mature hESCs into functional oxygen-carrying erythrocytes on a large scale. The identification of an hESC line with an (O)Rh<sup>-</sup> genotype would permit the production of ABO and Rh-compatible (and pathogen-free) "universal donor" RBCs. Considerable effort is still needed to bring hESC-derived RBCs to clinical trials, but these efforts certainly provide a promising lead.

## Red Blood Cells Generated From Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

The successful reprogramming of somatic cells into a pluripotent state has been achieved by ectopic expression of various combinations of transcription factors [11,13]. The derivation of these iPSCs is less controversial than that of hESCs; thus, they open up an exciting new route to obtain PSCs. Moreover, that iPSCs can be produced in a patient-specific manner will eliminate the issue of immunorejection in cell, tissue, or organ replacement therapies in the future. A number of groups including our own have published methods for generating RBCs from iPSCs



FIGURE 52.3 Enucleation of erythrocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells in vitro. (*Top*): Low-magnification image of Giemsastained enucleated erythrocytes (×20); (*bottom*): High-magnification (×100) image of enucleated erythrocytes (*black arrows*).

#### 52. CELL THERAPY FOR BLOOD SUBSTITUTES

[47–59]. These erythrocytes possess classic morphology, express glycophorin A, and have abundant hemoglobin content. As observed in the hESC differentiation systems, regardless of their origin, iPSC-generated RBCs express mostly fetal hemoglobin (hemoglobin F). RBCs expressing hemoglobin F are slightly less efficient than those expressing adult hemoglobin for oxygen delivery. However, patients who retain expression of hemoglobin F in adult life are not anemic. Thus, the fetal phenotype of RBCs generated from iPSCs that are derived from patients with hemoglobinopathies is not necessarily a barrier for autologous transfusion. Kobari et al [52] and Yang et al. [57] reported the switch from fetal to adult hemoglobin after infusion of iPSC-derived nucleated erythroid precursors into mice, which indicates that these cells possess the potential to turn on the expression of the globin gene under appropriate in vivo conditions. Giani et al. [60] demonstrated that targeted suppression of SH2B3 in primary human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells enhanced the maturation and overall yield of in vitro-derived RBCs. Olivier et al. [61] described a GMP-compatible, feeder-free, and serum-free method to produce large numbers of erythroid cells from human PSCs. This multistep protocol combines cytokines and small molecules to mimic and surpass the early stages of development and produces more than 99% of CD235a-positive cells. Moreover, their protocol supports extensive expansion, with a single human PSC producing 50,000-200,000 erythroid cells. The erythroid cells produced exhibit a definitive fetal hematopoietic type, with 90–95% fetal globin and a variable proportion of embryonic and adult globin proteins.

Although these studies provided proof-of-principle, our study revealed some intrinsic molecular and cellular abnormalities in the iPSC derivatives, such as increased apoptosis, limited CFU capability, and limited expansion [51]. The exact cause(s) of these abnormalities is unclear but may result from alterations caused by the modified genome of virally reprogrammed cells. Despite transgene silencing after reprogramming, Dias et al. [50] reported a background of transgene expression in differentiated cells obtained from transgenic iPSCs and showed that it can affect their properties. However, Dias et al. [50] observed no difference in erythroid differentiation between transgene-free and transgenic hiPSC lines. Our study [30] and unpublished data showed that viral-free, especially iPSCs generated with messenger RNA (mRNA) transfection, have much improved hematopoietic differentiation and expansion capability compared with human iPSCs carrying viral DNA. Both large-scale RBCs and megakaryocytes and platelets were produced with mRNA-generated iPSCs, which is comparable to hESC-derived counterparts. More research will be needed to figure out the mechanism underlying the disparate observations.

## Red Blood Cell Generation by Direct Conversion of Somatic Cells

Another new approach to RBC generation involves the direct dedifferentiation or conversion of human somatic cells to multipotent hematopoietic progenitors, thus bypassing the need for PSC-like hESCs or iPSCs altogether [32,62]. Forced ectopic expression of OCT4 directly transdifferentiates fibroblasts into CD45<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic progenitors, and after exposure to EPO, these cells were able to produce erythroid lineage cells that expressed high levels of adult  $\beta$ -globin and low levels of fetal  $\gamma$ -globin and were capable of enucleation [62]. Similarly, Liu et al. [32] reported a method to generate erythrocytes from human hair follicle mesenchymal stem cells by enforcing OCT4 gene expression and cytokine stimulation. Erythroid cells generated from human hair follicle mesenchymal stem cells also underwent multiple maturation events and formed enucleated erythrocytes with a biconcave disc shape and the morphology of mature and functional RBCs. The limitation of this approach is the high level of OCT4 expression in somatic cells, which can be achieved only by viral infection. Viral integration in the genome limited the usefulness of this approach.

## Where Do We Go From Here?

The manufacture of safe and effective RBC substitutes will alleviate many of the risks, complications, and hardships associated with donor-dependent RBC sources. Significant progress has been made by manipulating the differentiation potential of hESCs and iPSCs and driving them toward erythrocyte development. In vitro differentiation systems that can be scaled up for the mass production of RBC substitutes have been developed. The hemangioblast methodology described in this chapter represents one such possibility. Despite many exciting advances with in vitro culture systems, problems associated with the final stages of erythrocyte maturation, namely enucleation and globin switching, will still need to be fully resolved before hESC- and iPSC-derived RBCs can be produced in a stroma-free manner, scaled up for mass production, and brought to the clinic. Direct conversion of somatic cells into RBCs represents an alternative to solving the globin-switching dogma, but the low efficiency and use of viral vector limits its clinical application. Another obstacle to applying all of these methods is that they are expensive to produce the sufficient number of RBCs that are applicable in the clinic.

## MEGAKARYOCYTES AND PLATELETS

## Megakaryopoiesis

Because of their role in clot formation and blood vessel repair, platelets are essential for the cessation of bleeding; to maintain an abundant supply of them is vitally important. MK, the large multinucleate precursors to platelets, provide a constant, renewable source of platelets to the blood system and are themselves produced through a process called megakaryopoiesis. As previously mentioned, HSCs differentiate into CMPs, which then undergo significant proliferation and expansion as they further mature and differentiate. Once exclusively committed to the MK lineage, however, they retain only limited expansion capacity. On a cellular level, MK maturation involves many changes such as an increase in expression of the cell surface markers GPIIb/IIIa (also known as CD41 or  $\alpha$ IIb/ $\beta$ III integrin receptor) and GPIb/GPIX/GPV receptors and an increase in cytoplasmic and nuclear mass, with cells expanding to 50–100 µm in diameter, resulting in nuclear polyploidization and cells up to 128 N [63,64]. On a molecular level, thrombopoietin (TPO) is the primary physiological regulator of MK and platelet generation [7]. However, numerous other cytokines, growth factors, and small molecules have been found to be important as well. Multiple cytokines have been reported to stimulate the proliferation of MK progenitors synergistically [65,66], whereas transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 and platelet factor 4 have been found to inhibit their development and maturation [67]. Downstream of cytokine signaling pathways, various transcription factors orchestrate the progressive lineage commitment and maturation of developing MKs [68–72].

## **Biogenesis of Platelets**

Although not mutually exclusive, two models have been proposed to describe the assembly and release of platelets from MKs into the bloodstream, a process known as thrombopoiesis [6,73]. In the global fragmentation model, cellular processes termed proplatelets undergo mutual detachment to produce small functional platelets within the MK cytoplasm, which then explodes and releases the cell's entire content of platelets simultaneously. This theory, conceived in the 1970s, is supported by electron microscopy of mature MKs, as well as in vivo and ex vivo observations of platelet release. More recent experimental evidence lends support to the proplatelet model of platelet biogenesis. In this model, proplatelets actually extend from the mature MK cell body, traverse the vascular endothelium, and enter the BM sinusoids, where the shear force of the bloodstream facilitates release of nascent platelets from proplatelet ends. On a molecular level, thrombopoiesis is thought to be a highly coordinated process, with sophisticated reorganization of membrane and microtubules and precise distributions of granules and organelles [74]. It also appears as though localized apoptosis may have important roles in proplatelet formation and platelet release [75]. Despite these advances in our understanding of platelet biogenesis, mechanistic details remain to be elucidated.

## Generation of Megakaryocytes and Platelets From Adult Stem Cells and Somatic Cells

Various sources of adult HSCs have been used to study MK and platelet differentiation. Choi and colleagues were the first to report that functional platelets could be produced from CD34<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from PB [76]. During 10–12 days of culture, aplastic canine serum was used to promote in vitro MK lineage commitment and maturation and was then replaced by human serum to enhance platelet production from the MKs. Platelets generated from this system demonstrated aggregation capacity when stimulated with either adenosine diphosphate or thrombin, the physiological agonists for normal blood platelets. Subsequent studies showed that HSCs from PB, BM, and CB are also all capable of producing MKs and functional platelets [77–79]. Several groups reported the direct conversion or dedifferentiation of somatic cells into MKs and platelets [79a,80,80a], although the in vivo function of these platelets was not examined. Another strategy is to generate an immortalized MK progenitor cell lines from hematopoietic progenitors with virally transduced genes [81], but the methods involving viral transduction may not be considered appropriate for clinical-grade manufacturing. Yet, the limited in vitro expansion capabilities of primary CD34<sup>+</sup> and somatic cells make these cells unable to replace donation as a source of platelets. For this reason, human PSCs may be a better starting cell population for large-scale in vitro production.

## 930

## Megakaryocytes and Platelets Generated From Human Pluripotent Stem Cells

After initial success with murine ES cells [82–84], MK differentiation from human PSCs including both hESCs and iPSCs was achieved in coculture systems with animal stromal cells [31,35,36]. In these studies, Takayama et al. [35,36] cocultured hESCs or iPSCs on C3H10T1/2 stromal cells for 14–15 days and then handpicked sac-like structures containing hematopoietic progenitors and replated single cell suspensions onto fresh stroma in medium containing TPO, SCF, and heparin for 9–23 days. During this time, polyploid, CD41a/CD42b double-positive MKs emerged and produced platelets with characteristic morphology, as assessed by electron micrography. A variety of in vitro tests confirmed PSC-platelet functionality. In another study by the researchers, a laser-induced vascular injury model was used to show that their iPSC-derived platelets readily incorporate into newly developing thrombi in vivo [36].

The use of both serum and animal feeder layers throughout these studies hinders the ability of these methods to be adapted for clinical use. In addition, because handpicking of PSC sacs is both time- and labor-intensive, alternative methods will likely have to be developed for large-scale production. Pick et al. [85] and Liu et al. [32] reported feeder-free and xeno-free systems to generate MKs from PSCs. Several crucial reagents were also replaced with US Food and Drug Administration–approved pharmacological reagents. However, the generation of functional platelets was not reported in these two studies. We were able to use the serum- and feeder-free hemangioblast system, as described earlier for RBCs, to generate MKs efficiently [34]. Yet, similar to the studies by Takayama et al., we found that efficient platelet generation from hemangioblast-derived MKs still requires a conventional stroma coculture. To this end, we developed a well-defined and completely serum- and feeder-free system to differentiate human PSCs into MKs and functional platelets in less than 20 days, which greatly increases its ability to be developed for clinical use [30]. Using this method, large quantities of cryopreservable MK progenitors were produced from human PSCs, which allowed billions of platelets to be produced rapidly upon thawing of these cells. The improved scale of in vitro–generated PSC platelets provided enough materials to perform light transmission aggregometry (LTA), which is the most common method used in clinical and research laboratories to assess platelet function [86]. LTA has not been performed with platelets generated from human PSCs in vitro, presumably owing to its requirement for a large quantity of fresh platelets. As shown in Fig. 52.4C, human PSC platelets responded to thrombin stimulation in forming aggregates. However, the process was slow and aggregation was weak compared with PB platelets, but stronger and faster than human CB platelets, which is consistent with previous observations [87–89]. These results are a significant improvement over in vitro CD34<sup>+</sup> cell-derived platelets, which showed no aggregation by LTA [90]. Differential-interference contrast and electron microscopy analyses showed that ultrastructural and morphological features of PSC-derived platelets were indistinguishable from those of normal blood platelets (Fig. 52.4A). Human PSC platelets form aggregates, lamellipodia, and filopodia after activation and circulate in macrophagedepleted animals and incorporate into developing mouse thrombi in a manner identical to human platelets (Fig. 52.4B; [30]. By knocking out the  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin gene, we generated platelets that are negative for the major histocompatibility antigens (Fig. 52.5). The scalable generation of HLA–ABC-negative platelets from a renewable cell source represents an important step toward generating "universal" platelets for transfusion as well as a potential strategy for managing platelet refractoriness.

## Improving the Efficiency for In Vitro Platelet Production

These studies provide an important proof of principle for the in vitro manufacturing of functional platelets from different cell sources. However, the efficiency of platelet production will need to be significantly improved to achieve clinically relevant yields [91]. Reems et al. [92] used an in vitro culture system to demonstrate the feasibility of producing functional platelets for clinical use. Using this protocol, the calculated yield of platelets from  $5 \times 10^6$  CD34<sup>+</sup> cells is  $1.26-1.68 \times 10^{11}$ , which is equivalent to approximately 3 units of donor-derived platelets. However, these calculations are based on extrapolating data from experiments using just 500 starting CD34<sup>+</sup> HSCs. A three-dimensional culture system described by Sullenbarger et al. [93] provides additional evidence that it is possible to produce platelets in scalable quantities. In this system, about 20 platelet-like particles were produced from each input CD34<sup>+</sup> cell. Thon et al. [94] developed a scalable microfluidic platelet bioreactor that reproduces the BM microenvironment ex vivo, synchronizes proplatelet generation, and strikingly increases the yields of functional platelets by a magnitude of two compared with static conditions from different sources of MKs; this represents the critical next step in creating an alternative source of functional human platelets for infusion. Although this progress is significant, the efficiency is still low compared with greater than 2000 platelets/MK in BM, which remains the biggest challenge to reaching a clinically relevant scale of ex vivo platelets. Considering the optimal in vivo capacity



FIGURE 52.4 Characterization of induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived platelets (PLT) in vitro and in vivo. (A) Thin-section electron micrographs of (*left*) human blood and (*right*) iPSC platelets. (B) Comparative kinetics of human blood platelets (hPLT), human embryonic stem cell platelets, and iPSC platelets in immune-deficient mouse blood system (mean  $\pm$  SD, n = 5). (C) Aggregation assay of platelets from human peripheral blood (PB), umbilical cord blood (CB), and iPSC platelets stimulated with 1 U of thrombin using Chronolog aggregometer. *PSC*, pluripotent stem cell. *This research was originally published in Stem Cell Reports: Feng, Q. et al.* (2014). *Scalable generation of universal platelets from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports* 3, 1–15.

of MK development from HSCs and platelet production from MKs, both the initial hematopoietic amplification stage and downstream platelet biogenesis could stand to be optimized. Strategies to increase the efficiency of MK and platelet production include the development of novel culture systems that mimic the in vivo BM microenvironment as well as the optimization of media formulations including concentrations of cytokines, small molecule mimetics, and nutrients [91,95]. In addition, physiological parameters such as pH, media viscosity, and oxygen levels all may be optimized for increased platelet biogenesis. Finally, in vivo observations that helped to formulate the proplatelet model of platelet biogenesis suggest that shear force could have an important role in platelet release [6,74]. Adaptation of such a mechanical force in culture systems may also significantly promote proplatelet growth and platelet release, as demonstrated by Thon et al. [94].

## HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

Hematopoietic cancers, including leukemia, Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, myeloma, and myelodysplastic syndromes, result from the unregulated proliferation of hematopoietic cells. A promising treatment for hematopoietic malignancies is the transplantation of HSCs collected from PB, BM, or CB of HLA-matched donors into patients after radiation or chemotherapy. Allogeneic HSC transplantation is the only treatment that can cure



FIGURE 52.5 Generation and characterization of universal platelets from human induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSCs). (A) human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-ABC and  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2M) expression in wild-type hemophilia A (HA)-iPSCs and  $\beta$ 2M<sup>KO</sup> iPSC-derived mega-karyocytes (MKs); (B) HLA-ABC and  $\beta$ 2M expression in wild-type HA-iPSCs and  $\beta$ 2M<sup>KO</sup> iPSC-derived platelets; (C) Platelet activation measured by PAC-1 binding with (*red histogram*) or without thrombin (*black histogram*) in wild-type HA-iPSC platelets and  $\beta$ 2M<sup>KO</sup> iPSC platelets. *This research was originally published in Stem Cell Reports: Feng, Q. et al.* (2014). *Scalable generation of universal platelets from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports 3,* 1–15.

chronic myelogenous leukemia. However, HSCs from HLA-matched donors are often scarce, which has been a bottleneck for treating blood cancers, especially for patients from minor ethnic groups.

Several strategies have been developed to generate HSCs from human PSCs [29,96], which possess the potential to serve as an inexhaustible and donorless source of HSCs for transplantation therapy. In addition, iPSCs have the potential for curative treatment for a variety of genetic diseases that affect PB and BM-derived cells. Hematopoietic cells derived from PSCs have been successfully transplanted into immune-deficient NOD-SCID mice, which showed short-term as well as long-term BM engraftment capabilities [97–102]. Similarly, Amabile et al. [103] and Suzuki et al. [104] independently demonstrated that CD34<sup>+</sup> CD45<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from teratomas formed by human PSCs in immune-deficient mice were able to engraft and reconstitute hematopoietic cells in serial transplantation experiments. These studies suggest that functional HSCs can be derived from human PSCs. However, in all of these studies, BM repopulation was invariably low, only rarely exceeding 1-2%.

The causes for the observed consistently poor engraftment of PSC-derived hematopoietic cells in immunedeficient mice may be multifactorial. First, the PSC-derived hematopoietic cells themselves may be defective, losing some properties that are critical for engraftment, such as the potential of differentiating into endothelial cells. It has been demonstrated by several groups that functional HSCs derived from CB and BM exhibit hemangioblastic activity, producing both hematopoietic and vascular cells in response to vascular injury [105–107]. Hooper et al. [108] found that irradiation caused severe regression of BM sinusoidal endothelial cells, whereas HSC transplantation into these myeloablated mice induced rapid regeneration of the regressed sinusoidal endothelial cells with robust HSC engraftment. However, regeneration inhibition of the damaged sinusoidal endothelial cells prevented engraftment and replenishment of HSCs, leading to hematopoietic failure in these animals.

Second, PSC-derived hematopoietic progenitor cells are of embryonic origin and might have decreased potential for BM engraftment in the marrow microenvironment of adult animals. Experimental evidence supportive of this possibility was presented by Yoder et al. [109]. These investigators observed that mouse yolk sac hematopoietic cells failed to engraft when transplanted into congenic adult recipients but produced durable engraftment and multiline-age reconstitution of peripheral blood cells when infused into myeloablated newborn pups. This suggests that the cellular microenvironment has a critical role in proliferating and differentiating hematopoietic progenitor cells.

In effort to overcome challenges associated with HSC generation from human PSCs, several groups took the strategy of directly reprograming adult somatic cells into hematopoietic cells. Riddell et al. [110] demonstrated

#### REFERENCES

that transient expression of six transcription factors (Run1t1, Hlf, Lmo2, Prdm5, Pbx1, and Zfp37) converted mouse committed hematopoietic progenitors into induced-HSCs that possess multilineage differentiation potential, reconstitute stem and progenitor compartments, and are serially transplantable. Similarly, Sandler et al. [111] showed that enforced expression of transcription factors FosB, Gfi1, Runx1, and Spi1 directly converted human endothelial cells into cells consisting of HSCs with long-term engraftment potential. Cheng et al. [112] reported that hematopoietic transcription factors Scl, Lmo2, Runx1, and Bmi1 converted mouse fibroblasts into "induced hematopoietic progenitors" that engrafted immune-deficient mice, generating myeloerythroid and B-lymphoid cells for up to 4 months in vivo. These studies suggest that enforced expression of a small number of transcription factors can reprogram adult somatic cells into engraftable HSCs, but the use of viral or DNA-based vectors confers another threat to clinical application.

## PERSPECTIVES

Limitations in the supply of RBCs and platelets can have potentially life-threatening consequences for transfusion-dependent patients with unusual or rare blood types, particularly those who are alloimmunized. Although CB, BM, and PB have been investigated as sources of progenitors for the generation of large-scale transfusable RBCs and platelets [24–26,92,93], it is clear that even after expansion and differentiation, these progenitors represent donor-limited sources of RBCs and platelets. Human PSCs, especially virus-free human iPSCs [113–115], represent a new source of stem cells that are donorless source of RBCs and platelets for human therapy. Advances in gene editing technology allow the generation of PSC cells that can be used to produce (O)Rh-negative "universal" RBCs and O-type HLA major–negative "universal" platelets, which could eliminate tissue incompatibility issues altogether [116]. As for HSCs, de novo generation from human PSCs remains the most challenging obstacle. Further studies will be needed to understand the basic mechanism of HSC development in vivo and to apply this knowledge to develop a system that mimics the events accurately in vitro. The success of generating engraftable HSCs from human PSCs will be a "Holy Grail" for HSC fundamental biology and hematopoietic malignancy therapy.

## Financial and Competing Interest Disclosure

S.-J. Lu and R. Lanza are employees of the Vcanbio Center for Translational Biotechnology and the Astellas Institute for Regenerative Medicine, respectively, companies in the field of regenerative medicine and cell therapy.

## References

- Corwin HL, et al. The CRIT Study: anemia and blood transfusion in the critically ill-current clinical practice in the United States. Crit Care Med 2004;32:39–52.
- [2] Corwin HL, Parsonnet KC, Gettinger A. RBC transfusion in the ICU. Is there a reason? Chest 1995;108:767–71.
- [3] Littenberg B, et al. A practice guideline and decision aid for blood transfusion. Immunohematol 1995;11:88-94.
- [4] Whitaker BI, Henry R. Nationwide blood collection and utilization survey report. National blood data resource center. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2005. p. 2005.
- [5] Zimring JC, et al. Current problems and future directions of transfusion-induced alloimmunization: summary of an NHLBI working group. Transfusion 2011;51:435-41.
- [6] Patel SR, Hartwig JH, Italiano Jr JE. The biogenesis of platelets from megakaryocyte proplatelets. J Clin Invest 2005;115:3348-54.
- [7] Kaushansky K. Historical review: megakaryopoiesis and thrombopoiesis. Blood 2008;111:981-6.
- [8] Hod E, Schwartz J. Platelet transfusion refractoriness. Br J Haematol 2008;142:348-60.
- [9] Slichter SJ, et al. Factors affecting posttransfusion platelet increments, platelet refractoriness, and platelet transfusion intervals in thrombocytopenic patients. Blood 2005;105:4106–14.
- [10] Till JE, McCulloch CE. A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiat Res 1961;14:213-22.
- [11] Takahashi K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131:861–72.
- [12] Thomson JA, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7.
- [13] Yu J, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318:1917–20.
- [14] Ney PA. Gene expression during terminal erythroid differentiation. Curr Opin Hematol 2006;13:203-8.
- [15] Brotherton TW, et al. Hemoglobin ontogeny during normal mouse fetal development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1979;76:2853-7.
- [16] Kovach JS, Marks PA, Russell ES, Epler H. Erythroid cell development in fetal mice: ultrastructural characteristics and hemoglobin synthesis. J Mol Biol 1967;25:131–42.
- [17] Stamatoyannopoulos G. Control of globin gene expression during development and erythroid differentiation. Exp Hematol 2005;33:259–71.
- [18] Fraser ST, Isern J, Baron MH. Maturation and enucleation of primitive erythroblasts during mouse embryogenesis is accompanied by changes in cell-surface antigen expression. Blood 2007;109:343–52.
- [19] Kingsley PD, et al. Yolk sac-derived primitive erythroblasts enucleate during mammalian embryogenesis. Blood 2004;104:19–25.

## 934

#### 52. CELL THERAPY FOR BLOOD SUBSTITUTES

- [20] Palis J. Ontogeny of erythropoiesis. Curr Opin Hematol 2008;15:155-61.
- [21] Goldstein J, et al. Group B erythrocytes enzymatically converted to group O survive normally in A, B, and O individuals. Science 1982;215: 168–70.
- [22] Liu QP, et al. Bacterial glycosidases for the production of universal red blood cells. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25:454-64.
- [23] Olsson ML, Clausen H. Modifying the red cell surface: towards an ABO-universal blood supply. Br J Haematol 2008;140:3–12.
- [24] Giarratana MC, et al. Ex vivo generation of fully mature human red blood cells from hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23:69–74.
- [25] Leberbauer C, et al. Different steroids co-regulate long-term expansion versus terminal differentiation in primary human erythroid progenitors. Blood 2005;105:85–94.
- [26] Miharada K, et al. Efficient enucleation of erythroblasts differentiated in vitro from hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Nat Biotechnol 2006;24:1255–6.
- [27] Giarratana MC, et al. Proof of principle for transfusion of in vitro-generated red blood cells. Blood 2011;118:5071-9.
- [28] Timmins NE, et al. Ultra-high-yield manufacture of red blood cells from hematopoietic stem cells. Tissue Eng Part C. Methods 2011;17: 1131–7.
- [29] Ditadi A, Sturgeon CM, Keller G. A view of human haematopoietic development from the Petri dish. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2016. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.127.
- [30] Feng Q, et al. Scalable generation of universal platelets from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports 2014;3:1–15.
- [31] Gaur M, et al. Megakaryocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells: a genetically tractable system to study megakaryocytopoiesis and integrin function. J Thromb Haemost 2006;4:436–42.
- [32] Liu Y, et al. Efficient generation of megakaryocytes from human induced pluripotent stem cells using Food and Drug Administrationapproved pharmacological reagents. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4:1–11.
- [33] Lu SJ, et al. Biologic properties and enucleation of red blood cells from human embryonic stem cells. Blood 2008a;112:4475-84.
- [34] Lu SJ, et al. Platelets generated from human embryonic stem cells are functional in vitro and in the microcirculation of living mice. Cell Res 2011;21:530-45.
- [35] Takayama N, et al. Generation of functional platelets from human embryonic stem cells in vitro via ES-sacs, VEGF-promoted structures that concentrate hematopoietic progenitors. Blood 2008;111:5298–306.
- [36] Takayama N, et al. Transient activation of c-MYC expression is critical for efficient platelet generation from human induced pluripotent stem cells. J Exp Med 2010;207:2817–30.
- [37] Chang KH, et al. Definitive-like erythroid cells derived from human embryonic stem cells coexpress high levels of embryonic and fetal globins with little or no adult globin. Blood 2006;108:1515–23.
- [38] Olivier EN, et al. Large-scale production of embryonic red blood cells from human embryonic stem cells. Exp Hematol 2006;34:1635-42.
- [39] Ma F, et al. Generation of functional erythrocytes from human embryonic stem cell-derived definitive hematopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:13087–92.
- [40] Chasis JA, et al. Membrane assembly and remodeling during reticulocyte maturation. Blood 1989;74:1112–20.
- [41] Ji P, Jayapal SR, Lodish HF. Enucleation of cultured mouse fetal erythroblasts requires Rac GTPases and mDia2. Nat Cell Biol 2008;10: 314–21.
- [42] Hanspal M, Hanspal JS. The association of erythroblasts with macrophages promotes erythroid proliferation and maturation: a 30-kD heparin-binding protein is involved in this contact. Blood 1994;84:3494–504.
- [43] Hanspal M, Smockova Y, Uong Q. Molecular identification and functional characterization of a novel protein that mediates the attachment of erythroblasts to macrophages. Blood 1998;92:2940–50.
- [44] Soni S, et al. Absence of erythroblast macrophage protein (Emp) leads to failure of erythroblast nuclear extrusion. J Biol Chem 2006;281: 20181–9.
- [45] Lu SJ, et al. Generation of functional hemangioblasts from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Methods 2007;4:501-9.
- [46] Lu SJ, et al. Robust generation of hemangioblastic progenitors from human embryonic stem cells. Regen Med 2008b;3:693-704.
- [47] Chang CJ, et al. Production of embryonic and fetal-like red blood cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 2011;6:e25761.
- [48] Chang KH, et al. Globin phenotype of erythroid cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Blood 2010;115:2553–4.
- [49] Choi K, et al. Hematopoietic and endothelial differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell 2009;27:559-67.
- [50] Dias J, et al. Generation of red blood cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 2011;20:1639-47.
- [51] Feng Q, et al. Hemangioblastic derivatives from human induced pluripotent stem cells exhibit limited expansion and early senescence. Stem Cell 2010;28:704–12.
- [52] Kobari L, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cells can reach complete terminal maturation: in vivo and in vitro evidence in the erythropoietic differentiation model. Haematologica 2012;97:1795–803.
- [53] Lapillonne HL, et al. Red blood cell generation from human induced pluripotent stem cells: perspectives for transfusion medicine. Haematologica 2010;95:1651–9.
- [54] Lengerke C, et al. Hematopoietic development from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009;1176:219–27.
- [55] Papapetrou EP, et al. Genomic safe harbors permit high beta-globin transgene expression in thalassemia induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2011;29:73–8.
- [56] Salvagiotto G, et al. A defined, feeder-free, serum-free system to generate in vitro hematopoietic progenitors and differentiated blood cells from hESCs and hiPSCs. PLoS One 2011;6:e17829.
- [57] Yang CT, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cell derived erythroblasts can undergo definitive erythropoiesis and co-express gamma and beta globins. Br J Haemat 2014;166:435–48.
- [58] Ye Z, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cells from blood cells of healthy donors and patients with acquired blood disorders. Blood 2009; 114:5473–80.
- [59] Ye Z, et al. Differential sensitivity to jak inhibitory drugs by isogenic human erythroblasts and hematopoietic progenitors generated from patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell 2014;32:269–78.
- [60] Giani FC, et al. Targeted application of human genetic Variation can improve red blood cell production from stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2016; 18:1–6.

#### REFERENCES

- [61] Olivier EN, et al. High-efficiency serum-free feeder-free erythroid differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells using small molecules. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016;5:1394–405.
- [62] Szabo E, et al. Direct conversion of human fibroblasts to multilineage blood progenitors. Nature 2010;468:521-6.
- [63] Lordier L, et al. Megakaryocyte endomitosis is a failure of late cytokinesis related to defects in the contractile ring and Rho/Rock signaling. Blood 2008;112:3164–74.
- [64] Tomer A. Human marrow megakaryocyte differentiation: multiparameter correlative analysis identifies von Willebrand factor as a sensitive and distinctive marker for early (2N and 4N) megakaryocytes. Blood 2004;104:2722–7.
- [65] Deutsch VR, Tomer A. Megakaryocyte development and platelet production. Br J Haematol 2006;134:453-66.
- [66] Gordon MS, Hoffman R. Growth factors affecting human thrombocytopoiesis: potential agents for the treatment of thrombocytopenia. Blood 1992;80:302–7.
- [67] Eslin DE, et al. Transgenic mice studies demonstrate a role for platelet factor 4 in thrombosis: dissociation between anticoagulant and antithrombotic effect of heparin. Blood 2004;104:3173–80.
- [68] Fujiwara Y, et al. Arrested development of embryonic red cell precursors in mouse embryos lacking transcription factor GATA-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:12355–8.
- [69] Gaines P, et al. GATA-1- and FOG-dependent activation of megakaryocytic alpha IIB gene expression. J Biol Chem 2000;275:34114-21.
- [70] Shivdasani RA, Fujiwara Y, McDevitt MA, Orkin SH. A lineage-selective knockout establishes the critical role of transcription factor GATA-1 in megakaryocyte growth and platelet development. EMBO J 1997;16:3965–73.
- [71] Wang X, et al. Control of megakaryocyte-specific gene expression by GATA-1 and FOG-1: role of Ets transcription factors. EMBO J 2002;21: 5225–34.
- [72] Pang L, Weiss MJ, Poncz M. Megakaryocyte biology and related disorders. J Clin Invest 2005;115:3332-8.
- [73] Kosaki G. In vivo platelet production from mature megakaryocytes: does platelet release occur via proplatelets? Int J Hematol 2005;81: 208–19.
- [74] Junt T, et al. Dynamic visualization of thrombopoiesis within bone marrow. Science 2007;317:1767-70.
- [75] Clarke MC, et al. Compartmentalized megakaryocyte death generates functional platelets committed to caspase-independent death. J Cell Biol 2003;160:577–87.
- [76] Choi ES, et al. Platelets generated in vitro from proplatelet-displaying human megakaryocytes are functional. Blood 1995;85:402-13.
- [77] Bruno S, et al. In vitro and in vivo megakaryocyte differentiation of fresh and ex-vivo expanded cord blood cells: rapid and transient megakaryocyte reconstitution. Haematologica 2003;88:379–87.
- [78] Norol F, et al. Effects of cytokines on platelet production from blood and marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. Blood 1998;91:830–43.
- [79] Ungerer M, et al. Generation of functional culture-derived platelets from CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells to study transgenes in the platelet environment. Circ Res 2004;95:e36–44.
- [79a] Iwasaki H, Mizuno S, Wells RA, Cantor AB, Watanabe S, Akashi K. GATA-1 converts lymphoid and myelomonocytic progenitors into the megakaryocyte/erythrocyte lineages. Immunity 2003;19:451–62.
- [80] Ono Y, et al. Induction of functional platelets from mouse and human fibroblasts by p45NF-E2/Maf. Blood 2012;120:3812-21.
- [80a] Yingchun Wang, Jobe Shawn M, Xiaokun Ding, Hyojung Choo, Archer David R, Rongjuan Mi, Tongzhong Ju, Cummings Richard D. Platelet biogenesis and functions require correct protein O-glycosylation. PNAS 2012;109(40):16143–8.
- [81] Nakamura S, et al. Expandable megakaryocyte cell lines enable clinically applicable generation of platelets from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2014;14:535–48.
- [82] Eto K, et al. Megakaryocytes derived from embryonic stem cells implicate CalDAG-GEFI in integrin signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:12819–24.
- [83] Fujimoto TT, et al. Production of functional platelets by differentiated embryonic stem (ES) cells in vitro. Blood 2003;102:4044-51.
- [84] Nishikii H, et al. Metalloproteinase regulation improves in vitro generation of efficacious platelets from mouse embryonic stem cells. J Exp Med 2008;205:1917–27.
- [85] Pick M, et al. Generation of megakaryocytic progenitors from human embryonic stem cells in a feeder- and serum-free medium. PLoS One 2013;8:e55530.
- [86] Panzer S, Jilma P. Methods for testing platelet function for transfusion medicine. Vox Sang 2011;101:1-9.
- [87] Israels SJ. Platelet function in the newborn. In: Michelson AD, editor. Platelets. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press; 2013. p. 503-16.
- [88] Israels SJ, Rand ML. What we have learned from inherited platelet disorders. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2013;60(Suppl 1):S2-7.
- [89] Israels SJ, Rand ML, Michelson AD. Neonatal platelet function. Semin Thromb Hemost 2003;29:363-72.
- [90] Robert A, Cortin V, Garnier A, Pineault N. Megakaryocyte and platelet production from human cord blood stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 2012;788:219–47.
- [91] Reems JA, Pineault N, Sun S. In vitro megakaryocyte production and platelet biogenesis: state of the art. Transfus Med Rev 2010;24:33-43.
- [92] Matsunaga T, et al. Ex vivo large-scale generation of human platelets from cord blood CD34<sup>+</sup> cells. Stem Cell 2006;24:2877–87.
- [93] Sullenbarger B, et al. Prolonged continuous in vitro human platelet production using three-dimensional scaffolds. Exp Hematol 2009;37: 101–10.
- [94] Thon JN, et al. Platelet bioreactor-on-a-chip. Blood 2014;124:1857-67.
- [95] Broudy VC, Lin NL. AMG531 stimulates megakaryopoiesis in vitro by binding to Mpl. Cytokine 2004;25:52-60.
- [96] Wahlster L, Daley GQ. Progress towards generation of human haematopoietic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 2016;18:1111-6.
- [97] Doulatov S, et al. Induction of multipotential hematopoietic progenitors from human pluripotent stem cells via respecification of lineagerestricted precursors. Cell Stem Cell 2013;13:459–70.
- [98] Kennedy M, et al. T lymphocyte potential marks the emergence of definitive hematopoietic progenitors in human pluripotent stem cell differentiation cultures. Cell Rep 2012;2:1722–35.
- [99] Ledran MH, et al. Efficient hematopoietic differentiation of human embryonic stem cells on stromal cells derived from hematopoietic niches. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3:85–98.
- [100] Narayan AD, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived hematopoietic cells are capable of engrafting primary as well as secondary fetal sheep recipients. Blood 2006;107:2180–3.

## 936

#### 52. CELL THERAPY FOR BLOOD SUBSTITUTES

- [101] Tian X, et al. Hematopoietic engraftment of human embryonic stem cell-derived cells is regulated by recipient innate immunity. Stem Cell 2006;24:1370–80.
- [102] Wang L, et al. Generation of hematopoietic repopulating cells from human embryonic stem cells independent of ectopic HOXB4 expression. J Exp Med 2005;201:1603–14.
- [103] Amabile G, et al. In vivo generation of transplantable human hematopoietic cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Blood 2013;121: 1255–64.
- [104] Suzuki N, et al. Generation of engraftable hematopoietic stem cells from induced pluripotent stem cells byway of teratoma formation. Mol Ther 2013;21:1424–31.
- [105] Bailey AS, et al. Transplanted adult hematopoietic stems cells differentiate into functional endothelial cells. Blood 2004;103:13-9.
- [106] Cogle CR, et al. Adult human hematopoietic cells provide functional hemangioblast activity. Blood 2004;103:133-5.
- [107] Grant MB, et al. Adult hematopoietic stem cells provide functional hemangioblast activity during retinal neovascularization. Nat Med 2002; 8:607–12.
- [108] Hooper AT, et al. Engraftment and reconstitution of hematopoiesis is dependent on VEGFR2-mediated regeneration of sinusoidal endothelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4:263–74.
- [109] Yoder MC, Hiatt K. Engraftment of embryonic hematopoietic cells in conditioned newborn recipients. Blood 1997;89:2176-83.
- [110] Riddell J, et al. Reprogramming committed murine blood cells to induced hematopoietic stem cells with defined factors. Cell 2014;157: 549–64.
- [111] Sandler VM, et al. Reprogramming human endothelial cells to haematopoietic cells requires vascular induction. Nature 2014;511:312–8.
- [112] Cheng H, et al. Reprogramming mouse fibroblasts into engraftable myeloerythroid and lymphoid progenitors. Nat Comm 2016. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13396.
- [113] Kim D, et al. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4: 472-6.
- [114] Warren L, Ni Y, Wang J, Guo X. Feeder-free derivation of human induced pluripotent stem cells with messenger RNA. Sci Rep 2012;2:657.
- [115] Yu J, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cells free of vector and transgene sequences. Science 2009;324:797–801.
- [116] Zhang N, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated conversion of human platelet alloantigen allotypes. Blood 2015;127:675–80.

## **Further Reading**

- Avecilla ST, et al. Chemokine-mediated interaction of hematopoietic progenitors with the bone marrow vascular niche is required for thrombopoiesis. Nat Med 2004;10:64–71.
- Fukushima-Shintani M, et al. AKR-501 (YM477) in combination with thrombopoietin enhances human megakaryocytopoiesis. Exp Hematol 2008; 36:1337–42.
- Liu Z, et al. Transdifferentiation of human hair follicle mesenchymal stem cells into red blood cells by OCT4. Stem Cell Int 2015. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2015/389628.
- Qiu C, et al. Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into hematopoietic cells by coculture with human fetal liver cells recapitulates the globin switch that occurs early in development. Exp Hematol 2005;33:1450–8.

# 53

## Cartilage Tissue Engineering

Heather J. Faust<sup>1</sup>, Qiongyu Guo<sup>2</sup>, Jennifer H. Elisseeff<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States; <sup>2</sup>Lehigh University, Bethlehem, PA, United States

## CARTILAGE AND CARTILAGE REPAIR

Cartilage is a connective tissue that functions to provide form, strength, and support. Three types of cartilage are distinguished by their molecular components in the extracellular matrix (ECM), their anatomical location, and their function. Hyaline (articular) cartilage has a white glassy appearance and is found primarily in articulating joints. Its ECM is mainly composed of water, hyaluronate, proteoglycans, and type II collagen. Hyaline cartilage functions to provide stable movement with minimal friction. It has high viscoelasticity and demonstrates an excellent ability to provide resistance to compression and cushion the impact caused by physical load during movement [1]. Elastic cartilage is distinguished by the presence of elastin in the ECM. Elastic cartilage provides a structural function; it is represented by the support it provides in the external ear. Finally, fibrocartilage has a higher proportion of type I collagen in its ECM. Fibrocartilage is found in the meniscus and intervertebral disc and at the distal region of tendons and ligaments in apposition to bone. It provides tensile strength and counters compression and shear forces [2].

All three types of cartilage feature a sparse cellularity, limited blood supply, and lack of neural innervations. These cartilages have intrinsically poor reparative capabilities owing to their purported inability to form a clot to attract the necessary fibroblasts and start subsequent tissue synthesis for repair [3]. Once defects, even small ones, are initiated in cartilage, the degradation process is progressive [4]. One irreversible consequence of the destruction of articular cartilage is arthritis, a leading cause of disability. Osteoarthritis (OA), the most common type of arthritis, is characterized by articular cartilage loss and degeneration, subchondral bone thickening, osteophyte formation, and joint inflammation [5]. OA is widespread globally in 60–70% of people aged older than 65 years [6–8]. Over 21 million people have this disease in the United States and 10% of cases are estimated to be caused by previous trauma to weight-bearing joints, which is classified as posttraumatic OA (PTOA) [9]. PTOA develops not only in elderly people, but also in young people experiencing the results of previous trauma. Once a cartilage defect is present, cartilage matrix continues to be lost while the surrounding tissues become more inflamed and contribute to further cartilage matrix destruction [10]. This causes significant pain, disability, and morbidities, strongly affecting an individual's capacity to live a full and active life.

Surgical treatment options available for focal cartilage repair include microfracture and osteochondral autografting. Microfracture may be considered a current standard for cartilage repair and is a low-cost and minimally invasive procedure [11,12]. This technique employs subchondral drilling to initiate cartilage repair by inducing bleeding, enabling mesenchymal progenitor cells from the bone marrow to migrate into the lesion site. After this procedure, the repair tissue appears to be a cartilage-like substitute but is primarily composed of fibrocartilage. Unfortunately, the repair fibrocartilage has inferior quality and longevity compared with the native hyaline cartilage, thus delaying cartilage degeneration for only a few years [12]. Osteochondral autografting or mosaicplasty is a technique of autotransplantation in which osteochondral plugs are harvested from non–weight bearing or low– weight bearing regions of the joint and implanted into defects that have been prepared and sized. In clinical testing, survival of the transplanted hyaline cartilage has been reported in 85% of patients, with a 91% good to excellent clinical outcome reported by patients observed for 3–6 years [13,14]. In addition, follow-up 10 years after surgery demonstrated improved clinical outcomes compared with microfracture [15]. However, the cartilage autografts have many problems including limited donor tissue availability, donor site injury, scarring, and pain, prompting the development of an innovative bioengineered therapy called autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI), which will be discussed later in this chapter [16,17]. Allograft tissue transplants address the donor tissue availability challenge and are a fast-growing therapy.

## TISSUE ENGINEERING FOR CARTILAGE REPAIR

To overcome the treatment obstacles of available surgical options for cartilage repair, the reconstruction of cartilage using tissue engineering techniques has attracted tremendous attention. Tissue engineering is a multidisciplinary field that applies the principles of engineering, life sciences, and cell and molecular biology to the development of biological substitutes that restore, maintain, and improve tissue function [18]. The historical approach to cartilage engineering is to select and optimize the following components to be used individually or in combination to regenerate organs or tissues [1]: reparative cells that can form a functional matrix [2], an appropriate scaffold for transplantation and support, and [3] bioreactive molecules such as cytokines and growth factors that will support and choreograph formation of the desired tissue [19]. Biological cues and important biological factors that promote tissue repair in the local in vivo tissue environment continue to be discovered and developed, propelling the field forward. For example, the innate and adaptive immune systems are newly appreciated factors for successful tissue engineering. The immune system participates in many facets of tissue repair via scavenging dead cells and debris, inducing vascularization of injured tissue, and recruiting progenitor cells to tissue [20–22]. More specifically, Badylak discovered that macrophage phenotype is important in muscle remodeling, and that macrophage phenotype is influenced by ECM scaffolds implanted into a muscle wound [23]. Sadtler found that CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper 2 cells were necessary for proregenerative macrophage polarization and subsequent muscle regeneration after treatment with ECM scaffolds, and concluded that the adaptive immune system as well as the innate immune system are important for functional tissue regeneration with a scaffold [24]. Although little is known about how either innate or adaptive immune cells may be involved in cartilage regeneration, it is likely to be a future focus for the field (Fig. 53.1).

## Cartilage Surface Modification

Engineering therapies aimed to prevent cartilage deterioration after injury are valuable considering that cartilage is extremely difficult to repair. Because lubrication of the cartilage surface is extremely important for its proper



FIGURE 53.1 Revised approach to tissue engineering triad. Cells, growth factors, scaffolds, and immune cells and the immune environment contribute to engineered cartilage regeneration. The immune system contributes inflammatory and antiinflammatory signals, as well as antigen-specific and nonspecific recognition of the engineered scaffold, which may dictate engineered tissue success.

movement without friction and mechanical degradation, viscosupplementation is a common procedure. Viscosupplementation replenishes the molecules in the synovial fluid that naturally lubricate the cartilage surface, most commonly hyaluronic acid. One strategy is to enhance viscosupplementation with synthetic molecules such as a hyaluronic acid (HA) binding peptide to enhance the retention of HA further at the joint surface [25,26]. Synovial fluid can also be enhanced with synthetic charged polymers and synthetics with large molecular brush structures [27]. Synthetic lubricin, synthetic mimics of lubricin, and recombinant lubricin have also been created to replenish lubricin lost at the beginning of cartilage degeneration before major structural cartilage changes have occurred [28]. These lubricin mimics bind HA to the cartilage surface, increasing boundary layer lubrication. Synthetic scaffolds for directing cartilage tissue repair will be covered in the scaffold section.

## Cell Types for Cartilage Repair

Different cell sources are available to provide reparative tissue including differentiated cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), and embryonic progenitor cells. Chondrocytes and MSCs are the two most investigated cell sources for cartilage tissue engineering. Chondrocytes can be isolated from tissue biopsies and cultured ex vivo to achieve the required cell number for engineering new tissue. Chondrocytes have been expanded ex vivo for clinical applications as a US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved therapy [17]. However, a major limitation of chondrocytes is their need to be expanded because of the small amount of cartilage that can be biopsied and the tendency of the chondrocytes to dedifferentiate rapidly in monolayer culture during expansion [29,30]. Tissue culture material and scaffold type can influence chondrocyte phenotype. Culturing cells on hard, flat surfaces results in a loss of the typical chondrocyte rounded morphology, decreased cartilage-specific gene expression, and increased fibrotic gene expression [31]. Three-dimensional (3D) culture and scaffolds preserve the round shape and chondrocyte phenotype to promote chondrocytes in monolayer culture [32,33].

MSCs represent an alternative to chondrocytes as a cell source for cartilage tissue engineering [34]. MSCs have the advantage of being able to be expanded in vitro in an undifferentiated state while retaining the ability to differentiate after exposure to suitable stimuli [35]. Like chondrocytes, a 3D culture environment for cartilage engineering with MSCs is superior to monolayer culture. Winter et al. compared chondrogenic gene expression and morphology from MSCs derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue [36]. That study demonstrated only partial cell differentiation in monolayer culture; however, bone marrow-derived MSCs showed improved chondrogenesis in 3D culture. In addition to their ability to differentiate into chondrocytes, MSCs have immunomodulatory properties, can migrate to sites of inflammation, and can modulate lymphocyte cell function through several growth factors and cytokines including transforming growth factor- $\beta 1$  (TGF- $\beta 1$ ), nitric oxide, and interleukin-10 (IL-10) [37]. This immunomodulation is especially important when considering the destructive environment in which a cartilage construct is likely to be implanted. MSC therapies for OA are undergoing clinical trials, but not many long-term results are available. Therapies being tested include injection of MSCs isolated from different sources, MSC injection with additional biological factors, and injection of ex vivo expanded MSCs [38]. A clinical trial of bone marrowderived MSC injections showed improved Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Arthritis Index scoring over 1 year after treatment, indicating decreased pain and increased function. In addition, X-ray and magnetic resonance imaging findings indicated that MSC treatment may halt the progression of cartilage loss [39]. However, a common problem with MSC therapy is the poor delivery and retention of MSCs at the cartilage defect site. There are preclinical models aimed at optimizing MSC delivery; however, most clinical trials inject MSCs free of scaffold [38].

## **Bioscaffolds in Cartilage Repair**

Tissue engineering scaffolds are designed to provide a 3D environment to support and direct cellular processes in their migration, proliferation, and differentiation toward functional tissue. Scaffolds can be applied with cells; however, applying scaffold without cells is becoming more attractive because cell therapy is more costly. The selection of bioscaffolds for cartilage engineering requires complex mechanical properties that can support cellular functions, biocompatibility, capability of waste and nutrient transport, and sufficient structural integrity for joint reconstruction. Both natural and synthetic materials have been applied as cartilage tissue engineering scaffolds in a variety of forms, including fibrous structures, porous sponges, woven or nonwoven meshes, and hydrogels.

## Natural Scaffolds

## Collagen

53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

Collagen is the primary structural protein found in both bone and cartilage [40,41]. As such, collagen-based scaffolds are theoretically capable of supporting chondrocyte attachment and function. They are also biocompatible and biodegradable. Collagen scaffolds have been used in a wide variety of forms such as gels, membranes, and sponges into which cells and/or bioactive factors may be introduced [42,43]. Pieper et al. employed a crosslinked porous type II collagen sponge to support the proliferation and differentiation of chondrocytes under cell culture condition up to 14 days [42]. Yokoyama et al. cultured MSCs in a collagen gel matrix in a chondrogenic medium supplemented with bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2), (TGF- $\beta$ 3), and dexamethasone [44]. The constructs were characterized by a downregulation of type I collagen and upregulation of type II collagen and the cartilage-related proteoglycans aggrecan, biglycan, and decorin. The maximum size of cartilaginous tissue produced was 7 mm in diameter and 0.5 mm in thickness, still too small for partial-thickness cartilage repair. These cell-based studies indicate some of the disadvantages of collagen scaffolds. Collagen gels allow for uniform mixing of cells and matrix, and for extensive molding and shaping of tissue, but they tend to be fragile until new matrix is laid down. Solid collagen scaffolds such as membranes or sponges exhibit greater initial mechanical strength, but at the cost of less flexibility in shaping and a greater risk of nonuniform cell seeding. Collagen remains a useful scaffold with which to study 3D cell culture, but these disadvantages noted weigh against its use in clinical applications.

## Hyaluronic Acid

HA is a polysaccharide that is naturally found in the ECM of articular cartilage and in synovial fluid; it is responsible for the high lubricity of the cartilage surface. It is composed of alternating residues of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine and p-glucuronic acid. As with collagen, interest focused on HA as a potential scaffold for cartilage engineering results from its intimate association with chondrocytes in vivo. Intraarticular HA injection has been used to treat symptoms of OA with large world markets and sales and enhances cartilage lubrication and exerts many biologic effects on cells. HA has been shown to have a stimulatory effect on chondrocyte production of type II collagen and proteoglycan [45]. HA also has many immunomodulatory properties. HA less than 50 kDa is considered to be low-molecular weight (LMW), inflammatory HA; at  $10^3-10^4$  kDa and greater, it is antiinflammatory [46]. HA interacts with many cell receptors including receptor of hyaluronan-mediated motility, CD44, and the immunerelated receptors Toll-like *receptors* 2 and 4, giving it the ability to affect inflammation and cell migration, both of which are important aspects of wound healing [47]. It is also thought that LWM HA may provide a danger signal to immune cells to attract them to the site of tissue degeneration to aid in tissue debris clearance, which can damage tissue when occurring chronically [48]. These properties make HA a highly dynamic and important molecule to include in scaffold designs, especially considering that HA makes up a significant part of the chondrocyte pericellular matrix [49] Clinical trials using HA to treat OA have found variable results in the efficacy of HA to reduce OA progression. More research on how variation in different HA products such as molecular weight and cross-linking affects clinical outcome is needed to optimize HA therapeutic effect [50].

## Alginates

Alginates are polysaccharides derived from seaweed. They are composed of a family of linear mannuronate/ guluronate copolymers that differ in their specific sequences and overall compositions [51]. When exposed to a divalent cation (usually calcium, for the sake of biocompatibility), the linear alginate polymers ionically cross-link to form a porous hydrogel. This allows the uniform seeding of chondrocytes and bioactive factors within the alginate hydrogel, as well as their release, if desired, by exposure to a cation chelating agent such as ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid. Alginates may also be covalently modified to enhance properties such as cell adhesion [51–53] or to fix bioactive factors in place [54–56]. The clinical translation of alginates as in vivo scaffold for cartilage repair may be limited by the potential calcification of the constructs [56]. On the other hand, compared with the monolayer cell culture of chondrocytes, alginate matrices provide a convenient means to preserve or reestablish the characteristic chondrocyte phenotype and matrix production during in vitro expansion [57–60].

## Chitosan

Chitosan is a polysaccharide derived from chitin (found in arthropod exoskeletons) that has been partially or fully deacetylated. It is composed of linear chains of  $\beta$ -linked D-glucosamine residues. Chitosan has been studied as both a scaffold and a controlled delivery system for bioactive factors [61,62]. There is interest in chitosan as a cell delivery

vehicle because it demonstrates good biocompatibility, and some formulations exhibit the property of temperaturedependent gelation, in that they are liquid at room temperature but gel when exposed to physiological temperatures [63]. In addition, the degree of deacetylation of chitosan directly influences the degradation rate of the constructs as well as the host inflammatory response. A lower degree of deacetylation was associated with an increased degradation rate and host inflammatory response. Thermosetting chitosan constructs injected subcutaneously into nude mice supported chondrocyte growth and matrix production, although the constructs were mechanically inferior to native cartilage [62]. Chitosan constructs were also injected into osteochondral defects created in rabbit knees. Retention of the constructs in the defects was observed at 1 week despite full mobility and weight-bearing. BST-CarGel, a chitosan scaffold used in conjunction with microfracture, is in Phase III clinical testing in the United States and has been approved in several other countries including Australia, Canada, and most of Europe. This treatment resulted in improved lesion filling and cartilage repair quality compared with microfracture alone [64,65].

Composite scaffolds using chitosan combined with alginate and/or HA have also been investigated. Li et al. cultured HTB-94 chondrocytes in interconnected 3D porous chitosan–alginate scaffolds and found promoted cell proliferation and enhanced phenotype expression of chondrocytes in these scaffolds compared with chitosan-only scaffolds [66]. Yamane et al. observed higher cell adhesion, proliferation, and aggrecan synthesis in the HA-coated chitosan hybrid polymer fiber sheet than that in the chitosan fiber sheet [67]. Tan et al. developed injectable in situ–forming composite hydrogels consisting of chitosan and HA for cartilage tissue engineering [68]. Hsu et al. evaluated a chitosan–alginate–hyaluronate scaffold modified with a protein containing an arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD)-modified adhesion peptide motif [69]. It was noted that glycosaminoglycan and collagen synthesis was greater in the chitosan–alginate–HA–RGD scaffold compared with chitosan–alginate and chitosan–alginate–HA scaffolds.

## Synthetic Scaffolds

Bioscaffolds derived from natural materials are generally considered more favorable in terms of the biological response they can elicit from cells compared with synthetic scaffolds [70]. However, biological materials can be difficult to generate in large quantities with acceptable consistency and often exhibit poor mechanical characteristics [43]. Synthetic materials are generally less expensive than biologics and are created de novo and provide more precise control over the structural properties, mechanical properties, and rates of resorption with a great deal of batch-to-batch consistency [71].

The most common synthetic polymers and traditional tissue engineering scaffolds are polyglycolic acid (PGA), polylactic acid (PLA), polyethylene oxide, and various derivatives and copolymers based on these entities including poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) [43]. These biodegradable polymers have a long history of medical use and are able to be fabricated and processed in a variety of ways [19]. These materials serve as the basis of scaffolds for the adherence, growth, differentiation, and matrix production of chondrocytes or MSCs [72–75]. In general, the materials exhibit many beneficial properties for the production of engineered tissue: a high surface area to volume ratio if processed correctly, sufficient porosity to allow for nutrient and waste diffusion, the potential for surface modification, and the ability to control their degradation rate via selection and modification of their chemical composition [76]. In particular, the ability specifically to control the rate of degradation is important for scaffold survival in vivo. The scaffold must provide sufficient mechanical strength when first implanted, but it should optimally degrade at the same rate as new tissue generation. If degradation is too rapid, there is a risk of cell loss, scaffold failure, and inflammation and the death of surrounding tissue owing to the rapid release of acidic breakdown products [72,77]. Conversely, an overly slow rate of scaffold degradation would likely impede tissue incorporation. The question remains, how do we determine the replacement rate of the cartilage tissue? This depends on a number of factors including the scaffold itself, but more important, the age of the patient and the level of inflammation in the joint. Articular cartilage changes with age, including increased collagen cross-linking, decreased synthesis of type 2 collagen and aggrecan, and reduced tensile strength [78]. Moreover, senescent cells contribute to the poor reparative abilities of aging cartilage. Senescent cells do not divide but instead cause chronic inflammation in the aging tissue [79]. Chondrocytes can also become senescent, slowing down the rate of scaffold replacement with new cartilage, further affecting the rate of new tissue growth.

Synthetic scaffolds have been processed in a variety of configurations from preformed fibers, meshes, and membranes to photopolymerized injectable gels. Preformed solid scaffolds are seeded in vitro by incubation in a cell suspension. These scaffolds may be applied to large, shallow, or open defects. Li et al. manufactured an electrospun nanofibrous PLGA/poly-ε-caprolactone (PCL) amalgam to mimic the natural extracellular architecture of cartilage better [80]. Their study found that a nanofibrous scaffold was more favorable to promoting cell expansion and matrix deposition over microfibrous scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering [81]. Solid synthetic scaffolds have the

#### 53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

potential to be modified with natural materials to improve biological characteristics. Enhanced cell attachment and proliferation have been achieved in various composite scaffolds combining synthetic polymers with natural materials, including PLA sponge incorporated with cell-seeded alginate [82], PLGA or a poly-L-lactic acid sponge filled with collagen microsponge [83,84], macroporous PLGA scaffold conjugated with HA on the porous surface [85]. Generally, natural materials have difficulty making mechanically strong engineered cartilage with thickness comparable to partial-thickness and full-thickness articular cartilage defects. Chen et al. successfully prepared a unique composite web with adjustable thickness from 0.2 to 8 mm featuring web-like collagen microsponges formed in a mechanically strong knitted PLGA mesh [86].

Achieving adequate cell densities and uniform cell seeding continues to be challenging [72]. A considerable amount of work by our group and others has focused on liquid polymer solutions that are polymerized or cross-linked in situ after incorporating cells and bioactive factors. Such solutions allow the uniform incorporation of cells throughout the scaffold and the development of minimally invasive application techniques [87–89]. Finally, these in situ polymerizable solutions offer the possibility of precise control of the final shape and composition of the scaffold. For example, there has been considerable work by our group and others studying bilayered constructs in which one layer contains MSCs and the other contains chondrocytes, to approximate the cell–cell interactions that would occur in native tissue. Recapitulating the zonal architecture of native cartilage has also been investigated using sequentially photopolymerized hydrogel layers to generate an engineered tissue that more closely approximates normal cartilage [88,90–92].

Novel polymers based on self-assembling synthetic peptides have been studied as a potential scaffold with an internal microstructure closely resembling ECM for cartilage tissue engineering. These peptides spontaneously form hydrogels in response to changes in their environment, such as alterations in pH or ionic strength [93]. The nanofiber structure in these hydrogels is approximately three orders of magnitude smaller than that of most polymer fibers and more closely approximates the structure of native ECM. These materials have the potential for extensive modification by incorporating peptide domains that influence cell adhesion, differentiation, and proliferation [94]. 3D culture of chondrocytes in peptide hydrogels results in the maintenance of chondrocyte phenotype and secretion of cartilage-specific matrix, with increased proliferation and improved mechanical characteristics compared with chondrocytes cultured in agarose [93,95].

## **Biological Factors**

Growth factors, cytokines, protein gradients, cell-cell interactions, and ECM-cell interactions control cellular differentiation, migration, adhesion, and gene expression. How growth factors control cartilage development, maintenance, and changes during diseased states has been investigated intensively. The primary growth factor families that control cartilage homeostasis are the TGF-ß superfamily, BMPs within the TGF-ß superfamily, insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs). The role of each of these factors in cartilage growth and homeostasis, as well as effects on stem cells, is varied and diverse. TGF- $\beta$  and IGF generally exert anabolic effects on chondrocytes including inducing increased type II collagen and glycosaminoglycan synthesis, maintaining chondrocyte phenotype, and promoting chondrocytes proliferation, whereas FGF suppresses proteoglycan synthesis and encourages chondrocytes to take a fibroblast morphology [96]. Although TGF- $\beta$  signaling generally maintains chondrocyte phenotype and encourages chondrocyte growth, TGF- $\beta$  signaling is altered in OA, resulting in deleterious effects [97]. Both TGF- $\beta$  and BMP-2 induce human embryonic stem cells to undergo chondrogenic differentiation [98]. Consequently, cell choice will influence the choice of growth factors applied to an engineered cartilage construct, or vice versa. Most growth factor-only related approaches to preventing cartilage loss involve modulating either anabolism or catabolism of the cartilage tissue and/or inhibiting proinflammatory cytokine signaling. Examples include intraarticular injection of TGF-β, IL-1β inhibitors, and matrix metalloproteinase-13 inhibitors [99,100]. However, the diverse roles of growth factors cause difficulty in attempting to implement them in cartilage engineering. For example, BMP-2 causes chondrogenic differentiation in early embryonic distal digit formation, but it causes cell death in a later phase [101,102]. Some anabolic growth factors may cause osteophytes in OA or do not induce a response in older cells, or they may not be enough to combat the degratory enzymes present in a diseased joint [103]. There are also additional signaling molecules, integrins, which are molecules that span the cell membrane and connect the cell cytoskeleton to the ECM. This allows the cell environment, including material stiffness and mechanical forces, to influence cell morphology, migration, and signal transmission [104].

Growth factors can also be broadly administered to a cartilage defect via platelet-rich plasma (PRP), an autologous blood product containing platelet-derived growth factors. PRP contains TGF-β1, IGF-1, vascular endothelial growth factor, and platelet-derived growth factor. PRP can be made with or without leukocytes. The mechanism of how PRP coordinates an antiinflammatory, proliferative, or remodeling response in cartilage is unknown but is thought to result from stimulating cell proliferation, migration, and matrix synthesis [105,106]. Despite the lack of FDA approval, the components that form PRP are approved, and PRP has been used in cartilage defects clinically, in many cases combined with microfracture or scaffolds [107]. There are many proposed mechanism of action for PRP, including that the growth factors secreted by platelets are responsible for at least part of the cartilage repair and pain relief; however, more research is needed to define PRP's mechanism of action further [108]. Once a mechanism is defined, it will be easier to optimize PRP to treat OA.

Biological scaffolds composed solely of tissue ECM and formed into particles also show benefits in reducing OA progression in animal models. Treatment of diseased joints with biological particles exhibited decreased IL-6 and IL-1β and increased type II collagen and aggrecan expression [109,110]. ECM and PRP demonstrate the power in leveraging nature in engineering. Discovering exactly how these therapies work will be pivotal in determining concentrations and ratios of growth factors and ECM components that are needed for cartilage regeneration, which remain unknown. A final consideration for the use of growth factors in engineering cartilage is the difficulty in their administration. Because most growth factors have limited half-lives, it is difficult to achieve therapeutic concentrations at sites of cartilage damage. Gene therapy techniques are being developed to deliver therapeutic genes encoding necessary gene products to cells at the site of cartilage injury to synthesize biological factors of interest for sustained local expression [111]. In contrast to measuring and monitoring growth factor administration, gene transfer provides a local and sustained supply of bioactive proteins. Gene therapy has encountered obstacles with delivery methods; however, upon development of a reliable delivery technique, genetic engineering may interface with tissue engineering [112].

## Bioreactors

A fundamental characteristic of many musculoskeletal tissues is their responsiveness to mechanical stimuli [113]. Articular cartilage is subject to complex forces through its range of motion, including shear, compression, and hydrostatic pressure. These forces affect the growth and functioning of chondrocytes via direct cell deformation, alteration of cellular microenvironment, alteration of cell—matrix interactions, and enhanced mass transport within the matrix [30]. Mechanical stimulation influences chondrocyte morphology, biochemistry, and biomechanical and electrochemical properties, including upregulating chondrocyte expression of aggrecan and type II collagen synthesis compared with chondrocytes grown in a static environment [114,115]. These factors imply that developing a transplantable piece of cartilage in vitro will be more successful in a 3D bioreactor than in a 2D culture system, which will be discussed further [116]. High cell densities within a scaffold (on the order of  $20-100 \times 10^6$  cells/ml) are also needed to create a transplantable piece of cartilage in vitro [72]. The need for high cell density and 3D culturing can lead to potential problems with nutrient and waste transport, particularly as the constructs get larger and more matrix is deposited. Static culture that relies on passive diffusion of nutrients and waste may be inadequate to serve the needs of metabolically active tissue.

To enhance the biochemical and mechanical properties of engineered cartilage tissues before implantation, bioreactors have been developed to provide adequate mass transfer and mechanical stimulation. Culture of chondrocytes in 3D bioreactors is also beneficial for measuring the effect of mass flow and dynamic mechanical loading on cartilage formation in an isolated manner [117]. Various bioreactor systems have been applied, including rotating-wall vessel, direct perfusion bioreactor, compression bioreactor, and spinner flask [118]. These configurations are illustrated in Fig. 53.2 [119]. Pei et al. cultured bovine chondrocytes in a variety of preformed scaffolds in static conditions and in a rotating bioreactor system [120]. Constructs cultivated in the rotating bioreactor system demonstrated more uniform cell seeding, greater cell numbers, and enhanced chondrogenesis compared with their static counterparts. Raimondi et al. used a novel forced-perfusion bioreactor system to expose the inner portions of their chondrocyte constructs to bulk fluid flow and hydrodynamic stresses, as opposed to rotating bioreactors that expose the surface only to fluid stresses and convective mass transport [121]. The constructs cultivated in this bioreactor also demonstrated greater cell proliferation and better structural integrity than in static conditions. Vunjak-Novakovic et al. demonstrated that dynamic laminar flow patterns on chondrocytes grown on a PGA scaffold resulted in higher fractions of collagen and glycosaminoglycan and improved mechanical and electromechanical properties compared with chondrocytes grown in static culture or turbulent flow conditions [114]. Kisiday et al. used alternating-day mechanostimulation on chondrocytes to increase proteoglycan accumulation [95]. Waldman et al. compared shear with compression stimulation and demonstrated a greater effect on ECM molecule synthesis with shear forces [122]. Increased ECM translates to an increased load-bearing capacity and stiffness by the cartilage

#### 53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

Bioreactor type	General descriptions	Mass transfer mechanism	Shear stress	Special usage	Tissue	Considerations
Static culture	Batch culture with no flow of nutrient	Diffusion (high)	Very low	Cell proliferation	_	Homogeneous structure of cell constructs and nutrient diffusion limitations
Stirred flasks	Magnetically stirring of medium	Convection (high)	High	Dynamic seeding of scaffolds	Cartilage	Appropriate scaffold and balance between increasing mass transfer and modulating shear stresses
Rotating wall	Rotating at a speed so the construcsts in the reactor are maintained "stationary" in a state of continuous free fall	Convection (high)	Low	Tissue constructs which need dynamic laminar flow	Cartilage, bone and skin	Operating conditions (e.g., speed of rotating) especially for growing large tissue mass
Perfusion	Flow of medium over or through a cell population or bed of cells	Convection (moderate) and diffusion (high)	Moderate	Tissues physicochemicaly and environmentally relevant to human tissues	Epithelial cells, intestinal, bone, cartilage, and arteries	Seeding and attachment of human cells especially within the scaffold body

**FIGURE 53.2** Comparison of tissue engineering bioreactors. *Reprinted from Salehi-Nik N, Amoabediny G, Pouran B, Tabesh H, Shokrgozar MA, Haghighipour N, et al. Engineering parameters in bioreactor's design: a critical aspect in tissue engineering. BioMed Res Int 2013;2013:762132. Copyright (2013) by Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Open access.* 

construct [114,122,123]. Nevertheless, high shear conditions promote apoptosis in chondrocytes, resulting in matrix degradation [124].

Hung et al. demonstrated that mechanical stimulation affected gene expression and biochemical and mechanical properties of bovine articular chondrocytes cultured in agarose. It was shown that the effect was proportional to the frequency of stimulation (which varied between 0.005 and 1 Hz) and was synergistic with TGF-1 and IGF-1 [113]. Benya theorized that dynamic stimulation maintains the chondrocyte's round cell shape, which promotes protein synthesis [32]. Shieh and Athanasiou proposed a number of cellular methods for mechanotransduction [1]: transduction of biochemical signals in chondrocytes by changing physicochemistry including the osmotic pressure, pH, fluid flow, and electric potential of the matrix environment [2]; conformational change of ion pumps and channels [3] via integrins that mediate cell—matrix interaction [4]; nuclear deformation changes in the nuclear pore complex influencing DNA available for transcription; and [5] deformation of the cytoskeleton [125]. Further clarification of the signaling pathways involved in mechanotransduction could yield better design of therapies for cartilage repair.

Additive manufacturing technologies have also reached the field of cartilage tissue engineering, in which 3D printing has been employed to create customizable scaffold designs. These 3D printed scaffolds can be used to grow and differentiate cells for tissue engineering, similar to scaffolds processed with more traditional methods. Pati et al. printed decellularized cartilage matrix seeded with human adipose-derived stem cells onto a PCL framework and found satisfactory cell viability and type 2 collagen expression. In addition, cartilage ECM provided a superior microenvironment for cell proliferation over other printable materials including alginate [126]. Because decellularized ECM maintains its complex microstructure, it is likely to become a popular material for 3D printing combined with synthetic materials to provide improved mechanical properties.

Combining mechanical stimulation of chondrocytes with growth factor administration enhances matrix synthesis to a greater degree than either variable alone. Mauck et al. demonstrated that dynamic deformational loading combined with TGF-1 or IGF-1 increased ECM production in a 3D scaffold [123]. The synergy may be a result of mechanical compression causing increased transport and accessibility of growth factors [125]. In addition, Bhumiratana et al. showed that culturing human MSCs (hMSCs) in a well with the addition of TGF- $\beta$  enabled the hMSCs to condense into cellular bodies [127]. These cell bodies were induced to fuse and form centimeter-sized, mechanically functional cartilage that fused and integrated with bone scaffold. These mesenchymal cell bodies were also tested for their ability to fill a cartilage defect, in which they fully integrated with the existing cartilage owing to collagen II and aggrecan. Moreover, Eng et al. constructed intricate 3D hydrogels designed to predict chemotactic directions of cell migration in MSC and endothelial cell cocultures [128]. Just as sequential administration of growth factors increases chondrocyte proliferation, the investigation of mechanical stimulation and growth factor administration timing could yield future advancements in cartilage engineering [129].

## **Translation of Cartilage Tissue Engineering**

## **Preclinical Translation**

There are many important aspects to consider in designing preclinical ("in vivo") studies for translating engineered scaffolds/cell/peptide therapies, including the clinical indication, animal, and disease model. The type of therapy will also dictate the study design and approach. For example, initial studies for cell-seeded scaffolds often start with simple subcutaneous implantation to examine their ability to generate cartilaginous tissue in vivo. If these studies show that the in vivo environment and tissue scaffold are not hostile to the development of cartilage and osteochondral tissues, the therapy is then tested in the target tissue to determine therapeutic efficacy.

The choice of animal model and the application of the material are crucial to moving therapies to the clinic successfully. For example, if an engineered cartilage construct is intended to fill articular cartilage defects, it is likely that the person receiving the cartilage construct will have OA or some chronic inflammation. Thus, not only is the promotion of new cartilage formation and lack of rejection by the animal important, because the presence of disease will have many implications for the success of the therapy, preclinical testing of materials needs to take into account the disease state. In the case of OA, there are several mouse as well as rat and guinea pig models of OA requiring mechanical loading of the knee joint, transecting the ACL or meniscus, or injecting monoiodoacetate to induce cartilage damage [130].

Animal models still have room to improve. Many therapies, such as *inducible nitric oxide synthase* inhibitors and COX inhibitors, were shown to decrease cartilage lesions and osteophytes in separate OA animal models but did not show clinical efficacy in humans [131]. This problem may be partly because most preclinical testing is performed early in OA disease progression; however, people treated clinically are in late-stage OA. Also, animals used experimentally are generally young adults as opposed to most patients with OA, who are adults aged over 60 years [131]. Studies evaluating the biological differences in OA between young and old animals are needed to advance the utility of animal models in screening therapies.

## **Clinical Translation**

There are many different cartilage bioengineering therapies in clinical testing. Most therapies consist of scaffold alone or scaffold plus cells (MSCs or chondrocytes), MSC-only therapies, PRP injections, and viscosupplementation [132]. ACI is meant for localized cartilage injuries and applies the patient's own expanded chondrocytes in solution to the defect under a surgically closed periosteal flap [16,17]. This allows the autologous articular chondrocytes to synthesize new cartilaginous matrix in the defect site. ACI is clinically approved (Carticel), but the clinical outcomes of the standard ACI methods have disadvantages including donor-site morbidity, risk for leakage of transplanted chondrocytes, complexity of the surgical procedure [133], uneven distribution of the cell suspension in the transplanted site [134], periosteal hypertrophy [135], and dedifferentiation of the chondrocyte phenotype during
#### 53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

in vitro monolayer culture [32,136]. These problems prompted matrix-induced ACI (MACI), second-generation ACI to be developed. MACI involves applying cell-seeded constructs instead of cell suspensions for cartilage repair. Vericel MACI therapy has been approved clinically by the FDA and is the first autologous cellularized scaffold approved in the United States for the repair of cartilage defects. This MACI technique uses an implant with a bioresorbable type I/III collagen membrane with approximately 1,000,000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup>. This therapy has been found to improve the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score more significantly than microfracture but to have similar histological repair outcomes in Phase III clinical testing [137].

Variations of the MACI approach include a technology in which the in vitro chondrocyte expansion was performed using a 3D scaffold made from modified HA [138]. The scaffold was then implanted into cartilage defects via a miniarthrotomy or arthroscopic approach. Their cohort includes 141 patients observed for 2–5 years. Their results appear impressive, with improvement in subjective symptoms reported in over 90% of patients. Second-look arthroscopy was performed in 55 patients, and the cartilage repair was graded as normal or near-normal in over 95% of these patients. Biopsies were taken in 22 of these 55 patients, which revealed a hyaline appearance in 12 of 22; the remainder were a mixed or fibrocartilaginous appearance. Histogenics has the most advanced engineered cartilage therapy in the United States. This MACI therapy, NeoCart, expands chondrocytes, after which they are seeded on a collagen scaffold that is matured in a bioreactor before implantation in a cartilage defect. In Phase III clinical testing in the United States, results demonstrate reduced pain, increased function, and imaging-confirmed defect filling with NeoCart treatment [139].

Biomaterials alone are also being implanted in conjunction with microfracture or other autologous cell or tissue sources for focal cartilage repair to provide a simplified off-the-shelf therapeutic. Various approaches have been developed to incorporate biomaterials with microfracture, e.g., using polymer scaffold combined with minced cartilage from a biopsy [140,141], implanting collagen membranes microfracture [142], and applying chitosan mixed with blood after microfracture [143,144]. These biomaterial-guided tissue repair methods may be more economical and provide an off-the-shelf therapy that is more efficacious than surgical intervention alone.

Achieving integration of engineered tissue with host cartilage is still a troublesome problem for cartilage reconstruction, especially for long-term cartilage repair [145]. Cartilage integration failure was common and probably caused by a variety of factors, including limited chondrocyte mobility in the cartilage extracellular matrix, chondrocyte cell death at the wound edge, chondrocyte dedifferentiation in the engineered tissue, the type of biomaterial scaffold, and the origin and stage of the cells used for cartilage tissue engineering. Corresponding solutions have been reported to enhance the construct, including cartilage integration by pretreating the cartilage interface enzymatically to break down collagenous matrix [146,147], inhibiting the chondrocyte death at the lesion edge [148], and using immature constructs instead of mature constructs [146]. We developed a mechanically strong biological glue to bridge native cartilage with biomaterial scaffolds [149]. This glue is based on chondroitin sulfate, a major component of the cartilage proteins. Using this glue, full integration was achieved in full-thickness chondral defects after marrow stimulation. Studies suggest that PRP can improve cartilage integration of explants [150,151] and that immunomodulation has an important role in successful explant integration.

#### CURRENT AND FUTURE TRENDS IN CARTILAGE ENGINEERING

These tissue engineering techniques show great potential advantages over conventional surgical options and are being applied to clinical practice intensively [152]. The ultimate aim of articular cartilage tissue engineering is to design an engineered tissue that can regenerate to hyaline cartilage with normal knee functions and integrate fully with the surrounding native cartilage. To date, no engineered tissue construct fulfills this criterion; thus, there is considerable ongoing work in various aspects of cartilage tissue engineering research from cell type to bioscaffold, biological factor, bioreactor, and tissue translation. It would be nearly impossible to summarize the vast body of this research in a single chapter, so the range of studies outlined here is necessarily only a brief summary of the past and current literature on selected topics.

The recurring theme throughout much of the current literature is that the engineered tissue has the histological appearance and biochemical makeup of cartilage of varying stages of maturation. However, it has been reported that mechanically, most of these constructs are inferior to native cartilage. As the basic techniques of chondrocyte, osteoblast, and MSC culture are elucidated, the focus is shifting toward improving the mechanical properties of engineered tissues. One concern is that, to achieve complete reconstruction of cartilage defects, the transplanted tissue can initially have mechanical strength inferior to native cartilage temporally to allow the tissue to mature

#### REFERENCES

and integrate to the surrounding cartilage ultimately under the in vivo environment. A large gap should be considered to exist between in vivo studies and in vitro testing and optimization for the clinical translation of engineered cartilage. In vitro methods should be standardized to provide clear results to develop successful clinical applications for cartilage tissue engineering [35]. Several important basic questions that remain to be answered: What are the optimal types, amounts, and timing of the growth factor milieu? Perhaps PRP will answer this question after further characterization. Will small molecular drugs work effectively for cartilage tissue engineering, because many biological factors are complex and exhibit delivery problems? In vitro models provide the isolated environment necessary to define genetic programming clearly and signaling pathways that are involved in chondrocyte maintenance fail to compensate for all the dysregulated signaling pathways in vivo, which will ultimately dictate the success or failure of a bioengineered therapy. More preclinical models of cartilage defects need to be used to determine the impact of the host environment on bioengineered therapies.

Other areas of intense scrutiny include exploring ways to implement complex tissue elements such as spatial organization and vasculature in engineered tissues. Work on osteochondral tissue generation has been discussed here. However, as the effects of 3D organization of tissues become more fully appreciated, there will be a need to regenerate those structures for the purposes of controlled laboratory study and clinical application. With the use of novel polymers that form hydrogels under controlled conditions, there is the potential for fine control of the shape of engineered tissue as well as the 3D spatial arrangement of heterogeneous cell populations within the scaffold. This has already been demonstrated using photolithographic methods to control hydrogel configuration and cellular organization [153]. A clinical application was demonstrated by Naumann et al., in which computer-aided design techniques were used to fashion an HA scaffold seeded with chondrocytes into the shape of a human ear. The construct demonstrated an acceptable shape as well as evidence of cartilage production in vitro, but mechanical properties were not tested [154]. Another clinical application of computer-assisted arthroplasty was shown by Sidler et al., in which a bony defect was made in the talus of a human cadaver ankle joint. The defect was then analyzed by computed tomography and an implant was fashioned using a computer-aided manufacturing device [155].

An overlooked aspect to cartilage engineering is the use of cytokines and manipulation of the immune cells that produce them. The immune system has typically been viewed as being responsible only for material rejection and tissue destruction, with immune suppression considered ideal. However, in light of work showing the importance of the innate and adaptive immune system in tissue repair, future work will most likely focus on modulating the immune system, not simply suppressing it.

OA treatments such as nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and steroids suppress the immune system and are widely used to reduce pain. However, neither reduces disease progression, which suggests that suppressing the immune system does not improve OA outcome. Harnessing macrophages and T cells for tissue regeneration would be a logical strategy, considering that they already have many functions in tissue remodeling. In addition, because T cell therapies are already used in other diseases such as cancer immunotherapy, they could be adapted for use in cartilage regeneration to guide macrophage polarization and direct the tissue repair process.

Of course, many more questions and challenges remain before the promise of tissue engineering is fully realized. The contributions of scientists in fields as diverse as cell and molecular biology, materials science, chemistry, and mathematics will be required to answer these questions.

# References

- [1] Temenoff JS, Mikos AG. Review: tissue engineering for regeneration of articular cartilage. Biomaterials March 2000;21(5):431-40.
- [2] Benjamin M, Ralphs JR. Biology of fibrocartilage cells. Int Rev Cytol 2004;233:1-45.
- [3] Prentice WE. Principles of athletic training: a competency-based approach [electronic textbook]. McGraw-Hill Global Education Holdings, LLC; 2014.
- [4] van Osch GJ, Brittberg M, Dennis JE, Bastiaansen-Jenniskens YM, Erben RG, Konttinen YT, et al. Cartilage repair: past and future–lessons for regenerative medicine. J Cell Mol Med May 2009;13(5):792–810.
- [5] Wieland HA, Michaelis M, Kirschbaum BJ, Rudolphi KA. Osteoarthritis an untreatable disease? Nat Rev Drug Discov April 2005;4(4): 331–44.
- [6] Sarzi-Puttini P, Cimmino MA, Scarpa R, Caporali R, Parazzini F, Zaninelli A, et al. Osteoarthritis: an overview of the disease and its treatment strategies. Semin Arthritis Rheum August 2005;35(1 Suppl 1):1–10.
- [7] Dillon CF, Rasch EK, Gu Q, Hirsch R. Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in the United States: arthritis data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1991-94. J Rheumatol November 2006;33(11):2271–9.
- [8] Xie F, Thumboo J, Fong KY, Lo NN, Yeo SJ, Yang KY, et al. Direct and indirect costs of osteoarthritis in Singapore: a comparative study among multiethnic Asian patients with osteoarthritis. J Rheumatol January 2007;34(1):165–71.
- [9] Furman BD, Olson SA, Guilak F. The development of posttraumatic arthritis after articular fracture. J Orthop Trauma November–December 2006;20(10):719–25.

#### 53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

- [10] Sokolove J, Lepus CM. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: latest findings and interpretations. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis April 2013;5(2):77–94.
- [11] Mithoefer K, Williams 3rd RJ, Warren RF, Potter HG, Spock CR, Jones EC, et al. Chondral resurfacing of articular cartilage defects in the knee with the microfracture technique. Surgical technique. J Bone Joint Surg Am September 2006;88(Suppl 1 Pt 2):294–304.
- [12] Makris EA, Gomoll AH, Malizos KN, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Repair and tissue engineering techniques for articular cartilage. Nat Rev Rheumatol January 2015;11(1):21–34.
- [13] Hangody L, Kish G, Karpati Z, Udvarhelyi I, Szigeti I, Bely M. Mosaicplasty for the treatment of articular cartilage defects: application in clinical practice. Orthopedics July 1998;21(7):751–6.
- [14] Hangody L, Feczko P, Bartha L, Bodo G, Kish G. Mosaicplasty for the treatment of articular defects of the knee and ankle. Clin Orthop Relat Res October 2001;(391 Suppl):S328–36.
- [15] Gudas R, Gudaite A, Pocius A, Gudiene A, Cekanauskas E, Monastyreckiene E, et al. Ten-year follow-up of a prospective, randomized clinical study of mosaic osteochondral autologous transplantation versus microfracture for the treatment of osteochondral defects in the knee joint of athletes. Am J Sports Med November 2012;40(11):2499–508.
- [16] Brittberg M. Autologous chondrocyte implantation-technique and long-term follow-up. Injury April 2008;39(Suppl 1):S40-9.
- [17] Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L. Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med October 6, 1994;331(14):889–95.
- [18] Mooney DJ, Mikos AG. Growing new organs. Sci Am April 1999;280(4):60-5.
- [19] Sharma B, Elisseeff JH. Engineering structurally organized cartilage and bone tissues. Ann Biomed Eng January 2004;32(1):148-59.
- [20] Peng Y, Martin DA, Kenkel J, Zhang K, Ogden CA, Elkon KB. Innate and adaptive immune response to apoptotic cells. J Autoimmun December 2007;29(4):303–9.
- [21] Otis JS, Niccoli S, Hawdon N, Sarvas JL, Frye MA, Chicco AJ, et al. Pro-inflammatory mediation of myoblast proliferation. PLoS One 2014; 9(3):e92363.
- [22] Frantz S, Vincent KA, Feron O, Kelly RA. Innate immunity and angiogenesis. Circ Res January 07, 2005;96(1):15–26.
- [23] Badylak SF, Valentin JE, Ravindra AK, McCabe GP, Stewart-Akers AM. Macrophage phenotype as a determinant of biologic scaffold remodeling. Tissue Eng Part A November 2008;14(11):1835–42.
- [24] Sadtler K, Estrellas K, Allen BW, Wolf MT, Fan H, Tam AJ, et al. Developing a pro-regenerative biomaterial scaffold microenvironment requires T helper 2 cells. Science April 15, 2016;352(6283):366–70.
- [25] Blanco FJ, Ruiz-Romero C. New targets for disease modifying osteoarthritis drugs: chondrogenesis and Runx1. Ann Rheum Dis May 2013; 72(5):631–4.
- [26] Singh A, Corvelli M, Unterman SA, Wepasnick KA, McDonnell P, Elisseeff JH. Enhanced lubrication on tissue and biomaterial surfaces through peptide-mediated binding of hyaluronic acid. Nat Mater October 2014;13(10):988–95.
- [27] Sadtler K. Design, clinical translation and immunological response of biomaterials in regenerative medicine. Nat Rev 2016;1.
- [28] Banquy X, Burdynska J, Lee DW, Matyjaszewski K, Israelachvili J. Bioinspired bottle-brush polymer exhibits low friction and Amontons-like behavior. J Am Chem Soc April 30, 2014;136(17):6199–202.
- [29] Darling EM, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Zonal and topographical differences in articular cartilage gene expression. J Orthop Res November 2004;22(6):1182–7.
- [30] Darling EM, Athanasiou KA. Rapid phenotypic changes in passaged articular chondrocyte subpopulations. J Orthop Res March 2005;23(2): 425–32.
- [31] Rosenzweig DH, Matmati M, Khayat G, Chaudhry S, Hinz B, Quinn TM. Culture of primary bovine chondrocytes on a continuously expanding surface inhibits dedifferentiation. Tissue Eng Part A December 2012;18(23–24):2466–76.
- [32] Benya PD, Shaffer JD. Dedifferentiated chondrocytes reexpress the differentiated collagen phenotype when cultured in agarose gels. Cell August 1982;30(1):215-24.
- [33] Freed LE, Marquis JC, Nohria A, Emmanual J, Mikos AG, Langer R. Neocartilage formation in vitro and in vivo using cells cultured on synthetic biodegradable polymers. J Biomed Mater Res January 1993;27(1):11–23.
- [34] Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science April 2, 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- [35] Song L, Baksh D, Tuan RS. Mesenchymal stem cell-based cartilage tissue engineering: cells, scaffold and biology. Cytotherapy 2004;6(6): 596-601.
- [36] Winter A, Breit S, Parsch D, Benz K, Steck E, Hauner H, et al. Cartilage-like gene expression in differentiated human stem cell spheroids: a comparison of bone marrow-derived and adipose tissue-derived stromal cells. Arthritis Rheum February 2003;48(2):418–29.
- [37] Zhao Q. Mesenchymal stem cells: immunomodulatory capability and clinical potential in immune dieases. Journal of Cellular Immunotherapy [Review] 2016.
- [38] Wyles CC, Houdek MT, Behfar A, Sierra RJ. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for osteoarthritis: current perspectives. Stem Cells Cloning 2015; 8:117–24.
- [39] Lamo-Espinosa JM, Mora G, Blanco JF, Granero-Molto F, Nunez-Cordoba JM, Sanchez-Echenique C, et al. Intra-articular injection of two different doses of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells versus hyaluronic acid in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial (phase I/II). J Transl Med August 26, 2016;14(1):246.
- [40] Eyre D. Collagen of articular cartilage. Arthritis Res 2002;4(1):30-5.
- [41] Eyre DR, Weis MA, Wu JJ. Articular cartilage collagen: an irreplaceable framework? Eur Cell Mater 2006;12:57-63.
- [42] Pieper JS, van der Kraan PM, Hafmans T, Kamp J, Buma P, van Susante JL, et al. Crosslinked type II collagen matrices: preparation, characterization, and potential for cartilage engineering. Biomaterials August 2002;23(15):3183–92.
- [43] Frenkel SR, Di Cesare PE. Scaffolds for articular cartilage repair. Ann Biomed Eng January 2004;32(1):26–34.
- [44] Yokoyama A, Sekiya I, Miyazaki K, Ichinose S, Hata Y, Muneta T. In vitro cartilage formation of composites of synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells with collagen gel. Cell Tissue Res November 2005;322(2):289–98.
- [45] Akmal M, Singh A, Anand A, Kesani A, Aslam N, Goodship A, et al. The effects of hyaluronic acid on articular chondrocytes. J Bone Joint Surg Br. August 2005;87(8):1143–9.

#### 948

- [46] Petrey AC, de la Motte CA. Hyaluronan, a crucial regulator of inflammation. Front Immunol 2014;5:101.
- [47] Litwiniuk M, Krejner A, Speyrer MS, Gauto AR, Grzela T. Hyaluronic acid in inflammation and tissue regeneration. Wounds March 2016; 28(3):78–88.
- [48] Collins SL, Black KE, Chan-Li Y, Ahn YH, Cole PA, Powell JD, et al. Hyaluronan fragments promote inflammation by down-regulating the anti-inflammatory A2a receptor. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol October 2011;45(4):675–83.
- [49] Gao Y, Liu S, Huang J, Guo W, Chen J, Zhang L, et al. The ECM-cell interaction of cartilage extracellular matrix on chondrocytes. BioMed Res Int 2014;2014:648459.
- [50] Rosen J. Clinicians' perspectives on the use of intra-articular hyaluronic acid as a treatment for knee osteoarthritis: a North American, multidisciplinary survey. Clinical medicine insights: arthritis and musculoskeletal disorders 2016.
- [51] Rowley JA, Madlambayan G, Mooney DJ. Alginate hydrogels as synthetic extracellular matrix materials. Biomaterials January 1999;20(1): 45–53.
- [52] Sultzbaugh KJ, Speaker TJ. A method to attach lectins to the surface of spermine alginate microcapsules based on the avidin biotin interaction. J Microencapsul July–August 1996;13(4):363–76.
- [53] Alsberg E, Anderson KW, Albeiruti A, Franceschi RT, Mooney DJ. Cell-interactive alginate hydrogels for bone tissue engineering. J Dent Res November 2001;80(11):2025–9.
- [54] Suzuki Y, Tanihara M, Suzuki K, Saitou A, Sufan W, Nishimura Y. Alginate hydrogel linked with synthetic oligopeptide derived from BMP-2 allows ectopic osteoinduction in vivo. J Biomed Mater Res June 5, 2000;50(3):405–9.
- [55] Gerard C, Catuogno C, Amargier-Huin C, Grossin L, Hubert P, Gillet P, et al. The effect of alginate, hyaluronate and hyaluronate derivatives biomaterials on synthesis of non-articular chondrocyte extracellular matrix. J Mater Sci Mater Med June 2005;16(6):541–51.
- [56] Ma HL, Chen TH, Low-Tone Ho L, Hung SC. Neocartilage from human mesenchymal stem cells in alginate: implied timing of transplantation. J Biomed Mater Res September 1, 2005;74(3):439–46.
- [57] Diduch DR, Jordan LC, Mierisch CM, Balian G. Marrow stromal cells embedded in alginate for repair of osteochondral defects. Arthroscopy September 2000;16(6):571–7.
- [58] Homicz MR, Chia SH, Schumacher BL, Masuda K, Thonar EJ, Sah RL, et al. Human septal chondrocyte redifferentiation in alginate, polyglycolic acid scaffold, and monolayer culture. Laryngoscope January 2003;113(1):25–32.
- [59] Chia SH, Homicz MR, Schumacher BL, Thonar EJ, Masuda K, Sah RL, et al. Characterization of human nasal septal chondrocytes cultured in alginate. J Am Coll Surg May 2005;200(5):691–704.
- [60] Hsieh-Bonassera ND, Wu I, Lin JK, Schumacher BL, Chen AC, Masuda K, et al. Expansion and redifferentiation of chondrocytes from osteoarthritic cartilage: cells for human cartilage tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A November 2009;15(11):3513–23.
- [61] Lee JE, Kim SE, Kwon IC, Ahn HJ, Cho H, Lee SH, et al. Effects of a chitosan scaffold containing TGF-beta1 encapsulated chitosan microspheres on in vitro chondrocyte culture. Artif Organs September 2004;28(9):829–39.
- [62] Hoemann CD, Hurtig M, Rossomacha E, Sun J, Chevrier A, Shive MS, et al. Chitosan-glycerol phosphate/blood implants improve hyaline cartilage repair in ovine microfracture defects. J Bone Joint Surg Am. December 2005;87(12):2671–86.
- [63] Chenite A, Chaput C, Wang D, Combes C, Buschmann MD, Hoemann CD, et al. Novel injectable neutral solutions of chitosan form biodegradable gels in situ. Biomaterials November 2000;21(21):2155–61.
- [64] Shive MS, Stanish WD, McCormack R, Forriol F, Mohtadi N, Pelet S, et al. BST-CarGel(R) treatment maintains cartilage repair superiority over microfracture at 5 Years in a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Cartilage April 2015;6(2):62–72.
- [65] Methot S. Osteochondral biopsy analysis demonstrates that BST-CarGel treatment improves structural and cellular characteristics of cartilage repair tissue compared with microfracture cartilage. 2015.
- [66] Li Z, Zhang M. Chitosan-alginate as scaffolding material for cartilage tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res November 1, 2005;75(2): 485–93.
- [67] Yamane S, Iwasaki N, Majima T, Funakoshi T, Masuko T, Harada K, et al. Feasibility of chitosan-based hyaluronic acid hybrid biomaterial for a novel scaffold in cartilage tissue engineering. Biomaterials February 2005;26(6):611–9.
- [68] Tan H, Chu CR, Payne KA, Marra KG. Injectable in situ forming biodegradable chitosan-hyaluronic acid based hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering. Biomaterials May 2009;30(13):2499–506.
- [69] Hsu SH, Whu SW, Hsieh SC, Tsai CL, Chen DC, Tan TS. Evaluation of chitosan-alginate-hyaluronate complexes modified by an RGD-containing protein as tissue-engineering scaffolds for cartilage regeneration. Artif Organs August 2004;28(8):693–703.
- [70] Hubbell JA. Materials as morphogenetic guides in tissue engineering. Curr Opin Biotechnol October 2003;14(5):551-8.
- [71] Drury JL, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. Biomaterials November 2003;24(24): 4337–51.
- [72] Lu L, Zhu X, Valenzuela RG, Currier BL, Yaszemski MJ. Biodegradable polymer scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Clin Orthop Relat Res October 2001;(391 Suppl):S251–70.
- [73] Riley SL, Dutt S, De La Torre R, Chen AC, Sah RL, Ratcliffe A. Formulation of PEG-based hydrogels affects tissue-engineered cartilage construct characteristics. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2001 ;12(10–12):983–90.
- [74] Lynn AK, Brooks RA, Bonfield W, Rushton N. Repair of defects in articular joints. Prospects for material-based solutions in tissue engineering. J Bone Joint Surg Br. November 2004;86(8):1093–9.
- [75] Klein AM, Graham VL, Gulleth Y, Lafreniere D. Polyglycolic acid/poly-L-lactic acid copolymer use in laryngotracheal reconstruction: a rabbit model. Laryngoscope April 2005;115(4):583–7.
- [76] Muschler GF, Nakamoto C, Griffith LG. Engineering principles of clinical cell-based tissue engineering. J Bone Joint Surg Am July 2004; 86-A(7):1541–58.
- [77] Liu H, Slamovich EB, Webster TJ. Less harmful acidic degradation of poly(lacticco-glycolic acid) bone tissue engineering scaffolds through titania nanoparticle addition. Int J Nanomedicine 2006;1(4):541-5.
- [78] Martin JA, Buckwalter JA. The role of chondrocyte senescence in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis and in limiting cartilage repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003;85-A(Suppl 2):106–10.
- [79] Toh WS, Brittberg M, Farr J, Foldager CB, Gomoll AH, Hui JH, et al. Cellular senescence in aging and osteoarthritis. Acta Orthop September 23, 2016:1–9.

#### 53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

- [80] Li WJ, Laurencin CT, Caterson EJ, Tuan RS, Ko FK. Electrospun nanofibrous structure: a novel scaffold for tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res June 15, 2002;60(4):613–21.
- [81] Li WJ, Jiang YJ, Tuan RS. Chondrocyte phenotype in engineered fibrous matrix is regulated by fiber size. Tissue Eng July 2006;12(7):1775–85.
- [82] Caterson EJ, Nesti LJ, Li WJ, Danielson KG, Albert TJ, Vaccaro AR, et al. Three-dimensional cartilage formation by bone marrow-derived cells seeded in polylactide/alginate amalgam. J Biomed Mater Res December 5, 2001;57(3):394–403.
- [83] Hsu SH, Chang SH, Yen HJ, Whu SW, Tsai CL, Chen DC. Evaluation of biodegradable polyesters modified by type II collagen and Arg-Gly-Asp as tissue engineering scaffolding materials for cartilage regeneration. Artif Organs January 2006;30(1):42–55.
- [84] Chen G, Sato T, Ushida T, Ochiai N, Tateishi T. Tissue engineering of cartilage using a hybrid scaffold of synthetic polymer and collagen. Tissue Eng 2004 ;10(3–4):323–30.
- [85] Yoo HS, Lee EA, Yoon JJ, Park TG. Hyaluronic acid modified biodegradable scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Biomaterials May 2005; 26(14):1925–33.
- [86] Chen G, Sato T, Ushida T, Hirochika R, Shirasaki Y, Ochiai N, et al. The use of a novel PLGA fiber/collagen composite web as a scaffold for engineering of articular cartilage tissue with adjustable thickness. J Biomed Mater Res December 15, 2003;67(4):1170–80.
- [87] Sims CD, Butler PE, Casanova R, Lee BT, Randolph MA, Lee WP, et al. Injectable cartilage using polyethylene oxide polymer substrates. Plast Reconstr Surg October 1996;98(5):843–50.
- [88] Elisseeff J, Anseth K, Sims D, McIntosh W, Randolph M, Langer R. Transdermal photopolymerization for minimally invasive implantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A March 16, 1999;96(6):3104–7.
- [89] Xu JW, Zaporojan V, Peretti GM, Roses RE, Morse KB, Roy AK, et al. Injectable tissue-engineered cartilage with different chondrocyte sources. Plast Reconstr Surg April 15, 2004;113(5):1361–71.
- [90] Nettles DL, Vail TP, Morgan MT, Grinstaff MW, Setton LA. Photocrosslinkable hyaluronan as a scaffold for articular cartilage repair. Ann Biomed Eng March 2004;32(3):391–7.
- [91] Mercier NR, Costantino HR, Tracy MA, Bonassar LJ. A novel injectable approach for cartilage formation in vivo using PLG microspheres. Ann Biomed Eng March 2004;32(3):418–29.
- [92] Alhadlaq A, Elisseeff JH, Hong L, Williams CG, Caplan AI, Sharma B, et al. Adult stem cell driven genesis of human-shaped articular condyle. Ann Biomed Eng July 2004;32(7):911–23.
- [93] Kisiday J, Jin M, Kurz B, Hung H, Semino C, Zhang S, et al. Self-assembling peptide hydrogel fosters chondrocyte extracellular matrix production and cell division: implications for cartilage tissue repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A July 23, 2002;99(15):9996–10001.
- [94] Holmes TC. Novel peptide-based biomaterial scaffolds for tissue engineering. Trends Biotechnol January 2002;20(1):16–21.
- [95] Kisiday JD, Jin M, DiMicco MA, Kurz B, Grodzinsky AJ. Effects of dynamic compressive loading on chondrocyte biosynthesis in self-assembling peptide scaffolds. J Biomech May 2004;37(5):595–604.
- [96] Mollon B, Kandel R, Chahal J, Theodoropoulos J. The clinical status of cartilage tissue regeneration in humans. Osteoarthritis Cartilage December 2013;21(12):1824–33.
- [97] van der Kraan PM. Age-related alterations in TGF beta signaling as a causal factor of cartilage degeneration in osteoarthritis. Bio Med Mater Eng 2014;24(1 Suppl):75–80.
- [98] Toh WS, Yang Z, Liu H, Heng BC, Lee EH, Cao T. Effects of culture conditions and bone morphogenetic protein 2 on extent of chondrogenesis from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell April 2007;25(4):950–60.
- [99] Martel-Pelletier J, Wildi LM, Pelletier JP. Future therapeutics for osteoarthritis. Bone August 2012;51(2):297-311.
- [100] Blaney Davidson EN, van der Kraan PM, van den Berg WB. TGF-beta and osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage June 2007;15(6):597-604.
- [101] Zou H, Niswander L. Requirement for BMP signaling in interdigital apoptosis and scale formation. Science May 3, 1996;272(5262):738-41.
- [102] Caplan AI. Embryonic development and the principles of tissue engineering. Novartis Found Symp 2003;249:17–25. discussion -33, 170-4, 239-41.
- [103] Martel-Pelletier J. Is osteoarthritis a disease involving only cartilage or other articular tissues? Joint Diseases and Related surgery. Review 2010;21(1):2–14.
- [104] Bottaro DP, Liebmann-Vinson A, Heidaran MA. Molecular signaling in bioengineered tissue microenvironments. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2002 Jun;961:143–53.
- [105] Laudy AB, Bakker EW, Rekers M, Moen MH. Efficacy of platelet-rich plasma injections in osteoarthritis of the knee: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med May 2015;49(10):657–72.
- [106] Zhu Y, Yuan M, Meng HY, Wang AY, Guo QY, Wang Y, et al. Basic science and clinical application of platelet-rich plasma for cartilage defects and osteoarthritis: a review. Osteoarthritis Cartilage November 2013;21(11):1627–37.
- [107] Marmotti A, Rossi R, Castoldi F, Roveda E, Michielon G, Peretti GM. PRP and articular cartilage: a clinical update. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015: 542502.
- [108] Xie X, Zhang C, Tuan RS. Biology of platelet-rich plasma and its clinical application in cartilage repair. Arthritis Res Ther February 25, 2014; 16(1):204.
- [109] Jacobs HN, Rathod S, Wolf MT, Elisseeff JH. Intra-articular injection of urinary bladder matrix reduces osteoarthritis development. AAPS J October 24, 2016:141–9.
- [110] Willett NJ, Thote T, Lin AS, Moran S, Raji Y, Sridaran S, et al. Intra-articular injection of micronized dehydrated human amnion/chorion membrane attenuates osteoarthritis development. Arthritis Res Ther 2014;16(1):R47.
- [111] Steinert AF, Noth U, Tuan RS. Concepts in gene therapy for cartilage repair. Injury April 2008;39(Suppl 1):S97-113.
- [112] Nussenbaum B, Teknos TN, Chepeha DB. Tissue engineering: the current status of this futuristic modality in head neck reconstruction. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg August 2004;12(4):311–5.
- [113] Hung CT, Mauck RL, Wang CC, Lima EG, Ateshian GA. A paradigm for functional tissue engineering of articular cartilage via applied physiologic deformational loading. Ann Biomed Eng January 2004;32(1):35–49.
- [114] Vunjak-Novakovic G, Martin I, Obradovic B, Treppo S, Grodzinsky AJ, Langer R, et al. Bioreactor cultivation conditions modulate the composition and mechanical properties of tissue-engineered cartilage. J Orthop Res January 1999;17(1):130–8.
- [115] Vunjak-Novakovic G, Obradovic B, Martin I, Freed LE. Bioreactor studies of native and tissue engineered cartilage. Biorheology 2002; 39(1–2):259–68.

- [116] Chen C, Tambe DT, Deng L, Yang L. Biomechanical properties and mechanobiology of the articular chondrocyte. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol December 15, 2013;305(12):C1202-8.
- [117] Demarteau O, Jakob M, Schafer D, Heberer M, Martin I. Development and validation of a bioreactor for physical stimulation of engineered cartilage. Biorheology 2003;40(1–3):331–6.
- [118] Concaro S, Gustavson F, Gatenholm P. Bioreactors for tissue engineering of cartilage. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 2009;112:125–43.
- [119] Salehi-Nik N, Amoabediny G, Pouran B, Tabesh H, Shokrgozar MA, Haghighipour N, et al. Engineering parameters in bioreactor's design: a critical aspect in tissue engineering. BioMed Res Int 2013;2013:762132.
- [120] Pei M, Solchaga LA, Seidel J, Zeng L, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Caplan AI, et al. Bioreactors mediate the effectiveness of tissue engineering scaffolds. FASEB J October 2002;16(12):1691–4.
- [121] Raimondi MT, Boschetti F, Falcone L, Fiore GB, Remuzzi A, Marinoni E, et al. Mechanobiology of engineered cartilage cultured under a quantified fluid-dynamic environment. Biomech Model Mechanobiol. June 2002;1(1):69–82.
- [122] Waldman SD, Spiteri CG, Grynpas MD, Pilliar RM, Hong J, Kandel RA. Effect of biomechanical conditioning on cartilaginous tissue formation in vitro. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003;85-A(Suppl 2):101–5.
- [123] Mauck RL, Nicoll SB, Seyhan SL, Ateshian GA, Hung CT. Synergistic action of growth factors and dynamic loading for articular cartilage tissue engineering. Tissue Eng August 2003;9(4):597–611.
- [124] Healy ZR, Lee NH, Gao X, Goldring MB, Talalay P, Kensler TW, et al. Divergent responses of chondrocytes and endothelial cells to shear stress: cross-talk among COX-2, the phase 2 response, and apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A September 27, 2005;102(39):14010–5.
- [125] Shieh AC, Athanasiou KA. Principles of cell mechanics for cartilage tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng January 2003;31(1):1–11.
- [126] Pati F, Jang J, Ha DH, Won Kim S, Rhie JW, Shim JH, et al. Printing three-dimensional tissue analogues with decellularized extracellular matrix bioink. Nat Commun June 02, 2014;5:3935.
- [127] Bhumiratana S, Eton RE, Oungoulian SR, Wan LQ, Ateshian GA, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Large, stratified, and mechanically functional human cartilage grown in vitro by mesenchymal condensation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A May 13, 2014;111(19):6940–5.
- [128] Eng G, Lee BW, Parsa H, Chin CD, Schneider J, Linkov G, et al. Assembly of complex cell microenvironments using geometrically docked hydrogel shapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A March 19, 2013;110(12):4551–6.
- [129] Darling EM, Athanasiou KA. Biomechanical strategies for articular cartilage regeneration. Ann Biomed Eng October 2003;31(9):1114–24.
- [130] Fang H, Beier F. Mouse models of osteoarthritis: modelling risk factors and assessing outcomes. Nat Rev Rheumatol July 2014;10(7):413-21.
- [131] Malfait AM, Little CB. On the predictive utility of animal models of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther September 14, 2015;17:225.
- [132] Kon E, Roffi A, Filardo G, Tesei G, Marcacci M. Scaffold-based cartilage treatments: with or without cells? A systematic review of preclinical and clinical evidence. Arthroscopy April 2015;31(4):767–75.
- [133] Marcacci M, Zaffagnini S, Kon E, Visani A, Iacono F, Loreti I. Arthroscopic autologous chondrocyte transplantation: technical note. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc May 2002;10(3):154–9.
- [134] Sohn DH, Lottman LM, Lum LY, Kim SG, Pedowitz RA, Coutts RD, et al. Effect of gravity on localization of chondrocytes implanted in cartilage defects. Clin Orthop Relat Res January 2002;(394):254–62.
- [135] Haddo O, Mahroof S, Higgs D, David L, Pringle J, Bayliss M, et al. The use of chondrogide membrane in autologous chondrocyte implantation. Knee February 2004;11(1):51–5.
- [136] Kimura T, Yasui N, Ohsawa S, Ono K. Chondrocytes embedded in collagen gels maintain cartilage phenotype during long-term cultures. Clin Orthop Relat Res June 1984;(186):231–9.
- [137] Saris D, Price A, Widuchowski W, Bertrand-Marchand M, Caron J, Drogset JO, et al. Matrix-applied characterized autologous cultured chondrocytes versus microfracture: two-year follow-up of a prospective randomized trial. Am J Sports Med June 2014;42(6):1384–94.
- [138] Marcacci M, Berruto M, Brocchetta D, Delcogliano A, Ghinelli D, Gobbi A, et al. Articular cartilage engineering with Hyalograft C: 3-year clinical results. Clin Orthop Relat Res June 2005;(435):96–105.
- [139] Crawford DC, DeBerardino TM, Williams 3rd RJ. NeoCart, an autologous cartilage tissue implant, compared with microfracture for treatment of distal femoral cartilage lesions: an FDA phase-II prospective, randomized clinical trial after two years. J Bone Joint Surg Am. June 06, 2012;94(11):979–89.
- [140] Grande DA, Breitbart AS, Mason J, Paulino C, Laser J, Schwartz RE. Cartilage tissue engineering: current limitations and solutions. Clin Orthop Relat Res October 1999;(367 Suppl):S176–85.
- [141] Lu Y, Dhanaraj S, Wang Z, Bradley DM, Bowman SM, Cole BJ, et al. Minced cartilage without cell culture serves as an effective intraoperative cell source for cartilage repair. J Orthop Res June 2006;24(6):1261–70.
- [142] Kramer J, Bohrnsen F, Lindner U, Behrens P, Schlenke P, Rohwedel J. In vivo matrix-guided human mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Mol Life Sci March 2006;63(5):616–26.
- [143] Hoemann CD, Sun J, Legare A, McKee MD, Buschmann MD. Tissue engineering of cartilage using an injectable and adhesive chitosan-based cell-delivery vehicle. Osteoarthritis Cartilage April 2005;13(4):318–29.
- [144] Hoemann CD, Sun J, McKee MD, Chevrier A, Rossomacha E, Rivard GE, et al. Chitosan-glycerol phosphate/blood implants elicit hyaline cartilage repair integrated with porous subchondral bone in microdrilled rabbit defects. Osteoarthritis Cartilage January 2007;15(1):78–89.
- [145] Khan IM, Gilbert SJ, Singhrao SK, Duance VC, Archer CW. Cartilage integration: evaluation of the reasons for failure of integration during cartilage repair. A review. Eur Cell Mater 2008;16:26–39.
- [146] Obradovic B, Martin I, Padera RF, Treppo S, Freed LE, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Integration of engineered cartilage. J Orthop Res November 2001;19(6):1089–97.
- [147] van de Breevaart Bravenboer J, In der Maur CD, Bos PK, Feenstra L, Verhaar JA, Weinans H, et al. Improved cartilage integration and interfacial strength after enzymatic treatment in a cartilage transplantation model. Arthritis Res Ther 2004;6(5):R469–76.
- [148] Gilbert SJ, Singhrao SK, Khan IM, Gonzalez LG, Thomson BM, Burdon D, et al. Enhanced tissue integration during cartilage repair in vitro can be achieved by inhibiting chondrocyte death at the wound edge. Tissue Eng Part A July 2009;15(7):1739–49.
- [149] Wang DA, Varghese S, Sharma B, Strehin I, Fermanian S, Gorham J, et al. Multifunctional chondroitin sulphate for cartilage tissuebiomaterial integration. Nat Mater May 2007;6(5):385–92.
- [150] Metcalf KB, Mandelbaum BR, McIlwraith CW. Application of platelet-rich plasma to disorders of the knee joint. Cartilage October 2013;4(4): 295–312.

#### 53. CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING

- [151] Sermer CM. Platelet-rich plasma enhances cartilage integration: a bioengineered in vitro model. Orthopaedic Proc 2016;98-B.
- [152] Iwasa J, Engebretsen L, Shima Y, Ochi M. Clinical application of scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc June 2009;17(6):561–77.
- [153] Liu VA, Bhatia SN. Three-dimensional photopatterning of hydrogels containing living cells. Biomed Microdevices December 2002;4(4): 257–66.
- [154] Naumann A, Aigner J, Staudenmaier R, Seemann M, Bruening R, Englmeier KH, et al. Clinical aspects and strategy for biomaterial engineering of an auricle based on three-dimensional stereolithography. Eur Arch Oto-Rhino-Laryngol November 2003;260(10):568–75.
- [155] Sidler R, Kostler W, Bardyn T, Styner MA, Sudkamp N, Nolte L, et al. Computer-assisted ankle joint arthroplasty using bio-engineered autografts. Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv 2005;8(Pt 1):474–81.

# Stem Cell Therapy for Musculoskeletal Diseases

Benjamin B. Rothrauff, Alessandro Pirosa, Hang Lin, Jihee Sohn, Mark T. Langhans, Rocky S. Tuan

University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

# INTRODUCTION

# Musculoskeletal Diseases: A Need for Improved Therapies

Disorders of the musculoskeletal system constitute the most common cause of disability in the developed world and account for 25% of all operating room procedures, the largest percentage by organ system [1]. Musculoskeletal disorders can be caused by acute trauma (e.g., fractures, sports injuries), tissue degeneration (e.g., osteoarthritis, spinal stenosis), genetic aberrancies (e.g., muscular dystrophy), and autoimmunity (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis), with frequent interaction among these etiologies. Joint and back pain, often the result of degenerative osteoarthritic changes, together represent the most frequent cause for a physician visit. Whereas total joint replacement of arthritic hips and knees is a remarkably effective treatment to alleviate pain and improve function, there are fewer treatment options for other chronic musculoskeletal disorders. Furthermore, the population is increasingly engaged in physical activities (notably sports) that increase the risk of orthopedic injury. Even if successfully treated to permit return to physical activity, these injuries often predispose the patient to early-onset osteoarthritis. However, given the finite life span of joint prostheses, surgeons are reluctant to offer total joint replacement to a younger patient. Similarly, a myriad of other musculoskeletal disorders have proven recalcitrant to surgical intervention, no matter how sophisticated the surgical technique. For these reasons, it has been the hope of patients, clinicians, and scientists alike that the relatively new disciplines of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine might provide solutions to these formidable challenges of musculoskeletal disorders.

Perhaps no aspect of orthopedic regenerative medicine has been more promising, and equally disappointing, as stem cell therapies for musculoskeletal diseases. That is, although an ever-increasing pace of basic research is developing novel stem cell—based therapies, with promising results consistently found in animal models, relatively few stem cell therapies have been applied clinically. Where they have, the subject number has been small and the study quality has been poor, limiting conclusions regarding the efficacy of these putative therapies. As discussed subsequently, the slow pace of translating stem cell therapies from the bench to bedside is partly the result of financial and regulatory challenges.

# Regulatory and Financial Challenges to Stem Cell Therapies

Cell-based therapies represent a relatively new technology and their regulatory purview is still being determined. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued a set of regulations (21 CFR 1271) in 2001 governing cellular and tissue-based therapies. The underlying principle of these guidelines was that cellular and tissue therapies that require minimal to no manipulation of autologous tissues do not require FDA approval, whereas those that involve any significant modification or treatment, including genetic manipulation, require it. Despite the subsequent issuance of a series of guidance documents, FDA approval necessitates substantial time, effort, and financial investment for the performance of the clinical trials needed to demonstrate safety and efficacy and has effectively limited the implementation of cellular or tissue-based therapies to those with minimal manipulation of autologous

cells and tissues. Allograft tissues, which contain allogeneic cells, have been implemented in clinical practice by maintaining their classification as transplant tissues that are subject to different regulations. There is ongoing debate about whether mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) qualify as biologic drugs subject to FDA approval or human cellular or tissue products. Along these lines, in February, 2014, The US Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit upheld a 2012 ruling that a patient's cells for therapeutic use fall under the aegis of the FDA. The appeals case involved the company Regenerative Sciences and their Regenexx procedure, which involved the use of autologous cells to treat musculoskeletal pathologies.

Most insurance companies have been reluctant to cover the cost of cell-based therapies for musculoskeletal pathologies because outcome studies have been small in number and often of insufficient quality. However, this has not deterred patients from spending up to \$10,000 out-of-pocket per treatment for "stem cell" therapies. The success of cell-based therapies with more extensive cellular manipulation, such as genetic engineering, in areas with greater room for dramatic improvement of clinical outcomes, such as orphan diseases of inborn metabolism and cancer, may clear the path for implementing more sophisticated cellular therapies in musculoskeletal pathologies. That is, demonstrated safety and efficacy in treating grave diseases with high morbidity and mortality may ironically facilitate broader implementation of related cell-based therapies for more prevalent, but often less dire, musculoskeletal disorders. On the other hand, promising preclinical studies as reviewed subsequently, demonstrate safety and efficacy of stem cell—based therapies, which it is hoped will prompt clinicians and researchers to partner with regulatory administrators to seek broader application of these technologies to treat human diseases.

## Chapter Overview

This review focuses on stem cell therapies for musculoskeletal diseases. In particular, we highlight stem cell applications for individual tissues of the musculoskeletal system (bone, articular cartilage, tendon and ligament, meniscus, intervertebral disc, and skeletal muscle) as well as transitions between tissues (osteochondral interfaces and tendon—bone interfaces). For each, the relevant structure and function are described. Because embryological development of these tissues and the phenotypic characteristics of their resident cells are described in detail in other chapters, only a succinct discussion of tissue-specific endogenous cells is included. There is emphasis on findings of preclinical and clinical studies when possible. However, a comprehensive review of all available stem cell therapies for a given tissue or disease is beyond the scope of this chapter; readers are referred to more extensive reviews for further detail.

### STEM CELL THERAPIES FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

Cell-based therapies include numerous cell phenotypes, including adult differentiated cells (e.g., chondrocytes), progenitor cells (e.g., satellite cells, SCs), multipotent stem cells (e.g., MSCs), and pluripotent stem cells (e.g., embryonic stem cells [ESCs], induced pluripotent stem cells [iPSCs]). For all phenotypes, allogeneic, autologous, and xenogeneic cells may be considered. Although adult differentiated cells ostensibly possess the greatest homology to the endogenous cells of the target tissues, autologous cell isolation is associated with the creation of an iatrogenic defect with associated donor site morbidity. Furthermore, these cells often possess a limited expansion potential ex vivo and frequently undergo dedifferentiation during the process [2]. On the other hand, pluripotent stem cells, including ESCs and iPSCs, present several ethical (especially for ESCs) and technical challenges (i.e., need for feeder cells) that have limited their broader use in regenerative applications. Therefore, the MSC has been the workhorse for most investigations of stem cell therapies for musculoskeletal diseases. Although often described as a single-cell phenotype with particular cell surface markers, the term "MSC" is used loosely in the literature to include a multipotent, plastic-adherent population of cells capable of forming colonies. Although MSCs were originally thought to aid tissue regeneration by synthesizing the extracellular matrix (ECM) that would constitute new musculoskeletal tissues [3], studies showing diminished MSC viability and retention at musculoskeletal lesions over time (despite improved healing) suggested that MSCs might also function by secreting paracrine factors [4]. The phenotype and function of MSCs are still an area of active investigation, but as detailed in other chapters, their utility for enhancing healing of musculoskeletal tissues has been demonstrated in preclinical studies, as described subsequently.

#### Bone

Bone diseases can be caused by different factors, including nutrient deficiencies, genetic alterations, and vasculature disorders, causing bone loss or decreased density, with resulting reduction in bone strength. Congenital bone defects, fracture malunion or nonunion, osteogenesis imperfecta, bone resection caused by osteosarcoma or tumor metastasis, osteoporosis, osteonecrosis, and osteomyelitis are just a handful of musculoskeletal problems affecting bone. Moreover, alterations in bone vascular supply have a critical role in increased susceptibility to osteoporosis, osteonecrosis, and osteomyelitis. These multifactorial pathologies are concerning, especially in the context of an aging population and increased incidence of trauma-related injuries. When the innate regenerative capacity of bone is compromised, as is often the case in these pathologies, there are few biological options to promote new bone growth. Bone autografts are still considered the current reference standard, but they have limitations in terms of size of the defect to be grafted and the need for a second surgical site for the bone harvesting, often the iliac crest of the pelvis. Autografting increases patient morbidity, including increased postoperative pain and risk for infection. Allografts avoid the pitfalls of autografts but do not possess the same strength and cellular component. Because current treatments do not provide optimal outcomes, tissue engineering and regenerative medicine strategies, which use stem cells often in combination with biodegradable scaffolds, represent a possible alternative.

The successful development of clinically relevant engineered bone relies largely on the choice of stem cells, which are the main players for the actual production of the bone tissue. Another critical component is the scaffold, which should possess osteoconductive, osteoinductive, and sufficiently strong mechanical properties, as well as the ability to integrate with the host vascular network. Main vascularization strategies have included the delivery of angiogenic factors within with three-dimensional (3D) scaffolds, in vitro prevascularization strategies, and the use of coculture systems [5].

Several materials have been employed as stem cell carriers for engineered bone. Calcium phosphates such hydroxyapatite (HAp) and  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate are known for their osteoconductive properties and stiffness. Bioactive glasses are another class of inorganic materials exploited in bone engineering, owing to their ability to support bone formation in vivo. Apart from inorganic matrices, natural and synthetic polymers have been extensively used for bone engineering. Biopolymers (e.g., collagen, silk, chitosan, polyhydroxyalkanoates) offer low manufacturing/disposal costs, can be obtained from renewable resources, and provide natural cues for cell signaling, adhesion, and remodeling. On the other hand, synthetic polymers (e.g., polyglycolic acid [PGA], poly-lactic acid [PLA], poly- $\epsilon$ -caprolactone, biodegradable polyurethanes) can be manufactured and tailored with desired physiochemical and degradation properties. Biological scaffolds can be prepared by decellularizing bone or specific ECM preparations.

Biologically inspired scaffolds contain signals that can induce the simultaneous development of bone and vasculature within the construct. Technological advancements in the rapid prototyping and additive manufacturing field have given researchers powerful tools to model these materials in various shapes to address clinically relevant issues [6]. Although osteoinductivity and osteoconductivity usually depend on a material's chemical nature, these technologies allowed the development of scaffolds with controlled ultrastructure (e.g., interconnected macroporosity for optimal osteoblast differentiation and vasculature development) as well as stiffness matching the mechanical properties of native bone. A novel fabrication technology that is gaining relevance for bone tissue engineering is bioprinting, which consists of the precise deposition of cell-laden biomaterials (referred to as bioinks) in predefined 3D structures. The use of computer-aided design and manufacturing allows for the production of specific constructs exactly matching the dimensions of the target defect. Vasculature can be bioprinted, too; for example, it can be used to dispense smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts as single- and double-layered vascular tubes.

The design of a stem cell—based technology for engineering bone requires the selection of suitable cell sources, which should possess self-renewing capacity and ease of maintenance and manipulation in vitro for subsequent implantation into the defect or lesion. One benchmarked cell source for bone tissue engineering is the MSC, owing to its well-defined capacity to undergo osteogenic differentiation. Together with bone marrow—derived MSCs (BM-MSCs), adipose-derived MSCs (ASCs) are an accepted cell source for engineered bone. MSCs have been thoroughly investigated, in combination with several types of scaffolds, in preclinical settings using small animal models such as mice [7], as well as critical-size defects in rabbits [8] and in more relevant ovine models [9,10].

An example of the clinical use of MSCs in bone engineering was documented in a pilot study treating five patients with unilateral cleft lip and palate. MSCs were used in combination with a commercially available collagen and HAp scaffold (Geistlich Bio-Oss), showing bone formation spanning the previous alveolar cleft

#### 54. STEM CELL THERAPY FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

after 6 months in all patients. Despite this early clinical success, myriad investigations suggested that improved fabrication of biomimetic engineered bone is augmented by the use of endothelial stem cells. Blood-derived endothelial progenitor cells are a good candidate for this aim, and they have been used in cotransplantation studies with MSCs to improve neovascularization and bone regeneration in rats [11]. iPSCs can also be identified as cell sources for bone tissue engineering because they can be differentiated into osteoblasts and osteoclasts capable of producing mature bone–like tissue both in vitro and in vivo [12,13]. iPSCs have also been shown to form vasculature [14].

To optimize cell seeding and mass transport within a scaffold, bioreactor technology is also being pursued. Several setups have been developed in the past years, such as spinner flasks, rotating wall vessels, and perfusion bioreactors. Although these systems provide fine control over the experimental parameters, they often fail to produce sufficient quantity and quality of bone; hence "in vivo bioreactor" technologies have been developed to produce clinically relevant volumes of vascularized bone. These techniques rely on the ectopic cultivation, usually in a periosteal flap, of sizeable bone grafts, exploiting the body's regenerative capacity as a living bioreactor to cultivate stem cells, scaffolds, and growth factors. Once sufficiently matured, these functional bone grafts then can be implanted into a defect.

Despite promising results in preclinical application of MSCs for bone regeneration, their clinical use remains nascent and their effects need to be investigated further. Increased therapeutic applications of stem cells for enhanced bone repair will come with elucidating the complex interactions among all of the cellular components of bone. Moreover, bone tissue engineering would be upgraded by automation and standardization, increasing the likelihood of delivering an effective and economically viable technology.

#### Articular Cartilage

Three types of cartilage exist in human body, including hyaline cartilage, elastic cartilage, and fibrocartilage. In these tissues, glycosaminoglycan (GAG) binds to protein fibrils to form a highly hydrated matrix that is flexible and resilient to bearing. In hyaline cartilage, the fibrils are mainly formed from collagen type II, compared with an elastin—collagen type II mixture in elastic cartilage and collagen type I/II in fibrocartilage. Hyaline cartilage exists in the nose, surfaces of long bone ends, the rib tips, and the rings of the trachea. The cartilage in the epiglottis and pinnae shaping the outer ear are elastic cartilage. The meniscus and temporomandibular joint are typical fibrocartilage. In this chapter, we will primarily focus on cell therapies for the repair of articular cartilage (AC) defects.

AC is the smooth surface that covers bone ends, allowing frictionless movement as well as load bearing. Under physiological conditions, AC has a glassy appearance, thus its name (*hyalos* is Greek for "glassy"). The avascular and aneural nature of cartilage prevents the tissue from receiving sufficient nutrients and reparative cells necessary for wound healing, which limits AC self-repair [15]. For example, a study reviewing knee arthroscopy results reported that the incidence of chondral defects was higher than 60%, although many patients did not report pain or compromised mobility [16–19]. In a review of 993 consecutive knee arthroscopies, 11% of knees were found to have one or multiple full-thickness cartilage lesions (International Cartilage Repair Society Grades 3 and 4) [17]. In a systematic review of multiple databases, the prevalence of full-thickness focal chondral defects in athletes was strikingly higher than that of nonathletes (36% versus 11%) [20].

No treatments are available to regenerate stable hyaline cartilage completely in a chondral defect. In addition to conventional palliative treatments, some surgical protocols such as microfracture and autologous chondral transplantation have been shown to result in filling of the lesions, with associated pain reduction and improved cartilage function. However, critical challenges remain. For small cartilage defects, the microfracture technique is commonly employed to induce bleeding and allow migration of reparative stem cells and cytokines from the bone marrow [21,22], which has been shown to improve joint functionality and pain relief for over half of patients when applied in those who are young. However, the cartilage formed is usually fibrocartilage, which eventually fails owing to structural and mechanical properties inferior to those of hyaline cartilage. Thus, alternative regenerative techniques are being developed to improve microfracture.

Cell-based therapies, such as autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI), have shown the most promise for the regenerative repair of cartilage [23]. ACI is a two-stage procedure involving chondrocyte isolation and in vitro expansion, followed by implantation [24]. ACI is the only FDA-approved cell-based therapy for focal cartilage defect repair (marketed as Carticel by Genzyme Biosurgery). However, harvesting of autologous cartilage results in donor site morbidity, and the chondrocyte phenotype is reduced or even lost upon culture expansion in vitro, thus

impairing or compromising the outcome [25]. Consequently, it remains uncertain whether ACI provides a superior outcome in cartilage repair over other treatments such as microfracture [26,27].

As alternative cell sources for cartilage regeneration, ESCs present ethical issues and potential immunorejection. iPSCs are often excluded owing to safety concerns, notably tumorigenicity. Therefore, the use of autologous MSCs continues to receive the most attention because of their relatively easy access and efficient chondrogenesis upon stimulation [28]. There are two major avenues to using MSCs for the treatment of chondral defects: the differentiation of MSCs into chondrocytes and the application of factors produced by MSCs.

Adult tissue-derived, multipotent MSCs have the ability to differentiate into chondrocyte-like cells and have been considered a promising candidate cell type to replace chondrocytes for cartilage tissue engineering [22,29]. For example, direct intraarticular injection of MSCs showed improvement in cartilage healing and regeneration [30,31]. In our studies [32–34] as well as those of others, the reparative potential of ASCs was well-demonstrated in cartilage regeneration.

To become chondrocytes, MSCs must undergo a chondroinductive process. Embryonic chondrogenesis in the developing limb bud begins with mesenchymal cell recruitment, proliferation, and condensation. In this sequential process, cell condensation is a critical step that is initiated by several growth factors, including transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), Wnt, and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), acting in concert [35–37]. In particular, TGF $\beta$ s and BMPs are the most potent inducers of MSC chondrogenesis, characterized by the enhanced expression of SOX9, collagen type II (COL2) and aggrecan and the deposition of collagen and proteoglycans rich in sulfated GAGs. For human MSCs, TGF $\beta$ 2 and TGF $\beta$ 3 were shown to be more active than TGF $\beta$ 1 in promoting chondrogenesis [38]. In fact, the TGF $\beta$  family is the most used to direct MSC chondrogenesis. In addition to soluble factors, a variety of both natural and synthetic scaffolds have been used to serve as carriers for the cells or to provide a chondrosupportive microenvironment [39].

Interestingly, in cultures of MSCs undergoing chondrogenesis in vitro, the expression of chondrocyte hypertrophy-associated genes has been widely reported. Hypertrophy refers to the process seen in endochondral ossification of growth plate cartilage, in which chondrocytes undergo enlargement, glycolytic metabolism, altered matrix production, and eventual matrix mineralization [40]. These activities are also associated with osteoarthritis chondrocytes [40,41]. Hypertrophy is characterized by an upregulation in the expression of COL10, specific matrix metalloproteinases, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and an increase in alkaline phosphatase activity, which are regulated by the Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) transcription factor, a marker typically associated with osteogenic differentiation [42]. The ECM deposited by hypertrophic chondrocytes is structurally inferior to that of hyaline chondrocytes, eventually leading to poor cartilage regeneration or formation of nonhyaline cartilage [43,44]. Hypertrophy is not related to the tissue source of the MSCs; it is observed in adult MSCs from all origins. These observations point to the deficiency of currently practiced methods of MSC chondroinduction. Hence, the major challenge of applying MSCs for hyaline cartilage repair is to produce stable articular-like, hyaline chondrocytes that are resistant to hypertrophic conversion and subsequent ossification.

The mechanism of the abnormal hypertrophy is not completely understood. It may result from inherent chondro-hypertrophic and osteogenic tendencies of MSCs, because the insufficiency of current formulas in controlling the hypertrophic process is observed in adult MSCs from all tissue sources. Chen et al. well-summarized the pathways associated with chondrocyte hypertrophy and strategies to inhibit such an unfavorable phenotype [45]. In particular, Wnt/β-catenin signaling was proposed to be associated with hypertrophy, because blocking DKK1 and FRZB, endogenous Wnt inhibitors, increases hypertrophic differentiation. Cao et al. explored the effects of xanthotoxin on MSC hypertrophy and found that xanthotoxin reduced the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, leading to the increased expression of histone deacetylase 4, which finally suppressed Runx2 and the expression of hypertrophic marker genes [46]. The PI3K–Bapx1 pathway and Notch signaling have also been shown to be involved in the hypertrophy process [47]. Interestingly, coculture of MSCs with articular chondrocytes may also suppress hypertrophy [48,49]. However, this method would involve the isolation and expansion of (autologous) primary chondrocytes, which is thus hampered by the same limitations as ACI, described earlier.

Eighteen clinical trials using live MSCs to treat cartilage defects are registered at ClinicalTrials.gov. However, few of the completed studies reported results. In a clinical study employing 14 patients, autologous MSCs were used to treat full-thickness chondral lesions of the knee greater than 2 cm<sup>2</sup>, with ACI as the control. At all follow-up intervals of up to 24 months, patients treated with MSCs displayed significantly better functional outcomes than those treated with ACI (P < .05), including greater range of motion and straight leg raise strength. Subjective subscale scores for pain, activities of daily living, and osteoarthritis outcome scores (P < .05) in the MSC-treated group were also superior to those with ACI. No adverse effects from the implants were observed in either group [50].

The safety of autologous MSC implantation was further confirmed in other 2-year follow-up studies [51,52]. To enhance the reparative outcome, multiple cell injections have also been tried. Three intraarticular injections, each containing  $20 \times 10^6$  MSCs, were performed 4–6 weeks after femoroacetabular impingement. Results showed that modified Harris Hip, Western Ontario McMaster University Osteoarthritis Index, and Vail scores increased from 64.3, 73, and 56.5 at the beginning, to 91, 97 and 83, respectively, at month 24 (P < .05). Around 20% of patients reported pain after cell injection [53]. MSC injection has been combined with other surgical methods. For example, after arthroscopic subchondral drilling into grade 3 and 4 chondral lesions, Saw et al. [54] injected hyaluronic acid together with autologous peripheral blood stem cells and found that such combined treatment resulted in hyaline cartilage formation with enhanced quality compared with cell-free treatment.

In addition to their potential to generate chondrocytes, there is substantial evidence to suggest that MSCs produce a wide range of secreted factors that influence the injured tissue microenvironment and orchestrate tissue repair processes. In fact, in many cases in which the positive effects of MSC injection have been observed, the transplanted MSCs are not found at the lesion site at follow-up [4,55]. Therefore, against the initial assumption, increasing evidence suggests that the main therapeutic function of MSCs may not be to replace tissues cells; rather, they may have paracrine effects. As such, the use of MSC secretome, which includes soluble factors as well as extracellular vesicles (EVs) [56,57], has been proposed as a safer and more advantageous approach compared with live MSC-based therapy.

EVs, as well as exosomes, have been applied in many clinical conditions [58], but there are few studies on EVs in the treatment of chondral defects. Although MSC EVs have been shown to have positive effects in treating artificial injury or insult-initiated (secondary) animal osteoarthritis models [59–67], most functions of exosomes are associated with their immunomodulatory properties. In a study using chondrocytes from rats, exosomes from immortal-ized embryonic day 1-myc 16.3 human ESC–derived MSCs not only promoted chondrocyte proliferation but also enhanced chondrogenic gene expression, as well as GAG deposition [61]. After being incorporated into an acellular tissue patch, stem cell–derived exosomes were able to integrate with native articular cartilage tissues and promoted cell migration at the defect sites, ultimately leading to enhanced tissue regeneration [59]. A study further indicated that such chondrosupportive function may be caused by the high levels of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), which activated S1P receptor 1 on chondrocytes. Blocking S1P with a neutralizing antibody depleted the beneficial effects of EVs in promoting cartilage formation in vivo [68].

#### Osteochondral Tissue

Defects of both AC and the underlying subchondral bone are often associated with joint pain and instability, risk factors for the development of osteoarthritis. The hallmark of osteoarthritis has been traditionally defined as the progressive degeneration of cartilage; however, several studies reported that subchondral bone is critical in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. The continuous mechanical and functional interaction of articular cartilage with the subchondral bone during movement creates reciprocal effects between the two tissues. In fact, antiresorptive drugs that limit bone remodeling have a positive effect on cartilage, whereas antidegradative treatment on cartilage alleviates bone remodeling. During the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis, communication between bone and cartilage is significantly increased owing to vascular infiltration into the cartilage, formation of microcracks and microchannels from bone and bone marrow reaching the cartilage, fragmented tidemark, and fissures. Increased vascularization has been indicated as another hallmark of osteoarthritis, revealing VEGF as an important player in osteoarthritis pathogenesis, because its expression is elevated in arthritic chondrocytes compared with healthy chondrocytes. Treatments of osteoarthritis are mostly symptomatic and based on pain and antiinflammatory medications. Because of the degenerative and chronic nature of this disease, total joint replacement is ultimately necessary in most cases.

Morphological and functional differences of the two main components of the osteochondral complex have always challenged researchers in the development of tissue engineering constructs for the regeneration of this interphase. Most studies have been traditionally focused on the production of gradient structures with different mechanical and chemical properties. Hydrogels are most frequently used for cartilage engineering, owing to the highly hydrated nature of cartilage ECM, whereas stiffer scaffolds are needed to match native bone mechanical properties. A comprehensive review by Nooeaid et al. [69] describes the main materials and scaffolds used for osteochondral regeneration.

The choice of stem cells for osteochondral tissue engineering is also challenging, because bone and cartilage cells are specialized and are characterized by different biological properties. In this case, MSCs are valuable, owing to their ability to differentiate into both cartilaginous and osseous lineages. However, as stated in the earlier section on Bone, engineered bone must also contain an endothelial component to satisfy a clinically relevant engineered



FIGURE 54.1 Engineered osteochondral interphase obtained using a dual-chamber perfusion bioreactor. (A) Macroscopic image of the construct showing photocrosslinked gelatin methacrylate as the cartilage tissue (*top*) and an additively manufactured poly(*e*-caprolactone) scaffold as the subchondral bone (*bottom*): both compartments were seeded with human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) and cells were separately yet simultaneously differentiated using two different media streams. (B) Alcian blue histological staining of the chondral tissue showing glycosaminoglycan production by hMSCs. (C) Alizarin red histological staining showing calcium depositions by hMSCs in the osseous tissue.

construct for regeneration in vivo. Technical issues associated with the development of an engineered osteochondral interface include the different biochemical compositions of AC and subchondral bone, as well as the different media compositions required to direct MSC differentiation into either lineage. These issues may be solved by the use of bioreactors; in our laboratory, we developed a dual-chamber perfusion bioreactor that allows the simultaneous yet separate flow of two different media to induce MSCs to differentiate specifically into chondrocytes and osteoblasts [70] (Fig. 54.1).

Although much research has focused on the treatments of osteoarthritis, a satisfactory strategy to alleviate or stop disease progression is unavailable. Preclinical studies have employed stem cells to stimulate the regeneration of the osteochondral interphase and halt the progressive destruction of the joint. These studies have used animal models that develop osteoarthritis caused by targeted genetic perturbations, surgically induced damage, or spontaneous age-associated degeneration. Stem cells can be directly injected into the defect site, usually in the early stages when the defect is limited to the cartilage only, or combined with scaffolds, in the case of exposure or degradation of subchondral bone, thereby providing mechanical support [71]. Preclinical studies for osteochondral repair have employed a handful of biphasic and triphasic scaffolds, combined with different types of differentiated or stem cells [72]. Usually small animals such as rodents and rabbits are used for proof-of-concept studies, but of course, they lack the mechanical load that can be found in humans. A few studies have employed large models, such as ovine, porcine, or equine models. The take-home message of these studies is usually a superior histological score of bone and cartilage regeneration in the experimental group compared with controls, with no sign of chronic inflammation. Stem cell–based treatment of osteochondral lesions in animal models has shown the potential to promote tissue regeneration and limit disease progression. However, osteoarthritis progression in humans is slow compared with rodents or rabbits, so the clinical use of MSCs in human is still at early stages and needs to be improved.

#### Tendon and Ligament

Tendons and ligaments respectively connect muscle to bone and bone to bone, producing joint motion through the transmission of contractile muscle forces and stabilizing the joint. Sharing a similar ultrastructure and biochemical content, tendons and ligaments are composed predominantly of aligned fibers of collagen type I, between which elongated fibroblasts extend in parallel. While recent studies have begun to elucidate the nascent cell populations and molecular mediators that contribute to tendon and ligament development [73], less is known about the biological events governing intrinsic healing following injury to these tissues.

Like many other musculoskeletal soft tissues, tendon and ligament possess a poor innate regenerative capacity. Rather than reconstitution of the aligned COLI fibers seen in native adult tendons and ligaments, the healing neotissue resembles a fibrovascular scar similar to that seen during wound healing, in which there is an elevated COLIII:COLI ratio, and the collagen fibrils possess a disorganized orientation [74]. Although the biochemical composition and ultrastructure remodel over years, once torn, tendons and ligaments almost never regain the structure and function they possessed before injury. Even worse, tendons and ligaments exposed to the intraarticular



FIGURE 54.2 Stem cell therapies for skeletal muscle diseases. (A) Hematoxylin-eosin staining of healthy muscle in cross-section showing polygonal myofibers with multiple peripheral nuclei and minimal interstitial space between fiber bundles. (B) Oil Red O staining of degenerated muscle showing fat droplets (*red*), myofiber atrophy, and inflammatory infiltrate. (C) Green fluorescent protein muscle-derived stem cells (*green*) engrafted into the muscle of mouse model of muscular dystrophy; 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole—stained nuclei (*blue*).

environment (which contains synovial fluid) often undergo negligible healing, with the resulting instability predisposing the joint to further damage, including accelerated osteoarthritis progression and damage to adjacent structures.

Because tendons and ligaments are relatively hypocellular, cell-based therapies have been explored in an effort to provide a sufficient number of reparative cells, or, as in the case of MSCs, to secrete proregenerative paracrine factors [75]. As detailed in comprehensive reviews [76,77], numerous preclinical studies have demonstrated benefit when applying stem cells to damaged tendons and ligaments. However encouraging, it must be remembered that tendon and ligament injuries are heterogeneous in character, spanning degenerative changes associated with overuse and aging (i.e., tendinopathy) to acute lacerations (i.e., flexor tendon transection). Furthermore, the tendon and ligament microenvironment, including a broad range of mechanical forces experienced in vivo, is equally diverse, from extraarticular collateral ligaments of the knee (which spontaneously heal) to the intraarticular anterior cruciate ligament (which does not heal) to the flexor tendons on the hand, which are enveloped in a sheath to which the healing tendon forms adhesions, thereby preventing normal tendon gliding. All of these details must be considered in the context of surgical or conservative treatments when developing cell-based therapies to improve tendon or ligament healing.

Such heterogeneity of injury characteristics may partly explain the paucity of studies examining the efficacy of cell-based therapies on tendon/ligament healing. A systematic review [78] identified only four studies in which stem cells were applied to damaged tendons. Two case series in which allogeneic ASCs and BM-MSCs were injected into the midsubstance of degenerated lateral epicondylar tendons [79] and patella tendons [80], respectively, showed improvements in pain and functional scores over time. However, the absence of controls limited further interpretation regarding the benefit of the stem cell injection. Similarly, Ellera Gomez et al. [81] and Hernigou et al. [82] augmented arthroscopic rotator cuff repairs with BM-MSCs injected at the repair site. Compared with the literature and/or historical controls, both studies suggested a reduction in repair failure (i.e., re-tear) and improved function. However, because those studies were also case series, Pas et al. [78] concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support the use of stem cell therapies for tendon disorders.

## Tendon-Bone Interface: Enthesis

Despite a limited number of clinical studies exploring stem cell—augmented rotator cuff repair, rotator cuff tears constitute one of the greatest orthopedic challenges; over 25% of patients aged over 60 years presenting with full-thickness tendon tears [83]. Rotator cuff tears most frequently occur at the tendon—bone interface (i.e., enthesis), which normally possesses a complex architecture including a mineralized fibrocartilage gradient that serves to reduce stress concentrations in the transition from compliant tendon to stiff bone [84]. Reattaching tendon to bone is particularly challenging because the native enthesis structure is not regenerated during healing, which predisposes the surgical repair to failure and occurs at rates exceeding 90% in severe cases [85]. As a result, there has been considerable interest in applying tissue engineering principles to improve enthesis healing.

#### STEM CELL THERAPIES FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

As detailed by Patel et al. [86], there have been promising tissue engineering efforts to fabricate scaffolds that mimic the gradients in cell phenotypes, ECM composition, and mineral distribution, as seen at the native enthesis. Although these emerging biomaterials may ultimately serve to guide reparative cells, whether exogenously delivered or endogenous recruited, in reconstituting the structure and function of the healing tendon—bone interface, few studies have investigated the effect of these scaffolds in vivo. On the other hand, numerous preclinical studies have been performed in which stem cells, most frequently encapsulated in a biodegradable hydrogel (e.g., fibrin, collagen), are localized between the tendon and bone, as manually apposed during surgical repair. Results have been equivocal; a review of the collective body of work suggested that stem cell therapies are most efficacious when combined with biochemical signals normally present during enthesis development (i.e., chondrogenic factors) [87]. When the molecular events underlying enthesis development are more fully elucidated, it can be expected that stem cell therapies will be modified by biochemical signals or genomic engineering to mimic the spatiotemporal expression pattern observed during the formation of this complex interface. Lessons learned in promoting enthesis healing of the rotator cuff might then by applied to other tendon—bone interfaces (e.g., ACL reconstruction), which is frequently the site of early surgical failures.

#### Meniscus

The menisci of the knee are crescent-shaped fibrocartilaginous structures interposed between the femur and tibia. When the knee is loaded during ambulation, the menisci serve to distribute compressive forces across the articular surfaces, thereby reducing contact stresses and facilitating joint motion. The menisci also serve as secondary stabilizers of the knee. As structure matches function, the menisci possess region-specific biochemical and ultrastructural characteristics: the inner meniscal regions, which sustain compressive forces under joint loading, are composed of an ECM rich in COLII and proteoglycans, whereas the resident cells have a round morphology and gene expression pattern similar to articular chondrocytes. Compressive loading of the inner regions creates hoop stresses that are borne by the aligned COLI fibrils of the outer meniscal regions, between which aligned fibroblastic cells are interposed. In adults, only the outer 10–30% of the meniscal width is vascularized. The hypocellularity and avascularity of the menisci, particularly the inner regions, provide a poor innate healing capacity to the meniscus when injured [88].

Unfortunately, the meniscus is the most commonly injured structure of the knee; partial removal of torn meniscal tissue (i.e., meniscectomy) constitutes the most commonly performed orthopedic surgical procedure [88,89]. Since the seminal publication of Fairbank in 1948, it has been known that meniscectomy induces the onset, and accelerates the procession, of joint degeneration (i.e., osteoarthritis) [90]. Nevertheless, the poor intrinsic healing capacity of the meniscus has limited the use of primary repairs as a treatment strategy [91]. Past efforts using blood products to enhance the healing environment, including fibrin clots [92] and trephination [93], provided inconsistent benefit, spurring the search for biological or synthetic materials that could serve as meniscal substitutes. While meniscal allograft transplantation and engineered menisci have been clinically implemented, inclusion criteria to qualify for these technologies greatly limit their widespread use [94]. Bioengineers have fabricated biological meniscal substitutes using a patient's (i.e., autologous) cells [95,96]. These technologies may ultimately offer the surgeon the option of an engineered autograft to transplant, but high fabrication costs and demanding surgical technique will likely remain challenges for the foreseeable future.

On the other hand, numerous preclinical studies have investigated the putative benefit of augmenting meniscectomies or primary repairs with stem cells, most commonly MSCs, delivered in one of two ways: (1) intraarticular injection of an MSC suspension, or (2) localized delivery to the tear site in an MSC-seeded biomaterial. For example, Hatsushika et al. [97] injected  $10 \times 10^6$  allogeneic synovial MSCs suspended in phosphate-buffer saline intraarticularly 2 weeks after transection of the anterior half of the medial meniscus in a rabbit model. The regenerated meniscus in the MSC-treated group was larger than the control (no MSC) group at 1 and 3 months postinjection, but not 4 and 6 months, but it exhibited superior histological properties and chondroprotective effects at all time points. Nevertheless, the innate regenerative response of the rabbit meniscus is dissimilar to the minimal healing response seen in larger mammals, including human patients. To that end, Nakagawa et al. [98] augmented suture repairs of longitudinal tear lesions in microminipigs by intraoperatively injecting a suspension of  $20 \times 10^6$  allogeneic synovial MSCs into the tear site. At 12 weeks, the MSC-treated group demonstrated improved healing, as evaluated grossly, histologically, and biomechanically, and by T1rho magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) mapping analysis. For both studies, MSCs were found at the tear site at early time points.

These preclinical studies, among others, demonstrated that MSCs could home to the meniscal lesion and improve healing. However, it has been reasoned that delivery of an MSC-seeded biomaterial to the tear site may improve

#### 54. STEM CELL THERAPY FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

MSC localization while providing a microenvironment capable of promoting fibrocartilage formation. In support, Zellner et al. [99] reported that suture repairs augmented with MSC-seeded hyaluronan-gelatin sponges in a rabbit model enhanced fibrocartilage formation, with associated increases in biomechanical properties, compared with unrepaired defects or defects treated with acellular sponges. Similarly, Kondo et al. [100] found that aggregates of autologous synovial MSCs localized in place of the transected anterior half of the medial meniscus in aged primates promoted meniscal regeneration.

Although these studies demonstrate a clear benefit of MSCs for enhanced meniscal healing and/or regeneration, only two related clinical studies have been performed. After in vitro optimization and corroboration of benefit in an ovine model, Whitehouse et al. [101] augmented five suture repairs of meniscal tears (bucket-handle, n = 3; bucket-handle with radial extension, n = 1; and vertical flap, n = 1) with a collagen matrix (Avitene Ultrafoam collagen sponge) seeded with autologous BM-MSCs. By 15 months, two of five patients underwent meniscectomy owing to re-tear or nonhealing; the remaining three patients demonstrated MRI evidence of healing at 24 months' follow-up. Mixed results were also noted in a similar study by Vangness, Jr. et al. [102], in which intraarticular injection of  $50 \times 10^6$  or  $150 \times 10^6$  allogeneic BM-MSCs after subtotal meniscectomy significantly increased meniscal volume (defined a priori as a 15% threshold) in 24% and 6% of patients, respectively, as evaluated by MRI at 12 months postmeniscectomy. No patients in the control group (no MSCs) met the 15% threshold for increased meniscal volume.

Although a preponderance of preclinical studies supports the application of MSCs for improved healing, heterogeneity in study designs has prevented identification of the optimal tissue source, delivery method (i.e., intraarticular injection versus seeded biomaterial), and cell number. It also remains unclear whether allogeneic MSCs will perform worse than autologous MSCs [103]. To our knowledge, neither minimally manipulated autologous cells (derived intraoperatively, most commonly from the iliac crest bone marrow or adipose tissues) nor iPSCs have been applied in augmented meniscus repair [103].

### Intervertebral Disc

The intervertebral disc (IVD) shares many structural and functional features with the meniscus. Separating each vertebrae of the spine, the fibrocartilaginous IVDs experience complex loading patterns consisting of compressive, torsional, and shear stresses. The nucleus pulposus (NP) forms a highly hydrated gelatinous core composed of COLII, proteoglycans, and chondrocyte-like NP cells, surrounded by the annulus fibrosis (AF) consisting of orthogonally oriented lamellae of aligned collagen fibers with interposed fibroblastic cells [104]. When the spine is loaded, high hydrostatic forces created in the NP are resisted by the tensile strength of the surrounding AF. In addition, IVDs possesses cartilaginous end plates on both their superior and inferior surfaces, through which oxygen and nutrients diffuse from capillaries of the subchondral bone of vertebrae. Although the outer region of the AF is vascularized, the IVD is largely avascular and hypocellular, which limits its innate healing capacity [105]. In the context of a complex interplay of genetic and environmental factors, this feature is thought to predispose the IVD to degenerative changes beginning as early as the second decade [106].

IVD degeneration is one of the principal contributors to low back pain, which is the leading cause of disability in the developed world and is estimated to affect 75–80% of people at some stage [107]. Although the molecular mechanisms governing IVD degeneration are incompletely understood, early loss of proteoglycan content from the NP is associated with decreased disc height, concurrent with weakening of the AF in the context of increased catabolic and inflammatory mediators. Upregulated inflammation, coupled with aberrant neovascularization and innervation of the IVD, is thought to contribute to discogenic pain and deterioration of spine mobility. Furthermore, the weakened AF can eccentrically bulge or fail, permitting herniation of NP contents, causing radiculopathy pain by aggravation of adjacent nerve roots. At present, there are no efficacious treatment options between conservative measures (i.e., physical therapy, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, epidural corticosteroid injection) and surgical intervention (i.e., microdiscectomy, total discectomy, disc arthroplasty, spinal fusion) [104]. Therefore, regenerative and tissue engineering strategies have been explored as a means of reversing or preventing further disc degeneration.

In a comprehensive review of cell-based therapies for lumbar degenerative disc disease, Oehme et al. [107] identified 25 preclinical studies in which stem or progenitor cells were applied to promote IVD regeneration. Although 20 of 25 studies investigated MSCs, the cell phenotype was variable (i.e., autologous versus allogeneic versus xenogeneic, bone marrow- versus adipose-derived), as was the intradiscal delivery method (i.e., suspension versus hydrogel). Furthermore, the animal models included species from rats to sheep, yet most involved nucleotomy or NP aspiration from the disc of a previously young, healthy animal. Compared with untreated controls, MSC-treated groups generally enhanced disc regeneration, as demonstrated by increased disc height, improved ECM synthesis, and superior morphology, as evaluated by MRI [107]. Where degenerative disc disease has progressed beyond any reasonable hope of cell-augmented repair, disc replacement with a tissue-engineered graft may ultimately be possible. As highlighted by Bowles and Setton [108], composite strategies for tissue engineered IVD replacements have largely used biomaterials consisting of fibrous polyesters (e.g., PLA) for the AF and MSC-seeded hydrogels for the NP. Preclinical results have been encouraging, although limited in the number and length of follow-up.

Only four clinical studies have explored cell-based treatment of IVD degeneration. In the earliest report, Yoshikawa et al. [109] implanted collagen sponges seeded with autologous MSCs (isolated from iliac crest bone marrow 2–4 weeks earlier) into a single degenerative disc in two patients. Both patients experienced improvement in pain and diminished radicular symptoms by 6 months, which persisted to the final follow-up at 2 years. T2-weighted MRI at 2 years suggested increased water content compared with preoperative MRI. Similar findings were subsequently reported in cases series by Orozco et al. [110] and Pettine et al. [111], in which degenerated IVDs were injected with suspensions of BM-MSCs or bone marrow concentrate, respectively. Using a more extensive coculture protocol, Mochida et al. [112] injected autologous NP cells culture expanded in direct contact (i.e., cell-to-cell) with autologous BM-MSCs into degenerative IVDs immediately adjacent to a spinal fusion (the discarded disc rendering the autologous NP cells). Compared with the studies employing MSCs, only one of nine patients demonstrated mild improvement in disc morphology as evaluated by MRI. That said, experimental design varied substantially across studies, limiting rigorous comparison. Furthermore, none of these clinical studies included a control patient population.

### Skeletal Muscle

Despite remarkable regenerative ability, skeletal muscle integrity and function are often compromised in muscular dystrophy [113–115]. Muscular dystrophy describes a heterogeneous group of approximately 40 inherited disorders characterized by progressive muscle weakness, degeneration, and wasting. Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is one of the most common and severe childhood muscular dystrophies; however, there not yet effective treatments available for DMD patients [116]. In addition to diseases, loss of skeletal muscle through trauma, tumor ablation, and prolonged denervation represent common clinical challenges. To treat traumatic muscle loss, free tissue transfer is an option, but autologous muscle transfer not only causes donor site morbidity, it can produce loss of function at the donor site [117]. Tissue engineering of skeletal muscle to replace functional muscle tissue could offer an alternative.

Engineering functional skeletal muscle would require the recapitulation of functional motion and integration with host connective tissues [118]. At the cellular level, it is also important to achieve parallel alignment of fibers and integration of functional neuromuscular junctions. As with other musculoskeletal tissues, mechanical stimulation is essential during myogenesis; it influences metabolic activity and gene expression, as well as fiber alignment. Also, myoblasts, which are similar to many types of cells, lose their differentiation capacity as they are culture-expanded [119,120]. Therefore, understanding the biology of precursor cell types such as SCs and other muscle progenitor cells, is crucial. Although SCs act as local regenerative cells in muscle, their limited expansion potential in vitro limits their current usefulness relative to other stem cell sources [121]. Such stem cells include, but are not limited to, ESCs, iPSCs, BM-MSCs, ASCs, hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and muscle-derived stem cells (MDSCs) [120,122,123].

ESCs and iPSCs, which are pluripotent cells (PCs), are considered the most promising cell source for cell-based therapies. Studies have reported that these cells can be induced and successfully converted into skeletal muscle cells to repair acutely and chronically injured muscle [120,122]. Pyle and colleagues reported that iPSCs derived from DMD patients' skin fibroblasts were successfully reprogrammed to muscle progenitor cells. Upon transplantation of these human iPSCs, they underwent efficient fusion and improved ultrastructural organization and the expression of adult myosin in mice [124]. However, concerns regarding tumorigenic potentials and complex biological and ethical issues correlated with PCs have dampened their use in favor of stem cell therapies.

Most research thus far has focused on MSCs from bone marrow, fat, and blood. Starting with the study of Ferrari et al. in 1998, which involved the transplantation of BM-MSCs [125], several studies have reported that transplantation of HSCs also could be recruited to injured muscle and take part in repair and regeneration [123]. Transplantation of HSCs has shown to result in increased dystrophin gene expression in dogs with DMD [126]. In addition to their role in differentiating into myofibers, MSCs have been shown to impose paracrine effects on differentiation and tissue regeneration of host resident muscle progenitor cells [120,127].

#### 54. STEM CELL THERAPY FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

Besides MSCs, MDSCs show promise for stem cell—based therapies for the treatment of DMD (Fig. 54.2) [128]. MDSCs are isolated from late-plating mononucleated muscle cells and are long-term self-renewing cells [129]. It was previously reported that compared with myoblasts, the MDSCs demonstrated a higher intramuscular engraftment capability in vivo [130,131]. The exact mechanism involved in the improved regenerative potential of the MDSCs remains unclear; however, several studies suggested that their high survival property owing to elevated resistance to stress is critical, as well as their release of soluble factors such as VEGF [132,133] (Fig. 54.2).

In vivo, the ECM of muscle provides fibers with the architecture to support development and function. Therefore, for skeletal muscle tissue engineering, a scaffold may be needed to mimic the matrix and maximize the potential therapeutic effects of cells [134]. A suitable biomaterial should be used to fabricate the scaffold to guide proper tissue reorganization, provide optimum microenvironmental conditions for cells, and coordinate in situ tissue regeneration. The most commonly used materials for scaffold preparation are collagen, naturally derived materials, and embedded 3D collagen with muscle stem cells, which has been shown to enhance cell attachment, expansion, and differentiation. Most synthetic scaffolds used for skeletal muscle tissue engineering are fabricated from polyesters such as PGA and polylactic glycolic acid, which can easily be tailored into shape- and size-specific scaffolds with easy control over mechanical, structural, and physicochemical properties. Injectable, cell-compatible hydrogel is often used as a cell carrier because of its capacity to promote myogenic cell differentiation in vivo [118,135]. The presence of growth factors, including VEGF, insulin-like growth factor-1, hepatocyte growth factor, stromal cell-derived factor-1, and FGF, is also an important element of muscle engineering, because these growth factors can accelerate muscle stem cell activation, proliferation, and differentiation [136].

Although clinical trials on muscle tissue engineering of human subjects are limited, several clinical trials in patients with muscular dystrophy involving these stem cells have progressed (ClinicalTrials.gov). Table 54.1 summarizes clinical trials from 2004 to 2019.

# CHALLENGES AND PROSPECTS

Now some time after the seminal publications of Langer and Vacanti [137] and Brittberg et al. [24], respectively, popularizing the concept of tissue engineering and describing the application of autologous chondrocytes for AC regeneration, the clinical impact of stem cell therapies for musculoskeletal diseases remains limited. Although numerous in vitro and preclinical studies demonstrated the potential of stem cell therapies, as highlighted previously, there are numerous challenges preventing clinical translation, including obvious outstanding technological and biological questions, but also regulatory and financial considerations [138].

An alternative approach to current cell-based therapies involving two-step surgical procedures with intervening ex vivo cell expansion is to bolster the reparative functions of endogenous stem cells. Because nearly all tissues contain endogenous stem cells that contribute to normal homeostatic function, it is hypothesized that directed modulation of the stem cell niche may overcome the microenvironmental cues in injury or degeneration that otherwise inhibit complete regeneration [139]. Furthermore, the immune response to disease or damage is increasingly recognized as a principal determinant of subsequent healing; targeted modulation of the immune response by novel biomaterials and/or biologics and pharmaceuticals may promote synergism with stem cell therapies, thereby improving stem cell viability and synthetic function [140]. Along the same vein, emerging biomaterials localized at the musculoskeletal lesion have been shown to be capable of recruiting endogenous stem cells to the scaffold where embedded bioactive growth factors can drive site-appropriate differentiation [141].

Exogenous stem cell therapies may still prove valuable, either to reconstitute damaged tissues directly or to enhance healing indirectly by secreting regenerative paracrine factors. Because MSCs have been the most commonly used cell phenotype for cell-based therapies, better characterization of their phenotype and mechanism of action will be required to maximize their benefit [142]. To that end, it remains an open question whether allogeneic MSCs induce an adverse inflammatory response [143]. Although limited in number and scope, studies suggest that matching of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) between donor and recipient patients may be necessary. If MHC-matched allogeneic MSCs indeed prove equivalent in efficacy to autologous MSCs, they would represent an off-the-shelf source for cell-based therapies, obviating the current need for two-step procedures and ex vivo cell expansion.

Alternatively, but not mutually exclusive, it may be possible through emerging genome editing technologies to silence otherwise immunogenic elements of donors cells. At the same time, these technologies may allow for the creation of autonomously regulated, closed-loop delivery of biological drugs. For instance, using the Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated-9 system, Brunger et al. [144]

ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier	Number of Patients	Muscular Dystrophy	Cell Therapy	Patient Age	Study Start and End Dates	Effects
NCT00773227 Phase 2	30	OPMD	Autologous myoblast	18—75	Apr. 2004–Oct. 2015 [151]	Improvement in video endoscopy and video fluoroscopy of swallowing
NCT02241434 Phase 1	245	DMD	Autologous BM mononuclear cells	3-25	Jan. 2009—Jun. 2016	No report
NCT02285673 Phase 1/2	10	DMD	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells	7–20	Nov. 2013–Nov. 2015	Primary outcome will be assessed by DMD gene expression, no report
NCT01834040 Phase 1/2	30	DMD	BM-derived autologous cells	4-30	Sep. 2014–Oct. 2016	Primary: Improvement of daily living scale Secondary: improvement of muscular dystrophy specific functional rating scale
NCT01834066 Phase 1/2	25	DMD	BM-derived autologous cells	6-25	Sep. 2014–Dec. 2016	No report
NCT02208713 Phase 1	21	FSHD	MDSCs and ASCs	18-50	May 2014–Dec. 2017	No report
NCT02196467 Phase 1/2	10	DMD	Myoblast	16+	May 2014-Feb. 2019	No report

 TABLE 54.1
 Clinical Trials of Cell Therapies in Muscular Dystrophies From 2004 to 2019

ASCs, adipose derived stem cells; BM, bone marrow-derived; DMD, Duchenne muscular dystrophy; FSHD, Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy; MDSCs, muscle-derived stem cells; OPMD, oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy.

program iPSCs to respond to proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) by synthesizing and secreting their soluble inhibitors (e.g., soluble TNF receptor 1). By engineering these feedback loops into the iPSC genome, the soluble inhibitor was synthesized only when cultured in the presence of its respective cytokine. Although the concern for tumorigenicity for iPSCs is real, it is possible to differentiate the iPSC into an MSC (or further into a specific cell phenotype, e.g., chondrocyte) [145], thereby mitigating the risk of teratoma formation upon in vivo application. If proven safe and effective, iPSCs, with or without further genetic engineering, might provide the ultimate off-the-shelf source for cell therapies, including diseases of every organ system.

Successful translation of cell therapies to the clinic would also be facilitated by improved model systems, both animal and in vitro, which reflect the clinical scenario and human physiology more accurately. Whereas many musculoskeletal diseases amenable to stem cell therapies are chronic conditions in aged patients, most animal models have used young, healthy animals in which an iatrogenic damage is acutely induced in a tissue, immediately followed by the experimental intervention. Fortunately, the discrepancy between established animal models and human patients is increasingly recognized, with ongoing development of models of chronic diseases in aged animals. Alternatively, companion animals (i.e., pets) often experience naturally occurring diseases and injuries similar to those of humans, which offers opportunities to investigate stem cell-based therapies in a model of greater clinical relevance [146]. That said, no animal model perfectly matches human disease; drug therapies developed through extensive animal testing ultimately prove ineffective or even harmful when translated into clinical therapies. As a result, there has been an increased emphasis on developing microphysiological in vitro models (i.e., organs-on-a-chip) using only human cells [70,147]. It is hypothesized that human-specific microphysiological models will allow greater fidelity to human pathology while also obviating the challenges, including biological, financial, and ethical considerations, of animal models. First-of-kind models of IVDs [148] and osteochondral interfaces of joints [149] have shown promise; the latter were discussed earlier.

When stem cell therapies, whether optimized in microphysiological or animal models, are translated into human patients, higher-quality clinical studies are needed to validate their efficacy. Most clinical trials of stem cell therapies for musculoskeletal diseases are case series that do not include adequate controls. In addition,

evaluation of stem cell-mediated enhancement of tissue regeneration would be facilitated by novel noninvasive metrics of tissue quality, whether biochemical or imaging-based [150]. These technologies would allow real-time monitoring of tissue healing, compared with histological evaluation after death in an animal model. In turn, this would facilitate the researcher's ability to investigate stem cell therapies in human patients.

#### List Abbreviations and Acronyms

AF Annulus fibrosis ASC Adipose-derived stem cell BM-MSC Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell DMD Duchenne muscular dystrophy ECM Extracellular matrix ESC Embryonic stem cell HAp Hydroxyapatite HSC Hematopoietic stem cell hMSC Human mesenchymal stem cell FGF Fibroblast growth factor iPSC Induced pluripotent stem cell IVD Intervertebral disc MDSC Muscle-derived stem cell MHC Major histocompatibility complex MSC Mesenchymal stem cell NP Nucleus pulposus PGA Polyglycolic acid PLA Poly-lactic acid SC Satellite cell TNF-α Tumor necrosis factor-α VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Environmental Protection Agency (R835736), the US Department of Defense (W81XWH-14-1-0217 and W81XWH-14-2-0003), and the National Institutes of Health (1UG3 TR002136 and 1R01 EB019430, 5T32 EB001026 [to BBR], and 5T32 HL076124-08 [to MTL]).

# References

- Weiss AJ, Elixhauser A. Trends in operating room procedures in U.S. Hospitals, 2001–2011. HCUP Statistical Brief #171. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare research and quality; 2014. Available from: http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb171-Operating-Room-Procedure-Trends.pdf.
- [2] Rackwitz L, Djouad F, Janjanin S, Noth U, Tuan RS. Functional cartilage repair capacity of de-differentiated, chondrocyte- and mesenchymal stem cell-laden hydrogels in vitro. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2014;22(8):1148–57.
- [3] Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem-cells. J Orthop Res 1991;9(5):641–50.
- [4] Caplan AI, Correa D. The M.S.C.: An injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9(1):11-5.
- [5] Liu YC, Chan JKY, Teoh SH. Review of vascularised bone tissue-engineering strategies with a focus on co-culture systems. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2015;9(2):85–105.
- [6] Campana V, Milano G, Pagano E, Barba M, Cicione C, Salonna G, et al. Bone substitutes in orthopaedic surgery: from basic science to clinical practice. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2014;25(10):2445–61.
- [7] Ren LL, Kang YQ, Browne C, Bishop J, Yang YZ. Fabrication, vascularization and osteogenic properties of a novel synthetic biomimetic induced membrane for the treatment of large bone defects. Bone 2014;64:173–82.
- [8] Niemeyer P, Szalay K, Luginbuhl R, Sudkamp NP, Kasten P. Transplantation of human mesenchymal stem cells in a non-autogenous setting for bone regeneration in a rabbit critical-size defect model. Acta Biomater 2010;6(3):900–8.
- [9] Reichert JC, Epari DR, Wullschleger ME, Saifzadeh S, Steck R, Lienau J, et al. Establishment of a preclinical ovine model for Tibial Segmental bone defect repair by applying bone tissue engineering strategies. Tissue Eng B Rev 2010;16(1):93–104.
- [10] Berner A, Henkel J, Woodruff MA, Saifzadeh S, Kirby G, Zaiss S, et al. Scaffold-cell bone engineering in a validated preclinical animal model: precursors vs differentiated cell source. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017;11(7):2081–9.
- [11] Zigdon-Giladi H, Bick T, Lewinson D, Machtei EE. Co-transplantation of endothelial progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells promote neovascularization and bone regeneration. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2015;17(2):353–9.
- [12] Jeon OH, Panicker LM, Lu QZ, Chae JJ, Feldman RA, Elisseeff JH. Human iPSC-derived osteoblasts and osteoclasts together promote bone regeneration in 3D biomaterials. Sci Rep 2016;6:2761.
- [13] Chien KH, Chang YL, Wang ML, Chuang JH, Yang YC, Tai MC, et al. Promoting induced pluripotent stem cell-driven biomineralization and periodontal regeneration in rats with Maxillary-Molar defects using injectable BMP-6 hydrogel. Sci Rep 2018;8:114.

#### REFERENCES

- [14] Belair DG, Whisler JA, Valdez J, Velazquez J, Molenda JA, Vickerman V, et al. Human vascular tissue models formed from human induced pluripotent stem cell derived endothelial cells. Stem Cell Rev Reports 2015;11(3):511–25.
- [15] Santo VE, Gomes ME, Mano JF, Reis RL. Controlled release strategies for bone, cartilage, and osteochondral engineering—part I: recapitulation of native tissue healing and variables for the design of delivery systems. Tissue Eng B Rev 2013;19(4):308–26.
- [16] Shah MR, Kaplan KM, Meislin RJ, Bosco 3rd JA. Articular cartilage restoration of the knee. Bull Hosp Joint Dis 2007;65(1):51-60.
- [17] Aroen A, Loken S, Heir S, Alvik E, Ekeland A, Granlund OG, et al. Articular cartilage lesions in 993 consecutive knee arthroscopies. Am J Sports Med 2004;32(1):211–5.
- [18] Curl WW, Krome J, Gordon ES, Rushing J, Smith BP, Poehling GG. Cartilage injuries: a review of 31,516 knee arthroscopies. Arthroscopy 1997;13(4):456–60.
- [19] Hjelle K, Solheim E, Strand T, Muri R, Brittberg M. Articular cartilage defects in 1,000 knee arthroscopies. Arthroscopy 2002;18(7):730-4.
- [20] Flanigan DC, Harris JD, Trinh TQ, Siston RA, Brophy RH. Prevalence of chondral defects in athletes' knees: a systematic review. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010;42(10):1795–801.
- [21] Farr J, Cole B, Dhawan A, Kercher J, Sherman S. Clinical cartilage restoration: evolution and overview. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2011;469(10): 2696–705.
- [22] Noth U, Steinert AF, Tuan RS. Technology insight: adult mesenchymal stem cells for osteoarthritis therapy. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2008; 4(7):371–80.
- [23] Johnstone B, Alini M, Cucchiarini M, Dodge GR, Eglin D, Guilak F, et al. Tissue engineering for articular cartilage repair—the state of the art. Eur Cell Mater 2013;25(248):e67.
- [24] Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L. Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med 1994;331(14):889–95.
- [25] Duan L, Ma B, Liang Y, Chen J, Zhu W, Li M, et al. Cytokine networking of chondrocyte dedifferentiation in vitro and its implications for cell-based cartilage therapy. Am J Transl Res 2015;7(2):194–208.
- [26] Makris EA, Gomoll AH, Malizos KN, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Repair and tissue engineering techniques for articular cartilage. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2015;11(1):21–34.
- [27] Ceylan HH, Bilsel K, Buyukpinarbasili N, Ceylan H, Erdil M, Tuncay I, et al. Can chondral healing be improved following microfracture? The effect of adipocyte tissue derived stem cell therapy. Knee 2016;23(3):442–9.
- [28] Chen FH, Tuan RS. Mesenchymal stem cells in arthritic diseases. Arthritis Res Ther 2008;10(5):223.
- [29] Chen FH, Rousche KT, Tuan RS. Technology Insight: adult stem cells in cartilage regeneration and tissue engineering. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2006;2(7):373–82.
- [30] Lee KB, Hui JH, Song IC, Ardany L, Lee EH. Injectable mesenchymal stem cell therapy for large cartilage defects—a porcine model. Stem Cell 2007;25(11):2964–71.
- [31] Murphy JM, Fink DJ, Hunziker EB, Barry FP. Stem cell therapy in a caprine model of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol 2003;48(12):3464–74.
- [32] Sun AX, Lin H, Beck AM, Kilroy EJ, Tuan RS. Projection Stereolithographic fabrication of human adipose stem cell-incorporated biodegradable scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2015;3:115.
- [33] Xie X, Wang Y, Zhao C, Guo S, Liu S, Jia W, et al. Comparative evaluation of MSCs from bone marrow and adipose tissue seeded in PRP-derived scaffold for cartilage regeneration. Biomaterials 2012;33(29):7008–18.
- [34] Bielli A, Scioli MG, Gentile P, Cervelli V, Orlandi A. Adipose-derived stem cells in cartilage regeneration: current perspectives. Regen Med 2016;11(7):693-703.
- [35] Goldring MB, Tsuchimochi K, Ijiri K. The control of chondrogenesis. J Cell Biochem 2006;97(1):33-44.
- [36] Tuan RS. Cellular signaling in developmental chondrogenesis: N-cadherin, Wnts, and BMP-2. J Bone Jt Surg Am Vol 2003;85-A(Suppl 2): 137-41.
- [37] DeLise AM, Fischer L, Tuan RS. Cellular interactions and signaling in cartilage development. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2000;8(5):309-34.
- [38] Barry F, Boynton RE, Liu B, Murphy JM. Chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow: differentiationdependent gene expression of matrix components. Exp Cell Res 2001;268(2):189–200.
- [39] Kuo CK, Li WJ, Mauck RL, Tuan RS. Cartilage tissue engineering: its potential and uses. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2006;18(1):64-73.
- [40] Sun MM, Beier F. Chondrocyte hypertrophy in skeletal development, growth, and disease. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 2014;102(1): 74–82.
- [41] Mueller MB, Tuan RS. Anabolic/Catabolic balance in pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: identifying molecular targets. PM&R 2011;3(6 Suppl 1): S3-11.
- [42] Somoza RA, Welter JF, Correa D, Caplan AI. Chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells: challenges and unfulfilled expectations. Tissue Eng B Rev 2014;20(6):596–608.
- [43] Kock L, van Donkelaar CC, Ito K. Tissue engineering of functional articular cartilage: the current status. Cell Tissue Res 2012;347(3):613–27.
- [44] Pelttari K, Winter A, Steck E, Goetzke K, Hennig T, Ochs BG, et al. Premature induction of hypertrophy during in vitro chondrogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells correlates with calcification and vascular invasion after ectopic transplantation in SCID mice. Arthritis Rheumatol 2006;54(10):3254–66.
- [45] Chen S, Fu P, Cong R, Wu H, Pei M. Strategies to minimize hypertrophy in cartilage engineering and regeneration. Genes Dis 2015;2(1): 76–95.
- [46] Cao Z, Bai Y, Liu C, Dou C, Li J, Xiang J, et al. Hypertrophic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells is suppressed by xanthotoxin via the p38MAPK/HDAC4 pathway. Mol Med Rep 2017;16(3):2740–6.
- [47] Cao Z, Dou C, Li J, Tang X, Xiang J, Zhao C, et al. Cordycepin inhibits chondrocyte hypertrophy of mesenchymal stem cells through PI3K/ Bapx1 and Notch signaling pathway. BMB Reports 2016;49(10):548–53.
- [48] Ramezanifard R, Kabiri M, Hanaee Ahvaz H. Effects of platelet rich plasma and chondrocyte co-culture on MSC chondrogenesis, hypertrophy and pathological responses. EXCLI J 2017;16:1031–45.
- [49] Hubka KM, Dahlin RL, Meretoja VV, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Enhancing chondrogenic phenotype for cartilage tissue engineering: monoculture and coculture of articular chondrocytes and mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng B Rev 2014;20(6):641–54.

- [50] Akgun I, Unlu MC, Erdal OA, Ogut T, Erturk M, Ovali E, et al. Matrix-induced autologous mesenchymal stem cell implantation versus matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation in the treatment of chondral defects of the knee: a 2-year randomized study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2015;135(2):251–63.
- [51] Richter M, Zech S. Matrix-associated stem cell transplantation (MAST) in chondral defects of foot and ankle is effective. Foot Ankle Surg 2013;19(2):84–90.
- [52] Richter M, Zech S, Andreas Meissner S. Matrix-associated stem cell transplantation (MAST) in chondral defects of the ankle is safe and effective - 2-year-followup in 130 patients. Foot Ankle Surg 2017;23(4):236–42.
- [53] Mardones R, Via AG, Jofre C, Minguell J, Rodriguez C, Tomic A, et al. Cell therapy for cartilage defects of the hip. Muscles Ligaments Tendons J 2016;6(3):361–6.
- [54] Saw KY, Anz A, Siew-Yoke Jee C, Merican S, Ching-Soong Ng R, Roohi SA, et al. Articular cartilage regeneration with autologous peripheral blood stem cells versus hyaluronic acid: a randomized controlled trial. Arthroscopy 2013;29(4):684–94.
- [55] Pittenger M. Sleuthing the source of regeneration by MSCs. Cell Stem Cell. 2009;5(1):8–10.
- [56] Del Fattore A, Luciano R, Saracino R, Battafarano G, Rizzo C, Pascucci L, et al. Differential effects of extracellular vesicles secreted by mesenchymal stem cells from different sources on glioblastoma cells. Expert Opin Biol Therapy 2015;15(4):495–504.
- [57] Baglio SR, Pegtel DM, Baldini N. Mesenchymal stem cell secreted vesicles provide novel opportunities in (stem) cell-free therapy. Front Physiol 2012;3:359.
- [58] Bjorge IM, Kim SY, Mano JF, Kalionis B, Chrzanowski W. Extracellular vesicles, exosomes and shedding vesicles in regenerative medicine a new paradigm for tissue repair. Biomater Sci 2017;6(1):60–78.
- [59] Liu X, Yang Y, Li Y, Niu X, Zhao B, Wang Y, et al. Integration of stem cell-derived exosomes with in situ hydrogel glue as a promising tissue patch for articular cartilage regeneration. Nanoscale 2017;9(13):4430–8.
- [60] Tao SC, Yuan T, Zhang YL, Yin WJ, Guo SC, Zhang CQ. Exosomes derived from miR-140-5p-overexpressing human synovial mesenchymal stem cells enhance cartilage tissue regeneration and prevent osteoarthritis of the knee in a rat model. Theranostics 2017;7(1):180–95.
- [61] Zhang S, Chuah SJ, Lai RC, Hui JHP, Lim SK, Toh WS. MSC exosomes mediate cartilage repair by enhancing proliferation, attenuating apoptosis and modulating immune reactivity. Biomaterials 2018;156:16–27.
- [62] Wang Y, Yu D, Liu Z, Zhou F, Dai J, Wu B, et al. Exosomes from embryonic mesenchymal stem cells alleviate osteoarthritis through balancing synthesis and degradation of cartilage extracellular matrix. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017;8(1):189.
- [63] Zhu Y, Wang Y, Zhao B, Niu X, Hu B, Li Q, et al. Comparison of exosomes secreted by induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells and synovial membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017;8(1):64.
- [64] Meng F, Zhang Z, Chen W, Huang G, He A, Hou C, et al. MicroRNA-320 regulates matrix metalloproteinase-13 expression in chondrogenesis and interleukin-1beta-induced chondrocyte responses. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2016;24(5):932–41.
- [65] Matsukawa T, Sakai T, Yonezawa T, Hiraiwa H, Hamada T, Nakashima M, et al. MicroRNA-125b regulates the expression of aggrecanase-1 (ADAMTS-4) in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Arthritis Res Ther 2013;15(1):R28.
- [66] Cosenza S, Ruiz M, Toupet K, Jorgensen C, Noel D. Mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes and microparticles protect cartilage and bone from degradation in osteoarthritis. Sci Rep 2017;7(1):16214.
- [67] Zhang S, Chu WC, Lai RC, Lim SK, Hui JH, Toh WS. Exosomes derived from human embryonic mesenchymal stem cells promote osteochondral regeneration. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2016;24(12):2135–40.
- [68] Xiang C, Yang K, Liang Z, Wan Y, Cheng Y, Ma D, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate mediates the therapeutic effects of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles on articular cartilage defect. Transl Res 2018;193:42–53.
- [69] Nooeaid P, Salih V, Beier JP, Boccaccini AR. Osteochondral tissue engineering: scaffolds, stem cells and applications. J Cell Mol Med 2012; 16(10):2247–70.
- [70] Lin H, Lozito T, Alexander P, Gottardi R, Tuan R. Stem cell-based microphysiological osteochondral system to model tissue response to Interleukin-1 beta. Tissue Eng 2014;20:S5.
- [71] Liu Y, Wu JM, Zhu YM, Han JX. Therapeutic application of mesenchymal stem cells in bone and joint diseases. Clin Exp Med 2014;14(1): 13–24.
- [72] Pina S, Ribeiro V, Oliveira JM, Reis RL. Pre-clinical and clinical management of osteochondral lesions. In: Oliveira J, Reis R, editors. Regenerative strategies for the treatment of knee joint disabilities. Studies in mechanobiology, tissue engineering and biomaterialsvol. 21. New York, NY, USA: Springer; 2017. p. 147–61.
- [73] Huang AH, Lu HH, Schweitzer R. Molecular regulation of tendon cell fate during development. J Orthop Res 2015;33(6):800-12.
- [74] Yang G, Rothrauff BB, Tuan RS, Tendon L. Regeneration and Repair: Clinical relevance and developmental paradigm. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 2013;99(3):203–22.
- [75] Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol 2007;213(2):341–7.
- [76] Gaspar D, Spanoudes K, Holladay C, Pandit A, Zeugolis D. Progress in cell-based therapies for tendon repair. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2015;84: 240–56.
- [77] Rothrauff BB, Yang G, Tuan RS. Tendon resident cells functions and features in section I developmental biology and physiology of tendons. In: Gomes ME, Reis RL, Rodrigues MT, editors. Tendon regeneration - understanding tissue physiology and development to engineer functional substitutes. London, UK: Elsevier; 2015. p. 41–77.
- [78] Pas H, Moen MH, Haisma HJ, Winters M. No evidence for the use of stem cell therapy for tendon disorders: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 2017;51(13):996–1002.
- [79] Lee SY, Kim W, Lim C, Chung SG. Treatment of lateral epicondylosis by using allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a pilot study. Stem Cell 2015;33(10):2995–3005.
- [80] Pascual-Garrido C, Rolon A, Makino A. Treatment of chronic patellar tendinopathy with autologous bone marrow stem cells: a 5-yearfollowup. Stem Cell Int 2012:953510.
- [81] Ellera Gomes JL, da Silva RC, Silla LMR, Abreu MR, Pellanda R. Conventional rotator cuff repair complemented by the aid of mononuclear autologous stem cells. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthroscs 2012;20(2):373–7.
- [82] Hernigou P, Lachaniette CHF, Delambre J, Zilber S, Duffiet P, Chevallier N, et al. Biologic augmentation of rotator cuff repair with mesenchymal stem cells during arthroscopy improves healing and prevents further tears: a case-controlled study. Int Orthop 2014;38(9):1811–8.

- [83] Tashjian RZ. Epidemiology, natural history, and indications for treatment of rotator cuff tears. Clin Sports Med 2012;31(4):589–604.
- [84] Zelzer E, Blitz E, Killian ML, Thomopoulos S. Tendon-to-bone attachment: from development to maturity. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 2014;102(1):101–12.
- [85] Galatz LM, Ball CM, Teefey SA, Middleton WD, Yamaguchi K. The outcome and repair integrity of completely arthroscopically repaired large and massive rotator cuff tears. J Bone Jt Surg Am Vol 2004;86A(2):219–24.
- [86] Patel S, Caldwell JM, Doty SB, Levine WN, Rodeo S, Soslowsky LJ, et al. Integrating soft and hard tissues via interface tissue engineering. J Orthop Res 2018;36(4):1069–77.
- [87] Rothrauff BB, Tuan RS. Cellular therapy in bone-tendon interface regeneration. Organogenesis 2014;10(1):13–28.
- [88] Makris EA, Hadidi P, Athanasiou KA. The knee meniscus: structure-function, pathophysiology, current repair techniques, and prospects for regeneration. Biomaterials 2011;32(30):7411–31.
- [89] Abrams GD, Frank RM, Gupta AK, Harris JD, McCormick FM, Cole BJ. Trends in meniscus repair and meniscectomy in the United States, 2005-2011. Am J Sports Med 2013;41(10):2333–9.
- [90] Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br Vol 1948;30(4):664-70.
- [91] Miller MD, Ritchie JR, Gomez BA, Royster RM, Delee JC. Meniscal repair an experimental study in the goat. Am J Sports Med 1995;23(1): 124–8.
- [92] Arnoczky SP, Warren RF, Spivak JM. Meniscal repair using an exogenous fibrin clot an experimental study in dogs. J Bone Joint Surg Am Vol 1988;70A(8):1209–16.
- [93] Zhang ZN, Arnold JA, Williams T, McCann B. Repairs by trephination and suturing of longitudinal injuries in the avascular area of the meniscus in goats. Am J Sports Med 1995;23(1):35–41.
- [94] Rongen JJ, van Tienen TG, van Bochove B, Grijpma DW, Buma P. Biomaterials in search of a meniscus substitute. Biomaterials 2014;35(11): 3527–40.
- [95] Puetzer JL, Bonassar LJ. High density type I collagen gels for tissue engineering of whole menisci. Acta Biomater 2013;9(8):7787–95.
- [96] Higashioka MM, Chen JA, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Building an anisotropic meniscus with zonal variations. Tissue Eng 2014;20(1–2): 294–302.
- [97] Hatsushika D, Muneta T, Horie M, Koga H, Tsuji K, Sekiya I. Intraarticular injection of synovial stem cells promotes meniscal regeneration in a rabbit massive meniscal defect model. J Orthop Res 2013;31(9):1354–9.
- [98] Nakagawa Y, Muneta T, Kondo S, Mizuno M, Takakuda K, Ichinose S, et al. Synovial mesenchymal stem cells promote healing after meniscal repair in microminipigs. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2015;23(6):1007–17.
- [99] Zellner J, Hierl K, Mueller M, Pfeifer C, Berner A, Dienstknecht T, et al. Stem cell-based tissue-engineering for treatment of meniscal tears in the avascular zone. J Biomed Mater Res B 2013;101(7):1133–42.
- [100] Kondo S, Muneta T, Nakagawa Y, Koga H, Watanabe T, Tsuji K, et al. Transplantation of autologous synovial mesenchymal stem cells promotes meniscus regeneration in aged primates. J Orthop Res 2017;35(6):1274–82.
- [101] Whitehouse MR, Howells NR, Parry MC, Austin E, Kafienah W, Brady K, et al. Repair of torn avascular meniscal cartilage using undifferentiated autologous mesenchymal stem cells: from in vitro optimization to a first-in-human study. Stem Cells Transl Med 2017;6(4):1237–48.
- [102] Vangsness Jr CT, Farr II J, Boyd J, Dellaero DT, Mills CR, LeRoux-Williams M. Adult human mesenchymal stem cells delivered via intra-articular injection to the knee following partial medial meniscectomy a randomized, double-blind, controlled study. J Bone Jt Surg Am Vol 2014;96A(2):90–8.
- [103] Korpershoek JV, de Windt TS, Hagmeijer MH, Vonk LA, Saris DBF. Cell-Based Meniscus Repair, Regeneration: At The Brink of clinical translation? Orthopaedic J Sports Med 2017;5(2). 2325967117690131.
- [104] Dowdell J, Erwin M, Choma T, Vaccaro A, Iatridis J, Cho SK. Intervertebral Disk degeneration and repair. Neurosurgery 2017;80(3):S46-54.
- [105] Sakai D, Andersson GBJ. Stem cell therapy for intervertebral disc regeneration: obstacles and solutions. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2015;11(4): 243-56.
- [106] Boos N, Weissbach S, Rohrbach H, Weiler C, Spratt KF, Nerlich AG. Classification of age-related changes in lumbar intervertebral discs. Spine 2002;27(23):2631–44.
- [107] Oehme D, Goldschlager T, Ghosh P, Rosenfeld JV, Jenkin G. Cell-based therapies used to treat lumbar degenerative disc disease: a systematic review of animal studies and human clinical trials. Stem Cell Int 2015:946031.
- [108] Bowles RD, Setton LA. Biomaterials for intervertebral disc regeneration and repair. Biomaterials 2017;129:54-67.
- [109] Yoshikawa T, Ueda Y, Miyazaki K, Koizumi M, Takakura Y. Disc regeneration therapy using marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation a report of two case studies. Spine 2010;35(11):E475–80.
- [110] Orozco L, Soler R, Morera C, Alberca M, Sanchez A, Garcia-Sancho J. Intervertebral disc repair by autologous mesenchymal bone marrow cells: a pilot study. Transplantation 2011;92(7):822-8.
- [111] Pettine K, Suzuki R, Sand T, Murphy M. Treatment of discogenic back pain with autologous bone marrow concentrate injection with minimum two year follow-up. Int Orthop 2016;40(1):135–40.
- [112] Mochida J, Sakai D, Nakamura Y, Watanabe T, Yamamoto Y, Kato S. Intervertebral disc repair with activated nucleus pulposus cell transplantation: a three-year, propspective clinical study of its safety. Eur Cell Mater 2015;29:202–12.
- [113] Kinali M, Arechavala-Gomeza V, Cirak S, Glover A, Guglieri M, Feng L, et al. Muscle histology vs MRI in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neurology 2011;76(4):346–53.
- [114] Sohn J, Lu A, Tang Y, Wang B, Huard J. Activation of non-myogenic mesenchymal stem cells during the disease progression in dystrophic dystrophin/utrophin knockout mice. Hum Mol Genet 2015;24(13):3814–29.
- [115] Lu A, Poddar M, Tang Y, Proto JD, Sohn J, Mu X, et al. Rapid depletion of muscle progenitor cells in dystrophic mdx/utrophin-/- mice. Hum Mol Genet 2014;23(18):4786–800.
- [116] Emery AE. The muscular dystrophies. Lancet 2002;359(9307):687-95.
- [117] Stern-Straeter J, Riedel F, Bran G, Hormann K, Goessler UR. Advances in skeletal muscle tissue engineering. In Vivo 2007;21(3):435-44.
- [118] Cittadella Vigodarzere G, Mantero S. Skeletal muscle tissue engineering: strategies for volumetric constructs. Front Physiol 2014;5:362.
- [119] Bian W, Bursac N. Engineered skeletal muscle tissue networks with controllable architecture. Biomaterials 2009;30(7):1401–12.

#### 54. STEM CELL THERAPY FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASES

- [120] Maclean S, Khan WS, Malik AA, Anand S, Snow M. The potential of stem cells in the treatment of skeletal muscle injury and disease. Stem Cell Int 2012;2012:282348.
- [121] Mauro A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 1961;9:493-5.
- [122] Kodaka Y, Rabu G, Asakura A. Skeletal muscle cell induction from pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Int 2017;2017:1376151.
- [123] Pecanha R, Bagno LL, Ribeiro MB, Robottom Ferreira AB, Moraes MO, Zapata-Sudo G, et al. Adipose-derived stem-cell treatment of skeletal muscle injury. J Bone Jt Surg Am Vol 2012;94(7):609–17.
- [124] Hicks MR, Hiserodt J, Paras K, Fujiwara W, Eskin A, Jan M, et al. ERBB3 and NGFR mark a distinct skeletal muscle progenitor cell in human development and hPSCs. Nat Cell Biol 2018;20(1):46–57.
- [125] Ferrari G, Cusella-De Angelis G, Coletta M, Paolucci E, Stornaiuolo A, Cossu G, et al. Muscle regeneration by bone marrow-derived myogenic progenitors. Science 1998;279(5356):1528–30.
- [126] Parker MH, Kuhr C, Tapscott SJ, Storb R. Hematopoietic cell transplantation provides an immune-tolerant platform for myoblast transplantation in dystrophic dogs. Mol Ther 2008;16(7):1340–6.
- [127] Uezumi A, Ito T, Morikawa D, Shimizu N, Yoneda T, Segawa M, et al. Fibrosis and adipogenesis originate from a common mesenchymal progenitor in skeletal muscle. J Cell Sci 2011;124(Pt 21):3654–64.
- [128] Huard J, Cao B, Qu-Petersen Z. Muscle-derived stem cells: potential for muscle regeneration. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 2003;69(3): 230–7.
- [129] Gharaibeh B, Lu A, Tebbets J, Zheng B, Feduska J, Crisan M, et al. Isolation of a slowly adhering cell fraction containing stem cells from murine skeletal muscle by the preplate technique. Nat Protoc 2008;3(9):1501–9.
- [130] Jankowski RJ, Deasy BM, Cao B, Gates C, Huard J. The role of CD34 expression and cellular fusion in the regeneration capacity of myogenic progenitor cells. J Cell Sci 2002;115(Pt 22):4361–74.
- [131] Qu-Petersen Z, Deasy B, Jankowski R, Ikezawa M, Cummins J, Pruchnic R, et al. Identification of a novel population of muscle stem cells in mice: potential for muscle regeneration. JCB (J Cell Biol) 2002;157(5):851–64.
- [132] Vella JB, Thompson SD, Bucsek MJ, Song M, Huard J. Murine and human myogenic cells identified by elevated aldehyde dehydrogenase activity: implications for muscle regeneration and repair. PLoS One 2011;6(12):e29226.
- [133] Drowley L, Okada M, Beckman S, Vella J, Keller B, Tobita K, et al. Cellular antioxidant levels influence muscle stem cell therapy. Mol Ther 2010;18(10):1865–73.
- [134] Qazi TH, Mooney DJ, Pumberger M, Geissler S, Duda GN. Biomaterials based strategies for skeletal muscle tissue engineering: existing technologies and future trends. Biomaterials 2015;53:502–21.
- [135] Rizzi R, Bearzi C, Mauretti A, Bernardini S, Cannata S, Gargioli C. Tissue engineering for skeletal muscle regeneration. Muscles Ligaments Tendons J 2012;2(3):230–4.
- [136] Syverud BC, VanDusen KW, Larkin LM. Growth factors for skeletal muscle tissue engineering. Cells Tissues Organs 2016;202(3–4):169–79.
- [137] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;14(260(5110)):920-6.
- [138] Fernandez-Moure JS. Lost in translation: the gap in scientific advancements and clinical application. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2016;4:43.
- [139] Lane SW, Williams DA, Watt FM. Modulating the stem cell niche for tissue regeneration. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32(8):795–803.
- [140] Forbes SJ, Rosenthal N. Preparing the ground for tissue regeneration: from mechanism to therapy. Nat Med 2014;20(8):857-69.
- [141] Lee CH, Rodeo SA, Fortier LA, Lu C, Erisken C, Mao JJ. Protein-releasing polymeric scaffolds induce fibrochondrocytic differentiation of endogenous cells for knee meniscus regeneration in sheep. Sci Transl Med 2014;6(266):266ra171.
- [142] Murray IR, Geeslin AG, Goudie EB, Petrigliano FA, LaPrade RF. Minimum information for studies evaluating biologics in orthopaedics (MIBO): platelet-rich plasma and mesenchymal stem cells. J Bone Jt Surg Am Vol 2017;99(10):809–19.
- [143] Berglund AK, Fortier LA, Antczak DF, Schnabel LV. Immunoprivileged no more: measuring the immunogenicity of allogeneic adult mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017;8:288.
- [144] Brunger JM, Zutshi A, Willard VP, Gersbach CA, Guilak F. Genome engineering of stem cells for autonomously regulated, closed-loop delivery of biologic drugs. Stem Cell Reports 2017;8(5):1202–13.
- [145] Diederichs S, Tuan RS. Functional comparison of human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal cells and bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal cells from the same donor. Stem Cell Dev 2014;23(14):1594–610.
- [146] Hoffman AM, Dow SW. Concise review: stem cell trials using companion animal disease models. Stem Cell 2016;34(7):1709-29.
- [147] Alexander PG, Gottardi R, Lin H, Lozito TP, Tuan RS. Three-dimensional osteogenic and chondrogenic systems to model osteochondral physiology and degenerative joint diseases. Exp Biol Med 2014;239(9):1080–95.
- [148] Hwang MH, Cho DH, Baek SM, Lee JW, Park JH, Yoo CM, et al. Spine-on-a-chip: human annulus fibrosus degeneration model for simulating the severity of intervertebral disc degeneration. Biomicrofluidics 2017;11(6):064107.
- [149] Lozito TP, Alexander PG, Lin H, Gottardi R, Cheng AW-M, Tuan RS. Three-dimensional osteochondral microtissue to model pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 2013;4(Suppl 1):S6.
- [150] Maher SA, Rodeo SA, Potter HG, Bonassar LJ, Wright TM, Warren RF. A pre-clinical test platform for the functional evaluation of scaffolds for musuloskeletal defects: the meniscus. HSS J 2011;7:157–63.
- [151] Perie S, Trollet C, Mouly V, Vanneaux V, Mamchaoui K, Bouazza B, et al. Autologous myoblast transplantation for oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy: a phase I/IIa clinical study. Mol Ther 2014;22(1):219–25.

# Myoblast Transplantation in Skeletal Muscles

Daniel Skuk, Jacques P. Tremblay Axe Neurosciences, Research Center of the CHU de Quebec–CHUL, Quebec, QC, Canada

# INTRODUCTION

Cell transplantation, which is frequently called "cell therapy," is an approach under study to treat different skeletal muscle disorders. The starting point of this therapeutic approach can be traced to 1978, when Partridge and colleagues proposed that "in subjects suffering from inherited recessive myopathies, muscle function might be restored if normal myoblasts could be made to fuse with defective muscle fibers" [1]. Among these myopathies, Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) was the first target and has being the main objective of this experimental therapeutic strategy. This is because of the relative frequency of this disease (a prevalence of 50 cases per million in the male population) and its severity: progressive skeletal-muscle degeneration in the limbs and trunk during childhood and adolescence, leading to motion loss, respiratory insufficiency, and ultimately death by respiratory or cardiac complications. Other clinical applications subsequently sought the treatment of individual muscles affected by different processes, such as the cricopharyngeal muscle in patients with oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy [2], the tibialis anterior in patients with fascioscapular muscular dystrophy [3], the urinary sphincter in patients with stress urinary incontinence [4], and the external anal sphincter in patients with anal incontinence [5].

The saga of cell transplantation in clinical myology is an example of the importance of the preclinical basis for designing new therapeutic protocols. After a few animal experiments in the 1980s, mostly in mice, several groups undertook clinical trials of cell transplantation in the 1990s [6]. Lacking adequate preclinical data to plan the strategies of cell implantation and even the strategies to control acute rejection, these clinical trials reported scarce and modest results on the molecular level. In fact, these trials were conducted in the hope that some muscle precursor cells injected in a few sites of a skeletal muscle would be able to diffuse throughout the muscle and spontaneously fuse with so many myofibers that a therapeutic effect would be obtained. Subsequent research demonstrated that this hope was unrealistic, and the lesson to take from this experience is that clinical researchers need to know the behavior of the grafted cells in appropriate experimental conditions to design efficient clinical protocols.

This chapter addresses current knowledge that could be useful for future clinical applications of cell transplantation to treat skeletal muscle pathologies. For this reason, and considering warnings regarding the poor clinical predictability of studies in mice [7,8], priority will be given to observations made in humans and nonhuman primates. The chapter is organized to address three main questions: (1) why myoblasts meet the properties needed for the aim of the treatment, (2) how the muscle precursor cells can be properly delivered to the target tissues, and (3) how to ensure the long-term survival of the graft.

# SATELLITE CELL–DERIVED MYOBLASTS MEET THE PROPERTIES NEEDED FOR TRANSPLANTATION IN SKELETAL MUSCLES

The term "myoblast" defines the proliferating mononuclear progenitor cells that fuse with analogous cells to form myotubes, the syncytial stage in the process of myogenesis that, under adequate conditions, precedes myofiber formation. This applies to every case in which this phenomenon occurs; that is, during skeletal muscle embryogenesis, in postnatal myofiber regeneration, and in vitro culture of skeletal muscle cells. To be specific in the terminology, avoiding confusion between myoblasts involved in postnatal muscle regeneration or proliferated in vitro from

#### 55. INTRAMUSCULAR MYOBLAST TRANSPLANTATION

skeletal muscle biopsies (both derived from satellite cells) and somite-derived myoblasts involved in muscle embryogenesis, we will use the term "satellite cell-derived myoblasts" (SCDMs) for the first two cases.

Any cell transplantation strategy involves the graft of either differentiated cells or precursor cells with the ability to differentiate into the former. In the skeletal muscle, the differentiated cells responsible for muscle contraction, that is, the myofibers, are not proper for transplantation in clinical regenerative medicine because they are long multinucleated syncytia that cannot be proliferated in vitro or adequately implanted to rebuild a muscle. The possibility of a more efficient cell transplantation in this context is offered by the specific stem cell of the skeletal muscle: that is, the satellite cell. The main function of satellite cells is to repair myofiber damage. They are normally quiescent in the periphery of myofibers until an injury produces focal or total necrosis of a nearby myofiber, triggering a process that involves the removal of myofiber debris by phagocytic cells and the activation of dormant satellite cells, which differentiate into proliferating SCDMs. Murine models demonstrate that muscle regeneration is not possible when satellite cells are depleted [9–11], which confirms that the mainstay of muscle regeneration is the sequence: satellite cells  $\rightarrow$  SCDMs  $\rightarrow$  myotubes  $\rightarrow$  myofibers. Satellite cells can be isolated from skeletal muscle biopsies by standard cell-culture techniques and can be expanded as SCDMs in vitro, maintaining their capacity to fuse into myotubes that will differentiate into myofibers under appropriate conditions. This relative simplicity to obtain and proliferate these cells in vitro facilitated the use of SCDMs for cell transplantation.

# Relevant Properties of Satellite Cell–Derived Myoblasts for Cell Transplantation in the Skeletal Muscle

Lipton and Schultz reported for the first time in 1979 the two main myogenic properties of exogenous SCDMs implanted into skeletal muscles [12]: (1) they fuse with the recipient's myofibers, and (2) they form new small myofibers by fusing the grafted cells among themselves. The first property allows gene complementation, that is, myofibers in which exogenous myogenic cells are incorporated express proteins coded by the exogenous and endogenous myonuclei [13], which are thus referred to as "mosaic" or "hybrid" [14]. Through gene complementation, grafted SCDMs can act as vehicles of therapeutic genes, for example by introducing normal genomes in the genetically abnormal myofiber of a patient with a recessive genetic myopathy. The second property opens the door to the possibility of forming new myofibers in patients in which the skeletal-muscle parenchyma has been lost. A third property of SCDM transplantation, which was reported later, is the possibility of developing into new graft-derived satellite cells. Fig. 55.1 illustrates the properties, in terms of myogenic outcomes, of SCDM transplantation.

#### Gene Complementation

The first experimental demonstration of this phenomenon as a consequence of cell transplantation in the skeletal muscle was reported by Partridge et al. in 1989 [15]. They transplanted normal mouse SCDMs in *mdx* mice (which, as patients with DMD, have a myopathy caused by the deficiency of the protein named dystrophin) and observed several myofibers expressing dystrophin a few weeks later. The same observation was repeated soon by other researchers [16,17] and is now routine in research in this area. Other proteins restored by normal SCDM transplantation in mouse models of muscular dystrophies were merosin in dy/dy mice (a model of merosin-deficient congenital muscle dystrophy) [18] and dysferlin in SJL mice (model of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy 2B) [19]. In humans, occasional observations of increased dystrophin expression after allotransplantation in DMD patients of SCDMs from nonmyopathic donors were reported during clinical trials conducted in the 1990s, but these observations were not conclusive and most patients gave negative results [6]. It was not until more recent clinical trials, based on translational preclinical studies in nonhuman primates, that it was shown that donor-derived dystrophin can be expressed systematically in the muscles of patients with DMD locally injected with normal SCDMs (Fig. 55.2) [20–23], provided certain conditions are met (as explained subsequently).

A critical factor complicating the protocol of intramuscular cell implantation (in the cases in which we sought to obtain a homogeneous and significant genetic complementation in a whole large muscle) is that the intracellular proteins encoded by a single myonucleus remain localized near the nucleus of origin, in a region named the "nuclear domain" [24]. This restriction is produced by the limited diffusion of both the messenger RNA (mRNA) [25] and protein [26]. Consequently, proteins from graft-derived myonuclei are expressed only in the myofiber segments where fusion of the grafted cells was produced (Fig. 55.1E). The size of the nuclear domain depends on the capacity of a given protein to diffuse or remain anchored to stationary cellular components [26]. As an example, single injections of ß-galactosidase—labeled normal SCDMs into *mdx* mice produced dystrophin expression throughout



FIGURE 55.1 Myogenic properties of satellite cell–derived myoblasts (SCDMs) after injection in a skeletal muscle. Grafted elements are represented in *blue* and endogenous in *red*. After their intramuscular injection (A), some SCDMs migrate (B) through chemotactic gradients (*pink gradation*) toward regions of myofiber regeneration (C), which is the consequence of myofiber damage leading to segmental necrosis (D). Grafted SCDMs are recruited in this myofiber regeneration, fusing with the endogenous SCDMs (C). When regeneration is completed, the coexistence of grafted myonuclei with endogenous myonuclei leads to a hybrid myofiber (E), in which genetic complementation leads to the expression of graft-derived proteins around the graft-derived myonuclei. Some grafted cells, on the other hand, can develop into new graft-derived satellite cells (F). Finally, some grafted SCDMs can fuse among themselves to form myotubes (G) that under adequate conditions become new graft-derived myofibers (H).

roughly 500  $\mu$ m of the myofiber, in contrast with 1500  $\mu$ m for  $\beta$ -galactosidase [27]. This difference was even more striking when dystrophin expression was compared with green fluorescent protein [28]. The longer domain of  $\beta$ -galactosidase and green fluorescent protein should be attributed to the solubility of these proteins, resulting in spreading more than dystrophin, which remains attached to the cytoskeleton.

#### Formation of New Myofibers

In DMD and other degenerative myopathies, progressive worsening of muscle weakness is produced by the steady and irreversible loss of myofibers. An ideal treatment for the advanced stages of these diseases may include not only molecular correction but also restoration of functional myofibers.

The potential of SCDM transplantation to restore skeletal muscle mass and strength was reported in mice after acute severe muscle destruction [29-31]. These experimental conditions, however, are not similar to those of a



**FIGURE 55.2** Allotransplantation of normal satellite cell-derived myoblasts in 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of the tibialis anterior of a patient with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, in a Phase 1A clinical trial conducted by the authors. (A) Several parallel intramuscular cell injections are being done with a 100- $\mu$ L Hamilton syringe. The cells are delivered homogeneously during the needle withdrawal, and the density of cell injections is controlled with the help of a sterile transparent dressing with a grid. (B) The cross-section of a biopsy performed 1 month later in a cell-grafted site is shown stained for the red fluorescent immunodetection of dystrophin. (C) The schematic representation of the histological image in (B) illustrates the distribution of the dystrophin-positive myofibers in this biopsy: in *black*, dystrophin-positive myofibers; in *red*, muscle tissue; in *blue*, connective tissue; the *white spaces* correspond essentially to fat tissue. (D) Isolating the dystrophin-positive myofiber profiles of the previous image, it can be seen that they are distributed roughly in parallel axes corresponding with the original trajectories of the injections (indicated by the *arrow*). (B) Scale bar = 500 µm.

degenerative myopathy in which the damage is progressive and leads to a loss of the tissue scaffold owing to the fibrotic and fat replacement [6]. The tissue scaffold, which remains preserved in the acute muscle damage experiments in mice but is lost in degenerative myopathies, seems essential for the regeneration of myofibers [32]. How cell transplantation might form new functional myofibers in skeletal muscles that have degenerated to fibrosis and/or fat substitution remains insufficiently studied. A study in mice suggested that it could be possible to create myotubes within the adipose tissue [33]. Otherwise, neoformation of small ectopic muscles was observed after subcutaneous implantation of SCDMs in mice, despite the absence of a previous endomysial support [34]. In *mdx* mice, formation of new myofibers through the fusion of the implanted SCDMs among themselves was observed after irradiation of the recipient muscle [35].

Progressing from these few observations to a clinically functional procedure remains a challenge, among other factors, because these results were obtained in mice, which have intrinsically greater muscle regeneration capacity than do primates [36]. A clinical observation encouraging this research is the presence of small dystrophin-positive myofibers, putatively neoformed, in patients with DMD who were transplanted with normal SCDMs (Fig. 55.3) [20].



FIGURE 55.3 Probable neoformation of small graft-derived myofibers after satellite cell-derived myoblast (SCDM) transplantation in a patient with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). The figure shows serial cross-sections of a muscle biopsy performed in the tibialis anterior of a 16-year-old patient with DMD, transplanted 1 month before with SCDMs proliferated in vitro from a muscle biopsy from his father. Sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) (A) and for fluorescent immunodetection of dystrophin with MANEX50, an antibody that detects an epitope coded by exon 50 of the dystrophin gene (B). Because this was the exon deleted in this patient, this antibody confirms that this dystrophin is of donor origin. A cluster of small myofibers dispersed into an extrafascicular accumulation of connective tissue is indicated between *arrowheads*. All of these small myofibers exhibit donor-derived dystrophin. Studies in nonhuman primates supported the interpretation that this corresponds to myofiber neoformation caused by the fusion of the grafted SCDMs among them in the connective tissue. Scale bars = 100 µm.

# Formation of Graft-Derived Satellite Cells

Transplants of mouse and human SCDMs into mouse muscles showed that some grafted SCDMs remained as mononuclear cells able to participate later in muscle regeneration and also proliferate and form myotubes in vitro [37–39]. Morphological studies showed specifically that graft-derived satellite cells were produced by the transplantation of mouse SCDMs [31,34,40] and human SCDMs [41,42] in mouse muscles (Fig. 55.4). Some observations suggest that this phenomenon could also occur after SCDM transplantation in humans: Donor-derived mononuclear cells were detected in the muscles of patients with DMD who received SCDM allotransplantations from nonmyopathic donors, and some of the donor-derived nuclei were in locations susceptible to corresponding to satellite cells [20,43].

This may imply that the potential therapeutic effect of SCDM transplantation is not limited to the early fusion of the implanted cells, but should also ensure a permanent source of normal satellite cells to participate in muscle hypertrophy and regeneration. Moreover, this could mean that the percentage of myofibers expressing donor-derived dystrophin may increase over time, if a process similar to that described in *mdx* mice regarding the expansion of clusters of myofibers expressing revertant dystrophin is produced [44].



FIGURE 55.4 Graft-derived satellite cells formed by the transplantation of human satellite cell–derived myoblasts (SCDMs) in immunodeficient mice. The figure shows a single myofiber in a cross-section of a skeletal muscle of an immunodeficient mouse transplanted 4 weeks before with SCDMs from an adult human. Different elements are evidenced by fluorescent immunodetection in confocal microscopy. The peripheral nuclear labeling of human lamin A/C (*green fluorescence*) evidences two human nuclei in the periphery of the myofiber (visible by contrast enhancement). One of them (*arrow*) shows a typical intranuclear staining of Pax7, a marker of satellite cells (*red fluorescence*). Immunodetection of laminin (*blue fluorescence*) evidences that this nucleus is in the periphery of the myofiber inside the basal lamina: that is, in the anatomical position of a satellite cell. Scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m.

# **CELL ADMINISTRATION**

Once appropriate cells for transplantation are produced, the following step is to deliver them to the target tissue in such a way that the cell graft will reach a therapeutic objective. Two main routes have been explored for cell transplantation in myology: local intramuscular injection and intravascular infusion.

Intravascular administration, essentially by the intraarterial route, was reported to produce significant levels of gene complementation using some cell types under specific experimental conditions in mice and dogs [45–48]. Among these cells, the so-called "mesoangioblasts" were considered the most attractive for cell therapy in myology, given the excellent results of gene complementation reported in mice and dogs by one group [45,46]. In contrast, a clinical trial of intraarterial administration of mesoangioblasts in patients with DMD gave negative results [49], questioning the clinical predictability of the previous animal studies. With regard to SCDMs, few studies of intraarterial infusion have been performed in rats [50] and nonhuman primates [51]. In both cases, it was observed that the SCDMs were able to fuse with myofibers, depending on a concomitant mechanical damage in the muscles [50,51]. The analysis of nonhuman primate tissues showed that the intraarterially injected SCDMs were mostly trapped in the capillary network of the limb irrigated by the injected artery (in all tissues analyzed) and that the production of microemboli in the arterioles produced small muscular microinfarcts [51].

Because the only positive results confirmed in humans have been obtained with local administration of SCDMs by intramuscular injections, the rest of the chapter will be dedicated to this route of administration.

### **Density of Cell Injections**

The main constraint of the intramuscular route is that the injected cells contribute to muscle regeneration essentially around the injection trajectories, and mostly in the myofibers damaged during the injection. This is clearly observed in nonhuman primates, in which each SCDM injection leads an irregular "strip" of hybrid myofiber profiles in histological muscle cross-sections [52–55], constituting a histological pattern called "bands of engraftment" [55] (Figs. 55.5 and 55.6). An almost similar pattern, although sometimes less defined, was observed after injections of normal SCDMs in patients with DMD (Fig. 55.2) [20,22].

Because protein expression is limited to nuclear domains, which are short in the case of dystrophin, as mentioned earlier, cell injections must be placed close to each other and must reach the whole muscle to obtain a homogeneous expression of graft-derived proteins throughout a muscle in which the only myofiber regeneration that occurs is produced by the injection damage. Consequently, the extent of gene complementation in a muscle will depend on the density of the matrix of cell injections: that is, on the number of injections per surface of the matrix (Fig. 55.5C and D) [53]. The highest percentages of dystrophin-positive myofibers after normal SCDM transplants in DMD patients were indeed obtained when at least 100 cell injections/cm<sup>2</sup> were performed [20–23]. This form of cell implantation was denominated "high-density injections" [6], to make a distinction from the earlier clinical trials of SCDM transplantation, which performed few injections distant from each other.

#### Technical Approaches for Intramuscular Transplantation

In a clinical context, a high-density injection protocol performed with precision syringes operated manually is adequate only for small volumes of muscle [20,22]. Done in that way, the method is slow and needs much concentration to ensure the depth of the intramuscular cell delivery permanently; it becomes excessively time-consuming and technically exigent for large volumes of muscle. A first attempt to alleviate this problem partially was to adapt for cell injection some laboratory dispensers initially developed for the repetitive delivery of small volumes of liquid [56]. A monosyringe dispenser became a routine instrument for SCDM transplantations in monkeys (Fig. 55.5B) [57] and was used for SCDM transplants in a patient with DMD [21]. However, its clinical use is limited to relatively small muscles and the precision needed to deliver the cells through a thick skin remains a challenge. Consequently, we determined the need to develop specific instruments for the percutaneous intramuscular injection of cells in a clinical setting. A first semimanual device was created to deliver very small quantities of cell suspension, homogeneously throughout the intramuscular trajectory of six needles at the same time, which avoids wasting in skin and hypodermis [58] (Fig. 55.7).



**FIGURE 55.5** Examples of intramuscular satellite cell–derived myoblast (SCDM) transplantations in nonhuman primates. In most studies, SCDMs are delivered through parallel, close intramuscular injections using either a precision syringe operated manually (A) or a repeating dispenser with a precision syringe (B). As in some clinical trials (see Fig. 55.2), the density of cell injections is controlled with a sterile transparent dressing with a 5-mm grid. After 1 month, fusion of the grafted cells with the recipient's myofibers is analyzed in cross-sections of muscle biopsies using histological techniques to detect transgenic proteins that labeled the grafted cells (C–E). Histological images show cross-sections of macaque muscles grafted with transgenic SCDMs labeled either with β-galactosidase (β-Gal) (C, D) or a micro-dystrophin coupled to a peptide tag (E). Myofibers expressing donor-derived proteins are respectively detected by histochemical detection of β-Gal (C, D, *greenish blue staining*) or fluorescent immunohistological detection of the peptide tag (E). The distribution of the myofibers expressing donor-derived proteins reproduces the pattern of the original cell injections was higher:  $25/cm^2$  in (C) and  $100/cm^2$  in (D). Scale bars: (C, D) = 500 µm; (E) = 200 µm.

#### Potential Risks of the Cell Injection Procedure

A protocol of high-density injections may involve risks that need to be avoided or controlled. These risks could be local and systemic, and according to experience in nonhuman primates, they are limited to the first posttransplantation days.

Locally, a monkey's biceps brachium is swollen the first day after transplantation, but it reaches its pretransplantation diameter after 5 days [52]. This implies risks for a compartment syndrome in muscles enclosed in a rigid osteofascial space. The monkey's biceps brachium tolerates this treatment well, but for muscles such as the tibialis anterior it may be necessary to proceed cautiously in humans. The first tests in some arm muscles of a



**FIGURE 55.6** Representation of how the pattern of bands of engraftment is formed after the injection of satellite cell–derived myoblasts (SCDMs) in the muscles of nonhuman primates. (A) Cell injection traversing a muscle fascicle and delivering the cells homogeneously during the needle withdrawal. (B–G) The process of grafted-cell uptake in two myofibers isolated from this fascicle. Myofibers are damaged by the injection needle (B) and experience segmental necrosis (C). The necrotic region is invaded by circulating monocytes (D), which become macrophages with two main functions: phagocytosis of the necrotic debris and release of factors helping myofiber regeneration. Myofiber regeneration is done by activating the recipient satellite cells, which proliferate as SCDMs that fuse together (E). The regenerative process recruits grafted SCDMs (E). The nuclei of the grafted cells that participated in SCDM fusion are integrated in the myotubes that fill the gap led by segmental myofiber necrosis (F). Later, these graft-derived nuclei allow the expression of graft-derived proteins throughout a restricted length of the myofiber (G). This process leads to restricted regions of donor-protein expression in the fascicle (H), which are observed as bands of engraftment in cross-sections of the cell-grafted muscle (I). In this case (I), as in most SCDM transplantation studies in nonhuman primates, the grafted cells were labeled with a gene coding for  $\beta$ -galactosidase and the result of the graft after 1 month is evaluated through  $\beta$ -galactosidase expression (*greenish blue staining*) in the myofibers.



**FIGURE 55.7** First device designed for the percutaneous transplantation of cells by a high-density injection protocol, shown during satellite cell-derived myoblast (SCDM) transplantation in a biceps brachium of a macaque. This prototype delivers very small quantities of cell suspension through up to six standard disposable needles (A), from a container incorporated into the device (B). From this container, the cell suspension circulates toward the injection needles during the up-and-down movements of a precision syringe (C). To deliver the cells in the muscle and not the skin, the operator can set the adjustable foot (D) to leave the needle length necessary to go through the skin and hypodermis (estimated by ultrasound analysis). The amplitude of the needles' excursion into the muscle can be set with a knob (E), using the indicator of injection depth as a reference (F). The operator then introduces the needles until the foot touches the skin surface (D); thus, the tips of the needles should be at the muscle surface. Pressing the push button (G), the needles penetrate the muscle and the precision syringe (C) is filled with cell suspension. Once the needles reach the depth of injection, they are automatically retracted to their original position and the cells are delivered into the needles' trajectory during this movement. Then the operator withdraws the needles and restarts the sequence in another position. Two valves (H) control the appropriate circulation of the cell suspension. The container, syringe, and needles are linked by a plastic support (I) that includes the flow divisor. An electromechanical system into the device's body governs the injection sequence. *Reproduced from reference Skuk D. Cell transplantation and "stem cell therapy" in the treatment of myopathies: many promises in mice, few realities in humans. ISRN Stem Cells 2013;2013:25, Article ID 582689.* 

patient with DMD were well-tolerated [21], although in this case the muscles were largely replaced by fibrosis and fat tissue.

Systemically, extensive muscle damage releases intracellular metabolites such as myoglobin and potassium. This implies risks for cardiac arrhythmia in the case of severe hyperkalemia and acute renal failure in the case of myoglobinuria. However, both phenomena were not observed after high-density cell injections in the biceps brachii of monkeys [52]. Indeed, maintaining muscle damage in each transplant session under the potentially hazardous limits might prevent this problem. As an example, high-density injections throughout two biceps brachii in monkeys increased serum creatine-kinase to 2000 U/L [52] whereas the risk for acute renal failure is considered to be at 16,000 U/L [59]. This problem was not observed in a first test in a human, but the volumes of muscle injected were proportionally smaller than those used in monkeys, and as indicated earlier, these muscles were largely replaced by fibrosis and fat tissue [21].

### Improving the Efficiency of Cell Injections

A lower density of cell injections is desirable, but to reach this objective, the volume of muscle expressing a therapeutic protein (e.g., dystrophin) after each single-cell injection must be increased. This could be achieved by (1) making the implanted cells to fuse with myofibers other than those around the injection trajectory, or (2)

increasing the nuclear domain of the therapeutic protein. This last possibility has rarely been investigated: only one study in *mdx* mice reported a threefold increase in the nuclear domain of dystrophin after transplantation of SCDMs overexpressing dystrophin [27].

Making the grafted cells to fuse with myofibers other than those close to the injection trajectory implies first knowing why this happens. Two factors were previously mentioned to explain why the grafted SCDMs fuse mostly with the myofibers in the trajectory of injections: (1) the grafted SCDMs lack the capacity to move through the tissue and therefore remain in the injection trajectories to fuse with the neighboring myofibers; and/or (2) the grafted SCDMs have the capacity to move through the tissue but myofiber regeneration is mandatory to attract the transplanted SCDMs to fuse with them, and in a normal muscle this occurs only in the myofibers damaged by the injection.

Addressing the first factor, various studies wanted promotion of the intramuscular diffusion of the grafted SCDMs by inducing in them the secretion of enzymes that degrade the extracellular matrix [60–63]. Several of these studies improved the migration capacity of SCDMs under experimental conditions in vitro and in vivo in mice, and even enhanced the transplantation outcome. However, the first tests in monkeys were disappointing and suggested that an increasing migration capacity in the implanted SCDMs does not augment the success of their transplantation per se [63]. Subsequent experiments in nonhuman primates demonstrated that grafted SCDMs have an intrinsic capacity to migrate several millimeters into the muscle, but that they migrate essentially to fuse with regenerating myofibers in a mechanically damaged tissue [64].

Addressing the second factor, other experiments increased the number of regenerating myofibers to favor the uptake of the grafted SCDMs. Local injection of myotoxins such as phospholipases derived from snake venoms [17,65] and local anesthetics [66,67] are efficient in small rodents for this purpose. Intense muscular exercise produced extensive myofiber necrosis and almost doubled the success of SCDM transplantation in dystrophic mice [68]. Conjointly, inhibiting the proliferation of the recipient's satellite cells favors the participation of the grafted SCDMs in myofiber regeneration. This is achieved in mice by exposing the recipient muscles to high doses of ionizing radiation before cell transplantation [17,69]. Cryoinjury of recipient muscles necroses myofibers and satellite cells and has been used in mice as a pretreatment to favor the implanted cells [30,31,41].

In nonhuman primates, the coinjection of SCDMs and myotoxic phospholipases improved the outcome of SCDM transplantation but only when SCDMs and myotoxins were highly concentrated in the muscle [52,70]. A method that was especially efficient in inducing extensive myofiber regeneration in the large muscles of nonhuman primates, with the consequent increase of the SCDM engraftment in extensive zones, was intramuscular electroporation [71]. In the event that one of these methods could be translated to the clinic, it should be taken into account that increasing muscle damage would reduce the volume of muscle to be treated in one session, considering the risk for a rhabdomyolysis-like phenomenon as mentioned earlier.

#### CELL-GRAFT SURVIVAL

Once a good delivery of the appropriate cells is obtained, their survival in the recipient must be ensured. The posttransplantation survival of myogenic-cells should be analyzed for two periods: the initial (the first week) and the long-term (the life span of the patient).

## **Initial Survival**

There is a consensus that an important mortality occurs among grafted SCDMs rapidly after their intramuscular implantation, essentially within the first week posttransplantation. This was deduced by the progressive loss of different grafted-cell markers after SCDM transplantation in mice [72–74]. In addition, morphological evidence of apoptosis and necrosis was found among the grafted SCDMs early after implantation [74].

This early cell death does not prevent the outcome of SCDM transplantation, because not all cells die, and in some mouse experiments the proliferation of the surviving cells compensated totally [74] or partially [73] the cell death. This initial cell death is not well-understood, and studies approaching this topic show contradictions, probably because of methodological differences [74]. An early study in mice blamed cells of the acute inflammatory reaction for killing the implanted SCDMs [72], but later experiments found no evidence of neutrophil, macrophage, or natural killer cell responsibility in this death [75]. It was also postulated that the survival of the graft could be caused by a special small subpopulation of cells that specifically avoid early cell death and proliferate greatly [73]. Other mechanisms proposed to be responsible for causing apoptosis among SCDMs grafted in mice were hypoxia [76] and anoikis [77].



**FIGURE 55.8** Ischemic necrosis in an intramuscular accumulation of grafted satellite cell-derived myoblasts 1 day after their transplantation in the skeletal muscle of a nonhuman primate. *Arrowheads* in (A) circumscribe the intramuscular accumulation of grafted cells in a section stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E). Two regions with different staining characteristics can be observed in this cell accumulation: a darker peripheral ring (a) and a paler core (b). In a serial section (B) stained for histochemical detection of the oxidative enzyme nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced diaphorase (NADH), the two regions are more clearly delimitated: a peripheral ring strongly stained (a: living cells with oxidative activity) and a central region almost devoid of oxidative reaction (b: necrosed cells with a loss of oxidative activity). A detail of this accumulation of grafted cells (*rectangle* in [A]) is shown at higher magnification in (C). (C) The peripheral layer (a) is composed of cells with normal characteristics, whereas the core (b) has smaller cells with pyknosis, karyorrhexis, and in several cases, loss of cytoplasmic staining. Scale bars: (A, B) = 200 µm; (C) = 50 µm. *Reproduced from reference Skuk D. Cell transplantation and "stem cell therapy" in the treatment of myopathies: many promises in mice, few realities in humans. ISRN Stem Cells 2013;2013:25, Article ID 582689.* 

Otherwise, a well-determined mechanism of rapid grafted-cell death detected in monkeys is the ischemic necrosis of the central part of the intramuscular accumulations of grafted SCDMs (Fig. 55.8) [78]. Injected cells form avascular accumulations and their survival depends on the oxygen and nutrients diffusing from the surrounding tissue. Because this diffusion is limited, only a peripheral cell layer of about 100–200 µm survives. For this reason, the amount of central necrosis depends on the size of the grafted-cell clusters [78].

#### Long-term Survival

The principal threat to the long-term survival of SCDM grafts is acute rejection in inadequately immunosuppressed allogeneic transplantation, as confirmed in nonhuman primates [79]. Acute rejection in the context of SCDM transplants was extensively studied in mice since the first description of lymphocyte infiltration and grafted SCDM disappearance soon after allogeneic transplantation [80]. Subsequent studies identified CD8+ and CD4+ lymphocytes in these infiltrates [81,82], and expression of interleukin-2 receptors, T-helper 1 cytokine, and granzyme B confirmed that these were activated lymphocytes [83,84]. Incompatibility in minor antigens can also trigger acute rejection of hybrid myofibers, as observed in mice after syngeneic transplantation into females of SCDMs obtained from males [85].
However, observations in mice were not useful in the analysis of immune responses and acute rejection in clinical trials of SCDM transplantation [20,21]. For this purpose, studies in nonhuman primates defined the histological features of acute rejection of hybrid myofibers [79]. Independent of the way to induce acute rejection of the hybrid myofibers (withdrawal of immunosuppression, low immunosuppression, or progressive reduction of immunosuppression) and of the posttransplantation period in which rejection occurs, graft loss was associated in all cases with myositis characterized by dense focal accumulations of CD8+ and CD4+ lymphocytes and a more diffuse component of macrophages [79]. Typically, these lymphocyte accumulations were mainly endomysial, totally or partially surrounding some myofibers and often invading them. Some mechanisms by which the immune system eliminates the hybrid myofibers were identified: There was evidence of sarcolemmal damage in the myofiber regions invaded by lymphocytes, together with myofiber necrosis and caspase 3 activation in some of the myofibers attacked by CD8+ lymphocytes [86].

# Ensuring Cell Survival in the Recipient

Early cell death among grafted SCDMs is misunderstood. For that reason, it has not been prevented efficiently. However, because this death does not devastate the population of implanted SCDMs, which seems well-restored by the proliferation of the surviving cells, the only potential benefit of inhibiting it would theoretically be a reduction in the number of cells to be injected [87]. This would not be totally insignificant, because it has been estimated in nonhuman primates that the number of SCDMs to be injected per cubic centimeter of muscle, using matrices of 100 injections/cm<sup>2</sup>, is between  $10 \times 10^6$  and  $100 \times 10^6$  cells [55]. Conversely, massive ischemic central necrosis can be prevented or reduced by ensuring the formation of accumulations of grafted SCDMs in which most cells are within  $100-200 \,\mu$ m of the surrounding tissue [78].

Acute rejection, on the other hand, precludes the survival of an SCDM allograft. Whereas acute rejection is efficiently controlled by pharmacological immunosuppression, careful selection of the drugs is required for SCDM transplantation because some of them kill and/or inhibit differentiation of the grafted SCDMs [6]. Because the best results of SCDM allotransplantation in mice were reported using tacrolimus for immunosuppression [17], this drug became the immunosuppressant of choice for SCDM allotransplantation in monkeys [57] and consequently in humans [20–23]. The first clinical trial of SCDM transplantation with tacrolimus immunosuppression involved follow-up of only 1 month [20,22], but a patient in whom tacrolimus was continued for 18 months showed preservation of donor-derived dystrophin during that time [21].

Because pharmacological immunosuppression has severe secondary effects, a main objective in clinical transplantation is to create immune tolerance: that is, long-term specific unresponsiveness to grafts with preservation of immune reactions against other foreign antigens. In mice, a transient immunosuppression can be sufficient to develop immune tolerance to SCDM allotransplants in some strains or to delay acute rejection for months in others [30,88] but in nonhuman primates, immunosuppression withdrawal causes rapid acute rejection of the hybrid myofibers [79,86]. This is another example of how immune tolerance is more easily obtained in mice than in monkeys or humans [89]. Some protocols to develop immune tolerance were tested for SCDM transplantations in mice. Central tolerance via mixed chimerism [90,91] was more successful than peripheral tolerance combining donorspecific transfusion and administration of anti-CD154 antibodies [92]. However, central tolerance in the context of myogenic-cell allotransplantation may not include neoantigens appearing in the hybrid myofibers and would also need peripheral-tolerance mechanisms to avoid acute rejection [93].

Another approach to avoiding immunosuppression in this context is the autotransplantation of SCDMs genetically corrected ex vivo [94]. Tests in mice with different viral vectors or transfection approaches to introducing the therapeutic transgene in SCDMs were considered to be promising for future development with this approach [94], and the feasibility of this strategy was also tested in macaques [54]. However, some of these tactics leave open the possibility of a rejection owing to incompatibility of minor antigens, essentially neoantigens from the product of the transgene incorporated in the cells [95].

# CONCLUSIONS

To reach a therapeutic objective, cell transplantation basically needs three conditions: a cell that meets the properties required for the treatment, a method of cell administration that ensures that the treatment could be clinically relevant, and conditions to ensure the survival of the graft throughout the life of the recipient. So far, SCDMs are the only myogenic cells that have passed a clinical test of cell transplantation in skeletal muscles, restoring dystrophin in

#### REFERENCES

variable amounts of myofibers in patients with DMD. Intramuscular implantation through a protocol of highdensity injections is the only method that has produced relevant percentages of hybrid myofibers in humans. Finally, a tacrolimus-based immunosuppression is the only method that has been successfully tested in nonhuman primates and humans to ensure the survival of the hybrid myofibers produced by SCDM allografts.

Some important challenges remain to render this technique applicable in clinics with any expected benefit for patients. A main challenge is to enhance the success of SCDM transplantation further while reducing the density of cell injections. Another challenge is a main problem in the global context of transplantation: that is, minimizing as much as possible the toxicity of the methods needed to control graft rejection. This could be achieved by refining immunosuppressive protocols or developing efficient approaches to immune tolerance. Cell transplantation also offers the alternative of manipulating cells before transplantation to avoid immunosuppression, which opens the possibility of autotransplantation of genetically corrected cells. Finally, the capacity to restore the functional parenchyma in skeletal muscles that have degenerated to fibrosis and/or fat substitution remains unsolved and barely studied. However, this would be the only possibility of restoring muscle function in degenerative muscular pathologies such as DMD.

# List of Abbreviations

**DMD** Duchenne muscular dystrophy **SCDM** Satellite cell-derived myoblast

# Glossary

- **Myoblast** Proliferating mononuclear progenitor cell that fuses with analogous cells to form myotubes: that is, syncytial multinucleated cells with central nuclei, a small diameter, and few myofibrils, which under adequate conditions (essentially motor innervation) precedes myofiber formation.
- **Myofiber** Syncytial multinucleated cells of cylindrical shape that are the terminally differentiated contractile units of the skeletal muscle, composed essentially of contractile proteins (myosin and actin) organized in sarcomeres and that have a specialized system for excitation—contraction coupling.
- Satellite cell Mononuclear myogenic precursor cell located in the periphery of myofibers, between the basement membrane and the sarcolemma, where it remains quiescent while the muscle myofiber remains intact, and is activated when the myofiber is damaged, reentering the cell cycle to: (a) generate myoblasts to regenerate the myofiber and (b) give rise to other satellite cells to maintain the pool of muscle progenitors.
- Satellite cell-derived myoblasts Myoblasts involved in postnatal myofiber regeneration that are generated by the activation and proliferation of satellite cells, either in vivo, in response to a myofiber injury that causes segmental or total necrosis and therefore needs to be repaired or in vitro, during the cell culture of skeletal muscle biopsies.

# References

- Partridge TA, Grounds M, Sloper JC. Evidence of fusion between host and donor myoblasts in skeletal muscle grafts. Nature 1978;273(5660): 306-8.
- [2] Perie S, Trollet C, Mouly V, Vanneaux V, Mamchaoui K, Bouazza B, et al. Autologous myoblast transplantation for oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy: a phase I/IIa clinical study. Mol Ther 2014;22(1):219–25.
- [3] Vilquin JT, Marolleau JP, Sacconi S, Garcin I, Lacassagne MN, Robert I, et al. Normal growth and regenerating ability of myoblasts from unaffected muscles of facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy patients. Gene Therapy 2005;12(22):1651–62.
- [4] Strasser H, Marksteiner R, Margreiter E, Pinggera GM, Mitterberger M, Frauscher F, et al. Autologous myoblasts and fibroblasts versus collagen for treatment of stress urinary incontinence in women: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007;369(9580):2179–86.
- [5] Frudinger A, Kolle D, Schwaiger W, Pfeifer J, Paede J, Halligan S. Muscle-derived cell injection to treat anal incontinence due to obstetric trauma: pilot study with 1 year follow-up. Gut 2010;59(1):55–61.
- [6] Skuk D. Myoblast transplantation for inherited myopathies: a clinical approach. Expet Opin Biol Ther 2004;4(12):1871-85.
- [7] Perrin S. Make mouse studies work. Nature 2014;507:423-5.
- [8] Mak IW, Evaniew N, Ghert M. Lost in translation: animal models and clinical trials in cancer treatment. Am J Transl Res 2014;6(2):114-8.
- [9] Sambasivan R, Yao R, Kissenpfennig A, Van Wittenberghe L, Paldi A, Gayraud-Morel B, et al. Pax7-expressing satellite cells are indispensable for adult skeletal muscle regeneration. Development 2011;138(17):3647–56.
- [10] Lepper C, Partridge TA, Fan CM. An absolute requirement for Pax7-positive satellite cells in acute injury-induced skeletal muscle regeneration. Development 2011;138(17):3639-46.
- [11] Murphy MM, Lawson JA, Mathew SJ, Hutcheson DA, Kardon G. Satellite cells, connective tissue fibroblasts and their interactions are crucial for muscle regeneration. Development 2011;138(17):3625–37.
- [12] Lipton BH, Schultz E. Developmental fate of skeletal muscle satellite cells. Science 1979;205(4412):1292-4.
- [13] Watt DJ, Lambert K, Morgan JE, Partridge TA, Sloper JC. Incorporation of donor muscle precursor cells into an area of muscle regeneration in the host mouse. J Neurol Sci 1982;57(2–3):319–31.

#### 55. INTRAMUSCULAR MYOBLAST TRANSPLANTATION

- [14] Kikuchi T, Doerr L, Ashmore CR. A possible mechanism of phenotypic expression of normal and dystrophic genomes on succinic dehydrogenase activity and fiber size within a single myofiber of muscle transplants. J Neurol Sci 1980;45(2–3):273–86.
- [15] Partridge TA, Morgan JE, Coulton GR, Hoffman EP, Kunkel LM. Conversion of mdx myofibres from dystrophin-negative to -positive by injection of normal myoblasts. Nature 1989;337(6203):176–9.
- [16] Karpati G, Pouliot Y, Zubrzycka-Gaarn E, Carpenter S, Ray PN, Worton RG, et al. Dystrophin is expressed in mdx skeletal muscle fibers after normal myoblast implantation. Am J Pathol 1989;135(1):27–32.
- [17] Kinoshita I, Vilquin JT, Guerette B, Asselin I, Roy R, Tremblay JP. Very efficient myoblast allotransplantation in mice under FK506 immunosuppression. Muscle Nerve 1994;17(12):1407–15.
- [18] Vilquin JT, Kinoshita I, Roy B, Goulet M, Engvall E, Tome F, et al. Partial laminin alpha2 chain restoration in alpha2 chain-deficient dy/dy mouse by primary muscle cell culture transplantation. J Cell Biol 1996;133(1):185–97.
- [19] Leriche-Guerin K, Anderson LV, Wrogemann K, Roy B, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Dysferlin expression after normal myoblast transplantation in SCID and in SJL mice. Neuromuscul Disord 2002;12(2):167–73.
- [20] Skuk D, Goulet M, Roy B, Chapdelaine P, Bouchard JP, Roy R, et al. Dystrophin expression in muscles of Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients after high-density injections of normal myogenic cells. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2006;65(4):371–86.
- [21] Skuk D, Goulet M, Roy B, Piette V, Cote CH, Chapdelaine P, et al. First test of a "high-density injection" protocol for myogenic cell transplantation throughout large volumes of muscles in a Duchenne muscular dystrophy patient: eighteen months follow-up. Neuromuscul Disord 2007;17(1):38–46.
- [22] Skuk D, Roy B, Goulet M, Chapdelaine P, Bouchard JP, Roy R, et al. Dystrophin expression in myofibers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients following intramuscular injections of normal myogenic cells. Mol Ther 2004;9(3):475–82.
- [23] Skuk D, Tremblay JP. Confirmation of donor-derived dystrophin in a duchenne muscular dystrophy patient allotransplanted with normal myoblasts. Muscle Nerve 2016;54(5):979–81.
- [24] Pavlath GK, Rich K, Webster SG, Blau HM. Localization of muscle gene products in nuclear domains. Nature 1989;337(6207):570-3.
- [25] Ralston E, Hall ZW. Restricted distribution of mRNA produced from a single nucleus in hybrid myotubes. J Cell Biol 1992;119(5):1063–8.
  [26] Hall ZW, Ralston E. Nuclear domains in muscle cells. Cell 1989;59(5):771–2.
- [27] Kinoshita I, Vilquin JT, Asselin I, Chamberlain J, Tremblay JP. Transplantation of myoblasts from a transgenic mouse overexpressing dystrophin produced only a relatively small increase of dystrophin- positive membrane. Muscle Nerve 1998;21(1):91–103.
- [28] Chretien F, Dreyfus PA, Christov C, Caramelle P, Lagrange JL, Chazaud B, et al. In vivo fusion of circulating fluorescent cells with dystrophindeficient myofibers results in extensive sarcoplasmic fluorescence expression but limited dystrophin sarcolemmal expression. Am J Pathol 2005;166(6):1741–8.
- [29] Wernig A, Zweyer M, Irintchev A. Function of skeletal muscle tissue formed after myoblast transplantation into irradiated mouse muscles. J Physiol (London) 2000;522(Pt 2):333–45.
- [30] Wernig A, Irintchev A, Lange G. Functional effects of myoblast implantation into histoincompatible mice with or without immunosuppression. J Physiol (London) 1995;484(Pt 2):493–504.
- [31] Irintchev A, Langer M, Zweyer M, Theisen R, Wernig A. Functional improvement of damaged adult mouse muscle by implantation of primary myoblasts. J Physiol (London) 1997;500(Pt 3):775–85.
- [32] Vracko R, Benditt EP. Basal lamina: the scaffold for orderly cell replacement. Observations on regeneration of injured skeletal muscle fibers and capillaries. J Cell Biol 1972;55(2):406–19.
- [33] Satoh A, Labrecque C, Tremblay JP. Myotubes can be formed within implanted adipose tissue. Transplant Proc 1992;24(6):3017-9.
- [34] Irintchev A, Rosenblatt JD, Cullen MJ, Zweyer M, Wernig A. Ectopic skeletal muscles derived from myoblasts implanted under the skin. J Cell Sci 1998;111(Pt 22):3287–97.
- [35] Kinoshita I, Vilquin JT, Tremblay JP. Mechanism of increasing dystrophin-positive myofibers by myoblast transplantation: study using mdx/ beta-galactosidase transgenic mice. Acta Neuropathologica 1996;91(5):489–93.
- [36] Borisov AB. Regeneration of skeletal and cardiac muscle in mammals: do nonprimate models resemble human pathology? Wound Repair and Regeneration 1999;7(1):26–35.
- [37] Yao SN, Kurachi K. Implanted myoblasts not only fuse with myofibers but also survive as muscle precursor cells. J Cell Sci 1993;105(Pt 4): 957–63.
- [38] Gross JG, Morgan JE. Muscle precursor cells injected into irradiated mdx mouse muscle persist after serial injury. Muscle Nerve 1999;22(2): 174–85.
- [39] Ehrhardt J, Brimah K, Adkin C, Partridge T, Morgan J. Human muscle precursor cells give rise to functional satellite cells in vivo. Neuromuscul Disord 2007;17(8):631–8.
- [40] Heslop L, Beauchamp JR, Tajbakhsh S, Buckingham ME, Partridge TA, Zammit PS. Transplanted primary neonatal myoblasts can give rise to functional satellite cells as identified using the Myf5(nlacZl+) mouse. Gene Therapy 2001;8(10):778–83.
- [41] Brimah K, Ehrhardt J, Mouly V, Butler-Browne GS, Partridge TA, Morgan JE. Human muscle precursor cell regeneration in the mouse host is enhanced by growth factors. Hum Gene Ther 2004;15(11):1109–24.
- [42] Negroni E, Riederer I, Chaouch S, Belicchi M, Razini P, Di Santo J, et al. In vivo myogenic potential of human CD133+ muscle-derived stem cells: a quantitative study. Mol Ther 2009;17(10):1771–8.
- [43] Skuk D, Paradis M, Goulet M, Chapdelaine P, Rothstein DM, Tremblay JP. Intramuscular transplantation of human postnatal myoblasts generates functional donor-derived satellite cells. Mol Ther 2010;18(9):1689–97.
- [44] Yokota T, Lu QL, Morgan JE, Davies KE, Fisher R, Takeda S, et al. Expansion of revertant fibers in dystrophic mdx muscles reflects activity of muscle precursor cells and serves as an index of muscle regeneration. J Cell Sci 2006;119(Pt 13):2679–87.
- [45] Sampaolesi M, Blot S, D'Antona G, Granger N, Tonlorenzi R, Innocenzi A, et al. Mesoangioblast stem cells ameliorate muscle function in dystrophic dogs. Nature 2006;444(7119):574–9.
- [46] Sampaolesi M, Torrente Y, Innocenzi A, Tonlorenzi R, D'Antona G, Pellegrino MA, et al. Cell therapy of alpha-sarcoglycan null dystrophic mice through intra-arterial delivery of mesoangioblasts. Science 2003;301(5632):487–92.
- [47] Rouger K, Larcher T, Dubreil L, Deschamps JY, Le Guiner C, Jouvion G, et al. Systemic delivery of allogenic muscle stem cells induces longterm muscle repair and clinical efficacy in duchenne muscular dystrophy dogs. Am J Pathol 2011;179(5):2501–18.

#### REFERENCES

- [48] Benchaouir R, Meregalli M, Farini A, D'Antona G, Belicchi M, Goyenvalle A, et al. Restoration of human dystrophin following transplantation of exon-skipping-engineered DMD patient stem cells into dystrophic mice. Cell Stem Cell 2007;1(6):646–57.
- [49] Cossu G, Previtali SC, Napolitano S, Cicalese MP, Tedesco FS, Nicastro F, et al. Intra-arterial transplantation of HLA-matched donor mesoangioblasts in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. EMBO Molecular Medicine 2016;8(12):1470–1.
- [50] Neumeyer AM, DiGregorio DM, Brown Jr RH. Arterial delivery of myoblasts to skeletal muscle. Neurology 1992;42(12):2258-62.
- [51] Skuk D, Tremblay JP. First study of intra-arterial delivery of myogenic mononuclear cells to skeletal muscles in primates. Cell Transplantation 2014;23(Suppl 1):141–50.
- [52] Skuk D, Goulet M, Roy B, Tremblay JP. Myoblast transplantation in whole muscle of nonhuman primates. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2000; 59(3):197–206.
- [53] Skuk D, Goulet M, Roy B, Tremblay JP. Efficacy of myoblast transplantation in nonhuman primates following simple intramuscular cell injections: toward defining strategies applicable to humans. Exp Neurol 2002;175(1):112–26.
- [54] Quenneville SP, Chapdelaine P, Skuk D, Paradis M, Goulet M, Rousseau J, et al. Autologous transplantation of muscle precursor cells modified with a lentivirus for muscular dystrophy: human cells and primate models. Mol Ther 2007;15(2):431–8.
- [55] Skuk D, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Intramuscular transplantation of myogenic cells in primates: importance of needle size, cell number, and injection volume. Cell Transplantation 2014;23(1):13–25.
- [56] Skuk D, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Use of repeating dispensers to increase the efficiency of the intramuscular myogenic cell injection procedure. Cell Transplantation 2006;15(7):659–63.
- [57] Skuk D, Goulet M, Paradis M, Tremblay JP. Myoblast transplantation: techniques in nonhuman primates as a bridge to clinical trials. In: Soto-Gutierrez A, Navarro-Alvarez N, Fox IJ, editors. Methods in bioengineering: cell transplantation, Methods in bioengineering. Boston: Artech House; 2011. p. 219–36.
- [58] Richard PL, Gosselin C, Laliberte T, Paradis M, Goulet M, Tremblay JP, et al. A first semi-manual device for clinical intramuscular repetitive cell injections. Cell Transplantation 2010;19(1):67–78.
- [59] Ward MM. Factors predictive of acute renal failure in rhabdomyolysis. Arch Intern Med 1988;148(7):1553-7.
- [60] Lafreniere JF, Mills P, Bouchentouf M, Tremblay JP. Interleukin-4 improves the migration of human myogenic precursor cells in vitro and in vivo. Exp Cell Res 2006;312(7):1127–41.
- [61] Mills P, Dominique JC, Lafreniere JF, Bouchentouf M, Tremblay JP. A synthetic mechano growth factor E Peptide enhances myogenic precursor cell transplantation success. Am J Transplant 2007;7(10):2247–59.
- [62] Mills P, Lafreniere JF, Benabdallah BF. El Fahime el M, Tremblay JP. A new pro-migratory activity on human myogenic precursor cells for a synthetic peptide within the E domain of the mechano growth factor. Exp Cell Res 2007;313(3):527–37.
- [63] Lafreniere JF, Caron MC, Skuk D, Goulet M, Cheikh AR, Tremblay JP. Growth factor coinjection improves the migration potential of monkey myogenic precursors without affecting cell transplantation success. Cell Transplantation 2009;18(7):719–30.
- [64] Skuk D, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Transplanted myoblasts can migrate several millimeters to fuse with damaged myofibers in nonhuman primate skeletal muscle. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2011;70(9):770–8.
- [65] Vilquin JT, Asselin I, Guerette B, Kinoshita I, Roy R, Tremblay JP. Successful myoblast allotransplantation in mdx mice using rapamycin. Transplantation 1995;59(3):422–6.
- [66] Pin CL, Merrifield PA. Developmental potential of rat L6 myoblasts in vivo following injection into regenerating muscles. Dev Biol 1997; 188(1):147–66.
- [67] Cantini M, Massimino ML, Catani C, Rizzuto R, Brini M, Carraro U. Gene transfer into satellite cell from regenerating muscle: bupivacaine allows beta-Gal transfection and expression in vitro and in vivo. In vitro Cell Develop Biol Anim 1994;30A(2):131–3.
- [68] Bouchentouf M, Benabdallah BF, Mills P, Tremblay JP. Exercise improves the success of myoblast transplantation in mdx mice. Neuromuscul Disord 2006;16(8):518–29.
- [69] Morgan JE, Hoffman EP, Partridge TA. Normal myogenic cells from newborn mice restore normal histology to degenerating muscles of the mdx mouse. J Cell Biol 1990;111(6 Pt 1):2437–49.
- [70] Skuk D, Roy B, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Successful myoblast transplantation in primates depends on appropriate cell delivery and induction of regeneration in the host muscle. Exp Neurol 1999;155(1):22–30.
- [71] Skuk D, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Electroporation as a method to induce myofiber regeneration and increase the engraftment of myogenic cells in skeletal muscles of primates. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2013;72(8):723–34.
- [72] Guerette B, Skuk D, Celestin F, Huard C, Tardif F, Asselin I, et al. Prevention by anti-LFA-1 of acute myoblast death following transplantation. J Immunol 1997;159(5):2522–31.
- [73] Beauchamp JR, Morgan JE, Pagel CN, Partridge TA. Dynamics of myoblast transplantation reveal a discrete minority of precursors with stem cell-like properties as the myogenic source. J Cell Biol 1999;144(6):1113–22.
- [74] Skuk D, Caron NJ, Goulet M, Roy B, Tremblay JP. Resetting the problem of cell death following muscle-derived cell transplantation: detection, dynamics and mechanisms. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2003;62(9):951–67.
- [75] Sammels LM, Bosio E, Fragall CT, Grounds MD, van Rooijen N, Beilharz MW. Innate inflammatory cells are not responsible for early death of donor myoblasts after myoblast transfer therapy. Transplantation 2004;77(12):1790–7.
- [76] Bouchentouf M, Benabdallah BF, Bigey P, Yau TM, Scherman D, Tremblay JP. Vascular endothelial growth factor reduced hypoxia-induced death of human myoblasts and improved their engraftment in mouse muscles. Gene Therapy 2008;15(6):404–14.
- [77] Bouchentouf M, Benabdallah BF, Rousseau J, Schwartz LM, Tremblay JP. Induction of Anoikis following myoblast transplantation into SCID mouse muscles requires the Bit1 and FADD pathways. Am J Transplant 2007;7(6):1491–505.
- [78] Skuk D, Paradis M, Goulet M, Tremblay JP. Ischemic central necrosis in pockets of transplanted myoblasts in nonhuman primates: implications for cell-transplantation strategies. Transplantation 2007;84(10):1307–15.
- [79] Skuk D. Acute rejection of myofibers in nonhuman primates: key histopathologic features. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2012;71(5):398-412.
- [80] Jones PH. Implantation of cultured regenerate muscle cells into adult rat muscle. Exp Neurol 1979;66(3):602-10.
- [81] Guerette B, Asselin I, Vilquin JT, Roy R, Tremblay JP. Lymphocyte infiltration following allo- and xenomyoblast transplantation in mdx mice. Muscle Nerve 1995;18(1):39–51.

#### 55. INTRAMUSCULAR MYOBLAST TRANSPLANTATION

- [82] Irintchev A, Zweyer M, Wernig A. Cellular and molecular reactions in mouse muscles after myoblast implantation. J Neurocytol 1995;24(4): 319–31.
- [83] Guerette B, Roy R, Tremblay M, Asselin I, Kinoshita I, Puymirat J, et al. Increased granzyme B mRNA after alloincompatible myoblast transplantation. Transplantation 1995;60(9):1011–6.
- [84] Guerette B, Tremblay G, Vilquin JT, Asselin I, Gingras M, Roy R, et al. Increased interferon-gamma mRNA expression following alloincompatible myoblast transplantation is inhibited by FK506. Muscle Nerve 1996;19(7):829–35.
- [85] Boulanger A, Asselin I, Roy R, Tremblay JP. Role of non-major histocompatibility complex antigens in the rejection of transplanted myoblasts. Transplantation 1997;63(6):893–9.
- [86] Skuk D, Tremblay JP. Necrosis, sarcolemmal damage and apoptotic events in myofibers rejected by CD8+ lymphocytes: observations in nonhuman primates. Neuromuscul Disord 2012;22(11):997–1005.
- [87] Skuk D, Tremblay JP. Clarifying misconceptions about myoblast transplantation in myology. Mol Ther 2014;22(5):897-8.
- [88] Pavlath GK, Rando TA, Blau HM. Transient immunosuppressive treatment leads to long-term retention of allogeneic myoblasts in hybrid myofibers. J Cell Biol 1994;127(6 Pt 2):1923–32.
- [89] Hale DA, Dhanireddy K, Bruno D, Kirk AD. Induction of transplantation tolerance in non-human primate preclinical models. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Biol Sci 2005;360(1461):1723–37.
- [90] Camirand G, Rousseau J, Ducharme ME, Rothstein DM, Tremblay JP. Novel duchenne muscular dystrophy treatment through myoblast transplantation tolerance with anti-CD45RB, anti-CD154 and mixed chimerism. Am J Transplant 2004;4(8):1255–65.
- [91] Stephan L, Pichavant C, Bouchentouf M, Mills P, Camirand G, Tagmouti S, et al. Induction of tolerance across fully mismatched barriers by a nonmyeloablative treatment excluding antibodies or irradiation use. Cell Transplantation 2006;15(8–9):835–46.
- [92] Camirand G, Caron NJ, Turgeon NA, Rossini AA, Tremblay JP. Treatment with anti-CD154 antibody and donor-specific transfusion prevents acute rejection of myoblast transplantation. Transplantation 2002;73(3):453–61.
- [93] Camirand G, Stephan L, Rousseau J, Sackett MK, Caron NJ, Mills P, et al. Central tolerance to myogenic cell transplants does not include muscle neoantigens. Transplantation 2008;85(12):1791–801.
- [94] Quenneville SP, Tremblay JP. Ex vivo modification of cells to induce a muscle-based expression. Curr Gene Ther 2006;6(6):625-32.
- [95] Ohtsuka Y, Udaka K, Yamashiro Y, Yagita H, Okumura K. Dystrophin acts as a transplantation rejection antigen in dystrophin- deficient mice: implication for gene therapy. J Immunol 1998;160(9):4635–40.
- [96] Skuk D. Cell transplantation and "stem cell therapy" in the treatment of myopathies: many promises in mice, few realities in humans. ISRN Stem Cells 2013;2013:25. Article ID 582689.

# Islet Cell Transplantation

Juliet A. Emamaullee, Andrew Pepper, A.M. James Shapiro

Department of Surgery, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

# INTRODUCTION

# Background

Diabetes is a disease that results from impaired glucose metabolism. Approximately 90% of diabetes is caused by a defect in insulin production and/or use (type 2 diabetes mellitus [T2DM]), whereas the more severe form, type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), is caused by a complete loss of insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells within the islets of Langerhans of the pancreas. Diabetes affects more than 200 million patients worldwide and is projected to afflict at least 5% of the global adult population by 2025 [1]. As the incidence of diabetes has increased, the cost of treating these patients has skyrocketed, consuming between 7% and 13% of health care expenditure in developed countries [2]. Since the discovery of insulin in 1921, diabetes has become a treatable condition and the life expectancy of patients with diabetes has been greatly improved. However, even with diligent blood glucose monitoring and insulin administration, metabolic abnormalities associated with diabetes often lead to many chronic secondary complications, including nephropathy, retinopathy, peripheral neuropathy, coronary ischemia, stroke, amputation, erectile dysfunction, and gastroparesis [3]. In the United States, patients with diabetes represent 8% of those who are legally blind and 30% of all patients receiving dialysis caused by end-stage renal disease, and 20% of all patients receiving kidney transplants [3]. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) was conducted to determine whether intensive blood glucose regulation by frequent insulin injection or pump could prevent these long-term complications in patients with diabetes [4–6]. Results from the DCCT and subsequent Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications study clearly demonstrated that this approach improved but did not normalize glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1C) levels and significantly protected against cardiovascular disease, nephropathy, neuropathy, and retinopathy [5-8]. However, the consequence of improved glycemic control was a threefold increased risk for serious hypoglycemic reactions leading to recurrent seizures and coma [5,9]. Improvements in the size and sensitivity of insulin pumps have increased their utility and provide possible alternatives for stabilizing glycemic control in diabetic patients [10]. Insulin pump therapy can improve HbA1C levels compared with multiple daily injections of insulin, but pumps may malfunction and thus still necessitate frequent blood glucose monitoring by the user, and they have not resulted in glycemic stabilization rates achieved in islet transplantation [11,12].

Although advances in the formulation, half-life, and administration of insulin have markedly improved the quality of life and long-term survival of patients with diabetes, it has long been recognized that the restoration of an adequate islet mass would provide maximum benefit to diabetic patients, leading to a true physiological correction of the diabetic state. In the early 1960s, great advances were made in the field of renal transplantation owing to improved immunosuppressive therapies (azathioprine and corticosteroids), which prompted the first attempts in whole-pancreas transplantation [13,14]. First introduced by Kelly and Lillehei in 1966, early attempts were associated with high mortality rates and poor graft survival, with less than 3% graft function at 1 year after transplant [15]. The risk profile and long-term outcomes in whole-pancreas transplantation have been greatly improved by improvements in surgical technique, including portal venous and enteric endocrine drainage and steroid-free maintenance immunosuppression [16,17]. To date, more than 25,000 pancreas transplants have been performed worldwide for end-stage renal disease (simultaneous kidney pancreas or pancreas after kidney transplantation) or less frequently for severe hypoglycemic unawareness (pancreas transplant alone). Data collected in the International

Pancreas Transplant Registry showed that only 50% of patients who have undergone pancreas-alone transplantation remain insulin independent at 5 years despite improvements in surgical technique and immunosuppression [18-20]. Also, less than 30% of the approximately 6000 cadaveric pancreata donated each year are transplanted because of strict donor criteria and requirements for short cold ischemic time [18,21]. The surgical risks and requirement for lifelong immunosuppression have reserved pancreas-alone transplantation only for diabetic patients with the most severe and life-threatening disease, despite strong evidence that the procedure can prolong life, reverse established nephropathy, and improve quality of life. Because the major surgical complications in whole-pancreas transplantation are related to the exocrine function of the pancreas, which is not necessary to restore euglycemia in diabetic patients, it has long been recognized that  $\beta$ -cell replacement could be achieved with implantation of isolated pancreatic islets. This approach involves transplantation of a cellular graft that would be implanted using minimally invasive techniques; thus, it would avoid the risks associated with major surgery, resulting in a more widely available treatment for patients with diabetes.

# History of Islet Transplantation

The concept of islet transplantation actually preceded the discovery of insulin in 1921 by nearly 30 years (Fig. 56.1). In 1893, physicians in Bristol, England, attempted to treat a young boy who had diabetic ketoacidosis by transplanting fragments of a freshly slaughtered sheep's pancreas [22]. Although the graft ultimately failed in the absence of immunosuppression, there was temporarily improvement in the boy's state, which suggested that cells within the pancreas could stabilize diabetes. After the discovery of insulin, it was thought that exogenous insulin replacement would be an effective treatment for patients with T1DM, and therefore islet transplantation was not actively pursued. However, as insulin therapy transformed T1DM from an acute health crisis to a chronic disease, it became apparent that insulin injections could not prevent the onset of debilitating and life-threatening secondary complications. Because the first series of whole-pancreas transplants in the late 1960s were associated with poor morbidity and mortality, isolated islet transplantation gained renewed interest [23]. The first successful islet isolations and subsequent transplantation into chemically induced diabetic rodents were pioneered by



FIGURE 56.1 Timeline of notable advances in the history of islet transplantation. *GRAGIL*, Groupe Rhin–Rhône–Alpes et Genève Pour la Greffe d'Îlots de Langerh.

Dr. Paul Lacy at Washington University in St. Louis, which immediately sparked interest in implementing clinical trials [24–27]. Although euglycemia was routinely obtained in animal models of islet transplantation, clinical islet transplantation struggled to find success for most of the 1970s and 1980s. During that time, unpurified islets were infused into the portal vein, which led to many serious complications including portal vein thrombosis, portal hypertension, and disseminated intravascular coagulation [28]. While working in Lacy's group, Dr. Camillo Ricordi developed the "automated method" for high-yield islet isolation in 1989 [29]. This represented a major turning point in the field and led to the report that Lacy's group had achieved short-lived insulin independence in a patient with T1DM who had received an islet graft after a previous kidney transplant [30]. The following year, the group led by Ricordi at the University of Pittsburgh reported the first series of clinical islet allografts that demonstrated improved insulin independence rates of 50% at 1 year in subjects who underwent cluster islet-liver transplants for abdominal malignancies in the setting of surgically induced (nonautoimmune) diabetes [29,31]. Although this represented a major advance in the field of islet transplantation, these results could not be reproduced in patients with T1DM, the important patient population in need of  $\beta$ -cell replacement [32]. In the late 1990s, the European Groupe Rhin-Rhône-Alpes et Genève Pour la Greffe d'Ilots de Langerhans (GRAGIL) consortium reported the first modestly successful insulin independence rates of 20% at 1 year in patients with T1DM, which could be attributed to improved peritransplant management and immunosuppressive drug regimens [33]. Because the results from Pittsburgh and the GRAGIL consortium were obtained in patients who had previously received a kidney transplant, there was no additional risk in terms of immunosuppression to patients after receiving an islet graft [32,33]. An international registry held in Giessen, Germany, has maintained a comprehensive record of previous clinical attempts at islet transplantation globally, and of the total world experience of over 450 attempts at clinical islet transplantation before 2000, less than 8% of subjects achieved insulin independence [34]. After 3 decades of research, the 1-year insulin independence rates in clinical islet transplantation were still too low to justify the risks associated with portal infusion and lifelong immunosuppression in most patients with T1DM [33–37].

# The Edmonton Protocol

Shapiro and colleagues at the University of Alberta developed a protocol in 1999 that was designed for patients with "brittle diabetes" who experienced extreme difficulty in managing blood glucose levels ("glucose lability") and/or severe hypoglycemic unawareness [38]. The so-called "Edmonton Protocol" was unique compared with previous attempts in clinical islet transplantation in its high targeted islet mass, with a mean of approximately 13,000 islet equivalents (IE)/kg recipient body weight, often derived from two (or occasionally more) fresh islet preparations and in its immunosuppression strategy, with emphasized avoidance of corticosteroids and the use of potent immunosuppression with combined sirolimus, tacrolimus and anti-CD25 antibody to protect against rejection and recurrent autoimmunity [38]. This approach led to dramatic improvements in islet allograft survival; all of the first seven patients achieved sustained independence from insulin [38]. Almost 300 consecutive patients have received islet transplants at the University of Alberta since 1999, and the 1-year insulin independence rate remains steady at approximately 80% after completed transplants (<13,000 IE/kg). Results obtained at the University of Alberta have been replicated at other centers including an international multicenter trial through the Immune Tolerance Network, but each center's success has varied greatly depending on its previous experience and skill in islet isolation and immunosuppressive management [39,40]. The Miami group demonstrated that islets can be cultured for up to 3 days before transplant or shipped and transplanted at a remote facility (Houston) with similar success as freshly isolated islets when transplanted using Edmonton-like immunosuppression [41,42] The GRAGIL Network (a Swiss–French consortium) also demonstrated the benefits of centralized islet processing facilities that can service a broader network of centers throughout Europe [33,43].

Based on the success of the Edmonton group, islet transplantation has been funded in Alberta, Canada, as accepted clinical standard of care since 2001. Progress in this area has been challenging in the United States, but large registration trials have been completed, which should facilitate Biological Licensure by the Food and Drug Administration, and therefore reimbursement, which will make a significant difference to the availability of islets for transplantation in that country [44,45]. The success of clinical islet transplantation has encouraged many centers around the world to implement a program, and since 2000 more than 1000 patients have been transplanted using variants of the Edmonton Protocol in almost 50 centers worldwide [46].

Despite this success, the requirement for lifelong immunosuppression in islet-alone transplantation has restricted its availability to patients with T1DM and severe hypoglycemia or glycemic lability. The benefit of islet transplantation in patients with T2DM has not been determined, because many of these patients are overweight and/or insulin resistant and thus would require a large islet mass to meet metabolic demands. Most patients require two

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

or occasionally three islet implant procedures to achieve insulin independence, although insulin independence after single donor infusion was reported in a cohort of patients at the University of Minnesota [47,48]. In Edmonton, data indicate that C-peptide secretion (>0.5 ng/mL) is maintained in almost 70% of patients in the long term (up to 18 years), and through this, patients derive ongoing benefit in terms of stabilization of glycemic control without hypoglycemic reactions. Overall, a quarter of patients remain completely insulin free at 5 years, but this rises to 50% in patients treated in newer T-depleting and antiinflammatory induction protocols. Although the cause of the discrepancy between insulin independence and maintenance of C-peptide status is not fully understood, it is likely that multiple events hinder graft function and survival over time. Whereas rejection (acute or chronic) and recurrent autoimmunity may be responsible for graft loss, it is probable that other, nonimmune-mediated damage occurs, such as chronic toxicity from tacrolimus. Perhaps the most important component of decaying graft function over time is the concept of islet "burnout" from constant metabolic stimulation, because only a marginal mass of islets actually engraft in most subjects. In clinical islet transplantation, the risks for malignancy, posttransplant lymphoma, and life-threatening sepsis have been minimal, but fears regarding these complications limit broader application in patients with less severe forms of diabetes, including children [46]. Moreover, a number of immunosuppression-related side effects have been encountered, including dyslipidemia, mouth ulceration, peripheral edema, fatigue, ovarian cysts, and menstrual irregularities in female subjects, which can be dose or drug limiting in some patients [49]. Thus, although dramatic improvements in outcomes after islet transplantation have been observed, extensive refinements in clinical protocols are needed to improve safety and enhance success with single donor islet infusions.

# CLINICAL ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

# Patient Assessment and Selection

Clinical islet transplantation is associated with a series of potential risks, including procedural complications such as bleeding or portal vein thrombosis, or those associated with lifelong immunosuppression, i.e., infection or malignancy. For these reasons, patients selected as islet recipients must have severe, life-threatening diabetic complications that justify the risks of transplantation. Two T1DM patient populations have been identified as suitable candidates for islet transplantation: individuals who experience frequent, severe, and recurrent hypoglycemic unawareness, and those with highly unstable blood glucose control despite an optimized insulin regimen (glycemic lability).

When patients are evaluated for islet transplantation, their metabolic status and diabetes-related secondary complications should be carefully characterized so that those who would receive the greatest benefit despite the requirement for lifelong immunosuppression are selected. First and foremost, islet transplantation is reserved for patients with C peptide–negative (<0.3 ng/mL) T1DM. Recipients with an elevated body mass index (>30 kg/  $m^{2}$ ) or those greater than 90 kg are generally excluded, because their metabolic demand may not be met by the transplanted islet mass. As mentioned previously, indications for islet-alone transplantation include severe hypoglycemic unawareness and/or glycemic lability. To assess these symptoms, Ryan et al. developed an objective scoring system to measure the severity of both hypoglycemia (the HYPO score), and the (LI), which is based on changes in blood glucose over time [50]. Selection criteria for islet-alone transplantation include a HYPO score greater than 1047 (90th percentile),  $LI > 433 \text{ mmol}/L^2/h^{-1}$  week<sup>-1</sup> (90th percentile), or a composite with the HYPO score greater than 423 (75th percentile) and LI greater than 329 (75th percentile) [51]. Because patients with poor diabetes compliance or an inadequate baseline insulin regimen are likely to benefit from an improved design of insulin dosing regimens, patients selected for transplant should have a plasma HbA1C less than 10%. In an effort to reduce the risk of serious procedural and immunosuppressive drug-related complications, the patient's cardiac and renal function should be carefully assessed. Selected recipients should have adequate cardiac function including blood pressure less than 160/100 mmHg, no evidence of myocardial infarction in the 6 months before assessment, no angiographic evidence of noncorrectable coronary artery disease and left ventricular ejection fraction greater than 30% as measured by echocardiogram. To eliminate patients who are better candidates for simultaneous kidney– pancreas transplantation or those who may experience adverse renal function as a result of tacrolimus, selected recipients should have no evidence of macroscopic proteinuria (<300 mg/24 h) and a calculated glomerular filtration rate greater than 80 (>70 in females) mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Proliferative retinopathy should be stabilized before transplantation, because acute correction of glycemic control may lead to accelerated retinopathy. Finally, to reduce the risk of antibody-mediated graft rejection, potential recipients should be screened for panel reactive antibody (PRA) assays. It remains unknown whether patients with elevated initial PRA will have worse long-term islet function if they have a negative cross-match to the specific donor cells.

# Islet Transplantation Procedure

Although several locations have been tested as potential implantation sites for islet grafts, the high level of graft function and ease of delivery associated with infusion into the portal circulation of the liver have led to this being the transplantation site of choice in clinical protocols [27]. There are two accepted approaches for implanting purified islets into the liver by way of the portal vein. Whereas surgical laparotomy and cannulation of the portal vein was most often used in the early islet transplant programs, current protocols routinely employ the percutaneous transhepatic approach to implant donor islets in cadaveric islet transplantation (Fig. 56.2A) [51]. Compared with surgical laparotomy, this procedure is minimally invasive and thus can be performed using local anesthesia combined with opiate analgesia and hypnotics given as premedication. Access to the portal vein is achieved by percutaneous transhepatic approach using a combination of ultrasound and fluoroscopy to guide the radiologist. A branch of the right portal vein is cannulated and a catheter is positioned proximal to the confluence of the portal vein, which is confirmed with a portal venogram [52]. The risk for portal vein thrombosis is reduced by inclusion of unfractionated heparin (70 U/kg) in the islet preparation. Islets are then infused aseptically into the main portal vein under gravity, with regular monitoring of portal venous pressure (by an indirect pressure transducer) before, during, and after the infusion. An ultrasound examination should be performed at 1 day and 1 week after transplant to rule out intraperitone is patent and has normal flow.



FIGURE 56.2 The islet transplant procedure: present and future. Islet transplantation, in its current form (A), has provided insulin independence in most diabetic patients at 1 year after transplant, but this procedure is limited by the availability of suitable cadaveric donors and the requirement for lifelong immunosuppression. In the future (B), islet transplantation could be made available to a broader range of diabetic patients through the use of alternative tissue sources such as living donors, xenogeneic donors, or stem cell-derived  $\beta$  cells. Also, as novel immunomodulatory therapies are identified, tolerance induction strategies can be developed that will prolong graft function and allow for the reduction or complete withdrawal of immunosuppressive drug therapy.

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

If the skills of a local expert interventional radiologist are unavailable or if a large hemangioma is present on the right side of the liver at risk for puncture and bleeding if the percutaneous approach were to be used, surgical laparotomy and cannulation of a mesenteric venous tributary of the portal system should be considered. In this situation, complete surgical control is in place to prevent uncontrolled bleeding. Another advantage includes the potential for use of a dual-lumen catheter for cannulation of a mesenteric vein (i.e., dual-lumen 9-French Broviac line), which allows for continuous monitoring of portal pressure during islet infusion. Still, this surgical approach should be considered only when the percutaneous transhepatic approach cannot be used, because it presents several major disadvantages, including the requirement for a surgical incision, formation of adhesions, and the risk for wound infection and wound herniation, which may be exacerbated when the drug sirolimus is used after transplant, because this drug interferes with wound healing.

# **Risks to the Recipient**

## Surgical Complications

There are two potentially serious procedural complications in islet transplantation: bleeding from the catheter tract created by the percutaneous transhepatic approach, and portal vein thrombosis, particularly when large volumes of tissue are infused. Adverse bleeding events were noted early in the development of the Edmonton program, but these have been almost completely avoided with the routine use of effective methods to seal and ablate the transhepatic portal catheter tract on egress when the catheter is withdrawn [53]. The combination of coils and tissue fibrin glue (Tisseel) was used previously, but it has been replaced by Avitene paste (1 g Avitene powder mixed with 3 mL radiological contrast media and 3 mL saline; approximately 0.5–1.0 mL of this paste is injected into the liver tract) [54]. The use of purified islet allograft preparations has not resulted in main portal vein thrombosis in the Edmonton program, but thrombosis of a right or left branch or peripheral segmental vein has been encountered in approximately 5% of patients. Other rarely observed procedural side effects have included fine-needle gallbladder puncture, which has been avoided with the use of ultrasound-guided transhepatic portal venous access. Rarely, arteriovenous fistulae (which may require selective embolization) or hepatic steatosis have been observed [55].

# Immunosuppressive Therapy and Complications

Islet transplantation for T1DM represents a unique challenge in immunosuppression, because both alloimmunity and islet-specific autoimmunity must be effectively controlled to preserve graft function. An additional important consideration is that many of the immunosuppressive agents used in solid organ transplantation since the 1960s, particularly corticosteroids, are known to be toxic to islets. Previously in the Edmonton Protocol, the induction agent daclizumab (anti-CD25 [interleukin (IL)-2R] antibody) was used, but this was replaced by basiliximab when daclizumab was no longer available for clinical use. Maintenance immunosuppression consisted of sirolimus combined with low-dose tacrolimus. This regimen, described initially at the University of Alberta, has been successfully replicated at other centers as part of a multicenter Immune Tolerance Network (ITN) trial [39,56]. More recently, induction with depletional therapies including thymoglobulin (6 mg/kg total dose) or alemtuzumab (30 mg intravenously) combined with the antiinflammatory agents etanercept (anti-tumor necrosis factor [TNF]) and anakinra (anti-IL receptor [ILR]) have been employed in the Edmonton program. We and others found that the more standard posttransplant combination of tacrolimus (6–10 mg/mL) and mycophenolate mofetil (up to 2 g/day in a divided dose as tolerated) is much better tolerated than sirolimus. The 3- and 5-year outcome data suggest more graft durability in terms of sustained insulin independence with this regimen, which has been encouraging.

In addition to the Edmonton Protocol immunosuppression described earlier, alternative regimens have been reported. The Minnesota Group, led by Dr. Bernhard Hering, used antithymocyte globulin (ATG) and etanercept (anti–TNF- $\alpha$  antibody) induction with a combination of sirolimus and mycophenolate mofetil with or without - low-dose tacrolimus for maintenance, or hOKT3 $\gamma$ 1 (Ala-Ala) (humanized anti-CD3 antibody) and sirolimus induction with sirolimus and reduced-dose tacrolimus for maintenance [47,48]. In some instances, alternative immunosuppressive agents have been used because of drug intolerance or other side effects. Islet patients often possess mild preexisting renal impairment as a result of long-standing diabetes, and this renal dysfunction may be exacerbated with calcineurin inhibitor therapy, even at the low doses involved in the Edmonton Protocol. The drug sirolimus may also have nephrotoxic side effects, which may be compounded when used in combination with a calcineurin inhibitor to its recognized nephrotoxicity, tacrolimus is associated with gastrointestinal side effects, which may be seen with tacrolimus but is often avoided in

#### FUTURE CHALLENGES

low-dose regimens [59]. Sirolimus is associated with neutropenia and mouth ulceration, but these side effects can be reduced with lower target trough levels and tablet formulations. In the context of islet transplantation, sirolimus has been linked to a number of side effects including dyslipidemia, small bowel ulceration, peripheral edema, and the development of ovarian cysts or menstrual cycle irregularities in female recipients [51,60]. Combined with the observation that sirolimus is extremely poorly tolerated at high doses in this patient population, this has led to avoidance of this drug within our program.

Although chronically immunosuppressed patients are at risk for developing all types of malignancy, squamous epithelial cancers most commonly occur and are most readily treatable. The Collaborative. Islet Transplant Registry reports an overall rate of less than 2% in islet transplant recipients [46]. The lifetime risk of lymphoma is estimated to be 1-2% in transplant recipients, but this risk is likely to be reduced in islet recipients, because these patients are generally not treated with glucocorticoids or OKT3.

# FUTURE CHALLENGES

# **Overcoming Tissue Shortage**

In its current form, islet transplantation is reserved for a small subset of patients with the most severe forms of T1DM. Even with the relatively small patient population selected for islet transplantation, the wait-list time for patients in Edmonton, which has access to organs from a large geographic region, ranges from 6 months to 2 years, depending on blood group. As islet transplantation becomes more suitable for a broader range of diabetic patients and as the incidence of diabetes increases, there will be an even more severe shortage of islet tissue for transplantation. Clinical islet programs rely on the scarce supply of pancreas organs derived exclusively from heartbeating, brain-dead cadavers. Compared with organs procured for whole-pancreas transplantation, which must fall within strict donor criteria, organs obtained for islet transplantation tend to be more "marginal" and come from older, less stable donors. Furthermore, the pancreas is particularly susceptible to toxicity from the circulating products of severe brain injury, hemodynamic instability, and inotropic support in a brain-dead organ or donation after cardiocirculatory death (DCD). The quality of the pancreas is further degraded by cold ischemic injury during transportation, which inevitably results in islet damage and loss. Brain death, with an acute cytokine and injury storm has been associated with islet injury, with consequential reduced islet recovery and viability compared to islet isolation in the absence of injury, at least in small animal models [61,62]. Because of the sporadic islet transplant experience with DCD pancreas donation in North America, a direct comparison with the standard neurological determination of death (NDD) donation has yet to be objectively conducted. A comparison study of clinical islet isolation success rates and transplantation outcomes between DCD and NDD pancreas donors from our center was published in 2015 [63]. Islet yields were similar between NDD and DCD. Likewise, metabolic function was similar between NDD and DCD, as well as the mean decrease in insulin requirement at 1 month after transplantation. Although these results support the broader use of DCD pancreata for islet isolation, a much larger DCD islet experience will be required to determine the noninferiority of both short- and long-term outcomes [63].

Unfortunately, once the pancreas is in the isolation laboratory, the extensive processing and purification steps during processing result in further islet destruction and loss, often resulting in at best 60% recovery of the estimated 10<sup>7</sup> IE/pancreas, [64]. As a result, nearly all islet recipients require islets derived from two cadaveric donors. Thus, a rapidly growing area of islet transplant research involves the development of improved cadaveric or alternative islet tissue sources for transplantation.

# Living Donor Islet Transplantation

One approach to alleviating islet tissue demand would be to use living donors for islet transplantation. Living donor programs in kidney, liver, and lung transplantation have moved forward successfully at most leading transplant centers worldwide, in an attempt to meet the growing demand for donor organs and improve clinical outcomes. Long-term clinical outcomes of islet transplantation alone, in specialized centers, mirror the results of whole-pancreas transplant alone; over 50% of patients have achieved insulin independence 5 years after transplant [65]. However, apart from the University of Minnesota experiences [47] and those at the University of California, San Francisco (UCSF) [66,67], the rate of single donor islet transplant success remains low (10–15%) [68]. Therefore, most patients require multiple pancreas donors to achieve insulin independence. In addition, despite remarkable progress in clinical islet transplantation since 1999, islet supply and functional viability remain

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

significant challenges when islets are derived from cadaveric organ donors, even at the most experienced centers [61]. In the living donor setting, the distal half-pancreas could be procured under "ideal" circumstances without exposing the pancreas to hemodynamic instability or inotropic drugs, and the pancreas would be processed immediately without prolonged cold ischemia. Thus, the potency of islets derived from a living donor source is assumed to be far superior to cadaveric tissue. Living donor islet transplantation represents a unique opportunity to overcome donor organ shortage and procure the islet tissue under perfect conditions, with closer human leukocyte antigen matching between donor and recipient. Furthermore, the living donor islet transplant setting will provide a unique opportunity to develop protocols for pretransplant recipient conditioning for donor-specific tolerance induction.

Although cadaveric islet transplantation has been an active area of clinical research involving more than 1500 patients over several decades, only three cases of living donor islet allotransplantation have been reported [69–71]. Initially, the rationale of pursuing living donor islet transplantation originated from discouraging patient outcomes in the pioneering series of deceased donor islet allografts conducted in the late 1970s [72]; the first attempts at islet autografts (after pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis) proved to be more promising [71,73].

The first two clinical attempts at living donor islet allotransplantation were carried out in 1978 by Sutherland and colleagues at the University of Minnesota [70,71,73]. Although neither recipient achieved sustained islet function, these pioneering efforts were truly remarkable given the early stage of clinical islet transplant development at the time. The first recipient's graft was lost owing to a cytomegalovirus infection, and the second recipient lost function because of a sensitizing event as the result of a previously rejected kidney from the same donor (the recipient's sister) [72]. The immunosuppression available was primitive by current standards (azathioprine and high-dose steroids), and the islets were isolated using suboptimal conditions, before the development of the Ricordi chamber and sophisticated purification schemes currently used in clinical islet transplantation.

The dramatic improvement in clinical outcomes obtained in cadaveric islet transplantation since 2000 has renewed interest in developing living donor islet transplantation. The first living donor islet transplantation case attempted since the introduction of the Edmonton Protocol was carried out at the University of Kyoto in early 2005 [69]. The recipient, a 27-year-old woman, developed C peptide–negative, unstable diabetes after chronic pancreatitis as a child. Her 56-year-old mother was approved to be the donor, and islets were purified from the distal pancreas obtained during an open laparotomy. There were no surgical complications in either donor or recipient. The unpurified islet mass (408,114 IE [8200 IE/kg] in a volume of 9.5 mL after tissue digestion) was transplanted into the portal vein using the percutaneous approach under full systemic heparinization. Edmonton Protocol–style immunosuppression was started before transplant using sirolimus and low-dose tacrolimus (started 7 days before transplant), anti-IL2R antibody (given 4 days before transplant and on the day of transplant), and anti-TNF- $\alpha$  blockade induction (infliximab; given 1 day before transplant). Insulin therapy in the recipient was discontinued at 22 days after transplant; this patient continued to be insulin independent with excellent glycemic control and a normal HbA1C more than 1 year after transplant [74]. The donor presented no evidence of glucose intolerance, maintained normal HbA1C values, and was C-peptide positive 30 months after transplant [72,74].

Although no definitive conclusions can be drawn from this single successful case of living donor islet allotransplantation, results from living donor islet autotransplantation suggest that the insulin independence may be achieved routinely with significantly less IE/kg recipient body weight than has been required for cadaveric allografts thus far. It is widely accepted that over 70% of patients will remain insulin free after islet autotransplantation if an islet mass exceeding 300,000 IE ( $\geq$ 2500 IE/kg) is transplanted, compared with the >10,000 IE/kg that is often required to achieve insulin independence with cadaveric islet preparations [75]. Reports from the Minnesota group showed that clinical islet autografts have a significantly lower rate of metabolic decay over time, even with a smaller islet implantation mass (<2500 IE/kg) [76]. The combination of single donor successes in islet allografts and the efficacy of a small islet mass required for insulin independence in islet autotransplantation have provided a stimulus for evaluation and potentially resurgences in living donor islet allograft programs [77].

Globally, living donors compromise a fraction of the pancreas—islet transplant (less than 1%); however, in countries with strict donor criteria and a severe donor shortage, such as Japan, living pancreas donors comprise over 20% of all organ donors [72,78]. Despite the potential risks for a living donor in terms of surgically induced diabetes and surgical complications [79], the demand for islet tissue, and the relative ease of implementing living donor protocols into established islet transplant programs, there is a likelihood that this approach may more forward, especially in countries with strict organ donor criteria.

# Xenotransplantation

Living donor islet transplantation may circumvent the wait list for suitable donor tissue in some specialized cases; however, associated risks for the donor and the possibility of an insufficient islet yield to obtain insulin dependence remain significant concerns. Identification of a renewable and limitless xenogeneic source of islets would avoid the requirement for human islet donors altogether and could provide enough tissue to transplant diabetic patients as often as required. Pigs are particularly attractive as a xenogeneic islet source because they are widely available, produce insulin that is functional in humans, and could be selected for certain donor characteristics including genetic manipulation. For a few decades, it has been widely thought that of all of the experimental xenotransplantation strategies, islet transplantation is perhaps the closest to clinical application [80]. The first clinical case of islet xenotransplantation was conducted by Groth et al. in 1994, when fetal porcine islet cell clusters were placed under the kidney capsule [80]. Despite the lack of clinical benefit observed in this pioneering attempt of xenotransplantation, evidence that porcine islets could survive in the human body was demonstrated through the measurement of porcine C-peptide.

A limited small clinical experience was reported with porcine derived islets; however, few have resulted in reduced insulin requirements and no patients have achieved a period of insulin independence [81–83]. Despite these setbacks, islet xenotransplantation using porcine tissue has remained an active area of research, and progress has been made using preclinical nonhuman primate models implementing various genetic donor manipulation and immunosuppressive protocols [82,84–87]. Most notably, experimental studies have demonstrated that nonencapsulated pig islets (both wild-type and genetically engineered) have the capacity to maintain normoglycemia in immunosuppressed diabetic nonhuman primates for more than year after transplant [88,89].

The generation of  $\alpha$ -1,3-galactosyltransferase—deficient pigs has provided a source of islet tissue lacking the major xenoantigens causing hyperacute rejection in pig-to-human xenotransplantation [90]. Still, it remains to be determined whether the transmission of endogenous retroviruses or other zoonotic infections from pig to human can be completely avoided in xenotransplantation, even with the establishment of highly monitored "clean" pig colonies [87,91,92].

The first nationally regulated clinical trial of intraperitoneal encapsulated (alginate-poly-L-ornithine-alginate) neonatal porcine islet xenotransplantation in nonimmunosuppressed diabetic patients was carried out in New Zealand and reported in 2014; it demonstrated a marginal reduction in hypoglycemic unawareness [93]. Curiously, the number of islets transplanted did not correlate to the clinical outcome, because the transplantation of 5000 IEq/kg was associated with better results than that of larger doses (15,000 and 20,000 IEq/kg) [88]. The authors speculated that the large islet mass was prone to oxygen and nutrient starvation, resulting in substantial islet loss.

Building on this first study, in 2016, Matsumoto et al. reported the results of a second nationally regulated clinical trial, conducted in Argentina, of encapsulated porcine islet xenotransplantation in nonimmunosuppressed patients with T1DM [94]. Differing from their initial clinical study, the islets were transplanted in two separate infusions 3 months apart, in the hope of reducing the hypoxia associated with large transplant volume. Patients received either 5000 IEq/kg × 2 or 10,000 IEq/kg × 2 of encapsulated neonatal porcine islets in the peritoneal cavity by laparoscopy (n = 4/group). Despite the demonstrated significant improvement in HbA1c and the reduction in hypoglycemic unawareness events for up to 2 years after transplant, the reduction in insulin dose was marginal [88,94]. There was no evidence of complications from the transfer of porcine endogenous retroviruses [95]. This second nationally regulated trial was indeed a progressive step forward for the field of clinical islet xenotransplantation; however, numerous aspects need consideration before large-scale clinical trials should be initiated [87].

# Stem Cell Transplantation

Substantial research efforts have been made to identify suitable islet precursor cells that could be differentiated into a potentially unlimited source of insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells. Difficulties in producing physiologically regulated insulin secretion and control of proliferation have made progress in this area difficult to achieve histologically [96,97].

The pursuit of a renewable source of insulin-producing cells has led researchers to consider a multitude of tissue origins to derive these cells. The native pancreas contains progenitor cells capable of  $\beta$ -cell repopulation in the event of injury [98,99]. Given the proper environment and transcription factors, these cells can be directly reprogrammed into cells that closely resemble  $\beta$  cells [98,100]. Despite persuasive evidence that demonstrates the regenerative capacity the adult pancreas retains, it remains uncertain whether this ability is stem cell driven, because specialized cell types within or outside the pancreas indeed retain plasticity in proliferation and differentiation. As such,

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

inducing reprogramming or transdifferentiation of exocrine cells or other types of endocrine cells in the pancreas may provide a more efficacious approach to deriving insulin-producing cells.

Others have explored using hematopoietic stem cells as precursors to insulin-producing cells. This includes attempts to use bone marrow—derived cells in addition to umbilical cord blood (UCB). This was initially an exciting area of study, because UCB is easily obtained and would avoid some of the ethical implications associated with the use of stem cells. Unfortunately, early animal studies showed no conclusive evidence of endogenous β-cell replenishment after hematopoietic stem cell injection [101,102]. Even so, clinical studies have been conducted in type 1 diabetic patients. Haller et al. used stored autologous UCB infusions in newly diagnosed patients with T1DM, showing reduced insulin requirements and lower HbA1C [103]. A further study employing hematopoietic stem cells resulted in most of the 23 newly diagnosed patients with T1DM who received these cells achieving insulin independence and elevated C-peptide levels [104].

More recently, a prospective clinical study in which 20 adult patients with newly diagnosed T1DM were enrolled and randomized to mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) treatment or to the control group. One-year follow-up demonstrated residual  $\beta$ -cell function, as measured by serum C-peptide in response to a mixed-meal tolerance test, in the treatment patients in contrast to those in the control arm, who showed a loss of C-peptide. No side effects of MSC treatment were observed, which may constituted this procedure as a safe and promising strategy to intervene in disease progression and preserve  $\beta$ -cell function [105].

In addition, a study reported a single-center experience with suppressing T1DM progression by combining immunoablation and autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT) in newly diagnosed patients. During the 52-month median time of follow-up, 20 of 23 patients (87%) remained without the use of exogenous insulin for at least 9.5 months. Average HbA1C concentrations were 10.9% at diagnosis, 5.9% at 1 year, 6.4% at 2 years, 6.8% at 3 years, and 7.1% at 4 years after AHSCT. No severe complications of diabetes were seen; however, one patient died of pseudomonas sepsis in the course of neutropenia after AHSCT. Thus, AHSCT may lead to a remission of T1DM with good glycemic control in the vast majority of patients, with the period of remission lasting over 5 years in some [106]. The underlying mechanism of preserving endogenous  $\beta$ -cell mass using MSC has yet to be fully elucidated.

Owing to their pluripotency and ability to self-renew, embryonic stem cells (ESCs) have received an enormous amount of research attention. Since 2000, researchers have attempted to find the optimal set of conditions and signals to differentiate them into an insulin-producing cellular population. A number of the early attempts were conducted using rodent ESCs; although they were initially promising, they were limited by cell homogeneity, immaturity, the low number of insulin-positive cells, and a lack of glucose sensitivity [107–110]. It was not until 2004 and 2006 that an effective differentiation strategy was discovered, which paved the way for the differentiation of human ESCs (hESCs) into pancreatic endoderm cells (PECs) that contained both insulin and C-peptide [111,112]. Further refinement of the strategy allowed these cells to become glucose-sensitive, showing the ability to ameliorate diabetes in a rodent model [113]. Several alternative approaches have been developed to differentiate hESCs into pancreatic progenitor cells, which undertake the final stages of glucose-responsive  $\beta$ -cell differentiation in vivo [111,113–117]. Furthermore, advances in manufacturing PECs for clinical trials [118] and generating insulin-producing cells of increased maturity derived from hESCs or induced pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) in vitro have been reported with the capacity to restore normoglycemia rapidly compared with early progenitor cells [119,120].

In 2014, the US Food and Drug Administration and Health Canada granted ViaCyte Inc., a commercial leader in regenerative medicine technologies, permission to initiate the first-in-human pilot phase 1/2 clinical trial to test their VC-01 combination product in a small cohort of patients with T1DM. This product combines CyT49 hESC-derived PEC contained within a macroencapsulated immune-protective device transplanted subcutaneously (NCT02239354). It is hoped that early pilot results of this ongoing trial will the direct future progression of the field. Ongoing development of extrahepatic sites for stem cell–derived product implantation will likely require further optimization to improve engraftment, oxygen delivery, and metabolic exchange. However, it remains to be seen whether the transplantation of pancreatic progenitors in an immune-isolating device will be preferential to transplanting these or more mature glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells into a retrievable prevascularized subcutaneous site in the presence of standard clinical immunosuppressive therapy.

In addition to ViaCyte, the commercial entities BetaLogics, and SemmaTherapeutics are continuing to perfect a protocol to differentiate PSCs into insulin-producing cells. ViaCyte's less differentiated PECs may prove longer to reverse diabetes compared with BetaLogics' and SemmaTherapeutics' more mature " $\beta$ -like" cellular products; however, this time variable may not be the greatest concern for a patient with life-long T1DM, who may not mind waiting a few extra weeks to become insulin independent via stem cell differentiation.

#### FUTURE CHALLENGES

Ethical and religious concerns regarding the use of ESCs remain, in addition to concerns pertaining to the risk of teratogenicity [121–123]. However, if a sustainable stem cell–derived, insulin-producing cellular product can be ethically derived from a donated, discarded human embryonic blastocyst from an in vitro fertilization clinic, a world supply of limitless  $\beta$  cells from one single discarded blastocyst could be achieved. Despite the remaining challenges, the clinical path for stem cell–derived therapeutic products has been paved, providing a tantalizing optimistic future for this  $\beta$ -cell replacement therapy to restore glycemic control to patients with insulindependent diabetes.

# **Optimal Transplantation Site**

The intraportal infusion of islets in the liver has become the implantation site of choice, receiving more than 90% of clinical islet graft, and is the only islet microenvironment that routinely results in insulin independence. As the use of stem cell–derived  $\beta$  cells and xenogeneic islet sources becomes a clinical reality, an engraftment site that facilitates harmless retrieval may be compulsory. As a consequence, intensified research effort has been dedicated to pursuing alternative transplant sites [124–126]. It has been suggested that an optimal cellular transplantation site should (1) have an adequate tissue volume capacity; (2) be in close proximity to vascular networks; (3) have dynamic communication between the cellular graft and systemic circulation; (4) facilitate minimally invasive means to transplant, biopsy, and retrieve; and (5) elicit minimal inflammation [126].

The islet isolation process subjects islets to significant ischemic and physical injury, rendering them susceptible to posttransplantation stresses. Islets require ready access to oxygen and glucose and benefit from close proximity to a good vascular supply, because their revascularization is not immediate and their capacity for diffusion is limited. As an endocrine tissue, islets require a means to sample representative glucose levels and need to be able to deliver insulin through a relevant route to target tissues. Ideally, a transplanted islet should reside in a site with minimal immunological attack and low levels of posttransplantation  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis, such as that induced by the instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR). From a surgical standpoint, it would be advantageous to have a transplant site that afforded minimal procedural complications and allowed one to monitor islets after implantation.

The portal vein–liver site has become the standard site in most islet transplants. An early rodent study showed this site to be superior with respect to the number of autologous islets required to reverse hyperglycemia [27]. However, further studies showed an eventual loss of islet function even in the absence of alloimmune or autoimmune attack [127]. Despite marked improvement in patient outcomes after intraportal islet infusion, the achievement of single-donor engraftment success has been challenging, because most recipients require at least two donors to achieve insulin independence [47,48]. The death of significant numbers of intraportal islets in the immediate posttransplant period from tissue factor—triggered platelet injury, the IBMIR, compounded by ischemia from immature revascularization contribute to impaired islet survival and function in the long term [128]. Various additional factors contribute to acute islet loss and graft attrition, particularly in the intraportal hepatic site, resulting in an estimated 70% loss of transplanted  $\beta$ -cell mass [129]. Finally, although islet infusion is relatively straightforward, there are possible complications, including bleeding and thrombosis. This site has indeed allowed islet transplantation to reach amazing clinical success, but there are clear reasons for a search to identify a clinically relevant, non—blood exposed extrahepatic site to optimize  $\beta$ -cell engraftment further.

Although the kidney subcapsular space has become the site of choice for many researchers employing a mouse islet transplant model, it has not shown promise in clinical practice. Major limitations of this strategy are surgical invasiveness, its systemic nature, nonphysiological glucoinsular response, hypoxia, and limited transplant volume capacity, coupled with differences in the renal capsule architecture between rodents and humans [130–133]. Although it is theoretically a tempting site, with its high oxygen content and proximity to endogenous islet location, the pancreas is relatively invasive to access and may potentiate the autoimmune attack of transplanted islets through the priming of local lymph nodes. Although the latter has not yet been proven, the usefulness of this site is nullified in the case of islet autotransplantation. Furthermore, limiting this site of islet implantation is the limited ability to retrieve and image, and the finite transplant volume capacity [134–136]. The formation of an omental pouch, created surgically using omentum and the parietal peritoneum, has shown efficacy in both rat [137] and dog [138] models of diabetes. Although necessitating a higher number of islets to reverse diabetes (compared with the renal subcapsular site), the omentum is a vascular, portal insulin delivery site and a possible location for implanting islet encapsulation devices [139–142]. A potential drawback to this site is the inability to retrieve and image and provoke an inflammatory response effectively. However, success in the first clinical patient at the University of Miami using BioHub technology has instilled a sense of renewed optimism for this site. A related structure in mice, the epididymal fat

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

pat, has been used successfully to transplant embryonic endocrine progenitor cells [113]. In addition, a pouch could be created laparoscopically, which minimizes the morbidity of surgery. Further research needs to be completed to determine the long-term survival of islets at this potentially useful site.

Researchers have shown that islets can be transplanted into the gastric submucosal space (GSMS) [143–146]. This site has many potential benefits including avoiding the IBMIR, a rich oxygen supply, and a high oxygen tension. In a preclinical animal study [143], it was shown that diabetic pigs receiving islets endoscopically into the GSMS fared better than did pigs receiving intraportal islets. Pigs in the former group showed less early islet loss and received less insulin to maintain normoglycemia. More recently, a technique of endoscopic-assisted biopsy of porcine islet allografts in this site demonstrated an additional benefit of the potential easy access for graft monitoring and biopsy [143–145]. This has become an exciting possibility for an extraportal site of islet graft deposition; further research should shed light on the potential for long-term graft survival at this site. Various immune privileged sites have also been investigated, including the brain [147–149], testis [150,151], thymus [152–155] and anterior chamber of the eye [156], which demonstrate promising preclinical results. However, the use of such a strategy to avoid chronic immunosuppression has yet to be translated to clinical islet transplantation.

In theory, subcutaneous transplantation should be superior to portal vein infusion because it provides ready access to the graft and the possibility of monitoring function through imaging [157–159]. However, transplantation of islets into an unmodified subcutaneous site has universally failed to reverse diabetes in animal models or in humans, owing to poor oxygen tension and inadequate vascularization [160]. Stimulation of angiogenesis is critical to successful subcutaneous islet transplantation [125,126,159,161]. Oxygen generators, polymers, meshes, encapsulation devices, matrices, growth factors, and cotransplantation of MSCs have all been explored with variable success.

Pepper et al. demonstrated the successful restoration of euglycemia using mouse and human islets in preclinical animal models, by using the subcutaneous deviceless transplant approach, which modifies subcutaneous tissue into a highly vascularized engraftment site by temporally exploiting the natural foreign body reaction to an implanted catheter [162]. This site was also efficacious in reversing diabetes after transplant in mice at a marginal islet dose [163]. This technical was further optimized and demonstrated the long-term durability of syngeneic islet grafts in mice [164]. The use of this transplant technique will be explored in a first-in-human trial planned at the University of Alberta.

# **Improving Engraftment Posttransplant**

In clinical islet transplantation, islets derived from multiple donors are often required to achieve insulin independence, which suggests that a significant portion of the transplanted islets must fail to engraft and become functional. It has been estimated that up to 70% of the transplanted  $\beta$ -cell mass may be destroyed in the early posttransplant period [51,129]. Because this profound loss has been observed in both immunodeficient and syngeneic islet transplantation models, islet survival is likely regulated by non–immune mediated stimuli. After isolation, the islet microvasculature is completely disrupted, and upon implantation into the portal circulation, hypoxia persists whereas the islets revascularize, which can take up to 2 weeks [165–167]. During this engraftment period, the islets are continuously exposed to immunosuppressive drugs including tacrolimus and sirolimus, which are known to affect  $\beta$ -cell survival and function adversely [168,169]. These negative effects are likely compounded by the proximity of the transplanted islets and high concentrations of these drugs in the hepatoportal circulation, further degrading  $\beta$ -cell mass over time [170].

A critical process that may influence islet engraftment and survival in the early posttransplant period has been termed the IBMIR. Islets have been shown to express tissue factor naturally, a protein that acts as a receptor and cofactor for factor VII, an important mediator of the coagulation cascade [171]. Isolated human islets release tissue factor along with glucagon and insulin, which ultimately leads to platelet activation and binding at the surface of the islets. This causes the formation of a fibrin capsule around the islet and disruption of the islet morphology [128,129,171,172]. Most of this process has been characterized using an in vitro tubing loop model, so the true impact of this process in the clinical setting has yet to be fully characterized. However, examination of serum in patients undergoing islet transplantation has shown that a statistically significant increase in the serum concentration of thrombin—antithrombin complexes is present almost immediately after portal infusion, with peak levels occurring at 15 min, even when there was no clinical evidence of portal hypertension or intraportal thrombosis [171]. Because platelet activation is a primary contributing factor in the generation of an inflammatory response, IBMIR is probably an important early process in islet transplantation that elicits an immune response [128,129,171,172].

Many studies targeted at enhancing islet survival during the early posttransplant period have been published, and a variety of different strategies have been tested. Some groups aimed to enhance revascularization with vascular

#### FUTURE CHALLENGES

endothelial growth factor, but these studies have not yet demonstrated that this approach significantly improves islet graft survival [173]. Anticoagulation strategies using injection of activated protein C or inhibition of thrombin have been studied as a means to inhibit IBMIR, but these interventions have shown only a modest benefit in a series of in vivo studies in animal models [172,174,175]. Anticoagulation with insulin—heparin peritransplant has aided in reducing the impact of IBMIR and increased single-donor islet engraftment success rates from 10% to 40% [176]. Clinical studies designed to prevent IBMIR, such as low—molecular weight dextran sulfate, are under investigation.

Because these processes described involve both extracellular (i.e., IBMIR) and intracellular (i.e., hypoxia) stimuli leading to  $\beta$  cell death, another approach to preserving  $\beta$ -cell mass in the early posttransplant period has been to directly inhibit the apoptotic triggers that ultimately lead to loss of islet mass after transplant. A variety of strategies have been explored in the experimental setting; although promising data have been generated in vitro, demonstration of in vivo benefit to islet graft survival has been more elusive [177–180]. Many studies have described inhibition of a variety of apoptosis-associated proteins, including cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein (prevents caspase-8 activation), A20 (inhibits nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B activation), Bcl-2, and Bcl-XL (mitochondria-associated antiapoptotic proteins) [177–182]. A20 has shown promise, because its overexpression reduced the islet mass required in syngeneic islet transplantation in mice [182,183]. Investigations using X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis, have demonstrated promise in both human and rodent models of engraftment and in promoting murine islet allograft survival [184–186]. However, this area of research is limited by its requirement for the genetic manipulation of islet tissue before transplant, which has proven to be variable and difficult to achieve in human islets. Also, these genetic alterations are most often regulated with viral vectors, which represent a highly controversial reagent for clinical use, especially in immunosuppressed transplant recipients.

Our group has investigated the use of small-molecule peptidyl pan caspase inhibitors to promote  $\beta$  cell survival during the posttransplant engraftment period. These data demonstrate that euglycemia can be achieved in more than 90% of transplant recipients after an 80–90% reduction in islet implant mass using mouse or human islets in a nonallogeneic transplant model in addition to porcine autografts [187–189].

Next-generation pan-caspase inhibitors, including EP1013 and IDN-6556, demonstrated augmented long-term engraftment using a marginal islet dose capable of restoring euglycemia effectively in transplant recipients in both small- and large-animal models [187]. We described the ability of the potent pan-caspase inhibitor F573 to reduce apoptosis effectively in murine and human islets. Furthermore, the authors demonstrated that F573 treatment could differentially augment islet engraftment in intraportal and extrahepatic transplant sites using full and marginal islet transplant doses in mice [190]. These data further suggest the therapeutic benefit of novel inhibitors in the clinical islet transplant setting. As such, the Edmonton group is investigating the use of next-generation pancaspase inhibitor in their clinical islet program (NCT01653899).

# Improved Immunomodulation: Toward Donor-Specific Tolerance

One unique component of islet transplantation in patients with T1DM is the possibility of recurrent autoimmunity, which may elevate the demand for immunosuppression. Indeed, it has been well-established using a rodent model of T1DM, the nonobese diabetic (NOD) mouse, that control of recurrent autoimmune reactivity to  $\beta$  cells is one of the most difficult obstacles to overcome in islet transplantation [191–193]. Although it has been challenging to study recurrent autoimmunity in clinical patients, some evidence exists suggesting that levels of autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) and IA-2 increase after islet transplantation, although the direct impact of this phenomenon on graft survival has yet to be fully elucidated [194,195]. As such, translation of findings in animals to clinic has been challenging, as highlighted by a trial demonstrating that GAD65 immunization was ineffective in preventing islet destruction in patients with recent diabetes onset [196].

If recurrent autoimmunity alters immunosuppressive drug functional thresholds, this presents yet another problem in the context of islet transplantation, because many of the drugs are directly  $\beta$  cell toxic. Direct control of recurrent autoimmunity may enhance long-term graft function in islet transplantation. Attempts have been made to control autoimmunity at the time of diabetes onset using various immunosuppressive agents such as azathioprine, prednisone, cyclosporin A, or antithymocytic globulin, but no significant benefit was observed [197]. Clinical studies using a modified anti-CD3 (Ala-Ala) in patients with new-onset T1DM have demonstrated that this treatment significantly improved C-peptide responses in these patients, which persisted for up to 2 years after treatment [198]. More recently, the ITN reported the findings of the Autoimmunity-Blocking Antibody for Tolerance in Recently Diagnosed Type 1 Diabetes (AbATE) trial. This trail was the fourth with the monoclonal antibody teplizumab (anti-CD3) and demonstrated preservation of  $\beta$  cell function [199]. The AbATE trial demonstrated that in

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

responders, mean preservation of C-peptide continued at baseline levels for 2 years [200]. These results make a persuasive case for full-scale phase 3 trials designed with adequate doses to preserve C-peptide in newly diagnosed patients with T1DM [199].

Incorporation of this induction agent into clinical islet transplant protocols suggested that it may enhance insulin independence rates after single-donor infusion, which may be related to its ability to curtail  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity in these patients [48]. Continued development of therapies targeted at regulation of autoimmunity will allow further refinement of immunosuppression protocols for islet transplantation in the future.

In all types of transplantation, the ultimate goal is to develop therapeutic protocols that involve a brief period of treatment only during the initial posttransplant period, followed by the complete withdrawal of all immunosuppressive drugs. This phenomenon has been termed "operational tolerance," because it may involve passive ignorance of the graft or a more active T-cell tolerance to the graft antigens. In experimental transplantation, the difference in these two types of response is important and can be measured using retransplantation of donortype or third-party tissue, with tolerance resulting in acceptance of the donor-type graft and rejection of the third-party graft. In the clinical setting, however, the distinction may not be as critical, because both ignorance and tolerance would allow for reduction or withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapies. The most widely studied pathway to tolerance induction involves the inhibition of T-cell costimulation after T-cell receptor ligation. During an immune response, a T cell must receive "signal 2" through interactions between its surface molecule CD28 and CD80 or CD86 on the antigen-presenting cell to become fully activated. To disrupt this interaction, the extracellular portion of CTLA-4, which has a higher affinity for CD80/CD86 than CD28, has been artificially fused with human Fcγ to produce the soluble molecule CTLA4-Ig, designed for therapeutic purposes. CTLA4-Ig has been recognized for its potent immunoregulatory activity in murine models of T1DM, in which treatment of young NOD mice dramatically reduced the incidence of T1DM [201]. Our program and others demonstrated that CTLA4-Ig treatment in allogeneic islet transplantation can prolong graft survival but does not induce tolerance [202–204]. A high-affinity version of CTLA4-Ig called belatacept or LEA29Y has been developed for clinical use and has shown considerable promise in promoting allograft survival in nonhuman primates and in clinical renal transplantation [205,206]. Two compounds have been approved for use: abatacept (CTLA4Ig) and belatacept (LEA29Y), which block T-cell interaction with CD80/CD86 on antigen-presenting cells. The group at UCSF reported promising results with belatacept costimulation blockade combined with thymoglobulin (thymo)-based therapy [66]. This protocol allowed a calcineurin inhibitor-free maintenance therapy strategy and even permitted single-donor engraftment success. This same group studied the benefit of an anti-LFA-1 antibody called efalizumab [67]. Although effective in allowing tacrolimus-free maintenance therapy, it was withdrawn from clinical use owing to concerns regarding progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, and thus impeded the long-term follow-up.

A second costimulatory pathway that was examined in transplantation involves the interaction between CD40 on antigen-presenting cells and CD40L (CD154) on T cells, leading to T-cell activation. This interaction also promotes B-cell differentiation and the activation of antigen-presenting cells including macrophages and dendritic cells. Blockade of this pathway using anti-CD154 therapies demonstrated considerable promise in promoting tolerance induction in primate models early on, but further testing of the potent anti-CD154 blocking antibody (Hu5C8) was halted owing to unexpected thromboembolic complications in clinical trials [207–209]. The development of therapeutic antibodies targeting the CD40 molecule appears to avoid this negative side effect and should prove to be important in future clinical tolerance induction protocols in islet transplantation [210].

The combination of multiple immunotherapy approaches may prove to be most efficacious in achieving desirable, durable, long-term transplant outcomes. Blockade of IL-1 with anakinra, an IL-1 receptor antagonist, has become important in treating inflammatory conditions including rheumatoid arthritis [211]. In clinical islet transplantation, improved efficacy was demonstrated when combined iodixanol-based islet purification, thymoglobulin induction, and blockage of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  was implemented [212]. Our own laboratory investigated the combination of TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 blockade and found them to be synergistic in promoting islet engraftment in mice [213].

Bellin et al. reported a comprehensive study in which patients receiving anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody alone or ATG or alemtuzumab plus TNF- $\alpha$  inhibition exhibited substantial long-term insulin independence compared with patients treated with anti-IL-2R [214]. Furthermore, these outcomes were comparable to that seen with pancreas transplant alone. Findings support the potential for long-term insulin independence after transplant using potent induction therapy, with anti-CD3 Ab or T-cell depletion with TNF- $\alpha$  blockage [214].

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

β-cell replacement through islet transplantation presents the best opportunity to treat T1DM and prevent longterm serious complications associated with this disease. The concept of islet transplantation is not new, but investigators struggled to find success in achieving insulin independence until the introduction of the Edmonton Protocol in 2000. This has provided hope for many patients with diabetes, but in its current form, islet transplantation is reserved only for patients with the most severe disease. Restoration of endogenous-regulated insulin by the liver through intraportal islet transplantation has been highly effective in mitigating hypoglycemic reactions, and current data from Edmonton indicate that almost 70% of patients continue to secrete measurable C-peptide by 18 years after transplant, which greatly improves the quality of life for many patients [45]. Although up to 80% of recipients may attain insulin independence at 1 year after transplant, insulin independence has tended to wane over time. Protocols from the leading centers suggest that insulin independence may be maintained in up to 50% of patients by 5 years after transplant, but Collaborative Transplant Registry data collected across a larger number of participating centers still suggests that insulin independence is maintained in a much lower proportion over time.

However, the requirement for islets derived from two or more cadaveric donors severely limits the availability of this procedure. There are multiple opportunities for intervention throughout the entire process, from pancreas procurement, shipment, and islet processing to strategies for enhanced islet survival after implantation. Priority areas for clinical trials include the expansion of living donor protocols, interventions to impede the IBMIR process, and the use of nondiabetogenic and more "islet-friendly" immunosuppressive and tolerance-induction strategies to control both autoimmunity and alloimmunity effectively. Strategies targeted at preserving  $\beta$ -cell mass throughout the process will have a substantial and immediate impact on islet transplantation by reducing the amount of islet tissue necessary to reverse diabetes. Once some of these obstacles are overcome, islet transplantation will become available to a broader population of patients with T1DM, especially those early in the progression of the disease who will benefit most because the development of serious chronic secondary complications could be avoided.

# References

- King H, Aubert RE, Herman WH. Global burden of diabetes, 1995–2025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. Diabetes Care 1998;21(9):1414–31.
- [2] Diabetes: the cost of diabetes; 2002. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs236/en/print.html [updated September].
- [3] National Diabetes Data Group (U.S.), National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (U.S.), National Institutes of Health (U.S.). Diabetes in America. 2nd ed. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 1995. xiv, 782 pp.
- [4] The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1993;329(14):977–86.
- [5] Keen H. The diabetes control and complications trial (DCCT). Health Trends 1994;26(2):41-3.
- [6] Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT). Update. DCCT research group. Diabetes Care 1990;13(4):427-33.
- [7] Nathan DM, Cleary PA, Backlund JY, Genuth SM, Lachin JM, Orchard TJ, et al. Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2005;353(25):2643–53.
- [8] Nathan DM, Lachin J, Cleary P, Orchard T, Brillon DJ, Backlund JY, et al. Intensive diabetes therapy and carotid intima-media thickness in type 1 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 2003;348(23):2294–303.
- [9] Adverse events and their association with treatment regimens in the diabetes control and complications trial. Diabetes Care 1995;18(11):1415.
- [10] Cengiz E, Sherr JL, Weinzimer SA, Tamborlane WV. New-generation diabetes management: glucose sensor-augmented insulin pump therapy. Exp Rev Med Dev 2011;8(4):449–58.
- [11] Owen S. Pediatric pumps: barriers and breakthroughs. Diabetes Educ 2006;32(1 Suppl.):29S-38S.
- [12] Foster NC, Miller KM, Tamborlane WV, Bergenstal RM, Beck RW, Network TDEC. Continuous glucose monitoring in patients with type 1 diabetes using insulin injections. Diabetes Care 2016;39(6):e81–2.
- [13] Murray JE, Merrill JP, Harrison JH, Wilson RE, Dammin GJ. Prolonged survival of human-kidney homografts by immunosuppressive drug therapy. N Engl J Med 1963;268:1315–23.
- [14] Merrill JP, Murray JE, Takacs FJ, Hager EB, Wilson RE, Dammin GJ. Successful transplantation of kidney from a human cadaver. JAMA 1963; 185:347–53.
- [15] Kelly WD, Lillehei RC, Merkel FK, Idezuki Y, Goetz FC. Allotransplantation of the pancreas and duodenum along with the kidney in diabetic nephropathy. Surgery 1967;61(6):827–37.
- [16] Kendall DM, Rooney DP, Smets YF, Salazar Bolding L, Robertson RP. Pancreas transplantation restores epinephrine response and symptom recognition during hypoglycemia in patients with long-standing type I diabetes and autonomic neuropathy. Diabetes 1997;46(2):249–57.
- [17] Newell KA, Bruce DS, Cronin DC, Woodle ES, Millis JM, Piper JB, et al. Comparison of pancreas transplantation with portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage to the standard technique utilizing bladder drainage of exocrine secretions. Transplantation 1996;62(9):1353–6.
- [18] Larsen JL. Pancreas transplantation: indications and consequences. Endocr Rev 2004;25(6):919-46.
- [19] Gruessner AC, Sutherland DE. Pancreas transplant outcomes for United States (US) and non-US cases as reported to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR) as of June 2004. Clin Transplant 2005;19(4):433–55.

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

- [20] Gruessner AC. 2011 update on pancreas transplantation: comprehensive trend analysis of 25,000 cases followed up over the course of twenty-four years at the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR). Rev Diabet Stud 2011;8(1):6–16.
- [21] Statistical Data Reported by the U.S. Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients and the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network 2005. Available from: http://www.unos.org/.
- [22] Williams P. Notes on diabetes treated with extract and by grafts of sheep's pancreas. BMJ 1894;2:1303-4.
- [23] Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW, Dunn DL, Matas AJ, Humar A, Kandaswamy R, et al. Lessons learned from more than 1000 pancreas transplants at a single institution. Ann Surg 2001;233(4):463–501.
- [24] Lacy PE, Kostianovsky M. Method for the isolation of intact islets of Langerhans from the rat pancreas. Diabetes 1967;16(1):35–9.
- [25] Ballinger WF, Lacy PE. Transplantation of intact pancreatic islets in rats. Surgery 1972;72(2):175–86.
- [26] Reckard CR, Ziegler MM, Barker CF. Physiological and immunological consequences of transplanting isolated pancreatic islets. Surgery 1973;74(1):91–9.
- [27] Kemp CB, Knight MJ, Scharp DW, Ballinger WF, Lacy PE. Effect of transplantation site on the results of pancreatic islet isografts in diabetic rats. Diabetologia 1973;9(6):486–91.
- [28] Walsh TJ, Eggleston JC, Cameron JL. Portal hypertension, hepatic infarction, and liver failure complicating pancreatic islet autotransplantation. Surgery 1982;91(4):485–7.
- [29] Ricordi C, Lacy PE, Scharp DW. Automated islet isolation from human pancreas. Diabetes 1989;38(Suppl. 1):140-2.
- [30] Scharp DW, Lacy PE, Santiago JV, McCullough CS, Weide LG, Falqui L, et al. Insulin independence after islet transplantation into type I diabetic patient. Diabetes 1990;39(4):515–8.
- [31] Tzakis AG, Ricordi C, Alejandro R, Zeng Y, Fung JJ, Todo S, et al. Pancreatic islet transplantation after upper abdominal exenteration and liver replacement. Lancet 1990;336(8712):402-5.
- [32] Ricordi C, Tzakis AG, Carroll PB, Zeng YJ, Rilo HL, Alejandro R, et al. Human islet isolation and allotransplantation in 22 consecutive cases. Transplantation 1992;53(2):407–14.
- [33] Benhamou PY, Oberholzer J, Toso C, Kessler L, Penfornis A, Bayle F, et al. Human islet transplantation network for the treatment of Type I diabetes: first data from the Swiss-French GRAGIL consortium (1999-2000). Groupe de Recherche Rhin Rhjne Alpes Geneve pour la transplantation d'Ilots de Langerhans Diabetologia 2001;44(7):859–64.
- [34] Brendel MHB, Schulz A, Bretzel R. International islet transplant registry report. Germany: University of Giessen; 2001. p. 1.
- [35] Hering B, Ricordi C. Islet transplantation for patients with Type 1 diabetes: results, research priorities, and reasons for optimism. Graft 1999; 2(1):12.
- [36] Gross CR, Limwattananon C, Matthees BJ. Quality of life after pancreas transplantation: a review. Clin Transplant 1998;12(4):351-61.
- [37] Secchi A, Di Carlo V, Martinenghi S, La Rocca E, Caldara R, Spotti D, et al. Effect of pancreas transplantation on life expectancy, kidney function and quality of life in uraemic type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. Diabetologia 1991;34(Suppl 1):S141-4.
- [38] Shapiro AM, Lakey JR, Ryan EA, Korbutt GS, Toth E, Warnock GL, et al. Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 2000;343(4):230–8.
- [39] Shapiro AM, Ricordi C, Hering B. Edmonton's islet success has indeed been replicated elsewhere. Lancet 2003;362(9391):1242.
- [40] Berney T, Ferrari-Lacraz S, Buhler L, Oberholzer J, Marangon N, Philippe J, et al. Long-term insulin-independence after allogeneic islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes: over the 10-year mark. Am J Transplant 2009;9(2):419–23.
- [41] Goss JA, Schock AP, Brunicardi FC, Goodpastor SE, Garber AJ, Soltes G, et al. Achievement of insulin independence in three consecutive type-1 diabetic patients via pancreatic islet transplantation using islets isolated at a remote islet isolation center. Transplantation 2002; 74(12):1761–6.
- [42] Goss JA, Goodpastor SE, Brunicardi FC, Barth MH, Soltes GD, Garber AJ, et al. Development of a human pancreatic islet-transplant program through a collaborative relationship with a remote islet-isolation center. Transplantation 2004;77(3):462-6.
- [43] Kempf MC, Andres A, Morel P, Benhamou PY, Bayle F, Kessler L, et al. Logistics and transplant coordination activity in the GRAGIL Swiss-French multicenter network of islet transplantation. Transplantation 2005;79(9):1200–5.
- [44] Ricordi C, Goldstein JS, Balamurugan AN, Szot GL, Kin T, Liu C, et al. National Institutes of Health-sponsored clinical islet transplantation consortium phase 3 trial: manufacture of a complex cellular product at eight processing facilities. Diabetes 2016;65(11):3418–28.
- [45] Hering BJ, Clarke WR, Bridges ND, Eggerman TL, Alejandro R, Bellin MD, et al. Phase 3 trial of transplantation of human islets in type 1 diabetes complicated by severe hypoglycemia. Diabetes Care 2016;39(7):1230–40.
- [46] Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry. 2015. Available from: http://www.citregistry.org/.
- [47] Hering BJ, Kandaswamy R, Ansite JD, Eckman PM, Nakano M, Sawada T, et al. Single-donor, marginal-dose islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes. JAMA 2005;293(7):830–5.
- [48] Hering BJ, Kandaswamy R, Harmon JV, Ansite JD, Clemmings SM, Sakai T, et al. Transplantation of cultured islets from two-layer preserved pancreases in type 1 diabetes with anti-CD3 antibody. Am J Transplant 2004;4(3):390–401.
- [49] Ryan EA, Lakey JR, Paty BW, Imes S, Korbutt GS, Kneteman NM, et al. Successful islet transplantation: continued insulin reserve provides long-term glycemic control. Diabetes 2002;51(7):2148–57.
- [50] Ryan EA, Shandro T, Green K, Paty BW, Senior PA, Bigam D, et al. Assessment of the severity of hypoglycemia and glycemic lability in type 1 diabetic subjects undergoing islet transplantation. Diabetes 2004;53(4):955–62.
- [51] Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Bigam D, Alfadhli E, Kneteman NM, et al. Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. Diabetes 2005;54(7):2060–9.
- [52] Owen RJ, Ryan EA, O'Kelly K, Lakey JR, McCarthy MC, Paty BW, et al. Percutaneous transhepatic pancreatic islet cell transplantation in type 1 diabetes mellitus: radiologic aspects. Radiology 2003;229(1):165–70.
- [53] Kawahara T, Kin T, Kashkoush S, Gala-Lopez B, Bigam DL, Kneteman NM, et al. Portal vein thrombosis is a potentially preventable complication in clinical islet transplantation. Am J Transplant 2011;11(12):2700–7.
- [54] Villiger P, Ryan EA, Owen R, O'Kelly K, Oberholzer J, Saif FA, et al. Prevention of bleeding after islet transplantation: lessons learned from a multivariate analysis of 132 cases at a single institution. Am J Transplant 2005;5(12):2992–8.
- [55] Bhargava R, Senior PA, Ackerman TE, Ryan EA, Paty BW, Lakey JR, et al. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis after islet transplantation and its relation to graft function. Diabetes 2004;53(5):1311-7.

- [56] Shapiro AM, Lakey JR, Paty BW, Senior PA, Bigam DL, Ryan EA. Strategic opportunities in clinical islet transplantation. Transplantation 2005;79(10):1304–7.
- [57] Kaplan B, Schold J, Srinivas T, Womer K, Foley DP, Patton P, et al. Effect of sirolimus withdrawal in patients with deteriorating renal function. Am J Transplant 2004;4(10):1709-12.
- [58] Senior PA, Paty BW, Cockfield SM, Ryan EA, Shapiro AM. Proteinuria developing after clinical islet transplantation resolves with sirolimus withdrawal and increased tacrolimus dosing. Am J Transplant 2005;5(9):2318–23.
- [59] Gruessner RW, Burke GW, Stratta R, Sollinger H, Benedetti E, Marsh C, et al. A multicenter analysis of the first experience with FK506 for induction and rescue therapy after pancreas transplantation. Transplantation 1996;61(2):261–73.
- [60] Molinari M, Al-Saif F, Ryan EA, Lakey JR, Senior PA, Paty BW, et al. Sirolimus-induced ulceration of the small bowel in islet transplant recipients: report of two cases. Am J Transplant 2005;5(11):2799–804.
- [61] Contreras JL, Eckstein C, Smyth CA, Sellers MT, Vilatoba M, Bilbao G, et al. Brain death significantly reduces isolated pancreatic islet yields and functionality in vitro and in vivo after transplantation in rats. Diabetes 2003;52(12):2935–42.
- [62] Lakey JR, Warnock GL, Rajotte RV, Suarez-Alamazor ME, Ao Z, Shapiro AM, et al. Variables in organ donors that affect the recovery of human islets of Langerhans. Transplantation 1996;61(7):1047–53.
- [63] Andres A, Kin T, O'Gorman D, Livingstone S, Bigam D, Kneteman N, et al. Clinical islet isolation and transplantation outcomes with deceased cardiac death donors are similar to neurological determination of death donors. Transpl Int 2016;29(1):34–40.
- [64] Tsujimura T, Kuroda Y, Avila JG, Kin T, Oberholzer J, Shapiro AM, et al. Influence of pancreas preservation on human islet isolation outcomes: impact of the two-layer method. Transplantation 2004;78(1):96–100.
- [65] Shapiro AM, Pokrywczynska M, Ricordi C. Clinical pancreatic islet transplantation. Nat Rev Endocrinol May 2017;13(5):268–77. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2016.178. Epub 2016 Nov 11.
- [66] Posselt AM, Bellin MD, Tavakol M, Szot GL, Frassetto LA, Masharani U, et al. Islet transplantation in type 1 diabetics using an immunosuppressive protocol based on the anti-LFA-1 antibody efalizumab. Am J Transplant 2010;10(8):1870–80.
- [67] Posselt AM, Szot GL, Frassetto LA, Masharani U, Tavakol M, Amin R, et al. Islet transplantation in type 1 diabetic patients using calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppressive protocols based on T-cell adhesion or costimulation blockade. Transplantation 2010;90(12):1595–601.
- [68] McCall M, Shapiro AM. Update on islet transplantation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2012;2(7):a007823.
- [69] Matsumoto S, Okitsu T, Iwanaga Y, Noguchi H, Nagata H, Yonekawa Y, et al. Insulin independence after living-donor distal pancreatectomy and islet allotransplantation. Lancet 2005;365(9471):1642–4.
- [70] Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Najarian JS. Living-related donor segmental pancreatectomy for transplantation. Transplant Proc 1980;12(4 Suppl. 2):19–25.
- [71] Sutherland DE, Matas AJ, Goetz FC, Najarian JS. Transplantation of dispersed pancreatic islet tissue in humans: autografts and allografts. Diabetes 1980;29(Suppl. 1):31–44.
- [72] Sutherland DE, Radosevich D, Gruessner R, Gruessner A, Kandaswamy R. Pushing the envelope: living donor pancreas transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2012;17(1):106–15.
- [73] Sutherland DE, Matas AJ, Najarian JS. Pancreatic islet cell transplantation. Surg Clin North Am 1978;58(2):365-82.
- [74] Matsumoto S, Okitsu T, Iwanaga Y, Noguchi H, Nagata H, Yonekawa Y, et al. Follow-up study of the first successful living donor islet transplantation. Transplantation 2006;82(12):1629–33.
- [75] Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE, Dunn DL, Najarian JS, Jie T, Hering BJ, et al. Transplant options for patients undergoing total pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg 2004;198(4):559–67. discussion 68–69.
- [76] Sutherland DE, Radosevich DM, Bellin MD, Hering BJ, Beilman GJ, Dunn TB, et al. Total pancreatectomy and islet autotransplantation for chronic pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg 2012;214(4):409–24. discussion 24–26.
- [77] Emamaullee J, Shapiro AM. Islet transplantation using living donors. In: Gruessner R, Benedetti E, editors. Living donor organ transplantation. McGraw Hill Companies; 2008. p. 429–37.
- [78] Asano T, Kenmochi T. Preface to topic "Living donor pancreas transplantation". J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2010;17(2):91.
- [79] Matsumoto I, Shinzeki M, Asari S, Goto T, Shirakawa S, Ajiki T, et al. Evaluation of glucose metabolism after distal pancreatectomy according to the donor criteria of the living donor pancreas transplantation guidelines proposed by the Japanese Pancreas and Islet Transplantation Association. Transplant Proc 2014;46(3):958–62.
- [80] Groth CG, Korsgren O, Tibell A, Tollemar J, Moller E, Bolinder J, et al. Transplantation of porcine fetal pancreas to diabetic patients. Lancet 1994;344(8934):1402–4.
- [81] Elliott RB, Escobar L, Garkavenko O, Croxson MC, Schroeder BA, McGregor M, et al. No evidence of infection with porcine endogenous retrovirus in recipients of encapsulated porcine islet xenografts. Cell Transplant 2000;9(6):895–901.
- [82] Hering BJ, Walawalkar N. Pig-to-nonhuman primate islet xenotransplantation. Transpl Immunol 2009;21(2):81–6.
- [83] Valdes-Gonzalez RA, Dorantes LM, Garibay GN, Bracho-Blanchet E, Mendez AJ, Davila-Perez R, et al. Xenotransplantation of porcine neonatal islets of Langerhans and Sertoli cells: a 4-year study. Eur J Endocrinol 2005;153(3):419–27.
- [84] Cardona K, Korbutt GS, Milas Z, Lyon J, Cano J, Jiang W, et al. Long-term survival of neonatal porcine islets in nonhuman primates by targeting costimulation pathways. Nat Med 2006;12(3):304–6.
- [85] Hering BJ, Wijkstrom M, Graham ML, Hardstedt M, Aasheim TC, Jie T, et al. Prolonged diabetes reversal after intraportal xenotransplantation of wild-type porcine islets in immunosuppressed nonhuman primates. Nat Med 2006;12(3):301–3.
- [86] van der Windt DJ, Bottino R, Casu A, Campanile N, Smetanka C, He J, et al. Long-term controlled normoglycemia in diabetic non-human primates after transplantation with hCD46 transgenic porcine islets. Am J Transplant 2009;9(12):2716–26.
- [87] van der Windt DJ, Bottino R, Kumar G, Wijkstrom M, Hara H, Ezzelarab M, et al. Clinical islet xenotransplantation: how close are we? Diabetes 2012;61(12):3046–55.
- [88] Ekser B, Bottino R, Cooper DK. Clinical islet xenotransplantation: a step forward. EBioMedicine 2016;12:22-3.
- [89] Park CG, Bottino R, Hawthorne WJ. Current status of islet xenotransplantation. Int J Surg 2015;23(Pt B):261-6.
- [90] Phelps CJ, Koike C, Vaught TD, Boone J, Wells KD, Chen SH, et al. Production of alpha 1,3-galactosyltransferase-deficient pigs. Science 2003; 299(5605):411–4.
- [91] Bottino R, Trucco M. Use of genetically-engineered pig donors in islet transplantation. World J Transplant 2015;5(4):243-50.

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

- [92] Fishman JA, Patience C. Xenotransplantation: infectious risk revisited. Am J Transplant 2004;4(9):1383–90.
- [93] Matsumoto S, Tan P, Baker J, Durbin K, Tomiya M, Azuma K, et al. Clinical porcine islet xenotransplantation under comprehensive regulation. Transplant Proc 2014;46(6):1992–5.
- [94] Matsumoto S, Abalovich A, Wechsler C, Wynyard S, Elliott RB. Clinical benefit of islet xenotransplantation for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. EBioMedicine 2016;12:255–62.
- [95] Morozov VA, Wynyard S, Matsumoto S, Abalovich A, Denner J, Elliott R. No PERV transmission during a clinical trial of pig islet cell transplantation. Virus Res 2017;227:34–40.
- [96] Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC. New sources of pancreatic beta-cells. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(7):857-61.
- [97] Otonkoski T, Gao R, Lundin K. Stem cells in the treatment of diabetes. Ann Med 2005;37(7):513–20.
- [98] Bouwens L, Houbracken I, Mfopou JK. The use of stem cells for pancreatic regeneration in diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2013;9(10): 598–606.
- [99] Seaberg RM, Smukler SR, Kieffer TJ, Enikolopov G, Asghar Z, Wheeler MB, et al. Clonal identification of multipotent precursors from adult mouse pancreas that generate neural and pancreatic lineages. Nat Biotechnol 2004;22(9):1115–24.
- [100] Zhou Q, Brown J, Kanarek A, Rajagopal J, Melton DA. In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to beta-cells. Nature 2008; 455(7213):627–32.
- [101] Ianus A, Holz GG, Theise ND, Hussain MA. In vivo derivation of glucose-competent pancreatic endocrine cells from bone marrow without evidence of cell fusion. J Clin Invest 2003;111(6):843–50.
- [102] Suri A, Calderon B, Esparza TJ, Frederick K, Bittner P, Unanue ER. Immunological reversal of autoimmune diabetes without hematopoietic replacement of beta cells. Science 2006;311(5768):1778–80.
- [103] Haller MJ, Viener HL, Wasserfall C, Brusko T, Atkinson MA, Schatz DA. Autologous umbilical cord blood infusion for type 1 diabetes. Exp Hematol 2008;36(6):710-5.
- [104] Couri CE, Oliveira MC, Stracieri AB, Moraes DA, Pieroni F, Barros GM, et al. C-peptide levels and insulin independence following autologous nonmyeloablative hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 2009;301(15):1573–9.
- [105] Carlsson PO, Schwarcz E, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K. Preserved beta-cell function in type 1 diabetes by mesenchymal stromal cells. Diabetes 2015;64(2):587–92.
- [106] Snarski E, Milczarczyk A, Halaburda K, Torosian T, Paluszewska M, Urbanowska E, et al. Immunoablation and autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the treatment of new-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus: long-term observations. Bone Marrow Transplant 2016;51(3): 398–402.
- [107] Assady S, Maor G, Amit M, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Skorecki KL, Tzukerman M. Insulin production by human embryonic stem cells. Diabetes 2001;50(8):1691–7.
- [108] Hori Y, Rulifson IC, Tsai BC, Heit JJ, Cahoy JD, Kim SK. Growth inhibitors promote differentiation of insulin-producing tissue from embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99(25):16105–10.
- [109] Lumelsky N, Blondel O, Laeng P, Velasco I, Ravin R, McKay R. Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to insulin-secreting structures similar to pancreatic islets. Science 2001;292(5520):1389–94.
- [110] Soria B, Roche E, Berna G, Leon-Quinto T, Reig JA, Martin F. Insulin-secreting cells derived from embryonic stem cells normalize glycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Diabetes 2000;49(2):157–62.
- [111] D'Amour KA, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, et al. Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2006;24(11):1392–401.
- [112] Kubo A, Shinozaki K, Shannon JM, Kouskoff V, Kennedy M, Woo S, et al. Development of definitive endoderm from embryonic stem cells in culture. Development 2004;131(7):1651–62.
- [113] Kroon E, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Bang AG, Kelly OG, Eliazer S, et al. Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26(4):443–52.
- [114] Bruin JE, Rezania A, Xu J, Narayan K, Fox JK, O'Neil JJ, et al. Maturation and function of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors in macroencapsulation devices following transplant into mice. Diabetologia 2013;56(9):1987–98.
- [115] Kelly OG, Chan MY, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Ostertag TM, Ross KG, et al. Cell-surface markers for the isolation of pancreatic cell types derived from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2011;29(8):750–6.
- [116] Rezania A, Bruin JE, Riedel MJ, Mojibian M, Asadi A, Xu J, et al. Maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors into functional islets capable of treating pre-existing diabetes in mice. Diabetes 2012;61(8):2016–29.
- [117] Schulz TC, Young HY, Agulnick AD, Babin MJ, Baetge EE, Bang AG, et al. A scalable system for production of functional pancreatic progenitors from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 2012;7(5):e37004.
- [118] Schulz TC. Concise review: manufacturing of pancreatic endoderm cells for clinical trials in type 1 diabetes. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4(8): 927–31.
- [119] Pagliuca FW, Millman JR, Gurtler M, Segel M, Van Dervort A, Ryu JH, et al. Generation of functional human pancreatic beta cells in vitro. Cell 2014;159(2):428–39.
- [120] Rezania A, Bruin JE, Arora P, Rubin A, Batushansky I, Asadi A, et al. Reversal of diabetes with insulin-producing cells derived in vitro from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32(11):1121–33.
- [121] Liu X, Wang Y, Li Y, Pei X. Research status and prospect of stem cells in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Sci China Life Sci 2013;56(4): 306–12.
- [122] Werbowetski-Ogilvie TE, Bosse M, Stewart M, Schnerch A, Ramos-Mejia V, Rouleau A, et al. Characterization of human embryonic stem cells with features of neoplastic progression. Nat Biotechnol 2009;27(1):91–7.
- [123] Vanikar AV, Trivedi HL, Thakkar UG. Stem cell therapy emerging as the key player in treating type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cytotherapy 2016; 18(9):1077–86.
- [124] Merani S, Toso C, Emamaullee J, Shapiro AM. Optimal implantation site for pancreatic islet transplantation. Br J Surg 2008;95(12):1449-61.
- [125] Pepper AR, Gala-Lopez B, Ziff O, Shapiro AM. Revascularization of transplanted pancreatic islets and role of the transplantation site. Clin Dev Immunol 2013;2013:352315.
- [126] Veriter S, Gianello P, Dufrane D. Bioengineered sites for islet cell transplantation. Curr Diabetes Rep 2013;13(5):745-55.

- [127] Alejandro R, Cutfield RG, Shienvold FL, Polonsky KS, Noel J, Olson L, et al. Natural history of intrahepatic canine islet cell autografts. J Clin Invest 1986;78(5):1339–48.
- [128] Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN, Korsgren O. Control of instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction to improve islets of Langerhans engraftment. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2011;16(6):620-6.
- [129] Eich T, Eriksson O, Lundgren T. Nordic Network for Clinical Islet T. Visualization of early engraftment in clinical islet transplantation by positron-emission tomography. N Engl J Med 2007;356(26):2754–5.
- [130] Gray DW. Islet transplantation and glucose regulation. World J Surg 2001;25(4):497-502.
- [131] Jindal RM, Sidner RA, McDaniel HB, Johnson MS, Fineberg SE. Intraportal vs kidney subcapsular site for human pancreatic islet transplantation. Transplant Proc 1998;30(2):398–9.
- [132] Mellgren A, Schnell Landstrom AH, Petersson B, Andersson A. The renal subcapsular site offers better growth conditions for transplanted mouse pancreatic islet cells than the liver or spleen. Diabetologia 1986;29(9):670–2.
- [133] Rajab A, Buss J, Diakoff E, Hadley GA, Osei K, Ferguson RM. Comparison of the portal vein and kidney subcapsule as sites for primate islet autotransplantation. Cell Transplant 2008;17(9):1015–23.
- [134] Hayek A, Beattie GM. Intrapancreatic islet transplantation in experimental diabetes in the rat. Metabolism 1992;41(12):1367-9.
- [135] Lau J, Kampf C, Mattsson G, Nyqvist D, Kohler M, Berggren PO, et al. Beneficial role of pancreatic microenvironment for angiogenesis in transplanted pancreatic islets. Cell Transplant 2009;18(1):23–30.
- [136] Stagner JI, Rilo HL, White KK. The pancreas as an islet transplantation site. Confirmation in a syngeneic rodent and canine autotransplant model. JOP 2007;8(5):628–36.
- [137] Kin T, Korbutt GS, Rajotte RV. Survival and metabolic function of syngeneic rat islet grafts transplanted in the omental pouch. Am J Transplant 2003;3(3):281–5.
- [138] Ao Z, Matayoshi K, Yakimets WJ, Katyal D, Rajotte RV, Warnock GL. Development of an omental pouch site for islet transplantation. Transplant Proc 1992;24(6):2789.
- [139] Basta G, Montanucci P, Luca G, Boselli C, Noya G, Barbaro B, et al. Long-term metabolic and immunological follow-up of nonimmunosuppressed patients with type 1 diabetes treated with microencapsulated islet allografts: four cases. Diabetes Care 2011;34(11):2406–9.
- [140] Sun Y, Ma X, Zhou D, Vacek I, Sun AM. Normalization of diabetes in spontaneously diabetic cynomologus monkeys by xenografts of microencapsulated porcine islets without immunosuppression. J Clin Invest 1996;98(6):1417–22.
- [141] Tuch BE, Keogh GW, Williams LJ, Wu W, Foster JL, Vaithilingam V, et al. Safety and viability of microencapsulated human islets transplanted into diabetic humans. Diabetes Care 2009;32(10):1887–9.
- [142] Yasunami Y, Lacy PE, Finke EH. A new site for islet transplantation-a peritoneal-omental pouch. Transplantation 1983;36(2):181-2.
- [143] Echeverri GJ, McGrath K, Bottino R, Hara H, Dons EM, van der Windt DJ, et al. Endoscopic gastric submucosal transplantation of islets (ENDO-STI): technique and initial results in diabetic pigs. Am J Transplant 2009;9(11):2485–96.
- [144] Fujita M, McGrath KM, Bottino R, Dons EM, Long C, Kumar G, et al. Technique of endoscopic biopsy of islet allografts transplanted into the gastric submucosal space in pigs. Cell Transplant 2013;22(12):2335–44.
- [145] Tchervenivanov N, Yuan S, Lipsett M, Agapitos D, Rosenberg L. Morphological and functional studies on submucosal islet transplants in normal and diabetic hamsters. Cell Transplant 2002;11(6):529–37.
- [146] Wszola M, Berman A, Fabisiak M, Domagala P, Zmudzka M, Kieszek R, et al. TransEndoscopic Gastric SubMucosa Islet Transplantation (eGSM-ITx) in pigs with streptozotocine induced diabetes - technical aspects of the procedure - preliminary report. Ann Transplant 2009;14(2):45–50.
- [147] Lee HC, Ahn KJ, Lim SK, Kim KR, Ahn YS, Lee KE, et al. Allotransplantation of rat islets into the cisterna magna of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Transplantation 1992;53(3):513-6.
- [148] Tze WJ, Tai J. Immunological studies in diabetic rat recipients with a pancreatic islet cell allograft in the brain. Transplantation 1989;47(6): 1053–7.
- [149] Xin ZL, Ge SL, Wu XK, Jia YJ, Hu HT. Intracerebral xenotransplantation of semipermeable membrane- encapsuled pancreatic islets. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11(36):5714–7.
- [150] Nasr IW, Wang Y, Gao G, Deng S, Diggs L, Rothstein DM, et al. Testicular immune privilege promotes transplantation tolerance by altering the balance between memory and regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2005;174(10):6161–8.
- [151] Selawry HP, Whittington KB, Bellgrau D. Abdominal intratesticular islet-xenograft survival in rats. Diabetes 1989;38(Suppl. 1):220-3.
- [152] Arias-Diaz J, Vara E, Balibrea JL, Garcia C, Maranes A, Diaz A, et al. CT-guided fine-needle approach for intrathymic islet transplantation in a diabetic patient. Pancreas 1996;12(1):100–2.
- [153] Levy MM, Ketchum RJ, Tomaszewski JE, Naji A, Barker CF, Brayman KL. Intrathymic islet transplantation in the canine: I. Histological and functional evidence of autologous intrathymic islet engraftment and survival in pancreatectomized recipients. Transplantation 2002;73(6): 842–52.
- [154] Posselt AM, Barker CF, Tomaszewski JE, Markmann JF, Choti MA, Naji A. Induction of donor-specific unresponsiveness by intrathymic islet transplantation. Science 1990;249(4974):1293–5.
- [155] Rayat GR, Korbutt GS, Elliott JF, Rajotte RV. Survival and function of syngeneic rat islet grafts placed within the thymus versus under the kidney capsule. Cell Transplant 1997;6(6):597–602.
- [156] Perez VL, Caicedo A, Berman DM, Arrieta E, Abdulreda MH, Rodriguez-Diaz R, et al. The anterior chamber of the eye as a clinical transplantation site for the treatment of diabetes: a study in a baboon model of diabetes. Diabetologia 2011;54(5):1121–6.
- [157] Nishimura R, Goto M, Sekiguchi S, Fujimori K, Ushiyama A, Satomi S. Assessment for revascularization of transplanted pancreatic islets at subcutaneous site in mice with a highly sensitive imaging system. Transplant Proc 2011;43(9):3239–40.
- [158] Saito T, Ohashi K, Utoh R, Shimizu H, Ise K, Suzuki H, et al. Reversal of diabetes by the creation of neo-islet tissues into a subcutaneous site using islet cell sheets. Transplantation 2011;92(11):1231–6.
- [159] Sakata N, Aoki T, Yoshimatsu G, Tsuchiya H, Hata T, Katayose Y, et al. Strategy for clinical setting in intramuscular and subcutaneous islet transplantation. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2013;30(1):1–10.
- [160] Simeonovic CJ, Dhall DP, Wilson JD, Lafferty KJ. A comparative study of transplant sites for endocrine tissue transplantation in the pig. Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci 1986;64(Pt 1):37–41.

#### 56. ISLET CELL TRANSPLANTATION

- [161] Rajab A. Islet transplantation: alternative sites. Curr Diabetes Rep 2010;10(5):332-7.
- [162] Pepper AR, Gala-Lopez B, Pawlick R, Merani S, Kin T, Shapiro AM. A prevascularized subcutaneous device-less site for islet and cellular transplantation. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33(5):518–23.
- [163] Pepper AR, Pawlick R, Bruni A, Gala-Lopez B, Wink J, Rafiei Y, et al. Harnessing the foreign body reaction in marginal mass device-less subcutaneous islet transplantation in mice. Transplantation 2016;100(7):1474–9.
- [164] Pepper AR, Bruni A, Pawlick RL, Gala-Lopez B, Rafiei Y, Wink J, et al. Long-term function and optimization of mouse and human islet transplantation in the subcutaneous device-less site. Islets 2016;8:1–9.
- [165] Carlsson PO, Palm F, Andersson A, Liss P. Markedly decreased oxygen tension in transplanted rat pancreatic islets irrespective of the implantation site. Diabetes 2001;50(3):489–95.
- [166] Carlsson PO, Palm F, Mattsson G. Low revascularization of experimentally transplanted human pancreatic islets. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87(12):5418–23.
- [167] Giuliani M, Moritz W, Bodmer E, Dindo D, Kugelmeier P, Lehmann R, et al. Central necrosis in isolated hypoxic human pancreatic islets: evidence for postisolation ischemia. Cell Transplant 2005;14(1):67–76.
- [168] Nishimura R, Nishioka S, Fujisawa I, Shiku H, Shimada M, Sekiguchi S, et al. Tacrolimus inhibits the revascularization of isolated pancreatic islets. PLoS One 2013;8(4):e56799.
- [169] Hyder A, Laue C, Schrezenmeir J. Effect of the immunosuppressive regime of Edmonton protocol on the long-term in vitro insulin secretion from islets of two different species and age categories. Toxicol Vitro 2005;19(4):541–6.
- [170] Shapiro AM, Gallant HL, Hao EG, Lakey JR, McCready T, Rajotte RV, et al. The portal immunosuppressive storm: relevance to islet transplantation? Ther Drug Monit 2005;27(1):35–7.
- [171] Moberg L, Johansson H, Lukinius A, Berne C, Foss A, Kallen R, et al. Production of tissue factor by pancreatic islet cells as a trigger of detrimental thrombotic reactions in clinical islet transplantation. Lancet 2002;360(9350):2039–45.
- [172] Ozmen L, Ekdahl KN, Elgue G, Larsson R, Korsgren O, Nilsson B. Inhibition of thrombin abrogates the instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction triggered by isolated human islets: possible application of the thrombin inhibitor melagatran in clinical islet transplantation. Diabetes 2002;51(6):1779–84.
- [173] Narang AS, Cheng K, Henry J, Zhang C, Sabek O, Fraga D, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor gene delivery for revascularization in transplanted human islets. Pharm Res. 2004;21(1):15–25.
- [174] Contreras JL, Eckstein C, Smyth CA, Bilbao G, Vilatoba M, Ringland SE, et al. Activated protein C preserves functional islet mass after intraportal transplantation: a novel link between endothelial cell activation, thrombosis, inflammation, and islet cell death. Diabetes 2004;53(11):2804–14.
- [175] Goto M, Tjernberg J, Dufrane D, Elgue G, Brandhorst D, Ekdahl KN, et al. Dissecting the instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction in islet xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation 2008;15(4):225–34.
- [176] Koh A, Senior P, Salam A, Kin T, Imes S, Dinyari P, et al. Insulin-heparin infusions peritransplant substantially improve single-donor clinical islet transplant success. Transplantation 2010;89(4):465–71.
- [177] Cottet S, Dupraz P, Hamburger F, Dolci W, Jaquet M, Thorens B. SOCS-1 protein prevents Janus kinase/STAT-dependent inhibition of beta cell insulin gene transcription and secretion in response to interferon-gamma. J Biol Chem 2001;276(28):25862–70.
- [178] Cottet S, Dupraz P, Hamburger F, Dolci W, Jaquet M, Thorens B. cFLIP protein prevents tumor necrosis factor-alpha-mediated induction of caspase-8-dependent apoptosis in insulin-secreting betaTc-Tet cells. Diabetes 2002;51(6):1805–14.
- [179] Dupraz P, Rinsch C, Pralong WF, Rolland E, Zufferey R, Trono D, et al. Lentivirus-mediated Bcl-2 expression in betaTC-tet cells improves resistance to hypoxia and cytokine-induced apoptosis while preserving in vitro and in vivo control of insulin secretion. Gene Ther 1999;6(6): 1160–9.
- [180] Klein D, Ribeiro MM, Mendoza V, Jayaraman S, Kenyon NS, Pileggi A, et al. Delivery of Bcl-XL or its BH4 domain by protein transduction inhibits apoptosis in human islets. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;323(2):473–8.
- [181] Dupraz P, Cottet S, Hamburger F, Dolci W, Felley-Bosco E, Thorens B. Dominant negative MyD88 proteins inhibit interleukin-1beta/ interferon-gamma -mediated induction of nuclear factor kappa B-dependent nitrite production and apoptosis in beta cells. J Biol Chem 2000;275(48):37672-8.
- [182] Zammit NW, Grey ST. Emerging roles for A20 in islet biology and pathology. Adv Exp Med Biol 2014;809:141-62.
- [183] Grey ST, Longo C, Shukri T, Patel VI, Csizmadia E, Daniel S, et al. Genetic engineering of a suboptimal islet graft with A20 preserves beta cell mass and function. J Immunol 2003;170(12):6250–6.
- [184] Emamaullee J, Liston P, Korneluk RG, Shapiro AM, Elliott JF. XIAP overexpression in islet beta-cells enhances engraftment and minimizes hypoxia-reperfusion injury. Am J Transplant 2005;5(6):1297–305.
- [185] Emamaullee JA, Rajotte RV, Liston P, Korneluk RG, Lakey JR, Shapiro AM, et al. XIAP overexpression in human islets prevents early posttransplant apoptosis and reduces the islet mass needed to treat diabetes. Diabetes 2005;54(9):2541–8.
- [186] Plesner A, Soukhatcheva G, Korneluk RG, Verchere CB. XIAP inhibition of beta-cell apoptosis reduces the number of islets required to restore euglycemia in a syngeneic islet transplantation model. Islets 2010;2(1):18–23.
- [187] Emamaullee JA, Davis J, Pawlick R, Toso C, Merani S, Cai SX, et al. The caspase selective inhibitor EP1013 augments human islet graft function and longevity in marginal mass islet transplantation in mice. Diabetes 2008;57(6):1556–66.
- [188] McCall M, Toso C, Emamaullee J, Pawlick R, Edgar R, Davis J, et al. The caspase inhibitor IDN-6556 (PF3491390) improves marginal mass engraftment after islet transplantation in mice. Surgery 2011;150(1):48–55.
- [189] McCall MD, Maciver AM, Kin T, Emamaullee J, Pawlick R, Edgar R, et al. Caspase inhibitor IDN6556 facilitates marginal mass islet engraftment in a porcine islet autotransplant model. Transplantation 2012;94(1):30–5.
- [190] Pepper AR, Bruni A, Pawlick R, Wink J, Rafiei Y, Gala-Lopez B, et al. Engraftment site and effectiveness of the Pan-Caspase inhibitor F573 to improve engraftment in mouse and human islet transplantation in mice. Transplantation Oct 2017;101(10):2321–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/TP.000000000001638.
- [191] Harlan DM, Kenyon NS, Korsgren O, Roep BO. Current advances and travails in islet transplantation. Diabetes 2009;58(10):2175-84.
- [192] Pearson T, Markees TG, Serreze DV, Pierce MA, Wicker LS, Peterson LB, et al. Islet cell autoimmunity and transplantation tolerance: two distinct mechanisms? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003;1005:148–56.

- [193] Rossini AA, Mordes JP, Greiner DL, Stoff JS. Islet cell transplantation tolerance. Transplantation 2001;72(8 Suppl.):S43-6.
- [194] Bosi E, Braghi S, Maffi P, Scirpoli M, Bertuzzi F, Pozza G, et al. Autoantibody response to islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2001;50(11):2464–71.
- [195] Jaeger C, Brendel MD, Eckhard M, Bretzel RG. Islet autoantibodies as potential markers for disease recurrence in clinical islet transplantation. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2000;108(5):328–33.
- [196] Wherrett DK, Bundy B, Becker DJ, DiMeglio LA, Gitelman SE, Goland R, et al. Antigen-based therapy with glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) vaccine in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a randomised double-blind trial. Lancet 2011;378(9788):319–27.
- [197] Huurman VA, Hilbrands R, Pinkse GG, Gillard P, Duinkerken G, van de Linde P, et al. Cellular islet autoimmunity associates with clinical outcome of islet cell transplantation. PLoS One 2008;3(6):e2435.
- [198] Herold KC, Gitelman SE, Masharani U, Hagopian W, Bisikirska B, Donaldson D, et al. A single course of anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody hOKT3gamma1(Ala-Ala) results in improvement in C-peptide responses and clinical parameters for at least 2 years after onset of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2005;54(6):1763–9.
- [199] Skyler JS. The compelling case for anti-CD3 in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2013;62(11):3656-7.
- [200] Herold KC, Gitelman SE, Ehlers MR, Gottlieb PA, Greenbaum CJ, Hagopian W, et al. Teplizumab (anti-CD3 mAb) treatment preserves C-peptide responses in patients with new-onset type 1 diabetes in a randomized controlled trial: metabolic and immunologic features at base-line identify a subgroup of responders. Diabetes 2013;62(11):3766–74.
- [201] Lenschow DJ, Ho SC, Sattar H, Rhee L, Gray G, Nabavi N, et al. Differential effects of anti-B7-1 and anti-B7-2 monoclonal antibody treatment on the development of diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. J Exp Med 1995;181(3):1145–55.
- [202] Benhamou PY. Immunomodulation with CTLA4-Ig in islet transplantation. Transplantation 2002;73(1 Suppl.):S40-2.
- [203] Casey JJ, Lakey JR, Ryan EA, Paty BW, Owen R, O'Kelly K, et al. Portal venous pressure changes after sequential clinical islet transplantation. Transplantation 2002;74(7):913–5.
- [204] Pawlick RL, Wink J, Pepper AR, Bruni A, Abualhassen N, Rafiei Y, et al. Reparixin, a CXCR1/2 inhibitor in islet allotransplantation. Islets 2016;8(5):115–24.
- [205] Emamaullee J, Toso C, Merani S, Shapiro AM. Costimulatory blockade with belatacept in clinical and experimental transplantation a review. Exp Opin Biol Ther 2009;9(6):789–96.
- [206] Vincenti F, Larsen C, Durrbach A, Wekerle T, Nashan B, Blancho G, et al. Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 2005;353(8):770–81.
- [207] Kawai T, Andrews D, Colvin RB, Sachs DH, Cosimi AB. Thromboembolic complications after treatment with monoclonal antibody against CD40 ligand. Nat Med 2000;6(2):114.
- [208] Kenyon NS, Chatzipetrou M, Masetti M, Ranuncoli A, Oliveira M, Wagner JL, et al. Long-term survival and function of intrahepatic islet allografts in rhesus monkeys treated with humanized anti-CD154. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96(14):8132–7.
- [209] Kirk AD, Burkly LC, Batty DS, Baumgartner RE, Berning JD, Buchanan K, et al. Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibody against CD154 prevents acute renal allograft rejection in nonhuman primates. Nat Med 1999;5(6):686–93.
- [210] Adams AB, Shirasugi N, Jones TR, Durham MM, Strobert EA, Cowan S, et al. Development of a chimeric anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody that synergizes with LEA29Y to prolong islet allograft survival. J Immunol 2005;174(1):542–50.
- [211] Singh D, Huston KK. IL-1 inhibition with anakinra in a patient with refractory gout. J Clin Rheumatol 2009;15(7):366.
- [212] Matsumoto S, Takita M, Chaussabel D, Noguchi H, Shimoda M, Sugimoto K, et al. Improving efficacy of clinical islet transplantation with iodixanol-based islet purification, thymoglobulin induction, and blockage of IL-1beta and TNF-alpha. Cell Transplant 2011;20(10):1641–7.
- [213] McCall M, Pawlick R, Kin T, Shapiro AM. Anakinra potentiates the protective effects of etanercept in transplantation of marginal mass human islets in immunodeficient mice. Am J Transplant 2012;12(2):322–9.
- [214] Bellin MD, Barton FB, Heitman A, Harmon JV, Kandaswamy R, Balamurugan AN, et al. Potent induction immunotherapy promotes longterm insulin independence after islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes. Am J Transplant 2012;12(6):1576–83.

This page intentionally left blank

# Prenatal Cell- and Gene-Based Therapies for Regenerative Medicine

Graça Almeida-Porada, Christopher D. Porada

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Regenerative medicine promises the restoration of structure and/or function of deficient or damaged tissues and organs, with the goal of finding a way to cure previously untreatable injuries and diseases [1].

When contemplating the use of regenerative medicine during the prenatal period, one must first consider which diseases could benefit the most from such treatment. For example, in inherited metabolic diseases such as Lesch–Nyhan, Tay Sachs, and the acute neuropathic forms of Gaucher, a considerable amount of irreversible neuronal damage occurs during embryonic and fetal development [2]. The damage that these diseases exert during gestation cannot be entirely reversed after birth, causing even the most advanced treatments given to these patients postnatally to fall short of full therapeutic benefit [3]. Hence, the most compelling rationale for using regenerative medicine approaches during gestation is the ability to treat diseases early enough in development to prevent the onset of structural or metabolic damage, and thereby avoid the devastating manifestations that would otherwise occur before birth. Even in patients with diseases that can be cured postnatally, a persuasive argument can be made for the psychological and financial benefits of performing correction in utero, because it would allow the birth of a healthy infant who ideally would require no further treatments.

Remarkable advances in prenatal imaging, such as high-resolution ultrasonography and high-throughput molecular techniques, have improved the ability to identify diseases early in gestation by using fetal cells, or cell-free fetal DNA present in the maternal blood [4], the latter of which essentially eliminates any risk to the fetus during diagnosis. Importantly, these technical advances have not only improved the ability to identify diseases early in development, they have made it possible to deliver therapies safely to precise anatomic sites within the earlygestation fetus. Therefore, preemptive fetal regenerative medicine would entirely transform the current treatment of genetic disorders [5], allowing physicians to intervene before clinical manifestations of disease. It is also worth mentioning that the environment within the uterus provides a sterile platform in which to manipulate a fetal recipient. For instance, if one considers the treatment of an immunodeficiency, the maternal womb functions as a sterile incubator, allowing immune reconstitution before exposure to pathogens [5].

In this chapter, we review the therapeutic rationale for using in utero stem cell transplantation (IUTx), and/or in utero gene therapy (IUGT) in the context of regenerative medicine and examine crucial experimental data to support their use. We discuss the fetus as a target for regenerative medicine and the biological barriers that have thus far precluded more widespread clinical application/success of prenatal regenerative medicine, and we illustrate some of the unique advantages the fetal patient possesses, as well as some of the potential risks that will need to be addressed before clinical implementation.

# FETAL DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

There are several biological advantages unique to fetal development that provide compelling evidence to believe that for certain genetic disorders, regenerative medicine approaches such as stem cell transplantation and/or gene

therapy would be far more efficient and effective if administered during fetal life rather than postnatally. Because hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) were the first cell type tested for IUTx and they are the cell type that has been used in most IUTx studies, this chapter will focus on the use of HSC in IUTx. However, other cell types have also been explored in the context of IUTx. The choice to use HSC for IUTx was based on the ability of HSC to self-renew and differentiate into all of the mature hematopoietic lineages, which make them well-suited for treating a broad range of hematopoietic disorders. Equally important, their property of self-renewal allows successful HSC transplantation to result in lifelong correction. HSC have been the subject of intense study for decades and are the most comprehensively characterized stem cells in the body. They are one of the only stem cells in the body that has been isolated to relative purity, and much of what we know about the biology and behavior of stem cells in general is based on the paradigm that experiments with HSC established.

The initial rationale for performing HSC IUTx was based on the expectation that normal developmental events such as (1) the lack of a fully functional immune system, (2) migration of HSC from the liver to the marrow, and (3) the development of new hematopoietic niches occurring during the emergence of the hematopoietic/immune system would collectively create the proper setting to facilitate engraftment of allogeneic cells, thereby avoiding the complications and toxic myeloablative conditioning associated with postnatal bone marrow (BM) transplantation [6].

Definitive hematopoiesis commences in the yolk sac and/or aorta-gonadal-mesonephric region, migrates to the fetal liver, and finally transfers to the BM, where it resides postnatally for the remainder of life [7]. In addition, during fetal development, large-scale migration of stem cells occurs to seed tissue compartments [8]. It was therefore expected that the normal fetal biology would allow transplanted cells to piggyback onto the naturally occurring processes of migration, engraftment, differentiation, and expansion. Looking specifically at hematological disorders, it was presumed that donor reconstitution of the defective hematopoietic compartment would occur without the need for cytotoxic myeloablation, which is a primary cause of the severe morbidity and mortality associated with postnatal BM transplantation. Unfortunately, it is now recognized that the fetal hematopoietic system is highly competitive and represents a daunting barrier to engraftment of transplanted adult HSC [9–11]. However, if postnatally derived HSC possessing proliferative capability similar to that of fetal sources were able to be identified, or the regulatory signals controlling the migration of HSC and their seeding of nascent marrow niches were better understood, it is likely that these processes could ultimately be manipulated to drive the engraftment of donor cells [12].

A distinct advantage of delivering either cellular or genetic therapies during the fetal period, over a pediatric or adult patient, is the very small size of the fetus. At 12 weeks of gestation, the point in development at which prenatal therapy would commence, the human fetus only weighs roughly 35 g [4]. Therefore, it is possible to administer much higher cell or vector doses on a per-kilogram basis than could be achieved after birth. The ability to achieve much higher vector-to-target cell ratios should greatly enhance the efficiency of transduction. In addition, the ability to administer a small volume of vector and achieve the desired rate of transduction is of additional benefit from a technical and logistical standpoint, because the large-scale production of certain vectors under good manufacturing practice conditions is often extremely difficult.

Additional aspects of the developing fetus that make it a more suitable gene therapy recipient than the adult are the highly proliferative state of the stem or progenitor cells present throughout the body and the accessibility of these cells. γ-retroviruses and lentiviruses have received a great deal of attention as gene delivery vectors, owing to their ability to integrate into the genome of the host cell. This unique property allows transduction of a long-lived cell to provide lifelong therapy. In the adult, most stem cell populations are relatively quiescent, and they are often inaccessible, because of their tissue distribution and/or the presence of anatomic barriers. As a result, these promising vectors have often yielded fairly low levels of initial transduction and only a limited degree of expansion of transduced adult cells occurs after gene therapy, which have often prevented therapeutic levels of gene correction. During specific developmental periods, however, stem and progenitor cell populations are present at a relatively high frequency in most tissues and may be accessible to gene transfer, providing a unique window of opportunity for gene transfer to these expanding nascent stem cell populations, which will be inaccessible later in life [6,13]. In the fetus, the cells in all of the organs are actively cycling to support the continuous expansion that occurs throughout gestation. Thus, most cell types that are largely quiescent in the adult are far more mitotically active in the fetus. As such, these cells should be far more amenable to genetic correction with vectors requiring cell division. Although the active cell cycling in the fetus enables efficient transduction with vectors that require mitosis, this ongoing proliferation in all of the fetal organs is also beneficial when using vectors that do not have an absolute requirement for mitosis. The active cycling of the cells in all of the organs to support the continuous expansion that occurs throughout gestation should result in expansion of the gene-corrected cells during the remainder of gestation,

#### PRECLINICAL ANIMAL STUDIES OF IN UTERO STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION

allowing initial transduction of even small numbers of target cells to result in significant levels of gene correction by birth. Clearly, being able to take full advantage of this fetal expansion will likely require the use of vectors that integrate into the host genome, because vectors based on nonintegrating viruses, such as adenovirus, or those that integrate only rarely, such as adeno-associated virus (AAV), will largely be lost during cellular division, causing cessation of a therapeutic effect.

In addition to the ability to access nascent stem cell populations, fetal biology provides one of the most compelling reasons to deliver cellular or gene therapies in utero: the possibility of inducing donor-specific immune tolerance [14]. Early in gestation, the emerging immune system is shaped by a process of self-education. In the fetal thymus, prelymphocytes that recognize "self"—major histocompatibility complex (MHC) are preselected, and any of those that exhibit the ability to recognize, with high-affinity, any of the myriad self-antigens in association with self-MHC, undergo deletion [15]. This process thus strives to create an immune system devoid of self-reactive lymphocytes (which could later lead to autoimmunity) and is populated with a diverse repertoire of lymphocytes that are able to recognize foreign antigens in association with self-MHC [6,16]. Therefore, the introduction of allogeneic cells or foreign proteins by IUTx, with subsequent presentation of exogenous antigens in the thymus, before the completion of thymic education, should lead to the deletion of alloreactive T cells, creating donor-specific or protein-specific immune tolerance.

Looking specifically at IUGT, the immature immune system of the fetus should enable the delivery of immunogenic transgenes or viral vectors that would be rejected by the intact immune system of a postnatal patient. For example, most of the world's population has been exposed to, and harbors antibodies to, the capsid proteins in various serotypes of AAV, which makes postnatal gene delivery with these valuable vectors difficult. Intervening in utero, before maturation of the immune system, would likely allow efficient gene transfer with these vectors, because these antibodies are not present. With respect to the transgene, many patients have the genetic diseases that are targeted with postnatal gene therapy because they do not produce a specific protein. As a result, their immune system has never "seen" this protein, and, after gene therapy, the cells of the immune system seek to eliminate any cells in the body that are expressing the very protein that could cure the patient of his or her disease. The low levels of gene delivery to the desired target cells and the immune response combine to yield low levels of expression of the therapeutic protein, and even these small amounts are often produced only for a short time. Performing IUGT could induce a state of tolerance to the transgene and perhaps to the vector itself, which not only ensures long-term, stable transduction and expression but should make it possible to administer postnatal "booster" treatments (if required) with the same vector and transgene without eliciting an immune response. An important caveat to inducing tolerance to the vector, however, is that such tolerance could potentially render the individual susceptible to postnatal infection with the wild-type virus on which the vector was based. Such an outcome is clearly undesirable; preclinical animal studies will be needed to determine whether this risk exists.

# PRECLINICAL ANIMAL STUDIES OF IN UTERO STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION

In 1945, Owen [17] described for the first time that the shared placental circulation present in monochorionic dizygotic cattle enabled an intrauterine exchange of circulating HSC that resulted in lifelong hematopoietic chimerism and donor-specific tolerance to the twin [17–19]; reports of natural chimerism in both nonhuman primate and human twins followed years later [20,21]. The presence of hematopoietic chimerism led to a lack of alloreactivity between the two siblings, and in the case of dizygotic human twins, the frequency of chimerism was relatively high (8% for twins and 21% for triplets) [22,23]. Because these levels of chimerism would be sufficient to exert a therapeutic effect in most hematologic diseases [6], these findings provided compelling evidence that allogeneic hematopoietic cells could engraft and induce durable immune tolerance if introduced early during fetal development; they inspired scientists decades later to consider using IUTx to treat hematopoietic disorders.

Although these "experiments of nature" hinted at the therapeutic potential of IUTx, these natural chimeras result from placental vascular anastomoses. As such, there is a continuous exchange of blood and contact with allogeneic cells and antigens beginning very early and persisting throughout gestation [24]. Unfortunately, it would likely be impossible to recreate this process experimentally, or ultimately, in a clinical setting to treat human patients. With this caveat in mind, however, these exciting findings provide the scientific basis for the therapeutic promise of IUTx, and for its ability to induce donor-specific immune tolerance, and they have served as the impetus to realize IUTx's clinical potential.

These observations in dizygotic twins are important because they provide compelling evidence that the immunological tolerance induced by IUTx can facilitate maintenance of the donor hematopoietic cells. Perhaps even more exciting has been the realization that even if the levels of donor cell engraftment after IUTx are insufficient to be curative or therapeutic, one could exploit the antigen-specific tolerance induced by IUTx and administer postnatal "booster" transplants of same-donor HSC to achieve therapeutic engraftment without having to employ toxic myeloablation [25–27], or possibly even transplant same-donor solid organs.

With respect to using IUTx to induce donor-specific tolerance to permit subsequent transplantation of a samedonor organ, Billingham and colleagues performed groundbreaking experiments in the 1950s [14] that provided the first experimental evidence that IUTx with allogeneic cells could indeed induce donor-specific tolerance that permitted successful postnatal grafting of skin in mice. Given the robust nature of the immune response that is formed to third-party skin [28], this was a remarkable achievement and provided unequivocal proof of the durability of the induced state of tolerance. However, despite the demonstrated potential for in utero hematopoietic chimerism to induce immune tolerance, it was not until nearly 20 years later that Fleischman and Mintz began to explore the possibility of performing experimental IUTx with the goal of engrafting donor (allogeneic) HSC. Using a line of c-kit-deficient mice with genetic anemia, these innovative investigators showed that performing IUTx with allogeneic adult BM HSC reversed genetic anemia [29]. These important studies revealed another interesting aspect of donor cell engraftment after IUTx: the extent to which the donor cells repopulated the erythroid compartment of the recipient was directly correlated to the degree of anemia present. As a result, the erythroid compartment of lethally anemic homozygous mice was rapidly and completely replaced with donor-derived erythropoiesis, whereas donor-derived erythropoiesis was far less in mice with mild anemia. Mintz continued his work with IUTx, and ultimately made the striking discovery that erythroid reconstitution could be achieved in this model following IUTx with just a single HSC [30].

These early studies were predominantly performed with the goal of gaining a better understanding of HSC biology rather than trying to develop IUTx as a potential therapy. Nevertheless, these studies provided the first evidence that host cell competition could act as a barrier to donor cell engraftment after IUTx, a realization that would ultimately prove critical to successful clinical implementation of IUTx. It was almost 20 years from Mintz's initial report before independent confirmation came for the ability to achieve robust hematopoietic chimerism after IUTx in stem cell–deficient recipients [31], when Bruce Blazar demonstrated that only cells of the lymphoid lineage were reconstituted when mice with a T-cell defect were treated by IUTx [32,33]. These studies reaffirmed the concept that in the presence of a lineage deficiency, IUTx is able to reconstitute the defective lineage, but donor cells contribute minimally, if at all, to other hematopoietic lineages. These findings thus suggested that achieving clinically meaningful levels of donor cell engraftment after IUTx in recipients with a competitive hematopoietic compartment was likely going to be far more difficult than initially appreciated. Indeed, early IUTx studies in immunocompetent, wild-type mice consistently reported very low engraftment rates, and it was soon reported that immunodeficient mice engrafted much more efficiently than wild-type [33,34].

Since these initial pioneering murine studies nearly a half century ago, the field of IUTx has made substantial advances, moving first to large-animal models and ultimately to human trials. The first report of the engraftment of allogeneic cells after fetal transplantation in a large-animal model was made in sheep [35]. Among the various animal models for studying IUTx, sheep have proven to be particularly valuable as a preclinical tool. Fetal sheep provide a natural, unperturbed environment in which to study IUTx. Moreover, if IUTx is performed early enough in gestation, xenogeneic cells are not rejected, which makes it possible to study the engraftment and differentiation capacity of a variety of human stem cells [36]. Although it may not be readily apparent, sheep actually share many important physiological and developmental characteristics with humans. Importantly, the results of extensive studies of mammalian development and fetal physiology obtained in the sheep model have been directly applicable to an understanding of human fetal growth and development [37]. In contrast to most large animals, e.g., dogs and pigs, that tend to have large litters, sheep, like humans, typically have only one or two offspring in each pregnancy. In addition, sheep are similar in size and weight to humans during gestation, at birth, and even as adults. This makes it possible to develop and test clinically relevant doses of cells and vectors in this model, and then to translate the outcome directly to the clinic without the need for costly and often complicated scale-up. In addition, their immune system and hematopoietic development during fetal ontogeny have been thoroughly delineated and parallel those of humans [38–41], which make this model ideal for investigating the immune facets of IUTx (and IUGT). Also, sheep in captivity normally live for 8–10 years. This long life span allows important issues such as long-term efficacy and safety to be carefully evaluated.

The fetal sheep model has also had a critical role in defining the phenotype of long-term engrafting human HSC and was responsible for identifying several novel human stem cell markers/phenotypes, such as CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>, HLA-DR<sup>-</sup>, Thy-1<sup>+</sup>, CD133, KDR, and CD34<sup>-</sup> [42–46], which underscores the high translational value of data obtained with this model. The sheep model has made it possible to define the role of the marrow microenvironment

49] and has also proven to be a valuable preclinical model in which to

in the engraftment of HSC after IUTx [37,47–49] and has also proven to be a valuable preclinical model in which to study HSC mobilization; engrafted human hematopoietic cells respond to human cytokines similarly to their native counterparts [50]. These data collectively support the utility of the fetal sheep model to develop and test IUTx (and IUGT) approaches and obtain clinically relevant results.

Like sheep, the canine model has been shown to accept xenogeneic transplants, and low-level multilineage hematopoietic engraftment has been demonstrated in hematologically normal dogs [27]. More recently, Flake and colleagues showed that the levels of hematopoietic engraftment in canine recipients after IUTx are sufficient to (1) ameliorate or cure the clinical phenotype of the canine analog of human leukocyte adhesion deficiency (canine leukocyte adhesion deficiency), and (2) induce donor-specific tolerance in some animals that is adequate to facilitate postnatal "boosting" of chimerism using a low-dose, busulfan-conditioning regimen, followed by transplantation of same donor T cell–depleted BM [27,51–53]. In addition to sheep and dogs, IUTx has been performed in pigs [54] and goats [55,56], and low-level engraftment has also been achieved after IUTx in nonhuman primates [57–60]. Subsequent studies in the pig model provided compelling evidence that IUTx with adult BM-derived HSC induced immune tolerance that enabled postnatal transplantation of a solid organ (kidney) allograft [61]. These exciting studies suggest that one day it may be possible to use IUTx to induce immune tolerance in fetuses with congenital abnormalities that require postnatal organ transplantation.

Despite the unquestionable clinical value of large-animal models, the low cost, simplicity of handling and housing, and ease of genetic manipulation have led investigators to use mouse models extensively to probe various components of the immune system to understand the mechanism(s) better by which IUTx induces immune tolerance. Flake, MacKenzie, Peranteau, Shaaban, Nijagal, and colleagues have performed elegant studies that collectively have provided compelling evidence that clonal deletion, anergy, and induction of donor-specific T regulatory cells (Tregs) all have important roles in establishing chimerism and inducing tolerance after IUTx [62–65]. These murine studies also revealed that even very low levels of allogeneic HSC (1–2% engraftment) are often sufficient to induce postnatal tolerance successfully across full MHC barriers, as long as a certain "threshold" level of chimerism is achieved and maintained [66]. Subsequent work by Shaaban et al. provided evidence that this engraftment threshold is likely governed by natural killer (NK) cell tolerance [67].

Collectively, these results in small and large animals have clearly demonstrated the technical feasibility of IUTx, validated its ability to induce donor-specific tolerance, and clarified some of the pathways that are required for tolerance induction. Although it is possible that the human immune system will present its own unique challenges, these animal studies establish an essential foundation for the ultimate clinical application of IUTx.

# Barriers to In Utero Stem Cell Transplantation Success

One of the driving assumptions behind IUTx was that a so-called "window of opportunity" existed before the appearance of mature T cells in the fetal thymus and peripheral circulation ( $\sim 12-14$  weeks of gestation in the human fetus) [16] during which the fetus should be "preimmune" [68]. However, accumulating data from numerous experimental studies made it increasingly clear that significant barriers existed that prevented successful engraftment after IUTx unless the recipient possessed a lineage-specific defect, e.g., anemia or severe combined immuno-deficiency (SCID), that could confer a competitive advantage to the donor cells [68–73]. It was the surprising findings of Peranteau [74], however, that conclusively dispelled the belief that the fetus is truly "preimmune," by showing (in mice) that IUTx with congenic cells produced more consistent engraftment and at higher levels compared with phenotypically identical allogeneic cells. These studies provided some of the first concrete evidence that the fetal immune system poses one of the major barriers to engraftment after IUTx. Further analysis of these congenic and allogeneic IUTx recipients revealed that although 100% of allogeneic and congenic recipients maintained high levels of engraftment up to 3 weeks after IUTx, 70% of allogeneic animals lost their engraftment between 3 and 5 weeks whereas congenic animals all remained chimeric [74].

The authors confirmed the presence of an adaptive cellular and humoral alloresponse that was quantitatively higher in nonchimeric versus chimeric animals, which placed these results at odds with a wealth of prior data, much of which was from this same group, and demonstrated long-term chimerism in a percentage of recipients (both mice and other animals) after IUTx and the presence of deletional tolerance. A possible explanation for this seeming discrepancy came from the authors' subsequent observation that allo-IUTx pups placed with surrogate mothers maintained their chimerism in the long term, and they became tolerant to the donor via a mechanism of partial deletion of donor-reactive T cells and the induction of a potent Treg response [63,75]. These findings suggested that IUTx can trigger maternal alloimmunization and that subsequent transfer of alloantibodies to the pup via breast milk resulted in the loss of chimerism.

In an independent, contemporaneous series of murine IUTx studies, Nijagal, MacKenzie, and colleagues provided further evidence that fetal intervention can trigger maternal alloimmunization. However, data from these studies led the authors to conclude that the trafficking of maternal T cells to the fetus was responsible for the loss of chimerism rather than alloantibodies in the breast milk [64,76]. Of course, one must recognize that placentation, maternofetal antibody—cell trafficking, and the time course of events after IUTx are likely to differ considerably between mice and large animals or humans. Nevertheless, these findings raise the important question of whether maternal immunization can limit engraftment after IUTx, and it may be an issue that needs to be considered when applying IUTx clinically. Until this question is addressed in clinically predictive large-animal models, the prevailing consensus in the field is that it may be prudent to use maternal cells in any clinical application of IUTx to eliminate the possibility of triggering a maternal immune response.

Although the preceding studies were well-designed and the data appear to be beyond reproach, Shaaban and colleagues made the astute observation that the maternal immune system has been intact in all human patients who have thus far undergone IUTx for a variety of diseases, despite the nature of the clinical outcome (success or failure). This group logically contends that these clinical data argue strongly against maternal immunity having an important role in engraftment failure after IUTx [67,77]. This group spent several years investigating the ontogeny of the fetal immune system in an effort to establish which cells or pathways present at the time of IUTx could account for the apparent immune barrier to engraftment of allogeneic cells. These authors identified a subset of early alloreactive NK cells within the fetal liver, which they thought might pose a barrier to engraftment of transplanted cells as early as the end of the first trimester in humans. This conclusion is supported by subsequent work from the same group, showing that it is possible to achieve engraftment of allogeneic cells reliably and consistently after IUTx if NK cells are depleted from the fetus, but not from the mother [67,77,78]. Intriguingly, the authors also found that the levels of early chimerism required to induce NK cell tolerance agree precisely with the threshold levels of engraftment that were discussed earlier. In further work, this same group established a possible mechanistic link between the induction of prenatal NK cell tolerance and the process of trogocytosis, which explains how levels of engraftment of only 1–2% could result in the exposure of donor antigens to a sufficient number of NK cells to induce donor-specific tolerance reliably [79]. Although these important findings have not yet been reproduced in largeanimal IUTx models, these sophisticated studies collectively argue persuasively for the import role fetal NK cells have in achieving engraftment of allogeneic cells after IUTx, as occurs in postnatal HSC transplantation.

In addition to the possible immune response of the fetus and/or mother to the donor cells, host cell competition presents a significant barrier to engraftment of allogeneic HSC after IUTx. In postnatal HSC transplantation, the recipient is myeloablated before infusion of the donor cells to suppress endogenous hematopoiesis and create space within the BM niches for the infused cells. After IUTx, the situation is drastically different, however; the infused donor cells must compete against the robust endogenous fetal hematopoietic system. Studies in c-kit–deficient mice have lent strong support to the idea that donor (adult) cells may have a competitive disadvantage in the fetal environment by showing that in the absence of host competition, as few as one or two normal HSC can fully reconstitute the hematopoietic compartment after IUTx [29]. Similarly, IUTx studies performed in SCID mice illustrate the importance of host cell competition [32], in that donor cells completely repopulate the defective lymphoid lineage of the recipient. However, when no defect is present, the scale tips dramatically in favor of the endogenous fetal HSC, which have a marked competitive advantage over their adult-derived counterparts [9] owing to their accelerated or enhanced cycling and expansion kinetics. Data from the congenic mouse model of IUTx provide a striking example of how profoundly this competition from endogenous hematopoiesis can limit long-term donor cell engraftment. In this setting in which no immune barriers exist, even when investigators delivered massive doses of  $2 \times 10^{11}$  donor cells/kg, levels of long-term donor cell engraftment never exceeded 10% [74].

The limited number of available niches and the proliferative capacity of the fetal environment have also been suggested to serve as a barrier to successful IUTx [80]. For donor cells to engraft successfully, they must be able to compete favorably with the host cells for available hematopoietic niches. Support for this concept was provided by studies in which more competitive fetal donor cells or larger doses of adult cells were shown to enhance the success of IUTx [12,81]. Selective depletion of host HSC before BM transplant resulted in high rates of engraftment in adults, so it stands to reason that improved competition for available host niches after IUTx should also lead to higher levels of early chimerism. However, no evidence was found to suggest that quantitative or qualitative differences exist in the number of HSC or available niches in patients with SCID compared with patients with the range of other disorders that have proven refractory to correction by IUTx [82,83]. The absence of such data makes it hard to explain the marked difference in donor cell engraftment after IUTx in immunodeficient versus nonimmunodeficient recipients by invoking a competitive niche model [67]. Nevertheless, it is reasonable to assume that the fetal marrow indeed possesses a finite number of hematopoietic niches that are available for donor cells after IUTx,

given studies in an allogeneic and xenogeneic fetal sheep model showing that a plateau of engraftment efficiency is eventually reached as one increases the dose of donor cells administered [84]. Along these same lines, another study also performed in the sheep model showed that administering busulfan to the pregnant ewe 6 days before IUTx led to a significant increase in donor cell engraftment [85]. Although instructive, it is doubtful that using a highly toxic myeloablative agent during pregnancy would be deemed acceptable in humans. Studies from MacKenzie's group demonstrated that it was possible to achieve therapeutic levels of engraftment after neonatal transplantation [86] with none of the cytotoxic effects of an agent such as busulfan, by selectively depleting the host HSC in utero using an antibody to the c-kit receptor. Although these two studies collectively support the notion that chimerism can be significantly enhanced after IUTx by emptying host HSC niches before donor cell infusion, additional studies are clearly needed to identify ways to optimize the beneficial effects on donor HSC engraftment while minimizing fetal and maternal risks.

# Preclinical Animal Studies of In Utero Gene Therapy: Hemophilia A as a Model Genetic Disease for Correction by In Utero Gene Therapy

Multiple outstanding reviews have been written discussing IUGT in detail [5,6,87,88]. For this reason, in this section we will briefly highlight some of the key advantages and risks to this approach, focusing much of our discussion on hemophilia A (HA), using this disease as a paradigm to illustrate the utility of IUGT for treating or curing a wide array of genetic diseases. Gene transfer using viral vectors exploits the natural ability of the parent virus to attach to a target cell efficiently and transfer its genetic material to the host cell nucleus. However, viral vectors are engineered to be devoid of most if not all viral genes, thereby rendering the vector incapable of replication and avoiding the expression of potentially immunogenic and/or toxic viral genes. Although a complete vectorology discussion is beyond the scope of this chapter, the specific vector to be used for a given IUGT application will depend largely on one's goals and the disease and/or cell type being targeted and should be selected after careful consideration of factors such as the ability to integrate into host genomic DNA, tissue tropism, packaging capacity, and potential immunogenicity. An "ideal" vector should possess the ability to target a specific cell type/organ selectively and to mediate sufficient levels of gene transfer (and subsequent transgene expression) to produce a therapeutic effect with only a single treatment. Clearly, however, the ideal vector tropism will vary depending on the disease to be treated. As we will discuss in detail shortly, when targeting diseases such as the hemophilias, tissue-specific expression of the corrective gene is not required. As such, the use of a vector that is capable of widespread transduction and gene expression within the developing fetus is desired because it would lead to far greater therapeutic benefit.

When one considers initial target diseases for exploring the therapeutic potential of IUGT, the diseases that would be most amenable to treatment by IUGT are those caused by a mutation in a single gene. To contemplate in utero treatment, testing for the target disease must be in place to allow diagnosis before birth, and there must be compelling reasons to pursue prenatal treatment rather than waiting until after birth. Using a variety of animal model systems and rodent models of human genetic diseases, IUGT, using a wide variety of viral vectors, has been targeted to multiple organs. Moreover, in several disease models, phenotypic rescue has been accomplished with IUGT [87,89–97]. In the interest of brevity and for the purpose of illustrating the profound therapeutic potential of IUGT and the ease with which it could be implemented clinically to cure disease, the next section of this chapter will focus on HA, presenting HA as a paradigm for genetic diseases that could be corrected by IUGT, the rationale for pursuing its treatment before birth, the feasibility of doing so, and clinical, societal, and financial advantages IUGT could offer over existing treatments for this disease.

#### The Need for Better Hemophilia A Treatments

HA is the most common inheritable coagulation deficiency [98]. Its clinical severity varies based on factor VII (FVIII) plasma levels. However, up to 70% of patients with HA have a severe, life-threatening phenotype [99] and frequent spontaneous hemorrhaging, which leads to hematomas, chronic painful and debilitating arthropathies, and potentially life-threatening internal bleeding [99]. The current standard of care for HA is prophylactic factor infusion, which consists of intravenous infusions of recombinant or plasma-derived FVIII two to three times a week to maintain hemostasis. Although this "protein-replacement therapy" has greatly improved quality and length of life for many patients with HA, it is far from ideal. Patients are condemned to a lifetime of frequent intravenous infusions and are financially burdened with treatment costs that can exceed \$300,000/year. Even among the approximately 25% of patients with HA worldwide who are fortunate enough to have access to FVIII prophylaxis,

approximately 30% will mount an immune response (inhibitors) to the infused FVIII [100]. In the best-case scenario, these inhibitors reduce the effectiveness of subsequent infusions of FVIII; in the worst-case scenario, they can lead to treatment failure, putting the patient at risk for a life-threatening bleed. These significant shortcomings highlight the need for novel therapies that can promise longer-lasting correction or permanent cure of HA.

In marked contrast to protein replacement, a single gene therapy treatment could promise lifelong correction of HA; indeed, several aspects of HA make it an ideal target disease for gene therapy [101,102]. First, FVIII does not need to be expressed in either a specific tissue or cell type to produce a therapeutic effect. Although the liver is thought to be the major site of FVIII synthesis within the body [103], FVIII can be expressed and perform its clotting function, as long as it is produced by cells that can release the synthesized FVIII into the circulation. Second, even if FVIII levels could be restored to only 3–5% of normal, this seemingly minimal change could exert a marked clinical effect in patients with severe HA, converting them to a moderate or mild phenotype and dramatically improving their quality of life [102]. This knowledge led the American Society of Gene and Cell Therapy to include the hemophilias in the most promising, "target 10" diseases in their roadmap (www.ASGCT.org).

#### Preclinical Animal Models to Study In Utero Gene Therapy for Hemophilia A

Fortunately, FVIII-deficient mice produced via gene targeting or knockout [104] and colonies of HA dogs in which spontaneous mutations occurred within the FVIII gene [105,106] are both available to study the biology of FVIII and to explore and develop gene-based strategies to treat HA. The phenotype in the HA mice is mild, in contrast to that of most human patients, and therapeutic benefit has been demonstrated in multiple postnatal murine gene therapy studies [107–115]. Postnatal gene therapy has also been shown to be capable of phenotypically improving HA dogs, but therapeutic benefit in this more clinically predictive model has proven far more difficult than in mice [116,117]. Despite these promising preclinical results, however, no therapeutic benefit has yet been seen in any of the clinical gene therapy trials that have been conducted for HA. This is in striking contrast to the successes in clinical gene therapy trials for hemophilia B (HB) [118]. Although the precise reasons for this marked difference in the ability of gene therapy to correct HA versus HB are not clear, this discrepancy is particularly vexing when one considers that roughly 80% of all clinical hemophilia cases are HA.

The difficulties seen thus far in translating success in animal models into therapeutic benefit in human patients highlight the importance of preclinical animal models that both precisely mimic the disease process of HA and closely parallel normal human immunology and physiology. To this end, we used a variety of reproductive technologies to reestablish and then clinically characterize a line of sheep successfully that possess a spontaneous frameshift mutation causing severe HA [119]. FVIII activity is undetectable in plasma of these sheep using a highly sensitive chromogenic assay, and if not treated at birth, these sheep die within the first hours or days of life [120,121]. All 10 affected animals that have been born have experienced multiple spontaneous episodes of severe bleeding, including muscle hematomas, hematuria, and hemarthroses, all of which have responded to infusion of human FVIII. In contrast to other animal models of HA, just like human patients with severe HA, these sheep experience frequent spontaneous bleeds into their "knees," which produce crippling arthropathies over time that ultimately lead to decreased movement, difficulties walking, and eventually symptoms of pain just to stand up. Also similar to human patients, some of these sheep developed inhibitors after administration of FVIII.

As discussed in detail in the section on IUTx, sheep possess many characteristics that make them an ideal preclinical model for IUGT. An additional unique advantage to using sheep in the context of HA treatment is that like humans, most of the FVIII carrier protein, von Willebrand factor (vWF), is stored or located within their platelets. This is in contrast to dogs, in which vWF circulates freely in plasma [122]. This important difference makes the sheep a highly relevant model in which to test the efficacy of platelet-targeted gene therapy approaches for HA [123].

#### Feasibility and Justification for Treating Hemophilia A Before Birth

Even if costs dropped sufficiently to enable most HA patients to afford FVIII prophylaxis, these patients would still require frequent, lifelong intravenous infusions and would still face the possibility of treatment failure owing to inhibitor formation. These problems, as well as many of the hurdles that have impeded gene therapy from curing patients with HA (and those with many other diseases as well), could be overcome or eliminated by performing gene therapy in utero. In 75% of HA cases, a family history exists that makes it possible to screen before birth. Prenatal diagnosis for HA is feasible and available, and is both encouraged and cost-effective, even within developing countries [124,125]. Moreover, it is now possible to diagnose HA in utero by performing digital polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on cell-free fetal DNA present in the mother's blood, which makes the prenatal diagnosis of HA effectively risk-free [126]. Despite the availability of prenatal screening, however, about 1 in 5000 boys born throughout the world each year have HA [98]. Corrective IUGT could remove the heavy physical, psychological,

over the lifetime of the patients with HA in the United States. Whereas after birth any intervention places a patient with HA at risk for bleeding, during early fetal life, activation of factor X occurs primarily via tissue factor activity, making it largely independent of the factor IXa (FIX)-FVIIIa phospholipid complex [127]. As a result, the fetus develops without hemorrhage despite having little or no expression of FVIII and FIX [127-129]. The unique hemostasis of the fetus should thus allow IUGT to be performed safely for HA; indeed, 1 of the 46 human patients who received IUTx was transplanted in the hope of correcting HA, or at least inducing immunological tolerance to FVIII [130]. Although only this one patient with HA was treated, he experienced no untoward effects as a result of the in utero intervention, he exhibited a reduced severity of disease compared with his siblings, and in contrast to his siblings, he did not develop inhibitors with FVIII treatment [130]. This remarkable case thus provides clinical validation for prior experimental studies demonstrating that exposure to vector-encoded proteins (including coagulation factors) during early immunologic development induces stable immune tolerance [131–134]. The lifelong tolerance to FVIII induced by an IUGT-based HA treatment should therefore prevent the development of FVIII inhibitors that plague patients treated with replacement therapy [121,135]. In this one clinical case, Dr. Touraine relied on the ability of unpurified fetal liver cells to produce sufficient levels of FVIII endogenously, after transplant, to mediate correction. The only partial correction that was observed in this patient supports the approach of using gene transfer to ensure adequate levels of FVIII are obtained for full phenotypic correction.

We showed that by administering a single intraperitoneal injection of a small volume of  $\gamma$ -retroviral vector during gestation, it is possible to achieve gene transfer levels within the hematopoietic system of 5–6% [94,136,137], levels that would certainly be beneficial in HA. Subsequent studies in which we selected CD34<sup>+</sup> cells from these IUGT recipients and performed serial transplantation or repopulation [94,137,138] provided compelling evidence that this approach successfully modified bona fide HSC, indicating this method could provide lifelong disease correction.

Results from these studies also demonstrated that hepatocytes and hepatic endothelium were transduced at levels that would be therapeutic in HA and defined the period of gestation for optimal transduction of these cells [93]. IUGT experiments performed by other investigators during the same period using sheep, rodent, and nonhuman primate models, and employing a variety of viral vectors, produced similar results [87,89,90,93,94,132,133,139–154]. These collective results clearly support the ability of this method to deliver an FVIII transgene to the nascent liver with adequate efficiency to convert patients with severe HA to a moderate or perhaps even mild phenotype.

As discussed at the beginning of this section, one of the most frequent and most dangerous clinical problems when treating severe HA by protein replacement is the formation of inhibitors in about 30% of patients. We have spent several decades performing IUGT studies in the sheep model and have demonstrated that it is possible to take advantage of the unique temporal window of relative immunonaivety during early gestation to deliver exogenous genes efficiently to a variety of fetal tissues and induce durable cellular and humoral tolerance to vector-encoded gene products [131]. Further mechanistic studies demonstrated that early in fetal development, IUGT exploits both central and peripheral tolerogenic avenues in the fetus [134]. These results strongly imply that even if it is not curative, IUGT would still be an ideal approach to treating HA, because the state of immune tolerance induced by IUGT would ensure that postnatal therapy, whether it is protein- or gene-based, could proceed safely with none of the immune-related problems that plague HA treatment.

Interestingly, although the incidence of HA is about seven times that of HB, the only experimental studies to test the ability of IUGT directly to correct the hemophilias have targeted HB (factor IX [FIX] deficiency) [89,132,133,139,150,152–156]. The choice to target HB rather than A most likely results from the greater ease with which FIX can be cloned into a variety of viral vectors and efficiently expressed upon transduction of appropriate target cells. The treatment of HB by IUGT has been extensively studied in murine models, with different groups performing gene transfer at differing gestational ages via different routes of injection and using different vector types. Sabatino et al. reported low-level human FIX expression after intramuscular injection of fetal mice with either AAV-1 or AAV-2. As predicted, the injection of AAV-1 induced tolerance and allowed the postnatal readministration of the FIX-encoding AAV-1 vector, increasing FIX levels sufficiently to reach the therapeutic range. Surprisingly, however, injection of AAV-2 did not induce immune tolerance [157]. In other studies, Schneider et al. compared various routes of administration for delivering adenovectors and AAV-2 vectors encoding human FIX into mouse fetuses and found that adenovectors resulted in initially higher levels of FIX. Mice injected in utero with nonintegrating adenovectors also maintained therapeutic levels of FIX for 6 months, and no antibodies developed against either vector or transgene [154].
Without a doubt, Waddington and colleagues achieved the most clinically promising results of IUGT in hemophiliac mice by showing that the injection of an FIX-encoding lentiviral vector into embryonic day 15 mouse fetuses resulted in levels of FIX that were 9–16% of normal and improved coagulation for 14 months after IUGT. Furthermore, no immune response developed to FIX, even when the authors attempted to break tolerance by repeatedly injecting the protein postnatally [133].

Collectively, these murine studies have provided compelling evidence that IUGT can result in the expression of FIX at levels that not only have therapeutic significance but are often sufficient to induce tolerance, thus allowing postnatal administration of the same vector or the FIX protein without eliciting an immune response. Because patients with HA have at least a 10-fold higher likelihood of developing inhibitors than do HB patients [158,159], these studies, although encouraging, leave unanswered the critical question of whether IUGT will also induce stable immune tolerance to FVIII, given its higher inherent immunogenicity.

#### **Risks of In Utero Gene Therapy**

Despite the great promise IUGT holds for treating the many genetic diseases that can be diagnosed prenatally, several important safety concerns must be addressed before its clinical application. There are two sets of potential safety concerns when contemplating IUGT: those associated with fetal intervention and those owing to the gene transfer itself. As with any fetal intervention, infection, preterm labor, and fetal loss are all theoretically possible. In reality, however, a wealth of clinical data exist demonstrating that the human fetus can be safely accessed multiple times with an extremely low procedure-related risk [75,88]. Any manipulation of the fetus obviously has the potential to alter normal organ development, and the possibility for deleterious effects owing to the injection and from any inherent toxicity of the vector itself need to be considered and carefully evaluated. Nonhuman primates injected with lentiviral vectors in utero via either the intrapulmonary or intracardiac route showed no adverse effects on postnatal heart and lung development [148], which suggests that IUGT exerts minimal if any effects on organ development. In contrast, Flake and colleagues reported that expression of fibroblast growth factor-10 in the developing rat lung after IUGT led to cystic adenomatoid malformations; this illustrated how forced expression of a specific transgene can lead to malformation [160]. These findings suggest that strategies involving the expression of growth factors, transcription factors, or other regulatory molecules will need to be carefully examined because they may have significant potential to alter normal organ development, particularly early in gestation. One study also showed that AAV vectors administered to the fetus can cross the placenta, enter the maternal circulation, and transduce multiple tissues within the mother [156]. Because this study was performed in nonhuman primates, whose placentation is similar to that of humans, this is an issue that will likely need to be explored in greater detail and with other commonly employed vectors to better define or quantitate the risk of inadvertent gene transfer to maternal tissues and ascertain what risk, if any, this will pose to the mother.

In addition to the general risks associated with fetal intervention, two unique risks have raised the most concern regarding the use of IUGT: vector-mediated insertional mutagenesis and germline transmission [161]; each of these will now be discussed.

#### Genomic Integration-Associated Insertional Mutagenesis

Insertional mutagenesis is a major concern with all of the integrating viral vectors and has been subjected to intense scrutiny since four cases of T-cell leukemia occurred in human pediatric patients with X-SCID 31-68 months after they received  $\gamma$ -retroviral vector-modified autologous HSC. This concern was further heightened when linker-mediated PCR analysis of lymphocytes from these patients revealed that insertional mutagenesis had occurred in all four patients and was at least partially responsible for the observed leukemogenesis [162–164]. A later study in which genotoxicity or leukemogenesis was also observed after  $\gamma$ -retroviral or HSC-based gene therapy to treat Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome [165] heightened this concern. Importantly, in our long-term IUGT studies in fetal sheep, we also employed  $\gamma$ -retroviral vectors and achieved significant levels of gene transfer to bona fide HSC [94,136–138], yet we did not observe leukemogenesis in any of these animals. Because sheep have a life span of roughly 10 years, this study should more or less approximate a 35-year follow-up in "human years." A major difference between our study and the clinical trial that likely explains the markedly different outcome is the transgene that was delivered via the retroviral vector. In our experimental proof-of-concept studies, we employed marker genes to enable us to track and quantitate transduction and transgene expression easily in various tissues. In the clinical trial for X-SCID, the vector encoded the therapeutic common  $\gamma$  chain ( $\gamma$ c) gene (interleukin-2 receptor subunit  $\gamma$ ), because this was the gene defect causing X-SCID. Subsequent studies revealed that the observed leukemogenic event in these patients likely arose from a combinatorial effect of both the insertion of the vector in close proximity to the LIM only protein 2 oncogene and a growth advantage that was conferred on the transduced cells expressing high levels of the therapeutic  $\gamma c$  gene [166–169]. This clinical trial thus provides a valuable lesson in the complexities of risk assessment in gene therapy, which is still a relatively new and rapidly evolving field.

Looking specifically at IUGT, there has been only one report of oncogenesis after in utero delivery of a viral vector. In these studies, Themis, Waddington, Buckley, and colleagues reported a high incidence of postnatal liver tumors in mice after prenatal injection with a third-generation equine infectious anemia virus—based lentiviral vector. These tumors were not seen in mice that received a nearly identical vector that was constructed on an HIV backbone [170-172]. The authors did not identify the genomic insertion sites in these animals, so it remains unclear whether insertional mutagenesis was the cause of the observed tumor formation. Nevertheless, this important study demonstrates that the fetus may be particularly sensitive to tumorigenesis induced by certain vectors. The findings of Themis and the results of the clinical trial for X-SCID collectively suggest that preclinical assessment of the risk of insertional mutagenesis after IUGT will require carefully designed preclinical studies with the actual vector to be employed for the pending clinical trial in an animal model that has been thoroughly validated in the setting of the target disease.

#### **Potential Risk to Fetal Germline**

Although gene transfer to the vast majority of fetal tissues would be desirable for correcting diseases that would benefit from widespread systemic release of a secreted transgene product (such as HA), gene transfer to cells of the developing germline would raise major ethical issues. In the human fetus, the primordial germ cells (PGC) are compartmentalized within the gonads at 7 weeks of gestation [173]. The germline should be accessible only through the vascular system, so targeted gene therapy that is administered after this period in gestation should not affect the germline. Nevertheless, the possibility of inadvertent gene transfer to the germline is clearly a major safety concern and a bioethical issue, and studies have demonstrated that both the embryonic germline [174–177] and isolated PGC [178] can readily be infected with  $\gamma$ -retroviral vectors and pass the vector genetic material to subsequent generations in a Mendelian fashion as part of the permanent genome. For this reason, we used a three-tiered approach to examine this important issue in detail in the sheep model of IUGT. We performed (1) immunohistochemical staining on reproductive tissue from the in utero-treated animals, (2) genetic analysis on the sperm cells from the treated males, and (3) breeding experiments in a limited number of animals [94,137,141,142]. These studies indicated that although the fetal ovaries appeared to be largely unaffected by this approach to IUGT, numerous cells within the developing fetal testes were modified, including interstitial cells, Sertoli cells, and small numbers of both immature germ cells within the forming sex cords and the resultant sperm cells. Importantly, however, gene-modified germ cells were observed in only two of the six animals examined, and the incidence of germ cell modification in these two animals was about 1 in 6250, a frequency that is well below the theoretical level of spontaneous mutation within the human genome [179]. This low frequency of modification, coupled with observations that genetic alterations to the germ cells may produce deleterious effects, placing them at a disadvantage during fertilization, suggests that the likelihood that any genetic alterations present would be passed to subsequent offspring would be extremely unlikely. In agreement with this supposition, we did not observe transfer of the vector sequences in any of the 10 offspring we studied, even when mating animals that had both received IUGT. Nevertheless, this is clearly an issue that will need to be addressed in greater detail before clinical application of IUGT. This need for further investigation was underscored in other IUGT studies performed by Tarantal and colleagues, who employed lentiviral vectors in nonhuman primates and observed modification of the female germline but no effect on the male germ cells [140]. Thus, the issue of germline safety will likely have to be investigated in more than one preclinical model, employing the specific vector being considered for clinical use, to obtain an accurate assessment of the risk posed by the procedure.

#### Genome Editing

The field of gene therapy is rapidly advancing, and the development of genome-editing technologies such as zinc finger nucleases, transcription activator-like effector nucleases, and Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated genes [180,181] promises to revolutionize the way in which gene therapy is conceptualized. The ability to modify a specific sequence of DNA in its native genomic locus offers remarkable advantages in terms of both safety and efficacy, over current "gene addition" and should largely eliminate existing concerns related to random genomic integration, inappropriate levels or tissue distribution of transgene expression, and inadvertent germline alteration. One would therefore expect that these newer gene-editing technologies will be an important component of future IUGT studies and trials. However, these systems will likely introduce their own unique set of risks and concerns, and further study will be required to define and fully understand what these risks may be and evaluate whether the benefits these systems can offer over "traditional"

#### 57. PRENATAL CELL- AND GENE-BASED THERAPIES FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

viral vectors outweigh these risks. In addition, well-designed experimental studies in suitable preclinical models will be required to determine whether these genome-editing systems should be administered directly to the recipient to mediate gene correction (which will likely require the use of viral vectors to achieve sufficient efficiency), or whether modifying suitable cell populations in vitro, followed by the infusion of these gene-corrected cells, will prove the safer mean to move these technologies toward clinical application.

## CLINICAL EXPERIENCE WITH IN UTERO STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION

Early successes with experimental IUTx in animals discussed in the preceding sections quickly led to attempts around the world to treat various human hematologic disorders with IUTx. In 1989, Touraine performed the first successful human IUTx for bare lymphocyte syndrome [182]. After this seminal case, several centers reported the successful transplantation of fetuses with SCID [183–186] using a variety of fetal and adult sources of HSC and transplanting the fetus between 16 and 26 weeks' gestation. In each case, IUTx resulted in readily detectable engraftment of donor cells at birth and clinical improvement. IUTx has been performed on 46 human patients for 14 different genetic disorders [4], collectively providing definitive proof that the early human fetus can be accessed multiple times with an extremely low procedure-related risk [75,88].

Although the successful treatment of immunodeficiencies provided clinical proof of the vast therapeutic potential of IUTx, the clinical experience thus far with IUTx for a wide range of other disorders has unfortunately been largely disappointing. The tremendous success with SCID is a function of the unique nature of this disorder, which provides a survival and proliferative advantage for donor HSC-derived T cells. Indeed, in these patients, the only hematopoietic lineage reconstituted by the donor cells has been the T-cell lineage (split chimerism) [88], echoing the findings in Blazar's early murine studies [32]. The results of the 46 clinical IUTx cases have proven that using current methods, IUTx is unable to achieve therapeutic levels of engraftment in recipients whose hematopoietic system possesses a normal level of "competitiveness." That these transplants were performed at different centers, at variable gestational ages, and used donor cells from different sources and/or with different phenotypes, has made it difficult to identify common factors that may be responsible for the poor levels of donor engraftment. The inherent inconsistency in these studies has made it necessary to perform many of the more carefully controlled animal studies that were previously described to identify the nature of the barriers that limit engraftment after IUTx and to develop means of overcoming them to achieve clinical success.

The hematopoietic system and marrow microenvironment of patients with hemoglobinopathies, lysosomal storage diseases, and the vast majority of the other disorders that are being considered for treatment with IUTx are competitively normal during fetal development. As such, clinical success with IUTx for these diseases will require the development of methods to overcome endogenous host cell competition. To this end, Flake and colleagues showed [53] in the canine model that administering large doses of highly enriched HSC via a novel ultrasound-guided, intravascular (intracardiac) route produced significantly higher engraftment levels than the intraperitoneal route that has traditionally been employed for IUTx in human patients. This study generated a good deal of excitement in the field, because the levels of donor cell engraftment the authors obtained with the new route would likely be therapeutic in most candidate diseases. However, studies performed by Tanaka et al. in the sheep model have shown that the intravascular route is no better than the intraperitoneal route, which led the authors of this other study to conclude that the markedly greater safety afforded by the intraperitoneal route will likely make this the clinical route of choice [187].

One particular area that has received a great deal of attention is the idea that the best immediate clinical application for IUTx may be to use it to induce prenatal tolerance, thus making it possible to perform a curative postnatal BM transplantation without the need for highly toxic cytoablation and immunosuppression [6,13]. This approach greatly lowers the threshold of donor cell engraftment that would be required for clinical success, because, as discussed previously, induction of donor-specific immune tolerance can reliably be obtained with stable levels of donor chimerism of only 1–2%. The therapeutic merit of this approach was experimentally validated by Peranteau et al [26]. In this landmark study, the authors demonstrated that low-level hematopoietic engraftment to induce tolerance, followed by postnatal nonmyeloablative same-donor "boosting" BM transplantation, resulted in high levels of donor cell engraftment and phenotypic correction in murine models of  $\beta$ -thalassemia and sickle cell disease, two diseases that had previously proven completely refractory to correction by IUTx. These promising results led the authors to conclude optimistically that "if adequate engraftment can be achieved to consistently induce donor-specific tolerance without [graft-versus-host disease] in a preclinical model, then clinical trials of IUTx for treating genetic disorders that can be prenatally diagnosed and treated by mixed hematopoietic chimerism, such as the hemoglobinopathies and selected immunodeficiency disorders should be initiated" [26].

## CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Great progress has been made over the past few decades in the fields of IUTx and IUGT. However, multiple hurdles still need to be overcome for these therapies to become well-established clinical approaches. Challenges for IUTx are primarily related to overcoming the competitive barriers to engraftment in the "hematopoietically fit" fetus and better defining the innate and adaptive immune limitations to engraftment in large animals and humans. As our understanding of stem cell biology, developmental hematopoiesis, and the ontogeny of the hematopoietic niche advance, the therapeutic applications of IUTx will likely expand from their narrow focus to include the treatment of nonhematopoietic diseases. Although the strategy of prenatal tolerance induction for the facilitation of postnatal HSC transplantation is nearing clinical application and has great potential to benefit many patients, the development of an IUTx strategy that allows a single-step treatment to achieve therapeutic levels of engraftment would be ideal and would likely propel this promising therapy into the clinic.

IUGT holds even greater promise for treating and curing essentially any inherited genetic disease. From the results of countless studies exploring IUGT in sheep, mice, and nonhuman primates, it is clear that the direct injection of viral vectors into the developing fetus can efficiently deliver an exogenous gene and achieve long-term expression in multiple tissues. As such, one can envision a day when IUGT becomes a viable therapeutic option for diseases affecting any of the major organ systems. Importantly, even if it is not curative, IUGT would be an ideal approach for diseases such as HA, because lifelong immunologic tolerance could be induced to the missing FVIII protein, thus overcoming the immune-related hurdles that hinder postnatal treatment of this disease. Despite its great potential, however, IUGT is still in the experimental stages, and several important safety concerns need to be extensively investigated in appropriate preclinical animal models before initiating studies in human patients.

IUTx and IUGT stand at a critical juncture [188] and have vast potential for dramatically improving human health care. Many of the most intimidating obstacles have been overcome in animal models or are at least better understood, which has revitalized this exciting field. There is no doubt that surpassing the few remaining hurdles to allow clinical implementation of these therapies will dramatically change the whole paradigm for the way in which the world perceives and treats genetic disorders.

## References

- [1] Atala A. Engineering tissues, organs and cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2007;1:83-96.
- [2] Sandhoff K, Harzer K. Gangliosides and gangliosidoses: principles of molecular and metabolic pathogenesis. J Neurosci 2013;33:10195–208.
- [3] Cachon-Gonzalez MB, Wang SZ, Ziegler R, Cheng SH, Cox TM. Reversibility of neuropathology in Tay-Sachs-related diseases. Hum Mol Genet 2014;23:730–48.
- [4] Vrecenak JD, Flake AW. In utero hematopoietic cell transplantation—recent progress and the potential for clinical application. Cytotherapy 2013;15:525–35.
- [5] Pearson EG, Flake AW. Stem cell and genetic therapies for the fetus. Semin Pediatr Surg 2013;22:56-61.
- [6] Santore MT, Roybal JL, Flake AW. Prenatal stem cell transplantation and gene therapy. Clin Perinatol 2009;36:451-71 [xi].
- [7] Medvinsky A, Dzierzak E. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell 1996;86:897–906.
- [8] Laird DJ, von Andrian UH, Wagers AJ. Stem cell trafficking in tissue development, growth, and disease. Cell 2008;132:612-30.
- [9] Harrison DE, Zhong RK, Jordan CT, Lemischka IR, Astle CM. Relative to adult marrow, fetal liver repopulates nearly five times more effectively long-term than short-term. Exp Hematol 1997;25:293-7.
- [10] Rebel VI, Miller CL, Eaves CJ, Lansdorp PM. The repopulation potential of fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells in mice exceeds that of their liver adult bone marrow counterparts. Blood 1996;87:3500–7.
- [11] Shaaban AF, Kim HB, Milner R, Flake AW. A kinetic model for the homing and migration of prenatally transplanted marrow. Blood 1999;94: 3251–7.
- [12] Peranteau WH, Endo M, Adibe OO, Merchant A, Zoltick PW, Flake AW. CD26 inhibition enhances allogeneic donor-cell homing and engraftment after in utero hematopoietic-cell transplantation. Blood 2006;108:4268–74.
- [13] McClain LE, Flake AW. In utero stem cell transplantation and gene therapy: recent progress and the potential for clinical application. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2015;31:88–98.
- [14] Billingham RE, Brent L, Medawar PB. Actively acquired tolerance of foreign cells. Nature 1953;172:603-6.
- [15] Palmer E. Negative selection-clearing out the bad apples from the T-cell repertoire. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:383-91.
- [16] Takahama Y. Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6:127-35.
- [17] Owen RD. Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anastomoses between bovine twins. Science 1945;102:400-1.
- [18] Anderson D, Billingham R, Lampkin G, Medawar P. The use of skin grafting to distinguish between monozygotic and dizygotic twins in cattle. Heredity 1951;5:379–97.

#### 57. PRENATAL CELL- AND GENE-BASED THERAPIES FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [19] Cragle RG, Stone WH. Preliminary Results of kidney grafts between cattle chimeric twins. Transplantation 1967;5:328-9.
- [20] Gill 3rd TJ. Chimerism in humans. Transplant Proc 1977;9:1423-31.
- [21] Picus J, Aldrich WR, Letvin NL. A naturally occurring bone-marrow-chimeric primate. I. Integrity of its immune system. Transplantation 1985;39:297–303.
- [22] Hansen HE, Niebuhr E, Lomas C. Chimeric twins. T.S. and M.R. reexamined. Hum Hered 1984;34:127–30.
- [23] Thomsen M, Hansen HE, Dickmeiss E. MLC and CML studies in the family of a pair of HLA haploidentical chimeric twins. Scand J Immunol 1977;6:523–8.
- [24] Lewi L, Deprest J, Hecher K. The vascular anastomoses in monochorionic twin pregnancies and their clinical consequences. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2013;208:19–30.
- [25] Peranteau WH. In utero hematopoietic cell transplantation: induction of donor specific immune tolerance and postnatal transplants. Front Pharmacol 2014;5:251.
- [26] Peranteau WH, Hayashi S, Abdulmalik O, Chen Q, Merchant A, Asakura T, et al. Correction of murine hemoglobinopathies by prenatal tolerance induction and postnatal nonmyeloablative allogeneic BM transplants. Blood 2015;126:1245–54.
- [27] Peranteau WH, Heaton TE, Gu YC, Volk SW, Bauer TR, Alcorn K, et al. Haploidentical in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation improves phenotype and can induce tolerance for postnatal same-donor transplants in the canine leukocyte adhesion deficiency model. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2009;15:293–305.
- [28] Thaunat O, Badet L, Dubois V, Kanitakis J, Petruzzo P, Morelon E. Immunopathology of rejection: do the rules of solid organ apply to vascularized composite allotransplantation? Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2015;20:596–601.
- [29] Fleischman RA, Mintz B. Prevention of genetic anemias in mice by microinjection of normal hematopoietic stem cells into the fetal placenta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1979;76:5736–40.
- [30] Mintz B, Anthony K, Litwin S. Monoclonal derivation of mouse myeloid and lymphoid lineages from totipotent hematopoietic stem cells experimentally engrafted in fetal hosts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1984;81:7835–9.
- [31] Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Vallera DA. Adult bone marrow-derived pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells are engraftable when transferred in utero into moderately anemic fetal recipients. Blood 1995;85:833–41.
- [32] Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Vallera DA. In utero transfer of adult bone marrow cells into recipients with severe combined immunodeficiency disorder yields lymphoid progeny with T- and B-cell functional capabilities. Blood 1995;86:4353–66.
- [33] Waldschmidt TJ, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McElmurry RT, Tygrett LT, Taylor PA, Blazar BR. Abnormal T cell-dependent B-cell responses in SCID mice receiving allogeneic bone marrow in utero. Severe combined immune deficiency. Blood 2002;100:4557–64.
- [34] Fleischman RA, Mintz B. Development of adult bone marrow stem cells in H-2-compatible and -incompatible mouse fetuses. J Exp Med 1984;159:731-45.
- [35] Flake AW, Harrison MR, Adzick NS, Zanjani ED. Transplantation of fetal hematopoietic stem cells in utero: the creation of hematopoietic chimeras. Science 1986;233:776–8.
- [36] Almeida-Porada G, Porada C, Zanjani ED. Plasticity of human stem cells in the fetal sheep model of human stem cell transplantation. Int J Hematol 2004;79:1–6.
- [37] Jeanblanc C, Goodrich AD, Colletti E, Mokhtari S, Porada CD, Zanjani ED, et al. Temporal definition of haematopoietic stem cell niches in a large animal model of in utero stem cell transplantation. Br J Haematol 2014;166:268–78.
- [38] Maddox JF, Mackay CR, Brandon MR. Ontogeny of ovine lymphocytes. I. An immunohistological study on the development of T lymphocytes in the sheep embryo and fetal thymus. Immunology 1987;62:97–105.
- [39] Maddox JF, Mackay CR, Brandon MR. Ontogeny of ovine lymphocytes. III. An immunohistological study on the development of T lymphocytes in sheep fetal lymph nodes. Immunology 1987;62:113–8.
- [40] Maddox JF, Mackay CR, Brandon MR. Ontogeny of ovine lymphocytes. II. An immunohistological study on the development of T lymphocytes in the sheep fetal spleen. Immunology 1987;62:107–12.
- [41] Osburn BI. The ontogeny of the ruminant immune system and its significance in the understanding of maternal-fetal-neonatal relationships. Adv Exp Med Biol 1981;137:91–103.
- [42] Civin CI, Almeida-Porada G, Lee MJ, Olweus J, Terstappen LW, Zanjani ED. Sustained, retransplantable, multilineage engraftment of highly purified adult human bone marrow stem cells in vivo. Blood 1996;88:4102–9.
- [43] Sutherland DR, Yeo EL, Stewart AK, Nayar R, DiGiusto R, Zanjani E, et al. Identification of CD34+ subsets after glycoprotease selection: engraftment of CD34+Thy-1+Lin- stem cells in fetal sheep. Exp Hematol 1996;24:795–806.
- [44] Yin AH, Miraglia S, Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G, Ogawa M, Leary AG, et al. AC133, a novel marker for human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Blood 1997;90:5002–12.
- [45] Zanjani ED, Almeida-Porada G, Livingston AG, Flake AW, Ogawa M. Human bone marrow CD34-cells engraft in vivo and undergo multilineage expression including giving rise to CD34+ cells. Exp Hematol 1998;26:353–60.
- [46] Ziegler BL, Valtieri M, Almeida-Porada G, De Maria R, Müller R, Masella B, Casella I, Pelosi E, Bock T, Zanjani ED, Peschle C. KDR receptor: a key marker defining hematopoietic stem cells. Science 1999;285:1553–8.
- [47] Almeida-Porada G, Ascensao JL, Zanjani ED. The role of sheep stroma in human haemopoiesis in the human/sheep chimaeras. Br J Haematol 1996;93:795–802.
- [48] Almeida-Porada G, Flake AW, Glimp HA, Zanjani ED. Cotransplantation of stroma results in enhancement of engraftment and early expression of donor hematopoietic stem cells in utero. Exp Hematol 1999;27:1569–75.
- [49] Mokhtari S, Colletti E, Porada CD, Almeida-Porada G. Optimization of vascular niches to increase hematopoietic engraftment. Blood 2013; 122:4456.
- [50] Almeida-Porada G, Porada C, Gupta N, Torabi A, Thain D, Zanjani ED. The human-sheep chimeras as a model for human stem cell mobilization and evaluation of hematopoietic grafts' potential. Exp Hematol 2007;35:1594–600.
- [51] Blakemore K, Hattenburg C, Stetten G, Berg K, South S, Murphy K, et al. In utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation with haploidentical donor adult bone marrow in a canine model. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004;190:960–73.
- [52] Omori F, Lutzko C, Abrams-Ogg A, Lau K, Gartley C, Dobson H, et al. Adoptive transfer of genetically modified human hematopoietic stem cells into preimmune canine fetuses. Exp Hematol 1999;27:242–9.

- [53] Vrecenak JD, Pearson EG, Santore MT, Todorow CA, Li H, Radu A, et al. Stable long-term mixed chimerism achieved in a canine model of allogeneic in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood 2014;124:1987–95.
- [54] McConico A, Butters K, Lien K, Knudsen B, Wu X, Platt JL, et al. In utero cell transfer between porcine littermates. Reprod Fertil Dev 2011;23: 297–302.
- [55] Lovell KL, Kraemer SA, Leipprandt JR, Sprecher DJ, Ames NK, Nichols-Torrez J, et al. In utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: a caprine model for prenatal therapy in inherited metabolic diseases. Fetal Diagn Ther 2001;16:13–7.
- [56] Pearce RD, Kiehm D, Armstrong DT, Little PB, Callahan JW, Klunder LR, et al. Induction of hemopoietic chimerism in the caprine fetus by intraperitoneal injection of fetal liver cells. Experientia 1989;45:307–8.
- [57] Cowan MJ, Tarantal AF, Capper J, Harrison M, Garovoy M. Long-term engraftment following in utero T cell-depleted parental marrow transplantation into fetal rhesus monkeys. Bone Marrow Transplant 1996;17:1157–65.
- [58] Harrison MR, Slotnick RN, Crombleholme TM, Golbus MS, Tarantal AF, Zanjani ED. In-utero transplantation of fetal liver haemopoietic stem cells in monkeys. Lancet 1989;2:1425–7.
- [59] Shields LE, Gaur LK, Gough M, Potter J, Sieverkropp A, Andrews RG. In utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in nonhuman primates: the role of T cells. Stem Cell 2003;21:304–14.
- [60] Tarantal AF, Goldstein O, Barley F, Cowan MJ. Transplantation of human peripheral blood stem cells into fetal rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). Transplantation 2000;69:1818–23.
- [61] Lee PW, Cina RA, Randolph MA, Arellano R, Goodrich J, Rowland H, et al. In utero bone marrow transplantation induces kidney allograft tolerance across a full major histocompatibility complex barrier in Swine. Transplantation 2005;79:1084–90.
- [62] Hayashi S, Hsieh M, Peranteau WH, Ashizuka S, Flake AW. Complete allogeneic hematopoietic chimerism achieved by in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation and cotransplantation of LLME-treated, MHC-sensitized donor lymphocytes. Exp Hematol 2004;32:290–9.
- [63] Merianos DJ, Tiblad E, Santore MT, Todorow CA, Laje P, Endo M, et al. Maternal alloantibodies induce a postnatal immune response that limits engraftment following in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation in mice. J Clin Invest 2009;119:2590–600.
- [64] Nijagal A, Wegorzewska M, Jarvis E, Le T, Tang Q, MacKenzie TC. Maternal T cells limit engraftment after in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation in mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:582–92.
- [65] Peranteau WH, Hayashi S, Hsieh M, Shaaban AF, Flake AW. High-level allogeneic chimerism achieved by prenatal tolerance induction and postnatal nonmyeloablative bone marrow transplantation. Blood 2002;100:2225–34.
- [66] Durkin ET, Jones KA, Rajesh D, Shaaban AF. Early chimerism threshold predicts sustained engraftment and NK-cell tolerance in prenatal allogeneic chimeras. Blood 2008;112:5245–53.
- [67] Alhajjat AM, Lee AE, Strong BS, Shaaban AF. NK cell tolerance as the final endorsement of prenatal tolerance after in utero hematopoietic cellular transplantation. Front Pharmacol 2015;6:51.
- [68] Flake AW, Zanjani ED. In utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: ontogenic opportunities and biologic barriers. Blood 1999;94: 2179–91.
- [69] Carrier E, Gilpin E, Lee TH, Busch MP, Zanetti M. Microchimerism does not induce tolerance after in utero transplantation and may lead to the development of alloreactivity. J Lab Clin Med 2000;136:224–35.
- [70] Carrier E, Lee TH, Busch MP, Cowan MJ. Induction of tolerance in nondefective mice after in utero transplantation of major histocompatibility complex-mismatched fetal hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 1995;86:4681–90.
- [71] Kim HB, Shaaban AF, Milner R, Fichter C, Flake AW. In utero bone marrow transplantation induces donor-specific tolerance by a combination of clonal deletion and clonal anergy. J Pediatr Surg 1999;34:726–9. discussion 729–730.
- [72] Kim HB, Shaaban AF, Yang EY, Liechty KW, Flake AW. Microchimerism and tolerance after in utero bone marrow transplantation in mice. J Surg Res 1998;77:1–5.
- [73] Pallavicini MG, Flake AW, Madden D, Bethel C, Duncan B, Gonzalgo ML, et al. Hemopoietic chimerism in rodents transplanted in utero with fetal human hemopoietic cells. Transplant Proc 1992;24:542–3.
- [74] Peranteau WH, Endo M, Adibe OO, Flake AW. Evidence for an immune barrier after in utero hematopoietic-cell transplantation. Blood 2007; 109:1331–3.
- [75] Merianos D, Heaton T, Flake AW. In utero hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: progress toward clinical application. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2008;14:729–40.
- [76] Nijagal A, Wegorzewska M, Le T, Tang Q, Mackenzie TC. The maternal immune response inhibits the success of in utero hematopoietic cell transplantation. Chimerism 2011;2:55–7.
- [77] Alhajjat AM, Durkin ET, Shaaban AF. Regulation of the earliest immune response to in utero hematopoietic cellular transplantation. Chimerism 2010;1:61–3.
- [78] Alhajjat AM, Strong BS, Lee AE, Turner LE, Wadhwani RK, Ortaldo JR, et al. Prenatal allospecific NK cell tolerance hinges on instructive allorecognition through the activating receptor during development. J Immunol 2015;195:1506–16.
- [79] Alhajjat AM, Strong BS, Durkin ET, Turner LE, Wadhwani RK, Midura EF, et al. Trogocytosis as a mechanistic link between chimerism and prenatal tolerance. Chimerism 2013;4:126–31.
- [80] Peranteau WH, Hayashi S, Kim HB, Shaaban AF, Flake AW. In utero hematopoietic cell transplantation: what are the important questions? Fetal Diagn Ther 2004;19:9–12.
- [81] Shaaban AF, Kim HB, Gaur L, Liechty KW, Flake AW. Prenatal transplantation of cytokine-stimulated marrow improves early chimerism in a resistant strain combination but results in poor long-term engraftment. Exp Hematol 2006;34:1278–87.
- [82] Kalman L, Lindegren ML, Kobrynski L, Vogt R, Hannon H, Howard JT, et al. Mutations in genes required for T-cell development: IL7R, CD45, IL2RG, JAK3, RAG1, RAG2, ARTEMIS, and ADA and severe combined immunodeficiency: HuGE review. Genet Med 2004;6:16–26.
- [83] Schmalstieg FC, Goldman AS. Immune consequences of mutations in the human common gamma-chain gene. Mol Genet Metabol 2002;76: 163-71.
- [84] Flake AW, Zanjani ED. Cellular therapy. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am 1997;24:159-77.
- [85] Abe T, Masuda S, Tanaka Y, Nitta S, Kitano Y, Hayashi S, et al. Maternal administration of busulfan before in utero transplantation of human hematopoietic stem cells enhances engraftments in sheep. Exp Hematol 2012;40:436–44.

#### 57. PRENATAL CELL- AND GENE-BASED THERAPIES FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [86] Derderian SC, Togarrati PP, King C, Moradi PW, Reynaud D, Czechowicz A, et al. In utero depletion of fetal hematopoietic stem cells improves engraftment after neonatal transplantation in mice. Blood 2014;124:973–80.
- [87] Porada CD, Park P, Almeida-Porada G, Zanjani ED. The sheep model of in utero gene therapy. Fetal Diagn Ther 2004;19:23-30.
- [88] Roybal JL, Santore MT, Flake AW. Stem cell and genetic therapies for the fetus. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2010;15:46-51.
- [89] David A, Cook T, Waddington S, Peebles D, Nivsarkar M, Knapton H, et al. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous delivery of adenoviral vectors encoding the beta-galactosidase and human factor IX genes to early gestation fetal sheep in utero. Hum Gene Ther 2003;14:353–64.
- [90] Jimenez DF, Lee CI, O'Shea CE, Kohn DB, Tarantal AF. HIV-1-derived lentiviral vectors and fetal route of administration on transgene biodistribution and expression in rhesus monkeys. Gene Ther 2005;12:821–30.
- [91] Karolewski BA, Wolfe JH. Genetic correction of the fetal brain increases the lifespan of mice with the severe multisystemic disease mucopolysaccharidosis type VII. Mol Ther 2006;14:14–24.
- [92] Larson JE, Morrow SL, Happel L, Sharp JF, Cohen JC. Reversal of cystic fibrosis phenotype in mice by gene therapy in utero. Lancet 1997;349: 619–20.
- [93] Porada CD, Park PJ, Almeida-Porada G, Liu W, Ozturk F, Glimp HA, et al. Gestational age of recipient determines pattern and level of transgene expression following in utero retroviral gene transfer. Mol Ther 2005;11:284–93.
- [94] Porada CD, Tran N, Eglitis M, Moen RC, Troutman L, Flake AW, et al. In utero gene therapy: transfer and long-term expression of the bacterial neo(r) gene in sheep after direct injection of retroviral vectors into preimmune fetuses. Hum Gene Ther 1998;9:1571–85.
- [95] Rucker M, Fraites Jr TJ, Porvasnik SL, Lewis MA, Zolotukhin I, Cloutier DA, et al. Rescue of enzyme deficiency in embryonic diaphragm in a mouse model of metabolic myopathy: Pompe disease. Development 2004;131:3007–19.
- [96] Seppen J, van der Rijt R, Looije N, van Til NP, Lamers WH, Oude Elferink RP. Long-term correction of bilirubin UDPglucuronyltransferase deficiency in rats by in utero lentiviral gene transfer. Mol Ther 2003;8:593–9.
- [97] Yu ZY, McKay K, van Asperen P, Zheng M, Flemiing J, Ginn SL, et al. Lentivirus-mediated gene transfer to the developing bronchiolar airway epithelium in the fetal lamb. J Gene Med 2007;9:429–39.
- [98] Mannucci PM, Tuddenham EG. The hemophilias-from royal genes to gene therapy. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1773-9.
- [99] Agaliotis D. Hemophilia, Overview. 2006.
- [100] Kaveri SV, Dasgupta S, Andre S, Navarrete AM, Repesse Y, Wootla B, et al. Factor VIII inhibitors: role of von Willebrand factor on the uptake of factor VIII by dendritic cells. Haemophilia 2007;13(Suppl. 5):61–4.
- [101] High KA. Gene transfer as an approach to treating hemophilia. Semin Thromb Hemost 2003;29:107–20.
- [102] Kay MA, High K. Gene therapy for the hemophilias. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:9973–5.
- [103] Fahs SA, Hille MT, Shi Q, Weiler H, Montgomery RR. A conditional knockout mouse model reveals endothelial cells as the principal and possibly exclusive source of plasma factor VIII. Blood 2014;123:3706–13.
- [104] Bi L, Lawler AM, Antonarakis SE, High KA, Gearhart JD, Kazazian Jr HH. Targeted disruption of the mouse factor VIII gene produces a model of haemophilia A. Nat Genet 1995;10:119–21.
- [105] Hough C, Kamisue S, Cameron C, Notley C, Tinlin S, Giles A, et al. Aberrant splicing and premature termination of transcription of the FVIII gene as a cause of severe canine hemophilia A: similarities with the intron 22 inversion mutation in human hemophilia. Thromb Haemost 2002;87:659–65.
- [106] Lozier JN, Dutra A, Pak E, Zhou N, Zheng Z, Nichols TC, et al. The Chapel Hill hemophilia A dog colony exhibits a factor VIII gene inversion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:12991–6.
- [107] Gallo-Penn AM, Shirley PS, Andrews JL, Kayda DB, Pinkstaff AM, Kaloss M, et al. In vivo evaluation of an adenoviral vector encoding canine factor VIII: high-level, sustained expression in hemophiliac mice. Hum Gene Ther 1999;10:1791–802.
- [108] Garcia-Martin C, Chuah MK, Van Damme A, Robinson KE, Vanzieleghem B, Saint-Remy JM, et al. Therapeutic levels of human factor VIII in mice implanted with encapsulated cells: potential for gene therapy of haemophilia A. J Gene Med 2002;4:215–23.
- [109] Moayeri M, Hawley TS, Hawley RG. Correction of murine hemophilia A by hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy. Mol Ther 2005;12: 1034–42.
- [110] Moayeri M, Ramezani A, Morgan RA, Hawley TS, Hawley RG. Sustained phenotypic correction of hemophilia a mice following oncoretroviral-mediated expression of a bioengineered human factor VIII gene in long-term hematopoietic repopulating cells. Mol Ther 2004;10:892–902.
- [111] Reddy PS, Sakhuja K, Ganesh S, Yang L, Kayda D, Brann T, et al. Sustained human factor VIII expression in hemophilia A mice following systemic delivery of a gutless adenoviral vector. Mol Ther 2002;5:63–73.
- [112] Sarkar R, Tetreault R, Gao G, Wang L, Bell P, Chandler R, et al. Total correction of hemophilia A mice with canine FVIII using an AAV 8 serotype. Blood 2004;103:1253–60.
- [113] Doering CB, Gangadharan B, Dukart HZ, Spencer HT. Hematopoietic stem cells encoding porcine factor VIII induce pro-coagulant activity in hemophilia A mice with pre-existing factor VIII immunity. Mol Ther 2007;15:1093–9.
- [114] Ide LM, Gangadharan B, Chiang KY, Doering CB, Spencer HT. Hematopoietic stem-cell gene therapy of hemophilia A incorporating a porcine factor VIII transgene and nonmyeloablative conditioning regimens. Blood 2007;110:2855–63.
- [115] Ide LM, Iwakoshi NN, Gangadharan B, Jobe S, Moot R, McCarty D, et al. Functional aspects of factor VIII expression after transplantation of genetically-modified hematopoietic stem cells for hemophilia A. J Gene Med 2010;12:333–44.
- [116] Gallo-Penn AM, Shirley PS, Andrews JL, Tinlin S, Webster S, Cameron C, et al. Systemic delivery of an adenoviral vector encoding canine factor VIII results in short-term phenotypic correction, inhibitor development, and biphasic liver toxicity in hemophilia A dogs. Blood 2001; 97:107–13.
- [117] Scallan CD, Lillicrap D, Jiang H, Qian X, Patarroyo-White SL, Parker AE, et al. Sustained phenotypic correction of canine hemophilia A using an adeno-associated viral vector. Blood 2003;102:2031-7.
- [118] Nathwani AC, Tuddenham EG, Rangarajan S, Rosales C, McIntosh J, Linch DC, et al. Adenovirus-associated virus vector-mediated gene transfer in hemophilia B. N Engl J Med 2011;365:2357–65.

#### REFERENCES

- [119] Porada CD, Sanada C, Long CR, Wood JA, Desai J, Frederick N, et al. Clinical and molecular characterization of a re-established line of sheep exhibiting hemophilia A. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8:276–85.
- [120] Neuenschwander S, Kissling-Albrecht L, Heiniger J, Backfisch W, Stranzinger G, Pliska V. Inherited defect of blood clotting factor VIII (haemophilia A) in sheep. Thromb Haemost 1992;68:618–20.
- [121] Porada CD, Rodman C, Ignacio G, Atala A, Almeida-Porada G. Hemophilia A: an ideal disease to correct in utero. Front Pharmacol 2014;5: 276.
- [122] McCarroll DR, Waters DC, Steidley KR, Clift R, McDonald TP. Canine platelet von Willebrand factor: quantification and multimeric analysis. Exp Hematol 1988;16:929–37.
- [123] Shi Q, Wilcox DA, Fahs SA, Weiler H, Wells CW, Cooley BC, et al. Factor VIII ectopically targeted to platelets is therapeutic in hemophilia A with high-titer inhibitory antibodies. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1974–82.
- [124] Peyvandi F. Carrier detection and prenatal diagnosis of hemophilia in developing countries. Semin Thromb Hemost 2005;31:544-54.
- [125] Sasanakul W, Chuansumrit A, Ajjimakorn S, Krasaesub S, Sirachainan N, Chotsupakarn S, et al. Cost-effectiveness in establishing hemophilia Carrier detection and prenatal diagnosis services in a developing country with limited health resources. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2003;34:891–8.
- [126] Tsui NB, Kadir RA, Chan KC, Chi C, Mellars G, Tuddenham EG, et al. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of hemophilia by microfluidics digital PCR analysis of maternal plasma DNA. Blood 2011;117:3684–91.
- [127] Hassan HJ, Leonardi A, Chelucci C, Mattia G, Macioce G, Guerriero R, et al. Blood coagulation factors in human embryonic-fetal development: preferential expression of the FVII/tissue factor pathway. Blood 1990;76:1158–64.
- [128] Ong K, Horsfall W, Conway EM, Schuh AC. Early embryonic expression of murine coagulation system components. Thromb Haemostasis 2000;84:1023–30.
- [129] Manco-Johnson MJ. Development of hemostasis in the fetus. Thromb Res 2005;115(Suppl. 1):55-63.
- [130] Touraine JL. Transplantation of human fetal liver cells into children or human fetuses. In: Bhattacharya N, Stubblefield P, editors. Human fetal tissue transplantation. UK: Springer Verlag International; 2013. p. 205–18.
- [131] Tran ND, Porada CD, Almeida-Porada G, Glimp HA, Anderson WF, Zanjani ED. Induction of stable prenatal tolerance to beta-galactosidase by in utero gene transfer into preimmune sheep fetuses. Blood 2001;97:3417–23.
- [132] Waddington SN, Buckley SM, Nivsarkar M, Jezzard S, Schneider H, Dahse T, et al. In utero gene transfer of human factor IX to fetal mice can induce postnatal tolerance of the exogenous clotting factor. Blood 2003;101:1359–66.
- [133] Waddington SN, Nivsarkar MS, Mistry AR, Buckley SM, Kemball-Cook G, Mosley KL, et al. Permanent phenotypic correction of hemophilia B in immunocompetent mice by prenatal gene therapy. Blood 2004;104:2714–21.
- [134] Colletti E, Lindstedt S, Park P, Almeida-Porada G, Porada C. Early fetal gene delivery utilizes both central and peripheral mechanisms of tolerance induction. Exp Hematol 2008;36:816–22.
- [135] Kempton CL, Meeks SL. Toward optimal therapy for inhibitors in hemophilia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2014;2014: 364–71.
- [136] Porada CD, Almeida-Porada MG, Torabi A, Zanjani ED. In utero transduction of hematopoietic cells is enhanced at early gestational ages. Blood 2001;98:214a.
- [137] Tran ND, Porada CD, Zhao Y, Almeida-Porada G, Anderson WF, Zanjani ED. In utero transfer and expression of exogenous genes in sheep. Exp Hematol 2000;28:17–30.
- [138] Porada CD, Harrison-Findik DD, Sanada C, Valiente V, Thain D, Simmons PJ, et al. Development and characterization of a novel CD34 monoclonal antibody that identifies sheep hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Exp Hematol 2008;36:1739–49.
- [139] Chen XG, Zhu HZ, Gong JL, Li F, Xue JL. Efficient delivery of human clotting factor IX after injection of lentiviral vectors in utero. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2004;25:789–93.
- [140] Lee CC, Jimenez DF, Kohn DB, Tarantal AF. Fetal gene transfer using lentiviral vectors and the potential for germ cell transduction in rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*). Hum Gene Ther 2005;16:417–25.
- [141] Park PJ, Colletti E, Ozturk F, Wood JA, Tellez J, Almeida-Porada G, et al. Factors determining the risk of inadvertent retroviral transduction of male germ cells after in utero gene transfer in sheep. Hum Gene Ther 2009;20:201–15.
- [142] Porada CD, Park PJ, Tellez J, Ozturk F, Glimp HA, Almeida-Porada G, et al. Male germ-line cells are at risk following direct-injection retroviral-mediated gene transfer in utero. Mol Ther 2005;12:754–62.
- [143] Porada CD, Tran ND, Almeida-Porada G, Glimp HA, Pixley JS, Zhao Y, et al. Transduction of long-term-engrafting human hematopoietic stem cells by retroviral vectors. Hum Gene Ther 2002;13:867–79.
- [144] Tarantal AF, Han VK, Cochrum KC, Mok A, daSilva M, Matsell DG. Fetal rhesus monkey model of obstructive renal dysplasia. Kidney Int 2001;59:446–56.
- [145] Tarantal AF, Lee CC. Long-term luciferase expression monitored by bioluminescence imaging after adeno-associated virus-mediated fetal gene delivery in rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*). Hum Gene Ther 2010;21:143–8.
- [146] Tarantal AF, Lee CC, Jimenez DF, Cherry SR. Fetal gene transfer using lentiviral vectors: in vivo detection of gene expression by microPET and optical imaging in fetal and infant monkeys. Hum Gene Ther 2006;17:1254–61.
- [147] Tarantal AF, Lee CI, Ekert JE, McDonald R, Kohn DB, Plopper CG, et al. Lentiviral vector gene transfer into fetal rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta): lung-targeting approaches. Mol Ther 2001;4:614–21.
- [148] Tarantal AF, McDonald RJ, Jimenez DF, Lee CC, O'Shea CE, Leapley AC, et al. Intrapulmonary and intramyocardial gene transfer in rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*): safety and efficiency of HIV-1-derived lentiviral vectors for fetal gene delivery. Mol Ther 2005;12:87–98.
- [149] Tarantal AF, O'Rourke JP, Case SS, Newbound GC, Li J, Lee CI, et al. Rhesus monkey model for fetal gene transfer: studies with retroviralbased vector systems. Mol Ther 2001;3:128–38.
- [150] Themis M, Schneider H, Kiserud T, Cook T, Adebakin S, Jezzard S, et al. Successful expression of beta-galactosidase and factor IX transgenes in fetal and neonatal sheep after ultrasound-guided percutaneous adenovirus vector administration into the umbilical vein. Gene Ther 1999; 6:1239–48.

#### 57. PRENATAL CELL- AND GENE-BASED THERAPIES FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

- [151] Lipshutz GS, Flebbe-Rehwaldt L, Gaensler KM. Reexpression following readministration of an adenoviral vector in adult mice after initial in utero adenoviral administration. Mol Ther 2000;2:374–80.
- [152] Lipshutz GS, Sarkar R, Flebbe-Rehwaldt L, Kazazian H, Gaensler KM. Short-term correction of factor VIII deficiency in a murine model of hemophilia A after delivery of adenovirus murine factor VIII in utero. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:13324–9.
- [153] Schneider H, Adebakin S, Themis M, Cook T, Douar AM, Pavirani A, et al. Therapeutic plasma concentrations of human factor IX in mice after gene delivery into the amniotic cavity: a model for the prenatal treatment of haemophilia B. J Gene Med 1999;1:424–32.
- [154] Schneider H, Muhle C, Douar AM, Waddington S, Jiang QJ, von der Mark K, et al. Sustained delivery of therapeutic concentrations of human clotting factor IX–a comparison of adenoviral and AAV vectors administered in utero. J Gene Med 2002;4:46–53.
- [155] David AL, McIntosh J, Peebles DM, Cook T, Waddington S, Weisz B, et al. Recombinant adeno-associated virus-mediated in utero gene transfer gives therapeutic transgene expression in the sheep. Hum Gene Ther 2011;22:419–26.
- [156] Mattar CN, Nathwani AC, Waddington SN, Dighe N, Kaeppel C, Nowrouzi A, et al. Stable human FIX expression after 0.9G intrauterine gene transfer of self-complementary adeno-associated viral vector 5 and 8 in macaques. Mol Ther 2011;19:1950–60.
- [157] Sabatino DE, Mackenzie TC, Peranteau W, Edmonson S, Campagnoli C, Liu YL, et al. Persistent expression of hF.IX after tolerance induction by in utero or neonatal administration of AAV-1-F.IX in hemophilia B mice. Mol Ther 2007;15:1677–85.
- [158] Chitlur M, Warrier I, Rajpurkar M, Lusher JM. Inhibitors in factor IX deficiency a report of the ISTH-SSC international FIX inhibitor registry (1997–2006). Haemophilia 2009;15:1027–31.
- [159] Ehrenforth S, Kreuz W, Scharrer I, Linde R, Funk M, Gungor T, et al. Incidence of development of factor VIII and factor IX inhibitors in haemophiliacs. Lancet 1992;339:594–8.
- [160] Gonzaga S, Henriques-Coelho T, Davey M, Zoltick PW, Leite-Moreira AF, Correia-Pinto J, et al. Cystic adenomatoid malformations are induced by localized FGF10 overexpression in fetal rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2008;39:346–55.
- [161] Committee USNIoHRDA. Prenatal gene transfer: scientific, medical, and ethical issues: a report of the Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:1211–29.
- [162] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, Soulier J, Lim A, Morillon E, et al. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest 2008;118:3132–42.
- [163] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Von Kalle C, Schmidt M, McCormack MP, Wulffraat N, Leboulch P, et al. LMO2-associated clonal T cell proliferation in two patients after gene therapy for SCID-X1. Science 2003;302:415–9.
- [164] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, von Kalle C, Schmidt M, Le Deist F, Wulffraat N, McIntyre E, Radford I, Villeval JL, Fraser CC, Cavazzana-Calvo M, Fischer A. A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2003;348: 255–6.
- [165] Braun CJ, Boztug K, Paruzynski A, Witzel M, Schwarzer A, Rothe M, et al. Gene therapy for Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome–long-term efficacy and genotoxicity. Sci Transl Med 2014;6:227ra233.
- [166] Belmont JW. Insights into lymphocyte development from X-linked immune deficiencies. Trends Genet 1995;11:112-6.
- [167] Mertsching E, Meyer V, Linares J, Lombard-Platet S, Ceredig R. Interleukin-7, a non-redundant potent cytokine whose over-expression massively perturbs B-lymphopoiesis. Int Rev Immunol 1998;16:285–308.
- [168] Rabbitts TH, Bucher K, Chung G, Grutz G, Warren A, Yamada Y. The effect of chromosomal translocations in acute leukemias: the LMO2 paradigm in transcription and development. Cancer Res 1999;59:1794s-8s.
- [169] Staal FJ, Pike-Overzet K, Ng YY, van Dongen JJ. Sola dosis facit venenum. Leukemia in gene therapy trials: a question of vectors, inserts and dosage? Leukemia 2008;22:1849–52.
- [170] Themis M, Waddington SN, Schmidt M, von Kalle C, Wang Y, Al-Allaf F, et al. Oncogenesis following delivery of a nonprimate lentiviral gene therapy vector to fetal and neonatal mice. Mol Ther 2005;12:763–71.
- [171] Condiotti R, Goldenberg D, Giladi H, Schnitzer-Perlman T, Waddington SN, Buckley SM, et al. Transduction of fetal mice with a feline lentiviral vector induces liver tumors which exhibit an E2F activation signature. Mol Ther 2014;22:59–68.
- [172] Nowrouzi A, Cheung WT, Li T, Zhang X, Arens A, Paruzynski A, et al. The fetal mouse is a sensitive genotoxicity model that exposes lentiviral-associated mutagenesis resulting in liver oncogenesis. Mol Ther 2013;21:324–37.
- [173] David AL, Peebles D. Gene therapy for the fetus: is there a future? Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2008;22:203–18.
- [174] Doehmer J, Breindl M, Willecke K, Jaenisch R. Genetic transmission of Moloney leukemia virus: mapping of the chromosomal integration site. Haematol Blood Transfus 1979;23:561–8.
- [175] Jaenisch R. Germ line integration and Mendelian transmission of the exogenous Moloney leukemia virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1976;73: 1260–4.
- [176] Jahner D, Haase K, Mulligan R, Jaenisch R. Insertion of the bacterial gpt gene into the germ line of mice by retroviral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1985;82:6927–31.
- [177] Soriano P, Jaenisch R. Retroviruses as probes for mammalian development: allocation of cells to the somatic and germ cell lineages. Cell 1986; 46:19–29.
- [178] Allioli N, Thomas JL, Chebloune Y, Nigon VM, Verdier G, Legras C. Use of retroviral vectors to introduce and express the beta-galactosidase marker gene in cultured chicken primordial germ cells. Dev Biol 1994;165:30–7.
- [179] Kazazian Jr HH. An estimated frequency of endogenous insertional mutations in humans. Nat Genet 1999;22:130.
- [180] Gilles AF, Averof M. Functional genetics for all: engineered nucleases, CRISPR and the gene editing revolution. EvoDevo 2014;5:43.
- [181] Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E. A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 2012;337:816–21.
- [182] Touraine JL, Raudrant D, Royo C, Rebaud A, Roncarolo MG, Souillet G, et al. In-utero transplantation of stem cells in bare lymphocyte syndrome. Lancet 1989;1:1382.
- [183] Flake AW, Roncarolo MG, Puck JM, Almeida-Porada G, Evans MI, Johnson MP, et al. Treatment of X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency by in utero transplantation of paternal bone marrow. N Engl J Med 1996;335:1806–10.

#### REFERENCES

- [184] Touraine JL, Raudrant D, Laplace S. Transplantation of hemopoietic cells from the fetal liver to treat patients with congenital diseases postnatally or prenatally. Transplant Proc 1997;29:712–3.
- [185] Wengler GS, Lanfranchi A, Frusca T, Verardi R, Neva A, Brugnoni D, et al. In-utero transplantation of parental CD34 haematopoietic progenitor cells in a patient with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (SCIDXI). Lancet 1996;348:1484–7.
- [186] Westgren M, Ringden O, Bartmann P, Bui TH, Lindton B, Mattsson J, et al. Prenatal T-cell reconstitution after in utero transplantation with fetal liver cells in a patient with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002;187:475–82.
- [187] Tanaka Y, Masuda S, Abe T, Hayashi S, Kitano Y, Nagao Y, et al. Intravascular route is not superior to an intraperitoneal route for in utero transplantation of human hematopoietic stem cells and engraftment in sheep. Transplantation 2010;90:462–3.
- [188] MacKenzie TC, David AL, Flake AW, Almeida-Porada G. Consensus statement from the first international conference for in utero stem cell transplantation and gene therapy. Front Pharmacol 2015;6:15.

This page intentionally left blank

## Engineering of Large Diameter Vessels

Hideki Miyachi<sup>1</sup>, Toshihiro Shoji<sup>1</sup>, Shinka Miyamoto<sup>1</sup>, Toshiharu Shinoka<sup>1,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States; <sup>2</sup>Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

## INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) such as aortic disease, coronary artery disease (CAD), and peripheral artery diseases (PAD) are the leading causes of mortality worldwide [1]. In 2011, the age-standardized death rate attributable to all CVDs was 229.6 per 100,000 in the United States. Based on 2011 death rate data, more than 2150 Americans die of CVDs each day, an average of one death every 40 s [1]. Atherosclerosis is one of the most important causes of CVDs; it induces stenosis, occlusion, and calcification of arteries in patients with CAD and PAD. Aortic aneurysm or dissection often occurs in patients with aortic disease. In addition, chronic kidney disease is reaching epidemic proportions because patients have risk factors for CVDs such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, smoking, and diabetes. Many patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) require vascular shunts for hemodialysis. Clearly, CVDs impair the quality of life for many individuals.

There are various therapeutic strategies for CVDs. In particular, lifestyle modifications and pharmacological therapies have important and fundamental roles in treating CVDs. In addition, more invasive endovascular intervention such as thrombectomy, balloon dilatation, stent implantation, and/or surgical procedures may be recommended for more severe cases of CVDs. Surgical procedures typically involves graft replacement and/or bypass procedure. In CADs, patients with left main coronary disease or three-vessel disease typically undergo percutaneous coronary intervention or coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). Second-generation drug-eluting stents have been developed to improve patency and reduce major adverse cardiac events, but CABG should remain the standard therapy for high-risk patients [2]. Common graft sources for CABG are the autologous bilateral internal thoracic arteries or the saphenous vein. In contrast, the use of a synthetic vascular graft such as expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (ePTFE) (Gore-Tex) or polyethylene terephthalate (Dacron) is common for patients with aortic disease. In PAD, autologous venous grafts are primarily used for peripheral arteries below the knee, whereas synthetic grafts also are used for larger arteries such as iliac, femoral, and popliteal arteries (above the knee). In ESRDs, typical vascular access for hemodialysis is provided by autologous arteriovenous (AV) shunts. Graft selections depend on the patency. In smaller arteries such as the coronary artery and below-the-knee arteries, synthetic grafts have shown unfavorable results owing to high incidences of thrombosis. In medium-size arteries, such as the femoral and popliteal arteries, polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) grafts have shown patency rated of 60% and 27% compared with 89% and 85% when using the saphenous vein at 1 and 5 years, respectively [3]. Therefore, it is recommended that synthetic grafts be used only when autologous grafts are unavailable. In aortic diseases, there are no suitable autologous substitutes. In general, synthetic materials have shown limitations associated with thrombosis, stenosis, calcification, infection, a lack of durability, the need for anticoagulation therapy, and the inability to regenerate native tissue. Suitable autologous tissues are in short supply, which makes it difficult to perform multiple or repeat operations.

To overcome the limitations associated with autologous and synthetic grafts, the concept of the tissue engineered vascular graft (TEVG) was proposed. Vacanti et al. defined tissue engineering as the fabrication of alternative materials that integrate with a patient's native tissue for the purpose of restoring biological and physiologic function [4]. In 1986, the first tissue engineered blood vessel was reported by Weinberg and Bell and consisted of bovine endothelial cells (ECs), smooth muscle cells (SMCs), and fibroblast cultures embedded in a collagen gel integrated with a Dacron mesh [5]. To date, hundreds of TEVGs have been developed and evaluated in animal models and

clinical studies. It is promising technology for pediatric cardiologists who treat congenital heart diseases because TEVGs can regenerate and remodel new vessels and provide growth potential. In 2001, the first TEVG clinical trial was performed in children with congenital heart disease [6]. Similarly, TEVGs have attracted attention from nephrologists looking for alternatives to AV shunts. Niklason et al. reported that their clinical study, which used TEVGs to provide hemodialysis access, produced favorable safety and patency results [7]. In this chapter, we look at the status of large-diameter TEVGs in large-animal models and clinical studies and share the outlook for the future of TEVGs.

## MATERIALS FOR AND APPROACHES TO FABRICATING TISSUE ENGINEERED VASCULAR GRAFTS

A large number of fabrication materials have been proposed to construct large-diameter TEVGs that have the potential to integrate with and remodel into native. There are currently three strategies regarding materials, scaffold, and TEVGs: (1) biological-based, (2) biodegradable synthetic-based, and (3) hybrids (Fig. 58.1). A large number of biological-based and biodegradable synthetic-based matrix combinations have been evaluated, but few have been applied clinically.

## **Biological-Based Scaffolds**

When designing and constructing an arterial TEVG, it must be durable enough to withstand high arterial pressures. With this in mind, the use of natural matrices from animal or human arteries may provide advantages with regard to structure and mechanical properties. However, when xenogenic and allogenic matrices are transplanted, immunological rejection often sets in. Therefore, they require a decellularization process to avoid adverse immunological reactions.

## Natural Decellularized Matrices

## **Xenogenic Matrices**

Vessels and nonvascular tissues harvested from animals or cadavers are two distinct sources when fabricating decellularized vascular matrices. Decellularized vascular grafts sourced from animals or cadavers have a structure similar to native vessels; therefore, they have inherent advantages with regard to mechanical properties. Nonvascular tissues such as the small intestinal submucosa (SIS) and amniotic membrane also contain natural extracellular matrix (ECM). However, the SIS and amniotic membrane must be shaped into tubular constructs. They have been used as the materials for TEVGs, but neither have reached clinical trials or preclinical animal studies to investigate their efficacy as large-diameter TEVGs. All nonautologous natural matrices require decellularization to remove most cellular antigenic components. Different decellularization methods have been proposed and typically involve a combination of physical approaches and chemical and biological agents. Physical approaches include freezethawing, mechanical abrasion, hydrostatic pressure, and nonthermal irreversible electroporation [8]. Acids and bases, hypotonic and hypertonic solutions, detergents, and alcohols are common chemical agents. Enzymes such as DNases and trypsin, nonenzymatic agents such as ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, and serine protease inhibitors such as phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride are common biological agents. The ideal combination of decellularization methods and agents must be selected carefully and will successfully maintain the three-dimensional (3D) structure and mechanical properties of ECM while removing cell remnants. Therefore, the merits and limits of each respective method must be understood.

Decellularized vessel grafts have the longest history with regard to the development of TEVGs. Since the 1960s, many decellularized TEVGs have been developed and some have been marketed commercially. Most of these TEVGs have been produced for AV shunts. The most popular decellularized vessel graft that is available commercially is Artegraft. This xenogenic TEVG is composed of a decellularized bovine carotid artery graft for hemodialysis access; the primary patency rate was significantly higher than in ePTFE grafts at 1 year (60.5% versus 10.1%; P = .0062) [9]. Furthermore, fewer percutaneous angioplasties were performed in upper-arm Artegrafts than in ePTFE grafts ( $1.30 \pm 0.27$  versus  $2.49 \pm 0.43$  times per patient-year; P = .014). Therefore, the authors concluded that Artegrafts were an excellent option for hemodialysis AV shunts. Another popular xenogenic graft is SynerGraft Model 100, which is based on decellularized bovine ureters [10]. In a clinical study, 29 patients were implanted with SynerGraft and 27 received ePTFE grafts as AV shunts; they showed similar patency (28% versus 48%; P = .290) and infection rates (4% versus 9%; P = .410) between SynerGraft Model 100 and ePTFE after

	Biodegradable synthetic-ba	ised scaffold
	Hybrid scaffolds	
Biological-base	ed scaffold	
Dece	ellularized nature matrices	
(enogenic		
Bovine carotid Bovine ureter (	artery (Artegraft ) Synergraft model 100)	
Allogenic	-,	
Cadaver vessel	s (CryoVein <sup>®</sup> , CryoArtery <sup>®</sup> )	
Cadaver iliac vo	a cens ein + seeded autologous ECs and SMCs	
(Sumitran-Holg	ersson)	
Nature-derive	d polymer + cell culture	
Fibrin gel + ovine	dermal fibroblasts	
Fibrin tube + vasc	ular SMCs with seeded ECs	
Cell sheet fibroblast with	/without ECs (L'Heureux et al.)	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrob SMCs and ECs a	nlast and fibroblasts	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrob SMCs and ECs of ECMs fo Allogeni	olast and fibroblasts ormed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.)	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrok SMCs and ECs of ECMs fo Allogeni	olast and fibroblasts ormed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrok SMCs and ECs of ECMs for Allogeni	olast and fibroblasts prmed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer Crosslinked ovine collagen + Polyester mesh (Omniflow II)	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrok SMCs and ECs of ECMs fo Allogen	blast and fibroblasts prmed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer Crosslinked ovine collagen + Polyester mesh (Omniflow II) Chitosan + PCL nanofiber (Hibino et al.) Eibrin and with conded SMCr (fibroblasts and ECc + B(L/D)) A	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrok SMCs and ECs of ECMs for Allogen	olast and fibroblasts prmed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer Crosslinked ovine collagen + Polyester mesh (Omniflow II) Chitosan + PCL nanofiber (Hibino et al.) Fibrin gel with seeded SMCs/fibroblasts and ECs + P(L/D)LA (Jockenhoevel et al.)	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrok SMCs and ECs of ECMs fo Allogen	olast and fibroblasts prmed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer Crosslinked ovine collagen + Polyester mesh (Omniflow II) Chitosan + PCL nanofiber (Hibino et al.) Fibrin gel with seeded SMCs/fibroblasts and ECs + P(L/D)LA (Jockenhoevel et al.)	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrob SMCs and ECs of ECMs fo Allogen	blast and fibroblasts prmed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer Crosslinked ovine collagen + Polyester mesh (Omniflow II) Chitosan + PCL nanofiber (Hibino et al.) Fibrin gel with seeded SMCs/fibroblasts and ECs + P(L/D)LA (Jockenhoevel et al.) Synthetic polymer + seeded cells PCI C+PGA + BM MNCs (Sbinoka et al.)	
Bioprinting SMC and fibrok SMCs and ECs of ECMs for Allogen	blast and fibroblasts prmed by cells + Synthetic polymer ic SMC + PGA (Niklason et al.) Nature-derived polymer + synthetic polymer Crosslinked ovine collagen + Polyester mesh (Omniflow II) Chitosan + PCL nanofiber (Hibino et al.) Fibrin gel with seeded SMCs/fibroblasts and ECs + P(L/D)LA (Jockenhoevel et al.) Synthetic polymer + seeded cells PCLC+PGA + BM-MNCs (Shinoka et al.) PGA and PH4B + fibroblasts and ECs (Hoerstrup et al.)	al.)

Acellular Synthetic polymer Polyglycolic acid (PGA) +PLCL + P(GA/CL) (Matsumura et al.)

**FIGURE 58.1** Large-diameter graft classification by scaffold materials in large-animal model and clinical studies. Various combinations of biological-based scaffolds and biodegradable synthetic-based scaffolds have been developed and evaluated in large-animal models and clinical studies. Large-animal model studies are shown in *italics* and clinical studies are shown in *bold*. *BM-MNCs*, bone marrow mononuclear cells; *EC*, endothelial cell; *PH4B*, poly-4-hydroxybutyrate; *PCL*, poly(ε-caprolactone); *PGA*, polyglycolic acid; *P(GA/CL)*, poly(glycolide-*co*-ε-caprolactone); *PLCL*, poly(L-lactide and ε-caprolactone); *P(L/D)LA*, poly(L/D)lactide; *SMC*, smooth muscle cells.

1 year. Unfortunately, advantages for SynerGraft Model 100 were not seen. To improve patency, decellularized xenogenic grafts seeded with cells have been developed in animal models. For example, in ovine models, decellularized porcine carotid artery grafts seeded with endothelial progenitor cells (n = 6) remained patent up to 4.4 months as AV shunts [11].

SIS may be a promising source of TEVG matrices. SIS is a kind of natural ECM that has been shown to retain a porous scaffold suitable for tissue reconstruction. The porous scaffold allows for easy cell infiltration. SISs have been applied in many clinical areas such as the ileum, diaphragm, rotator cuff, and bladder [12–14]. Various SIS-derived TEVGs have been developed. In a large-animal study, 24 SIS grafts obtained from pigs were implanted as ovine carotid arteries [15]. However, patency at 3–4 months was 30%. In general, the patency rates of decellularized xenogenic grafts do not exceed those of ePTFE in many clinical and animal studies. Andreadis and Swartz et al. reported that SIS TEVGs coated sequentially with heparin and vascular endothelial growth factor showed successful endothelialization, remodeling, and development of vascular function in ovine carotid artery models [16]. The patency was 92% in 12 sheep at 1 weeks (n = 3), 1 month (n = 4), and 3 months (n = 4). However, SIS grafts have not been used clinically.

#### Allogenic Matrices

Allogenic vascular grafts are provided by human cadavers. CryoVein, which is composed of cryopreserved saphenous vein allografts, has been evaluated for many years. Farber et al. reported the results of 240 infrainguinal revascularization procedures with CryoVein [17]. The primary patency rate was not sufficient (50% at 6 months and 18% at 24 months) [17]. Similarly, CryoGraft has been used for hemodialysis access, compared with PTFE shunts, and revealed a similar primary patency at 2 years between the two groups. CryoGraft showed more resistance to infection but was also more susceptible to aneurysm [18]. Cryopreserved arteries (CryoArtery) have been developed to treat infected aortic prosthetic grafts or mycotic aneurysms. Evaluations of CryoArtery revealed an overall treatment mortality rate of 21% at 12.5 months, and graft-related complications were acceptable at midterm follow-up regardless of the disease severity risk [19]. An advantage to using decellularized allogenic and/or xenogenic matrices is that they can address the limited availability of autologous grafts, but the advantage is limited by their lack of cellularity. The lack of cellularity may lead to graft thrombosis, infection, and aneurysm. Therefore, cell seeding technologies have been developed to modify grafts. In a first case report, a cadaveric allogenic iliac vein graft seeded with autologous bone marrow-derived ECs and SMCs was implanted into a patient with extrahepatic portal vein obstruction as a bypass between the superior mesenteric vein and the intrahepatic left portal vein (meso Rex bypass) [20]. The graft was patent at 9 months after the operation but narrowed owing to mechanical obstruction by the surrounding tissue and required a second operation to be performed. The authors stated that the advantage of this graft is that it is unnecessary to use immunosuppression therapy because the decellularized allogenic graft is seeded with autologous cells. However, human donor cadaver vessels are in short supply and result in complicated ethical issues. In addition, inadequate decellularization has caused cases of adverse immune response and graft failure. On the other hand, aggressive decellularization may destroy the structural integrity of the ECM and lead to decreased mechanical properties. Therefore, allogenic vessel-derived TEVGs are not commercially widespread.

#### **Nature-Derived Polymers**

ECMs are composed of collagen, proteoglycan, fibronectin, elastin, etc., and therefore are good candidates as TEVG scaffold materials. Many researchers have studied these different nature-derived polymers as TEVG scaffolds. In sheep models, Tranquillo et al. fabricated 4-mm-diameter grafts composed of ovine dermal fibroblasts and fibrin gel. The fibrin gel from bovine fibrinogen and ovine dermal fibroblasts was combined and cultured into a tubular mold for 2 weeks and the grafts were subsequently transferred to a pulsed flow-stretch bioreactor for an additional 3 weeks and then decellularized. The grafts were implanted interpositionally in the femoral artery of six sheep; all were patent and showed no dilatation or calcification at 24 weeks [21]. In addition, the researchers implanted grafts fabricated in the same manner to replace the pulmonary artery in three young lambs. The lambs displayed normal growth after 50 weeks [22]. Andreadis et al. also reported a conceptually similar TEVG in which fibrin tubes with entrapped vascular SMCs were implanted as vein interposition grafts in lambs [23]. The graft was seeded with ECs in the luminal TEVG surface before implantation; subsequently, they showed patency for 15 weeks. Silk-derived fibroin, collagen, and chitosan are also potential nature-derived polymers as TEVG scaffolds. However, these combination strategies have been evaluated only in vitro and in small-animal model.

## **Tissue Engineering by Self-assembly**

The Tissue Engineering by Self-Assembly (TESA) design approach, which L'Heureux et al. developed, is a promising and unique fabrication method of TEVGs [24]. TESA does not use nature-derived polymers or synthetic scaffolds but is based on cell sheet tissue engineering. The cell sheets are formed by culturing autologous fibroblasts from a biopsy. Cell sheets are wrapped around a 4.8-mm-diameter stainless-steel mandrel and then matured. After taken off the mandrel, the TEVG is dehydrated and luminally seeded with autologous ECs. The production time for

these grafts ranges from 6 to 9 months. According to published data, the first 10 patients underwent AV shunt graft implantation and primary patency rates were 78% at 1 months (7/9) and 60% at 6 months (five of eight patients; one patient withdrew and another patient died of unrelated causes) [25]. The authors stated that this patency was acceptable because patients enrolled in the study had a high probability of failure and had at least one previous access failure. Thus, the study group represented a particularly challenging patient population in which AV shunt failure was expected to be far higher. L'Heureux et al. also reported that nonendothelialized TEVGs were implanted into three patients as AV shunts [26]. Two patients required intervention for stenosis and occlusion (both eventually failed) within a year and one patient died of sepsis. The authors suggested that an endothelium may not be required to maintain the patency of this TEVG because thrombogenic failures appeared to result from stenosis. Removing the EC seeding process simplifies the fabrication of TEVGs and saves on cost and time. Furthermore, they developed a novel assembly method termed thread-based tissue engineering (TBTE) to save production time compared with TESA. TBTE technology uses the cell-synthesized matrix of fibroblasts to form strong threads that can be assembled into complex 3D structures using classic textile technologies such as weaving, braiding, or knitting. Preclinical studies are investigating TBTE grafts for canine AV shunt and CABG [27].

Other TESA technologies include microtissue aggregation and 3D cell printing. Forgacs et al. fabricated prototype biological self-assembly bioprinted grafts in vitro [28]. Multicellular spheroids or cylinders  $300-500 \mu m$  in diameter were made from SMCs and fibroblasts. Subsequently, agarose rods and the uniform multicellular spheroids were deposited layer by layer. With this method, various tubular and branching structures can be fabricated into TEVGs. Itoh et al. manufactured another type of 3D bioprinting TEVG using multicellular spheroids and implanted the constructs into rat abdominal aorta (n = 5) [29]. Their unique method skewered the multicellular spheroids into a needle array according to a predesigned 3D structure. They implanted the grafts into rat aortas and evaluated their histologies 5 days after implantation. These technologies have not yet reached clinical application. The major limitations of these technologies are that they require long times to culture and they have difficulty attaining suitable mechanical strengths. However, the technologies can fabricate bifurcated TEVGs or grafts with different-sized ends. Therefore, many researchers are continuing to investigate them.

## Hybrid Scaffolds

Hybrid scaffolds combine biologically based and biodegradable synthetic materials. Many synthetic materials have been used as TEVG scaffolds. Originally, biodegradable synthetic scaffolds were developed to reinforce and maintain the mechanical strength of TEVGs. In the 1980s, Weinberg and Bell produced the first TEVG. It consisted of cultured bovine ECs, SMCs, and fibroblasts in a collagen gel and subsequently was shaped into tubes. However, this TEVG lacked sufficient mechanical strength and required a Dacron mesh support. Since then, various approaches have been investigated. Niklason et al. produced a novel approach using a biodegradable synthetic scaffold for cell culture. The synthetic scaffold was designed to degrade as ECMs obtain the appropriate mechanical strength during cell culture within a bioreactor. Therefore, the final TEVG product is composed only of ECMs formed by cells.

#### Extracellular Matrices Formed by Cell Culture and Synthetic Polymers

As described earlier, Niklason et al. reported a unique approach to fabricating TEVGs. In vitro–fabricated human decellularized TEVGs using allogenic human vascular SMCs have undergone a multicenter clinical trial [7]. In brief, human vascular SMCs were derived from deceased organ and tissue donors and met eligibility requirements set forth by US Food and Drug Administration regulations. SMCs were isolated with 1–60 million cells from individual donors. After expansion, 1 million cells/cm were seeded onto polyglycolic acid (PGA) polymer scaffolds within flexible bioreactors. Pulsatile flow was applied to the grafts for 8 weeks in the bioreactors, and then subsequently were decellularized (Fig. 58.2). The grafts were implanted into the arms of patients with ESRD for hemodialysis access and showed favorable results. Of the 60 patients with ESRD who underwent TEVG implantation, primary patency was 63% and 28% at 6 and 12 months, respectively, and secondary patency, which included preceding successful interventional or surgical procedures, was 97% and 89%, respectively. The patency was higher than that reported in multicenter studies of ePTFE (55–65% at 1 year). In addition, the grafts displayed no significant potential immunogenicity, aneurysm, or structural degradation. This TEVG will require longer follow-up observations in addition to prospective, randomized, and large clinical trials. However, this TEVG is perhaps the closest to being clinically translated and serving as a readily available off-the-shelf conduit in large-diameter graft applications. In this chapter, the TEVG developed by Niklason et al. is classified as a hybrid scaffold even though the



**FIGURE 58.2** Production of arteriovenous shunt grafts by Niklason et al. Smooth muscle cells are seeded onto a biodegradable scaffold within a single-use bioreactor. During culture, a cellular bioengineered vessel is grown that is then decellularized to produce the human acellular vessel. Gross appearance is an off-white uniform tubular structure. Hematoxylin-eosin stain and Masson trichrome stain show a dense extracellular matrix without cellular or nuclear remnants. *SMC*, smooth muscle cell. *Lawson JH*, *Glickman MH*, *Ilzecki M*, *Jakimowicz T*, *Jaroszynski A*, *Peden EK*, et al. Bioengineered human acellular vessels for dialysis access in patients with end-stage renal disease: two phase 2 single-arm trials. Lancet 2016;387(10032): 2026–34. Reprinted with permission from Elsevier.

synthetic scaffold degraded before the grafts were implanted into patients. However, it is also reasonable to classify their graft as a biological-based scaffold.

## **Nature-Derived Polymers and Synthetic Polymers**

The oldest hybrid TEVG applied clinically is Omniflow II, which is composed of cross-linked ovine collagen and a polyester mesh endoskeleton. Since the 1990s, several favorable study results have been published on this graft [30,31] and have led to its use in many European countries and several South American and Asian nations. Conceptually, a hybrid scaffold is one in which biological-based materials enhance biocompatibility and cell infiltration, whereas synthetic-based materials provide the graft with overall structure reinforcement. Many biological-based scaffolds have been investigated, including fibrin, collagen, elastin, chitosan, and gelatin. Synthetic-based scaffold approaches are primarily biodegradable. Poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL) is well-used as a biodegradable synthetic-

based scaffold material and has been investigated in small-animal models [32,33]. Weiss et al. reported successful results with a bilayered scaffold composed of an inner layer of recombinant human tropoelastin and an outer layer of PCL in a rabbit model [32]. Another group demonstrated good results with an acellular hybrid vessel of PCL, polyurethane, and collagen in canine models [33]. In a large-animal model, Hibino et al. investigated an electrospun PCL-chitosan nanofiber TEVG as ovine carotid artery replacements [34]. The TEVG showed 67% patency (four of six) and there was no evidence of aneurysm or calcification. Electrospun nanofiber scaffolds are a promising method for fabricating arterial TEVGs that may be capable of withstanding high flow and pressure blood flow. Electrospun nanofiber scaffolds that resemble ECM structures can be fabricated relatively easily. In small-animal models, however, several studies revealed that an electrospun scaffold with small pore sizes can inhibit cell infiltration into TEVGs. Therefore, many researchers are searching for optimal scaffolds with regard to selecting the materials, electrospun fiber diameter, pore size, and alignment [35,36]. When blended into a TEVG, rapidly degrading chitosan is considered to promote better cell infiltration and rapid neovessel remodeling owing to pore size enlargement. Jockenhoevel et al. developed fibrin scaffold grafts encapsulated with autologous SMCs/fibroblasts and ECs. The construct was then reinforced with a poly(L/D)lactide 96/4 mesh. They implanted the TEVGs into sheep carotid arteries and observed them for up to 6 months [37]. Eighteen grafts (n = 6 for 1, 3, and 6 months' follow-up) were patent and there was one significant case of stenosis (3 months). There was no evidence of thrombus, aneurysm, or calcification. In addition, explanted grafts were observed to contain remodeled cellular distribution and mature autologous proteins. However, these TEVGs are associated with higher costs and longer production times owing to cell culturing compared with cell-free TEVGs. In addition, these carotid artery TEVGs diameters are about 4-5 mm and are not strictly included in large-diameter TEVGs.

#### Synthetic Polymers With Seeded Cells

This type of TEVG consists of a biodegradable synthetic polymer seeded with cells. A biodegradable synthetic scaffold must maintain the graft's mechanical properties until the new vessel is reconstituted by host-derived cells over the course of its inflammation-mediated process. Various cell populations such as SMCs, fibroblasts, and ECs have been cultured and seeded onto TEVGs to mimic the structure of native vessels. Stem cells have also been identified as a potential source for cell seeding because they have important roles in tissue regeneration, remodeling, and maturation. Several types of stem cells, such as embryonic stem cells (ES cells), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS cells), and bone marrow—derived cells, have been seeded onto the biodegradable synthetic polymer for study. In the past, a TEVG seeded with ECs derived from ES cells was developed. However, research on human ES cells has been limited because of political and ethical concerns. On the other hand, iPS cells do not have these concerns, and opportunities in tissue engineering have been recognized for cell sheet TEVGs in mice inferior vena cava [38]. The TEVGs showed favorable patency, but seeded iPS cells primarily exerted a paracrine effect to induce neotissue formation and showed no direct change to vessel cells. The benefit to using iPS cells is that they do not require immunosuppressive therapy, but it is a complex process to fabricate TEVGs using this particular cell population.

The feasibility of using a tissue engineered pulmonary arterial graft with seeded vascular cells in an ovine model was demonstrated in 1997 [39]. The same group switched to using autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells (BM-MNCs) instead of vascular cells for clinical applications and developed a venous TEVG that consisted of a woven fabric made of a 50:50 mixture of poly(L-lactide and ε-caprolactone) (PLCL) reinforced with PGA. Previously, it was reported that multipotential cells existed in bone marrow and had the ability to differentiate into several cells types and organs in vivo [40]. In addition, several studies revealed that endothelial progenitor cells derived from bone marrow contributed to angiogenesis. However, Shinoka et al. revealed in a mouse model that the number of seeded BM-MNCs in the TEVGs decreased rapidly in the first few days after implantation and disappeared altogether within 1 week after implantation without differentiating into vascular cells [41]. BM-MNCs contain an abundance of cytokines that can enhance neovessel formation, and they likely act in a paracrine manner to recruit additional host cells during the remodeling process. With regard to BM-MNC harvest and seeding of Shinoka's TEVG, approximately 4–5 mL/kg body weight BM-MNCs were aspirated into a syringe from the anterior superior iliac spine of a patient with a puncture needle under general anesthesia. After several washing and concentration steps, BM-MNCs were seeded onto biodegradable polymer scaffold by pipetting. The outer surface of the seeded scaffolds was then sprayed with fibrin glue. In 2001, the group started a clinical trial implanting the TEVGs for extracardiac total cavopulmonary connections to 25 Japanese children. Their biodegradable TEVGs were thought to be particularly suitable in children because they have the potential to grow and remodel. Midterm (median, 16.7 months) and long-term results (mean, 5.8 years) revealed no evidence of aneurysm, graft rupture, graft infection, ectopic calcification, or graft-related mortality [42,43]. However, four patients died of graft-unrelated causes during the long-term follow-up and four required percutaneous angioplasty owing to stenosis. In one patient, the

TEVG was replaced with a PTFE patch 2 months after the original surgery because of unexpectedly slow tissue growth on the patch used for a lateral tunnel procedure. Histological findings of the explanted graft showed collagen-rich fibers and a surface covered with ECs [42]. Of 20 patients who were contacted for long-term follow-up, eight (40%) required no daily medications. Patients who are implanted with nonbiodegradable synthetic grafts such as ePTFE often require long-term anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy. Shinoka's group is collecting long-term follow-up data (median, 13.0 years) (unpublished data); eight patients have died owing to graft-related causes and seven have undergone percutaneous angioplasty (seven have undergone percutaneous angioplasty (six balloon dilatation and one stent implantation)). This long-term mortality rate appears to be reasonable because most patients with congenital heart disease typically originally have severe conditions and are at high risk. Comparisons between postoperative and long-term follow-up angiography (11 years later) showed that the neovessels behaved and functioned like normal vessels without stenosis and aneurysm (Fig. 58.3).

The female patient presented in Fig. 58.3 was diagnosed with complex congenital heart disease including double outlet right ventricle, subaortic ventricular septal defect, small tricuspid valve and right ventricle, Juxtaposition of right atrial appendage, persistent left superior vena cava, and total anomalous pulmonary venous return. She underwent pulmonary artery banding at age 1 month and total cavopulmonary connection (TCPC) with enlargement of the pulmonary vein orifice using autologous pericardium at age 3 years. A 16-mm-diameter PLCL and PGA TEVG seeded with BM-MNCs was implanted between the inferior vena cava and pulmonary artery. Angiography after graft implantation showed that the TEVG was patent (Fig. 58.3, left, indicated by *arrows*). Furthermore, long-term follow-up (11 years later) angiography showed that the TEVG remained patent without aneurysm and displayed growth as the child grew older (Fig. 58.3, right, indicated by arrows). More recently, Shinoka et al. presented the first report of late-term (12 years) histological findings of our TEVGs [44]. This female patient was diagnosed with a single right ventricle, pulmonary stenosis, pulmonary stenosis, bilateral superior vena cava, a hemiazygos connection, and a common atrium with mild to moderate regurgitation from a common atrioventricular valve, and underwent TCPC with a common atrioventricular valve plasty when she was 4 years old. A 12-mm-diameter biodegradable synthetic TEVG seeded with BM-MNCs was implanted between the hepatic vein and pulmonary artery. Unfortunately, she died at age 16 years owing to multiple organ failure, low cardiac output syndrome, disseminated intravascular coagulation, pancytopenia, and brain abscessation. Histological examinations of ECs, SMCs, elastic fiber and collagen fiber layers from the patient's autopsy report revealed that the synthetic scaffold had completely degraded, remodeled, and generated neotissue that seamlessly integrated with native vessel (Fig. 58.4).

In the United States, Drs. Breuer and Shinoka started a pilot study investigating the clinical use of the TEVGs in congenital heart surgery (NCT01034007). If the pilot study proves to be successful, this TEVG technology will be the first to be commercially applied clinically in the world. Several studies have already shown excellent long-term



**FIGURE 58.3** Angiographic comparison between postgraft implantation and long-term follow-up (11 years later). A 3-year-old girl with a double-outlet right ventricle, who underwent pulmonary artery banding at age 1 month, underwent a total cavopulmonary connection with enlargement of the pulmonary vein orifice using autologous pericardium. Poly(L-lactide and  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) (16 mm in diameter) and a poly-glycolic acid tissue engineered vascular graft (TEVG) seeded with bone marrow mononuclear cells was implanted between the inferior vena cava and pulmonary artery. An angiography after graft implantation showed that the TEVG was patent (*left*) (*arrows*). Long-term follow-up angiography (11 years later) was patent with no aneurysm and displayed growth as the patient grew older (*right*) (*arrows*).



FIGURE 58.4 Macroscopic and histological images of explanted human TEVG. A female patient with a single right ventricle underwent TCPC with common atrioventricular valve plasty at age 4 years. A 12-mm-diameter biodegradable synthetic TEVG with BM-MNCs was implanted between the hepatic vein and pulmonary artery. Unfortunately, she died 12 years later and an autopsy was performed. (A) Macroscopic imaging of the TEVG. No difference appears between native PA and TEVG. (B) Cross-section view of the border between native PA and TEVG. (C) Hematoxylin-eosin staining. (D) Masson trichrome staining. (E) Victoria blue-van Gieson staining. (F) Factor VIII–positive cells (*brown*). (G) α-Smooth muscle actin–positive cells (*brown*). (H) Calponin-positive cells (*brown*). Bar length in C, D, E, and F are 50 μm, and bar length in G and H are 100 μm. *LPA*, left pulmonary artery; *PA*, pulmonary artery; *RPA*, right pulmonary artery; *SVC*, superior vena cava; *TCPC*, total cavopulmonary connection; *TEVG*, tissue engineered vascular graft. *Modified from Matsumura G, Shinoka T. First report of histological evaluation of human tissue-engineered vasculature. J Biotechnol Biomater* 2015;5:200 under copyright.

clinical outcome after TCPC using nonbiodegradable PTFE grafts [45,46]. This makes the superiority of biodegradable TEVGs much more difficult. Furthermore, the TEVGs used in TCPCs were implanted in high-flow and low-pressure environments. Therefore, the future will look at developing small-diameter TEVGs that are able to endure the high-flow and high-pressure environments of the arterial system.

Many researchers have investigated various combinations of scaffold materials, fabrication methods, seeded cells, and culture protocols. Beside the Breuer–Shinoka and Niklason groups, no clinical trials are using hybrid scaffolds. In ovine models, Hoerstrup et al. have shown patency of up to 100 weeks in pulmonary artery replacement with nonwoven PGA scaffolds coated with a thin layer of poly-4-hydroxybutyrate seeded with autologous myofibroblasts and ECs [47,48]. The scaffolds were fabricated by a heat-application welding technique. Thereafter, myofibroblasts were seeded in three steps at 24-h intervals onto the scaffolds and cultured under static culture conditions. After 2 days, the grafts were seeded with ECs. After another 3 days of static culture, the grafts were transferred into a pulse duplicator system and cultured for 14 days. Therefore, the total culture period is about 3 weeks and biodegradable synthetic materials remain in the grafts. This fabrication method is similar to that of Niklason et al., but there are major differences in the culture period and the fact that biodegradable synthetic materials remain when the graft is completed. Hoerstrup's hybrid TEVGs remodeled into a functional vasculature that mimicked native vessels and displayed growth as the sheep aged.

1037

## **Biodegradable Synthetic-Based Scaffolds**

The ideal TEVG is thought to remodel, generate neovessels, grow, and be easy to fabricate. With this in mind, TEVGs fabricated from acellular synthetic scaffolds are the closest approach to producing the ideal graft. Acellular synthetic scaffolds do not require in vitro cell cultures and can eliminate the risk for adverse immunological reactions. Therefore, cell-free biodegradable synthetic grafts have been investigated in small- and large-animal models. Poly(lactic acid), PGA, and PCL are the most widely used synthetic scaffold materials and have different degradation periods and mechanical properties. Attempting to combine the best various individual characteristics of single polymers, copolymers such as PLCL and poly(L-lactic-co-glycolide) have been proposed and developed. However, cell-free synthetic scaffolds are disadvantaged because they have no cell populations, like SMCs, fibroblasts, and ECs, to promote TEVG remodeling and antithrombogenicity. Therefore, acellular synthetic grafts have not yet reached clinical trials. Matsumura et al. have developed TEVGs consisting of knitted PGA fibers and a PLCL sponge with outer poly(glycolide-co- $\epsilon$ -caprolactone) monofilament reinforcement. These constructs were implanted into canine left pulmonary arteries and showed 100% patency up to 12 months [49]. This favorable patency is unsurprising because pulmonary artery reconstruction surgery generally results in satisfactory outcomes. The next generation of acellular synthetic scaffold will focus on arterial TEVGs studied in large-animal models. In arterial vasculature, lots of research has focused on small-diameter TEVGs because many patients have CVDs that require arterial bypass grafts or surgical procedures.

## CONCLUSION

Historically, the development of TEVGs has faced many difficulties. To overcome these obstacles, different fabrication methods, techniques, and approaches have been proposed. TEVG materials introduced in this chapter are biologically or synthetic-based scaffolds. With regard to the development of TEVGs, it was rational to focus on the venous system at first, because large-diameter venous grafts do not need to endure the high pressures of the arterial system. In the 2000s, after Shinoka et al. published clinical results investigating the use of venous biodegradable synthetic grafts seeded with BM-MNCs in children with congenital heart disease, many researchers turned their attention to creating AV shunt TEVGs for hemodialysis access. This is the next logical progression in TEVG technologies because although the AV system has higher pressures than the venous system, it is still subject to lower pressures than the arterial system, which makes it much more likely and easy to fabricate. However, AV shunt TEVGs must be more durable than venous TEVGs and able to withstand repeated cannulation. Niklason et al. showed the viability of acellular biological-based TEVGs for patients with ESRD requiring dialysis access. The final frontier in vascular grafts will be to develop arterial TEVGs. Several research groups have developed arterial TEVGs and demonstrated their efficacy in animal models, but no groups have progressed to clinical trials. Most biodegradable synthetic arterial TEVGs are using electrospun nanofiber to withstand the high pressures of the arterial system. However, biodegradable synthetic TEVGs must be completely reconstituted by host-derived cells before the synthetic scaffold degrades and loses mechanical integrity. The neovessel remodeling process should include confluent endothelialization, the construction of SMC layers, and abundant ECM deposition. Therefore, the balance between scaffold degradation and neovessel formation has an important role in the long-term viability of a TEVG. Electrospun nanofibers are promising scaffold materials for arterial TEVGs. PCL electrospun nanofiber grafts have shown good mechanical properties with high patency rates in small-animal models [36]. However, thin-fiber and small-pore electrospun nanofiber scaffolds inhibit cell migration into the scaffold, which causes delayed neotissue formation. In contrast, thicker-fiber and large-pore electrospun grafts can enhance the neovessel formation and remodeling process by mediating macrophage polarization toward an M2 phenotype [36,50]. However, electrospun grafts with too-large pores can leak blood and lose their mechanical properties. Therefore, it is critically important to find the optimal blend of fiber diameter and pore size in electrospun nanofiber scaffolds when fabricating the ideal arterial TEVG. The clinical translation of small-diameter arterial TEVGs is greatly anticipated based on market forces and the many patients who have atherosclerotic CVD that require such grafts.

Important factors to consider when rationally designing a TEVG are that it should be less invasive, cost-effective, time saving, and readily available off-the-shelf. Unfortunately, venous and AV shunt TEVGs are not yet widely accepted in the clinical setting because not all of these factors have not yet been satisfied. Furthermore, the cell culture and seeding processes for producing TEVGs are technically complicated, and they have high costs and require extra time. With this in mind, cell-free synthetic TEVGs are the most cost- and time-effective approach but are limited by their inability to control cell migration, which often leads to aneurysm or occlusion. Therefore, technologies for TEVGs that elute and/or release drugs and proteins such as chemokines, cytokines, and growth

#### REFERENCES

factors might be the source of important future studies and research. Several decades have passed since the first TEVG was developed. However, no one has developed a TEVG that is widely and commercially used in the clinical setting. To achieve clinical translation, multidisciplinary collaborations among clinicians, cardiovascular surgeons, engineers, chemists, and biologists will be needed in addition to further progress and advances in diverse technologies.

## List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

AV Arteriovenous BM-MNCs Bone marrow mononuclear cells CABG Coronary artery bypass grafting CAD Coronary artery disease CVD Cardiovascular disease EC Endothelial cells ECM Extracellular matrix ES cell Embryonic stem cell ePTFE Expanded polytetrafluoroethylene ESRD end-stage renal disease iPS cell Induced pluripotent stem cell PAD Peripheral artery diseases **PCL** Poly(ε-caprolactone) PGA Polyglycolic acid **PLCL** Poly(L-lactide and ε-caprolactone) **PTFE** Polytetrafluoroethylene SIS Small intestinal submucosa SMC Smooth muscle cells TBTE Thread-based tissue engineering TCPC Total cavopulmonary connection TESA Tissue engineering by self-assembly TEVG Tissue engineered vascular graft

## References

- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2015;131(4):e29-322.
- [2] Mohr FW, Morice MC, Kappetein AP, Feldman TE, Stahle E, Colombo A, et al. Coronary artery bypass graft surgery versus percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with three-vessel disease and left main coronary disease: 5-year follow-up of the randomised, clinical SYNTAX trial. Lancet 2013;381(9867):629–38.
- [3] van der Slegt J, Steunenberg SL, Donker JM, Veen EJ, Ho GH, de Groot HG, et al. The current position of precuffed expanded polytetrafluoroethylene bypass grafts in peripheral vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg 2014;60(1):120–8.
- [4] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260(5110):920-6.
- [5] Weinberg CB, Bell E. A blood vessel model constructed from collagen and cultured vascular cells. Science 1986;231(4736):397-400.
- [6] Matsumura G, Hibino N, Ikada Y, Kurosawa H, Shin'oka T. Successful application of tissue engineered vascular autografts: clinical experience. Biomaterials 2003;24(13):2303–8.
- [7] Lawson JH, Glickman MH, Ilzecki M, Jakimowicz T, Jaroszynski A, Peden EK, et al. Bioengineered human acellular vessels for dialysis access in patients with end-stage renal disease: two phase 2 single-arm trials. Lancet 2016;387(10032):2026–34.
- [8] Crapo PM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes. Biomaterials 2011;32(12):3233–43.
  [9] Kennealey PT, Elias N, Hertl M, Ko DS, Saidi RF, Markmann JF, et al. A prospective, randomized comparison of bovine carotid artery and expanded polytetrafluoroethylene for permanent hemodialysis vascular access. J Vasc Surg 2011;53(6):1640–8.
- [10] Chemla ES, Morsy M. Randomized clinical trial comparing decellularized bovine ureter with expanded polytetrafluoroethylene for vascular access. Br J Surg 2009;96(1):34–9.
- [11] Tillman BW, Yazdani SK, Neff LP, Corriere MA, Christ GJ, Soker S, et al. Bioengineered vascular access maintains structural integrity in response to arteriovenous flow and repeated needle puncture. J Vasc Surg 2012;56(3):783–93.
- [12] Wang ZQ, Watanabe Y, Toki A. Experimental assessment of small intestinal submucosa as a small bowel graft in a rat model. J Pediatr Surg 2003;38(11):1596-601.
- [13] Gonzalez R, Hill SJ, Mattar SG, Lin E, Ramshaw BJ, Smith CD, et al. Absorbable versus nonabsorbable mesh repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernias in a growing animal model. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech Part A 2011;21(5):449–54.
- [14] Phipatanakul WP, Petersen SA. Porcine small intestine submucosa xenograft augmentation in repair of massive rotator cuff tears. Am J Orthop 2009;38(11):572–5.
- [15] Sandusky Jr GE, Badylak SF, Morff RJ, Johnson WD, Lantz G. Histologic findings after in vivo placement of small intestine submucosal vascular grafts and saphenous vein grafts in the carotid artery in dogs. Am J Pathol 1992;140(2):317–24.
- [16] Koobatian MT, Row S, Smith Jr RJ, Koenigsknecht C, Andreadis ST, Swartz DD. Successful endothelialization and remodeling of a cell-free small-diameter arterial graft in a large animal model. Biomaterials 2016;76:344–58.

#### 58. ENGINEERING OF LARGE DIAMETER VESSELS

- [17] Farber A, Major K, Wagner WH, Cohen JL, Cossman DV, Lauterbach SR, et al. Cryopreserved saphenous vein allografts in infrainguinal revascularization: analysis of 240 grafts. J Vasc Surg 2003;38(1):15–21.
- [18] Madden RL, Lipkowitz GS, Browne BJ, Kurbanov A. Experience with cryopreserved cadaveric femoral vein allografts used for hemodialysis access. Ann Vasc Surg 2004;18(4):453–8.
- [19] Zhou W, Lin PH, Bush RL, Terramani TT, Matsuura JH, Cox M, et al. In situ reconstruction with cryopreserved arterial allografts for management of mycotic aneurysms or aortic prosthetic graft infections: a multi-institutional experience. Tex Heart Inst J 2006;33(1):14–8.
- [20] Olausson M, Patil PB, Kuna VK, Chougule P, Hernandez N, Methe K, et al. Transplantation of an allogeneic vein bioengineered with autologous stem cells: a proof-of-concept study. Lancet 2012;380(9838):230–7.
- [21] Syedain ZH, Meier LA, Lahti MT, Johnson SL, Tranquillo RT. Implantation of completely biological engineered grafts following decellularization into the sheep femoral artery. Tissue Eng Part A 2014;20(11–12):1726–34.
- [22] Syedain Z, Reimer J, Lahti M, Berry J, Johnson S, Tranquillo RT. Tissue engineering of acellular vascular grafts capable of somatic growth in young lambs. Nat Commun 2016;7:12951.
- [23] Swartz DD, Russell JA, Andreadis ST. Engineering of fibrin-based functional and implantable small-diameter blood vessels. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005;288(3):H1451–60.
- [24] L'Heureux N, Dusserre N, Konig G, Victor B, Keire P, Wight TN, et al. Human tissue-engineered blood vessels for adult arterial revascularization. Nat Med 2006;12(3):361–5.
- [25] McAllister TN, Maruszewski M, Garrido SA, Wystrychowski W, Dusserre N, Marini A, et al. Effectiveness of haemodialysis access with an autologous tissue-engineered vascular graft: a multicentre cohort study. Lancet 2009;373(9673):1440–6.
- [26] Wystrychowski W, McAllister TN, Zagalski K, Dusserre N, Cierpka L, L'Heureux N. First human use of an allogeneic tissue-engineered vascular graft for hemodialysis access. J Vasc Surg 2014;60(5):1353–7.
- [27] Mount C, Dusserrre N, Mcallister T, L'Heureux N. Tissue-engineered cardiovascular grafts and novel applications of tissue engineering by self-assembly (TESA): biomaterials and tissue engineering. In: Li R-K, Weisel RD, editors. Cardiac regeneration and repairvol. 2. Cambridge (UK): Woodhead Publishing; 2014. p. 434–5.
- [28] Norotte C, Marga FS, Niklason LE, Forgacs G. Scaffold-free vascular tissue engineering using bioprinting. Biomaterials 2009;30(30):5910-7.
- [29] Itoh M, Nakayama K, Noguchi R, Kamohara K, Furukawa K, Uchihashi K, et al. Correction: scaffold-free tubular tissues created by a Bio-3D printer undergo remodeling and endothelialization when implanted in rat aortae. PLoS One 2015;10(12):e0145971.
- [30] Wang SS, Chu SH. Clinical use of omniflow vascular graft as arteriovenous bridging graft for hemodialysis. Artif Organs 1996;20(12):1278-81.
- [31] Palumbo R, Niscola P, Calabria S, Fierimonte S, Bevilacqua M, Scaramucci L, et al. Long-term favorable results by arteriovenous graft with omniflow II prosthesis for hemodialysis. Nephron Clin Pract 2009;113(2):c76–80.
- [32] Wise SG, Byrom MJ, Waterhouse A, Bannon PG, Weiss AS, Ng MK. A multilayered synthetic human elastin/polycaprolactone hybrid vascular graft with tailored mechanical properties. Acta Biomater 2011;7(1):295–303.
- [33] Lu G, Cui SJ, Geng X, Ye L, Chen B, Feng ZG, et al. Design and preparation of polyurethane-collagen/heparin-conjugated polycaprolactone double-layer bionic small-diameter vascular graft and its preliminary animal tests. Chin Med J 2013;126(7):1310–6.
- [34] Fukunishi T, Best CA, Sugiura T, Shoji T, Yi T, Udelsman B, et al. Tissue-engineered small diameter arterial vascular grafts from cell-free nanofiber PCL/chitosan scaffolds in a sheep model. PLoS One 2016;11(7). e0158555.
- [35] Yang X, Wei J, Lei D, Liu Y, Wu W. Appropriate density of PCL nano-fiber sheath promoted muscular remodeling of PGS/PCL grafts in arterial circulation. Biomaterials 2016;88:34–47.
- [36] Wang Z, Cui Y, Wang J, Yang X, Wu Y, Wang K, et al. The effect of thick fibers and large pores of electrospun poly(epsilon-caprolactone) vascular grafts on macrophage polarization and arterial regeneration. Biomaterials 2014;35(22):5700-10.
- [37] Koch S, Flanagan TC, Sachweh JS, Tanios F, Schnoering H, Deichmann T, et al. Fibrin-polylactide-based tissue-engineered vascular graft in the arterial circulation. Biomaterials 2010;31(17):4731–9.
- [38] Hibino N, Duncan DR, Nalbandian A, Yi T, Qyang Y, Shinoka T, et al. Evaluation of the use of an induced pluripotent stem cell sheet for the construction of tissue-engineered vascular grafts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;143(3):696–703.
- [39] Shinoka T, Shum-Tim D, Ma PX, Tanel RE, Isogai N, Langer R, et al. Creation of viable pulmonary artery autografts through tissue engineering. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1998;115(3):536–45. discussion 45–46.
- [40] McKay R. Stem cells-hype and hope. Nature 2000;406(6794):361-4.
- [41] Roh JD, Sawh-Martinez R, Brennan MP, Jay SM, Devine L, Rao DA, et al. Tissue-engineered vascular grafts transform into mature blood vessels via an inflammation-mediated process of vascular remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107(10):4669–74.
- [42] Shin'oka T, Matsumura G, Hibino N, Naito Y, Watanabe M, Konuma T, et al. Midterm clinical result of tissue-engineered vascular autografts seeded with autologous bone marrow cells. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;129(6):1330–8.
- [43] Hibino N, McGillicuddy E, Matsumura G, Ichihara Y, Naito Y, Breuer C, et al. Late-term results of tissue-engineered vascular grafts in humans. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;139(2):431–6. 6e1–2.
- [44] Matsumura G, Shinoka T. First report of histological evaluation of human tissue-engineered vasculature. J Biotechnol Biomater 2015;5:200.
- [45] Ono M, Kasnar-Samprec J, Hager A, Cleuziou J, Burri M, Langenbach C, et al. Clinical outcome following total cavopulmonary connection: a 20-year single-centre experience. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;50:632–41.
- [46] Nakano T, Kado H, Tatewaki H, Hinokiyama K, Oda S, Ushinohama H, et al. Results of extracardiac conduit total cavopulmonary connection in 500 patients. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;48(6):825–32. discussion 32.
- [47] Hoerstrup SP, Cummings Mrcs I, Lachat M, Schoen FJ, Jenni R, Leschka S, et al. Functional growth in tissue-engineered living, vascular grafts: follow-up at 100 weeks in a large animal model. Circulation 2006;114(1 Suppl.):I159–66.
- [48] Cummings I, George S, Kelm J, Schmidt D, Emmert MY, Weber B, et al. Tissue-engineered vascular graft remodeling in a growing lamb model: expression of matrix metalloproteinases. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2012;41(1):167–72.
- [49] Matsumura G, Isayama N, Matsuda S, Taki K, Sakamoto Y, Ikada Y, et al. Long-term results of cell-free biodegradable scaffolds for in situ tissue engineering of pulmonary artery in a canine model. Biomaterials 2013;34(27):6422–8.
- [50] Garg K, Pullen NA, Oskeritzian CA, Ryan JJ, Bowlin GL. Macrophage functional polarization (M1/M2) in response to varying fiber and pore dimensions of electrospun scaffolds. Biomaterials 2013;34(18):4439–51.

## Regenerative Medicine Approaches for Tissue Engineered Heart Valves

James K. Williams, James J. Yoo, Anthony Atala

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

## INTRODUCTION

## Heart Valve Disease: A Local and Global Problem

More than 5 million Americans are diagnosed with heart valve disease (HVD) each year. HVD can occur in any single valve or a combination of the four valves, but diseases of the aortic and mitral valves are the most common in adults [1-4]. Nearly 30% of all adults aged over 65 years have a sclerotic aortic valve, 10% of whom have accompanying stenosis (narrowing) [1-4]. Valvular heart disease is also a global issue. Approximately 1 million people aged over 65 years are affected by HVD in the United Kingdom [5]. US research also suggests that there could be undiagnosed HVD in the United States and United Kingdom populations [6]. Whereas the prevalence of valvular heart disease is estimated at 2.5% in industrialized countries, the prevalence in developing countries is unknown, but most likely it is much higher owing to the number of people (mostly children) with rheumatic heart disease (RHD). RHD is responsible for about 233,000 deaths annually [7,8]. At least 15.6 million people are estimated to be affected by RHD; a significant number of these are children and require repeated hospitalization and often unaffordable heart surgery over the ensuing 5–20 years [9–11]. In addition, RHD still represents 22% of valvular heart disease in Europe [7–11].

## Adult Populations

As much as 90% of patients with severe aortic valve stenosis have a life expectancy of less than 10 years unless treated, and 50% of these patients with heart failure will die within 1 year [12]. The most common heart valves replaced in adults are the aortic and mitral valves; they represent three out of four cases of valvular disease in this cohort of patients [12,13]. Replacement of diseased heart valves by mechanical prostheses or bioprostheses is common and lifesaving and enhances quality of life in many patients. However, there are important limitations to available substitute heart valve technology, including (1) the need for long-term anticoagulation to reduce throm-boembolic complications in all patients with mechanical prosthetic valves and the consequent significant risk of hemorrhagic complications with this therapy, and (2) progressive immune-based degradation of biological valves (including xenogenic and allogenic valves).

## **Young Populations**

Congenital heart disease occurs in about 1% of births and more than one-third of these abnormalities involve the aortic or pulmonary valves. There is a significant need for valve replacement in children and adolescents [7–11]. A major problem with heart valve replacement in children is that mechanical or bioprosthetic devices are incapable of growth. Thus, children with congenital heart disease and other children who need valve replacement often require multiple valve replacement operations to implant successively larger valves to accommodate somatic growth.

Indeed, difficulties associated with valve replacement in children have provided strong motivation to the tissue engineering approach to valves, the goal of which is to have a living and dynamic valve, with structure, function, and homeostatic and adaptive mechanisms as close as possible to those of the natural valve. Tissue prostheses are readily available and come in different ranges. However, they are unavailable in sizes smaller than 19 mm and hence are unsuitable for small children even if annular enlargement techniques were used.

## CLINICAL OPTIONS

More than 100,000 heart valve surgeries are performed in the United States each year, and over 300,000 worldwide [1-4]. At a mean cost of \$140,000 per procedure, this indicates an annual cost of \$14 billion in the United States alone [1-4]. HVD surgery is the second most common cardiovascular procedure and is expected to triple (exceeding 1 million worldwide cases annually) by 2050 [3]. Because of its important hemodynamic position, a sclerotic aortic valve increases risk for death from other cardiovascular diseases (e.g., heart attack, stroke, and cardiomyopathy) by 50% [1-4]. The invention and implantation of prosthetic heart valves to treat patients with dysfunctional, diseased valves started in the 1950s [1-4]. Since then, a wide variety of valve prostheses have been developed and can be divided into mechanical or biological.

## Mechanical

Several designs of mechanical heart valves have been developed over the years [14,15]. The most common mechanical valve is the bileaflet valve introduced in 1977 [15]. Mechanical valve prostheses are usually recommended for patients aged under 60 years, because these prostheses are durable with the potential to last over 20 years and often do not require replacement surgeries [16–18]. However, mechanical heart valves increase the risk for thromboembo-lism and require lifelong anticoagulation therapy, which exposes them to higher risks for bleeding and hemorrhages associated with this therapy [18]. For infants born with congenital valve defects, mechanical valves are not ideal because they do not come in sizes small enough (16–29 mm in diameter) for newborns and do not grow with the patient.

## Biological

Biological tissue-based valve replacements were developed to eliminate the need for anticoagulation treatment in patients who have undergone valve surgeries. Since the late 1950s, many different types of biological valves have been created, ranging from valves coming from the patient's own body (autografts and autologous valves) to valves from human donors (homografts) and to valves from other animal species (xenografts). Advantages of biological valves are their excellent hemodynamic profile, lack of anticoagulation therapy, and ability to grow and integrate with the patient [19]. Since their production in 1965, xenografts have become the most frequently implanted biological valve [20]. Two common classes of xenografts include porcine aortic valves and bovine pericardial valves [14]. Although biological heart valves eliminate the need for anticoagulation therapy, they are not as durable as mechanical heart valves. Patients must undergo valve replacement surgery within 10–15 years, because biological valves degrade over time. Thus, biological heart valves are often recommended for patients aged more than 60–70 years [21]. Biological heart valves are available for pediatric patients, but they have a higher rate of degradation and do not grow, and thus require repeat procedures [22,23]. Advantages and disadvantages of mechanical and biological valves are depicted in Table 59.1.

## TISSUE ENGINEERED HEART VALVES

Tissue engineered heart valves (TEHVs) can potentially address the shortcomings of current implants by providing an unlimited supply of heart valves in a variety of sizes. The general approach to producing TEHVs is to incorporate biomaterials with autologous cells that enable growth and biological integration. The ideal heart valve prosthesis should be antithrombogenic, biocompatible, durable, and resistant to calcification, and exhibit a physiological hemodynamic profile [24]. In addition, the valve's capability to integrate and grow with somatic growth would eliminate the need for multiple surgeries. The overall goal of TEHVs is to demonstrate excellent hemodynamics and match patient anatomy. At a cellular level, biomaterials used for the TEHV construct should promote cellular integration by enabling cell adhesion, proliferation, extracellular matrix (ECM) production, and remodeling. Most important, the scaffold

Implant	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
Mechanical	Durable	Lifelong anticoagulation	[16]
	Low reoperation rates	Risk for hemorrhage and embolism	[17]
		Does not grow	[16,18]
		Infection risk	[18]
Biological	"Natural" material	Limited supply for pediatrics	[18,19]
	Better hemodynamics	Less durable	[19]
	No anticoagulants	Immune-based deterioration	[18,19]

TABLE 59.1 Overview of Advantages and Disadvantages of Existing Heart Valve Implants



FIGURE 59.1 Schematic representation of the interaction of valvular endothelial cells (VECs) and valvular interstitial cells (VICs) on heart valve leaflet structure and function [25–28]. ECM, extracellular matrix.

must promote the physiological cell phenotype and degrade at a rate that matches ECM production. Despite advances, no currently available TEHVs meet all of these requirements. Thus, the challenge to bioengineering TEHVs is to develop commercially available implants that can meet all or most of these criteria. This will require the collaboration of biomechanical engineers, cell biologists, physiologists, pathologists, and cardiothoracic surgeons.

Biomaterials suitable for TEHVs fall into several classes: decellularized ECM (xenografts or homografts), natural polymers, and synthetic polymers. When designing a TEHV, there are three main design considerations for choosing a biomaterial: (1) cell—scaffold interactions, (2) the fabrication process and its impact on the microarchitecture of scaffold, and (3) the durability of structure and function in a physiological setting. This is especially important when designing valve replacements for the mitral or aortic position, in which pressures and shear stresses are much higher than the pulmonary position.

There are several design criteria for tissue engineering heart valve scaffolds. All of these need to focus on how best to recapitulate the basic structure of the valve leaflets. This consists of cellularization (either ex vivo or in situ) of a bilayer of valvular endothelial cells (VECs), surrounding valve interstitial cells (VICs), which have properties of both fibroblasts and myocytes (myofibroblasts). These cell interact both physically and biologically to form and maintain valve structure and function [25–28]. The basic biology of the heart valve leaflets is depicted in Fig. 59.1.

## **Considerations for Cell Source**

There are several considerations for selecting a cell source. First, the type of cells is important to consider because there are three main options: xenogeneic, allogenic, and autologous. Although xenogenic sources may be readily available, they are not a viable clinical option. Allogenic cells are also not ideal because they can invoke immune

#### 59. BIOENGINEERED HEART HALVES

responses and would require long-term immunosuppressive therapy. However, allogenic sources may be possible if used to create stronger matrix, followed by decellularization and implantation. Thus, autologous human cells are the most desirable option for creating a TEHV.

The ideal cell source for seeding of TEHVs would be one that can be expanded sufficiently and has the potential to be differentiated into the two main cell types found in heart valves (VECs and VICs). If these cells are to be differentiated, it is important to characterize their phenotype and biological function [28]. VECs regulate permeability, immune and inflammatory responses, and VIC phenotype through paracrine signaling [27]. Meanwhile, VICs maintain tissue homeostasis by high proliferation activity and ECM repair and remodeling [27]. To recapitulate the long-term durability and function of a TEHV, it will be necessary to produce an implant that can reproduce these cell functions and spatial distribution within the valve leaflet.

A number of cell types have been applied to TEHVs. These include VICs, VECs, endothelial progenitor cells, bone marrow progenitor cells, autologous amniotic fluid cells, myofibroblasts, and smooth muscle cells [27]. The important takeaway from past studies is that each cell type has advantages and disadvantages. Although these studies are promising, the direct application of primary cells for TEHVs may not be suitable for clinical translation, because allogenic cells can induce an immune response in the recipient of the TEHV. Primary cells have limited proliferation capabilities whereas stem cells can result in uncontrollable proliferation and differentiation. These are some limitations that need to be considered when selecting a cell source for TEHVs.

## Scaffold Design

The design of any implant will depend on the implant position within the heart and must recapitulate the leaflet structure. There are four heart valves: the tricuspid and mitral valve control blood flow from the atrium to the ventricles while the pulmonary and aortic valves regulate blood from the ventricles to the pulmonary artery and the aorta, respectively. The tricuspid, pulmonary, and aortic valve are composed of three leaflets. Meanwhile, the mitral valve has two cusps. Each leaflet is composed of three layers known as the fibrosa, spongiosa, and ventricularis. The fibrosa layer has collagen fibers aligned in the circumferential direction, whereas the ventricularis is composed of elastin fibers aligned in the radial direction. Valve endothelial cells line the outer layers of the fibrosa and the ventricularis, and within the valve leaflet, there are valvular interstitial cells [29].

Despite efforts, the ability to replicate the trilayer leaflet structure in TEHVs successfully remains challenging. One of the most important design criteria for developing functional leaflets is the different orientations of collagen and elastin fibers. To replicate this property, a fabrication process that can reproduce these unique orientations will need to be identified and implemented. Furthermore, the overall mechanical properties need to be within physiological parameters.

With newer fabrication techniques, several groups have developed and tested multilayer scaffolds for TEHVs. For instance, the electrospinning technique using materials such as poly- $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone (PCL) enables the formation of aligned nanofibers [30]. These aligned scaffolds introduce anisotropic properties similar to native valve leaflets. In addition, modification to electrospun scaffolds and addition of other materials have since been introduced to generate more complex structures that resemble the three layers of the leaflet [31,32].

Once developed, consideration needs to be given to the interaction between layers of the valve implants. One study demonstrated that a trilayer hydrogel quasilaminate can be generated using poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) diacrylate and a sandwich fabrication method [33]. The scaffold was composed of two stiff hydrogel outer layers and one soft hydrogel component to represent the spongiosa layer. The scaffold experienced no issues between the interfaces of the layers and did not vary in bending moduli compared with its single-layer counterpart. However, addition of cells to the trilayer scaffold reduced the modulus [33]. Three-dimensional (3D) printing also permits the fabrication of a leaflet structure that enables anisotropic properties to be introduced. However, 3D printing is still in the early development stage [33].

## **Implant Function**

Proper and long-term implant function is the ultimate goal of valve replacement. In an average lifetime, a person's heart valves will open and close nearly 3 billion times, allowing 3–5 L of blood to circulate through the body continuously and efficiently [34,35]. The semilunar valves (pulmonary and aortic) prevent blood from flowing back into the ventricles, while the atrioventricular valves (tricuspid and mitral) prevent blood from flowing back into the atria from the ventricles. To sustain function, heart valves must be able to withstand many forces of the hemodynamic environment in both the right and left sides of the heart. Meeting these criteria is the challenge of TEHVs.

Hemodynamically, the leaflets of the aortic valve are closed during diastole, slightly overlapping in a region called the lunula to allow filling of the left ventricle. The valve annulus then expands in radius until a small orifice is present

and blood begins to flow through the orifice as the ventricle contracts during systole [34]. During this contraction, the aortic valve opens and blood flows through the valve, traveling up to  $1.35 \pm 0.35$  m/s [36]. At the end of systole, the deceleration of blood flow allows for coaptation of the valve cusps [34,35]. As one can imagine, redeveloping these complex hemodynamic functions is a particularly difficult job using TEHVs, and further studies need to be performed.

The biomechanics of the implant are critical to valve hemodynamics. During the cardiac cycle, valves experience stresses and strains as a result of blood flow and pressure gradients between the chambers of the heart. Arjunon et al. described three mechanical stimuli experienced by heart valves: shear stress, pressure, and leaflet strain [25]. Shear stress in valves is defined as the frictional stresses that the leaflets experience owing to blood flow during the cardiac cycle. Strain is a measure of deformation. Strain in aortic valve leaflets is largely determined by tissue structure. Strains in the circumferential and radial directions were reported to be 10% and 40%, respectively [25]. The highest shear stresses experienced by the ventricularis are 70 dyn/cm<sup>2</sup> during systole; during diastole, the fibrosa experienced shear stresses of about 23 dyn/cm<sup>2</sup> [25].

Biomechanics and hemodynamics cannot be considered separately in implant design. In a diseased or defective state, leaflets may experience higher levels of shear stress owing to altered hemodynamics [25]. During diastole, heart valves experience transvalvular pressure gradients ranging from 10 to 120 mmHg [35]. The aortic valve, in particular, experiences a transvalvular diastolic pressure gradient of 80 mmHg [25]. The ability to sustain this pressure is caused by circumferentially aligned collagen fibers in the fibrosa layer of the leaflets [29,36]. Therefore, the hemodynamics and biomechanics are closely intertwined.

#### Implant Design Goals

TEHVs must be designed to offer a significant increase in function compared with the diseased valve while integrating with the patient's body, a task not yet accomplished by mechanical or biological valve implants. Above all, TEHVs must ensure long-term functionality of the valve by passively maintaining unidirectional blood flow. To achieve this functionality, TEHVs must be designed with several considerations in mind. They must be able to withstand the inertial forces of blood flow in the hemodynamic environment of the heart location in which they are implanted. Blood flow out of the left ventricle during systole should passively open the TEHV. By mimicking the general anatomy of the valve leaflets and sinuses, the pressure gradients between heart chambers should cause the TEHV to close fully. Continued and oscillating changes should not cause damage to the leaflets, nor should they stimulate the progression of disease, such as calcification. Finally, leaflets should display anisotropic properties, particularly regarding strain in the circumferential and radial directions, because these properties are important in ensuring valve functionality and preventing pathological conditions from developing on the cellular level [25].

## Testing Tissue Engineered Heart Valve Function

There are two approaches for testing TEHVs: one is in vitro (before implantation or explantation) and the other is in vivo. Engelmayr et al. [37] used a bioreactor to simulate cyclic flexure to test heart valve scaffolds made of poly(glycolic acid) (PGA) fibers and a 50:50 blend of PGA and poly(lactic acid) (PLLA) fibers, coated in the β-subunit of prolyl 4-hydroxylase (P4HB) to allow molding into different shapes. From this study, they determined that dynamic flexure significantly decreases the stiffness of their scaffolds after 1 week compared with those under static conditions, owing to fiber fragmentation observed in scanning electron microscopy images of the scaffolds. This finding is significant in that dynamic testing is necessary to evaluate the functionality of TEHVs in a physiological setting, because TEHV behavior may not be truly represented under static testing conditions. Driessen et al. [38] measured the biomechanics of TEHV leaflets and created them in a diastolic pulse duplicator. Over 4 weeks, the conditioned leaflets became thinner. Uniaxial tensile tests were performed on the conditioned leaflets and the results were used to develop a model to analyze TEHV mechanics. In addition to less coaptation of the engineered scaffolds, these results indicated that the tissue engineered leaflets were stiffer and less anisotropic compared with native porcine valve leaflets These studies demonstrate the importance of testing the functionality of TEHVs under dynamic conditions and indicate a need for more appropriate scaffold designs to replicate the functionality of native valves.

Only a few in vivo studies involving TEHV implantation have been conducted. Sodian et al. created polyhydroxyoctanoate (PHO) scaffolds with ovine carotid arterial cells and implanted the scaffolds into six sheep. These valve scaffolds resulted in no stenosis or thrombosis for 20 weeks, but they degraded slowly, resulting in prolonged bioabsorption of PHO [39]. Hoerstrup et al. created a PGA mesh coated with P4HB, which resulted in faster degradation of the scaffold that was higher in strength and flexibility. These valve scaffolds resembled native heart valves in structure, mechanics, and composition, and they remained functional in sheep for 5 months [40]. More recently,

#### 59. BIOENGINEERED HEART HALVES

Kluin et al. implanted an electrospun polycarbonate *bis*-urea valve into the pulmonary position of sheep for up to 12 months. During that time, the subjects showed no signs of valve failure and the implanted scaffolds had cell infiltration into the porous microstructure. The evidence of collagen, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), and elastin deposition similar to native valves was thought to contribute to the successful functionality of these valves [41]. Williams et al. [42]. transplanted porcine decellularized scaffolds, conjugated with CD133 into the pulmonary position of sheep and reported that these constructs had similar biomechanical and matrix composition as native leaflets 3 months after implantation. Furthermore, these CD133-conjugated valves could be cryogenically preserved and maintain their viability [43]. However, many TEHVs have yet to be studied for functionality. As more groups are successful in designing functional TEHV scaffolds, studies regarding the mechanical properties and the effect of hemodynamics on these scaffolds must be conducted to determine their suitability for implantation in humans.

## **Bioreactors**

In vitro testing and conditioning of THEVs has required the development of bioreactors. Because hemodynamic behavior around valves is complex, many different bioreactors have been created to mimic the conditions that native valves experience, including cyclic stretch and flexure, oscillatory shear stress, and pressure. In 2000, Hoerstrup et al. developed a pulsatile flow bioreactor to stimulate TEHV scaffolds to increase in mechanical strength through ECM production while enabling a more complete degradation of the polymeric scaffold [44]. For less mechanically robust TEHVs made of materials such as hydrogels, Jockenhoevel et al. created a bioreactor consisting of a laminar flow chamber to introduce shear stress to fragile scaffolds [45]. Soon afterward, Engelmayr et al. reported a bioreactor design to provide cycle flexural stimulation to TEHV scaffolds to observe changes in effective stiffness of the scaffold resulting from unidirectional cyclic flexure [37]. To study the effects of conditioning scaffolds with only some of the mechanical cues present during the cardiac cycle, Mol et al. designed a diastolic pulse duplicator, a bioreactor that mimics only the diastolic phase of the cycle and conditions scaffolds using a strain-based approach [46]. Berry et al. and Lee et al. [47,48] developed a computerized pulsatile bioreactor to condition-seeded endothelial cells physiologically on a decellularized porcine scaffold. Alternatively, Engelmayr et al. designed the flex-stretch-flow bioreactor to study the coupled effects of cyclic flexure, stretch, and flow on TEHVs [49]. In addition, Syedain et al. created a cyclic stretch bioreactor consisting of the TEHV mounted in a latex tube that is cyclically pressurized by culture media, stretching the valve root and leaflets with the latex. More recently, Ramaswamy et al. designed a more physiologically relevant bioreactor that would allow for higher fluid velocities and subject scaffolds to higher shear stress while maintaining laminar flow [50]. From a regulation standpoint, bioreactor-required TEHVs represent a challenge because resterilization and reuse increases the risks of disease transmission between scaffolds during seeding and conditioning. This hinders the clinical development of patient-specific TEHVs, so alternative designs (disposable) must be pursued to make this process clinically translatable.

## In Vivo Conditioning and Testing

Several approaches have been devised to rely on the body to reseed and condition implanted TEHVs, because the body is the best incubator and bioreactor. In vivo testing is difficult in small animals. For this reason, larger mammals are used, such as dogs, pigs, calves, and sheep, in which ultrasound, computed tomography, and magnetic resonance imaging of cardiodynamics are available. The most commonly used animal model for studying TEHVs is the adult sheep. Sheep have been widely used because they have a high calcium metabolism, which makes them valuable for observing TEHVs for durability and sustained performance under "worst-case" conditions [51]. Gallo et al. [52] reported on the potential use of the Vietnamese pig to evaluate TEHVs because they possess anatomic features that are similar to those of humans. Compared with common farm pigs, Vietnamese pigs are smaller and do not grow as rapidly; they reach about 70 kg during adulthood. Vietnamese pigs are also suitable because their cardiac output, stroke volume, mean arterial pressure, heart rate, and myocardial blood flow are similar to those of human beings.

## BIOMATERIALS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERED HEART VALVES

## Decellularized Bioscaffolds

One method for tissue engineering living, functional heart valves is to decellularize xenogeneic heart valves and then recellularize them with autologous cells with or without conditioning in a bioreactor before implantation. Several approaches to decellularization have been developed over the years. Each has advantages and

#### BIOMATERIALS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERED HEART VALVES

disadvantages. These include the use of detergents, enzymes, and osmotic buffers. Two commonly used decellularization detergents are sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), an anionic surfactant, and Triton X-100, a nonionic surfactant [53]. Enzymatic decellularization by trypsin—ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid is also commonly studied [53]. There are different protocols, which usually consist of removing the cellular material using one of these agents.

One problem with these decellarization procedures is structural changes within the scaffold biomaterials. Several studies have been conducted regarding the different methods of decellularization and their resulting impact on valve structure and mechanics. Decellularization using Triton X-100 has been shown to cause the largest increase of extensibility compared with treatment with trypsin or SDS [53]. However, these methods all had a significant effect on the stiffness of the leaflets. Treatment with SDS has also been shown to cause elastin fibers to curl, whereas collagen fibers lost structural details [54]. In this same study, trypsin decellularization resulted in decreased elastin and Triton X-100 caused collagen fibers to misalign. SDS was the only treatment that resulted in complete decellularization without the loss of elastin or collagen structure. A study reported that valves treated with SDS or Triton X-100 and trypsin did not show a significant decrease in elastin, but it resulted in a decrease in collagen and GAGs [55]. The results of these experiments failed to provide an optimal protocol for decellularization, which has yet to be developed. Recellularization of a decellularized scaffold involves coating the inner and outer surfaces of the valve with a cell solution [55]. After seeding, valves are preconditioned in a bioreactor to improve cell migration and proliferation, as well as cell alignment to flow conditions.

## Natural Materials for Tissue Engineered Heart Valves

In addition to preformed decellularized scaffolds, there are numerous approaches using biomolecules to form TEHVs. Collagen is the most abundant protein in the body, with multiple genetic variants [56]. The most common type of collagen is collagen type I, which has been extensively studied in tissue engineering applications [57]. The other types of collagen are II, III, and V; these make up components of skin, muscle, bone cartilage, and tendons, respectively. Collagen can be fabricated into several different forms such as collagen sheets, sponges, hydrogels, pellets, or nanospheres. In the case of heart valve tissue engineering, collagen can be extracted and purified from different tissue sources [58]. The mechanical properties of collagen hydrogels can be tuned through manipulations of the concentration of monomer, temperature, pH, and ionic strength [58,59]. These conditions can influence the diameter of collagen fibers and the overall mechanical properties of the hydrogel [60]. Although the mechanical properties are tunable, the elastic moduli of collagen hydrogels are limited to 10–30 kPa and have an ultimate tensile strength of 5–10 kPa [61]. However, these properties of collagen hydrogels are not representative of natural ECM because lower protein concentrations must be used to ensure proper diffusion of nutrients to the surrounding cells [34,62].

Heart valve collagen scaffolds have been molded in 2D or 3D hydrogels to better understand heart valve biology and the progression of valve disease [63,64]. To develop a scaffold with physiological properties, variations in the temperature, pH, and cross-link concentration have been used to modulate the scaffold properties [65–67]. These properties of collagen have been used to study the metabolic activity of VICs [68] and determine the effects of anisotropic strain on VIC phenotype and behavior [69].

There are both advantages and disadvantages to using collagen as a biomaterial for TEHVs. One advantage of collagen is that it is a native biomaterial with which cells normally interact [70]. One major disadvantage of collagen is variability depending on the source [71]. Another problem is that collagen from other species or even other humans can elicit an immunogenic reaction if antigens are present [58]. Importantly regarding TEHV use, collagen can activate the blood coagulation pathway through platelet adhesion and aggregation [72]. There are surface treatments to make the collagen less thrombogenic [73]. However, a major limitation is its mechanical properties; it must be combined with other materials for heart valve tissue engineering.

### Fibrin

Fibrin is another natural biomaterial that has been used for TEHVs. Fibrin scaffolds support cell growth and proliferation and enable a number of biological active molecules to bind to fibrin [73]. This enables specific cell—matrix interactions that can promote tissue regeneration. Fibrin-based heart valves were created by molding [74]. In that study, Jockenhoevel et al. demonstrated that fibrin could be used to generate an autologous biodegradable tricuspid valve conduit using injection molding. The degradation rate of valve conduits was controlled by aprotinin, which halted fibrinolysis by inhibiting plasmin. Although injection molding of fibrin enabled a complex structure to be

#### 59. BIOENGINEERED HEART HALVES

made easily, there were two major limitations: scaffold shrinkage after long-term culture and poor mechanical properties. Another application of fibrin for TEHVs was when Flanagan et al. generated fibrin-based valve conduits, which were subsequently implanted into an adult sheep model for functional studies. The study used echocardiography to generate animal-specific valve models. The fibrin-based valves were generated by injection molding using a mixture of autologous fibrin, myofibroblasts, and endothelial cells [75]. Valves were conditioned mechanically for 28 days before implantation into the pulmonary trunk of adult sheep. Although the valves remained intact with no signs of thrombosis, calcification, or stenosis, valve insufficiency was observed in all implants owing to contraction of the leaflet structures [75].

There have been additional studies using fibrin-based TEHVs, but these involved hybrid constructs with fibrin and other biomaterials to address the issue of tissue shrinkage, contraction, and strength. The BioTexValve, developed by Moreira et al. is a bio-inspired textile-reinforced TEHV. The valve conduit is reinforced with electrospun fibers of poly(L/DL)-lactide and poly-lactide-*co*-glycolide (PLGA) to improve the leaflet burst strength; it closed with no problems under physiological aortic conditions in a flow-loop for 21 days [76]. Most fabrication of fibrin TEHV scaffolds has been limited to molding because fibrin cannot be manipulated after gelation and it does not have the shear-thinning properties for extrusion-based 3D printing [77]. The only method for 3D bioprinting fibrin is to use two-component printing, in which fibrinogen and thrombin are mixed on the print platform to form a hydrogel. Thus, fibrin alone is not suitable for 3D bioprinting, and it must be combined with other biomaterials for successful printing. Thus, fibrin can be used to make valve conduits that promote healthy cellular ECM production and remodeling without resulting in thrombosis or calcification. However, the major limitations of fibrin are the poor mechanical properties and scaffold contraction caused by cell-mediated contractions [73].

#### Alginate

This anionic polymer has been used in a wide range of biomedical applications owing to its biocompatibility, nonthrombogenicity, and low cost [78]. The overall mechanical and degradation properties of alginate hydrogels can be controlled via chemoreversible ionic gelation or covalent cross-linking [79,80]. Alginate hydrogels have been used in a variety of biomedical applications such as wound healing, drug delivery, and scaffolds for tissue engineering [71,78,80]. The main application for alginate in the area of TEHVs is to serve as a thickening agent for 3D bioprinting [30,81]. For instance, Duan et al. combined alginate with gelatin. This combination enabled valve conduits to be 3D printed with high shape fidelity and spatial placement of encapsulated cells [81].

There are many advantages and disadvantages to using alginate as a natural biomaterial for TEHVs. First, alginate is biocompatible, inexpensive, and easily implemented into the 3D bioprinting process [78]. A major drawback of using alginate is that there can be large batch-to-batch variation, and biosynthesis of alginate through bacteria is expensive and not yet scalable. Furthermore, its hydrophilic properties make it difficult for protein adsorption and cellular recognition. As a result, alginate scaffolds must be chemically modified to enable cellular function. Finally, there is concern that the presence of calcium ions can promote calcification of alginate scaffolds [80].

### Hyaluronic Acid

Hyaluronic acid (HA) is a nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan that is a major constituent of the ECM. It is biosynthesized from bacteria (*Bacillus subtilis*) to produce highly pure human-grade batches [82,83]. Although the properties of HA can be used for tissue engineering, its poor mechanical properties require chemical modifications or the addition of other biomaterials to develop stable and durable scaffolds [84]. One application for HA scaffolds is to study VIC behavior under conditions mimicking the native valve [85]. The transition of HA into hybrid scaffolds permitted even more biological and mechanical control over the scaffolds. In addition, HA can be used to test a myofibroblast-like phenotype [86]. Thus, HA may be useful for understanding valve biology and pathogenesis. Skardal et al. demonstrated that HA can be used in conjunction with PEG derivatives to bioprint vessel-like structures [87]. They also generated a two-step bioprinting process with photocross-linkable hyaluronan and gelatin hydrogels [88]. HA lacks the mechanical properties necessary for physiological function as a scaffold for heart valve leaflets.

## Gelatin

Gelatin is a partially hydrolyzed collagen that was originally investigated for its application as a cell culture platform. Gelatin has been incorporated into polymer blends to improve the viscosity for 3D extrusion-based printing and to introduce biologically active sites for enhanced cell viability [81]. The advantage of using gelatin is its similarity to collagen, in that it contains bioactive molecules that promote cell adhesion, proliferation, and migration. However, gelatin is mechanically weak and requires chemical modification or the addition of other materials for it to form a hydrogel. Thus, the best application of gelatin, like HA, is to introduce biological activity to a scaffold or to be used as an additive to modify the physical properties of a polymer blend for 3D bioprinting.

## Chitosan

Chitosan is another natural biomaterial that has been applied to TEHVs. An interesting property of chitosan is that it is antimicrobial and has been investigated to treat biological prosthetic heart valves to make them antimicrobial and less prone to calcification [89]. An advantage of chitosan is its molecular structure, which is similar to GAGs. Furthermore, the biocompatibility and its ability to be degraded under physiological conditions are promising. However, chitosan is mechanically weak, similar to all other natural biomaterials, and thus must be modified or combined with other materials for its application in TEHVs.

#### Polyhydroxyalkanoates

Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) are a family of natural polyesters biosynthesized from microorganisms or modified plants, or through chemical reactions [90,91]. They are biocompatible, biodegradable, and tunable. They have been applied to the field of tissue engineering [92,93]. One of the first applications of PHA to TEHVs was the development of a composite valve conduit containing PGA. The scaffold was seeded with autologous ovine vascular and endothelial cells. Afterward, valves were implanted at the pulmonary valve position. The results of this study demonstrated that no thrombus formation occurred and there was evidence of cellular matrix production and remodeling [94] However, valvular regurgitation occurred after 24 weeks of implantation. Other studies include the use of PHA foam to generate a valve conduit seeded with autologous vascular cells [95]. The scaffolds were implanted into the pulmonary artery and after 17 weeks there was no sign of thrombus formation and minimal regurgitation compared with acellular scaffolds.

The benefit of PHA is that elasticity can be introduced to stiffer materials such as PGA or poly(lactic acid) (PLA). Previous studies combined chondroitin sulfate, HA, and bioactive glass to improve the bioactivity of PHA scaffolds [96–98]. However, issues that remain with PHA are shrinkage and valve regurgitation. This will likely require blending PHA with other biomaterials or introducing chemical modifications for a more useable scaffold. Table 59.2 outlines the most commonly used natural biomaterials in TEHV construction.

## Synthetic Biomaterials

Because of their supply, consistent and reproducible content, and tunability, synthetic biomaterials have been pursued for TEHV fabrication.

## Poly(ethylene glycol) Hydrogels

PEG hydrogels are used commonly for various tissue engineering applications because they are biocompatible, nonimmunogenic, and approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for internal use. They are also versatile, because their mechanical, structural, and degradation properties can be tuned using a variety of methods [73]. How-ever, cells will not readily attach to PEG biomaterials because they are hydrophilic. Therefore, tissue engineering using PEG hydrogels requires the addition of bioactive molecules to the hydrogel, such as arginine-glycine-aspartate, a peptide found on fibronectin that promotes cell adhesion and migration [99]. Many studies have been conducted on the ability of PEG hydrogels to maintain the phenotype of native cells in heart valves as well as promote the production of ECM. One example is a study by Wang et al. [100], which demonstrated that VICs from porcine aortic valves maintain their quiescent fibroblast phenotype much better when cultured on PEG hydrogels as opposed to stiff plastics and suggested that the fibroblasts sense the elasticity of the surfaces by the phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase–AKT pathway.

Several studies have also been conducted regarding the structure and functionality of PEG hydrogels in TEHVs. Durst et al. was the first group to study the bending mechanics of PEG hydrogels. They conducted three-point bending tests using a custom-designed bending tester on cell-seeded PEG hydrogels of different concentrations and molecular weights. The reported that the flexural stiffness of these constructs matched the native valve leaflets [101]. Other studies tested the importance the role of PEG in designing valve leaflet scaffolds that mimicked the trilayer structure of native leaflets [33], their use in 3D printing [102], and the importance of patterning PEG hydrogels in such a way that the anisotropic properties of native leaflets could be preserved [103].

## Polyvinyl Alcohol

Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) is a hydrophilic synthetic polymer generated by the hydrolysis of poly(vinyl acetate), which is formed by the polymerization of vinyl acetate [73]. This material has been pursued for tissue engineering

Biomaterials	Use in Heart Valve Engineering	Advantages	Disadvantages	References			
NATURAL MATERIALS							
Collagen	Molded as hydrogels to study valve biology and disease progression, frequently combined with other materials	Most abundant protein in body Good cell interaction	Tensile strength Inconsistent batching Blood coagulation Immune reaction	[57,58] [70—73]			
Fibrin	Used in molding heart valves and to test heart valve cell functions	Cell interactions Biodegradable Common natural protein	Poor mechanical properties and scaffold contraction caused by cell-mediated contractions Better combines with other biomaterials	[73—77]			
Alginate	Thickening agent for three- dimensional bioprinting	Biocompatibility, nonthrombogenicity, and low cost	Large batch-to-batch variation Expensive to produce Hydrophilic properties make it difficult for protein adsorption and cellular recognition	[78-81]			
Hyaluronic acid	Major constituent of extracellular matrix Study valve cell biology Bioprinting	Cell-friendly Used in bioprinting when mixed with other biomaterials	Poor mechanical properties	[82-87]			
Chitosan	Treating biological prosthetic heart valves to make them antimicrobial and less prone to calcification	Biocompatibility and its ability to be degraded in physiological conditions are promising	Mechanically weak Must be modified or combined with other materials for its application in tissue engineered heart valves	[89]			
Polyhydroxyalkanoates	Aids in introducing elasticity to stiffer materials such as poly(glycolic acid) or poly(lactic acid)	Biocompatible, biodegradable and tunable	Shrinkage and valve regurgitation	[92-98]			

TABLE 59.2 Overview of Advantages and Disadvantages of Natural Biomaterial in Tissue Engineered Heart Valve Bioengineering

because it is nontoxic, biocompatible, biodegradable, and widely available [104]. In the development of TEHVs, PVA hydrogels have been studied for their cellular, structural, and functional compatibility. Wan et al. initially studied the fabrication of PVA hydrogels using the freezing and thawing technique to develop a bioprosthetic heart valve stent. They discovered that after the fourth freezing and thawing cycle, the stress—strain curve of the PVA hydrogel matched that of native porcine aortic roots in the physiological pressure range [105]. In other studies, PVA was used to attach fibronectin covalently to PVA to examine National Institutes of Health 3T3 fibroblast attachment and proliferation [106] to create photocross-linkable and degradable hydrogels [104]. A single-piece trileaflet valve made entirely of PVA molded using the freezing and thawing method was fabricated by Jiang et al. to develop a PVA-based composite hydrogel that mimicked the mechanical properties and anisotropic behaviors of native porcine aortic valve leaflets [107].

## Hydrolytically Degradable Polymers

Hydrolytically biodegradable polymers such as PGA, PLA, PCL, poly(glycerol sebacate) (PGS), and polyurethanes (PUs) have shown promise for use in TEHVs because they are biocompatible and exhibit good mechanical properties suitable for withstanding the stresses and strains experienced by valves in a hemodynamic environment. Using techniques such as electrospinning, these polymers can be fabricated into fibrous scaffolds similar to the native valve ECM structure [92].

One of the most commonly studied biodegradable polymers is PGA. PGA has a high modulus and degrades rapidly, losing mechanical strength within 2–4 weeks; the accumulation of glycolic acid has been shown to cause inflammation months to years after implantation [92].

Another biodegradable polymer similar to PGA is PLA. PLA is more hydrophobic and stable against hydrolysis and it degrades more slowly compared with PGA. In tissue engineering applications, PLA has been blended or

copolymerized with other polymers to decrease degradation time [108]. PGA, PGA–PLA hybrids, and their copolymer PLGA have been used in a variety of studies regarding the fabrication of functional, bioresorbable leaflet scaffolds [109]. One group studied bone marrow stem cells seeded on PGA–PLLA scaffolds under different stress conditions and found that the cells exhibited endothelial and myofibroblast phenotypes similar to valves under combined steady flow and cyclic flexure [110]. Another group found that prolonged tissue culture reduced retraction of the tissue engineered leaflets that typically lose mechanical integrity owing to rapid degradation of the PGA scaffold, and suggested that this resulted from an increased amount of GAGs in the tissue [111].

PCL has a slower rate of degradation in vivo compared with PLA. As such, it has been used to contribute mechanical stiffness to tissue engineered valve leaflets. An early study that used PCL as a valve scaffold was conducted by Lieshout et al., in which a PCL filament was knitted into round leaflet patches that were sutured into a tube made of the same knitted PCL. The knitted structure was fitted on a mold and a fibrin solution was poured over the mold. The knitted scaffolds showed complete coaptation and durability over 10 million cycles. There was significant leakage, likely caused by areas of the scaffold where the fibrin detached [112]. In another study, seeded and unseeded scaffolds of PCL were fabricated and cultured for up to 6 weeks. From this study, the researchers determined that PCL scaffolds resulted in the most tissue formation over 6 weeks and the formation of tissue also increased the stiffness of the scaffolds. The tissue that formed on PCL scaffolds contained ECM components in amounts similar to those in native leaflets [113].

PGS is another biodegradable synthetic polymer that has been used to develop heart valve leaflets. The mechanical properties of PGS can be adjusted by altering the curing temperature, curing time, and molar ratio of glycerol to sebacic acid [114,115]. PGS undergoes surface degradation, slowly losing mechanical strength as a result of mass loss. Attempts have been made to create PGS scaffolds that mimic native valves in structure and function. Masoumi et al. designed and microfabricated PGS scaffolds by laser ablation, computationally determining the conditions necessary to create scaffolds that would best match the anisotropy and modulus of native bovine aortic valve leaflets. They observed moduli in the scaffold that were similar to the native valves in the circumferential and radial directions, as well as the presence of collagen and DNA in the scaffolds that were seeded with fibroblasts [116]. In a different study, Masoumi et al. used a micromolding technique to create trilayered scaffolds with PGS sandwiched between two layers of electrospun fibers of a PGS and PCL mixture. These trilayered scaffolds mimicked native valve leaflets in a number of ways, from promoting the deposition of ECM to mimicking their anisotropy and elastic moduli, and to displaying sufficient diastolic coaptation in the pulmonary position of pig hearts. However, the scaffolds lacked fibrous microstructure, which is a hindrance to tissue formation [31].

PUs are a class of elastomers that display good biocompatibility and tunable mechanical properties [117]. Some groups have worked to incorporate degradable linkages in the polymer to make it suitable for tissue engineering [108]. PUs have been used in TEHVs. Thierfelder et al. [118] fabricated PU scaffolds using a spraying technique and obtained homograft scaffolds, seeding both types of scaffolds with human fibroblasts and endothelial cells to compare their behavior after conditioning in a dynamic bioreactor for 5 days. Compared with the homografts, they found that PU scaffolds showed continuous, confluent layers of fibroblasts and endothelial cells on their surfaces, as well as decreased expression of genes associated with inflammation, interleukin-6 and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, and the production of ECM. Table 59.3 outlines the most commonly used synthetic biomaterials used to construct TEHVs.

These are the biomaterials most commonly used to fabricate TEHVs. They all have advantages and disadvantages. The advantage of decellularized scaffolds is the premade 3D structure and "natural components." However, they have been shown to elicit an immune reaction and are limited in their supply and sizes. The advantages of synthetic polymers are their unlimited supply, consistent components, off-the-shelf possibilities, and ability to be made into multiple sizes and shapes. However, controlled degradation and tensile strength continue to plague their clinical application.

## **Tissue Engineered Heart Valve Fabrication Techniques**

There are many techniques for fabricating natural or synthetic scaffolds. Scaffolds can be fabricated through molding, which is a process in which precursor solution is dissolved, poured into a mold, and then gelled. This technique is often used to generate tubular or planar scaffolds [58]. Another method for generating scaffolds is electrospinning. This fabrication process involves subjecting a polymer solution to an electric field. A charged polymer solution is generated when the electrostatic repulsion overcomes the surface tension between the polymer and syringe. Once this occurs, jets of polymer travel toward a surface, during which the solvent evaporates to generate continuous filaments of a natural or synthetic material [119]. Bioprinting is a more recent approach used to generate

#### 59. BIOENGINEERED HEART HALVES

Biomaterials	Use in Heart Valve Engineering	Advantages	Disadvantages	References			
SYNTHETIC MATERIALS							
PEG	Used to maintain phenotype of native cells in heart valves, as well as promote production of extracellular matrix Used to modify flexural properties of implants	Biocompatible, nonimmunogenic, and approved by US Food and Drug Administration for internal use Versatile because as their mechanical, structural, and degradation properties can be tuned using a variety of methods	Cells will not readily attach to PEG biomaterials because they are hydrophilic. Therefore, tissue engineering using PEG hydrogels requires the addition of bioactive molecules	[73,99–103]			
Polyvinyl alcohol	Used to develop bioprosthetic heart valve stents Used to create photocross-linkable and degradable hydrogels. Freeze—thaw capabilities	Nontoxic, biocompatible, biodegradable, and widely available	Poor strength on own. Must be used in conjunction with other biomaterials	[104–107]			
Poly(glycolic acid) PLA	Functional, bioresorbable leaflet scaffolds. Behavior of cells on stiff biomaterials	Bioresorbable Made into many shapes and sizes	Fast biodegradation rates	[109–111]			
Poly-e-caprolactone	Scaffolds with slower degradation Add mechanical stiffness	Slower rate of degradation in vivo compared with PLA	Can make scaffolds too stiff and nondegradable unless tested in vivo	[111–113]			
PGS	To adjust biomechanical properties of bioengineered heart valve leaflets	Biodegradable Maintains flexure properties similar to native valves	PGS-based scaffolds can lack fibrous microstructure and hindrance to tissue formation	[31,116]			
Polyurethanes	Fabricate scaffolds using spraying technique and obtained homograft scaffolds, seeding both types of scaffolds with fibroblasts and endothelial cells	Good biocompatibility and tunable mechanical properties	Used only as addition to other biomaterials	[117,118]			

TABLE 59.3 Overview of Advantages and Disadvantages of Synthetic Biomaterial in Tissue Engineered Heart Valve Bioengineering

PEG, polyethylene glycol; PGS, poly(glycerol sebacate); PLA, poly(lactic acid); PEG, poly(ethylene glycol); TEHV, tissue engineered heart valves.

scaffolds for heart valve tissue engineering. 3D bioprinting is an additive manufacturing technique that enables complex 3D structures to be generated through layer-by-layer deposition of biomaterials, cells, and growth factors [120,121]. The most common types of 3D bioprinting are inkjet, extrusion-based, and laser-assisted printing.

## Future Direction in Tissue Engineered Heart Valves

Although the field has progressed significantly, no TEHV is being used clinically. As highlighted in this review, different cell types, recellularization methodologies, and biomaterials have been researched each with its own advantages and disadvantages. Fabrication techniques have evolved to develop more complex structures closely resembling native valves, but a main takeaway point is that a single biomaterial, cell type, or cellularization method may not be sufficient for TEHVs. The combination of several biomaterials and fabrication techniques may be the solution to addressing the limitations of using a single biomaterial. There are also the overriding problems of cost and patient accessibly to this complex bioengineering process. As reviewed in the Introduction, many people around the world do not have access to advanced bioengineering, surgical, or advanced cell processing facilities.

To address surgical facility limitations, transcatheter deployment of heart valves has become increasingly popular owing to its relative ease of implantation. Transcatheter valve prostheses consist of tissue mounted on an expandable stent; they are introduced into the body in a variety of ways, such as via the femoral artery, the aorta, or the subclavian artery, and transapically. All transcatheter valves are composed of biological tissue because this is necessary for the leaflets to be crimped into a catheter. Newer designs are being developed (Stephan and Petra). Regardless, there are concerns that the crimping may cause damage to the tissue and possibly affect long-term durability [122,123]. As a less invasive alternative to heart valve replacement surgery, transcatheter valve replacement allows patients who pose a high surgical risk to receive valve replacements they would not otherwise receive. Despite advances in the transcatheter delivery mechanism, stroke remains the major complication for transcatheter valve replacement

#### CONCLUSIONS

[124]. Although over 50,000 adult patients have received transcatheter valve implants since 2002, transcatheter technologies for pediatric patients with congenital heart disease are severely lacking [125]. However, the minimal invasiveness and fast recovery time of transcatheter valve replacement can be advantageous for younger patients, especially because valve-in-valve procedures are an option to replace damaged or degraded valve prostheses [124].

To make TEHVs more readily accessible to a wider patient population, an "off-the-shelf" approach may be needed. This involves a scaffold with the ability to remodel and form new tissue in the body through its recruitment of endogenous cells. This approach is advantageous over the traditional in vitro approach because it does not require preconditioning of the scaffold before implantation, which can take up to 6 weeks. During this preconditioning time, there are risks of bacterial and fungal contamination. The logistics of maintaining good manufacturing practice and infrastructure for translating an in vitro scaffold comes with an enormous cost [126].

One tested method of developing off-the-shelf TEHVs involves in situ heart valve scaffolds formed through foreign body reaction and decellularized TEHVs. Kishimoto et al. [127] developed an autologous heart valve scaffold using in-body tissue architecture technology. This involved placing a mold into the subcutaneous space, where the body forms a fibrous scaffold surrounding the mold. The stentless mold was tested in a goat model, where the valve performed well under systemic circulation. This approach enables off-the-shelf scaffolds to be created; however, it is in the initial stages of preclinical animal work. More assessment of the immune reaction to a foreign scaffold such as this is needed along with its long-term performance under physiological conditions.

Another approach involved first creating a biodegradable synthetic scaffold seeded with homologous cells. Then scaffolds were subjected to decellularization, in which the process is gentle enough not to alter the collagen or tissue structure. These researchers demonstrated that decellularized TEHVs could be stored for up to 18 months with no alterations to the tissue structure [128]. In addition, these off-the-shelf scaffolds have the ability to be reseeded with stem cells and maintain good cell viability through the crimping process for minimally invasive procedures [129]. Researchers have also demonstrated the feasibility and long-term functionality of homologous off-the-shelf TEHVs in a sheep and nonhuman primate model [130,131]. The concept of off-the-shelf TEHVs may be the fastest method to clinical application. Although this approach is promising, more research is needed for the recellularization, remodeling, and growth potential of off-the-shelf scaffolds. Concerns regarding thrombogenicity and calcification in the long term will also need to be assessed.

Other research groups have used hybrid tissue engineering approaches to develop off-the-shelf scaffolds with biological and mechanical properties capable of active remodeling after implantation. Janhavi et al. developed a bio-hybrid valve using electrospinning to create aligned nanofibrous scaffolds composed of decellularized bovine pericardium and PCL—chitosan. The scaffold was optimized to mimic the anisotropic and microstructure properties of native valves. The biohybrid scaffold was 20 times stronger than the native valve and demonstrated ECM deposition and cell proliferation when seeded with human VICs [132]. Although promising, this hybrid TEHV was not evaluated under physiological conditions.

Other investigators have taken the approach of developing a decellularized scaffold implant with alterations in surface characteristics that promote in situ recellularization and valve maturation [42]. This study decellularized porcine heart valves that were conjugated with the endothelial progenitor marker CD133. When placed in the pulmonary position of sheep, these constructs rapidly recellularized with both VECs and VICs. The conjugated valves displayed native valve-like biomechanical properties and interstitial matrix composition. Conjugated valves could be cryopreserved and maintained their recellularization properties when thawed [43]. These valves also displayed characteristics of growth that may make then desirable for pediatric patients [42]. However, they were tested only in the pulmonary position and for 3 months. It is unknown whether the implant can withstand the pressures and sheer of the eft side of the heart and if they continue to mature long-term.

Several studies have used modified biomaterials to attract cells for better regeneration and function. These include employing nanoparticles for a variety of uses [133,134]. Alternations in fibrospinning and coating strategies have also been used to attract cells to biomaterials [135,136]. Table 59.4 outlines the tested TEHVs and their advantages and disadvantages.

## CONCLUSIONS

This review outlines the progress in and challenges of developing a clinically available TEHV. As discussed, there are several limitations to each option. These setbacks are particularly detrimental to younger patients who require a living valve with the ability to grow. Thus, the need remains for TEHVs. This review covered the design considerations for heart valve tissue engineering and assessed the application of biomaterials, fabricating techniques,
Current TEHV Constructs	Advantages	Disadvantages	Status
Seeded (preseeded) natural biomaterial TEHVs	Three-dimensional architecture Cell compatible Natural hemodynamics	Immune response, degradation Lengthy, complicated, and expensive Cell viability can be low Do not grow Limited availability and sizes	Preclinical testing
Self-, or enhanced-seeding natural biomaterial TEHVs	Less time, cheaper, more off-the- shelf capabilities. This uses nanotechnology, biomolecules to alter characteristics	Unclear whether mobilized cells form durable growing valves	Preclinical testing
Synthetic biomaterial-based TEHVs	Multiple sizes, shapes and supply Less immunogenic Controlled degradation rates	Strength and durability	Preclinical testing
Seeded synthetic biomaterial-based TEHVs	Enhanced maturation Can use nanotechnology or biomaterial combinations to increase cell survivability and biomechanics	Strength and durability	Preclinical testing
Textile-reinforced TEHVs	Increase strength and durability Can incorporate cell seeding	Possible reduced degradation Possible reduced remodeling capabilities	Preclinical testing
Stent-delivered TEHVs	Wider clinical application Potential to enhance reseeding Less traumatic	Mitral valve still difficult to reproduce Postoperative slipping	Clinical application of unseeded implants, especially in Europe

ΓA	BLE	59	.4	Status	ot	Current	TEHV	Construct
----	-----	----	----	--------	----	---------	------	-----------

TEHV, tissue engineered heart valves.

and emerging technologies for developing TEHVs. Despite enormous progress, a clinically available TEHV remains to be realized. A large class of natural and synthetic biomaterials has been investigated for TEHVs. However, as researchers have learned, using a single biomaterial may not be sufficient to match the demanding mechanical and biological properties of native valves. It seems that important progress has been made in developing biomaterials that could be off-the-shelf and stimulate self-reseeding and maturation into implants with long-term function and structure. It will be critical to develop a TEHV that has the capability to self-heal and remodel with growth. This is the challenge to address unmet medical needs.

# References

- Roger VL, Lloyd-Jones DM, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, Bravata DM, American Heart Assocaiation Statistics Committee, Strooke Statistics Subcommittee, et al. Circulation 2012;125:188–97.
- [2] Writing Group Members, Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, American Heart Association Statistics Committee, Stroke Statistics Subcommittee, et al. Circulation January 26, 2016;133(4):e38–360.
- [3] Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation March 7, 2017;135(10):e146–603.
- [4] Takkenberg JJ, Rajamannan NM, Rosenhek R, Kumar AS, Carapetis JR, Yacoub MH, Society for Heart Valve Disease. The need for a global perspective on heart valve disease epidemiology. The SHVD working group on epidemiology of heart valve disease founding statement. J Heart Valve Dis January 2008;17(1):135–9.
- [5] Thanassoulis G, Campbell CY, Owens DS, Smith JG, Smith AV, Peloso GM. Genetic associations with valvular calcification and aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med February 7, 2013;368(6):503–12. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1109034.
- [6] Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: a population-based study. Lancet September 16, 2006;368(9540):1005–11.
- [7] Henaine R, Roubertie F, Vergnat M, Ninet J. Valve replacement in children: a challenge for a whole life. Arch Cardiovasc Dis October 2012; 105(10):517-28.
- [8] Carapetis JR, Steer AC, Mulholland EK, Weber M. The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases. Lancet Infect Dis November 2005; 5(11):685–94 [Review].
- [9] Hoffman JI, Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol June 19, 2002;39(12):1890-900.
- [10] Marijon E, Mirabel M, Celermajer DS, Jouven X. Rheumatic heart disease. Lancet March 10, 2012;379(9819):953-64.
- [11] Iung B, Vahanian A. Epidemiology of valvular heart disease in the adult. Nat Rev Cardiol March 2011;8(3):162–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrcardio.2010.202. Epub 2011 Jan 25.

#### REFERENCES

- [12] Haude M. Management of valvular heart disease: ESC/EACTS guidelines 2017. Herz December 2017;42(8):715-20.
- [13] Saurav A, Alla VM, Kaushik M, Hunter CC, Mooss AV. Outcomes of mitral valve repair compared with replacement in patients undergoing concomitant aortic valve surgery: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg September 2015;48(3):347–53.
- [14] Chaikof EL. The development of prosthetic heart valves-lessons in form and function. N Engl J Med October 4, 2007;357(14):1368-71.
- [15] Bloomfield P. Choice of heart valve prosthesis. Heart June 2002;87(6):583-9.
- [16] Rahimtoola SH. Choice of prosthetic heart valve in adults an update. J Am Coll Cardiol June 1, 2010;55(22):2413-26.
- [17] Oxenham H, Bloomfield P, Wheatley DJ, Lee RJ, Cunningham J, Prescott RJ, Miller HC. Twenty year comparison of a Bjork-Shiley mechanical heart valve with porcine bioprostheses. Heart July 2003;89(7):715–21.
- [18] Hammermeister KE, Sethi GK, Henderson WG, Oprian C, Kim T, Rahimtoola S. A comparison of outcomes in men 11 years after heart-valve replacement with a mechanical valve or bioprosthesis. Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study on Valvular Heart Disease. N Engl J Med May 6, 1993;328(18):1289–96.
- [19] Alsoufi B. Aortic valve replacement in children: options and outcomes. J Saudi Heart Assoc January 2014;26(1):33-41.
- [20] Zhang X, Xu B, Puperi DS, Yonezawa AL, Wu Y, Tseng H, et al. Integrating valve-inspired design features into poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogel scaffolds for heart valve tissue engineering. Acta Biomater March 2015;14:11–21.
- [21] Head SJ, Çelik M, Kappetein AP. Mechanical versus bioprosthetic aortic valve replacement. Eur Heart J July 21, 2017;38(28):2183-91.
- [22] Hoffmann G, Lutter G, Cremer J. Durability of bioprosthetic cardiac valves. Dtsch Arztebl Int February 2008;105(8):143–8.
- [23] Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Kanu C, de Leon Jr AC, Faxon DP, Freed MD, et al. ACC/AHA 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines (writing committee to revise the 1998 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease): developed in collaboration with the Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists: endorsed by the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions and the Society of Thoracic surgeons. Circulation August 1, 2006;114(5):e84–231.
- [24] Cheung DY, Duan B, Butcher JT. Current progress in tissue engineering of heart valves: multiscale problems, multiscale solutions. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2015;15(8):1155–72. https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.2015.1051527. Epub 2015 Jun 1.
- [25] Arjunon S, Rathan S, Jo H, Yoganathan AP. Aortic valve: mechanical environment and mechanobiology. Ann Biomed Eng July 2013;41(7): 1331–46.
- [26] Vesely I. Heart valve tissue engineering. Circ Res October 14, 2005;97(8):743-55.
- [27] Jana S, Tranquillo RT, Lerman A. Cells for tissue engineering of cardiac valves. J Tissue Eng Regen Med October 2016;10(10):804-24.
- [28] Chester AH, Taylor PM. Molecular and functional characteristics of heart-valve interstitial cells. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci August 29, 2007;362(1484):1437–43.
- [29] Hinton RB, Yutzey KE. Heart valve structure and function in development and disease. Annu Rev Physiol 2011;73:29-46.
- [30] Sohier J, Carubelli I, Sarathchandra P, Latif N, Chester AH, Yacoub MH. The potential of anisotropic matrices as substrate for heart valve engineering. Biomaterials February 2014;35(6):1833–44.
- [31] Masoumi N, Annabi N, Assmann A, Larson BL, Hjortnaes J, Alemdar N, et al. Tri-layered elastomeric scaffolds for engineering heart valve leaflets. Biomaterials September 2014;35(27):7774–85.
- [32] Tseng H, Puperi DS, Kim EJ, Ayoub S, Shah JV, Cuchiara ML, et al. Anisotropic poly(ethylene glycol)/polycaprolactone hydrogel-fiber composites for heart valve tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A October 2014;20(19–20):2634–45. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2013.0397. Epub 2014 Jul 16.
- [33] Tseng H, Cuchiara ML, Durst CA, Cuchiara MP, Lin CJ, West JL, Grande-Allen KJ. Fabrication and mechanical evaluation of anatomicallyinspired quasilaminate hydrogel structures with layer-specific formulations. Ann Biomed Eng February 2013;41(2):398–407.
- [34] Butcher JT, Mahler GJ, Hockaday LA. Aortic valve disease and treatment: the need for naturally engineered solutions. Adv Drug Deliv Rev April 30, 2011;63(4–5):242–68.
- [35] Sacks MS, David Merryman W, Schmidt DE. On the biomechanics of heart valve function. J Biomech August 25, 2009;42(12):1804-24.
- [36] Otto CM. Clinical practice. Evaluation and management of chronic mitral regurgitation. N Engl J Med September 6, 2001;345(10):740-6.
- [37] Engelmayr Jr GC, Hildebrand DK, Sutherland FW, Mayer Jr JE, Sacks MS. A novel bioreactor for the dynamic flexural stimulation of tissue engineered heart valve biomaterials. Biomaterials June 2003;24(14):2523–32.
- [38] Driessen NJ, Mol A, Bouten CV, Baaijens FP. Modeling the mechanics of tissue-engineered human heart valve leaflets. J Biomech 2007;40(2): 325–34.
- [39] Sodian R, Hoerstrup SP, Sperling JS, Martin DP, Daebritz S, Mayer Jr JE, Vacanti JP. Evaluation of biodegradable, three-dimensional matrices for tissue engineering of heart valves. ASAIO J 2000 ;46(1):107–10.
- [40] Hoerstrup SP, Sodian R, Daebritz S, Wang J, Bacha EA, Martin DP, et al. Functional living trileaflet heart valves grown in vitro. Circulation November 7, 2000;102(19 Suppl. 3):III44–9.
- [41] Kluin J, Talacua H, Smits AI, Emmert MY, Brugmans MC, Fioretta ES, et al. In situ heart valve tissue engineering using a bioresorbable elastomeric implant from material design to 12 months follow-up in sheep. Biomaterials May 2017;125:101–17.
- [42] Williams JK, Miller ES, Lane MR, Atala A, Yoo JJ, Jordan JE. Characterization of CD133 antibody-directed recellularized heart valves. J Cardiovasc Transl Res October 2015;8(7):411–20.
- [43] Vossler JD, Min Ju Y, Williams JK, Goldstein S, Hamlin J, Lee SJ, Yoo JJ, Atala A. CD133 antibody conjugation to decellularized human heart valves intended for circulating cell capture. Biomed Mater September 3, 2015;10(5):055001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-6041/10/5/ 055001.
- [44] Hoerstrup SP, Sodian R, Sperling JS, Vacanti JP, Mayer Jr JE. New pulsatile bioreactor for in vitro formation of tissue engineered heart valves. Tissue Eng February 2000;6(1):75–9.
- [45] Jockenhoevel S, Zund G, Hoerstrup SP, Schnell A, Turina M. Cardiovascular tissue engineering: a new laminar flow chamber for in vitro improvement of mechanical tissue properties. ASAIO J 2002 ;48(1):8–11.
- [46] Mol A, Driessen NJ, Rutten MC, Hoerstrup SP, Bouten CV, Baaijens FP. Tissue engineering of human heart valve leaflets: a novel bioreactor for a strain-based conditioning approach. Ann Biomed Eng December 2005;33(12):1778–88.
- [47] Berry JL, Steen JA, Jordan JE, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Bioreactors for development of tissue engineered heart valves. Ann Biomed Eng November 2010;38(11):3272–9.

#### 59. BIOENGINEERED HEART HALVES

- [48] Lee DJ, Steen J, Jordan JE, Kincaid EH, Kon ND, Atala A, Berry J, Yoo JJ. Endothelialization of heart valve matrix using a computer-assisted pulsatile bioreactor. Tissue Eng Part A April 2009;15(4):807–14.
- [49] Engelmayr Jr GC, Soletti L, Vigmostad SC, Budilarto SG, Federspiel WJ, Chandran KB, Vorp DA, Sacks MS. A novel flex-stretch-flow bioreactor for the study of engineered heart valve tissue mechanobiology. Ann Biomed Eng May 2008;36(5):700–12.
- [50] Ramaswamy S, Boronyak SM, Le T, Holmes A, Sotiropoulos F, Sacks MS. A novel bioreactor for mechanobiological studies of engineered heart valve tissue formation under pulmonary arterial physiological flow conditions. J Biomech Eng December 2014;136(12):121009.
- [51] Taramasso M, Emmert MY, Reser D, Guidotti A, Cesarovic N, Campagnol M, et al. Pre-clinical in vitro and in vivo models for heart valve therapies. J Cardiovasc Transl Res July 2015;8(5):319–27.
- [52] Gallo M, Poser H, Bottio T, Bonetti A, Franci P, Naso F, et al. The Vietnamese pig as a translational animal model to evaluate tissue engineered heart valves: promising early experience. Int J Artif Organs May 9, 2017;40(4):142–9.
- [53] Liao J, Joyce EM, Sacks MS. Effects of decellularization on the mechanical and structural properties of the porcine aortic valve leaflet. Biomaterials March 2008;29(8):1065–74.
- [54] Zhou J, Fritze O, Schleicher M, Wendel HP, Schenke-Layland K, Harasztosi C, et al. Impact of heart valve decellularization on 3-D ultrastructure, immunogenicity and thrombogenicity. Biomaterials March 2010;31(9):2549–54.
- [55] Roosens A, Somers P, De Somer F, Carriel V, Van Nooten G, Cornelissen R. Impact of detergent-based decellularization methods on porcine tissues for heart valve engineering. Ann Biomed Eng September 2016;44(9):2827–39.
- [56] Veit G, Kobbe B, Keene DR, Paulsson M, Koch M, Wagener R. Collagen XXVIII, a novel von Willebrand factor A domain-containing protein with many imperfections in the collagenous domain. J Biol Chem February 10, 2006;281(6):3494–504.
- [57] Ramshaw JA, Peng YY, Glattauer V, Werkmeister JA. Collagens as biomaterials. J Mater Sci Mater Med December 2009;(20 Suppl. 1):S3-8.
- [58] Miranda-Nieves D, Chaikof EL. Collagen and elastin biomaterials for the fabrication of engineered living tissues. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2017;3:694–711.
- [59] Zhu J, Kaufman LJ. Collagen I self-assembly: revealing the developing structures that generate turbidity. Biophys J April 15, 2014;106(8): 1822–31.
- [60] Christiansen DL, Huang EK, Silver FH. Assembly of type I collagen: fusion of fibril subunits and the influence of fibril diameter on mechanical properties. Matrix Biol September 2000;19(5):409–20.
- [61] Roeder BA, Kokini K, Sturgis JE, Robinson JP, Voytik-Harbin SL. Tensile mechanical properties of three-dimensional type I collagen extracellular matrices with varied microstructure. J Biomech Eng April 2002;124(2):214–22.
- [62] Annabi N, Nichol JW, Zhong X, Ji C, Koshy S, Khademhosseini A, Dehghani F. Controlling the porosity and microarchitecture of hydrogels for tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev August 2010;16(4):371–83.
- [63] Yip CY, Chen JH, Zhao R, Simmons CA. Calcification by valve interstitial cells is regulated by the stiffness of the extracellular matrix. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol June 2009;29(6):936–42.
- [64] Taylor PM, Sachlos E, Dreger SA, Chester AH, Czernuszka JT, Yacoub MH. Interaction of human valve interstitial cells with collagen matrices manufactured using rapid prototyping. Biomaterials May 2006;27(13):2733–7.
- [65] Ayala P, Caves J, Dai E, Siraj L, Liu L, Chaudhuri O, et al. Engineered composite fascia for stem cell therapy in tissue repair applications. Acta Biomater October 2015;26:1–12.
- [66] Khan A, Khan SR, Leventhal RM, Brown WA. Symptom reduction and suicide risk in patients treated with placebo in antidepressant clinical trials: a replication analysis of the Food and Drug Administration Database. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol June 2001;4(2):113–8.
- [67] Nuutila K, Peura M, Suomela S, Hukkanen M, Siltanen A, Harjula A, et al. Recombinant human collagen III gel for transplantation of autologous skin cells in porcine full-thickness wounds. J Tissue Eng Regen Med December 2015;9(12):1386–93.
- [68] Flanagan TC, Wilkins B, Black A, Jockenhoevel S, Smith TJ, Pandit AS. A collagen-glycosaminoglycan co-culture model for heart valve tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials April 2006;27(10):2233–46.
- [69] Gould RA, Chin K, Santisakultarm TP, Dropkin A, Richards JM, Schaffer CB, Butcher JT. Cyclic strain anisotropy regulates valvular interstitial cell phenotype and tissue remodeling in three-dimensional culture. Acta Biomater May 2012;8(5):1710–9.
- [70] Buckley CD, Pilling D, Henriquez NV, Parsonage G, Threlfall K, Scheel-Toellner D, et al. RGD peptides induce apoptosis by direct caspase-3 activation. Nature February 11, 1999;397(6719):534–9.
- [71] Prestwich GD, Atzet S. In: Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE, editors. Biomaterials science. 3rd ed. Waltham, MA, USA: Academic Press; 2013. p. 195.
- [72] Farndale RW, Sixma JJ, Barnes MJ, de Groot PG. The role of collagen in thrombosis and hemostasis. J Thromb Haemost April 2004;2(4): 561–73.
- [73] Zhang X, Schwartz JC, Almo SC, Nathenson SG. Expression, refolding, purification, molecular characterization, crystallization, and preliminary X-ray analysis of the receptor binding domain of human B7-2. Protein Expr Purif June 2002;25(1):105–13.
- [74] Jockenhoevel S, Chalabi K, Sachweh JS, Groesdonk HV, Demircan L, Grossmann M, et al. Tissue engineering: complete autologous valve conduit—a new moulding technique. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg October 2001;49(5):287–90.
- [75] Flanagan TC, Sachweh JS, Frese J, Schnöring H, Gronloh N, Koch S, et al. In vivo remodeling and structural characterization of fibrin-based tissue-engineered heart valves in the adult sheep model. Tissue Eng Part A October 2009;15(10):2965–76.
- [76] Moreira R, Neusser C, Kruse M, Mulderrig S, Wolf F, Spillner J, et al. Tissue-engineered fibrin-based heart valve with bio-inspired textile reinforcement. Adv Healthc Mater August 2016;5(16):2113–21.
- [77] Hospodiuk M, Dey M, Sosnoski D, Ozbolat IT. The bioink: a comprehensive review on bioprintable materials. Biotechnol Adv 2017 Mar -Apr;35(2):217–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2016.12.006. Epub 2017 Jan 3.
- [78] Lee J, Weber M, Mejia S, Bone E, Watson P, Orr W. A matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor, batimastat, retards the development of osteolytic bone metastases by MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells in Balb C nu/nu mice. Eur J Cancer January 2001;37(1):106–13.
- [79] Lee KY, Rowley JA, Eiselt P, Moy EM, Bouhadir H, Mooney DJ. Controlling mechanical and swelling properties of alginate hydrogels independently by cross-linker type and cross-linking density. Macromolecules 2000;33(11):4291–4.
- [80] Park H, Kang SW, Kim BS, Mooney DJ, Lee KY. Shear-reversibly crosslinked alginate hydrogels for tissue engineering. Macromol Biosci September 9, 2009;9(9):895–901. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200800376.

#### REFERENCES

- [81] Duan B, Hockaday LA, Kang KH, Butcher JT. 3D bioprinting of heterogeneous aortic valve conduits with alginate/gelatin hydrogels. J Biomed Mat Res 2013;101A(5):1255-64.
- [82] Widner B, Behr R, Von Dollen S, Tang M, Heu T, Sloma A, et al. Hyaluronic acid production in *Bacillus subtilis*. Appl Environ Microbiol July 2005;71(7):3747–52.
- [83] Manna F, Dentini M, Desideri P, De Pità O, Mortilla E, Maras B. Comparative chemical evaluation of two commercially available derivatives of hyaluronic acid (hylaform from rooster combs and restylane from streptococcus) used for soft tissue augmentation. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol November 1999;13(3):183–92.
- [84] Collins MN, Birkinshaw C. Hyaluronic acid based scaffolds for tissue engineering—a review. Carbohydr Polym February 15, 2013;92(2): 1262–79.
- [85] Masters KS, Shah DN, Leinwand LA, Anseth KS. Crosslinked hyaluronan scaffolds as a biologically active carrier for valvular interstitial cells. Biomaterials May 2005;26(15):2517–25.
- [86] Duan B, Hockaday LA, Kapetanovic E, Kang KH, Butcher JT. Stiffness and adhesivity control aortic valve interstitial cell behavior within hyaluronic acid based hydrogels. Acta Biomater August 2013;9(8):7640–50.
- [87] Skardal A, Zhang J, Prestwich GD. Bioprinting vessel-like constructs using hyaluronan hydrogels crosslinked with tetrahedral polyethylene glycol tetracrylates. Biomaterials August 2010;31(24):6173–81.
- [88] Skardal A, Zhang J, McCoard L, Xu X, Oottamasathien S, Prestwich GD. Photocrosslinkable hyaluronan-gelatin hydrogels for two-step bioprinting. Tissue Eng Part A August 2010;16(8):2675–85. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2009.0798.
- [89] Croisier F, Jerome C. Chitosan-based biomaterials for tissue engineering. Eur Polym J 2013;49:780–92.
- [90] Reddy CS, Ghai R, Rashmi, Kalia VC. Polyhydroxyalkanoates: an overview. Bioresour Technol April 2003;87(2):137-46.
- [91] Hazer B, Steinbüchel A. Increased diversification of polyhydroxyalkanoates by modification reactions for industrial and medical applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol February 2007;74(1):1–12.
- [92] Jana S, Tefft BJ, Spoon DB, Simari RD. Scaffolds for tissue engineering of cardiac valves. Acta Biomater July 2014;10(7):2877–93.
- [93] Bedian L, Villalba-Rodríguez AM, Hernández-Vargas G, Parra-Saldivar R, Iqbal HM. Bio-based materials with novel characteristics for tissue engineering applications – a review. Int J Biol Macromol May 2017;98:837–46.
- [94] Stock UA, Nagashima M, Khalil PN, Nollert GD, Herden T, Sperling JS, et al. Tissue-engineered valved conduits in the pulmonary circulation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg April 2000;119(4 Pt 1):732–40.
- [95] Sodian R, Hoerstrup SP, Sperling JS, Daebritz S, Martin DP, Moran AM, et al. Early in vivo experience with tissue-engineered trileaflet heart valves. Circulation November 7, 2000;102(19 Suppl. 3):III22–9.
- [96] Shishatskaya EI, Khlusov IA, Volova TG. A hybrid PHB-hydroxyapatite composite for biomedical application: production, in vitro and in vivo investigation. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2006;17(5):481–98.
- [97] Misra SK, Ansari TI, Valappil SP, Mohn D, Philip SE, Stark WJ, et al. Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) multifunctional composite scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials April 2010;31(10):2806–15.
- [98] Pascu EI, Stokes J, McGuinness GB. Electrospun composites of PHBV, silk fibroin and nano-hydroxyapatite for bone tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl December 1, 2013;33(8):4905–16.
- [99] Zhu J. Bioactive modification of poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels for tissue engineering. Biomaterials June 2010;31(17):4639-56.
- [100] Wang H, Tibbitt MW, Langer SJ, Leinwand LA, Anseth KS. Hydrogels preserve native phenotypes of valvular fibroblasts through an elasticity-regulated PI3K/AKT pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA November 26, 2013;110(48):19336–41. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1306369110. Epub 2013 Nov 11.
- [101] Durst CA, Cuchiara MP, Mansfield EG, West JL, Grande-Allen KJ. Flexural characterization of cell encapsulated PEGDA hydrogels with applications for tissue engineered heart valves. Acta Biomater June 2011;7(6):2467–76.
- [102] Hockaday LA, Kang KH, Colangelo NW, Cheung PY, Duan B, Malone E, et al. Rapid 3D printing of anatomically accurate and mechanically heterogeneous aortic valve hydrogel scaffolds. Biofabrication September 2012;4(3):035005.
- [103] Jin T, Stanciulescu I. Numerical investigation of the influence of pattern topology on the mechanical behavior of PEGDA hydrogels. Acta Biomater February 2017;49:247–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.10.041. Epub 2016 Nov 14.
- [104] Nuttelman CR, Henry SM, Anseth KS. Synthesis and characterization of photocrosslinkable, degradable poly(vinyl alcohol)-based tissue engineering scaffolds. Biomaterials September 2002;23(17):3617–26.
- [105] Wan WK, Campbell G, Zhang ZF, Hui AJ, Boughner DR. Optimizing the tensile properties of polyvinyl alcohol hydrogel for the construction of a bioprosthetic heart valve stent. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;63(6):854–61.
- [106] Nuttelman CR, Mortisen DJ, Henry SM, Anseth KS. Attachment of fibronectin to poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels promotes NIH3T3 cell adhesion, proliferation, and migration. J Biomed Mater Res November 2001;57(2):217–23.
- [107] Mohammadi H. Nanocomposite biomaterial mimicking aortic heart valve leaflet mechanical behaviour. Proc Inst Mech Eng H July 2011; 225(7):718–22.
- [108] Ulery BD, Nair LS, Laurencin CT. Biomedical applications of biodegradable polymers. J Polym Sci B Polym Phys June 15, 2011;49(12): 832–64.
- [109] Eckert CE, Mikulis BT, Gottlieb D, Gerneke D, LeGrice I, Padera RF, et al. Three-dimensional quantitative micromorphology of pre- and post-implanted engineered heart valve tissues. Ann Biomed Eng January 2011;39(1):205–22.
- [110] Rath S, Salinas M, Villegas AG, Ramaswamy S. Differentiation and distribution of marrow stem cells in flex-flow environments demonstrate support of the valvular phenotype. PLoS One November 4, 2015;10(11):e0141802.
- [111] van Vlimmeren MA, Driessen-Mol A, Oomens CW, Baaijens FP. The potential of prolonged tissue culture to reduce stress generation and retraction in engineered heart valve tissues. Tissue Eng Part C Methods March 2013;19(3):205–15. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.-TEC.2012.0100. Epub 2012 Oct 3.
- [112] Van Lieshout M, Peters G, Rutten M, Baaijens F. A knitted, fibrin-covered polycaprolactone scaffold for tissue engineering of the aortic valve. Tissue Eng March 2006;12(3):481–7.
- [113] Tseng H, Puperi DS, Kim EJ, Ayoub S, Shah JV, Cuchiara ML, West JL, Grande-Allen KJ. Anisotropic poly(ethylene glycol)/polycaprolactone hydrogel-fiber composites for heart valve tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A 2014 Oct;20(19-20):2634–45.

#### 59. BIOENGINEERED HEART HALVES

- [114] Kemppainen JM, Hollister SJ. Tailoring the mechanical properties of 3D-designed poly(glycerol sebacate) scaffolds for cartilage applications. J Biomed Mater Res A July 2010;94(1):9–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32653.
- [115] Liu Q, Tian M, Shi R, Zhang L, Chen D, Tian W. Structure and properties of thermoplastic poly(glycerol sebacate) elastomers originating from prepolymers with different molecular weights. J Appl Polym Sci 2007;104(2):1131–7.
- [116] Masoumi N, Jean A, Zugates JT, Johnson KL, Engelmayr Jr GC. Laser microfabricated poly(glycerol sebacate) scaffolds for heart valve tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A January 2013;101(1):104–14.
- [117] Gunatillake PA, Adhikari R. Biodegradable synthetic polymers for tissue engineering. Eur Cell Mater May 20, 2003;5:1–16.
- [118] Thierfelder N, Koenig F, Bombien R, Fano C, Reichart B, Wintermantel E, et al. In vitro comparison of novel polyurethane aortic valves and homografts after seeding and conditioning. ASAIO J 2013 ;59(3):309–16.
- [119] Bhardwaj N, Kundu SC. Electrospinning: a fascinating fiber fabrication technique. Biotechnol Adv 2010 May–Jun;28(3):325–47.
- [120] Murphy SV, Atala A. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol August 2014;32(8):773–85.
- [121] Huang Y, Zhang XF, Gao G, Yonezawa T, Cui X. 3D bioprinting and the current applications in tissue engineering. Biotechnol J August 2017; 12(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201600734. Epub 2017 Jul 4.
- [122] Kiefer P, Gruenwald F, Kempfert J, Aupperle H, Seeburger J, Mohr FW, Walther T. Crimping may affect the durability of transcatheter valves: an experimental analysis. Ann Thorac Surg July 2011;92(1):155–60.
- [123] Chu MW, Borger MA, Mohr FW, Walther T. Transcatheter heart-valve replacement: update. CMAJ May 18, 2010;182(8):791-5.
- [124] Kiss D, Anwaruddin S. Recent clinical trials in valvular heart disease. Curr Opin Cardiol July 2017;32(4):343-7.
- [125] Petit CJ. Pediatric transcatheter valve replacement: guests at our own table? Circulation June 2, 2015;131(22):1943-5. May 5.
- [126] Schleicher M, Wendel HP, Fritze O, Stock UA. In vivo tissue engineering of heart valves: evolution of a novel concept. Regen Med July 2009; 4(4):613–9.
- [127] Kishimoto S, Takewa Y, Nakayama Y, Date K, Sumikura H, Moriwaki T, et al. Sutureless aortic valve replacement using a novel autologous tissue heart valve with stent (stent biovalve): proof of concept. J Artif Organs June 2015;18(2):185–90.
- [128] Dijkman PE, Driessen-Mol A, Frese L, Hoerstrup SP, Baaijens FP. Decellularized homologous tissue-engineered heart valves as off-the-shelf alternatives to xeno- and homografts. Biomaterials June 2012;33(18):4545–54.
- [129] Schmidt D, Dijkman PE, Driessen-Mol A, Stenger R, Mariani C, Puolakka A, et al. Minimally-invasive implantation of living tissue engineered heart valves: a comprehensive approach from autologous vascular cells to stem cells. J Am Coll Cardiol August 3, 2010;56(6): 510-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2010.04.024.
- [130] Driessen-Mol A, Emmert MY, Dijkman PE, Frese L, Sanders B, Weber B, et al. Transcatheter implantation of homologous "off-the-shelf" tissue-engineered heart valves with self-repair capacity: long-term functionality and rapid in vivo remodeling in sheep. J Am Coll Cardiol April 8, 2014;63(13):1320–9.
- [131] Weber B, Dijkman PE, Scherman J, Sanders B, Emmert MY, Grünenfelder J, et al. Off-the-shelf human decellularized tissue-engineered heart valves in a non-human primate model. Biomaterials October 2013;34(30):7269–80.
- [132] Jahnavi S, Saravanan U, Arthi N, Bhuvaneshwar GS, Kumary TV, Rajan S, Verma RS. Biological and mechanical evaluation of a bio-hybrid scaffold for autologous valve tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl April 1, 2017;73:59–71.
- [133] Samanta A, Medintz IL. Nanoparticles and DNA a powerful and growing functional combination in bionanotechnology. Nanoscale April 28, 2016;8(17):9037–95.
- [134] Gaaz TS, Sulong AB, Akhtar MN, Kadhum AA, Mohamad AB, Al-Amiery AA. Properties and applications of polyvinyl alcohol, halloysite nanotubes and their nanocomposites. Molecules December 19, 2015;20(12):22833–47.
- [135] Jin L, Wang T, Zhu ML, Leach MK, Naim YI, Corey JM, et al. Electrospun fibers and tissue engineering. J Biomed Nanotechnol February 2012;8(1):1–9 [Review].
- [136] Vallet-Regí M, Izquierdo-Barba I, Colilla M. Structure and functionalization of mesoporous bioceramics for bone tissue regeneration and local drug delivery. Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci March 28, 2012;370(1963):1400–21.

# Regenerative Medicine of the Respiratory Tract

Sarah E. Gilpin<sup>1,2</sup>, Philipp T. Moser<sup>1</sup>, Harald C. Ott<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States; <sup>2</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Rebuilding or regenerating the respiratory tract requires a combined understanding of lung development, essential repair mechanisms, and the role of the supporting microenvironment. The primary function of the lung is to exchange gas to deliver oxygen to the circulating blood and remove carbon dioxide from it. Maintenance or reestablishment of this function is the fundamental goal of pulmonary tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Although a seemingly simplistic job, many tightly controlled mechanisms are essential to permit and sustain this essential physiologic capacity. This chapter will review the lung's endogenous mechanisms for repair, as well as state-of-the-art approaches to harnessing this capability for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine of the respiratory tract.

# LUNG DEVELOPMENT: A ROAD MAP TO REGENERATION

During development, the lungs, in addition to the trachea, arise from the anterior foregut endoderm, a tissue that ultimately leads to the creation of multiple organs, including the respiratory system, esophagus, thyroid, and liver [1]. In mice, lung specification is first noted at embryonic day 9 (E9.0) and is identified by expression of the transcription factor Nkx2.1 (Fig. 60.1). The primordial lung begins to form during the embryonic stage (E9.5–E12.5; weeks 4–7 in humans) and the original lung bud then splits into two bronchial buds. Separation of the posterior part of the trachea from esophagus also occurs. The process of branching morphogenesis occurs during the pseudoglandular stage (E12.5–16.5, weeks 7–17 in humans). This intricate process results in controlled development of the conducting airways and terminal bronchioles. The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family of signaling proteins is an important driving force during development. Interactions with the surrounding mesenchyme have an essential role during airway morphogenesis, acting as the source of many important growth factors and promoting epithelial proliferation in the branching bud [2]. Lung branching can be partly recapitulated when the mesenchyme is removed but substituted with critical growth factors, including FGF10 [3]. During the canalicular stage (E16.5–17.5, weeks 17–26 in humans) and saccular stage (E18.5 to birth, weeks 27–36 in humans), the distal lung parenchyma develops, with the emergence of alveolar pneumocytes and the creation of the respiratory units of the lung. The glucocorticoid receptor is expressed during lung development and functions to stimulate the production of surfactant-associated proteins and phospholipid synthesis by enhancing the activity of phosphatidylcholine [4]. Surfactant production can be measured in the amniotic fluid during the saccular stage; it also prepares the lungs for breathing by reducing the surface tension of the alveolar unit. This milestone has clinical relevance because the ratio of the surfactant glycoproteins lecithin and sphingomyelin measured in the amniotic fluid can be used to indicate lung maturity, with rising lecithin levels correlating with gestational age [5]. As the understanding of pulmonary surfactant and its essential function evolved, the development of surfactant replacement therapy has greatly improved survival for preterm infants with immature lung function [6]. Lung development continues in the late and postnatal periods as the lungs undergo the process of alveolarization. This mechanism functions to increase the gas exchange surface area dramatically as the lung further refines the immature alveolar structure and undertakes secondary septation to generate a greater number of smaller alveoli [7]. The distal microvascular network also develops at this time to ensure that each alveolar unit is connected to the requisite blood supply. Postnatal lung development and alveolar remodeling continue through the first years of human life. This is coupled with



FIGURE 60.1 Stages of lung development. A timeline of lung development in the mouse (days) and human (weeks). Formation of the lung through defined stages, from early specification to birth (*dashed line*), and postnatal alveolarization, with key milestones listed.

normal tissue growth mechanisms to increase the functional capacity of the mature lung further. Morphometric data suggested that between birth and young adulthood, the total lung volume can increase 23-fold [8].

An understanding of lung development and the nuanced signaling pathways that dictate its successful manifestation provides an important foundation for appreciating the closely related processes of tissue repair and regeneration.

# **REPAIR AND REGENERATION IN THE NATIVE LUNG**

Although adult lung tissue is often described as being largely quiescent, a remarkable capacity for repair remains after development is complete. As an organ that is constantly subjected to injury from the outside environment, a number of facultative repair mechanisms exist, which together act to maintain lung function and homeostasis. Furthermore, a healthy airway epithelium provides an important first line of defense against inhaled toxins and microbes, relying heavily on innate immune mechanisms to prevent pathogen colonization and mediate repair [9]. Maintenance of the lung epithelial barrier is accomplished by a number of regenerative cell populations that exist in specialized niches and can become activated after tissue injury.

Cell phenotypes that line the respiratory tract vary along a proximodistal axis. The bronchial epithelium largely functions to clear mucous and protect against immediate insult or prolonged inflammation. A continuous intact cell barrier is essential for this defense against environmental infiltrates and infections. The trachea and bronchi are lined with pseudostratified columnar epithelium consisting of ciliated, club, basal, and abundant goblet cells. The mucous secreted by goblet cells is a complex mixture of water, glycoproteins, and lipids designed to trap pollutants and aid clearance [10]. The accompanying ciliated cells are terminally differentiated columnar epithelium with coordinated cilia that beat to move the viscous mucous upward toward the pharynx, maintaining airway balance. The bronchial epithelium also functions to release cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators to recruit inflammatory cells and initiate host defense pathways when necessary. The secretory club cells are less abundant in the larger airways and account for 15% of proliferating cells during normal tissue homeostasis [11]. Club cells are further responsible for metabolizing inhaled toxins, which is accomplished by the cytochrome P450 isoform 2F within their smooth endoplasmic reticulum, which also makes them susceptible to ablation by treatment with the drug naphthalene [12]. Their major secreted product, the club cell secretory protein, 10 kD (CC10) (also known as secretoglobulin 1A1 and uteroglobulin) is also reported to possess antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory properties [13] and can be used as a noninvasive indicator of acute or chronic lung injury [14]. The basal epithelial cell lies superficial to the basal lamina and functions to aid attachment of the epithelium to the basement membrane. Basal cells can be identified by expression of transformation-related protein 63 (p63), cytokeratins 5 and 14, and the epidermal growth factor receptor in both mice and human airways [15]. Basal cells possess the ability to act as an endogenous adult stem cell population; they are capable of self-renewal and multilineage differentiation. Early experiments showed that basal cells can function to reconstitute a differentiated mucociliary epithelium when seeded onto denuded tracheas and transplanted subcutaneously into nude rats [16]. Lineage tracing experiments further confirmed that basal cells can differentiate to club and ciliated cells in the trachea, both in steady state and after injury [17]. Loss of the

cells can differentiate to club and ciliated cells in the trachea, both in steady state and after injury [17]. Loss of the basal stem cell population prevents proper epithelial tissue repair, resulting in pathologies similar to bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome, with alternating regions of epithelial denudation and progressive collagen deposition [18]. Similarly, impaired basal cell reparative function may contribute to the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in smokers [19]. Mathematical models suggest that a heterogeneous population of basal stem cells exists within the lung tissue and propose that approximately equal numbers are multipotent stem cells and committed precursors [20]. There is also evidence that rare CC10-positive cells can differentiate back to a basal cell lineage after tracheal injury in rats [21].

As the conducting airway branches toward the respiratory bronchioles, the cell composition progressively changes. The simple columnar ciliated epithelium of the terminal bronchioles develops into simple cuboidal epithelium. The smaller airways and bronchioles consist of basal, club, and ciliated cells, whereas goblet cells are no longer found and neuroendocrine cells appear. Neuroepithelial bodies (NEBs) appear, which have been shown to sequester regenerative cells capable of repairing the bronchiolar epithelium after selective depletion of club cells by the toxin naphthalene [22]. A subpopulation of cells within the NEB that are resistant to naphthalene, termed variant club cells, are also critical for preservation of this stem cell population and maintenance of epithelial renewal after injury [23].

The simple squamous epithelium of the distal lung consists of the flat, elongated alveolar type 1 pneumocytes (AT1), contributing 95% of the gas-exchange surface area, and the cuboidal alveolar type 2 pneumocytes (AT2), comprising the remaining 5%. AT2 cells are responsible for producing the pulmonary surfactant proteins (SP) A through D, whereas the AT1 cells interface with the pulmonary vasculature to facilitate gas exchange. Early experiments first provided evidence that AT2 cells serve as endogenous progenitors for the distal lung, which become type 1 cells in response to injury [24]. This observation was further confirmed using more sophisticated genetic lineage tracing techniques, demonstrating the clonal proliferation of AT2 cells during long-term homeostasis and after bleomycin injury [25]. A distinct population of cells at the bronchoalveolar duct junction has been described to have unique regenerative properties, with a bilineage potential for repair. These bronchioalveolar stem cells are reported to coexpress CC10 and SP-C and to proliferate in response to epithelial damage in vitro [26]. In vivo, lineage-tracing studies found that CC10-positive cells did not significantly contribute to the alveolar epithelium during postnatal growth [21]. After bleomycin injury, CC10-labeled SP-C-negative cells have been shown to develop into AT2 cells, combined with self-renewal of the native AT2 population [27]. Together these studies continue to redefine the multilineage potential of traditionally proximal or distally restricted cell populations and to be an important and expanding area of research. It has been shown that during development, the distal AT1 and AT2 cells arise from a bipotent progenitor, in contrast to the traditional hierarchy shown after birth [28]. In adult lungs, AT1 cells marked by the transcription factor HOPX have the potential to act as a facultative progenitor capable of becoming SP-C<sup>+</sup> AT2 cells and contribute to compensatory lung regrowth after pneumonectomy in mice [29]. As new experimental evidence continues to provide new insight into how the lung maintains and repairs itself, the established paradigms must also shift.

The continued evolution of traditional cell hierarchy and potential for repair will be important in developing new cell-based therapies for lung regeneration. The ability to reactivate and exploit these complex endogenous cell repair mechanisms for therapeutic benefit continues to be a major goal of regenerative medicine (Fig. 60.2).

# NOVEL CELL POPULATIONS FOR LUNG REPAIR

As an internal organ that allows for direct and noninvasive access to the respiratory tissue, delivery of regenerative cells as therapy for airway disease is an attractive concept. However, innate epithelial defense and clearance mechanisms mean that delivered cell engraftment is generally low and transient in nature. Robust methods are required to track and quantify any surviving cells, which often includes luciferase or fluorescent transgene expression coupled with ex vivo tissue analysis by quantitative polymerase chain reaction or histology [30]. These methods are prone to error owing to sampling methods and the potential for identifying false-positives, which makes the conclusions difficult to interpret. The field continues to advance toward the goal of directed cell therapy to the airways as new methods are developed and new cell populations are identified. Intravenous infusion is an alternate route to achieving cell delivery of regenerative cell populations to the lung. The pulmonary capillaries have a mean diameter of 5.5 µm, which means that as larger cells pass through the vascular network, a high percentage can be retained



FIGURE 60.2 Endogenous lung epithelial repair. Schematic of the lung epithelium from a proximal to distal location. The location and function of important endogenous lung epithelial stem/progenitor cell populations are listed, which can be activated to differentiate and self-renew to maintain tissue homeostasis. *Arrows* indicate well-established (*solid*) and novel (*dashed*) differentiation pathways. *AQP 5*, aquaporin 5; *BADJ*, bronchoalveolar duct junction; *BASC*, bronchoalveolar stem cells; *CYP 450*, cytochrome 450; *SP*, surfactant protein.

within the lung and can exert local effects [31]. In addition, many reports have suggested that exogenous cells arising from the bone marrow can be mobilized into the peripheral blood and may engraft to repair injured lung tissue. This paradigm remains controversial, and robust conclusions from these studies also require rigorous experimental analysis. Cell lineage-tracing experiments have suggested that the long-term contribution of bone marrow—derived cells to the lung epithelium [32] or endothelium [33] is low or undetectable.

A separate population, the mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), have been widely studied as a reparative population for lung cell therapy. This nonhematopoietic multipotent stromal population can be isolated from various biological sources, including bone marrow, peripheral blood, adipose tissue, dental pulp, and umbilical cord blood, and are initially defined by plastic adherence in vitro [34]. These cells, marked by CD105, CD73, and CD90 expression, also secrete antiinflammatory cytokines, including interleukin (IL)-10 and can decrease proinflammatory cytokine expression, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and interferon-gamma [35]. When delivered intravenously, MSCs can act in a targeted way onto the lung after injury. Treatment with MSCs has shown benefit in animal models of fibrosis after bleomycin induced lung injury, significantly reducing inflammation and collagen deposition within lung tissue [36,37]. Use of these cells is also being translated to clinical application. A proof-of-principle trial was completed that demonstrated the feasibility of treating pulmonary fibrosis by intravenous infusion with MSCs [38], and many clinical trials are ongoing. MSC may also have the potential to treat sepsis and acute respiratory distress syndrome in patients [39] and have shown benefit in repairing donor lungs deemed otherwise unsuitable for transplantation [40]. Taken together, this multifaceted ability to regulate the immune response and enhance tissue repair after lung injury makes MSC-based therapy a promising and advancing area of regenerative medicine.

Epithelial injury is an important driver for regenerative cell activation and is a critical component of many experimental models. Tissue damage may in fact be essential for regeneration, which suggests that preconditioning injury of the lungs may be required before cell therapy. One study of endogenous lung repair during the canalicular stage of development used sublethal radiation injury to vacate the putative lung progenitor niche [41]. It was reported that intravenous infusion of lung-derived cell populations resulted in long-term lung chimerism, which was identified in clonal donor-derived patches. Treatment with these cells after injury resulted in a marked improvement in lung function compared with untreated controls. In addition, injury has been shown to activate specific facultative progenitor populations, which can also be used for therapeutic treatment. A study of lung repair after H1N1 influenzainduced lung injury showed that lineage-traced keratin (Krt)5<sup>+</sup> cells undergo a proliferative expansion to regenerate the damaged tissue. After isolation of these cells and subsequent intratracheal delivery 5 days after influenza infection, tissue analysis revealed that multiple epithelial lineages in the regenerating lung were derived from the transplanted cells. These included both AT1 and AT2 pneumocytes at 40 and 90 days after influenza infection [42], which suggested that traditionally proximally specified Krt5<sup>+</sup> cells take on a bilineage potential after injury. Parallel work identified a rare lineage-negative Krt5<sup>+</sup> cell population in normal distal lung tissue that is also activated after influenza- or bleomycin-induced lung injury and could also migrate to repair the injured tissue [43]. After orthotopic transplantation of these cells to influenza-injured lungs, multicellular structures were identified in areas of active regeneration, which also observed differentiation toward SP-C<sup>+</sup> distal epithelial fate. These studies further revealed that the Notch signaling pathway has a critical role in proximal versus distal epithelial fate decisions during regeneration and tissue repair. These new insights into epithelial cell potential and regenerative capacity further refine the optimal cells for therapeutic use.

The directed differentiation of pluripotent stem cells toward defined lung lineages is another exciting option for generating cells suitable for use in lung tissue engineering. These cells also offer a valuable opportunity to model lung development and respiratory disease using human cells. Much research and progress have been accomplished using both embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) to recapitulate the developmental program and drive specification of lung-specific cells. Early studies first attempted to a drive a lung epithelial phenotype from ESCs by culture in small airway growth media [44] and transition to an air-liquid interface (ALI) culture [45]. Coculture with digested fetal lung mesenchyme was able to induce differentiation of a distal SP- $C^+$ epithelial population from murine ESCs, which also highlights the critical role of growth factor cross-signaling during development [46]. Increased lung differentiation efficiency can be accomplished by first stimulating the Nodal pathway with activin A treatment, to induce a definitive endodermal germ layer fate directly [47,48]. Additional patterning of the endoderm toward the anterior foregut by inhibiting the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  and bone morphogenic protein signaling pathways further aids specification of a lung-specific fate [49]. Two important and parallel reports described the successful differentiation of NK2 homeobox 1 transcription factor (Nkx2.1)-expressing lung/thyroid progenitor cells from this anteriorized foregut population [50,51]. Further differentiation of a lungspecified population can generate varying degrees of mature proximal (CC10<sup>+</sup> and p63<sup>+</sup>) and distal (SP-C<sup>+</sup>) epithelial lineages in vitro. Ideally, for use in cell therapy or tissue engineering applications, the differentiation methods would be able to generate a large number of homogeneous cell populations. The continued optimization of targeted and robust protocols to generate specific epithelial cell lineages is a challenge in this rapidly advancing field.

An important study reported that after a differentiation period of 48 days, human ESCs were able to produce basal, goblet, Clara, ciliated, and both type I and type II alveolar epithelial cells. When the progenitor cell potential was tested in vivo by implantation under the kidney capsule in mice, cystic and tubular structures were found lined by an epithelial layer of both pseudostratified and elongated morphology [52]. Human iPSCs can also be differentiated to create a functional multiciliated proximal epithelium after 28 days of culture at ALI [53]. In this study, expression of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor (CFTR) could be visualized at the apical surface of polarized cells. These results demonstrate the capacity of defined stem cell populations to create functional tissue and the exciting potential these cells can have in regenerative medicine for lung diseases. Starting with a patient-specific pluripotent cell affords the possibility of correcting or enhancing these populations before differentiation. This is particularly attractive for pulmonary diseases resulting from monogenic mutations, such as cystic fibrosis (CF). It has been shown that starting from a small CF patient skin biopsy, iPSCs can be generated and corrected for the ΔF508 mutation in the endogenous CFTR gene, using the Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated protein 9 system. Subsequent differentiation of these iPSCs to a proximal airway epithelial fate, including culture at ALI, further showed the ability to restore the CFTR chloride current by patch clamp studies [54]. The potential for CFTR gene correction using zinc-finger nucleases combined with homologydirected repair has also been successfully demonstrated [55]. These exciting advances in cell and molecular biology have great promise in patient-specific regenerative medicine. The combination of these novel technologies with parallel advances in cell therapy and tissue engineering has the potential to have a meaningful impact for patients in need.

# **BIOLOGICAL SCAFFOLDS TO SUPPORT REGENERATION**

As knowledge of regenerative cell populations advances, the challenge of engineering a functional threedimensional (3D) tissue still faces many hurdles. The use of biological scaffolds can further support these cells in creating lung tissue ex vivo by providing a platform to enhance regeneration in an anatomically correct environment. The choice of biomaterial and the methods used to create these lung scaffolds are important considerations that are integral to the ultimate function of the regenerated tissue.

Artificial scaffolds have been used for lung and airway tissue engineering. In one study, fetal rat lung cells were combined with Gelfoam and injected into normal healthy lung parenchyma; they showed cell survival for 35 days and provided a supportive environment for recipient-derived cells to engraft [56]. Scaffolds can also be used to sequester cell-derived growth factors for targeted delivery. This was demonstrated with adipose-derived MSCs

grown on a polyglycolic acid felt sheet, which secreted large amounts of hepatocyte growth factors and resulted in enhanced compensatory lung growth after surgical resection. Also of note are the efforts to create a synthetic, implantable tracheal graft. The relatively simple tissue, which is composed of a hollow tube with compatible mechanical properties, seems a promising first goal toward patient-specific regenerative medicine. The minimal requirements for any biomaterial used for this purpose would be biocompatibility to the recipient and suitability as a substrate for cell attachment and survival [57]. A large number of biocompatible materials have been tested for this purpose, including biodegradable polymers (polyglycolic acid, polylactic acid, and polycaprolactone), and hydrogels (Pluronic F-127 and collagen gel). Important progress has been made using the nanocomposite biomaterial polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxane poly(carbonate-urea) urethane. This material has been shown to be biostable, to have favorable mechanical properties, and to support the growth of various cell types, including human bronchial epithelial cells [58]. In addition to synthetic materials, decellularized native tracheas are promising scaffolds for airway engineering. Decellularized tissue engineered tracheas have been investigated in a number of studies using various species, with mixed results [59]. Although good epithelialization was observed in many reports, grafts were structurally unstable, leading to airway obstruction and subsequent collapse. An important consideration for large airway engineering is the long-term maintenance of biomechanical integrity and lumen patency, to prevent the need for subsequent dilatation or stenting of the implanted graft.

When aiming to create more complex tissues such as functional lung parenchyma, the ability to create a suitable scaffold with adequate tissue architecture and resolution presents significant challenges. The concept of wholeorgan decellularization provides a promising option. Removal of all the cells from a tissue, leaving the only the extracellular matrix (ECM), is a long-standing technology, and acellular ECM scaffolds are used in clinical practice for many applications [60]. Many of these are products derived from the dermis, pericardium, small intestinal submucosa, and urinary bladder of bovine and porcine sources. The ability of these ECM scaffold to facilitate constructive tissue remodeling in vivo makes them a valuable tool for regenerative medicine.

Building on this concept and stemming from a seminal article on whole-heart regeneration [61], this approach was first applied to whole lungs in an exciting series of reports in 2010 [62-64]. By perfusing a detergent through the native vasculature of the lungs, ideally at a controlled pressure, the intact organ can be fully decellularized, leaving only the ECM scaffold. Detergents used include sodium dodecyl sulfate, sodium deoxycholate, and 3-([3cholamidopropyl] dimethylammonio)-1-propanesulfonate. Comparative analyses of these detergents for use in decellularization have not provided a consensus and suggest that many approaches are valid [65–67]. Lung decellularization has been upscaled and applied across many species including mice [68], rats [69], pigs [66], nonhuman primates [70], and humans [66,71]. It has been confirmed that the acellular scaffolds retain essential collagens, laminin, elastin, and glycosaminoglycan to support cell reattachment [66,72]. The relevant importance of the ECM composition versus structure is an area of active study and interest. Proteomic mass spectrometry has been applied to analyze and compare the protein scaffold that is retained after decellularization [66,72,73]. These studies provide important insight into the composition of the bioactive scaffold upon which new tissue will be created. If essential proteins are lost through the decellularization process, or if immunogenic proteins are retained within the matrix, there can be significant consequences for the regeneration process both during ex vivo recellularization and after in vivo implantation [74]. A quantitative comparison of the acellular scaffold with the ECM of native lung tissue was achieved by applying a stable isotope-labeled concatemer approach, in which known concentrations of labeled peptides were incorporated to generate a standard reference curve [75]. Further refinement of these techniques, as applied to diverse biological scaffolds, will provide more precise information about the relationship between protein composition and overall tissue regeneration and function.

The source of native lung tissue used to prepare scaffolds can have a direct impact on subsequent regeneration. Several studies have shown that underlying lung pathologies can cause changes in the ECM that are retained after decellularization and can perpetuate during tissue repair [76]. Remodeling of the ECM is a hallmark of pulmonary fibrosis characterized by increased collagen deposition and changes in the alveolar architecture. When normal human lung fibroblasts were grown on ECM scaffolds derived from fibrotic lung tissue, genes associated with fibrotic changes became activated [77]. This suggests that the origin of the ECM can have a great impact on cellular function and fate. It has also been shown that culture on fibrotic ECM can drive myofibroblast differentiation from normal lung fibroblasts [78]. Emphysema also dramatically affects the lung matrix composition and structure. In a murine model of emphysematous lung injury induced by treatment with porcine pancreatic elastase, the subsequently decellularized lungs portrayed a unique pattern of ECM retention compared with uninjured lungs. Despite these histologic and compositional differences, no significant differences were noted when MSCs or CC10<sup>+</sup> epithelial cells were redelivered to the emphysematous lung scaffolds [79]. Similar changes in scaffold architecture were reported in human emphysematous lung scaffolds; in these studies, subsequent cell attachment and survival were significantly

#### ADVANCES IN REBUILDING FUNCTIONAL LUNG TISSUE

decreased in the diseased scaffolds compared with those from normal lungs [80]. Interestingly, when the acellular lung ECM was solubilized and prepared as a coating to support 2D cell grown in vitro, no differences in survival were found, which suggests that the 3D architecture of the acellular lung scaffold is the main effector of these changes. The age of the lung can contribute important differences to the decellularized scaffold. In one study of aged versus young mouse lung scaffolds, cells grown on the older ECM were found to express a significantly lower level of laminins  $\alpha$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 4, which recapitulates the laminin deficiency that is observed in aged lung ECM. These data further highlight the deep biological information that is contained with lung scaffold and the feedback loops that can exist between reparative cell populations and the underlying ECM [81].

There has not been a systematic analysis of these ECM-associated variables, and those that were studied varied across methodology, species, and the cell type used. This level of investigation will be necessary before clinical translation of decellularized lung scaffold-based tissue engineering, to standardize and optimize the biological source of lung ECM and exclude factors that may be detrimental to regeneration.

One possible way to reduce variation in the lung ECM scaffold would be to use animal sources of donor organs. The ability to control age, size, and any variation in environmental exposure or potential pathology would standardize the starting material for clinical lung tissue regeneration. One widely explored option is the porcine lung, because pig organs are anatomically similar to human organs. Yet, there are also many important differences between the species. One study comparing decellularized scaffolds from rat, pig, primate, and human lungs found that human and primate lungs were stiffer, contained more elastin, and retained fewer glycosaminoglycans than did pig or rat lung scaffolds [82]. Adhesion of human endothelial cells in the vascular network of the lung scaffold was also markedly enhanced in human and primate tissues compared with porcine and rat matrices. These finding reaffirm that the ECM composition can have an important role in tissue regeneration after recellularization. There are also anatomic and morphologic differences between human and porcine lungs [83]. Of note, porcine lungs lack interalveolar connections known as pores of Kohn, which facilitate collateral ventilation and prevent atelectasis. When choosing sources of lungs for xenotransplantation, it may be important to consider whether the animals are quadruped or bipedal, because the mode of ambulation can also affect breathing mechanics.

The use of porcine lung xenografts for transplantation is also complicated by hyperacute rejection, mediated by antibodies anti-Gal (Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-(3)4GlcNAc-R), an epitope that humans do not express. Exciting research has suggested that this rejection may be overcome with the use of genetically modified Gal knockout animals [84]. Proof-of-concept studies demonstrated that decellularized wild-type and  $\alpha$ -Gal knockout pig lungs can be comparably decellularized and are biocompatible with human lung cells despite some differences in retained proteins [85].

Another intriguing source of scaffolds for lung regeneration is 3D printing, also termed stereolithography, to create complex solid organ matrices [86]. This approach would allow for custom-designed organs to be created for the intended recipient, further augmenting the concept of personalized medicine. Through bioprinting, the biomaterial can also be combined with cells in a controlled and localized manner, which provides a potential advantage over the random repopulation of a decellularized scaffold. Major challenges facing adoption of this technology for whole-lung regenerative medicine are resolution, scale, and the composition of the construct.

# ADVANCES IN REBUILDING FUNCTIONAL LUNG TISSUE

Higher-level tissue function is a critical step in regenerating tissue for clinical application. To engineer complex tissue ex vivo, the cells used must retain their regenerative capacity for repair and differentiation when recombined. Several in vitro methods have been developed to study and validate the regenerative capacity of important cell populations. This ability is a function of not only of the cells themselves, but also of the microenvironment in which they are placed. The ability for cells of the respiratory tract to form tight junctions is critical for maintaining fluid balance and controlling solute transport. In vitro, barrier function is typically measured by growing cells on semipermeable inserts and quantifying transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) [87]. The application of an ALI culture environment further drives tissue maturation and cellular differentiation toward a ciliated phenotype, which can be used to further enhance tissue regeneration.

A 3D culture system can also be used to test the regenerative capacity of specific lung cell populations in vitro. In one model, isolated and purified basal epithelial cells demonstrated the ability to formation of clonal "tracheo-spheres" containing both ciliated and secretory cells [17]. Single, isolated murine AT2 cells can also create 3D alveolar-like structures termed "alveolospheres" [27]. In this model, the presence of primary platelet-derived growth factor receptor α-positive mesenchymal support cells was essential to recapitulate the regenerative niche and support 3D tissue formation. Airway organoids have also been created by combining human adult primary bronchial

#### 60. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE OF THE RESPIRATORY TRACT

epithelial cells, lung fibroblasts, and lung microvascular endothelial cells, which demonstrated self-organization into discrete structures and recapitulated limited aspects of branching morphogenesis [88]. These methods provide a useful experimental tool to study the ex vivo potential of specific cell types and assess their ability for complex tissue regeneration. In this context, the surrounding microenvironment and exogenous factors can easily be tested and manipulated to better define and enhance the stimuli needed to drive tissue regeneration. Such 3D models can also be used to study lung development. Murine E17.5 lung cells can be isolated and cultured in 3D collagen hydrogels to create distal proSP-C–expressing epithelial structures surrounded by a capillary-like endothelial network [89]. This system can be used to test the influence of critical growth factors and ECM components on lung morphogenesis. The establishment of multilineage lung organoids from iPSC-derived progenitors has also been reported, by directing differentiation along the defined steps of lung development [90]. The successful engraftment, long-term survival, and maturation of organoid-derived lung epithelium in vivo is also important for therapeutic applicability. The use of synthetic scaffolds to support survival and regeneration may confer an important advantage to cells after implantation [91].

Small matrix slices can also be used to study tissue regeneration in a high-throughput manner. After decellularization, small pieces of lung tissue can be sectioned (250 µm) and placed into traditional 2D culture. Recellularization of these thin lung matrix slices demonstrated biocompatibility and integrin-mediated cell attachment to the ECM [66]. The effect of ECM composition on tissue regeneration can also be investigated using the lung matrix slice model. In one study, when ESC-derived definitive anterior endoderm cells were cultured on ECM that was pretreated with Heparitinase I to remove matrix-associated heparan sulfate proteoglycans, cellular organization and differentiation were compromised [92]. This suggests that retention of important ECM components after decellularization may be required to support mature tissue regeneration and function. Native 3D lung ECM was further shown to promote lung lineage specification from human iPSCs, as identified by Nkx2.1 expression, compared with traditional 2D in vitro differentiation [93]. Cells can also be delivered to whole rodent lung scaffolds in a mixture of agarose, creating a semisolid tissue that can be further sectioned and maintained in vitro, as described using lung-specified murine ESCs [50]. A method of excising small segments ( $\sim 1-3$  cm<sup>3</sup>) of human decellularized lung tissue that retains 3D vascular and airway conduits has been described and used for recellularization in a highthroughput in vitro model [72]. The clear benefits of these smaller-scale models to test cell differentiation and tissue regeneration is the ability to test more conditions with less variation while also reducing experimental time and costs.

The native lung scaffold is particularly well-suited for recellularization because it retains the anatomical separation between the airways and vasculature network while enabling direct access to both compartments. Epithelial or mesenchymal cell populations can be delivered to the respiratory tract via the trachea, and endothelial cells can be delivered via the pulmonary artery and vein, ultimately repopulating all of the essential cell types in the lung without compromising the underlying organ structure. The first studies to prove biocompatibility of the whole decellularized scaffold used a heterogeneous mixture of pulmonary epithelial cells isolated from neonatal rats [63,64]. This important proof-of-principle has evolved to include studies using a wide range of primary and pluripotent-derived cell populations. This methodology has been successfully applied to regenerate human lung scaffolds repopulated with donor tissue-derived basal epithelial stem cells and pulmonary artery endothelial cells. These recellularized tissues were maintained in ex vivo culture for over 7 days, confirming cell viability and continues proliferation while reforming the complex lung tissue architecture along the native matrix [94]. A challenge remains to derive the optimal cells for use in regenerating these scaffolds. Primary epithelial cells are a convenient possibility because they can be isolated from small tissue biopsies or airway brushing, but expansion to an adequate cell number in vitro can be limiting. The modification of important cell pathways, including the Rho-associated protein kinase and SMAD, can be achieved by adding targeted small molecules inhibitors to the culture media to reduce cell senescence and maintain proliferation [95,96]. An additional challenge inherent in patient-derived cells is the contribution of underlying pathologies, which may compromise cell isolation, expansion, or function.

Combined with advances in cell and matrix biology, the feat of bioengineering fully functional lungs and airways for transplantation will require the continued optimization of many additional factors. Implementing these advances to recreate higher-level tissue function will also depend on developing successful methods to culture and mature the organ ex vivo before implantation. When creating systems for lung culture outside the body, much can be learned from the ex vivo lung perfusion technology, which is used in clinical lung transplantation to expand the donor pool [97]. This procedure maintains cadaveric donor lungs with physiologic protective ventilation and perfusion, with the aim of facilitating more accurate assessment of the graft. This system, which is typically applied for 3–4 h before transplant, can also serve as a platform to recondition lungs that would otherwise be deemed unsuitable for transplantation, or to apply novel treatments such as gene therapy with the immunosuppressive

#### ADVANCES IN REBUILDING FUNCTIONAL LUNG TISSUE

cytokine IL-10 [98]. These clinically relevant advances in ex vivo lung preservation have provided important benefits to patients but are still limited by a relatively short time in which the lung remains stably functional.

Applying some of these concepts to ex vivo lung engineering has guided the development of lung bioreactor systems to support the recellularization and culture of biological scaffolds with the aim of establishing and maintaining lung function on the scale of days to weeks. Effectively recapitulating the biomimetic events associated with breathing and blood perfusion in an ex vivo environment is a critical component of successful lung bioengineering. The optimal choice of perfusate is an important consideration that has not yet been robustly evaluated or defined. Not only must the perfusate facilitate nutrient delivery and waste removal through the regenerating vessels, it must prevent unwanted vascular permeability and tissue edema, for which traditional cell culture medias are not optimal. Methods for lung vascular regeneration have been described using both primary and iPSC-derived endothelial cells, which require specific alterations to the perfusion media composition to induce angiogenesis or vascular barrier function during defined phases of regeneration [99]. Further development and improvement in vascular regeneration are important and complementary component of respiratory tract tissue engineering. It has been shown that during whole rodent lung recellularization, the coculture of human lung-derived endothelial cells with primary basal cells imparts a proliferative advantage to the regenerating epithelium [94]. An additional challenge of using traditional cell culture media for complex tissue engineering is defining a composition that is optimized to support multiple cell types (Fig. 60.3).

Many versions of ex vivo lung bioreactors have been developed and tested, ranging from the rodent to the human scale [100–102]. The minimal requirements are to provide a controlled environment with proper temperature and humidity, and to maintain sterility. The application of specific biomechanical stimuli during organ culture in the bioreactor can have direct effects on the tissue and cells, and so careful control of both perfusion and ventilation are important design parameters. Sheer stress applied to the regenerating vasculature by perfusion can act to align and stimulate pulmonary endothelial cells after redelivery to the scaffold [103]. Perfusion must also provide



FIGURE 60.3 A road map for lung regeneration. Essential steps and current challenges in personalized regenerative medicine for the lung are listed, with the aim of bioengineering functional lung tissue for therapeutic use.

adequate delivery of oxygen and nutrients to the regenerating tissue. The cyclic stretch and relaxation that is created during mechanical ventilation can induce biological changes in lung epithelial cells, including surfactant secretion, differentiation, and cytokine release [104]. As described in vitro, the inclusion of an ALI between the perfused vasculature and the inflated airways during whole-organ culture can also be used to induce ciliation of the proximal airway epithelium. The protocols dictating when to apply these biomimetic stimuli and at what magnitude are not yet defined. Establishment of robust methods will also require sufficient analysis techniques to assess for cell viability and tissue regeneration in a noninvasive manner during culture. One reported method uses a resazurinbased reduction assay delivered through the vascular perfusate. Fluorescence of resazurin-containing medium can be used as a correlate of cellular metabolism, which is consistent with histological assessment of the regenerating tissue [105]. Measurement of glucose consumption and lactate production in the media during organ culture can also be used as noninvasive indicator of cell viability. Biological tests such as these, combined with a functional analysis of graft gas exchange capacity and perfusability, can be used to establish meaningful, quantitative criteria for transplant readiness.

# CLINICAL TRANSLATION AND FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS

Lung transplantation remains the only curative treatment for advanced lung diseases; yet, insufficiencies in donor lung availability and long-term challenges with graft rejections continue to limit the therapeutic utility. Although advances in organ preservation, reconditioning, and immune tolerance provide important benefits, the ability to harness regenerative medicine to create lung tissue for clinical use is an exciting and possibly complementary option. To this end, many challenges have been discussed in this chapter. This includes harnessing endogenous cell repair mechanisms, improving methods to derive pulmonary cells from pluripotent progenitors, and developing methods to create new tissue constructs based on clinical-scale biomaterials, in addition to validating protocols for maturing and evaluating the regenerated tissue. The role of in vivo factors that drive repair has been mostly described in the context of animal lung injury models. The contribution of these mechanisms to tissue repair after implantation of an engineered tissue is widely unstudied in the lung and will likely have an important role in regenerating the respiratory tract.

The ability to direct regeneration, either ex vivo or in vivo, from patient-derived cells, would have significant benefit to people with lung disease. The capacity to apply these regenerative medicine approaches in an ondemand fashion is an additional advantage of these novel technologies. Much work is still required to coalesce the fields of lung development, cell biology, and tissue engineering fully, but promising advances have already been realized. Important questions regarding cell potential and the contribution of the microenvironment are being studied and applied to advance the goal of functional regenerative medicine for the lung.

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

2D/3D two or three dimensions ALI Air-liquid interface AT 1/2 Alveolar type 1/2 pneumocyte CC10 Club cell secretory protein, 10 kD CF Cystic fibrosis CFTR Cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor CRISPR Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats ECM Extracellular matrix ESC Embryonic stem cell FGF Fibroblast growth factor H1N1 Influenza A virus IL Interleukin iPSC Induced pluripotent stem cell Krt Keratin MSC Mesenchymal stem or stromal cell **NEB** Neuroendocrine body Nkx2.1 NK2 homeobox 1 transcription factor p63 Transformation-related protein 63 SP Surfactant protein

# References

- Herriges M, Morrisey EE. Lung development: orchestrating the generation and regeneration of a complex organ. Development 2014;141(3): 502–13.
- [2] Varner VD, Nelson CM. Cellular and physical mechanisms of branching morphogenesis. Development 2014;141(14):2750-9.
- [3] Cardoso WV, Itoh A, Nogawa H, Mason I, Brody JS. FGF-1 and FGF-7 induce distinct patterns of growth and differentiation in embryonic lung epithelium. Dev Dyn 1997;208(3):398–405.
- [4] Bolt RJ, van Weissenbruch MM, Lafeber HN, Delemarre-van de Waal HA. Glucocorticoids and lung development in the fetus and preterm infant. Pediatr Pulmonol 2001;32(1):76–91.
- [5] Whitfield CR, Chan WH, Sproule WB, Stewart AD. Amniotic fluid lecithin: sphingomyelin ratio and fetal lung development. Br Med J 1972; 2(5805):85–6.
- [6] Whitsett JA, Weaver TE. Alveolar development and disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2015;53(1):1-7.
- [7] Whitsett JA, Nogee LM, Weaver TE, Horowitz AD. Human surfactant protein B: structure, function, regulation, and genetic disease. Physiol Rev 1995;75(4):749–57.
- [8] Burri PH. Structural aspects of postnatal lung development alveolar formation and growth. Biol Neonate 2006;89(4):313-22.
- [9] Eisele NA, Anderson DM. Host defense and the airway epithelium: frontline responses that protect against bacterial invasion and pneumonia. J Pathog 2011;2011:249802.
- [10] Rogers DF. Physiology of airway mucus secretion and pathophysiology of hypersecretion. Respir Care 2007;52(9):1134–46. Discussion 46–49.
- [11] Boers JE, Ambergen AW, Thunnissen FB. Number and proliferation of clara cells in normal human airway epithelium. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999;159(5 Pt 1):1585–91.
- [12] Plopper CG, Macklin J, Nishio SJ, Hyde DM, Buckpitt AR. Relationship of cytochrome P-450 activity to Clara cell cytotoxicity. III. Morphometric comparison of changes in the epithelial populations of terminal bronchioles and lobar bronchi in mice, hamsters, and rats after parenteral administration of naphthalene. Lab Invest 1992;67(5):553–65.
- [13] Wang SZ, Rosenberger CL, Bao YX, Stark JM, Harrod KS. Clara cell secretory protein modulates lung inflammatory and immune responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Immunol 2003;171(2):1051–60.
- [14] Lakind JS, Holgate ST, Ownby DR, Mansur AH, Helms PJ, Pyatt D, et al. A critical review of the use of Clara cell secretory protein (CC16) as a biomarker of acute or chronic pulmonary effects. Biomarkers 2007;12(5):445–67.
- [15] Rock JR, Randell SH, Hogan BL. Airway basal stem cells: a perspective on their roles in epithelial homeostasis and remodeling. Dis Models Mech 2010;3(9–10):545–56.
- [16] Randell SH, Comment CE, Ramaekers FC, Nettesheim P. Properties of rat tracheal epithelial cells separated based on expression of cell surface alpha-galactosyl end groups. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991;4(6):544–54.
- [17] Rock JR, Onaitis MW, Rawlins EL, Lu Y, Clark CP, Xue Y, et al. Basal cells as stem cells of the mouse trachea and human airway epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106(31):12771–5.
- [18] O'Koren EG, Hogan BL, Gunn MD. Loss of basal cells precedes bronchiolitis obliterans-like pathological changes in a murine model of chlorine gas inhalation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2013;49(5):788–97.
- [19] Staudt MR, Buro-Auriemma LJ, Walters MS, Salit J, Vincent T, Shaykhiev R, et al. Airway basal stem/progenitor cells have diminished capacity to regenerate airway epithelium in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014;190(8):955–8.
- [20] Watson JK, Rulands S, Wilkinson AC, Wuidart A, Ousset M, Van Keymeulen A, et al. Clonal dynamics reveal two distinct populations of basal cells in slow-turnover airway epithelium. Cell Rep 2015;12(1):90–101.
- [21] Rawlins EL, Okubo T, Xue Y, Brass DM, Auten RL, Hasegawa H, et al. The role of Scgb1a1+ Clara cells in the long-term maintenance and repair of lung airway, but not alveolar, epithelium. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4(6):525–34.
- [22] Reynolds SD, Giangreco A, Power JH, Stripp BR. Neuroepithelial bodies of pulmonary airways serve as a reservoir of progenitor cells capable of epithelial regeneration. Am J Pathol 2000;156(1):269–78.
- [23] Hong KU, Reynolds SD, Giangreco A, Hurley CM, Stripp BR. Clara cell secretory protein-expressing cells of the airway neuroepithelial body microenvironment include a label-retaining subset and are critical for epithelial renewal after progenitor cell depletion. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2001;24(6):671–81.
- [24] Evans MJ, Cabral LJ, Stephens RJ, Freeman G. Renewal of alveolar epithelium in the rat following exposure to NO<sub>2</sub>. Am J Pathol 1973;70(2): 175–98.
- [25] Rock JR, Barkauskas CE, Cronce MJ, Xue Y, Harris JR, Liang J, et al. Multiple stromal populations contribute to pulmonary fibrosis without evidence for epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108(52):E1475–83.
- [26] Kim CF, Jackson EL, Woolfenden AE, Lawrence S, Babar I, Vogel S, et al. Identification of bronchioalveolar stem cells in normal lung and lung cancer. Cell 2005;121(6):823–35.
- [27] Barkauskas CE, Cronce MJ, Rackley CR, Bowie EJ, Keene DR, Stripp BR, et al. Type 2 alveolar cells are stem cells in adult lung. J Clin Invest 2013;123(7):3025–36.
- [28] Desai TJ, Brownfield DG, Krasnow MA. Alveolar progenitor and stem cells in lung development, renewal and cancer. Nature 2014; 507(7491):190-4.
- [29] Jain R, Barkauskas CE, Takeda N, Bowie EJ, Aghajanian H, Wang Q, et al. Plasticity of Hopx(+) type I alveolar cells to regenerate type II cells in the lung. Nat Commun 2015;6:6727.
- [30] Reagan MR, Kaplan DL. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cell tumor-homing: detection methods in disease model systems. Stem Cells 2011;29(6):920-7.
- [31] Downey GP, Doherty DE, Schwab 3rd B, Elson EL, Henson PM, Worthen GS. Retention of leukocytes in capillaries: role of cell size and deformability. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1990;69(5):1767–78.
- [32] Kotton DN, Fabian AJ, Mulligan RC. Failure of bone marrow to reconstitute lung epithelium. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2005;33(4):328-34.
- [33] Ohle SJ, Anandaiah A, Fabian AJ, Fine A, Kotton DN. Maintenance and repair of the lung endothelium does not involve contributions from marrow-derived endothelial precursor cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2012;47(1):11–9.

- [34] Hass R, Kasper C, Bohm S, Jacobs R. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal 2011;9:12.
- [35] Iyer SS, Rojas M. Anti-inflammatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells: novel concept for future therapies. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2008;8(5): 569–81.
- [36] Ortiz LA, Gambelli F, McBride C, Gaupp D, Baddoo M, Kaminski N, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell engraftment in lung is enhanced in response to bleomycin exposure and ameliorates its fibrotic effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(14):8407–11.
- [37] Rojas M, Xu J, Woods CR, Mora AL, Spears W, Roman J, et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in repair of the injured lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2005;33(2):145–52.
- [38] Chambers DC, Enever D, Ilic N, Sparks L, Whitelaw K, Ayres J, et al. A phase 1b study of placenta-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirology 2014;19(7):1013–8.
- [39] Walter J, Ware LB, Matthay MA. Mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms of potential therapeutic benefit in ARDS and sepsis. Lancet Respir Med 2014;2(12):1016–26.
- [40] McAuley DF, Curley GF, Hamid UI, Laffey JG, Abbott J, McKenna DH, et al. Clinical grade allogeneic human mesenchymal stem cells restore alveolar fluid clearance in human lungs rejected for transplantation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2014;306(9):L809–15.
- [41] Rosen C, Shezen E, Aronovich A, Klionsky YZ, Yaakov Y, Assayag M, et al. Preconditioning allows engraftment of mouse and human embryonic lung cells, enabling lung repair in mice. Nat Med 2015;21(8):869–79.
- [42] Zuo W, Zhang T, Wu DZ, Guan SP, Liew AA, Yamamoto Y, et al. p63(+)Krt5(+) distal airway stem cells are essential for lung regeneration. Nature 2015;517(7536):616–20.
- [43] Vaughan AE, Brumwell AN, Xi Y, Gotts JE, Brownfield DG, Treutlein B, et al. Lineage-negative progenitors mobilize to regenerate lung epithelium after major injury. Nature 2015;517(7536):621-5.
- [44] Samadikuchaksaraei A, Cohen S, Isaac K, Rippon HJ, Polak JM, Bielby RC, et al. Derivation of distal airway epithelium from human embryonic stem cells. Tissue Eng 2006;12(4):867–75.
- [45] Coraux C, Nawrocki-Raby B, Hinnrasky J, Kileztky C, Gaillard D, Dani C, et al. Embryonic stem cells generate airway epithelial tissue. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2005;32(2):87–92.
- [46] Van Vranken BE, Romanska HM, Polak JM, Rippon HJ, Shannon JM, Bishop AE. Coculture of embryonic stem cells with pulmonary mesenchyme: a microenvironment that promotes differentiation of pulmonary epithelium. Tissue Eng 2005;11(7–8):1177–87.
- [47] Kubo A, Shinozaki K, Shannon JM, Kouskoff V, Kennedy M, Woo S, et al. Development of definitive endoderm from embryonic stem cells in culture. Development 2004;131(7):1651–62.
- [48] Rippon HJ, Polak JM, Qin M, Bishop AE. Derivation of distal lung epithelial progenitors from murine embryonic stem cells using a novel three-step differentiation protocol. Stem Cells 2006;24(5):1389–98.
- [49] Green MD, Chen A, Nostro MC, d'Souza SL, Schaniel C, Lemischka IR, et al. Generation of anterior foregut endoderm from human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2011;29(3):267–72.
- [50] Longmire TA, Ikonomou L, Hawkins F, Christodoulou C, Cao Y, Jean JC, et al. Efficient derivation of purified lung and thyroid progenitors from embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(4):398–411.
- [51] Mou H, Zhao R, Sherwood R, Ahfeldt T, Lapey A, Wain J, et al. Generation of multipotent lung and airway progenitors from mouse ESCs and patient-specific cystic fibrosis iPSCs. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(4):385–97.
- [52] Huang SX, Green MD, de Carvalho AT, Mumau M, Chen YW, D'Souza SL, et al. The in vitro generation of lung and airway progenitor cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Protoc 2015;10(3):413–25.
- [53] Firth AL, Dargitz CT, Qualls SJ, Menon T, Wright R, Singer O, et al. Generation of multiciliated cells in functional airway epithelia from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111(17):E1723–30.
- [54] Firth AL, Menon T, Parker GS, Qualls SJ, Lewis BM, Ke E, et al. Functional gene correction for cystic fibrosis in lung epithelial cells generated from patient iPSCs. Cell Rep 2015;12(9):1385–90.
- [55] Crane AM, Kramer P, Bui JH, Chung WJ, Li XS, Gonzalez-Garay ML, et al. Targeted correction and restored function of the CFTR gene in cystic fibrosis induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep 2015;4(4):569–77.
- [56] Andrade CF, Wong AP, Waddell TK, Keshavjee S, Liu M. Cell-based tissue engineering for lung regeneration. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2007;292(2):L510–8.
- [57] Kojima K, Vacanti CA. Tissue engineering in the trachea. Anat Rec 2014;297(1):44-50.
- [58] Crowley C, Klanrit P, Butler CR, Varanou A, Plate M, Hynds RE, et al. Surface modification of a POSS-nanocomposite material to enhance cellular integration of a synthetic bioscaffold. Biomaterials 2016;83:283–93.
- [59] Bogan SL, Teoh GZ, Birchall MA. Tissue engineered airways: a prospects article. J Cell Biochem 2016;117(7):1497-505.
- [60] Badylak SF, Freytes DO, Gilbert TW. Extracellular matrix as a biological scaffold material: structure and function. Acta Biomater 2009;5(1): 1–13.
- [61] Ott HC, Matthiesen TS, Goh SK, Black LD, Kren SM, Netoff TI, et al. Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med 2008;14(2):213–21.
- [62] Price AP, England KA, Matson AM, Blazar BR, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A. Development of a decellularized lung bioreactor system for bioengineering the lung: the matrix reloaded. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(8):2581–91.
- [63] Petersen TH, Calle EA, Zhao L, Lee EJ, Gui L, Raredon MB, et al. Tissue-engineered lungs for in vivo implantation. Science 2010;329(5991): 538–41.
- [64] Ott HC, Clippinger B, Conrad C, Schuetz C, Pomerantseva I, Ikonomou L, et al. Regeneration and orthotopic transplantation of a bioartificial lung. Nat Med 2010;16(8):927–33.
- [65] Petersen TH, Calle EA, Colehour MB, Niklason LE. Matrix composition and mechanics of decellularized lung scaffolds. Cells Tissues Organs 2012;195(3):222–31.
- [66] Gilpin SE, Guyette JP, Gonzalez G, Ren X, Asara JM, Mathisen DJ, et al. Perfusion decellularization of human and porcine lungs: bringing the matrix to clinical scale. J Heart Lung Transplant 2014;33(3):298–308.
- [67] Melo E, Garreta E, Luque T, Cortiella J, Nichols J, Navajas D, et al. Effects of the decellularization method on the local stiffness of acellular lungs. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2014;20(5):412–22.

#### REFERENCES

- [68] Daly AB, Wallis JM, Borg ZD, Bonvillain RW, Deng B, Ballif BA, et al. Initial binding and recellularization of decellularized mouse lung scaffolds with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2012;18(1–2):1–16.
- [69] Guyette JP, Gilpin SE, Charest JM, Tapias LF, Ren X, Ott HC. Perfusion decellularization of whole organs. Nat Protoc 2014;9(6):1451-68.
- [70] Bonvillain RW, Danchuk S, Sullivan DE, Betancourt AM, Semon JA, Eagle ME, et al. A nonhuman primate model of lung regeneration: detergent-mediated decellularization and initial in vitro recellularization with mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2012; 18(23–24):2437–52.
- [71] Wagner DE, Bonvillain RW, Jensen T, Girard ED, Bunnell BA, Finck CM, et al. Can stem cells be used to generate new lungs? Ex vivo lung bioengineering with decellularized whole lung scaffolds. Respirology 2013;18(6):895–911.
- [72] Wagner DE, Bonenfant NR, Sokocevic D, DeSarno MJ, Borg ZD, Parsons CS, et al. Three-dimensional scaffolds of acellular human and porcine lungs for high throughput studies of lung disease and regeneration. Biomaterials 2014;35(9):2664–79.
- [73] Li Q, Uygun BE, Geerts S, Ozer S, Scalf M, Gilpin SE, et al. Proteomic analysis of naturally-sourced biological scaffolds. Biomaterials 2016;75: 37–46.
- [74] Hynes RO. The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. Science 2009;326(5957):1216-9.
- [75] Calle EA, Hill RC, Leiby KL, Le AV, Gard AL, Madri JA, et al. Targeted proteomics effectively quantifies differences between native lung and detergent-decellularized lung extracellular matrices. Acta Biomater 2016;46:91–100.
- [76] Burgess JK, Mauad T, Tjin G, Karlsson JC, Westergren-Thorsson G. The extracellular matrix the under-recognized element in lung disease? J Pathol 2016;240(4):397–409.
- [77] Parker MW, Rossi D, Peterson M, Smith K, Sikstrom K, White ES, et al. Fibrotic extracellular matrix activates a profibrotic positive feedback loop. J Clin Invest 2014;124(4):1622–35.
- [78] Booth AJ, Hadley R, Cornett AM, Dreffs AA, Matthes SA, Tsui JL, et al. Acellular normal and fibrotic human lung matrices as a culture system for in vitro investigation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012;186(9):866–76.
- [79] Sokocevic D, Bonenfant NR, Wagner DE, Borg ZD, Lathrop MJ, Lam YW, et al. The effect of age and emphysematous and fibrotic injury on the re-cellularization of de-cellularized lungs. Biomaterials 2013;34(13):3256–69.
- [80] Wagner DE, Bonenfant NR, Parsons CS, Sokocevic D, Brooks EM, Borg ZD, et al. Comparative decellularization and recellularization of normal versus emphysematous human lungs. Biomaterials 2014;35(10):3281–97.
- [81] Godin LM, Sandri BJ, Wagner DE, Meyer CM, Price AP, Akinnola I, et al. Decreased laminin expression by human lung epithelial cells and fibroblasts cultured in acellular lung scaffolds from aged mice. PLoS One 2016;11(3):e0150966.
- [82] Balestrini JL, Gard AL, Gerhold KA, Wilcox EC, Liu A, Schwan J, et al. Comparative biology of decellularized lung matrix: implications of species mismatch in regenerative medicine. Biomaterials 2016;102:220–30.
- [83] Mercer RR, Russell ML, Crapo JD. Alveolar septal structure in different species. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1994;77(3):1060-6.
- [84] Nguyen BN, Azimzadeh AM, Schroeder C, Buddensick T, Zhang T, Laaris A, et al. Absence of Gal epitope prolongs survival of swine lungs in an ex vivo model of hyperacute rejection. Xenotransplantation 2011;18(2):94–107.
- [85] Platz J, Bonenfant NR, Uhl FE, Coffey AL, McKnight T, Parsons C, et al. Comparative decellularization and recellularization of wild-type and alpha 1,3 galactosyltransferase knockout pig lungs: a model for ex vivo xenogeneic lung bioengineering and transplantation. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2016;22(8):725–39.
- [86] Jung JP, Bhuiyan DB, Ogle BM. Solid organ fabrication: comparison of decellularization to 3D bioprinting. Biomater Res 2016;20(1):27.
- [87] Srinivasan B, Kolli AR, Esch MB, Abaci HE, Shuler ML, Hickman JJ. TEER measurement techniques for in vitro barrier model systems. J Lab Autom 2015;20(2):107–26.
- [88] Tan Q, Choi KM, Sicard D, Tschumperlin DJ. Human airway organoid engineering as a step toward lung regeneration and disease modeling. Biomaterials 2017;113:118–32.
- [89] Mondrinos MJ, Jones PL, Finck CM, Lelkes PI. Engineering de novo assembly of fetal pulmonary organoids. Tissue Eng Part A 2014; 20(21–22):2892–907.
- [90] Dye BR, Hill DR, Ferguson MA, Tsai YH, Nagy MS, Dyal R, et al. In vitro generation of human pluripotent stem cell derived lung organoids. eLife 2015;4.
- [91] Dye BR, Dedhia PH, Miller AJ, Nagy MS, White ES, Shea LD, et al. A bioengineered niche promotes in vivo engraftment and maturation of pluripotent stem cell derived human lung organoids. eLife 2016;5.
- [92] Shojaie S, Ermini L, Ackerley C, Wang J, Chin S, Yeganeh B, et al. Acellular lung scaffolds direct differentiation of endoderm to functional airway epithelial cells: requirement of matrix-bound HS proteoglycans. Stem Cell Rep 2015;4(3):419–30.
- [93] Gilpin SE, Ren X, Okamoto T, Guyette JP, Mou H, Rajagopal J, et al. Enhanced lung epithelial specification of human induced pluripotent stem cells on decellularized lung matrix. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98(5):1721–9. Discussion 9.
- [94] Gilpin SE, Charest JM, Ren X, Tapias LF, Wu T, Evangelista-Leite D, et al. Regenerative potential of human airway stem cells in lung epithelial engineering. Biomaterials 2016;108:111-9.
- [95] Mou H, Vinarsky V, Tata PR, Brazauskas K, Choi SH, Crooke AK, et al. Dual SMAD signaling inhibition enables long-term expansion of diverse epithelial basal cells. Cell Stem Cell 2016;19(2):217–31.
- [96] Butler CR, Hynds RE, Gowers KH, Lee Ddo H, Brown JM, Crowley C, et al. Rapid expansion of human epithelial stem cells suitable for airway tissue engineering. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016;194(2):156–68.
- [97] Reeb J, Keshavjee S, Cypel M. Expanding the lung donor pool: advancements and emerging pathways. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2015; 20(5):498–505.
- [98] Cypel M, Liu M, Rubacha M, Yeung JC, Hirayama S, Anraku M, et al. Functional repair of human donor lungs by IL-10 gene therapy. Sci Transl Med 2009;1(4):4ra9.
- [99] Ren X, Moser PT, Gilpin SE, Okamoto T, Wu T, Tapias LF, et al. Engineering pulmonary vasculature in decellularized rat and human lungs. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33(10):1097–102.
- [100] Charest JM, Okamoto T, Kitano K, Yasuda A, Gilpin SE, Mathisen DJ, et al. Design and validation of a clinical-scale bioreactor for long-term isolated lung culture. Biomaterials 2015;52:79–87.
- [101] Petersen TH, Calle EA, Colehour MB, Niklason LE. Bioreactor for the long-term culture of lung tissue. Cell Transplant 2011;20(7):1117–26.
- [102] Panoskaltsis-Mortari A. Bioreactor development for lung tissue engineering. Curr Transplant Rep 2015;2(1):90-7.

- [103] Ye C, Bai L, Yan ZQ, Wang YH, Jiang ZL. Shear stress and vascular smooth muscle cells promote endothelial differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells via activation of Akt. Clin Biomech 2008;23(Suppl. 1):S118–24.
- [104] Waters CM, Roan E, Navajas D. Mechanobiology in lung epithelial cells: measurements, perturbations, and responses. Compr Physiol 2012; 2(1):1–29.
- [105] Ren X, Tapias LF, Jank BJ, Mathisen DJ, Lanuti M, Ott HC. Ex vivo non-invasive assessment of cell viability and proliferation in bioengineered whole organ constructs. Biomaterials 2015;52:103–12.

# Cardiac Tissue

# Serena Mandla<sup>1</sup>, Milica Radisic<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering and Applied Chemistry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Toronto General Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

# INTRODUCTION: FROM TISSUES TO ORGANS: KEY GOALS AND ISSUES

Nearly 8 million people in the United States have experienced a myocardial infarction (MI). Each year, 665,000 new cases occur [1]. MI results in the substantial death of cardiomyocytes in the infarct zone, followed by pathological remodeling of the heart. The remodeling process involves cardiac dilation, wall thinning, and severe deterioration of contractile function, leading to congestive heart failure in more than 900,000 patients each year in the United States [1]. Conventional therapies are limited by the substantial inability of myocardium to regenerate after injury [2] and the shortage of organs available for transplantation. This chapter will focus on describing approaches that have been considered as novel treatment options after MI [3].

Regardless of the approach to regenerative medicine or the scope of the application (a vascular graft, a pediatric valve, or an entire heart), there are three overlapping therapeutic goals: the three R's:

- Increase the safety of tissue and organ replacement and its effectiveness, and make it more widely available;
- Repair tissues and organs without having to replace them; and
- Enable tissues and organs to **regenerate** so that repair and regeneration become one and the same.

Furthermore, the problems of reaching these goals can be summarized (Table 61.1) in three categories (here largely in the context of tissue engineering) [4,5]:

- **Cell number**: What is the source of cells to be used and how will large numbers be generated? How will they be supplied with nutrients and oxygen (and have wastes removed) within a device of reasonable volume?
- **Cell function**: How will the scaffold, extracellular matrix (ECM), and diffusible factors interact to generate the desired cell phenotype? How will the engineered tissue or organ integrate with the host to ensure a functional outcome?
- **Cell durability**: What will happen over the long term as remodeling and/or the host immune or inflammatory system responds to the new tissue?

To replace, repair, or regenerate cardiovascular tissue, these central issues of regenerative medicine will need to be addressed. Some of these issues (Table 61.1) reflect the fundamental nature of how an organ is different from a tissue: the large size and three-dimensional (3D) structure, and the presence of multiple cell types that work in unison. A number of cell sources are available for cardiac tissue engineering, ranging from primary cardiac cells to stem cell differentiated cardiac cells. Advantages and disadvantages of cell sources are listed in Table 61.2. Beyond these largely scientific challenges, there are the no less critical, practical questions of manufacturing, sterilization, storage, and distribution, and the regulatory and public policy issues that will need to be addressed before such therapies can be made available to the patients who are expected to benefit. Furthermore, we will need new imaging or other noninvasive strategies to monitor the success (or not) of these therapies: i.e., to enable the translation into clinical practice.

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

TABLE 61.1	Critical Issues A	Associated	With	Tissue	Engineering a	Heart [5]
------------	-------------------	------------	------	--------	---------------	-----------

	Objective	Critical Issues
Cell number	<ul> <li>~300 g cells (3 × 10<sup>11</sup> cells)</li> <li>~200 mL O<sub>2</sub>/h<sup>a</sup></li> </ul>	<ul><li>Cell source/purity</li><li>Vascularization</li></ul>
Function	<ul> <li>Cellular phenotype (multiple cell types)</li> <li>Coordinated muscle contraction</li> <li>Pump blood</li> <li>Connect to circulation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Microenvironment (soluble and insoluble factors)</li> <li>Pacemaker and electrical conduction</li> <li>Valves and conduits</li> <li>Biomechanical elasticity and strength</li> <li>Nonthrombogenicity</li> </ul>
Durability	<ul><li>Fatigue resistance</li><li>Hypoxia and disease tolerance</li><li>Host tolerance</li></ul>	<ul><li>Biocompatibility</li><li>Remodeling</li><li>Innate/adaptive immune response</li></ul>
<ul> <li>Manufacturing and</li> </ul>	quality control	
■ Ethical, legal, and so	ocial issues	
<ul> <li>Imaging and noninv</li> </ul>	vasive diagnostics	

Regulatory and public policy issues

<sup>a</sup>Based on moderate activity [5a].

<b>TABLE 61.2</b>	Cell Sources for Cardiac	Tissue Engineering and Some of	Their Advantages and	Disadvantages [5]

Cell Sources	Advantages	Disadvantages
Adult cardiac cells	Target cell source	Little proliferative or developmental potential; limited resources
Fetal cardiac cells	Some proliferative potential, appropriate developmental potential; demonstrated efficacy	Limited resources; ethical considerations
Endothelial progenitor cells	Some proliferative potential; may elicit in vivo healing through indirect mechanisms	Appropriate developmental potential yet to be demonstrated; may not be appropriate for larger tissue replacement or in vitro tissue engineering
Adult bone marrow—derived cells	Significant in vitro proliferative potential; some demonstration of efficacy	Appropriate developmental potential to be demonstrated; safety tolerance after in vitro culture to be determined
Embryonic stem cells Induced pluripotent stem cells	Significant in vitro proliferative potential; demonstration of efficacy; appropriate developmental potential; sustainable resource	In vitro culture may introduce genetic changes; safety tolerance after in vitro culture and differentiation to be determined

# ENGINEERING OF CARDIAC PATCHES USING CELLS, SCAFFOLDS, AND BIOREACTORS

Whereas small infarcts may be treated with cell therapies, larger areas of damaged tissue may require replacement with a cardiac patch. The time after an infarction is critical in the success of any regeneration strategy. Upon MI, a vigorous inflammatory response is elicited and dead cells are removed by marrow-derived macro-phages. Over the subsequent weeks to months, fibroblasts (FBs) and endothelial cells (ECs) proliferate, forming granulation tissue and eventually a dense collagenous scar. Formation of scar tissue severely reduces the contractile function of the myocardium and leads to ventricle wall thinning and dilatation, remodeling, and ultimately heart failure. Thus, the best regeneration strategy depends on the length of time passed since the incidence of the infarction; i.e., new and old infarcts most likely cannot be treated using the same approach.

Cell injection strategies, will work best if applied shortly after MI. Application of cells and growth factors within hours and days after the MI has the potential to direct the wound repair process so that the minimum amount of scar tissue is formed, the contractile function is maintained in the border zone, and pathological remodeling is

attenuated. Tissue engineering strategies will work in the acute phase as well, but may be more necessary after a scar has formed. In these cases, larger areas of the heart must be replaced or augmented, and this is potentially where a scaffold-based approach may be most useful.

Scaffold-based therapy can be divided into two approaches: (1) a hydrogel, in which cells are either encapsulated and cultivated in vitro or injected directly into the MI area without preculture; or (2) porous and fibrous 3D scaffold, in which scaffolds are seeded with cells and in most cases cultivated in vitro before use as cardiac patches. Natural ECM may also serve as a scaffold. In addition, repair of the heart with biomaterials alone or constructs made by cell self-assembly has also been examined and performed.

Patients with large transmural akinetic scars often benefit from the Dor procedure (endoventricular circular patch plasty) [6,7]. In some cases, however, the success of this procedure is temporary, thus motivating the need for viable tissue patches. In this procedure, the scar tissue is excised and the ventricle is closed using a circular Dacron (polyethylene terephthalate) patch lined with endocardium.

In a pioneer study, Taylor and colleagues used the ECM of the native rat heart as a scaffold for cardiac tissue engineering [8]. This approach enabled them to preserve the underlying geometry and create an ideal natural template for tissue engineering of the heart (Fig. 61.1). The authors decellularized adult (12-week-old) cadaveric Fisher rat hearts by coronary perfusion with detergents (Fig. 61.1A). In addition to conserving the ECM, the vasculature was preserved and was perfusable (Fig. 61.1B). The structure of the ventricles, atria, and heart valves was also preserved. Cardiomyocytes were then isolated from neonatal rats and reseeded onto the structure. Vascular perfusion with the oxygenated media was provided via a peristaltic pump. In a subgroup of samples, rat aortic ECs were injected into the aorta to recellularize the vasculature. Macroscopic contractions were observed by day 4 of cultivation, whereas a pump function of about 2.4 mmHg was generated at day 8 under electrical



FIGURE 61.1 Native heart extracellular matrix can serve as a suitable substrate for tissue engineering of a whole heart. (A) Lowmagnification (upper row; scale bar = 1000 mm) and high-magnification views (lower row; scale bar = 250 mm) of coronary corrosion casts of cadaveric and decellularized whole adult rat hearts. (B) Upon heterotropic transplantation of the decellularized whole rat heart before (left), blood can be seen flowing through the preserved decellularized vascular structures shortly after unclamping of the host aorta (right) [8].

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

stimulation. Clearly, the performance was only a small fraction ( $\sim 2\%$ ) of the native heart; nonetheless, this was a milestone in cardiac tissue development.

In a similar approach, Guyette et al. decellularized human cadaveric hearts, leaving behind the ECM components [9]. The decellularized heart had with mechanical properties similar to those of the cadaver tissue. The remaining human cardiac matrix was perfused with induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived cardiomyocytes. After 14 days of culture, although it was immature, the repopulated human heart was metabolically active and responsive to electrical stimulation. Further work involving full recellularization of the myocardial matrix and valves, as well as long-term organ culture to assist in tissue maturation is required before this technique can be brought to the clinic; however, it serves as foundational work in the path to full organ regeneration and repair.

In cardiac tissue engineering approaches, most studies suggest that some type of scaffold, an inductive 3D matrix, is necessary to support the assembly of cardiac tissue in vitro. An important scaffold-free approach includes stacking confluent monolayers of cardiomyocytes [10]. Although cardiac patches obtained in this way generate a high active force, engineering patches more than two to three cell layers thick remains a problem. Shimizu and colleagues described a polysurgery approach in which vascularized cardiac grafts can be created by sequentially layering cell sheets in multiple surgeries spaced at 1- to 3-day intervals [11]. Although this approach demonstrates that thick tissues ( $\sim 1$  cm) can in principle be created from cell sheets, the approach will be difficult to implement in the clinical setting. Murry and colleagues managed to obtain a cardiac patch based on human embryonic stem cell (ESC)-derived cardiomyocytes by the self-assembly of isolated cells in orbitally mixed dishes [12], essentially creating cell aggregates that could be deployed as a patch.

The most important example of hydrogel-based cardiac tissue engineering includes the work of Eschenhagen and colleagues. Cardiomyocytes were cast in growth factor—supplemented collagen gels and cultivated in the presence of cyclic mechanical stretch [13–16]. The main advantage of the hydrogel approach is the higher active force generated by such cardiac tissues, compared with the force generated by tissues on porous or fibrous 3D scaffolds. In addition, collagen and laminin are the main components of the myocardial ECM; thus, they are supportive of cardiomyocyte attachment and elongation. However, the main challenge remains in tailoring the shape and dimensions of such tissues. One interesting approach to addressing this issue is the use of extruded collagen type I tubes [17].

The use of porous scaffolds is another popular approach employed in cardiac tissue engineering. 3D cardiac tissue constructs were successfully cultivated in dishes using a variety of scaffolds, among which collagen sponges were the most common. In the pioneering approach of Li and colleagues, fetal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes were expanded after isolation, inoculated into collagen sponges, and cultivated in static dishes for up to 4 weeks [18]. The cells proliferated with time in culture and expressed multiple sarcomeres. Adult human ventricular cells were used in a similar system, although they exhibited no proliferation [19]. In another study, fetal cardiac cells were cultivated on porous alginate scaffolds in static 96-well plates. After 4 days of culture, the cells formed spontaneously beating aggregates in the scaffold pores [20]. Cell seeding densities on the order of 10<sup>8</sup> cells/cm<sup>3</sup> were achieved in the alginate scaffolds using centrifugal forces during seeding [21]. Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes formed spontaneously contracting constructs when inoculated in collagen sponges (Tissue Fleece) within 36 h after seeding [22] and maintained activity for up to 12 weeks. The contractile force increased upon addition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and epinephrine.

In a classical tissue engineering approach, fibrous polyglycolic acid (PGA) scaffolds were combined with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and cultivated in spinner flasks and rotating vessels [23]. The scaffold was 97% porous and consisted of nonwoven PGA fibers 14 µm in diameter. This material has advantages from a clinical perspective because it is found in biodegradable sutures. Neonatal rat or embryonic chick ventricular myocytes were seeded onto PGA scaffolds by placing a dilute cell suspension in the spinner flasks and mixing for 3 days (50 rpm) [23]. Mixing in the spinner flasks (0, 50, or 90 rpm) had a significant effect on the construct metabolism and cellularity. Constructs cultivated in well-mixed flasks had a significantly higher cellularity index and metabolic activity compared with constructs cultivated in the static flasks. After 1 week of culture, constructs seeded with neonatal heart cells contained a peripheral tissue-like region (50–70 µm thick) in which cells stained positive for tropomyosin and organized in multiple layers in a 3D configuration [24]. Electrophysiological studies conducted using a linear array of extracellular electrodes showed that the peripheral layer of the constructs exhibited relatively homogeneous electrical properties and sustained macroscopically continuous impulse propagation on a centimeter-size scale [24]. Constructs based on the cardiomyocytes enriched by preparing in a well-mixed flask exhibited a lower excitation threshold (ET), higher conduction velocity, higher maximum capture

## 1076

#### ENGINEERING OF CARDIAC PATCHES USING CELLS, SCAFFOLDS, AND BIOREACTORS

rate (MCR), and higher maximum and average amplitude of contraction. Laminar flow conditions in rotating bioreactors further improved the PGA-based constructs. The cells in the peripheral layer expressed tropomyosin and had a spatial distribution of connexin-43 comparable to that of the neonatal rat ventricle. The expression levels of cardiac proteins connexin-43, creatine kinase-MM, and sarcomeric myosin heavy chain were lower in rotating bioreactor cultivated constructs compared with the neonatal rat ventricle but higher than in the spinner flask– cultivated constructs [25]. In both spinner flasks and rotating bioreactors, the center of the constructs was mostly acellular owing to the oxygen diffusional limitations.

Electrospun scaffolds have gained significant attention because they enable control over the structure at submicron levels as well as over mechanical properties, both of which are important for cell attachment and contractile function. Microsized to nanosized fibers are created by electrically charging a stream of polymer that is then collected as a network of fibers. Electrospun fibers have a 3D fibrous structure and a high surface area to volume ratio that allows them to mimic the native ECM closely [26]. Another attractive property of electrospinning is the ability to make both random and highly aligned fibers. In one study, random poly(glycerol-sebacate) (PGS) and gelatin composite fibers were fabricated by collecting the fibers from a charged stream of polymer on a glass slide on a collector plate, whereas aligned fibers were collected on aluminum parallel electrodes (Fig. 61.2A). The tunable fiber alignment was demonstrated with different PGS–gelatin ratios and the microstructure was able to direct neonatal rat cardiomyocyte alignment, thus demonstrating the relationship between scaffold structure and cell morphology (Fig. 61.2B). Furthermore, the different fiber alignment and compositions possessed different mechanical properties, which were further shown to influence the contractile behavior of the cells, which allowed them to conclude that softer, more aligned fiber mats resulted in more synchronous beating [27].

The electrospinning protocol has been optimized for a wide range of biomaterials. Entcheva and colleagues [28] used electrospinning to fabricate oriented biodegradable, nonwoven poly(lactide) (PLA) scaffolds. Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes cultivated on oriented PLA matrices had remarkably well-developed contractile apparatuses and exhibited electrical activity. In a study by Parker and colleagues, a method known as rotary jet spinning, which allows for the fabrication of highly aligned fibers, was optimized for a variety of biomaterials. The polymer is fed through a syringe pump and collected on a rotating cylindrical collector. The ease of fabrication and resulting aligned fibers make this technique promising [29,30].

One hurdle that must be overcome in the area of electrospun scaffolds is the transport of oxygen and nutrients. Hasirci and colleagues attempted to overcome this by wrapping a biodegradable polyester electrospun aligned mat around a porous biodegradable tube composed of poly(L,D-lactide)lactic acid—PGS (Fig. 61.2C). The mat was cultured with mesenchymal stem cells before formation of the vascular construct and the tubing was perfused with cell culture media. This preliminary study can be used to develop thicker patches that can be integrated later with the existing vasculature of the heart [31].

Another common cardiac tissue engineering technique is to combine the benefits of the naturally occurring ECM and the stability of a porous scaffold. Freed and colleagues reported on the mechanical stimulation of hybrid cardiac grafts based on knitted hyaluronic acid—based fabric and fibrin [32]. The grafts exhibited mechanical properties comparable to those of native neonatal rat hearts. In a subcutaneous rat implantation model, the constructs exhibited the presence of cardiomyocytes and blood vessel ingrowth after 3 weeks. Another group inoculated collagen sponges or synthetic PGS scaffolds using Matrigel with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes [33]. The main advantage of a collagen sponge is that it supports cell attachment and differentiation. However, the scaffold tends to swell when placed in culture medium; therefore, the creation of parallel channel arrays resembling a capillary network is difficult. For that purpose, a biodegradable elastomer [34] with a high degree of flexibility was used.

Cardiac patches based on synthetic scaffolds are becoming highly sophisticated. They are able to stimulate and record electrical activity of the cardiac tissues relying on built-in electrodes. Dvir and colleagues engineered an electronic cardiac patch composed of gold electrodes embedded in a thin SU-8 mesh. An electroactive polymer capable of releasing proteins or small molecules upon electrical stimulation was loaded onto select electrodes. This sensor was then deposited with electrospun polycaprolactone-gelatin fibers, thus creating an electrospun biomaterial-electrode patch (Fig. 61.2D). The patch was then seeded with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and cardiac FBs (Fig. 61.2E). They revealed that their device was able to support a homogeneous distribution of cells that interacted with the electronic fibers. Finally, an important function of an electronic patch is the ability to control the tissue remotely. Application of an electrical signal allowed the group to manipulate the direction of tissue contraction and propagation. Techniques that combine the fields of electronic sensors and biomaterials present an interesting approach in the attempt to develop, monitor, and control cardiac tissue [35].

61. CARDIAC TISSUE



FIGURE 61.2 Representative figure of electrospun patches in cardiac tissue engineering. (A) Scanning electron micrograph of random and aligned electrospun polymer mats composed of poly(glycerol-sebacate) (PGS) and gelatin [27]. (B) Immunostaining for sarcomeric α-actinin (*green*), Cx-43 (*red*) and 4',6-diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (*blue*) of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes seeded on the PGS–gelatin electrospun scaffolds in (A) [27]. (C) Scanning electron micrograph of an electrospun mat wrapped around a porous vascular tube [31]. (D) Electrospun polycaprolactone–gelatin fibers deposited on an electrode to form a biomaterial electronic hybrid [35]. (E) Image of a biomaterial electronic hybrid cultured for 7 days with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts [35].

# BIOPRINTING

3D bioprinting is a technique that has quickly gained popularity for its ability to create highly aligned tissues. Biopolymers can be encapsulated with cells and printed into lattice structures for the analysis for cardiac function. A technique that can potentially combine the advantages of the hydrogel approach with ease in tailoring tissue shape and size is inkjet printing. Cardiac constructs based on feline cardiomyocytes were created by printing cell

#### BIOPRINTING

coculture because it enables precise control over cell location in the tissue construct. Pati et al. developed a novel decellularized ECM bioink capable of printing various tissues. The ink, which consists of decellularized heart tissue, had a positive effect on cardiac tissue maturation. They demonstrated that there was an upregulation of fast myosin heavy chain and α-sarcomeric actinin compared with the control gel [37]. Alternatively, a gelatin-based bioink encapsulated with gold nanoparticles was developed by Zhu et al. (Fig. 61.3A). The conductive bioink was loaded with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and was printed into a lattice structure. The cardiac scaffolds showed synchronous beating as early as day 2 of culture. Immunostaining showed increased connexin-43 gap junction proteins and sarcomeric structures, which suggested that the conductive bioink aided in tissue maturation (Fig. 61.3B) [38].

Another bioprinting approach consists of printing a mosaic hydrogel sheet. The sheet is composed of alternating bioinks containing cells and can be printed in an aligned fashion to mimic the heart's structure (Fig. 61.3C). This method will allow for design in cell alignment as well as the controlled incorporation of other cell types. This method



FIGURE 61.3 Applications of bioprinting to create anisotropic and vascularized scaffolds. (A) Image of an extrusion needle printing a gold nanoparticle gelatin methacryloyl construct embedded with neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts [38]. (B) Immunostaining of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes embedded in a gold nanoparticle gelatin methacryloyl three-dimensionally (3D) bioprinted construct for sarcomeric  $\alpha$ -actinin (*green*), Cx-43 (*red*) and 4',6-diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (*blue*) [38]. (C) Schematic of a bioprinting approach that can be used to print a mosaic hydrogel sheet. Using microfluidics, a base polymer is extruded for a flat sheet. This method can be modified to print numerous polymer compositions simultaneously [39]. (D) Laser-induced forward-transfer cell printing capable of printing human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC)-laden patches [41]. (E) Immunostained vascularized patch stained for CD31 (*green*) and TO-PRO3 (*red*) [41].

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

is still fairly new; further optimization is required to increase the resolution. However, it presents a novel approach in the development of a full-sheet cardiac patch [39].

Incorporation of human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes into any cardiac platform is a desirable property; however, the shear stresses typically associated with bioprinting increase the complexity of such a task. Therefore, a method is needed that can accurately print a structure similar to the native ECM. Zhang and colleagues developed the method of multiphoton-excited 3D printing that enabled them to generate an ECM-mimicking construct. The scaffold was generated by depositing gelatin methacrylate in a grid-shaped pattern modeled after the native deposition of fibronectin. Human iPSCs were differentiated into cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, and ECs and seeded on the bioprinted scaffold. The bioprinted patches were then engrafted into a murine model of MI. The patch was shown to improve cardiac function of the treated animals; however, further work is required to confirm electrome-chanical integration of the patch [40].

In addition to creating biomimetic scaffolds, bioprinting can be used to create vascularized patches. The human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC)-laden patch was created through laser-induced forward-transfer cell printing (Fig. 61.3D). Briefly, HUVEC cells were seeded on a prepatterned polyurethane cardiac patch that was deposited onto a collector plate by short laser pulses (Fig. 61.3E). The patch was implanted in an MI rat model and rats with the HUVEC-laden patches showed significantly improved heart function. In addition, the vascularized patches resulted in a higher capillary density around the infarct area suggesting vascular integration [41].

Therefore, many techniques have arisen in the field of cardiac tissue engineering. Each technique has its own advantage and disadvantage, but there seems to be a general trend of increasing complexity in an effort model the native cardiac environment to more accurately.

# CARDIAC ORGANOIDS AND ORGAN-ON-A-CHIP ENGINEERING

Cardiac organoids, microphysiological systems, and organ-on-chip platforms have become popular for their ability to recapitulate properties found in the native tissue. These devices are sought as models in drug toxicity studies and disease modeling. In early work, contractile organoids 24 mm long and 100 µm thick were fabricated by self-organization [42]. Cardiomyocytes were cultivated on a polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) surface coated with laminin. As laminin degraded, the confluent monolayer detached from the periphery of the substrate, moving toward the center and wrapping around a string placed in the center of the plate until a cylindrical contractile organoid was formed.

A significant step toward a clinically useful cardiac patch was the cultivation of ESC-derived cardiomyocytes on thin polyurethane films. Cells exhibited cardiac markers (actinin) and were capable of synchronous macroscopic contractions [43]. The orientation and cell phenotype could be improved further by microcontact printing of ECM components (e.g., laminin), as demonstrated for neonatal rat cardiomyocytes cultivated on thin polyurethane and PLA films [44,45].

We have used microfluidic patterning of hyaluronic acid on glass substrates to create thin (10- to 15—µm-diameter), several millimeter—long cardiac organoids that exhibited spontaneous contractions and stained positive for troponin I, a cardiac marker [46].

Feinberg et al. seeded a layer of neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes on a PDMS membrane that could be detached from a thermosensitive poly(isopropylacrylamide) layer at room temperature. Called muscular thin films, these cell-covered sheets could be designed to perform tasks such as gripping, pumping, walking, and swimming by careful tailoring of the tissue architecture, thin-film shape, and electrical-pacing protocol [47].

Scaffold structure can be used to guide the orientation of cardiomyocytes effectively and yield an anisotropic structure similar to the native myocardium even in the absence of specific physical cues such as electrical or mechanical stimulation. Freed and colleagues created an accordion-like scaffold using laser boring of a 250- $\mu$ m-thick PGS layer [48]. The accordion-like honeycomb was designed by overlapping two 200 × 200- $\mu$ m squares at an angle of 45 degrees. The pore walls and struts were about 50  $\mu$ m thick. The scaffolds were pretreated with cardiac FBs followed by the seeding of enriched cardiomyocytes. During pretreatment, rotating culture was used, whereas static culture was used upon cardiomyocyte seeding. At the end of cultivation, the authors obtained contractile cardiac grafts with mechanical properties closely resembling those of the native rat right ventricle. In addition, the cells in the pores were aligned along the preferred direction.

#### CARDIAC ORGANOIDS AND ORGAN-ON-A-CHIP ENGINEERING

Badie et al. investigated yet another method to replicate the microstructure of heart tissue in vitro. The two-step method first involves imaging the heart using diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging (DTMRI). From the 3D reconstructed image, a specific 2D plane is chosen and the cardiac fiber directions on this plane are converted into soft-lithography photomasks, and later into fibronectin-coated PDMS sheets. Fibronectin patterns consisted of a matrix of  $190-\mu m^2$  subregions, each composed of parallel lines  $11-20 \mu m$  wide, spaced  $2-8.5 \mu m$  apart, and angled to match local DTMRI-measured fiber directions. By adjusting fibronectin line widths and spacing, cell elongation, gap junctional membrane distribution, and local cellular disarray were altered without affecting the cell direction. This approach enabled the systematic studies of intramural structure–function relationships in both healthy and structurally remodeled hearts [49,50].

Bursac and colleagues developed a cell—fibrin hydrogel micromolding approach in which PDMS molds containing an array of elongated posts were used to fabricate relatively large neonatal rat skeletal muscle tissue networks. As the cells compacted in the hydrogel, the presence of high—aspect ratio posts forced them to elongate and align, thus imparting a high degree of anisotropy to the cells and the tissue. This approach is being extended to the cultivation of cardiac patches based on mouse ESC-derived progenitor cells [51,52].

Interestingly, a high degree of anisotropy correlating with the high propagation velocities in the longitudinal direction ( $\sim$ 35 cm/s) was achieved by cultivation of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes of micromolded poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels with submicrometer features, specifically alternating 800 × 800-nm grooves and ridges. The submicrometer features forced the cells to align focal adhesions along the groove and ridge direction and the cytoskeleton followed [53].

Typical culture platforms are limited in their ability to develop mature tissue, because iPSC/ESC-derived cardiomyocytes are immature after differentiation, and therefore are limited in their ability to truly model the cardiac environment. Another prominent heart-on-a-chip cardiac model is called the Biowire (Fig. 61.4A). The Biowire platform combines electrical and architectural cues, thus creating a microenvironment capable of fostering mature cardiac tissue. The platform consists of human ESC (hESC)-derived cardiomyocytes seeded in a collagen gel around a surgical suture, which is embedded in a PDMS template. Throughout culture, the cardiomyocytes and collagen gel compacted around the wire, forming a dense tissue. The tissue was electrically stimulated for 7 days and had highly organized sarcomeric banding, which suggested maturation of the tissue (Fig. 61.4B). Stimulation during culture was also shown to improve  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and the electrophysiological properties, which further supported the hypothesis of improved tissue maturation upon electrical stimulation. Future iterations of the model should support the use of vascular cells to aid in oxygen and nutrient diffusion [54]. The platform was later modified to support seeding around a polytetrafluoroethylene tube. The tubing can be perfused with various drugs and the surrounding tissue can be monitored to test for cardiotoxicity [55].

Cardiac organoids and organ-on-a-chip devices can also be used for disease modeling applications. A model aims to study diseased myocardium by creating arrays of ventricular tissue subjected to cyclic stress. Their goal was to induce diseased and failing myocardium by mimicking mechanical overload. The chip consisted of flexible micro-patterned substrates placed inside a chamber ring that stretched the samples to 10% strain by a custom system. The group found that they were able to induce myocardium failure by studying genetic, structural, and function response, suggesting a novel platform to study the response of diseased tissue. In future studies, they hope to extend the platform to include drug toxicity testing [56].

Another model attempts to reproduce the hallmarks of cardiomyopathy associated with the mitochondrial disease Barth syndrome. Barth syndrome is the result of a gene mutation that results in abnormalities in the sarcomeric assembly and contraction of the heart. Using iPSCs from patients with Barth syndrome, cells were seeded onto micropatterned fibronectin sheets to examine sarcomeric organization. The sarcomeric structure of the Barth syndrome cells was incomplete and sparse compared with healthy control cells. This allowed the group to confirm that sarcomeric organization depends on proper functioning of the mitochondria. To characterize the contractile response of the tissue, the cells were integrated into their heart-on-a-chip model, which consists of a flexible PDMS cantilever; this allowed the researchers to confirm impaired cell contractility (Fig. 61.4C). Once validated, the model was used to evaluate the effect of possible therapies, thus proving the effectiveness and need of disease models for therapeutic testing [57].

In another effort to model dilated cardiomyopathy, Chen and colleagues attempted to determine how a genetic mutation affects the sarcomeric protein, titin. Human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes were seeded onto microarray post detectors, which allow for robust observation of contractile activity. Unsurprisingly, sarcomeres were not

61. CARDIAC TISSUE



**FIGURE 61.4 Cardiac organoids and heart-on-a-chip engineering.** (A) Microscopic image of a heart-on-a-chip platform called the Biowire showing the contraction of human embryonic stem cell (ESC)-derived cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts contracting over 7 days [54]. (B) Immunostaining of human ESC-derived cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts after 7 days of electrical stimulation at 6 Hz showing strong cardiac specific marker expression and sarcomeric formation [54]. (C) Organ-on-a-chip cantilever platform used to model Barth syndrome, a mitochondrial disease (bottom). The platform is patterned with fibronectin lines to allow for anisotropic organization. Sample has been immunostained for sarcomeric  $\alpha$ -actinin (*white*) and 4',6-diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (*blue*) [57]. (D) An approach using three-dimensional (3D) printing to develop a mold modeled after the left ventricle. The mold is injected with chitosan and lyophilized before seeding. Immunostaining (right) shows poor spreading and clustering of cells. Sarcomeric  $\alpha$ -actinin (*green*), and DAPI (*blue*) [62,63].

only shorter but more disorganized in titin-deficient samples. Furthermore, the model was used to identify other missense variances that resulted in a mutated titin protein. This approach can be used for further gene expression modification of not only titin but also other cardiac proteins to model various diseases [58].

A universally accepted cardiac model cultured in serum-free media is necessary in the field for disease modeling and the pharmaceutical industry. Zimmermann and colleagues developed a proof-of-concept system that could be scaled up and used in applications ranging from disease modeling to a cardiac patch. Using a 1:1 ratio of human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes and nonmyocytes, the cells are seeded around a cantilever post structure. The cells are cultured in serum-free media, thus complying with Current Good Manufacturing Practice standards. This platform was found to foster the maturation of the cells better as opposed to a conventional monolayer. Finally, in an effort to demonstrate the scalability of the platform, the cardiomyocytes and nonmyocytes were seeded around a custom array of posts. The array of posts supported the formation of a functional tissue sheet that, when sutured over the epicardium of a rat heart, exhibited signs of vascularization. Such a platform, as described earlier, should be taken only as a proof-of-concept model. Further work is required to develop standardized models that support disease modeling and tissue repair [59].

One major limitation to heart-on-a-chip platforms is evaluation of tissue functionality, because a main means of measuring tissue response is by microscopy and measuring the amplitude and frequency of the beating tissue. An alternative approach consists of combining sensors in the microphysiological system for continuous monitoring. Lind et al. combined 3D printing and microphysiological systems to develop a platform capable of tissue contractile stress. They developed six inks based on piezoresistive, high-conductance, and biocompatible soft materials. This chip, which is printed using these materials, consists of a cantilever system with micropatterns on top to direct cell alignment. The microphysiological system provided long-term, continuous data acquisition, thus proving its usefulness for drug studies [60].

# ENGINEERING THE ENTIRE VENTRICLE

Using a collagen-based hydrogel, Lee et al. developed an in vitro ventricle chamber. Briefly, isolated neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were suspended in collagen and pipetted into a cup-shaped mold around a balloon catheter. After collagen gel polymerization, the organoid was cultured in cell media until testing. Their approach allowed them to create a 3D cardiac encapsulated ventricle chamber that was able to contract spontaneously and expel a measurable volume. However, they noted that the cells maintained an immature and random orientation, unlike the aligned anisotropy found in native heart tissue [61].

Another cardiac ventricle, developed by Patel et al., consists of a ventricle-shaped chitosan tissue formed by freezing chitosan in a 3D printed computer-aided design (CAD) model of the left ventricle (Fig. 61.4D). The chitosan was then lyophilized and rehydrated before seeding. Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were injected intermittently throughout the scaffold and a cardiac seeded patch was wrapped around the outside. However, there are considerable differences between the scaffolds and the CAD models, and the injected cells remained in clusters and failed to spread throughout the scaffold. Further work is required before the platform can be used to examine the pressure–volume response of the cardiac ventricle [62,63].

# **BIOREACTORS AND CONDITIONING**

Major efforts in the development of bioreactors for tissue engineering of myocardium focus on (1) providing sufficient oxygen supply for the highly metabolically active cardiomyocytes, and (2) providing appropriate physical stimuli necessary to reproduce a complex structure at various length scales (subcellular to tissue).

The most common culture vessels used for tissue engineering of the myocardium include static or mixed dishes, static or mixed flasks, and rotating vessels. These bioreactors offer three distinct flow conditions (static, turbulent, and laminar) and therefore differ significantly in the rate of oxygen supply to the surface of the tissue construct. Oxygen transport is an important factor for myocardial tissue engineering owing to the high cell density, limited cell proliferation, and low tolerance of cardiac myocytes for hypoxia. In all configurations, oxygen is supplied only by diffusion from the surface to the interior of the tissue construct, yielding an approximately 100-µm-thick surface layer of compact tissue capable of electrical signal propagation and an acellular interior [64].

# Oxygen Supply

In an attempt to enhance mass transport within cultured constructs, a perfusion bioreactor that provides interstitial medium flow through the cultured construct at velocities similar to those found in the native myocardium ( $\sim 400-500 \mu m/s$ ) was developed [65]. In such a system oxygen and nutrients were supplied to the construct interior by both diffusion and convection (Fig. 61.5A). Interstitial flow of culture medium through the central 5 mm–diameter × 1.5 mm–thick region resulted in physiologic dense, viable, differentiated, and aerobically metabolizing cells. In response to electrical stimulation, perfused constructs contracted synchronously, had a lower ET, and recovered their baseline function levels of ET and MCR after treatment with a gap junctional blocker. On the other hand, dish-grown constructs exhibited arrhythmic contractile patterns and failed to recover their baseline MCR levels. These studies suggested that the immediate establishment and maintenance of interstitial medium flow markedly enhanced the control of oxygen supply to the cells and thereby enabled engineering of compact constructs. However, most cells in perfused constructs were round and mononucleated, indicating that some of the regulatory signals (either molecular or physical) were not present in the culture environment.

In another approach, a separate compartment for medium flow was created by perfusing channeled scaffolds in a configuration resembling the capillary network in vivo. Neonatal rat heart cells were inoculated into the pores of an elastic, highly porous scaffold (PGS) with a parallel channel array and perfused with a synthetic oxygen carrier (Oxygent in culture medium, perfluorocarbon [PFC] emulsion) [33]. Constructs cultivated with PFC emulsion had significantly higher DNA content, significantly lower ET, and a higher relative presence of cardiac markers troponin I and connexin-43 (Western blot) compared with the culture medium alone. Cells were present throughout the construct volume. In this configuration, the presence of PFC emulsion further enhanced the



FIGURE 61.5 Cardiac tissue engineering culture systems. (A) Direct culture medium perfusion of constructs based on neonatal rat cardiomyocytes inoculated into collagen sponges using Matrigel. Medium perfusion resulted in uniform cell distribution and maintenance of cell viability. Immunohistochemical staining illustrated cross-sectional distribution of cells expressing cardiac troponin I [73]. (B) Bioreactor designed to stimulate the sample. Immunostaining for sarcomeric α-actinin (*green*), Cx-43 (red), and 4',6-diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (*blue*) reveals elongated sarcomeric structures and expression of Cx-43 similar to the native adult myocardium [76]. (C) Hybrid bioreactor designed to electrically stimulate the samples and subject the constructs to a flow rate of 0.1 mm/s. The stimulated samples were more elongated and had a stronger expression of troponin I (green) [77].

oxygen supply to the cells by improving both axial (convective term) and radial (effective diffusivity) transport properties [64].

Kofidis et al. supplied pulsatile flow to cardiomyocytes encapsulated in fibrin glue around a rat artery in vitro [66]. Dvir et al. designed a novel perfusion bioreactor that employs a distributing mesh upstream from the construct to provide homogeneous fluid flow and maximum exposure to perfusing medium [67]. This convective supply of oxygen led to increased cell viability in alginate scaffolds seeded with physiologically relevant cells [67]. In addition, pulsatile culture medium flow resulted in physiological cardiac hypertrophy via stimulation of the Erk pathway [67,68]. We combined mechanical stimulation and perfusion in a single system by using a normally closed pinch valve at the outlet from the perfusion chamber. The valve was set to open at the frequency of 1 Hz. The buildup of the culture medium during the closed period resulted in tissue compression followed by relaxation at the valve opening [69].

# Differentiation

## **Mechanical Stimulation**

One significant approach to cardiac tissue engineering, established by Eschenhagen and colleagues [13,14,16,70], involves cultivating neonatal rat heart cells in collagen gel or Matrigel in the presence of growth factors. The cultured tissues are subjected to sustained mechanical strain. Under these conditions, cardiomyocytes and nonmyocytes form 3D cardiac organoids, consisting of a well-organized and highly differentiated cardiac muscle syncytium that exhibited contractile and electrophysiological properties of working myocardium. First

implantation experiments in healthy rats showed survival, strong vascularization, and signs of terminal differentiation of cardiac tissue grafts [15].

In the state-of-the art approach by Eschenhagen and colleagues, neonatal rat cardiac cells were suspended in the collagen–Matrigel mixture and cast into circular molds [16]. After 7 days of static culture, the strips of cardiac tissue were placed around two rods of a custom-made mechanical stretcher and subjected to either unidirectional or cyclic stretch. Histology and immunohistochemistry revealed the formation of intensively interconnected, longitudinally oriented cardiac muscle bundles with morphological features resembling adult rather than immature native tissue. Primitive capillary structures were also detected. Cardiomyocytes exhibited well-developed ultrastructural features: sarcomeres arranged in myofibrils, with well-developed Z, I, A H and M bands, specialized cell– cell junctions, T tubules, as well as well-developed basement membranes. Contractile properties were similar to those measured for native tissue, with a high ratio of twitch to resting tension and strong  $\beta$ -adrenergic response. The action potential characteristics of rat ventricular myocytes were recorded.

Another way mechanical stimulation assists in tissue maturation is through improved orientation of gap junction proteins. Connexin 43 is a gap junction protein specific to cardiac tissue and is responsible for intercellular communication. In a study led by Dhein and colleagues, neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were cultured on silicon membranes that were subjected to uniaxial cyclic stretch for 24 h. The samples were stained for connexin-43 and other cardiac markers and the cells exposed to the mechanical stretch were elongated in morphology. Connexin 43 was found to be polarized transversely in the direction of cyclic stress [71].

#### **Electrical Stimulation**

In the native heart, mechanical stretch is induced by electrical signals. Contraction of the cardiac muscle is driven by the waves of electrical excitation (generated by pacing cells) that spread rapidly along the membranes of adjoining cardiac myocytes and trigger the release of calcium, which in turn stimulates contraction of the myofibrils. Electromechanical coupling of myocytes is crucial for their synchronous response to electrical pacing signals, resulting in contractile function and pumping of blood [72].

We prepared cardiac constructs by seeding collagen sponges with neonatal rat ventricular cells that were electrically stimulated using suprathreshold square biphasic pulses (2 ms in duration, 1 Hz, 5 V) [73]. The stimulation was initiated after 1–5 days of scaffold seeding (a 3-day period was optimal) and applied for up to 8 days. Over only 8 days in vitro, electrical field stimulation induced cell alignment and coupling, increased the amplitude of synchronous construct contractions by a factor of seven, and resulted in a remarkable level of ultrastructural organization. The development of conductive and contractile properties of the cardiac constructs was concurrent, with a strong dependence on the initiation and duration of the electrical stimulation. Aligned myofibers expressing cardiac markers were present in stimulated samples and neonatal heart. Stimulated samples had sarcomeres with clearly visible M and Z lines, and H, I, and A bands. In most cells, Z lines were aligned and the intercalated discs were positioned between two Z lines. Mitochondria (between myofibrils) and abundant glycogen were detected. In contrast, nonstimulated constructs had poorly developed cardiac-specific organelles and poor organization of ultrastructural features.

Subsequently, we applied biphasic electrical stimulation to mimic conditions in the heart further and demonstrated that electrical stimulation enhances the assembly of cardiac organoids based on multiple cell types, including FBs, ECs, and cardiomyocytes [74]. We also developed cardiac microchips that combine electrical field stimulation and topographical cues. Specifically, micrometer-sized grooves and ridges were created by hot-embossing polystyrene placed between gold electrodes on a single chip. Simultaneous application of topographical cues and electrical field stimulation resulted in a remarkable level of cardiomyocyte alignment, elongation, and assembly of contractile apparatus [75].

Further applying this work, Hitchcock and colleagues used electrical stimulation to engineer mature cardiac tissue, similar to a native phenotype. In the native heart myocardium, connexin-43 is concentrated at the end of cells; however, in unstimulated heart myocardium, connexin-43 is typically sporadically expressed, thus providing motivation for electrical stimulation. The authors developed a specialized bioreactor in which neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were seeded around two posts to form an engineering cardiac tissue fiber (Fig. 61.5B). After 3 days of culture, the samples were electrically stimulated by carbon electrodes. The group found that the stimulated samples were more elongated and had a stronger expression of sarcomeric structures, which was similar in morphology to the native heart myocardium. Connexin 43 expression was found to be significantly

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

increased in the stimulated sample compared with the unstimulated one and was expressed at levels similar to native adult myocardium [76].

In an attempt to mimic adult native myocardium more accurately, more complex bioreactors are being developed to stimulate the tissue. A combination bioreactor designed to stimulate electrically and provide biomimetic perfusion rates was developed by Vunjak-Novakovic and colleagues (Fig. 61.5C). Neonatal rat cardiomyocyte tissue constructs were subjected to a flow velocity of 0.1 mm/s and were stimulated with a 3-Hz monophasic square wave. The stimulated samples were the most abundant and were more elongated compared with unstimulated samples. A limitation of the study was the spread of neonatal cardiomyocytes. The group used PGS for the tissue scaffold, which does not readily support cell attachment. As a result, the cells appeared to cluster on the tissue. However, this study serves as an example of the advantages of mimicking environmental cues in cardiac tissue engineering [77].

Hence, the in vitro application of a single but important in vivo factor progressively enhanced the functional tissue assembly and improved the properties of engineered myocardium at the cellular, ultrastructural, and tissue levels.

# TISSUE AND ORGAN FUNCTION

Successful implantation of engineered tissues requires both maintenance of the cellular phenotype and the functional integration of the construct within the host tissue. As progress is made from the state of the art described earlier to the final goal, it will be necessary to ensure that engineered cardiac cells and tissue contract in unison with the surrounding native myocardium to produce the desired force, but also that the graft is electrically integrated with the host to prevent arrhythmogenesis.

Underlying such integration and the implicit control of the construct phenotype is the creation of arborized networks (vessels, lymphatics, and nerves) needed to sustain large and complex tissue structures. Then there are issues associated with blood compatibility, tissue remodeling, and more generally immune and inflammatory responses to the new tissue or cells. Using autologous cells is an approach that is immunologically preferable, but it likely precludes the "off-the-shelf" concept behind much of the attraction of tissue engineering.

## Mechanical Elasticity and Strength Development

A critical feature of a heart is its mechanical characteristics. Simply speaking, the heart must pump blood at a mean pressure of roughly 100 mmHg. Hence, heart muscle must stretch in response to capillary filling pressure and eject a volume of blood that varies with demand. The latter requires a uniform and well-coordinated contraction that generates the required power. The mechanical fatigue limitations of a heart that must beat  $3 \times 10^8$  times over 10 years must be compared with the flexural fatigue life of synthetic elastomeric materials that are typically much lower.

It will be a significant challenge to replicate the complex architecture of the myocardium and its nonlinear viscoelastic properties in both resting and activated states [78]. Although some constructs exhibit a significant burst strength and some groups are advanced in the use of the tools of biomechanics to advance vascular graft [79] or heart valve development, this area has received less attention than it deserves [80].

# **Tissue Architecture and Electrical Conduction**

The complexity of the electrical conduction pathways in the heart is just starting to gain attention in tissue engineering literature. The cells need to form the appropriate intercellular connections and matrix arrangements to enable the directed beating of contracting cells to generate the forces required to pump blood [81]. The proper formation of the intercalated disks between myocytes is also critical in enabling electrical pulses to be transmitted in the correct direction at normal speeds and in allowing suitable force transmission. The heart also contains specialized cells that participate in the electrical conduction routes found throughout the heart. These specialized cells are crucial to coordinating the heart's contractile effort; including them in the proper places in a regenerated substitute may be critical. There are clear differences between the rhythmic twitching of cultured cardiac cells en mass and the

#### TISSUE AND ORGAN FUNCTION

organized, efficient, regulated beating of the heart; only the latter will generate the force required to pump blood at systolic pressure levels. It is not difficult to envision the problems yet to be faced. Given the variety of electrical conduction—related diseases in a normal myocardium, there is good reason to suspect that simple mimicry of heart muscle may fall short of the goal. The protocol for directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells, specifically hESCs and iPSCs, has sufficiently advanced to enable differentiation of preferentially ventricular cells [82] as well as more specialized cells of the conduction system, e.g., sinoatrial nodal cardiomyocytes [83]. These advances are paving the way to engineering cardiac tissues with specialized cardiomyocyte subtypes to reproduce the complexity of the native tissue composition.

## Thrombogenicity and Endothelialization

The need for blood compatibility is another crucial characteristic of cardiovascular constructs. All biomaterials lack the desired nonthrombogenicity and most ECMs initiate thrombosis; hence, endothelialization of the construct is another critical issue. ECs have a reversible plasticity [84–86] and can become activated (proliferative or adhesive to leukocytes) upon exposure to inflammatory cytokines (e.g., interleukin-1 [IL-1], tumor necrosis factor [TNF]) or to growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Flow and the associated shear stress, normally in the range of 5–20 dyn/cm<sup>2</sup>, elongate and align cells in the direction of flow [87,88] and modify gene expression [89] as well as many other functions including markers of antithrombogenicity.

ECs provide a hemocompatible surface by producing molecules that modulate platelet aggregation (e.g., prostacyclin), coagulation (thrombomodulin [90,91]), and fibrinolysis [92] (e.g., tissue plasminogen activator). They can be transformed into a prothrombotic surface: for example, by the action of thrombin or through exposure to some biomaterials [93–96]. Blood compatibility has been an important issue in the development of vascular grafts. Clinical success [97] has renewed enthusiasm for seeding grafts with ECs. In some protocols, many of the preseeded cells are lost upon implantation owing to insufficient adhesion [98], and thus protection from thrombosis provided by the cells is limited because of incomplete cell coverage. The potential to exploit the presence of circulating EC progenitors has only begun to be explored [99].

It is also worth noting the effects of the endothelium on the neighboring tissue and the corresponding effects on EC phenotype. With vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), this bidirectional cross-talk is thought to be a critical regulator of vascular homeostasis [100]: Secretion and expression of molecules such as nitric oxide [101], prostacyclin [102], and endothelin [103] act on VSMCs to regulate vessel tone. Meanwhile, VSMCs inhibit EC endothelin 1 production to increase EC nitric oxide and endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression [104]. Many other relevant systems (e.g., matrix metalloproteinase [MMP] secretion and matrix remodeling) are also affected by the interactions between EC and other cell types. Moreover, VEGF inhibits pericyte coverage under conditions of PDGF-mediated angiogenesis [105], complicating vascularization strategies built around VEGF delivery (see subsequent discussion).

# Vascularization

The intrinsic nature of large cell-based constructs and the corresponding difficulty of supplying cells deep within the construct with nutrients are yet other problems. Diffusion is fine for 100  $\mu$ m or so and low cell densities can extend this limit, but at the cost of making constructs too large to be useful. Thin or essentially 2D constructs (e.g., a tube) are feasible without an internal blood or nutrient supply. However, it is hard to combine cells at tissue densities (>10<sup>8</sup> cells/cm<sup>3</sup>) into large tissues without some sort of prevascularization or its alternative. Thus, a capillary network (and a lymphatic network) needs to be "engineered" as part of the creation of a larger structure.

In a cell-free approach, vascularization and improvement of left ventricular (LV) function after MI were achieved by the sustained release of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) incorporated into gelatin microspheres [106], acidic fibroblast growth factor (FGF) from ethylene vinyl acetate copolymer [107], and bFGF from heparinalginate beads [108]. Mooney and colleagues incorporated an endothelial cell mitogen (VEGF) into 3D porous poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) scaffolds during fabrication [109] to promote scaffold vascularization. Sustained delivery of bioactive VEGF translated into a significant increase in blood vessel ingrowth in mice and the vessels appeared to integrate with the host vasculature. We use microencapsulated VEGF<sub>165</sub>-secreting cells (prepared

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

by transfection of L929 cells) as a means of exploring this strategy, at least for microcapsules [110]. Of course, VEGF is but one angiogenic factor [111] and issues associated with the functional maturity of the vessels and the need for multiple factors may limit this strategy. In a third approach, Vacanti et al. micromachined a hierarchical branched network mimicking the vascular system in 2D. Silicon and Pyrex surfaces were etched with branching channels ranging from 500 to 10 µm in diameter [112] that were then seeded with rat hepatocytes and microvascular ECs.

We covalently immobilized VEGF165 and angiopoietin-1 to porous collagen scaffolds to enhance scaffold vascularization in vitro and in vivo [113]. Such covalent immobilization offers the advantages of prolonged signaling and lowers the total amount of growth factors required; it also offers the possibility of generating capillary-like structures in the tissue engineered scaffolds in vitro.

A prevascularized skeletal muscle was created [114] by coculturing skeletal muscle cells with ESC-derived EC and FBs. It appeared that up to 40% of the engineered blood vessels "connected" to the host vasculature upon implantation in this small-animal model. Finally, we adapted endothelial seeding in a modular approach to create scalable and vascularized tissue constructs. ECs were seeded onto submillimeter-sized collagen gel cylindrical modules that contained a second cell (e.g., hepatoma G2, smooth muscle cells, or [most relevant here], cardiomyo-cytes) [115]. With a view to creating uniform, scalable, and vascularized constructs, these modules were packed into a larger tube, formed into a sheet, or implanted directly with interconnected channels lined with ECs resulting from the random assembly of the modules. These channels connected with the host vasculature in vivo [116], creating a perfusable chimeric vasculature containing both host and donor cells and with host smooth muscle cell involvement. Embedded cardiomyocytes formed "contractile" structures near the periphery of modules, although the density of such structures was relatively low [115]. Remodeling occurred in vivo (after periinfarct injection or use as a patch), resulting in a well-distributed microvasculature (after 2 or 3 weeks in syngeneic animals), but the distribution of cardiac structures was relatively low.

Tissue vascularization is an enduring challenge in the field of tissue engineering and numerous approaches have been devised to tackle it. Advances in microfabrication techniques provided us with increasing control over the spatial arrangement of cells when creating a 3D functional tissue. Building on this progress, we developed a 3D stamping technique based on conventional soft-lithography, which allowed us to pattern thin sheets of synthetic biodegradable polymers and stack them to form a scaffold with a built-in intricate microchannel network mimicking the native blood vessels. The scaffold (referred to as AngioChip) was subsequently populated with ECs within the microchannels and parenchymal cells in the surrounding matrix (Fig. 61.6A) [117]. The stable synthetic scaffold structure supports extensive tissue remodeling, resulting in a free-contracting cardiac muscle and a metabolically functional liver embedded with an internal perfusable vascular network (Fig. 61.6B). The built-in blood vessels were shown to be mechanically stable and permeable, and even allowed vascular sprouting under the guidance of angiogenic growth factors. Furthermore, we surgically connected the built-in vessel network within the engineered tissue to the host circulation system, establishing blood perfusion immediately upon implantation (Fig. 61.6C). This demonstration shows the feasibility of our bottom-up approach to overcome the lack of tissue survival after implantation caused by the absence of vascular perfusion.

### Host Response and Biocompatibility

Questions related to the immune and inflammatory response to tissue constructs are starting to draw attention. The host response to a tissue engineered construct is manifested by the innate and adaptive immune systems, involving both plasma (e.g., complement) and cellular components (e.g., macrophages, T cells, etc.), that are directed against engineered cells and grafts or the materials used in tissue constructs. This potent immune response is most often mediated by major histocompatibility complex mismatches between donor and host tissue in allogeneic transplantations. This response can also be manifested in situations in which autologous cells or tissues are engineered to express therapeutic but foreign factors, or if these autologous cells are placed in tissue constructs that themselves negatively affect immune consequences [118].

Immunosuppressants have enabled the successful transplantation of kidneys, hearts, and other organs. With the advent of tissue engineering, new configurations of tissues and organs (often with an added biomaterial component) are being developed and our understanding of the immune and inflammatory response to these new therapies is being shown to be inadequate. Some xenogeneic cell transplants (mice to rat) survive in situations of cardiac repair despite the species differences [119], although this may be specific to the animal model or to cardiac repair. The longevity of a transplant also depends on the ability of somatic cells to withstand and respond to the stresses of



**FIGURE 61.6 Microfabrication of vasculature** [117]. (A) Schematic of the AngioChip scaffold illustrating the endothelialized lumen in the parenchymal space (left). Scanning electron micrograph of a multilayered AngioChip scaffold. *Red arrows* illustrate the 20-μm microholes designed to allow perfusion through the AngioChip (right). (B) Immunostaining of the hEC (human endothelial cell) vascular network for (i) CD31 (red), (ii) cardiac tissue stained for sarcomeric α-actinin (*green*), and F-actin (*red*), and (iii) liver tissue stained for E-cadherin (*green*), albumin (*red*), and 4',6-diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (*blue*). (C) Image of the AngioChip in an artery to vein graft in a rat. After the surgical anastomosis, blood perfusion was resumed.

implantation, rejection, and other injuries [120]. The classic "foreign body reaction" to biomaterials is well-known, but the details of the molecular signals (complement regulatory proteins and MMPs) that accompany this phenomenon (in the context of biomaterials) are only beginning to be defined.

A variety of approaches have been undertaken or are under development to generate or improve upon graft acceptance [121]. These approaches include methods to block the innate immune response such as by using drugs or transferring genes to block nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B signaling pathways, for example. Other methods to block the innate response include the use of antibodies to IL-1 or TNF or the use of antiadhesion and antielastase antibodies. We must
#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

understand the mechanism of the host response itself better so that we can design better biomaterials, select or engineer more suitable cells, or devise better strategies to control both innate and adaptive immune responses and enable a functional integration of the new tissue with the host.

## IN VIVO STUDIES

## In Situ Cardiac Tissue Engineering via Injection of Cells in Hydrogels

Hydrogels have gained much attention as vehicles for the delivery of reparative cells into the myocardium owing to their injectability and ability to control cross-linking chemistry. For a hydrogel for use in myocardial regeneration, it needs to be: (1) biocompatible; (2) biodegradable; (3) injectable, so that it can be applied with a syringe in a minimally invasive manner; and (4) mechanically stable enough to withstand the beating environment of the heart. In addition, a biomaterial that can promote the attachment and survival of cells and localize them at the infarction site would address these limitations of poor cell retention and survival.

Early studies relied on cell injection using natural hydrogels such as Matrigel [122,123] or fibrin [124–126] and reported structural stabilization, reduced infarct size, and improved vascularization upon injection of undifferentiated ESCs [122,123] or bone marrow cells [124–126]. Alginate alone was demonstrated to reduce pathological remodeling and improve function [127]. A synthetic, self-assembling peptide hydrogel (AcN-RARADADAACNH) was also used, forming a nanofibrous structure upon injection into the myocardium that promoted recruitment of endogenous ECs and supported survival of injected cardiomyocyte (CM) [128]. Insulin-like growth factor-1 bound to the self-assembling peptide was demonstrated to improve grafting and survival of CM injected into MI [129]. Laflamme and Murry demonstrated that targeting of multiple pathways, which was related to cell survival by encapsulating a number of biomolecules in Matrigel, significantly increased the survival and grafting of the hESC-derived CM injected into infarcted rat hearts [130]. They carried on studies using the same hydrogel to deliver hESC-derived cardiomyocytes in guinea pig [131] and nonhuman primates [132], demonstrating that the cells delivered with the hydrogel could indeed integrate, upon a remodeling phase that included the presence of significant ventricular arrhythmias.

Zhang et al. studied the effect of injecting CM in a mixture of collagen type I and Matrigel [133], the material used by Zimmerman et al. to create engineered heart tissue [134], in MI-induced rats. An additional problem with using ECM proteins in this setting may be the immune response exhibited by rats to mouse proteins (i.e., Matrigel is a basement membrane derived from mouse sarcoma). Positive connexin-43 staining was found in cells in the biomaterial, and the biomaterial was also seen to improve the thickness and function of the heart. The main drawback is that the material takes 1 h to gel, which could allow for significant cell loss, although no cell retention studies were conducted in these experiments.

We modified chitosan with the peptide QHREDGS derived from angiopoietin-1, the peptide sequence implicated in the survival response of muscle cells cultivated in the presence of this growth factor [135]. The chitosan was rendered photocross-linkable by modification with azidiobenzoic acid (Az-chitosan) [136]. Neonatal rat heart cells cultivated on cross-linked films of Az-chitosan–QHREDGS attached, elongated, and remained viable whereas they exhibited lower attachment levels and decreased in viability when cultivated on the chitosan substrates modified with the scrambled peptide sequence [137]. Interestingly, cells on Az-chitosan–QHREDGS were capable of resisting Taxol-induced apoptosis, whereas those on Az-chitosan–Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser were not [137]. We also demonstrated that QHREDGS peptide was able to attenuate pathological remodeling and improve cardiac function upon MI in a rat model, acting largely by promoting the survival of spared cardiomyocytes [138].

Other studies collectively indicated that an injection of hydrogel alone, without the reparative cells, may attenuate pathological remodeling upon MI [127,139–141]. For example, injection of alginate or collagen alone improved LV function and reduced cardiac remodeling after infarction [127,142]. Two alginate biopolymers were modified to assess therapeutic potential in rat MI models. Alginate modified with 0.025% v/v polypyrrole, a conductive polymer, injected into the infarct zone showed improved arteriogenesis at 5 weeks posttreatment and significantly enhanced infiltration of myofibroblasts into the infarct area compared with saline and alginate-only controls [143]. Also, Arg-Gly-Asp–conjugated alginate and alginate alone injected into the infarct zone showed improved LV function and increased arteriole density 5 weeks after injection compared with bovine serum albumin in phosphate-buffered saline control [144]. Results from both studies again show the potential for non–cell based therapies to treat chronic heart failure.

An interesting example is the injection of a hydrogel based on decellularized porcine ventricular myocardium, which resulted in improvements in local and global cardiac function [145,146] and thus the initiation of Phase I clinical trials with this hydrogel.

It is suspected that by changing the ventricular geometry and mechanics, hydrogels reduce the elevated local wall stresses that have been implicated in pathological remodeling [147]. Finite element modeling of wall stresses indicated that upon injection of the material of elastic modulus 10–20 kPa in the infarct, the relationship between ejection fraction and the stroke volume/end-diastolic volume was improved. In addition, injections of the material in the border zone decreased end-systolic fiber stress proportionally to the volume and the stiffness of the injected material.

We believe that properly tuning the mechanical properties of a hydrogel and providing bioactive molecules may offer new cell-free treatment options for MI. The death of CM by necrosis and apoptosis peaks at 6 h upon acute MI [148]. However, the persistent and progressive loss of CM in neighboring areas of the infarct continues up to 60 days after the onset of MI. During this process, up to 35% of cells at the borders of subacute and old infarcts may become apoptotic [149], compared with only 1% in the remote regions of myocardium [150]. Studies in rats and dogs demonstrated that CM loss by apoptosis persists for 1–4 months upon MI, which correlates with the progressive worsening of the pump function. Thus, developing hydrogels that specifically prevent apoptosis of the heart cells (e.g., QHREDGS peptide-modified chitosan) may result in new treatment options in the future, in which hydrogel injected alone in the border zone, without reparative cells, would act to mechanically stabilize the ventricle and prevent further apoptosis of cardiomyocytes.

For example, it was shown that EC-induced cardiomyocyte protection after infarction occurs through PDGF-BB signaling. Thus, binding PDGF-BB to the self-assembling nanofibers of RAD16-II (a peptide consisting of alternating RAD domains, AcN-RARADADARARADADA-CNH<sub>2</sub>) hydrogel was evaluated as a potential therapeutic option. Sustained, targeted release of this signaling molecule to host myocardium was observed up to 14 days after injection. Injection of nanofibers with PDGF-BB at the site of infarct in rats decreased CM death and preserved systolic function after MI and showed (separately) a decrease in infarct size after ischemia–reperfusion [151].

The relative contribution of cells versus the injected biomaterial to the attenuation of pathological remodeling also needs to be assessed and the mechanism by which various cells induce functional improvements needs to be elucidated. Although with the injection of contractile cardiomyocytes the expectation is that cells will functionally couple to the host myocardium and contribute to contractile function, the same is not possible for noncardiomyocytes. The exact mechanism by which nonmyocytes impart improvement in function and attenuation of pathological remodeling is still under debate, but some researchers suggest that the transplantation of healthy cells results in the release of growth factors and other molecular signals, i.e., the paracrine effect. These help with angiogenesis, cell survival, and recruitment of progenitors. A possible drawback of using the biomaterial is that the scaffold or hydrogel may also take up space that would prevent a high tissue density until the material degrades.

## **Implantation of Cardiac Patches**

Significant progress has been made in constructing in vitro cultivation systems and biomaterial scaffolds, but fewer studies have focused on implanting cell-based cardiac patches onto viable or injured myocardium. In a pioneering study, Li and colleagues [18] implanted a construct based on neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and collagen sponges onto the surface of the cryoinjured myocardium of Lewis rats. The grafts were implanted 3 weeks after infarction. After 5 weeks in vivo, cells survived supported by blood vessel ingrowth and integrated with the surrounding tissue. However, the graft did not improve LV function.

Attenuation of pathological remodeling (i.e., prevention of ventricle dilatation and maintenance of contractile function) was observed in a study by Leor et al. [20], in which cardiac constructs based on neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and porous alginate scaffolds were implanted onto myocardium of Sprague–Dawley rats that underwent permanent main coronary artery occlusion. The grafts were implanted 7 days after MI. After 9 weeks of implantation, the grafts demonstrated integration with host myocardium at the anchorage sites as well as inflammatory infiltrates and the presence of fibrous collagen.

Zimmerman et al. [15] placed cardiac tissue rings cultivated in the presence of mechanical stimulation onto uninjured hearts of Fisher 344 rats for 14 days. They noticed that although both cells and collagen were isolated from Fisher rats, immunosuppression was required to maintain of heart tissue upon implantation. In the absence of immunosuppression, even in the syngeneic approach, cardiac constructs completely degraded after only 2 weeks in vivo. It is unknown what caused the response; it is possible that it was the remainder of serum or chick extract.

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

Regardless, the finding has significant implications in the potential implantation of cardiac patches in clinical settings.

To decrease the potential immunogenicity of their engineered tissue, Zimmerman and colleagues discarded all xenogenic components from their culture [152]. This included cultivating the engineered heart tissues in serum-free and Matrigel-free conditions. Mixed heart cell populations rather than cardiomyocyte-rich populations were used and the culture medium was supplemented with triiodothyronine and insulin [152]. Other studies also established the need for nonimmunogenic media. Schwarzkopf et al. used autospecies sera, in this case rat, to culture rat cardiomyocytes [153]. The metabolic activity of cells was significantly higher than for the cells cultivated in conventional culture medium with fetal bovine serum.

Zimmermann et al. demonstrated integration and electrical coupling of a complex multiloop graft to native myocardium in rats with left anterior descending coronary artery ligation (Fig. 61.7A and B). Functional improvement was demonstrated not to be merely the result of scar stabilization or paracrine effects [134]. Functional integration of cardiac cell sheets to the heat-injured myocardium was also demonstrated [154].

In a study performed by Weinberger et al., human engineered heart tissue strips composed of fibrinogen and Matrigel with suspended human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes were created [155]. The engineered strips, which were intended to limit the number of cells that were washed out after a cell injection, were sutured onto the hearts of cryoinjured guinea pigs. Hearts of the guinea pigs treated with the engineered strips had an improved LV function compared with animals that received a cell free patch, and the graft was found to be electrically coupled to the host myocardium. However, 28 days after implantation, cells were found in the spleen and lungs of some of the guinea pigs.

Although cardiac patches still require further development and regulatory approval, there are numerous in vivo studies improving their cell retention and proving their effectiveness. A cardiac patch developed by Zhang and colleagues was transplanted onto an MI porcine model to test whether including multiple cell types and growth factors would aid in cell retention [156]. The patch was composed of fibrin loaded with insulin growth factor and was encapsulated with a combination of human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes, ECs, and smooth muscle cells. After transplantation, the group saw that the cell-laden patch increased ejection fraction and the ventricular wall thickness while it decreased the infarct size, which suggested that incorporating a growth factor into the cardiac patch and multiple cell types may be required for the success of such a therapeutic approach (Fig. 61.7C and D).



FIGURE 61.7 In vivo integration of engineered cardiac patches. (A) A multilooped, mechanically stimulated cardiac construct based on neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and collagen hydrogel was used to repair myocardial infarction (MI) in the rat heart [134]. (B) Histology of the multilooped patch showing integration with the surrounding myocardium [134]. (C) A cardiac patch implanted on an MI porcine model was shown to decrease the infarct size compared with animals not treated with a patch [156]. (D) Immunostaining of the implanted patch shows increased vascular density at the border zone. Image on the left is stained for CD31 (*green*), smooth muscle actin (SMA) (*red*), and cardiac troponin T (cTnT) (*white*). In addition, less apoptotic cells were found at the border zone. Image on the right is stained for apoptotic cells (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling assay) (*red*), cardiac troponin I (*green*), and 4',6-diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (*blue*) [156].

## 1092

#### IN VIVO STUDIES

The first human clinical trial using a patch-based therapeutic was performed by Larghero and colleagues. In this case report, hESC-derived cardiac progenitors were embedded in a fibrin glue scaffold [157]. The pericardium over the infarcted area was retracted, creating a pocket with which the patch was placed. At 3 months after surgery, the patient's ejection fraction had improved from 26% to 36% and a reduction in end-diastolic and systolic volumes was noted. Despite the increase in symptomatic performance, this trial was conducted only on a single patient; therefore, it is difficult to draw conclusions. However, this trial shows the potential for such a treatment and future clinical trials.

In addition to engineering the patches of myocardium, Zimmermann and colleagues designed the first biological assist device [158]. The authors mechanically stimulated a hollow-spherical construct consisting of collagen I and neonatal rat cardiomyocytes until a beating pouch-like structure was created. The pouch was then placed over uninjured rat hearts in such a manner that the right and left ventricles were covered. Fourteen days after implantation, the pouch covered the epicardial surface of the heart and exhibited blood vessel ingrowth.

Roche et al. created an alternative ventricular assist device that uses soft robotics to pump the heart manually. The sleeve consists of actuators aligned helically to mimic the twisting motion of the beating heart. It was tested in vivo on a pig model with acute heart failure and the researchers observed the reestablishment of cardiac output. The group hopes to see the technology used in the clinic as a device to extend the life of a patient waiting for transplant [159].

Badylak et al. implanted ECM derived from porcine urinary bladder into a surgically created 2-cm [2] defect in the LV free wall of dogs. Eight weeks after implantation, the ECM patches showed higher regional systolic contraction compared with the control group in which a material (Dacron) used for myocardial defects was employed. Histological analysis suggested that cardiomyocytes accounted for about 30% of the remodeled tissue in the ECM scaffolds [160]. In another study, this improvement in the heart function was attributed to an increase in the myocyte content in the ECM patches between weeks 2 and 8. The relationship between the myocyte content and the extent of mechanical function was observed to be linear. There was also some evidence (a decrease in cardiomyocyte diameter and an increase in the overall area occupied by cardiomyocytes over time) suggesting the possibility of cardiomyocyte proliferation in the patches [161].

Limitations related to the source of autologous cardiomyocytes motivated studies that used nonmyocyte-based patches for MI repair. Smooth muscle cells seeded with poly (ɛ-caprolactone-*co*-L-lactide) sponge reinforced with poly-L-lactide fabric were used in a modified endoventricular circular patch plasty procedure (Dor procedure). Cell-seeded grafts resulted in improved LV function (as assessed by echocardiography) compared with cell-free controls [162]. A patch made of dermal FBs seeded onto knitted Vicryl mesh (Dermagraft) was used in an attempt to increase angiogenesis upon MI. When placed over the infarcted regions on the hearts of SCID mice, the grafts improved microvessel density within the damaged myocardium [163].

There appears to be a consensus regarding the requirement for multiple cell types, specifically FBs and ECs, in addition to cardiomyocytes for successful cardiac tissue graft survival and vascularization in vivo. In one approach, omentum was used to prevascularize cardiac patches based on neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and alginate scaffolds modified with angiogenic factors. After excision and implantation into the infarcted rat myocardium, the vascularized cardiac patch showed structural and electrical integration into host myocardium and attenuated pathological remodeling of the ventricle significantly better than did the in vitro cultivated patch alone [164].

In another strategy, a simultaneous triculture scaffold-free approach was used to generate beating cardiac patches based on hESC. Upon implantation into the hind-limb muscle of nude rats, these patches, which were composed only of enriched cardiomyocytes, did not survive to form significant grafts. However, patches containing ECs (either HUVECs or hESC-derived ECs) and FBs in addition to cardiomyocytes persisted in the (noninfarcted) rat heart and resulted in 10-fold larger cell grafts compared with cardiomyocyte-only patches. The preformed human microvessels also anastomosed with the rat host coronary circulation and delivered blood to the grafts [165].

These studies demonstrated the feasibility of cardiac patch implantation, but further studies are necessary to estimate the effect of culture conditions and scaffold type on the in vivo outcome. Although significant progress has been made in the area of biomaterials and bioreactors, it is unknown which cultivation conditions and what biomaterial will best preserve contractile function and prevent pathological remodeling upon implantation. Thus, studies that investigate this systematically and correlate in vitro parameters (e.g., force of contraction) to in vivo outcomes (e.g., fractional shortening) are required. The host response to the patch and the nature of the immunologic situation further complicate these studies.

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

## **Delivery Route for Cells and Patches**

It remains to be determined how and where in the heart the cells and patches should be applied for optimal therapeutic benefit. The ventricular wall is composed of the *epicardium*, the outer epithelial lining of the muscle; the *myocardium*, composed of working CMs and support cells such as **FBs**; and the *endocardium*, consisting of a specialized endothelial lining that is in contact with blood filling the ventricle. Most cell therapy approaches focus on the direct injection of a cell suspension into the myocardium using either catheters or open chest surgery [166–168]. These approaches are inherently limited by the small volume of free space available for cell engraftment. The cell density in the myocardium is extremely high (10<sup>8</sup> cells/cm<sup>3</sup> [169]); upon injury such as MI the dead cells are replaced by a dense collagenous scar, leaving no space for injected cells to engraft. The injected cells are rapidly washed out or ejected, resulting in a maximal engraftment efficiency of 10% [20,130,170,171], which necessitates the injection of as many as 1 billion CMs for sizable grafts in monkeys [132].

The injection of isolated cells also offers little opportunity to mature or modify the electrophysiological properties of the graft. The immaturity of the injected cells was postulated to have caused malignant arrhythmias in monkeys that received hESC-derived CMs [132]. Thus, cardiac patches may offer a unique solution to the challenges of cell delivery, engraftment, and graft function. The size, shape, and functional properties of cardiac patches can be tailored through in vitro cultivation with electrical field stimulation [54,73] or mechanical stimulation, whereas their application on the ventricular surface could provide sufficient space for implant engraftment to a clinically relevant size. In fact, in a clinical trial, hESC-derived cardiac progenitors were applied during open heart surgery onto the *epicardial surface* of the heart using a fibrin hydrogel and a pericardial patch over the hydrogel [157]. The epicardium is generally considered a safe location for patch deployment, owing to the high risk for embolization and thrombosis associated with patch application inside the ventricle on the endocardial surface of the ventricular wall.

## SUMMARY

Functional viable cardiac patches have been engineered based on neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and hESC- and iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes. Various biomaterials have been tested for this purpose and in vitro culture systems have been developed that enhance cardiac construct differentiation (mechanical and electrical stimulation), improve cardiomyocyte survival at high density (medium perfusion), and enhance maturation of cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent stem cells, paving the way to engineering autologous cardiac patches of clinically relevant size.

The field of microphysiological organ systems and organ-on-a-chip engineering has emerged and matured to the level required to use these miniaturized 3D cardiac tissues in drug discovery, safety testing, and disease modeling, relying on human cardiomyocytes derived from iPSCs.

Because the in vivo studies conducted thus far used different cell sources, biomaterials, animal models, delivery times after infarction, and experimental time frames, direct comparison cannot be made between methods. Although all reported studies have shown some form of improvement, complete myocardial regeneration has not been achieved. Perhaps a valid question to be answered in the future is: What is the required level of myocardial regeneration in terms of survival and attenuation of symptoms? Complete regeneration is an ambitious goal that may not be required. Future studies must also increase their time frames to assess the long-term effects of these treatments better.

Although the completely artificial heart will remain a dream, the near future may bring a clinically relevant autologous cardiac patch as evidenced by rapid progress in engineering cardiac patches based on stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Work on recellularizing decellularized hearts may represent the first step toward "the heart in a box" envisioned several decades ago.

## References

- [1] Mozaffarian D, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2016 update. Circulation 2015;133(4):e38–360.
- [2] Soonpaa MH, Field LJ. Survey of studies examining mammalian cardiomyocyte DNA synthesis. Circ Res 1998;83:15–26.
- [3] Reinlib L, Field L. Cell transplantation as future therapy for cardiovascular disease?: A workshop of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Circulation 2000;101:e182–7.
- [4] Sefton MV. Functional considerations in tissue-engineering whole organs. Ann NY Acad Sci 2002;961:198-200.
- [5] Sefton MV, Zandstra P, Bauwens CL, Stanford WL. Tissue regeneration. Surgery of the chest, vol. I; 2005.

#### REFERENCES

- [5a] Burton AC. Biophysical basis of the circulation. St. Louis, MO: Yearbook Medical Publishers; 1972.
- [6] Dor V, Saab M, Coste P, Kornaszewska M, Montiglio F. Left ventricular aneurysm: a new surgical approach. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1989;37: 11–9.
- [7] Di Donato M, et al. Akinetic versus dyskinetic postinfarction scar: relation to surgical outcome in patients undergoing endoventricular circular patch plasty repair. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:1569–75.
- [8] Ott HC, et al. Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med 2008;14:213–21.
- [9] Guyette JP, et al. Bioengineering human myocardium on native extracellular matrix. Circ Res 2016;118:56–72. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.115.306874.
- [10] Shimizu T, et al. Fabrication of pulsatile cardiac tissue grafts using a novel 3-dimensional cell sheet manipulation technique and temperature- responsive cell culture surfaces. Circ Res 2002;90:e40–8.
- Shimizu T, et al. Polysurgery of cell sheet grafts overcomes diffusion limits to produce thick, vascularized myocardial tissues. FASEB J 2006; 20:708–10.
- [12] Stevens KR, Pabon L, Muskheli V, Murry CE. Scaffold-free human cardiac tissue patch created from embryonic stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;15:1211–22.
- [13] Eschenhagen T, et al. Three-dimensional reconstitution of embryonic cardiomyocytes in a collagen matrix: a new heart model system. FASEB J 1997;11:683–94.
- [14] Fink C, et al. Chronic stretch of engineered heart tissue induces hypertrophy and functional improvement. FASEB J 2000;14:669-79.
- [15] Zimmermann WH, et al. Cardiac grafting of engineered heart tissue in syngenic rats. Circulation 2002;106:1151-7.
- [16] Zimmermann WH, et al. Tissue engineering of a differentiated cardiac muscle construct. Circ Res 2002;90:223–30.
- [17] Yost MJ, et al. A novel tubular scaffold for cardiovascular tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2004;10:273–84.
- [18] Li R-K, et al. Survival and function of bioengineered cardiac grafts. Circulation 1999;100:II63–9.
- [19] Li RK, et al. Construction of a bioengineered cardiac graft. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2000;119:368–75.
- [20] Leor J, et al. Bioengineered cardiac grafts: a new approach to repair the infarcted myocardium? Circulation 2000;102:III56–61.
- [21] Dar A, Shachar M, Leor J, Cohen S. Cardiac tissue engineering optimization of cardiac cell seeding and distribution in 3D porous alginate scaffolds. Biotechnol Bioeng 2002;80:305–12.
- [22] Kofidis T, et al. Clinically established hemostatic scaffold (tissue fleece) as biomatrix in tissue- and organ-engineering research. Tissue Eng 2003;9:517–23.
- [23] Carrier RL, et al. Cardiac tissue engineering: cell seeding, cultivation parameters and tissue construct characterization. Biotechnol Bioeng 1999;64:580–9.
- [24] Bursac N, et al. Cardiac muscle tissue engineering: toward an in vitro model for electrophysiological studies. Am J Physiol 1999;277: H433–44.
- [25] Papadaki M, et al. Tissue engineering of functional cardiac muscle: molecular, structural and electrophysiological studies. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2001;280:H168–78.
- [26] Lim SH, et al. Electrospun scaffolds for stem cell engineering. Nanofibers Regener Med Drug Delivery 2009;61:1084–96. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.addr.2009.07.011.
- [27] Kharaziha M, et al. PGS: gelatin nanofibrous scaffolds with tunable mechanical and structural properties for engineering cardiac tissues. Biomaterials 2013;34:6355–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.04.045.
- [28] Zong X, et al. Electrospun fine-textured scaffolds for heart tissue constructs. Biomaterials 2005;26:5330–8.
- [29] Badrossamay MR, McIlwee HA, Goss JA, Parker KK. Nanofiber assembly by rotary jet-spinning. Nano Lett 2010;10:2257–61. https:// doi.org/10.1021/nl101355x.
- [30] Badrossamay MR, et al. Engineering hybrid polymer-protein super-aligned nanofibers via rotary jet spinning. Biomaterials 2014;35:3188–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.12.072.
- [31] Kenar H, Kose GT, Toner M, Kaplan DL, Hasirci V. A 3D aligned microfibrous myocardial tissue construct cultured under transient perfusion. Biomaterials 2011;32:5320–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.04.025.
- [32] Boublik J, et al. Mechanical properties and remodeling of hybrid cardiac constructs made from heart cells, fibrin, and biodegradable, elastomeric knitted fabric. Tissue Eng 2005;11:1122–32.
- [33] Radisic M, et al. Biomimetic approach to cardiac tissue engineering: oxygen carriers and channeled scaffolds. Tissue Eng 2006;12:2077–91.
- [34] Wang Y, Ameer GA, Sheppard BJ, Langer R. A tough biodegradable elastomer. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20:602-6.
- [35] Feiner R, et al. Engineered hybrid cardiac patches with multifunctional electronics for online monitoring and regulation of tissue function. Nat Mater 2016;15:679–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4590.
- [36] Xu T, Baicu C, Aho M, Zile M, Boland T. Fabrication and characterization of bio-engineered cardiac pseudo tissues. Biofabrication 2009;1: 1–6.
- [37] Pati F, et al. Nat Commun 2014;5.
- [38] Zhu K, et al. Gold nanocomposite bioink for printing 3D cardiac constructs. Adv Funct Mater 2017. https://doi.org/10.1002/ adfm.201605352.
- [39] Leng L, McAllister A, Zhang B, Radisic M, Gunther A. Mosaic hydrogels: one-step formation of multiscale soft materials. Adv Mater 2012;24: 3650-8. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201201442.
- [40] Gao L, et al. Myocardial tissue engineering with cells derived from human-induced pluripotent stem cells and a native-like, high-resolution, 3-dimensionally printed scaffold. Circ Res 2017;120:1318.
- [41] Gaebel R, et al. Patterning human stem cells and endothelial cells with laser printing for cardiac regeneration. Biomaterials 2011;32:9218–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.08.071.
- [42] Baar K, et al. Self-organization of rat cardiac cells into contractile 3-D cardiac tissue. FASEB J 2005;19:275-7.
- [43] Alperin C, Zandstra PW, Woodhouse KA. Polyurethane films seeded with embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes for use in cardiac tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 2005;26:7377–86.
- [44] McDevitt TC, Woodhouse KA, Hauschka SD, Murry CE, Stayton PS. Spatially organized layers of cardiomyocytes on biodegradable polyurethane films for myocardial repair. J Biomed Mater Res 2003;66:586–95.

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

- [45] McDevitt TC, et al. In vitro generation of differentiated cardiac myofibers on micropatterned laminin surfaces. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;60: 472–9.
- [46] Khademhosseini A, et al. Microfluidic patterning for fabrication of contractile cardiac organoids. Biomed Microdevices 2006;9(2):149–57.
- [47] Feinberg AW, et al. Muscular thin films for building actuators and powering devices. Science 2007;317:1366–70. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1146885.
- [48] Engelmayr Jr GC, et al. Accordion-like honeycombs for tissue engineering of cardiac anisotropy. Nat Mater 2008;7:1003–10.
- [49] Badie N, Satterwhite L, Bursac N. A method to replicate the microstructure of heart tissue in vitro using DTMRI-based cell micropatterning. Ann Biomed Eng 2009. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-009-9815-x.
- [50] Badie N, Bursac N. Novel micropatterned cardiac cell cultures with realistic ventricular microstructure. Biophys J 2009;96:3873–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2009.02.019.
- [51] Bian W, Liau B, Badie N, Bursac N. Mesoscopic hydrogel molding to control the 3D geometry of bioartificial muscle tissues. Nat Protoc 2009; 4:1522–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.155.
- [52] Bian W, Bursac N. Engineered skeletal muscle tissue networks with controllable architecture. Biomaterials 2009;30:1401–12. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.11.015.
- [53] Kim DH, et al. Nanoscale cues regulate the structure and function of macroscopic cardiac tissue constructs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010;107: 565-70.
- [54] Nunes SS, et al. Biowire: a platform for maturation of human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Nat Methods 2013;10:781–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2524.
- [55] Xiao Y, et al. Microfabricated perfusable cardiac biowire: a platform that mimics native cardiac bundle. Lab Chip 2014;14:869–82. https:// doi.org/10.1039/c3lc51123e.
- [56] McCain ML, Sheehy SP, Grosberg A, Goss JA, Parker KK. Recapitulating maladaptive, multiscale remodeling of failing myocardium on a chip. PNAS 2013;110:9770–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1304913110.
- [57] Wang G, et al. Modeling the mitochondrial cardiomyopathy of Barth syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cell and heart-on-chip technologies. Nat Med 2014;20:616–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3545.
- [58] Hinson JT, et al. Titin mutations in iPS cells define sarcomere insufficiency as a cause of dilated cardiomyopathy. Science (New York, NY) 2015;349:982–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa5458.
- [59] Tiburcy M, et al. Defined engineered human myocardium with advanced maturation for applications in heart failure modelling and repair. Circulation 2017;135.
- [60] Lind JU, et al. Instrumented cardiac microphysiological devices via multimaterial three-dimensional printing. Nat Mater 2016;16:303–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4782.
- [61] Lee EJ, Kim EU, Azeloglu EU, Costa KD. Engineered cardiac organoid chambers: toward a functional biological model ventricle. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14:215–25.
- [62] Patel NM, Mohamed MA, Yazdi IK, Tasciotti E, Birla RK. The design and fabrication of a three-dimensional bioengineered open ventricle. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater 2016. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.33742.
- [63] Patel NM, Yazdi IK, Tasciotti E, Birla RK. Optimizing cell seeding and retention in a three-dimensional bioengineered cardiac ventricle: the two-stage cellularization model. Biotechnol Bioeng 2016;113:2275–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.25992.
- [64] Radisic M, Deen W, Langer R, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Mathematical model of oxygen distribution in engineered cardiac tissue with parallel channel array perfused with culture medium containing oxygen carriers. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005;288:H1278–89.
- [65] Radisic M, et al. Medium perfusion enables engineering of compact and contractile cardiac tissue. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2004;286: H507–16.
- [66] Kofidis T, et al. Pulsatile perfusion and cardiomyocyte viability in a solid three-dimensional matrix. Biomaterials 2003;24:5009-14.
- [67] Dvir T, Benishti N, Shachar M, Cohen S. A novel perfusion bioreactor providing a homogenous milieu for tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng 2006;12:2843–52.
- [68] Dvir T, Levy O, Shachar M, Granot Y, Cohen S. Activation of the ERK1/2 cascade via pulsatile interstitial fluid flow promotes cardiac tissue assembly. Tissue Eng 2007;13:2185–93.
- [69] Brown MA, Iyer RK, Radisic M. Pulsatile perfusion bioreactor for cardiac tissue engineering. Biotechnol Prog 2008;24:907–20.
- [70] Zimmermann WH, et al. Three-dimensional engineered heart tissue from neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. Biotechnol Bioeng 2000;68:106–14.
- [71] Salameh A, et al. Cyclic mechanical stretch induces cardiomyocyte orientation and polarization of the gap junction protein Connexin43. Circ Res 2010;106:1592.
- [72] Severs NJ. The cardiac muscle cell. Bioessays 2000;22:188-99.
- [73] Radisic M, et al. Functional assembly of engineered myocardium by electrical stimulation of cardiac myocytes cultured on scaffolds. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101:18129–34.
- [74] Chiu LL, Iyer RK, King JP, Radisic M. Biphasic electrical field stimulation aids in tissue engineering of multicell-type cardiac organoids. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;17(11-12):1465–77.
- [75] Heidi Au HT, Cui B, Chu ZE, Veres T, Radisic M. Cell culture chips for simultaneous application of topographical and electrical cues enhance phenotype of cardiomyocytes. Lab Chip 2009;9:564–75.
- [76] Lasher RA, Pahnke AQ, Johnson JM, Sachse FB, Hitchcock RW. Electrical stimulation directs engineered cardiac tissue to an age-matched native phenotype. J Tissue Eng 2012;3. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041731412455354. 2041731412455354.
- [77] Maidhof R, et al. Biomimetic perfusion and electrical stimulation applied in concert improved the assembly of engineered cardiac tissue. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2012;6:e12–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.525.
- [78] Fung YC. Biomechanics: mechanical properties of living tissues. 2nd ed. 1993.
- [79] Nerem RM. Role of mechanics in vascular tissue engineering. Biorheology 2003;40:281-7.
- [80] Butler DL, Goldstein SA, Guilak F. Functional tissue engineering: the role of biomechanics. J Biomech Eng 2000;122:570-5.
- [81] Akins RE. In: Sames K, editor. Medizinische regeneration und tissue engineering. EcoMed; 2000.
- [82] Yang L, et al. Human cardiovascular progenitor cells develop from a KDR+ embryonic-stem-cell-derived population. Nature 2008;453: 524–8.

#### REFERENCES

- [83] Protze SI, et al. Sinoatrial node cardiomyocytes derived from human pluripotent cells function as a biological pacemaker. Nat Biotechnol 2017;35:56–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3745.
- [84] Augustin-Voss HG, Johnson RC, Pauli BU. Modulation of endothelial cell surface glycoconjugate expression by organ-derived biomatrices. Exp Cell Res 1991;192:346–51.
- [85] Lipton BH, Bensch KG, Karasek MA. Microvessel endothelial cell transdifferentiation: phenotypic characterization. Differentiation 1991;46: 117–33.
- [86] Risau W. Differentiation of endothelium. FASEB J 1995;9:926-33.
- [87] Ives CL, Eskin SG, McIntire LV. Mechanical effects on endothelial cell morphology: in vitro assessment. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 1986;22:500-7.
- [88] Eskin SG, Ives CL, McIntire LV, Navarro LT. Response of cultured endothelial cells to steady flow. Microvasc Res 1984;28:87–94.
- [89] McCormick SM, et al. DNA microarray reveals changes in gene expression of shear stressed human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:8955–60.
- [90] Marcum JA, McKenney JB, Rosenberg RD. Acceleration of thrombin-antithrombin complex formation in rat hindquarters via heparinlike molecules bound to the endothelium. J Clin Invest 1984;74:341-50.
- [91] Esmon CT. Regulation of blood coagulation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1477:349-60.
- [92] Shen GX. Vascular cell-derived fibrinolytic regulators and atherothrombotic vascular disorders (Review). Int J Mol Med 1998;1:399-408.
- [93] Cenni E, Ciapetti G, Cavedagna D, Di Leo A, Pizzoferrato A. Production of prostacyclin and fibrinolysis modulators by endothelial cells cultured in the presence of polyethylene terephthalate. J Biomed Mater Res 1993;27:1161–4.
- [94] Cenni E, et al. Cytokine expression in vitro by cultured human endothelial cells in contact with polyethylene terephthalate coated with pyrolytic carbon and collagen. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;50:483–9.
- [95] Lu A, Sipehia R. Antithrombotic and fibrinolytic system of human endothelial cells seeded on PTFE: the effects of surface modification of PTFE by ammonia plasma treatment and ECM protein coatings. Biomaterials 2001;22:1439–46.
- [96] Li JM, et al. Precoating expanded polytetrafluoroethylene grafts alters production of endothelial cell-derived thrombomodulators. J Vasc Surg 1992;15:1010–7.
- [97] Meinhart JG, et al. Clinical autologous in vitro endothelialization of 153 infrainguinal ePTFE grafts. Ann Thorac Surg 2001;71:S327-31.
- [98] Williams SK. Endothelial cell transplantation. Cell Transplant 1995;4:401-10.
- [99] Rafii S. Circulating endothelial precursors: mystery, reality, and promise. J Clin Invest 2000;105:17-9.
- [100] Korff T, Kimmina S, Martiny-Baron G, Augustin HG. Blood vessel maturation in a 3-dimensional spheroidal coculture model: direct contact with smooth muscle cells regulates endothelial cell quiescence and abrogates VEGF responsiveness. FASEB J 2001;15:447–57.
- [101] Palmer RM, Ashton DS, Moncada S. Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. Nature 1988;333:664-6.
- [102] Moncada S. Eighth Gaddum Memorial Lecture. University of London Institute of Education, December 1980. Biological importance of prostacyclin. Br J Pharmacol 1982;76:3–31.
- [103] Mawji IA, Marsden PA. Perturbations in paracrine control of the circulation: role of the endothelial-derived vasomediators, endothelin-1 and nitric oxide. Microsc Res Tech 2003;60:46-58.
- [104] Di Luozzo G, Bhargava J, Powell RJ. Vascular smooth muscle cell effect on endothelial cell endothelin-1 production. J Vasc Surg 2000;31: 781–9.
- [105] Greenberg JI, et al. A role for VEGF as a negative regulator of pericyte function and vessel maturation. Nature 2008;456:809-13.
- [106] Sakakibara Y, et al. Toward surgical angiogenesis using slow-released basic fibroblast growth factor. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2003;24:105–11. Discussion 112.
- [107] Sellke FW, Simons M. Angiogenesis in cardiovascular disease: current status and therapeutic potential. Drugs 1999;58:391-6.
- [108] Harada K, et al. Basic fibroblast growth factor improves myocardial function in chronically ischemic porcine hearts. J Clin Invest 1994;94: 623–30.
- [109] Sheridan MH, Shea LD, Peters MC, Mooney DJ. Bioabsorbable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering capable of sustained growth factor delivery. J Control Release 2000;64:91–102.
- [110] Vallbacka JJ, Nobrega JN, Sefton MV. Tissue engineering as a platform for controlled release of therapeutic agents: implantation of microencapsulated dopamine producing cells in the brains of rats. J Control Release 2001;72:93–100.
- [111] Ahrendt G, Chickering DE, Ranieri JP. Angiogenic growth factors: a reveiw for tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 1998;4:117–30.
- [112] Kaihara S, et al. Silicon micromachining to tissue engineer branched vascular channels for liver fabrication. Tissue Eng 2000;6:105–17.
- [113] Chiu LL, Radisic M. Scaffolds with covalently immobilized VEGF and angiopoietin-1 for vascularization of engineered tissues. Biomaterials 2009;31:226-41.
- [114] Levenberg S, et al. Engineering vascularized skeletal muscle tissue. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23:879-84.
- [115] Leung BM, Sefton MVA. Modular approach to cardiac tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:3207–18. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.tea.2009.0746.
- [116] Chamberlain MD, Gupta R, Sefton MV. Chimeric vessel tissue engineering driven by endothelialized modules in immunosuppressed Sprague-Dawley rats. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17:151–60. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2010.0293.
- [117] Zhang B, et al. Biodegradable scaffold with built-in vasculature for organ-on-a-chip engineering and direct surgical anastomosis. Nat Mater 2016;15:669–78. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4570.
- [118] Mikos AG, McIntire LV, Anderson JM, Babensee JE. Host response to tissue engineered devices. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1998;33:111-39.
- [119] Saito T, Kuang JQ, Bittira B, Al-Khaldi A, Chiu RC. Xenotransplant cardiac chimera: immune tolerance of adult stem cells. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;74:19–24. Discussion 24.
- [120] Halloran PF, Melk A. Renal senescence, cellular senescence, and their relevance to nephrology and transplantation. Adv Nephrol Necker Hosp 2001;31:273–83.
- [121] Rossini AA, Greiner DL, Mordes JP. Induction of immunologic tolerance for transplantation. Physiol Rev 1999;79:99-141.
- [122] Balsam LB, et al. Haematopoietic stem cells adopt mature haematopoietic fates in ischaemic myocardium. Nature 2004;428:668-73.
- [123] Kofidis T, et al. Novel injectable bioartificial tissue facilitates targeted, less invasive, large-scale tissue restoration on the beating heart after myocardial injury. Circulation 2005;112:I173–7.

#### 61. CARDIAC TISSUE

- [124] Christman KL, Fok HH, Sievers RE, Fang Q, Lee RJ. Fibrin glue alone and skeletal myoblasts in a fibrin scaffold preserve cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Tissue Eng 2004;10:403–9.
- [125] Christman KL, et al. Injectable fibrin scaffold improves cell transplant survival, reduces infarct expansion, and induces neovasculature formation in ischemic myocardium. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;44:654–60.
- [126] Ryu JH, et al. Implantation of bone marrow mononuclear cells using injectable fibrin matrix enhances neovascularization in infarcted myocardium. Biomaterials 2005;26:319–26.
- [127] Landa N, et al. Effect of injectable alginate implant on cardiac remodeling and function after recent and old infarcts in rat. Circulation 2008; 117:1388–96.
- [128] Davis ME, et al. Injectable self-assembling peptide nanofibers create intramyocardial microenvironments for endothelial cells. Circulation 2005;111:442-50.
- [129] Davis ME, et al. Local myocardial insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) delivery with biotinylated peptide nanofibers improves cell therapy for myocardial infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:8155–60.
- [130] Laflamme MA, et al. Cardiomyocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells in pro-survival factors enhance function of infarcted rat hearts. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25:1015-24.
- [131] Shiba Y, et al. Human ES-cell-derived cardiomyocytes electrically couple and suppress arrhythmias in injured hearts. Nature 2012;489.
- [132] Chong JJ, et al. Human embryonic-stem-cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate non-human primate hearts. Nature 2014;510:273–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13233.
- [133] Zhang P, Zhang H, Wang H, Wei Y, Hu S. Artificial matrix helps neonatal cardiomyocytes restore injured myocardium in rats. Artif Organs 2006;30:86–93. pii: AOR186. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1594.2006.00186.x.
- [134] Zimmermann WH, et al. Engineered heart tissue grafts improve systolic and diastolic function in infarcted rat hearts. Nat Med 2006;12: 452–8.
- [135] Dallabrida SM, Ismail N, Oberle JR, Himes BE, Rupnick MA. Angiopoietin-1 promotes cardiac and skeletal myocyte survival through integrins. Circ Res 2005;96:e8-24.
- [136] Yeo Y, et al. Photocrosslinkable hydrogel for myocyte cell culture and injection. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2007;81:312-22.
- [137] Rask F, et al. Photocrosslinkable chitosan modified with angiopoietin-1 peptide, QHREDGS, promotes survival of neonatal rat heart cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010;95A:105–17.
- [138] Reis LA, et al. Hydrogels with integrin-binding angiopoietin-1-derived peptide, QHREDGS, for treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Circ Heart Fail 2015;8:333–41. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.114.001881.
- [139] Fujimoto KL, et al. Synthesis, characterization and therapeutic efficacy of a biodegradable, thermoresponsive hydrogel designed for application in chronic infarcted myocardium. Biomaterials 2009;30:4357–68.
- [140] Dobner S, Bezuidenhout D, Govender P, Zilla P, Davies N. A synthetic non-degradable polyethylene glycol hydrogel retards adverse postinfarct left ventricular remodeling. J Card Fail 2009;15:629–36.
- [141] Leor J, et al. Intracoronary injection of in situ forming alginate hydrogel reverses left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction in Swine. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:1014–23.
- [142] Dai W, Wold LE, Dow JS, Kloner RA. Thickening of the infarcted wall by collagen injection improves left ventricular function in rats: a novel approach to preserve cardiac function after myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:714–9. pii: S0735-1097(05)01201-5.
- [143] Mihardja SS, Sievers RE, Lee RJ. The effect of polypyrrole on arteriogenesis in an acute rat infarct model. Biomaterials 2008;29:4205-10.
- [144] Yu J, et al. The effect of injected RGD modified alginate on angiogenesis and left ventricular function in a chronic rat infarct model. Biomaterials 2009;30:751–6.
- [145] Seif-Naraghi SB, et al. Safety and efficacy of an injectable extracellular matrix hydrogel for treating myocardial infarction. Sci Transl Med 2013;5:173ra125. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3005503.
- [146] Wassenaar JW, et al. Evidence for mechanisms underlying the functional benefits of a myocardial matrix hydrogel for post-MI treatment. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;67:1074–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2015.12.035.
- [147] Wall ST, Walker JC, Healy KE, Ratcliffe MB, Guccione JM. Theoretical impact of the injection of material into the myocardium: a finite element model simulation. Circulation 2006;114:2627–35.
- [148] Anversa P, et al. Apoptosis and myocardial infarction. Basic Res Cardiol 1998;93(Suppl. 3):8–12.
- [149] Yaoita H, Ogawa K, Maehara K, Maruyama Y. Apoptosis in relevant clinical situations: contribution of apoptosis in myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 2000;45:630–41.
- [150] Olivetti G, et al. Acute myocardial infarction in humans is associated with activation of programmed myocyte cell death in the surviving portion of the heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1996;28:2005–16.
- [151] Hsieh PCH, Davis ME, Gannon J, MacGillivray C, Lee RT. Controlled delivery of PDGF-BB for myocardial protection using injectable selfassembling peptide nanofibers. J Clin Invest 2006;116:237–48.
- [152] Naito H, et al. Optimizing engineered heart tissue for therapeutic applications as surrogate heart muscle. Circulation 2006;114:I72-8.
- [153] Schwarzkopf R, et al. Autospecies and post-myocardial infarction sera enhance the viability, proliferation, and maturation of 3D cardiac cell culture. Tissue Eng 2006;12:3467–75.
- [154] Furuta A, et al. Pulsatile cardiac tissue grafts using a novel three-dimensional cell sheet manipulation technique functionally integrates with the host heart, in vivo. Circ Res 2006;98:705–12.
- [155] Weinberger F, et al. Cardiac repair in Guinea pigs with human engineered heart tissue from induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci Transl Med 2016;8:363ra148.
- [156] Ye L, et al. Cardiac repair in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction with human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiovascular cell populations. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:750–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.009.
- [157] Menasché P, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors for severe heart failure treatment: first clinical case report. Eur Heart J 2015;36:2011–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv189.
- [158] Yildirim Y, et al. Development of a biological ventricular assist device: preliminary data from a small animal model. Circulation 2007;116: I16-23.
- [159] Roche ET, et al. Soft robotic sleeve supports heart function. Sci Transl Med 2017;9. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf3925.

- [160] Badylak SF, et al. The use of extracellular matrix as an inductive scaffold for the partial replacement of functional myocardium. Cell Transplant 2006;15(Suppl. 1):S29-40.
- [161] Kelly DJ, et al. Increased myocyte content and mechanical function within a tissue-engineered myocardial patch following implantation. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;15:2189–201. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2008.0430.
- [162] Matsubayashi K, et al. Improved left ventricular aneurysm repair with bioengineered vascular smooth muscle grafts. Circulation 2003; 108(Suppl. 1):II219–225.
- [163] Kellar RS, et al. Scaffold-based three-dimensional human fibroblast culture provides a structural matrix that supports angiogenesis in infarcted heart tissue. Circulation 2001;104:2063–8.
- [164] Dvir T, et al. Prevascularization of cardiac patch on the omentum improves its therapeutic outcome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106: 14990–5.
- [165] Stevens KR, et al. Physiological function and transplantation of scaffold-free and vascularized human cardiac muscle tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:16568–73.
- [166] Makkar RR, et al. Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 2012;379:895–904.
- [167] Perin EC, et al. A phase II dose-escalation study of allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells in patients with ischemic or nonischemic heart failure. Circulation Research 2015;117:576–84. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306332.
- [168] Traverse JH, et al. Effect of the use and timing of bone marrow mononuclear cell delivery on left ventricular function after acute myocardial infarction: the TIME randomized trial. J Am Med Assoc 2012;308:2380–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.28726.
- [169] Mandarim-de-Lacerda CA, Pereira LMM. Numerical density of cardiomyocytes in chronic nitric oxide synthesis inhibition. Pathobiology 2000;68:36–42.
- [170] Reinecke H, Murry CE. Taking the death toll after cardiomyocyte grafting: a reminder of the importance of quantitative biology. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2002;34:251–3. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmcc.2001.1494.
- [171] Müller-Ehmsen J, et al. Survival and development of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes transplanted into adult myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2002;34:107–16.

## **Further Reading**

Sefton MV, Zandstra P, Bauwens CL, Stanford WL. In: del Nido PJ, Swanson SJ, editors. Sabiston and Spencer surgery of the chest. Elsevier; 2005.

This page intentionally left blank

## Bioengineering of Liver Tissue

Pilar Sainz-Arnal<sup>1,2</sup>, Iris Pla-Palacín<sup>1</sup>, Natalia Sánchez-Romero<sup>1</sup>, Manuel Almeida<sup>1</sup>, Sara Morini<sup>1,3</sup>, Estela Solanas<sup>1</sup>, Alberto Lue<sup>1,4</sup>, Trinidad Serrano-Aulló<sup>1,4</sup>, Pedro M. Baptista<sup>1,5,6,7</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Health Research Institute of Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>2</sup>Instituto Aragonés de Ciencias de la Salud (IACS), Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>3</sup>Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal; <sup>4</sup>Lozano Blesa University Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>5</sup>Center for Biomedical Research Network Liver and Digestive Diseases (CIBERehd), Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>6</sup>Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de la Fundación Jiménez Díaz, Madrid, Spain; <sup>7</sup>Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Madrid, Spain

## INTRODUCTION

The liver is the largest internal gland in the body and one of the most critical organs in metabolic homeostasis because it is responsible for many essential metabolic exocrine and endocrine functions. Among them, it is responsible for the detoxification and elimination of a variety of substances, regulation of glucose levels, maintenance of blood homeostasis, and production of many products including lipids, proteins, vitamins, and carbohydrates. In addition to this, the liver possesses a unique regenerative capacity; it is able to regenerate most of its function after losing up to three-quarters of its mass as a result of partial hepatectomy or toxic injury. However, in severely ill patients with an end-stage liver disease, this regeneration capacity is severely limited and liver transplantation (LT) becomes the only lifesaving intervention. This also applies to patients with decompensated cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), inborn errors of metabolism, and fulminant hepatic failure. Moreover, LT remains the only available cure for a wide range of liver diseases.

Nearly a half century has passed since Dr. Starzl [1] performed the first liver transplant. However, it was not until 1967 when short-term success was achieved with 1-year survival after transplantation [2]. Since then, the success and the survival rates of LT have increased owing to improved immunosuppressive regimens, surgical techniques, and donor—recipient pairing [3]. However, today, the number of patients waiting for a liver transplant far exceeds the number of transplants performed. Although this gap was reduced with the increased use of marginal organs such as steatotic livers, employment of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-positive donor organs for HCV-positive recipients, and donation after cardiac death, the number of patients waiting for a liver transplant continues to exceed the number of available livers.

According to reported by the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network in 2014, 6729 liver transplants were performed in adults whereas around 14,600 people were on the waiting list to receive a donor's liver. Although 6729 transplants were performed, 1821 patients died while waiting for a donor and 1290 patients were removed from the list because they were too sick for transplantation during that year [4]. Despite attempts to reduce the waiting time, two-thirds of all patients will never receive one.

Liver cell transplantation has also been considered a possible treatment for patients with life-threatening liver diseases. In this case, a preparation of isolated cells is injected directly into the liver via a portal vein or into the spleen. Engraftment of these cells and their therapeutic potential to correct many metabolic deficiencies has also been demonstrated by several studies [5]. In 1992, a group of scientists from Michigan University performed the first successful hepatocyte transplantation into a French-Canadian woman with familial hypercholesterolemia [6]. Afterward, other successful cases followed, but not all patients had noticeable progress [7], which was also observed with other diseases [8,9]. Although the long-term safety of this technique has been confirmed [10,11], the success

#### 62. BIOENGINEERING OF LIVER TISSUE

of this procedure has not yet been enough to evade the need for whole-organ transplantation. One possible explanation for these results could be the small number of hepatocytes that engraft in the recipient owing to the poor quality and quantity of the cells used [12]. Hence, it is accurate to say that as a result of hepatocytes, the shortage of human liver donors is the limiting factor in the development of this therapeutic approach. Other sources such as hematopoietic stem cells [13], bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells [14,15], and fetal liver progenitors [16,17] have also been used (Fig. 62.1).

In addition to cellular therapies, other experimental approaches are in development with high therapeutic potential. These novel approaches aim to stimulate the diseased liver to regenerate itself or substitute it with a bioengineered liver capable of performing all native liver functions [18]. In this regard, and with the available technology, liver bioengineering comprises the creation and use of a supporting scaffold and large numbers of hepatic and vascular cells to generate functional tissue. Considerable effort has been made in trying to develop biomaterials capable of mimicking the liver extracellular matrix (ECM) to replicate the benefits offered by this structure regarding cell adhesion, growth and viability, and maintenance of the differentiation state and metabolic functions. Despite this, in the first studies performed with synthetic materials, the maintenance of the vascular network was not successfully achieved, resulting in low hepatocyte survival [19]. Some of these obstacles were solved by administering growth factors to promote angiogenesis and increase cell viability [20,21], but also by developing advanced bioreactors to improve hepatocyte seeding [22]. However, the absence of specific hepatic signals for cell growth and differentiation proved to be another critical limitation, probably owing to the lack of a real three-dimensional (3D) environment in which hepatocytes could find or create their native niche. Several research groups have addressed this issue by employing tissue decellularization to prepare bioscaffolds devoid of all cellular material from a harvested tissue or organ. In 2009, Baptista et al. successfully repopulated decellularized rat and ferret livers with



FIGURE 62.1 Available strategies for the isolation and generation of hepatic cells and tissues. *ES*, embryonic stem cells; *hES*, human embryonic stem cells; *ICM*, inner cell mass; *iPS*, induced pluripotent stem cells.

human fetal liver and endothelial cells [23,24]. Immediately afterward, Uygun's group achieved the decellularization of rat livers, which were then repopulated with rat primary hepatocytes and anastomosed ex vivo with a rat for up to 8 h [25]. It is still difficult to know the real value of this technology in clinical applications, but the potential to change transplantation medicine and patients' lives is evident.

Hence, in this chapter, we will describe some of these novel regenerative medicine approaches and the potential applications for these tissue-engineered liver constructs as biologic surrogates for a large variety of biomedical and pharmaceutical applications.

## HEPATIC TISSUE ENGINEERING

It is widely accepted today that 3D cultures mimic in vivo natural conditions much better than do traditional 2D cultures, in which cells are grown on a flat surface in Petri dishes. The reason for this is that 3D cultures more closely reflect in vivo cell behavior, providing a physical and mechanical environment that promotes cell proliferation, differentiation, and expression of specific growth factors and other molecules. Hepatic tissue engineering has been able to create bioengineered grafts with the medical purpose of organ replacement, or restoration, which recreate physiological 3D microenvironments that more accurately mimic the in vivo environment. These promising techniques rely on the combination of different disciplines such as engineering, biomaterials, cells, and growth factors.

Starting with the biomaterials used, these can be made of either natural or artificial components capable of supporting 3D cellular growth. Some examples of their applications in tissue engineering are described subsequently.

## Chitosan

Chitosan is a natural polysaccharide derived from chitin, a structural polymer of arthropod exoskeletons [26], which has been widely used in tissue engineering because of the structural similarity with glycosaminoglycans, another component of liver ECM [27,28]. Fan et al. [28] combined chitosan with galactosylated hyaluronic acid, making porous 3D sponges that induced hepatocyte aggregation that displayed liver-specific metabolic activities.

Gong et al. used chitosan–gelatin liver scaffolds with a hierarchical predesigned channel network inside, providing a porous structure. They compared this fabricated scaffold with conventional porous ones, obtaining higher proliferation rates (62%) of HepG2 [29]. Jiankang et al. [30] also designed a model of a porous scaffold made of chitosan and gelatin with internal structures such as portal vein, hepatic chambers, well-organized fluidic channels, and central vein, demonstrating improved hepatocyte aggregation and liver-specific functions. In another experiment, Zang et al. [31] determined that 1% of genipin cross-linked with chitosan–gelatin scaffolds present better results in HepG2 performance compared with glutaraldehyde, and r1-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) 23-ethyl-carbodiimide hydrochloride cross-linked scaffolds.

Galactosylated chitosan (GC) is also commonly used, combined with hyaluronic acid, an anionic glycosaminoglycan widely present in mammal ECM, to create porous sponges in which hepatocytes and endothelial cells were cultured [32]. This hybrid scaffold could represent a cell storage and delivery vehicle for a bioengineered liver tissue. Chung et al. [33] combined GC with alginate, creating a highly porous 3D sponge for hepatocyte anchorage. They demonstrated better spheroid formation and higher cell viability compared with scaffolds made only of alginate. Chitrangi et al. compared three different scaffold constructions for the differentiation of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells into hepatocyte-like cells: dextran–gelatin, chitosan–hyaluronic acid, and gelatin-vinyl acetate. They reported better results in hepatocyte differentiation when using those scaffolds made of gelatin, probably owing to its presence in natural ECM composition [34].

## Collagens

Type I collagen, a crucial component of mammal ECM, is one of the most used materials in tissue engineering, especially for hepatocyte culture and primary hepatocyte transplantation [35]. Risbud et al. published several articles in which they compared the use of hydrogel scaffolds coated with collagen or with chitosan, demonstrating better human umbilical vein endothelial cell attachment and growth in the first ones. They also suggested that collagen hydrogel-coated textile scaffolds represented an excellent system in which hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells could be cocultured in parallel [36,37].

Matrigel consists of a complex mixture of ECM proteins (collagen IV), proteoglycans (heparan sulfate), and growth factors (epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-β) secreted by Engelbrecht–Holm–Swarm mouse sarcoma cells that resemble the ECM of many tissues. Although the main inconvenience of Matrigel is that it is not a well-defined culture condition, many authors use this compound in vitro. For example, Fan et al. combined Matrigel with agarose to construct a hybrid hydrogel to obtain 3D constructs for tissue engineering [38]. Yarmush et al. also developed 2D culture systems that rely on using mixed collagen I and Matrigel sandwiches. These systems showed that primary hepatocyte function was maintained for several weeks without a noticeable loss of function [39].

## Alginate

Alginate, a hydrophilic porous polysaccharide matrix that allows cell growth and differentiation, is also commonly used. Shteyer et al. [40] suggested that alginate scaffolds improve animal survival after an acute hepatic failure owing to an 87% partial hepatectomy in mice, achieving in vivo hepatocellular function of primary hepatocytes. They compared these results with collagen scaffolds and obtained inferior results. Lin et al. used alginate scaffolds for bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cell differentiation into hepatocyte-like cells [41]. Tai et al. [42] suggested in vitro differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells into hepatocyte-like cells using an Arg–Gly–Asp–modified chitosan–alginate scaffold. This construct was implanted in rats with a 70% partial hepatectomy and used for the in vivo delivery of liver-like cells.

Many other related studies describe the power of alginate matrices as scaffolds in liver tissue engineering. They enhance hepatocyte viability, morphology, and function, maintaining hepatocellular performance [43]<sup>7</sup> [44].

## Polyglycolic Acid, Polylactic-co-glycolic Acid, and Polycaprolactone

Synthetic materials have also been used for this purpose, such as polylactic-*co*-glycolic acid (PLGA) or polyglycolic acid (PGA). Lees et al. [45] generated 3D scaffolds made of PLGA coated with laminin in which they seeded human embryonic stem cells. These scaffolds were then transplanted into the liver lobules of mice. The researchers observed the formation of teratomas that produced typical proteins of hepatic lineages and also from pancreatic and neuronal lineages. Furthermore, they found the assembly of an ECM rich in laminin, collagen IV, and collagen I, and positive CD34 endothelial progenitors, which represented vasculature formation.

Barralet et al. [46] developed a PGA fiber mesh scaffold stabilized with polycaprolactone to study the behavior of human biliary epithelial cells. They compared this technique with alternative models as collagen I sandwiches or Matrigel, showing spheroid aggregation, long-term proliferation (6 months), and phenotypic stability, which would represent a good strategy for bile duct tissue engineering. Other studies [22,47] achieved hepatic tissue generation with primary hepatocyte seeding in this PGA scaffolds, with the capacity of albumin and urea secretion.

## Decellularized Extracellular Matrix

Decellularization techniques represent a popular technique for generating naturally derived scaffolds. In this process, whole organs are perfused with detergent solutions to remove the cellular contents, preserving an intact ECM and vascular tree. The main advantage of this technique is that there is no need to create an ECM in vitro because the ultrastructure and composition of the native ECM are preserved. In the same way, the vascular network and bile duct system are also well-preserved after liver decellularization [23,24,48].

These scaffolds are then recellularized with different cell types and numbers using different seeding conditions, with the objective of creating functional bioengineered organs able to be transplanted into recipient animals and, in the long-term, into patients with end-stage liver failure.

Human, pig, and rat livers are the scaffolds mainly used for liver tissue engineering, but there are several studies in which spleen was used (Fig. 62.2) [49].

Regarding the decellularization process, there are differences reported by several authors. The most commonly used reagents are sodium dodecyl sulfate [50] and Triton X-100 [23,51,52]. Some other examples are enzymes, proteases, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, or deoxycholic acid. There are also multiple concentrations and combinations of these reagents [53,54], several methods of detergent perfusion exist, as reported by several researchers. Some use the portal vein [50], others the portal vein and hepatic artery [23,51,55], and others the inferior vena cava [56]. Cell seeding methods are also variable [53,54]; the portal vein and hepatic vein are the most commonly used.



**FIGURE 62.2 Biomedical applications of liver bioengineered tissues**. (A) The resulting single cells isolated from the digestion of human hepatic tissue samples can be seeded in a three-dimensional (3D) environment, originating spheroids and organoids with multiple applications. (B) Cadaveric donor livers can be decellularized and afterward recellularized using the patient's own cells, with the ultimate goal of obtaining a functional liver for transplantation.

Regarding cell types, primary hepatic cells, both parenchymal (hepatocytes) and nonparenchymal cells (sinusoidal endothelial cells, stellate cells, and Kupffer cells), have been used for liver tissue engineering, as well as pluripotent stem cells, fetal progenitor cells, and immortalized cell lines.

Cell number is also a significant variable to take into account [48,57]. To mimic better what is observed in vivo, it is essential to recreate the hepatic spatial distribution (e.g., 80% of the liver parenchyma is composed of hepatocytes). However, there are issues regarding this: not all the cells that comprise the liver structure are easily isolated and maintained in vitro (e.g., hepatocytes do not efficiently expand in vitro, and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells are difficult to obtain) [57]. Furthermore, high cell seeding densities usually provoke cell aggregation, blocking the vascular network perfusion. On the other hand, low cell seeding densities will limit cell–cell interactions, limiting cell growth, affecting both cell viability and survival in the scaffold.

Taking this into account, different recellularization methods have been developed [48,57,58]. Soto-Gutierrez et al. [48] compared three of them regarding better hepatocyte survival and function: direct parenchymal injection, continuous perfusion, and multistep infusion. The first consists of direct cell injection into different lobes of the liver scaffold. In the second technique, the total amount of cells that are going to be seeded are suspended in the culture media and perfused at a determined flow rate. Finally, the cells are added to the culture media in multiple steps, with time intervals between them, and perfused at a determined flow rate. They determined that the best results were using the multistep perfusion system, which not only allowed hepatocyte engraftment around 90%, but also were able to produce albumin and metabolize ammonia and cytochrome P450 (CYP)1A/2 activity for 7 days in vitro.

The flow seeding conditions are also critical. Low flows should be used to allow cell attachment and survival in the scaffold surface. Moreover, every type of cell has its particular cell attachment conditions, with the need to find a particular speed that allows for the most significant cell engraftment as possible, and the delivery into the native spatial location inside a decellularized liver scaffold. Other shortcomings that have to be solved are the long-term cell survival or graft thrombosis after implantation, owing to lack of a functional vascular network in the current generation of bioengineered livers. What can be determined from this is that a lot of relevant issues still need to be addressed in this novel field of liver bioengineering before clinical applications. Although much has been accomplished so far, mimicking in vitro the complexity observed in vivo is still challenging.

Future studies may lead to a better understanding of the production of human-sized transplantable bioengineered livers able to restore diseased organs or replace failed organs.

## LIVER SPHEROIDS, ORGANOIDS, AND AGGREGATES: CANCER, BIOARTIFICIAL LIVER, TRANSPLANTATION RESEARCH, AND TOXICOLOGY AND DRUG DEVELOPMENT

Another strategy for the generation of 3D liver tissue constructs is using the hepatocyte capacity to form hepatospheres, which are spontaneous nonadherent spheroid cell aggregations that mimic in vivo cellular environment. The generation of these structures can be achieved by multiple methods such as nonadherent round-bottom wells using methylcellulose-containing medium, rotary and rocked cultures, hanging drops, or 3D matrices [59]. These hepatic structures have revealed higher liver-specific hepatospheres [60,61], which solves the problem of culturing hepatocytes in 2D systems, where dedifferentiation quickly develops. Cocultures with endothelial and other nonparenchymal cells were also developed using this technique (Fig. 62.2A).

## Cancer Research

Liver spheroids have emerged as a promising tool in cancer research [62,63]. This 3D culture method has been used as an intermediate model between in vitro and in vivo microenvironments [64]. Studies have demonstrated that liver spheroids preserve a more significant number of liver cells functions better than 2D culture, including albumin and urea production and bile secretion [62,63]. Moreover, the 3D culture conserves cell polarization, resulting in higher concordance with in vivo conditions rather than 2D cultures. This is particularly important in cancer research because 3D cultures better resemble the interplay of the tumor and its microenvironment. This culture configuration allows for the formation of a stable tissue in which cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions are better preserved than in 2D cultures [65]. Hence, liver spheroids more accurately reflect the tumor complexity and heterogeneity and constitute a therapeutically relevant model, displaying pathophysiological gradients of in vivo tumors, such as pH and oxygen gradients, the penetration rate of growth factors, and the distribution of proliferating and necrotic cells [64].

Liver spheroids and aggregates have also been used to evaluate the mechanism of tumor growth, metastasis development, and antitumor therapeutic agents [63,65,66]. Not long ago, unlike other cancers, there was a lack of evidence and data published about the use of liver spheroids in primary liver cancer research. An increase was observed in the number of studies using liver aggregates for in vitro modeling of HCC [67,68]. Song et al. cultivated multicellular tumor spheroids to elucidate the mechanisms of environment-mediated chemoresistance and metastatic transformation in HCC. In that study, the authors created different multicellular spheroids that contained different human HCC lines and stromal cells, including hepatic stellate cells (HSCs). The authors observed that the presence of activated HSCs increased the compactness of spheroids and enhanced resistance to chemotherapeutic agents such as sorafenib and cisplatin compared with other stromal cells. The authors also observed that this increase in drug resistance was related to HSC production of collagen 1A1. On the other hand, the results of the study showed that activation of HSC promoted HCC migration by upregulating matrix metalloproteinase 9. Globally, the authors demonstrated that interaction between HCC cells and HSC induced chemoresistance and gave the tumor a more aggressive and invasive profile; they suggested that HSC could be the target for novel therapeutic strategies [68].

In the same way, Chen et al. used HCC spheroids to screen candidate metastasis-associated genes. The authors built two different HCC spheroids using two different cell lines, one with high-metastatic (MHCC97H) behavior and other with a less aggressive profile (Hep3B). Then the authors evaluated the expression of candidate metastasis-associated genes related to cell adhesion, matrix secretion, and invasion. The results showed an evident change in the gene expression of 123 genes between the two spheroids. In the MHCC97H spheroids, the authors found that the number of upregulated genes related to adhesion molecules mediating cell–matrix interactions and matrix secretion was significantly higher. In contrast, the Hep3B spheroid presented an increased expression of adhesion molecules maintaining cell adhesion. With these data, the authors could identify a specific gene expression pattern that may determine the malignant phenotype of the HCC spheroid [67].

The findings of these studies represent the potential of the liver spheroids in the field of cancer research. 3D culture models offer a more accurate environment of in vivo microarchitecture to study tumor growth and progression. In the future, the introduction of new biomaterials and biofabrication techniques will also reproduce the interaction between cells and matrices more precisely. For these reasons, the results obtained from studies performed with 3D culture methods are more consistent owing to their similitude with the in vivo reality. A strong implication of liver spheroids in cancer research is their potential in personalized medicine. Future studies in patients with primary liver cancer or liver metastasis may use host-tumor based spheroids to evaluate pharmacologic activity and toxicity.

## **Bioartificial Liver and Transplantation Research**

The liver is a vital organ with complex functions including gluconeogenesis, albumin and urea synthesis, lipid metabolism, drug detoxification, waste removal, and immune and hormonal modulation. Liver diseases are prevalent worldwide; most cases lead to progressive impairment of liver function. The only available treatment for life-threatening conditions such as end-stage liver disease and acute liver failure is LT, but because of donor shortage and an increase in the number of potential LT candidates, alternative measures are needed [69]. Owing to their ability to resemble in vivo structures and preserve organ-specific functions, liver spheroids have also been used in bioartificial livers and transplantation research [62,63]. Liver spheroids have a potential use in this field, directly transplanted or employed in hybrid and bioartificial liver support systems (Fig. 62.2) [70–72].

In 2005, Gan et al. explored the role of a spheroid-based hybrid artificial liver support system (HALSS) for treatment of severe liver failure. In this study, the HALSS consisted of a plasma separator, a hemoabsorbant, and a bioreactor with pig-derived hepatocyte spheroids in its extrafiber space. This system has been used in 10 patients with severe liver failure. The authors observed that after 24 h of spheroid culture, they produced higher levels of albumin and urea in respect to 2D cultures, suggesting better preservation of cell function. The authors also observed that patients treated with HALSS had a better survival rate (30% versus 0%), low levels of total bilirubin and alanine transferase, and improvement in coagulation compared with those in the control group. With these results, the authors concluded that spheroid-based HALSS could be useful in supporting liver function in patients with severe liver failure [71]. A preclinical study by Glorioso et al. evaluated the neuroprotective effect of the spheroid reservoir bioartificial liver (SRBAL) in a porcine model of acute liver failure. In that study, 18 pigs with an acute liver failure caused by a drug overdose were randomized into three groups: standard therapy, standard therapy plus no cell liver support device, and standard therapy plus the SRBAL device. After 90 h of treatment, the authors observed that pigs treated with the SRBAL improved survival compared with standard therapy and no cell device therapy (83%, 0%, and 17%, respectively) and had significant improvement in the rate of ammonia detoxification, peak levels of serum ammonia, and intracranial pressure. The authors also found that hepatocyte spheroids remained highly functional and that survival and device function were directly related to hepatocyte cell dose, treatment duration, and membrane pore size [72]. These studies reflect the potential of the spheroid-based bioartificial liver as a promising treatment for liver failure. Spheroid aggregates offer a readily available source of donor cells and reach the minimal cell dose to obtain a significant clinical effect in animals and humans. Regardless, randomized clinical studies are needed to determine whether these bioartificial support systems are safe and feasible in individuals with acute liver failure, with the aim of expanding its use to clinical practice and avoiding LT.

Other studies have evaluated the effect of direct transplantation of liver spheroids. No controlled trial has yet evaluated the clinical benefit of liver cell therapy in liver diseases in humans, and slightly more than 100 patients have been treated with hepatocyte transplantation [73]. However, the benefit is well-known in animal models. In 2002, Hamazaki et al. demonstrated that intraperitoneal transplantation of microencapsulated multicellular spheroid of rat hepatocytes improved survival in acute liver failure induced by 90% hepatectomy. Nevertheless, data are needed on liver spheroids transplantation in humans [70].

Results from experience with hepatocyte transplantation in humans and with liver spheroids in animals are promising, and cell-based therapies emerged as a "bridge to transplant" for both metabolic liver disease and liver failure. The most significant limiting factor is that sources of hepatocytes for transplant are scarce and tissues that are available come from organs that are unsuitable for LT [74]. To avoid this problem, alternative sources of cells have been evaluated. Pettinato et al. evaluated the differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) into hepatocyte-like cells through direct Wnt $-\beta$ -catenin pathway inhibition [75]. The authors developed a new multicellular spheroid-based hepatic differentiation protocol starting from hiPSCs. The resultant spheroids were transplanted into a rat model of acute liver failure. The results showed that transplantation significantly prolonged the mean survival and ameliorated the liver function compared with the control group. These results indicated that this differentiation program is feasible and highly efficient and suggested that the differentiation of stem cells

#### 62. BIOENGINEERING OF LIVER TISSUE

may provide an alternative source for hepatocyte-like cells with comparable differentiation and function [75]. Once again, these results confirm the power of 3D culture to preserve liver-specific functions throughout time.

Finally, liver spheroid transplantation could also have a role in personalized gene therapy. A study suggested that transplantation of spheroids of cells after genetic modification with nonviral DNA vectors may increase the therapeutic potential of this technique. In their work, Uchida et al. evaluated this hypothesis [76]. The authors transplanted subcutaneously hepatocyte spheroids transfected with erythropoietin DNA in rats. They observed that the spheroid-treated group showed a significantly higher hematopoietic effect than animals transplanted with a cell suspension from monolayer cultures. Moreover, the spheroid system contributed to the preservation of native functions of hepatocytes in the host tissue, confirming once again that 3D culture delays dedifferentiation and loss of functions of these cells [76].

These results introduced a new perspective for liver spheroid transplantation. In the future, genetically modified spheroid transplantation systems may be used to overcome genetic diseases. The actual state of the art suggests that we may soon be able to create and transplant genetically modified spheroids of hepatocyte-like cells derived from the patient's own stem cells, which will represent a revolution in personalized medicine.

## Toxicology and Drug Development

The liver is the organ where most drugs are metabolized and transformed into metabolites or active compounds. These substances by-products may become toxic to the liver itself and the rest of the body, a phenomenon known as drug-induced liver injury (DILI). To launch a single drug into the market is a long (12–15 years) and costly (\$3–5 billion) process [77]. After an initial screening, lead candidate compounds are characterized in vitro and in vivo for their absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and toxicity properties before proceeding with clinical trials. However, most compounds (>90%) fail during these final stages: 43% of these failures occur owing to a lack of efficacy and 33% to the appearance of adverse effects [78], mainly because of DILI [79]. Hence, drug withdrawals at clinical stages in humans mainly result from the use of inappropriate or inaccurate in vitro and in vivo liver models in the course of drug studies.

On the other hand, the liver is the target organ of some prevalent diseases, such as infectious hepatitis B virus, HCV [80], malaria [81], overnutrition-induced (type 2 diabetes, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, fibrosis, and cirrhosis) [82–84] or tumoral diseases (HCC represents the sixth most common cancer worldwide) [85].

Considering all of this, liver models' results are necessary for the development of novel drugs, not only for the study of xenobiotics' metabolism and toxicity but also for the development of specific drugs for liver diseases. Hence, more realistic in vitro human liver models are needed that resemble as closely as possible in vivo liver structure, physiology, and the pharmacological response.

## Limitations of Current In Vitro Liver Models to Test Drugs

As mentioned before, maintaining liver parenchymal function ex vivo is essential to generating stable systems for efficacy and toxicology drug studies, so fully functional hepatocytes are needed. For that, the 3D relationship of cells within the differential microenvironments of the liver (e.g., periportal versus pericentral), the regional hemodynamic flow patterns, and other physiological factors such as oxygen tension and cytokine profiles have to be simulated in vitro. However, cell-based models that are routinely used in drug testing are simple monoculture systems (typically standard microtiter plate formats) employed under static, nonphysiologic 2D conditions, which make them suboptimal models for drug efficacy and safety testing, unable to mimic or predict more complex mechanisms of action [86].

Hepatocyte viability in suspension decreases significantly after 4 h. Because of that, for years cryopreserved human hepatocytes in monolayer cultures have been the reference standard to test drug metabolism and toxicity [87]. However, cryopreservation also reduced hepatocyte viability, and function and their culture in monolayer downregulates cell receptors involved in cell–cell and cell–ECM interactions, drastically reducing cell functionality over time [87]. The development of 2D culture models such as sandwich culture increased basal and induced drugmetabolizing enzyme activities and simulated in vivo biliary excretion rates [87,88]. However, dedifferentiation of hepatocytes in long-term cultures and the lack of nonparenchymal cells that interact with hepatocytes continued to be inherent disadvantages of these models [89]. The coculture of hepatocytes with other liver cells, such as stellate cells, Kupffer cells, liver sinusoidal endothelial cells, or liver epithelial cells diminishes these limitations to some extent, improving the longevity and functionality of cells and producing the higher expression of CYP and phase II isoforms compared with monotypic culture [90–93]. Nevertheless, cocultures are usually based on the random mixing of different cell types and thus do not account for their particular anatomical relationship. Looking for more relevant models, to emulate the 3D organization and morphology of hepatocytes within the liver, 3D cultures have been developed. 3D cultures range in complexity from monotypic or heterotypic spheroids [94,95] to 3D scaffold systems [96] and more advanced models using microfluidic in vitro systems [96,97]. Multiple commercial 3D coculture platforms have been developed for drug screening and drug studies such as the "HepatoPac" platform [98], the 3D InSight Human Liver Microtissues of InSphero, the HepaChip in vitro microfluidic system [99], and

the HµREL microliver platforms [100].

Although some issues have been addressed for specific applications with these models, others continue to be biologically and technically challenging [88,101].

## Organoids in Drug Development

Organoids represent more complex models that try to simulate 3D cell—cell and cell—ECM relationships in more relevant physiological conditions that mimic the liver microenvironment arrangement amenable to the high-throughput screening of compounds feasible enough to guarantee long-term studies.

The optimal liver role depends on the coordinated function of parenchymal and nonparenchymal cells within the hepatic acinus as well as hepatic blood microcirculation. Aspects of the microcirculation can be simulated in vitro via perfusion models to create a dynamic in vivo like environment. Different macroscopic perfused in vitro liver systems initially developed as bioartificial liver devices have been created [97], which provide evidence that perfusion can improve longevity and function in sophisticated hepatic systems, and thus show better in vivo mimicry. Although these models represent the most physiologically practical systems, their size makes them unfeasible for use in drug testing studies because they lack the throughput and analytical flexibility for drug screening. The use of these organoids in drug development involves their miniaturization to a microscopic level. This new class of in vitro tools, often called "on-a-chip" tissue models, can mimic the architecture of small tissue sections and individual characteristics of the dynamic in vivo flow environment, while offering more precise spatial and temporal control of soluble factors. Apart from being amendable to high-throughput screening approaches, these models can be engineered for real-time monitoring of the state of cells and their extracellular environment, which is crucial for determining cellular mechanisms of action in drugs [97].

Several organoid systems have been developed for drug screening and testing. One of the best examples of these organoids is in microfluidic systems. In 2006, Kane et al. developed a microfluidic coculture system of hepatocytes and T3-J2 fibroblasts in an 8  $\times$  8-well array, demonstrating stable albumin and urea excretion for 32 days. Some years later, HµREL Corporation developed a similar microfluidic in vitro liver platform for drug screening for commercial purposes (HµRELflow) [100]. This platform, formed by multiple fluidically interconnected microscale cell culture compartments, enables simulation of the interaction of test substrates with two or more organs, which provides an enhanced prediction of human response. In fact, in vivo-like absorption, distribution, metabolism, bioaccumulation, and toxicity of naphthalene were demonstrated when lung, adipose, and liver cells were fluidically connected [100]. Furthermore, the size of the system enabled microscopic imaging, oxygen sensing, physiologically appropriate ratios of chamber sizes, hydrodynamic shear stress, and less consumption of media and cells. Even so, some issues such as sample removal, complexity in maintaining recirculation, and cell monolayers on chips and not physiological tissue constructs, significantly limit the model. Some years later, Au et al. developed another microfluidic model, a microfluidic organoid for drug screening (MODS) platform [102]. The novelty of this system compared with the previously developed MODS was the ability to evaluate different conditions simultaneously and the automation of time-consuming processes such as the generation of mixtures and the formation of serial dilution series, which can result in more efficient screening of lead drug candidates. Vernetti et al. developed and characterized a sophisticated system to investigate drug safety and efficacy in liver models of disease. This system includes a human 3D, microfluidic, four-cell, sequentially layered, self-assembly liver model as well as fluorescent protein biosensors for mechanistic readouts and a microphysiology system database to manage, analyze, and model data [103].

Hollow-fiber reactors have also been adapted to drug testing. In 2010, Schelzer et al. developed a microscale prototype of a hollow-fiber reactor. In this model, the bioreactor consisted of four cell chambers, each of which included four compartments (one for cells, two for culture medium, and the last for oxygen supply) connected to provide the cells with a physiologically based environment [104]. The prototype allowed for small numbers of cells and limited reagent use, microscopic evaluation of the cells, and monitoring of oxygen concentrations. Later, a similar system

#### 62. BIOENGINEERING OF LIVER TISSUE

with coculture of parenchymal and nonparenchymal liver cells was developed for studies of pharmacokinetics and drug toxicity, showing maintained albumin synthesis and CYP activity for 2–3 weeks [105]. Nevertheless, some limitations arise in this kind of systems, such as the lack of physiologic gradients typically seen in liver tissue, the complexity of many tubing lines, and the limited throughput, because only a few different conditions can be assessed simultaneously.

As also mentioned previously, decellularization constitutes a novel approach in liver models [23,25]. This macroscopic model that can be used to investigate liver development and regeneration can also be miniaturized for highthroughput drug studies [106].

Apart from physiological models, organotypic models of liver diseases are being developed for drug testing. Drug metabolism, toxicity, and efficacy in diseased livers differ substantially compared with healthy conditions, so accurate models of disease are required. In this sense, Skardal et al. developed liver-based cell organoids in a rotating-wall vessel bioreactor that inoculated with colon carcinoma cells to generate liver-tumor organoids for in vitro modeling of liver metastasis [65]. Leite et al. developed hepatic organoids with fibrotic features such as HSC activation and collagen secretion and deposition to study drug-induced liver fibrosis [107]. Similarly, Lee et al. generated a reversible- and irreversible-injured alcoholic liver disease model in spheroid-based microfluidic chips in which rat primary hepatocytes and HSCs are cocultured [108].

Although enormous advances have been made to develop more realistic and predictive in vitro liver models for drug testing, the field is still dawning. There are critical issues that should be solved for the field to move forward. Standardizing model and platform characterizations for drug-based studies (viability, secretory capacity, enzymatic and toxicology activities, and drug transporter activity) should be established for each model. Building specificity and sensitivity of the systems, recreating more accurately parenchyma zonation, developing better detection systems and better materials [97], and finding new, unlimited, fully functional cell sources [109] are some challenges in developing in vitro liver models for drug studies.

## CONCLUSIONS AND FINAL PERSPECTIVES

This chapter has focused on strategies of liver tissue engineering with potential for developing innovative treatments and efficient models for studying the liver. Knowledge of regenerative biology and medicine has increased exponentially, giving new hope to the development of effective treatments for liver disease. Much work still lies ahead to obtain final therapies or models that accurately represent the liver to its fullest. Standardization of cell isolation protocols and media formulation is needed to achieve a high grade of reproducibility of results among laboratories around the world. Despite the obstacles, some 2D liver culture models, especially cocultures with hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells (which better represent the in vivo microenvironment of the liver) can be considered useful models for studying the acute phase response, mutagenesis, xenobiotic toxicity, lipid, and drug metabolism in the liver. Liver organoids are also considered a possible tool to assess cell changes that lead to tumorigenesis and cancer progression, and for drug screening and testing. Improvement and standardization of the protocols used are needed to enhance the production rate and ameliorate the features of the obtained organoids.

Regarding the bioreactor systems used in liver tissue engineering, clinical assessment of the efficacy and safety of bioartificial liver systems in treating different end-stage liver diseases is near completion. Then, the field can concentrate on reducing the costs, finding more suitable cell sources, and optimizing bioreactor technologies.

Finally, the use of whole-organ liver scaffolds is promising in the quest of bioengineering a whole liver for transplantation. Livers from different species have been decellularized using various protocols to obtain acellular bioscaffolds. Nonetheless, complete recellularization using all necessary liver cell types, including Kupffer, sinusoidal endothelial, and stellate cells, and the generation of a fully functional liver have not yet been accomplished. Hence, one of the most significant challenges in whole-organ liver bioengineering is an appropriate cell source to repopulate the acellular scaffold and achieve well-defined complete revascularization of the decellularized liver. Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) technology has the potential to provide a source of cells for whole-liver bioengineering for humans. However, bioengineering a fully functional organ with a size comparable to that of humans has yet to be achieved by using iPSC technology.

Altogether, the strategies for liver tissue engineering discussed in this chapter may have an impact on innovative personalized tissue engineering-based treatments as alternative and effective therapies for different liver diseases or pathologies.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by Instituto de Salud Carlos III through a predoctoral fellowship, i-PFIS IFI15/00158 (I. P–P), Gobierno de Aragon and Fondo Social Europeo, through a predoctoral fellowship DGA C066/2014 (P. S-A), and by two predoctoral fellowships from Fundação para Ciência e Tecnologia, Portugal (PD/BD/114057/2015) (S.M.). NSR was supported by a POCTEFA/RefBio II research grant. PMB was supported by the PI15/00563 Research Project from Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain.

## References

- [1] Starzl TE, et al. Homotransplantation of the liver in humans. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1963;117:659-76.
- [2] Starzl TE, et al. Orthotopic homotransplantation of the human liver. Ann Surg 1968;168(3):392-415.
- [3] Wertheim JA, et al. Major challenges limiting liver transplantation in the United States. Am J Transplant 2011;11(9):1773-84.
- [4] Kim WR, et al. Liver. Am J Transplant 2016;16(Suppl. 2):69–98.
- [5] Soltys KA, et al. Barriers to the successful treatment of liver disease by hepatocyte transplantation. J Hepatol 2010;53(4):769-74.
- [6] Grossman M, et al. Successful ex vivo gene therapy directed to liver in a patient with familial hypercholesterolaemia. Nat Genet 1994;6(4): 335-41.
- [7] Grossman M, et al. A pilot study of ex vivo gene therapy for homozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. Nat Med 1995;1(11):1148-54.
- [8] Ambrosino G, et al. Isolated hepatocyte transplantation for Crigler-Najjar syndrome type 1. Cell Transplant 2005;14(2–3):151–7.
- [9] Horslen SP, et al. Isolated hepatocyte transplantation in an infant with a severe urea cycle disorder. Pediatrics 2003;111(6 Pt 1):1262-7.
- [10] Dhawan A, et al. Human hepatocyte transplantation: current experience and future challenges. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;7(5): 288–98.
- [11] Puppi J, et al. Improving the techniques for human hepatocyte transplantation: report from a consensus meeting in London. Cell Transplant 2012;21(1):1–10.
- [12] Fisher RA, Strom SC. Human hepatocyte transplantation: worldwide results. Transplantation 2006;82(4):441-9.
- [13] Zekri AR, et al. The impact of repeated autologous infusion of haematopoietic stem cells in patients with liver insufficiency. Stem Cell Res Ther 2015;6:118.
- [14] Kharaziha P, et al. Improvement of liver function in liver cirrhosis patients after autologous mesenchymal stem cell injection: a phase I-II clinical trial. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;21(10):1199–205.
- [15] Berardis S, et al. Use of mesenchymal stem cells to treat liver fibrosis: current situation and future prospects. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21(3):742-58.
- [16] Khan AA, et al. Human fetal liver-derived stem cell transplantation as supportive modality in the management of end-stage decompensated liver cirrhosis. Cell Transplant 2010;19(4):409–18.
- [17] Semeraro R, et al. The fetal liver as cell source for the regenerative medicine of liver and pancreas. Ann Transl Med 2013;1(2):13.
- [18] Mason C, Dunnill P. A brief definition of regenerative medicine. Regen Med 2008;3(1):1–5.
- [19] Mooney DJ, et al. Long-term engraftment of hepatocytes transplanted on biodegradable polymer sponges. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;37(3): 413-20.
- [20] Kim TH, et al. Enhanced survival of transgenic hepatocytes expressing hepatocyte growth factor in hepatocyte tissue engineering. Transplant Proc 1997;29(1–2):858–60.
- [21] Ogawa K, et al. The efficacy of prevascularization by basic FGF for hepatocyte transplantation using polymer devices in rats. Cell Transplant 2001;10(8):723–9.
- [22] Kim SS, et al. Dynamic seeding and in vitro culture of hepatocytes in a flow perfusion system. Tissue Eng 2000;6(1):39–44.
- [23] Baptista PM, et al. The use of whole organ decellularization for the generation of a vascularized liver organoid. Hepatology 2011;53(2): 604–17.
- [24] Baptista PM, et al. Whole organ decellularization a tool for bioscaffold fabrication and organ bioengineering. In: Conf proc IEEE eng med biol soc, 2009; 2009. p. 6526–9.
- [25] Uygun BE, et al. Organ reengineering through development of a transplantable recellularized liver graft using decellularized liver matrix. Nat Med 2010;16(7):814–20.
- [26] Madihally SV, Matthew HW. Porous chitosan scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 1999;20(12):1133-42.
- [27] Li K, et al. Chitosan/gelatin composite microcarrier for hepatocyte culture. Biotechnol Lett 2004;26(11):879-83.
- [28] Fan J, et al. Preparation and characterization of chitosan/galactosylated hyaluronic acid scaffolds for primary hepatocytes culture. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2010;21(1):319–27.
- [29] Gong H, et al. Biomimetic design and fabrication of porous chitosan-gelatin liver scaffolds with hierarchical channel network. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2014;25(1):113–20.
- [30] Jiankang H, et al. Preparation of chitosan-gelatin hybrid scaffolds with well-organized microstructures for hepatic tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2009;5(1):453–61.
- [31] Zhang Y, et al. Preparation, characterization, and evaluation of genipin crosslinked chitosan/gelatin three-dimensional scaffolds for liver tissue engineering applications. J Biomed Mater Res 2016;104(8):1863–70.
- [32] Shang Y, et al. Hybrid sponge comprised of galactosylated chitosan and hyaluronic acid mediates the co-culture of hepatocytes and endothelial cells. J Biosci Bioeng 2014;117(1):99–106.
- [33] Chung TW, et al. Preparation of alginate/galactosylated chitosan scaffold for hepatocyte attachment. Biomaterials 2002;23(14):2827-34.
- [34] Chitrangi S, Nair P, Khanna A. Three-dimensional polymer scaffolds for enhanced differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells to hepatocyte-like cells: a comparative study. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;11(8):2359–72.
- [35] Dunn JC, et al. Hepatocyte function and extracellular matrix geometry: long-term culture in a sandwich configuration. FASEB J 1989;3(2): 174–7.
- [36] Risbud MV, et al. Hydrogel-coated textile scaffolds as three-dimensional growth support for human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs): possibilities as coculture system in liver tissue engineering. Cell Transplant 2002;11(4):369–77.

#### 62. BIOENGINEERING OF LIVER TISSUE

- [37] Risbud MV, et al. Hydrogel-coated textile scaffolds as candidate in liver tissue engineering: II. Evaluation of spheroid formation and viability of hepatocytes. J Biomater Sci Polym 2003;14(7):719–31.
- [38] Fan R, et al. Bio-printing cell-laden Matrigel-agarose constructs. J Biomater Appl 2016;31(5):684–92.
- [39] Kang YH, et al. Growth factors and nonparenchymal cell conditioned media induce mitogenic responses in stable long-term adult rat hepatocyte cultures. Exp Cell Res 2004;293(2):239–47.
- [40] Shteyer E, et al. Reduced liver cell death using an alginate scaffold bandage: a novel approach for liver reconstruction after extended partial hepatectomy. Acta Biomater 2014;10(7):3209–16.
- [41] Yang LL, et al. Differentiation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells into neural-like cells by co-culture with retinal pigmented epithelial cells. Int J Ophthalmol 2010;3(1):23–7.
- [42] Tai BC, et al. The use of a polyelectrolyte fibrous scaffold to deliver differentiated hMSCs to the liver. Biomaterials 2010;31(1):48-57.
- [43] Dvir-Ginzberg M, et al. Liver tissue engineering within alginate scaffolds: effects of cell-seeding density on hepatocyte viability, morphology, and function. Tissue Eng 2003;9(4):757–66.
- [44] Dvir-Ginzberg M, Elkayam T, Cohen S. Induced differentiation and maturation of newborn liver cells into functional hepatic tissue in macroporous alginate scaffolds. FASEB J 2008;22(5):1440–9.
- [45] Lees JG, et al. Transplantation of 3D scaffolds seeded with human embryonic stem cells: biological features of surrogate tissue and teratomaforming potential. Regen Med 2007;2(3):289–300.
- [46] Barralet JE, Wallace LL, Strain AJ. Tissue engineering of human biliary epithelial cells on polyglycolic acid/polycaprolactone scaffolds maintains long-term phenotypic stability. Tissue Eng 2003;9(5):1037–45.
- [47] Kaihara S, et al. Survival and function of rat hepatocytes cocultured with nonparenchymal cells or sinusoidal endothelial cells on biodegradable polymers under flow conditions. J Pediatr Surg 2000;35(9):1287–90.
- [48] Fukumitsu K, Yagi H, Soto-Gutierrez A. Bioengineering in organ transplantation: targeting the liver. Transplant Proc 2011;43(6):2137-8.
- [49] Xiang JX, et al. Liver regeneration using decellularized splenic scaffold: a novel approach in tissue engineering. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2015;14(5):502–8.
- [50] Buhler NE, et al. Controlled processing of a full-sized porcine liver to a decellularized matrix in 24 h. J Biosci Bioeng 2015;119(5):609-13.
- [51] Barakat O, et al. Use of decellularized porcine liver for engineering humanized liver organ. J Surg Res 2012;173(1):e11–25.
- [52] Crapo PM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes. Biomaterials 2011;32(12):3233-43.
- [53] Faulk DM, Wildemann JD, Badylak SF. Decellularization and cell seeding of whole liver biologic scaffolds composed of extracellular matrix. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2015;5(1):69–80.
- [54] Wang Y, et al. Recent advances in decellularization and recellularization for tissue-engineered liver grafts. Cells Tissues Organs 2016;203(4).
- [55] Ko IK, et al. Bioengineered transplantable porcine livers with re-endothelialized vasculature. Biomaterials 2015;40:72-9.
- [56] Shupe T, et al. Method for the decellularization of intact rat liver. Organogenesis 2010;6(2):134-6.
- [57] Uygun BE, Yarmush ML, Uygun K. Application of whole-organ tissue engineering in hepatology. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;9(12): 738-44.
- [58] Baptista PM, et al. Fluid flow regulation of revascularization and cellular organization in a bioengineered liver platform. Tissue Eng 2016; 22(3):199–207.
- [59] van Zijl F, Mikulits W. Hepatospheres: three dimensional cell cultures resemble physiological conditions of the liver. World J Hepatol 2010; 2(1):1–7.
- [60] Brophy CM, et al. Rat hepatocyte spheroids formed by rocked technique maintain differentiated hepatocyte gene expression and function. Hepatology 2009;49(2):578–86.
- [61] Chang TT, Hughes-Fulford M. Monolayer and spheroid culture of human liver hepatocellular carcinoma cell line cells demonstrate distinct global gene expression patterns and functional phenotypes. Tissue Eng 2009;15(3):559–67.
- [62] Saito M, et al. Reconstruction of liver organoid using a bioreactor. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12(12):1881-8.
- [63] Dedhia PH, et al. Organoid models of human gastrointestinal development and disease. Gastroenterology 2016;150(5):1098-112.
- [64] Hirschhaeuser F, et al. Multicellular tumor spheroids: an underestimated tool is catching up again. J Biotechnol 2010;148(1):3-15.
- [65] Skardal A, et al. Liver-tumor hybrid organoids for modeling tumor growth and drug response in vitro. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43(10): 2361-73.
- [66] Kosaka T, et al. Spheroid cultures of human hepatoblastoma cells (HuH-6 line) and their application for cytotoxicity assay of alcohols. Acta Med Okayama 1996;50(2):61–6.
- [67] Chen R, et al. Screening candidate metastasis-associated genes in three-dimensional HCC spheroids with different metastasis potential. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2014;7(5):2527–35.
- [68] Song Y, et al. Activated hepatic stellate cells play pivotal roles in hepatocellular carcinoma cell chemoresistance and migration in multicellular tumor spheroids. Sci Rep 2016;6:36750.
- [69] EASL clinical practice guidelines: liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2016;64(2):433-85.
- [70] Hamazaki K, Doi Y, Koide N. Microencapsulated multicellular spheroid of rat hepatocytes transplanted intraperitoneally after 90% hepatectomy. Hepato-Gastroenterology 2002;49(48):1514–6.
- [71] Gan JH, et al. Hybrid artificial liver support system for treatment of severe liver failure. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11(6):890-4.
- [72] Glorioso JM, et al. Pivotal preclinical trial of the spheroid reservoir bioartificial liver. J Hepatol 2015;63(2):388–98.
- [73] Hansel MC, et al. The history and use of human hepatocytes for the treatment of liver diseases: the first 100 patients. Curr Protoc Toxicol 2014;62:14.12.1-14.12.23.
- [74] Gramignoli R, et al. Clinical hepatocyte transplantation: practical limits and possible solutions. Eur Surg Res 2015;54(3-4):162-77.
- [75] Pettinato G, et al. Scalable differentiation of human iPSCs in a multicellular spheroid-based 3D culture into hepatocyte-like cells through direct Wnt/beta-catenin pathway inhibition. Sci Rep 2016;6:32888.
- [76] Uchida S, et al. An injectable spheroid system with genetic modification for cell transplantation therapy. Biomaterials 2014;35(8):2499-506.
- [77] Rawlins MD. Cutting the cost of drug development? Nat Rev Drug Discov 2004;3:360-4.
- [78] Kola I, Landis J. Can the pharmaceutical industry reduce attrition rates? Nat Rev Drug Discov 2004;3:711-5.
- [79] Kaplowitz N. Idiosyncratic drug hepatotoxicity. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2005;4:489–99.

#### REFERENCES

- [80] Rizzetto M, Ciancio A. Epidemiology of hepatitis D. Semin Liver Dis 2012;32:211-9.
- [81] WHO | World Malaria Report 2015. WHO; 2016.
- [82] Smith BW, Adams LA. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and diabetes mellitus: pathogenesis and treatment. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2011;7: 456-65.
- [83] Cusi K. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2009;16:141-9.
- [84] Koppe SWP. Obesity and the liver: nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Transl Res 2014;164:312–22.
- [85] McGuire S. World Cancer Report 2014. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on cancer, WHO Press, 2015. Adv Nutr 2016;7:418–9.
- [86] LeCluyse EL, et al. Organotypic liver culture models: meeting current challenges in toxicity testing. Crit Rev Toxicol 2012;42:501-48.
- [87] Hewitt NJ, et al. Primary hepatocytes: current understanding of the regulation of metabolic enzymes and transporter proteins, and pharmaceutical practice for the use of hepatocytes in metabolism, enzyme induction, transporter, clearance, and hepatotoxicity studies. Drug Metab Rev 2007;39:159–234.
- [88] Gómez-Lechón MJ, et al. Competency of different cell models to predict human hepatotoxic drugs. Expet Opin Drug Metabol Toxicol 2014; 10:1553–68.
- [89] Rowe C, et al. Network analysis of primary hepatocyte dedifferentiation using a shotgun proteomics approach. J Proteome Res 2010;9: 2658–68.
- [90] Bale SS, et al. Long-term coculture strategies for primary hepatocytes and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. Tissue Eng 2015;21:413-22.
- [91] Krause P, et al. Maintaining hepatocyte differentiation in vitro through co-culture with hepatic stellate cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 2009;45:205–12.
- [92] Ohno M, et al. Up-regulation of drug-metabolizing enzyme genes in layered co-culture of a human liver cell line and endothelial cells. Tissue Eng 2008;14:1861–9.
- [93] Tukov FF, et al. Modeling inflammation-drug interactions in vitro: a rat Kupffer cell-hepatocyte coculture system. Toxicol In Vitro 2006;20: 1488–99.
- [94] Luebke-Wheeler JL, et al. E-cadherin protects primary hepatocyte spheroids from cell death by a caspase-independent mechanism. Cell Transplant 2009;18:1281–7.
- [95] Sakai Y, Yamagami S, Nakazawa K. Comparative analysis of gene expression in rat liver tissue and monolayer- and spheroid-cultured hepatocytes. Cells Tissues Organs 2010;191:281–8.
- [96] Godoy P, et al. Recent advances in 2D and 3D in vitro systems using primary hepatocytes, alternative hepatocyte sources and nonparenchymal liver cells and their use in investigating mechanisms of hepatotoxicity, cell signaling and ADME. Arch Toxicol 2013;87: 1315–530.
- [97] Usta OB, et al. Microengineered cell and tissue systems for drug screening and toxicology applications: evolution of in-vitro liver technologies. Technology 2015;3:1–26.
- [98] Chan TS, et al. Meeting the challenge of predicting hepatic clearance of compounds slowly metabolized by cytochrome P450 using a novel hepatocyte model, HepatoPac. Drug Metab Dispos 2013;41:2024–32.
- [99] Schütte J, et al. A method for patterned in situ biofunctionalization in injection-molded microfluidic devices. Lab Chip 2010;10:2551-8.
- [100] Baxter GT. Hurel an in vivo-surrogate assay platform for cell-based studies. Altern Lab Anim 2009;37(Suppl. 1):11–8.
- [101] Guillouzo A, Guguen-Guillouzo C. Evolving concepts in liver tissue modeling and implications for in vitro toxicology. Expet Opin Drug Metabol Toxicol 2008;4:1279–94.
- [102] Au SH, et al. Hepatic organoids for microfluidic drug screening. Lab Chip 2014;14:3290-9.
- [103] Vernetti LA, et al. A human liver microphysiology platform for investigating physiology, drug safety, and disease models. Exp Biol Med 2016;241:101–14.
- [104] Schmelzer E, et al. Three-dimensional perfusion bioreactor culture supports differentiation of human fetal liver cells. Tissue Eng 2010;16: 2007–16.
- [105] Zeilinger K, et al. Scaling down of a clinical three-dimensional perfusion multicompartment hollow fiber liver bioreactor developed for extracorporeal liver support to an analytical scale device useful for hepatic pharmacological in vitro studies. Tissue Eng 2011;17:549–56.
- [106] Vyas D, et al. Self-assembled liver organoids recapitulate hepatobiliary organogenesis in vitro. Hepatology 2017;67(2):750-61.
- [107] Leite SB, et al. Novel human hepatic organoid model enables testing of drug-induced liver fibrosis in vitro. Biomaterials 2016;78:1–10.
- [108] Lee J, et al. A 3D alcoholic liver disease model on a chip. Integr Biol 2016;8:302-8.
- [109] Huch M, et al. Long-term culture of genome-stable bipotent stem cells from adult human liver. Cell 2015;160:299–312.

This page intentionally left blank

## Regenerative Medicine in the Cornea

Fiona Simpson<sup>1</sup>, Emilio I. Alarcon<sup>2</sup>, Jöns Hilborn<sup>3</sup>, Isabelle Brunette<sup>1,4</sup>, May Griffith<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Maisonneuve-Rosemont Hospital Research Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada; <sup>2</sup>University of Ottawa Heart Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada; <sup>3</sup>Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden; <sup>4</sup>University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada

## INTRODUCTION

## Structure and Function of the Cornea

The cornea is the transparent front covering of the eye that transmits and focuses light into the eye for vision. It is composed of three main cellular layers: an outermost stratified epithelium, a middle stroma, and an innermost endothelial layer. The total thickness is approximately 550 µm in the center and 750 µm at the periphery [1]. The epithelium of the cornea forms the outer layer and primary protective barrier. It is composed of stratifying, non-keratinized epithelial cells. Epithelial cells also secrete antiinflammatory and antimicrobial factors as an insoluble layer that maintains the tear film [2]. Because cells are lost on the anterior surface of the cornea, new layers of epithelium originate from a basal layer generated by corneal stem cells in the corneo–scleral limbus [3]. The stroma is composed of a hydrated, largely collagenous extracellular matrix (ECM) containing a network of fibroblast-like cells called keratocytes. The single endothelial layer actively osmoregulates the entire structure and maintains hydration while pumping out excess fluid. The cornea is avascular and relies on its extensive network of sensory neurons and their interaction with the corneal cells to maintain tissue integrity and heal wounds [4].

The external location of the cornea makes it prone to injury and infection. Diseases of the cornea are the fourth largest cause of vision loss globally according to the World Health Organization [5]. Corneal blindness is treated by transplantation with donated human corneas, but there is a severe worldwide shortage of good-quality corneas. Not taking into consideration patients in poorly served remote areas or those contraindicated for conventional surgery, an estimated 12.7 million patients are awaiting corneal transplantation globally [6]. This need is particularly elevated in low- to middle-income countries, e.g., China and India, where 2 million and 7 million patients, respectively, are awaiting surgery.

## Treatment Options, State of the Art, and Need for Corneal Regenerative Medicine

The only widespread treatment is corneal transplantation using a full-thickness human donor cornea through a procedure known as penetrating keratoplasty (PK). PK therefore relies on the ability to access donor corneas via eye banks. In 2012, there were 184,576 corneal transplants in 116 countries globally [6]. This means that of 70 patients needing transplantation only 1 is treated, and this is mainly because of a severe global shortage of human donor corneas. However, even with adequate access to donated tissues, although initial graft success rates are high in developed nations, e.g., 90% over 2 years in Sweden [7], only about 64% of grafts survive over 10 years [8]. In developing nations where there is a preponderance of severe pathologies that place patients at high risk for rejection, the graft survival rate over 2 years was 52% [9].

#### 63. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE IN THE CORNEA

Corneal prostheses known as keratoprostheses (KPros) have been developed mainly as alternatives to donor corneas for high-risk grafts, because these patients are generally contraindicated or not prioritized for conventional donor transplantation in countries where there is a severe donor shortage. The traditional KPro that is used clinically is composed of an optical core, often made from poly(methyl methacrylate) and a skirt that interfaces with the patient's eye. The two most widely used KPros (the Boston KPro and osteo-odonto-keratoprosthesis) and their variants contain a biological interface. However, the irreversible nature of the surgery, potential complications, and the need for sustained antibiotics and immune suppression cause them to remain an option for end-stage eyes, so they are not ideal replacements for donor human corneas [10]. For more detailed reviews of KPros, see Avadhanam et al. [10]and Salvador-Culla et al. [11].

Regeneration of the corneal epithelium from cell-culture expanded limbal epithelial stem cells pioneered by Pelligrini et al. was a major breakthrough in modern corneal blindness treatment and is in clinical application as the first European Commission approved cell-based advanced therapy medicinal product (ATMP) [12,13]. A direct method for limbal cell replacement known as simple limbal epithelial transplantation (SLET) that bypasses stem cell expansion has also entered clinical application [14,15]. However, limbal stem transplantation is most successful when using an autograft, and in cases where the pathology involves deeper layers, follow-on transplantation with a donated cornea is still needed [16].

The first successful regeneration of the cornea using a cell-free method was reported by Griffith and colleagues and resulted from the use of recombinant human collagen (RHCIII) hydrogels [17]. Ten patients underwent the implantation of proregeneration scaffolds by anterior lamellar keratoplasty [17]. Patients were given partial-thickness implants composed of RHCIII cross-linked using 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)-carbodiimide–*N*-hydroxysuccinimide, resulting in the regeneration of the epithelium, stroma, and corneal nerves (Fig. 63.1). Because the neocorneas were derived from the patients' own cells growing into cell-free scaffolds, there were no immune problems and patients did not require immune suppression beyond the 6–7 weeks of local steroid eye drops prescribed prophylactically.

Regenerative medicine remains the main option for restoring the structure and function of the cornea to the semblance of a normal cornea. In this chapter, we review current methods used to regenerate the human cornea. Because of the wide variety of methods used, we will review only examples that are in clinical evaluation and are being evaluated preclinically, as well as some novel methods.

## **REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPLIED TO KERATOPROSTHESIS DEVELOPMENT**

KPros under development and clinical evaluation incorporate elements allowing regeneration. Specifically, devices have been designed to allow the regrowth of corneal epithelium to cover the device to maintain the tear film and prevent infection or extrusion of the implant. This is done by surface modification of the interface opposing the patient's corneal tissues with either surface chemistries or lithographic techniques that pattern the surface on a nanoscale to microscale.

The macromolecules of ECM proteins such as collagen, fibronectin, laminin, their derivative cell adhesive peptides (e.g., isoleucine–lysine–alanine–valine, Tyr–Ile–Gly–Ser–Arg [YIGSR], and Arg–Gly–Asp [RGD]), or other ECM analogs have been evaluated for their ability to modulate epithelial growth over KPros. Previous work has shown that corneal epithelial cell adhesion and growth were significantly enhanced by tethering of laminin or fibronectin adhesion promoting peptide via flexible polyethylene glycol (PEG) chains, more so than by tethering of fibronectin or simple coating of the surface with matrix proteins [18,19]. Modification with fibronectin-based Arg–Gly–Asp–Ser (RGDS) [20–22], laminin-based YIGSR [23,24], and a novel collagenbased peptide, Gly–Pro–Leu [25], was also shown to improve epithelial cell adhesion in vitro. Surface modification peptide combinations, e.g., well-known cell adhesion peptides RGDS and YIGSR together with their synergistic counterparts Pro–His–Ser–Arg–Asn and Pro–Asp–Ser–Gly–Arg, have resulted in surfaces that provide improved corneal epithelial cell adhesion and growth [23].

Growth factors such as epidermal growth factor or insulin-like growth factor-1 have been tethered onto polydimethylsiloxane and polymethacrylic acid-*co*-2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate, respectively [18,26]. Both studies showed that the growth factors enhanced corneal epithelial cell attachment and growth and that the use of a PEG tether has been shown to improve cell coverage of the polymers significantly in vitro. Both sets of results strongly suggested that the spacer molecules provided the correct microenvironment for the epithelial cells by exposing the bioactive motifs to allow the cells to reach confluence, compared with little or no epithelial growth on the surfaces that were coated only with the bioactive factors.



**FIGURE 63.1** Corneal features in a healthy, unoperated subject, alongside those of operated patients, at 24 months after implantation of a biosynthetic cornea or a human donor cornea. (Top row) Anterior segment optical coherence tomography (ASOCT) images of a healthy cornea, biosynthetic implant, and human donor transplant by penetrating keratoplasty. Areas of wound-healing activity exhibit high reflectivity (*white areas*). (A–O) In vivo confocal microscopy (IVCM) images. Intact epithelium of the unoperated cornea (A), regenerated corneal epithelial cells on the implant surface (B), and regenerated epithelium of the penetrating graft (C). Regenerated nerves (E) at the subbasal epithelium in an implanted cornea were parallel and morphologically similar to the normal cornea (D), whereas regenerated subbasal nerves were also observed in a cornea transplanted with human donor tissue (F). Anterior stromal cell (keratocyte) nuclei (G–I) and posterior keratocytes (J–L) were present, with varying density, in all corneas. The endothelium (M–O) in all corneas exhibited a characteristic mosaic pattern. *Reproduced from Fagerholm P, Lagali NS, Merrett K, Jackson WB, Munger R, Liu Y, et al. A biosynthetic alternative to human donor tissue for inducing corneal regeneration: 24 month follow-up of a Phase I clinical study. Science Transl Med 2010; 2: 46ra61, courtesy of AAAS.* 

#### 63. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE IN THE CORNEA

Modification of the physical profile of a KPro surface by lithography is another method to enhance the cell-tissue device interface. Surface patterning of a KPro was first reported by Myung et al. using a photolithographically patterned device composed of a PEG-poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) central core and a poly(hydroxyethyl acrylate) microperforated skirt. Type I collagen was then coupled to the hydrogel using photochemical surface modification to promote epithelial migration into the wound site in rabbit models in vitro and in vivo [27]. When the collagen-patterned PEG-PAA hydrogels were implanted into rabbits, the result was good tolerance in 9 of 10 subjects but an optical haze remained at the surgical site [28]. An additional study suggested that the collagen was evenly distributed but cell migration was slower than in surgical controls and took 5 instead of 2.5 days for wound closure [29]. A comparative study of PEG-diacrylate-PAA versus PEG-diacrylamide-PAA hydrogels indicated that the PEG-diacrylamide was more biocompatible than the original formulation [30]. A 2015 study compared porous versus nonporous PEG-diacrylamide-PAA hydrogels with surface modification with type I collagen and fibronectin [31]. The porous hydrogels were synthesized using templates composed of polystyrene microbeads, which were removed after cross-linking by washing in methyl ethyl ketone buffer. Both the porous and nonporous formulations supported the multilayered growth of corneal fibroblasts, which suggested the suitability of porous PEG-PAA hydrogels for KPro skirt material.

## **REGENERATION OF CORNEAL LAYERS**

## **Corneal Epithelium**

Work in regeneration of the corneal epithelium has focused on methods that circumvent the rejection of allogeneic donor cells, because this is a huge problem that necessitates systemic immunosuppression even in patients receiving human leukocyte antigen—matched tissue, which has its own risks and side effects [32]. This includes the development of new therapeutic stem cell sources from transdifferentiation of progenitor cells from other sites such as oral mucosa (or other mucous membranes) to conversion of fibroblasts or mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) into corneal lineages by induced pluripotency [33].

Transdifferentiation of oral mucosa has been tested in patients with bilateral corneal epithelial stem cell depletion. In 2004, Nishida et al. reported the first successful human cultivated oral mucosal epithelial transplantation surgeries [34]. The procedure was conducted in four participants with bilateral total limbal stem cell deficiency caused by Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS) or ocular cicatricial pemphigoid. The oral mucosal cells were cultured on temperature-responsive cell-culture surfaces with 3T3 feeder cells and transplanted onto one eye of each patient, with successful, stable outcomes. However, all transplanted eyes had some peripheral corneal neovascularization. The procedure was later improved by culture of oral mucosa on human amniotic membrane (HAM) [35]. This technique has been successfully used in patients with SJS, alkali and temperature burns, and aniridia [36–40]. Other stem cells such as umbilical cord lining-derived stem cells have been successfully tested in rabbit models for use in regenerating the corneal surface [41]. MSCs have also been tested as potential sources of corneal limbal epithelial stem cell replacements in rat and rabbit models, but results have been mixed [42–44].

A range of biomaterials have been employed as substrates for corneal epithelial cells for use as implants. Fibrin and HAMs have been the staples. However, materials such as collagen membranes and silk fibroin are being evaluated.

Electrospun poly(D,L-lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA) has also been used as substrate to expand cultured limbal cells and as a human limbal cell explant to restore the stem cell niche [45,46]. PLGA was used at a ratio of 50:50 lactic acid to glycolic acid. The electrospun meshes underwent  $\gamma$ -sterilization and dry storage at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. The meshes degraded at 4–6 weeks in vitro and allowed for the culture of confluent limbal cells. Both cultured and explanted cells generated differentiated and stem cell populations when transplanted into an ex vivo rabbit corneal model.

## Corneal Endothelium

The expansion of primary corneal endothelial cells (CECs) in culture before reinjection has been successfully tested in a feline model. CECs were obtained from Descemet membranes excised from feline corneas and expanded for up to two passages after cell detachment. Sixteen animals underwent surgery of the right eye. Eight animals underwent 7-mm central endothelial scraping and injection with  $2 \times 10^5$  or  $1 \times 10^6$  cultured CECs, and 100 or 350 µM Rho-associated, coiled-coil containing protein kinase (ROCK) inhibitor (ROCKi). Two underwent

18-mm total scraping followed by intracameral injection of 1 M CECs and ROCKi in 0.2 mL. Six negative controls underwent central or total scraping followed by injection of ROCKi. After surgery, the corneas grafted with CECs performed better than the surgical controls but the endothelium had incomplete functionality and was inferior to the unoperated corneas.

CECs have been differentiated from human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) but in vivo analysis has thus far been limited to animal models. In 2014, Zhang et al. reported human corneal endothelial-like cells derived from the periocular mesenchymal precursor (POMP) phase of hESCs [47]. POMP cells were transferred into coculture with human corneal stromal cells in lens epithelial cell–conditioned media for differentiation into CEC-like cells. The CEC-like cells were sorted using fluorescence activated cell sorting and cultured to generate CEC-like sheets. Transplantation into rabbits undergoing Descemet membrane stripping resulted in gradual restoration of transparency. Two methods of deriving CECs from the neural crest (NC) phase of hESCs have been tested. McCabe et al. derived CEC-like cells from dual Smad inhibitor–generated, feeder-free hESC NC cells with platelet-derived growth factor-β, and Dickkopf-related protein 2 [48]. Song et al. derived CEC-like cells from feeder-supported hESCs differentiated into NC cells cultured in bovine CEC conditional medium and fresh CEC media [49].

## **Corneal Stroma**

Funderburgh and colleagues worked on stroma regeneration and showed that direct injection of stem cells isolated from limbal biopsies can prevent corneal scarring [50]. Limbal stem cell biopsy-derived stromal cells were derived from mesenchymal cells from human cadaveric cornea-sclera rims. In culture, these cells expanded to produce a thick lamellar structure with aligned collagen and proteoglycans resembling the ECM. Grafts in a mouse corneal wound model prevented the formation of scar tissue and were well-tolerated. Corneal stroma sheets have also been constructed in vitro for use as potential replacements for pathologic or thinned stromas. These are discussed subsequently in a discussion on self-assembled corneal constructs.

## FULLY CELL-BASED, SELF-ASSEMBLED CORNEAL CONSTRUCTS

Self-assembly of corneal stromal components, largely collagens, has been extensively examined by Germain and colleagues, who used the method of ascorbic acid stimulation of fibroblastic cells to secrete ascorbic acid to prepare a range of tissues. In earlier work, Proulx et al. constructed a corneal stroma by growing stromal fibroblasts in cell culture medium supplemented with ascorbic acid for 28–35 days [51]. The ascorbic acid induces fibroblasts to lay down collagen and other ECM components to form sheets. These 35- to 55-µm-thick sheets are then stacked to form a corneal stroma. After fabrication of a stacked stroma, Proulx et al. added an endothelium and epithelium to construct a three-layered cornea. First, CECs were seeded on top of the reconstructed stroma and allowed to grow into a monolayer in endothelial growth medium. After 2–7 days, a plastic ring was placed on top of the cultured construct that was then turned upside down. Corneal limbal epithelial cells are then seeded on top, after which the entire construct is cultured in epithelial growth medium supplemented with more ascorbic acid. After achieving epithelial confluence, the entire construct is air-lifted and cultured at the air–liquid interface to promote stratification of the corneal epithelium. The resulting cornea was significantly thinner than a native human cornea. However, it was transparent and the authors suggested that full thickness might be achieved by increasing the number of stacked layers of fibroblast–ECM.

A variation on the use of ascorbic acid was reported by Karamichos et al. [52], who employed ascorbic acid with and without transforming growth factor- $\beta$  to induce elaboration of ECM by human umbilical cord MSCs (cord stem cells) to form a cornea stroma-like structure. The cord stem cells themselves differentiated into stroma-like cells. As reported for the corneal stromal fibroblasts, it took 4 weeks to produce a construct 24 mm in diameter and 30  $\mu$ m thick. However, in the cord stem cell matrices, 50% fewer cells than fibroblast-produced matrices were present, which showed that the ECM laid down by the cord stem cells was denser.

Self-assembled corneal stromal constructs were tested in animals. The iteration of self-assembled corneal stromal was reported by Syed-Picard et al. [53]. Human cornea stromal stem cells were seeded onto micropatterned PDMS substrates supplemented with stem cell growth medium. After 48 h, the medium was switched to a keratocyte differentiation medium containing ascorbic acid, fibroblast growth factor-2, and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 3. After 10 days, a sheet was produced that could be detached from the PDMS substrate. After 5 weeks of implantation into stromal pockets in the corneas of immune-competent mice, the sheets were

well-integrated with persistence of human donor cells. They had also acquired transparency during the implantation period (Fig. 63.2).

Thicker sheets can be produced using a similar method, by stacking of self-assembled stromal constructs. Corneal stromal constructs were generated from both feline and human donor corneas and six sheets of stromal cells were stacked to generate each graft, which was then implanted into the corneas of cats in stromal pockets [54]. The animals each received two 4-mm-long and 300-µM-long incisions poles apart in the superior nasal and inferior temporal quadrants, after which a graft was placed in each intrastromal pocket. Four animals received human xenografts and four animals received feline allografts. Contralateral eyes underwent surgery without grafting. Preoperatively, the grafts were slightly hazy but they were restored to complete transparency after day 37. The grafts remained transparent and avascular with reinnervation and showed normal corneal sensitivity (Fig. 63.3). Overall, the surgery was well-tolerated with no symptoms of immune rejection.



**FIGURE 63.2** Formation of scaffold-free tissue sheet with parallel cell and matrix organization. Light micrographs of (A) top view and (B) cross-sectional view of the polydimethylsiloxane substrate show grooves approximately 10  $\mu$ m wide, 10  $\mu$ m apart, and 5  $\mu$ m deep. (C) Phase contrast image shows corneal stromal stem cells (CSSC) cultured on the grooved substrate. (D) For better visualization, CSSC were labeled with DiI (*red*) and cultured on grooved substrate. (E) Two-photon micrograph of 10-day cultures of CSSC on grooved substrates in keratocyte differentiation medium shows deposition of parallel organized collagenous matrix (*green*). Nuclei (*blue*) were stained by SYTOX-green (*blue*). (F) After 10 days of culture, a robust tissue sheet is formed that can be separated from the substrate using forceps. Scale bars: (A) and (B) = 50  $\mu$ m; (C)–(E) = 100  $\mu$ m. *Reproduced from Syed-Picard FNN*, *Du YY*, *Hertsenberg AJJ*, *Palchesko RR*, *Funderburgh MLL*, *Feinberg AWW*, *et al. Scaffold-free tissue engineering of functional corneal stromal tissue. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;12(1):59–69, with permission from Wiley and J. Funderburgh.* 

(A)

Diffuse illumination

4 days





FIGURE 63.3 Clinical outcome of the tissue engineered (TE)-intrastromal grafts. (A) Representative slit-lamp photos at 4 days (column 1), 1 month (column 2), and 4 months (column 3) after transplantation of a TE-stroma in the superior nasal quadrant. Regular diffuse illumination (first row) does not allow visualization of the clear graft, which can only be seen with direct tangential illumination (second row; arrow; same graft and ×10 magnification for all six photographs). (B–G) Clinical evolution of grafted and control eyes. (B) Transparency score. (C) Anterior chamber cell score. (D) Anterior chamber flare score. (E) Intraocular pressure (IOP). (F) Graft thickness. (G) Esthesiometry. The parameters described in this figure were measured in all eyes at all indicated time points, with no missing data. The most representative photos are shown. SN graft, superior nasal graft; IT graft, inferior temporal graft. Reproduced from Boulze Pankert M, Goyer B, Zaguia F, Bareille M, Perron MC, Liu X, et al. Biocompatibility and functionality of a tissue-engineered living corneal stroma transplanted in the feline eye. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2014;55(10):6908-20.

Self-assembled stromal constructs therefore show promise for regenerative medicine applications; however, they have some significant limitations. Allogeneic cells may be problematic in clinical applications, so patient-derived autografts are more likely to be preferred. This poses significant surgical limitations, because patients will need to undergo surgery to isolate the donor tissue and then wait a significant period for the fabrication of a construct. This type of custom construct will then be limited to clinics with on-site cleanroom facilities. The possibility remains of decellularizing the stromal ECM and implanting it, but this has been attempted only in cartilage [55].

## **CELL-FREE BIOMATERIALS**

A range of ECM-based or inspired proregeneration scaffolds have been proposed as alternatives to the largely collagenous corneal stroma. These range from human and xenogeneic decellularized ECM (from pig corneas to fish scales) to matrices made from extracted human and animal collagen, RHC, or short peptide analogs of ECM proteins.

## Decellularized Extracellular Matrix as Implants

The aim of decellularization is to remove the cellular content while preserving the native ECM that is believed to promote regeneration when it is used as cell-free or pre–cell seeded implants. A wide range of decellularizing methods have been tested, including agents such as enzymes, chelating agents, chemicals (acid and alkali treatment and alcohols), detergents, hypertonic and hypotonic solutions, and physical methods (freezing, pressure, sonication, and mechanical agitation) [56]. Automated devices for decellularization have also been developed [57].

In 2011, Daoud et al. reported the clinical evaluation results of 150 patients who received anterior lamellar keratoplasty with human decellularized corneas sterilized with  $\gamma$ -radiation [58]. These implants showed high levels of epithelialization within a few days and no postoperative infection or rejection in all but four cases, all of which occurred in patients with preexisting corneal melting. In 2015, Zhang et al. described the implantation of decellularized porcine corneal stromas into the corneas of 47 patients who had corneal fungal ulcers [59]. They reported that 41 of the implants became transparent over time and 34 patients (72%) showed vision improvement. These results are promising, but caution must be exercised for xenogeneic transplantation because severe allergic reactions have been reported [60,61]. The use of poor-quality cadaveric human corneas as decellularized implants instead of living allografts is still caused by cornea shortage problems and requires confirmation of safety, because immunogenicity and risk of disease transmission remain considerations.

The main structural protein in decellularized ECM is collagen. The scales of fish comprise 41–81% of connective tissue protein and collagen and have been examined as collagen implants. Emergency patients with perforated corneal ulcerations or lacerations referred for immediate treatment at European hospitals often receive a temporary human cadaveric donor cornea. This so-called "0-cornea" is used to close the eye only temporarily because it does not meet all requirements of human donor corneas used for PK. However, an "0-cornea" is not always immediately available; hence, the ologen Biocornea was developed (Fig. 63.4) This is a temporary cornea made from decellularized and decalcified fish scales, designed to seal perforated corneas temporarily for up to 72 h while waiting for a donor human cornea to become available. When tested in rat corneas [62], these fish



Scale from Tilapia are processed

FIGURE 63.4 Ologen Biocornea derived from fish scale has a morphology similar to human cornea extracellular matrix and is transparent. *Courtesy of Aeon Astron Europe B.V.* 

#### CELL-FREE BIOMATERIALS

scale—derived collagen matrices were not reepithelialized during the 3-week study period and integration was incomplete in two of six animals, leading to the loss of implants. Some melting was also observed. As implants within stromal pockets, the grafts resulted in haziness. The ologen Biocornea was also reported to be able to seal full-thickness cornea perforations in minipig models in which there was no leakage of aqueous humor, the anterior chamber of the eye retained its normal depth, and there was only mild swelling of the wounded cornea [63]. Histopathological examination of the patched cornea showed that the temporary repair did not trigger immune cell invasion and prevented epithelial ingrowths into the wound.

An important consideration for the use of xenoderived, decellularized cornea stromas is the heterogeneity of the decellularization process and the risk for allergic reactions to xenogeneic biomaterials (compared with allogeneic biomaterials) and pathogen transmission if tight processing controls are not adhered to [64]. China Regenerative Medicine International is moving ahead with the industrial-scale use of decellularized pig corneas as alternatives to human donor corneas [65].

### **Collagen-Based Implants**

The 4-year follow-up of the first successful regeneration of multiple cell types in the human cornea showed that implants made from carbodiimide-cross-linked RHCIII were able to engraft stably without immune suppression [66]. Interestingly, even at 4 years after the operation, the regeneration process in several patients appeared to be ongoing. Histopathology of a graft from a patient who elected to be regrafted (owing to a problem with contact lenses needed to correct astigmatism resulting from suturing) showed that the regenerated neocornea had a structure similar to that of a normal, healthy cornea.

For corneas with inflammation or more severe pathologies such as chemical burn, however, implants made from RHCIII alone were not able to prevent neovascularization, as shown in rabbit models of alkali burn [67]. The incorporation of a network of 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC), a synthetic lipid with known inflammation suppressing properties [68] properties, blocked neovascularization [69]. When the RHCII–MPC implants were grafted into three patients as tectonic patches for relief of symptoms from chronic corneal ulceration from burns and a previously rejected graft, i.e., individuals with severe pathologies causing pain, severe discomfort, and photophobia who were diagnosed to be at high risk for rejecting conventional donor corneas, RHCIII–MPC implants restored surface integrity and relieved the patients of the symptoms [69]. Two of the three patients also showed improvement in vision. A more recent clinical study of RHCIII-MPC implants as anterior lamellar grafts in six patients over an average of 24 months showed stable restoration of surface integrity, relief of symptoms in patients with ulceration, and improvement in touch sensitivity indicating regeneration of corneal nerves [70].

In Islam et al. patterning RHCIII–MPC hydrogel constructs with microcontact printing, another form of soft lithography, showed that different widths of fibronectin stripes were able to modulate cell adhesion and proliferation characteristics [71].

## Peptide Analogs of Extracellular Matrix

Full-length ECM macromolecules are often hard to extract in large quantities and to purify. Animal source material has the risk of pathogen transmission and requires screening before use in humans [72]. In addition, these macromolecules are relatively difficult to functionalize compared with synthetic polymers. Hence, the development and use of short analogs of ECM components would allow for more effective processing and applications. Peptide analogs have been tested for the fabrication of scaffolds.

Peptide amphiphiles (PAs) containing the Arg–Gly–Asp (RGD) cell adhesion motif from fibronectin were developed by Miotto et al. to promote corneal regeneration (PAs) [73]. When assembled into film coatings, such PAs enhanced the adhesion, proliferation, and alignment of human corneal stromal fibroblasts while inducing the formation of three-dimensional (3D) lamellar-like stromal tissue [74]. Uznalli et al. tested PAs based on laminin peptides [75]. When used as injectable scaffolds in rabbit models of corneal wound healing, they reported an increase in keratocyte migration into the surgically induced wounds that led to enhanced stromal regeneration. In addition, PAs using matrix metalloproteinase sequences were developed that self-detach after reaching confluency [76,77]. Finally, a PA based on lumican that forms nanotape structures was reported to support human corneal fibroblasts and increase collagen production [78].

Islam et al. reported the use of a short peptide analog of collagen in fabricating corneal implants [79]. A sequence from O'Leary et al. [80] conjugated to multiarm PEG through thiol-maleimide chemistry through a "C-G" peptide linker resulted in a hybrid hydrogel consisting of the collagen-like peptide (CLP) and PEG. CLP–PEG hydrogels

were successfully tested as a proregeneration scaffold in corneas of minipigs as anterior lamellar grafts. Regeneration of corneal epithelium, stroma, and nerves were recorded over the 12-month observation period (Fig. 63.5). The timing and similarity of the regeneration were comparable to those of control implants made from RHCIII–MPC previously tested in human patients [69,70].



**FIGURE 63.5** Postsurgical corneal regeneration at 12 months after collagen-like peptide (CLP)–polyethylene glycol (PEG) implantation. (A) Optically clear CLP–PEG implant (*arrow*) stably integrated within the pig cornea, compared with its healthy, unoperated contralateral cornea (B). Blood vessels are seen in the implanted cornea but stop at the margin of the implant. (C) Hematoxylin-eosin staining of a representative regenerated CLP–PEG neocornea compared with a healthy control cornea (D) showing similar morphology. Scale bars = 50 mm. (E) In vivo confocal microscopy shows the regenerated nerve (*arrows*) in CLP–PEG cornea that follow a parallel pattern similar to that of the unoperated cornea (F). (G) Sodium dodecyl sulfate–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis separated proteins from the central cornea area of both implanted and control corneas show the presence of  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  chains for type I collagen ( $\alpha 1$ [I] and  $\alpha 2$ [I], respectively) and  $\alpha 1$  chain for type V ( $\alpha 1$ [V]), in the regenerated healthy control corneas. (H) Analysis of normalized, relative protein content shows that the levels of  $\alpha 1$ (I) and  $\alpha 2$ (I) in CLP–PEG implanted corneas. (H) Analysis of normalized, relative protein content shows that the level of  $\alpha 1$ (V) was higher than that of the control ( $^{P} < 0.05$ ). In RHC-MPC–implanted corneas, levels of both  $\alpha 1$ (I) and  $\alpha 2$ (I) were significantly lower than in the unoperated controls (\*) whereas  $\alpha 1$ (V) were similar. No differences were observed between RHCIII-MPC and CLP–PEG implants in general. (I) Fourier transform infrared analysis of regenerated from Islam MM, Ravichandran R, Olsen D, Ljunggren MK, Fagerholm P, Lee CJ, et al. Self-assembled collagen-like-peptide implants as alternatives to human donor corneal transplantation. RSC Adv 2016;6(61):55745–9.

## CELL-BIOMATERIAL COMPOSITES

Cell—biomaterial composites have also been proposed as artificial corneas. Collagen has been used to develop composites of epithelium and stroma from isolated stem cells, e.g., as Real Architecture for 3D Tissue equivalents. A first-in-human study is under way.

Silk, particularly the structural protein fibroin derived from the domesticated silkworm *Bombyx mori*, has been explored as potential corneal stromal scaffolds by several groups in conjunction with therapeutic stem cells. Several examples are discussed here. Groove-patterned, RGD-functionalized silk substrates have been fabricated and seeded with human corneal stromal stem cells (hCSSCs) and human corneal fibroblasts (hCFs) as potential human corneal stromas [81]. The hCSSCs effectively differentiated into stromal cells that elaborated a cornea-specific ECM to mimic human corneal stromal tissue. These constructs were 90–100 µm thick and contained ECM components such as collagen, keratin sulfate, lumican, and keratocan. On the other hand, the hCFs differentiated into myofibroblasts that deposited less-organized collagen in a pattern resembling that of corneal scar tissue. In 2016, Wang et al. reported the successful implantation of helicoidal multilamellar RDG functionalized silk fibroin films in rabbits [82]. At 180 days after the operation, the implants were transparent without signs of neovascularization or immunogenic response. Wang et al. reported the construction of a 3D corneal model using silk with endothelium, stroma, and innervation supported on a free-floating PDMS scaffold in culture media [83], which allowed an air—liquid interface. This and previous models using collagen showed that an air—liquid interface enable optimal corneal cell and nerve ingrowth in multilayered corneal constructs [84–86].

Silk fibroin has also been blended with chitosan to form scaffolds [87]. These were seeded with cornea stromal fibroblasts to form constructs that were implanted into the corneas of 15 rabbits for 12 weeks to allow regeneration. The regenerated rabbit corneas were described as being comparable to healthy, unoperated corneas, with expression of K3/12 expression in the corneal epithelial cells and vimentin in the stromal cells.

Hazra et al. reported the creation of a silk fibroin film generated from non–mulberry feeding silkworms, *Antheraea mylitta* (Am) [88]. The Am film supported the proliferation and differentiation of limbal stem cells. After implantation in rabbits, the films were clear and well-tolerated without neovascularization at 2-month follow-up.

## COMPOSITE IMPLANTS INCORPORATING SPECIFIC BIOACTIVE FUNCTIONS

Infections are an important cause of vision loss and corneal blindness [2]. Hence, implants that contain nanoparticles designed to combat microorganisms or viruses have been under development. Collagen-based implants incorporating antibiotics (vancomycin) or nanoparticles releasing the antiviral drug acyclovir have been tested and found to be effective at blocking the activity of *Staphylococcus aureus* in rabbit infection models and herpes simplex virus serotype 1 (HSV-1), respectively, in vitro [89,90]. A variant on implants with antiviral properties is a collagen-based implant that incorporates corneal cells engineered by gene transfer to secrete the innate antiviral cathelicidin peptide, LL-37 [91]. The secreted LL-37 was able to inhibit viral binding and reduce the incidence of plaque formation and plaque size in vitro but was insufficient to protect cells completely from HSV-1 infection.

Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) have been reported to have broad antiinfective and antiinflammatory properties. Collagen implants incorporating AgNPs have also been developed, along with a strategy to prestabilize and incorporate AgNPs with different colors into collagen matrices to fabricate corneal implants of different colors and antimicrobial properties [92].

## **CHALLENGES**

From a regulatory perspective, regenerative implants and grafts in the cornea are primarily classified as medical devices or ATMPs, respectively. The most straightforward type of implant to manufacture is a fully synthetic scaffold, especially one that is thermostable and can be sterilized by  $\gamma$ -irradiation or electron beam. These scaffolds do not have to contend with rules concerning xenografts. Scaffold derived from animals, either through decellularization or by isolating structural proteins, requires more testing to comply with requirements to prevent pathogen transmission. The most complex regulatory submissions are cell and scaffold composites, which are regulated under the ATMP guidelines. Pellegrini et al. successfully initiated the first application for an ATMP
product in Europe, but this remains an area in which there are many safety considerations and few examples to guide both the applicant and the regulatory agencies [93]. It will likely remain incumbent on the applicants to demonstrate that their product is effective, reproducible, and sterile. Extensive risk analysis of all phases of the production and implantation of an ATMP will be required to generate sufficient confidence that the product will be safe for an extended market.

#### CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

There is a wide variety of solutions for regenerating the cornea. Most recently, 3D bioprinting was used to print corneal stromas complete with cells [94]. Progress has been made in cell-based therapies, ECM-based scaffolds, nanomaterials, and combinations of advancements in cell and biomaterials. The challenge to replace human donor corneas and KPros as the current standard of care remains complex. Advances in cell-based therapies have significantly improved the probable efficacy of corneal autografts, and biomaterials have improved the structural properties of ECM-based scaffolds; however, no single therapy has emerged as a stable, affordable solution for the many causes of corneal damage. It is possible that in the future, biomaterial scaffolds may be combined with surgical techniques such as SLET or cultured cell solutions to customize commercially available scaffolds for individual patients. Nanomedicine also opens the door to the possibility of incorporating therapies for eye infections directly into surgical solutions, which may speed postoperative recovery and prevent latent infection recurrence in patients with corneal blindness caused by infections such as HSV.

# References

- Jonas JB, Holbach L. Central corneal thickness and thickness of the lamina cribrosa in human eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005;46(4): 1275–9.
- [2] Sack RA, Nunes I, Beaton A, Morris C. Host-defense mechanism of the ocular surfaces. Biosci Rep 2001;21(4):463-80.
- [3] Nishida T, Saika S, Morishige N. Cornea and sclera: anatomy and physiology. In: Mannis MJ, Holland EJ, editors. Cornea. 4th ed. Elsevier; 2016. p. 1–22.
- [4] Lambiase A, Rama P, Aloe L, Bonini S. Management of neurotrophic keratopathy. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 1999;10(4):270–6.
- [5] World Health Organisation. Causes of blindness and visual impairment. Available from: http://www.who.int/blindness/causes/en/.
- [6] Gain P, Jullienne R, He Z, Aldossary M, Acquart S, Cognasse F, et al. Global survey of corneal transplantation and eye banking. JAMA ophthalmol 2015;134(2):167–73.
- [7] Claesson M, Armitage WJ, Fagerholm P, Stenevi U. Visual outcome in corneal grafts: a preliminary analysis of the Swedish Corneal Transplant Register. Br J Ophthalmol 2002;86(2):174–80.
- [8] Borderie VM, Boelle PY, Touzeau O, Allouch C, Boutboul S, Laroche L. Predicted long-term outcome of corneal transplantation. Ophthalmology 2009;116(12):2354–60.
- [9] Joshi SA, Jagdale SS, More PD, Deshpande M. Outcome of optical penetrating keratoplasties at a tertiary care eye institute in Western India. Indian J Ophthalmol 2012;60(1):15-21.
- [10] Avadhanam VS, Smith HE, Liu C. Keratoprostheses for corneal blindness: a review of contemporary devices. Clin Ophthalmol 2015;9: 697–720.
- [11] Salvador-Culla B, Kolovou PE. Keratoprosthesis: a review of recent advances in the field. J Funct Biomater 2016;7(2).
- [12] Pellegrini G, Traverso CE, Franzi AT, Zingirian M, Cancedda R, De Luca M. Long-term restoration of damaged corneal surfaces with autologous cultivated corneal epithelium. Lancet 1997;349(9057):990–3.
- [13] EuroStemCell. Europe approves Holoclar®, the first stem cell-based medicinal product. Available from: http://www.eurostemcell.org/ story/europe-approves-holoclar-first-stem-cell-based-medicinal-product.
- [14] Sangwan VS, Basu S, MacNeil S, Balasubramanian D. Simple limbal epithelial transplantation (SLET): a novel surgical technique for the treatment of unilateral limbal stem cell deficiency. Br J Ophthalmol 2012;96(7):931–4.
- [15] Basu S, Sureka SP, Shanbhag SS, Kethiri AR, Singh V, Sangwan VS. Simple limbal epithelial transplantation: long-term clinical outcomes in 125 cases of unilateral chronic ocular surface burns. Ophthalmology 2016;123(5):1000–10.
- [16] Rama P, Matuska S, Paganoni G, Spinelli A, De Luca M, Pellegrini G. Limbal stem-cell therapy and long-term corneal regeneration. N Engl J Med 2010;363(2):147–55.
- [17] Fagerholm P, Lagali NS, Merrett K, Jackson WB, Munger R, Liu Y, et al. A biosynthetic alternative to human donor tissue for inducing corneal regeneration: 24-month follow-up of a phase 1 clinical study. Sci Transl Med 2010;2(46):46ra61.
- [18] Jacob JT, Rochefort JR, Bi J, Gebhardt BM. Corneal epithelial cell growth over tethered-protein/peptide surface-modified hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2005;72(1):198–205.
- [19] Wallace C, Jacob JT, Stoltz A, Bi J, Bundy K. Corneal epithelial adhesion strength to tethered-protein/peptide modified hydrogel surfaces. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;72(1):19–24.
- [20] George A, Pitt WG. Comparison of corneal epithelial cellular growth on synthetic cornea materials. Biomaterials 2002;23(5):1369–73.

#### REFERENCES

- [21] Bruining MJ, Pijpers AP, Kingshott P, Koole LH. Studies on new polymeric biomaterials with tunable hydrophilicity, and their possible utility in corneal repair surgery. Biomaterials 2002;23(4):1213–9.
- [22] Legeais JM, Renard G. A second generation of artificial cornea (Biokpro II). Biomaterials 1998;19(16):1517–22.
- [23] Aucoin L, Griffith CM, Pleizier G, Deslandes Y, Sheardown H. Interactions of corneal epithelial cells and surfaces modified with cell adhesion peptide combinations. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2002;13(4):447–62.
- [24] Merrett K, Griffith CM, Deslandes Y, Pleizier G, Sheardown H. Adhesion of corneal epithelial cells to cell adhesion peptide modified pHEMA surfaces. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2001;12(6):647–71.
- [25] Johnson G, Jenkins M, McLean KM, Griesser HJ, Kwak J, Goodman M, et al. Peptoid-containing collagen mimetics with cell binding activity. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;51(4):612–24.
- [26] Klenkler BJ, Griffith M, Becerril C, West-Mays JA, Sheardown H. EGF-grafted PDMS surfaces in artificial cornea applications. Biomaterials 2005;26(35):7286–96.
- [27] Myung D, Koh W, Bakri A, Zhang F, Marshall A, Ko J, et al. Design and fabrication of an artificial cornea based on a photolithographically patterned hydrogel construct. Biomed Microdevices 2007;9(6):911–22.
- [28] Myung D, Farooqui N, Waters D, Schaber S, Koh W, Carrasco M, et al. Glucose-permeable interpenetrating polymer network hydrogels for corneal implant applications: a pilot study. Curr Eye Res 2008;33(1):29–43.
- [29] Myung D, Farooqui N, Zheng LL, Koh W, Gupta S, Bakri A, et al. Bioactive interpenetrating polymer network hydrogels that support corneal epithelial wound healing. J Biomed Mater Res 2009;90(1):70–81.
- [30] Tan XW, Hartman L, Tan KP, Poh R, Myung D, Zheng LL, et al. In vivo biocompatibility of two PEG/PAA interpenetrating polymer networks as corneal inlays following deep stromal pocket implantation. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2013;24(4):967–77.
- [31] Parke-Houben R, Fox CH, Zheng LL, Waters DJ, Cochran JR, Ta CN, et al. Interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel scaffolds for artificial cornea periphery. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2015;26(2):107.
- [32] Ghahari E, Holland EJ, Djalilian AR. Postoperative management of ocular surface reconstruction. In: Mannis MJ, Holland EJ, editors. Cornea. 4th ed. China: Elsevier; 2016. p. 1699–707.
- [33] Holland EJ, Schwartz GS, Dava SM, Djalilian AR, Chan CC. Surgical techniques for ocular surface reconstruction. In: Mannis MJ, Holland EJ, editors. Cornea. 4th ed. China: Elsevier; 2016. p. 1681–98.
- [34] Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Yamamoto K, Adachi E, et al. Corneal reconstruction with tissue-engineered cell sheets composed of autologous oral mucosal epithelium. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1187–96.
- [35] Nakamura T, Inatomi T, Sotozono C, et al. Transplantation of cultivated autologous oral mucosal epithelial cells in patients with severe ocular surface disorders. Br J Opthalmol 2004;88(10):1280–4.
- [36] Inatomi T, Nakamura T, Kojyo M, Koizumi N, Sotozono C, Kinoshita S. Ocular surface reconstruction with combination of cultivated autologous oral mucosal epithelial transplantation and penetrating keratoplasty. Am J Ophthalmol 2006;142(5):757–64.
- [37] Nakamura T, Takeda K, Inatomi T, Sotozono C, Kinoshita S. Long-term results of autologous cultivated oral mucosal epithelial transplantation in the scar phase of severe ocular surface disorders. Br J Ophthalmol 2010;95(7):942–6.

[38] Sotozono C, Inatomi T, Nakamura T, Koizumi N, Yokoi N, Ueta M, et al. Visual improvement after cultivated oral mucosal epithelial transplantation. Ophthalmology 2012;120(1):193–200.

- [39] Sotozono C, Inatomi T, Nakamura T, Koizumi N, Yokoi N, Ueta M, et al. Cultivated oral mucosal epithelial transplantation for persistent epithelial defect in severe ocular surface diseases with acute inflammatory activity. Acta Ophthalmol 2014;92(6):e447–53.
- [40] Dobrowolski D, Orzechowska-Wylegala B, Wowra B, Wroblewska-Czajka E, Grolik M, Szczubialka K, et al. Cultivated oral mucosa epithelium in ocular surface reconstruction in aniridia patients. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015:281870.
- [41] Reza HM, Ng BY, Gimeno FL, Phan TT, Ang LP. Umbilical cord lining stem cells as a novel and promising source for ocular surface regeneration. Stem Cell Rev 2011;7(4):935–47.
- [42] Jiang TS, Cai L, Ji WY, Hui YN, Wang YS, Hu D, et al. Reconstruction of the corneal epithelium with induced marrow mesenchymal stem cells in rats. Mol Vis 2010;16:1304–16.
- [43] Ma Y, Xu Y, Xiao Z, Yang W, Zhang C, Song E, et al. Reconstruction of chemically burned rat corneal surface by bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells (Dayton) 2006;24(2):315–21.
- [44] Gu S, Xing C, Han J, Tso MO, Hong J. Differentiation of rabbit bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into corneal epithelial cells in vivo and ex vivo. Mol Vis 2009;15:99–107.
- [45] Deshpande P, Ramachandran C, Sangwan VS, Macneil S. Cultivation of limbal epithelial cells on electrospun poly (lactide-co-glycolide) scaffolds for delivery to the cornea. Meth Mol Biol 2013;1014:179–85.
- [46] Deshpande P, Ramachandran C, Sefat F, Mariappan I, Johnson C, McKean R, et al. Simplifying corneal surface regeneration using a biodegradable synthetic membrane and limbal tissue explants. Biomaterials 2013;34(21):5088–106.
- [47] Zhang K, Pang K, Wu X. Isolation and transplantation of corneal endothelial cell-like cells derived from in-vitro-differentiated human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 2014;23(12):1340–54.
- [48] McCabe KL, Kunzevitzky NJ, Chiswell BP, Xia X, Goldberg JL, Lanza R. Efficient generation of human embryonic stem cell-derived corneal endothelial cells by directed differentiation. PLoS One 2015;10(12):e0145266.
- [49] Song Q, Yuan S, An Q, Chen Y, Mao FF, Liu Y, et al. Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to corneal endothelial cell-like cells: a transcriptomic analysis. Exp Eye Res 2016;151:107–14.
- [50] Basu S, Hertsenberg AJ, Funderburgh ML, Burrow MK, Mann MM, Du Y, et al. Human limbal biopsy-derived stromal stem cells prevent corneal scarring. Sci Transl Med 2014;6(266):266ra172.
- [51] Proulx S, d'Arc Uwamaliya J, Carrier P, Deschambeault A, Audet C, Giasson CJ, et al. Reconstruction of a human cornea by the self-assembly approach of tissue engineering using the three native cell types. Mol Vis 2010;16:2192–201.
- [52] Karamichos D, Rich CB, Hutcheon AE, Ren R, Saitta B, Trinkaus-Randall V, et al. Self-assembled matrix by umbilical cord stem cells. J Funct Biomater 2011;2(3):213–29.
- [53] Syed-Picard FN, Du Y, Hertsenberg AJ, Palchesko R, Funderburgh ML, Feinberg AW, et al. Scaffold-free tissue engineering of functional corneal stromal tissue. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;12(1):59–69.

#### 63. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE IN THE CORNEA

- [54] Boulze Pankert M, Goyer B, Zaguia F, Bareille M, Perron MC, Liu X, et al. Biocompatibility and functionality of a tissue-engineered living corneal stroma transplanted in the feline eye. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2014;55(10):6908–20.
- [55] Novak T, Fites Gilliland K, Xu X, Worke L, Ciesielski A, Breur G, et al. In vivo cellular infiltration and remodeling in a decellularized ovine osteochondral allograft. Tissue Eng 2016;22(21–22):1274–85.
- [56] Wilson SL, Sidney LE, Dunphy SE, Rose JB, Hopkinson A. Keeping an eye on decellularized corneas: a review of methods, characterization and applications. J Funct Biomater 2013;4(3):114–61.
- [57] Pellegata AF, Asnaghi MA, Zonta S, Zerbini G, Mantero S. A novel device for the automatic decellularization of biological tissues. Int J Artif Organs 2012;35(3):191–8.
- [58] Daoud YJ, Smith R, Smith T, Akpek EK, Ward DE, Stark WJ. The intraoperative impression and postoperative outcomes of gamma-irradiated corneas in corneal and glaucoma patch surgery. Cornea 2011;30(12):1387–91.
- [59] Zhang MC, Liu X, Jin Y, Jiang DL, Wei XS, Xie HT. Lamellar keratoplasty treatment of fungal corneal ulcers with acellular porcine corneal stroma. Am J Transplant 2015;15(4):1068–75.
- [60] Mullins RJ, Richards C, Walker T. Allergic reactions to oral, surgical and topical bovine collagen. Anaphylactic risk for surgeons. Aust N Z J Ophthalmol 1996;24(3):257–60.
- [61] Baumann LS, Kerdel F. The treatment of bovine collagen allergy with cyclosporin. Dermatol Surg 1999;25(3):247-9.
- [62] van Essen TH, Lin CC, Hussain AK, Maas S, Lai HJ, Linnartz H, et al. A fish scale-derived collagen matrix as artificial cornea in rats: properties and potential. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2013;54(5):3224–33.
- [63] Chen SC, Telinius N, Lin HT, Huang MC, Lin CC, Chou CH, et al. Use of fish scale-derived BioCornea to seal full-thickness corneal perforations in pig models. PLoS One 2015;10(11):e0143511.
- [64] Rieder E, Steinacher-Nigisch A, Weigel G. Human immune-cell response towards diverse xenogeneic and allogeneic decellularized biomaterials. Int J Surg 2016;36(Pt A):347–51.
- [65] Morelle R. China's science revolution [Internet] BBC News 2016. Available from: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/resources/idt-0192822d-14f1-432b-bd25-92eab6466362.
- [66] Fagerholm P, Lagali NS, Ong JA, Merrett K, Jackson WB, Polarek JW, et al. Stable corneal regeneration four years after implantation of a cellfree recombinant human collagen scaffold. Biomaterials 2014;35(8):2420–7.
- [67] Hackett JM, Lagali N, Merrett K, Edelhauser H, Sun Y, Gan L, et al. Biosynthetic corneal implants for replacement of pathologic corneal tissue: performance in a controlled rabbit alkali burn model. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011;52(2):651–7.
- [68] Yumoto H, Hirota K, Hirao K, Miyazaki T, Yamamoto N, Miyamoto K, et al. Anti-inflammatory and protective effects of 2methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine polymer on oral epithelial cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 2015;103(2):555–63.
- [69] Buznyk O, Pasyechnikova N, Islam MM, Iakymenko S, Fagerholm P, Griffith M. Bioengineered corneas grafted as alternatives to human donor corneas in three high-risk patients. Clin Transl Sci 2015;8(5):558–62.
- [70] Islam MM, Buznyk O, Reddy JC, Pasyechnikova N, Alarcon EI, Hayes S, et al. Biomaterials-enabled cornea regeneration in patients at high risk for rejection of donor tissue transplantation. npj Regen Med. 2018;3(2). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41536-017-0038-8.
- [71] Islam MM, Cepla V, He C, Edin J, Rakickas T, Kobuch K, et al. Functional fabrication of recombinant human collagen-phosphorylcholine hydrogels for regenerative medicine applications. Acta Biomater 2015;12:70–80.
- [72] Note for guidance on minimising the risk of transmitting animal spongiform encephalopathy agents via human and veterinary medicinal products (EMA/410/01 rev.3); 2011.
- [73] Miotto M, Gouveia RM, Connon CJ. Peptide amphiphiles in corneal tissue engineering. J Funct Biomater 2015;6(3):687–707.
- [74] Gouveia RM, Jones RR, Hamley IW, Connon CJ. The bioactivity of composite Fmoc-RGDS-collagen gels. Biomater Sci 2014;2:1222-9.
- [75] Uzunalli G, Soran Z, Erkal TS, Dagdas YS, Dinc E, Hondur AM, et al. Bioactive self-assembled peptide nanofibers for corneal stroma regeneration. Acta Biomater 2014;10(3):1156–66.
- [76] Gouveia RM, Hamley IW, Connon CJ. Bio-fabrication and physiological self-release of tissue equivalents using smart peptide amphiphile templates. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2015;26(10):242.
- [77] Gouveia RM, Castelletto V, Hamley IW, Connon CJ. New self-assembling multifunctional templates for the biofabrication and controlled selfrelease of cultured tissue. Tissue Eng 2015;21(11–12):1772–84.
- [78] Walter MN, Dehsorkhi A, Hamley IW, Connon CJ. Supra-molecular assembly of a lumican-derived peptide amphiphile enhances its collagen-stimulating activity. Biomater Sci 2016;4(2):346–54.
- [79] Islam MM, Ravichandran R, Olsen D, Ljunggren MK, Fagerholm P, Lee CJ, et al. Self-assembled collagen-like-peptide implants as alternatives to human donor corneal transplantation. RSC Adv 2016;6(61):55745–9.
- [80] O'Leary LER, Fallas JA, Bakota EL, Kang MK, Hartgerink JD. Multi-hierarchical self-assembly of a collagen mimetic peptide from triple helix to nanofibre and hydrogel. Nat Chem 2011;3(10):821–8.
- [81] Wu J, Rnjak-Kovacina J, Du Y, Funderburgh ML, Kaplan DL, Funderburgh JL. Corneal stromal bioequivalents secreted on patterned silk substrates. Biomaterials 2014;35(12):3744–55.
- [82] Wang L, Ma R, Du G, Guo H, Huang Y. Biocompatibility of helicoidal multilamellar arginine-glycine-aspartic acid-functionalized silk biomaterials in a rabbit corneal model. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2015;103(1):204–11.
- [83] Wang S, Ghezzi CE, Gomes R, Pollard RE, Funderburgh JL, Kaplan DL. In vitro 3D corneal tissue model with epithelium, stroma, and innervation. Biomaterials 2017;112:1–9.
- [84] Suuronen EJ, McLaughlin CR, Stys PK, Nakamura M, Munger R, Griffith M. Functional innervation in tissue engineered models for in vitro study and testing purposes. Toxicol Sci 2004;82(2):525–33.
- [85] Suuronen EJ, Nakamura M, Watsky MA, Stys PK, Müller LJ, Munger R, et al. Innervated human corneal equivalents as in vitro models for nerve-target cell interactions. FASEB J 2004;18(1):170–2.
- [86] Griffith M, Osborne R, Munger R, Xiong X, Doillon CJ, Laycock NL, et al. Functional human corneal equivalents constructed from cell lines. Science 1999;286(5447):2169–72.
- [87] Guan L, Ge H, Tang X, Su S, Tian P, Xiao N, et al. Use of a silk fibroin-chitosan scaffold to construct a tissue-engineered corneal stroma. Cells Tissues Organs 2013;198(3):190–7.

- [88] Hazra S, Nandi S, Naskar D, Guha R, Chowdhury S, Pradhan N, et al. Non-mulberry silk fibroin biomaterial for corneal regeneration. Sci Rep 2016;6:21840.
- [89] Bareiss B, Ghorbani M, Li F, Blake JA, Scaiano JC, Zhang J, et al. Controlled release of acyclovir through bioengineered corneal implants with silica nanoparticle carriers. Open Tissue Eng Regen Med J 2013;3:10–7.
- [90] Riau AK, Mondal D, Aung TT, Murugan E, Chen L, Lwin NC, et al. Collagen-based artificial corneal scaffold with anti-infective capability for prevention of perioperative bacterial infections. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2015;1(12):1324–34.
- [91] Lee CJ, Buznyk O, Kuffova L, Rajendran V, Forrester JV, Phopase J, et al. Cathelicidin LL-37 and HSV-1 corneal infection: peptide versus gene therapy. Transl Vis Sci Technol 2014;3(3):4.
- [92] Alarcon EI, Vulesevic B, Argawal A, Ross A, Bejjani P, Podrebarac J, et al. Coloured cornea replacements with anti-infective properties: expanding the safe use of silver nanoparticles in regenerative medicine. Nanoscale 2016;8(12):6484–9.
- [93] Pellegrini G, Lambiase A, Macaluso C, Pocobelli A, Deng S, Cavallini GM, et al. From discovery to approval of an advanced therapy medicinal product-containing stem cells, in the EU. Regen Med 2016;11(4):407–20.
- [94] Isaacson A, Swioklo S, Connon CJ. 3D bioprinting of a corneal stroma equivalent. Exp Eye Res. 2018;173:188-93.

This page intentionally left blank

### CHAPTER

64

# Alimentary Tract

Richard M. Day University College London, London, United Kingdom

# INTRODUCTION

The alimentary tract is a hollow organ that starts at the mouth and terminates at the anus. It conducts a number of highly complex and diverse functions that are regulated by distinct cellular and functional differences along the tract length, which allow it to provide the body with nutrients, water, and electrolytes. To achieve this, it is essential that the lumenal contents be propelled along at a rate that will allow efficient digestion and absorption to take place while also enabling waste products to be stored and excreted in a controlled manner. In addition to this, an important symbiotic relationship exists between bacterial species that colonize the alimentary tract of the host [1]. Therefore, the surface of the alimentary tract must also provide a barrier against unwanted entry of organisms and toxins. If the barrier function is breached, specialized cells and tissues within the gut wall provide an important component of the immune system to protect the host.

Dysfunction of the alimentary tract may result from a variety of congenital and acquired conditions that can affect any of its physiological functions. This chapter will discuss knowledge regarding tissue engineering different regions of the alimentary tract, highlighting successful strategies as well as failures and some obstacles that have yet to be overcome in this rapidly evolving field.

### **ESOPHAGUS**

The esophagus is a muscular tube measuring approximately 25 cm in length in adult humans. It functions primarily as a conduit to connect the pharynx with the stomach, providing coordinated peristaltic contractions in response to swallowing to propel food into the stomach. The esophageal mucosa is lined by stratified, squamous, nonkeratinized epithelium. The submucosa contains muscle, nerve, blood vessels, lymphatics, and mucosal glands. The muscularis has two layers consisting of an outer longitudinal layer and an inner circular layer. Both layers consist of striated muscle in the upper portion and smooth muscle in the lower third, continuous with the muscle layers of the stomach. The myenteric plexus exists between the muscle layers. The esophagus has no serosa and its vascular supply is less extensive compared with the intraabdominal portions of the gut. Sphincters at the upper and lower ends of the esophagus ensure food is transferred appropriately between it and the pharynx or stomach. The upper esophageal sphincter, found in the upper 3–4 cm of the esophagus, and the lower esophageal sphincter, located 2–5 cm above the gastroesophageal junction, remain tonically and strongly constricted to prevent air from entering the esophagus during respiration between swallowing and reflux of stomach contents into the esophagus between peristaltic waves, respectively. Regenerative medicine techniques are being explored for a number of conditions affecting the esophagus.

Gastroesophageal reflux disease is one of the most common disorders affecting the gastrointestinal tract, resulting from lower esophageal sphincter incompetence. Medical therapy is generally safe and effective in most cases, but for patients for whom this option fails, antireflux surgery or endoscopic procedures that involve injecting bulking materials may be used in an attempt to narrow the lumen of the lower esophagus. Attempts have been made to restore physiological function of the esophagus using regenerative medicine. The feasibility of using a suspension of muscle precursor cells to restore gastroesophageal function in a model of gastroesophageal reflux disease has been explored

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

[2]. Muscle precursor cells isolated from expanded satellite cells derived from skeletal muscle fibres were injected into the gastroesophageal junction after cryoinjury. Histology showed an increase in myofibers at the site of injection that had fused into newly formed or preexisting myofibers. The need remains to demonstrate that cells injected in this manner can contribute to functional improvement of damaged esophageal sphincter, but the feasibility of using this approach offers a promising therapy for this common condition.

Esophageal reconstruction is a requirement for congenital esophageal atresia, burns, malignancy, or severe benign disease. Surgical techniques include stretching, circular myotomy, and interposition of stomach or colon, but these approaches are frequently associated with complications including stricture, leakage, elongation, and gastroesophageal reflux. An artificial esophageal construct has been sought for many years. To be effective, the construct must be implantable without rejection and biocompatible to support appropriate tissue growth, and retain biomechanical characteristics of native esophageal tissue, i.e., be soft and elastomeric while maintaining a tubular structure when implanted in vivo.

Attempts to tissue engineer replacement esophageal tissue have included both patch and circumferential implantation of constructs composed of synthetic as well as natural scaffold materials. A full-length of tissue engineered esophagus has not been produced, but a number of incremental advances toward this goal have been achieved.

Early attempts exploring the use of a nondegradable prosthetic tubes in canine models were of limited success [3]. Surgical reconstruction techniques of the esophagus after resection for structures and malignancies have involved the transfer of small segments or patches of skin and other tissues on a vascular pedicle, with moderate results [4–6]. Tissue engineered sheets of autologous oral mucosal epithelial cells were successfully transplanted by endoscopy in a canine model [7]. The transplanted sheets adhered to the underlying esophageal muscle layers created by endoscopic submucosal dissection and enhanced wound healing without postoperative stenosis. Because the interaction between the epithelium and mesenchymal cells is thought to reduce fibrosis and scarring that cause stenosis, the investigators suggested that this approach may offer a novel therapy to reduce scarring and prevent painful constriction that can be associated with endoscopic submucosal dissection for the removal of large esophageal cancers.

A variety of scaffold materials to support cell and tissue esophageal constructs have been investigated [8–12]. Acellular scaffolds composed of extracellular matrix components have been explored primarily because they are assumed to be advantageous over synthetic scaffold materials owing to their ability to promote cell attachment, growth, and cell–cell signaling among different tissue components. Decellularized esophageal tissue can be produced via repeated detergent-enzymatic treatment that results in a scaffold with biocompatibility suitable for the growth of esophageal epithelial cells [13,14]. Based on these preclinical findings, it has been envisaged that human donor esophageal tissue might one day be used in a manner similar to that described for the tissue engineering of human airway tissue [15].

Scaffolds derived from small intestinal submucosa (SIS) have been widely investigated for tissue engineering replacement esophageal constructs. SIS consists of extracellular matrix material harvested from porcine small intestine and has been used extensively in tissue engineering experiments since it was originally described by Matsumoto and colleagues in 1966 for use in large vein replacement in dogs [16–20]. It has been successfully applied to regenerative medicine applications in humans, including repair of hernias, diaphragms, and tympanic membranes, and for large wound coverage [21–24].

The success with using SIS as a scaffold to promote tissue regeneration appears to relate to the retention of collagen (types I, II, and V), growth factors (transforming growth factor, fibroblast growth factor 2, and vascular endothelial growth factor), glycosaminoglycans (hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, and heparin sulfate), proteoglycans, and glycoproteins (fibronectin) during the fabrication process [25,26]. It is thought that the resulting scaffold has a composition closely resembling native extracellular matrix, which makes it ideally suited for the attachment and growth of new tissue.

The extent of circumferential replacement of esophageal tissue appears to have an impact on the outcome of attempts to tissue engineer esophagus, with patches producing better results compared with tubular segments. Lopes and colleagues successfully used SIS patches to repair defects to the anterior wall of cervical or abdominal esophagus in rats without signs of stenosis over 150 days [27]. Likewise, Badylak and colleagues used SIS patches (or urinary bladder submucosa) to repair esophageal defects created in dogs without clinical signs of esophageal dysfunction [28]. However, the latter study reported signs of stenosis in dogs receiving complete circumferential segmental grafts of SIS [10]. Doede and colleagues reported similar findings, with severe stenosis occurring when relatively short tubular lengths (4 cm) of SIS were used in alloplastic esophageal replacement in piglets [28]. Thus, although scaffolds consisting of only extracellular matrix have shown the capacity to promote cell growth in vitro and tissue regeneration of patch defects in vivo, replacement of circumferential defects without stricture

#### 1132

#### ESOPHAGUS

formation remains difficult to achieve. The outcome of repairing full circumferential defects using SIS may be improved by optimizing the poor mechanical properties of the scaffold material. To address this, hybrid scaffolds composed of SIS combined with synthetic polyesters (poly[3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyhexanoate] and poly [lactide-*co*-glycolide]) were assessed for their feasibility as a tissue engineering scaffold for esophageal constructs [29]. Improved biocompatibility was observed with the hybrid scaffold compared with scaffolds produced from the synthetic material alone.

Epithelial-mesenchymal cell signaling is likely to have an important role in facilitating reconstruction of the esophageal construct after implantation. A similar effect has been shown in bladder reconstruction, in which the presence of urothelium led to infiltration of fibroblasts into acellular matrices and apparent transdifferentiation into a smooth muscle phenotype [30]. Signaling from the mesenchymal cell population appears to be equally important in promoting growth of overlying epithelium [31]. Complete reepithelialization with little inflammatory response and evidence of skeletal muscle regeneration was observed when bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells were seeded onto the SIS scaffold implanted in a canine model [32]. Moreover, the presence of epithelial-mesenchymal signaling may prevent stricture formation in an esophageal construct, a problem frequently encountered with many of the scaffolds tested [10,33]. Similar signaling properties have been demonstrated in bladder reconstruction [34]. Likewise, the interaction of muscle with the ablumenal surface of esophageal scaffolds at the time of implantation of partially circumferential grafts appears to have accounted for the reduced stricture formation observed in a canine model of esophageal reconstruction described by Badylak and colleagues [11]. It can be concluded from these observations that careful consideration of the order in which cells are added to the tissue engineered construct will improve the likelihood of achieving a successful outcome.

In addition to SIS, gastric acellular matrix was used as scaffold by Urita and colleagues to regenerate esophagus in a rat model [35]. Grafts of gastric acellular matrix were used to patch defects in the abdominal esophagus and animals were killed at points between 1 week and 18 months. Although regeneration of the muscle layer or lamina muscularis did not occur, there was no evidence of stenosis or dilatation at the graft site. The matrix obtained in this study was from whole stomachs, but the investigators suggested that gastric acellular matrix may provide an autologous source of naturally derived extracellular matrix scaffold in a clinical setting, because the portion of stomach destroyed to obtain the matrix is minimal. It remains to be seen whether this approach is feasible in a larger animal model, but the use of autologous acellular matrix scaffolds avoids concerns related to the use of xenogenic scaffold materials such as porcine-derived SIS. In addition to the risk of transmitting viral pathogens and prions, cultural and religious beliefs may need to be considered when using acellular matrix scaffolds derived from certain species. In addition to SIS, other biological materials have been investigated for esophageal tissue engineering. Extracellular matrix scaffold material, Franck and colleagues reported that a bilayer silk fibroin matrix composed of porous silk fibroin foam annealed to a homogeneous silk fibroin film exhibited improved cell attachment and spontaneous differentiation of esophageal epithelial cells toward a suprabasal cell lineage compared with SIS scaffolds [37].

Although the esophagus can be considered one of the less complex regions in the alimentary tract, several significant hurdles still need to be overcome before tissue engineering and clinical replacement of full-length esophageal segments become a clinical reality in humans. Unlike patch grafts, replacement of longer lengths of tissue will be unable to rely on adjacent esophagus to cover the surface area of larger scaffolds via guided tissue regeneration. Improved methods from isolating and expanding the different esophageal cell populations will therefore be a prerequisite for successful tissue engineering of larger constructs. Kofler and colleagues identified subsets of ovine esophageal epithelial cells that may help achieve this [38]. PCK-26–positive esophagus epithelial cells demonstrated high proliferative capacity and uniform coverage on collagen scaffolds, which the investigators suggested could have an important role for successfully tissue engineering esophagus. Further refinement of the scaffold material may also improve epithelialization. For example, the inclusion of copper into acellular porcine SIS scaffolds was reported to enhance epithelialization of the scaffold in a canine model of esophageal repair [39].

Failure to regenerate a functioning muscle layer may not be problematic for short or noncircumferential grafts, but for longer lengths of esophagus the presence of an innervated functional muscle layer will be essential. A retrospective study investigating the temporal appearance and spatial distribution of nervous tissue in a canine model of esophageal reconstruction using porcine urinary bladder submucosa showed the presence of nerve tissue within sites of the remodeling scaffold [40]. Although the study was unable to demonstrate whether the nervous tissue was functional or to distinguish among the various subsets of neurons, it opens the possibility of using similar models to identify mechanisms that promote innervation that will facilitate the tissue engineering of functional tissue. Peristalsis of food also depends on the correct orientation of muscle fibers in the wall of the alimentary tract.

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

To address this, promising results have been obtained with orienting smooth muscle tissue on unidirectional scaffolds for tissue engineered esophagus in rats [41]. Oriented stands of smooth muscle mimicking the configurations found in the native organ were engineered when cells were seeded onto unidirectional scaffolds. These were assembled with esophageal epithelium to create a hybrid approach.

#### STOMACH

Gastric disease affects approximately 10% of the world's population and includes gastritis, peptic ulcers, and gastric cancer. Insufficient stomach mass, which may arise from gastrectomy or congenital microgastria, is associated with increased patient morbidity.

The stomach functions as a digestive organ and reservoir and is anatomically divided into four regions (cardiac, fundus, corpus, and pylorus). The gastric glands are tubular structures whose cellular composition and function are specialized according to each region of the stomach. Such specialization, combined with the harsh environment created by the lumenal contents, makes tissue engineering of the stomach as whole challenging. The size and shape of the stomach vary, depending on its contents. The stomach wall contains outer longitudinal and inner circular layers of smooth muscle, with an innermost layer of oblique muscle fibers. These layers facilitate important functions including storage of ingested food in the stomach until it can be accommodated in the lower portion of the alimentary tract, mixing of the food to form chyme, and regulation of food transit into the small intestine at an optimal rate for digestion and absorption. Stomach emptying is controlled by the gastric food volume and the release of the hormone gastrin, as well as feedback signals from the duodenum.

Tissue engineered neostomach constructs to patch partial gastrectomy have been explored in a canine model using a two-part sheet composed of an outer layer of collagen sponge and a temporary inner silicone sheet to protect the collagen from degradation by the acidic stomach juices and provide mechanical support [42]. After removal of the silicone sheet at 4 weeks, evidence of stomach regeneration was observed and complete coverage of the scaffold had occurred by 16 weeks, confirmed by the presence of mucosa and a thin muscular layer. Acid production capacity was present in the regenerated stomach wall but the contractile response to acetylcholine was poor [43]. Technical difficulties associated with suturing and endoscopic removal of the silicone sheet in this model were addressed by creating a tissue engineered sheet without silicone that had sufficient strength to allow suturing and resist anastomotic dehiscence [44]. The silicone sheet was replaced by a biodegradable copolymer of poly(D,L-lactide) and  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone (PDLCL) on the mucosal side of the collagen scaffold, both of which were completely absorbed at 16 weeks' implantation. Although regeneration of the stomach mucosa was observed, the replacement of the silicone sheet with PDLCL did not provide sufficient mechanical strength to prevent significant shrinkage of the scaffold.

The feasibility of creating new stomach tissue using stomach-derived organoid units harvested from neonatal and adult rats has been investigated [45]. The organoid units were seeded onto polymer scaffold tubes to form constructs that were implanted into the omentum of adult syngeneic rats. At 4 weeks, the construct was anastomosed to the small intestine. Histology of the tissue engineered stomach tissue was similar to native stomach, with gastric pits, squamous epithelium, and positive staining for  $\alpha$ -actin smooth muscle in the muscularis and gastrin indicating the presence of a well-developed gastric epithelium. The same approach has been used to tissue engineer stomach neoconstructs in an autologous large animal model [46].

A limitation of approaches using autologous or allogenic organoid units is the tissue source. To address this, three-dimensional gastric organoid tissue from human pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) have been generated by temporal manipulation of the fibroblast growth, WNT, bone morphogenetic protein, retinoic acid and epidermal growth factor (EGF) signaling pathways [47]. The primitive gastric organoids exhibited molecular and morphogenetic developmental stages similar to those observed in the developing antrum of murine stomach. The proliferative zones contained LGR5<sup>+</sup> cells, mucus-secreting antral and pylorus cells, and gastric endocrine cells; however, the acid secreting (corpus) region was not developed in this model. A critical factor for the development of all the stomach regions from stem cells appears to be the Barx-1 gene [48]. Noguchi and colleagues demonstrated Barx-1—inducing culture conditions generated spheroids of fully functional stomach-like tissue in vitro from mouse embryonic stem cells. The spheroids were able to develop into functional corpus and antrum tissue that secreted pepsinogen and acid.

The relevance of mesenchymal stem cells to optimize and condition the cellular milieu within the tissue engineered construct has also been shown with stomach tissue engineering. Tissue regeneration after the creation of a full-thickness stomach defect in rats was enhanced when SIS scaffolds were used in conjunction with mesenchymal stem cells [49]. Whereas contractility in response to a muscarinic receptor agonist, a nitric oxide precursor, or electrical field stimulation was observed in all groups, smooth muscle layers were both longer and better structured compared with SIS grafts not seeded with mesenchymal stem cells.

#### SMALL INTESTINE

The small intestine in adults measures approximately 6 m in length from the duodenojejunal flexure to the ileocecal valve. Its primary function is absorption of nutrients from the lumen, a process facilitated by specialized mucosal surface features (folds of Kerckring, villi, and microvilli) that increase the absorptive surface area about 600-fold to approximately 250 m<sup>2</sup>. The mucosa is lined with epithelium overlying lamina propria containing vascular and reticular stroma, large aggregates of lymphoid tissue called Peyer patches, and a strip of smooth muscle called the muscularis mucosa. Intestinal stem cells reside at the base of epithelial invaginations into the mucosa called crypts and develop into all four lineages of epithelial cells that line the intestine [50]. Epithelial cells migrate along the crypt—villus axis, differentiating and maturing toward the lumen of the bowel where they become senescent over the course of a few days and are shed into the lumen of the bowel.

A lack of intestinal epithelial stem cell markers has hampered identification and isolation of pure populations of cells for regenerative medicine purposes. Studies have shown that Musashi-1 may be a marker of intestinal stem cells [51,52], and a Sox9-(enhanced green fluorescent protein [EGFP]) mouse model has been used to enrich multipotent intestinal epithelial stem cells [53]. Using a culture system that mimics the native intestinal epithelial stem cell niche, these cells are capable of generating "organoids" that contain all four epithelial cell types of the small intestinal epithelium. Furthermore, Sox9-EGFP multipotent intestinal epithelial stem cells express CD24, which may facilitate their enrichment by fluorescence activated cell sorting using widely available antibodies.

The submucosa consists of fibrous connective tissue that supplies blood and lymphatic vessels to the mucosa. The muscularis propria consists of an inner layer of circular muscle and an outer longitudinal muscle layer. The muscularis propria is covered by the adventitia, a layer of loose connective tissue, and the serosa, a mesothelial lining of peritoneum.

The function of the small intestine cannot be replaced by transposing another part of the gut. Intestinal ischemia and bowel resection for tumors and inflammatory bowel disease can result in short bowel syndrome when more than 75% of the small intestine is lost. Short bowel syndrome is often associated with intestinal failure and the requirement of lifelong nutritional support (total parenteral nutrition), which is frequently accompanied by severe complications such as liver failure, line sepsis, and poor long-term survival rates. The length of residual intestine is critical for these patients; thus, techniques for increasing absorptive surface area have been sought for many years. Surgical options for increasing the absorptive surface or slowing the transit time to enhance absorption have been reported, but these approaches require longer residual intestinal segments and most have only limited long-term clinical success [54–57]. Small bowel transplantation is a viable option for some patients, but this procedure has limitations including the availability of donor tissue, the need for long-term immunosuppression, graft versus host disease, and potential posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder [58].

The amount of small bowel required for successful nutritional rehabilitation depends on factors including the patient's age, the amount of small bowel present, the presence or absence of the ileocecal valve, and the amount of large bowel present. Therefore, small bowel elongation of just a few centimeters could allow many patients to become independent of total parenteral nutrition. Distraction enterogenesis has been devised as a novel method to increase intestinal length by applying linearly directed force, resulting in increased surface area and epithelial cell proliferation [59,60]. Devices used for distraction enterogenesis include extralumenal, radially selfexpanding shape memory polymer cylinders [61]; biodegradable springs composed of polycaprolactone created to lengthen intestinal segments mechanically while avoiding the need for subsequent retrieval [62]; and doubleballoon catheter devices [63]. Biological mechanisms that account for distraction enterogenesis are unknown [64], but the effect can be enhanced by adding exogenous glucagon-like peptide 2 [65] or by codelivering microspheres that provide sustained release of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), which results in improved vascularity [66]. The use of growth factor-embedded scaffold materials is an effective method for improving the short half-lives of growth factors. An example used to achieve growth factor-embedded scaffolds for distraction enterogenesis include subcritical CO<sub>2</sub> to embed heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor into polyglycolic acid/ poly-L-lactic acid scaffolds [67]. Local delivery of the trophic growth factor improved structure of the tissue engineered intestine.

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

Several different approaches, using either guided tissue regeneration or tissue-engineering neotissue constructs, were taken to regenerate small intestine that used combinations of various synthetic and natural scaffold materials, different cell types, and surgical procedures.

Early attempts to patch bowel defects using the serosal surface of another piece of intestine resulted in its being covered with regenerated mucosa [68,69]. This paved the way for other researchers to investigate a variety of scaffold materials, such as polytetrafluoroethylene tubing, for the ingrowth of neointestine via guided tissue regeneration [70]. The use of nonresorbable materials for studying intestinal morphogenesis and regeneration continues to be interesting [71], but the use of resorbable scaffold biomaterials for intestinal tissue engineering has become the predominant approach.

Chen and Badylak used SIS to patch partial defects in the small bowel wall of a canine model [72]. Histological evaluation showed the presence of mucosa, varying amounts of smooth muscle, sheets of collagen, and an outer serosal layer. However, in the same study, attempts to use a tubular configuration of SIS were unsuccessful. The tubes either leaked or became obstructed; this occurred primarily because the SIS was unable to maintain lumenal patency when exposed to the moist lumenal contents. Similar limitations with the mechanical integrity of the scaffold material were reported by Pahari and colleagues, who used guided tissue regeneration to create a segment of new intestine in rats using acellular dermal matrix (AlloDerm) rolled into tubes [73]. Building on the work, elongation of the intestine was achieved using an acellular biologic scaffold to create autologous bioartificial intestinal segments (BIS) [74]. The BIS were demonstrated to have functional absorptive characteristics [75]. Other approaches using biologically derived scaffolds included the use of allogenic aortic graft segments interposed in an excluded small bowel segment wrapped in omentum, which resulted in intestinal-like wall transformation of the aortic graft [76].

In an attempt to maintain an open lumen in the tissue engineered intestine, Hori and colleagues reported that scaffolds composed of sheets of acellular collagen sponge wrapped on a temporary silicone stent and covered with omentum guided tissue regeneration of almost all layers of the gastrointestinal tract in a canine model, but only a thin muscularis mucosa was present and the muscularis propria was absent [77]. The same group explored the addition of mesenchymal stem cells seeded onto a collagen scaffold, which it was hypothesized might differentiate "site-specifically" into muscle cells and regenerate the muscle layer [78]. Intestinal regeneration occurred but muscle regeneration in an organized manner was not observed. Wang and colleagues used a rat model to evaluate the feasibility of regenerating tubular intestine using sheets of rat-derived SIS wrapped around a silicone stent [79]. The tubular graft was interposed in the middle of a Thiry-Vella loop (a defunctionalized segment of ileum that is brought out as a double ileostomy) in Lewis rats. The silicone stent was left in place for 3 weeks to maintain lumenal patency during tissue regeneration. At 4 weeks, an epithelial layer had begun to form and completely covered the lumenal surface by 12 weeks. The neomucosa had a typical morphology containing goblet cells, Paneth cells, enterocytes, and enteroendocrine cells. Although the regenerated bowel contained bundles of smooth muscle-like cells, especially near the sites of anastomosis, the quantity and organization of the muscle layer differed from those found in native small intestine; they were predominantly circular muscle with no longitudinal muscle. The use of a Thiry-Vella loop in the model created by Wang may have facilitated mucosal development in the neointestine by protecting it from alimentary transit and creating an isolated environment that avoided the food stream and digestive enzymes. Lee and colleagues observed only minimal intestinal regeneration in a rat model used to evaluate SIS scaffolds. From this, they concluded that SIS scaffolds alone were insufficient to regenerate small intestine and suggested that the use of appropriate progenitor cells is probably necessary to facilitate the regeneration of small intestine [80].

Many of the studies reporting intestinal tissue engineering strategies are based on methodologies used in the pioneering work conducted by Vacanti and colleagues in the 1980s and 1990s that combined intestinal tissue with scaffolds [81]. Important to these studies were previous investigations by Tait and colleagues that showed intestinal tissue could be separated by enzymatic digestion to produce organoid units [82]. These clusters of cells contained all of the elements of the intestinal mucosa including stem cells and mesenchyme, which could be used to regenerate intestinal neomucosa expressing digestive enzyme activities and glucose transport capacity similar to those of agematched native intestinal mucosa. When organoid units were subcutaneously grafted, they displayed different epithelial populations consistent with epithelial transit amplifying and stem cell populations [83].

Subsequent studies demonstrated that transplanting organoid units onto biodegradable polymer scaffolds followed by implantation into the omentum of syngeneic adult animals resulted in the formation of neointestinal cysts attached to a vascular pedicle with mucosa facing a lumen that contained mucoid material [84]. The mucosa of the neointestine created with this technique showed morphological similarities to native intestine, including the formation of a primitive crypt—villus axis lined with columnar epithelial cells and goblet cells and a polarized epithelium with the brush border enzyme sucrase expressed at the apical surface and laminin at the basolateral surface, and transepithelial resistance similar to that of native intestine [85]. For all of these promising findings, it is essential that the tissue engineered construct facilitates nutrient absorption. Anastomosis of the tissue engineered cyst-like structures to native jejunum in adult rats provided continuity with the native intestinal tract, which resulted in a more developed neomucosa containing significant increases in villus number, villus height, and surface length of the cyst compared with nonanastomosed cysts [86]. The investigators postulated that anastomosis may have facilitated neomucosal growth in the cysts by draining lumenal contents or via stimulatory factors present in the lumenal contents of the native intestine in continuity with the neomucosa. The anastomosed neointestine was also shown to express of Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent glucose transporter SGLT1 [87] and a mucosal immune system with intraepithelial and lamina propria immune cells similar to that of native jejunum [88]. The native small intestine has a great adaptive and compensatory capacity in response to massive small bowel resection, which is considered to be controlled by humoral factors. The mucosa of the neointestine was also shown to possess this adaptive capacity after massive small bowel resection, resulting in a significant regenerative stimulus for the morphogenesis and differentiation of the tissue engineered intestine [89]. An improvement in intestinal function, capable of facilitating patient recovery after massive small bowel resection, was putatively demonstrated when cysts containing neointestine were anastomosed to native small bowel during an 85% enterectomy in rats [90]. The study showed that animals with tissue engineered intestine returned to their preoperative weight more rapidly compared with animals undergoing small bowel resection alone. These findings significant because they are the first to suggest that tissue engineered intestine may provide a therapeutic intervention for managing patients with short bowel syndrome. Although it is tempting to speculate that the observed effects resulted from neointestine restoring absorptive function after small bowel resection, the mechanism underlying the beneficial effects remain uncertain [91]. It has been postulated that the amount of intestine replaced by the anastomosed neointestine (approximately 4 cm) was far shorter than the amount resected, probably approximately 10% of the original length and is unlikely to have added sufficient mucosal surface area to account for the increase in postoperative weight observed. Furthermore, the improved nutrition may have resulted from the tissue engineered intestine slowing intestinal transit, leading to increased absorption and weight gain, a principle that could be achieved with simpler remedial surgical procedures [91]. To gain a better understanding of the mechanisms underlying the formation of neointestine, the model has been transitioned from a rat to a mouse model, which has enabled the use of transgenic tools for lineage tracing. This demonstrated that epithelium, muscularis, nerves, and blood vessels are derived from multicellular organoid units derived from donor small intestines of transgenic mice [92]. Studies also investigated the effects of donor age and region where intestine crypts are harvested [93]. In mice, higher efficiency of enterosphere formation was observed with crypts harvested from tissue collected from the proximal small intestine, and also in young mice.

A significant drawback with this approach is the need for large amounts of donor tissue to harvest a sufficient number of organoid units to seed scaffolds that will generate a relatively short length of neointestine, which is likely to offer only limited therapeutic value [91]. A solution might exist with the use of yet unexplored alternative sources of intestinal epithelial stem cells, such as bone marrow—derived cells and PSCs circulating in the peripheral blood [94,95]. New methods for generating organoid units that address the limitations of harvesting donor intestinal tissue have also been explored. McCracken and colleagues reported a protocol for differentiating human PSCs into three-dimensional (3D) human intestinal tissue, developing into intestinal tissue containing all major types of intestinal epithelial cells and mesenchymal components [96].

To address challenges associated with the limited availability of autologous donor intestine in patients with short bowel syndrome, protocols exist for generating enteroids from minimal quantities of starting material [97]. Also, refinement of the harvested donor stem cells or manipulation of growth factors in the local environment may provide a method for enhancing the quality of the neointestine. The morphology of tissue engineered intestine was improved by seeding scaffolds with intestinal stem cell—enriched crypts [98]. Greater circumferential mucosal engraftment and an average villous height closer to native intestine were achieved with the purified crypts collected using a filtration-based system compared with scaffolds seeded with a villous fraction containing differentiated epithelial cells. Likewise, manipulation of the expression of growth factors that control the growth and differentiation of the intestine during development might provide a valuable approach for improving the formation of tissue engineered small intestine. Tissue engineered organoid units overexpressing fibroblast growth factor 10 resulted in larger tissue engineered constructs, with longer villi and a greater proportion of proliferating epithelial cells [99].

Organoid units derived from human postnatal, small bowel resection specimens, were seeded onto biodegradable scaffolds and implanted into nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency  $\gamma$  chain-deficient mice [100]. After 4 weeks, the tissue engineered small intestine contained the four major types of differentiated intestinal epithelial cells, muscularis, and intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts.

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

Bone marrow–derived epithelial cell adhesion molecule–positive, and CD133-positive cells were used to recellularize human cadaveric small bowel specimens that had been chemically decellularized [101]. After recellularization, the tissue engineered small intestine contained mucin-positive goblet cells, cytokeratin 18–positive epithelial cells in villi, and smooth muscle cells in muscularis mucosa.

Cryopreservation of the organoid units could be used to delay production of tissue engineered small intestine, a procedure that could be particularly helpful in patients who are critically ill and require delayed autologous implantation of a tissue engineered construct. Cryopreservation using vitrification led to higher viability of organoid units compared with standard snap-freezing; the thawed organoid units were capable of producing tissue engineered small intestine [102].

Another important aspect of intestinal tissue engineering is the ability for the neointestine to repair, regenerate, and remodel. The latter is particularly important when considering the use of engineered intestinal tissue for children, in whom the length of the intestine increases significantly during development. The trophic effects of glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2) have been evaluated on neointestinal growth [103]. GLP-2 is an endogenous regulatory peptide with potent trophic effects on intestinal mucosal growth and an ability to modulate the expression of Na<sup>+</sup>-glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT1). Adult rats with neointestinal implants that received subcutaneous injections of a GLP-2 analog twice daily for 10 days had enhanced mucosal growth and increased expression of SGLT1 compared with control rats. These findings indicate that the neointestine is capable of responding to external regulator signals that could be used to further expand the surface of the neointestine.

There is a lack of preclinical models for observing intestinal tissue regeneration and improved intestinal function on a scale that can be feasibly translated into humans. Intestinal tissue engineering has been investigated using a large-animal model designed to emulate conditions required for human therapy [46]. Tissue scaffolds were seeded with organoid units isolated from the jejunum of 6-week-old piglets and implanted into the omentum of that animal. However, the study provided only limited information on issues related to the scaling-up of a technique for use in humans because the neointestine was not anastomosed to the native intestine and the scaffolds used were similar in size to those used in previous small-animal models.

A functional mucosal barrier is an essential element of intestinal tissue engineering for which scalability also needs to be considered. Although transepithelial resistance of the mucosa created in neointestinal cysts is similar to that of native intestine [85], the creation of larger intestinal constructs will require rapid coverage of the scaffold surface to ensure the barrier function is established. This process might be accelerated by including materials in the scaffold that promote epithelial cell spreading. Yoshida and colleagues investigated the effect of transplanting organoid units onto denuded colonic mucosa of syngeneic recipient rats [104]. The addition of bFGF facilitated neo-mucosal growth and improved restoration of intestinal epithelial cell coverage over the denuded mucosa compared with the control group. Other approaches might include including inorganic materials into hybrid scaffolds, such as bioactive glass, shown to increase epithelial cell migration via bFGF in an indirect manner [105]. As well as stimulating regeneration of the mucosa, delivery of growth factors may provide a strategy for regenerating the muscularis propria. Local delivery of bFGF from scaffolds, via either incorporation into the collagen coating of scaffolds or encapsulation into microspheres, was also shown to increase the engraftment and density of seeded smooth muscle cells and blood vessel formation after 28 days' implantation in the omentum of rats [106].

Rapid vascular in growth into the tissue engineered intestine will be essential to maintain the viability and engraftment of cells seeded on the scaffold. Gardner-Thorpe and colleagues observed that tissue engineered intestine exhibited lower levels of bFGF and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and a fixed capillary density compared with native juvenile bowel [107]. This led that group to evaluate a polymeric microsphere system to deliver encapsulated VEGF and stimulate angiogenesis in the maturing neointestine [108]. Capillary density in the muscular and connective tissue layers was significantly increased in the presence of microspheres containing VEGF, as were the size and weight of the constructs. Interestingly, the rate of epithelial cell proliferation also increased in constructs implanted with VEGF-releasing microspheres, possibly related to the improved vascularization of the construct providing greater nutritional support to the rapidly proliferating epithelium. The need for neovascularization is not restricted to tissue engineering tissues of the alimentary tract. A number of different approaches are being used to tackle this problem [109]. It remains to be seen whether any of these approaches will provide a sufficient stimulus to promote arteriogenesis required for sufficient vascularization of larger tissue constructs. Furthermore, a functional lymphatic system in the neointestine is essential to establish normal nutrient absorption, fluid homeostasis, and immunological functions. Lymphangiogenesis is reported to occur in the neointestine created by the organoid unit-cyst model in rats [110]. Although angiogenesis has been demonstrated in intestinal tissue engineering using small-animal models, it is not certain whether the provision of thin-walled endothelium lined structures will be sufficient to support the functionality of a larger tissue construct. Therefore,

#### 1138

#### SMALL INTESTINE

techniques to promote the formation of medium-sized blood vessels via arteriogenesis are likely to be required to facilitate complete integration of large-scale intestinal constructs with a functional capacity. The small bowel has an extensive vascular system fed by arcades of arteries in the mesentery derived from the superior mesenteric artery. Translation of the existing tissue engineering models to a scale suitable for implantation into humans will require the formation of a similar vascular system consisting of medium-sized blood vessels to maintain viability of a larger tissue construct as well as enable absorption of fluid and dissolved nutrient material from the intestine into the portal blood, which will require a vascular system similar to that found in native intestine. One approach to enabling immediate perfusion of the tissue engineered construct might involve using the existing vascular system in decellularized tissue. Preservation of the vascular structure in decellularized porcine small bowel has been used to engineer tissue via innate vascularization [111]. The decellularized scaffold was repopulated by endothelial cells and exhibited patent vessels after arterial and venous microanastomosis.

Improved methods for seeding and maturing larger tissue engineered intestinal constructs will be needed to ensure that the limited cells available are delivered to the tissue construct efficiently and uniformly. These obstacles may be overcome with the development of bioreactor systems that will assist with the long-term culture and bioengineering of tissues by providing an in vitro environment that is similar to normal physiological conditions. Kim and colleagues designed a perfusion bioreactor specifically for intestinal tissue engineering [112]. The use of bioreactors that provide magnetic force may also be used to deliver cells labeled with superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles into hollow tubular scaffolds with more uniform distribution [113]. Techniques used to tissue engineer vascular grafts might also provide solutions that can be translated to intestinal tissue engineering. For example, centrifugal casting onto decellularized laser-porated natural scaffolds has been reported to enable the rapid fabrication of tubular tissue in a bioreactor-free manner [114].

The type of scaffold material chosen for tissue engineering is an important consideration. An optimal scaffold material must be capable of withstanding the intestinal microenvironment, which poses significant challenges in terms of biocompatibility, mechanical properties, and longevity. It must allow transplanted cells to engraft and proliferate rapidly while enabling tissue perfusion of nutrients and remodeling to ensure complete integration with the host. The composition, geometry, and topography of scaffolds used for intestinal tissue engineering may influence the properties of cells grown on their surface.

Compared with natural extracellular matrix-derived scaffolds, biodegradable synthetic polymer scaffolds provide more control over scaffold properties, such as scaffold architecture, degradation rates, and mechanical properties. Boomer and colleagues evaluated a selection of synthetic tubular scaffolds composed of poly(glycolic acid), poly( $\epsilon$ -caprolactone), poly( $\iota$ -lactic acid), and polyurethane with either nanofiber or macrofiber structures [115]. Implantation of the scaffolds into the peritoneal cavity of rats revealed different rates of tissue infiltration and scaffold degradation. The inclusion of extracellular matrix components such as hyaluronic acid (a nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan found ubiquitously in connective, epithelial, and neural tissue) was found to enhance the physicochemical properties of gelatin-collagen scaffolds, including attachment, growth, and viability of Caco-2 cells [116]. Histological organization of cells resembling intestinal circular and longitudinal smooth muscle has also been achieved using scaffolds that consist of two layers of orthogonally oriented fibers [117].

The function of the geometry of the crypt–villus microenvironment in regulating intestinal cell proliferation and differentiation was explored by Wang and colleagues [118]. Caco-2 cells migrating over microwell structures showed increased metabolic activity and lower levels of differentiation compared with cells cultured on flat surfaces, which suggested that the structure of crypts may have a role in retaining a proliferative phenotype. Likewise, scaffold architecture is a parameter that can be used to enhance cell infiltration and mass transfer of nutrients to ensure the viability of tissue is maintained. The porosity of the scaffold has a critical role in cell survival and ultimately the viability of the tissue construct. This was illustrated in a study looking at the inclusion of 250-µm pores in multi-layered electrospun scaffolds [119]. When implanted in vivo, scaffolds with greater macroporosity were associated with increased blood vessel development and improved survival of intestinal smooth muscle cells, which suggested that macropore connectivity can be optimized to enhance angiogenesis and improve cell viability. Compression molding combined with particulate leaching has been used to create multilayered scaffolds with differential porosities and pore sizes [120]. These structural features were found to influence the behavior and interaction (bridging versus penetration) of different cell types found within the small intestine (epithelial and smooth muscle cells).

The impact of the spatial geometry and mechanics of the microenvironment are likely to have an important role in the physiological functionality of tissue engineered constructs. DiMarco and colleagues used a combination of experimental and finite element analysis to investigate critical variables that control intestinal organoid contraction [121]. Adjustment of ambient oxygen concentration, tailoring the density of the collagen type I matrix, addition of R-spondin1, and culture geometry were found to influence contractile behavior of the organoids. Contractile

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

behavior occurred only within a narrow range of collagen densities, which the investigators suggested acted as a permissive switch to enable contraction. The inclusion of biomimetic topographical features might provide further control of cell behavior. To replicate the irregular multiscale features of native intestine, Koppes and colleagues created replicas of decellularized porcine small intestine by chemically depositing Parylene C to create molds for polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) substrates [122]. The PDMS substrates exhibited multiscale folds, crypt and villus structures, and submicron features of the basement membrane. Finer control over the impact of microenvironmental cues is likely to improve scaffold performance, which affects tissue formation, development, differentiation, and functional behavior. Culture of primary intestinal organoids in recombinantly engineered extracellular matrix allowed improved physical manipulation of the scaffolds biomechanical cues while retaining the efficiency of organoid formation to match that obtained with natural collagen I matrices [123]. This provided a means to optimize the properties of the scaffolds to achieve improved matrix performance and identification of microenvironmental cues crucial for bioengineering tissue constructs. Porous protein scaffold systems composed of silk fibroin have also been used to replicate the tissue architecture and microenvironments of the intestine [124]. This type of insight into how properties of the scaffold materials influence the functional behavior of cells is crucial if physiological features such as the stem cell niche, crypt-villus axis, and peristalsis are to be achieved in the tissue engineered construct.

Combined with the revolution in additive manufacturing, an icreased understanding of the biochemical and mechanical cues that control tissue regeneration will lead to a step change in state-of-the-art technology available to create scaffolds tailored to replicate the native scaffold of tissues in terms of topographical, mechanical, and biochemical features. Lee and colleagues fabricated scaffolds with a high surface area—to-volume ratio using 3D printing technology [125]. The growth of smooth muscle cells in vitro was found to be influenced by the geometry of the scaffold. Scaffolds with small villi (0.5 mm) had increased cell density compared with scaffolds containing large villi (1 mm) after 14 days of culture. A 3D printable Matrigel—agarose system was described for the printing of intestinal epithelial cells [126]. The agarose component provided mechanical stability for the 3D printed structure and the Matrigel provides essential protein components for cell growth and spreading. The development of bioinks with improved mechanical properties and biocompatibility will enable additive manufacturing such as 3D printing to make tremendous opportunities for regenerative medicine [127].

Instilling peristaltic activity to the tissue engineered intestine to establish gut motility will require correctly oriented smooth muscle cell regeneration and reinnervation. Advances have been made in technologies to achieve peristalsis through the combination of autologous smooth muscle cells and biomaterials to produce patch or tubular constructs [128]. Maintaining native smooth muscle organization appears to be critical to achieving functionally contracting smooth muscle [129]. Intact smooth muscle strips retained neural and glial markers and exhibited periodic contraction whereas smooth muscle cells cultured after enzymatic digestion did not. Innervation is not only an unmet need for bioengineering gastrointestinal tissue constructs. Enteric neuropathies such as achalasia, gastroparesis, intestinal pseudoobstruction, and chronic constipation are functional gastrointestinal disorders that result from primary and secondary forms of degenerative disease that affect the nerves and muscles in the gastrointestinal tract [130]. Mouse enteric neural crest cells transplanted into aganglionic gut spread along the endogenous myenteric plexus to form functionally integrated branching networks closely associated with endogenous neural glial networks, providing evidence for the use of enteric neural stem cell therapies [131]. The appendix, a vestigial organ, might provide a potential source of autologous neural stem cells for enteric neural cell therapy [132]. Geisbauer and colleagues investigated whether a mixture of enteric cells isolated from longitudinal and circular muscle of the gut could be used as a potential source of neural crest stem cells for cell therapy. When the isolated cells were mixed in collagen containing bFGF and injected into an aganglionic segment of jejunum, ganglion-like structures were generated with elongated synapses [133]. Innervation of tissue engineered constructs is fundamental to achieving or restoring gastrointestinal transit. Colon smooth muscle cells cultured in composite chitosan scaffolds were innervated by differentiated functional neurons derived from cocultured neural progenitor cells [134]. Likewise, human smooth muscle cells and neural progenitor cells were engineered into innervated sheets of smooth muscle and wrapped around tubular chitosan scaffolds [135]. After subcutaneous implantation, the construct became vascularized and the lumenal patency was maintained.

In addition to regulating peristalsis, the enteric nervous system in the intestine controls villi activity and the modulation of secretions from gut epithelial cells. Gut endocrine cells has an important role in regulating gastrointestinal activity by releasing serotonin, secretin, cholecystokinin, gastrin, and enteroglucagon and will be an essential component of the tissue engineered intestine. Nakase and colleagues investigated the regeneration of endocrine cells and the nerve system in a canine patch model of tissue engineered small intestine using a collagen sponge scaffold loaded with autologous gastric smooth muscle cells [136]. At 24 weeks after implantation of the scaffolds into the

#### ANAL CANAL

middle of an isolated ileal loop, the location and number of endocrine cells staining positive for chromogranin A were almost identical to those of native mucosa. Nerve fibers were present in the regenerated smooth muscle layer and villi, but the myenteric plexus of Auerbach and the submucosal plexus of Meissner were not visible. The density of smooth muscle cells implanted into the scaffolds did not affect the thickness of the regenerated smooth muscle layer, which remained approximately half that of the native smooth muscle layer, indicating that other cues will be necessary to increase its thickness. The investigators suggested that the thickness of the muscle layer might be limited by the blood supply available to the regenerating tissue, which might be increased by the delivery of angiogenic factors from the scaffold. Grikscheit and colleagues also reported that ganglion cells were distributed in the locality of the Auerbach and Meissner's plexuses in tissue engineered small intestine [90].

Regeneration of the small intestine remains at an early stage of clinical development and has yet to provide a clear demonstration of improvement in nutrient absorption that will be valuable in a clinical therapeutic setting in humans. Although no models have unequivocally demonstrated functional neointestine with peristaltic activity, they indicate that it is feasible to engineer tubular segmental replacement of small bowel that incorporates innervated smooth muscle layers. Based on these findings, it may be possible to achieve incremental steps toward tissue engineering the intestine. For example, combining existing and established surgical procedures with the principles of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine may improve existing clinical outcome measures. An example of this type of approach was demonstrated by Nakao and colleagues, who showed that the longitudinal staples used during Bianchi's procedure could be replaced with SIS graft [137]. Refinement of other existing techniques could yield further advances toward viable options for tissue engineered intestinal constructs.

#### COLON

The colon is an important organ for water and sodium resorption and a storage pouch for waste products. Patients who undergo total colectomy are at risk for significant morbidities [138]. The surgical creation of an ileal pouch to create a reservoir provides only a limited solution and patients may still experience inflammation of the pouch (pouchitis), malabsorption, diarrhea, cramping abdominal pain, and fever [139].

Tissue engineering approaches similar to those used for the small intestine have been applied to the colon [140]. Consequently, many of the same challenges exist. Tissue engineered colon was achieved by seeding organoid units harvested from the sigmoid colon of neonatal Lewis rats, adult rats, and tissue-engineered colon itself onto a polymer scaffold that was implanted into the omentum of syngeneic adult Lewis rats. Tissue-engineered colon was generated from each of the donor tissue sources and the resulting architecture of the neocolon was similar to that of native tissue. When anastomosed to the native bowel, there was gross evidence of fluid absorption by the tissue engineered colon.

The choice of scaffold material used for colon tissue engineering will have an impact on the viability of the neocolon. Two of the main biological scaffold materials explored in gastrointestinal tissue engineering are SIS and chitosan. Relatively few studies have made direct comparisons of these materials in terms of their biocompatibility. Denost and colleagues looked at the in vitro and in vivo properties of two bioscaffolds composed of these materials [141]. No substantial difference was observed in vitro in terms of cell attachment and proliferation, but the chitosan hydrogel facilitated improved healing of a preclinical in vivo model of colonic wall defect, including regeneration of the smooth muscle layer.

A significant drawback reported with biological scaffolds such as chitosan is their weak mechanical properties. To enhance mechanical strength, Zakhem and Bitar reported using chitosan fibers circumferentially aligned around tubular chitosan scaffolds [142]. Tensile strength and strain, burst pressure, and Young's modulus were all increased in scaffolds that contained the fibers.

# ANAL CANAL

Controlled storage and timely disposal of feces relies largely on the appropriate function of sphincter muscles that constrict the anal canal and maintain fecal continence. Fecal incontinence is a common disease, particularly in aging societies in which it has a huge impact on quality of life and incurs colossal health costs. Conservative estimates indicate that approximately 2% of community-dwelling adults experience regular fecal incontinence [143]. This figure increases to 50% in the institutionalized and geriatric population [144]. Conservative treatments for fecal

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

incontinence are ineffective in patients with more than mild symptoms and surgical interventions produce poor long-term benefit, with frequent complications [145].

Despite holding considerable promise, cell therapy for incontinence affecting the alimentary tract remains relatively unexplored in humans [146,147]. Although the technical feasibility of injecting autologous myoblasts for treating fecal incontinence in humans has been demonstrated, these studies have been unable to demonstrate integration of cells into the damaged sphincter or a direct improvement in the functional integrity of the sphincter muscle.

A fibrin-based bioengineered in vitro model of the internal anal sphincter (IAS) was described that demonstrated physiological functionality. This type of approach is likely to offer value in studying complex physiological mechanisms underlying sphincter malfunction [148,149]. The bioengineered sphincter was surgically implanted into the subcutaneous tissues of syngeneic mice and responded to the local delivery of bFGF, resulting in improved muscle viability, vascularization, and survival of the graft [150]. This field of research has continued to advance; the first study demonstrated the feasibility of transplanting bioengineered intrinsically innervated human IAS into mice. Isolated human IAS smooth muscle cells were cocultured with immortomouse fetal enteric neurons. The construct implanted into RAG1<sup>-/-</sup> mice became neovascularized and the physiological function of the myogenic and neuronal components was retained. The IAS construct exhibited characteristics of IAS physiology [151]. The feasibility of implanting a bioengineered sphincter construct consisting of human IAS smooth muscle cells were able to produce stool normally. For this study, vascularization was increased by delivering platelet-derived growth factor. In addition to the anal sphincter, proof-of-concept studies have demonstrated that it is feasible to bioengineer autologous bioengineered innervated pylorus constructs that consist of circumferentially aligned smooth muscle cells that exhibit tonic contractile phenotype and basal tone [153].

However, the feasibility of scaling-up this type of approach from a rodent model to humans remains uncertain. Although it is technically possible to bioengineer rings of muscle in vitro on a scale comparable to that of human sphincter muscle [154], innervation, vascularization, and cell viability in larger constructs have yet to be tested in larger-sized preclinical models.

Regenerative medicine may also offer solutions to conditions in which existing medical and surgical procedures have failed. A condition in which this affects the alimentary tract is perianal fistulas that result from a connection between the anal canal and the perianal skin surface, creating an abnormal passageway for the discharge of pus, blood, and in some cases feces, resulting in significant morbidity. The goals of fistula treatment are eradication of perineal sepsis and fistula closure while posing a minimal risk for causing sphincter muscle damage. A difficulty in treating perianal fistulas is avoiding abscess formation caused by healing of the skin before closure of the tract. To address this, collagen anal fistula plugs have been devised to treat fistulas. Although early studies reported good healing rates with little or no risk to continence, long-term follow-up has revealed variable and disappointing success rates (24–78%) [155]. Reports of the plugs failing owing to dislodgment from the tracts indicate that this approach may not provide an ideal scaffold material to promote guided tissue regeneration and closure of the tract [155]. A possible solution to this problem is the use of scaffold materials that provide both optimal conditions for rapid cell infiltration when implanted into tissue cavities and mechanical strength to maintain an open scaffold structure [156].

#### IN VITRO MODELS

Improved understanding of gastrointestinal developmental biology opens up new opportunities for creating 3D tissue constructs that can be used to modeling disease, understand embryonic development, and provide construct sources for therapeutic applications [157]. Principles of regenerative medicine are increasingly being used to fabricate biomimetic models of the gastrointestinal tract. Challenges that exist with developing in vitro tissue models of gastrointestinal tissue include mimicking the 3D microenvironment, interactions among different cell types, and the microbiome. New technologies are being applied to address these, including using microfluidics to create channels lined by living cells in microengineered biomimetic systems that might offer new opportunities to replace conventional animal models in preclinical toxicology testing. This approach has been applied to a variety of organs including the intestine to provide organs-on-chips that exhibit physiological properties including peristalsis-like movement [158]. Dynamic culture in a defined perfusion bioreactor has also been reported to result in tissue models that are physiologically closer to native small intestine [159]. Microfluidic cell culture devices have been designed that contain villi- and crypt-like structures that resulted in epithelial cells tightly connecting to each other and displaying absorption and paracellular transport function [160]. The incorporation of physiological parameters also

#### REFERENCES

appears to be important for establishing 3D in vitro tissue models of small intestine. Bioreactors used to culture decellularized segments of porcine jejunum have been used to coculture human Caco-2 cells with human microvascular endothelial cells. Compared with routine static Caco-2 assays, culture under dynamic conditions resulted in cell morphology that more closely resembled normal primary enterocytes [161]. Recapturing essential features of the cellular microenvironment is essential if in vitro tissue engineered models are to be used for functional studies such as cell growth, differentiation, absorption, or host-microbial interactions. The inclusion of native features such as accurately sized intestinal villi has been shown to facilitate cell differentiation along the villous axis [162]. Methods used to realize such structures include 3D natural and synthetic hydrogels created using a combination of laser ablation and sacrificial molding to achieve microscale structures that mimic the density and size of human intestinal villi [163]. The microbiome of the gastrointestinal tract is increasingly being recognized as a critical component to maintaining physiological homeostasis. Biomimetic in vitro intestinal models for investigating the adhesion and invasion profile of commensal and pathogenic organisms therefore have significant value in understanding microbe-induced intestinal disorders. To explore this interaction, synthetic 3D tissue scaffolds that support coculture of epithelial cell types have been used to provide microbial niches along the crypt–villus axis for modeling the interaction of a variety of commensal and pathogenic organisms [164].

#### CONCLUSION

The alimentary tract is a complex organ that is essential for maintaining physiological homeostasis. Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine for hollow visceral organs have been proposed as an approach for replacing damaged or diseased tissue, as demonstrated in humans with bladder [165] and airway tissue [15]. Although these "first-in-human" studies have rightly attracted much attention, there is a long way to go until a similar approach becomes routine in the relatively complex structures of the alimentary tract.

The past few decades have delivered a series of important studies that have used the innate ability of the alimentary tract to regenerate. Further studies are needed to demonstrate whether these approaches are transferable and of clinical value to humans. Fundamental challenges such as scalability will need to be addressed to enable the results obtained in small-animal models to progress into preclinical models applicable to humans. This will require refinement of the scaffolds used and the ability to seed limited quantities of cells available in an efficient manner onto the scaffolds. These are challenges that can be overcome and will allow regenerative medicine to progress in the alimentary tract in humans.

# References

- [1] Sonnenburg JL, Bäckhed F. Diet-microbiota interactions as moderators of human metabolism. Nature July 7, 2016;535(7610):56-64.
- [2] Fascetti-Leon F, Malerba A, Boldrin L, Leone E, Betalli P, Pasut A, et al. Murine muscle precursor cells survived and integrated in a cryoinjured gastroesophageal junction. J Surg Res December 2007;143(2):253–9.
- [3] Fukushima M, Kako N, Chiba K, Kawaguchi T, Kimura Y, Sato M, et al. Seven-year follow-up study after the replacement of the esophagus with an artificial esophagus in the dog. Surgery January 1983;93(1 Pt 1):70–7.
- [4] Jurkiewicz MJ. Reconstructive surgery of the cervical esophagus. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg November 1984;88(5 Pt 2):893-7.
- [5] Harii K, Ebihara S, Ono I, Saito H, Terui S, Takato T. Pharyngoesophageal reconstruction using a fabricated forearm free flap. Plast Reconstr Surg April 1985;75(4):463–76.
- [6] Kakegawa T, Machi J, Yamana H, Fujita H, Tai Y. A new technique for esophageal reconstruction by combined skin and muscle flaps after failure in primary colonic interposition. Surg Gynecol Obstet June 1987;164(6):576–8.
- [7] Ohki T, Yamato M, Murakami D, Takagi R, Yang J, Namiki H, et al. Treatment of oesophageal ulcerations using endoscopic transplantation of tissue-engineered autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets in a canine model. Gut December 2006;55(12):1704–10.
- [8] Shinhar D, Finaly R, Niska A, Mares AJ. The use of collagen-coated vicryl mesh for reconstruction of the canine cervical esophagus. Pediatr Surg Int March 1998;13(2–3):84–7.
- [9] Yamamoto Y, Nakamura T, Shimizu Y, Takimoto Y, Matsumoto K, Kiyotani T, et al. Experimental replacement of the thoracic esophagus with a bioabsorbable collagen sponge scaffold supported by a silicone stent in dogs. ASAIO J August 1999;45(4):311–6.
- [10] Badylak S, Meurling S, Chen M, Spievack A, Simmons-Byrd A. Resorbable bioscaffold for esophageal repair in a dog model. J Pediatr Surg July 2000;35(7):1097–103.
- Badylak SF, Vorp DA, Spievack AR, Simmons-Byrd A, Hanke J, Freytes DO, et al. Esophageal reconstruction with ECM and muscle tissue in a dog model. J Surg Res September 2005;128(1):87–97.
- [12] Lynen Jansen P, Klinge U, Anurov M, Titkova S, Mertens PR, Jansen M. Surgical mesh as a scaffold for tissue regeneration in the esophagus. Eur Surg Res April 2004;36(2):104–11.
- [13] Ozeki M, Narita Y, Kagami H, Ohmiya N, Itoh A, Hirooka Y, et al. Evaluation of decellularized esophagus as a scaffold for cultured esophageal epithelial cells. J Biomed Mater Res December 15, 2006;79(4):771–8.

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

- [14] Marzaro M, Vigolo S, Oselladore B, Conconi MT, Ribatti D, Giuliani S, et al. In vitro and in vivo proposal of an artificial esophagus. J Biomed Mater Res June 15, 2006;77(4):795–801.
- [15] Macchiarini P, Jungebluth P, Go T, Asnaghi MA, Rees LE, Cogan TA, et al. Clinical transplantation of a tissue-engineered airway. Lancet December 13, 2008;372(9655):2023–30.
- [16] Matsumoto T, Holmes RH, Burdick CO, Heisterkamp CA, O'Connell TJ. The fate of the inverted segment of small bowel used for the replacement of major veins. Surgery September 1966;60(3):739–43.
- [17] Badylak SF, Lantz GC, Coffey A, Geddes LA. Small intestinal submucosa as a large diameter vascular graft in the dog. J Surg Res July 1989; 47(1):74–80.
- [18] Kropp BP, Badylak S, Thor KB. Regenerative bladder augmentation: a review of the initial preclinical studies with porcine small intestinal submucosa. Adv Exp Med Biol 1995;385:229–35.
- [19] Dalla Vecchia L, Engum S, Kogon B, Jensen E, Davis M, Grosfeld J. Evaluation of small intestine submucosa and acellular dermis as diaphragmatic prostheses. J Pediatr Surg January 1999;34(1):167–71.
- [20] De Ugarte DA, Puapong D, Roostaeian J, Gillis N, Fonkalsrud EW, Atkinson JB, et al. Surgisis patch tracheoplasty in a rodent model for tracheal stenosis. J Surg Res June 1, 2003;112(1):65–9.
- [21] Puccio F, Solazzo M, Marciano P. Comparison of three different mesh materials in tension-free inguinal hernia repair: prolene versus Vypro versus surgisis. Int Surg August 2005;90(3 Suppl.):S21–3.
- [22] Spiegel JH, Kessler JL. Tympanic membrane perforation repair with acellular porcine submucosa. Otol Neurotol July 2005;26(4):563-6.
- [23] Grethel EJ, Cortes RA, Wagner AJ, Clifton MS, Lee H, Farmer DL, et al. Prosthetic patches for congenital diaphragmatic hernia repair: surgisis vs Gore-Tex. J Pediatr Surg January 2006;41(1):29–33. discussion 29.
- [24] Smith MD, Campbell RM. Use of a biodegradable patch for reconstruction of large thoracic cage defects in growing children. J Pediatr Surg January 2006;41(1):46–9. discussion 46.
- [25] Hodde JP, Badylak SF, Brightman AO, Voytik-Harbin SL. Glycosaminoglycan content of small intestinal submucosa: a bioscaffold for tissue replacement. Tissue Eng 1996;2(3):209–17.
- [26] Voytik-Harbin SL, Brightman AO, Kraine MR, Waisner B, Badylak SF. Identification of extractable growth factors from small intestinal submucosa. J Cell Biochem December 15, 1997;67(4):478–91.
- [27] Lopes MF, Cabrita A, Ilharco J, Pessa P, Patrício J. Grafts of porcine intestinal submucosa for repair of cervical and abdominal esophageal defects in the rat. J Invest Surg April 2006;19(2):105–11.
- [28] Doede T, Bondartschuk M, Joerck C, Schulze E, Goernig M. Unsuccessful alloplastic esophageal replacement with porcine small intestinal submucosa. Artif Organs April 2009;33(4):328–33.
- [29] Fan M-R, Gong M, Da L-C, Bai L, Li X-Q, Chen K-F, et al. Tissue engineered esophagus scaffold constructed with porcine small intestinal submucosa and synthetic polymers. Biomed Mater February 2014;9(1):015012.
- [30] Master VA, Wei G, Liu W, Baskin LS. Urothlelium facilitates the recruitment and trans-differentiation of fibroblasts into smooth muscle in acellular matrix. J Urol October 2003;170(4 Pt 2):1628–32.
- [31] Rheinwald JG, Green H. Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. Cell November 1975;6(3):331–43.
- [32] Tan B, Wei R-Q, Tan M-Y, Luo J-C, Deng L, Chen X-H, et al. Tissue engineered esophagus by mesenchymal stem cell seeding for esophageal repair in a canine model. J Surg Res June 1, 2013;182(1):40–8.
- [33] Nakase Y, Nakamura T, Kin S, Nakashima S, Yoshikawa T, Kuriu Y, et al. Intrathoracic esophageal replacement by in situ tissue-engineered esophagus. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg October 2008;136(4):850–9.
- [34] Yoo JJ, Meng J, Oberpenning F, Atala A. Bladder augmentation using allogenic bladder submucosa seeded with cells. Urology February 1998;51(2):221–5.
- [35] Urita Y, Komuro H, Chen G, Shinya M, Kaneko S, Kaneko M, et al. Regeneration of the esophagus using gastric acellular matrix: an experimental study in a rat model. Pediatr Surg Int January 2007;23(1):21–6.
- [36] Lun S, Irvine SM, Johnson KD, Fisher NJ, Floden EW, Negron L, et al. A functional extracellular matrix biomaterial derived from ovine forestomach. Biomaterials June 2010;31(16):4517–29.
- [37] Franck D, Chung YG, Coburn J, Kaplan DL, Estrada CR, Mauney JR. In vitro evaluation of bi-layer silk fibroin scaffolds for gastrointestinal tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng November 5, 2014;5. 2041731414556849.
- [38] Kofler K, Ainoedhofer H, Höllwarth ME, Saxena AK. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting of PCK-26 antigen-positive cells enables selection of ovine esophageal epithelial cells with improved viability on scaffolds for esophagus tissue engineering. Pediatr Surg Int January 2010;26(1): 97–104.
- [39] Tan B, Wang M, Chen X, Hou J, Chen X, Wang Y, et al. Tissue engineered esophagus by copper-small intestinal submucosa graft for esophageal repair in a canine model. Sci China Life Sci February 2014;57(2):248–55.
- [40] Agrawal V, Brown BN, Beattie AJ, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. Evidence of innervation following extracellular matrix scaffold-mediated remodelling of muscular tissues. J Tissue Eng Regen Med December 2009;3(8):590–600.
- [41] Saxena AK, Kofler K, Ainödhofer H, Höllwarth ME. Esophagus tissue engineering: hybrid approach with esophageal epithelium and unidirectional smooth muscle tissue component generation in vitro. J Gastrointest Surg June 2009;13(6):1037–43.
- [42] Hori Y, Nakamura T, Matsumoto K, Kurokawa Y, Satomi S, Shimizu Y. Experimental study on in situ tissue engineering of the stomach by an acellular collagen sponge scaffold graft. ASAIO J June 2001;47(3):206–10.
- [43] Hori Y, Nakamura T, Kimura D, Kaino K, Kurokawa Y, Satomi S, et al. Functional analysis of the tissue-engineered stomach wall. Artif Organs October 2002;26(10):868–72.
- [44] Araki M, Tao H, Sato T, Nakajima N, Hyon S-H, Nagayasu T, et al. Development of a new tissue-engineered sheet for reconstruction of the stomach. Artif Organs October 16, 2009;33(10):818–26.
- [45] Grikscheit T, Srinivasan A, Vacanti JP. Tissue-engineered stomach: a preliminary report of a versatile in vivo model with therapeutic potential. J Pediatr Surg September 2003;38(9):1305–9.
- [46] Sala FG, Kunisaki SM, Ochoa ER, Vacanti J, Grikscheit TC. Tissue-engineered small intestine and stomach form from autologous tissue in a preclinical large animal model. J Surg Res October 2009;156(2):205–12.

- [47] McCracken KW, Catá EM, Crawford CM, Sinagoga KL, Schumacher M, Rockich BE, et al. Modelling human development and disease in pluripotent stem-cell-derived gastric organoids. Nature December 18, 2014;516(7531):400–4.
- [48] Noguchi TK, Ninomiya N, Sekine M, Komazaki S, Wang P-C, Asashima M, et al. Generation of stomach tissue from mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol August 2015;17(8):984–93.
- [49] Nakatsu H, Ueno T, Oga A, Nakao M, Nishimura T, Kobayashi S, et al. Influence of mesenchymal stem cells on stomach tissue engineering using small intestinal submucosa. J Tissue Eng Regen Med March 2015;9(3):296–304.
- [50] Booth C, Potten CS. Gut instincts: thoughts on intestinal epithelial stem cells. J Clin Invest June 2000;105(11):1493-9.
- [51] Kayahara T, Sawada M, Takaishi S, Fukui H, Seno H, Fukuzawa H, et al. Candidate markers for stem and early progenitor cells, Musashi-1 and Hes1, are expressed in crypt base columnar cells of mouse small intestine. FEBS Lett January 30, 2003;535(1–3):131–5.
- [52] Potten CS, Booth C, Tudor GL, Booth D, Brady G, Hurley P, et al. Identification of a putative intestinal stem cell and early lineage marker; musashi-1. Differentiation January 2003;71(1):28–41.
- [53] Gracz AD, Ramalingam S, Magness ST. Sox9 expression marks a subset of CD24-expressing small intestine epithelial stem cells that form organoids in vitro. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol May 2010;298(5):G590–600.
- [54] Bianchi A. Experience with longitudinal intestinal lengthening and tailoring. Eur J Pediatr Surg August 1999;9(4):256-9.
- [55] Thompson JS. Surgical approach to the short-bowel syndrome: procedures to slow intestinal transit. Eur J Pediatr Surg August 1999;9(4): 263-6.
- [56] Weber TR. Isoperistaltic bowel lengthening for short bowel syndrome in children. Am J Surg December 1999;178(6):600-4.
- [57] Javid PJ, Kim HB, Duggan CP, Jaksic T. Serial transverse enteroplasty is associated with successful short-term outcomes in infants with short bowel syndrome. J Pediatr Surg June 2005;40(6):1019–23. discussion 1023.
- [58] Sudan D. The current state of intestine transplantation: indications, techniques, outcomes and challenges. Am J Transplant September 2014; 14(9):1976–84.
- [59] Miyasaka EA, Okawada M, Utter B, Mustafa-Maria H, Luntz J, Brei D, et al. Application of distractive forces to the small intestine: defining safe limits. J Surg Res October 2010;163(2):169–75.
- [60] Koga H, Sun X, Yang H, Nose K, Somara S, Bitar KN, et al. Distraction-induced intestinal enterogenesis: preservation of intestinal function and lengthening after reimplantation into normal jejunum. Ann Surg February 1, 2012;255(2):302–10.
- [61] Fisher JG, Sparks EA, Khan FA, Dionigi B, Wu H, Brazzo J, et al. Extraluminal distraction enterogenesis using shape-memory polymer. J Pediatr Surg June 2015;50(6):938–42.
- [62] Sullins VF, Wagner JP, Suwarnasarn AT, Lee SL, Wu BM, Dunn JCY. A novel biodegradable device for intestinal lengthening. J Pediatr Surg January 2014;49(1):109–13. discussion 113.
- [63] Demehri FR, Wong PM, Freeman JJ, Fukatsu Y, Teitelbaum DH. A novel double-balloon catheter device for fully endoluminal intestinal lengthening. Pediatr Surg Int December 2014;30(12):1223–9.
- [64] Okawada M, Maria HM, Teitelbaum DH. Distraction induced enterogenesis: a unique mouse model using polyethylene glycol. J Surg Res September 2011;170(1):41–7.
- [65] Sueyoshi R, Ralls MW, Teitelbaum DH. Glucagon-like peptide 2 increases efficacy of distraction enterogenesis. J Surg Res September 2013; 184(1):365–73.
- [66] Rouch JD, Scott A, Jabaji ZB, Chiang E, Wu BM, Lee SL, et al. Basic fibroblast growth factor eluting microspheres enhance distraction enterogenesis. J Pediatr Surg June 2016;51(6):960–5.
- [67] Liu Y, Nelson T, Cromeens B, Rager T, Lannutti J, Johnson J, et al. HB-EGF embedded in PGA/PLLA scaffolds via subcritical CO2 augments the production of tissue engineered intestine. Biomaterials October 2016;103:150–9.
- [68] Kobold EE, Thal AP. A simple method for the management of experimental wounds of the duodenum. Surg Gynecol Obstet March 1963;116: 340-4.
- [69] Binnington HB, Siegel BA, Kissane JM, Ternberg JL. A technique to increase jejunal mucosa surface area. J Pediatr Surg October 1973;8(5): 765–9.
- [70] Watson LC, Friedman HI, Griffin DG, Norton LW, Mellick PW. Small bowel neomucosa. J Surg Res March 1980;28(3):280-91.
- [71] Jwo S-C, Chiu J-H, Ng K-K, Chen H-Y. Intestinal regeneration by a novel surgical procedure. Br J Surg May 2008;95(5):657–63.
- [72] Chen MK, Badylak SF. Small bowel tissue engineering using small intestinal submucosa as a scaffold. J Surg Res August 2001;99(2):352-8.
- [73] Pahari MP, Raman A, Bloomenthal A, Costa MA, Bradley SP, Banner B, et al. A novel approach for intestinal elongation using acellular dermal matrix: an experimental study in rats. Transplant Proc August 2006;38(6):1849–50.
- [74] Pahari MP, Brown ML, Elias G, Nseir H, Banner B, Rastellini C, et al. Development of a bioartificial new intestinal segment using an acellular matrix scaffold. Gut June 2007;56(6):885–6.
- [75] Cicalese L, Corsello T, Stevenson HL, Damiano G, Tuveri M, Zorzi D, et al. Evidence of absorptive function in vivo in a neo-formed bioartificial intestinal segment using a rodent model. J Gastrointest Surg January 2016;20(1):34–42. discussion 42.
- [76] Chouillard E, Chahine E, Allaire E, Filaire-Legendre A, Van Nhieu JT, Martinod E. Small bowel in vivo bioengineering using an aortic matrix in a porcine model. Surg Endosc February 22, 2016;30(11):4742–9.
- [77] Hori Y, Nakamura T, Matsumoto K, Kurokawa Y, Satomi S, Shimizu Y. Tissue engineering of the small intestine by acellular collagen sponge scaffold grafting. Int J Artif Organs January 2001;24(1):50–4.
- [78] Hori Y, Nakamura T, Kimura D, Kaino K, Kurokawa Y, Satomi S, et al. Experimental study on tissue engineering of the small intestine by mesenchymal stem cell seeding. J Surg Res February 2002;102(2):156–60.
- [79] Wang ZQ, Watanabe Y, Noda T, Yoshida A, Oyama T, Toki A. Morphologic evaluation of regenerated small bowel by small intestinal submucosa. J Pediatr Surg December 2005;40(12):1898–902.
- [80] Lee M, Chang PCY, Dunn JCY. Evaluation of small intestinal submucosa as scaffolds for intestinal tissue engineering. J Surg Res June 15, 2008;147(2):168–71.
- [81] Vacanti JP, Morse MA, Saltzman WM, Domb AJ, Perez-Atayde A, Langer R. Selective cell transplantation using bioabsorbable artificial polymers as matrices. J Pediatr Surg January 1988;23(1 Pt 2):3–9.
- [82] Tait IS, Flint N, Campbell FC, Evans GS. Generation of neomucosa in vivo by transplantation of dissociated rat postnatal small intestinal epithelium. Differentiation April 1994;56(1–2):91–100.

- [83] Slorach EM, Campbell FC, Dorin JR. A mouse model of intestinal stem cell function and regeneration. J Cell Sci September 1999;112 Pt 18: 3029–38.
- [84] Choi RS, Vacanti JP. Preliminary studies of tissue-engineered intestine using isolated epithelial organoid units on tubular synthetic biodegradable scaffolds. Transplant Proc March 1997;29(1–2):848–51.
- [85] Choi RS, Riegler M, Pothoulakis C, Kim BS, Mooney D, Vacanti M, et al. Studies of brush border enzymes, basement membrane components, and electrophysiology of tissue-engineered neointestine. J Pediatr Surg July 1998;33(7):991–6. discussion 996.
- [86] Kaihara S, Kim SS, Benvenuto M, Choi R, Kim BS, Mooney D, et al. Successful anastomosis between tissue-engineered intestine and native small bowel. Transplantation January 27, 1999;67(2):241–5.
- [87] Tavakkolizadeh A, Berger UV, Stephen AE, Kim BS, Mooney D, Hediger MA, et al. Tissue-engineered neomucosa: morphology, enterocyte dynamics, and SGLT1 expression topography. Transplantation January 27, 2003;75(2):181–5.
- [88] Perez A, Grikscheit TC, Blumberg RS, Ashley SW, Vacanti JP, Whang EE. Tissue-engineered small intestine: ontogeny of the immune system. Transplantation September 15, 2002;74(5):619–23.
- [89] Kim SS, Kaihara S, Benvenuto MS, Choi RS, Kim BS, Mooney DJ, et al. Regenerative signals for intestinal epithelial organoid units transplanted on biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering of small intestine. Transplantation January 27, 1999;67(2):227–33.
- [90] Grikscheit TC, Siddique A, Ochoa ER, Srinivasan A, Alsberg E, Hodin RA, et al. Tissue-engineered small intestine improves recovery after massive small bowel resection. Ann Surg November 2004;240(5):748–54.
- [91] Warner BW. Tissue engineered small intestine: a viable clinical option? Ann Surg November 2004;240(5):755-6.
- [92] Sala FG, Matthews JA, Speer AL, Torashima Y, Barthel ER, Grikscheit TC. A multicellular approach forms a significant amount of tissueengineered small intestine in the mouse. Tissue Eng July 2011;17(13–14):1841–50.
- [93] Fuller MK, Faulk DM, Sundaram N, Shroyer NF, Henning SJ, Helmrath MA. Intestinal crypts reproducibly expand in culture. J Surg Res November 1, 2012;178(1):48–54.
- [94] Rizvi AZ, Swain JR, Davies PS, Bailey AS, Decker AD, Willenbring H, et al. Bone marrow-derived cells fuse with normal and transformed intestinal stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A April 18, 2006;103(16):6321–5.
- [95] Zhao Y, Glesne D, Huberman E. A human peripheral blood monocyte-derived subset acts as pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A March 4, 2003;100(5):2426–31.
- [96] McCracken KW, Howell JC, Wells JM, Spence JR. Generating human intestinal tissue from pluripotent stem cells in vitro. Nat Protoc December 2011;6(12):1920-8.
- [97] Cromeens BP, Liu Y, Stathopoulos J, Wang Y, Johnson J, Besner GE. Production of tissue-engineered intestine from expanded enteroids. J Surg Res July 2016;204(1):164–75.
- [98] Liu Y, Rager T, Johnson J, Enmark J, Besner GE. Enriched intestinal stem cell seeding improves the architecture of tissue-engineered intestine. Tissue Eng August 2015;21(8):816–24.
- [99] Torashima Y, Levin DE, Barthel ER, Speer AL, Sala FG, Hou X, et al. Fgf10 overexpression enhances the formation of tissue-engineered small intestine. J Tissue Eng Regen Med February 2016;10(2):132–9.

[100] Levin DE, Barthel ER, Speer AL, Sala FG, Hou X, Torashima Y, et al. Human tissue-engineered small intestine forms from postnatal progenitor cells. J Pediatr Surg January 2013;48(1):129–37.

- [101] Patil PB, Chougule PB, Kumar VK, Almström S, Bäckdahl H, Banerjee D, et al. Recellularization of acellular human small intestine using bone marrow stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med April 2013;2(4):307–15.
- [102] Spurrier RG, Speer AL, Grant CN, Levin DE, Grikscheit TC. Vitrification preserves murine and human donor cells for generation of tissueengineered intestine. J Surg Res August 2014;190(2):399–406.
- [103] Ramsanahie A, Duxbury MS, Grikscheit TC, Perez A, Rhoads DB, Gardner-Thorpe J, et al. Effect of GLP-2 on mucosal morphology and SGLT1 expression in tissue-engineered neointestine. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol December 2003;285(6):G1345–52.
- [104] Yoshida A, Noda T, Tani M, Oyama T, Watanabe Y, Kiyomoto H, et al. The role of basic fibroblast growth factor to enhance fetal intestinal mucosal cell regeneration in vivo. Pediatr Surg Int August 2009;25(8):691–5.
- [105] Moosvi SR, Day RM. Bioactive glass modulation of intestinal epithelial cell restitution. Acta Biomater January 2009;5(1):76–83.
- [106] Lee M, Wu BM, Stelzner M, Reichardt HM, Dunn JCY. Intestinal smooth muscle cell maintenance by basic fibroblast growth factor. Tissue Eng August 2008;14(8):1395–402.
- [107] Gardner-Thorpe J, Grikscheit TC, Ito H, Perez A, Ashley SW, Vacanti JP, et al. Angiogenesis in tissue-engineered small intestine. Tissue Eng December 2003;9(6):1255–61.
- [108] Rocha FG, Sundback CA, Krebs NJ, Leach JK, Mooney DJ, Ashley SW, et al. The effect of sustained delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor on angiogenesis in tissue-engineered intestine. Biomaterials July 2008;29(19):2884–90.
- [109] Day RM, Boccaccini AR, Shurey S, Roether JA, Forbes A, Hench LL, et al. Assessment of polyglycolic acid mesh and bioactive glass for softtissue engineering scaffolds. Biomaterials December 2004;25(27):5857–66.
- [110] Duxbury MS, Grikscheit TC, Gardner-Thorpe J, Rocha FG, Ito H, Perez A, et al. Lymphangiogenesis in tissue-engineered small intestine. Transplantation April 27, 2004;77(8):1162–6.
- [111] Mertsching H, Schanz J, Steger V, Schandar M, Schenk M, Hansmann J, et al. Generation and transplantation of an autologous vascularized bioartificial human tissue. Transplantation July 27, 2009;88(2):203–10.
- [112] Kim SS, Penkala R, Abrahimi P. A perfusion bioreactor for intestinal tissue engineering. J Surg Res October 2007;142(2):327-31.
- [113] Gonzalez-Molina J, Riegler J, Southern P, Ortega D, Frangos CC, Angelopoulos Y, et al. Rapid magnetic cell delivery for large tubular bioengineered constructs. J R Soc Interface November 7, 2012;9(76):3008–16.
- [114] Kasyanov VA, Hodde J, Hiles MC, Eisenberg C, Eisenberg L, De Castro LEF, et al. Rapid biofabrication of tubular tissue constructs by centrifugal casting in a decellularized natural scaffold with laser-machined micropores. J Mater Sci Mater Med January 2009;20(1):329–37.
- [115] Boomer L, Liu Y, Mahler N, Johnson J, Zak K, Nelson T, et al. Scaffolding for challenging environments: materials selection for tissue engineered intestine. J Biomed Mater Res November 2014;102(11):3795–802.
- [116] Shabafrooz V, Mozafari M, Köhler GA, Assefa S, Vashaee D, Tayebi L. The effect of hyaluronic acid on biofunctionality of gelatin-collagen intestine tissue engineering scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res September 2014;102(9):3130–9.

- [117] Kobayashi M, Lei NY, Wang Q, Wu BM, Dunn JCY. Orthogonally oriented scaffolds with aligned fibers for engineering intestinal smooth muscle. Biomaterials August 2015;61:75–84.
- [118] Wang L, Murthy SK, Fowle WH, Barabino GA, Carrier RL. Influence of micro-well biomimetic topography on intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cell phenotype. Biomaterials December 2009;30(36):6825–34.
- [119] Walthers CM, Nazemi AK, Patel SL, Wu BM, Dunn JCY. The effect of scaffold macroporosity on angiogenesis and cell survival in tissueengineered smooth muscle. Biomaterials June 2014;35(19):5129–37.
- [120] Knight T, Basu J, Rivera EA, Spencer T, Jain D, Payne R. Fabrication of a multi-layer three-dimensional scaffold with controlled porous micro-architecture for application in small intestine tissue engineering. Cell Adh Migr June 2013;7(3):267–74.
- [121] DiMarco RL, Su J, Yan KS, Dewi R, Kuo CJ, Heilshorn SC. Engineering of three-dimensional microenvironments to promote contractile behavior in primary intestinal organoids. Integr Biol (Camb) February 2014;6(2):127–42.
- [122] Koppes AN, Kamath M, Pfluger CA, Burkey DD, Dokmeci M, Wang L, et al. Complex, multi-scale small intestinal topography replicated in cellular growth substrates fabricated via chemical vapor deposition of Parylene C. Biofabrication August 22, 2016;8(3):035011.
- [123] DiMarco RL, Dewi RE, Bernal G, Kuo C, Heilshorn SC. Protein-engineered scaffolds for in vitro 3D culture of primary adult intestinal organoids. Biomater Sci October 15, 2015;3(10):1376–85.
- [124] Chen Y, Lin Y, Davis KM, Wang Q, Rnjak-Kovacina J, Li C, et al. Robust bioengineered 3D functional human intestinal epithelium. Sci Rep September 16, 2015;5:13708.
- [125] Lee M, Wu BM, Dunn JCY. Effect of scaffold architecture and pore size on smooth muscle cell growth. J Biomed Mater Res December 15, 2008;87(4):1010–6.
- [126] Fan R, Piou M, Darling E, Cormier D, Sun J, Wan J. Bio-printing cell-laden Matrigel-agarose constructs. J Biomater Appl September 16, 2016; 31(5):684–92.
- [127] Wengerter BC, Emre G, Park JY, Geibel J. Three-dimensional printing in the intestine. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol August 2016;14(8):1081-5.
- [128] Basu J, Mihalko KL, Payne R, Rivera E, Knight T, Genheimer CW, et al. Regeneration of rodent small intestine tissue following implantation of scaffolds seeded with a novel source of smooth muscle cells. Regen Med November 2011;6(6):721–31.
- [129] Walthers CM, Lee M, Wu BM, Dunn JCY. Smooth muscle strips for intestinal tissue engineering. PLoS One December 8, 2014;9(12):e114850.
  [130] Knowles CH, Lindberg G, Panza E, De Giorgio R. New perspectives in the diagnosis and management of enteric neuropathies. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol April 2013;10(4):206–18.
- [131] Cooper JE, McCann CJ, Natarajan D, Choudhury S, Boesmans W, Delalande J-M, et al. In vivo transplantation of enteric neural crest cells into mouse gut; engraftment, functional integration and long-term safety. PLoS One January 29, 2016;11(1):e0147989.
- [132] Zakhem E, Rego SL, Raghavan S, Bitar KN. The appendix as a viable source of neural progenitor cells to functionally innervate bioengineered gastrointestinal smooth muscle tissues. Stem Cells Transl Med June 2015;4(6):548–54.
- [133] Geisbauer CL, Wu BM, Dunn JCY. Transplantation of enteric cells into the aganglionic rodent small intestines. J Surg Res July 2012;176(1): 20–8.
- [134] Zakhem E, Raghavan S, Bitar KN. Neo-innervation of a bioengineered intestinal smooth muscle construct around chitosan scaffold. Biomaterials February 2014;35(6):1882–9.
- [135] Zakhem E, Elbahrawy M, Orlando G, Bitar KN. Successful implantation of an engineered tubular neuromuscular tissue composed of human cells and chitosan scaffold. Surgery December 2015;158(6):1598–608.
- [136] Nakase Y, Nakamura T, Kin S, Nakashima S, Yoshikawa T, Kuriu Y, et al. Endocrine cell and nerve regeneration in autologous in situ tissueengineered small intestine. J Surg Res January 2007;137(1):61–8.
- [137] Nakao M, Ueno T, Oga A, Kuramitsu Y, Nakatsu H, Oka M. Proposal of intestinal tissue engineering combined with Bianchi's procedure. J Pediatr Surg April 2015;50(4):573–80.
- [138] Papa MZ, Karni T, Koller M, Klein E, Scott D, Bersuk D, et al. Avoiding diarrhea after subtotal colectomy with primary anastomosis in the treatment of colon cancer. J Am Coll Surg March 1997;184(3):269–72.
- [139] Meagher AP, Farouk R, Dozois RR, Kelly KA, Pemberton JH. J ileal pouch-anal anastomosis for chronic ulcerative colitis: complications and long-term outcome in 1310 patients. Br J Surg June 1998;85(6):800–3.
- [140] Grikscheit TC, Ochoa ER, Ramsanahie A, Alsberg E, Mooney D, Whang EE, et al. Tissue-engineered large intestine resembles native colon with appropriate in vitro physiology and architecture. Ann Surg July 2003;238(1):35–41.
- [141] Denost Q, Adam J-P, Pontallier A, Montembault A, Bareille R, Siadous R, et al. Colorectal tissue engineering: a comparative study between porcine small intestinal submucosa (SIS) and chitosan hydrogel patches. Surgery December 2015;158(6):1714–23.
- [142] Zakhem E, Bitar KN. Development of chitosan scaffolds with enhanced mechanical properties for intestinal tissue engineering applications. J Funct Biomater October 13, 2015;6(4):999–1011.
- [143] Perry S, Shaw C, McGrother C, Matthews RJ, Assassa RP, Dallosso H, et al. Prevalence of faecal incontinence in adults aged 40 years or more living in the community. Gut April 2002;50(4):480–4.
- [144] Nelson RL. Epidemiology of fecal incontinence. Gastroenterology January 2004;126(1 Suppl. 1):S3-7.
- [145] Tan JJY, Chan M, Tjandra JJ. Evolving therapy for fecal incontinence. Dis Colon Rectum November 2007;50(11):1950-67.
- [146] Frudinger A, Kölle D, Schwaiger W, Pfeifer J, Paede J, Halligan S. Muscle-derived cell injection to treat anal incontinence due to obstetric trauma: pilot study with 1 year follow-up. Gut January 2010;59(1):55–61.
- [147] Frudinger A, Pfeifer J, Paede J, Kolovetsiou-Kreiner V, Marksteiner R, Halligan S. Autologous skeletal-muscle-derived cell injection for anal incontinence due to obstetric trauma: a 5-year follow-up of an initial study of 10 patients. Colorectal Dis September 2015;17(9):794–801.
- [148] Hecker L, Baar K, Dennis RG, Bitar KN. Development of a three-dimensional physiological model of the internal anal sphincter bioengineered in vitro from isolated smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol August 2005;289(2):G188–96.
- [149] Somara S, Gilmont RR, Dennis RG, Bitar KN. Bioengineered internal anal sphincter derived from isolated human internal anal sphincter smooth muscle cells. Gastroenterology July 2009;137(1):53–61.
- [150] Hashish M, Raghavan S, Somara S, Gilmont RR, Miyasaka E, Bitar KN, et al. Surgical implantation of a bioengineered internal anal sphincter. J Pediatr Surg January 2010;45(1):52–8.
- [151] Raghavan S, Gilmont RR, Miyasaka EA, Somara S, Srinivasan S, Teitelbaum DH, et al. Successful implantation of bioengineered, intrinsically innervated, human internal anal sphincter. Gastroenterology July 2011;141(1):310–9.

#### 64. ALIMENTARY TRACT

- [152] Raghavan S, Miyasaka EA, Gilmont RR, Somara S, Teitelbaum DH, Bitar KN. Perianal implantation of bioengineered human internal anal sphincter constructs intrinsically innervated with human neural progenitor cells. Surgery April 2014;155(4):668–74.
- [153] Rego SL, Zakhem E, Orlando G, Bitar KN. Bioengineered human pyloric sphincters using autologous smooth muscle and neural progenitor cells. Tissue Eng January 2016;22(1–2):151–60.
- [154] Parmar N, Day RM. Appropriately sized bioengineered human external anal sphincter constructs. Surgery January 2015;157(1):177-8.
- [155] Adamina M, Hoch JS, Burnstein MJ. To plug or not to plug: a cost-effectiveness analysis for complex anal fistula. Surgery January 2010; 147(1):72-8.
- [156] Blaker JJ, Pratten J, Ready D, Knowles JC, Forbes A, Day RM. Assessment of antimicrobial microspheres as a prospective novel treatment targeted towards the repair of perianal fistulae. Aliment Pharmacol Ther September 1, 2008;28(5):614–22.
- [157] Howell JC, Wells JM. Generating intestinal tissue from stem cells: potential for research and therapy. Regen Med November 2011;6(6): 743–55.
- [158] Huh D, Kim HJ, Fraser JP, Shea DE, Khan M, Bahinski A, et al. Microfabrication of human organs-on-chips. Nat Protoc November 2013;8(11): 2135–57.
- [159] Schweinlin M, Wilhelm S, Schwedhelm I, Hansmann J, Rietscher R, Jurowich C, et al. Development of an advanced primary human in vitro model of the small intestine. Tissue Eng September 2016;22(9):873–83.
- [160] Chi M, Yi B, Oh S, Park D-J, Sung JH, Park S. A microfluidic cell culture device (μFCCD) to culture epithelial cells with physiological and morphological properties that mimic those of the human intestine. Biomed Microdevices 2015;17(3):9966.
- [161] Pusch J, Votteler M, Göhler S, Engl J, Hampel M, Walles H, et al. The physiological performance of a three-dimensional model that mimics the microenvironment of the small intestine. Biomaterials October 2011;32(30):7469–78.
- [162] Costello CM, Hongpeng J, Shaffiey S, Yu J, Jain NK, Hackam D, et al. Synthetic small intestinal scaffolds for improved studies of intestinal differentiation. Biotechnol Bioeng June 2014;111(6):1222–32.
- [163] Sung JH, Yu J, Luo D, Shuler ML, March JC. Microscale 3-D hydrogel scaffold for biomimetic gastrointestinal (GI) tract model. Lab Chip February 7, 2011;11(3):389–92.
- [164] Costello CM, Sorna RM, Goh Y-L, Cengic I, Jain NK, March JC. 3-D intestinal scaffolds for evaluating the therapeutic potential of probiotics. Mol Pharm July 7, 2014;11(7):2030–9.
- [165] Atala A, Bauer SB, Soker S, Yoo JJ, Retik AB. Tissue-engineered autologous bladders for patients needing cystoplasty. Lancet April 15, 2006; 367(9518):1241-6.

# Extracorporeal Renal Replacement

Christopher J. Pino<sup>1</sup>, H. David Humes<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Innovative Biotherapies, Ann Arbor, MI, United States; <sup>2</sup>University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The kidneys are vital organs that have critical excretory and regulatory roles in maintaining water and electrolyte homeostasis in the body while removing low—molecular weight (MW) toxins. Often overlooked, the kidneys also provide an essential endocrine function because they secrete important signaling molecules that interact with the cardiovascular, skeletal, and immune systems. The kidney was the first organ to be successfully transplanted and is one of the most common and effective transplantation surgeries performed in the world. However, global shortages of donor kidneys have proven to be a major barrier to treating kidney disease, leaving millions of chronic kidney disease patients without total functional replacement.

In the United States, 636,905 patients were listed as having end-stage renal disease (ESRD) at the end of 2012, as reported by the 2014 US Renal Data System (USRDS) database. According to the USRDS report, over 450,000 patients were receiving maintenance dialysis, 186,303 patients had a functioning kidney transplant, and 88,638 ESRD patients died during 2012 [1]. Adjusted rates of all-cause mortality are 6.1–7.8 times greater for dialysis patients than for individuals in the age-matched Medicare population [1]. The incidence rate of ESRD has plateaued and slightly decreased since 2009, with an adjusted incidence rate of 353 per million per year in 2012 [1]. The financial cost of ESRD is immense; spending for ESRD patients increased 3.2% to \$28.6 billion in 2012, accounting for 5.6% of the Medicare budget [1]. A prior USRDS report estimated the cost of \$54,900 per hemodialysis (HD) patient per year and \$46,121 per peritoneal dialysis (PD) patient per year [2]. In contrast, transplant patients cost an average of \$17,227 per patient per year [2]. The higher cost of maintenance dialysis compared with transplantation does not translate into better results; annual mortality for patients listed for transplant and awaiting a kidney is 6.3%, compared with only 3.8% for patients listed for transplant who received a kidney [2]. Although organ transplantation provides the best prognosis for survival, demand vastly outweighs the availability of donated organs. In 2014, the active waiting list was 2.8 times larger than the supply of donor kidneys [3].

Extracorporeal therapies to replace kidney function at least partially include HD, hemofiltration (HF), hemodiafiltration (HDF), and PD. These therapies replace the blood filtration function of the kidney by removing waste products and excess electrolytes via artificial or natural semipermeable membranes in extracorporeal circuits. These methodologies all address water and electrolyte balance as partial functional replacement of the kidney but are prone to various complications such as acidosis, volume overload, and uremic syndromes that accompany renal failure [4]. Conventional therapies fail to provide the lost endocrine functions of the kidney, and thus the metabolic, endocrine, and immunological roles of the functioning kidney are potential mechanisms for the difference in survival for patients who receive kidney transplants.

# **REQUIREMENTS OF A RENAL REPLACEMENT DEVICE**

In the kidney, HF is accomplished by nephrons that generate ultrafiltrate (UF) from blood via glomeruli. Each glomerulus, a tuft of capillaries supported by a basement membrane and specialized epithelial cells called podocytes, is an efficient filter with a molecular weight cutoff (MWCO) of around 65 kDa. This allows for small molecules including small MW toxins such as urea to be removed from the bloodstream, whereas the cellular component of

#### 65. EXTRACORPOREAL RENAL REPLACEMENT

blood and larger proteins including albumin are retained. UF is passed into the renal proximal tubule portion of the nephron, a hollow tube of cells surrounded by capillaries, which receives the filtrate from the glomerulus and accomplishes the bulk of reclamation of salt, water, glucose, small proteins, amino acids, glutathione (GSH), and other substances. A renal replacement device thus must recapitulate the filtration function of the nephron. However, in addition to its role in water—electrolyte balance, the tubule also performs metabolic functions, including excretion of acid as ammonia and hydroxylation of 25-hydroxy-vitamin-D<sub>3</sub> among other metabolic and regulatory functions, which are not supplemented in conventional renal replacement therapies (RRT).

The kidney is responsible for the secretion of hormones that are critical in maintaining hemodynamics (renin, angiotensin II, prostaglandins, nitric oxide, endothelin, and bradykinin), red blood cell production via erythropoietin, and bone metabolism (1,25-[OH]<sub>2</sub>–vitamin D<sub>3</sub> or calcitriol) [5]. Free-radical scavenging and GSH-metabolizing enzymes are synthesized by the kidney, which also provide gluconeogenic and ammoniagenic capabilities [6,7]. Catabolism of low -molecular weight proteins, including multiple peptide hormones, cytokines, and growth factors, is also accomplished by the kidney [8]. The kidney also has a less-recognized immunoregulatory function. Mammalian renal proximal tubule cells (RPTC) are immunologically active. RPTCs are antigen-presenting cells [9] that have costimulatory molecules [10] that synthesize and process a variety of inflammatory cytokines [10,11]. Long overlooked, the kidney is an important immunomodulatory organ. RRT has poor patient prognosis owing to the acute tubular necrosis (ATN) that results in the loss of the kidney's immunoregulatory function. Loss of immunoregulation results in a propensity to develop systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), sepsis, multiple organ dysfunction (MOD), and a high risk for death because of systemic immunologic or inflammatory imbalance. The endocrine and immunologic roles of kidney cells are also important in maintaining kidney and other vital organs' health under stress conditions [12] and are not provided by conventional RRT.

#### DEVICES USED IN CONVENTIONAL RENAL REPLACEMENT THERAPY

Water and solute homeostasis function of the kidney can be practically replaced by various dialysis or filtration methods including HD, HF, HDF, and PD. In these processes, synthetic membranes are used to remove water and solutes selectively based on diffusive or convective transport. In HD, in which solute removal from the blood is driven by a concentration gradient across a membrane, the process is dominated by diffusion. However, solute transfer also occurs to a lesser extent, convectively by a process of ultrafiltration, in which water and solutes move across the membrane [13]. This process is leveraged further in HF, in which pores in semipermeable membranes allow water and solutes across the membrane independent of the concentration gradient, and predominantly on the hydraulic pressure gradient across the membrane, which mimics the filtration function of the nephron. HDF combines HD and HF processes, in which both diffusion and hydraulic pressure are used as driving forces. In PD, similar to HD, solute removal is mainly driven by diffusion across a synthetic membrane; however, instead of solutes being removed directly from blood, solutes are removed from the peritoneal fluid of the patient, which avoids complications of blood access. PD has a higher safety profile, which enables dialysis treatments at home, overnight dialysis, and continuous ambulatory dialysis.

In HD, blood exits the patient's body through a catheter, which is delivered to a dialyzer via tubing and a blood pump (Fig. 65.1A). These dialyzers are commonly filled with hollow fiber membranes formed into a bundle. Within a hollow fiber dialyzer, blood flows through the lumen, the interior of each hollow fiber. Solutes in the blood interact with the fiber's semipermeable membrane, which allows for low-MW solutes such as urea and creatinine to pass through the porous fiber wall into the extracapillary space (ECS) of the dialyzer for removal, whereas blood cells and critical large proteins such as albumin and immunoglobulin are retained in the blood. Dialysate, an aqueous solution administered during dialysis, flows opposite the blood on the other side of the semipermeable membrane in the ECS. The dialysate has various concentrations of solutes that dictate the driving force to remove, retain, or add to solute concentrations in the blood. Movement of the solute is directed from high to low concentration so that toxins are removed and critical electrolytes in the blood are maintained.

In HF, blood is filtered using a pressure difference to drive water and solutes across a semipermeable membrane and into the filtrate compartment. Like dialyzers, hemofilters are routinely filled with hollow fibers. Positive pressure can be applied to the hemofilter's blood compartment (lumen side of the hemofilter) or a negative pressure can be applied to the filtrate compartment (ECS), creating a transmembrane pressure. No dialysate solution is used in HF; rather, the filtrate is collected and discarded and ultrapure replacement solution is administered to the patient to maintain water—solute balance, as shown compared with dialysis in Fig. 65.1B.



FIGURE 65.1 Diagrams of hemodialysis (A) and conventional venovenous hemofiltration (B) methods. UF, ultrafiltrate.

Membrane materials used in dialyzers and hemofilters are diverse, ranging from metals and ceramics to polymers. Critical to the choice of materials for dialysis membranes, biocompatibility with blood is a major concern, as are cost and manufacturing. Synthetic polymers have been the dominant membrane materials used for separation processes owing to combination of these factors. The most common polymers in the manufacturing of synthetic membranes are nondegradable ones, including cellulose derivatives such as cellulose acetate, nitrates, and esters, polysulfones, and their ether-containing derivatives polyethersulfones and polyarylethersulfone, polyacrylonitrile (PAN) derivatives, polyamides, polyimides, polyolefins such as polyethylene and polypropylene, polyvinylchloride, and fluorinated polymers such as polytetrafluoroethylene, and polyvinylidine fluoride.

# ADVANCEMENTS IN CONVENTIONAL RENAL REPLACEMENT THERAPY DEVICES

Besides improvements in biocompatibility, synthetic membranes have been developed to better reproduce the physiologic process of glomerular ultrafiltration. In an attempt to recapitulate glomerular ultrafiltration and removal of "middle molecules," synthetic membranes with larger pore sizes and high water permeability have been developed. These "high-flux" membranes are commonly prepared with hydrophobic base materials, along with various hydrophilic components. These membranes can be mass produced, with wide ranges of hydraulic permeabilities for various treatments [14].

Pore size, therefore, is a critical issue in hemofilter design. Conventional polymeric membranes are typically cast or spun from polymers in solution, resulting in a heterogeneous dispersion of pore sizes and geometries within fibers or sheets, with ill-defined MWCO. New techniques using a nanoscale spinning process to control pore size, resulting in an increased uniformity of pores with desired values [15].

Based upon this technology, the main focus of recent membrane development has been to increase pore size while sharpening the MWCO of high-flux membranes to maximize removal of low MW proteins. This direction is based upon the idea that removal of a distinct class of uremic toxins, such as β2-microglobulin and myoglobin, while minimizing the loss of albumin could improve treatment outcomes of patients with ESRD. Superflux or protein-leaking membranes, provide greater clearances for low MW proteins and small protein-bound solutes, but with significantly higher loss of albumin than high-flux dialysis membranes. Other determinants of dialyzer performance may include: fiber bundle configuration, spacing, and sterilization techniques [16].

Membranes typically used today are purely artificial and are used in the form of hollow fiber modules, commonly based on cellulose or synthetic polymers, including polysulfone, PAN, and polyamide, used as such or modified with a variety of agents [17–19]. However, research in biomaterials and tissue engineering holds promise for significant future improvements. Improvements in membrane biocompatibility have reduced inflammatory reactions, but

#### 65. EXTRACORPOREAL RENAL REPLACEMENT

off-the-shelf polymeric materials still induce a cascade of biochemical events leading to blood coagulation, thrombus formation, and often complement activation and inflammation. Systemic administration of anticoagulant such as heparin is required to solve these problems. However, the use of anticoagulants, may lead to additional complications such as hemorrhage, and thus researchers are trying to improve anticoagulation therapy by finding alternative antithrombotic agents such as hirudin [20] and methods of administration, such as the direct incorporation of bioactive agents onto the polymeric membrane itself [21], such as vitamin E or heparin [22].

Conventional membranes remove solutes only on the basis of molecular size, whereas the glomerulus also employs charge selectivity by the basement membrane. This nonselective nature of conventional membranes is another limitation to overcome. One possible solution to this problem is to grow cells on the hemofilter membrane to improve the selectivity of the membrane. Another approach is the design of "smart" membranes that have selective transport characteristics and contain a predetermined number and size of nonpassive nanoengineered pores that have specific interactions with solutes and solvents at the atomic level [23].

Despite improvements in membrane technologies allowing for more efficient dialysis, HF, or diafiltration therapies, all are suboptimal treatments for both acute kidney injury (AKI) and ESRD. These therapies do not meet the medical need to reduce mortality caused by AKI. Even in ESRD, the outcomes of patients receiving chronic dialysis therapy are still disappointing, with an annual mortality exceeding 25%, on average and a drastically shortened life expectancy of only 5 years [24]. Several groups have reported that the survival of critically ill patients with AKI could be improved by intensifying the dose of RRT [25–27], but the initial excitement generated by these reports has waned after studies demonstrated that the dialysis dose does not closely relate to outcomes [28–30].

#### **RENAL ASSIST DEVICE: A MORE COMPLETE RENAL REPLACEMENT THERAPY**

Complete RRT should replace metabolic and endocrine functions of the kidney not supplied by conventional RRT. One such approach, called the renal assist device (RAD), used living cells supported on synthetic scaffolds [31]. In this bioengineered device, nondegradable scaffolding materials were employed to provide physical support for renal cells grown within the device. The RAD was constructed using renal tubule progenitor cells [32,33] cultured on semipermeable polymeric hollow fiber membranes (polysulfone) on which an extracellular matrix was layered to enhance the attachment and growth of the epithelial cells [34] (Fig. 65.2A). These porous hollow-fiber synthetic membranes not only provide the architectural scaffold for these cells and allow for delivery of nutrients to support the cells, they provide immunoprotection during therapy, preventing potential immunologic reactions in patients or compromise of the cell device by the patient's immune system. With appropriate membranes, immunoprotection of cultured progenitor cells can be achieved concurrent with long-term functional performance as long as conditions support tubule cell viability [31].

In vitro experiments have tested transport and metabolic functions of the RAD using renal proximal tubule progenitor cells grown inside the lumen of hollow fiber devices with membrane surface areas of 97 cm<sup>2</sup> to 0.7 m<sup>2</sup>, resulting in a device containing up to  $10^8-10^9$  cells [35]. The nonbiodegradability and pore size of the hollow fibers allowed the membranes to act as both scaffolds for the cells and an immunoprotective barrier. Confluent monolayer cells within the RAD exhibited morphological characteristics typical of differentiated tubule epithelia including apical microvilli, endocytic vesicles, and tight junctional complexes, as well as differentiated active transport properties, differentiated metabolic activities, and important endocrine processes [35]. RPTC cultured in the RAD were found to maintain their ability to synthesize and excrete ammonia, produce  $1,25-(OH)_2$ -vitamin D<sub>3</sub> (the active form of vitamin D), and, through metabolic degradation, remove GSH from the perfusate. Taken together, these results suggested that the RAD had the ability to replicate the major differentiated transport, metabolic, and secretory functions performed by the healthy renal proximal tubule.

To assess the potential clinical translation of this technology, large-animal studies were undertaken using an RAD consisting of renal proximal tubule progenitor cells. In brief, dialysate from a conventional dialysis circuit can be passed into the RAD as a nutrient and oxygen source for the cells grown on the membrane. The membrane is both water- and solute-permeable, allowing for differentiated vectorial transport and metabolic and endocrine activity provided by the cells, and processed dialysate is discarded. Immunoprotection of cultured progenitor cells is achieved concurrent with long-term functional performance as long as conditions support tubule cell viability. In studies with acutely uremic dogs after bilateral nephrectomies, the RAD demonstrated replacement of filtration, transport, metabolic, and endocrine functions of the kidney [35–37]. Animals were treated with either an RAD or a sham control cartridge daily for either 7 or 9 h for 3 successive days or for 24 h continuously. Fluid and small solutes, including blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine, and electrolytes, were adequately controlled in both groups, but



FIGURE 65.2 Depiction of renal assist device (RAD) (A), selective cytopheretic device (B), and bioartificial renal epithelial cell system (C) devices.

potassium and BUN levels were more easily controlled by RAD treatment. Furthermore, active reabsorption of K<sup>+</sup>,  $HCO_3^-$ , and glucose and excretion of ammonia were accomplished only in RAD treatments. Glutathione reclamation from UF exceeded 50% in the RAD. Finally, uremic animals receiving cell therapy attained normal 1,25-(OH)<sub>2</sub>- vitamin D<sub>3</sub> levels, whereas sham treatment resulted in a further decline from the already low plasma levels. Thus, these experiments clearly showed that the combination of an HF cartridge and an RAD in an extracorporeal circuit successfully replaced filtration, transport, and metabolic and endocrinological functions of the kidney in acutely uremic dogs [35–37].

Additional animal experiments in a porcine model investigated the impact of treatment with this device on the high mortality of sepsis complicated by AKI [38].

# RENAL ASSIST DEVICE THERAPY OF ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY CAUSED BY SEPSIS

To examine the impact of cell therapy on the course of sepsis complicated by renal failure [38,39], a porcine model of septic shock was developed from the previous work [40,41]. Purpose-bred pigs were anesthetized and administered an intraperitoneal dose of bacteria, causing shock and renal failure. An hour later, continuous venovenous hemofiltration (CVVH) was initiated with either cell or sham RAD. Urine output and mean arterial pressure (MAP) declined within the first few hours after insult. Cell-treated animals survived  $9.0 \pm 0.83$  h versus  $5.1 \pm 0.4$  h ( $P \le .005$ ) for sham-treated animals. Serum cytokines were similar between the two groups, with the striking exception of interleukin (IL)-6 and interferon (IFN)-gamma. Treatment with the cell RAD resulted in significantly lower plasma levels of both IL-6 ( $P \le .04$ ) and INF-gamma ( $P \le .02$ ) throughout the experimental time course compared with sham RAD exposure. This controlled trial of cell therapy of renal failure in a realistic animal model of sepsis had several findings not immediately expected from a priori assumptions regarding renal function. Previously, although renal failure was strongly associated with a poor outcome in hospitalized patients, and chronic renal failure was associated with specific defects in humoral and cellular immunity, a direct immunomodulatory effect of

the kidney had not been accepted. In this trial, clear differences in survival and clear differences in a serum cytokine associated with mortality in sepsis were found between groups. The increased mortality in renal failure appears to be not attributable to inadequate solute clearance, but may arise from other bioactivity of the kidney.

Studies in both dogs and pigs have demonstrated that RAD treatment in a bioartificial kidney circuit improves cardiovascular performance associated with changes in cytokine profiles and confers a significant survival advantage in septic or endotoxin animal models [38,39,42].

# CLINICAL EXPERIENCE WITH A RENAL ASSIST DEVICE TO TREAT ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY

Encouraging preclinical data led to US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for an investigational new drug and Phase I/II clinical trials. The first human clinical study of the bioartificial kidney containing human cells was carried out in 10 intensive care unit (ICU) patients with AKI receiving CVVH [43]. This study demonstrated that the RAD can be used safely for up to 24 h. Cardiovascular stability was maintained and increased native renal function, as determined by elevated urine outputs, was temporally correlated with RAD treatment. All patients were critically ill with AKI and multiple organ failure (MOF), with predicted hospital mortality rates between 80% and 95%. Six of the ten treated patients survived past 30 days, with mortality reduced to 40%. The human renal tubule cells contained in the RAD demonstrated differentiated metabolic and endocrinologic activity in this ex vivo situation, including GSH degradation and endocrinologic conversion of 25-OH–vitamin D<sub>3</sub> to 1,25-(OH)<sub>2</sub>–vitamin D<sub>3</sub>. Plasma cytokine levels suggest that RAD therapy produces dynamic and individualized responses in patients, depending on their unique pathophysiologic conditions. For the subset of patients who had excessive proinflammatory levels, RAD treatment resulted in significant declines in granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), IL-6, IL-10, and especially the IL-6/IL-10 ratio, suggesting a greater decline in IL-6 relative to IL-10 levels and a less proinflammatory state. These favorable Phase I/II trial results led to a randomized, controlled, open-label Phase II trial conducted at 12 clinical sites in the United States [30]. A total of 58 patients with ARF requiring CVVH in the ICU were randomized (2:1) to receive CVVH plus RAD (n = 40) or CVVH alone (n = 18). Despite the critical nature and life-threatening illnesses of the patients enrolled in this study, the addition of the RAD to CVVH resulted in a substantial clinical impact on survival compared with the conventional CVVH treatment group. RAD treatment for up to 72 h promoted a statistically significant survival advantage over 180 d of follow-up in ICU patients with AKI and demonstrated an acceptable safety profile. Cox proportional hazards models suggested that the risk for death was approximately 50% of that observed in the CVVH-alone group.

A follow-up Phase IIb study to evaluate a commercial manufacturing process was not completed owing to difficulties with the manufacturing process and clinical study design, which identified two key missing components for successful commercialization of cell-based therapy: (1) a reliable cell source to manufacture thousands of cell devices, and (2) a cost-effective storage and distribution process for cell devices.

# IMMUNOMODULATORY EFFECT OF THE RENAL ASSIST DEVICE

As described earlier, RAD treatment altered systemic circulating cytokine levels in animal and human experiments. In endotoxin-challenged and gram-negative peritonitis uremic dog models, plasma levels of IL-10 were significantly higher in RAD-treated animals [38,39]. The role of IL-10 in regulating immune response continues to be elucidated, but data suggest that IL-10 levels influence outcome in endotoxin shock and gram-negative sepsis. Several reports have demonstrated that administration of recombinant IL-10 is protective against gram-negative septic shock in murine sepsis models [44,45]. Another study in a similar model demonstrated that administration of antibodies to IL-10 was associated with higher mortality [46]. The mechanism underlying the link between proximal tubule function and IL-10 levels remains to be detailed, but preliminary data suggest that renal production of IL-6 induces liver production of IL-10 [47]. In gram-negative septic pigs without nephrectomy, RAD treatment significantly reduced plasma circulating levels of IL-6 and INF-gamma [42]. The difference in IL-6 concentrations is especially noteworthy because the plasma elevations of this proinflammatory cytokine have been directly correlated to outcome in patients with SIRS [48]. The lower concentration of plasma INF-gamma may be important owing to its central role in the inflammatory response. INF-gamma stimulates B-cell antibody production, enhances polymorpholeukocyte phagocytosis, and activates monocytes and macrophages to release proinflammatory cytokines

#### SELECTIVE CYTOPHERETIC DEVICE

[49–51]. Excessive rates of INF-gamma production by natural killer cells have correlated with progression to lethal endotoxin shock in mice [52]. Further support for an immunomodulatory role of renal tubule cells has been suggested in the Phase I/II clinical trial of the RAD containing human renal tubule cells [53]. Patients treated in this study had a wide spectrum of plasma cytokine levels. The subset of patients who presented with very high plasma cytokine levels and who were treated for an adequate period showed that RAD treatment resulted in significant reductions in G-CSF, IL-6, and IL-10 levels. The greater relative reduction in the IL-6/IL-10 ratio suggests that renal tubule cell therapy may rebalance the excessive proinflammatory response with the concurrent antiinflammatory response. These results are consistent with an immunomodulatory role for the RAD in patients with ATN and MOF. To evaluate the RAD's influence further on local inflammation in tissue and distant organ dysfunction, especially in the lungs, a study compared bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid from cell-RAD-treated and noncell, shamtreated groups in a pig model with septic shock with AKI [54]. The levels of total protein in BAL were significantly higher in sham control animals than in the RAD group (143  $\pm$  11 compared with 78  $\pm$  10  $\mu$ g/mL, respectively; P > .05). Proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 and IL-8, were markedly elevated in the control group. These results demonstrate an important role for renal epithelial cells (RECs) in ameliorating multiorgan injury in sepsis by influencing microvascular injury and the local proinflammatory response. A more promising direction to improve the outcome of AKI is to better understand and interrupt the pathophysiologic processes that are activated in AKI, resulting in distant MOD and eventually death. AKI results in a profound inflammatory response state resulting in microvascular dysfunction in distant organs [55,56]. Leukocyte activation has a central role in these acute inflammatory states. Disruption of the activation process of circulating leukocytes may limit microvascular damage and MOD [57]. The RAD appears to influence systemic leukocyte activation and the balance of inflammatory cytokines and may alter the proinflammatory state of AKI and ultimately improve morbidity and mortality.

Our group has developed a novel synthetic membrane embedded in an extracorporeal device to bind and inhibit circulating leukocytes. This selective cytopheretic device (SCD) is an acellular device that mimics many of the immunomodulatory aspects of the RAD. The SCD improved septic shock survival times in preclinical animal models [58] and improved the survival outcome of ICU patients with MOF in a prospective, single-arm, single-center study [59], a prospective, single-arm, multicenter US study [60], and a randomized, multicenter clinical trial in which SCDtherapy patients were maintained within recommended ionized calcium (riCa) range [61].

#### SELECTIVE CYTOPHERETIC DEVICE

SCD therapy is an acellular device-based, extracorporeal blood treatment in which a patient's blood is passed through a hemofilter followed by an SCD setup in series (Fig. 65.2B) while regional citrate anticoagulation is administered. The proprietary circuit [62] was designed to combine small solute clearance by the HF portion of the circuit, whereas the SCD portion provides immunomodulation via a low—shear stress (SS) environment for blood cells passing by the fibers within the SCD. SS encountered by blood cells within a hemofilter is greater than arterial SS in the body (>30 dyn/cm<sup>2</sup>), whereas SS encountered within the SCD approximates capillary SS (<1 dyn/cm<sup>2</sup>), which provides an environment for leukocyte adherence [63]. The SCD was evaluated in a porcine model of *Escherichia coli*—induced septic shock and demonstrated increased survival time for SCD-treated groups [64], along with an ability to lower neutrophil activity (serum myeloperoxidase and CD11b cell-surface expression) and diminish neutrophil tissue invasion [58].

In several clinical trials for the treatment of patients with AKI and MOD, SCD treatment affected multiple leukocyte activation parameters, lowered proinflammatory cytokines, and elevated antiinflammatory cytokines [59,60,65]. In a later Phase I/II clinical trial for the treatment of AKI, 19 patients received SCD therapy (CVVH plus SCD) and maintained a postfilter ionized calcium level in the protocol's recommended riCa range ( $\leq 0.4 \text{ mmol/L}$ ) for 90% or more of the therapy; this resulted in a 60-day mortality of 16% (3 of 19) compared with control subjects (CVVH alone) and a mortality of 41% (11 of 27) (P = .07) [61]. Furthermore, for patients treated with SCD within riCa, dialysis dependence was significantly lower: 0% (none of 16) compared with control patients: 25% (4 of 16) (P = .03) [61]. Ongoing studies are evaluating dose–response effects and full elucidation of the mechanism of action of this device.

The SCD may provide a novel approach to the immune dysregulation in ESRD. This approach may be further tested in clinical studies as an innovative intervention to ameliorate the chronic proinflammatory state of ESRD and retard accelerated atherogenesis associated with chronic renal failure [66]. A pilot trial was undertaken to explore the impact of SCD therapy in ESRD patients, with 15 ESRD patients receiving HD with C-reactive protein (CRP) levels greater than 5 mg/dL. An excellent safety profile was observed for SCD therapy with no decline in

leukocyte or platelet counts. Monocyte (MO) phenotypes in these patients was determined for peripheral blood MO using flow cytometry. SCD therapy promoted a shift in MO phenotype from predominantly CD14 expressing MO at baseline or before SCD therapy to CD14 expressing MO after SCD therapy [67]. A significant shift in MO population phenotype afforded by a single SCD therapy session was observed (P < .013) [67]. In a subset of patients (n = 7) presenting with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D), this persistent decline in MO CD14 expression was sustained for as long as 2 weeks after therapy [67]. These results demonstrate that SCD therapy has the potential to modulate the chronic proinflammatory state in ESRD patients.

Following up on the finding in ESRD patients with T2D, SCD therapy was evaluated in an Ossabaw miniature swine model of insulin resistance with metabolic syndrome. Treatment with the SCD in this porcine model demonstrated a decline in circulating neutrophil activation parameters and MO counts [68]. These changes were associated with improvements in insulin resistance as determined with intravenous glucose tolerance testing [68]. Improvements were also reflected in the lowering of homeostatic model assessment insulin-resistant scores for up to 2 weeks after SCD therapy [68]. These promising findings allow for the planning of clinical studies for new indications, including treatment of obese T2D patients not presenting with ESRD. Other potential indications for SCD treatment may include other disease states associated with acute or chronic inflammation, including patients receiving cardio-pulmonary bypass [69].

#### CHALLENGE OF CELL-BASED DEVICE: ROBUST CELL SOURCE

To continue to pursue a cell-based device and move past manufacturing hurdles that hindered RAD development, a robust cell supply needed to be developed although human donor tissue is limited; focus was directed toward improving renal cell yield per human kidney. An enhanced propagation (EP) method to expand renal epithelial progenitor cells from available adult human kidney transplant discards was successfully developed and implemented to provide the biomass necessary for renal cell-based therapeutics [70]. The EP method was successful in generating renal progenitor cells using kidneys from a wide range of donors, including suboptimal health profiles consisting of long-term diabetes, hypertension, age greater than 70 years, donation after cardiac death with prolonged warm ischemia, and one donor with ESRD receiving dialysis for over 2 years. Under EP, cell yields are consistently higher than  $10^{11}$  cells/g cortex enabling the manufacture of over 100,000 devices per donor kidney for use in acute disease indications. In addition, greater than  $1.8 \times 10^{10}$  progenitor cells/g cortex were isolated from the one ESRD kidney tested, which strongly supports the hypothesis that autologous therapy may be possible using cells derived from a renal sample taken early in the course of chronic renal failure. In this regard, a conservative 0.1-g renal cortex sample excised from an ESRD patient would allow the fabrication of at least 18 devices containing up to 10° cells/unit. Cells isolated under EP method compared favorably with respect to metabolic function and morphologic phenotype with cells used in the RAD therapy clinical trials. Cryopreservation of the EP-isolated REC, which is necessary to allow for processing of these large cell yields, has been advanced using FDA-compliant procedures. Cell death postthaw has been minimized, with therapeutic potential of progenitor-derived REC conserved as evaluated using a surrogate efficacy panel consisting of lipopolysaccharide-stimulated IL8 secretion and *g*GT enzyme activity.

# CHALLENGE: COST-EFFECTIVE STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION FOR CELL DEVICES, BIOARTIFICIAL RENAL EPITHELIAL CELL SYSTEM DESIGN

A major obstacle in the widespread adoption of renal cell therapy to augment RRT is the lack of an "off-the-shelf," readily available system for on-demand use. Distribution, storage, and preparation for therapeutic use at point-of-care facilities have long stood as the major impediments to tissue engineered therapies [71]. The bioartificial renal epithelial cell system (BRECS), shown in Fig. 65.2C, is the first all-in-one cell culture vessel that can be cryopreserved and function as a cryostorage device and a cell therapy delivery system [72] to overcome this critical barrier to tissue engineered products' clinical translation [71].

The BRECS was designed to achieve the support of a much greater density of cells in a much lower fill volume of the previous RAD design [72], along with the capacity to cryopreserve the full unit to facilitate distribution. The polysulfone hollow fibers used as the scaffold in the previous RAD design were limited in the cell attachment surface area and were prone to fracture during cryopreservation and thaw processes, a critical element for storage and

distribution of a cell therapy device. The cell-seeding scaffold chosen for the BRECS, niobium-coated carbon disks (Cytomatrix, Woburn, MA), was selected based on its biologically inert, nonbiodegradable, and favorable thermomechanical properties for cryopreservation. Cell culture media containing oxygen and nutrients were perfused through and around the porous disks housed within the BRECS. Growth of adequate cell numbers to achieve a therapeutic impact was possible owing to the disks' high surface area. High porosity (80–90%) allowed for sufficient, homogeneous delivery of oxygen and nutrients to the cells on the disks through a balance of convective and diffusive flows across and through the scaffold. The other BRECS components, including the polycarbonate housing and gasket materials, were carefully selected and thoroughly tested to withstand cryogenic temperatures while maintaining an uncompromised sterile internal BRECS environment.

Many different BRECS prototypes were evaluated during its development phase. In brief, prototypes were manufactured using computer numeric code machining, which allowed for initial evaluation of the combined perfusion culture and cell therapy platform. This device demonstrated uniform flow distribution during in vitro perfusion and all device components remained intact, with no indication of degradation over 6 months. Further advancements to BRECS technology had progressed through BRECS prototypes made by stereolithography toward an injectionmolded design that can be mass produced [73].

In vitro cell viability and metabolic activity were confirmed in the BRECS by measuring lactate production and oxygen consumption [72]. Both metrics of metabolism were consistent throughout the duration of perfusion culture, with an interpolated total cell number of  $2 \times 10^8$  cells. The average oxygen consumption rate was similar to previously reported values for metabolically active cells [31]. To determine whether RECs in BRECS maintained renal differentiated phenotypic characteristics over time in perfusion culture, human REC-seeded disks from BRECS units were processed for immunohistochemical analysis of selected renal cell differentiated markers acetylated tubulin (AT-1) and zona occludens (ZO-1). AT-1, a marker for apical central cilia of proximal tubule cells, exhibited regular staining in central regions of cells grown on disks. ZO-1, a marker for epithelial tight junctions, displayed strong expression along the surface of the cells. ZO-1—positive tight junctions and punctate AT-1—positive central cilia indicate polarized epithelium and were evident in all disks tested. Renal cell-specific catabolic function of the BRECS was confirmed by assessing GSH degradation in supplemented perfusion media [72]. GSH degradation rates in BRECS remained stable over 90-day studies, indicating long-term, sustained differentiated renal cell function in the device.

Using a cryopreservation protocol employing commercially available cryopreparative solutions (HTS-Purge, Biolife Solutions, Bothell, WA) and crypreservation (CryoStor 10, Biolife Solutions, Bothell, WA), BRECS were cryopreserved with high average cell retention and high average cell viability for human REC-seeded disks [72]. Cells after cryopreservation were shown to maintain renal cell-specific metabolic functions and retain renal cell-differentiated markers AT-1, and ZO-1, which suggested that the BRECS should provide renal cell-specific metabolic supplementation when used in conjunction with conventional RRT.

These data demonstrate that the BRECS is the first single device that can serve as a culture vessel to maintain cells, can reach cryopreservation temperatures as a full unit, and finally, can be reconstituted to provide cell therapy [72,73]. Having this storage capacity makes both emergent and acute use feasible.

Functionally, the BRECS replicates many of the metabolic replacement functions of the kidney in a way similar to that of the previous RAD. However, because of differences in materials and design, the BRECS does not replicate the molecular transport control of the RAD.

# BIOARTIFICIAL RENAL EPITHELIAL CELL SYSTEM AS AN EXTRACORPOREAL THERAPY TO TREAT ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY

Following the same clinical translation path as the RAD, the BRECS was then tested in large-animal models to determine the safety profile and potential efficacy. In an acute septic shock—associated MOD porcine model, intraperitoneal administration of high-dose *E. coli* resulted in a decline in arterial blood pressure along with a reduction in vital organ perfusion. Without intervention, acellular control animal survival time was  $7.6 \pm 0.5$  h [74]. Animals receiving BRECS therapy surviving through the predetermined study end point of 16 h were assigned a survival time value of 16 h. Average survival time for the BRECS-treated group was  $13.0 \pm 0.9$  h (*P* < .001), which was significantly extended compared with the acellular cohort [74]. Furthermore, MAP and cardiac output (CO) declined over the septic time course for both acellular and BRECS treated groups. However, both MAP and CO were better maintained in BRECS-treated animals [74]. Hematocrit measurements demonstrated stabilization of capillary leak in BRECS-treated group whereas hematocrit increased rapidly in acellular controls. Studies show that no adverse



FIGURE 65.3 Diagram of bioartificial renal epithelial cell system (BRECS) extracorporeal circuit. UF, ultrafiltrate.

reactions attributable to the BRECS have been recorded. A schematic of a proposed BRECS therapy circuit for potential human clinical trials is depicted in Fig. 65.3.

# WEARABLE BIOARTIFICIAL KIDNEY IN PRECLINICAL END-STAGE RENAL DISEASE MODEL

The development of cell therapy for treating chronic kidney disease such as ESRD has a number of technical challenges including the critical requirement of durable cell therapy and device longevity. One approach being developed is a wearable bioartificial kidney (WeBAK), which uses sorbent technology to regenerate peritoneal dialysate, which is perfused through the BRECS, to maintain cells within the cell therapy device. Similar to using UF to sustain RAD and BRECS in circuits with the patient's blood to treat AKI, dialysate is used as a nutrient and oxygen source for cells in the BRECS for the WeBAK. A large-animal ovine model was developed to evaluate BRECS supported by PD. Anephric sheep received continuous-flow PD in an extracorporeal circuit including the BRECS or acellular sham devices for up to 7 days, during which metabolic, immunologic, and endocrinologic parameters were evaluated [75]. Uremic control was achieved using continuous-flow PD. Cell viability and metabolic activity were maintained over the duration of treatment via the extracorporeal peritoneal fluid environment [75].

Although the WeBAK has not yet been evaluated in clinical studies for long-term use in ESRD, renal cell therapy paired with conventional RRT delivered from an extracorporeal circuit holds promise as a developing technology. A clinical trial failed to show survival benefit from increased doses of HD above standard care for uremic control [76], confirming that no benefit is likely to be achieved through conventional dialysis approaches to treat ESRD. Patients with ESRD display elevated levels of CRP and proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor [77–79]. All of these parameters are associated with enhanced mortality in ESRD patients. Specifically, IL-6 has been identified as a single predictive factor closely correlated with mortality in HD patients [77]. Although all ESRD patients could conceivably benefit from a bioartificial kidney, patients in the inflammatory stage who display elevated levels of chronic inflammation markers (such as IL-6 and CRP) would likely benefit most. Clinical translation will address long-term cell durability, biocompatibility, and administration protocols and additional accessory equipment required for bioartificial kidney therapy.

# COMPLETE BIOARTIFICIAL KIDNEY SYSTEM FOR USE IN END-STAGE RENAL DISEASE

For the ESRD patient population, there are obvious limitations to using an extracorporeal RAD connected to an HF circuit. Ideally, a bioartificial kidney suitable for long-term use in ESRD patients would be capable of performing continuously, like the native kidney, to reduce risks from fluctuations in volume status, electrolytes, and solute concentrations and maintain acid—base and uremic toxin regulation. Such treatment requires the design and manufacture of a compact implantable or wearable dialysis apparatus and the development of miniaturized renal tubule cell devices with long service lifetimes.

Attempts have been made to develop wearable dialysis systems to improve the portability of RRT. Gura et al. published research regarding a lightweight wearable, continuous ambulatory ultrafiltration device consisting of a hollow fiber hemofilter, a battery-operated pulsatile pump, and two micropumps to control heparin administration and ultrafiltration [80]. This device regenerates dialysate with activated carbon, immobilized urease, zirconium hydroxide, and zirconium phosphate, similar to the once commercially available REDY dialysis system. Ronco and Fecondini described a wearable continuous PD system consisting of a double-lumen dialysate line with a peritoneal catheter, a miniaturized rotary pump, a circuit for dialysate regeneration, and a handheld computer as a remote control [81]. These systems still rely on inconvenient dialysate and expensive dialysis regeneration devices and/or dialyzers, but they promise to improve the convenience of dialysis.

In contrast to wearable dialysis systems, a hybrid bioartificial kidney integrates tubule cell and filtration functions. The first bioartificial kidney, consisting of a passive hemofilter and an active renal tubule cell bioreactor, has consistently demonstrated excellent safety and effectiveness in animal studies and FDA-approved human clinical trials, as described previously [16,30,42,53]. A major drawback of the current version of the bioartificial kidney is its large size, owing to the requisite extracorporeal circuit with peristaltic pumps to provide driving pressure for HF.

A new smaller and more durable RAD is being developed by Humes and colleagues. In collaboration, Fissell and colleagues are developing a nanopore membrane [82] to replace the filtration function of the glomerulus without the hemofilters and mechanical pumps of existing dialysis machines. A filtration device based on nanopore membrane technology would be implantable [83]. Further refinement of the RAD would be encouraging for ESRD patients because in principle, such a tissue-engineered device could be free of dialysate or replacement fluid while providing functions of healthy kidney that are not offered by current dialysis strategies. The combination of cell therapy and solute clearance could be a viable RRT, conferring dialysis independence to the patient.

# FUTURE ADVANCEMENTS FOR WEARABLE AND AMBULATORY RENAL REPLACEMENT THERAPIES

Critical to the success of wearable and ambulatory RRT, including a wearable artificial kidney, a number of technical hurdles remain to be overcome, including creating a miniaturized, automated, safe dialysis platform to enable portability. Complex systems including multiple sensor feedback with real-time response capability would be required for combined cell therapy to augment conventional uremic toxin clearance and ensure proper cell maintenance within the cell therapy device and safe water—electrolyte balance for the patient concurrently. Real-time sensor technologies such as esophageal Doppler monitoring and peripheral waveform analysis may provide the basis for measures of central hemodynamic parameters critical to therapy. Likewise, bioimpedance and hematocrit monitoring may provide the basis for measuring changes in blood volume, because various techniques have been deployed in outpatient maintenance HD [84]. Chemical-field effect transistors offer the possibility of measuring electrolyte levels in a protein-free UF and reading out the potassium level to patients, who could then alter their diet or treat themselves with potassium-absorbing resins. Flow probes to determine the flow rate within the extracorporeal circuit and pressure sensors with safety features will be required for clinical implementation. Similar to portable or ambulatory PD systems described in literature, a WeBAK system would likely require a central processing and control unit that would receive information from sensors and determine actions for clinical management and control of the therapeutic circuit.

Other important steps toward a fully functional WeBAK include miniaturization of critical components such as pumps and power supplies or batteries. Each component of the completed system that requires power would have to be supplied by high—energy density battery packs. Technological advances in batteries and efficiency of electrical components such as pump motors and central processing units should enable a wearable dialysis system with cell therapy in the relatively near future. Although no wearable dialysis system exists, advancements in pump

miniaturization and technology to reduce the volume of regenerated dialysate during continuous portable PD are important steps to an engineered solution [85–88].

With regard to the biological component of a WeBAK, the durability of cell-based therapy suggests that the cell device itself could be maintained for at least 6 months under ideal temperature and nutrient conditions in a chronic use application without the need for replacement, which is ideal for treating ESRD with a continuous PD circuit [75].

# CONCLUSION

Despite all of the advances in extracorporeal RRT, a portable, continuous, dialysate-free artificial kidney device has not yet been developed, which remains the ultimate goal of this technological progress. The enabling platform technologies discussed in this review can be seen as steps toward this overall goal from theoretical designs to prototypes evaluated on the laboratory bench, and to medical products used at the bedside. Future research requires an integrative, multidisciplinary approach to enable technologies to be brought together and tested in preparation for clinical translation. High priority must be given to sensing and regulating extracellular fluid volume, with feedback mechanisms to adjust ultrafiltration and reabsorption by the bioartificial kidney. Also, patient safety must be ensured when monitoring other critical aspects of therapy and fail-safe mechanisms to avoid acidosis or uremic syndromes.

The critical building blocks of an autonomous bioartificial kidney are advancing rapidly; revolutionary clinical trials are under way at multiple medical centers. The technologies that will enable advances to a more autonomous, dialysate-free system are under development. In addition, progress has been made in the field of cryopreservation, and thus the ability to manufacture, store, and distribute bioartificial organs is advancing. We will likely see quantum advances in renal replacement in the very near future.

#### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

**AKI** Acute kidney injury **ARF** Acute renal failure AT-1 Acetylated tubulin-1 ATN Acute tubular necrosis BAL Bronchoalveolar lavage BRECS Bioartificial renal epithelial cell system **BUN** Blood urea nitrogen CA Cellulose acetate CO Cardiac output CRP C-reactive protein CVVH Continuous venovenous hemofiltration ECS Extracapillary space **EP** Enhanced propagation ESRD End-stage renal disease FDA U.S. Food and Drug Administration G-CSF Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor **GSH** Glutathione **HD** Hemodialysis HDF Hemodiafiltration HF Hemofiltration ICU Intensive care unit IFN Interferon IL Interleukin MAP Mean arterial pressure MO Monocyte MOF Multiple organ failure MW Molecular weight MWCO Molecular weight cut off PAN Polyacrylonitrile PD Peritoneal dialysis PTFE Polytetrafluoroethylene RAD Renal assist device REC Renal epithelial cell riCa Recommended ionized calcium

RPTC Renal proximal tubule cell RRT Renal replacement therapy SCD Selective cytopheretic device SIRS Systemic inflammatory response syndrome SS Shear stress T2D Type 2 diabetes UF Ultrafiltrate USRDS United States renal data system WeBAK Wearable bioartificial kidney ZO-1 Zona occludens-1

#### Glossary

Hemodialysis membrane A synthetic membrane used in dialysis that is employed to separate toxins from the blood through a diffusiondominated process.

Hemofiltration membrane A synthetic membrane used in filtration of the blood to remove toxins in a process dominated by hydraulic pressure.

High-flux membrane A membrane used in hemofiltration with larger pores and higher hydraulic conductivity than conventional membranes, which allows for the removal of higher—molecular weight toxins.

Synthetic membrane A fabricated structure that enables the separation of mixtures. Conventional membranes accomplish this separation based on molecular size, because lower—molecular weight species are able to pass through pores in the membrane.

# References

- United States Renal Data System. USRDS annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2014.
- [2] United States Renal Data System. USRDS annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2004.
- [3] United States Renal Data System. USRDS annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2016.
- [4] Faubel S, Shah PB. Immediate consequences of acute kidney injury: the impact of traditional and nontraditional complications on mortality in acute kidney injury. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2016;23(3):179–85.
- [5] Stadnyk AW. Cytokine production by epithelial cells. FASEB J 1994;8(13):1041-7.
- [6] Deneke SM, Fanburg BL. Regulation of cellular glutathione. Am J Physiol 1989;257(4):L163-73.
- [7] Tannen RL, Sastrasinh S. Response of ammonia metabolism to acute acidosis. Kidney Int 1984;25(1):1-10.
- [8] Maack T. Renal handling of proteins and polypeptides. In: Windhager EE, editor. Handbook of physiology. New York: Oxford University Press; 1992. p. 2039–118.
- [9] Bishop GA, Waugh JA, Hall BM. Expression of HLA antigens on renal tubular cells in culture. II. Effect of increased HLA antigen expression on tubular cell stimulation of lymphocyte activation and on their vulnerability to cell-mediated lysis. Transplantation 1988;46(2):303–10.
- [10] Wahl P, et al. Renal tubular epithelial expression of the costimulatory molecule B7RP-1 (inducible costimulator ligand). J Am Soc Nephrol 2002;13(6):1517–26.
- [11] Prodjosudjadi W, et al. Production and cytokine-mediated regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 by human proximal tubular epithelial cells. Kidney Int 1995;48(5):1477–86.
- [12] Humes HD. Bioartificial kidney for full renal replacement therapy. Semin Nephrol 2000;20(1):71-82.
- [13] Colton CK, et al. Kinetics of hemodiafiltration. I. In vitro transport characteristics of a hollow-fiber blood ultrafilter. J Lab Clin Med 1975;85(3): 355–71.
- [14] Hoenich NA, Katopodis KP. Haemodialysis membranes: a matter of fact or taste? Contrib Nephrol 2001;133:81–104.
- [15] Ronco C, Nissenson AR. Does nanotechnology apply to dialysis? Blood Purif 2001;19(4):347-52.
- [16] Ward RA, et al. What clinically important advances in understanding and improving dialyzer function have occurred recently? Semin Dial 2001;14(3):160-74.
- [17] Deppisch R, Gohl H, Smeby L. Microdomain structure of polymeric surfaces—potential for improving blood treatment procedures. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998;13(6):1354–9.
- [18] Hancock LF, Fagan SM, Ziolo MS. Hydrophilic, semipermeable membranes fabricated with poly(ethylene oxide)-polysulfone block copolymer. Biomaterials 2000;21(7):725–33.
- [19] Vienken J, et al. Artificial dialysis membranes: from concept to large scale production. Am J Nephrol 1999;19(2):355-62.
- [20] Fareed J, et al. Antithrombin agents: the new class of anticoagulant and antithrombotic drugs. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 1999;5(Suppl. 1): S45-55.
- [21] Seifert B, Romaniuk P, Groth T. Covalent immobilization of hirudin improves the haemocompatibility of polylactide-polyglycolide in vitro. Biomaterials 1997;18(22):1495–502.
- [22] Libetta C, et al. Vitamin E-loaded dialyzer resets PBMC-operated cytokine network in dialysis patients. Kidney Int 2004;65(4):1473-81.
- [23] Nissenson AR, et al. The human nephron filter: toward a continuously functioning, implantable artificial nephron system. Blood Purif 2005; 23(4):269–74.
- [24] U.S. Renal Data System. USRDS 2006 annual data report: atlas of end-stage renal disease in the United States. M.N.I.o.H. Bethesda, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2006.
#### 65. EXTRACORPOREAL RENAL REPLACEMENT

- [25] Ronco C, et al. Effects of different doses in continuous veno-venous haemofiltration on outcomes of acute renal failure: a prospective randomised trial. Lancet 2000;356(9223):26–30.
- [26] Saudan P, et al. Adding a dialysis dose to continuous hemofiltration increases survival in patients with acute renal failure. Kidney Int 2006; 70(7):1312-7.
- [27] Schiffl H, Lang SM, Fischer R. Daily hemodialysis and the outcome of acute renal failure. N Engl J Med 2002;346(5):305–10.
- [28] Bouman CS, et al. Effects of early high-volume continuous venovenous hemofiltration on survival and recovery of renal function in intensive care patients with acute renal failure: a prospective, randomized trial. Crit Care Med 2002;30(10):2205–11.
- [29] Gillum DM, et al. The role of intensive dialysis in acute renal failure. Clin Nephrol 1986;25(5):249-55.
- [30] Tumlin J, et al. Efficacy and safety of renal tubule cell therapy for acute renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;19(5):1034-40.
- [31] Nikolovski J, Gulari E, Humes HD. Design engineering of a bioartificial renal tubule cell therapy device. Cell Transplant 1999;8(4):351–64.
- [32] Humes HD, Cieslinski DA. Interaction between growth factors and retinoic acid in the induction of kidney tubulogenesis in tissue culture. Exp Cell Res 1992;201(1):8–15.
- [33] Humes HD, et al. Tubulogenesis from isolated single cells of adult mammalian kidney: clonal analysis with a recombinant retrovirus. Am J Physiol 1996;271(1 Pt 2):F42-9.
- [34] Timpl R, et al. Laminin-a glycoprotein from basement membranes. J Biol Chem 1979;254(19):9933-7.
- [35] Humes HD, et al. Tissue engineering of a bioartificial renal tubule assist device: in vitro transport and metabolic characteristics. Kidney Int 1999;55(6):2502–14.
- [36] Humes HD, et al. Replacement of renal function in uremic animals with a tissue-engineered kidney. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17(5):451-5.
- [37] Humes HD, et al. Metabolic replacement of kidney function in uremic animals with a bioartificial kidney containing human cells. Am J Kidney Dis 2002;39(5):1078–87.
- [38] Fissell WH, et al. Bioartificial kidney ameliorates gram-negative bacteria-induced septic shock in uremic animals. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14(2):454–61.
- [39] Fissell WH, et al. Bioartificial kidney alters cytokine response and hemodynamics in endotoxin-challenged uremic animals. Blood Purif 2002; 20(1):55–60.
- [40] Natanson C. Studies using a canine model to investigate the cardiovascular abnormality of and potential therapies for septic shock. Clin Res 1990;38(2):206–14.
- [41] Dinarello CA. The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor and treatment of the septic shock syndrome. J Infect Dis 1991;163(6):1177-84.
- [42] Humes HD, et al. Cell therapy with a tissue-engineered kidney reduces the multiple-organ consequences of septic shock. Crit Care Med 2003; 31(10):2421–8.
- [43] Humes HD, et al. Renal cell therapy is associated with dynamic and individualized responses in patients with acute renal failure. Blood Purif 2003;21(1):64-71.
- [44] Walley KR, et al. Balance of inflammatory cytokines related to severity and mortality of murine sepsis. Infect Immun 1996;64(11):4733-8.
- [45] Matsumoto T, et al. Effect of interleukin-10 on gut-derived sepsis caused by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in mice. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1998;42(11):2853–7.
- [46] Marchant A, et al. Interleukin-10 controls interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor production during experimental endotoxemia. Eur J Immunol 1994;24(5):1167–71.
- [47] Kielar ML, Rohan Jeyarajah D, Lu CY. The regulation of ischemic acute renal failure by extrarenal organs. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2002; 11(4):451–7.
- [48] Pinsky MR, et al. Serum cytokine levels in human septic shock. Relation to multiple-system organ failure and mortality. Chest 1993;103(2): 565-75.
- [49] Bone RC. The pathogenesis of sepsis. Ann Intern Med 1991;115(6):457-69.
- [50] Joyce DA, et al. Two inhibitors of pro-inflammatory cytokine release, interleukin-10 and interleukin-4, have contrasting effects on release of soluble p75 tumor necrosis factor receptor by cultured monocytes. Eur J Immunol 1994;24(11):2699–705.
- [51] Redmond HP, et al. Inhibition of macrophage-activating cytokines is beneficial in the acute septic response. Ann Surg 1991;214(4):502-8. discussion 508-9.
- [52] Emoto M, et al. Critical role of NK cells rather than V alpha 14(+)NKT cells in lipopolysaccharide-induced lethal shock in mice. J Immunol 2002;169(3):1426–32.
- [53] Humes HD, et al. Initial clinical results of the bioartificial kidney containing human cells in ICU patients with acute renal failure. Kidney Int 2004;66(4):1578–88.
- [54] Humes HD, et al. Renal cell therapy ameliorates pulmonary abnormalities in a large animal model of septic shock and acute renal injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 2007;18:A382.
- [55] Okusa MD. The inflammatory cascade in acute ischemic renal failure. Nephron 2002;90(2):133-8.
- [56] Simmons EM, et al. Plasma cytokine levels predict mortality in patients with acute renal failure. Kidney Int 2004;65(4):1357-65.
- [57] Maroszynska I, Fiedor P. Leukocytes and endothelium interaction as rate limiting step in the inflammatory response and a key factor in the ischemia-reperfusion injury. Ann Transplant 2000;5(4):5–11.
- [58] Ding F, et al. Novel selective cytopheretic inhibitory device (SCD) inhibits circulating leukocyte activation and ameliorates multiorgan dysfunction in a porcine model of septic shock. J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;19:458A.
- [59] Ding F, et al. The effects of a novel therapeutic device on acute kidney injury outcomes in the intensive care unit: a pilot study. ASAIO J 2011; 26(5).
- [60] Tumlin JA, et al. The effect of the selective cytopheretic device on acute kidney injury outcomes in the intensive care unit: a multicenter pilot study. Semin Dial 2013;26(5):616–23.
- [61] Tumlin JA, et al. A multi-center, randomized, controlled, pivotal study to assess the safety and efficacy of a selective cytopheretic device in patients with acute kidney injury. PLoS One 2015;10(8):e0132482.
- [62] Humes HD. Selected cytopheresis device and related methods thereof. U.S. Patent WO2009/02981; published June 4, 2009.
- [63] Kroll MH, et al. Platelets and shear stress. Blood 1996;88(5):1525-41.

- [64] Rojas A, Hageman G, Lou L, Ding F, Song JH, Jung JY, Cook KE, Buffington D, Humes HD. Animal model of a wearable bioartificial kidney using peritoneal dialysis. In: ASAIO 2009 annual meeting; 2009.
- [65] Humes HD, et al. A selective cytopheretic inhibitory device to treat the immunological dysregulation of acute and chronic renal failure. Blood Purif 2010;29(2):183–90.
- [66] Szamosfalvi B, et al. Innovative selective cytopheretic device (SCD) ameliorates the chronic inflammatory state of chronic hemodialysis patients (abstract). J Am Soc Nephrol 2009 [in press].
- [67] Szamosfalvi B, et al. Immunomodulatory device promotes a shift of circulating monocytes to a less inflammatory phenotype in chronic hemodialysis patients. ASAIO J 2016;62(5):623–30.
- [68] Westover AJ, et al. An immunomodulatory device improves insulin resistance in obese porcine model of metabolic syndrome. J Diabetes Res 2016;2016:3486727.
- [69] Pino CJ, et al. A selective cytopheretic inhibitory device for use during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. Perfusion 2012;27(4):311-9.
- [70] Westover AJ, Buffington DA, Humes HD. Enhanced propagation of adult human renal epithelial progenitor cells to improve cell sourcing for tissue-engineered therapeutic devices for renal diseases. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2012;6(8):589–97.
- [71] Fahy GM, Wowk B, Wu J. Cryopreservation of complex systems: the missing link in the regenerative medicine supply chain. Rejuvenation Res 2006;9(2):279–91.
- [72] Buffington D, et al. Bioartificial Renal Epithelial Cell System (BRECS): a compact, cryopreservable extracorporeal renal replacement device. Cell Med 2012;4(1):33–43.
- [73] Pino CJ, et al. Bioengineered renal cell therapy device for clinical translation. ASAIO J. 2017 May/Jun;63(3):305–15.
- [74] Westover AJ, et al. A bio-artificial renal epithelial cell system conveys survival advantage in a porcine model of septic shock. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2014;11(3).
- [75] Johnston KA, et al. Development of a wearable bioartificial kidney using the bioartificial renal epithelial cell system (BRECS). J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;11(11).
- [76] Eknoyan G, et al. Effect of dialysis dose and membrane flux in maintenance hemodialysis. N Engl J Med 2002;347(25):2010–9.
- [77] Bologa RM, et al. Interleukin-6 predicts hypoalbuminemia, hypocholesterolemia, and mortality in hemodialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 1998;32(1):107–14.
- [78] Kimmel PL, et al. Immunologic function and survival in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 1998;54(1):236-44.
- [79] Zimmermann J, et al. Inflammation enhances cardiovascular risk and mortality in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 1999;55(2):648-58.
- [80] Gura V, et al. Continuous renal replacement therapy for end-stage renal disease. The wearable artificial kidney (WAK). Contrib Nephrol 2005; 149:325–33.
- [81] Ronco C, Fecondini L. The Vicenza wearable artificial kidney for peritoneal dialysis (ViWAK PD). Blood Purif 2007;25(4):383-8.
- [82] Kanani DM, et al. Permeability selectivity analysis for ultrafiltration: effect of pore geometry. J Memb Sci 2010;349(1–2):405.
- [83] Fissell WH, et al. Differentiated growth of human renal tubule cells on thin-film and nanostructured materials. ASAIO J 2006;52(3):221–7.[84] Dasselaar JJ, et al. Measurement of relative blood volume changes during haemodialysis: merits and limitations. Nephrol Dial Transplant
- 2005;20(10):2043-9.
  [85] Gura V, et al. Beta2-microglobulin and phosphate clearances using a wearable artificial kidney: a pilot study. Am J Kidney Dis 2009;54(1): 104-11.
- [86] Ronco C, Davenport A, Gura V. Toward the wearable artificial kidney. Hemodial Int 2008;12(Suppl. 1):S40-7.
- [87] Davenport A, et al. A wearable haemodialysis device for patients with end-stage renal failure: a pilot study. Lancet 2007;370(9604):2005-10.
- [88] Gura V, et al. A wearable hemofilter for continuous ambulatory ultrafiltration. Kidney Int 2008;73(4):497-502.

This page intentionally left blank

# Regenerative Medicine Approaches for the Kidney

In Kap Ko, James J. Yoo, Anthony Atala

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

#### INTRODUCTION

Kidney disease is a leading cause of death globally [1]. Among its most common forms are acute kidney injury (AKI), chronic kidney disease (CKD), and end-stage renal disease (ESRD). In AKI and CKD, the kidney loses its capacity to function and filter blood efficiently. Furthermore, AKI can often deteriorate into CKD, which affects 8–16% of the global population [2]. Medical therapies for kidney diseases such as AKI and CKD primarily involve hemodialysis or kidney transplantation. Dialysis can replace renal filtration of metabolic waste from blood, but it serves as a supportive treatment that manages symptoms and delays disease progression. In addition, dialysis cannot replace other critical kidney functions, such as synthesis of erythropoietin (EPO), which stimulates red blood cell production [3]. Consequently, treatment of renal disease should promote efficient regeneration of functional renal-specific cells or stem cells; thus, a cell-based approach that replaces or restores damaged renal cells would be a promising alternative to current treatment options.

AKI and CKD can progress to ESRD, a severe condition affecting multiple organ systems. Kidney transplantation provides the only definitive treatment for ESRD; however, the supply of transplantable donor kidneys meets less than 20% of the demand [4]. To address this issue, tissue engineering (TE) and regenerative medicine (RM) approaches have been suggested as promising solutions. Stem cell biology and cell culture technologies have enabled researchers to identify and characterize kidney-derived cells and various types of cells that could be used to treat renal diseases [5,6]. The simplest approach uses cell transplantation, in which single therapeutic cells can be administered to a patient with kidney failure to restore renal function. Because this approach is easier to administer and less invasive than other alternatives, most studies have been performed using cell therapy strategies [7,8].

Whereas various cells have been studied for potential use in cell therapy [5], engineering of renal constructs has also been attempted to facilitate renal regeneration [9,10]. In this approach, the engineered constructs contain extracellular matrix (ECM), soluble factors, and a scaffolding system to guide in vitro cultured cells. The scaffold provides support to form three-dimensional (3D) renal structures that will lead to efficient integration with the host after implantation. This approach is ideally applicable to more serious renal conditions that require replacement of diseased kidney tissues.

Compared with these two cell-based approaches, a strategy that uses endogenous cell sources is emerging as a promising alternative for renal regeneration [11]. This technique, known as in situ tissue regeneration, takes advantage of the body's natural healing processes and the ability to recruit endogenous kidney cells for kidney regeneration. For efficient renal regeneration in situ, there are two goals: (1) redesign of damaged renal tissue after injury toward appropriate microenvironments, and (2) effective infiltration of host cells containing therapeutic potential into the recreated renal niche.

In this chapter, cell sources that are used for cell-based therapies and associated applications to treat kidney diseases will be reviewed. In addition, several approaches to engineering renal constructs and in situ kidney regeneration will be presented.

#### **CELL-BASED THERAPY**

Cell transplantation and implantation of engineered kidney constructs have been considered as promising therapeutic methods. For both applications, establishment of a refined cell culture system is essential to obtain a sufficient number of therapeutic cells for later transplantation. To this end, various types of cell sources have been identified, characterized, and used to treat renal diseases (Table 66.1).

#### Cell Sources: Kidney Tissue–Derived Stem and Primary Cells

The adult kidney contains over 20 heterogeneous types of cells distributed among the various compartments, including vascular, interstitial, glomerular, and tubular structures with architectural complexity [12]. Through a

TABLE 66.1 Application of Cell Therapy for Kidney Regeneration

Cell Types and Origin	Cell Subtypes	In Vitro or In Vivo Animal Model	References			
Renal progenitor cells from the Bowman capsules	Human CD133 <sup>+</sup> cells from the Bowman capsule	SCID mice with glycerol-induced tubulonecrosis: homing of CD133 <sup>+</sup> cells to kidney tubules	[17]			
	Human CD24 <sup>+</sup> CD133 <sup>+</sup> cells	SCID mice with acute renal failure: morphological and functional improvement by CD24 <sup>+</sup> CD133 <sup>+</sup> cell infusion	[18]			
	Human CD133 <sup>+</sup> CD24 <sup>+</sup> PDX <sup>-</sup> cells	SCID mice with acute renal failure: functional recovery such as reduced proteinuria and glomerular damage	[20]			
Renal stem or progenitor cells from renal papilla	Low-cycling proliferating cells (BrdU-retaining cells)	In vitro characterization: heterogeneity of BrdU- retaining cells with epithelial, mesenchymal, and neuronal phenotypes	[22]			
	CD133/1 <sup>+</sup> nestin <sup>+</sup> cells	In vitro organ culture: human CD133/1 <sup>+</sup> cell integration with mouse-derived tubules for new tubule formation	[23]			
Renal stem or progenitor cells from renal tubules	BrdU-retaining and vimentin <sup>+</sup> cells	I/R rat model: integration of EGFP <sup>+</sup> tubular cells with regenerating renal tubules	[27]			
	ALDH <sup>high</sup> cells	ALDH <sup>high</sup> cells: cell proliferation capability and CD133 <sup>+</sup> CD24 <sup>+</sup> expression	[114]			
Primary renal cells	Human CD10 <sup>+</sup> CD13 <sup>+</sup> cells	Pure population of human renal tubule cells	[33]			
	Unpurified human primary renal cells	High percentage of proximal tubular cells (70–80%) with high proliferation capability	[34,35]			
	EPO <sup>+</sup> cell population in human primary renal cells	I/R rat model: functional and structural improvement by amelioration of inflammation and oxidative stress	[36]			
ESC	In vitro differentiation into renal population [40,41], In vitro organ culture: ES-derived cells integration [42], in vivo mouse: integration of ES cells into proximal tubules [43]					
iPSC	In vitro differentiation into renal population [44,96], in vivo rat AKI: improved survival of animal through enhancement of renal functions [46], in vivo mouse AKI: human iPSCs engrafted into damaged tubules and restored renal function and structure [47]					
AFSC	In vivo renal function improvement in an AKI mouse model [50], an SCID mouse [51], an Alport syndrome mouse model [52], and a kidney autotransplantation model in pig [53]					
BM-MSC	In vivo kidney function improvement in mouse [55,56,58,61] or rat [54,57,59,60] models, clinical trials with kidney transplantation [67,68]					
ADSC	In vivo kidney function improvement in mouse [63], rat [62,64], and pig [65,66] models					

*ADSC*, adipose-derived stem cell; *AFSC*, amniotic fluid-derived stem cell; *AKI*, acute kidney injury; *ALDH*, aldehyde dehydrogenase; *BM-MSC*, bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell; *BrdU*, 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine; *EGFP*, enhanced green fluorescent protein; *EPO*, erythropoietin; *ESC*, embryonic stem cell; *I/R*, ischemic/ reperfusion; *iPSC*, induced pluripotent stem cell; *PDX*, podocalyxin; *SCID*, severe combined immunodeficiency.

#### CELL-BASED THERAPY

coordinated balance, this mixed population of cells maintains homeostasis within the renal microenvironment that supports cell-to-cell interactions [13]. Disruption of renal homeostasis occurs after injury or in the case of disease, which in turn elicits the release of cellular and molecular signals to interact with cell components to facilitate regeneration and repair the damaged kidney. Extrinsic regulators within the renal niche initiate renal-specific differentiation and self-renewal of various renal cells and stem cells. Although the existence and identification of renal stem or progenitor cells in adult kidney tissues have been controversial, numerous studies indicate that renal stem and progenitor cells exist in the Bowman capsule, papilla, and tubular sections [7]. Thus, purification and expansion of these cells could be sources for cell therapy to treat renal failure.

The Bowman capsule initiates the filtration of blood and generation of urine [14]. The Bowman capsule is composed of several layers: the parietal layer, the Bowman space, the visceral layer, and a filtration barrier that contains specific kidney cell types. In early studies, a few cell surface markers were identified to isolate renal stem cells from the Bowman capsule. One such marker for cell isolation is the CD133 stem cell marker, which is expressed in hematopoietic stem cells [15] and in the kidney during embryogenesis [16]. Bussolati et al. [17] and Sagrinati et al. [18] isolated and expanded CD133<sup>+</sup> cells from normal adult kidney cortex and from kidney tissues of cancer patients obtained at nephrectomy. Although cultured CD133<sup>+</sup> cells developed into epithelial and endothelial cell phenotypes [17], CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup> cells displayed various differentiation lineages, including mature proximal and distal tubule formation and adipogenic and osteogenic phenotypes [18]. In preclinical studies, CD133<sup>+</sup> [17] or CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup> cells [18] facilitated therapeutic outcomes when administered into renal injury models [17,18].

Glomerular filtration for removal of waste from the blood is one of the kidney's primary functions, and podocytes within the glomerulus have a significant role in the filtration process [19]. However, because podocytes have limited ability for cellular proliferation in the injured kidney, use of stem or progenitor cells that can become more podocytes is an alternative approach for the recovery of normal kidney filtration. Ronconi et al. [20] tested this possibility using CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup> cells. Interestingly, CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup> cells without podocalyxin (PDX) expression (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup>PDX<sup>-</sup> cells) showed tubular and podocyte differentiation, whereas CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup>PDX<sup>+</sup> cells contained only podocytes, which suggests that these cells behave as bipotent renal progenitors [21]. Furthermore, in an in vivo study using Adriamycin-induced nephropathy in mice, only CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup>PDX<sup>-</sup> cells resulted in functional recovery, including reduced proteinuria and glomerular damage, whereas injection of CD24<sup>+</sup>CD133<sup>+</sup>PDX<sup>-</sup> pDX<sup>-</sup> or CD24<sup>-</sup>CD133<sup>-</sup> cells was not effective for renal repair.

Another niche for renal stem cells is the renal papilla. This is located in a central region of the kidney that contains epithelia of collecting ducts and the loops of Henle that concentrate urine [7]. In an early study [22], a renal stem-like cell population with a low cell-cycling rate was identified. To track such low-cycling cells in adult kidney, Oliver et al. [22] used a nucleotide bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) labeling technique to demonstrate that BrdU-retaining cells existed in the papilla. In vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated that BrdU-labeled cells were heterogeneous in nature and included ZO-1–positive epithelial,  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin–positive mesen-chymal, and III- $\beta$ -tubulin–positive neuronal phenotypes. Based on these results, the authors concluded that the renal papilla contained low-cycling cells and is a niche for adult renal stem cells.

Extending the previous conclusion that CD133-positive cells act as renal stem cells in the Bowman capsule [17], Ward et al. [23] reported that CD133<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from adult human papilla and cortex could integrate into tubular structures in their developing stages. Isolated CD133/1<sup>+</sup> papilla and cortex cells were positive for nestin, as reported previously by others [24]. A differentiation capability assay revealed that the CD133/1<sup>+</sup>nestin<sup>+</sup> cells changed to a neurogenic and epithelial-like lineage and underwent tubulogenesis. In a metanephric organ culture, CD133/1<sup>+</sup> cells from both the papilla and cortex integrated into mouse-derived tubules during in vitro cell culture, indicating the integration capability of the renal stem cells into the formation of new kidney tubules.

The renal tubule has been considered a renal stem cell niche. It has an important role in reabsorption of electrolytes and proteins and amino acid transportation through hydrolase activity. Previously, the S3 segment of proximal tubule was identified as a renal stem niche in which a significant number of cells were observed to be mitotically active in the region, as confirmed by the expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen [25]. To identify cellular phenotypes of tubular cells further, several studies used transgenic animals that express reporter markers [26–28]. Lin et al. used transgenic mice expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) protein in mature tubular epithelial cells [27]. After ischemia and reperfusion injury in mice, the investigators found that EGFP-positive tubular cells retaining BrdU labeling and vimentin expression formed regenerating renal tubules, indicating that the intrinsic cell population for renal regeneration is present in the tubule.

To use kidney tissue-derived stem cells for cell-based therapies, efficient isolation and expansion of cell populations from renal tubules are necessary. Lindgren et al. chose a stem cell marker, aldehyde dehydrogenase

(ALDH), which was used to isolate hematopoietic stem cells [29]. ALDH is an enzyme that converts retinol into retinoic acid, and its activities in various tissues [30] are closely related with stem cell proliferation and differentiation. This study reported that tubule cells with high ALDH activity (ALDH<sup>high</sup> cells) showed CD133<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup> phenotypes in the human tubule tissue and maintained better cell proliferation capability than ALDH<sup>low</sup> cells, indicating that ALDH<sup>high</sup> cells may represent renal progenitor cells from adult human tubules.

Other markers have been used to purify tubular epithelial cells. Using CD10 and CD13, epithelial cell markers [31,32], Van der Hauwaert et al. established a cell sorting method to purify proximal tubular epithelial cells from human renal tissue [33]. Although CD10<sup>+</sup>CD13<sup>+</sup> cells comprised only about 4% of the entire cell population, once purified, they showed cell proliferation capability and maintained clear proximal tubular cell phenotypes, such as aquaporin-1 and N-cadherin. On the other hand, CD10<sup>-</sup>CD13<sup>-</sup> cells displayed distal and collecting duct markers such as E-cadherin and MUC1; cells positive for CD10 or CD13 were heterogeneous. The investigators concluded that isolation of a pure population of human-derived renal tubule cells is possible, and the isolation method using the markers can be applied to isolate renal stem cells as well.

Our group has focused on isolating and expanding primary kidney cells that could be easily used in clinical applications [34]. After in vitro cell culture, cultivated kidney cells show efficient growth capability. Approximately 70–80% of cultured cells are composed of proximal tubular cells; the remaining cells consist of distal tubular cells, collecting duct cells, podocytes, and other types of cells. Using our established cell culture techniques, we further tested the feasibility of cell therapy using autologous cell sources. We evaluated primary renal cells from diseased kidneys to determine whether their normal phenotypic and functional characteristics are retained, and thus could be used for cell therapy [35]. Renal cells from diseased human kidneys retained characteristics similar to those of normal kidneys, which suggests that autologous cell sources may be used for cell transplantation to treat patients with renal failure [35]. In another study, we purified an EPO-enriched cell population from cultured primary kidney cells and examined the ability of EPO<sup>+</sup> cells to improve renal function [36]. EPO is a hormone that produces red blood cells and functions as antiinflammatory and antioxidant molecules [37]. In an in vivo study using a rat model with CKD, we demonstrated that EPO<sup>+</sup> cells ameliorated inflammation and oxidative stress, whereas unpurified cells did not. These results suggest that EPO-enriched cells within primary kidney cells may be a promising cell source for treatment of renal diseases.

#### Other Cell Sources: Pluripotent, Fetal, or Adult Stem Cells

Various types of cells isolated from nonrenal tissues have been considered potential cell sources, such as pluripotent cells and stem or progenitor cells from fetal and adult tissues. Among pluripotent cells, both embryonic stem (ES) cells [38] and induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells [39] have been extensively studied in this regard. Both have self-renewable capability and multidifferentiation ability that theoretically is capable of differentiating into any type of cells. ES cells in the kidney have been studied as a potential treatment for renal failure [40–43]. However, ethical dilemmas, danger of cancer from uncontrolled growth, and immunogenic issues still need to be resolved before clinical trials can be initiated.

On the other hand, iPS cells have some advantages in terms of use as an autologous cell source for cell-based therapy compared with ES cells. iPS cells can be obtained by transducing a patient's own fibroblasts with reprogramming genes (Oct3/4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4) [39]. Induction of iPS-derived kidney cells in [44,45] in vitro and some in vivo preclinical studies [46,47] demonstrated the possibility of positive therapeutic effects in treating kidney diseases. However, a sufficiently sophisticated cell culture system for mass cell culture is still needed that can maintain phenotypes and prevent teratoma formation and immunogenicity [48] in vivo.

Fetal and adult tissue-derived stem cells have lower cell growth capability than ES and iPS cells, but the use of tissue-derived cells for therapeutic applications removes the issue of possible teratoma formation. For example, amniotic fluid stem (AFS) cells have been successfully isolated from the amniotic fluid during pregnancy and expanded for therapeutic applications. Our group established a cell culture technique that allowed efficient expansion of AFS cells and demonstrated that the cultured AFS cells showed self-renewal capability and multi-differentiation ability [49]. Preclinical studies using AFS cells demonstrated beneficial outcomes in treating renal failure [50–53].

Stem cells isolated from adult tissues have been extensively studied to treat renal diseases. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), one representative cell source, showed therapeutic effects in renal recovery. MSCs can be easily collected from bone marrow (BM-MSCs) and adipose tissue (ADSCs). Beneficial outcomes for both BM-MSCs and ADSCs in treating renal diseases have been reported in several preclinical models, in which the

application of BM-MSCs [54–61] and ADSC [62–66] varied from acute to chronic renal disease. A few clinical studies using MSC transplantation to improve outcomes of renal transplantation have also been published [67–69].

#### Engineering of Cell-Based Renal Constructs

The general strategy of engineering a renal construct for treatment of renal diseases is to fabricate functional renal structures in vitro and then implant the constructs for successful integration with host kidney tissues (Table 66.2). To engineer 3D kidney constructs, cultured renal cells are seeded onto a scaffold; the seeded cells within the scaffold are allowed to expand and mature into renal structures. Kidney tissue possesses a complex 3D tubular architecture and is composed of numerous cell types within the renal tissue; therefore, selection of the appropriate cell sources is a consideration for engineering renal constructs. Although many types of renal stem cells have been identified and characterized, use of stem cells as cell sources for engineering renal constructs is still in its infancy for practical applications [7]. Alternatively, most approaches developed for engineering kidney structures have used primary renal cells that are isolated and expanded without further purification. Primary cell culture techniques are now well-established to isolate and expand primary renal cells that demonstrate proliferation and differentiation capability during multiple passages [34].

Another important factor to consider in the in vitro fabrication of kidney structures is the efficiency of engineering the appropriate microenvironment, or niche, to allow seeded cells to form normal kidney-like structures through cell–cell/cell–matrix interactions [70]. Controlled orchestration of engineered niche components, such as the ECM and soluble factors within the scaffolds, is required for the efficient fabrication of renal constructs. Three types of scaffolding systems (natural polymers, synthetic polymers, and biologic tissue matrices) have been used for TE applications [71]. Naturally derived polymers, such as collagen, hyaluronic acid (HA), chitosan, fibrin, alginate, or agarose, provide an alternative to native tissues. Most of these natural biomaterials require biocompatible characteristics with native tissue and can support and guide cellular behaviors such as cell activation, migration, proliferation, and differentiation [72].

Collagen and collagen-based hydrogels have been used extensively to produce scaffolds for kidney TE. Wang et al. [73] developed a renal cell isolation and culture system for engineering renal constructs in vitro (Table 66.2). Glomerular epithelial and mesangial cells isolated from renal tissues were expanded on a collagen-based membrane scaffold (collagen—vitrigel) with a stable, thin shape. The mixture of collagen with vitrigel provided an optimal environment that mimicked the native glomerular structures, which formed a reconstructed glomerular tissue when cocultured with renal cells [73]. In a similar approach, Lu et al. [74] used another collagen-based material that included a Matrigel system containing a mixed population of neonatal rat renal cells to reconstruct 3D renal tissues in vitro. Subsequently, the cells seeded within the 3D collagen hydrogel scaffold self-assembled into engineered renal tissues that contained both tubules and glomeruli-like architecture.

Using the collagen gel scaffold system, our group established a 3D renal-like construct for in vivo study. We found that primary human kidney cells can be expanded in a 3D collagen-based culture system [34], and these cells retained renal phenotypes that stained positively for proximal and distal tubules and collecting duct markers [34]. The cells formed tubule-like structures that provided renal function, such as albumin adsorption. In in vivo implantation studies, cells within the 3D kidney construct maintained their renal phenotypes and remained viable for 6 weeks after subcutaneous implantation in nude mice. These findings demonstrate that human renal cells grown under 3D culture conditions using a collagen gel system are able to generate renal tubule-like structures in vitro and may be used for kidney repair [34].

Another type of ECM contains HA, a glycosaminoglycan, which has been used as a gel-based scaffold for TE applications. HA has a vital role in mammalian development and provides appropriate mechanical properties for scaffold structures [75]. Rosines et al. used a mechanically stable HA construct as a scaffold for in vitro culture and developed a 3D cell culture method to construct renal-like tissues from fetal kidney tissues [76]. HA supported ureteric bud branching, promoted mesenchymal-to-epithelial transformation, and stimulated differentiation of the metanephric mesenchyme and ureteric buds. The authors proposed that HA might serve as an appropriate scaffolding material for kidney TE. Nevertheless, the use of hydrogel-based scaffolds such as HA and other hydrogel polymers is limited by their low mechanical characteristics and high failure rate in terms of shape retention [77].

In an attempt to address these mechanical issues, synthetic biomaterial-based scaffolds have been tested as an alternative source for TE applications. Synthetic polymers include biodegradable polymers such as poly(lactic

#### 66. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPROACHES FOR THE KIDNEY

Approach Type		Components	In Vitro or In Vivo Animal Model	References
	ECM	Cells		
Engineering renal constructs	Collagen/vitrigel	Glomerular epithelial and mesangial cells	Glomerular epithelial and In vitro testing to reconstruct renal glomerula mesangial cells tissue	
	Collagen/Matrigel	Neonatal rat renal cells	In vitro testing to reconstruct renal tubules and glomeruli-like structures	[74]
	НА	Fetal kidney tissue	In vitro testing to reconstruct kidney-like structures for kidney development: ureteric bud, metanephric mesenchyme	[76]
	Polycarbonate	Murine kidney cells	Subcutaneous implantation (Athymic mouse), tubules and glomerular structures and functional outcomes (urine-like fluid)	[79]
	PGA	Renal segments	Subcutaneous implantation (Athymic mouse), renal structure formation in the implant	[80]
	PGA	Renal cells from bovine fibroblast using nuclear transfer technique	Subcutaneous implantation (Athymic mouse), tubules and glomerular structures and functional outcomes (urine-like fluid)	[81]
	Decellularized kidney scaffold	Renal cell and EC	Experimental orthotopic implantation using whole-kidney construct (rat)	[84]
	Decellularized kidney scaffold	EC	Experimental orthotopic implantation using whole-kidney construct (pig)	[94]
	ECM	Bioactive factors or small molecule		
In situ kidney regeneration	P-collagen	_	Intraperoneal injection into chronic cyclosporine nephropathy of rats, improved renal function through fibrosis reduction	[97]
	PEG-based gel	_	Injection into renal capsule pocket of rats, feasibility test of gel-based drug delivery, no renal damage and normal host cell infiltration	[98]
	Microspheres based on PLLA, PDLA, PEG	Rapamycin	Intracapsule implantation into rat I/R model, compared with subcutaneous injection, reduced fibrotic tissue in renal-injected group	[103,115]
	-	BMP-7	Systemic injection into TGF-β1–induced EMT model in mice, improved renal function	[106]
	_	Antibodies to epididymis protein (HE4)	Systemic injection to progressive renal disease model, reduced fibrosis and improved renal function	[107]
	_	BMP agonist peptide (THR-123) and ACE inhibitor (Captopril)	Intravenous injection and reduction of fibrosis in mouse renal diseases	[111]
	_	HDAC inhibitors (PTBAs analog)	Intraperitoneal injection and reduction of fibrosis in aristolochic acid—induced kidney injury	[94,112]

TABLE 66.2	Applications to	Engineering	Renal Constructs	and In Situ	Kidney I	Regeneration
------------	-----------------	-------------	------------------	-------------	----------	--------------

ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; ADSC, adipose-derived stem cells; AFSC, amniotic fluid-derived stem cell; BM-MSC, bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells; BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; CSF-1, colony-stimulating factor-1; EC, endothelial cells; ECM, extracellular matrix; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition; EPC, endothelial progenitor cells; ESC, embryonic stem cell; HA, hyaluronic acid; HDAC, histone deacetylase; HE4, human epididymis protein 4; I/R, ischemia/reperfusion; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cells; P-collagen, polymerized collagen; PDLA, poly(D-lactic acid); PEG, polyethylene glycol; PGA, polyglycolic acid; PLLA, poly(L-lactic acid); PTBAs, phenylthiobutanoic acids; TGF-β1, transforming growth factor-β1.

acid), poly(glycolic acid) (PGA), and poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid). Owing to a well-controlled degradation profile, nontoxicity, and simple fabrication techniques, the biodegradable polymers have been used as scaffolds sources for renal TE; however, synthetic polymers are limited in terms of slow degradation in the body and may cause in-flammatory responses [78].

#### CELL-BASED THERAPY

As an initial approach to testing the feasibility of using synthetic polymers for engineering renal constructs in vitro, our group used PGA scaffolds as an artificial ECM niche to expand rabbit renal cells within the scaffold. Renal cells isolated from proximal and distal tubules and glomeruli were cultured separately and then seeded onto PGA scaffolds. Engineered kidney-like constructs were subcutaneously implanted into athymic nude mice. Nephron-like segments formed within the implant construct, and the seeded cells had proliferation capacity, as shown by BrdU staining. These results demonstrate that cultured primary rabbit renal cells could reconstitute tubular structures with a homogeneous cell type within each tubular tissue.

In another study, our group used a tubular-shaped scaffold prepared from polycarbonate material for 3D culture of murine kidney cells [79]. The tubular-shaped scaffold was connected at one end to a silicone-derived catheter that terminated in a plastic reservoir; this construct was implanted subcutaneously in athymic mice. The implanted construct retained highly organized tubular structures and formed glomerulus-like structures with extensive vascular integration. Furthermore, the tubule-like structures contained renal phenotypes of both proximal and distal tubular cells and cells of the ascending loop of Henle, as confirmed by immunohistochemistry. The newly formed structures exhibited renal function by excreting high levels of solute in a yellow urine-like fluid [79].

Using the same synthetic polymer, a similar study was performed using kidney segments. Kim et al. loaded renal segments onto 3D PGA polymer-derived scaffolds and implanted the renal-like units in vivo [80]. The 3D renal reconstructs that formed contained glomeruli and tubules, which suggested that renal structures can be reconstituted by transplanting renal segments with supporting biodegradable scaffolds.

Lanza et al. bioengineered kidney-like tissues with a nuclear transfer technique by isolating renal cells from earlystage cloned bovine fibroblasts that were then seeded onto synthetic scaffolds derived from PGA [81]. The implanted construct formed highly organized tubular- and glomerular-specific structures that exhibited secretion of urine-like fluid from the implant. Moreover, this study suggested that the ability to generate histocompatible cells using a nuclear transfer technique could address a major challenge in transplantation medicine.

The use of acellular tissue matrices as renal scaffolds is attractive because natural and synthetic polymers cannot replicate the precise spatial architecture of complex structures such as the kidney. In particular, acellular tissue scaffolds are prepared by removing cellular components from the tissues through mechanical or chemical processes to produce collagen-rich matrices [82]. These collagen-rich matrices tend to degrade slowly after implantation and are remodeled with ECM proteins secreted by ingrowing cells. Therefore, much attention has been directed toward developing renal decellularization techniques to produce acellular kidney scaffolds that can maintain native kidney structures such as ECM, bioactive factors, and vascular integrity. Several groups have developed decellularization techniques to produce to produce constructs [83,84].

Using biologic scaffolds obtained from the decellularization process, one of the most promising approaches is to bioengineer whole-kidney constructs, in response to the shortage of transplantable kidneys. Progress in whole-organ engineering involving decellularization, followed by recellularization of the resultant collagen-rich scaffolds, has offered a promising approach to creating transplantable organ constructs [85–89]. Decellularization/ recellularization techniques have enabled researchers to create bioengineered whole organs in vitro successfully, such as heart [85], lung [89], liver [86,88], and the kidney [84]. Although a few in vivo studies have been performed using small-animal models, these have been limited to short-term assessments; engineered organs function for only a few hours after implantation. An implantation study of a bioengineered rat kidney construct demonstrated the feasibility of the whole-kidney engineering technology based on decellularization/recellularization of kidney tissue [84]. In the recellularization process of acellular kidney matrices, previous studies used ES cells [90,91] and viable kidney explants [92] to recreate engineered kidney structures in vitro [84]. Although these approaches demonstrated the feasibility of using recellularization of a renal matrix to bioengineer a kidney, the field of whole-organ engineering is still in its infancy; several challenges must be addressed before clinical applications are possible.

One such challenge is long-term success in the vascular patency of bioengineered organs in vivo. Without complete and functional endothelial reseeding of vascular matrices, significant thrombosis is likely to occur within the acellular vasculature, which makes the recellularized construct nonfunctional [86,93]. To address this issue, we developed a cell seeding technique that enables efficient endothelial cell coating of the vascular walls of acellular porcine kidney matrices [94]. The acellular renal scaffold was prepared from native porcine kidneys using our previously described decellularization technique [83]. Conjugation of CD31 antibody molecules in the vascular lumen enhanced endothelial cell retention on the vasculature and improved the vascular patency of the implanted scaffold during implantation. These results suggest that endothelial cell seeding plus antibody conjugation could maintain the vascular patency of bioengineered whole kidneys in vivo. However, to make this technology amenable to clinical use, other critical challenges need to be addressed. These include fabricating acellular renal scaffolds on a clinical

#### 66. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPROACHES FOR THE KIDNEY

scale [83,95], efficient recellularization of scaffolds using clinically relevant cell sources to recreate fully functional kidney constructs [34,44,96], and viable long-term implantation without severe thrombosis [94].

#### CELL-FREE APPROACH: IN SITU RENAL REGENERATION

An important issue in tissue regeneration in situ is how to fabricate a scaffolding system for efficient recruitment of host cells into the implant and reprogramming of the infiltrated cells within the scaffold. Both natural ECM and synthetic biomaterials have been used as a scaffold to promote in situ renal regeneration [97,98] (Table 66.2).

Whereas collagen-based scaffolds have been widely used as a cell seeding scaffolding system in classical renal TE, several types of collagens have been tested as a natural ECM for renal regeneration in situ. One type of collagen derivative, polymerized collagen (P-collagen), a mixture of pepsinized porcine type I collagen and polyvinylpyrrolidone, facilitated antiinflammatory and antifibrotic properties and reduced scar formation [99,100]. Generally, modulation of inflammation and fibrosis is closely associated with efficient renal regeneration. Sanchez-Pozos et al. used P-collagen to ameliorate renal pathology in a model of chronic cyclosporine A (CsA) nephropathy [97]. P-collagen partially reduced CsA-induced renal pathology and improved anatomic and functional renal properties. These effects were associated with lower levels of inflammatory markers, such as transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and Kim-1. In this study, P-collagen functioned as an ECM niche to improve the renal microenvironment by reducing inflammation and fibrosis, thereby improving renal function.

Controlling degradation of the ECM is necessary to maximize therapeutic effects and prevent the rapid disappearance of the added molecules [101]. Serban et al. developed a cross-linked gelatin-based microsphere with continuously tunable degradation; thus, the collagen-derived material served as an ECM scaffold [102]. An in vitro degradation profile showed that the cross-linked gelatin microspheres were resistant to enzymatic degradation. Effects of cross-linking on slow degradation were confirmed by the orthotopic injection of materials into animals. Results of this preliminary study suggested that the product of gelatin-based microbeads might be used to develop materials that catalyze kidney regeneration in the presence of renal disease.

Similarly, synthetic hydrogel systems with different degradation profiles have been developed to assess the feasibility of using them within the kidney for treatment. Dankers et al. synthesized two types of materials with different physiochemical properties based on polyethylene glycol (PEG)-based hydrogels. The hydrogels were injected into the renal capsule pocket to test the feasibility of gel-based drug delivery [98]. The injected synthetic hydrogels did not damage the renal cortex and facilitated normal host cell infiltration of macrophages and myofibroblasts. These strong, flexible, and slow-eroding chain-extended hydrogels might be suitable for the sustained intrarenal delivery of organic drugs. On the other hand, the weaker, softer, and fast-degrading bifunctional hydrogels may be more suitable for the short-term delivery of protein-based drugs to the kidney cortex. These favorable biological behaviors of supramolecular hydrogels make them excellent candidates for subcapsular drug delivery.

For the efficient delivery of such soluble factors and drugs, hydrogel systems have been developed to modulate controlled release of therapeutic drugs [101]. Zandstra et al. [103] developed a drug delivery system based on the use of synthetic monodispersing microspheres to deliver rapamycin, which is known to reduce inflammation in rodent models of kidney disease [104,105]. The microspheres were synthesized using poly(L-lactic acid), poly(D-lactic acid), and PEG, and then rapamycin was codissolved into the copolymer solutions. The rapamycin-incorporated microspheres were administered through subcapsular injection in a rat model of AKI. Therapeutic effects were then compared with subcutaneous injection to mimic systemic administration. Local intrarenal delivery of rapamycin-incorporated monospheres facilitated decreased macrophage infiltration and a significantly lower number of myofibroblasts in the kidney compared with the group with systemic administration. Local delivery of rapamycin caused a transient increase in the deposition of collagen I but not collagen III. The authors concluded that therapeutic effects might increase if rapamycin were delivered in a monosphere subcapsularly; moreover, combination with low systemic concentrations of rapamycin may lead to an effective intrarenal delivery method.

Alternatively, small proteins have been used as soluble factors to improve renal function. For example, bone morphogenic protein-7 (BMP-7), a member of the TGF-β1 family, is highly expressed in the kidney; furthermore, genetic deletion of TGF-β1 in mice results in severe impairment of kidney development. Zeisberg et al. hypothesized that administration of exogenous BMP-7 would enhance repair in severely damaged renal tubular epithelial cells. Results from this study showed that the positive effect by BMP-7 administration was closely associated with the reversal of chronic renal injury through epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Collectively, these results provide

#### REFERENCES

evidence of cross-talk between BMP-7 and TGF- $\beta$ 1 in regulating epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in healthy and diseased kidneys [106].

Similarly, in another study, fibrosis-neutralizing antibodies were administered to alter the fibrotic environment of injured kidneys [107]. Using a transgenic mouse model to track and isolate myofibroblasts, human epididymis protein 4 (HE4) was identified as the most upregulated gene in the fibrosis-associated myofibroblasts. Administration of an anti-HE4 antibody accelerated collagen type I degradation and inhibited fibrosis in three different mice models of renal disease. The authors concluded that HE4 protein is a potential biomarker of renal fibrosis and could be a new therapeutic target [107].

Despite these findings, protein-based therapy is limited by several obstacles, such as long-term pharmacologic resistance. Chemical and pharmacological studies have focused on developing small molecules for tissue regeneration [108,109]. The concept behind this approach is to stimulate the endogenous tissue niche by administering small molecules. Studies of the protein-based method showed that several treatments induced resistance, because antibodies were produced against the administered protein [110]. Thus, using small molecules may prevent this side effect and allow efficient restoration of tissue and organ function.

Several small molecules have been used to treat kidney pathology. For example, Sugimoto et al. [111] focused on the role of BMP in fibrosis formation after renal injury. They showed that THR-123, an agonist of BMP signaling, led to the repair of damaged tubular cells and improved renal function by reducing fibrosis in several renal disease models, such as nephrotoxic serum-induced nephritis, ischemic reperfusion injury, unilateral ureteral obstruction, and diabetic nephropathy [111]. THR-123 plus captopril, an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, facilitated synergistic therapeutic effects by controlling renal fibrosis. The authors suggested that a synthetic small peptide, such as a BMP-signaling agonist, could be a promising therapeutic agent to treat renal diseases via their control of fibrosis.

Other research in fibrosis reduction relevant to renal regeneration used a small molecule, histone deacetylase inhibitor, which attenuated renal injury through fibrosis reduction [112]. Novitskaya et al. reported that a phenylthiobutanoic acid analog, methyl-4-(phenylthio)butanoate, facilitated renal recovery in a mouse model of aristolochic acid—induced injury [94]. Beneficial effects of the small molecules were confirmed by decreased cell death, proliferation of proximal tubular cells, and decreased macrophage infiltration, which collectively reduced fibrotic tissue and ameliorated renal injury.

#### CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Developments in TE and RM have shown promising advances in repairing and restoring damage from renal failure. These approaches include cell therapy using autologous and "off-the-shelf" allogeneic cell sources, engineering cell-based renal constructs, and use of an endogenous renal cells and niche for in situ renal regeneration. Such experimental studies have tested new strategies for clinical treatments for kidney disease, and some are clinically applicable [113].

Nonetheless, several challenges need to be addressed to enhance therapeutic outcomes. Continued work is needed to understand the complex milieu of the renal microenvironment (i.e., niche) and to develop renal stem cell culture and expansion techniques to support future cell-based therapies for renal disease. In addition, future studies should address better methods to devise tissue-engineered renal constructs and their safe and effective implantation, determine novel ways to prevent immunologic side effects of cell-based therapies, and address ways to reduce thrombosis and improve innervation of the transplanted cells or engineering of renal constructs.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Karen Klein, MA, and Heather Hatcher, PhD (both supported by the Wake Forest Clinical and Translational Science Institute through UL1 TR001420; PI: McClain) for editorial assistance.

#### References

- (CDC) CfDCaP. Leading causes of morbidity and mortality and associated behavioral risk and protective factors—United States. CDC National Health Report 2005–2013; 2014.
- [2] Jha V, Garcia-Garcia G. Global kidney disease authors' reply. Lancet 2013;382(9900):1244.
- [3] National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (NKUDIC). Kidney disease statistics for the United States; 2012. Available from: http://kidney.niddk.nih.gov/kudiseases/pubs/kustats/.

#### 66. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPROACHES FOR THE KIDNEY

- [4] Benigni A, Morigi M, Remuzzi G. Kidney regeneration. Lancet 2010;375(9722):1310-7.
- [5] Eirin A, Lerman LO. Mesenchymal stem cell treatment for chronic renal failure. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014;5(4):83.
- [6] Rosenberg ME. Cell-based therapies in kidney disease. Kidney Int Suppl 2013;3(4):364–7.
- [7] Li Y, Wingert RA. Regenerative medicine for the kidney: stem cell prospects & challenges. Clin Transl Med 2013;2(1):11.
- [8] Hendry CE, Little MH. Reprogramming the kidney: a novel approach for regeneration. Kidney Int 2012;82(2):138-46.
- [9] Humes HD, Buffington DA, MacKay SM, Funke AJ, Weitzel WF. Replacement of renal function in uremic animals with a tissue-engineered kidney. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17(5):451–5.
- [10] Perin L, Giuliani S, Jin D, Sedrakyan S, Carraro G, Habibian R, et al. Renal differentiation of amniotic fluid stem cells. Cell Prolif 2007;40(6): 936–48.
- [11] Ko IK, Lee SJ, Atala A, Yoo JJ. In situ tissue regeneration through host stem cell recruitment. Exp Mol Med 2013;45:e57.
- [12] Dressler GR. The cellular basis of kidney development. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2006;22:509–29.
- [13] Wagers AJ. The stem cell niche in regenerative medicine. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10(4):362–9.
- [14] Peired A, Lazzeri E, Lasagni L, Romagnani P. Glomerular regeneration: when can the kidney regenerate from injury and what turns failure into success? Nephron Exp Nephrol 2014;126(2):70.
- [15] Miraglia S, Godfrey W, Buck D. A response to AC133 hematopoietic stem cell antigen: human homologue of mouse kidney prominin or distinct member of a novel protein family? Blood 1998;91(11):4390–1.
- [16] Corbeil D, Roper K, Hellwig A, Tavian M, Miraglia S, Watt SM, et al. The human AC133 hematopoietic stem cell antigen is also expressed in epithelial cells and targeted to plasma membrane protrusions. J Biol Chem 2000;275(8):5512–20.
- [17] Bussolati B, Bruno S, Grange C, Buttiglieri S, Deregibus MC, Cantino D, et al. Isolation of renal progenitor cells from adult human kidney. Am J Pathol 2005;166(2):545–55.
- [18] Sagrinati C, Netti GS, Mazzinghi B, Lazzeri E, Liotta F, Frosali F, et al. Isolation and characterization of multipotent progenitor cells from the Bowman's capsule of adult human kidneys. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17(9):2443–56.
- [19] Pavenstadt H. Roles of the podocyte in glomerular function. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 2000;278(2):F173-9.
- [20] Ronconi E, Sagrinati C, Angelotti ML, Lazzeri E, Mazzinghi B, Ballerini L, et al. Regeneration of glomerular podocytes by human renal progenitors. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20(2):322–32.
- [21] Horvat R, Hovorka A, Dekan G, Poczewski H, Kerjaschki D. Endothelial cell membranes contain podocalyxin-the major sialoprotein of visceral glomerular epithelial cells. J Cell Biol 1986;102(2):484–91.
- [22] Oliver JA, Maarouf O, Cheema FH, Martens TP, Al-Awqati Q. The renal papilla is a niche for adult kidney stem cells. J Clin Invest 2004; 114(6):795–804.
- [23] Ward HH, Romero E, Welford A, Pickett G, Bacallao R, Gattone 2nd VH, et al. Adult human CD133/1(+) kidney cells isolated from papilla integrate into developing kidney tubules. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011;1812(10):1344–57.
- [24] Patschan D, Michurina T, Shi HK, Dolff S, Brodsky SV, Vasilieva T, et al. Normal distribution and medullary-to-cortical shift of nestinexpressing cells in acute renal ischemia. Kidney Int 2007;71(8):744–54.
- [25] Witzgall R, Brown D, Schwarz C, Bonventre JV. Localization of proliferating cell nuclear antigen, vimentin, c-Fos, and clusterin in the postischemic kidney. Evidence for a heterogenous genetic response among nephron segments, and a large pool of mitotically active and dedifferentiated cells. J Clin Invest 1994;93(5):2175–88.
- [26] Duffield JS, Park KM, Hsiao LL, Kelley VR, Scadden DT, Ichimura T, et al. Restoration of tubular epithelial cells during repair of the postischemic kidney occurs independently of bone marrow-derived stem cells. J Clin Invest 2005;115(7):1743–55.
- [27] Lin F, Moran A, Igarashi P. Intrarenal cells, not bone marrow-derived cells, are the major source for regeneration in postischemic kidney. J Clin Invest 2005;115(7):1756-64.
- [28] Humphreys BD, Valerius MT, Kobayashi A, Mugford JW, Soeung S, Duffield JS, et al. Intrinsic epithelial cells repair the kidney after injury. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2(3):284–91.
- [29] Chute JP, Muramoto GG, Whitesides J, Colvin M, Safi R, Chao NJ, et al. Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase and retinoid signaling induces the expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103(31):11707–12.
- [30] Douville J, Beaulieu R, Balicki D. ALDH1 as a functional marker of cancer stem and progenitor cells. Stem Cells Dev 2009;18(1):17–25.
- [31] Baer PC, Nockher WA, Haase W, Scherberich JE. Isolation of proximal and distal tubule cells from human kidney by immunomagnetic separation. Technical note. Kidney Int 1997;52(5):1321–31.
- [32] Helbert MJ, Dauwe SE, Van der Biest I, Nouwen EJ, De Broe ME. Immunodissection of the human proximal nephron: flow sorting of S1S2S3, S1S2 and S3 proximal tubular cells. Kidney Int 1997;52(2):414–28.
- [33] Van der Hauwaert C, Savary G, Gnemmi V, Glowacki F, Pottier N, Bouillez A, et al. Isolation and characterization of a primary proximal tubular epithelial cell model from human kidney by CD10/CD13 double labeling. PLoS One 2013;8(6):e66750.
- [34] Guimaraes-Souza NK, Yamaleyeva LM, AbouShwareb T, Atala A, Yoo JJ. In vitro reconstitution of human kidney structures for renal cell therapy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012;27(8):3082–90.
- [35] George SK, Abolbashari M, Jackson JD, Aboushwareb T, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Potential use of autologous renal cells from diseased kidneys for the treatment of renal failure. PLoS One 2016;11(10):e0164997.
- [36] Yamaleyeva LM, Guimaraes-Souza NK, Krane LS, Agcaoili S, Gyabaah K, Atala A, et al. Cell therapy with human renal cell cultures containing erythropoietin-positive cells improves chronic kidney injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 2012;1(5):373–83.
- [37] Maxwell PH, Osmond MK, Pugh CW, Heryet A, Nicholls LG, Tan CC, et al. Identification of the renal erythropoietin-producing cells using transgenic mice. Kidney Int 1993;44(5):1149–62.
- [38] Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981;78(12):7634-8.
- [39] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126(4):663-76.
- [40] Morizane R, Monkawa T, Itoh H. Differentiation of murine embryonic stem and induced pluripotent stem cells to renal lineage in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009;390(4):1334–9.

- [41] Kim D, Dressler GR. Nephrogenic factors promote differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into renal epithelia. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16(12):3527–34.
- [42] Steenhard BM, Isom KS, Cazcarro P, Dunmore JH, Godwin AR, St John PL, et al. Integration of embryonic stem cells in metanephric kidney organ culture. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16(6):1623–31.
- [43] Vigneau C, Polgar K, Striker G, Elliott J, Hyink D, Weber O, et al. Mouse embryonic stem cell-derived embryoid bodies generate progenitors that integrate long term into renal proximal tubules in vivo. J Am Soc Nephrol 2007;18(6):1709–20.
- [44] Zhou T, Benda C, Dunzinger S, Huang Y, Ho JC, Yang J, et al. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells from urine samples. Nat Protoc 2012;7(12):2080–9.
- [45] Song B, Smink AM, Jones CV, Callaghan JM, Firth SD, Bernard CA, et al. The directed differentiation of human iPS cells into kidney podocytes. PLoS One 2012;7(9):e46453.
- [46] Lee PY, Chien Y, Chiou GY, Lin CH, Chiou CH, Tarng DC. Induced pluripotent stem cells without c-Myc attenuate acute kidney injury via downregulating the signaling of oxidative stress and inflammation in ischemia-reperfusion rats. Cell Transpl 2012;21(12):2569–85.
- [47] Imberti B, Tomasoni S, Ciampi O, Pezzotta A, Derosas M, Xinaris C, et al. Renal progenitors derived from human iPSCs engraft and restore function in a mouse model of acute kidney injury. Sci Rep 2015;5:8826.
- [48] Okita K, Nagata N, Yamanaka S. Immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells. Circ Res 2011;109(7):720-1.
- [49] De Coppi P, Bartsch Jr G, Siddiqui MM, Xu T, Santos CC, Perin L, et al. Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25(1):100–6.
- [50] Hauser PV, De Fazio R, Bruno S, Sdei S, Grange C, Bussolati B, et al. Stem cells derived from human amniotic fluid contribute to acute kidney injury recovery. Am J Pathol 2010;177(4):2011–21.
- [51] Rota C, Imberti B, Pozzobon M, Piccoli M, De Coppi P, Atala A, et al. Human amniotic fluid stem cell preconditioning improves their regenerative potential. Stem Cells Dev 2012;21(11):1911–23.
- [52] Sedrakyan S, Da Sacco S, Milanesi A, Shiri L, Petrosyan A, Varimezova R, et al. Injection of amniotic fluid stem cells delays progression of renal fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;23(4):661–73.
- [53] Baulier E, Favreau F, Le Corf A, Jayle C, Schneider F, Goujon JM, et al. Amniotic fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells prevent fibrosis and preserve renal function in a preclinical porcine model of kidney transplantation. Stem Cells Transl Med 2014;3(7):809–20.
- [54] Togel F, Hu Z, Weiss K, Isaac J, Lange C, Westenfelder C. Administered mesenchymal stem cells protect against ischemic acute renal failure through differentiation-independent mechanisms. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 2005;289(1):F31–42.
- [55] Hu J, Zhang L, Wang N, Ding R, Cui S, Zhu F, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells attenuate ischemic acute kidney injury by inducing regulatory T cells through splenocyte interactions. Kidney Int 2013;84(3):521–31.
- [56] Morigi M, Introna M, Imberti B, Corna D, Abbate M, Rota C, et al. Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells accelerate recovery of acute renal injury and prolong survival in mice. Stem Cells 2008;26(8):2075–82.
- [57] Reis LA, Borges FT, Simoes MJ, Borges AA, Sinigaglia-Coimbra R, Schor N. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells repaired but did not prevent gentamicin-induced acute kidney injury through paracrine effects in rats. PLoS One 2012;7(9):e44092.
- [58] Xinaris C, Morigi M, Benedetti V, Imberti B, Fabricio AS, Squarcina E, et al. A novel strategy to enhance mesenchymal stem cell migration capacity and promote tissue repair in an injury specific fashion. Cell Transpl 2013;22(3):423–36.
- [59] Semedo P, Correa-Costa M, Antonio Cenedeze M, Maria Avancini Costa Malheiros D, Antonia dos Reis M, Shimizu MH, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells attenuate renal fibrosis through immune modulation and remodeling properties in a rat remnant kidney model. Stem Cells 2009; 27(12):3063–73.
- [60] Franquesa M, Herrero E, Torras J, Ripoll E, Flaquer M, Goma M, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy prevents interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy in a rat kidney allograft model. Stem Cells Dev 2012;21(17):3125–35.
- [61] Prodromidi EL, Poulsom R, Jeffery R, Roufosse CA, Pollard PJ, Pusey CD, et al. Bone marrow-derived cells contribute to podocyte regeneration and amelioration of renal disease in a mouse model of Alport syndrome. Stem Cells 2006;24(11):2448-55.
- [62] Chen YT, Sun CK, Lin YC, Chang LT, Chen YL, Tsai TH, et al. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell protects kidneys against ischemiareperfusion injury through suppressing oxidative stress and inflammatory reaction. J Transl Med 2011;9:51.
- [63] Donizetti-Oliveira C, Semedo P, Burgos-Silva M, Cenedeze MA, Malheiros DM, Reis MA, et al. Adipose tissue-derived stem cell treatment prevents renal disease progression. Cell Transpl 2012;21(8):1727–41.
- [64] Kim JH, Park DJ, Yun JC, Jung MH, Yeo HD, Kim HJ, et al. Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect kidneys from cisplatin nephrotoxicity in rats. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 2012;302(9):F1141-50.
- [65] Eirin A, Zhu XY, Krier JD, Tang H, Jordan KL, Grande JP, et al. Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells improve revascularization outcomes to restore renal function in swine atherosclerotic renal artery stenosis. Stem Cells 2012;30(5):1030–41.
- [66] Zhu XY, Urbieta-Caceres V, Krier JD, Textor SC, Lerman A, Lerman LO. Mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitor cells decrease renal injury in experimental swine renal artery stenosis through different mechanisms. Stem Cells 2013;31(1):117–25.
- [67] Tan J, Wu W, Xu X, Liao L, Zheng F, Messinger S, et al. Induction therapy with autologous mesenchymal stem cells in living-related kidney transplants: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2012;307(11):1169–77.
- [68] Perico N, Casiraghi F, Introna M, Gotti E, Todeschini M, Cavinato RA, et al. Autologous mesenchymal stromal cells and kidney transplantation: a pilot study of safety and clinical feasibility. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2011;6(2):412–22.
- [69] reports GIPmr. Acute renal failure (ARF) (acute kidney injury)-Pipeline Review, H2 2014. 2014.
- [70] Peerani R, Zandstra PW. Enabling stem cell therapies through synthetic stem cell-niche engineering. J Clin Invest 2010;120(1):60-70.
- [71] Pariente JL, Kim BS, Atala A. In vitro biocompatibility assessment of naturally derived and synthetic biomaterials using normal human urothelial cells. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;55(1):33–9.
- [72] Drury JL, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. Biomaterials 2003;24(24):4337-51.
- [73] Wang PC, Takezawa T. Reconstruction of renal glomerular tissue using collagen vitrigel scaffold. J Biosci Bioeng 2005;99(6):529–40.
- [74] Lu SH, Lin Q, Liu YN, Gao Q, Hao T, Wang Y, et al. Self-assembly of renal cells into engineered renal tissues in collagen/Matrigel scaffold in vitro. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2012;6(10):786–92.
- [75] Collins MN, Birkinshaw C. Hyaluronic acid based scaffolds for tissue engineering-a review. Carbohydr Polym 2013;92(2):1262-79.

#### 66. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPROACHES FOR THE KIDNEY

- [76] Rosines E, Johkura K, Zhang X, Schmidt HJ, Decambre M, Bush KT, et al. Constructing kidney-like tissues from cells based on programs for organ development: toward a method of in vitro tissue engineering of the kidney. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(8):2441–55.
- [77] Bryant SJ, Anseth KS. The effects of scaffold thickness on tissue engineered cartilage in photocrosslinked poly(ethylene oxide) hydrogels. Biomaterials 2001;22(6):619–26.
- [78] Gunatillake PA, Adhikari R. Biodegradable synthetic polymers for tissue engineering. Eur Cell Mater 2003;5:1–16. Discussion.
- [79] Yoo JJ, Ashkar S, Atala A. Creation of functional kidney structures with excretion of kidney-like fluid in vivo. Pediatrics 1996;98(Suppl.):605.
   [80] Kim SS, Park HJ, Han J, Choi CY, Kim BS. Renal tissue reconstitution by the implantation of renal segments on biodegradable polymer scaffolds. Biotechnol Lett 2003;25(18):1505–8.
- [81] Lanza RP, Chung HY, Yoo JJ, Wettstein PJ, Blackwell C, Borson N, et al. Generation of histocompatible tissues using nuclear transplantation. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20(7):689–96.
- [82] Chen F, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Acellular collagen matrix as a possible "off the shelf" biomaterial for urethral repair. Urology 1999;54(3):407-10.
- [83] Sullivan DC, Mirmalek-Sani SH, Deegan DB, Baptista PM, Aboushwareb T, Atala A, et al. Decellularization methods of porcine kidneys for whole organ engineering using a high-throughput system. Biomaterials 2012;33(31):7756–64.
- [84] Song JJ, Guyette JP, Gilpin SE, Gonzalez G, Vacanti JP, Ott HC. Regeneration and experimental orthotopic transplantation of a bioengineered kidney. Nat Med 2013;19(5):646–51.
- [85] Ott HC, Matthiesen TS, Goh SK, Black LD, Kren SM, Netoff TI, et al. Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med 2008;14(2):213–21.
- [86] Baptista PM, Siddiqui MM, Lozier G, Rodriguez SR, Atala A, Soker S. The use of whole organ decellularization for the generation of a vascularized liver organoid. Hepatology 2011;53(2):604–17.
- [87] Orlando G, Wood KJ, Stratta RJ, Yoo JJ, Atala A, Soker S. Regenerative medicine and organ transplantation: past, present, and future. Transplantation 2011;91(12):1310-7.
- [88] Uygun BE, Soto-Gutierrez A, Yagi H, Izamis ML, Guzzardi MA, Shulman C, et al. Organ reengineering through development of a transplantable recellularized liver graft using decellularized liver matrix. Nat Med 2010;16(7):814–20.
- [89] Ott HC, Clippinger B, Conrad C, Schuetz C, Pomerantseva I, Ikonomou L, et al. Regeneration and orthotopic transplantation of a bioartificial lung. Nat Med 2010;16(8):927–33.
- [90] Ross EA, Williams MJ, Hamazaki T, Terada N, Clapp WL, Adin C, et al. Embryonic stem cells proliferate and differentiate when seeded into kidney scaffolds. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20(11):2338–47.
- [91] Ross EA, Abrahamson DR, St John P, Clapp WL, Williams MJ, Terada N, et al. Mouse stem cells seeded into decellularized rat kidney scaffolds endothelialize and remodel basement membranes. Organogenesis 2012;8(2):49–55.
- [92] Nakayama KH, Batchelder CA, Lee CI, Tarantal AF. Decellularized rhesus monkey kidney as a three-dimensional scaffold for renal tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16(7):2207–16.
- [93] Petersen TH, Calle EA, Zhao L, Lee EJ, Gui L, Raredon MB, et al. Tissue-engineered lungs for in vivo implantation. Science 2010;329(5991): 538–41.
- [94] Novitskaya T, McDermott L, Zhang KX, Chiba T, Paueksakon P, Hukriede NA, et al. A PTBA small molecule enhances recovery and reduces postinjury fibrosis after aristolochic acid-induced kidney injury. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 2014;306(5):F496–504.
- [95] Orlando G, Booth C, Wang Z, Totonelli G, Ross CL, Moran E, et al. Discarded human kidneys as a source of ECM scaffold for kidney regeneration technologies. Biomaterials 2013;34(24):5915-25.
- [96] Song B, Niclis JC, Alikhan MA, Sakkal S, Sylvain A, Kerr PG, et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human kidney mesangial cells. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011;22(7):1213–20.
- [97] Sanchez-Pozos K, Lee-Montiel F, Perez-Villalva R, Uribe N, Gamba G, Bazan-Perkins B, et al. Polymerized type I collagen reduces chronic cyclosporine nephrotoxicity. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010;25(7):2150–8.
- [98] Dankers PY, van Luyn MJ, Huizinga-van der Vlag A, van Gemert GM, Petersen AH, Meijer EW, et al. Development and in-vivo characterization of supramolecular hydrogels for intrarenal drug delivery. Biomaterials 2012;33(20):5144-55.
- [99] Furuzawa-Carballeda J, Rodriquez-Calderon R, Diaz de Leon L, Alcocer-Varela J. Mediators of inflammation are down-regulated while apoptosis is up-regulated in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue by polymerized collagen. Clin Exp Immunol 2002;130(1):140–9.
- [100] Olmos-Zuniga JR, Hernandez-Jimenez C, Diaz-Martinez E, Jasso-Victoria R, Sotres-Vega A, Gaxiola-Gaxiola MO, et al. Wound healing modulators in a tracheoplasty canine model. J Invest Surg 2007;20(6):333–8.
- [101] Chen FM, Zhang M, Wu ZF. Toward delivery of multiple growth factors in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010;31(24):6279-308.
- [102] Serban MA, Knight T, Payne RG, Basu J, Rivera EA, Robbins N, et al. Cross-linked gelatin microspheres with continuously tunable degradation profiles for renal tissue regeneration. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 2014;61(2):75–81.
- [103] Zandstra J, van Beuge MM, Zuidema J, Petersen AH, Staal M, Duque LF, et al. Microsphere-based rapamycin delivery, systemic versus local administration in a rat model of renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. Pharm Res 2015;32.
- [104] Succar L, Lai-Kwon J, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Rangan GK. Induction monotherapy with sirolimus has selected beneficial effects on glomerular and tubulointersititial injury in nephrotoxic serum nephritis. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis 2014;7:303–13.
- [105] Wang B, Ding W, Zhang M, Li H, Gu Y. Rapamycin attenuates aldosterone-induced tubulointerstitial inflammation and fibrosis. Cell Physiol Biochem 2015;35(1):116–25.
- [106] Zeisberg M, Hanai J, Sugimoto H, Mammoto T, Charytan D, Strutz F, et al. BMP-7 counteracts TGF-beta1-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and reverses chronic renal injury. Nat Med 2003;9(7):964–8.
- [107] LeBleu VS, Teng Y, O'Connell JT, Charytan D, Muller GA, Muller CA, et al. Identification of human epididymis protein-4 as a fibroblastderived mediator of fibrosis. Nat Med 2013;19(2):227–31.
- [108] Lu B, Atala A. Small molecules and small molecule drugs in regenerative medicine. Drug Discov Today 2014;19(6):801-8.
- [109] Langle D, Halver J, Rathmer B, Willems E, Schade D. Small molecules targeting in vivo tissue regeneration. ACS Chem Biol 2014;9(1):57–71.
   [110] Baker MP, Reynolds HM, Lumicisi B, Bryson CJ. Immunogenicity of protein therapeutics: the key causes, consequences and challenges. Self
  - Nonself 2010;1(4):314–22.
- [111] Sugimoto H, LeBleu VS, Bosukonda D, Keck P, Taduri G, Bechtel W, et al. Activin-like kinase 3 is important for kidney regeneration and reversal of fibrosis. Nat Med 2012;18(3):396–404.

#### REFERENCES

- [112] Brilli LL, Swanhart LM, de Caestecker MP, Hukriede NA. HDAC inhibitors in kidney development and disease. Pediatr Nephrol 2013; 28(10):1909–21.
- [113] Moon KH, Ko IK, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Kidney diseases and tissue engineering. Methods 2016;15(99):112-9.
- [114] Lindgren D, Bostrom AK, Nilsson K, Hansson J, Sjolund J, Moller C, et al. Isolation and characterization of progenitor-like cells from human renal proximal tubules. Am J Pathol 2011;178(2):828–37.
- [115] Falke LL, van Vuuren SH, Kazazi-Hyseni F, Ramazani F, Nguyen TQ, Veldhuis GJ, et al. Local therapeutic efficacy with reduced systemic side effects by rapamycin-loaded subcapsular microspheres. Biomaterials 2015;42:151–60.

This page intentionally left blank

### Functional Tissue Engineering of Ligament and Tendon Injuries

Savio L-Y. Woo<sup>1</sup>, Jonquil R. Mau<sup>1</sup>, Huijun Kang<sup>1</sup>, Rui Liang<sup>1</sup>, Alejandro J. Almarza<sup>1</sup>, Matthew B. Fisher<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States; <sup>2</sup>North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States

#### INTRODUCTION

Tendons and ligaments are soft connective tissues composed of closely packed, parallel collagen fiber bundles that connect bone to muscle and bone to bone, respectively. These unique tissues serve essential roles in the musculoskeletal system by transferring tensile loads to guide motion and stabilize diarthrodial joints. Injuries to tendons, such as the patellar tendon (PT) of the knee, or ligaments, such as the collateral and cruciate ligaments of the knee, upset the balance between mobility and stability of this joint. These injuries are often manifested in abnormal knee kinematics and damage to other tissues in and around the joint, such as meniscus and articular cartilage, which may lead to morbidity, pain, and osteoarthritis. With the high incidence of ligament and tendon injuries in sports and work-related activities, improvements in healing and repair of these tissues are of great interest [1].

There is dramatic variability in the propensity for healing of the medial collateral ligament (MCL) and anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) in the same knee joint. Clinical and laboratory studies have shown that injuries to the MCL could generally heal well such that nonsurgical management has become the treatment of choice and the structural properties of the femur–MCL–tibia complex (FMTC) in the functional range are restored within weeks [2–8]. However, the mechanical properties of the healed MCL (i.e., the stress–strain relationship) could not return to those of the normal MCL and the histomorphological appearance (e.g., uniform distribution of small collagen fibrils) and biochemical composition are altered (e.g., elevated type III and V collagens) [9–19]. As such, the healing MCL needed to be significantly larger (higher in quantity) to make up for the lack of quality.

For the ACL, it is well-known that a midsubstance tear would not heal and the success of nonsurgical management has been limited. Thus, surgical reconstruction of the ACL using autografts harvested from the PT or hamstring tendons as a replacement is performed to restore knee stability and function. However, there are issues affecting patient outcome from the use of bone–PT–bone (BPTB) autografts, including a persistent palpable defect in the tendon, anterior knee pain, arthrofibrosis, changes to the remaining PT, and PT adhesion to adjacent tissues (i.e., the fat pad) [20,21]. For hamstring tendon autografts, there are issues including a slower healing rate at the soft tissue to bone interphase, less long-term stability of the knee [22], significant hamstring muscle weakness [23,24], as well as an increased prevalence of bone tunnel enlargement after reconstruction [25–28].

Long-term clinical follow-up studies for patients who underwent ACL reconstruction for 10 or more years demonstrate up to 25% of unsatisfactory results that include a prevalence of osteoarthritis [29–31]. Hence, functional tissue engineering (FTE) and regenerative medicine approaches are attractive to improve the suboptimal quality of the healing MCL and issues related to ACL graft harvest and healing after reconstruction. In addition, healing of the injured ACL using FTE as an alternative to reconstruction is a subject of intense interest. These same principles could also be applied to aid the repair of other ligaments and tendons [17,32–37].

In this chapter, we will review the properties of normal and healing ligaments and tendons and discuss the current FTE methods, including the use of growth factors, gene delivery, stem cell therapy, and biological augmentation as well as mechanical augmentation, aimed at enhancing tendon and ligament healing. The goal is not only to restore the normal histomorphological appearance, biochemistry, and mechanical properties of the healing ligament, but most important, to regain normal joint function. New technologies and research avenues are suggested that have the potential to enhance treatment strategies for ligament and tendon injuries.

#### NORMAL LIGAMENTS AND TENDONS

#### Biology

Ligaments and tendons are hypovascular [38–40] and hypocellular with less than 5% of the total volume occupied by cells [39,41,42]. The cells in these tissues, fibroblasts, or tenocytes, exert important functions in maintaining and remodeling the extracellular matrix (ECM) in which they reside, which consists of both fibrillar (e.g., collagen and elastin) and nonfibrillar (e.g., proteoglycans, elastin, glycolipids, and water) components. The collagen fibers are organized and well-oriented along the longitudinal direction. Normally, the cells are arranged in rows along these fibers [43,44].

Collagen fibers in normal ligaments or tendons are mainly formed by type I collagen (roughly 70–80% dry weight). When viewed histologically under unloaded conditions, these collagen fibers display a crimp pattern with a regular wavy appearance [41,42,45,46]. Under transmission electron microscopy, a bimodal distribution of collagen fibril size can be observed with one group of fibrils measuring 40–75 nm in diameter, and the other, larger fibrils 100–150 nm in diameter [47–50]. Such a bimodal distribution is functionally significant because the incorporation of a high fraction of small-diameter fibrils ensures better interfibrillar binding by virtue of their higher surface—volume ratio whereas the large-diameter fibrils meet the strength requirements. In addition, a bimodal distribution can improve fibril packing—the smaller fibrils wedge themselves in the spaces left among the larger ones [51].

Besides type I collagen, many other collagen subtypes, including III, V, X, XI, and XII, are present in much smaller amounts but still play important roles in maintaining the structure and functions of ligaments and tendons. For example, type III collagen is involved in tissue healing and remodeling [52]; type V collagen has been found to exist in association with type I collagen and serve as a regulator of collagen fibril diameter [53,54]; and type XII collagen provides lubrication between collagen fibers [55]. Interestingly, collagen types IX, X, and XI have been identified to coexist with type II collagen at the fibrocartilaginous zone of the ligament—bone and tendon—bone interfaces [56—58]. The significance of the coexistence has been related to the minimization of stress concentrations when loads are transmitted from soft tissue to bone [59,60].

The ground substance makes up only a small percentage of the total dry tissue weight of ligaments or tendons but it is nevertheless pivotal in its function because of its ability to intake water. Water and proteoglycans are crucial to the gliding function of fibers in the tissue matrix by providing lubrication and spacing of collagen fibers. Elastin, another fibrillar macromolecule in matrix, is also present in ligaments and tendons at a few percent by weight. Although its detailed significance has yet to be elucidated, elastin has been implicated in its ability to allow the tissue to return to its prestretched length and shape upon unloading. Collectively, these constituents are indispensable in the normal functioning of collagen fibers by distributing load optimally in response to mechanical stress.

Although ligaments and tendons are morphologically similar, they are different in their compositions. For example, ligaments are composed primarily of water (65–70% of wet weight) and collagen (70–80% of dry weight); type I collagen is the most abundant collagen subtype. Type III collagen (8% dry weight), type V collagen (12% dry weight), and other minor subtypes such as II, IX, X, XI, and XII, have also been found to be present [56–58,61]. Tendons, on the other hand, generally contain less water (55% wet weight) and slightly more type I collagen (85% dry weight), along with much smaller amounts of other collagen subtypes, such as III, V, XII, and XIV [49]. In addition, most ligaments are more metabolically active. They have more cellular nuclei, a higher DNA content, and greater amounts of reducible cross-links between collagen fibers [45].

#### Biomechanics

The major function of ligaments and tendons includes maintaining the proper anatomic alignment of the skeleton and guiding joint movements. They also transmit forces along their longitudinal axis; hence, their biomechanical properties are measured in uniaxial tension and they exhibit nonlinear behavior governed by the recruitment of collagen. These unique properties allow ligaments to maintain smooth normal joint motion that requires low loads. In response to high loads, stiffness increases dramatically to limit excessive joint displacements. Thus, when large muscle forces are applied, the bones are well-aligned to allow them to glide smoothly on each other. Ligaments and tendons also exhibit time- and history-dependent viscoelastic behavior that could be attributed to the complex interactions of tissue constituents such as collagen, proteoglycans, water, and ground substance [62-65]. Viscoelastic properties of ligaments and tendons are important and clinically relevant. For instance, during regular activities such as walking and jogging, tissues have the ability to soften over time. This phenomenon reduces susceptibility to damage related to fatigue [63-65].

However, after injury, ligaments and tendons generally fail to recover their normal mechanical and viscoelastic properties. Thus, abnormal joint kinematics may result that can lead directly to excessive forces on surrounding tissues (e.g., articular cartilage and meniscus in the knee). This excess loading could result in further injury causing degeneration such as osteoarthritis. Because the ultimate goal is to restore the properties of ligaments and tendons, and thus the function of the injured joint, it is necessary to understand their normal mechanical behavior and how they contribute to joint function. To do this, two common mechanical tests have been designed: (1) uniaxial tensile testing, which is a test to measure the structural properties of the bone–ligament–bone complex and mechanical properties of the tissue substance; and (2) functional testing, which determines the contribution of the ligament or tendon to joint kinematics and the in situ forces in response to externally applied loading conditions.

#### **Uniaxial Tensile Testing**

Tendons are generally long and can be tested in their isolated state using sinusoidal-shape or frozen grips to limit slippage. Isolated ligaments, on the other hand, are shorter in length, which makes it difficult to clamp them independently. Hence, a uniaxial tensile test is generally conducted on the entire bone–ligament–bone complex (e.g., FMTC) with tissue insertion sites left anatomically intact. With cross-sectional area (CSA) measurements and the use of tissue markers to measure tissue strain, the structural properties of the bone–ligament–bone complex as well as mechanical properties of the ligament substance can be measured from a load to failure test [66,67].

Structural properties (Fig. 67.1) of the bone–ligament–bone complex (i.e., a load–elongation curve) are generally described by four parameters including stiffness (slope of the linear portion of the load–elongation curve), ultimate load (maximum load at which the complex fails), ultimate elongation (elongation corresponding to the maximum load), and energy absorbed at failure (area under the curve to the maximum load). These data reflect the behavior of the entire bone–ligament–bone complex, which includes tissue size, orientation of collagen fibers to applied loads, and as the contribution of the bony insertions [67].

Measuring the mechanical properties (Fig. 67.2) of the ligament substance (i.e., a stress-strain curve), on the other hand, requires knowledge of the CSA of the ligament, commonly measured using a laser micrometer system [66], and tissue strain, commonly measured using video techniques to track two or more reflective markers placed on the tissue midsubstance [8]. Stress in the tissue is obtained by dividing load by the CSA, and strain is obtained by computing change in the marker distance during the test relative to their original distance. Parameters describing the mechanical properties of the ligaments and tendons (Fig. 67.2) include the tangent modulus (slope of the linear portion of the stress-strain curve), tensile strength (stress at failure), ultimate strain (strain corresponding to the tensile strength), and strain energy density (area under the stress-strain curve until failure). These data represent the quality of the tissue, irrespective of tissue size.

The viscoelastic properties of ligaments and tendons include stress relaxation (decrease in stress over time in response to a constant elongation) and creep (increase in elongation over time in response to a constant load). In addition, they display a phenomenon called "hysteresis" in response to cyclic loading (Fig. 67.3). This results from a loss of



FIGURE 67.1 Typical load—elongation curve representing the structural properties of the femur—anterior medial bundle—tibia complex of the human anterior cruciate ligament.



FIGURE 67.2 Atypical stress-strain curve representing the mechanical properties of the anterior medial bundle of the human anterior cruciate ligament.



FIGURE 67.3 Hysteresis loops (first and 10th cycles) obtained from cyclic loading of the femur–anterior medial bundle–tibia complex of the human anterior cruciate ligament in uniaxial tension. The area of hysteresis (area between the loading and unloading curves) decreases with repetitive cycling, demonstrating the phenomenon of "preconditioning."

internal energy causing the loading and unloading paths to be different. The area of hysteresis reduces as the tissue undergoes several cycles of loading and unloading and the tissue is said to be "preconditioned," a state desired for a tissue before mechanical testing. Nonlinear viscoelastic models such as the quasilinear viscoelastic theory:

$$\sigma(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{t} G(t-\tau) \frac{\partial \sigma^{e}(\varepsilon)}{\partial \varepsilon} \frac{\partial \varepsilon}{\partial \tau} \partial \tau, \qquad (67.1)$$

and single integral finite strain theory:

$$\mathbf{T} = -\mathbf{p}\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{C}_0\{[1+\mu\mathbf{I}(t)]\mathbf{B}(t) - \mu\mathbf{B}^2(t)\} - \mathbf{C}_0(1-\gamma) * \int_0^t \dot{\mathbf{G}}(t-s)\{[1+\mu\mathbf{I}(s)]\mathbf{B}(t) - \mu\mathbf{F}(t)\mathbf{C}(s)\mathbf{F}^T(s)\}ds, \quad (67.2)$$

have been used to model these behaviors in ligaments and tendons [62-65,68].

These basic testing methodologies described have been employed for a number of decades. In our research center, much work has been devoted to finding the most appropriate testing procedures, which include specimen orientation [69], handling, storage, and hydration [70,71]. These carefully developed methodologies have led to important findings regarding physiological changes associated with growth and development [69–71], the adaptation of ligaments and tendons to mobility [5,6,63–65,72], and the effects of injury and treatment [5,6,19].

#### **Contribution to Joint Function**

Joint motion is governed by the direction and magnitude of externally applied loads, ligament forces, contact between joint surfaces, and muscle activity. For the knee, motions include a combination of translations (proximodistal,



FIGURE 67.4 Schematic drawing illustrating the six degrees of freedom of motion of the human knee joint, indicating anteroposterior (AP), mediolateral (ML), and proximodistal (PD) translation as well as flexion–extension (FE), internal–external (IE), and varus–valgus (VV) rotation. *DOF*, degrees of freedom.

mediolateral, and anteroposterior) and rotations (internal–external, flexion–extension, and varus–valgus). In total, these translations and rotations describe motion in 6 degrees of freedom (DOF).

While evaluating joint function, constraining DOF of the knee can have significant impact on the results obtained [73,74]. When knee motion was allowed in all directions, sectioning the MCL resulted in only small increases in valgus laxity (21%), which suggests that the ACL has a significant role as a joint restraint to this knee motion. However, when anteroposterior translation and internal—external rotation were constrained, valgus laxity increased significantly (171%) after sectioning of the MCL. For this reason, it is important to have a testing device that allows for unconstrained knee motion.

For more than 2 decades, a robotic—universal force-moment sensor (UFS) testing system developed by our research center has been used to study knee kinematics as well as directly measure the in situ forces in the knee ligaments in response to external loading conditions (Fig. 67.4) [75,76]. This methodology has been employed to study the function of the ACL and a number of variables for ACL reconstruction, including surgical technique [77–79] and graft choice [80]. In addition, knee function after ligament injury has been studied for both the MCL and ACL [8,81–84].

#### HEALING OF LIGAMENTS AND TENDONS

The events of healing of ligaments and tendons can be roughly divided into four overlapping phases: hemorrhage, inflammation, repair (proliferation), and remodeling. Minutes after the ligament injury, blood collects and forms a platelet-rich fibrin clot at the injury site and the hemorrhagic and inflammatory phases occur over several days. In the hemorrhage phase, a cascade of cellular events occurs that includes release of cytokines within the clot followed by the appearance of polymononuclear leukocytes and lymphocytes. These cells respond to autocrine and paracrine signals to expand the inflammatory response and recruit other types of cells to the wound [85].

The reparative phase follows over the next couple of weeks to months. During this phase, fibroblasts recruited to the injury site start forming healing tissue. Growth factors, including transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) isoforms, are involved in modulating healing [86]. Meanwhile, increased neo-vascularization brings in circulating cells and nutrients to enhance the healing process further. The blood clot quickly turns into newly formed healing tissue that is composed of an aggregation of cells surrounded by a matrix.

However, its histomorphological appearance and biochemical composition are different from those of an uninjured ligament. Notably, there is a homogeneous distribution of smaller-diameter collagen fibrils, which is in stark contrast to the bimodal distribution of the normal ligament [12,15,50]. Biochemically, it contains elevated amounts of proteoglycans, a higher ratio of type V to type I collagen, and a decrease in the number of mature collagen cross-links.

Then the remodeling phase follows for months to years after the injury. In this phase, cellularity and levels of collagen type III are decreased, and the matrix is realigned in response to loading applied to the tissues. On the other hand, the diameter of collagen fibrils remains small, and the level of collagen type V remains elevated for years after injury [9,11,12,15,16]. Type V collagen has been shown to have a central role in regulating the lateral aggregation of smaller collagen fibrils. Thus, elevated type V collagen could be associated with the inferior mechanical properties of healing tissue [87,88].

#### Medial Collateral Ligament of the Knee

The healing process of the MCL follows this general healing pathway, as described earlier. Thus, it serves as a good model for studying histological, biochemical, and biomechanical changes over time. It has been shown that the process of MCL healing is greatly affected by treatment [5,6,89–92]. Laboratory and clinical studies have shown that controlled mobilization is superior to immobilization [5,6,19,93]. As a result, nonoperative repairs have a better outcome than surgical repairs. In our research center, a severe "mop-end" injury model of the rabbit MCL that tears the midsubstance while damaging the insertion sites was developed and used to compare nonoperative treatment without mobilization with surgical repair with a brief period of mobilization [19]. After 12 weeks of healing, there were no significant differences in varus–valgus knee rotation, in situ force of the MCL, or tensile properties between repaired and nonrepaired MCL [19]. Based on these studies, clinical management shifted from surgical repair with immobilization to nonoperative management (i.e., bracing) with early controlled range of motion exercises as soon as pain subsides [94,95].

The MCL heals with nonoperative treatment, and the stiffness of the healing FMTC begins to approach normal levels, but the CSA of the healed tissue continues to increase with time, measuring as much as 2.5 times its normal size by 52 weeks after injury [93]. Meanwhile, the mechanical properties of the healing MCL remain consistently low compared with those for the normal ligament and do not improve with time. In other words, the healing process involves making a larger quantity of lesser-quality ligamentous tissue. Moreover, studies show that the rate of healing of the ligament is asynchronous with the insertion sites because of its anatomical and morphological complexity.

There is also evidence that the activity level could influence the rate of healing [81–83]. A goat model was used because it has more robust activity, and it is larger than the rabbit. With this model, the stiffness and ultimate load of the healing goat FMTC are closer to control values at earlier periods than those from the rabbit model.

#### Anterior Cruciate Ligament of the Knee

A midsubstance tear of the ACL has limited potential to heal on its own and can lead to chronic knee instability and damage to secondary stabilizers such as the meniscus. As a result, surgical reconstruction has become the treatment of choice. With the ultimate goal of ACL reconstruction being to restore knee function, the success of these procedures depends on a number of surgical, biomechanical, and biological factors. The most popular choice is autografts from the PT, i.e., bone central (or medial) third of the BPTB, or semitendinosus plus gracilis tendons. Allografts, including the Achilles tendon, BPTB, and hamstring tendons, have seen limited use except in revision surgery or for multiple ligamentous injuries. BPTB grafts are generally considered the reference standard for ACL reconstruction because they facilitate better initial fixation for bone-to-bone healing inside bone tunnels [96–101]. However, the major drawback is that the defect after the large incision does not completely heal for months [20,102–104]. This contributes to a higher incidence of complications including donor site morbidity, patella baja, arthrofibrosis, adhesion to the fat pad, and patellofemoral pain [105–110].

Studies designed to examine the healing PT after harvest have found a deterioration of structural properties of the remaining BPTB complex with a concomitant increase in the CSA of the PT tissue [111–115]. In the rabbit model, the ultimate load of the entire BPTB complex decreased by 38% [112] whereas there was an increase in CSA of 83–108% at 12 weeks after harvest [111,115]. For the central healing tissue, its tangent modulus and ultimate tensile strength were only 15% and 18% of controls, respectively, after 26 weeks [111]. The mechanical properties of the remaining PT tissues also deteriorated compared with sham controls after 24 weeks [115].

After implantation, the autograft becomes inflamed and necrotic, leading to a decrease in graft stiffness and strength [116]. The graft undergoes revascularization and repopulation with fibroblasts followed by remodeling with restructure of the collagen fibers and proteoglycans [117]. Bone block healing within the femoral and tibial tunnels is complete by 6 weeks, whereas graft healing is incomplete, causing consistent failure to occur as the tendon is being pulled out from the tibial tunnel [118]. Over time, however, the femur–graft–tibia complex shows improvement with complete incorporation even though its structural properties fail to be restored to levels of the intact femur–ACL–tibia complex (FATC) even after 12 months [119–121]. Thus, accelerating graft incorporation and healing that lead to an earlier return to normal and sports activities has become a goal of FTE efforts. We will discuss the state of events later in this chapter.

In addition to the graft selection, a number of important surgical decisions include tunnel placement, graft tension, and fixation. A substantial amount of research has focused on these variables in both animal and human models [78,81–83,122]. All of these parameters can lead to various degrees of graft tunnel motion that may affect graft integration and graft healing. Ultimately, these factors have an impact on postoperative rehabilitation and recovery as well as when to return to normal activities and sports.

#### Multiple Ligamentous Injuries in the Knee

Combined ACL and MCL injuries frequently occur. The ideal treatment is still controversial. Some surgeons elect to reconstruct the ACL surgically without addressing the MCL whereas others advocate reconstruction of the ACL with repair of the MCL. Regardless of the treatment modality, clinical and basic science studies continue to show that the outcome of this injury is worse than for an isolated MCL injury but not as clear compared with an isolated ACL injury.

Our research center has elucidated the effects of ACL deficiency on the healing of the injured MCL using canine, rabbit, and goat models [81–83,92,123,124] and recommended that only ACL reconstruction be performed. Furthermore, repairing the MCL in combination with ACL reconstruction resulted in reduced valgus laxity and improved the structural properties of the FMTC but only in the very early stages. In the longer term, all positive effects diminished [123,124]. To date, surgeons prefer to perform ACL reconstruction after a combined ACL–MCL injury.

Using a larger animal model, i.e., the goat stifle joint, the function of the knee and quality of the healing MCL after a combined ACL–MCL injury treated with ACL reconstruction was examined [81–83]. It was found that the valgus rotation of the stifle joint was twice that for an isolated MCL injury. Moreover, the structural properties of the FMTC and tangent modulus of the MCL substance were substantially lower than those for the isolated MCL injury [8,81–83]. These results further demonstrate a clear need for new treatment strategies to enhance ligament healing after multiple ligament injuries.

#### APPLICATION OF FUNCTIONAL TISSUE ENGINEERING

FTE emphasizes the importance of biomechanical considerations in the design and development of cell and matrix-based implants for soft and hard tissue healing. Ligaments and tendons are accustomed to being mechanically challenged; therefore, tissue engineered constructs used to replace these tissues after injury or disease must meet these demands. By combining the fields of molecular biology, biochemistry, and biomechanics, novel therapeutic approaches (e.g., growth factors, gene transfer/gene therapy, cell therapy, and biological scaffolds) offer new potential for better treatment. The following is a brief review of available approaches to enhance ligament and tendon healing.

#### **Growth Factors**

The application of exogenous growth factors is based on the premise that they can promote healing that will lead to a biologically and biomechanically superior healed ligament substance. Many in vitro and in vivo studies have tried to examine their roles and determine appropriate strategies for their use.

#### **In Vitro Studies**

Cell culture or tissue explant methodologies have been the major study designs. By adding exogenous growth factors, responses including cell proliferation, synthesis of ECM proteins such as collagen, proteoglycans, tissue

remodeling enzymes, and cell migration or chemotaxis were measured and compared [125–131]. Early studies in our research center measured the effects of eight different growth factors on the MCL and ACL fibroblast culture [123,132–134]. For cell proliferation, PDGF-BB, epidermal growth factor (EGF), and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) were found to have a significant effect on cell proliferation and caused greater proliferation in MCL fibroblasts versus ACL fibroblasts [134]. The proliferation of MCL and ACL fibroblasts from skeletally immature rabbits actually increased by 7.6 times in response to EGF and 5.6 times in response to bFGF [123]. In skeletally mature rabbits, the insulin-like growth factor and bFGF had significant effects on fibroblast proliferation in both cell types, but the difference was much less pronounced [134]. Other authors had shown the effect of TGF-β1 on ACL fibroblast proliferation to be dose-dependent and smaller doses could act synergistically with PDGF [135]. However, higher concentrations of TGF-β1 inhibited the stimulatory effect of PDGF. These findings suggest complex interactions of growth factors and their potential role in enhancing the proliferation of ligament fibroblasts.

In terms of protein synthesis, TGF-β1 was most effective in collagen synthesis. In MCL and ACL fibroblasts, the level of increase was 160% over controls; most of this increase was for type I collagen [133]. These data suggest that TGF-β1 may improve ligament healing by increasing matrix synthesis during the proliferative and remodeling phases and confirm what was found by other investigators [135].

In vitro models, however, are limited in the extent that they cannot reproduce the complex interplay of signals affected by growth factors in the intricate process of ligament or tendon healing where there is a highly integrated biochemical network of cell signaling events with intrinsic stimulatory and inhibitory feedback loops. Thus, in vivo studies are needed to examine the interaction of biology and biomechanics and the degree to which the healed ligament or tendon substance could restore the biomechanical properties to those for the native tissue.

#### In Vivo Studies

Based on in vitro studies, EGF and PDGF-BB have the greatest effect on ligament fibroblast proliferation whereas TGF-β1 better promotes ECM production. These growth factors were then applied at different dosages, in isolation and in combination, for an MCL injury in the in vivo rabbit model. It was found that only a higher dose of PDGF-BB improved the structural properties of the FMTC [75,76]. A lower dose of PDGF-BB had little effect, which demonstrated that the effects of PDGF-BB were dose-dependent. However, the mechanical properties of the ligament substance remained unchanged from untreated controls, which demonstrated that the improved structural properties resulted from the formation of a larger quantity of tissue (instead of improved tissue quality). Other investigators showed that higher doses of PDGF could improve the structural properties of the healed ligament [136]. However, administration of PDGF for more than 24 h after the injury markedly decreased its efficacy.

One possible approach to improving the in vivo application of growth factors and cytokines could be to combine it with gene transfer technology to extend their effectiveness with time. Adenoviral bone morphogenetic protein-2 (AdBMP-2) delivered to the bone—tendon interface using a gene transfer technique has been shown to improve the integration of semitendinosus tendon grafts in rabbits [137]. The stiffness ( $29.0 \pm 7.1$  versus  $16.7 \pm 8.3$  N/mm) and ultimate load ( $108.8 \pm 50.8$  versus  $45.0 \pm 18.0$ ) were also significantly increased in specimens with AdBMP-2 compared with untreated controls.

Based on these studies, an optimal therapy of introducing growth factors to injury sites is still an open question. The timing of application, mode of delivery, dosage, inclusion of scaffolds and/or cells, and interactions among these variables remain major hurdles. As an example, the delivery of stem cells transduced to express BMP-2 had adverse effects on rotator cuff repair [138]. As a result, investigations have been devoted to therapies such as platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and ECM bioscaffolds, which contain a number of bioactive factors [84,139]. In addition, it is well-recognized that stem cell delivery could modulate the healing response via trophic factors produced by the cells and not by engraftment of those cells [140]. Thus, these therapies could offer highly translational approaches to growth factor delivery.

#### Gene Therapy

Gene therapy offers an exciting approach to improving ligament and tendon healing. Foreign nucleic acid gene transfer can be introduced into cells to alter protein synthesis or induce the expression of therapeutic proteins. Modern gene therapy relies on mammalian viruses and cationic liposomes as delivery vectors, and both have been developed to deliver genes into host tissue via direct (in vivo injection) and indirect methods (in vitro transduction).

In our research center, we sought to determine whether genes could be transduced into MCL and ACL fibroblasts and whether ligament injury affected gene transfer and expression [141]. Both direct and indirect methods using adenovirus and BAG retrovirus, respectively, were employed. It was found that both techniques resulted in expression of the LacZ marker gene by fibroblasts from intact as well as injured ligaments. Gene expression lasted longer (6 weeks) with the direct method compared with the indirect technique (3 weeks). Fibroblasts from injured ligaments showed transduction in both the wound site and the ligament substance. There was no difference in the duration of gene expression by fibroblasts from intact and injured ligaments, which suggested that injury does not affect gene transfer or expression [141].

Antisense gene therapy that could block the transcription or translation of specific genes that are excessively expressed within healing tissue has also been studied. By binding antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) to target DNA, the efficacy of using ODNs to regulate the overproduction of collagens III and V was studied [35,142]. Normal human patellar tendon fibroblasts were transfected with antisense collagen III or V ODNs by mixing with lipofect-amine. The uptake of ODNs was detected as early as 1 h and as late as 3 days after delivery. The relative expression of collagen V messenger RNA (mRNA) was reduced to  $67.8\% \pm 5.1\%$  of missense levels. Also, reverse transcriptase—polymerase chain reaction results showed that the inhibitory effects of the collagen III antisense ODNs were most dominant at day 1, because the type III collagen mRNA level was  $38.9\% \pm 19.6\%$  of missense controls. At days 3 and 7, differences could no longer be observed. These results suggested that antisense gene therapy can be a potential FTE approach to enhance the quality of healing ligaments and tendons.

Despite these promising results, several obstacles impede the practical implementation of gene transfer as a biological intervention for ligament healing. The immune reaction against these antigens decreases the expression of the introduced gene [143]. In addition, retroviral infection of fibroblasts often leads to shut-off of the promoter region, which adversely affects expression of the incorporated gene [144]. Thus, delivering ODNs to the appropriate target and reproducibility of the results remain great but exciting challenges.

The literature has shown other techniques such as the use of lentivirus for gene transfer. For example, bFGF was transfected into bone marrow–derived cells (BMDCs) and then implanted into the Achilles tendon [145]. However, these investigators did not observe an enhanced healing response from the injection of stem cells. Also, lentivirus–tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ )–RNA interference–expressing TNF- $\alpha$  small interfering RNA was injected in the rotator cuff tendon in a rat model [146]. Thus, the inflammatory response was attenuated by the gene therapy after a chemical insult.

Novel strategies including the search for more effective and less immunogenic vectors, modification of promoters to ensure gene expression after incorporation, and temporary and self-limiting gene expression regulation tailored to the changing environment continue to evolve in gene transfer to aid in ligament healing. Technologies such as CRISPR (Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats)/CRISPR-associated protein 9 could become a new strategy. As the complex steps involved in gene expression and regulation are further elucidated, the potential therapeutic efficacy of gene transfer is likely to find clinical application.

#### Cell Therapy

Cell therapy is another potential approach to enhancing ligament and tendon healing because the use of autogenous cells would minimize the immune response. Studies have focused mainly on the application of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), specifically BMDCs and synovial tissue-derived fibroblasts into the healing site [147,148]. BMDCs have been shown to have an important role in wound healing [149–151] and can be obtained in higher numbers with relative ease [152]. BMDCs combined with PRP were used to treat rabbit ACL after reconstruction, which resulted in improved structural properties after 8 weeks of healing [153]. The treated tissues with combined PRP and BMDCs had a more mature bone–ligament interface than those in the untreated controls and PRP-only group. Another study attempted transplantation of allogeneic tendon-derived stem cells to rat PT and observed improvement in healing at 16 weeks after injury [154].

Alternatively, fibroblasts, myoblasts, and bone marrow cells have been transplanted into injured ligaments after the induction of marker genes or stimulation by growth factors in vitro. However, issues remain regarding cell therapy. The number of MSCs from bone marrow are relatively low and decrease after transplantation. Thus, it is essential to develop novel in vitro techniques to expand MSCs without altering their differentiation potential. Furthermore, other methods, i.e., bioscaffolds, may be designed to prevent the loss of these cells and to sustain the positive effects.

#### HEALING OF LIGAMENTS AND TENDONS

#### The Use of Scaffolds

An empirical method to improve the healing of ligaments and tendons is to use scaffolds to augment the injured part or bridge defects. An ideal scaffold should provide a suitable biological environment for cells to migrate into it and then proliferate, an appropriate mechanical cue to guide the formation of the newly synthesized ECM, and a built-in property to degrade slowly such that the newly formed matrix could take over in bearing the mechanical loads. Both synthetic and naturally occurring biological scaffolds have been used in FTE of ligament and tendon healing [155–158]. Major advantages of using synthetic polymers as scaffolds are their ease of fabrication and reproducibility. A structure can be created that mimics the structure of a ligament or tendon, and appropriate bioactive factors (i.e., growth factors) can be incorporated into the scaffold during manufacturing. However, because the performance of synthetic grafts has been found to be less than satisfactory [159,160], the focus has been placed on the supplementary use of cells, including BMDCs and fibroblasts [161,162].

Alternatively, a number of naturally occurring biological scaffolds, e.g., bovine pericardium (Integra Life Science), human dermal collagen (Alloderm), and porcine small intestinal submucosa (SIS), have been used after proper decellularization and sterilization. Among these scaffolds, SIS products have been approved by US Food and Drug Administration and are widely used in the field. Because SIS contains a large amount of collagen (over 90%) and has a preferred collagen alignment [163], it has the potential of acting as a contact guide to promote cells to deposit new matrix in a more aligned manner [164–167]. As a result, the mechanical and viscoelastic properties of the neotissue are improved. When used, preferably as a noncross-linked biodegradable scaffold, SIS degrades gradually when implanted in vivo. The pace of the degradation not only allows gradual replacement of the scaffold with the newly synthesized host matrix, it controls the timely release of degradation products that are biologically active and beneficial to healing [167a,168,170]. Moreover, SIS entraps a certain amount of bioactive agents (growth factors, fibronectin, and so on) that can be released during degradation to enhance healing [171–173].

### Medial Collateral Ligament and Patellar Tendon Healing With Extracellular Matrix (Small Intestinal Submucosa)

Multidisciplinary studies were performed to determine the effect of SIS treatment on the healing of an injured MCL (with a 6-mm gap) using a rabbit model [61,174]. Compared with the untreated group, SIS treatment resulted in improved histomorphological appearance, mechanical properties, and biochemical compositions of the healing MC; they were closer to those of normal ligament in both the short and long term (12 and 26 weeks) (Fig. 67.5). Specifically, SIS treatment further restored the heterogeneous distribution of collagen fibrils, because both large and small fibrils could be found compared with the persistently homogeneous small collagen fibrils in the untreated groups (Fig. 67.6). Accordingly, the CSA of the healing ligament in the SIS-treated group concomitantly decreased by 28%, indicating improved tissue quality. Indeed, improved mechanical properties of the healing MCL were



FIGURE 67.5 Typical stress-strain curves for small intestinal submucosa (SIS)-treated and untreated groups at 12 weeks after injury.



**FIGURE 67.6** Transmission electron micrographs (×70,000) of collagen fibrils in (A) sham-operated medial collateral ligament (MCL) (I), small intestinal submucosa (SIS)-treated MCL (II), and untreated MCL (III) at 26 weeks after injury. *Arrow* indicates the appearance of large fibrils between cells in the SIS-treated MCL. (B) Transmission electron microscopy appearance of both large and small fibrils (heterogeneity) in the pericellular area in the SIS-treated MCL (I) and untreated MCL (II). *Arrows* indicates the large fibrils surrounding a cell process. *F*, fibroblast.

found, because the tangent modulus increased by 33% and stress at failure increased by 49% [174]. These positive findings in morphology and biomechanics were mechanistically associated with better collagen organization as well as the regulation of collagen subtypes by a number of small leucine-rich proteoglycans, decorin, lumican, and bigly-can, and so on, to reduce the collagen type V–I ratio [174a].

We extended the use of SIS for PT healing. After the central third of the tendon was harvested for ACL reconstruction, an SIS scaffold was introduced to aid its healing and limit the formation of adhesion (and permit motion) between the healing PT and the underlying fat pad (Fig. 67.7). The maintenance of stress and motion of the patella–femoral joint motion would keep the homeostasis of the remaining PT [63-65,72], thus limiting problems associated with poor healing, including excessive hypertrophy of the healing PT with poor quality.

When the SIS was applied to the anterior and posterior of a central-third PT defect (3 mm wide) in rabbits, the healing defect had a more organized matrix with a large number of spindle-shaped cells at 12 weeks after surgery compared with the untreated group, which had only patches of collagen with a sparse distribution of cells [174b]. The CSA increased by 61% in the SIS-treated group; concomitantly, the BPTB complex showed 38% higher stiffness and 58% higher ultimate load. These results clearly demonstrated that SIS treatment could accelerate PT healing.

#### Anterior Cruciate Ligament Healing

With the advances in FTE, alternative approaches are being revisited to healing the injured ACL. Investigators have employed various biological methods such as PRP, ECM bioscaffolds, and so on to incite and accelerate ACL healing. Meanwhile, investigators also recognize that the rate of ACL healing is slow, and thus mechanical augmentation could be advantageous to maintain knee stability to facilitate the biological processes. The following overview covers both biological and mechanical augmentation for ACL healing as well as the combination of biological and mechanical strategies.



FIGURE 67.7 Schematic of possible mechanism of action of small intestinal submucosa (SIS) on medial collateral ligament healing response. *XSA*, cross-sectional area.

#### **Biological Augmentation**

There has been renewed interest in healing soft tissues with limited healing potential, such as the ACL, using biological augmentation. For example, Steadman and coworkers developed a microfracture technique that involves making very small holes in the bone at the femoral insertion site to encourage hematoma formation and provide an enriched environment for ACL healing [175,176]. This approach was used successfully to treat patients aged more than 40 years. In the laboratory, Murray and coworkers used collagen-PRP as a bioscaffold to heal a fully transected and sutured ACL in a porcine model [177,178]. At 4 weeks, the stiffness and load at yield and at failure were more than two times those of the suture-repaired control group [178].

In our research center, we used ECM bioscaffold to heal a surgically transected ACL in a goat model [84]. We combined SIS with SIS-hydrogel to heal a surgically transected ACL after primary repair. The SIS was derived from genetically modified Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ -deficient pigs to reduce the potential immunological reaction in humans. The SIS sheet wrapped around the defect was used to contain the healing response at the injury site and guide tissue growth, whereas the SIS hydrogel was used to fill the defect and accelerate tissue formation by means of its desirable chemoattractant and angiogenic factors. With the new treatment, the transected ACL was found to heal with continuous neotissue by 12 weeks. Its CSA and shape were similar to those of the sham-operated intact ACL and were significantly more robust than the suture repaired (control) group. Morphologically, its collagen fibers were aligned with spindle-shaped fibroblasts. Functionally, the SIS-treated ACL had reduced anteroposterior knee instability compared with the control group whereas the in situ forces were similar to intact ACL. Furthermore, the structural properties of the FATC when tested in uniaxial tension showed that tensile stiffness was 2.5 times higher than suture repair controls and actually reached approximately 50% of the intact FATC.

A separate series of studies were performed by Nguyen and coworkers [179,180]. First attempts were made to suture the transected ACL and wrap it with SIS in a sheet form. Histologically, the collagen fibers were more dense and more compactly arranged than in the suture repair control group [180]. Afterward, an in vivo evaluation of this approach was performed and the CSA was found to be 50% of the intact ACL whereas stiffness for the SIS group was 35% higher than in the control group [179].

Studies have also shown, the feasibility of enhancing ACL graft integration after reconstruction using a triphasic scaffold using fibroblast and osteoblasts were seeded on a section of the scaffold that mimicked the native environment of the ligament insertion and bone, respectively [181,182]. Collectively these approaches demonstrate that ECM bioscaffolds have substantive potentials for improving treatment for injured ligaments and tendons.

#### Mechanical Augmentation

Mechanical augmentation has been shown to stabilize the knee with an injured ACL, which could aid in ACL healing. In a porcine model, Fleming and coworkers used sutures passing from bone to bone to reduce anterior joint laxity [183]. Our research center had also systematically used sutures (number 2 FiberWire sutures) for mechanical augmentation. In a goat model, we first determined the best locations of the bone tunnels for the sutures; i.e., the anterior footprint of the femoral origin and medial aspect of the tibial footprint on stifle joint stability after ACL transection [184]. In these positions, the anterior tibial translation was within 3 mm of the intact joint and the in situ force was similar to that of the intact ACL. A follow-up study showed the relative contribution of the soft tissues in resisting the anterior tibial load. Under the 67-N anterior tibial load, the ACL provided the dominant support in the intact

joint. In the case of ACL deficiency, the MCL and medial meniscus carried significant loads, reaching up to 36% and 53% of the intact ACL, respectively (at 30 degrees flexion). After suture repair of the ACL, the in situ force was 81% of the intact ACL whereas that for the augmentation sutures was 103% [185]. Thus, it could be concluded that suture augmentation provided good initial joint stability and concomitantly lowered the loads on the MCL as well as the medial meniscus.

Finally, an in vivo study was performed to examine whether suture augmentation could heal a surgically transected ACL in a goat model. After 12 weeks, the anteroposterior tibial translation of the stifle joint for the suture augmentation group was about 20% lower than that of the suture repair group (control) whereas the in situ force in the healing ACL was more than 50% higher. Morphologically, the ACL was found to heal with good neotissue formation. In terms of the structural properties of the FATC, the linear stiffness was 75% greater than that of the suture repair control. It was shown that suture augmentation had provided the needed stability to the stifle joint for intrinsic healing of the ACL to take place.

#### **Combined Biological and Mechanical Augmentation**

With evidence that biological and mechanical augmentation could individually enhance ACL healing, it begs the question whether their combination would work in synergy to enhance the ACL healing process further. It was hypothesized that mechanical augmentation would stabilize the knee immediately after surgery and enhance biological augmentation to stimulate and accelerate the ACL healing further.

For the purpose of mechanical augmentation, a novel Magnesium (Mg)-based ring was designed to bridge the two torn ends of the ACL and serve as an internal splint for mechanical augmentation (Fig. 67.8). Furthermore, the Mg ring could simultaneously load the healing ACL as well as its insertion sites to prevent disuse atrophy. The function of the Mg ring-repaired ACL was first evaluated in an in vitro study using a goat model. After the application of a Mg-based ring, the anterior tibial translation of the repaired ACL was reduced by 60-70% from the ACL-deficient state and was within approximately 3 mm of that of the intact stifle joint [186,187]. Mg-ring repair could also restore the in situ forces of the repaired ACL to within  $\pm 5$  N of the levels of the intact ACL. These promising in vitro results suggest that the Mg-based ring is a good device for mechanical augmentation.

Then, the Mg-ring was used combined with ECM bioscaffolds in an in vivo animal study [186,187]. It was hypothesized that the Mg-based ring would degrade as the ACL healing progressed and its mechanical function would be replaced by the healing ACL, because Mg is biodegradable and bioresorbable [188]. After surgical transection, the Mg-based ring was sutured to connect the stumps of the ACL followed by wrapping the transection site with an ECM sheet and injection with ECM hydrogel (Fig. 67.8) [186,187]. After 6 weeks, the device had degraded 40%



FIGURE 67.8 Schematic diagram showing the application of the Mg-based ring device to bridge the transected anterior cruciate ligament. Fixation sutures through the femoral bone tunnels are fixed using a surgical button whereas those through the tibial bone tunnels are fixed using a double-spiked plate and fixation post.

and translucent healing tissue was seen [186,187]. By 12 weeks, the function of the stifle joint was determined by the robotic–UFS testing system under 67 N anteroposterior load, the anteroposterior tibial translation of the Mg ring-repaired group was about 33% less than that of the suture repair group. The in situ forces carried by the Mg ring repair group were approximately twice those of the suture repair group. Similarly, the structural properties of the FATC (stiffness and ultimate load) for the Mg ring repair group were three times greater than the suture repair group [186,187]. These results also compared favorably to those after ACL reconstruction in the same animal model, because the stiffness was 1.5 times higher than that after ACL reconstruction in a goat model at 12 weeks [186,187,189]. Similarly, the ultimate load was 1.8 times higher. Thus, it is clear that the combined use of biological and mechanical augmentation therapy worked in synergy to accelerate ACL healing. Future work will include a long-term (26-week) study to determine whether these benefits persist.

#### SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In this review, biomechanical and biological problems facing repair and healing of ligament and tendon injuries were discussed. There have been tremendous improvements to clinical treatment paradigms based on studies that established a fundamental understanding of healing after ligament or tendon injury and the benefits of controlled mobilization. Nevertheless, many issues remain.

For ligaments and tendons that display healing potential after injury, major challenges are recovery of normal ultrastructural appearance, biochemical composition, and mechanical properties. Specifically, important steps to be taken are increasing the fibril diameters of healing tissues by limiting the production of type V collagen and decorin and improving the alignment of healing tissue by guiding the organization of newly produced matrix. By manipulating the healing response at the molecular and cellular levels and guiding tissue formation, the following FTE approaches may offer the potential to restore the properties of healing tissue to normal levels.

We are particularly interested in bioscaffolds such as ECM. Applied to a healing ligament or tendon in vivo, it serves as a substrate that provides contact guidance for cells to form more aligned collagen fibers with a concomitant improvement in mechanical and viscoelastic properties compared with untreated controls. Furthermore, the chemo-attractant degradation products and bioactive agents of SIS could enhance the rate of healing [168], allowing better maintenance of stress and motion-dependent homeostasis. More excitingly, the SIS can be modified in vitro by seeding BMDCs on the scaffold and applying cyclic stretching to increase its alignment. Hence, when applied in vivo, the tissue engineered scaffold could serve to accelerate the initiation of the healing process by improving the production and orientation of collagen, which ultimately will help to make a better neoligament or tendon.

On the other hand, for ligaments and tendons that do not heal after injury and require surgical reconstruction using replacement grafts (e.g., ACL reconstruction), the major challenge is to promote a remodeling response so that the graft maintains sufficient stiffness and strength to provide functional stability of the joint. Most important is enhancing the rate of integration of tendon—bone interfaces during early graft incorporation, which may permit an earlier and more aggressive postoperative rehabilitation [190]. These complex issues may require a combination of approaches including gene and cell therapies as well as biologic scaffolds. Indeed, grafts treated with AdBMP-2 have shown some potential [137] in both canine and rabbit models. In addition, other biological tissues such as periosteum have been used to enhance the interface between tendon and bone, with some success [190]. All of these results suggest an exciting potential for clinical application.

Indeed, FTE has generated many exciting developments. For example, there is an exciting class of biodegradable metallic scaffolds, namely, porous magnesium or magnesium oxide, that has the advantage of initial stiffness to provide needed stability for the ligament to heal while performing its function. The degradation rate of these "smart" scaffolds could also be controlled as they are replaced by the neotissue. Furthermore, protein coating of these biodegradable metallic scaffolds could be performed for better tissue integration and controlled release of growth factors and cytokines to sustain tissue healing as well as guide tissue regeneration. In particular, Mg has been used combined with ECM bioscaffolds to heal the ACL, and it has the potential to serve as an alternative to surgical reconstruction.

To translate knowledge gained about a particular gene, protein, or cell to a clinical application will require expertise from many disciplines to work in seamlessly. One roles of biomedical engineers within this framework would be to link interactions of the functions of molecules to cells, cells to tissues, tissues to organs, and organs to body. When biologists, biomedical engineers, clinicians, and experts from other disciplines work together, this results in better therapies that lead to injured ligaments and tendons healing with properties closer to those of normal ligaments and tendons. Efforts of such a team-based approach to the new developments of FTE will bring a bright future to

#### REFERENCES

the outcome of healing of ligaments and tendon injuries. With the development of precision medicine based on "big data" and cellular reprogramming on the horizon, it is easy to imagine that these FTE techniques for healing ligaments and tendons can be tailored to be patient specific to gain a more positive, long-term outcome.

#### References

- Beaty J. Knee and leg: soft tissue trauma. In: Arendt EA, editor. OKU orthopaedic knowledge update. Rosemont, IL: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons; 1999. p. xix, 442.
- [2] Frank C, Woo SL-Y, Amiel D, Harwood F, Gomez M, Akeson W. Medial collateral ligament healing. A multidisciplinary assessment in rabbits. Am J Sports Med 1983;11(6):379–89.
- [3] Indelicato PA. Non-operative treatment of complete tears of the medial collateral ligament of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1983;65(3): 323–9.
- [4] Jokl P, Kaplan N, Stovell P, Keggi K. Non-operative treatment of severe injuries to the medial and anterior cruciate ligaments of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1984;66(5):741–4.
- [5] Woo SL-Y, Gomez MA, Sites TJ, Newton PO, Orlando CA, Akeson WH. The biomechanical and morphological changes in the medial collateral ligament of the rabbit after immobilization and remobilization. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1987;69(8):1200–11.
- [6] Woo SL-Y, Inoue M, McGurk-Burleson E, Gomez MA. Treatment of the medial collateral ligament injury. II: structure and function of canine knees in response to differing treatment regimens. Am J Sports Med 1987;15(1):22–9.
- [7] Kannus P. Long-term results of conservatively treated medial collateral ligament injuries of the knee joint. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1988;(226): 103–12.
- [8] Scheffler SU, Clineff TD, Papageorgiou CD, Debski RE, Benjamin C, Woo SL-Y. Structure and function of the healing medial collateral ligament in a goat model. Ann Biomed Eng 2001;29(2):173–80.
- [9] Adachi E, Hayashi T. In vitro formation of hybrid fibrils of type V collagen and type I collagen. Limited growth of type I collagen into thick fibrils by type V collagen. Connect Tissue Res 1986;14(4):257–66.
- [10] Birk DE. Type V collagen: heterotypic type I/V collagen interactions in the regulation of fibril assembly. Micron 2001;32(3):223–37.
- [11] Birk DE, Fitch JM, Babiarz JP, Doane KJ, Linsenmayer TF. Collagen fibrillogenesis in vitro: interaction of types I and V collagen regulates fibril diameter. J Cell Sci 1990;95(Pt 4):649–57.
- [12] Frank C, McDonald D, Bray D, Bray R, Rangayyan R, Chimich D, Shrive N. Collagen fibril diameters in the healing adult rabbit medial collateral ligament. Connect Tissue Res 1992;27(4):251–63.
- [13] Frank C, McDonald D, Shrive N. Collagen fibril diameters in the rabbit medial collateral ligament scar: a longer term assessment. Connect Tissue Res 1997;36(3):261–9.
- [14] Hart DA, Nakamura N, Marchuk L, Hiraoka H, Boorman R, Kaneda Y, Shrive NG, Frank CB. Complexity of determining cause and effect in vivo after antisense gene therapy. Clin Orthop 2000;379(Suppl.):S242–51.
- [15] Hart RA, Woo SL-Y, Newton PO. Ultrastructural morphometry of anterior cruciate and medial collateral ligaments: an experimental study in rabbits. J Orthop Res 1992;10(1):96–103.
- [16] Marchant JK, Hahn RA, Linsenmayer TF, Birk DE. Reduction of type V collagen using a dominant-negative strategy alters the regulation of fibrillogenesis and results in the loss of corneal-specific fibril morphology. J Cell Biol 1996;135(5):1415–26.
- [17] Nakamura N, Hart DA, Boorman RS, Kaneda Y, Shrive NG, Marchuk LL, Shino K, Ochi T, Frank CB. Decorin antisense gene therapy improves functional healing of early rabbit ligament scar with enhanced collagen fibrillogenesis in vivo. J Orthop Res 2000;18(4):517–23.
- [18] Niyibizi C, Kavalkovich K, Yamaji T, Woo SL-Y. Type V collagen is increased during rabbit medial collateral ligament healing. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2000;8(5):281–5.
- [19] Weiss JA, Woo SL-Y, Ohland KJ, Horibe S, Newton PO. Evaluation of a new injury model to study medial collateral ligament healing: primary repair versus nonoperative treatment. J Orthop Res 1991;9(4):516–28.
- [20] Coupens SD, Yates CK, Sheldon C, Ward C. Magnetic resonance imaging evaluation of the patellar tendon after use of its central one-third for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 1992;20(3):332–5.
- [21] Svensson M, Kartus J, Christensen LR, Movin T, Papadogiannakis N, Karlsson J. A long-term serial histological evaluation of the patellar tendon in humans after harvesting its central third. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2005;13(5):398–404.
- [22] Freedman KB, D'Amato MJ, Nedeff DD, Kaz A, Bach Jr BR. Arthroscopic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a metaanalysis comparing patellar tendon and hamstring tendon autografts. Am J Sports Med 2003;31(1):2–11.
- [23] Aune AK, Holm I, Risberg MA, Jensen HK, Steen H. Four-strand hamstring tendon autograft compared with patellar tendon-bone autograft for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. A randomized study with two-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med 2001;29(6):722–8.
- [24] Marder RA. Arthroscopic-assisted reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. West J Med 1991;155(2):172.
- [25] Clatworthy MG, Annear P, Bulow JU, Bartlett RJ. Tunnel widening in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a prospective evaluation of hamstring and patella tendon grafts. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1999;7(3):138–45.
- [26] Feller JA, Webster KE. A randomized comparison of patellar tendon and hamstring tendon anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 2003;31(4):564–73.
- [27] Jansson KA, Harilainen A, Sandelin J, Karjalainen PT, Aronen HJ, Tallroth K. Bone tunnel enlargement after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with the hamstring autograft and endobutton fixation technique. A clinical, radiographic and magnetic resonance imaging study with 2 years follow-up. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1999;7(5):290–5.
- [28] Nebelung W, Becker R, Merkel M, Ropke M. Bone tunnel enlargement after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with semitendinosus tendon using Endobutton fixation on the femoral side. Arthroscopy 1998;14(8):810-5.
- [29] Pinczewski LA, Lyman J, Salmon LJ, Russell VJ, Roe J, Linklater J. A 10-year comparison of anterior cruciate ligament reconstructions with hamstring tendon and patellar tendon autograft - a controlled, prospective trial. Am J Sports Med 2007;35(4):564–74.

#### 67. FUNCTIONAL TISSUE ENGINEERING OF LIGAMENT AND TENDON INJURIES

- [30] Salmon LJ, Russell VJ, Refshauge K, Kader D, Connolly C, Linklater J, Pinczewski LA. Long-term outcome of endoscopic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with patellar tendon autograft - minimum 13-year review. Am J Sports Med 2006;34(5):721–32.
- [31] von Porat A, Roos EM, Roos H. High prevalence of osteoarthritis 14 years after an anterior cruciate ligament tear in male soccer players: a study of radiographic and patient relevant outcomes. Ann Rheum Dis 2004;63(3):269–73.
- [32] Badylak SF, Tullius R, Kokini K, Shelbourne KD, Klootwyk T, Voytik SL, Kraine MR, Simmons C. The use of xenogeneic small intestinal submucosa as a biomaterial for Achilles tendon repair in a dog model. J Biomed Mater Res 1995;29(8):977–85.
- [33] Hildebrand KA, Frank CB. Scar formation and ligament healing. Can J Surg 1998;41(6):425–9.
- [34] Huang D, Chang TR, Aggarwal A, Lee RC, Ehrlich HP. Mechanisms and dynamics of mechanical strengthening in ligament-equivalent fibroblast-populated collagen matrices. Ann Biomed Eng 1993;21(3):289–305.
- [35] Shimomura T, Jia F, Niyibizi C, Woo SL-Y. Antisense oligonucleotides reduce synthesis of procollagen alpha1 (V) chain in human patellar tendon fibroblasts: potential application in healing ligaments and tendons. Connect Tissue Res 2003;44(3–4):167–72.
- [36] Spindler KP, Dawson JM, Stahlman GC, Davidson JM, Nanney LB. Collagen expression and biomechanical response to human recombinant transforming growth factor beta (rhTGF-beta2) in the healing rabbit MCL. J Orthop Res 2002;20(2):318–24.
- [37] Woo SL-Y, Hildebrand K, Watanabe N, Fenwick JA, Papageorgiou CD, Wang JH. Tissue engineering of ligament and tendon healing. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1999;(367 Suppl.):S312–23.
- [38] Bray RC, Rangayyan RM, Frank CB. Normal and healing ligament vascularity: a quantitative histological assessment in the adult rabbit medial collateral ligament. J Anat 1996;188(Pt 1):87–95.
- [39] Lo IK, Ou Y, Rattner JP, Hart DA, Marchuk LL, Frank CB, Rattner JB. The cellular networks of normal ovine medial collateral and anterior cruciate ligaments are not accurately recapitulated in scar tissue. J Anat 2002;200(Pt 3):283–96.
- [40] Manske PR. Flexor tendon healing. J Hand Surg [Br] 1988;13(3):237-45.
- [41] Hildebrand KA, Frank CB, Hart DA. Gene intervention in ligament and tendon: current status, challenges, future directions. Gene Ther 2004; 11(4):368–78.
- [42] Woo SL-Y, An K-N, Frank C, Livesay G, Ma C, Zeminski J. Anatomy, biology and biomechanics of tendon and ligaments. In: Einhorn TA, Simon SR, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, editors. Orthopaedic basic science: biology and biomechanics of the musculoskeletal system. Rosemont, Ill: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons; 2000. p. 581–616.
- [43] Birk DE, Trelstad RL. Extracellular compartments in matrix morphogenesis: collagen fibril, bundle, and lamellar formation by corneal fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 1984;99(6):2024–33.
- [44] Maffulli N. Rupture of the achilles tendon. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1999;81(7):1019-36.
- [45] Amiel D, Frank C, Harwood F, Fronek J, Akeson W. Tendons and ligaments: a morphological and biochemical comparison. J Orthop Res 1984;1(3):257–65.
- [46] Thornton GM, Boorman RS, Shrive NG, Frank CB. Medial collateral ligament autografts have increased creep response for at least two years and early immobilization makes this worse. J Orthop Res 2002;20(2):346–52.
- [47] Dyer RF, Enna CD. Ultrastructural features of adult human tendon. Cell Tissue Res 1976;168(2):247-59.
- [48] Eyden B, Tzaphlidou M. Structural variations of collagen in normal and pathological tissues: role of electron microscopy. Micron 2001;32(3): 287–300.
- [49] Goh JC, Ouyang HW, Teoh SH, Chan CK, Lee EH. Tissue-engineering approach to the repair and regeneration of tendons and ligaments. Tissue Eng 2003;9(Suppl. 1):S31–44.
- [50] Oakes BW. Collagen ultrastructure in the normal ACL and in ACL graft. In: The anterior cruciate ligament. Current and future concepts; 1993. p. 209–17.
- [51] Ottani V, Raspanti M, Ruggeri A. Collagen structure and functional implications. Micron 2001;32(3):251-60.
- [52] Liu SH, Yang RS, al-Shaikh R, Lane JM. Collagen in tendon, ligament, and bone healing. A current review. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1995;318: 265–78.
- [53] Birk DE, Mayne R. Localization of collagen types I, III and V during tendon development. Changes in collagen types I and III are correlated with changes in fibril diameter. Eur J Cell Biol 1997;72(4):352–61.
- [54] Linsenmayer TF, Gibney E, Igoe F, Gordon MK, Fitch JM, Fessler LI, Birk DE. Type V collagen: molecular structure and fibrillar organization of the chicken alpha 1(V) NH2-terminal domain, a putative regulator of corneal fibrillogenesis. J Cell Biol 1993;121(5):1181–9.
- [55] Niyibizi C, Visconti CS, Kavalkovich K, Woo SL-Y. Collagens in an adult bovine medial collateral ligament: immunofluorescence localization by confocal microscopy reveals that type XIV collagen predominates at the ligament-bone junction. Matrix Biol 1995;14(9):743–51.
- [56] Fukuta S, Oyama M, Kavalkovich K, Fu FH, Niyibizi C. Identification of types II, IX and X collagens at the insertion site of the bovine achilles tendon. Matrix Biol 1998;17(1):65–73.
- [57] Niyibizi C, Sagarrigo Visconti C, Gibson G, Kavalkovich K. Identification and immunolocalization of type X collagen at the ligament-bone interface. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1996;222(2):584–9.
- [58] Sagarriga Visconti C, Kavalkovich K, Wu J, Niyibizi C. Biochemical analysis of collagens at the ligament-bone interface reveals presence of cartilage-specific collagens. Arch Biochem Biophys 1996;328(1):135–42.
- [59] Cooper RR, Misol S. Tendon and ligament insertion. A light and electron microscopic study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1970;52(1):1-20.
- [60] Matyas JR, Anton MG, Shrive NG, Frank CB. Stress governs tissue phenotype at the femoral insertion of the rabbit MCL. J Biomech 1995; 28(2):147–57.
- [61] Woo SL-Y, Abramowitch SD, Kilger R, Liang R. Biomechanics of knee ligaments: injury, healing, and repair. J Biomech 2006;39(1):1–20.
- [62] Fung YC, Perrone N, Anliker M, University of California San Diego, United States Office of Naval Research. Biomechanics, its foundations and objectives. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall; 1972.
- [63] Woo SL-Y, Gelberman RH, Cobb NG, Amiel D, Lothringer K, Akeson WH. The importance of controlled passive mobilization on flexor tendon healing. A biomechanical study. Acta Orthop Scand 1981;52(6):615–22.
- [64] Woo SL-Y, Gomez MA, Akeson WH. The time and history-dependent viscoelastic properties of the canine medical collateral ligament. J Biomech Eng 1981;103(4):293–8.
- [65] Woo SL-Y, Gomez MA, Amiel D, Ritter MA, Gelberman RH, Akeson WH. The effects of exercise on the biomechanical and biochemical properties of swine digital flexor tendons. J Biomech Eng 1981;103(1):51–6.

- [66] Lee TQ, Woo SL-Y. A new method for determining cross-sectional shape and area of soft tissues. J Biomech Eng 1988;110(2):110–4.
- [67] Woo SL-Y, Gomez MA, Seguchi Y, Endo CM, Akeson WH. Measurement of mechanical properties of ligament substance from a boneligament-bone preparation. J Orthop Res 1983;1(1):22–9.
- [68] Johnson GA, Tramaglini DM, Levine RE, Ohno K, Choi NY, Woo SL-Y. Tensile and viscoelastic properties of human patellar tendon. J Orthop Res 1994;12(6):796–803.
- [69] Woo SL-Y, Hollis JM, Adams DJ, Lyon RM, Takai S. Tensile properties of the human femur-anterior cruciate ligament-tibia complex. The effects of specimen age and orientation. Am J Sports Med 1991;19(3):217–25.
- [70] Woo SL-Y, Orlando CA, Camp JF, Akeson WH. Effects of postmortem storage by freezing on ligament tensile behavior. J Biomech 1986;19(5): 399-404.
- [71] Woo SL-Y, Orlando CA, Gomez MA, Frank CB, Akeson WH. Tensile properties of the medial collateral ligament as a function of age. J Orthop Res 1986;4(2):133–41.
- [72] Woo SL-Y, Gomez MA, Woo YK, Akeson WH. Mechanical properties of tendons and ligaments. II. The relationships of immobilization and exercise on tissue remodeling. Biorheology 1982;19(3):397–408.
- [73] Inoue M, McGurk-Burleson E, Hollis JM, Woo SL-Y. Treatment of the medial collateral ligament injury. I: the importance of anterior cruciate ligament on the varus-valgus knee laxity. Am J Sports Med 1987;15(1):15–21.
- [74] Livesay GA, Rudy TW, Woo SL-Y, Runco TJ, Sakane M, Li G, Fu FH. Evaluation of the effect of joint constraints on the in situ force distribution in the anterior cruciate ligament. J Orthop Res 1997;15(2):278–84.
- [75] Woo SL-Y, Fox RJ, Sakane M, Livesay GA, Rudy TW, Fu FH. Biomechanics of the ACL: measurements of in situ force in the ACL and knee kinematics. Knee 1998;5(4):267–88.
- [76] Woo SL-Y, Smith DW, Hildebrand KA, Zeminski JA, Johnson LA. Engineering the healing of the rabbit medial collateral ligament. Med Biol Eng Comput 1998;36(3):359–64.
- [77] Woo SL-Y, Kanamori A, Zeminski J, Yagi M, Papageorgiou C, Fu FH. The effectiveness of reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament with hamstrings and patellar tendon. A cadaveric study comparing anterior tibial and rotational loads. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002;84-A(6):907–14.
- [78] Yagi M, Wong EK, Kanamori A, Debski RE, Fu FH, Woo SL-Y. Biomechanical analysis of an anatomic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 2002;30(5):660–6.
- [79] Zamarra G, Fisher MB, Woo SL-Y, Cerulli G. Biomechanical evaluation of using one hamstrings tendon for ACL reconstruction: a human cadaveric study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2010;18(1):11–9.
- [80] Sasaki N, Farraro KF, Kim KE, Woo SL-Y. Biomechanical evaluation of the quadriceps tendon autograft for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction a cadaveric study. Am J Sports Med 2014;42(3):723–30.
- [81] Abramowitch SD, Papageorgiou CD, Debski RE, Clineff TD, Woo SL-Y. A biomechanical and histological evaluation of the structure and function of the healing medial collateral ligament in a goat model. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2003;11(3):155–62.
- [82] Abramowitch SD, Papageorgiou CD, Withrow JD, Gilbert TW, Woo SL-Y. The effect of initial graft tension on the biomechanical properties of a healing ACL replacement graft: a study in goats. J Orthop Res 2003;21(4):708–15.
- [83] Abramowitch SD, Yagi M, Tsuda E, Woo SL-Y. The healing medial collateral ligament following a combined anterior cruciate and medial collateral ligament injury—a biomechanical study in a goat model. J Orthop Res 2003;21(6):1124–30.
- [84] Fisher MB, Liang R, Jung H-J, Kim KE, Zamarra G, Almarza AJ, McMahon PJ, Woo SL-Y. Potential of healing a transected anterior cruciate ligament with genetically modified extracellular matrix bioscaffolds in a goat model. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2012;20(7): 1357–65.
- [85] Frank CB, Bray RC, Hart DA, Shirve NG, Loitz BJ, Matyas JR, Wilson JE. Soft tissue healing. In: Fu FH, Harner CD, Vince Kelly G, editors. Knee surgery. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins; 1994. 2 v. (xvii, 1595 pp.): 189–229.
- [86] Murphy PG, Loitz BJ, Frank CB, Hart DA. Influence of exogenous growth factors on the synthesis and secretion of collagen types I and III by explants of normal and healing rabbit ligaments. Biochem Cell Biol 1994;72(9–10):403–9.
- [87] Doillon CJ, Dunn MG, Bender E, Silver FH. Collagen fiber formation in repair tissue: development of strength and toughness. Coll Relat Res 1985;5(6):481–92.
- [88] Parry D, Barnes G, Craig A. A comparision of the size distribution of collagen fibrils in connective tissues as a function of age and a possible relation between fibril size distribution and mechanical properties. Proc R Soc Lond (Biol) 1978;203:305–21.
- [89] Clayton ML, Miles JS, Abdulla M. Experimental investigations of ligamentous healing. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1968;61:146-53.
- [90] O'Donoghue DH, Frank GR, Jeter GL, Johnson W, Zeiders JW, Kenyon R. Repair and reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament in dogs. Factors influencing long-term results. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1971;53(4):710-8.
- [91] Tipton CM, James SL, Mergner W, Tcheng TK. Influence of exercise on strength of medial collateral knee ligaments of dogs. Am J Physiol 1970;218(3):894–902.
- [92] Woo SL-Y, Young EP, Ohland KJ, Marcin JP, Horibe S, Lin HC. The effects of transection of the anterior cruciate ligament on healing of the medial collateral ligament. A biomechanical study of the knee in dogs. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1990;72(3):382–92.
- [93] Inoue M, Woo SL-Y, Gomez MA, Amiel D, Ohland KJ, Kitabayashi LR. Effects of surgical treatment and immobilization on the healing of the medial collateral ligament: a long-term multidisciplinary study. Connect Tissue Res 1990;25(1):13–26.
- [94] Indelicato P. Isolated medial collateral ligament injuries in the knee. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 1995;3(1):9-14.
- [95] Reider B, Sathy MR, Talkington J, Blyznak N, Kollias S. Treatment of isolated medial collateral ligament injuries in athletes with early functional rehabilitation. A five-year follow-up study. Am J Sports Med 1994;22(4):470–7.
- [96] Aglietti P, Buzzi R, D'Andria S, Zaccherotti G. Arthroscopic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with patellar tendon. Arthroscopy 1992;8(4):510-6.
- [97] Cooper DE, Deng XH, Burstein AL, Warren RF. The strength of the central third patellar tendon graft. A biomechanical study. Am J Sports Med 1993;21(6):818–23. discussion 823–814.
- [98] Jones KG. Reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament using the central one-third of the patellar ligament. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1970; 52(4):838–9.

- [99] Kurosaka M, Yoshiya S, Andrish JT. A biomechanical comparison of different surgical techniques of graft fixation in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 1987;15(3):225–9.
- [100] Lambert KL. Vascularized patellar tendon graft with rigid internal fixation for anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1983;(172):85–9.
- [101] Noyes FR, Butler DL, Grood ES, Zernicke RF, Hefzy MS. Biomechanical analysis of human ligament grafts used in knee-ligament repairs and reconstructions. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1984;66(3):344–52.
- [102] Cerullo G, Puddu G, Gianni E, Damiani A, Pigozzi F. Anterior cruciate ligament patellar tendon reconstruction: it is probably better to leave the tendon defect open! Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1995;3(1):14–7.
- [103] Nixon RG, SeGall GK, Sax SL, Cain TE, Tullos HS. Reconstitution of the patellar tendon donor site after graft harvest. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1995;317:162–71.
- [104] Rubinstein Jr RA, Shelbourne KD, VanMeter CD, McCarroll JC, Rettig AC. Isolated autogenous bone-patellar tendon-bone graft site morbidity. Am J Sports Med 1994;22(3):324–7.
- [105] Breitfuss H, Frohlich R, Povacz P, Resch H, Wicker A. The tendon defect after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction using the midthird patellar tendon—a problem for the patellofemoral joint? Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1996;3(4):194–8.
- [106] Kartus J, Magnusson L, Stener S, Brandsson S, Eriksson BI, Karlsson J. Complications following arthroscopic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. A 2-5-year follow-up of 604 patients with special emphasis on anterior knee pain. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1999;7(1):2–8.
- [107] Paulos LE, Rosenberg TD, Drawbert J, Manning J, Abbott P. Infrapatellar contracture syndrome. An unrecognized cause of knee stiffness with patella entrapment and patella infera. Am J Sports Med 1987;15(4):331–41.
- [108] Sachs RA, Daniel DM, Stone ML, Garfein RF. Patellofemoral problems after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 1989; 17(6):760-5.
- [109] Shelbourne KD, Wilckens JH, Mollabashy A, DeCarlo M. Arthrofibrosis in acute anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. The effect of timing of reconstruction and rehabilitation. Am J Sports Med 1991;19(4):332–6.
- [110] Tibone JE, Antich TJ. A biomechanical analysis of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with the patellar tendon. A two year followup. Am J Sports Med 1988;16(4):332-5.
- [111] Awad HA, Boivin GP, Dressler MR, Smith FN, Young RG, Butler DL. Repair of patellar tendon injuries using a cell-collagen composite. J Orthop Res 2003;21(3):420–31.
- [112] Beynnon BD, Proffer D, Drez Jr DJ, Stankewich CJ, Johnson RJ. Biomechanical assessment of the healing response of the rabbit patellar tendon after removal of its central third. Am J Sports Med 1995;23(4):452–7.
- [113] Kamps BS, Linder LH, DeCamp CE, Haut RC. The influence of immobilization versus exercise on scar formation in the rabbit patellar tendon after excision of the central third. Am J Sports Med 1994;22(6):803–11.
- [114] Linder LH, Sukin DL, Burks RT, Haut RC. Biomechanical and histological properties of the canine patellar tendon after removal of its medial third. Am J Sports Med 1994;22(1):136–42.
- [115] Tohyama H, Yasuda K, Kitamura Y, Yamamoto E, Hayashi K. The changes in mechanical properties of regenerated and residual tissues in the patellar tendon after removal of its central portion. Clin Biomech 2003;18(8):765–72.
- [116] Tohyama H, Yasuda K. The effects of stress enhancement on the extracellular matrix and fibroblasts in the patellar tendon. J Biomech 2000; 33(5):559-65.
- [117] Arnoczky SP, Tarvin GB, Marshall JL. Anterior cruciate ligament replacement using patellar tendon. An evaluation of graft revascularization in the dog. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1982;64(2):217–24.
- [118] Papageorgiou CD, Ma CB, Abramowitch SD, Clineff TD, Woo SL-Y. A multidisciplinary study of the healing of an intraarticular anterior cruciate ligament graft in a goat model. Am J Sports Med 2001;29(5):620–6.
- [119] Ballock RT, Woo SL-Y, Lyon RM, Hollis JM, Akeson WH. Use of patellar tendon autograft for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in the rabbit: a long-term histologic and biomechanical study. J Orthop Res 1989;7(4):474–85.
- [120] Butler DL, Grood ES, Noyes FR, Olmstead ML, Hohn RB, Arnoczky SP, Siegel MG. Mechanical properties of primate vascularized vs. nonvascularized patellar tendon grafts; changes over time. J Orthop Res 1989;7(1):68–79.
- [121] Clancy Jr WG, Narechania RG, Rosenberg TD, Gmeiner JG, Wisnefske DD, Lange TA. Anterior and posterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in rhesus monkeys. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1981;63(8):1270–84.
- [122] Loh JC, Fukuda Y, Tsuda E, Steadman RJ, Fu FH, Woo SL-Y. Knee stability and graft function following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: comparison between 11 o'clock and 10 o'clock femoral tunnel placement. 2002 Richard O'Connor Award Paper. Arthroscopy 2003;19(3):297–304.
- [123] Ohno K, Pomaybo AS, Schmidt CC, Levine RE, Ohland KJ, Woo SL-Y. Healing of the medial collateral ligament after a combined medial collateral and anterior cruciate ligament injury and reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament: comparison of repair and nonrepair of medial collateral ligament tears in rabbits. J Orthop Res 1995;13(3):442–9.
- [124] Yamaji T, Levine RE, Woo SL-Y, Niyibizi C, Kavalkovich KW, Weaver-Green CM. Medial collateral ligament healing one year after a concurrent medial collateral ligament and anterior cruciate ligament injury: an interdisciplinary study in rabbits. J Orthop Res 1996;14(2):223–7.
- [125] Duffy Jr FJ, Seiler JG, Gelberman RH, Hergrueter CA. Growth factors and canine flexor tendon healing: initial studies in uninjured and repair models. J Hand Surg [Am] 1995;20(4):645–9.
- [126] Gelberman RH. The effect of adipose-derived stem cells on the inflammatory stage of flexor tendon repair. J Hand Surg 2016;41(9):S3-4.
- [127] Panossian V, Liu SH, Lane JM, Finerman GA. Fibroblast growth factor and epidermal growth factor receptors in ligament healing. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1997;(342):173–80.
- [128] Saether EE, Chamberlain CS, Aktas E, Leiferman EM, Brickson SL, Vanderby R. Primed mesenchymal stem cells alter and improve rat medial collateral ligament healing. Stem Cell Rev 2016;12(1):42–53.
- [129] Sciore P, Boykiw R, Hart DA. Semiquantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction analysis of mRNA for growth factors and growth factor receptors from normal and healing rabbit medial collateral ligament tissue. J Orthop Res 1998;16(4):429–37.
- [130] Steenfos HH. Growth factors and wound healing. Scand J Plast ReConstr Surg Hand Surg 1994;28(2):95–105.

- [131] Thomopoulos S, Kim HM, Das R, Silva MJ, Sakiyama-Elbert S, Amiel D, Gelberman RH. The effects of exogenous basic fibroblast growth factor on intrasynovial flexor tendon healing in a canine model. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2010;92(13):2285–93.
- [132] Deie M, Marui T, Allen CR, Hildebrand KA, Georgescu HI, Niyibizi C, Woo SL-Y. The effects of age on rabbit MCL fibroblast matrix synthesis in response to TGF-beta 1 or EGF. Mech Ageing Dev 1997;97(2):121–30.
- [133] Marui T, Niyibizi C, Georgescu HI, Cao M, Kavalkovich KW, Levine RE, Woo SL-Y. Effect of growth factors on matrix synthesis by ligament fibroblasts. J Orthop Res 1997;15(1):18–23.
- [134] Scherping Jr SC, Schmidt CC, Georgescu HI, Kwoh CK, Evans CH, Woo SL-Y. Effect of growth factors on the proliferation of ligament fibroblasts from skeletally mature rabbits. Connect Tissue Res 1997;36(1):1–8.
- [135] Desrosiers EA, Methot S, Yahia L, Rivard CH. Responses of ligamentous fibroblasts to mechanical stimulation. Ann Chir 1995;49(8):768-74.
- [136] Batten ML, Hansen JC, Dahners LE. Influence of dosage and timing of application of platelet-derived growth factor on early healing of the rat medial collateral ligament. J Orthop Res 1996;14(5):736–41.
- [137] Martinek V, Latterman C, Usas A, Abramowitch S, Woo SL-Y, Fu FH, Huard J. Enhancement of tendon-bone integration of anterior cruciate ligament grafts with bone morphogenetic protein-2 gene transfer: a histological and biomechanical study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002;84-A(7): 1123–31.
- [138] Lipner JH. Development of nanofiber scaffolds with controllable structure and mineral content for tendon-to-bone repair. 2015.
- [139] Murray MM, Fleming BC. Biology of anterior cruciate ligament injury and repair: Kappa delta ann doner vaughn award paper 2013. J Orthop Res 2013;31(10):1501-6.
- [140] Caplan AI, Mason C, Reeve B. The 3Rs of cell therapy. Stem Cells Transl Med 2016. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2016-0180.
- [141] Hildebrand KA, Deie M, Allen CR, Smith DW, Georgescu HI, Evans CH, Robbins PD, Woo SL-Y. Early expression of marker genes in the rabbit medial collateral and anterior cruciate ligaments: the use of different viral vectors and the effects of injury. J Orthop Res 1999;17(1): 37–42.
- [142] Woo SL-Y, Jia F, Zou L, Gabriel MT. Functional tissue engineering for ligament healing: potential of antisense gene therapy. Ann Biomed Eng 2004;32(3):342–51.
- [143] Tripathy SK, Black HB, Goldwasser E, Leiden JM. Immune responses to transgene-encoded proteins limit the stability of gene expression after injection of replication-defective adenovirus vectors. Nat Med 1996;2(5):545–50.
- [144] Krall WJ, Challita PM, Perlmutter LS, Skelton DC, Kohn DB. Cells expressing human glucocerebrosidase from a retroviral vector repopulate macrophages and central nervous system microglia after murine bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1994;83(9):2737–48.
- [145] Kraus TM, Imhoff FB, Reinert J, Wexel G, Wolf A, Hirsch D, Hofmann A, Stockle U, Buchmann S, Tischer T, Imhoff AB, Milz S, Anton M, Vogt S. Stem cells and bFGF in tendon healing: effects of lentiviral gene transfer and long-term follow-up in a rat Achilles tendon defect model. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2016;17:148.
- [146] Wang Y, Li Q, Wei X, Xu J, Chen Q, Song S, Lu Z, Wang Z. Targeted knockout of TNF-alpha by injection of lentivirus-mediated siRNA into the subacromial bursa for the treatment of subacromial bursitis in rats. Mol Med Rep 2015;12(3):4389–95.
- [147] Watanabe N, Woo SL-Y, Papageorgiou C, Celechovsky C, Takai S. Fate of donor bone marrow cells in medial collateral ligament after simulated autologous transplantation. Microsc Res Tech 2002;58(1):39–44.
- [148] Young RG, Butler DL, Weber W, Caplan AI, Gordon SL, Fink DJ. Use of mesenchymal stem cells in a collagen matrix for Achilles tendon repair. J Orthop Res 1998;16(4):406–13.
- [149] Badiavas EV, Abedi M, Butmarc J, Falanga V, Quesenberry P. Participation of bone marrow derived cells in cutaneous wound healing. J Cell Physiol 2003;196(2):245–50.
- [150] Galiano RD, Tepper OM, Pelo CR, Bhatt KA, Callaghan M, Bastidas N, Bunting S, Steinmetz HG, Gurtner GC. Topical vascular endothelial growth factor accelerates diabetic wound healing through increased angiogenesis and by mobilizing and recruiting bone marrow-derived cells. Am J Pathol 2004;164(6):1935–47.
- [151] Mathews V, Hanson PT, Ford E, Fujita J, Polonsky KS, Graubert TA. Recruitment of bone marrow-derived endothelial cells to sites of pancreatic beta-cell injury. Diabetes 2004;53(1):91–8.
- [152] Juncosa-Melvin N, Boivin GP, Galloway MT, Gooch C, West JR, Sklenka AM, Butler DL. Effects of cell-to-collagen ratio in mesenchymal stem cell-seeded implants on tendon repair biomechanics and histology. Tissue Eng 2005;11(3–4):448–57.
- [153] Teng C, Zhou C, Xu D, Bi F. Combination of platelet-rich plasma and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells enhances tendon-bone healing in a rabbit model of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. J Orthop Surg Res 2016;11(1):96.
- [154] Lui PP, Kong SK, Lau PM, Wong YM, Lee YW, Tan C, Wong OT. Immunogenicity and escape mechanisms of allogeneic tendon-derived stem cells. Tissue Eng 2014;20(21-22):3010-20.
- [155] Aragona J, Parsons JR, Alexander H, Weiss AB. Medial collateral ligament replacement with a partially absorbable tissue scaffold. Am J Sports Med 1983;11(4):228–33.
- [156] Badylak S, Arnoczky S, Plouhar P, Haut R, Mendenhall V, Clarke R, Horvath C. Naturally occurring extracellular matrix as a scaffold for musculoskeletal repair. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1999;367(Suppl.):S333–43.
- [157] Bourke SL, Kohn J, Dunn MG. Preliminary development of a novel resorbable synthetic polymer fiber scaffold for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Tissue Eng 2004;10(1–2):43–52.
- [158] Dunn MG, Tria AJ, Kato YP, Bechler JR, Ochner RS, Zawadsky JP, Silver FH. Anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction using a composite collagenous prosthesis. A biomechanical and histologic study in rabbits. Am J Sports Med 1992;20(5):507–15.
- [159] Bellincampi LD, Closkey RF, Prasad R, Zawadsky JP, Dunn MG. Viability of fibroblast-seeded ligament analogs after autogenous implantation. J Orthop Res 1998;16(4):414-20.
- [160] Guidoin MF, Marois Y, Bejui J, Poddevin N, King MW, Guidoin R. Analysis of retrieved polymer fiber based replacements for the ACL. Biomaterials 2000;21(23):2461–74.
- [161] Cao Y, Vacanti JP, Ma X, Paige KT, Upton J, Chowanski Z, Schloo B, Langer R, Vacanti CA. Generation of neo-tendon using synthetic polymers seeded with tenocytes. Transplant Proc 1994;26(6):3390–2.
- [162] Lin VS, Lee MC, O'Neal S, McKean J, Sung KL. Ligament tissue engineering using synthetic biodegradable fiber scaffolds. Tissue Eng 1999; 5(5):443–52.
- [163] Sacks MS, Gloeckner DC. Quantification of the fiber architecture and biaxial mechanical behavior of porcine intestinal submucosa. J Biomed Mater Res 1999;46(1):1–10.
- [164] Brunette DM. Fibroblasts on micromachined substrata orient hierarchically to grooves of different dimensions. Exp Cell Res 1986;164(1): 11–26.
- [165] Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. Micropatterned surfaces for control of cell shape, position, and function. Biotechnol Prog 1998;14(3):356–63.
- [166] Clark P, Connolly P, Curtis AS, Dow JA, Wilkinson CD. Topographical control of cell behaviour: II. Multiple grooved substrata. Development 1990;108(4):635–44.
- [167] Walboomers XF, Croes HJ, Ginsel LA, Jansen JA. Contact guidance of rat fibroblasts on various implant materials. J Biomed Mater Res 1999; 47(2):204–12.
- [167a] Badylak S, Freytes DO, Gilbert TW. Reprint of: Extracellular matrix as a biological scaffold material: Structure and function. Acta Biomater 2015;23(Suppl.):S17–26.
- [168] Li F, Li W, Johnson S, Ingram D, Yoder M, Badylak S. Low-molecular-weight peptides derived from extracellular matrix as chemoattractants for primary endothelial cells. Endothelium 2004;11(3–4):199–206.
- [169] Badylak SF, Park K, Peppas N, McCabe G, Yoder M. Marrow-derived cells populate scaffolds composed of xenogeneic extracellular matrix. Exp Hematol 2001;29(11):1310–8.
- [170] Zantop T, Gilbert TW, Yoder M, Badylak S. Extracellular matrix scaffolds attract bone marrow- derived cells in a mouse model of Achilles tendon reconstruction. J Orthop Res 2005;24(6):1299–309.
- [171] Hodde J, Record R, Tullius R, Badylak S. Fibronectin peptides mediate HMEC adhesion to porcine-derived extracellular matrix. Biomaterials 2002;23(8):1841–8.
- [172] McPherson TB, Liang H, Record RD, Badylak SF. Galalpha(1,3)Gal epitope in porcine small intestinal submucosa. Tissue Eng 2000;6(3): 233–9.
- [173] Voytik-Harbin SL, Brightman AO, Kraine MR, Waisner B, Badylak SF. Identification of extractable growth factors from small intestinal submucosa. J Cell Biochem 1997;67(4):478–91.
- [174] Liang R, Woo SL-Y, Takakura Y, Moon DK, Jia FY, Abramowitch S. Long-term effects of porcine small intestine submucosa on the healing of medial collateral ligament: a functional tissue engineering study. J Orthop Res 2006;24(4):811–9.
- [174a] Liang R, Woo SL-Y, Nguyen TD, Liu PC, Almarza A. Effects of a bioscaffold on collagen fibrillogenesis in healing medial collateral ligament in rabbits. J Orthop Res 2008;26:1098–104.
- [174b] Karaoglu S, Fisher MB, Woo SL-Y, Fu YC, Liang R, Abramowitch SD. Use of a bioscaffold to improve healing of a patellar tendon defect after graft harvest for ACL reconstruction: a study in rabbits. J Orthop Res 2008;26:255–63.
- [175] Steadman JR, Cameron ML, Briggs KK, Rodkey WG. Healing-response treatment for ACL injuries. Orthop Technol Rev 2002;3(3).
- [176] Steadman JR, Rodkey WG. Role of primary anterior cruciate ligament repair with or without augmentation. Clin Sports Med 1993;12(4): 685–95.
- [177] Joshi SM, Mastrangelo AN, Magarian EM, Fleming BC, Murray MM. Collagen-platelet composite enhances biomechanical and histologic healing of the porcine anterior cruciate ligament. Am J Sports Med 2009;37(12):2401–10.
- [178] Murray MM, Spindler KP, Abreu E, Muller JA, Nedder A, Kelly M, Frino J, Zurakowski D, Valenza M, Snyder BD. Collagen-platelet rich plasma hydrogel enhances primary repair of the porcine anterior cruciate ligament. J Orthop Res 2007;25(1):81–91.
- [179] Nguyen DT, Dellbrügge S, Tak PP, Woo SL-Y, Blankevoort L, van Dijk NC. Histological characteristics of ligament healing after bio-enhanced repair of the transected goat ACL. J Exp Orthop 2015;2(1):1.
- [180] Nguyen DT, Geel J, Schulze M, Raschke MJ, Woo SL-Y, van Dijk CN, Blankevoort L. Healing of the goat anterior cruciate ligament after a new suture repair technique and bioscaffold treatment. Tissue Eng 2013;19(19–20):2292–9.
- [181] Mosher CZ, Spalazzi JP, Lu HH. Stratified scaffold design for engineering composite tissues. Methods 2015;84:99-102.
- [182] Spalazzi JP, Doty SB, Levine WN, Lu HH. Co-culture of human fibroblasts and osteoblasts on a tri-phasic scaffold for interface tissue engineering. Chicago: Orthopaedic Research Society; 2006.
- [183] Fleming BC, Carey JL, Spindler KP, Murray MM. Can suture repair of ACL transection restore normal anteroposterior laxity of the knee? An ex vivo study. J Orthop Res 2008;26(11):1500-5.
- [184] Fisher MB, Jung HJ, McMahon PJ, Woo SL-Y. Evaluation of bone tunnel placement for suture augmentation of an injured anterior cruciate ligament: effects on joint stability in a goat model. J Orthop Res 2010;28(10):1373–9.
- [185] Fisher MB, Jung HJ, McMahon PJ, Woo SL-Y. Suture augmentation following ACL injury to restore the function of the ACL, MCL, and medial meniscus in the goat stifle joint. J Biomech 2011;44(8):1530-5.
- [186] Farraro, Pastrone A, Mau JR, Woo SL-Y. A novel magnesium ring device can enhance anterior cruciate ligament healing. In: Orthopaedic Research Society annual meeting. Orlando, Florida; 2016.
- [187] Farraro KF, Sasaki N, Woo SL-Y, Kim KE, Tei MM, Speziali A, McMahon PJ. Magnesium ring device to restore function of a transected anterior cruciate ligament in the goat stifle joint. J Orthop Res 2016;34(11).
- [188] Farraro KF, Kim KE, Woo SL-Y, Flowers JR, McCullough MB. Revolutionizing orthopaedic biomaterials: the potential of biodegradable and bioresorbable magnesium-based materials for functional tissue engineering. J Biomech 2014;47(9):1979–86.
- [189] Ng GY, Oakes BW, Deacon OW, McLean ID, Lampard D. Biomechanics of patellar tendon autograft for reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament in the goat: three-year study. J Orthop Res 1995;13(4):602–8.
- [190] Chen CH, Chen WJ, Shih CH. Enveloping of periosteum on the hamstring tendon graft in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy 2002;18(5):27E.

## Central Nervous System

Samantha L. Payne<sup>1</sup>, Brian G. Ballios<sup>1</sup>, M. Douglas Baumann<sup>2</sup>, Michael J. Cooke<sup>1</sup>, Molly S. Shoichet<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Syngenta Canada Inc., Guelph, ON, Canada

## INTRODUCTION

The human central nervous system (CNS), which is composed of the brain, spinal cord, and retina, is a network of more than 100 billion individual nerve cells that control our actions, sense our surroundings, and define who we are. It has several unique anatomical and physiological characteristics, including enclosure in bony structures (skull and vertebrae) that provide protection yet also hinder access; separation from systemic blood circulation by endo-thelial cell tight junctions, which serve as a barrier to toxins yet prevent intravenous therapeutic delivery; and a limited capacity for self-repair, notwithstanding the presence of endogenous stem cells in the brain, spinal cord, and retina.

Injuries to the CNS include stroke, traumatic brain injury (TBI), spinal cord injury (SCI), and retinal degeneration. These conditions affect millions of people worldwide and cover the entire age spectrum. CNS injury in the pediatric population includes predominantly traumatic or congenital defects, whereas in an adult population the injuries are traumatic or degenerative. Worldwide, every year approximately 15 million people experience a stroke (World Heart Federation). The incidence of traumatic SCI is 180,000 per year globally [1] whereas the prevalence in North America is approximately 1 in 1500 people [2]. Retinal degenerative conditions such as age-related macular degeneration are projected to affect 196 million people globally by 2020 [3] whereas retinitis pigmentosa (RP), which has a pediatric onset, is the leading cause of inherited retinal degeneration-associated blindness [4]. For all of these conditions, acute and chronic populations pose different treatment challenges.

Neurons, the functional units of the CNS, transmit and store information; they are extremely vulnerable to injury and degeneration. Mature neurons are postmitotic cells incapable of cell division. Thus, lost cells cannot easily be replaced and often leave a patient with a permanent functional impairment. Furthermore, a significant challenge in CNS regeneration is the complexity of the injury site. The CNS contains multiple subtypes of neurons that form an intricate system of connections with surrounding cells, such as other neurons and glia, and a complex organization that is difficult to recapitulate with current repair strategies. The anatomical location of the injury also has a significant role in the extent of trauma; a parenchymal lesion of several cubic centimeters may be clinically silent: that is, unapparent to both patient and clinician (if in the frontal cortex), severely disabling (if in the spinal cord), or fatal (if in the brain stem) [5].

Despite the complexity of the CNS anatomy, physiology, and pathobiology, tremendous progress in tissue engineering approaches have been made for treatment. This chapter focuses on tissue engineering strategies aimed at achieving functional recovery after CNS injury, including those based on drug delivery, cell delivery, and biomaterial scaffolds. Commonalities in the response to injury and barriers to regeneration are reviewed as related to the tissues of the CNS. Then various therapeutic strategies under investigation for the treatment of CNS injuries and diseases are introduced, such as drug delivery and cell therapy. The second half of the chapter covers the application of regenerative medicine to three case studies in CNS pathology: stroke, SCI, and retinal degeneration.

## WOUND RESPONSE AND BARRIERS TO REGENERATION

## The Blood–Brain Barrier

Under normal conditions, the CNS is considered to be immunoprivileged owing to the blood—brain barrier (BBB), which prevents entry of circulating immune cells and controls the influx of molecules into the brain. There are three main components of the BBB: (1) endothelial cells joined by tight junctions, which limit the paracellular flux of hydrophilic molecules; (2) astrocytic end feet, which tightly ensheathe the vessel walls and maintain the tight junctions; and (3) pericytes, which are important for structural integrity and tight junction formation. The BBB permits diffusion of dissolved gases such as O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> along their concentration gradients. In contrast, the transport of larger molecules must be actively facilitated; nutrients (e.g., glucose) cross the BBB via transporters and endocytosis mediates the uptake of larger molecules (e.g., insulin) [6].

After injury, the BBB is damaged, leading to the initiation of an immune response cascade. Reperfusion with oxygenated blood results in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which stimulate the secretion of inflammatory cytokines from ischemic cells. Activated inflammatory cells release matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which disrupt tight junctions between cells and the basal lamina and lead to the breakdown of the BBB. Breakdown of the BBB in turn causes leakage of plasma, red blood cells, and infiltration of immune cells such as neutrophils and other leukocytes that release proinflammatory factors [7,8]. The inflammatory response is initiated by peripherally derived immune cells such as macrophages and activated glial cells such as microglia that migrate into the injury site. Once there, macrophages and microglia release a wide range of soluble factors including cytokines, tumor necrosis factor, and interleukins (IL)-1, -6, and -10, as well as clear cellular debris by phagocytosis. The released cytokines induce the expression of secondary cytokines, chemokines, nitric oxide, and ROS, subsequently causing cell death [8a]. Pericytes of the BBB have been shown to have a role in scar formation in the spinal cord [9], which is discussed further in the following Reactive Astrocytes and the Glial Scar section.

## **Reactive Astrocytes and the Glial Scar**

Under normal conditions, glial cells in the brain and spinal cord have a multitude of important roles, including maintenance and regulation of the extracellular microenvironment [10]. Astrocytes secrete numerous trophic factors that support neurons, regulate extracellular levels of ions and neurotransmitters, and provide an antioxidant defense for neurons [11]. They are also the main source of endogenous tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), an anticlotting agent, in the brain [12]. In the eye, the principal glial cells are the Müller glia, which support neuronal activity and integrity of the blood—retinal barrier (BRB) and protect retinal ganglion cells from glutamate and nitric oxide neurotoxicity [12a,13].

Injury to the CNS results in astrogliosis, the proliferation of glial cells that undergo morphological changes to become reactive astrocytes [14]. Reactive astrocytes have opposing roles in tissue repair: they are necessary for the wound response initially, yet inhibit regeneration. After stroke and SCI, reactive astrocytes and other cells produce proteoglycans such as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPG) and myelin-associated glycoproteins (MAG) that inhibit axonal outgrowth [15]. Delivery of MMPs or chondroitinase ABC to the CNS after injury results in better cellular integration by degrading these inhibitory extracellular matrix (ECM) factors [16,17]. Despite the known detrimental effects of reactive astrocytes, it is clear that their role is more nuanced than previously thought. The ablation of reactive astrocytes after SCI exacerbates the severity of the injury [18] and has been shown to abolish axon regeneration in mice [19]. In the retina, Müller cell gliosis involves the upregulation of important intermediate filaments and the expression of neuroprotective cytokines and factors that encourage photoreceptor survival after injury [20]. Further work is needed to establish how to balance both roles of reactive astrocytes effectively to promote wound healing while facilitating axon regeneration.

## **Endogenous Stem Cells**

Spontaneous host tissue regeneration depends on endogenous cells with the capacity to proliferate and differentiate. Although it was originally thought that repair of the CNS by endogenous mechanisms was unlikely caused by a lack of adult neurogenesis, this has been disproven. The two main regions that contribute to neurogenesis in the brain are the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles and the subgranular zone of the hippocampus [21–23]. Neural stem cells have also been found in the spinal cord, specifically in the ependymal layer of the subependymal zone of the central canal [24,25], as well as within the parenchyma after injury [25a]. After injury to the spinal cord, these quiescent cells are stimulated to proliferate, resulting in cells positive for neural precursor markers (e.g., Sox2 and nestin) in the lesioned parenchyma [26]. Retinal stem cells have been identified in the pigmented ciliary epithelium of the eye; they proliferate in vitro and are differentiated into retinal-specific cell types in mice [27] and humans [28]. Astrocytes are another source of neurogenesis after injury; in the brain, it has been demonstrated that they are able to differentiate into functional neurons after stroke [29]. Although endogenous stem cells are stimulated by injury in the brain and spinal cord, they are not sufficient to induce recovery [30,31].

After CNS injury, a cascade of events ensues including BBB permeabilization, immune cell infiltration, and formation of a glial scar that inhibits the regeneration of tissue. Although endogenous mechanisms exist for protection (the glial scar) and repair (the proliferation of normally quiescent stem cell populations in response to injury), they are insufficient to result in significant functional repair on their own. Differences in wound response, anatomy, and cell type necessitate therapies tailored to the tissue target and pathological state, whether with biomolecule or cellbased therapeutics.

## THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Therapeutic strategies in the CNS can be classified as biomolecule or cell therapy. This section provides a broad overview of these approaches, acknowledging that the approaches are not exclusive to one another, and indeed most are typically complementary. Further detail is given in the case studies of CNS pathology (Section Case Studies in Tissue Therapy in the Central Nervous System).

### **Biomolecule Delivery**

The use of biomolecule delivery as a protective and regenerative strategy after CNS injury has been investigated both in animal models and clinically. Molecules can be delivered systemically or injected locally. Systemic delivery is suitable only for molecules that can cross the BBB or blood—spinal cord barrier (BSCB) but the high doses required can result in undesirable side effects. Notwithstanding this limitation, many drugs acting on the CNS have been delivered systemically (for example, some small molecules such as methylprednisolone); however, molecules that do not cross the BBB, such as monoclonal antibodies, necessitate a local delivery strategy. Local injections can be performed into the epidural or intrathecal spaces of the spinal cord, into the ventricles in the brain, or directly into the tissue.

The goals of biomolecule delivery in the CNS are to limit degeneration (i.e., neuroprotection) and promote regeneration. Neuroprotection can be defined as a long-lasting maintenance of functional ability, as well as increased axonal sparing and reduced lesion volume. Neuroprotective molecules act on a variety of cellular targets, such as anti-apoptotic pathways to reduce death of certain neuronal populations or oligodendrocytes, and antiinflammatory pathways to inhibit microglial activation [32]. Growth factors previously explored for their regenerative potential have also been shown to be neuroprotective. For example, nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic growth factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), and glial cell-line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) all promote axonal elongation and enhance the survival of sensory and/or motor neurons [33–37].

Neuroregeneration includes the growth of existing axons, sprouting of new axons from neural cell soma, remyelination, and plasticity among surviving axons, all leading to tissue repair and functional recovery. Outgrowth of motor and/or sensory neurons has been reported with the use of neurotrophic factors such as NGF [38], BDNF [39], NT-3 [38], GDNF [34], CNTF [40], and both acidic and basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-1 and FGF-2) [41], among others. Some factors are predicted to act in synergy with one another [42] and with a second class of neuroregenerative molecules, which target growth inhibitory glycoproteins and proteoglycans by activating the Rho-Rho-associated protein kinase (ROCK) pathway. For example, MAG and NogoA are native to the CNS and bind to the Nogo (NgR) and p75<sup>NTR</sup> cell surface receptors, thereby triggering Rho-ROCK and growth inhibition [43]. Blocking this interaction with anti-NogoA or anti-NgR allows neurite outgrowth to resume [44]. Rho activation (and growth inhibition) can also be inhibited by increased intracellular concentrations of the nucleotide cyclicadenosine monophosphate (cAMP) [43] or Cethrin, which showed some success in a Phase I/II clinical trial [45]. Delivery of cAMP or Rolipram, an inhibitor of cAMP degradation, has also been shown to enhance neuroregeneration in animal models [46,47] but is not yet in clinical trials. Another approach to neuroregeneration is stimulation of endogenous stem and progenitor cells in the stem cell niche. For example, specific factors (e.g., epidermal growth factor [EGF], FGF-2, cyclosporin A (CsA), and erythropoietin [EPO]) delivered to the stem cell niche stimulate neural precursor cells to proliferate and migrate, supporting the replacement of cells lost owing to injury [48,49].

## Cell Therapy

The goals of cell transplantation are to replace cells lost owing to injury directly and promote the survival of endogenous cells [50,51]. Stem cells ameliorate poststroke impairments in the brain by modulating inflammation, inducing angiogenesis, and secreting neuroprotective factors into host tissue [52–54]. Theoretically, the ideal cell type would meet three requirements: (1) be from a source that is simple to harvest and does not raise ethical concerns, (2) have the ability to proliferate and generate large populations of donor cells, and (3) be from an autologous source or a one that does not require immune suppression to minimize rejection of engrafted cells.

Despite some Phase I clinical success with mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) in stroke and SCI [55,56] embryonic stem cell (ESC)-derived oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs) in SCI [57], and retinal pigmented epithelium (RPE) cells in retinal degeneration (e.g., NCT01344993, NCT01469832), cell transplantation is still in its infancy and is often complicated by inconsistent results. A major challenge with transplanting allogeneic or xenogeneic cells is a lack of long-term transplant survival, likely the result of the hostile microenvironment of the injury [58–60]. Limited availability of allogeneic donor cells is also an issue; even committed neural precursors isolated from fetal tissue do not proliferate to the extent necessary for widespread clinical utility. An alternative strategy involves the directed differentiation of stem cells, which have the ability for unlimited growth in culture. Several stem cell sources have emerged with the potential for therapeutic application in the CNS: ESCs, adult neural stem cells, and adult nonneural stem cells such as MSCs and adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs). In addition, induction of pluripotent cells or transdifferentiation from adult somatic cells allows for the generation of patient-specific tissue grafts derived from the patient's own cells.

ESCs are pluripotent cells isolated from the inner cell mass of preimplantation blastocysts. The inner mass cells proliferate and differentiate to become the cells that make up the three germ layers of developing humans with the potential to become any cell in the body (pluripotent). This propagation potential can be recapitulated in culture and differentiation of these cells can be directed in a lineage-specific manner to yield terminally differentiated cells [61]. Safety is an important consideration in the clinical application of ESCs. Although there are concerns that their proliferative ability may lead to tumor and mass formation [62], none have been reported clinically. Predifferentiation of these cells is a means to diminish the implied risk of directly transplanting pluripotent cells [63]. However, in the absence of directed differentiation toward a particular cell fate, impure populations of differentiated cells can arise [64]; therefore, ESCs and their progeny should also be purified to ensure that only cells of a neural lineage are transplanted [64a]. The difficulty of translating human ESC (hESC) therapies to the clinic is highlighted through work done with hESC-derived cells for SCI by the California-based company, Geron. In early 2009, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first clinical trial for an hESC product, in which a suspension containing hESC-derived OPCs was injected directly into the SCI lesion site [65]. This trial was suspended twice in the first year: once because of questions regarding the purity of the cell population and then owing to microscopic cysts in the regenerating injury site in animal models. Geron halted the project completely in 2011 [66]. In 2014, the clinical trial resumed under the direction of Asterias Biotherapeutics [67], which after reviewing the preclinical safety of the OPCs [57] reported that the first eight patients showed promising results and that a further five to eight patients were to be enrolled.

Neural stem-progenitor cells (NSPCs) reside in distinct regions of both the fetal and adult CNS, namely the subventricular zone of the lateral ventricles [21,22], subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus [68,69], and ependymal layer of the spinal cord central canal [24,25]. These cells undergo proliferation and maturation throughout adult life [70]. NSPCs can be isolated from embryonic or adult CNS and expanded in culture. These cells have been shown to survive, differentiate into all classes of cells in the CNS, integrate, repair tissue, and improve neurological function after transplantation into animal models of CNS disease or injury [71,72]. Adult NSPCs have lower survival than fetal NSCs after transplantation in the injured brain [73,74], and most transplanted cells differentiate into astrocytes in vivo rather than neurons or oligodendrocytes [75,76].

Nonneuronal stem cells are those derived from other tissues of the body and include MSCs, hematopoietic stem cells, and ADSCs. The majority of clinical stem cell transplantation trials to treat ischemic stroke, as listed by the National Institutes of Health clinical trial registry, use a nonneural source of cells such as autologous bone marrow—derived MSCs or hematopoietic stem cells. There are two major advantages to using these cells: (1) they are easily obtained from the body in large quantities, and (2) they can be derived from an autologous source, which eliminates immunogenicity [77]. MSC transplantation in rodents results in increased functional recovery, whereas their autologous transplantation in patients showed no adverse effects [77a,78]. It is thought that the regenerative success seen with MSCs results from their ability to secrete a variety of neuroprotective factors, such as BDNF, into the injury site to support endogenous cell survival and regeneration [79]. Work on them includes genetically engineering MSCs to overexpress certain factors that will further enhance their therapeutic effect [80].

The derivation of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells [81] from dermal fibroblasts has made it possible to harvest adult terminally differentiated cells and revert them to an ESC-like state [82]. Early iPS cell methods involved infection of the cells with a viral vector to induce pluripotency; current methods such as use of the *piggyBac* transposon allows the transgene to be excised once pluripotency is established, avoiding the risk of mutagenicity caused by a permanently integrated factor [83]. Exploration of this approach may eventually lead to the development of patient-specific (autologous) neural grafts grown from the patient's own cells.

The skin also contains a special type of precursor cell, termed "skips" [84,85], which has shown promise for the treatment of neurological disorders [86] such as SCI [87,88].

Transplanted cells have a high rate of cell death because of a variety of factors including proapoptotic signals, the immune response, and anoikis, that is, the lack of a scaffold for cell adhesion [58–60]. The relatively poor survival of transplanted cells suggests that a combination of cells and drug/biomolecule delivery would enhance survival and integration of the transplanted cell population. Combining delivery of neural stem or progenitor cells with chondroi-tinase ABC and growth factors enhanced cellular integration and functional recovery in a rat model of chronic SCI [89]. Chondroitinase ABC improves the host environment for cell engraftment by degrading the inhibitory CSPGs in the glial scar, promoting cell integration, whereas the growth factors EGF, FGF-2, and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-AA enhance stem cell survival and differentiation [90–92]. To support cell survival and provide an extracellular framework for the transplanted cells, an engineered composite vehicle that can deliver both the cells and biomolecules to the therapeutic target in the CNS is desirable [93,94,94a].

## CASE STUDIES IN TISSUE THERAPY IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

## Stroke

Cerebrovascular disease, defined as an abnormality of the brain caused by a pathological process involving its blood supply [95], is the third leading cause of death in the United States. In terms of morbidity and mortality, it is one of the most common neurological disorders. There are two main types of stroke: hemorrhagic, caused by a ruptured cerebral blood vessel, and ischemic, caused by an occlusion in the cerebral vasculature. Approximately 87% of strokes are ischemic [96]; thus, we focus on ischemic stroke.

#### Pharmacological Therapy

Pharmacological treatment of stroke can be broadly classified into two categories, thrombolytic and neuroprotective. The goal of thrombolysis is to remove the blood clot that results in ischemia so that normal blood flow to the brain can be restored. However, there is an increased risk of hemorrhagic complications with this treatment and it is imperative to administer it within hours after the initial occlusion for it to be effective [97]. Thrombolysis treatment promotes the conversion of the proenzyme plasminogen in the bloodstream into the active enzyme plasmin, a protease that degrades blood plasma proteins associated with blood clotting, most notably fibrin. The only FDAapproved treatment for stroke is tPA, which activates plasminogen by catalyzing its conversion into plasmin and improves the outcome in ischemic stroke when administered up to 4.5 h after stroke [98].

In the hours and days after a stroke, there is continued cell death and impaired function in the penumbra, the area surrounding the lesion core. The penumbra contains cells that are nonfunctioning but can be rescued using therapeutic strategies [7]. Neuroprotective treatments focus on preventing further damage and preserving as much tissue as possible. Neuroprotective agents being investigated include calcium antagonists, glutamate antagonists,  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid antagonists, opioid antagonists,  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) agonists, free radical scavengers, antiinflammatory agents, and membrane stabilizers [99]. A particularly compelling example of a successfully translated neuroprotective agent is NA-1, an inhibitor of NMDA receptor-mediated neuronal death, which has been shown to reduce infarct volume in both primates [100] and humans [101] and is being tested in a US-based Phase II trial [102].

#### Factors for Endogenous Stem Cell Stimulation

After stroke, neural stem cells within the SVZ express elevated levels of receptors for growth factors. For example, receptors for both GDNF [103] and EGF [104] are increased. This suggests that the injured brain may be receptive to repair by its endogenous stem cell populations through growth factor delivery. In animal models of stroke, administration of EGF and EPO stimulated endogenous stem cells, resulting in regeneration of damaged tissue after pial vessel disruption [105]. Sequential administration of  $\beta$ -human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) and EPO 24 h after

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

stroke resulted in a significant decrease in lesion volume and functional improvement in an animal model [106]. Moreover, a clinical study demonstrated that a similar sequential administration of intramuscular  $\beta$ -hCG and intravenous EPO 24–48 h after stroke is safe and resulted in a trend toward smaller infarct size [107]. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) has also shown promising results: Cells in the SVZ express the receptor for G-CSF and subcutaneous administration of this factor stimulated stem cell proliferation, resulting in improved functional recovery [108].

An alternative to stimulating the endogenous brain stem cells is to target bone marrow—derived stem cells, which will home to the site of injury. When G-CSF was administered intravenously to rats subjected to middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO), infarct volume decreased, suggesting a neuroprotective effect [109]. Moreover, a clinical study showed that subcutaneous administration of G-CSF is a safe and feasible method to mobilize bone marrow stem cells [108].

CsA, a clinically used immunosuppressant, has also been shown to stimulate neural stem cells in the SVZ [110]. CsA, encapsulated in poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres and delivered locally to the injured cortex, demonstrated increased cell proliferation in the SVZ and a smaller infarct volume compared with untreated controls [48] (Fig. 68.1). Work has also been done to investigate the use of BDNF for stroke recovery. BDNF levels in the brain



**FIGURE 68.1** A localized drug delivery system for the delivery of cyclosporin A (CsA) to the stroke-injured rat brain. (A, B) A hydrogel (hyaluronan and methylcellulose [HAMC]) containing drug-loaded polymeric microspheres is injected onto the surface of the brain and contained in a polycarbonate casing. (C–G) CsA delivery to the injured brain results in a significant increase in Ki67-positive proliferative cells in the subventricular zone compared with untreated animals. *DAPI*, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole. Magnification, 20X. *Reprinted with permission from Tuladhar A, Morshead CM, Shoichet MS. Circumventing the blood-brain barrier: local delivery of cyclosporine A stimulates stem cells in stroke-injured rat brain. J Control Release 2015;215:1–11.* 

are elevated after injury and it is important for poststroke recovery [111,112]. Delivery of BDNF, either systemically or locally, results in reduced infarct volume and improved functional recovery [113–115].

An exciting alternative to drug delivery is the delivery of viral gene vectors such as NeuroD1 to influence the direct in vivo reprogramming of reactive astrocytes of the glial scar into new neurons that can integrate into the neural circuity. A study demonstrated that this is possible in the cortex of injured and Alzheimer model mice, in which NeuroD1 was used to reprogram astrocytes successfully into glutamatergic neurons [116]. This strategy avoids the issue of immune rejection of cell transplants and may be able to generate large enough numbers of endogenous neurons while depleting the glial scar for functional recovery. Further work is needed to increase transfection efficiency and generate the neuronal subtypes needed for circuit restoration [117].

## **Cell Transplantation**

Because of limited endogenous regeneration in the brain, exogenous cells have been transplanted as an alternative strategy. When NSPCs were administered intravenously to mice subjected to MCAO, the cells migrated to the injured side of the brain; however, only 0.09% of the injected cells were found in the brain whereas many were detected in other organs [52]. Local delivery strategies include transplantation directly into the lesion or into the surrounding penumbra, and can achieve greater numbers of cells at the injury site than systemic delivery. Directly into the lesion is favored because it is able to accommodate the injected volume without damaging healthy tissue and is adjacent to the penumbra, a region of potentially recoverable cells [93,93a]. However, despite these benefits, the hostile inflammatory environment of the lesion is not always conducive to the survival of transplants, which is limited to 1-10% of the injected population [58,118]. Because of the varying size of lesions, an injectable hydrogel that fills the irregular void is desirable (Fig. 68.2).

To support cell survival and provide an extracellular framework for cell delivery, scaffolds are being explored to promote greater cell survival and regeneration [93,94a]. Biomaterials can act as three-dimensional artificial niches to support cellular function and survival, provide physical protection from washout into the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and provide protection from the immune response and apoptotic signals from the ECM [58–60,60a]. Natural scaffolds such as Matrigel have been used to deliver neural progenitor cells (NPCs) into the stroke lesion and showed an increased number of cells at the transplantation site relative to delivery in artificial CSF [120]. Notwithstanding these results, Matrigel is derived from a mouse sarcoma and is inherently ill-defined, which hinders its clinical use. To elucidate whether individual components of Matrigel can improve cell survival, cells have been transplanted in collagen I [121] and a mixture of collagen I and either laminin or fibronectin [122], both of which were found to improve cell survival. Another natural polymer that has garnered much attention is hyaluronan (HA). HA constitutes a significant proportion of the CNS ECM and can be cross-linked to have a modulus similar to that of native brain tissue [60a,93]. HA is also reported to inhibit scar formation and promote angiogenesis in vivo [123,124].



**FIGURE 68.2** Injectable delivery vehicle for cell delivery to the injured brain. (A) This conceptual drawing shows injection of the space-filling vehicle into the cystic cavity formed after traumatic or stroke-induced brain damage. A craniectomy is performed to expose the injury site and a hydrogel is then injected to fill the cavity. (B, C) Comparison of injection of mouse neural stem/progenitor cells directly into the mouse stroke lesion (*white bars*) or 1 mm caudal to the lesion (*black bars*). At 7 days after injection, cells delivered directly into the lesion achieved greater depth into the brain than those delivered caudal to the lesion. Scale bar, 100µm. (*A*) *Reprinted with permission from Reichert W. Indwelling neural implants: strategies for contending with the in vivo environment, vol. xviii. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2008. p. 271. (B and C) Reprinted with permission from Ballios BG, Cooke MJ, Donaldson L, Coles BLK, Morshead CM, van der Kooy D, Shoichet MS. A hyaluronan-based injectable hydrogel improves the survival and integration of stem cell progeny following transplantation. Stem Cell Rep 2015;4(6):1031–45.* 

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Combined with methylcellulose, HA methylcellulose (HAMC) hydrogels increased cell survival and motor recovery when used as a vehicle to deliver neural stem cells (NSCs) into the stroke-injured cortex of adult mice [94].

When stem cells are delivered to the site of injury, they must differentiate into the correct cell types for integration and functional recovery. It has been reported that later-stage neuronal precursors from the embryonic cortex are better able to differentiate and survive when transplanted into the stroke-injured brain compared with cells of an earlier developmental stage [73]. Similar results were observed with transplanted human iPS-derived neuronal precursors [126] and ESC-derived neuronal precursors [126]. Specific regions of the brain or different microenvironments have also been shown to drive stem cells to differentiate preferentially into glia over neurons. For example, adult NSCs from the SVG or SVZ will produce neurons only when they are transplanted in neurogenic regions; in nonneurogenic areas they differentiate primarily into glial cells [75,76,127]. An experiment comparing the transplantation of glial-restricted spinal cord progenitors and NSCs into the aging hippocampus reported that regardless of initial cell type, cells differentiated into predominantly glia, which suggests that the microenvironment of the hippocampus influences preferential differentiation of stem cells into astrocytes [128]. This phenomenon is also observed in the spinal cord, where it has been reported that if cells are not restricted to a neuronal lineage before transplantation, they will mainly differentiate into glia and exhibit lower survival [129].

A combination therapy using growth factors or peptides and stem cells has been proposed to better control and improve the efficacy of cell transplantation. For example, the combined delivery of EPO and MSCs results in increased proliferation of cells along the lateral ventricle wall and greater functional recovery than either EPO or MSC treatment alone [130]. Combining cells with peptides has a similar outcome; NSCs delivered with the adhesion peptide IKVAV, derived from the full-length laminin protein, to a TBI rat model increased neuronal cell attachment and neurite outgrowth only when IKVAV was present [131].

Rehabilitation can contribute to regeneration when combined with stem cell transplantation. To study the effects of rehabilitation, animals are housed in enriched environments (EE) where they are allowed access to a variety of objects that stimulate exploratory behavior in addition to free access to individual running wheels [132]. Combined with mouse NSPC transplantation, EE enhanced functional recovery and proliferation of endogenous progenitor cells and increased cell migration to the injury site [132]. In contrast, when rats were injected with neural precursor cells derived from human ES cells, EE had no significant effect on functional recovery [58]. The authors attributed these varying results to possible differences in the immune response and cell survival between mouse and human stem cells.

Preclinical studies demonstrate the potential of stem cell therapy to treat stroke; however, to translate this potential to the clinic, additional research is required to control cell survival, differentiation, and integration better for ultimate functional repair. Although thrombosis treatment has had the best clinical success, the short window for treatment limits its utility. Ultimately, combination strategies that both protect brain tissue from further degeneration and promote tissue regeneration will likely see the greatest success in the clinic.

## Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury

Traumatic SCI results from contusion/compression or transection (laceration) of the cord. Compression injuries comprise 70% of clinical cases and partial or complete transection comprise the remaining 30% [133]. Compression of the spinal cord may be caused by dislocation of a vertebra and pinching of the cord between the anterior and posterior faces of the vertebral foramen in adjacent vertebrae. In spinal cord trauma, the level and severity of cord injury determine the extent of neurological manifestations and the prognosis. Damage to thoracic and lower vertebrae can lead to paraplegia and cervical injury may result in quadriplegia. Spinal cord injuries above the fourth cervical vertebra can also compromise respiratory function. Segmental damage to the ascending and descending white matter tracts accounts for the principal clinical deficits.

The initial primary injury causes uncontrolled necrotic cell death, inflammation, ischemia, and hypoxia. These processes persist for weeks and initiate a second wave of apoptosis in neurons and oligodendrocytes, increasing the volume of injured tissue and forming a spindle-shaped cystic cavity [134]. This secondary biochemical cascade is also evident after transection, although a cavity does not form. In both injury types, the injured tissue is isolated from the environment by reactive astrocytes through the formation of a glial scar [134]. Similar to stroke, tissue therapy after SCI is classified as neuroprotective (reducing the biochemical damage of the secondary injury) or neuro-regenerative (restoring lost function through regrowth and reinnervation of axons).

#### **Biomolecule Delivery**

Classes of biomolecules used for spinal cord repair include steroidal compounds, sodium or potassium channel blockers, and growth factors. The steroid methylprednisolone, an antiinflammatory drug, is used clinically [135], but



**FIGURE 68.3** When injected into the intrathecal space, a hydrogel-based drug delivery system can localize and modulate biomolecule therapeutic release at the site of injury. This route is preferred over epidural delivery, in which the diffusive barrier presented by the dura mater is significant. *CSF*, cerebrospinal fluid. *Copyright* (2005) by *Michael Corrin, reproduced with permission of the artist.* 

its beneficial effects have been questioned and it is not always administered to patients. Minocycline, a tetracycline derivative, targets the host inflammatory response and can cross the BSCB [136]. It demonstrated modest motor improvements in a Phase II trial [137], which is recruiting for a Phase III trial [138]. Riluzole, a sodium channel blocker in clinical use to treat amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, was tested in a Phase I SCI trial, which was completed in 2013; and is currently undergoing a Phase 2/3 trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT01597518; [138a]).

Because most drugs and protein therapeutics delivered systemically cannot cross the BSCB, the most effective delivery strategies to the injured spinal cord are to the intrathecal space or directly into the cord. Local release circumvents the BSCB and enables direct tissue benefit. For example, anti-NogoA (ATI355, Novartis) was injected directly into the intrathecal space using an external pump or catheter. Although the Novartis trial results have not been published, use of the external pump caused infections in the first patients, resulting in a change of strategy to bolus injection to the intrathecal space [139]. While not circumventing the BSCB, Cethrin (Vertex) was delivered locally to the epidural space from a fibrin sealant [140]. The Cethrin trial resulted in modest improvement in cervical spinal cord—injured patients 12 months after treatment [45]. Despite these results, with epidural delivery the therapeutic molecule must cross the dura mater, arachnoid mater, and fluid-filled intrathecal space before reaching the damaged spinal cord, resulting in limited tissue penetration.

Intrathecal injection is a desirable strategy for local delivery because it bypasses the two meninges of epidural delivery and avoids both the infection associated with external pump or catheter and the tissue damage associated with the needle track of intraspinal delivery (Fig. 68.3). Continuous intrathecal infusion is most often achieved from an indwelling catheter and pump system. Implanted osmotic minipumps have been used in many preclinical in vivo studies for up to 28 days [44,141,142]. Continuous infusion provides excellent dose control, but prolonged catheterization carries with it the risk for tissue damage by catheter tips that can compress and scar the spinal cord [143]. Injectable, bioresorbable hydrogels provide an excellent alternative to the pump or catheter system. Prolonged release for up to 2 months has been demonstrated with a series of protein and drug therapeutics. For example, bolus injections of sustained release formulations, such as drug-loaded polymer particles, distribute throughout the intrathecal space [144] and hydrogels in which polymeric nanospheres are incorporated remain localized at the site of injection, achieving prolonged release. HAMC was injected into the intrathecal space in a rat model of SCI, where it remained localized for up to 7 days [145]. Drug-loaded PLGA nanoparticles were included in the HAMC formulation to sustain drug release and stabilize the hydrogel, resulting in HAMC composites that were stable for more than 50 days and sustained drug release for 28 days in vitro [146]. This formulation provided a platform for the local delivery of factors (NT-3 and anti-NogoA [90]; and cell-drug combinations such as PDGF and neural stem cells [92], or the combination of PDGF, a Gly–Arg–Asp–Gly–Ser adhesive peptide, and OPCs [91] to the injured spinal cord.

#### **Guiding Axon Regrowth**

A challenge particular to transection injuries of the spinal cord is the long-distance axon regeneration required for functional recovery. Thus, treatment strategies for transection injury use physical constructs to provide a permissive

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

environment and guidance cues for axonal regeneration. When the cord is completely severed, the stumps can be placed within nerve guidance channels in a strategy analogous to that pursued in peripheral nerve repair. Tube dimensions, wall thickness, porosity, and mechanical strength are all important physical factors that influence the suitability of tubes for CNS repair. Matching the mechanical properties, and specifically the modulus, of the tube to the tissue has been shown to be important to avoid necrotic tissue at the interface [147]. Considerable effort has been directed into optimizing tube fabrication methods, including polymer extrusion, casting in molds, immersion of a polymer solution-coated mandrel in a nonsolvent, and centrifugal casting of phase-separated polymerization mixtures. These techniques vary in the uniformity of the tubes produced; centrifugal casting remains the most versatile option for hydrogels and molding is the simplest [148,149]. Tubes are fabricated from a variety of both synthetic and natural materials to meet these criteria increasingly to function as platforms for drug and/or cell delivery.

One of the most popular classes of materials is hydrogels such as poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-*co*-methyl methacrylate) (P[HEMA/MMA]) [150]. P(HEMA/MMA) is biocompatible and is promising as a nerve guidance tube in the CNS and peripheral nervous system [148,149]; however, P(HEMA/MMA) is nondegradable and investigators have turned to materials such as poly(L-lactide) [151], poly(hydroxybutyrate) [152], chitosan [153,154], and collagen [155], which are degradable in vivo. Hydrogels alone have been used when the cord is partially or fully transected to fill the tissue defect and promote bridging of the gap [156,157]. The alignment of the material is also an important consideration for conduit design; it has been demonstrated that unilateral nanogrooves aligned with the direction of axon growth result in better directional guidance than less-organized topographic cues within the conduit [158].

Various cell types have been incorporated into physical constructs to enhance axon guidance and survival in the spinal cord. Schwann cells [151,152,159], astrocytes [159], and NSPCs [160,161] have been included in the inner lumen of tubes, either adherent to the inner surface or suspended in a hydrogel within the tube. Cell-adhesive hydrogels such as dilute collagen [162] and laminin-functionalized agarose [163] have shown promise in this application. One example involves rat NSPCs that were seeded in fibrin scaffolds inside chitosan channels and combined with dibutyrylcyclic adenosine monophosphate—releasing PLGA microspheres to promote recovery in the rat [163a].

## **Cell Transplantation**

Similar to stroke, cell delivery to the injured spinal cord is challenging owing to the hostile microenvironment, glial scarring, and a lack of ECM. Nonetheless, there is significant interest in intraspinal cell delivery and investigators have used many of the cell types previously mentioned for this purpose. In acute injury models, cells have been injected into the tissue as a suspension in buffer [164,165] or polymer matrix [166] near the site of injury. One challenge unique to spinal cord regeneration is the remyelination of spared axons, thought to be an important mechanism for recovery. Predifferentiation in vitro of human ES cells to oligodendrocyte progenitors, before transplantation, has been demonstrated to increase remyelination after transplantation compared with undifferentiated cells [64a,167]. Differentiation of hESCs to oligodendrocyte progenitor cells is the basis of a clinical trial led by Asterias, as mentioned earlier. In another study, NSCs derived from either a myelinating (wild-type) or nonmyelinating (Shiverer mouse) cell line showed that although both cell types integrated and predominantly differentiated into oligodendrocytes, only animals that received myelinating cells showed tissue and functional benefits [168] (Fig. 68.4). The use of cells that are predifferentiated to a specific type of the *neuronal* lineage, such as GABAergic interneurons, has also shown success in restoring function and reducing neuropathic pain after SCI [169,170]. Interestingly, robust corticospinal tract regeneration in a complete transection rat model was observed after transplantation of NPCs driven toward a spinal cord identity, which suggest that the positional identity of progenitor cells is important for integration into the injury site [171].

### **Retinal Degeneration**

In the normal eye, light reaches the neural retina, which is composed of photoreceptors (rods and cones) and is transduced into electrical impulses for the brain by various cell types (Fig. 68.5). The retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), located directly adjacent to the photoreceptors, supports photoreceptor metabolic function and has a critical role in the biochemical process of vision. Retinal disease leads to permanent loss of visual function for which there is no definitive treatment. Vision is a major factor in quality of life; in the United States, it is estimated that \$4.6 billion dollars is spent on non-diabetes related retinal disorders (Prevent Blindness America). The search for cures is made more urgent by the knowledge that as populations in the developed world age, the incidence of blindness caused by





FIGURE 68.4 Remyelination is important to recovery in spinal cord injury. The delivery of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cells (iPS-dNSC) into the injured spinal cord from wild-type (*wt*) mice (A, B) results in significant behavioral recovery attributed to increased myelination compared with iPS-dNSCs from the *shiverer* (*shi*) mutation. (C) After transplantation, the wild-type iPS-dNSCs showed remyelination myelin basic protein (MBP plus staining) of axons in both longitudinal and transverse orientations, whereas the *shiverer* iPS-dNSCs showed no myelination. (D) Gait parameters at 8 weeks after injury were significantly improved in only the wild-type dNSC group. *DAPI*, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; *GFP*, green fluorescence protein. *Reprinted with permission from Salewski RP, Mithcell RA, Li L, Shen C, Milekovskaia M, Nagy A, Fehlings MG. Transplantation of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cells mediate functional recovery following thoracic spinal cord injury through remyelination of axons. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4(7):743–54.* 

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM



FIGURE 68.5 The human retina possesses a laminar structure. Photoreceptors (rods and cones) lie in the outer nuclear layer, interneurons (bipolar, horizontal, and amacrine cells) in the inner nuclear layer, and ganglion cells in the ganglion cell layer. Photoreceptors, bipolar cells, and horizontal cells make connections with each other in the outer plexiform layer. Bipolar, amacrine, and ganglion cells make connections in the inner plexiform layer. Information flows from outer lamina to inner lamina, as well as laterally via horizontal and amacrine cells. *Reprinted with permission of Delplace V, Payne SL, Shoichet MS.* 2015. Delivery strategies for treatment of age-related ocular diseases: from a biological understanding to biomaterial solutions. Journal of Controlled Release. 219: 652–68.

to retinal degeneration is expected to rise [171a,172]. Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the most common cause of irreversible vision loss in the United States [173]. To understand regenerative therapies for retinal degeneration, it is important to understand the pathogenesis of a typical degenerative condition such as AMD. It is common place to describe AMD as "dry" (atrophic) or "wet" (exudative). Dry AMD is identified by diffuse, discrete deposits in the Bruch membrane (drusen) and atrophy of the RPE, whereas wet AMD is characterized by choroidal neovascular membranes originating from the underlying choriocapillaries. These vessels are leaky and exudate can form macular scars that directly destroy both photoreceptors and the RPE. The RPE is essential for homeostatic photoreceptor outer segment phagocytosis and disruption of the RPE is associated with photoreceptor death [174,175].

#### **Biomolecule Delivery**

Retinal degeneration therapies are focused on pharmacotherapy. These therapies slow disease progression but do not restore vision loss. There have been significant advances in the treatment of wet AMD with antivascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF) therapies [176,177]. Examples of available biomolecules include ranibizumab (Lucentis), bevacizumab (Avastin) [178–180], and pegaptanib (Macugen). One issue with anti-VEGF treatment for the eye is the serious off-target effects on VEGF-dependent physiological processes such as wound healing and kidney function. To address this, an anti-VEGF "sticky-trap" composed of anti-VEGF and a heparin-binding domain was designed to remain at the site of injection and thus avoid systemic effects [181]. Other experimental treatments in AMD and diabetic retinopathy focus on eliminating oxidative damage using bioactive molecules such as advanced glycosylation end-product inhibitors and antioxidants [182]. Corticosteroids and antiinflammatory drugs such as dexamethasone have been explored extensively; a number are available commercially [183,184]. An interesting example is Ozurdex, a degradable implant composed of PLGA-encapsulated dexamethasone used to decrease macular edema in patients with diabetic retinopathy [184]. Gene therapies might also present a method for targeting defects that result from inherited retinal disorders such as Leber congenital amaurosis [185], RP [186], and ocular albinism [187].

## **Cell Transplantation**

Cell transplantation is an alternate strategy that arguably, has seen the most clinical success in retinal degeneration compared with other tissues of the CNS. Early clinical studies conducted in patients with retinal degeneration involved retinal sheet transplants. This procedure relies on an immature retinal sheet taken from fetal tissue to extend processes and integrate with the degenerating recipient retina. The rationale is that spared inner cells of the retina require only synaptic connections with functional photoreceptors to complete the visual circuit. Various types of tissue have been allografted: fetal RPE cells in patients with AMD [188] and neural retinal cells in patients with RP [189]. These studies have shown some subjective improvement in function but also eventual rejection of the transplant [190–192]. Some of the most promising results to date were reported with the transplantation of retinal progenitor cell (RPC) sheets with intact RPE into 10 patients with RP and AMD, in which seven patients showed some improvement in visual acuity scores without cell rejection [193].

Studies suggested that stem cell transplantation shows promise for reconstituting damaged cell populations in the retina [194–196] (Fig. 68.6). Preclinical research on cell transplantation is directed toward transplanting cell suspensions into the subretinal space, and strategies involving the delivery of NPCs, healthy photoreceptors,



**FIGURE 68.6** *Nrl*.GFP (neural retina leucine zipper gene; green fluorescent protein) rod transplantation results in integration into the adult *Gnat1<sup>-/-</sup>* retinal dysfunction mouse model. (A) Optimization of transplant protocol led to an increase in the number of photoreceptors present after transplantation. (B) Representative images of integrated photoreceptors (green fluorescence protein positive) in the retina with and without 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole staining. Scale bar, 50µm. (C–F) Integrated photoreceptors expressed appropriate proteins (transducin and rod arrestin) at the correct location during light and dark stimulation. Scale bar, 10µm. *IS*, inner segment; *ONL*, outer nuclear layer; *OS*, outer segment. *Reproduced with permission from Pearson RA, Barber AC, Rizzi M, Hippert C, Xue T, West EL, et al. Restoration of vision after transplantation of photoreceptors. Nature 2012;485:99–103.* 

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

photoreceptor precursors, and RPE cells are all being pursued. Immature neurons are capable of migrating and differentiating during neural development, and many studies have focused on the integration of these brainderived neural progenitors into the retina. However, transplantation to the adult retina showed limited donor cell integration [197,198]. It was assumed that the adult retina lacks the extrinsic cues that are present during development to aid donor cell integration [199]. The inability of neural precursors to differentiate into photoreceptors suggested that a more appropriate cell source for transplantation might be neural RPCs. These cells, which are from the developing embryonic retina, are native to the retinal microenvironment and may generate photoreceptors more readily [196,200]. Morphological differentiation and integration have been observed with transplanted RPCs into the retina of adult pigs [201]. The Ali Lab demonstrated the integration of functional photoreceptors into the retina of adult mice, but only when the donor cells were postmitotic photoreceptor precursors [195,202]. These transplants showed functional synaptic activity and the ability to recover light response when transplanted into  $rho^{-/-}$  mice, a model of selective photoreceptor loss, and  $Gnat^{-/-}$  mice, a model lacking rod function. These studies suggest that the ontogenetic stage of the transplanted cell is likely crucial for successful integration into the outer nuclear layer of the retina and association with other photoreceptors. Interestingly, transplantation of more mature photoreceptors resulted in higher cell survival than immature RPC progeny [94,202,203]. An unexpected phenomenon, in which transplanted photoreceptors exchange intracellular material, such as green fluorescent protein, with host cells has been reported. This results in false-positive results when quantifying cell integration. This important finding may necessitate a reinterpretation of the mechanism of transplant-mediated functional recovery [204–206].

Efforts using pluripotent cell sources have focused on deriving a purified cell population for transplantation. Various protocols have been developed for enriching the proportion of ESCs that differentiate along a retinal lineage [207–209]. These cells show the ability to integrate into models of retinal degeneration [208,210] and restore some visual function in models of photoreceptor dystrophism [207]. However, the absence of a method to purify these populations means a mixed population of differentiated cells is transplanted [63]. A major challenge is in vitro amplification of adult stem cell populations to yield sufficient cell numbers for clinical utility [211]. van der Kooy reported isolation of adult retinal stem cells (RSCs) from both the mouse eye [27] and human eye [28]. These multipotent cells can differentiate to all retinal cell types and are able to survive, migrate, and integrate into the developing neural retina. A major limitation of these cells is that photoreceptors make up only a small proportion (<10%) of differentiated cells in vitro. Stable transfection of genes known to be important in determining photoreceptor fate has greatly increased the number of photoreceptors obtained under differentiation conditions and shown integration of functional photoreceptors after transplantation into developing retina [212]. In addition, the use of exogenous factors for directing the differentiation of RSCs toward rod photoreceptor fate has allowed pure populations of donor photoreceptors to be generated for transplantation without the need for gene transfection [213]. Although progress has been made in generating and transplanting stem cell-derived rod photoreceptors, little has been achieved to address cone photoreceptor loss. Given the importance of cone photoreceptors for light vision, this is an area of active research. The Wallace group has reported a protocol for cone enrichment and demonstrated that transplantation into the retina results in integration and morphological maturation of the cones [214].

Used as a transplant model, the developing mouse host eye is permissive to donor cell integration but the adult retina presents unique challenges for integration. Cell death, leakage, and migration from the transplantation site occur when cells are delivered as a suspension in saline [196]. To overcome these barriers in the adult, interdisciplinary studies including the combination of regular tissue culture with tissue engineering are being pursued. For example, retinal progenitors isolated during development are grown and transplanted on solid biomaterial scaffolds [215–217]. Although these reports are an important advancement, the scaffolds employed do not match the modulus of the retina and may lack the flexibility required for subretinal delivery [217]. More recent advances for RPE delivery include the synthesis of synthetic membranes that more closely match the physical properties of the inner collagenous layer of Bruch membrane, the location of the native RPE [218,219]. These membranes improved the survival of human RPE in the rabbit retina after transplantation [220]. Materials such as synthetic polymers and collagen have been explored for this application with successes in animal models of AMD [220,221]. An alternative to implantable scaffolds is injectable vehicles such as an in situ gelling, bioresorbable hydrogel-based cell delivery vehicle for transplanting the adult RSCs into the subretinal space of adult mice [94,222]. This hydrogel allowed for normal RSC survival and proliferation and for greater continuous integration of RSCs into the RPE versus saline vehicle controls [94]. Hyaluronan-based hydrogel scaffolds were also shown to promote the survival of primary photoreceptors in vitro [223]. This cell delivery strategy may be useful for treating advanced maculopathy, in which large areas of RPE are destroyed [215]. These advances in solid and injectable scaffolds bring a new dimension to the treatment of retinal disease in which the scaffold itself can provide a prosurvival and prointegration environment for transplanted cells based on its composition. Translation to the clinic will depend on further increasing cell survival and host tissue integration to restore visual function.

## CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

Regenerative therapy in the treatment of CNS injury is at the forefront of techniques that address the source of functional deficits. Important advances have been made in many disorders including stroke, SCI, and retinal degeneration. The combination of drug delivery, cell delivery, and biomaterials scaffolds is a promising approach to create a permissive environment populated with cells primed for regeneration. For this reason, future efforts will continue to see a merging of strategies of cells and biological factors with biomaterials-based scaffolds important for cell survival and integration, two key limitations of cell transplantation today. Continued innovation is required in the field of scaffold design to provide the optimal microenvironment for cell survival, differentiation, and integration. The biochemical and mechanical properties of the scaffold, in addition to cell–cell interactions, are active areas of research in biomimetic scaffold design.

Cell delivery requires determining the optimum population for transplantation that produces significant integration with existing neuronal circuitry and functional recovery. Optogenetics, a tool that allows for the precise control of the action potential of a transplanted neuron using light, can elucidate the mechanisms behind functional recovery after cell transplantation. Controlling the firing of transplanted cells after delivery and integration into tissue may provide direct evidence of whether cells are truly integrating into the host circuitry or relying on the secretion of factors, and which mechanism is more important for functional recovery [224,225].

For endogenous stem cell stimulation, advances in drug delivery technology will allow temporal and spatial control of released factors; yet, more work is needed to determine which factors to release and when. Moreover, for local release, new delivery strategies will be required that are minimally invasive and ensure diffusion through CNS tissue, thus encouraging local stimulation of stem cells. Because many cells have common receptors, uniquely stimulating the endogenous stem cells among other resident cells in a tissue may be difficult. The complexity of the CNS and its numerous protective barriers has made the intricacies of its function difficult to understand and repair. Notwithstanding these challenges, the promise of regenerative medicine in the CNS can build on successes in other tissues and advance treatments to the clinic.

## List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

aCSF Artificial cerebrospinal fluid ADSC Adipose-derived stem cell ALS Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis AMD Age-related macular degeneration AMPA α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid BBB Blood-brain barrier BDNF Brain-derived neurotrophic growth factor BRB Blood-retinal barrier BSCB Blood-spinal cord barrier cAMP Cyclic-adenosine monophosphate CNS Central nervous system **CNTF** Ciliary neurotrophic factor CsA Cyclosporin A CSF Cerebrospinal fluid CSPG Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan dbcAMP Dibutyrylcyclic adenosine monophosphate **ECM** Extracellular matrix EE Enriched environments EGF Epidermal growth factor EPO Erythropoietin ESC Embryonic stem cell FGF-1 Fibroblast growth factor-1 **GABA**  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid G-CSF Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor GDNF Glial cell-line-derived neurotrophic factor GFP Green fluorescent protein HA Hyaluronan HAMC Hyaluronic acid and methylcellulose hCG Human chorionic gonadotropin IL Interleukin iPS Induced pluripotent stem MAG Myelin-associated glycoprotein

MCAO Middle cerebral artery occlusion MMP Matrix metalloproteinase MSC Mesenchymal stromal cells NDMA N-methyl-D-aspartate NGF Nerve growth factor NgR Nogo receptor NPC Neural progenitor cell NSC Neural stem cell NSPC Neural stem-progenitor cell NT-3 Neurotrophin-3 P(HEMA/MMA) Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-co-methyl methacrylate) PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor PLGA Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) **ROS** Reactive oxygen species **RP** Retinitis pigmentosa RPC Retinal progenitor cell **RPE** Retinal pigment epithelium RSC Retinal stem cell SCI Spinal cord injury SGZ Subgranular zone SVZ Subventricular zone TBI Traumatic brain injury TNF Tumor necrosis factor tPA Tissue plasminogen activator VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

## Acknowledgments

We thank the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (Discovery grant to MSS) of Canada and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (Foundation grant to MSS) for funding our research. We are grateful to members of the Shoichet Lab for thoughtful input on this book chapter.

## References

- Lee BB, Cripps RA, Fitzharris M, Wing PC. The global map for traumatic spinal cord injury epidemiology: update 2011, global incidence rate. Spinal Cord 2014;52:110-6.
- [2] Wyndaele M, Wyndaele JJ. Incidence, prevalence and epidemiology of spinal cord injury: what learns a worldwide literature survey? Spinal Cord 2006;44:523–9.
- [3] Wing WL, Su X, Li X, Cheung CMG, Klein R, Chen C-Y, Wong TY. Global prevalence of age-related macular degeneration and disease burden projection for 2020 and 2040: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2014;2(2):e106–16.
- [4] Shintani K, Shechtman DL, Gurwood AS. Review and update: current treatment trends for patients with retinitis pigmentosa. Optometry 2009;80:384–401.
- [5] Kumar V, Abbas AK, Fausto N, Robbins SL, Cotran RS. Robbins and cotran pathologic basis of disease, xv. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2005. p. 1525.
- [6] Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M. The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications. Neurobiol Dis 2004;16:1–13.
- [7] Brouns R, De Deyn PP. The complexity of neurobiological processes in acute ischemic stroke. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2009;111(6):483-95.
- [8] Heiss W-D. The ischemic penumbra: how does tissue injury evolve? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2012;1268:26–34.
- [8a] Keane RW, Davis AR, Dietrich WD. Inflammatory and apoptotic signaling after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2006;23(3-4):335-44.
- [9] Goritz C, Dias DO, Tomilin N, Barbacid M, Shupliakov O, Frisen J. A pericyte origin of spinal cord scar tissue. Science 2011;333:236-42.
- [10] Chung WS, Allen NL, Eroglu C. Astrocytes control synapse formation, function, and elimination. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2015;7: a020370.
- Barreto GE, Gonzalez J, Torres Y, Morales L. Astrocytic-neuronal crosstalk: implications for neuroprotection from brain injury. Neurosci Res 2001;71(2):107–13.
- [12] Xin H, Li Y, Shen LH, Liu X, Wang X, Zhang J, et al. Increasing tPA activity in astrocytes induced by multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells facilitate neurite outgrowth after stroke in the mouse. PLoS One 2010;5(2):e9027.
- [12a] García M, Forster V, Hicks D, Vecino E. Effects of muller glia on cell survival and neuritogenesis in adult porcine retina in vitro. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2002;43(12):3735–43.
- [13] Limb AG, Jayaram H. Regulatory and pathogenic roles of Müller glial cells in retinal neovascular processes and their potential for retinal regeneration. Exp. Approach. Diab. Retinopathy, 20; 2010. p. 98–108.
- [14] Duggan PS, Siegel AW, Blass DM, et al. Unintended changes in cognition, mood, and behavior arising from cell-based interventions for neurological conditions: ethical challenges. Am J Bioeth 2009;9:31–6.
- [15] Zhang ZG, Chopp M. Neurorestorative therapies for stroke underlying mechanisms and translation to the clinic. Lancet Neurol 2009;8: 491–500.

- [16] Gherardini L, Pizzorusso GM. Perilesional treatment with chondroitinase ABC and motor training promote functional recovery after stroke in rats. Cerebr Cortex 2015;25(1):202–12.
- [17] Wilems TS, Sakiyama-Elbert SE. Sustained dual drug delivery of anti-inhibitory molecules for treatment of spinal cord injury. J Control Release 2015;213:103–11.
- [18] Faulkner JR, Herrmann JE, Woo MJ, Tansey KE, Doan NB, Sofroniew MV. Reactive astrocytes protect tissue and preserve function after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 2004;24:2143–55.
- [19] Anderson MA, Burda JE, Ren Y, Ao Y, O'Shea TM, Kawaguchi R, et al. Astrocyte scar formation aids central nervous system axon regeneration. Nature 2006;532:195–200.
- [20] Fu QL, Wu W, Wang H, Li X, Lee VW, So KF. Up-regulated endogenous erythropoietin/erythropoietin receptor system and exogenous erythropoietin rescue retinal ganglion cells after chronic ocular hypertension. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2008;28:317–29.
- [21] Chiasson BJ, Tropepe V, Morshead CM, van der kooy D. Adult mammalian forebrain ependymal and subependymal cells demonstrate proliferative potential, but only subependymal cells have neural stem cell characteristics. J Neurosci 1999;19:4462–71.
- [22] Morshead CM, Reynolds BA, Craig CG, et al. Neural stem cells in the adult mammalian forebrain: a relatively quiescent subpopulation of subependymal cells. Neuron 1994;13:1071–82.
- [23] Reynolds BA, Weiss S. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 1992;255(5052):1707–10.
- [24] Horner PJ, Power AE, Kempermann G, et al. Proliferation and differentiation of progenitor cells throughout the intact adult rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 2000;20:2218–28.
- [25] Weiss S, Dunne C, Hewson J, et al. Multipotent CNS stem cells are present in the adult mammalian spinal cord and ventricular neuroaxis. J Neurosci 1996;16:7599–609.
- [25a] Yamamoto SI, Yamamoto N, Kitamura T, Nakamura K, Nakafuku M. Proliferation of parenchymal neural progenitors in response to injury in the adult rat spinal cord. Exp Neurol 2001;172(1):115–27.
- [26] Foret A, Quertainmont R, Botman O, et al. Stem cells in the adult rat spinal cord: plasticity after injury and treadmill training exercise. J Neurochem 2010;112:762–72.
- [27] Tropepe V, Coles BLK, Chiasson BJ, et al. Retinal stem cells in the adult mammalian eye. Science 2000;287:2032-6.
- [28] Coles BLK, Angenieux B, Inoue T, et al. Facile isolation and the characterization of human retinal stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101:15772–7.
- [29] Duan C-L, Liu C-W, Shen S-W, Yu Z, Mo J-L, Chen X-H, Sun F-Y. Striatal astrocytes transdifferentiate into functional mature neurons following ischemic brain injury. Glia 2015;63(9):1660–70.
- [30] Barnabe-Heider F, Goritz C, Sabelstrom H, Takebayashi H, Pfrieger FW, Meletis K, Frisen J. Origin of new glial cells in intact and injured adult spinal cord. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;7(4):470–82.
- [31] Guerra-Crespo M, De la Herrán-Arita AK, Boronat-García A, Maya-Espinosa G, García-Montes JR, Fallon JH, Drucker-Colín R. Neural stem cells: exogenous and endogenous promising therapies for stroke. In: Sun Tao, editor. Neural stem cells and therapy. InTech; 2012, ISBN 978-953-307-958-5.
- [32] Ramer LM, Ramer MS, Steeves JD. Setting the stage for functional repair of spinal cord injuries: a cast of thousands. Spinal Cord 2005;43: 134–61.
- [33] Lee TT, Green BA, Dietrich WD, Yezierski RP. Neuroprotective effects of basic fibroblast growth factor following spinal cord contusion injury in the rat. J Neurotrauma 1999;16:347–56.
- [34] Matheson CR, Carnahan J, Urich JL, Bocangel D, Zhang TJ, Yan Q. Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) is a neurotrophic factor for sensory neurons: comparison with the effects of the neurotrophins. J Neurobiol 1997;32:22–32.
- [35] Nakahara Y, Gage FH, Tuszynski MH. Grafts of fibroblasts genetically modified to secrete NGF, BDNF, NT-3, or basic FGF elicit differential responses in the adult spinal cord. Cell Transplant 1996;5:191–204.
- [36] Sendtner M, Kreutzberg GW, Thoenen H. Ciliary neurotrophic factor prevents the degeneration of motor neurons after axotomy. Nature 1990;345:440-1.
- [37] Teng YD, Mocchetti I, Taveira-DaSilva AM, Gillis RA, Wrathall JR. Basic fibroblast growth factor increases long-term survival of spinal motor neurons and improves respiratory function after experimental spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 1999;19:7037–47.
- [38] Ramer MS, Priestley JV, McMahon SB. Functional regeneration of sensory axone into the adult spinal cord. Nature 2000;403:312-6.
- [39] Braun S, Croizat B, Lagrange MC, Warter JM, Poindron P. Neurotrophins increase motoneurons' ability to innervate skeletal muscle fibers in rat spinal cord-human muscle cocultures. J Neurol Sci 1996;136:17–23.
- [40] Oyesiku NM, Wigston DJ. Ciliary neurotrophic factor stimulates neurite outgrowth from spinal cord neurons. J Comp Neurol 1996;364: 68–77.
- [41] Romero MI, Rangappa N, Garry MG, Smith GM. Functional regeneration of chronically injured sensory afferents into adult spinal cord after neurotrophin gene therapy. J Neurosci 2001;21:8408–16.
- [42] Schwab ME. Nogo and axon regeneration. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2004;14:118-24.
- [43] Hannila SS, Filbin MT. The role of cyclic AMP signaling in promoting axonal regeneration after spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol 2008;209: 321–32.
- [44] Oertle T, van der Haar ME, Bandtlow CE, et al. Nogo-A inhibits neurite outgrowth and cell spreading with three discrete regions. J Neurosci 2003;23:5393–406.
- [45] Fehlings MG, Theodore N, Harrop J, Maurais G, Kuntz C, Shaffrey CI. A phase I/IIa clinical trial of a recombinant Rho protein antagonist in acute spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2011;28(5):787–96.
- [46] Costa LM, Pereira JE, Filipe VM, Magalhaes LG, Couto PA, Gonzalo-Orden JM, et al. Rolipram promotes functional recovery after contusive thoracic spinal cord injury in rats. Behav Brain Res 2013;243:66–73.
- [47] Pearse DD, Pereira FC, Marcillo AE, et al. cAMP and Schwann cells promote axonal growth and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. Nat Med 2004;10:610-6.
- [48] Tuladhar A, Morshead CM, Shoichet MS. Circumventing the blood-brain barrier: local delivery of cyclosporine A stimulates stem cells in stroke-injured rat brain. J Control Release 2015;215:1–11.

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

- [49] Wang Y, Cooke MJ, Sachewsky N, Morshead CM, Shoichet MS. Bioengineered sequential growth factor delivery stimulates brain tissue regeneration after stroke. J Control Release 2013;172(1):1–11.
- [50] Dailey T, Eve DJ, Tajiri N, Lau T, Mosley Y, Loveren H, Sanberg PR, Kaneko Y, Borlongan CV. Different sources of stem cells for transplantation therapy in stroke. In: Jolkkonen J, Walczak P, editors. Cell-based therapies in stroke. Vienna: Springer; 2003. p. 29–46.
- [51] Sanberg PR, Eve DJ, Cruz LE, Borlongan CV. Neurological disorders and the potential role for stem cells as therapy. Br Med Bull 2012;101: 163–81.
- [52] Bacigaluppi M, Pluchino S, Peruzzotti Jametti L, et al. Delayed post-ischaemic neuroprotection following systemic neural stem cell transplantation involves multiple mechanisms. Brain 2009;132:2239–51.
- [53] Darsalia V, Allison SJ, Cusulin C, Monni E, Kuzdas D, Kallur T, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z. Cell number and timing of transplantation determines survival of human neural stem cell grafts in stroke-damaged rat brain. J Cerebr Blood Flow Metabol 2011;31:235–42.
- [54] Lee HJ, Kim KS, Park IH, Kim SU. Human neural stem cells over-expressing VEGF provide neuroprotection, angiogenesis and functional recovery in mouse stroke model. PLoS One 2007;2(1):e156.
- [55] Mendonca MV, Larocca TF, de Freitas Souza BS, et al. Safety and neurological assessments after autologous transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in subjects with chronic spinal cord injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014;5(6):126.
- [56] Satti HS, Waheed A, Ahmed P, et al. Autologous mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation for spinal cord injury: a phase I pilot study. Cytotherapy 2016;18(4):518-22.
- [57] Priest CA, Manley NC, Denham J, Wirth III ED, Lebkowski JS. Preclinical safety of human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitors supporting clinical trials in spinal cord injury. Regen Med 2015;10(8):939–58.
- [58] Hicks AU, Lappalainen RS, Narkilahti S, et al. Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursor cells and enriched environment after cortical stroke in rats: cell survival and functional recovery. Eur J Neurosci 2009;19:562–74.
- [59] Kelly S, Bliss TM, Shah AK, Sun GH, Ma M, Foo WC, Masel J, Yenari MA, Weissman IL, Uchida N, Palmer T, Steinberg GK. Transplanted human fetal neural stem cells survive, migrate, and differentiate in ischemic rat cerebral cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci Unit States Am 2004; 101(32):11839–44.
- [60] Modo M, Rezaie P, Heuschlin P, Patel S, Male DK, Hodges H. Transplantation of neural stem cells in a rat model of stroke: assessment of short-term graft survival and acute host immunological response. Brain Res 2002;958(1):70–82.
- [60a] Li X, et al. Engineering neural stem cell fates with hydrogel design for central nervous system regeneration. Prog Polym Sci 2012;37(8): 1105–29.
- [61] Richards M, Fong C-Y, Chan W-K, Wong P-C, Bongso A. Human feeders support prolonged undifferentiated growth of human inner cell masses and embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20:933–6.
- [62] Amariglio N, Hirshberg A, Scheithauer BW, Cohen Y, Loewenthal R, Trakhtenbrot L, et al. Donor-derived brain tumor following neural stem cell transplantation in an ataxia telangiectasia patient. PLoS Med 2009;6:e1000029.
- [63] Sharp J, Keirstead HS. Therapeutic applications of oligodendrocyte precursors derived from human embryonic stem cells. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2007;18:434–40.
- [64] Keirstead HS, Nistor G, Bernal G, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitor cell transplants remyelinate and restore locomotion after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 2005;25:4694–705.
- [64a] Amariglio N, Hirshberg A, Scheithauer BW, Cohen Y, Loewenthal R, Trakhtenbrot L, Toren A. Donor-derived brain tumor following neural stem cell transplantation in an ataxia telangiectasia patient. PLoS Med 2009;6(2):e1000029.
- [65] Alper J. Geron gets green light for human trial of ES cell-derived product. Nat Biotechnol 2009;27:213-4.
- [66] Frantz S. Embryonic stem cell pioneer Geron exits field, cuts losses. Nat Biotechnol 2012;30:12–3.
- [67] Hayden EC. Funding windfall rescues abandoned stem-cell trial. Nat News 2014;510.
- [68] Kuhn HG, Dickinson-Anson H, Gage FH. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: age-related decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. J Neurosci 1996;16:2027–33.
- [69] Palmer TD, Takahashi J, Gage FH. The adult rat hippocampus contains primordial neural stem cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 1997;8:389-404.
- [70] Bambakidis NC, Wang R-Z, Franic L, Miller RH. Sonic hedgehog-induced neural precursor proliferation after adult rodent spinal cord injury. J Neurosurg 2003;99:70–5.
- [71] Ben-Hur T, Einstein O, Mizrachi-Kol R, et al. Transplanted multipotential neural precursor cells migrate into the inflamed white matter in response to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Glia 2003;41:73–80.
- [72] Ishibashi S, Sakaguchi M, Kuroiwa T, Yamasaki M, Kanemura Y, Shizuko I, et al. Human neural stem/progenitor cells, expanded in longterm neurosphere culture, promote functional recovery after focal ischemia in Mongolian gerbils. J Neurosci Res 2004;78(2):215–23.
- [73] Fricker-Gates RA, Shin JJ, Tai CC, Carapano LA, Macklis JD. Late-stage immature neocortical neurons reconstruct interhemispheric connections and form synaptic contacts with increased efficiency in adult mouse cortex undergoing targeted neurodegeneration. J Neurosci 2002; 22(10):4045–56.
- [74] Nakagomi N, Nakagomi T, Kubo S, Nakano-Doi A, Saino O, Takata M, Yoshikawa H, Stern DM, Matsuyama T, Taguchi A. Endothelial cells support survival, proliferation, and neuronal differentiation of transplanted adult ischemia-induced neural stem/progenitor cells after cerebral infarction. Stem Cell 2009;27:2185–95.
- [75] Dziewczapolski G, Lie DC, Ray J, Gage FH, Shults CW. Survival and differentiation of adult rat-derived neural progenitor cells transplanted to the striatum of hemiparkinsonian rats. Exp Neurol 2003;183(2):653–64.
- [76] Herrera DG, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A. Adult-derived neural precursors transplanted into multiple regions in the adult brain. Ann Neurol 1999;46:867–77.
- [77] Bliss T, Guzman R, Daadi M, Steinberg GK. Stem cells and stroke recovery: introduction. Stroke 2007;38:817-26.
- [77a] Lee JS, et al. A long-term follow-up stud of intravenous autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patiens with ischemic stroke. Stem Cells 2010;28(6):1099–106.
- [78] Bhasin A, Srivastava MVP, Mohanty S, Bhatia R, Kumaran SS, Bose S. Stem cell therapy: a clinical trial of stroke. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2012; 115(7):1003–8.
- [79] Chen J, Li Y, Katakowski M, Chen X, Wang L, Lu D, Lu M, Gautam SC, Chopp M. Intravenous bone marrow stromal cell therapy reduces apoptosis and promotes endogenous cell proliferation after stroke in female rat. J Neurosci Res 2003;73(6):778–86.

#### REFERENCES

- [80] Uchida S, Hayakawa K, Ogata T, Tanaka S, Kataoka K, Itaka K. Treatment of spinal cord injury by an advanced cell transplantation technology using brain-derived neurotrophic factor-transfected mesenchymal stem cell spheroids. Biomaterials 2016;109:1–11.
- [81] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131(5):861–72.
- [82] Oki K, Tatarishvili J, Wood J, Koch P, Wattananit S, Mine Y, Monni E, Tornero D, Ahlenius H, Ladewig J, Brustle O, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z. Human-induced pluripotent stem cells form functional neurons and improve recovery after grafting in stroke-damaged brain. Stem Cell 2012;30:1120–33.
- [83] Woltjen K, Michael IP, Mohseni P, Desai R, Mileikovsky M, Hamalainen R, et al. *piggyBac* transposition reprograms fibroblasts in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2009;458:766–70.
- [84] Fernandes KJ, McKenzie IA, Mill P, et al. A dermal niche for multipotent adult skin-derived precursor cells. Nat Cell Biol 2004;6:1082-93.
- [85] Toma JG, Akhavan M, Fernandes KJ, et al. Isolation of multipotent adult stem cells from the dermis of mammalian skin. Nat Cell Biol 2001;3: 778–84.
- [86] Fernandes KJ, Kobayashi NR, Gallagher CJ, et al. Analysis of the neurogenic potential of multipotent skin-derived precursors. Exp Neurol 2006;201:32–48.
- [87] Mao D, Yao X, Feng G, Yang X, Mao L, Wang X, et al. Skin-derived precursor cells promote angiogenesis and stimulate proliferation of endogenous neural stem cells after cerebral infarction. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015:945846.
- [88] Sparling JS, Bretzner F, Biernaskie J, Assinck P, Jiang Y, Arisato H, et al. Schwann cells generated from neonatal skin-derived precursors or neonatal peripheral nerve improve functional recovery after acute transplantation into the partially injured cervical spinal cord of the rat. J Neurosci 2015;35(17):6714–30.
- [89] Karimi-Abdolrezaee S, Eftekharpour E, Wang J, Schut D, Fehlings MG. Synergistic effects of transplanted adult neural stem/progenitor cells, chondroitinase, and growth factors promote functional repair and plasticity of the chronically injured spinal cord. J Neurosci 2010; 30:1657–76.
- [90] Elliott-Donaghue I, Tator CH, Shoichet MS. Local delivery of neurotrophin-3 and anti-NogoA promotes repair after spinal cord injury. Tissue Eng 2016;22(9–10):733–41.
- [91] Führmann T, Tam RY, Ballarin B, Coles B, Elliott Dongahue I, van der Kooy D, Nagy A, Morshead CM, Shoichet MS. Injectable hydrogel promotes early survival of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived oligodendrocytes and attenuates long term teratoma formation in spinal cord injury model. Biomaterials 2016;83:23–6.
- [92] Mothe AJ, Tam RY, Zahir T, Tator CH, Shoichet MS. Repair of the injured spinal cord by transplantation of neural stem cells in an hyaluronan-based hydrogel. Biomaterials 2013;34:3775–83.
- [93] Zhong J, Chan A, Morad L, Kornblum HI, Guoping F, Carmichael ST. Hydrogel matrix to support stem cell survival after brain transplantation in stroke. Neurorehabilitation Neural Repair 2010;24(7):636–44.
- [93a] Willing A, Shahaduzzaman M. Delivery routes for cell therapy in stroke. In: Jolkkonen J, Walczak P, editors. Cell-based therapies in stroke. Springer Vienna; 2013. p. 15–28.
- [94] Ballios BG, Cooke MJ, Donaldson L, Coles BLK, Morshead CM, van der Kooy D, Shoichet MS. A hyaluronan-based injectable hydrogel improves the survival and integration of stem cell progeny following transplantation. Stem Cell Rep 2015;4(6):1031–45.
- [94a] Kim H, et al. Effects of dibutyryl cyclic-AMP on survival and neuronal differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells transplanted into spinal cord injured rats. PLoS One 2011;6(6):e21744.
- [95] Hossmann KA. Pathophysiology and therapy of experimental stroke. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2006;26:1057-83.
- [96] Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2015;131(4):e29–322.
- [97] Murray V, Norrving B, Sandercock PA, Terent A, Wardlaw JM, Wester P. The molecular basis of thrombolysis and its clinical application in stroke. J Intern Med 2010;267:191–208.
- [98] Stemer A, Lyden P. Evolution of the thrombolytic treatment window for acute ischemic stroke. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 2010;10:29–33.
- [99] Labiche LA, Grotta JC. Clinical trials for cytoprotection in stroke. NeuroRx 2004;1:46-70.
- [100] Cook DJ, Teves L, Tymianski M. Treatment of stroke with PSD-95 inhibitor in the gyrencephalic primate brain. Nature 2012;483:213-8.
- [101] Hill MD, Martin RH, Mikulis D, Wong JH, Silver FL, terBrugge KG, et al. Safety and efficacy of NA-1 in patients with iatrogenic stroke after endovascular aneurysm repair (ENACT): a phase 2, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol 2012;11(11):942–50.
- [102] ClinicalTrials.gov. Field randomization of NA-1therapy in early responders (FRONTIER). 2016. NCT02315443.
- [103] Kobayashi T, Ahlenius H, Thored P, Kobayashi R, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O. Intracerebral infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor promotes striatal neurogenesis after stroke in adult rats. Stroke 2006;37:2361–7.
- [104] Alagappan D, Lazzarino DA, Felling RJ, Balan M, Kotenko SV, Levison SW. Brain injury expands the numbers of neural stem cells and progenitors in the SVZ by enhancing their responsiveness to EGF. ASN Neuro 2009;1.
- [105] Kolb B, Morshead C, Gonzalez C, et al. Growth factor-stimulated generation of new cortical tissue and functional recovery after stroke damage to the motor cortex of rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2007;27:983–97.
- [106] Belayev L, Khoutorova L, Zhao KL, Davidoff AW, Moore AF, Cramer SC. A novel neurotrophic therapeutic strategy for experimental stroke. Brain Res 2009;1280:117–23.
- [107] Cramer SC, Fitzpatrick C, Warren M, et al. The Beta-hCG+Erythropoietin in Acute Stroke (BETAS) study. A 3-center, single-dose, open-label, noncontrolled, phase IIa safety trial. Stroke 2010;41:745–50.
- [108] Sprigg N, Bath PM, Zhao L, et al. Granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor mobilizes bone marrow stem cells in patients with subacute ischemic stroke: the Stem cell Trial of recovery EnhanceMent after Stroke (STEMS) pilot randomized, controlled trial (ISRCTN 16784092). Stroke 2006;37:2979–83.
- [109] Schabitz WR, Kollmar R, Schwaninger M, et al. Neuroprotective effect of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor after focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke 2003;34:745–51.
- [110] Hunt J, Cheng A, Hoyles A, Jervis E, Morshead CM. Cyclosporin A has direct effects on adult neural precursor cells. J Neurosci 2010;30(8): 2888–96.

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

- [111] Himi N, Takahashi H, Okabe N, Nakamura E, Shiromoto T, Narita K, et al. Exercise in the early stage after stroke enhanced hippocampal brain derived neurotrophic factor expression and memory function recovery. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2016;25(12):2987–94.
- [112] MacLellan CL, Keough MB, Granter-Button S, Chernenko GA, Butt S, Corbett D. A critical threshold of rehabilitation involving brainderived neurotrophic factor is required for poststroke recovery. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2011;25(88):640–748.
- [113] Cook DJ, Nguyen C, Chun NN, Llorente IL, Chiu AS, Machnicki M, Zarembinski TI, Carmichael ST. Hydrogel-delivered brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes tissue repair and recovery after stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2016. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0271678X16649964.
- [114] Harris NM, Ritzel R, Mancini N, Jiang Y, Yi X, Manickam DS, et al. Nano-particle delivery of brain derived neurotrophic factor after focal cerebral ischemia reduced tissue injury and enhances behavioral recovery. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2016;150–151:48–56.
- [115] Rodriguez-Frutos B, Otero-Ortega L, Ramos-Cejudo J, Martinez-Sanchez P, Barahona-Sanz I, Navarro-Hernanz T, et al. Enhanced brainderived neurotrophic factor delivery by ultrasound and microbubbles promotes white matter repair after stroke. Biomaterials 2016;100: 41–52.
- [116] Guo Z, Zhang L, Wu Z, Chen Y, Wang F, Chen G. In vivo direct reprogramming of reactive glial cells into functional neurons after brain injury and in an Alzheimer's disease model. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14:188–202.
- [117] Li H, Chen G. In vivo reprogramming for CNS repair: regenerating neurons from endogenous glial cells. Neuron 2016;91(4):728-38.
- [118] Kallur T, Darsalia V, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z. Human fetal cortical and striatal neural stem cells generate region-specific neurons *in vitro* and differentiate extensively to neurons after intrastriatal transplantation in neonatal rats. J Neurosci Res 2006;84:1630–44.
- [119] Reichert W. Indwelling neural implants: strategies for contending with the in vivo environment, xviii. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2008. p. 271.
- [120] Jin K, Mao X, Xie L, et al. Transplantation of human neural precursor cells in Matrigel scaffolding improves outcome from focal cerebral ischemia after delayed postischemic treatment in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2010;30:534–44.
- [121] Lu D, Mahmood A, Qu C, Hong X, Kaplan D, Chopp M. Collagen scaffolds populated with human marrow stromal cells reduce lesion volume and improve functional outcome after traumatic brain injury. Neurosurgery 2007;61:596–602.
- [122] Tate CC, Shear DA, Tate MC, Archer DR, Stein DG, LaPlaca MC. Laminin and fibronectin scaffolds enhance neural stem cell transplantation into the injured brain. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2009;3:208–17.
- [123] Hou S, Xu Q, Tian W, et al. The repair of brain lesion by implantation of hyaluronic acid hydrogels modified with laminin. J Neurosci Methods 2005;148:60–70.
- [124] Peattie RA, Nayate AP, Firpo MA, Shelby J, Fisher RJ, Prestwich GD. Stimulation of in vivo angiogenesis by cytokine-loaded hyaluronic acid hydrogel implants. Biomaterials 2004;25:2789–98.
- [125] Tornero D, Wattananit S, Madsen MG, Koch P, Wood J, Tatarishvili J, Mine Y, Ge R, Monni E, Devaraju K, Hevner RF, Brustle O, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cortical neurons integrate in stroke-injured cortex and improve functional recovery. Brain 2013;136(12):3561–77.
- [126] Le Belle JE, Caldwell MA, Svendsen CN. Improving the survival of human CNS precursor-derived neurons after transplantation. J Neurosci Res 2004;76:174–83.
- [127] Gage FH, Coates PW, Palmer TD, et al. Survival and differentiation of adult neuronal progenitor cells transplanted to the adult brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;112:11879–83.
- [128] Hattiangady B, Shuai B, Cai J, Coksaygan T, Rao MS, Shetty AK. Increased dentate neurogenesis after grafting of glial restricted progenitors or neural stem cells in the aging hippocampus. Stem Cell 2007;25(8):2104–17.
- [129] Lepore AC, Fischer I. Lineage-restricted neural precursors survive, migrate, and differentiate following transplantation into the injured adult spinal cord. Exp Neurol 2005;194(1):230–42.
- [130] Esneault E, Pacary E, Eddi D, et al. Combined therapeutic strategy using erythropoietin and mesenchymal stem cells potentiates neurogenesis after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2008;28:1552–63.
- [131] Cheng T-Y, Chen M-H, Chang W-H, Huang M-Y, Wang T-W. Neural stem cells encapsulated ina functionalized self-assembling peptide hydrogel for brain tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2013;34(8):2005–16.
- [132] Hicks AU, Hewlett K, Windle V, et al. Enriched environment enhances transplanted subventricular zone stem cell migration and functional recovery after stroke. Neuroscience 2007;146:31–40.
- [133] Norenberg MD, Smith J, Marcillo A. The pathology of human spinal cord injury: defining the problems. J Neurotrauma 2004;21:429-40.
- [134] Hausmann ON. Post-traumatic inflammation following spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2003;41:369-78.
- [135] Gensel JC, Donnelly DJ, Popovich PG. Spinal cord injury therapies in humans: an overview of current clinical trials and their potential effects on intrinsic CNS macrophages. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2011;15:505–18.
- [136] Stirling DP, Koochesfahani KM, Steeves JD, Tetzlaff W. Minocycline as a neuroprotective agent. Neuroscientist 2005;11:308-22.
- [137] Casha S, Zygun D, McGowan MD, Bains I, Yong VW, Hurlbert RJ. Results of a phase II placebo-controlled randomized trial of minocycline in acute spinal cord injury. Brain 2012;135:1224–36.
- [138] ClinicalTrials.gov. Minocycline in acute spinal cord injury (MASC). 2014. NCT01828203.
- [138a] Fehlings MG, Nakashima H, Nagoshi N, Chow DS, Grossman RG, Kopjar B. Rationale, design and critical end points for the Riluzole in Acute Spinal Cord Injury Study (RISCIS): a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled parallel multi-center trial. Spinal Cord 2016 Jan;54(1):8–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/sc.2015.95. Epub 2015 Jun 23.
- [139] ClinicalTrials.gov. Acute safety, tolerability, feasibility and pharmacokinetics of intrathecally administered ATI355 in patients with acute SCI. 2011. NCT00406016.
- [140] McKerracher L, Higuchi H. Targeting Rho to stimulate repair after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2006;23:309–17.
- [141] Gonzenbach RR, Schwab ME. Disinhibition of neurite growth to repair the injured adult CNS: focusing on Nogo. Cell Mol Life Sci 2008;65: 161–76.
- [142] Weinmann O, Schnell L, Ghosh A, et al. Intrathecally infused antibodies against Nogo-A penetrate the CNS and downregulate the endogenous neurite growth inhibitor Nogo-A. Mol Cell Neurosci 2006;32:161–73.
- [143] Jones LL, Tuszynski MH. Chronic intrathecal infusions after spinal cord injury cause scarring and compression. Microsc Res Tech 2001;54: 317–24.

#### REFERENCES

- [144] Breen BA, Kraskiewicz H, Ronan R, Kshiragar A, Patar A, Sargeant T, Pandit A, McMahon SS. Therapeutic effect of neurotrophin-3 treatment in an injectable collagen scaffold following rat spinal cord hemisection injury. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2016. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsbiomaterials.6b00167.
- [145] Kang CE, Poon PC, Tator CH, Shoichet MS. A new paradigm for local and sustained release of therapeutic molecules to the injured spinal cord for neuroprotection and tissue repair. Tissue Eng 2009;15:595–604.
- [146] Baumann MD, Kang CE, Stanwick JC, et al. An injectable drug delivery platform for sustained combination therapy. J Control Release 2009; 138:205–13.
- [147] Dalton PD, Shoichet MS. Creating porous tubes by centrifugal forces for soft tissue application. Biomaterials 2001;22:2661–9.
- [148] Katayama Y, Montenegro R, Freier T, Midha R, Belkas JS, Shoichet MS. Coil-reinforced hydrogel tubes promote nerve regeneration equivalent to that of nerve autografts. Biomaterials 2006;27:505–18.
- [149] Tsai EC, Dalton PD, Shoichet MS, Tator CH. Synthetic hydrogel guidance channels facilitate regeneration of adult rat brainstem motor axons after complete spinal cord transection. J Neurotrauma 2004;21:789–804.
- [150] Dalton PD, Flynn L, Shoichet MS. Manufacture of poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-co-methyl methacrylate) hydrogel tubes for use as nerve guidance channels. Biomaterials 2002;23:3843–51.
- [151] Oudega M, Gautier SE, Chapon P, et al. Axonal regeneration into Schwann cell grafts within resorbable poly(alpha-hydroxyacid) guidance channels in the adult rat spinal cord. Biomaterials 2001;22:1125–36.
- [152] Novikov LN, Novikova LN, Mosahebi A, Wiberg M, Terenghi G, Kellerth JO. A novel biodegradable implant for neuronal rescue and regeneration after spinal cord injury. Biomaterials 2002;23:3369–76.
- [153] Kim H, Tator CH, Shoichet MS. Design of protein-releasing chitosan channels. Biotechnol Prog 2008;24:932-7.
- [154] Nomura H, Baladie B, Katayama Y, Morshead CM, Shoichet MS, Tator CH. Delayed implantation of intramedullary chitosan channels containing nerve grafts promotes extensive axonal regeneration after spinal cord injury. Neurosurgery 2008;63:127–41.
- [155] Paino CL, Bunge MB. Induction of axon growth into Schwann cell implants grafted into lesioned adult rat spinal cord. Exp Neurol 1991;114: 254–7.
- [156] Hejcl A, Sedy J, Kapcalova M, et al. HPMA-RGD hydrogels seeded with mesenchymal stem cells improve functional outcome in chronic spinal cord injury. Stem Cell Dev 2010;19:1535–46.
- [157] Horn EM, Beaumont M, Shu XZ, et al. Influence of cross-linked hyaluronic acid hydrogels on neurite outgrowth and recovery from spinal cord injury. J Neurosurg Spine 2007;6:133–40.
- [158] Xie J, Liu W, MacEwan MR, Bridgman PC, Xia Y. Neurite outgrowth on electrospun nanofibres with uniaxial alignment: the effects of fiber density, surface coating, and supporting substrate. ACS Nano 2014;8(2):1878–85.
- [159] Montgomery CT, Robson JA. New method of transplanting purified glial cells into the brain. J Neurosci Meth 1990;32:135-41.
- [160] Nomura H, Zahir T, Kim H, et al. Extramedullary chitosan channels promote survival of transplanted neural stem and progenitor cells and create a tissue bridge after complete spinal cord transection. Tissue Eng 2008;14A:649–65.
- [161] Zahir T, Nomura H, Guo XD, et al. Bioengineering neural stem/progenitor cell-coated tubes for spinal cord injury repair. Cell Transplant 2008;17:245–54.
- [162] Midha R, Shoichet MS, Dalton PD, et al. Tissue engineered alternatives to nerve transplantation for repair of peripheral nervous system injuries. Transplant Proc 2001;33:612–5.
- [163] Bellamkonda R, Ranieri JP, Aebischer P. Laminin oligopeptide derivatized agarose gels allow three-dimensional neurite extension *in vitro*. J Neurosci Res 1995;41:501–9.
- [163a] Kim H, et al. Effects of dibutyryl cyclic-AMP on survival and neuronal differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells transplanted into spinal cord injured rats. PLoS One 2011;6(6):e21744.
- [164] Mothe AJ, Kulbatski I, Parr A, Mohareb M, Tator CH. Adult spinal cord stem/progenitor cells transplanted as neurospheres preferentially differentiate into oligodendrocytes in the adult rat spinal cord. Cell Transplant 2008;17:735–51.
- [165] Parr AM, Kulbatski I, Tator CH. Transplantation of adult rat spinal cord stem/progenitor cells for spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2007;24: 835–45.
- [166] Itosaka H, Kuroda S, Shichinohe H, et al. Fibrin matrix provides a suitable scaffold for bone marrow stromal cells transplanted into injured spinal cord: a novel material for CNS tissue engineering. Neuropathology 2009;29:248–57.
- [167] Nistor GI, Totoiu MO, Haque N, Carpenter MK, Keirstead HS. Human embryonic stem cells differentiate into oligodendrocytes in high purity and myelineate after spinal cord transplantation. Glia 2005;49(3):385–96.
- [168] Salewski RP, Mithcell RA, Li L, Shen C, Milekovskaia M, Nagy A, Fehlings MG. Transplantation of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cells mediate functional recovery following thoracic spinal cord injury through remyelination of axons. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4(7):743–54.
- [169] Bráz JM, Sharif-Naeini R, Vogt D, Kriegstein A, Alvarez-Buylla A, Rubenstein JL, Basbaum AI. Forebrain GABAergic neuron precursors integrate into adult spinal cord and reduced injury-induced neuropathic pain. Neuron 2012;74(4):663–75.
- [170] Fandel TM, Trivedi A, Nicholas Cr, Zhang H, Chen J, Martinez AF, Noble-Haeusslein LJ, Kriegstein AR. Transplanted human stem cellderived interneuron precursors mitigate mouse bladder dysfunction and central neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;19(4):544–57.
- [171] Kadoya K, Lu P, Nguyen K, et al. Spinal cord reconstitution with homologous neural grafts enables robust corticospinal regeneration. Nat Med 2016;22:479–87.
- [171a] Lee P, Wang CC, Adamis AP. Ocular neovascularization: an epidemiologic review. Surv Ophthalmol 1998;43(3):245-69.
- [172] Congdon NG, Friedman DS, Lietman T. Important causes of visual impairment in the world today. J Am Med Assoc 2003;290:2057-60.
- [173] Kaufman SR. Developments in age-related macular degeneration: diagnosis and treatment. Geriatrics 2009;64:16–9.
- [174] Arden GB, Sidman RL, Arap W, Schlingemann RO. Spare the rod and spoil the eye. Br J Ophthalmol 2005;89:764-9.
- [175] Ding X, Patel M, Chan C-C. Molecular pathology of age-related macular degeneration. Prog Retin Eye Res 2009;28:1–18.
- [176] Menon G, Walters G. New paradigms in the treatment of wet AMD: the impact of anti-VEGF therapy. Eye 2009;23(Suppl. 1):1–7.
- [177] Rosenfeld PJ, Brown DM, Heier JS, et al. Ranibizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 2006;355:1419–31.

#### 68. CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

- [178] Carneiro CM, Falco MS, Brando EM, Falco-Reis FM. Intravitreal bevacizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration with or without prior treatment with photodynamic therapy: one-year results. Retina 2010;30:85–92.
- [179] Gupta B, Elagouz M, Sivaprasad S. Intravitreal bevacizumab for choroidal neovascularization secondary to causes other than age-related macular degeneration. Eye 2010;24:203–13.
- [180] Pedersen KB, Solliman AK, Muller F. Intravitreal bevacizumab (Avastin) for neovascular age-related macular degeneration in treatmentnaive patients. Acta Ophthalmol 2009;87:714–9.
- [181] Michael IP, Westenskow PD, Hacibekiroglu S, Greenwald AC, Ballios BG, Kurihara T, et al. Local acting sticky-trap inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor dependent pathological angiogenesis in the eye. EMBO Mol Med 2014;6:604–23.
- [182] Comer GM, Ciulla TA. Current and future pharmacological intervention for diabetic retinopathy. Expet Opin Emerg Drugs 2005;10:441–55.
  [183] Kane PE, Burdan J, Cutino A, Green KE. Iluvien: a new sustained delivery technology for posterior eye disease. Expet Opin Drug Deliv 2008; 5:1039–46.
- [184] Pacella E, Vestri AR, Muscella R, Carbotti MR, Castellucci M, Coi L, et al. Preliminary results of an intravitreal dexamethasone implant (Ozurdex®) in patients with persistent diabetic macular edema. Clin Ophthalmol 2013;7:1423–8.
- [185] Bainbridge JWB, Smith AJ, Barker SS, et al. Effect of gene therapy on visual function in Leber's congenital amaurosis. N Engl J Med 2008;358: 2231–9.
- [186] Tschernutter M, Schlichtenbrede FC, Howe S, et al. Long-term preservation of retinal function in the RCS rat model of retinitis pigmentosa following lentivirus-mediated gene therapy. Gene Ther 2005;12:694–701.
- [187] Surace EM, Domenici L, Cortese K, et al. Amelioration of both functional and morphological abnormalities in the retina of a mouse model of ocular albinism following AAV-mediated gene transfer. Mol Ther 2005;12:652–8.
- [188] Crafoord S, Algvere PV, Seregard S, Kopp ED. Long-term outcome of RPE allografts to the subretinal space of rabbits. Acta Ophthalmol 1999; 77(3):247–54.
- [189] Das TP, Del Cerro M, Lazar ES, et al. Transplantation of neural retina in patients with retinitis pigmentosa. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1996;37: S96.
- [190] Berger AS, Tezel TH, Del PLV, Kaplan HJ. Photoreceptor transplantation in retinitis pigmentosa: short-term follow-up. Ophthalmology 2003; 110:383–91.
- [191] Kaplan HJ, Tezel TH, Berger AS, Wolf ML, Del PLV. Human photoreceptor transplantation in retinitis pigmentosa: a safety study. Arch Ophthalmol 1997;115:1168–72.
- [192] Radtke ND, Aramant RB, Seiler M, Petry HM. Preliminary report: indications of improved visual function after retinal sheet transplantation in retinitis pigmentosa patients. Am J Ophthalmol 1999;128:384–7.
- [193] Radtke ND, Aramant RB, Petry HM, Green PT, Pidwell DJ, Seller MJ. Vision improvement in retinal degeneration patients by implantation of retina together with retinal pigment epithelium. Am J Ophthalmol 2008;146(2):172–82.
- [194] Enzmann V, Yolcu E, Kaplan HJ, Ildstad ST. Stem cells as tools in regenerative therapy for retinal degeneration. Arch Ophthalmol 2009;127: 563–71.
- [195] Pearson RA, Barber AC, Rizzi M, Hippert C, Xue T, West EL, et al. Restoration of vision after transplantation of photoreceptors. Nature 2012; 485:99–103.
- [196] Klassen H, Sakaguchi DS, Young MJ. Stem cells and retinal repair. Prog Retin Eye Res 2004;23:149-81.
- [197] Sakaguchi DS, Van HSJ, Grozdanic SD, Kwon YH, Kardon RH, Young MJ. Neural progenitor cell transplants into the developing and mature central nervous system. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005;1049:118–34.
- [198] Young MJ, Ray J, Whiteley SJO, Klassen H, Gage FH. Neuronal differentiation and morphological integration of hippocampal progenitor cells transplanted to the retina of immature and mature dystrophic rats. Mol Cell Neurosci 2000;16:197–205.
- [199] West EL, Pearson RA, MacLaren RE, Sowden JC, Ali RR. Cell transplantation strategies for retinal repair. Prog Brain Res 2009;175:3-21.
- [200] Klassen HJ, Ng TF, Kurimoto Y, et al. Multipotent retinal progenitors express developmental markers, differentiate into retinal neurons, and preserve light-mediated behavior. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004;45:4167–73.
- [201] Warfvinge K, Kiilgaard JF, Lavik EB, et al. Retinal progenitor cell xenografts to the pig retina: morphologic integration and cytochemical differentiation. Arch Ophthalmol 2005;123:1385–93.
- [202] MacLaren RE, Pearson RA, MacNeil A, et al. Retinal repair by transplantation of photoreceptor precursors. Nature 2006;444:203-7.
- [203] Lakowski J, Han YT, Pearson RA, Gonzalez-Cordero A, West EL, Gualdoni S, Barber AC, Hubank M, Ali RR, Sowden JC. Effective transplantation of photoreceptor precursor cells selected via cell surface antigen expression. Stem Cell 2011;29.
- [204] Pearson RA, Gonzalez-Cordero A, West EL, Ribeiro JR, Aghaizu N, Goh D, et al. Donor and host photoreceptors engage in material transfer following transplantation of post-mitotic photoreceptor precursors. Nat Commun 2016;7:13029.
- [205] Santos-Ferreira T, Llonch S, Borsch O, Postel K, Haas J, Ader M. Retinal transplantation of photoreceptors results in donor-host cytoplasmic exchange. Nat Commun 2016;7:13028.
- [206] Singh MS, Balmer J, Barnard AR, Aslam SA, Moralli D, Green CM, et al. Transplanted photoreceptor precursors transfer proteins to host photoreceptors by a mechanism of cytoplasmic fusion. Nat Commun 2016;7, 13537.
- [207] Lamba DA, Gust J, Reh TA. Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived photoreceptors restores some visual function in Crx-deficient mice. Cell. Stem Cell. 2009;4:73–9.
- [208] Lamba DA, Karl MO, Ware CB, Reh TA. Efficient generation of retinal progenitor cells from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:12769–74.
- [209] Osakada F, Ikeda H, Mandai M, et al. Toward the generation of rod and cone photoreceptors from mouse, monkey and human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26:215-24.
- [210] Lamba DA, McUsic A, Hirata RK, Wang PR, Russell D, Reh TA. Generation, purification and transplantation of photoreceptors derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 2010;5:e8763.
- [211] Morrison SJ, Spradling AC. Stem cells and niches: mechanisms that promote stem cell maintenance throughout life. Cell 2008;132:598-611.

- [212] Inoue T, Coles BL, Dorval K, et al. Maximizing functional photoreceptor differentiation from adult human retinal stem cells. Stem Cell 2010; 28:489–500.
- [213] Ballios BG, Clarke L, Coles BLK, Shoichet MS, van der Kooy D. The adult retinal stem cell is a rare cell in the ciliary epithelium whose progeny can differentiate into photoreceptors. Biol Open 2012;1:237–46.
- [214] Smiley S, Nickerson PE, Comanita L, Daftarian N, El-Sehemy A, Leh E, et al. Establishment of a cone photoreceptor transplantation platform based on a novel cone-GFP reporter mouse line. Sci Rep 2016;6:22867.
- [215] Hogg RE, Chakravarthy U. Visual function and dysfunction in early and late age-related maculopathy. Prog Retin Eye Res 2006;25:249-76.
- [216] Redenti S, Neeley WL, Rompani S, et al. Engineering retinal progenitor cell and scrollable poly(glycerol-sebacate) composites for expansion and subretinal transplantation. Biomaterials 2009;30:3405–14.
- [217] Tomita M, Lavik E, Klassen H, Zahir T, Langer R, Young MJ. Biodegradable polymer composite grafts promote the survival and differentiation of retinal progenitor cells. Stem Cell 2005;23:1579–88.
- [218] Liu Y, Wang R, Zarembinski TI, et al. The application of hyaluronic acid hydrogels to retinal progenitor cell transplantation. Tissue Eng 2012; 19:135–42.
- [219] Xiang P, Wu KC, Zhu Y, Xiang L, Li C, Chen DL, Chen F, Xu G, Wang A, Li M, Jin ZB. A novel Bruch's membrane-mimetic electrospun substrate scaffold for human retinal pigment epithelium cells. Biomaterials 2014;35:9777–88.
- [220] Stanzel BV, Liu Z, Somboonthanakij S, Wongsawad W, Brinken R, Eter N, et al. Human RPE stem cells grown into polarized RPE monolayers on a polyester matrix are maintained after grafting into rabbit subretinal space. Stem Cell Rep 2014;2:64–77.
- [221] Thurmann G, Viethen A, Gaebler A, Walter P, Kaempt S, Johnen S, Salz AK. The *in vitro* and *in vivo* behavior of retinal pigment epithelial cells cultures on ultra-thin collagen membranes. Biomaterials 2009;30:287–94.
- [222] Ballios BG, Cooke MJ, van der Kooy D, Shoichet MS. A hydrogel-based stem cell delivery system to treat retinal degenerative diseases. Biomaterials 2010;31:2555–64.
- [223] Mitrousis N, Tam RY, Baker AEG, van der Kooy D, Shoichet MS. Hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels enable rod photoreceptor survival and maturation in vitro through activation of the mTOR pathway. Mater Views 2016;26(12):1975–85.
- [224] Avaliani N, Sørensen AT, Ledri M, Bengzon J, Koch P, Brüstle O, Deisseroth K, Andersson M, Kokaia M. Optogenetic reveal delayed afferent synaptogenesis on grafted human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural progenitors. Stem Cell 2014;32:3088–98.
- [225] Byers B, Lee HJ, Liu J, Weitz AJ, Lin P, Zhang P, et al. Direct *in vivo* assessment of human stem cell graft-host neural circuits. Neuroimage 2015;114:228–37.

This page intentionally left blank

## Peripheral Nerve Regeneration

Mahesh C. Dodla, Melissa Alvarado-Velez, Vivek J. Mukhatyar, Ravi V. Bellamkonda Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

## PROBLEMS AND CHALLENGES WITH PERIPHERAL NERVE INJURIES

Injuries to the peripheral nervous system (PNS) occur frequently and are a major source of disabilities. PNS injuries impair the ability to move muscles, feel normal sensations, and can lead to painful neuropathies. PNS injuries are classified as being traumatic, nontraumatic, or surgical in nature. Traumatic nerve injuries result from collisions, motor vehicle accidents, gunshot wounds, fractures, lacerations, or other forms of penetrating trauma. Each year around 360,000 patients experienced traumatic peripheral nerve injuries in the United States. Only 15% of the patients had PNS injuries that could be treated, and around 50% of them showed no measurable signs of recovery or had drastically reduced muscle strength. Nontraumatic peripheral nerve injuries are mostly attributed to nerve compression and adhesion. It is estimated that approximately 400,000 repair procedures are performed in the United States each year to correct carpal tunnel syndrome, a nontraumatic nerve injuries, patients still face pain, loss of muscle strength, and reduced dexterity for several weeks to months. Surgical nerve injuries result from medical procedures such as prostatectomy. Prostatectomy procedures most often require sacrificing one or both cavernosal nerves, which adversely affects erectile function and bladder control. In this chapter, we review several techniques used to repair peripheral nerve injuries and discuss current limitations that need to be overcome in order to enhance functional recovery after nerve injury.

## HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The simplest technique for nerve repair in the case of nerve transection injuries is coaptation of the two ends of the nerve using sutures or fibrin glue. However, in many cases there might be a loss of nerve segment owing to injury or there might be a time lag between the injury and surgical repair during which the nerve ends might retract, resulting in a nerve gap. In such cases, end-to-end nerve suturing cannot be done without creating tension in the nerve segment, resulting in a poor regeneration outcome [2]. To overcome this problem, the two nerve ends are approximated using grafts, such as nerve autografts or allografts, muscle grafts, vein grafts, muscle—vein grafts, and synthetic nerve guidance conduits or nerve guidance channels (NGCs).

Historically, during the 19th and early 20th centuries, various materials were used to promote nerve repair, such as bone, metal tubes, blood vessels, and fat sheaths [3–6]. The use of autologous nerve grafts was also first reported during this time [7]. However, because of improper surgical techniques, anatomical repair rarely led to an appreciable return of function. During World War II, surges in numbers of nerve injuries led to advances in microsurgical techniques and instrumentation. Further refinements in microsurgical techniques and drug therapies have had beneficial effects [8]. Significant advances in surgical techniques have since been achieved and biological factors rather than surgical techniques limit improvements in nerve regeneration. Further advances may come from a greater understanding of the molecular mechanisms of nerve regeneration. Advances in multiple areas such as

nerve cell culture, biomaterials design, and genetic techniques may lead us to develop NGCs that can successfully repair injured nerves.

## CURRENT STRATEGIES FOR PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

Nerve autografts are considered the reference standard for bridging nerve gaps in the PNS [9]. Autologous tissue grafts possess several advantages such as low immunogenicity and a structural support that promotes cell adhesion and migration [10]. However, there are several disadvantages to this technique. Obtaining a natural graft could lead to loss of function and potential neuroma formation at the donor site, multiple small grafts may be needed in case of a long nerve gap, and there could be a size mismatch between the donor nerve graft and the injured nerve. More important, complete functional recovery is seldom obtained with autografts [11]. Therefore, there is interest in developing treatments and biomaterials that match or exceed the functional performance of autografts.

Natural or synthetic scaffolds, known as NGCs, for peripheral nerve regeneration consist of a tubular structure that serves as a "guidance channel" to direct nerve regeneration from the proximal to the distal end. In addition, scaffolds contain multiple properties or elements inside the tubular structure that promote and guide nerve regeneration, reduce scar tissue formation, and reduce inflammation, among others. In general, scaffolds for nerve repair should support axonal proliferation, have low antigenicity, support vascularization, be porous for oxygen diffusion, and avoid long-term compression. The use of NGCs reduces tension at the suture line, protects regenerating axons from the infiltrating scar tissue, and directs the sprouting axons toward their distal targets. The luminal space of NGCs can be filled with growth-promoting matrix, growth factors, and/or appropriate cells. In some cases of nerve repair, NGCs have been used to leave a small gap intentionally between the injured nerve ends to allow the accumulation of cytokines, growth factors, and cells [12]. Also, the NGCs can be used as an excellent experimental tool to control the distance precisely between the nerve stumps, test the fluid and tissue entering the channel, and vary the properties of the channel. Overall, NGCs can be thought of as having four central components that contribute to peripheral nerve regeneration: (1) scaffold/substrate, (2) growth factors, (3) extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules, and (4) cells. A nerve graft may have a combination of these components or all four of them. In this analytical framework, the presence of these components and their spatiotemporal distribution determine the efficacy of the graft (Fig. 69.1). In this chapter, the grafts are classified as isotropic or anisotropic based on the distribution of these four central components. In isotropic grafts, the components are distributed uniformly within the graft with no directional cues. In anisotropic grafts, one or more of these components is distributed nonuniformly to create a gradient that may provide a directional cue, usually to direct the axonal growth toward the distal target.

## ISOTROPIC SCAFFOLDS FOR NERVE REGENERATION

## Natural Scaffolds

Isotropic natural materials used as scaffolds include veins, skeletal muscle fibers, and collagen. Although these materials support nerve regeneration, they do not provide directional cues to the axons. Autologous vein grafts have been shown to provide a good environment for axonal regeneration in short nerve gaps [13,14]. However, the use of vein grafts for long nerve gaps has been less successful because of the collapse of veins caused by their thin walls and constriction owing to the surrounding scar tissue [15]. To prevent vein grafts from collapsing and improve their performance, intraluminal space fillers such as autologous Schwann cells (SCs), collagen, and muscle fibers have been used. Collagen-filled vein grafts were found to promote better axonal growth than empty vein grafts for a 15-mm nerve gap in rabbits [16,17]. Similarly, SC-seeded venous grafts supported axonal growth and performed better than did unseeded grafts to repair 40- and 60-mm nerve gaps in rabbits [18,19]. The principal drawback of this approach is that it requires the availability of the relevant amount of live autologous SCs (up to 8 million cells/mL), which are difficult to obtain. Muscle–vein combined grafts, in which the muscle fibers are inserted in veins, were used in 10-mm-long nerve gaps in rats and were found to promote axonal regeneration comparable to that of syngeneic nerve grafts [20]. Although the muscle-vein grafts were able to promote nerve regeneration in 55-mm-long nerve defects in rabbits, they were not comparable to nerve autografts [20]. Autologous muscle-vein combined grafts have been used clinically in humans to bridge nerve gaps ranging from 5 to 60 mm. The results were scored as "poor," "satisfactory," "good," and "very good," based on the recovery of sensory and motor functions. Of the 21 lesions repaired (in 20 patients), 10 were of the sensory nerves and 11 were mixed nerve lesions. All lesions in

#### ISOTROPIC SCAFFOLDS FOR NERVE REGENERATION



FIGURE 69.1 Strategies for peripheral nerve regeneration. Research in this field has encompassed multiple strategies, each targeting a unique aspect of the healing process after nerve injury. Future iterations in the design of scaffolds could combine these strategies and possibly evoke a synergistic response in nerve repair and regeneration. *BDNF*, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; *ECM*, extracellular matrix; *IL-4*, interleukin 4; *M*, macrophage; *NGF*, nerve growth factor; *RGD*, Arg-Gly-Asp. *Image courtesy of Dr. Syed Faaiz Enam*, *Duke University*.

the sensory nerves except one greater than 30 mm showed "good" to "very good" recovery. All lesions in the mixed nerves showed "satisfactory" to "good" recovery of motor and sensory functions [21]. Although autogenous/natural materials have shown encouraging results when used for nerve repair, they have certain drawbacks. In the case of autogenous grafts, drawbacks include the need for a second surgery, loss of function at the donor site, and neuropathic pain at the donor site. Allografts have problems related to preservation and immune rejection. To circumvent these problems, researchers have developed artificial or synthetic scaffolds for peripheral nerve.

## Synthetic Scaffolds for Nerve Repair

Unlike natural scaffolds, synthetic scaffolds can be tailored to augment nerve regeneration in terms of their mechanical, chemical, and structural properties (Fig. 69.1). Nerve regeneration in silicone NGCs has been studied in detail [22]. Within a few hours of nerve repair using an NGC, the tube fills with serum exuded by the cut blood vessels in the nerve ends. This fluid contains neurotrophic factors as well as several cytokines and inflammatory cells such as macrophages. The macrophages remove the myelin and axonal debris formed as a result of injury. The fluid also contains the clot-forming protein fibrin. Within days, the fibrin coalesces and forms a longitudinally oriented fibrin cable bridging the two nerve ends. Without the formation of the fibrin cable, axonal regeneration cannot occur, which makes the fibrin cable formation a critical step. The fibrin cable is then invaded by cells migrating from the proximal and distal nerve stumps, including fibroblasts, macrophages, SCs, and endothelial cells (which form

#### 69. PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

capillaries and larger vessels). Axons from the proximal end grow into the fibrin matrix and are engulfed in the cytoplasm of SCs. Some of these axons then reach the distal nerve end and become myelinated. In inert silicone tubes of 10 mm or shorter, these processes occur spontaneously. However, it is generally accepted that impermeable, inert NGCs such as silicone do not support regeneration across defects larger than 10 mm without the presence of exogenous growth factors. The regeneration process can be improved by various approaches such as changing properties of the tube (permeability, porosity, texture, and electric charge characteristics) adding matrices, neurotrophic factors, ECM molecules, and cells [23]. These strategies augment nerve regeneration by affecting the sequence of events that lead to bridging of the nerve gap.

Synthetic NGCs can be classified as impermeable, semipermeable, and resorbable based on the porosity and/or degradability of the material used. Silicone tubes are an example of an impermeable NGC because they do not permit the movement of molecules across tube walls. Porosity affects the movement of soluble factors, oxygen, and waste products into and out of the NGCs, which is vital for nerve regeneration. Examples of semipermeable tubes are polysulfone and polyacrylonitrile/polyvinylchloride (PAN/PVC). Nerves regenerated in semipermeable tubes featured more myelinated axons and less connective tissue [24,25]. PAN/PVC channels with a molecular weight cutoff of 50 kDa support regeneration even in the absence of a distal nerve stump [24]. Examples of bioresorbable tubes are polylactic acid (PLA), polyglycolic acid (PGA), poly(L-lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA), poly(lactide-*co*-caprolactone), and poly(3-hydroxybutyrate). The use of bioresorbable tubes negates the need for a second surgery to remove the implant and prevents long-term compression of the nerve. However, it is critical that degradation of the tube not allow fibroblasts to invade the lumen space before regeneration occurs, because this may prevent axons from regenerating.

## Hydrogel Scaffolds for Nerve Repair

NGCs can be filled with gels to support axonal elongation. Here we briefly describe some of the isotropic gels used for nerve regeneration. Agarose is a polysaccharide derived from red agar and is widely used in gel electrophoresis and gel chromatography. SeaPrep agarose hydrogel has been shown to support neurite extension from a variety of neurons in a nonimmunogenic manner [26–28]. Agarose gels also allow molecules to be covalently linked to the gels through functional groups on their polysaccharide chains. For example, laminin protein or fragments of laminin can be covalently coupled to SeaPrep agarose gels to enhance their ability to support neurite extension [29]. Although agarose gels support neurite growth on their own, the coupling of molecules such as laminin significantly enhances the gels' ability to promote neurite extension.

Collagen is another gel commonly used to promote PNS regeneration. Collagen can be used to fill the intraluminal space of a vein graft to prevent it from collapsing and improve its nerve repair efficiency. In collagen-filled vein grafts, the number and diameter of myelinated axons were significantly increased compared with vein grafts without collagen gel [16,17]. Nerve repair with silicone tubes has also been significantly improved by filling them with collagen gel. Additionally, Collagen tubes filled with collagen gel have promoted more rapid nerve sprouting and better morphology than saline-filled collagen tubes [30]. However, in some cases, collagen gels have hindered regeneration [31]. This negative effect, which presumably results from gel remnants blocking diffusion and axonal elongation, might be overcome by reducing the concentration of the collagen gel [32].

Hyaluronic acid, an ECM component, is associated with decreased scarring and improved fibrin matrix formation. It is hypothesized that during the fibrin matrix phase of regeneration hyaluronic acid organizes the ECM into a hydrated open lattice, thereby facilitating migration of the regenerated axons [33]. Hyaluronan-based tubular conduits, which are used for peripheral nerve regeneration, resulted in more myelinated axons and higher nerve conduction velocities than silicone tubes filled with saline with little cytotoxicity upon degradation [34,35]. Other gels used in vivo to promote nerve regeneration include Matrigel, alginate gels, fibrin gels, and heparin sulfate gels (Tables 69.1 and 69.2) [36–38].

## Extracellular Matrix Molecules for Nerve Regeneration

Insoluble ECM molecules such as laminin, fibronectin, and forms of collagen promote axonal extension, and thus are excellent candidates for incorporation into the lumen of NGCs. Agarose gels cross-linked with laminin showed enhanced neurite extension from chick dorsal root ganglia (DRG) in vitro [29]. Agarose gels cross-linked with laminin and soluble nerve growth factor (NGF) showed nerve regeneration comparable to autografts over a 10-mm gap in rats [39]. However, axonal extension in the laminin gels depends on concentrations of laminin, and high

### TABLE 69.1 Classification of Nerve Grafts: Examples and References

1. Isotropic grafts: have uniform distribution of one or more of the four components

A: Scaffolds				
Natural materials	Veins [13,14], muscle fibers [20]			
Synthetic materials	PLA [20a], PLLA, PGA, PAN/PVC [25]			
Gels	Agarose [39], alginate [38]			
B: Neurotrophic factors	NGF [43,44], BDNF [44a], IGF [44b], FGF [47]			
C: Extracellular matrix proteins	Laminin [39], fibronectin [40], collagen [17]			
D: Support cells	SCs [56], fibroblast [57], stem cells [16,54]			
2. Anisotropic grafts: have directional distribution of one or more of the four components				
A: Scaffolds				
Aligned filaments	Collagen [38,75], PLLA [72]			
Magnetically aligned gels	Fibrin [12], collagen [36,76]			
B: Neurotrophic factors	NGF [79,80], BDNF [79]			
C: Extracellular matrix proteins	Laminin [82,83]			
D: Support cells	SCs [88,89]			
3. Autologous nerve grafts: have all four components	[47] and [91]			
4. Nerve allografts: acellular grafts	[93] and [92]			

BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; IGF, insulin-like growth factor; NGF, nerve growth factor; PAN, polyacrylonitrile; PGA, polyglycolic acid; PLA, polylactic acid; PLLA, poly(L-lactide); PVC, polyvinylchloride; SC, Schwann cell.

TABLE 69.2	Classification of N	rve Guidanc	e Conduits or	Channels	Based	on Porosity	7 and Degrad	ability
------------	---------------------	-------------	---------------	----------	-------	-------------	--------------	---------

Porosity	Degradability	Example and References
Impermeable	Nondegradable	Silicone [90]
Semipermeable	Nondegradable	PS [39], PAN/PVC [24,25]
Resorbable	Degradable	PLA [20a]

PAN, polyacrylonitrile; PLA, polylactic acid; PS, polysulfone; PVC, polyvinylchloride.

concentrations of laminin hinder regeneration [32]. Matrigel (a gel containing collagen type IV, laminin, and glycosaminoglycans) supports some degree of regeneration over a long nerve gap in rats when introduced into the lumen of NGCs [37]. Similarly, a gel mixture containing laminin, collagen, and fibronectin significantly improved nerve regeneration compared with saline-filled silicone channels [40]. Another approach to incorporating ECM signals into nerve conduits is the use of the RGD peptide, which is an amino acid sequence found in multiple ECM proteins [41]. Various research groups found that attachment of Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) to collagen or poly([lactic acid]-*co*-[(glycolic acid)-alt-(L-lysine)]) conduits improved peripheral nerve regeneration [41,42]. Therefore, peptides and proteins that facilitate cell adhesion and migration within the scaffolds have an important role in cell—scaffold interactions and could be used to enhance nerve regeneration.

## Neurotrophic Factors and Cytokine Delivery for Nerve Regeneration

Neurotrophic factors are produced in the target organs and by SCs in response to injury. These neurotrophic factors maintain the target organ—nerve synapse. A nerve injury usually results in disruption of communication between the target organs and the neuronal cell body and leads to Wallerian degeneration (the breakdown of myelin sheath and axons). The cytokines released during Wallerian degeneration activate SCs that produce neurotrophins such as NGF

#### 69. PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Studies have shown that NGF production in target organs of sensory and sympathetic nerves in the PNS promote the survival of sensory ganglia and nerves, including spinal sensory nerves and sciatic nerves [43,44]. Also, it has been shown that BDNF expression is upregulated in injured peripheral nerves that promote the survival and outgrowth of sensory and sympathetic nerves as well as motor nerves [45]. Many other trophic factors, including insulin-like growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, and ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), have been shown to be involved in the promotion of nerve regeneration [46,47].

Neurotrophic factors are likely an important part of future clinical therapies for peripheral nerve injuries and diseases. In diseases in which the functions of SCs are severely suppressed (multiple sclerosis, for example) or when acellular grafts (containing no viable SCs) are used, application of neurotrophic factors could be highly effective in facilitating nerve regeneration. Various studies have developed scaffolds for the sustained delivery of neurotrophic factors to enhance nerve regeneration. Hubble and Sakiyama-Elbert developed a fibrin matrix that immobilizes heparin molecules by electrostatic interactions, which in turn immobilizes heparin-binding growth factors. When implanted in vivo, the fibrin matrix releases the bound growth factor as a result of fibrin degradation [48]. This system was used to deliver NGF for peripheral nerve regeneration in vivo and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) for neurite extension from chick DRG in vitro [45,48]. Fibrin-heparin-NGF matrix was observed to promote nerve regeneration comparable to syngeneic nerve grafts over a 13-mm nerve gap in rats. Fibrin matrix that released bFGF in vitro enhanced neurite extension from DRG by 100% compared with unmodified fibrin matrix. The use of PLGA microparticles for drug delivery has also facilitated the sustained delivery of neurotrophic factors such as glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and other cytokines such as erythropoietin (EPO) [49,50]. In a rat common peroneal nerve defect, sustained delivery of GDNF for 2 and 4 weeks using PLGA microparticles increased the axon counts and promoted larger fiber diameters comparable to autograft [49]. Another group found that delivering EPO using PLGA microparticles enhanced the functional recovery of a rat sciatic nerve defect by increasing the motor nerve conduction velocities [50]. Successful recovery using fibrin-heparin matrices and PLGA microparticles shows the importance of the temporal and spatial controlled delivery of neurotrophic factors and cytokines or nerve repair. Future research in this field may focus on developing biomaterials for the sequential delivery of neurotrophic factor and cytokines after peripheral nerve injury.

In addition to neurotrophic factors, other cytokines can be delivered to modulate aspects of the regenerative process after peripheral nerve injury. Scientists have focused on the effect of inflammatory and immune responses in the healing mechanisms of multiple tissues. In the context of peripheral nerve injury, scientists have found that macrophage polarization has an important role in nerve regeneration [51]. Macrophages can be classified across a spectrum in which the two ends represent inflammatory (M1) and antiinflammatory macrophages (M2). It is believed that macrophage phenotype, M1 or M2, could influence SC infiltration within the NGC and affect the healing process. The delivery of interleukin-4, a cytokine that switches macrophage population toward an M2 phenotype, from agarose scaffolds resulted in an increase in SC infiltration within the scaffolds and faster axonal growth in the rat sciatic nerve gap [51]. Another approach to creating an antiinflammatory environment within the injury site is the selective recruitment of M2 macrophages. M2 macrophages express high levels of fractalkine (CX3CR1); therefore, the delivery of CX3CL1 can be used for their selective recruitment. It has been shown that CX3CR1 delivery increased the infiltration of M2 macrophages and the number of regenerated axons at the distal end of the scaffold [52]. These results suggest that modulating inflammatory or immune responses may be a successful strategy to enhance NGC performance and promote successful nerve regeneration.

## Seeding Neuronal Support Cells for Nerve Regeneration

In the PNS, SCs are support cells that wrap around the axons. SCs form a multilamellar sheath of myelin, a phospholipid-containing substance, around axons that serve as an insulator and increase nerve conduction velocity. In NGCs used for nerve regeneration, the formation of a fibrin cable, migration of SCs, and longitudinal arrangement of SCs (known as bands of Büngner) are necessary processes for axonal regeneration. For nerve gaps less than a critical length (10 mm), these processes occur spontaneously, leading to axonal regeneration. However, for nerve gaps greater than 10 mm, spontaneous nerve regeneration does not occur, because a fibrin cable and bands of Büngner fail to form [9]. SCs of uninjured nerves are quiescent. After nerve axotomy, the SCs become "reactive" and produce a number of neurotrophic factors, including NGF, BDNF, and CNTF [44,53]. They also synthesize and secrete ECM molecules such as laminin, which is known to modulate neurite outgrowth and express a variety of other cell adhesion molecules. All of these components have been suggested to have roles in supporting neuronal survival and axonal regeneration.

#### ANISOTROPIC SCAFFOLDS FOR NERVE REGENERATION

1229

Using SCs in NGCs bypasses the fibrin cable formation step, accelerates the formation of bands of Büngner, and introduces a persistent source of neurotrophic factors, leading to more efficient nerve repair. This could decrease the time required by the axons to reconnect to the target organ and may increase the distance over which regeneration occurs. SCs isolated from the peripheral nerve of a patient and expanded in vitro could be used to treat the patient's nerve injuries. The addition of SCs has been shown to improve the performance of various scaffolds significantly, such as empty NGCs, collagen gels, venous nerve grafts, and muscle grafts, compared with control scaffolds without SC [18,54,55]. The ability of SC-seeded NGCs to promote regeneration was found to depend on the SCs' seeding density and immunocompatibility between donors and host [56]. For syngeneic SCs, it was observed that increasing the seeding density improves the nerve regeneration outcome. Heterologous SCs elicited a strong immune reaction, impeding nerve regeneration [56]. The performance of SC-seeded NGCs was further improved by designing longitudinally aligned channels in the tube to resemble acellular nerve grafts (see discussion on anisotropic scaffolds).

As an alternative to SCs, other cells could be used, as such or genetically modified, to produce desired levels of neurotrophic factors or to express specific ECM molecules. Fibroblasts, genetically modified to produce NGF, BDNF, neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), and bFGF, showed promising results in central nervous system (CNS) regeneration [57]. Olfactory ensheathing cells have been shown to promote the regeneration of cut nerves in the adult rat spinal cord [58]. Although these are examples of CNS regeneration, these genetically modified cells can be used for PNS regeneration as well. The addition of bone marrow stromal cells to NGCs has shown improved peripheral nerve regeneration over empty NGCs [16,17]. Similarly, pluripotent stem cells derived from hair follicles have shown improvements in rats [59]. However, the difficulties of isolating and culturing these cells from the patient before surgery could limit this approach for some surgical procedures.

## Electroconductive Scaffolds for Nerve Regeneration

Electrical stimulation is another technique that has been used to promote nerve regeneration. Previous work showed that electrical stimulation of the soleus nerve of rabbits after a crush injury promoted twitch force, tetanic tension, and muscle action potential in soleus muscle, indicating enhanced nerve growth [60]. To elucidate how electrical stimulation accelerated nerve growth, various groups evaluated its effects on growth factors expression as well as other cellular responses. Electrical stimulation increased the expression of BDNF and tropomyosin receptor kinase B receptors on regenerating motor neurons [61]. Another group observed increased neurotrophin expression after electrical stimulation following nerve repair using a nerve allograft [62]. In addition to an increase in growth factor expression, it was found that stimulating motor neurons at 20 Hz for 1 h accelerated the sprouting of axons after nerve injury [61,63]. These results have motivated research groups to develop electroconductive scaffolds that create an electrical environment within large nerve gaps [64].

Electroconductive scaffolds can improve peripheral nerve injuries significantly. Polypyrrole (PPY) is an electroconductive polymer that has shown great potential as a nerve scaffold owing to its cell compatibility [65]. Various research groups have shown that scaffolds containing PPY increase the percentage of neurite-bearing cells and median neurite length [65,66]. Scaffolds made of PPY and poly(D,L-lactic acid) were able to repair a rat sciatic nerve injury in a way similar to autologous graft [65]. Another study found that conductive PPY—chitosan improved not only axonal regeneration but also remyelination. The researchers also found an improvement in the animals' motor and sensory functions [64]. The mechanism by which electrical stimulation enhances peripheral nerve regeneration still needs to be fully elucidated. However, future strategies could combine electrical stimulation with other scaffold components discussed throughout this chapter to accelerate successful nerve repair after a peripheral nerve injury.

## ANISOTROPIC SCAFFOLDS FOR NERVE REGENERATION

The four essential elements of nerve scaffolds, neurotrophic factors, ECM molecules, and cells can be presented in an aligned fashion so as to orient the regenerating axons toward their distal targets. Several anisotropic scaffolds have been fabricated to affect neuronal behavior. Neuronal as well as glial cells respond to the underlying topographical cues in a particular manner. Distinct cellular processes, including migration, polarization, and gene expression, have been shown to be affected by the isotropy of tissue engineered scaffolds [67]. Although the exact mechanisms of how topographical cues affect cell behavior have yet to be elucidated, they have been hypothesized to affect protein attachment, orient cell cytoskeleton, and affect downstream gene regulation [68,69]. In this section, studies involving nerve grafts that provide directional guidance are discussed.



**FIGURE 69.2 Nanofilaments for contact guidance-mediated growth.** (A) Scanning electron microcopy image of PAN-MA nanofilaments with a diameter of 400–700 nm. (B) Three-dimensional nanofilament-based scaffold, along with agarose gel, embedded in a polysulfone nerve guidance channel can be used to direct neurite growth in vitro or axonal growth in vivo. (C) Chick dorsal root ganglia (DRG) extending neurites along horizontally oriented PAN-MA filaments, in vitro (scale bar = ¼ 1 mm. *PAN-MA*, poly(acrylonitrile-*co*-methylacrylate). *Images courtesy of Dr. Young-tae Kim, Georgia Institute of Technology.* 

## Aligned Anisotropic Scaffolds

We hypothesize that the superior performance of autologous nerve grafts is the result of its cellular components and its longitudinally aligned structure. The longitudinally aligned structure of the degenerating nerves in the autografts provides contact guidance and direction to the regenerating nerves. In an attempt to mimic autografts, longitudinally patterned or oriented gels and filaments to guide and accelerate the regenerating axons have been designed (Fig. 69.2). It has been shown that a poly(acrylonitrile-*co*-methylacrylate) nanofilament-based scaffold alone can facilitate regeneration across a 17-mm nerve gap in rats [70]. Many other combinations of materials have been used, such as collagen filaments embedded in collagen tubes, laminin-coated collagen fibers in collagen tubes, laminin-fibronectin double-coated collagen fibers in collagen tubes, poly(L-lactide) filaments in silicone tubes and PLA tubes, and PGA fibers in chitosan tubes [71–75]. All have been found to improve regeneration significantly compared with saline-filled tubes. In addition to synthetic filaments, magnetically aligned fibrin and collagen type I gels have been used to provide directional guidance to neurites in vitro and axons in vivo [36,76,77].

#### **Neurotrophic Factors**

Neurotrophic factors have been delivered mostly in an isotropic manner in vivo. However, in vitro studies suggested that gradients of neurotrophic factors can direct growth cones toward the source of neurotrophic factor [78]. Insoluble and soluble gradients of NGF, NT-3, and BDNF have been shown to direct the growth of neurites from PC12 cells toward increasing concentrations of neurotrophic factors [79,80]. In vivo, poly(ɛ-caprolactone-co-lactide) (PCLA) scaffolds with NGF gradients have been shown to improve nerve regeneration significantly better than isotropic NGF scaffolds [81]. Therefore, anisotropic scaffolds with gradients of neurotrophic factors, along with other components, might be an important tool for PNS regeneration.

## **Extracellular Matrix Molecules**

Gels containing ECM molecules, such as laminin, collagen, fibronectin, and glycosaminoglycans, have been widely used to make isotropic scaffolds for nerve regeneration. ECM molecules promote axonal growth by the mechanism of differential adhesion, in which axons preferentially grow on substrates of ECM molecules owing to the presence of specific cell surface receptors. In vitro experiments with spatial patterns of whole ECM molecules or their peptide derivates have been used to direct the growth of neurites as well as enhance neurite extension [82,83]. Studies have demonstrated that gradients of ECM proteins could orient and enhance neurite outgrowth toward increasing concentrations of ECM molecules in vitro [82–85].

In vivo, ECM protein-coated fibers have been used to enhance nerve regeneration, in which the fibers provide contact guidance for regenerating axons and the ECM protein provides the adhesive substrate [71,73]. Also, anisotropic scaffolds created by gradients of laminin coupled to agarose along with sustained delivery of NGF from lipid microtubes matched autograft performance in terms of axonal diameter distribution after a peripheral nerve injury [86,87].

## Cell-Seeded, Longitudinally Aligned Nerve Guidance Conduits and Channels

Neuronal-growth supporting cells can be incorporated with longitudinally aligned filaments and gels in NGCs to enhance nerve regeneration. Because support cells synthesize ECM proteins and neurotrophic factors, aligned cells often result in directionally aligned ECM. Biodegradable conduits of a copolymer of lactic and glycolic acids (PLGA) with longitudinally aligned channels have been used for nerve regeneration [88]. With the lumen coated with laminin and seeded with SCs, the channels showed regeneration comparable to nerve autografts over a 7-mm nerve gap in rats. PLA tubes with a micropatterned inner lumen and seeded with SCs, showed better nerve regeneration compared with unpatterned tubes with SCs [89]. However, disadvantages of cell-seeded NGCs include the need for prolonged isolation and cell culture to prepare cells for implantation, a high cell yield, and high cellular morbidity.

## NATURAL NERVE GRAFTS

A common source of nerve grafts is the sural nerve, which is easy to obtain, has the appropriate diameter for most grafting needs, and is relatively indispensable. Other graft sources include the anterior branch of the medial antebrachial cutaneous nerve, the lateral femoral cutaneous nerve, and the superficial radial sensory nerve [90]. However, a motor nerve has a preference for a motor pathway (i.e., motor nerve graft) and shows inferior regeneration if a sensory nerve graft such as sural nerve is used. Similarly, a mixed nerve shows superior regeneration with either a mixed nerve or a motor nerve graft compared with a sensory nerve graft [91]. Therefore, clinical outcomes might be improved by using alternatives to sensory nerve grafts in reconstructing a mixed nerve. However, there are relatively few expendable motor or mixed nerves in the human body that could be used as graft materials. Therefore, a more feasible alternative would be to use nerve allografts or biosynthetic graft materials. Cadavers are an abundant source of graft materials and avoid the complications of harvesting autografts. However, cadaveric nerve allografts require maintenance and can be used only with immunosuppressive therapy. Withdrawal of the immunosuppressant leads to profound loss of axons in the allografts. The axonal loss is most profound in mixed nerve allografts compared with motor nerve allografts, followed by sensory nerve allografts [92].

Allografts, cold-preserved and/or freeze-thawed to prevent immune rejection by the host body, perform better than fresh allografts in terms of axon density, fiber diameter, and nerve conduction velocity [93]. Using natural materials (nerve grafts) for regeneration is ideal. However, it has been shown that if autografts or allografts are preserved for too long, their ability to support regeneration supporting is compromised [94]. Also, the pretreated allografts do not perform as well as autografts [93].

Although nerve autografts are used as the reference standard, the lack of functional recovery even with autografts remains an important clinical problem. Techniques employed to improve the performance of the nerve autografts include treatments to either remove the inhibitory molecules, such as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs), or provide factors for axonal growth, such as NT-4/5 or BDNF. CSPG molecules have a core protein structure with glycosaminoglycan (GAG) side chains composed of chondroitin sulfate. Because of their large size and negative charge, the GAGs of CSPGs are thought to hinder neurite access to growth-promoting matrix molecules and repel the axons, inhibiting their growth [95]. It has been shown that CSPGs are upregulated almost sevenfold in the distal segment of peripheral nerve after transection nerve injury [96]. The upregulated CSPGs contribute significantly to

#### 69. PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

the inhibition of neurite sprouting and, consequently, growth into the distal nerve segment. Treatment of the injury site with chondroitinase ABC, which digests away the inhibitory CSPGs, increased the neurite ingrowth into the distal nerve segment several-fold compared with controls with no chondroitinase ABC treatment [97]. Treatment with chondroitinase ABC, however, did not improve neurite ingrowth in a crush injury model, which suggests that CSPGs are not upregulated in a crush injury.

Syngenic nerve grafts treated with chondroitinase ABC, heparinase I, heparinase III, or keratanase enzymes have shown significantly improved axonal ingrowth from the proximal nerve end into the nerve graft compared with untreated controls [98]. Autografts treated with a combination of all four enzymes showed the most significant neurite growth into the graft. However, combination treatment was not significantly different from the arithmetic sum of the individual treatments. This suggests that molecules such as heparan sulfate proteoglycan and keratan sulfate proteoglycan also contribute to the inhibition of neurite growth apart from CSPGs, and the pathways or mechanisms of inhibition for each of these molecules might be independent of each other. In another study, the exogenous supply of BDNF and NT-4/5 increased the number of axons regenerating into the nerve graft compared with untreated nerve grafts [99]. These techniques, used in clinical applications, could lead to better results with autografts or allografts.

Acellular grafts have been developed to address the problem of host response to allografts as well as the shortage of autografts. Cadaveric nerves are decellularized while keeping the ECM structure intact in order to promote nerve growth. It has been show that acellular cadaveric nerves from rats are able to bridge a 10-mm nerve injury [100]. In the same study, acellular grafts treated with NGF and vascular endothelial growth factor (VGEF) showed increased axonal diameter and neurovascularization at 1 month. Other studies have also shown that incorporating VGEF and NGF in acellular grafts promoted SC migration, increased the number of axons, and improved neovascularization compared with control [101]. In longer gaps (40 mm in Rhesus monkeys), acellular allogenic grafts seeded with autologous SCs enhanced nerve density and fiber counts [102]. Functionality of acellular grafts depends on the structural integrity of the graft after it has been processed for the removal of cells and immunogenic components. For this reason, several laboratories have developed chemical processing techniques that focus on preserving the integrity of the ECM structure. Studies with optimized acellular grafts created by Schmidt's group suggested that axon density after 84 days depended on graft structure and content [103]. In another study, processed acellular grafts held their laminin structure and promoted better functional results compared with nerve conduits in bridging nerve gaps [104].

## ANIMAL MODELS

Traditionally, nerve regeneration studies involved the use of various animal models such as mice, rats, swine, canines, sheep, and nonhuman primates. Rat or mouse models are used initially to determine the efficacy of various treatments. If the results are encouraging, they are followed by experiments with larger animal models. For PNS regeneration studies, the most commonly studied nerve models are the sciatic nerve and its branches, the tibial and peroneal nerves. Other models include the cavernosal and facial nerves. The most common nerve injury model is the single-anastomosis model, in which the injury and repair are performed on one sciatic nerve and the contralateral sciatic nerve is used as a control. This model is useful when the nerve gap is not more than 20 mm. The second version is the cross (double) anastomosis model, in which both contralateral sciatic nerves are transected; the proximal end of the right sciatic nerve is then sutured to one end of an implanted tube and the distal end of the left sciatic nerve is inserted into the other end of the tube [105]. This model allows the study of gaps in excess of 25 mm. Although convenient, the rodent models have a serious drawback in that they present only short nerve gaps for regeneration studies. For a regeneration technique to be applied successfully in clinical trials, the nerve gap model has to be more than 40 mm long. To create a long nerve gap model, rabbits, cats, dogs, sheep, and nonhuman primates have been used [20,38,71,106,107]. The large-animal models are an important intermediary step before clinical application of experimental therapeutic approaches.

## CONCLUSION

Despite significant advances in research into the development of synthetic NGCs, nerve autografts are still considered the first-choice strategy for nerve repair, especially in the case of long nerve gaps. However, performance of autografts themselves has been unsatisfactory. Use of autografts usually results in the good recovery of sensory functions but poor return of motor functions. Hence, there will be continued interest in ideas to enhance the

#### REFERENCES

performance of autografts further by various treatments such as chondroitinase ABC, NT-4/5, and BDNF. However, the shortage of autografts and allografts is a major hindrance to their use. This shortage can be overcome by developing synthetic alternatives that can be tailored to enhance nerve growth. Modulating the spatiotemporal distribution of the four components of grafts can potentially improve the potential therapeutic outcomes of synthetic grafts. Ongoing rapid advances in cell biology, cell culture techniques, genetic engineering, and biomaterials research are likely to provide new tools to improve regeneration using synthetic grafts, and the day may be near when an engineered construct performs as well as autografts [1].

## References

- [1] Palmer DH, Hanrahan LP. Social and economic costs of carpal tunnel surgery. Instr Course Lect 1995;44:167–72.
- [2] Terzis J, Faibisoff B, Williams B. The nerve gap: suture under tension vs. graft. Plast Reconstr Surg 1975;56(2):166-70.
- [3] Gluck T. Ueber Neuroplastik auf dem Wege der Transplantation. Arch Klin Chir 1880;25:606-16.
- [4] Kirk EG, Lewis D. Fascial tubulization in the repair of nerve defects. JAMA 1915:486-92.
- [5] Payr E. Beitrage zur Technik der Blutgefass und Nervennaht nebst Mittheilungen uber die Vervendung eines resorbibaren Metalles in der Chirurgie. Arch Klin Chir 1900;62(67).
- [6] Weiss P, Taylor AC. Guides for nerve regeneration across gaps. J Neurosurg 1946;3:375-89.
- [7] Albert E. Einige Operationen an Nerven. Wien Med 1885;26:1285.
- [8] Millesi H, Meissl G, Berger A. The interfascicular nerve-grafting of the median and ulnar nerves. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1972;54(4):727-50.
- [9] Lundborg G. Nerve injury and repair. New York: Longman Group UK; 1988.
- [10] Evans GR. Peripheral nerve injury: a review and approach to tissue engineered constructs. Anat Rec 2001;263(4):396–404.
- [11] Kline DG, Kim D, Midha R, Harsh C, Tiel R. Management and results of sciatic nerve injuries: a 24-year experience. J Neurosurg 1998;89(1): 13–23.
- [12] Dahlin LB, Lundborg G. Use of tubes in peripheral nerve repair. Neurosurg Clin N Am 2001;12(2):341-52.
- [13] Ferrari F, De Castro Rodrigues A, Malvezzi CK, Dal Pai Silva M, Padovani CR. Inside-out vs. standard vein graft to repair a sensory nerve in rats. Anat Rec 1999;256(3):227–32.
- [14] Wang KK, Costas PD, Bryan DJ, Jones DS, Seckel BR. Inside-out vein graft promotes improved nerve regeneration in rats. Microsurgery 1993; 14(9):608–18.
- [15] Chiu DT, Strauch B. A prospective clinical evaluation of autogenous vein grafts used as a nerve conduit for distal sensory nerve defects of 3 cm or less. Plast Reconstr Surg 1990;86(5):928–34.
- [16] Choi BH, Zhu SJ, Kim BY, Huh JY, Lee SH, Jung JH. Transplantation of cultured bone marrow stromal cells to improve peripheral nerve regeneration. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2005a;34(5):537–42.
- [17] Choi BH, Zhu SJ, Kim SH, Kim BY, Huh JH, Lee SH, Jung JH. Nerve repair using a vein graft filled with collagen gel. J Reconstr Microsurg 2005b;21(4):267–72.
- [18] Strauch B, Rodriguez DM, Diaz J, Yu HL, Kaplan G, Weinstein DE. Autologous Schwann cells drive regeneration through a 6-cm autogenous venous nerve conduit. J Reconstr Microsurg 2001;17(8):589–95. Discussion 596–587.
- [19] Zhang F, Blain B, Beck J, Zhang J, Chen Z, Chen ZW, Lineaweaver WC. Autogenous venous graft with one-stage prepared Schwann cells as a conduit for repair of long segmental nerve defects. J Reconstr Microsurg 2002;18(4):295–300.
- [20] Geuna S, Tos P, Battiston B, Giacobini-Robecchi MG. Bridging peripheral nerve defects with muscle-vein combined guides. Neurol Res 2004; 26(2):139–44.
- [20a] Cai J, Peng X, Nelson KD, Eberhart R, Smith GM. Permeable guidance channels containing microfilament scaffolds enhance axon growth and maturation. J Biomed Mater Res 2005;75A:374–86.
- [21] Battiston B, Tos P, Cushway TR, Geuna S. Nerve repair by means of vein filled with muscle grafts I. Clinical results. Microsurgery 2000;20(1): 32–6.
- [22] Williams LR, Longo FM, Powell HC, Lundborg G, Varon S. Spatial-temporal progress of peripheral nerve regeneration within a silicone chamber: parameters for a bioassay. J Comp Neurol 1983;218(4):460–70.
- [23] Valentini RF, Aebischer P. Strategies for the engineering of peripheral nervous tissue regeneration. In: Lanza R, Langer R, Chick W, editors. Principles of tissue engineering. Austin (TX): Landes Company; 1997. p. 671–84.
- [24] Aebischer P, Guenard V, Brace S. Peripheral nerve regeneration through blind-ended semipermeable guidance channels: effect of the molecular weight cutoff. J Neurosci 1989;9(10):3590-5.
- [25] Uzman BG, Villegas GM. Mouse sciatic nerve regeneration through semipermeable tubes: a quantitative model. J Neurosci Res 1983;9(3): 325–38.
- [26] Bellamkonda R, Ranieri JP, Bouche N, Aebischer P. Hydrogel-based three-dimensional matrix for neural cells. J Biomed Mater Res 1995;29(5): 663-71.
- [27] Dillon GP, Yu X, Bellamkonda RV. The polarity and magnitude of ambient charge influences three-dimensional neurite extension from DRGs. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;51(3):510-9.
- [28] Labrador RO, Buti M, Navarro X. Peripheral nerve repair: role of agarose matrix density on functional recovery. Neuroreport 1995;6(15): 2022–6.
- [29] Yu X, Dillon GP, Bellamkonda RB. A laminin and nerve growth factor-laden three-dimensional scaffold for enhanced neurite extension. Tissue Eng 1999;5(4):291–304.
- [30] Satou T, Nishida S, Hiruma S, Tanji K, Takahashi M, Fujita S, Mizuhara Y, Akai F, Hashimoto S. A morphological study on the effects of collagen gel matrix on regeneration of severed rat sciatic nerve in silicone tubes. Acta Pathol Jpn 1986;36(2):199–208.
- [31] Valentini RF, Aebischer P, Winn SR, Galletti PM. Collagen- and laminin-containing gels impede peripheral nerve regeneration through semipermeable nerve guidance channels. Exp Neurol 1987;98(2):350–6.
#### 69. PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

- [32] Labrador RO, Buti M, Navarro X. Influence of collagen and laminin gels concentration on nerve regeneration after resection and tube repair. Exp Neurol 1998;149(1):243-52.
- [33] Seckel BR, Jones D, Hekimian KJ, Wang KK, Chakalis DP, Costas PD. Hyaluronic acid through a new injectable nerve guide delivery system enhances peripheral nerve regeneration in the rat. J Neurosci Res 1995;40(3):318–24.
- [34] Jansen K, van der Werff JF, van Wachem PB, Nicolai JP, de Leij LF, van Luyn MJ. A hyaluronan-based nerve guide: in vitro cytotoxicity, subcutaneous tissue reactions, and degradation in the rat. Biomaterials 2004;25(3):483–9.
- [35] Wang KK, Nemeth IR, Seckel BR, Chakalis-Haley DP, Swann DA, Kuo JW, Bryan DJ, Cetrulo Jr CL. Hyaluronic acid enhances peripheral nerve regeneration in vivo. Microsurgery 1998;18(4):270–5.
- [36] Dubey N, Letourneau PC, Tranquillo RT. Neuronal contact guidance in magnetically aligned fibrin gels: effect of variation in gel mechanostructural properties. Biomaterials 2001;22(10):1065–75.
- [37] Madison RD, Da Silva CF, Dikkes P. Entubulation repair with protein additives increases the maximum nerve gap distance successfully bridged with tubular prostheses. Brain Res 1988;447(2):325–34.
- [38] Suzuki Y, Tanihara M, Ohnishi K, Suzuki K, Endo K, Nishimura Y. Cat peripheral nerve regeneration across 50 mm gap repaired with a novel nerve guide composed of freeze-dried alginate gel. Neurosci Lett 1999;259(2):75–8.
- [39] Yu X, Bellamkonda RV. Tissue-engineered scaffolds are effective alternatives to autografts for bridging peripheral nerve gaps. Tissue Eng 2003;9(3):421–30.
- [40] Chen YS, Hsieh CL, Tsai CC, Chen TH, Cheng WC, Hu CL, Yao CH. Peripheral nerve regeneration using silicone rubber chambers filled with collagen, laminin and fibronectin. Biomaterials 2000;21(15):1541–7.
- [41] Rafiuddin Ahmed M, Jayakumar R. Peripheral nerve regeneration in RGD peptide incorporated collagen tubes. Brain Res 2003;993(1–2): 208–16.
- [42] Yan Q, Yin Y, Li B. Use new PLGL-RGD-NGF nerve conduits for promoting peripheral nerve regeneration. Biomed Eng Online 2012;11:36.
- [43] Levi-Montalcini R. The nerve growth factor 35 years later. Science 1987;237(4819):1154–62.
- [44] Thoenen H, Barde YA, Davies AM, Johnson JE. Neurotrophic factors and neuronal death. Ciba Found Symp 1987;126:82–95.
- [44a] Sendtner M, Holtmann B, Kolbeck R, Thoenen H, Barde Y-A. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor prevents the death of motoneurons in newborn rats after nerve section. Nature 1992;360:757.
- [44b] Glazner GW, Lupien S, Miller JA, Ishii DN. Insulin-like growth factor II increases the rate of sciatic nerve regeneration in rats. Neuroscience 1993;54(3):791–7.
- [45] Lee AC, Yu VM, Lowe 3rd JB, Brenner MJ, Hunter DA, Mackinnon SE, Sakiyama-Elbert SE. Controlled release of nerve growth factor enhances sciatic nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol 2003;184(1):295–303.
- [46] Glazner GW, Lupien S, Miller JA, Ishii DN. Insulin-like growth factor II increases the rate of sciatic nerve regeneration in rats. Neuroscience 1993;54(3):791–7.
- [47] Gospodarowicz D, Ferrara N, Schweigerer L, Neufeld G. Structural characterization and biological functions of fibroblast growth factor. Endocr Rev 1987;8(2):95–114.
- [48] Sakiyama-Elbert SE, Hubbell JA. Development of fibrin derivatives for controlled release of heparin-binding growth factors. J Control Release 2000;65(3):389–402.
- [49] Tajdaran K, Gordon T, Wood MD, Shoichet MS, Borschel GH. A glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor delivery system enhances nerve regeneration across acellular nerve allografts. Acta Biomater 2016;29:62–70.
- [50] Zhang W, Gao Y, Zhou Y, Liu J, Zhang L, Long A, Zhang L, Tang P. Localized and sustained delivery of erythropoietin from PLGA microspheres promotes functional recovery and nerve regeneration in peripheral nerve injury. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:478103.
- [51] Mokarram N, Merchant A, Mukhatyar V, Patel G, Bellamkonda RV. Effect of modulating macrophage phenotype on peripheral nerve repair. Biomaterials 2012;33(34):8793-801.
- [52] Mokarram N, Dymanus K, Srinivasan A, English A, Bellamkonda R. Preferential recruitment of anti-inflammatory monocytes significantly enhances peripheral nerve regeneration. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2016;4.
- [53] Thanos PK, Okajima S, Terzis JK. Ultrastructure and cellular biology of nerve regeneration. J Reconstr Microsurg 1998;14(6):423-36.
- [54] Ansselin AD, Fink T, Davey DF. Peripheral nerve regeneration through nerve guides seeded with adult Schwann cells. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 1997;23(5):387–98.
- [55] Keilhoff G, Pratsch F, Wolf G, Fansa H. Bridging extra large defects of peripheral nerves: possibilities and limitations of alternative biological grafts from acellular muscle and Schwann cells. Tissue Eng 2005;11(7–8):1004–14.
- [56] Guenard V, Kleitman N, Morrissey TK, Bunge RP, Aebischer P. Syngeneic Schwann cells derived from adult nerves seeded in semipermeable guidance channels enhance peripheral nerve regeneration. J Neurosci 1992;12(9):3310–20.
- [57] Nakahara Y, Gage FH, Tuszynski MH. Grafts of fibroblasts genetically modified to secrete NGF, BDNF, NT-3, or basic FGF elicit differential responses in the adult spinal cord. Cell Transplant 1996;5(2):191–204.
- [58] Li Y, Decherchi P, Raisman G. Transplantation of olfactory ensheathing cells into spinal cord lesions restores breathing and climbing. J Neurosci 2003;23(3):727–31.
- [59] Amoh Y, Li L, Campillo R, Kawahara K, Katsuoka K, Penman S, Hoffman RM. Implanted hair follicle stem cells form Schwann cells that support repair of severed peripheral nerves. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102(49):17734–8.
- [60] Nix WA, Hopf HC. Electrical stimulation of regenerating nerve and its effect on motor recovery. Brain Res 1983;272(1):21-5.
- [61] Al-Majed AA, Brushart TM, Gordon T. Electrical stimulation accelerates and increases expression of BDNF and trkB mRNA in regenerating rat femoral motoneurons. Eur J Neurosci 2000;12(12):4381–90.
- [62] English AW, Schwartz G, Meador W, Sabatier MJ, Mulligan A. Electrical stimulation promotes peripheral axon regeneration by enhanced neuronal neurotrophin signaling. Dev Neurobiol 2007;67(2):158–72.
- [63] Brushart TM, Hoffman PN, Royall RM, Murinson BB, Witzel C, Gordon T. Electrical stimulation promotes motoneuron regeneration without increasing its speed or conditioning the neuron. J Neurosci 2002;22(15):6631–8.
- [64] Huang J, Lu L, Zhang J, Hu X, Zhang Y, Liang W, Wu S, Luo Z. Electrical stimulation to conductive scaffold promotes axonal regeneration and remyelination in a rat model of large nerve defect. PLoS One 2012;7(6):e39526.

- [65] Xu H, Holzwarth JM, Yan Y, Xu P, Zheng H, Yin Y, Li S, Ma PX. Conductive PPY/PDLLA conduit for peripheral nerve regeneration. Biomaterials 2014;35(1):225–35.
- [66] Moroder P, Runge MB, Wang H, Ruesink T, Lu L, Spinner RJ, Windebank AJ, Yaszemski MJ. Material properties and electrical stimulation regimens of polycaprolactone fumarate-polypyrrole scaffolds as potential conductive nerve conduits. Acta Biomater 2011;7(3):944–53.
- [67] Chew SY, Mi R, Hoke A, Leong KW. The effect of the alignment of electrospun fibrous scaffolds on Schwann cell maturation. Biomaterials 2008;29(6):653–61.
- [68] Gugutkov D, Gonzalez-Garcia C, Rodriguez Hernandez JC, Altankov G, Salmeron-Sanchez M. Biological activity of the substrate-induced fibronectin network: insight into the third dimension through electrospun fibers. Langmuir 2009;25(18):10893–900.
- [69] Hoffman-Kim D, Mitchel JA, Bellamkonda RV. Topography, cell response, and nerve regeneration. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2010;12:203–31.
   [70] Kim YT, Haftel VK, Kumar S, Bellamkonda RV. The role of aligned polymer fiber-based constructs in the bridging of long peripheral nerve gaps. Biomaterials 2008;29(21):3117–27.
- [71] Matsumoto K, Ohnishi K, Kiyotani T, Sekine T, Ueda H, Nakamura T, Endo K, Shimizu Y. Peripheral nerve regeneration across an 80-mm gap bridged by a polyglycolic acid (PGA)-collagen tube filled with laminin-coated collagen fibers: a histological and electrophysiological evaluation of regenerated nerves. Brain Res 2000;868(2):315–28.
- [72] Ngo TT, Waggoner PJ, Romero AA, Nelson KD, Eberhart RC, Smith GM. Poly(L-lactide) microfilaments enhance peripheral nerve regeneration across extended nerve lesions. J Neurosci Res 2003;72(2):227–38.
- [73] Tong XJ, Hirai K, Shimada H, Mizutani Y, Izumi T, Toda N, Yu P. Sciatic nerve regeneration navigated by laminin-fibronectin double coated biodegradable collagen grafts in rats. Brain Res 1994;663(1):155–62.
- [74] Wang X, Hu W, Cao Y, Yao J, Wu J, Gu X. Dog sciatic nerve regeneration across a 30-mm defect bridged by a chitosan/PGA artificial nerve graft. Brain 2005;128(Pt 8):1897–910.
- [75] Yoshii S, Oka M, Shima M, Taniguchi A, Akagi M. Bridging a 30-mm nerve defect using collagen filaments. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;67(2): 467–74.
- [76] Ceballos D, Navarro X, Dubey N, Wendelschafer-Crabb G, Kennedy WR, Tranquillo RT. Magnetically aligned collagen gel filling a collagen nerve guide improves peripheral nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol 1999;158(2):290–300.
- [77] Dubey N, Letourneau PC, Tranquillo RT. Guided neurite elongation and schwann cell invasion into magnetically aligned collagen in simulated peripheral nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol 1999;158(2):338–50.
- [78] Gundersen RW, Barrett JN. Neuronal chemotaxis: chick dorsal-root axons turn toward high concentrations of nerve growth factor. Science 1979;206(4422):1079–80.
- [79] Cao X, Shoichet MS. Investigating the synergistic effect of combined neurotrophic factor concentration gradients to guide axonal growth. Neuroscience 2003;122(2):381–9.
- [80] Kapur TA, Shoichet MS. Immobilized concentration gradients of nerve growth factor guide neurite outgrowth. J Biomed Mater Res A 2004; 68(2):235–43.
- [81] Tang S, Zhu J, Xu Y, Xiang AP, Jiang MH, Quan D. The effects of gradients of nerve growth factor immobilized PCLA scaffolds on neurite outgrowth in vitro and peripheral nerve regeneration in rats. Biomaterials 2013;34(29):7086–96.
- [82] Kam L, Shain W, Turner JN, Bizios R. Axonal outgrowth of hippocampal neurons on micro-scale networks of polylysine-conjugated laminin. Biomaterials 2001;22(10):1049–54.
- [83] Saneinejad S, Shoichet MS. Patterned glass surfaces direct cell adhesion and process outgrowth of primary neurons of the central nervous system. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;42(1):13-9.
- [84] Adams DN, Kao EY, Hypolite CL, Distefano MD, Hu WS, Letourneau PC. Growth cones turn and migrate up an immobilized gradient of the laminin IKVAV peptide. J Neurobiol 2005;62(1):134–47.
- [85] Dertinger SK, Jiang X, Li Z, Murthy VN, Whitesides GM. Gradients of substrate-bound laminin orient axonal specification of neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99(20):12542–7.
- [86] Dodla MC, Bellamkonda RV. Anisotropic scaffolds facilitate enhanced neurite extension in vitro. J Biomed Mater Res A 2006;78(2):213-21.
- [87] Dodla MC, Bellamkonda RV. Differences between the effect of anisotropic and isotropic laminin and nerve growth factor presenting scaffolds on nerve regeneration across long peripheral nerve gaps. Biomaterials 2008;29(1):33–46.
- [88] Hadlock T, Sundback C, Hunter D, Cheney M, Vacanti JP. A polymer foam conduit seeded with Schwann cells promotes guided peripheral nerve regeneration. Tissue Eng 2000;6(2):119–27.
- [89] Rutkowski GE, Miller CA, Jeftinija S, Mallapragada SK. Synergistic effects of micropatterned biodegradable conduits and Schwann cells on sciatic nerve regeneration. J Neural Eng 2004;1(3):151–7.
- [90] Sunderland S. Nerve Injuries and Their Repair. A Critical Appraisal. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1991.
- [91] Nichols CM, Brenner MJ, Fox IK, Tung TH, Hunter DA, Rickman SR, Mackinnon SE. Effects of motor versus sensory nerve grafts on peripheral nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol 2004;190(2):347–55.
- [92] Midha R, Nag S, Munro CA, Ang LC. Differential response of sensory and motor axons in nerve allografts after withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy. J Neurosurg 2001;94(1):102–10.
- [93] Evans PJ, Mackinnon SE, Midha R, Wade JA, Hunter DA, Nakao Y, Hare GM. Regeneration across cold preserved peripheral nerve allografts. Microsurgery 1999;19:115–27.
- [94] Gulati AK. Peripheral nerve regeneration through short- and long-term degenerated nerve transplants. Brain Res 1996;742(1-2):265-70.
- [95] Properzi F, Asher RA, Fawcett JW. Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans in the central nervous system: changes and synthesis after injury. Biochem Soc Trans 2003;31(2):335 LP-336.
- [96] Zuo J, Hernandez YJ, Muir D. Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan with neurite-inhibiting activity is up-regulated following peripheral nerve injury. J Neurobiol 1998;34:41–54.
- [97] Zuo J, Neubauer D, Graham J, Krekoski CA, Ferguson TA, Muir D. Regeneration of axons after nerve transection repair is enhanced by degradation of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. Exp Neurol 2002;176(1):221–8.
- [98] Groves ML, McKeon R, Werner E, Nagarsheth M, Meador W, English AW. Axon regeneration in peripheral nerves is enhanced by proteoglycan degradation. Exp Neurol 2005;195(2):278–92.

#### 69. PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

- [99] English AW, Meador W, Carrasco DI. Neurotrophin-4/5 is required for the early growth of regenerating axons in peripheral nerves. Eur J Neurosci 2005;21:2624–34.
- [100] Kim B, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Peripheral nerve regeneration using acellular nerve grafts. J Biomed Mater Res 2004;68A:201-9.
- [101] Sondell M, Lundborg G, Kanje M. Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates Schwann cell invasion and neovascularization of acellular nerve grafts. Brain Res 1999;846(2):219–28.
- [102] Hu J, Zhu Q-T, Liu X-L, Xu Y, Zhu J-K. Repair of extended peripheral nerve lesions in rhesus monkeys using acellular allogenic nerve grafts implanted with autologous mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Neurol 2007;204(2):658–66.
- [103] Hudson TW, Zawko S, Deister C, Lundy S, Hu CY, Lee K, Schmidt CE. Optimized Acellular Nerve Graft Is Immunologically Tolerated and Supports Regeneration. Tissue Eng 2004;10(11–12):1641–51.
- [104] Whitlock EL, Tuffaha SH, Luciano JP, Yan Y, Hunter DA, Magill CK, Moore AM, Tong AY, Mackinnon SE, Borschel GH. Processed allografts and type I collagen conduits for repair of peripheral nerve gaps. Muscle Nerve 2009;39:787–99.
- [105] Lundborg G, Dahlin LB, Danielsen N, Gelberman RH, Longo FM, Powell HC, Varon S. Nerve regeneration in silicone chambers: influence of gap length and of distal stump components. Exp Neurol 1982;76(2):361–75.
- [106] Ahmed Z, Brown RA, Ljungberg C, Wiberg M, Terenghi G. Nerve growth factor enhances peripheral nerve regeneration in non-human primates. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg 1999;33(4):393–401.
- [107] Lawson GM, Glasby MA. Peripheral nerve reconstruction using freeze-thawed muscle grafts: a comparison with group fascicular nerve grafts in a large animal model. J R Coll Surg Edinb 1998;43(5):295–302.

# Regenerative Medicine for the Female Reproductive System

Renata S. Magalhaes, Anthony Atala

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Normal embryonic development of the female reproductive system results from the presence of two X chromosomes, the absence of SRY gene expression (sex-determining region on the Y chromosome), and a complex network of gene interactions that determine the differentiation of the bipotential genital ridge into ovaries by 6–8 weeks of gestation [1,2]. In the genital ridge, primordial germ cells proliferate and enter meiosis to become oocytes [3]. Subsequently, internal genital development follows the female pathway in which a pair of Müllerian ducts (alternatively known as paramesonephric ducts) derived from invagination of the coelomic epithelium within the intermediate mesoderm is retained. The Müllerian ducts grow caudomedially to reach the urogenital sinus around the 10th week and its fusion and differentiation forms the fallopian tubes, uterus, cervix, and upper two-thirds of the vagina in the midline pelvis. At birth, the development of reproductive structures proceeds and complete maturation is achieved only at puberty when a cascade of hormone-regulated events results in adult physical characteristic and the capacity to reproduce.

Environmental or genetic factors may compromise organogenesis, resulting in a range of anatomical Müllerian duct malformations classified according to the developmental stage affected (duct formation, fusion, and septal reabsorption), with an estimated prevalence of 0.1–5% of the general female population [4–7]. Severe genital malformation such as Mayer–Rokitansky–Küster–Hauser syndrome (MRKHS) (abnormal or absent uterus, cervix, and upper part of the vagina) occurs in approximately 1 of 4000 newborn girls and can be associated with upper urinary tract and skeletal disorders [8–10].

Congenital and acquired diseases may adversely affect a woman's reproductive potential, leading to social and psychological problems [11–13]. Despite advancements in reproductive medicine and reconstructive surgery over the past decades, there is an increased demand for therapies that have the potential to restore function and/or compensate for the anatomical absence of female genital tissues and organs. Regenerative medicine has emerged as an attractive alternative to overcome limitations of current therapeutic approaches by integrating various technologies that range from tissue engineering to gene editing.

This chapter highlights progress in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering applications in the female reproductive system.

# PRINCIPLES OF TISSUE ENGINEERING

Tissue engineering combines cell biology, materials science, biomedical engineering, and an appropriate environment to develop implantable biological substitutes that can restore and maintain normal organ function [14,15]. The development of a bioengineered tissue is a multistep process. As illustrated in Fig. 70.1, the first step is finding a viable immunocompatible cell source for the tissue of interest, preferably autologous, that can be isolated and expanded while maintaining the desired phenotype. When primary or progenitor autologous human cells cannot

70. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM



FIGURE 70.1 Schematic representation of tissue engineering and cell therapy approaches for the female reproductive system. *ESC*, embryonic stem cells; *iPSCs*, induced pluripotent stem cells.

be obtained from a particular organ, pluripotent human stem cells may be an alternative source given their potential to differentiate into a specialized cells type. Alternatively, multiples studies have shown that adult stem cells derived from the bone marrow, amniotic fluid, cord blood, or placenta have a great potential for regenerative therapies [16]. The next step in the process involves identifying a biocompatible material (scaffold) that supports cell growth in vitro and facilitates the complex process of tissue regeneration in vivo, withstanding the physiological and mechanical properties demanded by the organ [17]. In select circumstances, biomaterials alone or loaded with growth factors may be sufficient to replace native tissues. The constructs (scaffold plus cells) are usually incubated and/or preconditioned in vitro using a bioreactor system or directly implanted into the patient for in vivo tissue maturation.

## THE VAGINA

The vagina is a distensible organ that extends from the vestibule of the vulva to the uterine cervix, which allows for sexual intercourse and serves as a channel for menstrual bleeding and childbirth. The vaginal canal is lined by a mucosa of nonkeratinized stratified squamous epithelium that has an important role as a barrier against harmful pathogens and harbors a dynamic microbiota that is shaped by ovarian hormone changes throughout a woman's lifetime [18]. The muscular layers consist of highly vascularized fibromuscular tissues and a network of nerves that are associated with pleasurable sensation during sexual activity [19].

Acquired vaginal pathologies or congenital anomalies, including MRKHS, cloacal exstrophy, and complete androgen insensitivity syndrome, can adversely affect the vagina's anatomy, resulting in devastating psychosexual issues [20]. Nonsurgical vaginal dilation has been recommended as a first-line therapy but it is time-consuming, distressing, and unfavorable for severe conditions [21]. Another option is vaginal surgical reconstruction, which involves the creation of a canal (neovagina) between the bladder and rectum. A variety of vaginoplasty techniques have been described and a wide range of materials to line the surgically created cavity have been proposed including skin grafts, allogeneic tissue (amniotic membrane and epidermal sheets), peritoneum, artificial grafts, autologous buccal mucosa, and autologous in vitro cultured vaginal tissue [22].

Although no consensus has been established regarding what material should be used for reconstructive surgery, the application of nonvaginal tissue has been associated with complications such as graft rejection, chronic stenosis, and poor mechanical strength. The lack of materials that adequately mimic the vaginal tissue structure has led researchers to apply tissue engineering techniques to fabricate autologous vaginal tissue grafts [23].

# **Engineering of Functional Vaginal Tissue**

Preclinical studies demonstrated the feasibility of engineering functional vaginal tissue using preconfigured scaffolds seeded with autologous vaginal epithelial and smooth muscle cells in a rabbit model [24,25]. We applied a similar strategy on a pilot cohort study to assess the use of autologous cell-engineered vaginal constructs in four patients aged 13–18 years with MRKHS [26]. Primary epithelial and muscle cells were isolated from  $1 \times 1$ -cm vulvar biopsies from each patient and expanded separately. Vaginal-shaped scaffolds made of decellularized porcine smallintestinal submucosa (SIS), a matrix rich in collagen and growth factors, were seeded with autologous cells at a density of  $1 \times 10^7$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> (for each cell type) and incubated for a week before surgery. The constructs initially measuring  $7 \times 10$  cm were customized for each patient based on their pelvic cavity morphometric analyses. A vaginal stent was put in place after surgery and kept for 2 weeks. Subjects were followed up for 8 years, and annual tissue biopsies, serial imaging, and clinical examinations confirmed vaginal tissue-like structures and long-term vaginal cavity patency (Fig. 70.2). In addition, all patients were sexually active and had functional variables for arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, and painless intercourse within the normal range.

In another study, Panici et al. [27] reported the creation of an autologous in vitro cultured vaginal tissue for vaginoplasty in a 28-year-old woman with MRKHS. A 1-cm<sup>2</sup>, full-thickness mucosal biopsy from the vaginal vestibule was taken and cells were expanded onto collagen IV–coated plates for 2 weeks. When autologous in vitro cultured cells reached 314 cm<sup>2</sup>, they were mounted on hyaluronic acid–embedded gauze, maintaining the epithelial cell layer away from the gauze, and used to cover the surface of a surgically created vaginal canal. The gauze was kept in place by a vaginal mold. Thirty days after the procedure, the canal appeared normal in length and depth and a neovagina wall biopsy revealed epithelization resembling native vaginal tissue. The same group

(A)	Before surger	y 8 year	rs after surgery	(C)						
				Score range	Sexual function index, individual patient score					
					Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	All patients (average)	
		Desire	1.2-6.0	4.8	6	5.4	6	5.6		
		Arousal	0–6	5.1	5.7	5.8	5.6	5.6		
(B)	H&E	Myosin	AE1/AE3	Lubrication	0–6	4.8	5.7	5.7	5.7	5.5
Control				Orgasm	0-6	5.6	6	5.6	6	5.8
				Satisfaction	0.8–6	5.6	6	5.6	6	5.8
				Pain (absesnce)	0–6	5.6	6	5.6	6	5.8
Latest analyses after surgery		No.		Full scale score	2–36	31.5	35.4	33.7	35.3	34.0
				Average domain score		5.3	5.9	5.6	5.9	5.7

FIGURE 70.2 Tissue engineered autologous vaginal organs. (A) Preoperative and postoperative magnetic resonance images (*blue arrow* indicates the absence of a vaginal cavity and *blue box* shows an engineered vaginal organ). (B) Histological results of engineered vaginal segment biopsy samples at the latest yearly analyses after surgery (up to 8 years) showed a trilayered structure consisting of vaginal tissue with an epithelial cell-lined lumen surrounded by submucosa and muscle. Immunohistochemistry confirmed phenotypically normal smooth muscle and epithelia (control sample of normal vaginal tissue obtained from vaginal surgical discard specimen). (C) Female Sexual Function Index assessment showed variables within the normal range, as determined by the control subject values of the validated self-report instrument in all six separate domains measured such as desire, arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, and painless intercourse. *H&E*, hematoxylin-eosin. AE1/AE3, pancytokeratin. Scale bar: 25µm. *Adapted from Raya-Rivera AM, Esquiliano D, Fierro-Pastrana R, Lopez-Bayghen E, Valencia P, Ordorica-Flores R, et al. Tissue-engineered autologous vaginal organs in patients: a pilot cohort study. Lancet July 26, 2014;384(9940):329–36. PubMed PMID: 24726478. Epub 2014/04/15. eng, with permission from Elsevier.* 

reported a 12-month follow-up study in 23 women with MRKHS who underwent neovaginoplasty using the same approach [28]. At 3 months after surgery, neovaginal biopsies showed vaginal-like tissue, and at 12 months, all patients had satisfactory sexual quality of life.

Although the clinical experience to date is promising and provides a compelling demonstration of safety and feasibility, the technology for creating human functional autologous engineered vaginas is not yet ready for wide application and this procedure is still considered experimental.

#### THE UTERUS

The uterus is the largest organ of the female reproductive system. It has an inverted pear shape and is anatomically divided into the uterine body or fundus (upper part) connected on each side to the fallopian tubes and the lower segment where the cervix opens into the vaginal cavity. The average dimensions of the normally developed adult uterus are approximately 8 cm long, 5 cm wide (upper part), and 3 cm thick. Its histological elements include the inner layer called endometrium composed of luminal and glandular epithelium surrounded by stroma; the myometrium, consisting of oriented layers of smooth muscle cells; and the perimetrium, the serosa that envelops the organ.

The uterus has complex vascular, contractile, and immune systems that together, in response to cyclic ovarian hormonal cues, support sperm migration, embryo implantation, fetal nourishment throughout gestation, and intense contractions during childbirth [29]. The endometrium undergoes approximately 400 cycles of controlled cellular proliferation, differentiation, angiogenesis, breakdown, and shedding of the basal layer throughout a woman's reproductive life [30]. In addition, a dramatic process of uterine cell differentiation, hypertrophy, and hyperplasia occurs during pregnancy, increasing the uterus weight up to 10 times; and by 4–5 weeks postpartum it returns to nongravid weight [31]. Based on this dynamic tissue remodeling, evidence for the existence of adult progenitor/stem cells in the human uterus has been reported [32,33]. Abnormal endometrial progenitor/stem cell function and disruption of their surrounding niche may be associated with proliferative diseases such as endometriosis and endometrial cancer as well as inappropriate tissue remodeling, which can potentially affect embryo implantation and fetal development [34].

Despite the advancement in minimally invasive surgical procedures, hormonal therapies, and assisted reproductive technologies, congenital and acquired uterine disorders remain a contributor to infertility in approximately 2–8% of woman of reproductive age [12,35].

Gestational surrogacy is an available option to achieve genetic motherhood; however, it involves complex legal issues and is still not approved in many countries [36–38]. Human allogeneic uterus transplantation has been proposed, and it proves to be feasible and successful in terms of pregnancy. However, this approach raises concerns regarding donor shortage and adverse effects of immunosuppression [39,40].

The development of regenerative medicine strategies aims to restore, enhance, and maintain normal uterine function.

#### Uterine Tissue Regeneration

Initial experiments using synthetic polymer-based grafts to regenerate a section of a rat uterus showed that 6 weeks after implantation, nonabsorbable polytetrafluoroethylene (Teflon) elicits an intense local inflammatory response, leading to severe adhesions, obstruction, and poor tissue ingrowth; whereas endometrium-like tissue ingrowth was observed within biodegradable polyetherurethane/poly-L-lactide grafts, but they failed to provide luminal patency [41].

We investigated the possibility of engineering autologous uterine tissue using a biodegradable synthetic polymer seeded with primary cells [42,43]. Endometrium and myometrium cells were isolated from rabbit uterine horns and expanded in vitro separately. These cells were seeded in a stepwise fashion on the surface and lumen of preconfigured uterine-shape scaffolds formed from polyglycolic acid coated with poly-DL-lactide-*co*-glycolide (PLGA) in chloroform (5% w/v), which were then used to replace a sub-total excised horn (mesometrium was retained) in animals from which the cells derived. Six months after cell-seeded construct implantation, the neouterine tissue showed organized cellular and anatomical structures as well as expression of specific markers for epithelial, stroma, and smooth muscle cells. Breeding studies to assess in vivo functional responses of the engineered uterine tissue are being conducted.

#### THE UTERUS

In another study, Campbell et al. [44] used the peritoneal cavity as an in vivo bioreactor to produce an autologous graft. Tubular boiled blood clot templates of  $2.5 \times 0.5$  cm were implanted into the peritoneal cavity of rats. After 2 weeks, the encapsulated myofibroblast-rich tissue resulting from foreign body response was harvested and used to replace approximately one-third of one uterine horn of the host animal. At 12 weeks, the grafted tissue developed organized morphology with luminal and glandular epithelium, and two distinct layers of smooth muscle bundles interspersed with collagen, resembling native tissue. The researchers reported that grafted uterine horns supported embryo implantation and fetal development to the late stages of gestation, with reproductive outcomes comparable to normal controls.

Allogeneic extracellular matrices have also been tested as biological scaffolds alone, cell-seeded scaffolds, or growth factor delivery vehicle. Ansari et al. [45] replaced a segment of the rabbit uterine horn with a specially prepared human umbilical vein. At 6 months after implantation, there was no evidence of host rejection; the luminal surface of the graft showed epithelial reorganization but there was minimal myometrial ingrowth. In another study, Taveau et al. [46] tested the ability of different lengths (0.5–2 cm) of porcine SIS membranes to regenerate a segment of a rabbit uterine horn. Approximately 8 weeks after surgery, histological analysis showed tissue ingrowth of all layers within SIS grafts but disorganized myometrium architecture. The authors examined tissue functionality by naturally mating animals 28 days after the surgical procedure. They reported that the ability to maintain luminal patency and support pregnancy was limited to the size of the grafts. Longer grafts did not provide enough mechanical strength and collapsed.

In another study, bovine skin-derived collagen membranes loaded with collagen-binding human basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) were used as scaffolds in a rat model [47]. A section of the uterine horn was removed (approximately 1.5 cm in length and up to two-thirds in circumference) and replaced by  $1.5 \times 0.5$  cm collagen membranes. At 90 days after surgical implantation, the bFGF delivery system enhanced vascularization, improved tissue ingrowth, with luminal and glandular epithelium development and partially organized muscle bundles, and supported pregnancy.

Ding et al. [50] investigated the effects of collagen membranes loaded with donor rat bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) in a murine model of severe uterine injury. They used isolated CD29<sup>+</sup>, CD44<sup>+</sup>, CD90<sup>+</sup>, CD34<sup>-</sup>, and CD45<sup>-</sup> BM-MSCs that displayed multilineage mesodermal differentiation. Collagen scaffolds ( $1.5 \times 0.5$  cm) were seeded with labeled BM-MSC suspension ( $5 \times 10^5$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> scaffold) and incubated for 1–3 h before being engrafted in a partially removed uterine horn. At 4 weeks after surgery, BM-MSCs were mostly located at the basal layer of the remodeled endometrium and the perigraft tissue expressed higher levels of bFGF, insulin-like growth factor-1, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 compared with the collagen membrane-only group. At 90 days, neotissue showed increased blood vessel density and organized endometrium and myometrium structures, and supported embryo implantation and viable offspring with comparable size and weight to those from normal uterine tissue.

The application of decellularization techniques has been explored to create naturally-derived matrices for uterine tissue reconstruction. As an initial step, Santoso et al. [48] described different protocols to decellularize rat uterine tissue patches using sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), high hydrostatic pressure (HHP), or Triton-X at optimized conditions; and examined matrices' effects on in vivo uterine tissue regeneration. Histological results indicated efficiency upon cell removal and minimal changes in the overall matrix structure using SDS and HHP protocols whereas at the conditions used, Triton-X severely reduced collagen and elastin content within the matrix. At 30 days after the transplantation of  $15 \times 5$ -mm decellularized scaffolds into rat uteri, all uterine tissue layers were observed within the grafts, which were able to support pregnancy in both SDS and HHP groups.

Vascular perfusion technique using Triton X-100, dimethyl sulfoxide, and sodium deoxycholate has also been applied to create whole uterus scaffolds for tissue regeneration [49]. Miyazaki et al. [51] attempted to repopulate a whole rat decellularized uterine matrix injecting  $5.1 \times 10^7$  neonatal uterine cells,  $2.7 \times 10^7$  adult uterine cells, and  $1.0 \times 10^6$  rat BM-MSCs in the uterine wall. After 3 days of incubation in a perfusion system, an endometrium-like tissue formation was observed, although cells were not evenly distributed within the matrix. When recellularized grafts measuring  $1.5 \times 0.5$  cm were implanted in a partially excised rat uterine horn, uterine tissue ingrowth was noticed within the grafts and pregnancy outcomes were reported to be nearly comparable to animals with an intact uterus.

In another study, Hellström et al. [52] isolated and expanded donor primary heterogeneous uterine cells and mixed them with rat green fluorescent protein (GFP)-labeled MSCs to recellularize whole-rat uterus matrices. Patches of  $2 \times 0.5$  cm were seeded through multiple injections of a cell mix (one primary uterine cell per 150

#### 70. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

GFP-MSCs) and incubated for 72 h. In vitro analysis of recellularized scaffolds revealed limited cell distribution mainly restricted to the matrices' external surface. Recellularized patches of  $5 \times 10$  mm were grafted in full-thickness excised uterine horns and animals were mated 6 weeks later. Uterine-like tissue ingrowth was described within the grafts, mainly from host cells (labeled GFP-MSCs could not be found in the transplanted construct), and remodeled uterine horns supported pregnancy and fetal development, although embryo implantation did not occur directly over the patches.

Autologous stem cell therapies targeting endometrial disorders such as severe intrauterine adhesions (Asherman syndrome) have been proposed and ultimately investigated in patients [53–55]. Santamaria et al. [55] conducted a pilot study in 16 women (aged 30–45 years) with refractory Asherman syndrome and endometrial atrophy. Patients received granulocyte–colony-stimulating factor infusion to mobilize BM-MSCs, and then CD 133<sup>+</sup> cells (endothelial progenitor cell markers) were isolated from the peripheral blood. These freshly isolated cells were delivered (an average of 124.39 million cells) into the spiral arterioles via intrauterine arterial catheterization. After autologous BM-MSC injection, patients received hormonal therapy and endometrium functionality was assessed. The authors reported increased endometrial vascularization and menses intensity and duration in the first 3 months after treatment. Pregnancies were achieved spontaneously and through in vitro fertilization, with two live births of healthy babies at term after cell therapy.

#### Uterine Cervix Tissue Engineering

The cervix has important mechanical and protective roles during pregnancy and undergoes significant remodeling during parturition. An impaired uterine cervix can result in preterm birth, which is associated with significant perinatal complications. House et al. [56] demonstrated that tissue engineering strategies can be applied to create three-dimensional (3D) cervical-like tissue constructs by seeding human cervical cells on silk sponge scaffolds. Stromal cells were isolated from premenopausal women's cervical canal biopsies, seeded on a collagen-coated porous silk protein scaffold, and cultured under either static or dynamic conditions. After 8 weeks, cervical cells proliferated on a silk-based scaffold and synthesized an extracellular matrix with biochemical constituents and morphology that resembled native tissue. The dynamic culture condition was associated with significantly increased collagen deposition, glycosaminoglycan synthesis, and mechanical stiffness. These results suggest that human tissue engineered cervical-like constructs could be applied as an in vitro system to investigate cervical remodeling.

#### THE OVARIES

The ovaries lie on each side of the lateral pelvic wall and are connected to the uterus by the fallopian tubes [57]. The ovarian follicle is the functional unit of the ovary and is composed of an oocyte (germ cell) surrounded by layers of somatic follicular cells (granulosa and theca cells) and a basement membrane. At birth, the ovarian cortex contains a pool of primordial follicles formed during embryonic life that determines a finite reproductive life span [58]. Between puberty and menopause, hormonal signals recruit dormant primordial follicles, initiating a highly regulated process called folliculogenesis. Activated follicles increase in size over a period of weeks regulated by both endocrine and intraovarian mechanisms [59]. During folliculogenesis, granulosa cells proliferate and differentiate in several layers around the oocyte, theca cells differentiate into theca interna (androgen-secreting cells) and externa (connective tissue), and a fluid-filled cavity (antrum) is formed. At this stage, follicle growth and development rely on pituitary gonadotropins (follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone). Gap junctions are formed between cells, facilitating communication between granulosa cells and the enclosed oocyte, which is essential for the maturation and release of an egg capable of fertilization.

At each reproductive cycle, ovarian follicles synthesize hormones (sex steroids and peptides) and a subset of dominant follicles that reach maturation and ovulation will undergo terminal differentiation and form the corpus luteum, which secretes progesterone, a hormone necessary to maintain pregnancy.

Systemically, ovarian hormones have a fundamental role in preparing the uterus for embryo implantation, mammary gland development, sexual function, skeletal growth, and bone homeostasis [60].

At the onset of menopause, a natural and permanent cessation of ovulation occurs, and the suppression of sex steroid hormones production may lead to vasomotor symptoms, sleep disturbances, urogenital problems, osteoporosis, and sexual dysfunction. Pathological loss of ovarian function may occur due to surgical resection, early menopause, or ovarian failure in cancer-treated patients, impairing fertility and leading to an increased risk for cardiovascular diseases and osteoporosis.

In the attempt to restore ovarian physiological roles as a gonad and endocrine gland, several approaches applying regenerative medicine principles have been explored.

#### **Tissue Engineered Ovarian Follicles**

Human ovarian tissue banking has been proposed as an alternative to preserve fertility and future endocrine function in young women undergoing sterilizing chemotherapy or radiation [61]. Immature follicles have the greatest potential to be preserved and recovered from the freeze-thawing process [62]. However, after cryopreserved ovarian tissue transplantation, the onset of revascularization can take up to 5 days, and ischemia-reperfusion damage may induce graft follicle depletion [63]. Shikanov et al. [64] developed a delivery system combining hydrogels and angiogenic factors to enhance ovarian graft survival in mice. The ovarian cortical tissue was cryopreserved, thawed, and encapsulated in fibrin hydrogel modified with heparin-binding peptide (to provide a controlled release of heparin binding growth factors) loaded with VEGF. The encapsulated tissue was then transplanted into the ovarian bursal cavity. Results indicated that the delivery strategy enhanced graft vascularization, improved survival of primordial follicles, and enabled natural conception and live births.

When autologous transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue carries the risk for reintroducing malignant cells into the patient, strategies for in vitro maturation of early-stage follicle have the potential to provide an additional option to preserve and restore fertility. Several in vitro culture methods for the follicle-enclosed oocyte maturation have been successfully investigated in mice and large animal species. However, the translation into human follicles has been challenged by their greater diametric sizes, creating the need for extended culture time [65,66]. Culture of early-stage human ovarian follicles in 2D systems has been associated with spatial disruption of cells, because the portion of the follicle that is in contact with the culture substrate attaches to the surface and granulosa cells migrate away from the oocyte, leading to flattened follicles [67–70]. To address 2D-related limitations, 3D culture systems have been developed to recapitulate the biological architecture of ovarian follicles and provide an environment that supports follicle growth and maturation [71,72]. Pangas et al. [73] pioneered the use of alginate as a hydrogel for in vitro culturing individual immature ovarian follicles in a mice model. Alginate is a naturally occurring polysaccharide, typically extracted from brown algae, and one of the most commonly used biomaterials for encapsulation owing to its biocompatibility, low toxicity, low cost, biomechanical properties, and ability to form gel in the presence of calcium ions [74,75]. Studies using alginate-based encapsulation techniques have demonstrated a preserved in vivo-like spherical follicle morphology and communication between the somatic and germ cells, creating a microenvironment that favors normal folliculogenesis and proper steroidogenesis [72,76–79]. Xiao et al. [80] described a two-step follicle culture method that supports human oocyte maturation. In the first step, secondary follicles were mechanically isolated from the patients' ovaries and encapsulated individually in 0.5% alginate hydrogels. The beads were cultured in 96-well plates; once the follicles reached the antral stage (400–500 µm), they were released and transferred to low-attachment plates and then cultured for up to 30–40 days. This two-step strategy aimed to recapitulate the dynamics of in vivo ovarian folliculogenesis, in which immature follicles gradually move from the rigid cortex zone to the less dense perimedullary region. The authors reported the development of fertilizable metaphase II oocytes using this in vitro maturation approach.

In another study, Krotz et al. [81] created a self-assembled artificial human ovary to mature early antral oocytes. Theca cells isolated from antral follicles of reproductive-aged women were seeded into agarose molds to form a honeycomb structure. Granulosa cell spheroids or cumulus—oophorus complexes (COC) were then placed in the honeycomb openings and the constructs were cocultured for up to 7 days. At 72 h, theca cells surrounded the COC, resulting in self-assembled microtissues that supported oocyte maturation.

Cell encapsulation techniques have also been investigated as a potential cell-based hormone therapy for menopausal symptoms. This delivery system aims to reduce unwanted side effects of hormone replacement therapy by providing an endogenous pulsatile hormone release regulated by the hypothalamus—pituitary—gonad axis. Ideally, the microcapsules should be biocompatible, provide a barrier between the allogeneic ovarian cells and the recipient to prevent immune rejection, and promote long-term cell survival. Sittadjody et al. [82] developed an engineered multilayer ovarian tissue that secretes ovarian hormones in vitro in response to follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone (Fig. 70.3). Ovarian cells were isolated from immature rats and encapsulated in alginate hydrogel as a multilayer construct that recapitulates native follicular architecture. Using a microfluidic device, poly-L-ornithine—coated microcapsules containing granulosa cells were mixed with theca cells and

70. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM



**FIGURE 70.3** Encapsulation approach for reconstructing ovarian endocrine tissue: (A) Schematic diagram of a native ovarian follicle. (B) Multilayered alginate microcapsule design to mimic native follicular structure. (C) Three-dimensional (3D) confocal image of microcapsules demonstrating compartmentalization of different cells and distribution of CellTracker green-labeled cells (granulosa) in the inner layer and CellTracker orange-labeled cells (theca) in the outer layer. (D) Outline of the study demonstrating the cocultured/coencapsulated/multilayer microcapsules as the three approaches used. (E) Sustained  $E_2$  and (F)  $P_4$  secretion by granulosa and theca cells encapsulated using three different schemes. In contrast to 2D cultures,  $E_2$  levels are maintained or increased with time and the presence of both GC and TC (through Schemes 1 and 2, or 3) led to increased levels of  $E_2$  production compared with GC or TC alone. Multilayer cultures led to significantly increased levels of  $E_2$  production. Each data point represents the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean of six values (three wells per group assayed in duplicates). \*Denotes statistical significance at P < .05 compared with granulosa and/or theca cells alone. The figures represent data from one of two separate experiments.  $E_2$ ,  $17\beta$ -estradiol; *GC*, granulosa cells; *OC*, oocyte; *PLO*, poly-L-ornithine;  $P_4$ , progesterone; *TC*, theca cells. *Adapted from Yalcinkaya et al. Yalcinkaya TM*, *Sittadjody S*, *Opara EC*. *Scientific principles of regenerative medicine and their application in the female reproductive system. Maturitas January 2014;77(1):12–9*. *PubMed PMID*: 24210634, with permission from Elsevier.

suspended in 1.5% alginate to be encapsulated. Multilayered constructs were cultured in the presence of gonadotropins and showed sustained secretion of sex steroids and peptide hormones over 30 days.

Microencapsulated ovarian cells have been reported to secret steroid hormones in vivo. Gou et al. [84] implanted approximately  $2 \times 10^6$  microencapsulated allogeneic ovarian cells in the abdominal cavity of ovariectomized mice. Ninety days after transplantation, cells within the microcapsules survived and maintained the balance of bone absorption and formation by secreting estrogen continuously. Similarly, Liu et al. [85] co-microencapsulated granulosa and theca cells in alginate—chitosan—alginate and transplanted them into ovariectomized rats. Animals exhibited normal serum levels of estradiol and progesterone for 60 days and most of the retrieved microcapsules remained intact.

## **Regenerating Ovarian Tissue From Stem Cells**

Studies in reproductive biology have challenged the belief that most female mammals are born with a finite number of oocytes that are incapable of postnatal renewal. The existence of germline stem cells (GSCs) in the juvenile

#### OTHER TISSUE ENGINEERING APPLICATIONS IN THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

and adult mouse ovary was first postulated by Johnson et al. [86]. During an investigation of follicular atresia, a series of experiments revealed that based on the oocyte degeneration and clearance rates, proliferative germ cells are needed to support the animals' reproductive life span. The researchers identified a group of large ovoid cells in the surface epithelium of the ovary that immunostained positive for the specific germline marker mouse Vasa homolog (MVH) and incorporated 5-bromodeoxyuridine, thus confirming their proliferative potential. Furthermore, the MVH-positive cells expressed genes involved in the initiation of meiosis (synaptonemal complex protein 3). Finally, ovarian tissue from wild-type mice grafted into ovaries of mice with ubiquitous expression of GFP, contained GFP-positive germ cells surrounded by wild-type granulosa cells, indicating that proliferative germ cells sustain oocyte and follicle production in the postnatal mammalian ovary [86].

A study conducted by Zou et al. [87] made a major breakthrough claiming that postnatal mouse ovaries retain the capacity for oogenesis. Using a cell-sorting approach, GSCs, also referred as oogonial stem cells (OSCs), were isolated from the cortical layer of neonatal and adult mouse ovaries and cultured for long term. After being infected with GFP virus, these cells were transplanted into ovaries of infertile mice; and results indicated they underwent oogenesis and produced live GFP-positive offspring. In a subsequent study, White et al. [88] refined a fluorescence-activated cell-sorting protocol to isolate OSCs from mice ovaries and applied the same strategy into cryopreserved ovarian tissue from reproductive-aged women. Using an antibody against DEAD-box polypeptide 4 (the human ortholog gene of MVH), rare mitotically active cells were purified from human ovarian cortical tissue. These cells showed primitive germline profile, in vitro growth properties, and were able to generate oocytes in vitro and in vivo after xenotransplantation into immunodeficient female mice.

Nevertheless, the potential clinical relevance of the human equivalent of mouse OSC findings should be further explored because the incidence of OSCs in young adult mice ovaries is estimated to be extremely low, approximately 0.014% of all ovarian cells [88].

Extraovarian sources have been used to obtain germ-like cells including the bone marrow [89], fetal and newborn skin [90,91], mesenchymal cells [92], embryonic stem cells (ESCs), and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) [93,94].

Hayashi's group achieved major progress in reproductive biology, reprogramming murine ESCs and iPSCs into fully functional oocytes in vitro [94]. Previously, Hayashi et al. [93] reported the ability to differentiate murine ESCs and iPSCs into primordial germ cell-like cells (PGCLCs) that can develop into functional oocytes when transplanted into immunocompromised female mice. After in vitro maturation and fertilization, these PGCLCs-derived oocytes contributed to fertile offspring [93]. In addition, a stepwise culture system was used to reconstitute in vitro the entire cycle of the mouse female germ line [94]. Starting with either ESCs or iPSCs, the expression of several genes was induced to create PGCLCs, which were then mixed with female gonadal somatic cells obtained from embryos to support germ cell in vitro development into mature oocytes. An in vitro fertilization protocol was used to test the oo-cytes' functionality, and the resulting embryos were transferred into surrogate females. The authors reported that only 3.5% of two-cell embryos derived from laboratory-grown oocytes resulted in viable offspring, which was much lower than that from in vivo–generated oocytes (61.7%), and the pups were healthy and grew into fertile adults. This culture technique may provide a platform to study molecular and cellular mechanisms of oogenesis of other mammalian species, including humans.

# OTHER TISSUE ENGINEERING APPLICATIONS IN THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

#### Pelvic Organ Prolapse

Pelvic organ prolapse (POP) is the abnormal descent of organs such as the uterus, bladder, urethra, intestine, and vagina that occurs when the pelvic floor supporting ligaments and muscles weakens. The estimated prevalence is approximately 30–40% of all women; pregnancy, aging, obesity, and genetic predisposition are the main risk factors. Commonly, these women experience symptoms of bladder, bowel, and sexual dysfunction that negatively affect their quality of life [95]. Surgical treatment options for POP involve reconstructive procedures with native tissue and/or the use of synthetic meshes to support the pelvic structural defect. However, mesh-related complications such as infection, mesh exposure, perforation, chronic inflammation, mesh shrinkage [96], and the lifetime risk for repeated surgeries [97] has led scientists to develop engineered grafts to enhance pelvic floor support and provide a more durable treatment. Hung et al. [98] engineered a fascia equivalent from isolated human vaginal fibroblasts. Full-thickness vaginal biopsies were taken from symptomatic POP patients and cells with high collagen I/III ratios were used for in vivo experiments, because they expressed greater proliferation potential. Vaginal fibroblasts were labeled with dialkylcarbocyanine fluorescent solution, suspended in collagen gel, and seeded

into biodegradable PLGA scaffolds. Fascia constructs were incubated in vitro for 5 days and implanted into immunodeficient mice subcutaneously. At 12 weeks after the surgical procedure, histological analysis of the grafts revealed the presence of labeled cells within a well-organized tissue formation, with an abundant collagen component, whereas poor tissue ingrowth was observed in the nonseeded collagen gel-coated PLGA grafts.

The use of cells derived from prolapsed vaginal tissues may not be ideal though; as they have shown altered in vitro characteristics including delayed fibroblast-mediated collagen contraction and lower production of collagen synthesizing enzymes compared with nonprolapsed tissue [99].

As an alternative autologous cell source, human endometrial mesenchymal stem cells (eMSCs) have been investigated in tissue engineering approaches for POP repair. Previously, human endometrial eMSCs were identified in a perivascular location in the human endometrium; characterized as multipotent, highly proliferative, and self-renewing stromal stem cells; and isolated using CD146, platelet-derived growth factor receptor- $\beta$ , and sushi domain containing-2 (SUSD2) markers [33]. Using a xenogeneic model, Ulrich et al. [100] investigated the in vivo tissue responses and mechanical behavior of a novel nondegradable scaffold seeded with human eMSCs. In that study, SUSD2-enriched human eMSCs were labeled and seeded into a 10 × 25-mm polyamide mesh coated with 12% porcine gelatin at a density of 250,000 cells/mesh. According to the authors, polyamide mesh has biomechanical properties comparable to those of vaginal tissue. After 48 h of incubation, the constructs were implanted into the dorsum of immunodeficient rats and assessed at different time points up to 90 days. The cell-seeded mesh showed enhanced vascularization at day 7 after implantation; and at 90 days, results reveled a mild chronic inflammatory response, improved tissue organization, and minimal fibrosis around the seeded graft, which provided higher extensibility compared with nonseeded meshes. In addition, the organized collagen deposition was identified as being of rat origin, not human, which suggested that eMSCs exert a paracrine effect over the long term.

Future preclinical studies using clinically relevant models that represent a woman's pelvic tissue environment would be necessary to evaluate the efficacy and adverse effects of tissue engineered grafts for pelvic reconstructive surgery [101].

# CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE TRENDS

A successful pilot study of autologous engineered vaginal organs, with up to 8 years' follow-up, supports the potential of regenerative medicine technologies for treating female genital organs disorders. However, clinical trials involving a large number of patients are required to ensure that the most innovative therapies are as safe and effective as possible.

Advances have been made with engineering uterine tissue in preclinical models, but additional studies of biomaterials that produce adequately vascularized uterine tissue should be performed in systems that mimic the complex architecture and plasticity of the human uterus. In addition, important findings regarding the identification of human eMSCs with capabilities similar to those of BM-MSCs make the uterus an attractive source of stem cells that should be further explored for autologous cells therapy and tissue engineering applications.

Regenerative medicine principles have also been used to reconstitute the entire process of oogenesis in vitro and to engineer functional ovarian follicles, which represents a major achievement in reproductive biology. Nevertheless, challenges remain regarding the optimization of these in vitro culture systems for human gonadal cells.

Finally, the future of regenerative medicine applications for the human female reproductive system will rely on better understanding organogenesis and the complex physiological mechanisms of these organs to achieve the ultimate potential of these technologies.

#### References

- Blecher SR, Erickson RP. Genetics of sexual development: a new paradigm. Am J Med Genet December 15, 2007;143A(24):3054–68. Epub 2007/11/15. eng, 18000910.
- [2] Gilbert SF. Developmental biology. 6th ed. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; 2000.
- [3] Ewen KA, Koopman P. Mouse germ cell development: from specification to sex determination. Mol Cell Endocrinol July 8, 2010;323(1): 76–93. Epub 2009/12/29. Eng, 20036311.
- [4] The American Fertility Society classifications of adnexal adhesions, distal tubal occlusion, tubal occlusion secondary to tubal ligation, tubal pregnancies, mullerian anomalies and intrauterine adhesions. Fertil Steril June 1988;49(6):944–55. PMID: 3371491. Epub 1988/06/01. eng.
- [5] Oppelt P, Renner SP, Brucker S, Strissel PL, Strick R, Oppelt PG, et al. The VCUAM (Vagina cervix uterus adnex-associated malformation) classification: a new classification for genital malformations. Fertil Steril November 2005;84(5):1493–7. PMID: WOS:000233365500033. English.
- [6] Acien P, Acien MI. The history of female genital tract malformation classifications and proposal of an updated system. Hum Reprod Update September-October;17(5):693–705. 21727142.

- [7] Grimbizis GF, Gordts S, Di Spiezio Sardo A, Brucker S, De Angelis C, Gergolet M, et al. The ESHRE-ESGE consensus on the classification of female genital tract congenital anomalies. Gynecol Surg August 2013;10(3):199–212. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3718988. Epub 2013/07/ 31. Eng, 23894234.
- [8] Folch M, Pigem I, Konje JC. Mullerian agenesis: etiology, diagnosis, and management. Obstet Gynecol Surv October 2000;55(10):644–9. Epub 2000/10/07. eng, 11023205.
- [9] Aittomaki K, Eroila H, Kajanoja P. A population-based study of the incidence of Mullerian aplasia in Finland. Fertil Steril September 2001; 76(3):624–5. Epub 2001/09/26. eng, 11570363.
- [10] Morcel K, Camborieux L, Guerrier D. Mayer-Rokitansky-Kuster-Hauser (MRKH) syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2007;2:13. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC1832178. Epub 2007/03/16. eng, 17359527.
- [11] Rackow BW, Arici A. Reproductive performance of women with mullerian anomalies. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol June 2007;19(3):229–37. Epub 2007/05/15. eng, 17495638.
- [12] Chan YY, Jayaprakasan K, Tan A, Thornton JG, Coomarasamy A, Raine-Fenning NJ. Reproductive outcomes in women with congenital uterine anomalies: a systematic review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol October 2011;38(4):371–82. 21830244.
- [13] Abrao MS, Muzii L, Marana R. Anatomical causes of female infertility and their management. Int J Gynaecol Obstet December 2013; 123(Suppl. 2):S18–24. Epub 2013/10/15. eng, 24119894.
- [14] Atala A, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Engineering complex tissues. Sci Transl Med November 14, 2012;4(160):160rv12. 23152327.
- [15] Mikos AG, Herring SW, Ochareon P, Elisseeff J, Lu HH, Kandel R, et al. Engineering complex tissues. Tissue Eng December 2006;12(12): 3307–39. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2821210, 17518671.
- [16] Murphy SV, Atala A. Organ engineering-combining stem cells, biomaterials, and bioreactors to produce bioengineered organs for transplantation. Bioessays March 2013;35(3):163–72. 22996568.
- [17] Williams DF. There is no such thing as a biocompatible material. Biomaterials December 2014;35(38):10009-14. Epub 2014/09/30. eng, 25263686.
- [18] Smith SB, Ravel J. The vaginal microbiota, host defence and reproductive physiology. J Physiol March 8, 2016;595. Epub 2016/07/05. Eng, 27373840.
- [19] D'Amati G, di Gioia CR, Proietti Pannunzi L, Pistilli D, Carosa E, Lenzi A, et al. Functional anatomy of the human vagina. J Endocrinol Invest 2003;26(3 Suppl.):92–6. Epub 2003/07/02. eng, 12834030.
- [20] Hecker BR, McGuire LS. Psychosocial function in women treated for vaginal agenesis. Am J Obstet Gynecol November 1, 1977;129(5):543–7. PMID: 910843.
- [21] American College of O, Gynecology. ACOG committee opinion. Nonsurgical diagnosis and management of vaginal agenesis. Number 274, July 2002. Committee on Adolescent Health Care. American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Int J Gynaecol Obstet November 2002; 79(2):167–70. 12481754.
- [22] Callens N, De Cuypere G, De Sutter P, Monstrey S, Weyers S, Hoebeke P, et al. An update on surgical and non-surgical treatments for vaginal hypoplasia. Hum Reprod Update Sepember-October;20(5):775–801. Epub 2014/06/06. eng, 24899229.
- [23] Dorin RP, Atala A, Defilippo RE. Bioengineering a vaginal replacement using a small biopsy of autologous tissue. Semin Reprod Med January 2011;29(1):38–44. 21207333.
- [24] De Filippo RE, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Engineering of vaginal tissue in vivo. Tissue Eng April 2003;9(2):301-6. Epub 2003/05/13. eng, 12740092.
- [25] De Filippo RE, Bishop CE, Filho LF, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Tissue engineering a complete vaginal replacement from a small biopsy of autologous tissue. Transplantation July 27, 2008;86(2):208–14. 18645481.
- [26] Raya-Rivera AM, Esquiliano D, Fierro-Pastrana R, Lopez-Bayghen E, Valencia P, Ordorica-Flores R, et al. Tissue-engineered autologous vaginal organs in patients: a pilot cohort study. Lancet July 26, 2014;384(9940):329–36. Epub 2014/04/15. eng, 24726478.
- [27] Panici PB, Bellati F, Boni T, Francescangeli F, Frati L, Marchese C. Vaginoplasty using autologous in vitro cultured vaginal tissue in a patient with Mayer-von-Rokitansky-Kuster-Hauser syndrome. Hum Reprod July 2007;22(7):2025–8. Epub 2007/04/24. eng, 17449879.
- [28] Benedetti Panici P, Maffucci D, Ceccarelli S, Vescarelli E, Perniola G, Muzii L, et al. Autologous in vitro cultured vaginal tissue for vaginoplasty in women with Mayer-Rokitansky-Kuster-Hauser syndrome: anatomic and functional results. J Minim Invasive Gynecol February 2015;22(2):205–11. Epub 2014/10/07. eng, 25283707.
- [29] Taylor E, Gomel V. The uterus and fertility. Fertil Steril January 2008;89(1):1–16. 18155200.
- [30] Jabbour HN, Kelly RW, Fraser HM, Critchley HO. Endocrine regulation of menstruation. Endocr Rev February 2006;27(1):17–46. Epub 2005/09/15. eng, 16160098.
- [31] Teixeira J, Rueda BR, Pru JK. Uterine stem cells. Cambridge (MA): StemBook; 2008.
- [32] Maruyama T, Miyazaki K, Masuda H, Ono M, Uchida H, Yoshimura Y. Review: human uterine stem/progenitor cells: implications for uterine physiology and pathology. Placenta March 2013;34(Suppl.):S68–72. Epub 2013/01/22. eng, 23332213.
- [33] Gargett CE, Schwab KE, Deane JA. Endometrial stem/progenitor cells: the first 10 years. Hum Reprod Update March-April;22(2):137–63. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4755439. Epub 2015/11/11. Eng, 26552890.
- [34] Gargett CE, Chan RW, Schwab KE. Hormone and growth factor signaling in endometrial renewal: role of stem/progenitor cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol June 25, 2008;288(1–2):22–9. Epub 2008/04/12. eng, 18403104.
- [35] Sunderam S, Kissin DM, Crawford SB, Folger SG, Jamieson DJ, Warner L, et al. Assisted reproductive technology surveillance United States, 2012. Surveillance summaries (Washington, DC : 2002) Morb Mortal Wkly Rep August 14, 2015;64(6):1–29. Epub 2015/08/14. eng, 26270152.
- [36] Brinsden PR. Gestational surrogacy. Hum Reprod Update September-October;9(5):483-91. Epub 2003/12/03. eng, 14640380.
- [37] Dar S, Lazer T, Swanson S, Silverman J, Wasser C, Moskovtsev SI, et al. Assisted reproduction involving gestational surrogacy: an analysis of the medical, psychosocial and legal issues: experience from a large surrogacy program. Hum Reprod February 2015;30(2):345–52. Epub 2014/12/19. eng, 25518975.
- [38] Semba Y, Chang C, Hong H, Kamisato A, Kokado M, Muto K. Surrogacy: donor conception regulation in Japan. Bioethics September 2010; 24(7):348–57. Epub 2009/12/17. eng, 20002072.
- [39] Brannstrom M, Johannesson L, Bokstrom H, Kvarnstrom N, Molne J, Dahm-Kahler P, et al. Livebirth after uterus transplantation. Lancet February 14, 2015;385(9968):607–16. Epub 2014/10/11. eng, 25301505.

#### 70. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

- [40] Arora KS, Blake V. Uterus transplantation: ethical and regulatory challenges. J Med Ethics June 2014;40(6):396–400. Epub 2013/06/14. eng, 23760727.
- [41] Jonkman MF, Kauer FM, Nieuwenhuis P, Molenaar I. Segmental uterine horn replacement in the rat using a biodegradable microporous synthetic tube. Artif Organs December 1986;10(6):475–80. PMID: 3800704. Epub 1986/12/01. eng.
- [42] Wang TM, Gibson-Huddleston H, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Creation of an engineered uterus for surgical reconstruction. FASEB J March 4, 2005;19(4): A806-. WOS:000227610705557. English.
- [43] Atala A. Tissue engineering of reproductive tissues and organs. Fertil Steril July 2012;98(1):21-9. 22748231.
- [44] Campbell GR, Turnbull G, Xiang L, Haines M, Armstrong S, Rolfe BE, et al. The peritoneal cavity as a bioreactor for tissue engineering visceral organs: bladder, uterus and vas deferens. J Tissue Eng Regen Med January 2008;2(1):50–60. 18361481.
- [45] Ansari AH, Gould K, Turner RJ. Segmental uterine horn replacement in rabbit using umbilical vein. Obstet Gynecol December 1982;60(6): 733-7. PMID: 7145278. Epub 1982/12/01. eng.
- [46] Taveau JW, Tartaglia M, Buchannan D, Smith B, Koenig G, Thomfohrde K, et al. Regeneration of uterine horn using porcine small intestinal submucosa grafts in rabbits. J Invest Surg March-April;17(2):81–92. Epub 2004/06/19. eng, 15204714.
- [47] Li X, Sun H, Lin N, Hou X, Wang J, Zhou B, et al. Regeneration of uterine horns in rats by collagen scaffolds loaded with collagen-binding human basic fibroblast growth factor. Biomaterials November 2011;32(32):8172–81. 21821282.
- [48] Santoso EG, Yoshida K, Hirota Y, Aizawa M, Yoshino O, Kishida A, et al. Application of detergents or high hydrostatic pressure as decellularization processes in uterine tissues and their subsequent effects on in vivo uterine regeneration in murine models. PLoS One July 24, 2014;9(7). WOS:000341354800069. English.
- [49] Hellstrom M, El-Akouri RR, Sihlbom C, Olsson BM, Lengqvist J, Backdahl H, et al. Towards the development of a bioengineered uterus: comparison of different protocols for rat uterus decellularization. Acta Biomater December 2014;10(12):5034–42. 25169258.
- [50] Ding L, Li X, Sun H, Su J, Lin N, Peault B, et al. Transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells on collagen scaffolds for the functional regeneration of injured rat uterus. Biomaterials June 2014;35(18):4888–900. Epub 2014/04/01. eng, 24680661.
- [51] Miyazaki K, Maruyama T. Partial regeneration and reconstruction of the rat uterus through recellularization of a decellularized uterine matrix. Biomaterials October 2014;35(31):8791–800. 25043501.
- [52] Hellstrom M, Moreno-Moya JM, Bandstein S, Bom E, Akouri RR, Miyazaki K, et al. Bioengineered uterine tissue supports pregnancy in a rat model. Fertil Steril April 8, 2016;106. Epub 2016/04/14. Eng, 27068301.
- [53] Nagori CB, Panchal SY, Patel H. Endometrial regeneration using autologous adult stem cells followed by conception by in vitro fertilization in a patient of severe Asherman's syndrome. J Hum Reprod Sci January 2011;4(1):43–8. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3136069. Epub 2011/ 07/21. eng, 21772740.
- [54] Singh N, Mohanty S, Seth T, Shankar M, Bhaskaran S, Dharmendra S. Autologous stem cell transplantation in refractory Asherman's syndrome: a novel cell based therapy. J Hum Reprod Sci April 2014;7(2):93–8. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4150149. Epub 2014/09/06. eng, 25191021.
- [55] Santamaria X, Cabanillas S, Cervello I, Arbona C, Raga F, Ferro J, et al. Autologous cell therapy with CD133+ bone marrow-derived stem cells for refractory Asherman's syndrome and endometrial atrophy: a pilot cohort study. Hum Reprod May 2016;31(5):1087–96. Epub 2016/ 03/24. eng, 27005892.
- [56] House M, Sanchez CC, Rice WL, Socrate S, Kaplan DL. Cervical tissue engineering using silk scaffolds and human cervical cells. Tissue Eng June 2010;16(6):2101–12. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2949265, 20121593.
- [57] Standring S. Gray's anatomy: the anatomical basis of clinical practice. 41st ed. New York: Elsevier Limited; 2016.
- [58] Kerr JB, Myers M, Anderson RA. The dynamics of the primordial follicle reserve. Reproduction December 2013;146(6):R205–15. Epub 2013/ 08/10. eng, 23929903.
- [59] Rimon-Dahari N, Yerushalmi-Heinemann L, Alyagor L, Dekel N. Ovarian folliculogenesis. Results Probl Cell Differ 2016;58:167–90. Epub 2016/06/15. eng, 27300179.
- [60] Wierman ME. Sex steroid effects at target tissues: mechanisms of action. Adv Physiol Educ March 2007;31(1):26–33. Epub 2007/03/01. eng, 17327579.
- [61] Wallace WH, Kelsey TW, Anderson RA. Fertility preservation in pre-pubertal girls with cancer: the role of ovarian tissue cryopreservation. Fertil Steril January 2016;105(1):6–12. Epub 2015/12/18. Eng, 26674557.
- [62] Oktay K, Nugent D, Newton H, Salha O, Chatterjee P, Gosden RG. Isolation and characterization of primordial follicles from fresh and cryopreserved human ovarian tissue. Fertil Steril March 1997;67(3):481–6. PMID: 9091334. Epub 1997/03/01. Eng.
- [63] Van Eyck AS, Bouzin C, Feron O, Romeu L, Van Langendonckt A, Donnez J, et al. Both host and graft vessels contribute to revascularization of xenografted human ovarian tissue in a murine model. Fertil Steril March 15, 2010;93(5):1676–85. Epub 2009/06/23. Eng, 19539913.
- [64] Shikanov A, Zhang Z, Xu M, Smith RM, Rajan A, Woodruff TK, et al. Fibrin encapsulation and vascular endothelial growth factor delivery promotes ovarian graft survival in mice. Tissue Eng December 2011;17(23–24):3095–104. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3226061. Epub 2011/07/12. Eng, 21740332.
- [65] Spears N, Boland NI, Murray AA, Gosden RG. Mouse oocytes derived from in vitro grown primary ovarian follicles are fertile. Hum Reprod March 1994;9(3):527–32. PMID: 8006146. Epub 1994/03/01. Eng.
- [66] Hartshorne GM. In vitro culture of ovarian follicles. Rev Reprod May 1997;2(2):94-104. PMID: 9414471. Epub 1997/05/01. Eng.
- [67] Roy SK, Treacy BJ. Isolation and long-term culture of human preantral follicles. Fertil Steril April 1993;59(4):783–90. PMID: 8458497. Epub 1993/04/01. Eng.
- [68] Cortvrindt R, Smitz J, Van Steirteghem AC. In-vitro maturation, fertilization and embryo development of immature oocytes from early preantral follicles from prepuberal mice in a simplified culture system. Hum Reprod December 1996;11(12):2656–66. PMID: 9021369. Epub 1996/12/01. Eng.
- [69] Abir R, Fisch B, Nitke S, Okon E, Raz A, Ben Rafael Z. Morphological study of fully and partially isolated early human follicles. Fertil Steril January 2001;75(1):141–6. Epub 2001/02/13. Eng, 11163829.
- [70] Smitz JE, Cortvrindt RG. The earliest stages of folliculogenesis in vitro. Reproduction February 2002;123(2):185–202. Epub 2002/02/28. Eng, 11866686.

#### REFERENCES

- [71] Brito IR, Lima IM, Xu M, Shea LD, Woodruff TK, Figueiredo JR. Three-dimensional systems for in vitro follicular culture: overview of alginate-based matrices. Reprod Fertil Dev August 2014;26(7):915–30. Epub 2013/07/23. eng, 23866836.
- [72] Shea LD, Woodruff TK, Shikanov A. Bioengineering the ovarian follicle microenvironment. Annu Rev Biomed Eng July 11, 2014;16:29–52. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4231138. Epub 2014/05/23. eng, 24849592.
- [73] Pangas SA, Saudye H, Shea LD, Woodruff TK. Novel approach for the three-dimensional culture of granulosa cell-oocyte complexes. Tissue Eng October 2003;9(5):1013–21. Epub 2003/11/25. eng, 14633385.
- [74] Lee KY, Mooney DJ. Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci January 2012;37(1):106–26. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3223967. Epub 2011/11/30. Eng, 22125349.
- [75] West ER, Xu M, Woodruff TK, Shea LD. Physical properties of alginate hydrogels and their effects on in vitro follicle development. Biomaterials October 2007;28(30):4439–48. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2034204. Epub 2007/07/24. Eng, 17643486.
- [76] Xu M, Barrett SL, West-Farrell E, Kondapalli LA, Kiesewetter SE, Shea LD, et al. In vitro grown human ovarian follicles from cancer patients support oocyte growth. Hum Reprod October 2009;24(10):2531–40. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2743446. Epub 2009/07/15. Eng, 19597190.
- [77] Xu M, Kreeger PK, Shea LD, Woodruff TK. Tissue-engineered follicles produce live, fertile offspring. Tissue Eng October 2006;12(10): 2739–46. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2648391. Epub 2007/05/24. eng, 17518643.
- [78] Xu J, Lawson MS, Yeoman RR, Pau KY, Barrett SL, Zelinski MB, et al. Secondary follicle growth and oocyte maturation during encapsulated three-dimensional culture in rhesus monkeys: effects of gonadotrophins, oxygen and fetuin. Hum Reprod May 2011;26(5):1061–72. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3079470. Epub 2011/03/03. Eng, 21362681.
- [79] Yin H, Kristensen SG, Jiang H, Rasmussen A, Andersen CY. Survival and growth of isolated pre-antral follicles from human ovarian medulla tissue during long-term 3D culture. Hum Reprod July 2016;31(7):1531–9. Epub 2016/04/27. Eng, 27112699.
- [80] Xiao S, Zhang J, Romero MM, Smith KN, Shea LD, Woodruff TK. In vitro follicle growth supports human oocyte meiotic maturation. Sci Rep 2015;5:17323. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4661442. Epub 2015/11/28. eng, 26612176.
- [81] Krotz SP, Robins JC, Ferruccio TM, Moore R, Steinhoff MM, Morgan JR, et al. In vitro maturation of oocytes via the pre-fabricated self-assembled artificial human ovary. J Assist Reprod Genet December 2010;27(12):743–50. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2997950. Epub 2010/08/26. eng, 20737203.
- [82] Sittadjody S, Saul JM, Joo S, Yoo JJ, Atala A, Opara EC. Engineered multilayer ovarian tissue that secretes sex steroids and peptide hormones in response to gonadotropins. Biomaterials March 2013;34(10):2412–20. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3557586. Epub 2013/01/01. eng, 23274068.
- [83] Yalcinkaya TM, Sittadjody S, Opara EC. Scientific principles of regenerative medicine and their application in the female reproductive system. Maturitas January 2014;77(1):12–9. 24210634.
- [84] Guo XX, Zhou JL, Xu Q, Lu X, Liang YJ, Weng J, et al. Prevention of osteoporosis in mice after ovariectomy via allograft of microencapsulated ovarian cells. Anat Rec (Hoboken) February 2010;293(2):200-7. Epub 2009/12/04. eng, 19957338.
- [85] Liu C, Xia X, Miao W, Luan X, Sun L, Jin Y, et al. An ovarian cell microcapsule system simulating follicle structure for providing endogenous female hormones. Int J Pharm October 15, 2013;455(1–2):312–9. Epub 2013/07/23. eng, 23867984.
- [86] Johnson J, Canning J, Kaneko T, Pru JK, Tilly JL. Germline stem cells and follicular renewal in the postnatal mammalian ovary. Nature March 11, 2004;428(6979):145–50. WOS:000220103600039. English.
- [87] Zou K, Yuan Z, Yang Z, Luo H, Sun K, Zhou L, et al. Production of offspring from a germline stem cell line derived from neonatal ovaries. Nat Cell Biol May 2009;11(5):631–6. 19363485.
- [88] White YA, Woods DC, Takai Y, Ishihara O, Seki H, Tilly JL. Oocyte formation by mitotically active germ cells purified from ovaries of reproductive-age women. Nat Med March 2012;18(3):413–21. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3296965. Epub 2012/03/01. eng, 22366948.
- [89] Johnson J, Bagley J, Skaznik-Wikiel M, Lee HJ, Adams GB, Niikura Y, et al. Oocyte generation in adult mammalian ovaries by putative germ cells in bone marrow and peripheral blood. Cell July 29, 2005;122(2):303–15. Epub 2005/07/30. Eng, 16051153.
- [90] Ge W, Ma HG, Cheng SF, Sun YC, Sun LL, Sun XF, et al. Differentiation of early germ cells from human skin-derived stem cells without exogenous gene integration. Sci Rep September 08, 2015;5:13822. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4561906. Epub 2015/09/09. Eng, 26347377.
- [91] Dyce PW, Shen W, Huynh E, Shao H, Villagomez DA, Kidder GM, et al. Analysis of oocyte-like cells differentiated from porcine fetal skin-derived stem cells. Stem Cells Dev May 2011;20(5):809–19. Epub 2010/11/09. Eng, 21054136.
- [92] Qiu P, Bai Y, Pan S, Li W, Liu W, Hua J. Gender depended potentiality of differentiation of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells into oocyte-Like cells in vitro. Cell Biochem Funct July 2013;31(5):365–73. Epub 2013/05/10. Eng, 23657870.
- [93] Hayashi K, Ogushi S, Kurimoto K, Shimamoto S, Ohta H, Saitou M. Offspring from oocytes derived from in vitro primordial germ cell-like cells in mice. Science November 16, 2012;338(6109):971–5. Epub 2012/10/09. Eng, 23042295.
- [94] Hikabe O, Hamazaki N, Nagamatsu G, Obata Y, Hirao Y, Hamada N, et al. Reconstitution in vitro of the entire cycle of the mouse female germ line. Nature October 17, 2016;539. Epub 2016/10/21. Eng, 27750280.
- [95] Rantell A, Srikrishna S, Robinson D. Assessment of the impact of urogenital prolapse on sexual dysfunction. Maturitas October 2016;92: 56–60. Epub 2016/09/14. eng, 27621239.
- [96] Zambon JP, Badlani GH. Vaginal mesh exposure presentation, evaluation, management. Curr Urol Rep September 2016;17(9):65. Epub 2016/ 07/23. eng, 27448146.
- [97] Costantini E, Lazzeri M. What part does mesh play in urogenital prolapse management today? Curr Opin Urol July 2015;25(4):300–4. Epub 2015/06/08. eng, 26049872.
- [98] Hung MJ, Wen MC, Hung CN, Ho ES, Chen GD, Yang VC. Tissue-engineered fascia from vaginal fibroblasts for patients needing reconstructive pelvic surgery. Int Urogynecol J September 2010;21(9):1085–93. Epub 2010/05/19. eng, 20480140.
- [99] Ruiz-Zapata AM, Kerkhof MH, Zandieh-Doulabi B, Brolmann HA, Smit TH, Helder MN. Functional characteristics of vaginal fibroblastic cells from premenopausal women with pelvic organ prolapse. Mol Hum Reprod November 2014;20(11):1135–43. Epub 2014/09/06. Eng, 25189765.

#### 70. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

- [100] Ulrich D, Edwards SL, Su K, Tan KS, White JF, Ramshaw JA, et al. Human endometrial mesenchymal stem cells modulate the tissue response and mechanical behavior of polyamide mesh implants for pelvic organ prolapse repair. Tissue Eng February 2014;20(3–4):785–98. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3926142. Epub 2013/10/03. Eng, 24083684.
- [101] Emmerson SJ, Gargett CE. Endometrial mesenchymal stem cells as a cell based therapy for pelvic organ prolapse. World J Stem Cells May 26, 2016;8(5):202–15. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4877564. Epub 2016/06/02. eng, 27247705.

# Regenerative Medicine for the Male Reproductive System

Hooman Sadri-Ardekani, Anthony Atala

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The science of male reproductive function and dysfunction has experienced significant progress in recent years. In particular, clinical applications of molecular medicine to male infertility and hypogonadism [1], the "invention" of intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) as a treatment of male infertility [2], and the introduction of effective oral medication for erectile dysfunction (ED) [3,4] can be considered major breakthroughs. Infertility affects around 15% of couples who wish to have children, and half of these cases are associated with male-related factors [5]. ED is defined as a consistent or transient disorder; inadequate erection affects at least half of men aged 40–70 years, whereas chronic ED affects about 5% of men in their forties and up to 25% of men by age 65 years [6,7]. Hormonal and surgical approaches have been used to treat patients with reproductive system disorders. Regenerative medicine has become a promising concept in the development of new therapies for all fields of medicine, including reproduction [8]. The field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine covers different areas of biomedical technology, including biomaterials, tissue engineering, and stem cell therapy. Three main strategies have been employed: (1) using extracellular matrices (ECM) without cells, allowing the natural ability of the body to generate new tissue, (2) using ECM seeded with cells for implantation, and (3) directly injecting cells with or without carriers such as hydrogels. ECMs used for tissue engineering may be either synthetic or derived from natural sources [9,10]. Different cell types may also be used, including (1) tissue-specific stem cells; (2) mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs); and (3) pluripotent stem cells such as embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, or amniotic and placental-derived stem cells. These cells can be either autologous or allogeneic. Autologous cells derived from a small biopsy are the preferred source because of immune compatibility. The biopsy is obtained from the patient and the cells isolated from this biopsy tissue are expanded in vitro. However, for some patients this is not an option because there is not enough functional tissue to obtain a biopsy. Therefore, other sources of cells, such as stem cells (either autologous or allogeneic), might be used for these patients [9,10]. The ultimate goal of regenerative medicine strategies to treat reproductive system disorders is to restore normal sexual function and preserve fertility.

# TESTES

The hypothalamus, pituitary, and testes form an integrated system responsible for adequate secretion of male hormones and normal spermatogenesis. The general anatomy of the testis consists of the seminiferous tubules and, among them, the interstitial space [11]. The seminiferous tubules, which contain germ cells at different maturation levels, depend on age. The pool of germ cells is supported by spermatogonial stem cells (SSCs), which are covered by a layer of Sertoli cells embedded in lamina propria [12]. The lamina propria consists of the basal membrane covered by peritubular cells. Differentiated germ cells including spermatocytes and spermatids are located

across the tubule toward its center. The main component of the interstitial space is the Leydig cell population, which produces testosterone; the interstitial space also contains macrophages, lymphocytes, loose connective tissue, and neurovascular bundles [13].

## Spermatogonial Stem Cell Technology

Etiologies of nonobstructive azoospermia include endocrinopathy, testicular failure, genetic anomaly, and idiopathic factors. On average, every day in the United States, about five men become azoospermic owing to the adverse effect of cancer treatments [14]. In sexually mature boys and men with cancer, who are at risk for infertility, sperm cryopreservation is the simplest and most effective method to preserve fertility [15]. However, less than 25% of these patients apply for sperm banking [16]. Lack of knowledge about semen cryopreservation is a major reason for the low percentage of sperm storage [16]. However, because the production of sperm has not yet started in prepubescent boys [17], sperm banking is not an option for prepubertal cancer patients. On average, more than 14 boys aged less than 15 years are diagnosed with cancer every day and more than 80% of them will be cured [18]. Therefore, longterm infertility will be a critical issue for many of these childhood cancer survivors who have no option for sperm banking. SSCs are present in the testis of most mammalian species, including nonhuman primates and humans [19]. Spermatogonia are cells located in the basement membrane of seminiferous tubules in the testis (Fig. 71.1); a small subpopulation of them are SSCs that have a primary role in spermatogenesis [19]. Normally, SSCs are able to divide and differentiate into haploid germ cells (sperm) and maintain fertility in men during life [19].

In 1994, the feasibility of isolating and transplanting SSCs to restore fertility in mouse testes was established [20]. Since then, several groups have been successful in transplanting SSCs in other species including nonhuman primates [21]. This has given great hope for finding an effective alternative to preserving fertility in adult males and may also be a solution for restoring fertility in prepubescent boys after cancer treatment. In addition to cancer survivors, patients who may benefit from SSC implantation include but are not limited to those with cryptorchidism (at risk for infertility because of undescended testes at birth) and Klinefelter syndrome (47XXY; at risk for testis fibrosis) [19].

In 2002, Nagano and colleagues [22] isolated human SSCs from six infertile men and transplanted the cells to busulfan-treated nude mice. It was shown that human SSCs migrated into the base membrane of mouse seminiferous tubules of testis, but their numbers decreased significantly 1 month after transplantation. However, some SSCs remained in the mouse testis for up to 6 months with no evidence of differentiation [22]. A xenotransplantation study of prepubescent human SSCs showed results similar to those of the previous study on adult human SSCs [23]. The feasibility of SSC transplantation in a nonhuman primate model was demonstrated by Hermann and colleagues [21]. In that study, ejaculatory lentiviral positive sperm was found in the testes of more than 75% of adult (9 of 12) and 60% of matured prepubescent (two of five) recipient macaques monkeys for up to 63 weeks (average of  $40.1 \pm 4.9$  weeks) after lentivirus-marked SSC transplantation. Autologous transplantation was twice as successful (70.5%; 12 of 17) than allotransplantation (33.3%; two of six) in terms of the presence of sperm in the ejaculate [21]. The ability of these sperm to fertilize eggs and develop preimplantation embryos was confirmed by performing ICSI. However, full pregnancies and live births were not observed in that study [21]. These results suggest that this



**FIGURE 71.1** Spermatogonia cells (green fluorescent) in the base membrane of seminiferous tubules of a 5-year-old boy. The cells were stained by melanoma-associated antigen A4 antibody as a spermatogonia marker. Some of the spermatogonia cells have already started proliferating (*white arrow*; stained by Ki67 antibody). 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (*blue*) identified the nuclei of the cells. Scale bar = 50 µm.

#### TESTES

technique could be translated to a clinical application in humans. In that study, an average of  $88 \pm 17.1$  and  $45.8 \pm 14.5$  million viable cells were used for transplantation to adult and juvenile testes, respectively [21]. It is well-known that increasing the number of cells corresponds linearly with the SSC transplantation success rate [24]. The number of SSCs in testis is low (0.03% of germ cells and 1.25% of spermatogonial cells in mice; unknown in humans) [25,26], and the size of testicular biopsy from premature boys undergoing cancer treatment is also small (around 100 mm<sup>3</sup>; containing 30,000/mm<sup>3</sup> spermatogonia) [19,27]. Although human SSC autotransplantation has not yet been tried, it is expected that successful human SSC autotransplantation requires in vitro expansion of these cells before transplantation. This culture method had been developed in animal models [26,28–30]. In a study involving the isolation and culture of human testicular cells from six adult men who underwent orchiectomy as part of prostate cancer treatment, we were able to maintain and propagate human SSCs in vitro for longer than 20 weeks [31]. The number of SSC increased more than 18,000-fold over 64 days of in vitro culture. In a follow-up study using testicular tissue from two boys aged 6.5 and 8 years, who were diagnosed with Hodgkin lymphoma, isolated SSCs were able to propagate in vitro for at least 15.5–20 weeks [32]. Other groups have been successful in culturing human SSCs [33–36]; however, this culture system should be optimized under Good Manufacturing Practice regulations.

Before the first clinical trial of SSC autotransplantation in human, several safety issues must be addressed. First, especially in nonsolid cancer survivors such as hematopoietic malignancies, transplanted cells should be free of malignant cell contamination that may reintroduce the cancer to the recipient. In a study on culturing acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells combined with testicular cells from three patients, ALL cells were undetectable beyond 26 days of culture even at an extremely high initial concentration (40% ALL cells) [37]. However, it will be beneficial to test more cell lines from different types of leukemia to ensure complete purging of malignant cells. Second, the genetic integrity of stored, isolated, and propagated SSCs is important because it can influence the next generation of offspring. It has been demonstrated that in vitro expanded mouse SSCs showed normal karyotype and stable androgenetic imprinting over 24 months [38]. Our work confirmed the genetic stability of in vitro propagated human SSCs; however, we found some changes in the epigenetic status of human SSCs during culture [39].

Although it is ideal to try for natural conception after SSC autotransplantation, in vitro spermatogenesis followed by ICSI is another option to preserve fertility in many patients. In vitro spermatogenesis models have moved forward from initially conserving anatomical structure of the testis in culture to complete meiosis from testicular mouse germ cells [40]. We developed a three-dimensional (3D) testis organoid system from adult human testicular cells (human testis organoid [HTO]) [47]. These HTOs consist of SSCs, Sertoli, Leydig, and peritubular cells (Fig. 71.2A). Each



FIGURE 71.2 Human three-dimensional (3D) testis organoid system (HTO). (A) Testicular cells, including spermatogonial stem cells (SSCs), Leydig cells, Sertoli cells, and peritubular cells, are isolated and propagated in 2D culture and then seeded into ultralow attachment round-bottom plates for the 3D formation of organoids. The HTO formation takes 48-72 h. (B) Live/dead staining of organoid revealed maintenance of viability throughout the culture period. Green and red fluorescents represent alive and dead cells, respectively. (C) Ultrastructural analysis of multicellular human testicular organoids using scanning electron microscopy to show exterior morphology. Scale bars =  $100 \mu$ m.

organoid is approximately  $300 \ \mu$ M in diameter and remains viable for at least 3 weeks (Fig. 71.2B and C) in an enriched medium with testicular ECM. This organoid system mimics in vivo spermatogenesis by supporting the differentiation of SSC to postmeiotic germ cells, albeit at a low frequency of approximately 0.2% [41]. The feasibility of using this system should be tested on prepubertal human testicular cells, and then the fertilization potential of the differentiated haploid cells should be analyzed.

# Androgen Replacement Therapy

Testosterone is the primary male sex hormone that has multiple roles in the body. It has important roles in developing male reproductive tissues such as testes and prostate as well as promoting secondary sexual characteristics such as increased muscle and bone mass and the growth of body hair [42]. Patients with testicular dysfunction and hypogonadal disorders may need androgen replacement therapy to restore and maintain physiological levels of serum testosterone and its metabolites. Therefore, testosterone therapy can increase muscle strength, stabilize bone density, improve osteoporosis, and restore secondary sexual characteristics, including libido and erectile function [43]. However, long-term exogenous testosterone therapy is not optimal and can cause multiple problems, including excessive erythropoiesis, bone density changes, and even infertility [44]. To address these problems, researchers are looking for an effective method to provide sufficient endogenous testosterone. In an animal model, isolated Leydig cells from rats that were cultured and stimulated with human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) showed a high level of testosterone production [45]. In that study, engineered alginate-poly-L-lysineencapsulated Leydig cell microspheres (with an average diameter of 0.7  $\pm$  0.06 mm) were injected into castrated rats. Approximately 10% of a normal adult rat Leydig cell population was injected into each castrated animal. Serum testosterone levels increased and were maintained up to 40% of normal for a maximum of 43 days with no hCG stimulation [45]. Bilateral testicular agenesis or atrophy often requires placing testicular prostheses and androgen supplementation [46]. In this regard, the possibility of creating hormone-releasing testicular prostheses was investigated [47]. To form testicular prosthesis, isolated chondrocytes from bovine articular cartilage were seeded on testicular-shaped polymer scaffolds. Implanted engineered testis prostheses loaded with 100  $\mu$ g testosterone enanthate were able to maintain physiologic levels of testosterone in vivo for at least 16 weeks in recipient mice [47]. For a better outcome, combinations of Leydig cell technology and engineered testicular prosthesis need to be explored further.

As mentioned, we developed a 3D testis organoid system from adult HTOs [41]. This HTO system consists of SSCs, Sertoli, Leydig, and peritubular cells. The Leydig cells in this multicellular structure could produce androgen with and without hCG stimulation [41] (Fig. 71.3).

Future work should focus on the feasibility of implanting adequate numbers of these HTOs to castrated animal models as a potential novel androgen replacement therapy.



FIGURE 71.3 Androgen production by human three-dimensional testis organoid system. Testosterone concentration in organoid culture media was measured over 3 weeks. Organoids were treated with human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) to stimulate testosterone production. Media from organoids treated with hCG were compared with control media from organoids with no hCG treatment. On days 0, 7, and 14, organoids produced more testosterone when stimulated with hCG. However, on day 21, organoids did not produce more testosterone when stimulated with hCG. The lack of increase in testosterone production on day 21 in response to hCG stimulation could have resulted from organoids becoming desensitized to hCG (at each time point, secreted hormones from a group of 16 organoids were pooled; n = 16).

# EJACULATORY SYSTEM

Ejaculation is the process of transporting sperm through the urethra and expelling semen from the urethral meatus. The organs involved in the ejaculatory process are the epididymis, vas deferens, prostate, seminal vesicles, bladder neck, external urethral sphincter, and bulbourethral glands. In normal ejaculation, anatomic structures are precisely coordinated via neural centers to allow normal ejaculation to take place [48,49].

#### **Engineering Vas Deferens**

Congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens (CBAVD) causes obstructive azoospermia, which is common in about 1% of infertile men [50]. Because CBAVD men have normal spermatogenesis, they are able to achieve biological fatherhood with the help of assisted reproduction techniques, i.e., surgical sperm extraction and in vitro fertilization (IVF) [51]. In addition, conception requires the female partner of men with CBAVD to undergo ovarian stimulation for an IVF/ICSI procedure. A solution to this problem would be to replace the vas deferens. A novel approach for the tissue engineering of vas deferens was tried in a rabbit model [52]. Polyethylene tubes (0.86 mm in diameter and 6 cm long) were implanted into the peritoneal cavities (as an in vivo bioreactor) of 16 rabbits [52]. After 2–3 weeks, the tubes were removed and the encapsulating myofibroblast-rich tissue that resulted from the foreign body response to the biomaterial was harvested for grafting as vas deferens in the rabbits [52]. At 2, 4, 6, and 8 months after implantation, morphological and immunohistochemical evaluations showed that the structure of engineered vas deferens was similar to that of native vas deferens tissue [52]. In addition, the presence of sperm in the ejaculate indicated normal function of the engineered vas deferens. However, more research on large-animal models is required before this approach can be used in humans.

#### Urethra Reconstruction

The male urethra is a narrow fibromuscular tube that conducts urine and semen from the bladder and ejaculatory ducts, respectively, to the exterior of the body. Many surgical procedures, such as grafting to replace damaged areas of the male urethra, may eventually fail. Various strategies have been proposed over the years to regenerate urethral tissue in several animal models, including woven meshes of synthetic polymers such as polyglycolic acid (PGA) without cells [53,54] and with cells [55], naturally derived collagen-based materials such as decellularized bladder submucosa [56], and acellular urethral submucosa [57]. The effectiveness of using collagen-based inert matrix was confirmed clinically in a series of four patients with a history of failed hypospadias reconstruction. Twenty-two months' follow-up showed successful repair of urethral defects with human bladder acellular collagen matrix in three of four patients [58]. In another study of 30 patients with recurrent stricture disease, human demineralized bone matrix obtained from cadaveric donors was processed and prepared for use as an off-the-shelf material [59]. Up to 36 months' follow-up showed that a healthy urethra bed (two or fewer prior urethral surgeries) was needed for successful urethral reconstruction using the acellular collagen-based grafts. In an advanced study with more than 10 years' follow-up [60], human clinical trials with a collagen-coated PGA tubularized scaffold seeded with autologous cells were conducted in a pilot series of five patients. The scaffolds were seeded with autologous cells derived from bladder biopsies taken from each patient. The cell-seeded scaffolds were then matured in an incubator and used to repair the urethral defects present owing to trauma. Long-term follow-up evaluation showed normalrange urinary flow rates and voiding cystourethrograms indicated that these patients maintained wide urethral calibers. Yearly biopsies showed that the grafts had a histological architecture consistent with normal urethral tissue (Fig. 71.4).

#### Spinal Ejaculation Generator

The incidence of anejaculation in the population is small, but when it is present, it represents a formidable challenge to the infertile couple and the treating physician [61]. Spinal cord injury (SCI) is the most common cause of anejaculation encountered in clinical practice [62]. The incidence of traumatic SCI is estimated at 16 individuals per million per year in Western Europe and 39 individuals per million per year in North America, with a prevalence of 300 and 853 individuals per million, respectively [63]. In the United States, mean age at occurrence of SCI is 37.1 years and 77.1% of SCI patients are male [64]. Ejaculation can be physiologically defined as the rhythmic, forceful expulsion of semen at the urethral meatus. Ejaculation is composed of two successive phases, emission and expulsion, each involving different pelvic-perineal anatomical structures [65]. Emission is controlled by autonomic

71. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE MALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM



**FIGURE 71.4** Histological and immunocytochemical analyses of implanted engineered urethra. Results of urethral biopsies of engineered segments from every patient at 1 year after surgery and from a control sample of healthy urethral tissue. *AE1/AE3*, Anti-pan Cytokeratin antibody. All scale bars =  $25 \mu m$ .

(sympathetic and parasympathetic) spinal centers, and expulsion is controlled by somatic spinal centers. These centers act in synchrony for antegrade ejaculation to occur. In rats, such synchronization has been reported to be led by a group of lumbar spinothalamic neurons forming the spinal generator of ejaculation (SGE). The critical role of the SGE and its organization have been described in functional and neuroanatomical studies [65–69]. Penile vibratory stimulation (PVS) is a procedure that uses external vibration to stimulate the sensory nerves on the penis, with resultant reflex ejaculation (Fig. 71.5A). Electroejaculation is an option for men with SCI who have lower motor neuron lesions and for those who have failed PVS, but it is more invasive. This technique uses electricity delivered via a rectal probe to recruit the ejaculatory reflex. The Seager Electroejaculator (Dalzell Medical Systems, The Plains, VA) remains the only US Food and Drug Administration–approved device for this procedure (Fig. 71.5B).

Numerous studies have focused on therapeutic approaches of SCI in animal models. Significant progress on functional remyelination [70], direct injection of biological agents [71], formation of neuronal relays [72], biomaterial approaches to enhancing neurorestoration [73], and neural stem cells transplantation [74,75] has been made. These studies promise translation to more clinical trials on SCI and neuronal regeneration. Although the main aim of these studies is to correct motor and sensory deficits, it will be interesting to evaluate improvement in ejaculation function of these patients, as well.



FIGURE 71.5 Instruments to collect semen from patients with spinal cord injury. (A) Penile vibratory stimulators including FertiCare (bottom device) and Viberect X3 (top device). These devices can be placed on the dorsum or frenulum of the penis, or both. (B). Seager Electroejaculator and its transrectal probe. The probe is used to deliver electrical current directly to the prostate and seminal vesicles, resulting in ejaculation. The harvested sperm can be used for either intrauterine insemination or in vitro fertilization.

# PENIS

# Penile Reconstruction

Congenital and acquired genitourinary tract anomalies of the penis require surgical reconstruction. Lack of sufficient normal autologous tissue is the major limitation in many surgical procedures for different conditions such as ambiguous genitalia, epispadias, hypospadias, micropenis, aphallia, severe chordee, impotence, female to male genital reassignment, and traumatic or iatrogenic penile defects [76–78]. The possibility of developing tissue composed of corporal cells in vivo has also been investigated [79]. Human corporal smooth muscle cells (SMC) and endothelial cells (ECs) were seeded on biodegradable polymer scaffolds at concentrations of  $20 \times 10^6$  and  $10 \times 10^6$  cells/cm<sup>3</sup>, respectively. These constructs were then implanted in the subcutaneous space of nude mice [79]. Histological evaluation showed the formation of vascularized corpus cavernosum composed of these two cell types 28 and 42 days after implantation [79]. To achieve a 3D corporal structure, naturally derived polymer scaffold from rabbit corporal tissue was used combined with primary human cavernosal SMC and ECs [80]. Engineered corporal tissues were maintained in culture for up to 4 weeks and then implanted into nude mice [80]. The matrices showed stable collagen concentration 8 weeks after implantation [80]. Immunocytochemical studies using  $\alpha$ -actin and factor VIII antibodies confirmed the presence of corporal SMC and EC in vivo [80]. Organ bath studies also showed that the cell-seeded corporal tissue matrices responded to electrical field stimulation [80]. In a follow-up study, structural parameters were evaluated up to 6 months after implantation in a rabbit penile defect model [81], in which the engineered corporal bodies showed structural integrity on cavernosography. The presence of sperm after copulation was confirmed in rabbits with the engineered corpora [81]. In all of these studies, it was shown that a short segment of the penile corporal body (approximately one-third of the penile corpora) can be replaced using naturally derived collagen matrices with autologous cells [79–81]. To improve the results of previous studies, engineering of the entire length of both penile corpora was attempted [82]. In another study, the matrices were seeded with the autologous corporal SMC and EC, using a novel multistep cell seeding protocol [83], and the cell seeded matrices were used to replace the entire pendular penile corpora in 12 male rabbits [82]. At 1, 3, and 6 months after implantation of the engineered corpora, the rate of sperm presentation on vaginal swabs and pregnancy rates of mated female rabbits was 83% and 30%, respectively. Untreated rabbits showed no evidence of intravaginal sperm and no pregnancies occurred [82]. These studies demonstrate that penile corpora cavernosa tissue can be engineered and transplanted to restore function.

## Penile Transplantation

As an option for penile reconstruction, penile transplantation has been considered, especially after near-complete penile loss. So far, three allogenic penile transplantations have been performed worldwide. The first was performed

successfully in China in 2006; however, it was removed after 2 weeks because of the recipient and his wife experienced severe psychological problems [84,85]. The second case was described in 2014 and was performed in South Africa. The surgery was complicated by a reintervention after 4 days to remove a thrombus from the anastomosis and another reintervention for hematoma drainage. However, the patient reported normal sexual and urinary function 3.5 months after transplantation [86]. The third case was the first US-based penile transplantation and was performed in a patient with penile cancer [87]. The requirement of lifelong multidrug immunosuppression with the risk for serious side effects remains a limiting factor for the widespread clinical application of penile transplantation [88].

#### Stem Cell Therapy for Erectile Dysfunction

ED is defined as the consistent or recurrent inability to achieve or maintain an erection sufficient for sexual activity [89]. Interest is increasing in recruiting endogenous or exogenous stem cells to treat ED [90]. It is generally believed that tissue-specific stem cells exist in most postnatal tissues. Two types of foreskin stem cells have been isolated , including skin-derived progenitors [91] and MSCs [92]. In a rat study using 5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine labeling, the presence of stem and progenitor cells was shown. These cells, mainly distributed within the subtunic and perisinusoidal space of penis, are defined as subtunic penile progenitor cells and perisinusoidal penile progenitor cells. These cells expressed c-kit, A2B5, and proliferating cell nuclear antigen [93]. It is expected that reactivation of endogenous stem cell potential might rejuvenate damaged erectile function [94]. Human MSCs have been isolated from a large number of adult tissues (bone marrow, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, etc.). Adipose tissue, which is a rich and easily obtainable source of MSC, has been of particular interest in treating ED [95]. MSCs express low levels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and do not express MHC class II molecules; thus, they are minimally immunogenic. Therefore, they can be used from either autologous or allogenic sources [96]. Isolated MSCs from rat paratesticular fat tissues were injected in a bilateral cavernous nerve injury model. One month after injection, measurement of intracavernous pressure revealed significant improvement in ED [97]. All of these observations demonstrate how stem cell treatment is a promising tool to restore normal erectile function, but these applications need further development for future clinical trials.

#### CONCLUSION

Regenerative medicine is a branch of translational research in tissue engineering and molecular biology that deals with the process of replacing, engineering, or regenerating human cells, tissues, or organs to restore or establish the normal function of tissues and organs. Most of the effort toward engineering male reproductive tissues has occurred in animal models. The safety of engineered reproductive tissues is usually more critical than other organs because in many cases, more than just recipients are involved. The health of offspring as well as the patient's partner should be considered in any future clinical trials. Regenerative medicine has opened new avenues to treat disorders of male reproductive system affecting fertility and sexual life.

#### Acknowledgment

We would like to thank Drs. John Jackson and Carlos Kengla for their editorial assistance.

# References

- Hamada AJ, Montgomery B, Agarwal A. Male infertility: a critical review of pharmacologic management. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2012; 13(17):2511–31.
- [2] Palermo G, Joris H, Devroey P, Van Steirteghem AC. Pregnancies after intracytoplasmic injection of single spermatozoon into an oocyte. Lancet 1992;340(8810):17–8.
- [3] Lee M. Focus on phosphodiesterase inhibitors for the treatment of erectile dysfunction in older men. Clin Ther 2011;33(11):1590-608.
- [4] Wassersug R, Wibowo E. Non-pharmacological and non-surgical strategies to promote sexual recovery for men with erectile dysfunction. Transl Androl Urol 2017;6(Suppl. 5):S776–94.
- [5] Thoma ME, McLain AC, Louis JF, King RB, Trumble AC, Sundaram R, et al. Prevalence of infertility in the United States as estimated by the current duration approach and a traditional constructed approach. Fertil Steril 2013;99(5):1324–31. e1.
- [6] Nguyen HMT, Gabrielson AT, Hellstrom WJG. Erectile dysfunction in young men-a review of the prevalence and risk factors. Sex Med Rev 2017;5(4):508–20.
- [7] Hafez ES, Hafez SD. Erectile dysfunction: anatomical parameters, etiology, diagnosis, and therapy. Arch Androl 2005;51(1):15–31.
- [8] Fuchs JR, Nasseri BA, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering: a 21st century solution to surgical reconstruction. Ann Thorac Surg 2001;72(2):577-91.

#### REFERENCES

- [9] Olson JL, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Tissue engineering: current strategies and future directions. Chonnam Med J 2011;47(1):1–13.
- [10] Atala A, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Engineering complex tissues. Sci Transl Med 2012;4(160):160rv12.
- [11] Bhimji SS, Leslie SW. Anatomy, pelvis, testicle. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls; 2017.
- [12] de Rooij DG. The nature and dynamics of spermatogonial stem cells. Development 2017;144(17):3022-30.
- [13] Tremblay JJ. Molecular regulation of steroidogenesis in endocrine Leydig cells. Steroids 2015;103:3–10.
- [14] Valli H, Phillips BT, Shetty G, Byrne JA, Clark AT, Meistrich ML, et al. Germline stem cells: toward the regeneration of spermatogenesis. Fertil Steril 2014;101(1):3–13.
- [15] Johnson MD, Cooper AR, Jungheim ES, Lanzendorf SE, Odem RR, Ratts VS. Sperm banking for fertility preservation: a 20-year experience. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2013;170(1):177–82.
- [16] Schover LR, Brey K, Lichtin A, Lipshultz LI, Jeha S. Knowledge and experience regarding cancer, infertility, and sperm banking in younger male survivors. J Clin Oncol 2002;20(7):1880–9.
- [17] Kulin HE, Frontera MA, Demers LM, Bartholomew MJ, Lloyd TA. The onset of sperm production in pubertal boys. Relationship to gonadotropin excretion. Am J Dis Child 1989;143(2):190–3.
- [18] Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Neyman N, Aminou R, Waldron W, et al. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2008. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2011. http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2008/ [based on November 2010 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site].
- [19] Sadri-Ardekani H, Atala A. Testicular tissue cryopreservation and spermatogonial stem cell transplantation to restore fertility: from bench to bedside. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014;5(3):68.
- [20] Brinster RL, Zimmermann JW. Spermatogenesis following male germ-cell transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91(24):11298-302.
- [21] Hermann BP, Sukhwani M, Winkler F, Pascarella JN, Peters KA, Sheng Y, et al. Spermatogonial stem cell transplantation into rhesus testes regenerates spermatogenesis producing functional sperm. Cell Stem Cell 2012;11(5):715–26.
- [22] Nagano M, Patrizio P, Brinster RL. Long-term survival of human spermatogonial stem cells in mouse testes. Fertil Steril 2002;78(6):1225–33.
   [23] Wu X, Schmidt JA, Avarbock MR, Tobias JW, Carlson CA, Kolon TF, et al. Prepubertal human spermatogonia and mouse gonocytes share
- conserved gene expression of germline stem cell regulatory molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106(51):21672–7.
  [24] Dobrinski I, Ogawa T, Avarbock MR, Brinster RL. Computer assisted image analysis to assess colonization of recipient seminiferous tubules by spermatogonial stem cells from transgenic donor mice. Mol Reprod Dev 1999;53(2):142–8.
- [25] Tegelenbosch RA, de Rooij DG. A quantitative study of spermatogonial multiplication and stem cell renewal in the C3H/101 F1 hybrid mouse. Mutat Res 1993;290(2):193–200.
- [26] Aponte PM, Soda T, Teerds KJ, Mizrak SC, van de Kant HJ, de Rooij DG. Propagation of bovine spermatogonial stem cells in vitro. Reproduction 2008;136(5):543–57.
- [27] Sadri-Ardekani H, McLean TW, Kogan S, Sirintrapun J, Crowell K, Yousif MQ, et al. Experimental testicular tissue banking to generate spermatogenesis in the future: a multidisciplinary team approach. Methods 2016;99:120-7.
- [28] Kanatsu-Shinohara M, Ogonuki N, Inoue K, Miki H, Ogura A, Toyokuni S, et al. Long-term proliferation in culture and germline transmission of mouse male germline stem cells. Biol Reprod 2003;69(2):612–6.
- [29] Hamra FK, Chapman KM, Nguyen DM, Williams-Stephens AA, Hammer RE, Garbers DL. Self renewal, expansion, and transfection of rat spermatogonial stem cells in culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102(48):17430-5.
- [30] Kanatsu-Shinohara M, Muneto T, Lee J, Takenaka M, Chuma S, Nakatsuji N, et al. Long-term culture of male germline stem cells from hamster testes. Biol Reprod 2008;78(4):611–7.
- [31] Sadri-Ardekani H, Mizrak SC, van Daalen SK, Korver CM, Roepers-Gajadien HL, Koruji M, et al. Propagation of human spermatogonial stem cells in vitro. J Am Med Assoc 2009;302(19):2127–34.
- [32] Sadri-Ardekani H, Akhondi MA, van der Veen F, Repping S, van Pelt AM. In vitro propagation of human prepubertal spermatogonial stem cells. J Am Med Assoc 2011;305(23):2416–8.
- [33] Mirzapour T, Movahedin M, Tengku Ibrahim TA, Haron AW, Nowroozi MR. Evaluation of the effects of cryopreservation on viability, proliferation and colony formation of human spermatogonial stem cells in vitro culture. Andrologia 2013;45(1):26–34.
- [34] Zheng Y, Thomas A, Schmidt CM, Dann CT. Quantitative detection of human spermatogonia for optimization of spermatogonial stem cell culture. Hum Reprod 2014;29(11):2497–511.
- [35] Medrano JV, Rombaut C, Simon C, Pellicer A, Goossens E. Human spermatogonial stem cells display limited proliferation in vitro under mouse spermatogonial stem cell culture conditions. Fertil Steril 2016;106(6):1539–49. e8.
- [36] Gat I, Maghen L, Filice M, Wyse B, Zohni K, Jarvi K, et al. Optimal culture conditions are critical for efficient expansion of human testicular somatic and germ cells in vitro. Fertil Steril 2017;107(3):595–605. e7.
- [37] Sadri-Ardekani H, Homburg CH, van Capel TM, van den Berg H, van der Veen F, van der Schoot CE, et al. Eliminating acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from human testicular cell cultures: a pilot study. Fertil Steril 2014;101.
- [38] Kanatsu-Shinohara M, Ogonuki N, Iwano T, Lee J, Kazuki Y, Inoue K, et al. Genetic and epigenetic properties of mouse male germline stem cells during long-term culture. Development 2005;132(18):4155–63.
- [39] Nickkholgh B, Mizrak SC, van Daalen SK, Korver CM, Sadri-Ardekani H, Repping S, et al. Genetic and epigenetic stability of human spermatogonial stem cells during long-term culture. Fertil Steril 2014;102.
- [40] Galdon G, Atala A, Sadri-Ardekani H. In vitro spermatogenesis: how far from clinical application? Curr Urol Rep 2016;17(7):49.
- [41] Pendergraft SS, Sadri-Ardekani H, Atala A, Bishop CE. Three-dimensional testicular organoid: a novel tool for the study of human spermatogenesis and gonadotoxicity in vitro. Biol Reprod 2017;96(3):720–32.
- [42] Kelly DM, Jones TH. Testosterone: a metabolic hormone in health and disease. J Endocrinol 2013;217(3):R25-45.
- [43] Bertelloni S, Baroncelli GI, Garofalo P, Cianfarani S. Androgen therapy in hypogonadal adolescent males. Horm Res Paediatr 2010;74(4): 292–6.
- [44] Kim ED, Crosnoe L, Bar-Chama N, Khera M, Lipshultz LI. The treatment of hypogonadism in men of reproductive age. Fertil Steril 2013;99(3): 718–24.
- [45] Machluf M, Orsola A, Boorjian S, Kershen R, Atala A. Microencapsulation of Leydig cells: a system for testosterone supplementation. Endocrinology 2003;144(11):4975–9.

#### 71. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE FOR THE MALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

- [46] Bodiwala D, Summerton DJ, Terry TR. Testicular prostheses: development and modern usage. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2007;89(4):349-53.
- [47] Raya-Rivera AM, Baez C, Atala A, Yoo JJ. Tissue engineered testicular prostheses with prolonged testosterone release. World J Urol 2008; 26(4):351–8.
- [48] Sigman M. Introduction: ejaculatory problems and male infertility. Fertil Steril 2015;104.
- [49] Master VA, Turek PJ. Ejaculatory physiology and dysfunction. Urol Clin N Am 2001;28(2):363-75.
- [50] Jequier AM, Ansell ID, Bullimore NJ. Congenital absence of the vasa deferentia presenting with infertility. J Androl 1985;6(1):15-9.
- [51] Silber SJ, Ord T, Balmaceda J, Patrizio P, Asch RH. Congenital absence of the vas deferens. The fertilizing capacity of human epididymal sperm. N Engl J Med 1990;323(26):1788–92.
- [52] Campbell GR, Turnbull G, Xiang L, Haines M, Armstrong S, Rolfe BE, et al. The peritoneal cavity as a bioreactor for tissue engineering visceral organs: bladder, uterus and vas deferens. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2008;2(1):50–60.
- [53] Bazeed MA, Thuroff JW, Schmidt RA, Tanagho EA. New treatment for urethral strictures. Urology 1983;21(1):53–7.
- [54] Olsen L, Bowald S, Busch C, Carlsten J, Eriksson I. Urethral reconstruction with a new synthetic absorbable device. An experimental study. Scand J Urol Nephrol 1992;26(4):323–6.
- [55] Atala A, Vacanti JP, Peters CA, Mandell J, Retik AB, Freeman MR. Formation of urothelial structures in vivo from dissociated cells attached to biodegradable polymer scaffolds in vitro. J Urol 1992;148(2 Pt 2):658–62.
- [56] Chen F, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Acellular collagen matrix as a possible "off the shelf" biomaterial for urethral repair. Urology 1999;54(3):407-10.
- [57] Sievert KD, Bakircioglu ME, Nunes L, Tu R, Dahiya R, Tanagho EA. Homologous acellular matrix graft for urethral reconstruction in the rabbit: histological and functional evaluation. J Urol 2000;163(6):1958–65.
- [58] Atala A, Guzman L, Retik AB. A novel inert collagen matrix for hypospadias repair. J Urol 1999;162(3 Pt 2):1148-51.
- [59] el-Kassaby A, AbouShwareb T, Atala A. Randomized comparative study between buccal mucosal and acellular bladder matrix grafts in complex anterior urethral strictures. J Urol 2008;179(4):1432–6.
- [60] Raya-Rivera A, Esquiliano DR, Yoo JJ, Lopez-Bayghen E, Soker S, Atala A. Tissue-engineered autologous urethras for patients who need reconstruction: an observational study. Lancet 2011;377(9772):1175–82.
- [61] Barazani Y, Stahl PJ, Nagler HM, Stember DS. Management of ejaculatory disorders in infertile men. Asian J Androl 2012;14(4):525-9.
- [62] Ohl DA, Quallich SA, Sonksen J, Brackett NL, Lynne CM. Anejaculation: an electrifying approach. Semin Reprod Med 2009;27(2):179-85.
- [63] Cripps RA, Lee BB, Wing P, Weerts E, Mackay J, Brown D. A global map for traumatic spinal cord injury epidemiology: towards a living data repository for injury prevention. Spinal Cord 2011;49(4):493–501.
- [64] Devivo MJ. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury: trends and future implications. Spinal Cord 2012;50(5):365-72.
- [65] Giuliano F, Clement P. Neuroanatomy and physiology of ejaculation. Annu Rev Sex Res 2005;16:190-216.
- [66] Truitt WA, Coolen LM. Identification of a potential ejaculation generator in the spinal cord. Science 2002;297(5586):1566-9.
- [67] Xu C, Giuliano F, Yaici ED, Conrath M, Trassard O, Benoit G, et al. Identification of lumbar spinal neurons controlling simultaneously the prostate and the bulbospongiosus muscles in the rat. Neuroscience 2006;138(2):561–73.
- [68] Borgdorff AJ, Bernabe J, Denys P, Alexandre L, Giuliano F. Ejaculation elicited by microstimulation of lumbar spinothalamic neurons. Eur Urol 2008;54(2):449–56.
- [69] Sun XQ, Xu C, Leclerc P, Benoit G, Giuliano F, Droupy S. Spinal neurons involved in the control of the seminal vesicles: a transsynaptic labeling study using pseudorabies virus in rats. Neuroscience 2009;158(2):786–97.
- [70] Myers SA, Bankston AN, Burke DA, Ohri SS, Whittemore SR. Does the preclinical evidence for functional remyelination following myelinating cell engraftment into the injured spinal cord support progression to clinical trials? Exp Neurol 2016;283(Pt B):560–72.
- [71] Kwon BK, Okon EB, Plunet W, Baptiste D, Fouad K, Hillyer J, et al. A systematic review of directly applied biologic therapies for acute spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2011;28(8):1589–610.
- [72] Bonner JF, Steward O. Repair of spinal cord injury with neuronal relays: from fetal grafts to neural stem cells. Brain Res 2015;1619:115-23.
- [73] Siebert JR, Eade AM, Osterhout DJ. Biomaterial approaches to enhancing neurorestoration after spinal cord injury: strategies for overcoming inherent biological obstacles. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015:752572.
- [74] Lu P, Kadoya K, Tuszynski MH. Axonal growth and connectivity from neural stem cell grafts in models of spinal cord injury. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2014;27:103–9.
- [75] Stenudd M, Sabelstrom H, Frisen J. Role of endogenous neural stem cells in spinal cord injury and repair. JAMA Neurol 2015;72(2):235-7.
- [76] Woodhouse CR. The sexual and reproductive consequences of congenital genitourinary anomalies. J Urol 1994;152(2 Pt 2):645-51.
- [77] Horton CE, Dean JA. Reconstruction of traumatically acquired defects of the phallus. World J Surg 1990;14(6):757–62.
- [78] Rigaud G, Berger RE. Corrective procedures for penile shortening due to Peyronie's disease. J Urol 1995;153(2):368-70.
- [79] Park HJ, Yoo JJ, Kershen RT, Moreland R, Atala A. Reconstitution of human corporal smooth muscle and endothelial cells in vivo. J Urol 1999; 162(3 Pt 2):1106–9.
- [80] Falke G, Yoo JJ, Kwon TG, Moreland R, Atala A. Formation of corporal tissue architecture in vivo using human cavernosal muscle and endothelial cells seeded on collagen matrices. Tissue Eng 2003;9(5):871–9.
- [81] Kwon TG, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Autologous penile corpora cavernosa replacement using tissue engineering techniques. J Urol 2002;168(4 Pt 2): 1754–8.
- [82] Chen KL, Eberli D, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Bioengineered corporal tissue for structural and functional restoration of the penis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107(8):3346–50.
- [83] Eberli D, Susaeta R, Yoo JJ, Atala A. A method to improve cellular content for corporal tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2008;14(10):1581-9.
- [84] Hu W, Lu J, Zhang L, Wu W, Nie H, Zhu Y, et al. A preliminary report of penile transplantation. Eur Urol 2006;50(4):851–3.
- [85] Hu W, Lu J, Zhang L, Wu W, Nie H, Zhu Y, et al. A preliminary report of penile transplantation: part 2. Eur Urol 2006;50(5):1115–6. discussion 6.
- [86] Bateman C. World's first successful penis transplant at Tygerberg Hospital. S Afr Med J 2015;105(4):251-2.
- [87] Massachusetts General Hospital. First genitourinary vascularized composite allograft (penile) transplant in the nation performed at Massachusetts General Hospital. http://www.massgeneral.org/News/pressrelease.aspx?id=1937.
- [88] Albersen M. Getting ready for penile transplantation. Eur Urol 2017;71(4):594-5.
- [89] Gokce MI, Yaman O. Erectile dysfunction in the elderly male. Turk J Urol 2017;43(3):247-51.

- [90] Vassena R, Eguizabal C, Heindryckx B, Sermon K, Simon C, van Pelt AM, et al. Stem cells in reproductive medicine: ready for the patient? Hum Reprod 2015;30(9):2014–21.
- [91] Toma JG, McKenzie IA, Bagli D, Miller FD. Isolation and characterization of multipotent skin-derived precursors from human skin. Stem Cell 2005;23(6):727–37.
- [92] Bartsch G, Yoo JJ, De Coppi P, Siddiqui MM, Schuch G, Pohl HG, et al. Propagation, expansion, and multilineage differentiation of human somatic stem cells from dermal progenitors. Stem Cells Dev 2005;14(3):337–48.
- [93] Lin G, Alwaal A, Zhang X, Wang J, Wang L, Li H, et al. Presence of stem/progenitor cells in the rat penis. Stem Cells Dev 2015;24(2):264-70.
- [94] Xin ZC, Xu YD, Lin G, Lue TF, Guo YL. Recruiting endogenous stem cells: a novel therapeutic approach for erectile dysfunction. Asian J Androl 2016;18(1):10-5.
- [95] Lin G, Banie L, Ning H, Bella AJ, Lin CS, Lue TF. Potential of adipose-derived stem cells for treatment of erectile dysfunction. J Sex Med 2009; 6(Suppl. 3):320–7.
- [96] Le Blanc K, Tammik C, Rosendahl K, Zetterberg E, Ringden O. HLA expression and immunologic properties of differentiated and undifferentiated mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Hematol 2003;31(10):890–6.
- [97] Mangir N, Akbal C, Tarcan T, Simsek F, Turkeri L. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy in treatment of erectile dysfunction: autologous or allogeneic cell sources? Int J Urol 2014;21(12):1280–5.

This page intentionally left blank

# Regenerative Medicine of the Bladder

Yuanyuan Zhang, Anthony Atala

Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# INTRODUCTION

The urinary bladder is a hollow muscular organ lined with urothelium or transitional epithelium. The main source of force, the detrusor muscle, is a layer of the urinary bladder wall made of smooth muscle fibers that is arranged in spiral, longitudinal, and circular bundles. The smooth muscle tissues can be extended to store the urine and then completely empty the bladder. As a passive barrier, the urothelium does not generate mucus. This internal lining of the bladder wall, which is composed of urothelial tissue and lamina propria, is believed to regulate some aspects of overall bladder physiology in response to stimuli such as distension during filling [1].

The urinary bladder functions as a storage vessel for urine to delay the frequency of urination. It is one of the most elastic organs of the body and can increase its volume greatly to accommodate up to 800 mL of urine at maximum capacity in adults. Transitional epithelium, elastic fibers, and visceral muscle tissue in the walls of the urinary bladder contribute to its distensibility and elasticity, allowing it to extend easily and return to its original size several times each day.

Congenital disorders, cancer, trauma, inflammation, and other conditions of the bladder can damage its histologic structure or cause complete loss of function. Both situations usually necessitate eventual reconstruction or replacement of the damaged tissue. Although patients with diseased or injured organs can be treated with transplanted organs, there is a severe shortage of donor organs that worsens yearly as the population ages and new cases of organ failure increase. Lower urinary tract reconstruction has been performed with autogenic nonurologic tissues such as gastrointestinal segments, mucosa from multiple body sites, homologous tissues from a donor (cadaver or living donor kidney), and heterologous tissues or substances (e.g., bovine collagen) [2]. All of these materials may cause a series of complications after surgery because the implanted tissue is rejected or inherently different functional parameters may cause a mismatch in the system. For example, replacement of bladder tissue with gastrointestinal segments can be problematic because the urothelium normally excretes proteins [3] whereas gastrointestinal tissue generally absorbs them. This mismatched state can lead to metabolic complications in addition to infection and other issues [4]. Therefore, replacement of lost or deficient urologic tissues with functionally equivalent ones would improve the outcome of reconstructive surgery in the genitourinary system. This goal may soon be achievable with the use of tissue engineering techniques.

Tissue regeneration uses the principles of cell biology, biomaterials science, bioactive factors, and biomedical engineering to develop biologic substitutes that can restore and maintain the normal function of damaged or lost tissues and organs. Tissue engineering involves using natural or synthetic matrices, often termed scaffolds, that encourage the body's natural ability to repair itself and assist in determining the orientation and direction of new tissue growth. Often, tissue engineering uses a combination of these techniques. For example, matrices seeded with cells can be implanted into the body to encourage the growth or regeneration of functional tissue. These cells, materials, and bioactive factors all could be called "biomaterials."

Scientists have attempted to grow native and stem cells, engineer tissues, and design treatment modalities using regenerative medicine techniques for the urinary tract system. This article reviews progress in bladder reconstruction using tissue engineering technology.

#### **CELL SOURCES**

#### Bladder and Ureter Cells

Although implanted tissue can be heterologous, allogeneic, or autologous in experimental animal models, only autologous cells are used in the clinic setting [5] to avoid graft rejection and the long-term use of immunosuppressive medications after allogeneic transplantation. Autologous somatic cells obtained from the bladder or ureters [6] are often used for tissue engineered bladders. The donor tissue is dissociated into individual urothelial and smooth muscle cells (SMCs), which are expanded in culture, attached to a support matrix, and then implanted back into the host. Ideally, this approach allows lost bladder tissue function to be restored or replaced with limited complications [7–10]. However, suitable bladder cells from the patient for this purpose are sometimes limited or unobtainable because of bladder exstrophy, malignancy, or other reasons.

# Stem Cell Sources

Adult stem cells could be a suitable alternative to bladder cells. They are an appealing cell source for tissue regeneration, in part because of their self-renewal, long-term expansion in vitro, and differentiation potential. Three types of cell sources have been used for bladder regeneration in experiment models: autologous cells (i.e., urothelial cells (UCs) and smooth muscle cells (SMCs), urothelial progenitor cells [11,12], bone marrow-derived stromal cells (BMSCs) [13,14], adipose stem cells (ASCs) [15,16], urine-derived stem cells (USCs) [17–20], hair follicle stem cells [21,22]); allogeneic cells: (such as UC+SMC [23], and MSCs); xenogenous cells: (such as amniotic fluid-derived cells (AFCs) [24], dental pulp stem cells [25], hBMSCs+HSPCs [14], and genetically modified hBMSCs [26]). Different types of stem cells used for urinary bladder reconstruction are listed in (Table 72.1)

Adult stem cells avoid some ethical issues associated with embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). They do not transdifferentiate into a malignant phenotype; thus, there is a diminished risk for teratoma formation or immunogenicity after the cells are implanted in vivo. In addition, these cells possess paracrine effects and immunomodulatory properties, are immune-privileged (i.e., tolerate the introduction of antigens without eliciting an inflammatory immune response), and have a low immunogenic potential [27]. Adult stem cells, especially mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and hematopoietic stem cells, are well-investigated cell types in stem cell biology [28]. Adult stem cell research remains an area of intense study, because their potential for therapy may be applicable to various degenerative disorders. Many other types of adult stem cells have been identified in organs all over the body and are thought to serve as primary repair entities for their corresponding organs. The discovery of such tissue-specific progenitors has opened up new avenues for research. Adult stem cell populations have been found in many adult tissues other than the bone marrow, skin [29] and adipose tissue [30], including those tradition-ally considered a postmitotic organ, such as brain [31], heart [32,33], and urine [34].

ESCs or iPSCs exhibit two remarkable properties: the ability to proliferate in an undifferentiated but still pluripotent state (self-renewal) and the ability to differentiate into different specialized cell types [35]. These cells have been maintained in the undifferentiated state for at least 80 passages and 200 population doublings in vitro when grown using published protocols [36,37]. In addition, human ESCs differentiate into cells from all three embryonic germ layers in vitro. However, these cells are banned for many clinical applications because of risks for immunogenicity and teratoma in addition to ethical dilemmas associated with manipulating embryos in culture.

Although the entire urinary tract system is responsible for excreting ions, metabolic products, and toxic wastes from the body, it is a closed system with a germ-free environment, unlike the digestive system, which is open and does not have sterile conditions. Some living cells in urine can survive for a few hours within the sterile urinary system. Stem cells exist in human voided urine and urine drained from the upper urinary tract. These cells, termed USCs [34], possess stem cell characteristics with clonogenicity, cell growth pattern, robust proliferative potential, and multipotential differentiation. These cells can be obtained using simple, safe, noninvasive, and low-cost procedures, which avoids the adverse events associated with obtaining cells from other sources. A single USC can expand to a large population with 60–70 population doublings [38,39]. When seeded onto a scaffold and subcutaneously implanted into nude mice, multilayered tissue-like structures formed consisting of urothelium and smooth muscle. In addition, USCs differentiated into endothelial, osteogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, skeletal myogenic, and neurogenic lineages. However, within the 3 months of study, they did not form teratomas despite telomerase activity. USCs have been used in cell-based therapies and urogenital tissue engineering applications, including urethral tissue [39,40], bladder reconstruction [20], kidney and urethral sphincter [41,42], vesicoureteral reflux [41], and erectile dysfunction [43,44].

	MSCs	Primitive Stem Cells	USCs	ESCs/iPSCs	Somatic Cells
Cell types	BMSCs [13,14], adipose stem cells [15,16], Urothelial progenitor cells [11,12], Hair follicle stem cells [21,22] Dental pulp stem cells [25], hBMSCs plus hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells [14] Genetically modified human BMSCs [26]	Amniotic fluid-derived cells [24,48] or placenta- derived stem cells	USCs [17—20],		UC plus SMC [23]
Self-renewal and expanded capability	Limited, PD ~30	High, PD	High, PD 60-70	Very high, PD >200	Limited, PD <30
Multilineage differentiation capability	Multipotent but mainly limited within mesodermal cell lineages	Yes	Multipotent differentiation potential	Pluripotent (can form all lineages)	No
Urothelial, endothelial, or myogenic differentiation capability	Very low	High	High	Low	No
TA/Telomere length	Cannot be detected	Yes	≤75% USC clones possess TA and relative long telomere	Possess TA and long telomere	No
Harvest approach	Invasive, relatively hard to harvest BMSCs at senior level	Aspirate from amniotic fluid	Noninvasive, simple, cost-low, safe	Invasive for iPSCs	Invasive
Pure stem cell isolation	Hard to isolate pure stem cells	Easy	Very easy	Easy	No
Number of stem cells harvested	1 MSC/10 <sup>4</sup> BMSCs at newborn baby, 1 MSC/10 <sup>6</sup>		100–140 USC clones/ 24 h urine in adult		No
Rejection after implanted in vivo	Autogenous or allogeneic	Allogeneic	No rejection	Likely to be rejected if donor is unmatched	No rejection if autogenous cells are used
Oncogenic potential	No reported	No reported	No reported	Yes, harbors disease- causing genes of donor	No reported

#### TABLE 72.1 Different Sources of Stem Cells for Bladder Regeneration

AFCs, amniotic fluid-derived cells; BMSCs, bone marrow stromal cells; ESCs, ethical issues associated with embryonic cells; *iPSCs*, induced pluripotent stem cells; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells; PD, population doubling; SMC, smooth muscle cell; TA, telomerase activity; USCs, urine-derived stem cells; UCs, urothelial cells.

#### 72. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE OF THE BLADDER

In chronic bladder diseases, USCs might be a good cell source for bladder tissue regeneration because cells from the upper urinary tract are normal. In treatment of end-stage bladder diseases or muscle-invasive bladder cancer, using engineered bladder tissue with USCs would be superior to bladder reconstruction using intestinal segments. Intestinal segments used for bladder reconstruction appear to be at increased risk for malignancy, particularly adenocarcinoma, because of histologic changes in the intestinal mucosa after long-term exposure to urine. Studies showed that all children with neurogenic bladder disease are at increased risk for bladder cancer regardless of exposure to intestine [45]. Bowel tissue also increases the risk for complications such as stone formation and excess mucous secretion [46]. Harvesting USCs from patients who already have a nephrostomy tube in place would be a simple, noninvasive, and low-cost approach to obtaining cells for engineering bladder tissue.

Alternate sources of stem cells are the amniotic fluid and placenta. These contain multiple partially differentiated cell types derived from the developing fetus [47,48]. Stem cell populations have been isolated from these sources and express embryonic and adult stem cell markers, but they do not form teratomas. The cells are multipotent and can differentiate into cells from all three germ layers. In addition, such cells have high replicative potential and could be stored for future self-use without the risks for rejection and without ethical concerns.

#### Mechanism of Cell Therapy

#### **Cell Expansion**

Fetal stem cells, such as amniotic fluid and primitive stem cells (such as placenta-derived stem cells), showed promise for future clinical applications [47,48]. These cells can develop into cells from the endoderm, mesoderm, and ectoderm and can be maintained for over 250 population doubling (PD). Long telomeres are retained and a normal karyotype without tumorigenicity is observed in vivo [49]. Adult stem cells have been successfully isolated from various types of tissues. These cells usually reach a PD rate of 20–40 in 10 passages [19].

USCs can generate large numbers of cells in a single clone [20,39]. Around 100–140 USC clones can be formed from 24-h urine collection from one individual [50]. Up to 75% of these cells are highly proliferative owing to their relatively higher telomerase activity (USC-TA<sup>+</sup>) and longer telomeres compared with BMSCs [20]. USCs are reported to have a PD rate of 60–70 for up to 20 passages, whereas other USCs without telomerase activity can be maintained for 8–10 passages with 34 population doublings. Based on this ratio of cells and urine volume, two urine samples containing 20–30 USC clones could potentially yield at least  $1.5 \times 10^9$  USCs at the end of passage 4 within 4–5 weeks [5,38].

Isolation of USCs is a separation- and digestion-free procedure. Urine samples are simply centrifuged and cells are seeded in mixed media composed of keratinocyte serum-free medium and embryonic fibroblast medium at a 1:1 ratio [34]. Expanded USCs are a relatively homogeneous population and require only 2–5% serum to be maintained in vitro; by contrast, most MSCs require 10–20% serum [20]. When cells collected from voided urine are cultured in USC culture media, only USCs tend to attach to the culture container and continuously expand in culture [9]. This quick, easy, and economical process for USC isolation may also facilitate their large-scale expansion for potential clinical trials.

#### Multipotentiality

During tissue repair, stem cells accelerate tissue repair and regeneration in various ways (Table 72.2). Although ESCs and iPSCs are pluripotent and can differentiate into multiple specialized cell types [35], their differentiation capability into urologic-specific cell types is relatively low [19]. Under appropriate conditions, BMSCs can be successfully induced into cells with bladder SMC characteristics, both in vitro and in multiple animal models [51–53]. Induced BMSCs proliferate at a rate similar to bladder SMCs and possess a similar histologic appearance and contractile phenotype. However, only 5–10% of cells in BMSCs can be induced into urothelial-like cells with specific lineage marker expression [53–58]. One reason for this could be their relative scarcity; only an estimated 1 in  $1-1.5 \times 10^4$  cells in bone marrow are BMSCs [59].

Although the effects of aging on MSCs remain controversial, some studies show an age-related decline in stromal vascular fraction number, proliferation rate, longevity, differentiation potential, and MSC immunophenotype expression in BMSCs from older compared with younger donors [60–64]. This question becomes greatly important because the aging population is increasing, and thus the prevalence of urologic diseases is also increasing. Considering the large quantity of MSCs required for clinical applications (up to 10<sup>9</sup>), especially for bladder reconstruction, it is critical to find a stable cell source with potent MSCs [5].

CELL SOURCES

TABLE 12.2 Multiple Modes of Action Assigned to Adult Stein Cens				
Multiple Functions of Stem Cells	Outcomes and Potential Applications	References		
Multipotent differentiation	Osteocytes, chondrocytes, adipocytes, myocytes, epithelial and endothelial cells for cell replacement	Bharadwaj et al. [20,38]		
Secretion of trophic factors	Recruitment resident cells to tissue repair	Liu et al. [119]		
Secretion of extracellular matrix	Prompt cell proliferation, rejuvenation, and differentiation of bone marrow-derived stem cells	Pei et al. [120]		
Immunomodulatory and antiinflammatory	Inhibited T- and B-cell proliferation to decrease fibrosis	Wu et al. [70]		
Gene delivery via angiogenic growth factor gene transfection	Soluble factor gene therapy to accelerate tissue regeneration at site of chronic injury with	Liu et al. and Ouyan et al. [43,121,122].		

<b>TABLE 72.2</b>	Multiple Mod	es of Action Assigned	l to Adu	lt Stem	Cells
-------------------	--------------	-----------------------	----------	---------	-------

Unlike many other cell lineages, USCs can efficiently differentiate into urologic tissue-specific cell lineages, including UCs, SMCs, and ECs. They have higher differentiation frequency into UCs than BMSCs. Under the same induction conditions for 7 days, up to 60–70% USCs are induced into a uroepithelial lineage, compared with only 5% for BMSCs [20,65]. When induction extended to 14 days, up to 90% USCs were differentiated. Cells develop a cobblestone-like morphology and express both urothelial-specific cell markers (uroplakin-III and uroplakin-Ia) and generic epithelial cell markers (CK7 and AE1/AE3). Differentiated USCs also present tight junction markers (ZO-1, E-cadherin, and cingulin) in a dose-dependent and time-dependent manner [20]. Those cells display enhanced barrier function with at least a 60% decrease in leakage compared with noninduced cells [20].

extensive scarring

Urothelially differentiated USCs were seeded on a porcine small intestinal submucosal (SIS) scaffold and cultured in vitro for 14 days before implantation into nude mice. Constructs generated stratified layers in vivo and neotissue expressed urothelial-specific cell markers (uroplakin-III and uroplakin-Ia). USCs have differentiation potency into SMCs comparable to that of BMSCs [53]. Up to 80% of induced USCs express early smooth muscle differentiation markers ( $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin and calponin), contractile SMC markers (desmin and myosin), and smooth muscle-specific marker (smoothelin) after 14 days' induction with smooth muscle differentiation media in vitro [20]. Cells exhibit rapid lattice contraction as mature SMCs. When implanted in vivo on a porcine SIS scaffold, those cells formed multiple layers of SMCs beneath UC layers and presented SMC markers (desmin, myosin, and a-smooth muscle actin). USCs are also capable of endothelial differentiation with barrier function. EC-induced USCs display vessel-like structures on a solidified Matrigel surface after in vitro induction. Those cells express EC-specific genes (von Willebrand factor [vWF], and CD31), proteins (CD31, vWF, kinase insert domain receptor, fms-like tyrosine kinase-1, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase), and tight endothelial junction marker (VEcadherin). When implanted subcutaneously into athymic mice, EC-induced USCs effectively form neovessel structures [66].

#### **Paracrine Effects and Immunomodulatory Properties**

Stem cells have two important roles in tissue regeneration. First, they can directly replace diseased cells by engrafting, cell fusion, and differentiating into the required host cell type (for example, bone marrow transplant and cell therapy for myocardial ischemia). Second, grafted cells stimulate the host's cells to repair the injured tissue without the donor cells contributing directly to form the new tissue. This happens because the grafted cells secrete factors that signal the host's cells to change their biological behavior and the microenvironment. This signaling from one cell to another is called a paracrine effect.

Adult stem cells also can invoke a paracrine response [67]. The implanted stem cells secrete factors that promote angiogenesis and protect against apoptosis, fibrosis, and inflammation [13,68,69], which prompts the host's cells to repair the tissue themselves. Humans and most mammals have a wound repair mechanism that on its own can only

deal with small wounds, but not for large wounds. Large wound is often remodeled by scar tissue. However, human tissue still possesses regenerative potential once it receives the appropriate signals to initiate internal tissue regeneration and repair provided by paracrine effects of the grafted stem cells.

Although stem cells have a short life span (1-3 weeks) after implantation, they have long-term effects on tissue repair. For example, they appear to be important for initiating tissue regeneration but are expendable once the patient's cells are activated. Paracrine effects are amplified once the grafted cells are attracted to injured tissues. Cells within the damaged tissues often secrete cytokines, regulatory factors that act as mediators to generate an immune response that attracts grafted cells. Sequentially, the grafted cells secrete their own cocktail of proteins that stimulate the host's stem cells and inhabit inflammation and oxidative stress, protect against fibrosis, promote resident cell proliferation, and increase vascularization and blood flow into the injured areas.

In addition, paracrine effects of adult stem cells can reduce immune response and possess immunoregulatory properties. For example, regulatory T cells have an important role in inducing peripheral tolerance, inhibiting prinflammatory immune responses, and decreasing immune reactions. To test the immunomodulatory effects of USCs, our studies demonstrated that USCs can inhibit the proliferation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNCs) (T and B cells), and secretion of interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-8 [70]. In the specific experiment, the mononuclear cells usually proliferate when mixed with other somatic cells owing to immune stimulation. In contrast, PBMNC concentrations in USC wells are much lower than in somatic cells, even BMSC culture wells [70]. Colorimetric enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays showed less 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine labeled in the USC PBMNCmixed culture wells and more in BMSC culture wells. As costimulatory molecules, CD80 and CD86 initiate and modulate T-cell immune response. Both CD80 and CD86 expressed on the surface of antigen-presenting cells interact with cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 expressed on activated T cells and mediate critical T-cell inhibitory signals. About 3% of the BMSCs were positive for CD80 (versus 1.05% of USCs) and 1.3% of the BMSCs were positive for CD86 (versus 0.55% of USCs). Human cytokine release arrays showed that IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations were elevated after stimulation by PBMNCs in USC supernatant, higher than BMSC supernatant. Thus, it indicates that IL-6 and IL-8 might be the main immunomodulatory cytokines to target in future studies aimed at preventing and treating bladder abnormalities that accompany diabetes, other immune system disorders, or rejection of transplanted organs.

#### **BIODEGRADABLE BIOMATERIALS**

A biological scaffold tailored to stem cells is central to mimicking the function of the extracellular matrix (ECM) in tissue engineering. The ECM provides structural support and a physical environment so that cells can attach, proliferate, migrate, differentiate, and function [71]. It confers mechanical properties to tissues and delivers bioactive cues for regulating activities of residing cells; it also provides a dynamic environment for vascularization and new tissue formation. Scaffolds can be designed to stimulate and direct tissue formation to replace portions of tissues or whole tissue structures. The material would possess appropriate porosity and microporosity (interconnectivity between pores) to expedite cell attachment, migration, penetration, differentiation, tissue growth, and integration. The ideal type of cell replacement should be composed of materials with similar physical and mechanical properties as the native tissue and should degrade at the same rate as the new tissue is generated. Porosity should allow nutrient transfer and cell adhesion without compromising mechanical strength. Two categories of scaffolds designed to carry cells include synthetic scaffolds and natural collagen matrix for bladder regeneration (Table 72.3).

#### Synthetic Scaffolds

Various porous structures composed of natural or synthetic biodegradable and biocompatible materials have been used as scaffold carriers. Some biomaterials have been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in medical devices in humans. These include polyesters of naturally occurring  $\alpha$ -hydroxy acids such as polyglycolic acid (PGA), polylactic acid, poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid), and polycaprolactone. Metabolites formed after degradation of these materials have been confirmed to be nontoxic and are eventually eliminated from the body as carbon dioxide and water [72]. Because these polymers are thermoplastics, they can easily be formed into a three-dimensional (3D) scaffold with the desired microstructure, gross shape, and dimensions by various techniques, including molding, extrusion [73], solvent casting [74], phase separation techniques, and gas foaming techniques [75]. In addition, synthetic polymers can be manufactured on a large scale using various

#### BIODEGRADABLE BIOMATERIALS

	Advantages	Limitations	
SYNTHETIC SCAFFOLDS			
<ul> <li>PGA/PLGA</li> <li>PLLA</li> <li>Collagen-fibrin hybrid scaffold with IGF1 [123]</li> <li>Acellular collagen-heparin scaffolds with growth factors [124]</li> <li>VEGF-loaded nanoparticle- modified BAMAs [125]</li> <li>PGA with PGA-chitosan "sandwich" graft [126]</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Renewable, sustainable, biodegradable</li> <li>Safe for use, nontoxic, free- immunogenic, free-carcinogenic, free- thrombogenic</li> <li>Ease of manufacturability</li> <li>Reasonable cost</li> <li>Durable and storage stability</li> <li>Process ability: fine complex architectures such as porosity rate, pore size can be generated; highly controllable</li> <li>Consistent products</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Take time to be degraded</li> <li>Poor biocompatibility</li> <li>potential toxic degradation of by-products</li> <li>Lacks specific integrin-binding site</li> </ul>	
BIOLOGICAL SCAFFOLDS			
Silk fibroin [23,127,128], or BAMG-SF matrix [128] SIS [129–131], BSM BAMG [15,24,132] or UBM [133] Decellularized colon matrix [134]	<ul> <li>Unlimited source biomaterials</li> <li>Easy to produce</li> <li>Most allogenic or xenogeneic antigen contents can be removed after decellularization</li> <li>Native architecture is preserved</li> <li>Growth factors and cytokines bound</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Variability depending on the source of biomaterial</li> <li>Antigenicity</li> <li>Weak biomechanical properties</li> <li>Not suitable for subtotal cytoplasty</li> <li>Take time to produce in the</li> </ul>	
Matrix with hydrogel (such as HA-PLGA-modified SIS [135])	<ul><li>With matrix remain</li><li>Integrin-binding sites are retained</li><li>Easy to suture to bladder tissue</li></ul>	laboratory	

BAMA-SF, bladder acellular matrix graft-silk fibroin; BAMG, bladder acellular matrix grafts; BSM, bladder submucosa membrane; HA-PLGA, hydroxyapatitepoly(lactide-co-glycolide). IGF1, insulin-like growth factor 1; PGA/PLGA, polyglycolic acid/polylactic-co-glycolic acid; PLLA, poly-L-lactic acid; SIS, small intestine submucosa; UBM, urinary bladder matrix; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

techniques including electrospinning [76], phase separation, gas foaming, particulate leaching, inkjet printing, and chemical cross-linking. Strength, degradation rate, and microstructure may be adjusted during manufacturing. Scaffolds can be made in different shapes and porosity to facilitate cell engraftment, or they can be further modified by incorporation, surface adsorption, or chemical attachment of bioactive factors. However, a drawback of synthetic polymers is the lack of biologic recognition. To incorporate cell recognition domains into these materials, copolymers with amino acids have been synthesized [77]. Other biodegradable synthetic polymers, including poly(anhydrides) and poly(orthoesters), can be used to fabricate scaffolds with controlled properties [78].

#### **Biodegradable Properties**

Biodegradable biomaterials in tissues of the urinary tract system function as an artificial ECM to replace biologic and mechanical functions of native ECM. These biomaterials facilitate localization and delivery of cells or bioactive factors (e.g., cell adhesion peptides, growth factors) to desired sites in the body and define a 3D space for the formation of new tissues with appropriate structures. They are also a guide for the development of new tissues with appropriate function. Direct injection of cell suspensions without such matrices has been used in some cases [79]. However, without this scaffold function, localization of transplanted cells is difficult to control.

For cell-based tissue engineering, expanded cells are seeded onto a scaffold synthesized with the appropriate material. Because most mammalian cell types are anchorage-dependent and will die if no cell adhesion substrate is available, biomaterials provide such a substrate capable of delivering cells to specific sites with high loading efficiency. Biomaterials can also provide mechanical support against in vivo forces, maintaining the predefined 3D structure during tissue development. Furthermore, bioactive signals such as cell-adhesion peptides and growth factors, can be loaded to regulate cellular function. Generally, two classes of biomaterials are used for engineering of genitourinary tissues: synthetic polymers and acellular tissue matrices. Although synthetic polymers can be produced on a large scale with controlled properties of strength, degradation rate, and microstructure, naturally derived materials and acellular tissue matrices have the potential advantage of biologic recognition, which can lessen hostversus-graft reactions.
Limitations of nutrient and gas exchange restrict tissue engineered implants to a volume of approximately 3 mm<sup>3</sup>. Therefore, to engineer large complex tissues and organs, vascularization of the regenerating tissue is essential. Three approaches have been used to encourage the vascularization of bioengineered tissue. First, incorporating angiogenic factors into bioengineered tissue can attract host capillaries and enhance neovascularization. Second, some studies have investigated the effects of seeding endothelial cells with other cell types in the bioengineered tissue [69]. Finally, vascularizing the matrix before cell seeding has been attempted. There are many obstacles to overcome before large tissue engineered solid organs are produced, but developments may provide important knowledge and essential materials to accomplish this goal.

#### **Porosity**

Recellularization of biological materials (scaffold) with cell-seeded technology provides a promising option in tissue regeneration. The scaffold needs to have a 3D structure with high porosity but also maintain normal tensile strength. A 3D scaffold with higher porosity and relative larger pore size ( $50-200 \mu m$ ) promotes cell proliferation, migration, and infiltration into the matrix and appears to allow abundant cell loading onto the scaffold, thereby promoting in vivo tissue regeneration [80-82]. Treatment with 5% peracetic acid led to high porosity on the surface of the matrix with less cellular material retained; about 75% of normal tensile strength remained. Cells penetrated deeper into the lamina propria of the matrix compared with untreated matrix [83].

## Natural Collagen Matrix

Naturally occurring matrix materials may also function as 3D scaffolds in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, including both decellularized natural matrix and matrix produced from naturally extracted polymers. Natural materials are widely used in tissue regeneration such as bladder submucosa (BSM) and SIS, and naturally derived materials such as collagen, silk fibroin (SF), and alginate. As the most abundant structural protein in the body, collagen is an FDA-approved biocompatible material for various medical uses. Natural decellularized ECM retains tissue-specific architecture and provides various biological and physical material properties specified by the nature of the original tissue. Such matrix materials also share highly conserved matrix proteins among species, such as collagen, laminin, and fibronectins, which suggests that they could be nonimmunogenic and attractive for the purposes of recellularization and tissue integration.

Under certain circumstances, UCs and SMCs differentiated from adult stem cells can form multiple uniform layers on porcine decellularized SIS scaffold in vitro and in vivo, which shows the potential of this 3D cell/matrix to develop into a multilayer mucosal structure similar to native urinary tract tissue [40]. When seeded with USCs, bacterial cellulose scaffolds represent a promising material for urinary conduits with a multilayered urothelium and cell/matrix infiltration in vitro and in vivo [39]. However, in the context of future clinical applications, decellularized matrix could be contaminated by xenogeneic factors. There is also a risk for incomplete decellularization and residual cell bodies and altered tissue properties owing to complete decellularization and deproteinization [84,85].

#### **Acellular Tissue Matrices**

Acellular tissue matrices are collagen-rich matrices prepared by removing cellular components from tissues, often by mechanical and chemical manipulation of a segment of bladder tissue and small intestine [40,86]. Matrices slowly degrade after implantation and are replaced and remodeled by ECM proteins synthesized and secreted by transplanted or ingrowing cells. Acellular tissue matrices support cell ingrowth and regeneration of genitourinary tissues, including urethra and bladder, with no evidence of immunogenic rejection [86]. Because protein structures (e.g., collagen and elastin) in acellular matrices are well-conserved and normally arranged, the mechanical properties of acellular matrices are not significantly different from those of native BSM [87].

#### Collagen

Collagen is the most abundant and ubiquitous structural protein in the body and is readily purified from both animal and human tissues through enzyme treatment and salt/acid extraction. Collagen exhibits minimal inflammatory and antigenic responses and is approved by the FDA for many types of medical applications, including wound dressings and artificial skin [88]. This material can be processed into various structures such as sponges, fibers, and films [89].

## Silk

SF is a protein obtained from *Bombyx mori* cocoons and may have potential uses in low urinary tract reconstruction. SF contains up to 90% of the amino acids glycine, alanine, and serine found in other natural biomaterials. SF has excellent biocompatibility and low inflammatory properties and can be fully degraded by naturally occurring proteolytic enzymes [90]. SF has used as an effective biomaterial for bones [91], cartilage [92], blood vessels [93], peripheral nerves [94], cornea [95], bladder [96], and urethra [97], among other tissues. Silk processing methods enable the construction of films [98], foams [99], hydrogels [100], gel-spun matrices [96], and woven or nonwoven meshes [101]. Electrospinning may also be an appropriate technique for urethral reconstruction with SF because it can create a 3D and highly porous scaffold in a conformation that mimics ECM structure in vivo [76].

#### Matrix Binding With Growth Factors

Tissue engineering approaches should mimic the in vivo setting by providing a biocompatible scaffold, a cell source of appropriate progeny or type, nutrients and other environmental conditions, and appropriate bioactive factors. Localized delivery of bioactive factors is understood to be effective and necessary in mimicking the natural microenvironment of cells within specific tissues. Delivering biomolecular cues, especially growth factors, in solution is difficult because of their rapid diffusion to extracellular fluids, and growth factors always have a limited half-life in vivo. However, sustained delivery of growth factors is important for clinical applications of tissue engineering.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is an important active protein for inducing angiogenesis in tissue engineering, but it requires a delivery system targeted to a given site. There are several ways in which matrix could binding with growth factors. Native human VEGF fused with a collagen-binding domain (CBD-VEGF) can bind to collagen specifically to exert angiogenesis effects that promote regeneration. CBD-VEGF was constructed by linking a sequence that encodes the collagen-binding domain (TKKTLRT) with VEGF complementary DNA. CBD-VEGF was inserted into one plasmid (pET-28a). The plasmid was transformed into the BL21 strain of *Escherichia coli*. CBD-VEGF could be purified from the protein made from *E. coli*. When collagen was used as a scaffold in tissue engineering to which CBD-VEGF can bind in vitro and in vivo, VEGF could maintain activity [102].

## PRECLINICAL MODELS

#### **Tissue Regeneration Models**

Two in vivo experimental models have been used for bladder regeneration, including hemi-cystoplasty (in which 40–50% of bladder tissues are removed) and subtotal cystoplasty (in which >75% bladder tissue is removed or trigone-sparing cystectomy is performed) (Table 72.4). Cell-seeded or cell-free seeded scaffolds are capable of increasing bladder volume in small animals after hemi-cystectomy, whereas cell-seeded scaffolds are often designed to replace diseased bladder in a larger animal model after subtotal cystectomy. A rodent model such as rat is often used to test new cell sources or new biomaterials and study histologic changes in the regenerative bladder. Larger animal models are used to evaluate further the alterations in bladder function and volume, and anatomic and histologic structures (Table 72.5), in preparation for clinical applications. Beagles or minipigs are most commonly used larger animal models for these purposes.

#### Fibrotic Bladder Model

Most in vivo experiment models of tissue engineered bladders are performed in the normal bladder after cystectomy. However, in clinical situations, patients have diseased bladders with fibrosis or chronic inflammation or lack a good blood supply. Thus, a model is needed that mimics disease conditions to test the potential of tissue engineering technology. Several approaches have been used to create a neurogenic bladder dysfunction model [103] or fibrotic bladder model induced by bladder atrophy owing to urinary diversion [104], bladder ischemia [105], or chemical agents [106].

To generate a bladder atrophy model, urinary diversion is performed to cause a rapid decrease in contractile function in adult or fetal animal bladders. Liu et al. [104] developed a urinary diversion model in the rat. Female Sprague-Dawley rats were distributed into age matched control, sham urinary diversion and urinary diversion groups. Each group was subsequently evaluated 1 or 8 weeks after urinary diversion or sham operation. Diversion was done by surgical disconnection of the ureters from the bladder and implantation into the uterine cervix. The results demonstrated that bladder weight decreased in the diversion group. The urinary diversion group had decreased

#### 72. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE OF THE BLADDER

## TABLE 72.4 Experimental Animal Models for Bladder Reconstruction

	Advantages	Challenges
SURGICAL PROCEDURES		
Hemi-cystoplasty	<ul> <li>Evaluation of cell-seeded or nonseeded tissue engineered technology for bladder augmentation</li> <li>Neobladder often retains contractile function because of original bladder plus regenerated bladder</li> <li>Histologically, fully regenerated urothelium; partial muscle regeneration and innervation</li> </ul>	Stone formation, graft shrinkage
Subtotal cystoplasty	<ul> <li>Assessment of cell-seeded tissue engineering technology for bladder replacement</li> <li>Acts as urinary reservoir</li> <li>Regenerated urothelium</li> <li>Bladder capacity increases at early stages</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High risk of graft collapse or shrinkage and bladder stone formation</li> <li>Limited innervation, myogenesis and blood supply at center of graft</li> <li>Bladder volume may decrease over time</li> </ul>
ANIMAL MODELS		
Large animals		
Canine [24,132,135,136]; Porcine, i.e., juvenile Yorkshire swine [27,127]; rabbit [23]; sheep [124]; nonhuman primates [13]	<ul> <li>Physiology, anatomy, and histology similar to humans;</li> <li>Autograft models;</li> <li>Easy development of subtotal cystoplasty model</li> <li>Test both synthetic or thicker nature- based collagen scaffold with cells</li> <li>Easy to perform urodynamic studies</li> <li>Enough tissue regenerated to perform contractility studies of muscle strips in organ bath</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High cost to purchase and maintain large animals</li> <li>Not easy to fix urethral catheter after surgery in pigs and nonhuman primates</li> </ul>
Small animals		
Athymic rodent [26] and Rat [15,123,128,134]	<ul> <li>Easy to maintain</li> <li>Well-known histology</li> <li>Allogeneic and xenogeneic-grafted stem cells not rejected by the host</li> <li>Economical</li> <li>Commonly used for hemi-cystoplasty</li> <li>Dynamically observe bladder regenerative processes at the different time points</li> <li>Allogeneic or even xenograft models</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Subtotal cystoplasty model not possible</li> <li>Require thinner scaffold</li> <li>High risk of stone formation</li> <li>Requires special fine devices for urodynamic study and images</li> <li>Cannot observe immune reaction within graft in immunodeficient rodents</li> </ul>

intercontractile intervals and voided volumes compared with the control and sham-operated groups. Compliance was decreased in bladders of rats with urinary diversion. Smooth muscle and urothelium were decreased as a proportion of the total bladder cross-sectional area. Collagen increased in rats with either 1 or 8 weeks of urinary diversion versus controls. Urinary diversion caused decreased expression of muscarinic 3 and ligand-gated purinergic 1 receptors but no change in muscarinic 2 or ligand gated purinergic 2 receptors. Urinary diversion causes dysfunctional and abnormal morphometric alterations in the bladder in this model.

In a study by Matsumoto et al. [107], urinary diversion was performed on fetal sheep after 90 days of gestation (term = 147 days) and bladder tissue was obtained 2 weeks later. Bladders from fetal sheep subjected to urinary diversion weighed significantly less than control fetal bladders. Marked reorganization of smooth muscle elements was observed in those with diversion. Carbachol stimulated a tonic contraction whereas field stimulation administered during tonic contraction elicited a phasic relaxation or a biphasic response consisting of an initial relaxation

PREIMPLANTATION		
Cells	<ul> <li>Characterize cell proliferation capacity, phenotypes, paracrine effects of stem cells, urothelially and myogenically differentiated stem cells or cultured urothelial and smooth muscle cells with immunocytochemical staining; label to monitor fate of grafted cells if needed.</li> </ul>	
Scaffold	<ul> <li>Determine biocompatible, biodegradable and mechanical properties, porosity, pore size, and bioactive proteins within scaffold (for natural collagen-based extracellular matrix biomaterials)</li> </ul>	
Cell-biomaterial interaction	• Demonstrate interactions for cell adhesion and infiltration into scaffold using histologic techniques	
POSTIMPLANTATION		
Gross examination	<ul><li>Graft size and hardness, tissue adhesion around organs</li><li>Signs of graft contraction, stones, or calcification on bladder lumen side</li></ul>	
Bladder function tests	<ul><li>Bladder volume, pressure, and contraction style with urodynamics</li><li>Contractility of regenerated bladder strips assessed with organ bath</li></ul>	
Histologic structure	<ul> <li>Cell survival rate</li> <li>Distribution and life span of labeled graft cells</li> <li>Entirety of urothelial layers and thickness of muscle layers</li> <li>Ratio of collagen and muscle in regenerated bladder tissue</li> <li>Angiogenesis or revascularization and innervation</li> </ul>	

#### TABLE 72.5 Criteria for Tissue Engineering Techniques for Bladder Regeneration

and then a phasic contraction in control and diverted bladders. Contractile responses of defunctionalized strips to carbachol were significantly less than those of control bladder strips. In brief, urinary diversion in normal fetal sheep resulted in marked bladder atrophy, reduced muscle mass, and decreased bladder contractility.

Both indwelling urethral catheterization and suprapubic catheterization are types of urinary diversion. The former is associated with a risk for urolithiasis, urethral trauma, urethral erosions and/or strictures, bladder fibrosis, epididymitis, orchitis, and bladder cancer. Therefore, in most clinical cases, indwelling urethral catheters are inappropriate for long-term treatment and suprapubic catheters are a better option. However, clinical data [108] showed that long-term indwelling urinary catheterization has similar rates of upper tract damage, vesicoureteral reflux, renal or bladder calculi, and symptomatic urinary tract infections compared with suprapubic catheters. The catheter was changed every 2 weeks, which can prevent the complications of indwelling urethral catheterization. Although a bladder dystrophy model is closer to diseased conditions, it is time-consuming to create such a model. A novel bladder fibrotic model is needed for bladder tissue regeneration studies.

## CLINICAL TRIALS

## **Clinical Translation**

Human urothelial and muscle cells can be expanded in vitro, seeded onto polymer scaffolds, and allowed to attach and form sheets of cells. The cell—polymer scaffold can then be implanted in vivo. Histologic analysis indicated that viable cells were able to self-assemble back into their respective tissue types and would retain their native phenotype [109]. These experiments demonstrated for the first time that composite layered tissue engineered structures could be created de novo. Before this study, only nonlayered structures had been created in the field of regenerative medicine.

To determine the effects of implanting engineered tissues in continuity with the urinary tract, animal models of bladder augmentation were used [110]. Partial cystectomies were performed in dogs. The animals were divided into two experimental groups. One group had the bladder augmented with a nonseeded bladder-derived collagen matrix; the second group had the bladder augmented with a cell-seeded construct. The bladders augmented with matrices seeded with cells showed a 100% increase in capacity compared with bladders augmented with cell-free matrices, which showed only a 30% increase in capacity.

Most of the free grafts (without cells) used for bladder replacement in the past were able to show adequate histology in terms of a well-developed urothelial layer, but they were associated with an abnormal muscular layer that varied in terms of its full development. It has been well-established for decades that the bladder is able to regenerate generously over free grafts. Urothelium is associated with a high reparative capacity. Bladder muscle tissue is less likely to regenerate in a normal fashion. Both urothelial and muscle ingrowth are believed to be initiated from the edges of the normal bladder toward the region of the free graft [111]. Usually, however, contracture or resorption of the graft has been evident. The inflammatory response toward the matrix may contribute to the resorption of the free graft. It was hypothesized that building 3D structure constructs in vitro before implantation would facilitate the eventual terminal differentiation of the cells after implantation in vivo and minimize the inflammatory response toward the matrix, thus avoiding graft contracture and shrinkage. The dog study demonstrated a major difference between matrices used with autologous cells (tissue engineered matrices) and those used without cells [110]. Matrices implanted with cells for bladder augmentation retained most of their implanted diameter, as opposed to matrices implanted without cells for bladder augmentation, in which graft contraction and shrinkage occurred. The histomorphology demonstrated a marked paucity of muscle cells and a more aggressive inflammatory reaction in matrices implanted without cells. Epithelial mesenchymal signaling is important for the differentiation of bladder smooth muscle [112]. The results of initial studies showed that the creation of artificial bladders may be achieved in vivo; however, it could not be determined whether the functional parameters noted were caused by the augmented segment or the intact native bladder tissue. To address the functional parameters of tissue engineered bladders better, an animal model was designed that required a subtotal cystectomy with subsequent replacement with a tissue engineered organ [113].

Cystectomy-only and nonseeded controls maintained average capacities of 22% and 46%, respectively, of preoperative values. An average bladder capacity of 95% of the original precystectomy volume was achieved in the cellseeded tissue engineered bladder replacements. These findings were confirmed radiographically. The subtotal cystectomy reservoirs that were not reconstructed and the polymer-only reconstructed bladders showed a marked decrease in bladder compliance (10% and 42% total compliance, respectively). The compliance of the cell-seeded tissue engineered bladders showed almost no difference from preoperative values that were measured when the native bladder was present (106%). Histologically, the nonseeded scaffold bladders presented a pattern of normal UCs with a thickened fibrotic submucosa and a thin layer of muscle fibers. The retrieved tissue engineered bladders showed a normal cellular organization consisting of a trilayer of urothelium, submucosa, and muscle. Immunocytochemical analyses confirmed the muscle and urothelial phenotype. S-100 staining indicated the presence of neural structures [113]. These studies, which were performed with PGA-based scaffolds, have been repeated by other investigators and showed similar results in large numbers of animals over the long term [114]. The strategy of using biodegradable scaffolds with cells can be pursued without concerns regarding local or systemic toxicity [115]. However, not all scaffolds perform well if a large portion of the bladder needs replacement. In a study using SIS for subtotal bladder replacement in dogs, both the unseeded and cell-seeded experimental groups showed graft shrinkage and poor results [116]. The type of scaffold used is critical to the success of these technologies. The use of bioreactors, in which mechanical stimulation is started at the time of organ production, has also been proposed as an important parameter for success [117,118].

To evaluate the effect of cell-seeded tissue engineering technology in the bladder regeneration compared with scaffold alone, a group of experimental dogs underwent a trigone-sparing cystectomy and were randomly assigned to one of three groups. One group underwent closure of the trigone without a reconstructive procedure, another underwent reconstruction with a nonseeded bladder-shaped biodegradable scaffold, and the last underwent reconstruction using a bladder-shaped biodegradable scaffold that was seeded with autologous urothelial and SMCs [113]. The cystectomy-only and nonseeded controls maintained average capacities of 22% and 46%, respectively, of preoperative values. An average bladder capacity of 95% of the original precystectomy volume was achieved in the cell-seeded tissue engineered bladder replacements; however, the subtotal cystectomy reservoirs that were not reconstructed and the polymer-only reconstructed bladders showed a marked decrease in bladder compliance (10% and 42%, respectively, of total compliance). The compliance of the cell-seeded tissue engineered bladders was almost no different from preoperative values (106%). Histologically, the nonseeded scaffold bladders presented a pattern of normal UCs with a thickened fibrotic submucosa and a thin layer of muscle fibers. The retrieved tissue engineered bladders showed normal cellular organization consisting of a trilayer of urothelium, submucosa, and muscle [113], indicating the benefit of cell-seeded tissue engineering technology in the bladder reconstruction, compared with the nonseeded tissue engineered bladder.

## **Clinical Studies**

Clinical experience involving engineered bladder tissue for cystoplasty reconstruction started in 1998. A small pilot study of seven patients was reported [5] using a collagen scaffold seeded with cells with or without omentum

#### REFERENCES

coverage or a combined PGA–collagen scaffold seeded with cells and omental coverage. Patients reconstructed with the engineered bladder tissue created with the PGA–collagen cell seeded scaffolds showed increased compliance, decreased end-filling pressures, increased capacities, and longer dry periods over time [5]. It is clear from this experience that the engineered bladders continued to improve with time, mirroring their continued development. Although this report was promising in terms of showing that engineered tissues can be implanted safely, it is just a start in terms of accomplishing the goal of engineering fully functional bladders. This was a limited clinical experience; the technology is not yet ready for wide dissemination because further experimental and clinical studies are required. FDA phase II studies have been completed.

## CONCLUSION

We reviewed experimental and clinical data related to bladder regeneration, highlighting the use of different stem cell types and various biomaterials. Progress suggests that engineered urologic tissues may have wide use for clinical applicability. Assessments of the histologic structure and physiologic function of the urinary bladder can better elucidate mechanisms responsible for functional tissue engineered bladders. Well-established in vitro and in vivo models are available for experimental evaluations of the regenerated bladder, providing invaluable data to predict clinical efficacy.

Standard cell culture studies can define the biological and molecular cues of urothelial, smooth muscle, and endothelial cells or differentiated stem cells. Novel and noninvasive cell sources are needed to improve the regenerative efficacy of urinary bladder further. In addition, 3D construction remains critical to recapitulate the epithelial-stromal microenvironment in bladder regeneration studies. The development and optimization of reliable and reproducible scaffolds with the necessary porosity, biodegradability, flexibility, and firmness are vital for assessing the in vitro and in vivo efficacy of tissue engineered bladders. Biomaterials coated with growth factors are promising tools for bladder regeneration. Therapeutic investigations should be continued with the development of new biomaterials and optimized cell source to improve treatment outcomes for bladder diseases through tissue engineering technology.

## References

- [1] Wiseman OJ, Fowler CJ, Landon DN. The role of the human bladder lamina propria myofibroblast. BJU Int 2003;91:89–93.
- [2] Lutz N, Frey P. Enterocystoplasty using modified pedicled, detubularized, de-epithelialized sigmoid patches in the mini-pig model. J Urol 1995;154:893-8.
- [3] Deng FM, Ding M, Lavker RM, Sun TT. Urothelial function reconsidered: a role in urinary protein secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:154–9.
- [4] McDougal WS. Metabolic complications of urinary intestinal diversion. J Urol 1992;147:1199-208.
- [5] Atala A, Bauer SB, Soker S, Yoo JJ, Retik AB. Tissue-engineered autologous bladders for patients needing cystoplasty. Lancet 2006;367: 1241–6.
- [6] Zhang YY, Frey P. Growth of cultured human urothelial cells into stratified urothelial sheet suitable for autografts. Adv Exp Med Biol 2003; 539:907–20.
- [7] Atala A, Vacanti JP, Peters CA, Mandell J, Retik AB, Freeman MR. Formation of urothelial structures in vivo from dissociated cells attached to biodegradable polymer scaffolds in vitro. J Urol 1992;148:658–62.
- [8] Li C, Xu YM, Song LJ, Fu Q, Cui L, Yin S. Urethral reconstruction using oral keratinocyte seeded bladder acellular matrix grafts. J Urol 2008; 180:1538–42.
- [9] Feng C, Xu YM, Fu Q, Zhu WD, Cui L. Reconstruction of three-dimensional neourethra using lingual keratinocytes and corporal smooth muscle cells seeded acellular corporal spongiosum. Tissue Eng 2011;17.
- [10] Atala A. Engineering organs. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2009;20:575-92.
- [11] Colopy SA, Bjorling DE, Mulligan WA, Bushman W. A population of progenitor cells in the basal and intermediate layers of the murine bladder urothelium contributes to urothelial development and regeneration. Dev Dyn 2014;243:988–98.
- [12] Papafotiou G, Paraskevopoulou V, Vasilaki E, Kanaki Z, Paschalidis N, Klinakis A. KRT14 marks a subpopulation of bladder basal cells with pivotal role in regeneration and tumorigenesis. Nat Commun 2016;7:11914.
- [13] Sharma AK, Bury MI, Marks AJ, Fuller NJ, Meisner JW, Tapaskar N, Halliday LC, Matoka DJ, Cheng EY. A nonhuman primate model for urinary bladder regeneration using autologous sources of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2011;29:241–50.
- [14] Bury MI, Fuller NJ, Wethekam L, Sharma AK. Bone marrow derived cells facilitate urinary bladder regeneration by attenuating tissue inflammatory responses. Cent Eur J Urol 2015;68:115-20.
- [15] Zhe Z, Jun D, Yang Z, Mingxi X, Ke Z, Ming Z, Zhong W, Mujun L. Bladder acellular matrix grafts seeded with adipose-derived stem cells and incubated intraperitoneally promote the regeneration of bladder smooth muscle and nerve in a rat model of bladder augmentation. Stem Cells Dev 2016;25:405–14.

#### 72. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE OF THE BLADDER

- [16] Salem SA, Hwie AN, Saim A, Chee Kong CH, Sagap I, Singh R, Yusof MR, Md Zainuddin Z, Hj Idrus R. Human adipose tissue derived stem cells as a source of smooth muscle cells in the regeneration of muscular layer of urinary bladder wall. Malays J Med Sci 2013;20:80–7.
- [17] Dong X, Zhang T, Liu Q, Zhu J, Zhao J, Li J, Sun B, Ding G, Hu X, Yang Z, Zhang Y, Li L. Beneficial effects of urine-derived stem cells on fibrosis and apoptosis of myocardial, glomerular and bladder cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2016;427:21–32.
- [18] Lee JN, Chun SY, Lee HJ, Jang YJ, Choi SH, Kim DH, Oh SH, Song PH, Lee JH, Kim JK, Kwon TG. Human urine-derived stem cells seeded surface modified composite scaffold grafts for bladder reconstruction in a rat model. J Kor Med Sci 2015;30:1754–63.
- [19] Qin D, Long T, Deng J, Zhang Y. Urine-derived stem cells for potential use in bladder repair. Stem Cell Res Ther 2014;5:69.
- [20] Bharadwaj S, Liu G, Shi Y, Wu R, Yang B, He T, Fan Y, Lu X, Zhou X, Liu H, Atala A, Rohozinski J, Zhang Y. Multipotential differentiation of human urine-derived stem cells: potential for therapeutic applications in urology. Stem Cells 2013;31:1840–56.
- [21] Drewa T. Using hair-follicle stem cells for urinary bladder-wall regeneration. Regen Med 2008;3:939-44.
- [22] Drewa T, Joachimiak R, Kaznica A, Sarafian V, Pokrywczynska M. Hair stem cells for bladder regeneration in rats: preliminary results. Transplant Proc 2009;41:4345–51.
- [23] Huang JW, Xu YM, Li ZB, Murphy SV, Zhao W, Liu QQ, Zhu WD, Fu Q, Zhang YP, Song LJ. Tissue performance of bladder following stretched electrospun silk fibroin matrix and bladder acellular matrix implantation in a rabbit model. J Biomed Mater Res 2016;104:9–16.
- [24] Hou X, Shi C, Chen W, Chen B, Jia W, Guo Y, Ma C, Ye G, Kang J, Dai J. Transplantation of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells on a bladder acellular matrix for bladder regeneration in a canine model. Biomed Mater 2016;11:031001.
- [25] Song B, Jiang W, Alraies A, Liu Q, Gudla V, Oni J, Wei X, Sloan A, Ni L, Agarwal M. Bladder smooth muscle cells differentiation from dental pulp stem cells: future potential for bladder tissue engineering. Stem Cell Int 2016;2016:6979368.
- [26] Snow-Lisy DC, Diaz EC, Bury MI, Fuller NJ, Hannick JH, Ahmad N, Sharma AK. The role of genetically modified mesenchymal stem cells in urinary bladder regeneration. PLoS One 2015;10:e0138643.
- [27] Wang Y, Chen X, Cao W, Shi Y. Plasticity of mesenchymal stem cells in immunomodulation: pathological and therapeutic implications. Nat Immunol 2014;15:1009–16.
- [28] Ballas CB, Zielske SP, Gerson SL. Adult bone marrow stem cells for cell and gene therapies: implications for greater use. J Cell Biochem Suppl 2002;38:20–8.
- [29] Jensen UB, Yan X, Triel C, Woo SH, Christensen R, Owens DM. A distinct population of clonogenic and multipotent murine follicular keratinocytes residing in the upper isthmus. J Cell Sci 2008;121:609–17.
- [30] Konno M, Hamabe A, Hasegawa S, Ogawa H, Fukusumi T, Nishikawa S, Ohta K, Kano Y, Ozaki M, Noguchi Y, Sakai D, Kudoh T, Kawamoto K, Eguchi H, Satoh T, Tanemura M, Nagano H, Doki Y, Mori M, Ishii H. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells and regenerative medicine. Dev Growth Differ 2013;55:309–18.
- [31] Jiao J, Chen DF. Induction of neurogenesis in nonconventional neurogenic regions of the adult central nervous system by niche astrocyteproduced signals. Stem Cells 2008;26:1221–30.
- [32] Le T, Chong J. Cardiac progenitor cells for heart repair. Cell Death Dis 2016;2:16052.
- [33] Wang WE, Chen X, Houser SR, Zeng C. Potential of cardiac stem/progenitor cells and induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac repair in ischaemic heart disease. Clin Sci 2013;125:319–27.
- [34] Zhang Y, McNeill E, Tian H, Soker S, Andersson KE, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Urine derived cells are a potential source for urological tissue reconstruction. J Urol 2008;180:2226–33.
- [35] Brivanlou AH, Gage FH, Jaenisch R, Jessell T, Melton D, Rossant J. Stem cells. Setting standards for human embryonic stem cells. Science 2003;300:913-6.
- [36] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7.
- [37] Xue Y, Cai X, Wang L, Liao B, Zhang H, Shan Y, Chen Q, Zhou T, Li X, Hou J, Chen S, Luo R, Qin D, Pei D, Pan G. Generating a nonintegrating human induced pluripotent stem cell bank from urine-derived cells. PLoS One 2013;8:e70573.
- [38] Bharadwaj S, Liu G, Shi Y, Markert CD, Andersson KE, Atala A, Zhang Y. Characterization of urine-derived stem cells obtained from upper urinary tract for use in cell-based urological tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2011;17:2123–32.
- [39] Bodin A, Bharadwaj S, Wu S, Gatenholm P, Atala A, Zhang Y. Tissue-engineered conduit using urine-derived stem cells seeded bacterial cellulose polymer in urinary reconstruction and diversion. Biomaterials 2010;31:8889–901.
- [40] Wu S, Liu Y, Bharadwaj S, Atala A, Zhang Y. Human urine-derived stem cells seeded in a modified 3D porous small intestinal submucosa scaffold for urethral tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2011;32:1317–26.
- [41] Wu S, Liu Y, Bharadwaj S, Lee S, Atala A, Zhang Y. Implantation of autologous urine-derived stem cells expressing vascular endothelial growth factor for potential use in genitourinary reconstruction. J Urol 2011;186:640-7.
- [42] Bharadwaj S, Wu S, Hodges S, Atala A, Zhang Y. Skeletal muscle differentiation of human urine-derived stem cells for injection therapy in the treatment of stress urinary incontinence. J Urol 2011;184:E681.
- [43] Ouyang B, Sun X, Han D, Chen S, Yao B, Gao Y, Bian J, Huang Y, Zhang Y, Wan Z, Yang B, Xiao H, Songyang Z, Liu G, Zhang Y, Deng C. Human urine-derived stem cells alone or genetically-modified with FGF2 improve type 2 diabetic erectile dysfunction in a rat model. PLoS One 2014;9:e92825.
- [44] Yang Q, Chen X, Zheng T, Han D, Zhang H, Shi Y, Bian J, Sun X, Xia K, Liang X, Liu G, Zhang Y, Deng C. Transplantation of human urinederived stem cells transfected with pigment epithelium-derived factor to protect erectile function in a rat model of cavernous nerve injury. Cell Transplant 2016;25.
- [45] Higuchi TT, Granberg CF, Fox JA, Husmann DA. Augmentation cystoplasty and risk of neoplasia: fact, fiction and controversy. J Urol 2010; 184:2492–6.
- [46] Cetinel B, Kocjancic E, Demirdag C. Augmentation cystoplasty in neurogenic bladder. Invest Clin Urol 2016;57:316–23.
- [47] De Coppi P, Bartsch Jr G, Siddiqui MM, Xu T, Santos CC, Perin L, Mostoslavsky G, Serre AC, Snyder EY, Yoo JJ, Furth ME, Soker S, Atala A. Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25:100–6.
- [48] De Coppi P, Callegari A, Chiavegato A, Gasparotto L, Piccoli M, Taiani J, Pozzobon M, Boldrin L, Okabe M, Cozzi E, Atala A, Gamba P, Sartore S. Amniotic fluid and bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells can be converted to smooth muscle cells in the cryo-injured rat bladder and prevent compensatory hypertrophy of surviving smooth muscle cells. J Urol 2007;177:369–76.

- [49] Mosquera A, Fernandez JL, Campos A, Goyanes VJ, Ramiro-Diaz J, Gosalvez J. Simultaneous decrease of telomere length and telomerase activity with ageing of human amniotic fluid cells. J Med Genet 1999;36:494–6.
- [50] Lang R, Liu G, Shi Y, Bharadwaj S, Leng X, Zhou X, Liu H, Atala A, Zhang Y. Self-renewal and differentiation capacity of urine-derived stem cells after urine preservation for 24 hours. PLoS One 2013;8:e53980.
- [51] Chung SY, Krivorov NP, Rausei V, Thomas L, Frantzen M, Landsittel D, Kang YM, Chon CH, Ng CS, Fuchs GJ. Bladder reconstitution with bone marrow derived stem cells seeded on small intestinal submucosa improves morphological and molecular composition. J Urol 2005;174: 353–9.
- [52] Kanematsu A, Yamamoto S, Iwai-Kanai E, Kanatani I, Imamura M, Adam RM, Tabata Y, Ogawa O. Induction of smooth muscle cell-like phenotype in marrow-derived cells among regenerating urinary bladder smooth muscle cells. Am J Pathol 2005;166:565–73.
- [53] Tian H, Bharadwaj S, Liu Y, Ma PX, Atala A, Zhang Y. Differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into bladder cells: potential for urological tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 2010;16:1769–79.
- [54] Tian H, Bharadwaj S, Liu Y, Ma H, Ma PX, Atala A, Zhang Y. Myogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells on a 3D nano fibrous scaffold for bladder tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2010;31:870–7.
- [55] Kovanecz I, Rivera S, Nolazco G, Vernet D, Segura D, Gharib S, Rajfer J, Gonzalez-Cadavid NF. Separate or combined treatments with daily sildenafil, molsidomine, or muscle-derived stem cells prevent erectile dysfunction in a rat model of cavernosal nerve damage. J Sex Med 2012;9:2814–26.
- [56] Qiu X, Villalta J, Ferretti L, Fandel TM, Albersen M, Lin G, Dai Y, Lue TF, Lin CS. Effects of intravenous injection of adipose-derived stem cells in a rat model of radiation therapy-induced erectile dysfunction. J Sex Med 2012;9:1834–41.
- [57] Sun C, Lin H, Yu W, Li X, Chen Y, Qiu X, Wang R, Dai Y. Neurotrophic effect of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for erectile dysfunction in diabetic rats. Int J Androl 2012;35:601–7.
- [58] Huang YC, Ning H, Shindel AW, Fandel TM, Lin G, Harraz AM, Lue TF, Lin CS. The effect of intracavernous injection of adipose tissuederived stem cells on hyperlipidemia-associated erectile dysfunction in a rat model. J Sex Med 2010;7:1391–400.
- [59] Weissman IL. Stem cells: units of development, units of regeneration, and units in evolution. Cell 2000;100:157-68.
- [60] Baxter MA, Wynn RF, Jowitt SN, Wraith JE, Fairbairn LJ, Bellantuono I. Study of telomere length reveals rapid aging of human marrow stromal cells following in vitro expansion. Stem Cells 2004;22:675–82.
- [61] Zhou S, Greenberger JS, Epperly MW, Goff JP, Adler C, Leboff MS, Glowacki J. Age-related intrinsic changes in human bone-marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells and their differentiation to osteoblasts. Aging Cell 2008;7:335–43.
- [62] Mareschi K, Ferrero I, Rustichelli D, Aschero S, Gammaitoni L, Aglietta M, Madon E, Fagioli F. Expansion of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from pediatric and adult donor bone marrow. J Cell Biochem 2006;97:744–54.
- [63] Stolzing A, Jones E, McGonagle D, Scutt A. Age-related changes in human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells: consequences for cell therapies. Mech Ageing Dev 2008;129:163–73.
- [64] Dexheimer V, Mueller S, Braatz F, Richter W. Reduced reactivation from dormancy but maintained lineage choice of human mesenchymal stem cells with donor age. PLoS One 2011;6:e22980.
- [65] Zhang Y, Lin HK, Frimberger D, Epstein RB, Kropp BP. Growth of bone marrow stromal cells on small intestinal submucosa: an alternative cell source for tissue engineered bladder. BJU Int 2005;96:1120–5.
- [66] Wu S, Wang Z, Bharadwaj S, Hodges SJ, Atala A, Zhang Y. Implantation of autologous urine derived stem cells expressing vascular endothelial growth factor for potential use in genitourinary reconstruction. J Urol 2011;186:640–7.
- [67] Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ. Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy. Circ Res 2008;103:1204–19.
- [68] Sharma AK, Bury MI, Fuller NJ, Marks AJ, Kollhoff DM, Rao MV, Hota PV, Matoka DJ, Edassery SL, Thaker H, Sarwark JF, Janicki JA, Ameer GA, Cheng EY. Cotransplantation with specific populations of spina bifida bone marrow stem/progenitor cells enhances urinary bladder regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:4003–8.
- [69] Sharma AK, Fuller NJ, Sullivan RR, Fulton N, Hota PV, Harrington DA, Villano J, Hagerty JA, Cheng EY. Defined populations of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem and endothelial progenitor cells for bladder regeneration. J Urol 2009;182:1898–905.
- [70] Wu RP, Soland M, Liu G, Shi YA, Bharadwaj S, Atala A, Almeida-Porada G, Zhang Y. Immunomodulatory properties of urine derived stem cells. In: The 3rd annual regenerative medicine foundation conference 2012 abstract book, Charlotte, NC, USA; October 18-19, 2012.
- [71] Chan BP, Leong KW. Scaffolding in tissue engineering: general approaches and tissue-specific considerations. Eur Spine J 2008;17(Suppl. 4): 467–79.
- [72] Atala A. Tissue engineering of human bladder. Br Med Bull 2011;97:81-104.
- [73] Freed LE, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Biron RJ, Eagles DB, Lesnoy DC, Barlow SK, Langer R. Biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biotechnology 1994;12:689–93.
- [74] Mikos AG, Lyman MD, Freed LE, Langer R. Wetting of poly(L-lactic acid) and poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid) foams for tissue culture. Biomaterials 1994;15:55–8.
- [75] Harris LD, Kim BS, Mooney DJ. Open pore biodegradable matrices formed with gas foaming. J Biomed Mater Res 1998;42:396-402.
- [76] Han D, Gouma PI. Electrospun bioscaffolds that mimic the topology of extracellular matrix. Nanomedicine 2006;2:37-41.
- [77] Cook AD, Hrkach JS, Gao NN, Johnson IM, Pajvani UB, Cannizzaro SM, Langer R. Characterization and development of RGD-peptidemodified poly(lactic acid-co-lysine) as an interactive, resorbable biomaterial. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;35:513–23.
- [78] Peppas NA, Langer R. New challenges in biomaterials. Science 1994;263:1715–20.
- [79] Mahajan PV, Subramanian S, Danke A, Kumar A. Neurogenic bladder repair using autologous mesenchymal stem cells. Case Rep Urol 2016; 2016:2539320.
- [80] Hu K, Cui F, Lv Q, Ma J, Feng Q, Xu L, Fan D. Preparation of fibroin/recombinant human-like collagen scaffold to promote fibroblasts compatibility. J Biomed Mater Res 2008;84:483–90.
- [81] Gong Y, He L, Li J, Zhou Q, Ma Z, Gao C, Shen J. Hydrogel-filled polylactide porous scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 2007;82:192–204.
- [82] Wei G, Jin Q, Giannobile WV, Ma PX. Nano-fibrous scaffold for controlled delivery of recombinant human PDGF-BB. J Control Release 2006; 112:103–10.

- [83] Liu Y, Bharadwaj S, Lee SJ, Atala A, Zhang Y. Optimization of a natural collagen scaffold to aid cell-matrix penetration for urologic tissue engineering. Biomaterials 2009;30:3865–73.
- [84] Kuo YR, Kuo MH, Chou WC, Liu YT, Lutz BS, Jeng SF. One-stage reconstruction of soft tissue and achilles tendon defects using a composite free anterolateral thigh flap with vascularized fascia lata: clinical experience and functional assessment. Ann Plast Surg 2003;50:149–55.
- [85] Crossett LS, Sinha RK, Sechriest VF, Rubash HE. Reconstruction of a ruptured patellar tendon with achilles tendon allograft following total knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002;84-A:1354–61.
- [86] Chen F, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Acellular collagen matrix as a possible "off the shelf" biomaterial for urethral repair. Urology 1999;54:407-10.
- [87] Dahms SE, Piechota HJ, Dahiya R, Lue TF, Tanagho EA. Composition and biomechanical properties of the bladder acellular matrix graft: comparative analysis in rat, pig and human. Br J Urol 1998;82:411–9.
- [88] Cen L, Liu W, Cui L, Zhang W, Cao Y. Collagen tissue engineering: development of novel biomaterials and applications. Pediatr Res 2008;63: 492–6.
- [89] Cavallaro JF, Kemp PD, Kraus KH. Collagen fabrics as biomaterials. Biotechnol Bioeng 1994;43:781-91.
- [90] Dal Pra I, Freddi G, Minic J, Chiarini AA, Armato U. De novo engineering of reticular connective tissue in vivo by silk fibroin nonwoven materials. Biomaterials 2005;26:1987–99.
- [91] Sofia S, McCarthy MB, Gronowicz G, Kaplan DL. Functionalized silk-based biomaterials for bone formation. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;54: 139–48.
- [92] Wang Y, Bella E, Lee CS, Migliaresi C, Pelcastre L, Schwartz Z, Boyan BD, Motta A. The synergistic effects of 3-D porous silk fibroin matrix scaffold properties and hydrodynamic environment in cartilage tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 2010;31:4672–81.
- [93] Lovett M, Eng G, Kluge JA, Cannizzaro C, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Kaplan DL. Tubular silk scaffolds for small diameter vascular grafts. Organogenesis 2010;6:217–24.
- [94] Tang X, Xue C, Wang Y, Ding F, Yang Y, Gu X. Bridging peripheral nerve defects with a tissue engineered nerve graft composed of an in vitro cultured nerve equivalent and a silk fibroin-based scaffold. Biomaterials 2012;33:3860–7.
- [95] Bray LJ, George KA, Ainscough SL, Hutmacher DW, Chirila TV, Harkin DG. Human corneal epithelial equivalents constructed on *Bombyx mori* silk fibroin membranes. Biomaterials 2011;32:5086–91.
- [96] Mauney JR, Cannon GM, Lovett ML, Gong EM, Di Vizio D, Gomez III P, Kaplan DL, Adam RM, Estrada Jr CR. Evaluation of gel spun silkbased biomaterials in a murine model of bladder augmentation. Biomaterials 2011;32:808–18.
- [97] Xie M, Song L, Wang J, Fan S, Zhang Y, Xu Y. Evaluation of stretched electrospun silk fibroin matrices seeded with urothelial cells for urethra reconstruction. J Surg Res 2013;184:774–81.
- [98] Gil ES, Park SH, Marchant J, Omenetto F, Kaplan DL. Response of human corneal fibroblasts on silk film surface patterns. Macromol Biosci 2010;10:664–73.
- [99] Nazarov R, Jin HJ, Kaplan DL. Porous 3-D scaffolds from regenerated silk fibroin. Biomacromolecules 2004;5:718-26.
- [100] Kluge JA, Rosiello NC, Leisk GG, Kaplan DL, Dorfmann AL. The consolidation behavior of silk hydrogels. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2010;3:278–89.
- [101] Min BM, Jeong L, Nam YS, Kim JM, Kim JY, Park WH. Formation of silk fibroin matrices with different texture and its cellular response to normal human keratinocytes. Int J Biol Macromol 2004;34:281-8.
- [102] Zhang J, Ding L, Zhao Y, Sun W, Chen B, Lin H, Wang X, Zhang L, Xu B, Dai J. Collagen-targeting vascular endothelial growth factor improves cardiac performance after myocardial infarction. Circulation 2009;119:1776–84.
- [103] Yoo KH, Lee SJ. Experimental animal models of neurogenic bladder dysfunction. Int Neurourol J 2010;14:1-6.
- [104] Liu G, Lin YH, Li M, Xiao N, Daneshgari F. Temporal morphological and functional impact of complete urinary diversion on the bladder: a model of bladder disuse in rats. J Urol 2010;184:2179–85.
- [105] Azadzoi KM. Effect of chronic ischemia on bladder structure and function. Adv Exp Med Biol 2003;539:271-80.
- [106] Jiang X, Chen Y, Zhu H, Wang B, Qu P, Chen R, Sun X. Sodium tanshinone IIA sulfonate ameliorates bladder fibrosis in a rat model of partial bladder outlet obstruction by inhibiting the TGF-beta/Smad pathway activation. PLoS One 2015;10:e0129655.
- [107] Matsumoto S, Kogan BA, Levin RM, Howard PS, Macarak EJ. Response of the fetal sheep bladder to urinary diversion. J Urol 2003;169: 735–9.
- [108] Hunter KF, Bharmal A, Moore KN. Long-term bladder drainage: suprapubic catheter versus other methods: a scoping review. Neurourol Urodyn 2013;32:944–51.
- [109] Atala A, Freeman MR, Vacanti JP, Shepard J, Retik AB. Implantation in vivo and retrieval of artificial structures consisting of rabbit and human urothelium and human bladder muscle. J Urol 1993;150:608–12.
- [110] Yoo JJ, Meng J, Oberpenning F, Atala A. Bladder augmentation using allogenic bladder submucosa seeded with cells. Urology 1998;51: 221-5.
- [111] Monsour MJ, Mohammed R, Gorham SD, French DA, Scott R. An assessment of a collagen/vicryl composite membrane to repair defects of the urinary bladder in rabbits. Urol Res 1987;15:235–8.
- [112] Master VA, Wei G, Liu W, Baskin LS. Urothlelium facilitates the recruitment and trans-differentiation of fibroblasts into smooth muscle in acellular matrix. J Urol 2003;170:1628–32.
- [113] Oberpenning F, Meng J, Yoo JJ, Atala A. De novo reconstitution of a functional mammalian urinary bladder by tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17:149–55.
- [114] Jayo MJ, Jain D, Ludlow JW, Payne R, Wagner BJ, McLorie G, Bertram TA. Long-term durability, tissue regeneration and neo-organ growth during skeletal maturation with a neo-bladder augmentation construct. Regen Med 2008;3:671–82.
- [115] Kwon TG, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Local and systemic effects of a tissue engineered neobladder in a canine cystoplasty model. J Urol 2008;179: 2035–41.
- [116] Zhang Y, Frimberger D, Cheng EY, Lin HK, Kropp BP. Challenges in a larger bladder replacement with cell-seeded and unseeded small intestinal submucosa grafts in a subtotal cystectomy model. BJU Int 2006;98:1100–5.
- [117] Farhat WA, Yeger H. Does mechanical stimulation have any role in urinary bladder tissue engineering? World J Urol 2008;26:301-5.
- [118] Wallis MC, Yeger H, Cartwright L, Shou Z, Radisic M, Haig J, Suoub M, Antoon R, Farhat WA. Feasibility study of a novel urinary bladder bioreactor. Tissue Eng 2008;14:339–48.

#### REFERENCES

- [119] Liu G, Pareta RA, Wu R, Shi Y, Zhou X, Liu H, Deng C, Sun X, Atala A, Opara EC, Zhang Y. Skeletal myogenic differentiation of urinederived stem cells and angiogenesis using microbeads loaded with growth factors. Biomaterials 2013;34:1311–26.
- [120] Pei M, Li J, Zhang Y, Liu G, Wei L. Expansion on a matrix deposited by nonchondrogenic urine stem cells strengthens the chondrogenic capacity of repeated-passage bone marrow stromal cells. Cell Tissue Res 2014;356:391–403.
- [121] Liu G, Wang X, Sun X, Deng C, Atala A, Zhang Y. The effect of urine-derived stem cells expressing VEGF loaded in collagen hydrogels on myogenesis and innervation following after subcutaneous implantation in nude mice. Biomaterials 2013;34.
- [122] Liu G, Sun X, Bian J, Wu R, Guan X, Ouyang B, Huang Y, Xiao H, Luo D, Atala A, Zhang Y, Deng C. Correction of diabetic erectile dysfunction with adipose derived stem cells modified with the vascular endothelial growth factor gene in a rodent diabetic model. PLoS One 2013;8: e72790.
- [123] Vardar E, Larsson HM, Engelhardt EM, Pinnagoda K, Briquez PS, Hubbell JA, Frey P. IGF-1-containing multi-layered collagen-fibrin hybrid scaffolds for bladder tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 2016;41:75–85.
- [124] Roelofs LA, Oosterwijk E, Kortmann BB, Daamen WF, Tiemessen DM, Brouwer KM, Eggink AJ, Crevels AJ, Wijnen RM, van Kuppevelt TH, Geutjes PJ, Feitz WF. Bladder regeneration using a smart acellular collagen scaffold with growth factors VEGF, FGF2 and HB-EGF. Tissue Eng 2016;22:83–92.
- [125] Jiang X, Xiong Q, Xu G, Lin H, Fang X, Cui D, Xu M, Chen F, Geng H. VEGF-loaded nanoparticle-modified BAMAs enhance angiogenesis, inhibit graft shrinkage in tissue-engineered bladder. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43:2577–86.
- [126] Drewa T, Adamowicz J, Lysik J, Polaczek J, Pielichowski J. Chitosan scaffold enhances nerve regeneration within the in vitro reconstructed bladder wall: an animal study. Urol Int 2008;81:330–4.
- [127] Tu DD, Chung YG, Gil ES, Seth A, Franck D, Cristofaro V, Sullivan MP, Di Vizio D, Gomez 3rd P, Adam RM, Kaplan DL, Estrada Jr CR, Mauney JR. Bladder tissue regeneration using acellular bi-layer silk scaffolds in a large animal model of augmentation cystoplasty. Biomaterials 2013;34:8681–9.
- [128] Zhao Y, He Y, Zhou Z, Guo JH, Wu JS, Zhang M, Li W, Zhou J, Xiao DD, Wang Z, Sun K, Zhu YJ, Lu MJ. Time-dependent bladder tissue regeneration using bilayer bladder acellular matrix graft-silk fibroin scaffolds in a rat bladder augmentation model. Acta Biomater 2015; 23:91–102.
- [129] Faramarzi-Roques R, Malgat M, Desgrandchamps F, Ballanger P, Mazat JP. Mitochondrial metabolism in the rat during bladder regeneration induced by small intestinal submucosa. BJU Int 2004;94:419–23.
- [130] Lin HK, Godiwalla SY, Palmer B, Frimberger D, Yang Q, Madihally SV, Fung KM, Kropp BP. Understanding roles of porcine small intestinal submucosa in urinary bladder regeneration: identification of variable regenerative characteristics of small intestinal submucosa. Tissue Eng 2014;20:73–83.
- [131] Mondalek FG, Fung KM, Yang Q, Wu W, Lu W, Palmer BW, Frimberger DC, Greenwood-Van Meerveld B, Hurst RE, Kropp BP, Lin HK. Temporal expression of hyaluronic acid and hyaluronic acid receptors in a porcine small intestinal submucosa-augmented rat bladder regeneration model. World J Urol 2015;33:1119–28.
- [132] Merguerian PA, Reddy PP, Barrieras DJ, Wilson GJ, Woodhouse K, Bagli DJ, McLorie GA, Khoury AE. Acellular bladder matrix allografts in the regeneration of functional bladders: evaluation of large-segment (> 24 cm) substitution in a porcine model. BJU Int 2000;85:894–8.
- [133] Aurora A, Roe JL, Corona BT, Walters TJ. An acellular biologic scaffold does not regenerate appreciable de novo muscle tissue in rat models of volumetric muscle loss injury. Biomaterials 2015;67:393–407.
- [134] Kajbafzadeh AM, Khorramirouz R, Sabetkish S, Ataei Talebi M, Akbarzadeh A, Keihani S. In vivo regeneration of bladder muscular wall using decellularized colon matrix: an experimental study. Pediatr Surg Int 2016;32:615–22.
- [135] Roth CC, Mondalek FG, Kibar Y, Ashley RA, Bell CH, Califano JA, Madihally SV, Frimberger D, Lin HK, Kropp BP. Bladder regeneration in a canine model using hyaluronic acid-poly(lactic-co-glycolic-acid) nanoparticle modified porcine small intestinal submucosa. BJU Int 2011; 108:148–55.
- [136] Wishnow KI, Johnson DE, Grignon DJ, Cromeens DM, Ayala AG. Regeneration of the canine urinary bladder mucosa after complete surgical denudation. J Urol 1989;141:1476–9.

This page intentionally left blank

## Therapeutic Applications: Tissue Engineering of Skin

## Fiona M. Wood

University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia

## INTRODUCTION

There has been an explosion of activity in the field of skin tissue engineering (TE) specifically focused on skin repair and regeneration. A simple online search of the key words "tissue engineering" and "skin," 2007–17, reveals 51,842 publications, 41,780 of which are peer reviewed. Progress has been made in the areas of biomaterials for scaffold generation, the reliable source of cells, and novel approaches to assembly such as three-dimensional (3D) printing. However, skin is much more than a two-layered waterproof construct that provides microbiological protection. Comprehensive skin functioning involves maintaining homeostasis with intimate connectivity with the immune neuroendocrine systems. There is an intimate relationship with the underlying fat of the hypodermis and skin adnexal structures are functionally active [1]. Therefore, a fully integrated vascular and neural network is essential for cellular and neural signaling and driving cutaneous responses to changes in both the host and external environments [2]. The skin adnexal structures remain elusive to large-scale replication although our body of knowledge is building. Furthermore, the challenges of developing a vascularized construct integrating small vessels are such that the rapid or immediate restoration of skin function remains an ambitious goal [3].

Each of us is a self-organizing mass of multiple cell types. From fertilization of the embryo onward, our tissue structures develop until an adult morphology is achieved. At that point, our capacity for self-organization is directed to maintaining that morphology in the face of daily insults and the processes of aging. When a given insult overwhelms our capacity to repair by regeneration, the result is scar repair [4].

We know that tissues retain the variable ability to heal by regeneration [5]. With respect to the skin, in all but trivial injuries the capacity for regeneration is exceeded, triggering cellular mechanisms that result in scar formation. The mechanism of pathology or injury also has an impact on the outcome; for example, burn injury is notorious for developing aggressive scars that compromise the individual functionally, cosmetically, and psychologically [6].

It has been well-described that to heal a wound, we need a source of cells capable of differentiating into the given tissue type and an extracellular matrix (ECM) capable of supporting cell migration, proliferation, and differentiation [7]. We and others have spent considerable resources researching these areas to improve the speed and quality of wound healing to reduce the scar [8]. The question we ask is: "How can we harness the technology of TE of skin to provide a controlled repair to restore the original morphology?"

TE was initially coined by Vacanti in 1990 and can be defined as the application of engineering principles to biological systems [9]. The healing of skin has been the subject of writings as far back as ancient times with the attempts to stimulate healing, protect the surface while healing, and even replace the skin surface [10]. Explorations into using TE principles in skin repair are based on a significant history. With the increasing knowledge and understanding of the skin structure and function along with the developing TE techniques, the question remains, can we provide a regenerative repair avoiding scar?

We know that the skin provides the barrier to the external environment as a dynamic, complex, 3D structure made of cells from all embryological layers. Integral to its functions are the vessels and nerves within the tissue construct. Furthermore, skin is specialized over different body sites, adapting to local functional needs demonstrated by the macroscopic differences seen between areas, e.g., the eyelid compared with the palm of the hand. Notable body site differences are seen in the distribution and character of the hypodermis and adipose tissue with an influence on the function and repair potential. The varying capacity of skin to respond to injury is seen with the greater scar potential of sternal and deltoid areas [11].

Thus, as we go forward in developing TE solutions to skin, it is timely to take stock of the skin's functions and interactions. How will skin's changes over the different body sites influence TE needs? Collaboration with specialists in bioinformatics will be essential to understanding the implications of changes in genes, genetic expression, and epigenetics with the resulting phenotypic expression we need to guide the cells and matrix interactions into the tissue constructs [12].

In the therapeutic use of TE, an understanding of the etiology of the skin defect and pathophysiology of the patient will identify what needs to be replicated, rebuilt, and replaced.

Implementation into clinical practice hinges on the TE being problem-driven, providing a practical, timely, costeffective solution to the clinical problem [13]. TE technologies have been used to produce skin constructs used to test a range of topical preparations and explore toxicology. However, from a clinical viewpoint, TE of skin has developed in response to the clinical need for, e.g., skin repair in major burns [14], chronic ulcers [15], and giant nevi [16]. It is clear that the current reference standard of skin loss, skin grafting, will always leave a scar [17]. The development of TE creates the opportunity to tailor the repair to the defect with the understanding that one solution will not fit all. TE offers innovative solutions providing a spectrum of clinical solutions including:

- strategies to facilitate wound healing in situ by introducing bioactive agents ranging from biomaterials to cellbased therapies, and
- the development of laboratory-based, multilayered tissue constructs including multiple cell types tailored to a specific skin defect.

The development of TE of skin is intimately linked to the vision of facilitating scar-free healing. It has broad implications for after trauma or surgery and in fibrosing pathologies in which the common outcome is a functional compromise owing to the distortion of normal tissue architecture. In the developed world, it is estimated that 100 million patients acquire scars each year as a result of 55 million elective operations and 25 million operations after trauma. Within this number, it is estimated that there are approximately 11 million keloid scars and four million burn scars, 70% of which occur in children [18]. There is a clear opportunity to affect survival and quality of life by engaging in TE solutions.

We are living in a time when science and technology are advancing at an exponential rate. Harnessing the power of that science and technology into clinical practice presents an ever-increasing challenge. We are all aware of the latest breakthroughs holding promise to improve the quality of life, such as genetic engineering facilitating DNA manipulation to improve health. However, the growth of knowledge is possible in controlled systems in which experiments can be designed to investigate a single variable; here lies the greatest challenge: for example, in burn injury research. The design of clinical trials is dogged by the complexities of assessing the extent of injury, the individual's response, and the availability of validated outcome measures.

Clinical practice is a fusion of experience and knowledge with the development of medical subspecialization directed toward a targeted problem-solving approach and has facilitated great advances in clinical care. However, this should not be at the expense of broad general knowledge gaining insight into potential links and facilitating cross-fertilization. It is essential to link the tissue engineer with the clinical specialist to ensure that the opportunities, risks, and benefits of TE skin are understood, to facilitate appropriate clinical trials. By collaboration among disciplines, there are real opportunities for improvements in clinical care translating to improved outcomes for patients [19].

The road from the bench to the bedside is long and navigates the areas of regulation, commercialization, reimbursement, and clinical trial design, to name a few. Also, translational research itself is an area in need of research and audit. The investigation of drivers and barriers to the implementation of TE skin solutions is an area of increasing effort. It is vital to learn from history and understand the current situation to continue developing innovative TE solutions but also innovative solutions within health systems, to move timely translation into clinical practice.

To put the challenges and opportunities into context, this chapter will:

- explore the functions of the skin and injury responses we need to understand to harness the TE technology effectively,
- identify the needs that could be supplied by TE strategies,

- discuss available technologies,
- demonstrate TE skin solutions in clinical practice, and
- look to future challenges in areas with a need for further development.

## DEVELOPMENT, ANATOMY, AND FUNCTION OF SKIN

Skin is commonly described as a multilayered physical barrier composed chiefly of the surface cellular epidermis and relatively acellular dermis. Exploring the development, anatomy, and functions of skin demonstrates its complexity and will guide our TE endeavors.

There is no magician's mantle to compare with the skin in its diverse roles of waterproof, overcoat, sunshade, suit of armour and refrigerator. Sensitive to the touch of a feather, to temperature and pain, withstanding the wear and tear of three score years and ten and executing its own running repairs. [20]

During development the initial covering of the embryo is the periderm, which is thought to have a barrier function expressing tight junctions; it interacts with the amniotic fluid, which has surface microvilli. Periderm cells express keratins, which are also associated with migratory epidermal cells seen in wound healing. During the first 6 weeks, the epidermis becomes two-layered, with the outer periderm and the inner developing epidermis. During this time there is no dermis, but a subepidermal cellular layer with deposition of basement membrane type IV collagen and laminin is seen by 5 weeks. By 8 weeks, there is evidence of vascular development. During the embryonic fetal transition stage at 9–10 weeks, several changes are seen:

- epidermal cells express keratins 1 and 10, which are associated with differentiation;
- maturation of the basement membrane occurs with the development of cell adhesion and expression of integrins a6 and b4;
- rapid deposition of dermal matrix takes place;
- migration of melanocytes begins from the neural crest;
- Langerhans' cells are detected originating in the fetal thymus and bone marrow; and
- Merkel cells are seen initially in the epidermis and subsequently in the dermis.

The early fetal period from 11 to 14 weeks sees the development of the hair follicles within the skin. The skin adnexal structures continue to develop and mature into the midfetal period at 15–20 weeks. As the fetus grows in the late period, 20–40 weeks, acceleration of stratum corneum can be identified in specific regions, including the palms, soles, face, and scalp. There is a close association between keratinization and hair follicle development, with the stratum corneum developing initially in the perifollicular regions. The mature stratum corneum is a structure that develops in the late fetal period: a combination of the terminally differentiated keratinocytes forming a cornified envelope and lipid extrusion from the abundant lamellar bodies of the granular layer keratinocytes.

Embryologically, the neural tissue and the epidermis are derived from ectoderm. By the end of the fourth week of embryonic development, the neural ectoderm has separated from the surface ectoderm, forming the neural tube. Under normal conditions, the nerve endings will never be exposed to the external environment. The skin forms the interface and has developed as the interactive responsive surface. In the following weeks, mesoblastic cells from the neural crest migrate into the skin as melanoblasts and the early nerve fibers develop as the vasculature migrates into mesodermal elements destined to become dermis. A close association is seen in development with the skin, developing as a tactile organ providing feedback information from the surface to the developing central nervous system (CNS). An understanding of neural plasticity of the CNS and the peripheral nerve field underpins the self-organization principle. The co-development is put forward as an explanation of the coevolution of the human CNS and the skin as an adaptive dynamic interface.

In the fully developed skin, there are cells from all three embryological layers in a complex framework of ECM. There are functions common to all skin areas, but there has also been adaptation to the specific functions of given body sites that are seen even at the early fetal stages.

The mature epidermis is composed primarily of keratinocytes arising from a layer of basal cells situated on the basement membrane. As the keratinocytes differentiate, they form a stratified squamous epithelium. As the cells undergo terminal differentiation, they lose their nuclei and form a highly cross-linked protein-based layer of keratin. The basal cells are in intimate contact with terminal dendrites: synapse-like structures have been described between nerve endings and keratinocytes. The melanocytes are situated in the basal layer with the melanosomes being

#### 73. THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS: TISSUE ENGINEERING OF SKIN

transferred to the differentiating keratinocytes giving the color of the skin owing to pigment load. The cells linking to the immune system, Langerhans' giant cells and dendritic cells, are also present in the epidermis. The epidermis is specialized to the body sites, most noticeably with the thickened cornified layer of the sole and palm [21].

The dermis is attached to the epidermis at the dermal epidermal junction by the basement membrane morphologically arranged as the rete pegs, which are exaggerated in the glabrous skin areas. The dermis is mainly connective tissue, predominantly collagen, with elastin seen in the superficial papillary dermis. The fibroblast is the cell that produces the ECM, which is specialized over differing body sites; areas such as the groin and axilla are thin and more elastic than the thicker, more rigid dermis of the back. Cells of hematopoietic origin such as lymphocytes and macrophages migrate into the dermis as the vascular bed becomes established and are involved in immune surveillance. The neural and vascular networks maintain the skin and facilitate the functions of the dynamic interactive skin interface [22].

The investigation of wound healing, in parallel with an understanding of skin development and functions, gives us the opportunity to develop innovative methods further to apply to TE. The skin has developed specifically in relation to the multiple functions it performs. As an active organ, it is responsive to changes in the external and internal environment, pivotal in maintaining the body's homeostasis. Our knowledge of skin functions is still growing and includes:

- a semipermeable barrier, overcoat, and suit of armor;
- thermoregulation and refrigerator;
- antibacterial and waterproof;
- UV protection and sunshade;
- sensory receptor that is sensitive to the touch of a feather, temperature, and pain;
- self-regenerating, withstanding the wear and tear of a lifetime;
- capable of rapid repair, executing its own running repairs;
- immune modulation;
- psychological interaction; and
- vitamin production.

The loss of skin integrity can result in severe morbidity and even mortality. The body needs a barrier against the atmosphere to maintain homeostasis. The production of the stratum corneum can be mimicked in tissue culture by exposing a sheet of keratinocytes in culture to an air—liquid interface [23], but it requires maturation in situ to develop the "smart material" of the enucleated cell bodies fully and the extracellular lipoproteins moisturized by vitamin E—producing sebum.

The keratinocytes produce surface proteins that are antimicrobial in the first line of defense against colonizing bacteria on the skin surface [24]. The expression of these proteins changes as the keratinocyte is stressed, as in wounding or culturing, such that protection from microbial invasion is highlighted.

The multiple and specific sensory inputs to the skin are pivotal in regulating the body's temperature and immune responses and psychological responses via neural and neuroendocrine control systems. Animal studies have highlighted the sensory role of the skin in normal development; touch is associated with growth potential of the internal solid organs [21].

The skin is also profoundly influenced by the pathophysiology of the individual, with cutaneous changes in anatomy and physiology being linked to many disease processes.

With this expanding body of knowledge with respect to the skin, we engage the fields of TE to provide solutions to repair and replace skin defects to maintain function and avoid scarring. To do so, we also need a working knowledge of the skin response to injury and tissue loss: the processes of wound healing [25].

Briefly, wound healing in skin is a complex series of cascading events that has been described in three overlapping stages from the initial inflammation to tissue formation and subsequent tissue remodeling [26].

The initial response is clot formation to achieve hemostasis. The activation of platelets releases the contents of their  $\alpha$ -granules, resulting in activation of the clotting cascade and the release of adhesive proteins forming the matrix of the clot, e.g., fibrin and chemotactic factors and growth factors into the wounded area. The coagulation pathway links to activation of the complement pathway's facilitation of the recruitment of neutrophils needed to facilitate the inflammatory response by removing cellular debris and microorganisms.

The ingrowth of new vessels as granulation tissue is initiated and the keratinocytes at the wound edge mobilize to commence reepithelialization. Macrophages migrate to the wound, releasing multiple protein growth factors as the wound response progresses to the repair phase. Both hemopoietic and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from the

circulation are attracted into the wound with fibroblasts producing ECM, some as myofibroblasts associated with wound contraction.

There is an increased interest in the interactions between the keratinocytes and underlying fibroblasts as the matrix is remodeled and the new basement membrane develops. As the keratinocyte is exposed to collagen, it secretes collagenase and as the basement membrane integrity is restored, the cells revert to their normal phenotype in the situation in which healing is achieved without scarring. Molecular cues after inflammation are associated with positional information and assist in driving the cell–ECM interactions.

In situations of more extensive tissue damage, the fibroblast transforms to a scar phenotype with the production of disordered collagen, resulting in an ECM framework that differs chemically, architecturally, and mechanically from the native skin construct. The interactions between the ECM and the fibroblasts respond to the changes as healing progresses from tissue repair to remodeling. The initial migratory fibroblast transitions to the profibrotic phenotype, producing ECM proteins. In the remodeling phase, the cell number within the dermis or scar reduces as the cells undergo apoptosis. The construct is dynamic and responsive to cellular, chemical, and mechanical cues.

Knowledge of the wound-healing progression over time allows the TE skin solution to be clinically integrated into the process and may be directed toward a number of target strategies: the control of cells in growth, the genetic manipulation of cells to express a given phenotype, seeding of the retained dermis with cells from the dermal epidermal junction, removal of the full thickness of the area of compromised skin, and replacement with a specifically tailored TE construct.

## POTENTIAL PREREQUISITE REQUIREMENTS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERED SKIN SOLUTIONS

The skin matures from the softness of the newborn to the skin in old age with the loss of elasticity and reduced potential for repair [27]. We believe that the young heal rapidly but scar aggressively, in contrast to the elderly, who heal more slowly and scar less [28]. Regeneration of the skin without functional or aesthetic deficit, rather than enhanced repair, remains the ultimate goal of wound-healing therapies [29]. However, the degree of scarring and the quality of the repair depend highly on the time taken to heal, with faster healing correlating to improved outcome [8]. The availability of the TE skin for timely use is a key factor balancing the issues of allograft to autograft and biological to nonbiological solutions. The differences in wound-healing responses with age, the condition of the patient, and the etiology of the defect will have implications when harvesting donor tissue for TE and will potentially influence the choice of TE technique [30].

The skin surface is continually replaced under normal conditions and the morphology is retained over the years with changes seen as a result of injury, pathology, and aging. The capacity to regenerate and self-organize becomes overwhelmed in all but trivial injuries such that the repair forms a scar that all too often is debilitating, both physically and psychologically. The traditional approach to reducing the time to healing a skin defect has been to graft skin. Full-thickness skin grafts (FTSG) will give the best scar result but appropriate donor sites to match with recipient sites can lead to skin mismatch with retention of the donor site characteristics, as seen when an FTSG from the groin is used to release a contracture on the palm of the hand. The donor site availability for split-thickness skin grafting (SSG) may be limited in size when large body surface areas are compromised as in burn injury or giant nevi. The area of cover of a given donor site can be increased by meshing or expanding, as in the Meek technique [31]. The expansion of the SSG is associated with small areas of wound healing by secondary intention and a poorer scar outcome. It is the desire to eliminate or at least reduce the scar by reducing donor site morbidity that has driven TE of skin over the past several decades.

Essential factors to achieving healing are:

- a source of cell's capable of differentiating into the tissue and
- an ECM capable of supporting the cells.

With an increased understanding of the skin physiology and interactions with the internal and external environment, we need to also consider:

- the 3D spacial information of the area under repair and
- feedback from the surface to facilitate self-organization.

The ideal needs for a TE skin replacement continue to be debated and are related to the clinical indications for use. Variations in skin with body site and age dictate that a tailored solution is required. Furthermore, the mechanism of

#### 73. THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS: TISSUE ENGINEERING OF SKIN

skin loss has a profound impact on the local and systemic response; when comparing surgical excision with a burn injury, it is seen that the burn is associated with an extreme inflammatory response [32]. The interventions and timing of the interventions are important considerations when preparing the wound for the TE construct. In our group, in treating acute burn injury and scarring, we have been guided by the following basic requirements [33]:

- rapidly available
- autologous
- site-matched
- reliable wound adherence
- minimal donor site morbidity
- clinically manageable
- improved quality of scar
- affordable

The list could be debated and expanded according to clinical needs and opportunities such as the use of allograft MSCs with their demonstrated immune privilege [34]. However, the improvement of outcome by clinically manageable affordable solutions affords a solid benchmark.

For TE to be successful it is clear that an in-depth working knowledge of the biology of the tissue is essential. There are a number of cell types within the skin, each with specific and often interrelated functions, some established within the construct, and others transitory from the circulation; their origin and maintenance of clonal capacity remain elusive. It is fundamental to the success of TE to have an understanding of essential information about how the cells relate to the other cells and the ECM of the skin to develop into a mature tissue construct [35].

The ECM scaffold is integral to tissue integrity. We know that the physical shape, mechanical properties, and chemical composition of the environment of a cell influence its phenotype. The predominate dermal cell responsible for ECM production, the fibroblast, changes its phenotype after injury and repair, as demonstrated in the epigenetic modification. The stiffness of the ECM is linked to the fibroblast phenotype, and an understanding of the mechanobiology is an opportunity to guide appropriate tissue regeneration. With the complexity of multiple factors at play, hierarchical mathematics will be useful such that the field of bioinformatics may assist in refining design in the future [36].

In designing of the TE solution, an understanding of this relationship will lead to increased clinical success guiding phenotypic expression. From an engineering perspective, there are technologies that will facilitate innovative clinical solutions such as the advanced modeling and fabrication for scaffold manufacture. Bioprinting has demonstrated the capacity to use the advancing knowledge of biomaterials, natural and synthetic, combined with the cells to produce scaffold cell constructs of increasing complexity. The materials for use need to [37]:

- be biocompatible;
- have properties compatible with mechanical aspects of bioprinting, such as extrusion;
- facilitate appropriate tissue-specific cell viability and function;
- maintain structural integrity and mechanical properties after printing;
- be responsive to chemical and cellular signaling; and
- integrate into the host tissue environment with vascular and neural connectivity.

The development of bioreactors to maintain viability and expand cell numbers associated with scaling up in an appropriately regulated laboratory is essential for cell culture—based techniques [23]. With the advent of bioprinting, it is essential to consider cell capabilities that ideally [37]:

- have the capacity for cell proliferation generating adequate cell numbers in a timely fashion, depending on the pathology being treated;
- are nonimmunogenic or autologous;
- are multipotential;
- are responsive to the environment; and
- have a capacity to integrate without fibrosis.

The increased use of MSCs as immune-privileged cells in a range of pathologies has led to the exploration of them as a source of cells in the TE field meeting these criteria [34]. The increasingly reliable generation of patient-specific induced pluripotential stem cells (iPSCs) provides an alternative source of cells with the capacity to be plastic down a range of lineages, affording potential for future differentiation into specialized cells of the skin adnexal structures [38]. As a source of cells for genetic engineering, treatment of cutaneous pathology becomes a possibility. Cells from

a range of sources can be guided by the introduction of signaling molecules to facilitate activity such as migration, proliferation, and differentiation, bringing us back to having an in-depth working knowledge and even expanding that knowledge base from embryology to wound healing to introduce the appropriate triggers. The cells can also be manipulated by physical changes such as hypoxia to stimulate responses or be guided by introducing magnetic nanoparticles to allow manipulation by external forces such as a magnetic field [39]. Putting the ECM and cells into proximity of a 3D structure is the beginning of the process that needs to be guided either in the laboratory or in situ in the wound to develop into the tissue construct.

It is clear from the experiences of the past several decades that many of the proposed TE skin solutions are disruptive technologies. It is essential that the TE skin not be designed for only a clinical problem and that it should be reproducible and reliable, but also that it should be linked to an education and training program so that its full clinical potential is realized [19].

## CURRENT TISSUE ENGINEERING SKIN TECHNOLOGIES

Engineering principles have been applied to skin for many years with the development of medical devices to harvest SSG accurately and mesh the skin to allow expansion. The practice of tissue expansion is a well-established surgical tool for the development of skin by subcutaneous insertion of inflatable devices in vivo, which can be serially enlarged with the resulting development of the skin as demonstrated by cell proliferation [40]. The tissue-expanded skin has all layers and the complete characteristics of the donor site, including retention of adnexal structures and functional innervation [41].

There is increasing interest in the concept of tissue expansion in vitro with a full-thickness skin biopsy put under tension in a bioreactor system to maintain its viability and facilitate cell replication resulting in tissue growth [42]. However, these solutions are limited by time, area, and in some cases, donor site and scar outcome. The need remains to provide both rapid large surface area cover and complex site-specific specialized skin repair, with the ultimate goal of healing by regeneration, not scar repair.

The initial approach to TE skin was to separate the layers and consider the epidermis and dermis to be separate problems.

Work by Green in 1970 focused on the culture of keratinocytes into cell sheets suitable for grafting [43]. The solution to large surface area skin repair was to harvest cells from an uninjured donor site and to undertake laboratorybased tissue expansion. The resulting sheets of cells could be used to close the wound as would a traditional SSG. However, there were problems with the time taken to culture in the laboratory, fragility, adherence to the wound surface, and durability over time, because only the epidermis was replaced; in addition, cost was problematic [44]. In trying to solve some of these problems, there has been a development in the area of subconfluent cell transfer on a number of cell culture surfaces [45] in addition to the delivery of cells in suspension as an aerosol [46]. Subconfluent cells have more reliable adherence and are available in a shorter time frame, from 3 weeks for sheets to 5 days for subconfluent cultures [47]. The process of harvesting cells from the dermal epidermal junction by enzymatic and physical dissociation has been used for immediate delivery of a noncultured cell population to the wound [48]. The cells are a mixed cell population in the same ratio as that seen in the normal skin construct, because there has been no selection of cell populations seen when culturing. The maintenance of the melanocytes enables the development of appropriate pigmentation [49]. The cells adhere, migrate, and proliferate across the wound surface and then differentiate and self-organize into a mature epidermis. The scar outcome is intimately linked to the underlying wound bed, which will be discussed in a later section.

The development of a suitable dermal scaffold is also the focus of the TE field [50]. Topographical features are known to influence cell behavior through a phenomenon known as "contact guidance," and alteration in the size of the surface detail can elicit different cell responses [51]. Running parallel to studies on the epidermal cell culture was work by Yannas and Burke on dermal replacement, which culminated in the first commercially available product, Integra [52]. The concept of tissue-guided regeneration within an architectural framework is in clinical practice [53]. Underpinning research on the composition and construction demonstrated the importance of considering both aspects: a combination of bovine collagen coated with glycosaminoglycan but with a pore size of less than 60 mm or greater than 100 mm, resulting in disordered granulation tissue, with the optimal pore size resulting in the migrating cells expressing a reticular dermal fibroblast phenotype. The main drawback with Integra is that it addresses only the dermal aspect, with the outer layer on silicone acting as a pseud-epidermis for the period of vascularization, usually 3 weeks before a second surgical procedure is needed to repair the epidermis [54]. The epidermal repair is with a thin SSG, which may be meshed to cover a larger area than the donor site with epidermal cells to speed the time to

#### 73. THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS: TISSUE ENGINEERING OF SKIN

healing and reduce the mesh scar pattern [55]. The two-stage problem has been addressed by trying to reduce the time to vascularization or by developing constructs that can be used with an SSG at the same procedure. Apligraft, Matriderm, and Pelnec are dermal templates marketed to provide appropriate topography and matrix properties to promote cell migration into the wound, improve healing, and reduce scarring as a one-stage procedure with SSG [56]. An alternative is to use our knowledge of healing as we see cells migrating from areas of the skin adnexal structures in the dermis to form the new epidermal layer. Introduced cells harvested from the dermal epidermal junction seeded into Integra will migrate and organize into a new epidermis with an established dermal epidermal junction within 3 weeks [57]. The use of Integra is a clear demonstration of the potential of tissue-guided regeneration with the expression of a cell phenotype guided by the morphology and chemistry of the matrix [58].

It is well-established that cells change their phenotype in response to changes in their environment [59]. The development of suitable technologies to generate an optimal environment for wound healing is important to enhancing cell response to tissue injury, reducing the time to heal and improving the outcome. Our knowledge of ECM–cell interactions is increasing with the recognition of the cell signaling by nanoscale structures on cell surfaces with roles in attachment and cell migration [60]. Developments in nanotechnology have opened up possibilities in TE to improve scaffold design, but relatively little is known about how changes in topography at the nanoscale affect cell behavior [61]. The scaffolds can be manufactured to address specific skin functions: to protect against injury from loss of fluid and proteins, enable the removal of exudates, inhibit exogenous microorganism invasion, and improve the aesthetic appearance of the wound site [62]. Scaffolds are generally matrices of synthetic and/or natural polymers fabricated by various techniques including solvent-casting, gas foaming, electrospinning, phase separation, freeze-drying, melt molding, and solid free-form fabrication [63]. Critical to their performance is reproducibility, with control over pore size and the distribution of pores, removal of residual toxic organic solvents, and the control of the inflammatory and immune responses owing to polymer degradation and the associated by products [64]. The printing technology could conceivably be used directly in wound bed preparation, providing initial protection and a blueprint for cell migration and guided tissue regeneration [65].

Our group has explored anodic aluminium oxide (AAO) as a potential scaffold or template in TE [66]. Selforganized oxide growth under controlled conditions generates a densely packed hexagonal array of uniform-size nanopores aligned perpendicular to the surface of the AAO film. The size of the pores can be nanoengineered by manipulating the anodization time and voltage, the anodizing electrolyte, and/or the time of postchemical etching. Aluminum oxide is well-known for its biocompatibility in the human body; it is inert, stable, and nonreactive, which makes it suitable for TE applications. Engineering of surfaces to manipulate healing is a rapidly expanding area; interactive dressing systems is in widespread clinical use. With the realization of the impact of surface topography and chemistry on cell expression and developing nanoengineering techniques such as electrospinning and electrospraying, there is increasing interest in smart surface technology skin healing [67]. Biocompatible polymeric selfassembling nanofiber constructs have the advantage of a large surface area that can be linked to bioactive compounds. The release of the bioactive compounds can be controlled by intrinsic factors such as in a hydrogel, release kinetics, or extrinsic release triggers [67]. Exciting advances have been made in the area of nanocubes, nanocages, and nanorods as primary candidates to be studied for the phototherapeutic release of bioactive agents [68]. Clinically, the results of single cytokine applications have been disappointing and study of natural healing processes is a result of complex cascade interactions over time [68]. It is unsurprising that we cannot achieve with a single cytokine administration what is the result of complex cell–ECM interactions. The aim of advancing technology is to mimic the structure and function of the ECM with the ability to adapt over time to the changing environment of the healing wound [69].

TE technologies are also used to test the potential impact of agents on the skin, such as in the cosmetic industry. The degree of complexity of laboratory-based testing systems vary from 3D-printed constructs at an air—liquid interface to produce a differentiated epidermal layer to techniques such as the "scar in a jar" system for testing biological activity of drugs targeting specific pathways in fibrosis [70].

Bringing together the scaffold and cellular components has been successful with the development of multilayered constructs seeded with multiple cell types [71]. Clinical series have been presented demonstrating a soft supple skin but with the persistent problem of poor color match [72]. An understanding of the interdependence of the cells of the dermal epidermal junction may well be important to the development of skin constructs with the appropriate melanocyte function [73]. The main drawback in the clinical use of complex laboratory-based constructs is the time taken in the laboratory [74]. However, the potential to use such a technology in timed reconstructive surgery as opposed to acute trauma is beneficial with the ability to tailor the skin construct to the planned defect. The 3D distribution of cells within the wound has been addressed by the innovative use of "inkjet printing" technology, with the cells "printed," controlled by the shape and depth of the defect [75]. The cell type within the system can be changed with the fibroblasts being laid down before the keratinocytes [76]. ECM and other proteins can also be introduced into the system, such as hair-based keratins, chemical-processing substrates from biological origins to develop innovative scaffold solutions to enhance cell performance within the constructs.

The source of the cells and the guidance along a path of differentiation are critical elements for a functional skin construct. The use of iPSCs offers the potential for differentiation into multiple cell types, including fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and melanocytes [77]. Guidance of cell differentiation and ECM production may hold the answer to replicating the adnexal structures. The iPSCs also have potential in gene-based therapies in treating skin disorders such as epidermolysis bullosa [78]. The use of the cells as therapeutic delivery agents may broaden therapeutic opportunities.

The time to availability of a TE technique is a key driver to their clinical employment. The use of allograft materials allows an "off-the-shelf" approach, whereas autograft material may take time in the expansion phase [79]. The use of scaffolds alone can provide an advanced wound management system to facilitate healing and can replace a tissue defect guiding repair as it is replaced or provide a permanent solution. The use of cells alone can also provide a surface epithelium that can modulate the underlying healing, form a mosaic of cells of intrinsic and extrinsic origin guiding repair, or provide a permanent surface [80].

The combination of the two elements can provide an advanced skin repair solution, but because the differentiation of the construct is more advanced, the time taken in the processes is prolonged. Consideration of the time taken has led to an investigation of the construct being used in the immature form differentiating in situ. It is clear that TE provides a range of innovative solutions that are useful for many wound and skin replacement areas. Effective use of the technology hinges on the clinician understanding the wound preparation and the aim of the repair. The wound assessment drives the initial clinical decisions directing management in terms of resuscitation, tissue salvage, and infection control, and then planning the repair. An understanding of the range of TE solutions is essential to appropriate clinical implementation.

Consideration of the hypodermis in the resulting functional unit adds a further degree of complexity and opportunity to advance the quality of the tissue construct [81]. Fat grafting to improve the contour of the hypodermis has been shown to be associated with modulation of the cutaneous scarring. The cellular mechanism of the interaction is of interest when considering the opportunity for systemic, regional, or local solutions for a given clinical problem.

## TISSUE ENGINEERING SKIN SOLUTIONS IN CLINICAL PRACTICE

The following clinical case of an extensive 65% total body surface area burn injury associated with multiple fractures and pneumothorax is used to demonstrate the decision making and options available in current practice. The initial stabilization and resuscitation is life-saving, along with attention to infection control using Acticoat, a nanocrystalline silver dressing. Once stable, surgical debridement is planned to excise the areas of skin that cannot be salvaged. Although the timing of debridement is vigorously debated with respect to controlling ongoing inflammation and improving outcome potential, an important element in decision making is what is available to cover the debrided wounds, either as a temporary measure or as a permanent replacement. A full-thickness wound requires dermal and epidermal repair for the optimal outcome. In large–surface area wounds, standard SSG is not possible in one procedure owing to restricted donor sites; the SSG can be meshed to achieve healing in a larger area but healing of the interstices by secondary intention often leaves an unsightly meshed pattern scar. Cadaver allograft has been widely used but provides only a temporary solution and will require serial cover as the donor sites heal. A combination of allograft dermis and sheet cultured epithelial autograft (CEA) has been reported to result in a composite repair with retention of the dermal elements. The CEA sheets may take 21 days to culture, or more timely availability can be achieved using preconfluent cultures on carriers or delivered as suspension. The dermis can be replaced with a number of off-the-shelf products such as Matriderm, Pelnec, or Apligraft. The TE technique most widely reported to date remains Integra. The use of composite TE skin could be considered to augment the second stage of the repair with Integra, because it takes time in laboratory preparation.

In this case, Integra was used to reconstruct the dermis in the areas of full-thickness excision, as seen in Fig. 73.1, in which the Integra is held in place with a combination of staples and dressings to facilitate vascularization and integration of the construct. In areas where dermis could be salvaged, cells were harvested from the dermal epidermal junction of uninjured skin using a ReCell kit with Biobrane as a dressing. The main drawback with Integra is the period of vascularization of 3 weeks before proceeding to repair of the epidermis. The epidermis was repaired using a thin meshed SSG 1–3 combined with a noncultured cell suspension from the ReCell kit to reduce the meshed pattern scar. The healing is seen in Fig. 73.2 with the mash pattern fading well in the upper compared with the lower



FIGURE 73.1 Postsurgical debridement of full-thickness burn over 65% of the total body surface area (TBSA) and replacement with Integra dermal scaffold held in place with elastic netting; area of a partial-thickness burn on the abdomen treated with autologous cells under a protective dressing; and uninjured skin donor site on the left flank.



FIGURE 73.2 Post-second procedure to repair the epidermal layer using a combination of meshed split-thickness graft with a noncultured autologous cell spray.

abdomen. At the time of scar maturity in Fig. 73.3, the scar situation demonstrates the issues faced by the patients [82]:

- contour deflect caused by the removed subcutaneous fat layer,
- persistent mesh pattern in the lower scar,
- mismatch of pigmentation,
- contracture bands distorting the anatomy, and
- the repair resulting in a scar.

There has clearly been progress; the development of TE techniques is intimately linked to the advancing survival and quality of scar in patients with major burn injuries. However, there is a clear need to continue to develop TE with the aim of total 3D soft tissue and skin replacement [83].

## THE FUTURE

The vision of scarless healing has led to the exploration of regeneration and the interplay among genes, cells, and tissues [84]. Pluripotential stem cells are present within each individual; the drivers of the cells down a regenerative path are an as yet unknown but exciting area of research with promise for the future [85]. The introduction of



FIGURE 73.3 Two years after injury, before planned reconstructive surgery.

allograft stem cells such as MSCs may provide an alternative source of cell regeneration [86]. Understanding that every intervention from the time of injury influences the scar worn for life has pushed research in a multitude of directions. TE of skin is an exciting area that already has made a significant clinical impact [87]. However, we are far from the routine provision of technologies and strategies to provide site-matched, fully functional skin [88]. Great progress has been made in the areas of dermal templates and cell-based therapies and bringing the two elements together in skin constructs. The clinical implementation of TE skin solutions, along with the use of interactive surface dressing systems, has improved outcomes.

The task is far from completed:

- Skin adnexal structures are elusive [89].
- Timely availability of TE skin remains problematic [3].

In addition, more work is needed in:

- harnessing the explosion in smart material technology [90];
- developing vascular constructs, the small vessel problem [91];
- understanding the drivers of tissue-guided regeneration [92];
- understanding the concept of self-organization and the bioinformatics behind morphology [93];
- investigating the impact of both reinnervation and neural plasticity and its role in scarless healing [94];
- understanding the barriers to clinical translation [95]; and
- developing regulatory pathways for novel solutions to ensure safe but timely availability [96].

At the high-tech end of the spectrum, we may consider bringing together laser surface imaging linked to fabrication to build bioreactors with the shape of the defect, with the "smart" cytokine-loaded scaffold materials tailored to the correct 3D shape. Cells of the appropriate body site could then be introduced into the scaffold by cell-printing methods in the individualized bioreactor and the flow of tissue culture medium used to induce small-vessel formation. At the time of transplant, the application of external techniques such as infrared could control the release of biologically active molecules from the "smart" scaffold surface to ensure, for instance, reinnervation and restoration of function with the capacity to integrate into the body. Understanding of linking local tissue replacement with systemic integration is essential to facilitate the linking partially cellular constructs with a 3D framework architecture facilitating secondary cell migration and ingrowth. An alternative to the individualized bioreactor could be the wound itself, prepared by "smart" surfaces and directly seeded with cells. With the understanding of the drivers to self-organization, they could be used to enhance in situ tissue-guided regeneration.

## CONCLUSION

Over the past several decades, the concept of TE has been an area of active research, investigating innovative solutions. Multiple combinations of 3D engineered scaffolds exist with a functional cell load to produce tissue over time, which is the fourth dimension of skin repair fundamental to the clinical selection of technique.

The elements required for tissue repair are:

- a source of cells capable of differentiation into the lost tissue,
- an architectural framework for cells to migrate into and express the appropriate phenotype,
- 3D spatial information of the damaged tissue and the relationship to the surrounding viable uninjured tissue interface, and
- a feedback mechanism to guide self-organization.

In Jul. 2005, the *Medical Journal of Australia* published a vision of clinical care in a number of disciplines in 50 years' time:

Assessment is key in understanding the extent of injury. Debridement is focused on tissue salvage.

Reconstruction balances repair with regeneration. Investigation of multimodality, multiscale characterisation, including confocal microscopy and synchrotron technology will quantify assessment.

Debridement using autolytic inflammatory control techniques with image guided physical methods will ensure the vital tissue frameworks are retained. Tissue guided regeneration afforded by self-assembly nano-particles will provide the framework to guide cells to express the appropriate phenotype in reconstruction.

To solve the clinical problem a multi-disciplinary scientific approach is needed to ensure the quality of the scar is worth the pain of survival.

Many of the technologies highlighted are available, but the significant need for clinical translation remains to move along the innovation pathway to ensure safe implementation into health care systems. Progress requires collaboration at all stages from basic science to clinical trial design and health economics, driven by improved clinical outcomes. Translation of new technologies into health systems requires the rigor of a research framework to identify and measure the impact of innovation in communication and education. Close working relationships between basic research and clinical service delivery are essential. Furthermore, the scientific and clinical advances need to be in line with regulation programs and linked to commercial interest to ensure their widespread availability.

If the solution to the problem is scarless healing by a regenerative repair process and the aim is to improve the outcome from injury by restoring function, the future must blend the long-term vision with incremental short-term improvements.

There has been great progress in TE of skin, and it is an exciting area that offers tangible clinical solutions with an enormous potential for further improvement. The range of potential solutions that have developed is clear recognition of the complexity of the problem and the unique requirements relating to body site, patient, and pathology and the extent of the skin needing to be replaced, repaired, or regenerated. The challenge we face is to capitalize on that tradition and link to the opportunities afforded by unprecedented growth in science and technology, to ensure the quality of the scar outcome is worth the pain of survival.

## References

- [1] Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing: chasing the holy grail. Plast Reconstr Surg 2015;135:907–18.
- [2] Kamel RA, Ong JF, Eriksson E, Junker JPE, Caterson EJ. Tissue engineering of skin. J Am Coll Surg 2013;217:533–54.
- [3] Tenenhaus M, Rennekampff HO. Current concepts in tissue engineering: skin and wound. Plast Reconstr Surg 2016;138:42S-50S.
- [4] Metcalfe AD, Ferguson MW. Tissue engineering of replacement skin: the crossroads of biomaterials, wound healing, embryonic development, stem cells and regeneration. J R Soc Interface 2007;4:413–37.
- [5] Martinez-Hernandez A. Repair, regeneration, and fibrosis. In: Rubin E, Farber JL, editors. Pathology. Philadelphia: J B Lippincott; 1988. p. 66–95.
- [6] Bannasch H, Fohn M, Unterberg T, et al. Skin tissue engineering. Clin Plast Surg 2003;30:573-9.
- [7] Wood FM. Clinical potential of cellular autologous epithelial suspension. Wounds 2003;15:16–22.
- [8] Finlay V, Burrows S, Burmaz M, Yawary H, Lee J, Edgar DW, Wood FM. Increased burn healing time is associated with higher Vancouver Scar Scale score. Scars Burns Heal 2017;3(1):1–10.
- [9] Langer R, Vacanti J. Advances in tissue engineering. J Pediatr Surg 2016;51:8-12.

- [10] Roupé KM, Nybo M, Sjöbring U, et al. Injury is a major inducer of epidermal innate immune responses during wound healing. J Invest Dermatol 2010;130:910-6.
- [11] Mustoe TA, Cooter RD, Gold MH, et al. International clinical recommendations on scar management. Plast Reconstr Surg 2002;110:560-71.
- [12] Smiley AK, Klingenberg JM, Aronow BJ, et al. Microarray analysis of gene expression in cultured skin substitutes compared with native human skin. J Invest Dermatol 2005;125:1286–301.
- [13] Shakespeare P, Shakespeare V. Survey: use of skin substitute materials in UK burn treatment centres. Burns 2002;28:295-7.
- [14] Wood FM, Kolybaba ML, Allen P. The use of cultured epithelial autograft in the treatment of major burn injuries: a critical review of the literature. Burns 2006;32:395–401.
- [15] Llames SG, Del Rio M, Larcher F, et al. Human plasma as a dermal scaffold for the generation of a completely autologous bioengineered skin. Transplantation 2004;77:350–5.
- [16] Whang K, Kim M, Song W, et al. Comparative treatment of giant congenital melanocytic nevi with curettage or Er:YAG laser ablation alone versus with cultured epithelial autografts. Dermatol Surg 2005;31:1660–7.
- [17] Mosier MJ, Gibran NS. Surgical excision of the burn wound. Clin Plast Surg 2009;36:617-25.
- [18] Bayat A. Skin scarring. BMJ 2003;326:88-92.
- [19] Wood FM. Skin regeneration: the complexities of translation into clinical practice. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2015;56:133-40.
- [20] Lockhart RD, Hamilton GF, Fyfe FW. Anatomy of the human body. Philadelphia: J B Lippincott; 1965.
- [21] Hoath SB, Maibach HI. Neonatal skin: structure and function. New York: Marcel Dekker; 2003.
- [22] Blaise M, Parenteau-Bareil R, Cadau S, Ois Berthold F. Concise review: tissue-engineered skin and nerve regeneration in burn treatment. Stem Cells Transl Med 2013;2:545–51.
- [23] Kalyanaraman B, Boyce S. Assessment of an automated bioreactor to propagate and harvest keratinocytes for fabrication of engineered skin substitutes. Tissue Eng 2007;13:983–93.
- [24] Bardan A, Nizet V, Gallo RL. Antimicrobial peptides and the skin. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2004;4:543-9.
- [25] Uijtdewilligen PJE, Versteeg EMM, Gilissen C, van Reijmersdal SV, Schoppmeyer R, Wismans RG, Daamen WF, van Kuppevel TH. Towards embryonic-like scaffolds for skin tissue engineering: identification of effector molecules and construction of scaffolds. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2016;10:E34–44.
- [26] Singer AJ, Clark RA. Cutaneous wound healing. N Engl J Med 1999;341:738-46.
- [27] Fuchs E. Scratching the surface of skin development. Nature 2007;445:834-42.
- [28] Haustead DJ, Stevenson A, Saxena V, Marriage F, Firth M, Silla R, et al. Transcriptome analysis of human ageing in male skin shows midlife period of variability and central role of NF-κB. Sci Rep 2016;6:26846.
- [29] Moulin VJ. Reconstitution of skin fibrosis development using a tissue engineering approach. Methods Mol Biol 2013;961:287-303.
- [30] Horch RE, Kopp J, Kneser U. Tissue engineering of cultured skin substitutes. J Cell Mol Med 2005;9:592-608.
- [31] Munster AM, Smith-Meek M. The effect of early surgical intervention on mortality and cost effectiveness in burn care 1978–1991. Burns 1994; 20:61–4.
- [32] Valvis SM, Waithman J, Wood FM, Fear MW, Fear VS. The immune response to skin trauma is dependent on the etiology of injury in a mouse model of burn and excision. J Invest Dermatol 2015;138(8):2119–28.
- [33] Martin P. Wound healing—aiming for perfect skin regeneration. Science 1997;276:75–81.
- [34] Ko SH, Nauta A, Wong V, Glotzbach J, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT. The role of stem cells in cutaneous wound healing: what do we really know? Plast Reconstr Surg 2011;127:10S-20S.
- [35] Ng WL, Yeong WY, Naing MW. Cellular approaches to tissue-engineering of skin: a review. J Tissue Sci Eng 2015;6:150. https://doi.org/ 10.4172/2157-7552.1000150.
- [36] Powell HM, McFarland KL, Butler DL. Uniaxial strain regulates morphogenesis, gene expression, and tissue strength in engineered skin. Tissue Eng 2010;16:1083–92.
- [37] Murphy SV, Atala A. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol 2014;32(8):773-85.
- [38] Ohyama M, Okano H. Promise of human induced pluripotent stem cells in skin regeneration and investigation. J Invest Dermatol 2014;134: 605–9.
- [39] Bradshaw M, Clemons TD, Ho D, Gutiérrez L, Lázaro FJ, House MJ, et al. Manipulating directional cell motility using intracellular superparamagnetic nanoparticles. Nanoscale 2015, 21;7(11):4884–9.
- [40] Argenta LC. Controlled tissue expansion in reconstructive surgery. Br J Plast Surg 1984;37:520-6.
- [41] Wood FM, McMahon SB. The response of the peripheral nerve field to controlled soft tissue expansion. Br J Plast Surg 1989;42:682-6.
- [42] Lancerotto L, Chin MS, Freniere B, Lujan-Hernandez JR, Li Q, Valderrama Vasquez A, Bassetto F, et al. Mechanisms of action of external volume expansion devices. Plast Reconstr Surg March 2014;133(3):426e–8e.
- [43] Rheinwald JG, Green H. Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. Cell 1975;6:331–43.
- [44] Wood FM, Kolybaba ML, Allen P. The use of cultured epithelial autograft in the treatment of major burn wounds: eleven years of clinical experience. Burns 2006;32:538–44.
- [45] Chester DL, Balderson DS, Papini RP. A review of keratinocyte delivery to the wound bed. J Burn Care Rehabil 2004;25:266-75.
- [46] Fredriksson C, Kratz G, Huss F. Transplantation of cultured human keratinocytes in single cell suspension: a comparative in vitro study of different application techniques. Burns 2008;34:212-9.
- [47] Johnen C, Steffen I, Beichelt D, et al. Culture of subconfluent human fibroblasts and keratinocytes using biodegradable transfer membranes. Burns 2008;34:655–63.
- [48] Wood FM, Giles N, Stevenson A, Rea S, Fear M. Characterisation of the cell suspension harvested from the dermal epidermal junction using a ReCell® kit. Burns 2012;38(1):44–51.
- [49] Navarro FA, Stoner ML, Park CS, Huertas J, Lee HB, Wood FM, Orgill DP. Sprayed keratinocyte suspensions accelerate epidermal coverage in a porcine microwound model. J Burn Care Rehabil 2000;21(6):513–8.
- [50] Sengupta D, Heilshorn SC. Protein-engineered biomaterials: highly tunable tissue engineering scaffolds. Tissue Eng 2010;16(3):285–93.
- [51] Freytes DO, Wan LQ, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Geometry and force control of cell function. J Cell Biochem 2009;108:1047-58.

#### 73. THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS: TISSUE ENGINEERING OF SKIN

- [52] Yannas IV, Burke JF, Huang C, et al. Correlation of in vivo collagen degradation rate with in vitro measurements. J Biomed Mater Res 1975;9: 623–8.
- [53] Yannas IV. Emerging rules for inducing organ regeneration. Biomaterials 2013;34:321-30.
- [54] Hernon CA, Dawson RA, Freedlander E, et al. Clinical experience using cultured epithelial autografts leads to an alternative methodology for transferring skin cells from the laboratory to the patient. Regen Med 2006;1:809–21.
- [55] Navarro FA, Stoner ML, Lee HB, Park CS, Wood FM, Orgill DP. Melanocyte repopulation in full-thickness wounds using a cell spray apparatus. J Burn Care Rehabil 2001;22:41–6.
- [56] Bannasch H, Unterberg T, Fohn M, et al. Cultured keratinocytes in fibrin with decellularised dermis close porcine full-thickness wounds in a single step. Burns 2008;34:1015–20.
- [57] Wood FM, Stoner ML, Fowler BV, et al. The use of a non-cultured autologous cell suspension and Integra dermal regeneration template to repair full-thickness skin wounds in a porcine model: a one-step process. Burns 2007;33:693–700.
- [58] Nyame TT, Chiang HA, Orgill DP. Clinical applications of skin substitutes. Surg Clin N Am 2014;94(4):839–50.
- [59] Okano H, Nakamura M, Yoshida K, Okada Y, Tsuji O, Nore S, Ikeda E, Yamanaka S, Miura K. Steps toward safe cell therapy using induced pluripotent stem cells. Circ Res 2013;112:523–33.
- [60] Sriram G, Bigliardi PL, Bigliardi-Qi M. Fibroblast heterogeneity and its implications for engineering organotypic skin models in vitro. Eur J Cell Biol 2015;94:483–512.
- [61] Korrapati PS, Karthikeyan K, Satish A, Krishnaswamy VR, Venugopal JR, Ramakrishna S. Recent advancements in nanotechnological strategies in selection, design and delivery of biomolecules for skin regeneration. Mater Sci Eng 2016;C 67:747–65.
- [62] Groeber F, Holeiter M, Hampel M, Hinderer S, Schenke-Layland K. Skin tissue engineering—in vivo and in vitro applications. Clin Plast Surg 2012;39(1):33–58.
- [63] Singh D, Singh D, Han SS. 3D printing of scaffold for cells delivery: advances in skin tissue engineering. Polymers 2016;8:19.
- [64] Chin SF, Iyer KS, Saunders M, et al. Encapsulation and sustained release of curcumin using superparamagnetic silica reservoirs. Chem Eur J 2009;15:5661–9.
- [65] Cubo N, Garcia M, Del Cañizo JF, Velasco D, Jorcano JL. 3D bioprinting of functional human skin: production and in vivo analysis. Biofabrication 2016 5;9(1):015006.
- [66] Parkinson LG, Giles NL, Adcroft KF, et al. The potential of nanoporous anodic aluminium oxide membranes to influence skin wound repair. Tissue Eng 2009;15:3753–6.
- [67] Shalumon KT, Sathish D, Nair SV, Chennazhi KP, Tamura H, Jayakumar R. Fabrication of aligned poly(lactic acid)-chitosan nanofibers by novel parallel blade collector method for skin tissue engineering. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2012;8(3):405–16.
- [68] Nath N, Hyun J. Surface engineering strategies for control of protein and cell interactions. Surf Sci 2004;570:98-110.
- [69] Degen KE, Gourdie RG. Embryonic wound healing: a primer for engineering novel therapies for tissue repair. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today September 2012;96(3):258–70.
- [70] Benny P, Badowski C, Lane B, Raghunath M. Making more matrix: enhancing the deposition of dermal-epidermal junction components in vitro and accelerating organotypic skin culture development, using macromolecular crowding. Tissue Eng 2012;21:183–92.
- [71] Monteiro IP, Shukla A, Marques AP, Reis RL, Hammond PT. Spray-assisted layer-by-layer assembly on hyaluronic acid scaffolds for skin tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res 2015;103A:1330–40.
- [72] Boyce ST, Simpson PS, Rieman MT, Warner PM, Yakuboff KP, Bailey JK, et al. Randomized, paired-site comparison of autologous engineered skin substitutes and split-thickness skin graft for closure of extensive, full-thickness burns. J Burn Care Res 2017;38(2):61–70.
- [73] Itoh M, Umegaki-Arao N, Guo Z, Liu L, Higgins CA, et al. Generation of 3D skin equivalents fully reconstituted from human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). PLoS One 2013;8(10):e77673.
- [74] Martin YH, Medcalfe AD. Epidermal stem cells and their use in regenerative applications for severe cutaneous injuries. Front Stem Cell Regene Med Res 2016;2:39–62.
- [75] Helmedag MJ, Weinandy S, Marquardt Y, Baron JM, Pallua N, Suschek CV, et al. The effects of constant flow bioreactor cultivation and keratinocyte seeding densities on prevascularized organotypic skin grafts based on a fibrin scaffold. Tissue Eng 2015;21(1–2):343–52.
- [76] Michael S, Sorg H, Peck C-T, Koch L, Deiwick A, et al. Tissue engineered skin substitutes created by laser-assisted bioprinting form skin-like structures in the dorsal skin fold chamber in mice. PLoS One 2013;8(3):e57741.
- [77] Gledhill K, Guo Z, Umegaki-Arao N, Higgins CA, Itoh M, Christiano AM. Melanin transfer in human 3D skin equivalents generated exclusively from induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 2015;10(8):e0136713.
- [78] Goessler UR, Riedel K, Hormann K, et al. Perspectives of gene therapy in stem cell tissue engineering. Cells Tissues Organs 2006;183:169–79.
- [79] Pati S, Pilia M, Grimsley JM, Karanikas AT, Oyeniyi B, Holcomb JB, et al. Cellular therapies in trauma and critical care medicine: forging new frontiers. Shock 2015;44(6):505–23.
- [80] Zelen CM, Orgill DP, Serena TE, Galiano RD, Carter MJ, DiDomenico LA, Kaufman JP, Keller J, Young NJ, Li WW. Human reticular acellular dermal matrix in the healing of chronic diabetic foot ulcerations that failed standard conservative treatment: a retrospective crossover study. Wounds February 2017;29(2):39–45.
- [81] Lu W, Yu J, Zhang Y, Ji K, Zhou Y, Li Y, Deng Z, Jin Y. Mixture of fibroblasts and adipose tissue-derived stem cells can improve epidermal morphogenesis of tissue-engineered skin. Cells Tissues Organs 2012;195(3):197–206.
- [82] Wood FM. ReCell. In: Color atlas of burn reconstructive surgery; 2010. p. 26–37.
- [83] Groeber F, Holeiter M, Hampel M, Hinderer S, Schenke-Layland K. Skin tissue engineering in vivo and in vitro applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2011;128:352–66.
- [84] Picardo NE, Khan WS. Tissue engineering applications and stem cell approaches to the skin, nerves and blood vessels. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 2012;7(2):115–21.
- [85] Jaklanec A. Progress in tissue engineering and stem cell industry "Are we there yet?". Tissue Eng 2012;18:155-6.
- [86] Sanchez-Munoz I, Granados R, Holgado PH, Garcia-Vela JA, Casares C, Casares M. The use of adipose mesenchymal stem cells and human umbilical vascular endothelial cells on a fibrin matrix for endothelialized skin substitute. Tissue Eng 2015;21:214–23.
- [87] Bottcher-Haberzeth S, Biedermann T, Reichmann E. Review tissue engineering of skin. Burns 2010;36:450-60.
- [88] MacNeil S. Progress and opportunities for tissue engineered skin. Nature 2007;445:874-80.

- [89] Wu X, Scott LJ, Washenik K, Stenn K. Tissue Eng 2014;20(23–24):3314–21.
- [90] Shukla A, Almeida B. Advances in cellular and tissue engineering using layer-by-layer assembly. WIREs Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 2014;6: 411–21.
- [91] Alekseeva T, Unger R, Brochhausen C, Brown RA, Brochhausen JC. Engineering a microvascular capillary bed in a tissue-like collagen construct. Tissue Eng 2014;20:2656–65.
- [92] Zeinali R, Biazar E, Keshel SH, Tavirani MR, Asadipour K. Regeneration of full thickness skin defects using umbilical cord blood stem cells loaded into porous scaffolds. Am Soc Artif Intern Organs J 2014;60(1):106–14.
- [93] Sanchez-Gutierrez D, Tozluoglu M, Barry JD, Pascual A, Mao Y, Escudero LM. Fundamental physical cellular constraints drive selforganization of tissues. EMBO J 2016;35:77–88.
- [94] Biedermann T, Böttcher-Haberzeth S, Klar AS, Pontiggia L, Schiestl C, Meuli-Simmen C, et al. Rebuild, restore, reinnervate: do human tissue engineered dermo-epidermal skin analogs attract host nerve fibers for innervation? Pediatr Surg Int 2013;29:71.
- [95] Webber MJ, Khan OF, Sydlik SA, Tang BC, Langer R. A perspective on the clinical translation of scaffolds for tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 2015;43:641–56.
- [96] Hunsberger J, Harrysson O, Shirwaiker R, Starly B,Wysk R, Cohen P, et al. Manufacturing road map for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine technologies. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4(2):130–5.

This page intentionally left blank

## Regenerative Medicine Approaches for Engineering a Human Hair Follicle

Gail K. Naughton

Histogen, Inc., San Diego, CA, United States

## INTRODUCTION

The hair shaft consists of terminally differentiated keratinocytes, which are tightly compacted to form the hair shaft. Hair shafts are made by the hair follicle, a complex miniorgan that is formed primarily during fetal and perinatal skin development [1-3]. Hair follicle formation involves tightly coordinated interactions between the ectoderm and mesoderm with ectodermal stem cells giving rise to all epithelial components of mesoderm cells forming the follicular dermal papilla, as well as the connective tissue sheath [4]. It is composed of an outer root sheath (ORS), inner root sheath, and hair shaft. Under normal homeostasis the hair follicle undergoes a cycling, which is characterized by the formation of a new hair and shedding of an old hair through the growth cycle (anagen), apoptotic regression (catagen), and a resting phase (telogen) (Fig. 74.1). A very unique characteristic of the mammalian hair follicle is its lifelong recapitulation of its molecular embryogenesis each time it enters into anagen. Dermal papilla cells (DPs) are located at the base of the follicle and are surrounded by epithelial matrix cells. DPs support the proliferation as well as the differentiation of epithelial matrix cells and activate bulge stem cells during the transition from telogen to anagen. The bulge is part of the ORS that is close to the sebaceous gland and the interfollicular epidermis. Bulge cells give rise to all of the epithelial cell types during anagen, as well as the sebaceous gland and overlying epidermis. In anagen, cells at the base of the hair follicle proliferate and migrate up the follicle to form a new hair. Simultaneously, the bulge cells give rise to progeny. Robust activity during anagen requires an increase in nutrients and the phase is therefore also associated with new blood vessel formation to facilitate a more rapid supply of these nutrients.

Much has been learned about the regeneration of skin and skin appendages through wound-healing studies and cell- and tissue-based treatments. Some of the earliest approved products in regenerative medicine were cell-based three-dimensional engineered tissues for the treatment of acute and chronic wounds [5]. These products taught us the importance of naturally secreted growth factors and matrix proteins in inducing healthy granulation tissue, angiogenesis, and reepithelialization. Unfortunately, none of the products induced the formation of critical skin appendages, including hair follicles and sweat glands. Anecdotal evidence in wound care reported cases with badly debrided skin healed with the formation of new hairs. [5a] It had been previously thought that mammalian hair follicles only form during fetal development [6] and that the loss of hair after birth was permanent. Reports that hair follicles could be developed de novo after wounding were published decades ago in mice [7], rabbits [8], and humans [9] but these were not accepted due to the lack of evidence of follicular neogenesis. In 2007 a pivotal paper was published showing that hair follicles formed de novo after wounding in genetically normal adult mice [10]. Evidence was presented that nascent follicles arose from epithelial cells outside of the stem cell niche and suggested that wound epidermal cells can assume a hair follicle stem cell phenotype. Overexpression of the Wnt ligand in the epidermis increased the number of new follicles, while inhibition of Wnt signaling completely stopped the folliculogenesis. The regenerated follicles produced new hairs and cycled up to three times during the 90 days following wounding, supporting the presence of functional stem cells in the newly formed follicle. The de novo formation of hair follicles in the adult mammal mimics embryogenesis at the molecular level and raises the possibility 74. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPROACHES FOR ENGINEERING A HUMAN HAIR FOLLICLE



FIGURE 74.1 The normal hair follicle cycle.

of forming new follicles from preexisting hair follicle stem cells in the scalp or from controlled wounding when used in combination with Wnts and other cell stimulatory molecules. A number of preclinical and clinical studies have been performed using cells and cell- and tissue-derived materials to induce stem cell proliferation in the dying follicle or create new follicles in the scalp.

The onset of hair loss is characterized by a much shorter than normal anagen (growth phase) and a reduction in hair density [4]. Given this mechanism, the development of a successful hair loss treatment needs to address two key processes: the transformation of vellus hairs into terminal hairs by stimulating and extending the length of the anagen phase, and the induction and maintenance of the anagen across the entire area effected by miniaturized follicles that result in increased hair density. The number of patients with alopecia has been on the rise and has been attributable to hormones and genetic factors [11], as well as autoimmune diseases, chemical and heat stress, medicines, and psychological stresses [12,13]. Androgenetic alopecia (AGA) is the most common form of hair loss in men during which terminal hairs turn into vellus hairs under the influence of dihydrotestosterone (DHT). Hair follicular miniaturization occurs as a consequence of progressively shorter anagen phases. To date the treatments of alopecia have focused on either blocking the DHT or inducing greater blood flow to help support anagen. These treatments need to be used daily, and within 2 weeks of stopping treatment there is a mass shedding of hair. What is needed is a treatment that will reactivate the miniaturized follicle and cause normal and sustained anagen. Research suggests that dormant hair follicles in human scalp affected by alopecia have a largely intact bulge stem cell population and a significantly reduced population of hair germ progenitors [14]. The hair germ progenitors become activated at the very onset of anagen, while the bulge stem cells become activated shortly after the actual initiation of anagen [15]. It is therefore conceivable that the reactivation of anagen in alopecia-affected telogen (resting) hair follicles may occur by the delivery of threshold levels of growth factors to induce bulge cells as opposed to triggering hair germ cells. The use of such a growth factor therapy has been studied through a variety of approaches, including autologous platelet-derived growth factors (PDGFs), growth factors from adipose cells grown under hypoxic conditions, growth factors from hypoxia-induced multipotent stem cells (HIMSCs), and the use of autologous stem cells to act as growth factor delivery units.

## USE OF AUTOLOGOUS GROWTH FACTORS IN HAIR FOLLICLE REGENERATION

Autologous growth factors have been associated with the promotion of tissue regeneration in a number of medical applications. Early work with platelet-rich plasma (PRP) showed excellent generation of granulation tissue and subsequent reepithelialization of hard-to-heal diabetic ulcers. Autologous PRP is derived from centrifuging whole blood to collect a pellet of platelets. Alpha granules in activated platelets release numerous growth factors, including epidermal growth factor (EGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-BB), transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF-B1), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Although initial studies

#### USE OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELLS AND THEIR CONDITIONED MEDIUM FOR HAIR GROWTH

1299

with PRP focused on the treatment of diabetic ulcers, PRP is routinely injected into the skin for wrinkle indications, it is injected into joints to reduce pain and inflammation, and some findings suggest that PRP may also significantly support hair follicle restoration. One such study involved the treatment of 19AGA patients with plasma rich in growth factors (PRGFs) [16]. Five PRGF injections were administered into the mid-dermal region and phototrichograms were performed at baseline and at 1 year following the last set of injections to assess follicle density/diameter and the terminal/vellus hair ratio. After PRGF therapy, mean hair density/diameter increased as did the terminal/vellus hair ratio, and cell proliferation. Although this was an uncontrolled clinical trial, the data do support a potential therapeutic effect of the autologous growth factors on hair follicle regeneration. Currently, a number of practitioners are looking at factors that can affect the ability of PRGFs to induce terminal hairs, including the age of the patient, vitamin D deficiencies, and general health.

## USE OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELLS AND THEIR CONDITIONED MEDIUM FOR HAIR GROWTH

Adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) are mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) found within the stromal-vascular fraction of subcutaneous adipose tissue [17]. ADSCs self-renew, display a multilineage developmental plasticity, and have been used in a variety of tissue repair and regeneration clinical studies. It has been reported that ADSC transplantation promotes hair growth in animal experiments [18]. This is not surprising since hair regeneration depends on cell–cell interactions, as well as external signals surrounding the follicle. Communication between adipose tissue and the hair follicles is key and adipose cells play an important role in the progression of the hair cycle [19]. Canine ADSCs were isolated and cell differentiation into dermal papilla-like tissues (DPLTs) was induced by culturing them in a dermal papilla-forming medium. The trichogenicity (hair forming potential) of the differentiated cells (DPLTs) was assessed and athymic mice were treated either with control or the differentiated cells. DPLTs were seen to have a compact aggregated structure and they secreted a complex extracellular matrix component, as well as versican and alkaline phosphatase, two dermal papilla-specific proteins. New hair fibers were seen 15-20 days postinjection, with the greatest number of hairs seen in the treatment group. Regenerated hairs in the control group were predominantly found in the periphery of the wound and were characteristically short and thin. By contrast, the DPLTs-treated mice had new hairs throughout the treatment area, as well as a significantly higher amount of sebaceous glands at days 10 and 20 and increased vascularization. These data suggest that engineered canine DPLTs demonstrate characteristics of dermal papillae and have a positive effect on hair regeneration. A phase 1/2 trial is currently under way in the United States to test the ability of autologous ADSCs to promote hair growth in men with male pattern baldness.

A critical function of ADSCs is the secretion of growth factors that activate neighboring cells and mediate diverse skin-regenerative effects, including wound healing, antioxidant protection, and antiwrinkling [20]. ADSCs also secrete regenerative growth factors that participate in hair morphogenesis and regeneration. The hair growth promoting effect of ADSC-conditioned media (ADSC-CM) was studied by subcutaneous injection of the CM into C3H/NeH mice [21]. The CM contains a variety of growth factors, including VEGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), and PDGF. The researchers discovered that culturing ADSCs under hypoxic conditions significantly improved their proliferative and self-renewal capacity and enhanced their growth factor secretion. The hypoxia-derived CM (HCM) induced the enhanced proliferation of human keratinocytes, as well as human follicle dermal papilla cells in vitro as compared to the CM from ADSCs grown under normoxic conditions (NCM). Based on these data, the induction of hair growth in 7-week-old C3H/HeN female mice (n = 21) treated with HCM was assessed. Mice received three subcutaneous injections of 100 µL NCM or HCM. Injections were given at days 0, 3, and 6 and skin darkening as an early indicator for hair follicle formation was monitored for a 12-week period of time. After 8 weeks, dark spots and hair regeneration were seen in the areas of injection with complete hair growth seen by 12 weeks in the HCM-treated animals. Dark spots and hair regrowth were not seen in the NCMtreated mice. Clinical pilot studies have been performed to study the hair growth effect of ADSC-CM on both male and female patients [22]. In women with female pattern hair loss, ADSC-CM was applied to the scalp after microneedling, the use of ultrafine needles to interrupt the skin barrier. After 12 weeks there was a significant increase in both hair thickness and hair density, and no adverse reactions were reported. The researchers also studied the effect of intradermal injections in both men and women with hair loss. Twenty-two patients received six sets of injections every 3-5 weeks and this treatment regimen resulted in an increase in hair numbers after week 12. No large, controlled, double-blinded clinical studies have been conducted to date and research is being done to enhance the hair regeneration potential of ADSC-CM.

## TISSUE-DERIVED MATERIALS FOR HAIR REGENERATION

Human placental extract (Hominis placenta [HP]) has been used for decades in China and Korea as a therapeutic agent for liver regeneration and endocrine abnormalities. HP extract has been shown to have antiinflammatory, wound-healing, and antioxidant effects in the clinical setting [23]. Initial studies with cow placenta showed an increase in hair density in the mouse model [24] and this led to an investigation into whether HP treatment could influence hair growth in mice. Fifteen 7-week-old male C57BL/6 mice were divided into control, minoxidil, or HP-treated groups. Animals were depilated to synchronize hair follicle growth to the anagen phase. Animals received topical treatment of the controls or treatment once daily for 15 days, after which time measurements were taken for hair growth and thickness by dermoscopy. Immunohistochemistry was also performed on skin sections from all animals to assess BrdU incorporation and DNA synthesis. Results demonstrated an increase in hair number, hair shaft diameter, and density in the HP-treated animals as compared to the control animals. In addition, high levels of BrdU incorporation were observed in the dermal papilla, ORS, and connective tissue of the HP-treated animals. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen was highly expressed in the lower regions of the hair matrix, indicating induced DNA synthesis in the treatment group. Fibroblast growth factor 7 (FGF-7), a critical growth factor in the stimulation of anagen, was seen to have an increased expression in the outer layer of the hair shaft and surface epithelium in the HP-treated group. Placenta extracts have been utilized in a variety of clinical indications, including wound healing where the growth factors, amino acids, and angiogenic-promoting agents have proven to be beneficial. Hair follicle cycling has a great deal in common with the processes involved in wound healing and HP continues to be assessed as an anagen-promoting stimulus.

## ADDITIONAL STUDIES ON SECRETED GROWTH FACTORS AND HAIR GROWTH

Additional preclinical studies have been performed to build on the research showing the importance of Wnt proteins and other growth factors in the stimulation of follicular stem cells to induce sustainable anagen. In one such study, MSCs were engineered to overexpress Wnt1a [25]. Wnt-CM was injected into the murine model discussed earlier and resulted in accelerated hair follicle progression from telogen to anagen and enhanced alkaline phosphatase expression in the DP region. Of great significance is the fact that hair induction-related genes were upregulated even when they had been first selectively downregulated by treatment with DHT. This study clearly demonstrated that MSC-produced Wnt1a promoted the ability of the DP cells to induce hair cycling and regeneration in a physiological manner in a model simulating male pattern baldness. In another study, neural stem cell (NSC) extract was used to stimulate the hair follicle niche to induce hair growth in the mouse model. Expression levels of multiple growth factors and signaling factors were studied and it was reported that NSC extract enhanced hair growth by activating hair follicle niches via the coregulation of TGF-B and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling pathways in the telogen phase. The activation and differentiation of intrafollicular hair follicle stem cells, extrafollicular DPCs, and matrix cells was also seen both in vitro and in vivo. Key growth factors, including HGF, IGF-1, keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), and VEGF, were also increased to enhance hair growth stimulation. This study clearly demonstrated the ability of NSC extract to promote hair growth through the direct regulation of hair follicle niches via the TGF-B and BMP signaling pathways, as well as the induction of critical growth factors [26].

## SIMULATING THE EMBRYONIC ENVIRONMENT

In the mid-1990s it was reported that scarless healing occurs in the embryonic/fetal environment even after extensive surgery [27]. The embryonic environment is known to be characterized by rapid cell growth and cell differentiation, and embryonic tissue develops under low oxygen (hypoxic) conditions, and, unlike adult tissue, it contains predominantly collagens III and V and low levels of TGF-B and bFGF. Ezashi et al. [28] have shown that mimicking the embryonic condition of hypoxia enhances the growth of human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and both hESCs and adult stem cells show improved maintenance of their undifferentiated state under low oxygen conditions [28–30]. To assess the effect of embryonic conditions on normal cells, neonatal fibroblasts were seeded onto dextran beads and grown in suspension in controlled closed bioreactors under 5% oxygen. Under these cell culture conditions, over 5000 genes were differentially expressed as compared to identical growth conditions with normal oxygen. A large number of the upregulated genes were associated with multipotent stem cells, including SOX 2, Oct4,

SIMULATING THE EMBRYONIC ENVIRONMENT



FIGURE 74.2 Expression of hair follicle-related stem cell markers in neonatal cells grown under simulated embryonic conditions.



FIGURE 74.3 Injection of hypoxia-induced multipotent stem cell (HIMSC)-conditioned media subcutaneously into the C-57bl/6 mouse model induced an increased density of hair follicles at the site of injections.

NANOG, and KLF4 genes [31]. The expression of stem cell-associated proteins, including Nodal, Brachyury, Nestin, and Oct4, was also seen. It was also noted that genes were upregulated and surface markers were expressed, which are normally associated with follicular stem cells, including Lhx2, SOX 21, Nestin, NFATc1, and Krt 15 (Fig. 74.2).

Because of this finding, CM from the HIMSCs was utilized to study whether the composition could induce hair growth in the C57Bl/6 mouse model. Intradermal injections of the CM induced new hair growth in the treated mice and an increased number of hair follicles and hair follicle stem cells were noted in the treatment area (Fig. 74.3). No such hair induction was seen in the unconditioned media controls.

The CM was analyzed and shown to contain high levels of growth factors associated with the induction and increased endurance of anagen, including HGF, FGF-7 or KGF, VEGF-A, follistatin, angiogenin, and placental growth factor (PIGF-1 or PIGF). Given this composition, a proof-of-concept clinical study was performed to assess the ability of the HIMSC-CM, called hair-stimulating complex (HSC), to induce hair growth in men with male pattern baldness [32]. The clinical study was a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, single site trial and was designed to evaluate safety of the HSC product and assess efficacy in stimulating hair growth. All 26 subjects tolerated the single, intradermal injection of HSC procedures well, and no signs of an adverse reaction were reported. Histopathological evaluation of the treatment site biopsies taken at 22 and 52 weeks posttreatment revealed no abnormal morphology, hamartomas, or other pathological responses. Treatment and control regions received temporary tattoos so that photographs at each follow-up time point could be taken in exactly the same region. Trichoscan image analysis of HSC-treated sites at 12 and 52 weeks showed significant improvements in hair growth over the placebo. At the initial 12-week evaluation period, HSC-treated sites demonstrated an increase in hair shaft thickness ( $6.3\% \pm 2.5\%$  vs.  $-0.63\% \pm 2.1\%$ ; P = .046), thickness density ( $12.8\% \pm 4.5\%$  vs.  $-0.2\% \pm 2.9\%$ ; P = .028), and terminal hair density ( $20.6 \pm 4.9\%$  vs.  $4.4 \pm 4.9\%$ ; P = .029). At the 1-year time point a statistically significant increase in total hair count (P = .032) continued to be seen. The fact that hair counts continued to increase over the 1year period even after only one injection at day 0 supported the hypothesis that HSC stimulated a prolonged and sustainable anagen, a result that had not been reported in previous clinical hair growth studies. An example of such growth is seen in Fig. 74.4 where trichoscan data demonstrated a 123% increase in terminal hairs over the 52-week period.

To assess the efficacy and safety of an increased number of injections and a second dosing at week 6, a phase 1/2 study was conducted in Manila with Investigational New Drug (IND) approval by the Food and Drug Administration Philippines. The clinical study was a double-blind, randomized, two center trial in 56 subjects. All subjects tolerated the eight 0.1 cc intradermal injections at baseline and 6 weeks well, and no signs of an adverse reaction were reported. Blood and urine samples taken before and after each injection set showed no liver, kidney, or bone marrow toxicity. Trichoscan image analyses of treated and control sites were taken at baseline, 12, 24, 36, and 48 weeks. At the



Subject S1027 Right Anterior – HSC treated

HSC

FIGURE 74.4 One-time injection of hair stimulating complex (HSC) yielded significant new terminal hair growth in treated areas at 12 weeks and 1 year.

224.5

324.5

214.5

12-week time point, significant improvements in total (P = .0013), terminal (P = .0135), and vellus (P = .033) hair growth over baseline were seen, as was an increase in cumulative thickness density (P = 026). The primary efficacy endpoint of increased terminal hair at 12 weeks was met, with a 19.5% increase seen, a 49.5% increase over the same endpoint in our proof-of-concept trial. In addition, unlike currently approved products, HSC induced hair growth in the temporal recession, as well as vertex and mid-scalp regions, and was highly effective in men over 40 years of age, as well as in men in their 20s and 30s. At the 48-week time point there continued to be a significant increase in total hairs over baseline (P = .028). These results clearly demonstrate the safety and efficacy of intradermal injections of HSC in subjects with AGA and the benefit of a second treatment at 6 weeks to capture preanagen follicles that were too early in the cycle at week 0.

An additional clinical study was conducted on five men and five women in the United States under a physician IND. This "safe passage" study involved 20 (0.1 cc) injections at baseline, 20 at week 6, and 40 injections at week 12 and week 40. The injections were well tolerated and no serious adverse effects were reported. Some subjects reported an itching at the injection sites, which was resolved within 30 min. An increase in hair growth, as demonstrated by global photography, was seen in all patients, which included men with male pattern baldness, as well as women with hair loss associated with stress, chemical damage, and perimenopausal hormonal changes. Fig. 74.5A and B show results in two of the 10 patients treated.

To be able to do phase 2 dosing studies in men and to remove nongrowth factor-related impurities from the CM, HSC production was modified to include capture of the growth factors by a heparin sepharose column and the use of various filters to remove DNA. The six key growth factors in HSC that are associated with hair growth are measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay before product release and sterility, bioburden, and a series of viral testing are performed. Cell potency assays are performed to assess the activity of follistatin, FGF-7/KGF, and the angiogenic factors in the product. The following is a summary of the proposed mechanism of action of HSC in the induction of hair growth.

A number of growth factors work synergistically to induce and maintain angiogenesis in the hair follicle. The hair follicle undergoes cyclic expansion and regression, which requires changing demands for vascular support, with perifollicular vascularization being seen during anagen and decreased vascularization associated with catagen and telogen. VEGF helps to mediate the induction of angiogenesis to provide the increased nutritional needs of hair follicles during rapid cell division in anagen [33]. In addition to increasing vascularization, VEGF induces the division of DPCs, which is a key step in the induction of hair follicle formation. Angiogenin is a soluble factor normally secreted by DP cells [34]. Angiogenin is a potent angiogenic factor that also promotes the stimulation of DP and ORS keratinocytes and the subsequent elongation of the hair follicle.

HGF is a multifunctional polypeptide that acts as a mitogen, motogen, and morphogen. In addition to promoting angiogenesis, it has been shown to stimulate follicle growth of human hair and follicle elongation by stimulating DP



FIGURE 74.5 (A) Escalating doses of hair-stimulating complex (HSC) every 6 weeks induced cosmetically relevant new hair formation in a subject with male pattern baldness. (B) HSC induced new vellus hair formation within 18 weeks in the temporal recession region of a 38-year-old female with stress-induced alopecia.

cells and hair bulb-derived keratinocytes [35,36]. PIGF is a member of the VEGF subfamily and is important in promoting angiogenesis and vasculogenesis, particularly during embryonic development. PIGF has been shown to play a role in the promotion of hair growth by accelerating the growth of hair follicle cells and prolonging anagen hair growth [37]. The mechanism of action involves preventing hair follicle cell death by increasing levels of phosphorylated extracellular signal-related kinase and cyclin D1.

FGF-7/KGF is synthesized by skin fibroblasts and DP cells and has a mitogenic effect on skin keratinocytes. It is thought to be the most potent growth factor reported to date [38]. The KGF receptor is found on ORS cells and addition of KGF to these cells in organ cultures has significantly increased hair follicle cell proliferation [39]. In vivo the FGF-7/KGF secreted by DP cells causes both rapid proliferation of ORS cells and the resulting keratinocytes to migrate into the hair follicle shaft and form a new vellus hair or convert vellus hairs to terminal hairs [40].

Follistatin is found in all human tissues and organs and has the primary function of binding and bioneutralizing members of the TGF superfamily, with particular affinity for activin. It is an antagonist to both activin and BMP, both of which are involved in maintaining a slow cycle of stem cell proliferation in resting hair follicles [41,42]. Follistatin has been shown to be an important regulator of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis in hair follicle initiation and hair cycling. In AGA, androgens induce TGF-B1, which inhibits growth of the dermal papilla cells and keratinocytes [43]. Adding follistatin to dermal papilla cells helps to reverse this blockage, further strengthening the role of this activin antagonist in hair growth [44].

Naturally occurring growth factors work synergistically to promote proliferation, differentiation, and angiogenesis. The composition of growth factors in HSC works together to induce angiogenesis of the hair follicle for adequate nutrient support, as well as stimulating DP cells and ORS cells to proliferate to induce hair follicle elongation, cell migration into the hair shaft, and subsequent hair growth.

Given the early clinical results with HSC, a study was performed in Japan to see if it could be effective as a holding solution for follicular units implanted in hair transplant procedures [45]. Saline is the most common solution used to

preserve hair follicles for the period of time between removal and implantation. Surgeons have come to accept a large degree of hair loss, known as effluvium, from the transplants, and patients need to be patient for the months it takes to allow the transplanted hair to recover from shock and enter into the anagen cycle. As expected in the weeks following transplant, the investigator reported that transplanted hairs held in saline were lost to effluvium at the 6-week follow-up. Of the hairs held in the human cell conditioned media (hCCM) solution, however, most remained intact at this follow-up time point, reflecting not only the more hospitable environment created by the hCCM but potentially also the increased wound-healing capabilities of the material. Fifty-five percent of the follicles soaked in saline for up to 2 h during the transplant procedure showed hair loss, whereas only 10% of the follicles soaked in hCCM resulted in showing the effluvium response.

## **BIOENGINEERING A HUMAN HAIR FOLLICLE**

A major challenge facing stem cell biologists is the bioengineering of an entire functional organ.

Since the hair follicle is a miniorgan it is an ideal candidate to utilize as a goal to be the first organ to be engineered. Formation of such a follicle would require simulating the series of molecular and cellular events that will recreate follicle morphogenesis. The steps will progress from the formation of dermal condensations, to epithelial invagination, to DP formation at the base of the follicle, to the arrangement of the various cell types and their morphogenesis, to the differentiation of hair shaft components, and then to actually demonstrate the creation of a hair. Creation of a functional hair follicle would not only be a major milestone in regenerative medicine, it would allow the creation of tissue-engineered skin for burn patients that would provide the critical functions of skin appendages in addition to providing a novel therapy for people with alopecia.

Early work studying how hair follicles are formed during early development resulted in the reconstitution of pelage hair follicles when a mixture of prepared cell suspensions from embryonic or neonatal mice was grafted onto the dorsal surface within a silicon chamber [46]. Zheng et al. [47] demonstrated that dissociated neonatal mouse epidermal and dermal cells could be reconstituted to form hair follicles. The de novo follicles formed in a sequence similar to that seen in embryonic development, showed follicular layering, formed a bulge region, as well as a sebaceous gland, and demonstrated appropriate biochemical differentiation markers and cycling. Isolated K15 enhanced green fluorescent protein-positive bulge cells showed stem cell properties and created new follicles. An additional important finding was that the ratio of epithelial and dermal cells injected affected the efficiency of the hair formation. The study showed that 5000 dermal cells and 2500 epidermal cells were necessary to produce a single follicle.

Ebama et al. [1] used a similar technique to attempt to create a functional human follicle. Cografting of neonatal foreskin human keratinocytes with murine DP-enriched cells produced structures resembling hair follicles with multiple epidermal cell layers and a well-keratinized inner region. The follicular structures expressed hair keratin markers, as well as markers associated with developmental stages, but lacked normal hair. These results were also repeated with adult keratinocytes. Neither the enriched DP population nor the epidermal fraction alone formed any follicles, further elucidating the importance of the epithelial–mesenchymal interactions in hair follicle regeneration.

Building on the research with the mouse and human-dissociated cells to form new follicles, Sriwirlyanont and colleagues worked to produce functional follicles in engineered skin [48]. To date the growth of hair appendages in tissue-engineered skin substitutes has not been accomplished in a reproducible manner predominantly due to the lack of trichogenicity in postnatal cells. In this study a chimera of human neonatal-cultured keratinocytes and murine-cultured DP cells was grafted orthotopically to full thickness wounds on athymic mice. Noncultured dissociated murine skin cells were used as the positive control and human cultured keratinocytes and fibroblasts without DP cells were the negative control. Neonatal murine-only skin substitutes produced external hairs with sebaceous glands, while chimeric skin substitutes formed hairs without the gland. The latter was associated with the upregulation of the LEF-1 hair-related gene and the downregulation of stearoyl-CoA desaturase, a sebaceous gland marker. No visible hairs or glands were formed with human-only skin substitutes. Results of this study illustrated that sebaceous gland formation is not a prerequisite for hair growth in tissue-engineered skin substitutes.

The regeneration of a human hair using epidermal and dermal components in ex vivo or mouse models has not been demonstrated to date.

Research by Rahmani et al. [49] has resulted in identifying a cell type that has furthered progress in human hair regeneration and may lead to generating new hair in the human scalp. To assess how DP cells are maintained in healthy follicles an in vivo fate mapping of adult hair follicle dermal sheath (DS) cells was performed. It was seen that a subset of DS cells is retained following each hair cycle and that these cells exhibit a self-renewal characteristic and are key in repopulating the DS and DP with new cells. Hair regrowth was retarded when the DS cells

were ablated and hair type specification was altered, supporting the hypothesis that the DS cells function to modulate normal DP function. This work identified a bipotent stem cell within the adult hair follicle mesenchyme and supported the approach of using the DS cells in the clinical setting.

A phase 1/2a study utilizing an autologous cell-based treatment for AGA has been completed by RepliCel Life Sciences and has demonstrated safety and effectiveness. Subjects with mild-to-moderate AGA as characterized by the Ludwig scale (female subjects) or Norwood Hamilton scale (male subjects) were enrolled in the study. After blood sample testing substantiated their general health, scalp biopsies were taken and sent to a cyclic guanosine monophosphate-compliant facility. Biopsies were dissociated and treated to isolate dermal sheath cup (DSC) cells, which were then expanded in culture. The 19 subjects returned to the clinic after the DSC cells were grown to numbers sufficient for transplantation. The process for creating and implanting the DSCs is shown in Fig. 74.6. Subjects were their own control and received medium alone (placebo) or replicated DSC cells in medium into areas of their scalp that were randomized by a predetermined blind. The primary protocol of the study was to assess local treatment sites for any abnormalities at the 6-month time point. The secondary endpoints at 6 and 24 months assessed both safety and efficacy. At the 6-month interim point the data collected showed no serious adverse reactions in any of the subjects. Thirty percent of the subjects experienced a burning sensation at the site of treatment, which was resolved within 24-48 h. At 6 months, several efficacy endpoints were successfully met as well. Significantly more patients demonstrated a greater than 5% increase in hair density at the DSC-treated areas, with density increases ranging from 5% to 19.6%. Increases were seen in total hair density, as well as vellus and terminal hair density. Additional clinical studies are currently under way in Japan and are being conducted by Shiseido Company, a world leader in aesthetic products. The clinical data to date support the importance of DS cells in hair growth, particularly with the cosmetically relevant increase in hair density.

Similar autologous cell-based studies have been performed with a combination of epithelial and dermal cells or dermal cells alone by both Intercytex Group plc and Aderans Research. Trials have consistently shown safety in all patients and signals of efficacy in a number of treated subjects.

In autologous cell-based trials a number of questions still remain to be answered. These include the mechanism of action and whether the injected cells actually develop a new follicle, become part of an existing follicle, or stimulate hair growth by releasing growth factors and exosomes that then increase growth in the targeted hair follicle. The



FIGURE 74.6 Collecting and processing dermal sheath fibroblasts for implantation for hair regrowth.
number of cells necessary to be utilized to stimulate hair growth is key, since the ratio of new hair follicles to donor follicles must be great enough to produce a commercially feasible product. Being able to measure and retain trichogenicity of the implanted cells is essential, as well as being able to understand whether a regenerating system in vivo has the ability to attract other cells from the body, as is seen with the recruitment of bone marrow cells in the process of normal wound healing, which should offer a real benefit in new organ formation.

## SUMMARY

The ultimate goal in organ replacement regenerative medicine is the ability to create fully functional organs that have been damaged or destroyed by injury, aging, or disease. The hair follicle is an ideal miniorgan, which has been targeted to achieve this goal since it reforms itself throughout life through key interactions between epithelial cells and inductive cells from the mesenchyme. Whether success will be achieved by creating the follicle in vitro in complex three-dimensional culture systems or injecting a combination of cells and growth factors into the scalp for remodeling in vivo is still unknown. Studying follicular neogenesis in the embryonic environment has led to tremendous advances in understanding the complex signaling pathways and epithelial-mesenchymal interactions necessary to stimulate human hair growth. Research by several laboratories has underscored the powerful inductive ability of the follicular dermal cells. Although current cellular implant approaches have focused on autologous dissociated cells from the scalp, the potential of an allogeneic approach is very feasible. Dermal hair follicle tissue has successfully been transplanted between individuals without any sign of rejection [50]. In addition, it is believed that the hair follicle is an immune privileged location that does not express the major histocompatibility complex class 1 antigen that is associated with the rejection process [51]. To make progress in either autologous or allogeneic expanded cells for transplantation we must make progress with developing solutions for maintaining trichogenicity of the cells in culture. A very intriguing proposition is the utilization of iPS cells or other stem cells in bioengineering a human hair follicle. A number of stem cell types, including neural [52] and bone marrow-derived MSCs [53], have shown the capacity to form skin and hair when injected into a blastocyst. A product designed to engineer new hair follicles, consisting of inductive dermal cells and competent epithelial cells, is likely to be the first organ system to be successful in the clinic.

## References

- Ehama R, Ishimatsu-Tsujy Y, Iriyama S, Ideta R, Soma T, Yano K, et al. Hair follicle regeneration using grafted rodent and human cells. J Invest Dermatol 2007;127:2106–15.
- [2] Plikus MV, Sundberg JP, Chuong C-M. Mouse skin ectodermal organs. In: Fox J, Barthold S, Davisson M, Newcomer C, Quimby F, Smith A, editors. The mouse in biomedical research. 2vol. 3. Amsterdam: Academic Press; 2007.
- [3] Fuchs E. Scratching the surface of skin development. Nature 2007;445:834–42.
- [4] Plikus MV, Chuong CM. Complex hair cycle domain patterns and regenerative hair waves in living rodents. J Invest Dermatol 2008;128:1071–80.
- [5] Naughton G, Mansbridge J, Gentzkow G. A metabolically active human dermal replacement for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. Artif Organs 1997;21(11):1203–10.
- [5a] Ito M, Cotsarelis G. Is the Hair Follicle Necessary for Normal Wound Healing? J Invest Dermatol 2008;128(5):1059-61.
- [6] Schmidt-Ulrich R, Paus R. Molecular principles of hair follicle induction and morphogenesis. Bioessays 2005;27:247–61.
- [7] Lacassagne A, Latarjet R. Action of methylcholanthrene on certain scars on the skin in mice. Can Res 1946;6:183-8.
- [8] Billingham RE, Russell PS. Incomplete wound contraction and the phenomenon of hair neogenesis in rabbit skin. Nature 1956;177:791-2.
- [9] Kligman AM, Strauss JS. The formation of vellus hair follicles from human adult epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 1956;27:19–23.
- [10] Ito M, Yang Z, Andl T, Cui C, Kim N, Miller S, Cotsarelis G. Wnt-dependent de novo hair follicle regeneration in adult mouse skin after wounding. Nature 2007;447:316–21.
- [11] Ellis JA, Stebbing M, Harrap SB. Polymorphism of the androgen receptor gene is associated with male pattern baldness. J Invest Dermatol 2001;116(3):452–5.
- [12] Hadshiew IM, Foitzik K, Arck PC, Paus R. Burden of hair loss: stress and the underestimated psychosocial impact of telogen effluvium and androgenetic alopecia. J Invest Dermatol 2004;123(3):455–7.
- [13] Gilhar A, Keren A, Shemer A, d'Ovidio R, Ullmann Y, Paus R. Autoimmune disease induction in a healthy human organ: a humanized mouse model of alopecia areata. J Invest Dermatol 2013;133(3):844–7.
- [14] Garza LA, Yang CC, Zhao T, Blatt HB, Lee M, He H, Stanton DC, Carrasco L, Spiegel JH, Tobias JW, Cotsarelis G. Bald scalp in men with androgenetic alopecia retains hair follicle stem cells but lacks CD200-rich and CD43-positive hair follicle progenitor cells. J Clin Invest 2011;121:613–22.
- [15] Greco V, Chen T, Rendl M, Schober M, Pasolli HA, Stokes N, Dela Cruz-Racelis J, Fuchs E. A two step mechanism for stem cell activation during hair regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4:155–60.
- [16] Anitua E, Fino A, Martinez N, Orive G, Berridl D. The effect of plasma rich in growth factors on pattern hair loss: a pilot study. Dermatol Surg 2017;43(5):658–70.

#### REFERENCES

- [17] Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH. Multilineage cell from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 2001;7:211–28.
- [18] Lee A, Bae S, Lee SH, Kweon OK, Kim WH. Hair growth promoting effect of dermal papilla like tissues from canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells through vascular endothelial growth factor. J Vet Med Sci 2016;78(12):1811–8.
- [19] Chen CC, Plikus MV, Tang PC, Widelitz RB, Chuong CM. The modulatable stem cell niche: tissue interactions during hair and feather follicle regeneration. J Mol Biol 2016;428(7):1423–40.
- [20] Kim WS, Park BS, Sung JH, Yang JM, Park SB, Lee GY, Kim KJ, Whang KK, Kang SH, Park BS, Sung JH. Wound healing effect of adiposederived stem cells: a critical role of secretory factors on human fibroblasts. J Dermatol Sci 2007;48:15–24.
- [21] Park BS, Kim WS, Choi JS, Kim HK, Won WH, Ohkubo F, Fukuoka H. Hair growth stimulated by conditioned medium of adipose derived stem cells is enhanced by hypoxia: evidence of increased growth factor secretion. Biomed Res 2010;31(1):27–34.
- [22] Fukuoka H, Suga H. Hair regeneration treatment using adipose derived stem cell conditioned medium: follow up with trichograms. Eplasty 2015;15:e10.
- [23] Seo TB, Han IS, Yoon JH, Seol IC, Kim YS, Jo HK. Growth promoting activity of Hominis Placenta extract on regenerating sciatic nerve. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2006;27(1):50–8.
- [24] Zhang D, Lijuan G, Jingjie L, Zheng L, Wang C, Wang Z. Cow placenta extract promotes murine hair growth through enhancing the insulinlike growth factor-1. Indian J Dermatol 2011;56(1):14–8.
- [25] Dong L, Hao H, Xia L, Liu J, Ti D, Tong C, Hou Q, Han Q, Zhao Y, Liu H, Fu X, Han W. Treatment of MSCs with Wnt1a-conditioned medium activates DP cells and promotes hair follicle regrowth. Sci Rep 2014;4:5432–40.
- [26] Hwang I, Choi KA, Park HS, Hang-Soo J, Hyesun K, Jeong-Ok S, Seol K, Kwon HJ, Park IH, Hong S. Neural stem cells restore hair growth through activation of the hair follicle niche. Cell Transplant 2016;25(8):1439–51.
- [27] Adzick NS, Lorenz HP. Cells, matrix, growth factors, and the surgeon. The biology of scarless fetal wound repair. Ann Surg 1994;220:10-8.
- [28] Ezashi T, Das P, Roberts RM. Low O<sub>2</sub> tension and the prevention of differentiation of hES cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:4783–8.
- [29] Chakravarthy MV, Spangenburg EE, Booth FW. Culture in low levels of oxygen enhances in vitro proliferation potential of satellite cells from old skeletal muscles. Cell Mol Life Sci 2001;58:1150–8.
- [30] Covello KL, Kehler J, Yu H, et al. HIF-2alpha regulates Oct-4: effects of hypoxia on stem cell function, embryonic development, and tumor growth. Gene Dev 2006;20:557–70.
- [31] Pinney E, Zimber M, Schenone A, Montes-Camacho M, Ziegler F, Naughton GK. Human embryonic-like ECM (hECM) stimulates proliferation and differentiation in stem cells while killing cancer cells. IJSC 2011;4(1):70–5.
- [32] Watt FM, Jensen KB. Epidermal stem cell diversity and quiescence. EMBO Mol Med 2009;1:260-7.
- [33] Li W, et al. VEGF induces proliferation of human hair follicle dermal papilla cells through VEGFR-2 mediated activation of ERK. Exp Cell Res 2012;318(14):1633–40.
- [34] Zhou N, Fan W, Li M. Angiogenin is expressed in human dermal papilla cells and stimulates hair growth. Arch Dermatol Res 2008;301(2): 139–49.
- [35] Shimaoka S, et al. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor expressed in follicular papilla cells stimulates human hair growth in vitro. J Cell Physiol 1995;165:333–8.
- [36] Jindo T, Imai R, Tsuboi R, Ogawa H. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor stimulates hair growth of mouse vibrissae in organ culture. J Invest Dermatol 1994;103(3):306-9.
- [37] Yoon S, et al. A role of placental growth factor in hair growth. J Dermatol Sci May 2014;74(2):125–34.
- [38] Guo L, Degenstein L, Fuchs E. Keratinocyte growth factor is required for hair development but not for wound healing. Genes Dev 1996;10: 165–75.
- [39] Yang K, Brown LF, Detmar M. J Clin Invest February 15, 2001;107(4):4098-417.
- [40] Jang JH. Stimulation of human hair growth by recombinant keratinocyte growth factor. Biotechnol Lett June 2005;27(11):749-52.
- [41] McDowall M, Edwards NM, Jahoda CAB, Hynd PI. The role of activins and follistatin in skin and hair follicle development and function. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2008;19(5):415–26.
- [42] Inui S, Fukuzato Y, Nakajima T, Yoskikawa K, Itami S. Androgen-inducible TGF-B1 from balding dermal papilla cells inhibits epithelial cell growth: a clue to understand paradoxical effects of androgen on human hair growth. FASEB J 2002;16:1967–9.
- [43] Nakamura M, et al. Control of pelage hair follicle development and cycling by complex interactions between follistatin and activin. FASEB J 2003;17:497–9.
- [44] Rendl M, Polak I, Fuchs E. BMP signaling in dermal papilla cells is required for the hair follicle-inductive properties. Genes Dev 2008;22: 543–57.
- [45] Sadick N, Zimber MP, Cooley J, Yagyu K, Naughton GK. Embryonic-like secreted proteins enhance hair follicular unit viability and posttransplant healing. In: ISHRS annual meeting review; 2011.
- [46] Lichti U, Weinberg WC, Goodman L, Ledbetter S, Doolet T, Morgan D, Yuspa SH. In vivo regulation of murine hair growth: insights from grafting define cell populations onto nude mice. J Invest Dermatol 1993;101:124S–9S.
- [47] Zheng Y, Du X, Wang W, Boucher M, Parimoo S, Stenn K. Organogenesis from dissociated cells: generation of mature cycling hair dollicles from skin-derived cells. J Invest Dermatol 2005;124:867–76.
- [48] Sriwirlyanont P, Lynch K, McFarland K, Supp D, Boyce S. Characterization of hair follicle development in engineered skin substitutes. PLoS One 2013;8(6):1–10.
- [49] Rahmani W, Abbasi S, Hagner A, Raharjo E, Kumar R, Hotta A, Magness S, Metzger D, Biernaskie J. Hair follicle dermal stem cells regenerate the dermal sheath, repopulate the dermal papilla, and modulate hair type. Dev Cell 2014;31:543–58.
- [50] Reynolds AJ, Lawrence C, Cserhalmi-Friedman PB, Christiano AM, Jahoda CA. Trans-gender induction of hair follicles. Nature 1999;402: 33–4.
- [51] Paus R, Eichmuller S, Hofmann U, Czarnetzki BM, Robinson P. Expression of classical and nonclassical MHC class 1 antigens in murine hair follicles. Br J Dermatol 1994;131:177–83.

74. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE APPROACHES FOR ENGINEERING A HUMAN HAIR FOLLICLE

- [52] Clarke DL, Johansson CB, Wilbertz J, Veress B, Nilsson E, Karlstrom H, Lendahl U, Frisen J. Generalized potential of adult human stem cells. Science 2000;288:1660–3.
- [53] Jiang Y, Jahagirdar BN, Reinhardt RL, Schwartz RE, Keene CD, Ortiz-Gonzalez XR, Reyes M, Lenvik T, Lund T, Blackstad M. Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 2002;418:41–9.

# **Further Reading**

Blanpain C, Fuchs E. Epidermal homeostasis: a balancing act of stem cells in the skin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:207-17.

# US Stem Cell Research Policy

Josephine Johnston, Rachel L. Zacharias

The Hastings Center, Garrison, NY, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Since James A. Thomson and colleagues reported the isolation of pluripotent stem cells from human embryos in 1998 [1], stem cell research has received considerable public and policy attention. Because the isolation of embryonic stem cells involves destroying human embryos, some groups and individuals have opposed, or raised concerns about, some or all of the research on moral grounds. The opposition and concern have influenced a number of policies and laws at state, federal, and international levels. From 2001 until 2009, much embryonic stem cell research was ineligible for federal funding in the United States. In 2009, federal rules were relaxed somewhat, although federal funds still may not be used to create embryonic stem cells or to support research on cells taken from embryos created for research purposes, including by cloning. Despite these restrictions, embryonic stem cell research progressed into the 21st century in the United States using monies supplied by individual donors, charitable organizations, and states. After briefly discussing ethical and policy issues in adult and fetal stem cell research, this chapter will survey the current policy issues in embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSc) research, beginning with federal and state funding policies, which will be compared to regulation strategies adopted in other nations active in the research, before considering oversight, commercialization, and ethical issues that arise as the research and technology move forward.

# SOURCES OF STEM CELLS

Stem cells are special kinds of cells that can regenerate themselves and make new, more specialized cells. For the purposes of an ethics and policy discussion, stem cells can be divided into four kinds based on the source of the cells: adult stem cells, fetal stem cells, iPScs, and embryonic stem cells. In terms of ethics, polici, policy, and law, much depends on the source of the cells.

# Adult Cells

"Adult" stem cells are derived from the somatic cells of adults and children (frequently taken from an umbilical cord). Although obtaining adult stem cells can raise some ethical issues, they are similar to those raised in other kinds of research involving human subjects, the most important of which is the requirement for free and informed consent [2]. Because the ability of competent adults to consent to research enjoys wide acceptance, somatic stem cell research has not been a major focus of ethical or political debate. It does, however, enter public consciousness as a less controversial, proposed alternative to embryonic stem cell research. Opponents of embryonic stem cell research cite clinical success of adult stem cells as evidence that research using embryonic cells is unnecessary [3,4]. However, many adult stem cell scientists insist on the importance of pursuing research on stem cells from both sources [5,6].

# **Fetal Cells**

Pluripotent stem cells have also been extracted from the primordial reproductive tissue of aborted fetuses [7]. Any source of stem cells that relies on women undergoing elective terminations is likely to be controversial in the United

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

States simply because of the ongoing debate over the morality and legality of abortion. Nevertheless, researchers have used tissue from aborted fetuses since as early as the 1930s and federal funds are currently available for this kind of stem cell research.

Although research involving human fetuses has been regulated in the United States since allegations of experiments on in and ex utero fetuses emerged in the early 1970s [8] (and around the same time as the Supreme Court's famous 1973 decision on the legality of abortion in *Roe v. Wade* [9]), it seems that these regulations do not apply to most stem cell research using fetal cells. Human subject regulations, promulgated in 1975, require extra protections where federally funded research involves pregnant women, fetuses, and human in vitro fertilization (IVF). Among other things, these regulations forbid researchers from having any involvement in a woman's decision to terminate her pregnancy or from offering gestational carriers financial inducements [10]. Although it has always been clear that these regulations applied to in utero fetal research, there has been some uncertainty as to whether the regulations apply also to research that, like stem cell research, uses cadaveric fetal tissue [11]. In March 2002, the Office for Human Research Protections issued a guidance for research involving fetal stem cells in which it states that the research will only be subject to federal human subject protections where it involves "a living individual," which would exclude fetal stem cell research unless the formerly pregnant woman is involved in the research [11].

Likewise, the 1993 federal legislation on fetal tissue transplantation research likely does not apply to stem cell research using fetal cells unless the research also involves transplanting the cells into humans. Similar to the restrictions imposed by the federal human subject regulations, this legislation stipulates that no alteration in the timing, method, or procedures used to terminate the pregnancy should be made solely for the purposes of obtaining the tissue, nor can tissue be paid for or taken without the consent of the gestational carrier [12]. This legislation reappeared in public discourse in 2015, when the reproductive health care provider Planned Parenthood was accused of illegally profiting from fetal tissue donated to research [13]. Under the 1993 law, centers such as the accused California clinic can be reimbursed for the cost of obtaining, storing, and processing fetal tissue, but cannot be paid for the donation itself. Although 12 state inquiries found no evidence of illegal activity on behalf of Planned Parenthood, the organization stopped obtaining reimbursements for fetal tissue in October 2015 [14].

Even though both the federal regulations and the fetal tissue transplantation legislation likely do not apply to most fetal stem cell research, practices similar to those required by these laws (and lessons learned from cases that arise from their interpretation) will likely be considered by Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) reviewing fetal stem cell research.

Various states also have laws affecting fetal stem cell research, which will apply to all researchers in those states regardless of their funding source. For example, five states ban research involving aborted fetuses and 12 states ban paying for fetal remains [15]. Despite fetal stem cell research's intimate connections with fetal tissue research and the controversial practice of induced abortion, this kind of stem cell research has seldom been the subject of public debate.

#### Embryos

Instead, debate has consistently focused on research that uses stem cells extracted from 4- to 7-day-old human embryos, referred to broadly as human embryonic stem cells (hEScs). Because any single cell in the very early human embryo can develop into a whole fetus, it is thought that embryonic stem cells have the potential to develop into almost any cell type and repair damaged or diseased parts of the human body. The therapeutic potential of embryonic stem cells therefore is thought to be enormous, but so is the moral peril because extracting these stem cells generally necessitates destroying the embryo. For this reason, the research has been vigorously opposed by many individuals and groups, including (but not limited to) those who consider the early embryo to be a person or, if not a full person, an entity of such sufficient moral significance that it should not be created for, or destroyed in, research.

Embryonic stem cells can be derived from embryos created by two mechanisms: IVF or cloning. IVF embryos are created through the combination of an egg and sperm cell in a lab. Embryos produced through IVF may have been produced for reproductive uses but then determined no longer to be clinically necessary (so-called "spare" or "surplus" embryos), or they may have been produced specifically for research use. This difference in the reasons for creating the embryos is worth understanding. Creating embryos for research use is often opposed on the grounds that it is wrong to create human life for the purposes of destroying it [16]. Research use of spare embryos, on the other hand, has received more support on the ground that the embryos would be destroyed anyway.

Whether the intention of the original creator of the embryos is sufficient reason for permitting research on spare embryos but not on embryos created for research use has been questioned [17,18]. Even if this moral issue can be

resolved, spare embryos may not be satisfactory as the sole source of embryos for stem cell research because there may not be sufficient numbers available to meet demand. A 2003 survey of US fertility clinics reports that of the more than 400,000 embryos in frozen storage in the United States, only 2.8% have been donated to research [19]. Other researchers have argued that these frozen embryos will not be genetically diverse enough for therapeutic purposes [20]. Whether for these reasons or others, the US National Academies, which issued guidelines for embryonic stem cell research in 2004 (discussed in more detail later), proceeded on the basis that researchers could use spare embryos and embryos created for research use, including by cloning.

The arguments against creating life purely for research use are also used to argue against using cloning techniques to generate human embryos. Currently, cloned embryos are created through a technology called somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) (SCNT was used in the cloning of Dolly the Sheep in 1997 [21]). In ethics and policy discussions, cloning is usually broken down into two types based on the end goal of the cloning: therapeutic or research cloning and reproductive cloning. Therapeutic cloning uses SCNT to create cloned cells that will only be used in vitro, including embryos or somatic cells from which hEScs or iPScs can be derived, respectively. In therapeutic cloning, cloned embryos are not implanted for reproduction, and are discarded after stem cells have been derived [22]. Reproductive cloning is the creation of a cloned embryo through SCNT with the goal of creating a new living person. While therapeutic cloning destroys embryos, reproductive cloning would, if successful, result in the birth of a cloned human. Therapeutic and reproductive cloning are treated differently in policy in the United States and internationally.

#### Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

In 2002, Catherine Verfaillie and colleagues announced that they had isolated multipotent adult progenitor cells from bone marrow [23]. Then, in 2006, scientists in Japan and the United States announced the creation of pluripotent stem cells from adult skin cells [24,25]. These iPScs are human somatic cells reprogrammed to develop into nearly every human cell type, and are believed to be functionally very similar or identical to embryonic stem cells. Many consider these somatic cell-based lines to be an ethically simpler alternative to embryonic stem cells that could satisfy the same scientific and clinical needs. In the past decade, iPSc technologies have contributed considerably to research on human diseases, drug screening, and, with the introduction of gene editing, offer a virtually unlimited supply of human cell lines to research efforts [26].

Debates continue regarding the scientific differences between hESc and iPSc lines, and the significance (if any) of the ways in which they vary [27,28]. Due to the self-renewing quality of both cell types, hESc and iPSc may introduce a risk of neoplasm and tumor formation if the cells are not engineered properly. As such, hEScs were only approved in clinical trials in 2009, and iPScs have yet to be used clinically [29,30]. While embryonic stem cells frequently garner ethical attention surrounding the destruction of embryos, pluripotent stem cells have raised separate ethical considerations, mainly stemming from their creation by human cloning technologies.

At the time of writing, research remains active in both the embryonic stem cell and iPSc domains. While future developments could shift research toward exclusive use of iPScs, past and current state, federal, and international policies have centered primarily on embryonic stem cell research.

## UNITED STATES FEDERAL AND STATE STEM CELL POLICY

## History of US Stem Cell Law and Policy

Federal policies affecting human stem cell research include those targeted specifically at the research, or aspects of it, and more general policy that has implications for stem cell research. In both cases, most of these policies affect hESc research.

An example of policy that predates the derivation of hEScs is federal regulation of research involving human embryos, which began in the 1970s. Following the 1973 decision of the Supreme Court in *Roe v. Wade*, the United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare (DHEW) (a predecessor to the Department of Health and Human Services [HHS]) placed a moratorium on research with living human embryos. In 1974 Congress followed suit, creating their own moratorium on federal funding for research on embryos and embryonic tissue. While the DHEW moratorium was lifted in 1975, a de facto Congressional ban remained, and was translated into legislation in 1995 with the passage of the Dickey–Wicker Amendment [31,32]. The amendment specifies that no HHS (which includes the National Institutes of Health [NIH]) funds can be used for the creation or destruction of a human embryo for research

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

purposes. Since 1996, this policy has appeared as a rider to the annual appropriation acts for the Departments of Labor, Education, and Health and Human Services. Since then, no research on human embryos themselves, including the derivation of stem cells and the creation of human embryos through cloning, has been supported with federal funds. Instead, funds from states and private sources have been used to create embryonic stem cell lines. Once those lines have been created, federal funding has been available for research on them (see later). While the terms of this funding have varied by administration, Presidents Clinton, Bush, and Obama formulated policies to allow for federal funding of research on hEScs, within the bounds of the Dickey–Wicker Amendment. Unless Congress removes this provision from HHS appropriations, or until embryonic stem cells (or their equivalent) can be extracted without destroying or harming human embryos [33], federal funding cannot be made available for the critical derivation step in the research.

Following the announcement of derivation of hEScs in 1998, President Clinton developed a policy to permit use of federal funds to study embryonic stem cells without contravening the Dickey–Wicker Amendment [2]. Under the policy, federal funds could be used for research on embryonic stem cells *after* they had been extracted from the embryo, but the funds could not be used for the crucial extraction step in the process. In opposing President Clinton's policy, some members of Congress complained that although it did not pay for embryo destruction, it nevertheless encouraged research that required the destruction of human embryos [2]. The basic reasoning in President Clinton's policy—that extraction of stem cells from embryos is a separate step from research on those cells once extracted—has persisted in the policies of Presidents Bush and Obama since, and was tested in a federal court in 2010. However, President Clinton's policy itself was not able to be implemented before his presidency ended, and the federal policy was altered dramatically in 2001, when President George W. Bush announced that he would limit federal funding to the study of embryonic stem cells that were already in existence at the time that his policy was announced (9 p.m. Eastern Standard Time on August 9, 2001). Research on newly derived cell lines would not be permitted with federal money. Other conditions included that the cells must have been extracted from "spare" embryos that were donated with the informed consent of the donors, to whom no financial inducements may have been offered [34]. To facilitate research on existing embryonic stem cells that met these criteria, the NIH set up a stem cell registry shortly after the policy was announced listing embryonic stem cell lines eligible for use in federally funded research and available for shipping. In his 2001 address, President Bush stated that more than 60 embryonic stem cell lines met his criteria, but for a variety of reasons only 22 lines were consistently listed in the registry as available for shipping.

In explaining his policy, President Bush explicitly referred both to scientists' beliefs in the enormous therapeutic potential of embryonic stem cell research and to his own belief in the value of embryonic life. Of embryonic stem cell research, he noted: "At its core, this issue forces us to confront fundamental questions about the beginnings of life and the ends of science. It lies at a difficult moral intersection, juxtaposing the need to protect life in all its phases with the prospect of saving and improving life in all its stages." He called himself "a strong supporter of science and technology" but also noted that he believes "that human life is a sacred gift from our Creator" [35].

If President Bush intended his policy as a compromise between the value of scientific research and the value of embryonic life, it was one that left many scientists, disease groups, and others unsatisfied. Substantial criticism was directed at the 2001 policy. Those who oppose any research in which human embryos are destroyed argued that the federal funding restrictions needed to be supplemented with a nationwide ban on creating embryos for use in research, including by cloning [2,36]. A more vocal opposition called the 2001 policy overly restrictive. Their arguments included that the President overvalued embryonic life (that it is not more important than research aimed at treating disease) [2], that the policy was arbitrary and inconsistent [2], that the cell lines in the NIH registry were of poor quality and inappropriate for long-term use [37], and that the policy harmed American science by encouraging scientists to focus on research for which federal funding is available or to move to other countries to conduct their research [2].

During the Bush presidency, stem cell research was an important and in many cases partisan political issue. Federal policy was debated during the 2004 presidential campaign [38] and was a major issue at the Democratic National Convention, where Ronald Regan Jr., son of former Republican President Ronald Regan, gave a speech calling for greater government support of embryonic stem cell research. State policies to fund hESc research ineligible for federal support (described later in the chapter) were in some cases motivated by disagreement with President Bush's 2001 policy.

Other political activity, however, was bipartisan, including two 2004 letters—one signed by over 200 congressional representatives and the other signed by nearly 60 senators—asking President Bush to relax federal funding restrictions on embryonic stem cell research. Similar bipartisan support was expressed for the Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act, introduced in 2005 and 2007, which would have provided federal support for hESc research using embryos created for IVF, no longer clinically necessary and donated with informed consent [39–41]. Both attempts

were passed by the House and Senate, but vetoed by President Bush (an override was unsuccessful in 2005 and not attempted in 2007). Republican politicians who supported changes in federal policy included Senator Orrin Hatch, who mixed opposition to abortion with support for embryonic stem cell research provided it used only spare embryos [42]. Although the Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act was never passed, its language and motivations contributed to a shift in federal policy at the commencement of the Obama administration.

## Current US Stem Cell Research Policy

### **Federal Policy**

At the time of writing, US policy for embryonic stem cell research is contained in President Obama's March 9, 2009 Executive Order [43], the NIH Guidelines on Human Stem Cell Research [44], and any applicable state laws [45]. The 2009 Executive Order and NIH guidelines establish the criteria for embryonic stem cell research that uses federal funds. They do not apply to research conducted using nonfederal monies, such as might be supplied by an individual donor, a company, a charitable organization, or a state government. Nevertheless, because much basic biomedical research is traditionally funded by the federal government, the federal funding policies have a significant impact on embryonic stem cell research in the United States.

Executive Order 13505 does little more than revoke the policy announced in 2001 by President George W. Bush, state that the NIH may fund research using embryonic stem cells, and request that they issue new guidance for such research. The particulars of the new federal funding policy are to be found in the NIH Guidelines on Human Stem Cell Research, released in 2009. Under these guidelines, federal funding may be used to study embryonic stem cells derived from embryos "that were created using in vitro fertilization for reproductive purposes and were no longer needed for this purpose" (sometimes referred to as spare, surplus, or leftover embryos) and that were donated by the individuals who sought reproductive treatment. The donors must have given their voluntary written consent for the embryos to be used in research, and documentation must be available to show, among other things, that the donors received no cash or in-kind payment in exchange for making the donation and that there was a clear separation between the decision to create the embryos for reproductive purposes and the decision to donate. The guidelines also establish a registry of cell lines that meet federal funding criteria and describe procedures for establishing eligibility for funding of lines that are not already on the NIH registry. Because of the continued applicability of the Dickey–Wicker Amendment, federal funding is not available for the derivation of stem cells from embryos or research on cells taken from embryos that were created for research purposes, including by cloning [44].

Although considerably less controversial, President Obama's Executive Order and the NIH guidelines that followed have also been criticized for being too permissive by those opposed to embryonic stem cell research and too restrictive by those who believe federal funding should be available for research on stem cell-extracted embryos created for research purposes, including by cloning [46].

Overall, stem cell policy under President Obama has received little political attention. The most notable opposition came by way of the courts, just months after the announcement of Obama's executive action. A suit was brought against the Obama administration (specifically, HHS Secretary Kathleen Sebelius) by two adult stem cell researchers, James Sherley and Theresa Deisher, who argued that federal policy violated the spirit of the Dickey–Wicker Amendment by funding research that relies on the destruction of human embryos. The case succeeded initially in the federal district court for the District of Columbia [47]. But after a series of appeals, the US Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit overturned the decision in 2012, citing no wrongdoing or violation of Dickey–Wicker in the NIH's interpretation of the guidelines [42]. In 2013, the Supreme Court refused to hear the case, decidedly upholding NIH's 2009 guidelines and the limited federal funding of hESc research [48] (Figs. 75.1 and 75.2).

#### **State Policy and Private Funding**

In response to President Bush's 2001 hESc research funding policy, advocates lobbied both state governments and private parties to provide funds for the research. The funding helped propel the research forward. Harvard University's Douglas Melton and colleagues announced in 2004 that they had derived 17 new embryonic stem cell lines with support provided by the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation, the Howard Hughes Medical Institute, and Harvard University [49]. According to a 2005 special report in *Scientific American*, about \$200 million of private money was spent on US stem cell research annually during the Bush administration [50]. We could find no reports of whether or how private funding of hESc research has changed since 2009. However, private foundations continue to contribute heavily to hESc research despite the increased federal funding under the Obama administration [51].



FIGURE 75.1 Federal funding for embryonic versus nonembryonic stem cell research (FY2003–FY2017). Changes in federal funding for embryonic and nonembryonic human and nonhuman stem cell research between the years 2003 and 2017. The *red line* denotes the shift from the Bush administration to the Obama administration, at which time US federal stem cell research and funding policies changed significantly.



FIGURE 75.2 Federal funding for stem cell research by type (FY2012–FY2017). Federal funding allocations for stem cell research by type throughout the Obama administration (postfunding policy shift, 2012 through 2017). Data courtesy of National Institutes of Health Research Portfolio Online Reporting Tools. Estimates of funding for various research, condition, and disease categories (RCDC); February 10, 2016. https://report.nih.gov/categorical\_spending.aspx.

In response to President Bush's hESc research policy, states also moved to fund stem cell research, as outlined in Table 75.1. In 2004, New Jersey became the first state to announce funding for local stem cell researchers, creating the Stem Cell Institute of New Jersey and the New Jersey Stem Cell Research Grant Program [52]. This program, as well as one in Illinois, has since ended, but funding continues to be available in other states, including New York, Connecticut, Maryland, Massachusetts, and Wisconsin [53].

State	hESc Research	Funding for hESc or	Derivation from	Cloning (SCNT)	Legal
	Legal	cloning research	Excess IVF Embryos	Therapeutic / Research	Reproductive
Alabama					
Alaska					
Arizona		Cloning: R and T			
Arkansas					
California					
Colorado					
Connecticut					
Delaware					
Florida		а			
Georgia					
Hawaii		Cloning: R			
Idaho					
Illinois		Program Ended			
Indiana	*	Cloning: R and T			
Iowa					
Kansas	*				
Kentucky					
Louisiana		Cloning: R and T			
Maine		g,			
Maryland					
Massachusetts					
Michigan		Cloning: R and T			
Minnesota	b	Cioning, it and i			
Mississippi					
Missouri		Cloning: R			
Montana		Cioling, R			
Nebraska		hESc Derivation Cloping			
Nevada	d	inese Derivation, Cloimig			
New Homeshire					
New Interpolite		Program Ended			
New Mexico		1 Togrum Ended			
New Wextco					
New TOIK					
North Dakota					
Ohio					
Oklahoma		е			
Oragon					
Depreulyonia	f				
Pennsylvania Dhada Ialand	,				
Rhode Island					
South Carolina					
South Dakota					
Tennessee					
1 exas					
Utah					
Vermont					
Virginia					
Washington					
West Virginia					
Wisconsin					
Wyoming					

<b>TABLE 75.1</b>	Human Embr	onic Stem Cel	l Research Laws	s and Funding, by Sta	te
-------------------	------------	---------------	-----------------	-----------------------	----

hESc, Human embryonic stem cell; IVF, in vitro fertilization; SCNT, somatic cell nuclear transfer.

Key:

Green: Permitted by Law

Red: Prohibited by Law

Grey: Not considered in law - implicitly permissible, not governed by regulations or guidance

\* Adult and fetal stem cell research are permitted, embryonic is not

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

#### TABLE 75.1 Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research Laws and Funding by State—cont'd

#### State Specific Notes:

<sup>a</sup> Amendments both allocating and prohibiting state funding for stem cell research have been introduced in Florida, neither have passed into law.

<sup>b</sup> Minnesota law prohibits use of living human conceptus (any human organism from fertilization through the first 265 days thereafter) for any type of scientific, laboratory research or other experimentation. It is unclear whether embryonic stem cells fall under this definition: while the publically funded University of Minnesota Stem Cell Institute is permitted to use embryonic stem cell lines (from embryos created for IVF and not necessary for reproduction), no grants for hESc research have been issued in the state. <sup>c</sup> Nebraska limits embryonic stem cell research with state funds; restrictions apply to state healthcare funds provided by tobacco settlement dollars. No state facilities or funds can be used to destroy or create an embryo for the purpose of research (no derivation of stem cells or SCNT). Thus, derivation of hESc and use of SCNT can be conducted

with public funds only with cell lines developed elsewhere. Both hESc derivation and SCNT are permitted using private funds.

<sup>d</sup> A 2005 veto indirectly allows Nevada state funds to be used for research on human embryonic stem cell lines that existed before August 2001 (in accordance with the Bush Policy).

<sup>e</sup> In 2015, the Oklahoma House passed a bill criminalizing embryonic stem cell research. The bill did not progress through the Senate and was not passed into law. State funding is allocated only to non-embryonic stem cell research, but funding is not explicitly forbidden by law.

<sup>f</sup> Like Minnesota, Pennsylvania law prohibits "knowingly performing nontherapeutic experimentation upon any unborn child [...from fertilization until birth]." However, it does not explicitly ban embryonic stem cell research, which has been conducted at the University of Pennsylvania.

#### **References:**

Embryonic and Fetal Research Laws. National Conference of State Legislatures. 2016. Available from: http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/embryonic-and-fetal-research-laws.aspx

Georgia Institute of Technology. State Funding Boosts Stem Cell research in California, Other States. Cell Stem Cell. 2015. Available from: http://phys.org/news/2015-02-state-funding-boosts-stem-cell.html

Johnson, JA., Williams, ED. Stem Cell Research: State Initiatives. CRS Report for Congress. Available from: https://stemcells.nih.gov/staticresources/research/GW-State-Funding.pdf

Laws Related to Human Cloning. Americans United for Life. 2012. Available from: http://www.aul.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/bioethics-maps.pdf Protection of Human Life Act of 2015. (Oklahoma) Available from: https://legiscan.com/OK/bill/HB1379/2016

State Laws on Human Cloning. The New Atlantis. 2015. Available from: http://www.thenewatlantis.com/docLib/20150825\_TNA46Appendix.pdf

Stem Cell Research: A Science, American Stem Cell Research, State Cloning Legislation. OpenStax College. Available from: https://www.quizover.com/course/section/ states-with-bans-on-reproductive-and-therapeutic-cloning-by-openstax

Stem Cell Research at the Crossroads of Religion and Politics. Pew Research Center. 2008. Available from: http://www.pewforum.org/2008/07/17/stem-cell-research-at-the-crossroads-of-religion-and-politics/.

U.S. Stem Cell Policy Map Info. The New York Stem Cell Foundation. Available from: https://nyscf.org/scmapus

Vestal, C. States Applaud New Stem Cell Funding. Pew Charitable Trusts. 2009. Available from: http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/ 2009/03/11/states-applaud-new-stem-cell-funding.

Thus far, however, the largest state initiative has been in California [54]. In November 2004, voters in California supported a proposition to allocate \$3 billion over 10 years to embryonic stem cell research. The initiative, known as Proposition 71, authorized the state of California to sell \$3 billion in general obligation bonds to provide funding for stem cell research and research facilities in California. Under the proposition, the funds have been distributed as grants and loans to California-based institutions by the Californian Institute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM, established 2006), which also established regulatory standards for the research [55]. Critics of the initiative called it fiscally irresponsible given the state's economy and other health and research needs, and argued that the institute as structured lacked accountability [55]. Nevertheless, 59% of voters approved the measure. In 2015, California launched CIRM 2.0, described as a "radical overhaul" of the agency's operations, systems, and programs with an emphasis on speed, partnerships, and patient preference. In 2015, the state provided \$135 million to 47 grants and 252 programs supporting stem cell research [56].

# STEM CELL RESEARCH GUIDELINES

### The National Academies of Science

The very limited federally funded hESc research program combined with increased interest in hESc research by states and private funders created a situation in which research was being funded by a variety of funders around the United States without the benefit of national rules or guidelines. In 2004, issues surrounding creation, use, and donation of hEScs were taken up by a panel convened by the US National Academies of Science (NAS), a private, nonprofit organization whose mission is to advise the nation on issues in science, engineering, and medicine. While they do not carry the force of the law, in general the National Academies' reports and recommendations are very influential and its *Guidelines for Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research* [57] received significant media attention when they were first released in April 2005. The 2005 guidelines (and their 2007 and 2008 revisions) were instrumental templates for state legislatures and institutions as they developed their own funding and research policies.

#### STEM CELL RESEARCH GUIDELINES

1317

They were adopted, at least in part, by most major US research institutions [58]. While the guidelines are not the first document to speak to the conduct of embryonic stem cell research in the United States, at the time they were formulated it was not clear whether any of the previous guidance applied to contemporary hESc research because previous guidance was formulated under President Clinton but never implemented and effectively revoked by President Bush, or was simply too restrictive to meaningfully guide institutions and researchers that had made the decision to move forward with the research [59]. The guidelines were therefore received as filling a policy vacuum.

President Obama's 2009 Executive Order and the subsequent guidelines released by the NIH overrode the NAS guidelines to a certain extent. In 2010, the National Academies released a significantly amended set of guidelines, intended to be interpreted in tandem with the NIH's regulations [58]. The committee noted that non-NIH guidelines (such as its own) would continue to be important in the areas not eligible for federal funding, and thus not governed by the NIH. Some of these areas include the derivation of stem cell lines (ineligible for federal funding under Dickey–Wicker), research on hESc lines that were derived from embryos produced from some source other than IVF for reproductive purposes (including IVF for research purposes and SCNT cloning methods), and the wider range of experiments on chimeras. In the areas in which the NIH guidelines do overlap, NAS recommended that the NIH guidelines supersede its own. Where research falls outside of the scope of the federal guidelines, NAS generally recommends that the research is "permissible only after additional review and approval." This research includes generation of hEScs by whatever means and research involving the introduction of hEScs into animals other than humans and primates at any stage of development. NAS continued to recommend that research involving in vitro culture of any intact human embryo for longer than 14 days, and the introduction of hEScs into nonhuman primate blastocysts or non-hEScs into human blastocysts should not be permitted at this time.

The committee that drafted the original NAS guidelines was asked to consider the use and derivation of stem cells from embryos originally created during fertility treatment, embryos created using donated eggs and sperm, and cloned embryos. It therefore did not engage in the debate over whether it is morally permissible to destroy human embryos in research, as is required for derivation of embryonic stem cells. It also did not consider whether there is a moral difference between research that uses spare embryos and research that uses embryos created specifically for research purposes, including by cloning. The acceptability of these sources of stem cells was assumed.

Overall, the NAS committee recommended banning very little scientific activity. Instead, it recommended institutional review of protocols, oversight of the involvement of egg, sperm, and embryo donors, establishment of stem cell banks, and documentation of research activity. Two recommendations were particularly significant. First, the committee recommended that much embryonic stem cell research be subject to a mixture of local and national oversight. Local oversight would occur at each institution engaged in embryonic stem cell research, which would establish an Embryonic Stem Cell Research Oversight (ESCRO) committee to oversee all issues related to the derivation and use of embryonic stem cells, review all proposals for scientific merit, maintain records of research that takes place at the institution, including registries of new cell lines, and educate investigators. As noted by the 2010 amendment, many stem cell institutions created ESCRO committees. While the 2009 NIH guidelines did not require such a board, the National Academies maintains the importance of ESCRO committees in consulting and training roles at all institutions conducting stem cell research. ESCRO committees remain especially important at centers conducting nonfederally funded hESc research, which is not subject to the same federal oversight or regulation. In many cases, local IRBs provide additional oversight. Even though much embryonic stem cell research does not strictly speaking need to go before an IRB, the NAS committee recommended that the procurement of egg, sperm, and embryos should always be reviewed by an IRB, regardless of the applicability of federal regulations, and that IRBs never waive the requirement for informed consent from a person donating cells, eggs, sperm, or embryos to research, even where the federal human subject research regulations provide for such a waiver.

The other significant set of recommendations in the 2005 NAS guidelines addressed the involvement of egg, sperm, and embryo donors. In line with much guidance, law, and regulation around the world, the NAS guidelines recommended requiring consent from embryo donors for research use of those embryos. They went beyond previous US guidance, however, by extending this requirement to egg and sperm donors, including when the embryo was originally created for fertility purposes. At the time of the recommendation, gamete donors were asked to consent to reproductive use of their gametes, but were not generally asked to consent also to subsequent research use of any embryos their gametes were used to produce [60]. This NAS committee noted that this requirement might rule out the use of some embryos already created for fertility purposes that are now in frozen storage. The most recent iteration of the guidelines specifies that "written agreement at the time of gamete donation that one potential use of the blastocysts and/or morulae is embryo research will constitute sufficient consent," meaning that consent specifically to hESc research is not needed [58].

On the issue of compensating egg, sperm, and embryo donors, the NAS guidelines noted the arguments in favor of compensation: paying egg and sperm donors is routine in the US fertility context, and many Americans

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

participating in other kinds of research are offered financial inducements to secure their participation. They acknowledged that arguments for compensating egg donors are particularly strong: "the invasiveness and risks of the procedure suggest that financial remuneration is most deserved, but at the same time there is a greater likelihood of enticing potential donors to do something that poses some risk to themselves" [58]. These arguments notwithstanding, the National Academies committee followed previous US guidelines and guidelines and laws from many other nations in recommending that egg donors be reimbursed only for "direct expenses," and that no payment whatsoever be offered to sperm or embryo donors. They did allow, however, for reimbursement of fertility clinics for costs, including professional services, associated with obtaining consent and collecting eggs, sperm, or embryos.

In addition to cash payment, the NAS guidelines recommended against compensation in kind. Donors are not to receive any benefit from their donation, including "personal medical benefit" (excepting autologous transplantation, where the donor receives stem cells derived from his or her donation). This rule would prevent a kind of egg- or embryo-sharing arrangement whereby women or couples receive cheaper or free fertility treatment in exchange for donating a portion of their eggs or embryos to stem cell research. Similar arrangements exist in the fertility context, where women or couples receive a discount if they donate some of their eggs to others undergoing fertility treatment. This arrangement would help make fertility treatment available at a lower cost, but it would also more quickly exhaust the woman's or couple's supply of eggs or embryos, thereby possibly reducing their chances of achieving pregnancy [61]. In 2008, NAS's Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research Advisory Committee revisited the issue of donor compensation. The committee retained its prohibition on compensating embryo donors and discussed the arguments for and against compensating gamete donors. The guidelines were amended to make explicit that "actual lost wages" qualify as direct expenses for which gamete donors may be compensated, but additional payments are still not permitted [62].

## International Society for Stem Cell Research

In 2006, the International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR) released its first set of guidelines for embryonic stem cell research [63]. ISSCR is the world's largest professional organization for stem cell scientists, and is not tied to specific countries or national policy agendas. The guidelines were revised and expanded in 2016 [64].

As can be seen in Tables 75.2 and 75.3, in many ways the updated ISSCR guidelines are very similar to those of the National Academies. Like NAS's recommendation to form institutional oversight committees, ISSCR recommends formation of Embryo Research Oversight committees. However, under the ISSCR guidelines, these committees could operate at not only an institutional level, but could also provide local, regional, national, and international oversight. The ISSCR guidelines recommend similar standards for informed consent and the reimbursement and payment for embryos and other biological materials, and, notably, agree with the NAS that informed consent must be collected from all gamete donors. The scope of technologies and research uses covered by the ISSCR guidelines is, like in the NAS guidelines, quite broad. Both sets of guidelines address (and by extension apply to) many more kinds of research than are covered by the NIH guidelines, including derivation of cells from research embryos. Nonetheless, ISSCR takes at times a more conservative approach to novel technologies, research types, and sources of embryonic stem cell lines than the NAS guidelines. For instance, their guidelines propose a more robust review for the derivation of new stem cell lines and for the use of cells derived from research embryos [64].

Likely because they are at the time of writing the most recently published set of guidelines, the ISSCR's recommendations address the broadest scope of technologies, including gene editing of nuclear genomes of human sperm, eggs, or embryos, mitochondrial replacement therapy, and the creation and use of human totipotent cells [64]. The potential of these technologies has expanded considerably in the years since the publication of the NIH guidelines and NAS's final 2010 report. While not specific to the American policy context, the ISSCR's recommendations provide critical insights into many developing uses of embryos and embryonic stem cell lines.

## INTERNATIONAL COMPARISONS

Biomedical research is an international undertaking and stem cell research is no exception. The governments of nations active in embryonic stem cell research employ a variety of regulation strategies, most of which include some restrictions on and oversight of the research while still allowing it to move forward. No single regulatory approach has prevailed internationally, although some patterns have emerged. For instance, many nations use national legislation to regulate stem cell research, often requiring oversight by a national stem cell research committee

#### TABLE 75.2 Federal and Professional Guidelines: Scope of Guideline Application

	$NIH^1$	NAS	ISSCR
Research Using Previously Derived hEScs:			
Created using IVF for reproduction; no longer clinically necessary*			
Created by Somatic Cell Nuclear Transfer (SCNT)			
Created by parthenogenesis			
Created using IVF specifically for research purposes			
Generation and Derivation of new hES cell lines			
Use of hEScs or induced pluripotent stem cells to create chimeras:			
The introduction of hES or iPS cells into non-human primates at any stage of embryonic, fetal or	2		
postnatal development			
The introduction of hES or iPS cells into animals other than humans or primates at any stage of	2		
embryonic, fetal or postnatal development			
The introduction of hES or iPS cells into non-human primate blastocysts or of any embryonic stem			
cells into human blastocysts			
Allowing any animal to breed that has hES or iPS cells that could contribute to the germ line			
Research using SNCT for reproductive cloning			
Research involving human totipotent cells			
Research involving in vitro culture of any intact human embryo for longer than fourteen days			

\* Eligible for federal funding.

hEScs, Human embryonic stem cells; iPScs, induced pluripotent stem cells; ISSCR, International Society for Stem Cell Research; IVF, in vitro fertilization; NAS, National Academies of Science; NIH, National Institutes of Health. Key:

Green: Permitted after currently mandated reviews; all research under this designation must follow all accompanying guidelines pertaining to consent, reimbursement, banking, etc.

Yellow: Permitted only after additional review and approval.

Red: Not permitted by guidelines at this time. In the case of NIH, research pertaining to these areas is not eligible for federal funding. The other two guidelines are not legally binding, but institutions, states, and private funders are advised to consider guidelines when considering which projects to fund and approve.

Gray: Not considered by guidance.

Notes:

<sup>a</sup> The NIH guidelines speak and apply to only that research which is federally funded. Thus areas of stem cell research that are not addressed in the NIH guidelines are neither eligible for federal funding nor controlled by the NIH's guidance.

<sup>b</sup> The NIH 2009 guidelines prohibited funding on the creation of human—animal chimeras in which human stem cells are introduced into nonhuman primate blastocysts. In 2015, the NIH created a moratorium on funding for the integration of human stem cells in all nonhuman vertebrate animals' pregastrulation-stage embryos. The NIH issued a call for comments in 2016 to consider ending the moratorium and consider extending the scope of chimera research. For more, see the Animal—Human Chimeras' section at the end of this chapter.

#### TABLE 75.3 Federal and Professional Guidelines: Research Guidelines

	NIH	NAS	ISSCR
INFORMED CONSENT			
Donors must understand all options for embryos no longer needed for reproductive purposes	х		
Decisions related to creation of human embryos for reproductive purposes must have been made free from influence of researchers proposing to derive or utilize hEScs in research	x	х	х
Donors must provide consent for embryo donation to research at the time of donation	x	x	x
Donors must provide consent for tissue and cell donation if at any time these materials are to be used for research involving the creation of human embryos			х
All gamete donors must provide consent for embryo donation		x	x
<ul> <li>During the consent process, donors must be informed:</li> <li>1. That embryos would be used to derive hEScs and may be kept for many years</li> <li>2. What would happen to embryos in the derivation of stem cells for research</li> <li>3. That the research is not intended to provide direct medical benefit to the donor</li> <li>4. That the research means have semenarical and the demor(a) would not receive financial or other</li> </ul>	x	х	
<b>4.</b> That the results of research may have confinencial potential, and the donor(s) would not receive matricial of other benefits			

5. Whether information that could identify the donor(s) would be available to researchers

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

#### TABLE 75.3 Federal and Professional Guidelines: Research Guidelines—cont'd

	NIH	NAS	ISSCR
<ul> <li>During the consent process, donors must be given:</li> <li>1. The information that hEScs or iPScs may be used for research on transplantation, genetic manipulation, or the mixing of human and nonhuman cells in animal models</li> <li>2. A summary of the risks involved to the donor</li> <li>3. A statement as to whether donors wish to be contacted in the future to receive information obtained through studies of the cell lines, if identities are to be retained</li> </ul>		x	
Donors must be informed that they can withdraw consent at any time until stem cells are derived	x		
Donors must be informed of institutional policies on return of incidental findings			x
REIMBURSEMENT AND PAYMENT			
No payments, cash or in kind, can be offered for donated embryos	x	х	x
Research oversight bodies must authorize proposals to reimburse or compensate donors			x
Compensation for egg donors should cover "direct costs" of time, effort, and inconvenience only		x	x
OVERSIGHT			
Mechanisms should exist on institutional, regional, and/or national level(s) to oversee and approve novel technologies, methods, or cell types		х	х
IRBs should review the procurement of all gametes, morulae, blastocysts, or somatic cells for the purpose of generating new hESc or iPSc lines		x	
IRBs should approve any processes pertaining to banking of hESc lines		x	
DERIVATION, BANKING, AND DISTRIBUTION			
<ul> <li>Institutions engaged in obtaining and storing hESc lines should develop standards for:</li> <li>1. Committee review and oversight of banking and withdrawals</li> <li>2. Documentation requirements (donor consent and IRB approval forms, medical, clinical, and diagnostic information, infectious disease screening, culture conditions, and cell line characterization)</li> <li>3. A secure system for privacy of donors, especially with identifiable information</li> </ul>		x	
National and international repositories should accept deposits of newly derived stem cell lines and distribute them on an international scale			x

hESc, Human embryonic stem cell; *iPSc*, induced pluripotent stem cell; *IRB*, Institutional Review Board; *ISSCR*, International Society for Stem Cell Research; NAS, US National Academies of Science; NIH, National Institutes of Health.

or licensing authority. Substantively, bans on creating embryos by cloning are common, although not universal, as are bans on creating embryos by fertilization except as part of fertility treatment, which means that research in many, although certainly not all, nations is limited to surplus or spare embryos. The US approach of regulating federally funded research but leaving nonfederally funded research unregulated is highly unusual by international standards [65].

In the United Kingdom, comprehensive legislation governing all research and medical use of human gametes and human embryos has existed since 1990 [66]. A major feature of the legislation is that it institutes few bans, but requires that all collection and use of embryos and gametes be licensed and overseen by an independent body called the Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority (HFEA). The existence of this legislation and the HFEA before hEScs were first isolated meant that the research already had a regulatory system into which it could immediately be slotted, obviating the need for significant new legislative action by the UK government in response to the research (although regulations were promulgated in 2001 to add three new purposes for which research on embryos is permitted, including increasing knowledge about serious disease) [67]. Some scholars have urged the United States to adopt a similar regulatory system, under which very few activities are banned outright but instead require a license and are subject to oversight [68].

In neighboring Canada, national funding guidelines similar to the policy formulated by President Clinton were released in 2002 by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) [69]. Significant terms of these guidelines include that all research using CIHR funds is subject to national oversight by the Stem Cell Oversight Committee, that all embryonic stem cell lines generated using CIHR funding must be recorded in a national electronic registry and made available to other Canadian academic researchers at a cost, and that stem cells can only be extracted from

spare embryos (embryos cannot be created for research purposes, including by cloning). In 2014, the CIHR guidelines were integrated into the 2nd Edition of Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans in December 2014 [70].

The CIHR guidelines were followed in 2004 by the Assisted Human Reproduction Act, which, like the legislation in the United Kingdom, regulates much more than just embryonic stem cell research [71]. Several provisions of the Act, however, directly impact embryonic stem cell research. In particular, the Act prohibits creating a cloned embryo and creating an embryo for "any purpose other than creating a human being or improving or providing instruction in assisted reproduction procedures," thereby limiting embryonic stem cell research in Canada to embryos originally created in the course of fertility treatment (although the legislation does not specify that such embryos be surplus to the fertility needs of the donors) [72].

The distinction that many policies draw between stem cell research involving embryos created for use in research (including by cloning) and research involving embryos originally created for use in fertility treatment also appears in Australia's Research Involving Human Embryo's Act 2002 and the Prohibition of Human Cloning Act 2002. Both Acts limit research to "excess ART embryos," defined as embryos created for use in the assisted reproductive technology treatment that are now excess to the needs of the woman or couple for whom they were created [73]. The Prohibition of Human Cloning for Reproduction and the Regulation of Human Embryo Research Amendment Bill 2006 retained these conditions, but further specified laws on cloning, allowing for SCNT while prohibiting reproductive cloning [74]. Similar conditions are attached to research in other nations, including France, Denmark, Finland, Greece, the Netherlands, and Japan (a full breakdown of country policies can be seen in Table 75.4).

South Korea, a country active in stem cell research, is in the unusual position of permitting the creation of cloned embryos for research into rare or incurable diseases, but prohibiting the creation of embryos for research by IVF. Under a 2004 law, revised in 2008, IVF may only be used to create embryos for reproductive purposes, which can later be donated to research if not used. Cloned embryos may only be created for use in research into the treatment of rare or incurable diseases [75]. In early 2006, cloning research led by Woo-Suk Hwang of Seoul National University was found to have included a number of questionable practices, including that some egg donors were members of the research team, some egg donors were paid to donate, and researchers accompanied some egg donors as they underwent the extraction procedure [76]. Following charges of embezzlement and falsifying results against the prominent stem cell researcher, the South Korean government halted approvals and funding for stem cell research until early 2009. Embryonic stem cell projects have been approved again, and since 2012 South Korea has reemerged as a leader in stem cell research, due both to a federal funding boost and considerable regulatory freedom [77]. In Israel, another country active in stem cell research, no legislation regulates the field, although there is a law against implanting a cloned embryo [78]. Therefore derivation of stem cells from embryos created for research use, including by cloning, is allowed (although to date there are no reports of Israeli scientists creating cloned embryos) [79]. Under Singapore's 2004 legislation, research is permitted on spare embryos and embryos created for research, including by cloning [80]. With over 40 active stem cell research groups in the country limited by very few regulations, the country has been called "Asia's Stem Cell Center." In 2012, Singapore established a Bioethics Advisory Committee to oversee research, but provides very few legal or regulatory barriers [81].

# SELECTED ETHICAL, LEGAL, SOCIAL, AND POLICY QUESTIONS OF STEM CELL RESEARCH

As embryonic stem cell research moves forward in the United States, various ethical and policy questions arise, some of which have already been discussed. For example, should researchers create embryos in the laboratory by fertilization or cloning or should they only use spare embryos? Either way, they will need to interact with fertility clinics or with egg, sperm, or embryo donors, raising questions about how those interactions should be conducted. Should researches pay fertility clinics for procuring gametes and embryos for stem cell research? How should gamete and embryo donors be approached to donate, precisely whose consent should be required, and should the donors be compensated? Once researchers extract cell lines, are they obliged to make those lines available to other researchers? Should researchers patent new cell lines or new stem cell-related processes? If they do obtain patents, what practices should they follow in licensing those lines or processes? Should researchers be allowed to mix human cells and animal cells in the creation of chimeras or hybrids, and what could happen if they do so? Here we address several of these issues in some detail.

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

	hESc		Sources of	Cloning (SCNT) Legal			
Country	Research	Imported Excess IVF Embryos Created for Research			Therapeutic / Reproductive		
A	Legai	hESC Lines	Embryos	(IVF or, if permitted SCNT)	Research		
Argentina							
Australia	~	<i>a</i>					
Austria		u					
Belgium							
Brazil	*						
Bulgaria	*						
Canada							
Chile	b						
China							
Columbia							
Costa Rica							
Croatia							
Cyprus							
Czech Republic							
Denmark							
Ecuador							
Estonia	*						
Finland				+			
France							
Germany	+	с					
Greece							
Hungary							
Iceland							
India				^			
Iran	d						
Ireland				е		-	
Israel							
Italy	+						
Ianan							
J atvia							
Lithuania	f						
Mexico	g						
The Netherlands							
New Zeeland			h				
New Zealallu Norway							
Dolond	~						
Portugal							
Domonio	i						
Romania							
Singapora	i						
Singapore	+						
Slovakla							
Slovenia							
South Kerne					k		
South Korea					~		
Spain					1		
Sweden			^		1		
Switzerland							
Trinidad and							
Tunisia							
Turkey	m						
United Kingdom							
United States			n		n		

<b>TABLE 75.4</b>	Human Embr	yonic Stem	Cell Research	Laws and Fundir	ng in Cou	intries with A	Applicable ]	Policies

hESc, Human embryonic stem cell;  $\it IVF,$  in vitro fertilization.

Key:

Green: Permitted by Law or Guidance (some uses may be limited by rules or regulations) Red: Prohibited by Law (some uses may be exceptions, and allowed under specific conditions) Grey: Not considered in law – implicitly permissible, not governed by regulations or guidance

#### TABLE 75.4 Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research Laws and Funding in Countries With Applicable Policies—cont'd

\* The country doesn't explicitly regulate stem cells, but one of the country's laws allows surplus IVF embryos to be used for research purposes, suggesting that hESC research is implicitly permissible.

<sup>+</sup> Banned unless medically, scientifically, and therapeutically vital, in particular for the specific embryo involved.

<sup>~</sup> The country has no legislation on stem cell research, but the creation of embryonic stem cell lines and research on such lines is de facto prohibited. <sup>^</sup>Researchers must provide explicit justification for research or use of embryos/ESCs and establish that creation / use of embryos is essential for research. **Country Specific Notes:** 

<sup>a</sup> In Austria, ESC research is de facto prohibited because embryos and gametes cannot be donated for purposes other than assisted reproduction with heterosexual couples. However, the use of imported hEScs was not addressed explicitly by law and thus is implicitly permissible. While the derivation of embryonic stem cells from human embryos is currently prohibited, the Austrian Bioethics Commission has advocated for hESC derivation of surplus embryos.

<sup>b</sup> The law in Chile is unspecific. A 2006 law defends the "protection of human life from the moment of conception," and states that no human embryos can be destroyed to obtain stem cells, and that ES cell lines only can be used for "therapeutic diagnosis or scientific research".

<sup>c</sup> The creation of and research with hES cell lines is banned in Germany as a "matter of principle." In 2008, Germany eliminated a past law that made it a criminal offence to use hES cells in research conducted outside German's borders. Research on imported hES cell lines is allowed, but hES cells cannot be derived in Germany, and must have been imported before May 1, 2007.

<sup>d</sup> ESC research has been permitted in Iran since 2002, when Supreme Leader Ayatollah Khamenei issued a 'stem cell fatwa' that declared that human embryo research was consistent with Shia tradition. Iranian scientists and bioethicists have since developed ethics guidelines for hES cell research.

<sup>e</sup> Ireland has no legislation on embryo or stem cell research, but the Irish Medical Council has banned medical practitioners from creating embryos specifically for research.

<sup>f</sup> Lithuania limits hESC and embryo research to non-interventional clinical observations only.

<sup>g</sup> Mexico is currently debating an amendment that would ban all research on human embryos, thereby halting the creation of and any research on hESC lines.

<sup>h</sup> In New Zealand, research can only be conducted on non-viable embryos (in contrast with viable excess IVF embryos, permitted by other countries).

<sup>i</sup> Stem cell research is only allowed in Romania under official approvals. There is no regulation of IVF, research on embryos, or hESCs.

<sup>j</sup> Embryonic stem cell research is permitted in Singapore under recommendations from the Bioethics Advisory Committee, which are adhered to by the scientific community. The creation of embryos through SCNT is permitted on a case-by-case basis to derive patient-specific cells.

<sup>k</sup> South Korea permits SCNT as a source for hESCs (in addition to excess IVF embryos) despite the ban on production of non-reproduction embryos; SCNT can be used "for the purpose of conducting research aimed at curing rare or currently incurable diseases."

<sup>1</sup> Sweden permits therapeutic cloning if hereditary genetic traits remain unchanged.

<sup>m</sup> Turkey allows for non-embryonic stem cell research when officially approved, no hESC research is permitted.

<sup>n</sup> United States law and guidelines allow for SCNT and the derivation of hESCs at large, but neither are permitted as part of federally funded research. Some individual US states have laws addressing SCNT and hESC research.

#### References:

George RP, Landry DW, Co-Chairmen C. The stem cell debates: lessons for science and politics, Appendix E: Overview of International Human Embryonic Stem Cell Laws. The New Atlantis. 2012. Available from: http://www.thenewatlantis.com/publications/appendix-e-overview-of-international-human-embryonic-stem-cell-laws

Human Stem Cell Research and Regenerative Medicine: Focus on European policy and scientific contributions. European Science Foundation. 2013. Available from: http://archives.esf.org/fileadmin/Public\_documents/Publications/HumanStemCellResearch.pdf

Jones, D. G. Where does New Zealand stand on permitting research on human embryos? The New Zealand Medical Journal. 2014;127(1399):74-82.

Mahalatchimy, A. Regulation of stem cell research in Europe. EuroStemCell. Available from: https://www.eurostemcell.org/regulation-stem-cell-research-europe National Legislation Concerning Human Reproductive and Therapeutic Cloning. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. 2004. Available from: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001342/134277e.pdf

Palma, V. et al. Stem Cell Research in Latin America: Update, Challenges, and Opportunities in a Priority Research Area. Regenerative Medicine. 2015; 10(6): 785-98.

Reardon, S. Mexico proposal to ban human-embryo research would stifle science. Nature. 2016; 540: 180-181.

Saniei, M. Human embryonic stem cell science and policy: The case of Iran. Social Science & Medicine. 2013; 98:345-350.

Sithole, S. Stem Cell Research - The Regulatory Framework in South Africa. The South African Journal of Bioethics & Law. 2011; 4(2): 1-7.

Turkmen, H. O. & Arda B. Ethical and legal aspects of stem cell practices in Turkey: where are we? Journal of Medical Ethics. 2008; 34(12): 833-37.

Walters, L. Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research: An Intercultural Perspective. Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal. 2004;14(1): 3-38.

Wheat, K, Matthews, K. World Human Cloning Policies. Rice University. Available from: http://www.ruf.rice.edu/~neal/stemcell/World.pdf

## **Compensating Egg Donors**

The South Korean stem cell controversy over the procuring of eggs in South Korea for use in cloning research brought additional attention to egg donation. Findings related to the donation process raised concerns about whether the women who donated eggs to Hwang's research did so completely voluntarily. Voluntariness is a core commitment of modern research ethics [82], which generally translates into requirements that no one is pressured to participate in research and that each participant is able to withdraw from the research at any time without endangering ongoing medical care [82]. Researchers usually avoid enrolling family members and employees because they might reasonably feel significant pressure to participate. The commitment to voluntary participation, and specifically the derived right to withdraw from the research at any time, could also be under threat if researchers physically accompany volunteers through procedures as Hwang and his colleagues apparently did.

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

Concern to protect voluntariness is also a major factor motivating bans on compensating egg donors, the argument being that the need for money could compel participation, especially, though not exclusively, among the poor. Nevertheless, it is unclear whether the concern is sufficient to justify a complete ban on compensation, particularly in a US context. As the National Academies committee noted, many other research participants in the United States receive compensation in exchange for their involvement in research [57]. Such payment, particularly where modest, is said to be not only a necessary incentive, but also fair treatment of research subjects (after all, the researchers and their staff will be paid for the time and resources they contribute toward the research). The concern about voluntariness in the hESc context is likely heightened because egg donation is time-consuming, painful, and involves some risk. Egg donors are injected with drugs over weeks so that they superovulate (produce many eggs). The eggs are then removed from the woman by either inserting a hollow needle through her vagina or by laparoscopic surgery. Risks of the stimulation and egg-collection process include hot flashes, headaches, sleeplessness, mood alteration, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome, nausea, vomiting, pain, bleeding, and infection. There is even a controversy over a possible danger of ovarian cancer from the medications and ovarian stimulation for IVF [83,84]. Could payment encourage some women to donate eggs even though donation might be painful and pose a risk to their health? The answer is yes. However, whether the risk and pain are unacceptable is another issue. In theory at least, if an IRB approves research involving egg donation, it has decided that the risk to donors is reasonable in relation to the importance of the knowledge that may reasonably be expected to result [85]. Compensation is not supposed to be offered to research participants to seduce them to take an unacceptable risk.

But voluntariness may not be the only concern about paying egg donors in stem cell research. There is also some opposition to paying anyone for providing bodily materials (rather than solely for their time and effort), for example, as expressed in a federal law prohibiting payment for organ donation (although that law expressly does not apply to blood, sperm, or human eggs) [86]. The stance against the sale of bodily materials is well defended in scholarly circles. Bioethicist Thomas Murray argued nearly 30 years ago that all donations of body parts, whether for research or for clinical treatment, should be gifts and not sales [87]. Others, however, including law professor Lori Andrews, writing around the same time, countered that individuals "have the autonomy to treat their own (body) parts as property," particularly those parts of the body that they can regenerate [88].

The debate about compensating egg, sperm, and embryo donors continues today. Beyond clarifying their definition of "direct reimbursable expenses" as "costs associated with travel, housing, child care, medical care, health insurance, and actual lost wages," the NAS guidelines included a note on autonomous choice:

To facilitate autonomous choice, decisions related to the creation of embryos for infertility treatment should be free of the influence of investigators who propose to derive or use hES cells in research. Whenever it is practicable, the attending physician responsible for the infertility treatment and the investigator deriving or proposing to use hES cells should not be the same person.

Although included in the final iteration of the guidelines, the recommendations leave the issue open for interpretation by researchers, and further questioning by the scientific and policy communities at large [58]. The only state that provides for compensation of egg donors is New York, which in 2009 announced that its funds could be used to offer women up to \$10,000 for donation of eggs to hESc research.<sup>1</sup>

## **Commercialization and Access to Treatments**

Another argument against paid donation is that it adds to the costs of conducting research and thereby the price of eventual treatments. But this argument works best if the same spirit is adopted by the scientists, institutions, and companies involved in the research and in any eventual treatment. Indeed, a commitment to scientific progress and widely available treatments in stem cell research might entail a commitment by all those involved to, for example, banking and widely distributing new cell lines, participating in international collaboration, and adopting patenting and licensing practices designed to facilitate access (including possibly not patenting some discoveries at all) [89]. These concerns about secrecy, privacy, access, and commercialization in stem cell research mirror a larger debate in biomedical research in general [90].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The legal status of compensation limits like that announced by New York's Empire State Stem Cell Board is currently unclear in light of a recent class action lawsuit filed by egg donors in opposition to fertility industry caps on payments (*Kamakahi et al. v. American Society for Reproductive Medicine et al.*, Case No. 3:11-cv-01781-JCS, in the US District Court for the Northern District of California).

#### SELECTED ETHICAL, LEGAL, SOCIAL, AND POLICY QUESTIONS OF STEM CELL RESEARCH

In terms of access, particular emphasis is often put on patenting and licensing practices, which can have an enormous impact on progress made by other researchers, as well as on the availability of eventual treatments [91]. Indeed, a number of patents already attach to embryonic stem cell research [92], including a long-standing patent claiming a purified preparation of primate (including human) embryonic stem cells and a method for isolating them [93]. To establish its 2001 registry, the NIH negotiated with patent holders to issue licenses to noncommercial entities royalty free so that research could move forward. The NIH-negotiated licenses, however, explicitly cover only research and do not extend to commercial activities [94]. It is not yet known whether these same terms apply to research using lines in the new NIH Human Embryonic Stem Cell Registry.

As a general matter, patents in biomedical research can restrict other researchers from using a specific method or material, creating monopoly-like conditions, and hampering the progress of research. These conditions could significantly raise prices and reduce equitable access to treatments. Access for research and treatment was among the issues motivating the lawsuit over gene patents held by Myriad Genetics that was resolved in the Supreme Court in 2013. While the reasoning in the *Myriad* case refers specifically to the ineligibility of DNA sequences for patents, some have predicted that the case's vague precedent for "natural" biologic materials could impact stem cell patents [95,96]. If it does not, the patentability of stem cell research methods and future treatments could raise treatment prices and create significant disparities in treatment access. At the time of writing, the future of the Affordable Care Act and other insurance and drug pricing regulations is uncertain in the United States. Without suitable insurance and treatment cost protections, disparities in access to stem cell treatments may be even more pronounced.

Patenting and licensing issues were to some extent anticipated in California's Proposition 71, which included a provision requiring the establishment of standards in all grants and loans allowing the state to financially benefit from licenses, patents, and royalties and resulting from the research activities funded under the measure [55]. Regulations implementing these standards require that a portion of profits be returned to the state [97].

## Animal–Human Chimeras

To develop and test possible human clinical uses, human stem cells are being implanted into nonhuman animals at various stages of development. "Human—animal chimeras" are created by introducing human genetic material into nonhuman animal embryos. Human stem cells can be inserted into animal embryos, fetuses or postnatally, and will grow and develop into various organs and systems within the animal. The ethical and legal questions surrounding chimera animals depend on where and when human stem cells are introduced into the animal system: is the animal a primate or vertebrate that is genetically similar to humans; are stem cells inserted into the blastocyst, embryo, or later stage in the animal's development; will the human cells impact an animal's nervous system or enter its germ line for reproduction; and will the animal be brought to term or allowed to reproduce?

Although guidelines vary as to how they address the creation of animal—human chimera (refer to Tables 75.2 and 75.3), they are all attentive to several similar factors. First, whether or not the animal into which the human cells are introduced is a close genetic relative of humans is considered to be important both clinically and ethically. From the perspective of clinical validity, a primate or other vertebrate animal is a more useful test model than an animal with dramatically different genetic and biological structures from humans. However, from an ethical perspective, some commentators have raised concerns about the "humanization" of animals. If an animal species is a close genetic neighbor to humans, it is thought that human stem cells introduced early in development could be sufficiently integrated into the animal in ways that could be "morally humanizing"—that is, that move the animal's moral status toward human beings thereby creating a novel creature with a novel, and unclear, moral status [98].

This concern about moral status is also behind two other important issues about animal—human chimeras: the location and number of the human cells within the nonhuman animal, and the stage of development during which stem cells are introduced in animals. If stem cells are introduced in a postnatal animal, they are unlikely to become integrated into systems beyond the organ or tissues at which they were targeted [98]. However, if human stem cells are transplanted into animal embryos (single celled) or blastocysts (between 50 and 100 cells), they are considerably more likely to become integrated into many if not all of the animal's biological systems, including the animal's central nervous or reproductive systems. Could human stem cells in the brain of a pig, for instance, "humanize" it [98]? Could human cells enter the animal's reproductive system causing it to produce human sperm or eggs? In response to the latter concern, prohibition on breeding of any animals into which human stem cells have been transplanted is widespread [44,54,64].

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

The NIH 2009 guidelines specifically stated that research introducing embryonic or iPScs into any animals at any stage of development could not be covered by federal funding [44]. In 2015, the NIH extended the federal funding ban on chimera research, announcing a moratorium on funding for research introducing human pluripotent cells into all nonhuman vertebrate animal pregastrulation embryos [99]. After a public comment and workshop period, NIH released a call for public comments in September 2016 [100] on a proposal to expand the prohibition on introducing hEScs or iPScs into nonhuman primate embryos to include preblastocyst-stage in addition, to blastocyststage embryos. Within its proposed changes, the NIH proposed to potentially permit (as decided by the steering committee) funding for research integrating human stem cells into nonhuman vertebrate embryos up through the end of the gastrulation stage (lifting the 2015 moratorium), as well as research in which human stem cells are introduced into postgastrulation, nonhuman, nonrodent mammals, which may present a "substantial functional modification to the animal brain by human cells" [98]. This final provision, if supported by federal funding, could result in researchers being able to create animals that present the aforementioned risk of "humanization." Such a concern has raised several questions. For instance, what addition of human materials, if anything, would constitute an "elevation of moral status" in a research animal such that it could no longer be used for research? Furthermore, a concern about humanization begs a more fundamental question about our own humanness, moral status, and consciousness. Some have argued that the interactions and impact of human material in chimeras will not reach a point at which these questions truly become necessary, and that instead, issues surrounding animal welfare and the potential harms that we may have on research animals are more important at present [98] (Currently, many research centers mandate that Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees oversee animal-human chimera research and other stem cell transplants occurring in nonhuman animals.) Nonetheless, as stem cell technologies and research move forward, questions about research that blurs the line between humans and nonhuman animals will likely remain at the forefront of ethical and policy decision-making.

## CONCLUSION

As this brief overview shows, stem cell research, and in particular hESc research, has led to the development of numerous policies. In the United States, as well as in some other nations, these policies have responded to the controversial nature of research involving the destruction of human embryos. The US federal funding policy of 2001, which limited the use of federal funds in embryonic stem cell research, generated a lot of attention, including significant criticism. In response to the 2001 policy's limits, funds for embryonic stem cell research were provided by private donors, charitable organizations, and some states. In 2009, President Obama repealed the 2001 policy. Nevertheless, federal funding, while now more widely available, is still limited to research on cells derived from spare embryos and cannot be used to derive new cell lines.

As research on embryonic stem cells taken from a variety of sources moves forward in the United States and internationally, some of it without funding or guidelines, a range of policies are developing that respond to a number of important issues, including local and national oversight, the role of donors in the research, the consequences of commercial interests, the creation of animal—human chimeras, and the extension of stem cell research technology using new technologies such as gene editing. At the time of writing, it is still unclear if and how the Trump administration will approach the ethical issues associated with embryonic stem cell research and funding. Simultaneously, stem cell and greater bioscience technologies are developing into increasingly complex arenas, including involving advances in gene editing. It will be important to continue to observe how stem cell research remains intertwined with ethical, legal, and policy questions on domestic and international fronts.

## List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

CIHR Canadian Institutes of Health Research
CIRM California Institute for Regenerative Medicine
hESc Human embryonic stem cell
HFEA Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority (United Kingdom)
HHS Department of Health and Human Services, once was DHEW: Department of Health, Education and Welfare
iPSc Induced pluripotent stem cell
IRB Institutional Review Board
ISSCR International Society for Stem Cell Research

IVF In vitro fertilization NAS National Academy of Science NIH National Institutes of Health SCNT Somatic cell nuclear transfer

# Acknowledgments

Parts of this chapter are based on two of Josephine Johnston's previous publications: Paying egg donors: exploring the arguments, *Hastings Center Report* 2006; **36**(1): 28–31 and Stem cell protocols: the NAS guidelines are a useful start, *Hastings Center Report* 2005; **35**(5): 16–17.

## References

- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282(5391):1145–7.
- [2] President's Council on Bioethics. Monitoring stem cell research. Washington (DC): President's Council on Bioethics; 2004.
- [3] Orr RD. The moral status of the embryonal stem cell: inherent or imputed? Am J Bioeth 2002;2(1):57-9.
- [4] Scientific experts agree: embryonic stem cells are unnecessary for medical progress. U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops; 2009. Available from: http://www.usccb.org/issues-and-action/human-life-and-dignity/stem-cell-research/embryonic-stem-cells/scientific-experts-agreeembryonic-stem-cells-are-unnecessary-for-medical-progress.cfm.
- [5] Verfaillie CM, Pera MF, Lansdorp PM. Stem cells: hype and reality. ASH Educ Program 2002;2002(1):369-91.
- [6] Hyun I, Hochedlinger K, Jaenisch R, Yamanaka S. New advances in iPS cell research do not obviate the need for human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2007;1(4):367–8.
- [7] Shamblott MJ, Axelman J, Wang S, Bugg EM, Littlefield JW, Donovan PJ, et al. Derivation of pluripotent stem cells from cultured human primordial germ cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95(23):13726–31.
- [8] National Bioethics Advisory Commission. Ethical issues in human stem cell research. Washington (DC): National Bioethics Advisory Commission; 1999.
- [9] Roe v. Wade. 410 US 113; 1973.
- [10] Protection of human subjects, additional protections for pregnant women, human fetuses and neonates involved in research, research involving pregnant women or fetuses. 45 CFR §46.204(h-i).
- [11] Guidance for investigators and institutional review boards regarding research involving human embryonic stem cells, germ cells and stem cell-derived test articles. Office of Human Research Protections; 2001. Available from: www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/ stemcell.pdf.
- [12] 42 USC 289g-1 498A, Public Health Service Act 1944.
- [13] Kurtzleben D. Planned parenthood investigations find no fetal tissues sales. National Public Radio; 2016. Available from: http://www.npr. org/2016/01/28/464594826/in-wake-of-videos-planned-parenthood-investigations-find-no-fetal-tissue-sales.
- [14] Lewin T. Planned parenthood won't accept money for fetal tissue. NY Times 2016. Available from: http://www.nytimes.com/2015/10/14/ us/planned-parenthood-to-forgo-payment-for-fetal-tissue-programs.html?\_r=0.
- [15] State laws on fetal tissue donation and research. Guttmacher Institute; 2016. Available from: https://www.guttmacher.org/image/2016/ state-laws-fetal-tissue-donation-and-research.
- [16] President's Council on Bioethics. Human cloning and human dignity: an ethical inquiry. Government Printing Office; 2002.
- [17] Baylis F, Beagan B, Johnston J, Ram N. Cryopreserved human embryos in Canada and their availability for research. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2003;25(12):1026–31.
- [18] Parens E. On the ethics and politics of embryonic stem cell research. In: The human embryonic stem cell debate; 2001. p. 37–50.
- [19] Hoffman DI, Zellman GL, Fair CC, Mayer JF, Zeitz JG, Gibbons WE, et al. Cryopreserved embryos in the United States and their availability for research. Fertil Steril 2003;79(5):1063–9.
- [20] Faden RR, Dawson L, Bateman-House AS, Agnew DM, Bok H, Brock DW, et al. Public stem cell banks: considerations of justice in stem cell research and therapy. Hast Cent Rep 2003;33(6):13–27.
- [21] Travis J. A fantastical experiment: the science behind the controversial cloning of dolly. Sci News 1997;151(14):214-5.
- [22] Cloning/embryonic stem cells. National Human Genome Research Institute; 2006. Available from: https://www.genome.gov/10004765/.
- [23] Schwartz RE, Reyes M, Koodie L, Jiang Y, Blackstad M, Lund T, et al. Multipotent adult progenitor cells from bone marrow differentiate into functional hepatocyte-like cells. J Clin Investig 2002;109(10):1291–302.
- [24] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131(5):861–72.
- [25] Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318(5858):1917–20.
- [26] Scudellari M. How iPS cells changed the world. Nature 2016;534(7607):310.
- [27] Narsinh KH, Plews J, Wu JC. Comparison of human induced pluripotent and embryonic stem cells: fraternal or identical twins? Mol Ther 2011;19(4):635–8.
- [28] Barad L, Schick R, Zeevi-Levin N, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Binah O. Human embryonic stem cells vs human induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac repair. Can J Cardiol 2014;30(11):1279–87.
- [29] Chapman AR, Scala CC. Evaluating the first-in-human clinical trial of a human embryonic stem cell-based therapy. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 2012;22(3):243–61.
- [30] Ethics and reprogramming: ethical questions after the discovery of iPS cells. EuroStemCell 2015. Available from: http://www.eurostemcell. org/factsheet/ethics-and-reprogramming-ethical-questions-after-discovery-ips-cells.

#### 75. US STEM CELL RESEARCH POLICY

- [31] Wertz DC. Embryo and stem cell research in the United States: history and politics. Gene Ther 2002;9(11).
- [32] Timeline of major events in stem cell research policy. Research America; 2014. Available from: http://www.researchamerica.org/advocacyaction/issues-researchamerica-advocates/stem-cell-research/timeline-major-events-stem-cell.
- [33] Chung Y, Klimanskaya I, Becker S, Marh J, Lu S-J, Johnson J, et al. Embryonic and extraembryonic stem cell lines derived from single mouse blastomeres. Nature 2006;439(7073):216–9.
- [34] The White House. Fact sheet embryonic stem cell research. 2001. Washington (DC). Available from: http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/ releases/2001/08/print/20010809–1.html.
- [35] Remarks by President George W. Bush on stem cell research. In: President's Council on Bioethics. Monitoring stem cell research. Washington (DC): President's Council on Bioethics; 2004.
- [36] National Right to Life Coalition (NRLC). President Bush's statement. 2001. Available from: http://www.nrlc.org/press\_releases\_new/ stemcelldno081010.html.
- [37] Dawson L, Bateman-House AS, Mueller Agnew D, Bok H, Brock DW, Chakravarti A, et al. Safety issues in cell-based intervention trials. Fertil Steril 2003;80(5):1077–85.
- [38] The second Bush-Kerry presidential debate (debate transcript). Commission on Presidential Debates; 2004. Available from: www.debates. org/pages/trans2004c.html.
- [39] Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act 2005. Available from: https://www.congress.gov/109/bills/hr810/BILLS-109hr810enr.pdf.
- [40] Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act 2007. Available from: https://www.congress.gov/110/bills/s5/BILLS-110s5enr.pdf.
- [41] AAAS policy brief: stem cell research. American Association for the Advancement of Science; 2004. Available from: www.aaas.org/spp/ cstc/briefs/stemcells/index.shtml.
- [42] Hatch OG. Promoting ethical regenerative medicine research and prohibiting immoral human reproductive cloning (Statement before the Senate Judiciary Committee Hearing on promoting ethical regenerative medicine research and prohibiting immoral human reproductive cloning). 2003. Available from: http://hatch.senate.gov/index.cfm?FuseAction=PressReleases.Detail&PressRelease\_id=726.
- [43] Removing barriers to responsible scientific research involving human stem cells. Fed Regist 2009;74:10667. Executive Order 13505.
- [44] National Institutes of Health. National Institutes of Health guidelines for human stem cell research. Fed Regist 2009;74:32170-5.
- [45] Andrews LB. Legislators as lobbyists: proposed state regulation of embryonic stem cell research, therapeutic cloning and reproductive cloning. In: President's Council on Bioethics. Monitoring stem cell research. Washington (DC): President's Council on Bioethics; 2004.
- [46] O'Reilly KB. NIH policy loosening stem cell research restrictions disappoints both sides in debate. Am Med News 2009. Available from: http://www.ama-assn.org/amednews/2009/05/04/prl20504.htm.
- [47] Sherley v. Sebelius. 2012. 689 F.3d 776 (D.C. Cir.). Available from: https://www.cadc.uscourts.gov/internet/opinions.nsf/ 6c690438a9b43dd685257a64004ebf99/\$file/11-5241-1391178.pdf.
- [48] Baynes T. U.S. high court won't review federal embryonic stem cell funds. Reuters Politics 2013. Available from: http://www.reuters.com/ article/us-usa-court-stemcell-idUSBRE9060IQ20130107.
- [49] Cowan CA, Klimanskaya I, McMahon J, Atienza J, Witmyer J, Zucker JP, et al. Derivation of embryonic stem-cell lines from human blastocysts. N Engl J Med 2004;350(13):1353–6.
- [50] Beardsley S. A world of approaches to stem cells. Sci Am A 2005;20.
- [51] Weinryb N, Bubela T. Stepping into and out of the void: funding dynamics of human embryonic stem cell research in California, Sweden, and South Korea. Stem Cell Rev Rep February 1, 2016;12(1):8–14.
- [52] Office of the Acting Governor. Codey announces funding for stem cell research grants. 2005. Available from: www.nj.gov/cgi-bin/governor/njnewsline/view\_article.pl?id=2659.
- [53] Vakili K, McGahan AM, Rezaie R, Mitchell W, Daar AS. Progress in human embryonic stem cell research in the United States between 2001 and 2010. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0120052.
- [54] Acosta ND, Golub SH. The new federalism: state policies regarding embryonic stem cell research. J Law Med Ethics 2016;44(3):419-36.
- [55] State of California: stem cell research. Funding. Bonds. Initiative constitutional amendment and statute (proposition 71): official text and summary. Attorney General of California; 2004. Available from: www.sos.ca.gov/elections/bp\_nov04/prop\_71\_entire.pdf.
- [56] CIRM 2.0: a new way to get funding faster. California Institute for Regenerative Medicine; 2015. Available from: https://www.cirm.ca.gov/ cirm2awards.
- [57] Committee on Guidelines for Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research, National Research Council, Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2005.
- [58] Committee on Guidelines for Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research, National Research Council, Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Final report of the National Academies' human embryonic stem cell research advisory committee and 2010 amendments to the National Academies' guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2010.
- [59] Johnston J. Stem cell protocols: the NAS guidelines are a useful start. Hast Cent Rep 2005;35(6):16-7.
- [60] Wilkerson A, Wongsatittham K, Johnston J. The NIH stem cell registry: an absence of gamete donor consent. Cell Stem Cell 2013;12.
- [61] Nisker J, White A. The CMA Code of Ethics and the donation of fresh embryos for stem cell research. Can Med Assoc J 2005;173(6):621-2.
- [62] Committee on Guidelines for Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research, National Research Council, Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. 2008 amendments to the National Academies' guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2008.
- [63] International Society for Stem Cell Research. Guidelines for the conduct of human embryonic stem cell research. Skokie (IL): International Society for Stem Cell Research; 2006.
- [64] International Society for Stem Cell Research. Guidelines for stem cell research and clinical translation. Skokie (IL): International Society for Stem Cell Research; 2016.
- [65] George RP, Landry DW, Co-Chairmen C. The stem cell debates: lessons for science and politics. New Atl 2012. Available from: http://www.thenewatlantis.com/publications/the-stem-cell-debates-lessons-for-science-and-politics.
- [66] Human Fertilisation and Embryology Act 1990. UK.
- [67] Human Fertilisation and Embryology (Research Purposes) Regulations 2001. UK.
- [68] Parens E, Knowles LP. Reprogenetics and public policy: reflections and recommendations. Hast Cent Rep 2003;33(4):S1.

#### REFERENCES

- [69] Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Human pluripotent stem cell research: guidelines for CIHR-funded research. Canadian Institutes of Health Research; 2002. Available from: www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/28216.html.
- [70] Canadian Panel on Research Ethics. Tri-council policy statement: ethical conduct for research involving humans. Chapter 12 Section F. Government of Canada; 2014. Available from:, http://www.pre.ethics.gc.ca/eng/policy-politique/initiatives/tcps2-eptc2/Default/.
- [71] Canada Assisted Human Reproduction Act 2004. Canada.
- [72] Johnston J. Is research in Canada limited to "surplus" embryos? Health Law Rev 2006;14(3):3.
- [73] Research Involving Human Embryos Act 2002. Commonwealth of Australia.
- [74] Research Involving Human Embryos Act 2006. Commonwealth of Australia.
- [75] Bioethics and Safety Act No. 9100 2008 (Republic of Korea). English translation available from: http://www.mbbnet.umn.edu/scmap/ KoreanBioethics.pdf.
- [76] Johnston J. Paying egg donors: exploring the arguments. Hast Cent Rep 2006;36(1).
- [77] Park SB. South Korea steps up stem-cell work. Nature 2012;10:1038.
- [78] Prohibition of Genetic Intervention (Human Cloning and Genetic Manipulation of Reproductive Cells) Law, 5759-1999. Israel.
- [79] Walters L. Human embryonic stem cell research: an intercultural perspective. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 2004;14(1):3–38.
- [80] Human Cloning and Other Prohibited Practices Act 2004. Chapter 131B. Singapore.
- [81] George RP, Landry DW, Co-Chairmen C. The stem cell debates: lessons for science and politics, appendix E: overview of international human embryonic stem cell laws. New Atl 2012. Available from: http://www.thenewatlantis.com/publications/appendix-e-overview-of-international-human-embryonic-stem-cell-laws.
- [82] World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. 2008. Available from: http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/17c.pdf.
- [83] Gurmankin AD. Risk information provided to prospective oocyte donors in a preliminary phone call. Am J Bioeth 2001;1(4):3-13.
- [84] van Leeuwen FE, Klip H, Mooij TM, van de Swaluw AMG, Lambalk CB, Kortman M, et al. Risk of borderline and invasive ovarian tumours after ovarian stimulation for in vitro fertilization in a large Dutch cohort. Hum Reprod 2011;26.
- [85] Protection of human subjects, basic HHS policy for protection of human research subjects, criteria for IRB approval of research. 45 CFR §46.111(a).
- [86] Uniform Anatomical Gift Act 1987. Available from: http://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/anatomical\_gift/uaga\_final\_aug09.pdf.
- [87] Murray TH. Gifts of the body and the needs of strangers. Hast Cent Rep 1987;17(2):30-8.
- [88] Andrews LB. My body, my property. Hast Cent Rep 1986;16(5):28-38.
- [89] Department of Health and Human Services. Principles and guidelines for recipients of NIH research grants and contracts on obtaining and disseminating biomedical research resources: final notice. Fed Regist 1999;64(246):72090–6.
- [90] Krimsky S. Science in the private interest: has the lure of profits corrupted biomedical research? IEEE Technol Soc Mag 2006;25(1):10-1.
- [91] Heller MA, Eisenberg RS. Can patents deter innovation? The anticommons in biomedical research. Science 1998;280(5364):698-701.
- [92] Porter G, Denning C, Plomer A, Sinden J, Torremans P. The patentability of human embryonic stem cells in Europe. Nat Biotechnol 2006; 24(6):653–5.
- [93] Thomson JA. (Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation). Primate embryonic stem cells. United States US 5843780 A; 1998.
- [94] Rabin S. The gatekeepers of hES cell products. Nat Biotechnol 2005;23(7):817-9.
- [95] Diamond NJ. Stem cells and the trajectory of section 101 jurisprudence after Myriad. Albany Law J Sci Technol 2016;45.
- [96] Smith S. Claiming a cell reset button: induced pluripotent stem cells and preparation methods as patentable subject matter. Boston Coll Law Rev 2015:1577.
- [97] California Public Health Code of Regulations 2006. 17 Cal. Code of Regs.
- [98] Hyun I. What's wrong with human/nonhuman chimera research? PLoS Biol 2016;14(8):e1002535.
- [99] National Institutes of Health. NIH research involving introduction of human pluripotent cells into non-human vertebrate animal pregastrulation embryos. 2015. NOT-OD-15-158. Available from: http://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-15-158.html.
- [100] National Institutes of Health. Request for public comment on the proposed changes to the NIH guidelines for human stem cell research and the proposed scope of an NIH Steering Committee's consideration of certain human-animal chimera research. Fed Regist 2016;81:51921–3. Available from: https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-16-128.html.

This page intentionally left blank

# CHAPTER

# 76

# Ethical Considerations\*

Ronald M. Green Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, United States

# INTRODUCTION

Since the first development of human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) in 1998 [2,3] there has been a consensus in the scientific community that pluripotent cells hold great promise for developing new treatments for a variety of serious and currently untreatable disease conditions [4,5]. Although clinical successes in this area have been slow in coming, research is ongoing and novel therapies are beginning to show promise in clinical trials [6,7].

Nevertheless, because hESC research involves the manipulation and destruction of human embryos, the field has also been a focus of ethical controversy and opposition. In the course of these debates, many challenging ethical questions have been raised. Scientists, clinicians, or patients using hESCs or therapies must formulate their own answers to these questions. Society, too, must address them to determine the extent to which hESC research may require oversight and regulation. This chapter presents the most pressing of these questions, and critically examines some of the answers that have been proposed to them.

# IS IT NECESSARY TO USE HUMAN EMBRYOS?

Whether it is permissible to destroy human embryos to create hESC lines is a leading question, to which we turn in question 2 later. However, in late 2007, teams led by Yamanaka in Japan and Thomson in the United States announced success in the use of gene transfer technology to produce induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) lines [8,9]. Some have argued that this development obviates the need to develop or use hESC lines [10]. They assume that if we can directly manipulate somatic cells and perhaps even produce patient-specific (autologous) stem cells there is no reason to destroy human embryos or use hESCs derived from such destruction. However, there are both scientific and ethical reasons for questioning this assumption.

Scientifically, there is a question of whether iPSCs will prove suitable for use in human transplant and cell regeneration therapies. Early iPSCs exhibited high rates of tumorigenicity in mice, possibly a result of the use of retroviral vectors to carry pluripotency-inducing transcription factors, including the cancer-related factor c-Myc [11,12]. Reports suggest that the genomic reprogramming process in iPSCs may be less complete than that which takes place in the fertilized egg, causing the resulting cells to exhibit abnormal expansion and early senescence [13]. There is also a concern that because iPSCs are produced from somatic cells that have been exposed to aging and toxins, they may exhibit harmful mutations when used in clinical therapies. Because of these concerns and the possible costs of patient-specific therapies, some argue that banks of tissue-matched hESCs offer better prospects for therapies. In a review of these issues, Hug and Hermerén conclude that "if we consider all the aspects of safety, it is hardly possible to determine which therapy based on which type of cells would be safer according to the present state of knowledge" [14].

Research to answer these questions is ongoing (for example, [15,16]), but doing so will require a better understanding of the reprogramming process in embryonic cells. For this reason alone, the use of human embryos is likely

\*This chapter is a substantial revision and updating of the chapter "Ethical Considerations" that appeared in Atala et al. [1].

#### 76. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

to continue to be an important feature of stem cell research [17]. At this time, there exist many useful hESC lines created from donated human embryos. There are also currently hundreds of thousands of frozen embryos remaining from infertility procedures that will likely be destroyed and that could be used for research [18]. If stem cell research involving embryos were halted, this vast resource would go to waste. Many people feel that it is unwise to foreclose any of the available paths to developing pluripotent cells for regenerative medicine research. The view of the National Research Council remains in force: "The application of stem cell research to therapies for human disease will require much more knowledge about the biological properties of all types of stem cells" [4].

Ethically, it can also be asked whether the production and use of iPSCs is free of concerns. It is widely assumed that iPSCs avoid ethical controversy because they are produced from somatic cells, which unlike early embryos have no inherent potentiality of developing into a human being. But the work of Nagy and others shows that embryonic stem cells, when inserted into tetraploid embryos, are able to develop the placental material needed for further development [19–24]. This possibility raises complex ethical questions. Is potentiality morally relevant if it is accompanied by such intensive technical interventions? Embryos produced by in vitro fertilization (IVF) or nuclear transfer (cloning) also require intensive technical interventions, and opponents of hESC research normally condemn the use of these as sources for hESCs. If it is acknowledged that the potentiality for full human development, however assisted, confers moral status on an entity, then iPSC research may not be the ethical panacea that many of its proponents believe it to be. As Giuseppe Testa [25] observes:

The point is not that one can no longer use the potentiality argument because fibroblasts might now be considered as potential persons in a more concrete way than ever before... That is, there is no longer, if there ever was, any ready-made grid of boundaries that biology can let us see as if they were simply out there and that can serve as neutral justification for political choices.

Finally, it might be asked whether, even within the framework of hESC research, we must destroy embryos. In 2005, the Bush administration's President's Council on Bioethics issued a White Paper encouraging research in alternate methods of hESC derivation, including the use of arrested or developmentally nonviable embryos [26]. Several of these proposals, such as the deliberate genetic manipulation of embryos to prevent their normal development, are not free of ethical controversy [27,28]. A method involving single-cell blastomere biopsy has also been developed and implemented that could obviate the need to destroy the embryo to develop an hESC line [29]. While this approach raises questions of risk to the manipulated embryos, it can be justified in the context of preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD), where cells are routinely removed as a diagnostic procedure.

Reviewing all these considerations, we can say that considered scientifically and ethically there is no easy route around the destruction and use of human embryos in pluripotent stem cell research.

## IS IT MORALLY PERMISSIBLE TO DESTROY A HUMAN EMBRYO?

hESC lines are usually made by chemically and physically disaggregating an early, blastocyst-stage embryo, and removing its inner cell mass. At this stage the embryo is composed of approximately 200 cells, including an outer layer of differentiated placental material, and the undifferentiated (pluripotent) cells of the inner cell mass. The embryo dies as a result of this procedure. New methods that permit the development of pluripotent cell lines without destroying an embryo have not yet replaced this standard method for developing hESCs, and most existing hESC lines were created this way. Hence the question remains: may we intentionally kill a developing human being to expand scientific knowledge and potentially provide medical benefits?

At one end of the spectrum of answers are those who believe that, in moral terms, human life begins at conception when a new, self-developing genome comes into being. For many of those holding this view, the early embryo is not morally different from a child or an adult human being. It cannot be used in research that is not to its benefit, and it cannot be used without its consent [30–32]. Furthermore, proxy consent by parents in such cases is inadmissible, since it is an accepted rule of pediatric research that parents may not volunteer a child for risky studies that are not to its benefit. Many Roman Catholics, evangelical Protestants, and some Orthodox Jews take the position that life (morally) begins at conception, and they oppose hESC research.

At the other end of the spectrum are those who believe that the embryo is not yet fully a human being in a moral sense. They hold a "developmental" or "gradualist" view of life's beginning [33–37]. They do not deny that the early embryo is alive and has the biological potential to become a person, but they believe that other features are needed for the full and equal protection we normally accord children and adults and that these features only develop gradually across the full term of gestation. These features include such things as bodily form and the ability to feel or

think. Since the early embryo lacks organs, it cannot have these features or abilities. They also note that the very early embryo lacks human individuality, since it can still undergo twinning at this early stage, and two separate embryos with distinct genomes can fuse to become a single individual [38]. Some dismiss this argument, maintaining that the possibility of twinning or fusion does not reduce the genetic uniqueness or moral status of the earliest developing cells [39], but it is hard to see how the claim that "a person begins at conception" can easily withstand these biological facts. Finally, the very high mortality rate of such embryos (most never implant) reduces the force of the argument from potentiality [40,41]. Those who hold this developmental view do not agree on the classes of research that warrant the destruction of embryos, but most support some form of hESC research. Their reasoning is that, although the early embryo merits some respect as a nascent form of human life, the lives and health of children and adults outweigh whatever claim it possesses [42].

Each individual faced with involvement in hESC research must arrive at his or her own answer to the question of the status of the early human embryo and when, if ever, it may be destroyed. Legislators and others must also wrestle with these issues. On March 9, 2009, President Barack Obama issued an executive order authorizing federal funding for research involving the use, but not the derivation, of hESC lines. Whether this position will be sustained by the Trump administration remains to be seen.

## MAY ONE BENEFIT FROM OTHERS' DESTRUCTION OF EMBRYOS?

If, as some maintain, the human embryo is a morally protectable entity that cannot be intentionally destroyed, can researchers, clinicians, or patients justify the downstream use of a cell line produced from its destruction? This raises the more basic question of whether we can ever benefit from deeds with which we morally disagree or regard as wrong [43,44]. It is also the question of when a connection with wrongdoing becomes complicit with it [45].

Why is it morally wrong to benefit from others' misconduct? One answer is that by doing so we may encourage similar deeds in the future. This is most apparent in cases where our conduct directly instigates wrongdoing, such as when we authorize theft or receive stolen goods [45]. However, it seems less objectionable to benefit from others' wrongdoing when their deeds are independently undertaken and not in any way prompted or encouraged by us. For example, few would object to using the organs from a young victim of a gang killing to save the life of another dying child. The use of organs benefits one person and in no way encourages teen violence. Can similar logic apply to stem cell research using spare embryos remaining from infertility procedures?

It helps to remember that most embryos used to produce hESC lines are left over from infertility procedures. Couples using IVF routinely create more embryos than can safely be implanted. There are already hundreds of thousands of these embryos in cryogenic freezers in the United States and around the world [18]. Despite strenuous efforts, including some supported by the US government, few frozen embryos are adopted [46,47]. Most of these supernumerary embryos will be destroyed. In 1996, British law mandated the destruction of 3600 such embryos [48]. Does using hESC lines made from surplus embryos encourage either the creation or destruction of embryos?

Although a downstream researcher, clinician, or patient may abhor the deeds that led to the existence of an hESC line, including the creation and destruction of excess human embryos in infertility medicine, nothing that a recipient of an hESC line chooses to do is likely to alter, prevent, or discourage the continuing creation or destruction of human embryos, or make the existing lines go away. Those who use such embryos may also believe that if they refuse to use an hESC line, they would forgo great therapeutic benefit. People in this position will struggle with the question of whether it is worthwhile to uphold a moral ideal or engage in a symbolic act when doing so has no practical effect, and when it threatens to expose others to harm.

It is noteworthy that in an August 2001 address to the nation, President George W. Bush adopted a version of the position that allows one to benefit from acts one morally opposes. Stating his belief that it is morally wrong to kill a human embryo for others' benefit, the President nevertheless permitted the use of existing stem cell lines on the grounds that the deaths of the embryos had already occurred [49]. Similarly, Germany permits the importing and use of hESC lines created before January 1, 2002, the date on which the Bundestag passed a law governing such matters (this date was later moved to May 2007). These initiatives reflect the belief that it does not encourage further destruction of embryos to permit the use of previously generated cell lines. President Bush did not go so far as to permit the use of lines that could in the future be derived from embryos certainly slated for destruction because their progenitors choose never to use them. However, in July 2009, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) implemented an executive order issued in March 2009 by President Obama that authorized funding for the use, but not the derivation, of new hESC lines from embryos remaining from infertility procedures [50]. Opponents of hESC research have criticized this derivation-versus-use distinction as morally problematical, but apart from the moral issues,

this distinction is legally necessary because the Dickey–Wicker Amendment prohibits federal funding for research in which a human embryo is destroyed [51].

In summary, the downstream use of stem cells derived from embryos remains a source of moral controversy and disagreement. Each researcher or clinician who opposes embryo destruction will have to examine his or her own conscience in the light of the foregoing considerations to determine how much they wish to associate themselves with the use of hESC lines created in ways to which they morally object.

### MAY WE CREATE AN EMBRYO TO DESTROY IT?

Is it ever morally permissible to create an embryo deliberately to produce a stem cell line? This was done in the summer of 2002 at the Jones Institute in Norfolk, Virginia [52]. Those in favor of this research defend it on two grounds. First, they say that in the future, if we seek to develop stem cell lines with special properties, such as closer genetic matches to tissue recipients or properties introduced by gene editing (see question 7 later), it may be necessary to produce stem cell lines to order using donor sperm and eggs. Second, they argue that it is ethically better to use an hESC line created from embryos that have been produced for just this purpose, with the full and informed consent of their donor progenitors, than to use cell lines from embryos originally created for a reproductive purpose.

Those who believe the early embryo is our moral equal oppose the deliberate creation of embryos for research or clinical use. They are joined by some who do not share this view of the embryo's status, but who believe that it is morally repellant to deliberately create a potential human being only to destroy it [53]. They argue that this research opens the way to the "instrumentalization" of all human life and the use of children or adult human beings as commodities. Some ask whether such research does not violate the Kantian principle that we should never use others as "a means only" [54].

On the other side of this debate are those who believe that the lesser moral status of the early embryo permits its creation and destruction for lifesaving research and therapies [55,56]. The proponents of this research direction ask why it is morally permissible to create supernumerary embryos in IVF procedures to help couples have children, but morally wrong to do the same thing to save a child's life. They are not persuaded by the reply that the status of the embryo is affected by its progenitors' intent, and that it is therefore permissible to create excess embryos for a "good" (reproductive) purpose, but not for a "bad" (research) purpose. They point out that the embryo is the same entity, and its status should not depend on its progenitors' intentions. We do not ordinarily believe that a child's rights are dependent on its parents' intent or degree of concern [57]. They conclude that it is not parental intent that warrants the creation of excess of embryos in such cases, but the embryo's lesser moral status and the likelihood of significant human benefit from its use. These same considerations, they believe, justify deliberately creating embryos for stem cell research.

## MAY WE CLONE HUMAN EMBRYOS?

This question arises in connection with the patient-specific stem cell technology known as "human therapeutic cloning." It involves the deliberate creation of an embryo using somatic cell nuclear transfer (cloning) technology to produce an immunologically compatible (isogenic) hESC line [58].

Immune rejection could occur if the embryo used to prepare a line of hESCs for transplant does not share the same genome as the recipient. This would be the case whether the cell line was created from a spare embryo or from one made to order. Therapeutic cloning offers a way around this problem. In the case of a diabetic child, for example, the mother could donate an egg whose nucleus would then be removed. A cell would be taken from the child's body and its nucleus inserted into the egg cytoplasm. With stimulation, the reconstructed cell would divide, just like a fertilized egg. If the resulting embryo were transferred back to a womb, it could go on to birth and become a new individual—a clone of the child. But in therapeutic cloning, the blastocyst would be dissected and an hESC line prepared. Growth factors could be administered to induce the cells to become replacement pancreatic cells for the child. Because these cells contain the child's own DNA, and even the same maternal mitochondrial DNA, they would not be subject to rejection. Research has also shown that the small amount of alien DNA from the mitochondria of a donor egg would probably not provoke an immune response [59].

Although this is a promising technology, it raises a host of novel ethical questions. One is whether the embryonic organism produced in this way should be regarded as a "human embryo" in the accepted sense of that term [60]. Those who believe that "life begins at conception" tend to answer this question affirmatively, even though cloned

"embryos" are not the result of sexual fertilization [61]. They believe that it is no more permissible to create and destroy a cloned embryo than to do so with one produced by sexual fertilization. They base their view on the biological similarities between cloned and sexually produced embryos and on the argument that both have the potential to become a human being. However, as we have seen, if the embryo's status rests on its potential, some degree of potentiality attaches today to all bodily cells, which no one would argue should be withheld from use in biomedical research or therapy.

Therapeutic cloning implies the availability of human oocytes and raises the special question of ovulation induction. This is an invasive medical procedure, with both known and undetermined risks [62,63]. Not only must egg donors be informed of these risks, but steps also must be taken to preserve the voluntary nature of their consent. This includes avoiding financial incentives that create an "undue influence" on donors' judgment. It also includes preventing them from being pressured into producing excess eggs or embryos for research in return for discounts on infertility services [64].

Fears about coercion and the exploitation of poorer women or women of color have led some to oppose paid egg donation for research [65,66]. Several states, including California and Massachusetts, have passed laws prohibiting this practice. Nevertheless, experience has shown that women will not donate eggs for either reproductive or research purposes without adequate compensation [67]. In the face of these problems, New York State reversed the legal trend and approved payment for research egg donation.

Those who defend payment for oocytes point out that payment to research subjects involved in risky research is a common practice. They also ask why it is permissible to pay reproductive but not research egg donors [68]. The Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine has supported payment for research egg donors. It conceptualizes this in terms of appropriate compensation for a donor's time, inconvenience, and discomfort, but not for the eggs themselves [69,70].

Finally, there is a moral question specific to cloning itself. The more scientists are able to perfect therapeutic cloning, the more likely it is that they will sharpen the skills needed to accomplish reproductive cloning, which aims at the birth of a cloned child. There is a broad consensus in the scientific and bioethics communities that, for the fore-seeable future, cloning technology poses serious health risks to any child born as a result of it [71]. There are also serious, unresolved questions about the psychological welfare of such a child [72]. Finally, there is the possibility that embryos created for therapeutic cloning research might be diverted to reproductive cloning attempts. All these concerns raise the question: do we really want to develop cloning technology for the production of isogenic stem cells if doing so hastens the advent of reproductive cloning [73]?

The advent of iPSCs and the prospect of efficiently producing patient-specific stem cell lines have weakened the arguments for therapeutic cloning with its many associated controversies.

## MAY WE USE HUMAN STEM CELLS TO CREATE CHIMERAS?

In stem cell research, human-to-animal chimera experiments involve the transfer of pluripotent or multipotent human stem cells into animals at embryonic, fetal, or postnatal stages of development to study stem cell behavior [74]. Some forms of chimera research are common and widely acceptable. For example, hESCs are routinely used to form teratomas in immunodeficient mice to assess stem cell quality and developmental potential. The creation of humanized antibody systems in mice is also central to cancer immunotherapy research.

Researchers have expressed interest in creating humanized organs or tissues in larger animals for disease modeling, drug testing, and perhaps eventual organ transplant [75]. Animal models with human cells in the brain can be used to study many human brain diseases, including Parkinson's, Alzheimer's, and schizophrenia, and may be useful models for testing new drugs [76]. However, these proposals raise many ethical questions because hESCs or human islet-derived precursor cells (hiPCs) inserted into an animal embryo prior to gastrulation can incorporate themselves into neural or reproductive tissues. Modifying neural tissues risks the creation of an animal with significantly increased potential for human sentience and self-awareness, a concern that is greatly increased in the case of nonhuman primates whose brain architecture might reasonably support human-like cognition and feelings. Humanizing reproductive tissues risks the inadvertent mating of two animals with such tissue in their gonads and a resulting pregnancy or birth of a human child from an animal womb. Some have argued that either prospect is ethically unacceptable because it represents a threat to human dignity [77,78], although what constitutes human dignity or its violation is difficult to assess [74]. Nevertheless, in terms of recognized human subject protections and animal welfare considerations, few would disagree that it is wrong to create animals with significantly humanized brains or to bring about a human pregnancy in an animal uterus.

#### 76. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Part of the difficulty in coming to terms with these questions are the many variables involved. Research and therapeutic benefits that are often speculative must be weighed against risks, which depend in part on the nature of the animals being used, the times at which pluripotent cells are inserted into the developing organism, the likelihood of these cells integrating themselves into various animal tissues and organ niches, and whether the organism will be allowed to come to term. Compounding this complexity is the "irreducible degree of uncertainty about the cognitive nature of the new chimeric animal, and how it would manifest distress, anxiety, or other factors relevant to one's assessment of animal welfare" [74].

These complexities counsel case-by-case assessment of research directions, protocols based upon careful monitoring of outcomes, and the best evolving information about risks and benefits [66,79–81]. The International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR) summarizes this position when it calls for "specialized oversight" of such research utilizing "baseline animal data grounded in rigorous scientific knowledge or reasonable inferences" and involving "a diligent application of animal welfare principles" [82]. In August 2015, the NIH imposed a moratorium on its funding of human-to-animal chimera research pending public comment on revised guidelines. These guidelines include the creation of a high-level internal NIH steering committee to provide broad policy oversight for this research. In addition, the guidelines include specific prohibitions on (1) inserting hESCs or hiPSCs into nonhuman primate blastocyst-stage embryos, and (2) breeding of animals where the introduction of hESCs or hiPCs may contribute to a germ line (i.e., make human eggs or sperm) [76]. A 2011 report by the British Academy of Medicine also recommends a prohibition on "substantial functional modification of the NHP [normal pressure hydrocephalus] brain, such as to engender 'human-like' behavior," though it offers somewhat more lenient permission, with oversight, for "substantial modification of an animal's brain that may make the brain function potentially more 'human-like,' particularly in large animals" [83]. Despite disagreements by national bioethics bodies at the margins of research possibilities, there is a consensus that chimera research involving the humanization of animal brains and any research that risks a human birth requires ongoing, case-by-case, specialist scrutiny of the scientific and ethical issues involved.

### MAY WE GENETICALLY MODIFY HUMAN EMBRYOS?

Gene editing has recently been given new precision and applicability by development of CRISPR-Cas9 technology. It is now possible to target specific gene sequences in somatic cells, stem cells, gametes, or embryos for deletion or modification. This raises the prospect of human genetic engineering for the purpose of disease prevention and treatment and for genetic enhancement. For example, it might be possible to use genetically modified cells or stem cells to provide therapies for HIV AIDS or sickle cell anemia. Pathologies that begin at early uterine development might be prevented by the modification of parental gametes or the early embryo itself. Germline interventions like these have the added advantage of preventing future transmission of the disease-causing mutations. In many cases it is true, the same goal can be accomplished without gene editing by use of PGD and embryo selection, but gene editing permits the introduction of novel gene sequences not available in the parental lineage. It can also facilitate genetic enhancement, the creation of human beings who are "better than well" [27,28].

Despite its capabilities, CRISPR-Cas9 has deficiencies. It can alter and disrupt DNA at locations other than the intended ones ("off-target results"); it can change the DNA in some but not all, resulting in a mosaic of altered and unaltered cells, and can generate immune responses if introduced into the body. Although the CRISPR-Cas9 system is still undergoing development to reach the level of safety where it could be used in clinical applications, there is broad consensus that it would be premature and ethically questionable to attempt germline gene editing at this time, even for serious genetic diseases. In December 2015, leading scientists and bioethicists convened an international summit on human gene editing that concluded:

It would be irresponsible to proceed with any clinical use of germline editing unless and until (i) the relevant safety and efficacy issues have been resolved, based on appropriate understanding and balancing of risks, potential benefits, and alternatives, and (ii) there is broad societal consensus about the appropriateness of the proposed application.

#### The report continues:

At present, these criteria have not been met for any proposed clinical use: the safety issues have not yet been adequately explored; the cases of most compelling benefit are limited; and many nations have legislative or regulatory bans on germline modification. However, as scientific knowledge advances and societal views evolve, the clinical use of germline editing should be revisited on a regular basis.[84].

# ARE THERE SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING THE USE OF STEM CELLS IN CLINICAL RESEARCH AND CLINICAL APPLICATIONS?

Like all research or clinical translation involving the use of animal or human subjects, stem cell research is governed by a set of fundamental ethical principles that have been embodied in national and international codes and laws. As enunciated by the ISSCR, these principles include (1) research integrity; (2) primacy of patient welfare; (3) respect for research subjects; (4) transparency; and (5) social justice [82].

Some commentators have warned against "stem cell exceptionalism"—the singling out of stem cell research for unwarranted special attention [74]. Thus it may be asked whether the use of stem cells in research or clinical treatments raises any novel ethical questions. Given the controversial and moral status of hESCs and the long-lasting but still uncharted powers of stem cells themselves, it seems wise to add special provisions to the guidelines governing research and clinical applications when hESCs and hiPSCs are involved. Such guidelines have been developed by the Chief Medical Officer's Expert Group in Great Britain [85,86], by private ethics boards at the Geron Corporation [87] and Advanced Cell Technology [88] in the United States, by committees of the National Research Council and Institute of Medicine [66,80,81], by the NIH [50,89], and by the ISSCR [82,90,91]. These various guidelines tend to share several features.

## Stem Cell Research Oversight/Embryo Research Oversight Committee Review

There is agreement that, in addition to the usual review of research proposals by an Institutional Review Board (IRB), it is appropriate that there be another layer of review provided by a stem cell research oversight (SCRO) committee, or, as it has more recently been termed, an embryo research oversight (EMRO) committee. The name change reflects the advent of hiPCs, the use of which, except for those having "organismal potential," raises fewer issues than the use of hESCs. In its most recent guidelines, the ISSCR recommends EMRO review for research involving human embryos, embryo-derived cells or that which entails "the production of human gametes in vitro when such gametes are tested by fertilization or used for the creation of embryos," and research on human totipotent cells that have the potential to sustain embryonic or fetal development [82]. In contrast, use of iPSCs requires human subjects review but does not require specialized EMRO review so long as the research does not generate human embryos or totipotent cells [82]. The ISSCR also exempts from EMRO review research with established hESC lines that are confined to cell culture or involve routine and standard research practice, such as assays of in vitro differentiation or teratoma formation in immune-deficient mice.

EMROs can operate at institutional or higher levels, and should include as members scientists and/or physicians not directly engaged in the research under consideration but with relevant expertise, ethicists, "members or advisors familiar with relevant local legal statutes governing the research," and "community members, unaffiliated with the institution through employment or other remunerative relationships, who are impartial and reasonably familiar with the views and needs of research subjects, patients and patient communities who could be benefited by stem cell research, and community standards" [82].

## Donor and Procurement Issues

Because hESC and therapeutic cloning research require a supply of human gametes and embryos, any of which raise sensitive issues of moral status and familial relationships, steps must be taken to elicit the informed consent of donors, to protect their privacy, and to minimize any risks to which they might be subject. Because hiPCs are derived from human somatic material, existing IRB regulations concerning review and informed consent cover their derivation, and no EMRO committee review is needed. Nevertheless, the possibility of the use of such cells in chimeric animals and special transplantation issues recommend EMRO review in some cases. To aid researchers, the ISSCR has offered the outlines of a sample consent document for these purposes [82].

In general, explicit and contemporaneous informed consent (consent given at the time of procurement) is required when donors are asked to provide biomaterials for the creation of embryos, hESCs, or immortalized hiPC lines. Contemporaneous consent is not necessary if researchers procure somatic cells from a tissue bank, but in such cases the tissue bank's consent documents must evidence that donors consented to the use of their biomaterials for gamete creation or for stem cell research. There is wide consensus that donors of cells, sperm, or embryos should not be compensated, although it is regarded as permissible to provide compensation for the time, inconvenience, and discomfort associated with the donation of oocytes for research so long as payment does not vary according to the planned use of the oocytes, the number or quality of oocytes retrieved, the number or outcome of prior donation cycles, or the donor's ethnic or other personal characteristics [70]. Payment levels should not be so high as to constitute an "undue influence" on a woman's decision-making.

Informed consent requires that donors fully understand the nature of the research being undertaken (for example, that it may require the destruction of an embryo), and that they explicitly consent to it. Whenever possible, donors should be given the option of agreeing to some forms of hESC research but not others (e.g., the creation of stem cells but not cloned embryos). It is morally impermissible to elicit somatic cells, sperm, eggs, or embryos for the production of stem cell lines without informing donors that an immortalized, pluripotent cell line might result that could be widely used in research or therapeutic applications. If there are likely to be commercial benefits flowing from the research, donors must also be informed of this, and their rights (if any) in such benefits should be clearly specified. If the research involves therapeutic cloning, both egg and somatic cell donors must be informed that a cloned embryo and a cell line with the egg donor's mitochondrial genetic material and the somatic cell donor's nuclear DNA will result. iPSC somatic cell donors should also be informed about the developmental and commercial possibilities of their cellular materials. Special questions also arise about the use of somatic cells, embryos, or sperm whose provenance is uncertain, including embryos created with sperm whose donor is unknown [92].

An emergent problem given the possible widespread use of hESCs and iPSCs is the discovery of incidental genetic findings in the course of downstream research that might be of health importance to donors. ISSCR and other bodies recommend the development of a policy on whether and how incidental findings will be returned to donors and the communication of this policy to donors at the time of the informed consent process. Successful implementation of this policy depends on the traceability of cell lines and strict compliance with material transfer agreements [82].

In conducting research, efforts should be made to preserve donor privacy by removing identifying information from gametes, embryos, and cell lines, and keeping this information apart in a secure location. In view of the controversy surrounding much of this research, donors can be subjected to harassment or embarrassment if their association with the research is revealed without their consent. In an era where it is increasingly possible to identify donors from the DNA of the resulting stem cells, donors should be warned of possible risks to their privacy and that of their family members.

Finally, there is a question about the use of hESC lines previously produced (or produced abroad) under less comprehensive guidelines. The NIH faced this question in its effort to develop guidelines following President Obama's executive order permitting funding for hESC research. Many hESCs available for use had not been developed in precise conformity to the newly developed guidelines. The NIH met this problem by forming a Working Group of the Advisory Committee to the Director to consider exceptions that conform to the spirit of the guidelines. Rather than "grandfathering" preexisting hESCs, the Working Group is empowered to judge hESC lines "derived in a responsible manner" to be eligible for use in NIH-funded research [50].

## **Research Conduct**

Guidelines also apply to the overall conduct of research. These include the requirement that no embryo used in hESC or therapeutic cloning research be allowed to develop beyond 14 days. This internationally recognized limit is based on the substantial changes that occur at gastrulation, which marks the beginning of individualization and organogenesis [93]. At this time, ISSCR guidelines also prohibit reproductive cloning research; research in which human embryos (or organized cellular structures that might manifest human organismal potential) are gestated ex utero or in any nonhuman animal uterus, or have undergone modification of their nuclear genome and are implanted into or gestated in a human or animal uterus; and research in which animal chimeras incorporating human cells with the potential to form human gametes are bred to each other [82]. Supervision and accountability of all staff and scientists involved in this research to prevent any diversion of gametes or embryos to reproductive purposes is required.

## **Clinical Translation**

Stem cell-based treatments have been the clinical standard of care for some conditions, such as hematopoietic stem cell transplants for leukemia, but research on stem cell-based therapies has greatly expanded in recent years. Investigational New Drug applications have been filed for several therapies, and clinical trials are under way. As might be expected, problems have already developed. In late 2009, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) asked the Geron Corporation to halt its trial on a groundbreaking stem cell therapy for spinal cord injury when a review revealed the formation of cysts in some (animal) trial subjects [94].

#### 1338

All tissue transplantation involves risks for the recipient, but for several reasons these risks are magnified in the case of stem cell transplants:

- Stem cells are novel therapeutic agents whose development and manufacture require innovative procedures for
  ensuring purity and homogeneity. Additional risks derive from the fact that cells are likely to be expanded in
  culture and/or exposed to xenoculture materials, viruses, or other infectious agents before transplantation. The
  likely use of these cells by large populations increases the need for careful oversight in cells' development and
  manufacture.
- Cell types may differ in their ability to proliferate and safely implant in the body. Their use poses risks of
  infusional toxicity, severe immune responses, and tumorigenesis. An additional problem is ectopic or off-target
  insertion.
- Animal models may not accurately reflect toxicity in humans.

In response to these challenges, in 2008 a multidisciplinary, international task force of the ISSCR proposed ethical guidelines for clinical translational research. The task force issued 39 recommendations, most of which fall into five broad categories: (1) cell processing and manufacture, (2) preclinical studies, (3) clinical research, (4) stem cell-based medical innovation, and (5) considerations of social justice [91].

With regard to cell processing and manufacture, the task force recommended that these be conducted under "scrupulous, expert, and independent review and oversight." As a rule, minimally manipulated products (cells maintained in culture under nonproliferating conditions for short periods of time) require less oversight than those subjected to extensive manipulations, such as genetic alterations. The same is true of autologous versus allogenic use and use for homologous versus nonhomologous functions (Recommendations 8 and 9). Good manufacturing practice must be applied to manipulated products and those destined for allogeneic use. Donors of cells should be screened for infectious diseases and the donor should give written informed consent that covers the likely storage, future manipulations, analyses, uses of their cells, commercial potential, and possible risks to the donor's privacy, including exposure of genetic information (Recommendation 3).

Preclinical studies are meant to provide evidence of product safety and proof-of-principle of therapeutic effect. This normally requires sufficient studies in animal models, including larger animals where structural tissue needs to be tested in a load-bearing model (Recommendations 11 and 14). Researchers must develop and implement a clear plan to assess the risks of tumorigenicity for any cell product (Recommendation 18). Cell cultures and animal models should be used to test the interaction of cells with drugs to which recipients will be exposed, including the immunosuppressants planned for recipients (Recommendation 19).

Clinical trials of stem cell research must conform to internationally accepted principles governing the protection of human subjects, including regulatory oversight, peer review by an expert panel independent of the investigators and sponsors, fair subject selection, informed consent, and patient monitoring. In addition, there are special issues raised by stem cell research. Because of their undetermined risks stem cell-based therapies, as a rule, must aim at being clinically competitive or superior to existing therapies. Where there are already efficacious therapies for a disease condition, the stem cell-based intervention must be of low risk and offer a potential advantage (such as better functional outcome; single procedure vs. lifelong drug therapy). Greater risks are permissible where there is no efficacious therapy and where the disease condition is severely disabling and life threatening (Recommendation 25). Patients need to be informed that cell-derived products have never been tested before in humans, that researchers do not know whether they will work as hoped, and that, unlike many pharmacological products or even many implantable devices, stem cells may stay in the body and generate adverse effects for the lifetime of the patient. To respect their values, and because some subjects may have moral objections to the use of embryo-derived cells, subjects should be informed about the source of the cells (Recommendation 28). To determine the consequences of cellular implantation, and with consideration of cultural and familial sensitivities, subjects should be asked for autopsy in the event of death (Recommendation 31).

Considerations of social justice apply to all research involving human subjects but receive special importance in view of public involvement in this emergent research area. Among the recommendations of the task force are public engagement in the policy making of governmental agencies (Recommendation 37), fair allocation of benefits and risks, and the need to develop alternative models of intellectual property, licensing, product development, and public funding to promote fair and broad access to the new diagnostics and therapies (Recommendation 38). One justice consideration especially pertinent to stem cell research is the establishment of stem cell collections with genetically diverse sources of cell lines (Recommendation 38). The task force concludes its recommendations with an aspirational goal that companies, subject to their financial capability, should offer affordable therapeutic interventions to persons living in resource-poor countries who would not otherwise have access to these therapies.

#### 76. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Universities and other institutions are asked to incorporate this requirement in their intellectual property licenses (Recommendation 39).

# **Clinical Application**

Recommendations for the ethical introduction of stem cell therapies take place against a background marked by the presence of many clinical programs offering "stem cell therapies" outside the boundaries of proper clinical trials and ethical or legal oversight [95]. These unsupervised stem programs exploit a loophole in the FDA regulation of biologics that permits the use of cells that have been subject to "minimal manipulation" [96]. In some cases desperate patients have suffered serious illnesses, including growths caused by proliferating and ectopic transplanted stem cells [97]. In its 2016 report, the ISSCR issues a stern rebuke to such programs.

The ISSCR condemns the administration of unproven stem cell-based interventions outside of the context of clinical research or medical innovation compliant with the guidelines in this document and relevant laws, particularly when it is performed as a business activity. Scientists and clinicians should not participate in such activities as a matter of professional ethics. For the vast majority of medical conditions for which putative "stem cell therapies" are currently being marketed, there is insufficient evidence of safety and efficacy to justify routine or commercial use [82].

The ISSCR guidelines do not altogether prohibit innovative clinical therapies. They affirm that "unproven stem cell-based interventions" can be provided to at most a very small number of patients outside the context of a formal clinical trial but in accordance with a set of "very restrictive conditions." These include the existence of a written plan outlining the scientific rationale and justification of the procedure, why it has a reasonable chance of success, and why it should be attempted compared to existing treatments. This plan should offer a full characterization of the types of cells being transplanted, how they will be administered, and a commitment to clinical follow-up and data collection to assess the procedure's effectiveness and adverse effects. The plan should be peer reviewed by independent experts, and have the full support and accountability of the health care institution where it is based. Patients must provide voluntary informed consent and understand that the intervention is unproven. There should be an action plan for adverse events, including insurance coverage for patients. Finally, the conduct of innovative treatments requires a commitment by clinician-scientists to use their experience with individual patients to contribute to generalizable knowledge. This includes communication of all outcomes to the scientific community in professional meetings and journals, and timely movement to formal clinical trials [82].

## CONCLUSION

Fully answering all of the questions this chapter has raised would require an ethical treatise. However, in my view, the moral claims of the very early embryo do not outweigh those of children and adults that can be helped by hESC and therapeutic cloning technologies. While iPSC research is promising, reliance on it should not replace the use of hESC lines produced through proven techniques, and that are currently available. As we move forward to clinical translational research, care should be taken that there is proper oversight for these novel and potentially harmful therapies. Some may disagree with these conclusions. Continuing dialog about these questions and clearer scientific research results will bring us closer to a consensus on these issues.

## References

- [1] Atala A, Lanza R, Thomson J, Nerem R, editors. Principles of regenerative medicine. 2nd ed. Burlington, MA: Academic Press; 2011.
- [2] Shamblott MJ, Axelman J, Wang S, Bugg EM, Littlefield JW, Donovan PJ, et al. Derivation of pluripotent stem cells from cultured human primordial germ cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:13726–31.
- [3] Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7.
- [4] National Research Council. Stem cells and the future of regenerative medicine. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.
- [5] Office of Science Policy, National Institutes of Health. Stem cells: scientific progress and future research directions. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2001.
- [6] Schwartz SD, Hubschman J-P, Heilwell G, Franco-Cardenas V, Pan CK, Ostrick RM, Mickunas E, Gay R, Klimanskaya I, Lanza R. Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: a preliminary report. Lancet 2012;379(9817):713–20.
- [7] Schwartz SD, Regillo CD, Lam BL, Eliott D, Rosenfeld PJ, Gregori NZ, Hubschman J-P, Davis JL, Heilwell G, Spirn M, Maguire J, Gay R, Bateman J, Ostrick RM, Morris D, Vincent M, Anglade E, Del Priore LV, Lanza R. Lancet 2015;385:509–16.

- [8] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131:861–72.
- [9] Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318:1917–20.
- [10] Krauthammer C. Stem cell vindication. Wash Post November 30, 2007. A23.
- [11] Hyun I, Hochedlinger K, Jaenisch R, Yamanaka S. New advances in iPSC research do not obviate the need for human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2007;1:367–8.
- [12] Okita K, Yamanaka S. Induced pluripotent stem cells. In: Atala A, et al., editors. Principles of regenerative medicine. 2nd ed. Burlington, MA: Academic Press; 2011. p. 241–52.
- [13] Feng Q, Lu S, Klimanskaya I, Gomes I, Kim D, Chung Y, et al. Hemangioblastic derivatives from human induced pluripotent stem cells exhibit limited expansion and early senescence. Stem Cell 2010;28:704–12.
- [14] Hug K, Hermerén G. Do we still need human embryonic stem cells for stem cell-based therapies? Epistemic and ethical aspects. Stem Cell Rev Rep 2011;7:761–74.
- [15] Okita K, Nakagawa M, Hyenjong H, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S. Generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells without viral vectors. Science 2008;322:949–53.
- [16] Yu J, Hu K, Smuga-Otto K, Tian S, Stewart R, Slukvin II, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cells free of vector and transgene sequences. Science 2009;324:797–801.
- [17] Gurdon JB, Melton DA. Nuclear reprogramming in cells. Science 2008;322:1811–22.
- [18] Weiss R. 400,000 human embryos frozen in US. Number at fertility clinics is far greater than previous estimates, survey finds. Wash Post May 8, 2003. A10.
- [19] Boland MJ, Hazen JL, Nazor KL, Rodriguez AR, Gifford W, Martin G, Kupriyanov S, Baldwin KK. Adult mice generated from induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2009;461:91–4.
- [20] Kang L, Wang J, Zhang Y, Kou Z, Gao S. iPS cells can support full-term development of tetraploid blastocyst-complemented embryos. Cell Stem Cell 2009;5:135–8.
- [21] Magill G, Neaves WB. Ontological and ethical implications of direct nuclear reprogramming. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 2009;19:23–32.
- [22] Nagy A, Gocza E, Diaz EM, Prideaux VR, Ivanyi E, Markkula M, et al. Embryonic stem cells alone are able to support fetal development in the mouse. Development 1990;110:815–21.
- [23] Nagy A, Rossant J, Nagy R, Abramow-Newerly W, Roder JC. Derivation of completely cell culture-derived mice from early-passage embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:8424–8.
- [24] Zhao XY, Li W, Lv Z, Liu L, Tong M, Hai T, Hao J, Guo CL, Ma QW, Wang L, et al. iPS cells produce viable mice through tetraploid complementation. Nature 2009;461:86–90.
- [25] Testa G. Letter: what to do with the grail now that we have it? iPSCs, potentiality, and public policy. Cell Stem Cell 2009;5:358-9.
- [26] President's Council on Bioethics (PCBE). White paper: alternative sources of human pluripotent stem cells. Washington, DC: President's Council on Bioethics; 2005. Available at: http://www.bioethics.gov/reports/.
- [27] Green RM. Policy forum: can we develop ethically universal embryonic stem lines? Nat Rev Genet 2007;8:480-5.
- [28] Green RM. Babies by design: the ethics of genetic choice. New Haven: Yale University Press; 2007.
- [29] Klimanskaya I, Chung Y, Becker S, Lu SJ, Lanza R. Human embryonic stem cell lines derived from single blastomeres. Nature 2006;444:481–5.
- [30] Doerflinger R. The ethics of funding embryonic stem cell research: a Catholic viewpoint. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 1999;9:137–50.
- [31] Linacre Centre for Healthcare Ethics. A Theologian's brief on the place of the human embryo within the christian tradition. 2001. Available at: http://www.lifeissues.net/writers/mis\_02christiantradition1.html#b1.
- [32] Pope John Paul II. Address of John Paul II to the members of the pontifical Academy of Sciences. November 10, 2003. Available at: http:// www.Vatican.va/holy\_father/john\_paul\_ii/speeches/2003/November/documents/hf\_pii\_spe~20011110-academy-sciences\_en.html.
- [33] Ford NM. When did I begin?. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1988.
- [34] Green RM. The human embryo research debates. New York: Oxford University Press; 2001.
- [35] McCormick RA. Who or what is the preembryo? Kennedy Inst Ethics J 1991;1:1–15.
- [36] Shannon T. From the micro to the macro. In: Holland S, et al., editors. The human embryonic stem cell debate. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2001. p. 177–84.
- [37] Warren MA. Moral status: obligations to persons and other living things. New York: Oxford University Press; 1997.
- [38] Strain L, Dean JCS, Hamilton MPR, Bonthron DT. A true hermaphrodite chimera resulting from embryo amalgamation after *in vitro* fertilization. N Engl J Med 1998;338:166–9.
- [39] Guenin LM. Ethical considerations. In: Atala A, et al., editors. Principles of regenerative medicine. 1st ed. Burlington, MA: Academic Press; 2008. p. 1334–44.
- [40] Hardy K, Spanos S, Becker D, Iannelli P, Winston RML, Stark J. From cell death to embryo arrest: mathematical models of human preimplantation embryo development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:1655–60.
- [41] Norwitz ER, Shust DJ, Fisher SJ. Implantation and the survival of early pregnancy. N Engl J Med 2001;345:1400-8.
- [42] Lebacqz K. On the elusive nature of respect. In: Holland S, et al., editors. The human embryonic stem cell debate. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2001. p. 149–62.
- [43] Green RM. Benefiting from "evil": an incipient moral problem in human stem cell research. Bioethics 2002;16:544-56.
- [44] Kaveny MC. Appropriation of evil: cooperation's minor image. Theol Stud 2000;61:280-313.
- [45] Birnbacher D. Embryonic stem cell research and the argument from complicity. Reprod BioMed Online 2008;18(Suppl. 1):12–6. Available at: www.rbmonline.com/Article/3605.
- [46] Office of Population Affairs, US Department of Health and Human Services. Embryo adoption. 2010. Available at: http://www.hhs.gov/ opa/embryoadoption/index.html.
- [47] Stolberg SG. Some see new route to adoption in clinics full of frozen embryos. NY Times February 25, 2001. A1.
- [48] Ibrahim YM. Ethical furor erupts in Britain: should embryos be destroyed? NY Times August 1 1996 (late ed.), A1.
- [49] Bush GW. President's statement on funding stem cell research. NY Times August 10, 2001 (late ed. final), A16.
#### 76. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

- [50] National Institutes of Health. Guidelines on human stem cell research. 2009. Available at: http://stemcells.nih.gov/policy/2009guidelines. htm.
- [51] Omnibus Appropriations Act (Dickey-Wicker Amendment). Public law No. 111–118. Section 509 (a) (b). 2009. Available at: http://frwebgate. access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=111\_cong\_public\_lawsanddocid=f:publ008.111.
- [52] Kolata G. Researchers say embryos in labs are not available. NY Times August 26, 2001 (late ed. final), A1. Available at: http://www. nytimes.com/2001/08/26/us/researchers-say-embryos-in-labs-aren-t-available.html.
- [53] Annas G, Caplan A, Elias S. The politics of human-embryo research avoiding ethical gridlock. N Engl J Med 1996;334:1329–32.
- [54] Green RM. What does it mean to use someone as "a means only"? rereading Kant. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 2001;11:249–63.
- [55] Davis DS. Embryos created for research purposes. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 1995;5:343-54.
- [56] National Institutes of Health. Report of the human embryo research panel. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 1994.
- [57] Parens E. On the ethics and politics of embryonic stem cell research. In: Holland S, et al., editors. The human embryonic stem cell debate. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2001. p. 37–50.
- [58] Lanza RP, Caplan AL, Silver LM, Cibelli JB, West MD, Green RM. The ethical validity of using nuclear transfer in human transplantation. J Am Med Assoc 2000;284:3175–9.
- [59] Lanza RP, Chung HY, Yoo JJ, Wettstein PJ, Blackwell C, Borson N, et al. Generation of histocompatible tissues using nuclear transplantation. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20:689–96.
- [60] Nature Editorial. The meaning of life (editorial). Nature 2001;412:255.
- [61] Doerflinger RM. Testimony of Richard M. Doerflinger on behalf of the Committee for Pro-life Activities. National Conference of Catholic Bishops, Testimony of Richard Doerflinger, January 14, 2003 before the Health and Human Development Committee of the Delaware House of Representatives concerning Senate Bill No. 55. Cloning prohibition and research protection act. 2003. Available at: http://www. cloninginformation.org/congressional\_testimony/doerflinger\_de.htm.
- [62] Paulson RJ. Fertility drugs and ovarian epithelial cancer: is there a link? J Assist Reprod Genet 1996;13:751–6.
- [63] Rossing MA, Daling JR, Weiss NS, Moore DE, Self SE. Ovarian tumors in a cohort of infertile women. N Engl J Med 1996;331:771-6.
- [64] Cohen CB. Leaps and boundaries: expanding oversight of human stem cell research. In: Holland S, et al., editors. The human embryonic stem cell debate. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2001. p. 209–22.
- [65] Dresser R. Letter to the editor. J Am Med Assoc 2001;285:1439.
- [66] National Research Council. Guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2005.
- [67] Klitzman R, Sauer MV. Payment of egg donors in stem cell research in the USA. Reprod Biomed Online 2009;18:603-8.
- [68] Crockin SL. A legal defense for compensating research egg donors. Cell Stem Cell 2010;6:99-102.
- [69] ASRM (American Society for Reproductive Medicine), Ethics Committee. Financial compensation of oocyte donors. Fertil Steril 2007;88: 305–9.
- [70] ASRM (American Society for Reproductive Medicine). Financial compensation of oocyte donors: an Ethics Committee opinion. 2016. Available at: https://www.asrm.org/uploadedFiles/ASRM\_Content/News\_and\_Publications/Ethics\_Committee\_Reports\_and\_Statements/ financial\_incentives.pdf.
- [71] Jaenisch R, Wilmut I. Don't clone humans! Science 2001;291:2552.
- [72] National Bioethics Advisory Commission. Cloning human beings. Rockville, MD: National Bioethics Advisory Commission; 1997.
- [73] Weiss R. Stem cell discovery grows into a debate. Wash Post October 9, 1999. A1, A8-A9.
- [74] Hyun I, Taylor P, Testa G, Dickens B, Jung KW, McNab A, Robertson J, Skene L, Zoloth L. Ethical standards for human-to-animal chimera experiments in stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell 2007;1:159–63.
- [75] Rashid T, Kobayashim T, Nakauchi H. Revisiting the flight of Icarus: making human organs from PSCs with large animal chimeras. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:406–9.
- [76] Office of Science Policy, National Institutes of Health, 2016. Next steps on research using animal embryos containing human cells. Available at: http://osp.od.nih.gov/under-the-poliscope/2016/08/next-steps-research-using-animal-embryos-containing-human-cells. Also Frequently asked questions. Available at: http://osp.od.nih.gov/sites/default/files/resources/QA\_Chimera\_Policy\_updated\_14\_November\_2016.pdf.
- [77] Bonnicksen A. Chimeras, hybrids, and interspecies research: politics and policymaking. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press; 2009.
- [78] Karpowicz P, Cohen CB, van der Kooy D. Developing human-nonhuman chimeras in stem cell research: ethical issues and boundaries. Kennedy Inst Ethics J 2005;15:107–34.
- [79] Mizuno H, Akutsu H, Kato K. Ethical acceptability of research on human-animal chimeric embryos: summary of opinions by the Japanese Expert Panel on Bioethics. Life Sci Soc Policy 2015;11(15):1–7.
- [80] National Research Council and Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Amendments to the national Academies' guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2007.
- [81] National Research Council and Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Amendments to the national Academies' guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2008.
- [82] ISSCR (International Society for Stem Cell Research). Guidelines for stem cell research and clinical translation. May 12, 2016. Available at: http://www.isscr.org/docs/default-source/guidelines/isscr-guidelines-for-stem-cell-research-and-clinical-translation.pdf?sfvrsn=2.
- [83] (British) Academy of Medical Sciences. Animals containing human materials. 2011. Available at: http://www.acmedsci.ac.uk/policy/policyprojects/animals-containing-human-material/.
- [84] Committee on Science, Technology, and Law, Policy and Global Affairs, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. International summit on human gene editing: a global discussion. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2015. Available at: https://www. nap.edu/catalog/21913/international-summit-on-human-gene-editing-a-global-discussion.
- [85] Chief Medical Officer's Expert Group. Stem cell research: medical progress with responsibility. 2000. Available at: http://www.dh.gov.uk/ en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH\_4065084.
- [86] Holland S. Beyond the embryo: a feminist appraisal of human embryonic stem cell research. In: Holland S, et al., editors. The human embryonic stem cell debate. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2001. p. 73–86.
- [87] Geron Advisory Board. Research with human embryonic stem cells: ethical considerations. Hastings Cent Rep 1999;29:31-6.

- [88] Green RM, Olsen DeVries K, Bernstein J, Goodman KW, Kaufmann RW, Kiessling AA, et al. Overseeing research on therapeutic cloning: a private ethics board responds to its critics. Hastings Cent Rep 2002;32:27–33.
- [89] National Institutes of Health. Guidelines for research using human pluripotent stem cells (effective August 25, 2000. 65 FR 5 1976) (corrected November 21, 2000. 65 FR 69951). Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2000.
- [90] ISSCR (International Society for Stem Cell Research). Guidelines for the conduct of human embryonic stem cell research. 2006. Available at: http://www.isscr.org/home/publications/guide-clintrans.
- [91] ISSCR (International Society for Stem Cell Research). Guidelines for the clinical translation of stem cells. December 3, 2008. Available at: http://www.isscr.org/home/publications/ClinTransGuide.
- [92] Sugarman J, Siegel A. How to determine whether existing human embryonic stem cell lines can be used ethically. Cell Stem Cell 2008;3:238-9.
- [93] O'Rahilly R, Müller F. Human embryology and teratology. New York: Wiley-Liss; 1992.
- [94] Hyder N. Geron issues statement on halted stem cell trial. Bionews September 6, 2009;524. Available at: http://www.bionews.org.uk/page\_ 47650.asp.
- [95] Turner L, Knoepfler P. Selling stem cells in the USA: assessing the direct-to-consumer industry. Cell Stem Cell 2016;19:1-4.
- [96] FDA (Food and Drug Administration). Minimal manipulation of human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products draft guidance for industry and Food and Drug Administration staff. 2014. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/ucm427692.htm.
- [97] Kolata G. A cautionary tale of 'stem cell tourism'. NY Times June 22, 2016. Available at: http://www.nytimes.com/2016/06/23/health/acautionary-tale-of-stem-cell-tourism.html?rref=collection%2Ftimestopic%2FNew%20England%20Journal%20of%20Medicine&action=click &contentCollection=timestopics&region=stream&module=stream\_unit&version=search&contentPlacement=3&pgtype=collection.

This page intentionally left blank

# Overview of the US Food and Drug Administration Regulatory Process

Carolyn Yong<sup>1</sup>, David S. Kaplan<sup>2</sup>, Andrea Gray<sup>1</sup>, Laura Ricles<sup>1</sup>, Anna Kwilas<sup>1</sup>, Scott Brubaker<sup>1</sup>, Judith Arcidiacono<sup>1</sup>, Lei Xu<sup>1</sup>, Cynthia Chang<sup>2</sup>, Rebecca Robinson<sup>3</sup>, Richard McFarland<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States; <sup>2</sup>Center for Devices and Radiological Health, FDA, Silver Spring, MD, United States; <sup>3</sup>Advanced Regenerative Manufacturing Institute, Manchester, NH, United States

# INTRODUCTION AND CHAPTER OVERVIEW

The field of regenerative medicine encompasses a breathtaking array of interdisciplinary scientific approaches that address a broad spectrum of clinical needs. Ongoing advances in scientific knowledge related to cell biology, gene transfer therapy, biomaterials, immunology, engineering principles, and technology applicable to biological systems foster innovation of regenerative medicine products. This places the regenerative medicine community in a position to address a number of challenging and critical health needs including the treatment of disease conditions resulting from pancreas, liver, and kidney failure; structural cardiac valve repair; skin and wound repair; and orthopedic applications, among others. Scientific challenges confronting this field include expanding the knowledge base in each discipline as well as developing an interdisciplinary approach for identifying and resolving key questions. The US Food and Drug Administration's (FDA's) regulatory review process mirrors the scientific challenges with regard to the development of review paradigms that cross scientific disciplines.

This chapter will provide a brief historical review of the FDA and its organizational structure and discuss topics pertaining to the regulation of regenerative medicine products including possible regulatory pathways for combination products and relevant jurisdictional issues. Sources of information concerning FDA regulatory policies important to regenerative medicine product developers will also be discussed. It is essential for individuals, institutions, and companies responsible for the clinical trials of regenerative medicine products to be aware of FDA regulatory policies and how to obtain the necessary information. These entities are collectively referred to in FDA regulations as Sponsors (the term "Sponsor" for drugs and biologics is defined in 21 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] 312.3[b] whereas "Sponsor" is similarly defined in 812.3[n] for devices). Suggestions will also be provided regarding how to engage FDA effectively during the development of a novel regenerative medicine product.

# BRIEF LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF UNITED STATES FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION

Medical products regulated by the FDA include human and animal drugs, medical devices, and biological products such as vaccines, cellular and gene therapies, and blood products. Among the therapeutic agents of biological origin regulated by the FDA are cellular therapies, including products derived in whole or part from human tissue, and xenotransplants. In addition to medical products for human use, the FDA regulates food other than most meat and poultry; radiation-emitting products for consumer, medical, and occupational use; cosmetics; medical products

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

for veterinary use; and animal feed. The FDA's role in medical product regulation extends throughout the entirety of the product life cycle. Depending on the product category, this may mean oversight, including review and inspection, of clinical trials, of the premarket product approval/clearance process, of manufacturing controls, controls over labeling, and registration and listing requirements. After a product is marketed, the FDA also continues its oversight in a variety of ways, including inspections, mandatory and voluntary postapproval (e.g., Phase IV) studies, and surveillance of adverse events reported to the FDA.

FDA laws and regulations have developed over time, partly in response to serious medical adverse events or by other public health and safety concerns. Early regulation of biological products was prompted in part by the death of 13 children in 1901 after the administration of diphtheria antitoxin prepared from a source contaminated with tetanus. In response, Congress passed the Biologics Control Act in 1902. This act provided for regulation of viruses, serums, toxins, and analogous products; required licensing of manufacturing establishments and manufacturers; and provided the government with inspectional authority. The Act focused on requiring control of manufacturing processes for producing biological products, reflecting the extent to which the starting source material and the manufacturing process defined the final product.

In 1906, Congress passed the Federal Food and Drugs Act, proposed in part in reaction to the meat-packing industry conditions described in Upton Sinclair's book, *The Jungle*. Although the primary focus of the Act was on food safety, the law also required that drugs be provided in accordance with standards of strength, quality, and purity unless otherwise specified in the label. Premarket review of new drugs was not required until the passage of the 1938 Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act), which repealed the earlier 1906 Federal Food and Drugs Act. In 1937, the sulfa drug Elixir Sulfanilamide, previously available only in tablet or powder form to treat streptococcal infections, was marketed as a liquid using diethylene glycol, an analog of antifreeze, as a formulating solvent. This change in formulation, which was made without the requirement for premarket review, resulted in over 100 deaths, many of whom were children, and prompted the passage of the 1938 FD&C Act. The 1938 Act also put medical devices and cosmetics under FDA authority and authorized factory inspections.

The Public Health Service Act (PHS Act), passed in 1944, incorporated the 1902 Biologics Control Act and is the current legal basis for the licensing of biological products. Because most biological products also meet the definition of "drugs" under the FD&C Act, they are also subject to regulation under that Act.

The requirement for premarket demonstration of efficacy and the authority for FDA oversight of clinical trials were provided by the Kefauver–Harris amendments to the FD&C Act in 1962. These amendments were prompted in part by the tragic adverse events resulting from use of thalidomide as a nonaddictive prescription sedative. This drug, which was not approved as a sedative in the United States, resulted in thousands of birth defects in children born outside this country when taken by pregnant women during the first trimester.

The Medical Device Amendments to the FD&C Act were passed in 1976, after reports of safety issues with respect to the Dalkon Shield intrauterine device. The Medical Devices Amendments included risk-based requirements for premarket notification or approval of medical devices. Before 1976, FDA authority was limited to taking action against marketed devices found to be unsafe or ineffective.

# LAWS, REGULATIONS, AND GUIDANCE

The previous section summarized the history of laws that form the underpinning of FDA medical product regulation. This section provides a brief description of how laws are made and implemented, the procedures for promulgating regulations, and a description of how the FDA develops and uses guidance documents.

Laws are created as an outcome of legislative activity conducted in the US Senate and House of Representatives resulting in passage of a bill. Once Congress passes a bill, it becomes law if it is signed by the president. If the president vetoes the bill, it becomes law if two-thirds of the Senate and House of Representatives vote in favor of the bill. A federal law also is denoted as a public law and may contain a name, such as the FD&C or PHS Acts. These laws are then incorporated into the US Code (USC), which is updated every 6 years, with supplements published regularly to incorporate changes to statutes between updates. Drug, biologic, and device laws can be found in the USC at:

- Drugs and Devices: Title 21 Chapter 9, and
- Biologics: Title 42 Chapter 6A.

When laws are passed, government agencies such as the FDA often implement them by promulgating regulations. Sometimes an agency may elect to promulgate regulations on its own, whereas other laws may explicitly require an agency to issue regulation. The process for making regulations must be performed in accordance to the Administrative Procedures Act (Title 5, USC, Chapter 5). This Act generally requires agencies such as the FDA to provide public notice and opportunity for comment as part of the rule-making process. FDA regulations are contained in the CFR. Regulations for drugs, biologics, devices, tissues, and combination products, along with related regulations, may be found in various parts of Title 21 of the CFR. The following is a list of key regulatory provisions:

- Drugs: 21 CFR Parts 200–299, 300–369;
- Biologics: 21 CFR Parts 600–680;
- Devices: 21 CFR Parts 800-898;
- Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-based Products (HCT/P): 21 CFR Parts 1270/1271;
- Combination Products: 21 CFR Parts 3 and 4;
- Recalls: 21 CFR Part 7;
- Informed Consent/Institutional Review Boards (IRBs): 21 CFR Parts 50/56;
- Financial Disclosure by Clinical Investigators: 21 CFR Part 54;
- Good Laboratory Practice for Nonclinical Laboratory Studies: 21 CFR Part 58; and
- Good Guidance Practices: 21 CFR Part 10.115;

Guidance documents are nonbinding publications that describe the FDA's interpretation of policy pertaining to a regulatory issue or set of issues related to:

- the design, production, labeling, promotion, manufacturing, and testing of regulated products;
- the processing, content, and evaluation or approval of submissions; and
- inspection and enforcement policies.

Guidance documents, which are developed in accordance with Good Guidance Practices found at 21 CFR 10.115, are intended to clarify the FDA's current thinking related to regulatory issues and procedures. Unlike regulations and laws, guidance documents are not enforceable. Therefore, Sponsors may elect to choose alternate approaches that still comply with existing laws and regulatory requirements. In most cases, guidance documents are issued in draft form for public comment before implementation. In cases in which prior public participation is not feasible or appropriate, the FDA may issue a guidance document for immediate implementation without first seeking public comment. The publication of guidance documents reflects the FDA's efforts to convey up-to-date information on general and cross-cutting topics to those involved in the developing field of regenerative medicine.

When considering developing a guidance document, the FDA may freely discuss related issues with the public. In fact, the FDA may hold a public meeting, advisory committee meeting, or workshop to obtain input on scientific issues. Finally, after receiving public input, the FDA will evaluate submitted comments and finalize the document. Guidance documents are a useful way for the FDA to communicate current thinking to the public. Within the arena of regenerative medicine, it is valuable to be aware of both product-specific and cross-cutting guidance documents. Some of the more pertinent guidance documents to this field, such as those related to preclinical testing, manufacturing practices, and clinical trial design, are discussed in this chapter. In addition to guidance documents, the FDA may refer to guidelines published by the International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH). ICH is an international effort to harmonize regulatory requirements. ICH guidelines, similar to FDA guidance documents, are nonbinding.

# FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION ORGANIZATION AND JURISDICTIONAL ISSUES

Scientific development of regenerative medicine products involves extensive testing and planning before marketing authorization. It can be helpful for individuals and organizations involved in product development to engage in early dialog with the appropriate FDA review unit to receive and consider the FDA's comments on the design of the preclinical and clinical development plan. This section describes the FDA's organizational structure and provides basic information regarding jurisdictional decisions made to determine the appropriate regulatory pathway for a broad range of products.

The FDA is an agency within the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) consisting of seven centers and the Office of the Commissioner. Three of the centers are responsible for regulating medical products for humans. The Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) has jurisdiction over a variety of biological products, including blood and blood products, vaccines and allergenic products, and cellular, tissue, and gene therapies, as well as some related devices. The Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH) has jurisdiction over diagnostic and therapeutic medical devices, administration of the Mammography Quality Standards Act program, and ensuring the safety of radiation-emitting products. The Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) has jurisdiction over a variety of drug products, including small molecule drugs and well-characterized biotechnology-derived therapeutic biological products that include monoclonal antibodies and cytokines.

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

For many medical-use products, it is clear which center within the FDA should have primary jurisdiction for the premarket review. For other products, including some technologically novel products under development, determining which center has jurisdiction for review may be unclear. Important starting points for determining product jurisdiction are the formal regulatory definitions of biological products, drugs, devices, and combination products. The formal definitions are as follows:

- Biological Product (42 USC 262[i](1)): A virus, therapeutic serum, toxin, antitoxin, vaccine, blood, blood component or derivative, allergenic product, protein (except any chemically synthesized polypeptide) or analogous product, or arsphenamine or derivative of arsphenamine (or any other trivalent organic arsenic compound), applicable to the prevention, treatment, or cure of a disease or condition of human beings.
- Drug (21 USC 321[g] [1]): (A) Articles recognized in the official US Pharmacopeia, official Homeopathic
  Pharmacopeia of the United States, or official National Formulary, or any supplement to any of them; and
  (B) articles intended for use in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease in man or other
  animals; and (C) articles (other than food) intended to affect the structure or any function of the body of man or
  other animals; and (D) articles intended for use as a component of any articles specified in clause (A), (B), or (C).
- Device (21 USC 321[h]): An instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, in vitro reagent, or other similar or related article, including any component, part, or accessory, which is: (1) recognized in the official National Formulary, or the US Pharmacopeia, or any supplement to them, (2) intended for use in the diagnosis of disease or other conditions, or in the cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease, in man or other animals, or (3) intended to affect the structure or any function of the body of man or other animals, and which does not achieve its primary intended purposes through chemical action within or on the body of man or other animals and which is not depend on being metabolized for the achievement of its primary intended purposes.
- Combination Product (21 CFR 3.2[e]): (1) A product composed of two or more regulated components, that is, drug-device, biologic-device, drug-biologic, or drug-device-biologic, that are physically, chemically, or otherwise combined or mixed and produced as a single entity; (2) two or more separate products packaged together in a single package or as a unit and composed of drug and device products, device and biological products, or biological and drug products; (3) a drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that according to its investigational plan or proposed labeling is intended for use only with an approved individually specified drug, device, or biological product the labeling of the approved product would need to be changed, for example, to reflect a change in intended use, dosage form, strength, route of administration, or significant change in dose; or (4) any investigational drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that according to its proposed labeling is for use only with another individually specified investigational drug, device, or biological product would need to be changed in dose; or (4) any investigational drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that according to its proposed labeling is for use only with another individually specified investigational drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that according to its proposed labeling is for use only with another individually specified investigational drug, device, or biological product where both are required to achieve the intended use, indication, or effect.

The FDA's Office of Combination Products (OCPs), located in the Office of the Commissioner, has broad administrative overview responsibilities covering the regulatory life cycle of drug-device, drug-biologic, devicebiologic, and drug-biologic-device combination products. When jurisdiction is uncertain, Sponsors may contact the OCP for assignment of primary regulatory review responsibility for combination and other medical products. Jurisdictional determinations are made after a formal submission process called a Request for Designation. The appropriate FDA center jurisdiction is determined by considering the primary mode of action of the product.

# APPROVAL MECHANISMS AND CLINICAL STUDIES

There are several premarket approval pathways for medical products, depending on whether the product is a drug, biological product, or device. Approval pathways, explained in more detail subsequently, include the New Drug Application (NDA) for drugs and the Biologics License Application (BLA) for biologics. The Premarket Approval Application (PMA), Humanitarian Device Exemption (HDE), 510(k) clearance mechanism, and De Novo classification process are various regulatory pathways used for medical devices. Clarification regarding the type of application needed for a particular regenerative medicine product may be helpful to the Sponsor early in development to enable the Sponsor to discuss the data needed for a marketing application during the planning stage.

NDAs and BLAs are applications for licensure under the safety and effectiveness requirements of the FD&C Act. Biologics are further subject to the approval standards set forth in the PHS Act that requires demonstration that the product is safe, pure, and potent. Further information concerning the licensure of drugs and biological products is

#### 1348

provided in "Guidance for Industry: Providing Clinical Evidence of Effectiveness for Human Drugs and Biological Products" [1]. For a medical device, the appropriate regulatory pathway and classification depend heavily on the associated risks; Class I includes devices with the lowest risk and Class III includes devices with the highest risk. A PMA is an application for approval for most Class III medical devices; the Sponsor must show reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness [2]. The premarket notification, or 510(k), clearance process applies to products that are "substantially equivalent" to a Class I or II (or in a few cases, a Class III) medical device already on the market [3]. The De Novo process provides a pathway to Class I or Class II classification for medical devices for which there is no legally marketed device to enable a demonstration of "substantial equivalence" but for which regulatory controls provide a reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness [4]. Under medical devices for rare conditions and is exempt from the effectiveness requirements of a PMA but requires demonstration of safety and probable benefit [5]. To qualify for this type of application, a Sponsor would first need to receive a designation from the FDA Office of Orphan Products Development that the medical device is a Humanitarian Use Device intended for treatment or diagnosis of a disease or condition that affects or is manifested in not more than 8000 individuals per year in the United States.

Many but not all combination products are approved or cleared under a single marketing application. For example, depending on the specific facts, including the primary mode of action of the product, a combination biological device could be licensed under the biologics authorities or approved under the medical device authorities. After approval of a marketing application, there are also postmarketing requirements such as reporting [6].<sup>1,2</sup> In addition, modifications to the product or labeling may require prior approval. The FDA has published regulations and guidance documents that address submission and approval processes for modifications to marketed products [3,6].<sup>3,4,5</sup> Compliance with manufacturing requirements is also an ongoing Sponsor obligation. The FDA has issued a guidance document entitled "Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Current Good Manufacturing Practice Requirements for combination Products," which provides direction regarding applicable manufacturing requirements for combination products [7]. Owing to the relatively new nature of regenerative medicine and its developmental status, postapproval topics will not be further discussed in this chapter.

When clinical investigation is needed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of an investigational product before marketing approval, an Investigational New Drug (IND) application is required for drugs and biologics and an Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) is generally required for devices [8,9]. For both types of applications, the Sponsor needs to submit a description of the product and manufacturing process, preclinical studies, a clinical protocol, information on any other prior investigations such as human clinical studies, and a rationale for the study design. An IRB review and informed consent are also required. The FDA has 30 days to review the application to determine whether the study may proceed. The contents are specifically laid out in FDA regulations for each type of application. Requirements for the content of an IND can be found at 21 CFR 312.23, and for an IDE at 21 CFR 812.20.

For some products, there may be applicable guidance with respect to the manufacturing information and the preclinical data needed to support the study. For example, "Guidance for FDA Reviewers and Sponsors: Content and Review of Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC) Information for Human Somatic Cell Therapy Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs)" provides information on characterization and manufacturing of a cellular product to be submitted in an IND [10]. Information on a general preclinical study design for regenerative medicine products using cellular or gene therapies can be found in the "Guidance for Industry: Preclinical Assessment of Investigational Cellular and Gene Therapy Products" [11]. For medical devices, "Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff, Investigational Device Exemptions (IDEs) for Early Feasibility Medical Device Clinical Studies, Including Certain First in Human (FIH) Studies" [12] provides information on early feasibility study IDEs that allow for early clinical evaluation of significant risk devices. Early feasibility study IDEs may be appropriate early in device development when clinical experience is necessary because nonclinical testing methods are not available or adequate to provide the information needed to advance the developmental process. Applicable regulations and guidance should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Reporting for Biological Products: 21 CFR 314.80 and 21 CFR 314.81, 21 CFR 600.14, 21 CFR 600.80, 21 CFR 600.81, 21 CFR 601.28, 21 CFR 601. 70, and 21 CFR 601.93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Postmarketing Reports for Applications for FDA Approval to Market a New Drug (NDA): 21 CFR 314.80 and 314.81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> PMA supplements: 21 CFR 814.39. (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Supplements and Changes to an Approved NDA: 21 CFR 314.70, 314.71, 314.72. (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> BLA 21 CFR 814.39, 21 CFR 314.70, 21 CFR 314.71, 21 CFR 314.72.

be further consulted for information on adverse event reporting, labeling, study conduct and monitoring, and other topics related to requirements for conducting an IND [8] and IDE [13–15]. For information on general clinical study design and conduct issues, the FDA has many guidance documents that may be helpful [16,17]. For some indications there may be guidance documents that apply across technologies, such as the "Guidance for Industry: Chronic Cutaneous Ulcer and Burn Wounds—Developing Products for Treatment" [18] and "Guidance for Industry: Cellular Therapy for Cardiac Disease" [19]. In addition, guidance documents not directly applicable for a specific product, indication, or technology may be worth consulting, because the documents may provide some insights into general clinical issues, such as assessment parameters that may be valuable.

# MEETINGS WITH INDUSTRY, PROFESSIONAL GROUPS, AND SPONSORS

Although the terminology and procedures may vary, all three FDA centers performing medical product review encourage meetings with Sponsors to address questions before a regulatory submission and at specific developmental milestones. When requesting a formal or informal meeting with the FDA, it is helpful to provide background information as well as specific discussion questions. Further information about formal meetings, such as what to include in a meeting request and what type of information to include in the briefing package submitted before the meeting, is provided in "Guidance for Industry: Formal Meetings Between the FDA and Sponsors or Applicants" [20] and "Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff, Requests for Feedback on Medical Device Submissions: The Pre-Submission Program and Meetings with Food and Drug Administration Staff" [21]. Early-stage device meetings are addressed in "Early Collaboration Meetings Under FDA Modernization Act (FDAMA): Final Guidance for Industry and CDRH Staff" [22].

The FDA also interacts with organizations representing a group of interested parties (e.g., the International Society for Cellular Therapy, the American Association for Blood Banks, the Biotechnology Industry Organization, and Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America), which provides an opportunity to discuss topics of interest to the FDA and the organization. These interactions can be valuable for the FDA and stakeholders because they are a way to understand general issues of concern better, as opposed to product-specific discussions with individual firms. In addition to such interactions and meetings with individual sponsors, the FDA has various advisory committees that review available data and information and make recommendations related to a variety of issues, many of which are pertinent to the field of regenerative medicine. Advisory committees will be discussed further in the Advisory Committee Meetings section.

# REGULATIONS AND GUIDANCE OF SPECIAL INTEREST FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

The topics discussed thus far have been of general applicability to medical product regulation: marketing pathways, clinical trial regulation, meetings, guidance development, and related topics. This section will review a few topics of particular interest to the scientific community engaged in developing regenerative medicine products: FDA regulations of human tissue products, product characterization for cellular products, FDA policy and guidance on xenotransplantation, and gene therapy.

# Regulation of Human Cells and Tissues Intended for Transplantation

An understanding of the regulations applicable to cells and tissues is important for developers of regenerative medicine products because human cells or tissues comprise the whole of many products or are a key component of them.

In 1997, noting the fragmented approach to the regulation of human cellular and tissue-based products, the FDA issued the "Proposed Approach to the Regulation of Cellular and Tissue-Based Products" [23]. This document proposed a tiered risk-based approach to regulating these products. According to the proposed approach, products posing a lesser degree of risk would be subject to the rules designed to minimize communicable disease risks and additional regulatory requirements would be imposed on products posing an additional risk. The proposed approach to regulating human tissues was implemented in three parts, collectively referred to as the "tissue rules": Establishment Registration and Listing, Donor Eligibility, and Current Good Tissue Practice (CGTP). The complete

set of rules went into effect on May 25, 2005 and is codified in 21 CFR Part 1271. The tissue rules derive from the statutory authority of section 361 of the PHS Act, which addresses the control of spread of communicable diseases. Because the tissue rules apply to all human cellular and tissue-based products, it is important for Sponsors of regenerative medicine products to be aware of these rules, as well as the specific additional requirements for biologics or devices that may apply, depending on the particular regulatory pathway for their products.

With some exceptions that are noted in the tissue rules, human cells or tissue intended for implantation, transplantation, infusion, or transfer into a human recipient are regulated as an HCT/P. Examples of HCT/Ps are musculoskeletal tissue, skin, ocular tissue, heart valves, dura mater, reproductive tissue, gestational tissue such as umbilical cord tissue and amniotic membrane, and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Specifically excluded are vascularized organs, minimally manipulated bone marrow, blood products, xenografts, secreted or extracted products such as human milk and collagen, ancillary products, and in vitro diagnostic products.

Tissue rules require HCT/P establishments to do the following:

- register and list their HCT/Ps with FDA (21 CFR 1271 Subparts A and B);
- evaluate donors through screening and testing to reduce risk for transmission of infectious diseases through transplantation (21 CFR 1271 Subpart C); and
- follow CGTP to prevent the spread of communicable disease (21 CFR 1271 Subpart D).

Additional requirements for reporting, labeling, inspections, importation, and enforcement are described in 21 CFR 1271 Subparts E and F; these provisions apply only to HCT/Ps regulated solely under Section 361 of the PHS Act, and therefore would not apply to most regenerative medicine products.

The Establishment Registration rule defines the circumstances under which a product would be subject to the HCT/P rules only (21 CFR 1271.10), and when there would be additional regulatory oversight such that a BLA, PMA, or other marketing application would be required (21 CFR 1271.20). Products that meet all of the following conditions are regulated by the FDA solely under the HCT/P rules: (1) the HCT/P is not more than minimally manipulated, (2) the HCT/P is intended for homologous use, (3) the HCT/P is not combined with a drug or device (with certain exceptions), and (4) the HCT/P does not have a systemic effect and is not dependent upon the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function (except for autologous use or allogeneic use in a first or second degree blood relative, or reproductive use). If any of these four conditions are not met, a marketing application is required. The Tissue Reference Group handles various inquiries from stakeholders concerning application of the HCT/P rules including generating recommendations for consideration for CBER, CDRH, and OCP regarding whether specific HCT/Ps meet the criteria specified in 21 CFR 1271.10 for regulation solely under Section 361 of the PHS Act. Additional information and documents regarding these rules, as well as electronic forms for registration and listing, can be found on the FDA's website for Tissue and Tissue Products [24].

A joint FDA–Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) workshop held in 2007 on the Processing of Orthopedic, Cardiovascular, and Skin Allografts is relevant to the regenerative medicine field. The workshop discussed pertinent information regarding current clinical practices, experiences, expectations, and assumptions of safety when using tissue allografts; the challenges of processing allografts with a focus on disinfection and sterilization methods; and the usefulness, reliability, and validation of tissue culturing methods. Some manufacturing topics discussed at the workshop are addressed in "Guidance for Industry: Current Good Tissue Practice (CGTP) and Additional Requirements for Manufacturers of HCT/Ps" [25].

The FDA issued "Guidance for Industry: Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps)" to assist establishments in making donor eligibility determinations with compliance to the Donor Eligibility rule (21 CFR 1271 Subpart C) [26]. Since 2007, multiple guidance documents have been published to provide updated or new recommendations for HCT/P donor screening and donor testing as well as guidance involving regulatory considerations for HCT/Ps from adipose tissue, to meet minimal manipulation criterion, interpret and apply homologous use, and interpret the scope of the same surgical procedure exception under 21 CFR 1271.15(b) [27].

#### Human Cellular Therapies

Although therapeutic products composed of or containing cells vary greatly in the specific details of their application, cell or tissue source, manufacturing process, and characteristics, there are regulatory considerations that apply to all cellular preparations being developed as investigational regenerative medicine products intended for early-phase clinical studies. Control of the source material, demonstrated control of the manufacturing process, and characterizations of the cellular product that results from the manufacturing process are three such safety and quality considerations and will be discussed briefly next.

The cell source will vary for different products and may be autologous or allogeneic, undifferentiated stem or progenitor cells, or terminally differentiated cells. Ensuring the safety of source cellular materials used during manufacture of an investigational regenerative medicine product begins by determining the eligibility of the donors selected to provide the source material through screening and testing. This screening and testing are part of the tissue rules described earlier in this chapter. Autologous products are not required to comply with the donor screening and testing requirements in the tissue rules but they carry labeling requirements to communicate risks for infectious substances. However, if autologous tissue either is positive for specific pathogens or has not been screened or tested, it is recommended that manufacturers document whether tissue culture methods could propagate or spread viruses or other adventitious agents to persons other than the recipient [10]. Donor eligibility determination is required for all allogeneic donors of cells and tissues.

There are other aspects of the cell source may raise substantial concerns. In addition to screening and testing donors for communicable disease agents, according to the "ICH Guidance on Quality of Biotechnological/Biological Products: Derivation and Characterization of Cell Substrates Used for Production of Biotechnological/Biological Products," the FDA has suggested that Sponsors consider the importance of evaluating donor medical history information and the relevance of conducting specified molecular genetic testing as part of an overall comprehensive assessment program to establish the suitability of a specific cellular preparation for use in manufacturing a regenerative medicine somatic cellular product [28]. The rationale for and feasibility of collecting additional information about molecular genetic testing were discussed in a public meeting of the FDA Biological Response Modifiers Advisory Committee (now known as the Cellular, Tissue, and Gene Therapies Advisory Committee [CTGTAC]) convened on Jul. 13–14, 2000, on the topic of "Human Stem Cells as Cellular Replacement Therapies for Neurological Disorders" [29]. A description of the physiological source of the cellular material, including the tissue of origin and phenotype such as hematopoietic, neuronal, fetal, or embryonic, conveys important information about the cells and their critical attributes.

Control of the manufacturing process provides assurance about the consistent, reproducible production of the cellular component. Often, manufacturing will involve a multistep process that must be performed using aseptic techniques to prevent introduction of microbial contamination [30]. In addition to these precautionary techniques, the final product resulting from the manufacturing process should be demonstrated to be free of viable contaminating organisms. For manufacturing processes that involve in vitro cell culture, the cell product should also be tested for mycoplasma contamination, which may be introduced by manufacturing reagents or the culture facility environment [31]. A final rule became effective on Jun. 4, 2012, which amended the sterility regulations in part to provide manufacturers of biological products with greater flexibility, as appropriate, and encourage use of scientific and technological advances in sterility test methods as they become available.<sup>6</sup>

Many types of reagents may be used to manufacture the cellular component of a product, including those that promote cellular replication or induce differentiation, and those used to select targeted cell populations, specifically serum, culture medium, peptides, cytokines, and monoclonal antibodies. It is possible that the manufacturing process uses reagents that are FDA approved or cleared, clinical grade, or research grade. Depending on the grade of a particular reagent, additional documentation may be needed to verify the source, safety, and performance of the reagent. For example, some materials, such as serum, may be human- or animal-derived products, which have an increased risk for containing adventitious agents and therefore require further documentation of the safety testing performed on each lot of material. It is essential that reagents be properly qualified [10,31–33]. Demonstration of manufacturing control is evidenced by strict adherence to standard operating procedures and quality control assessment of manufacturing intermediates, as well as testing of the final cellular preparation.

Because of inherent biological complexity, it is unlikely that a unique biomarker or other single analytical test will be sufficient to permit full characterization of a cellular product. Accordingly, as recommended in "Guidance for Industry: Guidance for Human Somatic Cell Therapy and Gene Therapy," the FDA asks Sponsors to provide documentation that their testing paradigm developed for the final cell product encompasses a multiparametric approach that may involve biological, biochemical/biophysical, and/or functional characterization [10,33,34]. Therefore, in addition to microbiological testing, tests developed to demonstrate the following should be conceived to determine the degree to which the characteristics of the manufactured cell preparation conform to desired and specified criteria [10,33,34]:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Amendments to Sterility Test Requirements for Biological Products (77 FR 26162).

- identity of the cell product (physical and chemical characteristics identifying the product as being what is
  designated on the label and distinguishing the product from other products manufactured in the same facility);
- purity (freedom from contaminants including endotoxin, residual reagents, and unintended cell populations); and
- potency/biological activity (the specific ability of the cells, as indicated by appropriate laboratory tests, to effect a
  given result relevant to the specific indication for use).

This process can be challenging for a number of reasons. For example, the mechanism of action associated with a cell product may be incompletely understood, which may constrain the ability to develop a specific potency assay. Direct assessment of potency for a cellular preparation may not be possible owing to a lack of appropriate in vitro or in vivo assay systems. On Feb. 9–10, 2006, FDA CTGTAC discussed this challenging topic and obtained input on alternative approaches for performing potency assessments of cellular therapy products [29]. A guidance document was issued in Jan. 2011, to provide manufacturers of cellular and gene therapy products with recommendations for developing tests to measure potency [35]. Because process and product development are iterative and will continue throughout the life cycle of the cellular product, continued multiparametric characterization of the cellular product throughout the manufacturing process may aid in identifying critical process steps, establishing relevant specifications and acceptance criteria, and demonstrating comparability after manufacturing changes.

Ensuring the safety of cell products that in and of themselves constitute a regenerative medicine product or that constitute a component of a product requires demonstrated control over each facet of the manufacturing process. This assurance begins with acquisition of the source material and is carried forward through manufacturing and characterization of the final cellular preparation using specified analytical tests based in large measure on the intrinsic biological properties of the cell product.

# Xenotransplantation

The success of allogeneic organ transplantation has increased the demand for human cells, tissues, and organs. Scientific advances in the areas of immunology and molecular biology, coupled with the growing worldwide shortage of transplantable organs, have led to increased interest in xenotransplantation. In addition to the potential use of xenotransplantation to address the shortage of human organs for transplantation, there are increasing efforts to use other xenotransplantation products in treating disease. An example of this is the investigational use of encapsulated porcine pancreatic islet cells to treat type 1 diabetes. Along with the promise of xenotransplantation are a number of challenges, including the potential risk for transmission of infectious agents from source animals to patients and the spread of any zoonotic disease to the general public [36]. In addition, the potential exists for recombination or reassortment of source animal infectious agents, such as viruses, with nonpathogenic or endogenous human infectious agents, to form new pathogenic entities. These considerations demonstrate the need to proceed with caution in this area.

The US Public Health Service (PHS) Agencies, including the FDA, the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the CDC, and the Health Resources and Services Administration, have worked together to address the risk of infectious disease transmission, publishing the "PHS Guideline on Infectious Disease Issues in Xenotransplantation" [37]. This Guideline discusses xenotransplantation protocols, animal source, clinical issues, and public health issues. After publication of the PHS Guideline, the FDA published a guidance document entitled "Guidance for Industry: Source Animal, Product, Preclinical and Clinical Issues Concerning the Use of Xenotransplantation Products in Humans" to build on concepts in the PHS Guideline and provide more specific advice regarding xenotransplantation product development and production, and xenotransplantation clinical trials [38].

Xenotransplantation is defined in the PHS Guideline and FDA Guidance as any procedure that involves the transplantation, implantation, or infusion into a human recipient of live cells, tissues, or organs from a nonhuman animal source or human body fluids, cells, tissues, or organs that have had ex vivo contact with live nonhuman animal cells, tissues, or organs.

Examples of investigational xenotransplantation products are:

- transplantation of xenogeneic hearts, kidneys, or pancreatic tissue to treat organ failure, or implantation of neural cells to ameliorate neurological degenerative diseases;
- administration of human cells previously cultured ex vivo with live nonhuman animal, antigen-presenting, or feeder cells; and
- extracorporeal perfusion of a patient's blood or blood component through an intact animal organ or isolated cells contained in a device to treat liver failure.

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

The use of genetically modified source animals has the potential to overcome physiological and immunologic barriers to successful xenotransplantation as demonstrated in pig to nonhuman primate animal models [39].

When using genetically engineered (GE) animals for xenotransplantation, consultation with the Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM) before initiating a clinical trial is recommended. GE animals are regulated by CVM under the New Animal Drug provisions of the FD&C Act and its enabling regulations (21 CFR 511 and 514). The requirements and recommendations for producers and developers of GE animals and their products are further clarified in "Guidance for Industry 187: Regulation of Genetically Engineered Animals Containing Heritable Recombinant DNA Constructs." Review teams for xenotransplantation products consist of experts from CBER, CVM, and, when applicable, CDRH.

Medical products that do not contain living cells are not considered to be xenotransplantation products by this definition. Therefore, products that include some common animal-derived components such as collagen, small intestinal submucosa, and heart valves do not automatically fall under this category. When a product does meet the definition, xenotransplantation guidelines are applied as appropriate to the specific product. The FDA encourages any potential sponsor of a xenotransplantation product to familiarize themselves with available documents that can be found on the FDA's website [40].

## Gene Therapy

Human gene therapy seeks to modify or manipulate the expression of a gene or to alter the biological properties of living cells for therapeutic use. Products that mediate their effects by transcription or translation of transferred genetic material, or by specifically altering host (human) genetic sequences, are considered gene therapies. Gene therapy products are diverse and include genetically modified viruses (viral vectors), genetically modified microorganisms (e.g., bacteria, fungi), genome-edited/editing products, and ex vivo genetically modified human cells. The FDA regulates human gene therapy products as biological products. The field of gene therapy holds great promise for treating a wide array of illnesses, from genetically inherited diseases such as cystic fibrosis or hemophilia to heart disease, acquired immune deficiency syndrome, graft versus host disease, and cancer. The use of gene therapy in the areas of wound healing, tissue repair, and tissue engineering is also being investigated.

Many of the same regulatory concerns already discussed for human cellular therapies apply to gene therapies, including appropriate qualification of source materials, proper control of the manufacturing process, and sufficient characterization of the final product. There are a number of safety issues associated with gene therapy, however, which are unique to this area. Safety issues specific to gene therapy trials may include generation of replication-competent virus (when using replication-incompetent vectors), vector and/or transgene-associated immune responses, toxicity associated with transgene overexpression, and inadvertent germline transmission of vector. These risks are exemplified by (1) the death of a study subject in 1999 owing to toxicity after administration of high-dose adenovirus vector [41], and (2) genomic integration of retroviral vectors, which has been shown to result in genotoxicity. In the latter case, five children developed leukemia and one died as the direct result of altered gene expression owing to retroviral vector integration [42,43] Detailed recommendations from the FDA regarding what type of CMC information to submit in an early-phase study of gene therapy products are available in the "Guidance for FDA Reviewers and Sponsors: Content and Review of Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC) Information for Human Gene Therapy Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs)" [33]. This guidance covers product manufacturing and characterization information (from component qualifications to final formulation procedures), product characterization and release testing (including microbiological testing, identity, purity, potency, as well as other testing), and product stability, giving specifics in these areas that are pertinent to gene therapy.

Special considerations should also be made when conducting preclinical assessment of gene therapy products. For instance, preclinical testing for gene therapy products includes tests designed to determine the biodistribution (i.e., localization and persistence) of the vector in various tissues, as well as assess transgene expression. Additional information on the evaluation of biodistribution in preclinical studies can be found in Section IV.B of the "Guidance for Industry: Preclinical Assessment of Investigational Cellular and Gene Therapy Products" [44]. Clinical trials evaluating gene therapy products may also differ in design from clinical trials for other types of pharmaceutical products because of the distinctive features of these products as well as the target patient populations, outcome measures, and risks involved. Therefore, the FDA has also published advice regarding clinical trial design in the "Guidance for Industry: Considerations for the Design of Early-Phase Clinical Trials of Cellular and Gene Therapy Products" [45].

#### REGULATIONS AND GUIDANCE OF SPECIAL INTEREST FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

Gene therapies may differ from conventional drugs in that vector and transgene expression may persist for the lifetime of the subject. In these cases, there is a risk for delayed adverse effects. Indeed, the previously mentioned leukemias in a clinical study of gene therapy for the treatment of X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency did not occur until approximately 3–15 years after exposure to the retroviral vector. These events highlight the need for long-term assessment of study subjects receiving gene therapies. The FDA has discussed these issues, noting that the assessment of risk is based on the persistence of vector sequences, the potential for integration into the host genome, and transgene-specific effects. The FDA has published "Guidance for Industry: Gene Therapy Clinical Trials—Observing Subjects for Delayed Adverse Events," which addresses the duration and types of observations to be performed based on the patient population and the risks presented by the gene therapy product [44].

Although regulatory authority for gene therapy clinical investigations rests with FDA, the NIH serves an important complementary role. In addition to funding a number of gene therapy research studies, the NIH provides an important forum for open public deliberation on the scientific, ethical, and legal issues raised by novel FIH gene therapy clinical research applications. This is accomplished through the Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee (RAC), an expert advisory committee to the NIH director [46]. Clinical studies discussed in this forum include studies funded by the NIH, as well as industry-funded studies conducted at clinical sites receiving NIH funding for recombinant DNA research. Also, since the 2013 report by the National Academy of Science and Medicine (previously known as the US Institute of Medicine), NIH-supported clinical investigators have needed to register gene transfer protocols with the NIH Office of Science Policy [47]. In consultation with appropriate regulatory and/or oversight authorities including, IRBs and Institutional Biosafety Committees, the RAC may also identify protocols for public review based on criteria outlined in the 2013 report.

## Cell-Scaffold Combination Products

Cell–scaffold combination products often face unique product development challenges because of their inherent complexity. These products often combine metabolically active cells and extracellular matrix or other scaffold components into complex three-dimensional structures, which makes the manufacture, characterization, and study of these products a challenge. Such a complex product that is derived from chemically or physically combining multiple entities cannot be defined solely by the characteristics of the individual components alone. Other factors such as product assembly and the resulting cell–scaffold interactions have critical roles in determining final product characteristics. Furthermore, depending on the intended therapeutic function, these products may be designed to remodel or degrade in vitro during processing in bioreactors and/or in vivo after transplantation during clinical use, thereby precluding complete functionality testing at the time of product release. Packaging, shipping, and shelf life for these dynamic cell–scaffold products are also nontrivial considerations.

As with other products, product safety and efficacy of cell-scaffold products need to be supported by a combination of appropriate in vitro and in vivo preclinical testing. The FDA draws on its extensive experience in regulating mammalian cell products and other tissue-derived products in evaluating product safety and efficacy. Many of the important tests needed for the individual components, such as sterility, mycoplasma, pyrogenicity/ endotoxin, scaffold characteristics, adventitious agent testing, cellular viability, identity, and purity, are applicable for the combined product as well. Demonstration of product potency and/or performance is also necessary. The complexity of these products, however, presents challenges for product characterization. Animal models are often used to characterize safety and performance of cell–scaffold products. However, these models have limitations that are confounded by anatomical as well as physiological differences between the animals and humans. Therefore, characterization of these products may require the development of new scientific techniques and assays [48]. In vitro analyses of cell scaffold products may have a critical role in product characterization and evaluation for safety, efficacy, and potency. Nondestructive product testing and rapid characterization tests may also aid in product development. The goals, challenges, and methods of in vitro analyses of cell-scaffold products were discussed at an FDA-National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) cosponsored workshop [49]. Challenges and approaches of correlating product characteristics with clinical performance of absorbable medical devices, similar to materials that may be used as cell scaffolds, were discussed at an ASTM International–FDA cosponsored workshop [50].

A critical consideration for developers of cell–scaffold combination products is determining which tests need to be conducted on individual components before assembly and which are most relevant after product assembly. For

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

example, if undifferentiated cells are directed to differentiate during culture after combination with the scaffold, the individual cellular component will have a phenotype different from that of the cellular component in the final product.

In addition, biocompatibility testing to determine the potential for an unacceptable adverse biological response to the scaffold component is generally most appropriately conducted on the scaffold before combination with the cellular component to prevent convolution of the results. The biocompatibility tests that need to be performed will depend on the type and duration of contact the scaffold will have with the body. Regarding biocompatibility, the FDA issued a guidance document on Jun. 16, 2016 to provide further clarification and updated information regarding the use of International Standard Organization (ISO) 10993-1, "Biological evaluation of medical devices—Part 1: Evaluation and testing within a risk management process" to support applications to the FDA [51].

For many innovative products, such as cell—scaffold combinations used for regenerative medicine, the final product and instructions for use can be expected to undergo iterative modifications over time. Consequently, refinement of the product by the Sponsor and review of product modifications by the FDA will be an ongoing process. It is critical for the Sponsor to have a good understanding of the product and key scientific and/or clinical issues that can affect the safety and efficacy of the product, including the establishment of appropriate manufacturing controls to ensure product quality and consistency. When changes are made in the composition or manufacture of the cell and/or scaffold component of the combination product, it is essential that the Sponsor fully evaluate the impact of such changes to the final product's quality and function.

# PRECLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

The primary goals of the preclinical development program for an investigational device or pharmaceutical product is to establish a scientific rationale for the use of the product in a specific clinical investigation and to demonstrate an acceptable product safety profile. Thus, the conduct of pharmacology and toxicology animal studies is important to identify and characterize possible local and systemic adverse effects. These studies also serve to determine potential safe dose levels in humans and to guide selection of a dose escalation scheme (if applicable) and a clinical monitoring paradigm. For cellular therapy, gene therapy, and cell–scaffold combination products there are frequently additional product-specific safety questions that might need to be addressed before initiation of a clinical trial. For example, for cell–scaffold constructs, there may be safety concerns related to the cells (e.g., inappropriate cell proliferation or differentiation, potential for cell migration from the scaffold) as well as the scaffold (e.g., its ability to perform a specific function at the anatomic site of implantation, degradation properties, structural integrity). These safety concerns may be independent of, or interdependent on, each component of the construct.

As a result of their increasing complexity, many of these products do not have an established paradigm for preclinical evaluation. Sponsors are therefore encouraged to approach the FDA early in their preclinical development program to discuss the scope and design of the preclinical studies that will support the use of their investigational product in a clinical population.

The FDA has held public discussions at Advisory Committee meetings and published Guidance documents that focus on appropriate preclinical testing of cellular therapy, gene therapy, and cell—scaffold combination products. These discussions and publications provide valuable recommendations and considerations for Sponsors as they prepare their preclinical development plan. In addition to various FDA Guidance documents that are referenced throughout this chapter, a list of relevant Advisory Committee meetings can be found in the Advisory Committee Meetings section.

# CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

The goal of the clinical development program is to establish a product's relative safety and efficacy under specific directions for use in particular diseases or conditions. In the field of regenerative medicine, variability in the product poses unique challenges in clinical trial design and conduct. An additional challenge is the need, with many of these products, to observe their integration into the host over a prolonged period. To facilitate the development of cellular therapy and gene therapy products, the FDA published the "Guidance for Industry: Considerations for the Design of Early-Phase Clinical Trials of Cellular and Gene Therapy Products" [45]. This guidance provides recommendations regarding selected aspects of the design of early-phase clinical trials of cellular therapy and gene therapy products.

#### CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

However, because of the wide variety of regenerative medicine products and their potential applications, a case-bycase assessment is warranted for the design of each clinical trial. The FDA encourages sponsors to communicate with the FDA throughout product development. Such communications can include formal meetings (e.g., presubmission meeting; end of Phase 2 meeting) and requests (e.g., request for Special Protocol Assessment for products regulated as a biologic, or an Agreement Meeting for products regulated as a device) and informal interactions [20,22,52]. In addition, the FDA encourages IND sponsors to plan ahead by developing and submitting a Target Product Profile (TPP) early in product development. The TPP is an evolving draft of the product labeling and should be revised as clinical development proceeds. Submission of the TPP can facilitate communications between the FDA and the sponsor and enable the FDA to provide more comprehensive advice regarding the overall development program [53].

#### Food and Drug Administration's Standards Development Program

Since its inception, the development and use of standards have been critical to the mission of the FDA. The use of standards in FDA medical product regulation began with the 1906 Federal Food and Drugs Act. As defined in accordance with the standards of strength, quality, and purity in the US Pharmacopeia and the National Formulary, drugs could not be sold in any other condition unless the specific variations from the applicable standards were plainly stated on the label (Federal Food and Drugs Act, 1906). In current times, federal government agencies, including the FDA, are encouraged when practical to use voluntary consensus standards, whether domestic or international, when performing regulatory activities in lieu of government-unique standards that are developed by the government for its own uses. Standard-setting activities include the development of performance characteristics, testing methodology, manufacturing practices, product standards, scientific protocols, compliance criteria, ingredient specifications, labeling, or other technical or policy criteria.

As with guidance document development, in which Good Guidance Practices describe the FDA's procedures for developing and using guidance documents, specific regulations describe FDA participation in outside standard-setting activities. Regulations governing this participation can be found in 21 CFR 10.95. In addition, the FDA's Staff Manual Guide 9100.1 establishes agency-wide policies and procedures related to standards management activities to ensure a unified approach to standards within the FDA. Constructive FDA participation in organizations responsible for developing standards applicable to the products regulated by the agency is considered essential.

The FDAMA of 1997 provides for the recognition of national and international standards in medical device reviews for IDEs, HDEs, PMAs, and 510(k)s [54]. A "recognized consensus standard" is a consensus standard that the FDA has evaluated and recognized, in full or in part, for use in satisfying a regulatory requirement and that the FDA has published in a Federal Register notice. A "consensus standard" is a standard developed by a private sector standards body using an open and transparent consensus process. Conformance with recognized consensus standards is strictly voluntary for a medical device manufacturer, who may choose either to conform to applicable recognized standards or to address relevant issues in another manner. Standards may also be used in support of nondevice applications when appropriate and not in conflict with an FDA regulation or Guidance. Lists of recognized standards, Guidance Documents, and Standard Operating Policies and Procedures can be found on the FDA's website.

The scientific and manufacturing novelty of many regenerative medicine products presents unique challenges for meeting regulatory requirements with respect to product testing, developing performance characteristics, testing methodologies, scientific protocols, product standards, ingredient specifications, and compliance criteria. Increased development and use of standardized analytical methods and metrics have the potential to facilitate product characterization and reduce time to market by leveraging industry and government efforts. CDRH and CBER actively engage with Standards Development Organizations (SDOs) such as ASTM International and the ISO. CDRH and CBER staff attend standards meetings and workshops and participate in developing the standards and formally voting on the publication of standards. ASTM Committee F04 on Medical and Surgical Materials and Devices Division IV is actively engaged in developing standards for tissue engineered medical products (TEMPs). F04 Division IV consists of six subcommittees: (1) Classification and Terminology, (2) Biomaterials and Biomolecules, (3) Cells and Tissue Engineered Constructs, (4) Assessment, (5) Adventitious Agent Safety, and (6) Cell Signaling. The ASTM TEMPs group has developed more than 25 published standards, including standard guides, standard practices, and test methods, and has approximately 30 draft standards under preparation. The first of these standards were developed for substrates, biomaterials, natural materials such as collagen, alginate, and chitosan, terminology, cells and cell processing, bone morphogenetic protein, assessment of adventitious agents, and test methods for

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

characterizing biomaterials. These standards are reviewed on a regular basis by the appropriate ASTM subcommittee (SC) to ensure that the standards reflect current scientific knowledge. The FDA liaisons elected to represent the Agency on each of the six subcommittees review the standards to ensure that standards developed do not conflict with current FDA regulatory practices. Some examples of approved standards with which the TEMPs group was involved include standards for characterizing and testing biomaterial scaffolds, quantifying cell viability within biomaterial scaffolds, and repairing articular cartilage in vivo.

Another SDO with which FDA is involved is ISO, a nongovernmental international organization that develops consensus standards in collaboration with both the private and public sector. Standards for regenerative medicine/tissue engineering products are developed in Technical Committee (TC) 150 SC 7, Tissue Engineered Medical Devices, and in TC 194, Biological Evaluation of Medical Devices. Within TC 150, SC 7 are two active Working Groups (WGs): WG 1 Management of Risk, and WG 3 Tissue-engineered medical products for skeletal tissues. TC 194 SC 01 is responsible for Tissue Product Safety, and within SC 01 are four WGs: WG 01 Risk Assessment, Terminology, and Global Aspects, WG 02 Sourcing Controls, Collection, and Handling, WG 03 Elimination and/or Activation of Viruses and Transmissible Spongiform Encephalitis (TSE) Agents, and WG 04 TSE Elimination. ISO standards of particular interest to regenerative medicine products are those in the 10993 series (10993-1–20). Additional ISO standards-setting activities for regenerative medicine/tissue engineering products take place in TC 276, Biotechnology, WG 01 Terminology, WG 02 biobanks and bioresources, WG 03 analytical methods, WG 04 bioprocessing, and WG 05 data processing and integration. Standards are available through ISO's website: http://www.iso.org.

There are many benefits to standards development, adoption, and use. Participation in standards development activities benefits the regenerative medicine community in that these activities can facilitate the development and maintenance of guidance for industry, address issues not addressed in FDA Guidance documents, facilitate product design, and lead to international harmonization. From a business perspective, participation in standards development activities can provide a competitive advantage by influencing technical contents, reduce the cost of production by improving factory flexibility and supply chain management, foster innovation and support research and development, and increase trade by shortening the time between concept and global availability. Standards can be used by developers of regenerative medicine products to meet regulatory expectations. In turn, the benefit to the regenerative medicine community helps the public by providing products that are more thoroughly characterized with a greater understanding of the conditions of use of the products. Thus, the FDA has a critical role in providing support for standards development activities.

# ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETINGS

As mentioned in the Meetings With Industry, Professional Groups, and Sponsors section, because of the diversity of innovative technology evaluated by FDA review staff, the FDA makes use of scientific Advisory Committees or Panels (for medical devices) to complement its internal review process. These advisors provide independent, professional expertise and technical assistance to contribute to scientific regulatory decision-making processes. Outside experts can be asked to review data or make recommendations about study designs across a product or clinical area; outside advisors can also be helpful at earlier stages of product development. Expertise on the advisory committee often includes scientific, statistical, and clinical experts, as well as consumer representation, patient advocates, and industry participation. Most meetings are public, and there is an opportunity for public participation in the form of public comment.

There are 34 Advisory Committees as well as a number of SCs and one DHHS Committee administered by CBER. The areas of responsibility for the Panels and committees are divided along medical specialty areas. The Advisory Committee for cellular, tissue, and gene therapy products, as mentioned earlier, is the CTGTAC. This committee has discussed a number of topics that are of potential interest to product developers in the regenerative medicine area, including:

- Hematopoietic stem cells for hematopoietic reconstitution (Feb. 2003),
- Allogeneic islet cell therapy for diabetes (Oct. 2003),
- Somatic cell cardiac therapies (Mar. 2004),
- Cellular products for joint surface repair (Mar. 2005),
- Potency measures for cell, tissue, and gene therapies (Feb. 2006),

- Cellular therapies derived from human embryonic stem cells—considerations for preclinical safety testing and patient monitoring (Apr. 2008),
- Animal models for porcine xenotransplantation products intended to treat type 1 diabetes or acute liver failure (May 2009),
- Clinical issues related to FDA draft guidance "Preparation of IDEs and INDs for Products Intended to Repair or Replace Knee Cartilage" (May, 2009),
- Testing of replication competent retrovirus/lentivirus in retroviral and lentiviral vector-based gene therapy products (Nov. 2010),
- Cellular and gene therapy products for the treatment of retinal disorders (Jun. 2011), and
- Oocyte modification in assisted reproduction for the prevention of transmission of mitochondrial disease or treatment of infertility (Feb. 2014).

The presentations for each topic, as well as transcripts of each discussion, are available on the FDA's website referenced at the end of this chapter [29].

The Medical Devices Advisory Committee consists of 18 Panels that cover the medical specialty areas. Panel meetings are held regularly to discuss specific products. A few examples of past Panel meetings are:

- General and Plastic Surgery Panel regarding dermal fillers (Nov. 2008),
- Orthopaedic and Rehabilitation Devices Panel regarding a bone putty (Mar. 2009),
- Ophthalmic Devices Panel regarding a visual prosthetic device (Mar. 2009),
- Neurological Devices Panel regarding a spinal surgery sealant (May 2009),
- Ear, Nose, and Throat Devices Panel regarding an implantable hearing system (Dec. 2009),
- Orthopedic and Rehabilitation Devices Panel regarding metal-on-metal hip arthroplasty systems (Jun. 2012),
- Circulatory Systems Devices Panel regarding an atrial appendage device (Oct. 2014), and
- General and Plastic Surgery Devices Panel regarding wound care products combined with antimicrobials or other drugs (Sep. 2016).

A complete list of upcoming Medical Devices Advisory Committee Panel meetings and searchable archive of past meetings with agendas and materials can be found on the FDA's website [55].

# FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION RESEARCH AND CRITICAL PATH SCIENCE

The FDA recognizes the complexity of the scientific issues related to regenerative medicine products. FDA research laboratories have an important role in ensuring that the agency stays abreast of the rapid changes and developments affecting the entire field as well as addressing specific regulatory science questions. In 1992, CBER researchers began systematic efforts to uncover mechanisms that control the behavior of cells subjected to various environmental stimuli, particularly those encountered during normal wound healing, regeneration, and prenatal development. Those studies led to the discovery of several growth factors and feedback mechanisms that control these pathways [56–63]. Other research addressed interactions between hematopoietic and mesenchymal cell lineages both in vitro and in vivo [64,65]. The success of those efforts led to the recruitment of additional investigators in these areas. In 2004, the FDA introduced the Critical Path Initiative to identify and support research priorities that are expected to advance innovation in medical products. The Critical Path Opportunities List "presents specific opportunities that, if implemented, can help speed the development and approval of medical products" [66]; it is available on the FDA's website. A number of the research topics on the Critical Path Opportunities List have applications to regenerative medicine, such as developing characterization tools for cell therapy and tissue engineering, biomarkers for cardiovascular disease, and advanced imaging technologies. FDA laboratories are actively engaged in these and other research questions that will facilitate the advancement of the field of regenerative medicine.

A priority of the Critical Path Initiative is updating and modernizing techniques, to ensure that the agency and the research community have the tools necessary to bring safe and effective products to market. Efforts include promoting collaborations spanning multiple centers and regulatory jurisdictions across the FDA as well as among the FDA and other relevant organizations (e.g., other agencies, academic organizations, regulated industry). Developing research collaborations and the requisite infrastructure to support those and other efforts will facilitate review of combination products, which are often seen in regenerative medicine.

An example of collaborative work across FDA laboratories is a multiinvestigator project at CBER using a battery of state-of-the-art analytic techniques chosen to provide complementary data on cell state and seeking to develop

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

new biomarkers for cell therapies. The project aims to characterize mesenchymal stromal cells from a number of perspectives, including genetic stability, proteomic and phosphoproteomic analysis, microRNA analysis, messenger RNA profiling by microarray and quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis, chromatin immunoprecipitation, and examination of the potential for cells to mature and contribute to the formation of organs and tissues. Furthermore, the study will look for molecular differences between cells from early versus late passage numbers. Importantly, the same cells that go through this panel of tests will be implanted in a mouse model of hind-limb ischemia, allowing for the correlation of product characterization data with the in vivo outcome with regard to localization, differentiation, and functionality. This FDA research project may yield information that will be useful for product characterization, in-process testing, lot release criteria, developing comparability and stability protocols, and predicting cell fate and function after receiving a cell therapy.

A major issue associated with the clinical use of cellular therapies is predicting what happens to the cells after administration. Another FDA Critical Path research study at CBER will advance cell therapy by developing methods for in vivo tracking and imaging of neural stem cells (NSCs) after transplantation. NSCs from adult, fetal, and embryonic sources have been proposed as treatments for degenerative conditions such as Parkinson disease and for the repair of tissues damaged by stroke and spinal cord injury. Magnetic resonance imaging and single photon emission computed tomography are being used to determine cellular location and the persistence of engraftment qualitatively and quantitatively. The goal of this project is to develop methods for evaluating biomarkers that may be predictive of NSC function.

The FDA's research projects often involve collaborations with other federal and academic partners to employ new technologies to address regulatory science questions. For example, a collaboration between FDA and the NIST is using automated microscopy to characterize the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). The goal is to improve the safety of MSC products by developing robust assays that can be used for in-process and lot release testing.

FDA Critical Path research also addresses some of the challenges faced in both product development and product evaluation. For example, after the observation of unexpected toxicity of adenoviral vector gene therapy in a clinical trial, CBER research provided insight into how adenovirus vectors cause toxicity and developed an animal model for gene therapy in the context of preexisting liver disease [67]. CBER researchers and regulators also worked with a consortium from industry and academia to develop reference material for adenoviral vector particles [68]. FDA research is ongoing to understand the nature of toxicity of systemically delivered adenovirus and mechanisms for vector clearance to improve the safety of gene therapy trials [69].

Some FDA laboratories are engaged in research projects related to tissue. CDRH scientists are studying the effects of mechanical and electrical stimulation on cardiac cell cultures and how the parameters modulate cellular physiology. A CBER–CDRH collaboration is examining the relationship between encapsulation of chondrocytes in a scaffold material, with and without mechanical stress, on the status of several signaling pathways. Another intercenter collaborative research project between CDRH and CDER conducts a comprehensive translational assessment of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes to evaluate drug-induced arrhythmias [70] and to predict individual patient response to drugs by using patient-specific stem cells collected in an FDA-sponsored clinical trial [71]. A Critical Path collaborative research project with partnerships outside the US government involves CDRH, CBER, the University of Maryland, the University of Akron, and Tufts University, and evaluates the accuracy and reproducibility of three-dimensional (3D) printed scaffolds containing cells. This project assesses the material and biological properties of the printed scaffolds in the presence or absence of cells on printing accuracy.

The FDA's interest in 3D printing, also known as additive manufacturing, is in part because it is driving the innovation of medical products, including in the area of biological and tissue engineered products for regenerative medicine purposes. 3D printing involves the layer-by-layer deposition of material to produce a 3D part from a digital design file. With the increase in use of 3D printing and the uncertainty of how the technology can affect the safety and effectiveness of the products, interest in 3D printing has increased at the FDA and led to the formation of the Additive Manufacturing Working Group. The WG held a public workshop on Oct. 8–9, 2014, to obtain input from stakeholders, entitled "Additive Manufacturing of Medical Devices: An Interactive Discussion on the Technical Considerations of 3D Printing" [72]. The workshop aimed to bring together experts in the field to discuss with the FDA the current state of the art of 3D printing, and included discussions on 3D printing of medical devices, biologics, and pharmaceuticals. Some of the considerations discussed during the public workshop are presented in FDA web content and documents on 3D printed devices [73] and a technical review [74] These documents primarily focus on medical devices, with important considerations for evaluating 3D printed devices including the following: the effect of build orientation and location on final device performance, including mechanical and physical

#### OTHER COORDINATION EFFORTS

properties; process validation of the 3D printing systems to ensure consistency between print jobs; sterilization and removal of residual materials; and characterization of material properties before and after printing.

In the case of printing biological products, also known as bioprinting, applications may include printing tissue scaffolds, constructs containing living cells [75], and even small tissue [76] and organ structures [77]. 3D printing may offer an approach to make a medical product with a complex architecture, such as porous structures or internal lattice structures. In addition, cells and biomaterials could potentially be printed simultaneously with more precise spatial control to produce constructs with desired properties. Although the FDA has experience regulating 3D printed medical products [74] no FDA-approved or cleared biological products incorporate 3D printing. These types of products will typically be regulated along the same pathways as non-3D printed products. However, because of the complexity of 3D printed biologics, there may be some additional technical considerations for sponsors to take into account and evaluate compared with non–3D printed products. Some of these considerations may include, but are not limited to, the printing parameters and consistency, material selection, finishing steps, biocompatibility, mechanical and physicochemical properties, and the biological function of the finished product. Known applications of bioprinting technology used for research purposes include skin [76], cartilage [78], bone [79], nerve [80], and blood vessels [81].

With accelerating advancement in this area, the FDA continues to communicate with the public regarding considerations for 3D printed medical products. Through ongoing research collaborations, and discussions with stakeholders, the FDA is committed to fostering safe and effective innovation in the area of 3D printed medical products.

With support through the Critical Path Initiative, FDA research laboratories provide an important source of inhouse expertise in regenerative medicine and other cutting-edge technologies and research areas. Although by no means exhaustive, the examples provided here demonstrate the diverse range of topics under investigation at the FDA. Especially in consideration of the rapid change and development of the regenerative medicine field, Critical Path research efforts ensure that the FDA stays abreast of current innovations. The FDA's research programs provide an important source of the latest science to inform the regulatory process and bring safe regenerative medicine products to market.

### **OTHER COORDINATION EFFORTS**

Because of the highly interdisciplinary nature of regenerative medicine, the FDA recognizes the need to build collaborative efforts to review products successfully in this area. The FDA is therefore a partner in the Multi-Agency Tissue Engineering Science (MATES) Interagency Working Group. This partnership, which spans more than a dozen federal agencies, is designed to provide a forum to facilitate communication and coordination across the government regarding activities in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. The full strategic plan can be found at the MATES website [82].

In another example of interagency interaction, collaboration, and coordination, the FDA has established Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) agreements with two different NIH institutes that involve FDA scientific review staff and NIH extramural research program officers. The MOUs cosigned by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke and the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute incorporate safeguards to protect from disclosure shared, nonpublic information such as trade secrets and confidential commercial information, identities of study participants and other personal information, privileged and/or predecisional agency information, research proposals, progress reports, and/or unpublished data or information protected for national security reasons. Under the MOU agreements, participants are able to hold unfettered discussions and exchange information that enables the respective agencies to maintain currency with respect to ongoing scientific activities that could affect regenerative medicine from both the laboratory and clinical research perspectives. Interagency MOU interactions identify gaps in knowledge related to the state of available scientific information and familiarity with FDA regulatory expectations. This, in turn, contributes to identification of promising basic research with the potential for clinical translation.

There are also efforts to promote collaboration within the agency. For example, the FDA Commissioner's Fellowship Program (CFP) is facilitating a collaboration related to the regulation of regenerative medicine across the FDA's product jurisdictions. The CFP was established in 2008 to attract new talent to the agency while providing an opportunity for those to learn about FDA regulatory science for future careers outside the agency. Within its annual cohort of fellows, a regenerative medicine fellowship program has been established. Because many regenerative medicine products involve combining biologics and device technology, regenerative medicine fellows work across both CBER and CDRH to facilitate cross-agency collaboration and conduct research projects related to the regulation of regenerative medicine products.

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

Interaction between the FDA and the scientific and regulated communities is an important area of collaboration. Workshops are one such example, including the previously mentioned FDA-NIST cosponsored session regarding cell—scaffold products. Workshops provide valuable opportunities for the agency to receive input from outside scientific experts and other stakeholders. An additional common example of this type of activity is the liaison meeting, in which the FDA directly engages in dialog with professional societies (e.g., International Society for Stem Cell Research, American Association of Blood Banks, American Association of Tissue Banks, International Society for Cellular Therapy) regarding scientific or regulatory issues related to a certain research area. The FDA is a founding member of the National Academy of Medicine (NAM) Forum on Regenerative Medicine. This forum, which is similar in structure and function to NAM's longstanding Drug Forum, provides a neutral convening mechanism for interested parties from academia, industry, government, patient/provider organizations, regulators, foundations, and others to discuss difficult issues facing the application of, and opportunities for, regenerative medicine. The Kidney Health Initiative, an existing public—private partnership that includes the FDA, has begun a roadmapping project to develop renal replacement therapies. CBER and CDRH have a leading role in this effort. All of these activities ensure that the FDA receives continuous input on the latest scientific discoveries to inform the regulation of safe products.

#### CONCLUSION

The field of regenerative medicine is exciting, with scientific advances leading to the promise of future therapies for current unmet medical needs for patients. The FDA regulatory approach to the evaluation of medical products includes an ongoing assessment of how the science of those products informs regulatory policy. To meet the needs of the challenging array of products that are on the horizon, the FDA intends to continue the current dialog with the scientific community and product Sponsors as part of its mission to develop science-based regulatory review policies that are robust and predictable.

### References

- US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: Providing Clinical Evidence of Effectiveness for Human Drugs and Biologic Products. May 1998. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/98fr/971OOgdl.pdf.
- [2] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Device Advice: Premarket Approval (PMA). July 2016. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/HowtoMarketYourDevice/PremarketSubmissions/PremarketApprovalPMA/default.htm.
- [3] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Premarket Notification (510(k)). September 2016. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/deviceregulationandguidance/howtomarketyourdevice/premarketsubmissions/ premarketnotification510k/.
- [4] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Evaluation of Automatic Class III Designation (De Novo). March 2017. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/HowtoMarketYourDevice/Premarket Submissions/ucm462775.htm.
- [5] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff: Humanitarian Use Device (HUD) Designations. January 2013. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/UCM336515.pdf.
- [6] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. PMA Postapproval Requirements: General Requirements. September 2014. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/HowtoMarketYourDevice/Premarket Submissions/PremarketApprovalPMA/ucm050422.htm.
- [7] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Current Good Manufacturing Practice Requirements for Combination Products. January 2017. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ucm126198.htm.
- [8] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Information on Submitting an Investigational New Drug Application for a Biological Product. June 2016. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/DevelopmentApproval Process/InvestigationalNewDrugINDorDeviceExemptionIDEProcess/ucm094309.htm.
- [9] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Device Advice: Investigational Device Exemption (IDE). September 2015. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/HowtoMarketYour Device/InvestigationalDeviceExemptionIDE/default.htm.
- [10] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for FDA Reviewers and Sponsors: Content and Review of Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC) Information for Human Somatic Cell Therapy Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs). April 2008. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/ Guidances/Xenotransplantation/ucm074131.htm.
- [11] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Preclinical Assessment of Investigational Cellular and Gene Therapy Products. November 2013. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/UCM376521.pdf.

#### REFERENCES

- [12] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Investigational Device Exemptions (IDEs) for Early Feasibility Medical Device Clinical Studies, Including Certain First in Human (FIH) studies. October 2013.
- [13] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. FAQs about IDEs. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/HowtoMarketYourDevice/InvestigationalDeviceExemptionIDE/ucm051480.htm.
- [14] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. IDE Responsibilities. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/HowtoMarketYourDevice/InvestigationalDeviceExemptionIDE/ucm046702.htm.
- [15] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry, Clinical Investigators, Institutional Review Boards and Food and Drug Administration Staff: Design Considerations for Pivotal Clinical Investigations for Medical Devices. November 2013. Available at: https://www.fda. gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/UCM373766.pdf.
- [16] US Food and Drug Administration. Regulatory Information: Guidances: Guidance for Industry: Acceptance of Foreign Clinical Studies. March 2001. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ucm124932.htm.
- [17] US Food and Drug Administration. Science and Research Special Topics: Running Clinical Trials, Information Sheets, and Notices on Good Clinical Practice in FDA-Regulated Clinical. August 2010. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/ScienceResearch/SpecialTopics/Running ClinicalTrials/GuidancesInformationSheetsandNotices/default.htm.
- [18] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: Chronic Cutaneous Ulcer and Burn Wounds Developing Products for Treatment. June 2006. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ UCM071324.pdf.
- [19] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: Cellular Therapy for Cardiac Disease. October 2010. Available at: https://www. fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/UCM1-64345.pdf.
- [20] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: Formal Meetings Between the FDA and Sponsors or Applicants. May 2009. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm079744.pdf.
- [21] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff: Requests for Feedback on Medical Device Submissions: The Pre-Submission Program and Meetings with Food and Drug Administration Staff. September 2017. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/medicaldevices/deviceregulationandguidance/guidancedocuments/ucm311176.pdf.
- [22] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Early Collaboration Meetings under the FDA Modernization Act (FDAMA), Final Guidance for Industry and for CDRH Staff. February 2001. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/ucm073604.htm.
- [23] US Food and Drug Administration. Proposed Approach to the Regulation of Cellular and Tissue-Based Products. February 28, 1997. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Tissue/ UCM062601.pdf.
- [24] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Tissue & Tissue Products. December 2016. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/TissueTissueProducts/default.htm.
- [25] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Current Good Tissue Practice (CGTP) and Additional Requirements for Manufacturers of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps). December 2011. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/ Guidances/Tissue/UCM285223.pdf.
- [26] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps). August 2007. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Tissue/ucm091345.pdf.
- [27] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Tissue Guidances. December 2016. Available at: https:// www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Tissue/default.htm.
- [28] US Food and Drug Administration. ICH Guidance on Quality of Biotechnological/Biological Products: Derivation and Characterization of Cell Substrates Used for Production of Biotechnological/Biological Products. September 1998. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/ downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/UCM073471.pdf.
- [29] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Cellular, Tissue and Gene Therapies Advisory Committee (formerly Biological Response Modifiers Advisory Committee). January 2016. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/AdvisoryCommittees/ CommitteesMeetingMaterials/BloodVaccinesandOtherBiologics/CellularTissueandGeneTherapiesAdvisoryCommittee/default.htm.
- [30] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: Sterile Drug Products Produced by Aseptic Processing Current Good Manufacturing Practice. September 2004. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/Guidances/ucm070342.pdf.
- [31] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Points to Consider in the Characterization of Cell Lines Used to Produce Biologicals. July 1993. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/SafetyAvailability/ UCM162863.pdf.
- [32] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Points to Consider in the Manufacture and Testing of Monoclonal Antibody Products for Human Use. February 1997. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/OtherRecommendationsforManufacturers/UCM153182.pdf.
- [33] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for FDA Reviewers and Sponsors: Content and Review of Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC) Information for Human Gene Therapy Investigational New Drug Applications (INDs). April 2008. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Cellularand GeneTherapy/ucm072587.htm.
- [34] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Guidance for Human Somatic Cell Therapy and Gene Therapy. March 1998. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatory Information/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/ucm072987.htm.
- [35] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Potency Tests for Cellular and Gene Therapy Products. January 2011. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatory Information/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/UCM243392.pdf.

#### 77. OVERVIEW OF THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION REGULATORY PROCESS

- [36] Horvath-Arcidiacono JYA, Evdokimov E, Lee MH, Jones J, Rudenko L, Schneider B, et al. Regulation of xenogeneic porcine pancreatic islets. Xenotransplantation 2010;17:329–37.
- [37] US Public Health Service. PHS Guideline on Infectious Disease Issues in Xenotransplantation. January 2001. Available at: https://www.fda. gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Xenotransplantation/UCM092858.pdf.
- [38] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Source Animal, Product, Preclinical, and Clinical Issues Concerning the Use of Xenotransplantation Products in Humans. April 2003, revised December 2016. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ Xenotransplantation/UCM533036.pdf.
- [39] Murthy R, Bajona P, Bhama JK, Cooper DKC. Heart xenotransplantation: historical background, experimental progress, and clinical prospects. Ann Thorac Surg 2016;101:1605–13.
- [40] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Xenotransplantation Action Plan, FDA Approach to the Regulation of Xenotransplantation. December 2016. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Xenotransplantation/ default.htm.
- [41] Marshall E. Gene therapy death prompts review of adenovirus vector. Science 1999;17(286):2244-5.
- [42] Board of the European Society of Gene and Cell Therapy, Executive Committee of the Clinigene Network of Excellence, and Executive of the Consert Integrated Project. Case of Leukemia Associated with X-linked Severe Combined Immunodeficiency Gene Therapy Trial in London. Hum Gene Ther 2008;19(1):3–4.
- [43] Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, Soulier J, Lim A, Morillon E, et al. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest 2008;118(9):3132–42.
- [44] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Preclinical Assessment of Investigational Cellular and Gene Therapy Products. November 2013. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/ucm376136.htm.
- [45] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. Guidance for Industry: Considerations for the Design of Early-Phase Clinical Trials of Cellular and Gene Therapy Products. June 2015. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Biologics BloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/UCM359073.pdf.
- [46] US National Institutes of Health, Office of Science Policy. Biomedical Technology Assessment: Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee. 2017. Available at: http://www.osp.od.nih.gov/office-biotechnology-activities/biomedical-technology-assessment/hgt/rac.
- [47] Committee on the Independent Review and Assessment of the Activities of the NIH Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee, Board on Health Sciences Policy, Institute of Medicine. In: Lenzi RN, Altevogt BM, Gostin LO, editors. Oversight and review of clinical gene transfer protocols: assessing the role of the Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); March 2014.
- [48] Lee MH, Arcidiacono JA, Bilek AH, Wille JJ, Hamill CA, Wonnacott KM, et al. Considerations for tissue-engineered and regenerative medicine product development prior to clinical trials in the USA. Tissue Eng 2010;16B:41–54.
- [49] McCright B, Dang JM, Hursh DA, Kaplan DS, Ballica R, Benton K, et al. Synopsis of the Food and Drug Administration National Institute of Standards and Technology co-sponsored "In Vitro Analyses of Cell/Scaffold Products" Workshop. Tissue Eng 2009;15A:455–60.
- [50] US Food and Drug Administration. ASTM International-Food and Drug Administration Workshop on Absorbable Medical Devices: Lessons Learned from Correlations of Bench Testing and Clinical Performance. August 2012. Available at: https://www.federalregister.gov/ documents/2012/08/20/2012-20322/astm-international-food-and-drug-administration-workshop-on-absorbable-medical-devices-lessons.
- [51] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Guidance for Industry: Use of International Standard ISO 10993-1, "Biological Evaluation of Medical Devices – part 1: Evaluation and Testing Within a Risk Management Process". June 2016. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/ucm348890.pdf.
- [52] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: Special Protocol Assessment. May 2002. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ downloads/Drugs/Guidances/ucm080571.pdf.
- [53] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. OCTGT Learn: the Target Product Profile. Available at: http://fda.yorkcast.com/webcast/Play/a53d0d5863244464b000249f1ddc9fd31d.
- [54] Marlowe DE, Phillips PJ. FDA recognition of consensus standards in the premarket notification program. Biomed Instrum Technol 1998;32.
- [55] US Food and Drug Administration. Advisory Committee Calendar. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/AdvisoryCommittees/Calendar/ default.htm.
- [56] Hoang B, Moos Jr M, Vukicevic S, Luyten FP. Primary structure and tissue distribution of Frzb, a novel protein related to Drosophila frizzled, suggest a role in human skeletal morphogenesis. J Biol Chem 1996;271:26131–7.
- [57] Lin K, Wang S, Julius MA, Kitajewski J, Moos Jr M, Luyten FP. The cysteine-rich frizzled domain of Frzb-1 is required and sufficient for the modulation of Wnt signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:11196–200.
- [58] Wang S, Krinks M, Lin K, Luyten FP, Moos Jr M. Frzb, a secretable protein expressed in the Spemann organizer, binds and inhibits Wnt-8. Cell 1997;88:757–66.
- [59] Wang S, Krinks M, Moos Jr M. Frzb-1, an antagonist of Wnt-1 and Wnt-8, does not block signaling by Wnts -3A, -5A, or -13.11. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997;236:502–4.
- [60] Thomas JT, Canelos P, Luyten FP, Moos Jr M. XSMOC-1 inhibits BMP signaling downstream of receptor binding and is essential for xenopus neurulation. J Biol Chem 2009;284:18994–9005.
- [61] Thomas JT, Prakash D, Moos Jr M. CDMP-1/GDF5 has specific processing requirements that restrict its action to joint surfaces. J Biol Chem 2006;281:26725–33.
- [62] Lenas P, Moos Jr M, Luyten FP. Developmental engineering: a new paradigm for design and manufacture of cell based products. Part I: from three-dimensional cell growth to biomimetics of in vivo development. Tissue Eng 2009;15B:381–94.
- [63] Lenas P, Moos Jr M, Luyten FP. Developmental engineering: a new paradigm for the design and manufacture of cell based products. Part II: from genes to networks: tissue engineering from the viewpoint of systems biology and network science. Tissue Eng 2009;15B:395–422.
- [64] Bauer SR, Ruiz-Hidalgo MJ, Rudikoff EK, Goldstein J, Laborda J. Modulated expression of the epidermal growth factor-like homeotic protein dlk influences stromal-cell-pre-B cell interactions, stromal cell adipogenesis, and pre-B-cell interleukin-7 requirements. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18: 5247–55.

- [65] Ramadevi Raghunandan R, Ruiz-Hidalgo M, Ettinger R, Rudikoff E, Riggins PS, Farnsworth R, et al. Dlk1 influences differentiation and function of B-lymphocytes. Stem Cells Dev 2008;17:495–507.
- [66] US Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration. Critical Path Opportunities List. Available at: https://www. fda.gov/downloads/ScienceResearch/SpecialTopics/CriticalPathInitiative/CriticalPathOpportunitiesReports/UCM077258.pdf.
- [67] Smith JS, Tian J, Lozier JN, Byrnes AP. Severe pulmonary pathology after intravenous administration of vectors in cirrhotic rats. Mol Ther 2004;9:932–41.
- [68] Simek S, Byrnes A, Bauer S. FDA perspectives on the use of the adenovirus reference material. Bioprocessing 2002;1:40-2.
- [69] Smith JS, Xu Z, Tian J, Stevenson SC, Byrnes AP. Interaction of systemically delivered adenovirus vector with Kupfer cells in mouse liver. Hum Gene Ther 2008;19:547–54.
- [70] Blinova K, Stohlman J, Vicente J, Chan D, Hortigon M, Rodriguez VZ, et al. Comprehensive translational assessment of induced pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes for evaluating drug-induced arrhythmias. Toxicol Sci 2017;155(1):234–47.
- [71] Johannesen L, Vicente J, Mason JW, Erato C, Sanabria C, Waite-Labott K, et al. Late sodium current block for drug-induced long QT syndrome: results from a prospective clinical trial. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2016;99:214–23.
- [72] US Food and Drug Administration. Public Workshop—Additive Manufacturing of Medical Devices: An Interactive Discussion on the Technical Considerations of 3D Printing. October 2014. Available at: http://wayback.archive-it.org/7993/20170111083117/http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/NewsEvents/WorkshopsConferences/ucm397324.htm.
- [73] US Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. 3D Printing of Medical Devices. Available at: https://www. fda.gov/medicaldevices/productsandmedicalprocedures/3dprintingofmedicaldevices/default.htm.
- [74] Di Prima M, Coburn J, Hwang D, Kelly J, Khairuzzaman A, Ricles L. Additively manufactured medical products the FDA perspective. 3D Print Med 2016;2:1–6.
- [75] Ovsianikov A, Gruene M, Pflaum M, Koch L, Maiorana F, Wilhelmi F, et al. Laser printing of cells into 3D scaffolds. Biofabrication 2010;2: 014104.
- [76] Lee V, Singh G, Trasatti JP, Bjornsson C, Xu X, Tran TN, et al. Design and fabrication of human skin by three-dimensional bioprinting. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2014;20:473–84.
- [77] Chang R, Emami K, Wu HL, Sun W. Biofabrication of a three-dimensional liver micro-organ as an in vitro drug metabolism model. Biofabrication 2010;2:045004.
- [78] Lee CH, Cook JL, Mendelson A, Moioli EK, Yao H, Mao JJ. Regeneration of the articular surface of the rabbit synovial joint by cell homing: a proof of concept study. Lancet 2010;376:440–8.
- [79] Reichert JC, Cipitria A, Epari DR, Saifzadeh S, Krishnakanth P, Berner A. A tissue engineering solution for segmental defect regeneration in load-bearing long bones. Sci Transl Med 2012;4:141ra93.
- [80] Ilkhanizadeh S, Teixeira AI, Hermanson O. Inkjet printing of macromolecules on hydrogels to steer neural stem cell differentiation. Biomaterials 2007;28:3936–43.
- [81] Norotte C, Marga FS, Niklason LE, Forgacs G. Scaffold-free vascular tissue engineering using bioprinting. Biomaterials 2009;30:5910-7.
- [82] Multi-Agency Tissue Engineering Science (MATES) Interagency Working Group. Advancing Tissue Science and Engineering: A Foundation for the Future A Multi-Agency Strategic Plan. Tissue Eng 2007;13(12):2825–6.

This page intentionally left blank

# Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing—Challenges and Opportunities

Paul Cohen<sup>1</sup>, Joshua G. Hunsberger<sup>2</sup>, Anthony Atala<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States; <sup>2</sup>Wake Forest Institute for Regenerative Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

# WHY REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING?

Why regenerative medicine manufacturing? The answer is simple. For regenerative medicine-based technologies and products to become the next standard of care, advances are needed in manufacturing processes. This chapter will highlight the current challenges facing regenerative medicine and list what the primary challenges are that are hindering widespread adoption. We will then consider some of the challenges in lack of standards and lack of definition of quality, as well as some of the technical challenges. After highlighting these challenges, we will delve into the opportunities that exist in regenerative medicine manufacturing. These opportunities exist in areas of regulatory and standard setting and we will cover some of work currently being done in these areas. There are also opportunities for new technologies and we will cover some of the advances being made for scale-up, reducing costs, quality control systems, automation, modular plug and play systems, and bioprinting. Next we will consider regenerative medicine manufacturing systems of the future. While these systems do not currently exist in full form today we believe these systems will be part of every major clinical regenerative medicine program in the next 20 years. We will conclude this chapter by reviewing the global landscape focusing on technical societies and domestic and international efforts.

# CURRENT CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING

# Primary Challenges for Widespread Adoption

The primary challenges for widespread adoption of regenerative medicine-based technologies have been reviewed extensively [1–7]. Table 78.1 highlights some of these challenges. While the science of regenerative medicine continues to progress, for widespread adoption we must solve several roadblocks related to the manufacturing aspect of these treatments. Currently, high cost, quality, and logistics issues threaten the promise of bringing regenerative medicine therapies to those in need. The lack of efficient, controllable manufacturing processes makes cost and quality difficult to achieve. Moreover, Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval procedures make continuous improvement far more difficult and costly.

More efficient, cost-effective manufacturing will require advances in automation and control to remove human work and reduce variability where possible, because differences in procedures induce increased variability. Improved biosensors will also be needed to control quality and consistency, which will also drive down cost.

Cell expansion is an example of an area, common to all therapies, in need of cost-effective scale-up. Progress is being made in the development of scalable suspension cultures that can generate billions of human cells using

78. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING-CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

#### TABLE 78.1 Current Challenges in Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing

Need for scale-up (e.g., expand to billions of cells)			
High costs of manufacturing regenerative medicine product			
Lack of sufficient quality control systems for in-line sensing			
Lack of automation			
Lack of closed and modular systems			
Lack of standards for regenerative medicine			

single-use bioreactors [8,9]. This necessitates advances in bioreactor design, as well as sensors to meet the large quantities of cells for a given product. Additionally, it should reduce cost and make these therapies more widely available [10].

# Lack of Standards

Regenerative medicine covers a broad range of therapies as it manipulates genes, cells, and tissues to repair or replace diseased, damaged, or missing organs. This may include bone, skin, as well as other cells and tissues. The transition from laboratory to clinic has been slow due to the inherent complexity of the treatments and a lack of standards and standardization that complicates manufacturing thereby increasing cost. Many traditional measurements of efficacy, potency, purity, and quality that work with traditional pharmaceutical manufacturing may not be sufficient for regenerative medicine treatments.

The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) has developed a regenerative medicine and advanced therapies laboratory program that advances cell therapy, gene therapy, and tissue engineering by developing measurement infrastructure, including enabling tools, reference materials, methods and protocols, and bioinformatics and modeling tools [11]. NIST also has a regenerative medicine biomanufacturing program that is seeking to develop measurement solutions, serve as a neutral ground for the discussion of underpinning measurements and other manufacturing needs, and also lead and contribute to the development of standards [12]. NIST has also entered into a memorandum of understanding with the Standards Coordinating Body for Gene, Cell, and Regenerative Medicines and Cell-Based Drug Discovery to advance the field by developing consensus standards.

ASTM International and the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) have a partnership in additive manufacturing where they have jointly released the Additive Manufacturing Standards Development Structure [13]. This provides a framework for meeting the needs for new standards in areas including regenerative medicine. ASTM also has many technical committees that serve as working groups to develop new standards in areas such as additive manufacturing (Committee F42) and medical and surgical materials and devices (Committee F04). ISO is another standard setting organization that brings together technical experts from around the world to develop international standards. For instance, there are ISO standards currently available for tissue-engineered medical products (ISO 19090:2018) and quality management systems (ISO 90001:2015 and ISO 13485:2016).

For cell therapies, standards for imaging tools and protocols for cell characterization (identification, quantity, and function) are needed, as well as reference materials for fluorescence imaging and flow cytometry. For tissue engineering standards for scaffold design, structure and properties are needed as are standards for the computational models required. FDA has released guidance for additive manufactured devices that are implanted [14]. While these are not yet approved and some may not apply to scaffolds, they illustrate the complexity of standards development for future manufacturing systems and the need to incorporate them into process design. These are summarized in Table 78.2. In addition to standards, the manufacture of regenerative medicine products needs standardization of procedures and protocols to minimize variability, thereby increasing quality and decreasing costs.

# Logistics

Currently, cells are preserved and stored at cryogenic temperatures. This impacts handling procedures, cost, efficacy, safety, equipment requirements, retrieval, and effects on the regenerative medicine product. In addition, the ability to distribute product to point-of-use locations is constrained by the number of cryogenic containers.

Area	Components	
Overall device design	Comparison of desired feature sizes and tolerances to process	
Patient-matched device design	Effects of imaging, software interacting with design models, complex design file conversion, cybersecurity and personally identifiable information	
Software workflow	File format conversions, digital device design to physical device, build volume placement, addition of support material, slicing, build paths, machine parameters and environmental conditions, automated software validation	
Material controls	Starting material, material reuse	
Postprocessing	Full documentation	
Process validation and acceptance activities	Process validation, revalidation, acceptance procedures, test coupons	
Quality data	Analysis of sources of quality data to identify existing and potential causes of nonconforming product	
Device testing	Description, mechanical testing, material characterization, residue removal and sterilization	
Labeling	Recommended for Additive Manufactured (AM) devices that are patient matched, may include patient identifier, use, final design iteration or version used to produce the device	

# Sensors and Quality Control Systems

There are significant challenges with the development of sensors and quality control systems for regenerative medicine manufacturing, although they differ between cell expansion, tissue, and organs. Product loss or slow growth for cell-based therapy batches may slow testing or attainment of full expansion. For cells, tissue and organ sensors or sensor suites are needed to properly control processes and assure quality.

#### Bioprinting

While there a many bioprinters on the market, none meet the proposed FDA guidelines and can be used for human patients. As summarized in Table 78.2, there are many issues covered in the FDA proposed guidelines and no currently marketed bioprinter meets these. It is important to note that issues involving hardware design, software, material control, and validation will make this challenging.

#### Scale-Up and Automation

Benchtop research does not easily scale up for production for a number of reasons. Since there is little standardization of processes causing poor reproducibility the translation to production is difficult. Also, it is time consuming and expensive to change protocols once approved by the FDA. Standardized protocols, whether for manual or automated manufacturing, will help reduce variability and enable scale-up. However, the human element adds uncertainty and cost. Therefore automation for autologous products is crucial for widespread adoption. Currently, there is no marketed, fully integrated, modular manufacturing system.

Collectively, we have highlighted some of the opportunities in regenerative medicine manufacturing and listed them in Table 78.3. We mention that there can be technologies developed that can assist with scaling-up processes such as using single-use technologies [15]. There is also an opportunity for developing solutions for reducing costs, which could include multiple solutions discussed further in this perspective article [10]. Other opportunities exist with developing in-line sensing systems, automating processes through integration of robotics and artificial intelligence, and developing plug and play infrastructures to accommodate different manufacturing processes. A final set of opportunities exists in the development of standards and ensuring seamless integration of these new regenerative medicine-based products with regulatory pathways. The FDA has published two new draft guidance documents that are intended to assist with bringing innovative, safe, and effective products to patients as efficiently as possible. The first guidance document is called "Expedited Programs for Regenerative Medicine Therapies for Serious Conditions." The second document is called "Evaluation of Devices Used with Regenerative Medicine Advanced

#### 78. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING-CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

#### TABLE 78.3 Current Opportunities in Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing

Develop technologies for scale-up (e.g., single-use technologies)

Develop solutions for reducing cost (e.g., defined media)

Develop solutions for quality control systems (e.g., microfabricated biosensor technologies for in-line sensing)

Develop technologies that can automate processes (e.g., integration of robotics and artificial intelligence into manufacturing processes)

Develop solutions for modular systems (e.g., plug and play infrastructure to accommodate different modules)

Current ASTM and ISO efforts for developing standards (e.g., ISO 19090:2018 for tissue-engineered medical products)

FDA guidance documents for advancing regenerative medicine-based products (e.g., Technical Considerations for Additive Manufactured Medical Devices)

Therapies." The first guidance document describes the Fast Track designation and breakthrough Therapy designation, which are available for regenerative medicine therapies. It also describes requirements for the new Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT) designation program, which was created by the 21st Century Cures Act. The second draft guidance document on devices provides the FDA's current thoughts on evaluating devices used in the recovery, isolation, and delivery of RMATs.

# ENVISIONED REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING SYSTEMS OF THE FUTURE

Envisioned regenerative medicine manufacturing systems of the future will enable these technologies, therapies, and products to be commercialized and made widely available. Table 78.4 illustrates some of these envisioned system areas, their system attributes, and companies of interest that have some of the capabilities needed to build these systems. Fig. 78.1 captures some of the envisioned manufacturing systems of the future that could bioengineer new tissues and organs by integrating a clinical-grade 3D bioprinting approach into the manufacturing process. Next we will cover some of the system attributes we believe will be critical for these advanced regenerative medicine manufacturing systems.

*Standardization* will be critical for future regenerative manufacturing systems due to the inherent variability and need to make procedures more consistent within and between manufacturing sites. Both manual and automated manufacture will rely on adherence to standards and standardization. NIST is working to establish standards for cell measurement, live cell imaging, quantitative flow cytometry, and bioprinting. One concern is that measurements of efficacy, potency, purity, and quality that are used for pharmaceuticals may be insufficient for regenerative medicine. Moreover, standardized procedures for cell expansion, size of biopsies, and other critical operations are needed for manual and automated manufacture.

*Fully integrated, modular, and automated manufacturing systems* are critical and this will help to drive standardization since automation will depend, to a certain extent, on this. Such a system would utilize closed pods or cassettes for all processing to remove the possibility of contamination. This "plug and play" design philosophy would also lend flexibility to these manufacturing systems allowing them to produce a wide array of regenerative medicine products for individuals. An integrated modular robotic system with closed pods could have the ability to exploit standard processes, including cell harvesting, cell processing, nutrient addition, tissue digestion, incubation, imaging and characterization, tissue banking, quality control, and preservation prior to use or shipping.

The collection of data, scheduling, and control of such a system will be complex and require new sensors and smart controls. The use of machine learning to sense quality characteristics and remove human visual perceptions (and biases) will be needed. Control for processes that can be highly variable may take weeks and must be done in a way that gets needed cells, tissue, and organs to critically ill patients reliably. Smart manufacturing refers to

#### ENVISIONED REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING SYSTEMS OF THE FUTURE

TABLE 78.4 Envision	ned Manufacturi	ing Systems	of the Future
---------------------	-----------------	-------------	---------------

Future System Areas	System Attributes
Fully integrated/modular/ closed/sterile/automated manufacturing systems	<ul> <li>Closed, integrated purification, formulation and vial fill</li> <li>Seamless media to bioreactor/cell culture vessel transition</li> <li>Cell concentration standard method to maintain viability/potency</li> <li>Customizable modules for expansion and cell retrieval</li> <li>Automated cell handling in a fully controlled aseptic environment. Scale-up for mass production</li> <li>Passaging and layering multiple types of cells in a closed system</li> <li>Automatic monitoring of glucose utilization/lactose production to adjust nutrient supply for continuous feed</li> <li>Off-the-shelf closed systems that can be easily upscaled</li> </ul>
Xeno-free defined media systems	<ul> <li>Synthetic serum for human immune cells and mesenchymal stem cells first. Following its success it can be extended to other tissue sources in the human body</li> <li>Universal "basal" media</li> <li>Synthetic, defined serum substitute "panel"</li> </ul>
Supply chain and logistic systems	<ul> <li>Platform technologies for shipping human stem cells and mesenchymal stem cells should be initially tested</li> <li>Further development of formulations and methods for extending liquid storage stability</li> <li>Further development and optimization of formulations and methods for freeze drying</li> </ul>
Biosensing systems	<ul> <li>3D printer for engineered tissues</li> <li>Microfabrication of biosensors</li> <li>Better oxygen and glucose monitoring sensors</li> <li>Improved material for adherent cells to maximize cell seeding and harvesting</li> </ul>
Nondestructive quality control systems	<ul> <li>One area is lactate and ammonia management</li> <li>In-line measurement of cell density</li> <li>Real-time cell "state"/phenotype monitoring</li> <li>Data capture and mining/correlation</li> <li>Microscope with software for recognizing and quantifying cellular structures</li> <li>Disposable sensors or built-in sensors for growth factor levels in addition to pH, osmolarity, O<sub>2</sub>, and CO<sub>2</sub>. Glucose, ammonia, and K<sup>+</sup> would be great as well</li> <li>There will not be a path to a universal solution—too divergent. Pick either most universal quality control specification/parameter (most therapy agnostic) or highest impact upcoming therapy—propose and prototype a solution</li> </ul>
Automated and closed patient- specific systems	<ul> <li>Integrated, standardized disposables for product types</li> <li>Processes that are patient specific and would involve modeling the patient's anatomy</li> <li>Easily adaptable semiuniversal automated system</li> <li>Semiuniversal disposables</li> <li>Automated injector with detailed process control</li> <li>Novel single-use sensors/sensing approaches for noninvasive monitor/control of process parameters and detection of microbial contamination</li> <li>Disposable single-use bioreactors that will support all steps from seeding through harvest</li> <li>Instrumentation that can provide CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature control without traditional incubators</li> </ul>
Cell and tissue expansion systems	<ul> <li>Determine if same system could be scaled to fit both small- and large-scale needs</li> <li>In-line cell "state"/phenotype monitoring</li> <li>Scalable bioreactor technology</li> <li>Novel single-use format for high-density cell culture (adaptable adherent or suspension, or tissue constructs)</li> <li>Design for scale-out strategy for autologous therapies</li> </ul>

1371

78. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING-CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES



FIGURE 78.1 Envisioned future manufacturing systems: illustrated here is an envisioned future manufacturing system where 3D bioprinting will be incorporated into an end-to-end modular manufacturing system that can produce at scale bioengineered tissues and organs.

"fully-integrated, collaborative manufacturing systems that respond in real time to meet changing demands and conditions" [16]. It has the potential to use data and models to control such complex systems. Another aspect of an integrated automated manufacturing system is the ability to share information. Blockchains, a computer science construct that uses a distributed recording and storage of transaction records in a manner that safeguards patient confidential information, can be used to link information through the process to understand cause and effect and better control production.

*Xeno-free defined media systems* will be able to support a large panel of clinically relevant cell types that will be needed for cell and gene therapies, as well as tissue engineering applications. These systems will greatly accelerate product development times, as well as reduce costs and variability by removing serums and recombinant proteins and replacing them with defined biochemical substitutes. The RegenMed Development Organization is currently using a consortium-based model to develop a platform technology that seeks to build a universal media system similar to the one we envision here to support clinical cell manufacturing. Efforts like these will greatly accelerate the field.

*Biosensing systems* will be integrated into regenerative medicine manufacturing processes to monitor the viability, phenotypic characteristics, biomechanical characteristics, and physiologic responses of cells, scaffolds, organoids, organoid systems (e.g., body-on-a-chip personalized medicine systems), tissues, and bioengineered organs. These biosensing systems will be microfabricated and allow improved monitoring of oxygen, glucose, metabolites, pH, temperature, and many additional attributes that can be customized based on the cellular and tissue-specific systems being engineered and manufactured. These biosensing systems can also be integrated into 3D bioprinting systems to ensure the integrity of starting materials (e.g., cells, biomaterials, bioinks, etc.) and confirm the viability, phenotypic characteristics, biomechanical characteristics, and physiological responses from 3D bioprinted organoids, tissues, and organs.

Nondestructive quality control systems will provide in-line measurement of specific quality control attributes needed in regenerative medicine manufacturing processes of the future. One area of need will be improved monitoring of lactate and ammonia management, as well as other biochemical markers that provide important information to maintain the viability of cellular and tissue systems. These in-line measurements will capture data in real time and have artificial intelligence systems to make correlations and predictions on safety and quality attributes of the current and final clinical product that will also save time and money by only advancing products with a high probability of possessing final safety and quality attributes needed for the manufactured clinical product.

*Cell and tissue expansion systems* will be adaptable to both small- and large-scale needs. The miniaturized systems will enable autologous patient-specific therapies at the bedside, while the large-scale systems will provide a pathway for allogeneic therapies to be manufactured at industrialized scale for widespread use. Within these two systems, in-line cell "state" or phenotype monitoring will be critical to ensure safety and quality attributes are maintained throughout the manufacturing process. There will also be opportunities for novel single-use formats for high-density cell cultures.

*Supply chain and logistic systems* must be used carefully when considering the expansion of regenerative medicine therapies. Current technologies are expensive as companies must buy and maintain an appropriate number of cryogenic storage containers for shipment. Otherwise, timely shipment and product quality cannot be guaranteed.

Current thinking and research seeks novel cell preservation technologies for regenerative medicine. This may include the development of advanced tissue and organ preservation technologies and processes for cell banking, such as specimen harvest, cell retrieval, selection and expansion, tissue typing, storage, and distribution. Promising paths include the development of new and more stable dimethyl sulfoxide-free stabilizer formulation compositions, lyophilization formulations, and characterization of the effects on the product (cellular function) both pre- and postthaw identification of reagents that serve to preserve cellular function upon freeze drying. Additionally, novel drying technologies that optimize formulations for reconstitution are needed. Specialized packaging for cells, tissues, and organs is needed, as well as training to properly employ their technologies, as well as appropriate infrastructure at point-of-care facilities.

Solutions may utilize short-term cryostorage coupled with new techniques for distribution. Such hybrid storage would enable initial cryogenic storage followed by noncryogenic distribution for high-quality products. Customized designs for closed preservation systems coupled with sensors may also be employed to monitor quality and enable longer preservation time.

# GLOBAL LANDSCAPE FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING

The global landscape for regenerative medicine manufacturing is exciting and filled with tremendous potential. Next we will highlight some of the technical societies that are forming in this area, as well as the numerous manufacturing-focused initiatives that are being launched around the world. Table 78.5 lists the initiatives, focus areas, and websites where you can obtain additional information.

#### Technical Societies

There is a new technical society recently formed called the Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing Society (RMMS). RMMS is a new organization that has a vision of enabling the adoption of manufacturing platform technologies into standards, regulatory pathways, and commercial products by assembling a diverse network of stakeholders. These stakeholders fall into these major categories: (1) industry, (2) academia (basic and clinical research), (3) regulatory agencies, (4) nonprofit organizations, and (5) investment and funding agencies. RMMS has a strategic goal to bring these stakeholders together to achieve a number of regenerative medicine manufacturing aims, including the following: (1) enabling the development of scale-up tools and reagents; (2) enabling the development of standards; and (3) seamless integration of platform technologies with regulatory pathways. Additional information on this new technical society can be found at http://regenmedmanufacturing.org/. The first RMMS conference

Initiative	Focus Areas	Website
Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium	Regenerative medicine technologies and manufacturing	https://mtec-sc.org/
National Institute for Innovation in Manufacturing Biopharmaceuticals	Biopharmaceutical manufacturing	http://www.niimbl.us/
Biofab USA	Biofabrication	https://www.armiusa.org/
Centre for Commercialization of Regenerative Medicine	Cell and gene therapies Regenerative medicine technologies	https://ccrm.ca/
Catapult	Cell and gene therapy	https://ct.catapult.org.uk/
Japan—regulatory	New regulations to accelerate regenerative medicine therapeutics	
Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing Society	Regenerative medicine manufacturing	http://rmmanufacturingsociety.org/about/

 TABLE 78.5
 Global Landscape in Regenerative Medicine

was held in Miami, Florida, in January 2018 in concert with the World Stem Cell Summit and brought together leaders from industry, academia, and government.

# **Domestic Efforts**

Efforts currently under way in the United States to advance regenerative medicine manufacturing are growing every day.

21st Century Cure's Act, also known as the Cures Act, was signed into law on December 13, 2016, with the intention of assisting the acceleration of medical product development and bringing new advances to patients in a faster, more streamlined manner. The Cures Act seeks to incorporate the perspectives of patients into the development of drugs, biological products, and devices in the US FDA's regulatory process. The Cures Act has the intention of speeding up the development and review of novel medical products (including medical countermeasures) and gives new authority to assist the FDA in building and retaining scientific, technical, and professional experts by establishing new product development programs such as (1) RMAT, a new expedited option for eligible biologics, and (2) the Breakthrough Devices Program to accelerate the review of innovative medical devices. The Cures Act also charges the FDA with improving the regulation of combination products by creating one or more intercenter institutes to coordinate activities in major disease areas between the drug, biologics, and device centers. In total, the Cures Act provides \$500 million over 9 years to assist the FDA in implementing this law to accelerate the discovery, development, and delivery of 21st century cures. Currently, the FDA has submitted a work plan to Congress that lays out a budget for advancing seven strategic areas of activity: (1) patient-focused drug development, (2) advancing new drug therapies, (3) modern trial design and evidence development, (4) patient access to therapies and information, (5) antimicrobial innovation and stewardship, (6) medical device innovations, and (7) improving scientific expertise and outreach at the FDA.

The National Network for Manufacturing Innovation (e.g., Manufacturing USA) has funded two institutes dedicated to advance regenerative medicine manufacturing through public/private partnerships. These institutes join 12 others, each focusing on a technology or industry group by bringing together industry, academia, and government to increase competitiveness through applied research, outreach, and workforce development.

The National Institute for Innovation in Manufacturing Biopharmaceuticals (NIIMBL) has a mission "to accelerate biopharmaceutical manufacturing innovation, support the development of standards that enable more efficient and rapid manufacturing capabilities, and educate and train a world-leading biopharmaceutical manufacturing workforce, fundamentally advancing U.S. competitiveness in this industry" [17]. NIIMBL will initially seek to understand biomarkers for potency, develop sensors for these biomarkers, and use this knowledge and developments for cost-effective scale-up for mesenchymal stem cells, T-cells, and induced pluripotent stem cells.

*The Advanced Regenerative Medicine Institute* "will make practical the large-scale manufacturing of engineered tissues and tissue-related technologies, to benefit existing industries and grow new ones" [18]. The institute seeks to develop innovations across five thrust areas: (1) cell selection, culture, and scale-up; (2) biomaterial selection and scale-up; (3) tissue process automation and monitoring; (4) tissue maturing technologies; and (5) tissue preservation and transport.

The Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium (MTEC) is a nonprofit biomedical technology consortium that collaborates with multiple government agencies under a 10-year renewable Other Transaction Agreement with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command. MTEC fosters integrated research partnerships to provide solutions to military, veterans, and the civilian population. Consortium thrust areas include: (1) prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of infectious diseases, (2) care of combat casualties, (3) clinical and rehabilitative medicine, (4) military operational medicine, (5) medical simulation and information sciences, and (6) advanced medical technologies. Significant emphasis is placed on aspects of regenerative medicine that will facilitate manufacturing scale-up.

# **International Efforts**

There are also many regenerative medicine international efforts and three specific efforts that we will focus on here include: (1) the Centre for Commercialization of Regenerative Medicine (CCRM), (2) Catapult, and (3) Japan.

*CCRM* is a nonprofit, public/private consortium whose mission is to generate sustainable health and economic benefits through global collaboration in cell and gene therapy, as well as regenerative medicine. CCRM has recognized there is an unmet need in advancing cell, gene, and regenerative medicine-based treatments to the clinic. This

#### REFERENCES

The Cell and Gene Therapy Catapult is a network of centers in the United Kingdom designed for innovation in specific strategic areas to promote future economic growth. Each Catapult center specializes in a different area of technology, including areas such as cell and gene therapy, high-value manufacturing, transport systems, medicines discovery, and others. This Catapult network provides access to technical capabilities, equipment, and additional resources to develop new products and services on a commercial scale.

*Japan* is advancing regenerative medicine by enabling early commercialization and early reimbursement. This effort is in response to half the population of Japan, which is over age 50, and regenerative medicine-based therapies have been limited in the past because of the difficulty in progressing through Japan's Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency. Prime Minister Shinzō Abe has launched an economic revitalization plan that includes ¥110 billion (\$1 billion) in funding for stem cell research. In addition, two new regenerative medicine laws were enacted. Law No. 84/2013 provides an amendment for the Pharmaceutical Affairs Act, renamed the Pharmaceutical and Medical Device Act, and provides conditional marketing authorization. This new regulation provides revenue for regenerative medicine products as soon as this conditional approval is granted, which could be achieved after a small patient number phase 1 safety trial. Law 85/2013 is part of the Safety of Regenerative Medicine Act, and is for clinical and physician-led research. This Act focuses on the cells and allows them to be processed outside hospitals at accredited cell-processing centers to enable manufacturing processes that are more robust with the intention of promoting a safer product through a tier-based risk-dependent analysis.

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This chapter on regenerative medicine manufacturing presented a comprehensive overview of current challenges and opportunities that currently exist in this space. We have also provided a perspective on envisioned regenerative medicine manufacturing systems of the future with focus on specific attributes that we believe will be critical for widespread adoption of regenerative medicine-based technologies and products. Moreover, we briefly described the global landscape for regenerative medicine manufacturing and highlighted some of the technical societies and efforts currently under way.

# References

- Bayon Y, Vertes AA, Ronfard V, Egloff M, Snykers S, Salinas GF, et al. Translating cell-based regenerative medicines from research to successful products: challenges and solutions. Tissue Eng 2014;20(4):246–56.
- [2] Hourd P, Ginty P, Chandra A, Williams DJ. Manufacturing models permitting roll out/scale out of clinically led autologous cell therapies: regulatory and scientific challenges for comparability. Cytotherapy 2014;16(8):1033–47.
- [3] Hunsberger J, Harrysson O, Shirwaiker R, Starly B, Wysk R, Cohen P, et al. Manufacturing road map for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine technologies. Stem Cells Transl Med 2015;4(2):130–5.
- [4] Martin I, Simmons PJ, Williams DF. Manufacturing challenges in regenerative medicine. Sci Transl Med 2014;6(232):232fs16.
- [5] Ratcliffe E, Thomas RJ, Williams DJ. Current understanding and challenges in bioprocessing of stem cell-based therapies for regenerative medicine. Br Med Bull 2011;100:137–55.
- [6] Williams DJ. Overcoming manufacturing and scale-up challenges. Regen Med 2011;6(6 Suppl.):67-9.
- [7] Williams DJ, Sebastine IM. Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: manufacturing challenges. IEE Proc Nanobiotechnol 2005;152(6): 207–10.
- [8] Kehoe DE, Jing D, Lock LT, Tzanakakis ES. Scalable stirred-suspension bioreactor culture of human pluripotent stem cells. Tissue Eng 2010; 16(2):405–21.
- [9] Kwok CK, Ueda Y, Kadari A, Gunther K, Ergun S, Heron A, et al. Scalable stirred suspension culture for the generation of billions of human induced pluripotent stem cells using single-use bioreactors. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2017;12.
- [10] Hunsberger J, Goel S, Allickson J, Atala A. Five critical areas that combat high costs and prolonged development times for regenerative medicine manufacturing. Curr Stem Cell Rep 2017;3.
- [11] NIST. Regenerative medicine and advanced therapies laboratory programs. 2017.
- [12] NIST. Regenerative medicine biomanufacturing. 2017. Available from: https://www.nist.gov/programs-projects/regenerative-medicinebiomanufacturing.
- [13] ISO AIa. Additive manufacturing standards development structure.
- [14] (FDA) UFaDA. Technical considerations for additive manufactured medical devices. 2017. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/ downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/UCM499809.pdf.
- [15] Boedeker B, Goldstein A, Mahajan E. Fully disposable manufacturing concepts for clinical and commercial manufacturing and ballroom concepts. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 2017. PMID: 29101419.

#### 78. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE MANUFACTURING-CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

- [16] i-scoop. Smart industry and smart manufacturing- industrial transformation. 2018. Available from: https://www.i-scoop.eu/manufacturingindustry/. [17] NIIMBL. The National Institute for Innovation in Manufacturing Biopharmaceuticals. Available from: http://www.niimbl.us/.
- [18] ARMI. Advanced Regenerative Medicine Institute; 2018. Available from: https://www.armiusa.org/.

# Index

'Note: Page numbers followed by "f" indicate figures, "t" indicate tables and "b" indicate boxes.'

#### A

A1AT deficiency. See a1-Antitrypsin deficiency (A1AT deficiency) AA. See Acetic acid (AA); Activin A (AA) AAO. See Anodic aluminium oxide (AAO) AAV. See Adeno-associated virus (AAV) AbATE trial. See Autoimmunity-Blocking Antibody for Tolerance trial (AbATE trial) ABCA4 gene, 354 Abcg2<sup>+</sup> SP cells, 250-251, 263-264 AC. See Articular cartilage (AC) Ac-NRARADADARARADADA-CNH self-assembling peptide hydrogel, 1090 Accessory Limb Model, 44 Accuracy, 95 Acellular grafts, 1232 Acellular renal scaffold, 1171-1172 Acellular scaffolds, 505, 810, 1064, 1132 Acellular tissue matrices, 1269-1270 β-(1-4)-2-Acetamido-2-deoxy-Dglucopyranose, 641 Acetic acid (AA), 545, 546f, 600 Acetobacter xylinum (A. xylinum), 641-642 N-Acetyl-m-aminophenol, 775-776 N-Acetyl aspartyl-glutamate synthetase (NAAGS), 378–380 N-Acetyl-glucosamine, 641 Acetyl-para-aminophenol (APAP), 773, 775-776 Acetylated low-density lipoprotein (AcLDL), 311-312 Acetylated tubulin-1 (AT-1), 1157 ACI. See Autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) Acid hydrolases, 39 Acid solubilization, 643 Acid-catalyzed hydrolysis, 669 Acid-base interaction, 596 ACL. See Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) AcLDL. See Acetylated low-density lipoprotein (AcLDL) ACOG. See American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) ACP. See Amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) Acquired immunity, 684-691 Acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, 823 ACT1 peptide, 81 Actin β, 209

Actin-myosin complexes, 395-396 Active targeting, 721 Activin A (AA), 339-340 Actomyosin contractility, 449 Acute inflammation, 679 Acute kidney injury (AKI), 210, 1152, 1165 BRECS treating, 1157-1158 clinical experience with renal assist device to treating, 1154 renal assist device therapy causing by sepsis, 1153-1154 Acute liver failure, hepatocyte transplantation in, 233-234 Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), 1253 Acute myocardial infarction (AMI), 209-210, 223-224, 253, 258, 261, 318 Acute tubular necrosis (ATN), 143, 1150 AD. See Alzheimer disease (AD) Ad-BMP-7. See Adenoviruses encoding green fluorescent protein, BMP-7 (Ad-BMP-7) AD-cSVF. See Adipose-derived cellular stromal vascular fraction (AD-cSVF) ADA-SCID. See Adenosine deaminase-SCID (ADA-SCID) Adaptive immune system, 715, 938, 1088 cell types and function, 685t AdBMP-2. See Adenoviral bone morphogenetic protein-2 (AdBMP-2) Additional signaling pathways, 7-8 Additive manufacturing techniques (AM techniques), 887, 1360-1361 Adeno-associated virus (AAV), 285, 749-750, 1010-1011 Adenosine deaminase-SCID (ADA-SCID), 198 Adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase), 38, 232 Adenosine triphosphate (ATP), 276, 394-395 Adenoviral bone morphogenetic protein-2 (AdBMP-2), 1186 Adenovirus, 749, 1010-1011 Adenovirus-p21, 81 Adenoviruses encoding green fluorescent protein, BMP-7 (Ad-BMP-7), 915-917 Adherent junctions (AJs), 398

Adhesion adhesion peptide-modified scaffolds, 731 cell-ECM interactions during healing of cutaneous wounds, 25 - 26during regenerative fetal wound healing, 29 signal transduction events during, 19 - 22ligands, 442 molecules, 619, 679 peptides, 567 Adipocytes, 286 Adipogenesis, 459 Adipose tissue, 207, 847, 1258 Adipose-derived cells clinical delivery of, 297-300 therapeutic safety of, 301-302 carcinogenesis and tumorigenesis, 301-302 Adipose-derived cellular stromal vascular fraction (AD-cSVF), 384 Adipose-derived MSCs (AMSCs), 707, 795, 955 Adipose-derived stem/stromal cells (ASCs), 83, 104, 207, 295-297, 300-301, 384, 543, 837, 854-855, 1168-1169, 1202, 1264, 1299 immunophenotype, 296 uses and conditioned medium for hair growth, 1299 adipose-derived stem/stromal cellsconditioned media (ADSC-CM), 1299 Adipose-specific MSC, 295 Adjuvancy, 688 Adjuvant therapies, 898-899 antibiotics, 898-899 patient-specific technology, 899 β-Adrenergic agonist, 780 Adriamycin-induced nephropathy, 1167 ADSC-CM. See adipose-derived stem/ stromal cells-conditioned media (ADSC-CM) ADSCs. See Adipose-derived stem/ stromal cells (ASCs) Adult c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac cells, 248-250 Adult cardiac progenitor cell types, 250-251 Adult cells, 1309 Adult epicardial progenitor cells, 251-252 Adult epicardium, 251-252
Adult healing process, 31 Adult heart, cardiac stem/progenitor cells in, 248-252 Adult human ventricular cells, 1076 Adult pancreatic islets to stem cells, 335-336 β cells from adult stem/progenitor cells, 341 - 343from pluripotent stem cells, 336-341 for replacement therapy, 336 MSCs to modulate immunity, 344-345 Adult populations, 1041 Adult skin adult wound healing and scar formation, 66-68 anatomy of, 66 fibroproliferative scarring, 68-72 underhealing, 72 Adult stem cells (ASCs), 181-182, 241, 254-257, 750, 929, 1168-1169, 1264, 1266-1268. See also Cardiac stem cells (CSC)  $\beta$  cells from, 341–343 populations, 1264 in vitro, 924–925 Adult wound healing, 66-68 classic stages of wound repair, 69f inflammatory cell recruitment to site of tissue damage, 68f Advanced Regenerative Medicine Institute, 1374 Advanced therapy medicinal product (ATMP), 1116, 1125-1126 Advanced tissue engineering-based approaches, 535 Advanced Tissue-Engineered Human Ectypal Network Analyzer (ATHENA), 780 Adventitial cells, 295 Advisory committee meetings in FDA, 1358-1359 AEC. See Amniotic epithelial cells (AEC); Apical epidermal cap (AEC) AEMA. See 2-Aminoethyl methacrylate (AEMA) AF. See Amniotic fluid (AF); Annulus fibrosis (AF) Affinity-based release, 510 AFM. See Atomic force microscopy (AFM) AFMSCs. See Amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells (AFMSCs) AFS cells. See Amniotic fluid stem cells (AFS cells) AG. See Anterior gradient (AG) AG gene, 44 AGA. See Androgenetic alopecia (AGA) Agarose, 641, 821-822, 1226 hydrogel, 838 Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), 351, 354, 1208-1210 Aged MuSCs, 281, 283 Agglomerative nesting, 101–102 Aggrecan, 618

INDEX

Aggregates, 1106-1110 Aging, 219 aging effects on MSCs, 1266 cellular heterogeneity in, 107 - 108muscle stem cell-intrinsic defects in, 283 - 284musculoskeletal disorders, 212 AGM region. See Aorta-gonadmesonephros region (AGM region) AgNPs. See Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) Agrin, 618 AHSCT. See Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT) Air-fluid interface models, 774 Air-liquid interface (ALI), 1063 AJs. See Adherent junctions (AJs) Ajuba LIM proteins, 5 AKI. See Acute kidney injury (AKI) ALD. See Alendronate (ALD) Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH), 154-155, 1167-1168 ALDH<sup>br</sup>, 154–155 potency assay, 155f Alendronate (ALD), 494 ALD-conjugated AuNPs, 494 Alginate, 454-455, 640-641, 702, 815-816, 821-822, 837, 940, 1048, 1090, 1104, 1270 Alginate-based Cryogel system, 729 Alginic acid, 640 ALI. See Air-liquid interface (ALI) Aligned anisotropic scaffolds, 1230 nanofilaments for contact guidancemediated growth, 1230f Alimentary tract, 1131 anal canal, 1141-1142 colon, 1141 esophagus, 1131-1134 small intestine, 1135-1141 stomach, 1134-1135 in vitro models, 1142-1143 Aliphatic polyesters, 705 ALK. See Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), 542, 699-700, 854 Alkanethiolates, 443 ALL. See Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) AlloDerm, 614t-615t, 1136 Allogeneic aortic graft segments, 1136 cells, 664, 1264 clinical-grade hMAPCs, 186 collagen, 621 extracellular matrices, 1241 hepatocytes, 239 matrices, 1032 osteodifferentiated ASCs, 707 peripheral blood stem cell transplantation, 197 solid organ transplants, 790-791 stem cell transplantation, 753 transplantation, 198

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, 157-158, 198 Allografts, 591, 955, 1184 hepatocyte, 234 liver, 239 stem cells, 1290-1291 Alloimmunization, 157 Allosensitization, 688 ALP. See Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) ALS. See Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) Alveolar bone, 888 regeneration, 916-917 Alveolar pneumocytes, 1059-1060 Alveolar type 1 pneumocytes (AT1), 1061 Alveolar type 2 pneumocytes (AT2), 1061 Alveolarization process, 1059-1060 Alveolospheres, 1065-1066 Alzheimer disease (AD), 496, 754, 910 Am. See Antheraea mylitta (Am) AM techniques. See Additive manufacturing techniques (AM techniques) Ambulatory renal replacement therapies, future advancements for, 1159-1160 Ambystoma larvae, 40-41 AMD. See Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) AMD3100, 310 American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), 150-151 American Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation (ASBMT), 149-150 AMI. See Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) Amino acid, 573 amino acid-derived polymers, 573-574 sequences, 667 β-(1-4)-2-Amino-2-deoxy-Dglucopyranose, 641 γ-Aminobutyric acid (GABA), 1203 N-Aminoethyl aminocaproyl dihydrocinnamoyl (KADD), 339-340 2-Aminoethyl methacrylate (AEMA), 702 Amnion, stem cells from, 133 AEC, 134-135 AF, 134 amniotic fluid stem cells, 138-144 amniotic MSCs, 135-138 placenta, 133-134 Amniotic epithelial cells (AEC), 134-135 Amniotic fluid (AF), 133 function, origin, and composition, 134 Amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells (AFMSCs), 133 Amniotic fluid stem cells (AFS cells), 133, 138-144, 140f, 1168. See also Cardiac stem cells (CSC); Embryonic stem cells (ESC); Human embryonic stem cells (hESC); Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs); Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) characterization, 138-140 isolation and culture, 138 preclinical studies, 140-144

heart, 141-142 hematopoietic system, 142 intestine, 143-144 kidney, 142-143 lung, 143 musculoskeletal system, 141 nervous system, 141 Amniotic mesenchymal stem cells, 135 - 138characterization, 136 immunophenotype, 137t isolation and culture, 136 preclinical studies, 136-138 Amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP), 594 Amphibian developmental model, 192 Amphiphilic block copolymers, 572 AMSCs. See Adipose-derived MSCs (AMSCs) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 172-173 Anagen, 1297 Anal canal, 1141-1142 Analgesics, 575 Anaphylactic reaction, 686 Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK), 52 Anastomosis, 1136 Androgen replacement therapy, 1254, 1254f Androgenetic alopecia (AGA), 1298, 1303, 1305 Androgens induce TGF-B1, 1303 Angioblasts, 317 AngioChip, 1088 Angiogenesis, 27, 298, 313, 317, 680, 701, 751, 1138-1139 Angiogenic growth factors, 312-313 Angiogenin, 1302 Angiopoietin-1, 1088 Animal model, 172-173, 765, 770, 1232 Animal-human chimeras, 1325-1326 Anisotropic scaffolds, 511-512 for nerve regeneration, 1229-1231 aligned anisotropic scaffolds, 1230 cell-seeded, longitudinally aligned nerve guidance conduits and channels, 1231 ECM molecules, 1231 neurotrophic factors, 1230 Annulus fibrosis (AF), 962 Anodic aluminium oxide (AAO), 1288 Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL), 1179 healing, 1189-1192 biological augmentation, 1190 combined biological and mechanical augmentation, 1191-1192 mechanical augmentation, 1190-1191 Anterior cruciate ligament of knee, 1184-1185 Anterior gradient (AG), 43-44 Anteroposterior (AP), 44 Antheraea mylitta (Am), 1125 Anti-NogoA, 1207 anti-VEGF. See Antivascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF)

Antibiotics, 898-899 Antibody antibody-antigen, 657 binding proteins, 531 orientation, 529f Anticoagulants, 1151-1152 Antiestrogen resistance 1, 398 Antigen presenting cells (APCs), 684, 715 APC-activating agents, 722 nanoparticle targeting of, 722-727 Antigen(s), 528-529, 684-685, 715 antigen-4, 308 antigen-loaded DCs, 727 antigen-specific cytotoxic Tcells, 715 Antiglycophorin A (GlyA), 315-316 Antiinflammatory cytokines, 41 Antiinflammatory drugs, 575, 1210-1211 Antimicrobial peptides, 898-899 Antisense gene therapy, 1187 Antithymocytic globulin, 999–1000 α1-Antitrypsin deficiency (A1AT deficiency), 235, 750 Antitumor effects of MAPCs, 186 Antivascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF), 354, 1210-1211 Aorta-gonad-mesonephros region (AGM region), 192 AP. See Anteroposterior (AP) APAP. See Acetaminophen. See also Acetylpara-aminophenol (APAP) Apatite cements, 594-595 APCs. See Antigen presenting cells (APCs) Apical epidermal cap (AEC), 37, 41-42 AEC-nerve interaction, 42-44, 43f Aplastic canine serum, 929 Apligraft, 1287-1288 Apoptosis, 322, 980 cell-ECM interactions during healing of cutaneous wounds, 28 during regenerative fetal wound healing, 30 signal transduction events during, 24 neuronal, 371 Apoptotic pathways, 68 Aprotinin, 1047-1048 Aquatic vertebrates, 876-877 Araneus diadematus (A. diadematus), 645 Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD). See Arginine-glycineaspartate (RGD) Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (RGDS). See Arginineglycine-aspartic acid-serine (RGDS) Arginase, 750 Arginine-glycine-asparate (RGD), 16, 442, 489, 616-617, 632, 656, 729, 811, 941, 1226-1227 peptide, 1226-1227 RGD sequence. See Arginine-glycineaspartate sequence Arginine-glycine-aspartic acid-serine (RGDS), 667, 703-704, 1116 peptides, 670 Argininosuccinic lyase (ASL), 237 Aromatic diisocyanates, 567 Arrhythmogenesis, 255

Arteriovenous (AV), 1029 Arthritic hips and knees, 953 Arthritis, 937 osteoarthritis, 391 rheumatoid, 317 Articular cartilage (AC), 956-958 regeneration, 412 surface, 413 surgery of, 412 Artificial esophageal construct, 1132 Artificial scaffolds, 1063-1064 Artificial urethra, 565 ASBMT. See American Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation (ASBMT) Ascorbic acid, 762 ASCs. See Adipose-derived stem/stromal cells (ASCs); Adult stem cells (ASCs) ASD. See Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) Asherman syndrome, 1242 Asia's Stem Cell Center, 1321 ASL. See Argininosuccinic lyase (ASL) Assisted Human Reproduction Act, 1321 Astemizole, 780 Asthma, 220, 223 ovalbumin model, 223 ASTM International, 1368 Astrocytes, 1200-1201 Astrogliosis, 1200 Asymmetric self-renewal, 281-282 AT-1. See Acetylated tubulin-1 (AT-1) AT1. See Alveolar type 1 pneumocytes (AT1) ATHENA. See Advanced Tissue-Engineered Human Ectypal Network Analyzer (ATHENA) Atherosclerosis, 391 ATMP. See Advanced therapy medicinal product (ATMP) ATN. See Acute tubular necrosis (ATN) Atoh1expression, 872, 874 Atomic force microscopy (AFM), 527 Atorvastatin, 775-776 ATP. See Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) ATPase. See Adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) AuNPs. See Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) Autacoids, 888 Autism spectrum disorder (ASD), 161-162 Autografting, 591 Autoimmune diseases, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for, 199 Autoimmune responses, 717 Autoimmunity, 689 Autoimmunity-Blocking Antibody for Tolerance trial (AbATE trial), 999-1000 Autologous arteriovenous (AV), 1029 Autologous cells, 664, 1251, 1264 cell-based MSC therapy, 222 sheets, 473 grafts, 795

Autologous (Continued) growth factors in hair follicle regeneration, 1298-1299 immune response, 175 lipotransfer, 300 peripheral blood stem cell transplantation, 196 somatic cells, 1264 stem cell therapies, 1242 tissue grafts, 1224 transplantation, 1252-1253 of cryopreserved ovarian tissue, 1243 vein grafts, 1224-1225 Autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI), 937-938, 956-957 Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT), 996 Automation, 1369-1370 Autosomal recessive mutation, 354 AV. See Arteriovenous (AV); Autologous arteriovenous (AV) Avidity, 3 Avotermin, 75 Axin, 52-53 Axon regrowth, guiding, 1207-1208 Az-chitosan-QHREDGS, 1090 Azathioprine, 987-988, 999-1000

# В

B lymphocytes, 685 B-cell antibody production, 715 antigen receptors, 198 hyperreactivity, 688-689 in vitro effects of MAPCs on, 184 B-strand peptides, 646 Bacterial immune process, 741 BAL. See Bioartificial liver (BAL); Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) Balb/C control mice, 690 "Bands of engraftment" pattern, 976, 978f Barth syndrome, 1081 Barx-1 gene, 1134 Basal cells, 1283-1284 Basal epidermal cells, 38 Basal lamina, 662-663 invasion of, 3-4 Basement membrane, 613-615 Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), 114, 311-313, 619, 667, 668f, 703, 914, 1087-1088, 1135, 1185-1186, 1228, 1241, 1298-1299 Basic helix-loop-helix family (bHLH family), 275 Basic multicellular units (BMU), 423 Basilar papilla (BP), 869 BAT. See Brown adipose tissue (BAT) BBB. See Blood-brain barrier (BBB) BDNF. See Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) bFGF. See Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) BFU-E. See Burst-forming units-erythroid

BFU-E. See Burst-forming units—erythroid (BFU-E)

BGP. See Bone  $\gamma$ -carboxyglutamic acid containing Gla protein (BGP) bHLH family. See Basic helix-loop-helix family (bHLH family) Biliary tree, 341-343 Biliary tree stem cells (BTSCs), 341 Bilirubin, 236 Bimodal distribution, 1180 Binding energy  $(E_B)$ , 525 Bio-Oss scaffold, 897-898 Bioactive agents, 911 controlled release of, 510-511 affinity-based release, 510 on-demand release, 510-511 porous structures effect, 510 Bioactive bioceramics, 550 Bioactive ceramics, 705 Bioactive glass, 553 Bioactive hydrogels, 763-764 Bioactive molecules, 859, 892-893 BMPs, 893 PDGF, 893 Bioactive signals, 1269 Bioactive substances, 575 Bioactive substrates, 442 Bioactive surfaces development, 442-446 cell-bioactive surface interactions, 443-446 Bioactivity, 697 Bioartificial intestinal segments (BIS), 1136 Bioartificial liver (BAL), 231 and transplantation research, 1107-1108 Bioartificial renal epithelial cell system (BRECS), 1156-1157, 1158f treating acute kidney injury, 1157-1158 Bioassay, 407 Bioceramics, 550 bioactive, 705 CaP, 591-593 inert, 550 natural-based bioceramics, 550 resorbable, 550 Biochemical signaling, 763-764 Biocompatibility, 1088–1090 and bioresponse to biomaterials, 675 fibrosis and fibrous encapsulation, 683-684 immunotoxicity, 684-691 inflammation and wound healing, 676-683 of implanted material, 678 safety and biocompatibility requirements for biomaterial scaffolds, 513-517 foreign body response, 516-517 hemocompatibility, 515 infection and sterilization, 514-515 toxicity, 515 Biodegradability, 697 Biodegradable biomaterials, 1268-1271 advantages and limitations of, 1269t natural collagen matrix, 1270-1271 synthetic scaffolds, 1268-1270 Biodegradable block copolymers, 572

Biodegradable cross-linked polymer networks, 575-580 cross-linked polyesters, 576-580 Biodegradable oligomeric macromers, 579 Biodegradable PLGA microspheres, 690 Biodegradable polymers, 559, 1063–1064, 1169-1170 Biodegradable PUs, 572-573 Biodegradable scaffolds, 907 Biodegradable synthetic polymer, 559-560, 1268-1269. See also Nondegradable synthetic polymers for regenerative medicine, 567-580 amino acid-derived polymers, poly(amino acids), and peptides, 573-574 biodegradable cross-linked polymer networks, 575-580 block copolymers of polyesters or polyamides, 572 polyanhydrides, 574-575 polyesters, 567-572 polyphosphazenes, 575 polyurethanes, 572-573 scaffolds, 1139 for structural integrity, 837 Biodegradable synthetic-based scaffolds, 1038 Bioelectricity, 450 Bioengineered kidney-like tissues, 1171 Bioengineered lungs, 793-794, 794f Bioengineered rodent organs, 621-622 Bioengineered sphincter, 1142 Bioengineered teeth, 912 Bioengineering applications, 815 bone, 795 functional lungs, 788-789 human hair follicle, 1304-1306 of liver tissue bioartificial liver and transplantation research, 1107-1108 cancer research, 1106-1107 hepatic tissue engineering, 1103-1106 limitations of current in vitro liver models to test drugs, 1108-1109 liver spheroids, organoids, and aggregates, 1106-1110 toxicology and drug development, 1108 Biofabrication, 772-773 Biogenesis of platelets, 929 Bioglass, 706-707 Bioinert ceramics, 705 Bioinformatic analysis, 171 Bioink(s), 805, 808-826, 835, 955 biodegradable synthetic polymers for structural integrity, 837 bioink materials compatible with printing techniques, 809t categories, 810f chain, 818-819 hydrogel-based bioinks for cell printing, 835-837

matrix or matrix-mimicking bioinks, 810-821 printability, 835 scaffold-free cell printing, 838 Biologic scaffold materials, 613 clinical and commercial applications, 622 regulatory considerations for ECMs scaffolds, 622 ECMs, 613-619 ECM-cell interactions, 615f intact and solubilized ECMs as scaffold material, 619-622 Biological assays, 540 augmentation, 1190 factors, 942-943 materials, 422 modification of surfaces, 656-659 noise, 100 processes, 633, 636-637, 923 Biological License Agreement (BLA), 150 Biological Product (FDA definition), 1348 Biological protein-peptide-based nanobiomaterials, 492t, 493 Biological scaffolds, 811, 1188, 1268 to support regeneration, 1063-1065 Biological tissues, 661-662 Biological-based scaffolds, 1030-1033 natural decellularized matrices, 1030-1032 nature-derived polymers, 1032 TESA, 1032-1033 Biologics, 81 Biologics Control Act (1902), 1346 Biologics License Application (BLA), 1348-1349 Biology of ligaments and tendons, 1180 Bioluminescence, 799 Bioluminescence imaging (BLI), 278-279, 278f Biomark chip from Fluidigm Corporation, 97 Biomarker analysis, 383 Biomaterial scaffolds, design principles in function and application-oriented design, 505-513 controlled release of bioactive agents, 510-511 degradation profile, 507-510 mechanical support, 505-506 scaffold morphology, 511-513 traceability and imaging, 513 manufacturability, 517 safety and biocompatibility requirements, 513-517 Biomaterial(s), 31, 559, 642, 651, 675, 690, 695-696, 717-718, 772, 1268-1269, 1281 approach, 717-718, 731 biological modification of surfaces, 656-659 biomedical and biotechnological applications of immobilized biomolecules, 657t

for bioprinting, 835-838 immobilizing biomolecules onto and within biomaterials, 658f interfaces in regenerative medicine, 651 overcoating technologies, 655-656 physicochemical surface modifications, 653-655 surface chemical patterning, 659 surface modification strategies, 651-653 systems as cancer vaccines, injectable, 729-731, 730f for TEHVs decellularized bioscaffolds, 1046-1047 future direction in TEHVs, 1052-1053, 1054t hydrolytically degradable polymers, 1050-1051 natural materials for TEHVs, 1047-1049 PVA, 1049-1050 synthetic biomaterials, 1049 TEHvs. fabrication techniques, 1051-1052 templates, 628-630 Biomechanics, 1045, 1180-1183 contribution to joint function, 1182-1183 uniaxial tensile testing, 1181-1182 Biomedical application, 806 thermoresponsive polymer for, 469-470 Biomedical Pus, 567 Biomedical research, 1318-1320 Biomer, 567 Biomimetic(s) biomaterials, 405-406, 409 deposition method, 551-552 hydrogels, 638 lung-on-a-chips, 792 mechanical stimuli, 457 strategies, 691 surfaces, 560 Biomineralization, 761-762 bone tissue engineering growth and differentiation factors in, 859-861 principles of, 854 scaffolds for, 856-859 stem cells in, 854-856 development and fracture of bone, 853 immunomodulation in bone regeneration, 861-862 Biomolecular factors, 667 Biomolecular orientation control, streptavidin for, 530 Biomolecule(s), 656, 667, 670 conformational stabilization for, 527 delivery, 1201, 1206-1207, 1210-1211 "Bioorthopedic" company, 224 Biophysical cues, 280-281 Bioprinted ear construct, 842, 845f Bioprinted organized muscle construct, 845, 845f Bioprinted tracheal construct, 845f, 847

Bioprinting, 544, 832-835, 846, 1078-1080, 1079f, 1286, 1369. See also Threedimensional bioprinting (3D bioprinting) alginate, 815-816 applications, 811 in vitro biological systems, 840t approach, 1051-1052 biomaterials for, 835-838 extrusion-based printing, 834 hybrid and other mechanisms, 834-835 jetting-based printing, 832-833 laser-assisted printing, 834 strategy, 831-832 technologies, 772-773 Biopsy, 1251, 1305 Bioreactive molecules, 938 Bioreactor, 455, 457, 897-898, 943-946, 944f, 1046, 1139, 1274 bioreactor-assisted recellularization method, 621-622 clinical translation, 945-946 and conditioning, 1083-1086 differentiation, 1084-1086 oxygen supply, 1083-1084 development, 1286 in regenerative medicine bone bioreactors, 795-799 challenges and future directions, 801 design considerations for creating bioreactors, 787-788 lung bioreactors, 788-794 systems, 429 translation of cartilage tissue engineering, 945 Bioscaffold, 613, 621 in cartilage repair, 939-942 natural scaffolds, 940-941 synthetic scaffolds, 941-942 decellularized, 1046-1047 Biosensing systems, 1372 Biotechnological approaches, 523-524 Biowire, 1081 Biphasic CaP compounds, 593 Bipolar cells, 352-353 BIS. See Bioartificial intestinal segments (BIS) Bisulfite, 100 BLA. See Biological License Agreement (BLA); Biologics License Application (BLA) Black box process, 169-170 Bladder, 1264 atrophy model, 1271-1272 biodegradable biomaterials, 1268-1271 cell sources, 1264-1268 clinical trials, 1273-1275 clinical studies, 1274-1275 clinical translation, 1273-1274 dystrophy model, 1273 muscle, 1273-1274 preclinical models experimental animal models for bladder reconstruction, 1272t fibrotic bladder model, 1271-1273

Bladder (Continued) tissue engineering techniques for bladder regeneration, 1273t tissue regeneration models, 1271 Bladder submucosa (BSM), 1270 Blastema cell migration and accumulation, 41-42 cell proliferation, 37 development, 37 formation, 37-42 cell cycling during, 40-41 differential tissue contributions to blastema, 40 hemostasis and reepithelialization, 38-39 histolysis and dedifferentiation, 39 - 40macrophages, 41 growth, 42-45 AEC-nerve interaction, 42-44 cells interaction from opposite sides of limb circumference, 44-45 Blastocyst, 114-115 Bleomycin, 78, 778-779 BLI. See Bioluminescence imaging (BLI) β-Blocker, 780 Blood, 753-754 blood-material interactions, 676-677 clot, 1183-1184 substitutes, 923-933 transfusion, 924 vessel, 313, 317, 424 bioreactors, 431-432 blood vessel-associated mesoangioblasts, 285-286 Blood and Marrow Transplant Clinical Trials Network, 156 Blood urea nitrogen (BUN), 143, 1152-1153 Blood-retinal barrier (BRB), 1200 Blood-spinal cord barrier (BSCB), 1201 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 370-371, 1200 permeability, 373-375 BM. See Bone marrow (BM) BM-MNCs. See Bone marrow mononuclear cell (BM-MNCs) BM-MSCs. See Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) BM-SCs. See Bone marrow-derived stem cells (BM-SCs) BMAC technique. See Bone marrow aspirate concentrate technique (BMAC technique) BMDCs. See Bone marrow-derived cells (BMDCs) BMF. See Bone marrow failure (BMF) BMP. See Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) BMP receptor IA (BMPR-IA), 409 BMP receptor IB (BMPR-IB), 409 BMSCs. See Bone marrow stem/stromal cells (BMSCs) BMU. See Basic multicellular units (BMU) Body-on-a-chip, 769-770, 775-783

advance of in vitro organoid development, 770-771 multiorgan systems and future applications, 775-783 organ-on-a-chip technologies and applications, 772-775 personalized medicine systems, 1372 perspectives, 783 Bolus delivery of immunomodulatory agents, 721-722 Bombyx mori, 1125 Bombyx mori. See Silkworm (Bombyx mori) Bombyx mori (B. mori), 645, 699, 1271 Bone, 417, 841-842, 955-956 adaptation, 423-424 bioreactors, 429-430, 795-799 bioengineering bone, 795 monitoring environment and tissue development, 799 nonperfused bioreactors, 795 perfusion bioreactors, 795-797 for studying bone development and disease, 798-799 for solving vascularization problem, 797-798, 798f bone development, 853 development, 427, 853 bioreactors for studying bone development and disease, 798-799 fracture healing, 853 fundamentals of bone development and defects, 696 grafting, 406, 854 induction, 406 injuries, 535 matrix, 764 minerals, 493 segments, 791-792 substitute, 591, 593 tissue, 493-494, 761, 795 Bone marrow (BM), 181-182, 205-206, 248-250, 253-254, 295, 307, 923-925 aspirate, 894 BM-derived muscle stem cells, 296 cells, 240 mobilization of, 308-310 hematopoiesis, 193 niche, 193 safety of BM cell infusion, 195-196 stem cells, 257 stromal cells of, 315 transplantation, 195-196 Bone marrow aspirate concentrate technique (BMAC technique), 892, 894-897 Bone marrow failure (BMF), 156 Bone marrow mononuclear cell (BM-MNCs), 257, 345, 375-376, 381, 1035-1036 adult trial, 382, 384 biomarker analysis, 383 imaging data, 382-383 pediatric trial, 381-382 longitudinal outcome measures, 381

rationale for using BM mononuclear cells, 381 reduction in therapeutic intensity, 381 Bone marrow stem/stromal cells (BMSCs), 378, 699-700, 1264, 1266 Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs), 83, 135-136, 206, 700-701, 795, 909-910, 955, 1168-1169, 1241 Bone marrow-derived cells (BMDCs), 1187 Bone marrow-derived hematopoietic stem cells, 351, 361 Bone marrow-derived stem cells (BM-SCs), 362, 1204 Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), 6, 49-52, 248-250, 339-340, 405-409, 406f, 411f-412f, 523, 696, 853, 859-860, 892-893, 911, 957, 1300 BMP-2, 205, 409, 427, 572, 763-764, 940 BMP-4, 701 BMP-7, 763-764, 897-898, 1172-1173 Bone regeneration, 761-762, 841-842, 858, 894. See also Hair cell regeneration; Peripheral nerve regeneration bone tissue engineering growth and differentiation factors in, 859-861 principles of, 854 scaffolds for, 856-859 stem cells in, 854-856 development and fracture of bone, 853 immunomodulation, 861-862 nonperfused bioreactors for, 795 perfusion bioreactors for, 795-797 surface modification and functionalization of scaffolds for, 859 Bone sialoprotein (BS), 699-700, 855t, 909-910 Bone tissue engineering (BTE), 761, 795. See also Dental tissue engineering; Functional tissue engineering (FTE); Hepatic tissue engineering cells in, 762 growth and differentiation factors, 859-861 bone morphogenetic proteins, 859-860 nucleotide delivery and gene therapy, 860-861 PTH delivery, 860 nanofibrous scaffolds, 857 natural origin materials calcium phosphates, 551-553 chitosan, 538-540 collagen, 540-543 gellan gum, 543-545 natural-based bioceramics, 550 natural-based polymers, 538 PHAs, 545-546 silicate ceramics, 553-554 silk fibroin, 547-548 starch, 548-550 preclinical models

animal species, 765-766 in vitro preclinical models, 764 in vivo preclinical models, 764-765 principles, 854 scaffolding approaches in, 697-699 hybrid materials, 698 hydrogels, 698-699 immunomodulatory materials, 698 osteoinductive materials, 698 scaffolds for, 856-859 composite materials for bone tissue engineering scaffolds, 858 injectable scaffolds, 858-859 nanofibrous scaffolds for bone tissue engineering, 857 porous and highly interconnected scaffolds, 856 scaffolding design criteria, 856 surface modification and functionalization, 859 three-dimensional printed scaffolds, 859 stem cells in, 854-856 ADSCs, 854-855 ESCs, 855 iPSCs, 855-856 MSCs, 854 Bone γ-carboxyglutamic acid containing Gla protein (BGP), 406 Bone-forming cells, 764, 894 Bone-ligament-bone complex, 1181 Bone-PT-bone (BPTB), 1179, 1184 Bony labyrinth, 867 Boston KPro, 1116 Bound delivery systems, 763-764 Bovine collagen, 616, 643 Bovine serum albumin (BSA), 442 Bowman capsule, 1167 BP. See Basilar papilla (BP) BPTB. See Bone-PT-bone (BPTB) Brain death, 127-128 injury phases primary vs. secondary brain injury, 370-376 Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 911, 1201, 1227-1228 BRB. See Blood-retinal barrier (BRB) BrdU. See Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Breakthrough Devices Program, 1374 Breakthrough Therapy designation, 1369-1370 Breast cancer, 6-7, 108, 398, 775 BRECS. See Bioartificial renal epithelial cell system (BRECS) BRG1 chromatin remodeling factor, 57 Brittle ceramics, 601-602 Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), 376, 1167, 1300 Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), 1154-1155 Brown adipose tissue (BAT), 297 Brown algae, 640 Brushite cements, 594-595, 601-602 BS. See Bone sialoprotein (BS)

selection considerations based on

BSA. See Bovine serum albumin (BSA) BSCB. See Blood-spinal cord barrier (BSCB) BSM. See Bladder submucosa (BSM) BSP. See Bone sialoprotein (BS) BTE. See Bone tissue engineering (BTE) BTSCs. See Biliary tree stem cells (BTSCs) Bulge cells, 1297 BUN. See Blood urea nitrogen (BUN) Burst-forming units-erythroid (BFU-E), 924

#### Bxb1 phage integrases, 748

#### C

"C-G" peptide linker, 1123-1124 c-Kit expression, 248-250 c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac progenitor/stem cells, 248-250, 263 c-Myc genes, 40, 50, 54, 117, 181, 1168 C-reactive protein (CRP), 1155-1156 Ca<sub>10</sub>[PO<sub>4</sub>]<sub>6</sub>[OH]<sub>2</sub>. See Hydroxyapatite nanoparticles (HAP nanoparticles) Ca<sub>18</sub>Mg<sub>2</sub>[HPO<sub>4</sub>]<sub>2</sub>[PO<sub>4</sub>]<sub>12</sub>. See Whitlockite CABG. See Coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) Caco-2 cells, 1139 CAD. See Computer-aided design (CAD); Coronary artery disease (CAD) Cadaveric islet transplantation, 994 Cadaveric nerves, 1232 Cadherins, 2, 772 cadherin-catenin complexes, 398 extracellular domains, 398 switching, 2 Cadmium selenide (CdSe), 490-491 Cadmium sulfide, 490-491 Caenorhabditis elegans (C. elegans), 393, 426 CaHPO<sub>4</sub>. See Dicalcium phosphate anhydrous (DCPA) Calcium phosphate (CaP), 550-553, 551f, 591, 699-700, 955 bioceramics, 591-593 in bone tissue engineering applications, 552-553 CaP-based ceramics, 891-892 compounds and major properties, 592t CPCs, 593-594 classes of CPCs, 594-595 dental applications, 607 oral, maxillofacial, and craniofacial applications, 606 orthopedic applications, 607 physiochemical properties cohesion, 601 injectability, 599-600 setting/hardening mechanism, 595-599 processing methods, 552 strategies to improving mechanical properties, 601-606 dual setting system, 604-605 fiber reinforcement, 605-606 porosity, 602-604 2D solubility phase diagram for CaP compounds, 592f

Calcium phosphate cements (CPCs), 593-594, 915 basic properties, 593-594 classes, 594-595 apatite cements, 594-595 brushite cements, 595 Calcium phosphate ceramics (CPCs), 540, 706 particles, 656 Calcium polyphosphate scaffolds, 512 Calcium polyphosphate-based bioceramic scaffolds (CPP-based bioceramic scaffolds), 709 Calcium-deficient HA (CDHA), 592-594 Californian Institute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM), 1316 CAM processes. See Computer-aided manufacturing process (CAM processes) cAMP. See Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), 1320-1321 Cancellous bone, 696 Cancer, 400, 776, 1263 cells, 715 diseases, 405-406 metastasis, 776 nanomedicine in, 718-719 research, 1106-1107 stem cells, 108 Cancer immunotherapy, 715-717, 947 advantages and disadvantages, 717-718 macroscale biomaterial scaffolds, 727-733 to enhancing autologous T cell therapy, 731–733 injectable biomaterial systems as cancer vaccines, 729-731 nanoparticle biomaterials, 718-727 nanomedicine applications, 727 nanoparticle targeting applications, 721 Cancer vaccine, 716 implantable biomaterial scaffolds as, 727-729, 728f injectable biomaterial systems as, 729-731, 730f Cancer-on-a-chip, 774-775 CaP. See Calcium phosphate (CaP) CAR T-cells. See Chimeric antigen receptor T-cells (CAR T-cells) Carbachol, 1272-1273 Carbodiimide chemistry, 442 Carbon based nanobiomaterials, 492t, 493 Carbon nanotubes (CNTs), 450-451, 489, 647-648 Carbonyl diimidazole chemistry, 529 Carbopol, 823-824 N-Carboxy-anhydrides (NCAs), 574 Carboxylated phosphorylcholine, 573 5-Carboxylcytosine, 57 Carboxylic acid, 568 polyesters of, 571 Carboxymethyl cellulose, 601

1,3-bis(p-Carboxyphenoxy)propane (CPP), Carcinogenesis, 301-302 Cardiac anlagen, 247 Cardiac engraftment of cells, 253-254 Cardiac muscle, 494 Cardiac myocytes, 65, 248 Cardiac neural crest cells (CNC cells), 247 - 250CNC-derived progenitors, 250-251 Cardiac organoids, 779-780, 1080-1082, 1082f Cardiac output (CO), 1157-1158 Cardiac patches implantation, 1091-1093 scaffolds, and bioreactors cardiac patches engineering, 1074-1077 Cardiac precursor pathways, 247 Cardiac progenitor cell (CPC), 209-210 CPC-derived exosomes, 209-210 Cardiac regeneration, 209-210 Cardiac Repair Cell (CRC), 265-266 Cardiac stem cells (CSC), 261-262. See also Amniotic fluid stem cells (AFS cells); Embryonic stem cells (ESC); Human embryonic stem cells (hESC); Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs); Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in adult heart, 248-252 c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cardiac progenitor/stem cells, 248 - 250cardiac neural crest-derived progenitors, 250-251 epicardial progenitor cells, 251-252 Isl1<sup>+</sup> cardioblasts, 250 cell-based therapeutics for heart disease, 252-254, 253f clinical trials, 255-264 c-Kit+ CSCs, 263 cardiopoietic stem cells, 255-262 other CSCs, 263-264 combined stem cell therapeutics, 265-266 development of heart from cardiac stem/progenitor cells, 247-248 mechanisms of action, 254-255 cell-based therapeutic strategies for cardiac repair, 254f methods for expansion of adult, 265 Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy trial (SCIPIO trial), 263 Cardiac stem/progenitor cells, heart development from, 247-248 Cardiac tissue, 450, 846 bioprinting, 1078-1080, 1079f bioreactors and conditioning, 1083-1086 cardiac organoids and organ-on-a-chip engineering, 1080-1082 cardiac patches engineering using cells, scaffolds, and bioreactors, 1074-1077

critical issues associating with tissue engineering heart, 1074t engineering culture systems, 1084f engineering ventricle, 1083 goals and issues, 1073 native heart extracellular matrix, 1075f tissue and organ function, 1086-1090 host response and biocompatibility, 1088-1090 mechanical elasticity and strength development, 1086 microfabrication of vasculature, 1089f thrombogenicity and endothelialization, 1087 tissue architecture and electrical conduction, 1086-1087 vascularization, 1087-1088 in vivo studies, 1090-1094 Cardiac-committed cells, 255 Cardiogenic mesoderm, 247-248 Cardiomyocyte, 175, 1075-1076, 1080 mitosis pathways, 247 renewal, 248 in adult humans, 249f Cardiomyogenesis, 250-251 Cardiopoietic cells, 252 Cardiopoietic stem cells adult stem cells, 256-257 BM stem cells, 257 BMMNCs, 257 EPC, 257 MSCs, 258-261, 259f myoblasts, 261, 263f pluripotent stem cells, 255-256 Cardiospheres (CSs), 265 CS forming cells, 265 Cardiovascular disease (CVD), 209-210, 255, 314, 318-319, 1029. See also Heart Cardiovascular tissue, 431, 495 Carolinas Cord Blood Bank (CCBB), 151 Cartilage, 405-406, 405f, 424, 842, 937, 956 bioreactors, 429 morphogenetic proteins, 412 regeneration, 474 surface modification, 938-939 TE for cartilage repair, 938-946 tissue, 496 Cartilage tissue engineering. See also Bone tissue engineering (BTE); Dental tissue engineering for cartilage repair, 938-946 trends, 946–947 Cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins (CDMPs), 405-406 Cas protein, 742, 744 Cas9 orthologue, 749-750 Cas9 system. See CRISPR-associated protein 9 system (Cas9 system) Catecholamine phenotype, 173 β-Catenin (β-cat), 6-7, 52-53, 874 Catgut sutures, 642-643 Catheter, 1150 Cationic lipids, 749 CB. See Cord blood (CB)

CBAVD. See Congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens (CBAVD) CBD-VEGF. See VEGF fused with collagenbinding domain (CBD-VEGF) CBER. See Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) CBP. See Cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein (CBP) CBT. See Cord blood transplantation (CBT) CBUs. See Cord blood units (CBUs) CC. See Corpus callosum (CC) C-C-chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2), 373 CC10. See Club cell secretory protein, 10 kD (CC10) CCBB. See Carolinas Cord Blood Bank (CCBB) CCI. See Controlled cortical impact (CCI) CCL20. See Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 20 (CCL20) CCR2. See C-C-chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2) CCRM. See Centre for Commercialization of Regenerative Medicine (CCRM) CD105 marker. See Endoglin CD105-based immunoisolation method, 205 CD106 marker. See Vascular adhesion molecule-1 CD11a/CD18 marker, 681 CD11b marker, 277 CD11b/CD18 marker, 681 CD11c/CD18 marker, 681 CD133 stem cell marker, 1167 CD146 marker, 206 CD24 marker, 1135 CD25 T cell markers, 682 CD26 marker, 232 CD31 marker, 206, 277 CD34 marker, 194-195, 311 CD34<sup>+</sup> surface marker, 154 CD36-thrombospondin binding, 18 CD40 ligand expression, 688 CD41. See Cell surface markers GPIIb/IIIa CD44 receptor, 18 CD45 markers, 206, 277 CD69 T cell markers, 682 CD8+ DCs, 727-729 CD80 molecule, 1268 CD86 molecule, 1268 CD9<sup>-/-</sup> mice, 210–211 CDC. See Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) CDCs. See CS-derived cells (CDCs) CDER. See Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) CDHA. See Calcium-deficient HA (CDHA) CDK. See Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) CDMPs. See Cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins (CDMPs) cDNA. See Complementary DNA (cDNA) CDRH. See Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH)

CdSe. See Cadmium selenide (CdSe)

CEA. See Cultured epithelial autograft (CEA) CECs. See Circulating endothelial cells (CECs); Corneal endothelial cells (CECs) Cefazolin sodium, 898 Cell adhesion, 443-444, 456, 940 and detachment, thermoresponsive surface, 470 molecules, 763-764 Cell administration, 976-980 approaches for intramuscular transplantation, 976 density of cell injections, 976 efficiency of cell injections, 979-980 potential risks of cell injection procedure, 977-979 Cell and Gene Therapy Catapult network, 1375 Cell injection density, 976 efficiency, 979-980 procedure, 977-979 strategies, 1074-1075 Cell polarity, changes in, 3 Cell printing hydrogel-based bioinks for, 835-837 scaffold-free, 838 Cell sheet engineering clinical applications for, 472-474 cartilage regeneration, 474 cornea reconstruction, 472 esophagus reconstruction after ESD treatment, 473 myocardium regeneration, 473-474 PDL regeneration, 474 combination with scaffold-based engineering, 477-478 intelligence of thermoresponsive polymers for, 469-471 microfabricated intelligent surface, 478 - 481produces scaffold-free, 3D tissue constructs, 474-477 Cell sheet layering technique, 474-475, 475f 3D coculture system based on, 475 3D orientation arrangement using, 480 Cell sheet technology, 495 Cell signaling, 391 growth factors and Cell signaling molecules, 80-81 Cell source, 297, 663-664, 1043-1044, 1073 , 1074t, 1166-1169 bladder and ureter cells, 1264 cells in BTE, 762 mechanism of cell therapy, 1266-1268 stem cell sources, 1264-1266 Cell surface annexin II, 18 antigen CD31, 312 markers GPIIb/IIIa, 929 proteoglycans, 442 receptors, 18 Cell survival in recipient, 982

Cell therapy, 175-176, 627, 971, 1165, 1187, 1202-1203, 1368 applications, 318-319 for blood substitutes HSCs, 931-933 megakaryocytes and platelets, 929-931 perspectives, 933 red blood cells, 924-929 cell expansion, 1266 of liver disease choice of sites for hepatocyte transplantation, 231 clinical hepatocyte transplantation, 232-237, 233t current treatments for, 230t hepatocyte transplantation, 237-241 integration of hepatocytes after transplantation, 231-232 multipotentiality, 1266-1267 paracrine effects and immunomodulatory properties, 1267-1268 Cell transplantation, 230, 232-233, 237, 335-336, 971, 1205-1206, 1208, 1211-1212. See also Islet cell transplantation immunology, 239 in skeletal muscle, 972-975 Cell-adhesive ligands, 638 Cell-assisted lipotransfer, 300 Cell-based neuroprotection, 361-362 bone marrow-derived stem cells, 362 neural and retinal progenitor cells, 362 umbilical tissue-derived stem cells, 362 Cell-based therapeutics, 247 for heart disease, 252-254, 253f Cell-based therapy, 205, 469, 473-474, 953-954, 956-957, 1166-1172 cell sources, 1166-1169 development, 104-105 engineering of cell-based renal constructs, 1169-1172 kidney regeneration, 1166t for lumbar degenerative disc disease, 962-963 Cell-based tissue engineering, 1269 Cell-binding peptides, 667 Cell-free approach, 1172-1173 Cell-free biomaterials, 1122-1124 collagen-based implants, 1123 decellularized extracellular matrix as implants, 1122-1123 peptide analogs of extracellular matrix, 1123-1124 Cell-free method, 1116 Cell-free organ, 453-454 Cell-free seeded scaffolds, 1271 Cell-graft survival ensuring cell survival in recipient, 982 initial survival, 980-981 long-term survival, 981-982 Cell-homing strategies, 701 Cell-laden bioinks, 819-821, 820f

current translation of three-dimensional bioprinting, 825-826 sacrificial bioinks, 821-823, 822f supporting bioinks and supporting baths, 823-825 Cell-laden GelMa, 836-837 Cell-laden scaffold, 810 Cell-mediated delayed hypersensitivity reaction, 686 Cell-penetrating peptides, 749 Cell-replacement therapy, 355-361 human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium, 355-356 induced pluripotent stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium, 356-359 photoreceptor transplantation, 360-361 scaffolds for retinal pigment epithelium transplantation, 359-360 surgical techniques for retinal pigment epithelium transplantation, 360 Cell-replacement therapy. See also Extracorporeal renal replacement Cell-seeded, longitudinally aligned nerve guidance conduits and channels, 1231 Cell-seeded scaffolds, 1255, 1271 Cell(s), 231, 1368 behaviors, 788 culture, 523-524, 1033-1034 cycling during blastema formation, 40 - 41death postthaw, 1156 division, 22 durability, 1073 encapsulation techniques, 1243-1244 expansion, 1266, 1367-1368 function, 1073 fusion, 240 granules, 29 of hematopoietic origin, 1284 infiltration, 697 infusions, 229-230 of innate immune system, 715 interaction, 438 isolation, 206, 238, 1167 migration, 456-457 morphology, 456 motility, 444-445 stimulation, 3 movement, 440 of MPS, 720 number, 1073 to organs, 399-400 phenotypes, 1060-1061 potency assays, 1302 proliferation, 445-446 senescence, 41 shape, 446 signals, 763-764 structure and composition, 392, 392f and tissue expansion systems, 1372 types, 240, 376 for cartilage repair, 939

Cell-bioactive surface interactions, 443-446 cell adhesion, 443-444 cell motility, 444-445 cell proliferation, self-renewal, and differentiation, 445-446 Cell-biomaterial composites, 1125 Cell-cell adhesion, 398-400 from cells to organs, 399-400 changes in, 2 Cell-cell interactions, 478 Cell-ECM adhesion, 398 changes in, 3 Cell-ECM interactions, 15, 19f, 28f, 437-438, 445 composition and diversity of ECM, 15 - 16during healing of cutaneous wounds, 25 - 28implications for regenerative medicine, 30-31 receptors for ECM molecules, 16-18 during regenerative fetal wound healing, 28-30 signal transduction events during, 18 - 24Cell-ECM reciprocity, 457 Cell-fibrin hydrogel micromolding approach, 1081 Cell-polymer scaffold, 1273 β Cells, 335 from adult stem/progenitor cells, 341-343 from pluripotent stem cells, 336-341, 337f, 337t, 338f for replacement therapy, 336 Cell-scaffold combination products, 1355-1356 CELLstart, 118 Cell-substrate interactions Cell-ECM matrix interactions, 437-438 cellular responses to topographical cues, 447-450 chemical properties effect, 440-442 cellular response, 441 methods of altering surface chemistry, 441 - 442surface charge, 440 surface wettability, 440 CNT and graphene surfaces, 451 commonly used ligands, 442 development of bioactive surfaces, 442 - 446dimensionality effects, 451-460 effect of biological properties, 442 electrically conductive substrate, 450 - 451fabrication techniques, 446-447 importance of substrate, 438 physical properties, effect of, 438-440 topography effects, 446 Cell-substrate interactions, 489 Cellular biology, 391 cardioplasty, 299

characterization ASC, 296-297 cell source, 297 SVF, 296 copatterning to create cellular microenvironment, 478 differentiation, 445-446 fractions, 295-296 function, 1373 mathematical identification of cellular subpopulations, 101-103 mechanics, 395-396 mechanotransduction mechanisms, 397-400 through cell-cell adhesions, 398-400 through cell-extracellular matrix adhesions, 398 metabolism, 1067-1068 polarity, 3 proliferation, 874-875 reprogramming, 55 scale, 506 Cellular, Tissue, and Gene Therapies Advisory Committee (CTGTAC), 1352, 1358-1359 Cellular heterogeneity, 93-94 in aging, 107–108 clinical implications in tissue repair and disease, 105-108 in diabetes, 106 in fibrosis, 107 tumor cell heterogeneity and drug resistance, 108 in wound healing, 106-107 Cellular response, 441 in modifying ECM, 459-460 to three-dimensional substrates, 455-457 cell adhesion, 456 cell migration, 456-457 cell-ECM reciprocity, 457 to topographical cues, 447-450 Cellularized membrane, 774 Cellulose, 641-642 acetate, 494 derivatives, 1151 Cementum tissues, 907 Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER), 1347 Center for Cord Blood, 150 Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH), 1347 Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), 1347 Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research, 150 Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM), 1354 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 369, 369f, 1351, 1353 Central nervous system (CNS), 176, 320-321, 351, 371-373, 496, 1199, 1229, 1283

case studies in tissue therapy in, 1203-1212 retinal degeneration, 1208-1212 stroke, 1203-1206 traumatic spinal cord injury, 1206-1208 therapeutic strategies in, 1201-1203 biomolecule delivery, 1201 cell therapy, 1202-1203 wound response and barriers to regeneration, 1200-1201 Centre for Commercialization of Regenerative Medicine (CCRM), 1374-1375 Ceramics, 831, 891-892 scaffolds, 507-508, 705-707 bioglass, 706-707 calcium phosphate, 706 coral, 707 Cerebral edema, 375-376 Cerebral infarction, 314 Cerebral palsy, 159-160 Cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), 369-370 Cerebral vasospasm, 370-371 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), 378, 1205-1206 Cerebrovascular disease, 1203 Cethrin, 1201, 1207 CF. See Cystic fibrosis (CF) CFP. See Commissioner's Fellowship Program (CFP) CFTR. See Cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor (CFTR) CFU. See Colony-forming unit (CFU) CFU-erythroid (CFU-E), 924 CFU-Fs. See Colony-forming unit-fibroblasts (CFU-Fs) CFU-s. See Colony-forming unit-spleen (CFU-s) CGI-I. See Clinical Global Impressions scale (CGI-I) CGL. See Chronic granulocytic leukemia (CGL) CGRGDS. See Cyclic Gly-Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (CGRGDS) CGTP. See Current Good Tissue Practice (CGTP) Chain-growth polymerizations, 560-561 Characteristic interaction parameter, 665 Charge control of orientation, 528-529 Chemical accelerators, 689-690 agents, 749 chemical-field effect transistors, 1159 cross-linked hydrogels, 637 delivery methods, 749 gene delivery methods, 749 groups, 531 mediators, 676, 677t modifications, 653 processing methods, 616 species, 525 Chemisorption, 443 Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC), 1349-1350

Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 20 (CCL20), 727-729 Chemokines, 209, 297, 715 Chemometrics. See Multivariate statistical methods Chemoselective reactions, 657-659 Chemotaxis, 406, 679 Chemotherapeutic, 78, 778-779 CHI. See Chitosan (CHI) Chicken-derived erythroid cells, 192 Chick-quail chimeras, 191-192 Child-Pugh scores, 241 Children's Oncology Group, 156 Chimeras, human stem cells to creating, 1335-1336 Chimeric animals, 1013 Chimeric antigen receptor T-cells (CAR Tcells), 716 China Regenerative Medicine International, 1123 ChIP-Seq. See Chromatin immunoprecipitation-sequencing (ChIP-Seq) Chitin, 538, 613 and derivatives, 641 α-Chitin, 641 Chitosan (CHI), 538-540, 613, 641, 699, 703, 940-941, 1049, 1103, 1141 in bone tissue engineering applications, 540 CHI-alginate gel-MSC-BMP-2 composites, 702 CHI-alginate hybrid scaffolds, 702 CHI-polypyrrole-alginate composite scaffold, 702 chitosan-based scaffolds, 540 processing methods, 538-540 Chondro-Gide, 616 Chondroclasts, 696 Chondrocytes, 429, 696, 939 Chondrogenesis, 406, 412 Chondroitin sulfate, 618 Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPG), 1200, 1231-1232 Chondroitinase ABC, 1203, 1231-1232 Choriocapillaris, 352 Choroideremia, 363 Chromatin immunoprecipitationsequencing (ChIP-Seq), 52 Chromatin structure determining regulatory activity of transcription factor, 58 Chromatography, 209 Chronic bladder diseases, 1266 Chronic bone disorders, 591 Chronic CsA, 1172 Chronic granulocytic leukemia (CGL), 196 Chronic inflammation, 284, 679-680, 688, 1158 Chronic ischemic heart disease, 318 Chronic kidney disease (CKD), 1165 Chronic skin ulcers, 72 Chronic ulcers, 72 Chymotrypsin, 645

CIHR. See Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), 184, 1201, 1227-1228 C-inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>), 425 Circulating endothelial cells (CECs), 314 CIRM. See Californian Institute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM) Cisplatin, 878 Citric acid, 571, 600 CKD. See Chronic kidney disease (CKD) Clara cells, 142-143 CLARITY technique, 454 Class I transposons, 747 Class II transposons, 747 Class switching, 888 Claudin tight junction gene, 4 Click chemistry, 444, 580, 638, 647, 657-659 Clinical development plan in FDA, 1356-1358 Clinical Global Impressions scale (CGI-I), 162 Clinical islet transplantation, 990-993. See also Cord blood transplantation (CBT); Hepatocyte transplantation; In utero transplantation (IUT) islet transplantation procedure, 991-992 patient assessment and selection, 990-991 risks to recipient immunosuppressive therapy and complications, 992-993 surgical complications, 992 Clinical liver transplantation, 185 Clinical translation, 945-946, 1068, 1338-1340 Clonal derivation, 170-171 Clonal evolution model, 108 Clonal T cell expansion, 724 Cloning human embryos cloning, 1334-1335 reproductive cloning, 1311, 1335 therapeutic, 1311, 1334 Cloning embryos, 1310 Cloning process, 25, 747 CLP. See Collagen-like peptide (CLP) Club cell secretory protein, 10 kD (CC10), 1060-1061 "Cluster defining" genes, 103 Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR), 174, 285, 363, 741-746, 861, 1019-1020, 1063, 1187 CRISPR-C2c2, 745-746 CRISPR-Cas system, 741, 743 CRISPR/spCas9 system, 742 HDR, 744-745, 744f interference technology, 754 knockouts via double-strand breaks, 742-743 nickases, 743, 743f SpCas 9 variants and orthologues, 744 - 745Clustering, 437-438

fuzzy c-means, 103 hierarchical, 101-102, 102f partition, 102 CM. See Conditioned medium (CM) CMC. See Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC) CMI. See Collagen Meniscal Implant (CMI) CMP. See Common myeloid progenitor (CMP) CN syndrome. See Crigler-Najjar syndrome (CN syndrome) CNC cells. See Cardiac neural crest cells (CNC cells) CNS. See Central nervous system (CNS) CNTF. See Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) CNTs. See Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) CO. See Cardiac output (CO) Co-based alloys, 707 Co-microencapsulated granulosa cells, 1244 Co-printing bioinks, 816-819, 817f Coacervation, 617 COC. See Cumulus-oophorus complexes (COC) Cochlear epithelium, 874 Cohesion, 601 strategies to improve cohesion, 601 COL2. See Collagen type II (COL2) COL7A1. See Collagen α-1 (VII) chain (COL7A1) Coley's toxin, 715-716 Collagen, 494, 540-543, 613, 615-616, 700-701, 788, 815, 940, 1103-1104, 1125, 1169, 1226, 1270 in bone tissue engineering applications, 542-543 collagen I, 529 collagen-based hydrogels, 1169 collagen-based inert matrix, 1255 collagen-based scaffolds, 542, 1172 collagen-filled vein grafts, 1224-1226 to control protein orientation, 529 and derivatives, 642-643 fibers, 1180 fibrils, 703-704 gel scaffold system, 1169 processing methods, 541-542 type I, 836 Collagen Meniscal Implant (CMI), 616 Collagen scaffold (CS), 616, 700-701, 1133, 1136, 1241 collagen scaffold-mesenchymal stromal cell study, 385 Collagen type II (COL2), 957 Collagen α-1 (VII) chain (COL7A1), 754 Collagen-based implants, 1123, 1125 Collagen-like peptide (CLP), 1123-1124 Collagenase-sensitive peptide, 573 Collective migration, 1 Colon, 1141 Colony-forming unit (CFU), 152-154, 312-313, 924 Colony-forming unit-fibroblasts (CFU-Fs), 206

Colony-forming unit-spleen (CFU-s), 191 Combination Product, 1348 ComC. See Complement cascade (ComC) Commercial inkjet printers, 833 Commercialization, 1324-1325 Commissioner's Fellowship Program (CFP), 1361 Common myeloid progenitor (CMP), 924 Complement cascade (ComC), 308-310 Complement component C5a, 685 Complement-activated fragment (C3b), 679 Complementary DNA (cDNA), 95-97, 752 Compliance, 439-440 Composite composite sponge-like hydrogels, 553-554 implants incorporating specific bioactive functions, 1125 scaffolds, 708 tissues, 847 Comprehensiveness, 95 Compressive strength of CPCs, 601-602 Computed tomography (CT), 370, 513, 831-832, 893, 1046 Computer numeric code machining, 1157 Computer-aided design (CAD), 453, 552, 899, 955, 1083 Computer-aided manufacturing process (CAM processes), 541, 831-832, 832f, 834 Conditioned medium (CM), 210, 1299, 1301 for hair growth, adipose-derived stem cells use and, 1299 Cone beam computed tomography, 702 Conformational stabilization for biomolecules, 527 Congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens (CBAVD), 1255 Congenital disorders, 1263 Congenital heart disease, 1041-1042 Congestive heart failure cardiopoietic regenerative therapy study, 259-261 Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), 75-76 Connexins (Cx), 81 connexin 32, 232 connexin 43 proteins, 1079, 1085-1086 Consensus standard, 1357 Constitutive relations, 421-423 Contact guidance, 444, 634-635, 1192, 1287-1288 Contigen, 616 Continuous intrathecal infusion, 1207 Continuous venovenous hemofiltration (CVVH), 1153-1154 Contraceptive hormones, 561 Contractile cells, 23-24 myocytes, 440 myofibrils, 273 SMC markers, 1267

Contractures, 65 Controlled cortical impact (CCI), 371 CCI injury model, 373 Conventional approaches, 591 Conventional cell delivery routes, 378-380 pulmonary "first-pass" effect, 378 Conventional fabrication methods, 511 Conventional FACS, 99 Conventional membranes, 1152 Conventional scaffolds, 628-629 Conventional soft-lithography, 1088 Conventional therapies, 1149 Conversion coatings, 653 Copatterning to create cellular microenvironment, 478 Copolymers, 704-705 Copper-containing mesoporous bioactive glass (Cu-MBG), 709 Coral, 707 Cord blood (CB), 924-925 banking, 150 CB-derived microglial-like cells, 158-159 expansion technologies, 157 off-the-shelf therapy, 160-161 stem cells clinical uses of umbilical cord blood, 156-157 cord blood banking, 150 distributions of quality variables, 151f history, 149-150 investigations in treatment of acquired brain injuries, 159-162 public CB banking procedures, 151 - 156public vs. family banks, 150-151 therapies for inherited and acquired brain diseases, 157-159 Cord blood transplantation (CBT), 149, 197. See also Hepatocyte transplantation; In utero transplantation (IUT); Islet cell transplantation for hematological malignancies, 156 for IMD, 157–159 for nonmalignant hematological diseases, 156-157 Cord blood units (CBUs), 149 characterization, 154-156 Cornea cell-free biomaterials, 1122-1124 cell-biomaterial composites, 1125 challenges, 1125-1126 composite implants incorporating specific bioactive functions, 1125 fully cell-based, self-assembled corneal constructs, 1119-1122 reconstruction, 472 regeneration of corneal layers, 1118-1119 regenerative medicine applying to keratoprosthesis development, 1116-1118 structure and function, 1115

treatment options, state of art, and need, 1115-1116 0-Cornea, 1122-1123 Corneal blindness, 1115 Corneal endothelial cells (CECs), 449, 1118-1119 Corneal endothelium, 1118-1119 Corneal epithelium, 1118 Corneal prostheses, 1116 Corneal stroma, 1119 Coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), 261-262, 1029 Coronary artery disease (CAD), 1029 Coronary heart disease, 252-253 Corpus callosum (CC), 382-383 Corrosion process, 507-508 Corti organ. See Mammalian auditory sensory epithelia Cortical bone, 696 Corticospinal tract (CST), 382-383 Corticosteroids, 239, 987-988, 1210-1211 CosmoDerm, 616 CosmoPlast, 616 Cost-effective manufacturing, 1367 Costimulatory molecules, 716-717 Covalent coatings, 656 Covalent cross-linking mechanisms, 640, 648 COX-2<sup>+</sup>. See Cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2<sup>+</sup>) CPC. See Cardiac progenitor cell (CPC) CPCs. See Calcium phosphate cements (CPCs); Calcium phosphate ceramics (CPCs) Cpf1 system, 745 CpG. See Cytosine guanine (CpG); Cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG) CPP. See 1,3-bis(p-Carboxyphenoxy) propane (CPP); Cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) Crack deflection, 606 Craniofacial regenerative medicine, 887 craniofacial regenerative environment, 887-890 current methods of maxillofacial reconstruction, 890-891 tissue engineering technologies, 891-899 Craniofacial region, 887 Craniofacial surgery, 891-892 CRC. See Cardiac Repair Cell (CRC) Cre enzymes, 747-748 Cricopharyngeal muscle, 971 Crigler-Najjar syndrome (CN syndrome), 235 CRISPR. See Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) CRISPR-associated protein 9 system (Cas9 system), 174, 285, 750, 752-755, 861, 1336 CRISPR-RNA (crRNA), 741-742 Critical path initiative, 1359 Critical Path Opportunities List, 1359 Critical-size defects, 854

Crohn disease, 223 Cross anastomosis model, 1232 Cross-linked/cross-linking, 631, 835 hydrophilic polyesters, 579 hydrophilic polymer chains, 631 PEG, 669-670 polyesters, 576-580 synthetic polymers, 576 Cross-sectional area (CSA), 1181 CRP. See C-reactive protein (CRP) crRNA. See CRISPR-RNA (crRNA) Crumbs3 polarity gene, 4 CryoArtery. See Cryopreserved arteries (CryoArtery) Cryopreservation, 153-154 of EP-isolated REC, 1156 of organoid units, 1138 Cryopreserved arteries (CryoArtery), 1032 Cryopreserved ovarian tissue, autologous transplantation of, 1243 Cryotherapy, 79 CryoVein, 1032 Crypt-villus microenvironment, 1139 Cryptorchidism, 1252 Crypts, 1135 Crystalline polymers, 439 Crystallinity, 439 CS. See Collagen scaffold (CS) CS-derived cells (CDCs), 265 CSA. See Cross-sectional area (CSA) CsA. See Cyclosporin A (CsA) CSC. See Cardiac stem cells (CSC) CSF. See Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) CSPG. See Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPG) CSs. See Cardiospheres (CSs) CST. See Corticospinal tract (CST) CT. See Computed tomography (CT) µCT. See Microcomputed tomography  $(\mu CT)$ CTGF. See Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) CTGTAC. See Cellular, Tissue, and Gene Therapies Advisory Committee (CTGTAC) CTLA-4. See Cytotoxic T lymphocyteeassociated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) Cu-MBG. See Copper-containing mesoporous bioactive glass (Cu-MBG) Cultured epithelial autograft (CEA), 1289 Cultured epithelial cell sheets, 472 Cultured human AFMSCs, 136 Cultured MSCs, 206 Cumulus-oophorus complexes (COC), 1243 Cures Act. See 21st Century Cure's Act Current Good Tissue Practice (CGTP), 1350-1351 Custom-built bioreactor systems, 793 Cutaneous wounds, cell-ECM interactions during healing of, 25 - 28adhesion and migration, 25-26

apoptosis, 28 differentiation, 27-28 proliferation, 27 Cutting-edge body-on-a-chip, 779-783 ECHO platform, 779-780 organ-on-a-chip systems for personalized precision medicine, 782-783 CVD. See Cardiovascular disease (CVD) CVM. See Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM) CVVH. See Continuous venovenous hemofiltration (CVVH) CW Bill Young Cell Transplantation Program, 150 CWQPPRARI. See Cyclic H-Trp-Gln-Pro-Pro-Arg-Ala-Arg-Ile (CWQPPRARI) Cx. See Connexins (Cx) Cx43 antisense oligonucleotides, 81 CXCL12. See Stromal-derived growth factor-1 (SDF-1a) Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), 426, 1201 Cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein (CBP), 53 Cyclic Gly-Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (CGRGDS), 443-444 Cyclic H-Trp-Gln-Pro-Pro-Arg-Ala-Arg-Ile (CWQPPRARI), 443-444 Cyclic mechanical strains, 432 Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK), 22 Cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2<sup>+</sup>), 143-144 Cyclosporin A (CsA), 999-1000, 1201, 1204-1205 CYP3A4, 135 Cys2-His2 zinc finger motif, 747 Cystic fibrosis (CF), 174-175, 1063 Cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor (CFTR), 174-175, 1063 Cytocompatibility, 697, 813-814 Cytokine, 209, 383, 686, 715, 788 delivery for nerve regeneration, 1227-1228 and growth factors CTGF, 75-76 FGFs, 76 ILs, 77 PDGF, 76 TGF- $\beta$  superfamily, 75 VEGF, 76 Wnts, 76-77 Cytoplasm, 392 Cytoplasmic proteins, 248-250 Cytosine guanine (CpG), 55-56, 729 methylation, 55-56 Cytosine ring, 170 Cytosine-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG), 722 Cytoskeleton, 394-396, 398 formation, 399-400 remodeling, 398 Cytotoxic edema, 375-376

myeloablation, 1010 reaction, 686 Cytotoxic T lymphocyteeassociated antigen-4 (CTLA-4), 716-717 D DA neurons. See Dopaminergic neurons (DA neurons) Dacron material, 1093 DAG. See Diacylglycerol (DAG) DARPA. See Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) Days postamputation (dpa), 38 dCas9 fused with hybrid VP64-p65-Rta tripartite activator (dCas9-VPR), 754 dCas9. See Nuclease-deficient Cas9 (dCas9) DCCT. See Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) DCD. See Donation after cardiocirculatory death (DCD) DCM. See Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) DCPA. See Dicalcium phosphate anhydrous (DCPA) DCPD. See Dicalcium phosphate dehydrate (DCPD) DCs. See Dendritic cells (DCs) DDRs. See Discoidin domain receptors (DDRs) Decellularization, 619-620, 790, 1030 application of decellularization techniques, 1241 decellularization/recellularization techniques, 1171 protocols, 619 of rat livers, 1102-1103 Decellularized bioscaffolds, 1046-1047 Decellularized bovine trabecular bone, 699-700 Decellularized ECM (dECM), 816, 1104-1106 as implants, 1122-1123 Decellularized esophageal tissue, 1132 Decellularized porcine ventricular myocardium, 1091 Decellularized tissue, 453-454 scaffold-based approaches, 524 Decellularized vessel grafts, 1030-1031 dECM. See Decellularized ECM (dECM) Dedifferentiated fat cells (DFATs), 703-704 Dedifferentiation, 39-40, 283 Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA), 780 Definitive erythropoiesis, 192, 924 Deformation gradient (F), 420 DEG. See Degenerin (DEG) Degenerative process, 355 Degenerin (DEG), 393 Degradability, 514 Degradable polyesters, 572-573 Degradation, 393, 636-637, 666, 1042 profile, 507-510

lymphocytes, 727-729

Degradation (Continued) degradation mechanisms, 507-508 enzymatic, 509 factors affecting degradation rates, 508 - 509surface modification for degradation control, 509-510 surface to volume ratio, 509 Degrees of freedom (DOF), 1182-1183 Delayed engraftment, 197 Delivery cargo, 748-749 DNA, 748 proteins, 748-749 RNA, 748 Delivery methods, 749-750 Delivery route for cells and patches, 1094 Demineralized bone matrix-induced bone morphogenesis, 406 Dendrimers, 495-496, 749 Dendritic cells (DCs), 205, 344, 680, 715-716, 722-727 DC-based cancer vaccinations, 727 Density of cell injections, 976 gradient separation, 209 Dental applications of CPCs, 607 Dental caries, 907 Dental cell-tissue recombination approaches, 912, 912f Dental epithelial-mesenchymal cell interactions, 908 Dental epithelium, 908 Dental follicle precursor cells (DFPCs), 909 Dental implants, 772-773 Dental mesenchym, 908 Dental mesenchymal cells, 908-909 Dental papilla, 909-910 Dental pulp, 913-914 Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), 909, 1264 Dental stem cells (DSCs), 574, 907, 909-910 Dental tissue engineering, 574, 910-917, 910f. See also Cartilage tissue engineering alveolar bone regeneration, 916-917 dental pulp and dentin regeneration, 913-914 DSCs, 909-910 periodontal regeneration, 914-915 tooth development, 908-909 whole tooth engineering, 912-913 Dentin, 908-909 regeneration, 913-914 Dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1), 913-914 Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), 38, 509, 744, 748, 1180 DNA-recognition TALEs, 746 Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), 1311-1312, 1347 Dermal fibroblasts, 107 Dermal papilla cells (DPs), 1297 Dermal papilla-like tissues (DPLTs), 1299 Dermal sheath (DS), 1304-1305 Dermal sheath cup cells (DSC cells), 1305 Dermalastyl, 617

INDEX

Dermatan sulfate, 618 Dermis, 66, 618-619, 1284, 1289 Detergents, 790, 1064 Detrusor muscle, 1263 Device (FDA definition), 1348 Dexamethasone, 762, 940, 1210-1211 DFATs. See Dedifferentiated fat cells (DFATs) DFPCs. See Dental follicle precursor cells (DFPCs) DHEW. See United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare (DHEW) DHHS. See Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) DHT. See Dihydrotestosterone (DHT) Diabetes, 223, 344-345, 987 cellular heterogeneity in, 106 Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT), 987 Diabetes mellitus, 335 Diacrylated EH (EHD), 578 Diacylglycerol (DAG), 38-39 Dialysate, 1150 Dialysis, 1165 Dialyzers, 1150 Diamine chain extender, 567 Dicalcium phosphate anhydrous (DCPA), 592-593,706 Dicalcium phosphate dehydrate (DCPD), 592-594 Dicarboxylic acid monomers, 574 DICE. See Dual integrase cassette exchange (DICE) DICER enzymes, 57-58 Dichloromethane, 823 Dickey amendment, 126b Dickey-Wicker Amendment, 1311-1312, 1333-1334 Dickkopf-related protein 1 (DKK-1), 301-302 Dielectrophoresis array, 95-96 Differentiated germ cells, 1251-1252 Differentiation, 445-446, 788, 894, 1084-1086 cell-ECM interactions during healing of cutaneous wounds, 27 - 28during regenerative fetal wound healing, 30 differentiation-associated genes, 49 electrical stimulation, 1085-1086 mechanical stimulation, 1084-1085 potential of rMAPCs and hMAPCs in vitro, 183 signal transduction events during cell-ECM interactions, 23-24 Diffuse axonal injury, 370-371 Diffusion, 787 Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), 382 Diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging (DTMRI), 1081 Digestive system, 1264 Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine format, 831-832

Dihydrotestosterone (DHT), 1298 Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), 473-474 DILI. See Drug-induced liver injury (DILI) Dimensionality effect, 451-460 cellular responses in modifying ECM, 459-460 to three-dimensional substrates, 455 - 457effect of externally applied mechanical stimuli, 457-459 importance of three dimensions, 452 substrates for 3D culture, 452 3D culture and materials development, 454-455 3D scaffolds polymers for, 452 preparation of, 452-454 Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 149 Dipeptidyl peptidase IV antigen (DPPIV antigen), 232 Direct conversion of somatic cells, 928 Direct lineage conversion. See Transdifferentiation process Direct neuronal, 370-371 Direct reimbursable expenses, 1324 Direct remuscularization, 247, 254-256 Direct reprogramming, 172 from fibroblasts, 174 Direct transdifferentiation of cells, 172 Directed differentiation, 336 "Directed donor" programs, 150-151 Discoidin domain receptors (DDRs), 18 Disease intrinsic defects in, 283-284 modeling, 172-174, 769-770 additional, 778-779 challenges and future possibilities in, 174 "Disease-in-a-dish" modeling, 351 for retinal disorders, 362-363 induced pluripotent stem cell-based phenotyping, 363 three-dimensional retinal organoids, 363 Disk-shaped nanoparticles, 720 Displacement degenerate oligonucleotideprimed-PCR (DOP-PCR), 97 Displacement vector, 419 Distraction enterogenesis, 1135 Diversity of ECM, composition and, 15 - 16Divisive analysis, 101-102 DKK-1. See Dickkopf-related protein 1 (DKK-1) DMD. See Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) DMP1. See Dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1) DMSO. See Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) DNA. See Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) DNA demethylation, 57 DNA methylation, 100 modifications, 170 DNA methyltransferase enzymes, 56 DNMT enzymes, 56-57 DNMT1, 56

DNMT3A, 55-56 DNMT3B, 55-56, 114 DNMT3L, 56-57 DOF. See Degrees of freedom (DOF) Domestic efforts, 1374 Donation after cardiocirculatory death (DCD), 993 Donor donor-derived mononuclear cells, 975 donor-specific HLA class I alleles, 234 donor-specific sHLA-I, 234 donor-specific tolerance, 999-1000 induction, 198-199 hepatocytes, 232 liver tissue, 237-238 microglia cells, 158 and procurement issues, 1337-1338 DOP-PCR. See Displacement degenerate oligonucleotide-primed-PCR (DOP-PCR) Dopamine dysregulation syndrome, 223 Dopaminergic neurons (DA neurons), 176 Dorsal pancreatic bud emerges, 341 Dorsal root ganglia (DRG), 1226-1227 neurons, 44 Dorsoventral (DV), 44 Double anastomosis model. See Cross anastomosis model Double CBT, 156 Double-blind study, 159 Double-strand breaks, knockouts via, 742-743 interaction of Cas9/gRNA, 743f Doxorubicin (DOX), 485, 775-776 DPCs, 1302 DPLTs. See Dermal papilla-like tissues (DPLTs) DPPIV antigen. See Dipeptidyl peptidase IV antigen (DPPIV antigen) DPs. See Dermal papilla cells (DPs) DPSCs. See Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) DRG. See Dorsal root ganglia (DRG) Droplet microfluidics, 96 DROSHA enzymes, 57-58 Drosophila, 1, 5 Drug delivery systems, 763-764 technologies, 574 Drug-induced liver injury (DILI), 1108 Drug(s), 81, 1348 development, 1108 organoids, 1109-1110 diffusion kinetics, 770 discovery, 174, 839 drug-eluting stents, 656 drug-loaded PLGA nanoparticles, 1207 resistance, 108 screening, 769-770, 841 targeting, 721 testing, 777-778 Drusen, 354 Dry AMD, 1208-1210 DS. See Dermal sheath (DS) DSC cells. See Dermal sheath cup cells (DSC cells)

DSCs. See Dental stem cells (DSCs) DTI. See Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) DTMRI. See Diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging (DTMRI) Dual integrase cassette exchange (DICE), 748 Dual setting system, 604-605 "Dual-platform" method, 154 Dual-specific phosphatases (DUSP2/7), 54 Dual-tissue gut-liver system, 775-776 Dubin-Johnson syndrome, 235-236 Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), 273-274, 752-753, 963, 971 gene, 752 mdx mouse model, 284 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium, 212 DUSP2/7. See Dual-specific phosphatases (DUSP2/7) DV. See Dorsoventral (DV) Dye exclusion assays, 195 Dynamic compression, 424 "Dynamic reciprocity" model, 15 Dynamic tissue shear, 424 Dysfunctional wound healing, 65 Dystroglycan, 617 Dystrophin, 282-283 gene, 752 mutations, 285 protein, 273-274, 752

### E

E-cadherin, 2 promoter, 4 E-selectins, 679 E2-2A and 2B class I basic helix-loophelix factor, 4 E3-ligase, 2 E8 (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 118 Ear perichondrium, 897 EB. See Electron beam (EB) EBL. See Electron beam lithography (EBL) EBP. See Elastin-binding protein (EBP) EBs. See Embryoid bodies (EBs) Eccrine glands. See Sweat glands ECFC. See Endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFC) ECHO platform. See Ex vivo console of human organoids platform (ECHO platform) ECMs. See Extracellular matrices (ECMs) Ecotropic viral integration factor 5 (Evi5), 41 ECs. See Endothelial cells (ECs) ECS. See Extracapillary space (ECS) Ectodermal lineage-derived CNC, 247 Ectomesenchyme, 908 Ectosomes, 208 ED. See Erectile dysfunction (ED) ED6. See Embryonic day 6 (ED6) EDA. See Extra domain A (EDA) EDH. See Epidural hematomas (EDH) Edmonton protocol, 989-990 EDTA. See Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) EE. See Enriched environments (EE)

EF1. See δZeb homeobox 1 (Zeb1) Efalizumab, 1000 Effector immune cells, 721-722 Effluvium, 1303-1304 EGF. See Endothelial growth factor (EGF); Epidermal growth factor (EGF) EGFP. See Enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) Egg donors, compensating, 1323-1324 EHD. See Diacrylated EH (EHD) Eicosanoids, 888 Ejaculation, 1255-1256 Ejaculatory system, 1255-1256 engineering vas deferens, 1255 SGE, 1255-1256 urethra reconstruction, 1255 Elastatropin, 617 Elastic cartilage, 937 fibers, 1263 Elastin, 617 derivatives, 643-644 Elastin receptor complex (ERC), 18 α-Elastin, 644 κ-Elastin, 644 Elastin-binding protein (EBP), 18 Elastin-like polypeptide (ELP), 644 Elastography, 799 Electrical conduction, 1086-1087 Electrical fields, 531 Electrical stimulation, 1085-1086, 1229 Electrically conductive substrate, 450-451 Electrochemical equilibrium, 371 Electroconductive scaffolds for nerve regeneration, 1229 Electroejaculation, 1255-1256 Electron beam (EB), 470-471 Electron beam lithography (EBL), 444, 447t Electronic patch, 1077 Electronics, 769 Electroporation, 497-498, 752 delivery, 749 Electrospinning, 447, 477-478, 541, 544, 546-547, 552, 633-635, 1077, 1271 Electrospun nanofiber scaffolds, 1034 - 1035Electrospun recombinant human tropoelastin, 617 Electrospun scaffolds, 857, 1077 electrospun/nanofibrous scaffold, 453 Elixir sulfanilamide, 1346 ELP. See Elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) "Embrace" device, 80 Embryo research oversight committee (EMRO committee), 1337 Embryoid bodies (EBs), 118, 140, 762, 925 formation, 212 Embryonic chondrogenesis, 957 Embryonic day 6 (ED6), 128 Embryonic death, irreversibility as criterion for diagnosing, 127-128 Embryonic environment simulation, 1300-1304 expression of hair follicle-related stem cell markers, 1301f

Embryonic environment simulation (Continued) injection of HIMSC-CM, 1301f one-time injection of HSC, 1302f Embryonic mesoderm-derived mesenchymal cells, 409 Embryonic morphogenesis, 1 Embryonic myosin isoforms, 276 Embryonic progenitor cells, 939 Embryonic Stem Cell Research Oversight committee (ESCRO committee), 1317 Embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 49, 81-82, 113, 138, 169, 181, 209-210, 239-240 , 247, 255, 335-341, 337f, 762-763, 855, 909, 954, 996, 1035, 1063, 1168, 1202, 1245, 1264. See also Human embryonic stem cells (hESC) derivation, 113-114 ES-derived, cells, 240 ESC-derived cells, 255 ESC-derived exosomes, 209-210 ESC-expressed miRNAs, 58 ESCs-derived cardiomyocytes transplantation, 175-176 iPSCs, 762 MSCs, 762-763 naive embryonic stem cells, 119 Embryonic wounds, 76 Embryonic-specific markers, 134-135 Embryos, 762, 1310-1311 EMBs technique. See Explanted microcirculatory beds technique (EMBs technique) EMRO committee. See Embryo research oversight committee (EMRO committee) eMSCs. See Endometrial mesenchymal stem cells (eMSCs) EMT. See Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) ENaC. See Epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) Encapsulation processes, 911 End-stage renal disease (ESRD), 1029, 1149, 1165 complete bioartificial kidney system for use in, 1159 WeBAK in preclinical, 1158 Endangered species, conservation of, 176 Endocardium, 1094 Endochondral bone formation, 696 Endochondral ossification process, 853 Endogenous repair stimulation, 254 Sox2 expression, 169-170 Endogenous stem cells, 1200-1201 factors for stimulation, 1203-1205 Endoglin, 220-221 Endometrial mesenchymal stem cells (eMSCs), 1246 Endometrium, 1240 cells, 1240 Endonucleases, 742

Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD), esophagus reconstruction after ESD treatment, 473 Endothelial barrier, 232 Endothelial cells (ECs), 307, 431, 475, 488, 688, 836-837, 1029-1030, 1074, 1087, 1200, 1257, 1270 differentiation, 24, 27-28 EC-induced cardiomyocyte protection, 1091 EC-specific genes, 1267 layer, 776 tight junctions, 1199 Endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFC), 311-313, 837 Endothelial growth factor (EGF), 16, 1298-1299 EGF-like repeats, 16 Endothelial NOS (eNOS), 427 activity, 311 Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC), 257, 307-308, 311-315, 317-320, 701, 841-842 angiogenesis and vasculogenesis, 317 identification and isolation, 311-312 in vitro expansion, 312-313 role in physiological and pathological neovascularization, 313-315 tissue engineering, 319-320 tissue regeneration, 317-319 Endothelialization, 1087 Endothelium, 232 Endotoxins, 515 Energy absorbed at failure, 1181 Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy, 702 Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma cells, 118, 1104 Engineered/engineering. See also Tissue engineering (TE) of cell-based renal constructs, 1169-1172 in situ kidney regeneration, 1170t complex tissue constructs, 478-481 of functional vaginal tissue, 1239-1240 kidney-like constructs, 1171 nanostructured scaffolds, 487f neo-tissue, 300-301 scaffolds, 535 strain, 418 Engraftment of human ESC-derived beating cardiomyocyte, 255 of human ESC-derived cardiac cells, 255 methods to improving, 238-239 posttransplant, 998-999 Engrailed-1 gene, 75 Enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP), 1135, 1167 Enhanced permeation and retention effect, 718-719 Enhanced propagation method (EP method), 1156 "Enhanced specificity" SpCas9 (eSpCas9), 745

eNOS. See Endothelial NOS (eNOS) Enriched environments (EE), 1206 Enteric neuropathies, 1140 Enthesis, 960-961 Envisioned regenerative medicine manufacturing systems, 1370-1373, 1371t, 1372f Enzymatic degradation, 509 Enzymatic facilitation, 507-508 Enzymatic neutralization, 295-296 Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), 158, 198 Enzyme(s), 790 defect, 157 enzyme-degradable PU, 573 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, 1302 EO. See Executive Order (EO) EP method. See Enhanced propagation method (EP method) EPC. See Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) Epiblast, 247-248 Epiblast stem cells (EpiSCs), 50, 119 Epicardial progenitor cells, 251-252 Epicardial surface of heart, 1094 Epicardium, 251-252, 1094 Epidermal appendages, 66 Epidermal cells, 1283 Epidermal growth factor (EGF), 6, 182-183, 238-239, 667, 1116, 1134, 1185-1186, 1201 Epidermal repair, 1287-1288 Epidermal stem cells, 83-84 Epidermis, 41, 66, 1283-1284 Epidermolysis bullosa dystrophica, 754 Epidural hematomas (EDH), 370 Epigenetic changes, 96-97 memory, 170 remodeling, 170 Epimerization, 617-618 Epinephrine, 780 EpiSCs. See Epiblast stem cells (EpiSCs) Episomal vectors, 170 Epithelial cells, 1-2, 398 Epithelial injury, 1062-1063 Epithelial mesenchymal signaling, 1273-1274 Epithelial polarity, 3 Epithelial sodium channel (ENaC), 393 Epithelial-mesenchymal cell signaling, 1133 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), 1 induction, 8, 8f molecular control, 5-8 additional signaling pathways, 7-8 ligand-receptor signaling, 6-7 transcriptional program, 4-5 posttranscriptional regulation, 5 regulation at promoter level, 5 transcription factors, 4 Epithelial-mesenchymal interaction, 408 Epithelium, 38, 662–663

EPO. See Erythropoietin (EPO) Epoxides, 563-564 ePTFE. See Expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (ePTFE) ErbB2/HER-2/Neu receptor, 7 ERC. See Elastin receptor complex (ERC) Erectile dysfunction (ED), 1251 stem cell therapy for, 1258 ERK. See Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) ERK1/2. See Extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) ERT. See Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) Erythrocytes, 924-925 Erythroid cells, 192 Erythroid progenitors, 274 Erythropoiesis, 924 Erythropoietin (EPO), 311, 924-925, 1165, 1168, 1201 Escherichia coli (E. coli), 741, 841, 1271 ESCRO committee. See Embryonic Stem Cell Research Oversight committee (ESCRO committee) ESCs. See Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) ESD. See Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) Esophageal Doppler monitoring, 1159 Esophageal reconstruction, 1132 Esophagus, 1131-1134 reconstruction after ESD treatment, 473 eSpCas9. See "Enhanced specificity" SpCas9 (eSpCas9) ESRD. See End-stage renal disease (ESRD) Esrrb gene, 57 Establishment Registration rule, 1351 ET. See Excitation threshold (ET) Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 1335 Ethylene oxide (EtO), 514 Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 815-816, 940, 1030 Etiologies of nonobstructive azoospermia, 1252 EtO. See Ethylene oxide (EtO) Ets-1 transcription factor, 3 EUROCORD, 149-150 Evaluation of Devices Used with Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapies, 1369-1370 Evi5. See Ecotropic viral integration factor 5 (Evi5) EVLP. See Ex vivo lung perfusion (EVLP) EVs. See Extracellular vesicles (EVs) EVTs. See Extravillous cytotrophoblasts (EVTs) Ex vivo console of human organoids platform (ECHO platform), 779-780 Ex vivo environment, 1067 Ex vivo lung perfusion (EVLP), 790, 1066-1067 Excitation threshold (ET), 1076-1077 Executive Order (EO), 126b ExoCarta database, 209

Exosomal/exosomes, 205-206, 209-211, 254 - 255exosome-associated proteins, 209 proteins, 209 signaling, 211 Expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (ePTFE), 1029 Expedited Programs for Regenerative Medicine Therapies for Serious Conditions, 1369-1370 Experimental autoimmune encephalitis model, 223 Explanted microcirculatory beds technique (EMBs technique), 301 Extra domain A (EDA), 23-24 Extracapillary space (ECS), 1150 Extracellular domains of syndecans, 16 - 18Extracellular matrices (ECMs), 1, 15, 22, 39, 67, 135, 210-211, 273-274, 299, 308, 391-393, 395f, 397f, 405-406, 409, 423, 437, 470, 486, 489-490, 538, 560, 613-619, 628-630, 661-662, 667, 696-697, 701-702, 762, 770, 787, 808, 831-832, 853, 910-911, 937, 954, 1030, 1042-1043, 1064, 1102-1103, 1115, 1165, 1180, 1200, 1251, 1268, 1281, 1284 by cell culture and synthetic polymers, 1033-1034, 1034f cellular responses in modifying, 459-460 collagen, 615-616 component, 279-280, 621, 1226 composition and diversity, 15-16 deposition pattern, 634-635 ECM-cell dynamic reciprocity, 438 ECMs-based products, 614t-615t elastin, 617 fibronectin, 616-617 GAGs, 617-618 hydrogels, 620-621 integrin family, 17f laminin, 617 MBVs, 618-619 molecules, 16-18, 27-28, 31, 1224, 1231 for nerve regeneration, 1226-1227 patellar tendon healing with, 1188-1189 peptide analogs, 1123-1124 scaffolds, 621, 688, 1286 regulatory considerations, 622 substitutes and scaffolds, 80 Extracellular proteins, 618 Extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/ 2), 398, 489 Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), 22, 49-50 Extracellular vesicles (EVs), 205, 208, 958 Extracorporeal renal replacement, 1149 advancements in conventional renal replacement therapy devices, 1151-1152 BRECS treating acute kidney injury, 1157-1158 challenge of cell-based device, 1156

clinical experience with renal assist device, 1154 complete bioartificial kidney system, 1159 cost-effective storage and distribution for cell devices, BRECS, 1156-1157 devices used in conventional renal replacement therapy, 1150-1151 future advancements for wearable, 1159-1160 immunomodulatory effect of renal assist device, 1154-1155 RAD, 1152-1153, 1153f renal assist device therapy of acute kidney injury causing, 1153–1154 requirements of renal replacement device, 1149-1150 SCD, 1155-1156 WeBAK in preclinical end-stage renal disease model, 1158 Extracorporeal renal replacement. See also Cell-replacement therapy Extraembryonic tissues, 181 Extrahepatic biliary tree, 341 Extraovarian sources, 1245 Extravillous cytotrophoblasts (EVTs), 133-134 Extrusion-based printing, 806-807, 815, 834 Extrusion-based systems, 816-817 F FA. See Focal adhesion (FA); Fractional anisotropy (FA) Fabricating porous scaffolds, methods for, 511 Fabricating tissue engineered vascular grafts, 1030-1038 biodegradable synthetic-based scaffolds, 1038 biological-based scaffolds, 1030-1033 hybrid scaffolds, 1033-1037 Fabrication techniques, 446-447 of thermoresponsive cell culture substrate, 471 performance of cell sheet harvesting, 472f two-dimensional substrate patterning techniques, 447t FACS. See Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) FACT. See Foundation for Accreditation of Cellular Therapy (FACT) Factor IXa (FIX), 1017 FAH. See Fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase (FAH) FAH<sup>-/-</sup>mouse model, 239–240 FAK. See Focal adhesion kinase (FAK)

Familial hypercholesterolemia, 1101–1102 Family banks, 150–151 Fanconi anemia, 197

FAPs. See Fibrogenic/adipogenic progenitors (FAPs)

Fast Track designation, 1369–1370

Fat fat-derived hMSCs, 222 stem cells from cellular characterization, 296-297 cellular fractions, 295-296 clinical delivery of adipose-derived cells, 297-300 engineered neo-tissue, 300-301 therapeutic safety of adipose-derived cells, 301-302 Fat grafting. See Autologous lipotransfer FATC. See Femur-ACL-tibia complex Fate mapping of c-Kit expression in heat, 248-250 fate-mapping studies, 248 FBGC. See Foreign body giant cell (FBGC) FBS. See Fetal bovine serum (FBS) FBs. See Fibroblasts (FBs) FCS. See Fetal calf serum (FCS) FD&C Act. See Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act) FDA. See US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) FDA Modernization Act (FDAMA), 1350, 1357 Fecal incontinence, 1141-1142 FED. See Fuchs endothelial dystrophy (FED) Federal Food and Drugs Act, 1346, 1357 Federal funds, 1312 Federal policy, 1313 Feeder-free culture system, 118-119 Female reproductive system. See also Male reproductive system ovaries, 1242-1245 TE applications, 1245-1246 principles, 1237-1238 uterus, 1240-1242 vagina, 1238-1240 Female Sprague–Dawley rats, 1271–1272 Femur-ACL-tibia complex (FATC), 1185 Femur-graft-tibia complex, 1185 Femur-MCL-tibia complex (FMTC), 1179 Fertility treatment, 1318-1320 Fertilization, 399 Fetal, 1168-1169 cells, 1309-1310 deformities, 391 development and regenerative medicine, 1009-1011 ECM, 73 fibroblasts, 29-30 germline, 1019 hyaluronan, 30 liver hematopoiesis, 192-193 rat ventricular cardiomyocytes, 1076 scarless wound repair, 72-73 wound histologic sections, 74f sheep model, 1012-1013 skin development, 72 fetal scarless wound repair, 72-73 stem cells, 1266

Fetal bovine serum (FBS), 114, 208, 325-326 Fetal calf serum (FCS), 182-183 Fetal wound healing, 80 cell-ECM interactions during regenerative, 28-30 adhesion and migration, 29 apoptosis, 30 differentiation, 30 proliferation, 29 FGF. See Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) FGF recombinant 1 (FGFR1), 909-910 FHF. See Primary heart field (FHF) Fiber bridging, 606 fiber-reinforced calcium phosphate cements, 605-606 reinforcement, 605-606 mechanics of fiber-reinforced calcium phosphate cements, 605-606 semipermeable membrane, 1150 Fibrillar components, 1180 Fibrin, 815, 837, 1047-1048, 1090 cable, 1225-1226 clot, 38 derivatives, 644-645 fibrin-based bioink, 837 fibrin-fibronectin provisional matrix, 25 fibrin-heparin-NGF matrix, 1228 glues, 299, 644 sealants, 644 Fibrinogen, 644, 681, 811, 837 Fibrinolysis, 135 Fibrinopeptides A and B, 644 Fibroblast growth factor (FGF), 7, 21, 52, 76, 208, 280, 339-340, 877, 909-910, 942, 957, 1059-1060, 1087-1088 Fgf1, 43-44 FGF2, 43-44, 119, 298 FGF-5, 76 FGF-7, 76, 1300 FGF-7/KGF, 1303 FGF-9, 76 FGF-10, 76 Fibroblasts (FBs), 67, 70, 107, 171, 286, 615-616, 680, 838, 1074, 1187, 1284 Fibrocartilage, 937 Fibrocytes, 107 Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva, 212 Fibrogenic/adipogenic progenitors (FAPs), 273 Fibronectin (FN), 29, 279, 393, 409, 437, 523-524, 567, 616-617, 811, 911, 1270 FN-gamma, 186-187 gene, 4 patterns, 1081 subunit, 529 Fibroproliferative scarring, 68-72 hypertrophic scars, 70-72 keloids, 70 Fibroproliferative scars, 77-78 Fibrosa, 1044 Fibrosis, 68-70, 322, 391, 400, 682-684 cellular heterogeneity in, 107

Fibrotic bladder model, 1271-1273 Fibrous encapsulation, 683-684 Fibrous polyglycolic acid scaffolds, 1076-1077 Fibrous proteins, 630 Fibrous tissues, 615-616 Ficoll Paque-based isolation, 208 Ficoll-Paque density-gradient media, 208 FIH Studies. See First in Human Studies (FIH Studies) Filamentous (F), 394-395 Financial costs, 229-230 First in Human Studies (FIH Studies), 1349-1350 First intention wound healing, 684 First-generation biomaterials, 559-560 FISH. See Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) Fistula, 1142 FIX. See Factor IXa (FIX) Flavin mononucleotide photosensitizer, 815 Flp enzymes, 747-748 Fluidic systems, 773-774 Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), 117 Fluorescence microscopy, 454 Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), 95, 96f, 99 Fluorescent bar coding, 99 beads, 799 dye exclusion, 195 Fluorescently labeled albumin, 773-774 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU), 77-78, 775, 777, 780 Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 ligand, 727-729 FMTC. See Femur-MCL-tibia complex (FMTC) FN. See Fibronectin (FN) FNIII<sub>7-10</sub> fragment, 529 Focal adhesion (FA), 394-395, 437-438, 458 complexes, 635 mechanosensing, 458 Focal adhesion kinase (FAK), 19-20, 398, 437-438 FAK-induced integrin, 20 mechanosensation in FAK Y397 phosphorylation, 19-20 phosphorylation, 449 protein, 489 Focal cartilage repair, 937-938 Focal contacts, 437-438 FokI, 746 Follicular structures, 1304 Folliculogenesis, 1242 Follistatin, 1303 Follow-up Phase IIb study, 1154 Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act), 1346 for three-dimensional culture, 452 Foreign body giant cell (FBGC), 680 cell formation and interactions, 682-683 Foreign body response, 516-517 Foreign nucleic acid gene transfer, 1186 Foreign protein, 689-690 Förster resonance energy transfer-based sensors, 20 Foundation for Accreditation of Cellular Therapy (FACT), 149-150 Fovea, 352 FOXA2 gene, 339-340 Forkhead box transcription factor, 4 Fractional anisotropy (FA), 382-383 Fracture healing, 853 Fragile X mental retardation 1 gene, 754 Fragile X syndrome, 172 Frameshift mutations, 752 Francisella, 745 Free tissue transfer techniques, 890-891 Free-radical scavenging, 1150 Freeze gelation, 539-540 Freeze-drying process, 527 techniques, 538 Freeze-thaw process, 453-454 Frictional sliding, 606 Friedreich ataxia, 172 Frizzled family, 6 Frozen-hydrated surface studies, 527 Frustrated phagocytosis, 679 FTE. See Functional tissue engineering (FTE) FTSG. See Full-thickness skin grafts (FTSG) 5-FU. See 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) Fuchs endothelial dystrophy (FED), 449 Full-length ECM macromolecules, 1123 Full-thickness skin grafts (FTSG), 1285 Fully cell-based, self-assembled corneal constructs, 1119-1122 Fully integrated collaborative manufacturing systems, 1370-1372 Fully integrated modular, and automated manufacturing systems, 1370 Fumarate-based polymers, 576-577 Fumaric acid, 576-577 Fumarylacetoacetate, 750-751 Fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase (FAH), 750-751 Functional assays, 689 Functional groups, 531 Functional mucosal barrier, 1138 Functional restoration, evaluate, 432 Functional testing, 1181 Functional tissue engineering (FTE), 1179 application, 1185-1187 cell therapy, 1187 gene therapy, 1186-1187 growth factors, 1185-1186 healing of ligaments and tendons, 1183-1185, 1188-1192 normal ligaments and tendons, 1180-1183 Functional vaginal tissue engineering, 1239-1240 Fuzzy c-means clustering, 103

#### G

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR), 393, 425 G-CSF. See Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) GA. See Geographic atrophy (GA); Glycolic acid (GA) GABA. See y-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) GABAergic interneurons, 1208 GAD. See Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) GAGs. See Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) Galactose- $\alpha$ 1,3-galactose ( $\alpha$ -gal), 690 β-Galactosidase complementation method (β-gal complementation method), 276 Galactosyl-a-1,3-galactose, 619-620 Galactosvlated chitosan (GC), 1103 Galactosylceramidase lysosomal enzyme, 158 Gamma secretase inhibitor XX (GSiXX), 340 Gap junctions, 1242 targeting, 81 GAPDH. See Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) Gas foaming, 552 Gastric acellular matrix, 1133 Gastric disease, 1134 Gastric submucosal space (GSMS), 998 Gastroesophageal reflux disease, 1131 Gaussian curve, 138 GC. See Galactosylated chitosan (GC) GCS. See Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) GDF11 inhibits, 280 GDF8. See Myostatin GDFs. See Growth/differentiation factors (GDFs) GDNF. See Glial cell-line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) GEF. See Guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) Gel-forming polymers, 601 Gelatin, 601, 643, 815, 821-822, 836-837, 1048 gelatin-based bioink, 1079 Gelatin methacrylate (GelMA), 453-454, 808-809, 836-837, 912-913 hydrogel, 633-634 Gelatinization, 549 Gelation process, 809, 821 Gellan gum, 543-545 in bone tissue engineering applications, 544-545 processing methods, 543-544 GelMA. See Gelatin methacrylate (GelMA) GEMM. See Granulocyte, erythroid, macrophage, megakaryocyte (GEMM) Gene editing, 1336 in regenerative medicine applications, 750-755 delivery cargo, 748-749 delivery methods, 749-750 genome editing tools, 741-748

strategies, 285 Gene therapy, 198, 627, 860-861, 1009-1010, 1066-1067, 1186-1187, 1354-1355, 1368 approach, 234 MSCs for, 322-325 Gene(s), 741 complementation, 972-973 delivery techniques, 752 gun delivery, 749 Generic epithelial cell markers, 1267 Genetic disorders, 907 genetic linage fate-mapping experiments in mice, 248-250 mosaicism, 97 mutation, 1081-1082 Genetic lineage-tracing approach, 248 experiments in mice, 263-264 Genetically engineered elastin-like polypeptides, 574 Genetically modified hBMSCs, 1264 Genome editing, 752, 1019-1020 tools, 741-748 other genome manipulation tools, 747-748 targetable nucleases, 741-747 Genome manipulation tools integrase, 748 recombinase, 747-748 transposons and transposase, 747 Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 174, 354 Genomic integration, 748 genomic integration-associated insertional mutagenesis, 1018-1019 Genomic stability, 172 Genotype of cell lines, 769 Geographic atrophy (GA), 354 Germ cell lineages, 750 Germ layer cell types, 762 Germline stem cells (GSCs), 1244-1245 Geron Corporation, 1338 Gestation, 133 Gestational surrogacy, 1240 GFAP. See Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) Gfi1, transcription factors, 872 GFP. See Green fluorescent protein (GFP) GFs. See Growth factors (GFs) Ggf-2. See Glial growth factor 2 (Ggf-2) Gillmore needles method, 597-598 Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), 370 Gli, hedgehog-activated transcription factor, 7 Glia(l), 370-371, 1206 scar, 1200 Glial cell-line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), 1201, 1228 Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), 370 Glial growth factor 2 (Ggf-2), 44 Glioblastoma, 108, 186 Glioma, antitumor effects of MAPCs in, 186

Glomerular filtration, 1167 Glow discharge deposition. See Plasma deposition fGlow discharge plasma deposition, 531 Glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2), 1138 α-Glucan polymers, 548 N-Glucosamine, 641 Glucose lability, 989 Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), 999 Glutaraldehyde, 815 Glutathione (GSH), 1149-1150 GSH-metabolizing enzymes, 1150 GlyA. See Antiglycophorin A (GlyA) Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), 209 Glycerol, 571 Glycine, 640 Glycogen synthase kinase 3ß (GSK-3ß), 5, 52 - 53Glycolic acid (GA), 568 Glycolide, 568 Glycophase glass-modified substrates, 443 Glycoproteins, 393 expression, 297 Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), 15-16, 393, 438, 538, 580, 615, 617-618, 630, 639, 837, 956, 1045-1046, 1169, 1231-1232 Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1C), 987 Glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI), 18 Glypicans, 618 GM. See Gray matter (GM) GM-CSF. See Granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) GMP. See Good manufacturing practices (GMP) GO. See Graphene oxide (GO) Goblet cells, 1060-1061 Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), 488, 492, 494 Golden Gate assembly, 746-747 Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy model, 286 Good Guidance Practices, 1357 Good manufacturing practices (GMP), 924-925 Goosecoid homeobox protein, 4 GPCR. See G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) GPI. See Glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) Gr-1. See Granulocytes (Gr-1) Gradient scaffolds, anisotropic and, 511 - 512Graft survival cotransplanted with cells, 185 Graft versus host disease (GvHD), 149, 184, 196, 211, 220, 309 Graft versus tumor effect (GVT effect), 196 Graft vs. host disease (GvHT) MAPCs effect on, 184 Graft-derived satellite cells formation, 975, 975f Grafted cells, 1268 "Grafting-from" approaches, 656

"Grafting-to" approaches, 656 GRAGIL. See Groupe RhineRhône-Alpes et Genève Pour la Greffe d'îlots de Langerhans (GRAGIL) Granular synthetic HA, 706 Granulation tissue, 26, 67, 680, 682 development, 678 Granulocyte, erythroid, macrophage, megakaryocyte (GEMM), 924 Granulocyte macrophage-colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF), 309, 716 Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), 196, 241, 257, 309-310, 378, 1154, 1203-1204 Granulocytes (Gr-1), 194-195 Granulosa cell spheroids, 1243 Graphene oxide (GO), 451 Graphene surfaces, 451 Gray matter (GM), 381 Green fluorescent protein (GFP), 40, 183, 276-279, 870-871 GFP-labeled MSCs, 1241-1242 GFP-labeled transgenic mMAPCs, 183 Green strain (E), 420 gRNA. See Guide RNA (gRNA) Groupe RhineRhône-Alpes et Genève Pour la Greffe d'îlots de Langerhans (GRAGIL), 988-989 Growth factors (GFs), 40, 339-340, 619, 680, 763-764, 788, 892, 907, 964, 1051-1052, 1116 additional studies on secretion, 1300 application of FTE, 1185-1186 in vitro studies, 1185-1186 in vivo studies, 1186 and cell signaling molecules, 80-81 growth factor-β pathway, 6 growth factor-coated PCL scaffolds, 812 growth factor-embedded scaffold materials, 1135 matrix binding with, 1271 therapy, 1298 Growth-arrested embryo, 115 Growth/differentiation factors (GDFs), 407 - 408GSCs. See Germline stem cells (GSCs) GSH. See Glutathione (GSH) GSiXX. See Gamma secretase inhibitor XX (GSiXX) GSK inhibitor CHIR99021, 119 GSK-3β. See Glycogen synthase kinase 3β  $(GSK-3\beta)$ GSMS. See Gastric submucosal space (GSMS) GTPase. See Guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) Guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF), 20 Guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase), 438, 635-636 GTPase Rab5c, 6 Guidance documents in FDA, 1347 Guide RNA (gRNA), 741-742

INDEX

Guided tissue regeneration, 1133, 1136 α-L-Guluronic acid, 640-641 Gut endocrine cells, 1140-1141 GVAX vaccine, 716 GvHD. See Graft versus host disease (GvHD) GVT effect. See Graft versus tumor effect (GVT effect) GWAS. See Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) Η <sup>3</sup>H-T labeling index, 42 H3K27me3 marks, 55 H3K4me3 mark, 57 H3K9 methyltransferase inhibitor G9a, 55 HA. See Hemophilia A (HA); Hyaluronan (HA) HA methylcellulose (HAMC), 1205-1206 HAc. See Hyaluronic acid (HAc) hAE stem cells. See Human amnion epithelial stem cells (hAE stem cells) HAEC. See Human aortic endothelial cells (HAEC) hAECs. See Human amniotic epithelial cells (hAECs) Hair cell(s), 872 regeneration, 869, 870f clinical trial, 881 formation of new neuromasts, 877 hair cell loss, 868-869

induction of hair cell regeneration, 875-876 insights from developmental biology, 871-875 lateral line, 876-879 lateral line regeneration, 880 pathways coordinating hair cell regeneration, 879-880 regulation of cell fates during inner ear development, 873f road blocks to regeneration, 871 spontaneous hair cell regeneration, 870-871 structure of inner ear, 867-868 Hair follicle, 66, 84 cycling, 1300 formation, 1297 regeneration, 1298-1299 Hair follicle stem cells (HFSCs), 84, 1264 Hair germ progenitors, 1298 Hair growth additional studies on, 1300 ADSCs use and conditioned medium for, 1299 Hair regeneration, tissue-derived materials for, 1300 Hair shaft, 1297 Hair-stimulating complex (HSC), 1301, 1302f-1303f HALSS. See Hybrid artificial liver support system (HALSS) hAM. See Human amniotic membrane (hAM)

HAMC. See HA methylcellulose (HAMC)

mesenchymal stromal cells (hAMSCs) Hamstring tendon autografts, 1179 HAp. See Hydroxyapatite (HAp) Hard assignment, 103 Harsh synthetic chemistry, 647 HATs. See Histone acetyltransferases (HATs) HB. See Hemophilia B (HB) HB-EGF. See Heparin-binding endothelial growth factor (HB-EGF) HbA1C. See Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1C) HBB. See β Subunits of hemoglobin (HBB) hbb gene, 753 hBMSC. See Human bone marrow-derived stem cells (hBMSC) HCC. See Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) hCFs. See Human corneal fibroblasts (hCFs) hCG. See Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) HCM. See Hypoxia-derived CM (HCM) hCMPCs. See Human cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cells (hCMPCs) hCMSCs. See Human chorionic mesenchymal stromal cells (hCMSCs) hCSSCs. See Human corneal stromal stem cells (hCSSCs) HCT/P. See Human cells, tissues, and cellular-and tissue-based products (HCT/P) hCTCs. See Human chorionic trophoblastic cells (hCTCs) HCV. See Hepatitis C virus (HCV) HD. See Hemodialysis (HD) HDACs. See Histone deacetylases (HDACs) HDE. See Humanitarian Device Exemption (HDE) HDF. See Hemodiafiltration (HDF); Human dermal fibroblasts (HDF) hDPSCs. See human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSCs) HDR. See Homology-directed repair (HDR) HE4. See Human epididymis protein 4 (HE4) Healing of cutaneous wounds, 25-28 of ligaments and tendons, 1183-1185 ACL healing, 1189-1192 anterior cruciate ligament of knee, 1184 - 1185medial collateral ligament and patellar tendon healing, 1188-1189 medial collateral ligament of knee, 1184 multiple ligamentous injuries in knee, 1185 use of scaffolds, 1188 progresses, 27

hAMSCs. See Human amniotic

Health Resources and Services Administration, 1353 Heart, 141-142, 247, 450, 846 development from cardiac stem/ progenitor cells, 247-248 regeneration, 248-250 valves, 846 cell-based therapeutics for heart disease, 252-254, 253f Heart failure (HF), 252-253, 495 Heart Failure Secondary to Myocardial Infarction trials, 258 Heart valve disease (HVD), 1041 Heart-on-a-chip model, 774, 1081 Hedgehog pathway, 7 Helix-loop-helix (HLH), 872 Helper-dependent adenoviral vectors, 749 HEMA. See 2-Hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) Hemangioblasts, 311 system, 926-927 HEMAPLA. See Polylactide-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMAPLA) Hematological malignancies, CBT for, 156 Hematoma, 696 Hematopoiesis, 307-308, 1010 Hematopoietic antigens, 183 Hematopoietic cancers, 931-932 Hematopoietic lineages, 307-308 markers, 258 Hematopoietic malignancies, 1253 Hematopoietic reconstitution with MAPCs, 183 Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), 149 for autoimmune diseases, 199 for severe combined immunodeficiency, 197-198 for tolerance induction, 198-199 Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), 149, 181-183, 191, 205, 219, 257, 274, 307-308, 753, 931-933, 963, 1009-1010 phenotypic properties, 194-195 properties, 191-195 therapies, 195-199 Hematopoietic system, 142, 191, 1020 Hematoxylin-eosin staining, 700 Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), 310 Hemocompatibility, 515 Hemodiafiltration (HDF), 1149 Hemodialysis (HD), 1149 Hemodynamic forces, 424 Hemofilters, 1150 Hemofiltration (HF), 1149 β-Hemoglobinopathies, 753 Hemolysis, 515 Hemophilia A (HA), 322-323, 816, 1015, 1169 HA-based materials, 618 as model genetic disease for correction, 1015-1020 feasibility and justification for treating HA before birth, 1016-1018

genome editing, 1019-1020 genomic integration-associated insertional mutagenesis, 1018-1019 potential risk to fetal germline, 1019 preclinical animal models to study in utero gene therapy, 1016 risks of in utero gene therapy, 1018 treatments, 1015-1016 Hemophilia B (HB), 1016 Hemophiliac patients, 323 Hemorrhage, 1151-1152 Hemorrhagic stroke, 1203 Hemostasis, 38-39 Hep3B spheroid, 1106 HepaChip in vitro microfluidic system, 1108-1109 Heparan sulfate, 617-618 proteoglycans, 279-280 Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), 16 Heparin, 1151-1152 Heparin-binding endothelial growth factor (HB-EGF), 16 Hepatectomy, 238 Hepatic diverticulum, 341 Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), 1106 Hepatic tissue engineering, 1103-1106 alginate, 1104 biomedical applications of liver bioengineered tissues, 1105f chitosan, 1103 collagens, 1103-1104 decellularized extracellular matrix, 1104-1106 PGA, 1104 PLGA, 1104 polycaprolactone, 1104 Hepatitis C virus (HCV), 1101 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), 1101 spheroids, 1106 Hepatocyte allografts, 234 Hepatocyte bridge, 233 Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), 7, 205, 238-239, 280, 298, 339-340, 751, 1299-1300, 1302-1303 Hepatocyte transplantation, 229-230 in acute liver failure, 233-234 choice of sites for, 231 clinical, 232-237, 233t in acute liver failure, 233-234 hepatocyte bridge, 233 for metabolic liver disease, 234-237 for metabolic liver disease, 234-237 novel uses, challenges, and future directions cell transplantation immunology, 239 hepatocyte transplants for non-organ transplant candidates, 237-238 methods to improve engraftment and repopulation, 238-239 stem cells and alternative cell sources for liver therapy, 239-241 Hepatocyte-based therapy, 241 Hepatocyte-like cells, 240 Hepatocytes, 229-230, 321-322

Hepatocytes integration after transplantation, 231-232 integration of donor hepatocytes into native liver, 231t "HepatoPac" platform, 1108-1109 Herpes simplex virus serotype 1 (HSV-1), 1125 hESCs. See Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) Heterochromatin, 55 Hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP), 547, 568, 699-700 Hexafluoroisopropanol. See Hexafluoro-2propanol (HFIP) Hexahistidine tags (HIS tag), 528 HF. See Heart failure (HF); Hemofiltration (HF) HFD. See High-fat diet (HFD) HFEA. See Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority (HFEA) HFIP. See Hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP) HFSCs. See Hair follicle stem cells (HFSCs) HGF. See Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) HHP. See High hydrostatic pressure (HHP) HIE. See Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE) Hierarchical 3D tissue equivalents, 635 Hierarchical clustering, 101–102, 102f HIF-1. See Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) High hydrostatic pressure (HHP), 1241 High printing resolution, 833 High surface-to-volume ratio, 491-492 High-affinity interactions, 657 High-energy/high-temperature plasmas, 656 High-fat diet (HFD), 281 "High-flux" membranes, 1151 High-Oct4 (Oct4<sup>high</sup>), 184 High-resolution extrusion, 818 High-resolution ultrasonography, 1009 High-resolution XPS spectra, 525 High-throughput molecular techniques, 1009 High-throughput screening, 174 High-throughput sequencing (HTS), 93 Higher-level tissue function, 1065 Higher-molecular weight materials, 666 Highly functional multiorganoid systems, 779-783 HIMSCs. See Hypoxia-induced multipotent stem cells (HIMSCs) hiPCs. See Human islet-derived precursor cells (hiPCs) hiPSCs. See Human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) Hirudin, 1151-1152 HIS tag. See Hexahistidine tags (HIS tag) Histogenesis in three-dimensional scaffolds, 661 design parameters for, 663-668 biomolecular factors, 667 cell sources, 663-664 degradation, 666 porosity, 664-665

future directions, 670 need for replacement tissues, 661 regeneration of diseased tissues, 662-663 synthetic materials for histogenesis of new organs, 669-670 tissue components, 661-662, 662f Histolysis, 39-40 Histone acetylation, 57 modifications, 100 Histone acetyltransferases (HATs), 55 Histone deacetylases (HDACs), 54 inhibitors, 55 HLA. See Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) HLH. See Helix-loop-helix (HLH) hMAPCs. See Human MAPCs (hMAPCs) hMSCs. See Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) HNF3ß. See FOXA2 HNH domains, 742 HO-1. See Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) HOBs. See Human osteoblast-like cells (HOBs) Hoechst 33, 342, 195 Hollow-fiber reactors, 1109-1110 Homeostasis, 371-373 Hominis placenta (HP), 1300 Homology-directed repair (HDR), 742-745, 744f Hooke law, 422 Hormones, 859 contraceptive, 561 ovarian, 1242 PTH, 763-764, 860, 861f rhGH, 690 Host cells, 663–664 defense system, 680 response, 621, 1088-1090 RNase, 745 Hot-embossing technique, 447t Housekeeping genes, 101 HP. See Hominis placenta (HP) HPMC. See Hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose (HPMC) hPSCs. See Human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) HSC. See Hair-stimulating complex (HSC) HSCs. See Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs); Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) HSCT. See Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) HSPA8, 209 HSPGs. See Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) HSV-1. See Herpes simplex virus serotype 1 (HSV-1) HTO. See Human testis organoid (HTO) HTS. See High-throughput sequencing (HTS) HUASMCs. See Human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells (HUASMCs)

hUCBCs. See Human umbilical cord blood cells (hUCBCs) hUCMSCs. See human umbilical cord MSCs (hUCMSCs) Human allogeneic uterus transplantation, 1240 amnion, 134 cells regulation, 1350-1351 cellular therapies, 1351-1353 engineered heart tissue strips, 1092 eve, 352 fetal placental cells, 134 fibroblasts, 449 glioblastomas, 108 non-small cell lung cancer, 775 oligodendrocyte precursor cells, 82 placental extract. See Hominis placenta (HP) recombinant collagen, 541 saliva, 898-899 stem cells to creating chimeras, 1335-1336 therapeutic cloning, 1334 tissues engineering nanostructured scaffolds, 487f nanoscale features, 485, 486f regulation, 1350-1351 urothelial cells, 1273 Human amnion epithelial stem cells (hAE stem cells), 240 Human amniotic epithelial cells (hAECs), 133, 241, 700 Human amniotic membrane (hAM), 135, 1118 Human amniotic mesenchymal stromal cells (hAMSCs), 133 Human aortic endothelial cells (HAEC), 312, 823-824 Human bone marrow-derived stem cells (hBMSC), 703, 1264 hBMSCs plus hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells, 1264 Human cardiac-derived cardiomyocyte progenitor cells (hCMPCs), 815-816 Human cells, tissues, and cellular-and tissue-based products (HCT/P), 120,622 Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), 133-134, 1203-1204, 1254 Human chorionic mesenchymal stromal cells (hCMSCs), 133 Human chorionic trophoblastic cells (hCTCs), 133 Human corneal fibroblasts (hCFs), 1125 Human corneal stromal stem cells (hCSSCs), 1125 human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSCs), 700 Human dermal fibroblasts (HDF), 299-300 Human diphtheria toxin receptor (Human Dtr), 870-871

Human Dtr. See Human diphtheria toxin receptor (Human Dtr) Human embryonic MSC-derived exosomes, 211 Human embryonic stem cell self-renewal regulation, 52 Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs), 50, 114, 125, 169, 181, 338-339, 351, 445, 617, 762, 855, 923-927, 926f-927f, 996, 1119, 1202, 1300-1301, 1310, 1331. See also Embryonic stem cells (ESC) alternative sources, 125 SBB, 126 differentiation and manufacturing for clinical application, 119-120 evolution of hESC derivation and culture methods, 118-119 hES-NCL9, 128 hESC-derived cardiomyocytes, 1081 hESC-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells, 855 hESC-derived retinal pigment epithelium, 355-356, 357f maintenance, 116-119 morphology, 118 organismically dead embryos, 127-128 sources, 114-116 Human embryos, 1331-1332 benefit from others' destruction, 1333-1334 cloning, 1334-1335 genetically modifying, 1336 permissible to destroying, 1332-1334 Human epididymis protein 4 (HE4), 1173 Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority (HFEA), 1320 Human hair follicle, regenerative medicine approaches for engineering, 1298f additional studies on secreted growth factors and hair growth, 1300 adipose-derived stem cells use and conditioned medium, 1299 autologous growth factors use in hair follicle regeneration, 1298-1299 bioengineering human hair follicle, 1304-1306 simulating embryonic environment, 1300-1304 tissue-derived materials for hair regeneration, 1300 Human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), 927-928, 1080, 1107-1108 human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes, 1081-1082 Human islet-derived precursor cells (hiPCs), 1335 Human leukocyte antigen (HLA), 115-116, 134-135, 149, 175, 182, 195-196, 315-316, 356, 688-689, 923 HLA-DR3 expression, 688-689 human leukocyte antigen-II surface expression, 298

human leukocyte antigen-matched tissue, 1118 Human MAPCs (hMAPCs), 182, 187 in vitro, 183 immunomodulatory properties, 184 - 187isolation, 183 suppress T-cell proliferation, 184 Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), 205, 219, 223, 377, 444, 489, 945, 1258 hMSC-injected mice, 223 Human multipotent stromal cells. See Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) Human osteoblast-like cells (HOBs), 706-707 Human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs), 340, 441, 450, 930 Human testis organoid (HTO), 1253-1254, 1253f Human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells (HUASMCs), 441 Human umbilical cord blood cells (hUCBCs), 376 human umbilical cord MSCs (hUCMSCs), 706 Human umbilical tissue-derived stem cells (hUTCs), 351 Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), 312, 441, 495, 706-707, 836-837, 913-914 HUVEC-laden patch, 1080 Humanitarian Device Exemption (HDE), 1348-1349 Humoral components, 684-685 Hurler syndrome, 158 hUTCs. See Human umbilical tissuederived stem cells (hUTCs) HUVECs. See Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) HVD. See Heart valve disease (HVD) Hyaline cartilage, 937 Hyaluronan (HA), 21, 29, 618, 639, 645-646, 816, 1205-1206 HA-based tubular conduits, 1226 HA-induced proliferation, 23 Hyaluronic acid (HAc), 617-618, 639-640, 699, 701-702, 810-811, 836-837, 938-940, 1048, 1169, 1226 HAc-AEMA, 702 HAc-AEMA-40 hydrogel, 702 HAc-based scaffolds, 913-914 Hybrid artificial liver support system (HALSS), 1107 Hybrid bioartificial kidney, 1159 Hybrid bioinks, 816-819, 818f Hybrid composite biomaterials functions of scaffolding and ECM, 696-697 fundamentals of bone development and defects, 696 hybrid materials, 708-709 scaffolding approaches in bone tissue engineering, 697-699 scaffolding materials, 699-709

Hybrid fabrication, 834-835 Hybrid materials, 698, 708-709 metal-ceramic blends, 709 metal-polymer blends, 709 polymer-ceramics blends, 708-709 polymer-polymer blends, 708 Hybrid scaffolds, 1033-1037 extracellular matrices formed by cell culture, 1033-1034 nature-derived polymers and synthetic polymers, 1034-1035 synthetic polymers with seeded cells, 1035-1037 Hybrid tooth-bone implants, 916 Hydraulic permeability of collagen-based scaffold, 701 Hydrodynamic delivery, 749 Hydrogel scaffolds, 452-453 for nerve repair, 1226 classification of nerve grafts, 1227t classification of nerve guidance conduits, 1227t Hydrogel-based bioinks for cell printing, 835-837 naturally derived hydrogels, 836-837 synthetic hydrogels, 835-836 Hydrogel(s), 285, 380, 553-554, 560, 620-621, 627, 630, 669-670, 697-699, 703-704, 763-764, 773, 819-820, 858-859, 910-911, 1075, 1208 biomaterials templates, 628-630 conventional porous solid polymer tissue engineering templates, 628f degradation, 636-637 rates, 637 hydrogel-based cardiac tissue engineering, 1076 hydrogel-forming macromonomers, 580 increasing sophistication of synthetic hydrogels for TE, 632-639 lubricates and glues, 834-835 natural biopolymers as extracellular matrix-analog hydrogels, 639-646 naturally derived, 836-837 in regenerative medicine, 627 in situ cardiac tissue engineering via injection of cells in, 1090-1091 structure-property relationships in, 631-632 synthetic, 835-836 synthetic hydrogels for tissue engineering templates, 646-648 Hydrogen bonding, 645 peroxide, 552 Hydrolysis interaction, 596-597 Hydrolytic degradation products, 575 Hydrolytically degradable polymers, 669, 1050 - 1051Hydrolytically stable PUs, 566-567 Hydrophilic macromolecular drugs, 579 Hydrophilic polymers, 657-659, 720-721 Hydrophilic surface, 441, 703

Hydrophilicity, effects of nanoparticle surface charge and, 720 Hydrophobicity, 720 Hydrothermal method, 551-552 α-Hydroxy acids, polyesters of, 568-570 POEs. 571 polycarbonates, 572 polyesters of lactones, 570 polyesters of polyols and carboxylic acids, 571 Hydroxyapatite (HAp), 409-411, 531, 540, 551-552, 591-592, 656, 696, 858, 908-909, 955 HA for protein signal delivery and orientation control, 531 HAp-chitosan-gelatin nanocomposite scaffolds, 540 microspheres, 540 nanoparticles, 488, 493 Hydroxyethyl methacrylate  $\Psi$ 2- $\Psi$ (HEMA), 631-632, 669 Hydroxyl group, 568 Hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose (HPMC), 600 bis(2-Hydroxypropyl) fumarate (PF), 576-577 Hyperammonemia, 750 Hyperbilirubinemia, 236 Hyperelastic bone, 813 Hypersensitivity responses, 686 Hypertrophic scars, 28, 66, 70-72 scar reduction strategies, 71f Hypertrophy process, 957 Hypogonadal disorders, 1254 Hypogonadism, 1251 Hypothalamus, 1251-1252 Hypoxia, 7–8, 232, 1286–1287 Hypoxia-derived CM (HCM), 1299 Hypoxia-induced multipotent stem cells (HIMSCs), 1298 HIMSC-CM, 1301, 1301f Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), 7-8, 699-700 Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE), 159 Hysteresis, 1181-1182 HµREL microliver platforms, 1108-1109

### I

IAC. See Immune-affinity capture (IAC)
IAS. See Internal anal sphincter (IAS)
IBMIR. See Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR)
ICAMs. See Intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs)
ICH. See International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH)
ICIs. See Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs)
ICM. See Inner cell mass (ICM)
ICMVs. See Interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles (ICMVs)

ICP. See Intracranial pressure (ICP)

INDEX

ICSI. See Intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) ICU. See Intensive care unit (ICU) Id1. See Inhibitor of Differentiation 1 (Id1) IDE. See Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) IE. See Islet equivalents (IE) iENDO cells. See Induced endodermal progenitor cells (iENDO cells) IFE. See Interfollicular epidermis (IFE) IFN. See Interferon (IFN) IFs. See Intermediate filaments (IFs) IgE antibodies, 686-687 IGF. See Insulin growth factor (IGF) IGFBP. See Insulin-like growth factorbinding protein (IGFBP) IGFR1,7 IgG. See Immunoglobulin G (IgG) aIIb/bIII integrin receptor. See Cell surface markers GPIIb/IIIa IKVAV. See Isoleucine-lysine-valinealanine-valine (IKVAV) IL. See Interleukin (IL) IL receptor (ILR), 992 ILK. See Integrin-linked kinase (ILK) ILR. See IL receptor (ILR) Imaging data, 382-383 IMD. See Inherited metabolic disorders (IMD) Imiquimod, 78 Immature follicles, 1243 Immobilization strategy, 443-444 Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), 716-717 Immune complex reaction, 686 Immune mediators, 715-716 Immune rejection, 1334 Immune system, 715, 938 Immune tolerance, 198–199 Immune Tolerance Network (ITN), 992 Immune-affinity capture (IAC), 209 Immunocompatible iPSC master cell banks development, 255-256 Immunocytochemical studies, 1257 Immunodepletion, 208 Immunodulatory effects, in vivo, 184-186 antitumor effects of MAPCs in glioma, 186 MAPCs effect on graft survival cotransplanted with cells, 185 effect on GvHD, 184 immunodulatory and/or trophic effects in ischemic disease, 185-186 role as immunomodulation in solid organ transplantation, 185 possible mechanisms of trophic effects, 186-187 Immunoediting, 724 Immunogenicity, 689-690, 748-749 Immunoglobulin G (IgG), 528-529, 679, 681 IgG<sub>2a</sub>, 731 Immunohistochemistry, 1300 Immunohistological studies, 263-264

Immunoisolation, 208 Immunologic/immunology, 1016 escape, 724 memory, 717 reactions, 687 Immunomodulation, 209, 344f, 999-1000 in bone regeneration, 861-862 macrophages, 862 T cells, 862 in solid organ transplantation, 185 Immunomodulatory agents, bolus delivery of, 721-722 Immunomodulatory effect of MSCs, 211-212 of renal assist device, 1154-1155 Immunomodulatory materials, 698 Immunostimulation, 688 Immunostimulatory effect, 184 Immunosuppressants, 1088-1089 Immunosuppression, 688, 982, 987-988 Immunosuppressive protocol, 239 Immunosuppressive therapy, 239, 790-791 and complications, 992-993 Immunotherapy nanomedicine applications in, 727 nanoparticle targeting applications in, 721 Immunotoxicity, 675, 684-691 tests, 689 Impedance spectroscopy, 597-598 Implanon, 562 Implant design goals, 1045 Implant function, 1044-1045 Implantable biomaterial scaffolds as cancer vaccines, 727-729, 728f to enhance autologous T cell therapy, 731-733 Implantable scaffolds, 891-892 ceramics, 891-892 polymers, 892 Implanted stem cells secrete factors, 1267-1268 Imprinting technique, 562-563 iMSCs. See MSCs derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iMSCs) In situ cardiac tissue engineering via injection of cells in hydrogels, 1090-1091 In situ DC vaccination approach, 727 In situ gelation, 574, 581 In situ kidney regeneration, 1166 In situ renal regeneration, 1172-1173 In situ-forming hydrogels, 638-639 materials, 648 In utero gene therapy (IUGT), 1009, 1015-1020 In utero stem cell transplantation (IUTx), 1009 clinical experience with, 1020-1021 preclinical animal studies, 1011-1020 barriers, 1013-1015 preclinical animal studies of IUGT, 1015-1020

In utero transplantation (IUT), 142 In vitro applications, 825-826 cell viability, 1157 culture system, 930-931 degradation profile, 1172 expansion of EPC, 312-313 of MSC, 315-316 experiments, 1152 hematopoiesis, 193-194 models, 776, 1142-1143 organoid development, 770-771 platelet production, 930-931 preclinical models, 764 spermatogenesis models, 1253-1254 studies, 73, 459-460, 1185-1186 systems, 457 ventricle chamber, 1083 tissue models, 839-841 drug screening systems, 841 tumor models, 839 In vitro fertilization (IVF), 100, 115, 1255, 1310, 1332 embryos, 1310 protocol, 1245 In vivo application, 438 3D bioprinting, 826 bioreactors, 897-898 for lung regeneration, 790-792, 792f technologies, 956 bone bioreactors for solving vascularization problem, 797-798, 798f chondrogenic bioassay, 412 conditioning and testing, 1046 implantation studies, 1169 murine models, 376 preclinical models, 764-765 studies, 1090-1094, 1168, 1186, 1191 delivery route for cells and patches, 1094 implantation of cardiac patches, 1091-1093 in situ cardiac tissue engineering via injection of cells in hydrogels, 1090-1091 in vivo integration of engineered cardiac patches, 1092f tests, 540 IND. See Investigational New Drug (IND) Indium phosphide, 490-491 Induced endodermal progenitor cells (iENDO cells), 183 Induced hematopoietic progenitors, 932-933 Induced neurons (iN), 450 Induced pluripotent stem (iPS), 49, 912-913 iPS-derived muscle stem cells, 286

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 40, 50, 84, 169, 181, 212, 247, 255-256, 256f, 285-286, 335-341, 351, 445, 474-475, 617, 747, 750, 762, 780-782, 855-856, 923-924, 931f-932f, 954, 1063, 1168, 1203, 1245, 1264, 1286-1287, 1309, 1311, 1331 applications, 172, 173f cell therapy, 175-176 challenges and future possibilities in disease modeling, 174 conservation of endangered species, 176 disease modeling, 172-174 epigenetic remodeling, 170 future directions, 176-177 genomic stability, 172 induced transdifferentiation, 171-172 iPSC-based therapeutics, 255-256 iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes, 1076 iPSC-based phenotyping, 363 iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium, 356-359 iPSCs-derived MSCs, 212-213 mechanisms of reprogramming, 169-170 model of cardiogenesis, 248-250 systems, 175 personalized medicine, 174-175 potential therapies for reducing scar formation, 85f reprogramming techniques, 170-171, 171f Induced transdifferentiation, 171-172 Inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitors, 945 Induction of donor-specific tolerance, 198-199 Inductive morphogenetic signals, 405-406 Indwelling urethral catheterization, 1273 Infertility, 1251 Inflammation, 297, 916, 1263 and wound healing, 676-683 acute inflammation, 679 blood-material interactions and initiation, 676-677 chronic inflammation, 679-680 FBGC cell formation and interactions, 682 - 683granulation tissue, 680 macrophage interactions, 680-681 provisional matrix formation, 677 sequence of host reactions, 676t temporal sequence, 678, 678f Inflammatory bowel disease, 220, 223 Inflammatory phase of wound healing, 26 Inflammatory response initiation, 676–677 targeting, 73-75 Informed consent, 1338 Infrared (IR), 525-526 Inherited metabolic disorders (IMD), 157 CBT for, 157-159 Inherited retinal dystrophies, 354-355 Inhibitor of Differentiation 1 (Id1), 52

Initial survival, cell-graft survival, 980-981 Injectability, 599-600 strategies to improve injectability, 599 - 600particle size and shape, 600 viscosity, 600 Injectable polymer systems, 575-576 Injectable scaffolds, 858-859 hydrogels, 858-859 injectable scaffolds/controlling morphology in situ, 513 microspheres, 858 Injectable systems, 638-639 Injection molding, 447t Inkjet bioprinting, 807-808 "Inkjet" printing. See Jetting-based printing Innate or adaptive immune cells, 938 Inner cell mass (ICM), 53-54, 113-114, 181 Inner ear, 867-868, 868f Inner root sheath, 1297 INO80 chromatin remodeler, 57 Inorganic based nanobiomaterials, 492-493, 492t Inorganic materials, 916 Inosculation, 668 Inositol triphosphate (IP3), 38-39 INS. See Insulin (INS) Insertional mutagenesis, 1018 "Inside-out" signaling, 19 Insolubility of elastin, 644 Insoluble cellular fibronectin, 616 Instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR), 997 Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, 765-766 Institutional Review Board (IRB), 1310, 1337 Insulin (INS), 31, 339-340, 987 Insulin growth factor (IGF), 7, 311-312, 339-340, 942 IGF-1, 23, 280, 1116, 1300 Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP), 344 Intact ECM molecules, 25-26 as scaffold material decellularization, 619-620 host response, 621 hydrogels, 620-621 postprocessing, 620 tissue procurement, 619 whole-organ scaffolds, 621-622 Integra, 1287-1290 Integrase, 748 Integrated multiorganoid model systems, 778-779 Integrated system, 780 Integration-free methods, 170 α7-Integrin (ITGA), 277 Integrin-linked kinase (ILK), 5 Integrins, 3, 16, 279-280, 425, 679 β6 gene, 3 integrin-mediated cell migration, 445

Integrins (Continued) integrin-mediated ECM signaling, 19 - 20integrin-matrix binding, 22 β1 integrins, 279–280, 617 β4 integrins, 617 Intellectual property (IP), 231 Intelligence of thermoresponsive polymers for cell sheet engineering, 469-471 Intelligent surfaces for regulating cell orientation, 479-480 Intelligent thermoresponsive cell culture substrates, 469 Intensive care unit (ICU), 1154 Interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles (ICMVs), 723-724 Interference RNA (RNAi), 911 Interferon (IFN), 184, 715-716 INF-gamma, 184, 383, 1154-1155 Interfollicular epidermis (IFE), 84 Interleukin (IL), 77, 184, 344, 370, 992, 1062 IL-1, 66-67, 280, 679, 888, 1087 IL-1β, 25, 799, 862 IL-2, 205, 716 IL-4, 298 IL-6, 25, 77, 280, 862, 1154-1155, 1268 IL-8, 77, 298, 1268 IL-10, 77, 205, 211, 298, 1154-1155 IL-13, 682 IL-24, 799 Intermediate filaments (IFs), 394-395 Intermolecular interactions, 655 Internal anal sphincter (IAS), 1142 International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH), 1347 International efforts, 1374-1375 International Knockout Mouse Consortium, 747-748 International NetCord Foundation, 149-150 International Society for Cellular Therapy, 149-150, 182, 315-316 International Society for Cytotherapy, 206 International Society for Extracellular Vesicle, 208 International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR), 1318, 1336 International Standard Organization (ISO), 1358, 1368 Interneuromast cells, 877 Interstitial matrix, 613-615 Intervertebral disc (IVD), 962 Intestinal microenvironment, 1139 Intestinal mucosa, 1136 Intestinal smooth muscle cells, 1139 Intestinal tissue engineering, 1136, 1138 Intestine, 143-144 Intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs), 679 Intracellular calcium flux, 688 Intracellular signaling molecules, 7, 16-18

Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived autologous stem cells, 265 Intracranial pressure (ICP), 369-370 Intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), 1251 Intradiscal delivery method, 962-963 Intralesional corticosteroid injections, topical and, 77 Intramembraneous bone formation, 696 Intramembranous ossification, 853 Intramuscular accumulations of grafted SCDMs, 981 Intramuscular transplantation, 976, 977f Intramyocardial injection of MSCs, 258 of myoblasts, 261 Intraperitoneal transplantation (IP transplantation), 324 Intraportal infusion of islets, 997 Intrathecal injection, 1207 Intratumor heterogeneity, 93-94 Intravascular administration, 976 Intravenous infusion, 1061-1062 Intravital imaging (IVM), 278-279 Inverse opal, 547 Invertebrates, 538 Inverted terminal repeats (ITRs), 747 Investigational Device Exemption (IDE), 1349 Investigational New Drug (IND), 1301-1302, 1338, 1349 Iodine 125-labeled proteins (I<sup>125</sup>-labeled proteins), 527 Ion beam implantation, 653 Ion channels, 393-394 Ionic charge, 528-529 Ionic homeostasis, 370-371 Ionic polyphosphazenes, 575 IP. See Intellectual property (IP) IP transplantation. See Intraperitoneal transplantation (IP transplantation) IP3. See Inositol triphosphate (IP3) Ipilimumab, phase III clinical trials of, 716-717 iPS. See Induced pluripotent stem (iPS) iPSCs. See Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) IR. See Infrared (IR) IR injuries. See Ischemia-reperfusion injuries (IR injuries) IRB. See Institutional Review Board (IRB) Iron oxide nanoparticles, 492 γ-Irradiation, 640-641 Irreversibility as criterion for diagnosing embryonic death, 127-128 Irreversibly arrested, nonviable embryos human embryonic stem cell lines deriving from, 128 morphological criteria for predicting capacity, 128 Ischemia-reperfusion injuries (IR injuries), 137-138, 186 Ischemic disease, MAPC

immunodulatory/trophic effects in, 185–186

ischemia-reperfusion injury, 186 ischemic stroke, 185 myocardial infarct, 186 peripheral hind limb ischemia, 186 spinal cord injury, 185 TBL 185-186 Ischemic necrosis, 981, 981f Ischemic stroke, 185, 1203 Isl-1<sup>+</sup> cardioblast, 250, 263-264 Isl-1<sup>+</sup> progenitors, 263–264 Islet cell transplantation. See also Cell transplantation; Cord blood transplantation (CBT); Hepatocyte transplantation; In utero transplantation (IUT) clinical islet transplantation, 990-993 edmonton protocol, 989-990 engraftment posttransplant, 998-999 immunomodulation, 999-1000 islet transplantation, 988-989 living donor islet transplantation, 993-994 optimal transplantation site, 997-998 overcoming tissue shortage, 993 stem cell transplantation, 995-997 xenotransplantation, 995 Islet equivalents (IE), 989 Islets, 336 cell proliferation, 343 isolation process, 997 transplantation, 988-989, 988f, 991f clinical, 990–993 patient assessment and selection, 990-991 procedure, 991-992 risks to recipient, 992-993 ISO. See International Standard Organization (ISO) Isolate morphogens, 406, 406f Isolated cells, 742 Isoleucine-lysine-valine-alanine-valine (IKVAV), 380 amino acid sequence, 635 N-Isopropylacrylamide (NiPAAm), 563-564, 648 Isoproterenol, 780 Isothermal methods, 97 Isotropic grafts, 1224 Isotropic natural materials, 1224-1225 Isotropic scaffolds for nerve regeneration ECM molecules, 1226-1227 electroconductive scaffolds, 1229 hydrogel scaffold for nerve repair, 1226 natural scaffolds, 1224-1225 neurotrophic factors and cytokine delivery, 1227-1228 seeding neuronal support cells, 1228-1229 synthetic scaffolds for nerve repair, 1225-1226 ISSCR. See International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR) ITGA. See a7-Integrin (ITGA) ITN. See Immune Tolerance Network (ITN)

INDEX

ITRs. See Inverted terminal repeats (ITRs)
IUGT. See In utero gene therapy (IUGT)
IUT. See In utero transplantation (IUT)
IUTx. See In utero stem cell transplantation (IUTx)
Ivacaftor, 174–175
IVD. See Intervertebral disc (IVD)
IVF. See In vitro fertilization (IVF)
IVM. See Intravital imaging (IVM)

### J

JAK signaling, 57 Japan, advancing regenerative medicine, 1375 Japan's Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency, 1375 Jetting-based printing, 832-833, 1288-1289 3D multicell "pie" construct, 833f Imid1a and Imid2c. See Jumanji domain enzymes (Jmjd1a and Jmjd2c) JNK. See Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) Joint FDA-CDC workshop, 1351 Joint function, contribution to, 1182-1183 Joint motion, 1182-1183 Jumanji domain enzymes (Jmjd1a and Imid2c), 55 Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), 398 JUVENTAS trial, 83

### Κ

K/Sr scaffolds. See Potassium and strontium ions scaffolds (K/Sr scaffolds) KADD. See N-Aminoethyl aminocaproyl dihydrocinnamoyl (KADD) Kanamycin, 870-871 Karyotype analysis of human AFSC, 138 KASH domains. See Klarsicht, ANC-1, Syne homology domains (KASH domains) KASH-SUN complex, 459 KDR. See Kinase insert domain receptor (KDR) KE. See Kinetic energy (KE) Kefauver-Harris amendments to FD&C Act, 1346 Keloids, 66, 70 Keratan sulfate, 618 Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), 1300 Keratinocytes, 26-28, 66, 320, 1283-1285, 1297 differentiation, 23 Keratins, 1283 Keratocytes, 1115 Keratoprostheses (KPros), 1116 regenerative medicine applying to, 1116 - 1118Kermanite (Ca<sub>2</sub>MgSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>), 706-707 β-Keto nitrile tautomeric copolymers, 704 KGF. See Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) Kidney(s), 142-143, 1149-1150 disease, 1165 regenerative medicine approaches cell-based therapy, 1166-1172

cell-free approach, 1172-1173 tissue, 1169 kidney tissue-derived stem and primary cells, 1166-1168 transplantation, 1165 Kinase insert domain receptor (KDR), 311 Kinetic energy (KE), 525 Kit-CreERT2/+ reporter mice, 250-251 Klarsicht, ANC-1, Syne homology domains (KASH domains), 459 KLF2. See Krüppel-like factor 2 (KLF2) Klinefelter syndrome, 1252 Knee anterior cruciate ligament, 1184-1185 medial collateral ligament, 1184 motion, 1183 multiple ligamentous injuries in, 1185 Knockout serum replacement (KSR), 114 KPros. See Keratoprostheses (KPros) Krabbe disease, 158 Krüppel-like factor 2 (KLF2), 169-170 Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), 50, 52, 57 Krüppel-like factor 5 (KLF5), 169-170 KSR. See Knockout serum replacement (KSR) Kyphoplasty, 607

#### L

L-type channel blocker, 173 Lab-on-a-chip style models, 825 Labile cells, 683-684 β-Lactamases, 898-899 Lactide, 568 L-Lactic acid (L-LA), 568 Lactobacillus acidophilus (L. acidophilus), 898-899 Lactones, polyesters of, 570 Lacunae system, 133 Lagrangian strain. See Green strain Lamin proteins, 394–395 Lamina propria, 1251-1252 Laminin, 279, 393, 617, 645-646, 1270 Laminin 521 or 511, 118 "Landing pad", 748 Langerhans' cells, 1283 Langmuir-Blodgett deposition method, 655 Large animal lungs regeneration, bioreactors for, 790, 791f Large animal models, 765 Large-diameter tissue-engineered vascular graft fabricating tissue engineered vascular grafts, 1030-1038 biodegradable synthetic-based scaffolds, 1038 biological-based scaffolds, 1030-1033 hybrid scaffolds, 1033-1037 Large-scale tissue construction, vascularization in cell sheets for, 475-477 Laser ablation technique, 670 Laser patterning, 772 Laser therapy, 78 Laser-assisted bioprinting, 846

Laser-assisted printing, 834 Laser-based bioprinting technology, 773 Laser-based patterning of hydrogels, 670 Laser-enabled analysis and processing, 95 Lateral line, 867, 876f hair cell regeneration using, 876-879 models of progenitor cells, 878f pathways coordinating hair cell regeneration in, 879-880 regeneration, 880 Latex protein, 689-690 Layer-by-layer method (LbL method), 655 LbL method. See Layer-by-layer method (LbL method) LCST. See Lower critical solution temperature (LCST) Lef-1. See Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor-1 (Lef-1) LEF/TCF. See Lymphoid enhancerbinding factor/T-cell factor (LEF/ TCF) Left ventricular (LV), 253 dysfunction, 253 function, 1087-1088 Left ventricular assist devices (LVADs), 688 Left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), 257 Lentivirus vectors, 749 Leptotrichia shahii (L. shahii), 745-746 Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), 49-52, 114, 119, 181-183 Leukocyte(s), 679 extravasation, 25 leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions, 679 migration, 445 Leukodystrophies, 158 Leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>), 677 Lheureux model, 44-45 LIF. See Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) Ligament, 959-960 healing of ligaments and tendons, 1183-1185, 1188-1192 mechanical properties of ligament substance, 1181 normal ligaments and tendons biology, 1180 biomechanics, 1180-1183 Ligand-receptor signaling, 6-7 growth factor- $\beta$  pathway, 6 Hedgehog pathway, 7 notch pathway, 7 signaling by receptor tyrosine kinase ligands, 7 Wnt pathway, 6-7 Ligands, 442, 685 Light transmission aggregometry (LTA), 930 LIM-homeodomain transcription Nkx2-5, 247 - 248Limb interaction of cells from opposite sides of limb circumference, 44-45 ischemia, 345

Limb (Continued) limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, 753 regeneration, 37 Limbal stem cell biopsy-derived stromal cells, 1119 Limbal stem transplantation, 1116 lin<sup>-</sup>. See Lineage negative (lin<sup>-</sup>) Lin<sup>-</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cells (LSK cells), 194 - 195Lin28, 50, 114 Lineage negative (lin<sup>-</sup>), 194-195, 253 Lineage reprogramming. See Transdifferentiation process LINK. See Linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton (LINK) 1,4-Linked β-D-mannuronic acid, 640–641 Linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton (LINK), 396, 459 Lipid(s), 209 proteins immobilization in lipid layers, 530 Lipofectamine, 497-498 15-Lipooxygenase, 888 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 186-187 Liposuctioned fat, 222 Liquid-to-powder ratio (LPR), 600 Live cells, 95 Live imaging, 279 tracking muscle stem cell behavior through, 278-279 Liver, 750-751, 1101 allografts, 239 biopsy, 239 cell therapy of liver disease background studies, 231-232 clinical hepatocyte transplantation, 232-237, 233t current treatments for liver disease, 230t hepatocyte transplantation, 237-241 cell transplantation, 1101-1102 ECM-derived hydrogels, 779-780 failure, 321 liver-derived cell lines, 773 liver-on-a-chip, 773 liver-specific hepatospheres, 1106 markers, 779-780 organoids, 769, 773, 779-780 partial degradation pathway of tyrosine, 751f spheroids, 1106-1110 stem cells and alternative cell sources for liver therapy, 239-241 Liver transplantation (LT), 1101 clinical, 239 Living biological systems, 523 Living donor islet transplantation, 993-994 Living radical polymerization processes (LRP processes), 471, 479-480 LMW compounds. See Low-molecular weight compounds (LMW compounds) Load-elongation curve, 1181, 1181f Logistic(s), 1368, 1373

Long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs), 107 Long-term survival, 981-982 Longitudinal outcome measures, 381 Lower critical solution temperature (LCST), 469-470, 563-564, 648 Lower urinary tract reconstruction, 1263 Low-molecular weight compounds (LMW compounds), 689-690, 940 LOXL. See Lysyl oxidase-like proteins (LOXL) loxP site, 747-748 LPR. See Liquid-to-powder ratio (LPR) LPS. See Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) LRP processes. See Living radical polymerization processes (LRP processes) LSK cells. See Lin<sup>-</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cells (LSK cells) LT. See Liver transplantation (LT) LT-HSCs. See Long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs) LTA. See Light transmission aggregometry (LTA) Lubrication, 413 Luciferase-expressing satellite cells, 278-279 Ludwig scale, 1305 Lumacaftor, 174-175 Lung, 143 bioreactors, 788-794 bioengineering functional lungs, 788-789 evaluation of bioengineered lungs, 793-794 for regeneration of large animal lungs, 790, 791f for regeneration of small animal lungs, 789–790, 789f for study of lung biology, 792-793 in vivo bioreactors for lung regeneration, 790-792, 792f cancer spheroids, 775 development, 1059-1060, 1060f lung-on-a-chip, 774 microvascular endothelial cells, 1065-1066 novel cell populations for lung repair, 1061-1063 regeneration, 1061, 1065, 1067f in vivo bioreactors for, 790-792, 792f transplantation, 1068 trapping, 324 tumor models, 775 LV. See Left ventricular (LV) LVADs. See Left ventricular assist devices (LVADs) LVEF. See Left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) Lymph node-targeting nanoparticles, 723-724 Lymphocytes, 680, 731, 1284 Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor-1 (Lef-1), 5 Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor/T-cell factor (LEF/TCF), 4 Lymphoid progenitor cells, 192

Lymphoid tissues, 724 Lyophilization, 620 Lyophilized scaffolds, 620 Lysine, 573, 640 Lysine-diisocyanate, 572–573 Lysyl oxidase-like proteins (LOXL), 5 Lysyl oxidases, 617

### М

MACI. See Matrix-induced ACI (MACI) Macrophage mannose receptor (MMR), 682 Macrophage(s), 39, 106-107, 185, 506, 678, 680, 715, 862, 1200, 1228, 1284-1285 behavior, 516-517 in blastema formation, 41 depletion, 41 interactions, 680-681 Mac-1, 194-195 Macropores, 891-892 Macroporosity, 891-892 Macroporous alginate scaffold, 702 Macroporous Cryogel scaffolds, 729 Macroporous Cryogel-based cancer vaccine, 729 Macroporous scaffolds, 727, 731-733 Macroscale biomaterials, 731 implantable biomaterial scaffolds as cancer vaccines, 727-729, 728f to enhance autologous T cell therapy, 731-733 scaffolds for cancer immunotherapy, 727-733 injectable biomaterial systems as cancer vaccines, 729-731 Macroscale drug delivery biomaterial platforms, 727 Macular degeneration, 176 Mad. See Mothers against decapentaplegic (Mad) MadineDarby Canine Kidney cells (MDCK cells), 4 MafA. See Musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A (MafA) MAG. See Myelin-associated glycoproteins (MAG) Magnesium phosphate (MP), 708-709 Magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs), 491 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 381, 491, 799, 831-832, 961 Maintenance, hESC, 117-118 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 135, 258, 323-324, 362, 685, 1011, 1258 MHC class II proteins, 688-689 MALBAC. See Multiple annealing and looping-based amplification cycles (MALBAC) Male reproductive system. See also Female reproductive system ejaculatory system, 1255-1256 penis, 1257-1258 testes, 1251-1254 Male urethra, 1255

Malevlacetoacetate, 750-751 Mammalian auditory sensory epithelia, 867 Mammalian cardiogenesis, 247 Mammalian vestibular organs, spontaneous hair cell regeneration in, 870-871 Mammography Quality Standards Act program, 1347 Manufacturability, 517 MAP. See Mean arterial pressure (MAP) MAP2. See Microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2) MAPCs. See Multipotent adult progenitor cells (MAPCs) MAPK. See Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) MARCKS family, 41 Marfan syndrome, 212 Marine corals, 552-553 Marrow isolated adult lineage inducible cells (MIAMI), 182 Marrow stromal cells (MSC), 307, 578 Mass cytometry, 99 MASTERGRAFT, 897-898 Material surface property-dependent blood protein adsorption, 681 Material-forming processes, 695-696 Materials-based cancer immunotherapies advantages and disadvantages, 717-718 macroscale biomaterial scaffolds, 727-733 nanoparticle biomaterials, 718-727 overview, 715-717 MATES. See Multi-Agency Tissue Engineering Science (MATES) Mathematical identification of cellular subpopulations, 101-103 Matriderm, 1287–1288 Matrigel, 118, 668, 1090, 1104, 1205-1206 Matrix binding with growth factors, 1271 mechanics, 635-636 molecules, 16, 22 or matrix-mimicking bioinks, 810-821 cell-laden bioinks, 819-821, 820f co-printing and hybrid bioinks, 816-819, 817f natural materials, 813-816, 814f synthetic materials, 811-813, 812f Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), 2-3, 39, 579, 637, 666, 1200 MMP-2, 22, 232, 431-432 MMP-degradable hydrogels, 666 Matrix-bound vesicles (MBVs), 618-619 Matrix-induced ACI (MACI), 945-946 Mature cells, 664 Mature epidermis, 1283-1284 Mature stratum corneum, 1283 Maxillofacial reconstruction, current methods of, 890-891 Maximum capture rate (MCR), 1076-1077

Mayer–Rokitansky–Küster–Hauser syndrome (MRKHS), 1237 MBG. See Mesoporous bioactive glass

(MBG) MBVs. See Matrix-bound vesicles (MBVs) MC3T3 fibroblasts, 702 MC3T3-E1 osteoblastic cells, 439 MCAM. See Melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM) MCAO. See Middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) MCL. See Medial collateral ligament (MCL) MCPM. See Monocalcium phosphate monohydrate (MCPM) MCR. See Maximum capture rate (MCR) MCT. See Monocrotaline (MCT) MD. See Mean diffusivity (MD) MDCK cells. See MadineDarby Canine Kidney cells (MDCK cells) MDR. See Multidrug resistance (MDR) MDSCs. See Muscle-derived stem cells (MDSCs); Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) Mean arterial pressure (MAP), 376, 1153-1154 Mean diffusivity (MD), 382-383 Mechanical augmentation, 1190-1191 combined biological and, 1191–1192 Mechanical colony dispersion, 117 Mechanical deformations, 424 Mechanical elasticity and strength development, 1086 Mechanical failure, 505-506 Mechanical forces, 787 Mechanical picking, 117 Mechanical regulation of vascularized tissue regeneration, 427-432 mechanical stimulation in vitro, 429-432 blood vessel bioreactors, 431-432 bone bioreactors, 429-430 cartilage bioreactors, 429 mechanical stimulation in vivo, 427 Mechanical stimulation, 664, 1084-1085 Mechanical stimuli, 423-427 externally applied effect, 457-459 mechanical stress on cellular behavior, 458f mechanotransduction, 458-459 mechanotransduction, 424-427 tissue remodeling, 423-424 Mechanical stress(es), 636-637 Mechanical support, 505-506, 506f Mechanobiology, 391, 417, 1286 affects tissue development and function, 399-400 Mechanoreceptors, 393-394 Mechanosensation in FAK Y397 phosphorylation, 19-20 Mechanosensitive (MS), 393 ion channels, 425 Mechanosensory lateral line, 877 transduction, 392-393 Mechanotransduction, 397, 424-427, 458-459, 635-636

through cell-cell adhesions, 398-400 through cell-extracellular matrix adhesions, 398 mechanisms and major effectors, 392-396 cell structure and composition, 392 cytoskeleton, 394-396 ECM, 392-393 ion channels and mechanoreceptors, 393-394 Medial collateral ligament (MCL), 1179, 1184 Medial collateral ligament, 1188-1189 of knee, 1184 Median normalization, 101 Medical Device Amendments to FD&C Act, 1346 Medical Research Council Adjuvant Gastric Infusional Chemotherapy trial, 261 Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium (MTEC), 1374 Medical therapy, 1131 Medicinal signaling cells, 344 MEF. See Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) Megakaryocytes (MK), 923 megakaryopoiesis, 929 and platelets from adult stem cells and somatic cells, 929 and platelets generating from human pluripotent stem cells, 930 Megakaryopoiesis, 929 MEK. See Mitogen activated protein kinase/Extracellular signalregulated kinase (MEK) MEK inhibitor PD0325901, 119 Melanocytes, 1283-1284 Melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM), 206 MELD scores. See Model for End-Stage Liver Disease scores (MELD scores) Melt spinning technique, 553 Melt-derived approach, 553 Membranous labyrinth, 867 Memoranda of Understanding (MOU), 1361 Menaflex, 616 Meniscus, 961-962 Menstrual MSCs (MenSCs), 210 mEpiSCs. See Mouse epiblast stem cells (mEpiSCs) Merkel cells, 1283 mESCs. See Mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs) Mesenchymal cells, 1 Mesenchymal cellular condensation, 696 Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), 82-83, 135, 182, 205-206, 240-241, 250-251, 258-261, 259f, 295, 315-316, 320-322, 335-336, 344, 371-373, 376, 383, 409, 441, 489, 540, 699-700, 762-763, 772, 799, 812, 823-824, 841-842, 853-854, 894, 909, 939, 953-954, 996, 1062, 1118, 1168-1169, 1187, 1202, 1251, 1264, 1284-1285, 1299, 1360

Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) (Continued) cell therapy with allogeneic, 262f exosomes, 208–211 for gene therapy, 322-325 identification, isolation, characterization, and in vitro expansion, 315-316 immunomodulatory effects, 211-212 induced pluripotent stem cell-derived, 212 - 213isolation techniques, 208 to modulating immunity, 344-345, 344f MSC-loaded collagen hydrogel collagen, 700-701 neurologic stem cell treatment study, 385 in regenerative medicine, 220-223, 221f asthma, 223 clinical trials, 224 clinically relevant therapies using MSCs, 222-223 diabetes, 223 inflammatory bowel disease, 223 mesengenic process, 220f multiple sclerosis, 223 new MSCs, 224 stroke and acute myocardial infarct, 223 stem cell nature, 206-207 subacute TIB trial, 383 rationale for using MSC, 383 results, 383 tissues containing, 207 transendocardial injection of autologous human cells, 260f-261f Mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET), 1 Mesenchyme, 1136 Mesoangioblasts, 976 Mesoderm posterior 1 gene (Mesp1 gene), 247 - 248Mesp1-rtTA transgene, 248 Mesp1<sup>+</sup> progenitors, 248 Mesoporous bioactive glass (MBG), 709 Mesoporous silica nanobiomaterials, 492-493 Mesoporous silica rods (MSRs), 729-731, 731f Mesp1 gene. See Mesoderm posterior 1 gene (Mesp1 gene) Messenger ribonucleoprotein granules (mRNP granules), 275-276 Messenger RNA (mRNA), 50, 76, 98-99, 170, 275-276, 745-746, 928, 972-973, 1187 MET. See Mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) Metabolic activity, 1157 Metabolic cues, 281 Metabolic liver disease(s), 237 clinical transplants for, 235t hepatocyte transplantation for, 234-237 Metallic/metal(s), 831 biomaterials, 507-508

metal-catalyzed oxidation, 567 metal-ceramic blends, 709 metal-polymer blends, 709 nanobiomaterials, 492, 492t scaffolds, 509, 513, 707 Methacrylate, 579 Methacrylated hyaluronic acid, 808-809 Methacrylates, 559-560 2-Methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC), 1123 N-Methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), 394 MHC. See Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) MI. See Myocardial infarction (MI) MIAMI. See Marrow isolated adult lineage inducible cells (MIAMI) Mibefradil, 780 Michael-type addition reactions, 638, 647-648 Microarray post detectors, 1081-1082 Microbial cellulose, 641-642 Microbiofabrication, 772 Microcomputed tomography (µCT), 699-700, 799 Microcontact printing, 659, 772 Microencapsulated ovarian cells, 1244 Microengineered/microengineering, 772-773 lung models, 792 tissue constructs, 770 Microfabricated intelligent surface for engineering complex tissue constructs copatterning to create cellular microenvironment, 478 regulating cell orientation in cell sheet engineering, 479-481 Microfabrication techniques, 95-96, 769-770, 772-775 Microfilaments, 395 Microfluidic organoid for drug screening platform (MODS platform), 1109 Microfluidic(s), 769, 773-774 cell culture devices, 1142-1143 chips, 457 circuit, 769-770 device, 776, 1243-1244 fluid exposure, 659 platforms, 454-455 systems, 773-775 techniques, 774-775 technologies, 95-96, 772 Microglia, 371-373, 1200 β2-Microglobulin, 930, 1151 Microgrooved polydimethylsiloxane substrates, 479-480 Microinjection delivery, 749 Microparticulate ceramic materials, 577 Micropatterning, 478, 772 approaches, 479-480 of PEG hydrogels, 670 technologies, 772 Microphotopatterning lines, 457 Microphysiological system, 1082 Microporous PLGA scaffolds, 670

MicroRNA (miRNA), 39-40, 50, 208, 860, 862f integrating with cell signaling and transcription factors, 57-58 miR-9, 5 Microspheres, 858, 1172 Microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2), 448 Microtubules (MTs), 394-395 Microvasculature, importance of, 667-668 Microvesicles (MVs), 205, 208 Middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO), 1204 Migration, 788 cell-ECM interactions during healing of cutaneous wounds, 25 - 26during regenerative fetal wound healing, 29 signal transduction events during cell-ECM interactions, 19-22 Miniaturization approaches, 773 Miniorgan, 1304 Minocycline, 1206-1207 miR-17-92 miRNA cluster, 55 miR302 cluster, 57-58 miRNA. See MicroRNA (miRNA) Mitogen activated protein kinase/ Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (MEK), 49-50 Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), 6, 19-20, 49-50, 284, 398 Mitogenesis, 406 Mitogenic response, 408 Mixed chimerism, 198-199 Mixed metalloproteinase 8 (MMP 8), 72 MK. See Megakaryocytes (MK) MLP. See Muscle LIM protein (MLP) mMAPC-VP. See mMAPCs predifferentiated to vascular progenitors (mMAPC-VP) mMAPCs. See Murine MAPCs (mMAPCs) mMAPCs predifferentiated to vascular progenitors (mMAPC-VP), 186 MMP 8. See Mixed metalloproteinase 8 (MMP 8) MMPs. See Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) MMR. See Macrophage mannose receptor (MMR) MNCs. See Mononuclear cells (MNCs) mNPCs. See Murine NPCs (mNPCs) MNPs. See Magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) MO. See Monocyte (MO) Mobilized PB (mPB), 309 MOD. See Multiple organ dysfunction (MOD) Model for End-Stage Liver Disease scores (MELD scores), 241 Modern surface analysis methods, 524-525 Modified cells, 381 Modified SB623 cells trial, 384

MODS platform. See Microfluidic organoid for drug screening platform (MODS platform) MOF. See Multiple organ failure (MOF) Molecular cell biology, 405-406 Molecular circuitry underlying pluripotency, 49 BMP, 50-52 chromatin structure determining regulatory activity, 58 ground state and primed embryonic stem cells, 49-50 induced pluripotent stem cells, 50 LIF, 50-52 MicroRNAS integrating with cell signaling and transcription factors, 57-58 Myc linking cell signaling to pluripotency gene regulation, 54 - 55OCT4, SOX2, NANOG, 53-54 specific epigenetic program helping maintain pluripotency, 55-57 TGFβ and fibroblast growth factor signaling pathways, 52 WNT signaling, 52-53 Molecular imaging techniques, 788 Molecular imprinting systems, 510, 511f Molecular organization of cells, 1-4 changes in cell polarity and stimulation of cell motility, 3 changes in cell-cell adhesion, 2 changes in cell-extracellular matrix adhesion, 3 epithelial vs. mesenchymal, 2f epithelial-mesenchymal transition transcriptional program, 4-5 invasion of basal lamina, 3-4 molecular control of epithelial-mesenchymal transition, 5 - 8Molecular self-assembly, 635 Molecular signaling factors, 280 Molecular weight (MW), 1149 Molecular weight cutoff (MWCO), 1149-1150 Monkey's biceps brachium, 977-979 Monocalcium phosphate monohydrate (MCPM), 592-593 Monocrotaline (MCT), 319 Monocyte (MO), 185, 373, 678-679, 1155-1156 Mononuclear cells (MNCs), 208, 311 Mononuclear phagocyte/phagocytic system (MPS), 488, 490, 680, 681t, 720 Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL-A), 722 Monotherapy, 80-81 "Mop-end" injury model, 1184 Morphogenesis, 405-406 of cartilage, 412 Morula, 115 Mosquito HTS, 95 Mothers against decapentaplegic (Mad), 426

MOU. See Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) Mouse 4T1 breast tumor resection model, 731-733 Mouse cytokeratin 18, 240-241 Mouse embryonic carcinoma cells, 113 Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF), 117 Mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs), 49-50, 113-114, 119, 181, 445, 451, 617 LIF and BMP signaling pathways regulating mESc self-renewal, 50 - 52mouse ES-derived cells, 239-240 Mouse epiblast stem cells (mEpiSCs), 181 Mouse femoral bone marrow, 193 Mouse Flk-1, 311 Mouse MC3T3-E1 cells, 704-705 Mouse skin fibroblasts, 762 Mouse Vasa homolog (MVH), 1244-1245 MP. See Magnesium phosphate (MP) mPB. See Mobilized PB (mPB) MPC. See 2-Methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC) MPL-A. See Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL-A) MPS. See Mononuclear phagocyte/ phagocytic system (MPS); Mucopolysaccharidosis (MPS) MRFs. See Myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) MRI. See Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) MRKHS. See Mayer-Rokitansky-Küster-Hauser syndrome (MRKHS) mRNA. See Messenger RNA (mRNA) mRNP granules. See Messenger ribonucleoprotein granules (mRNP granules) MRTFs. See Myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) MS. See Mechanosensitive (MS); Multiple sclerosis (MS) MSC. See Marrow stromal cells (MSC) MSC-derived extracellular vesicles (MSC-EVs), 210 MSC-EVs. See MSC-derived extracellular vesicles (MSC-EVs) MSCs. See Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) MSCs derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iMSCs), 206, 213 MSRs. See Mesoporous silica rods (MSRs) Msx1, 39-40 MTEC. See Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium (MTEC) mTR mouse, 284 MTs. See Microtubules (MTs) MTU. See Muscle-tendon unit (MTU) Mucin, 70 Mucopolysaccharides, 639 Mucopolysaccharidosis (MPS), 158 Mucosa of neointestine, 1136-1137 Müller glia, 1200 Müllerian ducts, 1237

Multi-Agency Tissue Engineering Science (MATES), 1361 Multiarmed PEG, 580 Multicellular tissues, 1 Multicenter bone marrow mononuclear cell pediatric trial, 384 Multidisciplinary studies, 1188-1189 Multidrug resistance (MDR), 195 MDR-1, 261-262 MDR-2, 232 Multifunctionalized systems, 911 Multiorgan systems and future applications, 775-783 cutting-edge body-on-a-chip, 779-783 importance of multiorganoid integration, 776-779 Multiorganoid body-on-a-chip platform, 779, 783 integration importance, 776-779 additional disease modeling, 778-779 cancer, 776 drug testing and toxicology, 777-778 studies, 780 systems, 783 Multiphasic scaffolds, 634-635 Multiphoton-excited 3D printing method, 1080 Multiple annealing and looping-based amplification cycles (MALBAC), 97 Multiple commercial 3D coculture platforms, 1108-1109 Multiple disease mechanisms, 174-175 Multiple disorders of mesenchymal tissues, 212 Multiple displacement amplification, 97 Multiple ligamentous injuries in knee, 1185 Multiple organ dysfunction (MOD), 1150 Multiple organ failure (MOF), 1154 Multiple sclerosis (MS), 220, 223 experimental autoimmune encephalitis model, 223 Multipotent adult progenitor cells (MAPCs), 182, 371-373 ASCs, 181-182 differentiation potential of rMAPCs and hMAPCs in vitro, 183 future directions, 187 isolation of hMAPCs, 183 isolation of rMAPCs, 182-183 MAPC-induced tolerogenicity, 185 regenerative capacities, 183-187 hematopoietic reconstitution, 183 immunomodulatory properties of low-oct4 mMAPCs and hMAPCs, 184 - 187stem cells, 181 Multipotent cardiovascular stem cell, 248-250 Multipotent progenitors, formation of new neuromasts from, 877 Multipotentiality, 1266-1267 of MSCs, 207 multiple modes of action assigned to adult stem cells, 1267t

Multiprotein surface, 523-524 Multistep perfusion system, 1105 Multisystem organoids, 174 Multivariate methods for analyzing surface molecular information, 527 Multivariate statistical methods, 527 Multiwalled CNT-soaked collagen (MWCNT-soaked collagen), 451 Murine AFSC, 138 Murine cardiomyocyte-like tumor cells, 253 Murine embryonic stem cells, 664 Murine fibroblasts, 445 Murine MAPCs (mMAPCs), 182 immunomodulatory properties of lowoct4 in vitro effects of MAPCs on T cells, B cells, and NK cells, 184 in vivo immunodulatory effects, 184 - 186Murine NPCs (mNPCs), 448 Musashi-1, 1135 Muscle, 751-753 cells, 1273 fibers, 279 interstitial cells, 273 precursor cells, 971 regeneration, 40, 281, 972 regenerative defect, 277 stem cell types within, 285-286 iPS-derived muscle stem cells, 286 tissue, 494-495 Muscle LIM protein (MLP), 41 Muscle stem cells (MuSCs), 273, 279-281, 282f, 283-284 activation, 280 functional characteristics, 276-277 isolation, 277 molecular characteristics, 274-276 regulation, 279-281 satellite cells, 274 Muscle-derived stem cells (MDSCs), 963 Muscle-tendon unit (MTU), 817, 845-846, 845f Muscle-vein combined grafts, 1224-1225 MuSCs. See Muscle stem cells (MuSCs) Muscular dystrophy, 287, 751-753, 752t, 963 DMD, 752-753 limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, 753 Muscular layers, 1238 Muscular thin films, 1080 Muscularis mucosa, 1135 Muscularis propria, 1135 Musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A (MafA), 336-337 Musculoskeletal diseases, 953 Musculoskeletal system, 141, 953 Mussel-inspired surface modification strategies, 655 MVH. See Mouse Vasa homolog (MVH) MVs. See Microvesicles (MVs) MW. See Molecular weight (MW)

MWCNT-soaked collagen. See Multiwalled CNT-soaked collagen (MWCNT-soaked collagen) MWCO. See Molecular weight cutoff (MWCO) Myc, 5, 170 linking cell signaling to pluripotency gene regulation, 54-55 Myelin-associated glycoproteins (MAG), 1200-1201 Myeloblasts, 775 Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), 715 Myelosuppressive effects of chemotherapy, 196 Myf5 gene, 275-276 Myoblasts, 261, 263f, 273, 480-481, 971 culture, 440 progeny, 274 sheets, 473-474 transplantation in skeletal muscles cell administration, 976-980 cell-graft survival, 980-982 relevant properties of SCDMs, 972-975 SCDMs, 971-975 Myocardial infarct, 186 Myocardial infarction (MI), 141-142, 175-176, 186, 252-253, 495, 1073 Myocardial tissue engineering, 636 Myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs), 5 Myocardium, 489-490, 1094 regeneration, 473-474 Myocyte renewal, 253 MYOD+ cells, 282-283 MYOD1, 276 Myofiber(s) basal lamina, 279 formation of new, 973-974 fragment, 39 Myofibroblast(s), 1, 30, 680 differentiation, 23-24, 27 Myogenesis, 971-972 molecular characteristics of muscle stem cells, 274-276, 275f Myogenic cells, 285-286 Myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), 275 Myogenic transcription factors, 286 Myoglobin, 1151 Myometrium cells, 1240 Myopathy, 972 Myoseverin, 40 Myosins, 276, 299 Myostatin, 280 Myriad Genetics, 1325

## N

Na<sup>+</sup>-glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT1), 1138 NAAGS. *See N*-Acetyl aspartyl-glutamate synthetase (NAAGS) NAD<sup>+</sup>. *See* Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD<sup>+</sup>) NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. *See* Sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) Naive embryonic stem cells, 119 "Naive" state, 181 NAM Forum. See National Academy of Medicine Forum (NAM Forum) Nano-HA (n-HA), 704-705 Nanoapatite (nAp), 708 Nanobiomaterials, 491-493, 492t Nanoengineering techniques, 1288 Nanofibrous PLLA (NF-PLLA), 857 Nanofibrous scaffolds, 496 for bone tissue engineering, 857 nanofibrous silk scaffolds, 548 Nanofibrous spongy microsphere (NF-SMS), 858 Nanog, 50, 52-54, 57, 114, 138 Nanoimprinting, 447t, 489 Nanolipogels (NLGs), 722, 723f Nanomaterial properties, 486-491 chemical properties, 490 self-assembly, 490 surface chemistry, 490 electrical properties, 491 magnetic properties, 491 optical properties, 490-491 physical properties, 486-490 shape, 488–489 size, 487-488 surface topography, 489-490 physicochemical properties, 488f Nanomaterial-based drug delivery, 495-496 Nanomedicine applications in immunotherapy, 727 in cancer, 718-719 nanoparticle platforms, 719f Nanoparticle(s), 718-719 biomaterials for cancer immunotherapy, 718-727 effects of nanoparticle size and shape, 720 effects of nanoparticle surface charge and hydrophilicity, 720 effects of nanoparticle surface functionalization, 720-721 nanomedicine applications in immunotherapy, 727 nanomedicine in cancer, 718-719 delivery systems, 722 effects of nanoparticle size and shape, 720 effects of nanoparticle surface charge and hydrophilicity, 720 nanoparticle vaccine strategy, 724 nanoparticle-based drug delivery, 494 surface functionalization effects, 720-721 systems, 721 targeting amphiphilic peptide and adjuvants targeting lymph nodes, 725f of APCs, 722-727 applications in immunotherapy, 721 of tumor microenvironment, 721-722 Nanoscale spinning process, 1151 Nanospheres, 208

Nanostructured biomaterials, 491-492 Nanostructured CaP biomaterials and scaffolds, 706 Nanostructured scaffolds, 496 Nanotechnology, 485, 718-719 applications for stem cell therapy, 497f nanotechnology-based stem cell therapy, 497-498 nanotechnology applications for, 497f stem cell delivery, 498 stem cell expansion, 498 stem cell transfection, 497-498 nanotechnology-based strategies in regenerative medicine bone tissue, 493-494 cartilage, bladder, and skin, 496 muscle tissue, 494-495 neural tissue, 496 vascular tissue, 495-496 Nanotopography, 448 nAp. See Nanoapatite (nAp) NAS. See US National Academies of Science (NAS) National Academy of Medicine Forum (NAM Forum), 1362 National cord blood inventory (NCBI), 150 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's Cardiovascular Cell Therapy Research Network, 265, 1361 National Institute for Innovation in Manufacturing Biopharmaceuticals (NIIMBL), 1374 National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, 1361 National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), 1355, 1368 National Institutes of Health (NIH), 126, 126b, 169, 440, 780-782, 817, 1311-1312, 1333-1334, 1353 NIH 3T3 fibroblasts, 440, 773 NIH-negotiated licenses, 1325 National Marrow Donor Program (NMDP), 150 National Nanotechnology Initiative, 718-719 National Network for Manufacturing Innovation, 1374 National Research Council, 1331-1332 Native intestinal tract, 1136-1137 Native starch, 549 Natural biopolymers as extracellular matrix-analog hydrogels, 639-646 polysaccharides, 639-642 proteins and peptides, 642-646 Natural collagen matrix, 1270-1271 acellular tissue matrices, 1270 collagen, 1270 matrix binding with growth factors, 1271 silk, 1271 Natural decellularized matrices allogenic matrices, 1032 xenogenic matrices, 1030-1032

Natural killer cells (NK cells), 184, 196, 211 , 698, 715-716, 1013 in vitro effects of MAPCs on, 184 Natural materials, 813-816, 814f alginate, 1048 chitosan, 1049 fibrin, 1047-1048 gelatin, 1048 HA, 1048 PHAs, 1049 for TEHVs, 1047-1049 Natural nerve grafts, 1231-1232 Natural polymers, 699-704, 892. See also Synthetic polymers alginate, 702 CHI, 703 collagen, 700–701 HAc, 701-702 peptide hydrogels, 703-704 silk, 699–700 Natural scaffolds, 1205-1206, 1224-1225 alginates, 940 chitosan, 940-941 collagen, 940 HA, 940 Natural-based bioceramics, 550 Natural-based polymers, 538 Naturally derived hydrogels, 836-837 Naturally derived scaffolds, 763 Nature-derived polymers, 1032, 1169 Nature-derived polymers and synthetic polymers, 1034-1035 NC. See Neural crest (NC) NCAM. See Neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) NCAs. See N-carboxy-anhydrides (NCAs) NCBI. See National cord blood inventory (NCBI) NCM. See Normoxic conditions (NCM) NDA. See New Drug Application (NDA) NDD. See Neurological determination of death (NDD) NDMA receptor-mediated neuronal death, 1203 NE. See Nuclear envelope (NE) NEBs. See Neuroepithelial bodies (NEBs) NEC. See Necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) Necrosis, 980 Necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), 143 Needlestack platform, 104 Negative-pressure wound therapy, 79 Neointestine, 1137 Neomucosa, 1136 Neomycin, 870-871 Neonatal donor livers, 229-230 Neonatal HIE, 159 Neonatal murine-only skin substitutes, 1304 Neonatal rat cardiac cells, 1085 Neonatal rat cardiomyocytes, 1076 Neonatal rat heart cells, 1083-1084 Neovascularization, 68, 107, 209-210, 475-477,680 Nephila clavipes (N. clavipes), 645 Nephron-like segments, 1171

Nephropathy, 345 Nerve, 754 autografts, 1224, 1231-1232 fibers, 1140–1141 hydrogel scaffold for nerve repair, 1226 injury, 1227-1228 synthetic scaffolds for nerve repair, 1225-1226 tissue, 496 Nerve growth factor (NGF), 667, 1201, 1226-1227 Nerve guidance channels (NGCs), 1223-1224 Nerve regeneration anisotropic scaffolds, 1229-1231 isotropic scaffolds, 1224-1229 ECM molecules, 1226-1227 electroconductive scaffolds, 1229 hydrogel scaffold for nerve repair, 1226 natural scaffolds, 1224-1225 neurotrophic factors and cytokine delivery, 1227-1228 seeding neuronal support cells, 1228-1229 synthetic scaffolds for nerve repair, 1225-1226 Nervous system, 141, 172-173 NES. See Nuclear export sequence (NES) Nesprins, 459 Neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), 276-277 Neural crest (NC), 1119 neural crest cell-derived dental mesenchyme, 908-909 neural crest-specific myelin P0 Crereporter mouse line, 250-251 Neural ectoderm, 1283 Neural progenitor cells (NPCs), 362, 448, 1205-1206 Neural retina, 1208-1210 Neural stem cells (NSCs), 103, 181-182, 376, 448, 1200-1201, 1205-1206, 1300, 1360 Neural stem-progenitor cells (NSPCs), 1202 Neural tissue, 496, 847 NeuroD1. See Neurogenic differentiation factor 1 (NeuroD1) Neurodevelopmental disorder, 173 Neuroectoderm, 399 Neuroepithelial bodies (NEBs), 1061 Neurogenesis, 378 Neurogenic differentiation factor 1 (NeuroD1), 336-337, 1205 Neurogenin 3 (NGN3), 336-337, 339-340 Neuroinflammation, 371-373, 372f multipotent adult progenitor cell treatment, 374f Neurological determination of death (NDD), 993 Neurological diseases, 172-173, 496 Neuromasts, 876-877 formation from multipotent progenitors, 877

Neuronal apoptosis, 371 Neuronal lineage, 1208 Neurons, 496, 1199 Neuroprotection, 361, 1201 Neuroregeneration, 1201 Neurospheres, 265 Neurotrophic factors, 184, 351, 1227-1228, 1230 Neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), 1201, 1229 NeutrAvidin Protein A complexes, 531 Neutrophils, 25, 72, 106, 373, 676-679 New Drug Application (NDA), 1348-1349 New Jersey Stem Cell Research Grant Program, 1314 New York Blood Center, 149 Newt regeneration blastema, 39-40 Next-generation DNA sequencing, 97 NF-AT. See Nuclear factor of activated T cells (NF-AT) NF-PLLA. See Nanofibrous PLLA (NF-PLLA) NF-SMS. See Nanofibrous spongy microsphere (NF-SMS) NFAT. See Nuclear translocation of nuclear factor (NFAT) NGCs. See Nerve guidance channels (NGCs) NGF. See Nerve growth factor (NGF) NGN3. See Neurogenin 3 (NGN3) NHEJ. See Nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) Ni-NTA. See Nickel-nitrilotriacetic complex (Ni-NTA) NICD. See Notch intracellular domain (NICD) Niche, regulation of muscle stem cells by, 279-281 biophysical cues, 280-281 extracellular matrix components, 279-280 metabolic cues, 281 molecular signaling factors, 280 Nickases, 743, 743f Nickel-nitrilotriacetic complex (Ni-NTA), 528, 528f "Nicks", 743 NiCord. See Nicotinamide-based expansion approach (NiCord) Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD<sup>+</sup>), 281 Nicotinamide-based expansion approach (NiCord), 157 NIH. See National Institutes of Health (NIH) NIIMBL. See National Institute for Innovation in Manufacturing **Biopharmaceuticals (NIIMBL)** Niobium-coated carbon disks, 1156-1157 NiPAAm. See N-Isopropylacrylamide (NiPAAm) NIST. See National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Nitric oxide (NO), 310, 426, 880 Nitric oxide synthase (NOS), 426 NK cells. See Natural killer cells (NK cells)

NK2 homeobox 1 transcription factor (Nkx2.1), 1063 NK2 transcription related, locus 5 (Nkx2-5), 247-248 NK6 homeobox 1 (NKX6.1), 338-339 Nkx2.1. See NK2 homeobox 1 transcription factor (Nkx2.1) Nkx2-5. See NK2 transcription related, locus 5 (Nkx2-5) NKX6. 1. See NK6 homeobox 1 (NKX6. 1) NLGs. See Nanolipogels (NLGs) NMDA. See N-Methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) NMDP. See National Marrow Donor Program (NMDP) NO. See Nitric oxide (NO) NOD. See Nonobese diabetic (NOD) NogoA, 1201 Noise reduction in single-cell data, 100-101 Nonchemically modified ECM scaffold materials, 620 Nonchimeric animals, 1013 Noncoding RNAs, 5, 57 Noncovalent bonds, 635 Noncovalent coatings, 655 Noncultured dissociated murine skin cells, 1304 Nondegradable polymers, 559 Nondegradable synthetic polymers, 561-567 polymers with-C-C-backbone, 561-567 hydrolytically stable PUs, 566-567 other nondegradable polymers, 566-567 poly(ethylene terephthalate), 564f, 566 poly(meth)acrylates and polyacrylamides, 562-564 polyethers, 564-565 polyethylene and derivatives, 561-562 polysiloxanes, 565 Nondestructive quality control systems, 1372 Nonfibrillar components, 1180 Nonfibrous proteins, 437 Nonhealing wounds, 72 Nonhematopoietic stem cells, 257, 307 Nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ), 742-743, 745 Nonhuman primates, 765-766, 971 Nonlinear viscoelastic models, 1181-1182 Nonmalignant hematological diseases, CBT for, 156-157 Nonneuronal stem cells, 1202 Nonobese diabetic (NOD), 999 Non-organ transplant candidates, hepatocyte transplants for, 237-238 Non-patient derived immunotherapies, 717 Nonpeptide amino acid-based polymers, 573 Nonperfused bioreactors for bone regeneration, 795

INDEX

Nonresorbable materials, 1136 Nonseeded scaffold bladders, 1274 Nonsolid cancer survivors, 1253 Nonspecific chemical reactions, 653 Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, 780, 888.947 Nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan, 1048 Nonsurgical vaginal dilation, 1238 Nonsynaptic layer, 353-354 Nontraumatic peripheral nerve injuries, 1223 Nonvascular autogenous bone grafts, 890-891 Normal cells in human tissues, 697 Normal ligaments and tendons, 1180-1183 Normal rat kidney (NRK), 440 Normal stress, 421 Normalization, single-cell data, 101 Normoxic conditions (NCM), 1299 Northern white rhinoceros (NWR), 176 fibroblasts, 176 Norwood Hamilton scale, 1305 NOS. See Nitric oxide synthase (NOS) Notch, 39-40 Notch1,7 pathway genes, 7, 874 signaling pathway, 872 Notch intracellular domain (NICD), 872 Novel cell delivery routes, 380-381 Novel cell populations for lung repair, 1061-1063 Novel CRISPR system, 745 Novel decellularized ECM bioink, 1079 Novel three-component biomimetic hydrogel, 704-705 NP. See Nucleus pulposus (NP) NPCs. See Neural progenitor cells (NPCs) Nrad expression, 39-40 NRK. See Normal rat kidney (NRK) NSCs. See Neural stem cells (NSCs) NSPCs. See Neural stem-progenitor cells (NSPCs) NT-3. See Neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) Nuclear envelope (NE), 396 Nuclear export sequence (NES), 5 Nuclear factor kB (NF-kB), 5, 378, 426 Nuclear factor of activated T cells (NF-AT), 427 Nuclear lamina, 396-397 Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy, 531 Nuclear translocation of nuclear factor (NFAT), 688 Nuclease-deficient Cas9 (dCas9), 754 Nucleic acids, 859-860 Nucleophilic additions reactions, 638 Nucleotide delivery, 860-861 Nucleus as central organelle in regulating mechanotransduction, 396-397 Nucleus pulposus (NP), 299, 962 NutriStem, 118 NuvaRing, 562 NVP. See N-Vinyl pyrrolidone (NVP)

NWR. See Northern white rhinoceros (NWR) Nylon, 559-561

### 0

OA. See Osteoarthritis (OA) Occludin tight junction gene, 4 OCN. See Osteocalcin (OCN) OCP. See Octacalcium phosphate (OCP) OCPs. See Office of Combination Products (OCPs) OCT4. See Octamer binding protein 4 (OCT4) Octacalcium phosphate (OCP), 592-593 Octamer binding protein 4 (OCT4), 50, 52-54, 114, 138 ODN. See Oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) Odontoblasts, 908-909 OEG. See Oligo(ethylene glycol) (OEG) Off-target effects, 745 "Off-the shelf" cancer drug, 717, 1289 Office for Human Research Protections, 1310 Office of Combination Products (OCPs), 1348 OGP. See Osteogenic growth peptide (OGP) Oligo(ethylene glycol) (OEG), 443 Oligo(poly[ethylene glycol] fumarat) (OPF), 578 Oligodendrocyte, 378 Oligodendrocyte cell line (OLN93), 184 Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs), 1202 Oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN), 1187 Oligomeric biodegradable domains, 579 Oligonucleotide exon-skipping strategy, 752 Oligosaccharide(s), 641 residues, 297 Ologen Biocornea, 1122-1123, 1122f OLT. See Orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) OM. See Osteogenic media (OM) Omentum, 997–998, 1136 On-a-chip technologies, 775-776 tissue models, 1109 On-demand release, 510-511 Oncogenes, 253 One-dimension (1D) Green strain, 420-421 migration, 457 Ontogeny, 1014 Oogonial stem cells (OSCs). See Germline stem cells (GSCs) OPCs. See Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs) OPF. See Oligo(poly[ethylene glycol] fumarat) (OPF) OPN. See Osteopontin (OPN) Opsonins, 679 Optic nerve, 352 Optical imaging, 799 Optical techniques, 801

Optimal transplantation site, 997-998 Organ bath studies, 1257 Organ homeostasis, 316 Organ printing technique, 301 Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network, 1101 Organ replacement therapies, 927-928 Organ-on-a-chip engineering, 1080-1082, 1082f systems for personalized precision medicine, 782-783, 782f technologies and applications, 772-775 cancer-on-a-chip, 774-775 heart-on-a-chip, 774 liver-on-a-chip, 773 lung-on-a-chip, 774 microengineering and biofabrication, 772-773 vessel-on-a-chip, 773-774 Organ-specific stimuli, 621-622 Organic acids, 599 Organic additives, 600 Organic molecules, 593 Organismically dead embryos, 127-128 human embryonic stem cell lines, 128 irreversibility as criterion, 127-128 Organogenesis, 665 Organoid(s), 174, 769-770, 1106-1110, 1135 in drug development, 1109-1110 system, 1253-1254 Orientation control, 531 Ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency (OTC), 230, 236 Orphan diseases, 954 ORS. See Outer root sheath (ORS) Orthoester, 571 Orthopedic applications of CPCs, 607 vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty, 607 Orthopedic fixation devices, 567 Orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), 229-230 OS. See Overall survival (OS) Osseointegration, 494, 907 Osteo-induced iPSCs, 762 Osteoarthritis (OA), 391, 413, 937, 958, 961 Osteoblast differentiation, 664 Osteoblastic niche, 193 Osteoblasts, 299, 764 Osteocalcin (OCN), 699-700, 909-910 Osteochondral autografting or mosaicplasty, 937-938 defects, 211 progenitors, 219 tissue, 958–959, 959f Osteoclasts, 39 Osteogenesis, 426, 706 Osteogenic cells, 762 Osteogenic differentiation markers, 855t of MSCs, 854 Osteogenic growth peptide (OGP), 444 Osteogenic media (OM), 703 Osteoinductive materials, 698 Osteomyelitis, 955

Osteonecrosis, 955 Osteoodonto-keratoprosthesis, 1116 Osteopontin (OPN), 529, 699-700, 811 Osteoporosis, 391, 591, 860, 955 Osteoprogenitor cells, 853 Osteopromotion, 888-889 OTC. See Ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency (OTC) Outer root sheath (ORS), 1297 "Outside-in" signaling, 19-20 Ovalbumin (OVA), 223, 723-724 Ovarian cells, 1243-1244 Ovarian cortical tissue, 1243 Ovarian follicle, 1242 Ovarian function, pathological loss of, 1242-1243 Ovarian hormones, 1242 Ovariectomy, 113 Ovaries, 1242-1245 regenerating ovarian tissue from stem cells, 1244-1245 tissue engineered ovarian follicles, 1243-1244 Overall survival (OS), 154 Overcoating alterations, 651, 652f technologies, 655-656 covalent coatings, 656 noncovalent coatings, 655 Ovine fetuses, 210 Oxygen supply, 1083-1084 transport, 1083 Oxygenation, 770 Oxytocin, 284 Ozurdex, 1210-1211

### Р

P-collagen. See Polymerized collagen (Pcollagen) P(EG-co-LA) diacrylate, 579 P(HEMA/MMA). See Poly (2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-comethyl methacrylate) (P(HEMA/ MMA)) P[PF-co-EG]. See Poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) (P[PFco-EG]) p120-catenin, 2 P4HB. See Poly-4-hydroxybutyrate (P4HB) p63. See Protein 63 (p63) PA. See Polyanhydride (PA) PAcMo. See Poly(N-acryloylmorpholine) (PAcMo) PAD. See Peripheral artery diseases (PAD) PAH. See Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) PAM. See Partitioning around medoids (PAM) PAM sequence. See Protospacer-adjacent motif sequence (PAM sequence) PAN. See Polyacrylonitrile (PAN) PAN/PVC. See Polyacrylonitrile/ polyvinylchloride (PAN/PVC) Pancreas, 341-343

Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox (Pdx-1), 336-337 Pancreatic endoderm cells (PECs), 996 Pancreatic islet  $\beta$  cells, 335 Pancreatic progenitors, 338-339 Papillary dermis, 66 Papio ursinus (P. ursinus), 707 Paracrine effects, 1267-1268 Parallel-plate design, 429 flow experiments, 429-430 Paramesonephric ducts. See Müllerian ducts Parathyroid hormone (PTH), 763-764, 860, 861f Parkinson disease (PD), 174, 176 Parthenogenesis, 115-116 Partial hepatectomy, 238-239 Partial hepatic resection, 238-239 Particulate leaching, 553 Partition clustering, 102 Partitioning around medoids (PAM), 102 Parylene C, 1139-1140 PAs. See Peptide amphiphiles (PAs) Passive physisorption of biomacromolecules, 657 Patellar tendon (PT), 1179 healing with ECM, 1188-1189 Pathogens, 715 Pathological loss of ovarian function, 1242-1243 Pathological scarring, 66 Patient assessment and selection, 990-991 Patient iPSC-derived sensory neuron, 175 Patient-derived cells, 717 Patient-specific technology, 899 Pattern recognition receptor (PRR), 727 Patterned substrates, 659 Pax7 expression, 277 PAX7<sup>-</sup>cells, 282-283 Paxillin, phosphorylation of, 20 PB. See Peripheral blood (PB) PBCA. See Poly(n-butylcyanoacrylate) (PBCA) PBGs. See Peribiliary glands (PBGs) PBMA. See Poly(n-butyl methacrylate) (PBMA) PBMCs. See Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) PBMNCs. See Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNCs) PBS. See Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) PBSCs. See Peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs) PBT. See Polybutylene terephthalate (PBT) PCA. See Principal components analysis (PCA) PCK-26-positive esophagus epithelial cells, 1133 PCL. See Poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL) PCLA. See Poly(ε-caprolactone-co-lactide) (PCLA) PCP pathway. See Planar cell polarity pathway (PCP pathway)

PCR. See Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

INDEX

PCs. See Pluripotent cells (PCs) PCTMC. See Poly(glycolide-cotrimethylene carbonate) (PCTMC) PD. See Parkinson disease (PD); Peritoneal dialysis (PD); Population doubling (PD)PD translation. See Proximodistal translation (PD translation) PD-1. See Programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) PDCD6IP, 209 PDGF. See Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) PDL. See Periodontal ligament (PDL) PDL progenitor (PDLP), 914-915 PDL stem cells (PDLSCs), 909 PDLCL. See Poly(D,L-lactide) and ε-caprolactone (PDLCL) PDLP. See PDL progenitor (PDLP) PDLSCs. See PDL stem cells (PDLSCs); Periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) PDMS. See Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) PDS. See Pyridyl disulfide (PDS) PDX expression. See Podocalyxin expression (PDX expression) Pdx-1. See Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox (Pdx-1) PE. See Poly(ethylene) (PE) PEA-g-TA. See Phenyl amino end-capped tetraaniline (PEA-g-TA) PEC. See Polyelectrolyte complexation (PEC) PECAM-1. See Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1) PECs. See Pancreatic endoderm cells (PECs) Pediatric Intensity Level of Therapy (PILOT), 381, 382f PEEK. See Poly(ether ether ketone) (PEEK) PEG. See Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) PEG-ADA. See Polyethylene glycolconjugated adenosine deaminase (PEG-ADA) PEG-dimethacrylate hydrogels, 580 PEGDA. See Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA) PEGylation, 647, 720-721 Pelnec, 1287-1288 Pelvic organ prolapse (POP), 1245-1246 Penetrating keratoplasty (PKP), 1115, 1122-1123 Penile vibratory stimulation (PVS), 1255-1256 Penis penile reconstruction, 1257 penile transplantation, 1257-1258 stem cell therapy for ED, 1258 Penumbra, 1203 PEO. See Polyethylene oxide (PEO); Proepicardial organ (PEO) Pepsin, 620-621 Peptide amphiphiles (PAs), 496, 703-704, 1123 Peptide(s), 24, 573-574 Peripheral waveform analysis, 1159

analogs of extracellular matrix, 1123-1124 hydrogels, 703-704 peptide-amphiphile nanofibers, 574 Perfluorocarbon emulsion (PFC emulsion), 1083-1084 Perfusion bioreactor, 1142-1143 for bone regeneration, 795-797, 796f-797f Perianal fistulas, 1142 Peribiliary glands (PBGs), 341, 342f Pericyte(s), 207, 224, 285-286, 295, 315, 1200 differentiation, 27-28 progenitors, 320 Periderm cells, 1283 Periocular mesenchymal precursor (POMP), 1119 Periodontal diseases, 907 Periodontal ligament (PDL), 474, 908-909 regeneration, 474 Periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), 909-910 Periodontal regeneration, 914-915 Periodontium, 888 Peripheral artery diseases (PAD), 1029 Peripheral blood (PB), 307, 924-925 types and source of stem cells in, 307-310 mobilization of bone marrow cells, 308-310 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), 257 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNCs), 1268 Peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs), 196 cell surface markers expressed on progenitor and mature endothelial cells, 313t EPC, 311-315 future directions, 325-326 MSCs, 315-316 therapeutic applications, 317-325 EPC, 317-320 MSCs, 320-322 MSCs for gene therapy, 322-325 types and source of stem cells in PB, 307-310 Peripheral hind limb ischemia, 186 Peripheral nerve regeneration animal models, 1232 anisotropic scaffolds for nerve regeneration, 1229-1231 current strategies for, 1224, 1225f historical background, 1223-1224 isotropic scaffolds for nerve regeneration, 1224-1229 natural nerve grafts, 1231-1232 problems and challenges with peripheral nerve injuries, 1223 Peripheral nervous system (PNS), 496, 1223 injuries, 1223

Perisinusoidal penile progenitor cells, 1258 Peritoneal dialysate, 1158 Peritoneal dialysis (PD), 1149 Perlecan, 618 Permeability, 701 Persistent vegetative state (PVS), 383 PET. See Positron-emission tomography (PET) PEVAc. See Poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate) (PEVAc) Peyer patches, 1135 PF. See bis(2-Hydroxypropyl) fumarate (PF) PF-diacrylate (PF-DA), 576-577 PFC emulsion. See Perfluorocarbon emulsion (PFC emulsion) PFIC. See Progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis (PFIC) PGA. See Polyglycolic acid (PGA) PGC. See Primordial germ cells (PGC) PGCLCs. See Primordial germ cell-like cells (PGCLCs) PGD. See Preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) PGE<sub>2</sub>. See Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>) PGS. See Poly(glycerol sebacate) (PGS) pH-sensitive chemistry, 724 pH-sensitive materials, 454 Phagocytosis, 679, 721 Pharmaceutical Affairs Act. See Pharmaceutical and Medical Device Act Pharmaceutical and Medical Device Act, 1375 Pharmacological immunosuppression, 982 Pharmacological therapy, stroke, 1203 PHAs. See Poly(hydroxy-alkanoates) (PHAs); Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) Phase separation, 633-634 PHB. See Poly 3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) PHB-HV. See Polyhydroxybutyratehydroxyvalerate (PHB-HV) PHBHHx. See Poly 3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate (PHBHHx) PHBV. See Poly 3-hydroxyvalerate (PHBV) Phelan-McDermid syndrome, 173 PHEMA. See Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (PHEMA) Phenyl amino end-capped tetraaniline (PEA-g-TA), 704-705 Phenylketonuria (PKU), 237 Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1030 phiC31 phage integrases, 748 PHO. See Polyhydroxyoctanoate (PHO) Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), 143, 211 Phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase (PI3K), 3, 393-394 Phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>), 38-39 Photocross-linkable GelMA, 836-837 Photocross-linkable hydrogels, 633 Photocross-linking extrusion, 818

Photocured HAc hydrogel, 702 Photoelectrons, 525 Photogelation, 579-580 Photoinitiation, 669 Photolithography, 446, 447t, 633, 653-655 Photopatterned PEG hydrogels, 670 Photopatterning, 772 Photopolymerizable polyanhydrides, 575 Photopolymerization techniques, 580, 670 Photopolymerized (meth)acrylated biodegradable hydrogels, 579 Photopolymerized methacrylated polymer networks, 579-580 Photoreceptor layer, 352-353 transplantation, 360-361, 361f Photosensitive peptides or proteins, 670 Phototransduction, 352 PHS. See US Public Health Service (PHS) PHS Act. See Public Health Service Act (PHS Act) PHSRN. See Pro-His-Ser-Arg-Asn (PHSRN) Physical entrapment methods, 657 Physical stress evaluating functional restoration, 432 mechanical environment, 418-423, 418f boundary value problems, 423 constitutive relations, 421-423 strain and stress, 418-421 mechanical regulation of vascularized tissue regeneration, 427-432 role of mechanical stimuli, 423-427 Physically cross-linked hydrogels, 637 Physicochemical modifications, 651, 652f Physicochemical surface modifications, 653-655 chemical modifications, 653 topographical modifications, 653-655 PI3K. See Phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase (PI3K) PIDs. See Primary immunodeficiencies (PIDs) Piezo receptors, 394 Piezoelectric inkjet printers, 832-833 PiggyBac transposon system, 750, 754, 1203 PILOT. See Pediatric Intensity Level of Therapy (PILOT) Piola-Kirchoff stress tensor, 421 PIP<sub>2</sub>. See Phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) PIPAAm. See Poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm) PKC. See Protein kinase C (PKC) PKP. See Penetrating keratoplasty (PKP) PKU. See Phenylketonuria (PKU) PLA. See Poly-L-arginine (PLA); Poly(lactic acid) (PLA) Placebo injection sites, 690 Placenta, function, origin, and composition, 133-134 Placental growth factor (PlGF), 311, 1301-1303 Placental hematopoiesis, 192

Planar cell polarity pathway (PCP pathway), 283, 399 Planned Parenthood, 1310 Plasma cells, 680 deposition, 656 INF-gamma, 1154-1155 membranes, 392, 425 Plasma rich in growth factors (PRGFs), 1298-1299 Plasmacytoid DCs, 727-729 Plasmid, 748 Plasminogen activator, 3 Plastic contact lenses, 559 Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1. See Cell surface antigen CD31 Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), 20, 66, 76, 182-183, 221, 311, 438, 667, 677, 892-893, 914, 1183-1184, 1298-1299 PDGF-A chains, 893 PDGF-B chains, 893 PDGF-BB, 1091, 1298-1299 PDGFR-a, 251-252 Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1), 296 Platelet-rich plasma (PRP), 413, 703, 942-943, 1186, 1298-1299 Platelet(s), 923, 929-931 activation, 998 from adult stem cells and somatic cells, 929 biogenesis, 929 efficiency for in vitro platelet production, 930-931 factor 4, 66 lysate, 208 megakaryocytes and platelets generating from hPSCs, 930 "Platform" technologies, 531 PLCL. See Poly(L-lactide and ε-caprolactone) (PLCL) Plerixafor, 310 PLGA. See Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) PIGF. See Placental growth factor (PIGF) P<sub>L</sub>LA. See Poly(L-lactic acid) (P<sub>L</sub>LA) PLO. See Poly-L-ornithine (PLO) "Plug and play" design philosophy, 1370 Pluripotent cells (PCs), 963 Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), 50, 181, 255-256, 336-341, 454-455, 909, 923, 1134, 1168-1169, 1251, 1309-1310 Pluronic F127, 821 Pluronics. See Poly(propylene oxide) (PPO) PMA. See Premarket Approval Application (PMA) PMCs. See Primary mesenchyme cells (PMCs) PMMA. See Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA)
PNiPAAm. See Poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) (PNiPAAm) PNS. See Peripheral nervous system (PNS) POC. See Poly(1, 8-octanediol-co-citrate) (POC)Podocalyxin expression (PDX expression), 1167 Podocytes, 143, 1149-1150 POEs. See Polyorthoesters (POEs) Poiseuille flow, 429 Poisson ratio, 419 Poloxamers. See Poly(propylene oxide) (PPO) Poly 3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB), 545, 1226 Poly 3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyhexanoate (PHBHHx), 545 Poly 3-hydroxyvalerate (PHBV), 545 Poly I:C. See Polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) Poly-4-hydroxybutyrate (P4HB), 319-320 Poly-L-arginine (PLA), 702 Poly-L-lysine, 491 Poly-L-ornithine (PLO), 702 Poly-lactide-co-glycolide. See Polylactic-coglycolic acid (PLGA) Poly(1,8-octanediol-co-citrate) (POC), 569f, 571 Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-comethyl methacrylate) (P(HEMA/ MMA)), 1208 Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (PHEMA), 562-563, 631-632 Poly(amide carbonate), 569f Poly(amino acids), 573-574 Poly(anhydride), 569f Poly(anhydrides-co-imides), 574-575 Poly(bis[methoxyethoxyethoxy] phosphazene), 575 Poly(butylene succinate), 571 Poly(caprolactone). See Poly(εcaprolactone) (PCL) Poly(D,L-lactic acid) (PD,LLA), 568, 569f, 860 Poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide). See Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) Poly(D,L-lactide) and ε-caprolactone (PDLCL), 1134 Poly(di[carboxylatophenoxy] phosphazene), 575 Poly(diol citrates), 571 Poly(DTE carbonate), 573 Poly(ether ether ketone) (PEEK), 899 Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), 443, 490, 512, 561, 564, 564f, 579, 632, 647, 657-659, 720-721, 788, 811, 1044, 1116 bioactive forms as exemplars of increasing sophistication, 632-633 block copolymers of polyesters or polyamides with, 572 PEG-based hydrogels, 285, 579, 637-638, 666, 835-836, 1049, 1172 surfaces, 531

Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA), 808, 811, 834-835 Poly(ethylene terephthalate), 319, 561, 564f, 566 Poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate) (PEVAc), 561-562, 562f Poly(ethylene) (PE), 561-562, 562f and derivatives, 561-562 tubes, 1255 Poly(glycerol adipate), 569f, 571 Poly(glycerol dicarboxylate), 569f Poly(glycerol sebacate) (PGS), 569f, 571, 1050, 1077 Poly(glycolide-co-trimethylene carbonate) (PCTMC), 439 Poly(hydroxy-alkanoates) (PHAs), 570 Poly(L-lactic acid) (PLLA), 439, 568, 811, 813, 857, 857f Poly(L-lactide and ε-caprolactone) (PLCL), 1035-1036 Poly(L-lactide). See Poly(L-lactic acid)  $(P_LLA)$ Poly(lactic acid) (PLA), 493-494, 568, 569f, 666, 941, 1045, 1049, 1077, 1226, 1268-1269 Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), 359, 452, 494, 568, 569f, 669, 690, 708, 727, 811, 813, 858, 892, 941-942, 964, 1048, 1104, 1118, 1204-1205, 1240, 1268-1269 PLGA-β-TCP skeleton, 708-709 scaffolds, 617 Poly(lactide-co-caprolactone), 1226 Poly(lactide). See Poly(lactic acid) (PLA) Poly(LLA-co-CL). See Poly(L-lactide-coε-caprolactone) (Poly(LLA-co-CL)) Poly(LLA-co-DXO). See Poly(L-lactide-co-1,5-dioxepan-2-one) (Poly(LLA-co-DXO)) Poly(meth)acrylates, 562-564 Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), 447, 559, 562-563, 562f, 575-576 Poly(N-acryloylmorpholine) (PAcMo), 479-480 Poly(n-butyl methacrylate) (PBMA), 478 Poly(n-butylcyanoacrylate((PBCA), 496 Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm), 470-471 Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNiPAAm), 469-470, 495, 562-564, 648 Poly(NiPAAm-copolylactide-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-co-acrylic acid-co-Nacryloxysuccinimide), 563-564 Poly(octanediol citrate), 569f Poly(ortho ester), 569f Poly(p-dioxanone), 569f, 570 Poly(phosphanzene), 569f Poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) (P[PF-co-EG]), 576f, 577 Poly(propylene fumarate) (PPF), 561, 576-577, 576f, 806-807, 811, 813

Poly(propylene oxide) (PPO), 565 Poly(propylene) (PP), 561-562, 562f Poly(sodium styrene sulfonate) (polyNaSS), 709 Poly(styrene) (PS), 561-562, 562f Poly(tetrafluoroethylene) (PTFE), 562, 562f Poly(trimethylene carbonate) (PTMC), 569f, 573 Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), 632, 788 Poly(α-hydroxy acids), 568, 570 Poly(ε-caprolactone-co-lactide) (PCLA), 1230 Poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL), 141, 439, 494, 549-550, 569f, 570, 700-701, 811-812, 823, 834-835, 857, 892, 941-942, 1034-1035, 1044 poly(ε-caprolactone/D, L-lactide)-based scaffolds, 554 scaffold, 488, 806-807, 1104, 1268-1269 Polyacrylamide(s), 562-564 hydrogels, 669 Polyacrylic acid, 601 Polyacrylonitrile (PAN), 1151 Polyacrylonitrile/polyvinylchloride (PAN/PVC), 1226 Polyamides, 561 with PEG, 572 Polyanhydride (PA), 561, 574, 669, 860 Polyaniline, 450 Polybutylene terephthalate (PBT), 704 Polycarbonates, 572 Polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2), 55 Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), 441, 1080, 1139-1140 Polydopamine coating, 441 Polyelectrolyte complexation (PEC), 702 Polyelectrolyte multilayers, 441 Polyesters, 508-509, 567-572, 705 block copolymers of polyesters or polyamides with PEG, 572 fibers, 568 of α-hydroxy acids, 568-570 of lactones, 570 POEs, 571 polycarbonates, 572 of polyols and carboxylic acids, 571 Polyethers, 561, 564-565 Polyethylene glycol-conjugated adenosine deaminase (PEG-ADA), 198 Polyethylene oxide (PEO), 440, 704 Polyglycerols, 565 Polyglycidols. See Polyglycerols Polyglycolic acid (PGA), 319-320, 439, 568, 569f, 666, 813, 910-911, 940-941, 1033-1034, 1104, 1169-1170, 1226, 1255, 1268-1269 Polyglycolide. See Polyglycolic acid (PGA) Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs), 545-546, 1049 advantages and disadvantages of natural biomaterial, 1050t

in bone tissue engineering applications, 546 processing methods, 545-546 Polyhydroxybutyrate-hydroxyvalerate (PHB-HV), 546 Polyhydroxyhexanoate, 545 Polyhydroxyoctanoate (PHO), 545, 1045-1046 Polyhydroxyvalerate, 545 Polyiminocarbonates, 572 Polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C), 722 Polylactide-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMAPLA), 563-564 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), 93, 1016-1017 amplification, 97 Polymeric/polymer, 545, 749, 831, 892 biomaterials, 507-508 blends, 544 chains, 507-508 coatings, 655 containing acrylate, 579 demixing, 447 liposome system, 722 membrane, 687 nanobiomaterials, 493 polymer-based precipitation, 209 polymer-ceramic blends, 698, 708-709 polymeric-based biomaterials, 892 polymeric-based nanobiomaterials, 492t, 493 polymer-polymer blends, 708 synthesis, 560-561, 811 with-C-C-backbone, 561-567 Polymerization mechanisms, 637-638 Polymerized collagen (P-collagen), 1172 Polymorphonuclear leukocytes, 676-677 polyNaSS. See Poly(sodium styrene sulfonate) (polyNaSS) Polyolefins, 636-637 Polyols, polyesters of, 571 Polyorthoesters (POEs), 571 Polypeptides, 632-633 Polyphosphazene(s), 575, 708 polyphosphazene-polyester blends, 705 Polypyrrole (PPY), 450, 1229 Polys, 676-677 Polysaccharide(s), 601, 639-642, 816 agarose, 641 alginate, 640-641 cellulose, 613, 641-642 chitin and derivatives, 641 hyaluronic acid, 639-640 mucosal layer, 440 Polysiloxane(s), 565 gels, 565 Polystyrene microbeads, 1118 Polysulfone hollow fibers, 1156-1157 Polysurgery approach, 1076 Polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), 319, 1029 Polyurethanes (PUs), 559-560, 566, 566f, 572-573, 812, 845-846, 1050 hydrolytically stable PUs, 566-567

polyurethane-urea matrices, 573 Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), 494, 544, 1049-1050 POMP. See Periocular mesenchymal precursor (POMP) POP. See Pelvic organ prolapse (POP) Population assays, 94-95, 94f Population doubling (PD), 1266 Porcine lung xenografts for transplantation, 1065 Porcine small intestinal submucosa extracellular matrix (SIS-ECM), 619 Porcine type I collagen, 616 Porcine urinary bladder matrix extracellular matrix (UBM-ECM), 619 Pore size, 1151 Porites Goniopora coral, 707 Porogens, 539 Porosity, 664-665, 1226, 1268, 1270 of CPCs, 602-604 Porous and fibrous 3D scaffold, 1075 Porous bioactive glass-ceramic, 706-707 Porous CaSiO<sub>3</sub>, 706-707 Porous HA-CHI-alginate composite scaffolds, 702 Porous scaffolds, 550, 628-629, 670, 1076 Porous solids, 630 Porous structures effect, 510 "Positive selection" technique, 208 Positron-emission tomography (PET), 371 Postmitotic organ, 247, 1264 Postprocessing, 620 Posttraumatic OA (PTOA), 937 Potassium and strontium ions scaffolds (K/Sr scaffolds), 709 Pou4f3 expression, 872 PP. See Poly(propylene) (PP) PPF. See Poly(propylene fumarate) (PPF) PPO. See Poly(propylene oxide) (PPO) PPY. See Polypyrrole (PPY) PRC2. See Polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) Precision, 95 engineering, 95-96 options to control proteins at interphases with, 531 protein signaling, 523 techniques and technologies for precision immobilization, 527-531 collagen to control protein orientation, 529 HA for protein signal delivery and orientation control, 531 hexahistidine tags, 528 ionic charge and charge control of orientation, 528-529 proteins immobilization in lipid layers and tethered lipid bilayers, 530 streptavidin for biomolecular orientation control, 530 Preclinical animal studies of in utero stem cell transplantation, 1011-1020

Preclinical bone repair models in regenerative medicine biomineralization and bone regeneration, 761-762 cell sources, 762 embryonic stem cells, 762-763 preclinical models of bone tissue regeneration, 764-766 scaffolds, 763-764 Preclinical data supporting stem cell therapies for TBI cell types, 376 conventional cell delivery routes, 378-380 mechanisms of action, 376-377 novel cell delivery routes, 380-381 timing of infusion, 377 Preclinical development plan in FDA, 1356 Preclinical translation, 945 Prednisone, 999-1000 Preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD), 116, 126, 1332 Premarket Approval Application (PMA), 1348-1349 Prenatal period, 1009 Prenatal regenerative medicine, 1009 Preservation agents, 527 Pressure dressings and negative-pressure wound therapy, 79 Preterax and Diamicron Modified Release Controlled Evaluation trials, 258 Prevascularized skeletal muscle, 1088 Prevention of Contrast Renal Injury With Different Hydration Strategies trials, 258 Prevotella, 745 PRGFs. See Plasma rich in growth factors (PRGFs) Primary brain injury, 370-376 blood-brain barrier permeability, 373-375 cerebral edema, 375-376 neuroinflammation, 371-373 Primary cell culture techniques, 1169 Primary heart field (FHF), 247-248 progenitors, 248 Primary Immune Deficiency Treatment Consortium of 41 North American centers, 198 Primary immunodeficiencies (PIDs), 156 Primary mesenchyme cells (PMCs), 1 Primary shear stress-driven signaling pathway, 636 Primed embryonic stem cells, 49 - 50Primed mESCs, 50 Primitive CFU-s, 194 Primitive ectoderm, 247-248 Primitive erythropoiesis, 924 Primitive streak, 247-248 Primordial germ cell-like cells (PGCLCs), 1245 Primordial germ cells (PGC), 1019 Principal components analysis (PCA), 527

Printability, 835 Printing process, 816-817, 1288 Private banks. See Family banks Private funding, 1313-1316 Pro Osteon 200R, 551 Pro-His-Ser-Arg-Asn (PHSRN), 443 Processing methods, 541-542 Prod-1, 45 Proepicardial organ (PEO), 247-248 progenitors, 248 Proerythroblast. See Pronormoblast Professional antigen-presenting cells, 684 Progenitor(s), 247–248 cells, 307 mobilization, 308 and stem cell heterogeneity, 93 acquiring single-cell data, 96-100 analyzing single-cell data, 100-103 clinical implications of cellular heterogeneity, 105-108 population vs. single-cell assays, 94f single-cell isolation, 95-96 subpopulation determination, 103-105 Programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1), 716-717 Progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis (PFIC), 235 Prohibition of Human Cloning for Reproduction and Regulation of Human Embryo Research Amendment Bill 2006, 1321 Proinflammatory cytokines, 41, 721 Proliferation, 788 cell-ECM interactions during healing of cutaneous wounds, 27 during regenerative fetal wound healing, 29 signal transduction events during cell-ECM interactions, 22-23 Proline, 640 Pronormoblast, 924 Proof-of-concept system, 1082 toxicity, 174 Prophylactic vaccination, 727-729 Propranolol, 780 Prospective Randomized Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery trial, 258 Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), 7-8, 205, 425 Prostaglandin-2, 298 Prostatectomy procedures, 1223 Prosthetic silicone implants, 565 Proteases, 645 Protein 63 (p63), 1060-1061 Protein kinase C (PKC), 38-39 Protein zero (P0), 250-251 Protein(s), 440, 523-525, 529, 748-749, 816, 976, 1267 adsorption, 525, 657

collagen to control protein orientation, 529 controlled with precision methods and supporting tools, 525-527 precision control of proteins at interfaces, 523-524 and role in precision delivery of biological signals, 524-525 surface analysis techniques and technologies for precision immobilization, 527-531 immobilization in lipid layers and tethered lipid bilayers, 530 parameters, 657 and peptides, 642-646 collagen and derivatives, 642-643 elastin derivatives, 643-644 fibrin derivatives, 644-645 self-assembled peptides, 645-646 silk, 645 protein G, 531 protein-replacement therapy, 1015-1016 protein-resistant brush polymers, 656 protein-biomaterial interfaces, 524-525 signal delivery, 523 HA for, 531 stability, 5 Proteoglycans, 26, 393, 617-618, 1180 Proteolytic enzymes, 308-309, 637 Protospacer-adjacent motif sequence (PAM sequence), 742 Prototype model, 405-406 Provisional matrix formation, 677 Proximodistal translation (PD translation), PRP. See Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) PRR. See Pattern recognition receptor (PRR) PS. See Poly(styrene) (PS) PSCs. See Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) Pseudoelasticity, 422 Pseudomonas elodea (P. elodea), 543 Psychiatric diseases, 172-173 PT. See Patellar tendon (PT) PTFE. See Poly(tetrafluoroethylene) (PTFE); Polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) PTH. See Parathyroid hormone (PTH) PTMC. See Poly(trimethylene carbonate) (PTMC) PTOA. See Posttraumatic OA (PTOA) Public banks, 150-151 Public cord blood banking procedures, 151 - 156collection techniques, 152 cord blood unit characterization, 154-156 donor recruitment and consent, 151 processing and cryopreservation, 153 - 154volume and cell count considerations, 152 - 153Public Health Service Act (PHS Act), 1346 Pulmonary "first-pass" effect, 378, 379f

Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH), 319 Pulmonary fibrosis, 107 Pulp tissue devitalization, 907 Pulp-dentin regeneration, 913 Pulsatile intramural pressures, 424 Pulsed dye laser therapy, 78 PuraMatrix, 703-704 Pure inorganic materials, 605 Purified collagen, 642-643 Purkinje fibers, 450 PUs. See Polyurethanes (PUs) PVA. See Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA); Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) PVS. See Penile vibratory stimulation (PVS); Persistent vegetative state (PVS) Pyridinoline cross-linked carboxyterminal telopeptide of type I collagen, 893 Pyridyl disulfide (PDS), 724 PDS-CpG nanoparticles, 724 QCM-D. See Quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation monitoring (QCM-D) QD. See Quantum dots (QD) QHREDGS peptide, 1090 qPCR. See Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) Quail-donor Hensen node cells transplantation, 248 Quality control, 101, 1369

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), 97 Quantum dots (QD), 490–491 Quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation monitoring (QCM-D), 526–527 Quasilinear viscoelastic theory, 1181–1182 Quiescent satellite cells, 274

# R

R-Smads, 52 RA. See Retinoic acid (RA) Rabbit models, 765 Rabbit penile defect model, 1257 RAC. See Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee (RAC) Rac1 protein, 772 Rac1. See Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) Rac1b, 3 RAD. See Renal assist device (RAD) Radiation grafting, 656 Radiation therapy, 79 Radio-frequency glow discharge plasma deposition, 656 RAFT. See Reversible additionfragmentation chain transfer (RAFT) Rapamycin, 1172 Rapid prototyping techniques, 95-96, 552 Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1), 398

Rat extraembryonic endodermal precursor (rXENP), 182-183 RBCs. See Red blood cells (RBCs) Reactive astrocytes, 1200 Reactive cyclic acetal polymers, 578 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 3, 636-637, 880, 1200 Real-time sensor technologies, 1159 Rebuilding functional lung tissue, 1065-1068 ReCell kit, 1289-1290 Recellularization, 790, 1105 of biological materials, 1270 of organ scaffolds, 621-622 Receptor for hyaluronate-mediated motility (RHAMM), 16-18 Receptor tyrosine kinase ligands (RTK ligands), 6 signaling by, 7 Receptor tyrosine kinases, 18 Recognized consensus standard, 1357 Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee (RAC), 1355 Recombinant human BMPs (rhBMPs), 893 rhBMP-2, 702 Recombinant human collagen hydrogels (RHCIII hydrogels), 1116 Recombinant human growth hormone (rhGH), 690 Recombinase, 747-748 Recombination human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2), 540, 894 Recommended ionized calcium range (riCa range), 1155 Recruitment factors, 727-729, 732f RECs. See Renal epithelial cells (RECs) Red blood cells (RBCs), 153-154, 924 erythropoiesis, 924 generating from adult stem cells in vitro, 924-925 generating from hESCs, 925-927 generating from human iPSCs, 927-928 generation by direct conversion of somatic cells, 928 manufacture of safe and effective RBC substitutes, 928-929 universal blood generation by modifying RBC surface antigens, 924 Reduced GO (rGO), 451 Reepithelialization, 26, 38-39, 68 Refinement process, 761 Regeneration, 683-684, 1059-1060, 1281 of articular cartilage surface and lubrication, 413 of corneal layers, 1118-1119 of diseased tissues, 662-663 in native lung, 1060-1061 ovarian tissue from stem cells, 1244-1245 road blocks to, 871 of skin, 1285 Regenerative healing cytokines and growth factors, 75-77

targeting inflammatory response, 73-75 Regenerative medicine, 229, 295, 321-322, 405-406, 407f, 411, 485, 550, 559, 4613, 627, 628f, 907, 1009, 1061, 1131, 1142, 1165 adult populations, 1041 applying to keratoprosthesis development, 1116-1118 biodegradable synthetic polymers for, 567-580 biologic scaffolds composed of ECM, 613-626 biomaterial interfaces in, 651 bioreactors in, 787-803 of bladder, 1263-1279 challenges in use of satellite cells in, 284-285 clinical experience with in utero stem cell transplantation, 1020-1021 clinical options, 1042 biological, 1042, 1043t mechanical, 1042, 1043t for engineering human hair follicle, 1297-1308 for female reproductive system, 1237-1250 fetal development and, 1009-1011 gene editing in, 741-759 HVD, 1041 implications for, 30-31 for kidney, 1165-1177 for male reproductive system, 1237-1250 MSCs in, 219-228 nanobiomaterials, 491-493 nanomaterial properties, 486-491 nanotechnology-based stem cell therapy, 497-498 nanotechnology-based strategies in, 493-496 for personalized medicine, 769-786 precision control of proteins in, 523-524 preclinical animal studies of in utero stem cell transplantation, 1011-1020 preclinical bone repair models in, 761-768 regulations and guidance of special interest for, 1350-1356 of respiratory tract, 1059-1072 and surgery of articular cartilage, 412 TEHVs, 1042-1046 young populations, 1041-1042 Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT), 1370, 1374 Regenerative medicine manufacturing, 1367 bioprinting, 1369 current challenges, 1368t current opportunities, 1370t envisioned manufacturing systems of future, 1370-1373, 1371t, 1372f global landscape, 1373-1375, 1373t domestic efforts, 1374 international efforts, 1374-1375

technical societies, 1373-1374 lack of standards, 1368 logistics, 1368 primary challenges for widespread adoption, 1367-1368 scale-up and automation, 1369-1370 sensors and quality control systems, 1369 **Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing** Society (RMMS), 1373-1374 Regenerative signals, 894 Regenerative therapies, 252-253 RegenMed Development Organization, 1372 Regulation cell orientation in cell sheet engineering arrangement of 3D orientation, 480 intelligent surfaces for, 479-480 skeletal muscle tissue engineering, 480 - 481of human cells and tissues, 1350-1351 Regulatory T cells, 1268 Rehabilitation, 1206 Renal assist device (RAD), 1152-1153, 1153f immunomodulatory effect, 1154-1155 therapy of acute kidney injury causing by sepsis, 1153-1154 Renal cells, 1168 Renal epithelial cells (RECs), 1154-1155 Renal fibrosis, 107 Renal papilla, 1167 Renal proximal tubule cells (RPTC), 1150 Renal replacement device, requirements of, 1149–1150 Renal replacement therapies (RRT), 1149-1150 Renal tubule, 1167 REPAIR-AMI study, 257 Repeat variable di-residue (RVD), 746 Replacement, 761. See also Cellreplacement therapy; Extracorporeal renal replacement  $\beta$  cells for replacement therapy, 336 androgen replacement therapy, 1254, 1254f ERT, 158, 198 need for replacement tissues, 661 organ replacement therapies, 927-928 Repopulation, methods to improving, 238-239 Representative tests, 689, 689t Reproductive cloning, 1311, 1335 Reprogramming, 58, 336 factors, 170 methods, 50, 169-171, 171f Request for Designation, 1348 Research cloning. See Therapeutic cloning Research conduct, 1338 Resident cells, 613-615 Resorbable bioceramics, 550 Resorbable polymers, 559-560 Resorbable tricalcium phosphate, 891-892

Respiratory tract, regenerative medicine advances in rebuilding functional lung tissue, 1065–1068 biological scaffolds to support regeneration, 1063-1065 clinical translation and future considerations, 1068 lung development, 1059-1060 novel cell populations for lung repair, 1061-1063 repair and regeneration in native lung, 1060 - 1061Responding stem cells, 405-406 Reticular dermis, 66 Reticuloendothelial systems, 236 Retina, 352-354, 352f, 754-755 Retinal degeneration, 1208-1212 biomolecule delivery, 1210-1211 cell transplantation, 1211-1212 Retinal disorders, 351 Retinal ganglion cells transmit neuronal stimuli, 352-353 Retinal organoids, three-dimensional, 363 Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), 176, 356-359, 358f, 1208-1210 cells, 119, 1202 transplantation, 359-360 scaffolds for, 359-360 surgical techniques for, 360 Retinal progenitor cells (RPCs), 351, 362, 1211 Retinal stem cells (RSCs), 1200-1201, 1212 Retinitis pigmentosa (RP), 351, 354-355, 754-755, 1199 Retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator gene, 754-755 Retinoic acid (RA), 339-340, 879-880 Retrotransposons. See Class I transposons Retroviral transduction, 170 Rett syndrome, 173 Reverse process of MET, 1 Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), 97, 700 Reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer (RAFT), 471 Reversine, 40 Rex1, 52-53, 114 Rezulin, 780 RGD. See Arginine-glycine-aspartate (RGD) RGDS. See Arginine-glycine-aspartic acidserine (RGDS) rGO. See Reduced GO (rGO) RHAMM. See Receptor for hyaluronatemediated motility (RHAMM) rhBMP-2. See Recombination human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2) rhBMPs. See Recombinant human BMPs (rhBMPs) RHCIII hydrogels. See Recombinant human collagen hydrogels (RHCIII hydrogels) RHD. See Rheumatic heart disease (RHD)

Rhesus monkeys, 690

Rheumatic heart disease (RHD), 1041 Rheumatoid arthritis, 317 rhGH. See Recombinant human growth hormone (rhGH) Rho GTPases, 459 Rho-associated, coiled-coil containing protein kinase (ROCK), 398, 1118-1119, 1201 Rho-associated, coiled-coil containing protein kinase inhibitor (ROCKi), 1118-1119 Y27632, 119 Rho123. See Rhodamine 123 (Rho123) Rhodamine 123 (Rho123), 195 rhPDGF-A-BB, 893 Ribonucleoprotein complexes, 748-749, 753 riCa range. See Recommended ionized calcium range (riCa range) Riluzole, 1206-1207 Ring-opening polymerizations (ROPs), 561 rMAPCs. See Rodent MAPCs (rMAPCs) RMAT. See Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT) RMMS. See Regenerative Medicine Manufacturing Society (RMMS) RNA, 39, 75, 209, 748 RNA-guided RNase, 745-746 RNA-induced silencing complex, 57 virus, 170 RNA liposome complex (RNA-LPX), 724, 726f RNA seq. See RNA sequencing (RNA seq) RNA sequencing (RNA seq), 95 RNA-LPX. See RNA liposome complex (RNA-LPX) RNAi. See Interference RNA (RNAi) RNases, 748 Robotic-universal force-moment sensor (UFS), 1183 Robust cell source, 1156 Robust protocol mimicking neuronal development, 176 ROCK. See Rho-associated, coiled-coil containing protein kinase (ROCK) Rod-shaped nanoparticles, 720 Rodent MAPCs (rMAPCs), 182 characteristics, 183 express primitive endoderm markers, 182 isolation of, 182-183 rMAPCs in vitro, differentiation potential of, 183 Rodent models, 175, 1271 Rodents, 765 Rofecoxib, 780 Root canal treatment or extraction, 907 Root segments (RSs), 913 ROPs. See Ring-opening polymerizations (ROPs) ROS. See Reactive oxygen species (ROS) Roscovitine, 173 Rotary jet spinning, 1077 RP. See Retinitis pigmentosa (RP)

RPCs. See Retinal progenitor cells (RPCs) RPE. See Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) RPTC. See Renal proximal tubule cells (RPTC) RRT. See Renal replacement therapies (RRT) RSCs. See Retinal stem cells (RSCs) RSs. See Root segments (RSs) RT-PCR. See Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) RTK ligands. See Receptor tyrosine kinase ligands (RTK ligands) Rubriblast. See Pronormoblast Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2), 425, 450, 703, 854, 957 Runx2. See Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) RUVBL-1 and-2, 55 RuvC domains, 742 RVD. See Repeat variable di-residue (RVD) rXENP. See Rat extraembryonic endodermal precursor (rXENP) S S-E ratio. See Stimulator to effector ratio (S-E ratio) S. aureus Cas9 (SaCas9), 749-750 Saccule, 867 Sacrificial bioinks, 821-823, 822f Sacrificial Pluronic F127, 836-837 Sad1p, UNC-84 domain (SUN domain), 459 Safety, 1202 and biocompatibility requirements for biomaterial scaffolds, 513-517 foreign body response, 516-517 hemocompatibility, 515 infection and sterilization, 514-515 toxicity, 515 Safety of Regenerative Medicine Act, 1375 SAH. See Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) SAL. See Sterility assurance level (SAL) Saline, 1303-1304 Salt leaching, 547 SAMs. See Self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) Sarcolemma, 273 Sarcomeric banding, 1081 Sarcomeric structures, 1079 Sarcopenia, 283 SASP. See Senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) Satellite cell(s), 273, 279-280 satellite cell-associated transcription factors, 277 self-renewal mechanisms, 281-283 Satellite cell-derived myoblasts (SCDMs), 971-975, 973f-975f, 979f formation of graft-derived satellite cells, 975 formation of new myofibers, 973-974 gene complementation, 972-973 relevant properties, 972-975

Sauerbrey model, 526-527 SBB. See Single blastomere biopsy (SBB) SBS. See Synthetic bone substitute (SBS) SC-β cells. See Stem cell-derived β cells (SC- $\beta$ ; cells) SCA1. See Stem cell antigen-1 (SCA1) Scaffold(ing), 505, 510, 559, 675, 763-764, 788, 799, 910-911, 939, 1268, 1288 approaches in bone tissue engineering, 697-699 biochemical signaling, 763-764 combination of cell sheet engineering and scaffold-based engineering, 477 - 478degradation, 507 design, 856, 1044 of ECM and biomimetic biomaterials, 409 ECM substitutes and, 80 functions, 696-697 hemocompatibility, 515 lacked fibrous microstructure, 1051 material, 359, 699-709 ceramic scaffolds, 705-707 intact and solubilized ECMs as, 619 - 622metallic scaffolds, 707 natural polymers, 699-704 synthetic polymers, 704-705 microstructure, 535 morphology, 509, 511-513 anisotropic and gradient scaffolds, 511-512 injectable scaffolds/controlling morphology in situ, 513 methods for fabricating porous scaffolds, 511 surface feature manipulation, 512-513 porous and highly interconnecting, 856 for retinal pigment epithelium transplantation, 359-360 scaffold-based therapy, 1075 scaffold-free cell printing, 838 scaffold-infiltrating DCs, 727-729 sequence, 742 surface modification and functionalization, 859 systems, 1169 tracking, 513 use, 1188 Scale-up, 1369-1370 Scanning electron microscopy, 793-794 Scar, 662 formation, 30, 66-68 classic stages of wound repair, 69f inflammatory cell recruitment to site of tissue damage, 68f reduction theory, 73-77 cytokines and growth factors, 75-77 targeting inflammatory response, 73-75 tissue, 68 "Scar in jar" system, 1288 Scarless

fetal wounds, 29 wound healing adult skin, 66-72 current therapeutic interventions, 77 - 80fetal skin, 72-73 future therapeutic interventions, 80 - 84perspective, 85-86 regenerative healing and scar reduction theory, 73-77 Scarring, 65, 1285 Scatter factor. See Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) scBS-seq. See Single-cell genome-wide bisulfate sequencing (scBS-seq) SCD. See Selective cytopheretic device (SCD); Sickle cell disease (SCD) SCDMs. See Satellite cell-derived myoblasts (SCDMs) SCF. See Stem cell factor (SCF) Schwann cells (SCs), 635, 1224-1225 SCI. See Spinal cord injury (SCI) SCID. See Severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) SCIPIO trial. See Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy trial (SCIPIO trial) SCNT. See Somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) SCRO committee. See Stem cell research oversight committee (SCRO committee) SCs. See Schwann cells (SCs) SCS. See Silicified collagen scaffold (SCS) SDF-1. See Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) SDF-1a. See Stromal-derived growth factor-1 (SDF-1a) SDFs. See Syngeneic dermal fibroblasts (SDFs) SDOs. See Standards Development Organizations (SDOs) SDS. See Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) Seager Electroejaculator, 1255-1256 SeaPrep agarose hydrogel, 1226 Seaweeds, 640 Second intention wound healing, 684 Second-generation biomaterials, 559-560 Secondary brain injury, 370-376 blood-brain barrier permeability, 373-375 cerebral edema, 375-376 neuroinflammation, 371-373 Secondary heart field (SHF), 247-248 progenitors, 248 Secondary ion mass spectrometry analysis (SIMS analysis), 525, 527-529, 529f Secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine protein (SPARC protein), 21 Secreted proteome of MAPCs, 186 - 187

Secretoglobulin 1A1. See Club cell secretory protein, 10 kD (CC10) Seeding neuronal support cells for nerve regeneration, 1228-1229 Selective cytopheretic device (SCD), 1155-1156. See also Renal assist device (RAD) Selective laser sintering (SLS), 807 Self-antigens, 715 Self-assembled monolayers (SAMs), 441, 528-529,656 Self-assembled peptides, 645-646, 698-699 self-assembled peptide-amphiphiles, 574 Self-assembling RAD16-I, 698-699 Self-assembly, 490, 633-634 Self-renewal, 281-282 cell-bioactive surface interactions, 445 - 446Semen cryopreservation, 1252 Seminiferous tubules, 1251-1252 Semiporous membrane, 773 Sendai virus, 170 Senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), 283 Sensitivity, 95 Sensors, 1369 Sepsis, renal assist device therapy of acute kidney injury causing by, 1153-1154 Serial dilution series, 1109 Sericin, 699 Serine protease inhibitors, 1030 Serum-free culture system, 925-926 Setting/hardening mechanism of CaP, chemical reaction, 596-597 acid-base interaction, 596 hydrolysis interaction, 596-597 setting times, 597-598 strategies to improve setting times, 598-599 Severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID), 197-198, 1013, 1020 beige mice, 135 hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for, 197–198 SF. See Silk fibroin (SF) SFF technologies. See Solid free-form fabrication technologies (SFF technologies) SFG spectroscopy. See Sum frequency generation spectroscopy (SFG spectroscopy) SGE. See Spinal ejaculation generator (SGE) SGLT1. See Na<sup>+</sup>-glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT1) SH2, 220-221 SH2B3 gene, 754 SH3, 220-221 SH4, 220-221 Shape of nanomaterials, 488-489 Shear injury, 370-371

Shear strain, 419 Shear stress (SS), 421, 429-431, 431f, 1155 SHEDs. See Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs) β-Sheets, 645-646 SHF. See Secondary heart field (SHF) shh gene. See Sonic hedgehog gene (shh gene) sHLA-I. See Soluble human leukocyte antigen-I (sHLA-I) Short bowel syndrome, 1135 Short interfering RNAs (siRNAs), 721, 915 Short-term-HSCs (ST-HSCs), 107 Sickle cell disease (SCD), 157 Side population (SP), 195 Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), 49-50, 52, 117, 722 expression, 284 inhibitor NSC74859, 119 Signal for bone, 405-406 transduction events during cell-ECM interactions, 18-24 adhesion and migration, 19-22 apoptosis, 24 differentiation, 23-24 proliferation and survival, 22-23 Signaling cascades, 391 molecules, 339-340 Silanol groups, 550 Silica, 605 Silicate ceramics, 553-554 in bone tissue engineering applications, 553-554 processing methods, 553 Silicate-substituted calcium phosphate, 554 Silicified collagen scaffold (SCS), 701 Silicone(s), 559-560, 565 elastomers, 565 gel sheets, 79 Silk, 645, 699-700, 1125, 1271 powders, 699-700 Silk-I, 547 Silk-II, 547 Silk fibroin (SF), 547-548, 645, 699, 1125, 1270-1271 in bone tissue engineering applications, 547-548 processing methods, 547 Silkworm (Bombyx mori), 547 Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), 492, 1125 SIM. See Simvastatin (SIM) Simple hydrogel, 632 Simple limbal epithelial transplantation (SLET), 1116 SIMS analysis. See Secondary ion mass spectrometry analysis (SIMS analysis) Simvastatin (SIM), 702 Single blastomere, 116 Single blastomere biopsy (SBB), 125-126

Single cell-type systems, 783 Single gene mutation, 157 Single integral finite strain theory, 1181-1182 Single nucleotide polymorphism risk variant, 174 Single transplants of hepatocytes, 236 Single-anastomosis model, 1232 Single-cell approaches, 169-170 epigenetics, 100 genomics, 97 isolation, 95-96 proteomics, 99-100 qPCR, 107-108 RNA seq, 103, 107-108 RT-PCR analysis, 101 technologies, 93 transcriptomics, 97-99, 98f Single-cell data acquiring, 96-100 single-cell epigenetics, 100 single-cell genomics, 97 single-cell proteomics, 99-100 single-cell transcriptomics, 97-99, 98f analyzing, 100-103 mathematical identification of cellular subpopulations, 101-103 noise reduction in single-cell data, 100 - 101normalization, 101 Single-cell genome-wide bisulfate sequencing (scBS-seq), 100 "Single-platform" approaches, 154 Single-stranded breaks, 743 Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT), 451, 576-577 Sipuleucel-T, 716, 727 siRNAs. See Short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) Sirolimus, 998 SIRS. See Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) SIS. See Small intestinal submucosa (SIS); Small-intestinal submucosa (SIS) SIS-ECM. See Porcine small intestinal submucosa extracellular matrix (SIS-ECM) Six1 homeoprotein, 4 Size of nanomaterials, 487-488 SJS. See Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS) Skeletal muscle, 248-250, 273, 281, 494, 845-846, 963-964 cell transplantation in, 972-975 clinical trials of cell therapies in muscular dystrophies, 965t skeletal muscle-derived stem cells, 261 stem cells, 296 challenges in use of satellite cells in regenerative medicine, 284-285 functional characteristics of muscle stem cells, 276-277 gene editing strategies, 285

isolation of muscle stem cells, 277

stem cells, 274-276, 275f muscle stem cell-intrinsic defects in aging and disease, 283-284 regulation of muscle stem cells by niche, 279-281 satellite cell self-renewal mechanisms, 281-283 satellite cells, 274 tracking muscle stem cell behavior through live imaging, 278-279 types within muscle, 285-286 tissue engineering, 480-481 transplantation in, 971-975 Skeletal myoblasts, 261, 473-474 Skin, 496, 754, 846, 1281 regeneration, 81 repair, 1282, 1287 tissue engineering current TE skin technologies, 1287-1289 development, anatomy, and function of skin, 1283-1285 future, 1290-1291 potential prerequisite requirements, 1285 - 1287TE skin solutions in clinical practice, 1289-1290 wound healing, 66 SLET. See Simple limbal epithelial transplantation (SLET) Slow-resorbing hydroxyapatite, 891-892 SLS. See Selective laser sintering (SLS) Smad gene, 42, 409, 426 SMAD4, 52 Smad-interacting protein-1 (Sip1). See Zeb homeobox 2 (Zeb2) Small animal lungs regeneration, bioreactors for, 789-790, 789f Small bowel transplantation, 1135 Small intestinal submucosa (SIS), 618-619, 690, 1030, 1132, 1136, 1188-1190, 1190f, 1267, 1270 Small intestine, 1135-1141 Small-intestinal submucosa (SIS), 1239 Smart manufacturing, 1370-1372 SMC. See Smooth muscle cells (SMC) Smooth muscle, 494 differentiation markers, 1267 smooth muscle-specific marker, 1267 tissues, 1263 Smooth muscle cells (SMC), 314, 477-478, 478f, 495, 838, 1029-1030, 1257, 1264 Smooth-surface implants, 682 Smurf1 E3 ubiquitin ligase, 3 Snail family of zinc-finger transcription factors, 4 Snail-1 or Snail-2 activator, 4-5 SNCA gene, 754 Sodium alginate, 601 Sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>), 539, 836 Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 1046-1047, 1104, 1241 Soft assignment, 103 Soft hydrogel, 834-835

molecular characteristics of muscle

Soft lithography, 447, 447t, 633, 659 Sol-gel method, 551-553 Solid free-form fabrication technologies (SFF technologies), 511, 763 Solid organ transplantation, MAPCs as immunomodulation in, 185 Solid scaffolds, 550 Solid tumor cancers, 721-722 Solubilized ECMs as scaffold material, 619-622 decellularization, 619-620 host response, 621 hydrogels, 620-621 postprocessing, 620 tissue procurement, 619 whole-organ scaffolds, 621-622 Soluble human leukocyte antigen-I (sHLA-I), 234 Soluble mediators, 689 Soluble plasma fibronectin, 616 Soluble polymers, 657-659 Solvent evaporation, 545 Somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT), 115, 1311 Somatic cells, 929, 1332 direct conversion, 928 Sonic hedgehog gene (shh gene), 45, 339-340, 911 Sorbitol, 527 South Korea, stem cell research in, 1321 SOX17. See SRY-related HMG-box 17 (SOX17) Sox2, 50, 114 SOX2. See SRY-box 2 (SOX2) Sox9-EGFP multipotent intestinal epithelial stem cells, 1135 SP. See Side population (SP) "Spacer sequence", 742 SPARC protein. See Secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine protein (SPARC protein) "Spare" embryos, 1310 Spatial heterogeneity, 633-635 Spatiotemporal delivery, 727 SpCas 9 components of multiplex gene pre-clustered, 746f protein, 742 SpCas9-HF, 745 SpCas9-HF1, 745 SpCas9/gRNA, 742 variants and orthologues, 744-745 Sperm banking, 1252 Spermatogonia, 1252 Spermatogonial stem cell technology (SSC technology), 1251-1254, 1252f Spheroid reservoir bioartificial liver (SRBAL), 1107 Spheroids, 773 Spider silk, 645 Spinal cord identity, 1208 Spinal cord injury (SCI), 185, 1199, 1255-1256 Spinal cord regeneration, 1208

Spinal ejaculation generator (SGE), 1255-1256 SPIONs. See Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) Spleen, 231 Split-liver procedures, 237-238 Split-thickness skin grafting (SSG), 1285, 1289 Sponges, 552 Spongiosa, 1044 Sponsors, 1345 SPR. See Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) SR1. See Stem-regenin (SR1) SRBAL. See Spheroid reservoir bioartificial liver (SRBAL) Src-mediated FAK phosphorylation, 19 - 20SRY-box 2 (SOX2), 52-54, 426 SRY-related HMG-box 17 (SOX17), 339-340 SS. See Shear stress (SS) SSC technology. See Spermatogonial stem cell technology (SSC technology) SSEAs. See Stage-specific antigens (SSEAs) SSG. See Split-thickness skin grafting (SSG) ST-HSCs. See Short-term-HSCs (ST-HSCs) Stage-specific antigens (SSEAs), 134-135 SSEA-1, 114 Stainless steel, 559-560 Stainless steel 316 L, 707 Standardization, 1370 Standardized uptake values (SUV), 373, 375f Standards Development Organizations (SDOs), 1357–1358 Standards development program in FDA, 1357-1358 Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus), 898, 1125 Staphylococcus pyogenes (S. pyogenes), 745 Starch, 548-550 in bone tissue engineering applications, 550 processing methods, 549-550 starch-based blends, 549 Stargardt macular dystrophy (STGD), 351, 354 STAT3. See Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) State policy, 1313-1316 Stem Cell Act (2005), 150 Stem cell antigen-1 (SCA1), 251-252 markers, 277 Sca-1+ CSCs, 263-264 Stem cell factor (SCF), 924-925 Stem Cell Institute of New Jersey, 1314 Stem Cell Oversight Committee, 1320-1321 Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act, 1312-1313 Stem cell research oversight committee (SCRO committee), 1337 Stem Cell Research Oversight/Embryo Research Oversight Committee Review, 1337

Stem cell therapy, 954 for erectile dysfunction, 1258 for musculoskeletal diseases, 953-964 articular cartilage, 956-958 bone, 955-956 challenges and prospects, 964-966 IVD, 962-963 meniscus, 961-962 osteochondral tissue, 958-959 regulatory and financial challenges to stem cell therapies, 953-954 skeletal muscle, 963-964 tendon and ligament, 959-960 tendon-bone interface, 960-961 nanotechnology-based, 497-498 Stem cell(s), 81-84, 82f, 409, 750, 762, 1044, 1136, 1168-1169, 1251, 1267 and alternative cell sources for liver therapy, 239-241 in bone tissue engineering, 854-856 in clinical research and clinical applications, 1337-1340 clinical application, 1340 clinical translation, 1338-1340 donor and procurement issues, 1337-1338 research conduct, 1338 SCRO committee/EMRO committee, 1337 combined stem cell therapeutics, 265 - 266delivery, 498 differentiation, 445-446 for diseases of retina AMD, 354 cell-based neuroprotection, 361-362 cell-replacement therapy, 355-361 disease-in-a-dish modeling for retinal disorders, 362-363 retina, 352-354 retinitis pigmentosa, 354-355 STGD, 354 epidermal stem cells, 83-84 ES cells, 81-82 exceptionalism, 1337 expansion, 498 iPS cells, 84 MSCs, 82-83 nature of MSCs, 206-207 niche, 629 regenerating ovarian tissue from, 1244-1245 research, 1312 animal-human chimeras, 1325-1326 commercialization and access to treatments, 1324-1325 compensating egg donors, 1323-1324 ethical, legal, social, and policy questions of, 1321-1326 research guidelines, 1316-1318 ISSCR, 1318 NAS, 1316-1318 SC-seeded venous grafts, 1224-1225 sources, 1264-1266, 1265t, 1309-1311

Stem cell(s) (Continued) adult cells, 1309 embryos, 1310-1311 fetal cells, 1309-1310 iPScs, 1311 stem cell-based therapies, 354, 376, 1241 stem cell-related genes, 255-256 transfection, 497-498 transplantation, 995-997, 1009-1010 Stem cell–derived  $\beta$  cells (SC- $\beta$  cells), 336, 340 Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs), 909 Stem hematopoietic cells, 240 Stem-regenin (SR1), 157 Stemness genes, 39-40, 206 Stereocilia, 867-868 Stereolithography, 805-806, 808, 819-820 Sterility assurance level (SAL), 514 Sterilization, 514–515 methods, 620-621 patient risk factors, 514f Steroid methylprednisolone, 1206-1207 Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), 472, 1118 STGD. See Stargardt macular dystrophy (STGD) Stiffness, 439-440, 1181 matrix, 422 Stimulation of endogenous repair, 247 Stimulator to effector ratio (S-E ratio), 184 Stomach, 1134-1135 Storage starch, 548 Strain, 418-421, 419f, 1045, 1181 energy density, 1181 Stratum corneum production, 1284 Streptavidin for biomolecular orientation control, 530 Streptococcus mutans (S. mutans), 898-899 Streptococcus pyogenes (S. pyogenes), 742 Stress, 418-421, 1181 relaxation, 1181-1182 stress-strain curve, 1181, 1182f relationship, 1179 Stretch-activated ion channels. See Mechanosensitive ion channels STRO1, 206 Stroke, 160-161, 223, 1203-1206 cell transplantation, 1205-1206 factors for endogenous stem cell stimulation, 1203-1205 pharmacological therapy, 1203 Stroma, 662-663 Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1), 193, 250-251, 280, 701, 913-914 SDF1/CXCR4, 250-251 Stromal cell-surface markers, 258 Stromal vascular fraction (SVF), 222, 295-296 Stromal-derived growth factor-1 (SDF-1a), 308 Structural preservation, 527 Structural protein, 529

#### INDEX

Structure-property relationships in hydrogels, 631-632 Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), 370, 371f Submucosa, 1135 Subpopulation determination, 103-105, 104f cell-based therapies development, 104 - 105isolating best cell for given clinical application, 105f Substrates importance, 438 Subtotal cystectomy reservoirs, 1274 Subtunic penile progenitor cells, 1258 Subunit vaccines, 716 β Subunits of hemoglobin (HBB), 753 Subventricular zone (SVZ), 181-182, 1200-1201 Sulfation, 617-618 Sum frequency generation spectroscopy (SFG spectroscopy), 525-526 SUN domain. See Sad1p, UNC-84 domain (SUN domain) Supercritical assisted phase-in version process, 549 Supercritical CO2 sterilization, 620-621 Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs), 491 Supply chain, 1373 Supporting baths, 823-825 Supporting bioinks, 823-825 Supporting cells, 867 Suppressive immune cell populations, 715 Suprapubic catheterization, 1273 Sural nerve, 1231 Surface analysis methods and supporting tools, 525-527 AFM, 527 conformational stabilization for biomolecules, 527 iodine 125-labeled proteins, 527 multivariate, 527 QCM-D, 526-527 SFG spectroscopy, 525-526 SPR, 526 ToF-SIMS, 525 XPS, 525 and role in precision delivery of biological signals, 524-525 technologies, 653, 654t Surface charge, 440 Surface chemical patterning, 659 Surface chemistry, 441, 490 methods of altering, 441-442 Surface coatings, 651 Surface feature manipulation, 512-513 Surface modification for degradation control, 509-510 strategies, 651-653 Surface nanotopography, 494 Surface plasmon resonance (SPR), 526 Surface roughness, 653-655, 655f Surface stability, 651-653 Surface to volume ratio, 509

Surface topography, 489-490, 653-655, 655f Surface wettability, 440 Surface-eroding polymers, 574 Surfactant production, 1059-1060 Surgery, 80 Surgical complications, 992 Surgical nerve injuries, 1223 Surgical techniques, 237-238, 1132 for retinal pigment epithelium transplantation, 360 "Surplus" embryos, 1310 SUSD2. See Sushi domain containing-2 (SUSD2) Sushi domain containing-2 (SUSD2), 1246 SUV. See Standardized uptake values (SUV) SVF. See Stromal vascular fraction (SVF) SVZ. See Subventricular zone (SVZ) Sweat glands, 66 SWNT. See Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT) Syndecans, 21, 618 extracellular domains, 16-18 Syngeneic dermal fibroblasts (SDFs), 915 Syngenic nerve grafts, 1232 Synthetic 3D scaffolds, 453 Synthetic biomaterials, 1049, 1052t PEG hydrogels, 1049 Synthetic bone substitute (SBS), 893 Synthetic HAP, 493, 551 Synthetic hydrogels, 835-836 increasing sophistication of synthetic hydrogels for TE, 632-639 bioactive forms of poly(ethylene glycol) as exemplars, 632-633 hydrogel degradation, 636-637 injectable systems, 638-639 matrix mechanics, 635-636 polymerization mechanisms, 637-638 spatial heterogeneity, 633-635 systems, 1172 for TE templates, 646-648 Synthetic materials, 559, 811-813, 812f for histogenesis of new organs, 669-670 hydrogels, 669-670 hydrolytically degradable polymers, 669 and tissue grafting, 661 Synthetic membranes, 1151 Synthetic NGCs, 1226 Synthetic peptides, 574 Synthetic polymers, 452, 559, 567, 704-705, 837, 892, 1033-1035, 1151, 1169-1170, 1255, 1268-1269. See also Natural polymers applications, 580 applications of synthetic polymers, 580 biodegradable synthetic polymers, 567-580 copolymers, 704-705 nondegradable synthetic polymers, 561-567 polyesters, 705 polymer synthesis, 560-561

with seeded cells, 1035–1037 Synthetic scaffold(s), 763, 941–942, 1268–1270 biodegradable properties, 1269–1270 materials, 613 for nerve repair, 1225–1226 porosity, 1270 Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), 1150

#### Т

T cell(s), 205, 862 antigen receptors, 198 depletion, 196 implantable biomaterial scaffolds to enhancing autologous T cell therapy, 731-733 macroporous alginate scaffold, 732f T cell-stimulating cytokines, 722 T cell-mediated process, 239 therapies, 716 in vitro effects of MAPCs on, 184 T lymphocytes, 685, 688 T-cell factor 4 (TCF4), 210 "T-cell piggyback" nanoparticle systems, T-helper (Th), 344 immune response, 690, 715 Th1, 184, 620, 715 Th17 cytokine production, 184 Th2, 715 helper lymphocytes, 682 immune response, 715 T-regulatory cells (T-reg cells), 344, 715-716, 1013 T1D. See Type 1 diabetes (T1D) T2D. See Type 2 diabetes (T2D) 3T3 fibroblasts gels, 817 TA. See Tetraaniline (TA) Tacrolimus, 998 TALE. See Transcription activator-like effector (TALE) TALENs. See Transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) Tamoxifen-inducible Cre-reporter mouse lines, 248-250 TAMs. See Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) Target Fragile X syndrome, 172-173 Target Product Profile (TPP), 1356-1357 Targetable nucleases, 741-747 CRISPR, 741-746 TALENs, 746-747 ZFNs, 747 Targeted *a*-synuclein, 754 Targeting moieties, 720-721 TAZ. See Transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding domain (TAZ) TBI. See Traumatic brain injury (TBI) TBTE. See Thread-based tissue engineering (TBTE) Tbx18, 251-252 TC. See TCP-CHI composite (TC); Technical Committee (TC) TCF4. See T-cell factor 4 (TCF4)

TCP. See Tricalcium phosphate (TCP) α-TCP. See α-Tricalcium phosphate  $(\alpha - TCP)$ β-TCP. See β-Tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP) TCP-CHI composite (TC), 703 TCPC. See Total cavopulmonary connection (TCPC) TCPS. See Tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) tdLNs. See Tumor-draining lymph nodes (tdLNs) TE. See Tissue engineering (TE) TEA domain family (TEAD1-4), 426 TEBVs. See Tissue-engineered blood vessels (TEBVs) Technical Committee (TC), 1358 Technical societies, 1373-1374 TEER. See Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) Teflon, 559-560 Tegafur, 777 TEHVs. See Tissue engineered heart valves (TEHVs) "Template", 629 Temporal sequence of inflammation and wound healing, 678, 678f Temporomandibular joint (TMJ), 897 TEMPs. See Tissue engineered medical products (TEMPs) Tenascin (TN), 393 TNC, 279 Tendinopathy, 391 Tendon(s), 845-846 healing of ligaments and, 1183-1185, 1188-1192 and ligament, 959-960 normal ligaments and biology, 1180 biomechanics, 1180-1183 tendon-bone interface, 960-961 Tensile strength, 1181 Tension offloading, 80 Teratocarcinoma stem cells, 113-114 Terodiline, 780 Terpolymers, 572 TESA. See Tissue engineering by selfassembly (TESA) TeSR media, 118 Testes, 1251-1254 androgen replacement therapy, 1254, 1254f SSC technology, 1252-1254, 1252f Testosterone, 1254 Tethered lipid bilayers, proteins immobilization in, 530 TetOn sequence, 751 Tetraaniline (TA), 704-705 Tetracalcium phosphate (TTCP), 592-594, 706 TEVG. See Tissue engineered vascular graft (TEVG) TFs. See Transcription factors (TFs) TGF. See Transforming growth factor (TGF) Th. See T-helper (Th)

Thalassemia, 157, 753 Therapeutic cloning, 1311 Therapeutic effects of MSCs, 222t Therapeutic intensity, 381 Therapeutic interventions, 77-80 bleomycin, 78 cryotherapy, 79 extracellular matrix substitutes and scaffolds, 80 5-FU, 77-78 growth factors and cell signaling molecules, 80-81 imiquimod, 78 laser therapy, 78 other drugs and biologics, 81 pressure dressings and negativepressure wound therapy, 79 radiation therapy, 79 silicone gel sheets, 79 stem cells, 81-84 surgery, 80 targeting gap junctions and Cx, 81 tension offloading, 80 topical and intralesional corticosteroid injections, 77 Thermally induced phase separation (TIPS), 856 Thermodynamics second law, 422 Thermoresponsive cell culture substrate, fabrication techniques of, 471 Thermoresponsive hydrogels, 648 Thermoresponsive liposome nanoparticles (TSL nanoparticles), 485 Thermoresponsive pentablock copolymers, 573 Thermoresponsive polymers for cell sheet engineering controlled grafting of thermoresponsive polymer on culture substrates, 470-471 thermoresponsive polymer for biomedical applications, 469-470 thermoresponsive surface for regulating cell adhesion and detachment, 470 variety of fabrication techniques of thermoresponsive cell culture substrate, 471 Thermoresponsive scaffolds, 454 Third-generation biomaterials, 559 Thiry-Vella loop, 1136 Thread-based tissue engineering (TBTE), 1032-1033 Three-dimension (3D), 762, 787 arrangement of 3D orientation using cell sheet layering techniques, 480 cardiac constructs, 774 cardiac tissue constructs, 1076 cell culture technology, 770 cell spheroids, 793 cellular responses to, 455-457 cervical-like tissue constructs, 1242 culture materials, 454, 455t models, 1106-1107

Three-dimension (3D) (Continued) systems, 1243 technologies, 454-455, 771 ECM, 1 environment, 437, 469, 1102-1103 folding, 615 human intestinal tissue, 1137 importance, 452 InSight Human Liver Microtissues of InSphero, 1108-1109 lamellar-like stromal tissue, 1123 lung scaffold, 789 microfabrication, 670 migration, 457 organoids, 779-780 plotting, 547 poly(carbonate) urethane scaffolds, 617 porous scaffold, 535 porous SF scaffolds, 699-700 printable Matrigel-agarose system, 1140 printed scaffolds, 453, 859 printing, 454, 763, 773, 831 reconstructions, 913 renal reconstructs, 1171 renal structures, 1165 retinal organoids, 363, 364f scaffolds, 542, 695, 955, 1268-1270 decellularized tissue, 453-454 electrospun/nanofibrous scaffold, 453 hydrogel scaffolds, 452-453 polymers for, 452 preparation, 452-454 three-dimensional printed scaffolds, 453 space, 419 stamping technique, 1088 structure, 58, 1073 substrates for three-dimensional culture, 452 techniques, 628-629 testis organoid system, 1253-1254 tissue constructs cell sheet layering technique, 474-475 coculture system based on cell sheet layering, 475 vascularization in cell sheets for largescale tissue construction, 475-477 tumor organoids, 775 Three-dimensional bioprinting (3D bioprinting), 453, 806f, 808, 811, 831-832, 832f, 1078-1079. See also Bioprinting mechanisms 3D bioprinted vascular structures, 838-839, 838f current translation of three-dimensional bioprinting, 825-826 supportive baths, 824f in vitro applications, 825-826 in vivo applications, 826 future perspectives, 847-848 tissue engineering applications, 841-847 for tissue regeneration applications, 843t-844t

variables critical to, 836f in vitro tissue models, 839-841 Three-dimensional printing (3DP), 805, 1044, 1281 bioinks, 808-826 fundamentals, 805-808 extrusion-based printing, 806-807 inkjet bioprinting, 807-808 SLS, 807 stereolithography, 808 future directions, 826 Thrombin, 815 Thrombogenicity, 515, 1087 Thrombopoiesis, 929 Thrombopoietin (TPO), 929 Thrombus formation, 676 Thy-1.1 antibodies, 194-195 Thy-1.2 antibodies, 194-195 Thymosin β-4 (Τβ-4), 141–142 Ti-6Al-4V, 707 Tight junction (TJ), 393, 1200 markers, 1267 Time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry (ToF-SIMS), 525 Timing of infusion, 377 Timothy syndrome (TS), 173 TIMP3. See Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP3) TIMPs. See Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) TIPS. See Thermally induced phase separation (TIPS) Tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS), 439, 470-471, 523-524 Tissue engineered heart valves (TEHVs), 1042-1046 biomaterials for, 1046-1053 bioreactors, 1046 cell source, 1043-1044 implant design goals, 1045 implant function, 1044-1045 scaffold design, 1044 testing TEHV function, 1045-1046 in vivo conditioning and testing, 1046 Tissue engineered medical products (TEMPs), 1357-1358 Tissue engineered vascular graft (TEVG), 1029-1030, 1036f-1037f Tissue engineering (TE), 319-320, 505, 769, 772, 1251, 1263, 1281, 1368, 1372 applications, 841-847, 855 bone, 841-842 cardiac tissue and heart valves, 846 cartilage, 842 other tissue types, 847 POP, 1245-1246 skeletal muscle and tendon, 845-846 skin, 846 approaches, 254, 1165, 1271 for cartilage repair, 938-946 biological factors, 942-943 bioreactors, 943-946 bioscaffolds in cartilage repair, 939-942

cartilage surface modification, 938-939 cell types for cartilage repair, 939 revised approach to tissue engineering triad, 938f increasing sophistication of synthetic hydrogels for, 632-639 precision control of proteins in, 523-524 principles, 1237-1238, 1238f scaffolds, 629, 859, 899 skin, 1281 current TE skin technologies, 1287-1289 development, anatomy, and function of skin, 1283-1285 future, 1290-1291 potential prerequisite requirements for tissue engineered skin solutions, 1285-1287 solutions in clinical practice, 1289-1290 TE skin solutions in clinical practice, 1289-1290 technologies, 1287-1289 strategies, 662, 1074-1075 synthetic hydrogels for tissue engineering templates, 646-648 technologies, 770, 788-789, 891-899, 907 adjuvant therapies, 898-899 bioactive molecules, 892-893 bioreactors, 897-898 BMAC technique, 894-897 implantable scaffolds, 891-892 translation, 825 triad, 695 Tissue engineering by self-assembly (TESA), 1032-1033 Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP3), 373-375 Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), 39 Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), 1200, 1203 Tissue Reference Group (TRG), 622 Tissue-engineered blood vessels MSCs, 207 culture systems, 429-430 deficiencies, 505 development, 391 cellular mechanotransduction mechanisms, 397-400 mechanotransduction mechanisms and major effectors, 392-396 nucleus as central organelle in regulating mechanotransduction, 396-397 engineered ovarian follicles, 1243-1244, 1244f enzymes, 636-637 explants, 793 fibrosis, 107 function, 317-318 injury, 277

loss, 505 monitoring environment and tissue development, 799 muscle, 494-495 neural, 496 organoid types, 779 procurement, 619 regeneration, 317-319, 485, 490, 493, 498, 1263 3D bioprinting technologies, 843t-844t models, 1271 remodeling, 423-424 repair, 662 in diabetes, 344-345 rules, 1350-1351 tissue-based therapy, 469 tissue-derived materials for hair regeneration, 1300 tissue-engineered constructs, 688 tissue-engineered implant, 675 tissue-guided regeneration, 1287-1288 tissue-material interactions, 675 tissue-specific, ECM-based bioinks, 837 tissue-specific stem cells, 274, 1251 vascular, 495-496 vascularization, 1088 Titanium, 559-560 TJ. See Tight junction (TJ) TLR. See Toll-like receptor (TLR) TMC. See Trimethylene carbonate (TMC) TMJ. See Temporomandibular joint (TMJ) TMPRSS4 type II serine protease, 3 TN. See Tenascin (TN) TNC. See Total nucleated cell (TNC) TNCC. See Total nucleated cell count (TNCC) TNF. See Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) TNF α-stimulated gene 6 product (TSG-6 product), 377 ToF-SIMS. See Time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry (ToF-SIMS) Tolerance induction, 1000 hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for, 198-199 Toll-like receptor (TLR), 721 Tooth development, 908-909, 908f Topical and intralesional corticosteroid injections, 77 Topographical cues, 446 cellular responses to, 447-450 Topographical features, 1287-1288 Topographical modifications, 653-655 Topography effect, 446 Total cavopulmonary connection (TCPC), 1036 Total heart transplantation, 495 Total nucleated cell (TNC), 149 Total nucleated cell count (TNCC), 150-151 Total parenteral nutrition, 1135 Totipotent stem cells, 181 Toxicity, 515 Toxicology, 777-778, 779f, 1108 screening, 779 Toxins, 869

tPA. See Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) TPO. See Thrombopoietin (TPO) TPP. See Target Product Profile (TPP) Trabeculae, 696 Traceability and imaging, 513 Trachea, 791-792, 847 Traditional salt leaching technique, 578 Transcription activator-like effector (TALE), 746 Transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), 741, 746-747 identity of variable sequences in, 746t Transcription factors (TFs), 169, 171, 181, 210, 299, 394-395, 722, 927-928 TCF3, 53 transcription factor-based reprogramming, 171 Transcriptional coactivator with PDZbinding domain (TAZ), 426 Transcriptional enhancer factor domain family member, 394-395 Transdetermination, 336 Transdifferentiation, 376 of oral mucosa, 1118 process, 171, 869 Transendocardial Injection of Autologous Human Cells in Chronic Ischemic Left Ventricular Dysfunction trials, 258 Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), 1065 Transfection efficiency, 497-498 Transforming growth factor (TGF), 407-408, 909-910 TGF-β, 3, 52, 75, 222, 280, 339-340, 426, 496, 619, 677, 722, 880, 957, 1172, 1183-1184 superfamily, 6, 75, 1300 TGF-\u03b31, 42, 66, 119, 205, 667, 939, 1298-1299 TGFβ-mediated differentiation, 23-24 TGFbR, 18 Transfusable blood components, 925-926 Transgenic mice, 690 induction of hair cell regeneration using, 875-876 Transient receptor potential (TRP), 393-394 Transition wound, 73 Transition-metal coordinated mechanisms, 560-561 Transitional epithelium, 1263 Transitory starch, 548 Translation of cartilage tissue engineering preclinical translation, 945 Translocator protein, 373 Transmembrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans, 618 Transmembrane protein Myomixer, 276 Transmissible Spongiform Encephalitis (TSE), 1358 Transmission electron microscopy, 793-794, 1180

Transplantation regulation of human cells and tissues intended for, 1350-1351 in skeletal muscles, 971-975 Transplantation of Human Embryonic Stem Cell-derived Progenitors in Severe Heart Failure trial, 255 Transplanted cells, 1203, 1253 Transposase, 747 Transposons, 747 Trauma, 405-406, 591, 907, 1263 Traumatic brain injury (TBI), 185-186, 369, 372f, 375f, 1199 classification, 370 clinical trials adipose-derived stem/stromal cells, 384 bone marrow mononuclear cell adult trial, 382-384 bone marrow mononuclear cell pediatric trial, 381-382 collagen scaffold-mesenchymal stromal cell study, 385 mesenchymal stromal cell neurologic stem cell treatment study, 385 mesenchymal stromal cell subacute TIB trial, 383-384 modified SB623 cells trial, 384 multicenter bone marrow mononuclear cell pediatric trial, 384 ongoing clinical trials, 384-385 current TBI management strategies, 376 epidemiology, 369-370 phases of brain injury, 370-376 preclinical data supporting stem cell therapies for, 376-381 Traumatic nerve injuries, 1223 Traumatic spinal cord injury, 1206-1208 biomolecule delivery, 1206-1207 cell transplantation, 1208 guiding axon regrowth, 1207-1208 Trehalose, 527 TRG. See Tissue Reference Group (TRG) Triblock PEG-PCL-PEG copolymer, 704-705 Tricalcium phosphate (TCP), 594, 703, 706, 708-709 α-Tricalcium phosphate (α-TCP), 592-593 β-Tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP), 540, 551, 577, 591-592, 765 Trigeminal nerve or cranial nerve V, 380 Triggered release systems, 721 Trimethylene carbonate (TMC), 572 TMC-based polycarbonates, 572 Trithorax group complexes, 57 Triton-X, 1241 Triton X-100, 1104 Troglitazone, 780 Trogocytosis process, 1014 Trophic effects, mechanisms of, 186-187 Trophoblast, 133 Tropocollagen, 615 Tropoelastin, 617 tropoelastin/elastin molecules, 643 Troponin, 299

TRP. See Transient receptor potential (TRP) TRP2. See Tyrosinase-related protein-2 (TRP2) Trypsin, 117 TS. See Timothy syndrome (TS) TS iPSC model, 173 TSE. See Transmissible Spongiform Encephalitis (TSE) TSG-6 product. See TNF α-stimulated gene 6 product (TSG-6 product) TSL nanoparticles. See Thermoresponsive liposome nanoparticles (TSL nanoparticles) TTCP. See Tetracalcium phosphate (TTCP) Tumor necrosis factor (TNF), 992, 1087 TNF-a, 280, 370, 679, 862, 1187 Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), 715 Tumor-draining lymph nodes (tdLNs), 724 Tumor(s), 715-716, 774-775 cell heterogeneity, 108 metastasis-on-a-chip platforms, 776 microphysiological systems, 774-775 models, 839 nanoparticle targeting of tumor microenvironment, 721-722 tumor-on-a-chip modeling, 775 tumor-reactive T cells, 731-733, 733f tumor-specific antigens, 715-716 tumor-targeting liposomes, 722 vessel endothelium, 314 Tumorigenesis, 301-302 21st Century Cure's Act, 1374 Two-dimension (2D), 454, 769, 787 cell culture, 771 methods, 1243 monolayer cell cultures, 793 to 3D models, progression from, 770-771 Two-step MSC isolation protocols, 208 Tylenol, 778-779 Type 1 diabetes (T1D), 335, 345, 987 Type 1 receptors, 52 Type 2 diabetes (T2D), 281, 335, 987, 1155-1156 Type A gelatin, 643 Type I collagen, 542, 1103, 1118 Type I reaction. See Anaphylactic reaction Type II reaction. See Cytotoxic reaction Type II receptors, 52 Type IIB fibers, 276 Type III reaction. See Immune complex reaction Type IIS restriction endonucleases, 746-747 Type V reaction. See Cell-mediated delayed hypersensitivity reaction Type VI collagen, 279 Tyrosinase-related protein-2 (TRP2), 724 L-Tyrosine, 573 Tyrosine-based polycarbonates, 572 Tyrosinemia, 750-751 type 1, 235, 750-751

Tβ-4. See Thymosin β-4 (Tβ-4) U U-curable materials, 811 UBM. See Urinary bladder matrix (UBM) UBM-ECM. See Porcine urinary bladder matrix extracellular matrix (UBM-ECM) UC-MSCs. See Umbilical cord-derived MSCs (UC-MSCs) UCB. See Umbilical cord blood (UCB) UCs. See Urothelial cells (UCs) UCSF. See University of California, San Francisco (UCSF) UF. See Ultrafiltrate (UF) UFS. See Robotic-universal force-moment sensor (UFS) Ulcers, 345 Ultracentrifugation, 209 Ultrafiltrate (UF), 1149-1150 Ultralow-fouling zwitterionic hydrogels, 516-517 Ultrasound-guided transhepatic portal venous access, 992 Umbilical cord blood (UCB), 149, 181-182, 996 clinical uses, 156-157 CBT for hematological malignancies, 156 CBT for nonmalignant hematological diseases, 156-157 cord blood expansion technologies, 157 investigations in treatment of acquired brain injuries, 159-162 ASD, 161-162 cerebral palsy, 159-160 HIE, 159 stroke, 160-161 Umbilical cord-derived MSCs (UC-MSCs), 345, 700-701, 912-913 Umbilical tissue-derived stem cells, 362 Unbound delivery systems, 763-764 Underhealing, 72 Uniaxial tensile testing, 1181-1182 Uniform hydrogel, 637 United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare (DHEW), 1311-1312 United States federal and state stem cell policy, 1311-1316 current US stem cell research policy, 1313-1316 federal policy, 1313 state policy and private funding, 1313-1316 history, 1311-1313 Universal blood generated by modifying red blood cell surface antigens, 924 "Universal donor" RBCs, 926-927 University of California, San Francisco (UCSF), 993-994 Urea cycle defects, 236 Uremic toxins, 1151

Ureter cells, 1264 Urethra reconstruction, 1255, 1256f Urinary bladder, 1263 functions, 1263 Urinary bladder matrix (UBM), 380, 618-619 Urinary diversion, 1271-1273 Urinary tract system, 1264 Urine samples, 1266 Urine-derived stem cells (USCs), 1264 Urodele amphibians, 37 Urodele limbs regeneration blastema formation, 37-42 blastema growth, 42-45 Urothelial cells (UCs), 1264 Urothelial progenitor cells, 1264 Urothelial-specific cell markers, 1267 Urothelium, 1273-1274 US Code (USC), 1264, 1266, 1346 isolation, 1266 US Department of Defense, 907 US Federal Stem Cell Policy, 126b US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), 120, 150, 174, 222-223, 411, 513-514, 561-562, 622, 669, 716, 752, 776, 859, 939, 953-954, 1154, 1188, 1202, 1268-1269, 1338, 1345 advisory committee meetings, 1358-1359 approval mechanisms and clinical studies, 1348-1350 clinical development plan, 1356-1358 coordination efforts, 1361-1362 Critical Path research, 1360 guidelines for additive manufactured devices, 1369t laws, regulations, and guidance, 1346-1347 legislative history, 1345-1346 meetings with industry, professional groups, and sponsors, 1350 organization and jurisdictional issues, 1347 - 1348preclinical development plan, 1356 regulations and guidance of special interest, 1350-1356 research and critical path science, 1359-1361 standards development program, 1357-1358 US National Academies, 1310-1311 US National Academies of Science (NAS), 1316-1318 US Public Health Service (PHS), 1353 US Renal Data System (USRDS), 1149 US Stem Cell Research Policy, 1309 ethical, legal, social, and policy questions of stem cell research, 1321-1326 international comparisons, 1318-1321 sources of stem cells, 1309-1311 stem cell research guidelines, 1316-1318

#### INDEX

United States federal and state stem cell policy, 1311-1316 USC. See US Code (USC) USCs. See Urine-derived stem cells (USCs) USRDS. See US Renal Data System (USRDS) Uterine cervix tissue engineering, 1242 Uterine tissue regeneration, 1240–1242 Uteroglobulin. See Club cell secretory protein, 10 kD (CC10) Uterus, 1240-1242 uterine cervix tissue engineering, 1242 uterine tissue regeneration, 1240-1242 Utricle, 867 UV irradiation, 820-821

### V

Vagina(l), 1238-1240 canal, 1238 engineering of functional vaginal tissue, 1239-1240 fibroblasts, 1245-1246 reconstruction surgery, 1239 surgical reconstruction, 1238 vaginal-shaped scaffolds, 1239 Vaginoplasty techniques, 1238 Valproic acid, 297-298, 775-776 Valve interstitial cells (VICs), 1043, 1043f Valvular endothelial cells (VECs), 1043, 1043f Vas deferens, engineering, 1255 Vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM), 276 vascular adhesion molecule-1, 308 Vascular disruption, 370-371 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 7, 16, 20-21, 66-67, 76, 184, 210, 232, 238-239, 298, 311-313, 473-474, 497-498, 619, 696, 957, 1087, 1138-1139, 1232, 1241, 1271, 1298-1300, 1302 VEGF165, 1088 VEGFR-2, 311 Vascular healing process, 317-318 Vascular networks, 318, 668 Vascular niche, 193 Vascular permeability factor (VPF), 232 Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), 1087 Vascular system, 773-774 Vascular tissue, 495-496 Vascular-based pathologies, 780 Vascular-like fluidic devices, 773-774 Vascularization, 317-318, 697, 826, 1087-1088 in cell sheets for large-scale tissue construction, 475-477 in vivo bone bioreactors for solving vascularization problem, 797-798, 798f Vascularized tissue regeneration mechanical regulation, 427-432

mechanical stimulation in vitro, 429 - 432mechanical stimulation in vivo, 427 Vasculogenesis process, 307-308, 313, 317 Vasogenic edema, 375-376 Vasomotor function, 257 VCAM. See Vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM) VCF. See Vertebral compression fracture (VCF) VECs. See Valvular endothelial cells (VECs) VEGF. See Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) VEGF fused with collagen-binding domain (CBD-VEGF), 1271 Venograms, 231-232 Ventral blood island mesoderm, 192 Ventral pancreatic bud, 341 Ventricle-shaped chitosan tissue, 1083 Ventricular remodeling, 252-253 Ventricularis, 1044 VentriGel, 620-621 Vertebral compression fracture (VCF), 211 Vertebroplasty, 607 Vessel-on-a-chip, 773-774 Vestibulocochlear nerve, 867 Vicat needle method, 597-598 VICs. See Valve interstitial cells (VICs) Villi, 133 Villous syncytiotrophoblast, 133-134 Vimentin, 3 Vinyl chemical moieties, 669 N-Vinyl pyrrolidone (NVP), 576-577, 632 Vinylsulfone functionalities, 579 Virus-free human iPSCs, 933 Viruses, 749 Viscosity, 600 Viscosupplementation, 938-939 "Visible indentation", 597-598 Vision, 1208-1210 Vitrasert, 562 Vitronectin, 393, 523-524 Voigt model, 526-527 Voluntariness, 1323 Von Willebrand factor (vWF), 1016, 1267 gene expression, 636 VPF. See Vascular permeability factor (VPF) Vroman effect of protein adsorption, 676 VSMCs. See Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) vWF. See Von Willebrand factor (vWF)

#### W

Wall shear stress  $(\tau_w)$ , 429 Wallace group, 1212 Wallerian degeneration, 1227–1228 WAT. *See* White adipose tissue (WAT) Water, 1180 molecules, 440 water-in-oil emulsification, 550

water-soluble polymers, 601 Wdr5 expression, 57 Wearable bioartificial kidney (WeBAK), 1158 in preclinical end-stage renal disease model. 1158 Wearable renal replacement therapies, future advancements for, 1159-1160 WeBAK. See Wearable bioartificial kidney (WeBAK) Wet AMD, 1208-1210 Wet chemical method, 551-552 Wet spinning process, 549-550 WGs. See Working Groups (WGs) White adipose tissue (WAT), 297, 854-855 White matter (WM), 378 Whitlockite, 489 Whole tooth engineering, 912-913 Whole-genome sequencing, 172 Whole-organ scaffolds, 621-622 Wild-type (WT), 276-277 bacterial systems, 742 muscles, 276-277 Williams syndrome, 173 Wilms Tumor 1 (WT1), 251-252 Wilson disease, 235 Wingless type (Wnt), 75-76 pathway, 6-7 signaling, 52-53, 76-77, 874 Wnt-CM, 1300 Wnt1-Cre reporter mice, 250-251 Wnt11, 6 WNt3a, 80-81 WM. See White matter (WM) Wnt. See Wingless type (Wnt) Wolff's law, 417 Working Groups (WGs), 1358 World Health Organization, 513-514 Wound epidermis, 38 healing, 67-68, 320 cellular heterogeneity in, 106-107 inflammatory phase, 26 in skin, 1284 reepithelialization, 27 repair, 106 response and barriers to regeneration, 1200-1201 BBB, 1200 endogenous stem cells, 1200-1201 reactive astrocytes and glial scar, 1200 WT. See Wild-type (WT) WT1. See Wilms Tumor 1 (WT1)

#### Х

X chromosomes, 240 X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (X-SCID), 198 X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), 525, 527 X-SCID. See X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (X-SCID) Xanthan, 600

Xanthomona genus, 746 Xeno-free defined media systems, 1372 Xenoderived, decellularized cornea stromas, 1123 Xenogeneic cellular cardiomyoplasty, 141–142 Xenogeneic collagen, 621 Xenogeneic ECMs, 621, 690 Xenogeneic model, 1246 Xenogeneic model, 1246 Xenogenous cells, 1264 Xenografts, 1042 Xenopus, 38 embryo, 43–44

X. laevis, 37

Xenotransplantation, 995, 1353–1354 Xenotransplants, 239 XPS. *See* X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS)

### Y

Y chromosomes, 240 Y397 autophosphorylation, 19–20 Yamanaka transcription factors, 169–170 Yellow fluorescent protein (YFP), 281–282 Yes-associated protein (YAP), 426 YAP1, 394–395 YGISR peptide, 442 Yolk sac-derived CFU-s, 191 Young populations, 1041–1042 Young's modulus, 280

## Ζ

Zeb homeobox 1 (Zeb1), 4 Zeb homeobox 2 (Zeb2), 4 Zebrafish, 879–880 Ziegler–Natta catalysts, 560–561 Zinc, 545 Zinc finger E-box-binding (Zeb), 2 Zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs), 741, 747, 750 Zona occludens-1 (ZO-1), 449, 1157 Zwitterionic polymer surfaces, 531

# PRINCIPLES OF REGENERATIVE MEDICINE THIRD EDITION

Edited by Anthony Atala, Robert Lanza, Antonios G. Mikos, and Robert M. Nerem

Research and clinical applications in the expansive field of regenerative medicine incorporate therapies associated with any disease that results from malfunctioning, damaged, or failing tissues. From cell treatments to engineering damaged blood vessels, corneas, and organs for transplantation into human patients, regenerative medicine is changing the face of health care and expanding the possibilities for the translation of therapies. Now in its third edition, Principles of Regenerative Medicine remains the most comprehensive book in the field. This new edition in the expansive field of regenerative medicine has been fully updated and details the technologies and advances applied in recent years to strategies for healing and generating tissues. Contributions from a stellar cast of researchers, clinicians, and industry and government representatives cover the biological, molecular, cellular, and biomaterial bases of regenerative medicine, highlighting stem cells and wound healing, cell and tissue development, and a variety of enabling technologies such as three-dimensional printing. Advances in cell and tissue therapies, including the restoration of tissues and organs damaged by disease such as diabetes, heart disease, liver disease, and renal failure, are incorporated to provide a view to the future and a framework for additional studies. Topics such as regulatory and commercial parameters, including biomanufacturing, are also covered, providing an in-depth look at the field of regenerative medicine from the basic sciences to clinical translation and commercialization. This textbook would be beneficial to students, researchers, clinicians, industry and government representatives, and members of the public at large who are interested in the topic.

- Comprehensively covers the interdisciplinary field of regenerative medicine with contributions from leaders in stem cell biology, tissue engineering, cell and developmental biology, biomaterials sciences, nanotechnology, physics, chemistry, gene editing, bioengineering, and surgery
- Includes a large number of new chapters devoted to the most recent advances in the field of regenerative medicine by the scientists who made the breakthroughs
- Edited by a world-renowned team to present a complete story of the development, progress, and promise of regenerative medicine







